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CITIES AND TOWNS.

CHAPTER I.

NEWTON.

BY REV. S. F. SMITH.

The history of Newton is rooted in the history of

Boston, the metropolis of New Eughind. The settle-

ment of Boston was commenced September 17, 1630,

by the removal thither of Mr. William Blaxton, whose

name is perpetaated in Blackstone Street, at the

north part of the city, and Blackstone Square, on

Washington Street, at the south end. Mr. Blaxton

was attracted to Boston by the existence of a spring

of pure water, such as he failed to find i-j Charles-

town, his former residence. Boston was at first but a

diminutive place in territory. In the northern part

it was but three streets wide from east to west, the

three streets being Fox Street, Middle Street and

Back Street; the first being now North Street, the

second the north part of Hanover Street, and the

third the south part of Salem Street. The northern

portion of Boston, originally "the court end," was

separated from the southern by a creek called Mill

Creek, reaching from water to water, and occupying

the space of the present Blackstone Street. The
southern portion of Boston was joined to the conti-

nent by "the neck," so-called, being the upper part

of Washington Street, towards Roxbury. The neck

was so narrow that farmers bringing their produce to

market in Boston in the morning, used to hasten back

at evening in the periods of high tides, lest the rise

of the water should cut off' their return. Long Wharf,

at the foot of State Street, commenced at India Street.

Large vessels were moored close to Liberty Square.

Harrison Avenue was washed by the tide. The
Public Garden and most of Charles Street, and Tre-

mont Street, south of Pleasant Street, was under water.

The territory of Boston was small, but the inhabit-

ants of the little peninsula thought it necessary to

have a fortified place to flee to in case of invasion by

the neighboring tribes of savage Indians. Other

towns, already commenced—Charlestown, Watertown,

Roxbury and Dorchester—shared in this spirit of

wise precaution, and felt equally the need of a sure

place of defence. At first they fixed upon the neck,

between Boston and Roxbury, which was, on some

1-iii

accounts, a strategic point, shutting off the possibility

of assault by Indians of the continent. But this plan

was abandoned on account of the lack in that vicinity

of springs of running water. It was finally decided to

build the place of defence on the north side of Charles

River, laying the foundations of a new town near

where Harvard College now stands. Here they began

to build in the spring of 1631. They laid out a town

in squares, with streets intersecting each other at

right angles, and surrounded the place with a stock-

ade, and excavated a fosse inclosing more than a

thousand acres; and, as a historian of 1683 remarks,

'with one general fence, which was about one and a

half miles in length. It is one of the neatest and

best compacted towns in New England, having many
fair structures, with many handsome contrived streets.

The inhabitants, most of them, are very rich. Half

a mile westward of the town is a great pond (Fresh

Pond), whicli is divided between Newtowne and Wa-
tertown on the south side of Charles River."

In 1632 the General Court levied a rate of £60 upon

the several plantations towards building the palisade

around Newton. The tax levied was thus distributed

:

Watertown, £8; Newton, £3; Charlton, £7; Medford,

£3;SaugU8and Marblehead Harbor, £6; Salem, £4
10s.; Boston, £8; Roxbury, £7; Dorchester, £7; Wes-
sagusrus, £5 ; Winethoniet, £1 SOs. The fence passed

near the northwest corner of Gore Hall, in the col-

lege yard, eastwardly to the line between Cambridge

and Somerville, and southwardly from Gore Hall to

a point near the junction of Holyoke Place with

Mount Auburn Street. This £60 levy for building

the stockade was probably the first State tax. Wa-
tertown objected to the assessment as unjust, and a

committee of two from each town was appointed to

advise with the Court about raising public moneys,

"so as what they agree upon shall bind all." " This,"

says Mr. Winthrop, "led to the Representative body

having the full powers of all the freemen, except that

of elections."

Boston, as was natural, came to be regarded as the

old town, and this new and fortified place beyond the

river acquired the title of the new town, or Newtown.

When Harvard University was founded, in 1638, the

General Court ordained "that Newtowne should

thenceforward be called Cambridge," in compliment

to the place where so many of the civil and ecclesias-
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tical fathers of the town had receiverl their education.

The large territory on llii> hoiuIi side of Charles Kiver,

beyond the stockade and Cambridge, and coniprisiug

most of what is now Brifihlon and Newton, was at tirsi

called the "south aide of Charles River," and some-

times "Nonantum," the Indian name. After relig-

ious services came to be held regularly on the south

side of the river, about l().''i4, the outlying territory

was called "Cambridge Village," or, "New Cam-
bridge," until I(!70. The General Court decreed that

after December, lii!*l, it should be called "Newtown."
The change of the name from "Newtown" to "New-
ton" seems to have come about spontaneously with-

out any formal authorization. The change is first

noticed in the records of town-meetings by Judge

Fuller in ITtifi and ever afterwards. The question of

spelling the name of the town was never put to vote;

but it is deemed that Judge Fuller was fully justified

in assuming such a responsibility.

Before leaving London the company forming the

first plantations in New Fngland received the follow-

ing instructions: " If any of the salvages pretend

right of inheritance to all or any part of the lands

granted in our pattent,wee pray you endeavor to pur-

chase their tytle, that wee may avoyde the least scru-

ple of intrusion." Accordingly, at the session of the

General Court, March 1.3, 1638-39, Mr. Gibbons was

desired to agree with the Indians for the land within

the' bounds of Watertown, Cambridge and Boston.

"The deed of conveyance is missing, but there is

sufficient evidence," says Mr. Paige, " that the pur-

chase was made of the Squaw-sachem, and that the

price was duly paid. The General Court ordered,

May 20, 1640, ' that the £13 Ss. 6rf. layd out by Capt.

Gibons shall be paid him, viz., £13 8s. firf. by Water-

town, and £10 by Cambridge, and also Cambridge is

to give 8quaw-sachem a coate every winter while she

liveth.' This sale or conveyance to Cambridge is

recognized in a deed executed Jan. 13, 1639, by the

Squaw-sachem of Misticke and her husband, Web-
cowits, whereby they conveyed to .lonathan Gibbons

'the reversion of all that parcel of land which lies

against the ponds of Misticke aforesaid, together with

the said ponds, all which we reserved from Charles-

town and Cambridge, late called Newtowne, and all

hereditaments and appurtenances thereunto belong-

ing, after the death of me, the said Squaw-sachem.'
"

This Squaw-sachem is supposed to have died in

about the year 1662. Twenty years previous to her

death she, with four other Indian rulers, put herself

under the government and jurisdiction of the Massa-

chusetts, to be governed and protected by them, and
promised to be true and faithful to the said govern-

ment. The inhabitants of Cambridge lived on terms

of amity with the Indians.

The early history of Newton is involved with the

history of Cambridge. Indeed, Newton was required

to pay taxes for the support of the church in Cam-
bridge till 1661. In 1656 the inhabitants of Cam-

bridge Village organized a distinct congregation for

public worship, and petitioned the General Court to

be released from paying rates for the support of the

ministry of the church in Cambridge. The commit-

tee reported adversely to the petition, and the peti-

tioners had leave to withdraw. Dr. Holmes, however,

says that in 1656, when the inhabitants of the vil-

lage had become .so numerous as to form a distinct

congregation for public worship, " an abatement was

made (if one-half of their proportion of the ministry's

allowance during the time they were provided with

an able minister according to law." In 1661 they

renewed their petition, and the Court granted them
" freedom from all church rates for the support of the

ministry in Cambridge, and for all lands and estates

which were more than four miles from Cambridge

Meeting-house, the measure to be in the usual paths

that may be ordinarily passed."

The petitioners were not satisfied with this line,

and in 1662 petitioned the Court for a new one. A
committee was appointed in October, 1662, to give

the petitioners and their opponents a hearing. This

new committee settled the bound, as far as ministerial

taxes were concerned, and " ran the line which is

substantially the line which now divides Newton from

Brighton."

In 1672 the inhabitants of Cambridge Village pre-

sented to the Court another petition, praying to be

setoff from Cambridge and made an independent town.

The following year the Court granted the petition-

ers the right to elect annually one constable and three

selectmen dwelling among themselves, "but requiring

them to continue to be a part of Cambridge so far as

related to the paying of certain taxes." The action

of the committee did not satisfy the petitioners, and
they declined to accept it or to act under it. In 1677

another attempt was made to determine a satisfactory

dividing line, through a committee of referees, two t"

be chosen by Cambridge, two by Cambridge Village

and the fifth by the four others jointly. The line pro-

posed by these referees did not differ materially from

the line run in 1662.

Again, in 1678, fifty-two out of sixty-five of the

freemen of Cambridge Village petitioned the General
Court to be set off from the town of Cambridge and
to be made a town by itself. Cambridge, by its select-

men, presented a remonstrance. The Court, however,

30 far granted the petition as to order " that the free-

holders should meet on the 27th August, 1679, and
elect selectmen and other town officers to manage the

municipal affairs of the village." This was an im-
portant concession on the part of the Court, though it

did not fully meet the desires of the petitioners
; and

nearly ten years more passed away before they fully

obtained the object of their requests.

Until August 27, 1679, all the town-meetings were
held in Cambridge, and all town officers were elected

there. After this date town-meetings were held in

Cambridge Village (Newton) by the freemen of the
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village only, and they transacted their town business

free from all dictation or interference of Cambridge.

Ou that day they took into their own hand-t the man-
agement of the prudential aftairs of the village as

completely as any other town, and conducted them
according to the will of the majority of the freeholders

until Newton became a city. For town purposes they

were independent, but for a number of years they

were still taxed with Cambridge for State and county

purposes, to wit, the repairs of the Great Bridge be-

tween Cambridge and Brighton. Nor were they per-

mitted to send a deputy to the General Court till 1088,

when the separation was fully consummated, and
Newton became a free and independent corporation.

Dea. John Jackson, the first settler of Cambridge
Village, and nine others were dead when the town of

Newton became wholly independent.

After an extended and careful investigation by dif-

ferent historians, "there seems," says Mr. Paige, in his

" History of Cambridge," "no reasonable doubt that

the village was released from ecclesiastical depend-

ence on Cambridge and obligation to share in the ex-

penses of religious worship in 1661 ; became a pre-

cinct in 1673; received the name of Newton in De-

cember, 1691 ; and was declared to be a distinct vil-

lage and place of itself, or, in other words, was incor-

porated as a separate and distinct town by the order

passed January 11, 1687-88, old style, or January 11,

1688, according to the present style of reckoning.
'' While by her separation from Cambridge, Newton

lost in territory, she found, indue time, more than she

lost. By the limitation of lier boundaries she cut

herself off from ' Master Corlet's faire grammar
schoole,' though she retained as much right in the

University as belonged to any and every town in the

Commonwealth. She was deprived of the prestige of

the great men whose dignity and learning brought

fame to the Colony ; but she has since been the

mother of governors and statesmen, of ministers and
missionaries, of patriots and saints. And in the progress

of years she added to her reputation as the scene of

that great enterprise, the translation of the Bible into

the language of her aborigines, and the first Protes-

tant missionary efforts on this Continent. Subse-

quently she had the first normal school for young
ladies (continued from Lexington) ; several of the

earlier and the best academies and private schools,

and finally the theological institution, whose profess-

ors have been and are known and respected in all

lands, and whose alumni have carried the gifts of

learning and the gospel to every part of the earth.

She left the rustic church near the College, by the in-

convenience of attending which she was so sorely

tried ; but she has attained to more than thirty

churches within her own borders."

The first appearance of the name of the town in

the form of Newton appears in the following town-

meeting record

;

" Newton, May 18, 1694. The Selectmen then did meet, and leavy a

rate upon the town of twelve pound eut shilling. Eight pound la to pay
the debety for his service at the General Court in 1093, and the other
fore pound six shilling is to pay fur Killing of wolves and other neses-
st'rey charges of the Town."

This record is signed by Edward Jackson, town
clerk.

The organization of the First Church in July, 1664,

and the ordination of Mr. John Eliot, Jr., as pastor,

had in the meantime consummated the ecclesiastical,

though not the civil separation of Cambridge Village
(Newton) from Cambridge. The first meeting-house
in Cambridge Village was erected in 1660.

Six years after Charlestown was settled, the whole
State of Massachusetts consisted of only twelve or
thirteen towns, of which Newton paid the largest

tax. In the records of a court held at Newtown, Sep-
tember 3, 1634, is this item :

" It is further ordered that
the sum of £600 shall be levied out of the several plan-
tations for publique uses, tbe one-half to be paid
forthwith, the other half before the setting of the next
Court, viz., Dorchester, 80; Roxbury, 70; Newtowne,
80 ; Watertown, 60 ; Saugus, 50 ; Boston, 80 ; Ipswich,

50; Salem, 45; Charlestown, 45; Mead ford, 26 ; Wes-
sagasset (Weymouth), 10 ; Barecove (Hingham), 4."

It is evident from tins record that Newton possess-

ed at that time as much wealth as any plantation,

and, excepting Dorchester and Boston, more than any
other in the Colony. In 1636 Newton had so prosper-

ed that she stood in wealth at the head of all the

towns, and numbered eighty-three householders.
This year the rates levied upon the several towns
stood as follows : Newton, £20 5s. ; Dorchester, £26
O-s. ; Boston, £25 10s.; Watertown, £19 10s. ; Rox-
bury, £19 5s. ; Salem, £16; Chariestown, £15; Ips-

wich, £14; Saugus, £11 ; Medford, £9 15s. ; New-
bury, £7 10s.; Hingham, £0; Weymouth, £4.

The question of the boundaries of the new towns
in the wilderness was not readily nor easily settled. It

was necessary that agriculture, in its various branches,
should be an important factor in the occupations of
the early settlers. Hence they felt the need of much
land for cultivation, and for their flocks and herds.

At the outset, after the extinction of the Indian titles,

generous grants were made by the General Court to

towns and individuals. The people of the various

towns, however, began, at an early period, to demand -

more land. The farmers specially craved meadow
land, free from wood, and suitable for mowing fields

without the labor of clearing, of which they could
avail themselves at once for the support of their

stock. A committee was appointed in 1636 to inves-

tigate the Shawshine country, now including the
town of Andover, and to report whether it was suit-

able for a plantation ; and 1041 this order was passed :

"Shawshine is granted to Cambridge, provided they
make it a village, to have ten families there settled

within three years ; otherwise, the Court to dispose

of it."

The report of the committee to examine the grant
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was rendered in 1642, and lieing untitvorablf, the

Court enlnrged their grant, and pave the petitioners

furtlier time to elleit a sittlenienl. This new grant

read iis follows :
" All the land lying upon the Shaw-

shine Kiver, and between that and ('i>noi>rd Kiver,

and between thai :ind the Merriiuaek Kiver, not for-

merly granted by thist'onrl, are granted to Cam-

bridge, so as they erect a village tln're within live

years, and so as it shall not extend to prejudice

Charle'itown village or the village of I'ochitawist, nor

farme.s formerly granted to the now Governor of 1200

acres, and to Thomas lludloy, Ksi]., I'lOII acre<», and

3(MM> acres to Mrs. \Viiithroi« ; ami Mr. Flint and Mr.

Stephen W'inthrop are to set out their heade line

toward Concord."

No settlement having been made within the period

designated, this grant was modified by the following

order, passed by the (ieneral Court ; "Shawsliine is

granted to Candniilgo without any coiiilition of mak-

ing a village there ; and the land betwei'n them and

Concord is granted all, all save what is formerly

granted to the miliUiry company, provided the church

present continue at Cambridge."

"The limits of this grant of iShawshine, as of most

of the grants of that period, are very indefinite, and it

is not possible to define with precision what is in-

cluded. But it is generally admitted that the Shaw-

shine grant extended to the Merrimack Kiver. We
know it included all the town of Billerica, the greater

portion of Bedford, and all that portion of Lexington

north of the eight-mile line. Billerica was incor-

porated in U!55 into a town by the consent of Cam-

bridge. It was at that time a large territory, bounded

on Cambridge Farms (Le.xington), Chelmsford, Wo-

burn and Concord." And thus Newton, from being

territorially the smallest township in the Colony, be-

came, at least for a season, the largest.

The small |)ortiou of Waterlown, on the south side

of Charles Kiver, according to the settlement in l(i35,

included about seventy-five acres. The settlement of

1675 increased the extent to about eighty-eight acres

—enough to protect their fishing privilege—and after-

wards called " the Wear (weir) lands." " In the year

lfi79, when the town lines were established between

Cambridge and New Cambridge, or Cambridge Vil-

lage, it wiw expressly stipulated that this Watertown

reservation on the south side of Charles Kiver—200 by

60 rods—should be maintained and held by Water-

town for the protection of her fish-weira. They did

not wish to enter into co-operation with this new Col-

ony in the carrying on of the fish business, and were

very strenuous to have their rights protected. Indeed,

they became dissatisfied and grasping, and in 1705

called for a commission to readjust tiie line for the

better protection of their fishing interests. .lohn

Spring, Edward Jackson and Ebene/er Stone, on the

part of Newton, with Jonas Bond and Joseph Sher-

man, of Watertown, composed that committee. They

agreed upon a settlement which shortened the easterly

line a few rods, and lengthened the southerly and

westerly lines a few rods each from the original grant.

Since this time there have been further re-adjust-

ments of these boundaries, and it is evident in each

of these that Watertown has lost nothing. The total

acreage now held to AVatertown, on the Newton side

of the river, is nearly 150 acres, or a gain, above what

was originally intended for her fish protection, of

nearly seventy-five acres."

We have this record under date of March 3, 1636 :

" It is agreed that Newton bounds shall run eight

miles into the country from their meeting-house, and

Watertown 8, Koxbury S, Charlestown 8."

" In the year 1798, as appears from an article by

Dr. Homer, in the ' ]\la.ssach usetts Historical Collec-

tions ' for that year, the extent of Newton from north

to south, measuring from Watertown line to Dedham

line, was six miles and thirty-six rods, the measure

being made along the county road, from east to west,

measuring from the bridge at Newton Lower Falls to

Cambridge, which at that date included Brighton or

Little ( 'ambridge, four miles, three-cpiarters & fifty-one

rods. The whole town, including the several ponds,

was, at that time, by careful estimate, reckoned to

embrace ]2,lt40 acres. At the same time Charles

Kiver, with its various windings, washed the edges of

the town for about sixteen mdes.

" In 1838, 1800 acres of the extreme southerly part

of Newton were set off to Roxbury. In 1847 about

640 acres at the extreme northwesterly part were set

off to Waltham. After the con.struction of Chestnut

Hill Reservoir by the city of Boston, a slight change

was made in the eastern boundary of Newton by an

exchange of land, so that these beautiful sheets of

water might be entirely within the limits of Bo.ston,

and under its jurisdiction. Brighton having been an-

nexed to Boston, the two cities—Newton and Boston

—for a considerable distance near this point, border

on each other."

The first settlers in Newton did not come in a body,

but family after family. Of those who came into the

town between 1639 and 1664, the date of the organ-

ization of the first church—twenty in number—the

ages of the majority were between twenty-one and
thirty-five. Only five had reached the age of forty

;

two oidy were more than fifty. Notwithstanding the
hardships of frontier life to which they were subjected,

fourteen out of thirty, whose date of death is recorded,
died more than eighty years of age, only eight under
seventy, and only two under fifty.

One of the earliest settlers—Samuel Holly—was in

Cambridge in 1636, and owned a house and eighteen
acres of land adjoining John Jackson in 1639. He
sold six acres of this estate to Edward Jackson in
1643 for five pounds, and died the same year. The
following are the names of the first twenty male set-
tlers of Newton, extending to 1664, which was the
date of the organization of the first church, and the
ordination of John Eliot as the first pastor :
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1639
1640
1643
1644
1647
1647
1649
lOoli

1650
1650
1650
1650
1650
1654
1658
1661

1662
1664
1664
1664

Names.

Dea. John Jackson. . .

Dea. Samuel Hyde. . .

Edward Jackson . . .

John Fuller
Jonathan Hyde ....
Richard Park
Capt. Thomas Prentice
John Parker
Thomas Hammond . .

Vincent Druca ....
John Ward
.fames Prentice . . .

Thomas Prentice (2d)

Thomas Wiswall . . .

John Kenrick . . . .

Isiiac Williams , . . .

.\braham Williams , .

James Trowbridge . .

jjohn Spring
John Eliot, Jr

London .

London .

London .

England .

London .

Cambridge
England .

Wingham

1674-5

Sudbury .

England .

Dorchest'r 1683

1689
1681
1698
1711
1665
1710
1686
1675
1678
1708
1710

1
81

Inventory.

75 £1230
79

79H
87
85

89
71

1

Boston
Roxbury
Watert'wn 171
Dorchester, 1717
Watert'wni 1717
Roxbury

1686
1708

1668

2477 19
534 5

972

412 2
1139 16 2
271 19
88 16 10
286 14

340

85 6 9

240 7

457 2 5

At the time of Mr. Eliot's ordination (1664), there

were twelve young men in Newton of the second gen-

eration, nearly all unmarried.

Prom the year 1664 to 1700 history presents a list

of fifty additional names of settlers within the limits

of Newton :

Sate

of

Set-

tlement.
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Two of this company, Simon Hradstreet and John
Hayiies, litUiineil to the otlii-e ol" Culuuial t iovernors

of MaasachuijctU. ^Ir. liraJslrect owned the estate

now heid by ex-Governor Clailin. Mr. Hayiies re-

ceived the earliest and largest grant of land in Xew-
ton, in li't'M; was thoeen Ciovernor in lli.'t.") ; removed

to Conuei'ticut with Hooker's eoni|>any in IC.'JG, and

was (iovernor of Conneetieut in 1(139. He died in

ltJ54, and this traet of land pa.ssed to his heirs.

The addition of the Uraintree company to the pop-

ulation made the settlers feel that their territory was

insutlicient for their needs, and in May, 1G34, they

petitioned the General Court, either for enlargement

or tlie privilege of removal. Messengers were sent by

Mr. Hooker to e.xplore Ipswich, and the Merrimack
and Connecticut Rivers, and lands adjacent. The ex-

plorers of the Connecticut Valley brought a favorable

report, which led to a petition to the Court, in Sep-

tember, 1634, for leave to move thither. The ques-

tion was a very exciting one, and was debated by the

Court many days. On taking the vote, it appeared

that the Assistants were opposed to the removal and

the Deputies were in favor of it. " Upon this grew a

great difl'erence between the Governor and Assistants,

and the Deputies. So when they could proceed no
further, the whole Court agreed to keep a day of hu-

miliation in all the congregations. Mr. Cotton, by

desire of the Court, preached a sermon that had great

influence in settling the question."

After various and unsuccessful efforts to come to an
agreement, finally, the donations of land, which had
been made provisionally, reverted to their original

owners, and Mr. Hooker and his company obtained

from the Court leave to remove wherever they

pleased, only " on condition that they should con-

tinue under the jurisdiction of Massachusetts." They
took their departure the following year, and settled in

what is now Hartford, Conn. Therefore Connecticut
and its capital city must be ever regarded as the

daughter of Newton. Mr. Trumbull thus describes

their journey

:

"About the beginning of June Mr. Hooker, Mr.
Stone and about one hundred men, women and chil-

dren took their departure from Cambridge and trav-

eled more than a hundred miles through a hideous

and trackless wilderness to Hartford. They had no
guide but their compass, and made their way over
mountains, through swamps, thickets and rivers with
great difficulty. They had no cover but the heavens,
nor any lodgings but those that simple nature af-

forded them. They drove with them 160 head of
cattle, and by the way subsisted on the milk of their*

cows. Mrs. Hooker was borne through the wilder-

ness on a litter. The people carried their packs,
arms and .some utensils. They were nearly a fort-

night on their journey. This adventure was the
more remarkable as many of the company were per-
sons of high standing, who had lived in England in

honor, affluence and delicacy, and were entire strang-

ers to fatigue and danger."

Among the most interesting relics of antiquity are

the records of early times. The quaint forms in

which their doings were expressed, the acts of legisla-

tion made necessary by the emergencies of a new

country, and the minute affairs carefully written

down by those conscientious people, the announce-

ment of which in our own times would hardly be

deemed worth the breath which told tliem or the ink

which recorded them, form an integral part of his-

tory. They reproduce the men and the times in

vivid pictures. They are valuable and instructive,

as showing the elements and beginnings of the civil-

ization, the culture, the security and the elegance

which we now enjoy. The records of the Colony, of

Cambridge, of New Cambridge, and of Newton after

its separation from Cambridge, and the Eegistry of

Deeds of Middlesex County all give copious speci-

mens, on which the historian delights to linger.

The following have reference to various matters

pertaining to the interests of the town, taken, under

the respective dates, from the records of Cambridge
before the separation of Newton :

"At the Court held in Newtowne, Sept. 3, 1634, it

was ordered that no pereon shall take tobacco pub-
liquely under the penalty of eleven shillings, nor

privately, in his own house, or in the house of an-

other, before strangers ; and that two or more shall

not take it anywhere under the aforesaid penalty for

each offence."

"At a Court held at Newton on the 2nd day of the

llth month, 1637, it was ordered that no person shall

be allowed to sell cakes and bunns except at funerals

and weddings."

1647. April 12. "The Town bargained with Waban,
the Indian chief (Eliot's first convert to Christian-
ity), who lived in a large wigwam on Nonantam Hill,

to keep six score head of dry cattle on the south side
of Charles river, and he is to have the full sum of
£8, to be paid as follows : viz., 30«. to James Cutler,
and the rest in Indian corn, at 3s., after Michaeltide
next. He is to take care of them from the 21st day
of this present month, and to keep them until three
weeks after Michaelmas ; and if any be lost or ill, he
is to send word unto the town ; and if any be lost

through his carelessness, he is to pay, according to
the value of the beast, for his defect."

It is said that Waban became an excellent pen-
man, though this record was signed by his mark.
Two deeds at least are in existence in which he wrote
his name, Waban, with Thomas—the name given
him by the English—above it.

1648. Joseph Cooke, Mr. Edward Jackson and Ed-
ward Goffe were chosen commissioners, or referees to
end small causes, under forty shillings,—and for
many years succeeding.

1649. "It is ordained by the townsmen that all



NEWTON.

persons provide that their dogs may do no harm in

cornfields or gardens by scraping up the fish, under

penalty of three pence for every dog that shall be

taken damage feasant, with all other just damages."

A large body of lands at Shawshiue (now Bilierica)

was granted by the General Court to the proprietors

of Cambridge, in 1(J52. Seven Newton men shared

in this distribution. Edwin Jackson obtained 400

acres, which he gave, by will, to Harvard University;

Thomas Prentice, 150 acres ; Samuel Hyde, 80

;

John Jackson, 50; Jonathan Hyde, 20; John Parker,

20 ; Vincent Druce, 15. In 16G2 267 acres of the

common lands "in Cambridge Village were divided

among ninety proprietors. In 1664 a further distri-

bution was made of remaining lauds in Cambridge

Village, and 2675J acres were divided by lot among

133 proprietors. In this distribution Edward Jack-

son received 30 acres ; John Jackson 20, and Thomas

Prentice, 9.

In 1668, Elder Wiswall, Edward Jackson and

John .Tackson were appointed to catechise the chil-

dren at the new church at the village. This was four

years after the settlement of Mr. Eliot as pastor, and

the year of his death. In 1660 it was ordered that

none shall be freemen (voters) but such as are in full

communion with the church of Christ. In 1674 it

was ordered '" that Cambridge Village should be a

distinct military company of themselves, and so to be

exercised according to law,'' and James Trowbridge

was appointed lieutenant.

The doctrine of religious toleration was one of slow

growth among these sturdy Puritans. The following

records stand in striking contrast with the Christian

charity and harmony of modern times :

"1678. Forasmuch as it hath too often happened

that through differences of opinion in several towns,

and on other pretences, there have been attempts by

some persons to erect new meeting-houses,—although

on pretence of the public worship of God on the

Lord's day—yet thereby laying foundations, if not for

schism, and seduction to errors and heresie,s,—for per-

petuating divisions and weakening such places where

they dwell, in comfortable support of the ministry or-

derly settled among them,—for prevention thereof, it

is ordered that no person whatever, without the consent

of the freemen of the town where they live, first orderly

had and obtained at a public meeting assembled for

that end, etc., and every pereon or persona trans-

gressing this law, every such house or houses where

such persons shall so meet more than three times,

with the land whereon such houses stand, and all

private ways leading thereto, shall be forfeited to the

use of the country, or demolished, as the Court shall

order."

" 1680. A society of Baptists were censured by the

Governor in open Court, and prohibited meeting as a

society in the public place they have built, or any

other public house, except such as have been allowed

by lawful authority." In political matters, however,

intellectual advancement led very early to greater

freedom. In 1689 the deputy elected to the General

Court from New Cambridge, John Ward, was " in-

structed to advocate an enlargement of freemen,

—

that all freeholders that are of an honest conversa-

tion and competent estate may have their vote in all

civil elections." This John Ward served as deputy,

or representative, fifty-four days, and was paid one

shilling and six pence per day. He was elected eight

years in succession by his fellow-citizens, and, as the

first of a long series, did eflicient service.

The first person who died in Newton after it was in-

corporated was Nathaniel Hammond, son of Thomas
Hammond, Sr., May 29, 1691, aged forty-eight. The first

couple married were Josiah Bush and Hannah
,

December 26, 1691, Christmas day. They were mar-

ried by James Trowbridge, the first town clerk, and
had three children. The first meeting-house stood

in the centre of the old cemetery on the east side of

Centre Street ; it was built in 1660. The second was
erected on the opposite side of the street, nearly on
the site of the house of the late Gardner Colby. The
vote to build it was passed in 1696 ; the work was

begun in the spring of 1697, and finished early in

1698. The site was given to the town by John Spring.

In 1717 the first meeting-house was still standing,

though for what purpose it was or had been used is

unknown. Mr. Ripley says, in his " History of Wal-

tham," that a committee appointed by that town
was authorized to purchase the second meeting-

house of Newton for a sum not exceeding £80, and
that it was so purchased, and taken down and remov-

ed to Waltham in October, 1731, and there it remain-

ed till 1776. The house in Newton being finished, a

vote was passed " that the Building Committee should

seat the meeting-house, and that age and gifts (towards

the building) should be the rule the Committee should

go by." This absurd custom of " seating the meet-

ing-house," or " dignifying the the pews," created

much ill feeling. It was finally aboli.shed in March,

1800. Before the erection of the first meeting-house,

it is conjectured, in the absence of records, that

meetings were held in a hall in the house of Edward
.lac'icson. Mr. Jackson's house was near the dividing

line between Newton and Brighton, and the meetings

were probably held here four or five years.

In 1699 it was voted to build a school-house before

the last of November, sixteen feet by fourteen, and
the next year " John Staples was hired to keep the

town-school at five shillings per day."

The citizens were not forgetful of the claims of

charity. In March, 1711, it was voted "that once in

the year, upon the Thanksgiving Day that falls in

the year, there shall be a contrybution for the poor,

and that it shal be put into the town treasury, and to

be ordered to the poor by the Selectmen, as they see

need." The deacons were formally set apart to their

office. A price was set on the heads of wolves, black

birds, jays and gray-headed woodpeckers. Provision
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was made in 1733 for a work-l>ouHe, or almshouse, and

the school-house was set apart, in the recess of the

school, us a place of labor for idle and disorderly per-

sons. Sheep and swiue, under proper restrictions,

were permitted to run at large, the latter being " care-

fully yoked and ringed." Deer were protected in the
|

town by law ; and a commission wjis appointed with

reference to the free passage of tish up and down

Charles River. By vote of the town in 179G the

deacons were allowed to " have liberty to sit out of

the deacons' seats in the meeting-house, if they

choose." As late as 1707 the selectmen were appoint-

ed "Asessores, to ases the contrey rates." In 1796

the town voted to have a stove to warm the meeting-

house. This was one hundred and thirty-six years

after the building of the first meeting-house ; and

during all that period, the strong and the weak, the

old and young had gone to the house of God in

company, and sat shivering in winter during the two

services of the Sabbath day, forenoon and afternoon,

knowing only the comfort of an hour's lieat in their

" noon houses," in the recess of worship, when the

women might also refill their little foot-stoves for the

second session.

In 1647 the selectmen of Cambridge, including, at

that time. New Cambridge, made a careful estimate

of the estates in the town at that date, from which it

appears that there were in the whole town 135 ratable

persona ; 90 houses ; 208 cows, valued at £9 each; 131

oxen, valued at £6 each ; 229 young cattle ; 20 horses,

valued at £7 each ; 37 sheep, at £1 10s. ; 62 swine, at

£ 1 ; 58 goats, at 8«.

The vote of the town of Newton in 1699 to build a

school-house is the first record looking to the educa-

tion of the children of Newton,—sLxty-eight years

after the first settlement in Cambridge, or Newtowne;

sixty years after the first record of the sale of land in

Newton by Samuel Holly to John Jackson, and

twenty years after the first town-meeting, when the

first selectmen and town ofiicers of Newton were chos-

en ; eleven years after Newton became an independent

town. Cambridge, however, had a " a fair grammar

school under Master Corlet," in which New Cambridge

had a right until its separation was consummated. As

the early settlers were well-to-do, very likely they

availed themselves of this right for their elder chil-

dren. And, as they were generally intelligent people,

the younger were undoubtedly taught the elements of

learning at home.

The act of the town passed in 1717 to prevent the

destruction of deer, implied that at this date deer

still roamed in the forests of Newton. The late Rev.

James Freeman Clarke said that among his recollec-

tions of the house of Gen. William Hull, his mater-

nal grandfather (now ex-Gov. Claflin's), was a pair of

deer's horns suspended in the hall, belonging to a

victim which was shot by the general from his front-

door.

The " noon houses," above referred to, where the

people could eat their frugal lunch and warm their

freezing limbs on the Sabbath between the services,

were three or four in number. One of them was

erected very near the church ;
a second stood on land

which is now at the junction of Centre and Lyman

Streets, under a great oak tree which formerly stood

there. A chimney was built in the middle of the

rtoor, resting on four pillars, so that the largest pos-

sible number could sit around the common hearth.

The First Baptist Society, one year earlier than their

neighbors, in January, 1795, passed a vote " to pro-

cure a stove to warm the meeting-house." But it was

not till November, 1805, eleven years later, that the

Federal Street Church in Boston, Rev. Dr. Chan-

uing's, by their coiiimittee, " voted that a stove be

permitted to be placed in the Federal Street Church

without expense to the society, to be erected under the

direction of the church committee,—its use to be dis-

continued at any time when the committee shall di-

rect." Thus Newton showed itself in this provision

for the comfort of the worshippers in the house of

God eleven years in advance of one of the wealthiest

churches in Boston.

The first actual settler in Newton was John Jack-

son. He " bought of Miles Ives, of Watertown, a

dwelling-house and eighteen acres of land, very near

the present dividing line between Newton and

Brighton, 24 rods on Charles river, and extending

southerly 120 rods. The same year Samuel Holly

owned a like lot and dwelling-house adjoining Jack-

son's estate, and Randolph Bush owned a like lot and

house adjoining Samuel Holly's estate, and William

Redson or Redsyn owned four acres and a dwelling-

house adjoining Bush's estate, and William Clements

owned six acres and a dwelling-house, adjoining John

Jackson's west, and Thomas Mayhew owned a dwell-

ing-house next the spot where Gen. Michael Jackson's

house stood. These six dwelling-houses were in the

Village in 1639, and perhaps earlier. Samuel Holly

died in 1643, and left no descendants in the town.

We cannot tell who occupied the houses of Mayhew,
Clements, Bush and Redson ; they were transient

dwellers, and were soon gone. Edward Jackson

bought all these houses and the lauds appurtenant be-

fore 1648, and all except Mayhew's were in what is

now Brighton." Twenty-two landholders established

their residence in New Cambridge between 1639, the

date of the coming of John Jackson, and 1664, the

date of the formation of the First Church. Some
historians add two or three others, as William Healy,

Gregory Cook and a third family bearing the name of

Prentice. John Jackson, the first on the list, and
one of the first deacons of the church, brought with

him from England a good estate, and gave an acre of

ground for the first church and cemetery. This acre

now constitutes the old part of the cemetery on the

east side of Centre Street. He wa*i prominent in the

etforts for the incorporation of Newton as an inde-

pendent town, but died eighteen years before it was
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accomplished. A son of his, Edward Jacksou, was

killed by the Indiana at Medfield, when they attacked

aud burned that town, February 21, 1076. The cellar

of his house is still visible at the northeastern p.art of

the town on the Smallwood estate, and the pear trees

still standing there are supposed to have been planted

by him.

The First Settlees of Newton.—Samuel Holly

is supposed to have been in New Cambridge in 1636.

In 1643, the year of his death, he sold six acres of

his land to Edward Jackson for £5.

Samuel Hyde, the second settler, came from London

in 1639, and settled here in 1640. He and his brother

Jonathan bought of Thomas Danforth forty acres of

land in 1647, and 200 of the executors of Nathaniel

Sparhawk, which they held in common until 1662,

when it was divided. He was a deacon of the church.

His descendants to the seventh generation hav^ con-

tinued to own and occupy a part of the same land.

He died in 1685, and his wife the same year.

Edward Jackson, brother of John .fackson, was

born in London about 1602. His youngest sou by his

first marriage, Sebas Jackson, according to tradition,

was born on the passage to this country. He took

the freeman's oath in 1645, and purchajied a farm of

500 acres in Cambridge Village of Governor Brad-

street for £140. Bradstreet bought the same farm in

1638 of Thomas Mayhew for six cows. This farm ex-

tended westward from what is now the line between

Newton and Brighton, and included what is now
Newtonville. The house of Michael Jackson, built

near the centre of this farm, was probably the first

house erected in Newton; it was built before 1638.

Edward Jackson's house was built with a spacious

hall, where probably the first religious meetings were

held. He was representative to the General Court

seventeen years in succession, and was constantly

present at Rev. John Eliot's meetings with the In-

dians. In his will he left 400 acres to Harvard Uni-

versity. He divided his land among his children in

his life-time. From the inventory of his estate it ap-

pears that he owned two slaves, valued at £5 each.

Probably he was the first slaveholder in Newton. He
had nineteen children, and more than sixty grand-

children. Forty-four of his descendants were in the

army of the Revolution.

Joseph Fuller, who settled in New Cambridge

in 1044, bought 750 acres next west of Edward Jack-

son for £160. His farm was bounded uorth and west

by Charles River, south by Thomas Park. By sub-

sequent purchases he increased his lands to 1000

acres, intersected by Cheesecake Brook. He had
eight children, and twenty-two of his descendants

were in the Revolutionary Army. Edward Jackson

and John Fuller had a larger number of descendants

than any other of the early settlers.

Jonathan Hyde, brother of Deacon Samuel Hyde,

came into New Cambridge in 1647, and bought, in

common with Samuel, 240 acres, which they held to-

gether fourteen years. In 165(5 he bought eighty

acres, which was one-eighth of the tract recovered by
Cambridge from Dedliam in a lawsuit ; and settling

upon it, he increased it by later purchases to several

hundred acres. He seemed to have had a taste for

buying and selling land. His house stood on Centre

Street, not far from the residence of Honorable Alden

Speare. His home lot ran 1(50 rods on Centre Street

and 100 rods deep, and included the site of the present

Congregational and Baptist Churches in Newton
Centre. Wiswall's Pond was its southern boundary.

He was twice married, and had twenty-three children.

Some years before his death he divided 400 acres of

his land, with several dwelling-houses standing

thereon, among twelve of his children, and in 1705

gave half an acre to the town for a school-house, at

the junction of Homer and Grafton Streets. This was

six years after the vote of 1699 to build a school

-

house. The Common in Newton Centre, or a large

part of it, is supposed to have been his gift ; there is

no record of the gift. He deeded to his children, " for

a cartway forever," the land which is now the high-

way known as Grafton Street.

Richard Park owned land in New Cambridge in

1636, and in Lexington, three Cambridge farms in

1642. His house probably stood within a few feet of

the site of the present Eliot Church, and was pulled

down in 1800. His farm was bounded west by the

Fuller farm, north by Charles River, east and south

by Edward Jackson, and contained about 600 acres.

He bequeathed his land to his only sou, Thomas.

Tliis son built a corn- mill on the river, where the

Bemis factory was afterwards erected (now called

Nonantum). His inventory showed that the property

standing in his name at the date of his death

amounted to £872. The Cambridge Church owned a

farm and other property in Billerica, and in 1648

ordained that " every person that from time to time

hereafter removed from the church, did thereby resign

their interest in the remaining part of the church

property.'' During the contest for the separation of

Cambridge Village from Cambridge in 1661, Richard

Park petitioned the Court that, in case of a division,

he be permitted to retain his connection with the

Cambridge Church. Possibly this vote might have

influenced him to present such a petition.

Captain Thomas Prentice, born in England in

1621, was in New Cambridge in 1649; for the record

shows that in November of that year he became the

father of twins, Thomas and Elizabeth. He was a

man of military tastes, and chosen lieutenant of cav-

alry in 1656 and captain in 1662. In 1663 he bought

of Elder Frost eighty-five acres of land, in the east

part of Newton, adjoining land of John Ward, and

occupied the place as his homestead fifty years, con-

veying it by deed of gift in 1765 to his grandson,

Captain Thomas Prentice. His house stood on the

site of the old Harbach house, at the corner of Wav-
erly Avenue and Ward Street. He was very prom-



10 HISTORY OF MIDDLKSKX COUNTy, MASSACHUSETTS.

Luent in the Indian wars, niid digtinguished for his

bravery. Ho was lianly and atliletii-, and continued

to ride on horsehark till the eml. His death was

caused by a fall from his borne at the age of eighty-

nine. He was Representative to the General Court

three years, lt>72-74. He had eight children, two of

whom died in chililhood.

John Ward married a daughter of Edward Jackson.

His father came from Kiigland after the birth of

John, and settled in Sudbury. He was the first rep-

resentative of Cambridge Village in the General

Court, and continued to be a representative for eight

years. He was also selectman nine vears, from 1679.

His house stood on the site of the residence of the late

Kphraim Ward, near the Newton reservoir, and was at

first constructed for agarri.soii-housein lG(>l,and used

as such during King I'hilip's War. It was demolished

in 1821, having stood 170 years—the home of seven

generations. He had eight sons and five daughters,

and died in 1708, aged eighty-two.

Thomas Hammond sold his land in Hiugham,

where he had been one of the earliest settlers, in 1662,

and his house in IG.W. In 1650, in connection with

Vincent Druce, he bought land in Cambridge Village,

and in 1658 600 acres more, partly in Cambridge Vil-

lage and jiartly in Brookline, embracing what is now

Chestnut Hill. They held thi.s land in common until

I6fi4. When a division was made the pond fell

within Hammond'.s part, and hence bears his name.

John Parker was also one of the earliest settlers

of Hingham. He bought laud adjoining John Ward
and Vincent Druce in 1650. He had five sons and

five daughters. After his death his property passed

into the hands of Hon. Ebenezer Stone, and after-

wards became the ,Iohn Kingsbury estate. The
Parkers of Newton are from two progenitors,—John

Parker, of Hingham, and Samuel Parker, of Dedham.
Nathaniel Parker, a son of the latter, was born in

Dedham in 1670. The third meeting-house in New-
ton Centre was built on land purchased of him and

conveyed to the selectmen of Newton, measuring one

and a half acres and twenty rods, and valued at £15.

The sale occurred in August, 1716. On thisspot of land

the First Congregational Church has stood ever since.

Vincent Druce came from Hingham, where his

name is found in 1636. The highway from Cam-
bridge to Brookline was laid out through the land of

Druce and Hammond. The old Crafts house on the

Denny place wa.s built by Druce in the end of the

seventeenth or beginning of the eighteenth century,

and must be now nearly two hundred years old.

John Druce, the third of that name, graduated at

Harvard University in 17.38, and became a physician

in W'rentham. The first John Druce was a member
of Captain Prentice's troop of horse. He was mor-
tally wounded in a fight with the Indians at Swanzey
in 1675, and brought home and died in his own
house. He was probably the first victim from Cam-
bridge Village who fell in the Indian wars.

James Prentice, Sr., and Thomas Prentice, Jr.,

bought of Thomas Danforth four hundred acres in

March, 16.50, in Cambridge Village, and in 1657 one

hundred acres more. A part of this purchase is now

included in the old cemetery ou Centre Street, from

which it extended southerly beyond the estate of the

late Marshall Rice. The house was taken down in

1800. It stood a few rods southeast of the Joshua

Loring house, on the east side of Centre Street.

Thomas Prentice (2d) married Rebecca, daughter

of Edward Jackson, Sr. This Edward Jackson gave

him, by will, 100 acres of land called Bald Pate

Meadow, near Bald Pate Hill, and to his daughter

several other parcels of land. Prentice lived to a

great age, and conveyed land to his two sons and two

grandsons. It is recorded that in 1753 " he held one

end of a chain to lay out a highway over Weedy Hill

in New Cambridge."

Elder Thomas Wiswall came to this country from

England about 1637, and was prominent among the

first settlers of Dorchester. He removed to Cam-
bridge Village in 1654, and was ordained " ruling

elder"' of the church at the same time with the ordi-

nation of Rev. John Eliot, Jr., as pastor. His home-

stead of 300 acres included the pond at Newton Cen-

tre, called after him, " Wiswall's Pond," afterwards

" Baptist Pond " and " Crystal Lake." His house

for many years continued in the Wisw.all family.

Later, it was occupied by Deacon Luther Paul and

his heirs, and removed in 1889 to the west side of

Paul Street. He had seven children and more than

thirty grandchildren. His sou Noah was killed in

1690 in an engagement with French and Indians at

Wheeler's Pond, afterwards Lee, N. H. He had
also a son Ichabod, who was minister in Duxbury.
John Kenrick in 1658 bought 250 acres in the

southerly part of Cambridge Village. Kenrick's

Bridge over Charles River is near his house, and per-

petuates his name. In his will he left to his pastor.

Rev. Nehemiah Hobart, four acres of meadow land

or ten pounds, at the option of his son John, who was
his executor.

Captain Isaac Williams was the son of Robert Wil-
liams, who came from Norwich, England. He was
born in Rosbury in 1688 and twice married. He
owned .500 acres adjoining John Fuller. Thomas
Park, John Fuller and Isaac Williams were the first,

and probably for a season the only, settlers in West
Newton. He was a weaver by trade, selectman three

years, and representative to the General Court six

years. His house was about thirty rods northeast of
the West Parish meeting-house. He died in 1707, and,
being a military man, was honored with a military
funeral. He had twelve children and more than fifty

grandchildren. The youngest son, Ephraim, was
father of Colonel Ephraim Williams, Jr., the founder
of Williams College. William, a son of Isaac, grad-
uated at Harvard University in 1683, being one of a
class of only three members. Through the thought-
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fulness and enterprise of Colonel Ephraim, Jr., the

First Church in Newton became the mother of all the

foreign missionary efforts of the Christian church o*

all denominations iu the United States. For the first

foreign missionary organization in this country origin-

ated in the zeal and piety of a few students in Wil-

liams College in the year 1808.

Gregory Cook was a constable in Cambridge Vil-

lage in ItlOT. He removed afterwards to Mendon

and Watertown. In 16(i8 he bought sixteen acres of

Samuel Hyde, bounded on what is now Centre Street,

and south on Samuel Hyde. In 1(565 he bought the

mansion house and six acres, the house being near

the Watertown line. In 1672 Jer-eraiah Dummer, of

Boston, conveyed to him 112 acres, with house and

barn, lying partly in Cambridge and partly in Water-

town, and reaching to Charles River. The house,

having stood about 150 years, was pulled down tn

1823. He was twice married, the second time three

months after the decease of his first wife. He was a

shoemaker by trade.

Abraham Williams bought twelve acres, with a

house, near Mr. Cook, in 1654. After living in Newton

eight years he removed to Marlborough, in 1688. He
was colonel of militia, and representative to the Gen-

eral Court. He kept a public-house in Marlborough

many years, and died 1712, aged eighty-four.

Deacon James Trowbridge, son of Thomas, was

born in Dorchester in 1636. His father was a mer-

chant in the Barbadoes trade, and came from Taun-

ton, England, where his father founded a generous

charity for poor widows, which still is in existence.

Thomas, the father, went home to England in 1644,

leaving his three sons in charge of Thomas Jeffries,

who also came from the same vicinity in England.

In 1637 or 1638 Jeffries removed to New Haven, and

afterwards to England, leaving all his estates and

goods in charge of Henry Gibbons, his steward. The
sons of Thomas obtained possession of their father's

property by a suit at law. The wife of James was

one of the constituent members of the First Church

in Newtou. James also became deacon after the

death of John Jackson. He was selectman of Cam-
bridge Village nine years, and one of the first board

elected. He bought of Governor Danforth eighty-

five acres, with a dwelling-house, bounded by the

highways west and south. He was clerk of the writSi

lieutenant, and two years representative to the Gen-

eral Court.

Lieutenant .John Spring was born in England in

1630, and brought to this country in 1684 by his par-

ents, who settled in Watertown. The son John re-

moved to Cambridge Village about the time of the

ordination of Rev. John Eliot, Jr., in 1664. His

house stood on the west side of Centre Street, oppo-

site the cemetery. He built the first grist-mill in

Newton, on Smelt Brook, afterwards Bulloughs' Mill,

on Mill Street, near the centre of the town. It is

supposed that he gave the land for the second meet-

ing-house, near his own house. On its removal to

Walthiim, and the adoption of the present site by the

First Church, the town re-conveyed the land to his

son John. He died in 1717, aged eighty-seven. He
had ten children, of whom the first nine were daugh-

ters. He was selectman eight years, and representa-

tive three year.s, and served in various other offices,

one of which was sweeper of the meeting-house.

Daniel Bacon removed with his family to Cam-
bridge Village from Bridgewater about 1699, and

bought land in Newton and Watertown, portions of

which were afterwards conveyed to General William

Hull, Oakes Angier and others. The Nonantum
House at Newton stands on one of these estates.

From Oakes Angier this part of the town was at one

period called Angler's Corner.

Captain John Sherman was an early settler of New-
ton, coming from Watertown. His grandson, Wil-

liam, a shoemaker, was the father of Roger Sherman,

one of the signers of the Declaration of Independence,

who was born here, and was also, like his father, a

shoemaker. The family residence, where Roger Sher-

man was born, was on Waverly Avenue, near the es-

tate formerly of Dr. James Freeman, and later of

Francis Skinner, Esq.

Rev. John Eliut, Jr., worthy to close these sketches

of the early settlers of Cambridge Village, was the

son of Rev. John Eliot, the Apostle to the Indians of

Nonantum, and ordained first pastor of the First

Church in Newton, July 20, 1664. He was born in

Roxbury, where his father was pastor, in 1636, grad-

uated at Harvard University in 1656, and began to

preach in 1658, in his twenty-second year. He ac-

quired proficiency in the Indian language, and aided

his father in his missionary work until his ordination,

and afterwards preached once in two weeks to the In-

dians of Stoughton, and occasionally to the Indians

in Natick, whither the Nonantum Indians subse-

quently removed, and where the first Indian Church

was organized ; for the converts were never gathered

into church estate in Newton. He died at the early

age of thirty-three, four years and three months after

his ordination. He is said to have been " an accom-

plished person, of a ruddy complexion, comely pro-

portions, cheerful countenance, and quick apprehen-

sion, a good classical scholar, and having considerable

scientific knowledge for one of his age and period."

He lived on the west side of Centre Street, about

sixty rods north of the old cemetery. The estate was

sold, after the death of his son John, to Henry Gibbs,

and by Gibbs to Rev. John Cotton, Eliot's successor

as pastor, and by heirs of John Cotton to Charles

Pelham, in 1765.

"The number of freemen withinthe limits of Cam-
bridge Village in 1688—the date of its complete sep-

aration from Cambridge—was about sixty-five. In

forty years—from 1639 to 1679—forty-two freemen be-

came permanent settlers, some from England, others

from the neighboring towns. During the same period



12 IIISTOUV OF MIDDLESKX COUNTY, MASSACHUSETTS.

thirty of their sons had reached their iiiojority, mak-

ing in all seventy-two. Bnt five had died and two

had removed, leaving the sum total sixty-five. There

were .six dwelling-houses in Cambridge Village in

1639, all being situated near the present dividing line

between Ne\vt<ui and Brighton (Boston), and all on

farms adjoining one another.

The early inhabitants of Newton, as of New Eng-

land generally, had little idea of the future growth of

the sapling which they had planted. A committee

appointed to lay out a road westward from Boston,

having fulfilled their ta.sk. reported to the body which

appointed them, that they had laid out a road twelve

miles, as far as Weston, and in their opinion that was

as far westward as a road would ever be needed.

The Indians.—The relations of the settlers of

Newton and the Indian population among them, or

on their borders, were never otherwise than friendly.

Besides the original bargain with the Squaw-sachem,

the labors of Mr. Eliot for their religious improve-

ment had a happy influence in winning their good-

will. Nevertheless the brave men of Newton sympa-

thized with the persecuted colonists in other towns,

and readily took up arms in their defence. In King

Philip's War, which broke out in 11)75, Captain

Thomas Prentice was a distinguished figure. On the

26th of June in that year he marched for Mount

Hope, with Captain Henchman, of Boston, and a

company which included twenty men from Cambridge

Village and twenty-one from Dedham. In the first

engagement with the foe, William Hammond, of

Newton, w.is killed, and a few days later John Druce

was fatally wounded. In December following, with

five companies of infantry and his troop of horse, he

marched to Narragan.sett, and performed remarkable

exploits in destroying or scattering the enemy and

protecting the white settlers. In April, 1676, he

rushed to the aid of the colonists and of the troops at

Sudbury, whom the Indians had overpowered, reach-

ing the town in his headlong haste with only six of

his company, and after a brave conflict the Indians

were put to flight. Four men of Cambridge Village

—

Hanchett, Woods, Hides and Bush,—also served in the

war against Philip ; so also did Edward Jackson.

When the Indians in 1690 committed depredations

upon the white settlements in New Hampshire and
Maine, Newton soldiers volunteered at once for their

defence. Captain Noah Wiswall, Gershom Flagg
and Edward Walker defended Portland. Two sons of

Henry Seger were among the military forces at Gro-

ton, of whom one was killed and the other taken

prisoner. A son of Nathaniel Healey also perished,

and on petition of his father to be remunerated for the

gun which was lost by the young hero, the General
Court ordered that twenty shillings should be paid

him outof the public treasury for the lost gun. John
Gibson was slain by the Indians at Portland in 1711.

Ephraim Davenport, another of Newton's citizens,

was stationed some time at Bethel, Maine, to protect

the inhabitants, and afterwards received a pension.

Benjamin t'lark, son of Norman Clark, was taken

prisoner with Nathaniel Seger. Ebenezer Bartlett, of

Newton, had six sons, all of whom went to the de-

fence of Bethel. In the war with the French and In-

dians, in 1755, several citizens of Newton took part,

prominent among whom wereSamuel Jenks, Lieuten-

ant Timothy Jackson, whose wife carried on the farm

while her husband was gone to the war; Colonel

Ephraim Jackson and Colonel Ephraim Williams,

the founder of Williams College, who was shot

through the head in a battle with the French and In-

dians near Lake George, in September, 1755.

Eliot ani> the Nonantum Indians.—One of the

most interesting portions of the history of Newton is

that which relates to the labors of Rev. John Eliot, in

behalf of the Nonantum Indians. The interest arises

from the fact that this was the first Protestant mis-

sionary undertaking on the continent of America
;

the first converts from heathenism in modern times

were among the aborigines of Newton, and the first

translation of the Bible into a heathen language was

here consummated. And thus the town of Newton

,

by a double right, has gained the honor of being

the mother of all the Protestant missionary efforts

from America in modern times—first, through the

labors of Mr. Eliot, and secondly through the found-

ing, by one of her sons, of Williams College. The
Indians of Newton congregated on the slope of

Nonantum Hill, where the ground descends to the

village of Newton and the limits of Brighton. Here

Waban, their chief, had his house, and here Eliot

preached his first sermon to the Indians, October 28,

1646, near the spot where a monument has been be-

gun to his memory. Mr. Eiiot was born at Naseby,

England, in 1604, and died in Roxbury, where his

remains rest, in the cemetery at the corner of Eustis

and Washington Streets, May 20, 1690. When he be-

gan his labors for the Indians he was forty-two yearsof

age, his age, by a singular coincidence, being the same
as the age of Waban. The companions of Mr. Eliot

at this first service for the Indians were Major Gookin,

Rev. John Wilson, of Boston, Elder Heath, of Rox-
bury, and Rev. Thomas Shepard, of Cambridge. The
Indians, by intercourse with the white people, had
gained some ideas of their religion, and were anxious

to know more. The service was opened by prayer in

English. Mr. Eliot's text was Ezek. 37 :
9—" Prophesy

unto the wind," &c. The Indian word for wind was
Waban, which, doubtless, prompted Mr. Eliot to

choose this text ; and it must have been most impres-

sive to the Indian chief to find that his own name was
thus distinctly recognized in Holy Writ, and a

Divine message thus sent, as it were, personally to him.
The discourse lasted an hour and a quarter, and the

whole service three hours.

After the sermon the Indians aflirmed that they
had understood all, and, when liberty was given them
to ask questions, they proposed these six: 1. How
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they could learn to know Jesus Christ ? 2. Did God

understand Indian prayers ? 3. Were the English

ever so ignorant as the Indians at that time? 4.

What is the image of God, which it is forbidden in

the second commandment to worship? 5. If all the

world had once been drowned, how was it now so full

of people? fi. If a father be bad and the child good,

will God be offended with the child for the father's

sake ? Being asked at the close if they were weary,

an Indian replied, "No," and "they wished to hear

more." A few apples were given to the children,

eome tobacco to the men, and another meeting ap-

pointed a fortnight later. At the second meeting more

Indians were present, and deep interest manifested.

The next day one of the Indians visited Mr. Eliot,

at his house in Roxbury, and reported how all night at

Waban'sthe Icdians could not sleep, partly from trou-

ble of mind and partly from wonder at all the things

they had heard.

A work of grace, similar to modern revivals of

religion, followed the services. Many of the English

people came together from neighboring towns to

witness the marvelous effects of the Gospel. Many
Indians from Concord and other towns removed to

Nonantum, that they might be more fully instructed

in the truths of religion. Soon after the third meet-

ing three men and four children begged Mr. Eliot to

establish Christian schools among their people. No
suitable arrangement could be made, and thoy were

sent back to their native forests. But it is an inter-

esting fact that the first call for a mission school came

from the heathen themselves.

An effort was made at Nonantum to bind the peo-

ple together under a civil government. Many Eng-

lish customs were adopted by the Indians. Their

clothing became more seemly, and they gave them-

selves more to the cultivation of the soil as their

dependence for the means of subsistence. There were

doubtless many true converts among them, but never

an Indian church in Newton. It was after their

removal to Natick that a church was first formed, and

the institutions of religion and a civilized life first

took root.

The success of missionary effort among the Indians

created a strong .sensation in England. The British

Parliament passed an act, July 27, 1649, ordering a

collection to be taken up in all the churches of Eng-

land for the advancement of the work. The Society

for the Promotion of Christian Knowledge was formed

in 1698, and the Society for the Propagation of the

Gospel among the Indians and Others in North

America in 1701, and the Scottish Society for the

Propagation of Christian Knowledge in 1709—all of

which grew out of Mr. Eliot's efforts in behalf of the

Indians. " Most of the Indians," says Mr. Shepard,

"set up family prayer and grace before meat, and

sesmed in earnest in their devotions."

The new Indian town in Natick, to which they

removed, was commenced in 16.51, with a day of fast-

ing and prayer, and the preparations for forming the

church by another day of prayer and confession,

October 13, 1652. Under the superintendence of Mr.
Eliot the Indians built afoot-bridge in Natick, across

Charles River, securing to them communication with

other Indians as far south as Pegan Hill, in Dover,

near which many traces of dwellings remain, and
many traces of their civilization have survived in the

rose-bushes and fruits growing around their homes.

A fire-proof building, for a free library, now stands

in South Natick, on the site of this central point of

Indian civilization and church life. A single head-

stone remains here, the memorial of the Indian pas-

tor, Daniel Takawarabait, who died September 17,

1716. In 1670 there were two teachers and between

40 and 50 communicants. In 1763 there were only

37 Indians; in 1797 not more than 20; and in 1843

but a single individual known to be living in whose
veins flowed Indian blood.

In 1687 Cotton Mather wrote, " There are six regular

churches of baptized Indians in New England and

18 assemblies of catechumens, professing the name of

Christ. Of the Ir-dians there are twenty-four preach-

ers of the word. There are also four English preach-

ers who preach the gospel in the Indian tongue." In

the year 1671 Mr. Eliot recognized missionary sta-

tions in places now known as Natick, Stoughton, Graf-

ton (between Natick and Grafton), Marlboro', Littleton,

Tewksbury and Pawturket Falls, liear Lowell. Sev-

eral of them had regular worship and a native preacher.

At Natick the meetings were assembled by beat of

drum.

Mr. Eliot's evangelistic efforts bore fruit on the

other side of the globe. Dr. Leusden wrote to Cotton

Mather that the example of New England had awak-

ened the Dutch to attempt the evangelization of the

heathen in Ceylon and their other Indian po.ssessions,

and that multitudes there had been converted to Chris-

tianity. This is another star in Newton's crown.

The most remarkable service performed by Mr.

Eliot for the Indians was the translation of the whole

Bible into their tongue. To prepare himself for this

work, as well as for preaching to the people, he took

into his family an Indian who could speak both lan-

guages. Mr. Eliot's early training fitted him specially

for the work. He was proficient in linguistic studies,

as well as in Hebrew and Greek. He is said to have

written out the entire translation with one pen. The
New Testament was printed at Cambridge in 1661,

and the whole Bible, with the Psalms in metre, in

1663. It was the first Bible printed in America. A
thousand dollars in gold ha.s been refused, of late, for

a copy. An Indian who had been taught the art of

printing was employed in the work. A second edi-

tion was printed in 1685. There were 2000 copies of

each edition.

During Philip's War the Indian converts mani-

fested unshaken fidelity to the English, and often

served as guides and otherwise. The English, how-
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ever, were so sensitive, and so guspioiuiis of every red

man, that the (ieneral Court, ou the breaking out of

the war, ordered them to be removed, 200 in number,

to DetT Isliiud, in Boston harbor.

It is not dilliiult to trare the way in which the ter-

ritory of Newton was (ii.-iiributed anionp its early in-

habitants. \ map drawn in 170(1 nuirks the bonuda-

ries of the first settlers. Charles River at first

bounded three sides of Newton, except the small por-

tion denominated the " Walertown weirs," and deter-

mined mainly the location of its several villagss.

Wherever tiie falls or the river indicated a water-

power, and the possibility of a profitable manufactory,

there a village sprang into existence. Such was the

orijjin of Newton, long called Angier's Corner and

Newton Corner, being at the northeast corner of the

town, and adjacent to the Watertown fisheries, New-

ton I'pper and Lower Falls, and Heuiis' Factories,

since called North Newton and Nonantum. In later

times, the stations of the Boston and .Albany Rail-

road, and the New York and New England, now all

included in the Newtou Circuit Railroad, determined

the villages of Newtonville, West Newton, Auburn-

dale and Riverside, and Chestnut Hill, Newton Cen-

tre, Highlands, and the younger .stations, Wabau,

Eliot and Woodland. The cession of a small terri-

tory to Waltham sacrificed a part of this water limit.

The first settlers of Newton were in the northeast

corner of the town, Johu and Edward .Jackson, Holly,

Bush anil Radson, reached to the river. William

Clement name ne.xt to Edward Jackson, and the lat-

ter owned all the remainder to Centre Street. Cross-

ing Centre Street, westwardly, came Gregory Cook
;

next him the large estate of 600 acres of Richard

Park ; then John Fuller, extending west, to the river.

S(.uth of Fuller was Capt. Isaac Williams. South of

(iregory Cook, on the west side of Centre Street, was

the great farm of Thomas .Mayhew, of .500 acres, sold

to Gov. Bradstreet in 1638, and by the latter, in 1646,

to Edward Jackson, including much of Newtonville.

Returning to Centre Street, on the east side were

some smaller estates, and south of them Deacon Sam-

uel Hyde, on both sides of the street, still bearing bis

name. South of this, on the west side. Rev. .John

Eliot, Jr., afterwards Rev. John Cotton, John Spring,

and then the large holdings of Jonathan Hyde, reach-

ing to the Baptist Pond. South of Samuel Hyde, on

the east side of Centre Street, were Col. Ward, Rob-

ert I'rentice and Henry Gibbs (the Rice estate), and

a little farther south, Wiswall, John Clark and the

great estate of Governor Haynes. E.ast of Gibbs was
Joseph Barllett, and east of Bartlett, Thomas Ham-
mond, including Hammond's Pond and reaching

nearly to the limit of Newton in that direction. John
Parker and Ebene/.er Stone were west and .southwest

of Thomas Hammond. Thomas Prentice was on
Waverly Avenue, and .south of him the Wards and
Clark. The larger farms soon began to be divided

among many proprietors. Johu and Elijah Kenrick

settled near the river at the south part of the town,

and John Kenrick on Waverly Avenue. As the

northeast corner of Newton was the first to be set-

tled, the southeast, in later times, seems nearly the

la.st. Vincent Druce was there at first, whose name

was spelled six different ways. Could Erosamon

Drew, whose saw-mill hummed there on a little brook,

be a kinsman of Druce, under this kindred name? This

large tract of land, lying, till lately, in a nearly wild

state, was in early times in the hands of Tories, who,

it is said, hid in the thick woods some of King

George's cannon, intending to use them, when cir-

cumstances should favor, in behalf of the Royal cause.

The Tories, however, were forced to flee to the British

Provinces, and their property was confiscated and

sold, and divided among many proprietors. Erosa-

mon Drew's house was called " the Huckleberry

Tavern," because the tenant then occupying it was

remarkably .successful in making a kind of wine from

the huckleberries of the neighboring pastures, which

the scattered residents of the neighboring portions

of Newton and Brookline were fond of quaffing when
they visited the locality ou election days and other

festive occasions.

In West Newton beyond the meeting-house was

Miller, Bartlett, the Segers and John Barbour, who
set out the great elm-tree by " the Tavern House,"

and, in the progress of years and in the transitional

period from the old to the new, was Seth Davis, who
first taught geography and astronomy in his private

academy, and was blamed for it, and who set out

most of the trees on the older public streets of West
Newton ; the Greenoughs, Stones and Fullers, and

Samuel Hastings, with his tan-yard near the meet-

ing-house. In what is now' Auburndale, the estate of

John Pigeon, the sturdy patriot whose donation of

two field-pieces to the town sounded the alarm of the

Revolutionary War; Thomas Greenwood, Alexander

Shepard, Daniel Jackson and William Robinson ; on

the road to the Lower Falls, the Murdock and Dix
estates; still farther south, John Staples, the first

school-master, also deacon and town clerk, who gave

to the town " seventeen acres of woodland for the

support of the ministerial fire from year to year

annually ;
" the Collins families. At the Lower

Falls we find the names of Jonathan Willard, the

iron-worker, Wales, Curtis, Crehore, Hagar and
Rice, the latter extensive paper manufacturers,—one
of them, Thomas, selectman eighteen years, repre-

sentative three years, twice elected to the Senate and
two years member of the Executive Council, at whose
mill the paper was manufactured for the Boston Daily
Transcript forty years, and who, in the days of the

War of the Rebellion, was to Newton what John A.
Andrew, the war Governor, was to Massachusetts

;

and his younger brother, Alexander K., mayor of

Boston in 1856-57, and Governor of Massachusetts in

1875-76, and member of Congress eight years. Still

farther south and southeast were the estates of Cap-
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tains Clark, Hyde and Woodward, in whose house, !

still standing, family worship has been maintained

for nine generations ; at the Upper Falls, Cheney,

Gibbs, Bixby, Elliott and Pettee, a man of infinite

ingenuity and perseverance, whose machine-shops and

factories built up the village, and who, more than any

other, secured the building of the first railroad from

Needham, through Newton Centre to Boston ; on the

southern extension of Centre Street, Mitchell's

tavern, the Winchesters; at Oak Hill, the Richard-

sons, Stones, Wiswalls, Deacon King, Hall, Richards,

Wilson, Rand, Kingsbury and Goody Mary Davis,

the widow, who died aged 116 years, and cultivated

her garden with her own hands in her old age, and

whose portrait hangs on the walls of the Massachu-

setts Historical Society in Boston.

Historical Items.—In the early periods of New
England history the parish and the town were co-

extensive. The laws of Massachusetts did not recog-

nize the church as distinguished from the parish

;

hence parish business was town business and eccles-

iastical legislation was only town legislation. The

town called and settled the minister, and provided

for his support. The town also paid the funeral ex-

penses of the pastors when they were dead. When
Mr. Meriam, the fourth pastor, died, in August, 1780,

the town appointed a committee to make provision

for the funeral. Colonel Benjamin Hammond lent

£195 towards these expenses, " which included £60 to

Deacon Bowles, for making a coffin," and £31 paid

to Joshua Murdoch " for half barrel of beer and half

a cord of wood for the funeral." The town also regu-

lated the exercises of worship. About 1770 a peti-

tion was offered for a committee " to consider respect-

ing the introduction of the version of the Psalms by

Tate and Brady, with the Hymns annexed." The

report was favorable, and adopted. About the same

time it was voted in town-meeting " that trees be set

out to shade the meeting-house, if -any persons will

be so generously-minded as to do it."

The first five ministers of the town were called and

settled under this system. The first church was prop-

erly a colony of the First Church in Cambridge.

The records of the church were burned with the

house of Mr. Meriam, the fourth pastor, March 18,

1770. King Philip's War broke out soon after the set-

tlement of the second pastor, Mr. Hobart. Had the

Nonantum Indians remained unchristianized and un-

civilized, and joined with the other Indian tribes to

exterminate the English settlers, humanly speaking

the latter would have been forced to leave the coun-

try. But, remaining faithful to their friends, they

saved the situation, and New England was preserved

from destruction, almost in its inception, through the

influence of Christian missions to the heathen.

In 1779 six new pews were built in the First Parish

meeting-house, slips or long benches being removed

to make room for them. These pews were leased at

auction annually at the March meeting, "the rent to be

paid in Indian corn, not less than half a peck to be

accepted as a bid, and delivered to the Treasurer."

The first year twenty-two bushels were received, and
at the next annual meeting " sold in lots to suit pur-

chasers." After eight years the custom was discon-

tinued, and pew rents were ever afterwards paid in

money.

Near the ancient meeting-house were erected the

stocks, for the punishment of those who misbehaved

at church or in town-meeting. We do not know pre-

cisely where they stood, or at what date they were

erected. But in the Town Records of 1773 it is

stated that "a committee was chosen to examine the

church stocks." The office of constable of Newton,

we may infer, was not eagerly sought after. One part

of his duty was to collect the annual taxes. In 1728

Mr. Joseph Jackson was elected constable, butdeclin-

ed the office, and " did immediately pay his fine, as

the law requires.'' The amount was £5. The pay of

the Representative to the General Court in 1729 was

£45 6.S. A new pound for the confinement of stray

cattle was built of stone near the site of the Unitarian

Church, Nevvton Centre in 1755, where it remained

about 110 years. Cypress Street, on which it stood,

was hence called Pound Lane until a recent period.

In 1755 it was voted to provide a cotton velvet pall

for use at funerals, and in 1763 to " let the velvet pall

to other towns," when not in use in Newton, " the

persons hiring it to pay half a dollar every time it is

hired." In 1799 it was voted to buy two hearses for

the use of the town, when the money could be spared

out of the treasury. Also in 1760, " that persons

working out their highway taxes on the road should

be paid three pence per hour, and each team that is

able to carry a ton weight, the same sum."

Newton Upper Falls.—The beginning of New-
ton Upper Falls was a saw-mill erected by John

Clark about 1688, on Charles River, where the water

falls twenty feet perpendicularly, and then descends

about thirty-five feet in half a mile. There was an

eel-weir above the falls which .John Clark bought of

the Indians, together with all the water power, for £3

lawful money. The river was called by the Indians

Quinobequin, and the Indian who signed the deed of

conveyance of the water privilege was William

Nehoiden or Nahaton. The eel-weir was a dam built

by the Indians near the upper bridge, and the yard of

the present cotton-mill. Its foundation stones can

Titill be seen in the bed of the river. General Elliott

erected snuft'-mills at that point later, on the Newton

shore. In 1720 this busy spot included a saw-mill,

fulling-mill, grist-mill and eel-weir, and Noah Parker

became the sole owner. The property afterwards fell

to Thomas Parker, and was sold later on to Simon

Elliott, a tobacconist from Boston, a man of much
enterprise. In the first decade of the nineteenth

century he was the owner of one of the only three

" family carriages " in Newton.

The first dwelling-house in the village of the
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Upper Falls was erected about 1800 and still stands.

Some of the timber used in l)uil(liiip; the cotton factory

on the Needham side wiis taken from a prize at sea,

during the War of 1812, and carried into Boston and

sold at auction. About 1829 a hotel wats built at the

Falls, and kept as a house of entertainmeut twenty

years. It became afterwards a private dwelling. A

stage-coach for Boston, until near 1850, left New-

ton Upper Falls every morning at 9 o'clock, going

through Newton Centre and Brighton, and left Boston

on its return at 3 p.m. ; fare, fifty cents. It was through

the energy of a Mr. Whiting, of Dover, Massachusetts,

who for ten years courted fortune in the gold-mines

of Mexico, that cotton manufacturing was first intro-

duced into Tepic, a city near tlie western coast of that

republic. The cotton machinery was built by Mr.

IVtlee at the Upper Falls, and sent to Mexico in 1837,

in charge of workmen employed for three years to go

thither and set up the machinery and instruct the

native workmen, till they could mauage the business

themselves. Other factories followed, and were estab-

lished with satisfactory results in Durango, Tunai,

Colima, Santiago, Cura(;oa, Mazatlan and other

places.

The Worcester Turnpike (Boylston Street) was

chartered March 7, 180(>, and the road constructed

through Newton in 1808. Of the 000 shares of stock,

valued at $250 each, si.vteen were held by citizens of

Newton. The road paid but few dividends, and

finally the stockholders lost their entire capital. In

] 883 the county commissioners laid out the portion

in Newton as a public highway, and in 1841 the pro-

prietors surrendered their charter.

The village of Newton Upper Falls lies outside of

the Newton Circuit Railroad, on the line of the

AVoonsocket Branch of the New York and New Eng-

land Railroad. It has the appearance of an old vil-

lage, built more for utility than beauty, although

the natural scenery is not equaled by that of any

part of Newton. The river Charles here cuts its way

between the hills, and in some places, as in the rear

of the Baptist meeting-house, the landscape has strik-

ing charms. The first owner, Nahaton, a sagamore of

the Punkaiioag tribe, sold a part of it to John Man-

gus for a gun. It was bought of him by the English

colonists. In 1700 the rest of it wa-s sold to Robert

Cooke, of Dorchester, for £12.

The large " stone barn," .so-called, on Oak St., a con-

spicuous feature of the Upper Falls, was built by Mr.

Otis Pettee, Sr., in the period of the silk excitement

in Eastern Massachusetts, when Mr. John Keurick,

nurseryman, living on Waverly Street, had for .sale

many thousands of Morus Mullicanlis trees, deeming

that the raising of silk-worms and the manufacture of

silk was likely to become an important industry

of Newton. It was generally conjectured among the

villagers that the " stone barn " was designed for a

nursery of silk worms and a depot for the manufac-

ture of silk. But Mr. Pettee would never reveal to

any one his purpose in rearing the structure. It stood

unused for years, and then part of it was utilized for

a common stable. It is a singular fact that, after

more than half a century, the silk manufacture is

actually established at last as a feature of the industry

of Newton Upper Falls. The weather-beaten brick

mills, once a cotton factory, employ 130 operatives,

engaged in spinning silks, silk yarns, filoselles, em-

broidery-silk and other goods of like character, the .

raw material in the original packages being brought

from France, Italy, China and Japan.

In 1639 certain parties in Dedham dug a canal de-

signed to divert the waters of Charles River into East

Brook, a tributary of the Neponset, and actually se-

cured to themselves one-third of the water of the

Charles. lu 1777 a petition to the Governor and

Council, and another in 1807, by General Elliott,

invoking the aid of the town of Newton in behalf

of its own citizens, saved the remainder of the

water to its rightful proprietors. The .settlement

caused much litigation.

It is said that salmon, shad and alevvives used to

find their way, before dams were built, as far as this

point.

At the northeast corner of Boylston and Chestnut

Streets, Upper Falls, is a large, wooden house, which,

from 1808 to 1850, bore the name of the "Manufac-

turers' Hotel," a place of considerable business, where

merchants from Boston and the manufacturers of the

village held frequent sessions to discuss their mutual

interests.

The Lower Falls on Chables River are two

miles below the Upper Falls. In 1703 John Lever-

ett, of Boston, conveyed to John Hubbard, also of

Boston, four acres of land at the Lower Falls, bound-

ed on one side by a forty-acre lot, then belonging to

Harvard University. This land has since been the

site of all the mills on the Newton side of the river.

In 1705 John Hubbard conveyed to his son, Nathan-

iel, one-half of this lot, with half the iron works

thereon, and half the dam, flume, stream and run-

ning-gear belonging to the forge. Jonathan Willard

erected here, in 1704, iron works, forge and trip-ham-

mer, which was the beginning of business at the

Lower Falls*. In 1722 Mr. Willard became sole

owner of the entire plant, and was the principal

man of the iron works and of the village for

nearly half a century. He was the first Baptist

in Newton, and a member of the First Baptist

Church in Boston; and for many years he and

his daughter were the only professors of that faith.

Many kinds of business requiring water-power have

been carried on here, as iron works, saw, grist, snufl',

leather and paper-mills, calico-printing, machine-

shops, etc. But for the last half-century the manu-
facture of paper has been the leading industry.

Eight or ten paper-mills, in constant operation, have
supplied the traders aud newspaper presses of Boston

and other cities and towns. The names of ex-Gov-
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ernor Rice and Hon. Thomas Rice, an influential and

patriotic citizen, are prominent in this manufacture.
^

The first paper-mill was erected by Mr. John AVare,

son of Profes-ior Ware, Sr., of Harvard College, in

1790, and father of Mrs. Eb nezer Starr, whose hus-

band was the physician of the Lower Falls. The

business was afterward enlarged under the manage-

ment of the Curtises, Crehores and Rices. The work

was at first done by hand ; but after the invention of

the Fourdrinier press, in England, the capacity of

manufacture was greatly enhanced. The first ma-

chine of this kind in use in the United States was

placed in a mill at the Lower Falls.

In 1800 there were only thirteen houses in the vil-

lage. The only post-ofRce in Newton, previous to

1820, was at the Lower Falls. A stagecoach ran

from the Lower Falls to Boston three times a week.

The old Cataract Engine Company, at the Lower

Falls, is the oldest lire organization in Newton.

Their first tub was of wood, afterwards replaced by

copper. Stringent rules were adopted to prevent the

members from using spirituous liquors to an immod-

erate extent. The members paid an admission fee of

$5.00. The organization lasted from 1813 to 184{i.

Paper-making has been carried on here for much
more than a century. The Crehore Mill, still in op-

eration, as well as others, has proved a benefit to the

whole country. Silk and hosiery manufactories and

machine-shops have also been among the industries

of the village. Mr. Isaac Hagar, of the Lower Falls,

was a member of the School Committee thirty years.

West Newton.—Early in the present century

West Newton became a kind of centre of several

lines of stage-coaches ; at one period as many as

thirty made it a regular stopping-place daily. The
private academy of Master Seth Davis, and his pub-

lic spirit, enterprise and taste, probably did more than

anything else in the first quarter of this century to

bring the village into prominence. The fixing of a

station of the Boston and Albany Railroad here was

among the important elements of its prosperity in

modern times. The Normal School removed hither

from Lexington, and the presence of those rare edu-

cators. Rev. Cyrus Pierce and Mr. Eben Stearns, the

head masters of it, and the influence of Horace Mann,

the first secretary of the Massachusetts Board of Edu-

cation, who lived in his estate on Chestnut Street

while he held that office, and the academy of the Al-

iens afterwards, and the educating influences of the

town-meetings held there, at one period, alternating

with sessions at Newton Centre, completed the circle

of elements which gave the village fame and distinc-

tion. As early as 16G1 Thomas Parker, John Fuller

and Isaac Williams were probably the only settlers in

this part of Newton. The house of Isaac Williams

stood about thirty rods northeast of the site of the

present meeting-house. The old Shepard house was

near by, and, not far away, Peter Durell. The names
of Fuller, Park, Craft, Jackson and Captain Isaac

2-iii

and Col. Ephraim Williams were among the most
prominent. The Robinson farm, of 200 acres, cov-

ered what is now Auburudale, reaching to the river.

Here also was the Bourne house, Nathaniel Whitte-

more's tavern, in 1724, and John Pigeon, that sterling

patriot of the Revolution. Capt. Isaac Williams was
the ancestor of all of that name whom Newton delights

to honor, who shone in the pulpit and the field, as

scholars, statesmen and soldiers. Here also lived,

till 1739, Col. Ephraim Williams, whose will, estab-

lishing Williams College, has perpetuated his name
and fame. Two or three roads were laid out through

the Williams land, which are still among the most

important highways of the town. Dr.Samuel Wheat,

the village physician, in and after 1733, bought fifty-

five acres of this farm. In 1767, a hundred and three

years after the formation of the First Church in

Newton, Jonathan Williams and others petitioned

the town that money might be granted from the town

treasury to support preaching in the meeting-house

in the west part of the town in winter. The petition

was not granted; but in 1778, eleven years later, by
order of the General Court, in October, a line was

drawn establishing and defining the West Parish.

This implies that the people had already quietly built

a church for their accommodation, in fiiith that their

reasonable request would at some future time be

granted. The action of the Court gave the inhabit-

ants liberty to elect to which parish they would be-

long. For the erection of this new parish was not

without opposition. The parish covered a wide ter-

ritory, and numbered not more than thirty-five or

forty families, and from fifty to sixty dwellings. The
first church built here, of very modest dimensions,

and afterwards enlarged, was, after a time, removed,

and became first the Town Hall, and when Newton

grew into a city, was again variously enlarged and

improved, and is now the City Hall. The three elm-

trees in front of what was the Greenough estate were

planted by fond parishioners. John Barbour kept

the hotel and set out the great elm before it. The
salary of Parson Greenough, the first minister in

West Newton, was £80 and fifteen cords of wood an-

nually. All the ministers of his day on public occa-

sions wore powdered wigs. Rev. Mr. Greenough

held on to the last to small clothes, knee-buckles and

shoe-buckles, and to the cocked hat, until the boys

followed him when he walked in the streets of

Boston.

As the settlement of Newton (Newton Corner)

was the beginning of Cambridge Village (Newton),

its growth in population and wealth has wonderfully

extended. The earliest station of the Boston and

Albany Railroad at this point, and until 1845-50,

was a small room partitioned off from the westerly

end of a harness-maker's shop. The village naturally

extended southerly towards Newton Centre, where the

meetingphouse has stood since 1721, and onwards

toward Newton Highlands and Oak Hill, and later in
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every olher direction. Karlow Park was the generous

gift of u citizen, Mr. J. P. Farlow, given on condition

that the ground should be graded and adorned by the

city autliorilits. The first important .streets in Cam-

bridge Villflge were made in tliis part of Newton,

—

the road from IJrightun westward (Washington

Street) and the Dedham Koad (Centre Street). Non-

antum Hill, overlooking the village, was the home of

Waban, and here, among the wigwams, near the Eliot

monununt, the apostle to the Imlians first preached

to them the Gospel. Farther south, on Waverly

Avenue, was the home of Mr. John Kenrick, Jr.,

the first to embark in the nursery business in

the vicinity of Boston, and the Hydes, in the same

business on Centre Street, both descendants of the

first settlers. Mr. Kenrick was a man of substance,

the first president of the first Anti-Slavery Society in

the United States, and a liberal contributor to its

funds; also, an efficient helper of the temperance

reformation, and a friend of the poor and unfortu-

nate in his native town. He left a fund, still exist-

ing, to be loaned to enterprising young mechanics

just starting in business. In his vicinity lived Dr.

James Treeman, grandfather of Dr. James Freeman

(Marke. He was once pastor of King's Chapel, Boston,

and under his lead that ancient church passed from

the Episcopal faith to the Unitarian. Indian Lane

(Sargent Street) was probably a path often trodden

by the aborigines, and hence its name. Cotton

Street, on the south side of the first cemetery, was

one of the great streets of the town, accommodating

all who came from " the east part,'' cither to church

on the Sabbath or to Lieut. John Spring's mill, on

Mill Street.

Is EWTONVII.LE was chiefly known, in early times, as

the Fuller farm, the residence of Judge Fuller (whose

houseoccupied the same site now owned by ex-Gover-

nor Claflin), and afterwards of his son-in-law, Gen.

William Hull. This land was part of the fiirm pur-

chased in 1638 of Thomas Mayhew, by Governor

Simon Bradstreet. Newtonville in 1842 was only a

flag-station of the Boston and Albany Railroad. A store-

house for the Miller Bullough's grain stood near the

track on Walnut Street, and an occasional traveler,

wishing the cars to stop for him, was obliged to raise

the flag. The establishment of the mixed high

school here, and, later, the high school for the whole

town, have given it impoitance.

Newton Highland.s was chiefly known as the site

of Mitchell's Tavern, kept in later times by Nancy
Thornton, at the corner of Centre and Boylston

Streets, and Bacon's Tavern, afterwards the estate of

Dea. Asa Cook, wheelwright and undertaker, at the

junction of Boylston and Elliott Streets. These two

hotels caught the patronage of an extensive travel

before the days of railroading, and were also the

scene of convivial gatherings. A stone shop, for

the blacksmith's craft, at the corner of Woodward
Street, completed the conveniences of village life.

The railroad depot, of pink granite, was built by the

Boston and Albany llailroad Corporation in 1886.

The station has been fated to wear various names.

The first was Oak Hill, though there was never a

more level plain, and the heights of Oak Hill were

f:;r to the southeast ; then it became Newton Dale

and finally Newton Highlands ; but the high land is

a considerable distance away, to the southeast, south-

west and west. In this vicinity reside the twin

brothers Cobb, Darius and Cyrus, artists ; they were

born in Maiden, where their father, Rev. Sylvauus

Cobb, was settled as a Universalist minister, and first

saw the light of this world in the same house and

the same chamber with the celebrated missionary to

Burmah, the Rev. Adoniram Judson.

AUBURNDALE anciently was best known as the home

of the fervent patriot of the Revolution, John Pigeon.

His house afterwards becanje, for several years, the

Newton Almshouse. In 1800, within the present

limits of Auburndale, extending to the Weston Bridge,

there were only seven houses. The old Whittemore

tavern stood near the bridge, at Woodland Avenue,

and was known as a house of entertainment in 1724.

The starting of the village is due to a casual conver-

sation in Newton Centre between Rev. Messrs. Gilbert,

of West Newton, and Rev. Chas. du Marisque Pigeon,

a scion of the John Pigeon household, in reference

to Hull's Crossing, as the possible site of a future

village, and a good place for the profitable investment

of funds. Lasell Seminary has been one of the chief

elements of its prosperity. The Rev. Mr. Pigeon and

Rev. Messrs. Woodbridge and Partridge, his neigh-

bors, in this so-called " Saints' Rest," alter protracted

consultation, agreed, in memory of the line,

*' Sweet Auburn, loveliest village of the plain,"

on the name Auburndale, which it has ever since en-

joyed.

The three new stations on the Newton Circuit Rail-

road, lying between Newton Highlands and River-

side, are just becoming the nucleus of new villages in

Newion.

Eliot, near Elliott Street, and near the old toll-

house, still standing, on the former Worcester Turn-

pike, seems, from its spelling, to be designed as a

memorial of Rev. John Eliot, the apostle to the

Indians. Very near it is theiiouse of the renowned
General Cheney, and the home of the Ellis family, the

birthplace of two distinguished Unitarian clergymen

of Boston, Rev. Messrs. George E. and Rufus Ellis.

The plain north of Eliot is said by geologists to have
once been an extensive lake, whose dark ooze is turned

up twenty or thirty feet below the surface. Singular

hollows exist, of funnel shape, at various points, at the

bottom of which large trees are growing.

Che.stnut Hill, now a lovely and cultivated swell

of laud, adorned with tasteful dwellings and evergreen

shrubbery, was for many years a dry and breezy ex-

panse of pasture. On Beacon Street, on the northern
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side of the hill, still stands the old Hammond house,

built in 1730, an ancient uupainted structure with its

rear facing the street, and the roof descending almost

to the ground. The ancient Kingsbury house was

the home of John Parker, who came from Hingham

in 1650. Its huge chimney and broad, uncomely

barns near the house, and mighty overhanging elm,

proclaim its age. In 1700 part of the estate passed

into the hands of Hon. Ebenezer Stone. The Dr.

Slade house, corner of Beacon and Hammond Streets,

was honored by the reception of Dom Pedro, Emperor

of Brazil, when he visited the United States in 1^76.

The house of Judge I>owell was built by one of the

Hammonds in 1773, and remained in the family over

eighty years. It came to the Lowells after 1850.

Hammond's Pond covers about twenty acres. Thomas,

after whom it was named, was one of the three richest

colonists of Newton, the other two being John and

Edward Jackson. Another settler in this vicinity

was Vincent Druce, who built the house on the Denny

place, about 1695. Before the war of King Philip

Thomas Greenwood, the weaver and town clerk, lived

in this vicinity. Up to 1850 all Chestnut Hill, except

the forests and pasture lands, was occupied as market

gardens by Messrs. Kingsbury, Woodward and the

Stones.

Up to that time the streets were grassy lanes,

bordered by weeds and brush. In about 1850 an arti-

ficial channel was dug from Hammond's Pond, by

which the overflow was to be conducted into Smelt

Brook, thus increasing the power of the mill on Mill

Street, formerly Lieutenant John Spring's. The
grounds near the railroad station were laid out by

Frederick Law Olmstead, and the station itself is a

gem of architecture by the late H. H. Richardson, of

Brookline. The more recent inhabitants have been

sometimes called "the Essex Colony," because its

chief families originated in Essex County, Mass.; the

Saltonstalls and Lees being from Salem, and the

Lowells from Newbury.

Waban is said to have been a favorite hunting-

ground of Waban, tiie chief of the Nonantum Indians,

where he encamped spring and fall with parties of

his people, to hunt and fish along the banks of the

Quinobequin (Charles Eiver). He was Eliot's first

convert, and it is fitting that these two villages, side

by side, should be a memorial of their relations, as

Gospel teacher and catechumen. The region now
constituting Waban was the farm of John Staples,

the first schoolmaster of Newton. The farm has

passed through several hands since his time, as Moses

Craft, 1729; Joseph Craft, 1758; William Wiswall,

1788; David Kinmouth, merchant of Boston, and

William C. Strong, whose extensive nurseries are

everywhere celebrated. Moffiitt Hill, on this estate,

was so called after the name of a resident on it for a '

brief period. When the new streets of Waban were

built to its summit, the name was changed to Beacon

Hill, because for several years the beacon of the

United States Coast Survey and of the State Survey

of Massachusetts was its most striking feature.

Woodland Station is chiefly interesting, thus

far. as the seat of the Woodland Park Hotel and the

Newton Cottage Hospital. Near the former is the

site of the old Stimson place, so called, well known
by residents of a hundred or more years ago. It owes

its importance to the station built here on the Newton
Circuit Railroad. Being continuous with Auburn-

dale, of which it is really only a suburb, the pleasant

scenery and palatial homes of that village are justly,

claimed as belonging to both villages alike.

Riverside.—This station, the seat of Miss Smith's

Home and Day School, is the point between Wood-
land and Auburndale, where the Charles River, just

below the tracks of the railroad, furnishes a delight-

ful naval station. Here the Boston and Albany Rail-

road sends off a branch fi-om the main road to the

Lower Falls, and on the opposite side the circuit road

comes in from Newton Centre. The club-house of

the Newton Boat Club, and the romantic boat-build-

ers' shop on the river below, are the main features.

The club was organized in 1875, having now about

200 members. The boating-ground is about five miles

long, from Waltham to the rapids, near County Rock.

An annual gala day festival is held in the autumn,

when sometimes four hundred boats are in line.

The North Village, or Nonantum, was on both

sides of Charles River, and for many years known as

Bemis' Factory. All the land on the Newton side of

the river, from near the Watertown line to the north

end of Fox Island, for a century or more from the

first settlement belonged to Richard Park and John

Fuller and their heirs. This tract now belongs, by

cession of Newton, to Waltham. John Fuller had

seven sons. With some or all of them he went out

once upon a time to explore the surrounding wilder-

ness. At noon-day, hungry and weary, they sat down
to refresh themselves on the banks of a brook with

cheese and cake; and the stream hence acquired the

name of Cheesecake Brook. Previous to 1764 David

Bemis bought sixty-four acres of land on the Water-

town side, embracing all the land now covered by the

village on that side of the river. In 1778, in connec-

tion with Dr. Enos Sumner, who owned the land on

the Newton side, he built the original dam across the

river. A paper-mill was erected in 1779, and the

Bemises, father and son, carried on this business,

alone or in association with others, till 1821, when the

water-power was sold to Seth Bemis. Captain Luke
Bemis is regarded as the first successful paper manu-

facturer in Massachusetts. He had to overcome great

difiBculties, and to import many of his workmen and

most of his machinery from Europe. But so important

was the manufacture to the interests of the country,

that when his works were destroyed by fire, the Leg-

islature of Massachusetts voted a special grant to en-

able him to rebuild his mill.

While David Bemis and his son Luke were manu-

http://stores.ebay.com/Ancestry-Found
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facturing paper on the Newton side of the river, the

former built ii gri?tiiiill and snutV-mill on the Wsiter-

town side, which was inlii'ritid by his sons Luke and

Seth. The latter larried on successl'iilly the manu-

facture of chocolate, dye-woods and medicinal roots

till 1803, and then turned his attention to cotton ma-

chinery. The profits derived from his cotton-warp

were said to be almost fabulous. With the aid of

foreign weavers, in 1808 or ISO'l, Mr. Betnis began the

manufacture of sheeting, shirting, bed-ticking, satinet

and cotton-duck, Mr. Hemis being the first manu-

'facturer of the latter article in the United States. In

1812 Mr. Bemis built a gas-house in connection with

his works. This is said to have been the first attempt

in the United States to manufacture coal-gas. Thus

earburetted hydrogen for illuminating purposes

gleamed out over the water of Charles River from the

windows of the Hemis factory and irradiated the in-

tervales of NewU)n two years before it was in use in

England.

For the first eighteen or twenty years the em-

ployees in this busy village were summoned to their

work by the blast of a horn. This led to the ludi-

crous name of " Tin Horn," long afterwards applied to

the village. From the original jjurchase in 1753 this

property was in the Bemis family a full century and

a quarter on the Watertown side, and nearly a cen-

tury on the Newton side. A bridge, which was pri-

vate property, was built across the river by the Be-

mises between 1790 and 1796. For ten or twelve

yards it was without railing. In 1807 the Watertown

end was carried away by a freshet, and only a foot-

bridge took its place for two or three years. A new

bridge was built for teams, but in 1818 the same end

was again carried away. The road leading across the

bridge was laid out as a public highway in 1816, and

in later times received the name of California Street.

Cemetekiks.—The first cemetery in Newton was

that on the east side of Centre Street, opposite the

estate of the late Gardner Colby. An acre of land

was given by Deacon John Jackson " for a meeting-

house and foraburying-place." The first church was in

the centre of the cemetery. The place was afterwards

enlarged by another acre, given by his son, Abraham
Jackson; but no deed of this acre being recorded, and

a later heir setting up a claim to it, the town, in 1765,

relinquished the piece on the southwest corner,

bounded on Cotton and Centre Streets, and voted " to

settle the bounds and fence the burying-place, meas-

uring one acre and three-quarters and twenty rods."

An addition on the east side was purchased in 1834,

making the whole area nearly three acres. The
twenty-acre lot east of the cemetery was anciently

called Chestnut Hill. The first tenant of the ceme-

tery was the wife of John Eliot, Jr., the young pas-

tor. She was the daughter of Thomas Willett, the

first mayor of New York City, and died April 13,

1665. It is a singular coincidence that the wife of the

apostle Eliot, father of this John, is said to have been

the first tenant of the Eustis Street Cemetery in Rox-

bury, where the Indian apostle also is buried. The

second is supposed to have been the young pastor

himself On a mound not far from the entrance of

the cemetery, the two later pastors, Homer and Graf-

ton, who labored together side by side, the one a pas-

tor more than half a century and the other not much

less, sleep under fitting monuments. Near the grave

of General William Hull is a spreading willow, raised

from a slip of a willow which grew on the resting-

place of Napoleon on the island of St. Helena. From

the time when the ceremony of Decoration day began

to be kept, Mr. Seth Davis, of West Newton, then a

nonagenarian, took pains, annually and alone, to

travel two miles from his home to lay his tribute on

the grave of General Hull. He was a friend of the

general, and thought he. had been treated unjustly.

In 1823 the town erected a monument to the memory

of John Eliot, Jr., with a suitable inscription. The

descendants of the families of the first settlers erected

a conspicuous but modest monument in the centre

of this ancient cemetery in the year 1852, designed

to perpetuate the memory of their early ancestors.

It is a plain obelisk or pillar, having recorded on it

the names of the first twenty settlers of Newton, with

the dates of their settlement and death, and ages at

the time of their death. The inscriptions on the other

three sides of the monument are as follows : Thomas

Wiswall, ordained Ruling Elder July 20, 1664. His

son, Enoch, of Dorchester, died November 28, 1706,

aged seventy-three. Rev. Ichabod, minister of Dux-

bury thirty years, agent of Plymouth Colony in Eng-

land, 1690. Died July 23, 1700, aged sixty-three.

Captain Noah,of Newton, an officer in the expedition

against Canada, killed in battle with the French and

Indians, July 6, 1690, aged fifty, leaving a son

Thomas. Ebenezer, of Newton, died June 21, 1691,

aged forty-five.

Rev. John Eliot, Jr., first pastor of the First

Church, ordained July 20, 1664. His widow married

Edmund Quincy, of Braintree, and died in 1700.

His only daughter married John Bowles, Esq., of

Roxbury, and died May 23, 1687. His only son,

John, settled in Windsor, Connecticut, where he died

in 1783, leaving a son John, a student in Yale Col-

lege.

Deacon John Jackson gave one acre of land for

this burial-place and First Church, which was erected

upon this spot in 1660. Abraham Jackson, son of

Deacon John, gave one acre, which two acres form

the old part of this cemetery. Edward Jackson gave
twenty acres for the parsonage in 1660, and thirty-one

acres for the ministerial wood-lot in 1681. His widow,
Elizabeth, died September, 1809, aged ninety-two.

On a green mound, not far from the entrance, stand

-•two white monuments, similar in form, dedicated to

the Rev. Dr. Homer and Rev. Mr. Grafton, pastors

for about half a century each over the neighboring
Congregational and Baptist Churches. They lived
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and labored side by side, in harmony, as faithful

shepherds, and in death they are not divided. These

monuments were erected by subscriptions of $1.00

each, through the energy of Mr. Thomas Edmunds.

A multitude were glad in this way to honor their be-

loved pastors.

Colonel Nathan Fuller gave to the West Parish for

a cemetery an acre and a half of land, in September,

1781, about the time of the settlement of the first pas-

tor. Rev. William Greenough. It lies about sixty rods

north of the meeting-house. The first tenant of the

cemetery was a young woman seventeen years of age,

who died of the small-pox. The first man buried

here is John Barbour, who kept the tavern near the

meeting-house, and set out the great elm in front of

it on Washington Street in 1767. His widow mar-

ried Samuel Jenks, father of Rev. Dr. William Jenks,

of Boston.

The South Burial-ground, near the corner of Cen-

tre and Needham Streets, was laid out in 1802. A
committee of the inhabitants of the south part of the

town bought three-quarters of an acre of land of

Captain David Richardson for a cemetery. Part of

the ground was laid out In equal family lots for the

original subscribers. About 183.3 Mr. Amasa Win-

chester gave to the town ihree-quarters of an acre ad-

joining, and the town purchased the cemetery of the

proprietors. This shaded nook was used for many
years for the convenience of families living in and

near Oak Hill and the Upper Falls. The residents

of the Upper Falls had no other burying-place.

St. Mary's Parish, Lower Falls, was incorporated

by the General Court in 1813, and about the same

date two acres of land were presented to the corpora-

tion for the church and cemetery by Mr. Samuel

Brown, of Boston. One of the most interesting of

the memorials of the silent sleepers in this cemetery

is that of Zibeon Hooker, a drummer in the Revolu-

tionary War, who died aged eighty. His bass-drum

was perforated by a British bullet in the battle of

Bunker Hill.

The older cemeteries being small and crowded, and

the spirit of the times demanding an improvement in

the matter ofthe burial of the dead, the beautiful ceme-

tery on Walnut Street, near the centre of Newton, was

commenced in 1855. At first, thirty acres of land

were purchased, admirably adapted to such a use,

and later, thirty-five acres additional, extending from

Beacon Street nearly to Homer Street. Dr. Henry

Bigelow was the first president of the Board of Trus-

tees. Mr. Henry Ross was appointed superintendent

in 1861. The cemetery was dedicated by public ex-

ercises June 10, 1857 : prayer by Rev. D. L. Furber
;

address by Prof F. D. Huntington, of Harvard Col-

lege. The gateway was completed in 1871. The Sol-

diers' Monument, near the entrance, was dedicated by

prayer and eloquent addresses July 23, 1864. The

oration was by Rev. Prof. H. B. Hackett,of the Newton

Theological Institution. It was one of the first

memorials, if not the first, erected in honor of the

patriots who fell in the Civil War. Hon. J. Wiley

Edmands headed the subscriptions for the monument
by a pledge of $1000. Nearly $1200 were raised by

pledges of one dollar each by the citizens of Newton
;

more than 1100 children of the public schools gave

one dime each. The monument and surroundings

cost $5220.50 ; the land constituting the soldiers' lot

was given by the city. The entablature records the

names of 59 Newton men who sacrificed their lives

for their country. The chapel, built at an expense of

$20,000, was a gift of the city by J. S. Farlow, Esq.

One of the lots in this cemetery, called "the Mission-

ary Lot," belongs to the American Baptist Mission-

ary Union, where veteran missionaries, returning to

this vicinity and dying at home, may be buried, unless

their friends direct otherwise. The first to be laid

here was Rev. Benj. C. Thomas, 1869, for twenty

years a missionary in Burmah ; the second, Mrs. Ash-

more, missionary in China.

The Revolution.—Newton has been distinguish-

ed from the beginning by its patriotic and military

spirit. The Common at Newton Centre was given to

the town for a training-field forever, nearly two-thirds

by Jonathan Hyde and one-third by Elder Wiswall.

No deed of the gift remaius, but it is known to have

been in possession of the town since 1711. In 1799 a

powder-house was built on it, on the east side, near

where Lyman Street begins, and stood about fifty

years. A second training-field, measuring 136 rods,

and bounded on all sides by townways, was laid out

at Newtonville in 1735, by Capt. Joseph Fuller, and

given "to the military foot company forever." But

after the Revolutionary War was ended, and the gov-

ernment established, this field was discontinued and

returned to the legal heirs. A large number of New-

ton's citizens bore military titles. In a register ex-

tending to the year 1800 there are two generals, nine

colonels, three majors, forty-one captains, twenty-one

lieutenants and eight ensigns. In the events preced-

ing and accompanying the Revolution, " the inhab-

itants of Newton, almost to a man," says Mr. Jackson,

" made the most heroic and vigorous efforts to sustain

the common cause of the country, from the first hour

to the last." Oct. 21, 1765, ten days before the Stamp

Act was to go into operation, the town recorded its first

patriotic and revolutionary action in the form of in-

structions to Capt. Abraham Fuller, their representa-

tive to the General Court. The instructions closed

with these heroic words :
" Voted that the foregoing

instructions be the instructions to the Representative

of this town, and that he is now enjoined firmly to

adhere to the same ; also, that the same be recorded

in the Town Book, that posterity may see and know

the great concern the people of this day had for their

invaluable rights and privileges and liberties."

The General Court passed a series of resolutions

Oct. 29th, aflSrming their conviction of the injustice of

an attempt to enforce the right of taxation on the col-
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ooists, without granting them at the same time the

right of representation. In consequence of the unjust

and oppressive act passed by the Parliament of Great

Britain, great riots tool: place in Boston. Governor

Hutchinson's house was sacked, and much property

destroyed. The people of Newton, in town-meeting

assembled, aftirnied tlieir abhorrence of this lawless

destruction of property, and instructed their repre-

sentative to use his influence to have the losses made

up out of the public treasury or otherwise, "as shall

seem moat just and convenient." But the spirit of

opposition was not quelled. >[ore than two hundred

merchants of New York held a meeting in which

they " resolved to import no gonds from England

until the Stamp Act be repealed ; to immediately

countermand all orders sent for spring goods, and to

sell no goods from England on commission." The next

year the Stamp Act was repealed, and the gratitude

of the people found utterance in the erection of a

leaden statue of George III. on horseback on Bowling

Green, New York City. A few ytars afterwards, in a

revulsion of feeling on account of the tax on tea, this

same statue, the horse and his rider, was torn from the

pedestal and run into thousands of bullets by the

wife and daughters of Oliver Walcott, Governor of

Connecticut. These bullets did good service to the

American patriots, subsequently, in the invasion of

Connecticut by the British soldiery,—a mine of am-

munition easily accessible and made ready to their

hand.

In 1767 it was unanimously voted by the townsmen
" strictly to adhere to the late regulation respecting

funerals, and not to use any gloves but what are

manufactured here, nor procure any new garments

upon such occasions but what shall be absolutely

necessary." Also, " that this town will take all pru-

dent and legal measures to encourage the produce and

manufactures of this province, and to lessen the use

of superfluities, and particularly the following enum-

erated articles imported from abroad, viz.; loaf sugar,

cordage, anchors, coaches, chaises, and carriages of

all sorts, horse furniture, men's and women's hats,

men's and women's apparel ready made, household

furniture, gloves, men's and women's shoes, sole

leather, sheathing, duck, nails, gold and silver and

thread lace of all sorts, gold and silver buttons, wrought

plate of all sorts, diamonds, stone and paste ware,

snuff, mustard, clocks and watches, silversmiths' and

jewellers' ware, broadcloths that cost above ten shil-

lings per yard, muffs, furs, tippets and all sorts of

millinery ware, starch, women's and children's stays,

fire-engines, china ware, silk and cotton velvets,

gauze, pewterers' hollow-ware, linseed oil, glue, lawns,

cambric, silk of all kinds for garments, malt liquors

and cheese."

" This action of the citizens was provoked by the

Navigation Act, so called, of the British Parliament,

which restricted home industry in the Colonies, and

tended to destroy their commerce. In consequence

of the passage of this act, they were not allowed to

trade with any foreign country, nor export to Eng-

land their own merchandise, except on British ves-

sels. Iron abounded in the Colonies, but not an arti-

cle could be manufactured by the people; all must

be imported. Wool abounded, but no cloth could be

manufactured except for private use ;
and not a pound

of the raw material could be sold from town to town
;

but all must be sent to England, to be ultimately re-

turned as manufactured cloths, burdened with heavy

duties. Beavers were plenty all along the streams;

but no hatter was permitted to have more than two

apprentices, and not a hat could be sold from one

Colony to another. These are specimens of that vast

network of restrictions upon trade and commerce in

which Great Britain encircled the thirteen Colonies.

"This was not alone. The Parliament added hu-

miliation to extortion. Naval oflScers acting under

the law were insolent towards Colonial vessels.

They compelled them to lower their flags in token of

homage, fired on them on the slightest [provocation,

and impressed their seamen whenever they chose.

" The Mutiny Act, as it was called, required the

inhabitants of the Colonies to 'furnish quarters, and,

to some extent, supplies, for all the soldiers that

might be sent over fiom England to oppress them."

September 22, 1768, a representative meeting was

held in Faneuil Hall, Boston, forming a convention,

to consult and advise such measures as the peace and

safety of the subjects in the Province may require.

Abraham Fuller was chosen unanimously as a mem-
ber of this convention. The report of their commit-

tee was accepted at an adjourned meeting of the

convention, and "ordained to be printed in pam-

phlet form, and distributed agreeably to the original

vote."

"Jan. 4, 1772, Edward Durant, Charles Pelham,

Esq., Alexander Shepavd, William Phillips and Noah
Hyde were chosen a Committee to consider and re-

port what it may be proper for the town to do, relat-

ing to the present unhappy situation the country is

reduced to by some late attacks made on our consti-

tutional rights and privileges."

In a brave and earnest report the committee pre-

sented five resolves, expressing the sense of the citi-

zens, which were unanimously adopted. These
resolutions affirmed that no good man can be silent

at such an alarming period, when such arbitrary

measures are taken as tend to the oppression of a free

people; that the Colonists had been and were dis-

posed to be loyal to the mother country, so far as may
be consistent with their rights and privileges as Col-
onists; that no civil officer could safely be dependent
on the Crown for support, or on grants made by the
Crown

; that all taxation without representation, for

the purpose of raising a revenue, is unconstitutional
and oppressive; that the extension of the power of a
Court of Admiralty, and the introduction of a mili-

tary force into the Colony in a time of profound
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peace, and other measures of his Majesty's ministers

are a grievance of which we justly complain, and

must continue to do so, till they are redressed. These

resolves were committed to the representative, Abra-

ham Fuller, with instructions enforcing them, and

closing thus :

'• Wo therefore think it proper to instruct you, our representative in

General Assembly, that you unite in such measures as shall place the

judges of the Superior Court of Judicature of this Provi;;ce upon a con-

stitutional basis, and make, when that is done, suitable provision for

their support, adequate to their merit and station.

*' We further instruct you that you use your utmost endeavors that

all our rights be restored and established as heretofore, and that a de-

cent, though manly remonstrance be sent to the King, assuring his

Majesty that universal discontent prevails in America, and nothing will

restore harmony and insure the attachment of the people to the Crown,

but a full restoration of all their liberties."

The selectmen of Boston having sent to the select-

men of Newton a circular in reference to the state of*

public affairs, soliciting advice and co-operation, a

most patriotic answer was returned, applauding the

course taken by the town of Boston, and recommend-

ing as follows :

'* We do recommend it '_to the Town, that they order the foregoing

resolves and instructions to the representative, and letter to the town of

lioeton, to be recorded in the Town Book of Records belonging to the

Town, that posterity may see and know the great concern the people of

this day had for their invaluable rights, privileges and liberties."

At a town-meeting held December 20, 1773, a

''Committee of Five was appointed to draft such

measures as they .shall think best for the town to

come into at this emergency, and report at the next

meeting." Also, " a Committee of Fifteen to confer

with the inhabitants of the town as to the expediency

of liuyitig, selling or using any of the Indian teas."

At an adjourned meeting held .January 6, 1774, the

committee of five reported the following resolves:

"We do with firmness of mind, on mature deliberation, establish the

following resolves, viz. :

"1. That an Act passed in the last sessions of Parliament, empower,

ing the Honorable Kast India Company to e.\port tea to .\merica, subject

to a duty upon its arrival in America, is a fresh attack upon our riuhts,

craftily planned by a few of our inveterate enemies in the ministry, in

order to establish a tax on us plainly contrary to the constitution of

Kngland itself, and glaringly repugnant to our charter ; which wo deem

a grievance greatly aggravated by the cruel partiality therein shown

against millions of his Majesty's loyal and good subjects in America, in

favor of a few, very few, opulent subjects iu Britain. This we cannot

brook, and do therefore solemnly bear testimony against it.

'' 2. That in justice to ourselves, our fellow-citizens and our posterity,

wo cannot, nor will, voluntarily and tamely submit to this or any ta.x

laid on us for the express purpose of raising a revenue, when imposed

without our consent given by ourselves or our Representatives.

"3. Thata8partoftlieColoni.es laboring under oppression, we are

determined to join the rest in all and every lawful and just method of

obtaining redress, or preventing the oppression, even to the risk of our

lives and fortunes.

" -1. That all and every person or persons, who have been, are, or

shall be advising or assisting in the aforesaid, or any such acts, or are

active or aiding iu the execution of them, are, so far, at least, inimical

to this country, and thereby incur our just resentment ; in which light

we shall view all merchants, traders and others, who shall henceforth,

presume to irnport or sell any India tea, until the duty we so justly

complain of bo taken off.

"5. That we. each and every one of us, will not, directly or indirect-

ly, by ourselves or any for or under us, purchase or use, or suffer to be

used in our respective families any India tea, while such tea is subject

to aduty payable upon its arrival in America; and recommend that a

copy hereof be transmitted to the Committee of Correspondence in Bos-
ton.

" 6. That a Committee of Correspondence be appointed, to confer and
correspond with the Committees of any or all our sister towns in the
Province, as occasion may require."

The committee appointed in accordance with this

resolution were Edward Durant, William Clark, Cap-
tain Jonas Stone, Joshua Hammond and Captain

John Woodward.
The famous tea party in Boston Harbor took place

but a few days before the meeting took place which
reported these resolutions, and undoubtedly contrib-

uted to the unanimity and enthusiasm of the action

of the town. On the 16th December, 1773, a company
of men disguised as Indians, boarded three British

vessels at Liverpool Wharf, Boston, commanded by

Captains Hall, Bruce and Coffin, broke open with

their hatchets 342 chests of tea, and in less than four

hours mingled the whole with the waters of Massa-

chusetts Bay. Newton was represented on that occa-

sion by two or more of its citizens. One, in particu-

lar, who drove a load of wood to market, stayed very late

on that day, and was not very willing the next morn-
ing to explain the cause of his detention. But as tea

was found in his shoes, it is easy to understand what

he had been doing. This was Samuel Hammond, son

of Ephraim, then a young man twenty-five years of

age, and ripe for such an expedition.

A vote was passed by the town enjoining upon the

committee of fifteen
'•'

to lay before the inhabitants of

this town a paper or papers, that each of said inhabit-

ants may have opportunity to signify it under their

hands, that they will not buy, sell or use any of the

India teas, until the duties are taken off; and such

as will not sign, to return their names to the town at

the adjournment." It does not appear that any one.

refused to sign.

The Reconstruction Acts of 1774 were the crowning

acts of British oppression. The effect of these acts

was to cut off almost every vestige of freedom which

remained, and to substitute for civil, martial law ; to

prohibit town-meeting,-:, excepting twice a year, at

which the people could do nothing but elect their

town officers. Five thousand regulars were quartered

in B >ston ; the Common was occupied by troops and

the Neck fortified. Troops were sent to Salem to

disperse a meeting of citizens. The time for action

had come. John Pigeon and Edward Durant were

appointed delegates to join the Provincial Congress

at Concord or wherever the Congress should meet. The
selectmen were requested, by vote of Newton, to use

their Best discretion to provide firearms for the poor

who were unable to provide for themselves. Two
field-pieces were given to the town by John Pigeon,

and accepted with thanks. January 2, 1775, a com-

mittee was charged with the duty of obtaining sub-

scriptions to mount Ihem. It was also voted to raise

men to exercise them. A committee, consistiusr of

Captains Fuller and Wiswall and Major Hammond,
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was chosen to enlist thirty-two minute men, and to

add 118 nifny iis tlicy think necessary for officers, to

meet once a week during the winter season half a day

for exercise; also, " that each man of theCompany of

Minute-men be paid one shilling; for half a day exer-

cising, and eight shilliiipi a day for the eight officers,

over and above the one shilling each ; the Minute-

men to train oncea week, at the discretion of the com-

manding officer."

April 19, 1775, the day of Lexington and Concord,

there were three companies of infantry in Newton

—

the West Company, commanded by Captain Amariah

Fuller, the East Company, coniinanded by Captain

Jeremiah Wiswal!, and a eonipiuiy of minute-men,

raised in 177."), commanded by Captain PhineasCook,

—

all cf which were in the battles of that day, and

marched twenty-eight miles. The rolls of each com-|

pany were returned to the secretary's office, and

sworn to by their commander as follows : West Com-

pany, 105; East Company, 7fl ; minute-men, 37—total,

218. Besides these, many Newton men not attached

to either of these companies were in the action. In

theWestCompany werethirty-seven volunteers, called

the alarm list,—men who had passed the age for mil-

itary duly. Among the members of the alarm list in

the West Company, Captain Joshua Fuller wasseventy-

six years old, and Deacon Joseph Ward, sixty-nine.

Only one. Captain Edward Jackson, was under fifty. In

the East Company Noah Wiswall was seventy-six; Eb-

enezer Parker, seventy-three. Wiswall'sson Jeremiah,

was captain of the company, and two other sons and

some of his sons-in-law were in the same company.

The old veteran could not be induced to remain at

home, because, as he said, " he wanted to see what the

boys were doing ;" and, when he was shot through

the hand by a bullet, he coolly bound up the wounded

member with his handkerchief, and brought home the

gun of a British soldier who fell in the battle. Both

the East and West Companies were in the battle of

Lexington.

The Bravery of Michael Jackson.—He was the

son of Michael Jackson, and about forty years of

age, and had been lieutenant in the French War. At

the opening of the Revolution he was a private in the

volunteer company of minute-men. At the early

dawn of April 19, 1775, a signal announced that the

British troops were on their march to Lexington and

Concord. The signal was a volley from one of John

Pigeon's field guns, kept at the gun-house at Newton
Centre, near the church. So " the shot heard round

the world," according to Emerson, was fired from the

lips of a Newton cannon and at Newton Centre. The
company of m:nute-men were early on their parade-

ground ; but none of the commissioned officers were

present. The orderly sergeant had formed the com-

pany and a motion was made to choose a captain for

the day. Michael Jackson was nominated, and chosen

• by uplifted hands. He immediately stepped from

the ranks to the head of the company, and, without a

word of thanks for the honor, or the slightest formal-

ity, he ordered the company,—"Shoulder arms! Pla-

toons to the right, wheel ! Quick time !
Forward

march !
" These few words of command were uttered

and the company were on the march to join the regi-

ment at Watertown meeting-house. On their arrival

there the commissioned officers of the regiment were

found holding a council in the school-house, and he

was invited to take part in their deliberations. He
listened to their discussions, but soon obtained the

floor, and affirmed that there was a time for all things;

but that the time for talking had passed, and the time

for fighting had come. " Not now the wag of the

tongue, but the pull of the trigger.'' This jiro tempore

captain accused the officers of wasting time through

fear of meeting the enemy. He told them, if they

meant to oppose the march of the British troops, to

leave the school-house forthwith, and take up their

march for Lexington. He intended that his company

should take the shortest route to get a shot at the

British. And, suiting the action to the word, he left

the council, and took up his march. The blunt

speech broke up the council so that there was no con-

cert of action, and each company was left to act as

they chose. Some followed Captain Jackson ; some

lingered where they were, and some dispersed. Jack-

son's company came in contact with Lord Percy's re-

serve near Concord village, and were dispersed after

exchanging one or two shots. But they soon rallied,

and formed again in a wood near by, and were joined

by a part of the Watertown company. They hung
upon the flank and rear of the retreating enemy with

much eflfect until they reached Lechmere Point (East

Cambridge), at nightfall, and the British regulars took

boats for Boston. After they had rowed beyond the

reach of musket-shot, this company received the

thanks of General Warren, upon the field, for their

bravery. Soon afterwards, Captain Jackson received

a major's commission in the Continental Army, then

quartered at Cambridge, and was subsequently pro-

moted to the command of the Eighth Regiment in the

Massachusetts Line, than which no regiment was more
distinguished for bravery and good conduct during

the war. William Hull was a major in this regiment.

The sword of Michael Jackson did service at Bunker
Hill and in other conflicts of the Revolution. One of

'

his relatives presented it to the Newton Public Li-

brary, where it is now preserved.

On the same historic day Col. Joseph Ward, of
Newton, who was master of one of the public schools

in Boston, learning that the British troops were in

motion, left at once for Newton, mounted a horse, and,

gun in hand, rode to Concord " to encourage the
troops, and get a shot at the British." He also great-

ly distinguished himself at Bunker Hill, where he
served as aid-de-camp to Gen. Artemas Ward, and
held that office until Gen. Ward resigned in Decem-
ber, 1776. He rode over Charlestown Neck through a
cross-fire of the British floating batteries to execute



NEWTON. 25

an order from Gen. Ward, at which time a broadside

was fired at him by a British man-of-war. He con-

tinued to hold important positions in the army, and

was honored by receiving the thanks of Gen. Wash-

ington in a letter written to him near the close of the

war, as follows :

" You have my thanks for your constant attention to the husiness of

your department, the manner of its execution, and your ready and faith-

ful compliance witli all my orders ; and, I cannot help adding on this

occasion, for the zeal you have discovered at all times and under all

circumstances to promote the good of the service in general, and the

great ohjetts of our ciuise,
" George Washington."

Col. Thomas Gardner, who lived at what is now
AUston, had Newton men in his regiment. On the

16th of June, 1775, he received orders to be on Cam-
bridge Common with his regiment at daylight of the

17th. He was there, and ordered to Bunker Hill,

where he was mortally wounded, and his regiment

suffered severely. A man known later as " Daddy
Thwing," who lived near the Mitchell Tavern at

Newton Highlands, was a private soldier in that bat-

tle, and in his extreme age loved to repeat the inci-

dents of the fight, in which he was proud to have

been a partaker. We have spoken elsewhere of Zib-

eon Hooker, the drummer, whose drum was pierced by

a bullet at Bunker Hill. Major Daniel Jackson, of

Newton, was also in the battles of Bunker Hill, Con-

cord and Dorchester Heights. He is said to have

pointed the cannon which destroyed four British ves-

sels in the North River, for which service he was pro-

moted to the rank of lieutenant. Two new compan-

ies were raised in Newton not long after the battle of

Bunker Hill. Seventy-four of these men joined the

army at Cambridge March 4, 1776, to serve eight

months.

In the terrible struggle of the years which followed.

It is estimated that full 430, out of Newton's popula-

tion of not over 1400, served in the Continental army,

in the militia, and in the duty of guarding the cap-

tured army of General Burgoyne ; 275 enlisted in the

Continental army for a longer or shorter period. In

August, 1775, Captain Jos. Fuller, of Newton, raised

a company of ninety-six men and marched to Ben-

nington and Lake George, to oppose Burgoyne. The
same year sixty-four men enlisted for three years. In

1778 Captain Edward Fuller raised a company of

sixty-eight men. In 1780 fifty-four men marched to

reinforce the Continental army. Mr. Jackson says,

" The number of men who served more or less in the

Continental army and in the militia during the war
was about one-third of the entire population." Had
the war continued longer than it did, it seems impos-

sible that Newton should have furnished more men.

With an eye to the supply of gunpowder, March 4,

1776, the citizens of Newton, in town-meeting, ap-

pointed Alexander Shepard, Jr., Capt. Ephraiin Jack-

son and John Pigeon a committee to use their influ-

ence to promote the manufacture of saltpetre. July

10, 1775, the whole number of the troops in Cam-

bridge was 8076; John Pigeon, of West Newton (Au-
burndale), was commissary-general. The East Com-
pany, of Newton (forty-seven men), and the West
Company (fifty-eight men), with a few others, on the

4th of March, 1776, marched, at the request of Gene-
ral Washington, to take possession of Dorchester

Heights, but as the British evacuated Boston March
17th, their service was of short duration. Many of

the citizens who, through enterprise and frugality,

had accumulated a small property, freely loaned it to

the town towards the expenses of the war. The
names of thirty-one citizens are on record in this hon-

orable list. Persons suspected of a lack of loyalty to

the cause of freedom were carefully examined and
two such persons were escorted out of the town.

On the 10th of May, 1776, the General Court pass-

ed the following resolution :

"Resolved, as the opinion of this House, that the inhahitants of each

town in the Colony ought, in full meeting, warned for that purpose, to

advise the person or persons who shall be chosen to represent tliem in

the next General Court, that if the Honorable Congress should, for the

safety of these Colonies, declare them independent of the Kingdom of

Great Britain, they, the said inhabitants will solemnly engage with their

lives and fortunes to support them in the measure."

The town-meeting of Newton was held on the 17th

of June, 1776, that great anniversary, and the first of

the battle of Bunker Hill. Capt. John Woodward
was moderator. The second article of the warrant

summoning the meeting was as follows

:

"That in case the Honorable Continental Congress should, for the

safety of the American Colonies, declare them independent of the King-
dom of Great Britain, whether the inhabitants of this town will solemn-

ly engage with their lives and fortunes to support them in the measure."

After debate the question was put and the vote

passed unanimously in the affirmative.

Newton was then only a little country town of

about 1400 inhabitants. But, as Mr. Jackson says,
' Newton men formed a part of every army and ex-

pedition, fought in almost every battle and skirmish

throughout the contest. Scarcely a man in the town,

old or young, able or unable, but volunteered, en-

listed or was drafted, and served in the ranks of the

army from the hardest fought battles down to the

more quiet duty of guarding Burgoyne's surrendered

army, partly by aged men.

The Declaration of Independence, adopted by the

Continental Congress in Philadelphia, July 4, 1776,

was received at once, and the Massachusetts Council

took immediate measures to give publicity to the

document, by ordering that a copy be sent to every

minister of each parish in every denomination with-

in this State ; and that they severally be required to

read the same to their respective congregations as

soon as divine service is ended in the afternoon, on

the first Lord's day after they shall have received it

;

and after such publication thereof, to deliver the said

Declaration to the clerks of their several towns or

districts, who are hereby required to record the same
in their respective town or district books, there to re-

main as a perpetual memorial thereof.
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Iq obedience to the above order, the Declaration

of Iiulepeiiilence was copied into the town records by

vote of the town, the citizens thus adopting the action

of the Continental Conjireja as their own.

Roger Sherman, a native of Newton, was one of the

committee who reported the Declaration to the Con-

gress in Philadelphia.

In March, 1777, a committee was appointed by the

town of Newton to hire soldiers, if need be, to make

up Newton's quota for the next campaign. Among
those of whom the town treasurer borrowed money

under this vote, thiriy-oue in number, two were

women, and all but three were in the army—by a

double sacrifice, devoting their treasure as well as

their lives lO the cause of freedom. The amount bor-

rowed was £2989 13«. Many loaned smaller sums,

whose names are not given. The town paid faithfully

to their soldiers the sums that were promised. Dur-

ing the entire continuance of the war Newton was

not backward in voting supplies of money and provis-

ions as they were needed by the army, in hiring sol-

diers and providing for the w-ants of the families of

those in the service. In 1779 a vole was passed to

raise more men ; the same again in June, 1780, and

£30,000 were appropriated to defray the expenses; in

the following December, £100,000, depreciated cur-

rency, were appropriated for the same purpose. In

September, 1781, voted that £400 in silver money be

assessed; in March, 1782, £800 ; in April, 1783, £1000;

in March, 1784, £1500.

Finally, October 19, 1781, the end came, and Lord

Cornwallis surrendered his whole army to Washing-

ton, at Yorktown, Va. Terms were agreed upon, and

the British army, to the number of about 7000 men,

marched out and capitulated as prisoners of war, with

seventy-five brass and IGO iron cannon, nearly 8000

stand of arms, twenty-eight regimental colors and a

large quantiiy of munitions of war.

" Tfiese records of the Town," says Mr. Jackson,

" and the facts here grouped together, will serve to

prove how fully, and at what sacrifices, the pledge of

1776 was redeemed. History, we think, will be

searched in vain to find a parallel to the indomitable

and loDg-contiuued exertion and devotion which, in

common, doubtless, with New England generally, the

inhabitants of this Town exhibited."

In consulting the military records of the Revolu-

tionary period, we find the names of the following

Newton men who bore office among their fellow-sol-

diers: Col. Joseph Ward, aidde-camp of Major-Gen.

Ward; Michael Jackson, colonel, and William Hull,

lieutenant-colonel of the Eighth Massachusetts Regi-

ment ; Ephraim Jackson, colonel of the Tenth Mas-

sachusetts Regiment; Nathan Fuller, lieutenant of

the Thirteenth Massachusetts Regiment ; seven cap-

tiiins, nine lieutenants and two ensigns. Almost

every one of the families of the early settlers of New-
ton had their representatives among the soldiers of

the Revolution. Forty-four descendants of Edward

Jackson, bearing the name of Jackson, were in the

armies, representing the patriotism and the military

s|>irit of Newton ; twenty-two bearing the name of

I-'uller; sixteen, the name of Parker ; fifteen, of Hyde;

eleven, of Stone: nine, of Clark; six, of
.
Seger.

Capt. Henry King, of Newton, was one of the guard

at the execution of Major Andre.

After the close of the war came a period which was

marked by few excitements. "Shays' Insurrection."

as it was called, ran its brief course, but, though so-

licited, Newton did not care to be embroiled in it.

The Baptist Church at Newton Centre was formed in

1780, and its first edifice built, but that was only a

matter of local interest. The most important event of

public concern was the settling of the Constitution of

Massachusetts. A State Convention met in 1778, to

agree upon a form of a Constitution. The plan of the

proposed Constitution was, in due time, reported to

the Convention, and submitted to the people of New-

ton, as to the other towns. It was read publicly and

fully debated, and rejected. The voters present num-

bered eighty, of whom only five favored its accept-

ance. The next year a new form was proposed to

the town and approved, and the people of Newton

held their first town-meeting under it in 1780, for the

election of Governor, Lieutenant-Governor and five

Senators from Middlesex County. Hon. John Han-

cock received the whole number (eighty-six) of votes

for Governor. The votes for Lieutenant-Governor

were about equally divided ; Benjamin Lincoln had

twenty-six and Azor Orne, twenty-five. For Sena-

tors, Josiah Stone and Abraham Fuller had forty-one

and forty votes respectively; the other three Senators,

forty, thirty and twenty-three each. At the first

meeting for the choice of Presidential electors, De-

cember -18, 1788, Nathaniel Gorham and Abraham

Fuller had eighteen votes each, and were chosen. At

the same meeting, Nathaniel Gorham was elected

Representative for the District of Middlesex in the

Federal Government. Four times in twenty years

the vote of Newton for Governor was unanimous,

viz. : in 1780, 1782 and 1784, for John Hancock ; and

in 1794 for Samuel Adams. From 1789 to 1800 the

citizens were apparently very negligent of the right

of suffrage ; twice in that period the votes cast were

over 100 (118 and 117); seven times, less than fifty;

average for twenty years, about fifty-nine. The
smallest vote was four only, in the year 1785, for John

Hancock, his sixth nomination ; after one year they

returned to him again for six years.

The War of 1812 was unpopular with the people of

Massachusetts, and the people of Newton expressed

very clearly their disapproval of it and remonstrated

against it. Gen. William Hull, of Newton, who was

at that time Governor of the Territory of INlichigan,

two or three weeks after the declaration of war, col-

lected an army of upwards of 2000 men, and crossed

the line into Canada, as if he designed to attack Mon-
treal. But, hearing that the Indians had invaded his ,
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territory, and that the British forces were near at

haiid, he retreated, aud was besieged by Gen. Brock,

in Fort Detroit. Feeling that he was not adequately

supported by his Government with arms and ammu-

nition to sustain an attack, he surrendered to the

British general. For this act he was tried by a court-

martial and condemned to be shot; but recommended

to the mercy of the President, on account of his dis-

tinguished services in the Revolutionary War, and

pardoned. Many thought his condemnation unjust.

He afterwards published a defence of his conduct.

If any of the citizens of Newton were in any of the

conflicts of the War of 1812, they must have engaged

in the service as individuals only, and no record of

the facts remains.

For a considerable period following the war there

were few incidents claiming a place in the history of

Newton. It was mainly a season of silent growth,

aud preparations for the stirring periods to come.

The most important events were the founding of New-

ton Theological Institution, and the slow unfolding of

the educational spirit, which issued in the change

from district to graded schools, from a lower, though

necessary, intellectual training, to the broader meth-

ods of modern times. But this long period was not

without its excitements. These arose from an agita-

tion, which lasted many years, in reference to a di-

vision of the town. All the villages were disposed

along the edges of Newton and remote from one

another, generally not less than two miles apart. The

First Church was established at the centre of the town,

and in 1830, " after the separation of the civil and ec-

clesiastical state in the Commonwealth of Massachu-

setts, the proprietors of the First Parish meeting-

house objected to having the town-meetings holden

there.'' The proprietors judged that the time had

come when the town ought to have a place for hold-

ing its meetings, which should be provided at the

town's expense, aud be under the town's control. The
residents of the four villages, Newton Corner, West

Newton, Newton Upper Falls and Newton Lower

Falls, had no special interest in the Centre of the

town, except that they must travel thither, twice at

least every year, to the town-meetings; nor any inter-

est in one another; nor had the Centre any interest

in them. Neither business nor social interests, nor

the worship of God on the Sabbath, bound them to-

gether. As early as 1807, the infelicity of the situa-

tion began to press itself upon the attention of the

citizens; and they endeavored to meet it by distrib-

uting the town into five wards, and ordering that one

selectman and two surveyors should be chosen from

each ward. For several years they lived in peace

under this arrangement. Bat in 1830 the situation

became a matter of heated controversy, which lasted,

with varying aspects and with great vigor, full a

quarter of a century. Methods without number were

proposed ; to divide the town into two separate, in-

corporated organizations, now by one line of division

and now by another ; to hold the town-meetings in

rotation in the meeting-houses of the several villages
;

to build a town-house, now in one village, and now
in another, and now in the forest in the geographical

centre of the town; and again to build two town-

houses, one at the Centre and one in the village of the

West Parish. The controversy was so earnest that it

parted friends, and embittered the relations of social

life. A serious proposal was made to set oft' the

Lower Falls to Needham or Weston, but the question

was at once dismissed. April 19, 1841, an historic an-

niversary, a vote was passed to appoint a committee

to consider the division of the town; December 22d

following, another historic day, the vote was recon-

sidered. If the town were divided, where should the

line of separation be drawn ? And which portion

should retain the old and venerable name, and which

should content itself with a new one, abandoning the

prestige of its honorable history ? The solution of

the question was aided by the cession of the extreme

southern part of the town to Koxbury, in 1838, and

the "Chemical Village," about 600 acres, in the

northwest part, in 184-1, to Waltham. The residents

in those remote parts of the town were thus relieved

from the necessity of traveling many miles to the

town-meetings, whether held in West Newton or in

Newton Centre. But the minds of the citizens were

gradually coming together. In 1848-49 a vote was

passed by the town to hold the town-meetings in

West Newton. And on the 12th of March, 1855, a

resolution was passed " that the inhabitants of New-
ton will oppose any and all measures for the division

of the town, and that they will regard with disfavor

the disturbance of their peace and harmony by the

further agitation of the subject." The motion was

carried by a very large vote. Many who had taken

part in the agitation in its earlier stages belonged to

a former generation, and had long since passed away.

And now, as one great and populous city, one wide,

wealthy and prosperous organization, with its

churches, its schools, its libraries, its Fire Department,

its gas and electric works, its water works, its tele-

graphs and telephones, and all its common interests,

perhaps not a citizen walks in the streets of Newton,

through its whole extent, who is not glad that the

whole is bound together and cemented in one peace-

ful union.

Churches.'—Second Congregational Church, West

Newton.—During the ministry of Mr. Meriam in the

First Church, as early as 1760, meetings were held

in the west part of Newton, a century after the for-

mation of the First Church, and a Second Parish in

Newton was thus distinctly foreshadowed. At first,

subscriptions were solicited to build a meeting-house,

and a minister was hired to teach school during the

winter season and to preach on the Sabbath. About

1 Tlie history of tlie First Church is given in a separate article, by

Rev. D. L. Fnrber, D.D., pastor emerilus.



28 HISTORY OF MIDDLESEX COUNTY, MASSACHUSETTS.

eight rods of land for the meeting-house were sold to

the Building Committee by Phlneas l{'>nd, iiiiiholder,

for £2 Ss., bounded on his own land and latid of

Isaac Williams. The meeting-house was forty-three

by thirty feet. In 1767 Jonathan Williams and

others petitioned the town that a sum of money might

be granted to support preaching iti the meeting-house

in the west part of the town in the winter season.

The request was refused. The petitioners renewed

their request in 1770, 1772, 1773 and 1774, trying the

virtue of importunity. In 1775 they petitioned the

General Court for a grant from the toivn treasury to

support preaching four moiitlis, though it is not clear

that that body had any right to assume the manage-

ment of the finances of an incorporated town. In

1778 the General Court granted an act of incorpora-

tion, setting otf West Newton as an independent par-

ish. The church was organized October 21, 1781,

with twenty-si.x members. The First Church granted

to the organization four pewter tankards and one

pewter dish for the communion service; the Second

Church in Boston gave a pulpit Bible, and Deacon

Thomas Greenough, father of the pastor. Rev. Wil-

liam Greenough, who was elected November 8, 1781,

presented a christening basin, two flagons and two

dishes for the communion service. One who was pres-

ent at the ordination service writes : "A small house

and a little handful of people." Mr. Greenough's

pastorate continued fifty years and two days. In

1812 the church was enlarged and a gallery, spire and

belfry added. The house, when Dr. Gilbert began

his ministry in West Newton, had fifty windows, above

and below, without blinds, and two doors. The poet's

"dim, religious light" had no place there. The

church was furnished with square pews, seats hung

on hinges, and no "great waste of paint, outside or

in." The gallery was occupied by children or tran-

sient people, and the seats were never very full.

The second meeting-house was dedicated March 29,

1848. The parish included that part of Waltham,

south of Charles River, since ceded to Waltham by

Newton, Auburndale, Newtonville and Lower Falls,

a territory which then included only fifty-five or sixty

dwelling-houses. Dr. Lyman Gilbert, then a young

man, was elected colleague pastor and ordained July

2, 1828. The new church was extensively repaired

in 1870. A parsonage was erected in 1866. The

church, has had five pastors : Rev. William Green-

ough, 1781-1831; Rev. Lyman Gilbert, 1828-56;

Rev. Joseph P. Drummond, 1856-57 ; Rev. George

B. Little, 1857-60; Rev. H. J. Patrick, I860—.

The Sabbath -school was first held in a pchool-house,

the pupils numbering from twenty to forty. The

school was held only in summer. The Newton Sab-

bath-school Union, embracing all the Sabbath-schools

in the town, was formed in the church at West Newton.

First Baptist Church, Neu-ton.—The first Baptist

residing in Newton, of whom we have any account,

was Mr. Jonathan Willard, of the Lower Falls. For

some years he and his daughter were alone, being

members of a church in Boston. In 1749 Noah Par-

ker was added, who was also a member in Boston. In

connection with the preaching of George Whitefield

a New Light Church was formed in the southeast

part of Newton about 1740. The majority of the

members, after a time, became Baptists, and the first

Baptist Church, of which they were the nucleus, was

organized July 5, 1780, the public services being held

in the house of Mr. Noah Wiswall, since the estate

of Deacon Luther Paul, opposite the lake in Newton

Centre. Elhanan Winchester was an effective preaeher

among them, and many of his name were among the

early members. Mr. Wiswall received forty pounds a

quarter as rent for the room in which the meetings were

held. Often, in mild weather, the congregation as-

sembled under the large elms which still overshadow

the yard. Mr. Wiswall gave the land for the build-

ing of the first church, which still stands, altered into

a dwelling-house, on the west side of Centre Street,

on the border of the pond, and where the congrega-

tion continued to worship till December, 1836. It

was fourteen years from the date of the vote to build

till its completion, the congregation, in the mean time,

worshiping in the unfinished building. The house

was enlarged in 1803. In 1795 the society voted " to

procure a stove for the warming of the meeting-house."

It was also voted " that the singing be carried on in

a general way by reading a line at a time in the fore-

noon and a verse at a time in the afternoon." The

last service held in the old edifice was the funeral of

the aged pastor, Mr. Grafton, December, 1836, when

a new church, erected on land given for the purpose

by one of the members, Mrs. Anna (King) White,

was ready for occupancy. The present stone edifice

was erected in 1888. The following have been the

pastors : Rev. Caleb Blood, 1780-87 ; Rev. Joseph

Grafton, 1788-1836; Rev. F. A. Willard, 1835-38;

Rev. S. F. Smith, 1842-54; Rev. O. S. Stearns,

1855-68 ; Rev. W. N. Clarke, 1869-80 ; Rev. Edward

Braislin, 1881-86 ; Rev. L. C. Barnes, 1887—.

First Religious Society, Newton Upper Falls.—

K

religious society was formed in Newton Upper Falls

without a church and without denominational pledges,

^the first in the village,—in consequence of the gift

by the Elliott Manufacturing Company, of land for a

meeting-house, that the people might be supplied with

religious privileges without the necessity of traveling

full two miles away from their homes. The meeting-

house was begun in 1827, and dedicated February 27,

1828. The pulpit was supplied chiefly by Unitarian

ministers. In 1832 the building was sold for a Method-

ist Church, and the first religious society was dis-

solved.

Universalist Church at Newton Upper Falls.—

A

Universalist Church was organized at Newton Upper
Falls in 1841, and a meeting-house erected on High
Street, and dedicated in May, 1812. There were

twenty-two proprietors. Rev. Samuel P. Skinner
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was the only pastor. He served about three years,

after which the pulpit was occupied by various sup-

plies. After a career of six or seven years the

society was dissolved. The church building became

useful as a village hall, denoniinaled Elliott Hall

for several years, and finally was utilizedfor a private

residence.

The S(cond Bopiisi Chwch of Newton was organiz-

ed at Newton Upper Falls in 1835, with fifty-five

original members, dismissed from the First Baptist

Church, Newton Centre. The meeting-house had

already been built by proprietors, of whom Mr.

Jonathan Bixby was the most prominent, and was

dedicated March 27, 1833. The pastors have been

Origen Crane, 1836-40; C. W. Dennison, 1842-43;

S. S. Leighton, 1846^7; Amos Webster, 1848-

54; William C. Richards, 1865-71.

Methodkt Episcopal Church, Newton Upper Falls.—
The church edifice of the " Religious Society of

Newton Upper Falls" passed into the hands of

the Methodist people in 1832, and the Methodist

Church was organized November 11, 1832, with fifty-

three members. The pastors best known have been

Rev. Charles K. True, who was the first minister, and

Rev. Z. A. Mudge, known also as an author. Mar-

shall S. Rice, of Newton Centre, bought the church

edifice of the original proprietors for $2660 on his

personal responsibility. In 1836, enlarged and im-

proved, it was conveyed to the First Methodist Epis-

copal Church in Newton. In 1833 a bell was placed

in the tower, which served twenty-eight years, and,

having been cracked, was replaced by a better one in

1861. The church has been since that date repeatedly

enlarged and altered. Two large rock maple trees in

front of the church were pulled up out of the grass in

New Ipswich, New Hampshire, by Mr. Rice in 1835,

and brought home in his chaise-box. Three similar

trees in front of his house at Newton Centre, have a

similar history.

St. Mary's Church, Newton Upper Falls {Catholic).—
The first Roman Catholic services in Newton were

held at the Upper Falls from time to time, as early as

1843, and there was a Roman Catholic missionary

here from 1852 to 1864, who purchased an acre of land

for a church site. The Catholic Church was built in

1867, and enlarged in 1875, so as to accommodate

about 1000 hearers. The parish embraces a large

territory, including the Catholic population of Need-

ham, Newton Upper Falls, Newton Lower Falls

and Newton Centre as far as Beacon Street.

St. Mary's Church, Nercton Lower Falls {Episcopal).—
For more than fifty years St. Mary's Episcopal Church
was the only church at Newton Lower Falls, and
people of that persuasion in all Newton, Need-
ham and Weston united in its support. April

7, 1812, an Episcopal parish was organized. Services

were held first in the school-house, and afterwards in

a hall at the corner of Main and Church Streets, con-

ducted by candidates for the ministry. The parish

was incorporated in 1813. Mr. Samuel Brown, of

Boston, gave the parish two acres of land for a church
and cemetery. The corner-stone was laid by the

Society of Free and Accepted Masons, September 29,

1813, and the house dedicated April 29, 1814. Bishop

Griswold preached the dedication sermon. Services

were conducted by various clergymen till November,

1822, when the Rev. Alfred L. Baury was ordained

priest and rector. The number of families in the

parish in 1847, when Mr. Baury preached his quarter-

century anniversary sermon, was over one hundred.

The rectors have been Rev. A. L. Baury, 1822-51

;

Rev. Henry W. Woods,- 1851-53 ; Rev. Andrew
Crosswell, 1853-56; Rev. Henry Burroughs, 1856-

58 ; Rev. A. F. de Costa, 1859 ; Rev. W. W. Sever,

1860-65; Rev. Joseph Kidder. 1865-68; Rev. R.

F. Putnam, 1868-75; Rev. Henry Mackay, 1876-

82; Rev. B. T. Hutchins, 1883-84; Rev. William

G. Wells, 1885—.

Methodist Episcopal Church, Neivion Lower Falls.—
A separate charge, known as the Methodist Episco-

pal Church of Needham and Newton Lower Falls,

began to hold worship in Wales' Hall, Lower Falls,

in April, 1867, and afterwards in Boyden Hall and

Village Hall. A church edifice was erected and dedi-

cated in 1889. The Village Hall was purchased by

the society for its permanent place of worship, pre-

vious to the erection of the church.

The Eliot Church, Neu-ton.—Among the most efii-

cient promoters of the Eliot Church, at Newton, were

Deacon William Jackson and family, descendants of

the founders of the First Church in the town of New-
ton or Cambridge Village, as it was then called,

180 years before. The Eliot Church was organized

in 1845 with thirty-seven members, thirty-one of

whom were dismissed from the First Church to con-

stitute the new body. The corner-stone of the Fir.st

Church edifice was laid March 19, 1845, and the

building dedicated, and at the same time the church

re-organized by an Ecclesiastical Council-, July 1,

1845. The first pastor was ordained December 3,

1845. The congregation increased so much, in con-

nection with the gradual growth of the village, that

better accommodations were demanded. The church

was therefore sold, and removed a few yards farther

north, and changed iuto a hall, called Eliot Hall,

and afterwards destroyed by fire. A new church was

erected on the site of the former one, very large and

commodious, built of -wood, with tall steeple, bell and

clock, and dedicated April 4, 1861. Cost, $42,600.

So far as known, twenty-one young men of this church

and congregation enlisted in the army during the war

for the preservation of the Union. This church was

burned in 1887, and the present edifice of stone took

its place. It was dedicated in 1889. Pastors, Rev.

William S. Leavitt, 1845-53; Rev. Lyman Cutler,

1854-55 ; Rev. J. W. Wellman, 18-56-73; Rev. S. M.
Freeland, 1875-78; Rev. Wolcott Calkins, 1880—

.

Unitarian Church, Newton.—The Unitarian Church
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of Newton held its first meetings in Union Hall. The

society was formed in 18.")1, and the Sabbath-school

in 1852. Dr. Henry Bigelow was the first superin-

tendent. The first pastor was Joseph C. Smith. The

first church edifice was erected on the south side of

Washington Street, and after having been occupied

for several years, was changed into an armory for

military drill, and the new and beautiful building of

stone was erected on Farlow Park. During the war

sixteen members of the congregation served in

the army. Pastors : Rev. Joseph C. Smith, supply

for four years ; Rev. Edward J. Young, 1857-69

;

Rev. Eli Fay, 1870-73; Rev. George W. Hosmer,

1873-79 ; Rev. F. B. Hornbrooke, 1879—.

Newton Baptist Church.—Worship was begun by

this society in Middlesex Hall, April 10, 1859 ; re-

moved April, 18G0, to Union Hall. The church was

publicly recognized July 12, 1860. The first church

building was erected at the corner of Washington and

Hovey Streets, and dedicated March 16, 1864. When
the cellar was dug, the remains of five Indians were

found in the soil, two feet below the surface, also

several arrow heads and copper coins, one of them

dated 1720 or 1729, indicating that the spot might

have been once an Indian burying-ground. Pastors:

Rev. Gilbert Robbins, 1860-61; Rev. J. Chaplin,

1862-63; Rev. J. Tucker, Jr., 1865-70; Rev. Thomas

S. Sampson, 1873-80; Rev. H. F. Titus, 1880-88;

Rev. George E. Merrill, 1890—. The old church edifice

was sold and the location abandoned, and the new
edifice of stone erected on Church Street, and dedi-

cated in 1888. The plans were drawn by the celebrated

architect, H. H. Richardson, Esq., who was the

architect of Trinity Church, Boston.

Grace Episcopal Church, Newton.-—The parish of

Grace Church was organized in the parlor of Mr.

Stephen Perry, corner of Galen "and William Streets,

just across the limits of Newton, in Watertown. The
services were first held in Union Hall. The corner-

stone of the first church building was laid May 28,

1858, and the church erected on the southeast corner

of Washington and Hovey Streets. It was Gothic in

style, and suited to accommodate 225 hearers. Cost,

$4000. The first rector, Rev. John Singleton Copley

Greene, erected a parsonage and gave it to the parish.

The present stone edifice, on Farlow Park, was first

used in December, 1873. The chime of bells was

given by Mrs. Elizabeth T. Eldredge, the first chime

introduced into Newton. Rectors : Rev. J. S. C.

Greene, 1855-64 ; Rev. P. N. Steenstra, 1864-69; Rev.

Henry Mayn, 1870-72 ; Rev. Joseph H. Jeuckes,

1872-74; Rev. George W.Shinn, 1875—
Methodist Church, Newton.—The Methodist Epis-

copal Church in Newton held its first service in

Union Hall in April, 1864, and the church was recog-

nized in the same place. The church building, on

Centre and Wesley Streets, was dedicated September

26, 1867. The land where it stands was originally

low and wet, but was raised by filling, forming an

eligible lot, as well for the church and parsonage as

for the Methodist Orphans' Home.

The "Church of Our Ladi/ Help of Christians."—
This Roman Catholic Church, standing on the cor-

ner of Washington and Adams Streets, was com-

menced November 1, 1872; the corner-stone laid

August, 1873, and the first service held in the base-

ment, November 1, 1874. The conspicuous lot on

which it is erected was a rough gravel bank when the

church was erected. Until August, 1878, the parish

included part of Watertown, Newton Centre and New-
tonville.

The Newton and Watertown Universalist Society was

incorporated in 1827, and built a meeting-house just

across the boundary of Newton, in Watertown,

which was dedicated in 1827. A church was formed

in 1828. Fourteen ministers in succession supplied

the pulpit. The society was dissolved about 1866,

and the building utilized as a school-house. The bell

was sold to the Second Baptist Society, Newton Upper
Falls, and removed thither. The communion service

was " a set of silver plate, formerly the property of

the First Universalist Church of Boston " (corner of

Hanover and Bennett Streets), and "one of the cups

was brought from England by Rev. John Murray,"

who founded the Universalist Church in Gloucester,

Massachusetts, and was the first minister of that faith

in this country. The communion set is now in the

possession of the Universalist Society in Newtonville.

77(6 Evangelical Congregational Church of Auburn-

dale was constituted November 14, 1850, with thirty-

four members, and religious services were held for

several years in the village hall. The church was

dedicated July 1, 1857. During a violent storm,

March 4, 1862, the steeple was blown down and fell

upon the roof, causing much damage to the building.

For two or three years the pulpit was supplied by

resident clergymen. Rev. Sewall Harding, Rev. J. E.

Woodbridge and others. Pastors : Edward W. Clark,

1857-61 ; Augustus H. Carrier, 1864-66; Calvin Cut-

ler, 1867—.

The Centenary Methodist Episcopal Church of Au-
burndale began in weekly meetings, held in the

house of Mr. John Mero, August, I860. Afterwards

the services were held in a school-house. The first

preacher was George W. Mansfield, November 18,

1860. The church at first numbered twelve mem-
bers. In July, 1865, the hall where they worshipped

was destroyed by fire, and a chapel was soon after

built on Central Street, and dedicated May 25, 1867.

A new church was dedicated in 1889.

Church of the Messiah of West Newton and Auburn-
dale.—Previous to 1858 worship according to the

Episcopal form was held in a hall at Auburndale.

The hall having been burned, the services, for a

season, were suspended, but resumed in the Village

Hall, West Newton, July 16, 1871, and continued

thereafter in the hall or the Unitarian Church ; and
then, for several months in 1877, in the chapel of
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Lasell Seminary. A church edifice was begun in

1880, on Auburn Street, Auburndale, built of the

brown freestone once used in building the Baptist

Church in Rowe Street, Boston, which had been taken

down and the place of worship transferred to Claren-

don Street, on account of the demand for busines'S

houses in the original locality. Rectors: Rev. N. G.

Allen, Rev. C. S. Lester, 1872-73; Eev. H. W. Fay,

1873-75 ; Rev. F. W. Smith, 1875-77. During a va-

cancy Rev. George W. Shinn officiated in addition to

his work in Newton. Rev. Henry A. Metcalf is the

present rector. In 1888 a commencement was made

of an English Gothic church of brown stone, the pres-

ent building being utilized as a portion of the new

structure.

The North Evangelical Church, Nonantum, com-

menced June 2, 1861, with a Sabbath -school in the

railroad depot at Bemis' Crossing, on the Watertown

side of the Charles Rivf r. A chapel was afterwards

erected on Chapel Street, on land given for the pur-

pose by Mr. Thomas Dally, at a cost of about; $1200;

this chapel was afterwards enlarged, as the growth of

the society demanded it. The church was organized

July 11, 1866. Rev. Samuel E. Lowry, the first pas-

tor, was ordained October 21, 1867. The chapel was

burned June 2, 1872, and replaced by a stone edifice

on the same site, which was dedicated October 16,

1873 ; the cost, $18,000, was fully paid before the ded-

ication. Pastors : Rev. Samuel E. Lowry, who died

in office-, and Rev. W. J. Lamb.

St. Bernard's Chlholic' Church, West Newton.—The
corner-stone of the church was laid November 12,

1871, and the church dedicated about 1874. Cost,

about $38,000. Rev. Bernard Flood was the first offi-

ciating priest. Rev. M. T. McManus was pastor from

1876. In 1888 the church was burned, but imme-

diately rebuilt and dedicated in 1889.

Newton Highlands Conr/regafional Church.—Meetings

were first held in Farnham's Hall in November, 1871,

a church and chapel erected in 1872, and after nearly a

year the meetings were removed from the hall to the

chapel. The church was dedicated in 1875 ; the land

on which it stands was given by Mr. Moses Crafts.

The church was organized June 13, 1872, with twenty-

seven members, of whom twenty were dismissed for

that purpose from the First Church, Newton Centre.

The church has had but two pastors : Rev. S. H. Dana,

1871-77; Rev. George G. Phipps, 1877—.

St. Paul's Episcopal Church, Newton Highlands.—
The church building, a modest structure of wood, built

in 1884, stands on Walnut Street. The first rector.

Rev. Carlton P. Mills, remained in office till the close

of 1889, when he became rector of a church in Kala-

mazoo, Mich. Near the close of his period of service

he was instrumental in the commencement of an Epis-

copal parish at Newton Centre as a mission of St.

Paul's, which, after his transferral, was cared for by

members of the Episcopal Theological Seminary at

Cambridge.

Episcopal Church, Newton Centre.—Worship was
first commenced in 1889, Rev. Carlton P. Mills,

rector of St. Paul's Church, Newton Highlands, offi-

ciating. The services were held in the small hall of

the building of the Newton Improvement Associa-

tion.

The Methodist Episcopal Church, Newton Centre, be-

gan with a weekly meeting in the old engine-house in

June, 1875. In January, 1876, a Sabbath-school and
preaching services followed. It was regarded at first as

a mission station of the Methodist Church at Newton
Upper Falis. In October, 1877, provision was made
for permanent preaching by a stated supply. The
late Marshall S. Rice left by will one thousand dollars

to the society for a church edifice. The church was

organized in 1879. Hon. Alden Speare, ex-mayor

of Newton, purchased the lot of land at the corner of

Centre and Station Streets, and presented it to the

society for a church, which was dedicated July 7,

1880.

The U?dtarian Church, Newton Centre, was begun in

the fall of 1877 by residents of Newton Centre and
Newton Highlands. The first service was held in a

hall in the brick block on Station Street, commencing
November 11, 1877. The church was dedicated July

1, 1880. The only pastors have been Rev. Rufus P.

Stebbins and Rev. Horace L. Wheeler.

The Central Congregational Church, Newtonville, was

recognized by public services September 8,

1868; original members, thirty-six. The Methodist

Chapel, corner of Washington and Court Streets,

was bought by members of the society, and opened

for regular services April 8, 1868. The building has

been twice enlarged. Pastors : Eev. Joseph B. Clark,

1868-72 ; Eev. James R. Danforth, 1873-74 ; Eev. E.

Frank Howe, 1876-82 ; Eev. F. W. Gunsaulus, 1883-

85; Eev. Pleasant W. Hunter, 1886-89; D.Henry
Taylor, 1890—.

The Universalist Society, Newtonville, was the out-

growth, in 1870, of the extinction of the Newton and

Watertown Universalist Church and a society in

Waltham. The first meeting was held in a small hall

in Newtonville Square, and later in Tremont Hall.

The society was legally organized in 1871, and the

church dedicated June 26, 1873. It is built of stone,

in the Elizabethan Gothic style, to accommodate 300

hearers. Cost, about .$20,000. Eev. J. Coleman
Adams, the first pastor, was ordained December 19,

1872. In 1880 he removed to Lynn and afterwards to

Chicago. His successors have been Rev. C. E. Nash,

1881-84 ; and Eev. Eufus A. White.

The Methodist Episcopal Church, Newtonville, began

in a Methodist class formed in 1857. The first public

meeting was held in a piano-forte wareroom March

24, 1860, and the services were afterwards removed to

Tremont Hall. A chapel, since belonging to the

Central Congregational Church, built by Hon. William

Claflin and Mr. D. Lancey, on the corner of Wash-
ington and Court Streets, was hired, and dedicated in
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April, 1860, in which year the church was formed

with twenty-four members. The brick chapel near

the railroad station, begun by another society and

8old by them before it could be finiihed, on account

of embarrassment owing to the removal of members,

was purchased by the Methodist Society, completed,

and dedicated in 1803.

The Sipedenborgian Society, or New Church, Newton-

ville, began with services in the dwelling-houses of

Mrs. Davis Howard and Mr. T. H. Carter, soon after

1840, and afterwards were continued in the Village

Hall. In eleven and a half years the services were

held in four different halls. In 18G8-69 the chapel

now occupied by the society was built on Highland

Avenue, the site having been given for the purpose

by Mr. T. H. Carter, and dedicated April 11, 18(19. A
society of twenty-nine members was instituted, and

Rev. John Worcester installed December 2G, 1869—

.

In 1886 a handsome structure of stone was erected in

the rear of the chapel for the convenience of social

gatherings and other meetings in the interest of the

church. The society has been a prosperous one,

having more than doubled the number of its original

members.

Chestnut Hill Chapel was dedicated in October,

1861. Rev. W. A. VVhitwell (Unitarian) was the first

pa-itor, followed by Rev. A. B. Muzzey and Rev. John

A. Buckingham. Soon afterwards Unitarian services

were discontinued, the number of worshipers of that

faith having declined.

St. Andrew's Episcopal Church, Chestnut Hill, under

the charge of Rev. Arthur W. Eaton, commenced

services here after the Unitarian worship was discon-

tinued, and an Episcopal parish is now (1890) about

to be formed, a temporary rector being supplied from

the Episcopal Theological Seminary in Cambridge.

Thompsonville Chapel was erected by private sub-

scription by members of the First Baptist Church,

Newton Centre, and dedicated November 9, 1867, as

a locality for a Mission Sabbath-School and other

meetings. At the end of eleven years not a Sabbath

had passed without a public service. In this part

of Newton, in 1750, the New Light excitement began

under Mr. Jonathan Hyde, and after the lapse of a

century religious services were again inaugurated.

The First Baptist Church of West Newton is a con-

tinuation of the organization which began at Newton-

ville October 2.3, 185.3, in Tremont Hall. This was

the first church of any denomination in Newtonville.

The church was organized with sixteen members, and

publicly recognized April 20, 1853. The brick chapel

near the railroad station in Newtonville was com-

menced by this church, but the subscriptions being

insufficient to meet the expense of building, and the

society being depleted by the removal of members,

the site and structure, as it stood, unfinished, was

sold to the Methodist Episcopal Church, and com-
pleted by them for their church edifice. After a tem-

porary suspension of services, the members voted.

June 5, 1866, to revive their organization and to hold

their meetings thereafter in West Newton, and to take

the name of the First Biptist Church in West New-

ton. Meetings were held in the Village Hall till their

church on Lincoln Park was finished and dedicated

Auj,'ust, 1871. Pastors: Rev. B. A.Edwards, 1851;

Rev. R. H. Bowles, 1866; Rev. R. S. James, 1869-70;

Rev. William Lisle, 1870-75; Rev. T. B. Holland,

1875-78 (died while in office); Rev. O. D. Kimball,

1883-89; Rev. D. W. Faunce, 1890—.

First Unitarian Church, WeM Newton.—Meetings

were held in the hall of the brick hotel, Washington

Street, opposite Centre Street, in the summer of 1844,

and again in 1847. In the fall of 1848 Rsv. William

Orne White was ordained the first pastor and a church

organized. The services were held in the Village

Hall till 1860. A church edifice was dedicated

November 14, 1860, enlarged in 1867 and again in

1879. Pastors: Rev. William Orne White, 1848-50
;

Rev. W. D. Knapp, 1851-53; Rev. Charles E. Hodges,

supply for a year; Rev. Washington Gilbert, Joseph

H. Allen, two years each ; Rev. W. H. Savary, Rev.

J. C. Zachos, Rev. Francis Tifiany, Rev. J. C.

Jaynes.

The Myrtle Baptist Church (c(dored) was organized

September, 1874, with twenty members. The first

pastor was Rev. Edward Kelly. The chapel was dedi-

cated in 1875. The church has often been without a

pastor and its pulpit has been dependent on supplies

mainly from the Newton Theological Institution.

The Chicrch of Yahveh (Second Advent), at Newton
Upper Falls, was organized April 18, 1886.

Slavery.—From the records of Newton it appears

that slavery, in a mild form, existed many years ago

within its borders. The laws of Massachusetts allowed

the sale into slavery in foreign countries of some In-

dians, supposed to be loyal to the colonists, but who
took part against them in King Philip's War. This

prompted John Eliot, the apostle to the Indians, to

send a petition to the Governor and Council in 1675,

protesting against the measure. In 1703 a duty of

£4 WhS laid on every negro imported into the town of

Boston, and the few persons engaged in such traffic

took their cargoes into the southern Colonies or the

West Indies. The negro trade declined about the

period of the Stamp Act, and in 1788 it was prohib-

ited by law. The abolition of slavery began to be

discussed as early as 1766, and was warmly pursued

for several years in pamphlets, speeches and news-

paper articles. Slaves in the families were generally

treated as kindly as if they were children. During
the period from 1681 to 1802 about thirty-seven slaves

were held by about twenty-five owners ; one person

owned four, two owned three each, five two each,

about seventeen one each. Mrs. Fitch, mother of

Mrs. Rev. Jonas Meriam, owned a slave woman, whom
Mr. Meriam bought of his mother-in-law for $100 ;

one day, when he saw her treated unkindly, he im-
mediately set her free. The last slave in Newton was
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an incumbrance on the estate of General William

Hull, Tillo (Othello) by name, who enjoyed much

liberty, apparently working only when he chose to do

so. He sleeps in the old cemetery beside his master.

Jonathan Jackson had a slave (Pomp) who was in the

Eevolutionary War, and set free in 177G. He settled

afterwards on the banks of " Pomp's Pond," in An-

dover. Others of the Jacksons were slave-holders,

but the wrong has been nobly retrieved by the sturdy

opposition to slavery of Hon. William Jackson, Mr.

Francis Jackson, leaders of the Liberty and Free-Soil

parties in Massachusetts ; Hon. Horace Mann, a citi-

zen of Newton; Mr. John Kenrick, first president of

the American Anti Slavery Society, and many others.

Temperance —As the Rev. Mr. Eliot took the

lead in protesting against selling human beings into

Slavery, so, also, he took the lead against the sale of

intoxicating drinks. In 1(548. about the time of his

first preaching to the Indians, he presented a petition

to the General Court, begging " that there might be

but one ordinary in all Boston who may have liberty

to sell wine, strong drink, or any strong liquors unto

the Indians; and whoever shall further them in their

vicious drinking, for their own base ends, who keep

no ordinary, may not be suffered in such asinne with-

out due punishment." In 1816 it is stated that Dr.

James Freeman, of Nonantum Hill, "allowed no rum

on his place, but paid his men a dollar a month extra

in commutation therefor." December 15, 1826, a

meeting was held in Newton which took active meas-

ures on the subject of Temperance, and addressed a

circular to all the inhabitants of the town to awaken

general interest in it. A meeting was held at the

school-house in Newton Centre early in January,

1827, to form a temperance society, and twenty-seven

members subscribed their names. This is supposed

to have been the second town organization of the

kind in New England, the first being at Andover.

Notwithstanding some opposition, hundreds were

added to its ranks. Weekly meetings were held in

West Newton, which resulted in the formation of a

library for the intellectual improvement of the mem-
bers. It was denominated " The Adelphian Library,"

and was furnished with several hundred volumes.

Through this association was originated the Newton
Institution for Savings. At the weekly meetings

various subjects were presented and discussed, so that

the temperance society was substantially a literary

society of a high order, and its meetings were numer-

ously attended. At the second anniversary. Dr. Gil-

bert delivered a discourse on temperance, which was
printed and widely distributed. It was one of the

first publications advocating the doctrine of total ab-

stinence. The town from time to time passed resolu-

tions engaging to execute the laws of the State of

Massachusetts, regarding the sale of intoxicating

liquors. In April, 1850, the selectmen were appointed

a committee to prosecute all violators of the liquor

law of the town. In 1853 a vote was passed not to

3-iii

license any to sell intoxicating liquors. In'1862 a

certificate was issued to a single individual, signed

by the whole Board of Selectmen, appointing him

sole agent for the sale of intoxicating liquors in New-
ton, under the laws of the Commonwealth, for the

year ending May 1, 1863. In 1864 the town assumed

the responsibility of all such sales through its ap-

pointed agent, the stock of liquors being deposited at

the alms-house. In 1870 the town voted " that no

person shall be allowed to sell ale, porter, strong beer

or lager beer, in the town of Newton." This vote

was repealed May, 1871, and from that time the sub-

ject of temperance has been left to the laws of the

State, magistrates being appointed to execute them,

and to the voluntary eflbrts and influence of the citi-

zens.

The Fire Department.—The Cataract Engine

Company, at the Lower Falls, is the oldest fire organi-

zation in Newton. It was 125 years after the incor-

poration of the town before any public provision was

made for extinguishing fires. Previously, all build-

ings were submitted only to the protection of Provi-

dence, or, in case of fire, to the benevolent exertions

of the public. In 1813 the Legislature of Massachu-

setts granted authority to certain residents of Newton

Lower Falls to form a tire-engine company. The ad-

mission fee of members was five dollars. The com-

pany bought their own engine, fire-buckets and other

machinery.

Though the temperance movement had not yet

been inaugurated, except in the formation in Boston

of the " Massachusetts Society for the Suppression of

Intemperance," the engine company made stringent

rules to prevent the members from the immoderate

use of spirituous liquors. Many of the prominent men
of the village and town belonged to the organization.

They held monthly meetings at the village inn, be-

sides the annual " Euginemen's Supper," which was

always regarded as a great occasion. From time to

time, at subsequent dates, the town appropriated money

to purchase engines and ladders for the several vil-

lages, and gradually increased the pay of fireman and

the quantity of apparatus, till, in 1878, the amount of

property of the Fire Department, in buildings, land

and machinery, including the fire-alarm telegraph,

was valued at $148,100. The first fire-warden chosen

was Solomon Curtis, of the Lower Falls, in 1818. In

1823 eight fire-wards were chosen, and in 1824, ten.

In 1823 a vote was passed " empowering the select-

men to build engine-houses when and where they may

deem them necessary, provided that the proprietors

of the engine or engines will provide land at their

own expense to build said houses upon." In 1824 a

vote was passed by tlie town, oflering a reward of $300

for the de'.ection of incendiaries guilty of causing the

late fires in the town. In 1825 there were engines at

the Upper Falls, Lower Falls, Newton Centre, West

Newton and Elliott Factories, and four fire-wards

were chosen to each, which were increased in number
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in 1826 and 1827. In 1835 11000 were appropriated

to put the engines in repair or to purchase new ones.

It was part of the duty of the tire-warils to provide

refreslinients for the tngineinen and others who may

cooie from ueigliboriiig towns to aid in extinguishing

fires, and to present the hills tu the selectmen for

payment. In 1842-43 $G00 were appropriated for

fire purposes to each of the villages of the Upper

Falls, Lower Falls, Wist Newton, Newton Centre and

Newton Corner. In 1849, by vote of the town, the

firemen were allowed five dollars each and the abate-

ment of their poll ta.K, in compensation for their ser-

vices. The Fire Department, however, caused much

anxiety to the wisest of the citizens. It was difficult

to decide how much liberty should be granted to the

several companies, and yet how they should be kept,

80 far as was necessary, under the control of the select-

men of the town. And the question seems not to

have been fully solved until the city government was

established, and the whole matter subjected to muni-

cipal regulation. In 1867 there were six engines. In

May of that year the first steam fire-engine was intro-

duced at Newton Corner, and a bell for fire-alarm

purposes at West Newton. An appropriation was

made for a steam fire-engine at West Newton in 1871,

and for Newton Centre in 1872, and shortly after-

wards the fire-alarm began to strike the noon hour in

every part of the city. In 1889 the Fire Department

of Newton consisted of three steamers, five hose com-

panies and one hook-and-ladder company, with ap-

propriate buildings and horses.

Almshouses.—In 1731, more than forty years after

the incorporation of Newton as an independent town,

the citizens voted to build a work-house ; so they de-

nominated the place of shelter and comfort for the

poor, probably dreading lest the benevolence of the

town might be imposed upon by artful persons, seek-

ing to be supported in idleness. In 1734 the first

Board of Overseers of the Poor was chosen. In 1763

a vote was again passed to build a work-house,

twenty-four feet by twenty-six, and one story high,

"on the town's land near Dr. King's, or some other

place," and appropriating fifty pounds for that pur-

pose. In 1768 a code of regulations for the work-

house was reported to the town by a committee prev-

iously appointed, and accepted. These rules indicate

a spirit of strictness and severity which, in these

days, seems gratuitous, but they may have been justi-

fied by the circumstances of the age. In 1818 the

house and land formerly belonging to John Pigeon,

in Auburndale, were bought for an almshouse, the

price paid being §2500; there was also a mortgage on

the farm of S1500. This continued to be the locality of

the almshouse till it was relinquished by the town, and

a lot purchased and the necessary buildings erected

near the residence of Mr. Matthias Collins, and in the

vicinity of what is now the new village of Waban.
It was among the regulations that the poor who were

able should regularly attend church. In this last lo-

cation sittings were provided for them in the Method-

ist Church at Newton Upper Falls. Forty or fifty

years ago. Divine service used to be held in the din-

ing-room of the house, and the ministers of the town

in rotation preached on Sabbath evenings. When it

was Dr. Homer's turn to preach, it is said he always

used to preach silting.

Tut Home for Orphan and Destitute Girls,

first established in Newton Centre, was opened in De-

cember, 1866, in the house which was erected as the

boarding-house of the Newton Female Academy

—

Mrs. Rebecca R. Pomeroy, superintendent. The

house having been destroyed by fire, the Home was

removed to the house of Mr. Ephraim Jackson, and

after a short experiment in the new quarters, discon-

tinued. But one or two of the inmates became the

nucleus of another Home of similar character, also

under Mrs. Pomeroy, and which has pursued its be-

nevolent work for many years in a large dwelling-

house on Hovey Street, Newton Corner.

The Pine Farm School for boys, at West Newton,

in charge of the Btjston Children's Aid Society, was es-

tablished in 1864. It has continued to be a fountain of

good to many of the poor waifs from the streets of

Boston, where they are educated, and taught to sup-

port themselves by some handicraft, which may ren-

der them blessings to society and honored in the

world. The farm, of twenty acres, is situated one mile

from West Newton. The house is very old, being the

old Murdock place. Alterations were made in it, fur

the time, and a new house was built later. The boys

remain at the Home from six months to two years or

more, helping in all departments of the work of the

institution. Out of school-hours they are also em-

ployed in farming, printing, knitting and the use of

tools. The barn was destroyed by tire in 1877, and a

new one built in its place.

The Home for the Children of Missionaries

(
Congregational) was established in 1868 on Hancock

Street, Auburndale, as a private enterprise by Mrs.

Eliza H. Walker, widow of Rev. Augustus Walker,

missionary in Turkey twelve or fourteeu years. The
children of mitsionaries are boarded here at moder-

ate cost, and have all the privileges of the public

schools, and the advantages of other residents, and all

the influences of a Christian home. The institution

has been very prosperous, and the building greatly

enlarged. The house was built for Mrs. Walker by

her father. Rev. Sewall Harding.

The Wesleyan Home for the Orphan Chil-

dren of Missionaries and others, connected with

the Methodist Episcopal Church, is on Wesley Street,

Newton. It was commenced in 1884, in a house given

for the purpose by Hon. Alden Speare. The sum of

$20,000 has been given by Hon. Jacob Sleeper, of

Boston, as an endowment.

The Missionary Home at Newton Centre
{Baptist] was established in 1880 by the Woman's
Baptist Foreign Missionary Society, with the un-
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derstanding that missionaries, or their friends, in

their behalf, should pay annually $200 for each

child received, the society standing responsible

for any deScit. Two children of Rev. S. B. Par-

tridge, missionary in China, were the first to enter

the Home. The building which it occupies, at the

junction of Centre and Willow Streets, was erected

at the expense of the society in 1881-82, and enlarged

in 1889. Mrs'. McKinhiy, widow of a Scotch clergy-

man, has been the competent and admirable superin-

tendent from the beginning.

A Singing-School for the whole town was taught

in 1780 by a Mr. Billings, well-known as the composer

of many popular tunes. This was at the time when

the " New Light " excitement in Newton began to

have influence, and created a fondness for social sing-

ing. Anoiher singiug-sch6ol was taught in Newton

Centre in 1805-06, in the old Deacon Ebenezer White

house, which formerly stood on the site of the brick

block, near the corner of Centre and Pelham Streets.

Another was held at West Newton in 1821, and sev-

eral in following years. In 1816 there was a musical

society in the town, called St. David's Musical Soci-

ety, which sometimes held its meetings at Bacon's

Hotel, on Boylston Street, afterwards the home of

Deacon Asa Cook, Newton Highlands. The Newton

Musical Association was formed at Newton Corner in

1861. This society, besides several concerts, sacred

and secular, gave a number of performances of a high

order, with much success—the oratorio of the " Mes-

siah," five times ; the " Creation," four times ;'' Elijah
"

and "Samson," once each, and Mendelssohn's " Hymn
of Praise," twice. At the first National Jubilee

Peace Concert, held in Boston in June, 1869, 221

members from Newton attended, and aided during

the entire performace ; and at the second, in June,

1872, 300 participated.

The Newton Sunday-School Union was organ-

ized December 18, 1838, representing, at the begin-

ning, only six Sunday-schools, but afterwards all the

Sunday-schools in Newton. The association held

anniversary exercises for the children of all the

schools on the 4th of July, 1839, with a procession of

children, addresses and a collation, in a grove at

Newton Upper Falls; in 1840, in a grove at Newton

Centre, when there was a procession of 1300 to 1500

children, and an audience of between two and three

thousand was present at the exercises, followed by

music and a collation. The third anniversary was

celebrated by services in the First Parish Church,

Newton Centre, and a collation in a grove near the

pond. The fourth anniversary was at the Methodist

Church, Newton Upper Falls. After that date the

children's celebrations of July 4th were dropped.

The twenty-fifthanniversary was held at Eliot Church,

October 16, 18G3. The contributions of the Union
have been devoted to the support of .a Sunday-school

missionary in destitute places in the Western States.

The Newton Natural History Society was

formed in October, 1879, for the purpose of awaken-
ing an interest in natural history with special refer-

ence to the locality of Newton, and to gather speci-

mens in the geology and mineralogy, and in the flora

and fauna of Newton and its vicinity. The society

keeps its collections of minerals, birds and other

curiosities in a room in the Newton Free Library.

The Claflin Guard was organized in September,

1870, by fifty young men of Newton, and was assigned

to the First Regiment Massachusetts Militia, and
designated as Company L. An elegant American
flag WHS presented to the company by the ladies of

Newton, May 30, 1871. The first captain was Isaac

F. Kingsbury, 1870; the second, John A. Kenrick,

in 1878. The name of the company was adopted in

compliment to the Guvernor of the State, an honored

resident of Newton.

Water-Works.—At a regular town-meeting held

in April, 1871, a committee was appointed to investi-

gate the best method of supplying the town with

water, and to report at a subsequent meeting. The
committee reported November 13, 1871, in favor of

taking water from Charles River, and the same com-
mittee were appointed to petition the Legislature of

Massachusetts for full power to carry the report into

effect. By an act parsed in 1872 the town of Newton
was authorized to take " from Charles River, at any

convenient point on the same within said town, sufli-

cient water for the use of said town and inhabitanls,

not exceeding one and a half million gallons daily,

for the extinguishment of fires, domestic and other

purposes." This act was accepted by vote of the

town May 27, 1872.

The work, however, was delayed. Many doubted

the expediency of engaging in so expensive an under-

taking. Others doubted as to the best source of sup-

ply, maintaining that the ponds and streams within

the borders of Newton would be preferable to the

water of Charles River. In accoi dance with the

views of this portion of the citizens, an act was ob-

tuined from the Legislature in 1874, "authorizing the

city to take and hold the water of Hammond's Pond,

Wiswall's Pond, Bullough's Pond and Cold Spring

Brook, all in Newton, for fire and other purposes,

together with the waters which flow into the same,

and any water-rights connected therewith." And
this act was accepted by the City Council October 20,

1875.

In 1874 the citizens were called upon to vote by

ballot, "Yes " or " No," on the question, "Shall the

City of Newton be supplied with water for fire and

domestic purposes at an expense not exceeding six

hundred thousand dollars, in accordance with the

special Act of the Legislature of 1872, chapter 304,

authorizing the same? " The vote was taken by bal-

lot December 1, 1874, and resulted in " yeas,'' 928
;

" nays," 443.

Three water commissioners were appointed Decem-

ber 9, 1874,—Royal M. Pulsiler, Francis J. Parker
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and R. K. Bishop,—who reported in May, 1875, rec-

ommending as a source a " well at a point on Charlea

River, above Petlee's Works at the Upper Falls
;

"

advising the use of a reservoir for distribution, and

estimating the cost at not over $8.")0,(IOO.

The order constituting the Board of Water Commis-

sioners was passed June 2, 1875; and on the 7th of

June the commissioners, the same as above, were

elected by the City Council. Their first formal meet-

ing was lield June 10th. The board was organized

by the choice of Royal M. I'ulsifcr chairman and

Moses Clark, Jr., clerk. On the 12lh of June, 1875,

it was voted to purchase the reservoir site on Waban

Hill. October 25th work on the pump-well was com-

menced, and October 28th the first pipe was laid on

Washington Street, near Woodland Avenue. Janu-

ary 7, 1876, the commissioners voted to request the

City Council to ask of the Legislature authority to

take land in the town of Needham for the water-

works. In compliance with the petition, a law was

enacted by which the city of Newton was authorized

" to take and hold, by purchase or otherwise, any

lands within the town of Needham, not more than

one thousand yards distant from Charles Kiver, and

lying between Keurick's Bridge, so called, and the

new bridge near Newton Upper Falls, on Needham
Avenue, and to convey water from the same to and

into said City."

AVater was first pumped into the reservoir on

AVaban Hill October 30, 1876, and the hydrants sup-

plied with water along forty-eight miles of street

mains. The first service pipes were laid in October,

1876, and the number of water-takers two years later,

in 1878, was about 1600. The cost of the works to

November, 1877, was §766,157.22 ; the amount of the

appropriation was $850,000; leaving an unexpended

balance of §83,842.78. The reservoir on Waban Hill

holds fifteen million .gallons. Seven artesian wells

were sunk in 1886, capable of drawing from the sub-

terranean currents three hundred thousand gallons

per day, supplementary to the supply from Charles

River.

Conduits of the Boston Water-Works pass-

ing THROUGH Newton.—The conduit of the Boston

Water-works from Lake Cochituate passes through

the whole extent of Newton from west to east, from

Charles River, near the Upper Falls, to the Chestnut

Hill Reservoir. The conduit enters Newton a little

below the village of the Upper Falls. The ground

for this aqueduct was broken August 20, 1840, and

water was introduced into the city of Boston with

imposing ceremonies October 25, 1848. The Newton
Tunnel is excavated through porphjritic rock of ex-

treme hardness, 2410 feet in length. Two perpen-

dicular shafts on the Harbach property, between the

estates of the late Messrs. N. Richards Harbach and
John W. Harbach, were sunk to a dejith of about

eighty-four feet. Several specimens of copper were

found in this shaft. The Chestnut Hill Reservoir, at

the time of its construction, was situated in the towns

of Newton and Brighton ; but by a subsequent ces-

sion of land, it is now within the limits of Boston.

Beacon Street, which formerly ran in a straight line

across the valley, was turned from its course to allow

the construction of the reservoir. The reservoir is in

two divisions,—the Lawrence Basin and the Bradley

Basin. Together they are two and a half miles in

circumference. The land bought by the city of Bos-

ton for this structure was two hundred and twelve

and a half acres. This land was a portion of the

Lawrence farm, previously Deacon Nathan Pettee's

and owned, before him, by Deacon Thomas Hovey.

The Sudbury River Conduit.—The supply of

water from Lake Cochituate proving inadequate to

meet the necessities of the city of Boston, a supple-

mental source was sought from the Sudbury River,

which involved the construction of a second tunnel

through Newton. The "Sudbury River Conduit,"

bringing the additional supply of water to Boston, is

about fifteen and three-quarters miles long, from Farm
Pond, in Framingham, to the Chestnut Hill Reser-

voir. It enters Newton in the Upper Falls Village,

passes through that village to the north of Newton

Highlands and through Newton Cenire to the reser-

voir. The principal features of this work in Newton

aretliebridgecarrying the great conduit of water-works

fifty-one feet above the stream, over Charles River

to the Upper Falls, and the tunnels near the crossing

of Pleasant Street and under Chestnut Hill. The
bridge, generally known as " Echo Bridge," is five hun-

dred feet in length, and consists of seven arches— five

of thirty -seven feet span; one, over Ellis Street, of

thirty-eight feet, and the large arch over the river.

It is constructed mainly of solid granite, and rests on

foundations of solid rock. The large arch, spanning

the river, is the second in size on this Continent, and

one of the largest stone arches in the world. To one

standing beneath it, the arch has a very slender and

beautiful appearance, being only eighteen feet in

width at the crown. There is a remarkable echo in

this arch, the human voice being rapidly repeated

upwards of fifteen times, and a pistol-shot twenty-five

times. A shout of moderate intensity is reverberated

with so many and so distinct iterations, that all the

neighboring woods seem full of wild Indians rushing

down from the hills and threatening to annihilate all

traces of modern civilization. This bridge was built

during 1876 and 1877.

Newton Cottage Hospital is near the new
station of Woodland on the Circuit Railroad, and
about one mile from the Lower Falls. It was first

suggested by Rev. Dr. G. W. Shinn, rector of Grace

Church, Newton, and an Act of Incorporation was
obtained in 1881. In 1884 nine acres of the old

Granville Fuller estate on Washington Street were

procured, and the building was erected in 1885-86.

The hospital was furnished by the Ladies' Aid Associ-

ation. . Mrs. Elizabeth Eldridge gave $10,000 towards
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the building and support of the hospital ; Mrs. J. R
Leeson, of Newton Centre, gave §7000; at least

twenty other persons gave eac-h five hundred dollars

or more. Appropriations have also been added from

the city treasury. One Sabbath in every year is

termed Hospital Sunday, and on that day a collection

is taken up in all the churches in Newton to aid in

the benevolent work of the institution. Pupil nurses

are taught in the hospital, and lectures are given oc-

casionally on important subjects pertaining to

hygiene, by the physicians in charge and others. An
additional building for private patients is about to be

erected.

Woodland Park Hotel, in the immediate vicin-

ity of the hospital, the chief public-house of Newton,

half a mile from Woodhind Slation, is an imposing

Queen Anne structure, built in 1881-82 by Messrs.

Haskell, Andrews and Pulsifer, connected with the

Boston Herold, and Mr. Frederick Johnson, as a sub-

urban retreat for persons of weak throat and lungs

desiring to escape from the rough winds of the New
England coast. The first, and hitherto the only

landlord is Mr. Joseph Lee, a gentleman from Vir-

I

ginia, once connected with the purveying department

of the United States Navy.

Many visitors, especially those in delicate health,

from the wealthy portions of Boston and elsewhere,

take refuge here in the spring and summer. Wood-
land Avenue, in front of the hotel, about 1750, and

' for many years before and after, was one of the most

important highways of the town. At the time of the

Revolution Burgoyne's captured army were marched

over this road to the quarters where they were to be

I

held under guard. In the early part of the present

century, and especially after the building of the Wor-

cester turnpike through the Upper Falls, in 1809, it

I

was almost abandoned. But within ten years past it

has again become famous. From Vista Hill, near by,

sixteen towns can be seen, with Bunker Hill Monu-
ment, the Blue Hills and the Atlantic Ocean.

The Town of Newton becomes a City.—After

j

pnaking history two hundred and thirty-five years

from the date of the coming of its first settler, and

!
one hundred and eighty-six years from its incorpora-

tion as a separate town, Newton became a city with

the beginning of the year 1874. In the warrant is-

sued for the town-meeting, April 7, 1873, W£S this

article: "To see if the town will instruct the Select-

men to apply to the General Court for a City Charter,

or for annesalion to Boston, or for a division of the

Town, or anything relative thereto."

In reference to this article the following action was

taken : Gen. A. B. Underwood was moderator—J. F.

C. Hyde offered the following, viz., "Voted, that the

I

Selectmen, with a Committee of seven—to be ap-

pointed by the Chair—be instructed to petition the

General Court, now in session, for a City Charter for

Newton."

The whole subject was fully discussed. Some fa-

vored a city charter for Newton ; some advocated
remaining longer under a town government, and one
or two favored a union with Boston. Finally, the

motion of Mr. Hyde was put and carried ; and the

following were appointed a committee, to be joined

with the selectmen, to petition the General Court for

a city charter : J. F. C. Hyde, C. Robinson, Jr., C.

E. Ranlett, R. M. Pulsifer, E. F. Waters, J. B. Good-
rich and Willard Marey.

On the 26th September a warrant was issued for a

town-meeting to be held Monday, Oct. 13, 1873, noti-

fying the inhabitants to bring in their votes to the

selectmen, " yes " or " no," on the acceptance of the

act of the Legislature, entitled " An Act to establish

the City of Newton."

The meeting notified was held in the town hall, as

summoned, Oct. 13, 1873. At fifteen minutes past

eight o'clock, a.m., the chairman of the selectmen

called for ballots, "yes " or "no," on the acceptance

of Chapter 326 of the General Laws and Resolves

passed by the last session of the Legislature of Massa-

chusetts, entitled "An Act to establish the City of

Newton."

The ballots were counted by the selectmen, and
declared by their chairman as follows :

" no," 391
;

" yes," 1224. And the meeting was di.-solved.

On the 4th of November following, the annual

meeting was held for the State elections (Governor of

the Commonwealth, etc.). After all the returns had
been made out, signed and sealed, and after the vot-

ing lists and votes had been sealed up in envelopes,

endorsed, and delivered to the town clerk, Mr.

William R. Wardwell moved that this meeting,—the

last town-meeting in the town of Newton,—be dis-

solved, and the motion was carried unanimously.

The following is the closing record of the town clerk :

"The Town-Meeting held Nov. 4, 1873, above recorded, was the last

Town Meeting held in the Town of Newton. Newton becomes a City

January 5, 187-1.

" M.\nsHALL S. Rice, Town Clerk of the Town of Newion.'*

Thus Newton was the home of the English colo-

nists as a part of Cambridge, and more or less under

the municipal control of Cambridge about fifty

years ; and a separate town, under an independent

government, like other Ma.'isachusetts towns, one hun-

dred and eighty-six years. Under the auspices of the

city government, the centennial day of Newton's vote

to sustain the cause of freedom at any expense, at the

beginning of the Revolution, was honored and com-

memorated by an imposing celebration June 17, 1876.

Many historical relics and mottoes were displayed.

Several of the descendants of the old settlers were

dressed in the costumes of a hundred years ago.

Thirteen of the descendants of the original families

of Newton took part in the singing. Thirty-nine

pupils of the High School represented the thirty-nine

States. An historical address was delivered by Hon.

James F. C. Hyde, the first mayor of Newton.

On the two hundredth anniversary pf the action of
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the General Court granting to Newton all the rights

and iuiuiimities of an independent town, a formal and

enthusiastic ie!el)rati(in was held in the auditorium

of the City Hall at West Newton. The audience was

entertained hy addresses, music and poetry, followed

in the evening by a banquet at the Woodland Park

Hotel.

The following is a list of mayors: James F. C.

Hyde, 1874-7o ; Alden Speare, 1876-77 ; William

B. Fowle, 187S-79 ; Royal M. Pulhifer, 1880-81
;

William P. Ellison. 1882-83; J. Wesley Kimball,

1884-88; Heman M. lUirr, 1889-90.

MISCELLANEOUS ITEMS.

Many items of historical interest belong to such a

sketch as the present which are hardly reducible to

any of the heads treated in the foregoint; chapters.

Some of them are appended here as valuable remi-

niscences.

The Worcester Kaileoad was opened for pas-

sengers from Boston as far as West Newton, April 16,

1834. A locomotive ran from Boston to Newton, and

return, three times a day, having from two to eight

passengers on each trip. The engine used was the

"Meteor,'' built by Mr. Stephenson, in England. The

cars commenced running on the Hartford and Erie

Railroad, then called the (Charles River road,—which

extended from Brookline to Needham,—in Novem-

ber, 1852. At first season tickets by the year between

Boston and Newton Centre were sold for $36. Pre-

vious to this time passengers were conveyed from

Newton Upper Falls and Newton Centre to Bo>ton by

a daily stage, which went to Boston at 9 a.m. and left

Boston to return at 3 p.m. Fare from Newton Centre

to Boston, 37i cents. A stage or omnibus also run be-

tween the Upper Falls and West Newton, and New-

ton Centre and Newton Corner to convey passengers

to and from the Worcester Railroad.

The Newton Journal, the first newspaper print-

ed in Newton, a weekly, was issued in September,

18G6. The Newton Graphic has been issued since

1872. A paper called the Newlon Transcript was pub-

lished and edited by Henry Lemon, Jr., in West
Newton, from 1878 to 1885, when the subscription list

was sold to the Newton Graphic and the publication

suspended.

A Post-office was first established in Newton Lower
Falls in 1816; Newton Corner, 1820, Newton Centre,

not till sometime after the foundation of the Theolog-

ical Institution; the students and professors were

oblijred to travel two miles, to Newton Corner, for their

matl. In 1847 there were five post-ofBces in the town,

eight meeting-houses, and about 5000 inhabitants.

Lafayette in Newton.—The Marquis de Lafay-

ette, during his last visit to this country, in 1825,

passed tlirough Newton and shook hands with a

number of Master Davis' pupils, arranged by the side

of the road to receive him.

The First Contribution to the Home for

Little Wanderers in Boston was mad« at the

Baptist Church, Newton Corner; and the first dollar

was subscribed by a young girl, a member of that

church. In the first fifteen years of its existence that

institution cared for 4877 children, many of whom

became valuable members of society—lawyers, minis-

ters, clerks, farmers, physicians and represtntatives

of various trades and professions.

Church Bell, West Newton.—The first church

bell in West Newton was raised to its tower in the

Second Congregational Church in 1828. It was

bought of the town of Concord, having been the gift

of an English lady to that town. It was a very small

bell for a meeting-house. On its surface, in raised

letters, was this couplet:

" I to file cliurch the living call,

I to the grave do Bummon all."

Revoldtionary Reminiscences.—Near the

bridge over the Charles River in Watertown village,

on the Watertown side, stood, in Revolutionary times,

the old i)rinting-oflice of Benjamin Edes, who remov-

ed his type and press hither early in the year 1775,

and who did the printing for the Provincial Congress.

Near the bridge, on the Newton side of the river,

stands a large old house on the east side of the road,

called, in the time of the Revolution, the Coolidge

Tavern. From 1764 to 1770 it was kept as a public-

house by Nathaniel Coolidge, and afterwards by " the

widow Coolidge." This house was appointed, in

1775, as the rendezvous for "the Committee of Safe-

ty," in case of an alarm. President Washington

lodged in this house in 1789. An old house opposite,

occupied by John Cook during the Revolution, is one

of historic interest. It was in a chamber of this

house that Paul Revere engraved his plates, and with

the help of Mr. Cook struck ofi" the Colony notes, is-

sued by order of the Provincial Congress. Adjoining

this estate were the famous weir lands along the

river.

The Finest Houses in the North and East
Parts of Newton were those of Dr. Morse, on the

west side of the road, on the heights near the river

;

Mrs. Coffin's and John Richardson's (the Nonantum
House) ; Hon. Jonathan Hunnewell's, on the road to

Brighton ; the Haven and Wiggin houses, on Nonan-
tum Hill ; John Peck's, New-ton Centre, afterwards

the Theological Institution ; the Sargent place, on

Centre Street, now the Shannon place; John Cabot,

corner of Cabot and Centre Streets, since removed;
a house occupied by Nath. Tucker, afterwards Mr.
Thomas Edmands, opposite his son's, J. Wiley Ed-
mands; the Col. Joseph Ward place, afterwards

Charles Brackett ; the Dr. Freeman place, afterwards

Francis Skinner, and Gen. Hull's, now ex-Governor
Chiflin's. Most [of these are still standitjg (1890),

though some of them have been removed to another

location.

Buried Treasure.—At the time of the Revolu-
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tion, three young men of the Prentiss family, living

in the Joshua Loring house, on Centre Street, oppo-

site Mill Street, are said to have buried considerable

property near the brook north of the old cemetery,

and going to the war, they never returned. Parties

are said to have sometimes dug for the treasure, but it

is not known that any has ever been found.

Two Lists of Freeholders—that is, of persons

lidding some estate and competent to vote—remain;

the first, dated 1679, contains sixty-seven names; the

second, i.T 1798, contains 211 names. The latter list

is a tax-list, taken under an act of the Congress of the

United States, levying upon the country a direct tax

of two millions of tjolhirs. The list embraced the

houses with their valuation, acres with their valua-

tion, and total valuation. Twenty persons are re-

corded as owning each one-half of a house; one, two-

thirds ; sixty-five, one house each ; one, two, and one,

tliree. We know not on what principle the assessors

determined their estimate of the value of houses in

Newton a century ago. Possibly they designedly set

the value very low, for the purposes of taxation, com-

passionating the slender resources of the townsmen and

their own. But even if they put upon it no more than

a two-thirds valuation, it seems to us that the dwell-

ings of the fathers of the town in the fourth genera-

tion after its incorporation were ridiculously cheap.

According to this list, there were only two houses in

the town valued above $2000 ; only eleven, above

.SIOOO ; only thirty-seven above S600 ; more than two-

thirds of the whole, less than $500 ; sixty-eight less

than $300 ; forty-five less than $200 ; seven less than

$100. The three ministers were not required to pay

taxes, though each of them owned both house and

land. The largest number of aiTes owned by any in-

dividual was 249 ; twenty-seven owned between one

and two hundred; 141 less than one hundred; four

le-s than twentj' ; twenty-two less than ten; thirty-

four none at all; 531^ acres stood in the names of

women.

A Large Boulder in the Middle of Charles
ElVER, called " the County Rock," marks the spot

where the counties of Norfolk and Middlesex and the

towns of Newton, Wellesley and Weston adjoin one

another.

Newtox has a Surface Finely Diversified
by hills of considerable elevation. The following,

with their respective heights, are worthy of mention :

Bild Pate Hill, the highest of all, is 318 feet; Waban
Hill, near the Chestnut Hill reservoir, 313; Institu-

tion Hill, 301; Oak Hill, 296 ; Chestnut Hill, 290;

Sylvan Heights, 2,52; Nonantum Hill, 249; Cottage

Hill, 2.30 ; Moffatt Hill, 223 ; Mount Ida, 206.

The Population of Newton, at various periods,

is as follows : In 1820, 1850 ; 1830, 2376 ; 1840, 3351
;

1850, 5258; 1860, 8382; 1870, 12,825; 1880, 16,995;

188.% 19,759.

Churches and Public Schools in Newton.—
In 1889 Newton had thirty-two churches and twenty

school buildings, including one High School. After

116 years the First Church saw its first shoot; after

148 years there were three ; after 226 years, thirty-

two.

The Newton and Watertown Gas-Light Co.

was organized March 18, 1854.

A little below Riverside, on the Waltham side of

Charles River, is " the Norumbega Tower," erected by
Prof. Horslbrd, of Cambridge, and dedicated in 1889.

The tower marks the site, as Prof. Horsford believes,

of the principal settlement of the aboriginal tribe

which once roamed over these forests.

Statistics.—In 1885 there were in Newton ninety-

five farms, valued at $189,886. The woolen-mills, em-
ploying 343 laborers, produced goods valued at $600,-

406; the hosiery-mill employed 46 female operators;

the watch factory, 40 ; the cordage factory, 67. Ma-
chinists, iron-workers and blacksmiths numbered 192.

There were five houses employed in furniture manu-
facturingand thirty, clothing. The aggregate of goods

manufactured was valued at $2,389,018. Deposits in

the two savings banks at the end of 1889, $1,563,750.

At the close of 1888 there were 4018 dwelling-houses

in the town. The valuation by the assessors for the

purpose of taxation was $33,278,642.

Mount Ida.—The story of Mount Ida is interest-

ing. It is the magnificent swell of land which rises

immediately south of the railroad station at Newton,

and is adorned with many fine residences. In the

year 1816 John Fiske bought the entire hill for $3300.

In 1850 the same was held at $10,000. After the

Civil War it was bought by Langdon Coffin, Esq.,

who named it Mount Ida and laid it out in building

lots. At that date there were only three houses on

the whole estate ; now the real estate of the same

territory is valued at over half a million dollars.

From the summit of Mount Ida admirable views

are obtained of the valley-towns on the north—Cam-
bridge, Watertown and Waltham, the long and shaggy

ridge of Prospect Hiil, the blue highlands of Essex,

the spires and towers of Boston, the shining waters of

Massachusetts Bay, the many villages of Newton
and the crests of Wachusett, Monadnock and other

inland mountain peaks.

Block-house on Centre Street.—On Centre

Street, north corner of Cabot Street, the residence of

E. W. Converse, Esq., on the site of the mansion,

once stood a block-house, with a stone base and open-

ings above for defense, to which the neighboring col-

onists planned to retreat in case of hostile invasion

by the Indians, who had shown at Sudbury, Medfield

and Medway how much their attacks were to be

dreaded. The old refuge at last fell to decay, having

never been practically tested. The present house was

erected and the grounds were graded at an expense

of $60,000 by the late Israel Lombard, Esq. The
property passed into the hands of the Converse fam-

ily in 1866. The old garrison -house was occupied in

its latter days as a residence by Enoch Baldwin,
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whose sons were afterwards known among the able

financiers ut Bustuu.

Parks in Xewtox.— Besides the Common at New-

ton Centre, the city has several pleasant open spaces,

more or less adorned. The most noted is Farlow

Park, at Newton, given to the city by the gentleman

whose name it bears, and adorned at the public ex-

pense, in 18S5. Kenrick Park, also at Newton, was

laid out in 1854 by William Kenrick, under the name

of Woodland Vale. Linwood Park, between Walnut

Street, Crafts Street and Linwood Avenue, was

founded by a contribution of S'iOOO by citizens in the

vicinity, a handsome donation by W. J. Towno, Esq.,

and an appropriation of SIOOU from the city treasury.

Washington Park, at Newtonville, was laid out by

Duslin Liincey in 1865. It is one-sixth of a mile

long and sixty feet wide. Lincoln Park is a pretty

open space on Washington Slreet, West Newton, in

front of the First Baptist Church.

Dickens at Newton Centre.—When Charles

Dickens, the repowned novelist, was in the United

States he, with three companions—George Dolby,

James R. Osgood and James T. Fields—undertook a

walking-match, February 29, 1868, from the begin-

ning of the mill-dam in Boston to Newton Centre

and back, " for two hats a side and the glory of their

respective countries." Dickens and Osgood were the

contestants, the other two companions and spectators.

Dickens, in describing the contest, says that " at their

turning-point, Newton Centre, the only refreshments

they could find were five oranges and a bottle of black-

ing" (which was a fib). Dickens reached the goal

first, but Osgood finally won the match by seven min-

utes ; and they celebrated the contest at night, with

a few friends, by a dinner at Parker's.

Goody Davls, of Oak Hill, who lived to the age of

one hundred and sixteen years, was thrice married, had

9 children, 45 grandchildren, 200 great-grandchildren

and above 800 great-great-grandihildren before her

death. She was ofttn seen, after she was a hundred

years old, at work in the field. She was at last

supported by the town, though she retained her

faculties till she was a hundred and fifteen years old.

Dr. Homer remarks that "She had lived through

the reigns of Charles I., Oliver Cromwell, Charles

II., James II., William and Mary, Queen Anne and

George I. and II. She was visited by Governor Dud-
ley and also by Governor Belcher, who procured

the painting of her portrait, now in possession of

the Massachusetts Historical Society.

Newton Circuit Railroad.—In 1886 the Boston

and Albany Railroad Corporation bought of the New
York and New England that portion of the road

and franchise lying between Brookline and Newton
Highlands, about five miles and one-tenth, for $415,-

000, to form a part of the Newton Circuit Railroad,

and immediately proceeded to complete its line across

Elliott and Boy Iston Streets to Riverside ; thus opening

three new stations—Eliot, Waban and Woodland—

and bringing into market a large quantity of desira-

ble land suited to residences and business.

CHAPTER II.

JVHWTON—i Continued).

THE FIKST CHUECH IN NEWTON.

[At Newton Centre.)

BY REV. DANIEL L. FURBER, D.D.

The first church in Newton was formed in 1664,

and was a colony from the church in Cambridge, of

which Rev. Jonathan Mitchel was at that time pas-

tor. Newton was a part of Cambridge and was called

Cambridge Village. The people of this place, in go-

ing to meeting on the Lord's Day, went through

Watertown as we do now.

In 1664 Charles the Second was on the throne of

England, Sir Isaac Newton was a young man, John

Milton was writing "Paradise Lost," John Bunyan

was in Bedford jail, and Richard Baxter was preach-

ing the gospel " as though his soul was drenched

therein."

Our early ministers used forms of expression which

would sound strange if we should hear thfm now.

One of them says, " We should show thankful resent-

ment to God for his favors to us ;" " Let us resent the

hand of God in the death of so many of his useful ser-

vants ;" " I will now shut up all with an exhortation."

Another says, " Christians should chew over their

former consolations ;" that is, they should call them

to mind and ruminate upon them as an ox chews his

cud, and thus renew their enjoyment of them. The
word "ingenuity" is used for "ingenuousness:"
" Let us with candor and ingenuity confess our

faults."

In 225 years this church has had only nine minis-

ters—John Eliot, Jr., son of the apostle Eliot, Nehe-

miah Hobart, John Cotton, great-grandson of the

famous John Cotton, of Boston, Jonas Meriam, Jon-

athan Homer, James Bates, William Bushnell, Dan-
iel L. Furber and Theodore J. Holmes. Seven of

these nine ministers were ordained here, and the

work of six of them was both begun and ended here.

The original members of this chuch were an intel-

ligent people. Trained as they had betu in the vicin-

ity of Harvard College, and listening every Lord's

Day to the same preaching to which the professors

and students listened, they had been under highly

educating influences. No doubt we are in some
measure indebted to this fact for the intelligence

which now characterizes our people, for the character

which is stamped upon a church or town in the begin-

ning of its history is apt to go down to succeeding

generations.
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Sound doctrine has always prevailed here. In the

early part of this century, when ninety -six of the 301

Congregational churches of Massachusetts became

Unitarian, and thirty more were nearly so, when all

the Boston churches but one abandoned the ancient

frtith, together with the churches in Roxbury, Dor-

chester, Cambridge, Watertown, Dedham, Brookline,

Brighton and Waltham, the church in Newton and

its first-born child in West Newton stood firm. The

doctrinal belief of our fathers was thoroughly Calvin-

istic. John Cotton, of Boston, said that after study-

ing twelve hours a day, he wanted to sweeten his

mouth with a morsel from John Calvin before he went

to sleep. If our fathers used some liberty, as no doubt

they did, in the interpretation of Calvinism, we prob-

ably use still more, lopping off what Dr. Woods, of

Andover, used to call the " fag ends" of it. Still, we

are Calvinists, and we agree with James Anthony
Froude, when he says, "If Arminianism most com-

mends itself to our feelings, Calvinism is nearer to

the facts, however harsh and forbidding those facts

may seem." But we have the warmest Christian af-

fection for those who differ from us, and join hand

and heart with them in the grand endeavor to give

the Gospel to mankind.

Calvinism, notwithstanding all the prejudice which

there is against it, is a mighty system. It has asserted

human rights and the equality of all men before God
as no other system ever did. David Hume said that

England owed all the liberty she had to the Puritans,

and George Bancroft says that the monarchs of Eu-

rope, with one consent and with instinctive judgment,

feared Calvinism as republicanism. John Fiske says

that "the promulgation of the theology of Calvin

was one of the longest steps that mankind has taken

towards personal freedom." We boast of what New
England did in the War of the Revolution. It fur-

nished more than half of the troops that were raised.

The descendauts of the Puritans did that. The Cou-

gregationalists at that time were seven times as

numerous as all other denominations put together,

and they were descendants of the Puritans, and the

Puritans were Calvinists. Let this show what kind

of moral and religious forces achieved our indepen-

dence. Everywhere the influence of this system of

belief has beeu to establish human freedom, to edu-

cate the masses, to elevate society, and to free the en-

slaved. " Take the Calvinists of New England," said

Henry Ward Beecher ; "persons rail at them, but they

were men that believed in their doctrines. They put

God first, the commonwealth next, and the citizen

next, and they lived accordingly, and where do you
find prosperity that averages as it does in New Eng-
land, in Scotland and in Switzerland? Men may
rail as much as they please, but these are the facts."

Our church has beeu blessed with a godly and
faithful ministry.

Rev. John Eliot, Jr., was called one of the best

preachers of his time. Hubbard's "History of New-

England " says he was second to none as to all litera-

ture and other gifts, both of nature and grace, which
made him so generally acceptable to all who had the

least acquuintance with him. We have no sermons

from his pen, but there is a record of precious utter-

ances made by him upon his dying bed, which can be

found in the Congregational Quarterhj for April, 1865.

It was not known until about that time that the

record was in existence. Cotton Mather had said

nearly two hundred years ago that Mr. Eliot " upon Ills

death-bed uttered such penetrating things as could

proceed from none but one upon the borders and con-

fines of eternal glory. It is a pity," said he, "that so

many of tiiem are forgotten." About twenty-five

years ago was found in the attic of an old house in

Windsor, Conn., in which lived and died Mr. Eliot's

son, Judge John Eliot, a portion of a manuscript,

yellow with age, in which was a copy of the "dying
speech." While containing language of the deepest

self-abasement it is a speech of triumph. The pros-

pect of being so soon in glory with one whom he

loved with all his soul, filled him with exultation and

rapture. As old John Trapp says: "He went gal-

lantly into heaven with sails and flags up and trum-

pets .sounding." This for a young man only thirty-

two years old, with the brightest prospects before him

in tliis world, loved and admired by all who knew
him, was certainly most remarkable.

After Mr. Eliot's death dissensions arose in the

church, about which we know almost nothing. But

in 1672 Nehemiah Hobart came and healed the divi-

sions and restored harmony. In him a rich blessing

came to the little church, and he is to be reckoned

among the eminent men of his time. President

Stiles, of New Haven, requested an aged clergyman,

Rev. John Barnard, of Marblehead, whom Dr.

Chauncy called " one of our greatest men," to give

him the names of those New England divines of

whom he had conceived the highest opinion for sanc-

tity, usefulness and erudition, and he gave him the

names of eighteen men, among whom was the name

of Nehemiah Hobart, of Newton. Other names in

the list are Samuel Willard and Ebenezer Pemberton,

of the Old South Church in Boston ; Cotton Mather,

of the Old North Church; Benjamin Colman, of Brat-

t'e Street Church, and Increase Mather and Benj.imin

Wadsworth, presidents of Harvard College. But if

Mr. Hobart is entitled to rank with such men as these,

why is he not better known ? The reason may be that

he was an extremely modest man. A minister who

knew him intimately said that his modesty was ex-

cessive, and that he had a singular backwardness to

appearing in public.

Mr. Hobart died August 25, 1712. Eight days be-

fore his death he preached morning and a'ternoon,

and at the close of the day blessed the congregation

in the words prescribed in Numbers 6 : 2-1-2G, whicli

made an impression upon many. They thought that

he had taken have of them and that they should never
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hear him again. He had used that form but once be-

fore. He said to President Leverett, of Harvard Col-

lege, who made him a vi^-ita few diivi* before his death,

that he had been at forty nine commencement", never

having niissud one from ;he viry first lime that he had

" waited on that soleninity." Tlie I're.tident said that

he was a great blessing and ornfment to the Corpora-

tion of Harvard College. Judge Sewall states that

the Governor (Dudley) was present at his funeral

with four horses. " A great many people there.

Suppose there were more than foJty graduates." The

Presicleiit wa.s one of the bearers, and the Governor

and Judge Sewall followed ne.\t after the mourners.

Mr. Hobart's ministry continued forty years, during

which time an unshaken harmony subsisted between

him and his people. If there were revivals and large

additions to the church under his ministry, or under

the ministry of Mr. Eliot, we know nothing of them,

for the records of our church have been twice burned,

once in 1720 and again in 1770.

Our next minister was Rev. John Cotton, who was

ordained here in 1714. The desire of the people to

secure him for their minister was very strong. Rev.

Edward Holyoke, a'terward President of Harvard

College, had preached here as a candidate, but Mr.

Cotton was preferred. When he came, a youth of

twenty-one, the whole town went in procession to

meet and welcome him. Dr. Colman, of Brattle Street

Church, spoke of him as a man in whom the name

and spirit of the famous John Cotton revived and

shone. Twelve of his sermons were published and are

preserved. Fifty persons were added to the church

soon after the earthquake of 1727, in consequence of

that awful event, and of the use which he made of it

in his preaching. One hundred and four were added

in 1741-42 in a revival which probably began with

the preaching of the celebrated Gilbert Tennent.

As an illustration of the attention which in Ibrmer

times was bestowed upon the young, there were many

towns in New England about the year 1727 in which

young men set up meetings for religious exercises on

the evenings of the Lord's Day. Such meetings were

held here, and Mr. Cotton delivered f;Ur sermons on

the text " Run, speak to this young man." In the re-

vival of 1741 scores of children and young people

called upon their minister from week to week for re-

ligious conversation. This interest was greatly deep-

ened by the death of Mr. John Park's three children,

who died within the space of two weeks, after very

brief illness, one of them eighteen years old, another

sixteen, and the other ten. These deaths produced

such an effect upon the young that the score.s who had

called upon the minister were increased to hundreds,

and Mr. Cotton states that more than three hundred

had been with him, expressing a serious concern about

the salvation of their snuls. This is really a most as-

tonishing instance of deep and wide-spread interest in

religion among the young. We are apt to think that

the young were not cared for in past times as they are

now, but who ever saw anything like this ? Who ever

heard of a place before, no larger than this, where

three hundred and more of the children and youth

were calling upon their minister to know what they

must do to be saved? The young came from sur-

rounding towns to attend the meetings here, and in

one instance at least Mr. Cotton made a special ad-

dress to them. Now it is impossible for such a wave

of religious interest to roll over this place without

leaving ineffaceable marks of itself Accordingly,

when Dr. Homer, forty years after, received his call

to this jilace, he said, " I have noticed the diligent and

solemn attention of the people and especially of the

youth of this place to the public services of religion,

in which I have seldom, if ever, found them equaled

elsewhere. This is a circumstance of my call which

I cannot resist, and would prefer to every other possi-

ble consideration.'' There is no doubt that we feel

to this day the effect of the revival among the young

which occurred here one hundred and fifty years ago.

Mr. Cotton died in 17.57, in the sixty-fourth year of

his age and in the forty-third year of his ministry.

In 1758 began the ministry of Rev. Jonas Meriam,

which continued twenty-two years. He is remembered

as the minister who bought and gave liberty to a slave

nearly one hundred years before slavery was abolished

in our country. His second wife was granddaughter

of Dr. Zabdiel Boylston, of Brookline, the man who

introduced the practice of inoculation for small-pox, in

the face of such outrageous opposition that he did

not dare to go out of his house in the evening,

knowing that men were on the streets with halters in

their hands ready to hang him.

During his ministry Anna Hammond, who lived to

be one hundred and four years old, joined the church.

She married Rev. Joseph Pope, of Spencer, and

spent the remainder of her life in that town, occupy-

ing one sleeping-room eighty-two years. Her longev-

ity was owing in great measure, it is believed, to

her habitual cheerfulness. She believed that she had

had the best husband, the best children and the best

grandchildren that ever a woman had. " Your

grandfather, my child," said she, "was as good a

man as God ever made, and no minister ever had a

better parish, and no old woman ever had better or

kinder care." And so her life was one continued

hallelujah.

The doors of the Spencer parsonage were continu-

ally open wiih hospitality. The leading ministers of

the time, Emmons, Spring, Bellamy, Backus and such

men, were often entertained there, and they made the

long evenings lively with their theological discussions

protracted to late hours of the night around the old

hearlh-stoae. During the depreciation of the Conti-

nental currency, when it is said that a whole year's

salary went to buy a block tin tea-pot, the hospitality

was still kept up, though nobody knew how, and the

large-hearted hostess said she never knew what it was

to want. Here was a character of the true New Eng-
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land type, in which were piety and intelligence fed

by God's word, and by the writings of Edwards, Bel-

lamy, Ho])kins and men like thein.

The allusion to Spring and Emmons as her guests

is the more interesting when it is known that both of

them were her suitors. The tradition is, that Dr.

Spring, when a young man, was on his way to New-
ton in search of a wife, when he met Mr. Pope on his

way to the same house and with the same intent.

The situation was delicate and perplexing. After

some deliberation Dr. Spring said, " Brother Pope,

you have a parish and I have none ; I give way to

you."

When Mrs. Pope was a widow about seventy-five

years old, and Dr. Emmons was a widower of about

eighty-five, he sent her by the hand of a ministerial

biother, probably his son-in-law. Rev. Dr. Ide, ofMed-

way , a proposal ofmarriage. The ofl^er was declined, and

when it was pressed with some urgency, with refer-

ence, probably, to the eminence of the suitor, she re-

plied, " No elevation of character or circumstances

could have a feather's weight toward inducing me to

change my name- I hope to bear it while I live, and

lie by the side of him who gave it to me when I die."

The mini-try of Dr. Jonathan Homer began in

1782, and continued fifty-seven years. When he ac-

cepted his call to this place he had declined a call to

the new South Church in Boston, the church whose

edifice was on " Church Green," in Summer Street,

near the head of Lincoln Street. It was a noble

triumph of Christian principle for him, for conscience'

sake, and on the ground that the " half-way covenant

"

was in use in the new South Church, as, in fact, it

was in most of the churches in Boston, to prefer New-
ton, with a small salary, to Boston, with a large one,

and with its refined and literary society. He had

a deeply religious spirit, literary taste, a pleasing

style of writing, spoke easily in the pulpit without

notes, and excelled in conversation. Blake's "Bio-

graphical Dictionary " says he was one of the most be-

loved clergymen in Massachusetts, universally es-

teemed .18 a man of learning and piety. He read

Greek, Hebrew and Latin, and learned Spanish after

he was sixty years old.

Many of the later years of his life were devoted to

an enthusiastic study of the different English trans-

lations of the Bible, from that of Wycliffe to that of

161L He intended to write a history of them. The
late Professor B. B. Edwards, of Andover, said he

was better qualified to do it than any other person

in the country. A conclusion which Dr. Homer
reached was that King James's Bible was in no part
a new translation taken directly from the originals. He
had the most ample facilities for ascertaining the

truth of this statement. His shelves were filled with

rare and choice books bearing upon the subject, many
of them obtained from England with great painstak-

ing and expense, and he performed the almost incred-

ible labor of finding out by personal examination the

source from which the translation of every verse in

the Bible was taken, and he showed, what he had
previously asserted, but what had been denied by
Biblical scholars, both English and American, that

not a single verse in King James's version was newly
translated, but that the whole of it was taken from

other versions, and was a compilation. He showed
that thirty-two parts out of thirty-three were taken

from former English versions, chiefly from the Bish-

ops' Bible, and that the remaining thirty-third part

was drawn from foreign versions and comments.

Having announced this result of his investigations,

he quoted the words of the translators themselves, that

they "had never thought from the beginning of the

need of making a new translation."

It has been generally admitted that in the time of

the Unitarian defection Dr. Homer was considerably

influenced by his many friends who had embraced

the erroneous views, and especially by Dr. John
Pierce, of Brookline, and Dr. James Freeman, of

King's Chapel, in Boston, whose wife was a sister of

Mrs. Homer. But Dr. John Codman, of Dorchester,

who was an intimate friend of Dr. Homer, and who
preached his funeral sermon, said that he was decid-

edly evangelical and orthodox, though liberal and

catholic in his feelings towards other denominations.

"There was no bigotry in him. His heart overflowed

with love to all who love the Lord Jesus Christ of

every sect and name. Jle was not a denominational

Christian, but a member of the church universal.'" His

heart was full of the tenderest sympathy for the suf-

feiing. He took orphans and homeless children to

his own house and gave them a home until they could

be provided for. More than thirty were cared for by

him in this way.

A smile is sometimes awakened at the mention of

Dr. Homer's name, because of the many queer and

strange things that have been told of him. He was

a very absent-minded man, and his wife was constantly

expecting some odd event to occur from his eccentric

ways. Professor Park, of Andover, says that he and

Professor Edwards and others were once invited to

dine at Dr. Homer's. When they were called to

dinner they went into the dining-room and took their

places around the table, their host not being present.

Soon, however, he appeared at the door of the room,

and seeing that the company were waiting for him,

immediately commenced asking the blessing. By the

time he had reached his place at the table he got

through with the blessing and then saluted his

guests. Other stories about Dr. Homer, under the

name of " Parson Carryl," may be found in "The
Minister's Housekeeper," one of Sam Lawson's " Old-

town Fireside Stories," by Mrs. Harriet Beecher

Stowe. "You may laugh as much as you will at

brother Homer," said Father Greenough, of the West
Parish ;

" there is no man among us who carries with

him the spirit of the gospel from Monday morning to

Saturday night better than he.''
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The year 1827 was the crowning year of this long

niiiiistry. Seventy-one persona were received into

the iluircii in tliat yeiir, as many as luul been receiv-

ed in the j-revious nineteen years. Tlie revival of

that year is remarkable as showing what can be done

by a few earnest laymen when religion is low, and

when the minister is not the man to be the means of

reviving it. Pr. Homer was growing old
;
he was

alisiirbed in the sludy of English versions of the

Bible, and he had not the faculty for conducting a

revival, even if one were in progress. In four years

only four persons had been received into the church

on confession of faith, and one of these was a woman

in the niiie/y-fiijlilh year of her age. During this

period Hon. William Jackson, a deacon, and a man

bo'n to be a leader among men, had spoken of the

good slate of feeling in the church. Perhaps his

hopeful and enthni-iastic spirit made it seem better

than it was. Such a spirit is conta'jious, and he

found large numbers in the church in full sympathy

with him. " They labored," said he, " and loved to

labor, both men and women, in season, and out of

season, for Christ and the welfare of souls." Speak-

ing of Elijah F. Woodward, Increase S. Davis and

Asa Cook, he said, " We were four brothers indeed!

Together in the Sunday-school, together in the

prayer-meeting, and together in every got)d work

which our hands and hearts found to do. In these

good works we continued with one heart and with

one soul, until the fall of 1827, when God poured us out

such a blessing that we had hardly room to receive

it, and sure I am that none of us knew what to do

wilh it, or how to behave under it. It was the hap-

piest year of my life. Notwithstanding I gave my
mind and very much of my time to this work, to an

extent, in fact, which lookers on. Christians even,

would have thought, and probably did pronounce,

ruinous to my business, yet when I came to take an

account of stock the following June, I found that it

had been the most profitable year of my life, that I

had never before laid up more money in one year.

This blcs->ed revival continued with more or less

strength until 1834, when more than two hundred

members had been added to our church. The mem-
bers of the church, young and old, seemed all to love

to pray and to labor, and f.und their chief happiness

in doing their Master's will."

Deacon Jackson's leadership was felt at every step

of that revival. He said to Dr. Homer, " There is

need of a great deal of work here, and we ought not

to tax you at your time of life; if you please, I will

call in help from outside." The minister had such

confidence in his deacon, that he allowed him to do

whatever he pleased. Accordingly, Rev. Jonathan S.

Green came and labored here feveral months, and

after him, Rev. Isaac R. Barber. Deacon Jackson

went about the parish with them, introducing them
to the families and assis'ing them in conducting

neighborhood meetings. Often he conducted such

meetings himself. Saturday night meetings were held

at his own house. " This carpet will be ruined," said

his wife, " by so many muddy boots." " Nevermind,"

said he, "wait till the roads are dry, and you shall

have the hand>o:iiest carpet there is in Boston."

Such was the fervor and intensity of his spirit that

the meetings were full, even if it was known that

he was going to read, as he sometimes did, a printed

sermon. He spent much time in visiting the sick,

and in more specifically spiritual work with individ-

uals. For four or five years this kind of religious

activity went on. Deacon Jackson, Deacon Wood-

ward and others were never weary in well-doing, and

we might almost call the revival of 1827 the deacons'

revival.

Rev. James Bates was ordained as colleague pastor

wilh Dr. Homer in November, 1827. He was a

man whose soul was habitually penetrated with the

thought of the infinite and amazing interests which

the preaching of the Gospel contemplates. The eter-

nal future of those to whom he ministered was to

depend in great measure upon his fidelity. To be

the means of their salvation was the pission of

his life. Large additions were made to the church

under his ministry. It is true that other agencies

were at work. The revival of 1827 had not spent

itself when he came here. A very successful four

days' meeting was held in 1831, at which Dr.

Lyman Beecher and Dr. B. B. Wisner were among

the preachers, and the period from that time to

1835 was one of those great revival eras in which

the windows of Heaven are open all over the

land to pour down salvation. These considerations,

however, should not detract from the value of the

labors of Mr. Bates, for he was equally successful in

Granby after he had left Newton.

Mr. Bates had for helpers two such deacons as any

minister might be thankful for—Elijah F. Woodward

and William Jackson. Deacon Woodward came of a

goodly stock. Four generations of his ancestors had

lived and prayed and died in the house in which he was

born. His father and grandfather were deacons. Hewas
made deacon at the age of twenty-eight, and held the

office as long as he lived. He was twenty-nine years

superintendent of the Sunday-school. He entered

the choir at the age of eleven, and remained there

forty-eight yearn, half of which time he was the

leader with voice and viol of thirty or forty singers

and pl.iyers. He lived two miles from the meeting-

house, and yet no one was more constant or more

punctual than he in attendance upon all theineetings

of the church and of the choir, both in the daytime

and in the evening. Often he took a shovel in his

sleigh to make a path through snowdrifts. He was

farmer, teacher, surveyor, town clerk and treasurer,

and yet his duties to the church were never neg-

lected. His horse had heard the Doxology in Old

Hundred sung so many times that he learned to rec-

ognize the singing of it as the closing exercise of an



NEWTON. 45

evening meeting, and when he heard it he backed

out of the shed and walked up to the chapel door,

where he waited till his master came out. One of Deacon

Woodward'." duties as town clerk was to announce in-

tentions of marriage. This he did from his place in

the choir on the Sabbath, just before the benediction-

Few men render the public so much service as he did'

in so quiet and noiseless a way, and with so little

desire to get the glory of it to himself. The appreci-

ation in which he was held was shown by the attend-

ance at his funeral. The meeting-house was full.

People came from every part of the town, and from

surrounding towns, and the procession of those who
walked to his burial was more than half a mile long.

This was their tribute to the goodness of a man in

whom everybody had confidence.

Deacon Jackson was the champion of every right-

eous and good cause, whether popular or unpopular.

If it was unpopular it had all the more attraction for

him, because it needed him the more. He was the

tirst mover in the temj^erance cause in this town, and

delivered the first temperance address. His action

upon the subject of license, as selectman of the town,

raised a storm of opposition which caused the subject

of intemperance to be more thoroughly discussed and

better undeistood than in any other town in the Com-
monwealth. When he began to agitate the question,

he said he knew of but three total abstinence men in

the town—Captain Samuel Hyde, Increase S. Davis

and Seth Davis. This was in 1826, the year that Dr.

Lyman Beecher delivered his famous six lectures on

intemperance. In less than two years from that time

Deacon Jackson was sent to the Legislature as a tem-

perance man. In the Legislature he opened his lips

against Free Masonry and for that was sent to Con-

gress two terms. While in Congress he saw the

usurpations of the slaveholders, and this made him an

anti-slavery man. When the Liberty party was formed

he was its first candidate for Governor. When the

American Missionary Association was formed in

1816 he was its first president, and held the office eight

years. In 1828 he began to advocate the construction

of railroads. For sixteen or eighteen years no

subject engaged so much of his attention or occupied

80 much of his time as this. In 1829 he delivered

lectures and addresses in the principal towns of the

State, and wrote articles for the newspapers of Bos-

ton, Springfield, Northampton, Haverhill and Salem.

This was considered by many of his friends to be

evidence of partial derangement. In May, 18.31, the

building of the railroad from Boston to Worcester

was commenced, and there is no man to whom the

public is more indebted than to him for the railroad

facilities of the present da^.

William Jack.son was a leader among men without

trying to be, and perhaps without knowing that he

was, by the excellence and force of his character, by
his knowledge of men and of affairs, by his quickness

and sagacity, by the depth and strength of his con-

victions, by his loyalty to truth and duty, by his

capacity for being possessed and controlled by the

conclusions to which his judgment find conscience

conducted him, by the simplicity, earnestness and
public spirit with which be urged hi.s views upon the

attention of others, and by his enthusiastic disregaid

of his own ease and time and money, if public in-

terests might be subserved, and righteousness main-
tained, and the kingdom of heaven brought nearer

;

and when men saw in hini these qualities and this de-

votion to the public welfare, they gave him their

confidence, acknowledged his leadership and felt safe

in following him.

The devotion of this remarkable man to public

interests was never allowed to interfere wi'.h his duties

to his church. He spent a great amount of time and
money in promoting its welfare. He knew nothing

about the love of money for its own sake, or for

luxury and display. He accumulated that he might
give, and he could not say no to any person or cause

needing aid. He wrote the early history of ibis

church as contained in Jackson's " History of New-
ton." Though in early life he was a Unitarian and an
admirer of Dr. Channing, when he changed his belief

he became one of the stoutest defenders of the

orthodox faith we ever had. He ever maintained the

most cordial social relations with his Unitarian I'riends,

and he gave them his hand and his heart as co-

workers with him for temperance and anti-slavery.

The pastoral relation of Mr. Bates and of Dr. Homer
ceased at the same time, in April, 1839.

The seventh pastor of our church wasKev. William

Busbnell, installed in 1842. As a preacher he was
clear, sound, scriptural and instructive. He published

sermons commemorative of Deacons Woodward and
Jackson. His ministry terminated in 1846.

My ov/n ministry began in 1847, and continued

thirty-five years. In 1854 we enlarged the meeting-

house and built a new chapel. In 1869 we again en-

larged both the meeting-house and the chapel, at a cost

of twenty-two thousand dellars. In twenty-six years

our contributions to benevolent objects, including gifts

of individuals and the work of the Ladies' Benevo-

lent Society, amounted to nearly sixty-three thousand

dollars.

The present pastor, Kev. Theodore J. Holmes, was
installed in 188.3. He has a special gift for interesting

children and youth. Their attendance upon the

services of religion has been greatly increased under

his ministry and additions of young persons to the

church have been numerous.

We have no means of knowing how many persons

were received into our church by its first four

ministers. It is probable that several hundred names
were lost by the burning of the church records. Dr.

Homer, as sole pastor for forty-five years, received

two hundred and fifty-seven. He and Mr. Bates to-

gether received, in eleven and a half years, one hun-

dred and ninety-four. Mr. Bushnell in his four years
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rcceiveil seventeen. In my own ministry five hundred
'

and thirty-six were receiviil, or two hundred aud I

fifty-four by prol'essiou aud two hundred and eighty-
j

two by letter. Brother Holmes hits received in six

years one hundred and forty-one, or sixty-six by pro-

fession and seventy-five by letter.

The men whom this church has sent into the

ministry are Ichahod Wiswail, William Williams,

Thomas tireen wood, John rientice, Caleb Trowbridge,

Edward Jackson, Joseph Park, Samuel Woodward,

Nathan Ward, Jonsis Clark, Ephraim Ward, Calvin

Park, Increase Sumner Davis, James M. Bacon,

Edward P. King>bury, James A. Bates, Gilbert R.

Brackett, Charles A. Kingsbury, Frank D.Sargent,

James A. Towie, Erastus Blakcslee and John Bar-

stow.

An incredible story is told about the strength of

Naihan Ward's voice. He was a disciple of White-

field and was settled in Plymouth, N. H. A family

living more than a mile from his meeting-house said

they could remain at home and hear the sermon.

Jonas Clark, of Lexington, illustrates the remark of the

elder President Adams, that "American independence

was mainly due to the clergy." He was an intimate

friend of Samuel Adams and John Hancock, who

often visited him. Increase Sumner Davis was a man

who could take a walk of twelve or fifteen miles before

breakfast, and call it pleasant exercise. When his

preaching places were distant he went to 'hem on

foot. On one of his walks in Piermont he met a man

who had been drinking, and who came up to him and

challenged him to a trial of strength. Mr. Davis

tried to avoid him, but the man persisted. " Let me
alone," said Mr. Davis, "or you will find that you

have caught a lull-giown man." But the man would

not let him alone, and the result was that he was soon

lying on his back in the snow with his head plunged

into a snow-bank, where he was held till he promised

to be peaceable and begged to be released. On
being suffered to get up, he wiped the snow from his

face and muttered: " You are a full-grown man any-

way."

Among the women from this church who have been

wives of ministers was Abigail Williams, ancestor of

President Mark Hopkins, of Hon. Theodore Sedg-

wick, judge of the Supreme Court of Massachusetts,

and of Catharine Maria Sedgwick. Her first husband

was Rev. John Sergeant, and her second husband

General Joseph Dwight. She was a woman of fine

talents and acquirements, of dignified manners and

of elevated Christian character. While teaching

Indian girls as a missionary, she corresponded ex-

tensively with persons eminent for learning and piety

on both sides of the Atlantic. Miss Eliza Susan

Morton, of New York, who became the wife of Presi-

dent Josiah Quincy, of Harvard College, gives the

following account of her personal appearance

:

" When Madame Dwight visited us in 1786 she was

between sixty and seventy years of age, tall, straight.

composed, and rather formal and precise, yet so be-

uevcdent and pleasing that everybody loved her. Her

dress was always very handsome, generally dark-

colored silk. She always wore a watch, which in

those days was a distinction. Her head-dress was a

high cap with plaited borders, tied under the chin.

Everything about her distinguished her as a gentle-

woman, and inspired respect and commanded atten-

tion."

Three missionaries have lately gone from us

—

Harriet N. Childs, to Central Turkey ; Bertha Robert-

son, to Southern Georgia; and Sarah L. Smith, to

Micronesia.

Several of the ministers of our church have been

nobly connected. Mr. Cotton was great-grandson of

the man for whom Buston was named. Mr. Hobart

was uncle to Dorothy Hobart, the mother of David

Brainerd, one of the holiest men that ever lived.

Mr. Eliot's first wife was great-aunt to Mrs. Jonathan

Edwards, and his second wife was an ancestor, by a

second marriage, ol Josiah Quincy, president of Har-

vard College. It is enough to say of Mr. Eliot that

he was a son of the apostle Eliot, but his brother

Joseph, of Guilford, had a son Jared, who was a re-

markable man. He was the minister of Killiugworth,

Conn., where he never omitted preaching on the

Lord's Day for forty years. He delighted in the

gospel of God's grace to perishing sinners, and yet

he was a physician, a philosopher, a linguist, a miner-

alogist, a botanist and a scientific agriculturist. He
knew so much about diseases and their treatment that

he was more extensively consulted than any physician

in New England. Being on the main road from New
York to Boston, he was visited by many gentlemen of

distinction. He was a personal friend and correspond-

ent of Bishop Berkeley. Dr. Franklin always called

upon him when passing through the town. This

man was nephew to Rev. John Eliot, Jr., and he once

preached in this place.

The record of the town of Newton for patriotism in

the French and Indian Wars, and in the War of the

Revolution, is a noble one. The church shares this

honor with the town. The name of Captain Thomas

Prentice was a terror to the hostile Indians. He was

an original member of the church in 1664, and so

were two others, and probably more, who fell in the

Indian Wars. In the army of the Revolution were

four of the de.tcons of our church—John Woodward,

David Stone, Jonas Stone and Ebenezer Woodward
;

also Col. Joseph Ward, who received the thanks of

Washington for his services. Col. Benjamin Ham-
mond, General William Hull, and that brave and im-

petuous soldier. Col. Michael Jacksou, who had with

him in the army five brothers and five sons. Two of

our men were nearly sixty years old when they en-

listed, two were nearly seventy and one was seventy-

three. Fifty-seven names of soldiers of the Revolu-

tion are on our church roll, forty of whom were mem-
bers of the church at the time of the war, and seven-
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teen joined it afterward. More than half the male

members of the church performed military duly. This

shows how he ivy ihe draft was that was made upon

the population of the country to fill the ranks of the

army. The population was small, and every able-

bodied man of suitable age was needed in the struggle

for independence. In the War of the Rebellion the

population was so great that, though the armies were

immense in size, the proportion of enlisted men was

much smaller. Only nine of the members of this

church were in the Union army, and three of these

were not members at the time of the war, but became

such afterward. Their names are Col. I. F. Kings-

bury, Sergeant-Major Charles Ward, Captain George

F. Brackett, Major Ambrose Bancroft, Roger S.

Kingsbury, Edward A. Ellis, John E. Towle, Cap-

tain Joseph E. Cousens and William H. Daly.

Edward P. Kingsbury enlisted and went into camp,

but was compelled by ill health to return home.

William H. Ward, brother of Charles, might prop-

erly be counted among tbe soldiers from this church,

for here was the home of his boyhood, and this was

the church he first joined.

In July, 1862, Charles Ward, who was almost

ready to enter college, having the ministry in view,

said to his friends :
" I believe it is my duty to en-

list.'' They said to him :
" If you enlist for three

years you will never come back." His only reply

was :
" I do not expect to come back." On the

evening of his enlistment he said :
"' We hear the

call of our country summoning us to her defense in

the hour of peril. Is there a life too precious to be

sacrificed in such a cause? I do not feel that mine

is. I rejoice that I am permitted to go and fight in

her defense. I have come here to enroll my name as

a soldier of my country, and I hope I am ready to die

for her if need be." For a time he was detailed as

clerk at division headquarters, but as soon as the call

to arms was heard he dropped his pen for his place

in the ranks, saying, " I cannot sit here writing when

my company are going into battle." This was the

battle of Chancellorsville, in which he fought bravely

with his comrades.

His moral and religious character nobly stood the

test of army life. He was as little affected by its de-

moralizing influences as the three Hebrews were by

the fury of Nebuchadnezzar's furnace, when they

came forth from it without the smell of fire upon

them. The whiskey that was furnished to the sol-

diers he would neither drink nor commute for other

rations. He regularly took it and poured it on the

ground. ~ His religious influence was felt in the sol-

diers' prayer-meetings, and in his habitual use of his

Bible.

His calm and unwavering courage in battle, or in

prospect of a battle, was a tonic to the whole regiment.

Every man in it knew that he had given his life to

the cause of his country, and that he stood ready to

complete the sacrifice whenever his duty as a soldier

required it. At Gettysburg, on the very crest of the

wave of that gigantic war, he laid down his life. In a

charge across an open field under a deadly fire, a

bullet pierced his lungs and he fell. He lived several

days after this and was left in a barn with other

wounded soldiers. One of them said, " I am sorry I

ever enlisted." Charles overhearing him, said, '" I

do not feel so ; I am glad I came; this is just what I

expected." He sent loving messages home to his

friends, and said to them, " Death has no fears for

me ; my hope is still firm in Jesus."

Such was the death in bis twenty-second year of a

Christian soldier, a young man who gave his life first

to God and then to his country. An officer of his

regiment said of him, "A pattern of goodness and
worth, he became endeared to all, so refined and cul-

tivated even amidst the rough usages of camp life, a

necessity to the regiment." Fitly the Army Post of

this city bears the name of Charles Ward.

Our church has supplieil for the service of the

country in wars early and late, seventy men, and it

is believed that in the French and Indian Wars there

were soldiers whose names have been lost.

Twenty two ministers have gone out from us,

seventeen ministers' wives, and one young woman
unmarried, as a missionary. Twenty-five descend-

ants of these ministers and ministers' wives have

been ministers, and twenty-one ministers' wives. No
doubt the number is greater than this, but these have

been counted. Two of the ministers stayed forty

years each in one place, one forty-six years, one forty-

seven, two fifty, one fifty-three, one fifty-five, and
the husband of one of the wives sixty years. We
have then a total of eighty-six persons who have

been engaged in ministerial or missionary service,

—

namely, forty-seven ministers, of whom five were

missionaries, thirty-eight wives of ministers, of whom
three ware missionaries, andonemissionary unmarried.

A large number of eminent men have either been

members of this church or descendants of members.

First of all should be mentioned our own deacon,

Isaac Williams, ancestor of a long line of distinguish-

ed men. His son William, of Hatfield ; his grandsons,

Solomon, of Lebanon, Conn., Elisha, President of Yale

College, Colonel Ephraim, founder of iWiliiams Col-

lege ; and his great-grandsons, Eliphatet, of East Hart-

ford, Conn., and William, of Lebanon, Conn., a

member of Congress and a signer of the Declaration

of Independence, are considcuous representatives of

this notable fjimily. Rev. Dr. Joseph Buckminster

;

his son. Rev. Joseph Stephens Buckminster; Judge

Theodore Sedgwick ; his daughter, Catharine Maria

Sedgwick ; President Mark Hopkins, Professor Al-

bert Hopkins, and Mrs. E. S. Mead, president of

Mount Holyoke Seminary and College, are descend-

ants still further down the line.

Jonas Clark, of Lexington, minister, patriot, states-

man, and his grandson, Henry Ware, Jr., professor

in Harvard Divinity School, were eminent men.
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Joseph Piirk. of Westerly, R. I., had a Sjnday-

8eho.il in liis ihurch lliirJy years btlore tlie time of

Hubert Raikes. Thomas Park, LL.D., was |.r..fe>sor

ill Columbia College, South Carolina. Rev. Culvin

Park, U.l)., was professor in Brown University. His

80D, Edward* A. Park, D.D., LL.D., has been editor

of the liibliolhtca .Siicra forty years, professor in

Anilover Theological S«emin>.ry forty-five year.-*, a

l.reac-her and aujhor »i.\t/ years, and is still preparing

worts for the pre.ss.

From J(dni Kliol, .Ir., the first minister ofour church,

descended his son, Judge John Kliot, and from him

Henry C. Bowen, Esq. From his widow by a second

marriage wat descended Josiah Quincy, LL.D.,

President of Harvard College.

From Mr. Hobart, the second minister of our

church, have descended Rev. Dr. R.S.Storr.s of Brain-

tree; his son, Rev.R.S.Storrs.D.U., LL.D., of Brook-

lyn. N. Y. ; Dr. Joseph Torrey, president of the Uni-

versity of Vermont, and Judge Robert R. Bishop, of

this place.

From Mr. Cotton, our third minister, were de-

scended Rev. Dr. Nathaniel Thayer and his son by

the same name, patron of Harvard College.

Other descendants of members of this church are

Rev. Dr. James Freeman Clarke, Rev. Dr. William

Hayes Ward and Professor William G. T. Shedd,

D.D., LL.D., of New York, a prolific author and the

greatest master of the Augustinian theology in our

land.

William Jackson, pioneer in temperance and anti-

slavery, father of railroads, member of Congress as an

anti-Mason, a pillar in the church, zealous in al! good

works, was a member of this church from 1814 to 1845.

Included in this enumeration are three judges, two

members of ^Congress, several authors, three college

professors, three professors in theological seminaries

and five college presidents. What opporlunities

for usefulness do such positions as these afford, and

what sense of security we have when the right

men fill them ! Those who are called to instruct

and guide the young in the forming period of their

lives are sitting at the very fountains of influence.

They direct the thinking of the time, for they teacli,

those who are to be the thinkers. If all our colleges

and schools were provided with such teachers as those

whose names have just been mentioned, we might

almost .lay that society would be safe in their hands.

John Wesley, when a young man, declined a curacy

that, he might spend ten years at O.^ford. If he had

taken a pulpit, he felt that he should purify only one

particular stream ; therefore he went to the Uni-

versity, that he might " sweeten the fountain."

It is exceedingly gratifying to us to find in how

many ways the church that we love has been of ser-

vice to the interests of mankind, through ministers

and missionaries and teachers, and gifts of money;

through the lives of men and women who, like Moaes

on the mount, had power with God in prayer, and

through the lives of men who, like Joshua, when the

life of the nation was threatened, could go out and

fight against her enemies. It is simply amazing to

see in how many directions the influence of a single

local church may go out, and how its agencies for do-

ing good may extend and multiply in successive gen-

erations, when the children of ministers, their grand-

children, and great-grandchildren, and descendants

still more remote, are found perpetuating the work of

their ancestors and keeping alive the fragrance of

their name. This is a kind of fruit which it is the

peculiar privilege of an ancient church like ours to

gather up. Is it not also the privilege of a country

c/iMrcA in distinction from a city church? Churches

which are remote from the excitements, the diver-

sions and the frivolities which are incident to city

life furnish by far the larger proportion of the men

who stand in t/.e pulpits of the land, and exert aeon-

trolling influence upon society, as well as of those

who carry the gospel to the ends of the earth. Es-

tablish a local church where one is needed, either in

country or city, and you open a fountain of living

waters which may flow on to the end of time. Its

work goes on quietly, but constantly, like the flowing

of a gentle river, in sermons, and prayer-meetings,

and Sunday-Schools, in pastoral visitation, and in

benevolent contributions, and sometimes we are cast

down in spirit because there are no more visible

results. But God has said, " My word shall not re-

turn to me void ; it shall prosper in the thing

whereto I sent it." This is always true, and when we

look through long periods of time we see it. " Every-

thing lives whithersoever the river cometh."

An ancient church is often a mother of churches.

As the banyan tree in the East sends down shoots

from its branches to take root in the earth and be-

come the stems and trunks of new trees, so this church

sent down a shoot into the soil of the West Parish in

1781, and a new tree sprang up there. In 184.5 it

sent one down on the spot where Eiiot Church now

stands, and what a banyan tree is there ! Another

was dropped at Newtonville in 1858, and another at

Newton Highlands in 1872, and the trees all flourish,

and their prosperity is our joy. The work of the

scores of ministers who have gone out into the world,

tracing their roots back to this hallowed spot, sends

back its benediction upon us and fills us with thanks-

giving. For "so is the kingdom of God as if a man
should cast seed upon the earth and should sleep and

rise night and day, and the seed should spring up and

grow he knoweth not how. The earth beareth fruit

of herself" under the smile of God, and so does a lo-

cal church. It is an institution filled with unspeak-

able blessing to all within its reach. Continually, in

one way and another, often in ways that we do not

observe, and in ways that we never shall know in this

world, it is bringing forth fruit unto God.

If this church through its long histofy has been a

blessing to others, ithas been a blessing to this parties
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ular locality. Sound doctrine and true religion bring

with thein everything that ia desirabie in human

society. We love the city where we dwell, we enjoy its

good name and its fair fiime among the cities and

towns of our Commonwealth. If society among us

is established upon right principles, and if the char-

acter and conduct of the people are such as to adorn

those principles ; if all this is true in an eminent de-

gree, as we think it is, we are largely indebted for it

to those who have gone before in, and especially to

the early ministers. Their faithful preaching and

godly living were the foundation on which society

was built. They formed the channel which shaped

the direction of the stream that has been flowing ever

since. Their spirit is in the air, and it has been

breathed by every successive generation, and it is in

great measure because of this that the lines have

fallen to us in such pleasant places and that we have

so goodly a heritage.

CHAPTER III.

JS'EWTON-( Continued).

EDUCATIONAL.

BY MRS. ELECTA N. L. WALTON.

Before Newton became a Township.—Pre-

vious to the separation of Cambridge Village (New-

ton) from Cambridge her school interests were identi-

cal with those of Cambridge, in which place there

was established, in 1636, "A public school, or col-

ledge," and soon after, by the side of the college, "A
faire Grammar Schoole for the training up of young

schollars, and fitting them for Academicall learning,

that still as they were judged ripe, they might be re-

ceived into the colledge." It is not definitely known

when this grammar school was established, but it

must have been previous to 1643, as the record quoted

above was published in that year.

The inhabitants of both Cambridge and Cambridge

Village were taxed for this school, and Cambridge

Village had an equal right to its advantages, though

how far the people availed themselves of the right is

not known. Its distance was certainly too great for

general daily attendance. It was a good school, for

the record further states: "Of this schoole Master

Corlet is the Mr., who has very well approved him-

selfe for his abilities, dexterity an painfulnesse in

teaching and education of the youth under him."

But the school was poorly attended. As late as 1680

a report sent to the County Court states of Mr. Corlet,

" his scholars are in number, nine, at present." For
the encouragement of Mr. Corlet to continue teach-

ing, various sums were voted by the town from time

to time to be added to the fees received from his

patrons. The following action is of interest to New-
4-iii

ton : In 1648 it was voted to sell land off the Com-
mon to raise ten pounds for Mr. Corlet, " provided it

should not prejudice the Cow-common." For this

purpose, forty acres "on the south side," in or near

what is now Nevvtonville, were sold to Mr. Edward
Jackson.

Master Corlet taught nearly half a century, till his

death, Feb. 25, 1687, aged seventy-eight years.

There is no record of any public or private school

for elementary instruction available to the village

before 1698, if we except those named in a report

sent from Cambridge to the County Court in 1680,

which !^tates that "For English, our school dame is

Goodwife Healy, at present but nine scholars," and
"Edward Hall, English Schoolmaster, at present but

three scholars," which schools Cambridge Village

children could hardly have attended. But that an

attempt was made to see that all the children were

instructed in some way is shown by the following ex-

tract taken from the Cambridge records of 1642 :

"According to an order of the last General Court it is ordered that tiie

townsmen see to the edacating of children, and that tile town be di-

vided into si.\ parts and a person appointed for each division to take

care of all families it contains."

The order of the Gener# Court referred to, re-

quired of the selectmen of every town to " have a

vigilant eye over their brethren and neighbors, to see

first that none of them shall suffer so much barbarism

in any of their families as not to endeavor to teach,

by themselves or others, their children and appren-

tices so much learning as may enable them perfectly

to read the English tongue and [obtain a] knowledge

of the capital laws, upon penalty of twenty shillings

for each neglect therein." Again, in 1647, a law was

passed requiring every town containing fifty house-

holders to appoint a teacher "to teach all such chil-

dren as shall resort to him to write and read ; " and

every town containing one hundred families or house-

holders was required "to set up a grammar school,

whose master should be able to instruct youth so far

as they may be fitted for the University." The pen-

alty for non-compliance was five pounds per annum.
With such a law and such a penalty there can scarce

be a doubt that some provision was directly made for

the elementary education of the youth of the entire

township of Cambridge, including Newton, even if

no records of the same have been preserved. How
far the early settlers availed themselves of the oppor-

tunities given can never be known ; it would not be

strange if, in their struggles for existence, many set-

tlers should have neglected them altogether.

After the Separation of Newton from Cam-
bridge.—For some years after the separation of New-
ton from Cambridge no school building was provided,

but the children, if taught collectively, were accom-

modated in some room furnished by a citizen. The
first movement towards building a school-house, of

which we have any record, was made in 1696. Kev.

Jonathan Homer, in his historical sketch of Newton
written in 1798, says :
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At a town-meeting November 25, 1700, " the Select-

men ami Inhuhitiintii <li<l ii(rree with John StapleR to

keep MhiMil one month 4 <l«y« in » week for one pound

fore lihillings, and bIIjio voted that the Selectmen

kbnll hire a roome or place to keep school in, and

hull ajriee with John Staples or some other to keep

and continue the Hchool till the town-meeting of

cUction in March."'

" Starrk 10, ITOl, Toird tlmt Ibo^* Ihat wnd Khullen lo shuol Hhall

|«y 3 prnr* per «evk fur lbue« Ihat lern to renil, and 4 |>enco imt wrek

for Ihiw* that Irni lo Hjppbcr and mtIIp, and that Ihey ninyiioud schoten

to either ichuol."

" Vottd, at the mnie lime that Capt. Pn-nlice, Lient. Sprlnjc and John

Hyde be jullK-d with the aeteclnien for a coniuiltco to build suidscbool-

bclXfre."

There is no record of that date or of any earlier

date concerning "said school-houses," but reference

is probably made to plans given in the following entry,

dated a month later, the discrepancy in dates being

accounted for on the supposition (borne out by the

appearance of the record.") that the town clerk made

hi.-s entries some lime after the town-meetings occurred,

and in almost any convenient and vacant space in his

book :

"At a t'kwn-nifetlne upon warning Riven April 1.*, 17m], the inhaliil-

antii ^'•ni-rally aMM-ntMed. and upon nintnre coiiKidvmtiuu liiid, did iinani-

mouMly ngrei* tu build two srlioul houaea—one to be get at the nieoling*

bouie and the dlment«l(>ne 17 foot fquare besidefi chiinney rooinc. and Ibe

other In the aoutherly part of the town necr Qko Uill, 10 foot square

bealdea chimney roonie ; and further, there shall beoneschuolniafltcr whoe

•hall teach two.lhlrda of the lime al the school at the Mceting-llouso,

and one-lbird of the time at Ibe school at Oke Hill ; and farther, the

town granted t«enly Ave pounds towards Iho building of said school-

house^ lo be equally divided between both houses, and what is wanting

to be made up by tboso who will freely coDlryhute towards the building

of the same."

This arrangement was carried out and the two

achool-iiouses were built; the sOhool-house "at the

meeting-house" being north of Joseph Bartlet's, and
that "at Oke Mill" being south, thus accommodating

the scattered settlers better than before.

h id gratifying to find that the differences concern-

-iler* for the s-chool-hoiL-ies were thus happily set-

,
, The first "cc:itrybution," as recorded for the

purpose, was a gift by Abraham Jackson of one acre

of land adjoining an acre previously given to the town

by liiu father. The record under date of May 14,

1701, states that

•• M.raham Jackson added and gave for the selling of the school-house

niK.n and enlarging of the buryingplace and the convenience of the

iralning place, one acre more, which »..id two acres of land waa then laid

out and bouniU.d."

The town immediately commenced to build at least

one of the school-houses, for we find the following in

the town treasurer's account:

•• l)ellTei..d to Abraham Jackson, May 28, 1701, ye sum of one pound

thirteen shillings lo by bords and nalles for ye school-houso."

The gift of Abraham Jackson's was followed the

next February by a similar gift by Jonathan Hyde of

"a half-acre near Oak Hill, for the use and benefit of

the school at the south part of the town." Gifts of

money are also recorded as received and various sums

as paid out for the buildings:

" Paid John Hide, one of the commity for the school-house, September

ye i\ 1702, two pounds, three shillings and fore pence ; " also

'• I'aid lo Abraham [.lackson], one of the Commity for the school-house,

Seplemlier yo 'JC, 1702, one pound, sixteen eliillings and eleven pence,

Iwing in full of Iho twenty-live pounds alowed by Iho town to ye build-

ing both school-houses."

[Note.—The "meeting-house" stood in what is now old cemetery on

Centre Street.]

It is hoped that the site of the Oak Hill school-

house was more happily chosen than the site given

by Mr. Jackson, at which latter location the child

must have imbibed very contlicling impressions from

his daily surroundings reminded on the one hand, by

his vicinity to the meeting-house, of his obligations

to the Prince of Peace, and taught by the near train-

ing-place, with all the attractions of music and ginger-

bread, the enforcement of that semi -barbarous law,

"an eye for an eye and a tooth for a tooth," while the

exhilaration of "tag "and "I spy" must have been too

often hindered by the funeral train by day or tem-

pered by fears of possible hobgoblins at night.

A Change in Scuoolmastees.—It is po.=sible

that about this time John Staples began to tire of

school-keeping, for we read, '' Voted, allso, Novem-
ber 21, 1701, that Ephraim Wheeler, John Hide, Na-

thaniel Healy, Edward Jackson be joined with the

selectmen to treat with and persuade John Staples to

keep the school, and if they cannot, to use their best

discretion to agree with and hier some other person."

This committee probably procured the services of

Mr. Edward Godard, for a record of the treasurer, un-

der date of March 31, 1702, reads, " Paid to Mr. Ed-
ward Godard, schoolmaster, fourteen shillings," and
there is no record of any money paid later to Mr.
Staples for teaching.

It further appears, by the treasurer's account, that

Mr. Godard taught till November, 1705, when he was
succeeded by John Wilson, Daniel Baker, Caleb Trow-
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bridge and Mr. Webb, then by Caleb Trowbridge a

second time, who taught till 1714, after which John

Brown became knight of the ferule. The names of

nine other masters occur up to 173'J, making, in

twenty-seven years, fifteen different teachers, enough,

with no regular system, to ensure but little progress.

Of all these schoolmasters .Tohn Staples appears to

have been most acceptable, and to have taught the

greatest length of time. He w.as a person of note in

the town, of which he was an inhabitant from 1G8S

till the time of his death, November 4, 1740, at. the

age of eighty-two. Besides being a schoolmaster for

some years, he held the office of deacon of the church,

was selectman from 1701 to 1709 and town clerk from

1714 to 1734.

Condition of the Schools.—Up Lo this time and

for years after, the schools were not free in the sense

in which our present schools are free. They were

open to all children, but those who attended paid

tuition, the amount being generally decided upon

by the town, and any deficiency in the master's pay

being made up by drafts upon the treasurer. There

was little system in the management of the ,=!chool8,

the people from year to year voting in town-meeting

how and where the schools should be taught. The

duties of School Committees were limited at first

simply to hiring a schoolmaster, and at times they

shared even that duty with the selectmen. They

were chosen for but one year at a time, and the board

was often entirely changed. But the aim of the peo-

ple was always to secure greater facilities for better

teaching; and from these small beginnings, as experi-

ence dictated, has steadily grown a common-school

system of which we are justly proud.

The following record is one of the earliest pre-

served which shows any additional power delegated

to the School Committee :

" May 9, 1712, at a public town-meeting, the inhabitants of this town

did pass a vote that the coiniuitty chosen at the last town-meeting to

talie care of the school, shall agree with a schoolmaster as to his sallnry

fer the present year,'*

Further School Privileges Demanded.—It

was not long before the school at the north, " by the

meeting-house" and that at the south, "near Oke

Hill," proved insufficient for the needs of the people

at the west, who petitioned for further school privi-

leges, and on March 10, 1718, the citizens voted ten

pounds to the northwesterly, west and southwesterly

inhabitants for the promoting of " Larning" among

them " in such plaices as a committy hereafter chosen

shall appoint ; and to be paid to [such] schoolmaster

or schoolmasters as shall teach." About the year

1720 there seems to have been some disagreement in

regard to the location of schools and many exciting

sessions were held,

—

'* May 11, 1720. At a towne meeting, appointed by ye selectmen, for

to hear the petition of sundry of ye inhabitanc on the westerly side of yo

towne for to have three schoole-housies in ye towne, and to have theire

proportion of scooling, as also to hear ye request of sundrey of ye inhab-

itanc to have but one school-house to keep ye gramar schoole in ; as

also to hear the propeslslon of sundrey pcnsous, yt if yo gramnr echoolo

bo kept in but one place, yt there should be a consideration grantMl to

yo renmat parts of yo towne for schooling among theniselvee. The in*

h.-ibitanc, beisig lawfully warned by flir. Kphniini Williams, conslnbil, to

meet att yo meeting house on said oloventh day of May, and being as-

sembled on said day, did flt^t tryo a voat for three schoolo housies and

was negatived.

*' 2. Did tryo a voatn for to have ye gramar schoole to be kept bnt In

one place, and It wad voated to have but one schoolo-house to keep

gramar schoolo in for the towne.

" :{. Voated to grant the ronioat parts of ye Townoa consideration for

scliooling among themselves.

"4. Voated to choose a Conunlty to consider whear said one schoole-

liouse should bo erected fur to keep the gramor schoolo in ; as also to con-

sider who yo romoat parts of ye towne are yt cannot have ye beneflt of

but one schoole, and what alowanc they shall have for schooling among

themselves ; ami to make theire repoart of what they do agree upon at

ye ne.xt pubtick town meeting fur conni'tuation or non-couflrmatlon.

And then did choose Lieut. .loremiab Fuller, Mr. .lo.seph Ward, Mr.

Nathaniel Langley, Mr. Hicluird Ward and Insino Samuel Hide to be

the said commitey.

*'Recjrded per me, John Staples, ToianClerk.^'

Then follows a remonstrance of the same date,

signed by twenty-five citizens :

" Whe, whose names are underwritten, do enter our decents agiost

this voate of having but one schoole-bouse lu this towne."

On December 7, 1720, the " Commity " chosen re-

ported a site for the school-house ; also recommenda-

tion to allow twelve pounds a year to the remote

parts of the town for schooling, and thirdly, " did

suppose yt there is about sixty fammilyes yt are two

miles and a halfe from ye meeting-house, and about

forty fammilyes yt are about three miles from ye

meeting-house," which reports were accepted, and

votes were passed in accordance with the report. But

in three months a different counsel prevailed, and the

inhabitants on March 13, 1721,

—

"3. Did try a voat for ye granting ye remoat parts of ye towne twelve

pounds annualy for schooling among themselves. So long as ye schools

should be kept in one place, and it was negatived.

" 4. Did trye a voat y t ye gramer school should be keept att ye school-

house by tbe meeting-house for ye present year. Negatived.

"5 Did try to have it kept at ye school-house at ye south part of yo

town, and it was negatived."

Mr. Samuel Miller, promising before the town in

said meeting, that he would find a room in his own
house to keep school in, and not charge the town any-

thing for the use of it,

—

'*7. The inhabitants did voat yt tlio school should be kept att ye

bouse of said Mr. Saml. Miller for the present or ensuing year."

Mr. Miller lived in the West Parish. This arrange-

ment of having but one school—and that at the west

—was unsatisfactory, and at the next March meeting

they voted that the school should be kept two-thirds

of the time at the meeting-house, and one-third of

the time at the south end of the town.

But apparently the stormiest sessions were in 1723.

At the March meeting the inhabitants jirovided for

a school one-half of the year at the west, and at the

north and south parts one-quarter each ; in October

they changed their plan, and changed again in De-

cember, at which lime they voted twelve pounds ten

shillings toward the buildingofaschool-house within

forty rods of the house of Samuel Miller, also that the
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If we I.Mik tinck in the records of 1731, we shall

find ihnt a cnniniiltee wii.t iippointed to petition the

OenemI Court for a primt of land to enable the town

to support n grammar nchool. As common English

»rh<K)l» hail been supi^rtcd by the town ever since

ita orpaniMtion, the inference certainly must be that

the people in 17;il were lookini; ttwards the estab-

linhment of a grammar school as defined by the

(irlictal t'.urt. The record tjuctfd above, as well as

the following record, dated March, 1701, certainly

aecms to imply th-- existence of such a school, or an

attempt to make what schools they had answer the

re<juiremcnt» of the law :

*' iw«>r tliMt nrtr poumU of the Town nito Blmll and hereby is op-

pT - tlOol.

'<y |Minnd« (iliall not be expended for the

•,. .. .4, the renmtnder ilinll be hiid out in other

9, r tloD of Ihfl Coinmlltee that is to provide the

<ir, I."

Probably some subterfuge was here used, and but

little of this was expended for the said "Grammar
SchfMil," for the next year the town was presented

for not setting up a grammar school, as the laws of

>Ia.-B»chii8ctts r<<niired, and the selectmen were in-

structed to endeavor Ui defend the town before the

next Court of General .^ecsions to be held in Cam-
bridge. The selectmen would hardly have attempted

to defend the town if they had not tome defense to

mate. After this for some years it was voted to keep

the gramin.ir school at the house of Edward Duranl,

and then, in 1707, "at such school-house as the com-

mittee shall think proper."

,„ , , ,,n. INTEREST IN THE ScHOOi-S.-The year

lT.;;t seems to have been a year of increased interest

i„ sch.Hd alVairs, and several changes were made m

,be mhoulsand in iheir administration. First the

penple vote.l for four -schools to be opened at the f..ur

school-houses -beside the grammar school; also

voted that the selectmen should apportion the school

monev and school time according lo the list of polls

and >Niluation of estates the preceding year, " except-

ing this allowance, viz. : that those persons who are

unable to pay their polls, a«wr(/e a share as if they

had been aide and did pay for the same." Under this

direction the following ai-portionment of school

money was made. Fdr the schcol near the meeting-

bouse. £19 9.i. ; Northwest, £13 Us.; Oak Hill, £10

10». ; Southwest, £6 10«. total, £50.

The apportionment of school time was :—At the

Centre, iO weeks, 2 days ; Northwest, 14 weeks, days
;

Oak Hill, 10 weeks, 6 days ; Southwest 6 weeks, 5

days—total, 52 weeks, 1 day.

There had been some trouble in regard to the fur-

nii-hing of wood for the schools, and alter some

debate concerning the method of providing it, it was

voted that it should be paid for from the town treas-

ury ; at the same lime the people showed their thrift

by choosing one person for each of the tive schools to

purchase wood " at as low a rate as they can."

This year the School Committee was increased from

three to five.

Scuooi.-HOUSES.—As a sample of the school-houses

of the time, that located in the Southwest District,

near the spot where the railroad station in Newton

Highlands now stands (1890), is thus described in

Smith's " History of Newton: ""The building was

brick, 14 by 16 feet square, and chimney room.

It was covered with a hip roof coming together at a

point in the centre. A fireplace about six feet wide

and four feet deep, with a large chimney, in which

they burnt d wood four feet long, occupied one side of

the room. This house became very much dilapidat-

ed, and the roof so leaky in its later years, that it

was not uncommon for the teacher to huddle the

scholars together under an umbrella or two to prevent

their getting wet during the summer showers." The

house was rebuilt in 1811.

An amusing incident may be recorded here to illus-

trate the capacity of chimneys in those days. It is

related of a Master Hovey, ivho taught in one of the

school-houses last used in 1809, corner of Ward
Street and Waverly Avenue, that a roguish boy once

let down a fish-line and hook from the chiinuey-top,

which hook an equally roguish boy in the room
fastened to the wig of the venerable master, when,

presto ! the wig suddenly disappeared up the chimney.

Women Employed as Teachees.—At the May
town-meeting in 1766 the people took a new depart-

ure, and, " after some debate, voted:—that sixteen

pounds be assessed in the polls and estates in Newton,
by an addition of said sum to the town rate, and to be
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laid out in paying scbool mistresses fortlie instruction

of chiitlreii tliis present year at the discretion of ihe

committee chosen in March last to provide a gram-

mar school-master."

Like appropriations of sixteen pounds a year were

made, and school-mistresses employed " for the in-

struction of young children" till 1774, after which,

till 1803, only masters were em|)loyed. These " wo-

men's schools ' were summer schoul.i, while the mas-

ters' schools, with the exception of t!ie grammar

school, were taught in the winter. In 1773 and for

Several subsequent years the town voted "' that the

grammar school be taught in the summer."

Inspection and yupuRvisioN or Schools.— It

does not appear that there was much supervisicn of

the schools in those early days, by any one. In the

year 1761 and after, the committee who provided the

school-masters were empowered to expend the school

money at their discretion ; the selectmen were often

employed to perform other duties which now pertain

to the office of School Committee, while special com-

mittees were appointed for many specific purposes

—

to locate school buildings, to make repairs, to appor-

tion school money and school time, to district the

town, to provide wood, etc., etc.

In the record of December 22, 1772, is found the

first item that looks towards much supervision of any

kind, as follows

;

"The question was put whether the selecctmen shouM be enjoined to

inspect tlie several schools in the town anJ_ see tliat tlie several scliool-

niasters and mistresses do tbeir respective duties in keeping said schools,

and what proficiency the scholars make in their learning, and the vote

passed in the negative."

Then

" Voted that the school committee, so called, be enjoined to visit the

several schools and see that the several school-masters and scboolmis-

tresses do their respective duties and see what proficiency the scholars

make in their learning."

In 1790, also in 1791, in the vote that the School

Committee should locate the s-chools, etc., it was added
" the said cnmmiltee to inspect the several schools and see

that they are kept as the law directs," and at a later

meeting the same year, after voting that the East

School Society might lay out their money as they

thought proper, they added to tbeir vote:

" NoiwUhitandiiig, the school committee to exercise

the same authority as (hey were directed to when chosen

in March last."

This year the Lower Falls District was set off, and

the money apportioned accordingly.

Ownership of School Buildings.— In the year

1793 measures were taken for the purchase of the sev-

eral school-houses, which were hitherto owned by the

several school districts, and a committee of eleven

was chosen to draw up a plan respecting the school-

houses and schooling and to report at the next meet-

ing. The next year the town voted to reconsider all

former votes respeciiug school-houses and schooling

and chose a committee of five to draw up a plan,

Colonel Benjamin II;unmond being the only person

on this coniMiitteo that was on the committee of

eleven. The report of this committee seemed to sat-

isfy, and the same committee were directed to pur-

chase, as soon as convenient, as many of the ^chool

buildings, with the land, as could be obtained on rea-

sonable terms. The price paid varied from £40 to £100.

Regulation and Government of the Schools.

— Ill the year 1795 the town voted ti choose a commit-
tee of six persons to prepare rules and regulations to

be observed by the several schools within the town,

and made choice of Colonel Josiah Fuller, Major
Timothy Jackson, Cajitain William Ilammonil, Lieu-

tenant Caleb Keiidrick, Dr. John King and Dr. Eb-

enezer Starr. This committee was directed to give

the several ministers of the (iuspel within the town
an invitation to assist them, and to report at the next

May meeting. With a committee thus made up of

men devoted either to the spiritual, physical or bellig-

erent interests of the community, it might be sup-

posed that a fine set of rules would be presented and

adopted. But, alas ! no report appeared ; at least, none

is recorded.

In 1802 another committee was chosen to join with

the ministers for the same pu.'pose, and the next year

a third committee, but no report was forthcoming.

Yearly Appropriation for Schools to 1800.

—The yearly grant for schooling from the town treas-

ury was, from 1761-65, £50 ; 1766-73, £66; 1774. £60,

•

1775-76, £.00 ; 1777, «10; 1778, £80; 1782-85, £60
;

1786-89, £80; 1790, £90; 1791-94, £100; 1795, £130
;

1796-99, $5U0.

The school appropriations of 1778-81 are given in

depreciated currency; thus, 1779, £200; 1780, £2000;

1781, £2000. The other appropriations are in silver

coin.

The Schools from 1800 to 1817.—From 1800

to 1817 little can be gleaned concerning the public

schools of Newton which is of interest to the general

reader. The town owned its several school-houses,

and in 1808 it was divided into seven school wards

—

the West, the North, the East, the Sjuth, the South-

west, the Lower Falls and the Centre.

From the winter of 1809-10 to that of 1812-13, and

again from 1814-17 Mr. Seth Davis, a well-known

centenarian of Newton, taught in the public schools

in the West and North Wards. It is related of him
that, in 1810, he introduced into his school decla-

mation and geography, with map-drawing. This

created a great sensation, and a special town-meet-

ing was called to consider whether such a dangerous

innovation should be tolerated. After long discus-

sion on the demoralizing tendencies of the times, it

was decided by a large majority that map-drawing
might be continued, but declamation must nc/t be

allowed. Mr. Davis' determined will undcjubtedly

chafed under such limitations, and in 1817 he estab-

lished a private school, a notice of which school will

be found later in this article.
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The adoption of iheae mea.iurc8 was a great step in

advance of previous legislation.

For some years the comiiiiltee in their united ca-

pacity pniviiJcd the several teachers, but this did not

satisfy, and in 1821 the cominillce of each district

was empowered " to employ such instructors and

orSTY, MASSACHUSETTS. ^
-,„.,k1 iheir p^i^n of money in such a way as

,i,..v think proper, complying with the law o the

Cummonwenlth for governing schools under the direc-

tion of the inhabitants qualified to vote in town

atVain. in the district for which he is chosen. But it

shall be the duty of each committeeman to notify

the inhabitants of the district for which he is chosen,

qiislified as aforesaid, to meet at some convenient

place wilhin said district before he proceeds to hire an

Instructor to make arrangements for said school." A

similar vote w.is passed in 1823. This arrangement

was unsatisfactory, and in 182C the comn.ittee, as a

whole, was again required to provide instructors.

The school law of 182(5 first made it obligatory

upon the towns to elect a School Commillee, and by

the statutes of 1827 every town was required to elect

three, five or seven persons, and towns containing

four thousand inhabitants were empowered to choose

an additional number, not exceeding five. Newton

cortained less than three thousand inhabitants.

Fkom 1827 TO THE Abolition of the District

System and the Establishment of Graded

Schools in 1852-53.—In accordance with the law of

1827, the town chose a general School Committee of

three, consisting of Kev. Alfred J. Barry, Hon. Wil-

liam Jackson and Deacon Elijah F. Woodward
;
the

next year Kev. James Bates and Mr. Seth Diivis were

added to the committee. After this, Superintending

Committees of five were generally chosen. Prudential

Committees were also chosen from year to year, one

for each district, sometimes by the school districts

themselves. The duties of the Prudential Committee

of each district were to keep the school-house of his

district in repair, to furnish it with all things suitable,

to provide fuel, to contract conditionally with the

teacher, and to keep the Visiting Committee informed

of the condition of the school. The Visiting Com-

mittee were required to examine all candidates for

teaching, to certify to their ability, and also to have

a general charge of all school interests. This sub-

division of duties and responsibilities had some few

advantages, but they were more than counterbalanced

by its disadvantages, and too often caused much
friction in the working of the school machinery.

Thus, the method of securing and examining teachers

was frequently complained of by the Examining

Committee. The Prudential Committees would some-

times secure teachers and send them to the Examin-

ing Committee for approval without any notice, when
it would be absolutely impossible to give a thorough

examination. It often happened, even, that the

teachers commenced their schools before examination,

or were examined and rejected so late as to delay the

commencement of school at the proper time, the Pru-

dential Committee being, meantime, in search of an-

other candidate. If a relative or favoiite of the local

committee chanced to be rejected, hard feelings were

thereby engendered. In the report of 1844 the com-

1 mittee complained that teachers had been allowed to
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teach through the term and even to draw their pay

either without examination or on the approval of a

previous certitioate, though the statute provided that

no teacher should commence without a ceriificate for

the occasion, while the fact that a person liad taught

the year before might furnish the beat possible reason

why his application should be rejected.

In their report of 1847—IS the Superintending Com-
mittee cited Stale rules for the guidance of the Pru-

dential Committee, and earnestly and solemnly urged

that no pains should be spared and no reasonable

compensation refused that might secure teachers of

the right stamp. In lS4i)-50 they urged the advis-

ability of having the teachers chosen and contracted

for by the Examining Committee, and reminded the

citizens that by a law of the Slate this should be so,

unless a town having an article in the warrant for the

purpose should expressly vote to give that duty to

the Prudential Committee.

Under the double committee system the schools

lacked unity of method and ofresults, and though stead-

ily improving, yet made slow progress. The duties

of Prudential Committee were finally merged into

those of the Superintending Committee, and the Pru-

dential Committee was abolished in 1S52-53.

Since the firstjeslablishmeat of the general Visiting

Committee, names of respon?ible, painstaking and

able persons are found upon the Newton lists, and

earnest efforts were constantly made to better the

schools. After the establishment of the Massachu-

setts Board of Education, great assistance was derived

from the annual reports of the secretary of the board,

which were sent to the School Committee of each

tovyn, and perhaps quite as much, from the necessity,

imposed upon every town, of reporting in detail the

conditionof every public school within its boundaries.

These reports are on file at the State-House, and

afford ample evidence of conscientious, painstaking

service.

Rev. Lyman Gilbert and Mr. Ebenezer Woodward
were for many years members of the committee, and

to them may be attributed much of the progress of

education in their day. Mr. Woodward was a practi-

cal teacher, and kept a very successl'ul private school

in Newton Centre from 1S37 till 1843; Mr. Gilbert

had, for a short time, been usher in Phillips Acad-

emy, Andover. The reports in which their names

appear evince ability, patience, interest and fearless-

ness, and are at once critical and inspiring. The
following extract from the i-eport of ] 838-39 may not

be out of place;

" Tlie idea of having learning enough for common business merely,

should be sentenced to perp.etual banishment. Learning in any of its

branches can be useless to no one. The acquisition of Itnowledge is

moreover a design of life. This consideration should be oftener present

to tlie mind, as well as the moral obligation all are under to make the

mi)at auci the best of their faculties, and to be satisfied with no degree of

attainment so long as a higher attainment is within their reach."

Statistics of 1839-40.—In the year ending .4pril,

1840, Newton had eleven public schools ; the whole

number of pupils was, in summer, 534; average at-

tendance, 420; in winter, G32 ; average attendance,

520. There were ten female teachers iu summer; in

the winter nine male and two female teachers. Ave-
rage monthly wages of male teachers, including board,

$^if4.88 ; average board, !?10.44 ; average monthly
wages of female teachers, including b lard, $14..')il;

average board per month, $(i.!)5 ; aggregate length of

the winter schools, forty weeks ; of the summer,
forty weeks, fourteen days.

There were two incorporated academies ; aggregate

number of months in session, twenty-two; average

number of pupils, fifty; aggregate paid tor tuition,

$800.

liooKS IN Use.—The books used in the public

schools at this time were

:

For SpeUinj,—Webster's Spelling-Gook and Dictionary ; National

Spelling-Book.

For Reading.—Pierpout's Keading-Books, Abbott's Iteadiog-Books,

Worcester's Fourth Book, Testatuent.

For Gcatjmphij.—Olney's Geography,

For Grammar.—Parley A Fox's, Smith's.

For Arittimelic.—Kmorson's, Smith's, Colburn's.

For Ati/nbra.—Colburn's, Day's.

For History.—Worcester's History, Whelpley's Compcnd, Goodrich's

nistory of the United States.

Other Books.—Blake's Philosophy and Astronomy, Wutt's On the

Mind, Book of Commerce.

School AppARAxrs.—^At quite an early period

there were those in town whose ideas upon education

were much advanced, and in 1833 they succeeded in

getting into the warrant for town-meeting an article

to see if the town would furnish each school district

with acopy of the Family Encyclopedia, but the article

was dismissed. In 1835 they induced the town to

vote that a terrestrial globe be purchased for each of

the district schools, and instructed the committee in

each district to provide a box for its safe keeping.

But, alas I of what use is the best, apparatus without

the power or inclination to use it? In 1847-48 the

committee reports " Globes in school, but not in use."

"They had never seen one in any school." On in-

quiry as to their whereabouts, some were found buried

in dust in broken boxes, some were .stowed away in

the entries among wood and other rubbish, and some

could not be accounted for, " perhaps removed with

the old house and regarded as too superannuated to

be introduced into a modernstructure." . . . "As
if the earth was not round still, and America where it

was a century since and China its antipodal, and as if

these and a thousand other parts of the earth's sur-

face could be made plain as daylight to the learner

by any other means than the very miniature of the

earth itself."

Not all teachers were thus neglectful, for it is re-

corded in 1841-42 that one teacher, being unable in

any other way to obtain maps and diagrams, supplied

them himself, and the committee added, " It is to be

hoped that the time is not far distant when the public

will be satisfied that something more than a teacher
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In 1M9 the school-houses were much improved;

eight out of eleven were well supplied, and all to

time extent provide*! with suitable apparatus.

Fiii,-T Yk.iki.y S< iiooi, is NuwroN—On the

7th of December, 1S4S, a union was formed be-

tween School Distiict No. 7, which included West

Newton and Auburndale, and the Slate Normal

School, then established iu West Newton. The ob-

ject of this union was the formation of a model school

where all the most approved methods of instruction

nhould be adoptecl an«l ihcbcsl talent be employed to

develop the younp, and to shew by example what a

true school should be.

By the terms of the agreement, the district was to

furnish school-room, etc., and one permanent male

teacher, approvfrd by both parties, and to allow such

addition to their number by pupils from abroad, on a

gmnll tuition, as circumstances niightjustify.

The.'^tate Normal .School was to furnish a portion

of the apparatus and two assiutant teschers, each

to observe a week previous to teaching, and to

teach two weeks under constant supervision. This

was the first yearly public school ever taught in New-

ton ; it was kept in the ba^^ement of the town ball.

Mr. Nathaniel T. Allen, a graduate of the Bridge-

water State Normal .School, was appointed its princi-

pal at a salary of ?300, to be paid by the district, and

the remainder to be paid by pupils admitted from

abroad. The whole number of pupils the first year

was 125; the number from abroad was •'50 ; the average

age of the pupils, 14 years. Thirty-five of the young

ladies from the Normal School berved as assistants.

By an additional agreement, on May 1, 1850, the

Primary .*chn(d of West Newton became also con-

nected with the Slate Normal School ; at firot taught

only by studento of the Normal School ; but in 1851

a permanent female teacher was employed, and one

assistant from the Normal School. The number of

teachers furnished to this department in 1850 was 22

;

vears.

The practice which this arrangement offered to the

Htudents of the Noimal School, of olserving and

, , teaching under the eye of an e.xperienced and pa.ns-

Ihoroughlv rcpaircl i taking critic, was 01 unmeasured value to them,

while the f|uality of the teaching was s^uch as to

attract a large number of visitors continually from

Boston and other places, and applications for ad-

missi.m increased so much after the first year, that

many applicants were turned away. When the Nor-

mal School was i(mo\cd from the town in 1853, the

Modi-I School as .such was given up, and the school

put upon the same basis and taught in the same man-

ner as the other district schools. The names of a

thousand visitors were enrolled on the register of the

school during the last year of its existence.

HlXDRANCES TO PROGRESS.—Among the hin-

drances to goodprogress in the schools at this time

may be enumerated frequent absences and tardiness,

the patronage of private schools, and the lack of co-

operation on the part of parents.

Absences to Tardiness.—These hindrances are

named and deplored in almost every school report of

this period. In that of 1845 the committee state that

in many cases more than half the school time is lost

by absences, and that the habit is universal. They

cite one school in particular, the teacher of which re-

ported that in a term of nineteen weeks there

were 3223 half-day absences, equal to an aggregate of

more thiin five and one-half years. In this school

seven pupils were absent respectively 115, 117, 121,

107, 102, 117 and fifiy-five half school-days. The

committee added, " When we take into consideration

these obstacles to progress in our schools, what ought

we to expect? Who can complain if the teachers

should not be able to get much knowledge into the

heads of those who rarely put their heads into the

school-house?" That parents and guardians are re-

sponsible is the burden of the reports. The attend.

ance for some years alter this was fearfully low. In

the list of 311 towns in the State for the years 1847-48,

Newton stood the 244th in attendance. Of the forty-

eight towns in Middlesex County, Newton stood the

lowest, with an average attendance of forty-three per

cent. In the year 1848-49 she stood the 246th in the

State, having an average attendance of 57.07 per cent.

I quote from the school report of one of these years

;

"The question is getting to be seriously a^ked in

high places and in all directions. What shall be done

to remedy this evil? Shall it be a peual oflence to

keep a child from school for any reason short of sick-

ness or what may be thought equally imperative?

Shall the vagrant, schoolless boy be provided for by
the State as one already an offender against the peace
and well-being of society ? . . . Peojde will differ

very much as to the propriety or justice of adopting

such extreme measures. The largest liberty is coi.-

(ended for in this free republic ; the liberty to get



NEWTON. 57

drunk and abuse our God-given natures, to eschew

the good that, is around us and hug the evil, and the

liberty to give the hungry and thirsty souls of our

immortal offspring stones instead of bread, fire in-

stead of water ; to hand tlieni over to the dominion

of unbridled passions, untultivFted desires, to let them

grow up an everlasting disgrace to their parentage,

unmitigated pests to society. What will be done is

not lor us to say ; 1 ut only will we heartily ailirm

that when every child of the proper age shall be re-

ceiving that education which can alone fit him to fill

aright his place among men and prepare him to re-

ceive a holier unction for another kingdom, our eyes

shall no longer be jiained, as now, with seeing boys

spending their springtime of life in mental and bodily

idleness at the corners of the streets or in the stable

rioting in profanity, obscenity and all malignity. . . .

Railroads are a blessUig, but not unmixed ; their

depots are lounging-places for idlers and truant boys

wherein to concoct mischief; . . . dram-shops and

oyster saloons and candy palaces still hold out their

tempting lures, offering to the idle a coml'ortable re-

pose, to the craving stomach a sweet morsel, but to

the gaping mind gall and wormwood. These you

have among you. See to it, see to it."

By persistent efforts of the School Committees

and teachers, much was finally accomplished by way
of school attendance, though it took years and the

system of graded schools to permanently fix the rate

of attendance at a high rank.

The percentage of attendance and rank therefore in

the towns of Massachusetts at the close of the five

decades from 184S-4'J is as follows :

1848-49—percentage of attenduECe . 57,

1858-59 " " "
71,

1808-69 " " "
7ii,

1878-79 " " "
84,

1888-89 82.8,

rank in the Slate . 240

" " " " -.ioo

" " " " 169
'• " " " 104

' " " 137

The apparent falling away of the percentage for

1888-89 may be accounted for by the increasing pop-

ular sentiment in favor of deferring the admission of

pupils to school till a later age than five ; the parents

in Newton now rarely commence sending so early.

The percentage of attendance based on the average

whole membership in the schools for the year 1888-

89 is 92.4 per cent.

Private Schools.—As another hindrance to the

best success of the public schools the establisliment

of private schools in the several villages was fre-

quently mentioned. They are spoken of in almost

every report ; iu the early years taking away the most

favored pupils, "leaving the a-b-c-darians and other

small scholars to constitute many of the schools."

In 1849 there were eight private schools, in most of

which the languages and many of the higher branches

of a good education were taught, and in 1851 not less

than 249 pujiils attended private schools. Many of

these schools were excellent and will be named later.

It is a fact worthy of mention, however, that as the

private schools flourished, a corresponding lack of

interest was evinced for the public schools, and their

attendance and efficiency proportionately decreased.

The cause of the establishment of so many private

schools and the decline of the public may be traced

to the repeal, in 1S24, of the law concerning the re-

quirements for teaching the languages in towns of

not less than five thousand inhabitants; not because

the teaching of languages is absolutely necessary to

great culture in otherdirections, but because the acqui-

sition of knowledge sufficient to teach Latin and Greek,

and to fit for the university, necessarily accompanied

higher attainments in other directions. After 1824

thequality of the teaching declined, as those best fitted

for teaching chose other professions. There was no
revival till the movement began which resulted in

the establishment of the Board of Kducation and
Normal Schuols, and the influence of these was not

materially felt over the State for years.

Want of Co-opeuation of Parents.—The
extent of the co-operation of parents never entirely

satisfied any committee. On the first establishment

of a Supervisory Committee they ask if (hat. is the

reason for the indilference of parents; as if parents

thought they thus delegated all responsiljility. Some
difiiculties occurred in one of those early years which

were greatly increased by the unguarded utter-

ance by parents of expressions derogatory to the

teacher. But the committee were loyal to the schools'

best interests, and, among other good things, said, "Is

it not advisable that the people of the districts con-

sent to sacrifice individual opinion in some degree

and give their co-operation and support to (he teach-

er for the time being, under the supervisory direction

of the committee which they have themselves se-

lected for the purpose? By such a course, defects

which may really exist would be rendered le-ss injur-

ious, and whatever was good in the management of

schools be made more advantageous. Would parents

generally enjoin upon their children regular and

punctual attendance at school, and subordination

and obedience to the teacher; would they notice

their progress and examine them occasionally at

home as to their proficiency, and in this way encour-

age and inttrest them in their studies, many of the

diffiuulties which teachers have now to enccunter

would be removed, and the character of our schools

much advanced.''

Corporal Punishmrnt.—It is an open question

whether corporal punishment should be spoken of as a

help or a hindrance to good government in our schools.

At the commencement of one school, in 1842, it was

in a very disorderly state, and the teacher, so said the

committee, undertook to restore and maintain order

by " that mistaken course—a resort to the rod

—

which many teachers have adopted frequently, and

as often experienced not only failure, but a wo.-se

state of things than before." "But," the committee

continued, ' as a whole, the discipline of the schools
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without the determined co-operation of the parentn.

The toniuiiltw, after repeated efforUi to reclaim him

l„ .. ind the exercise of all due forbearance,

^jil, -^, i-ame ui the conclusion to suspend

him innn the biIux'I for the remainder of the term.

Hut that tliey might act deliberately concerning the

cane, which was exciting much feeling, and some

tbrraU, they availed themselves of legal counsel,

through which they obtained the opinion of the chief

justice of the .Superior Court, and then acted accord-

ingly. The expulsion hacl the desired ell'cct; the

pupil returned to the winter school and behaved him-

self with such propriety as fully to redeem his char-

acter.

This circumstance is of especial interest, as show-

ing the extent of the authority voted in the Superin-

tending Coinmiltee, and the futility of any attempt

to change an adopted course of action, except through

the School Committee itself. But the question may

be rightly asked : ()ught not a State which provides

that a committee may expel a bad boy also provide a

good reformatory where the hoy can be sent, even

before he has committed any crime, except that of

wilful disobedience to authority ?

Femai.k Tk.miikr.s axp tiii:ik Wages.—Inex-

perienced teachers are frequently ccmplained of, es-

pecially the females. Lack of experience is a source,

at all time^, of much short-coming in both di:-cipline

and instruction. But it is pleasant to note that while

the committees justly complain of this deficiency,

they have the grace to attribute much of it to one true

cause.

have establishetl and approved a course directly cal-

culate<l, not only to continue, but to iocre.ise, the evil

so universally condeinnc-d. It is certain instances of

this kind will cn-cur while the services of ths sexes

are so unef|ually appreciated. But a few females at

service can be found that are not better rewarded

than many female teachers of youth. To feel satis-

fied with uncomfortable school-rooms and encourage

the employment of nuch teachers as can be obtained

male teuchers have formerly been of very little induce-

ment lor them to make suitable preparations to take

upon themselves the arduous and responsible duties

of u teacher."
.

In the winter of 18-13-44 females were employed m
both the Centre and the South Schools, and the com-

mittee reports : "The successful instruction and man-

agement of this (the South) and the Centre School by

females, has convinced the co-r.mittee that ladies such

as these may be more extensively employed during

the winter with great advantage to the schools, since

the period of instruction may be considerably pro-

longed without additional expense, while the instruc-

tion itself would be equally thorough. The principal

Objection would be probably on the ground of govern-

ment. But we feel bound injustice to them to say

that in respect to good order, tha schools of these

ladies were not behind any other of the winter

schools." As we look back upon this record through

the vista of nearly half a century, the question forces

iteelf upon us : "Where is the justice of cheapening

the salary of either of these women ? Of paying them

less than men teachers would have received for work

no better done?" Under such circumstances what

worldly incentive had the female teacher to prepare

herself especially for her work, or to do her very best

after she had prepared ?

But with all the hindrances incident to the times,

the .tchools did decidedly improve, and were taking a

stronger hold upon the sympathies and affections of

the people generally, who manifested their interest

by more liberal appropriations for current expenses

and for school buildings.

Teachers' Meetings.—During the year 1850-51

a town teachers' association was foinied to bring

teachers and committee together biweekly for dis-

cussing topics of teaching and government, thus giv-

ing less experienced teachers the benefit of learn-

ing the methods of those more experienced. The

effect was very beneficial.

From 1852-5.3 to 1890.—At the March meeting in

1852 measures were taken looking towards a radical

change in the school system. Six successive articles

in the wairant concerning schools were referred to a

committee of eighteen citizens to report at an adjourn-

ed meeting. Of this committee, Dr. Barnas Sears,

then secretary of the State Board of Education, was

In 1''42 they say :
" Yet the public generally the chairman. The committee reported in favor of

abolishing the district-school system, of establishing

the graded system and of authorizing the School Com-
mittee to establish either one school embracing High
School studies for a term of ten months, or a larger

number of schools having such studies for an aggre-

grate period of twelve months.

The town adopted these measures, raised the ap-

propriation for the schools, and voted to build two
new school-houses, one at Newton Centre and one at
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Newtonville. The houses were soon after erected at

a cost of $9,5,'56.

In the school year 1852-53 all the schools except

that at Oak Hill came under the graded s-ystem. On
account of the small number of pupils, Oak Ilill con-

tinued as an ungraded school, taught by a man in the

winter and by a woman in the summer. The town

was divided into six school distric's, each containing

grammar and primary grades, as follows:

No. 1, Newton Centre, including Oak Hill ;
No. 2,

Upper Falls ; No. 3, Lower Falls; No. 4, West New-

ton, including AuburLdale ; No. 5, Newtonville; No.

6, Newton Corner. Newton Corner had one interme-

diate grade also.

It was arranged that the school year should con-

tain foity-two weeks, divided into three terms ; the

first term to begin the third Monday in April.

The list of books was revised, and measures taken

for High School instruction.

Establishment of the High School Depart-

ment.—The following is the preamble and vote of

the committee establishing the first High School de-

partment in the schools :

" Whereas, in view of tlie niagnitvnie and circumstances of tlie town

of Newton, it is obvious that Higli School principles ought at no dis-

tant day to be furnished to more parts of the town than one, and wliere

as it is desirable to meet, as far as possible, the wants and relations of

every part of the town present and prospective, and whereas it is expe-

dient that some definite arrangement in this respect bo made without

delay, at least in regard to one such school

—

" Resoifeit, that a High School department be, and hereby is located by

the School Committee at Newton Centre."

The new school building at Newton Centre was ar-

ranged to accommodate the High School department

and was dedicated Jan. 1, 1853. The school began

January 3d, with Mr. John W. Hunt, formerly prin-

cipal of the High School at Plymouth, as the master,

selected out of twelve candidates. This department

was open to pupils of the whole town. Pupils out-

side of the district were admitted on examination by

written questions, being expected to read correctly

and fluently, to spell words in oidinary use, to write

a fair and legible hand, to have a thorough knowledge

of intermediate geography and of arithmetic as far as

evolution. This department was to teach the lan-

guages, the higher English branches and to fit for col-

lege. More than sixty pupils were members of this

department before the close of the first term, and

an assistant was required.

The marked enthusiasm of the teachers awakened

enthusiasm on the part of parents and a hundred

visitors were recorded where before scarce a parent

entered. Many were present at the public examina-

tion at the close of the first term of thirteen weeks.

Twenty-two pupils had not been ab.-ent during the

term, and the average attendance of the sixty-one

pupils was fifty-seven. Six hundred dollars were sub-

scribed by the citizens for useful apparatus and

books, and the school made fair promise of great use-

fulness.

The next year a High School department was estiib-

lished at West Newton, and, soon after, another at

Newton Corner.

Success of the Gkaded System.—Theoperalion

of the graded system generally proved satislactory,

bearing fruit in increased interest of all classes. Out

of 1015 children bctwetn five and fifteen years of age,

924 attended the public schools ; about half of the

remainder attended private schools, and most of the

others were under seven years of age and were kept

at home.

Establishment op the- Hioh School.—With

the growth of the town it soon became evident that

the establishment of a school devoted entirely to

high school studies was a necessity. This was urged

in 1857-58 and accomplished in 1859 by a vote of the

town at the March meeting of thai year. Under the

direction of an eflicient architect and building com-

mit tee a fine structure was erected in Newtonville,

and the school opened on the 6th of September with

seventy-five pupils, under Mr. J. N. Beals as princi-

pal, and Miss Amy Breck as assistant. At the close

of the first year Mr. Beals resigned and Mr. T. D.

Adams became principal, with Miss Breck and Miss

Spear as assi>tants. The school was well sujiplied

with apparatus, much being loaned from the High

School department at Newton Cenire. It possessed

a limited supply of chemicals and some books of ref-

erence, among which was the New American Ency-

clopedia.

In the school report of 1861-62 can be found the

course of study then adopted, the questions tor ad-

mission and other matters of interest.

Two things are essential to the successful working

of any advanced school,—a regular and systematic

course of study with definite branches for each year

and an exact distribution of the pupils into yearly

classes. The first of these conditions the High

School enjoyed from its commencement, but the sec-

ond was not attained till after the fourth year. From

this time the school advanced with little friction. In

1865-66 a valuable addition of stsndard works was

made to the library, comprising forty-two volumes in

history and the natural sciences, and all necessary

appliances were freely given as required.

At the close of the summer term, in 1866, a great

loss was experienced, not only to this school, but to all

the city schools, in the death of Dr. Henry Bigelow,

chairman of the School Committee, and the great

central force in the school organization. One day's

examination of the school was omitted that teachers

and pupils might join in the public obsequies and

pay their last tribute of respect to the honored dead.

The first decade of the High School, was completed

in IStii) ; the condition of the school whs most satis-

factory; the school building was enlarged, the force of

teachers doubled, the pupils reached nearly one hun-

dred and filty in number and the course of study was

greatly amjilified. Fifteen pupils graduated on exam-
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and could not well be read with impartial eyes. Suf-

fice it, that in 18S0 Mr. Waterliouse resigned to take

charge nf the Kiiglixh High rv'huol in Ruuton and was

aucceeUed by .Mr. Ivlward H. Cutler, from Trovi-

dcnce, K. I., who came with a high reputation as a

clamicnl teacher, which reputation he eminently )<U8-

talned during hid connection with the school. At

the close of the school year in 1S.S8 he was succeeded

by Mr. Kdward J. t.toodwin, from Nashua, N. H., an

accompiii>hed and faithful teacher and a wise disci-

plinarian.

With his able corps of assistants, of whom it would

be a pleasure to speak individually, the school holds

a rank of excellence second to no other institution of

it* grade in the Siate. Of some of iU special features

mention will be made in another conDectiou. In 1887

an inrtiiulc course was added with the des gn of fitting

pupiU lor inkli'utes of technology. From its organ-

ization to the close of the school year in 1889 the

number of pupils graduated from thcdiirerent courses

was nine hundred and sixty-six.

The following is a list of names of the successive

principals of the school, with their terms of service:

Mr. J. N. Beals, from 18.W to I8(!0; Mr. T. D. Adams,
from I860 lo I8r.7; Mr. F,. U. Hale, from 1867 to

I86M; Mr. F. A. Watcrhouse, from 1808 to 1880; Mr.
E. H. Cutler, from ISHO to 1888; Mr. E. J. Goodwin
since 1888.

A Newton High School Association was formed in

I
18»il with the object of continuing ths friendships

I and aciunintances of school life encouraged by an

annuul re-union. This a.ssociation has .since continued

j

Iu existence, and is much prized by the alumni. A
' High .School paper, edited and published by members

of the luwociation, is regularly issued.

Tin: K.mpi.ov.mi:ntok a Superintendent.—The

! school report of 18r)3 contains a minority report of

! the member from Newtonville, suggesting to the citi-

j

zens the wisdom and econom)' of creating an office of

superintendent of the public schools, to be filled by a

]
competent person whose whole energies shall be de-

voted to that object. The report is very able and

offers cogent reasons for the adoption of his plan. In

his earnestness to enforce considcnition of the matter

he speaks of Newton as belli ml many other suburban

towns in her educational advantages, which is " a

great impediment to the choice of Newton as a place

of risidencc for men of wealth who have families of
'

children,'' and urges the town, as a measure of sound-

i
est policy, to acquire a reputation forher sehoolsquite

! ecjual, at least, to other towns iu the immediate vicin-

ity of Boston, and " such an arrangement as suggest-

I

ed would accomplish this, which it would be dilticult

to accomplish in any other way."

I His advice was sound and his position in advance

of his time, whether his e.stimate of the schools waa

, right or wrong. IJut il was noticed that he was not

elected on the School Committee the following year.

The next year, 1854, the State itself saw the neces-

sity for better supervision of the schools, and a law

was passed th.at any town by legal vote might require

the .School Committee annually to appoint a superin-

tendent of public schools, " who, under the direction

and control of said committee, should have the care

and supervision of the schools," etc., etc.

The committee, as a body, do not at this time seem

quite satisfied with their attempts at supervision, and

from year to year try various plans among themselves.

In their report, of 1854-55 they say " the more schools

brought under the supervision of one m.in, the more
accurate and just would be his estimate of their rela-

tive efficiency, and the value of his counsels and en-

couragement to any teacher would increase with the

extent of his observation and experience." " It is

hoped at no remote day the town shall decide to

appoint a superintendent and authorize him to devote
himself mainly, if not exclusively, to the improve-
ment of our schools."

At the March meeting, in 1865, the town voted that
" the School Committee cf Newton be authorized and
required to appoint a superintendent, if, in their

judgment, it be deemed advisable." The matter was
discussed at subsequent committee meetings, and, on
November 22d, it was rewlved that " it was expedient
to employ a superintendent of schools." But they
failed to procure a suitable person for the amount ap-
propriated, $2500.

In the year 1870-71 the committee again asked for
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an appropriation for a superintendent of school»",

" without purposing to use it unless we feel convinced

that we have secured the right man." The town made
the required appropriation, and Mr. Thomas Emerson,

from Woburn, was elected superintendent at a salary

of $3000. Under his efficient management many
radical changes were made, especially in the grammar
department, which was reduced to six years' time, not

by crowding more into each year, but by striking out

really superfluous matter; so that the course was

much improved by omissions made. Thus, in arith-

metic, the subjects of duodecimals, alligation, ex-

change, etc., were omitted ; in geography broad-

er outlines and general facts were given, and unim-

portant details omitted ; less technical grammar was

tnught, and more attention to language was given in

all the division.*, aiid time enough saved for the study

of "Hooker's Child's Book of Nature." Many
changes were also introduced into the primary schools,

perhaps the most important that of substituting

writing for printing; and a very detailed course of

study was arranged for all grades, for the purpose of

systematically developing, in their proper order, the

perceptive, conceptive and reasoning powers of the

child. A plan for a course of oral instruction in ob-

ject-lessons was arranged for all but the High School,

and systematic and progressive instruction in morals

and in manners was made a part of the school cur-

riculum. Eegulations were adopted for the school

sessions, for the teachers' attendance before school, for

recesses, for detention of jnipils, limiting the time to

fifteen minutes after the morning session, and to an

Lour after the close of school in the afternoon.

After serving two years as superintendent, Mr-

Emerson resigned to accept a more flattering ofier

elsewhere. The following are the names and terms

of service of his successors in ofhce : Mr. H. M.
Willard, 1873 to 1876; Mr. Warren Johnson, 1876 to

1877; Mr. Ephraim Hunt, 1877 to 1881 ; Mr. John E.

Kimball, 1881 to 1885; Mr. Thomas Emerson, 1885

to 1890.

It would be gratifying to enumerate in detail the

progressive steps in the administration of each of

these gentlemen, who served the schools with ability

and success, and to whose efficient labors, seconded

by an appreciative committee, is largely due the

high rank attributed to Newton's schools. It would

be unjust in this connection to omit the name of Dr.

Henry Bigelow, chairman of the School Committee

for nearly twenty years, until his death in 1806, whose

services, marked ability and direct personal supervis-

ion gave to the schools a service not less efficient than

would be rendered by the most accomplished superin-

tendent. Superintendents can accomplish little with-

out the stimulus and co-operation of the School

Board. Newtou has geuerally been fortunate in her

choice of school officers. That she appreciated the

efficient, untiring, unpaid labors of some of them, at

least, is shown by their long continuance in the ser-

vice, alike creditable to themselves and to the city.

The names of those who have served the longest since

the introduction of the graded system, with their term
of service, are as follows: Mr. John A. Oould,
thirty years ; Mr. Isaac Hagar, twenty-two years

;

Rev. George W. Shinn, fourteen years; Mr. George
A. Allen, twelve years; Mr. Noah S. King, twelve

years; Mr. Julius E. Clark, ten years; Mr. Lincoln

R. Stone, ten years; Mr. Elijah J. Wood, nine years;

Rev. William S. Smith, nine years ; Miss A. Amelia
Smead, nine years.

Mr. John A. Gould, whose name heads the above
list, served also for several years as Prudential Com-
mittee.

Women on the School Boakd.—The first at-

tempt to have women represented on the School

Board was spasmodic and short-lived, three women
being elected in 1873, for one year, and serving only

for that time. In December, 1879, Miss A. A. Smead,
from Ward Two, was chosen, and served very accep-

tably till her removal from the city. Since 1879,

other women have been elected to the Board, two
holding the office since 1887.

Statistics of 1890.—On the 1st day of May,
1889, the number of children betwetn five and fifteen

years of age was 4,202, the number attending the pub-

lic schools was 3359, and 225 were attending private

schools, and seventy-four were at work in mills and

elsewhere. The remaining number of these children

were mostly under seven years of age and kept at

home by their parents; 566 children, over fifteen,

were attending the various schools.

The average daily attendance during the school

year of 1888-89, was 92.4 per cent, an increase of

four-tenths per cent, on the previous year. The whole

number of tardinesses was 3797, a decrease of .seventy-

five on the previous year, and less than an ave^'age of

one to a pupil.

The number of school-houses was 22; of occupied

rooms, 106; sittings 4712.

The total value of the school-houses, furniture and

land was $581,600. The value of three of the school

buildings, with land, etc., was le^s than $10,000 each
;

the value of the remainder varied from $10,000 to

$44,000, except the High School building, which was

worth $113,000.

The number of schools was as follows: One High
School, 48 grammar schools, 38 primary, 1 mixed

—

total, 88.

The number of teachers in the High School was 12

—males 5, females 7. Special teachers 3—males 1,

females 2.

The number of teachers in the grammar schools was
48—males 10, females 38.

The number of teachers in the primary schools

was 38, in the mixed school 1.

Special teachers in sewing, 3 ; in music, 1. Total,

106—male teachers 17, female 89.

Of the teachers in the High School, two have
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jKT pupil *«•• $.»'l.H, including an nverage cost of

$1 :>' per pupil for lH>ok» iind itchixil supplies.

I'oaiparinj; llie liiwiiH anil tilieii with reference to

the Hv«Tn(;e ci«l per pupil, liased on tlie whole num-

ber helc.n({inp, it will befouml that Newton holils the

fimt place in the county unil the fourth in the t^tale.

If the comparison ia baaed on the percentage of their

taxable property, Newton Htanda the fourteenth

anicuK the citii-s of the Slate and the thirty-third

among the l<iwnn and cities of Middlesex County.

The number of diplomas awarded in the grammar

achoulu lor the year wa-^t 218; the number of High

School certificates awarded, I'C'.t.

The number of pupils graduated from the High

School W8» 82. Of thc»e.'{2 had completed the general

course, 2'i the claiwlcal, 12 the inatitute and 13 the

mercHntile counte.

The number of graduates who took the final ex-

aminations for colleges and the Institute ofTechnology

wiu2.'>; of these, 17 were admitted without conditions.

The whole number of conditions was 11; of honors,

14. Twenty-four took preliminary examinations, 15

were unconditioned. The whole number of conditions

was 12 ; of honors, 'J.

Among the features of the Newton school system

which ire somewhat diflVrtnt from that of other

citicjt, and which deserve especial mention, may be

named
TlIK ri.F.XIIlII.ITY OF THF, Ektire System, by

means of mid-year promotions. This plan, up to 1890

has been in operation four years, with a success which

has varied acconlitig to the conditions that have

altende»l its execution. It has been especially success-

ful where the teachers have given it the impulse of

their faith and enthusiasm, and the care and vigilance

itrequiri*. A full explanation ofthe plan may not

be out of place.

The pupils in the schools are classified in thirteen

grades according to their qualifications; the first

three grades constitute the primary section
;
the

fourth to the ninth the grammar section, and the

tenth to the thirteenth the High School section.

Each grade covers a period of one year. Hence the

lime required forthecompletion ofthe full course is

thirteen years if the pupil is promoted each year, as is

ihe case with the mass of pupils.

But by the arrangement described below, individu-

als or sections may be promoted according to their

latainments within the year.

Each primary grade is subdivided into sections of

ten to fifteen pupils each, three being assigned to

each room, thus making thirty the niiiiinium, and

forty-five the maximum number of jjupils in each

room. The pupils are assigned to the dilFereut sec-

tions according to their attainments, and are advanc-

ed by sections, thus making the section rather than

the grade the unit of promotion. Hence a room may

have at any time one section that is just completing

the year's work, another that has done one-half of it,

and still another just entering upon it. In some

rooms two sections may be upon the work of one

year, and the third section upon that of another.

This advancement of sections is an advantage to the

individual pupil, as the transition from one section

to another recjuires but little effort, and makes the

gaining of time an easy accomplishment. The teacher

is led constantly to study the conditions of each in-

dividual, and to adapt her instruction to his needs,

while she feels a personal responsibility for his im-

provement.

The same general plan is pursued in the grammar

grades. "Each room is divided into two sections,

and the pupils are assigned to one or the other

section according to their proficiency. The pupils

in the two sections may belong to the same grade or

they may represent two different grades. The latter

arrangement is the more common and has its advan-

tages. During the first half of the year each grade

passes over all the work prescribed for the year in

language and arithmetic, giving attention chiefly

to the most important principles and their application

in the simplest form of expr.ession and computation.

The last half of the year is given to a more minute

study ofthe ground already traversed, together with

a more extended application of principles. This

adjustment of work enables the individual pupil to

pass from one grade to the next higher at the close of

the first half-year with no loss of time, with little

friction, and without the omission of a single prin-

ciple that will affect his future progress in these two

branches of study. It is not so necessary that the

work in other branches should be so consecutive. But
work in geography, history, spelling, etc., is so adjust-

ed as to prevent no obstacle to individual promotions,

the general knowledge of a subject acquired in one
grade becoming the basis of a more minute study of

that subject in the next grade.

The condition of individual promotions in every
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case are punctual and constant attendance, high rank,

good conduct, good health and the consent of the

parents. The number of individual promotions since

the adoption of this plan has been from live to seven

per cent, of the total enrollment.

This plan for prt>motions hss many obvious advan-

tages. It substitutes stimulation for repression,

which is a much more powerful and healthful motive

for all, and it gives the pupil larger op|iortunities for

personal application, and makes him less of a machine,

while it leads the teacher to study the needs and con-

dition of the individual pupil.

Although there are (in 1890), no mid-)'ear promotions

in the lligb School, yet the advantages of tlie plan

are secured by other means in the general and insti-

tute courses,—in the general course by the extension

of the elective system, the number of electives allow-

ed to each pupil being determined solely by his

ability to do the work ; to those in the institute course

by arranging the work of four years in such a man-

ner that pupils may complete it in three years. Of

the eight graduates of this school admitted to the

Institute in 1889, lour had completed the work in

three years. This system may be easily adjusted

for the classical course, and probably soon will be by

extending the course to five years, and arranging it so

that it can be completei in four.

Eegular Grade Peojiotioxs.—These are made
at the beginning of the school year in September, in

which the daily work and conduct of the pupils

during the year and the test examinations are con-

sidered.

Test Examinations.—The test examinations, writ-

ten and oral, begin at the close of the first quarter and

continue through the year. In the primary and

grammar grades not more than one examination is

made in any week, and not less than one in two

weeks. The questions are prepared by the teacher of

the class, the master of the school or the superintend-

ent, and the examination takes the place of the regu-

lar class exercise in the branch of study in which the

pupils are to be tested, and without previous notice,

thus saving any nervous anxiety which might attend

a formal examination. The results of these ex-

aminations are not made known, except in case of

pupils who need spurring to greater etlbrt, when the

parents are notified.

The examinations by the teachers are given " to fix

the thoughts already awakened in the minds of the

pupils; to cultivate their powers of expression ; and

to ascertain what subjects, if any, need to be re-

viewed."

The examinations by the superintendent are to test

the thinking power of the pupil and to ascertain his

ability to work in the next higher grade.

A wise provision is made that " pupils who have

been two years in any grade, and who have been

faithful and regular in their work, may, on recom-

mendation of their teachers and superintendent, with

the approval of the committee in cliarge of the school,

be advanced to tlie next grade without having reached

the required standing."

Quality of the Teaching.—One advantage

which the Newton schools enjoy above that of many
neighboring towns, is in the factof the salary being

somewhat in advance, thus attracting to her ranksex-

perienced teachers of marked ability. Add to this

fact the insight and perseverance of the superintend-

ent who compasae.-? sea and land to find and secure

the right kind of teachers, in one case visiting over

seventy schools before finding just the teacher for a

certain position, and it would be strange if the schools

of Newton did not attain a first-class rank in the

estimation of the community. From one-half to

three-fifths of the teachers are Normal Graduates and

more than one-half of these Framingham Normals,

no better material than which, according to the super-

intendent, can anywhere be found.

Each teacher is allowed to exercise his or her own
individuality in the details of the methods, unless

they are vicious, and provided the results are right.

Special attention, however, is given to methods which

are natural and philosophic, the schools being

supplied with real objects of knowledge, and with

simple illustrative apparatus. Subjects, not books,

are taught.

Teachers' Meetings and Training -Schools.—
It h.<ts been conceded for years by the Newton school

oflicials that something more than simple book knowl-

edge on the part of the teacher is needed for a suc-

cessful school, and that there is both a science and

an art of teaching, for the attainment of which

previous preparation of the would-be teacher is

needed. As early as the year 1840-41 the committee

recommended the employmeut of Normal graduates,

and from time to time the teachers sought to improve

their methods and results by mutual consultation and

comparison of work. Teachers' meetings have been

held with more or less regularity since 1869. At first

the meetings were general, but since the appointment

of a superintendent, grade teachers' meetings have

generally been held. These meetings have been of

great service in unifying the teachers' work, and

giving the superintendent an opportunity of directing

specifically the work of any grade. A training-school

was established in 1873, and at the close of the first

year much was said in. its praise, but as a whole the

school proved, in the opinion of many, a measure of

doubtful utility, and it was abolished in the third

year of its existence.

Physical Training.—In the year 1851-52, through

the exertion of the teacher and the generosity of the

citizens, a good gymnasium was arranged for the

model school, and used by boys and girls alternately.

In 1863-64 calisthenics were in use with great ac-

ceptance in District No. 1. These and other interest-

ing exercises secured good order and unusually rapid

progress in the regular studies. The committee by
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.Ii*j eyiimMtic* in the High
• ,, oue of the ro-

uu't with iippo-

, ,u. li was lrnic«i that " the exer-

^ , ,
... ami .lernuge the ii^rvoiH lonstilii-

tion of ih. cbildrw
; " •' the children hud exorcise

,
" "there was no use in it." But

t iid 111)1 yi'-ld to the opposition, for

Ihr* «rcv ... ti.id to their «ilion by the fact that

ofcxrry forKlhr.r «h.. -li.-d in the army at this

tiuje. forty dinl from wing a great want of

pr..|.<.r pliyii-iuc in t: - «» «ell as of belter

rritiilatum, la the «rmy. Since this time physical

, , h4ve lieon enctiumged and more or less

I

, all the M?hooU. In 1877 military drill

U.i i-.). »a» iiilr.-liiced into the High School for two

h..ui.a wwk, the drill master iKjiiig a lieutenant of

the regular army on the rel:ri..l list from disability.

It ««« claimed that lhi« drill .levelopcd and strengtb-

ene.1 the limlwi and che»t« of the lads in a remarkable

degree, and military drill bus become a favorite exer-

ciiif of the itchooU under a special drill master. Some

ditfertnce of opinion in regard to the advisability of

it* continuance has been expressed by many of the

citi/.en.. but a majority of ihc people and of the com-

mittee seem to be in favor of it.

In 1879 a special teacher was provided for teaching

cmlisthenics and elocution to girls of the High School,

and happily, Miss Jennie Ireson, the teacher, has

i'>intinue<l in charge ever since (to 1890), with marked

beiiflit and increased entiiusiaam on the part of

teacht-r and pupils.

In March, IfSlH), the committee established calis-

themics as a regular exercise, in the grammar and

primary schools, under the supervision of a special-

ist.

VocAl, Mfsir.— From an early period in the his-

tory of the schools vocal music was used to give a

variety to the sch'jol exercises ; some regular instruc-

tion in this branch was given by Mr. Allen in the

Model School as early as 1849, and by Mr. Adams in

the High School in 18ij2. In 18t)3-64 vocal music

was introduce*! into the grammar and intermediate

schoids as a regular study, with y\r. Trowbridge as

the special diiector. The innovation met with favor,

some musical entertainments were given, ..ind it was

soon found that the teaching of this branch in all the

schools below the High, at least, was a necessity, and

generally a special music director has since been em-

ployed.

In lS»'i9-70, pianos were furnished for the schools.

No appropriation luw been more faithfully used than

that for these instruments, or has gladdened so many
hearts.

Dkawisg.—The subject of drawing received early

attention as a school exercise. It was elevated to a

regular study in the grammar department in 1870-71,

a systematic course marked out and a set of Bail's

drawing cbarti put in every district. The next year

the services of Mr. Bowler, a very successful writing

and drawing master, were obtained. Mr. bowler con

tinued in the service till his death, in 1.S74, devoting

himself princlpilly to teaching penmanship, Mrs.

Hciwler having charge of the drawing at first, and

i

alter the death of Mr. Bowler, of both writing and

'

drawing for most of the time till 1888. To the skill-

ful teaching of Mr. and Mrs. Bowler, Newton owes

much of her .-uccess in these departments.

In 1873 art rooms were fitted up in the High School

building, and furnished at considerable expense with

an imported set of casts, models and flat examples,

pronounced by .Mr. Walter Smith, State Supervisor

of Art, to be unsurpassed by any collection in the

State. A carefully arranged course of study by Mr.

Smith was adopted, and evening schools for industrial

and mechanical drawing established in three of the

villages—Newton proper, and the Upper and Lower

Falls. For some years after, evening drawing schools

continued to be taught, and were often quite fully

attended. Drawing continues to be a regular study

in the schools with a special supervisor for the pri-

mary and grammar grades.

IxDU-sTKiAL Education—Sewing.—In 1881 the

attention of the West Newton Women's Educational

Club was turned to the needs of young girls who were

growing up ignorant of the common rudiments of

sewing. By permission of the School Committee, one

of their number, as an experiment, gratuitously taught

a class in the Franklin School without detriment to

the regular studies and with much benefit to the chil-

dren. From six or eight who commenced with her

the number soon grew to thirty.

The next year the question of making sewing a

regular study was referred to a sub-committee consist-

ing of the two lady members of the School Board

with one gentleman, who reported strongly urging its

adoption. The entire committee favored the plan
;

two ladies were engaged as special teachers, a specific

and graded plan for teaching was adopted and sewing

has since been one of the regular studies of the fourth,

fifth, sixth and seventh grades in the grammar
schools.

Evening Schools for Common Branches.—As
early as 1853-54 an evening school for common
branches was established in West Newton of about

forty scholars, ch'efly children of foreign parents, with

some adults, whose circumstances forbade their at-

tendance on the public schools. This was started and
sustained by a few benevolent individuals, among
whom was Rev. Charles Barnard, of Warren Street

Chapel. They were assisted by senior pupils from
other schools. It was open two evenings in the week
and continued through the winter "with increasing

interest and growing numbers." No pupils in town
with the same amount of instruction profited more.
By a vote of the town, in the winter of 1859-GO, an

evening school was taught in District No. 2, and con-

tinued three months, but without the eminent success
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which attended the private effort in "West Newton,

and it was not thought best to make these schools a

permanent institution.

[n 1870-71 an evening school was taught in West

Newton with good results; in 1871-72 one was taught

in the North Village with flattering success, attended

by fifty-eight adults and ninety children; the average

attendance of the former being forty-three and of the

latter fifty-seven. Progress in the studies was good.

Evening schools continued to be taught for some

years in the village, and since then evening schools

have generally been taught in some village accessi-

ble to the others. Sometimes they have been taught

for men and boys only, but latterly for both sexes.

They have been most successful when under the

supervision of one of the principals of the grammar
schools.

Private Schools, Academies and some other
Institutions foe Higher Education.—Of many
of the early private schools and institutions for higher

education little is now known ; a brief sketch of some
of them will be attempted. In West Newton may be

named
The Fuller Academy, 1832-34.—In the year 1794, by

the death of Judge Abraham Fuller (who had suc-

cessfully taught a private school previous to 1760),

a legacy of £300 was left for the purpose of laying

the foundation of an academy in Newton. But the

payment of the legacy was delayed and it was not till

1832 that the building was erected. It stood in West
Newton, on the corner of Washington and Highland

Streets. The academy was incorporated in 1833 and
the school opened in the spring of that year, and was

taught for the next two years by Master Perkins.

The town then decided to abandon the enterprise and

the building was sold for S1600.

Mr. Seth Davis' Private School, 1817-39.—In 1817

Mr. Seth Davis established a private academy on

Waltham Street for boys and girls. The best teachers

are not always the greatest scholars. Mr. Davis never

claimed great scholarship, yet many of his pupils,

who have attained the highest culture, admit he was a

rare teacher, much in advance of his times. He had
knowledge enough to answer all the requirements of

his pupils and the power to impart by happy illustra-

tions, no matter how difficult the subject might be.

The school was small and he gave personal attention

to his pupils with regard to their endowments and
tastes, and endeavored to kindle enthusiasm and de-

velop thought. The school-house was unique as the

teacher, and apparently designed to secure good order

without much trouble. The school-room is thus de-

scribed by Hon. Alexander H. Rice, who was one of

his pupils

:

'"The centre of the room was a clear space, and
around the room ran a series of stalls, each separated

from the next by a high partition, after the fashion

seen in some eating-houses now, and in each stall was
a short and narrow seat, so that its occupant could ;

5-iii

see no fellow-pupil except on the opposite side of the
rconi,or at least beyond speaking distance, while each
and every one ;vas visible to the master. I say that
each one was visible to the master, though it is mani-
fest that when seated in his chair in the centre of the
room, the master's back must be towards some of the
stalls on one or more of the four sides of the room.
But while the fact is recognized as a physical neces-
sity, it seemed then of no practical importance, for

any mischievous vibration behind him, though as del-

icate as the step of a velvet-footed mouse, seemed to

reverberate upon his sensitive and expectant tympan-
um as the summons to an instantaneous and whirling
jump that brought him, chair and all, face to f^ice

with the entrapped offender. The rebuke of those
piercing grey eyes, fixed and imperturbable, was
worse than the soundest flogging."

While engaged in teaching, Mr. Davis devoted his

evenings to study and giving scientific lectures in

Newton and adjoining towns. The study of astron-

omy was a strong passion with him, and he con-
structed an orrery designed to illustrate the solar sys-

tem
; this he used in school and in the lecture-room.

The teaching of arithmetic was a problem he could
not solve with the facilities offered him, and he com-
piled an arithmetic which he used in school and
which was adopted by the town some years later.

Many eminent persons were once his pupils;

among them may be named Hon. Alexander H. Rice
and Prof. Daniel B. Hagar, who fitted for college un-
der his tuition.

Miss Harriet L. Davis, a daughter of Seth Davis,

was a pupil and an assistant to her father. She was
a gifted woman, studious and helpful to all, ever

stimulating others to better efforts. Her gentleness

and tact enabled her to adjust misunderstandings and
promote harmony when necessary. She had a thor-

ough knowledge of the classics and higher mathe-
matics, and was prepared to teach the necessary studies

to fit for college when she established her school,

after her father retired from his profession, in 1839.

3Iiss Davis' school was successful.—Her health being

impaired from close application, her father assumed
the responsibilities of her school and added fresh

laurels to his fame as a teacher. Soon after the death

of his daughter he gave up teaching, but not his in-

terest in education. He was progressive, public-

spirited and far-sighted, and aided in many ways the

improvement of the town. He died .lune 25, 1888,

at the great age of 100 years, nine mouths and twenty-

two days. ,

Vie State Normal School, 1844-53.—In 1844 the

Lexington State Normal School, for women, having

outgrown its quarters, it became necessary to seek for

better accommodations. The Fuller Academy build-

ing, in West Newton, offered more ample room, and

was very favorably located on the line of the Boston

and Albany Railroad. It was not in use and could be

had for $1500.
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. lu proximity lo IJjston made it easy of ac-

ccaa to visilom, ami it aoon became widely and favor-

ably known. Scarce a day passed but distinguished

and interested visitors were seen either seated on the

plalfiirin or following the various class exercises.

The lending characteristics of the school were per-

fect sincerity and entire fearlcs.-'ncss in (he search of

truth, wherever it might lend ; the methods inculcated,

lioth of research and for teaching, were natural and

objective. All sham of every kind was despised, and

for even ibeir public days there was little of what

might be called " fixing up ;" it was the aim of the

teachers then, as on other days, to thow things jus-t

an they were.

The Normal School and the model department con-

nected with it drew many families fripui Boston and

iu vicinity to make West Newton their home, that

they might avail themselves of the facilities for edu-

cation they ollered, not only to their daughters, but

to their younger children. Among others thus at-

tracted was Hon. Horace Mann, whose presence in

the village proved a great uplift not only to the

school, but to the entire community.

In April, 1840, Mr. Peircf was compelled by failing

health, incident upftn overwork and care, to resign the

charge of the school to whose welfare he had devoted

every power of his body and mind for eight years,

three in Lexington nnd five in Xewton. To him
more than to any other of llic Nnrmal teachers is due
the continued existence of our present Normal School

aystem. Hon. Henry Barnard but echoed the scnti-

inentsof many distinguished educators when he once

8uid • ' Had it not been lor him (Mr. Peirce), I con-

sider the cause of Normal Schools v»ould have failed

or have been postponed an indefinite period." In the

next annual report of the Board of Education the

visiting committee of the Board, in alluding to Mr.

IVirce's Normal School work, stated that " Never was

« success more signal ;
never was it more clearly pur-

chased by the sacrifice of health and almost of life."

In September, 1819, Kev. Eben S. Stearns, of New

Bedford, took charge of the school. In the interval

between Ihe administrations of Mr. Peirce and Mr.

Stearns, Miss Electa N. Lincoln, the first assistant,

took charge of the school and carried it on .success-

fully. Under Ihe administration of Mr. Stearns it

increased in popularity till it became overcrowded,

when more rigid examinations were adopted ;
but it

soon became evident that some furthormea'u res must

be taken to accommodate the school, and in 1853 it

was removed to a larger building in Framingham

Centre.

On the first establishmentof Normal Schools in Mas-

sachusetts, determined opposition was manifested by

many conservative educators, and efforts were made in

the Legislature of 1840 not only to abolish the school,

but the Board of Education also. This opposition be-

came gradually less active, but while the school was

located in West Newton, the pent-up bitterness of its

opponents broke out with renewed virulence, and hap-

pily, for the last time. The circumstances of the on-

slaught are of historical value as bearing upon the

progress of education, and will be of interest in this

connection.

In 1844 Mr. Mann's celebrated "Seventb Annual

Re|)nrt" appeared, in which he eulogized the schools

of Germany to the implied disparagement of the

schools in America. This so exasperated the " Thir-

ty-one Boston Schoolmasters " and others, that a whirl-

wind of opposition was raised, not only against

Mr. Mann, but against the measures he advocated.

Old teachers set themselves once more against the

school because it taught methods which interfered

with their ways of doing things, and was a standing

declaration that there was something in the art of

teaching which experience alone did not give. Re-

ligious fanaticism, at first busy against the school and

only (juieted because it had nothing to fight against,

was again roused. "The school was opposed to the

Bible " because it discouraged the u^e of Solomon's

sovereign remedy ;
" it was irreligious " because it

did not teach the dogmas of " their " church, or en-

courage exclusive attendance on "their" places of

worship. These and many more charges were mali-

ciously circulated. The attacks final'y culmin-

ated in a disgraceful article which appeared in

the JJosfon liixordcr o{ June 3, 1847, maligning the

morality and even decency of the school, and which so

aroused the indignation of the students, more than
half of whom were of that religious faith against

which the principal was represented as plying his se-
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duction?, that, without any communication with the

principal, they unanimously adopted and published a

series of resolutions iu which the charges were, with-

out any qualification, forcibly denied. (Tliese may be

seen in the Report of the Board of Education for the

year 1SS9-90, article " Historical Sketch of the Lex-

ington-Framingham Normal School," andiu the Bos-

ion Courier of June 10, 1S47.)

The principal himself challenged his enemies to

prove their cliarges, but no proof appeared, and in

their next report the visitors of the school declared

them to be groundless, and the board added that " the

charges referred to could only be attributed to a cul-

pable ignorance or perversion of facts." Thus ended

one of the stormiest epochs in the history of the new
education.

Private Schools at Newton Centre.— 77tc

Boarding-School of Marshall S. Bice, 1825-47.—This

school was opened in Newton Centre, on the first

Monday of May, 1825, and wag continued until No-

vember, ]8-t7, a period of twenty-two years and a half

The location was selected because it was healthful,

without tavern or grog-shop, and in daily communi-

cation by stage witli Boston. The homestead of Mr.

Obadiah Thayer, nearly opposite the Congregational

meeting-house, and often called the "Gibbs Place,"

was first rented for a year and then purchased by Mr.

Rice, as well suited to the needs of such a school as

he wished to establish, the purpose of which, as de-

fined by himself, was to " train up young men and wo-

men to be teachers ia common schools, and to fill

important places in business." The school year was

divided into four quarters of twelve weeks each, and

the tuition of day scholars was fixed at $5.00 a quarter,

while the boarding scholars were charged S24.00 a

quarter, unless they were children of widows, in

which case the usual charge was diminished one- fourth.

Yet during the last few years of the school $30.00 a

quarter appears to have been the customary price for

boarders. Thirty boarding scholars and ten day

scholars were considered a full school, though more

than forty scholars were often in attendance. The
whole number of pupils from first to last was not less

than a thousand. Some of these, after further study,

entered the Christian ministry, several became pro-

fessors in colleges, the legal profession was chosen by

some, and the medical by others ; but a large part of

the pupils engaged in business, and many of them

with marked success. The names that appear on the

school catalogues are generally household words with

the people of Newton, though many pupils came from

Boston, and some from distant places.

The eminent success of this school was due in great

measure to the energy, decision, promptness and

sterling character of Mr. Rice, seconded by the moth-

erly care of his excellent wife. By their earnest co-

operation it was made one of the best schools in New
England. Mr. Rice had remarkable tact in the man-

agement of boys ; his methods of discipline were

various and often original. For example: an offender

was sometimes tried by a court and jury of fellow-

students, and their decision as to his guilt or inno-

cence, and the extent and quality of punishment of

the guilty, was respected by Mr. Rice. The severest

punishment imposed upon the offender by the court

was confinement at meal times and during play hours

for one, two or three days, according to tlie gravity of

the ofience, in " the dungeon," a dark closet under the

front stairs. A jailor was appointed to carry bread

and water to the culprit.

It is said tliat among the pupils were sometimes

boys who preferred to stay from church on Sunday,

and who would complain of illness as meeting-time

approached. Master Rice always respected their ex-

cuses, kindly put them to bed for the day, and fed

them on gruel. It may be superfluous to say that

this treatment not only cured the disease, but gen-

erally prevented any recurrence.

Mr. Rice was also ingenious in methods of awaken-

ing interest in study, and in testing the self-control

of his pupils. He would occasionally give them a

difficult example in arithmetic, and while they were

doing it, tell a most interesting story. His un-

swerving integrity and religious life were also sources

of power, and it would be difficult to estimate more
highly than we ought, their effect on the characters

of the young people under his charge.

Mr. Rice became interested in temperance and

joined the Friendly Society, a temperance organiza-

tion, about the year 1830, at which time he had in

his cellar a quantity of cherry bounce and other

home-made liquors, closely sealed in kegs, and the

question rose : "What shall be done with it?" It

stayed in the cellar two winters, but the following

spring Mr. Rice had made up his mind as to its dis-

position, and, calling his boys together, he directed

them to take the kegs to an adjacent hill-side, out

with the bungs, and let it run down the water-courses,

thus effectually giving them an object lesson on the

best use of intoxicants.

He was very successful in interesting his pupils in

gardening, giving each a plot of ground which he

could plant with vegetables or flowers, and tend at his

pleasure. If any of his pupils have failed to be good

citizens or capable men of business, or sincere Chris-

tians, it is not for want of wise counsel and worthy

example on the part of their teachers, Mr. and Mrs.

Rice.

Mr. Moses Burbank's School.—The next year after

Mr. Rice closed his school, Mr. Moses Burbank opened

a private school for boys in the basement of the old

Baptist Church, and kept it till 1852.

The Academy at. Xewlon Centre, 1831-60.—In Sep-

tember, 1830, several persons who realized the poverty

of the public schools, and desired to furnish for their

girls an opportunity for higher and better education,

met and took measures to establish a female academy
in the village. Mr. Rice's school was mostly for boys.
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Ixilh the aiadeniy anil b«<r>linKhou.Hi- ; iliene he

bought in \KVi for t:i-'>00, and »old the mime in 1837

to Mr. F:hene£or Woodward, who kept a very successful

mhool for fix and a hiilf ye.Hr», when he sold to Mr.

W.mhI, who ri-xild the iiropcrty in 184S to Rev. John

H Hague. I'nder Mr. Ilaj-ne the sihiKil took high

rank. During the year ending .\|>ril ;•. 1S.')0, it luini-

bcreil filly pu(iili*, with special teadiers in Latin, (ier-

nian. French and Italian, also in music and drawing;

Dr. .Mvah Hovey, afterwards president of the Newton

Theological t^eminary, instrucling in Latin and Ger-

man. Attention wiu paid to the higher mnlheniiUics,

rhetoric and bellcs-ltttris, intolleclual and moral

science, the natural sciences and history. The .school

year waa diviikil into three terms; price of board and

tuition, fifty dollars a term.

The academy seems to have been very unfortunate

in th6 fr»i|uenl changes of teachers. Mr. Hague sold

his interest in 1S51 to .Mr. E. H. Barstow, who changed

it into n school for boys ami young men, receiving

ninny of Mr. Iiurbank'.« pupils (Mr. liurbaok having

closed his school about thi'i time). Mr. Bar^tow taught

•Itout nine years, when his hralth failed and the

school was abandoned, the building being sold and

changed into a boarding-house.

Otiikr Pkivate Schoow.—Many other private

schiMils might be named in this and the other vil-

lages, but of which little is known. There was Dr.

Charles .""iedhof's fine classical school, kept for .some

years in Newton Centre, on the German system ; here

half a dozen boarding pupils and a dozen day pupils

were ably instructed in ancient and modern lan-

guages ; aa excellent boys' school, opened by Mr.

Hunt when " his occupation was gone," on the closing

of the High iSchool department in the Centre Public

School. There was a good girls' school in the same
village, established about 18G0, and kept for some
years by a Mi?s Cornelius, daughter of the Mrs. Cor-

Delius whose cook-books have added much since

their publication to the health of our tables and the

comfort of our homes.

The Preston Cotlaje and Hillside School, near

Newton proper, and .Mr. Weld's school in Auburn-
dale, about 1850, should be named. Undoubtedly,
many more might be numbered and teachers might

be niiraed who labored faithfully and well, bul who

cannot now be singled out from the shades of the past.

you,,,/ Lndio' Acaiknvj, A'cfM/).—But there was

one fnnious scho.d and one famous teacher in Ni-wton

in the very earliest part of this century, of whom

much can be gleaned—the private school for girls

commenced some time previous to 1807, and taught for

about twelve years in the brick part of the Nonantum

House by Mrs. Kawson, who, with her husband and

son, resided in the building. Mrs. Kawson was a

noted woman in her day, brilliant and versatile, "an

authore^s, poet and editor." " Charlotte Temple,"

ihe well-known novel, was from her pen. She wrote

several other novels and some popular songs; among

them, "America, Commerce and Freedom," and

"When Rising from Ocean." Her .'iither, who had

been retired from the British navy, was a Tory, and

lived in Revolutionary times in Hull, Mass., till he

was banished from thence in 1778, when he went to

England, and there his daughter Susanna married

William Kawson, a trumpeter of the Eoyal Horse

Guards.

Mr. Kawson was a famous trumpeter, and after

coming to this country he used to play the trumpet

for the Handel and Haydn Society in Boston. It is

said that when his trumpet sounded in the "Messiah,"

at the pa.ssnge, "The trumpet shall sound and the

dead shall be raised," one could almost see the graves

opening and the dead quickening into life.

While in Newton, caring for her sixty young lady

pupils, whom she instructed in manners and in morals

as well, she publi.':hed a volume entitled "Miscellan-

eous Poems," by Susanna Rawson, Preceptress of the

Lfidies' Academy, Newton, M;iss., a volume of 227

pages wiih 245 subscribers, whose names were printed

in the book. She also prepared and published many
other books while teaching. Her adopted daughter,

Miss Frances M. Mills, assisted and succeeded her,

and afterwards became the mother of Mrs. Georgianna

Hall, the authore.ss, and by a second marriage, of

Richard S. Spofford, the Essex County statesman.

It is said that Mrs Rawson's school was among the

first, female seminaries if it was not the very first in

the United States. The date of its establishment is

put by one author at 1803, by another somewhere after

1804, and by another at 1800, which makes it difficult

to decide which should claim seniority and bear the

palm for being the first female seminary of the United
Stales, this or the Ipswich Female Academy, founded
in 1803.

Mrs. Rawson numbered among her pupils young
ladies from far and near. Many a beautiful girl from
the West Indies made her home with her, and two
young daughters of Governor Claiborne, of South
Carolina, graced her fireside. The following an-
nouncement of her school appeared in the Columbia
SentMel, April 15, 1807:

"You.no Ladies' Academv, Newton.

"Mrs. Eawson and Jlre. Iloswell beg leave to inform tlicir friendB
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that their epriug fiuarter will comiiienco in April, and tliat every acconi-

iiu'daliuii is Jiroviiieil for tlie comfort of (Iieir pupils, ami evtM-y attentiou

will he jiaid to tlieir manners, morals and improvement. The drawing

wilt be tanclit, the ensuing season, in a new and superior style, Mrs.

Itawson luiving received instructions lately for tho purpose from a pru-

fesseil master of the art. Terms as usual. Dlusic by 3Ir. G. Graupiier.

Ilaucing hy Mr. G. Sbaffer."

After leaving Newton Mrs. Eawson established a

similar scliool in Roxbury.

Pkivate Schools in Successful Operation in

1890.

—

Lasell Seminary for Young Women., Auburn-

dale, exla/ifished i/i 18.51.—Lasell Seminary was found-

ed by Edward Lasell, Professor of Chemistry in Wil-

liams College, and incorporated in the same year. It

was fortunately placed in Auburadale, a charming

and healthful ward of Newton.

Professor Lasell lived only long enough to see his

plans for a girls' school of high rank successful. For

tea years after his death the work was carried on by

his brother Josiah, and his brother-in-law, George W.
Briggs.

In 1862 Rev. Charles W. Cushing became principal

and proprietor. In 1873 he sold the seminary and

grounds to ten prominent men of Boston, who became

a body of trustees. They refitted the institution with

steam heat, gas, new furniture, pianos, etc., and in

1874 made Mr. Charles C. Bragdon principal. He
soon proved to be the right man for the place.

Though young, he had had seven years' experience in

teaching. Graduated by a university at home, he had

entered one abroad, and while continuing his studies

gained much from travel and keen observation. Of
great energy and perseverance and " extraordinarily

independent in mind and character," he takes the

broadest views, yet is patient with the smallest detail.

He put a determined shoulder to the wlieel and the

progress, year by year, has been phenomenal.

In 1874 there were twenty pupils; now there are more

than six times as many. The building was doubled

in size in 1881 at a cost of over thirty thousand dol-

lars, yet every year from thirty to forty applicants are

refused for want of room, the persistent policy being

in favor of a small school. And while paying off

heavy debts the improvements wdthout and within

make the old place almost unrecognizable.

Among these improvements are the pictures that

turn the beautiful studio into an art gallery, adorn

the walls everywhere, and fill the folios and the cabi-

net. There are a gosdiy number in color, oil and

water,—a fair number originals,—with many photo-

graphs and engravings. In all, the catalogue has

nearly nineteen hundred, and additions are frequent.

Mainly the collection was made by the principal in

Europe, where he takes summer parties of the pupils

and their friends.

The library is the nucleus of a fair one for reference.

The old dining-room has given way to a large and

handsome successor. The old gymnasium is i:ow a

well-fitted laboratory for class and individual work.

The new gymnasium, built in 1883, an uncommonly

fine one, is in charge of a pui)il of Dr. Sargent, of
Cambridge, is carried on upon the principles of which
he is the chief apostle, and is in some sense still Iq

his care.

The lower story holds a ten-pill alley and nalator-

ium. The water in the ample tank is heated and
changed often. An accomplished instructor in swim-
ming is employed.

A resident physician looks after tlie health, habits

of dress, recreation, etc., of the pupils. With the

care and regular hours many a weak girl gains

strength, and to be " delicate " is no longer in good
taste.

One teacher is devoting herself to the training of

the nerves, having recently studied the subject in

London. The direct object is not health,—though it

must serve it,—but concentration of the faculties to

obtain the highest activity by self-control.

In 1877 Lasell took a new departure. Believing the

chief business of women to be home-making, and see-

ing that the conflict with the present dire domestic prob-

lems is often greater than they can bear, experts and
specialists were brought to counsel and instruct. Mrs.

Helen Campbell treated of domestic science in gene-

ral ; Mrs. Croly (Jennie June), of dress. Jliss Mar-
ion Talbot, of Boston, gives annually a course of lec-

tures upon home sanitation. This, with practical il-

lustrations, visiting buildings to examine the plumb-
ing, etc., is a feature of the school of much importance

—a unique one it is believed.

Miss Parloa began giving demonstrations in cook-

ing, and h.is had several worthy successors, while vol-

unteers and advanced pupils cook in small classes,

and prizes are given for the 'oest bread. Dress-cutting

and making have long proved a success, and one

notable class ofjunior-iat their recejition wore dresses

of their own handiwork, and served the guests wiili

viands of their own cooking.

Millinery is taught, also photography, short-hand

and type-writing. Some pupils have found in these

lines their natural power, and means of pecuniary

profit.

Lasell is a pioneer in another direction. In 1882

Mr. Alfred Hemenw.iy, of Boston, gave a course of

lectures explanatory of the principles of common
law. This Las become a yearly course, but now in

1890 he also sends a lady, a practitioner of Boston,

who especially emphasizes the peculiarities of the

law as applied to women. The girls receive her

simple, untechnical instruction gladly. They begin

to understand that women have suffered bitterly from

ignorance on these points.

With all the practical work, the. standard of the

•school has constantly risen. Algebrti is now a study

of the Preparatory year, and the demands for cntriince

to the Freshman class are on a scale commensurate

with this level. The work in history, literature,

English and natural sciences is specially ample. Mr.

William J. Rolfe has a class in Shakesj>carc, and
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Schmd to Knimin^hani Ihe building and grouiida

it had hitherto oceupied were purchased, and

i.(Hil win r.peiieij uiiiler il» prenent title in IS-H,

by .Mr. Nuthnniel T. .\llen, wlui had sUL-ccssfully

taught the Model School for the six previous years,

and Kev. I'yrus I'eirce, former principal of the Nor-

mal S:hool. Among itx early patrons and constant

friends were Hon. Horace Munn, Kev. Samuel J.

May (necond principal of the Normal Jschool,) Dr.

Samuel ti. Howe (superintendent of the Blind

.\syluni, B.«stoii ) Hon. (.'harlet Sumner, Hon. (Jeorge

B. KmerHoii, Kev. Theodore I'arlcer and Dr. Thonuis

Hill, ex-pre«idcnt of Harvard College.

In l8JVi, an act of incorporation was secured from

the I^egislature. The incorporators were Nathaniel

T. Allen, (Jeorge K. .\llen and James T. .\l!en. Mr.

fieorge K. Allen died in l(S8.S;the Jlessrs. Nathaniel

T. and James T. Allen arc still (ISltO; at the head of

Ihe institution. Mr. I'eirce taught in the school but

• short time and died in l^fiO.

Among the former and ]iresent teachers of the

•chmd may be nameil many of a world-wide reputa-

tion. Dr. William .\. Alcott's book on " The Laws of

Health" WHS fimt delivered in the form of lectures to

ibis school ; l)r. iJio Lewis was connected with the

school for eight years, and here taught h:s first chws

in free gymnastics in Massachusetts; Mr. Joseph

Allen, the successful superintendent of the Westboro'

State Keform School, was for many years an associate

principal in the school ; Rev. T. Prentiss Allen, Mrs.

S. K. frbino, Kev. Joseph H. Allen, professor at

Harvard fniversily, William F. .Mien, professor in

.Minli.ion l.'.niversity, and many others might be
named.

The instruction is based on theprinciplesof Froebel
and Pestalozzi, and aims symmetrically to develop the

body, mind and heart. Here the first kindergarten

in Mawachusctls was established in 18l)4.

The course of study embraces full p:nglish and

•

.1 courses for a secondary education ;
also pre-

^ studies. Th.? regular academic course occu-

pi.^ live vears; the classical course, four years.

Throughout the latter, written tran.-dations and

analyst's of the authors studied are required. Tro-

vlslon is made for pupils who require direct personal

attention, as in the case of exceptionally backward

pupils, or those pursuing an advanced course of study

or of foreigners. Among the teachers are those who

speak French. German, Spanish and Italian.

The library contains five hundred volumes. The

mincralogical cabinet is large ;
the natural history

collection is good; the apparatus is e.xcellent; the

drawing-room is well supplied with casts and models.

There is a complete supply of apparatus for heavy

and light gymnastics. Instruction is given, and ex-

ercise is required of all in the gymnasium. A swim-

ming pond at the residence of one of the principals is

an added attraction. Music and dancing are taught.

In addition to the instruction given in school-

hours, the pupils enjoy the privilege of the School

Lyceum and Natural History Society. The weekly

meetings of the Lyceum, conducted by officers of

their own number, chosen by the members, afford

iu many ways opportunity for manly development,

mental discipline and self-reliance, to which graduates

of the school look back in grateful remembrance.

One of the principals is present at all the meetings of

the Lyceum. With this constant supervision the

Lyceum is regarded as among the most valuable

advantages offered by the institution.

From the first this has been a family school for

both sexes. It is believed by the proprietors of the

school that in many ways association of the sexes in

the family and in the school has great advantages,

affording a better moral development and a more

healthy stimulus than is possible where the sexes are

educated separately. Pupils from out of town are

grouped in families. This secures a careful oversight

of each of the number grouped together and provides

for much of family life and of individual study and
discipline. It is believed that this school, by rigid

discipline, wise training and careful culture of all the

powers with reference to individual peculiarities and
needs, educates its pupils to useful citizenship, to

single-hearted patriotism, and to a noble Christian

manhood and womanhood.
Since its organization, up to 1890, over one thou-

sand pupils havegraduated from the school; more than
cue hundred have come from foreign countries, be-

tween three and four hundred from States outside of

I

Massachusetts, and nine hundred from towns outside
of Newton.

Miss Spear's English and Classical School—Th\a
school was established in 1865, on Washington Street,

Newton. Its aim is to furnish a through practical

English and classical education for girls. To this end
the school is divided into three departments, each
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under charge of a special teaclier and all under the

general supervision of the principal. The work of

each department occupies from three to four years.

The average number of pupils is fifty; their ages

from six to twenty years. There are five regular

teachers and three pupil teachers, also special teach-

ers in French, German, Music and Elocution.

Hloerside Home anil Day School for Girls.—This

school was established in 1882. Its special design is

to prepare girls for Wellesley and other colleges.

The resident pupils are limited to twenty, unTlcr the

care of the principal, Miss Delia T. Smith. The
course of study is regular and systematic. Pupils

who satisfactorily complete the college preparatory

course are received at Wellesley College without

further examination. French and German are taught

by resident native teachers of successful experience.

Lectures and concerts at Wellesley College are open

to pupils of this school.

Mr. E. H. Cutler's Preparatory School for Boys and

Girls, Neioton.—In September, 1887, Mr. E. H. Cutler

opened a preparatory school for boys. At the close

of the second year seven of the graduates were pre-

pared for college. At the commencement of the third

year, at the solicitation of some citizens of Newton, a

department for girls was established, and up to March,

1890, the total number of pupils was: boy.s, thirty;

girls, four; total, thirty-four. By limiting the num-
ber of pupils, Mr. Cutler is enabled to give each pupil

his personal attention ; and, having had a long and

successful experience in preparatory work, is admir-

ably lifted to prepare pupils for college or for techni-

cal school.

The Misses Allen's Day and Boarding-School, Vernon

Street, Newton, 1888.—Here girls can be prepared for

college with all the advantages of a home life. There

are special teachers in the classic^, modern languages,

music, drawing and painting. Miss Alice Ranlett is

the acting principal. Although in the second year

only of its existence, the school is pronounced a suc-

cess.

[Note.—Since the above was written, tliis scliool, by reason of tlio

death of one of the proprietors, has been given up.]

CHAPTER IV.

NEWTON— ( Continued).

NEWTON THEOLOGICAL INSTITUTION.

BY PROF. ALVAH HOVEV.

This school was opened at Newton Centre on the

28th of October, 1825, and was incorporated by an

act of the General Court of Massachusetts, approved

by Governor Levi Lincoln on the 22d of February,

1826. It was the first theological seminary of a high

grade established by Baptists in the United States,

and it will therefore be suitable to mention a few

things which led more or less directly to its estab-

lishment.

At the annual meeting of the Boston Baptist Asso-

ciation on September 21 and 22, 1814, the letter of

the Second Bnptist Church in Bojton, written by Dr.

Thomas Baldwin, suggested " the propriety and im-

portance of forming an education society to afford aid

to thoss of our young brethren who are desirous of

engaging in the ministry, in obtaining literary and
theological information." This suggestion was re-

ceived with favor, and referred to a committee of three,

^thc Rev. Daniel Merrill, the Rev. Luther Rice and
Mr. Ensign Lincoln. The report of this committee

recommended the formation of the society proposed,

"and presented the draft of a constitution, which

was promptly adopted." Thus the Massachusetts

Baptist Education Society came into existence. In

the eleventh annual report of this society, written by

Rev. Ebenezer Nelson, and presented in 1825, occurs

the following paragraph

:

" Besides attending to the ordinary duties tlio past year, your Com-
mittee have, in compliance with the reconmiondation of a targe meeting

of ministers and other brethren convened in Boston, May 25, \H'lb. talton

into consideration the establishment of a Theoltigical Seminary in th«

vicinity of Boston. Tliis measure has for many years been in contem-

plation. Your Committee are now convinced that the time lias arrived

to build this part of the Lord's house. Although attempts have been

made to establish Tlieological departments in connection with two of

our colleges, and some success has attended them, yet your Committee

are of opinion that a Theological Institution established by itself alone,

where the combined powers of two or three or more men of experience,

and men of God, can be employed in instructing and forming the man-
ners and habits and character of young men for the work of the minis-

try, is greatly to be preferred. They have therefore appointed two sub-

committees,—one to draw up a general plan for an Institution and
inquire concerning a suitable place for its location, and the other to

solicit donations and subscriptions, both which have made some progress.

The Conuuittee are well aware that the step they are about to take is a

very important one. The work before them involves great responsibil-

ities. Whatever is dune in relation to this Institution will have a bear-

ing upon the great iuterests of the Redeemer's Kingdom, and especially

upon the denomination with which we stand connected."

The " two colleges " which had Theological Depart-

ments connected with them were located, one in

Waterville, Me., and the other in Washington, D. C.

—now Colby University and Columbian University.

At the head of the fjrmer was Dr. Jeremiah Chaplin,

an able scholar and divine, and in the faculty of the

latter was Dr. Irah Clia-e, afterwards so influential

in fixing the character of Newton Theological Insti-

tution. But the trustees of Waterville College had,

at length, become satisfied that they could not build

up a good seminar}' and college together with the

resources at their command, and about the same time

Dr. Chase had reached the conclusion that a satisfac-

tory course of theological instruction could not be main-

tained in Columbian College. The way was therefore

open fortheestablishment of an independent seminary

wherever it could be most useful, and providentially

there were at that time a number of far-seeing and
liberal Baptists in Eastern Massachusetts who were
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pirlortU to i-omuirDC* tb« important wurk. liii'

ihty tliJ not rkp«t'l to liui*h it iu ibeir own iln>

Fur it baa brni lru!.v »ai«l :
" Tlio iWnoniiunlion w»-

,
.

.

'

, men »( iniclligtfnce aii'

» II « large »ittl«*. The b<

^ ill ; but men nl' I'liiUi

.; iig ^bl>ubl nut lunger

b« dcla)cJ. Tbcy would do wbat tbey could by l»y-

ing a fuutidalion on wbieh tbuir iiuccauora might

build, and tbu« gradually make the Hcbool luch 08

the crowing wanU of the cburcheB might demand.

They httd im ex|n rience in nueh un enter|irine ;
lliey

had n.> |ireee«leMl oit a guide; but ihey niulerslood

what »aa needed, and were diii|>o«e<l to do their be«t

towards furninhiiig a iiu|>|>ly."

.Vlthough the Iciuntlera of tbiit itialitution luid no

expectation of completing the work which they begun

or uf making a great school nt the Kturt, with liirge

appliance* in the way of icachent, books nnd build-

ingii, tbey had a very delinite grade of inslructiun in

mind, and pur|><iiied tha*. it i«hi>ulil not be inferior in

quality or amount to that furniidicd by the best theo-

logical .teminiirfea of which they had any knowledge.

Thoae iieminariea were Andover, founded in 1807, and

I'rincetiiii, fiiutide<l in 1812, in both uf which a full

cuunie uccupied three years. It wa.t their |>uriiosc to

entablinh a school of e<|ual e.\cellence with those at

Andover and I'rinecton, yet ditlering from them in

the emphii!<i!« which !<honld be laid upon biblicai

study. The fulluwing Htatcment was published by

the Kxecutive Committee of the Massachusetts Bap-

tist KducBlion Society, November 9, 182o, less than

two week-< after the seminary waa opened by tlie Kev.

I rah Chase, who had been appointed, for the time

being, l*rofeS''or of Biblical Theology:

"Tli9n*ipiUr courap fi to occupy thro« years, and cnibmco tlio II(>l>row

Unj;uji|[o iin<l aiitt'iuKliw, with tlie Clialiloo and Greek of the Scrilitiires,

IU i-l,*«laiill<-al liUlory, Dlbtlral The<,logy, Piutoriil Dudoif, nnd, in tdiort,

Iha variuiu fluillM and rxorciHca approlirialo to a tlicoluglcul iitHtilutioo

iltaijcnnl 1,1 aMiKt t)iij»9 who would uudontland tbo Riblo clearly, Hnd, an

faHhrul inlnlalrn of Clirlal, Inculcate its divine lenona tUe uoet use*

folly." More [«rtkularly

:

"To the de|i«rtni,'nt uf IU:clesiantical History will bo referred in*

flnKliun on Ibe <•» i.Irnces uf tbc CbriiitiaD religion ; on tbe formatiun,

prr*»rvallon, lr«n«niljsion nnd canonical nutbority of tbe sacred vol-

ume ; on the hUlory, chnrerter, Influence, and uses of tlio ancient Ter-

iona and lnanuM-ri|it* uf the Old Testatnent and of tbe N'ew ; on mod-
em IrmnaUtiun*, e«|HYlnlly on tbe bintory of our common EtujlUh ver-

sion ;
iiD the princi{«l p,iliion)i of tlie original .Scriplnres ; on tbcnncivnt

and the ubM.'tnrnt lilatory uf tlie Hebrews, and, aa far as uiiiy be re-

qiilalte, of the nations wltli wli<«e bi,itury that of tbe Hebrew i» coii-

n"lr,| , on the history of Clirutiamlti, and tbe various opiniuns and
pniri|r,i4 wlilrb, under its name, have been supported, with tbo causes

and llie colur«|uenc«-«
; on the attempts of refurmnlion, and on tbe pres-

ent a(aU aa well aa the origin uf tbo different dononiiuations of jiro-

f«»«d Christiana, nnd of unbelievers, nnd the unevangeli/ed tliruugbuut

the worlil.

" To the sphere of Bibliral Theology it will belong to aid the students
In aC'pilring a knuwlflgo uf the sju-rod St-rlptures in tlio original laii-

(tuagea. H wi II aa in the Kng:|«h ; t j guide Ibi ni to concrl principles of
InterprvUtion, ami babititnte thorn to employ, in seeking tu undcrnlaiid
tha rarlouB parts of the Diblo, all tliuac helpi wblcb may bo derived
from the •lilTerent branches of bililirai iitcrnture ; to analyze, and lead
tbe students to analyze, iu the oiiginal. the must important portions of
be Old Tralanient. and the wbule, if [Kwelblo, of the New, exhibiting
tbe »<-o|»! of tbe rrsprcllve p«t«, and wbaloTcr of doclrinal or of prac-

•I they may contain, nnd showing hoK tbey nro n|iplicalile ut

t ilav, and prolluble for docliine, for reproof, for correction,

, -^ ; and having thus surveyed the rich

Ibe priKlncls as scattered profusely un

,,, ual uf tlod, tbo professor is, fur tbo sake

. nt refenuiie, to ebuisify nnd arrange tbe particulure, and, for

-e, to biiug tbo students to tbo exiiminuliun of n series uf

llH-.il..f|. nl •ubJeclB, in nucb a manner as most to awiiken tbo etforts of

the g.iiuliie disciple of Christ, ami lend him to search tbe Scriptures.

" luder the bond of I'asloml Duties, it will bo required to give in-

slnietlou In the nature, objects, dillicidtles, responsibilities and supporla

of the (aistural unl« ; on Ihr great icitrk «/ preaching t/ic Gmpel ; on tbo

various ways and occasions of pronioliug tbo vvolfaro of a church, and

commeui»lig llui (Jo«|iel to tbo consciences of men by private labors as

well IU by public preuchliig, exburlHtion and prayer ; on tbo dangers of

tbe ]ireueber, nnd the opproprlato guards; on his visits Iu persons iu

hrallbaudiu sickness, and In other ullliction ; nnd on nduiinislering

CtiiiHoluliuu, ur reproof, or instruction, or entreaty, us diflerent individ-

uals may need, and as becomes uuo who is tu walcb for toutf as tlicy that

iniibt give account."

This prospectus establishes two points; >>«<, that

students lor the ministry were believed, by the found-

ers of the seminary, to need a course of instruction

more thorough and e.xteiuled than could be given by

any jiastor; for no one can read it without recogniz-

ing the iinportanco of nearly every part of the course

proposed, and, at the same time, tlie vast amount of

investigation which it presupposes; And, second, that

the range of study thus marked out was pre-eminently

Biblical, comprising the history, the criticism, the in-

terpretation, the analysis, the application, and the in-

fluence of the sacred Scriptures, together with suitable

training for the work of j)reaching and pastoral duty,

but assigning a very subordinate place to systematic

theology, and avoiding the expression altogether. It

may be .idded that the prospectus quoted above bears

internal evidence of having proceeded from tbe mind
and pen of Professor Chase. One of his early pupils,

the Kev. William Hague, D.D., testifies that the par-

agrajih describing the work to be done in Biblical

Theology " was of his own framing," and " was the

definition of his own life-work." But that paragraph

was of a piece with .ill the rest, and must have ema-
nated from the same source. And if, as Dr. Hague
ailirms, " it is radiant with the idea that had been the

secret of his strength," an idea " which imparts a liv-

ing freshness and energy to every scholar, teacher or

preacher that apprehends it, and is yet destined to

unfold a hidden power in composing the strifes of
Christendom," it is proper to state the fact that this

idea of making instruction in theology primarily and
chiefly Biblical, instead of systematic or speculative,

has been adhered to through all tbe history of the

institution. A committee of which the Kev. Baron
Stow, D.D., was chairman, thus refers to the influence

of Dr. Chase upon the character of the seminary:
" He was the central mover in the enterprise of
founding it, and around him the friendly elements
crystallized and coalesced. The plan of the institu-

tion was his
;
and scarcely a principal feature in its

organization has been changed. For twenty years
his labors as professor were unwearied and self-deny-
ing, and, through all the subsequent years, he never
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faltered in its support, or in liope of its perpetuity.

So long as Newton Institution sliall remain, it will

bear tiie inipre&s of liis ibrmative liaiul."

As Ijefore stated, the worlc of the institution was

begun October 28, 1825, and the act of incorporation

approved February 22, 182G. Eleven trustees were

named in the act, viz. : Joseph Grafton, Lucius

Bolles, Daniel Sharp, Jonathan Going, Bela .lacobs,

libenezer Nelson, Francis Wayland, Jr. and Henry

Jackson, clergymen ; and Ensign Lincoln, Jonathan

Bacheller, Nathaniel R. Cobb, laymen. At the tirst

meeting of the trustees, held in Boston, March 13,

1S2G, the act of incorporation was accepted, a profes-

torship of Biblical Theology established, and the

Rev. Irah Chase elected professor. At the annual

meeting, in Newton Centre, September 14, 1820, a

professorship of Biblical Literature and Pastoral

Duties was established, and the Rev. Henry J. Rip-

ley elected professor. Six years later, on September

13, 1832, this professorship was divided, and the Rev.

James D. Knowles, of Boston, elected to the chair of

Pastoral Duties, an office which he ably filled till

1836, when he resigned that he might become the ed-

itor of the Christian Review. Yet, at the request of

the trustees, he continued his services as professor of

Sacred Rhetoric and Pastoral Duties until his death,

in May, 1838. The Rev. Barnas Sears was chosen

professor of Ecclesiastical History in 183(5, and the

Rev. Horatio B. Hackett professor of Biblical Litera-

ture and Interpretation, in 1839. There were now
four professors, and in the adjustment of their work,

Barnas Sears w;is made president and professor of

Christian Theology, Irah Chase, professor of Ecclesi-

astical History, Henry J. Ripley, professor of Sacred

Rhetoric and Pastoral Duties, and Horatio B. Hack-

ett, professor of Biblical Literature and Interpreta-

tion. By unceasing and enthusiastic labor, these men
were able to do a large part of the work contemplated

by the founders of the institution.

But what was done meanwhile for the financial

support and general equipment of the institution.

It has been already stated that the Executive Com-
mittee of the Massachusetts Baptist Education So-

ciety appointed two sub-committees in the summer of

1825, " one to draw up a general jjlan for the Institu-

tion, and to inquire concerning a suitable place for

its location, and the other to solicit donations and

subscriptions." The site fixed upon was in Newton
Centre, about eight miles from Boston, containing

eighty-five acres, on elevated ground commanding a

delightful prospect." Upon the summit of the hill

was a large dwelling-house, with other buildings,

adapted to a genteel country residence. It was known
as the " Peck Estate." " The main edifice was of suffi-

cient capacity for all the immediate purposes of the

institution, and the whole property was purchased

for $4250. The necessary alterations in the so-called

" Mansion House," were promptly made at an ex-

pense of $3748 ; so that the whole cost of the prem-

ises, fitted for use, was $7098." This sum was con-

tributed by thirty persons and one missionary society.

The committee which solicited and expended this

money was composed as follows: Levi Farwell, Jon-
athan Bacheller, Nathaniel Ripley' Cobb, Ueman
Lincoln, Ensign Lincoln.

These names should never be forgotten. The men
who bore them were distinguished in their day
for Christian enterprise and liberality. They were
])illars in the churches to which they belonged, and
steadfast supporters of the foreign mission work. With
moderate incomes, and connected with a denomina-
tion of little wealth, they yet had faith to begin a

school, which, as ihey foresaw, would never cease to

call for pecuniary assistance. Each of the first three

contributed :{t;i07(l.l5 to the sum raised for the pur-

chase of the estate and the alterat'ons required in the

"Mansion House," while the Lincoliis gave respec-

tively $500 and $250, as much perhaps, when mea-
sured by their ability, as was given by the others.

Levi Farwell, of Cambridge, whose name stands at

the head of this committee, was the first treasurer of

the institution, an office which, as Dr. Baron Stow
testifies, " he filled eighteen consecutive years, until

the time of his death—a period when the institution

was an experiment, and, in many minds, of doubtful

success; when it had no endowment, and when the

funds for current expenses were often procured with

difliculty. Many a time he stood under heavy bur-

dens, sometimes bending, occasionally well-nigh dis-

heartened, yet giving money with a liberal hand, and

personal service to an extent little known and imper-

fectly appreciated." Mr. Farwell was a dignified and

courteous gentleman, moving with grace in the best

society. For inany years he was registrar of Harvard

College. In 1833, when the Constitution of Massa-

chusetts was so amended that, for the first time, " the

support of ministers became wholly voluntary," he

was representative tiom the town ol Cambridge, having

been elected with rei'erence to his vote and influence

in favor of religious equality.

Jonathan Bacheller, of Lynn, Was a diligent, clear-

sighted, trustworthy man, a Christian of settled prin-

ciples and definite aims, who spent little on himself

and put much into the treasury of the Lord. He was

in business over fifty years, beginning at the age of

twenty-two, with a capital of $200. "He accumulat-

ed," according to thestatenient of Mrs. Bacheller, after

his death, "about oue hundred and fifty thousand dol-

lars, one-third of which he gave away while living,

one-third he lost in business, and the remaining third

he gave away at his decease." His ample forehead,

clear eye and firm mouth were expressive of charac-

ter, inielligence and efficiency.

Nathaniel R. Cobb was a Boston merchant. , He is

said to have been a man of great business capacity,

of " acute penetration, rapid decision and uncon-

querable perseverance." Yet he was less distin-

guished for the rapidity with which he accumulated
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than for the nirthod with which he di»-

Hi» alnii w«'re a iitta"!* "tremii, imti-iwinp

I. So.m afur eiUerini? into

• Irpw up the lollowiiig iloou-

n «! H'xl. I will "ovZr l>f worth

llv the xTict> of Ood, 1 will give

neasion they received from Professor Ripley a request

for the appointment of n third professor. Thus fas

etriigKle between ihe growing wants of the seminary

and the inrtdeqiiato resources of tlie IJoard went on

from year to year, and from lustrum to lustrum. Plan

followed plan; e.xpedient succeeded expedient; the

on..f«urth u, th« net prulit. of n.v l.u«ine« to ohari- eloth was not enough for the garment. For a short

u"l .,..';.; aZ. If 1 amever worth .-O...00
j

time the Institution was free from deb
,
but soon Us

1 ,.
,:,• of mv net profits; and if I am properly must be mortgsged, or the work cease.

ev.., », ,
.

I will Kive three-fourths ; and the
i

In April, 1848. the Rev. T. 1. Cald.cott was ap-

wbolr » I *> help me, God, or give to a

fu.,- ird.aiid net me aside. X. R. Cobb.'

I'l, iti,in« he WB'* eniibled, witliin thir-

lern yearn to jfive away more than $40,000.

Thme three original friends of the institution,

Mnwrii. Karwell, Hacheller and Cibb, gave it, in

about r.|uai nums, during life and at death, the aggre-

gate of #.'>;, l.'iO—a small sum in comparison with the

muhifirt'iit gills of millionaires in our day—but a

geiirroU!( sum for the time in wbiih they lived and

for the property whiih they possessed. Others gave

lera, but with e»)uiil love to the institu'ion.

During the first twenty-eight years of its history.

the institution had no permanent endowment. It lived

from hand to mouth in a constant struggle with want.

More than once its trustees were on the point of giv-

ing up the enterprise. Lest Ihau two years after the

seminary was opened, it became evident that the

.Mansion House would not long accommodate the in-

creasing number of students. " In 1827, a committee

wag apiM)inted to devise a plan for a new building and

to procure the mesns for defraying the expense."

The work was accomplished, and "in 1S29 the treas-

urer re|Kirted that ^uch a building had been erected

and paid for by subscriptions collected, amounting

to $10,.')!»4.12. Towards this sum, the Hon. Nicholas

Brown, of Providence, gave $4,000.' But it was found

more difficult to meet the current expenses of the

Institution than to obtain subscriptions for the erec-

tion of a necessary building. These expenses were

conntantly increasing. In compliance with a petition

addresae<l to the trustees in 1827, an English and

Preparatory Department was connected with the sem-

inary ; but after a few years it was discontinued. In-

crease in the number of professors was, however,

indispensable, and every additional professor cost at

least fsOO a year. < )n the 11th of March, 1829, be-

tween JThKio and ^(iUOO were reported due to the

treasurer, and Professor Ripley was requeited to act

as agent during his next vacation. In ,\pril, 1830,

the Rev. E. Nelson was appointed agent to provide

for the professors' salaries by procuring subscriptions

for the annual p«yment of fifty dollars a year for five

years, and on the 9th of September sixteen shares,

enough to support one professor, had been obtained.

Soon after it was proposed to raise a sinking fund of

$20,000, lo suiiport two professors twenty years. On
the 13th of ,\pril, 1832, the trustees were informed

that this sum had been subscribed. But at the same

pointed financial agent to raise the sum of 130,000,

but his elforts to accomplish this were unsuccessful.

In August, 1849, the treasurer was authorized to sell

a part of the Institution lands to remove a mort-

gage of $l<i,000 on the pro|)erty, and soon after ten

shares of stock in the Western Railroad, to meet the

needs of the treasury. In April, 18.31. the Rev. J. W.

Parker, D.D., was invited to raise $50,000, but his

attempt to do this was attended with only partial suc-

cess, for it was seen that the sum was not large enough

to place the seminary out of danger. Hence the Rev.

Horace T. Love was chosen financial agent on the 23d

of February, 1852, and on the 15th of the next month

it was voted to raise a permanent fund of .'SlOOiOOO,

and the trustees subscribed on the spot $35,000 to-

wards this amount. In due time the whole sum,

$117,228.38, was raised, and of this $100,000 was made

the beginning of an endowment to meet the regular

expenses of the school.

But the joy of the guardians of the Institution soon

gave way to anxiety and fear. For, contrary to the

hopes of many, it soon appeared that the interest of

$100,000 would not support a first-class seminary.

The foe, which it was fondly thought had been van-

quished, was still in the field, and was preparing to

come upon them again, "like an .irmed man." But

they naturally dreaded the encounter, and more than

ten years were passed in feints and skirmishes and

guerilla warfare, before the trustees and friends re-

newed the battle in earnest. It was decided in Decem-

ber, 1867, that " an additional endowment of 1150,000

ought to be raised at an early day," and after two or

three unsuccessful experiments, the Rev. W. H.
Eaton, D.D., was appointed in December, 1869, to

raise money for this endowment. By his well-directed

efforts, supplemented, at the last, by the powerful ex-

ertions of a few distinguished brethren, especially

Gardner Colby, the president of the Board, and the

Hon. J. Warren Merrill, the sum of 5^211,404.00 was
raised by subscriptions varying from $1 to §18,000.

This was expected to net, after expenses and possible

losses, at least $200,000. It was felt to be a great and
wise contribution to the cause of sacred learning, and
those who shared in it were certainly entitled to re-

joice.

In 1866 a new building for the library, chapel and
lecture-rooms wiis completed at a cost of nearly $40,000,

and was dedicated on the 10th of September. It was
named Colby Hall, in honor of the largest con-
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tfibutnr, Mr. Gardner Colby. In 1870-71 Farwcll

Hall, the centr.il building, was refitted, provided with

a fourth story, mansard roof, and with apparatus for

heating it with steam, at an expense of f12,000. In

1872-73 Sturtevant Hall was erected at a cost of about

!5-40,000, more than one-half of which was contributed

by Mr. B. F. Sturtevant, of Jamaica Plain. About

the .same time the Mansion House was taken down

and a brick edifice built for a gymnasium.

During the last twelve years the scholarships of the

institution have been increased to the number of

forty-two (842,000), a Professorthip of Elocution has

been founded (§50,000), the Library fund has been

raised from ?il0,00O to $22,450 ; S^(iO,000 have been

added by two bequests to the general endowment, and

a special bequest of $20,000 towards a new library

building will probably be soon paid into the treasury.

It may also be stated, in this connection, that a mem-
ber of the North Orange Baptist Church, N. J., gave

iSSOO yearly to five students selected by the Faculty,

during a period of about sixteen years; that Jlr. D.

S. Ford paid for three courses of leclures, delivered to

the students by distinguished scholars, at a cost of

about .?300acourse; that the Hon. J. Warren Merrill

provided five courses of eight or ten lectures each, at

a cost of $2700, and that a great number of practical

addresses, at once instrucliveand inspiring, have been

made without charge to the students by ministers

and laymen. The following are the names of paid

lecturers from a distance: Drs. George P. Fisher,

Henry G. Weston, George Dana Boardman, Edwards

A. Park, George Ide Chace, Ebenezer Dodge, .John A.

Broadus, John C. Long, William H. Green, G. D. B.

Pepper, Samuel L. Caldwell, James B. Angell, John

Hall, Frederick Gardner, David J. Hill, Selah Mer-

rill. The full course of lectures by William Henry
Green, D.D., on "The Hebrew Feasts," was published

by the Appletons, N. Y., 1885, and the course by

President David J. Hill, LL.D., on "The Social

Influence of Christianity," by Silver, Burditt & Co.,

Boston, 1888. The lectures of Prof. George Ide

Chace, LL.D., on "The Existence of God," were

printed in " A Memorial " after his death, and are

worthy of general circulation.

This reference to lectures and addresses by dis-

tinguished gentlemen not belonging to the Faculty,

during the last twelve years, furnishes a natural

point of transition from the financial history of

the institution to the enlargement of its curriculum

and work. For, in education, buildings and funds are

only means io an end, while occasional lectures and

addresses have an immediate though intermittent

relation to that end. But the character and growth

of a theological seminary depend chiefly on its

teachers, that is, on the enlargement and improve-

ment of their work. This may be easily shown in

the present case by tracing the widening range of in-

struction in several depaitments.

At first the Professor of Biblical Literature and In-

terpretation was rciiuired to give instruction in

Homiletics also. This continued about seven years.

During the next twelve years the professor was reliev-

ed of his work in the Department of Homiletics, but
still had sole charge of the work in Hebrew and
Grei-k literature and interi)retation. During the next,

twenty-two years he was provided with an assistant

instructor in Hebrew, whose service covered a little

more than half the academic year. During the

eighteen following years two professors were assigned

to the Department of Biblical Literature, one for the

Old Testament and one for the New, while a course

of interpretation in the English Scriptures was given

by othir ollicers to those who could not take

Hebrew and Greek. Since 188(5 two professors have
given their whole time, and a third half his time, to

the Biblical department. And the amount of in-

struction in this department has increased ^ari passu

with the increase of the teaching force. This will

not surprise any one who is familiar with Biblical

inquiries.

Thus, instruction is now given in the Syriac,

Arabic and Assyrian languages, as well as in the

Greek, Hebrew and Arama'an. In relation to the

New Testament, textual criticism has been raised

during the last fifty years to the dignity of a science,

while in relation to the Old Testament it is claiming

more and more attention. Hence textual criticism

has been introduced into the course of studies. Again,

the so-called higher criticism, which discusses ail

questions respecting the age, character and author-

ship of the several book.s, paragraphs or sentences

of Scripture, has become an engrossing study, thrust;

I'pon scholars by the advocates of religious evolution.

Meanwhile geographical research in the lands of the

Bible has been prosecuted with wonderful success,

and the fruits of it have a distinct place assigned

to them in the curriculum. The toi)ographical sur-

veys of Palestine, the exhuming of cities, palaces

and temples in Egypt and Babylonia and the decipher-

ing of inscriptions in stone and brick, have cast a

flood of light on the sacred record. Jewish Antiqui-

ties are revealed, not only by the Bible and Josephus,

but also by uncovered pillars and walls.

Again, no regular provision was made in the early

years of the seminary for instruction in elocution.

Occasionally a small sum of money was contributed

by the students, and duplicated by the trustees, for

the purpose of securing a dozen or twenty lessons in

elocution from some i)rofessional teacher; but the

state of the treasury forbade anything more than this

until, in 1870, the Rev. Alva Woods, D.D., of Provi-

dence, established an elocutionary fund of $3000,

soon increase^ by him to $5000. By reason of this

fund the senior classes, during the next fourteen

years, had the benefit of vocal training once a week
by such teachers as Stacy Baxter, Lebrun T. Coulee

and L. A. Butterfield. The results were encouraging,

but not perfectly satisfactory. Too little time was
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It is needless to describe the increase of work in

other departments, but it may be said, with truth,

that in every one an attempt hii.s been made to keep

pace with the progress of sober, theological inquiry,

tu that the school may fulfill the purpose of it.s found-

em. The amount of work to be done has increased as

rapidly as the number of teachers who are expected

to do it. Neither Dr. Chaae nor Dr. Ripley, neither

Dr. Sears nor Dr. Hackett, had more instruction

upon his hands than any one of the six professors

now engaged in service. Yet for many years there

were but three professors in the seniinjiry. Then and

now the field of inve-itigation was practically unlim-

ited. And then, during the first twenty-five years of

the seminary, the professors were men of eminent

worth and ability. Frequent reference has been

made to Dr. Irah Cli.xse, the first profe.ssor. It is not

too much to say of him that he wast distingui?hed for

patient invrstigation, accurate learning and consist-

ent piety. Though slow of speech, what he said was

always to the point and worthy of confidence, so that

he commanded respect when he did not excite ad-

miration. Many of his writings were controversial,

but they were models of candor and courtesy. " On
all the pages that he has written," said Dr. Hackett

at his funeral, "you wiil search in vain for one cen-

sorious word." And.Dr. Kipley testified on the same
occasion that "religion in him was all- pervading and
absorbing." Such a man was the first professor.

And the second, Dr. Henry J. Uipley, was his peer

in Christian devotion and learning. A native of Bos-

ton and a medal scholur of its Latin School, he was
graduated from Harvard College in 181(>, and from
Aodovcr Theological Seminary in 1819. Then he

labored several years as a missionary pastor in the

State of Georgia. In the autumn of 182G he entered

upon his work in Newton, where he filled a profes-

sor's chair thirty-four years. As a teacher and writer

ho was distinguished for exactness of knowledge,

soundness of judgment, clearness of expression and

sweetne-ss of spirit. He was loved and revered by his

pupils, trusted by his brethren and respected by Chris-

tians of every name. Firm without being obstinate,

ho wius gentle without being weak. In controversy

he united the utmost tirmness of mind with a strict

adhesion to truth. His commentaries on the four

Gospels, on the Acts and on the Epistles to the Ro-

mans and the Hebrews, were both scholarly and per-

spicuous, while his volumes on Church Polity and

Sacred Rhetoric were highly useful. The value of

such a teacher's influence is inestimable.

The Rev. James D. Knowles, the third professor,

was graduated from Columbian College, D. C, where

he also took his theological course. For nearly seven

years he was pastor of the Second Baptist Church,

Boston, and for nearly six years, until his sudden

death (.May i), 1838), Professor of Sacred Rhetoric and

Pastoral Duties in Newton. Dr. Baron Slow speaks

of his character and attainments in these words :

" Hundreds admired him for his superior talent, his

pure taste, his literary culture, and his refinement of

manners, but only those whom he admitted to his

confidence understood the warmth of his heart. With

the appearance of cold reserve and self-satisfaction,

he was really one of the most simple-hearted and

child-like of men. . . . I have never known the man
whom I loved more, cr who proved himself, on long

acquaintance, worthy of greater respect." He was

the author of two admirable biographies, one of Roger

Williams, and the other of Mrs. Ann Haseltine .Jud-

son, and he proved himself to be an accompliahed

teacher.

The fourth professor appointed was Dr. Barnas

Sears, a graduate of Brown University and of New-
ton Theological Institution. On his return from a

considerable period of study in Germany, he was

chosen Professor of Ecclesiastical History (1836), a

position which he honored with eminent service three

years. At the close of this period (1839) he was

transferred to the chair of Christian Theology, and,

at the same time, made president of the seminary.

Nine years later (1848) he resigned the place which
he had so ably filled, that be might become secretary

of the Jlassachusetts Board of Education. This office

he held for seven years and then relinquished it for

the presidency of Brown University (1855). The
presidency of Brown he held about twelve years, and
then (in 18G7) became secretary of the fomous Pea-

body education fund, retaining this position until his

death, in 1880. As a teacher of Christian Theology
in the seminary, he brought all his varied attain-

ments to bear upon the student's mind with remark-
able skill, and succeeded wonderfully in stimulating
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thought and research. '' He made his pupils feel the

greatness and the richness of the treasures to be

sought in the domain of inspired truth. The peculiar

charm of his teaching was due in part to his enthu-

siasm, in part to his confidence in the ability of his

pupils to judge for themselves, and in part to his

habit of pointing out and commencing to them the

sources of knowledge. They were made to feel that,

without concealing his own belief, he would give

them, as ne.irly as possible, ' all sides of every ques-

tion,' and lead them to answers founded on reasons,

rather than on human authority." And it will not be

deemed superfluous if we add a testimony as to his

connection with the Peabody fund. "It is quite

doubtful whether any of Mr. I'eabody's princely be-

quests has been administered more judiciously, or

whether ever a great capital devoted to popular edu-

cation has been applied more successfully and more

effectually than Dr. Sears applied the fund of which he

held charge during a most trying and responsible

period of over twenty-three years."

A very lar^e part of the published writings of Dr.

Sears must be found in reports and addresses per-

taining to education, but he publi^hed in 1846 " Select

Treatises of Martin Luther in the Original German,"

with valuable notes, and in 1850, " Life of Luther,"

with special reference to its earlier periods and the

opening scenes of the Reformation. Other less im-

portant works need not be specified in this article.

His influence on the students was jjowerful and
wholesome.

The filth professor in theorderof appointment (1839)

was Dr. Horatio B. Hackett, a graduate of Amherst

College andof Andover Theological Seminary. As ad-

junct Professor of the Latin and Greek Languages in

Brown University from 1834 to 1839 he achieved dis-

tinction as a classical teacher, and, during the twenty-

nine years (1839-1868) of his connection with the

Newton Theological Institution he gained a national

reputation for the accuracy and extent of his Biblical

knowledge and ibr his skill and enthusiasm in the

work of instruction. Few men have excelled him in

the class-room. His preparation font was uniformly

thorough, while the music of his voice, the richness

of his thought and the beauty of his language moved
and charmed those who were under his tuition. He
was a safe and a great teacher. But, in 1808, he re-

signed his jdace in the faculty for the purpose of giv-

ing his undivided strength to literary work, and the

Department of Biblical Literature was assigned to Dr.

Oakman S. Stearns and Prof. Ezra P. Gould. Yet,

missing the grateful variety and stimulus of contact

with young men. Dr. Hackett, after two years, accept-

ed the Professor.«hip of New Testament Interpretation

in the Ilochester Theological Seminary, where he re-

mained fiveyears (1870-1875), until his death. During
his connection with the Newton Theological Institu-

tion he spent about three years abroad, residing first in

Germany (1841-42), and pursuing the studies of his

department, then traveling (1852) in the East, and
especially in Palestine, besides revisiting Germany,
and finally residing in Athens six months (1858-59),

and exploring those parts of Greece mentioned in the

New Testament, under the iius|iiccs of the American
Bible Union. He went to Europe agawi in 1S69-70,

and a fifth lime shortly before his death, in 1875. Two
or more of these later journeys were occasioned, in

part, if not altogether by the impaired state of his

health. The published writings of Dr. Hackett are

somewhat numerous, and a few of them may properly
be mentioned, e. g. :

" Exercises in Hebrew Gram-
mar" (1847) ;

" Illustrations ofScripture suggested by
a Tour through the Holy Land " (18.5.5) ;

" Coramciit-

ary on the Original Text of the Acts of the Apostles "

(1st ed. 1851, 2d ed.' 18.58, last ed. [edited by A. Hov-
ey] 1882) ;

" Notes on the Greek Text of the Epistle

to Philemon " (1860); thirty articles in the first ed. of
Smith's "Dictionary of the Bible" (1863); and "The
Book of Ruth," published in 1876, after his death.

To the American edition of "Smith's Dictionary,"

edited by himself and Dr. Ezra Abbott, he made very
numerous and valuable contributions.

Of the late professors, aud especially of Drs.

Robert M. Pattison, Albert N. Arnold, Arthur S.

Train, Heman Lincoln and Samuel L. Caldwell, who
have all passed away from the seen into the unseen,
it v/ould be interesting to speak more at length than
space will permit. But the life of the institution

cannot be described without a brief reference to each
one of them. Mr. Pattison was called to be the suc-

cessor of Dr. Sears in the chair of Christian Theology.
It was not an easy place to fill, but he held it with
credit to himself and advantage to the school more
than five years, until he was called a second time to

the presidency of Waterville College (now Colby Uni-
versity). He was one whom it was only necessary to

know in order to trust. A thoughtful student, a
sound theologian and an effective preacher, there were
in his spirit and manner a certain indescribable sin-

cerity, friendliness and frankness which secured the

love and confidence of his pupils. They found in

him not only a teacher, but a counselor and a father,

and they sometimes spoke with admiration of the
episodes in his lessons, when, giving free jday to his

rising emotions, and illustrating his thoughts by inci-

dents drawn from hisowu experience, hestroveto kin-

dle in their hearts a holy ardor for the work of God.
During his lustrum of service, and in pursuance of
his advice, the trustees obtained a modification of

the charter by which their numbers could be doubled
(made forty-eight instead of twenty-four), and the

duty of electing one-half that number could be
assigned to the Northern Baptist Education Society.

Dr. Arnold, a graduate of Brown University and of
Newton Theological Institution, had been several

years a missionary in Greece, but, upon his return to

this country, he was elected Professor of Church
History in his theological Alma Mater (1855), an
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which he served fifteen years. From 1873 to 1878,

a period of five years, he was a professor in the

Newton Institution. His work was divided between

homiletics and church history. And the amount

of labor which he performed can never be under-

stood by one who has not delved in the same

mines and tried to polish the same kind of gems.

Think of church history: how vast the libraries to be

explored '. how diflicult the task of just interpretation

!

how numerous and vital the disputed questions! bow

rare the discernment that can cast away the error and

preserve the truth ! and how remarkable the power

which can reproduce in a well-ordered narrative the

results of faithful inquiry ! Yet this wide and difficult

field was ably cultivated by Dr. Caldwell, though

only for a brief period. Of his service in homiletical

instruction it is enough to say that it was faithful and

Naturally ai.uperiori.ch<.lar,hewasalsodislinguished excellent. All looked up to him as a master of ex-

for giKid ien»e and practical sagacity. .After seven

yeai» of fAitliful wrviee in the »eDiiniry, he preferred

to riitume hia favorite calling in Franiinghani, Slassa-

cbdM'tt".

I»r. llenian Lincoln, a son of Knsign Lincoln,

one of the fuundt rs of the school, was a graduale of

Hrown University and of Newton Theological Insti-

tution, was elected Professor of Church History in

18G8, and served in that department, or in the chair

of llomiletii's acd Tastoral Duties nineteen years,

until his death. In October, 1887. He was remarkable

for diligence, energy and versatility ; he was a vora-

cious reader, a rapid writer and a fluent speaker. It

wa» his cuntom to preach every Sabbath, and rarely

did he fail of doing this during the nineteen years of

his service in the institution. He was also accus-

tomed to write one article at least weekly for the

religious press, and often two; of course, upon cur-

rent topics. Keeling at times a profound s&licitudc as

to political issues, he resorted to the daily secular

prcfs for the communication of his views to the public,

and some of his articles were exceedingly vigorous

and trenchant. In a word, he was an incessant

toiler, with hand and voice and pen, in garden, study,

public library, class-room and pulpit, in behalf of

learning, virtue and religion. But this rich variety

of service rendered it impossible for him to make
original investigations in church history, or to pro-

duce anv standard treatise in that department. He
labored for his pupils and cotemporaries, and he will

live in their characters and memories. But neither

his new.spaper correspondence, however brilliant or

timely, nor his more extended essays which found

their place in reviews, arc likely to be collected into

volumes.

Dr. Samuel L. Caldwell was a graduate of Water-
ville College and of Newton Theological Institution.

•Soon after leaving the seminary he was settled as

pastor of the First Baptist Church in Bangor, Maine,
where he labored twelve years, and then as pastor

of the First Baptist Church in Providence, K. I.,

prcssion. In the faculty he was courteous and wise,

a helper in council, and loved as well as honored by

his associates. But after a term of tive years he ac-

cepted a call to the presidency of Vassar College, an

oflicc for which he was thought to be pre-eminently

qualified by character and culture.

Dr. Caldwell was editor of " The Bloudy Tenent of

Persecution," by Roger Williams, and of " The Bloody

Tenent of Persecution yet more Bloody by Mr. Cot-

ton's endeavor to wash it white in the Blood of the

Lamb," by the same author, in the " Publications of

the Narragansett Club." His editorial work in pre-

faces and notes is scholarly and just. Moreover, in

connection with Dr. A. J. Gordon, he prepared fur

publication a hymn and tune-book, "The Service of

Song," which is one of the be.st ever offered to the

churches. The task of selecting and editing the

hymns, a part of which consisted in restoring their

original text, is understood to have been performed

by Dr. Caldwell. A considerable number of his ser-

mons and addresses were published from time to time

during his life, and a volume of his lectures and es-

says is soon to be issued by a Bof ton house.

Of the professors now living (1890) seven are con-

nected with the seminary and three are teaching in

other schools. Dr. Qalusha Anderson, who was Pro-

fessor of Homiletics from 18B6 to 1873, fills the same
chair at present in the Baptist Theological Seminary
at Morgan Park, 111. ; Dr. Ezra P. Gould, who was
Professor of New Testament Interpretation from 1868

to 1882, is now teaching in the same department at

the Episcopal Seminary in Philadeljihia, and Dr. E.

Benjamin Andrews, who filled the chair of Homilet-
ics from 1879 to 1882, is now president of Brown Uni-
versity. All these were accomplished teachers, mak-
ing a deep impression on the minds of their pupils.

The positions which they now hold are such as none
but able men could fill.

The faculty is at present composed of the following
persons: Alvah Hovey (since 1819 instructor, since

1853 professor—first of Church History and later of
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Christian Theology—and since 1868 president), Oak-

man S. Stearns (Professor of Biblical Literature, Old

Testament, since 1868), John M. English (Professor

of Homiletics and Pastoral Duties since 1882), Chas.

K. Brown (Professor of Hebrew and Cognate Lan-

guages since 1883), Earnest D. Burton (Professor of

Biblical Interpretation, New Testament, since 1883>,

and Jesse B. Thomas (Professor of Church Historj'

since 1888). Mr. S. S. Curry has been an acting pro-

fessor since 1885, though giving but a part of the

time to this seminary and not being a member of the

faculty. Professor Shailer Mathews, of Colby Uni-

versity, has also assisted in New Ttstaraent interpre-

tation a part of the time during the last year and

the present. It may be remarked, in this connection,

that the members of the faculty are not called upon

to subscribe their names to any particular creed. As

members of regular Baptist Churches they are pre-

sumed to believe in the divine authority of the Scrip-

tures and in the essential truths which they teach, or,

in other words, to be in accord, as to all great princi-

ples and duties, with the founders and trustees of the

school. The trustees have authority to depose them,

should their teaching prove unsatisfactory.

But the character of a professional school may be

inferred more or less correctly from the work of its

aluQini. Indeed, its history would be as incomplete

if no notice was taken of their work, as the history of

a family would be if nothing were said of the chil-

dren after leaving the parental roof. And the case

will be still clearer if it be remembered that the work

of the ministry embraces several forms of Christian

service, besides the pastorate ; e.ij., that of teaching

in some of its higher ranges, that of missionary ser-

vice in all its branches, that of editorial work for the

religious press, that of providing a Christian litera-

ture in book-form for the people, and that of con-

ducting the work of evangelical or reformatory socie-

ties as agents and secretaries.

About eleven hundred candidates for the Christian

ministry have studied in this school, and not far from

three-fourths (725) of them have served the churches

of their native land. Of these very many have been

simply intelligent pastors, able to instruct the people

by truth drawn from the sacred record, and content

to labor for the Master wherever the providence of

God directed their way. Many of them, though little

known to the world, have been earnest and wise

builders of the Lord's house. It is to this class of

ministers that churches located in villages, East and

West, have been indebted for much of their intelli-

gence and stability, while it is from these churches that

many young men of sterling worth find their way to

the academy, the college, the seminary and the pul-

pit. The influence of a village pastor in a rural dis-

trict, if he is well-informed, sound in faith, pure in

life and earnest in work, is something which an angel

might covet. Sume of these pastors have held on

their way in the same village un'il their influence be-

came far-reaching and inestimable. Two or three

may be named as specimens of a class : Cornelius .\.

Thomas, D.I). (Brandon, Vermont), Elijah Hutchin-

son, D.D. (Windsor, Vt.), and Daniel W. Phillips,

D.D. (Medfield, Wakefield, Massachusetts; Nashville,

Tennessee), William H. Eaton, D.D. (S..leni, Nashua,

Ma.ssachusetts ; Keene, New Hampshire), and Charles

M. Bowers, D.D. (Lexington, Clinton, Massachu-

setts). Without possessing the gift of eloquence in

such a degree as to draw after them the multitude

hungry for excitement, they have known how to

speak well, commending truth to the minds and hearts

of men, so that their influence was ever growing and
salutary. Still more conspicuous and perhaps useful

have been such city pastors as Drs. William Hague
(Boston, Providence, .\lbany. New York), Rollin

H. Neale (Boston), Samuel B. Swain (Worcester);

Joseph W. Parker (Cambridgeport, Boston, Wash-
ington, D. C), William Lamson (Gloucester, Ports-

mouth, Brookline), William Howe (Boston), William

H. Shailer (Brookline, Portland), Elia^ L. Magoon
(Richmond, Cincinnati, New York, Albany, Phila-

delphia), Thomas D. Anderson (Salem, Roxbury,

New York, Boston), J. Wheaton Smith (Lowell, Phila-

delphia), George Dana Boardman (Barnwell, Roches-

ter, Philadelphia), .Tames B. Simmons (Providence,

Indianapolis, Philadel|)hia, New York), George

Bullen (Skowhegan, Wakefield, Pawtucket), Henry
A. Sawtell, (Limerick, San Francisco, Chelsea, Kala-

mazoo,) Henry M. King, (Roxbury, Albany,) A. J.

Gordon, (Jamaica Plain, Boston,) Henry F. Colby,

(Dayton,) and numbers more (like Drs. D. N. Bur-

ton, J. W. Warder, Edwin T. Winkle, John H.

Luther), whose names command respect wherever

they are spoken. Many of those given above were

selected because their fields of labor were in Eastern

Massachusetts, and they will be remembered by the

citizens of Middlesex County.

Next to the graduates whose field of labor has

been their native land must be placed those who
have devoted their lives to service in foreign coun-

tries. For in so far as the religious atmosphere and

instruction of a theological school tend to foster a

missionary spirit, it may be regarded as doing good to

men. And in this respect the institution has made
an honor.able record. For not less than one student

for each year of its history has gone to the foreign

field. John Taylor Jones pursued his theological

studies in Andover and Newton. He was a mission-

ary in the East twenty years, eighteen of which were

spent in Siam. During this time he translated the

New Testament into the Siamese language. Francis

Mason, D.D., a classmate of Dr. Jones in the semi-

nary, preceded him about three months in the voyage

to Burmah. His term of service extended over a period

of about forty-four years. He translated the Scrip-

tures icto the Sgau Karen and Pwo Karen dialects,

and published two works on Burmah, one entitled

"Terasserim; or. Notes on the Fauna, Flora, Min-
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^ a very important i-ervice in a corapar-

iiti period. In his place, and worthy of his

Damr, labors to-day a son, Uev. Josiah K. Goddard,

also a gmdualo of the seminary. Kev. Benjamin C.

Thomas, of the class of 1849, sailed for Burma soon

after RraduatinK, ami toilcJ for the Karens twenty

year* in Tavoy, llenthada and Bassein, though more

than half of thin perioti was patised in Henthada.

His temperament wan ardent and poetic, his piety

de«p and fervent ; hut he was at the same time a man

of sound judgment and practical spirit. Uis enthu-

iasni was intense, but it was iiuided by reason, and

he unite<l in himself nearly all the qualities most

useful to a miwionary. Kev. Nathan Brown, D.D.,

was )(radnate<l in 1S3I, was a missionary in Assam

more than twenty years, returned to his native land

in ISO'.i, and then after fiflecn years went to Japan,

where he labored fourteen years. lie was a man of

Timorous intellect and unbending principle. In addi-

tion to his other work he translated the New Testa-

ment into the A'<samese and the Japanese languages.

Kev. Klward U. Stevens, D.D., graduated in 1836,

was a missionary ti) the Iturmcse more than fifty years,

serving the cause which he loved with a clear head

and true heart till the day of his death. Uis son, the

Uev. Kdward D. Stevens, class of 1864, has been a

faithful mis'ionary in Prome, Burma, from that time

till IHS'.t, when lie was transferred to Maulmain.
Another coniccrnted mnn, the Rev. Lyman Jewelt,

I>.I)., class of l84i;, who«e gentleness of manner and
of spiiit is only surpjisicd by his devotion to the will

of Christ, lalioriil among the Ttlugus about forty

I yecr* until he was compelled by the impaired health

I of Mrs Jewett to return home. He is a superior

i

schola'aswellasan heroic servant of the Master. The

i

Kev. Chapin H. Carpenter, of the class of 18G2, was

a missionarv in Ran.L'oon, Burma, six years, being

1
most of the time in charge of the Karen Theological

."Seminary, located in that city, and twelve years in

Bassein. where be was in charge of a large and im-

portant lield. He was a devoted servant of Christ,

a thorough scholar, and an earnest believer in the

I

wisdom of calling upon the native churches to

' support all their pastors and school.s, though not

the missionaries sent to them from this country.

His volume entitled "Self-Support, illustrated in the

History of the Ba.ssein Karen Mission from 1840

to ISSO," mi'st be reckoned a classic on the subject

which it discusses. Much of the narrative is of thrill-

ing interest, independently of the theme which it is

used to elucidate. The Rev. Josiah N. Cushing, D.D.,

class of 1805, has been since his gr.aduation a mis-

sionary to the Shans of Burma, and has translated the

whole Bible into their language. He is a floe scholar

and teacher, as well as preacher. The Rev. D. A.

\V. Smith, D.D., class of 1863, was a missionary in

Rangoon three years, Henthada ten years, and since

1876 presidentof the Karen Theological School, Ran-

goon, Burma. An accurate scholar and teacher, he

is also (like his father, the Rev. Samuel F. Smith,

D.D.), said to be a writer of beautiful Christian

hymns in the Karen language. Besides this work he

has translated or composed a brief commentary on

the whole Bible for the u»e of the Sgau Karens.

This enumeration of faithful missionaries might be

carried much further, embracing other names as emi-

nent as those mentioned ; but enough have been spe-

cified to show that the institution has always been

friendly to the work of heathen evangelization. And
it may, with equal truth, be said that it has been a

source of laborers for the destitute parts of the home
field. Many of the freedmen's schools at the South

have been presided over by graduates of Newton.

The Rev. D. W. Phillips, D.D., Nashville, Tenn.
;

CharUs H. Corey, D.D., Richmond, Va. ; Henry M.
Tupper, D.D., Raleigh, N. C. ; G. M. P. King, D.D.,

Washington, D. C. ; Edward C. Mitchell, D.D.,

Nashville, Tenn., and New Orleans, La. ; Charles

Ayer, Jackson, Miss. ; J. L. A. Fish, Live Oak, Fla.,

have been and are at the head of superior schools in

the places named. And whether they be called mis-

sionaries or presidents, uniting as they do these two
forms of Christian service, they are doing a great and
good work in a very satisfactory manner, and are to be
numbered with the choice jewels which adorn the

brow of their alma mater.

The institution has likewise furnished presidents

for a considerable number of colleges and theological

seminaries. Of these may be named : Drs. Eli B.

Smith and James Upham, New Hampton Literary

and Theological Seminary; Barnas Sears, Newton
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Theological Institution and Brown University, Joel

S. Bacon, Columbian College, Washington, D. C. ;

David N. Sheldon, Henry C. R)bins, G. D. B. Pep-

per and Albion W. Small, Cjlby Uuiversity ; E. G.

Robinson, Rochester Theological Seminary and Brown

University; George W. Samson, Columbian College,

Washington, D. C, and Rutgers College, N. Y.

;

Martin B. Anderson, Rochester University ; Henry

G. Weston, Orozier Theological Seminary ; Ebenezer

Dodge, Madison University; Kendall Brooks and

Monson A. Willcox, Kalamazoo College ; Basil

Manly, Georgetown College, Ky. ; Samuel L. C.ild-

well, Vassar College; Samson Talbot and Alfred

Owen, Denison University, Granville, O. ; Artemas

W. Sawyer, Acadia College, Wolfville, N. S. ; D. A.

W. Smith, Karen Theological Seminary, Rangoon,

Burmah ; S. W. Tindell, Carson College, Tenn. ; S. B.

Morse, Oakland College, Cal. ; Charles S. Corey,

Richmond Theological Seminary, Richmond, Va.

;

Alvah Hovey, Newton Theological Institution and

probably several others.

A still greater number have served as professors in

colleges or theological seminaries, and of these it may
be proper to mention, in addition to those previously

named. Professors John S. Maginnis, D.D., John L.

Lincoln, LL.D., James L. Reynolds, D.D., James S.

Mims, D.D., Robert A. Fyfe, D.D., Peter C. Edwards,

D.D., Samuel K. Smith, D.D., John B. Foster, LL.D.,

Joseph H. Gilmore, David Weston, Sylvester Burn-

ham, D.D., Fletcher O. Marsh, Richard S. Colwell

and Samuel Brooks, though others have done as good

work as these. It would not be easy to overrate the

service rendered to higher and Christian education

by this body of presidents and professors, or to deter-

mine how much of their influence and usefulness

were increased by their course at Newton.
Moreover, the institution through its Alumni, has

had an influence on public thought by means of the

press. Its sons have contributed much to the relig-

ious literature which has moulded the belief and life

of the people, and especially of those connected with

the Christian denomination supporting this school.

But no record of the books written by the sons of

Newton is known to have been kept, and no state-

ment of the number of graduates that have been edi-

tors or sub-editors of quarterly, monthly or weekly

periodicals would be more than conjectural. Yet it is

easy to form a considerable list of names that will

suggest the character of the service which has in this

way been rendered to mankind. Reference has already

been made to the published writings of Barnas Sears,

one of its earliest graduates, and of its most distinguish-

ed professors. It willbesufficienttomentionthenames

of others, with an accompanying word as to the kind

of literary work performed by each. The abbrevia-

tion, auth., will be used for the writer of anything

published in book form ; ed., for the editor-in-chief

or an assistant editor of any periodical or important

work, and com,, for an interpreter of any . book of

6-iii

Scripture. The other abbreviations need no explana-

tion. Francis Mason (auth. and transl.), William

Crowell (ed. and auth.), Joseph Barnard (auth.),

David N. Sheldon (auth.), Ezekiel G. Robinson (auth.,

ed. and transl.), Lucius E. Smith (ed. and auth.), Eli-

as L. Magoon (auth.), Martin B. Anderson (ed. and

auth.), Edwin T. Winkler (ed. and com.), Basil Manly
(auth.), Nathan Brown (ed.,4;r.ansl. and poet), Albert

N. Arnold (auth., com.), Ebenezer Dodge (auth.),

George W. Samson (auth.), John L. Lincoln (auth.),

Heman Lincoln (ed.), Franklin Wilson (ed.), Samuel
L. Caldwell (auth.), Alvah Hovey (auth. and com.),

George Dana Boardman (auth.), Oakman S. Stearns

(auth.), Nathaniel M. Williams (auth. and com.), John
H. Luther (ed.), Samuel K. Smith (ed.), Edward C.

Mitchell (auth.), Chapin H. Carpenter (auth.), H.

Lincoln Wayland (ed. and auth.), David B. Ford

(auth. and com.), Henry A. Sawtelle (auth. and com.),

D. A. W. Smith (com. and auth.), Joseph A. Gilmore

(poet), Theron Brown (poet and ed.), Henrv S. Bur-

rage (auth. and ed.), D. W. Faunce (auth.), W. S. Mc-
Kenzie (poet), George E. Horr, Jr. (ed.), George E.

Merrill (auth.), J. B. G. Pidge (com.), W. A. Stevens

(com.), E. P. Gould (com.), E. Benj. Andrews (auth.),

Sylvester Burnham (auth.), A. J. Gordon (auth. and

ed.). More than a hundred volumes worthy of atten-

tion have been given to the people by the persons

named above, to say nothing of the much greater

amount of valuable truth discussed by them in news-

papers and reviews.

CHAPTER V.

JfEWTON—{Continued).

THE LIBRARIES.

BY ELIZABETH P. THURSTO.V.

West Parish Social Library.—As early as 1798

a library was organized in the west part of the town

by a society called "The Social Society in the West
Parish in Newton." The constitution provided that

a library be formed of the value of $150 ; that it be

divided into a number of equal rights of the value of

13.00 each, and that each proprietor pay annually

twenty-five cents upon each of his rights. The li-

brarian was required " to be possessed, in his own
right, of an estate of at least double the value of all

the books which the library may contain." The
books selected, about 105 in number, were mostly of

a serious nature.

Adelphian Library.—The Adelphian Library

was formed about 1827. Quite a valuable collection

of books was procured by William Jackson through

earnest efforts in various ways : many volumes were

gathered through the Newton Temperance Society,

formed in 1826, which believed that " if the people
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home and »«v«l iheir money, tJiey would

t of the library wii«

, Aiaili my of Svlli

ilii' otlur |iiirt

,, .
, lil>riiriiiii ill»• uiiilrr llic ore ui

Ibe E»U l'*riih.

1819. Umtricl .N<

kept ill tlip ncliiM'llioiise. now the

(.'. IWiiig iiiUrt'Klcd in ftiirling the

, cji.—TllC W <»t .NiwliHi

iiu a««<>ci«tion fiirinoi in

bvl •fcepltnl tlie i>flVr of the

Mat* to donate fifteen dolUni to imy dlHtrict wliicli

wuuld f»i.e the wmo iind furnish the Di*triit School

Lit^rv. Mr. Nathaniel T. .Mien, as hJiooI- muster

in l>i.tri.i N" .'., hml chiir^e of the Pistrict School

Li>lrar^

Cilv n
Alhcnamin. Mr. .Vll.-ii •eiit f.r iiii 1 ohtiiiK-.l ).. »<C8-

•Ion of the Adrlphiun Lil.mry of the \Ves<. Tarish,

which, ad.lel to tlie District ochool Library .tnd the

bwk^of 'he oil lil.r;iry of 170S, forme I the nucleus

of the Alhena-um I.il.rnry. Many volumes were pre-

.eiile.1 l.y cili/,eim. Caplnin Charles T. Savnge giving

the UrgCTt iniml.er, and new books were purchaseil.

The value of the shares waM placed at Icn dollars

e*ch. The Alhenirum started with William 1$. Fuwle,

8r., aa prc»ident ; Uev. Joseph S. Clarke, secretary ;

Captain Charles T. Savage, treasurer; Nathaniel T.

Alltn.Jibrarian. The meetings of the -shareholders

were held in the old Town Hall under the school-

riM.mi., and the library was kept in a small side room

until removi-»l to the room over the market, corner of

Wa»hington and Chestnu'. Street*. One aim of the

Wi-st Newton Athenaium was to promote liberal cul-

ture und socisl improvement, and the details of the

history of the institution will be found in the chapter

on Clubs, Societies, etc.

Newton Book Ci.ub.—In January, 1848, an a.sso-

cialion was formed at Newton Corner, known as the

" Newton Ilook Club," to which there were originally

twenty-six subscribers, and a form of by-laws and reg-

ulations was adopted, placing the club in the care of

a commit'ee of five, who should see that the books

were " treated witii care, as they are intended to form

a Permanent Library for the benefit of the village."

The annual asse.-sment for membership to the club

was placed at five di liars, and any person apjiroved

by the committee might join. More than 100 vol-

umes wj;re purchased the first year,

Newton Library Association.—In January,

1849, the memhere of the Hook Club, " desirous of

promoting the cause of Intelligence and Literature

in this place," formed themselv«s into a corporation

under the title of the " Newton Library Association,"

and 117 volumes were given by the Book Club to the

new orgnnizatii.n. The records at the close of the

year 1850 showed that the number of volumes had

been incr<'as(<l by gift and ))iirchase to about 1000,

ami that 2(iOO boolf had been drawn from llic library

teriallv injured. It was voted that the library be open

Wednesdav afternoon and Friday eveninR of every

week, and 'that a copy of the catalogue be sent to

everv house in the village not occupied by either a

stockholder or subscriber to the library. At the an-

nual meeting in ]«2 I'.n amendment to the constitu-

tion provided that "the directors shall have authority

to loan books to other pcrsoBs upon such teims and

under such regulations as they may deem exi.edient."

Library Land Fl'nd AssociATioN.-For a long

time the public-spirited citizens of Newton bad had

it much at heart to (Stablish a free library, which

should be open to all, and many efforts were made to

bring the subject to the notice of the citizens. In

June, 18B6, a subscription paper was circulated to

buy the lot of land, 20,550 square feet, upon which

the present Newton Free Library building stands, on

condition that it be offered to the Novton Library As-

sociation, or, if declined by that association, to any other

organization which would agree to erect such a slruc-

ture as the trustees of the Land Fund should require.

The names of the subscribers to this paper are as fol-

lows : D. R. Emerson, J. C. ChaUin, Albert Brackett,

Joel H. Hills, Joseph N. Bacon, Fred Davis, Geo. H.

Jones, Win. 0. Edmands, H. D. Bassett, J. W. Well-

man, I. T. Burr, F. Skinner, G. D. Gilman, Louisa S.

Brown, A. B. Underwood, Aaron F. Gay, Jas. French.

The sub.scription amounted to $3320.

On Sept. 20th the subscribers to the Library Land

Fund met, organized and chose a board of trustees.

It was voted " that the trustees are empowered to col-

lect the amounts subscribed to the fund, to have the

transfer of the projierty made to them, to receive the

deeds of the same, and to hold the property for the

proprietors for the use and purposes of the subscrib-

ers as set forth in the subscription-paper.'' It was

also voted "that the trustees take the initiative in any

measures that will promote the interests of a Free

Public Library in thi^. place, and in the erection of a

suitable building on the land purchased by the sub-

scribers to the fund." On Jan. 6, 1868, the trustees

tendered to the Newton Library Association the lot

of land as a site for a library building, on these con-

ditions : The building to be of brick or stone, two

stories high; the building to be completed on or be-

fore June 28, 1871 ; the building to cost not less than

.^lO.OUO ; and received from the association this reply :

" Voted, that while the Association tender to the

Trustees their thanks for the offer made in the com-

munication presented, the Association is compelled to

decline the gift. Voted, that the Association will

transfer all its books and other properly to the Trus-

tees of the Library Land Fund, when any Associa-

tion shall accept the lot of land named in the ccm-

munication of the Trustees, and guarantee to erect

such a building as is therein mentioned, to be held in

trust by said Trustees until the completion of the said

building, when they i-liall transfer the same to the

during the year, while not one had been lost or ma- uew association, provided it shall be maintained as a
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free library, and be located in that part of tliis town

called NewtoQ Coraer."

The trustees then called a meeting and reported

that the Hon. J. Wiley Edinand^i had offered to con-

tribute fil'teea thousand dollars, ten thousand toward.s

a building and five thousand in yearly instalments,

for the purchase of books, on the following condi-

tions : "First, that a like sum, or $15,000, shall be

fully secured by the Trustees previous to the first day

of March next ; second, that a building shall be erect-

ed under the general supervision of the present

Trustees or their successors in office, and in accord-

ance with plans which shall be satisfactory to him;

third, that when completed it shall be organized

under the name of the Newton Free Library, with a

board of control consisting of eleven managers, three

of whom shall be the present Board of Trustees or

their successors, the remaining number to be elected

from the contributors to the above specified amount

;

fourth, that all contributors of $10 and upwards shall

have a right to vote; fifth, that these conditions shall

be fully entered in the subscription book." By per-

sistent eflbrt, public meetings and private exertions

the subscriptions were obtained and the sum of $30,-

683 was secured.

In June, 1868, ground was broken for the present

library building, and on Aug. 13th the corner-stone

was laid. In it are deposited copies of the town and

school reports for 1868, the Newton Journal, Boston

]>apers, the American Almanac, specimens of coins,

bank-notes and currency in use, the "History of the

Newton Free Library," and reports of |)ublic meet-

ings, with a copy of the subscription-book engrossed

on parchment, giving the names and amounts sub-

scribed. The material of the building is Newton

stone wiih granite trimmings from New Hampshire,

The style is English Gothic. The cost was, for land,

$3300 ; for grading and finishing the same, $1650.20;

for the building and fixtures, $31,745 ; total, $36,695.-

20.

The land and building were conveyed to the

Newton Free Library, and the Newton Library

Association delivered to the same its books, amount-

ing to sixteen hundred and twenty volumes.

Newton Free Library.—The Newton Free

Library was organized September 29, 1869, with a

board of eleven managers, composed of the follow-

ing names: Geo. H. Jones, John C. Chaffin, Isaac T.

Burr, Hon. J. Wiley Edmands, Geo. W.Bacon, John

S. Farlow, A. B. Underwood, Joel H. Hills, Geo. S.

Bullens, Geo. S. Harwood and Abner I. Benyon.

It was found that the cost of the building, with

all its surroundings and furnishing, had some-

what exceeded the estimate, and it was not deemed

expedient to dedicate the building until the

bills could be paid, and until a cullicient sum
be raised to provide a suitable supply of books,

papers, etc., in order that the institution might be

opened in a proper manner. It was therefore neces-

sary to procure a further subscription, and at this

critical period the managers received a letter from a

gentleman who desired his name withheld, promising

four thousand dollars provided the further sum often

to twelve thousand dollars be obtained. The man-
agers pledged themselves to raise the balance needed,

which was subsequently done, and six thousand

dollars was then appropriated for the purchase of

books under the supervision of the Library Com-
mittee. The building was dedicated June 17, 1870,

and the library was opened with about seven thousand

books on the shelves, obtaineil partly from purchase

and partly from gilt<. Geo. \V. Bacon was elected

superintendent and Hannah P. James and Cornelia

W. Jackson assistant librarians. In 1871 the Legis-

lature of Massachusetts passed an act to incorporate

the Newton Free Library, granting the corporation

leave to hold real and personal estate to the value of

one hundred and fifty thousand dollars. In 1873 the

Newton Centre Library Association presented its

valuable collection of between fourteen and fifteen

hundred books to the Newton Free Library.

In his inaugural address in January, 1875, relating

to the Newton Free Library, Mayor Hyde said:

"I venture to express the h()\>e that at no distant

day this library will pass into the hands of the city

and become the city library."

At the annual meeting of the subscribers on

November 3, 1875, it was "licsolced, thut the managers

are empowered to make a transfer of the franchise

and property of the Newton Free Library to the City

of Newton, on the city's assuming the conditions of

trust of its present organization." The gift was ac-

cepted by the Mayor, Aldermen and Common Council

on behalf of the city, and the Legislature of Massa-

chusetts passed an act authorizing the transfer, wdiich

was formally made on the evening of March 10, 1876.

The title deeds of the property and the keys of the

building were tendered to the city through Mr.

Edmands, president of the Board of Trustees, and the

response was made by Mayor Speare. Addresses were

also made by ex-Mayor Hyde, Messrs. Farlow and

Peirce, and a copy of the remarks intended to have

been made by Mr. Jones, who was unable to be

present, was furnished to the mayor. A code of by-

law.s was adopted by the City Council for the govern-

ment of the library, placing it in the hands of seven

trustees to be elected by the City Council, one from the

Board of Aldermen and one from the Common
Council to serve for their elected terms of office, and

five members chosen at large. The first Board of

Trustees consisted of the following men : Hon. J.

Wiley Edmands, John S. Farlow, Bradford K. Peirce,

D.D., Hon. Julius L. Clarke, and Hon. Jas. F. C.

Hyde, as members at large, and Wm. W. Keith from

the Board of Aldermen, with Wm. I. Goodrich from

the Common Council. At its first meeting the

board elected Hon. J. Wiley Edmands, president

;

Frederick Jackson, superintendent ; Hannah P.
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librarian.

lu 1877 Hull. Allien 8pe»ri>, tlirn inhvor of NewU>n,

i;»rr to thr library *i'.0. DiiriiiR tlit. InJ'nwiiig year

h* iiicrraw-U ihf gill !•> tUKKl, ilc*irin(?.lbia the in-

come from lliewliolf uiuoiint bi> umil for the piir-

thaie of work* u|>on manufaclure* anil the nieihnuic

arti. The Rift was railcil the "Aldi-n Spciire Fund

for the rmmotii f MMnulailuri-s iind the Mechanic

Aria." Thu» the library bii» been enabled to add

many valuable wnrku to the ^fi'"' itatiHfaction and

advuntiiKO of thi*e interested in tlienc branches of

induntry. In 1880 the truHtees received from the

c»tatc of Mr». Lydia M. Jewett a legacy of $.0(10(1, with

which a fund wan entabliched called the "Jewell Art

Fund," and the inccme was to be used for the pur-

chase of works of art, including nurh books as may

not properly be liought willi the regular cily appro-

prinlion. A large copy of Uaphael's Transfiguration

bad been previously received from the executors of the

will, given in conformity with herlate husband's inten-

tion. The library has been able to obtain, through

this fund, a great number of beautiful books and pic-

tures, including a valuable cidlection of five or six

hundred photographs of cculplure from the Italian

galleries. It has also added four massive volumes of

photographs of the English cathedrals. These photo-

graphs were collected in England and mounted by

Miss James, and title pages, elegantly illuminated,

were furnished by the artistic skill of Gen. A. Hun

Berrv, Miss L. P. Merrill and others. Each cathe-

dral has a title page, with ihe coat of arras of the See,

the autograph of the Bishop, ground plan of tliecathe-

dral, etc., thus producing a work unique in design

and execution.

Through the bequest of Charles A. Read, a citizen

of Newton, the library has received yearly, since

1884, about $4(J0, which income is known as the

"Read Fund," and is used for the addition of boolcs

of a general nature. A fourth fund was given to the

library in 1887, through the liberality of John S. Far-

low, president of the Board of Trustees. He has

contributed $5(J0O, the income of which is to be

spent for books for the Reference Library, and the

fund to be called the " Farlow Reference Department

Fund."

In 1881 the Jersey Stock Club, of Newton, pre-

sented to the library a full-length portrait of Hon. .J.

Wiley Edmands, which was hung in Edmands Hall.

The next year the same club made a second gift of a

full-length portrait of George II. Jones, following it

in 1890 by the presentation of the portrait of John S.

Farlow ; thus the library now has portraits of its three

presidents, who have all proved themselves such

warm friends and liberal benefactors of the institu-

tion.

In 188C the Cily Council made an appropriation

for a much-needed enlargement of the library build-

ing, so that. its capacity is now more than double

that of the original building. An excellent reference

department is furnished, a spacious, well-lighted book-

room, an admirably designed librarian's room, also a

room specially intended for teachers from our public

schools and their classes, and on the lower story a

commodious room for a magazine and periodical

reading-room, with a room' exclusively for public

documents. About $25,000 was rtquired for the

additions. The library was closed for three months

in the spring of 1887 while the work was being

completed, and re-opened after the exercises of re-

dedication, on the evening of June 17th. With the

re-opening the library sufl'ered a loss in the with-

drawal of its librarian, Miss James, who had held

her position from the establislinient of the institution,

seventeen years previou-s, and who was thoroughly

identified with it and its progress. She had been a

moving spirit in all the improvements inaugurated,

and largely to her practical judgment is due the

present attractive and convenient building. The

library has always been very fortunate in having

among its officials men ready to devote both money

and time to its service. Its superintendents, George

W. Bacon, Frederick Jackson, Bradford K. Peirce,

D.D., Warren P. Tyler, and John C. Kennedy, have

been dcejily interested in its advancement, and spent

many hours and much labor and thought over its

affairs.

The library shows a steady growth from the begin-

ning in size as well as in usefulness to the commun-

ity. About half the number of volumes circulated

are delivered at the library itself, and the remainder

are distributed through nine agencies in other parts

of the city. As early as 1874, while the institution

was supported by private subscriptions, the practice

was begun cf sending the bookfeto the other villages

once a week at first, and oftener as soon as practica-

ble, until now, 1890, seven w.»rds receive daily a bas-

ket of books, and two others once and twice a week

respectively. The librarian, in 1885, feeling bow
important is a close connection of the library and

the schools, began extending especial privileges to the

teachers of the public schools. Since that time

teachers have been allowed ten books at a time

for the use of their classes, and have availed them-

selves very generally of the opportunity. Works
on history, geography, natural science and constitu-

tional history have been most in demand, and the

teachers are almost unanimous in affirming that the

books have been of inexpressible value to them.

They are usually sent to the schools by the express-

man who carries the books to the agencies. During

the year 1889, 4496 volumes were distributed to the

schools.

The city government makes an annual appropria-

tion for the support cf the library of upwards of

810,000.00. The Board of Management for 1890 con-

sists of John S. Farlow, Julius L. Clarke, Wm. Claf-

liii, A. Lawrence Edmands, Edwin B. Haskell,- mem-
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bers at large; E. S. Hamblen, from tbe Board of

Aldermen ; and Edward L. Collins, from the Com-

mon Council ; John C. Kennedy, superintendent;

Elizabeth P. Thurston, librarian.

The library now contains 30,700 voUimos, and the

circulation during the past year was 10r),2.'i0 books.

Newton Centre Library Association.—The

Newton Centre Library Association was founded in

185!l by "sundry individuals who subscribed out of

regard for the public good," Hon. James F. C. Hyde

being the chief mover in its establishment. The

value of the shares was ten dollars e;ich. Any person,

by paying one dollar and a half per annum or twenty-

five cents per month, was admitted to tiie use of the li-

brary, which was open one afternoon each week. The

officers for 1860 were J. Wiley Edmands, president;

11. W. Turner, vice-president; Chas. L. Fowle, secre-

tary; Jas. F. C. Hyde, treasurer; David 11. Mason,

Leverett Saltonslall, Alvah Hovey, Wm. Callin and

Jas. F. C. Hyde, directors. In 1873 the association, by

vote of the proprietors, merged its library in the

Newton Free Library and presented to it its valuable

collection of books, numbering from fourteen to fif-

teen hundred volumes.

The North Village Library Association.—
The North Village Library Association was instituted

January, 1866, in order " to cultivate better general

intelligence and afford suitable facilities for perusing

valuable books and wisely employing valuable time."

The management was in the hands of eleven officers.

The shares were fixed at fifty cents each, and members

were lequired to pay a monthly fee of ten cents each.

The library was open two evenings in each week, and

nearly four hundred volumes were gathered.

Newton Lower Falls Free Library.—The

Newton Lower Falls Free Library was established in

1809. Rev. R. F. Putnam, rector of St. Mary's

Cliurch, first proposed the formation of a parish li-

brary, but his suggestion met with so ready a response

that the plan was changed and a village library was

organized. Donations of books from private libraries

were received, supplemented by purchases from funds

contributed for the purpose, and the library was placed

in Mr. Pillsbury's apothecary shop under the charge

of Mr. W. W. Jackson as librarian. Mr. Wm. Wai-

lis acted as treasurer, and the management was vested

in a board of trustees,^Judge George White, and

Samuel G. Thaxter being the members in addition to

the gentlemen already named. It contained a very

good selection of works, and additions were made to

it from time to time, either from donations or pur-

chases from contributions. In 1871 there were be-

, tween thirteen and fourteen hundred volumes in the

catalogue. The library was largely used by the inhab-

itants of Wellesley, who contributed liberally to its

support. Its usefulness began to decline when the

Newton Free Library was established, and the system

adopted biter of a free local delivery seemed to render

its continuance unnecessary. At the desire of parties

in Wellesley the trustees agreed to it-s being removed

to that town. On the establishment of the llunne-

well Library the books that had been contributed by

Newton parlies were returned, and are now in the

possession of St. Mary's Parijh. Many of the stand-

ard works are valuable, and will be kept for public

use in the parish library of that society.

Note.—luconnectiou with the foregoing excollotit history- of the TJbrm-

rlee of Newton it may not bo iinprontiibli, to nuiko note of Boine of tlio

Kteps tftltea by tlic enterprising uiul benevolent citi7.4-nti of Newton from

time to time tind wliich led np to the completion of the preAent beautiful

Library Building. Meetings of cili/cliH for mntuiil Improvement weru

lielil at Newton Corner, and on October 20, 186y, u dcflnlto orguniKatloB

wa8 formed under the name of the Newton Debsllng Society. Among
the early members were R. W. Holinnn, F. H. Forbes, H. R. Wetllcrlll,

Wm. D. Thayer, Cbas. Sturtovnnt, J. S. WatBon, S. Chi«m, II. I). Uiimett,

A. G. Browu, John Warner, Wni. Preston. A. U. Kly, Wni. Guild, David

K. Hitchcock, Rev. K. D. Moore, II. L. Viuton, F. W. Pelton, II. M. Ilu-

gar and others. The early meetings ot tbe Society were held in Middle-

sex Hall, but when lliat hall was demolished the jdace of meeting wM
changed to the private residence of Hon. David K. Hitchcock, wliero for

many years the current questions of the day, both Stale and National,

wore ably discussed. At a meeting held February Itj, 18C.'», by u vote of

the Society its name was changed to Tim Ncicton Literary AMOciatioii.

Dr. Hitchcock, who for eight years had been appointed one of the com-

mitteo on tlio examination ot tlie library of Harvard University, became

much interested in the matter of a Free Public Library for Newton, and

frequently at the meetings of the Literary Association urged a consider-

ation of the value of the free system where the public could liave tho od-

vantages to be derived from such a valuable source, ond at the meeting

of March 2, ISGij, he offered, as appears from tho rejmrt of tho secretary

of tbe Association, tbe following resolution :
*' Whf.rras the ancient and

highly favored town of Newton, with all its wealth and enterprise, and

with its rapidly iucreasing population isalike reliuirkable for intelligence,

public spiiit and benevolence, and WnntKAB tho best interests and

claims of the people have in one important particular been overlooked,

therefore llcsohed. That tho town siiould be fninielied with a Free Pub-

lic Library." March l(i, 1S05, a standing committeo on tho subject of a

Free Public Library for Newton was appointed, consisting of Dr. D. K.

Hitchcock, Dr. Henry Bigelow, Geo. W. Bacon, ,Geo. C. Lord, H. M.
Hagar and others, whose duty it was from time to time to bring up the

subject for consideration by the Association and to report progress. As

by tho members of the Association Dr. Hitchcock was considered tho

father of the agitation of this subject, so also was he the one to take the

first definite step towards its fulfillment as attests the following;

" Boston, March 21, 1803.

"This certifies that Hon. David K. Hitchcock has deposited with mo
the sum of one hundred dollai-s towards tho endow ment of a Fret Puilio

Liiirai-y in Newton. The above sum, which is the Jirsl mbKription to-

wanls the object named, is subject to call on demand by the treasurer on

completion of such organization as is necessary for tho safety and oc-

complishnient of the object above named.

" Signed H. D. Bassett, President of the Newton Literary Aseocia*

tion."

This money was paid into the treasury of the Newton Free Public

Library, August 12, 1868.

The standing committee of tlie Association, at a meeting hold March

22, 18R5, decided that the time had come to take steps to Interest tho

general public in the matter of a free library, and Dr. Hitchcock, Dr.

Bigelow and G. W. Bacon were chosen as a committee to secure tlio co-

operation of certain gentlemen of standing and property, enlisting their

support and influence in tho enterprise. A public meeting was held

,\pril, 186.i, at which Hon. D. K. nitclicock was elected chairnuin and

presided. Addresses were made by the president, Governor Bullock,

.Judge Russell and others. Much enthuaiasiu prevailed, and tho

matter of a free library was subsequently taken in hand by the citizens

and carried forward tothedesirt d conBunimation, "The Newton Lite-

rary Association," with its library, being merged in "Tho Newton

Free Public Library."

—

Editor.]
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.. : .ink." It wan I'lMl projeiloii in the

At that lime llirre wan, willi the e.x-

bank at Hrighton, no huch inBtitntion

1 of the county. The idea of elitabli^h•

Xewton M-imii to hav« been first Mig-

lErateU by Jo»e(.h N. It«i'>n, the prwident of the

bank to-day. Sir. Union wii* in 1S47 engaRcd in

• reeling a bii»ine»» bWk at Newton Corner, and it

ociurrtd to bim that, in view of the activity in real

fttatc whi.h wan making itcelf evident in the village,

a bank would be found very useful to a large class of

citizvni*. Thin notion he coniniunicated to hi» friend,

Hon. William J«cki*on.«ho, after some consideration,

became conviiictd that the ncliimo was feasible, and

together they condndid to carry out the project.

It wa» decided lo try to raise a capital of §100,000.

A nirelirg of prominent landowners and investors

wa!» shortly afterward, January, 1848, called at the

r«eidenceof >Ir. Jackiion. At this ineelinfi there

were prestnl, among othe:s, Ciipt. Samuel Hyde, Oils

Peltec, Capt. Joseph Bacon, Benjamin Dana, John

H. Ricliardson, Levi Tliaxtcr, Marshall S. Rice,

Allen C. Curtis, Seth Davis, AmosTenney, Joseph

Jf. Bacon and William Jackson. This meeting

adopt* d the plan Buggtstcd by Messrs. Jackson and

Bacon, and $.32,000 of stock were subscribed on the

pot. This amount wiw within a short time increased

to $42,000, but when this lust poir.t was reached the

subscription seemed to have come to a standstill. By

dint of pernonal solicitation, however, Mr. Bacon,

aided by Mr. Jackson, succeeded, after considerable

diflii ulty, in pushing the figures up to $87,000, some

of the original sul scribtts increasing their amounts

against their nanus now that 'he success of the

enterprise seemed assured.

Meanwhile, the subscribers had been considering

the questions of site, salaries, etc., and it had been

deiided that a separate building isolated in a public

square, if possible, would be most desirable for

safety— for it must be remembered that this was be-

fore the day of time-locks—and the site which the

bank has ever since occupied was selected as best

fitted for a bank building.

The necessary preliminary steps having now been

taken, the subscribers organized as stockholders on

June 21, 1848, meeting in the vestry of the Eliot

Church. The charter was accepted at this meeting,

and the following Board of Directors was chosen:

William Jackson, John 11. Richardson, Joseph

Bacon, Levi Thaxler, Andrew Cole, Allen C. Curtis,

Kingman,

This board
Otia Pettee, Marshall S. Rice, I'liny

Henry B. Williams and Edward Walcott.

of directors met at the same place on June 26th, and

elected Williair. Jackson to be their president. They

also appointed committees to engage a cashier and to

make arrangements for a banking-house. A week

later they voted to erect a building on the present lo-

cation. The work of erection of the banking-house

WHS pushed along very rapidly during the summer, so

that October found the building ready for occupancy,

and on October 10, 1848, the bank opened for business,

and in its own house. Daniel Kingsley, formerly of

the Brighton Bank had Icen cho:-en cashier, and

arrangements were made for procuring clerical as-

sistance.

The bank proved a success from the start. Its cap-

ital, as has been said, was limited to $100,000, which

was fiiiHlly suWribed in full and was all paid in by

November 2, 1848. The first report of the condition of

the bank was made at the directors' meeting of March

2G, 1849, and showed net earnings of $4472. A divi-

dend of three and a half per cent, was accordingly

declared and $972 carried to the reserve fund.

It was in this year of 1849 that a somewhat singu-

lar incident occurred. Two sheets of bills disappeared

most unaccountably. In those days, as in these, the

bank-bills were signed by the president and cashier,

and it was then not unusual for these officers to per-

form this formality at their homes in the evening.

Now it so happened that one night President Jackson,

after signing a bunch of bills, put them under his pil-

low for safe- keeping, but in the morning when he re-

turned the bills to the bank he overlooked two sheets

of them which he had left in his bed. The disap-

pearance of the bills was a deep mystery to the bank

ofTiccrs until some days after, when, on Mr. Jackson's

inquiry, his servant-girl confessed to finding the bills

and ajipropriating them. One of the sheets was re-

covered and the other was charged to profit and loss.

The directors soon after this passed a vote that the

bills should at all times thereafter be signed at the

banking-house.

The second dividend was four per cent., and $2270

was carried to the reserve, and soon after the stock-

holders voted to petition the Legislature for an

increase of capital. This was in October of 1849,

and in April of the following year, an act of Legisla-

ture having been obtained, the directors voted an in-

crease of capital of $50,000. This amount was all

paid in by June 4, 1850.

Business continued good for many years. Between

1849 and 1859 the deposits gradually rose from

$12,000 to $47,000. The amount of paper discounted

also increased largely—from $193,000 in 1849, to $284,-

000 in 1859. During these ten years the semi-annual

dividends were uniformly four per cent., and the re-

serve was constantly growing.

In this period the presidency of the bank twice

changed bands. William Jackson, who had been the
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first president, anil wholiad seen the bank attnin suc-

cess under his eiircriil nianagernent, died in February,

1855, and Hon. Levi Tliaxter was chiisen to fill the

vacancy. Mr. Thaxter's failing health, however, did

not allow him to hold the oUice long, and in the fall

of 1857 he resigned, and Joseph N. Bacon, one of the

original projectors and founders of the bank, was

elected to the presidency, which position he has ever

since held. Mr. IJacon had been a director since

1850, and during Mr. Thaxter's illness had done a

large share of the president's work.

The number of directors had originally been

eleven, but this number was, in 184'J, cut down to

nine, in 1852 to seven, in 1855 to six, and in 1857 to

five. But in 18G0 the number was restored to seven,

and has since remained there.

The Boston business of the bank ba<l for several

years been done through the Suffolk Bank, which was

the depository of most of the New England banks.

But in 1855 the Newton Bank joined in the general

secession of the country banks from the Suffolk, sub-

scribed $5000, and subsequently 12500 more, to the

capital of the new "Bank of Mutual Redemption,"

and in 1858 transferred its deposit to this new insti-

tution.

In this period of the bank's history came ll.e tem-

porary suspension of sjiecie payment, which affected

the whole country in 1857. Money had been tight

for some time and the suspension had been, to a cer-

tain extent, foreseen. On the morning of October

14lh, of that year, Mr. Bacon, the prfsident, went to

Boston as usual to make the exchanges, and on ai'-

riving there learned that the Boston banks were then

deliberating whether to suspend or not. Within an

hour he learned that suspension had been decided

upon. This was before the days of the telegraph and

telephone, and the quickest way to get word out to

Newton was by railroad. There was no train to

Newton for an hour or more, so he took the horse-

car for Watertown, and arrived at the bank ten min-

utes before it closed for the morning, and half an

hour before steam-cars were due. News of the sus-

pension of specie payment by the Boston banks had

not yet reached Newton, so that there had been as

yet no unusual demand at the bank, but the news

was certain to arrive with the train from the city and

unless some action was taken before the re-opening

of the bank at two o'clock, it was sure to be stripped

of its specie during the afternoon. This being the

case, it became necessary to call immediately a meet-

ing of the directors. This was not an easy thing to

do at that time of the day, when most business men
would be in the city; but after some difficulty a

quorum of the Board of Directors was got together in

a special meeting, and just before the bank opened

for business in the afternoon it was voted to suspend

specie payment owing to similar action having been

taken by the city banks. Only one deposit had been

withdrawn that morning in anticipation of ihi.s sus-

pension, and within a few days, when it was seen

that it would be but temporary and confidence was
partially restored, tin-* ileposit was returned into the

bank by its owner. Following again the lead of the

Boston banks, the Newton Bank resumed specie pay-

ment December 17lh of the same year.

From 1859 until the breaking out of the Rebellion

the bank was still more prosperous. After paying a

senii-atinual dividend of four per cent, for ten years,

a dividend of four and one-half per cent, was voted

in March of 1859, and this rate was kept up until

September, 18G1, when it fell oil' to three per cent, for

a time.

The presence of the Civil War is indicated in the

bank records only by temporarily reduced dividends,

and by the following vote, which whs unanimously

passed by the directors on April 18, 1861 : "In view

of the present national emergency, this bank tenders

to the Commonwealtli a loan of $25,000,"— a monu-
ment to the patriotism of the directors and their con-

fidence in the government. During the war, as has

been said, the dividends fell off. Four successive

semi-annual dividends of three per cent, were paid,

but were followed in the fall of 1803 by one of three

and one-hall per cent, and in 18ij4 by dividends of

four per cent.

The National Bank Act of 1SC3 was not regarded

with very general favor by the stockholders, who voted

seventy to sixty-six, not to become a national bank
under its provisions. The act of 1864. however, met
with general acceptance, and in October of that year

the stockholders voted unanimously—ninety-nine

votes being cast—to authorize the directors to take

the necessary steps to become a national bank under

that act. The directors soon after this voted to organ-

ize as a national institution, the articles of association

as a national bank and the organization certificate

were duly signed, and in January, 1865, the cashier

was instructed to forward to the treasurer of the

United States a sufficient amount in United States

bonds to receive $100,000 in national currency. The
" Newton Bank" ceased to exist as such at the close

of business March 31, 1865, and commenced business

as the " Newton National Bank" on the following

day.

The bank now entered upon a long period of great

prosperity. Just at the time of its conversion into a

national institution an extra dividend of eight per

cent, was declared, the balance available for division

having been nearly $27,000. This extraordinary div-

idend was followed by successive semi-annual pay-

ments of five per cent., which continued, with but one

slight interruption, for eleven years, from 1865 to

1876. The only instance in this period when tlie

semi-annual dividend fell beloiv five per cent, was in

March, 1870, the capital having recently been increas-

ed from $150,000 to $200,000. The dividend that

month dropped to four per cent., but the wisdom of

the increase of capital was soon made apparent by
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adtlilional bu«iDf»* Hnd a ppenly return to five per

ctal. iliviiiemla, uu the eul>rg«ti capital.

The back wa» without the serviccn of n regiilitrly
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.• a part of 1874 ami 187').
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in 1«74, »o (liiiablt'd by continufil nickmiut that lie wiut

obliRt-d to give up work. In September of that year,

at the annual meeting, allhouKh ittill without the aer-

viifn ot a cai>hi«r, the directnrit did not elect any one

to take theiMwilion, hoping' that Mr. KiiifjHley might

yet be able to return lo work. Thin nUle of things

iaatetl until the aprini; of 1H7.'., when H. Franklin

Itacun, who as meaaenKer and Inter tut aitsiHtanl cash-

ier, had been connected with the bank from ita be-

ginning waa choaen to take the higher post made

vacant by the prolonged illnciw of Mr. Kingslcy.

Mr. Haci>h has held the position ever since and has

nio»t acceptably tilled the place of his predecessor.

The hiftory of the bank from 1(>76 to the time of

writing, 1890, may be shortly stated. Owing to the

large increase in the number of banks, and the low

rate of interest obtainable, the dividends fell off, as

has been the case with nil banks ; but with a better

rale for loans the earnings and dividends are once
|

more increasing satisfactorily. The bank lin'< never in

its history " passed '' a dividend. The semi-annual
j

payments have run as low as two per cent, and once as

low as one and one-half percent., but they are now

three ptr cent, and the earnings are constantly in-

creasing. The salary expense account has never been

large. On the contrary, in comparison with the

amounts paid the oflicers of similar institutions in the

county, the salaries in the Newton Bank have been

small. When it began business the amount paid

yearly for salaries was $1500. This has been increased

as the business has grown and now amounts to $5300

per annum, this sum paying for the services of the

cashier, president, bookkeeper and messenger. The

banking building has been twice enlarged to meet the

needs of the bank and of the savings institution which

occupies a wing of the same building. The bank's

Boston correspondent is now the Maverick National

Bank.

The statement of the condition of the bank at the

close o( bu!<ine*s March .31, 1890, just prior to the

payment of the last semi-annual dividend of three

per cent., shows the deposits to be $237,291.23 ; dis-

counted notes, $376,094.% ; surplus, $40,000 on capi-

tal of $200,000; circulation, $45,000; dividend No.

60, $6000; and undivided profits, $3164.19.

The Board of Directors is composed as follows :

Joseph N. Bacon, presiilent ; George Hyde, B. Frank-

lin Bacon, Charles E. Hillings, Francis Murdock, W.
Henry Brackett, John R. Farnum.

The First National Bank ok West Newton.—
The credit for the establishment of the First National

Bank of West Newton is due Mr. James H. Nicker-

»on. For a number of years he had carried on at

West Newton a private bank under the name of " The

Exchange Banking Company." The success of this

private enler])rise was so material, .nnd its business

grew 80 rapidly, that he was led to believe that there

was an opening in Newton for another National Bank.

He broached the project to a number of the leading

residents of Newton, and it was received with so much

favor, that he immediately took steps to carry out his

plan. The result of his efforts was, that on January

1, 1887, the " First National Bank of West Newton "

opened its doors. The capital was $100,000, and its

place of business was Nickerson Block, Washington

Street, West Newton.

The first Boardof Directors wasmadeupas follows :

J. E. Bacon, A. L. Barbour, P. C. Bridgham, E. W.

Gate, F. E. Crockett, A. R. Mitchell, J. H. Nicker-

son, George Pettee, C. A. Potter.

The first president of the bank was Mr. James

H. Nickerson, and Mr. Austin R. Mitchell was the

first vice-president, Mr. M. L. Parker was the first

cashier. The same officers and Board of Directors

have been retained to the present time with two ex-

ceptions. Mr. J. E. Bacon, after a service of some-

thing more than a year, resigned from the Board of

Directors, -ind Mr. B. F. Houghton was chosen to fill

his place. Mr. M. L. Parker also resigned his posi-

tion after a time, and Mr. E. P. Hatch now holds that

office.

The bank has been in operation for so short a

period of time, that there is little to say of it except

that it has been transacting a profitable and growing

business. The number of depositors has rapidly in-

creased ; the amount of the deposits at the present

time is about 8200,000; and the increasing trans-

actions of the institution have fully justified the belief

of its projector, that the city of Newton was not only

large enough to maintain two National Banks, but that

the needs of the community required their existence.

The West Newton Savings Bank.— .Soon after

the opening of the First National Bank of West New-
ton, it became apparent to the directors of that insti-

tution that the eitablishment of a Savings Bank
would be of benefit to the community. Steps were

at once taken to secure one, and on March 10, 1887,

Austin R. Mitchell, J. Upham Smith, Fred. E.Crock-

ett, Edward W. Cate and Alfred L. Barbour were

incorporated as the West Newton Savings Bank, with

its place of business at West Newton. The bank
began business May 1, 1887, with the following list

of officers

:

President, Austin R. Mitchell ; treasurer, James
H. Nickerson; clerk, Alfred L. Barbour; trustees,

Austin R. Mitchell, Benj. F. Houghton, Dwight
Chester, Edward L. Pickard, Prescott C. Bridgham,
Samuel Barnard, Fred. E. Crockett, Alfred L. Bar-

bour, Edward W. Cate, Adams K. Tolman, George
Pettee, Lyman K. Putney.

The officers of the bank still remain the same, ex-

I
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cepting that Messrs. Pettee and Putney have retired

from the Board of Trustees, and their places have been

filled by the election of Messrs. 0. F. Eddy and F. E.

Hunter. The business of the bank has been uniformly

successful, the amount of the deposits has reached the

sum of $140,000, and its future growth is no longer

problematical, but is assured.

CHAPTER VII.

NEWTON— ( Continued).

INDUSTRIES AND MANUFACTURES.

BY OTIS PETTEE.

Of the early history of the industries and manu-

factures in the town of Newton, Massachusetts, pre-

vious to the War of the Revolution, or in the Colonial

period of the history of our nation, but little is known

beyond a few traditions and an occasional record, or

from recollections handed down from generation to

generation. Nearly every farm-house had its hand-

cards and spinning-wheels, and foot-power looms for

providing clothing for the families from wool or flax;

and in the long winter evenings the ordinary duties

of farm life would be laid aside, and a miniature fac-

tory put in operation by the good housewives and

daughters, before the blazing fires of winter upon the

hearth, to spin and to knit or weave the fabrics for

the next season's wear ; while the sires and the sons

would be engaged at the bench, in their little work-

shops, making and repairing their farming tools for

spring time and summer's work; or very likely some

of them were employed in making boots and shoes or

other articles required to make the household comfort-

able.

The increase in the population of the Colonies

brought with it a corresponding increase in the labor

of producing supplies to meet the demands. The en-

ergies of the early settlers were of necessity put forth

to provide shelter, food and raiment for themselves,

and a comfortable protection for their cattle and im-

plements of husbandry. While the many were en-

gaged in agricultural pursuits, a few who were

endowed with mechanical ingenuity and inventive

powers turned their attention towards better and more

rapid and convenient facilities for simplifying the

means of production. Power saw-mills were built to

take the place of the old hand-pit saw and hewer's

axe. Grist-mills displaced the mortar and pestle for

grinding corn. Large factory buildings fitted with

power machinery sprang up here and there, for the

spinning and weaving of cotton and woolen fabrics,

thus assigning the spinning-wheel with spindle and

distaff to some quiet nook in the farmer's garret,

nevermore to be disturbed by the nimble and cunning

hands that used them.

In rambling over the town of Newton, and visiting

the old historic spots, we find sufficient evidence to

warrant the assertion that Newton can well and truly

be placed in the front ranks of progress in manufac-
turing industries, although but little was done during

the Colonial period, beyond the erection of a few saw
and grist-mills and forges.

The ruins of an old grist-mill a little to the north

of the territorial centre of Newton, and quite near the

junction of Walnut and Mill Streets (formerly known
as Mill Lane), indicates very nearly the spot where the

first power-mill stood. This mill was built on Smelt
Brook by Lieutenant .John Spring, in 1604, for grind-

ing corn and other grains. Mr. Spring was an Eng-
lishman by birth, and very early in life came to this

country with his parcnt.s, who !-ettlcd in Watertown,

where he is supposed to have resided uniil he removed

to Newton .about the time he built the mill. He was

an energetic man of more than ordinary ability. In

addition to his occupation as a miller, he served the

town as selectman, representative in the (ieneral Court

a number of years, and sealer of weights and meiisures

;

and in various other ways made himself a valuable

and honored citizen of the town of his adoption.

The precise length of time that Mr. Spring operated

his mill solely on his own account is uncertain.

There is a record previous to 1090 of the transfer of

the property to John Spring, Jr., John Ward, Jr.,

Thomas Park and Captain Isaac Williams, each a

quarter part. In the settlement of the Thomas Park

estate in 1694, his part was set ofl' to his son Edward.

In the division of Captain Williams' estate in 1708

his son Isaac received his share, who sold it to his

brother Ephraim in 1722. John Ward, Jr., by will

in 1727 gave his portion to his daughter's husband,

Deacon William Trowbridge, who by will in 1744

gave it to his son, Thaddeus Trowbridge. In 1777 the

property passed into the hands of Captain Eiward
Trowbridge. It is impossible to obtain the names of

all parties engaged in the mill. A Mr. Brigham and

his son George ran the mill in the early part of the

present century. Their successors were Mr. John

Bullough, Messrs. White & Bullough, Mr. John Jen-

nings, Mr. Brackett Lord and probably others. This

mill being the largest one in town, and centrally

located, had a large share of the patronage. It con-

tained two sets of mill-stones, a corn-cracker, and

other apparatus for doing a large business.

The scarcity of water in the mill-pond in dry sea-

sons prompted the owners of the mills to negotiate

with the land-owners abutting upon the northerly side

of Wiswall's Pond (now Crystal Lake), a short distance

southerly and upon a higher level than the mill

pond, to open a small canal from that pond to the

mill-pond brook, as a feeder to supply the deficiency.

This incroachment upon their rights caused the

owners upon the other side of the Wiswall Pond to

rebel, and after a few years the feeder wiis discontin-

ued and filled up again.
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j

was owned by Mr. David Richardson, a blacksmith

Knghton line.

Ham.iiond's Pond, in the easterly part of Newton,

is the most e'evated sheet of water in the town. It

has an area of about twenty acres, and is one hundred

•nd siity (t't above tide water. Palmer Brook, somc-

timi-s called Pond Hn.ok, the principal outlet to this

lakelet, flows in a southeasterly direction through n

large tract of flat, swampy land localized as Trouble-

some .'^wanip. (treat Itnld-pate Meadow, Little Bald-

pate Miadow and Stake Meadow (which derived its

nami- from a stake or wooden poi-t driven there to de-

tine an angle formed by boundary lines between New-

Ion and Hrookline.) From thence the brook winds

its way on to the Charles River. In the seasons of

high water there is an overflow from Hammond's

Pond westward to .Smelt Brook, near the grist-mill of

Mr. John Spring. Bald-pate and Oak Hills border

the mead iw on the sonth,ftnd were once covered with

a heavy growth of timber; in fact, the whole region

thereabouts was n dense forest. The growing demand

for manufactured lumber brought this wealth of tim-

ber lands into the market, and in the year 168.3 Mr.

Erosniond Drrw, an energetic young man of Irish

parentsge, purchased a large tract of land near the

foot of Ilalil-pate Hill, lying partly in the town of

Brooklinc, and partly in Newton, and built a saw-

mill and water-power just about on the boundary

line between the two towns. His mill pond over-

flowed a co.isiderable portion of the meadow lands in

that vicinity. There are no records or traditions that

impart any knowle.lge of the anionnt of business done

by .Mr. Drew, but he undoubteJiy had a ready mar-

ket for all the lumber that he could furnish.

In the year 1720 Mr. Drew conveyed his mills to

Nathaniel Parker, who continued the business already

so well established by his predecessor. In addition

to the timber cut upon their own lands, there can be

by trade, and having a fo'ge upon his premise?. It is

possible that he built the dam to obtain water-power

to drive a haminermiU, or bloomery in connection

with his forge, but history fails to inpart any positive

information in that direction. There is, however,

traditionary evidence of there once being a saw-mill

upon that spot.

A mile and a half farther on our tr;ul brings us to

the Charles River—the Quinobequin of the Indians

—at the Upper Falls ; and as we stand upon the brink

of the falls, and view the narrow gorge between the

bluffs of rugged rocks that tower above us on either

side, between which the river tumbles and rolls on its

way to the ocean, and contemplate the primitive

grandeur of this,—one of the most charming and

picturesque spots in Eastern Massachusetts,—we can-

not wonder that the Indians selected these bluflfs as a

])Iace of rendezvous. It was here they built an eel-

wier of large stones across the channel to entrap the

(ish as they came down the stream. It was here, too

they built a stone hoiise, with thatched roof, for the

double purpose of a shelter, and a place for preparing

their game and fish upon the bare rocks around them.

This place evidently was the ideal of the Indians, for

when they sold their rights in the land to the white

men, they reserved this spot fjr the sole use of their

race, together with the rock house, and game-drying

grounds, absolute and forever. The natural fall in

the river at Upper Falls is about twenty-six feet, and

is divided into two sections of filteen and eleven ftet

respectively, by dams about a hundred rods apart.

In the year 1G88, Mr. John Clark, of Watertown,

])nrchased a large tract of land bordering upon the

Charles River at the Upper Falls, in Newton. His
purchase included the water-power of the river, and
the right to build mills there; and before the end of

the year he built the upper dam across the river, and
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erected a saw-mill,—thus inaugurating one of the

principal manulacturing industries of the town. He
died in KiOo, and by will gave his mill, wiih eight

acres of land adjoining, to his two sons, John and

William Clark. In May, 1708, John Clark 2d con-

veyed one-quarter part of the saw-mill and water

privilege, with half an acre of land to Mr. Nathaniel

Parker, for twelve pounds sterling. A short time

afterwards Mr. William Clark conveyed a quarter

part of the mill to Nathaniel Longley. The^'e

sales made Messrs. John Clark, William Clark,

Nathaniel Parker and Nathaniel Longley equal

owners in the mill property. The new com-

pany increased their business by enlarging the

mill building, and adding a grist-mill and fulling-

mill. 'A lulling mill is a mechanical device to thicken

or shrink woolen cloths by the use of fuller's earth

and water and by the same operation any oiiy sub-

stances that may be in the wool are extracted. The

goods to be fulled are laid in a trough partially filled

with water, and fuller's earth, and pounded by a

system of ]iounders or beetles arranged perpendicu-

larly over the trough, which are lifted and dropped

alternately by means of a series of revolving cans

placed in a horizontal shaft, in a manner that will

allow the beetles to drop upon the cloth as it lies sub-

merged in the water. Fuller's earth is a variety of

lithomarge, which is a valuable absorbent for extract-

ing oils used in the manufacture of wool. It is com-

posed of aluminum, silex, oxide of iron, magnesia

and other chemicals, which impart to it a diversity of

color; and it is rapidly dissolved in water to a very

fine powder.

Between the years 1717 and 1725 the several

owners of the mill property conveyed their entire in-

terest to Mr. Noah Parker, son of Nathaniel Parker.

And in 1725 Mr. Noah Parker sold his fulling-mill,

with one-quarter of an acre of land, for one hundred

and tweniy pounds in bills, to Mr. Samuel Stowell, of

Watertown, upon the condition that Mr. Stowell, his

heirs or assigns, were never to build any other than a

fulling-mill upon this land: and that Mr. Parker or

his heirs or assigns were never to build a fulling-mill

on the adjoining lot, under a forfeiture of one hun-

dred pounds, for violation of contract.

There is no record of any change being made,

either in the mills or the ownership, until the time of

the death of Mr. Noah Parker, in 17G8. Of these gen-

tlemen but very little is known beyond their business

abilities. The Middlesex Court records inform us

that Mr. Joseph Bartlett sued Mr. John Clark for

pulling down a frame house, and received judgment
against him in the sum of one pound and fourteen

shillings sterling. Mr. Nathaniel Parker served the

town as selectman in 1716. Mr. Nathaniel Longley,

perhaps, was more identified with the public weal

than any of the others. He was a member of the

School Committee in 1721, a selectman in 1725 and
also a member of a committee appointed by the town

to assign the seats and pews in the meeting-house to

the parishioners, according to their rank or station in

sociely.

In the year 17G8, Mr. Thomas Parker, eldest son of

Noah Parker, was ai)pointed by the Probate Court as

administrator of his father's estate. In 1771, Thomas
Parker conveyed to Jonathan Bixby, a blacksmith by

trade, one-quarter of an acre of land, with water

privilege and right to build a scythe-mill, and operate

a power trip-hammer and bellows for the same. The
.same year Mr. Bixby granted to Mr. Parker the free

liberty of erecting fulling-mills upon his own land

adjoining the mill-pond, with a free u.se of the stream
;

also a right of way past the scythe factory to get to

his mills.

Mr. Thomas Parker was a leading and honored cit-

izen of the town, an influential member of tlie Board

of Selectmen for three years, and occupied a seat as

Representative in the Great and General Court of the

Commonwealth for six years. He was an active mem-
ber of the Baptist Church, and made himself gener-

ally useful in the society in which he dwelt.

In the autumn of 1778, General Simon Elliot, a

wealthy merchant and tobacconi'st of Boston, pur-

chased a portion of the factory property belonging to

Mr. Thomas Parker, for 300 pounds, lawful money,

and built a snufT-mill. Four years later, in 1782, Mr.

Elliot bought the balance of the Parker mills prop-

erty, including water privilege and all other rights

thereto belonging, for the sum of 1400 pounds, law-

ful silver money, and enlarged his facilities for man-
ufacturing snuff to four mill buildings, containing

twenty mortars for crushing the tobacco leaf. Mr.

Elliot took up his residence in Newton, and lived in

the Noah Parker house. He purchased large tracts

of land upon both sides of the Charles River, and

built a farm-house, barus, cider-mill and other build-

ings requisite to carry on the farming business. The
snuff-mills gave employment to quite a number of

workmen, under the supervision of Mr. John Clough,

of German nativity,—a professional snuR-maker.

Under the United States excise laws, enacted in

1798, Mr. Elliot was assessed and paid a direct tax to

the government on lands and mill property valued at

$8730. He also held by appointment a major-gener-

al's commission in the State militia. It is said that

in the year 1800 but three family carriages were

owned in Newton, and one of them belonged to Gen-
eral Elliot.

In January, 1809, Mr. Jonathan Bixby, for a con-

sideration of ninety dollars, paid by General Simon
Elliot, conveyed to him three undivided ninth parts of

his privilege to turn one or more grindstones by water-

power at the iron-mill, a few rods below the snuff-

mill property.

The early part of the present century witnessed a

marked change in the textile manufacturing interests

ofthe country. The work, already so well commenced
in previous years, was rapidly extended by building
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.V wo. .g.in i.r«- ^ and owned a small thread-factory in his native town

before he engaged with the Elliot Company, m 1823.

1„ So..mi^r. 18H.CJ,uer.l Elliot *,ld hi. entire The lin.i.ed facilities for procuring machinery from

„ I, ro ..rtv . the l>,.rr F.n,. c««.i..i»g of four -hops already establishe.l caused considerable delay

.»u r m. I .:nc.Kri..-n>'ll'l. one wire-n-ill. . sorew-fuc i in .he completion of .heir factory
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so the company
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and build a portion of .he mach.nery themselves.

LJrr -i.h fif.v.«.v... «. r., of land, tenement- !
and with .he addition of a brass foundry, they were

,

,1 M privileges .here.o enabled to make castings for the more delicate parls.

M , .V Thomas 11 IVrkins,
i

Karlv in the seiuson of 1824 the hum of the spindle

mrrebMiU of H-lon. ...r .he round sum of twenty
!

and the clashing of the loom testified to the outside

tbouaaiid dollara. The object of their purchase was

to build imnudiatrly a flntt-claaa cotton-factory of six

thouund npindle capacilv, for making sheetings. . ,./..,
Hut iHlore the..e gentl.-men had matured their plan I process of manufacturing these goods is performed by

of ..p,-ru.ioM. the rnile.1 hl.ates Congresi enac.ed water-power machinery, which makes them more

taritV law* ativrrsr .o .he iii.erest of home manufac

world that they were in full operation, making Miirty-

six inch wide sheeting. We copy from a label placed

upon the cloth as it is baled for market :

" The whole

turers. and by so doing openwl .he market .o foreign

c«m|>^tl.on>. and .be overwhelming inllux of goods

from abroad brought wi'h it a corresponding stagna-

tion of businewi at home ; and the Messrs. Perkins

|>t»t[>oned their factory enterprise until a better mar-

ket could be secured. -Vl the end of seven years

there wa-t a ht?altby improvement in the market, and

work wa» once more resumed upon the manufactory.

For the purpose of iucieasirig .heir capi.al and busi-

neas, .bey ob.aincd »o act of incorporation from the

(ieneral Court in the spring of 182.3, under the cor-

porate name of .he Klllot .Manufatluring Company

—

for the purpoSf of manufaciuriiig cot.on-goods at

Newton, in .he coun.y of Middlesex—with a capital

not exceeding three hundred and thirty thousand

dollars. The new company organized by electing

Mr. Thomas H. Perkins, president ; George H. Kuhn,

pj<]., of Boston, as treasurer; and Mr. Frederick

Cabot, as resident agent. The directors employed

Mr. Otis Pettce .o nupcrintend .lie mechanical de-

partmen. of their factory. Mr. I'e.tee was a native

of the town of Foxboro', Massachusclls, and a son of

Mr. Simon Petlee. Very early in life he exhibited a

remarkable interest in mechanical works, and even in

infancy this development was apparent. His father

—a man of superior juilgnu-nt and ability, and en-

dowed wi.h grea. inven.ive powers—was a blacksmith

by trade, and carrit-d on an vxlensive bu-iness in Fox-

boro'. During the War of 1812 he wils employed by

the United .St«tc« Government to manufacture imple-

ments of warfare. His son Otis, then a youth of six-

teen or seventeen summers, was particularly inter-

ested in the various designs and mechanisms of the

articles to he made, and rendered valuable assistance

to bis father in the work-shops. His education was

limited to .he advan.ages of .he ordinary district

schools of his town, arithmetic being his favorite

study. .While he took a greit interest in luecbt-.nical

even and uniform than can be done by hand, and

every piece warranted perfect." From twenty to

twen.y-five yards of cloth a day per loom was a fair

production, for machinery sixty years ago was not

run upon the high pressure principle of the present

day ; and when we compare the time required for a

day's work then, with the hours of labor now, we can

truly say that the machiuery of other days ran at a

very moderate speed.

In order that the reader may make a comparison

between old rules governing a day's work and the

rules laid down at the present time, we will give a

copy of an old poster that occupied a conspicuous

place in each department of a well-regulated manu-

factory, viz.: "Machinery will be put in motion at

five o'clock in the morning, from March twentieth to

September twentieth, and all workmen or operatives

are required to be in their places ready to commence
work at that hour. A half-hour is'allowed for break-

fast—from half-past six to seven. At twelve o'clock

three-quarters of an hour is allowed for dinner, and

at seven o'cU.'ck in the evening the day's labor will

end. From September twentieth, during the winter

months, to March twentieth, breakfast will be taken

before commencing work, and the wheels will be

started at early daylight In a clear morning ; cloudy

or dark mornings artificial light will be used ; the

dinner hour the i-ame as in the summer ; the afternoon

run will continue until half-past seven in the even-

ing, with the exception that Saturday's work will end
with the daylight." These rules were not limited to

any particular class of industries, but were general

throughout the land.

Lighting up day in September would be ushered in

with a kind of gloomy, funereal aspect by the work-
men. While, on the other hand, blowing-out time
in March would be greeted with much joy and a deal
of good humor. Frequently the old jacket-lamps
would be sent hurling through the workshops by
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some over-jubilant workmen, while others might be

seen going out of an open window or under a bench,

and the day's jubilee end with a grand " blow-out"

ball in the old tavern hall or some oilier convenient

place, and be kept up until the wee sma' hours of the

morn.

After awhile the question of reduction of service

was agitated, and workmen asked that twelve hours

be considered as a day's work, and in process of time

the request was granted, only to be followed by agi-

tating the eleven-hour system. At the end of a more

protracted consideration by the employers this request

was granted, with the proviso that there should be no

more agitation of the hours-of-labor question. It re-

quired but a comparatively short time, however, to

lose sight of all compromises, and the question came

up anew, and more vigorous than before, demanding

that ten hours must be recognized as the maximum
time for a day's work. The arguments advanced

were that the laboring classes needed more time for

reading and study to improve their minds. At length

the ten-hour rule was adopted, and all was quiet again.

But now the working people are as anxious and earn-

est to bring about an eight-hour system, and even

more so than were the agitators of a twelve-hour sys-

tem fifty years ago. TIais is simply a matter of his-

tory, and is incorporated here without comment or

criticism.

Previous to 1840 the best mechanics or skilled

workmen would command a dollar and a half per

day, and others a less price, according to their

rank as workmen ; apprentices usually a half-dollar

per day for the f3rst year, seventy-five cents per day

for the second year, and a dollar per day for the

third year ; and when we consider the number of

hours required for a day's work then, as compared

with the present time (1890), it will be looked upon

as a very moderate compensation. In many ways

the cost of living was less; good board and lodging

at regular lodging-houses could be had at two dollars

per week for men, and for boys, at a dollar and a half

per week. The aim of very many of the family men
was to procure a small lot of land and build them-

selves a comfortable little home, and cultivate a small

garden-patch for table use in its season; and in many
other ways a family could save a trifle here and there,

and have a few dollars left from their yearly earnings

to lay aside for support in their old age.

About the year 1824 there was a great demand for

thread. The Elliot Company had completed their Mill

No. 1, and were putting in foundations for Mill

No. 2. The growing pressure for thread induced

them to fill the new factory with thread machinery.

Mr. Pettee had previously made thread in a small

factory of his own at Foxboro', and was thor-

oughly familiar with the details of the business. The
labor of building the requisite machinery was pressed

forward to the utmost to complete the mill, and the

next year the thread Jactory was doing a thriving

business, the company finding a ready market for all

the thread they couid make. Other manufacturing

companies started the thread business simultaneously

with the Elliot Company, and in accordance with

true Yankee enterprise, it took but a very few years

to overstock the market and fill up the shelves and

store-houses with large stacks of thread. Meantime,

the market for sheetings, that had been dull for a con-

siderable time past, rapidly increased and prices ad-

vanced. The Elliot Company were divided as to the

best coui-se to pursue, but at length concluded there

never would be any further demand lor thread, and

their success in manufacturing was in the loom, rather

than in the thread-twister. Mr. Pettee was di-sposed

to look farther into the future than the stockholders of

the company and advised them not to disturb their

thread-mill, for there surely would be a greater call for

thread in the near future than there had ever been

before. The company, however, were very decided

in their conclusions to discontinue the thread busi-

ness, and gave orders to take out the machinery and

replace it with looms. This change of machinery

consumed nearly a year's time, and when it was just

about half completed there was a loud call for thread

again. Ware-houses were cleared and shelves made
vacant, and thread-makers urged to a greater produc-

tion. It was now that the Elliot Company waked up

to a realization of their mistake in not listening to

the advice of their mechanical men ; but it was too

late, and their only alternative was to complete the

alterations already so far advanced ; and by the time

they were ready to weave in Mill No. 2 the market

was dull for sheetings.

After the Elliot Company had completed the ma-
chinery for their own use they were prepared to build

for other parties; in fact, they already had filled a few

small orders from neighboring factories at Dedham,
Waltham and other places. About this time the

Jackson Company were building a large factory in

Nashua, New Hampshire, and entered into negotia-

tions with the Elliot Company for machinery. On
account of the magnitude of the job and the limited

time allowed to complete the work, the directors hesi-

tated in deciding whether to undertake to do it or not.

Mr. Pettee was sanguine as to their ability to fill the

contract in a satisfactory manner and within the speci-

fied time; still the directors hesitated. Meantime Mr.

Pettee canvassed the country for material and work-

men, and found that there would be no delay in that

direction, urged the company still more earnestly to

undertake the work, which they at last reluctantly

decided to do. Unfortunately for the company there

had been a little friction in the management, which
still existed to a moderate extent. There is no doubt

but that this element had many times been a barrier

to more prompt actions in the board; and when we
consider the contingencies attending such an under-

taking, at a time when the facilities for accomplish-

ing it were anything but reliable, we may not be sur-
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time had already elapsed, with very little apparent

proRfn* in the work, while the real advance was

aloioat niarvelou". Urawinnn and designs had been

perfected and patterns made ; and in the foundries

for c*«ting» at Walpole, l"oxbur»u>;h and Eiiston,

lumber, bar-iron and other commodilie.s ordered from

Prjvidence and elsewhere, and in Iramilu. Such was

the condition of things when the company became

• larmetl at the prospect before them, and called a

|ie«ial meeting to take council together us to the best

courie to purnue. The same element that retarded

acticin at the commencement was still more decided

that work could not be done, and so a vote was

panted to cancel their obligations with the Jackson

t'onipany. >lr. I'ellee laid the whole matter before

them, it.sisting that the work was really progressing

rapidly, and couUl be accomplished—but to no avail.

And for the lime being, he took the responsibility

U[x>n hinm-lf and carried il through to completion,

•atisfactnrily to the .luikson Company, as the follow-

ing inscription upon a silver service presented to him

by them will testify :
" Presented to Otis Pettee by

the Jackson Company, in token of their approbation

of the machinery he built for their mills in the year

1831."

There had been for a long lime a growing necessity

among ojtton manufacturers fir improvements in

«p«ederi, or roving machinery. Mr. Pettee turned his

whole attention to the end that this long- needed im-

provement should be brought about, and it at lengih

led him to the discovery of a process of making rov-

iog, or roping, a* it is called, upon thoroughly scien-

tific principles, which were based upon mathematical

calculations. This process required a machine in

which any desirable change in the velocity of some
of \l» parts C'luld be automatically produced without

changing the velocity of other parts of the same
machine. To illustrate : the top rollers of a roving

frame wiil deliver to the flyer a given number of

yards of roving in a given time, and by a tube in the

bow of the flyer, it is conveyed to an aperture mid-

way between the top and bottom of the same, where

it pas-es out and is wound upon a spool. The twist

in the roving is regulated by the velocity of the flyer.

.S„ far ill the proce34 of making roving, the motions

are arbitrary and of uniform speed. The spool upon

which the roving is wound traverses up and down

alternately within the bows of the Jlyers to receive

the roving as it passes our, from the aperture

already mentioned. This traverse motion of a spool

upon a spindle is slow and variable. The rotating

velocity of the spool when empty must be adjusted

80 as to wind the roving upon it in precisely the same

time it is delivered to it from the flyer; otherwise it

would stretch or kink, or pull apart, as the case may

be. The traverse motion must always be arranged to

lay the delicate roving side by side. Now, as the

diameter of the spool is increased by the layers of

roving coiled upon it, the velocity of the spool must

be decreased in proportion to the increasing diameter

in order that the surface, whatever the diameter may

be, shall always retain a uniform speed ;
while, at the

same time, the speed of the traverse motion must

correspondingly decrea-e. To produce all of these

combinations and variations by a gear, cone or

double speeder, with gears in hyperbolic series, was a

mathematical problem that taxed the inventor's brain

to the utmost for more than three years to solve ; and

when it was perfected and put into practical use it

proved to be the crowning eflbrt of his life, and was

pronounced by one of the most celebrated practical

philosophers and engineers of this country to be

absolutely perfect; and he added that its principles

are eternal, and can never be improved upon so long

as the world stands.

The old method of producing similar results with

treacherous leather belts moving upon conical

drums, was superseded in this invention by inflexible

metallic gear-work, and with the mathematical pre-

cision thus only attainable, all the relative move-

ments, with all the changes in series by variables, de-

pendent upon other changes in series by VAriables,

necessary to spin and coil on spools the delicate rov-

ings, of whatever fineness.

The first one of Mr. Pettee's letters patent for his

speeder bore the date of March 15, 1825, as for " a

new and useful improvement for producing any re-

quired change in the velocity of machinery while in

motion, etc." Other improvements were covered by
patents granted a few years later. This improved
double-speeder went into general use by nearly all

cotton manufacturers—in fact, it was about the only

one used for the next twenty-five years following its

invention.

Before the end of the year 183-1 Mr. Pettee left the

employ of the Elliot Company, and started the cotton

machinery business on his own account. He built

extensive works, about a half-mile distant, in a south-
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easterly direction from the Elliot factory. At the same

time the Elliot Company discontinued the machine

busiiuss, and gave their undivided attention to cotton

manufacliire, and sold (heir ^hop equipment to Mr.

Pettee. The demand for niatbinery iic m all parts

of the country kept the nsw works continually sup-

plied with orders, and this establishment became one

of the foremost in New England. An iron foundry

was added to the "plant," and the first cast made on

7th day of August, 1837. While his geared double-

speeder was a specialty of these works, the proprietor

was prepared to furnish any and all machinery used

in the manufacture of cotton, from the opener to the

loom.

Although the workshops, when built, were ccnsid-

ered ample to acconimodate all of the business that

would be likely to come to them, time developed a

different result. Large additions had to be made from

year to year, and within five years after commencing

operations the principal shop building had reached

to the length of 365 feet; and the greater portion of

it was three stories in height. With the exception of

the foundry buildings and patterns, all the entire

works were destroyed by fire, during a fierce southerly

gale, on the evening of November 25, 1839, entailing

a loss of nearly $100,000, which was partially covered

by insurance. As soon as the embers had cooled off,

work was commenced on reconstruction, and by the

end of six weeks' time wheels were again in motion,

but not to so great an extent as before the fire.

In the year 1832 the Elliot Company discarded a

large portion of their old machinery and replaced it

with new and improved machinery, and by so doing

were enabled to make sheetings at a less cost per yard

than before. A part of the new machinery was pur-

chased in Paterson, N. J., and the balance of it from

Mr. Pettee.

A long way back in the history of the Colonies

there was an eflbrt made by parties in interest on the

Neponset Kiver to divert a portion of the Charles

Kiver water in that direction, as a feeder to that nver.

By what authority or by whose order this was done

there seems to be no record.

About half a mile eastward from Dedham Court-

House a ditch was opened across the meadows towards

East Dedham and Hyde Park. And when parties

were interviewed in relatiou to it, the only reply to it

would be that the draining of the meadows was a

necessity to the land-owners. There is a record, in

1G39, in which it is ordered that a ditch shall be dug
through the upper Charles meadow into East Brook

(now Mother Brook) for a partition fence and also for

a water-course to supply a mill there. Little by little

the ditch became widened and deepened as more fac-

tories were built upon it. Meantime the manufac-

tories along the river in Newton and Waltham be-

came alarmed at the prospect before them by this

diversion of the water from its natural flow in the

Charles River. Litigation and ill feeling followed

the line of this encroachment upon their rights, and

not until a lapse of more than two hundred years

a ter the first act was done was the vexed question

settled in the courts, ordering water-gauges to be

[ilaced both in the river and Mother Brook, allowing

the former to receive two-thirds, and the latter the

remaining third, thus legalizing a wrong that should

never have been inflicted upon the legitimate busi-

ness of the river owners. For these reasons, and
from a system of drainiige that was gradually going

on, conducted by the farmers, to reclaim their mea-

dow lands and swamps bordering upon the river,

the water-power annually decreased in value, so

that by the year 1836 the Elliot Manufacturing Com-
pany was obliged to put in a powerful steam-engine

for an auxiliary power to bridge over a dry seasou.

The fluctuations in prices and sales of cotton fab-

rics had a tendency to arouse the diversity of opin-

ions which had so long existed in the management of

the company's business; this variance finally resulted

in the stockholders voting, in 1839 or '40, to purchase

no more cotton, but to work up what they had on

hand, in bale, and in process of manufacture—close

their books in liquidation, and sell their property.

The loss of the machine-shops by fire in 1839 and
the closing of the cotton factory in the spring of 1840

had a damaging efliect upou the village people who
were dependent upon them for a livelihood. How-
ever, this embarrassment proved to be but temporary,

for Mr. Pettee had already built large workshops to

replace the burnt ones, and in September of 1840 he

purchased the entire cotton factory property, and put

it in operation under the title of " Elliot Mills;"

and once again, all wheels were in motion and the

community made happy.

At this time the demand for print cloths was suffi-

cient to warrant the changing of machinery from the

broad sheeting loom to the calico width, and at the

same time enlarge the factory buildings and put ia

additional machinery sufficient to nearly double the

jiroductive capacity of the mill, by these changes.

Two hundred and fifty-two new looms were placed in

a single room, and all driven from below instead of

the usual method of belting down to them from lines

of shafting overhead. This system presented a very

neat and attractive appearance to the beholder, and

the room was reputed to be the largest of its kind in

New England ; and when in full operation would

weave 60,000 yards of cloth per week.

About the year 1835 or '36 the Mexican Republic

interested itself in the work of encouraging home
manufactures, by enacting stringent excise laws that

wouldalu'.ost prohibit the importation of foreign goods

that could be made from raw material fouud within

its borders ; and by the same acts left their ports open

for free admission of the requisite machinery and
other apparatus necessary for establishing the various

industries that might be carried on within their own
limits. This enactment was intended to encourage
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Karly io the .pring of 1S37 Mr. Whiting started

frt.m the city of Tepic near the wewtern coast of Mex-

ico, to fulfill hi« min-ion. and after a two months'

journey he rr.-.ive«i a cordial welcome from the loved

oD.-« under the roof of the old homotead, in the town

of Dover, M«iwncliu»ctl«,—once more to breathe his

native uir, and tread his way over old and familiar

highwayii and bywaya, as he was wont to do in the

day. of bis rhildhiwd.

After viKiling mont of the principal factories in

New Knglanil, he left his order for machinery with

Mr. Oti!- I'ett«e, of Newton, to execute. The sub-

lance of the i-ontract was embodied in a very few

words, to wit: " We want machinery that will produce

seven hundred and fifty yards of sheeting per day, of

about No. 16 yarn,—including all of the supplies of

whatever kind, to put it in operation,—water-wheels

and shafting, plans for factory buildings, window-

franien, •a.'«lu-< and glaiw, door frames and doors, etc.

The buildings are to be built of adobe, or mud-bricks,

dried in the open air, ah is the custom in hot climates.

The machinery when finished must be taken apart

and securely packed in strong boxes, to be shipped

rirt Cai>e Horn and the Pacific coast to Port San Bias;

and »o far a« possible the gros^ weight of each pack-

age not to exceed one hundred and seventy-five

pounds, for convenience in transportation upon mules'

backs from the port of entry to the factory at Tepic,

• dlilance of about sixty miles." While the machin-

ery was building. Mr. Whiting spent considerable

lime in the workMhop in order to familiarize himself

with the details of construction, which he considered

would be of valuable service to him in after life. Upon

his return to Tepic he took with him a number of

men experienced in the art and mystery of manufac-

turing cotton, t<i have the supervision of the several

departments of the factory, and to instructthe natives

bow to apin and weave cotton by power machinery,

r^ their onlvknowledgeofthebusinessup to that time

„..u, li-uited to the hand-work done at home

By this experiment of Messrs. Barron, Forbes & Co.

theearlv history of cotton manufacture in the Mexi-

can Republic i«a.ssociated with the industries of ^ew-

ton About five years later the same company built

another factory for carding and spinning vvarps to

.upply a demand from country towns and liirming

comm'unities for hand-weaving.

Mr Whitim?, in a letter to Mr. Pettee, dated Feb-

ruary 1848, says, "So far we have done very well

with our factory, but I am afraid our harvest is nearly

over. The state of the country is such at this time

as to induce the belief that no business will prosper

much longer. The last two years have been the best

we ever had,—not because our manufactured articles

have sold better, for the price has fallen,—but because

we have got our cotton on better terms, as well as of

better quality. In 1846 we made $113,419.82, and in

1847, §180,331.17; and since we commenced work we

have cleared $873,077.12 ; and this has nearly all been

made by the first machinery. We did wrong in put-

ting in spinning. We should have followed your ad-

vice, and put in the same kind of machinery as the

first,' with more looms, and then we should have made

more money."

The venture of this company was closely watched

and studied by moneyed men throughout the Repub-

lic, and as soon as their succe-is was made known,

other companies were formed and more factories

built. The first one to follow Messrs. Barron, Forbes

& Co. was a perman gentleman from Durango, a Mr.

Stahlknecht, who ordered machinery from Newton in

1839. He afterwards built another factory in Tunal.

The last time he visited Newton, he remarked that he

had given up the cotton manufacturing business, as

he was quite too near the Texan frontier, and goods

were run over into their country. Eighteen cents per

yard was all he could get for his cloth and it cost

him thirteen cents per yard to manufacture it, and

five cents profit on a yard did not pay. What

will our new New England manufacturers say to

that?

A company was organized in Guadalajara in 1840,

under the corporate title of the Guadalajara Spinning

and Weaving Campany, and they sent their treasurer,

Mr. .lohn M. B. Newbury Boschetti, to Newton to

buy machinery. They .also took out machinery for

making paper. Other factories were established at

Santiago, Guymas, Mazatlan, Colima, Curajoa and

elsewhere, and filled with Newton machinery. Al-

though these factories proved to be profitable invest-

ments to their owners, none of them were as remuner-

ative as the Te|)ic Mills. Orders were received from

the Mexican customers for machinery and supplies

by Mr. Peltce as long as he lived.

In addition to his New England and Mexican

trade, Mr. Pettee frequently received orders from the

South and West. . Several large cotton factories in
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Tennessee were filled with machinery from his work-

shops; and consignments were made to Georgia, the

Carolinas, Maryland and elsewhere.

Mr. James Lick, of telescopic fame throughout the

world, and whose name is associated with the astro-

nomical study and research of all nations, was a cus-

tomer of Mr. Pettee's in 1852, for a large invoice of

m.ichinery for his extensive flouring-mills at San

Jose, California.

Mr. Pettee was not only engaged !ii the business

interests of the town, but was largely interested in its

general welfare and prosperity. He was an earnest

and indefatigable worker to construct the Woonsocket

Division of the New York & New England Railroad

(then the Charles River Branch), through the south-

erly section of the town, to the Upper Falls and

Needham, in 1851 and 1852. By his simple consent

to a proposal of the Boston & Worcester Railroad

Company in 1844, they would have, at their own ex-

pense, extended the Lower Falls Branch of their road

from Riverside to the Upper Falls. But he declined

to accept the proffered branch, because he considered

it would be doing great injustice to the future welfare

of the village, by placing it at least fifteen miles by

rail from Boston, when the same terminus could

easily be reached by a more direct route within a dis-

tance of less than ten miles.

He actively co-operated with all benevolent and

philanthropic movements and real reforms. A thor-

ough temperance man and worker from his youth up
;

a despiser of the use of tobacco in any form what-

ever; a friend of the slave and down-trodden; an old

time Whig, but one of the foremost to come out and

organize the Abolition party; and was a delegate to

the National Liberty Convention held in Bulfalo, Oc-

tober 7, 1847.

As to the spirit of his business qualities, eminent

Boston merchants with whom he had dealings bear

testimony, not only to his business capacity, but also

to his being the most thoroughly honest man they

ever knew. He was, in short, an upright man of

great inventive genius, solid judgment, extensive en-

terprise and beneficent life. He died on the 12th day

of February, 1853, at the age of fifty-seven years.

The ne.xt following June the cotton factory property

and tenement houses belonging with it were sold to a

company of Boston merchants under the corporate

name of Newton Mills, with F. M. Weld, treasurer.

This company continued in the business until August,

1884, and then closed up for an indefinite period.

In the autumn of 1853 the machine-shop property

was sold to Messrs. Otis Pettee, (2d), George Pettee

(sons of the late Otis Pettee) and Henry Billings, who
formed a co-partnership in the name of Otis Pettee &
Company ; and continued in the business until Janu-

ary 1, 1880, when the partnership was dissolved, and
Ihe property sold to a stock company, who assumed

the name of Pettee Machine Works, and still con-

tinue the business of building cotton machinery.

7-iii

In the Massachusetts Charitable Mechanics' As-

sociation report for 1841, No. iVJS, we find the fol-

lowing, viz. :

"Olis Pettee, Newton Upper Fulls—Cuttoii Loom:—an attempt to

inipi'ove upon tlie usual method of deliveritig the warp, and Hiiinilta.

neously to wind up the cloth while wouvinR by power.

" Tlii8 operation is performed in a manner simihir to other older ma-
chines by suspending the reed-frame at the top, and allowing the bottom

to yield, although opposed by a spring, us eacii threud of the tilling is

inserted; the s|)ring in yielding loosens a friction-strup passing round

the warp-cylinder, thereby allowing the warp to unwind without un-

necessary strain upon the threads, the spring at the same time operating

on a ratchet-wheel connected with the cloth-cylinder, causing it to wiiul

up the cloth at the same rate it is woven."

Turtle Island divides the Charles River about an
eighth of a mile below the snuff-mill-dam, and the

rapids there afi'ord another good water-power. In

1782 Mr. Thomas Parker, who owned the island and

land on the Newton side of the river, purchased.

a

small lot on the Needham side (now Wellesley) ; he

built a dam at this point, and started a saw-mill upon
a rocky bluff in Newton just abreast of the head of

the island. As Mr. Parker was now well advanced

in life he retained the saw-mill but a very few years,

and then'sold all his mill property to his scn-in-law,

Mr. Jonathan Bixby, who continued the business

until he sold his entire interest in the estate upon
both sides of the river, including water-power and

other privileges in the river, to the Newton Iron

Works Company, a co-partnership formed principal-

ly of Boston gentlemen, for the purpose of manufac-

turing iron. Mr. Rufus Ellis was appointed general

manager and resident agent, and assumed the duties

and responsibilities of his office in 1799. And by the

beginning of the year 1800 he had built a permanent
dam across the river, and erected a building upon
the island, and put in the required furnaces and ma-

chinery for rolling and slitting iron into a variety of

sizes and shapes.

For the first twenty-five or thirty years after the

mill was started, wood was the only fuel used for

heating the furnaces and ovens. Anthracite coal lay

quietly slumbering in the depths of the mountain

passes and ravines of Eastern Pennsylvania and

other places, and unknown to man as an article

of fuel which so soon came into general use the

world over. It may be true that the hunter

and trapper, Philip Ginther, while in search of

game in the forests of the Lehigh Valley, did ac-

cidentally make the discovery of anthracite coal in

the year 1791. One day, while hurrying down a steep

declivity on the side of Sharp Mountain, homeward
bound, his attention was arrested by a peculiar black

rock formation, recently uncovered by the uprootal

of a large tree in his pathway. He gathered a few

samples, and sent them to Philadelphia for scienti.sts

to examine, which resulted in the decision that it was

a kind of coal of considerable value. With the ex-

ception of a few trials of the new fuel by country

blacksmiths, it was thirty years before any really suc-

cessful test was made of its combustible merits as a
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Nail-making is an industry that occupies a place in

tjuite a number of
the list of early manufactures

nail factoriw were built in this country in the tenth

decade of the last century and the first deca'de of the

pment century—one at I'airmont.near Philadelphia,

—one at rittsburgh. Tennsylvania,-and ceveral in

New York State. .Massachusetts bad it.s share of the

pioneem in the butincss ; a factory ai Warchain, one at

Uridgewater, another at Weymouth ; the little town

of Dover boasUd of a nail factory, and in several

other places the click, clack of the nail-machine was

heard.

The incren^<ing demand for nails callol for better

machinery fur making them. It is now (1890) about

a hundred years since the introduction of power ma-

chinery for cutting nails from rolled iron plates.

Previous to that time a greaterproportion of the nails

ustd were made fr<mi rods of iron cut off the required

length for dilVcrent sizes of nails, and headed by crude

machinery, or forged by han<l on the anvil. Occa-

sionally a blacksmith mad« a specially of forging nails

aa a partial supply to the market for builders' use.

From 1700 to ISOO the nail-making business was

greatly enhanced by the valuable improvements on

inventions of earlier dates. The priority of these in-

ventions has been claimed by a number of persons,

notably Henjamin Cochran, in 1700. Ezekiel Reed, of

Uridgewater, .lacob Perkins, of Ncwburyport, and

Walter Hu:.t, of New York. The first letters patent

in this country for nail-cutting machinery were

granted to Josiah 0. Pearson, in 1704. And while

Jacob Perking perfected his invention in 1700, he did

not obtain his patent until 179.5.

The present century opened with a continuation of

the study for better machinery, .lesse Reed, a son of

K/.ckiel Reed, so fur advanced the process of nail-

making machinery as to cut off the plate, and head

the nail by a single turn of the machine. Still an-

other device wa-s applied to the same machine by a

Mr. Kipley. His attachment consisted of a pair of

made bv
' uippers, so adjusted a-s to grasp the nail as soon as it

was cut from ibc plate, and then turn it so as to give

it what is termed a Hat grip, instead of the edge grip

in use previous to his inventions. Mr. Thomas

Odiorne, of Milford, Massadiusetts, was the inventor

of a very good machine for cutting small nails ami

brads. His machine was said to be a complicated in-

vention that required a skilled workman to operate it.

Still another nuil-machine was patented by Mr. Jon-

athan Kllis, onf of the proprietors of the Newton Iron

Works. His machine was rather cumbersome, and

never very much used.

Mr. Seth Boyden, a son of the old (own of Foxbor-

ough, Massachusetts, but who removed to Newark,

New Jersey, in early manhood, invented a nail-nia-

chinc, and's'ecured his patent in 181.5. Mr. Boyden

was one of the greatest inventors of his generation.

The world to-day is indebted to him for malleable

iron, and " patent" or enameled leather, and valua-

ble improvements in both stationary and locomotive

steam-engines, and many other inventions of a lesser

magnitude.

In 1800 the Newton Iron AVorks Company built a nail

factory, and at first used the Odiorne machines. These

machines were securely fastened to the top and sides of

heavy, white-oak post, about a foot and a half square^

and firmly set in the ground. Whether the " Odi-

orne " was not adapted to their class of nails, or

whether it was too complicated and inconvenient to

operate, or for other reasons, it was socn laid aside,

and the Reed machine, with Mr. Ripley's improve-

ments, was put in its place.

The annual production of manufactured iron from

the rolling and slittingmills was about 2000 tons;

and 1200 tons of nails per annum were shipped from

the nail factory. None but the best quality of Rus-

sian and Swedish irons were used in the mills—im-

ported diiect from those countries by the company's

ships. In addition to the home markets large consign-

ments of manufactured goods were shipped to the West

India Islands, New Orleans, Savannah, Charleston

and other Southern ports.

In 1814 Mr. Rufus Ellis built a cotton factory of

3000 spindles on the Needham side of the river, for

weaving sheetings, which he ran on his own account

until 1840, when he leased it to Mr. Milton H. San-

ford, of Medway, to manufacture Osnaburgs for the

vSouthein market. At the close of his lease perma-

nent improvements were made in the cotton-mill

property by putting in new water-wheels and flumes

and other connections ; and in 1844 Mr. Barney L.

White took a lease of it and replaced the sheeting

machinery and continued the business for nearly five

years, and gave it up to Mr. Salmon S. Hewitt; and,

under his direction, it was operated until the factory,

building and machinery were totally destroyed by fire

on May 8, 1850, and never rebuilt. As a whole, this

factory had been a successful and profitable business

enterprise.
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In 1821 Mr. Rufus Ellis purchased the entire inter-

est of the Newton Iron Works Company, which he

held for two years, and then formed a new company

consisting of eeven stockholders, under a new corpo-

rate title of Newton Factories, with Mr. Ellis as resi-

dent manager, the same as heretofore. After ten or

twelve years of successful husines^s the co-partnership

was dissolved, and Mr. Rufus and David Ellis became

sole owners of the property.

In 184-1 Mr. Frederick Barden lea-ied the rolling

and slitting-mill property from the Messrs. Ellis and

put the same in thorough repair by building new and

larger furnaces, new and improved trains of rollers

and new water-wheels and gearing; and by the lue »f

an additional heating furnace he was prepared to

manufacture at least 5000 tons of iron annually, and

gave employment to qiiite a number of workmen.

After a very successful run of twenty-five years or

more, Mr. Barden fully realized that close application

to bu-iness was undermining his health, and retired

from active duties in 1S70. The mills remained idle

for a few years, and finally were broken up, thus end-

ing a thriving iron business of nearly three-quarters

of a century.

A short time after the loss of the cotton factory by

fire Mr. Ellis erected a new nail factory building

upon the same site, and removed the machinery from

the old factory into it. At the end of five or six years

the nail business was abandoned and the machinery

sold out—mainly as old iron—which terminated a

thrifty nail-making business that had given steaoy

employment to the nail makers for more than fifty

years. The building was subsequently used for a

gristmill and planing-mill, and at last licked up by

the flames in 1873.

The old nail factory building was leased in Septem-

ber, 18G3, to Mr. Benjamin Newell, of Dover, Mass.,

who fitted it up for a paper manufactory, and, after a

profitable business for twenty years, making coarse

paper, he sold his interest in it to Mr. Hudson Keeney,

of the town of Everett, in 1873. The old rolling-

mill, made vacant by removing the machinery, was

leased to Mr. Keeney in 1880, and filled up with pa-

per machinery, thus doubling his facilities for filling

his orders. Mr. Keeney availed himself of a good

opportunity to sell his property in the mills, in 1882,

to Charles P. Clark, Jr., and William F. Wardwell.

In 1886 they sold to the Superior Wax Paper Com-
pany. They laid out several thousand dollars in pre-

paring to make the paper, but were financially obliged

to discontinue the business and close up the works

before really getting ready for operation.

In 1888 Mr. Willard Marcy and Mr. Eugene L.

Crandell, of Newton, and Mr. John M. Moore, of

Baldwinsville, Massachusetts, under the title of E. L.

Crandell & Company, purchased the paper-mill prop-

erty belonging to the Superior Wax Paper Company,
and the real estate connected with it, which included

the entire interest in the water-power of the Charles

River and reservoirs and land adjoining, of the David

Ellis heir^, and engaged in making wrapping and

sheathing papers of good quality ; and by additional

machinery and improvements can make about four

tons per day when in full operation.

In 1843 Mr. William E. Clarke built a shop on

Boylston Street, at the Upper Falls, and employed

about fifty men mainly on cotton-spinning machinery

for New England manufacturers. He also furni.she<l

the machinery for a small cotton factory in Rio Janei-

ro, South America. The next year, 1844, Mr. Pliny

Bosworth built a shop on High Street, on proportions

similar to that of Mr. Clarke, and carried on the

machinery busine-s. His specially was cotton conl-

ing machines. The value of the machinery sent out

by these two shops while in operation would aggre-

gate about a hundred thousand dollars. At the end

of a term of five years' business they were both

closed up by the owners, and the buildings taken down

or removed ; and before the year 1850 they had become

items of history.

In 1849 Messrs. Jenkins and Inman started a

braided shoe-string factory upon a small scale in a

leased room in one of the factory buildings at the Up-
per Falls. The enterprise, on their part, was at the

time experimental, but proved to be a success. For

the want of more room to accommodate their rapidly-

growing business they removed, in 1852, to Carver,

Massachusetts. The outclime from their experiment

in Newton has been the establishment of one of the

most extensive shoestring and lacing factories in the

country.

In 1859 Mr. Norman C. Munson, of Shirley, Massa-

chusetts, a contractor for filling in a large tract of flat

and marshy land in the Back Bay of Boston, part-

ly belonging to the Commonwealth, partly to the

Miil-dam Water-Power Company, and partly to the

city of Boston, came to Newton Upper Falls as a

convenient central station for carrying on the work.

He purchased a range of gravel hills along the line of

the Woonsocket Division of the New York and New
England Railroad, adjacent to the Charles River up-

on the Needham side. A large building upon the

Newton side was leased by him for a machine-shop

and engine-house, with a large area outside for storage

and repairs to rolling-stock; two powerful steam ex-

cavators were placed in position by the hill-sides to

load the trains. New and powerful locomotive en-

gines that would handle forty heavily-laden cars, ag-

gregating one hundred and fifty cubic yards of gravel

to each train, were used for transportation; and by

day and by night for a period of at least ten years a

train was loaded and started off from the pit at very

nearly regular intervals of forty-five minutes. Switching

engines were used in the pit in loading and making
up trains, and a similar system was in use at the

dump. This arrangement prevented any loss of time

or delays to the train men. Mr. Munson furnished

employment to about two hundred workmen, and lev-
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One of the ftnwl and moat [.erfiit |.iecus of sloiie

majHinrv iu tbe world is the miuwise bridge of the

.''udliury River Anuiduit, aorom the Charles Uiver at

thr r|i|.cr Kails. Tho priiu'i|><il arcli Hpans the river

from Nfedhaui to .Vc»ton, a dlntaiicf of l:t- leet be-

tween aliulmrnts. It is aii;iiu'nte(l in sliapc, and

neariy seventy feet hi(;h,—twenty fwt broad at the

baae, and eifthlivn feet at tbe keystone. Six arches

of leiner |>ruportioM« are re<|uired to complete the

pan arruoM the ehasm, a dixtaiiee of live hundred feel

belwevn tbr beadlandn. This spot is peculiarly

ndapletl for a xtrurture of this kind, for the lilutl's

U|>on either side of the river are of solid rock forma-

tion. The treitle frame across the river, to sujiport

the arch while building;, w4s firmly secured upon solid

foundations in the bed of the river, and upon a plat-

form above hinb water there were placed a large

number of jack screws, upon which the trestle rested.

These jack-screws bad a triple mission to fulfill,

—

first, to sustain the burden,—second, to raise the

superstructure in ca.teofsettling.and third to letdown

and loosen the trestle, so that it could be easily re-

moved after the arch was finished. More than a

buiidre<l thousand feet of timber were required to form

the trestle ami sup|>orting platform : the arches are

built of liockport granite, and wiu all dre^ed at the

()uarries. The contractor, Mr. I'helps, of Springfield,

Mass., an expert bridge builder, had the work in

charge, and proved himself to be thoroughly master of

the situation. 270o tons of Monc had to be held up
by the trestle before the key-stones were placed. It

re<iuired nearly two year.* to complete the job, which
was finishe<1 in IHTt!, at a cost of nearly !?200,000

;

and, during the whole lime, no injury was done to any
of the workmen

; neither was there any breakage of

hoisting machinery or other appliances for doing the

work.

Thousands of people visit this charming spot every

year, not only to admire the symmetrical proportions

of the bridge, but to hear the repeating echo that is

produced under the main arch by reverberating tones
from H -hont by the visitors. .\» a piece of mechani-
cal work it is attractive to the eye, an honor to its

deaignrrs, and of great credit to Ihc builders.

I have heard it said that more than a hundred years

ago, a Newton mr.n, with a good degree of " push" in

him, and 1 think he must have been of that type of

man' termed "a live Yankee,"—who bad a desire to

turn an honest penny, eo started an industry entirely

upon his own account and resources, by placing a

grindstone in position under a shed, and by means

of a rude water-wheel improvised for the purpose,

applied power to turn the stone, and no doubt but

that he had up his "shingle" with !he words plainly

chalked out, giving notice to the passer-by that

"Cirinding was done here."

His neighbors could have the use of the stone to do

their own grinding by paying the toll of a fourpence

ha'penny, or a uinepence,or a pistareen, according to

the time wanted —no dimes, half-dimes, or nickels

in those days. Or, if parties preferred, they could

leave their edged tools with him to grind, which he

was always ready to do for a consideration.

LowKK Falls—By following the river banks from

below the I'pper Falls for a distance of two miles we

reach the Lower Falls. Here the river makes a leap of

sixteen feet over a ledge of rocks, and an eighth of a

mile farther down the stream there is another fall of

six feet, making a total fall of twenty-two feet. Dams
have long since been placed across the river at each

of the Falls, and furnish water-power for many
manufacturers' use.

In the colonial days of two centuries ago, the lands

in this vicinity upon the Newton side were supposed

to be owned iu common by the Town of Cambridge in

Middlesex County ; and the land upon the Needham
(now WcUcsIey) side belonged to Suffolk County.

A forty acre lot, a little distance easterly from the

Falls had already been assigned to the Harvard Uni-

versity ; and in 1()94 Mr. Samuel Green, of Cambridge
conveyed a lot of four acres of land more or less, to

John Leverett, bordering upon the river, including

the Falls, together with all woods, water rights, com-
monage liberties and privileges thereto belonging.

Whether Mr. Green had previously purchased this

land of the Town of Cambridge, or whether he sold it

as a representative of the Town, is uncertain.

In 1704 Mr. Leverett sold his land and water
rights, and all other interest in the same to Mr. John
Hubbard, of Roxbury, a blacksmith by trade, this

land now being the present site of all the paper mills,

and other works on the Newton side of the river.

Mr. Hubbard formed a co-partnership with Mr.
Caleb Church, a bloomer by trade, of Watertown,and
improved the water power by building a dam at the
head of the rapids, and a forge shop with two fire

hearths and a hammer wheel for manufacturing iron.

Just what kind of machine or piece of apparatus a
hammer wheel is, we will leave for the mechanical ex-
perts of the present time to determine for themselves,
as they peruse these pages.

In 1705 Mr. Hubbard conveyed to his son Nathaniel
Hubbard, one-half of the four acre lot bounded
north by the highway, and south by the river, to-
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gether with a half interest in the iron works, with as

niucli of the stream as may be required to drive the

machinery, including lialf of the dam, Hume, sluice-

ways, utensils and appurtenances thereto belonging.

The new company continued the business until the

death of the senior Mr. Hubbard, in 1717. For the

next four or five years the premises were rented to

Mr. Jonathan Willard, a bloomer who had previously

been in the employ of the company ; and in 1722 Mr.

Willard purchased the Hubbard interest in the works.

In consequence of the death of Mr. Caleb Church

about the same time, his interest was deeded by John
Cooledge of Watertown, administrator of the Church

estate, to his son, Caleb Church, Jr., on April 11th,

1723.

A few years after his purchase of the iron works,

Mr. Willard builta saw-mill, a short distance below

the forge-shop, and did quite a large business in the

manufacture of lumber.

October 27th, 1740, Jlr. Church, then residing in

the town of Westerly, Rhode Island, sold his moiety

of the iron works to Mr. Jonathan Willard and Henry
Pratt, former partners in the concern. Who Mr.

Pratt was, or when he first bought an interest there,

we find no record.

M.ay 26th, 1739, Mr. Jonathan Trowbridge, of New-
ton, conveys to Henry Pratt, bloomer, three acres of

land adjoining said Pratt's land at the Lower
Falls. To show how accurately lines were defined in

those days, we copy from the deed. " Bounded west-

erly by f-aid Pratt's land, northerly and easterly by

land of John Parker, easterly and southerly by Trow-

bridge's land—northwesterly corner being a stake

and heap of stones ; thence to a stake and stones be-

tween Parker and Trowbridge, thence to a white oak

tree, thence to a black oak tree, thence to a white oak

stump with stones on it, thence to two black oak

trees, thence to stake and stones at southwesterly cor-

ner."

By an indenture made on the 10th day of Novem-
ber, 1748, by and between Henry Pratt and Jonathan

Willard, who were equal owners in the iron works

property and land, it was divided, giving to each a

separate and distinct moiety of the same, each giving

to the other certain rights and easements for con-

venience in the transaction of their business. Special

mention is made of the great dam belonging to them,

which is to be maintained and kept in repair jointly

by them and their successors, each to pay half of the

cost ; and the said dam shall not be made any higher

than is indicated by a hole in the face of the rock in

the stream. And it is further agreed that when there

is a scarcity of water in the river, it shall be equally

divided between them and their successors in owner-

ship.

Mr. Jonathan Willard continued to carry on the

iron-works, and was closely identified with the man-
ufacturing business for more than fifty years. A
prominent citizen and an ingenious man, he lived to

the ripe old age of ninety-five years, and died May 22,

1772.

Mr. Jose|ih Davenport, a clothier by occupation,

settled at the Lower Falls about the year 1730 or

1731, and built a dwelling-house a third of a mile

distant from the forges on the Boston Road (now

Woodward Street) ; and opened a shop near the ful-

ling-mills and gave employment to a number of

workmen in the manufacture of clothing, until his

death, in 1752. As we find no record of other cloth-

iers in Newton at that time, it is fair to presume that

he held a monopoly in the business among the in-

habitants for several miles around.

Mr. Azariah Ware may have been a successor of

Mr. Davenport in the clothing business. His name
is mentioned as a clothier in a deed given by him to

Moses Grant & Son, in 1809. In his description of

the property conveyed to said Grant, he included

clothier's-shop and fulling-mill as one building.

Mention is made of other industries at the Lower
Falls, including a grist-mill, a snuff-mill with four

mortars, and a calico printing-works. But these were

discontinued, and passed into history more than sixty

years ago, so it is difficult to procure satisfactory in-

formation as to ownership or the amount of business

done by them. Mr. Simon Elliot may have been the

owner of the snuft'-mill, and may have run it in con-

nection with his extensive factories at the Upper Falls.

October 20, 1789, Mr. John Ware, of Sherborn,

brother of the Rev. Henry Ware, professor in Har-

vard University, bought of Timothy Ware, of Need-

ham, about fourteen acres of land at the Lower Falls,

including dam, stream, water courses, saw-mills and

forge, als6 a dwelling-house and barn. The next

spring he built the first paper-mill in the village-

The old hand method of paper-making was in vogue

at that time, and we presume Mr. Ware had his stone

vats for prepared pulp, and rectangular moulds with

wire cloth strainers and deckles to form the sheets of

pulp to be placed in layers, alternating between sheets

of felting cloth for pressing out the water, as well as

to give them a uniform thickness. Two or three

repetitions of re-packing and pressing are usually

sufticient to give the pulpy fibres an affinity to hold

together while hanging in the drying lofts. This

slow process of paper making was superseded in the

early part of the present century by power machin-

ery for spreading the pulp upon an endless felt car-

rier, and passes italong to a series of steam-drying cyl-

inders, and is finally rolled into large coils for the

rotating shears to divide inlosheetsof uniform dimen-

sions, when it is ready to be bundled into reams for

market. The latest improved paper-making machine

was patented in England or France by Mr. Four-

drinier, and has since been in general use by all fine

paper makers. From the records of the late Benja-

min Neal, Esq., we learn that one of the first Four-

drinier machines imported into this country was placed

in a mill at the Lower Falls.
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river bank on the morning of
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IWlwein the yeant \!^\2 and 1S.TJ upwards of thirty

laira and iraintfera of pru|>erty were made auiunR the

wveral mill owner., that depended upon the water

/rnn. the river l-.opi'rate their machinery,; and so far

a* the water powrr wan eoncer.itHl, it became a coui-

mu.i iuti-rml to them all. Theae divisions and sub-

(liviaioni of mill property conveyed with thtni eor-

mponding divisions of the wnter-righls each enjoyed

in the river; queBliona were continually arising, par-

ticularly in the st-aso.is of low water, relative to this

or that owners liraunht from the stream. The frow-

iOK complexity of this difference of opinion created a

fjiiMtion of paramount importance to the several pro-

prielorK, which terminated in the spring of 1816 by a

new apportionment of the water.

The old adjustment of waler-righta by and between

Jonathan Willard and Henry Pratt in 1748 was still

in force, but was not considered sulhcient to answer

the |ire»ent r((|uirtnients, and July 2t;ih a new appor-

tionment was made and agreed to by all parties in

interest, to-wit :—Simon Klliot and Solomon Curtis

owned the two eouthern paper mills ; llurd and liemis

owned one paper-mill and the saw-mill ; Moses Grant

owned one paper-mill, and John Ware one fulling-

mill, all on the Newton side. Simon Elliot and Sol-

omon Curtis owned tw<i.lliirds of the jiiiper-niill and

two-thirds of the ^a\v-.iilll, and Hurd and Hemis

owned the remaining one-third of the mills on Need-

ham side. By this agrecmcDt all of the paper-mills

and fulling-mills were to have the first right of water,

the saw-mill on Newton side the second right, the

glazing machines in the several paper-mills to have

the third right, and the saw-mill in Xeedham to have

the fourth water-right.

This agreement further entailed upon the several

parties in interest an apportionment of the cost of

keeping the main dam in the best of repair, and to

keep the flumsa and water-ways to their respective

mills in good order, and perfectly tight at all times.

This indenture was signed and sealed by Simon Klliot,

Solomon Curtis, Moses Grant, William Hurd, Charles
liemis anil John Ware; and for a season the vexed
question was amicably adjusted.

In the year 18:54 important changes in ownership
were made upon both sides of the river. These changes
may have been brought about by a destructive fire

and William Clark's machine-shop, all on the Need-

ham side of the river.

In OcUiber Jlr. Lemuel Crehore, by purchase, be-

came the sole owner of the Moses Grant and William

Hurd mills on the N.wlon side, which included the

old saw and fulling-mills, and the John Ware papcr-

in'iM. And at the same time Mr. William Hurd pur-

chanetl Mr. Crehore's rights in a paper-mill upon the

Needham side. More than two years previous to

this transaction, Messrs. Allen C. and William Curtis,

sons of Solomon Curtis, had acquired the entire fee in

the Solomon Curtis and Simon Elliott mill. By these

sales of property the varied interests upon the New-

ton side were separated from the Needham property,

and grouped into the hands of two ownerships.

Mr. Lemuel Crehore commenced the paper-making

business in company with Mr. William Hurd in 1825,

and at the time of his purchase of the property in

1834, the partnership heretofore existing was dissolved,

and Mr. Bcnjainin Neal became a partner with Mr.

Crehore and remained in the business until 1845.

For the ne.xt following two years Mr. Crehore was

alone. In 1864 his son, George C. Crehore, was ad-

mitted as a partner under the title of L. Crehore &
Son. The ne.xt change made was in 1867 by Mr.

Charles F. Crehore taking the place of Mr. George C.

Crehore, deceased; and the next year the senior Mr.

Crehore reiired from the business and soon afier died,

which left the mills in the bands of Mr. C. F. Crehore

until 1S83, when Mr. Fred. M. Crehore was admitted

to the business, and the company thus formed assumed

the name of C. F. Crehore & Son.

Messrs. Allen C. and William Curtis built a new

and commodious stone mill, with new machinery and

all modern improvements in 1834, and removed the

old and worn-out buildings and machinery. They
continued the paper manufacturing business until re-

verses in fortune compelled them to make an assign-

ment about the year 1860. Their property was sold

by the assignees to Hon. J. Wiley Edmands and

Gardner Colby, Esq., co-partners in the manufacture

of wool.

Instead of improving the mills, .is at first intended,

they sold it to Messrs. William S. and Frank Cord-

ingly in 1804. The new firm made thorough repairs

and built additions to the buildings, and put in

special machinery for the manufacture of wool ex-

tracts, and have done a large and properous business

since their occupancy of the premises.

A difference in opinion as to the ownership of the

fulling-mill water-rights had existed for a long time

between William Hurd, Allen C. Curtis and others,

which finally resulted in a lawsuit between them in

1845; and in the April term of the Supreme Judicial

Court it was agreed between the parties to refer the

whole case to three arbitrators—the decision of any

I
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two of them to be binding on the parties, not only as

to the questions in controversy, but in award of dam-

ages to either party, if any may be found ; and they

shall further arbitrate and determine finally the future

respective rights of both parties in the use of the

water Ibrever. The result of this arbitration was r^

ported to the Court, and in the October term of 1847

Chief Justice Shaw decided the said fulling-mill

water-rights belonged to the Messrs. Curtis and others

to be used at their pleasure. New and more accurate

water-gauges were now placed in position along the

water-courses to distribute the water proportionately

to its several owners; and all interested parties upon

either side of the river acquiesced in this adjustmeut

of the ditliculties heretofore existing.

Tlie mills upon the Needham side were owned suc-

cessively as follows: The upper mill by Amos Lyon
& Co., Wales & Mills, Tnomas Rice, Jr., and the

Thomas Rice Paper Company. The second mill,

owned by William Hurd, Charles Rice, Jr., and Moses

Garfield, Thomas Rice, Jr. and Thomas Rice Paper

Company. The third or lower mill, on the upper

dam, owned by John Rice and Moses Garfield, Thomas
Rice, Jr., and the Dudley Hosiery Company since

1862.

The machine-shop built by Mr. Reuben Ware and

William Clark in 1832 went into the hands of Mr.

Joseph Stowe in 184(j; and in 1850 Messrs. Henry P.

Eaton, Rufus Moulton and Harvey Eaton formed a

co-partnership and bought the shop of Mr. Stowe. In

the autumn of 185.3 the present stone-shop building

was put up to replace the old wooden one, burnt the

preceding June.

Mr. Harvey Eaton died in 1852. In 1876 Mr.

Adam Beck, who had been a partner in the business

since 1858, by purchase became the sole owner of the

works, and still continuts in the business.

The second, or lower dam, at the Lower Falls, was

probably built by Mr. William Hoogs about the year

1800. He started the leather tanning business about

ten years before, near the ford across the river, below

Pratt's Bridge (now Washington Street Bridge). Mr.

Hoogs next built a paper-mill, which he ran in con-

nection with his tannery, until he sold out to Mr.

Peter Lyon, June 21, 1809. Mr. Lyon incre.ised his

business by building a grist-mill. In 1809 he con-

veyed the paper-mill to Mr. Joseph Foster, with one-

half of the water-right, and reserved the other half

for the grist-mill. March 8, 1822, Mr. Allen C. Cur-

tis bought the paper-mill, and in 1823 he re-conveyed

the same to Mr. Foster. On the same day Mr. Foster

conveyed it to Mr. Peter Lyon and William Parker.

Parker and Lyon sold to Amasa Fuller, January 28,

1824; and on September 3, 1830, the paper-mill was

sold to Mr. Joseph H. Foster by the executors of the

estate of Amasa Fuller, deceased. Mr. Foster con-

tinued the paper-making business until his death,

December 7, 1853. His son, Joseph Foster, Jr., then

ran the mill for two or three years, when it was. sold

to Thomas Rice, Jr., who rented it to Mr. Charles

Kice for a term of years, and finally sold it to Augus-

tus C. Wiswall & Son, who still continue the paper

manufacture.

On the Needhara side of the river there are two or

three mills that depend upon the water from^the

lower dam for their power, but the complications in

relation to the division of water have been compara-

tively few and far between.

It would be impossible to enumer.ate the different

varietiesor kinds of paper manufactured at the Lower

Falls for the past century. Prominent among the

varieties are wrapping ))apers, book-binders' board

and cardboard. The Messrs. Crehore have always

made the manufacture of Jacqnard cards and press

papers a principal business, while the Messrs. Curtis

gave their attention to a fine quality of book paper.

Three or four other mills have been kept busy on

newspaper work. Great quantities of this paper have

been printed by the daily press and popular journals

and magazines of the day, that have been scattered

broadcast all over the civiliied world.

While the manufacturers have been busily engaged

in the daily routine of their duties, many of them

have found time to serve the State and the town in

public capacities with credit to themselves and with

honor to their constituents. Mr. William Hoogs,

Joseph Foster and Thomas Rice, Jr., have been

placed UDon the Board of Selectmen and School Com-
mittees. Mr. Allen C. Curtis, Joseph Foster, Lemuel
Crehore and Thomas Rice, Jr., have been honored

with seats in the popular branch of the General

Court of the Commonwealth. Mr. Rice was twice a

Senator and twice in the Governor's Council.

The manufacture of sulphuric acid (oil of vitriol)

was started in Waltham by Mr. Patrick Jackson, in

1819. About the year 1825 the works were removed

across the Charles River, into the town of Newton,

very nearly opposite to the Waltham cotton factories

and were incorporated as the Newton Chemical Com-
pany. The chem'stry buildings covered a large area

of land upon the rising ground about an eighth of a

mile distant from the river. Under the excellent man-

agement and excutive ability of Horatio Moore, Esq.,

resident agent of the company, the works were en-

larged to a capacity that made it one of the leading

vitriol manufactories of New England.

Mr. Moore was a leading and much respected citi-

zen of the town, and was frequently appointed in

town-meetings upon important committees, and occu-

pied a chair in the Board of Selectmen of Newton.

The business of the chemical company was so com-

pletely identified with the town of Waltham that it

was deemed expedient by them to be set ofl' to that

town, which, by act of the General Court, was done

in April of 1849.

After a continuous and successful industry of more

than half a century, the business was discontinued

and the buildings removed in 1872.
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Thr \Me Hon. \Villi«m J«cfcwD, of Newlon. whiMi

,( ,
»** »|i|irontio«Hl by hi«

fa; ru (ho wmp «nJ candle

bu.ii.r~. A 1"^ »""•'•••'

• .mall f«it.'. •^» '''•

de|>«n<inl IftrKrlv U|Hin llif S-mihprii iii«rkeUi for the

•ale of hi* g<MKl>, be iunrludt^ it wouM be more

|.r.>fiubU for him to traimfer bniiiob i>f bin bu«iii«s'»

I., an,! Ill ISIS he built h fuctory in Su-

va mil Ih* next ye«r be built niiolbfr one

i„ I'. Till- wiirii ol 1>1- m«<ie these

fc, ;
, ; Ilia wbfii |ieiife w«H r<--.t<irf(l, in

1816, the pHilii" (Iwiiullnl «»iiy, nml tb.y wire given

up. In con«r<)uence of the death of bin piireiits, Mr.

Jaekxm wdd hi> Koxtoa mnnufiictory in 18'J0, and re-

lurncKl to the obi honiiittead to take care uf the farm.

The monotony of farm life was iiiniilbrient to natisfy

hi* active bn- m, ami in ISJ.S he built a fac-

turv near h.- •. and continued the candle

busineM until hi« deaih in l.S5^. Mr. .Jackson hud

already erected a factory buildinf; in Brighton,

for doinK a |>ortiob of hii coareer work, and after bis

death the whole bui>inetvi wbh trannferred to the

Brighton factory. .\ very large proportion of hia

fttxHls wire c.ip.igncii to the Wi-st Indies and nicwt of

the principal S.nlbern ports of this country. Large

iniportationii of fallow were made frniii Huij^ia and

Kngland to make up the deticiency in home produc-

liont for nupplying hia worka.

Mr. Jackson became u leading and honored citizen

of the town ; he was ii true pbilantbropi.st and bene-

factor. He occupieil a seat in the National House of

Keprenentatives at Wa.shiiigton from lS:t2lo lS.'i6. He
was a strong .-Vbolilioniiit, ami a friend to the slave ; a

memlirr of the first temperance i<ociety organized in

Newloo in I82ti, and ever after kept the pledge. As

wa« the cu.stom fifty years ago, Mr. Jackson kept his

grog in the factory for his employees, and regularly

at half-pimt ten he dealt out to each one his ration.

This cu'-toin of grog-drinking so antagonized his prin-

ciples that be ottered bis workmen an advance in

wages if they would give it up; and it wag not^very

long until it was bis privilege to remove the accursed

thing from his sight.

A few hmIs to the we«t from Mr. Jackson's works
there was a small calico printing works, and near by
a large laundry building and small mill-pond. Very
nearly upon the same site Mr. .\rtemas Murdock had
a chocolate factory a hundred years ago. These build-

ings long since were removed, and the land is now
occupied by the Roman Catholic Church of " Our
Lady, Help of Christians," corner of Washington and
Adam« Streets.

Mr. Thomas .Smallwood, an Englishman by birth,

and a cabinet-maker by trade, came to Ibis country
with his family and landed in Huston July 4, 1817.
After a few months' residence in f'harlestown he re-

moTe<l to Newt*jn,8nd sUirted the furniture business
in a small building a little way north from the

Xonantum House, and about on the dividing line

between Newton and Watertown. Before the ex-

piration of two years he was obliged to seek more

convenient and commodious quarters for his busi-

iies.s, and built a new shop on Washington Street,

near the Hrigliton line. He continued in the manu-

facture of furniture until 18-iG. Mr. Smallwood was

one of the leading builders of hair-cloth and plush

parlor furniture in New England, and probably in

the country. He had in bis employ about sixty

workmen most of the time. His sou, Edwin A.

Smallwood, was his successor. He built another

factory in the valley, on Waverly Avenue, and more

than doubled the production of goods. Still another

factory was built by him on the corner of Waverly

Avenue and Washington Street in 1848, which he

ran for a few years, and then rented to Mr. George

F. and William Whall for about two years. This

building wa-s destroyed by fire September 29, 1857.

Previous to the Rebellion of 1860 Mr. Smallwood

had regular trade customers in every State in the

Union, as well as from Egypt, Australia and else-

where. The march of local improvements made ir;-

roads upon his premises, and he abandoned the

business in that neighborhood in 1875, and the shop

buildings were removed to Brighton.

The north village of Newton, bounding upon the

Charles River and Watertown—now called Nonan-

tum—is another locality of considerable historic

interest in manufactures. Like the Lower Falls,

this water-power is available upon both sides of the

stream. It was first utilized by Mr. David Bemis,

who owned the adjacent land in Watertown, and

Dr. Eoos Sumner, the proprietor on the Newton

side. There seems to be a little uncertainty as to

the exact date when these gentlemen first com-

menced business. Mr. Jackson, in his "History of

Nev.'ton," informs us that the Bemis dam was built

about 1760, and at the same time a paper-mill was

built there.

The Waltham Sentinel of April 29, 1864, in an his-

torical article, gives the time of building the dam
as 1778. Which of these dates, if either, is correct,

we have been unable to ascertain. It appears that

Dr. Sumner sold his interest iu the enterprise to

John McDougall, of Boston, Michael Carney, of

Dorchester, Mass., and Nathaniel Patten, of Hart-
ford, Conn., who erected a paper-mill in 1779. A
large proportion of the requisite machinery for paper-

making was imported from Europe.

About two years later Mr. David Bemis acquired
a controlling interest in the business, and, in con-
nection with his son, Captain Luke Bemis, carried

it on until bis death, in 1790. By this event the
property passed into the hands of his sons, Luke
and Isaac Bemis.

In the winter of 1792, or the early spring of 1793,
the paper-mill was burnt, entailing a total loss upon
the owners. The rebuilding of the factory was con-
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sidered of so great importance by the community at

large that a petition was presented to the General

Court, on June 19, 1703, representing the gi-eat suf-

ferings of Luke and Isaac Bemis in the loss of their

paper-mill and stock by fire, and praying lor aid

to rebuild the same; and, in consideration of the

public advantages to be derived from the encour-

agement of the manufacture of paper within the

Commonwealth, it was,

—

" lienolved. That there he loaned from the treasury of this common-
wealth the sum of one thousand pounds to the said Luke Benus and

Isaac Beniis, upon their bonds, witli good and sufficient eolhiteral secur-

ity to tliisconimouwealtli lur tlie repayment of tlie same sum at tlio end

of tive years ; and also to he conditioned that the saul Luke and Isaac

shall I'ehuild or cause to he rehuilt, within two years from the making

of such loan, snitahle paper-mills of at least ecpuil size and extent of the

mills lately destroyed hy fire, and by themselves or their assigns shall

prosecute the manufacture of paper therein."

Supplementary resolves were passed January 30,

1799, and June 17, 1799, in relation to the detail of

payment of said loan.

The work of rebuilding the mills was hardly com-

pleted before there was another interruption in the

business, caused by the death of Mr. Isaac Bemis, in

1794. After this, Mr. Luke Bemis continued the busi-

ness, either alone, or in partnership with his brother-

in-law, Mr. Caleb Eddy, of Boston, until 1821, when
the whole property was purchased by his brother, Mr.

Seth Bemis. Soon after this time the Boston Manu-
fiicturing Company, who were using the water-power

of the river in the manufacture of cotton cloth in

Waltham, were considerably annoyed by the water

from the Bemis dam backing up to their water-wheels,

and interrupting their works ; and for a relief to their

wheels, they offered Mr. Seth Bemis a thousand

dollars an inch, for each and every inch he would
reduce the height of his dam. This very tempting

offer induced him to takeoff twelve inches,—for which
he received twelve thousand dollars.

Mr. Seth Bemis became interested in the cotton and
woolen manufacture, and built a factory on the Water-
town side. The paper business was abandoned on the

Newton side, and the buildings were used for the

manufacture of dye-woods and drugs by Mr. Bemis,

until 1847, when he sold out the logwood business to

Messrs. William Freeman & Company, who continued

in the dye-stulf business for a number of years. In

1860 the Messrs. Freeman & Company purchased the

Watertown mills, and soon after sold the whole plant

on both sides of the river to the J^tna Mills Manu-
facturing Company, for the manufacture of woolen
goods.

Before the days of bells and steam whistles in New-
ton, Mr. Bemis used to give a shrill blast upon a huge
tin horn to call his workmen together at the appointed
hours for resuming their labors; hence the name of

"Tin Horn" by which this section of Newton was
called for several years, but now obsolete.

The small factory near the Watertown line, vacated
by Mr. Smallwood, was occupied by Mr. John and

Ebcnezer Bilson, church organ-makers. They built

a very good instrument, and tilled a number of orders.

The first organ placed in the New Baptist meeting-

house at Newton Centre was made by the Messrs.

Bilson in 1836 : and at that time it was considered to

be one of their best productions, both in volume and
mellowness of tone. This whole business enterprise

went into hist'>ry between thirty and forty years ago.

Nearly a half-century ago, the manufacture of glue

in Newton employed considerable ca|)ital, and in the

season of making it, several workmen were employed
at the factories. The Hon. Edward J. Collins was
one of the first men to start the buaiiiess. A few

years later, his brother, Frederick A. Collins, built a

factory. Mr. Samuel N. Woodward was another of

the prominent mauufacturers of glue.

The season for glue-making was limited to the sum-
mer and early autumn months, when it could be dried

in the open air, protected from the rain or night

dampness by a shed covering, while drying.

For a period of from thirty to forty years the glue-

makers reaped quite a harvest in the business. Of
late years, with improved facilities, glue can be made
in winter as well as in summer, and the old methods
of manufacture have been discontinued.

Since the year 1825 quite a number of small factor-

ies and workshops have started business in Newtou,
some of which are worthy of brief mention.

Dr. Samuel Clark, of Boston, built a small chemis-

try building on Cold Spring Brook, a half-mile above

the John Spring grist-mill ; but beyond a little ex-

perimental work, nothing was done. Peihaps the

most important result of his effort was to successfully

bleach bees-wax to a pure white. The factory was
burnt in 1830, and a few weeks later the doctor died.

Mr. Rufus Bracket purchased the property, and
built a morocco factory upon the same site; he made
a good quality of morocco for a number of years.

Nothing now remains of the works but the ruins of

the old dam, within the Newton Cemetery grounds.

Sixty years ago there was a demand for iron ore to

supply blast furnaces in Eastern Massachusetts. Sev-

eral pockets of bog ore, or limonite, were found in the

meadows and swampy lands of Newton ; and consid-

erable quantities were dug in the more southerly dis-

tricts of the town and sent to Walpole or Foxborough
furnaces for smelting.

Mr. Joshua Jennison was a successful manufac-

turer of bar soap of superior quality for a period of

fifty years ; and since his death the business has con-

tinued in the hands of his son, Edward F. Jennison,

in the northern part of the town, near the Watertown
line.

Mr. A. Hayden Knapp, an inventor of a lamp for

burning rosin oil, started a small laboratory for gen-

erating oils from crude rosin. The project was aban-

doned within two or three years, however, as the in-

troduction of kerosene oil superseded the rosin oil.

A large factory building on Cherry Street, West
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Newtou, wu ocinipird by Meum. Jmium 11. ttog\e it

IV, for makiui; oil rioth i»r|«riiu|{. At llie i-nd of
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krr of workrnt on Kviitlemru'a bnlit.

Mr. JiMph While, of Knulish parentage, liud a

imall failorv on Hrookline Street, an«l eniployeil a

nil 1 kiiittent in the nianudieture

01 . ,ir iiikI iHxiery ; thin biisinosH

he carruti on lor n |«tii«<I i'I thirty yearn or niorc, ami
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The Silver Ijike Company wum ohartered for nian-

ufarturini »olnl lirnidid ccird and cteaiii packintr, and

c..r ''|.rr>itionii with a paid-up i-apital ofJSO,-

(K> They linill a large Imir-.storied brick

factory with bultremtcd wallit and mansard roof, on

Nerada Street, near Ne\vt.>ii\ iUe. Charle.i ('. Burr,

Ew)., waa it) fir»t preiiidont, and Mr. Charles Bcutt,

treasurer. The general management of the factory

wan place<l in the hands of Mr. William J. Towue.

Financially thin company wa-M nut a succes?, and

cloned up their bookii in \M'.>, and the original stock

became worthies.'". The next year a new company

wa« formed, with more capital. They bought the old

factory and machinery, and started businesi upon a

firmer bania; and aincc that time they have been suc-

c(<uful, under the management of Henry W. Welling-

ton, FJ*]., treaiturer and selling agent. A large ad-

dilino was maile to their factory in 1S80, which about

doubled ita capacity for business. This company has

an extensive trade throughout the United States and

Canada, and a iihare of the patronage from European

and .\ustralian consumers.

Window-weight cords, curtain cords and numerous

other varieties of lines and small rope and steam

packing are annually shipped from this establishment,

to the value of $:iO(p,0()0 or more.

Mr. Thomas I)alby, an Englishman by birth, came,

to thi< country when a young man, and in 1852 he

started a few hand-looms for knitting or weaving
hfwiery in the north village of Newton. He found

ready sale for his goods as fast as he could make them,
and pres-'ing demands caused him to import more
machinery, and build larger work-shops to enable

him to fill his orders. In 1K.J8 he built a large fac-

tory building at a cost of about $12,000, and put in

machine'T adaptc<l to making a greater variety of

Kooti*. When the Rebellion broke out, in 1860, he
had a large lot of wo<ilen yarn and manuiactured
goods on hand, which he sold at a high rate, and
fnm the profits upon these sales he built a large

brick factory with heavy buttressed walls, in 1862,
and put in carding and spinning machinery for mak-
ing woolen yarn. On February 1, 18r,5, he sold all of
his factory property to the Dalby .Mills Company, a

corporation organized with a capital of $200,000. The

new company, unfortunately, was of short duration,

Irom shrinkage iu values and other reverses. After

the Rebellion they were compelled to make an as-

nignment to their creditors, and the property was sold

in 18(57 to Lewis Colcm;in, of Boston. The large

wooden building erected in 1858 was destroyed by

tire on August 5, 1871.

The most extensive manufactory at the north vil-

lage of Newton, and one of the most important, is

that of the Nonantum Worsted Company, a corpora-

tion organized under the State laws, in 1867, with a

capital of half a million of dollars, for the manufac-

ture of worsted yarn. Mr. George S. Hall was its

(irst president, and Jlr. George F. Hall its first and

only treasurer. This company purchased the factory

property vacated by the Dalby Mills Company, and

at once started business by putting in new machinery

and apparatus especially adapted to their class of

worsted goods. The whole process of manufacturing

wool from the sheep's back, to the spinning, twisting

and weaving of the same into the finest and most

delicate fabric, is performed under their roof; and the

almost endle.ss variety of color, and beautiful tint of

soft shades to the yarns are produced by the artisans

of the dyeing and coloring departments connected

with their works. Hence, the name of "Starlight"

Worsteds, by which these goods are known to the

trade.

In 1880 another large factory building was added

to the " plant." The demand for a superior quality

of worsted machinery for their own use, and by the

worsted manufacluiers generally, incited this corpo-

ration to take a controlling interest iu the Newton

Machine Company, who built a large shop adjacent

to the worsted company's factory in 1886. The de-

sign and quality of their machinery is unsurpassed

bv any in the country. The worsted company give

employment to about six hundred operatives, and are

consigning their goods to all parts of the country as

well as to foreign markets.

The Newton Rubber Company has an establishment

which for completeness of equipment is fully equal to

any other similar concern of its size in New England.

Their factory issituated upon thebanknof the Charles

River at the Upper Falls, a few rods below the won-
derful " Echo Bridge." Their buildings and ma-
chinery are entirely new, having been built in 1888.

The machinery consists of washers, mixing mills, cal-

endars, presses, vuJcanizers, etc., all from the latest

and most approved patterns and workmanship. A
" Putnam " steam-engine of one hundred and twenty-

five horse-power is required to drive the machinery,
and the steam used for power, and for drying and
heating purposes in the rubber manufacture is gener-

ated in a " Hazelton " boiler. This company make a
specialty of manufacturing springs, adapted to all

kinds of machinery. Another branch of the manu-
facture is insulating material in sheet, rod or tube, as
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well as boxes or cases for secondary or storage batter-

ies, etc.

Perhaps one of the most important branches of

manufacture at the present time is that of tire and po-

lice system of telegraphy, or code of electric signals

for citlling out the various departments. The appli-

cation of electricity for transmitting signals or alarms

was first mentioned in an ariiclc in the Boston Daily

Advertiser, in June, 1S45, which article very likely

was written by Prof. William Channing, of Boston, a

gentleman who gave the subject considerable study

in its early conception, and in connection with Mr.

Moses G. Farmer, of Salem, a practical electrician of

those days, succeeded in making an apparatus of sufii-

cient perlection to test the experiment. The Hon.

Josiah Quincy, Jr., then mayor of Boston, recom-

mended its adoption in his inaugural address before

the City Council in January, 1848. Beyond the rec-

ommendation of the mayor, nothing was done until

1851, when the City Council appropriated $10,000 to

test the practicability of the system ; and under the

direction of Mr. Farmer tlie ajiparatiis was built and

placed in position, and the first successful otiSciai fire

alarm was tolled upon the bells of Boston in 1852.

About the year 1855 a co-partnership w.is formed

by Mr. John N. Gamewell and others of New York,

for continuing the fire alarm telegraph business, wlio

purchased all of the patents and interest belonging to

Messrs. Channing and Farmer, and they were success-

ful in the work of placing the system in most of

the principal cities in the country. Every improve-

ment which inventive genius and mechanical skill

could develop was secured by the company. Mr. Moses

G. Crane, who had been manufacturing fire-alarm

telegraph apparatus, moved his business from Boston

to Newton Highlands in 1873, having fitted up a fac-

tory for that purpose. His first year of manufactur-

ing in Newton demonstrated that the business would

not be a success under old conditions. Boston work-

men would not stay here without extra wages. Expert

workers being scarce and in great demand, he could

see no way out of the difficulty but to get young men
and train them. He did so and soon found that grad-

uates of the high and grammar schools made rapid

progress, and in a few years he had a corps of over fifty

as expert and reliable workmen as could be found in

the State.

His manufacturing was done almost exclusively for

John M. Gamewell & Co., of New York, until that

firm was succeeded by the Gamewell Fire Alarm Tel-

egraph Company, a New York corporation formed in

1877 with a capital of $750,000. Mr. Crane con-

tracted to do all their manufacturing, they to have

free usse of his patents duringthecontract time, which

arrangement continued until 1886, when Mr. Crane

sold to the above company his manufacturing busi-

ness and everything pertaining to it. The company
occupied his factory until 1890, when they moved
into their new and commodious quarters at Upper

Falls, where they employ above a hundred workmen.

It may not be out of place here to state that it is gen-

erally conceded that to Mr. Moses G. Crane is to be

credited a very large share of the great success of tel-

egraphic fire alarms as shown in its practical working

to-day. His inventions, the mechanical construction

and conscientious and perfect manufacture of the in-

struments and machines used therein, have been

greatly admired for their simj)licity and for llie per-

fect manner in which they perform their functions.

Their systems of fire and police alaim telegraphy

are in use in most of the large cities and towns of this

country, as well as in foreign lands.

Including machinist*, linemen and operators, this

company furnishes enipioyment to more than five

hundred men during the working seasons of the year.

The United States Fire Works Company whs or-

ganized at Portland, Maine, in February, 188(5, with

a capital of $10,000, for the manufacture of pyrotech-

nics. The next winter it was reorganized withapaid-up

capital of $20,000, and the works removed to Newton

Upper Falls, w-ith its business ottices and salesrooms

in Boston. This company manufacture the highest

grade of goods in their line of business; and have

given some of the finest and most elaborate exhibits

ever given in this country. Among the most notable

may be mentioned the displays given at the National

Military Drill at Washington, D. C, in May, 1887.

and witnessed by the vast assemblage gathered at that

festal occasion. These displays gave the company a

national reputation, and since that time they have

filled orders from all sections of the country—par-

ticularly from the fashionable watering-places in the

vicinity of Boston.

During the busy season the company employ from

fifty to sixty workmen in the manufacture of their

fireworks, and have an annual sale of at least $50,000

worth of goods from their laboratories.

Silk culture and manufacture is an industry that is

already well established in this country, and is one

that is rapidly increasing year by year ; it already oc-

cupies a prominent place in the manufacturing com-

munity.

The first attempt at silk culture on this side of the

Atlantic of which we find any record was made in

Virginia in 1623. Twenty-five years later it was or-

dered by the colonial authorities that every planter

should raise at least one mulberry tree for each and

every ten acres of land they owned, or pay a fine of

ten pounds of tobacco. A few years later the govern-

ment of Virginia offered a bounty of 5000 pounds of

tobacco to any one who should produce a thousand

pounds of wound silk in a single year. This impetus

given to silk culture so increased the production that

the bounty was withdrawn in 1666. This withdrawal

virtually ended the silk culture, for a time at least,

and planters turned their attention to the more profit-

able crops.

Several brief attempts at silk manufacture were
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IVrliai* the factory of Mr. .loiiiilhnn II. Cobb.of

Iv-lhani, in 1 •'.(<• <>r thereabontd, wa.^ on.' of tlie most

t! ;l ill lOiintern New Kiiplaiid. Hisi

|.i A , -ilk in \Ki7 amounleil to more

than lO.WK.l, and the entire production of the State

agitrtfrate^l at leant (l.'iU.UOd the name year.

.Mr. Cobb early intereated himself in silk culture,

•nd fn\e coniiiderable attention to growing the

ni ullierry tree and the feediii); of Bilkworiim. The

Miirut Miillimulit, or Chinese .Miilbirry, was the

luoKt proliBc in foliage and furnished a tender leaf

which wa-i a favorite of the worm. But our climate

proved to be too cold to admit of its economical

culture. Still, there was quite an interest manifest in

the agricultural coiiiiuunily generally in regard to

the propRgdiion of the mulberry, and the principal

nuMeryinen of Newton were among the numbers to

enter largely into the growing of the Mutlicaului.

f»everal large fields of the Chinese Mulberry were

cultivated in the years 183S to 1840, and thousands

of nilk-wornH were fed. But beyond the reeling of

mall quantities of ailk from the cocoons, nothing was

done ; and for the next ten or twelve years the silk

culture and manufacture in Newton was an item of

history. But in IK.'ii .Mr. .losepb W. Plimpton built

a large ribbon factory on Margin Street, Wcat New-
ton, and employed a number cf skilled workmen in

wearing a great variety of fancy ribbons and dress

trimmingi«. In Ihe statintics of industries of the Com-
monwealth, in 18.W, we find that Mr. Pliniplon's pro-

ductions amounted to $;i8,0()0, and the silk products
of the .""tale iiggfegatcd $7.')0,000.

In lH.'i7 Mr. I'limpton s)ld his factory to his super-

intendent, .Mr. Charles K. Garratt, who continued
the business about two years, when the works were
destroyed by fire in 18.59.

Karly in the sixties, .Mr. Isaac Farwell, Jr., started

a sewing silk (actory, at Newton Lower Falls, and was
quite successful in his enterprise. About the year
IHTO he removed \M machinery to Newton Village,
near the Watertow.i line, and continued the business
for a few years longer, then removing to Connecticut.

The cotton factory proi>erty belonging to the New-

ton Mills C.mipany iit the Upper Fulls, which hail

been idle for about two years, was |)urclia.sed by

Measrs. Walter T. Phipps and Franklin M. Train, co-

partners in business—late in the summer of 1K86.

The old cotton machinery was taken out, and silk

machinery put in its place, thus establishing one of

the largest and most flouri-ihing silk factories in the

State. The company give employment to about 225

operatives, and require 100,000 pounds of raw mater-

ial annually to supply their mill. The raw material

used is commercially known as " waste silk,'' and is

imported principally from Japan and China, with

occasional invoices from Italy. The manufactured

goods are, in the main, spun silk warps, used in

plushes, upholstery and dress silk goods—and some

hosiery work. The coloring department furnishes

any variety of shade required by the purchasers.

To follow a pound of raw material through all of

its various stages of manufa(^ture would occupy more

space than this article will allow, but, in brief, an out-

line of the process may be given. The first operation

is to tease up the waste or raw material into a loose

and flaky condition, and then plunge it into large

vats to steam or boil, to eliminate the gum and other

foreign substances adhering to it. Next it is rinsed

and placed upon a system of crates for drying. After

becoming thoroughly dried it is taken to the filling

and dressing machines, where the process of separa-

ting and straightening the conglomerate mass of fibre

is commenced. And by repeated operations upon

these machines, the fibres are laid out perfectly

straight. It is next put through a process of gill

machinery, and from thence to the spinning-frames.

The drawing and spinning machinery used for silk

is in many respects similar to worsted machinery,

with the exception of the adjustment of the draught

rollers, which must be made to conform to the differ-

ence between the lengths of the staple or fibre.

After the thread is spun to the required fineness

for the web, it is ready for finishing. By examina-

tion with a microscope a soft down or fuzz will be

seen along its surface, which must be removed. This

is done upon what is termed a " gasing '' machine,

where the threads are drawn rapidly through s. mild

gas flame, so regulated as to remove the fuzz without

in any way injuring the thread. Now the silken

threads receive their final finish, and are grouped into

the required numbers of threads for a warp, or are

reeled ioto hanks, as may be required for weav-
ing.

The demand for this company's goods has at times

been so great, that they were obliged to employ a
duplicate number of operatives, and run their ma-
chinery during the entire night-time, for weeks, and
sometimes for months together, to fill their orders.

In the summer of 1867 Mr. George E. and William
H. Wales, who lived on Greenwood Street, in the Oak
Hill district of Newton, started the fruit preserving
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business in a small way, under the firm-name of

Wales Brother.-?.

From the want of better accomodations, the first

season's work was done with an old cooking stove set

up under a large elm tree near their house.

The year's production was about fifty dozen tum-

blers of jams and jellies, and the gross amount of

sales realized nearly $600. The next season a small

building with two rooms about ten by twenty feet

each was provided for the business. In 1873 Mr.

George E. Wales purchased his brother's interest,

and since that time he has remained the sole proprie-

tor. The same year he built a new building twenty-

four by forty feet, and two stories high, to accommo-

date his steadily increasing demands for preserves.

In the year 1884 the works were removed to Uedar

Street, Newton Nen'.re, and a commodious new
factory erected, with about 8500 square feet of floor

space; and last year (1889) the production of pre-

serves reached 2500 dozens of tumblers, a^, a value of

nearly $25,000.

The value of the works in 1867 was about twenty-

five dollars, and at the present time about $7500 are

invested in building and apparatus for carrying on

the busineS'S.

At first the sales of the Messrs. Wales' goods was

slow, for they adopted the rule to commence with,

that nothing but good fruits and the best of sugar

should be used in their manufactory, which enhanced

the cost beyond that of other manufacturers. This

standard they have strictly adhered to.

They also adopted at the beginning the name of

" Home-made" preserves, a name well earned by the

scrupulous care taken at all times to keep everything

clean, pure and free from adulteration by chemicals

or coloring materials. These merits have given them
the first prizes at several exhibitions in mechanics'

fairs and other places. The goods are largely sold in

Boston and vicinity, although consignments are fre-

quently made to some of the principal Southern and

Western cities. Certain varieties are shipped to Eng-
land, China, and even to Africa and elsewhere.

In the year 1807 Mr. Ziba Bridges removed from

the town of Holliston toNewton, and purchased about

two acres of land with a forge-saop thereon, of Ed-
ward Fisher, at the Lower Falls, where he started

what proved to be a thiiving and profitable business.

A few years later he purchased a few acres of land

upon the lop of the hill near the Newton factories at the

Upper Falls, and built a brick dwelling-house, and a

frame forge shop upon the premises, thereby extend-

ing his business, in which he continued for about

twenty year?.

Mr. Bridges had two sons, twin brothers, who de-

veloped in childhood a strong mechanical turn of

mind. These lads had for playmates the sons of

Mr. Joseph Davenport,'' a near neighbor to them,

—

and as the Davenport boys were also mechanically

inclined, it was very natural for them to spend their

leisure hours in rudely constructing mechanical de-

vices wiih jack-knives and hammers. In alter-lile

these lads formed a co-partnership in business for

building railway cars.

Mr. Charles Davenport and Albert Bridges located

in Cambridgeport, and Mr. Alvin Davenport and Al-

fred Bridges in Fitchburg, and carried on their works

with a firm-name of Davenport & Bridges.

They made valuable improvements in the railway

car, first by building the long eight-wheeled car, with

end doors and platform such as are now in general

use.

Their second improvement was a peculiar mechan-

ical arrangement to give the body of the car an easy

and gracelul motion while running.

From the Msissachusetls Charitable Mechanics' As-

sociation report for 1837, No. 429, we make the fol-

lowing extract, viz.

:

"The improvement here claimed by Davenport & Kinibull (Mr.

Kinibuii \vii8 fiitlier in-law of Mr. Albert Hriiiges), we nudersttind to be

lirat, tlie manner of attacliint; tlie cars to tbe engine, us well an to each

other, by which the 8uddeu shock in gturtiug or stopping will be avoid-

ed. And secondly, the cars are to bo connected by a platform at the

ends. By this means one may jtass throngh the whole length of tlio

ti'ain on the inside, as the doors are at the ends of the car, and you enter

by stepping upon a platfoinl between them."

In the report of the same association for 1841, No.

378, we copy another extract, viz.

:

" Most persons who travel by railroad experience a continual repeti-

tion of sudden jars or shocks, arising from the eideway movements ot

the flanges of the wheels of the car against the rails of the track. The

improvement made by Messrs. Davenport & Bridges is to obviate the above

eflects of the lateral motion by springe, suitably arranged. And in order

to accomplish this the body of the car is supported on springs by means

of suspending or pendulous bars, which permit a lateral motion of the

running machinery, independent of the body of the carriage, and side-

springs are disposed so as to reduce the shock of the wheels upon the

rails. A letter written in a car with these improvements, while run-

ning at the rate of twenty-five miles per hour was exhibited, which to

all appearances was as well written as if done in a counting-room."

The inventors of these improvements in passenger

cars received a silver medal from the association.

By the foregoing extracts and descriptions it will be

seen that the valuable improvements in railway car-

riages at that time belonged to Newton's sons. And
very likely the early conceptions of them were made
in their native town, before developing them in their

workshops in other places.

In the extreme northeasterly part of Newton, quite

near to the Brighton line on South Street and upon

the eastern slope of the Norcross, or Waban Hill, was

the residence of Mr. Hiram Tucker, who was a paint-

er by trade, and who followed the business for several

yeais of his early life. He had a desire to improve

the quality of painters' supplies, and gave the subject

specia* study, which resulted in his compounding a

liquid bronze, for coating metals used in the manu-
facture of chandeliers, lamps, bedsteads and other

metallic household goods. The Penrhyn marble, or
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paintni »Ule, or olher ilooe or iron a»e<i for mantels

,„ :
Uirr of bU iuvrntious.

he Imill • large vnrnioli fiic-

,u,, ,1 lam, near hilt tl» ell-

lag. an I
r .jualily »( coacli-

varoitb, •biih be w»» t-iialileii to prwiuce by « fifcu-

liar nirlbiMi he had of irealiugir j<re|iuriii|{the(«il»Hini

olh«r tonj|K)unili> u«e«l in iu uiuiiufaiiure. From

riftht l<> lea thuuMMil gallon* i.f, variii»h was consiil-

efr<l bv bim to be a fair aiiiiuitl [iroiluilioii. He car-

,1, ii^iiniiui ill (.'oniii'Ction with

B,., .
!• linJ ill other loi-ali'ie«

ouUKleul .Newliia, uniil bi» denlli, only ii few years

•du, when the work* were (Jinomtinued, and his

building* utiliivd for olher |iur|>o«M.

Ill my re<u-ari'h for bii<lorii-ul matter and incidents

1 have •|>ent cou»i<lerable time in looking up old rec-

ord* at the Miildlew-x and Nurfulk resi-triis of deeds,

nil at other plair'^ where informalioiifoujd be found.

The U<>»toii I'ublic Library has been a (irolitic source

of valuable iiiforuuliun—«o has the Newton Library

;

and the town and city records have been of value in

preparinit this article.

I am also indebted to quite n number of the older

inhabitanls of our city f./r valuable a-iMistance in pro-

curiiiK many facts pertaining to the earlier iiidustriet),

both Irom record and memory, or tradition.

I am specially indebted to Ur. t'harles F. Crehore,

of the Lower Falls, for valuable records and docu-

ments connected with the paper manufacture of that

village; and from the citizens generally, whom I

have interviewed, I have received a willing and

hearty res|>«nBe to my interrogatories, for which I

return thanks for their kindness in assisting me in

the work.

CHAPTEK VIII.

AAMITO.V— ( Continiifil).

Cl.flW, SOrli;TIE,S, ETC.

»V KDWIN B. HASKEI.L.

Newton is n city of villages, mainly the homes of

people whose business is in Boston. Eight flourish-

ing villages have grown up on the lines of the two
railroadi which run throuah the cily limiis. These
arc thoroughly equipped with post-offices, stores,

churches, schools and public halls, making each
•ection essentially a <listinct community. There are

several others still in embryo about the new stations of
the so-called Circuit Railroad, which forms sUt ea.sy

means of communication between the diirerent sec-

tions. The number of villages has naturally led to

the formation of an unusually large number of clubs
and societies in proportion to the population, each

village having its full quota, while some of more gen-

eral interc-t have all parts of the city represented in

their membership. Of the latter class the Newton

Horticultural t^ociety is a good example, and, as it is

one of the oldest and most useful societies iu the cily,

it is proper lo give it the place of honor.

TlIK NKWTON HOIITICUI.TURAL SOCIETY.—This

society was the outgrowth of a series of meetings

held at Newton Centre by the active and enterprising

young men of that place. The first annual meeting

was held in Lyceum Hall, October IG, 18.34.

The cflicers of the permanent organization were

:

President, Alfred Morse; Vice-Presidents, John

Ward, Jr., and B. W. Kingsbury; Secretary, C. N.

Bracket! ; Treasurer, Henry Paul; E.xecutive Com-

mittee, Geo. K. Ward, B. W. Kingsbury and E. J.

Collins,

The society started under very favorable circum-

stances financially, and its all'aira were conducted by

those who were very much interested in its workings,

some of whom are the active nieiubera to-day.

The meetings were at first held at the houses of the

members, where horticultural and agricultural ques-

tions were discussed, but they soon outgrew the limits

of private accommodations.

It wss the custom in the early years of the society

to hold monthly meetings during the winter, at which

refreshments were provided, and the social part was

quite an important feature.

At the annual exhibition of the year 1856 every

section of the town (now city) was represented.

In 18(52 an exhibition and festival was held at

Newton Corner, the proceeds of which were placed

in the hands of a committee of three to be divided

among the soldiers of the town. Winter meetings

were held that year and they were addressed by per-

sons well known in horticulture. In April, 1866, a

menvber made a report in the form of an address,

urging a more sy>tematic efTort to destroy the cater-

pillar. The address was printed and distributed

among the residents of Newton. Successful eflbrls

were being made from time to time to increase the

membership of the society and, by a vote, ladies were
invited to join the society.

In the season of 1866-67 committees were ap-

pointed to study the habits of birds beneficial to

horticulture and to awaken an interest in the citizens

to set shade-lrees by the side of the streets. A series

of prizes were offered for the best and most success-

fully grown group of shade-trees.

A committee was appointed in April, 1868, to culti-

vate and propagate various plants, seeds and vege-
tables to be distributed among the members. Mr.
Henry Ross was chosen chairman of that committee,
and under his supervision a report was made in the
following spring that there were several' thousand
plants and many bushels of improved potatoes await-
ing distribution among the members.
For a number of years past the Agricultural Bureau
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at Wasrhiiigton has distributed seeds to the citizens of

Newton lliroiigli tlie society.

In 1875, in an essay read at one of the meetings on

" How to Beautify our City," the removal of fences

from the front of residences was advocated. The

society passed the following vote: "Jiesolved, That

the members of the Newton Horticultural Society use

their influence toward beautifying the City of Newton

by advocating the removal of fences from fronts of

residences, thus giving the effect of a series of parks

without the outlay of large sums of money."

A committee was appointed to prepare a list of the

best varieties of pears, which list was printed and dis-

tributed among the members and others.

The society has had a continuous existence for

over thirty-five years, and its members claim for it a

fair share of the praise given to Newton for its

beautiful streets, set with fine trees, the taste displayed

in laying out private places, and the absence of

fences.

The thanks of the residents of the city are due to

the members of the society who were present at its

birth, who have clung to it through its many years

of existence, who have given it energy and the ability

to perform its work and shed an influence over the

whole city. Among those who can be mentioned are

J. F. 0. Hyde, Geo. K. Ward, John Ward, C. N.

Brackett, John Stearns, Geo. F. Stone, Lyman Morse,

H. H. White, Wm. Aiken and Henry Ross. Among
those who joined later we find E. W. Wood, Geo. S.

Harwood, Chas. W. Eoss and many others.

The present ofiicers are:

President, D. D. Slade; vice-presidents, A. T. Syl-

vester and N. W. Farley ; treasurer, E. A. Wood
;

auditor, W. H. Gould ; executive committee, E. W.
Wood, C. N. Brackett, J. R. Leeson, 0. W. Ross,

L. H. Farlow.

The Jersey Stock Club of Newton.—On the

17th of May, 1866, a meeting was held at the resi.

dence of Hon. Wm. Claflin for the purpose of organ-

izing a club having for its prime object "The breeding

and improvement of Alderney or Jersey Cattle." At
this meeting a committee was appointed to prepare a

constitution and by-laws, and to nominate a list of

ofiicers for the club. The first organization was pre-

sided over by the following list of officers, elected

June 11, 18G6 : President, Hon. William Claflin ; vice-

president, Geo. C. Rand; corr€S])onding secretary,

Edwin F. Waters ; recording secretary, James T.

Allen ; treasurer, E. Porter Dyer ; board of directors,

J. J. Walworth, George Frost, Wm. E. Pluramer, J.

F. Edmands, Henry Billings, N. P. Coburn, Thos.

Rice, Jr. ; herd book committee, Thomas Drew,
George E. Allen, Joseph Walker.

A constitution and by-laws were adopted June 20,

1866. The club immediately provided itself wath

pure blood Jersey bulls for the improvement of the

herds owned by members, and yearly exhibitions of

stock were held until the year 1870, when the mem-

bership becoming so large as to make the club too

cumbersome as a social institution, it was dissolved in

January of that year.

Immediately after the first club was dissolved it w.as

thoughtbesttoformanotherone, limiting the member-
ship to twenty persons, and making it eminently a

social club, holding meetings at the residences of var-

ious members once in two monthi.

This new organization was formed on March 14,

1870, and the list of officers elected at that time was
as follows: President, George H.Jones; secretary and
treasurer, J. F. Edmands ; executive committee, George
Frost, John C. Chaffin, John C. Potter, Jr.

A constitution and by-laws were adojited at this

meeting and the club named " The Jersey Stock Club
of Newton." The object of the club, as declared, was
to promote the keeping and improve the breeding of

Jersey stock in Newton, and social intercourse among
the members.

The membership of twenty is always full, and is

composed of the most prominent citizens of the city.

The original members were: Isaac T. Burr, John C.

Chaffin, Hun. Wm. Claflin, Nathaniel T. Coburn, E.

W. Converse, Fred'k Davis, Hon. J. Wiley Edmands,
D. R. Emerson, J. F. Edmands, George Frost, Joel

H. Hills, David B. Jewett, David H. Mason, George
H. Jones, George C. Lord, John C. Potter, Jr., (Jeorge

C. Rand, Hon. Alden Speare, J. C. Stanton, Jos. IT.

Woodford.

The club has done a good work in this section of

the country in the introduction, by selection and im-

portation from the Isle sf Jersey, of a superior class

of cattle, and it is quite probable that the fine taste

for Jersey butter and rich milk has been cultivated

by its influence.

The club occasionally holds exhibitions of stock

owned by members ; the last show of this kind was
held on the ample grounds of the late Hon. John S.

Farlow, when forty-one head of the beautiful pure-

blood Jerseys were brought together, and eminent

breeders and prominent gentlemen from other parts of

the country were congregated at that time to pass

judgment on the cattle and their products. Actual

demonstrations like the above are feit far and wide,

and it is pleasant to note the influence as expressed

in all the country fairs, and more particularly at the

late State Fair of the New England Agricultural So-

ciety, where Jersey cattle and their products were

more prominent than all the other cattle on exhibi-

tion.

The present officers of the club are : President, E.

B. Haskell ; Vice-president, John S. Farlow;' Secre-

tary, Jos. H. Woodford ; Treasurer, A. Lawrence Ed-
mands ; Executive Committee, George Frost, John
C. Chaffin, John C. Potter.

Newton Natural History Society.—The New-
ton Natural History Society dates from the autumn

iDeceasei March, 1880.
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Krainme incluiln an eaaay on some fcientinc lubject

by a Mirnilwr of the »<H'icty or by un invited etwiiyiat.

Valuable feature* of the nieetinpi are the i-hort tiilks

gireu by nienibera upon iiulijeeiii which they have

been iMvr»lit;iilin({. Thei>e t«lk«, ilhmtriilt'il by the

blackboard, are t-»pecially calt'ulated to assist begin-

ner*, and Ui call attention to the niHiiy points of in-

terett iu things easily accessible. The Hociciy has

made a culleetion uf objecia pertuininf; to natural his-

tory, and by the lionation of Heveral valuable private

collectionn it hiw formed a nucleUH of a useful collec-

tion. Among it« recent gil'l.'< may be mentioned a

fine colli-clioii of plantu by the lale (icii. A. H. Umier-

wtMjd, a odieclion of minerals from Mr. Kiiward

Fearing, and another from the late Judge J. C. Park.

Until the society shall have a building of its own, it

will labor under a Herniun dinadvantage. To be of

us<-, its specimeuR <iught to be accet>.iible, and avail-

able for study and comparison. Since February 2G,

l."***;*, tlie«'>ciety has been incurporated under the lawg

of Massachusetts. With the organi/.atiou it already

poasesres, it is easy to claim a far higher degree of

usefulness when sufficient public interest can be

awakened to provide it with proper means for extend-

ing its work. Its meetings are helcl on the first .Mon-

day evei»ing of each month at Kliot Loner Hall,

-Newton. The public is invited to attend.

Ki.ircr Mkmoiiiai, As.«ofiArioN.—One of the

earliest incidents in the history of MasKacbusetIs is

associated with a portion of Middlesex County, and

the scene lies in what is no.w the city of Xewton.

Nothing but riyniiiuth Kock antedates, in historic

interest, the Hill Nonaiitum, where the Apostle Eliot

began his work anion); and for the Indians. The
Kliot Memorial Association has secured a plot of

grounil on the southern slope of Nonantum Hill,

off Kendrick Street and Waverly Avenue, and
erected a bandiiuinc stone terrace with freestone

balustraile, ornamented with allegoric design and
with appropriate inrcriptions. On the completion of

the memorial by the introduction of a fountain, or

other suitable decoration, the Eliot Memorial will

be given over to the i ity of Newton, and form one
of the most effective wayside monuments within its

borders. The scepe is one of the moat attractive

(Missible, overlooking the vfilley between Nonantum

and Waban Hills, and embellished, towards the

east, by two pleasant lakes and the spires of Brighton

and Boston. Newton has for its seal a representa-

tion of Eliot preaching to the Indians, and the

Eliot Memorial fixes upon the landscape the scene

so thoroughly identified with her history. The

principal inscription upon the memorial ter.sely

puU, with historic accuracy, the events commemo-

rated. It is as follows

:

••lUn «l Soniinnitn, Oct. 28, IMIl, in Wnban's Wiguam,

N«ir till! ipol. John Eliot begun to iiioiich the gospol to

Tli» Ilidinn*. Ili'ru wan fuutiJcd tlio lirst CliriBtifin

Coiiininnily of Imllnnn vvilliin the English Colonies."

Carved in the corbels of the balustrade are the

names Waban, Heath, Shepard and Gookin
; these

are the names of Eliot's companions at that first

service in 1046.

Eliot wrote in a little pamphlet, published in Eng-

land (" Day-breaking of the Gospel ") :
" Upon Octo-

ber 28, 1IJ4(), four of us (having sought God) went

unto the Indians inhabiting within our bounds with

desire to make known their peace to them." They

met Waban, " one of their principal men," and pro-

ceeded to his wigwam, where the first service was

held, Eliot preaching iu the Indian tongue, he hav-

ing, wjth infinite pains, learned their language, and

he was already engaged upon his translation of the

Bible. The interesting details of this and following

services have been often rehearsed. Eliot now
brought the Indians together in a village, gave them

spades and other tools, encouraged thera to plant

apple-trees and build walls and dig ditclies. To civ-

ilize and Cbristiauize at the same time was his aim.
" Wee have much cause to be very thankful to God,

who has moved the hearts of the General Court to

purchase so much land for them to make their towne,

in which the Indians are much taken with." "This
towne the Indians desired to know what name it

should have, and it was told them it should be called

' Noonatomen ' (sic), which signifies in English, ' re-

joicing,' because they, hearing the Word and seeking

to know God, the English did rejoice at it, and God
did rejoice at it, which pleased them much." (From
" Day-breaking if not the Sun Uprising of the Gospel

to the Indians.")

Five years later this community of Indians was re-

moved to Natick. Nonantum was too near the white

man's fire-water and attendant vices. The westward
march of the Indians then commences and has never

ceased, and now we have come back to the Apostle
Eliot's thought th.at civilization and Christianity

must go hand-in-hand to benefit the Indian.

In 1070, when the praying Indians were brought
up from Deer Island, after King Philip's War, many
of the Indians returned to Nonantum and settled
" near where Mr. Eliot first preached to them." A
school-house was built for them on land of Deacon
Trowbridge, and here Mr. Eliot continued to preach



NEWTON. 113

to them, and Daniel Gookin, a magistrate, held court

every fortnight.

Abraham Hyde, who was born a quarter of a cen-

tury later, remembered well the orchard and walls

and ditches of Nonantum,and spoke of their location

to Jonathan Homer, who wrote of the same in his

sketch of Newtou, printed in 1793.

Thus history and tradition unite in the site of No-

nantum, the Indian village, and it has been the good

fortune of the Kliot Memorial Association to fix upon

the landscape a memorial, as enduring as history itself,

of the scene where John Eliot began his work for the

Indians.

The Nevvton Cottage Hospital.—The need of

the city of Newton for an institution for the care of

the sick was first publicly suggested in the autumn of

1880. It was seen that the Boston hospitals were

usually full, that the danger from severe accidents

was increased by transportation to them, and that a

better result in all diseases was probable when treated

in the purer air of the suburbs. For these and other

reasons it seemed to some of the citizens desirable

that a hospital should be established in a healthful

location in Newton. A number of gentlemen met on

November 10, 1880, in response to an invitation signed

hy the mayor of the city and others, and voted unani-

mously that it was expedient to establish in Newton
a " Cottage Hospital." This name was adopted from

England, where for several years small buildings for

the care of the sick, frequently a cottage-dwelling con-

verted from its original use, had been established,

and with such favorable results in the treatment of

disease, as compared with the large city hospitals, that

their number increased rapidly.

These were called Cottage Hospitals, and even

where moderate-sized buildings were erected, espe-

cially designed for the purpose, the same term was

applied to them. It is an attractive designation for

an institution usually regarded with dread, and there-

fore was selected by the Newton organization. At the

meeting of November 10th a committee of twelve

was appointed to take the matter into consideration

and report a plan of action at a subsequent meeting.

The committee met November 26th and voted to es-

tablish the hospital as a private corporation, and
articles of association and by-laws were considered

and laid over for future action. The committee met
again December 18th and adopted a set of provisional

by-laws as a basis of action. The association, which
was subsequently constituted the Newton Cottage

Hospital Corporation, was formed December 18th by
the committee of twelve and nine other gentlemen.

This association met Jan. 4, 1881, and organized a

corporation by adopting a code of by-laws and elect-

ing a clerk, a treasurer and five trustees. The trus-

tees met January 6, 1881, and elected a president and
vice-president. The certificate of incorporation was
granted January 11, 1881. The first annual meeting

of the corporation was held January 17, 1881, when
8-iii

forty-three ladies and gentlemen who were present

were elected members, ami twenty-four trustees, twelve

ladies and twelve gentlemen, were chosen, and a clerk

and treasurer elected. At a meeting of the trustees

•January 22d, a committee was appointed to investi-

gate the subject of hospital buildings and report upon

the character of such as would be required. At a

meeting of the trustees, March Kith, the president,

Royal M. Pulsifer, announced that he had secured

twelve subscriptions of five hundred dollars each, and
a committee was appointed to decide upon a location

for the hospital and i)urcha8e the necessary land.

This committee examined several sites and reported

to the trustees from time to time; but no definite ac-

tion in the matter was taken until June 27, 1884,

when the trustees voted to purchase a lot on Washing-

ton Street, containing about nine acres, at §400 per

acre. This lot is beautifully 'situated, with a south-

western aspect, and has a frontage of 468 feet on
Washington Street. January 2, 1885, the trustees

examined plans and estimates for buildings, and ap-

pointed a building committee with full powers.

In the summer of 1885 the ladies of the city formed

a Ladies' Aid Association, which has always been an
invaluable adjunct to the hospital. At the trustees'

meeting, March 23, 1886, the Executive Committee
submitted a code of rules for the management of the

hospital which were approved. May 11, 1886, the

Executive Committee reported that they had appoint-

ed a Medical Board, and that this Medical Board had
prepared rules for the medical government of the

hospital. The buildings were erected in the winter

of 1885-86, and the hospital was dedicated June 5,

1886. The hospital was furnished by the Ladies'

Aid Association. The land and buildings cost about

$14,000. A peculiarity of the organization of the

hospital is that the two leading schools of medicine

are equally represented in the Medical Board. The
executive ofticer of the hospital is the matron. A
training-school for nurses has been established, which
performs an important use both to the hospital

and the community. A much-needed addition was
made to the hospital by a new ward, built by one of

the citizens of Newton, Mr. J. R. Leeson, as a me-
morial to his wife, at a cost of 16240. This new ward,

which is used for women, was dedicated May 4th,

1890.

The hospital is supported by an annual appropria-

tion from the city of Newton, by subscriptions of $300

each for the support of free beds, by donations, by
contributions in the churches on Hospital Sunday,

by income from funds which have been given by
sundry individuals, and by the amount received for

board and care of patients. For the year ending

December 31, 1888, over 18000 was received from
these sources ; the expenses for the yfear being about

$6000. The total number of patients in the hospital

for three years and five months was 373. There were,

Dec. 1, 1889, accommodations for twenty-nine patients,
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anJ ii> 1>^«' • •»•• wmrd WM «adea which uearly

s lAi. Aii> AsmHiATios.— Ill June,

IHSi. Ihv lru.»rni of the .Nr«t..li IVilUj!.'* Hospilal

Muirtl > call lu Ihe laair. »i Niwtoii. In r.»|MinM' to

thi« i«U. thirty-three lailie*, rcj.r««eutiDK mil the New-

k>a vill.pn.. heia • nieetinit at the Kliot Church,

NeKton. Julv », ls«.'i. Mr». Alvuh Hovey wiw chosen

cltairuian. " '•'»» '• *"• '''* J'"''''' °^

the truttrrai: Niwton f»rin tliemiclves

into an a»«Kiali<m to lurni«h the r m* and provide

for the ruMoinK rxpeuM-s ol llie himpital. The fol-

lonioi; mulutiuu waa adopted:

•• lltaDltiP, 1
'

UJm' aU .\m-

D tmoclmU IhrnurlYM ••

• ulklog for tbr boipllal."

A coniniiltee were appointe.l to arrange liy-lans.

Beptrmhrr '^-i, IHS.'., nn ortjaniailion nieotinKwas held

t t»iace ("hurcK Newton. A board of otliccrs were

elected, and it wan voti-d to adopt the name, " The

Newton IIoKpital Aid Aanociation."

The furni»liin(f of the ho»|.il«i waa accomplished

llir<inf:h ihc aKwicialion by contribnlion» from in-

dividuals, churches, literary societies and Sunduy-

•choidii.

Two director* are cho»cD each year to visit the

honpilal before each meeting, and contult with the

matron in rejraid to the needs of patients.

The director* have be» n responsible for the col-

lection of menibcrship fcts in tlicir various districts

and by their c:irnc»t ellorl.-' have interetted the people

to care for the sick ami give of their abundance to

alleviate sutlering and pain. There is a meuibeisbip

of over three hnndri-d ladie-s.

Thk Nkwtdn ATiiES.icrsf.—The Newton Athena>-

uni wan c)r|ianized«t West Xew;on in 184'J under the

peneral statutes of Massachusetts.

The stock was held in shares of ten dollars. Its

object was to maintain a library for the use of its

ahareholders.

Mr. Wm. B. Fowle, Sr., was chosen the first presi-

dent and the Hon. Horace Mann one of its directors.

The library was opened in a small room in the

Town Hall building February 2.5, 1850. It numbered

040 volumes, many of them gifts from members and

others.

At lintt the library was open on Mondays— after-

noon and evening—and " on Town Meeting days

during! the hours of each meeting."

As some tifty to one hundred citizens of both sexes

and all ages would be meeting at the library on these

Monday cveninirs " to exchange books and saluta-

tions," the supgcHtion wa.s soon made that they should

adjourn to the Town Hall, the use of which they

could have by furnishing fuel, lights and care, and
with the simplest organization devote a half-hour or

more to the diitcusaion of some interesting theme,

usually suggvstetl by the last new book. The ex-

jierinicnt proved satisfactory, and the meetings were

kept up from March 18th until late in the autumn,

when they gave place to a course of lectures given

under thJ auspices of the Alhenieum.

From that time on (with a few short lapses) meet-

ings of the same general character have been held
^

each season, the f.xercises usually consisting of short »

lectures, discussions and music, "home talent" i

being mainly depended upon for their support. These

meetings of the "West Newton Lyceum" have be-

come somewhat ncted beyond the town limits as be-

ing almost the sole survival of a class of institutions

once held in high esteem throughout New England.

lu May, 18G0, the library, containing 2000 volumes,

was moved to belter quarters and deliveries made

three times a week.

Until 18G7 only the families of shareholders and

persons paying a small annual fee used the library.

In that year the directors were authorized to allow

any resident of Newton to take out books. For

several years thereafter this was the only free library

in Newton.

In 1875 the library was removed to still more

spacious quarters, a reading-room was opened and a

daily delivery established. The directors were led

to this by the action of the town, which in town-

meeting had adopted, upon the petition of the

Athenaeum and upon the recommendation ofthe

Hon. J. Wiley Edmands, the policy of appropriating

money in aid of free incorporated libraries. The city

government endorsed and continued this policy until,

in 187(), it asiumed the entire support of the Newton

Free Library at Newton (Corner), since which time

it has ceased to do anything for the W^est Newtou

Library. It has, however, for several years paid a

part of the expenses of the reading-room.

The library contains (in 1890) 5500 volumes, and is

especially strong in. history, biography and travels.

The annual deliveries range from 8000 to 12,000, be-

sides from 4000 to 4500 volumes which are distributed

by the Atheuanim as the agent of the Newtou Free

Library.

The Newton Club.—Early in April, 1887, a cir-

cular was addressed by Mr. Austin R. Mitchell to

some forty or fifty gentlemen, requesting them to meet

at his residence, Walnut Street, Newtonville, to con-

sider the advisability of forming a social club for

Newton. The project was not a new one, as several

previous attempts to form a social club, which should

embrace in its membership gentlemen from all parts

of Newtou, had been made, but none with success.

The present, however, seemed ripe for such a pro-

ject. The Newton Circuit Railroad had recently been

completed, rendering communication between the dif-

ferent sections of the city easy and expeditious, and

the "Roberts House," so-called, the historic mansion

formerly occupied by General Hull, had lately changed

hands and become available for club purposes, for

which use its large and numerous rooms and close

proximity to therailroad station made it peculiarly fit.
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The greater part of those receiving Mr. Mitchell's

circular attended at his house on the evening of April

12, 1887, and it was unanimously decided to attempt

the formation of a club. A committee of twenty-two

was appointed to secure an act of incorporation from

the Legislature, and also to take all other necessary

preliminary steps.

The act of incorporation was signed by Governor

.\me8 May 26, 1887, and the club immediately organ-

ized. The first officers to serve the club were as fol-

lows: President, Royal M. Pulsifer; Vice-Presidents,

\VilIiam Clafliu, Robert R. Bishoj), Isaac T. Burr,

Levi C. Wade; Secretary, Edward W. Gate; Treas-

urer, Francis A. Dewson ; Executive Committee,

Henry E. Cobb, Prescott C. Bridgham, William M.
Bullivant, Moses G. Crane, Edward H. Mason, Wil-

liam J. Follett, J. Edward Mollis, Samuel L. Powers,

John W. Carter, Arthur C. Walworth; Committee on

pjjections, Lewis E. Coffin, George F. Churchhill,

George L. Lovett, Henry C. Churchill, Eben Thomp-
son, Harry W. Mason, Sydney Harwood, Austin R.

Mitchell, Frederick L. Felton, James W. French.

The Roberts House was at once leased, but it was

not until the following October that the necessary al-

terations in it and its furnishing were completed.

()q the evening of December 19, 1887, the club-house

was formally opened with a reception, which was at-

tended by some three or four hundred of the most

prominent citizens of Newton. While the member-
ship of the club is composed exclusively of gentlemen,

it has always been the policy of its management to

extend its privileges in some degree to ladies. With
this end in view, a number of entertainments have

been given each winter in the club-house parlors,

and a reception has become an annual feature. The
club is now in its third year; its membership has

steadily increased, and includes many of the best-

known and most influential residents of the city, and
gives promise of being a permanent feature in the

social life of Newton. >

Newton Civil Service Reform Association.—
The Newton Civil Service Reform Association had
its origin in a suggestion made by Rev. Henry Lam-
bert at a meeting of the West Newton Book Club,

held April 1, 1881. At this meeting Messrs. Henry
Lambert, E. P. Bond and N. T. Allen were appoinled

a committee to secure the co-operation of other citi-

zens of the ward in forming a civil service reform

organization. In accordance with a notice published

in the West Newton Transcript, and signed by these

gentlemen and twenty-two others, a meeting was held

at the City Hall, West Newton, April 20, 1881, at

which was adopted a preamble and constitution for

the " West Newton Civil Service Reform Association."

The organization started with nearly eighty members
and the following list of officers : President, Rev.
Henry Lambert ; vice-presidents. Rev. Increase N.
Tarbox, Henry A. Inmau ; treasurer, John J. Eddy;
secretary, Fisher Ames ; directors, Thomas B. Fitz,

F. F. Raymond (2d), Arthur Carroll, Alfred L. Bar-

bour.

At the. annual meeting, .\pril 24, 1882, the name
of the society was changed to the "Newton Civil Ser-

vice Reform Association." Since that time it has

aimed to make its lists of members and officers repre-

sentative, as near as may be, of ihe entire city.

The officers elected at the annual meeting April 22,

1880, were: President, Rev. Henry Lambert; vice-

presidents, Leverett Saltonstall, John S. Farlow, Ed-
win B. Haskell, Robert R. Bishop, Wm. P. Ellison,

Edwin P. Seaver, Nathaniel T. Allen; treasurer,

Stephen Thacher; secretary, James P. Tolman; di-

rectors. Thomas B. Fitz, Edward P. Bond, F. F. Ray-
mond (2d), H.E. Bothfeld. The number of members
December, 1889, was 127.

The association, by its executive committee, has

adopted and published resolutions on many occasions

of moment in the progress of the reform. It has

usually sent several representatives to the meetings

of the National Civil Service Reform League, and
has always sent delegates to the Massachusetts

League ; has each year contributed to the support of

the National League, and h.as distributed the litera-

ture of the reform very freely among its members and
others.

In 1885 the association published and circulated

a historical sketch of the movement, in the form of a
pamphlet, by President Lambert, entitled "The Prog-

ress of Civil Service Reform in the United States."

In behalf of the association the executive commit-

tee has frequently addressed letters of inquiry to

public officers and candidates for office. Its corre-

spondence with Hon. John W. Chanler, then Rep-
sentative to Congress from the district, led to the

organization of the independent movement which
elected Hon. Theodore Lyman to Congress in the

fall of 1882, and apparently much hastened the pas-

sage of the National Civil Service Act in January,

1883.

Pine Farm School.—In the year 1863 a farm

containing about twenty-five acres on Chestnut
Street, corner of Fuller, West Newton, was purchased

and fitted as a home for boys living in such exposed
and neglected circumstances as to be likely to fall

into vicious habits.

In June, 1864, the place was dedicated by appro-

priate exercises to the purposes for which it had been
obtained.

lu 1865 an act of incorporation was granted by the

Legislature to the Boston Children's Aid Society, the

members of which had been united in starting and
carrying forward the enterprise. Mr. Rufus R. Cook,
familiarly known as " Uncle Cook," acted as agent,

and sent to the home such boys as he found in the

city morally exposed, and who in his judgment could

be saved if placed under better influences.

The number of boys to be in the school at one time
is limited to thirty, and it is designed to be a home in
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the lrue.t anJ liiichr«l *on»f. The b«y» allend sihool

r
'
iV, niiii on .Su.-ulay ntt«nd

1 niwl Suntlaj ncliuol. Tin-

,, the tc«ilur rtsiiling

,.- ' .11 u|> liy llie piireiitu

or KU»r.lmii» U) the care of the mK-ii-iy lill eighteen

yrur» f( a\:v, IxiuK received hetwceii the agcji of iiiue

lid lilttin year*.

Altir nil 1 until, in the judg-

luriii of 111 Killy l>elwecn one and

tun jriar"). tiu-y nfc nulluuiiily tmined to do well,

they are |<l«ovd in nonie family, bnt lire vtill under

the car© of the aociety, a viitilor being continunlly

rmployed in viaiting them to nee that they arc well

. .ired for in their new homen. Helween twenty and

tinny Imi\^ are UMinlly aent out in n year, and the re-

sult- nhow that n very Urge |UTcentage of these boys,

from their piirenls and iduecii under belter in-

<*, may be navcd from the criminal life almost

certain to follow an the reitult of their evil surroui.d-

ing«. Indolent and injudicious parents, to itny nothing

of thiwe who are intemperate and criminal, make

many homeii the training-xchool for Uvea of lawless-

ncv and criminality. l>urin^' the quarter of a cen-

tury of the exiatence of I'ine Farm l^ihool there has

been no death among the boys and but little serious

illnriut. They rood yield to a kind but linn disci-

pline, and with regular diet and sleep, improve in

bodily health.

Kkiif.«ca I'omekoy Newt(in Home for Ori'HAN
(iiiii.f.— In the year 1K72 Mrs. Rebecca R. I'omeroy,

with the aid of friends, assumed the care and support

of four little girls who were made homeless by the

disbanding of the " Girls' School " connected with the

"Boston Children's Aid Society." This was the

nucleus of what has grown to be the " Rebecca Pom-
eroy Newton Home for Orphan fJirls." With rare

indiistrj', tact and thrift combined, it has been en-

ablol to feeii, clothe and educate its twenty inmates

during thf pa.st seventeen years, mainly from the

gifts of the women of Newton, although generous aid

ba<i been given by friends, both old and young, in

neighboring cities.

The present location of the home on Hovey Street,

Newton, was purchased by the citizens of Newton as

a memorial to its founder, Mrs. I'omeroy.

There have been connected with the homefiftv-two
orphan and destitute girls. The number who have
completed a full course of training, and have gone
out prepared to enter up(n life-work well equipped
to earn a livelihood, is eighteen ; the number re-

turned to friends, able to furnish good homes for

them, ten. Three are married. Nineteen are now
earning a support. Not one has died at the home,
and only two since leaving it.

When thoroughly prepared each girl goes to ser-
vice in a place carefully secured in a good family, a
country home preferred. A bank-book is provided
and all savings above necessary expenses are depos-

ited in the Newton Savings Bank. The treasurer of

the " Home" corporation has now in her care nine

such books with an aggregate of six hundred dollars

invested.

(')ne of the lady directors, in connection with the

superinlendent, continues watchful care and over-

sight of these girls after leaving the home, as would

a good mother.

The principle involved in the management of the

home is unique. From each of the twenty-seven

Protestant churches of the city one or more ladies or

gentlemen are secured. These constitute a Board

of Corporators, who, at an annual meeting, elect :i

Board of Directors, upon whom devolves the imme-

diate management of the home.

It is an unwritten law that each of the Protestant

religious sects in the city shall, if po.ssible, be repre-

sented upon this Board of Directors. It is not true

that sectarianism in any objectionable sense ever has

been or could be justly charged to the home.

The public are cordially invited to visit the home
and witness the spirit which animates the whole

household, and to remember it is only by the gener-

ous gifts of its friends that the home has been en-

ablied to seek and save many a friendless orphan girl

and elevate them to virtuous womanhood.

Firemen's Relief Association.—The above as-

sociation was organized August 2, 1878, and incor-

porated December 4, 1884, with the following list of

names as incorporators:— Henry L. Bixby, F. H.
Humphrey, W. S. Higgins, Bernard Early, H. H.
Easterbrook, George H. Haynes, Charles W. H. Boul-

ton, J. E. Trowbridge, F. D. Graves, T. C. Nickerson,

W. S. Cargill, John Dreary.

The object of this association is set forth in the fol-

lowing preamble :

" WiitREAS, tho members of the Fire Department of Hie City of New-
ton are liable, in tho discharge of their duty, to many casualties to which
citizens are generally nut exposed, and,

" Wherkas, Tliese casualties are fiequently very injurions, and some-
times ruinous to liealth, comfort and pecuniary circumstances of those

on whom they full

—

*'lt is therefore,

" lletokcJ, by the undersigned, being all members of the Newton Fire
Depaitineiit, that we form ourselves into a society for the purpose of
nialeriul aid and assistance, under the calamities to which the public
duties of firemen may expose them, and for the better inanaselnent and
control thereof we accept the following constitution, by which we mu-
tually agree to be governed."

The pre.sent fund is maintained by annual assess-

ment of each member, by public contributions, and
the small amounts realized from public entertain-
ments.

The present amount of this fund is $2200, depos-
ited in savings banks.

Tho officers for 1889 are Henry L. Bixby, presi-

dent; W. S. Cargill, vice-president
; Willard S. Hig-

gins, secretary and treasurer.

Young Men's Christian Association.—Some
time during the summer of 1877, Dr. H. B.Jones was
impressed with the necessity of doing some special
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work for temperance, and for tliat purpose invited

about a dozen gentlemen to meet at his house to con-

sider the subject.

While discussing the temperance question it was

brought to the notice of those present that there were

a number of young men in Newton whom the

church did not reach, and it was considered desirable

to take some united action to supplement the church

work, and at the same time do more for temperance

than was being done. To this end it was suggested

to unite Christian workera from all the evangelical

churches as a Young Men's Christian Association.

A public meeting to consider it was called at Eliot

Lower Hall, October ItJth. (.^uite a large number of

gentlemen resi>onded to the call and the meeting was

organized with Mr. E. P. Wright as chairman and

Mr. George S. Trowbridge as secretary. Dr. H. I?.

Jones eloquently presented the object of the meeting,

and was followed by several others, awakening con-

siderable enthusiasm in the matter. It was voted to

organize an association and a committee was appointed

to prepare a constitution and report in one week, to

which time the meeting adjourned. At the adjourned

meeting the organization was perfected, a constitution

adopted and the following board of officers elected :

President, George S. Harwood ; vice-president, Geo.

S.Trowbridge; secretary, Geo. C. Dunne; treasurer,

F. M. Trowbridge ; directors, Edward B. Earle, Ed-

ward W. Cate, J. M. Kalloway, Dr. H. B. Jones,

Daniel E. Snow.

The association was fairly launched, and has been

an active organization ever since, doing good work

in its chosen field. Its anniversary occasions are

always of special interest, and at its last one, when

Eliot Hall was well filled, the erection of a Y. M.

C. A. building was advocated, which has so awakened

public opinion to its necessity that active efforts are

being made in that direction with very gratifying

results.

The presidents since its organization have been :

George S. Harwood, one year; G. D. Gilman, three

years; H.J. Woods, three years; D. E. Snow, two

years; R. F. Cummings, two years; and D. Fletcher

Barber, who is now serving his second year.

The Newton Sunday -School Union.—This

Union of the Sunday-schools of the town of Newton
for the discussion of practical questions, designed to

prepare teachers and oflicers for better work, was organ-

ized December IS, 1838, with Hon. William Jackson as

its first president. Six schools comprised the Union

at its bitth, and its earliest anniversaries were held in

groves, with processions of children, addresses from

|)rominent citizens, and large gatherings, as their

features. Its regular meetings were then held

monthly, but afterwards made quarterly, changing

from village to village on Sunday evenings,-each Sun-

day-school there reporting its condition. Through

its enterprise a colporteur was maintained in 1849 and

subsequently to labor in West Virginia and Ohio.

October 16, 1863, the Union celebrated the twenty-

fifth anniversary of its organization with an address

by Ilev. A. L. Stone, D.D., of Park Street (Boston)

Church, in the first Eliot Hall. June 27, 1863, the

100th anniversary of the organization of Sutday-

schools by Robert Raikes was celebrated in the new
Eliot Hall, with an historical address by Rev. Brad-

ford K. Pierce, D.D., and a centennial hymn by Rev.

S. F. Smith. The singing upon this occasion was by

a choir of 350 children from the various scliools,

trained and conducted by Mr. George S. Trowbridge.

In 1860 the Union represented a Sunday-school mem-
bership of 1405; in 1870, 2870; and in 1880, 3085,

teachers and scholars. Meetings have been held reg-

ularly all these years. October 19, 1881, a gold medal

was oli'ered as a prize for the best essay on " Sunday-

School Interests." It was subsc(jiiently awarded by

the committee to Mr. D. E. Snow, who had served as

secretary of the Union from 1869 to 1877 and as its

president during the year 1878. Among the promi-

nent citizens of Newton who have served as its presi-

dents may also be mentioned Messrs. Marshall S. Rice,

Deacon Ebenezer F. Woodard, Frederick A. Benson,

George S. Harwood, Joseph A. Newell, General A. B.

Underwood and Hon. J. C. Park.

The Goddard Literary Union.—The Goddard
Literary Union was organized October 28, 1874, in the

Universalist Church at Newtonville with forty-four

members and the following officers : Robert P. Gould,

president ; Lewis E. Binney, secretary ; C. B. Fille-

brown, treasurer. Its object was " Religious, Mental

and Social " improvement. Its membership consists

only of those connected with the above church.

Regular meetings are held twice a month, and " Pub-

lic" concerts or plays are given about four times a

year. The vestry, where meetings are held, is finely

adapted to "these plays, being fitted with stage,

scenery, foot-lights, etc., and combining this advan-

tage with Ihe fact that plenty of talent is available,

and earnest, working committees can be easily chosen.

Some fine jilays as "Once Upon a Time," written by
Mr. H. N. Baker, a member ;

" High Life," by Mr.

Monday, another member ;
" Longfellow's Dream," a

fine amateur play, and "Among the Breakers," one

of Walter Baker's famous dramas, have been most

successfully rendered to crowded houses. By tliis

means the Union has been able to make handsome
contributions to the cliurch funds, its yearly subscrip-

tion having been as high as $500.

At present (1889-90 season) the membershij) has

grown to about 165, including prominent business

men, and a large percentage is composed of real active,

working members.

The Union is in a flourishing condition and gov-

erned by Ihe following officers : President, Rev. R. A.

\fhite; Vice-President, F.M.Whipple; Secretary, W.
Henry Cotting ; Treasurer, Alfred B. Tainter.

The Tuesday Club.—The Tuesday Club was or-

ganized November 1, 1877, for social and literary
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I.u.iu. II. HiickhiKbain. I'b.D.. Mr. Calvin Brooks

rrwotl, Hon. Williams, (liinlner, (iemriil .Vdin H.

Underwo<Kl, the Kev. Dr. 11. K. IVirce, the Hon.

John ('. I'ark.

Tbe prtDcnt lint of niembem i« iis follows : Mr. Wil-

lUa) C. Batm, Kev. Dr. Wultott t'ulkiiirt, Hon. Wil-

liam I'lnllin, Mr. K. H. fuller, Kev. J. B. Gould, Mr.

R B Hfti.krll, W. S. Hutchinson, M-mi., Kev. V. B.

Horiibr.H.ke, Hon. K. (". rilinun, Mr. Edwnrd Saw-

yer, Kev. Dr. tieorpe \V. Sbinn, Kev. Dr. L. K.Smith,

Kev. Henry (i. Spnublinp. Dr. Lincoln K. Stone,

Hon. Hemnn M. Burr, Dr. Willinni W. Jaciiues. The

offieera for tbe current year are : President, E. Sawyer;

Secretary, tJ. W. Sbinn ; Treanurer, L. R. Stone.

XKwrosvii.i.K. Wo.MAS's (iuii.ii.—The Newton-

Tille Woman's tiuild was founded March 21, 1884, by

a few ladies, wlm, led by one who had piven the sub-

ject much careful thought, had succeeded in matur-

ing n broail and comprebeosive plan for a society,

which, it was hoped, would unite the women of New-

tonville from all churches and all neighborhoods, for

the purpone of charitable work, intellectual improve-

ment and social inlercour><e.

It WHS thought, in the lieginniiij:, that the Newton

Cottage Hospital, which then existed only in the

minds of its projectors, would form a good basi.s for

the Work of tbe society, an 1 with the hospital the

(iuild has always been identified in the minds of

Newton people, a standing committee having its in-

terests in charjre.

Aside from this work, however, the Guild has done

far more, through its charitable committee, to relieve

such local need as exists in Newtonville, than is gen-

erally known, and has always responded, to the' ex-

tent of its means, to any nutaide call for aid.

<5n its social side, it has done a work eminently

worth doing in l>ringing into agreeable intercourse

many Newtonville women, who might otherwise

never have known of each other's existence.

Meelinpt are held once a fortnight from October to

May, lor literary instruction and entertainment.

At present, December, 1889, the Guild has an ac-

tive working force of more than 100 members.

Nkwton Centre Wo.me.n's Ci.iin.—In .January,

1887, l'o»tr,2, <i. A. K., invited from the pulpits of

the churches in Ntwton Centre all intere.sted in the

relief of disabled soldiers and their families to meet
on the afternoon of January lUh, to devise means for

raising additional funds for that purpose.

At that meeting a board of five oflSccrs and a com-

mittee of twenty-one, representing the four churches

of Newton Centre, were chosen to co-operate with sim-

ilar organizations in other wsrds in the city in the

management of a Soldiers' Fair.

At the close of the fair this committee, with its

officers, twenty-six in all, formed a permanent organ-

ization called "The Ladies' Union." A constitution

e fol-
i

was adopted and a president, vice-president, secre-

tary and treasurer at the Soldiers' Fair were elected

to the same positions in the new club.

In February, 1888, the membership was doubled,

and in November of the same year a new name was

adopted—" The Newton Centre Women's Club."

It is both a literary and charitable association. Ac-

cording to its constitution, "At each regular meeting

there shall be a paper read, by some person engaged

for the purpose, or some entertainment of a literary or

educational interest."

Its charitable work has been chiefly in connection

with the purchase of " The Children's Play-ground."

The first contribution, twenty-five dollars, received by

the Newton Centre Improvement Association for this

purpose was made by this club in October, 1888, and

by a recent entertainment, "The Festival of Days,"

about $2,500 was realized for the same object.

The club now numbers about fifty. It holds its

meetings tbe last Friday in each month at the house

of one of its members. Its original and present ofh-

cers are :—Mrs. R. R. Bishop, president ; Mrs. Charles

(irout, vice-president; Miss Anna C. Ellis, secretary
;

Mrs. D. B. Claflin, treasurer.

"The Neighdors."—On the evening of January

1.'), 1878, at the house of Rev. Alvali Hovey, D.D.,

LL.D., in Newton Centre, the following-named gen-

tlemen met and organized a club for the purpose of

literary culture, and for the promotion of social inter-

course among its members, viz. : Robert R. Bishop,

Edwin F. Waters, AldenSpeare, William E. Webster,

-Vlvah Hovey and Thomas L. Eogers. The same

evening it was voted that the name of the club be
' Tlie Neighbors." The number of members is lim-

ited to twenty-five.

The meetings are held upon the first Monday even-

ings of every month from October to May inclusive, at

the houses of the members, in rotation, the host upon

each occasion acting as chairman. The secretary for

eleven years, until his removal from the city, was
Thomas L. Rogers.

An executive committee of four, annually elected,

together with the secretary, attend to the appoint-

ments, presenting new names for membership, and
whatever other business may arise. The members
are expected to present in rotation essays upon sub-

jects selected by themselves and previously announced,
followed by comments by the other members and
guests.

Among the subjects presented to the club are two
at least which have led to lasting and beceficial re-
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suits in the village. In December, 1S7S, Rev. A. E.

Lawrence gave an address upon "Village Improve-

ment," which was the immediate cause of the organi-

zation of the Newton Centre Improvement Associa-

tion, still in the height of its vigor and usefulness.

In April, 1888, Hon. Robert R. Bishop road a paper

entitled, " What Can We Do for Newton Centre ?" in

which was first presented the plan of improving the

low land in the centre of our village and laying out

an e.'ctended public park and play-ground.

The present members are : Charles C. Barton,

Elisha Bassett, Robert R. Bishop, Dwight Chester,

Judson B. Coit, George E. Gilbert, Albert L. Har-

wood, Alvah Hovey, William E. Huntington, Amos

E. Lawrence, Edward H. Mason, Theodore Nickerson,

Herbert I. Ordway, William E. Webster, Avery L.

Rand, Thomas L. Rogers, J. Herbert Sawyer, Edwin

P. Se;iver, Aldcn Speare, Oakman S. Stearns, Arthur

C. Walworth.

Formerly members : Samuel F. Smith, Edwin F.

Waters, Charles P. Clark, Albert D. S. Bell, William

C. Strong, Samuel L. Caldwell, Emil C. Hammer,

Bradford K. Peirce, Walter Allen.

The Young Men's Social Union of Newton
Centre.—In the autumn of 1882 the Rev. Edward

Braislin conceived the idea of a non-sectarian club

which would unite socially the young men of Newton

Centre. To carry out this idea a meeting of young

men was called.

A constitution and by-laws were adopted and the

following officers were elected to serve six months

:

President, R. W. Waters ; secretary, G. G. Sanborn
;

treasurer, E. S. Lyon.

Executive, membership and missionary committees

were also chosen for a term of three months.

Admission to membership wa.s made conditional only

upon the acceptance of the candidate by the member-

ship committee and his signature to the by-laws. No
membership fees were asked, as it was the wish of the

founders of the Union that no obstacle should be put

in the way of any one who wished to become a mem-
ber of the Union.

The offer of the free use of the Baptist Church

Chapel for meetings was accepted and the monthly

meetings soon interested nearly all of the young men
of the village.

Programmes of literary and musical exercises and

debates were given, and the Union had the cordial sup-

port of the citizens of Newton Centre.

In the year 1884 a course of popular entertainments

was given under the auspices of the Union, but the

main financial support has been the voluntary con-

tributions of its members and friends. In 1885 the

membership was ninety-five, and until its dissolution

in 1886 it was highly successful in fultilling the pur-

pose of its organization.

AuBL'RNDALE IMPROVEMENT SOCIETY.—The Or-

ganization of the Auburndale Village Improvement
Society dates from October 31, 1883. Its objects, as

defined in the first article of the constitution, are the

beautifying and adorning of the streets and public

grounds of the village, especially by planting trees

and shrubs, and caring for and pre<erving the same
;

to create and encourage in the community a spirit of

improvement that shall stimulate everyone to seek to

make his own surroundings more attractive; to

attend to matters affec'ing the jiublic health ; and to

provide such entertainments aj the Board of Govern-

ment shall think proper. Soon after the organization

of the society an opportunity offered itself to secure

a public hall in the village, by obtaining control of

the lately disused Williams Scliocd building. The
society promptly raised about $10(10, and fitted up a

neat hall, having leased the building from the city

for five years. Another public benefit aided largely

by the society is the tunnel beneath the tracks of

the Boston & Albany Railroad uniting the two sec-

tions of the village. Whenever there has been

opportunity to carry out its purposes the society hiis

striven to do all it could. It has assisted in clearing

the streets of rubbish ; it has set out and cared for

shade-trees; it maintains bulletin boards in various

locations. At the present time it is interesting itself

in securing access for the public to Charles River

over ways that have been unlawfully closed up. In

all ways where public interest is aroused, the society

stands ready to push matters through its organization

and, numbering, as it does, on its roll the names of a

large number of the most influential citizens, its in-

fluence is capable of accomplishing much by way of

permanent improvement.

West Newton Women's Educational Club.—
This club was formed in July, 1880. In the autumn

of that year its membership was largely increased,

and the meetings were held at first monthly and

afterwards fortnightly. The club soon outgrew the

accommodation of private parlors, and was fortunately

able to secure the commodious parlor and supper-

room of the Unitarian Society for its regular meet-

ings. Its range of discussion has been broad, includ-

ing Woman Suffrage, Temperance, Domestic Econ-

omy, History, Biography and Art. It has made a

special study of municipal affairs, going through, as

an object lesson, all the forms of an election. One
afternoon in the year is devoted to descriptions of

summer outings ; another is given to short essays of

ten minutes on practical or literary subjects. The
club has a " gentleman's night " at New Year's, and

an annual supper in May. It interests its members

ia the public schools, and was instrumental in intro-

ducing the regular instruction of the girls in sewing.

It supports a scholarship at the Tuskegee Normal
School for Freedmen in Alabama, and every year

sends to it contributions of money and clothing.

Woman Suffrage League.—The Newton Non-
partisan Woman Sufl!rage Le.ogue was organized in

West Newton in March, 1885. The objects of this as-

sociation, as stated in its constitution, are " to procure
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Hon. William Claflin wa« thoai-n preiiiili-nt ;
Mr. !^.

Warren l>»»i«. »eiretary ; Mr». .Jainea 1'. Tolman,

Irrtuurrr.aml \\n. E. -N. I.. Wallim, cliairiium of the

KliH'iilivr • '<iniliiilt€^.

M the rlixe of ihf fiml ynir Mr. ('JHlliii rrsiKiieil,

antl H"n lloliert «'. rilninii win lieitttl iin<l Hervod

two yearn. Thf |.ri-m-nt oflut-rn (l«Ki| are : Mr. Na-

thaniel T. .Mien. |>rti<iilrnt ; Mm. Ixjuioe A. Chap-

man. »ecreUry; Mr*. Janiea 1*. Tolman, trea»urer

:

with three »i(e-|ir.«iilenl» and an Kxecutive Commit-

tre i-f tell rr|.r«iteiilatiTrK, iiicii anil women.

I^af^iie ha« been the ineaim of exciting much

lit on the »ubjeit, ami of extcmling a belief in

the value of eijual aiiirniKe, to man an well as to wo-

man.

It ha* held each year one or two public meetings

in the t'lty Hall and elsrwheri-. and several smaller

parl'ir mcetiiipi in the various villii(ru» from Auburn-

dale lo Newton.

It has also furiiiabc*! sjieakers to the West Newton

Lyceum when the subject of woman's sulFrage ha.sbeen

debated, thus reachin); a large clasa not otherwise ap-

proachable. Among the must interesting speakers at

iheir various mcelirigs have been Mrs. Lucy Stone,

Mr. 11. 11. lllackwell, Mrs. Julia Ward Howe, Mrs

Mary .V. Liverniore, .Mn*. K. D. Cheney, Mrs. Laura

Omiiston Chant, of Kngland ; Sirs. S. S. Fessenden,

of the W. C. T. v.; Hon. J. C. Wyman, of Rhode

Island, and T. W. lligginson. Some meetings have

l>een held in the interest of school sulTrage especially,

and they have done much toward placing and keep-

ing wimien on theSchiHjl Board. Mrs. Electa L. N.

Walton and Mrs. Abby K. llavis have been the most

active and inlluential members of the K.xccutive Com-
mittee of the league.

" The I'l.AYKKrt."—This is the name of a dramatic

aaauciation, orgsnized March Iti, 1887, composed of

active and associate members. The active members
take part in dramatic performances, of which six are

given every sea.Hon at City Hall, West Newton. The
associate members are limited to loO, each paying an

annual fee of eight dollars, and receiving two tickets

for every entertainment, The associate membership
has been full from the beginning, with from fifty to

seventy-five names on the waiting list. The first per-

formances were on the evenings of May i:5 and 14,

1HH7, when Ityron's comedy, "Our Hoys," was given.

Among the ollu-r pla)s produced have been " London
Assurance," "<»ld l^nc Letters," " Rough Diamond,"
"A Russian Honeymoon," " Randall's Thumb," and
"Engaged." These plays have been given with dra-

I matic skill and ample stage efTects. The officers of

;
the association are as follows : President, George H.

l'hel|)8; vice-president, John A. Conkey; treasurer,

Edward C.Burrage; secretary, Pierrepont Wise. The

above named, together with William T. Farley, T.

E. Stutsoii and Herbert S. Kempton, constitute the

Hoard of Directors.

Thk Monpay Eveni.ng Club.—This club was

established at the suggestion of Mr. J. H. Nichols

and Dr. Win. E. Field. The first meeting was held

November 5, 1880. The number at first was limited

to iwcnty-five members, but it has since been changed

to thirty.

Meetings are held twice a month for five months of

each year beginning in December.

The dub has a constitution and by-laws. The of-

fice of chairman is filled by members, succeeding al-

phabetically each evening from season to season. The

secretary is chosen annually by ballot.

Each member has to subscribe to the constitution

and by-laws.

Four successive absences forfeit membership, unless

excused by vote of the club.

The secretary organizes the meetings, at eight

o'clock and selects the chairman. The period from

eight to nine is devoted to regular business and to

five-minute talks by members in turn, at the call of

the chairman. From nine to ten there is an essay by

one of the members and its discussion. After the

eesay a collation is served. The meetings are held at

the residences of the members in turn.

Newton Congregational Club.—In the minds

of many members of the Congregational Churches

in Newton there had existed a feeling of the necessity

of some organization which would bring together the

Congregational Churches from the different sections

of the city for the sake of a more intimate acquaint-

ance, and thereby more concerted action in church

work. The great drawback had been the lack of a

ready means of communication between the churches

on the south and north sides of the city.

During the year 1885 a communication written by
James F. C. Hyde, appeared in the Newton Journal,

calling attention to this need of the churches, and
expressing the hope that, when the " Circuit Rail-

road," which was then building, was completed, af-

fording the desired communication between the dif-

ferent portions of the city, a Congregational Club
might be organized.

On October 13, 1886, in accordance with this sug-

gestion, an invitation, signed by five pastors and three

deacons, was sent to the pastors, the deacons, the

standing committees, and Sabbath-School superin-

tendents of each of the seven Congregational Churches
in Newton, to meet on Wednesday evening, October
20th, at ihe parlor of the Second Church, West New-
ton, to consider the expediency of forming such a
club.

Rev. Henry J. Patrick was chosen chairman of this
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meeting, and William B. Wood, secretary. It was

voted to form a Congregationiil Club, and a committee

was appointed to draft a constitution and by-laws.

An adjourned meeting was held at the same place

the following Wednesday evening (Oct. 27th), and a

constitution and by-laws were adopted. The objects

of the club, as expressed in the constitution, are " to

encourage among the members of the Congregational

Churches of Newtou, a more friendly and intimate

acquaintance, to secure concert of action, and to pro-

mote the spiritual life and efficiency of the churches."

Jtegular meetings are held on the third Monday of

each month, from October to March inclusive. The

January meeting is the "annual meeting" for the

choice of officers, etc. The membership is limited to

150; each church was ent'tled to ten members (this

was afterwards amended so that the largest church,

the Eliot, is entitled to sixteen members, and the

smallest church, the North, is entitled to four mem-
bers), and the balance of the 150 (or eighty members)

is divided pro rata between the different churches,

according to their resident membership. A vote was

j)a8sedat this meeting that it is desirable that ladies

attend the regular meetings as guests of the mem-
bers.

Another adjourned meeting was held November 3d,

and the organization completed by the choice of offi-

cers. At the annual meeting, the following January,

the same officers were re-elected for the year 1887,

viz.: President, Hon. James F.C.Hyde; vice-presi-

dents. Rev. Henry J. Patrick, Dea. William F. Slo-

cum ; secretary, William B. Wood ; treasurer, Daniel

E. Snow.

The succeeding presidents have been : Granville B.

Putnam, in 1888; Albert L. Harwood, in 1889 ; and

Winfield S. Slocum, Esq., who is now serving for the

year 1890.

The club started with an "original membership"

of forty-six ; its present membership is 112.

In the selection of topics for discussion, the aim

has been to confine them to such as have a special

relation to the interests of the Newton churches, and

the club has been addressed very largely by indi-

viduals selected from its own membership; although

it has listened to others from abroad also, includ-

ing Rev. Francis E. Clark, of the Christian En-

deavor Societies; Rev. Reuen Thomas, D.D., of

Brookline ; Chas. W. Hill, Esq., of Roxbury ; Rev.

E. B. Webb, D.D., of Wellesley ; Rev. David Gregg,

D.D., and Rev. E. K. Alden, D.D., of Boston ; Rev.

Alexander McKenzie, D.D., of Cambridge; Pjof.

J. M. English, D.D., of Newton Centre ; Rev. A. E.

Wiuship, of Somerville ; Rev. A. E. Dunning, D.D.,

of Boston; Rev. Arthur Little, D.D., of Dorchester;

Rev. A. G- Lawson, D.D., of Boston.

The meetings have been held in the parlors and
chapel of the Second Church, West Newton,' which
is well adapted, both by location and arrangement,

for the purpose. Assembling at five o'clock, a social

time in the parlors is enjoyed until supper is an-

nounced at six o'clock. This is spread in the chapel,

after which, the tables having been cleared, the

meeting is called to order about seven o'clock and the

exercises for the evening taken up.

The meetings have been most enjoyable and

profitable, a pleasant feature being the presence of a

goodly number of gue><ts to participate with the mem-
bers in the privileges of the club.

The Newton Boat Club.—The Newton Boat

Club was organized September 1, 1875. Its first boat-

house was a cheap structure on the shore of Charles

River, near the foot of Islington Street, Auburndale.

The location was not favorable, especially for mem-
bers living in other villages, but the club remained

there, with varying fortune, holding several regattas,

until it entered into new and much better quarters

and a broader scale of existence, on the completion

of its new club-house at Riverside in the summer of

1886. Here is a handsome and commodious building,

with ample space for boats, bowling alleys, dancing

hall, pool table, etc., inside, and tennis courts in the

spacious grounds outside, all within two minutes'

walk of the Riverside Station on the Boston and

Albany Railroad, from which frequent trains run over

both sides of the "Circuit"' through the Newton
villages to Boston. And so far as the opportunity

for the pastime of boating is concerned, there is

nothing belter in the country. From this point to

Waltham, two miles below, and to Newton Lower

Falls, one mile above, the Charles winds through a

succession of charming sylvan views, here and there

varied by glimpses of cultivation and ornamental

architecture. The large dam at Waltham makes the

current very light, and the limpid waters are alive in

the boating season with every variety of light craft,

canoes, propelled by paddles, being the special favor-

ites of the last two or three years. There are several

hundred light and graceful boats owned and in con-

stant use on this lovely stretch of water, and a good

portion of those who propel them are young ladies.

Newton Boat-Club house and grounds, quite a val-

uable property, is owned by a separate corporation,

the stockholders of which are friends and generally

members of the club. The club leases the property,

pays a rent equal to the interest of the money in the

plant, and will gradually invest its surplus income in

the stock until it shall acquire the whole. The club

has an active membership of about 200. The annual

assessment is $15. During the winter months the

club-house is a favorite resort for bowling. The
officers of the club for 1890 are: President, William

S. Eaton, Jr. ; Vice-President, Sydney Harwood

;

Treasurer, Charles \V. Loring ; Secretary, Horatio

Page; Captain, William A. Hall.

The We,sleyan Home.—The Wesleyan Home was

incorporated in 1883 and organized in December of

that year. Its first money was the savings of a little girl

in Taunton, Mass., who, in her fatal illness, expressed
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B dwiro to (cive ail her uioDey to « home for orplians.

Tl, . I to about twenty duUam.

], inclmlini; « i«|<iioioiii< anil

Wi-loy Slrci't, NewtDii, from

tml nil finluniiiflit I'uilil ol

$3),(W •""" Hon. J.. r. Th.- lioii-o fiir-

ni^biriR WM nlfcj |>ro»i i
. ^ i.rouii frii-iidsi— Mri*.

C'harim W. I'icive, the fmuily of lion. Jacob Sleeper,

ami olbem. The innlitution wi» originally intended

for orphan and diJtitule children. Later it« acopo

n ,- rice the care of children of

\\, . working in foreign fields.

The tiuiblwi); allordnaccoiiiiiiDilHlioiis furatiiuit twenty

children. It \» presided over by ii matron, nided and

adviiwd by a boarti of nianaKent, compoiied of twelve

ladica who renide in the neighboring villiigen. Children

are taken at the age of fuur years or over. They have

home trainini; and care, and attend the pulilie schixdM.

Thine hIio ran all.inl it pay fn>m *litii to $110 a year.

Othera are taken free. Ollicers: I're-ident, Hon.

Alden Speare; Vice-rrcaidetit", Hi.thop U. 8. Foster,

Hev. J. H. (Sould ; Secretary, J. K. Prescott ; Treas-

urer. K. W. Gay; Matron, Mii>8 A. Thompson.

TllK Nkwtiin Fancikr-s' Ci.i'li.— In view of the fact

that Newton ha<l a lar^e ininiberof breeders of thor-

oughbred poultry, and ipiite an interest had been devel-

ope«l throu^rhout the city in regard to the same, some of

the mont prominent breeders deemed it advisable to

form an aaitociation of those interested, and n meeting

of fancieri wan called, which resulted in the formation

of the Newton Fanciers' Club, Deia;niber 22, 1888.

The object of the club is to aid and encourage the

breeding of thoroughbred poultry by holilirig exhibi-

tions and furnishing such iiiformalion as may be

dccme*! expedient. The tint exhibition given by the

club wa« held in Armory Hall, Ward One, February

r>. f. and 7, 188!t, and was one of the largest held in

the Ksst outside of ISoston. Birds were shown from

several of the New Kngland States and from New
York. .Vrtiticial incubation was carried on in the hall

during the exhibition. The attendance was excellent,

among the visitors beingsome of Newton's most prom-

inent citizens. The following are the officers of the

club elected at the time of organization : President,

W. R. .\therton ; Vice-i>rcsidents, .lohn Lowell, Jr.,

F. A. Hondleite, E. T. Kice, C. B. Coffin ; Secretary,

Geo. Linder, .Ir.; Treasurer, \V. W. Harrington.

• iiiNoiiKi^iiN As.-" )fiATiox.—This association h.is

n location at Newton Upper Falls. It was organized

in 18«;8 and incorporated in 1872, It is a literary as-

sociation, meeting once a month from October to

May, inclusive. It has seventy-live members and a

library of a miscellaneous character, numbering about

.W) volumes. Its officers at the |)resect time (18".t0)

are as follows: President, Frank Fanning; Vice-
prexident, H. A. Smith; Secretary, W. F. Bird;
Treasurer, .lohn A. Gould, .Ir.

Granh Akmy op tiik Rv.vvm.ic.— Charles Ward
J'utI, No. 02.—This post of the Grand Army was or-

ganized July 21, 18(58. The ten charter niombers

were Wm. ll. Fowie, A. B. Underwood, Thos. P.

Haviland, J. Cushing Edmund--, Fred. S. Benson, All-

hton W. Whitney, Ho.sea Hyde, George S. Boyd, I.

F. Kingsbury and .Vlbert Pluinmer. Captain Wm. B.

FowIe wiLs the first commander. The post has been

(|uite active since its formation. The total number of

members borne on it.s rolls has been 334, and those

now enrolled are about 150.

The post was named for Sergeant-major Charles

Ward, of the Thirty-second Regiment JMassachusctts

Volunteers, who was wounded at Gettysburg, Pa., July

2, ISO.'!, and died there July Olh, being only twenty-one

years of age at the time of his death. His remains

were brought Imine and deposited in the Newton

Cemetery.

The amount expended for charity since the organi-

zation of the post has been $9,.5!)2.22. Amount ex-

pended from the post fund, .i?12,310.39. Total, $21,-

n02.GI.

A handsome lot in the beautiful Newton Cemetery

has been provided by the city and consecrated as a

"soldiers' lot."

The present officers of the post are: Commander,

S-imuel S. Whitney ; Senior Vice-commander, Charles

W. Swcelland ; Junior Vice-commander, Seth A.

Ranlett
;
Quartermaster, E. E. Stiles ; O. D., Samuel

A. Langley; Chaplain, S. E. Morse; Surgeon, J. L.

Sears; O. G., Cbas. A. Twitehell ; Adjutant, E. Gott;

S. M., Benj. Hopkins
; Q. M. S., Joseph Owens ; Sen-

tinel, Wm. J. Holmes.

Newton Centre I.mprovement Association.—
The people resident in Newton Centre have for

many years shown an active interest in the subject of

village improvement, for as far back as 1852 there

was formed the Newton Centre Tree Club, having for

its object, as quoted from its constitution :
" The orna-

menting of roads, lanes and public places, by plant-

ing trees and shrubs, and preservinff those already in

existence, and the encouraging of land-holders to lay

out their roads in manner according with the general

convenience and taste." The main efforts of this

society seemed to have been directed to planting

trees, and in this work much good was accomplished
;

but its life was short, covering only a jieriod of about

two and a half years.

Again in ISO!) an executive committee of twenty-

four was appointed in a mass-meeting, who should

have "special charge of the local interests of the

village, particularly in regard to sewerage, gas,

water, police, railro.ad facilities and the development
of the natural advantages of the village." The
records of this committee's work have been lost and
we are not able to give in detail their labors, but one
most important object was attained at about thie

time, and presumably largely through their influence

and wfth money raised by their efforts. When the
Mason School was built the town owned scarcely any
land on the east side, and the lower half of what is
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now known as the school-liouse lot was owned by

private jiartics and covered with .11 tenement-house,

blacksmith and wheelwright-shop. By private con-

tribution this land was purchased for the town and is

to-day one of the finest school-house lots in Massa-

chusetts.

In the fall of 1879, mainly through tlie efforts of

]\[r. Edwin F. Waters, a public meeting was called

looking towards the organization of a society which

should take in hand those matters which are every-

body's business and therefore nobody's business. The

first meeting was held September 10, 1879, though

the final organization was not effected and constitu-

tion adopted till March 22, 1880. The first officers

were: President, Hon. John Lowell; Vice-Presidents,

Edwin F. Waters, Wm. C. Strong ; Secretary, Lewis

E. Coffin; Treasurer, Dwight Chester; Executive

Committee, including the above officers, E. M. Fowle,

Samuel M. Jackson, Rev. E. P. Gould, Hon. James

F. C. Hyde, E. B. Bowen, Rev. A. E. Lawrence, D.

B. Clafliu. Hon. John Lowell held the oflSce of

president for two years, and in 1882 Rev. Amos E.

Lawrence was elected to the office and re-elected the

following year. Iij the years 1884, 1885, 1886 and

1887, Mr. William B. Young most efficiently guided

the Association as its leader, and for the two years

1888 and 1880, Mr. Dwight Chester held the highest

official position. At the annual meeting in April,

1890, Mr. J. R. Leeson was elected president for the

ensuing year.

The work of the Association has been much varied.

It has, worked in harmony with the city officials, of-

ten leading in an improvement which would not be

begun by the city, and always aiding in every public

improvement.

Trees have been planted every year, and in variety,

so that there is hardly a street in the vilhage which

has not its one or both sidewalks lined with trees,

all vacant places having been filled by the Association.

The common, extending from the junction of Cy-

press and Centre Streets, north to Lyman .Street, cov-

ering three large pieces of ground, has been graded,

grassed and planted with trees and shrubs, and orna-

mented with flower-beds. All triangular pieces of

ground at the junctions of streets have been reclaimed

and are now kept as lawns. In one or two instances

land has even been purchased and improved at street

junctions, and the entire bank of the Sudbury River

Conduit from Centre to SummerStreet has been made
a beautiful grassy slope from a rough and unsightly

bank of earth. The Association was instrumental in

securing and contributed towards the improvement

on the lake front at Lake Avenue.

A feature of its labors has been provision for the
' public entertainment during the winter, and it has

been a rallying centre around which all citizens have

gathered without distinction of clique or sect, thus

assisting largely towards that fraternity of spirit char-

acteristic of the village.

The celebration of the 4th of July has for a num-
ber of years been undertaken through a special com-

mittee, funds being raised by subscription for the

purpose. It is not an incorporated body and for its

funds has been dependent on the annual membership
fee of $1 per member and such profits as have been

derived from entertainments under ils care. It has

never been in dtbt; it has raised and expended over

it!4400 and through its efforts the city has expended

about the same amount in this ward on public im-

provements, besides much money that has been con-

tributed and spent through its efforts, not passing

through its hands.

The village long needed a public hall, and through

discussion at the annual meeting in 188G steps were

taken by many of the citizens which resulted in the

purchase of the old Baptist meeting-house by a cor-

poration called the Newton Centre Associates, who
removed the building to land which they had pur-

chased, refitted it for its present use and established

in the vestry a free public reading-room which is sup-

poited in part by the Associates and by the city.

At the annual meeting in 1881 a committee was ap-

pointed to see what could be done towards furnishing

the boys with a play-ground, for the play-ground

which had been on the Common for years could no

longer be used for that purpose. From time to time

various reports and suggestions were made and tem-

porary grounds provided, and at the annual meeting

in 1888 the following gentlemen were appointed a

committee to provide a permanent play-ground :

—

Messr.s. Hon. Robert R. Bishop, Alden Speare, Mel-

len Bray, Edward H. Mason, Daniel B. Claflin, Ar-

thur C. Walworth, J. R. Leeson.

The committee have carried their labors over two

years, devoting, for a good portion of the time, one

evening each week to the purpose, and contributing

of their energy, business foresight, tact and money.

The result is the purchase of a tract of land from

Centre to Pleasant Streets, extending al.so north to

Homer Street, containing about twenty acres, bought

from seven individuals, costing .over $25,000. The
city of Newton gave $10,000, and the balance, over

$15,000, was contributed by the residents of Newton
Centre. The Improvement Association gave $1400

from its funds. It is the plan to lay out this land

with ample play -ground facilities for boys and girls,

and the remainder for ornamental park purposes,

Hon. J. F. C. Hyde and Mr. J. R. Leeson having offer-

ed to contribute an extensive herbarium.

The re-location of Union Street, just accomplished,

and a new station on the Boston and Albany Rail-

road are results of the efforts of a special committee

appointed by the Association for the purpose.

All these things show what has been and may be

attained as the result of co-operation, and as year by

year passes, the power of the Newton Centre Im-

provement Association for all that tends tothejjublic

welfare increases, and the fact that it endorses any
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plan gi»«« imuie«»uu> »oa |K)werful ioipetu* to the

lUUVtflUfDi.

NkwtoS r»oillblTlOS LBJUiiK.—The LeMKiieha*

|,,j ,11 ,
'ue Ihe *uiiiiiier of 18ST,

bul ..u i: ry 1 1, 18SS, «ta iiiortiiig

hrlJiuil.. 1 ". \Vi-l Nc«ion. a con-

.tiiuliui. .I..I I'K-I. »"' 'I'l' f-'ll""'"?-

lunutl |>»r».iii» wrre cliiiern olliccni for llie ciisuiiiR

y««r:- rnmJout, Myron L. llfiiry ; Setruliiry, (i.

Lyman Suow ; Trr«»urtr. David H. FilU; Kxecii-

liic I'ouiuiitiro, KJwin F. Kinibnll, Henry A. Inmiiu

11,1 (hn olli. cm of Ihe Ix-aKUc. The niottoc-H of ihe

I,, tcil lU that meet iuj;, were :
" Jvlucate,

a,.,! , ,ie." Terms to the l-ii|iior Trallic;—

•L'ncomlilional nurremler: we i>ro|.o»e to move iui-

nirdialely u|H>n your work«."

The lolUiwiiig have been »omc of the niostt prorai-

nciil and active membem of the League: Hon.

Uobirt «.". rilnian and William II. Partridge, of New-

ton ; Trof. Kd*in V. Kimball, Dr. Levy Parker,

Henry A. Inman and N. C. Pike, of West Newton
;

Janim .M. fior.lon, IC-v. W. U. Ncwhall, Myron L.

Henry, Frank F. Davidnon, of Auburndale; Kev. W.

H. Cobb, Jamei! Cutler and Kuel W. Waters, of

Newton Centre.

The I^eague ba.t been inntrumental in largely in-

creaning the intcre.-t in pr<iliibition in Newton by

holding numiTous public meetinpi*, bringing into the

city Ruch i.piaker.1 as the H )n. John P. St. .lohn, Mrs.

Mary Livermore, Voliiey B. Cushing, Kev. Thomas

Dixon, Jr., Hon. W. H. Earl, Rev. Dr. Gordon, Kev.

O. P. Gilford and Kev. Dr. Miner. Judge Pitman, of

Newton, has been among the most logical and con-

vincing of till- Hpeakers. The increased interest has

"Fireside Trav.i iu.uiher. Last season thirteen

representative novels were reviewed and discussed.

Next year " Media-val History," " Greek Literature "

and "Topics of the Day "will form the programme.

A large siereoplicon is owned by the club, and has

added much to the interest of many meetings.

The social features have been varied and success-

ful. Club suppers, dinners, Dickens parties, a dis-

trict school, costume parties, the Peak Sisters, and

other social entertainments have been given. To

these many friends of the club have been invited.

Harmony ha.-< always prevailed in this organization,

and one might travel far to find a club which has sus-

tained for twenty years as well its work, membershii)

and individual character.

MABOSlc.—J)alhnmic Lodge.—Ch&rtered June -'4,

18GL Its regular meetings arc on the second Wed-

nesday of each month, at Masonic Hall, Newtonville.

Annual meeting in June. Officers for 1890 : John

Vf. Fisher, Master; George P.Whitmore, Senior War-

den; Robert Bennett, Junior Warden; Edwin W. Gay,

Treasurer; E. E. Morgan, Secretary ; G. W. Blodgett,

Chaplain ; Elliott J. Hyde, Marshal ; George A. Glea-

son. Senior Deacon; C. W.Brown, Junior Deacon; C.

A. Kellogg, Senior Steward ; A. F. Winslow, Junior

Steward; H. E. Boothby, Inside Sentinel ; George H.

Brown, Organist; Alex. Chisholm, Tyler.

Newton Eoijal Arch Chapter.—Chartered June 17,

1870. Regular meetings second Monday of each

month, at ]\Iasonic Hall, Newtonville. Officers for

1890: Dr. Wm. O. Hunf, E. H. P.; H. A. Thorn-

dike, E. King; George Breeden, E. Scribe ; G. D. Gil-

man, Chaplain ; D. E. Binney, Treasurer ; S. F. Chase,

Secretary ; A. L. Harvard, P. S. ; G. A. Gleason, R. A.

been shown in the enlarged vote from o2, the largest C. ; Jas. Pickens, M. of 3rd V. ; C. F. Mason, M. of

vote previously recorded lor a Presidential candidate,

to 212 voles cast for. Gen. Clinton B. Fiskeat the last

election.

The Evehy Satirday CLun.—The Every Satur-

day Club, of Newtimville, was organized in 1870. Its

officers are a president, vice-president, secretary and

treasurer, and an executive committee. For enter-

tainments a special committee is appointed. Its

membership is strictly limited to forty ladies and

gentlemen. .Vmong the members are clergymen,

lawyers, private and public school teachers, the sec-

retary ol the State Board of Education, publishers

and business men. The meetings have been held of

late years every other Saturday night, in private par-

lors, from < Iclober to May. Its main object has been

lit^Tary work, and every member, both ladies and
gentlemen, is expected to contribute a paper each

season. These papers are read or talked by the

writers, ami afterwards discussed. English literature,

from Chaurer down, hius been considered ; also, in con-

nection with the special author, the history of the

limes. Shakespeare has Ijeen studied for several

years. One year Hawthorne and Art alternated.

" Kepreseatative Americans" occupied one season;

2nd v.; John Glover, M. of 1st V.; G. H. Brown,

Organist; Alex. Chisholm, Tyler.

Qethseviane Commanderij, K. T.—Chartered May 20,

1872. Regular meetings third Tuesday in each month,

in Masonic Hall, Newtonville. Oflicers for 1890

:

Geo. T. Coppins, E. C. ; R. G. Brown, Gen.; C. A.

Peck, Capt.-Gen. ; J. W. Fisher, Prelate; George

Breeden, S. W'. ; A. Nott, J. W. ; F. K. Porter, Stand

Bearer; J. P. Browning, Sword Bearer ; K. W.Hobart,

Warden; Alex. Chisholm, Armorer; Geo. E. Bridges,

Sentinel ; G. H. Brown, Organist.

Union Masonic Relief Association of Massachusetts.—
This association is located at Newtonville. It has

paid out in benefits since its organization $85,848.

Its membership now numbers about 500. Officers for

1890 : President, Luther E. Lelaud, Newton Lower
Falls ; Vice-President, Jesse H. Walker, Newton-

ville; Clerk, Joseph W. Grigg, Newtonville; Treas-

urer, Robert L. Davis, Watertown.

Independent Ordeu OF Odd Fellows— Waban
Lodge, No. 156.—Instituted April 19, 1871. Meets

every Thursday at Cole's Hall, Newton. Officers for

1890: N. G., Geo. A. Fewker; V. G., M. C. Rich ; R.

Sec'y, R. A. Oldreive ; P. Sec'y, Geo. H. Manley
;
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Treasurer, Geo. P. Rice; W., W. S. Ring; Con., L.

Ashley; I. G., J. H. Robblee; O. G., E. Bown ; R.

S. to N. G., A. Nutting; L. S. to N. G., J. R. Rob-

blee; R. S. to V. G., F. Tainler; L. S. to V. G., R.

Chapman ; R. S. S. ; L. y. S. ; Chap., ;

P. G., W. Howes.

Home Lndge, No. 1G2.—Instituted Aiiril 3, 1S73.

Meets Thursday eveningaat Od 1 Fellows' Hall, New-

ton Highlands.' Officers for 1890 : N. G., G. N. B.

Sherman; V. G., R. Blair; Sec'y, F. A. Watson;

Treasurer, J. Wilds; W., J. Tern perl ey ; Con., B.

Strocic ; I. G., P. McKenzie ; O. G.. A. R. Roath ; R.

S. to N. G., W. Bemis ; L. S. to N. G., J. S. Richard-

son ; R. S. to V. G., C. Gould ; L. S. to V. G., W.
Hockridge ; R. S. S., W. E.stelie; L. S. S., W. Skid-

more ; Chap., G. Loomer ; P. G., A. Muldoon.

Newton Lodge, No. 92.—Instituted June IT), 1887.

Meets every Thur.-day at Knights of Honor Hall,

West Newton. Officers for 1890 : N. G., Wm. E.

Brown; V. G., Wm. B. Collagan ; Sec'y, Wm. E.

Glover; Treasurer, Geo. H. Baker; W., R. L. Wil-

liams ; Con., F. F. Patterson ; I. G., W. P. Scamman ;

0. G., J. L. Christie; R. S. to N. G., J. Anderson;

L. S. to N. G., E. W. Bailey ; R. S. to V. G., H. E.

Johnson ; L. S. to V. G., W. B. Davis; R. S. S., J. D.

Cooper ; L. S. S., C. M. Potter ; Chap., C. W. Carter

;

P. G., 0. S. W. Bailey ; Organist, Geo. E. Trowbridge.

Garden Cily Enrafpment, No. 62.—Instituted in

188C. Meets first and third Moudaysof each month, at

Cole's Hall, Newton. Officers for 1890 : C. P., C. E. A.

Ross; H. P., Geo. A. Fewker; 8. W., M. C. Rich, J.

W., E. A. Dexter; R. S., M. Bunker; F. S., J. L.

Curtis ; Treasurer, Geo. O. Brock ; G., F. H. Hobart;

Ist W., B. F. Barlow ; 2d W., E. A. Kennedy ;
3d

W., W. A. Prescott; 4th W., Geo. W. Bush ; I. S., C.

0. Davis ; O. S., G. S. Noden.

Royal Arcanum— Channing Council, No. 70.—In-

stituted April, 1878. Meets first and third Tuesdays

of each month at Arcanum Hall, Newton.

Triton Council, No. 547.—Instituted August, 1883.

Meets second and fourth Mondays of each month at

Knights of Honor Hall, West Newton.

Echo Bridge Council, No. 843.—Instituted June,

1881. Meetings first and third Wednesdays in each

month at Quinobequin Hall, Newton Upper Falls.

United Order of the Golden Cross.— Crescent

Commandery, No. 86. — Instituted January, 1880.

Meets fir.-t and third Mondays of each month at

Knights of Honor Hall, AVest Newton.

Order of the Iros Hall—Branch No. 39?.—Or-

ganized September 28, 1886. Meets first and third

Tuesdays in each month at Cole's Hall, Newton.

Branch No. 39.'i.—Meets first and third Tuesdays of

each month at Knights of Honor Hall, West Newton.

Sisterhood Branch.—Meets in West Newton.

Royal Society of Good Fellows—Newton As-

sembly, No. 39.—Organized October 27, 1886. Meetings

held first Wednesday evening of each month in

Knights of Honor Hall, West Newton.

Auhvrn AsKcmbly, No. 142—Meetings held in Au-

burn Hall, Auburndalc.

KNIGHT.S of Honor—Eliot Lodge, JVo.G38.—Insti-

tuted June 1, 1877. Meets first and third Mondays of

each month, at Masonic Hall, Newtonville.

Garden City Lodge, No. 1901.— Instituted in 1879.

Meets first and third Tuesdays in each month, at

Knights of Honor Hall, West Newton.

Crystal Lake Lodge, No. 2235.— Instituted 1880.

Meets first and third Mondays in each month, in hall

corner Lincoln and Walnut Streets, Newton High-

lands.

Independent Order Good Templars—Loyalty

Lodge, No. 154.—Instituted 1888. Meets every Wed-
nesday evening in Good Templars' Hal!.

American Legion of Honor.—Newton Council,

No. 8.J9, was instituted in 1882. It meets on the

second and fourtli Tuesday evenings of each month,

at Knights of Honor Hall, West Newton.

Ancient Order United Workmen.— Newton

Lodge, No. 21, was organized May 9, 1884. It meets

on the second and fourth Wednesdays of each mouth
at Cole's Hall, Newton.

Ma.ssachusetts Catholic Order of Foresters.
—St. Bernard Court, No. 44, was instituted in 1882.

It meets on the first and third Mondays of each month,

at Foresters' Hall, West Newton. Annual meeting

in December.

United Order of Pilgrim Father.?—Nonantum
Colony, No. 77.— Instituted December 15, 1886. Meet-

ings second and fourth Mondays of each month, at

Cole's Hall, Newton.

Women's Christian Temperance Union.— Or-

ganized in September, 1878. Meetings held last Satur-

day of each month, in the Congregational chapel, Au-
burndale. President, Miss E. P. Gordon ; secretary,

Miss E. M. Strong.

Improved Order of Red Men—Norumbega Tribe,

No. 76.—Meets in Cole's Hall, Newton, first and third

Tuesdays of each moon. Sachem, W. S. Slocum.

CHAPTER IX.

NEWTON—(Conlimicd).

MILITARY history OF NEWTON.

(^Subsequent to 1S60),

iiv ARTHUR c. Walworth.

The military history of a Massachusetts town sub-

sequent to 1860 neces?arily has two parts, one relating

to the action of the authorities and people at liome,

the other to the experiences and exploits of the vol-

unteers in the field. In the case of Newton we will

first relate the events that took place in the town

—

for it was not then a city—at the beginning of the

war and during its jirosecution.
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The firing .in Fort Sumter produced the same ex-

pl... ,trinti«m here a» everywhere throunbout

js. I, and party lien were forgotten in the

O.UIUIOU mdiKimtion aRainst the .South Carolina

rebellion and the attack upon our lla>r.

Moved by the »pirit ol patriotism, the gelc-.linen

iMUe.! their warrant for n town-meeting for the 29ih

of April, ISOl.lo see, luthe warrant read, if the town

would appropriate money and make other provision

for the relief »f families of volunteers, and if money

•hould he expended for the purchase of uniforms and

e.|uipment» for such companies as might be formed in

the town.

Jamea F. C. Hyde, afterwar(!s first mayor of the

city, waa moderator of this meeting, and patriotic

»|)ee».hes were made by Hon. David II. Mason, ex-

Congressman .1. Wiley Kilmands, Andrew H. Ward,

Jr., and others, the last-named being a very promi-

nent Democrat, whose remarks were significant of the

loyalty of all parlies to the old Hag. Appropriate

renolulions were passed, ending with the sentiment

"The cause of this Union is our cause, and to its

sup|Mirt, with a firm reliance on the protection of

D.vine I'ruvidcnce. we p'edge our lives, our fortunes

and our sacred iionor."

And they not only made pledges, but they appro-

priated $".'0,(i(.Mi and appointed a committee to obtain

arms, uniforms and underclothes for such company

or companies aa should be formed. A paper was

read, which had been received from representative

lailies of the several village!", in which the women of

the town volunteered to make up all the undergar-

ments noce».«ary for the outfit of a military company.

The selectmen were also given authority to pay, if

advisable, 5^20 per month extra to volunteers in addi-

tion to the government pay.

A company was soon enrolled, organized and drilled,

but the (tovernment, accepting Mr. Seward's view

of the short time neceHKary to crush the Rebellion,

would not accept any more troops, although repeated

efforts were made to have the company mustered in,

and on June 11, 1801 the selectmen reported to that

effect, and that they had expended about $12,000,

and asked for instruc.ions. The time and money,

however, that was expended on this company waa not

mis^tpent, for in it many young men learned their

first kason in military duly, and afterwards enlisted

higher rank an

been the case otherwiae

in other companies, where they were able to take a

be of more service than would have

The fact that has been

stated that no military company was maintained in

Newton before the war, placed the young men under

disadvantage in respect to military training that

partially remedied by this drill company. Others

r men joined Colonel Salinac's battalion

a

was

of the voUMg . . , . ,

or the Ma.ssachusett8 Kifle Club, of Boston, m which

good military instruction could be obtained.

In the record of every town-meeting we find the

patriotism of the citizens exercised in a watchful care

over the volunteers in the field and their families at

home. In 18(i2 the Government began to make calls

for more troops, and the town fathers were prompt

and active in filling the quotas asked for. Thus on

November 4, 1862, $40,000 was appropriated to pay

bounties and expenses of holding meetings. for recruit-

ing, $2000 for burying soldiers who died in the ser-

vice, $3000 for relieving the extraordinary necessities

of residents of the town serving in the army, $2000 for

the relief of discharged and returned soldiers, $2000

for the recovery and burial of deceased soldiers, and

$1000 for the support of the families of men serving

in the navy.

In 18(52 Newton first realized the horrors of the war

in the death of William R. Benson, of Company I,

First Regiment Massachusetts Volunteers, who was

killed at Williamsburg, Va., on May 5lh, of th.at year.

His body was brought from the field of battle and

buried with all the military honors in the Newton

Cemetery. A military escort, headed by a band

playing dirges, marched from Newton Corner to the

cemetery, bearing its sad burden through crowds of

sympathizing people, who, by this object-lesson,

began to learn than patriotism meant, something more

than oratioDS and enthusiasm.

During the summer of 1862 two companies were

raised in Newton, one for three years' service—which

became Company K, Thirty-second Regiment—and

one for nine months. Company B, Forty-fourth Regi-

ment. The recruiting of these companies was chiefly

in charge of James F. C. Hyde, Thomas Rice, David

H. Mason and J. Wiley Edmands, they being, per-

haps, the four leading citizens of the town.

Rallies were held in each village, with music and

speeches, and one hundred and one names were soon

placed on the rolls of Company K, which was re-

cruited especially by E. S. Farnsworth, of Newton ville,

afterwards captain and brevet-major, but then taking

the position of orderly sergeant.

Partly in consideration of the services of his father,

J. Cushing Edmands was chosen captain, he afterwards

rising to ihe command of the regiment, and Ambrose
Bancroft and John F. Boyd, lieutenants. Major

Farnsworth's name was the first on the roll, Boyd's

second, John Doherty third, and the fourth recruit

was a Universalist minister. Rev. W. L. Oilman, who
was made a corporal and received his death- wound at

i
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Gettysburg. The recruits reported at the Lynnfield

camp, and went to the front August 20, 18G2, where

those who were not disabled served through the war

iu the Fifth Corps of the Army of the Potomac, Grif-

fin's Brigade.

On August 4, 1862, President Li:-coln issued a call

for 300,000 men to serve nine months, I'.l.OOO of whom

were to be furnished by Massachusetts, with authority

to raise them by draft ; but Governor Andrew was con-

fident that they could be raised by voluntary enlist-

ment, and the event proved that he was right.

On the morning of August 5th a number of young

men decided that the time had arrived for them to

enter the military service of their county. Among
them were John M. Griswold and John A. Kenrick,

who were among the first to enroll their names and

to undertake the recruiting of the company. The

first meeting was held at the town-hall, West New-

ton, the second at the hall at Newton Corner, which

was the old church altered over, standing where El-

iot Hall now stands. The full number of men was

soon raised and the recruits began their army life at

Readville, as Company B, Forty-fourth llegiment,

under John M. Griswold, captain, and Frank H.

Forbes and John A. Kenrick, lieutenants. The reg-

iment left for the front October 23, 1862, or about two

months after the three-years' company of the Thirty-

second.

The next important event in the home history of

the war was the erection and dedication of the sol-

diers' monument. The movement for the construc-

tion of this memorial, the first raised in New Eng-

land, was initiated soon after the return of Company
B, of the Forty-fourth, and on August 7, 1863, a com-

mittee of nine prominent citizens was chosen at a

public meeting and empowered to erect a suitable

monument. This took the shape of an obelisk of

Quincy granite, resting on a die and plinth of the

same material, with an entablature at the base of

the mound surmounied by a cannon and bearing the

name-i of fifty-nine heroes of Newton who laid down
their lives on the altar of their country. The monu-
ment was dedicated on July 23, 1864, with appropri-

ate and solemn ceremonies in the open air, in the

presence of a large audience; the addresses and

poems delivered on this occasion were preserved in a

pamphlet printed by the town.

On these tablets will be preserved the names of

those who gave their lives for their country, but rec-

cords can never show nor history relate the efforts

and sufferings and bereavement of those at home as

well as those in the army ; the sacrifices and anxiety of

the mothers and the young wives, who scanned the

list of the killed and wounded after every battle,

thinking that they might read there the name of

him who was dearest of al) on earth to them. One
day, not long after the battle of Gettysburg, in one of

the churches four biers were placed side by side,

bearing the remains of four young soldiers of Newton,

whose shattered forms had been sought out and ten-

derly brought home to be buried by the side of their

kinsfolk. Loving words of eulogy and of consolation

were spoken by their pastors, fervent prayers were ut-

tered and the solemn services impressed the gnat

audience in a manner that will never be forgotten.

One of these young men was Charles Ward. At a

public meeting at Newton Centre, called to promote

the recruiting of the first Newton three-years' com-

pany, he had come forward and pledged himself to fight

and to die, if such should be his lot, for his beloved

country. The names of five of his family were upon

the rolls of the Revolutionary army, and two of the

name are found in the list of those killed in battle dur-

ing the Rebellion. The picture in the Grand Army
quarters, at Nevvtouville, shows a handsome, slender

young soldier, with a delicate but bright and intelli-

gent face, for he was just out of school and fitted for

college.

At that meeting he arose in the assemblage and spoke

of his prospects and the hope he had of becoming a

minister of the Gospel of peace. "But," said he, " if

my country needs my services, I am willing, for her

sake, to make the sacrifice." In the battle of Gettys-

burg, Ward, then risen to the position of sergeant-

major of the Thirty-second Regiment, was shot

through the lungs. Colonel Stephenson, of the

Thirty-second, gives the following account of his

last hours : "Just at night the attendants brought to

the place where I was lying a young soldier of

my regiment, and laid him beside me. It was

Charles Ward, of Newton. I remembered him well

as one of the youngest of the regiment, one whose

purity of character and attention to duty had won

the esteem and love of all who knew him. The
attendants placed him in the tent, furnished us with

canteens of water, and left us fur the night, for, alas

!

there were thousands of wounded men to be cared

for, and but little time could be spared for any one.

My young companion had been wounded by a ball

passing through his lungs, and it was with difficulty

he could breathe while lying down. To relieve him

I laid flat on my back, putting up my knees, against

which he leaned in a sitting posture. All night long

we remained in this position, and a painful, weary

night it was. At intervals we would catch a few

moments of sleep ; then, waking, wet our wounds with

water from the canteens, try to converse, and tht u

again to sleep. So we wore away the night, longing

for the light to come.
" No one came near us ; we heard far away the drop-

ping fire of musketry on the picket lines, the occa-

sional booming of the cannon and the groans wrung

from the lips of hundreds of wounded men around

us. My young friend knew that he must die; never

again to hear the familiar voices of home, never to

feel a mother's kiss, away from brothers, sisters and

friends
;
yet, as we talked, he told me that he did not

regret for a moment the course he had taken in
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enlulinK In thf W«r nf |h« Union, but th«t he wt
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hU rountrr.

In IHilS |M«i( of the Oranil Army of the U<iiublic

wai orcahi/<-<l in NV»lon, •ml »<iopte«l tho name of

^•1 .| IK thut of a nioit diitiinguinheil and
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r ol till- town. This pout hai- thmriitlied

jfrraily. and now muul>*p« I''" numl.iTx, includint;

many well-known merchant* and profewional men.

The town wa» liberal fronj fir!.t to last in the treat-

ment of aoldiem and their familiett. At various times

lUt.iKRi wa» appropriated for tliisi purpose in town-

m.etinnK and aid wa* »ent to many nonresident

familii-aof wddiers who had hicn enlisted in Newton's

quota in WanhiuK'toii and elsewhere. Kul besides

thin, the citirens con'.rilmted thousands of dollars

ihruUKh the Sanitary and Christian l'omnii.s.-.i(ins, be-

aidea the barrels and boxes containing clothing,

hospital supplies and loving gifts sent by ihtse who

remained at home to the boys in the field. On one

summer Sabbath ilay news was brought of the great

battle fought by Hooker in the Wilderness, and the

urgent nee«l of hospital supplies. Services in the

churches were suspended, people went home to tear

up their old >heets for bandages and to pull lint, so

that by nightfall the supply train starting out from

IdMton took on at each station in Newton a great pile

of boxts and barn-Is filled with the desirtd supplies,

which were hurried to the ficbl hospitals at the front

as fa.st as steam could carry them.

The whole number of men that Newton was called

upon to furuish under all the calls made by the State

in nwponsc to the demands from Washington was

10tj7, but the town actually furnished 1129, a surplus

of sixty-two, and these were all raised by volunteer-

ing except a few who at one time were drafted un-

necessarily, as it afterwards proved, but who cheerfully

accepted their lot and served faithfully in th<? Union

Army. Three hundred and twenty-three of the num-

ber above were mustered in for " three years or the

war." The town also furnished forty-three com-

minsioned ollicers, including one brevet brigadier-

general and one brevet major-general.

The latter was Adin B. Underwood, colonel of the

Thirty-third Massaciiusetts Kegimeiit, who distin-

guished himself especially at Lookout Mountains,

where, at night, with only seven companies, he

charged up an almost inaccessible hill, through

woimIs and underbrush, and carried the rebel in-

trenchments after two as.Hau!ta with fixed b.ayouets,

and drove a brigade of Longstreet's men from the

hill. In this charge Col. Underwood was desper-

ately wounded in the hip, so that his life was des-

paired of and one leg crippled for life. Gen. Hooker,

in his official report, recommended him for immedi-

ate promotion to the command of a brigade, and his

advice wsus followed.

The following table shows the distribution of Newton

men io the several regiments and batteries, and it will

be seen tha*. there was hardly a regiment in the State

in which the old town was not represented. It will

be seen that Newton had a full company in the Thirty-

second Uegimcnt, one in the Forty-fourth and nearly

enough men for a company in the Fifth Cavalry, al-

though in that case they were distributed through the

several companies.

TllltKK VEIHS' TIIO0P8.

FIrel KoKliiK'nt, l.'i men ; 2d, 2 men ; 7tl), 2 men ;
Otli, 5 men ;

lltli, 9

men ; I'.'lli, 4 men ; 13Ui, 6 men ;
l&th, 2 men ; 16th, 17 men ;

17tli,-l

Rutn; IStli, 2mon; 2(illi, 6 men; 21«t, 1 man; 22<l, 3 men; 24tli, 15

men; 28l!i, 1 man ; 2'.ltli, 2 men ; aOtli, 1 man ; alet, 3 men ;
32d, » uin-

cera.V; non-commlMloned olllcern and 78 men; Md, 2 men; ;i5tli,2

mi'D ; asih, 2 men ; 61th, 1 man ; 5oth, 1 man ; i7lb, 2 men ;
S'Jdi, 1

luun ; Clnl, 12 men ; 02d, 1 man.

(.'.iiulrj/.— Flrat Rcglmout, 2i> men; 2d, 6 men ; 3d, 9 men; 4th, 7

men ; .Mil, S2 mult.

.^i/iHerj/.— First Daltery, 1 man; 9th, 1 mon; 13th, 3 men; lith, I

man ; ixtli, I man.

KIret Heavy Arlillerj-, 3 men ;
2d, 7 men ;

3d, 3 men.

NiNK months' troops.

filh Regiment, 1 man ; 0th, 1 man ; 42d, 1 man; 43d, 2 mon ;
44Hi, G

oIllccrB Bud 101 men ; 40th, 28 men ; 47th, 3 men ;
4Sth, 1 man.

ONB UUNDBSD DAYS' TBOOPS.

6th Boglmont, 3 men ; 6th, 4 men ; 8th, 1 man ;
42d, 9 men ; 60th, 2

ilieli ; 22d Unattached Company, 2 men.

THREE months' VOLUNTEERS.

5th Regiment, 2 mon ; Beg. Army, 40 men ; Navy, 41 men.

RO.STER Of NEWTON OFFICERS IN MASSACHUSETTS REGIMENTS.

Ttiomai} R. Hitchcocli, asst.-surgeon, 42d Infantry.

Col. F. L. Lee, Capt. John M. Griswold, 1st Liout. V. H. Forbes, let ,

Lieut. Jolin A. Keurick, all of 44th Infantry.

F. A. Dewsou, quartermaster, Harrison Gardner, Ist lieutenant, and

I. H. Robinson, 2d lieutenant, of 4.5tll Infantry.

Edward W. Clarli, chaplain, 47th Infantry.

l9t Liout. Chas. U. Slack, 13th Battery.

Major Andrew Washburn, 1st Heavy Artillery.

Major Henry T. Lawson, 2d Heavy Artillery.

Major George H. Tengue, 1st Cavalry.

2d Liout. Jeremiah Dyson, 3d Cavalry.

2d Lieut. George F. Scott, 5th Cavalry.

I9t Liout. Wni. B. Morrill, 11th Infantry.

Lieut. .Cul. T. M. Bryan, Jr., Asst.-Surgoon A. A. Kendall and 1st

Lieut. T. r. Ilaviinnd, ail of 12th lufantry.

Ist Lieut. Henry S. Benson. 20th Infantry.

Ist Lieuts. H. A. Royce and F. S. Benson, 22d Infantry.

Asst.-Surgeon Cyrus S. Mann, 3l8t Infantry.

32d Kegimont Infantry as follows ; Col. and Brevet Brig.-Gen. J.

Cnshiug Eduiands, Capt. A. Bancroft, Capt. E. S. Farnsworth, Cap. Geo.

A. Hall, Capt. 1. F. Kingsbury, 2d Lieuts. J. F. Boyd, Wm. F. Tufts,

Chas. 1'^ Madden—to which should be added the lamented Chas. Ward,

sergeant-major.

Brig. -Gen. A. B. Underwood and Capt. Geo. M. Walker, 33d Infantry.

Capt. Jos. E. Cousins, Sltli lufantry.

Surgeon Burt G. Wilder, 55th Infantry.

Capt. A. B. Ely, Asat. Adj. Gen. U. S. Volunteers.

IN THE UNITEn STATES NAVY.

Acting Masters F. F. Baury, W. 11. Garfield, Alfred Washburn, Act-

ing Ensign Lowell M. Brock, Lieut.-Com. Jos. B. Brock, Asst. -Surgeon

I. U. Uazelton, Paymaster H. B. Wetherell, Jr.

In the event of another war, Newton will not be

without a company or without many young men of

niililary training, for about two years after the war an
excellent militia company was organized under the

command of Captain I. F. Kingsbury, who had been

adjutant of the Thirty-second Massachusetts, and
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numbering in its ranks other young men who had

been in the service. The company wtw named tlio

Claflin Guards, in honor of the then Governor of the

State, and became Company C of the First Regi-

ment M. V. M. At tlie time of the reorganization

of the militia it passed successfully the ordeal that

threw out so many companie.'*, and Itecame Company

C of the Fifth Infantry M. V. M., where it is keep-

ing up in good shape its own reputation and that of

the city, which h.os generously provided it with a

handsome armory, made by remodeling the old Uni-

tarian Church on Washington Street, near Newton

Station.

The Newton Mem in the Field.—Up to the

summer of 1862, Newtou men had enlisted in many

of the organizations that had been sent to the front,

but there was no distinctive Newton company. The

drill-club that had been formed by the citizens had

tried in vain to get accepted by the Government, but

no more troops were wanted. It served its purpose,

however, in educating in military tactics many young

men wno aftewards enlisted, or were commissioned in

other commands. In the spring of 1862 the disasters

of the Shenandoah Valley, and the desperate resis-

tance of the rebels aroused the Government to the seri-

ousness of the situation, and on May 25th news was

received that General Banks had been defeated, that

Stonewall Jackson menaced the Capital, and that af-

fairs at the front were getting desperate. With this

news came a frantic appeal from the War Department

to Governor Andrew for aid, givicg him ample pow-

ers to raise troops, provide transportation and cut red

tape generally. There was at this time doing garrison

duty at Fort Warren, Boston Harbor, an organization

known as the Firot Battalion of Massachusetts Infan-

try, commanded by Major Francis J. Parker, a New-

ton man. These troops had been on duty there for

six months, and had become well drilled and thor-

oughly disciplined under the watchful eye of Colonel

T. E. Dimmock, an old army officer, who was the

commandant of the post.

No better troops could have been available for the

emergency, and the Governor, without a moment's

delay, sent for Major Parker, commissioned him lieu-

tenant-colonel and constituted his six companies the

Thirty-second Massachusetts Regiment—a corps that

was to obtain later a fighting record second to none

in the army, and that wan not mustered out until it

had been " in at the death " at Lee's surrender. It

was to this regiment that the Newton company that

fought through the war was attached, and the history

of the company and the regiment is one. The bad

news arid the call for succor came on Sunday, and on

Monday, May 25, 1862, the regiment, then consisting

of six companies, marched through Boston, stacked

their smooth-bore muskets, received their rifles and
left for the front six hundred strong, the Governor

promising to raise four more companies to fill up the

regiment to the regulation number. The Newton

9-iii

company was the last of these and w.-is not with the

regiment in its Peninsular campaign with McClellan,

during which the battalion of six companies obtained

an excellent record for both discipline and courage.

. At this time a company had been enlisted in New-
ton, especially through the eil'orta of the authorities

and of Hon. .1. Wiley EJmands, whose son, J. Cushing

Edmands, was elected captain, afterwards rising to the

command of the regiment. Ambrose Bancroft was

commissioned as first lieutenant, and .lohn F. Boyd,

second lieutenant, all on July 30, 1862. Both the

lieutenants rose to the rank of captain in 1864 and

1865. Ezra S. Farnsworth, who raised the company,

went out as orderly sergeant, and George A. Hall as

sergeant, the former coming home a brevet-major and

the latter a captain. Promotion was somewhiit rapid

in this regiment because .so many officers were killed

in action. I-aac F. Kingsbury was commissioned

second lieutenant December 15, 1862, and rose to be

captain of the company. William F. Tuft and

Charles E. Madden were also second lieutenants in

1865. It was noticeable that very many of the fam-

ilies who first settled the town and had members in

the Revolutionary Army were also represented in this

company, for we find on the rolls the names of Ward,

Kingsbury, Hyde, Fuller, Jackson and Trowbridge,

some of them having three representatives. This

company, being the last recruited for the regiment,

was the letter "K." Companies H I and K were

assembled at the Lynnfield camp and were sent out

to join the regiment on August 20, 1862, under Cap-

tain Moulton, proceeding to New York by the Ston-

iugton line and reaching Washington on the 22d.

At this time the movement to effect a junction be-

tween the armies of McClellan and Pope was in pro-

gress. The Thirty-second was with Pope, and the

battalion set out to find the regiment, marching first

to Alexandria ; but as not even the commander-in-

chief knew where Pope was, it was no easy matter to

find the regiment. At length Porter's corps was

located, and the battalion joined the other seven com-

panies of the regiment on September 3d. Then
Lieut.-Col. Parker was promoted to be colonel, Capt.

G. L. Prescott to be lieutenant-colonel—he afterwards

was in command and was killed in action at Peters-

burg June 16, 1864~and Capt. L. Stephenson was raised

to the rank of Major. The Newton company was

soon in active service, for on September 12th, the regi-

ment took up its march with McClellan's army for the

Antietam campaign. In that battle the regiment,

contrary to its usual fortune, was not in the thick of

the fight, but at Fredericksburg, not long after, Com-
pany K received its baptism of fire, on December 13,

1862. The Thirty-second was in Griffin's division,

which was sent to the support of Sumner across the

new bridge of boats, ihrough the town and h.ilted in

a hollow, piled knapsacks and blankets and .stripped

to fighting trim. Col. Parker describes the actual

fighting as follows :
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in ilie niu.l mill littrally on tlifir nrnm ; the next

iii^Ik Iho liri(;:ulf wnn willuiriiwn int<i the town iind

tlunc* »iri»i tlu> river llie ni(ilit nfter. In tliis battle

of Fre»lcrick»burK the Tliirty-sccond lost thiriy-five

killetl «nd woundeil, including one captHin, Charles

A. Uearborn, Jr., but no NewKm man was killed, al-

thiiu>!h I.uciu« F. Trowbridge died sixteen days

afterwurdit. The next spring the re»;inienl was iit

fhancellornville, but lost only one killed and four

wounded. Sion after eanie Lee'u invasion ofPenn-

•ylvjinia, and the Fifth Corps, to which the regiment

bolongtd, was moved northward on parallel lines to

intercept him. It wa.s on the afternoi n of July 2d

that this corps became actively engaged, but a battle

like that at tieltysburp, or the part that the Newton

company had in it, can only be well described by a

participant. The late B. C. Spaulding who was ser-

geant in the company, wrote for the Sewlon Journal a

graph'c iccount of the fight as seen and participated

in by the men of Newton, which we quote at length :

".Vt 4 A.M., after a hearty breakfiist, we marched

again, reaching the vicinity of Gettysburg at 8 A.M.

Hailing about two miles east of the town, we formed

in line of battle, our corps being held in reserve until

the arrival of the Sixth Corps, to which had been as-

signed that place. Immediately on their arrival, we

were relieved at the rear and ordered to the front.

Our brigade advanced to the Ridge at the right of

Little Round Top, where we halted in line of battle.

From that elevated position we had a .splendid bird's-

eye view of the rebel army, then massed on Seminary

Kidge. Our halt there was short. As the battle

waxed hot in our front, we were pushed forward to

support our troops engaged. We advanced into, and

nearly through a belt of woods, halting v.ithin sup-

porting distance of our single line of battle, which

extended along the edge of the open field in which

the battle raged.

" Our line of battle was formed in the woods, with

the ground descending to the opening in our fruiit.

The enemy occupied the woods on the opposite side

of the Belli, and within easy musket range, and were

pouring a murderous fire into our troops ahead of us,

who, from their exposed position, were being terribly

cut up. It was evident that they could not long wilh-

aiand the shock and must fall back ; therefore we were
ordered to unsling our kuapsacks and prepare for the

worst. Scarcely had we resumed our |)laces in line,

when the remnant of our line engsiged fell back

through our ranks to the rear.

" Having now been brought face to face with the

enemy, we were ordered to kneel and fire that wi-

might be less exposed. We were ordered to load an.l

fire at will, and as rapidly as possible, and (if I may

judge by the storm of bullets that poured into our

ranks) I should say the enemy were faithfully exe-

cuting the same order.

"1 cannot better portray our situation and the danger

to which we were exposed, than by giving a 8iai|

ment of my own experience during the few moments

we held that position. I was in the frc.nt rank, on

the right of (^ur comi)any. No sooner h?d we got

i[ito line and commenced firing, than two comradcs

next on my right were hit,—one in the body who wa^

mortally wounded, the other in the head and instant-

ly killed. The first comrade on my left was wounded

in the foot, and went to the rear, as did our first ser-

geant, with a wound in his side, who was hit directly

behind me (while .standing 1 presume). A little

bush at my right and within my reach was repeatedly

hit with bullets, which clipped its leaves and twigs.

Twicewas I forcibly reminded that somebody was mak-

ing good line shots, by bullets which struck directly in

front of me, and near enough to throw the dirt and

leaves into my face. Notwithstanding the excitement

of the conflict, the unmistakable evidences of the

danger to which I wa-t e.>iposed made me tremble, for

I expected every instant to be hit, and doubtless

should, had we remained there a little longer. But

ju.st then we were ordered to change our position, and

as we withdrew I felt that I had a new lease of life.

' I think we could have held our ground against the

enemy in our front, but the removal of troops on our

right left our flank exposed to the enemy in that di-

rection, who instantly took advantage of oursituation

and compelled us to fall back, which we did in good

order, bringing our dead and wounded with us. We
marched by the flank to the left a little way, then

forward through the woods to an opening, where

three regiments of our brigade, viz.: Fourth Michi-

gan, Sixty-second Pennsylvania and ours (the Ninth
Massachusetts being on picket), charged across the

field to the woods on the opposite side, where

we haired behind a stone wall, adjusted our line

and commenced firing at the enemy, who occu-

pied the woods in our front in large numbers. We
had fired but a few rounds when we discovered that

we were under fire from flank as well as front. Our
right having again been left exposed by a break in

our line, the enemy had turned our flank, and our
brigade was in danger of being annihilated or cap-

tured. The command was given to fall back, and, not-

withstanding the terrible fire we were subjected to,

our line ^vas not broken, except as our ranks were
thinned by the bullets of the enemy who swarmed
upon our flank and rear, and the sharpest contest we



NEWTON. 131

ever had experienced ensued. Our ranks, which had

already been fearfully decimated, now brt'anie brol^n

by the shock of the enemy upon our flank, and the

hand-to-hand encounter of not a few of our number
with the enemy, who had gained our rear.'' Sergeant

Spalding, who wrote the above account, was pensioned

by a special act of Congress for the loss of a limb

caused indirectly by his service in the war.

At Gettysburg the Newton company lost in killed

and wounded just one-half the number that went into

action, while the regiment lost over one-third.

After Gettysburg the Fifth Corps followed the en-

emy southward, crossing the Potomac on July 17th,

to Warrenton, August 8th ; thence to Beverly Ford,

where the Thirty-second encamped five weeks in a

beautiful forest of young pines, which enabled the

men to decorate their quarters with evergreen arches

at the heads of the company streets; Company K
putting up a Maltese cross (the corps badge) over its

entrance.

The regiment spent the winter of 1863-64 in quar-

ters at Liberty, near Bealton Station, on the Orange
and Alexandria Railroad, where the company was vis-

ited by the Hon. J. F. C. Hyde, who, as chairman of

the selectmen, had been devoting all his energies for

the past two years to keeping the Newton quota full,

and watching for opportunities to help the boys in

the field and take care of the families left at home-

During this winter most of the men of the Thirty-

second re-enlisted for a term of three years, in return

for which the regiment was allowed a furlough for

thirty days, and on Sunday, January 17, 1864, they

marched from the Old Colony Station to the Slate-

House, and thence to Faneuil Hall, receiving the

enthusiastic cheers of the great crowd of citizens who
lined the streets.

The next day an enthusiastic reception was given

by the town of Newton to Company K.

But the regiment was soon in the field again, and
on May 4, 1864, crossed the Rappahannock for the

fifteenth time. On May 5th it was in line of bat-

tle in the " Wilderness," and was under arms for

seventeen successive days and nights without respite,

and always in the front line. On June 18th it

charged the enemy in front of Petersburg, and it was
while leading the regimentin this charge that Colonel

Prescolt was killed. On July 2l8t and September 1st

the regiment helped repulse the attack of the enemy
on the VVeldon Railroad. On September 30th Griffin's

brigade checked the enemy at Peeble's Farm as they

were driving in the Ninth Corps; it was in this en-

gagement that Major Edmands was wounded.

The next spring, in February, 1865, the Fifth Corps
was engaged in the final campaign of the war, east

and south of Richmond. On March 29th it was in

the battle of Gravelly Run ; the next day it was in

the skirmish line. On April 4tti it was in the front

line of skirmishers at Five Forks, the day that proved
fatal to the last lingering hopes of Lee and his army,

and of the ( 'on federacy itself; and it was Lieutenant-

Colonel Cunningham, then in command, who re-

ceived the flag of truce sent by General Lee prepara-

tory to negotiations for the final surrender.

Ill the Wilderness Campaign, in May, 1864, the

battle of Laurel Hill, on Jlay 12th, deserves especial

mention, as the loss of the regiment in proportion to

the number engaged was greater than in any other

battle it, was ever in. As this battle merits a detailed

description, the following relation is quoted from
Col. Parker's "Story of the Thirty-second."

" Tliat morninff foutul U8 wlioio wo lm(i been for two or throo Jaye,

in front of Laurul Hill and distant bardly more Hum a quarter of a
mile from tlie worlis of tlie oneiny. About nine o'clock A.M. we re-

ceived ordt-ra to attack the position of the enemy on Laurel liiil, and
the brigade, coninniodcd by Col. Prescott, advanced with a rush acroi-s

the intervening space. As the line of battle started it overran the

picket line, da.stied down the little depression in their front, over the
next rise of ground, but at the foot of Laurel Hill the men, whone
momentum bad earned them tliusfar, faltered under the teiribletiie and
laid down within a short distance of the enemy's line of works. Here the

ground did not cover the left of the regiment, and while Lieut. -Col.

Stephenson (in command), was trying to draw his left under shelter, ho
saw that the regiment on his right had broken and was falling back in

great disorder, and at once ordered the men to save themselves.

" The advance had been disastrous, but as usual the retreat was far

more so. In the 32d, live bearers fell before the colors reached the old

position behind our works; of the lyij men who advanced in the regi-

mental line 103 were killed or wounded, and from the tinto that they left

tlie works until the remnant had returned, less than thir.y minutes had
elapsed. Among the wounded weie Lientejiants'Lauriat, Hudson and
Farnswortli

; Adjutant I. F. Kingsbury; Capt. Bancroft (the three

latter being Newton men), and Captain Hamilton, the latter fatally."

In the final campaign before Richmond, in the

absence of Col. Edmands, disabled by sickness, and
Major Shepard, prisoner of war, the regiment was
under the command of Lieul-Col. Cunningham, (after-

wards Adjutant General of Massachusetts), Capt. Ban-
croft acting as major and Capt. I. F. Kingsbury as

adjutant. At the end of the war Cunningham was
breveted Brigadier-general, and was afterwards Ad-
jutant-General of ^Massachusetts, while Kingsbury
was appointed assistant adjutant-general with the

rank of lieutenant-colonel.

The Sixteenth Massachusetts Infantry deserves no-

tice as containing, next to the Thirty-second and
Forty-fourth, the largest number of Newton men.
This regiment went to the front August 17, 1861, and
remained there three years. Its flags bear the names
of sixteen battles, and after the battle of Glendale,

Gen. Hooker wrote to Gov. Andrew : "There is no
doubt but at Glendale the Sixteenth Massachusetts

saved the army." The Twenty-fourth regiment, with

fifteen Newton men, had a parallel record, and at the

end of three years the men almost universally re-

enlisted, and fought through the war.

The raising of a nine months' company in the sum-
mer of 1862 has been referred to. This company
joined the Forty-fourth Regiment at Readville, the re-

cruiting camp near Dedham. This regiment was
formed from the old "New England Guards," then

the Fourth Battalion, M. V. M.,as a nucleus, and was
composed of a very intelligent class of men, mainly
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cirrka anil •luilvDt*, one i-unipniif briii); iiiiule up in

f>tn of tlarvanl Cullrpt. men. The averaKC iiKe of

ibe rrRinifiil w»« only Iwenty-lwo ytam, iteven

m..nlli., ttliile llie Newton ('i.m|.Hny. n, wa» llicol.le«t.

ImtiriK an avrriiL'e ii^'e of Hv.iily four yeam, seven

nioiilh.. Til » .. ii.|'uiiy alt.. Iiail in ilK riiiik»«K'reuler

rarie(y •'( irn'ltn .in. I iir.iii-^^ioiin tliiin any oilier eom-

pany, anil could delall an expert for nlmosl any »peiial

duty. Thia preliminary encampment, says the nur-

|!eon of the reginient, wa» for a time a aort of picnic,

at whiih daily drill wa« relievi-d by moonlight prom-

en:i.l«« I" the otrainn of the It-wton Kraw* Hand. The

•evenly of lomuiiwury iliet wu» tempered liy an

almiidant overllow Irom home talilin. Nothiii); wa»

tiKi good for the " llower of the youth of B(xtton," and

they fari-ii numptuously every day. Coiilractor.s'

ahi'ddy wan rejected for custom-made uniformH, and

b.M.lii made to order t.Kik the place of army shoes.

On October 'JJ, ISiJi, C"()mpany H, with the rest of

the reiilmeiit, packol it.'^ klla^»ack» for the last time

in that camp, and "fell in" to march to the station,

where they were honored with a salute by the "Cadet

Kegiment," the Forty-lilih, drawn up to receive them.

In Itoiiton they had a reception on the Common, then

marched to the wharf, where they embarked on the

steamcrit " Mi.-mi»?ippi " and Merrimac" for North

Carolina. The voyage wa.s a compound of the aver-

age amount of fun and misery usually found on a

transport ship, and on October •.'liih ibey landed at

Beaufort Harbor, N. C, whence they were t.'ansported

to New Berne, forty miles away, on platform-cars in a

Iiouring rain. Here the regiment went into barracks

and was placed in General Thomas G. Stevenson's

brigade, Wessells' division, Eighteenth Army Corps,

MajorGeneral J. G. Foster commanding. Foster and

Wessella were West Pointer.^, while Stevenson was a

former commander of the Fourth Battalion, Massa-

chusetts Militia.

Only three days after their arrival the regiment

was put in actual service and embarked on steamers for

Little Wa<hiiigton, N. C, where ihcy remained until

November lid, when the brigade marched for Tarboro'.

When within a few miles of WiUiamstown the ad-

vance was fired into and the troops were formed for

action, Companies II and C being sent forward as

skirmishers; as these were fording a creek known as

Little Creek, they were tired into by a large force of

the enemy concealed in the woods only a few yards

away, killing one man and wounding seven. The
rest of the brigade was brought up, the woods shelled

and the enemy driven back to Rawle's Mill, about a

mile beyond, where they made another stand. Here
the Forty-fourth lost several more men, but the enemy
finally fell back, burning the bridge as they went. So
this regiment, that left camp at Readville only on

October 22d, was in action in North Carolina on No-
vember 'M, eleven days afterwards. The forced

march was continued nearly as far as Tarboro', which

was fuuud to be strongly reinforced; the men were

fatigued, footsore and broken by the continuous

n^rcliii.g, Ifick of rest and sullicient food. All thai

day, Thursday, after a lively skirnii.sh in the morniiiij

the boys marched through mud, rain and snow back

to Hamilton, many falling out through exhaustion
;

on Friday they marched through an inch of snow to

Williaiiislown. On Sunilay they marched twenty-two

miles down the river to Plymouth. Here they em-

barked on November 11th, and in two days more

were back in their old qiiariers at New Berne.

This two weeks' campaign wai a rough initiation

for the Newton boys, accustomed to fine roads and

soft beds, but they hutlered less proportionately than

some of the oilier regiments, the youth of the men

proving more elastic in recovery from the eflVcts of

hardship and privations, and the long marches at

Reedvillc, which at the time seemed so unnecessary,

had done much to toughen and prepare them for cam-

paigning in the field.

Thus was accomplished the first expedition of actual

service, whose object was to destroy the Rebel ram

"Albemarle," then constructing at Tarboro', to save

Plymouth from capture, and if possible to circumvent

the force gathered for that purpo.se ; and if it was not

entirely succe-slul it was useful in inuring the men to

hardship and accustoming them to the presence and

fire of the enemy. The regiments who were with the

Forty- fourth on this march were the Fifth Rhode Is-

land, Tenth Connecticut and Twenty-fourth Massa-

cbusetla.

After this the regiment was besieged at Little

Washington by overwhelming numbers of the enemy,

but held the post bravely until reinforced by an ade-

quate force; but as the Newton company was at that

time detailed on picket, the story of the siege does not

properly come within the scope of this narrative.

The following description of the picket duty of the

Newton company at Batchelder's Creek was written

for the regimental liistory by Charles C. Soule, the

lieutenant of the company, and gives the pleasant

side of a soldier's life

:

" On Monday, March 2, 1863, Companies B and F,

under the command of Captain Storrow, were taken

three miles up the railroad and relieved two compan-

ies of the Fifty-first Massachusetts on picket. On
the Sixth the battalion marched three milts faither

out and went into camp in the pine woods near Batch-

elder'js Creek. Former occupants of the post had

nearly finished eight log huts in the thick woods.

These were not utilized as quarters for the battalion,

but around them as a centre smaller huts were con-

structed, roofed in by shelter trees, littered with straw,

warmed by brick fire-places, and rendered homelike

by conveniences and ornaments. These occupied three

sides while the wall tents of the officers filled the

fourth side. In the centre of the camp was erected a

double-masted flag-pole topped with a weather-vane

and bearing on its cross-trees the legend ' Camp Lee,

March (i, 18(13.'
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"The two companies remaiued intliia camp for two

months, enjoying the brightest and pleasantfst part

of a soldier's life. There was a good deal of night

work, but not enough to wear the men out. The

open-air life in the pine woods was so invigorating

that there was very little sickness in the detachment.

There was enough of excitement, a sufficient con-

sciousness of the proximity of the enemy to give a

zest to the routine of duty. The season of the year

was a delightful one. As the spring advanced, violets,

anemones, honeysuckle and the fnigrant jessamine

blossomed thickly among the lanes and roads. The

woods were full of rabbits, 'possums and 'coons

(which the men were successful in trapping), wilh

traces now and then of a prowling fox. The creek

was full of fish,—herring, horn-pout, and robin or

red-fin (bream),—for which we angled with hooks

baited with worms or soaked hard-tack. With this

plenitude of game came a disagreeable accompani-

ment in the profusion of snakes,—black snakes, four

or five feet long; moccasins as large as a child's arm,

and 'copperheads, even more venomous than their

namesakes in the North.' The chief duty to be per-

formed was the picketing of the line of Batchelder's

Creek. The details were quite as much as two com-

panies could perform, and brought each man on duty

about every other day,

"Another and favorite duty was the scouting by land

and water. When the companies first occupied the

picket posts there were no boats of any kind to be

found. A vigorous search was instituted along the

banks of the creek, and several canoes and flat-boats

were found concealed in the dense cane-brakes. These

were brought to the Washington Road and repaired,

and every few days a scouting company was sent down
the creek and up the river on a reconnoisance. The

'Rebs ' were rarely seen; and the principal result of

these expeditions was the collection of a number of

useful articles of camp equipage from the deserted huts

and houses along the creek." At the last of April

Company F took part in the " Green Swamp Expedi-

tion," but the Newton company was not in it, and

missed a lot of terribly hard marching and skirmish-

ing in reeking swamps deluged wilh pouring rains.

On May 2d the two companies were relieved by two

of the Forty-sixth Massachusetts, and were marched

back to the barracks at New Berne. During May and

June the Newton men, with the rest of the regiment,

were engaged in doing provost duty in that city.

As the regiment had arrived in a rain-storm, it left

in another, on .Tune 5th, Co. B being the lelt wing,

under Capt. Storrow, on the steamboat " George Pea-

body," On June 9th the steamer ran along the

eastern shore of Cape Cod and just before sunset

dropped anchor in Boston Harbor. How glad the

Newton boys must have been to see the dome of the

State-House once more—that dome that they could see

from their own homes. That night the steamer

anchored near Fort Independence, waiting for the

other wing of the regiment. The next day the boys

on landing were met by several companies of reserves

and home guards, with Gilmore's Band, and escorted

to the Common. Then the regiment was furloughed

until the final mustering out at Reedville. The New-
ton company was the only distinctively local one

in the regiment, and shortly after the muster out the

citizens of the town gave them a rousing reception at

iSewton Corner. The stores were closed, schools dis-

missed and the whole town put on a holiday aspect.

Mr. Otis Edmands was chief marshal and Hon. J.

Wiley Edmands (whose son, Thomas S., was a member
of the company) presided. Appropriate speeches of

welcome were made and festivities were concluded

with a banquet in the old Eliot Hall.

This forty-fourth Regiment was not called a "fighting

regiment," as fate had not ordered that it should be

plunged into the desperate battles of the Army of the

Potomac ; but it must be remembered that it w.is often

compelled to endure hardships equal to any iuHicted

on any of the arjny, and that it lo-st in killed and

by disease twenty-six men in nine months, thirty- two

wounded, sixty-five disabled and twenty-five on the

invalid guard, besides three men taken prisoners. It

must also be remembered that 173 men went back into

the army, seventy-nine of them as commissioned offi-

cers, twenty-nine of the number giving their lives to

their country.

In compiling the above record the facts and figures

have been drawn in part from Dr. S. F. Smith's
" History of Newton," in which the muster-rolls are

given in full; I'roni Ccl. Francis J. Parker's "Story

of the 32d," and from the "Record of the 4Ith," by

the Regimental Association.

CHAPTER X.

NEWroy—{ Cuidimted).

MEDICAL HISTORY.

BY JESSE F. FRISBIE, M.D.

Arrangements were originally made for the prep-

ahition of thi.s article with Dr. Henry M. Field.

Failing health finally compelled him to abandon (he

t.isk, and the writer accepted the responsibility of

preparing this chapter when only a few weeks were

left before the manuscript must be in the Imnds of the

printer. Consequently it must of necessity be frag-

mentary and imperfect.

Six months would have been none too much time

for a thorough search and investigation among old

records and of the "oldest inhabitants." Of the

nearly 100 written letters and lists of questions sent

out, there has been no reply to many. Doubtless in-

vestiga ions are being pruseouted and replies will
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hiotorical muterial,

«ork.

it a |ik( of Ibe i>»wt» of |hv»iiian« who,

.1 ,H „. .,.. r. h»Tf lired in Nrnloii, but of whom

Ibcrr U uo l«ni!ible ntord, M want of lime and op-

,„, I iiive»li|;iilion into

il,,
•, could be obtained

iu ilip :
• «'<• KHlll.

Km s - Mill, M D.. *'m of Dr. .losiah i^tiirr,

of Wrslnn. M»«».. wan bori: in Weston, Aupust 24,

17f.l*. and died in Nenum iMVtt Falls August 24,

1831).

lie w«» fducateil at Harvard Coilrge; studied mod-

irine with l)r. ."^pfinir, of Wiitcrlowii, and graduated

from lliir\»rd Mnliiul follege in 17^9.

He i.«t!l.d in Nrwion hotter FalN in the yenrl790.

He waa » |ironiiiient man ihi re and had an extcn-

nire praetire. He wait honored with a seat in the

Houiie of UopreaenlnlivcB for three years—1815-1G-17.

He wrvctl on a cnniniiltee to |ire|iarc rules and regu-

lation* for the iteliiMils of Newlon. 8eptenilier li),

1S08, Dr. t^larr, with others, wa.i appointed on a

committee, in town meeting called for the purpose,

to draw up a remonstrance against the embargo

place<l on our commerce and proclaimed in the De-

cember precedini:.

Ill' was a member of the Masonic fraternity and

nan Mii.iler uf his lodtre.

Trior lo 1S24 Dr. Starr was the principal physician

at the Upper Falls. Like many men, the doctor had

his peculiarities, and would be very apt to make some;

remark in the sick-room that would have a tendency

to divert the minds of his patients from themselves

and give them greater hopes of speedy recovery. Up-

on one occasion, when calltil to see a sick woman, who

was very tall in slature—some six feet two or more

inches—he found her standing, and proceeded with

hia mtual methods for a diagnosis of the case, until he

desired to see her tongue. Then he remarked, " If I

had a ladder I would go up and see it."

This remark turned the scale of the patient's

light illne-xs at once into recovery, and a second visit

was unnecc!«sary.

Dr. l^tarr married Miss Lydia A\'are, daughter of

John II. Ware, January 22. 1794.

At his decease he left three sons and two daugh-

tera.

Hamcel Clarke, M.D., son of Samuel Clarke,

was born in Boston, 1779. He was in the Latin
SchiKjl, ISfjston, in 179(1, and afterwards in a store

with an importer of liriti.sh goods. Subsequently he
became a partner in the firm.

In IHIO he went to Hanover, New Hampshire, and
studied medicine with Profes.sor Nathan Smith, of
Dartmouth College ; and there hia son. Rev. James
Freeman Clarke. D.D., was born. In 181] he re-

turned to Newton to practice medicine. In 181G he
went to IJosU n and continued to practice there, and
conducted a drug-store at the corner of School and

Wa>hinf,'inii r-irirts till the yearl829. Then here-

turned to Newton and built a chemical factory. He

died of fever in Newton November 30, 1830. He

mairied Rebecca Parker Hull, daughter of General

William Hull, of Newton. He left at his deceit^e a

widow, live sons and one daughter. His widow died

in Boston May 25, 1805.

<Dk. John Kino was a self-taught physician and

successor of Dr. John Cotton. His parentage is not

known. He died March 20, 1807. He married Mi.ss

Sarah Wiswall, daughter of Captain Noah Wiswall.

After her death he married Miss Elizabeth Cuoksoii,

April, 1799. He was a modest and unassuming

man, but able, energetic and one that could he de-

pended upon. "For many years he was moderator

of town-meetings; selectman ; one of the Committee

of Corresi)ondence in 1774, and to prepare instruc-

tions for their Representatives ; on various commit-

tees during the war and after; was a delegate to the

convention (1779) to form a Constitution for Mass. ;

was at the battle of Lexington, and one of the sol-

diers from Newton to guard Burgoyne's army, in the

fall of 1778. He was Representative in 1792, etc."

He was evidently a valuable man for the times, and

was freely called upon by his towns-peo[ile to do ser-

vice in their behalf. However much his professional

services were appreciated, his public duties must

have occupied a large share of his time.

Dr. Bowkn Parker was born in the town of Pem-

broke, now South HaiLson, Mass., in the year 1800,

and came to Newton to practice medicine in 1824 or

'25, and remained here about two years, and then re-

moved to South Hanson, where he continued to prac-

tice until he died, Nov. 22, 1874. He was a promis-

ing young man when in Newton, and interested

himself in the progressive work of this vicinity. He
was a member of Newton's first temperance society.

Simeon Burt Carpenter, M.D., son of Dr.

William Bullock Carpenter, was born June 5, 1801,

in Freetown, Bristol County, Mass. He died July 24,

1843, in Dedham, Mass., leaving a wife and three

daughters.

He was fitted for college by the Rev. Mr. Andros,

of Berkley, the author of " The Old Jersey Captive."

lie graduated from Brown University, Providence, B.

I., September, 1827. " He was old in college because

his father opposed his going till he was old enough
to act for himself." He took the degrees of A.B. and
M.D. at Harvard University in 1830. Soon after

the death of Dr. Starr, of Newton Lower Falls, he
was called to fill his place. He settled there in the

year 1830. He married Angeline Louisa, youngest

daughter of Artemas Murdock, of Newlon, on May
17, 1835.

He removed to Dedham and settled there, making
it his home till his death.

Dr. Carpenter was a busy and usefi>l man, highly
respected and beloved in Newton and Dtdham. He
was a public-spirited man and interested himself in
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the important questions of the day. He was one of

the first to form a temperance society in Newton,

which did a good work. He was an anti-slavery man
from the time Garrison was mobhed. He lectured

in Newton and Dedham on medical and other sub-

jects. So able a man was he considered, he was in-

vited to edit an anfi-slavery paper; but that he felt

obliged to decline, as he could not spare the time from

his professional work, and Mr. Edmund Qiinsy was

selected in his place.

He was interested in education, and served on the

School Committee in Newton for some time. He was

one of the directors of the Savings Bank in Dedham,
and held other offices. He died at the age of forty-

two, as his widow writes, "just as he began to reap."

He was a member of the Massachusetts Medical So-

ciety.

Stephen Hodgman Spalding, son of Joseph

Spalding, was boru in Chelmsford, Mass., August 4,

,1787. He died iu South Natick, July, 18(50. He
commenced his medical studies under the tuition of

a Dr. Wyman, at that time a practicing physician in

Chelmsford. He attended two courses of lectures in

Boston, and graduated after studying thrte years at

the Harvard Medical School.

He commenced practice in Littleton, Mass , re-

mained a few years, then removed to Dublin, New
Hampshire, where he secured an excellent and lucra-

tive practice. After a few years he found that the se-

verity of the winters, and the almost impassable state

of the roads—being obliged to travel with snow-

sLoes without any regard to boundary lines or fences

—was telling upon his health, and this decided him

to accept an invitation to settle in South Natick,

Mass., where again he succeeded in building up an

extensive practice.

In about 1841 he removed to Newton Upper Falls,

and associated himself with his son-in-law. Dr. Sam-
uel S. Whitney, who had married his only child, Sarah

W. Spalding, in general practice. In 1843 his house

and stable were burned. He then settled iu Reading,

Mass., and continued in practice there for several

years. Later in life, after an active practice of thirty

years, he retired, and removing back to South Natick,

made that his home till he died. In his last years he

was a great sufferer from disease. He was a member
of the Unitarian Church and Parish of South Natick,

and the large number at his funeral attested the re-

spect and esteem of his towns-people.

Samuel Stillman Whitney, M.D.,sonpf George
Whitney, was born at Natick, Mas^., January 6, 1815.

He died June 30, 1855, leaving a wife an'd several

children, one of whom, Stillman Spalding Whitney,
born August 11, 1849, became a physican and died at

Allston, Mass., November 7, 1886.

Dr. Whitney fitted for college at Leicester, Mass.,

and entered Harvard College at the age of fourteen.

After remaining a year at Cambridge, he removed to

Amherst, Mass., to complete his collegiate course in

Amherst College. Toward the close of it, however, a

long sii^kness having intervened to prevent bis grad-

ual ng with his class, he decided not to take a de-

gree.

Soon after he entered the office of Dr. S. H. Spald-

ing, then practicing in Natick, Mas'. The next year

he entered the office of Dr. John D. Fisher, of Boston,

and ('ontinued his medical studies there. The last six

months of his studentship he passed in the City In-

stitutions at South Boston. He graduated at Harvard

Medical C'lUt^ge in 1838. Immediately after the

death of Dr. Alfred.Hosmer, at Newton Upper Falls,

he settled in that place, and, from his ene.'gy and su-

perior ability, rapidly won the esteem and confidence

of the cumiiiunity, and a large and widely-extended

practice. Within a year of his settlement there, he

married Mis^ Sarah W. Spalding, only child of his

first teacher in the study of medicine.

Dr. Whitney remained at Newton Upper Falls six

years, and then removed to Dedham, Mass., in 1844,

having been invited to go there by the citizens of the

town. He was an early and enthusiastic follower of

Laennec, and in the early yearsof his practice he wrote

a paper on " Auscultation and Percussion," which

was printed in the American Journal of the Medical

Sciences. It was considered of so much value, it was

reprinted in the British Medical Journal.

He wi^one of the first operators in this country

for strabismus. He successfully attempted staphy-

lorraphy. He performed this operation successfully

many times ; once on a gentleman from Canada, who
had been operated upon unsuccessfully by the cele-

brated Diffeuback. He performed a series of opera-

tions for the surgical relief of epilepsy.

Before permanently locating in Dedham he went to

Europe and spent a year in travel and study at the

leading medical centres, especially following Laennec,

Velpeau, Andral and Piorry. On leaving Paris,

Piorry presented him with his own long-used plessi-

metre as a parting gift, of which he was always very

proud, although in general practice he much pre-

ferred his own phalangeal bones. His delicacy,

quickness and acuteness of ear rendered him very ex-

pert in his favorite field of auscultation and per-

cussion.

He was a skillful surgeon, successful in all the

larger operations and especially in arts of modern

surgery for the cure of congenital or accidental de-

formities.

In the autumn of 1818 he was attacked with

diarrhrea—a sub-acute enteritis—-from which and its

effects he never fully recovered. He was sometimes

relieved by a sea voyage or a short residence in a

warmer climate. In 1853 he began to feel a numb-
ness in his lower limbs, which increased till paralysis

ensued. A few months later, with a medical attendant,

he sailed for Havana. There, while standing on

the capstan of the vessel, he was seized with para-

plegia. He returned to New York, was placed on the
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Sami'KI, Wakrkx, .Ml)., »on of Nallmn Wiirren,

waa born in Weston. Mart., April 2S, 1.S02. ills

early ulncalion wan ol.tained in I'mniingliani, Miiiw.,

and »t I'liillipK Aciideniy. Audover, Mass., 1819

-•.'•.'. lie enlere.1 Yule t'olleRe in 1822 iin<l re-

inainecl there for two yeiirn, then went to the Harvard

Metlical School and Rraduated in 1827. He was a

deacon in the West Newton Congregational Church.

He was a biblical Htudent and some of his writings

were |iublii.lii>«l in the liililiothrot Sacra.

Dr. Warren was interested in horticulture, and his

botanical htudien look a wide range. At one time he

wan at the head of an academy in West Newton.

For several years lie praclicetl medicine in West

Newton, where he held valuable real estate.

Dr. Warren was a modest man with a retiring dis-

piMition, without worldly ambition, but was greatly

respected and beloved by his neighbors ai^ towns-

people. The es-.imation in which he was held was

shown at hit funeral, when the entire church was

lilletl by tho,te who wished by their presence to testify

their appreciation of him.

He nnirried Miss Ann Catherine Reed, of Charlea-

town, Ma-Hsachuielts, August 2.3, 1829. He died Oc-

U>bcr 2.'i, 1SG7, leaving a widow and one son, Professor

t«. E. Warren.

Ai.KRKii Hosmi:k, M.D., son of Jonas Hosmer, was

born in Wal|>ole, New Hampshire, November?, 1802.

He died at Newton Upper Fulls, November 27, 1837,

very suddenly, of disease of the heart, the result of

rheumatism in early life. He was a brother of Hiram

Hosmer, the well-known physician of Watertown.

He married Miss Mary Ann Oraharae, in December,

1831. At his decease he left a wife, two sons and one

daughter, who died early in life. One of his sons; Dr.

Alfreil Hosmer, a prominent physician, is living in

Watertown, Mas-sachusetts.

Hi.< early education was obtained in Alstead, New
Ham[ishire. He graduated at the Harvard Medical

College in 1828. He located first in Marlboro', Mas-
sachuitetts. In the autumn of 1829 he went to New-
ton Upper Falls, where he practiced till his death.

Dr. Hosmer seldom rode in a carriage, almost in-

variably on horseback. His horse was saddled and
at the door when he dropped dead. He was a skillful

j>bysirian and hi|ihly estemed, not only by the citi-

zens of the town, but throughout a wide region.

EuWAitn W.\iu!KX, .M.D., son of Professor John
Wirren, M.D., waa born in Boston, December, 1804,

and oi.Hi III lioston, 1878. He was abrother of the

celebrated Dr. John C. Warren, of IJoston.

He graduated at Harvard College in 1829. He was

a member of Massachusetts Meilical Society—at one

lime a councilor ; Boston Society of Natural History,

&c. Twice he visited Europe, and traveled quite ex-

tensively there.

He wrote the life of Dr. John Collins Wsrren,

which was published in 1859; and the life of Dr.

John Warren, which was published in 1874. He

commenced practice in Boston after his graduation,

but soon removed to Newton, where he resided from

1840 to 1857.

He was eminent as a general practitioner and a

skillful surgeon. As a diagnostician he was not ex-

celled. The most obscure case seemed to open clearly

before his acute investigation. His rapidity in arriv-

ing at a correct diagnosis sometimes seemed like intu-

ition, when, in fact, it was the result of clear insight

and rapid generaliz;Uion?. He suffered from an im-
,

pediment of speech, which was aggravated by over-

fatigue from his practice.

He was an excellent physician, and called widely

in consultation. He was greatly interested in horti-

culture and floriculture. He was also a devoted

churchman, liberal in his gifts to the Episcopal

Church at Newton's Lower Fails.

In 1835 he married Caroline Rebecca Ware, daugh-

ter of Professor Henry Ware, of Cambridge, Massa-

chusetts.

Davio H. Gregg, 31.D., was a prominent physi-

cian in Newton, between 1820 and 1840. He took an

active part in the temperance work of his day. He
delivered an address upon the " Evils of Intemper-

ance," before the Newton Temperance Society, July

4, 1828, in which' he said, " To promote virtue and to

prevent vice—to augment human happiness and to

dry up the sources of human wretchedness and want

and woe—are the ultimate ends for which this society

now assembled has been instituted.''

Joel Brown, M.D., son of John Brown, was born

in Bradford, N. H., October 22, 1812. He died iu

West Newton, Mass., March 19, 18(i5, leaving a

widow, who still survives him. His youth was spent

on a farm. He was educated at the academy in

Hopkinton, the Kimball Union Academy, located at

Meriden, N. H.; and entered Dartmouth College,

Hanover, N. H., from which he graduated in 1841.

He taught school successfully in several towns and

also in Boston previous to and alter his graduation.

President Lord, of Dartmouth College, in a recom-

mendation of him, said: "He ia a man of unblem-

ished character."

While in college he decided to make the practice

of medicine his profession. He entered the Harvard
Medical School and afterwards graduated from Dart-

mouth Medical College.

AVhile attending lectures at the Harvard Medical

School he ascertained there was another Joel Brown,

I
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and, to save annoyance to either, he interpolated a

middle-name—Henry— wliicli he ever afterward used.

He was a member of the Massachusetts Medical So-

ciety. He first settled in Weymouth, Mass., but

removed to West Newton in January, 1848, where he

resided till his death.

In February, 1849, he married Miss. Sarah R. P.

Richmond, of Boston, Mass. One daughter ivas born

to them, who died in her eighth year.

Dr. Brown was a broad and liberal-spirited man

—

and a reformer. He was an abolitionist of the Gar-

rison stamp, save that he believed in voting. He
was an earnest peace man on principle, and when, at

college, it was attempted to force him to do military

duty, he refused, saying tliey could fine him or put

him in prison, but he would not act the soldier in

preparations for war. He was full of humor and

witty ; exceedingly dry in his jokes and witticisms,

genial, pleasant and loving; true as steel to his

friends, and just to all. In religious matters he was

a liberal Congregationalist, and highly esteemed in

the West Newton Congregational Church, as, in fact,

he was by all who knew him. He was one of the

founders of "The West Newton Athenwum " in 1849.

Truly, to hundreds of families he was " the beloved

physician."

In the Congre(jati(inallst, March 24, 1865, the Rev.

Dr. Tarbox pays the following tribute to his memory:
" Dr. Brown was a most noble example of a Christian

physician; eminently skillful in his profession ; most

winning in his manners ; always welcome in his visits

to the sick-room; able and willing to give religious

instruction and consolation. We speak the mind of

the great body of the people in Newton and in the

neighboring towns when we say that hardly a man in

the town could have been called away whose death

would have brought such a sense of personal loss

and bereavement to so many individuals."

lu the Newton Cemetery has been erected a monu-
ment to his memory by loving friends.

Dr. Henry Bigelovt, the son of Lewis Bigelow,

was born in Worcester, Massachusetts, May 20. 1817.

He was educated in his native town, was fitted in the

public schools for Harvard College, which he entered

at the age of fifteen years, graduating in the class of

'86. Though his own inclination at that time was to

become a civil engineer, he yielded to the desire of

his father, that he should enter the medical profes-

sion, for which after-events showed him to be so well

fitted. He entered the Harvard Medical School,

graduating from there in 1839. He attended acourse

of lectures in Philadelphia also, the medical school

there standing very high at that time; he also studied

with Dr. John Greene, of Worcester. He first settled

as a practicing physician in Buxton, Maine, in 1840.

In the same year, August 2oih, he married Matilda

A. Poole, of Boston, Mass., and one child, a daughter,

was bora during their stay in Buxton. He remained

there four years, but he desired a larger field, with

more means of advance, so with his family he moved
to Bo.-ton in 1844, but remained there less than two

years, then moved to Newton early in 1846, where he

passed the remainder of his life. He died January

21, 1866, at the early age of forty-eight years, leaving

a widow, two daughters and orie son. In that com-

paratively short life much had been accom|)lishcd,

not only in his profession, in which he held a high

po-iition, as the records of the medical society would

show (of whifh he was a member), as well as the tes-

timony of all to whom he ministered, in whose hearts

he held so high a place as friend as well as physician.

To him Newton owes much of its early prosperity.

A small town when he settled there, its growth was

rapid and vigorous. He had shown his interest in

education by taking a position on the School Board in

Buxton, and in Newton he soon received a similar

position, and held it during his life, being chairman

of the School Committee for many years. In religion

he was a strong and earnest Unitarian, one of the

founders of the Channing Unitarian Society of New-
ton, one of the ten whose generosity and devotion

enabled the society to build their first church. He
remained on the Standing Committee of that church

till his death, and was also for many years superin-

tendent of the Sunday-school. He never enteied the

arena of political life in an active way, but his inter-

est was quick and strong in all matters of public im-

portance,—his hand, his purse and his time ever

ready to aid any just cause. In him the poor had a

wise and helpful friend. Not only were his profes-

sional services often gratuitous, but sympathy and

aid were ever generously bestowed. Many were the

knotty questions and matters of disagreement which

were brought to him for arbitration by those who had

perfect confidence in his wisdom and just discrimina-

tion. He was influential in securing and laying out

one of Newton's most attractive spots, her beautiful

cemetery, of which he was one of the trustees, ai.d

where nineteen years after his death was raised a

most beautiful tribute to his influence—a memorial

chapel, testifying the grateful and lasting recollection

of one who knew and honored him so truly

He held many minor offices of trust and responsi-

bility, from time to time, as he always had the power

to fill them satisfactorily, ihough the constantly in-

creasing calls of his profession during the later years

of his life left him less and less time for other duties.

Friexd D. Lord, M.D., son of James Lord, was

born in Limington, Me., March 3, 1822. He died in

Newton Lower Falls, December 8, 1883. His early

education was obtained in Limington Academy, Me.,

and Wilbraham Academy, Mats. He was a teacher

before and after his graduation.

He graduated from Bowdoin Jledical College,

and then studied in the hospitals of New York and

Philadelphia. He settled in Casco, Me., West Ded-

ham. Sterling and Newton Lower Falls, Mass. Jan-

uary 29, 1856, he mariied Harriet H. Hill.
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>l Viciin*, ()nri(U (.'uiiiity

• -• I,>ui«, where, during the wiir, he wiia assistiint

.1 exkiuiner fur the Fimt Diulrict of Missouri.

H, II, I to IJoatoii. Mam., nnti was ntlniiited

a Kt-: Ma«»ailiiisftl.t Mcilicul Soi-iety.

. Mo-n uiu- .>f tlie foumlers of ihe liyiinH'olotriciil

y of lUrtloii, and 80OI1 beciime reoogTii/.cd as

of ipvcul tkill in diagnosis «nd treatment of diseases

of women.

"lie conducted succcdsfullyn large practice until his

death, which was from cerebral hemorrhngic effusion,

tlie r.-^ult of an accidint." ile was a member of

many siioii'ific societies in which he wiii an able

and active man, and at one time lield the office of

vice-pii-sident of the American Jledical Association.

He was loo busy a man to wiite much for publication,

but one of his articles, a paper, " On the Connection

of the Hepatic Functions with Uterine Hypera-mias,

l-'luxions. Congestions and Inlliimmations,'' in the

Transactions of the American Meiiical Association

for 187S, vol. x.xi.x., exerted a distinct influence

towards obtaining in New England a wider respect

by general practiiioners for the specialty of gynrc-

coiogy, then still upon its trial, and at the same time

served to curb the somewhat inordinate zeal of a por-

tion of its younger enthusiasts.

Hewas, for many years, associated with Dr. Horatio

R. Storer in his practice at Hotel I'tlliani, Boston.

As a physician he was able, skillful and untiring in

his elforls to relieve and cure his patients, readily ob-

taining and continuing to bold their confidence,

respect and friendship. When patients did not pro-

gress as satisfactorily as he desired or expected, he

was not easily discouraged, so woiulcrful were his re-

sources. In fact, he never seemed at fault.

His father, the Rev. H. Warner,- was of Scotch

descent, and the doctor was well grounded in the

I'resbyteriaa doctrines and thoroughly conversant

with the S^criptures. As a friend he was true as steel

;

honorable, upriglit in his dealings witli all and ever

the friend of the poor, whom he preferred for his

patients, for there he found the most gratitude.

A little volume "In raemoriam " was published

alter his death, containing the funeral services ; a

memorial tribute to him, read by Dr. 11. M. Field, of

Newton, Mass., before the GynKcological Society of

Hoslon, followed by loyal and loving words from
other members of the society ; and letters from many
jiersons, including prominent medical men in various

parU of the country, testifying to his worth, his skill,

bis noble Christian manhood and his charities—so

freely given to the poor.

Rarely ha.s :i physician been called from his life-

work to cross the river to the " Home Beyond the

Tide," leaving so many sorrowing and living friends

to mourn their loss.

THADErs Pulaski Robikson, M.D., son of Noali

Robinson, was born in Laconia, N. H., Sept. 5, 182'),

i.enced practice
j

and died January 5, 1874, in Newton Centre, Mass.,

N v., and removed thence I leaving a wile and daughter.

He titled for college at the Lowell (Mass.) High

Lrvi Farr Wahskr, M.1>.. was lH.rn October J-I,

... ..V .-,..1. CI... . i'.,iiiity, N. Y. He died

He received his early

. :,. .Mexico, N. Y. He
iiring 184J-J3 at Geneva

iihiatod, in 1862

School and New Hampton (N. H.) Academy, .ind

entered Dartmouth College with the class which was

graduated in 1848. He left college before graduation

and entereif the employment of the Essex Manufactur-

ing Company, in Lawrence, Mass., as a civil engineer.

In 1849 he went to California. While there he was

commissioned engineer-in-chief to establish the bound-

ary of the northern part of the State. He returned

to Massachusetts in 1857, and began the study of

medicine at the Harvard Medical School, and gradu-

ated in ISGO.

He settled at Newton Centre, Mass., April, 1860.

He was admitted a member of the Massachusetts

Medical Society in 1862. lie was a Mason, and a

member of Dalhousie Lodge, Nsvvtoaville. June 6,

1860, he married Fanny Rebecca Smith.

Dr. Allston Waldo Whitney, son of Simon

and Mary (Walker) Whitney, was born at Framing-

uara, Mass., January 12, 1828. He attended the Fram-

ingham and Leicester Academies until July 1, 1846,

when he entered the United States Military Academy,

West Point. On the 1st of July, 1848, he resigned

and began the study of medicine with his father, a

Miuch-beloved and respected physician, with whom
he continued until he entered the Harvard Medical

School, where he graduated in 1852. Upon receiv-

ing his degree, he settled at South Framingham, and

remained there until the breaking out of the Rebellion.

It was while at this place that he first maniftsted

those abilities as a physician and surgeon which

afterwards made him so well known.

In July, 1861, he joined the Thirteenth Regiment

Massachusetts Volunteers, at Fort Independence,

Boston Harbor, and was jnustered into service as its

surgeon July 16, 1861, continuing as such until his

muster out with the regiment,August 1, 1864. During

his service hewas atone time as-signed to duty as

medical director of the Second Division, First Army
Corps, and as brigade surgeon. He was brevetted

lieutenant-colonel for gallant conduct and great

humanity to the wounded.

August 24, 1864, he was married to Miss Sarah
Eileo Bishop, of Boston, and settled in that city at the

corner of Washington and Dedham Streets. In
March, 1865, he removed to West Newton, and there

resided until his death. He was the father of four

children, two of whom, Charles Simon and Mary
Ellen, are now living.

The disease which resulted in his death first showed
itself during the winter of 1880-81, and on the 2d of
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February he went to the Massachusetts General Hos-

pital for treatment, remained two or three weeks and

then returned to his Ijome. After several weeks of

rest and good nursing he resumed his professional

duties, apparently in much better health than for

some months previous. On the evening of Novem-

ber 8th, while preparing a description of the wound

which caused the death of President Garfield,which he

was to read and illustrate to the school children of

West Newton, he reached for some object needed,

and, upon resuming his seat, complained of violent

pain in his side. He grew worse rapidly, and at three

o'clock Friday morning, the 11th of November, he

died of angina pectoris.

He was a member of the Massachusetts Medical

Society, the Masonic Fraternity, the Royal Arcanum,

the Knights of Honor, Military Order of the Loyal

Legion, Post G2, G.«4. E., Boston Light Infantry

Association, and the Threottyne Club.

On the 30th of April, 18(33, Dr. Whitney was put

in charge of the hospital at the Fitz Hugh House, on

the Rappahanock River, and on the 10th of May the

army moved northward, the wounded being sent to

Washington as fast as they could be removed with

safely. On the 15tb of June the hospital was cap-

tured by the rebels, and about forty men, all badly

wounded or very sick, and the nurses and guard,

numbering about twenty, were made prisoners. Dr.

Whitney had remained with the wounded men, and

protested against their capture and removal in such

strong terms that he was also made prisoner. All

were taken in freight cars and army wagons to Libby

Prison. During the trip he was unceasing in his

efforts to alleviate the sufferings of the wounded men,

and at Libby Prison he was active in their welfare.

He made the acquaintance of the officers, and so

gained their good-will by that charm of manner which

was almost irresistible, that he was allowed to visit

his men, and his efforts hastened their exchange by

many months ; for, until he represented the truth,

the authorities of the prison insisted upon it that they

were Union officers in disguise. He was kept a pris-

oner for about sis months, before the expiration of

which time almost all, his men had been exchanged.

In appearance Dr. Whitney was a noticeable man,

about five feet six inches in height, quite corpulent,

and very dignified in his bearing. He had dark hair,

very heavy eyebrows, clear and keen blue eyes, and
wore a gray moustache somewhat extended on either

cheek. His life was one of rare usefulness. His

kind and sympathetic nature made him beloved by

rich and poor, and his skill in the practice of medi-

cine and surgery was of the highest order and re-

ceived recognition as such by the best men in his pro-

fession. In battle he was calm, undisturbed by the

exci ement and dangers about him, saw clearly his

duties, and steadily pursued them with a coolness,

fearlessness and persistency that commanded the ad-

miration of all.

"Joseph Huckins Warren, M. D.,son of Joseph

and Caroline E. (Iluckins) Warren, was born in

Effingham, Carroll County, N. H., October 2, 1831.

His father was the seventh son of James Warren, of

Scarboro', Me., and grandson of .lohn Warren, of

French and Indian war notoriety. This is the historic

war family of Revolutionary fame. His maternal

ancesters were in the line of descent from the Duchess

of Marlboro'. His maternal grandfather, Joseph

Huckins, was a very prominent msn; he was high

sheriff of New Hampshire and grand master of F.

and A. M. in New England, holding the jewels and

archives of the Order wiien the Morgan excitement,

against Masonry was so bitter."

At sixteen years of age he entered West Lebanon
Academy, Me. Hfl commenced the study of medicine

at the medical school, Castleton', Vt., in 1849, and

afterwards attended lectures at the Harvard Jledical

School. He graduated from the Medical School, Bow-

doin College, Me., in 1853. He went to New York and

took a special course of study with Dr. Valentine Mott,

then returned to Massachusetts, joined the Massachu-

setts Medical Society, and began the practice of med-

icine in Newton, Mass. Htre he practiced three

years, during which tiniC he was a member of the

School Board and held other offices of trust and

honor. From overwork his hejlth broke down, and

he removed to Dorchej^ter, Ma^-s.

At the breaking out of the Rebellion, Dr. Warren
was among the first to volunteer, and was in Balti-

more with the Massachusetts troops when the first

volunteers were mobbed in the streets of that city

He was particularly recommended to President Lin-

coln, by Hon. Henry Wilson, as a most loyal and
trustworthy person and skillful surgeon. He was
commissioned, by President Lincoln, medical director

and brigade surgeon in General Casey's division.'

He labored zealously to alleviate the sufferings of the

soldiers and partly tlirough his influence barrack hos-

pitals were erected for the sick and wounded. He saw

active service before Yorktown, and being disabled

while bearing special dispatches to Washington, was

obliged to resign.

Dr. Warren has traveled abroad quite extensively

for health and pleasure ; and officially as delegate

from the American Medical Association. He has

read papers before the Brilish Medical Association at

Cambridge, and the Academy of Medicine at Paris.

He published in London " A Practical Treatise on

Hernia." This work was republished in America in

1882. He operated in Guy's Hospital, London, and

eUewhere, to demonstrate his method.

He published "A Plea for the Cure of Rupture,"

and has written many monographs and medicil pa-

pers, as well as articles relating to general literature.

He was among the first, if not the first, to aspirate

the pericardium (April, IS.'io), and to perform the

operation of paracentesis tlioracis.

While traveling in Florida for his health, he pub-
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Dr. Warren was married, September 24, 1854, to

Caroline Kliiabelh Kveretl, of Ncwion. Two chil-

dren were born to them—a diiughter, deceased, and a

<in,Charlei Everett Warren, >I.I)., who is associated

with him as attending physician at the Massachusetts

Hume for Intemperate Women.
I)uring his retidi lue in Witshington he had special

opportunities! of seeing I'resiik-iit Lincoln. He wa.«,

for that period, the medical attendant of that remaik-

ablc man. IVrhsps the most important of his con-

fidenlinl interviews, for its influence on the President,

and, through him, on the counlry at large, was one in

which he introduced the eminent author, Nathaniel

Hawthorne, to Mr. Lincoln. Mr. Hawthorne was a

Friend in his aversion to force, and in his visit to

Wiuihington with Messrs. Tickncr and Field, his

ensitive and peace-loving spirit was overcome by the

horrors of war, and he fell into a state of great dis-

trem. Dr. Warren, in the hope that an interview

with Mr. Lincoln would tend to restore Mr. Haw-
thorne's confidence in the future of his country, took

him to the White House on one of his professional

evening calls. It seemed at first an unfortunate
moment. Mr. Lincoln was greatly agitated by the
diacoverjr of treachery in an uuexpected quarter, and
told his vi-itors that he was overcome by ditliculties,

not knowing who were friends and who were tr'aitors,

his burden in public life, failing strength and do-
mestic sorrows beirg beyond his strength.

To this Mr. Hawthorne replied by a few words of
sympathy and encouragfment, and, finding these of
little avail, knelt and offered a prayer which might
be called inspired—full of confidence, utterly casting
all care on the Infinite Power—invoking strength in

this crifi.', and ending in an ascription of adoration
that feetned to lift his hearers to the visible presence
of the .\lmighty.

As they rose, Mr. Lincoln said to him, with strong

I emotion : "Mr. Hawtli -rnc, ciuJ sent you here in my
! darkeit hour. Now fam strong. He placed me here

and I know that He will sustain me to the end."

I From that time all undue aii.\iety seemed to disap-

pear, and Mr. Lincoln, by his decision, firmness and

j

undoubting belief in his position as the servant of

the Loril, inspired strength and courage in all who

approached him.

Hi:.viiY liRAiisiiAW Bradley, M.D., was born in

("heahire, England, October 15, 1848, and died in

BollinCirove, Builey, England, August 31, 1881. He
waa graduated at the College of Physicians and Sur-

geons, London, England, and was profetsionally asso-

ciated with his uncle. Professor Bradshaw, at Man-

chester, England. Later he practiced a short lime

in Trageda, Wales, and left there to accept a position

as ship-surgeon on the Cunard Line of steamships.

In 1877 he settled on California Street, Newton,

Ma.>^8., where he practiced medicine until his health

failed, a few months before his death, when he re-

turned to England and died.

Ja.mks Henuy McDonnell, M.D., w.is born in

Ireland; studied medicine at St. Mary's College,

Virginia, and graduated from Harvard Medical Col-

lege in 1871. He settled in Waltham, removed to

Newton, th<n to Watertown, and died in Waltham in

1886 or 1887.

He married Miss Kate Donahue, of Waltham.

He was a bright, active man, a loyal friend and a

skillful physician.

WiLLARD Everett Smith, M.D., son of F. L.

Smith, of Newton, was bora in Newton ville, Novem-
ber 11, 1856; was educated in Newton Grammar and
High Schools, and entered Harvard University in

1875, and graduated in his class in 1879. He entered

Harvard Medical School in 1879, and graduated in

1882.

After a little preliminary practice he went to Bos-

ton and settled there, and immediately attained a

reputation as a successful practitioner in diseases of

the throat and lungs. He was employed by the

Mnssachusetts Medical Society, of whiih he was a

member, to prepare and report on the climatology of

]\Iassachusetts. And for two years he prepared and
read papers on this subject in a most acceptable

manner.

He was a brilliant young man, with prospects of

rising to an eminent position in the medical pro-
fession.

He was taken ill and died suddenly, July 13, 1890.

September 15, 1886, he was married to Miss Alice
L. Newell, of Framingham, Ma^s. He left a widow
and one daughter.

John P. Mayxard, M.D., son of Elias Maynard,
of Boston, was born in Boston, Mass., in 1816. He
was educated at the Boston Latin School and Phillips
Academy, Andover, Mass. He graduated from the
Medical School, Harvard University, in 1848. He
settled in Newton Lower Falls in 1818, where he
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practiced medicine till 1852. He then removed to

Dedliam, Miiss.. where he now resides and continues

to practice his profession. He is a prominent man

and widely known as a skillful physician. He was

president of the Norfolk Medical Society in 1876, '77,

'78, '79.

In 1850 Dr. Maynard married Miss Caroline E.

Tales, of Boston, Mass.

Alfred C. Smith, M.D., son of James Smith, was

born in Bathurst, New Brunswick. He graduated at

Harvard Medical College. For several years after

his graduation be had charge, under the Dominion

Government, of the Lazaretto, at Tracadie, N. B., for

the care of the leprous community.

He afterwards moved to Newton and settled at No-

nautum, where he remained in practice for a few

years. He afterwards moved to Nev/ Castle, New
Brunswick, where be now resides.

Oris Eugene Hunt, M.D., son of Joseph 6. and

Lucy H. Hunt, was boru in Sudbury, Mass., July 7,

1822. His early life was spent on a farm and his ele-

mentary education was acquired in the district schools

of the towu. He fitted for college in the Wayland

Academy and in the academy at Wilbraham, Mass.,

and entered the Wesleyan University at Middletown,

Connecticut, in the class of 1844. After nine months

he left the university in consequence of ill-health.

Read medicine for a time with Levi Goodnough,

M.D., of Sudbury, Mass. Later was a pupil in the

Boylsiou Medical School in Boston, under the tutor-

age, chiefly, of Dr. E. C. Buckingham and Dr. Edward
H. Clark. During his studies here he was present at

the Massachusetts General Hospital when ether was

administered for the first time. And he was the first

to administer it in the towns of Sudbury, Wayland
and Weston.

He attended medical lectures at Woodstock, Vt.

and at Pittsfield, Mass., and graduated in medicine

at the Berkshire Medical College in 1848, and was ad-

mitted to the Massachusetts Medical Society the same

year. During his course of study he taught school in

Sudbury four consecutive winters.

He settled in Weston, Mass., in 1848, and continued

to practice medicine there till the autumn of 1864,

when he remove! to Waltham, Mass., where he con-

tinued active in professional work till 1870. He dis-

continued general practice at that time in conse-

quence of failing health, selling his business and good
will to Dr. E. R. Cutler.

Three years later, after extensive travel in this

country, including a visit to California and the Pacific

slope, and becoming improved in health, he moved to

Newtonville, Mass., where he now resides, and recom-

menced the practice of his profession. In 1883 he

retired from practice to a large extent. He is fre-

quently called in consultation by younger and less ex-

perienced men. His son, William O. Hunt, M.D.,

succeeded to his practice.

While residing in Weston he served four years as

secretary of the Middlesex South District Medical

Society, once as its anniversary orator. He was a

meml)cr of ihe School t^omniittee for ten consecnlive

years, and three years of this time served as chairman.

He also was a member of the School Committee in

Waltham for two years.

He has been president of the medical board con-

nected with the Newton Cottage Hospital and con-

sulting physician since it was f .undcd.

He was married Oct. 8, 1849, to Aroline E. Thomp-
son, of Sudbury, Mass. He has two children—Mrs.

Nina M. Fenno and William O. Hunt, M.D.
Daniel Denison Slade, JI.D., son of J. Tilton

Slade, was born in Boston, Mjiss., May 10, 1823.

Graduated from the Boston Latin School, then enter-

ed Harvard College, from which he graduated in 1844.

He studied meJicine in the Tremont Medical School,

and received his medical degree at Harvard in 1848.

Passed one year as house surgeon in the Massachu-

setts General Hospital, and three years in the hospi-

tals of Great Britain and on the Continent. Com-
menced practice in Boston in 1852, being visiting

surgeon of the Boston Dispensary for several years
;

was admitted a member of the Massachusetts Medical

Society in 1848, and became a member of the Boston

Medical Improvement Society and Boston Society of

Observation in 1855. In 1856 he married Miss M.
Louise Hensier.

During his professional career in Boston he deliver-

ed courses of lectures to students on surgical subjects

and received four prizes on medical subjects—two

from the Massachusetts Medical Society : one on

Bronchitis and its consequences, the other on Sper-

matorrhrca; and two from the Rhode Island Medical

Society, being " The Fisk Fund Prizes."

He also hds contributed many papers to the various

medical journals. In 1863 he was appointed one of the

inspectors of hospitals in Baltimore, Annapolis and
Philadelphia. He was the author of the report on

the subject of amputations, printed by the committee

of the associate medical members of Sanitary Com-
mission.

He settled at Chestnut Hill, Newton, in 1863. In

1871 he was appointed Professor of Agriculture and
Zoology in the Bussey Institute, Harvard University,

which chair he held until a severe sickness, in 1882,

compelled him to resign.

In 1884 he was chosen one of the assistants in the

Museum of Comparative Zoology, Cambridge, and ap-

pointed lecturer on comparative osteology, which
position he still, holds.

He has always been interested in horticulture and
agriculture, and has contributed various papers on

these subjects, and received two prizes for essays from

the Massachusetts Horticultural Society ;—one on the

"Construction of Country Roads," the other on the

"Treatment of Small Suburljan Places." He also re-

ceived the prize offered by a gentleman of Newton,

on "How to Improve and Beautify Newton." At the
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Ji'l.li's Hi.oiHjKT, M.l)., son of Alden Hlodget, was

born in .StatlV.rd, Conn., September 22, 1825. He re-

i.l\i',l hit early education at Jlonson and W'ilbraham.

Ml--., allernating his school-days by work on a farm.

He studied medicine at and graduated from the Uni-

ver«iiy of New York. He practiced medicine in

Siallord Springs from 1853 to 1857, and in West

Hrookfield from 1857 to 1876, and in Newtonville,

.Ma.>«,, since 1876. He has been a member of the Con-

necticut Stale Medical Society and United States

Medical Society.

In 1854 he was married to Miss Sarah L. Arnold,

of Warren, Mass., and after her death was married, in

1861, to Mrs. Eliza F. Dunnclls, of West Brooktield,

Mass.

Joiis DcDLEY LovERiKO, M.D., son of Oilman
I,-tverinp, was born in Raymond, N. H., March 8,

1H27. He was educated at D.irfmoudi College. Be-

fore he entered college he was a teacher, and during

his course of studies there he taught a part of the

time. In 1861 he settled in Essex, Mass., and con-

tinued to practice medicine there nearly twenty years.

He graduated at the .\lbany Medical College, N. Y.

He i.s a member of the Massachusetts ^ledical Society.

He married Mi-s Sarah H. B Cogswell, of Esse.x, Mass.

CiiABi.iM F. Creiiore, M.D., son of Lemuel Cre-

hore. was born .lune 18, 1828, in Newton Lower Fall.<3.

After studying at the academy in Milton, he gradu-
ated at the Rensselaer Polytechnic Institute, in Troy,

N. Y'., in 1848. He afterwards entered the Harvard
Medical School, and graduated in 1859.

Before studying medicine he was. employed, as a

civil engineer, in building United States roads in

Minnesota during the year 1854. In 18G7 he retired

from medical practice,and since that time has devoted
himself to the manufacture of paper.

He went to Europe in May, 1852, and remained
traveling abroad till Septemi.er, 1853. He settled in
Boston in 185'J, and made that his home until 1866.
He aow reaides in Newton Lower Falls.

l»r. Crehore has an excellent and distinguished war

!
record, extending from the beginning to the end of

I
Ihecondict." May, 1861, he was appointed surgeon on

I

ihearnKdtransporl" Cambridge." In December, 1861,

he was appointed acting assistant-surgeon to the

Twentieth Regiment MassachuBctls Volunteer Infan-

try. He was promoted and appointed surgeon of the

Thirty-seventh Regiment Massachusetts Volunteer

Infantry, and served with that regiment from August,

1862, till December, 1864. During this time—from

April, 1863, to April, 1864,—he served as medical in-

spector. Sixth ."Vrniy Corps, and surireon-in-chief First

Division, Sixth .Vrmy Corps. At the baltie of Win-

chester, Va., in September, 1864, he had charge of the

wounded of the Sixth Corps.

Dr. Crehore is a member of many medical and

other scientific societies, including the JIassachusetts

Medical Society, Boston Society for Medical Observa-

tion, Natural History Society, etc., etc.

He has written articles for medical and other jour-

nals, on professional and other topics. He has been

an active member of the Newton Water Board. He
was married, September 29, 1857, to Mary W. Loring,

daughter of Henry Loring, of Boston.

D. Wayland Jones, M.D., son of Daniel Jones,

was born in Ashburnhara, Massachusetts, January

14, 1829. His early education was obtained in West-

minster and Winchendon, Massachusetts. He grad-

uated from the University of New York in 1852. He
practiced in Medfield, Massachusetts, from 1854 to

1866, when he removed to Newtonville, Massachusetts,

where he continued in general practice till 1878, and

then settled in Boston. Since that time he has made
diseases of the rectum a specialty and has given up

general practice. In his specialty he has been very

successful and is obtaining a wide reputation.

In 1871-72 he went abroad and traveled extensively

through a large part of Europe, visiting and studying

in the leading hospitals of the princijjal cities.

He is a member of the Massachusetts Medical So-

ciety, which he joined in 1852. In this society he

has been censor and councilor. He became a member
of the American Medical Association in 1874.

Dr. Jones married Miss Minerva P. Tyler in 1853.

She died in 1858.

In 1860 he married Josephine D. Bullard. She
died in 1871. In 1877 he married Miss E. N. Sruart.

Henry Martyn Field, M.D., son of Deacon John
F^ield, was born in Brighton, Massacbu.sett.s, October

3, 1837, in what is known as the "Old Worcester

House," which was built about the year 1685.

His mother was Miss Sarah Elliott Worcester, a
lineal descendant from Noah Worcester, LL.D., the

great lexicographer. She died about two years after

Henry was born, leaving an infant brother, John
Worcester Field.

In early childhood he was a nervous, puny, deli-

cate child, and even when he reached mature man-
hood was never strong and robust, although he has
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accomplished a vast amount of professional work.

His early etlucalion was obtained in Chauncy Hall

School, Boston, and Philli[is Academy in Andover,

Massachusetts.

He entered Harvard College in 1855, and gradu-

ated with honor in 1859, having the part of orator at

commencement. Difring his years of study in col-

lege he had a strong predilection for the medical pro-

fession.

After his graduation he went to New York, and

made his home with the eminent and celebrated Dr.

E. R. Peaslee, and commenced the study of medicine.

Dr. Peaslee was at that time Professor of Diseases of

Women in Dartmouth IMedical College, Hanover, N.

H. Dr. Field accompanied him to Dartmouth that

autumn, and on his return took a full course of lec-

tures at the College of Physicians and Si:rgeons, in

New York City. During his course of study he held

a position of considerable importance in the Dewitt

Dispensary.

He was valedictorian of his class when he gradu-

ated from the College of Physicians and Surgeons in

the spring of 18G2.

He immediately opened an oflSce at No. 77 Lexing-

ton Avenue, in New York City, and entered into

practice. Soon after he was mustered into the United

Slates Army as assistant surgeon, and was sent to

Hilton Head. There he contracted malaria and was

transferred to the hospital at Beaufort, S. C. He has

never entirely recovered, and at times still suffers se-

verely. Soon after he returned home, and remained

several months till somewhat improved, then went to

Washington, D. D., and was stationed at Carver Gen-

eral Hospital, on Fifteenth Streeet, for about one

year. In October, 1863, he resigned and came to his

father's home in West Cambridge (now Arlington),

Mass.

October 20, 186.3, he married Miss Lydia Morgie

Peck, daughter of Abel G. Peck, Esq., of West Cam-
bridge, and sister of the wife of Gov. .J. Q. A. Brack-

ett. Soon after his marriage he removed to New
York, and entered into practice with his friend, Dr.

Peaslee.

In the spring of 1867 he left New York, and settled

in Newton, Mass. Here he had a large and remun-
erative practice till his health, which was never

strong, became so much impaired he was compelled

to abandon it for a time, and seek the climate of

Southern California for the winter of 1887-88. On
his return, the following summer, he was given an

enthusiastic public reception by his numerous friends.

The following year and a half he remained at home,

and attended to a part of his practice, but again

breaking down, he was compelled to return to Cali-

fornia for the winter of 1889-90. He owns a small

ranch at Passedena, where he made his home during

his stay. He returned to New England the following

summer, still very much broken in health.

In 1869 he was offered and accepted the chair of

Materia Mcdicaand Thcra|ieutit'S in Dartmouth Med-
ical College, which profcs-iorship he still holds.

Dr. Field published, in 1887, a work on "Cathart-

ics and Emetics," which was well received by the

medical profession. Beside that, he has published

numerous adilrcs-ses and monographs on various sub-

jects, the most noted of which were those on sulpho-

nal, which have attracted much fdvorablc notice in

the medical journals.

He was admitted a member of the Massachusetts

Medical Society in 1867. For several years he was

one of the censors in that society. He is a member
of the Gynecological Society of Boston,—was one of

the original founders—for si.t years was secretary,

and afterward-: was president fur one year. On ac-

count of ill health he was obliged to decline a second

term. He is one of the Medical Board connected

with the Newton Cottage Hospital, and also holds the

office of consulting physician in diseases of women.

He was one of the original members cf the Newton

Natural History Society, and has delivered before it

many able and interesting papers on scientific sub-

jects.

Dr. Field has always been a profound student and

he is one of the most scholarly men in the medical

profession in New England.

In practice he was noted for his skill and assiduous

care of his patients, easily winning and holding their

confidence and esteem to a remarkable degree.

Jesse F. Frisbie, M.D., son of Captain Jesse

Frisbie, of Kittery, Me., was born in Rochester, N.

H., .luly 12, 1838. For a time he was a student at

Phillips E.xeter Academy, N. H. He taught Gram-

maraud High Schools in Maine and New Hampshire

for several years, and then commenced his medical

studies with his uncle, Dr. J. H. York, a prominent

and successful physician of Boston, Mass., in 1858,

and graduated from the Harvard Medical College in

1861.

A little more than one year he practiced medicine

in Framingham Centre, Mass., and entered the

United States Navy in December, 1862. He served

in the Potomac Flotilla and afterwards in the East

Gulf Blockading Squadron. While in service on the

Potomac he contracted malaria, and in the Gulf of

Mexico he was prostrated with bilious remittent

fever and placed in the hospital at Key West, Fla.

He left the navy in January, 1861:, on account of ill

health.

May, 1864, he entered the United States Army and

served in Fairfax Seminary Hospital, near Alexan-

dria, Va.; Carver General Hospital, Washington, D.

C, and for nearly a year was in charge of Wisewell

Barracks Hospital, in Washington, D. C.

He practiced medicine in Woburn and Boston and

settled in Newton, Mass., in October, 1872, where he

now resides.

Dr. Frisbie was a member of the Newton City gov-

ernment in 1883, and a member of the Newton Board
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ili^ Ni-wtoii Collogi- llos-

lui U» u\>vituif evvry year.

.1. v*rly became iuterf»tvd in Nalurnl Siicncc,

aifi •hilr in ihi- UnileJ Stutes »iTvice mad.' large

•\ of Tertiary Fnwiis, for ti.e
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to New Mfiiic. for two years for the purpose of study-

ioK llie Zuni Imliaiia and other trihen, and llie ClilV-

lUellinttn and other evidences of pre-hisloric races

and haliitalii.us, in the interest of the Smithsonian

li>»tilulion. Owing to ill health he was obliged to

decline what to him was a moat attractive tield of in-

vc«lig»tion. It was the work afterwards accomplij-lied

by Lieutenant Cushing. Through his intliieiice the

Newton Natural History Society was formed and he

wafl prosiilent of it for the first seven years. He is a

lecturer on lieology and Archieology and has pub-

liahed many papers and monographs on these sub-

je..*t8.

}{e was admitted a member of the Massachusetts

Medical Society in 18G.'», American Medical Associa-

tion in ISSO.Gyna-cological Society of Boston in 1880.

He is a member of the American Association for the

Ailvanceineiit of Science, and other medical and sci-

entific wjcieties in the State and elsewhere.

Ur. Krisbic was married, in November, 1866, to

Harriet M. Dunlap, daughter of General Richard T.

Dunlap, of Brunswick, Maine.

He is a member of Charles Ward Post, No. 62,

(i. A. K.

Kl>w.vRr) A. WiilSTOX, M.D., son of Francis C.

Whistoii, was born at Roxbury (now Boston High-

lands), Massachusetts, October 19, 1838. His early

education was obtained at the Brimmer School, Bos-

ton, and Framingham High School. He graduated

from the Harvard Medical College in 1861. Dr.

Whistoii has a brilliant war record extending over a

period of three years. He was appointed asiistant

surgeon of the Sixteenth Massachusetts Volunteer

Infantry, August 1, 1861, and was connected with

that regiment till March 5, 1863, when he was pro-

moted to surgeon and transferred to the First Massa-

chusetts Volunteer Infantry. He left the service May
28, 1864. After the expiration of this term of ser-

vice in the army he was appointed acting surgeon of

Board of Enrollment at Greenfield. Massachusetts,

and United States inspector of camps of Veteran

Reserve Corps.

For two years, during 1865-66, he was resident

physician to the Boston City Institutions on Deer Is-

land, Boston Harbor, and also port physician.

He has been a member of the Board of Trustees of

the Newton Cottage Hospital since its organization,

January 4, 1881, and secretary of the corporation

since January 16, 1882.

i ,11 i.iai.. ,.,. I, he was a member of the Massachu-

setts Medical Society. He gave up practice of med-

icine in 1868 and went into mercantile life. Has been

for the past ten years business manjigcr of the Massa-

chusetts New Church Union, Boston
;

is treasurer of

the New Church Theological School at Cambridge,

and of the New Church Board of Missions.

He was married, October 13, 1870, to Miss Emily

Payson Call.

Hexky B. Stomdard, M.D., son of William H.

Stoddard, was born in Northampton, Massachusetts,

September 28, 1840.

He was educated in private schools in Northamp-

ton, Brookfield and Longmeadow, and then entered

Williams College, Williamstown, Massachusetts, from

which he graduated in 1862.

In 1863 be served as volunteer medical cadet at the

military hospital, Newark, New Jersey.

From October, 1866, to May, 1868, he served as

interne in Bellevue Hospital, New York. He grad-

uated from Beilevue Medical College in 1865.

After graduation be settled in Northampton, Mass-

achusetts, and practiced there from May, 1868, to

November 1, 1878, when he removed to Newtonville,

Massachusets, where he has since resided.

He became a member of the Massachusetts Medical

Society in 1868, and is also a member of the Gynteco-

logical Society of Boston. He has served on the staff

of Newton Cottage Hospital.

June 30, 1880, he married Miss Jeannie A. Oakes,

of Newtonville, Massachusetts.

James H. Bodge, M.D., son of Noab Bodge, was

born in Boston, Massachusetts, in 1840. He was edu-

cated in the Boston Latin School, Dartmouth and

Harvard Colleges. He graduated from Harvard Med-

ical College in 1867. He settled in Newton Centre,

Ma'sachusetls, in 1874. He was appointed on the

staff of the Newton Cottage Hospital in 1888. He also

had an appointment as coroner for Middlesex County.

He joined the Massachusetts Medical Society in 1867.

In 1875 he married Miss Florence Brown.

William Hartwell Hildreth, M.D., son of

John C. Hildreth, was born in New Ipswich, N. H.,

April 19, 1843. He was educated at the New Ipswich

Appleton Academy. In 1864 enlisted in the Fourth

Regiment Massachusetts Heavy Artillery, and re-

mained with the regiment till the close of the war in

1865.

He graduated at the Dartmouth Medical College,

Hanover, N. H., in 1869, and then located in Fitch-

burg, Mass., in 1870. Removed to Newton Upper
Falls in 1874. He served five years in the Massachu-

setts State Militia as assistant surgeon, and surgeon

of the Tenth Regiment of Infantry. He went abroad

in 1888, traveling in England, France, Germany,
Switzerland and Italy. He was married to Miss

Helen Josephene Fiagg, of New Ipswich, N. H., in

1869. He became a member of the Massachusetts

Medical Society in 1870.
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FliANCls E. Porter, M.D., son of Edward F. Porter,

was born in Scituate, Mass., Augnst 28, 1844. Me

was educated at Wesleyan University, and studied

medicine in ttie Harvard Medical Scliool. He gradu-

ated from the Harvard Medical College, and then

went abroad for a time, traveling through England,

Germany and Italy. On his return he settled at

Auburndale, Mass., in October, 1875, where he now

resides and practices medicine.

From time to time, a^ticle^ from his pen have been

published in the Medical Record of New York, and

the Boston Medical and Surgical Journal.

He was admitted a member of the Massachusetts

Medical Society in 1877. He is on the medical

and surgical staff of the Newton Cottage Hospital.

In 1875 he was married to Miss Christian W. Taylor.

Herman F. Titus, M.D., son of Moses Titus, was

born in Pepperell, Mass., in 1852. He was educated

at Lawrence Academy and Colgate University. He
first studied theology and was settled as Baptist min-

ister in Ithaca, N. Y., and Newton, Mass. He gradu-

ated from Harvard Medical College in 1890, and now

practices in Newton. He has fine scientific attain-

ments, and is an expert botanist.

William Otis Hunt, M.D., son of Otis E. Hunt,

M.D., and C. E. Hunt, was born in Weston, Mass.,

May 28, 1854.

He was educated in the public schools of Weston

and Waltham, one year at Phillips Academy, An-

dover, one year special course at Harvard University

and three years at Harvard Medical School. He also

studied medicine one year in Vienna and eight

months in London ; a part of the time he was house-

surgeon in London Hospital.

He graduated from Harvard Medical College in

1878. He practiced medicine one year (1878 to 1879)

in Waltham, Mass., and then went to Europe for two

years, for the purpose of study. In May, 1881, he

settled in Newtonville, where he still is in practice.

He is visiting physician on the staff, and consult-

ing surgeon at the Newton Cottage Hospital. He
became a member of the Massachusett:* Medical So-

ciety in 1878. He is a member of the Gynfecoiogioal

Society of Boston. January 29, 1879, he married

Miss Mary F. M. Gibbs, of Waltham, Mass. His wife

died August 15, 1887, leaving two children, Harold

0. and Richard F. Hunt.

Edward Bigelow Hitchcock, M.D., D.M.D.,

son of David R. Hitchcock, M.D , was boru in New-

ton, Mass., February 6, 1854.

After studying in the Newton High School, he

went to Phillips Academy, Andover, Mass., and there

graduated in 1873. He graduated from the Harvard

Dental School in 1877, and the Dartmouth Medical

College in 1878.

He settled in Boston in 1877 and removed to New-
ton in 1882. He has never practiced medicine, but is

widely known as a skillful dentist.

He has been president of the Harvard Odontologi-

lO-iii

cal Society, president of the Massachusetts Dental

Society, corresponding secretary of the American

Academy of Dental Science. He has written several

valuable papers which have been published in dif-

ferent magazines. He was married in 1885 to Miss

Li Hie B. Comstock.

Charles Henry Burr, M.D., son of Henry W.
Burr, was born in Colchester, Conn., .Inly 19, 1855.

He was educated in Boston Public Schools, Law-

rence Scientific School, Harvard University and Har-

vard Medical School. He received the degree of

S.B. in 1879, and M.D. from Harvard Medical College

in 1882. He was house officer of the Carney Hospital,

South Boston, in 1882-83. He practiced a short time

in South Framingham arid then in Ro.xbury till

1887. Since that time he has attended exclusively to

medical examinations for various insurance asso-

ciations. He was elected supreme medical examiner

of the New England Order of Protection, November

12, 1887, and still holds that position.

He has served two years as assistant surgeon of

the First Battalion Light Artillery, M. V. M.

He was admitted a member of the Massachusetts

Medical Society in 1883.

While a student in the Lawrence Scientific School

he published " Plans of the Doric Temple." In 1887

he married Miss Eva Stevens, of South Framingham.

He resides at Newton Highlands.

Robert P. Loring, M.D., son of Joshua Loriug,

was born in Chelsea, Mass., February 18, 1852. He
was educated at Chauncy Hall School, Boston, Mass.;

Brookline High School, Institute Technology, Boston.

He graduated at Harvard Medical College in 1875,

and joined the Massachusetts Medical Society in 1876.

He settled in Newton Centre, Mass., in 1876. After

practicing medicine there for awhile he went West

and spent three years. While there he received the

appointment of assistant surgeon Chicago, Rock
Island and Pacific Railroad Company, at Kansas

City, Mo., and Professor of Physiology in Kansas City

Medical College. On his return East he again settled

in Newton Centre, where he continues to reside and

practice medicine.. He is a member of the medical

board, a member of the medical staff and one of the

consulting surgeons at the Newton Cottage Hospital.

Dr. Loring married Miss Adelaide L. Nason, of Ken-
nebunk, Me.

David E. Baker, M.D., son of Erastus E. Baker,

was born in Franklin, Norfolk County, Mass., March

30, 1857. Educated in the Grammar and High
Schools of Franklin, and in 1878 received the degree

of B S. from the Boston University. In his boyhood

he was a farmer ; after his graduation he was a

teacher for a time.

He entered Harvard Medical School in 1879; Bos-

ton City Hospital as house surgeon in 1882-83. Re-

ceived his degree of M.D. from Harvard University

in 1883.

He settled in Newton Lower Falls in December,
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•ervia on the Mr. fl" of the Newton
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He wan adniiltod a member of the Ma&tachuiictts

M"U«I Swiely in 18S3.

Hi' went l«i Kurope in 1888, and spent a year in

tr.ntl iiriil -imiy in Berlin and Vienna. Some of his

papim li«\c I'tcn published in the medical journalii.

Oct. 21, IStv'i, he married Miss Harriet E. Lord,

dan):htrr of Dr. F. U. Lord, of Newton Lower Falls.

PiULip VixcEST, M.D., ton of Philip Vintent,

>I.n., was born nt Camborne, County of Cornwall,

KiiKlaiid, on Feb. 7, IS.IS. He is a descendant of a

line of diM-tors. In early life he spent six years at

the Itoyal .Medical College, Epsom, County Surrey,

England. After continuiiij; his studies in the Royal

Medical College and Royal College of Surgeons, Lon-

don, he spent four years in the London University

CVjIlege and Hospitals, and there took his degree M.

K.C.S. (Mi;uibert.hipof the Royal College ofSurgeons,

England). The next year, at Edinburgh, Scotland,

he received the decrees, L.R.C.P. and LM. (Licen-

tiate of the ll<iyal College of Physicians and Licen-

tiate of Midwifery).

He entered into practice in England for a time,

then WHS appointed surgeon on several steamships of

thefireat We.-tern and Cunard Companies' lines.

Retiring from service, on the vessels he came to

America and settled in Boston in 1884. In 1886 he

removed to Newton, where he continued to practice

medicine till July, 1890, when he moved to Waltham.

Dr. Vincent has held the position of ophthalmic

house surgeon nt University College Hospital under

the celebrated Wharton Jones. He is a member of

the London University College Medical Society. He
ha) [lublished articles on seasickness in the British

medical journals.

William Henry McOwen, M.D., son of Timo-
thy McOwen, wag born in Lowell, Mass., March 5,

1860. His early education was obtained at the

Grammar and High Schools. He graduated from
Harvard Medical College and settled in Lowell in

July, 188.3. He removed to Newton Upper Falls in

July, 18H5, where he now resides and practices medi-
cine. He has been city physician of Lowell and also

on the stafl of Lowell City Free Dispensary. He is

medical examiner for various life insurance com-
panies in the Stale and elsewhere.

On June 30, 1888, he was married to Miss Ellen

Theresa Dcly, of Newton, Mass. He is a member of

the Mai-sachusetts Medical Society.

Francis M. O'Donnei.l, M.D., son of James

O'Donnell, was born in Marlboro', Mass., April 9,

18t!3. His early education wasobtaincd in theGram-

mar and High Schools. He afterwards entered Bos-

ton College, from which, in 1882, he received the de-

gree of A.B. and in 1887 the degree of A.M.

In 1882 he entered the Haivard Medical School,

and from Harvard Medical College received his de-

gree of M.D. He settled in Newton in 1885; became

a member of the Massachusetts Medical Society in

1887. He married Mi>s Rose A. Harkius, of Newton,

July 2, 1888.

D. Waldo Stearns, M.D., son of Daniel Stearns,

was born in Newton, Mass., November 12, 1864. He
was educated in the Newton Grammar and High

Schools, and then entered Harvard College. He en-

tered the Harvard Medical School in 1883 and grad-

uated from Harvard Medical College in 1887. The

following year he was resident physician at the Lynn

(Mass.) City Hospital. Then he went to Europe. He
spent some time studying at Guy's Hospital, London,

and continued his medical studies in the schools and

hospitals of Paris. He returned to the United States

and settled on Watertown Street, Newton, in 1889, in

what has been the family homestead for five genera-

tions. He was elected a memberof the Massachusetts

Medical Society in 1889. He is a member of the

Newton Natural History Society.

Thomas Francis Carroll, M.D., son of Owen
Carroll, was born in Lowell, Mass., July 9, 18(54. He
was educated in the public schools in Lowell and

Boston College, Boston, Mass. He graduated at

Harvard Medical College and settled in Roxbury,

Mass. He removed to Newton, Mass., in 1889, where

he continues to practice medicine. He is a member
of the Massachusetts Medical Society.

Myron J. Davis, M.D., settled in Newton in 1886.

Afterwards removed to New York ; served in the

United States Army during the War of the Rebellion
;

was appointed on the staff of the Newton Cottage

Hospital as specialist in diseases of the eye.

Lincoln R. Stone, M.D., graduated at Harvard
Medical College in 1854. He joined the Massa' hu-

setts Medical Society in 1854. He has been presi-

dent of the Middlesex South District Medical Society.

He served in the United States Army in the late War
of the Rebellion. He is now in practice in Newton,
Mass. He served on the Newton School Board for

many years.

Francis G. Curtiss, M.D.—He joined the Massa-
chusetts Medical Society in 1887. Is now in practice

in Newton Centre, Mass.

James R. Deane, M.D., graduated at Bowdoin
(Me.) Medical College in 1860. He joined the Mas-
sachusetts Medical Society in 1874 ; is now in prac-

tice in Newton Highlands, Mass.

Albert Nott, M.D., graduated at the University
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of Vermont Medical Department in 1869. He joined

the Massachusetts Medical Society in 1875. He is

dean of the College of Physicians and Surgeons,

Boston, Mass. Is now in practice in West Xewton,

Mass.

Frederick L. Thayek, M.D., graduated at Har-

vard Medical College in 1871. He joined the Massa-

chusetts Medical Society in 1872. Is in practice in

West Newton, Mass. He is a member of the Medi-

cal Board and on the medical staff of the Newton

Cottage Hospital.

Freperick W. Webber, M.D., son of A. C. Web-
ber, M.D., of Cambridge, graduated at the Harvard

Medical College in 1879. He joined the Massachu-

setts Medical Society in 1880. Is in practice in New-
ton, Mass.

Dr. Samuel Wheat, son of Moses Wheat, of

Concord, Mass., came from Boston to Newton about

1713. He was born in 1703. He died in 1770. At

one time he was selectman. Among his sons was

Dr. Samuel Wheat, Jr., who had a numerous

family, sixteen in number. One of his daughters

married Dr. Lazarus Beale.

Dr. John Cotton, son of Rev. John Cotton. He
was born in 1729 and died in 1758. He married

Mary Clark, July 8, 1750. He graduated at Harvard
College in 1747.

Dr. John Staples Craft, son of Moses Craft,

married Elizabeth Park, May, 1758.

Dr. John Druce, supposed to be the son of John
Druce, 3d. Graduated at Harvard College in 1738.

Married Margaret Trowbridge, daughter of Deacon
William Trowbridge, in April, 1749.

Dr. Henry Pratt died in 1745. Married Ruth
Learned, Dec, 1709.

Dr. Samuel Whitewell, West Newton, born

1754; died 1791. Alterwards settled in Boston as

head of the firm Whitewell, Bond & Co., auctioneers.

Dr. John Allen, son of John Allen, died 1758.

Married Jerusha Cook, of Windham, Ct., in 1745.

He left at his decease one son (?) and five daughters,

one of whom, Jerusha, married Dr. Samuel Wheat,
Jr., in 1766.

Dr. Lazarus Beale, son of Lazarus Beale, of

Hingham, Mass. Married Lydia Wheat in 1749. She
was probably a daughter of Dr. Samuel Wheat, Jr.

Dr. Edward Durant, son of Edward Durant,

Jr., married Mary Park, daughter of Edward Park,

Nov., 1762. He went privateering during the Revo-
lutiona:ry War and was never heard of afterwards.

Dr. Abraham D. Dearborn was born in Exeter,

N. H. (?) Bought the practice of Dr. Samuel S.

Whitney and settled at Newton Upper Falls in 1844.

He left Newton in 1854 or 1855. He was well edu-
cated in his profession, particularly courteous in man-
ner and greatly respected.

Dr. James H. Grant was the immediate successor

of Dr. Abraham D. Dearborn at Newton Upper Falls

in 1854 or 1855. He left Newton after a few years

and went to New Hampshire. He was succeeded by
Dr. William H. Hildreth.

Dr. J. F. Higgins settled in Newton Upper Falls

in 1854 or 1855. He practiced medicine five or six

years and died there.

Dr. William Read settled in Newton Upper Falls

in 1836. He practiced medicine there about one year

and then removed to Boston, where he practiced as a

specialist in diseases of the rectum. He died in Bos-

ton in 1889.

Albert Kendall, M.D., was born in 1828 and
died in 1862. He was admitted a member of the

Massachusetts Medical Society in 1855.

Luther Clark, M.D. -Graduated at Hacvard
Medical College in 1836 and settled in Newton.
Henry G. Davis, M.D.—Graduated at Yale Col-

lege Medical Department in 1839; settled in Newton.
W. Sargent, M.D.—Graduated at Department of

Medicine of the University of Pennsylvania in 1847;

settled in Newton, Mass.

Thomas D. Smith, M.D.—Graduated at Bowdoin
Medical College, Brunswick, Me., in 1867; settled in

Newton, Mass.

John F. Boothby, M.D.—Graduated at Dartmouth
Medical College, Hanover, N. H., in 1879. Settled in

Newton Centre, Mass.; afterwards removed to Chelsea,

Mass.

Dr. Ezra Nichols settled in Newton Lower Falls.

Dr. Jones, no record, except name.

Dr. Norman Stevens joined the Massachusetts

Medical Society in 1851. Died in West Newton,
Mass., in 1871.

Dr. Cyrus Sweetser Mann joined the Massachu-
setts Medical Society in 1843. Lived in Newton,
Mass.

Dr. Ends Sumner, recorded as a land-owner in

Newton in 1778.

CHAPTER XL

NEWTON—( Continued).

homceopathy.

BV HOWARD p. BELLOWS, M.D.

The history of homceopathy in Newton begins in

the year 1849, when Dr. Joseph Birnstill, a native of
Germany, removed from Boston to- Newton Corner, as

it was then called, and introduced the new system of
practice. For twelve years he remained not only the
pionear, but the sole representative of this school in

Newton. At the end of that time, in the year 1861,

Dr. Frederick Niles Palmer, a graduate of the Home-
opathic Medical College of Pennsylvania of the year
1853, removed from Gardiner, Me., and settled first

in West Newton, and two years later, in 1863, in

Newton, where Dr. Birnstill was still practicing. In
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«»f l)r. Scull-.' tivo earliest collcHgues Dr. Birnstill

died middenly. of hemorrhage of the hings, February

Id, lMi7, «(:ed fiflY?i.x years, having practiced in

Newton f.>r eighteen years. Dr. Palmer continued

to practice in Newlon until the autumn of ISlil), eight

years in all, when he removed to Boston, introducing

an bin successor in Newton Dr. T. S. Keith. After

seventeen years' residence and practice in Boston Dr.

Palmer died. May in, ISSli, aged seventy-two years;

a faithful and skilful physician, punctilious in every

court* sy, and of such kindly spirit that his genial

presence is still missed at every gathering of bis col-

leagues.

Three years after the coming of Drs. Palmer and

Scales, in the yoar KMJG, Dr. W. H. Sanders, a brother

of Dr. O. S. Sanders, of Boston, al.so settled in Newton.

After two years of practice here he removed to Wis-

consin in ISi'iS, leaving as his successor Dr. J. H.

Osborne, from New York, who remained, however,

but six ninnths. About this same time Dr. Charles

W. Taylor, a graduate of the Homrcopalhic Medical

College of Cleveland in 1853, settled in Newtonville.

Dr. Trtyl'T first practiced in Westfield, Mass., then in

Malilen, Mass., whence be removed to Newtonville.

Never a .strong man, the fatigue and exposure of prac-

tice induced bronchial consumption, and in hopes of

arresting this disease Dr. Taylor, in the fall of 1873,

sold his practice to Dr. Morgan J. Rhees, and removed

to .South ("arolina. Receiving no benefit from the

change, be returned North and resided in Will)raliam,

Mass.. until January 13, 1870, when he died, in his

fifty-fifth year.

It was shortly after the settlement of Dr. Taylor in

Newt/invillethat Dr. Theodore 8. Keith came to New-
ton in IStiO, and assumed the practice of Dr. Palmer.

Dr. Keith beean hii professional life during the war,

being appointed medical cadet in the United States

Army May 12, 1802. He served in the hospitals

io Alexandria and Washington until Jan. 16, 1803,

when he entered the naval service as acting assistant

surgeon, and April 6, 1866, was promoted to acting

pa'st-as»i.-.!ant su-geon. Me whs first ordered to the

U. S. .steamer " E. B. Hall," doing duty in the S(.uth

Atlantic Sfjuadron. In 1864 be was ordered to the

U. S. steamer " Petcrbofi'" at New York, and after-

wards to the U. S. steamer "Cimarron" lor further

.luty in the South Atlantic Squadron. Later he was

ordered to the U. S. steamer " Passaic " and returneil

to Philadelphia, and then to the U. S. steamer

" Monocacy " at Baltimore. He was finally relieved

at Washington, D. C, and ordered to duty at the

Bureau of Medicine and Surgery, Navy Department,

where he remained until he received his honorable

discharge, July 2nd, 1868. In the same year, 1S68,

he graduated from the Harvard Medical School. His

practice in Newton extended over a period of nearly

nineteen years, from October 18, 186!), to Sept. 13,

1888, when death removed him from the large circle

of patients and friends which he had formed around

hira.

In the year 1873 Dr. Morgan J. Rhees purchased

the practice of Dr. Taylor and settled in Newtonville.

Dr. Rhees was a graduate of the Jefl'erson Medical

College of Philadelphia, of the year 1841, and came to

Newtonville from Hollidaysburgh, Pennsylvania. In

1878 he sold his practice to Dr. George S. Woodman
and removtd to Wheeling, West Virginia, where he

still re.sides and practices. About the time of Dr.

Rhees' settlement in Newtonville, Dr. Levi Pierce

came to Newton Centre, but remained little longer

than one year, when he removed to Everett, Mass.

Up to this time additions to the number of practi-

tioners of the new school were made very slowly, but at

the end of this period the success and popularity of

the new treatment seems to have created a demand
for more physicians, for in the next few years we find

their number increasing steadily and their practices

increasing in the same ratio. First in this group

came Dr. F. E. Crockett, a graduate of the Philadel-

phia University of Medicine and Surgery of the year

1867. Dr. Crockett began the practice of his profes-

sion in Norway, Maine, where he remained until the

year 1874, when he came to this city and settled him-

self at West Newton, where he is still engaged in

practice. In the following year Dr. S. A. Sylvester, a

graduate of the Boston University School of Medi-

cine, of the year 1875, settled himself in Newton Cen-

tre and there still remains in practice. The next

year, 1876, Newton itself received an accession in the

coming of Dr. James Utley, from Taunton, Miissachu-

setts. Dr. Utley received medical degrees from Bow-
doin, in 1874, and from the Hahnemann Medical Col-

lege of Philadelphia in 1875. He practiced in Taun-
ton two years before his settlement in Newton, but

has no reason to desire any further change of residence

or field of practice. He is at present assisted by his

son, Dr. E. R. Utley,agraduateof Amherst and of the

Harvard Medical School. During the term of 1888-89

Dr. James Utley was Lecturer on Minor Surgery in

the Boston University School of Medicine.

I
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The next village in Newton to receive a [ihysician

was the Upper Falls, where Dr. Eben TlionipHon, ii

graduate of the Pulte Medical College, of Cincinnati,

began a practice which he still continues. Newton-

viile was selected by the next comer, Dr. George S.

Woodman, who left a practice in Lynn, Massachu-

setts, in 1878, to purchase that of Dr. M. J. Rhees.

Dr. Woodman received degrees from Amherst College

in 1840 and 1849, and from Harvard University Med-

ical School in 1849. At the beginning of the war, in

1861, he was appointed by Abraham Lincoln surgeon

of the Board of Enrollment for the Second District of

the State of New York, which office he held until the

end of the war. Since 1878 he has continued to re-

side in Newtonville and is still in active practice.

Towards the close of the same year, 1878, Dr. Howard

P. Bellows settled in Auburndale, having previously

practiced in Bo.«iton. Dr. Bellows received degrees

from Cornell University in 1875 and 1879, and from

the Boston University School of Medicine in 1877.

With the exception of one year he has been connected

with the faculty of the Boston University School of

Medicine since his graduation, first as Lecturer on

Physiology, and, after further preparation abroad, as

professor in the same chair ; and later, after another

course of special study abroad, as Lecturer on Otol-

ogy, afterwards Professor of Otology, which chair he

still occupies. In the spring of 1890, after eleven and

a half years of practice in Auburndale, during the last

five of which he was also engaged in special practice

in Boston, Dr. Bellows sold his entire general prac-

tice to Dr. Mortimer H. Clarke, confining his own
practice exclusively to his specialty, diseases of the

ear, and changed his residence from Auburndale to

West Newton. After Dr. Bellows the next physician

of this school to choose a location in Newton was Dr. E.

N. Kingsbury, a graduate of the Hahnemann Medical

College of Philadelphia, of the year 1880, who came

from Spenser, Massachusetts, to Newton Centre in

1884, but removed two years later to Woonsocket,

Khode Island. The following year Dr. W. E. Rich-

ards, of Boston, removed his residence to Newtonville

while continuing his office in Boston, practicing in

both places. After about three years he discontinued

this arrangement and returned to Boston to reside

there as formerly.

Coming to more recent arrivals, we find, within

about three years past, eight new i)hysicians of this

echoed settling in the various villages of Newton,

several of whom still remain. Dr. Virginia V. Bry-

ant, a graduate of the Boston University School of

Medicine of the year 1884, settled at Newton High-
lands in 1887—having practiced for three years pre-

viously in Boston. In the latter part of 1889 she re-

moved to Jamaica Plain. In thesummer of the same
year, 1887, Dr. Clara D. Reed, a graduate of the Bos-

ton University School of Medicioe of the year 1878,

removed from Bellows Falls, Vt., where she had prac-

ticed for nine years, and settled at Newton. lu- the

following year, 1888, Dr. George H. Talbot, a gradu-

ate of the Boston University School of Medicine of the

year 1882, also removed from Bellows Falls, Vt., after

five years of practice there, and settled in Newton-

ville. The same year, 1888, Dr. F. L. Mcintosh, a

graduate of the Hahnemann Medical College of Phil-

adelphia of the year 1S81, setled in Newton. From
1881 to 188(i Dr. Mcintosh practiced in Claremont,

N. H., and thence removed to Melrose, Mass., where

he practiced for two years before coming to Newton.

He came to assume the practice of Dr. T. S. Keith

upon his decease. The third physician to settle in

Newton in the year 1888 was Dr. Mortimer H. Clarke,

son of the late Dr. Henry B. Clarke, of New I5edford,

Miiss., who came from the service of the Brooklyn-

Homteopathic Hospital to associate himself in practice

with Dr. Bellows and becanje his successor eighteen

months later. Dr. Clarke received degrees from

Harvard University '88 and from the Boston Univer-

sity School of Medicine in the year 1888. In 1889

Dr. C. H. Fessenden, a graduate of the Boston Uni-

versity School of Medicine of the year 188(5, removed

from Manchester, N. H., where he had practiced for

three years, to Newton Centre. In the same year Dr.

Samuel Lewis Eaton settled at the Newton High-

lands. He is a graduate of Yale College '77 and of

the Hahnemann Medical College of Chicago of the

year 1882. For the first year after receiving his med-

ical degree he practiced in the office of Dr. C. W.
Butler, in Montclair, New Jersey, thence removing to

Orange, N. J., where he practiced a little over five

years before coming to Newton. The last physician

of the new school who has settled in Newton is Dr.

Henry P. Perkins, who came in April, 1890, to take

up his residence and begin practice in West Newton.
Dr. Perkins graduated from the Harvard Medical

School in 1881 and practiced first in Lowell, later in

Canandaigua, N. Y., from whence he removed liere.

Besides the foregoing physicians several others have

made Newton their place of residence, or field of

practice, for longer or shorter periods and then gone
elsewhere. In Newton Dr. Harriet A. Loring, agrad-

uate of the Bosto^ University School of Medicine of

the year 1876, practiced for a year or two and then

removed to Boston. In West Newton Dr. Samuel
Ayer Kimball, of the Boston University School of

Medicine, class of '83, practiced about six months and
thence removed to Melrose, Mass., and later to Bos-

ton. At Auburndale, during the absences of Dr. Bel-

lows, his practice' was conducted by Dr. George R.

Southwick, of Boston, upon two occasions, once for a

full year, and upon another occasion by Dr. S. H.
Spaulding, now of Hingham, Mass. Also at Auburn-
dale, at the Lasell Seminary, there have been settled

two resident physicians—first, Dr. JIaude Kent, a

graduate of the Boston University School of Medi-

cine, of the year 1886, and at the present time Dr.

Martha C. Champlin, who graduated from the same
medical school in- the year 1889.
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A«idr iV.im llii- rvi.l.'iicf ..I llio i:r..»ni aim ^i.riii.i

of h"iii'i'>|«iiili.v .11 .N\»i.«ii iw luriiixluHl by the in-

ereaaiiig number of pliv.iu iiins who settle here ami the

*iie anJ nu»lily of their iiriutuesi the chief iulerest

attaching to ibe development of the new school in

lbi» city, and of the public acntiment with which it

is reK»rde<l, ceutren about the Newtou Gittnge Ho.s-

piul. This institution, which iit now in the full ex-

crciw of iti« usefulnew, was ti^t projected in 1880.

The first meeting wan held in .lamiary of that year at

the houi.eof the Kev. Dr. !?liinn, biuI was attended by

the friendii ol both syntsnis of nutiicnl practice. It

waa then determine<i to enter upon the work for the

piMHl of the community at large, and afford lo all who

came lor treatiiieiil the same facility for choosing a

physician of either school that they enjoyed at their

own homes. Upon these Ijncs the work went forward.

Money was auUcribed by all who felt interest in the

hoapilul as a hospital, irrespective of the school of

treatment which its inmates might prefer lo employ.

When, in the further development of the plan, it be-

came nei-c:isary to provide a staff of physicians and

surgeons, and a supply of medical and surgical appli-

ances, as well as a building and a matron and nurses,

the executive committee and trustees created a Medi-

cal Board consisting of eight physicians, four from

each school of practice, who received a standing ap

pointiiient with jiower to nominate annually the mem-

bers of the medical and surgical staff of the hospital

and regulate their terras of service; to recommend

purchases and renewals of medical and surgical sup-

plies; to recommend any measures or changes which

may increase the usefulness of the hospital so far as

relates to the medical and surgical service; and, in

short, to act between the executive commiltee and

trustees on the one hand and the medical and surgical

staff on the other in whatever manner seems wisest

for the be*', usefulness and success of the hospital.

Upon the first meeting of this Medical Board, April

9, 1886, the most perfect harmony was found to ex-

ist between its several members, and it became

evident at once that each member present felt that

the interests of the hospital itself ^ame before every

other interest, and that all questions of school would

be administered with perfect fairness and forbearance

to secure the common end in view. The president of

the board was chosen from one school and the secre-

tary from the other, and all committees were chosen

in the most equitable manner possible. Questions re-

lating to one school alone were referred to a commit-

tee from that school only, and all questions interesting

both alike were treated without the slightest sugges-

tion of any difference in school. Rules and regula-

tions for the working service of the hospital were
arranged and passed to the ICxecutive Committee for

adoption, and these secured the perfect equality of

the two schools—providing that two complete medical
and surgical staffs should always be in attendance at

the same lime, one consisting wholly of members of

the Mafsachusetts Medical Society and the other of

members of the Massachusetts Homa?opathic Medical

Societv ; that the patients of the two staffs should be

assigned lo opposite sides of the wards, \vhen practica-

ble, or be otherwise kept distinct; that each patient

upon entrance should choose the school by which be

wished to be treated, and that when no choice was ex-

pressed the matron should assign them in regular altei-

nate order to each school. The result of this provision

has been perfect harmony from the beginning. In

the board there has not from the very first been a sin-

gle jar or discordant element, and upon the staffs no

trouble has ever arisen between the schools in a single

instance. This working harmony in the same hos-

pital, and in the same wards, which has heretofore

been deemed an impossibility as a matter of theory,

has in our Newton Cottage Hospital been shown to be

entirely possible as a matter of practical demonstra-

tion.

The Medical Board of the hospital, as it has stood

unaltered from the first, is as follows:

Otis E. Hunt, M.D., president (R.); H. P. Bellows,

M.D., secretary (H) ; Henry M. Field, M.D. (R)

;

Edw. P. Scales, M.D. (H); F. L. Thayer, M.D. (R)

;

F. E. Crockett, M.D. (H) ; R. P. Loring, M.D. (R)

;

S. A. Sylvester, M.D. (H).

The staff upon the homceopathic side, as originally

appointed in 1886, and as it served the first year, was

as follows :

Physicians—Edw. P. Scales, M.D. ; T. S. Keith,

M.D.; S. A. Sylvester, M.D.; G.S. Woodman, M.D.

;

F. E. Crockett, M.D. ; W. E. Richards, M.D.

Consulting Physicians—Edw. P. Scales, M.D. ; F. E.

Crockett, M.D.

Surgeon—James Utley, M.D.

Specialist, Diseases of the Ear—H. P. Bellows, M.D.

For the present year of service there are no changes

save that Dr. Mcintosh takes the place of Dr. Keith,

deceased ; Dr. Talbot takes the place of Dr. Richards,

removed from the city ; and Dr. Clarke has received

appointment as surgeon.

CHAPTER XII.

NEWTON— ( Con tinned. )

GEOLOGY OF NEWTON.

BY J. F. FRISEIE, M.D.

Newton is bounded on the north, west and south

by the valley of the Charles River, and on the east

by another depressed area. Between the north and

south boundaries rises a range of hills with the

axis running east, and west. The outcropping ledges

are slate, slate-breccia, conglomerate (pudding-stone)

and amygdaloids.

The northern side of the city is underlaid—in
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places overlaid—by elate and slate-breccia, contain-

ing specimens finely ripple-marked. On Jewett

Street is an outcrop of slate-breccia of unusual in-

terest. This breccia is formed of angular fragments

of an older slate ii?ibedded in a newer. The ledge

was upfolded, and in after-lime that huge planing-

machine, the glacier, slow-moving but ponderous and

irresistible, plowed its way across, smoothing its ir-

regularities, leaving long striae to mark where some

sharp, angular fragment of quartz or other hard,

firm rock chiseled a line as it moved along. In

places these parallel lines have been traced sixty

to seventy-five feet. On Homer Street another out-

cropping ledge shows the glacial striae running in the

same direction—from north to south.

At Newton Centre and southeastward the conglom-

erate (pudding-stone) crops out in hills and bold

escarpments, very fine and picturesque, as seen near

Hammond's Pond.

When the upfolding took place— when this region

arose from its watery bed—huge fissures and grad-

ing, down to the minutest seams, were formed as

the crust folded and wrinkled, and into these was

forced and ejected the serai-plastic and melted

material from deep down below, and dykes and traps

cut these older rocks in every direction, of varying

width and extent ; and some of these narrow cracks

were filled, in after-time, by a deposit of mineral held

in solution by the hot, boiling water bubbling up

from the depth of miles below.

A large part of the city is covered with glaciated

materials, either spread out broadly or heaped up

in characteristic forms—sharp ridges of sand, gravel

and water-worn boulders, like those seen at Auburn-

dale and Newtonville, or gently-rounded elevations

—lenticular hills, known among geologists as ground

moraines, composed of fine clayey material, with

angular fragments of rock interspersed, like Mt.

Ida and Institution Hill. The first were formed on

top of the glacier—the latter beneath it.

River terraces can be traced on both sides of

Charles River, clearly showing the former level of

the river-bed, and the down-cutting that has re-

sulted from erosion during the long ages that have

elapsed since the ice-sheet disappeared from our

midst and our land was with " verdure clad," and

bright flowers dotted the hills and the valleys.

Dendrites are found abundantly in the slates; some
are very beautiful. An outcrop of slate at the

drive-wfly entrance to the estate of Hon. R. R.

Bishop, Newton Centre, is well worth an examina-

tion. The folding and wrinkling is beautifully

shown ; the laminations can easily be recognized in

the face of the clitT, where it dips sharply to the

north, and the dendrites are readily found. This is

an interesting locality from the fact that the slate

rests on the conglomerate, and is overlaid by the

conglomerate. Points of contact between different

rock-strata are eagerly sought for by geologists as

this knowledge aids largely in giving the formation

to which they belong. On the western aide of

Hammond's Pond ii a bold esoarpraant of conglom-

erate, the result of a fracture in the crust ages ago,

producing a fault. A little farther away a huge

fragment of the cliff has been thrown off, through

the action of water and frost, leaving the rock-bor-

dered amphitheatre, where the Newton Natural

History Society often hold their exercises on their

" Field-Day " excursions.

Glacial Moraines.—Every change of level in a

country produces a change of climate. Ascend to the

height of 3.')0 feet and you have reached the same

temperature you would havelbund by going one de-

gree, sixty miles, towards the north. Therefore we

see that an elev.ation of any part of a country is a

practical northward journey in temperature, and con-

sequently in the Fauna and Flora.

Preceding the glaciers, there had been a long period

of progressive elevation, till so large a part of North

America had been raised above the line of perpetual

gnow, that it was covered with snow and ice piled up

4000 or 5000 feet, almost a mile in thickness ; and

then this mass, slowly, almost imperceptibly, but re-

sistlessly, moved on southward to a warmer clime.

As It journeys onward, the m )untain crags and tow-

ering peaks, through the weight of accumulated snow

and the action of cold winds and frosts, come down in

crashing avalanches, forming deck-loads of crumbled

stones and boulders to be carried and deposited in the

valleys far away.

As these glaciers pressed south, southeast and

southwestward, their eroding and grinding power was

incalculable, and the tops of the hills and lower

mountains, and sides of the higher, were ground away

by these mighty planiug-machines, leaving behind

traces of their movements on the solid rock, in long

striated scratches and groovings.

In one place a sharp, projecting angle of stone cuts

its line in the solid ledge; in another, a loose rolling

stone crushed the ledge as it rolled along, leaving

slight horizontal crackings ; and again the solid ledge

was gouged to a foot or more in depth as a hard

boulder, securely fixed beneath, and in the enormous

mass of ice, plowed across the naked rock. Gravel,

sand and earth imbedded in side or bottom oftheglacier,

smoothed and polished the ledge over which it passed.

Following this period of high elevation, accompan-

ied with Arctic cold, came a subsidence, and these

glaciers slowly melted away as the warmer climate

followed ; and rock, boulder, gravel and sand, consti-

tuting the drift, was left behind. Where the glaciers

had pushed immense quantities of this material, torn

and worn away from the hills and mountains, we now

find the terminal moraines; beneath, where it had

been carried along on top, we find the medial mo-

raines ; and on either side of these moving rivers of

snow and ice, the lateral moraines are left to tell the

Btorv of thc-ir breadth.
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A^iD « |>»rt of the land w»» lovfrf.! by the cteau,

aiiil the St. Ijiwrriuf and l^krChanipliiiu were arms

of the »e». The iHeaii wa?c» re-anuuged aiid leveled

i« Jetrit, upreadiiig it out over the ahaliow

1 ,|, Mig forcen acting

|,,1,,« -:i"K surface, and

.i .;...> iiili.«val take* place; and the waicrs lugiii

ti ..|l, and our part of the planet asDumes more

ita prevent limit and form. A» the waters

:li« river channeU are formed and the

« ore (levelcipod, anil down through the

r.ii.jily .lit tlirir way. "ThcfulUMg

, r on tl^laml and a little rill forms;

lilt ihia movm along it cuts down a little furrow;

• il of theue rills combining form a rivulet which

i» the furrow into a gully as it goes down the

.
, ; iiiik :" and these again combining pour down

.1, in. i/.v cutting wider and deeper, as with gather-

ing force the waters sweep down the declivities, ex-

cavating deep ravines and gorges, leaving behind the

higher itummitA as ridges, dill's and banks.

We find the Drift in every direction in Newton and

the a.ljoiuing towns, in rounded hills, ridges, spurs

and elevated plateaux composed of sand and gravel

with boulders. Standing on the bell and ridge

of land south of Cabot Street, you find a peculiar

arritngement of hill and valley spread out on every

side. Cabot Street cuts through an arm of this

ridge, which stretches northward. There, and on the

path through the woods, is exposed a fine picture of

the unmodified Drift, sand, gravel and boulders,

water-worn llimughout. This entire ridge is Drift,

and walking southward through Xewton Centre the

same formation is seen on every hand. Beyond

there the country slopes to the south, leaving New-

ton C^^ntre, Newton Highlands, and onward to Au-

burndule and Lower Falls, an elevated plateau and

ridge of this Drift material, constituting a divide or

water-shed.

The drift is very distinctly .seen where it crops out

on the Watertown shore of Charles River, nearly op-

ptjsitc the home of Mr. Henry Clatlin.

At Auburndale and Riverside is a high bluff of

Drift on the south side of the railroad, showing

beautifully the enormous accumulations of this

material ; and as we cross to the north side we find

another ridge of the same Drift which has been
separated from the other by the water cutting a

. iiannel between; and then across the Charles River

in Weston, rising to an eijual height, the belt of Drift

can be traced for many miles. Among the boulders

lying scattered on the hills and occasionally in the

plains, wc find granite, gneiss, slates, greenstones
and conglomerates. With the exceptions of the

latter, all these boulders, sand and gravel, have been
torn away from other rocks and transported to their

present position through the agency of ice and
water.

Then come back lo the point of observation I have

referred to on the ridge, and at once the conclusion

is reached that this level plateau has, at some distant

time, extended across the valley where Ncwtonville

stands, to the plain on which Waltham is built, to a

corresponding height in Watertown, and that the

valley "f the Chark« is the result of the action of

water since the depositions of the Drift, although this

higher i>lain and ridge have been worn away much be-

low its former height.

Now, descending and advancing towards the river,

we find Newtonville is built on another level plateau,

the same on which stands the lower part of the

villages of Newton, West Newton and Auburndale,

composed of the same materials as that we have lelt,

and as we near Charles River another descent is

made. These latter constitute the river terraces, and

difiVr in many respects from the first.

Again we will retrace our steps to the ridge south

of Cabot Street, near Newtonville, and eiideaver to

read the history of this problem spread out before

us. First the ridge on which we stand is the old

unmodified, unstratified Drift, proved by the male-

rials composing it. Thes^e were brought and deposit-

ed here by the glaciers when the subsidence of this

part of our continent caused a warmer climate, and

the glaciers melting, disappeared. Now, as this im-

mense quantity of water was drained off, accelerated

by the gradual upheaval, wonderful changes took

place; the river valleys were washed out, terraces

formed, and with the exceptions of a slight deepening

of the river channels and the present flood plains,

the dry land was left nearly in its present condition,

only now covered with grass, flowers, shrubs and

forests.

Where glaciers have swept over the country, the

northern slope is long and gentle, and the southern

shorter and often abrupt ; the glaciers ground,

smoothed, polished, as they gradually ascended to the

hill or mountain-top, then passing over they crumb-

led, falling down the other side, leaving no striie or

grooves to mark their tremendous power. As the ir-

resistible force behind pushed them over, it exerted

no influence on the falling mass farther than to con-

tinue piling more and more on top of that which had

already fallen ; and con equently its grooving, plan-

ing power was lost till it again had consolidated and
gained a steady headway. Therefore on the north

slope and top of ledges and mountains we find evi-

dences of glacial action, while on the south jve look

in vain for them. The side of the advance was ihe

side of wear and greatest erosion.

Some of the rounded bills standing isolated in the

valleys, and nearly all the ridges in this vicinity,

haver as a centre or backbone, an internal foundation

structure, composed of granite, conglomerate or slates,

all worn from pre-existing or primary rocks and consti-

tuting what is termed the secondary or stratified rocks.

Where these ledges crop out we often find they
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have been rounded, polished, grooved and scratched

by the ponderous, southward-moving glacier. On
Jewett, just beyond Pearl Street, the ledge bears am-

ple evidence of glacial action. Before it had been

much cut away, I traced grooves more than fifty feet,

rounding up over the ledge to its summit as far as it

was uncovered. Although this styue had been sub-

ject to the svell-known agencies following exposure,

btill the tracings are at once apparent.

Ws have spread out before us to-day one of the

problems science unraveled and made clear only

after the Glacial Theory had been accepted.

From base to top of this mass of snow and ice

slowly moving southward, the materials composing

the Drift were carried from the north to warmer cli-

mates. From jagged hill-tops and mountain-crags

the rocks were gathered, which, after rolling and

wearing, were finally deposited as clay, fine sand and

gravel, or coarser stones and boulders over Canada,

New England, and westward beyond the Mississippi.

These boulders seldom exceeded a cubic foot in size,

although sometimes they are found containing 20,000,

30,000, and even 40,000 cubic feet.

The Drift, while covering the lower lands and val-

leys, is found high up the mountains—2U00 feet on

the Green IMountains, 3000 on Monadnock, and 6000

on Mt. Washington. On the very summit of Mt.

Washington drift boulders have been found.

Large and small boulders are found on the sum-

mits of most hills and smaller mountains in New
England.

The loose, unstratified gravel and boulders over

New England, New York, and the States west over

the same latitude are called Drift. In some excep-

tional cases it is in layers ; then it is called Modified

Drift.

This is the result of a working over of the Drift

material by the streams of water beneath the glacier

or in subsequent time by the rivers or ocean.

The Drift is derived from the rocks to the north of

where it lies, mostly between northeast and north-

west. The material is coarsest towards the north,

grading down to finer gravel and sand without stones

towards the southern limit. Wiih the excepdon of

pieces of wood the Drift is nearly bare of fossils, and

nothing to suggest marine origin.

Glaciers will move on slopes of one or two degrees,

and at the present time the requisite slope is found to

exist in New England and Eastern New York. AVhen

the winters come and the mantle of snow covers our

country from the sea-coast to the far, frigid North,

we have a stationary glacier; but the depth is only

a few feet, instead of 4000 to 5000, and is light,

porous snow, differing from the old-time glacier,

which was mostly ice, with, perhaps, a few hundred

feet of snow on the top.

The glacier in this part of North America would of

necessity move southward, for, if for no other reason,

the enormous accumulation of ice and snow to the

northward would efl'ectually present a barrier to its

movement in that direction, while to the South there

would be a limit resulting from the warmer climate.

In the farther North the ice-mantle may have been

many miles in thickne-ss. Therefore the glaciers

would [lUsli southward, rounding and polishing off

the hills .and lower mountains, scoring the sides and
to|KS with regular marked striie, produced by the

rocks, boulders and sand rubbing over them as with

gigantic power I he glacier moved along.

The Glacial Epoch and the Drift Epoch were the

same. It was a period of intense cold, following and

accompanying a wide-si)read elevation in the cold

latitudes in both the Northern and S<juthern hemis-

pheres. In the warmer regions there are no traces

of Glacier nor Drift material.

Below the perpetual frost-line a stream of water

always flows, which works over that part of the

glacial debris of angular and rounded stones and

earth within its reach, transporting it to the valley,

where it is deposited on the banks in a more or less

stratified form.

The glacier has its sides and bottom set with stones

of large or small size, and sand and gravel, and is a

"tool of vast power," scratching, plowing and planing

the rocks over or against which it moves: it even

widens and deepens valleys.

Prof. Hitchcock says, "The Mountain Tarn«i,

known as ' Lakes of the Clouds,' just below the sum-

mit of Mt. Washington, resulted from the excavating

power of the glacier."

Sometimes the accumulated Drift material formed

immense barriers and dammed up streams and shut

in valleys, giving us to-day beautiful ponds and lakes.

I have referred to the avalanches falling upon the

glaciers and forming deck-loads of debris. This detri-

tus which was precipitated upon the top of the gla-

cier was only a small part of the material gathered

into this snow and ice-mass. Frcm the tops of the

mountains over which it passed ; from the sides against

which it crushed its way, and even from the valleys,

it gathered material which became incorporated into,

and distributed throughout the vast sheet of ice; and

these materials eroded, broken, crushed and taken

from one place, were the implements that ground, pul-

verized, polished and produced thestrise on other and

perhaps far distant rocks. This debris, taken from

difi'erent rock-formations, comprised fragments of all

the rocks exposed, from the granites down to the more

recent formations, and to-day we find it scattered

broad-cast over our hills and valleys.

To produce the Drift there must be the glacier.

To form the glacier there must be elevation above the

line of perpetual frost, and an abundance of moist-

ure in the atmosphere. Were the thermometer never

to rise above freezing point our earth would be a

rainless, snowless sphere. For, to i)roduce rain and

snow, there must be moisture, and this is only the re-

sult of a temperature of above 32° Fahrenheit.
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J of till' l»rili

i! iivrr wliicli wi'

tbrraari' two "th«T cDiiililmiva in which the tilnciiili'il

''• !• prr»'iU<-U lor our vxmiiiiiatioii anil hIuiIv,

,(• in uialcridl »nd po«iliou from that we have

uL.!c(><-<l to-day.

In \r»'..i, wr !i»ve a few of thoue beautiful shaped

,
. ,l,e Olm-inl rt-rioil, found so

,,, . in parw of Maine, Now Hamp-

thiri' and .MuMiii'huiietlit.

Thr»e hilU are nuppose*! to luive been

htntalh the icenheet by the |fradual utcuniulalion

of the material torn and worn away from the rocks

and valleys over which it moved. They are compos-

ed oi clay, nand, boulders and fra^rinents of rock in-

di.. riminately heaped up, wiihout slratificulion ;
very

hard and compact.

The name given thfm appears to be very charac-

terintic and appropriate

—

ground morainet—and if tlie

theory i« correct that they were formed by the con-

lunt addition of new material as the glacier moved

onward, their compo.sition and compactness can

readily be understood. They have been named

by Prof. Hitchcock, " Lentiai/ar hi/Is." They are

elliptical in shape, the long diameter corresponding

very nearly with the striie and glacial groovings

found in the immediate vicinity. Mt. Ida is a typical

specimen of a lenticular hill—elliptical in shape,

Blt-ep siih s, gently rounded top and always a beautiful

picture in the landscape.

IWside .Mt. Ida; Brighton Hill, par'ly in Newton

ndlirighton; Nonautum H'll; Prospect Hill, near

the Newton reservoir; Institute Hill at Newton Cen-

tre ; Moflil's Hill, lying between Fuller and Beacon

."^ireets, and Oak Hill, near Newton Highlands, are

all composed of the same materials and present the

game shape.

The other form remaining to be described is that

of a cover, or sheet of material, consisting paitly of

that just described, mingled with sand, gravel and

iletritus generally, dropped loosely upon the hills and

valleys when the ice melted benea-h it. This form

of the Drift covers nearly all New England to a

depth varying from one to ten, or even twenty feet;

arid in connection with this are found the large

boulders so abundant in some localities.

The distinction between these three glacial deposits

is readily apparent.

The first is composed of sand, gravel, pebbles and
boulders (not striated) all, water-worn and rounded

;

more freipiently unstralified. This is generally found

in the valleys; but sometimes it occurs on elevated

plateaux. It often overlies the other two forms of

deposit.

The second overlies the "lenticular hills," and
nearly the whole of the glacier-swept region, forming

a thin cover of only a few feet in thickness, com-
posed of the materials found in the lower and upper
deposit*.

Iisv, r.i-rre.i The lenticular bills, built up of clay, sand, pebble

piisaed. Hut and angular fragmenU of rock, hard and compact,

comprise the third or lower division of the Drift.

These two latter are also known by the name of upper

and lower Till.

In Hiawatha, Longfellow assigns other cause than

glaciers for the boulders found scattered far and wide

over the elevated plateaux of the distant Northwest.

You will remember the terrible conflict between Hi-

awatha and his father, Mud-je-kee-wis, when Hia-

watha,

" Willi tliicatoning looti mid «<«">«

LiiW his hand upim the bliicli rock,

Upon the fatal Warbwk laid it,

With his mittens, Min-jok-ilh-wiin,

Rent the jutting craR asundor,

Smote and crushed it into rragmont).

Hurled them madly at his father.

But the niler of the West-Wind

Blew the fragments backward from him.

With the breathinf;s of his nostrils.

With the tempest of his anger;

Blew theui back at his Assailant

;

• ***»***
Still the hunter sees its traces

Scattered far o'er hill and valley
;

Sees the masses of the Warbeek

Lying still in every valley."

Scattered throughout Newton, in every direction,

especially ou the ridges and hills, are found the boul-

ders left by the ice. On the hill-tops and slopes they

are or have been very abundant, in full view, the finer

material having been washed away, leaving them

exposed. The walls built by farmers are composed

entirely of these rocks, various in form and material,

but showing unmistakable evidences of water action.

On the top of the ridge I have referred to, lying

between Newtonville and BuUougli's Pond, I found

the fragments of a large boulder, a well-worn traveler

from some distant crag or mountain-top, stranded,

like many another castaway, on a gravelly beach.

Also on the southwest slope I found fine specimens

of asbestos where another boulder had landed and

was slowly and surely crumbling back to dust.

This ridge .shut off the pond from the plain on

which Newtonville stands, -and dammed back its

waters when the pond occupied a much greater area

than now ; but, following the elevation of the land,

the water burst through the barrier at the northwest

corner, and the greater part escaped where the " Old

Mill " now stands. Beyond are beautiful forest-

crowned ridges, water-worn hollows and romantic

dells, rimmed with shrub and tree, dotted with the

trailing vine, the purpling bloom and the flowers

nodding in the gentle breeze; dark and sombre in

the shadows ; lovely places to wander on a summer's

day to study the great problems of life and the changes

and growth of this, our terrestrial home.
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HON. DAVID H. MASOX.

Hon. David Haven Mason, son of John and Mary
(Haven) Mhsoh, yvas born in Sullivan, N. H., on

March 17, lt!18. His career oft'ers a shining example

of the success of a self-made man, in the deepest sig-

nificance of that familiar phrase. By his own unaided

exertion, by rigid economy, without the assistance of

wealthy or influential friends, he [)rocured the means

for his professional education, graduating at Dart-

mouth College in 1841, and entered upon the chosen

field of his labors in Boston, Mass., an entire stranger

to the city and its institutions. After securing a lo-

cation at 20 Court Street (now the site of Young's

Hotel), and by the purchase of the necessary office

furniture with a few elementary law-book^, his last

dollar was spent. Thus he entered upon his business

career without a solitary friend in the city from whom
he could claim the privilege of the smallest loan; but

by his untiring energy, industry, sturdy devotion to

his profession and fidelity to his clients he soon com-

manded a respeL-table and lucrative practice, while by

his many honorable and genial traits of character he

was rapidly gathering about him a large circle of ar-

dent and appreciative friends.

After several years of tireless devction to the law

he entered the arena of public life and by his admin-

istration of the various official positions entrusted to

him, whose functions he discharged with admirable

judgment, zeal and success, he made his influence felt

as a noble public benefactor in Newton, where he re-

sided, in the neighboring city of Boston and through-

out the whole Commonwealth. Many of the most

useful and important public improvements of the period

in which he was so conspicuous in active official ser-

vice owe their origin and their successful achieve-

ment, with all their untold utility, to his wisdom in

preparation and his remarkable skill in execution.

Mr. Mason was a resident of Newton for twenty-

five years, and during this entire peril d he was an

honored and cherished leader in the educational and

social improvement of the community, exercising to a

remarkable degree his peculiar faculty of bringing

out the good qualities of those with whom he came in

contact and greatly enriching his townsmen by this

contribution. The precise value of his services to the

town of Newton during the long period that he was

its counsel and the zealous promoter of its interests

can never be estimated and therefore will never re-

ceive a just and proper appreciation.

He early won the confidence of his fellow-citizens,

and was a very active and influential member of the

House of Representatives during the years 1863, '66

and '67. The patriotic Governor John A. Andrew
admitted him to his personal intimacy, and often ex-

pressed himself by word and letter as leaning with

implicit confidence upon the sagacious counsels of his

friend in many important and difficult emergencies.

In the struggles of the country during the War of

1861-65 he evinced the most devoted and ardent pa-

triotism, and his tongue and pen were never deficient

in the e.\igencies of any occasion. He was a friend

to the poor and a helper to tiie distre-ssed. Jlindlul

of his own early struggles, he sympathized witli young

men and was ever ready with his advice and influence

to encourage and stimulate them in the preparation

for spheres of usefulness and honor. He declined the

honor of the Ivepublican nomination for the Senator-

ship and the higher position of National Representa-

tive, each of which he was strongly urged to accept,

giving as his reason the claims of his profession. He
also repeatedly declined elevation to the Bench on the

ground that no emolument or judicial distinction

could induce him to surrender the delights or avoid

the tender responsibilities of his home and family, a

sentiment of which the practical interpretation formed

a legacy now most deeply cherished in the hearts of

his children.

The most influential journals of his lime contained

many sterling articles from his pen, advocating pub-

lic improvements and adapted to guide public o|)inion

upon points involving the financial or educational in-

terests of his town, of the city of Boston, and the

Commonwealth.

In 1857 Mr. Mason was invited to deliver the ora-

tion at New London, Conn., at the celebration of the

eighty-first anniversary of American Independence.

The papers of that city, without distinction of party,

spoke of the oration " as a sound, able and patriotic

production, beautifully written and very effectively

delivered." On a similar occasion in Boston he was

invited to read the Declaration of Independence and

he performed the service according to the journals of

the day " in a forcible and truthful manner, and the

audience warmly evinced their approbation.''

' In 1859 he was the orator of the day, at the cele-

bration of the eighty-third anniversary of indepen-

dence at Newton Centre, and his oration gave great

satisfaction to his hearers. It was a refreshing ex-

ample of originality, bold in expression as well as

conception, and naturally suggested by the time-

hallowed history of the scenes and struggles which

gave birth to the anniversary. " It was marked by

careful research and sound judgment, and replete

with noble sentiments and lofty eloquence.'' On the

14lh of July, 1864, Mr. Mason delivered the address

at the centennial anniversary of the town of Lancas-

ter, N. H., a very interesting produciion now in print.

While he was a member of the House of Repre-

sentatives Mr. Mason attended to the biisinesa of the

Commonwealth with great fidelity, and won for him-

self the reputation of being one of the best debaters

of that honorable body. He watched carefully every

measure that came before the Legislature, bringing

the entire weight of his powerful influence in favor

of any worthy project, and by his scrupulous adhesion

to the right he made himself a power among hisasso-
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ciate*. HUtpewhe* before the Lestisliiture and com-

aiitirn iborrof u(">ii ilu- c.iis.n.liitioii »( ihe Weitcrn

till (li>- |l."«i "ii.v. W.ini-i.r l;;iilri>«il (•or|>oriiti"ni', on

f,., Met*, on till' iiilop-

ti,„ lit to llie Niilioiml

Oinmiiutioii, on niukin^ llie niill-diim free of toll,

•nd hiK luimenKf contnliuiion to tlie busiueus fnclli-

lira anil proiperity of lUi.ton by the leveling of Fort

llil:, are »|.ocimeuit of ibe noble etfortu by which he

l>Mv»-<l biniM'lf preeminently a public beneliiotor.

In the lotirso of an extended comment upon the lust

of the»e underlnkinp*. one of the daily journals of

ItoAton remiirkeil: "The credit of engineering the

matter (the Fort Hill improvement) through the l,eg-

iiilature, and reducing the deuiks to a practical work-

ing level, i» due to 1). H. Mason, Ksq., whose eflbrts

in bringing to an ailjuntment the long contested

Brighton llridge ca-xe, and the prominent part he has

taken hm counsel for railroad corporations before the

lye^islalure, has caused him to be regarded as one of

the most eminent and successful counsel that appears

in that liody. This enterprise was entrusted to him

and the many didiculties that stood in the way were,

by his untiring energy, all removed, and Boston will

soon reap the advantage of liHving wide and well-

graded streets in place of narrow lanes leading to

crowded tenement-houses."

Of the action of the municipal and State authori-

ties in removing the toll gates from the mill-dam

roail and making the great thoroughfare free to the

public, the same journal says: " It is but just that it

should be known that the credit of this is due princi-

pally to the persistent elforts of David H. JIason,

Esq., of Newton, who for several years has given at-

tention to this matter, presenting its importance be-

fore successive Legislatures until at last the public

enjoy the great privilege secured."

In 1860 Mr. Mason was appointed to a position up-

on the Massachusetts Board of Education, of which

he was for several years a very edicient member, and

discharged the duties of that office with exemplary

failhtulness. No demands of his business were per-

mitted to interfere with his obligations to the Slate

in this department of service. It was to him a labor

of love and he loved even the labor itself. Recog-

nition of his efforts in behalf of the State Normal
School at Framingham were showered upon him in a

thousand dill'erent ways and added to the pleasures

of success in this undertaking.

Mr. Mason was also deeply interested in sustaining

the high character of the schools in the town of New-
ton. In an account of the dedicatory e.Nercises of the

High School building at Newtonville, it was written :

" It would not be invidious to the other friends of the

enterjirise to say that to Mr. Mason, perhaps more
than to anyone else, is the town indebted for the con-

summation of this enterprise. For three years he
ha< devoted to it his time and energies. Through his

eloquent appeals and forcible arguments he has ovei-

comea persistent op|)ijsition, and in its darkest hours

when its firmest friends were almost tempted to de-

spair, his voice was lifted in tones of startliig elo-

quence, till success crowned his efforts. And the en-

thusiasm with which his name and speech were re-

ceived showed that this was not the hour of his pride

alone but the pride of his friends for him." The

"Mason School " at NewKm Centre was named tor

him as an honorary testimonial by his townsmeu of

his noble interest in the cause of education.

Allusion has been made to Mr. Mason's patriotic

spirit. At the outbreak of the Civil War, (iovernor

Andrew chose him from the ranks of the Democrat

party and placed him upon the Military Commission

—

the only civilian in that important selection. He was

an ardent War Democrat, threw the full current of

his (lowerful influence in favor of the re-electinn of

Abraham Lincoln, and during the war he was un-

wearied in his zeal to preserve the country and its

free institutions unharmed, and to stimulate his fel-

low-citizens to all rigiil and noble eilbrts. A notable

instance of this occurred in an emergency in the war,

when a large and enthusiastic meeting of citizens was

held in the town of Newton. The design of the meet-

ing was to lake measures for equipping one or more

companies of voluulcer militia, and to take funlier

measures for the support and comfort of the families

of such as should be called into service. Mr. Mason
offered a series of resolutions which he supported

with eloquent and patriotic remarks. He alluded to

a previous meeting where the patriotic men of the

town expressed themselves as willing to sacrifice

everything for the cause of their country ; but the

present meeting was one where prudence and calm

judgment should rule the hour. The minds of men
should not, in their enthusiasm, be carried beyond

the proper line of duty ; while they are willing to

give of their substance, judgment and discretion

should so guide their actions, that, while everything

needed should be given unsparingly, nothing should

be wasted. " Millions of gold and rivers of blood will

not compare with the influence of this question ; for,

on its solution hang the hopes of civil liberty and

civilization throughout the world for agts to come.

Let it not be said thitt we, of this generation, have

been unfaithful to the high and holy trust." The
preamble and resolutious, which were unanimously

adopted, were as follows :

"Whereas, for the first time in the history of our government, the

liepiililic la placed in great |»eril by an armed rehollion of several of the

Uiiiled States, threatening the destruction of our National Archives and
our National Capitol, and a sudden resort to an armed resistance has

become necessary for the preservation of our lives and liberties, and
" Wheueas, by solemn proclamation the President of the United States

has called upon the good Commonwealth of Massachusetts for the means
of clfcctual resistance

—

" Now, therefore, we, the inhabitants of the Town of Newton in town-

meeting assembled, loyal to the constitution and the laws of the land,

do hereby instruct and direct the selectmen of our said town to take

and appropriate from any moneys at any time in the treasury of said

t .\vn, during the current year, a sulTicieiit sum, not exceeding 8;;o,iiiK),

to fully arm and ei|uip in the most approved manner -one comjiauy or
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more of volunteer militia who have enlisted or may hereafter enlist

from said town, in the service of the State or General Government, and

if any such pereoiis are called into actual service, leaving their faniilics

unprovided for, the selectmen are also directed to lake especial care to

provide for them all tlie needed and necessary comforts of life, in sick-

ness and in health, duriuR the continuance of said service, and as long

as the exigency of the case requires. And if any should i}eri>li in saiil

service the town will tenderly care for their remains, and furnisli them

a suitable burial.

*^ KtBoheil, That the people of this town have the most perfect con-

fidence and tiust in our present form of Government, that we have

faith in the wisdom and patriotism of its founders, and that without

distinction of party or recognition of party lines, in our heart of

heart-) we revere and love their virtues and their memories. The

cause of this Union is our cause, and to its support, in firui reliance

on the protection of Divine Providence, we pledge otir lives and our

sacred honor."

These resolutions, passed unanimously amid great

enlhusiasm, are honorable alike to the lofty intellect

from which they sprang, to the pen that drew them

and to the loyal citizens of the town who found in

them the eloquent expression of their sentiments.

When the elevated and lucra'ive office of United

States Attorney for the District of Massachusetts be-

came vacant by the resignation of Hon. George S.

Hillard, a large number of the most famous members

of the Suffolk Bar volunteered their influence in sup-

port of the appointment of Mr. Mason to that honor-

"able position. He was nominated by President Grant,

confirnied by the Senate, and appointed upon Decem-

ber 22, 1870, his elevation being regarded as a strong

one for the Government and highly acceptable to the

people and the bar of Massachusetts. He was at

this time a leading member of the Republican Party,

Laving joined its ranks at the close of the Civil War.

Mr. Mason's administration of this, his last public

office, evinced to the highest degree the attorney's

legal knowledge and acumen, and was a fitting close

of an active and noble professional career. He was

counsel for the Government in some very important

and celebrated cases during his term of office, securing

two of the largest verdicts ever obtained by the Gov-

ernment in this district. His methods were marked

with dignity and principle, without exception, and

won for him the highest public and private commen-
dation.

Mr. Mason, in his domestic and social relations,

displayed even more decisively the charming dignity

and purity of his character. On June 16, 1845, he had

married Sarah Wilson (daughter of John Hazen and

Roxanna) White, of Rutland, Mas-s., and he loved to

ascribe a greater part of his prosperity and success to

the unwavering sympathy and love of his faithful

wife. In a letter by Gov. Emory Washburn to Mrs.

Mason after her husband's death he says :
" I have

again and again heard him, almost reverently, express

how strongly he was sensible of having what, to a

generous-minded man, is the highest element of en-

couragement and success—the counsel and sympathy
of one whose lot was inseparably cast with his."

Mr. Mason died in Newton on the 29th of May,

1873, after a lingering illn&ss of several months. Hia

widow, a daughter (Mabel White) and three sotis sur-

vive him ; his sons (Edward ?Iaven, Harry White and
Frank Atlee) following the profession of their father.

The lofty moral and intellectual culture that illum-

ined every element of his sterling character eminently

fitted him for intimate association with the distin-

guished men of his time, and ^lirough it he enjoyed

the sincere friendship and personal intimacy of such

men as Henry Wilson, Charles Sumner and Governors

Andrew and Washburn.

The eloquent messages of condolence that poured

in after his death, the resolutions passed by the courts

and by the various associations of which he had been

a member, the many distinguished persons high in the

Cliurch and State who paid him the last sad honor at

his burial, and the thousands of every rank of life that

thronged to his final resting-place, bore silent and

touching testimony how widely he was mourned and

how deeply he had been beloved.'

JOHN WILEY EDMANDS.''

John Wiley Edmands, son of Thomas Edmands,

Esq., and Roxa (Spragne) Edmands, daughter of

William Sprague, of Leicester, Mass., was born in

Boston, Mass., on the Ist of March, 1809. The rec-

ord of his life is from first to last a chronicle of great

activity and grand achievements; while in enter-

prises, more particularly connected with the manu-
facturing industry of New England, in which the

broad scope of his intellect was most successfully

concentrated, he displayed a comprehensive mastery

of the economical and administrative principles of

business rarely met with.

In his boyhood he was educated in the Boston

Grammar School, and upon his graduation therefrom

he entered the English High School of Boston when

it was founded, in 1821, graduating from this institu-

tution in 1823, having been favored with the honor

of a Franklin medal.

His tender recollections and rich appreciation of

the educational advantages afforded him by this now
famous school were touchingly embodied in an ad-

dress delivered at its semi-centennial in 1871 before

the assembled graduates and scholars. It was a

glowing tribute of his love for the institution and for

the cause of educational culture, and proved one of

the most cherished efforts of his life.

Upon his graduation at the High School he began

his business career in the famous house of Amos &
Abbott Lawrence. In 1830, during his absence in

Europe, he was made a partner in the concern and

soon afterward became its acting manager, conduct-

ing its involved and multifarious business with re-

markable application and success. He retired from

the firm in 1843, having acquired at this early age a

t Re-written from Dr. S. F. Smith's " History of Newtou," by Frank

A. Mason, Esq.

2 By Frank A. Mason.
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wide sprvBit rr|iututi<)ii of beioj; a un.at int«lligent,

•l>le miJ iral.iiii l.ii.tiiu-i>s ii>iiiiij.'t>r. A» »iicli liis ser-

vic** were eamrly souglit by lusiiiy of ihe lending

railriiati and manufacturing ourp*>rati<)n8 tliroughuut

New Eiiglttud, but the»e (lattcriiig otfers he was for

the |.r.-.ent oonip.lU'd to decline tbut he might fortify

hi!i already i.verlii.tked strength in pre|>Hration for the

greater Ul«jn» t.. come. During this period he was

intere.te.1 in one of hi* nicwt protitable cnterpriHes,

the Maverick WoolenMilU, in Dcdhain, ^[as^^., and

carelully acjuired » fumiliarity with the cloth manu-

facture.

Mr. bMmands' rare intelligence upon economical

queatiunii enabUd him to e.xerl a powerful influence

U|H)u national finan.ial legislation. and upon his elec-

tion to the Natioruil House of Hcprcsentatives in the

fall of l!</>2 ho was at once delegated a distinguished

position upon the financial committees. His term of

Mrvice in Congress was brief, for at the next election

in his district he rt>soiutely declined a renomination

f.ir good anil sutficient private reasons, and though

aflerwards repeatedly urged to accept the nomination,

be could not be persuaded to separate himself from

his more pressing responsibilities. But he main-

tained a searching interest in national and political

questions to the very close of his busy life and the

wisdom of his consultation was eaeerly sought by the

legislators from his district and the New England

Republican members of Congress. He was cho.sen

Presidential elector from his district in 1868 by the

Republican party and was president of the first great

convention, that at Boston, which nominated General

Grant for the Presidency. Without his request or

knowledge he was honored with the enthusiastic en-

dorsement and support of influential business men

for his appointment to high official position at Wash-

ington, including that of Secretary of the Treasury,

under the administrations of Presidents Lincoln and

Grant, and subsequently by leading men of the West

for the position of Minister to England.

In 18.5o he took one of the most significant business

steps of his life, that of assuming the treasurership of

the Pacific Mill.s, at Jjawrence, a position that he re-

tained to the very end of his business career. He
undertook this tremendous responsibility at the earn-

est sfdicitation of Mr. Abbott Lawrence ; and the

firm of A. & A. Lawrence, by their support and sacri-

fices, followed the varied vicissitudes of his adminis-

tration with implicit and unwavering confidence in

its success.

Through the financial and manufacturing ability of

Mr. Edmands, this most colossal of the manufacturing

establish mentji of New England was resuscitated al-

most at the very point of death, and raised from a

state of almost hopeless bankruptcy to one of unpar-

alleled succe-ss and prosperity. He successfully engin-

eered his company through the financial crisis of

1857. With his acute insight into the demands and
requisitions of the future, he penetrated the cloud-

bank of threatened disaster and calmly put into prac-

tical operation his theory of making the Pacific Mills

one of the greatest individual manufacturing estab-

lishments ot" the world.

As the orgmizatioQ of the National .Vssocialion of

Wool Manufacturers, Mr. Edmands at once took an

active and conspicuous part in its affairs, reluctantly

becoming its president in 1871.

At a meeting of this association in the city of New

York on the 7th of March, 1877, certain resolutions, of

which the following is an extract, were introduced by

.Mr. Bigelow, of Boston, and were uuiuiraously

adopted :

"RfKlved, That the N'Htion.il Association of Wool Manufftcturera

8Ti(TiT», in llio (liBpiiinHlloii of Providence wliicli Ims removed from lils

earttily lubonJ its respected und beloved associate and President, Hon.

J. Wiley Kdiiinnds,— a loss wl-.icli profonndly affects its interesta, and

conies lioine to its inenibers as a private calamity.

*• JlfS'tlved, That tliis Association recognizes the unremitting devotion

of our departed associate during the whole period of our organization,

his elflcfency as President of our body, both in counsel and action, hia

wise and temperate views of political economy, liis great pereoual influ-

enco with public men, aud the weight of character which gavo dignity

and power to the body over which he presided."

In the presence of this eloquent testimony, his zeal

in the interests of this association needs no further

commentary.

At a meeting of the National Wool-Growers' and

Sheep-Breeders' Association, held in Columbus, Ohio,

on February 15, 1877, the following resolution was

unanimously passed :

"Eeiolved, That in the death of Hon. J. Wiley Edmands, late Presi-

dent of the National Association of Wool Manufacturers, we acknowl-

edge the loss of a most intelligent, able and zealous advocate for the

advancement and protection of the woolen interests of America."

Mr. Edmands took up his residence at Newton in

1847, and remained one of its foremost citizens for thirty

years. He at once identified himself with the chari-

table and educational interests of the town of his

adoption, oflering freely of his means and generous

in support of every worthy project with what was to

him and them still more valuable—his wise counsel

and precious time. Of the Newton Free Library he

was the principal benefactor, favoring the instituiion

with pecuniary gifts to the amount of nearly $20,000,

and bestowing upon it an untold wealth of valuable

counsel and advice. When chairman of a committee

for the consideration of a petition from the West

Newton Athenaeum for a town appropriation towards

increasing its usefulness, Mr. Edmands made the sage

suggestion that the town lend its assistance to this

and similar institutions by appropriating each year a

sum equal to that secured by private subscription for

the same objects, thereby making private apprecia-

tion a test for public liberality. Upon the establish-

ment of a humble orphan school in his village, organ-

ized with the holy purpose of guarding the helpless

orphans from the early encroachments of temptation

and vice, Mr. Edmands at once gave his enthusiastic

support to the charitable project, and became one of

the most liberal contributors toward the establish-
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ment and maintenance of the famous "Newton

Home." One of the most tender of his charities was

in the direction of his devotion to the Eye and Ear

Infirmary in the city of Boston, of which from i(s

foundation he was the treiisurcraiid husiiies.i nuuiiiger.

Under his generous and skilllul adnjinistralion, h.s-

sisted by the unpaidservicesof its surgeons, this insti-

tution became one of the most admirable of public

charities, relieving as many as 7000 patients in a

year.

At the outbreak of the Civil War, in 1861, Mr.

Edmands promptly declared himself for the defence

of his country's institutions and the perpetuity of the

Union. He was a constant attendant, and often

presided, at the local meetings called in Newton for

the enlistment of volunteers. With his worldly goods

he stienglhened (he ciedii of ihe Board of Selectmen

in their generous promises to care for tlie sick and

wounded ard to provide for the necessities of the fam-

ilies of such as might peris-b in the impending strug-

gle. In confident anticipation of a vote of the town

sanctioning such expenditure, he advanced a large

sum of money at a critical moment to meet certain

necessary liabilities. Two of his sons—Joseph Gush-

ing Edmands and Thomas Sprague Edmands—enter-

ed the army and performed honorable service in the

Union cause.

At the close of the war, when it was determined to

erect a permanent monument to the memory of those

who fell in the service of their country, Mr. Edmands
advanced a large sum for this purpose ; at the same

time suggesting that a popular subscription be en-

couraged, and amounts, however small, be received

and credited, that young and old might be given an

opportunity, according to their means, to contribute

towards this praiseworthy testimonial. Contributions

of one dime each from more than 1100 pupils of

the public schools, and of one dollar each from nearly

1200 inhabilants of the town assured the success of

the undertaking and resulted in the erection of the

monument.

Mr. Edmands, besides being treasurer and director

of the Pacific Mills, was vice-president of the Provi-

dent Institution for Savings, treasurer of the Eye and

Ear Infirmary, president and trustee of the Newton

Free Library, a director of the Ogdeusburgh Rail-

road, of theSuflfolk Bank, of the Massachusetts Hos-

pital Life Insurance Company, and president of the

National Association of Wool Manufacturers. He
was also a director of the Arkwright Mutual Fire

Insurance Company, and for a time treasurer of the

Ogdensburgh Railroad.

Mr. Edmands died on the 31st of .lanuary, 1877, at

the age of sixty-seven years and eleven months. His

last days were spent at his beautiful country-seat at

Newton, where he had found such rest and domestic

happiness as his busy life permitted.

Thus closed the natural existence of one of the

leading characters of this period, a man possessed of

the highest qualifications in our power to achieve,

those of personal, intellectual and moral culture; who
quitted the responsibilities of this life with an un-

spotted name and highly honored rei>ut!\tii)n, an ex-

ample of devotion to business, to public trusts, and to

the most refined of private moral obligations.

Throughout, his life he possessed the greatest dista.ste

for ostentation, and it was his often-expressed desire,

that after he had passed away, his memory miglit be

spared all manner of extravagant panegyric. Time
has proved his most glowing eulogy to lie in the

eloquent testimony from the mourning hearts of all

who knew him, of all who had felt his noble in-

fluences.

At a meeting of the Newton City Council shortly

after his death. Mayor Alden Speare thus referred to

him :

—
" Should I say that Newton has lost the man

who stood highest in the esteem of all her citizens, I

am sure that I should but echo the sentiments of all

;

but a life and mind like that of our late hontred

fellow-citizen is not confined in its influence and

benefits to any single community.
" Should I say that Boston, the metropolis of New

England, has lost one of its largest-minded and most

honored merchants ; that the largest manufacturing

establishment, not only in Massachusetts, butofthe

world, had lost its controlling mind, and our nation

had lost one whose counsels for many years have been

sought after in shaping its legislation, the influence of

which made them national, I should then come short

of the measure of the influence of the life and labors

of the Hon. J. Wiley Edmands."

GARDNER COLBY.'

Gardner Colby, son of Josiah C. and Sarah (David-

son) Colby, was born September 3, 1810, in Bowdoin-

ham, Maine. Previous to the War of 1812 his father

had been for several years a successful ship-builder,

but in that war all his property was swept away by

the capture of vessels at sea or by the depreciation of

shipping kept in port by the embargo. From the

discouragement produced by this failure in business

he never rallied, and the support of the family thence-

forth depended on the mother. But her resolution

and capacity were great, and it has been said that

"she seems to have early impressed upon Gardner

the habits of concentration, energy, courage and

hope, which characterized herself, and which were so

conspicuous in his later life." The subject of this

sketch was the second of four children, and, owing to

the straitened circumstances of the family, was en-

gaged in the service of business firms from the age of

fourteen to twenty-one, with the exception of six

months of eager study in a boarding-school. He was,

therefore, what is commonly meant by a self-educated

man. But the action of his mind was always quick

'By BeT. Alvah Hovsy, D.D.
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Up.,,,,. - uKiioriiy, Mr. Colby rented a

.,.,„ „„ , I of Wa^liiiiKion ii"'l Bromfield

Strrrl. lU-loii. iimkiiin l«t»=., pl"ve« and hosiery a

»,.ici»lly. SlarliuK willi^ibout ?20(> eapilal, he con-

duclwl hi* bu«i..e*< with »uch skill and economy as

to luakr ?4'"»«i the fitwt year and a larger sum the sec-

on.l. Altf. live years he hail acquired sufficient

mean, to warrant hi« undertaking a larger enterprise.

Jlr iher.fore l>eoanie an importer of dry goods, on

Kilby Street, a busiius-i wliicli lie continued during a

prri<i<l often yearn, when he was able to retire from it

with a hand.tfmie competency.

Thin wiut in IS 17. But in 18.-|i) he went into regu-

lar biii.iiies» ligaiu, purchasing one-half of the Mav-

erick Mill-, of Dedhaiu. Mass., and thus becoming aa-

8.ainted with his neighbor, the Hon. .1. Wiley Ed-

mands, in the manufacture of woolen goods. He was

himself the selling agent of these goods in Boston,

first on Milk Street, and later on Franklin Street. In

the war 41 large amount of soldiers' clothing was sold

by this tirin. But in 1SG3 Mr. Colby dispdsed of his

iiitcrest in the mills and once more retired from busi-

ness with increased wealth. lie was now fifty-three

years of age, and might have enjoyed an honorable

and useful leisure the rest of his life.

But he was not content to do this. Fond of large

enterprises, he became interested after about six

years, in the construction of the Wisconsin Central

Kailroad. After careful examination, he took hold

of it with vigor and resolved to make it the great

work of his life. For a year everything went on pros-

perously. But in 1872 a change came. The " Ala-

bama" claims excitement in England drove all

American securities from that market ; the fire in

Chicago, the fire in Boston, the money panic in

England and on the Continent, and the great panic in

New York in 187.3, supplemented by hostile legis-

lation in the West, and business prostration every-

where, sadly crippled the Wisconsin Central Railroad.

All these things taxed the strength of Mr. Colby

unduly, and it is not surprising that he was not loiig

able to bear the pres.sure of anxiety and care that

came upon him. Y'et he always had confidence inthe

ultimate success of the road. " He bought a large

amount of bonds and stock of this company, and

never sold any of either. He received no compensa-

tion for the years of service and labor which he ren-

dered; and, although he at different times indorsed

t^e company's paper for large amounts, he never

charged anything for the use of his name and credit."

But if his health was broken, and his purpose to make
the road an immediate financial success was defeated,

he had the satisfaction of seeing it completed, and in

full operation before his retirement from the presi-

dency in 1876. In the autumn of that year he passed

through a long and dangerous illness, which termi-

nated his business career, though he recovered his

strength so far as to enjoy friendship and travel

during nearly three years, losing, indeed, no part of

his interest in human welfare as all'ected by religion

and education.

For Mr. Colby w^s no less remarkable for the use

which he made of his property than for his energy

in acciuiring it. At the age of twenty he made a pub-^

lie profession of his faith in Christ, and was always

from that time a generous sujiporler of Christian in-

stitutions. He began to give when he began to gain;

and in his later years he sometimes expressed a be-

lief that, if he had refused to give in early life, he

would probably have continued to do so to the end.

His beneficence was rarely misdirected. It rested

upon principle, and was applied to the support of

enterprises which commended themselves to his judg-

ment as well as to his heart. His courage and assist-

ance did much to save the Newton Theological Insti-

tution and Waterville College in dark hours; his bene-

factions were liberal to Brown University, from which

two of his sons were graduated; and his gilts fiowed

in a perennial stream to the great mis.sionary socie-

ties of his denomination, especially to the Missionary

Union, as well as to the churches with which he was

successively connected in Boston and Newton Centre.

It has been truly said that " the most noticeable

thing about his service to the cause of Christ was the

fact that he was far broader and wiser than his early

training would lead us to expect. He liad but small

school advantages in his youth
;
yet he gave his money

and his influence, and not a little hard work, to schools

of higher learning.'' More than half a million dol-

lars must have been contributed by him to the pro-

motion of learning and religion.

And when to this is added the time wliich he gave

to tlie churches, schools and missionary organizations

which he loved, it will be seen that a considerable

part of his life was consecrated to the well-being of

mankind. He was an active member of the Execu-

tive Committee of the American Baptist Missionary

Union several years, and during the last third

or more of his life was a trustee of Brown University

and of Waterville College (now Colby University, in

honor of his name). From the age of thirty-two to

the age of fifty-si.^—twenty-four years—he was the

wise, courageous, indefatigable and unpaid treasurer

of the Newton Theological Institution. Upon his

resignation of this office he was elected president of

the Board of Trustees, a position which he held with

eminent ability ten years. By these and other less

conspicuous, but no less laborious and useful services,

Mr. Colby was a benefactor to thousands. His stren-

uous and useful life came to an end on the 2d day of

April, 1879.

LEMUEL CREHORE.

Born in Dorchester, Mass., March 2, 1791 ; died in

Boston, August 18, 18G8.
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and clfiir, ami the hiii.'ui.j;.- wunn li-- m-

reel, coni'iiie iiiul wvll clinr-i'ii.

Up>m r»-«iliiiiK \m iiuiixrity. Mr. C<>ll>y ro

(tore on the criur of \V.isliiii(.'i..ii uml Uromtield

StiwU, »4»l.>ii, in»kiti)r liice», nl-'vt's and hiwiery a

specialty. SurliiiK witli,iib»ut ^200 caiiital, he coii-

duitwl U\» buHiiiew Willi giitli skill and economy bb

to luakf i'V»>^> tlu> lintt year and a lar»ror sum the sec-

ond. .Vllor tivf yfiim lie had ac<iuirod siillicienl

nieani to warrant his undorlakinK a larger enterprise.

He therefore heeaine an importer ol" dry gtiods, on

Kilbv ^^l^eel,« busineiw which he continued during a

periiMl often year*, when he wan able to retire from it

with a handnome competency.

Thin wiw in IS17. lUit in 1S'>0 he went into regu-

lar biisine!W again, piinhnsing one-hiilf of the Mav-

erick Mill-, of Dedhani, Masw., and tlius becoming as-

sociated with his neighbor, the Hon. J. Wiley Ed-

oiands, in the nninufaelure of woolen goods. He was

himself the selling agent of these goods in Boston,

first on Mdk Street, and later on Franklin Street. In

the war « large amount of soldiers' clothing was sold

by this firm, lint in IStil? Mr. Colby disposed of his

interext in the mills and once more retired from busi-

ness with increased wealth. He was now fifty-three

years of age, and might have enjoyed an honorable

and useful leisure the rest of his life.

But he was not content to do this. Fond of large

enterprises, he became intere.stcd after about six

years, in the construction of the Wisconsin Central

Uailroad. After cartful examination, he took hold

of it with vigor and resolved to make it the great

work of his life. For a year everything went on pros-

perously. But in 1872 a change came. The " Ala-

bama " claims excitement in England drove all

American securities from that market ;
the fire in

Chicago, the fire in Boston, the money panic in

England and on the Continent, and the great panic in

New York in 1873, supplemented by hostile legis-

lation in the AVest, and business prostration every-

where, sadly crippled the Wisconsin Central Railroad.

All these things taxed the strength of Mr. Colby

unduly, and it is not surprising that he was not loiig

able to bear the pressure of anxiety and care that

came upon him. Yet he always had confidence in'the

ultimate success of the road. " He bought a large

amount of bonds and stock of this company, and

never sold any of either. He received no compensa-

tion for the years of service and labor which he ren-

dered; and. although he at different times indorsed

the company's paper for large amounts, he never

charged anything for the use of his name and credit."

But if his health was broken, and his purpose to make
the road an immediate financial success was defeated,

he had the satisfaction of seeing it completed, and in

full operation before his retirement from the presi-

dency in 1870. In the autumn of that year he passed

through a long and dangerous illness, which termi-

nated his business career, though he recovered his

strength so far as to enjoy friendship and travel
j

during nearly three years, losing, indeed, no part of
^

his interest in human welfare as affected by religion

and education.

For Mr. Colby "vsjs no less remarkable for the use

which he made of his property than for his energy

in aeipiiring it. At the age of twenty he made a pub-

lic profession of his faith in Christ, and was always

from that time a generous supporter of Christian in-

stitutions. He began to give when he began to gain

;

and in his later years he sometimes expressed a be-

lief that, if he had refused to give in early life, he

would probably have continued to do so to the end.

His beneficence was rarely misdirected. It rested

upon principle, and was applied to the support of

enterprises which commended themselves to his judg-

ment as well as to his heart. His courage and assist-

ance did much to save the Newton Theological Insti-

tution and Waterville College in dark hours; his b( ne-

factions were liberal to Brown University, from which

two of his sons were graduated; and his gifts flowed

in a perennial stream to the great missionary socie-

ties of his denomination, especially to the Missionary

Union, as well as to the churches with which he was

successively connected in Boston and Newton Centre.

It has been truly said that " the most noticeable

thing about his service to the cause of Christ was the

fact that he was far broader and wiser than his early

training would lead us to expect. He had but small

school advantages in his youth
;
yet he gave his money

and his influence, and not a little hard work, to schools

of higher learning." More than half a million dol-

lars must have been contributed by him to the pro-

motion of learning and religion.

And when to this is added the time which he gave

to the churches, schools and missionary organizations

which he loved, it will be seen that a considerable

part of his life was consecrated to the well-being of

mankind. He was an active member of the Execu-

tive Committee of the American Baptist Missionary

Union several years, and during the last third

or more of his life was a trustee of Brown University

and of Waterville College (now Colby University, in

honor of his name). From the age of thirty-two to

the age of fifty-si:?;—twenty-four years—he wa-s the

wise, courageous, indefatigable and unpaid treasurer

of the Newton Theological Institution. Upon his

resignation of this office he was elected president of

the Board of Trustees, a position which he held with

eminent ability ten years. By these and other less

conspicuous, but no less laborious and useful services,

Mr. Colby was a benefactor to thousands. His stren-

uous and useful life came to an end on the 2d day of

April, 1879.

LEMUEL CREHORE.

Born in Dorchester, Mass., March 2, 1791 ; died in

Boston, August 18, 1868.
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The record of the early life and family history of

Mr. Crehore has, properly, no place in a history of

Jliddlesex County. Daring a century and a half pre-

ceding his birth five generations of his ancestors re-

sided in Milton and Dorchester, adjoining towns in

Norfolk county. In the former of these he passed his

childhood and early youth. His first entrance into

the business world was as a clerk to Mr. Robbins,

who had a general store in Roxbury.

Some years later he crossed the Allegheny Moun-

tains—making the journey on horseback in the com-

pany of Mr. E. V. Sumner, of Milton (late major-

general United States Army), and settled in Cincin-

nati, Ohio, where he remained some years.

In 1825 he returned to New England, and there first

became a resident of Newton as a co-partner with

William Hurd, Esq., who liad lieen for .some time en-

gaged in the liusiuess of jiaper-making at the Lower

Fa'lis.

The firm of Hurd tt Crehore dissolved by mutual

consent in 1834—Mr. Crehore purchasing a portion

of the plant from Mr. Hurd. He a!^sociated with

himself in the business Mr. Benjamin Neal, then en-

gaged as a mill-wright in the village. The firm of

Crehore i*c Neal ceased by limitation in 1845. From
this date the business has been exclusively in the

hands of Mr. Crehore and his descendants. Jn 1846

he purchased the remainder of Mr. Kurd's interest in

the property and the whole was then consolidated in-

to a single mill.

From 1854 to 18(37 Mr. Crehore's youngest son,

George C, was a co-partner with him. In 1867 the

elder son, Charles Frederic, took his brother's place,

and since Mr. ('rehore's death, in 1868, has carried on

the business, in which latterly his son has had an in-

terest.

Mr. Crehore was adverse to holding office, and,

with the exception of one term in the State Legisla-

ture and one or two years a& selectman, he rendered

DO official public service.

He, however, always took an active interest in pub-

lic ati'airs and coniributed freely of his means to aid

any movement for public or social advantage. His

advice was frequently sought by those having respon-

sible charge in such matters.

In his private capacity as a neighbor and friend

his native kindliness of disposition won for him gen-

eral regard. None hesitated to go to him in their

trouble, noue were ever repulsed. Of the strictest

jnoral integrity, his reputation as a citizen, a business

man and a neighbor was unblemished.

He married, August 1, 1827, Mrs. Mary Ann Dodge,

widow, daughter of Thomas and Lydia (Farmer)

Clark, of Burslera, Staffordshire, England, where she

was born March 12, 1795. She survived her husband

and died at the homestead, then occupied by her elder

son, January 1, 1875. During a large portion of their

married life they resided in Newton, but a few years

previous to Mr. Crehore's death they removed to Boa-

ton, where he died August 18,. 1868. Of their two
children, the younger. George Clarendon, born Au-
gust 24, 1832, lived the greater portion of his life in

Newton, being connected with his father in the paper
business from lS54-()7. lie married, November, 1855,

Lucy Catherine, daughter of Otis and Mary Ann
(Grout) Daniell, of Boston. Five children were born
to them, all of whom, with the mother, are now living,

resident in Boston. In 1867 the family removed to

Boston, where Mr. Crehore died December 23, 1870.

The elder .son, Charles Frederic Crehore, born June
18, 1828, after being engaged in the practice of medi-

cine in Boston and serving as military surgeon during

the Civil War, returned to Newton in 1867 and went
into business with his father, as above stated. He
married, September 29, 1857, Mary Wyer, daughter of

Henry and Elizabeth l'"arris (Tracy) Lori'ng, of Boston.

The only public office held by him to date is that of

member of the Newton Water Board from 1885-88

inclusive. He has two children, a son and daughter,

both residents of Newton.

The former, Frederic Morton Crehore, born July

16, 1858, as already stated, is a co-partner in the

paper manufactory of C. F. Crehore & Son. At the

date of writing (1890) he is a member of the Common
Council of the city of Newton.

EDWARD .lACKSO;*^ COLLINS.'

The Collins family are of English origin and de-

scent; the progenitors of this particular branch set-

tling in Marblehead, Mass., where Matthias Collins,

Sr., held the office of high sheriff.

Matthias Collins (2d) married the daughter of

Ebenezer Davis, of Brookline, and moved to New-
ton in 1778, where he purchased one hundred acres

of land of .Toseph Craft, on the Sherburne Road,-

adjoining .lohn Woodward. Here he settled and

lived until his death, in 1785. He left an only son

and heir, Matthias Collins (3d), and a widow, who
survived him thirty-four years, having reached the

ripe old age of eighty-five.

Matthias Collins (3d) married Hannah, daugRter

of Edward Jackson, in 1798.

The family of Hannah Jackson were identified with

Newton from its earliest history. Her father, Edward,

was the son of Col. Ephraim Jackson, a lieutenant

in the old French War during 1765 and 1756. Twenty
years later he was one of the Newton alarm list, and

when Paul Revere called

"For tlio country folk to be up and to <irra,"

Lieut. .Tackson joined the Revolutionary Arm}' and

was promoted to lieutenant-colonel under Marshall.

He participated in the several battles that preceded

the capture of Burgoyne, and died in camp at Valley

Forge.

' By Edward Ii, Collins,
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Col. Jaik»..ii wiw Jli>' ^;raMds..u ot Sebiix .Tnckson,

who. lu tradition hiw it. wii» born on tin- I..u.ml^'.' from

Fiiglaiid to thin •ountry; and greiil (rraiulsou ol

l-:.lw«rd .)tt.k»on,yr.,a very conspit"""'" ''B""'^' '" "'^

early tt)lonial history of this tounty, a companion

of John Eliot and one of the pioneer Hettlers of New-

tun.

.MutthiaH (.Id) increiuted \\i* inlieritanie in ninny

way It. In liin native- town he held i.o«iti..ns of trust

and honor. He wa» ax.s.iwor, soloitnian, town trea-

surer and representative to the (ienoral Court.

To Matth>a-t an.l his wife there were born ei^'ht

i-hildr.n—Mira, Davis, Amasa, Charles, Abigail,

Kdward J. (the subject of this sketch), Ann M., and

Frederick \.

Mira married Uufus MilLs, of Needhani. Davis

moved to Brandi>n, Vt.. and niarric.l the daughter of

Deacon I'alnieler. Amasa joined his brother and like-

wise niarrieil a Brandon lady, the daughter of Deacon

Blackmer. Kor many years the firm of "D. & A.

C<illin.-<" wa-i engaged in the most extensive, lucrative

and well-known grocery and wool business in that sec-

tion of the country. Charles, the fourth diild, died at

the age of twenty-one. Abigail married .loliii Mills,

of Neodham. Ann M. married Amos Lyon, of New

York. Frederick A., the youngest of the children,

and the only survivor of the entire family, has, like

his brother Kdward, made Newton his life-long home.

After completing his education at Deacon Wood-

ward's private school, Frederick spent one winter with

his brothers in Vermont. Returning to Newton the

next spring, he began the manufacture of glue, which

he succes-sfully continued for a number of years.

In 1847 he married Amelia 51., the daughter of

George Revere, of Boston, a lineal descendant of him

who stood

•' Itcnily to ritio alitl Kpread tlu- Hlarm

Tlirough (iTerj- Middloocx village and farm."

Previous to 1801, Frederick served a number of years

on the Board of Assessors, an office he resigned to

fill the position of selectman, a service he rendered

acceptably to the town during the entire war.

After the battle of Gettysburg, together with Thomas

Rice, Jr., Frederick was commissioned to visit that

bloody battle-field and search out and bring home

Newton's dead.

The sad errand was fulfilled, and the bodies of

Hawkes and Cutter were returned to their native tow-n

and sorrowing friends.

Public services w-ere held over the remains and the

day was one of mourning throughout the town.

Frederick was a member of the first board of alder-

men after Newton became a city, and since his retire-

ment from business has resided on the old estate.

Kdward Jackson Collins, the third youngest child

of Hannah and Matthias, was born in Newton, on the

old homestead, April 24, 1811.

Like other country boys of that date, his time was

divided between the farm and the district school. In

the matter of education, however, he enjoyed severall

terms under the late venerable Seth Davis, whose

wise precept* and sound principles laid the corner-

stone of that vast practical knowledge developed by

Mr. Collins in later years.

At the age of twenty-one, together with his friend.

Mat. Mills, of Needham, Kdward started on a jour-

ney through the neighboring States, but spent most

of his time in Maine, with a view of entering the

glue business. Returning home, he put into active

operation his long-cherished idea. He purchased five

acres of land from his father, erected suitable build-

ings, and began in earnest, but in a small way, an in-

dustry which proved very profitable. At this time

there were but few glue-makers in the country. Fish

and bone glues were unknown; and where to-day

there are a hundred extensive manufacturers, there

was then but one—Peter Cooper, of New York.

From a small beginning Mr. Collins constantly in-

creased his business until about 1870, when his public

ofl5ces made so many demands on his time that he dis-

continued.

At the age of thirty-eight Mr. Collins was elected

to his first important political office, of town assessor.

This position he filled until 1S.5(;, wlien he declined to

serve, although elected for that year. In IS.Ol he was

also chosen one of the selectmen and served until

1855, the last year as chairman of that body.

At a meeting of the Newton National Bank, held

October 17, 18.50, Mr. Collins was elected a director

of that institution, only two years after its founda-

tion. Some of his early associates on the Board of

Directors were William Jackson, .John H. Richard-

son, Joseph N. Bacon, Levi Thaxter, Otis Pettee, Al-

len C. Curtis, Edward Walcott, Marshall S. Rice, H.

B. Williams and P. E. Kingman.

As treasurer of the Newton Savings Bank, he suc-

ceeded Deacon Paul, when the project was only in

its infancy. The duties of both these offices Mr.

Collins continued to discharge until his death.

On the 3d of August, 1854, Mr. Collins was married,

at Bradford, Mass., to the beautiful daughter of Capl.

Nathan S. Lunt, of Newburyport. Although Miss

Lunt had only just graduated from Bradford Acad-

emy, and was still quite young, notwithstanding the

fact tnat Mr. Collins was a nuniber of years her sen-

ior, she shrank from no responsibility, but became the

trusted adviser and able coadjutor of her husband. In

after years Mr. Collins' successes, political and finan-

cial, can be traced to the noble, guiding, sustaining

influence of his wife. Coming to Newton early in life,

her associations were centred here, and her friends

were Newton people. She was imbued with a loyal

devotion to Newton and its welfare, which character-

ized her to the last.

Eight years after their marriage a .son and only

child was born.

In 1855 Mr. Collins was elected town treasurer, and

five years later the duties and responsibilities of col-
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lector of taxes were added. Both of these offices he

held continuously until his death, and was best

known, perliaps, in that capacity.

In 1858 and the year following, Mr. Collins was

elected to the General Court, and was present when

John A. Andrew made his famous reply to Cushing.

During the war Mr. Collins' devoted attachment

to his native town displayed itself more conspicu-

ously than at any other time ; for when so much

money was needed for the credit of cities and towns,

he came forward to aid Newton, and with his own

personal endorsement on the notes of the town estab-

lished its credit, so that money could be raised with-

out trouble or delay, and consequently her quota was

always ready.

He also went through the lines to Fortress Monroe,

in order that those men who enlisted from Newton in

the navy might be properly accredited to her (juota.

After the war Mr. Collins was chosen one of the

county commissioners, a position he filled with

marked ability for twelve years. At the expiration

of that time, the duties of treasurer and collector of

taxes had so multiplied and become so complex, th.at

his whole time was taken up in the administration of

these offices. With watchful and jealous care he guard-

ed the financial interests of Newton until the last. He
died in office, at his beautiful Newton home, July 25,

1S71».

After Mr. Collins' death, the settlement and man-

aging of a large estate fell upou his wife. That ability

and zeal that had so often aided her husband, became

her distinguishing peculiarity. In the handling of

the estate and the education of her son she displayed

a business ability and foresight possessed by few

wiimon. Her time and money were given freely to

fiirward any public enterprise. .She was one of the

original trustees of the Newton Cottage Hospital, a

work in which she took the deepest interest. The
iintortuiiate about her were not forgotten, and with

open purse or with word of counsel or encouragement,

she assisted many, and many who came to her with

their trouble. She died at her Newtou residence,

January 22, 1890—fifty four years of age. The entire

estate was inherited by her son, Edward L.

Edward .Jackson Collins was a man of large stature

and a broad mind. Above the petty carpings of the

world, he dealt with great questions or trivial matters

in the same broad way.

Although not a member, he was a regular attend-

ant at Dr. Daniel L. Furbur's Church, Newton
Centre, where for years the Collins family had wor-

shipped, and between the two there existed an

unostentatious but strong attachment.

Personally, Mr. Collins was rather stern and austere,

but back of it all there was the warmest of hearts.

He was a loving husband, a devoted father. How
many were his acts of kindness to others will only be

known to the hundreds the "old Squire "'befriended.

With him the sense of duty was uppermost. The

question was, " Is it right? " and so strong was his will

that, when once determined, nothing could shake him
from his purpose.

For twenty-five years and more Mr. Collins held

continually important positions of honor, trust and
responsibility, and iu them all showed himself effi-

cient, wise and faithful. His integrity was never

questioned—his word never doubted. Whatever po-

sition he held, be seemed to inspire the perfect con-

fidence of all. There seemed to be a combination of

qualities in the nuin's character that commanded pro-

found admiration and respect,—a man of strict in-

tegrity, a man of great capacity. The personal in-

terest he took in the men who went from Newton to

the front from 18(11 to 1865, and in their families, is

the key-note of a (juality that won him hosts of

friends.

His temperament was kind, his manners courteous,

and his ability and probity were characteristics so

marked as to place him above the plane of question

or criticism.

Mr. Collins, as we have seen, was a representative

of the good old .stock which has made Newton noted

for the honesty, enterprise, morality and sobriety of

its people. He possessed little of that brilliancy that

exhausts itself in a few fitful flashes, but his light was
a steady flame that proceeds from the warmth of de-

votion to duty. His principles were surely founded,

and the adverse storms of fate might beat upon it at

will—the rock grew more rounded, but its ba.se was
never shaken.

HON. WILLIAM CLAF[,1N.'

William, son of Hon. Eee Claflin and Sarah

(Adams) Claflin, was born in Milford, Maes., March
t), 1818j in an old-fashioned story-and-a-half house

situated about two miles north of the centre of the

town. In brief outline the record of his early years is

that of the typical New England bred boy. His child-

hood was passed amid rural scenes where pure brac-

ing air and plain nourishing food supplemented the

affectionate parental influences of this country home.

About a mile from his home was located the district

school where he received his first instructions and
where he remained for five or six years, making such

good progress in that time as to be admitted to the

Milford Academy, where he was prepared for college,

and in 1833 entered Brown University. During his

freshman year he sustained a great loss in the death

of his mother, a very estimable woman who was very

anxious that her son should receive a liberal education,

and who through his early school-days secured such

books as would be helpful to him in the prosecution

of his studies.

Being of slight frame and lacking the ruggedness of

physique so necessary to withstand close application

to study, his health failed and he left college to enter

1 CoBtributed.
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the b<K)t, nhi* ami leather m«i)iif«ct<'r>' of his father
'

ia .Milfor.1, Maiw., where he remaiued for throe years,

when, on the ndviee of the family (>hysician, he

ftoujjht by change of scene and travel to regain hii*

heahb, in which he was successful. Mr. Clafl in as-

sociated with him .Meusrs. Howe and Allen at St.

Louis in IMl, in the wliolesale boot, shoe and leather

buKiiie*.". «hi(li concern continued up to 1.SS4. Leaving

St. l.ouiit lui 11 place of residence, he came Kast, and in

IMT entablished himself in Hopkinton, Mass., where

he livwi until l.SM, when he removed to his present

lovely home in Newt<mville, with its beautiful and ex-

tensive ^'roun<ls and its historic associations.

For more thim aiiuarterofa century Mr. Claflin

hiL-. been the senior partner of the Boston lirm o(

William t'latlin, C'oburn A t'o., doing a large and

successful busliie-ss. The members of this firm besides,

Mr. Claflin, are N. V. Coburn, of Newton ; James A.

\V«H)l8on, of Cambridge, and William F. Gregory and

Oliver B. Root, of Framingham.

Mr. Clallin Inis always taken ii great interest in ed-

ucational nuittors, and has contributed liberally to-

wards the maintenance of the public schools as well

as of the higher institutions of learning. From the

organization of Wellcsley College he has been a

member of its Board of Trustees, and has interested

himself in many ways for ite advancement. Upon

the completion of the orgatii/.ation of the Boston

University, .Air. Claflin was chosen a member of its

Board of Trustees, and for several years has been

the president of the Board. While not seeking pub-

lic office, Mr. (_"laflin has held many positions of trust

and honor and has shown himself to be possessed of

administrative ability of a high order. In 1848 he

wa.s chosen to represent the town of Hopkinton in

the Legislature, and its a Frec-Soiler took an import-

ant part in the conduct of aflairs aud was re-elected

succe-Hsively in 1849, 18.50 and 1851, and during these

years was appointed on many of the more important

committees of the House.' He was elected to the

State Senate in 1859, and in 1861 was chosen presi-

dent of that body. In 18(30 he was chosen a delegate

to the Chicago Convention, assisting in the nomina-

tion of Abraham Lincoln for the Presidency of the

United States. He was again chosen a delegate to

the National Convention in 1864, 1868 and 1872.

In 1868 he was made chairman of the National Com-
mittee, and took an active part in the first campaign

for the election of General Grant to the Presidency.

In 1866, '67 and '68 he wa-s Lieutenant-Governor of

Massachusetts. In 1869 he was elected to the highest

office in the gift of the people of the Commonwealth,
and as Governor of the State his administration was

marked by a dignified and sagacious discharge of the

duties incident to this high office. In 1869 Governor
Claflin received the honorary degree of Doctor of

Laws from Harvard University, having also some
time previously received the same degree from Wes-
leyan University.

Governor Claflin early took advanced ground on

the temperance question, aud also was widely known

as an anti-.slavery man all through that period of agi-

tation when loyal adhesion to, and earnest work for,

the emancipation of the black man was likely to

make him unpopular; nevertheless he was always

true to his convictions, and saw the fruition of his

hopes in the enactment of the Emancipation Act

by Congre.is. In 1876 Governor (Jlaflin was elected

Representative to Congress, and re-elected in 1S78,

at the close of which public service he retired to pri-

vate life, universally respected, and is now giving his

attention to his extensive business interests, as well

as meeting the many social demands naturally inci-

dent upon such ]>roniinence.

Governor Clatlin has for many years been connect-

ed with various financial institutions. He has been

a director of the National Hide and Leather Bank

since its organization, and for several years its presi-

dent. He has been a director of the New England

Trust Company; also director in the International

Trust Company, the Boston Five Cent Savings Bank

and other financial institutions.

Governor Clatlin is an influential and consistent

member of the Methodist Church, a genial gentle-

man, easily approached by any one, and ever ready

to extend a helping hand to his fellow-man.

HON. THOMAS KICE.

We may contemplate with great advantage the

personal history of those men who, by their talent.*,

their high standard of honor and their unwearied

industry, have contributed to the material pros-

perity of our country in their own time and have

demonstrated to those who came after them

that the true path to success lies in an undeviating

adherence to the purest and noblest principles of

action. Among the many distinguished sons of New
England whose record is that of a self-educated and

self-made man, who rose to distinction by the practice

of those virtues which in all time must secure the

respect and confidence of all good citizens, was the

subject of this biographical notice.

He was the third son of Thomas and Lydia (Smith)

Rice, and was born in that part of Needham which is

now known as Wellesley Hills, December 20, 1810.

When two months old his father (who was a paper-

maker) moved his family to Newton Lower Falls and

established them in what has since come to be knowtt||

as the " Rice Homestead." Here Thomas, Jr., passed
\

his childhood days, and in due time attended the
j

district school, where, for the most i)art, his school
J

education was acquired. At the age of twelve years
|

he left the public schools and attended, for some

!

time, a private school in West Newton, kept by|

"Master Joseph Jackson."

After leaving this school he went to work in hiai

father's paper-mill, where he mastered the art ofl

i
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paper-making, and where, from 1834 up to the time of

his death, he was enjjaged in the paper business and

became widely and favorably known as an eminent

paper manufacturer, having largo dealings with

numerous customers, executing large contracts, ex-

tending over long periods, in a business-like and satis-

factory manner for more than forty years. The Boston

Daily Transirvpl was [jrinted on paper made in the

establishment of Mr. Rico, and for nearly the whole

of this period he was the directing and coiitrolliug

head. While organizing and carrying on this great

business enterprise he found time to answer to the

call of the citizens of the town for him to take part

in public affairs, and he brought to this work rare

skill and good judgment. For eighteen years he

was a member of the Board of Selectmen, having

been first elected in 1S.'50. Here he labored diligently

and faithfully for the best interests of the town and

was for ten years chairman of the board. In 1857 he

was elected a member of the General Court, serving

in the House for three years and in the Senate for

two years (18G3 and 1861). In 1865-60 he was

chosen a member of the Governor's Council.

During the Civil War he was especially active in

filling the quotas of the town, often working day and

night to accomplish this important work. He was

found almost everywhere in the discharge of these

duties,—now at home arranging to fill up the de-

pleted ranks of the soldiers, now repeatedly at the

front, looking after the necessities of the soldiers,

ministering to their needs, comforting them in

hardship and defeat, looking after the dead and

tenderly conveying their remains to their friends

at home, giving the sorrowing families tender sym-

pathy and material aid. He was indeed a true patriot

and a lover of his country. His younger brother was

Hon. Alexander H. Rice, who was Governor of the

Commonwealth in 1876-78. Thomas was thrice mar-

ried,— first, to Violet Hibbard in 1833 ; second, to

Jerusha (a sister of his first wife), in 1842 ; the third,

to Rebecca R., a niece of Hon. Joseph Breck, of

Brighton, September 24, 1845. She still survives him,

and her children are Edward Thomas, born October

9, 1847, and Frederick William, born January 30,

1850, who died February 17, 1885. The children by

the first wife were Jane Isabella and Edward Everett,

by the second, Mary L. W. Mr. Rice died January

11, 1873, amd was buried in the village cemetery at

Newton Lower Falls. Various associations and
public bodies attended his funeral and passed resolu-

tions testifying to his worth and their sorrow. In one

of the newspapers of Newton there appeared shortly

after his death the following notice, which attests his

worth in the public estimation:

" There were some traits of character in Mr. Rice which were suffi-

ciently remarkable to justify calling special attention to them.
'* No other man of his years, perhajjs, has ever been honored by the

town, by important oiiices during so many yt-ars.

" He had been Chairman of the Board of Selectmen for many con-

secutive years ;
and so well did he fill his office that it is doubtful

whether, oven in Nowton, where there uro so many able men, liis placo

can bo made good.

" It has sometimes boon said that ho was fond of odlco ; but it was
evident it was not altogotbor for tho sako of oHiue, lie had

great prido in having the business of the town done in tho best possible

manner, and was always ready to give tinio and strength to secure

this. Nothing was neglected in any department with which ho Inid to

do. Whether it was an olhco of greater or lesser honor, all its drudgery,

even, was done with a fidelity wtirthy of tho noblest cause.

" His familiarity with the busin'-sM of the town was such, tliat when-
ever any man sat down to converse w itli him, he would feel at once that

he was talking with one who knew his business thoroughly. This was
often apparent when some one would come before tho Solectnien who
felt that ho bad been wronged. The patient, clear and unlmpassioned

way in which he would preseiit the case, would almost invariably con-

vince the aggrieved that he not only had not been wronged, but In many
instances, that he had got even more than he deserved.

"Let the young men who may follow him remember that this is tho

road to success and honor that is fadeless.—EniToB."

GEORGE HYDE.

George Hyde is one of the solid men of Newton.
His ancestor, Samuel Hyde, who came from England
in 1639, was the second settler of Newton. This Sam-
uel Hyde bought 250 acres of land in Newton in

1652 for £50, and the subject of our sketch, in the

seventh generation, still occupies a portion of the an-

cestral estate.

His father, Samuel Hyde, married Lucy Hall, she,

as well as her husband, being born in Newton. They
had six children—Samuel, Fanny, Pj.rtheuia V., Ed-
ward, Mary K. and George, who was born Ajii-il, 1810,

and has consequently passed his eightieth year. He
married Rebecca D. Child, in 1839. She was born in

Newton, January 18, 1812, and is still living. They
have three children—Fannie A., Charlotte W. and

Samuel. Mr. Samuel Hyde, the father of George,

was a farmer and nurseryman, being among the first

to engage in the latter business. When advancing

age suggested relaxation from the more active duties

of business, the two sons, Samuel and George, took

the farm and nursery, and carried on a successful

business for many years. The survivor, George Hyde,

continued it several years after the death of his elder

brother Samuel.

Land in that part of the town had been increasing

in value year by year, so that at his decease Samuel,

father of George, left a valuable property to be divided

among his children, and George moved into the house

formerly occupied by his father, beside which stands

one of the largest elms to be found in Middlesex

County. He enjoyed the successful business in which

he was engaged, and, during the many years that he

followed it, contributed much to make his native

town, as well as many other places, more beautiful

by the trees, shrubs and plants th?,t were sent out

from his reliable establishment.

He never sought office, but his townsmen, knowing
his character for uprightness and honesty, sought

him, and he served for several years as selectman and
assessor, and that too at a time when it was more of

an honor to occupy such official positions than it

seems to be at the present day. He was one of the
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original projeitore nf what is now the Newton National

Bank, lirnt orRiinize.! an a .StJito Uanlc, and lias boon a

JiriHtor in the »aiuo almoat from the start to the pres-

ent time, and his services have contributed very much

to itD succees. In 1S.'>8 he was elected president of

Newton SavinfTit Hank, of which he had been a trus-

tee for several years previously.

Under his ailniiniHtration, assisted by faithful asso-

ciates, this bank ha:* prospered far beyond the expec-

t«tionit of its original cori«oraU>rs, and ha."! on deposit

at the present time nearly $l!,l)lK),OO0.

Though advanced in years, he gives daily attention

to this institution, w hieh Ikus become his pel and pride.

Alw.Hvs careful and conservative, and yet not uarrow-

minded, the public have come to have great confidence

in him, and he is universally respected by all who

know him. He has not been a great traveler, but has

preferred the tpiiot of a linppy home and the constant

and faithful care of his own business, as well as all

matters entrusted to him. He is one of the old school

of gentlemen, of which so few remain. Nearing the

end, he nuiy with jiardonable pride look back upon a

well-rounded life, feeling that he has served his gen-

eration faithfully and well. He will be greatly

missed and sincerely mourned when the time of his

departure shall come.

HON. .lAMES F. <. HYDE.'

James F. C. Hyde was born in Newton July 26,

1825. His ancestor was Jonathan Hyde, who came

from Kngland and settled in what is now Newton in

lt!47, being the fourth settler, while his brother

.Samuel wiu! the second. They purihased 240 acres of

land, which they owned in common till KJGl. Jona-

than, by 8ub8e<|ueiit additional purchases, became the

owner of several hundred acres. He lived on what

is now Homer Street, about sixty rods north of the

ohi First Church. He had two wives and "twenty-

three children, all of whom, with one exception, bore

Scripture names."

He gave a large part of the present Common at

Newton Centre for a training-field. He died at the

age of eighty-five years. His son John married and

had six children, and died aged eighty-two.

Timothy, the son of John, married and had several

children, among whom was Elisha. Elisha's oldest

child wa-s Thaddeus, who married Elizabeth Grimes.

Thaddeus died aged seventy, and Elizabeth lived to

be ninety-eight. They had four children, the oldest

being James, the father of James F. C. Hyde, who,
therefore, is of the seventh generation from the fourth

settler of Newton.

James Hyde, the father, married Clarice Clarke,

daughter of Norman Clarke (1818), and they had uine

children. She died at the age of sixty-seven, and he
lived to be eighty-nine years old.

'Contributed.

John Clarke, the ancestor of Clarice Clarke, was in

Newton as early a.s lt>81, removing from Watertowii.

Norman Clarke, the father of Clarice, and grand-

father of James F. C, was selectman for three years,

and held other offices, and was a large land-owner,

leaving to his heirs about 400 acres that had been in

the family from before 1700. The subject of this

sketch lives on a part of this land, and only across

the street from where he was born. He may well be

classed :us a native of Newton. He descended from

good stock on both sides, his ancestors being promi-

nent men in their day.

In 1854 Mr. Hyde married Sophia Stone, daughter

of Jonathan Stone, who descended from one of the

early settlers of Newton. She died in 1800, leaving

two chijdren,—(Uarice S. Hyde, who married James

M. Estes, and died leaving one child (Frederick J.

Este.s), and Elliott J. Hyde, who lives near his father

and is in business with him.

In 18()1 Mr. Hyde married Emily Ward, who was

a descendant, in the seventh generation, of ,Iohn

Ward, who settled in Newton (then New Cambridge)

in the year lt!50. She was a graduate of the Normal

School in West Newton, and was a teacher for several

years in Manchester, N. H., and Boston. Four chil-

dren have been born to them, two. of whom survive,

Mary E. and Frank C, who are now living at home.

Mi. Hyde's father was a farmer and a nurseryman,

being among the first in the State to engage in the lat-

ter business. He brought up his children on the farm,

and when his son, James F. C, was seventeen years

of age, took him in as a partner in the business. This

son did not intend to be a farmer or nurseryman, but

to study law, if he could see his way clear to get an

education, for up to this time he had atter;ded only

the district school, with the exception of one year

at the academy of the late Marshall S. Rice ; but one

day, as he was about to leave home, his father said to

him :
" Francis, your mother and I think it is your

duty to stay at home and take care of us." Without

a minute's hesitation he decided to do so, saying

:

"All I am I owe to you, and I cannot do too much
for you." It was a great satisfaction to him to be able

to care for them as long as they lived, though it

changed all the plans of his life. Starting in business

for himself at an early age, with limited means, and

perhaps still more limited education, he worked days

and studied nights, often working fourteen hours out

of the twenty-four, and studying three or four, giving

himself but few hours for sleep. This he followed for

many years, and was able to acquire a large amount
of general information.

When asked by a friend how he had been able to

obtain such an amount of general knowledge, he re-

plied, " By keeping my eyes and ears open to see and
hear, and often opening my mouth to ask questions."

He has in later years been often introduced to aud-

iences as the " walking encycloptedia."

At the early age of fifteen, in 1840, he took a very

u
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active interest in politics, and from tliat time on at-

tended caucuses and political meetings, and was gen-

erally at the polls distributing ballots, even befjj^re he

was a voter.

His father was a Whig and he quite naturally fol-

lowed his example. Subsequently, when the old party

was dissolved, he became a member of the great Re-

publican party.

Smith, in his " History of Newton," says, in speaking

of Mr. Hyde: " His energy of character and adminis-

trative talent brought him early to the notice of the

public." At the age of twenty-nine he was elected

moderator of the town-meeting, and for nineteen suc-

cessive years he was elected to the same position with

only four exceptions, and those when he could not

serve.

He was elected selectman also at the age of twenty-

nine—one of the youngest ever called to that otHce^

and remained on the board for sixteen consecutive

years. During the War of the Rebellion he was very

active in recruiting to fill the large quota of Newton,

and all the State aid for many years was disbursed by

him. He knew the larger part of the men who went

from Newton, and their families. He visited them at

the front to look after their comfort. At thirty-one

years of age he was elected representative to the Mas-

sachusetts General Court and subsequently re-elected.

He was for some years a member of the School Com-

mittee, had charge of a large portion of the highways

and constructed new roads for the town while select-

man.

He has been balloted for by the town and city of

Newton for various positions more than fifty times,

and never was defeated when a candidate.

He served two terms, of three years each, on the

State Board of Agriculture, being appointed by the

Governor as one of the " delegates-at-large," the

other general delegates being Prof. Agassiz and Col.

M. P. Wilder.

For four years he was president of the Massachu-

setts Horticultural Society, and for several years, at

two different times, president ot the Newton Horti-

cultural Society, which held its first meeting at his

house, and which he was active in organizing.

He has been a director in two national banks and

is now a director in the John Hancock Life Insur-

ance Company and one of the Building Committee

appointed to erect their large building on Devonshire

Street, Boston.

For many years he has been a director in the

Quincy Mutual Fire Insurance Company, trustee

and one of the Investment Committee of Newton
Savings Bank, whose deposits have increased since

he became associated with it, from twenty-seven

thousand to nearly two million dollars.

He was chiefly instrumental in organizing a Con-

• gregational Church at Newton Highlands in 1872,

which began with twenty-nine members and has now
nearly two hundred.

In six weeks he procured pledges—including his

own subscription—of over thirteen thousand dollars

with which to erect a church, and was chairman of

the committee to build the same. Since the start he

has been deacon in the church and for many years

was on the Parish Committee looking after the

finances.

He has a large class of men in the Sabbath-school,

and has scarcely ever been absent from his place.

For many years he has been agricultural editor

of The Congregationalist, and has written a great deal

for other papers.

He is the oldest member of the Board of Trustees

of the Newton Cemetery Corporation, a position he

has ably filled for many years. He has also been on

the Finance Committee for several years.

He was the foremost in making Newton a city, and

receiv'^d all but thirteen of the votes cast for the first

mayor and was re-elected by almost as unanimous a

vote. He declined to serve longer, though strongly

pressed to do so.

Smith, in his " History of Newton " says :
" As the

first mayor of the city of Newton, he (Mr. Hyde) ad-

ministered the important trust with wisdom and pru-

dence, counseling economy, integrity and faithful-

ness, and illustrating these qualities in his official

conduct."

When twenty-six years of age he was appointed

auctioneer by the selectmen unsolicited, and accepted

the appointment, and has continued that business

until the present time. About the same time he was '

appointed justice of the peace, and later served as

trial justice for six years. He also received, unso-

licited, several appointments as insurance agent,

and is now actively engaged as such for sixteen differ-

ent companies.

Frequently he was called upon to settle estates,

appraise property, act as commissioner to divide real

estate, to testify as expert and in many similar matters,

until it became necessary to decide whether he wonld

continue his farming and nursery business, or practi-

cally give it up, and devote himself to other affairs.

He chose the latter, and since, for many years, has

carried on a large business in real estate at private

sale and at auction, as well as placing insurance and

mortgages, conveyancing and attending to all matters

connected with the sale and management of real

estate.

In all these years he has kept up an active interest

in agriculture, horticulture and floriculture. It is

said that on the old homestead where he was born

he cultivates about a thousand named plants and

trees.

He has devoted special attention to native plants,

and spends much of his vacation time in tramping

over the country with trowel and basket in hand.

He probably has a larger collection of wild flowers

than can be found outside of a botanical garden. It

is said that everything grows for him. His excellent
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It olleii surprises his friends, as well us strangers,

to hear him give llie scientific name of almost every

plant that grows in this part of the country. Though

sixty-live years old, he is as diligent as ever before in

his life, carrying on his mind a great amount of the

details of business.

Mr. Hyde is a very decided man, always having an

opinion of his own, an<l generally earnest to have

others see thingj as he sees them.

He frequently says, with some degree of jiride, that

he never uses tobacco iu any form or spirituous or in-

toxicating liquors, never goes to the theatre or drives

fast horses or indulges in any other of the modern

vices or follies. He has no time for such things.

It might be well for young men to keep such an

example in view. He is prompt and exact in keep-

ing his word, and is always very much disturbed if

others do not.

Mr. Hyde enjoys the respect of his fellow-towns-

men to a remarkable degree. He is a self-made man,

if there ever was one. Starting without money, edu-

cation or influential friends, by hard work and force

of character he has placed himself among the most

influential citizens of his native city. Such an ex-

ample is surely worthy of imitation. The world is

certainly better for such a life, and may it be con-

tinued a-s long as it can be useful.

ta«-e for arranginR flowers liss i..cn .-ii..,, „ ... ihc conlined to his bed one day by sickness since he can

beautiful bouqu.-tH which he hasgenerously furnished remember, and he has a ren>arkable niemory

r.ir umny years f>r the church which he attends. " '" "
" '"'

He Wttii presidiiil i>f the (.;ongregational Club of

Uuaton one year, -as long as the constitution allows

any penwm to fill that oflice.

Ho ^u^,'gl•^'l*'l. through the press, the formation of

UMiniilar club for the seven t Congregational Churches

of Ni-wtou, anil took steps to organize the same, and

W.1S its lirst president.

Whou the town couiiueinorated the centennial of

an importimt event iu its history, Mr. Hyde was

selected to prepare and deliver the address, and

again, at the two hundredth anniversary of the incor-

poration of the town, he was appointed to render a

similar service. Trobably no one is more conversant

with the history of Newton, or has a more ardent

love for his native town than Mr. Hyde.

In his inaugural address the second year that he

was mayor, he advised making the Newton Library,

which had been established and supported by private

subscription up to that time, a free city library, which

recommendation wi« adopted, and the following year

carried into eflect.

He ssw the necessity of increased railroad accom-

modations—though there were already two railroads

running through the city, one on the north side and

one on the south—and realized the importance of

connecting the two, thus securing a circuit road unit-

ing the many villages ofNewton by iron bands. Al-

most alone, he labored for five years with no expec-

tation of conpensation, to accomplish this desirable

object, and though no one but him.self believed he

would succeed, and he was often ridiculed for his

folly in atteujpting .such a thing, he accomjilished his

object, and the Circuit Railroad wis opened for travel

in 188(), thus giving Newton three newstatious, mak-

ing twelve in all.

It was remarked by one of Newton's distinguibhed

men, that" no three things that could be done for

Newton would be ofso great benefit as the Circuit Rail-

road."

Though a very busy man, as this sketch implies, he

has found time to give many public addresses in dif-

ferent parts of the State on a variety of subjects, but

especially on those relating to the cultivation of the

soil and kindred matters.

He has been diligent in business since lii.>! earliest

maidiood ; but it has never been his chief aim in life

to "get rich," in the modern acceptation of that term,

but he has been content with acquiring a moderate

competence. He takes delight in hard work and
plenty of business, his chief recreation being found

in hisgarden, where he seeks to spend a little time

daily during the open season.

.No man seems to enjoy nature more than he, and he
does what he can to lead others to follow his excel-

lent example.

He has had remarkable health, not having been

NATHANIEL TOPLIFF ALLEN.

Nathaniel Toplill' Allen, son of Ellis and Lucy

(Lane) Allen, was born in Medfiekl, Norfolk County,

Massachusetts, September 29, 1823. His native

homestead farm, purchased from the Indians, has

been owned and tilled by seven generations of Aliens,

noted for longevity, sterling common sense and rug-

ged worth ; and there, during his minority, the sub-

ject of this sketch, followed the pursuits of his ances-

tors, and laid the foundation of a remarkably vigorous

constitution. Portions of three years of his minority

were spent in a Waltham cotton-mill, where was

acquired a knowledge of textile manufacture; he

received agood common-school education in thepublic

schools, in a family school of Rev. Joseph Allen, at

Northboro', and at Northfield Academy. After three

successful seasons in charge of schools, and having

chosen to become a teacher, he continued his pro-

fessional studies in the Bridgewaler Normal School,

under Nicholas Tillinghast, and in the Rensselaer

Polytechnic Institute, at Troy, N. Y. After teach-

ing in the common district and singing-schools at

Mansfield, Northboro', Northfield and Shrewsbury,

Mass., until the spring of 1848, he was appointed by

Horace Mann, of the State Board of Education, to

the charge of the model department of the Normal

School at West Newton. This position he tilled with

marked ability for nearly six years, when, in conuec-
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tion with Cyrus Pierce, father of American normal

scliools, he established the institution of which asso-

ciated with his brother James T. Allen, he is the

principal,

—

" The West Newton English and Classi-

cal School." Mr. Allen has been one of the most

progressive and successful educators of the last half-

century, always advocating the liberal and thorough

co-education of the sexes, and ready to introduce into

his own school whatever proved to be sound in theory

and useful in practice. This school, with its indus-

trial department, at the lioraestead in Medfield, which

is under the care of his brother, Joseph A. Allen,

draws students from a wide region,—the last enroll-

ment, 1890, showing boys and girls from seventeen

of the United States, from Canada, Cuba, Montevi-

deo (South America), Sweden, Spain and Italy. The
remarkable success attending Mr. Allen's career has

not been achieved through any hap-hazard influences.

The make-up of his character was well provided for

by a sturdy ancestry.

On the paternal side he traces his lineage through

seven generations to the Puritans of 1640, and on the

maternal side to the Pilgrims of Plymouth.

James Allen, an emigrant from England (1640),

settled in Dedhani, where his cousin, John Allen,

was the first minister and a co-laborer with John

Eliot among the Indians.

In 1649 James made one of seven families who
settled Medfield. He purchased land of the Indians

and built his house on the spot where the present

homestead stands, now owned by the Allen Brothers,

Nathaniel and Joseph, the latter and his children, of

the eighth generation, are its present occupants.

The longevity of this family is remarkable. De-

veloped through generations of sturdy adherence to

the laws of health, being neither by wealth tempted

to idleness and dissipation, or by poverty debarred

from healthful .social enjoyments, they were accustom-

ed to plain living and high thinking.

In the sixth generation, to which Mr. Allen's father

belonged, and in the family of six sons and two

daughters, death did not invade the circle for seven

ty-eight years, when the Kev. Joseph Allen, D.D., of

Northboro', died ; four of the sons died at eighty-

three; one. Rev. Wm. W. Allen, became the oldest

living graduate of Harvard, dying at ninety-three

years, while the youngest is living at eighty -three

;

the daughters died—one in infancy, and one at ninety

years.

Mr. Allen's mother died from an accident at nine-

ty-six years, wanting twenty-five days, in full posses-

sion of her faculties, and leaving seventy-eight de-

scendants.

The seventh generation, of which Mr. Allen is a

member, consisting of five sons and three daughters,

was exempt from death's visitation for fifty-seven years.

The late Dio Lewis, M.D., pronounced Nathaniel

one of the strongest and most enduring men he had
ever known.

A fine physique, cheery, mirth-enjoying and mirth-

producing spirit, financial independence, high moral,

progressive and reformatory ideas have distinguished

Mr. Allen.

He is distinguished by the above characteristics and
has ever been prominent in moral reform.s—theologi-

cal—peace, anti-slavery, temperance, woman suffrage,

civil service and tariti'.

The same spirit actuates him which caused his an-

cestors, Puritan and Pilgrim, to contend for an im-

proved condition. It would be dillicult, if not im-

possible, to find another person of Mr. Allen's age

with so many warm personal friends. In every city

throughout the country, from JIaine to California and
from Canada to Texas, those are found.

During a busy life in the class-room, he has held

many other positions of responsibility
;
[he has been

president of the board of directors of the Pomroy
Newton Home for Orphan and Destitute Girls

since it was founded, sixteen years ago ; is also the

president of the Newton Woman's Suffrage Associ-

ation and a director in the American Peace Society.

He was trustee of the Boston College of Physicians

and Surgeons, and a member of the committee of ex-

amination in natural science at Harvard.

Mr. Allen was a Garrisonian abolitionist and
an officer of the society when in those days it

cost something to be identified with men of their

belief. He was many times mobbed when in their

comimny, and naturally became an early member of

the Free-Soil party.

In 1869, having been appointed an agent of the

Commissioner of Public Education by Hon. Henry
Barnard, Mr. Allen went abroad and spent two years

in studying the school systems of England, Scotland,

Ireland, France, Italy, Austria, and in particular of

what is now included in the German Empire.

The results of his observations of the secondary

schools, Gymnasia, Real- and Volks-Schulen of Prus-

sia, Saxony and Nassau are preserved in a valu-

able report published and distributed by order of the

Secretary of the Interior.

Mr. Allen was married, March 30, 1853, to Caroline

Swift, daughter of James Nye and Rebecca (Free-

man) Bassett, of Nantucket, and of their children,

Fanny Bassett, Sarah Caroline and Lucy Ellis are

living ; Nathaniel Topliff, their son, died in 1865.

EDWIN BRADBURY HASKELL.

Edwin Bradbury Haskell was born in Livermore

(then Oxford, afterwards Kennebec and now Andros-

coggin County), Me., August 24, 1837. His father was

Moses Greenleaf Haskell, who was for the most of his

life a country merchant in that town. His paternal

grandfather, William Haskell, was born in Glouces-

ter, Mass., and emigrated when a young man to the

District of Maine, about the time that the General

Court of Massachusetts gave to the people of Glou-
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i-wter Ik t.iwi:«lii|> >u the then iiluiu»t wild "district,'

which urtiTwtirdt becniiie New Gloucester, Me., as a

rewanl lor their great services in the lUvolutioiiary

War. -Mr. Hankeirs mother was Rosilla Haiaes.

daughter of t'ai.taiii Peter Haines, who emigrated

from liilniantoii, X. H., to ^fiiine about 1700, bought

a «inari- mile of lanil on the Androscoggin River, in

wh&t is now tiast Livcrmore, where he brought up a

large family of children, most of whom settled about

him, and left a handsome estate and a highly respected

name. On Ixith sides this was sturdy New England

stwk of the earlier English immigrations—1G30 to

n;4i» -and from the enterprising young people of that

slock who coiupiered the virgin Maine wilderness

came a yeomanry of sound minds in sound bodies

which has since made its mark throughout the coun-

try. Mr. Haskell was educated in the district school

and at Kent'.* Hill Seminary, where he was fitted for

college at the age of si.\teen, having shown a special

aptitude for mathematics. Not having the promise

of pecuniary assistance for a college course, he was

easily induced by his cousin, Zenas T. Haines, after-

wards well known in the journalism of Boston, to

enter the office of the" Portland Advertiser and learn

to be a printer. At the end of a year, having learned

what he could of the printer's art in a daily newpaper

office, he went, with a single companion, to New Or-

leans, where i)rinters were much better paid in those

days, and worked as a journeyman in that city and in

Baton Rouge from the autumn of 1855 until the fol-

lowing summer. In.August, 1856, he came to Boston

and took a situation as a compositor on the Saturday

Evening Gazetti-, which was at that time a most re-

spectable ]>aper publi.^hcd by William W. Clapp. In

the spring of 1857 he was employed by the Boston

Journal as printer and reporter, and after the first

year wholly as a reporter. In the spring of 1860 he

received an advantageous offer to become a reporter

on the Boston Herald, then owned by Edwin C. Bai-

ley, and in the following year was made one of the

editorial writers, and practically the head of that de-

partment. In 1861 Mr. Haskell, with his associate,

George M. Tileston, helped to raise the Eleventh

Regiment, JIassachusetts Volunteers, and intended to

go to the field with it, but resigned his commission to

another who had had military training. In 1865 Mr.

Bailey proposed to sell the Herald, on account of fail-

ing health, and Mr. Haskell made up what would

have been called at a later period a "syndicate" to

purchase it. Some changes were made in the persons,

Mr. Bailey wishing to i)ut in his brother, who was
foreman in the composing-room, and his cashier, the

late Royal M. Pulsifer, and with these modifications

the trade was promptly carried through, for one-third

interest in the paper; the other two-thirds were pur-

chased four years later. Mr. Haskell's associates were
Royal M. Pulsifer, Justin Andrews, Charles H. An-
drews and George G. Bailey. Mr. Bailey and Justin

Andrews sold out their interests a few years after, re-

tiring with competencies, and the other three partners

continued together until 1887.

Mr. Haskell's chief work in life was editor of the

Boston Herald from 1865 to 1887. With a mind nat-

urally inclined to see the arguments on both sides of

a question, and with strong convictions of the right,

he made the Herald entirely independent of parties,

but always a consistent advocate of certain well-

defined principles in j^lation to public affairs. Among
these were universal suffrage, local self-government,

honest currency, civil service reform and low tariff,

with free trade as the ultimate goal to be reached.

The Jferald was, at the same time, one of the most

enterprising newspapers in the country, and soon

became the leading journal in New England, with a

circulation and influence scarcely second to that of

any other paper in the country.

As an editorial writer Mr. Haskell was, in the words

of one who knew him well, "terse and direct, going

to the core of the theme under discussion, and his

keen sense of humor was a no Jess noticeable trait of

his professional outfit." He was especially well in-

formed, clear and incisive on economic questions.

Mr. Haskell sold out his interest in the Herald in the

autumn of 1887, owing to the unfortunate financial

complications of his partner, Mr. Pulsifer, but re-

sumed his proprietorship the following spring, when '

the Boston Herald Company was incorporated, and

became a director in the company. His retirement

from the editorship was permanent, and he was suc-

ceeded by his friend and associate for years, Mr. John

H. Holmes.

Mr. Haskell has made investments in other suc-

cessful newspapers, and is a large owner in the 3Iin-

neapolis Journal and St. Joseph News. He was at one

time the largesc stockholder in the Minneapolis Tri-

bune, of which his sou, William E. Haskell, was

editor.

Mr. Haskell's fortunate business and professional

career has been happily matched by his social and

domestic life at his elegant and beautiful home,
" Vista Hill," overlooking the Charles River valley,

in Auburndale, Newton.

In 1877 and 1878, accompanied by his family and a

small retinue of friends, he made a tour of Europe,

lasting some thirteen months. Hence the unique de-

scriptive serial sketches published in the Herald of '

the "Adventures of the Scribbler Family Abroad."

In 1882 he declined a nomination to Congress,

which would have been equivalent to an election, i

preferring his editorial position to what he held to be

a more limited field of usefulness and honor.

Mr. Haskell was married, in August, 1861, to Celia,

daughter of Jonas and Joanna (Hubbard) Hill, of

Fayette, Maine. Of this union there were seven

children, of whom four are living (in 1890). The eld-

est, William Edwin, graduated at Harvard in 1884, i

and settled in Minneapolis. He was for a time editor

of the Minneapolis Tribune, and is one of the owners
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of the Minneapolis Journal. The second, Harry Hill,

is a graduate of Harvard, '90, and is destined for the

medical profession. The youngest children are Mar-

garet, born 1874, and Clarence Greenleaf, born in

1880.

Mr. Haskell has made some railroad investments

by virtue of which he is vice-president of the South

Florida Railroad Company and a director of the

Plant Investment Company. In local affairs he is

president of the Newton Cemetery Corporalioii, pres-

ident of the Newton Jersey Stock Club, and President

of the Board of Trustees of the Newton Free Library.

HON. LEVI e. WADE.'

Hon. Levi ('. Wade, of Newton, who was Speaker

of the Massachusetts House of Representatives in

1879, and has since become even more widely known
as president of the Mexican Central Kailway, was

bom January Ui, 1843, in Allegheny City, Pennsyl-

vania, but is a member of an old Middlesex County

family. His father, Levi Wade, whose ancestors were

among the early inhabitants and largest land-owners

of Med ford, was born in 1812 in Woburn, to which his

immediate ancestors had removed in the latter half of

the eighteenth century. He is still living in Alle-

gheny City, having retired from business thirty years

ago, after a highly successful career as a merchant

and manufacturer in the neighboring city of Pitts-

burgh. His uncle, Colonel John Wade, who was

born in 1780 and died in 1858, was one of the wealth-

iest and most prominent residents of Woburn. To
those who were familiar with this v/ell-knowu gentle-

man, who w.as for fourteen years one of the Woburn
selectmen, twelve years town treasurer, seventeen

years representative to the General Court, two years

in the State Senate, and seventeen years postmaster,

his relationship with the subject of our sketch will

be a matter of some interest, and they will not fail to

detect points of resemblance between the two men.

Hon. Levi C. Wade, however, is a stanch Republi-

can, while Colonel John Wade was a Democrat. He
was a tall and well-made gentleman, very neat in his

dress and habits, and so crisp in speech at times that

some of his sayings are still ma'ters of tradition in

Woburn. By shrewd investments in real estate Col-

onel John became one of the wealthiest men in his

part of the county.

The mother of Hon. Levi C. Wade was A. Annie
(Rogers) Wade, well known in Pittsburgh for her

musical and literary attainments aud her activity in

benevolent enterprises. She was born in 1819, mar-
ried to Levi Wade in 1838 and is still living with the

husband of her youth. One of her ancestors was
Rev. John Rogers, of Ipswich, who became president

of Harvard College, and whose ancestry is traced by
some to John Rogers, the martyr of Smithtield.

1 Contributed.

Levi C. Wade was educated in the public schools

and was fitted for college by private tutors, entering

Yale in 18GL' and graduating with the degree of A.B.

in 18t)G. While in college he took prizes in English

composition, debate and declamation; was one of the

editors of the Yale Literary Magitzine, and was active

and prominent in athletic sports.

It is interesting to note the difierent stages of

development in the early career of a man like Jlr.

Wade, who is at one and the same time a student and
an unusually successful man of affairs. He first came
to Newton in October, 1866, for the purpose of study-

ing at the Theological Seminary, under a promise that

he would devote at least two years to theological

.study. He studied Greek and Hebrew exegesis the

first year under Dr. H. B. Hackett, and studied

theology the second year under Dr. Alvah Hovey.

But as soon as the two years agreed upon were com-
pleted he devoted his attention to the law and was

admitted to practice in the Supreme Judicial Court
of Massachusetts in September, 1S73. While study-

ing law, IMr. Wade taught school in Newton, being

principal of the Grammar School at Newton Upper
Falls for five years. In 1877 he formed a partnership

with Hon. J. Q. A. Brackett, now Governor of Mas.sa-

chusetts, and the legal firm of Wade & Brackett con-

tinued until 1880, when Mr. Wade retired from

general practice and has since devoted his attention

to railway law and active railway management.

Mr. Wade was representative to the General Court

from Newton for the four successive years, 1876, 1877,

1878 and 1879. He was Speaker of the House in

1879 and declined a re-election to accept the position

of attorney for various railroad companies. During
his service in the Legislature there was no work in

which he took a greater degree of pride than his suc-

cessful eflbrt with others to effect a change of the

statute whereby an unfortunate, but honest debtor,

could be arrested upon mere belief that he had prop-

erty which might be used for the payment of the

debt. This law existed upon the Massachusetts statute-

books as late as 1878, and Mr. Wade secured its repeal

in the House of Representatives in the face of power-

ful opposition. The same public-spirited traits are

conspicuous in Mr. Wade to-day, and while pres-

ident of the Mexican Central Railway, a director of

the Atchison, Topeka and Santa Fe, Atlantic and
Pacific Railways and other great enterprises, he is also

one of the water commissioners of the city of New-
ton, a director in that excellent institution, the Gen-
eral Theological Library in Boston, and he is, and
has been from its beginning, one of the vice-presi-

dents of the Newton Club, the leading social organi-

zation in the city where he resides. He was also one

of the building committee who erected the Young
Women's Christian Association building in Boston

on Berkeley and Appleton Streets.

Mr. Wade was married, November Ifi, 1869, to

Margaret R., daughter of Hon. Wm. and Lydia H.
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(lilliul) Koger*. ol liaili, -Uo. Mib. W ii<li- s nuiliiir

wiu a .li-Mcemliiiil ofJolm ICUiot, tlio famous mission-

»ry to tin- In.liuns in New England anJ translator of

thu iDiiiiin Bible. The children of Hon. Levi C.

Wade are .Vrlhur C. Wade, born May 4, 1875 ;
Wil-

liam U. Wilde, born September 6, 1881 ;
Levi C. Wade,

Jr., born .Inly lii, ISSJi; and Robert N. Wade, born

CK-tobor I'U', 1887. Two danghters, the oldest of whom

was born in 1870, died iu infancy.

Mr. Wade's name is nearly as well known in Mex-

ico as in the United States, he being president of what

is our sister republic's largest institution except the

government itself. He was one of the four original

projectors and owners of wliat is now the Mexican

Central Kailway Company, and has been the presi-

dent anil general counsel of that company since Au-

gust, 1884. When he was placed at the head of its

afTairs the first mortgage bonds of the corporation

were in default and there was a floating debt of more

than two millions of dollars. Since that time the

company's financial allairs have been thoroughly re-

organized, branch lines have been built, the value of

the property hasi increa.sed over thirty million of

dollars and its bonds have become a popular interest-

paying investment. In December, 188(i, Mr. Wade
went to London and interested prominent foreign

bankers and financiers in the property, so that the

Mexican Central securities are now as well known

in London as in Boston and New York, and are listed

at the slock exchanges of all three cities. More re-

cently Mr. Wade has obtained from the Mexican

government for the Mexican Central Company a con-

cession to deepen the entrance of Tampico harbor,

on the (iulf of Mexico. The Tampico Harbor Com-
pany has been organized for the purpose, and Jetties

are now being constructed there, similar to those

which were so successfully employed by Capt. Edes

at the South Pass of the Mississippi.

All of this great pecuniary success and honorable

distinction in the financial world which Mr. Wade
has achieved since he retired from the general prac-

tice of law and from politics in 1880 covers a period

of but ten years, and even during that time he has

never lost sight of his dutie.s as a citizen or of his

interest in public affairs. After his marriage in 1869

he built a small house at Newton Upper Falls and

resided there until 1881, when he began acquiring

the nucleus of his present beautiful estate (Home-
wood) at Oak Hill. This property comprises 225

acres, about a mile and a half from the Newton

C cnire station. There arc over 100 acres of forest,

and the mansion, which is a rambling country house,

commands beautiful views of the neighboring cities

and towns. Wirh the exception of a brief residence

in Dedham and Brooklinc, while building at Home-
wood, Mr. Wade has resided in Newton since Septem-

ber, 186G.

REV. S. F. SMITH, D.D.

Rev. S. F. Smith was born in Boston October 21,

1808, fitted for college at the Public Latin School and

graduated at Harvard University iu 1829, and An-
dover Theological Seminary in 1832. After a. year

spent in Boston in editorial labors he was ordained

pastor of the First Baptist Church, Waterville, Maine,

at the beginning of the year 18H4, at the same time

entering upon the duties of Professor of Modern Lan-

guages in Waterville College (now Colby University),

and during the year 1841 taught all the Greek in the

college. In 1842 he became pastor of the First Bap-

tist Church in Newton Centre, and at the same time

editor of the Christian Review. The pastoral relation

continued for over twelve years, and was followed by

a service of fifteen years of editorial labor in connec-

tion with the periodicals of the Baptist Missionary

Union. Dr. Smith has been a profuse contributor to

the periodicals aud other literature of his time, and

has continued without intermission, except during one

year (1875-76) spent iu Europe in the service of the

pulpit. In 18.31 he was in connection with the late

Lowell Mason, engaged in the preparation of the
" Juvenile Lyre," the first publication in this country

devoted to music for children, most of the songs in

which were his translation from German songs or im-

itations adapted to the German music of Niigeli and

others. Many hymns from his pen are found in the

various church collections. The well-known compo-

sition, " My country, 'tis of thee," was written by him

in 1832, and first used at a children's celebration of

American independence in Park Street Church, Bos-

ton, in the same year. The publications of Dr. Smith

are " Life of Rev. Joseph Grafton,'' " Lyric Gems,"

"Rock of Ages," ''Missionary Sketches " and numer-

ous periodicals and sermons ; also in 1880, the " His-

1

tory of Newton." Dr. Smith has also contributed

valuable chapters to the present " History of Middle-

sex County."

'

1 From " Histoi-y of Newton,'" by permigaion.

;>,

It.
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CHAPTER XIII.

ARLINGTON.

BY JAMES P. PARMENTER, A.M.

Arlington is, in extent of territory, one of the

smaller towns of Middlesex County. It lies in the

southeastern part of the county ; is hounded hy Win-

chester and Medford on the north, by l\[edford, Som-

erville and Camliridge on the east, by iielmunt on the

south and by Lexington ou the west. It is about three

miles in length and two miles in width. The western

part of the town is hilly, Arlington Heights and Tur-

key Hill being the most prominent elevations, whilo

the eastern end is level. There are two ponds ol

considerable size—Mystic Pond, along the northern

boundary, and Spy Pond, in the southern part of the

town. Mystic River forms a part of the northeastern

boundary, and its tributary, Alewife Brook, separates

Arlington from ('ambridge and Sonierville. Vine

Brook runs through the town from west to east foi

about two miles, and then turning to the north flows

into Mystic Pond.

The history of Arlington from the time when white

men first set foot upon its soil naturally divides it-

self into four periods. First comes what may be

called the period of settlement, lasting about a cen-

tury, when Arlington was merely an outlying part o)

Cambridge, having a distinctive name—Menotomy

—

but no independent organization. The second period

begins in 17.32, when Menotomy became a separate

parish of the old town. Then in 1807 the parish was

incorporated as the town of West Cambridge and

bore that name for sixty years. Finally in 1867 the

present name was adopted, no change, however, being

made in the organization of the town. It will be con-

venient to follow these natural divisions and speak of

each period separately.

The boundaries of the town were early defined and

remained without substantial change until nearly the

middle of the present century. Soon after the settle-

ment of Cambridge the inhabitants wished to extend

the limits of their new town. They had land enough

already, if its extent alone is considered, but much of

it was forest and swamp. Land good for pasturage

and farming w.is not so plenty, and there was some

competition among the different settlements to obtain

grants of such land from the General Court. Cam-
bridge thus obtained—not to speak of the country

south of the Charles—the territory now comprised in

Arlington, Lexington and Burlington. The Legisla-

ture established the line of division between Cam-
bridge and its neighbors ou either hand, by extending

the existing boundary lines eight miles back into the

country. Accordingly the line between Cambridge

and Charlestown, which formed the northern bound-

ary of Menotomy, fell near the present course of War-

ren and Mystic Streets, The southern limit, the

boundary between Cambridge and Watertown, ran

from Fresh Pond through what ia now Belmont at

about the line of the Concord turnpike. The eastern

boundary was a natural one—the Menotomy Kivcr,

which we know as Alewife Brook. The western limit

was not fixed until Lexington was set off from the

mother town in 1712.

The territory thus marked out formed the district

and parish of Menotoijiy and afterwards the town of

West Cambridge. In IS42 it was increase<l by the

annexation of the strip of Charlestown which lay be-

tween Mystic Pond and the ancient northern bound-

ary. In 1850 West Cambridge contributed a compar-

atively small portion of land along its northern

boundary to help form the now town of Winchester.

In 18.59 it suffered a serious loss of territory on its

southern side, when Belmont was incorporated. The
town w.'is then reduced to its present limits.

Menotomy, the early name of the place, is anCndi-
an name, the meaning of which is not certainly

known. Probably it describes one of the natural fea-

tures of the locality. The first settlers, doubtless

adoi)ting the Indian designation, called the stream

that now bounds the town on the east, and was even

then regarded as the dividing^line between Menotomy
and the village of Cambridge, the Menotomy River.

During the eighteenth century Spy Pond was some-

times called Jlenotomy Pond. " Menotomy " went
out of use when the town was incorporated as West
Cambridge—a name that needs no exi)lanation. Ar-

lington is a name that has no historical meaning as

applied to the place.

I. The Period of Settlement, 16,3.5-1732.

When the settlers in Cambridge began to push out to

the westward they found the country thinly inhabited

by the Massachusetts tribe of Indians. Over these

reigned the widow of a former chief. She was known
to our ancestors as the Squaw-Sachem, or as the
" Queen of the Massachusetts " when they chose to

dignify her with a finer title. This potentate had
taken as a second husband, one Webcowits, the prime

miuister or principal medicine man of the late king,

but he, apparently, was never regarded as anything

more than a kind of prince consort. The Squaw-
Sachem held no very permanent court, but her chief

dwelling-place seems to have been within the limits

of Arlington, on those pleasant slopes that stretch

down to the western edge of Mystic Pond. She early

came into friendly relations with the Colonial govern-

ment, and sold to the settlers—probably in the year

1638—all the lands that she held within the bounds
of their towns, reserving only her homestead by the

pond. This purchase cost the town of Cambridge ten

pounds in cash " and also Cambridge is to give Squa
Sachem a coate every winter while shee liveth." Ap-
parently the town was slow to fulfill the second part

of the agreement, for, in 1641, we find the General

Court enjoining Cambridge to give the Squaw-Sachem
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'• »o much corn aa to miike up thirty-five bushels and

four cu»t<* for hut year and this." In March, ir)44, in

eouip»ny with lour oilier ihiefs, she formally sub-

mitted to the jurisdiction of the Colony. A» a part of

this transaction the five chiefs, in answer toquestions,

made a stalenicnt of their religious views, and one

cannot help ihinking that the condition of mind re-

realtnl by some of their rettponses must have proved

rather pu/z-ling to the Puritan theologians. For e.x-

aniple, one answer rum*: " We do desire to reverence

ye God of yo English, and to speak well of him, be-

cause we see he doth better to the Engli.sh than other

gods do toothers; " and when ijuestioned as to their

willingness to refrain from labor on the Sabbath, they

reply with ii oharmiiig simplicity: "It is easy to

them ; they have not much to do on any day and they

can well take their ease on that day." The treaty was

ratified with an exchange of presents, the Indians

giving; twenty-si.x fathoms of wampum and receiving

five coats—two yards in a coat—of red cloth, together

with a potful of wine. The Squaw-8acheni lived for

many years after, the Cambridge peoi>le making vari-

ous agreements to fence her land and to provide her

with corn. She died not long before Uit)2, and with

her royalty disappears from our local annals.

The proprietors of Cambridge began to grant farms

in what is now Arlington as early as 1635. A high-

way was made from the little settlement in old Cam-

bridge to the other little settlement in C!oncord—the

street that we now know as .Vrlington Avenue. And

in IGliti or 1637 the history of the town fairly begins,

with the establishing of Captain George Cooke's Mill

on Vine Brdok. This Captain Cooke made a consid-

erable figure in the colony. He came from England

in 16.3.5, at the age of twenty-five, soon Itecame captain

of the Cambridge Company in the militia, was select-

man several years, served in the General Court more

than once, and held other positions, civil and mili-

tary, during the ten years he remained in this country.

Returning to England, he became a colonel in Crom-

well's army and lost his life in Ireland in 1652. It was

he who varied tlie activities of an adventurous life by

setting up the first mill in Cambridge, and in fact in

the neighborhood, if we except a wind-mill in Old

Cambridge, which would not grind unless the wind

was from the west. Captain Cooke's mill was situated

a short distance above the present mills of Samuel A.

Fowle. The remains of its dam may still be seen,

and Water Street bore the name of "Captain Cooke's

Mill-lane" down to a time within living memory.
The establishment of this mill was a great boon to

the settlers in the neighboring towns, and the early

roads were laid out with reference to it. Thus in 1638

a road was laid out from Watertown, and a little later

roads from Woburn and Medford, all ending at the

mill. They are substantially the same for the greater

part of their course as our Pleasant, Mystic and Med-
ford Streets. After Captain Cooke had abandoned
the miller's trade in New England for the more stir-

ring profession of arms in Europe, his mill seems to

have fallen into decay. .\t any rate nothing but

a few ruins remained when .lohn Rolfe bought the es-

tate of the captain's heirs in 1670, built a new mill,

house and barn, and revived the businefs. After his

death, in l(i81, the property and business passed to his

son-in-law, W^illiani Cutter, in whose family it has

ever since remained.

With the exception of the roads and the mill, ,\r-

lington presented few traces of civilization for many
years. Along the banks of the Menotomy River

stretched the Great Swamp. The labor and intelli-

gence of more than one generation have since turned

much of it into fruitful soil, but enough yet remains

in its primitive condition to give us an idea of what

the whole eastern end of the town was in the seven-

teenth century. ;\Iuch of the land about Spy Pond

also was swampy. The land was well wooded, but

the town found it necessary, in 1647, to check reck-

less waste by forbidding persons owning land in

Menotomy from cutting or taking away directly or

indirectly any wood or timber on the easterly side of

the road from the mill to Watertown.

Slowly, one after another, spots of cultivated land

began to appear in the midst of the wilderness of

woods and swamps. In 1646 Henry Dunster, the first

president of Harvard College, obtained some land by

Menotomy River, lying within the limits of Charles-

town. .John Adams lived near the present centre of

Arlington and owned extensive tracts of land in the

eastern end of the town. Other familiitr names are

found on the records—Dickson, Russell, Winship,

Cutter—of men who settled here long before 1700.

In 1688 twenty persons were taxed for person and

estate as residents of Menotomy.

For a livelihood the people were mainly dependent'

on farming. Indian-corn was the principal crop,

and the corn-fiekls were fertilized with the countless

fish that swarmed in the Menotomy River and have

given it its modern name. Thealevvives were caught

by means of a weir which the General Court, in 16.34,

authorized the town of Cambridge to build, and were

regarded as a most valuable kind of property. When,
in 1676, two enterprising persons obstructed the pas-

sage of the fish to the weirs, the town brought suit

and had the validity of its privilege judicially deter-

mined. There was also good fishing in Spy Pond,

and people journeyed from Boston and Charlestown

to fish there. One summer day no less a person than

the Reverend Cotton Mather came out to try his luck,

and, like many amateur fishermen of later times, fell

into the pond, "the boat being ticklish." History

records that he received no hurt from his misadven-

ture.

The Menotomy settlers took their part in the war

that broke upon New England in 1675 and furnished

nearly a dozen men—a large proportion of their

whole number—to the little army that went out to

fight King Philip. Five years later Indian warfare
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seoms to have come nearer home, for we read in

Judge Sewall's diary, under date of July 8, 16S0 :

' Two ludians killed and several carried away by the

Mohawks from Spy Pond at Cambridge: it was done

about one in the morn." With these exceptions they

lived undisturbed by the savages.

Little more can be said as to our early settlers. In

whatever public events they engaged they took pari

as citizens of Cambridge, and their acts are a part ol

the history of Cambridge rather than of Arlington.

They were doing the same monotonous hard work

that was going on in so many New England commu-

nities of that time—gradually turning a savage wil-

derness into a place fit for the habitation of civilized

men.

II. The Second Precinct of Cambridge,

1732-1807.

It was in 1732 that the second period of our history

began with the setting apart of Menotomy as a sepa-

rate precinct or parish. The feeling had for some

time been growing among the people that they should

have a meeting-house of their own and a minister

dwelling among them. In 1728 some of them had pe-

titioned the town of Cambridge to consent to a divi-

sion, but they failed to obtain their request,—^the

town taking the reasonable ground that it did not ap-

pear that half of the inhabitants of Menotomy de-

sired the change. With the persistence characteristic

of those who have set their hearts on dividing a town,

they tried again in 1728; petitioned the General

Court in June, 1732; had their petition rejected in

November ; renewed it the next month and succeeded

at last in obtaining favorable action. On December

27, 1732, the northwest part of Cambridge was set oft

as a distinct precinct, and its inh.abitants vested with

"all the powers, privileges and immunities that other

precincts within the Province do, or by law ought to

enjoy."

In order to understand the importance of this ac-

tion, we must call to mind exactly what a precinct

was. It was the same thing as a parish,—the words

are used interchangeably,—but a parish then was not a

collection of persons voluntarily uniting to support

public worship. It was a territorial division—a cer-

tain extent of land--like a county, a town, a school dis-

trict or a ward. It might be co-extensive with a town,

it might comprise part of a town or it might be made

up of parts of two or more towns. It had the duty of

maintaining a meeting-house and supporting a minis-

ter, and every man living within it was just as much

subject to be taxed for these purposes as he was for

the support of highways and bridges. However cor-

dially he might dislike the institutions of religion, he

could no more escape paying his share towards their

maintenance than he could avoid doing his part to-

wards keeping the roads in order. On the other hand,

he had an equal voice with his fellow-parishioners in

the management of the parish affairs. Hence an an-

cient parish, in its structure, closely resembled a town,

and when, as happened in Arlington, a parish was

incorporated as a town, th* transition was an easy one.

The inhabitants of the new town were merely obliged

to apply to a somewhat wider range of subjects the

system to which they were already accustomed.

The inhabitants of the new precinct met together in

their school-house, January 2!), 1733, and John Cut-

ter then began his long service of thirty-two years as

parish clerk. They soon completed their organiza-

tion by electing three assessors, a collector, a treas-

urer and a prudential commit'ee of five. They in-

vited their neighbors in that narrow strip of Charles-

town which lay between the new parish and Mystic

Pond to join them in settling a minister. As it was

obviously much more convenient for these Charles-

town people to attend public worship in Menotomy
than in the distant meeting-house of their own town,

an arrangement was made, and confirmed by the (ren-

eral Court, whereby they became united with the new

parish, although continuing, in other respects, citi-

zens of Charlestown.

And now our ancestors set about building their

meeting-house. The site was not far to seek. Out

of the common land that lay near the junction of the

Watertown and Concord roads a portion had been

reserved as a burial-place, although probably it had not

yet been used for that purpose, and here it w.os de-

cided to build the meeting-house. The building was

to be forty-six feet long, thirty-six feet wide and

twenty-four feet between the joists, and was to have

a belfry ; and the sum of three hundred pounds was

appropriated to pay for it. Jleanwhile the people

met for public worship in their school-house, various

ministers of the neighborhood conducting the services.-

Rev. John Hancock, of Lexington, baptized Thomas
Osborn here April 1, 17.34, " the first child baptized

in the congregation at the school-house in Menot-

omy."

The meeting-house was raised in the spring of

1734, and we may suppose there was a cer-

tain amount of festivity on the occasion, since the

precinct appropriated the sum of twenty-three pounds
" to defray the charges of provisions ;

" but it was

not until February 1, 1735, that it was opened and
consecrated. The building stood nearly on the spot

now occupied by its successor, but faced southeast.

The pulpit stood against the northwest wall and the

main entrance w.as directly opposite, at the other end

of the broad aisle. In each of the other sides was a

door. A portion of the floor was divided into eigh-

teen pew lots, all of which were sold, except that to

the right of the pulpit, which was reserved for the

minister's pew. The prices of these pew lots varied

from £14> down to £51 ; the two nearest the main
door and the one to the left of the pulpit being ap-

parently deemed most desirable. On these lots were

built the high square pews, wherein sat the owners

with their families—the leading and prosperous
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people of the place. The more humble worshippers

sat on beiuhen place*! upon thai part of the floor not

taken up wilh pews, or iti tlie Ki'llorv which extended

around three «ide.H of the meeling-house. The men .'(at

on one aide of the broad aisle and the women

on the other, and a like division was made in

the jjalleries. A committee appointed by the parish

assiKned the seats, and they were instructed to take

into account " persons' pay and ape."

Such were the main iirrangements in regard to

meeting-house and congregation. But as yet there

was no church organization and no minister. The

latter deficiency our ancestors earnestly set about

supplying, but it was more than four years before

they succeede.1 in their etl'ort. They called in the

neighboring ministers more tliaii once for couri.sel and

iissistance. ' >n two occasions tliey set apart aays of

fasting and prayer when solemn public exercises were

held. But whenever they had chosen a minister

whom they judged of suitable character and qualities,

their hopes were destined to disappointment. At

last, after four persons had successively declined their

invitation, they chose Samuel f'ooke to be their

minister. .Mr. (Aioke was chosen May 21, 17.39. He
considered the invitation with care and accepted it in

« letter dated June 30th—a letter e.xhibiting that com-

bination of practical forethought and of religious

feeling characteristic of the man. He tells his people

that he shall e.xpect lliem to make allowance for the

continued depreciation of paper currency ; that he

depends upon the kindness commonly shown to

ministers, particularly as to building and fire-wood
;

and accepts their summons, " relying upon the Divine

Grace for support and assistance, and recommending

you and all your alfairs to the Divine conduct."

The church was eslalilisheil on the 9th of the fol-

lowing September, the men signing the covenant and

the women giving their consent by standing up as

their names were called. In all there were eighty-

three church-members. Many of the names affixed

to that roll have a sound not at all unfamiliar to our

ears,—Russell, Swan, Cutter, Adams, Winship, Fille-

brown, Locke, Hall, Frost, Prentice and the rest

—

the founders of the families that have played so large

apart in the life of the community. John Cutter

and John Winship were made deacons. The First

Church in Cambridge gave £2.5 towards furnishing

the communion table—a gift especially gratifying to

the new church.

Samuel Cooke was thirty years old when he came
to his work in Menotomy—a work he was to lay

down only with his life forty-five years later. The
son of a Hadley farmer, he spent his boyhood on the

farm and went to college at a much later period in

life than was common in those days. He was grad-
uated at Harvard College in ITI'.S, kept school for a
while, went back to Cambridge, where he was em-
ployed in the college buttery for more than a year,

then instructed Colonel Royall's son at Medford, and

I

finally, after another slay at college, began his min-

!
isterial career—preaching for six months each in

Marlborough, Roxbury and Menotomy. The new

minister's " settlement" was fixed at £2(i0 in bills ipf

the old tenor or an ei|uivalent amount in bills of the

new tenor—neither of which kinds of currency was

worth nearly its face value. His salary was to be

£190 a year with such additions as might come from

contributions not destined for other purposes. Dur-

ing his long ])astorate his salary varied from time U<

lime—noticeably during the War of the Revolution

—

but as the reckoning was sometimes made in paper

and .sometimes in coin, the variation was more appar-

I eot than real. In 1751 the amount was fixed at £60

I

in lawful money; a few years later it became £70;

then in 1775 it was raised to £75 and it seems never

to have been much more. Even this scanty sum w-as

raised with difficulty. The collectors apparently

found it hard to get in all the dues Special contri-

butions had to be taken up from time to time for the

minister's support, and when he died the parish was

indebted to him in a considerable sum. We ought

not to .attribute these facts to any lack of generosity

on the jiart of our ancestors ; they were evidently a

result of their poverty.

In 1740 Mr. Cooke bought of Jason Russell an acre

of land situated on the Watertown Road, next to the

burial-ground, and here he built his house, his peo-

ple furnishing much of the material and doing a good

deal of the work. It was a substantial, comfortable

dwelling, placed well back from the road, and was

still standing twenty years ago.

The parish was now fairly started and for many
years little of importance appears upon its records.

The population was evidently increasing, for we find

that it was necessary to put more seats into the meet-

ing-house. In 1747 an effort was made to replace

some of the seats on the floor with pews, but this at-

tempt was stoutly resisted and it was not until 1755

that new pews were added. At the same time it was

voted that there should be new seats over the gallery-

stairs for the negroes to sit in. A committee was ap-

pointed in 1747 "to inspect the behavior of young

persons in our meeting-house on Sabbath days," and

any persistent mischief-maker was to be marched

into the main aisle and made to stand there through-

out the service. As we hear nothing more of the

committee after a year, we may, perhaps, a-ssume that

the terrors of so public a penance produced a speedy i

reformation.

While the rcanners of youth on the Sabbath were

thus looked after, their week-day education was not

neglected. There was a school-house in Menotomy
when the precinct was first set off, but it seems not to

have been suitable for its purpose, for the parish

voted, in 174.3, to keep the public school near the

meeting-house after a convenient house was erected,

and three years later the town made an appropriation'

to help defray the charge of building a new school-

<i
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house. This school was of a grade considerably be-

low that of a giammar school of the iiresent day, and

was kept for a few weeks in winter. It was supiiorted

hv the town, but the appropriation was usually placed

in the hands of the parish. In 1768 it was voted that

,1 f^rammar school or " man's school " should be kept

lor fourteen weeks in the winter, and that there

-hould also be four " women's schools." 'l"he system

I bus established lasted some years.

The care of the church and the school formed sub-

siantially all of the public businessof the parish. But

I lie people were not satisfied with this, and desired an

entire separation from Cambridge. Accordingly they

(letitioned the General Court, in 1762, that they and

( ertain of their neighbors in the adjacent towns might

be incorporated as a town or district. The Legislature

voted to incorporate the petitioners from Menotomy

•ind Charlestown as a separate district, but annexed

' ertain conditions to the grant. The Menotomy peo-

|.lf made some unsuccessful efforts to induce the Leg-

islature to alter the terms, but, nevertheless, voted to

accept the act of incorporation as it stood.

A district had all the powers of a town except in

one respect. Every town had a right to send a repre-

sentative to the General Court, but a district did not

have that right. The Governors much disliked to give

their assent to the formation of new towns, for a new

town implied a new legislator who was only too likely

to set himself in opposition to the representatives of

the King. The same objection did not apply to a dis-

trict, and hence the device of forming a district in-

stead of a town was not uncommon at that period.

Menotomy, therefore, became a separate municipality

in 1762. Upon their failure, however, to obtain any

alteration in the terms of incorporation, the people

[apparently concluded that, on the whole, it was not

worth while to take any advantage of the act, and so

continued to act as before as a parish of Cambridge.

The foregoing are the princijjal public acts O'f the

parish. Of the every-day life of the people few me-

morials remain. We know that they were for the

most part farmers, and their farms were usually of

considerable size. There were several taverns in the

place—a circumstance which we ought not to regard

as reflecting at all on the industry or sobriety of our

ancestors, since these houses of entertainment were

required by the farmers from the inland towns, who
'Used to drive their teams laden with produce down
'through Menotomy and Old Cambridge on their

roundabout way to Boston. Along the brook where

their successors stand to-day, were situated several

mills—grist-mills and saw-mills—belonging to mem-
bers of the Cutter family, whose lauds comprised much
on the northwestern part of the parish. Many of the

ifamilies of the place were connected by marriage

;

•they were of the same race and the same religion
;

there was no great wealth among them and no great

poverty. They lived a hard-working life, somewhat
• isolated, a good deal dependent upon one another for

12-iii

society, with few amusements. Outside matters af-

fected them little. A few of them served in the

French and Indian War under Capt. Thomas Adams,
a Menotomy man. These took part in the Louis-

bourg expedition of 1758, and all came back safely

except one, who died of sickness. Parson Cooke did

not fail to preach a sermon on the occasion of their

return. He often took notice in that way of import-

ant current events—a common custom among the

clergy of that age. For the most part the years seem
to have gone by monotonously enough until at last

the day came when History passed through our streeta,

and the quiet country people took their pl.Tco among
those who were first to face death in defence of the

liberties of a nation.

They were not without warning of the coming
storm. Again and again during the dark years that

preceded the outbreak of war did their minister speak

to them words glowing with the spirit of resistance to

oppression. He found in Scripture many analogies to

the events that were passing before his eyes. To him

the Roman tyranny in .lerusalem was as the British

rule in Boston, and -the publicans that served Caesar

were the prototypes of the instruments of George the

Third. His people were not deaf to his appeal. The
younger men were organized into an "alarm-list

company" enlisted as "soldiers in the Massachusetts

service, for the preservation of the liberties of Amer-
ica," ready to act when the order came. Benjamin

Locke was their captain, and his list of the members
of the company, about fifty in number, is still extant.

On the 17th day of April, 1775, the Committees of

Safety and of Supplies adjourned from Concord to meet

at Wetherby's Tavern in Menotomy. This inn, also

known as the Black Horse Tavern, stood on the north-

ern side of the main road about half a mile below the

meeting-house. The two committees, tn whose hands

was intrusted the direction of the patriot cause in the

Province, met hereon the 18th. Three ofthem, Elbridge

Gerry and Colonels Orne and Lee, remained, intending

to stay overnight. They were warned that there was an

unusual number of British officers about in Cam-
bridge, and Gerry was so impressed with the idea that

trouble was brewing that he sent a messenger to John
Hancock, then at Lexington, to put him on his guard.

At about two o'clock the next morning the three

members were aroused from their sleep to find the

road filled with British regulars marching by towards

Lexington. As the centre of the column was pass-

ing, they saw by the bright moonlight an officer and
a file of men coming towards the house. They es-

caped, half-dressed, from the back of the building

into an adjoining corn-field. Flinging themselves on
the ground and protected from view only by the corn-

stalks left standing from the previous season, they

fortunately escaped the observation of the soldiers.

These searched the house, but had to go on without

making the coveted capture of three of the rebel

leaders.

I
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The 1........ .» lioiie Dudden appearance gave Gerry and

hU frieiuU to rude an awiikeniug were about eight

hundred in number, uiiido up of light infantry,

iiiarintw and grenadiers. Lieutenant-Uolonel Smith

oommunded (hem. Kmbiirking at the foot of Hnston

Com 1 ill bunts wbieh earrio.l them to what is now

pjul Cambridge, lliey liad there landed, and alter floun-

derliig aeri«.-w the niandie-s struck into the old Charles-

town road. They entered the Concord road in North

Cainlirldge, and from that point tiieir way lay

»trai(;lit before them through Menotomy and Le.xing-

ton to their destination—the gtorea of Hupplies col-

lectetl by the patriots at Concord. The destruction

of these was the object of the expedition. To eflect

that object, secrecy and despatch were absolutely es-

sential, and the column moved rapidly and noise-

lessly on.

Notwithstanding their caution, the movement of so

conslderalile a body of men could not escape notice.

An hour or two earlier I'aul Revere had galloped

across from Medford and given the alarm in the upper

part of the precinct as he rode towards Lexington.

Some of the Menotomy people were aroused by the

stir in the street as the soldiers marched by. Solomon

Bowman, the lieutenant of Captain Locke's company,

upon going to his door, was asked by one of the Brit-

ish soldiers for a drink of water. He refused, asking

in turn, " What are you out at this timeof night for?"

He spent the rest of the night in warning his com-

pany.

When the troops reached the centre of Menotomy,

their commander was convinced that a sudden and

secret attack could no longer be hoped for. The

night was already astir with the sound of distant guns

and bells that told him the country was rising. He
sent back a messenger to General Gage, at Boston,

asking for reinforcements, and sent forward Major

Pitcairn with six companies of light infantry to secure

the bridges at Concord, while he followed more leis-

urely with the rest of the detachment.

The column marched on through the parish unmo-

lesting and unmolested. Atone place their approach

broke up a very untimely game of cards. At another

they opened a stable, but, fortunately for the owner,

the horse had been lent. At another house, where a

light was burning, a soldier who inquired the reason

was given the sati.sfactory explanation that the wife

was making some herb tea for her sick husband. In

fact, the dose was of a far different kind; for pewter-

plates were there being melted into bullets.

The soldiers disappeared up the Lexington road,

but they left behind them in Menotomy a com-

munity that was fully aroused and ready for its work.

At daybreak Captain Locke's company met on the

green beside the meeting-houee and straightway

marched to Lexington. The women and children

were sent to places at a distance from the Concord
road. Many persons concealed their silver and
pewter.

The morning wore away quietly enough. Towards

noon the road was again glittering with British

bayonets. Smith's appeal for aid had been answered ;

Lord Percy was sent at the head of three regiments

of infantry and two divisions of marines—in all

about twelve hundred men—to reinforce the first de-

tachment. Marching out through Koxbury, he was

delayed for a little while at Brighton Bridge until the

planks, which had been taken up, could be rei)laced.

Then he kept on without further hindrance through

Cambridge and Menotomy. But the injury to the

bridge gave more serious trouble to a convoy of

supplies and provisions that followed his column.

Before the wagons could be brought over, the soldiers

were far ahead. The convoy was further delayed by

amistakeas to the road, so that by the time it reached

Menotomy, Lord Percy was a considerable distance in

advance. News of its approach preceded it. A few

of the Menotomy men met in Cooper's Tavern and

resolved that these supplies should be captured.

There were about a dozen men in all—exempts, as they

were called, too old to be included among the minute-

men, although, so far as appears, by no means of very

advanced years. The two Belknaps were there—Jason

and Joseph—James Budge, Israel Mead, Ammi Cutter

and David Lamson. The latter, our traditions say,

commanded the party. Others have it that Rev.

Phillips Payson, of Chelsea, was the leader. It seems

not improbable that in such a band, collected at a

moment's notice, no man was captain more than

another. They hastened to take their position behind

a bank wall of earth and stones just opposite the

meeting-house. When the convoy arrived opposite,

escorted by a guard of soldiers, our men ordered

them to surrender. The drivers whipped up theiii

horses. The exempts fired, killing several horses and

one or two of the men and wounding others. The
drivers and surviving soldiers scattered and ran across

the fields to Spy Pond, and local tradition delights to

tell how six of them surrendered to one Mother

Batherick, whom they encountered near Spring

Valley. The party at the road took possession of the

abandoned wagons. They had done a greater thing

than they thought; for they had made the first cap-

ture of the War of the Revolution. But as they Jik

looked at the matter, they had been engaged in: in

shooting down the King's soldiers upon his highway,
,

fki

and they felt a not unreasonable dread of what might

happen if any signs of the conflict should be lefffnec

when the British came back. Accordingly they

dragged the wagons into the hollow behind Capt.

William Adams' house. The living horses were

driven to Medford and the dead ones carried to a field

near Spring Valley.

The adventures of the exempts were by no means I set

over. As some of them were going home they met

and captured, near Mill Street, Lieut. Edward Thorn-

ton Gould, of the " King's Own " regiment, who hadj 5«f

received a wound in the ankle at Concord Bridge, h
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mill was riding back alone. And not long after, the

ijiproaching sounds of battle, announced tliat the

liiilish were again entering Menotomy.

It is the duty of others to tell what hai)|ieiied that

(lay iu Lexington and Concord. (Captain Locke's

men were there, with their comrades from the other

inwns, taking their part in the hard fighting that

made the retreat of the regulars through Lexington so

lull of peril. Lord Percy's reinforcement met Smith's

1 \liausted men at about two o'clock, and, after half

an hour's respite, the march was resumed, and the

1 irders of Menotomy were soon reached.

Any one who looks down upon the town from Ar-

iiiigton Heights or Turkey Hill can understand how

ilii' fight was fought. From the Lexington line to

' Foot of the Rocks the land rises to a consider-

ile height on each side"of the road. Farther down,

until nearly to the centre of the town, the hills on

! right rise more gently, while to the left the land

ils away to Vine Brook. Below the centre is level

i,d—Menotomy Plains they then called it—stretch-

l; to the eastern boundary.

VI 1 through the first part of the afternoon's fight-

!L' our people were generally on ground higher than

' road, and came into hand-to-hand conflict only

u iih the British flanking-parties. Later they did not

have this advantage of position, and the fighting that

t'liik place below the centre of the town seems gene-

I ally to have been sharper and at closer quarters than

iiat above.

It could not have been long after three o'clock

M hen the British re-entered Menotomy. The fire to

which they had been exposed slackened a good deal

as they marched through the wooded country above

' Foot of the Rocks. But as they reached the com-

I

iratively open ground at that point the battle was

iv-umed. Other enemies than those who had fol-

\ ed them so persistently were at hand. All that

lining had men been hurrying iu from every side

(ward the scene of the conflict. Not merely from

W oburn and Medford, from Old Cambridge and

( harlestown, but from Roxbury and Dorchester,

I

I

invers, Salem, Beverly and Lynn and other distant

I'laces had they come; and from behiud houses and

liarus, stone-walls and fences they poured in their

lire upon the column that was hastening down the

highway.

Percy showed himself a worthy descendant of the

rare of soldiers from whom he came. He was now in

ommand of the whole British force. He had placed

ii the head of the column the grenadiers and light

infantry,—the remnant of Smith's detachment. Next
anie his wounded, carried in wagons, and finally, in

:he rear, his own fresh troops. From the latter, also,

, were made up strong flanking-parties, that marched to

;
right and left of the road, parallel with the main body,

uid protected it by threatening the flank of the par-

rs of Provincials that skirted the highway.

The plundering and setting on fire of houses had

begun in Lexington and was continued through Men-
otomy. Worn out with many miles of marching and

fighting, exposed to a murderous fire which they

could not return with eflfect, with the number of their

enemies increasing and safety .still far distant, it is

not surprising that the soldiers forgot discipline and

indiscriminately plundered and destroyed. They en-

tered the Great Tavern, a.s it was then called, belong-

ing to William Cutler,—a part of the present Rus-

sell's Tavern,—took what they could carry, broke

furniture, let the contents of the casks of spirits and
molasses run to waste, and ended by setting the house

on fire. They burst into the house of Deacon .Tosejih

Adams, where they found his wife lying in bed with

her youngest ohild beside her,—an infant not much
more than two weeks old. < »ne of the soldiers threat-

ened to kill her, but was restrained by a more merci-

ful comrade. They allowed her to crawl to a neighbor-

ing corn barn, while they proceeded to plunder the

house. It was here that they found the communion
service of the church, one of the pieces of which, a

silver tankard, was recovered after the evacuation of

Boston, and still forms a precious possession of the

First Parish. This house also they set on fire, but, as

happened in the case of all the other buildings in

Menotomy which they attempted to burn, their haste

prevented them from making thorough work of it, and

the flames were soon extinguished.

About opposite Mill Street stood, and still stands,

the house then occupied by Jason Russell. He was
one of the principal citizens of the precinct. His

land extended from the property of Deacon Joseph

Adams to the Common by the meetinghouse, and
stretched along the Watertown road beyond Parson

Cooke's house, as far as to what we know as the Gray
estate. Being a man of fifty-eight years of age and
lame, he at first intended to accompany his family to

the house of George Prentiss, which was at a distance

from the road, and served as a place of refuge for

many non-combatants. But, after starting with them,

he made up his mind to stand his ground at his own
home. He fortified his gate with bundles of shingles,

thinking that these would make a good breastwork.

Ammi Cutter, who had been taking part in the aflair

of the supply-wagons, and to whose house Lieutenant

Gould was first taken, found time to cross the brook

and urge his neighbor to go to a safer place. Rus-

sell's blood was up. He replied : "An Englishman's

house is his castle," and refused to abandon his post.

Meanwhile, a body of Americans—mostly Danvers

men—had taken up their position in the rear of Rus-

sell's house, some in a walled enclosure, which they

strengthened with bundles of shingles, others behind

trees on the hillside. Apparently Russell joined

them there. They did not have long to wait. As
Cutter was returning home he was fired upon by the

British flankers on the north side of the road. As he

ran he tripped and rolled among the logs of the mill

and wisely lay quiet while the bullets whizzed over
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him and »ca««red the bark upon him. Across the

hiichway, bl.wiJy work wa» k"'"8 "" ^* '*'* British

culuiiinA fame itwrepiii^ ilown tlio road, tlie Btrong

gun, iiiii' Biiddenly upon the

,r^, u«T « niouient of ;>»vago

fijjiitinif, drove the uuii in the incloHure down

tuward* the road— now tilled with tlic main body of

the«ueuiy. ( 'lowly pumued, they hurried into Kus-

•ell'it honlie. ICuiti.ll hiuinelf wan Khot down at his

own diHir, and vtax alubbed ugnin and again with the

bayon.-lit of the [lursuenf an they rushc<l in, killing

every man they could find. Kiglil Americans escaped

to the cellar. One mddier was xliot on the cellar-

itain, and his comrailes dared venture no further;

they plundered the house and went on. In the south

room of thcbloodxtained dwelling were soon laid the

Ixnlies of twelve of the dead, among them the corpse

of the owner, bearing the marks of two bullet-wounds

and cirveii bayonet-Hljibs.

The tighting at Kussell's house seems to have been

the fiercest of the day in .Menotomy ; nowhere else

did »« many men get to close quarters. But it was by

no means the end. As the British came down through

the centre, they plundered houses, entered the store

of Thomas Russell, now occupied by his descendant,

where tliev followed their customary iiliin of theft and

ilestruction, and treateil the meeting-house, the old

.\dams house and the dwelling of the minister to a

fusilade. They ne.xt burst into Cooper's tavern at the

corner of the Modford road, where, unluckily, they

found other than lifeless objects for their wrath.

Cooper and his wife, warned by the storm of bullets

that came beating against the house, as the enemy

drew near, succeeded in reaching the cellar and

escaped, but Jabez Wyman and Jason Winship, the

only other occupants, were not aa fortunate. They

were unarmed, ami the soldiers at once despatched

them with blows and bayonet-thrusts.

At about the same time Samuel Whitlemore met

with au experience unique among the events

of the day. He was then not far from eighty

years of age. He had known of the British expedition

verj' early, for he lived near the eastern edge of

the town and had seen the soldiers as they marched

by in the moonlight. Eager to have a hand in the

fray, he had put his weapons in order, and, armed with

musket and horse-pistol, lay in wait behind a stone-

wall as the British retreated through the centre.

After firing a few times he was surprised by the flank-

guard. He shot two of them and, aa he was firing a

third lime, received a ball in the face which stretched

him senseleiw. The soldiers beat him with their

muskets, stabbed him six or eight limes with their

bayonets and pas.sed on, leaving him for dead. To

the astonishment of his neighbors he not only re-

covere<l, but lived for eighteen years afterwards.

From the centre to the eastern limit of the town

the fighting was continuous. The advantage of higher

ground was no longer with the Americans, but their

numbers were continually growing. It was in this

part of the field that Dr. .Joseph Warren came so near

his death—a bullet striking the pin from the hair of

his ear-lock. Some of the Danvers men, who had

managed to e.scajie when their comrades were swept

into Russell's house, had here taken up a new posi-

tion and dill fatal work. Leaving behind them many

dead and wounded men, the enemy crossed the brook

and continued their retreat through Cambridge and

Charlestown until at last the darkness came on and

the fight was ended.

Such are some of the incidents that happened in

Menotomy on Wednesday, the liltb day of April,

ma. From them we can form an idea of the many

like occurrences of the day that have faded out of

memory. Enough remains to assure us that our fath-

ers bore themselves like men, and were not unworthy to

have been among the first to fight and to die for the

freedom and indejjcndence of their country.

Our scattered people came back to their dismantled

houses. Notlessthantwenty-two Americans, and prob-

ably fully twice as many of the enemy, had been killed

in Menotomy that April afternoon. Many of the dead

were carried back to their own towns, but twelve of

them, including thethree Menotomy men, were buried

here. With war actually begun, the ordinary decent

observances were omitted. One grave was dug in the

burying-ground and the dead hastily committed to it,

without coffins and in the clothes they had worn when

they fell. Above them was afterwards placed a slate

grave-stone, still standing beside the monument,

which the piety of a later generation has raised, and

on it we read :

" M'. Jason Russell was

barbarously murdered in his own
House by Gage's bloody Troops

on y« 19"' of .\pril, 1776. .Stat 59.

His body is quietly resting

in this grave witb Eleven

of our friends, who in Like

manner, with many others, were

cruelly Slain on that fatal day.

Blessed are y« dead who die in y» Lord !

"

Jason Russell, Jabez Wyman and Jason Winship

were three of the occupants of that bloody grave.

Who the nine others were cannot now be told. Sev-

enty-three years later some of the public-spirited cit-

izens of West Cambridge, together with Hon. Peter

C. Brooks, of Medford, joined to erect the granite

shaft that now marks the place. When the workmen
opened the grave to lay the foundations of the mon-

ument tliey found the bones still in a good state of

preservation, and mingled with them remnants of

clothing, rusty buttons, an old shot-pouch, two flints

and other remains of like nature. The British dead

were buried, some in the burial-ground, near the

brook, other in various parts of the town where

they had fallen. On the day after the fight a company
of militia was detailed from the American force al-

ready under arms in Cambridge, to go over the
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ground of the previous day's lighting and inter such

of the dead as might be still unburied.

There were no actual hostilities in Menotomy after

April 19th, but the parish by no means escaped the

burdens of the war. Its young men, under Captain

Locke, formed part of the army that besieged Boston.

Probably the company was in the battle of Hunker

Hill ; certainly its captain was, and his descendants

preserve the musket that he carried on that day, and

tell the story how he fired it till it grew too hot to hold,

and then wound his handkerchief around it, and kept

on firirJg. Two days after thai battle an order was

made that as many houses in Menotomy as should be

needed, should be turned into hospitals for the sick

and wounded of the American army. The taking of

the house of Rev. Mr. Cooke for this purpose was es-

pecially authorized.

With the evacuation of Boston the scene of hostil-

ities was shifted from Massachusetts, and thencefor-

ward Menotomy had to bear onl}' its share of the

sacrifices that the conflict entailed. All through the

war their minister never failed to hold his people to

their duty. It was only with difficulty that his son

had forced him out of danger on the 19th of April ; for

the old man longed to have a hand in the fight, and

to prove that his hatred of oppression was as great

when oppression was to be met in arms in the streets

as when it was to be denounced from the pulpit. His

sermons certainly show no softening of feeling or re-

laxation of purpose as the gloomy years of the Revo-

lution pass by. His faith never wavers, that the cause

of America is the cause of God, and that in His Prov-

idence it must succeed at last. The British figure as

" tyrants," " unfeeling monsters," " our worse than

savage enemies," " our implacable foes." The Script-

ures are ransacked for comparisotis, and any particu-

larly odious oppressor of the olden time is pretty

certain to be found to bear a striking resemblance to

Lord North. Unfair and unjust much of it no doubt

seems to us who look back over the space of a century,

but there is no question as to the earnestness and

passion of the preacher. In him the old Puritan

spirit is alive again, and it is perhaps fortunate for our

country that so many of the clergy of that day, like

him, believed that the war between England and Amer-
ica was a war between the powers of darkness and of

light.

Few entries relating to the war appear on the

records of the parish. In 1778 it was voted that the

inhabitants be divided into fifteen messes, in propor-

tion to their valuation—the design evidently being

that the " messes " should be equal in property. Each

mess had to furnish or support a soldier, and the ex-

pense was shared among the members according to

their means. Various committees were chosen to

carry out the scheme. Some light is thrown on the

enormous depreciation of the currency by theamounts

appropriated for the minister's salary. During the

early years of the war it remains at £75. In 1778-79

£300 is voted. The next year it is £1200 ; and finally

at the close of 1780 it is placed at .£3000. After the

surrender of Lord Cornwallis it falls back to £120, and
then to £100.

Mr. Cooke did not live long after the war. He
died .lunc 4, 1783, and was laid to rest in the old

burial-place between his meeting-house and his home,

lie had played a great part in the community for

more than forty years ; nor was his fame confined to

his own parish. He was in close relations with the

other divines in and about Boston, and was often

called upon to take a prominent part when a minister

was to be ordained or any special solemnity observed.

Rigid and unyielding where what he deemed the

interests of truth were concerned, he labored to sus-

tain the faith delivered to the churches in New Eng-

land. False doctrine, heresy or schism found no

countenance from him. As far back as 1745, as one

of an association of ministers, he declared that he

would not ask into his pulpit the Rev. George White-

field, who was then making such a stir among
clergy and laity alike. In the latter part of his life

he w.as much troubled, by the spread of new opinions

that were undermining the old unity of faith among
his people, and by the increasing laxity in morals and

discipline. Naturally Universalism received no favor

from him, or, as the obituary notice in the newspaper

puts it, " As he ever opposed the introduction of

errors, he was particularly concerned to bear a faith-

ful and even dying testimony against the doctrines of

'Salvation for all Men' as 'totally subversive of the

Christian religion.'" But worse than all was the

actual establishment of a Baptist church in his own
parish two years before his death. It was a sign that

the old order of things was coming to an end in Men-
otomy ; that his church could no longer exist as the

sole centre of religious instruction ; that his teach-

ings must cease to command universal assent and

reverence ; and it is perhaps well that he did not live

to a time when the disintegrating process had gone

on still farther.

1 make no apology for having devoted what may
seem undue space to the first minister of the parish

;

for the history of the parish centres about him, and

the better we know him the better we can under-

stand the character of the people among whom he

labored.

For several years after Mr. Cooke's death the parish

was in difliculty. The people shared in the general

poverty that accompanied and followed the war.

They owed a considerable amount of arrears of salary

to the heirs of their late minister, which they did not

succeed in paying oft' until 1780. They had trouble

with the new Baptist society. Twice they unsuccess-

fully attempted to settle a minister. At last, at a

meeting held July IG, 1787, they chose for their min-

ister Rev. Tbaddeus Fiske, who had already been

preaching for them several months. This time their

eflbrt did not fiiil, and Mr. Fiske began his long pas-
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I,,,,,,. .,. .y Ue waa twenty-five years old

when be came to Menotomy, and had graduated at

(I , .are before.

na some persons in the parish

inclim^i i«> i ^'t >'"' * '""K pt^r'od before the.

Kcvolutioii. -I iiotii't' we find of them in tlie

r«coid«iu a dimiuct ehws is in -March, 1775. Appar-

j^.i. . — .,|- ijieii, ivit a not unreasonable dislike to

I,, tor the support of a church with which

ll, 1 mid denired tliat the injustice might be

„ . i: iliey found the majority of their neigh-

bura unc promising, for the record of a meeting

held Marcli •-'J. 177.'). roads that it was voted "not to

excuM the jwoplo culled antipedobaptists from pay-

log ministerial taxes for the year 1773-74." Then

came the war and for a time theological disputes were

in ttl>i'yanc<>. In 17.'<*i the Baptist people got together

•nd began t" take steps to organize a society.

In the following year the society and church were

regularly formed and receive"! the fellowship of the

denomination. Thomas Green was the first pastor.

Originally appointed to preach in Menotomy by

the .\ssociation of which the newly-formed church

was a member, his ministrations proved so acceptaVile

to hin people tliat he was ordained as minister

in November, 17.S;{. His pastorate continued for ten

years. In 17tH) a church w.is built—still standing

—

at the corner of Brattle Street, and showing, notwith-

standing the alterations made to convert it into a

dwelling-house, evident traces of its original pur-

pose. -Vt about this time an agreement was made

whereby persons of the Biiptist faith livingin Woburn
were enabled to unite with the church in Menotomy,

the minister preaching half the time in each place.

This turned out to be an unfortunate arrangement for

the original society, for the Woburn branch increased

much more rapidly than did the society in Menotomy,

and became the principal organization. The people

here were no longer able to support regular preach-

ing, but they held servic&s from time to time, as they

found opportunity, and prevented the enterprise in

which they believed from coming to amend.

During the remaining years of the eighteenth

century little out of the ordinary course happened in

the precinct. There was a growing feeling that

Menotomy was now able to cut loose from Cambridge
and become a separate town. In 1784 a committee
was appointed to petition the General Court to set

off the Northwest Precinct of Cambridge and Charles-

town as a township. Two years later an effort was
made to induce Cambridge to take some action in the
matter. Tli.-se propositions came to no immediate
result, but tliey show that the separation from Cam-
briflge was not brought about by any sudden im-
pulse.

Political differences no doubt had also a share in

iDcreasiDg the desire for separation. When parties
began to be formed after the adoption of the Consti-
tution, Old Cambridge took the Federalist side

while Menotomy strongly favored the opposition.

People who had seen their houses pillaged and

their neighbors murdered by the King's soldiers could

hardly be expected to lock with much favor

on the cause of England, with which the Federalists

were popularly identified. With France they had a

warm sympathy. When the French Republic was

established there were various celebrations of the

event among the Eepublicans in and about Boston.

In Menotomy, instead of the usual civic feast, the

women held a celebration of their own. About fifty

of them met one Thursday afternoon in February,

1793, at the house of Mrs. "Wellington"—probably

Mrs. Jeduthun Willington—who had ornamented

her rooms with various kinds of evergreens, to con-

gratulate one another upon the great events in France.

With their caps adorned with the French national

cockade of liberty, they sat down to a banquet con-

sisting ofcoffee, wine and civic cake, and further cele-

brated with music, vocal and instrumental ; until, as

the reporter gallantly expresses it, " the joyful scene

concluded with that harmony, civility and politeness

which exalt their sex so far above the othpr." Civic

cake, which was used at the festivals of the French

sympathizers, differed from other cake in having

the words " Liberty and Equality " .stamped upon

it. That such a celebration should have taken place

at all in a parish like Menotomy, among such a sober

and practical people as lived here, shows with pecu-

lilar vividness the intensity of popular feeling. Very

soon after this astonishing performance the news ar-

rived of the execution of Louis XVI. and the begin,

ning of that series of events that culminated in the

Reign of Terror, and we hear nothing more of civic

cake and cockades of liberty.

In 1799 a new industry was begun in the parish,

which had a good deal of fame in its day. This was

the card manufactory of Amos Whittemore and his

brothers. Amos was a grandson of Samuel Whitte-

more, whose experience in the battle of April 19,

1775, has been above narrated. He early exhibited

an unusual taste for mechanics, and during his ap-

prenticeship to a gunsmith, showed much ingenuity

and a strong inventive talent. After a time he be-

came engaged in Boston in the manufacture of cotton

and wool cards.

The manufacture of cotton and woolen goods was
beginning to be important, and the demand for cards

—

used in separating the fibre—was increasing. But
this manufacture was a slow and expensive process.

One machine punched a piece of leather full of

holes; another machine cut wire and bent it into

staples, and then the staples had to be placed in the

holes, one by one, by hand, to make the card. Whitte-

more set himself the task of contriving a machine that

should perform the whole operation.The story is that of

so many inventions. At the sacrifice of health, with

neglect of food and sleep, he devoted himself to his

work. Gradually overcoming one difliculty after
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another, he brought his machine nearer and nearer

perfection. One final obstacle remained which seemed

insurmountable. Despairing oftentimes, but coming

back with tenacious perseverance to the effort, at last

the solution of the problem flashed upon him and the

task was done. He obtained a patent in the United

States in 1797 and afterwards one in England ; and,

with his brother William and Robert Williams, began

business in Menotomy under the firm of William

Whittemore & Co. Their factory stood near the meet-

ing-house. Two years after the business was started

it employed forty people and turned out two hundred

dozen cards a week. In so small a community as

Menotomy then was—comprising but 85 dwelling-

houses—this was a very important industry, and its

removal to New York in 1812 was felt as a serious

loss. Its fortunes in New York were various. Shar-

ing in the sudden and perhaps uuhe.althy activity of

manufacturing pursuits during the war of 1812, it felt

severely the equally sudden reverses that followed.

After the expiration of the patent in 1825, two of the

inventor's sons again began business in West Cam-
bridge in 1827 in a different place and in a smaller

way, and carried it on until their factory was burned

in 1862.

The principal work undertaken by the parish dur-

ing the last years of its existence as the Second

Parish of Cambridge was the building of a new meet-

ing-bouse. Notwithstanding additions of seats and

pews, the old one was too small to accommodate the

increased number of worshippers. The building had

undergone repairs from time to time. As far back as

1778 Rev. Mr. Cooke appears to have felt doubtful

about the stability of the belfry, for we find his thrifty

parishioners appointing a committee to see if they
" could make him easy " not to take it down. The
committee brought back the resigned answer that he

would leave it to the people, and trust in the provi-

dence of God. The new belfry appeared in 1783, when

many alterations and repairs were made. Finally it

was decided that a larger building must be had. At

a meeting held January 9, 1804, it was voted to build

a wooden house seventy feet long, fifty-six feet wide,

and thirty feet posts. The old meeting-house was

sold at auction, and after several changes reached the

place where it now stands. It was turned into a

dwelling-house, and is now occupied by Mr. Charles

O. Gage.

The new house was raised without accident in July,

1804, and dedicated March 20, 1805. It had the same

general appearance as many meeting-houses of that

day—an oblong building painted white, having in

front a porch with four pillars, and on top a short,

square tower surmounted by a belfry, the dome-shaped

roof of which supported a little spire with a vane

—

still a familiar type of church architecture in New
England villages. It contained ninety-two pews on

the floor and fourteen in the galleries.

The pfospect of a new building seems to have ex-

cited the zeal of the musical members of the pariah

to improve the singing on Sundays. There had been

a choir for a considerable time—at any rate, since

1775, when William Cutter was chosen by the parish

to lead in singing, and two seats in the front gallery

were set apart for the singers. In 1796 instrumental

music was added in the shape of a bass-viol, to the

accompaniment of which the choir sang the hymns
in Tate and Brady's Collection. In 1804 it became
desirable to establish the Northwest Parish of Cam-
bridge Singing Society, for, as was said in the pre-

amble to the constitution, the spirit of music in

public devotion " is become something languid, and

its genius seems about to withdraw." Accordingly

the society was formed for the laudable purpose

of reviving the spirit and improving the members
in the art of music. " Justice our principle, Re.ason

our guide, and Honor our law." It was provided

that every member should sit in the singing seats on

Sundays when he was at meeting. This society

lasted three years, and was immediately succeeded by

the West Cambridge Musical Society, which con-

tinued until 1817. The "Village Harmony," the

"Middlesex Collection," and Belknap's hymn-book
furnished them with material ; they met in the win-

ter months for practice, and we may hope were en-

abled to bring back the retiring genius of music.

The building of the new meeting-house was soon

followed by the incorporation of a new town. A pe

titiou was presented to the General Court, and on

February 27, 1807, an act was passed to incorporate

the Second Parish of Cambridge as the town of West
Cambridge. The act went into effect June 1, 1807.

From that time the history of the parish continues

simply as that of a religious society—no longer as

that of a community. In its place come the more
varied activities of a self-governing New England

town.

III. The Town of West Cambridge, 1807-67.

When the town of West Cambridge was incorporat-

ed it contained not far from nine hundred inhabit-

ants. The increase in population had been gradual

and had not affected the character of the place. It

was still essentially the farming community that it

had been for more than a century and a half The
roads that traversed the town were the old roads to

Cambridge, Medford, Woburn, Charlestown and Wa-
tertown, and the paths that led from the highway to

the mills on the brook. Of these mills there were

several. Lowest on the brook was Ephraim Cutter's

grist-mill, which he had recently built at his new
dam just below the ancient site of Col. Cooke's

mill, and of its successors, where for several genera-

tions his own ancestors had labored. Next above came
the mill of Stephen Cutter, on the present Mill Street.

At the place where the saw factory was so long car-

ried on, Abner Stearns had just erected a wool-factory,

which he sold in 1808 to John Tufts, who kept the
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ueiebborine Uvern. St«ani» eatabliahed himself a
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. 1 on tlie business of turning and

,^ U ; and a gliort distance above came
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1 > Perry and Stephen Locke.

-- that was carried on along the

|,. .i.ictory seems to have been the

W card-l'uctory ; but that wsvs the most im-

|. III. I'orthe business was growing each year.

Id 1809 the twenty-three machines with whioh the

b»«in«ui began had increased to fifty-five, capable of

sticking eighty do/.on pairs of cards in a day. From

nine to ten thousand ilollars was paid in wages yearly

to the flirty or fifty enipli)yee.s—a very large amount

in the eyes of the people of the town. There were a

number of stores—that of Col. Thomas Russell being

the most important, and several taverns. These oc-

cupations, however, employed a comparatively small

portion of the citizens. The greater number carried

on larniing, as their predecesiiors had done. That was

the distinctive business of tiie place.

Un the Utli day of .Tune, 1807, the people of West

Cambridge met in their first town-neeting and chose

their first board of town officers. Together with the

officers who are still annually elected—the selectmen,

overseers of the poor, town treasurer, constables

—

others were chosen whose names are not so familiar

nowadays—fire-wards, hog-reeves, pound-keeper and

tythiugman. In the Ma8s.ichusetts fashion, the citi-

zens next set about providing for the education of

their children. The old system of the four women's

schools and the one man's school with the term of

fourteen weeks was improved upon. The town was

divided into four school districts—the South, Western,

Middle and Eastern—and it was provided that there

should be four and a half months' schooling in each.

In the following spring West Cambridge first took

part a.s a .separate community in a State election, and

the political bias of the people appears very clearly

in the result of the vote for Governor, for while the

Ktpiiblican Ciovernor, Sullivan, received 147 votes,

the Federalist candidate, Christopher Gore, had to

content himself with thirty-three. Party spirit ran

high in those days, for the embargo had been pro-

claimed in the previous December and the effects of

that mea.sure were beginning to be felt in New Eng-
land. The West Cambridge people had little to do
directly with foreign commerce, and did not experi-

ence that personal suffering that brought about such
bitter opposition in many places to Mr. Jefferson's

policy, while their patriotic feelings impelled them to

take the side of the Administration. When the Fourth
of .luly arrived they celebrated it with a procession,

an oration and a banquet. The orator was William
.Nil-hols, .Ir., then the master of the school at the cen-
tre of the town, and he spoke in the new meeting-

house. The banquet took place out of doors near

Tofts' Tavern, and was followed by a formidable list

of toasts, proposed by the toast-master and responded

to by persons selected beforehand. The general en-

thu.siasm was heightened by the playing of the band

and the firing of the cannon, as the toasts were given.

Beside the regular eighteen toasts there were five

" volunteers." Some of these sentiments are worth

quoting

:

"The President ;—a firm, undoviatmg and inflexible patriot and states-

man ; he lives in the respect and veneration of the friends of liberty."

"The memory of Warren, and all those who fell in defence of our

rights:—may their spirits haunt the wretches wlio servilely court the

favor of their destroyers."

" The P^inbargo :—wisely calculated to preserve our peace and privi-

leges ; may those who seek to destroy its efficacy feel its first effects."

" The people of the United States :—may they be fully sensible of their

power and sovereignty, and never suffer a nobility to trample on their

rights or be duped by Federal imposture and hypocrisy."

*' May the kidnappers of man, of every nation, be equally detested by

the sons and daughters of Columbia."

We may safely assume th.at the few Federalist-i in

West Cambridge took no great part in this interesting

celebration. At a town-meeting held in March, 1809,

the majority expre.ssed their feelings "on the alarm-

ing crisis of our publick affairs" in a series of resolu-

tions that revel in figurative language. They begin

with a long preamble reciting the seriousness of a

moment " when Great Britain, like the leviathan of

the' deep, has sharpened her teeth against the com-

merce of all nations ; when, by her piracies and her

illegal orders, she has swept from the ocean the com-

merce of all nations; when, like the Ishmaelite of old,

her hand is against every man and every man's hand

against her." After particularizing some of the acts

of the Ishmaelite and the leviathan the preamble goes

on to denounce the opposition party at home, espe-

cially for their proceedings in the State Legislature

and various towns, "when the very men who charge

the National Government with partiality to France,

have justified or palliated the conduct of Great Brit-

ain, and openly advised to unfurl the Republicau

banner against the Imperial standard ;

" and concludes

by saying that it is time for citizens to come forward

and express their sentiments. Then follow the senti-

ments which citizens ought to express, in the form of

resolutions of which a small part relates to the bad

conduct of England and France and a great deal to

the worse conduct of the Federalists. They approve

the Embargo, express respect for the liberty of the

press, with a dark allusion to that portion of it that

is endeavoring to weaken the Administration, charge

upon the leaders of the opposition that they are

moved by " a thirst for power and place which they

have uniformly been seeking the last eight years,"

and that they, "notwithstanding the risk of all the

evils necessarily resulting from a dissolution of the

Union, are determined to hunt down and lay prostrate

the present Administration and to elevate themselves

and families on its ruins." The whole closes with

a commendation of Thomas Jefferson, whoSe Presi-
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dential term had just come to an end. One may
fancy the disgust of the Federalist minority that this

very unambiguous set of resolutions should go out as

the voice of the town. However, they could muster

but eight dissenting votes, and it was further voted

that the resolutions should be published in the party

newspapers, where no doubt they brought joy to the

hearts of all good Republicans.

For the next two or three years the country was

drifting towards war, and a strong military spirit was

aroused. The West Cambridge Light Infantry was

organized in 1811 and took part in a volunteer mus-

ter that occurred in the town that year. A fort was

built, garrisoned by a company which represented

British troops, was attacked by the American forces,

and captured after a desperate struggle. In another

year came the second war with Great Britain. The
town voted to pay ten dollars per month and five dol-

lars bounty to each non-commissioned officer and sol-

dier from West Cambridge in the service. Later in

the war the allowance was increased, and then the in-

crease was cut off. The war had little direct effect

upon the town, except in 1814, when there was a scare

as to a threatened British attack on Boston, and a large

number of volunteers went into training to resist the

invaders, who never came.

In 1816 measures were taken to protect the town

against loss by fire. The selectmen were author-

ized to get fire-ladders and hooks, fire-ward staffs and

such other fire implements as they deemed necessary.

These were kept in different parts of the town, some

of them in the cellar of the meeting-house. There

was already a little hand fire-engine—the " Friend-

ship " belonging to individuals and kept in a house

near the centre—but apparently of no very great ser-

vice, since we find the town voting in 1820 to buy an

engine on condition that the engine company would

transfer their house and fire implements to the town.

This burst of energy in relation to protection from

fire seems not to have been without cause, for in 1817

the town found it necessary to offer a reward of $500

—a large sum for a town the yearly expenses of

which were only about $3000—for information as to per-

sons setting fire to buildings or to combustible matter

which might endanger buildings. The special com-

mittee that advised this action made at the same time

certain other recommendations aimed at the vices of

gambling and drunkenness. The committee advised

and the town voted that the selectmen should see that

the laws against gambling were rigidly executed and

that they should make a list of all persons who were

in the habit of excessive drinking or wasting time

and property thereby, should place the list in the

hands of all licensed persons and forbid them to

sell intoxicating liquor to anybody on the list. The
plau was certainly ingenious, although one is hardly

disposed to envy the task of the selectmen in deciding

who of their fellow-townsmea should go on the list of

topers.

While making such laudable efforts to suppress

crime and excess, the towns-people were not forgetful

of those institutions that make for intelligence and
morality. In each of the four districts into which the

town was divided a school was kept, taught by a man
in winter and by a woman in summer. The little

children especially attended the summer school, while

the older ones came to the master's school at a season

when out-door work on the farms had largely to cease.

Therequirsment foradmission into the " man's school

"

was not very severe—an applicant need only be able
" to read in words of two syllables by spelling the

same." The oversight of the schools was first placed

on a settled basis in 1827, when a general School Com-
mittee of three members was chosen, with a Pruden-
tial Committee of four—one from each district—to

act with them. Before this time the custom had var-

ied. Sometimes the selectmen had formed part of

the School Committee—at other times a separate

board was appointed. Teachers' salaries were not

exorbitant. Usually about $600 were appropriated

for salaries, which gave to each district $150, more or

less, of which the master was apt to get the lion's

share.

The older people found a means of improvement in

the books of the West Cambridge Social Library.

This institution was founded in 1807, a very few

months after the incorporation of the town. It was a

proprietors' library—one of a class not uncommon at

that time, when circulating libraries were rare, and
free public libraries practically unknown, but not

often to be met with now in Massachusetts—the most
conspicuous surviving example being the Boston

Athenaeum.

The library was a corporation wherein each mem-
ber held a share, for which he paid five dollars, and
upon which he paid an annual assessment of one dol-

lar. With the money thus obtained, the library was
founded and kept up. It was not in any sense a pub-
lic institution

; the books were for the members and
their families alone, and a heavy fine was imposed if

a proprietor should lend a book to any one outside his

own household. Many of the most respectable and
intelligent citizens took shares. Each proprietor was

at first allowed to take one book at a time, but this

number was afterwards increased, as the library be-

came larger. The length of time for which a book
could be retained varied, but a consideration waa
shown to slow readers, which they do not often get

at the hands of the managers of modern libraries. For
example, a member might have twenty-five days to

read " Gay's Fables " and thirty-five days for " Paradise

Lost.'' He might reflect upon "Pilgrim's Progress "for

forty days if he saw fit, and was allowed seventy days

to struggle with " Ferguson's Astronomy." Notwith-

standing this liberality in the matter of time, the rec-

ords of fines show that the Social Library had its full

proportion of laggard book-borrowers. And it is not

surprising that hard-working men took some time to
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,vel, as " Cupt. Cook's Voyages "
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, Abyi'sinia."—these will give an
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tion. A lew t!»ayi«ls were represented in the library,

•errrsi poett, hardly a novelist. The scarcity of

American writers is noticeable; at that time there

wrrr few of them. Hut with all its unlikeness to a

II-, one cannot examine the li-sts of

I. West Ciimbri.lge Social Library with-

out an iiiiiied respect for the people who turned to

«uch serious and wholesome reading as the employ-

ment of their leisure hours. The library continued

to exist until after the establishment of the Juvenile

Library described below.

."Ninie other events of this period may be more

briefly dismissetl. An almshouse was built in 1817.

IVfore that time the poor were boarded out, or were

aided by the town at their own homes. About $700

was spent for tlie support of paupers in the year 1810

-11, and nearly $800 in 1815-16. The almshouse

Ktooil on land bought of Josiah Whittemore, near the

lite of the Black Horse Tavern. It was used until

the present almshouse was built, in ISiW, was then

soldataucti<m and continues to be occupied as adwell-

ing-houae. In 1812 the town obtained the exclusive

right of disposing of the privilege of taking the shad

and alewives in the ponds and streams within its lim-

its,—a grant whicli was revoked by the Legislature in

1823. In 1821 West Cambridge was placed under

the operation of an act, passed in 1789, which pro-

vided for the regulation of the shad and alewife fish-

ery in Mystic River and its tribut.iry ponds and

streams ; and thereafter preservers of fish were regu-

larly chosen.

In 1823 we find the town taking measures against

the danger of an epidemic of small-pox, by author-

izing the selectmen and overseers of the poor to con-

tract with some person to inoculate all inhabitants

who wished with the cow-pox—the expense to be not
• iver twenty-five cents for each patient.

West Cambridge was honored in the following year

with the presence of Lafayette, who passed through
on his way to Lexington, .September 2d. No formal
cxeni^es were held here. Two arches, with appro-
priate inscriptions, were thrown across the road, and
the whole population—men, women and children—
aa»emble<l by the meeting-house to cheer the veteran
as he went by.

In 18.V< the town receiveda legacy of flOO from Dr.
Ebenezer Learned, of Hopkinton, New Hampshire,
to establish a juvenile library. Dr. Learned was by
birth a Medford man, a graduate of Harvard College
in the class of 1787, and afterwards a practicing phy-

sician at Leominster, Massachusetts, and Hopkinton,

New Hampshire. Himself a man of learning, he was

devoted throughout his life to the advancement of

education, and took an active part, without any self-

seeking, in the promotion of many good causes.

Holding a high rank in his profession, he found time

for outside pursuits, whicli he believed would bring

benefit to the community. Thus he was active in the

formation of the New Hampshire Agricultural So-

ciety, and was one of the founders of Hopkinton

Academy. He had taught school in Menotomy when

he was a student in college, and had doubtless often

thought how few were the books to which children

had access ; and when he came to consider to what

use the .savings of many industrious years were to be

applied, he resolved that among his other benefac-

tions he would do something for the benefit of the

school-children of West Cambridge. He states his

purpose in his will :
" In consequence of a grateful

remembrance of hospitality and friendship, as well as

an uncommon share of p.atronage afforded me by the

inhabitants of West Cambridge, in the Commonwealth

of Massachusetts, in the early part of my life, when

patronage was most useful to me, I give to the said

town of West Cambridge $100 for the purpose of es-

tablishing a juvenile library in said town. The
Selectmen, Ministers of the Gospel and Physicians of

West Cambridge, for the time being, shall receive this

sum, select and purchase the books for the library,

which shall be such books as in their opinion will

best promote useful knowledge and the Christian vir-

tues among the inhabitants of said town who are

scholars, or by usage have a right to attend as schol-

ars in their primary schools. Other persons may be

admitted to the privileges of said library under the

direction of said town, paying a sum for membership,

and an annual tax for the increase of the same."

Di-. Learned's intention is entirely clear. He had

no thought of founding a library which should not

belong to the town, or the management of which in

years to come should be in any way restricted or

taken out of the hands of the town. He wanted to

be sure that the books bought with his bequest should

be well selected, and hence he appointed those who,

from their position in the community, might be as-

sumed to be trustworthy men. After his legacy had

been expended, the duties of bis nominees would end,

the library would belong to the town, and he evi-

dently believed that the town would cheerfully bear

the small expense of managing it, as he left nothing

for that purpose. For its increase he relied upon the

fees that adults might pay under the town's direction,

as his will provides.

The selectmen, ministers an<l physicians met No-
vember 30, 1835, and voted that the books selected

for the library should be such as were directed by
the will of the donor,—" the same not being of a sec-

tarian character "—and then proceeded to spend
more than four-fifths of the legacy for books. When
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this was done, however, instead of handing over the

collection of volumes to the town, that it might take

whatever action it saw fit in regard to the future

management of the library, the selectmen, ministers

and physicians continued to control it, and, in fact,

remained in charge of it till 1878. This came about

naturally enough, as the library was small for many

years and could be as well managed in this way as in

any other. So, without any formal act on the part of

the town, this arrangement was acquiesced in by com-

mon consent. Although the managers styled them-

selves "Trustees of the West Cambridge Juvenile

Library," yet they recognized in their accounts and

in their frequent reports to the town that they were

simply agents of the town and not an independent

body—a fact also recognized by the town, which, at

one time, added the School Committee to their num-

ber.

lu 183() the West Cambridge Sewing Circle gave

the sum of sixty dollars to the library, and in return

were granted the jirivilege of taking books for a nom-

inal yearly fee. A more important thing happened

in 1837, when the town voted at the Jlarch meeting

that thirty dollars be appropriated annually for the

increase of the Juvenile Library. The trustees passed

a vote at their next meeting " that, in consideration

of thirty dollars annually appropriated by the town

for the increase of the Library, that each family in

the town shall have the right to take books from the

library while the appropriation is continued." In

1837, then, the library became a free town library

—

owned and managed by the town, and open without

charge to all its people. I have stated these facts in

some detail, as it is no small honor to a town to have

founded the first free public library in Massachu-

setts.

The library for some time increased but slowly.

Its only regular resource was the town appropriation

of thirty dollars. Once or twice this was omitted at

the proper time, but the arrears were made up by the

payment of two or three years' appropriations at once.

From time to time there were gifts of money or books.

Most of the books of the old Social Library came

finally into the collection. In 1854 a bequest of $100

was received from the estate of Dr. Timothy Welling-

ton, for half a century an honored and beloved phy-

sician of the town. He had been clerk of the trus-

tees from the beginning and was a warm and devoted

supporter of the librarj'. His gift was invested and

its income is used each year in buying books. In

1860 the town appropriation was increased to $100

and a few years later to $200. The library was at

first kept in the house of Mr. Jonathan Dexter.

After a time it was placed in the basement of the

First Parish Ciiurch and later in the Town House.

In 1824 William Cutter died, leaving his property

after the death of his wife to the town for the benefit

of the public schools. His widow, Mary, died in 1836

and the gift then became available. Mary Cutter,

with the same public spirit that her husband had

shown, bequeathed to the town $200 for the benefit of

the poor widows of the place. The " William Cutter

School Fund'' amounted when received to $5019. It

was somewhat increased in the settlement of accounts

between Charlestown and West Cambridge in 1842,

and is now $5354. The donor wisely placed no narrow

restrictions upon his gilt—its income was to be appro-

priated " for the maintenance and support of schools."

The " Poor Widows' Fund " has also been added to

from time to time, and now amounts to $613.11, held

for the benefit of the poor wi<lows of the town. The
town, appreciating these gifts of a childless couple,

whose only motive could have been the hope of doing

good, instructed the selectmen to contribute to the

erection of the monument that marks their graves in

the old cemetery.

In 1838 a new division of school districts was made.

The larger part of the Centre and East Districts be-

came the Union District ; the Northwest District was

somewhat enlarged and the Southwest District re-

mained unchanged. In the Union and Northwest

Districts the old school-houses were sold and new

ones built—each two stories in height and containing

two school-rooms. The expense was in part defrayed

from a windfall that had come to the town during the

preceding year. It was then that the surplus revenue

of the United States was distributed among the States.

Massachusetts divided its share among its towns. At

first West Cambridge thriftily voted to lend the fund

thus acquired on the security of real estate mortgages,

giving a preference to its own citizens as borrowers
;

but when the school-houses had to be built the temp-

tation was strong to use this money rather than to

raise the necessary sum by taxation, and the treasurer

was accordingly authorized to call it in again. In

1842 a new school-house was built in the South Dis-

trict. With new buildings a rough grading of the

schools became practicable, aud the system then es-

tablished lasted for some years with little variation.

In each district was a grammar school taught by a

man aud a primary school taught by a woman. Be-

sides these, there was a little primary school in what

was called the Wyman District. Tliis district was in

the old limits of Charlestown and most of it was in-

cluded in Winchester in 1850, the part left within the

borders of West Cambridge being then joined to the

Union District. Then for a few years the Gardner

School existed, which came to an end when Somer-

ville was separated from Charlestown. Both of these

schools were within the boundaries of Charlestown

and were never large. In 1850 a school-house was

erected in the East District—a part of the Union Dis-

trict—and a primary school established.

There were two terms in the school year, known as

the summer and winter terms. The summer term be-

gan about the middle of April and lasted till Thanks-

giving, with a break of three weeks in August. After

the Thanksgiving vacation of a week, the winter term
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iMgmn and continued till about the end of March,

when two mevk* of vsoalion brought rouud the sum-

,in. At the end of eiieh terra came an

by the School Committee, and freqiient-

, were held. Of the teachers of

lute Uaniel C. Browu, for many

Centre School is perhaps now the

Id latfl the Kussell School—a four-room wooden

l>uildin« -wa» erected on the piece of land where ita

•ucc-wr now ttands, and was named afleJ one of the

oldr«t and most prominent families in town. Two

yttin later a similar bcIiohI -house was built in the

Northwest Oiitriit and rcieived the name of the Cut-

ler School, after another well-known family, with

perh«p« a special reference to the donor of the Wil-

liam < 'utter School Fund. This building stood but

three yearn before it was burned. Another building,

•till standinjj, was erected in its place in 18t>7. With

this iDi-rea.se in schools, consequent upon the growth

of the town, an improved system of grading became

practicable.

In \MA a High School was established. Six years

earlier, William Cotting, an old resident of the town,

who owned a large piece of land, through which

Academy Street now runs, gave to four trustees a lot of

land to be held by them for the use and maintenance

of a high school or academy. The plan of estab-

lishing such an academy had been for some time in

contemplation among several leading citizens, who

desire<l that their children might be educated at

home, and Mr. Cotting's gift enabled them to proceed

at once to carry out their intention. A school-house

was built and the Cotting Academy opened. In order

to secure the maintenance of a school of high charac-

ter, Mr. Cotting made it a condition of his gift that

no school kept on the premises should be of lower

grade than a high school, " to the end that any pupil

thereof, so desiring, shall at all times have opportuni-

ty of being thoroughly educ.ited in such school iu any

and all the branches of learning required for admis-

oion into Harvard University at Cambridge and other

American colleges." As the academy went success-

fully on, a desire naturally arose among many of the

people of the town that it should become a public

high school, so that its advantages might be more
widely enjoyed. This was no new notion. As far

back as 18:!H the proposition had been made in town-
meeting to establish such a school, and although the

movement would have been premature then and for

some time thereafter, many were looking forward to

the time when such a step could wisely be taken.

The [Kjpulation of the town was far below the number
required by law to make the establishment of a high
»ch<iol compulsf)ry, but nevertheless it was decided in

1864 that the Cotting Academy should be transferred
to the town and become the Cotting High School.
Mr. Cotting had foreseen that this change was likely
to come to pass, and provided for it in his original

deed of girt. The High School was opened in De-

cember, 1864.

Its first principal was the late Charles 0. Thomp-

son, who remained three years at its head. His re-

markable gifts as a teacher and organizer, exhibited

afterwards on larger fields of duty, gave to the school

a character that has lasted. His later career as prin-

cipal of the Worcester Free Institute and of the Rose

Polytechnic School, at Terre Haute, Ind., is well

known. That it should have been cut short by death,

while he w!»8 yet in his prime, is a matter of enduring

regret, not only to the many who saw in it merely a

serious loss to the cause of scientific education in the

United States, but especially to those who Mnem him

as teacher or as friend.

In order to put the account of the library and the

schools in a more intelligible way, I have departed,

somewhat, from the chronological order of events.

Returning to the decade between 1830 and 1840, we

find a considerable increase in the means of protec-

tion against fire. Beside the " Friendship," which

was then kept in an engine-house situated by the

brook in the burying-ground, near the road, the town

possessed the " Good Intent," bought before 1832,

and kept in the northwest part of the town. To these

were soon added two more engines—the "Olive

Branch," in 1835, and the "Enterprise," in 1836.

The " Olive Branch " belonged in the upper end of

the town, and the "Enterprise" in the southern part.

Each machine was manned by a company appointed

by the selectmen. The companies of the two older

engines usually comprised about twenty men, while

the newer ones had over thirty. The cost of the en-

gines was paid in part by the town and in part by in-

dividuals. To these four succeeded the "Eureka"

and the "Howard," in 1851. The "Howard" was

kept in what is now Belmont, and became the prop-

erty of the new town.

Sidewalks were coming into fashion in 1834, in

which year the town authorized abutters to build

sidewalks at their own expense, and to protect them

by posts and ornamental trees. In 1835 an appropri-

ation was made to pay for ringing of the church bell,

half an hour before sunrise, at noon and at nine in

the evening. A facetious person, acting apparently

on the principle that there could not be too much of

a good thing, managed to get a vote through the

meeting that the bell should be rang also at midnight,

an improvement that proved fatal to the original

plan, as all the votes were reconsidered. Two years

later the proposition reappeared in a form less alarm-

ing to late risers, and the custom that still exists was

established of having the bell rung at noon and at

nine o'clock at night. In 1839 a vote was passed,

authorizing the people to dig wells in the highways
where they would not impede travel.

On February 25, 1842, the town received a con-

siderable accession of territory from the addition of

all that part of Charlestown that lay northwest of
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Alewife Brook. The people of this tract were joined

by many ties to their West Cambridge neighbors, aud

it is OQly surprising that so obviously desirable a union

did not take place long before. This annexation

gave the town the largest area it ever had. A few

years later, in 1850, it lost, much against its will, a

|iortion of its extreme northern corner when the town

of Winchester was formed.

In 1843 land was bought on the Medford Road for

a new cemetery, which soon after received the name

of Mt. Pleasant. Since its establishment compara-

tively few interments have been made in the old

burial-ground.

In 1846 an event took place which was to have a

profound effect upon the fortunes of the town—the

opening of the railroad. Hitherto the public means

of conveyance to Boston had been by stagecoach.

For many years, on three days of the week, the

stage which carried the New Hampshire mail afforded

a means of reaching Boston. It passed through West

Cambridge late in the afternoon and did not come

back until the next morning, when it again rolled

heavily through the streets of the town on its long

return journey. More frequent trips were made by

the Concord coach, which was established at a later

date. This conveyance ran daily to the city. Whoever

desired to go in it left his name beforehand at the

tavern at the corner of the Medford road, and the

coach called at his door. The journey was too ex-

pensive to be often indulged in, for the fare was fifty

cents; and the few persons whose business called

them frequently to Boston traveled in their own

chaises. A later and formidable rival to the Concord

stage-coach was the omnibus, which ran no farther

than West Cambridge. This conveyance gave the

public great accommodation, for it went to Boston

and returned twice every week-day, and passengers

had to pay but twenty-five cents a trip. Butomnibus

and stage-coach alike were destined to disappear

before the locomotive engine.

It was in 1844 that the first serious movement to

introduce a railroad into West Cambridge had its be-

ginning. The plan then was to construct a branch

track from the Fitchburg or Fresh Pond Road in Cam-

bridge to a point near the centre of West Cambridge.

A public meeting was held, committees were ap-

pointed and surveys were made. Before any definite

action was taken, however, people in Lexington began

to move to bring about the building of a road to their

town. The citizens of both places united finally in a

compromise, according to which one road was to be

built, to run through West Cambridge to Lexington.

This arrangement was sanctioned by the Legislature,

and the Lexington and West Cambridge Branch Rail-

road became incorporated March 24, 1845. It was

opened for public travel in August, 1846.

The accomruodation afforded by the new railroad

would hardly in these days excite more than a moder-

ate amount of gratitude. However, it was a great ad-

vance on anything that had existed before, towards

making the town accessible from the neighboring

city. From that time West Cambridge began notice-

ably to take on the character of a place of residence

for those whose daily work lay outside its borders.

In 1846 a committee was appointed to name the

various streets, which had, up to that time, gone by

the old names that had been given them by popular

usage. The committee showed excellent taste and

judgment in the performance of that work and the

names thus given them—as Medford and Mystic,

Warren and Pleasant—still designate most of our

older streets.

At about this time .some indications appear that

there was the same difficulty in the enforcement of

laws against the illegal sale of liquor that has been

found elsewhere and at other times. We find a special

committee appointed in 1843 to enforce the laws a.s

to the sale of liquors, and three years later the select-

men are authorized to prosecute those who might ille-

gally sell ardent spirits and other intoxicating liquors.

Dogs come into the foreground in 1849 as objects

of public disapproval. At a meeting held January

1st it was voted to petition the Legislature to protect

the inhabitants of the Commonwealth "from the an-

noyance and danger now experienced by the great

and alarming increase of dogs," and by way of aiding

in the cause an ordinance was passed providing for

the licensing and muzzling of these animals.

1861 was the year of the tornado,—an event which

deserves to be described in some detail. It occurred

on Friday, the 22d day of August. Its track was

from southwest to northeast, curving gradually to

eastward. It began its course in Wayland, and then

passed over Weston, Waltham, West Cambridge,

Medford, Maiden, Saugus, Swampscott and Lynn,

and thence to the sea. In all these places some dam-

age was done, but Medford and West Cambridge bore

the brunt of the storm. Those who saw it described

it as a dark cloud sweeping over the surface of the

country with frightful speed ; its base now touching

the earth and now bounding up for a little, to return

again farther on. Its shape was variously compared

to a spreading elm, to an upright column, to an hour-

glass, and to an inverted cone—discrepancies proba-

bly to be attributed to the different positions of the

observers, to the excitement of the moment and per-

haps to actual changes of shape. One eye-witness

vividly compared it to an elephant's trunk, waving a

little from side to side and sucking up everything

that came in its way. Its path was straight for the

most part, with curious eddies and turns here and

there. It left behind it in West Cambridge a devas-

tated swath which was, in most places, from thirty to

fifty rods wide, although the track was at some points

wider and at some narrower than this.

The storm occurred at about half-past five o'clock

on a hot, sultry summer afternoon. There had been

during the day a light southwest wind, but for an
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bour before the tornado there w»« an almost perfect

f«lin. WitlK.iit iiiiy warning ilie storm struck West

Cambri.igr at the preniisivs of Mr. James Brown, on

(he WaltJiam line, antl swept aorass the town, tearing

it* way through woods, orchards and corn-fields. It

eruw«<l I'leasant ."Street near what is now the Belmont

Umn.larv, an.l went straight on across the land of

rooms of which served to accommodate the town

officers and the Juvenile Library. The lower floor

was leased for business purposes.

The Belmont controversy began in 1854, and was

by far the most important business that the town had

to deal with for the next five years. Tlie details of the

movement that resulted in the formation of a new

I'.ptainVlopkini. ofDr Wellingu.n, and of the other town from portions of three old ones belongs properly

rrM.lruI* ..n the e««t.-rn side of the street, then over to the history of Belmont. To West Cambridge the

ihe nortbw(-.t corner of Spy Pond, demolishing the

ic«-hoUi«rK at the water's edge, then across the bigh-

way at « i>oiiit near the present lino of Franklin

Strict, wreaking destruction on store, school-house

and dwelling)., and so on till it crossed Mystic River,

alwut litty rods below the Medford Street bridge.

Tbr toriiiido laxtcd a very few moments, but in that

time it did damage in We.-'t Cambridge to the extent

of nearly twenty-five thousand dollars. Happily no

live* were lout and no serious personal injuries in-

dicted.

Thiit sti>rm had several noticeable features much

coiiimenled on at the time. As it crossed the pond it

t.Mik up a good deal of water ; and this, mingled with

the sand and gravel of the railway embankment and

the du«t of the highway, splashed everything with a

liberal coating of gravelly mud. When there was

any vertical motion it was a lifting motion—things

were taken up into the air, not beaten down to the

earth. Trees generally resisted the disintegrating

force of the wind, but buildings were racked or shat-

tered. In Medford, where very careful observations

were made, few traces of rotary motion were found,

but in one place in West Cambridge, where a cornfield

was flattened before the blast, the corn lay with the

tups pointed in and to windward, on both sides of the

central line of the track, as if two enormous wheels

with vertical axes, turning in opposite directions and

playing into each other like cog-wheels, had passed

through the field. The people gathered in a public

meeting three days afterward and raised a substantial

sum to help the sufferers from the storm.

In 18.02 a Town House was built, the first and only

one that the town has possessed. Before 1840 town-

meetings were usually held in the meeting-house of

the First Parish. In that year a new meeting-house
was built, the vestry of which was known as Parish

Hall and here the town held its meetings for a dozen
years. In 1849 there was a movement for the erection

of a Town House, but no results immediately followed.

The pro[Misition met with a more favorable reception
in 1.S.J2, when a committee of leading citizens was
chosen to select a site and erect a building. The
Town House was completed in time for the March
meeting in 1853. Outside it presented substantially
the same appearance that it does now, except that its

brick walls were covered with a stucco which, until it

began to wear away with time, moderately resembled
stone. A broad flight of stairs ran directly up from
the front door to the entrance of the hall,' the ante-

plan meant the loss of about one-third of its territory,

one-fifth of its population and a quarter of its taxable

property, and it naturally met with a vigorous resist-

ance. Committees were chosen each year to oppose

the scheme before the General Court. The case is

famous among Massachusetts town divisions. Legis-

lature after Legislature rejected the bill, and year

after year the Belmont petitioners appeared at the

State House, to be met by the remonstrants from West

Cambridge, Watertown and Waltbam. At last, on

March 18, 1859, the bill incorporating the town of

Belmont became a law, and West Cambridge had to

submit to dismemberment with as good a grace as it

might. The lapse of thirty years has made the bitter-

ness of the controversy only a memory, but it is diffi-

cult not to feel a certain regret that those fertile farms

are not still a part of our town.

Gas was introduced into the town at this time—the

West Cambridge Gas-Light Company being incor-

porated and allowed to lay its pipes in the streets in

1854, although the town did not assume the expense

of street-lighting until 1859. In 1857 the town voted

to petition the Legislature for the establishment of a

horse railroad. In consequence of this desire the

West Cambridge Horse Railroad Company was incor-

porated May 28th of the same year, and its cars soon

began their hourly trips to Boston. Electricity was

introduced as a motive-power on this railway in the

summer of 1889.

In 1856 a clock was placed in the tower of the new
meeting-house of the First Parish. April 5, 1860, the

West Cambridge Savings Bank was. incorporated.

When the war broke out West Cambridge was not

untrue to its past. A great popular meeting was held

on Sunday, April 21, 1861, at which the citizens

pledged themselves to support the Government—

a

pledge that their behavior in the succeeding years

did not belie. A company was organized under

command of Capt. Albert S. lugalls. Unfortunately

no place could be found for it in a Massachusetts

regiment, and, unwilling to wait, many of the men
enlisted in the Fortieth New York—the Mozart regi-

ment. This was the only considerable body of West
Cambridge men who served together. The other

i soldiers who went from the town during the- war were

scattered through many organizations. It is difficult

to give the exact number of men who went into the

war from West Cambridge. Under the loose system
that prevailed, some recruits, who were in reality

residents here, were credited to other towns, and, in
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like manner, citizens of other places were set down as

coming from West Cambridge. Again, it is bard to

distinguish between residents and non-residents in

the lists of men furnished by the town to the service,

and diiierent enumerators might easily disagree.

Every quota called for was tilled, and more than

tilled. Counting the soldiers .supplied by the town

in all ways, to the .service, the number certainly con-

siderably exceeds three hundred. To mention names

among the living would be invidious—the list of the

thirty-three dead inscribed on the column that keeps

alive their memory is enough to show tliat West Cam-

bridge paid her part of the price of the redemption

of the United States of America.

Whatever the people at home could do was done.

The town was liberal in bounties to enlisted men and

in aid to their families. The generosity of individ-

ual citizens seconded the efforts of the community.

The Ladies' Soldiers' Aid Society did much through-

out the war to send help and comfort to the men in

the hospitals and at the front. It was found, in 1865,

that more than .S75,000 had been contributed directly

to the Union cause from these various sources. Be-

side this amount that is certainly known, much that

cannot now be traced was given through private

channels.

The town in 1866 received, under the will of Hon.

James Russell, a large tract of land to be held for the

purposes of a public park. It is now known as Rus-

sell Park.

The town ceased to bear the name of West Cam-

bridge in 1867. The principal public measures and

events during the sixty years that had elapsed since

its incorporation have been mentioned. Before pro-

ceeding to an account of the town under its new name
some other matters remain to be spoken of.

We turn first to the history of the several churches

—always an important part of the annals of a New
England town. As has been above stated. Rev. Thad-

deus Fiske was pastor of the Second Parish in Cam-
bridge when it became the First Parish in West Cam-
bridge, and he remained in that office for twenty

years more. If he makes less of a figure in the com-

munity than his predecessor the reason is to be found

not so much in the character of the man as in the

changed circumstances of the time. His long pastor-

ate of forty years covered a period when the old New
England church system was powerfully affected by

influences from within as well as from without.

While the rise of other forms of faith and worship

was interfering with the legal and social pre-eminence

of the Congregational body, changes of thought and

belief were taking place in its own ranks. Such in-

fluences were felt in West Cambridge as everywhere

else, and in vain Dr. Fiske set himself against the

current of events. He was a true successor of the

older race of New England divines and looked with

little favor upon any departure from the ancient ways.

The ideas that afterwards became known as Unitarian

spread among the people, although they received no

countenance from the pastor. Steadily the breach

widened until at last Dr. Fislce was so far out of touch

with many of his prominent parishioners that it be-

came clear that the only course was to sever his rela-

tion with his people. He accordingly resigned his

office May 8, 1828. The language of the church

records shows with what strong feelings of respect and

affection the parish regarded the minister whom duty

impelled to lay down a trust that he could no longer

properly hold. Dr. Fiske continued to live for many
years thereafter in the house that he had built in the

early days of his ministry very near the present Fiske

Place.

To Dr. Fiske succeeded Rev. Dr. Frederick Henry
Hedge, then a young man recently out of college.

His pastorate extended from 1829 to 1835. He was

the first distinctively Unitarian minister of the First

Parish. Then came Rev. David Damon, D.D., who took

an active part in the management of the Juvenile Li-

brary and of the public schools as well as in matters

more strictly appertaining to his own parish. He
died suddenly June 25, 1813, and, as the inscription

on his monument states, was the first to be buried in

the new cemetery, consecrated by him but a few days

before his death. Rev. William Ware was the next

minister; holding the position for a short time—from

December, 1843, to August, 1845. Rev. James F.

Brown was minister from 1848 until his early death

in 1853. Rev. Samuel Abbot Smith was ordained in

1854 and was minister throughout the important years

just before and during the war. At the call of duty

he went to Virginia at the close of the conflict to

preach the gospel. Stricken with fever, he came
home to die. His death occurred May 20, 1865, and

was much deplored by the whole community, to whom
he was endeared by many acts of kindness and good-

will. In 1866 Rev. Charles C. Salter was ordained,

and continued in charge of the parish until his resig-

nation, January 81, 1869.

The meeting-house in which Dr. Fiske preached

has been described. In 1840 it was taken down and

a larger building erected on the same site. This stood

until January 1, 1856, when it was destroyed by an

accidental fire. In the same year the present meet-

ing-house was built and was dedicated January 1,

1857.

The early history of the Baptist society has been

above given. It was passing through a period of de-

pression when West Cambridge became a separate

town. Still, those whose hearts were in the cause held

together, maintained their organization, held public

services when practicable, and trusted that better

days would come. lu 1816 the society was incorpo-

rated and in the following year a church was estab-

lished according to the usages of the Baptist denomi-

nation. Generous gifts were received from Stephen

Cutter, a leading citiz.en of the town, and, after his

death, from his wife, Mary Cutter. It was on land
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(Cirru by her ih.t the trowiog society built its church

in 1H28 Til '"'*' "* "'"' **'^"* ""' """

«,luMe. srii '^b «a.Hbuilt on the mime

•it« iu

Kfom .. . - -IS there appears to have been no

MUle.1 |iiut..r K«.v. Beojaniiii C Grafton was

„,, (111- .^..cieiy from 181« until 1828; Ucv.

J ,1. from 18:M to 1827; Rev. Kbenozer

v. .„ 1K.S4. From 183-1 to 1838 Rev.

^|, :,ml after him Ri>v. Charles Miller,

b«U i-bar)?.' »l tbe parish. Rev. Timothy (i. Tiiigley

WW Diiniitvr for the next Heven years mid was suc-

c««dr«i by Kev. Oeorgi- .1. Carlton, who continued in

the position itnlil IS-M. Rev. Joseph Barnard, known

a* an historical writer as well a.< in more strictly

pn.renional fields of labor, tame next, remaining for

twoyeani. Rov. Samuel B. Swaim, D.D., a man of

(•pfcial inlluence in the community, was pastor from

1H54 U> 18^2. Rov. John Duncan followed him in

18«>»-«>4, and Rev. Amos Harris became the minister

in isiii.

The two parishes already spoken of were for some

years the only religious organizations in the town of

West Cambridge. The Universalist Society was the

next to be established there. If we may judge by the

above-()Uoted obituary notice of Rev. Mr. Cooke, there

would seem to have been in his day persons holding

teneM similar to those of that denomination. Certain

it is. that in tbe decade [ireceding 1840, such views

were beeoniiog so prevalent as to give serious anxiety

to those of the First ParLsli who held to a ditt'erenl

opinion, as to the probability of that ancient society

becoming a Universalist church. However, after an

informal organization for several years, the First Uni-

venialist Society was regularly established in 1840,

and proceeded at once to build its meeting-house,

which was dedicated .lanuary 20, 1841.

Rev. .1. C. Waldo was its first pastor, and remained

till 1847. After a short term of service by Rev. Wil-

lard 8paulding, Rev. George Hill became the minis-

ter, and continued to fill that position from 1850 to

18<>0. Mr. Hill was prominent in town affairs and

served in 1854 aa representative in the Legislature.

For the six succeeding years Rev. William E. Gibbs

was minister, and was followed by the Rev. J. W.
Keyes.

The establishment of the- Universalist Church wa.s

soon followed by that of what is now known as the

Plea.sant Street Congregational Society. The prime

mover in the organization w:us very appropriatelv a

granddaughter of Rev. Mr. Cooke, .Miss .\nna Brad-

sbaw, who lived in his former dwelling-house. It

was in 1842 that the informal meetings were begun,
from which grew the society. Oa the 14th day of De-
cember of that year a church vim, duly established,

the list of members including the name of Rev. Thad-
deus Fiske, the retired minister of the old parish.

The site on which the meeting-house was built in 1844
i« part of the estate that belonged in the last century

to Parson Cooke. The building has since been con-

siderably altered and enlarged.

The society bad but two ministers during the time

ol which I am now speaking—Rev. Francis Horton,

who occujiied the position from 1843 to 1854, and

Rev. Daniel R. ('ady,l).l'., who became pastor in 185fi.

It is impossible to do more here than mention the

names of the West Cambridge pastors. It is clear,

from what is remembered or has been recorded, that

they were an earneiitbody of men, true to the duties of

their calling, and active in good causes in the com-

munity. We find them, for instance, freciuently serv-

ing as members of the School Committees. Rev.

Ebenezer Nelson, of the Baptist church, received in

1834 the unusual honor of a public vote of thanks

from the town for his faithful services in that office.

Throughout the sixty years that followed the incor-

poration of West Cambridge, farming continued to

be the principal industry of the town. Its character

changed somewhat as time went on. At first it

was general farming, like that now carried on in the

towns farther back in the country. But with the

growth of Boston, agriculture here became more spe-

cialized to supply the demands of the city. It would

be hard to say when market-gardening became the

distinctive industry of the town. The products of the

West Cambridge farms early gained tbe high reputa-

tion in the markets of Boston which they still hold,

and are not likely to lose, if we may judge the future

by the past. The subject is elsewhere treated by a

writer who may surely speak with authority, and I

therefore pass it over without that detailed account

which its importance would otherwise call for.

In manufactures the town was not conspicuous.

Those that existed in the early part of the century

have been above mentioned. Such other factories as

were built were generally, like their predecessors,

situated on the brook that has furnished water-power

for the mills of many generations. The saw-factory

of Welch & Griffiths, situated just below what is now
GroveStreet, was for a long time an important indus-

try. In 1855 the value of the saws manufactured was

estimated at 140,000, and thirty-five persons found em-

ployment in the establishment. In 1882, at about the

same time when the saw -factory was started, James

Schouler established calico-printing works on the site

of Abner Stearns' mill. Here a flourishing industry

was carried on for many years. Other manufacturing

pursuits were followed—in some cases for a short time

only, in other cases for a considerable period. Boots

and shoes were made here ; so were hats and caps.

It was during this time that several existing manufac-

tures were begun, which will be spoken of later. The
ice business, which makes Spy Pond a scene of ac-

tivity in the winter, and gives employment to many
scores of men, was begun before 1840.

In its political leanings, as has been said, the town
began its career with few Federalists and many Dem-
ocrats. The disproportion increased as the Federal
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party in the State moved towards its end, until ordi-

narily hardly a score of votes were cast for its candi-

dates. During the administrations of John Quincy

Adams and the first term of General Jackson the re-

sults of elections in the town reflect the chaotic state

of parties, and the votes for Congressional and State

candidates are hard to reduce to any rule except per-

sonal preference. As the Whig party becomes estab-

lished, political divisions may again be traced. The
town was still Democratic, but the minority was a

much larger one than it had been in the Federalist

times. For instance, in 183() the Democratic electors

received ninety-three votes, the Whig electors eighty-

six. In 1840 the numbers were 152 and 128 ; in 1844,

182 and 154. Occasionally a popular Whig candi-

date carried the town. In 1848 the balance of parties

changed, and the Whigs obtained a plurality ; in

1852 the Democrats again carried the election in

West Cambridge. In both these years the Free-Soil

candidates obtained a considerable vote. The election

of 1856 showed a decided change; the new Republi-

can party cast 186 votes, the Whigs 147, and the

Democrats 130. The loss of West Cambridge to the

Democratic party was a permanent one, although, as

had previously been the case with their opponents,

they now and then gained a temporary success. In

the election of 1860 183 votes were cast for Lincoln,

119 for Dougliis, eighty-four for Bell and two for

Breckenridge. In 1864 the Lincoln electors received

246 votes ; their opponents 133. In State and Congres-

sional elections the relative strength of parties was

usually about the same as in the Presidential elections.

The people were called upon oftener then than now
to choose their officials. Until 1831 the election of

State officers took place in the spring, instead of in

the fall. Congressional elections took place, as now,

in November. Until 1855 the law required for a

choice, ^(Ot a mere plurality, but an absolute majority

of the votes cast. Consequently when there were

more than two candidates, a series of elections some-

times had to be held before any result was reached.

Before 1857, when West Cambridge was united with

Winchester to form a representative district, the town

was entitled to send one representative to the Legis-

lature. Occasionally the town voted to send no rep-

resentative, probably from motives of economy, as in

those days legislators were paid by the towns they

represented, and not from the State treasury. Samuel

Butterfield was the first representative from the town,

serving from 1808 to 1811. His immediate successor,

Col. Tliomas Russell, had by far the longest term of

service of any that have filled the place ; he was con-

tinuously a member of the Legislature from 1812 to

1827, with the exception of two years when no one

was sent from West Cambridge.

IV. The Town of Arlington, 1867-90.

In 1867 the name of the town was changed to Arl-

ington. The cause of this alteration was in part the

13-iii

practical inconveniences that occasionally arose from

the fact that the old name was easily confounded by
strangers with North Cambridge or East Cambridge or

was at any rate supposed to stand for a part of Cambridge
and not for a separate town. Perhaps an even stronger

reason for the change came from a feeling of local

pride that desired a name that should signify to all

the world that the town was a distinct municipality

and not a portion of any other place, however ancient

and distinguished. After a good deal of discussion

Arlington was chosen as the new name. As has been

made evident in the course of time, it is liable to the

very objection that its adoption was designed to put

an end to, for " Arlington " bears a close resemblance to

" Abington," and considerable trouble has been caused

the people of both places from the similarity of

name.

At a meeting held in April, 1867, it was voted, with

but one dissenting voice, to petition the Legislature

to change the name of West Cambridge to Arlington.

The Legislature took favorable action upon the peti-

tion, and the change went into effect April 30th. The
event was celebrated May 1st, in a somewhat informal

way—with some firing of cannon and making of

speeches. The real celebration, however, did not

take place until June 17th, and was carried out with

a good deal of enthusiasm. There was a long pro-

cession made up of official representatives of the

Commonwealth, soldiers of the war of 1812, and of

the civil war, school-children, representatives of the

principal callings in which the townspeople were

engaged, as well as of other citizens. After the pro-

cession had passed through the principal streets, the

children were treated to a banquet in a tent on the

Common by the meeting-house of the First Parish,

while the citizens and their guests were entertained

in another large tent on the grounds of Mr. J. R.

Bailey—now of Mr. Samuel D. Hicks. Here there

were after-dinner speeches by Governor Bullock,

Senator Sumner and other men of distinction. A
poem of our townsman, Mr. .John T. Trowbridge,

was read. Later the festivities concluded with races

on Spy Pond.

The town seal was adopted at this time. It bears

upon a shield the representation of the two ancient

elms that for many years arched the main street at the

eastern end of the town, and of which one is stand-

ing yet. Between the trees on the face of the shield is

the Revolutionary monument with the date 1775 above

it and the village beyond. The shield is surmounted

by a plough and a sheaf of wheat, typical of the main

occupation of the people, and by a scroll giving the

names and dates of incorporation of West Cam-
bridge and Arlington. Underneath is the inscription

"Libertatispropugnatio liereditas avita."'

For two or three years after the change of name
little of importance occurred in town affairs. Then
came the introduction of a public water supply. Up
to that time no arrangements bad existed on any con-
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»i.ler«ble >i-al« for the purpose of supplying the town

«, Home familieR obtained water for do-

„ . iroma »y»teui of pipes by which water

WM conducted from springs in the upper part of the

town, but this i(erve<l a comparatively Huiall part ol

the population. -Most people had to rely upon ciHtern8

and welU for the water needed for household and

drinkiiiif pur|Hwie« and farmers especially were ei-

I

ivy lii>>c.t 111 time of drought. In 1870 the

\ I . ikf Water t 'ompany was established, and

III 1S71 the l.fpislatnre conferred upon it extensive

powera to lake land in the Great .Meadows of Le.xing-

Inn for a reservoir, to use the waters of certain brooks,

to lay pipe, and toaoll its property or franchise to the

l.iwii. The projKisitiiin that the town should buy the

- if the ciirporation and go into the enterprise of

iMiig its ri(i/.ens with water was soon brought

before the voters. Long and e.^cited debates took

place in meeting after meeting held in the summer

evenings of 1871, for the scheme was far from meeting

with universal approval. The balance of opinion in

the end, however, leaned decidedly iu favor of the

plan, and the town voted to buy out the corporation

and it8«'lf to build and own its water-works. The plan

W1U1 to build a reservoir on the border between Arling-

ton and I^xington, to be filled by the water coming

from the large tract of land known aa the Great

Meadows. This reservoir would be at such a height

above the level of most of the then inhabited part of

Arlington, that there would be a sufficient pressure

if the water were conducted directly from the reser-

voir through the mains and pipes by gravity, without

pumping api)aratus. Apart from the actual expense of

construction, there were two main elements of cost to

lie considered—the damage to the people whose lands

were taken and the damage to the mill-owners on

Vine Urook, whosesupply might be diminished by the

ilivertinginto the reservoir of a large amount of water

which might otherwise find its way into the brook.

To those who investigated the matter in 1870,

neither element of damage appeared very alarming.

It was thought that the land damages would not ex-

cee<l a few thousand dollars, and that the damage to

the mills would amount to little or nothing. The
whole cost of putting in the water-works was estimat-

e<l not to be more than $120,000. With this prospect
before it the town began the work. The Legislature,

in 187.3, confirmed the act.s of the town and provided
for the management of the water-works. Accord-
ingly Water Commissioners were chosen in 187.'?, and
have since been annually elected. The reservoir was
built and the pipes laid, and a considerable portion
of the town has been from this time supplied with
water. But the introduction of water proved to be
by no means such a comparatively inexpensive piece
of work aa had been anticipated at the outset. Some
alterations in plans were made; fillers had to be con-
structed, as the water was, at times, so filled with
vegeUble matter as to be unfit for domestic use;

while the damage to land and mills turned out to be

very much greater than was expected beforehand.

There were long controversies in court and out which

dragged along many years, and the settlemeni of

which cost the town a good deal of money. In 1878,

$300,000 in water-scrip had been issued. The total

expense of the water-works—not counting ordinary

repairs—has been more than that amount. This

large sum was not raised or borrowed at one time, but

has been appropriated from time to time as exigen-

cies arose. The town, having once entered upon a

course that involved an expenditure that nobody ex-

actly foresaw, has had no escape from paying. If this

experience has been unfortunate, it is certainly not

unparalleled in the history of public water supply in

Massachusetts.

With the introduction of water, it became possible

to take measures for more adequate protection from

fire, and' in 1872 two hose-carriages were bought

—

the " William Penn " and the " Highland." These,

with the old " Eureka" and a hook-and-ladder truck,

formed the main part of the apparatus of the Fire

Department uutil 1889, when a new hose company,

the " Eagle "—at the lower end of the town, was made

a regular paid company, and a chemical engine was

bought, designed more especially for service at

Arlington Heights, which, owing to its elevation above

the level of the reservoir, is unprotected by ordinary

methods. In the same year a system of electric fire

alarm was introduced.

Iu 1871 the town again suffered from the wind,

although to a less extent than from the tornado in

1851. On Sunday, August 27th, there occurred a

strong gale, which culminated at about eleven o'clock

in the evening in a violent blast that prostrated two

steeples—of the First Parish and Pleasant Street Con-
gregational churches—and did also much damage in

uprooting trees, blowing down chimneys, etc., not to

speak of minor injuries to property.

In 1872 a weekly newspaper—The Arlington Advo-

cate—was established, and continues to be published

by Mr. Charles S. Parker.

In 1872 the Arlington Land Company began its

operations at Arlington Heights, which had pre-

viously had few inhabitants. Buying several hundred
acres of land, the corporation started a village of con-

siderable size. The hard times that soon came
proved a serious hindrance to the growth of the

place, but after a time of depression, the village be-

gan again to increase, and has since grown steadily

and rapidly. There is little local business carried on,

most of the residents doing business in Boston. It is

distinctively a place of residence, and the people liv-

ing there display much interest in seeing to it that

their neighborhood is kept attractive.

In 1875 occurred the anniversary of the famous d.ay

that saw the beginning of the Revolutionary War.
The town rationally made no effort to hold a celebra-

tion of its own in imitation or rivalry of those which
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took place in Lexington and Concord. The Legisla-

ture authorized Arlington to raise $2000 for the occa-

sion, and this amimnt was sufficient to pay for a

proper local observance of the day. The bells were

rung, cannons were fired, and plenty of bunting was

provided for the decoration of public and private

buildings. Few householders were so little moved by

the spirit of the time as not at least to show the

national colors, while the fortunate occupants of

houses that had witnessed the British retreat proudly

displayed inscriptions that told the story of plunder

or of blood that had made the buildings memorable.

Those who were in Arlington on that day are not

likely to forget it. The weather was unusually cold

—

it was dull and cloudy much of the time, with a chill-

ing wind and occasional gusts of snow. The immense
number of visitors brought to utter confusion the

plans of town committees and of railwa}' managers.

The trains slowly made their way through Arlington,

crowded to the steps of the platforms and with even

their tops covered with human beings. The horse-

cars were filled to overflowing. The main street was

thronged with a procession of vehicles, all making
their way in one direction, while the sidewalks were

occupied by those who early came to the sensible con-

clusion that the only way to reach their destination

was to go on foot. In the afternoon the scenes of the

morning were repeated, except that the tide ran the

other way ; and streets and railways were again clogg-

ed with hungry, shivering and exhausted sight-seers.

But in spite of the inevitable discomforts, there was a

certain intensity of patriotic passion, that no man
could help sharing, about this first of the centennial

celebrations of Revolutionary events, which gave to

the occasion a dignity and a meaning.

The interest aroused by ihis anniversary resulted

in a determination to mark by permanent monuments
the spots where especially noteworthy events had

happened on April 19, 1775. Accordingly, in pursu-

ance of a vote of the town, stones were placed in June,

1878, to mark the sites of Cooper's Tavern, the Black

Horse Tavern, Jason Russell's house, the place of

the capture of the convoy, and the spot where Samuel
Whittemore made his fight.

In 1875 the town received the sum of $25,000 under

the will of Nathan Pratt, who for many years had
been a prominent citizen. He gave $10,000 for the

support of the Public Library, $5000 to the Poor
Widows' Fund, and $10,000 for the benefit of the

High School. The terms of the last bequest should

be given in full. " I give and bequeath to said town
of Arlington the further sum of ten thousand dollars,

the same to be invested and allowed to accumulate

until such time as the said town shall have erected a

new building for its High School. At such time the

increase of said sum by accumulation and a portion

of the principal not exceeding two thousand dollars

shall be expended in the purchase of engravings,

books of engravings illustrative of acience, art, his-

tory and biography, books of reference, philosophical

apparatus, all for the use and benefit of the pupils of

said school, and to be placed or kept in a suitable

apartment in the High School building. The unex-

pended portion of said principal sum shall remain in-

vested and the income thereof be expended for the

purposes above named and expressed, and also in

procuring special instruction to the pupils of said

school by lectures. Said sum and income shall be

expended in the manner foregoing under the direc-

tion of the School Committee of said town." A board

of five trustees was appointed by the town to manage
and invest Mr. Pratl's bequests.

The income of the bequest of ten thousand dollars

for the Public Library was available at once. In

1870 it was first voted that the proceeds of the dog-

tax be devoted to the support of the Library, accord-

ing to the statute provision directing that this tax

must be used for public libraries or schools. In 1872

a vote was passed that the Juvenile Library, as it was
«till called, should be known as the Arlington Public

Library. Its board of managers remained as before

—

the selectmen, ministers and physicians continuing

to act. As a smaller committee seemed desirable, the

town in 1878 provided that a board of three trustees,

elected by the town, should have charge of the

library. Its subsequent history may be briefly told.

It has increased in size and in use. After being

moved from one room to another in the Town House,

it was in 1884 transferred to its present location in

Swans' Hall. The increase of room thus acquired al-

lowed the establishment of a reading-room, a valuable

adjunct for which the former cramped quarters af-

forded no space. The library *how contains four

times as many volumes as it did twenty years ago, and
the use made of it by book-borrowers is more than

five times as great ; while the whole number of per-

sons who then used the library was less than the

number added now in a single year. In 1889 a be-

quest of $5000 was made to the library by the will of

the late Deacon Henry Mott. A fine building is now
(1890) being erected for the use of the library by
Mrs. Maria C. Robbins of Brooklyn, N. Y.

The public schools have also increased with the

growing population. In 1866 a new building—the

Adams school-house—was erected, to accommodate
the primary scholars in the Russell District. But
even with the additional room afl^orded by this build-

ing, it soon became evident that more would have to

be done to prevent overcrowding in the schools at the

Centre. The question was decisively, if unpleasant-

ly, settled by the accidental burning of the Russell

school-house in the summer of 1872. The town voted

to build a large brick school-house on the site of the

old building, and the present Russell school-house

—

a steam-heated brick structure—was ready for occu-

pany in the fall of 1873. It originally contained ten

rooms and a hall which has since been converted into

two additional rooms, In 1878 the Locke School at
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\,IIn..t.,n Hri.l.U wiu built. Originally r primary

. |uM)il. then taking some of the

., i„,, .... .i„ « ...vi School, it now contains lour

«Iu«jU, wliioh form nn independent grammar school

'ten for many years no serious

|ilun of the schools, except that

,
, lieoome greater anil the grading

i> the nchool population has increased,

.en.' Monument was dedicated June 17,

I
... I ,., uii.vement to erect a permanent memorial

I., the men of the town who fell in the war for the

I .r. in ISC.^, with the gift of ^SOO for that

I

in the Ladies' Soldiers' Aid Society. A

ii.niniitiet« of >iti/,.ri!i then set to work and began to

enlUi-t money. It was, however, found inipo-^sible to

pr«i*e«l far at that time. In l»69 the town appropri-

ated W«Nn> and there appeared to be a good prospect

.if building the monnment, but there was difficulty in

obtaining a «uilalile site, the appropriation reverted

to the town treasury atui the project lapsed for many

veara. In INS.') a vigorous and successful elFort was

made to .onipleto the work. The money already col-

leclc<l, with accumulated interest, amounted to about

*1.><IH), the town added $2500 and the citizens sub-

scribed $7()8!i. The monument and its site cost al-

together more than $11,000. It standsat the junction

of Arlington .-Vvenue and Broadway—the old Concord

and < 'harlestoH II roads. It is a granite shaft forty-two

feel high, surmounted by the tigure of an eagle, and

lieuring upon panels inscriptions denoting its purpose

and the names of the soldiers to whose memory it was

raised. At its dedication appropriate exercises were

belli. A procession, in great part made up of sol-

diers of the civil nflr, including the survivors of the

Mo/.art Regiment, passed through the principal

streets. Buildings were suitably decorated. The

monument was dedicated according to the ritual of

the Grand Army of the Republic, the services being

conducted by the Arlington post of that order—Fran-

cis tiould Post 30. A poem was read by Mr. .John

T. Trowbridge, and an oration delivered by Lieuten-

ant-Governor .lohn Q. A. Brackctt, the present Gov-

ernor of the Commonwealth. Both orator and poet

are residents of the town.

The last decade hiis been uneventful in town affairs.

\part from the matters already mentioned, the town

has been called upon to consider few subjects outside

of the orclinary course. Questions of the establish-

ment of new streets, of the sale of cemetery lots

—

matters of this sort, together with the usual reports

and appropriations for the different departments,

have made the substance of the business of town-
meetings. Few events of general interest or import-
ance have occurred. The town has been growing
steadily and of late rapidly. What might almost be
termed a separate village has grown up at the eastern

end of the town, and the opening of several large

estates near the centre of the town ha.s given an im-
petus to building there.

The history of the churches in Arlington may be

briefly given. Rev. Charles C. Salter was succeeded

in the pastorate of the First Parish by Rev. George

W. Cutter, who remained until 1877. Rev. William

J. Parrot became minister in 1878 and resigned in

1881. Rev. John P. Forbes held the position from

1882 to 1887. Rev. Augustus M. Lord, was installed

in 1887, and remained until September, 1890. This

parish held services Oct. 9, 1889, commemorative of

the one hundred and fiftieth anniversaiy of the estab-

lishment of the church.

Rev. Dr. Cady closed a pastorate of more than

twenty-one years over the Pleasant Street Congrega-

tional Society in 1877. He removed to "Westboro,

where he had been settled as minister many years be-

fore, and died there in 1879. Dr. Cady took a dee])

interest in all good causes in the town, and his retire-

ment from his work here was much regretted. Rev.

J. Lewis Merrill succeeded him in 1878. His lament-

ed death occurred in 1880. Rev. Edward B. Mason,

D.D., became minister March 9, 1882, and resigned

his charge April 2, 1889. Rev. S. C. Bushnell was

installed Feb. li, 1890. Alterations and improvements

were made in the church building in 1882, and it was

rededicated Feb. 25, 1883. Dr. Mason preached a

sermon on the occasion commemorative of the fortieth

anniversary of the foundation of the church.

The Baptist church continued under the charge of

Rev. Amos Harris until 1875. Rev. Charles N.

Spaulding succeeded him in 1870 and remained until

1880. The present pastor. Rev. Charles H. Watson,

was settled in 1881. The meeting-house was exten-

sively repaired in 1871. While the work was in pro-

gress, considerable injury was done to the building

by the g.ale in August of that year, causing added

delay and expense.

Rev. J. W. Keyes resigned the pastorate of the

Universalist Society October 1, 1809. Rev. William

H. Rider was minister from July, 1871, to June 30,

1873. Rev. William F. Potter had charge of the

parish from June, 1875, to January 1, 1882. Rev. E.

L. Houghton became pastor April 1, 1886, and re-

mained until March 31, 1886. Rev. Francis A. Gray
was minister from September 1, 1886, to May 12, 1889.

Rev. Irving C. Tomlinson became pastor September

1, 1889.

To the four existing Protestant societies there was

added in 1869 a Catholic parish. Before that time

the Catholics living in Arlington had had no church

nearer than Cambridge. A church building was
erected in Arlington, on Medford Street, and first used

in 1870. Rev. M. P. Dougherty, the pastor of St.

Peter's Church, in Cambridge, who had been much
interested in the new parish, remained in charge of it

until 1873, when Rev. Joseph M. Finotti took his

place. Fr. Finotti was a man of learning and a

writer on ecclesiastical subjects. He remained in

Arlington until 1876. His successor was Rev. Mat-
thew Harking, now Bishop of Providence, He was
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pastor of the parish until 1884, and had the respect

and confidence of the community. The present

pastor, Rev. Thomas Shahan, has been in charge

since 1884. The church has received the name of

St. Jlalaeh}'. A parochial school was opened in

1888 in a building erected for its use near the church.

A Methodist Episcopal church was organized

nearly twenty years ago. Services were held from

time to time as occasion permitted, but the society

was not strong enough to make it prudent to erect a

church building, and public exercises have been for

a long time discontinued.

A Protestant Episcopal parish, known as St. John's,

was organized January 19, 1876. A chapel was built

at the corner of Academy and Maple Streets, in

which services were first held January 21, 1877. Rev.

D. G. Ha.«kins, of Cambridge, Lad charge ot the par-

ish until 1880. Rev. Charles M. Addison was the

first rector resident in Arlington, remaining from

September, 1882, to April 6, 1885. He was succeeded

by Rev. Charles J. Ketchum,who held the position

from July 8, 188.5, to April 22, 1889. Rev. Thomas

Bell was rector from July 5, 1889, to March 10, 1890.

He was followed by the present rector. Rev. Fred-

erick Pember.

At Arlington Heights religious services of an un-

denominational character were held at first in a hall

and afterwards in a chapel built by subscription

mainly of residents. The chapel was dedicated De-

cember 30, 1885. Prof Daniel Dorchester, Jr., of

Boston Uaiversity, resident of the Heights, who
had previously conducted the services, continued to

preach in the chapel until April, 1887. From April,

1887, to April, 1888, Rev. Bradford K. Pierce, D.D.,

was in charge, and from April, 18S8, to April, 1889,

Rev. Alfred Free. Since April, 1889, Prof. G. M.
Harmon, of the Tufts Theological School, has been

minister of the society.

There are several fraternal and benevolent societies

in Arlington, belonging to various orders and associa-

tions. The branch of the Masonic order—Hiram

Lodge—was first instituted in Lexington in 1797.

Afterwards it was transferred to West Cambridge and

has since remained established in the town. Bethel

Lodge of the Independent Order of Odd Fellows was

established in 1842.

In its politics Arlington has remained on the side

of the Republican party. In the election of 1808

the Republican electors received 259 votes ; the Dem-
ocratic electors 152. Four years later 306 votes were

cast for the Republican ticket and 186 for the opposi-

tion. In the election of 1876, Hayes obtained 886

votes and Tilden 343. In 1880 the inequality was

greater, the Republican ticket receiving 415 votes, the

Democratic, 293. In 1884, 410 votes were cast for

Blaine, 371 for Cleveland, 41 for Butler. In the last

Presidential election the Republican vote was 499,

the Democratic 477. In State and Congressional

elections, the Republican candidates have in some

instances failed to gain a majority of the votes of the

town, but usually the result in the elections for these

offices has been the same as in the Presidential elec-

tions ; and the above figures are enough to give a

sufficiently correct comparison of therelative strength

of parties in Arlington for the last twenty-two years.

In conclusion a few statistics may be given. The
population of Arlington in 1885 was 4673; by the

census of 1890 it is 5528. The real estate was valued

May 1, 1889, at $4,386,275 and the personal estate

at $822,821. The town spends annually in its various

departments about $100,000.

Arlington is becoming more and more each year

distinctively a place of residence. With the growth

of Boston and the consequent pressure of population

in the nearer cities and towns, there is a rapidly-

growing demand for house-lots, and consequently

new streets are opened through old estates, and the

process of converting a country town into a thickly-

settled suburb goes on. It is not to be supposed,

however, that there has been a disappearance of the

other pursuits that have long been carried on here.

Farming—the ancient business of the place—con-

tinues to flourish and manufactures are by no means

discontinued.

Manufacturing is carried on now, as in times past,

mainly along Vine Brook. Highest on the brook is

the factory of Charles Schwamb, where, since 1862,

he has carried on the business of making oval pic-

ture frames and straight mouldings. Next below is

the factory of Theodore Schwamb. Here he, with

his four brothers, began in 1853 the business of turn-

ing, .sawing and piano-case work. Since 1860 he has

carried on piano-case manufacturing. His factory is

at the privilege owned a century ago by Gershom

Cutter. A short distance farther down the brook is

the establishment now used by the Lamson Store

Supply Company for printing. Deacon John S.

Hobbs long conducted there the manufacture of

leather-splitting knives as well as a general machin-

ist's business. Below Brattle Street and near the

brook is the piano-case factory of the late Jacob

Schwamb, whose sous now carry on the business.

Next come the sites of what were, a generation ago,

the most important manufactories of the town—the

Schouler Print Works and Welch & Griffith's saw

factory. The tbrmer of these was burned and the

latter has been for several years unused. The Cutter

mill on Mill Street is now used by Samuel A. Fowle.

His own mills stand on the site of Ephraim Cutter's,

and, as has been said, not far below the place where

Col. Cooke built his dam more than two hundred and

fifty years ago. They .are used, in part, as grist-mills

and in part for grinding drugs, dye-woods and other

materials.

The ice business is and for a long time has been an

important industry of the town. William Fletcher,

who died in 1853, was, according to the statement on

his grave-stone, " the first man that ever carried ice
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iuto Bttiton market for merchandise." Several Bmall

ice-houMH were built on the sliorea of S|iy Toml

alwul hall a century ago to supply the neighborhood.

The bu»iiu-*» was Brut begun on a large scale, how-

ever, iu \Ve«t Cambridge «>on after 184((, when fiage,

Uilliiiger A I'o. undertook the work. Tlu-ir tirst iee-

hoUMW sUmkI on the Itelnionl shore of the pond. Af-

lerwardu they aci|uired and built at various times

other ico-bou»e« on the oppiwite side. The tirm of

(iage, llillinger .t Co. was succeeded by that of Gage,

Sawver \ Co., and in KS.VJ by that of Addison Gage

.1c Co., which is otill carrying on the business at Spy

Tund. Addison tJage, the head of these successive

firms, lived in the l«iwn from li>">2 until his death, in

\A6S, a pub!ie-s|>iriteU and respected citizen. The

busiueiM was from the first, in large part, and finally

altogether, a foreign business. The Spy I'ond ice

«enl all over the world—to the ;?outherii Stales of

our own country, to the i'liist and West Indies, to

China, to India, to .S)Uth America, even to Australia.

Ordinarily from two hundred to two liundred and

fifty men were employed in the work in the bu.sy sea-

son—about the same number now engaged in a win-

ter when a full ijuantity is cut, as the improved facil-

ities for doing the work counterbalance, so far iis the

employment of labor is concerned, the increased ex-

tent of the business. During the war the Southern

trade was, of course, stopped, while the foreign trade

continued. With peace the business resumed its old

channels. About 60,000 tons of ice are ordinarily

cut in a favorable year, and employment is given to

many men at a time when farming operations have

ceased and work is scarce.

in connectiun with the ice business should be men-

tioned the factory where for many years the firm of

William T. Wood & Co. has carried on the manufac-

ture of ice-toois. The factory stands not far from

Spy Pond and its products have a deservedly high

reputation.

The history of .Vrlington for more than two hun-

dred and fifty years has now been traced. If the story

lacks picturesqueness, it has at lejist the interest that

must always attach to an account of the doings of

former generations of men who have lived their lives,

and wrought their work on the soil now trodden by
us. The past of the town may have been—except

for one memorable day—uneventful, but it should

not be without honor in the eyes of those who appre-

ciate the sober virtues whereby our Puritan forefath-

ers built up their little community, and whereby
their di'scendantit transmitted it to the keeping of the

men of to-day.

CHAPTER XIV.

ARLINGTON— { Continued).

MARKET (iARDENINO IN ARLINGTON AND
BELIMONT.

BY WARREN VV. RAV\?.SON.

In preparing this article it will be necessary to date

back about forty ycar.s, when uiarket gardening be-

gan to be a prominent business in these towns, which

were at that time called West Cambridge. It was

about this time, 1S50, that glass was first used for

forcing vegetables in the winter and spring, and those

who took the lead went ahead and prospered. They

studied the business, made use of their instruction,

and succeeded, and are to-day noted for their success,

and their names stand as landmarks in this industry,

which has improved and advanced until the town of

Arlington stands first of any town in this country for

the amount of production per acre, the quality of the

products, and for the iiersomiel »( l\ie men engaged

in the business. The coiiiily of Jliddlesex is famous

for its vegetable productions, and many men are en-

gaged in this industry.

Jlarket gardening is very different from farming,

and since glass lias been extensively used, especially

for the last twenty years, it has becomea science, aud
those who studied it were intelligent, and studied the

nature of their soils, and the crops best adapted to

them. All have been successful, and many have be-

come wealthy.

Among the leading market gardeners of forty years

.igo were : Captain George Pierce, Aaron Dixon, Mr.
Sprague, John Fillebrown, Warren Rawson, Albert

Winn, Samuel Butferfield, Joseph Butterfield, Josiah

Crosby, David Puffer, A. P. and J. P. Wyman, Abbot
Allen, Cyrus Cutter, T. P. Pierce, Elbridge Farmer,
Benjamin and H. J. Locke, Bovven Russell, William
Whittemore, Stephen Scymes, Luke Wyman, Charles

Mill, George Hill, Varnum Frost, Warren Frost, Silas

I'Vost, Henry Frost, N. C. Frost, Oliver Wellington,
.loseph Hill, Charles Winn, Henry Locke, Henry F.

Hill, Amos Hill, Warren Heustis, William Richard-
son, David Locke, Lewis Bartlett, Stephen Swan and
Abel Pierce. Most of these men have sons who suc-

ceeded them.

The leading ones of to-day are : W. W. Rawson,
W. H. Allen, Wyman Bros., J. P. Squire, Varnum
Frost, J. O. Wellington, John Lyons, H. J. Locke,
George P. Winn and D. L. Tappen. Most of these

are quite young men and are very successful. We will

not try to mention the number of kinds of vegetables
grown by these different men, but all have some spec-
ialty best adapted to their soil and locality.

These men so managed their business that they
have educated the people to a large use of vegetables,
which has made the Boston market the best in this
country for a fine quality of products.
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A few years ago the BoatoH Market Gardeners' As-

sociation wag organized, wliicli has proved a great

benefit to the market gardeners of this section. W.
W. Rawson was chosen president, and is the present

incumbent.

Notwithstanding the magnitude of this business, it

is moving back from the city, and we jiredict tliat

within twenty years very few market gardeners will

be found in the towns of Arlington and Belmont.

We will now mention the men and location of

their i)laces: Captain George Pieire, place located on

Arlington Avenue, and extended to Spy Pond. He
was the leading market ganlener of fifty years ago,

and raised large quantities of early apples, using glass

to some extent. Mr. Josiali Crosby was in his employ,

and afterwards bought a place on Lake Street. The
Pierce place, after the death of Mr. Pierce, was leased

for a number of years, and recently a part has been

sold to Mr. J(din Lyons.

The Albert Winn place, located between Summer
and Mystic Streets, was carried on for a number of

years by Mr. Winn, and later by Winn Brothers.

Then young Albert died, and George P. Winn leased

the place and has conducted it successfully for a num-

ber of years, and is the present occupant.

Abbot Allen place, located on Arlington Avenue,

was carried on by him a long time, then was conducted

by his sons, W. H. and A. Allen. Later W. H. pur-

chased his brother's interest and associated his son

Abbot with him in the business, and'they are among
the most successful. The place of John Fillebrown

w.as purchased by Mr. W. H. Allen in 1890.

William Adams' place was located on Arlington

Avenue, next to Abbot Allen. It was sold to Mr.

Allen, and Adams moved to Winchester.

A. P. and .1. P. Wyman's place, located on Arling-

ton Avenue and Lake Street, was carried on for a

number of years; then divided, the one on Lake

Street taken by A. P., and he at one time carried on

the largest business in this town. He had, as his as-

sistant, E. N. Pierce, who afterwards married one

of Mr. Wyman's d.aughters and moved to Waltham.

The place has since been conducted by Wyman Bros.

—Frank and Daniel—-they building two green-houses

and putting in a large water plant for irrigation.

Since the death of Mr. A. P. Wyman the place has

fallen to the brothers.

Mr. J. P. Wyman's place, located on Arlington

Avenue. He carried it on for a number of years

after separating from A. P., after which he leased it

to John Lyons, and it has been run quite .successfully

by him. He has recently bought part of the place

owned by Captain Pierce, formerly carried on by

Arthur Pitts, and in earlier times, by Crosby & Dickey.

John Lyons has two large green-houses.

Mr. Samuel Butterfield—place on Arlington

Avenue and Lake Street—was one of the oldest mar-

ket gardeners and very successful. He was formerly

in business in the Quincy Market. Since his death

his place has been leased to Mr. Irvin Johnson (who

was Mr. Butterfield's foreman), and he and bis sons

are very successful.

Warren Rawson's place is located on Warren Street,

extending to Mystic River. He was originally in

the employ of Albert Winn and purchased this place

while there. His funds were limited and he was

obliged to work very hard for a number of years. He
was one of the first to grow vegetables under glass.

Soon after the close of the Rebellion, the business

being very successi'ul, his son, Warren W., then

seventeen years of age, assumed charge of the help

on the place, and, after becoming proficient in the

business, purchased his father's entire interest.

Mr. John Fillebrown. Place on Warren Street. He
was very successful, but his health failed him, and the

last few years he was not able to attend to the busi-

ness. He died in 1889 and the place was sold to Jlr.

W. H. Allen.

Josiah Crosby. Place on Lake Street. At one

time Mr. Dickey was associated, with Mr. Crosby.

Mr. Crosby was a fine market gardener, his place

always looked tidy, and every crop was set out by line.

He was the improver of the Crosby Corn and Egypt-

ian beet. Since his death, in 1887, the place has

been very successfully managed by his sons, Walter

and Charles Crosby.

Davis Locke. Place is located in eastern portion of

the town, near Alewife Brook, and is carried on Ijy

James Purcell & Sous. Levi Russell bought a |)ortion

of the farm of Mr. Locke. Mr. Russell's place is now

conducted by his son, Irwin L. Russell. The larger

part is located in Somerville.

Ch.as. Hill. Place situated on Pleasant Street. He
is what is called old-fashioned, believing the old way

is the best. He never owned a horse and always

cultivated his land with a spade and fork.

Geo. Hill. Place located on Pleasant Street. He
was a very intelligent market gardener and one of

the leading ones of twenty years ago. A reservoir

supplies water for irrigation. He raised large

quantities of strawberries and took many premiums at

the Massachusetts Horticultural Society exhibitions,

both for strawberries and vegetables; his place has two

large hot-houses for raising lettuce and cucumbers.

He died in 1889. His two sons, George and Arthur,

succeeded him, both very capable and intelligent

young men.

Addison Brooks. Place on Lake Street. He was

very active for a long time and did a large business.

He sold one of his places to Mr. James Marden, who

carried it on about fifteen years, then sold to Mr. W.
H. Allen, who is the present owner. Mr. Brooks sold

his other place to J. P. Squire and moved to Brock-

ton, Mass., carrying on the same business there.

Mr. Joseph Butterfield, located on Lake Street,

bought his place of Samuel Butterfield and was very

successful. He died in 1875 and was succeeded by his

son Joseph, who continued the business with success.
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Mr. CharlM Crane had a place on Arlingtou Avenue

aiid Br.j«dway, and wan Hucce»sful. He removed to

tlie Wi-.t.

l»»\id Puffrr, about forty years ago, purchased the

plate on Uroadway where he is now located. He

hu four »on»—one, Warren, awoeiated with him in

market gardening ; the other three compose the firm

of IHiffer Bros., niarketmen.

J. 1'. S|uire'rt place is located at Lake Street and

Arlingtou .\venue. .\bout twenty years ago Mr.

Siuire b«-;;iin cuhivatlfifi his land near his homestead,

and since that time has purchased several other places

and cultivated thcui as market-gardens. His business

in quite extensive, and at i>rescnt is under the direc-

tion of Kiigene O'Niel.

Waller Kussell purcha-tcd his place of Mr. Flan-

ders ami for a time carrie<l on (luitc an e.ttensive busi-

ness. He snbsciiuently sold part of his land to W.

W. liawson.

Mr. Sprague's place, corner of Medford Street and

Warren, was sold to Cyrus Wood, who carried it on

about fifleen years. It was then sold to a land company.

J. K. Whitlemore carried on the place owned by

W H. Whitteniore, his brother. It was recently pur-

chased liy Mr. G. D. Moore, who later leased it to Mr.

C. A. Learned, who wa.1 formerly in the employ of

Mr. W. W. Rawson. Mr. J. F. Whittemore, about

1883, moved to Florida, where he is engaged in the

same business to some extent.

Mr. F.I bridge Locke's place, located opposite the

Kussell House, in the upper part of the town, is now
carrieii on by different parties.

Sandy Bole-s, formerly in the employ of J.S.Crosby,

purchitsed a place near the Arlington Reservoir. It

is uow laid down to grass.

Timothy Eaton, located just above the heights on

the roail to Lexington, was succeeded by his son,

Joseph Eaton.

-Mr. John Pierce's place, at the Foot of the Rocks,

carried on a small business in vegetables and fruit-

growing. Since the death of Mr. Pierce the place has

been leasecl.

Thomiui Pierce's place, located on what is now
called Arlington Heights, was sold to a land com-
pany.

The Elbridge Farmer place, near the Foot of the

Rocks, is now carried on by his son, E. S. Farmer,
who learned the business while in the employ of Mr.
Varnum Frost, of Belmont.

The Bowen Russell place, situated on Arlington
Avenue, is now conducted by his son, Ira Russell.

The B. 4 H. J. Locke place is situated on Arling-
ton Avenue. lUpon the death of Benjamin, a few years
since, H. J. succeeded to the business, and still con-
ducts it.

Cyrus Cutter place, located on Summer Street, was
one of the oldest in the business. He was succeeded
by his sons, Cyrus and A. P. Cyrus' sons succeed
him as Cutter Brothers.

The Abel Pierce place is situated on the hill near

Winchester. It is now occupied by Augustus Pierce,

a grandson, who succeeds his father.

The William Whittemore place, located on Mystic

Street, is now occupied by J. S. Crosby, formerly of

Belmont.

The Luke Wyman pl.ace, situated on Mystic

Sfeet, was purchased about twenty years ago by Mr.

Huffmaster, the present proprietor.

The Stephen Scynies place, on Mystic Street, is

one of the oldest in the town. Mr. Frank Frost, of

Belmont, son of Henry Frost, is the present occupant.

Warren W. Rawson. (See biography.)

The Aaron Dixon place, in the eastern part of the

town, was a very sandy farm. Mr. Dixon was suc-

ceeded by his son Porter, who sold the farm to Asa

Durgin, who carried it on for four years, when it was

purchased by the Catholic Church for a cemetery.

Mr. N. C. Frost was associated with Mr. David

Fisher, who owned a place in Winchester, which he

carried on in connection with those owned by Mr.

Frost in Belmont. Mr. Fisher sold his interests in

Winchester, and purchased the Ephraim Tufts place,

which he also carried on with Mr. Frost, Mr. Fisher

living in Arlington and Mr. Frost in Belmont. Mr.

Fisher married Mr. Frost's sister.

A daughter of Mr. Fisher married D. L. Toppen,

who is the present occupant of the place.

Belmont.—Mr. Joe Wellington is a prominent

market gardener of Belmont. He has occupied his

present place about twenty years, having succeeded

his father.

M. W. Marsh is the oldest inhabitaut in Belmont_

who has pursued farming as an avocation. He was

ninety years of age August 7, 1890. Small fruits

have been one of his specialties as well as apples.

George Prentice, whose farm is on the Highlands, is

one of the oldest farmers in this town. His products

have been chiefly milk and vegetables. His farm is

now under the control of his son, whose products are

fruit, vegetables and milk. He has about three hun-

dred hot-bed sash, insuring early vegetables.

Jonathan Frost was one of the earliest farmers in

this town. Upon his death, about thirty years ago,

he left four sons, viz. : Warren S., Varnum, Artemas

F. and Herbert F., all of whom are now successful

gardeners and have pursued this business from boy-

hood. Seth Frost and son Newell C, were also farm-

ers here. Sylvester Frost has been in the business

about twenty years. He is a sou of Isaac Frost.

Willard Hill was a son of Joseph Hill. He occu-

pied his father's farm about five years and then became
a member of the firm of Winn Ricker & Co.

Leonard Stearns, Sr., died fifteen years ago. His

son Leonard, Jr., now occupies the place.

Nathan Robbins, now dead, once sold produce for

Abbott Allen, father of Henry. His vehicle was a

two-wheel tip-cart, and his market was Charlestown

Square.



I



I

i

a-^i-z^T-c^ Oui^-c^



ARLINGTON. 201

" Isaac Lock, who died fifty years ago, was father of

George Lock. George died in 1870. He was the

father of Edwin, Isaac and W. H. Lock. The three

latter died in 1889. The sons of W. H. are in busi-

ness in Quincy Market. This was a maiket-garden-

ing family, and tlie old estate on Pleasant Street is

' very valuable.
"

Charles Winn, Sr., came from Woburn about 1850,

and was a good gardener. He died a few years ago.

His son, Charles Winn, now occupies the place.

Mr. Morton, whose residence is upon Spring Lane,

is among Belmont's reputable gardeners. Mr. Mor-

ton's advent into the business of market-gardening

was made about the year 1855. He was employed

successively by one Adams, of Winter Hill, Somer-

ville ; WarrenEawson, then West Cambridge; George

Hill, Arlington ; Charles Winn and Joseph Hill, of

Belmont. He then bought the farm tilled by Edward
Phillibrown. He had for many years the enviable

reputation of succeeding in keeping celery later in

the winter season than any other farmer. His son

Edward succeeds him.

Silas Frost, who died in 1889, was also a market

gardener. His residence was on Pleasant Street, and
three sons now succeed him.

Henry Y. and Amos Hill, brothers, were market-

gardeners from boyhood, both born in Belmont. The
farm of Amos is now carried on by his son, Amos
Edwin. The farm of Henry is leased, in part, to

Warren Eustice.

William Richardson, now eighty years old, has

spent the last forty years in market-gardening, and
many of the devices in machinery that he originated

are now used by the trade.

William Hill was the first to raise cucumber-plants

under glass to set out in the open field. He was also

the first to introduce Boston market celery. He was

a deep thinker, and many of the modes of operation

that are in vogue to-day in the business were first

practiced by him. He was born in Belmont.

Warren Eustice, bom in Vermont, came to West
Cambridge (now Belmont) when quite young; is now
seventy years old and vigorous. Market-gardening

all his life, his operations in pig-raising have engaged

much of his time. InlSOlhe brought the first Chester

White pig that came into Massachusetts. In 1870 he

bought a Yorkshire boar that was imported by Col-

onel Hoe, of printing-press fame, and crossed upon
his Chester White stock, and this is the stock that is

now known as the Eustice strain of Yorkshire pig.

Hittinger Brothers are successors of their father,

who raised fruit principally. The sons, in addition

to fruit, are also engaged in market-gardening. They
built several large green-houses, and are growing let-

tuce and cucumbers extensively.

P. Schahan, located near Fresh Pond, is very suc-

cessful in growing lettuce in green-houses. Mr.

Schahan first introduced the use of roffea for tying

vegetables. Large quantities are now used.

Henry Richardson, situated near Fresh Pond, has

several large green-houses, used for growing lettuce,

and was*among the first to use them for that purpose.

Davis (^henery's place, situated by the side of C. H.
Slade, has one green-house, and devotes his attention

mostly to fruit-growing.

D. A. Hart's place is located opposite Mr. Slade,

known as the Tainter estate. He learned the business

with Mr. Henry Locke.

Howard Richardson carries on the old Thomas
Richardson place. Has one green-house.

Thomas Richardson carried on the William Rich-

ardson place.

Frank and Edward Stone have done quite an exten-

sive business. Frank died a short time ago, and the

place is now run by his brother.

Mr. T. L. Creeley occupies the place formerly car-

ried on by his father in the milk business.

C. H. Slade, located in the southern part of Bel-

mont, was formerly associated with William Cook,

and hired the Brown and Stone places ; afterwards

Mr. Slade carried on the business and bought the

Stone estate, which he now occupies, and has been

quite successful. He has built two green-houses,

raises quantities of currants and is a breeder of swine.

BIOGRAPHICAL.

JAMES RUSSELL.

James Russell was born January 14, 1788, in that

part of Charlestown that now forms the city of Som-
erville. His father, James Russell, was a respected

and substantial citizen, and the family had been long

established in Middlesex County. He was graduated

from Haivard College, in the class of 1811. Among
his classmates were several who afterwards attained

marked distinction, of whom, perhaps, the most noted

was Edward Everett. After completing his college

course he began the study of the law in the office of

Hon. William Austin, of Charlestown, at that time a

leading member of the bar. He was admitted to the

bar in 1814, and entered upon the practice of his pro-

fession in West Cambridge—a place with which his

family connections were numerous and close, and

here he made his home for the rest of his life.

For many years Mr. Russell attended to nearly all

the legal business, not merely of his fellow-townsmen,

but of many people in neighboring towns; for his

reputation as a sound and sagacious counsellor was

wide-spread. He lived in days before his profession had

become specialized, and his practice was a varied one.

With a knowledge of the law he combined a native

good judgment which made him a wise adviser, and

his known uprightness held public confidence. By
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pniden.* »n<l econ.miy be acquired a competency,

„ .,le<l to retire from active practice some

vr.i iii« lieiitli.

An a ritueu lie wan bcl.l in mucli esloeiii, and wna

rwsiguized «» one of tlie principal men «l the com-

munity. He wiu a member of tbe School Committee

iu IS2S, '211. '»2, IMIMI ; a selectman from 1837 to

1844; a reprtwentative in tbe General Court in 18;{8,

'an, '41 auil "42, and a SUitc Senator in 1840. It is

not unlikely tbat bo would bave alUiincd other than

local h..niirw, bad not his political views been those of

(lie minority in the State. He was frequently called

upon to take an active part ia public movemenU, and

WM ready and eager to do what he could for the gen-

eral welfare. His interest in the town in which he

livf«l appears fn.ni bis gill to it in his will of a large

iract of land for a public park—now known as Rus-

M-ll I'ark. He die.1 December 9, ISOH.

Mr. Kudscll bad the courtly manners not uncom-

mon among tbe gentlemen of his time. His opinions

were strongly lielil, and he was frank and outspoken

in tbe maintenance of bis views. His habits were

simple and unostentatious. While still a young man

he built tbe comfortable house which he occupied

until bis death. It stands upon Arlington Avenue,

just below tbe railroad crossing, at the centre of the

town. Many now living well remember the hospi-

tality of that home and the cordiality of the welcome

of iu owners. Mr. Kusseil's wife was Harriet Tufts.

They were marrie<l May 24, 1821, and she survived

him but a short lime, dying August 2, IStirt. They

bad no ehililren.

On the stone that marks Mr. Russell's grave is

writk-n ;
" .\n honored citizen, a faithful lawyer, an

upright man," ami these words may well be repeated

here as a truthful summing up of bis character.

NATHAN BOBBINS.

.Nathan R<d)bins was born September 7, 1803, in the

western part of Cambridge, then known as Menotomy,
which soon afterwards became the town of West Cam-
bridge, anil is now Arlington. He w.xs the son of

Nathan ami Rebecca (Prentice) Robbins, and was
tbe eldcat of nine children. His ancestors had long

dwelt in and about Cambridge, his father being a

descendant of Richard Robbins, who came from Eng-
land in lti89 and settled in Cbarle.stowii, afterwards

removing to Cambridge, while his mother's earliest

American ancestor w;ts Henry Prentice, a settler in

Cambridge before 1640. His father was engaged
in a limited way in tbe marketing business, and the
same occupation was naturally adopted by several
of the children. After obtaining such education
a» the public schools of tbe time furnished, Mr. Rob-
bins, while still a boy, engaged in business, at first as
an employee of others, and later on bis own account.
In 182t;, when Faneuil Hall Market was enlarged
by the erection of the so-called Quincy Market, he

was one of the first to take a stall iu tbe new build-

ing, and here he remained until his death. He dealt

in poultry, game and pork, and was soon recognized

as the leading dealer iu these articles in Boston.

After some years, as his business grew, he confined

it more excusively to poultry and game. His high

reputation for honesty and sagacity, as well as for

thorough knowledge of his calling, brought him much

patronage from the leading hotels and restaurants, as

well as from persons of all classes. In days when peo-

ple did their own marketing more than is now cus-

tomary, Mr. Robbins made the acquaintance and

gained the friendship of many of tbe men best worth

knowing in tbe Roston of thirty and fifty years ago.

He continued steadily iu business until the winter of

1887, when be was obliged by illness to cease to at-

tend personally to it. He died Sei>tember 5, 1S88, at

his home in Arlington.

Mr. Robbins was averse to public life, and held no

offices of importance. Outside his own calling his

chief business interest lay in tbe Faneuil Hall

National Hank, of which he was president for nearly

thirty-four years, from November 6, 1854, until his

death. His management of the finances of this

institution was able and conservative. In politics he

was a Democrat, and in religious belief a Unitarian.

He lived in his native town all his life, occupying

since 1842 the large square house near the centre of

Arlington, upon the site of which the new Public

Library is now (181)0) being built by the widow of

his brother Eli. On April 12, 1829, he married Eliza

Eleanor Parker, of Lexington, a near relative of

Theodore Parker, and a granddaughter of Captain

Jonathan Parker, of Revolutionary fame. Mrs. Rob-

bins died July 1, 1S77. Their cliildren were three

sons and four daughters.

Of Mr. Robbins' brothers, two—Amos and Eli

—

followed the same vocation as he, and gained in New
York alike distinction to that which he acquired in

Boston, as successful men of affairs, and as upright

and honorable citizens.

Mr. Robbins had certain marked traits of character

which justly entitle bis name to a place in these pages.

He built up and sustained his business by unremit-

ting personal attention. He gave the same conscien-

tious care to every detail in extreme old age .as be did

in youth. It was his desire that the work he had to

do should be done properly, however great might be

the fatigue and discomfort to himself. His integrity

equaled his diligence. Men who dealt with him knew
not only that he might always be found at his place

of business, but that his statements might be trusted.

Throughout his life he clung to sound [principles

of business and refused to be drawn aside into any

speculations, however dazzling, choosing rather to

rely for success upon the old-fashioned virtues of

prudence, economy and diligence. Several men who
achieved distinction in business owed much of their

success to the sound training received under him. To
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a discriminating judgment he joined a sympathetic

and generous disjiosition. To many of those with

whom he was brought into business relations he gave

needed assistance at critical times, and his outside

charities were numerous and unpretentious. The fre-

quent tokens of appreciation and gratitude that came

to him in his later years were but the legitimate re-

sults of his own acts.

AMOS ROBBINS.

Amos Robbins was born in West Cambridge (now

Arlington), Massaciiusetts, December 28,1817, and re-

ceived a limited education in the public schools of

the time and locality. At the age of fourteen he

became a poultry buyer and dresser for his brother

Nathan, who had been for some time established in

Faneuil Hall Market in Boston. At the age of six-

teen Amos Kobbins removed to Boston, and was em-

ployed in his brother's business there until 1836. It

was at this time that iSimeou Hoyden, who kept the

Tremont House in Boston, and had a high apprecia-

tion of these industrious young men, became proprie-

tor of the Astor House, New York City, and remarked

to Nathan, the eldest, the dearth of first-class poultry

in Fulton Market in that city, and suggested that there

was a fine opening for some New England man,

who would attend to business and keep out of bad

company. This was exactly what the Robbins boys

knew how to do,—accordingly, in 1836 Amos Robbins

went to New York and secured a stand in Fulton

Market in that city, consisting of some planks laid

over two saw benches; the business was conducted on

a very moderate scale to what it is at present ; and

the receipts of all the dealers in Fulton Market at that

time would hardly equal what some single firms in that

busy centre now take in and send out daily. In 18:!9

he was joined by his brother EVi, who was associated

with him in his dealings in poultry and game, and in

1841 they formed the firm of A. &E. Robbins, which

became and continued to be the largest receivers and

shippers of poultry, game, etc., in the country. At

the death of his brother Eli, the hitter's nephew, Milton

Robbins, son of Mr. Amos Robbins, became a member
of the firm, which was changed to A. & M. Robbins.

The gains of the firm ofA. & E. Robbins were the re-

ward of years of plodding and successful traffic, and

resulted in a competency for the brothers.

Mr. Amos Robbins was married at the age oftwenty

to Mi.ss Adelia Martliug, of Tarrytown, New York,

who has borne two sons and two daughters who were

reared and married, but who died in early woman-
hood. Mr. Robbins, in his declining years, was^in the

enjoyment of well-earned wealth, and such had been

his character from boyhood that he was held in

equally high regard in business circles and among his

intimate friends, and was esteemed alike as an intelli-

gent and influential citizen, and as a friendly, whole-

souled Christian gentleman.

ELI BOBBINS.

Mr. Eli Robbins was born in West Cambridge (now

Arlington), Mass., September 22, 1821. He was not a

strong child, but being healthy and self-reliant, he

soon mastered the rudiments of such knowledge as was

convenient to his circumstances, and began his bus-

iness career at an early age, by providing a horse and

wagon for himself, and purchasing i)Oultry of the

neighboring farmers, which he dressed with his own
hands, and carried to Boston for customers. Three
years later, in 1839, Eli followed his brother Amos to

I'^ulton Market, New York City, at first as an em-

ployee ; but in 1841 they entered into partnership

under the firm-iuime of A. & E. Robbins, which has

since become familiar to all frequenters of the streets

of New York. It was a small beginning—two country

boys, aged eighteen and twenty-one, with a capital of

two hundred and thirty-six dollars each. But they

had an advantage in the superior style in which they

dressed their |)oultry, and they were not ashamed to

work. Add to this their determination not to specu-

late nor run in debt, and the result might easily have

been predicted. They soon distanced all competitors,

and for more than forty years have stood at the ac-

knowk'<lged head of that line of business in the

United States, thus afl'ording a notalile instance of

conspicuous success obtained solely by honorable en-

terprise and strict integrity.

On the 13th of May, 1845, Mr. Robbins married

Mi.ss Maria C. Farmer, of his native town, a young

lady with whom he had been acquainted from child-

hood and whose subsequent devotedness, as wife and

mother, amply justified the prophetic foregleam of his

youthful affections. The abundant means which her

husband furnished enabled her also to gratify every

hospitable impulse and refined taste. Their first home
in Brooklyn was on Washington Street, where two

dear children came to work their mission of love

—

Warren, born Sept. 21, 1846, and Clinton, Dec. 27,

1848. The birth of these children was a joy which

could only be adequately measured by the terrible

grief that followed their early departure—Clinton

died April 26, 1864, and Warren, Nov. 12, 1869.

Eli Robbins, was, by nature and early training, in-

clined to economy and careful in his investments
;
yet

he was not indiflerent to any worthy cause. His bene-

factions to private families and individuals were so

secret and unostentatious, that none but those who
were the recipients of it can compute the sums which
he annually bestowed among them. In religion he

was a Universalist. On removing to Brooklyn, while

yet a young man, he became a member of the first

Universalist Society, and remained ever after loyal to

that form of Christian faith. This furnishes the key
to his whole moral character. He never sought for

novelty, nor shrank from the dictates of duty. He
had the two things which made men strong—an in-

telligent conscience, and the quiet courage to obey it.

True courage is not noisy ; it does not find its expres-
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ions in defiant manners, or vapory speech ;
but it

does consist in ii quiet determination to do right,

because it is right, and iti traveling in a straight,

though unpopular pathway. With such a conscience,

and with such a courage, Kli Robbins entered upon

Iho career wliidi hiy before him and folb)wed it 8UC-

..sslully to the end. The end came while he was yet

("ar from being an old man—he died on the morning

of .Inne 21 , ISSS, in the (i2d year of his age. leaving us

the result of his life, a character for business integrity

against which no word of suspicion was ever breathed,

and a competency—the reward of honorable efforUi.

His will, which wius written ten years before bis death,

disposes of some three hundred thousand dollars in

various be(piests ;
among which are the legacies to

the Church of Our Father, located in the city of

Brooklyn, N. Y ; the Brooklyg Orphan Asylum of

the same city ; the Blind Asylum, of New York ; the

Unitarian and Universalist churches at Arlington,

Mass., and his native town, to which his body was

taken for interment.

It is fitting and proper to add, in connection with

the above, that Mrs. Maria C. Bobbins, his widow, hits

about completed arrangements for tlie erection of a

substantial stone structure to be located in Arlington,

Ma-ss., the native place of herself and her late hus-

band, and intended for a Public Library, and reading-

room, which is to be known as the " Eli Robbins

Memorial Library Building."

JOHN P. SQUIRE.

.lohn P. Sqnire, the son of Peter and Esther Squire.

was born in the town of Weathersiield, Windsor

County, Vermont, on the 8th day of May, 1819. His

father was a farmer. The years of his boyhood were

spent at his home, attending the public schools, and

working on the farm.

On the 1st day of May, 1835, he entered the employ-

ment of a Mr. Orvis, the village store-keeper, at West

Windsor, Vermont, and remained with him until the

winter of 1837, when he attended the academy at

Unity, New Hampshire, of which the Rev. A. A.

Miner was then principal. He taught school at Cav-

endish during a part of the winter of 1837-38. On
the 10th of March, 1S3S, he came to Boston, entered

the employ of Nathan Robbins, in Faueuil Hall Mar-

ket, and continued with him until May 1, 1842, when

he formed a co-partnership with Francis Russell, and

carried on the provision business at No. 25 Faneuil

Hall Market, under the style of Russell & Squire,

until the year 1847, when the co-partnership was dis-

solved.

Mr. Squire continued the business alone, at the

same place, until the year 1855, when he formed a new
co-partnership with Hiland Lockwood and Edward
Kimball, under the name of John P. Squire & Co.

The firm-name and business have continued until the

present time, and the changes in the partners have

been as follows: the retirement of Edward D. Kim-

ball in the year 1806 ; the admission of W. W. Kim-

ball in the same year, and his retirement in 1873; the

admission of his sons, George W. and Frank O. Squire,

in the year 1873; the death of Hiland Lockwood in

the year 1874; the retirement of George W. Squire in

the year 1876 ; and the admission of Fred F. Squire,

the youngest aou, January 1, 1884—leaving the firm

to-day composed of John P., Frank O. and Fred F.

Scpiire. In 1855 Mr. Squire bought a small tract of

land in East Cambridge and built a slaughter-house.

Since that time the business has grown to such an

extent that the firm of John P. Squire & Co. has to-

day one of the largest and best-equipped packing-

houses in the country, and stands third in the list of

hog-packers in the United States.

In 1843 he married Kate Green Orvis, daughter of

his old employer. Eleven children were born of this

marriage, ten of whom are now living, as follows:

George W., Jennie C, Frank 0., Minnie E., John A.,

Kate I., Nannie K., Fred F., Nellie G. and Bessie E.

Squire. One son, Charles, died in infancy.

In 1848 he moved to West Cambridge, now called

Arlington, where he has ever since lived.

Mr. Squire joined the Mercantile Library Associa-

tion when he first came to Boston, and spent a good

deal of his leisure time in reading, of which he was

very fond.

The position which he holds to-day in commercial

circles is due to his untiring industry, undaunted

courage and marked ability.

WAEEKN W. EAWSON.

Warren W. Rawson, son of Warren Rawson, was

born in West Cambridge (now Arlington), January

23, 1847. He was educated in the public schools of

his native town, also at the Cotting Academy and at

a commercial college in Boston. He pursued his

studies with diligence and attention, and succeeded in

procuring an education which well qualified him for

his subsequent successful business career. At the age

of seventeen he began work with his father, who
was a leading market gardener. He studied the

science of the business, nature and plants, soil best

adapted to them, etc., and was successful. When
twenty-two years old he purchased half of his

father's farm and three years later purcliased the re-

mainder. He also owns a place corner Medford and

Warren Streets, purchased about ten years ago of

Mr. W. H. Whittemore. His residence, a fine one,

and hot-houses are located on this place. Mr. Raw-
son has advanced rapidly in the business. He was

the first to build hot-houses to any extent in this

town, and the first to put in an irrigating plant for

outside purposes. He was also the first to use steam

in heating green-houses, and the first to use electric

light in bringing forward plants. He found that this

light hastened the growth of plants about fifteen

' per cent., particularly in the winter season.
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His place embraces one hundred acres. He em-

ploys sixty-five men and twenty-five horses ; uses

three thousand cords of manure each year, beside

fertilizers, and is the mc>st extensive market gardener

in this part of the country. He is the leading pro-

ducer of celery, and also has a large seed store at 34

South Market Street, Boston. He grows large quanti-

ties of seeds to supply the market gardeners, and has

been instrumental in introducing many new kinds o'

vegetables.

Mr. Ravvson is an energetic, public-spirited man.

and occupies many prominent positions. He is pres-

ident of the Middlesex Agricultural Society of Con-

cord
;
president of the Market Gardeners' Association

of Boston ; member of the Staie Board of Agriculture

and one of the Executive Committee of that board
;

member of the Board of Control of the Massachusetts

Experiment Station at Amherst; president of the

Brackett Club, which was instrumental in electing

J. Q. A. Brackett Governor in 1889; chairman of the

Eepublican Town Committee and a member of the

School Committee—now serving his third term of

three years each. He is a parliamentarian of abiliti

and often ofticiates as moderator of the town-meet-

ings. He is a well-known lecturer on agriculture;

is the author of a work entitled "Success in Market

Gardening," and also of a work on celery culture.

In the spring of 1890 he was appointed, by the Gov-

ernor, chairman of the Gypsy Moth Commission.

Mr. Rawson is a man of large executive ability, and

has filled the various positions to which he has been

called with credit to himself and the satisfaction of

the public.

February 20, 18G8, Mr. Rawson united in marriage

with Helen M. Mair and their family consisted of

two children, only one of whom (Mabel) survives.

His wife died May 4, 1872. He married his present

wife, Sarah E. Mair, September 21, 1874, and their

family consisted of three children, two of whom
(Alice and Herbert) survive.

CHAPTER XV.

MELROSE.

BY ELBRIDOE H. GOSS.

Early History.—The choosing of selectmen and

other officers at annual town-meetings was first

adopted by Massachusetts; and to Charlestown—of

which Melrose was originally a part—belongs the

honor of establishing the first "Board of Selectmen,"

in 1635, six years after its settlement. Dorchester,

two years before, had tried a plan which approached

this idea, but the inhabitants of Charlestown matured

and consummated it, and adopted an order, the origi-

nal of which is still preserved, with its signatures,

and of which the following is a copy ; and a fac-simile

of which may be found in Frothingham's "History

of Charlestown :
"

—

" .\n oidor made by the inhabitants of Charlestowno at a full moot-

ing for the government of the Town by Solectmon.

" In consideration of the great tronhlo and chearg of tho Inhabitants

of Charlestowno by reason of tho frecjuent meeting of the townsmen in

genprall and yt reason of many men meeting things wore not so easily

brought unto a joynt issue. It is therefore agreed by the sayde townes-

men ioyntly, that these eleven men whose names are written on the

other syde (w'th the advice of Pastor and Teacher desired in any Ciise of

conscience), shall entreat of all sucli business as shall conscerne the

Townsmen, the choise of olticers e.\cepted, and what tiiey or the greater

part of them shall conclude, of the rest of the towne willingly to submit

unto as their owne proper act, and tlieso 11 to continue in tliis employ-

ment for one yeare ne.xt ensuing tho date hereof, being dated this : Kith

of February, 1634 (1636).

"In witness of this agreement we whose names ai-e under written

have set o'r hands."

Soon afterward the General Court embodied this

idea in its legislation, and made all the necessary

arrangements for town government. From that day

to this the town-meeting has been the true glory of

New England ; and before the Revolution it was,

indeed, " the nursery of American Independence."

Concerning our early town system, George William

Curtis has said

:

" Each town was a small but perfect republic, as solitary and secluded

in the New England wilderness as the Sw iss canton among the Alps. No
other practicable human institution has been devised or conceived to se-

cure the just ends of local government so felicitous as the town-meet-

The town of Melrose was incorporated May 3, 1850.

Most of its territory previous to incorporation was

known as North Blalden. A small portion of it, now
forming the northwestern corner of the town, was set

ofl" from the eastern part of the town ofStoneham,

by legislative act, March 15, 18.53. The name of

Melrose was .suggested by William Bogle, a native of

Scotland, who had been a resident for several years,

coming before the Boston and Maine Railroad was

built,—which was opened July 4, 1845—and when he

had to go back and forth by the stage-coach line,

which commenced running between Boston and Read-

ing in 1798. It is situated in the most eastern part of

the county of Middlesex, seven miles directly north

of Boston. It has a superficial area of 2921 acres,

about 2700 of which are taxable.

It is bounded on the north by Wakefield, on the

east by Saugus (which is in the county of Essex), on

the south by Maiden and on the west by Stoneham

and a small corner of Maiden. Its shape is somewhat
irregular, having a width on the Wakefield line of

about a mile, on the Saugus line two and one-half

miles, about three miles on the Maiden, and two and

a half on the Stoneham and Maiden line. Its surface

is pleasantly diversified ; it has hills, valleys, ponds

and streams. The larger part of the settlement is in

the valley, which has L Pond in its centre. As the

town is growing rapidly, the hills on either side are

being fast encroached upon, that on the east being

already largely occupied with fine residences. The
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lioe of hills on the west side of the valley is more

wooded, and in the (.outherly part there is a pretty

waterfall, from the ed^'e <><" «''at may be termed a

many path-li.ied wildwood, which lies |)artly in Mel-

rose, partly in Maiden aud (lartly in Medford.

This i« a portion of the 4000 acres surrounding

Spot Pond, now known as the Middlesex Fells.

Within the town's borders the.e are several sum-

mit!*, from which very extended views of the sur-

rounding country maybe had—from the oeeiin on the

east, the Blue Hills on the south, Jlount Wachusett

on the west and Mount Monadnock and other distant

summits on the north. These local summits are

Mount Zion, Mount Hood, Boston Rock, Atlantic

Rock, Barrett Mount and Vinton Hill or West Rock.

The largest body of water within its limits is L
Pond, containing about thirty acres, so named from

its shape, and so referred to in the Charlestown Rec-

ords as early as 1G38. In early documents it has been

variously spelled Ell, Eel, Ele and L ; the different

spelling probably arising by a misapprehension of the

sound.

The other ponds are Swain's, Bennett, Dix, High-

land and Long pond ; this latter extends into the town

of Saugus. Both Long and Swain's Ponds were

named as early as 1660, being thus referred to in the

Charlestown records. L Pond Brook, the outlet ot

that pond, runs through the centre of the town, and

is joined at Wyoming by the Spot Pond Brook, the

outlet of Spot Pond, which lies within the territory

of the town of Stoneham. Both these brooks, thus

united, flow into the Maiden River, at Maiden.

Melrose has five divisions or settlements: the Mid-

dlesex Fells—generally called Fells—and Wyoming
in the southern part, the Centre, Melrose Highlands

in the north, and Norrisville in the northeastern

part, each having a railroad depot, with the excep-

tion of Norrisville. The Highlands depot is also

called the Stoneham depot, as for many years ahorse

railroad has connected with that town, two miles dis-

tant. About two years ago the Maiden and Melrose

Horse-Railroad was extended from Maiden, running

through Main and Green Streets to Norrisville,

thence through Franklin Street and connecting with

that at the Highlands Station, the whole consolidated

with the East Middlesex Horse-Railroad Company.
Originally the territory of Melrose belonged to the

town of Charlestown, which was settled in 1629, and
was a far more extensive region than now, as it in-

cluded what is now Maiden, Everett, Melrose, Wo-
burn, Stoneham, a small part of Cambridge, Somer-
ville, Burlington, a large part of Medford, and Read-
ing. JJift'erenccs of opinion connected with the

boundaries of the different towns arose, and were set-

tled by the General Court. July 2, 1633, Mystic-side

(now Maiden) was granted to Charlestown, audit was
ordered " that the ground lyeing betwixte the North
Ryv' [sometimes called " Three Myle Brooke," now
Maiden River] & the creeke on the north side of

M'. Mauacks, & soe vpp into the country, shall be-

longe to the inhabitants of Charlton." As " vpp into

the country " did not determine how far the line

should go, another order, passed March 3, 1G36, was

more definite; "Ordered, that Charles Towoe bounds

shall run eight myles into the country from their

meeteing-howse, if noe other bounds intercept, re-

serueing the pprictie of fl'ermes graunted to John
Winthrop, Esq., M'. Nowell, M'. Cradocke & M'.

Wilson, to the owners thereof, as also fl'ree ingresse

& egresse for the serv's & cattell of the said gentt, &
common for their cattell, on the backeside of M'.

Cradocks fferme." And the Charlestown records of

1638 say that "the Gen" Court had setled theire

Bounds by granting eight miles from the old Meeting-

house into the Contry Northwest Northrly."

As Charlestown increased, its inhabitants passed

over the Mystic River as early as 1640, and in that

year a mill was built near Mount Prospect, by Thomas
Coitmore. In 1649, this " Mystic-side " was set off

by the General Court, and named Maiden, from a

town in England bearing that name, whence some of

the early settlers came. Captain Edward .Johnson,

in his " Wouder-Working Providence of Zicn's Sa-

viour in New England," says that Maiden was settled

"by certain persons, who issued out of Charles Town,

and indeed had her whole structure within the bounds

of this more elder Town, being severed by the broad-

spreading river of Mistick, the one from the other,

whose troublesome passage caused the people on the

North side of the river to plead for Towu-privildeges

within themselves, which accordingly was granted

them."

The act of incorporation was brief, as compared

with one passed nowadays :
" Upon the petition of

Mistick-side men, they are granted to be a distinct

towne, & the name thereof to be called Mauldon."

All the northern part of this new town, a tract of

over two thousand acres, was for many years called

"The Commons." It was "full of stately timber,"

and, says the Charlestown records, " indeed generally

all the country round about was an uncouth wilder-

ness." It was the home of the Indian and the wild

beast. It has been said that when the first settlers at

Boston sent out an exploring expedition, they came
as far as the line of small hills in Maiden, and turn-

ing back, reported that beyond the hills was a dense

wilderness, and that probably nobody would ever pen-

etrate the jungles.

In the process of time this land came to be very de-

sirable both as woodland and pasturage ; and action

was taken by the town looking to its preservation and
utility. The Maiden records, March 26, 1694, con-

tain the report of a committee " to run lines between

the Common and proprietors' lands, as follows : Run
y"^ bounds Round Reedy pond, y" bounds are first a

great butteuwood tree before Joseph Lines dore—and
so bounded Round with seuerall trees marked with

letter C next common." November 20th of the same
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year it was " Voted, That y= common shall be di-

vided: bottom and top, yt is, land and wood;" and

November 26th a committee of three—Major William

Johnson, Captain John Brown and Captain John

Smith—reported to the town the manner in which it

should be done, giving to every freeholder in thetown

a proportion according to his ratable estate. A com-

mittee of seven were chosen to proceed with the divi-

sion. It was voted that this committee "employ an

artis to lay out the lots." E^^ery lot was to " run 82

poles in length," and there was to be allowed " two

poles in breadth between every range of lots for high-

ways . . . Every proprietor's name to be written dis-

tinctly, and y' lots be well shuffled together, and one

man chose by the town to draw them out of a bag.

The first name drawn to have the first lot." This

division was thus made in 1695, when seventy-four

freeholders, then in Maiden, received their respective

allotments.

But a number of families had taken up their abode

in this region ere this division of " the commons "

took place. They were tbeSpragues, the Lyndes and

the Greens ; soon after came the Barretts, Upbams,
Howards and Vintons. There are many representa-

tives of all these families in Melrose to-day. At a

little later date, a while before, or at about the time

of the Revolution, came the Pratts, Grovers, Emer-

sons, Edmundses, Herrings, Larrabees, Boardmans,

Hemenways, Tainters, Goulds, Coxes, Eatons and

Fullers. Most of these families also have many de-

scendants still living in Melrose.

Some of these older families have an interesting

history. As to the Lyndes : In former times they

have owned nearly all of the southern territory of

Melrose. Thomas Lynde came from England, settled

in Charlestown, and became a freeman in 1634. His

son. Ensign Thomas Lynde, came to Maiden very

soon after its incorporation, and from him all the Mel-

rose Lyndes descended. There are several of the old

homesteads of this family still remaining, one of them,

that on Washington Street, being at least two hundred

years old.

At a town-meeting held May 18, 1694, it was voted

"that Samuel Green shall Injoy his hous and y* land

y' stands on, and so much land about It as y= Com-
mite shall se cause to lay to It," and the records,

referring to lot No. 64, say, " part east against

Redding Rhode and part on y"" west of y" Green's

farm." This refers to a farm of sixty-three acres

situated at the Highlands, and belonging to Samuel

Green, who was a son of Thomas, who settled in Mai-

den about the year 1651.

In 1629 three brothers, Ralph, Richard and Wil-

liam Sprague, settled in Charlestown, and their

names are first on a list of inhabitants for that year.

Richard and William signed the document establish-

ing the first Board of Selectmen in Charlestown, and

Ralph was one of the eleven selectmen then elected.

John, the oldest son of Ralph, settled in Maiden,

near the Coitmore Mill, which was for many years in

possession of the Sprague family. The youngest son
of John, Phineas, came to Melrose not far from the

year 1700. The old homestead was on what is now
Foster Street, and the residence jof the late Liberty

Bigelow stands on its site. The grand.son of Phineas,

also named Phineas, was the Revolutionary patriot of

whom many interesting anecdotes are told ; and he
succeeded to the old farm and homestead on Poster

Street. He kept a diary, which gives a few details

concerning the old couplet

;

*' In 1780, tbe nineteenth day of May,

Will ever be remembered as being the darlt day."

"Friday, May the 19th 1780."

"This day was tbe moHt Iteniarltablo day that ever my eyes belield

tile air bad bin full of snioak to an uncommon degree So that wee could

si-airce see a mountain at two miles distance for ;j or 4 days I'aat till this

day after Noon the enioak all went off to the South at sunset a very

black bank of a cloud appe.ared in the south and west the Nex morn-

ing cJoudey and thundered in the west about ten ofdock it began to

Kain and grew vere dark and at l"J it was allmust as dark as Nite so tllat

wee was obliged to lite our candels and Eate our dinner by candel lite

at Noon day but between 1 and 2 oclock it grew lite again but in tlie

Evening the cloud caim over us again tbe moon was about the full it

was the darkest Nite that ever was seen by us in tbe world."

During one of the intercolonial wars between the

French and English Colonies, this same Sprague

furnished a substitute :

"Jan. 13, 1761.

" Received of Phinehas Sprague june'r eight Pounds lawful money
jt being for my going a Solger to forte Cumberland and I had a promes,

not of Six Pounds be fore.

" Pr me John Batts."

When slavery existed in Massachusetts some of

these old families in Melrose were slave-holders, as

is witnessed by the following document given to this

same Sprague

:

' Know all men by these present that I, Thomas Nickels, of Reding,

In the County of middlesex, gentilman for and in Consideration of the

sum of thirty three pounds six shillings and Eight pence lawfull

money of New England to me in hand paid by pini.ish Sprague, Jnn
of Maiden in the same County above s** Cordwinder whereof I do here-

by acknowledge the Receipt and my selfe therewith fuly and entirely

satisfied liave bargened sold set over and Deliverd, and by these present

in plain and open markit acording to the due Jourm of law in that case

mad and provided do bargain set over and Deliver unto the said phinas

Spraigue Jun a negro woman namd pidge with one negro boy to have

and to hold to bis proper use and behoofe of him the said pbinas

Spraigue his heirs, executors administrators and assigns for ever and I

Thomas nickles for my self my heirs executors administrators and

asigns ganst all in all manner of person I shall warrant and for ever De-

fend by these presents In witness whereof with the Deliver of the bar-

gained persons I have set to my hand and seal the twenty-five Day of

april in the 17 fifty-tbree year of y" Raign of oure Souerign lord gorg

tbe Second oner grate Brilton.

" Thomas Nichols [seal].

"Signed and our .Seal 1753 and Delever in the present of us.

"Jon* Kidder.
" Edward Lambert."

James Barrett first settled in Charlestown in 1635,

from whence he went to Maiden, where his sou .James

was born, in 1644. His son. Deacon Jonathan Bar-

rett, born in 1675, went to Melrose about the year

1705, locating on Barrett Lane (now Porter Street).

He died in 1749, bequeathing to his son Joseph a

slave named Israel, to serve him for sis years. Is-
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rael, wishing to learn a trade, was indentured to

Joaeph'b brother Jacob, as follows ;

"Tbt* Indfiimrt- wiinwaselh that whoreaa Deacon Jonii. Barrit, late

of M«lJ«n. ilecwuteU orderea ip hltt liwt will and TtwUiiient yt his

Ncgrwiimu Surveiit lirirtl ohould iwrve hiii sod, Jowpb B*irrit fuithfully

for ye ijttw of atx yean tkfXvr ye decoaiw of ye above od Testator, of

whioh time there U^log Two ywirs l*iu*i the ad Nogro hefng desirous of

I
. , I art ofa Cooptir which his sd master, Joseph Bar-

I l.y thf«e rn-cclila Puis uud Binds the above «U

N ^ uiitu Jacob llarrltt of the town of Luncasler in the

t II u tif\Vurc»wter and Province of 91iuaachusett« Bay in New Kng-

Ltii 1 Miller and the fid approutlce to Herve liiui and wife from ye Day of

yv iKilo bervof fur aud during ttio full ternt of furo years next during

all which time ye ad approuttce his ad master nnd mtstresa faithfully

ahall if-^rve, there secrets keep, there lawful commands gladly every-

where obey. He shall do no damage to hiit sd niustor nor liiH mistress

nor Bi-e It to hv done Ity otherH without Lotting or giving notice thereof

to hiii«il ma*ter or mislreiwi;oo<ls or Lend them unlnwfnlly to any om-,

he shall not Commit Fornication uor contract matrimony within ed

terui. At Canls or Dice or any other unlawful ftumo ho shall not play,

whereby hU mid master or mistress may be damaged, with bis own

Good* nor the goods of others he shall not absent himself Day or Night

ftijm his masters or mistress si>rvlces without their lieare nor haunt

ale-houMvt taverns or play houses. But in all things behave himself a8

a faithful Apprentice ought to do during tmid term. Aud the sd master

and mistress shall ii80 ye utmost of their Endeavors to teach and in

struct the wild apprentice in the tnule and mystery uf a Cooper and

procure rtiid provide for him sulhcient meat drink apparel washing

and loging fitting for an apprentice during ye sd term and at the expira-

tion of ye sd Term return ye t*d Apprentice as well clothed as at present

to ye alwve sd master Joseph or hia heirs who shall by these presents be

obliged to receive the sd apprentice and clear the sd Jacob Barrit and

tiis Heirs from all charges yt may arise after his time is out with him

and for the true porfonnance of every part of the sd covenants and

agreementfl, either of ye Parties Bind themselves to the other by these

presents in witnoss whereof ^thoy havd Interchangeably put their hands

and seals this seventh Day of September Anno Domini one Thousand

seven Hundred and fifty-one and in the Twenty fifth year of his Majes-

ties Reign.
" JosEPU Barrett.
" Jacob Barrett.

"Eben Habndem.
" Samuel Sphague."

During the Revolution Joseph, son of the above

Joseph, paid bounty money as follows:

" Cambridge, Aug'. 17, 17S1.

"Kec* of M'. Joseph Barrett thesumof Twelve Pounds Solid Coine

in full for all Accorapts, Debts Dues aud Demands Against M'. Joseph

Lyonds or M'. Joseph Barretts Class for Procuring a man for three

years' service in the Army.
*' Rec' by me, Benj. Perkins."

Captain Jonathan, son of the above Joseph, was

the first to begin the manufacture of shoes in Mel-

rose, an industry still carried on by a grandson

Jonathan Barrett. There are numerous Barretts

now living in Melrose, among them Artemas, son

of Captain Jonathan, from whom the foregoing doc-

uments were obtained, and who owns many others

of like interest.

Lieutenant Phineas Upham, of Maiden, was the

son of John Upham, who came to this country and

was admitted freeman in 1635, and settled in Mai-
den about the year 1650. Lieut. Upham was an

active oflicer in "King Philip's War," conducting

many scouting-parties, aud was mortally wounded
at the battle of ** Narragansett Fort," December 19,

1675.

At'the State House is the original document which

he signed, together with other commissioned officers,

^^^^^^ fblO^CiAH.

a few days before the fight, and which ihey sent "To
the Hon. Governor and Council now Sitting at Bos-

ton," in which they made a request for company
quartermasters, horses, trumpeters, etc.

From this Lieut. Upham descended all the Mai-
den and Melrose Uphams ; his grandson, Phineas,

settled on Upham Hill, not far from the year 1700,

where some of the old homesteads still remain, on
one of which, that of George Upham, is still seen the

old-fashioned well-sweep with its "iron-bound bucket."

Other interesting details concerning these and a

number of the other early families may be found in the

"Historical Address, delivered in Melrose, Massachu-

setts, July 4, 1876," in accordance with Congressional

act and Presidential proclamation, known as " The
Centennial Fourth."

KOADS.—The first road, and only one for many
years which passed through Melrose, was laid out by
order of the General Court, at a session held Septem-
ber 10, 1653, when

'* Thomas Marshall. John Smyth & John Sprague being chosen to

lay out the country high way between© Reddiuge & Winneseiiiett do lay

it out aa follows • from Redding towne. through Maldon bounds, betwixt

the pond & John Smyths land, it goby the east side of Mr. Joseph Hills

land, to New Hockley Hole, & so in the old way by the Cow Pen, .t

thence along on the east side of Thomas Onitmore's lott. by Kle Pond, in

the old way to Thomas Lynds land, then through the tirst field, and so

by the field by his bowse, from thence, on the old way, by Maldon meet-

ing howse, through the stony swampe, Ac. . . . the sd way to be

fower poles broade, in good ground, & six or eight where need requires."

" The old way," so often referred to in this order,

means the old crooked Indian or bridle-path or trail,

in use before this date, winding hither and thither,

going around this hill, shunning that swamp or bog,

and over which the early traveler wended his way be-

tween Reading and Chelsea. Portions of this old

original road are still traceable within the bounds of

Melrose, and the rocks in the wheel-ruts show the

abrasion of the old-time usage very distinctly.

On a plan of Maiden, surveyed by Peter Tafts, Jr.,

of Medford, in 1795, the only roads laid down in what

was then North Maiden are, this main road, called

the "Reading Road," and a " Stoneham Road," now
Wyoming Avenue, which leaves this near where Ma-
sonic Hall now stands. About this time " Upham
Lane," now " Upham Street," was built through to

Chelsea line, a portion of which town, at that time,

extended up to Reading, between Maiden and Saugus
;

and what is now Howard Street had been built

through to Saugus, making a continuous county road

from Stoneham to Lynn. Main Street, as now exist-

ing, was laid out in 1806. For many years these were

the only roads or streets in Melrose, which now has

Ibrlv miles of streets within its borders.
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CHAPTER XVI.

MELROSE— ( Continued).

ECCLESIASTICAL AND EDUCATIONAL HISTORY.

The first organized religious society in Melrose

(then North Maiden) was the Methodist Episcopal

Church. In the spring of 1813 a committee, consist-

ing of Phineas Sprague, .Tames Green and Jesse Up-
ham, requested the Rev. Timothy Merritt—then a

member of the Legislature from Maine—to preach in

the little old school-house, which was situated on the

corner of the old road, now LeJ)auon Street, and Up-
ham Lane, now Uphani Street. A political sermon

had been delivered in the Orfhodox Church at Mai-

den Centre, which caused great dissatisfaction among
the residents of North Maiden ; and the call to Mr.

Merritt was the result of an indignation meeting held

in one of their barns. After a few Sabbaths Mr.

Merritt was succeeded by Rev. Thomas Pierce, who
was to receive $2.00 a Sunday.

In September following. Rev. Ephraim Wiley was

engaged to preach, and some time during the next

year a house was hired of Cotton Sprague, which

stood on the site now occupied by the residence of

the late Liberty Bigelow. In consequence of their

continued success, a society was formed in 1815 ; and

in 1818 a meeting-house, thirty feet long by thirty-

two wide, was built at the junction of Main andCfreeu

Streets. Rev. Orlando Hinds was pastor at this time.

He was followed by Rev. Isaac Jennison, and in 1820

the Rev. Ephraim Wiley again became pastor, being

sent this time by the Methodist Conference. Next in

succession came Revs. Leonard Frost, John Adams
and Samuel Norris. Then came a period when the

pulpit was supplied by local preachers, about which

time some dissatisfied members withdrew and formed

the Protestant Methodist Church, hereafter referred to.

The Methodists continued to occupy their meeting-

house until 1842, when it was enlarged, improved and

re-dedicated November 30th of that year. This

house was occupied until 1858, when it was sold,

moved to Main Street in the centre of the town,

changed into Concert Hall, and was burned Novem-
ber 30, 1875, with Boardman's Block, just thirty-three

years from the day it was dedicated.

Their present church edifice on Main Street, was

dedicated April 1, 1858, and up to this time the fol-

lowing ministers had been settled over the society

:

Revs. G. W. Fairbanks, Le Roy Sunderland, Ezra

Sprague, R. D. Estabrook, Mudge, Otheman, New-
hall, R. Wallace, D. Richards, H. M. Bridge, Na-

thaniel Bemis, John C. Ingalls, F. Griswold, John
Merrill, Mark Staples, W. H. Hatch, Shepard, W. C.

High, J. W. Perkins, N. D. George and J. A. Adams.

The first pastor settled in the new meeting-house

was Rev. H. V. Degen. He was followed by Revs.

A. D. Merrill, John L. Hanaford, George Prentice

—

14-iii

now professor in Wesleyan University, Middletown,

Conn.,—Henry Baker, Frank K. Stratton, M. E.

Wright, A. W. Mills, S. B. Sweetzer, Isaac H. Pack-
ard, Dr. William Butler, John D. Pickles and Samuel
Jackson, who is the present pastor, with a church
membership of 324.

The Sabbath-school connected with the church was
first formed in 1824; its present membership is 394.

A parsonage on land adjoining the church has just

been built, at a cost of $5700.

About ihe year 1828 some members of the Method-
ist Episcopal Church became dissatisfied with some
portions of its church government, and withdrew
therefrom. They organized as the Protestant Meth-
odist Church, purchased the old district school-house

and moved it to the corner of Main and Upham
Streets, near where now stands the First Baptist

Church.

This was replaced a few years later by a larger

building, and the original school-house church moved
to Foster Street, on the corner of Myrtle, where it

was altered into a tenement-house, and burned at the

time the Orthodox Congregational Church was de-

stroyed, February 10, 1869.

For several years the Protestant Methodist Church
prospered. Meanwhile, many Baptists had become
residents of the town, and, on January 1, 1850, by
mutual agreement, the Protestant Methodist Society

was merged into the First Baptist Church, then

formed, and which took possession of all the church
property. Many of the Protestant IMethodists re-

mained and joined the Baptist Church. This new
organization immediately called and settled the Rev.

Thorndike C. Jameson as pastor. He remained until

November 2, 1858, when he went to Providence, R. I.,

and was afterwards chaplain in the Second Rhode
Island Volunteers during the Great Rebellion.

Rev. James Cooper succeeded Mr. Jameson, and
remained until Janu.ary 30, 1862, when he resigned

to accept a pastorate in Philadelphia, Pa. In Decem-
ber, 1862, Rev. Lewis Colby became pastor, who
officiated until July 23, 1864. In September follow-

ing Rev. William S. Barnes was ordained. He re-

mained until June 15, 1868, when, having changed
his theological views, he resigned and entered the

Unitarian denomination, receiving at oiice a call

from the newly-organized Unitarian Society of this

town. He afterwards went to Woburu, and is now
in Montreal, Canada. Rev. James J. Peck was pas-

tor from August, 1869, until April 1, 1871. Septem-

ber 15th of that year the Rev. Almond Barrelle be-

came pastor, and he remained until April 1, 1875.

During his pastorate the old church edifice was sold

to the Catholics, and a handsome brick chapel built

on its site, which was dedicated November 17, 1874.

A year later the Rev. Napoleon B. Thompson was
installed, who remained until November 1, 1876.

Rev. Robert F. Tolraan was ordained pastor June 27,

1878, and remained until April 1, 1886. The present
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pastor, Rev. George A. Cleaveland, was installed Oc-

tober 21. 18S6. The number of church members is

349, and the Sabbath-school has a membership of

8.57.

The Orthodox Congregational Church was

organized July 11, 1848. Services had beeu held pre-

vious to this in the parlors of Dr. Levi Gould and

Deacon Jonathan Cochran; and the first minister,

Rev. .Stillmau Pratt, began to preach as early as

.Vpril 2.'>th of that year, in Deacon Cochran's house,

on Orove Street. The first house of worship, costing

$3000, was erected on Foster Street, and dedicated

May 17, 1849. This was built largely through the

cMbrts and solicitations of Deacon Cochran and Dr.

Gould, both of whom worked upon its foundation

with pick and shovel. Deacon Cochran died January

<!, ISS-'), nearly ninety-four years of age. Their church

edifice was remodeled, enlarged and rc-dedicated

January J, 1859, at a cost of $10,000, and was burned

February 17, 1869. The present building, costing

$42,000 wiis dedicated October 26, 1870. Mr. Pratt

resigned his pastorate in April, 1851, and was suc-

ceeded, January 15, 1852, by Rev. I. H. Northrup.

He resigned the following March, and January 12,

18.54, the Rev. Alexander J. Sessions was installed.

He held the pastorate until July, 1858, and was fol-

lowed by Rev. Edward H. Buck, who was installed in

September, 1859. He died January 31, 1861. Rev.

Henry .\. Stevens was ordained September 12, 1861,

and remained until May, 1808. The present pastor,

Rev. Albert G. Bale, w.as ordained December 3, 1868.

On the 2d of December, 1888, Mr. Bale preached

an historical sermon, it being the twentieth anniversary

of his settlement, and the fortieth of the church. In

1883 a parsonage costing $6000 was built on the old

church lot, which joined the land purchased for the

present edifice.

The Sabbath-school was established before the first

church was built, and, by the kindness of the Boston

and Maine Railroad Company, met in the old passen-

ger depot at the centre station, where the church

services were also held for a considerable time. The
present membership of the church is 385; and of the

Sabbath-school, 472.

The First Univeesalist Society of Melrose was
organized February 10, 1849. Previous to this there

had been occasional preaching by Universalist minis-

ters, first in the little school-house at the corner of
Lebanon and Upham Streets, then in the school-house

on Upham Street, where now stands the grammar
Bchool-house, and which was built in 1829. The first

settled pastor Rev. Josiah W. Talbot was installed

March 18, 1849. Under his untiring energy and per-

severance a church building was erected and dedi-
cated January 1, 1852, with a sermon by Rev. A. A.
Miner, D.D. Mr. Talbot resigned the pastorate
November 13, 1853, and was succeeded by Rev.
Mr. Cooledge, who remained until 1856, when Rev.
J. S. Dennis wa9 installed as his successor, April

1, 1856; Mr. Dennis resigned in 1858, and in Novem-
ber of that year Rev. B. F. Bowles was installed.

He remained only until the end of 1859. Rev.

George H. Deere commenced his labors Septem-

ber, 1860, continuing until 1862, when he was suc-

ceeded by Rev. George W. Quimby, who rem.iined

until 1864. Rev. Selden Gilbert was settled in 1865,

remaining one year. From 1866 until 1869, Rev. B.

H. Davis was the pastor, being succeeded by Rev.

John N. Emery Sei>tember 1, 1S69. In 1872 Mr.

Emery resigned and was succeeded by Rev. J. E.

Bruce, who remained until 1875. March 6, 1876,

Rev. William A. Start was installed, and he resigned

in December, 1877. Rev. Charles A. Skinner was

settled as pastor September, 1878, who resigned May
1, 1881. He was succeeded by Rev. Richard Eddy,

D.D., who was installed in September, 1881. He re-

mained until September 1, 1889, when he resigned.

On November 14, 1889, Rev. Julian S. Cutler, the

present pastor, was installed. During the latter part

of Dr. Eddy's pastorate it was decided to build a new
church. The old one was sold, moved to another part

of Essex Street and converted into our present Frank-

lin Hall. The new church edifice was dedicated

JIarch 24, 1889; sermon by Dr. Eddy and the address

to the people by Rev. A. A. Miner, who preached the

dedicatory sermon for the old church January 1, 1852.

Present membership of the church 62, of the Sab-

bath-school 167.

The Trinity Episcopal Church was formed in

1856. Beginning April 13th, five services were held in

the parlor of Mrs. Theresa Rice, onLake Avenue, after

which they were held in Lyceum Hall, Main Street.

The first rector was Rev. William H. Munroe, who
organized the Sunday-school and remained until 1862,

when he resigned. He is now the rector of Christ

Church, Boston, During his pastorate a church ed-

ifice was erected on Emerson Street, which was con-

secrated March 25, 1860, by the Rt. Rev. Manton
Eastburn, Bishop of Massachusetts. Mr. Munroe's suc-

cessor was Rev. John B. Richmond, who remained

until July 1868. Rev. Robert Ritchie succeeded and

remained one year. Rev. Charles Wingate was chos-

en rector June 13, 1870, resigning in 1876. During

a year's absence of Mr. Wingate in Europe, Rev.

Samuel P. Parker had charge of the parish. April

27, 1876, Rev. Henry A. Metcalf was chosen rector,

remaining until 1880, when he was succeeded by
Rev. Charles L. Short, holding his first services De-

cember 21, 1880. He was pastor until May, 1888.

June 21, 1887, a new stone church was consecrated

It was built by the Tyer family as a memorial to

Henry George, Elizabeth, and Catharine Louise Tyer.

Its cost was §28,467.40. Under one of the trusses on

the south side is placed a carved stone from the ruins

oi Melrose Abbey, Scotland, obtained through the ef-

forts of the late William L. Williams.

The present rector, Rev. Charles H. Seymour,

was settled over this church September 12, 1888.
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Present number of communicants, 120 ; membership

of Sabbath school, 101.

Unitarian Church.—The first permanent move-

ment for the establishment of a Unitarian Church

was made in 1866, when servicea were begun in C^on-

cert Hall, on Main Street, by Rev. W. P. Tilden, un-

der the auspices of the American Unitarian Associa-

tion. Soon after the Unitarian Congregational So-

ciety of Melrose was organized, in July, 1867. It

continued to hold services in Concert Hall for several

years ; having for pastors, beside IMr. Tilden, Revs.

John D. Wells, .John A. Buckingham, William Sils-

bee and William S. Barnes, who left the Baptist de-

nomination and was settled over this church for a few

mouths, resigning in January, 1869. July 7, 1860,

Rev. A. S. Nickerson was installed as pastor and

resigned in April, 1870. At this time, while

without a settled minister, a new church was

built on the corner of Emerson and Myrtle Streets,

and dedicated May 1, 1872. Services had been

continued meanwhile by the friendly offices of a

number of pastors. The first minister to be set-

tled in the new church was Rev. Daniel M. Wilson,

who was installed November 15, 1872. He resigned

March 1, 1876, and is now settled at Quincy, Mass.

From September 1, 1878, to September 1, 1881, Rev.

Nathaniel Seaver, Jr., was the pastor. Rev. Henry

Wescott was settled over this i)arish in conjunction

with the newly-formed one in Maiden, November 1,

1881. He died July 17, 1883, much lamented. A
handsome memorial volume was published soon after

his death, containing a number of his sermons and a

memoir by John 0. Norris. The Rev. John H. Hey-
wood, forty years pastor at Louisville, Ky., was in-

stalled September 7, 1881, remaining until September

1, 1889, when he resigned and returned to his old

home in Louisville. The present pastor Rev. Joseph

H. Weeks, was installed February 7, 1890. The mem-
bership of the church is 100, of the Sabbath-school

102.

Roman Catholics.—Until 1873 the Catholics of

Melrose were included in the parish of Maiden and

Medford, when it was set apart as a separate parish

under the care of Rev. W. H. Fitzpatrick. The
church edifice of the First Bajjtist Society was pur-

chased and removed to Dell Avenue and used in Octo-

ber of the same year. Previous to this. May 1, 1870, a

Sunday-school had been organized and had held its

services in Freemason's Hall ; and a Catholic service,

or Mass. had been held on Grove Street, December

25, 1854. Mr. Fitzpatrick was succeeded a few years

after the organization by the present incumbent, Rev.

Dennis J. O'Farrell.

There are two temperance societies connected with

this church—the Loyal Temperance Cadets and the

Catholic Total Abstinence Society.

The Highlands Congregational Church was

organized September 29, 1875, with Rev. D. A. More-

house as its pastor. Preaching services had been held

quite regularly for several years previous to this, in

the chapel corner of Franklin and Tremont Streets,

the gift of Deacon George W. Chipman. Here the

Highland Union Sunday School also held regular

sessions for many years. November 19, 187G, the

present pastor. Rev. John (J. Taylor, began his pastor-

ate. The same year a movement was begun to build

a church. The edifice, situated on Franklin Street,

was finished and occupied September 29, 1880. An
additional chapel was built in 1885, and the total co.st

of the building has been $12,500. In 1883 Mr.

Taylor went abroad for fourteen months, and during

his absence the Rev. Henry Bales officiated as ])as-

tor. Present number of members of the church, 130
;

of the Sunday-school, 259.

Soon after the establishment of the Boston Rubber

Shoe Company's works, at the Fells village, in 1882,

the First Baptist Church organized a Sunday-school,

and began to hold religious services. On the 25th of

January, 1889, the F'ells Baptist Church was organ-

ized with 26 members. The pastor is Rev. William

H. Hacket, who had officiated for some time previous

to the organization of the church. The present mem-
bership is 71 ; and that of the Sunday-school, 133.

Both church and Sunday-school meet in a hall at the

corner of Main Street and Goodyear Avenue, the

property of the Boston Rubber Shoe Company, free of

all charge. The hall was built soon after the works

were established, and has always been jilaced at the

di>posal of this religious movement ; and in it was kept

the Converse School previous to the building of the

new school-house oa Washington Street for the Fells

District.

All of these churches have their auxiliary societies,

some thirty in number; among them. Social Circles,

Missionary Societies both foreign and home, Young
People's Society of Christian Endeavor and the Ep-

worth League.

Initiatory measures have been taken with a view

of establishing a Young Men's Christian As-

sociation ; there was one formed in 1858, but it was

not of long duration.

Schools.—The only school in Melrose for many
years was held in the plain, unpainted district school-

house, which was sold to the Protestant Methodist

Society in 1828. It was built in 1800, was twenty by

twenty-five feet in size and was situated on a knoll

on the old road, now Lebanon Street, about a dozen

rods south of " Upham Lane," now Upham Street.

In this old school-house Robert Gerry, who died in

Stoneham, April 1, 1873, in his ninetieth year, taught

school during the winter season for twenty-four years

in succession, beginning in 1803. After this house

was sold, a new one was built on Upham Street, in

1828, by the schoolmaster, Mr. Gerry, for the town of

Maiden. This was burned about the year 1845; and
the one built on its site was the only school-house

Melrose had when it was incorporated ; in it was kept

a primary, intermediate and grammar school. This
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house was burned in April, 1874, and succeeded by

the present structure, the " Centre Grammar School."

The High School building on Emerson Street was

erected in ISOy. Melrose now has eleven school-

houses, with thirty-two teachers. The amount of

money appropriated for schools for the year 1890 was

$28,7U0. The amount of the "Town Grant" for

schools in 1851 was $1200; and there was received

Iroui the State School Fund $."w.90, making a total of

1^1255. !)0 expended for school purposes.

CHAPTER XVII.

MELROSE— { Continued).

HaUary Hulory—SoeUliet, Auociatloiu, Clitb$, elc.

Military History.—Many Melrose men were

engaged in the Revolution. Maiden, of which Mel-

rose was then a part, was a very patriotic town, and

sent forth not only her sons, but several spirited

manifestoes, before and during the war. So eloquent,

forcible and patriotic were her " Instructions of the

town to its Representative, Passed May 27, 1776,"

that Chief Justice Marshall quoted them in his "Life

of Washington." Among the sentiments expressed

were these :
" It is now the ardent wish of ourselves

that America may become Fire and Independent

Stales. . . . Unjustifiable claims have been made

by the king and his minions, to tax us without our

consent. These Colonies have been prosecuted in a

manner cruel and unju.st to the highest degree. The

frantic policy of Administration hath induced them

to send Fleets and armies to America, that by de-

priving us of our trade, and cutting the throats of

our brethren, they might awe us into submission and

erect a system of despotism which should so far en-

large the influence of the Crown as to enable it to

rivet their shackles upon the people of Great Britain.

. . . We, therefore, renounce with disdain our

connection with the Kingdom of Slaves ; we bid a

final adieu to Britain, . . . and we now instruct

you, Sir, to give them the strongest assurance, that if

they should declare America to be a Free and Inde-

pendent Republic, your constituents will support and

defend the measure to the Last Drop of their Blood

and the Last Farthing of their Treasure.''

In Captain Benjamin Blaney's company of Maiden
men, which went, on the 19th of April, " to resist the

ministerial troops,'' were the following Melrose men :

Sergt. .labcz Lynde, Nathan Eaton, Joseph Lynde, Jr.,

Ezra Howard, John Vinton, Benjamin Lynde, William

Upham, Ezra Upham, John Grover (3d), Unite Cox,

Joseph Barrett, Jr., Phineas Sprague, John Grover,

Jr., John Gould, Phineas Sprague, Joseph Lynde and
John Pratt. There was hardly a man living in North
Maiden at that time, who was able to bear arms, who

did not start as a " minute-man " when the alarm was

sounded.

Thomas, Timothy and Ezra Vinton lived at the

Highlands and went in Captain Samuel Sprague's

company from Stoneham. " After the men had left

for Concord, the women, fearing that they might suf-

fer for want of food, filled some saddle-bags full of

provision, put them upon an old horse owned by

Phineas Sprague, and Israel Cook mounted the horse

and started for Concord. When near the place, fear-

ing that he might meet the British on their return, he

turned into a by-road to avoid them. They soon

came in sight, and discovered him. One of the sol-

diers left the ranks, crossed the field, shot at Cook and
killed the horse, and then hastened back to the ranks.

Cook, nothing daunted, shouldered the saddle-bags,

and trudged on till he met the men, who were sadly

in want of something to eat."'

Melrose took an honorable part in the Great Rebel-

lion of 1861-65. Some of her men were in the ser-

vice as soon as any after the time Fort Sumter was

bombarded, and continued until the end of the war.

When Senator Wilson telegraphed to Governor An-
drew, April 15th, for twenty companies of militia to

be sent immediately to Washington, for three months'

service, five Melrose men immediately enlisted

—

George W. Balchelder, Gordon McKay, Thomas
Smith and William Wyman, in Company B, Fifth

Massachusetts Regiment, and Seth Morrison in the

Fourth Regiment. Of these, all that were in the

Fifth Regiment entered the service again in the three

years' regiments.

May 3, 1861, President Lincoln issued his second

call for troops, for three years' service, and on the

same day the selectman issued a warrant for a town-

meeting, which was held in Concert Hall, May 6th.

It was then

"Voted, tbat the town of Melrose appropriate the sum of tfSOOO for

the relief of the families of the 'citizens of Melrose now absent in the

service of the United States, or who may hereafter volunteer into the

service of the United States or the State of Massachusetts ; also to aid

volunteers of the town in their equipment, and to give such relief in

the premises as the exigencies and necessities of each case may require.

Also voted that above all other appropriations the sum of Fifteen dollars

per month be paid to those persons having families and the sum of Ten
dollars per month to those who are single during their time of service

jU the war now pending. Also voted that the Treasurer be authorized

to borrow such sums of money upon the credit of the town ae may be

wauted from time to time to cover the appropriations in the vote just

passed."

On that evening, or immediately after, there were

sixteen enlistments in three different regiments, four-

teen of which were in the Thirteenth Massachusetts

Regiment. On a Sunday evening previous to the

departure of this regiment these brave boys, from our

best families, assembled in the Baptist Church, and

received from its pastor, the Rev. James Cooper, a

Testament, on the fly-leaf of which was written, " God
and our Country." From that time on throughout

1 Artemas Barrett, in the Melrose Journal.
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bhe war, in answer to the various calls for troops,

Melrose continued to furnish its quota of men ; and

at the end of the Rebellion it was found that she had

not only filled its quotas, for three years', nine

months', one hundred days' and ninety days' men,

but had exceeded the same to the number of seventy-

four men

:

"Peovost-Marshal'b Office, 6Tn District, MAf3S.,

" Lawrence, December 31, 1864.

"This is to certify that, as appears hy the records of this office, the

surplus of the Town of Melrose, over all calls, is seventy four (74) men.

'*H. G. Herrick,
" Captain and Provost-Marshal, ijth Dist., 3f(i5»."

The whole number of men furnished by Melrose

for the war, for the several terms of service, of all

arms, including both army and navy, and including

the eight citizens who enlisted on other quotas, was

454. Of these, 21 enlisted men lost their lives ; 5

were killed on the battle-field, 1 was accidentally

shot, 13 died of disease contracted in the service,

and 2 died in. rebel prisons. The number of com-

misioned oilicers furnished by Melrose was eigh-

teen, two of whom lost their lives, one on the field of

battle, and one died of disease contracted in the ser-

vice.

The names of these twenty-three "unreturning

braves" from Melrose are as follows: Lieut. George

James Morse, Lieut. George Thomas Martin, Henry

Franklin Fuller, Martin Greene, William Henry

Macey, Sydney Bradford Morse (2d), William Fran-

cis Barry, John Parker Shelton, Thomas H. Stevens,

Jonas Green Brown, Benjamin Lynde, Nathan H.

Brand, Richard Lever, Augustus Green, Edmund
Wallace Davis, Albert Waterston Crockett, James

Roland Howard, Francis Peabody, George Elwin

Richardson, Benjamin F. Wilde, John Eastman Stil-

phen, George Warren Lynde and William P. Krantz.

At the battle of Galveston, Texas, January 1, 18G3,

twenty-five Melrose men in Company G, Forty-second

Massachusetts Regiment, were taken prisoners ; but

their imprisonment was of short duration. Besides

these the following were taken prisoners at different

times, and suffered the terrible hardships of rebel

prisons ; Henry H. Jones, Col. Archibald Bogle,

George E. Richardson, Albert W. Crockett, William

H. Eastman, Edmund W. Davis, George W. Batch-

elder, Benjamin F. York, Frederick W. Krantz,

George W. Elliot, John E. Quinn and Henry Stone.

Ten of these lived to return to their homes, and two,

Richardson and Crockett, were starved to death at

Salisbury and Andersonville.

Under the " Enrollment " or " Conscription Act,"

a draft was ordered to be made in July, 1863, and for-

ty-nine men were drawn from Melrose. Of these,

three furnished substitutes, four p.aid commutation,

and the rest were exempted for various causes. This

was the only draft of effect that took place in Melrose.

Twenty-four persons were drawn May 17, 18(i4, but

as there was no deficiency at this time, all the quotas

of our town having been filled, the drafted persons

were not required to appear for examination.

In June, 1864, a citizens' committee, consisting of

Wiugate P. Sargent, Daniel Norton, Jr., Levi S.

Gould, Isaac Emerson, Jr., Thomas A. Long and Jo-

seph D. Wilde, was appointed to raise money for re-

cruiting purposes; and by the spirited and liberal

action of the citizens, the sura of $5650 was raised and
passed over to the recruiting committee, consisting of

the selectmen, John H. Clark, Willianf B. Burgess,

and George M. Fletcher, and Stephen W. Shelton,

Isaac Emerson, Jr., Rufus Smith and Charles H. Is-

burgh.

Throughout the war constant and continued action

for the relief of soldiers and their families was taken

by the town and by private citizens.

Societies, Associations, Ci.ubs, etc.—Of tem-

perance organizations there are many, the oldest one

being Guiding Star Lodge No. 28, Independent Order of

Good Templars, which was organized in 1861, and has

a membership of fifty-eight; Siloam Temple of Ilonor,

No. 24, in 1866, with seventy-five members ; Siloam

Social, No. 6, in 1867, 150 members ; Melrose Women's
Christian Temperance Union, in 1882, 410 members,

active and honorary ; Young Woman's Christian

Temperance Union, in 1887, seventy members ; Temp-

erance Wide-Awakes, in 1882, 480 members ; and
Juvenile Temple, No. 16, Faithful Workers Indepen-

dent Order of Good Templars, in 1888, eighty-nine

members. Previous to the organization of the I. O.

of G. T. there had been the "Sons of Temperance,"

members of which, after disbandment, joined other

societies. In addition to these religious and temper-

ance organizations, Melrose has a large number of

clubs, societies and associations of other kinds. It

is safe to say that no town of its size in New England
has as many.

In the Masonic Fraternity there is the Wyoming
Lodge, which was organized in 1856, which has 183

members ; the Waverly Royal Arch Chapter, in 1863,

208 members ; Hugh de Paycns Commandery of

Knights Templar, in 1865, 162 members; and the

Eastern Star, No. 14, in 1861, sixty-six members.

They all meet in the Masonic Temple, on Wyoming
Avenue, which was built and dedicated to Masonic
uses in 1866, by the Waverly Masonic Association.

Of the Independent Order of Odd Fellows there

are two bodies: the Melrose Lodge, No. 157, organized

in 1871, and has 140 members, and the Daughters of

Rebekah, Golden Rule Degree Lodge, No. 23, in 1874,

has forty members.

Of the social, musical and literary clubs, the oldest

is the Roundabout Club, which was organized in 1873.

It has a membership of nearly 100, and meets dur-

ing the winter, fortnightly. The Centennial Club

meets in the same manner, was organized in 1875,

and has a membership of seventy. The Avon Club has a

membership of sixty, and was organized in 1878. The

Melrose Women's Club, organized in 1882, has 110
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membere and meets geini-monthly. The Franklin

Fraternity, in 1863, has twenty-eight members, and

now raeeU but yearly. The Alpha Local Circle, Chau-

tauqua Scientific Society, in 1884, eighteen members,

nioelH twice a month. The Social Circle, in 1875, fifty-

live members, meets twice a month. The Unity Club,

in 1887, sixty-two members. Melrose Orchestral Club,

in 1.S5G, til'tecn members. Melrose Choral Society, in

1888, Bixtyfour members.

Among the large number of insurance and benevo-

lent societies that have lodges, are these: Bethlehem

Council, No. 131, Royal Arcanum, established in 1876,

and has 148 members; Guardian Lodge, No. 406,

Knights of Honor, in 1876, thirty-three members;

Wnshini/ton CoiincU, American Leyion of Honor, No.

89, in 1880, forty-eight members; Wonongo Tribe, No.

60, Independent Order of Red Men, in 1888, seventy

members ; International Benevolent and Fraternal So-

ciety, in 1888, forty members; Middlesex Council, No.

75, United Order of Friends, in 1883, seventy-five

members ; Melrose Commandery, No. 99, United Order

of the Golden Cross, 'n\ 1880, seventy-five members;

Cotton Mather Colony, United Order of Pilgrim Fathers

in 1887, seventy members; Melrose Council, No. 125,

Home Circle, in 1888, thirty-seven members; Iron

Hall, Branch No. 491, in 1887, eighteen members
;

Sisterhood's Branch, Iron Hall, in 1887, twenty-five

members ; Garfield Lodge, No. 32, Associated Order of

United Workmen, in 1881, ninety-five members;

Knights and Ladies of Honor, No. 1239, in 1887, four-

teen members; Melrose Assembly, No. 164, Royal So-

ciett/ Good Fellows, in 1888, twenty-one members.

The two great political parties are each represent-

ed: The Republican Club has a membership of 150,

and the Jefferson Club has 50 members. The Melrose

Woman's Suffrage League was organized in 1885, and

has 180 members.

U. S. Grant Post 4, G. A. R., was organized in

1867, and has 68 members ; William F. Barry Camp,

No. 79, Sons of Veterans, in 1887, 45 members; U. S.

Grant, No. 16, Women's Relief Corps, in 1882, 71

members.

The Melrose Improvement Society, organized in 1881,

with a membership of 342, has done much in the

way of setting out shade-trees and improvement of

streets ; the Melrose Highlands Business Men's Associa-

tion, organized in 1888, has 75 members.

Tlie Melrose Athletic Club occupies a handsome
suite of rooms in Eastman's Block, on Main Street,

was organized in 1883, and has a membership of 150;

The Pastime Athletic Club, in 1888, 27 members ; Mel-

rose Club, in 1885, 145 members ; Rifle Club, in

1884, 25 members; Lawn Tennis Club, in 1885, 40

members ; Ashland Tennis and Social Club, in 1885,

80 members. There is a Melrose Base Ball Association,

with a capital stock of $2500, and a half dozen base-

ball clubs. There are still other minor associations.

CHAPTER XVIII.

MELHOSE-iContinued).

BIBLIOGRAPHY AND MISCELLANEOUS.

Melrose is the home of many writers. Their

works are of many kinds—historical, biographical,

theological, political, scientific, electrical, educational,

medicinal, musical, fiction, etc. It will be impossible

to enumerate all, but some of the most important will

be referred to, giving the authors' names alphabetic-

ally.

Rev. John Greenleaf Adams, D.D.. was a Uni-

versalist minister. Born in Portsmouth, New Hamp-
shire, July 30, 1810 ; died at Melrose Highlands, May
4, 1887. He was a prolific writer. Among his most

important works are " Memoir of Thomas Whitte-

more," " Universalism of the Lord's Prayer," " Talks

About the Bible," " Fifty Notable Years," and " The
Inner Life." For many years he was editor of various

iSabbath-school papers of the Universalist denomina-

tion.

Captain George Pickering Burnham was born

in Boston, April 24, 1814. He came to Melrose in

1850, the year in which it was incorporated. His lit-

erary career covers a period of over fifty years. In

journalism he has been reporter, sub-editor, editor,

and the writer of many sketches and stories. He has

given much attention to a specialty in fowls and birds,

and has written a dozen books connected with that

subject, including his humorous treatment of " The
History of the Hen Fever," published in 1855, and

which had a very extensive sale. In this same year

he also wrote an anti-slavery story, entitled "The
Rag-Picker ; or, Bound and Free." His other writings

include " Memoirs of the United States Secret Ser-

vice," " American Counterfeits," and " A Hundred
Thousand Dollars in Gold."

Colonel Samdel Adams Drake has written

many works of an historical character. He was born

in Boston, December 20, 1833. At the breaking out

of the Great Rebellion he was a resident of Kansas,

and was appointed colonel of the Seventeenth Regi-

ment of Kansas Volunteer Infantry, serving through-

out the war. His first book was " Old Land-marks

and Historic Personages of Boston," issued in 1873.

This was followed by " Historic Fields and Mansions

of Middlesex," " Nooks and Corners of the New Eng-

land Coast," " Bunker Hill," " General Israel Put-

nam, the Commander at Bunker Hill," " History of

Middlesex County," "The Heart of the White Moun-
tains," " Around the Hub," " New England Legends

and Folk Lore," " Our Great Benefactors," " The Old

Boston Taverns and Tavern Clubs," " The Making of

New England," " The Making of the Great West,"
" Burgoyne's Invasion of 1777," and " The Taking of

Louisburg." He has written one historical novel, en-

titled " Captain Nelson : a Romance of Colonial Days."
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Besides contributing articles to a number of the

magazines, he has written the articles, " Florida,"

" Georgia" and " Sebastian Cabot," for the " Cyclo-

paedia Britannica."

Eev. Richaed Eddy, D.D., was born in Provi-

dence, R. I., June 21, 1828. For several years he

was a pastor of the Universalist Church. Many of his

sermons have been printed. Ills larger works are

:

" History of the Sixtieth Regiment, New York
State Volunteers," of which he was chaplain ;

" Uui-

versalism in America," " Alcohol in History " and
" Alcohol in Society." He has been editor of differ-

ent newspapers and is now editor of the Universalist

Quarterly and General Review.

Hon. Daniel Wheelwright Gooch was born

in Wells, Maine, January 8, 1820. Graduated at

Dartmouth College in 1843, and admitted to the Suf-

folk Bar in 1846. Came to Melrose (then North

Maiden) in 1848. Elected representative to the

General Court in 1852, and a member of the Consti-

tutional Convention in 1853. He was an adherent

of the Free-Soil party until the formation of the Re-

publican party, with which he has ever since acted.

He has several times been elected a Representative

to Congress ; was a member of the Thirty-fifth,

Thirty-sixth, Thirty- seventh and Thirty-eighth Con-

gresses, in the latter serving as a member of the

Congressional Committee on the Conduct of the

War, and was chairman on the part of the House

;

its four years of investigations were printed in sev-

eral volumes. Having been elected to the Thirty-

ninth Congress, he resigned, September 1, 1865, to

accept from President Johnson the appointment of

naval officer for the port of Boston, which position

he held for a year. In 1868 he was elected a del-

egate to the Chicago Convention. In the Forty-

third Congress he again served as Representative

for the Fifth Massachusetts District. From 1875 to

1886 he was pension agent at Boston, after which

he resumed the practice of the law. A number of

his legal arguments have been printed, notably those

in the " Hoosac Tunnel," "Troy & Greenfield Rail-

road " and " Joseph M. Day, Judge of Probate," cases.

Many of his Congressional speeches were printed in

pamphlet form ; among them were " The Lecomp-

ton Constitution and the Admission of Kansas into

the Union," " Polygamy in Utah," " The Supreme

Court and Dred Scott," " Organization of the Ter-

ritories," " Any Compromise a Surrender," " Recog-

nition of Hayti and Liberia" and "Secession and

Reconstruction."

Frederick Kidder was born in New Ipswich,

N. H„ April 16, 1804, and died at Melrose Decem-
ber 19, 1885, in his eighty-second year. Went to

Boston in 1822, and with his brother was several years

in business in Wilmington, N. C.

In 1845 Mes.srs. Benjamin F. and Charles Copeland,

together with Mr. Kidder, bought of the Barings, of

London, a tract of land ou the Schoodic Lakes, in

Eastern Maine, containing over a hundred thousand

acres, being more than thirty miles in extent. This

proved to be a very profitable investment, and would

have been much more so had they continued to hold

the land for a while longer than they did. He was

one of the trustees of the Public Library from 1870

to 1882, most of the time chairman.

His first literary work was a history of his native

town. New Ipswich, N. H., which was issued in 1852.

In that early day of town histories, this was one

of the most complete and thorough works that had

appeared. His other volumes are: "The Expeiiition

of Captain Lovewell, and his Encounters with the

Indians," " Military Operations in Eastern Maine

and Nova Scotia during the Revolution," " History

of the First New Hampshire Regiment in the War of

the Revolution," and " History of the Boston Massa-

cre, March 5, 1770." His magazine articles reprinted

in pamphlet were :
" The Adventures of Captain

Lovewell," " The Abenaki Indians," " The Swedes

on the Delaware," and " The Discovery of North

America by John Cabot. A First Chapter in the

History of North America."

Robert Fowlee Leighton, born in Durham,

Maine, January 23, 1838, was for several years prin-

cipal of the High School of Melrose, during which

time he wrote several educational works :
" Greek

Lessons," " Latin Lessons," and " Harvard Examina-

tion Papers." Since then he has given his attention

to historical works, and has written a " History of

Rome," " History of Greece," " Cicero's Select Let-

ters," and " Historia Critica M. T. Ciceronis Epistu-

larum ad Familiares ;
" this was published in Latin,

in Leipsic, Germany.

Mary Ashton Liveemoee was born in Boston,

December 19, 1821 ; was a teacher in Charlestown

and Duxbury, Mass. In 1857 her husband, Daniel

P., established the New Covenant, a Universalist jour-

nal of which she became associate editor for twelve

years, during which time she frequently contributed

to periodicals of her denomination and edited the

Lily. When the Rebellion broke out she became

connected with the United States Sanitary Commis-

sion, headquarters at Chicago, performing a vast

amount of labor of all kinds—organizing auxiliary

societies, visiting hospitals and military posts, con-

tributing to the press, answering correspondence, and

the thousand and one things incident to the wonder-

ful work done by that institution. She was one that

helped organize the great fair in 1863, at Chicago,

when nearly $100,000 was raised, and for which she

obtained the original draft of the Emancipation Proc-

lamation from President Lincoln, which was sold for

$3000. As she says in her extremely interesting vol-

ume " My Story of the War "
:
" Here were packed

and shipped to the hospitals or battle-field 77,660

packages of sanitary supplies, whose cash value was

$1,056,192.16. Here were written and mailed letters

by the ten thousand, circulars by the hundred thou-
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sand, monthly bulletin8 and reporta. Here were

plaiiiifd visits to tlie aid societies, trips to the army,

methods of raising money and supplies, systems of

relief for soldiers' families and white refugees, Homes

and Rests for destitute and eufeebled soldiers, and the

details of mammotli sanitary fairs."

When the war was over she instituted a paper

called the Agitator, which was afterwards merged in

the Woman $ Journal. Of this she was editor for two

years and has been a frequent contributor to it since.

On the lecture platform she has had a remarkable

career, speaking mostly in behalf of the woman suf-

frage and the temperance movements. A few years

ago slie was '' one of the four lecturers that were most

in demand and that commnnded the largest fees, the

other three being inen." Many years she has trav-

eled 2.^)00 miles annually, speaking five nights each

week for five months of the year.

Her printed volumes are :
" Thirty Years Too

Late,'" first published in 1847 as a prize temperance

tale, and republished in 1878;" "Pen Pictures; or,

Sketches from Domestic Life ;
" " What Shall We Do

with Our Daughters? Superfluous Women, and

Other Lectures;" and "My Story of the War. A
Woman's Narrative of Four Years' Personal Experi-

ence .13 Nurse in the Union Army, and in Relief

Work at Home, in Hospitals, Camjjs and at the Front

during the War of the Rebellion." Of this work one

has well said :
" Should every other book on the war

be blotted out of existence, this one would completely

reflect the spirit and work of the Women of the

North."

For " Women of the D.ay " she wrote the sketch of

the sculptress, Miss Anne Whitney ; and for the

"Centennial Celebration of the First Settlement of

the Northwestern States, at Marietta, Ohio, July 15,

1788," she delivered the historical addresss.

Rev. Daniel Parker Livermore, born in Lei-

cester, Mass., June 17, 1818, Universalist minister,

besides editing the New Covenant for a dozen years

and contributing to newspapers and magazines, has

published several pamphlets of a denominational

character, and a half-dozen on the subject of " Woman
Suflrage," in favor of which he strongly argues.

Thomas D. Lockwood, born in England, Decem-

ber 20, 1848, is an eminent electrician, an acknowl-

edged authority in all matters pertaining to electrical

telephony. He is electrician in charge of all matters

connected with patents, and the collection and colla-

tion of electrical information for the American Bell

Telephone Company. Besides very many articles

contributed to the electrical press, he has had pub-

lished three volumes :
" Electricity, Magnetism and

Electric Telegraphy," " Electrical Measurement and
the Galvanometer," and " Practical Information for

Telephonists."

Gilbert Nash was bom in Weymouth, Mass.,

April 22, 1825, and died there April 1.3, 1888. He
lived many years in Melrose. He wrote a history of

his native town, a "Memoir of General Solomon

Lovell," and a volume of poems, entitled " Bay

Leaves."

William Frederick Poole, A.M., LL.D., the

eminent librarian and bibliophile, was born in Salem,

Massachusetts, December 21, 1821. While in Yale

College he became assistant librarian, which was the

beginning of a life-long profession. He has been the

librarian of the Mercantile Library Association of

Boston, the Boston Athieneum, the Public Library

of Cincinnati, the Public Libniry of Chicago, and is

now in the Newberry Library of Chicago, founded by

the munificence of the millionaire, Walter L. New-
berry. For many years he lived in Melrose during

which time his pen was ever busy. During the con-

troversy between the Webster and Worcester Dic-

tionaries, in 1855-56, he published three pamphlets

championing Webster as being the best authority.

He has issued several pamphlets connected with

" Cotton Mather and Salem Witchcraft," and wrote

the chapter on " Witchcraft in Boston," for the" Me-

morial History of Boston," issued in 1880; and for

Justin Winsor's "Narrative and Critical History of

America," vol. 6, he wrote the chapter entitled " The

West, From the Treaty of Peace with France, 1763,

to the Treaty of Peace with England, 1783." In the

discussion concerning the historical claims of " The
Popbara Colony," he wrote many articles and issued

one pamphlet. In 1867, a new edition of Edward

Johnson's "Wonder-working Providence of Zion's

Saviour in New England," was published for which

he wrote an introduction and numerous notes. In

1874-75, in Chicago he edited a monthly literary

paper called The Owl, which was succeeded by 77ts

Dial, to which he has been a constant contributor,

chiefly in historical criticism, in which he has few

equals. " In this department his work has always

been in the nature of a plea for judicial fairness and

candor in historical writing, and his pen has con-

stantly been on the alert to discover and expose the

pet fiillacies of the villifiers of the fathers of New
England, and of all those with whom the demands of

rhetoric seem louder than those of truth." His best

known work is '" Poole's Index to Periodical Litera-

ture," which was first issued in 1848, as "Index to

Subjects in the Reviews, and other Periodicals to

which no Indexes have been published," enlarged as

"An Index to Periodical Literature," in 1853, and

again enlarged and issued in 1882. To this a supple-

ment is to be published every five years. This " is a

work of the times, for the times ; the vast and hitherto

pathless continents of periodical literature are sur-

veyed, systematized, and made accessible." Dr.

Poole has been president of the "American Historical

Association," and of the " American Library Associa-

tion."

One of the most prominent and best-known citizens

was Hon. Samuel' Edmund Sewall, who was born in

Boston November 9, 1799, and died, in Boston De-
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cember 20, 1888. He graduated from Harvard Col-

lege in 1817. He came to North Maiden in 1846,

when it had but two or three hundred inhabitants.

He was elected State Senator from Stoneham in 18.52,

us his house was just over the line from Melrose ; but

this territory wari detached from Stoneham and joined

to Melrose in 1853. He was identified with the anti-

slavery movement from its beginnings, being one of

the few who joined William Lloyd Garrison when he

came to Boston in 1830. He was an active member

of the Massachusetts Anti-slavery Society and the

National Anti-slavery Society. Upon the organiza-

tion of the Liberty party he was for two years its can-

didate for Governor. He acted with that and the

Free-Soil party until they were merged in the Repub-

lican party. He was ever foremost in advocating the

passage of laws for the benefit of women, and while

in the Senate he drafted a bill which became a law,

giving married women the right to hold property.

His only printed work is a pamphlet entitled "Legal

Condition of Women in Massachusetts," which was

first issued in 18G8; then revised in 1870, again in

1875 and again in 1886. Many years ago he was

editor for two years of the American Jurist and Law
Magazine (a quarterly). He also edited, in connec-

tion with Willard Phillips, two editions of Sir John

Bayley's Summari/ of the Law of Bills of Exchange,

Cash Bills and Promissory Azotes.

Many other books and pamphlets have been issued

by Melrose writers, which cannot here be enumer-

ated.

Melrose has two weekly newspapers: The Melrose

Journal and The Melrose Reporter. The former es-

tablished in 1870, the latter in 1887. In 1856, a small

monthly paper, called the Melrose Advertiser, was

published by Messrs. Severy & Co., for about a year

when it was merged in a Maiden paper.

The bibliography of writings pertaining particularly

to Melrose is brief:

" The Melrose Memorial, The Annals of Melrose,

County of Middlesex, Massachusetts, in the Great

Rebellion of 1861-65, By Elbridge H. Goss, Privately

Printed by Subscription 1868."

"The Centennial Fourth. Historical Address De-

livered in Town Hall, Melrose, Mass., July 4, 1876,

by Elbridge H. Goss. Also, The Proceedings of the

Day. Privately Printed, Melrose, 1876."

" History of Melrose, by Elbridge H. Goss," for the

"History of Middlesex County, Massachusetts," Ed-

ited by S.amuel Adams Drake, who wrote for it the

" General History of the County," 1880.

Various communications to the " Maiden Messenger"

during 1868, and since then to our local papers, con-

taining copies of original documents and "Historical

Notes " by Artemas Barrett.

" The Origin and Present Condition of Free-Ma-

sonry in Melrose. Prepared by direction of the

Waverly Masonic Association, for the purpose of be-

ing deposited in the Corner-Stone of their new edifice,

at Melrose, June 25, a.d. 1866, By Levi S. Gould,

Past Master of Wyoming Lodge, 1866.

In 1832, the Rev. S. 0-good Wright preached " An
Historical Discourse," at Maiden on Thanksgiving

Day, which contained " A Sketch of the History of

that Town from the Settlement to the Present Time,"

in which two or three pages are devoted to " that

part of the town, called the North End."

Spot Pond Watee.—Nestled amid the higher

lands of Stoneham and Medford lies Spot Pond; so

named by good old Governor Winthrop, in February,

1632, when he, with others, traversed its surface on

an exploring expedition, because "the pond had

divers small rocks standing up here and there in it."

Originally, it was much smaller than now, but was

largely increased by the building of a dam by the

Sprague family, which had possession of it for over a

hundred years, many of which were spent in litigation

in maintaining these rights. " Still this old hero,

Timothy Sprague, at great cost and sacrifice of time,

always came off victorious. He was greatly annoyed

and harassed through his life, which was frequently

in danger. But for this untiinching old veteran the

dam would long ago have been removed, and the pond

have been worthless for the purposes for which it is

now used. To the several towns now enjoying this

luxury he proved to be a great benefactor; for, in

fighting these battles for himself he was laboring to

bless future generations, and is deserving of their

gratitude." ^

The high-water mark of the pond is one hundred

and forty-three feet above marsh level, and its area,

when full, is two hundred and ninety-six acres. The

purity of its water having been proven by analyzation

caused Boston to cast wistful eyes toward it, previous

to the introduction of Cochituate water in 1848.

Not until 1867 was any action taken to secure this

natural reservoir of water to the inhabitants of the

surrounding towns. In that year an act was passed

by the Legislature incorporating the "Spot Pond

Water Company for the purpose of supplying the

inhabitants of said Melrose, Maiden and Medford

with pure water." More than two years passed away

before any action was taken by either of these three

towns toward purchasing the franchise of this com-

pany—according to one of the provisions in this act—
and then almost simultaneous action was taken. At

a town-meeting held September 24, 1869, Melrose

voted to join with Miilden and Medford, and pur-

chased the franchise, and elected the following gen-

tlemen to act as Water Commissioners : Wingate P.

Sargent, Jeremiah Martin, Dexter Bryant, Elbridge

Green and Joel Snow. A contract to build the water-

works was made with Mr. George H. Norman, and

on the 25th of August, 1870, the town was supplied

with water ; and from that day to this our citizens

1 "Timothy Sprague and Spot Pond," by Artemas Barrett, in Melrose

Journal, Jan. 31, iyS5.
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have been blwaed with an abundance of water for

dooiestic and manufueturins purposes. The first cost

of the water-works was $100,000. Since then the

pipes and hydrants have been extended through

many additioniil streett.a new reservoir and pumping

station lor the high-service system introduced in

18«6, at a cost of about $39,000, which makes a total

net cost of the water-worka, January 1, 1890, of $208,-

785.77. $100,000 worth of the water bonds first is-

sued, mature July 1, 1890. The Water Loan Sinking

Fund Commissioners will then have in hand $50,000.

The total length of main and distributing pipes is now

nearly forty miles, and there are over seventeen hun-

dred water-takers.

Melko.se I'unuc Library.—At a town-meeting,

held in Concert Hall, March 27, 1871, the following

vote was passed : That the money now in the treas-

ury, refunded to the town by the county treasurer,

pursuant to Cliapter 250 of the acts of the Legislature

in 18(59, and all that shall hereafter accrue to the town

under said act, be ai)propriated for a " Public Library

and Heading Room." This is what is knovvn as the

" dog-tax." Three trustees were also chosen, viz.

:

Messrs. Frederic Kidder, E. H. Goss and Charles C.

Barry. The library was opened November 1st, with

1400 volumes. It was first located in the Waverly

Block, near the centre depot, but was removed to its

present location in town-hall building, upon its com-

pletion, in 1874. A reading room was opened in

connection with the library, December 16, 1885. A
small annual appropriation, together with the dog-

tax, lias maintained the institution, and January 1,

1890, there were 8195 volumes and 1143 pamphlets in

the library, besides a large number of Congressional

Records and United States Government volumes, do-

nated by Hon. D. W. Gooch, not yet catalogued.

Number of persons using the library January 1, 1890,

3454. Whole number of volumes i.s3ued during the

past year, 33,052. Number of persons using the read-

ing-room during the same time, 11,701. Present

trustees, Elbridge H. Goss, Charles C. Barry, Kuby

F. Farwell, Mary L. Charles and Charles A. Patch.

Town Hali>.—A handsome brick Town-house was

erected at a cost of $65,000, and dedicated June 17,

1874, with an address by George F. Stone, Esq., now
secretary of the Chicago Board of Trade. The tower

clock was the gift of Hon. Daniel Russell. Besides

the hall and the town officers' rooms, the building ac-

commodates the Public Library and Reading Room,

and the Savings Bank.

Melrose Savings Bank.—The Melrose Savings

Bank was incorporated in 1872, but did not organize

until the fall of 1874. The total amount of deposits

Oct. 1, 1890, was $383,304.08, with 2218 depositors.

Whole number of accounts opened since the bank was

established, 4285. Its banking-room is in the town-

hall. Its present officers are : Daniel Russell, presi-

dent; W. Irving Ellis, vice-president; John Larra-

bee, clerk; Elbridge H. Goss, treasurer; Daniel

Russell, George Hart, W. Irving Ellis, George New-
hall, John Larrabee, Daniel Norton, Elbridge H.

Goss, Joseph D. Wilde, Charles H. Isburgh, Moses S.

Page, Lewis G. Coburn, Samuel S. Bugbee and Seth

E. Benson, trustees.

Cemeterfes.—There are three cemeteries in Mel-

rose. The old village cemetery in the centre of the

town, on Main street, the Jewish Cemetery on Lin-

wood Avenue, and the Wyoming Cemetery at the

south part of the town, which was purchased and

dedicated to burial purposes in 1850. This is a beau-

tiful resting-place for the dead, charmingly diversified

in scenery, environed with hills, and secluded from

residences. It had originally twenty-one acres, but

in 1887 it was enlarged by the purchaseof the adjoin-

ing Pratt farm, consisting of twenty-five acres, at a

cost of $10,000.

Rubber Works.—In 1882 the Hon. Elisha S.

Converse purchased what was known as the Joseph

Lynde farm, at the southern part of the town, and

buill thereon the Rubber Works for the Boston Rub-

ber Shoe Company, known as factory No. 2— the

works at Edgeworth being No. 1. The Melrose Fac-

tory averages to employ 1200 hands, and has a capac-

ity for employing 1400. It is situated on the west

side of Main Street, near the Middlesex Fells Railroad

Station. On the east side of Main Street, there is a

large tract of wild land, a part of which belonged to

the Lynde farm, and a part was acquired by subse-

quent purchase, which Mr. Converse has laid out and

beautified, building miles of roads, and named "Pine

Banks Park." It is a charming spot through which

to roam or drive.

The following citizens have been elected members

of the General Court

:

EEPBE8ENTATIVE8.

Nelson Cochran, 1872.

Elbridge H. Goas, 1874-76.

W. Irving Ellis, 1877-78.

Joseph D. Wilde, 1879-80.

B. Marvin Fernald, 1881-82.

Wingate P. Sargent, 1883-84.

John W. Farwell, 1886.

John Larrabee, 1886-87.

William E. Barrett, 1888-89-90;

and Speaker of the House of Rep-

resentatives 1889-90.

John T. Paine, 1851.

Daniel W. Gooch, 1862.

Samuel O. Dearborn, 1853.

John Vial, 1855.

Guy Lamkin, 1857.

Walter Littlefield, Jr., 1858.

Loren L. Fuller, 1859.

Artemas Barrett, 18CI.

Isaac Emerson, Jr., 1863-04.

Rufus Smith, 1866.

Levi S. Gould, 1868-69.

James C. Currie, 1871.

Senator.—Daniel Russell, 1879-SO.

Commissioner of Internal Revenue foe Boston District.—Frank

E. Orcutt.

town officers for 1890-91.

Selectmen,—Levi S. Gould, John P. Deering, Charles W. Higgins.

Town Clerk.—John Larrabee.

Town Treasurer.—George Newhall.

Assessors.—Henry A. Leonard, John R. Norton, Dexter Pratt.

Collector.—Addison Lane.

Water Commissioners.—Wilbur D. Fiske, George L. Morse, William

H. Miller.

Commissioners of Watertown Sinking Fund.—Daniel Russell,

Royal P. Barry, John W. Farwell.

School Superintendent.—Guy C. Channell.

School Committee.—John 0. Norrie, John C. Maker, Charles F. Lor-

ing, Mrs. Arethusa K. Miller, Mrs. A. B. P. Waterhonse, Mrs. Sarah W.

Bradbury.
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Auditors.—^Frank E. Orcutt» Walter I. Nickeraon, Gilbert N. Harris.

Overseers of the Poor.—Henry G. Fields, John Singer, Jr., Mrs.

Martha D. Balo.

Superintendent of Streets.—Walter B. Ellis.

Registrars of Voters.—Alfred Hocking, Walter Babb, Victor C.

Kirnies, John Larrabee.

Water Registrar.—Elbridge H. Goss.

Board of Health.—Dr. Erest S. Jack, Frank L. Washburn, George

W. Burke.

Then and Now.—The first town-meeting of Mel-

rose was held May 10, 1850, seven days after the

date of incorporation, in "Academy Hall," then

standing on Berwick Street, and which was after-

wards moved to Main Street, where it became "Ly-

ceum Hall," and where it was destroyed, with other

buildings, by the fire of August 21, 1870. The war-

rant had two articles, viz.: "To choose a moderator;

to choose all necessary Town Officers for the year

ensuing." The warrant for the town-meeting held

March 3, 1890, had fifty-three articles to be acted

upon. The first town report, issued April 1, 1851,

was a small broadside, ten by twelve inches, entitled

" Report of the Financial Concerns of the Town of

Melrose, from May 20, 1850, to April 1, 1851," and

is signed by Jonathan Cochran, Josiah W. Talbot

and John Blake, Financial Committee. This is not

only a very scarce document, but is something of a

curiosity
;
presenting, as it does, a striking contrast

in the town expenses in that day of small things,

when compared with those given in the " Reports of

the Town Officers of Melrose for the Financial Year

ending December 31, 1889."

When incorpor.ated, forty years ago, Melrose had a

population of 1260; to-day it has over 8500. It then

had 125 dwelling-houses ; to-day over 1800. Then

our valuation was $483,446; in 1890 it was $6,724,705.

Then it had one school-house with three schools;

now eleven houses with thirty schools. Then three

churches; now eleven. Then the old-fashioned well-

sweep and pump; to-day Spot Pond water running

through its forty miles of streets. It has the illu-

minating gas, furnished by the Maiden & Melrose

Gas Co., for house purposes, and the electric lights for

thestreets. With aTown Hall, Public Library, Savings

Bank, Fire Department, with a steam fire-engine, a

Choral Union, the Melrose Orchestra, a Lyceum with

yearly course of entertainments, many Temperance

organizations, Odd-Fellows and Masonic associations,

a Grand Army Post, two local papers, a number of

literary clubs ; with all these institutions and others

not here enumerated, situated so near Boston, with

railroad facilities unsurpassed, it may well be sur-

mised that Melrose will continue to grow; and at no

very distant day will be knocking at the Common-

wealth's door for admission to the rank of one of her

cities.

BIOGRAPHICAL.

DANIEL KUSSELL.'

Daniel Russell, son of Daniel and Mary W. Rus-

sell was born in Providence, R. I., on the Kith day of

July, 1824, and educated at the public schools of

Providence. The necessity of self-support was early

impressed upon him, and at the age of seventeen he

began real life in his own behalf as a mechanic.

For three years he served an apprenticeship at one

branch of carriage manufacturing in his native city,

and upon graduating from this school he labored in

the same place and at Middleborough, Mass., as

journeyman for four years, at the end of which time

(1847) accompanied by a fellow-workman he moved
to Boston and began the business of selling small

wares by samples. Two years later he determined to

go to California, but the Hon. Nathan Porter offered

him employment in Providence, where he remained

for two years, returning to Boston in 1852 and en-

tering the employ of Edward Locke & Co., clothiers.

Three years later Mr. Russell became connected

with the wholesale clothing house of Isaac Fenno &
Co., and became a member of the firm in 1861, re-

tiring in 1869 with a competency.

In 1853 Mr. Russell went to Melrose to reside and
has ever since been intimately identified with the

welfare of the town.

He has served three years on the Board of Select-

men, and is at present commissioner of the water

loan sinking fund. He is also president of the Mel-

rose Savings Bank. In 1878 he was elected to repre-

sent the Sixth Middlesex Senatorial District, serving

as chairman of the committee on insurance, and as

a member of the committee on agriculture. He was

re-elected in 1879, and in 1880 was a delegate to the

National Republican Convention.

He is a director of the Maiden and Melrose Gas-

light Company and the Putnam Woolen Company,
and is connected with the Masonic organizations of

Melrose.

October 21, 1850, Mr. Russell married Mary,

daughter of Nathan and Mary Lynde, of Melrose.

Their children are : William Clifton and Daniel

Blake Russell.

1 From " One of a Thousand."
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CUAITEB XIX.

PEPPERELL.

PAROCHIAL AND ECCLESIASTICAL.

BY LORENZO P. BLOOD.

Settlements in that part of Groton lying west of

the Liincn.ster or Nashua River were commenced a.s

early a» 1720. After the Peace of Utrecht, A.D. 1713,

Indian hostilities and depredations had in great

nuasure ceased, and were no longer seriously dreaded.

Thus relieved from anxiety and fear on that score,

the frontier settlements extended the line of civiliza-

tion farther into the wilderness. Territory that here-

tofore had been the haunts of the bear and the savage

was transformed into thrifty farms and civilized

abodes. The modern advice, " Go West, young man,"

was evidently in the air, if not yet materialized at

that early date. Following this impulse, the young

man of Groton pushed his way across the " Great

Kiver," and took up for his farm and home a portion

of the fertile lands lying westerly therefrom.

At first the settlements were confined to the vicinity

of the river, for several reasons. The river afforded

an easy means of transportation, as well as a ready

supply of food. The intervale land was more easily

cultivated than that more remote.

The river was fordable ai two places—"Stony

Wading Place," at Hollingworth's Mills, and the " Jo.

Blood Fordway," near the covered bridge—and thus

there was easy communication between the new set-

tlers and their paternal homesteads, only a few miles

away. Although emigrants, they were still within

the munici])ality of their old homes : still under the

fostering care of the Groton Church. Meanwhile the

new settlement grew and prospered until in 1740 if

numbered over forty families, and the people began

to feel that they were numerous enough to be a sep-

arate parish. The affection for the old homesteads

and the mother church had become absorbed in a love

for the new homes and a desire for a church of their

own. Of several petitions from the inhabitants of the

northerly and westerly parts of Groton, and the east-

erly part of Dunstable, presented to the General

Court about this time, praying for a township, or dis-

trict, the following was granted :

" To Ills Kxcelleiicj William Shirley, Esq., Captain General and Gov-

ernor in Cheiff in and over his Majesties Province of ye Maiwachusetta

Bay in New England; To y« Honourable his Majesties Council and
House of Ropresontatives in General Court Assembled on y« Twenty-
eixth Day of May, a.d., 1742.

" The Petition of us, the Subscribers, to your Excellency and Honours
Hnmbley Sheweth that we are Proprietors and Inhabitants of y" Land
Lying on y« Westerly Side lyancaster River (so called) in y« North west
corner of y« Township of «Jroton ; Si. Such of us as are Inhabitants
tbcreon Live very Iteiuote from y« Publick worship of God in bJ Town,
and at many Times and Seasons of y« year are Put to Great DifHculty to

attend y same
;
and the Lands Bounded as FoUoweth (viz) : Southerly,

on Townshend Rode ; Westerly, on Townshend Line ; Northerly, on
Dunstable West Precinct k old Town, and Easterly on said Rivor as it

now Runs to y First mentioned Uouuils, being of the Contents of about

Fonr Miles Square of Good Land well Scituatod for a Precinct ; And the

Town of Groton hath been Petitioned to Set of y Lands bounded as

afores"* to be a Distinct and Separate Precinct, and at a Town Meeting of

y* inhabltanta of s-* Town of Groton Assembled on y" Twenty Fifth Day

of May Last Past The Town voted y» Prayer of y" B-' Petition and that

y« Lands before Described should be a Separate Precinct and that yo In-

liabitautB thereon and Such others aa hereafter Shall Settle ou b"! Lands

should have y« Powers and Priviledges that other Precinctrt in a'* Prov-

ince have or Do Enjoy ; as per a Coppy from Groton Town Book here-

with Exhibited may Appear, &c. For the reasons mentioned, we, the

subscribers as afores'', Ilumbley Praycs your E.tcellency and Honours to

Set ofl" y« 8*^ Lands bounded aB aforea'l to be a Distinct and Sepperal Pre-

cinct and Invest y« Inhabitanta thereon (Containing about y N« of

Forty Families), and Such others as Shall hereafter Settle on b*" Land,

with Such Powers and Priviledges as other Precinct>^ in s* Province

have, &c., or Grant to your Petitioners Such other Relief in y" Premises

as your Excellency and Honours in your Great Wisdom Shall think Fits

and your Petitioners as in Duty bound Shall Ever pray, &c. Benjamin

Swallow, Samuel .^battuck (in), John Blood (iuner), William Spalden,

James Shattuck, Jusiah Parker, Isjiac Williams, David Shattuck, Jacob

Ames, Ebenezer Gilson, David Blood, Jonas Varnum, Elias Ellit, Jona-

than Woods, Moses Woods, Zachery Lawrence, jun^, John Shadd, .lona-

than Shattuck, Jeremiah Lawrence, .lams Green, Jonathan Shattuck,

JuD', John Mozier, John Kemp, Josiah Tucker, Nehemiah Jewett,

William Allen, Eleazar Green.

" In the House of Kep>'"» Nov 26, 1742.

" In answer to the within Petition ordered that that Part of the

Town of Groton Lying on the Westerly side of Lancaster River within

the following bounds, viz : bounding Easterly on said River Southerly

on Townsend Road bo called. Westerly on Townsend Hue and Northerly

ou Duusiable West Precinct, with the inhabitants thereon, be and

hereby are set off a distinct and separate precinct and vested with the

powers and privileges which other Precincts do or by law ought to en-

joy, always provided that the Inhabitants Dwelling on the Lands above

mentioned be subject to pay their first part and proportions of all min-

isterial! Rates and Taxes in the Town of Groton already Granted or

"Sent up for Concurrence, T. Gushing, Sph.

" In Council Nov^ 20, 1742. Read and Concurr^,

*' J. WiJ.LARD, Sec'ry,

'* Consented to W. Shirley."

The Townsend road above mentioned was the old

county highway as then traveled from Groton to

Townsend. This road, which lies wholly within the

present town of Groton, is still passable for carriages

its entire length from Fitch's Bridge to the Townsend

line, although it has been discontinued for many
years the greater part of the distance.

By an adjustment of boundary lines made about the

time of this petition, the "old Dunstable line" was

moved farther north, leaving a triangular strip of land

between Groton West Parish and New Hampshire.

This tract was three hundred rods wide at its westerly

end on Townsend line, and extended over five miles

eastward, running to a point a short distance west of

the Nashua Kiver, containing about two and a half

square miles. It has often been incorrectly called the

"Groton Gore." It remained a part of Groton until

1751, when it was ceded to the West Parish upon pe-

tition of its inhabitants. In 1803 about four acres

lying between the road and the river, at Fitch's

Bridge, were re-annexed to Groton.

According to the records the first "leagal" meeting

of the new parish was held at the house of William

Spalding January 17, 1742, "by virtue of a warrant

granted by William Lawrance, Esq., a justice. Ben-

jamin Swallow was chosen moderator and the follow-

ing officers were elected: Eleazar Gilson, clerk; Ben-
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jamin Swallow, Isaac Williams, James Lawrance,

Jonathan Woods and Joseph Whitney, committee;

Samuel Wright, treasurer; Jonas Varnum, Moses

Woods and Jeremiah Lawrance, collectors. The sum

of £10, lawful money, was voted to be assessed, "to

defray the necessary charges Risen and arising in the

Parish."

At a second " Legual " meeting held at the house

of James? Lawrance, February 16, 1742, it was voted,

"that Samuel Wright be a committee to provide

preachiug till the last day of April next." Also

"Voted to build a Meeting-House in S'' Parish, voted

that the Meeting-House should stand at the most con-

venient place near Jo Blood's fording." The reason

for this location may be inferred from a vote passed

at a subsequent meeting; " Voted to Receive the Peo

pie ou the East side of ye River that have Petitioned

to be annexed to us, Provided they will consent to

have the Meeting-House set at ye most Convenient

Place on ye West side of ye River near ye Bridge,

next below Jo Blood's fordway, so called." But the

people living ia the westerly part of the parisii natur-

ally objected to thus locating the meeting-house at the

extreme limit of the precinct; and their remonstrance

was so decided and persistent that, at a meeting Sep-

tember 6, 1743, it was " Voted to reconsider the vote

that was passed Concerning the Place that was first

pitcht upon for ye setting of a Meeting-House in Sd

Parish ; Voted to set the Meeting-House at the end

of three-Quarters of a mile Northeast of the Center

of Sd Parish or at the next Convenient Place."

This compromise seems to have settled the matter

for the time, as the meeting proceeded to vote "to

Build a Meeting-House forty-two feet Long and thirty

feet Wide and Twenty feet High." Committees were

chosen and a surveyor employed to make the neces-

sary survey and determine the location agreed upon.

This spot was decided to be on the farm now owned

by J. A. Tucker, Esq., near the junction of Hollis

and Tucker Streets. Now the geographical centre

of the parish, as then bounded, was near the present

residence of B. W. Shaltuck, on Heald Street, about

half a mile west of the Common; and a line running

thence northeast three-quarters of a mile terminates

near Hovey's corner—so called—more than a mile

north of west from the spot decided upon by the com-

mittee. Whether there was a suspicion that the com-

mittee had acted unfairly in the matter, or only a

feeling that they had made a most unwarrantable use

of the qualifying clause, "at the next Convenient

Place," does not appear, but the result was a renewal

of the controversy, followed by a long and bitter

quarrel, wiiich threatened the disruption of the parish.

Materials had to some extent been gathered at the

spot fixed upon, but it began to look doubtful whether

there would be enough of a parish left to build a

meeting-house or form a church.

As a last resort, it was agreed to refer the whole

matter to the " Great and General Court," and abide

by its decision. Accordingly, at a meeting November
23, 1744, it was " Voted, that Peleg Lawrence and
Josiah Sartell be a Com'ee to go to the Great and
General Court Concerning ye having- a Meeting-

House Place in Sd Parish." Their petition was
favorably received by the Court, and a committee was

ai)pointed to survey the place and locate the meeting-

house. A committee was also chosen by the parish

to " show the Court's committee the inhabitants of

the place." So promptly was the business attended

to and settled tliat the parish voted, the following

February, "to set the Meeting-House on ye Place

that the General Court [)rt-fixed'," wliich is the spot

now occupied by the meeting-house of the First

Parish. This decision was, of course, final, although

some of the inhabitants of the east part were unrecon-

ciled. When the men that were employed to move
the timber to the site settled upon, were in readiness

with their teams to perform the work, several of

these disafiected persons attempted to prevent their

progress by pricking the noses of the oxen, and other-

wise annoying them. Whereupon James Lakin, who
had been prominent as a champion for the minority

during the previous troubles, took the lead. He was

a stout, athletic man, and evidently a firm believer in

the church militant ; for he made so efiectivean exhi-

bition of " muscular Christianity," that there was no

further attempt to hinder the work. The building

was erected, and finished for occupation early in 174.5,

but no record of a dedication can be found. Previous

to this time, as appears by the records, the houses of

Enoch Lawrence and Nehemiah Hobart were used as

places of public worship. Mr. Lawrence lived near

Nissittissit Square, and Mr. Hobart on River Street,

nearly opposite the house of Elijah A. Butterfield.

Rev. Mr. Emerson, in his sermon delivered .at the

dedication of the second meeting-house, in speaking of

this whole matter, says :
" There is one thing I can't

but mention, as a kind interposition of Divine Provi-

dence ; tho' considered as such by very few at the

time, and that is ; —The fixing the place for the Meet-

ing-House, by the Court's committee; tho' at first

contrary to the mind and vote of the majority of the

inhabitants, yet proves now to be with much more
equity, and where all seem to be universally con-

tented with. Had it been erected in the place de-

signed and where the timber was drawn to, what

trouble, change, and 'tis very likely contention, we
must have been exercised with before this day."

The house was not finished for several years, if in-

deed it ever was, as is .shown by the following votes

passed at various times from 1744 to 1755 :

" Voted, That Sd committee frame. Raise and board the outside and

shingle ye Roof, Lay the under floor aud malte suitahle Doors and ban

the same.

*'To build the Pulpit and ye Body seats below.

"To seat the Public Meeting-House and set off tho Pews, or Pew-
ground to the Highest Payer in the throe last Rates, upon thoir being

obliged to build their own Pews and the .Ministerial Pew, To seal the

Meetiug-Uouseas high at ye girts all round, that Windows be cut where

needed, Provided they that cut them maintain them .upon their own
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Curf, Ihat lh»» be no P»rWi Chargo To Bulsh Ilia BuilJiog, tlio Sealii In

the Gallery, .nd to Stal the Meetlng-Uoune from yo (ittllery floor np lo

tbtf Iwanu."
" Voied, To Olnw yo Public MMtlog-IIouM and to provide boards to

Lay Loow on ye Boor overhead."

This was in March, 1749.

The following year it was " Voted to Rive ye Men

that are seated on ye fore seats below Liberty to set a

Row of Banisters with a Kail stop before ye fore Seats

at their own Cost and Charge." The building at best

oould have been but little better than a barn ; and it

must have re<|uired no liule e.xercise of fortitude and

resignation to sit through the lengthy services of the

forenoon and afternoon in an unfinished, unglazed

and unwarined houae, especially in midwinter. But

our hardy ancestors had not attained to the modern

ideas of church lu.\ury and parish debt.

In the settlement of a minister they api)ear to have

|)roceeded in a more united and prayerful way. March

i;!, 1744, the parish voted "To keep the last day o(

March instant a day of fasting and prayer to Al-

mighty God for direction in the important affair of

settling a minister." It seems rather unfortunate

that in this vote the location of the meeting-house

was not also included.

About this time Rev. William Vinal, who was then

preaching for them, received a call to settle among

them in the work of the ministry, but declined to

accept the call. The distracted condition of the

parish at that time certainly did not present a very

inviting field of labor for a young minister. "Sep-

tember 2.>th, 1746. Voted, To give the Rev. Joseph

Emerson, of Maiden, a call to settle in the gospel

ministry in the said parish, and to give him one hun-

dred and twenty pounds settlement, and sixty-two

pounds, twenty-two shillings, yearly, and thirty cords

of fire-wood, cut and delivered at his door."

In January following the parish voted to give Mr.

Emerson forty acres of land within a mile of the

meeting-house, and to add to his salary twelve

pounds, ten shillings, whenever the parish should

contain one hundred ratable families ; at that time

there were seventy-two families. Mr. Emerson ac-

cepted the call, and was ordained February 25, 1746,

O.S. The ordination sermon was preached by his

father, minister of Maiden, from the text, " Now,

therefore, my son, be strong in the grace which is in

Christ Jesus." A church had been "gathered" on

the 29th of .Tanuary preceding, to which Mr. Emer-

son was formally admitted a member on the morning

of his ordination. The church consisted of about fif-

teen male members and several females who had

withdrawn from the Groton Church, for the purpose

of forming a church in Pepperell—the exact number
of female members cannot be ascertained.

Mr. Emerson's salary was regulated according to

the price of provisions. The following list made out

by a committee for that jjurpose was accepted by the

parish and by Mr. Emerson :

" Niiieln roiindton W. I. Goo((«.—W. I. rum at 21». per gall. ; molawcs,

15f. per gall. ; loaf sugar, 78. per lb. ; cotton wool, 13«. p«r lb.; 64ilt, 3,

32«. per bneh.

" Forty Pound* upon Jtfeaf.—Beef at 9d. per lb. ;
pork, ltd.

'* Sizlif Powtits upon Grain.—Corn at 12*. per busb. ; ryt-, 16i. per

busli. ; barley, 14«. per bush. ; oats, 7s. per buBhel. ; wheat, 228. per

bush.

*^ Sixty Pound* upon SuuJruu.—Sheoii'a wool at 10s. per lb.; flax, 3s.

6d. ; shoee, 30s. per pair ; labor at £00 per year ; butter, 2s. Od. per lb.

To estimate the salary annually upon such a basis

must have been rather jjerplexing, and in 1767 the

district abandoned the [ilaii, and voted to give Mr.

Emerson ,£73 ijs. 8(1. annually, computing silver at 6.v.

per dollar, and 6s. 8d. per ounce. Upon this change

Mr. Emerson remarks:

" 1 heartily rejoice that you have seen fit to set aside the old contract,

which hath been the occasion of so much trouble. As to the sum

you offer me instead of it, I thankfully accept of it. All things con-

sidered, it is honorable and kind, aud is a token that, after so many

years, my labors are yet acceptiible among j'on. I hope, through

divine grace, to go on with more cheerfulness in the work of the

ministry, and while I am partaking of your carnal things, that the

Lord may abundantly shower down spiritual blessings, is the sincere

prayer of your affectionate pastor. 1 desire this may be recorded in

the parish book."

Mr. Emerson's farm of " forty acres of land within

a mile of the meeting-house" was located on Elm and

Townsend Street, including the lands now owned by

William Kendall, Miss Freeman, and others. It also

extended easterly on Elm Streets, comprising the

whole area from the " common " to Green's Brook,

and as far east as the land of Mrs. D. B. Sibley. His

house was where the "Shipley" house now stands.

The large flat stone which served as the door-step of

his study, still remains in its old position.

In 1767, the parish having outgrown, in more senses

than one, the old meeting-house, preparations were

commenced for the building of a new one. The sum
of eighty pounds was voted to be raised for the pur-

pose. It was also voted " that the house be built

workman-like." A vote was also passed that, " con-

sidering we are engaged in the important affair of

building a new house for the worship of God, voted

to set apart Thursday as a day of fasting and prayer,

to confess our manifold sins, whereby we have pro-

voked our God to frown upon us in our public affairs,

aud earnestly implore the return of his favor, and par-

ticularly to humble ourselves before God for our un-

profitableness under the means of grace we have en-

joyed in the old meeting-house, and entreat bis guid-

ance in erecting a new one." Th's new house was

built in 1769, on the site of the old one, which the

building contractor. Cornet Simon Gilson, took in

part payment for his contract, and removed to his

farm (now J. M. Belcher's) where he converted it into

a barn, probably without much change. In 1830 it

was destroyed by the act of an incendiary. In March,

1870, the new meeting-house was dedicated with ap-

propriate religious services, on which occasion Mr.

Emerson preached a sermon from this text: "Then
Samuel took a stone, and set it up between Mizpeh

and Shen, and called the name of it Ebenezer, saying,
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Hitherto has the Lord helped us." In this discourse

Mr. Emerson enumerated many reasons why the peo-

ple of Pepperell should follow the example of the

prophet—the preservation of the church when threat-

ened with destruction ; the increase of population

since his settlement from seventy-two to one hundred

and fifty-two families, and a proportional increase in

their suhstance, so that they had been able to pay

the charges of their becoming a parish and then a dis

trict, and of building a house for worship ; their

preservation from savage enemies when they were

under the necessity of taking their firearms witL

them to meeting, as they had done since his settle-

ment." He exhorted them '' to acknowledge with

gratitude that they had been preserved while erect-

ing the second meeting-house, not a life having been

lost or a bone broken while providing the timber,

raising the frame and finishing the house," and in con-

clusion he said that he himself would on that occasion

set up his Ebenezer, it being the twenty-third anni-

versary of his ordination, and acknowledged that

hitherto the Lord had helped him, both in temporal

and spiritual matters. In building this second meet-

ing-house the people appear to have acted in har-

mony, the only question of diflerence being in regard

to a steeple, which, as they had no bell, was finally de

cided in the negative. Subsequently, however, a steeple

was built of the height of one hundred feet and a bell

placed therein. The house wag sixty feet long and

forty-five feet wide, and was built in the style of

architecture common to the New England churches

of the time—a plain, yellow building with a belfry

and two porches, a deep gallery along three sides of

the interior, and a high pulpit on the fourth side,

with the deacons' seat below and the queer sounding

board above. The ground floor was filled with high,

square pews, intersected by rectangular aisles. The

noon-house, or Sabbath-day house, as it was often

called, was a building especially adapted to the times.

It usually consisted of a single room with a fire-place,

and was furnished with a table and seats. It was

owned by one or more of the prominent men of a

neighborhood remote from the meeting-house. Thither

the owners, with their families and friends, would re-

pair during the intermission between the forenoon

and afternoon services, to refresh themselves with a

picnic dinner, and spend an hour of social intercourse.

The idea of heating the meeting-house was not even

tolerated in those days, and in winter the blazing fire

in the noon-house was a real comfort to the worship-

pers ; and from the glowing embers the women re-

plenished their foot-stoves for the afternoon meeting.

Theie were eight of these houses situated in difleient

directions and within a radius of twenty rods from the

meeting-house. They continued in use until stoves

were introduced, although with much opposition, into

the meeting-house about the year 1826, after which

time they one by one disappeared.

Mr. Emerson was not permitted to enjoy the priv-

ileges of the new sanctuary many years. In the sum-
mer of 1775 he went to Cambridge to visit his numer-
ous parishioners, serving under Colonel Prescott in

the Continental Army, there assembled. Tradition

says he there offered the first public prayer in the

American camp. While ministering to the temporal,

as well as spiritual, needs of the soldiers, he took a
cold from exposure, which resulted in a fever, termin-

ating his life on the 29th of October, 1775, at the age

of fifty-one years. He died an early martyr to the

cause of that liberty whose principles he had so zeal-

ously and practically instilled into the minds of his

people. The following incident, as related by Colonel

William Prescott, forcibly illustrates the peculiar

blending of conservatism and radicalism in his char-

acter. Previous to the battle of Bunker Hill, secret

meetings of the Committee of Safety were frequently

held in the town. On a Saturday evening one of these

meetings was held in the tavern which stood on the

present site of the church of the Second Parish. Mr.

Emerson had been present during the early part of

this meeting, but had returned home. After mid-

night, as from the window of his study he looked

across the Common and saw the lights still burning in

the committee-room, indicating that the session was
not yet closed, he hastened to the tavern, and, ad-

monishing the committee that the Sabbath had come,

insisted on an immediate adjournment. During the

twenty-nine years of Mr. Emerson's ministry he bap-

tized 807 persons, and admitted 10(1 into the church.

Eight deacons, elected by the church, were ordained

by him, viz. : Jeremiah Lawrence, John Spaflbrd,

January 11, 1747-48 ; Josiah Fisk, January 18, 1754;

Peleg Lawrence, August 21, 1754 ; Thomas Laughton,

August 3, 1759 ; David Blood, April 9, 17G2 ; Daniel

Fiske, April 23,1773; Edmund Parker, October 8,

1773. It was customary for one chosen deacon to sig-

nify his consent by la formal letter of acceptance,

when he was inducted into office by a solemn charge

from the minister, and thereafter was privileged to

sit in the " deacon's seat."

The form used by Mr. Emerson on these occasions

was as follows

:

** Dear brother :—We congratulate yoti upon the honor which the Lord

Jeeus Christ, the Head of the Church, hath been i)lea8ed to confer upon
you ; for we douht not that you had a call to this office, which under
the influence of his spirit, as we trust, you have accepted ; that Spirit,

which Christ hath purchased and promised to send down, not only to

convince and convert the sinner, but also as a guide and teacher to his

people, and hath assured us that he should lead us into all truth. You
are sensible there is a work as well as an honor attending the office

which you must see to it that you fulfil, I would therefore charge you
in the name of the Lord Jesus Christ, who shall judge both the quick

and the dead, another day, before the elect uugels and this asseinblv

that you faithfully discharge the duties of your station, that you fulfil

the ministry you have received. See to it, that you answer the charac-

ter of the deacons in the word of God. ' Be grave, not double-tongued,

not given to much wine, not greedy of filthy lucre, hold the mystery of

the faith in a pure conscience.' See to it, that you govern your children

and household well, 'bo blameless, be an example to believers them-
selves ; let your conversation be aa becometh godliness, watch and pray
continually, that those who seek occasion to speak evil of you, may find

none; live always as under the eye of the Lord Jesus Christ, who will
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•tionlj cidi yott to gl»e mo nceount of jour rtowsnlahlp.' If you thiii

IkIi>v« «u>I do, 'yon will purehMe to yourwlf a good degree' of favor

.ill, dud «i.d K.«»l .lien, «"d Bf"' l«'ldueBS In the fultli wlllch in In

J«u« Clirl.t. And I..! .uo pul yuu in mind, llmt aa the Lord Jemie and

IhU l.l< p~ple, expect more fluin }ou in tUle relation than etcr, so

there U .treiigth .uouijU in Christ for jou, and he will not leave you If

you Jo not Bret foniake hiui. 0. then, repair to liliii by a lively faith.

Goout of yourolf, tru.t wholly In hiiu ; no shall you fultil your course

t length with joy, and your Lord will say to you, ' Well done, good und

faithful eervaut : o« you have U'en fiiithful over a few tilings, I will

make yuu ruler over many things ; enter into the joy of your Lord,'

May this at lost be your and our portion, through Jesus Christ, to whom

be glory in the church, world without end. Amen."

Mr. Emerson's virtues are thus enumerated upon

the tablet, which the town erected over his tomb :

"Steadfast in the Kaith once dolivored to tho Saints. Fixed and

laUirl.ms in the cause of Christ und precious souls. Kxomplary in vis

Itlng and sympathizing with his Klock. Diligent In improving hie Tal-

ents. A Kind Husband ; a tender I'aiont ; A Faithful reprover ; a con-

stant Friend ; and a true Patriot. Hoving ceased from his Labors, his

works follow hini."

Amid the anxieties and di.stresses of the Kevolu-

tionary War four years elapsed before a successor to

Mr. Emerson wiis dct'ided upon. Regular preaching

was, however, maintained the greater part of the time.

Mr. Josejih Emerson, a son of the late pastor, sup-

plied tlie pulpit during the year 1776. His promise

of a useful life was soon blighted by an early death.

In 1778 Mr. Jonathan Allen received a call to become

the minister of the parish, which he declined.

Mr. John BuMard, of Medway, a graduate of Har-

vard University, of the class of 1776, was ordained

October 18, 1779. His ministry comprised a period

of almost forty-two years, which were prosperous and

happy. Warm in his sympathies and genial in his

conversation and habits, he is spoken of by a contem-

porary as "of that almost peculiar urbanity which led

him to treat all men of learning and fair moral char-

acter as friends and companions.'' Although, appar-

ently, more of " a man of the world " than his prede-

cessor, he possessed none the less the virtues and

excellencies of a true Christian minister. He was

much interested in the cause of education ; was one

of the founders of the Groton Academy, and a trustee

of that institution during his life. Three of his four

sons were educated there preparatory to their enter-

ing college. The Sunday-school was instituted in

1819, by the efforts of Mrs. Nehemiah Cutter and

some other ladies, who were greatly assisted and en-

couraged in this work by their pastor. Mr. Bullard

died September 18, 1821, aged sixty-five years, univer-

sally beloved and lamented. During his ministry he

baptized 5.56 persons, and admitted 156 members to

his church. Four deacons were elected—Nathaniel

Hutchinson and Nathaniel Lakin, April 23, 1789
;

Joseph Parker and Edmund Jewett, August 15, 1805.

Rev. James Howe, of Jaffrey, New Hampshire, a

graduate of Dartmouth and of Andover, was ordained
October 16, 1822. For several years the relations be-

tween pastor and people were harmonious ; but at

length dissatisfaction began to be expressed by cer-

tain of the more liberally-inclined in regard to ex-

changes ; the complaint being that Mr. Howe was too

exclusive in that matter. After several ineffectual

attempts, the town finally passed a vote in May, 1831

:

" To excuse Rev. James Howe from preaching six

Sabbaths in the course of the ensuing year, and per-

mit the pulpit to be supplied on those Sabbaths by

ministers of other denominations." The enforcement

of this vote by its advocates Mr. Howe regarded as an

expulsion from his pulpit. Accordingly, he, with

nearly the entire church and a large majority of the

congregation, peaceably withdrew and formed a sep-

arate religious .society under the title of " The Evan-

gelical Congregational Society of Pepperell," to which

the chnrch allied itself, and of which Mr. Howe was

recognised as pastor, by a council called for that pur-

pose, February 1, 1832. Thus the town was divided

into two parishes and two churches ; each church,

however, claiming to be the original "First Church of

Pepperell."

The First Parish, which now included all the legal

voters that had not "signed ofl^," and the remnant of

a church which still adhered to it, wal* left without a

minister or even a deacon. But it retained several of

the wealthiest and most influential families of the

town and a legal possession of the real estate and per-

sonal property of the original parish. With a zeal

stimulated by the sharp controversy, the remaining

members of the parish immediately proceeded to reor-

ganize by the election of necessary officers, and chose

a " Committee to hire preaching." Dr. John Walton

and Mr. Benjamin Hale were chosen deacons.

After having heard several candidates preach

during the year, a decision was made in favor of Rev.

Charles Babbidge, of Salem, a Harvard graduate

—

cla.ss of 1828—and he was ordained and settled

February 13, 1833. "A gentleman and a scholar"

in the fullest import of the phrase, courteous and

affable to all, without distinction of sect or party, he

soon gained the esteem and affection of his people.

He married, January 21, 1839, Miss Eliza Ann Ban-

croft, daughter of one of his parishioners, Luther

Bancroft, Esq. ; he bought a farm, built a house, and
so fully identified himself with the people of Pepper-

ell and their interests, that he repeatedly refused

calls to much larger congregations and more eligible

pulpits. He was a member of the School Board for

forty years ; and in 1859 he represented his district in

the liCgislature. At the commencement of the late

war he was chaplain of the Sixth Regiment, and the

first minister in the country to enlist ; thus giving to

Pepperell the honor of furnishing the first chaplain

for the War of the Rebellion as well as of the Revo-

lution. Having served through the three months'

campaign of the Sixth, he received, in November,

1861, a commission as chaplain of the Twenty-sixth

Massachusetts Regiment, in which he served three

years. Upon his discharge from the service, Novem-
ber 7, 1864, he returned to the peaceful pursuits of

his professional life, and to his people, who gladly
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welcomed him home. During the greater part of

Mr. Babbidge's absence Rev. John Buckingham
officiated as pastor in charge.

February 13, 1883, the semi-centennial anniversary

of Mr. Babbidge's ordination was celebrated with ap-

propriate religious exercises and social festivities, in

which several of his classmates in college and the

Divinity School participated. The Rev. A. P. Pea-

body, D.D., in his congratulatory speech on the oc-

casion thus addressed Mr. Babbidge :

" I do not forget that you have bet-n wanted elsewhere, that wistful

eyes were often turned hitherward from our metropolis on the statement

of the eminent historian who used to pass his euraniers here, that the

best preaching he heard was in Pepperell. Nor can I forget that when
the trustees of the Meadville Divinity School sought a wise man of the

East to hold office in it, they found you at the bottom of your well, and

having read in their childhood that truth had such a home, they were

all the more earnest to capture for their service the transparent truth

and genuine Christian manhood, which they heard as they talked with

you over the well-curb, and saw in you when you emerged into the light

of day."

Rev. Joshua Young, pastor of the First Church in

Groton, who followed, in an address of fellowship,

said :

" You loved, rather, the simple life, the simple manners, the simple

folk of the country. You loved the scented fields, the deep and shady

woods, the hills and the rocks
;

* Their colors and their forms were to you an appetite,

A feeling and a love.'

And 80 it was pleasant to you to unite with an intellectual and sacred

calling the cultivation of the seed-receiving soil, and, methinks, that

every time you went forth from the study to the farm, it was to touch

the ground Anta-us-like and receive new strength from Mother Earth
;

and, therefore, we see you to-day, after an active and interrupted min-

istry of fifty years, at the age of seventy and si.\—almost four-score

—

still at your post, your eye not dim, nor your natural force abated, wear-

ing gracefully the marks of a well-spent life 'of virtue, truth, well-

tried and wise experience;' in green old age, like an oak worn, but

still steady amidst the elements, while younger trees—so many of them

—

are fallen."

The following summer Mr. Babbidge was honored

by Harvard University with the degree of D.D. In

February, 188(3, in the eightieth year of his life, he

resigned his charge of the church and society of

which he had been pastor fifty-three years, although

he is still a constant attendant at the Sabbath ser-

vices.

Mr. Walter C. Moore, from the Meadville Divinity

School, was ordained and settled over the parish Sep-

tember 7, 1887.

The old meeting-house, having become antiquated

and much out of repair, was, in the year 1836, com-

pletely remodeled and rebuilt in modern style; and

re-dedicated October 27th of that year.

The Second Parish, immediately upon its organiza-

tion under the name of "The Evangelical Congrega-

tional Society of Pepperell," commenced to build a

commodious house of worship, which was dedicated

October 31, 1832. Previous to this time their public

services had been held in an unfinished hall over the

store where the town-house now stands.

Mr. Howe, with an hereditary predisposition to

pulmonary disease, found his health and strength
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gradually failing under the work and excitement of

the new parish, until he was obliged to a.sk for a col-

league to assist him in his labors. From among sev-

eral candidates, the choice fell upon Mr. David An-
drews, a graduate of Amherst and of Audover, and he
was ordained .January 29, 1840. Mr. Howe died the
following summer, July 19, 1840, at the age of forty-

four years. He was a man of unusual sagacity and
foresight, with remarkable tact as well as judgment.
His administrative abilities were of a high order.

Very few ministers could have led off so successfully,

and withal so peaceably, as he, a large majority of
the church and congregation. There was no legal

controversy, no actual quarrel. A spirit, of bitterness,

however, was developed among the people, and the

town was divided into two politico-theological parties,

which existed for m.iny years. But the niini.-tcrs of

the opposing sects, although they could not meet in

theological fellowshi|i, always met each other as gen-

tlemen on the common ground of Christian courtesy.

Mr. Babbidge, in his discourse at his semi-centennial

anniversary, said of Mr. Howe:
" The incidents of his ministry, his pure life and early death, are mat-

ters that have fallen within the personal knowledge of many of you who
hear me, and need no words from me. I feel, however, that I may on
this occasion bear my humble tribute to the memory of one who,
whether he erred in judgment <.,r action, gave ample evidence of hiR

wish to serve God conscientiously and faithfully. Becoming, aa I did,

bis successor in the pastoral office, and also his fellow-townsman, it was
my lot to come frequently into ccjiiininiiication with him, and I cherish

with great satisfaction the pleasant intimacy that sprang up between us,

and continued unbroken to the end of his life."

Mr. Andrews, who became sole pastor on Mr.
Howe's decease, was, in many respects, quite different

from his predecessor. Though a thorough scholar

and a forcible writer, he was no orator. A perfect

gentleman at heart, kind and sympathizing, yet he

was externally cold and uncongenial, and in manner
awkward and constrained. He had no policy, no
finesse, but in everything pursued a straightforward,

outspoken course. He preached the Gospel as he be-

lieved it, plainly and with a directness that was often

more pungent than agreeable to his hearers, many of

whom began to grow dissatisfied, and demand a more
entertaining, if not a more liberal style of preaching.

He labored faithfully and conscientiously more than

ten years of the best part of his life for this church

and parish, only to feel at last that he was unappreci-

ated. He tendered his resignation April 2, 1850. He
afterwards preached several years at Tiverton, R. I.,

and then settled in Winona, Minn., where he died

in 1870.

The 29th day of January, 1847, being an anniver-

sary of Mr. Andrews' ordination, and without due cor-

rection for change of style, the centennial of the

founding of the First Church in Pepperell, was cele-

brated by the Evangelical Congregational Society,

on which occasion the pastor delivered a discourse

containing an interesting account of the settlement of

the parish and its ecclesiastical history during the One
hundred years of its existence.
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But the chiiri-h anil society of the First Parish,

claiming, at lenitt. an equal right to the title of " First

Churih iu l'ei>|jerell," aii<l feeling somewhat indig-

nant at having been totally ignored in the whole

matter of the celebration, made arrangemenU for a

true centennial celebration, which took place on the

Gth day of February, 1847, exactly one hundred

yearn after the organization of the church.

Mr. Habbidge delivered a polemical address per-

tinent to the occasion, in which he str<»ngly pro-

testeil against the action of the other church and

society, because he " thought it due lo the church

connected with the ancient religious society, to the

oflicers and members of this church and to society

at large." lie concluded thus: "We of this town

are an excitable people. The inhabitants of Pep-

perell have always been so. There is something in

the atmo.'iphere upon our hills that infuses a mer-

curial, a sensitive principle into our blood. We are

great sticklers for equal rights and popular liberty.

The very name of ' Bunker Hill ' stirs our hearts

as the souiul of the trumpet does the war-horse.

Being aware of this common characteristic of ours,

let us beware how we give each other occasion for

offence. Let us live together peaceably, in that

spirit which becometh the followers of the Son of

God."

Rev. Lyman Cutler, of Dorchester, a graduate of

Dartmouth and of Andover, was ordained January

22, 1801. lie was a line ilas.sical scholar, and was

ambitious for literary distinction. He was gifted with

a ready command of language and a nervous style of

thought and delivery that thrilled his hearers to their

fingers' ends. Open-hearted and free from guile, he

counted upon the same traits iu all men, and although

greatly a<hnired by his people, he was not looked up

to as a safe adviser and guide in temporal matters.

He was unsuited to the parochial duties of a country

parish, and his request for a dismissal was granted iu

Novendjer, ISf)."?. The following year he was settled

in Newton, where, after a brilliant but brief career,

he died May 2, 185.5.

Kev. Thomas Morong, a graduate of Amherst and

of Andover, was ordained April 12, 1854, and dis-

missed November 4, 1855.

June 11, 1856, Rev. Edward P.gmith was ordained

pastor of the church. He was graduated from Yale

aud Andover. On his first visit to Pepperell, to

preach as a candidate, he lost his valise, which

contained his sermons and a change of raiment.

Nothing daunted, however, he went into the pulpit in

his traveling suit, and preached an extempore ser-

mon, so fraught with freedom, fervency and zeal that

he aroused the enthusiasm of the congregation, aud

received a call from them directly. He was a man of

remarkable executive ability ; with him to think was

to act; so much so that he was liable to hastily fol-

low his first impulse, rather than wait for the sober

second thought. In bis preaching and his whole life

—pastoral, civil and political—this characteristic was

prominent. At the beginning of the War of the Rebel-

lion betook an active part in arousing the people and

procuring enlistments. Having obtained a month's

leave of absence in January, ISfiS, he attached him-

self to the United States Christian Commission, and

went to the front. The month's absence was ex-

tended indefinitely. At length his repeated request

for a dismissal w^as granted December 7, 1864, his

people being satisfied that he could never be con-

tented to settle down again lo the quiet life and cir-

cumscribed 8j)here of Pepperell. He became general

agent of the Commission, with full charge of the field

work.

At the close of the war he engaged with his

characteristic ardor in the cause of the freedmeu, aud

held a prominent position in the American Mission-

ary Association. He was afterwards appointed (by

President Grant) commissioner of Indian affairs.

While holding this latter office he exposed some of

the malfeasance connected with this department, and

thereby aroused a political excitement and opposition

that led to his resignation. In 1875 he was elected

President of the Howard University, Washington,

D. C, and went to Africa to become more intimately

acquainted with the needs of the uegro race, and the

most feasible methods of missionary work among the

native tribes. AVhile on this mission he died of

African fever, on board the United States vessel

"Ambrig", in the Gulf of Guinea, June 15, 1876, aged

forty-nine years. One of his co-laborers thus writes

of him :
" He was noted for his love of children, his

mirthfulne.ss, his generosity, his strong attachments,

and his advocacy of the cause of the oppressed.

Doing good in forgetfulness of self was his business

and he pursued it to the end."

In July, 1859, the meeting-house was destroyed by

fire, together with Mr. Luther Tarbell's tavern and

store building, in which the fire originated. The
house had just been repaired, and the basement

finished into a convenient vestry, which the congre-

gation were expecting to use for the first time on the

ensuing Sabbath. Instead of which, they met, on

that Sabbath, in the Unitarian house, whose use for

the afternoons had been cordially tendered, and

listened to an impre.ssive discourse by Mr. Smith

from the text, " Our holy and our beautiful house

where our fathers praised Thee, is burned up by

fire." (Psa. Ixiv. 11.) After considerable delay,

occasioned by a want of unanimity on the question

of location, the present commodious and well-

arranged house was erected on the site of the old one,

and dedicated January 29, 1860.

The same council that concurred in the dismissal

of Mr. Smith installed Rev. S. L. Blake, a graduate

of Middlebury and of Andover. Having preached

acceptably to the people four years, he asked for a

dismission December 28, 1868, in order to accept a

call from the Old South Church, in Concord, N. H,
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His successor was Rev. Horace Parker, an Amberst

graduate, who was installed March 17, 1870, and

dismissed September 16, 1873, on account of ill

health. By means of his earnest and persevering

ertbrts a debt of nearly S3000, which had been grad-

ually accumulating, was canceled, and two hundred

dollars additional raised for repairs on the meeting-

house. A parsonage was also bought during his

pastorate.

Rev. George F. Swain was ordained March 12

1875. He entered the ministry, not through the

ordinary course of college and seminary, but from

a business education and experience ; therefore he

was more inclined to disregard the conventionalities

j and technicalities of clerical speech and deportment

than was agreeable to many of his parishioners.

His connection with the church and society was

dissolved in Dec, 1879, and he returned to a business

life.

Mr. Swain was succeeded by Rev. William G.

Shoppe, from Bangor Theological Seminary, who was

1 ordained November 11, 1880. A man of native sim-

plicity and purity of character combined with great

jiersonal dignity, he commanded the love and respect

of his people. His resignation, that he might accept

a call to a church in Neponset, was reluctantly grant-

ed, November, 1887.

Rev. Charles L. Tomblen, a graduate of Amherst,

and of Andover, is at present the pastor in charge.

The first serious endeavor to introduce the services

of Methodism in Pepperell was made during the fall

and winter of 1855, by Oscar F. French, who formed

a " class " at the North Village School-house. With

occasional assistance from Revs. A. D. Merrill and

M. M. Parkhurst, his eftbrts were so successful that,

the following spring, Rev. G. Adams was sent from

the New England Conference as the first pastor of a

church, which was organized May, 1866.

For several years the Sabbath services were held in

Parker's Hall, at Nissittisset Square; but, in 1873,

through the zealous and untiring labors of Rev. A.

W. Baird, a fund was raised sufficient to build a plain,

convenient chapel in Babbitasset Village. The so-

ciety increased and prospered. In 1885 a commodi-

ous parsonage was built, and three years later the

interior of the chapel was tastefully decorated and

refurnished. The succession of ministers since Rev.

G. Adams has been : 1867, Rev. M. R. Barry ; 1869,

Rev. Asa Barnes ; 1871, Rev. A. W. Baird ; 1874, Rev.

J. H. Emerson ; 1875, Rev. J. R. Gushing ; 1877, Rev.

Alfred Noon; 1880, Rev. W. D. Bridge; 1881, Rev.

Daniel Atkins; 1883, Rev. Phineas C. Sloper; 1884,

Rev. L. A. Bosworth, who was obliged, on account of

ill health, to reliuquish his charge in the fall of the

same year. Mr. Sloper returned and completed the

year, and continued as pastor for the next two years.

In 1887 he was succeeded by Rev. James Mudge,

the present incumbent.

A Catholic mission was established at the Depot

Village in 1871, and a small chapel was erected, in

which services were held fortnightly by the priest

from Ayer. In 1881 the chapel was enlarged and

rebuilt into a new and attractive church. , In 1884 a

fine parochial house was built ; and the following

year Rev. Henry J. Madden was appointed pastor of

the parish, which was then instituted, and which now
numbers about nine hundred communicants.

CHAPTER XX.

PEPPEEELL-i, Continued).

MUNICIPAL AND MILITANT.

On the 12th day of April, 1753, by act of the Gen-

eral Court, Groton West Parish, upon petition by its

inhabitants, was made a district, and named Pepper-

ell, in honor of Sir William Pepperell, the hero of the

memorable capture of Louisbourg, in 1745. Rev. Mr.

Emerson, who had been a chaplain in that expedi-

tion, probably suggested the name of his old com-
mander as approjiriate for the new district. Sir

William acknowledged the compliment by the cus-

tomary present of a bell, which, however, was never

received by those for whom it was intended. It was

cast in England, and bore the inscription of the

donor's name and the legend :

'* I to the church the living call,

And to the grave I stimnion all."

It was shipped to Boston and there stored. Its

future history is chiefly conjectural. One tradition is

that it was destroyed by the British soldiers during

their occupancy of Boston in 1775, some twenty years

after, which is hardly probable. Another story,

equally apocryphal, is that the people of Pepperell,

being earnestly engaged in the great struggle for in-

dependence, neglected to send for the bell, until it

had been confiscated and sold to pay the expenses

of storage, etc. The tale that it was purchased by
the Old South Church in Boston, and placed in their

belfry, has been disproved by actual investigations

made by the late Samuel Chase, the antiquarian of

Pepperell, who made a personal inspection of every

church bell in the city of Boston. Still another ver-

sion is that a committee of three, afterwards reduced

to one, was chosen by the town to go to Boston and
get the bell ; that he went, sold the bell, put the pro-

ceeds into his pocket, and returning, reported the

bell " non inventus." But no record of any such

committee or mention of the bell can be found in the

town records. Mr. Chase, however, believed the last

story to be mainly true ; he even claimed to know that

the bell was sold to a society in New Hampshire, and
that the church on which it was placed was afterwards

burned to the ground
; but " for the credit of all par-

ties," as he used to say, he always positively refused
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to testify further in the case. At all events, one thing

is certain, the people of I'epperell never got that bell.

Sir William always apelled his name with two " r's,''

and for m^ny yeara the name of the town was so

spelled.

As a district the inhabitants were entitled to all the

righU and privileges of a town, except that of sending

a representiitive to the General Court. They still

continued to be represented by the member from

Grotoii. In 1786, by act of the Legislature, all dis-

tricts that had been incorporated previous to 1777

were made towns. Pepperell, however, from and after

1
77

>, appears to have sent to the General Court her

representative, who was received and recognized as

such, but by what authority it is not known : proba-

bly by " right of revolution." Although the town of

Groton, in its earlier history, had sufl'ered severely

from Indian raids, the peopleof Pepperell, for reasons

already stated, were generally exempt from any serious

attacks. Yet the knowledge of the characteristic

treachery and vindictiveness of the Indian kept the

settlers in a state of constant anxiety. Mr. Emerson

makes the statement, in one of his discourses, that for

several years after his settlement the men were ac-

customed to carry their guns to meeting. Many are

still living who can recall the thrilling tales told by

thf grandames of a century ago about Lovewell's fight

and Chamberlain and Paugus; of Indian cunning

and white man's circumspection, ius received from

their grandmothers, whose husbands, fathers or

brothers were the heroes of the story. There was,

however, very little actual warfare within the limits

of the settlement. As far as can be ascertained, only

one white man was killed within the territory of

Groton West Pari.sh. In July, 1724, John Ames, who
live 1 in a garrison-house, on the intervale west of the

Niishua River, about half a mile below Hollinsworth's

mills, was surprised and shot in his door-yard by one

of five Indians, who had been lurking about the place

for several days. His son Jacob avenged the death

of his father by shooting the Indian from the house

with his father's gun. Midway between the " Munger
corner "^so called—and the river, the spot where

Mr. Ames' house stood is still indicated by the par-

tially filled-in cellar. In 1744 hostilities were re-

newed between England and France, and the Colo-

nists were again involved in a war with the French
and their Indian allies. But Pepperell was no longer

a frontier town, and the theatre of war was removed
farther to the northward. We have no record of the

participation of any of the inhabitants of the dislrict

in the Old French War except that of Simon Green,
who died in the army in 1748.

In what is called the French and Indian War,
however, which commenced in 1756, Pepperell was
called upon to furnish its quota of troops for the
prosecution of the war, and promptly responded to the
call. Mr. Emerson's previous experience and martial

proclivities led him to take an active interest in mili-

tary matters; to his influence and encouragement,

undoubtedly, was due much of that military and

patriotic spirit which has always characterized the

inhabitants of Pepperell, and has furnished so many
brave officers and soldiers from among her citizens.

In the spring of 17.58 a company from Pepperell and its

vicinity was enlisted for the French and Indian War,

under the command of Capt. Thomas Lawrence.

Previous to their departure to join the army, Mr.

Emerson preached a .sermon appropriate to the occa-

sion, in which he addressed them thus

:

"JlTy fntfnih and brflhren : 'Tis a matter of rejoicing tome that so

many of you have engaged in this affair with bo much cheerfulness,

and proffered your services for your country ; and some of you, I hope,

have entered upon it with becomiDg seriousness. If the present expe-

dition should go forward according to our present expectation—which

God grant it may!—and not he stigmatized, as some former ones have

been, by the name of a mock expi^ditwn, whereby we have become the

shame of our friends and the contempt of our enemies. I say, if the

army should proceed, you will, doubtlesa, be called into action, and must

expect to jeopardize your life in the high places of the field. Fix then

this in your minds, that danger you must encounter; imagine not that

you are going out against a weak and effeminate enemy, who will be af-

frighted !is soon as they hear of your approach, or he intimidated by the

very sound of your drums, and run away as soon aa you charge them,

and you have nothing to do hut fall upon the prey and load yourselves

with the spoils. Far from this
;
you are going against an enemy who

are far from being dastardly ; an enemy flushed with various and repeat-

ed successes. And as you are designed by the present concerted scheme

of operation to enter the very heart of the enemy's country, you may
well expect that they will not tamely resign their possessions into your

hands. I say not these things to discourage you, but rather to animate

you to set out with greater resolution and courage. If you alight upon

dangei*8, this will not make them heavier when they come, and it may
serve something to lighten them when they come. You are to fight;

you are enlisted to this end
;
you are paid for this purpose. Boldly then

advance into the heart of the enemy's country. Fear them not ; let it

never be said of a New England soldier—let it never be said of a Pepper-

ell soldier that he was afraid to face his enemies, or that he ever turned

his back on them and cowardly deserted the cause of his country."

Capt. Lawrence was not disobedient unto the min-

isterial injunction. He was a man of extraordinary

size and strength ; resolute and daring, and experi-

enced in Indian warfare. Holding in contempt the

valor of the savages, he was accustomed to boast that

he would never run from the Indians, nor be taken

alive by them, which assertion he was destined to

verify. In July, 1758, while out in command of a

scouting-party, at Half-way Brook, near Lake George,

he was suddenly surprised by the Indians, and, with

the exception of a few who fled at the first fire, the

whole party were killed, the gallant captain being the

last to fall. His body, when found, bore witness to the

desperation with which he had fought. The following

men from Pepperell are reported as having lost their

lives in this war: William Blood, John Parker,

.James Coburn, Jr., John Kemp, Oliver Kemp, Jabez

Kemp, Samuel Fisk, Jr., Capt. Thomas Lawrence,

David Shattuck, Jr., Stephen Kemp, Ephraim Hall,

Nathaniel Green, John Avery and Charles Barron.

Trained in such aschool, and inspired by so zealous

an apostle of liberty as Mr. Emerson, the people of

Pepperell were all prepared to enter with ardor into

the contention between Parliament and Provinces,

which led to the Revolutionary War, They were
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among the first to notice and protest against the arbi-

trary acts of the British Ministry, and among the first

to sustain that protest by active and forcible measures.

The district voted, on October 25, 170o, to give

the following instructions to their representative in

the General Court

:

" To Abel Lawrence, Esq. : Tiikiug into consideration the measures

that have been adopted by the British ministry, and acts of Parliament

made, which press hard upon our invaluable rightaand privileges, by

the royal charter granted to the first settlers of this province, the power

of making laws and levying taxes invested in the (it-neral Assembly. It

is certain we were not represented in Parliament, neither were the ro

monstrances sent by this province admitted there when the late act, call

ed the stamp act, by which an insupportable and ur.constitutioual tax is

laid OQ the Colonies, was made. We, therefore, think it our iudispen-

sjible duty to desire you, by no means, to join in any measures for coun-

tenancing or assisting in tlie execution of the said stamp act. Further-

more, as the trade of this province is greatly obstructed, and the people

labor under an almost insupportable debt, we expect you will use your

utmost endeavors, in the General Assembly, that the monies of the prov-

ince drawn from the individuals, may not be applied to any other usesi

under any pretence whatever, than what is evidently intended in the

act for supplying the province treasury."

Mr. Emerson preached a Thanksgiving Sermon

January 24, 176G, on the repeal of the Stamp Act,

which was printed for general circulation. The text

was from Ezra 9, the latter clause of the 13th and first

part of the l-tth verses
—

'* hast given us such deliver-

ance as this : Should we again break thy command-
ments." Mr. Emerson spoke of the repeal of the

Stamp Act as one of the great deliverances in Eng-

lish history; he expressed the hope that the oppres-

sion of Great Britain was over ; and exhorted the

people to humble and hearty thanksgiving therefor.

A few extracts from his sermon will show the feeling

of the colonists towards the mother-country at this

time :

" Let us cultivate in our own minds and in the minds of our children

an affection for our mother country, and a love and respect for those who
have signalized themselves in our behalf. There is such a connection

between Great Britain and her American colonies, and such their mu-

tual dependence, that they must stand and fall together. We should

always look upon her friends aa our friends, her enemies as our enemies.

When this deliverance was granted us there was universal joy among
our brethren at home, among all who wished well to the true interests

and sought the true honor of the nation. Let us seek their welfare to

our utmost, promoting their interests, remembering them at the throne

of Grace. Of Great Britain will we say, ' P«rtce 6e within thy ivatls and

prosperity within thy palacus.* "... '-Let us havo reverence for and be

duly subject to lawful authority. Government is drawn from God, though

the practical form of it is loft to the prudence and discretion of man.''

. . "Anarchy Is, in some respects, worse than tyranny." . .
** We have

a king who is well worthy of our aflfeetion and obedience. We have the

greatest assurance that he will not infringe upon our liberties ; let him

have our most dutiful Bubmission. We have subordinate rulers aud ex-

cellent laws ; let us see to it, that we lead quiet and peaceful lives in all

godliness and honesty."

This does not bound like rebellion! But all these

sanguine hopes were doomed to disappointment. It

soon became apparent that in the repeal of the Stamp
Act the British Ministry were actuated by motives of

2)olicy rather than a sense of justice. The colonists

soon found that although the Act had been repealed,

the spirit which instigated it still survived to be

manifested in more odious forms of taxation. Re-

peated acts of oppression at length convinced both

pastor and people that their expressions of loyalty to

the *' mother-country " were of no avail, and that

obedience to the injunction "Honor the King " was

no longer a Christian duty.

In 1772 the following article was inserted in a war-

rant for a district meeting:

" To see if the district are so gonorally inspired with true patriotic

spirit, as to propose any method in order to retrieve and recover the ton-

stitutional liberties tliat have been extorted from us, contrary to the

royal charter, and in order to prevent any further unjvist taxee, ton-

nage, poundage and the like, and act thereon as shall bo thouglit proper,

and most conducive to the happiness of all true sons of liberty, anil to

American Bubjects in general."

At a district meeting held January 15, 1778, a com-
mittee of nine men was chosen "to consider what is

proper for this district to do, at this alarming time,

respecting the encroachments that have been mi.de

upon our civil privilege." This committee reported

the following communication to the Committee of Cor-

respondence, and also a letter of instructions to their

representative, both of which follow:

'' To (he Committue of Conespondence, Buston:

"Gentlemen,—You will be so good as to inform the town of Boston

that we have received their kind letter, together with the pamphlet set-

ting forth our liberties as men, as Christians, as subjects, with the in-

fringements which have been made upon them. Desire them to accept our

hearty acknowledgemeuts for their vigilance over our common interests,

aud remitting to us so particular accounts of the innovations made upon

our charter privileges. Assure them that we are greatly alarmed at the

large strides which have been made by the enemies of our excellent

constitution towards enslaving a people. We of this place are unani-

mous ; no less than one hundred have signed a request to the se'ectmen

to call a meeting, though we count but one hundred and sixty families ;

and when met the fullest meeting that was ever known on any occasion,

and not a dissenting vote or voice. We feel for ourselves, we feel for

our posterity, we feel for our brethren through the continent We
tremble at the thought of slavery, either civil or ecclesiastical, and are

fully sensible of the near connection there is between civil and religious

liberty. If we lose the former the latter will not remain ; our I'osent-

ment (not to say our indignation) rises against them, let them be in

whatsoever relation they may, who would dare invade our natural or

constitutional rights. Tell our brethren at Boston, that we entirely

agree with them in their sentiments transmitted to us, both with respect

to what are our rights, and those infringements which have been made

upon them ; and stand ready to co-operate with them in all meaHures

warranted by them and the constitutmn, and the law of nature, for the

recovery of those privileges which have been unreasonably and uncon-

stitutionally wrested from us, aud for the establishment and security of

those we do enjoy. Offering up our unfeigned desires to the all-wiae

God that he would, in this day of darkness, be a lamp to our feet, a light

to our path and graciously direct to those measures which may be eftect-

ual for this purpose."

'^ To James Prescott, repreaentntive of tke town of Groton, and the districts

o/ Pepperell and Shirley

:

"Sir,— We, his majesty's most loyal and dutiful subjects, the free-

holders and other inhabitants of the district of Pepperell, legally assem-

bled, July 18, 1773, being ever ready to give due assistance aud encour-

agement to government in a constitutional way, at the same time great-

ly concerned that the rights aud privileges of British subjects (uur birth-

right and the richest inheritance left us by our fathers) may be securely

enjoyed by us and transmitted entire to our posterity, cannot but be

greatly affected at the frequent innovations which have been made upon

our happy constitution ; the particulars of the encroachments made on

our liberties we shall not at this time enumerate, but referring you to a
pamphlet sent from Boston to every town in the province, which we
think very justly states our rights, and the encroachments made upon
them ; we, therefore, who are no small part of your constituents, do

desire and expect that you exert yourself in the Great and General As-

sembly to the utmost of your ability, for the regaining of such privi-

leges as have been unjustly wrested from us, and eatablishing those wo
do enjoy. We trust that you will ever be watchful, that yon be not
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imIiicmI b7 any mMU to cotuant to uij toCo or TOl«a, In the Great and

G«a«nil A^rnibly, ihjit m»y bave a lenJoucy to weaken our conrtUu-

lk>aftl rife'liU aud prtvlIegtA or over in a like ciwe to bo piado u preco-

dt-Dl of, lo (be .iiBadvttiiiagc of tm and uur posterity. PrewntiiiK Ibo

abo^e HMtiuiiiiiis lo your wiso cotjsidenitioii, we wisU that you and all

irutf rri-uO.-. to ihf KnjfliBb ooiiBliiutloo may lw» under tbe divine dire>c-

tlon, tbal yuu may \m> 1«h| into tbe patba of truth, aud never be driven

Midtf from K«kiug the wolfuro of your country."

The district unanimously accepted this report and

chost' a committee to transmit the communications to

the partiea to whom they were addressed.

*'In February, 1771^, the district voted to add two

caaks ol* powder, and lead answerable, to their stock

of ammunition."

June 27, 1774, the district passed the following

preamble and resolutions, and voted to send a copy

of the same to Boston :

" L'lider a doej> settae of the didtrening and very extraordinary cir-

cuuMtaucett «e of tbia laud art> unlitippily brought into, by—as we think

—

ttbud ministry in our parent country, by the innovations already made In

our civil tibertieti, and what seems to be further threatened, we are with

concern uf opinion, that it behoovea us and all thie province, and all

North Americit, to t^)t up ii general correspondence and to cultivate har-

mony, that there may be a united voice with resolution throughout this

land, that we may make a proper stand, iind lift up our united prayers.

to Almighty God to pity us, and vouchsafe to us his gracious protection,

and dlroct us into such measures as he wilt please to prosper and succeed

for our deliverance from the great ditliculties and embarrassments we

are under, and secure and save us from impending ruin, with which we

are further threatened by some in power, who carry on their wicked

designs as if by magic art assisted. We seriously recommend to all

amongst us and the whole of North America to lay aside all contentions,

broils, and even small tjuarr^Lt, and to omit the practice of everything

that tends to disunite us as brethren, as neighbors, as countrymen, that

are Interested in one and the same cause, and must stand or fall togeth-

er. Therefore, resolved,

"1. As tbe opinion of this district that we have a just and lawful right

to meet together when and so often as we shall have occasion, to culti-

vate harmony and to transart our town affairs; and that we will hold,

use ^ and improve that privilege, and will never give it up, or quit the

usual practice of meeting, on any mandate whatever.

" 2. That neither Lord North, nor any other British minister or person

whatever, bath any right to trample America under his feet, nor to

Invade its privileges, either civil or religious.

**3. We are resolved to do all in our power, by abstinence or any
other lawful and proper way, to secure and preserve our charter rights

and privileges, and that we will not tamely aubmit to the yoke of bond-

age.

*'4. That we will not have any hand in the consumption of teas, West
India or British goods, wares or merchandise, imported after the last

day of August nuxt, nor deal with any person who shall import such

goods, wares or morohandiae, contrary to the general sense and agree-

ment of the inhabitants of tbis much abused province.

"5. We return our hearty thanks to our patriotic friends at Boston,

for their firmness, care and vigilance the time past, for the good and
safely of this country. And we desire you not to give over now, al-

though your circumsta-nces are very discouraging. We sympathize with

you in this day of darkness, and bad situation of affairs, and will, when
need be, attest our ability, administer our substance, and whatever may
be l>eneficial to the cause, and are determined to exert ourselves in the

cause that so much concerns us. And we hope and pray that the Lord
of Uocils will direct us, and you, and all the colonies into a right way,
that Hia blessing may be upon our united endeavors, and may success,

with peace and harmony, crown the whole to the glory of God and the

tranquility of the American colonies."

The following extract from the instructions given
to their representatives in 1775 shows that the inhab-
itants of Pepperell had already, more than a year be-

fore the Declarationof Independence was formulated,

arrived at the conclusion that their only hope was in

a complete separation from the British Government

;

" We therefore lostruct you, sir, that you, io our name and behalf,

signify to the Great and General Court, of which you are a member,
that our opinion is, that independence is the only alternalivo for the

safety of thin oppressed land, and that if the honorable Congress should

think It best for the safety of the United Colonies to declare them inde-

pendent of Great Britain, we acquiesce heart and hand, and are deter-

mined, at the risk of life and treasure, to support the measure."

These expressions of independence were not mere

words. Active preparations had for some time been

in progress to enforce their principles by actual resist-

ance; and the leader was already in the field.

William Prescott was born in Groton, February 20,

172G ; but at the age of twenty years he removed to

the West Parish, and "took up" a farm lying partly

in the parish and partly in the "Groton Gore," so-

called. The whole farm afterwards became a part of

Pepperell, He inherited martial proclivities. His

great-grandfather, who emigrated from England, was

said to have served under Cromwell ; his grandfather

was captain of militia at the time of the Indian dep-

redations ; and his father had been colonel of the

militia of Middlesex and Worcester Counties. He
himself had been a lieutenant of the provincial

troops that were sent, in 1775, to remove the neutral

French from Nova Scotia; and on his return from

that expedition had been promoted to a captaincy.

In 1768 he was chosen a commitiee to represent Pep-

perell in the General Committee of Safety, composed

of members from the several towns in the Province.

He was sent a delegate to the Provincial Congress at

Salem ; and was in 1774 appointed colonel of a regi-

ment of "minute-men " enrolled in Pepperell, Groton

and Hollis. The settlers of " West Dunstable " were

almost all from the neighboring town of the Massa-

chusetts Province. In fact, until the establishment

of the boundary line in 1751, they had considered

themselves citizens of that Province, and in their

business relations and social sympathies they were

still inclined in that direction. Moreover, Colonel

Prescott was a near neighbor and friend of Captain

Dow, Lieutenant Goss and many others of the Hollis

company; and his brother-in-law. Colonel John
Hale, was one of the leading patriots of Hollis. These

were, probably, the reasons that induced the Hollis

company to join Colonel Prescott's regiment, rather

than one in their own State.

The muster-roll of the Pepperell company was

:

Captain John Nutting, First Lieutenant Nathaniel Lakin, Second

Lieut. John Moeher, Sergts. Edmund Bancroft, Silas Pierce, Josiah

Newell, Abjjah Parker, Corps. James Mosher, Ebenezer Nutting, John
Boynton, Peter Perham, Drummer Robinson Lakin, Privates Jeremiah

Shattuck, John Chamberlain, George Abbott, Abraham Boynton,

George Attridge, Moses Blood, Joseph Chamberlain, Jonathan Blood,

Nathan Fisk, Simon Green, William Green, Daniel Moaher, Joshua

Lawrence, Francis Lee, John Adams, Tho>. Lawrence, Sam* Nutting,

Abel Parker, Jonas Shattuck, Michael Sawtell, Sam' Seward, Josiah

Seward, Moses Shattuck, Philip Shattuck, Reuben Shattuck, Joseph

Shattuck, David Shattuck, Josiah Shattuck, Eieazer Whipple, Robert

Conant, Joseph Chambly, Oliver Shattuck, Jonas Warren, Joseph Tar-

bell, James Tarbell, Isaac Williams, Joseph Woods, Daniel Shattuck,

Joseph Whitney, Tho^ Wetherbee, Reuben Spaulding, Abijah Shattuck,

Sampson Woods, Nathaniel Parker, William Warren, Edmund Pierce,

Wainwrigbt Fisk, John Shattuck, Jeremiah Shattuck, Jr., Ebenezer

Laughton."
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In addition to these there were in Captain Asa

Lawrence's company in Groton the following soldiers

enrolled from Pepperell

:

"First Lieut., Tho« Span lding;SergtB., Tlioa. Spaultling, Samuel OilBon
;

Corporals, Joseph Shedd, JonathaD Stevens, Samuel Farley ; Privates,

.Tonatlian Boydeu, Levi Woods, David Avery, Joseph Adams, James

Bowers, Joseph Jewett, Samuel Green, Simon Green, Benjamin Jewett,

Jonathan Lewis, Samuel Lovejoy, Simon Lakin, Eleazar Parker,

Eleazar Spaulding, David Wetherbee, Tho» Lawrence (3d.), Benjamin

Wood, William Spaulding, Phineas Douglass, Aaron Scott, James Mc-

Cone."

About nine o'clock on the morning of the memora-

ble April 19, 1775, a messenger from Concord arrived

in Pepperell with the thrilling tidings oF the skirmish

at Lexington, and the advance of the British regulars

towards Concord. Colonel Prescott immediately gave

orders to the Hollis and Pepperell companies to

march to Groton and there join the other companies

of the regiment. These minute-men, well organized

and ready for action, promptly responded to the sum-

mons. So well prepared were they for such an emer-

gency and so expeditious in their rally, that they ar-

rived at the Groton rendezvous, five miles distant,

before the comjjanies there were ready to march ; and

after a halt of a few minutes, impatient at the delay,

they marched on in advance of the Groton companies.

The following incidents will show how promptly

the minute-men obeyed the call to arms :

Edmund Bancroft, a sergeant in Capt. Nutting's

company, was living with his father, on Bancroft

Street, but had just started for Maine when the mes-

senger arrived to notify him. Mr. Bancroft's lather

said :
" Perhaps he is not out of hearing yet," and,

running out in the field, and mounting a high rock he

called to his son, who heard, returned to the house,

took his gun and hastened towards Concord.

Another of Capt. Nutting's company, Abel Parker,

—afterwards judge of Probate for Cheshire County,

N. H., and father of the late Chief Justice Joel

Parker—was plowing on his farm nearly three miles

distant, but as soon as he heard the alarm, he left the

plow in the furrow, and, without stopping to unyoke

his oxen, ran to the house and seizing his coat in one

hand and his gun in the other, started on a run and

did not stop until he overtook his comrades, near the

" Ridges," some three miles below Groton.

Col. Prescott hastened on with his regiment to

Concord, but being unable to arrive there in time to

take any part in the conflict of that clay, he followed

the retreat of the " regulars " to Cambridge, and made
that place his headquarters.

The women of those days were not a whit inferior

to the men in patriotism and courage, nor in a manly

exhibition of heroism. After the departure of the

minute-men, the women in the vicinity of the bridge

over the Nashua River—now the covered bridge

—

collected, dressed in their absent husband's clothes,

and armed with the most etlective weapons they

could find. Having chosen Mrs. David Wright their

commander, they patrolled the road, firmly deter-

mined that no enemy to freedom should pass that

bridge,—and to good purpose, too, for they soon bad

the satisfaction of arresting Capt. Leonard Whiting,

of Hollis, a noted Tory, and the bearer of despatches

from Canada to Boston. He was compelled to dis-

mount and submit to a search. The treasonable cor-

respondence, which was found in his boot, was for-

warded to the Committee of Safety, and he was de-

tained as prisoner, and sent to Oliver Prescott, Esq.,

a brother of Col. Prescott. Mrs. Wright's maiden

name was Prudence Cumings. She was born in Hollis,

November 2(1, 1740 ; was married to David Wright,

of Pepperell, December 28, 17111, and by liim had

eleven childrtn, two of whom she named Liberty.

One of her brothers was in Capt. Dow's company, but

two other brothers were Tories. Capt. Leonard Whit-

ing was born and had been reared in the same neigh-

borhood with Prudence Cumiugs. He knew her

well, and, tradition says, that when he recognized her

voice through her disguise at the bridge, he remarked

that it was of no use to resist, and surrendered uncon-

ditionally. In November, 1889, a memorial stone of

polished granite was erected near this bridge by a

great-great-granddaughter of Prudence Wright—Mrs.

H. A. Pevear, of Lynn, Mass.—to commemorate the

heroism of her ancestress. At the same time, through

the efforts, principally, of Mrs. Dr. William F. Heald

and Mr. Frank W. Ames, assisted by several others

of the members of a magazine club, two similar stones

were erected—one at " Munger's Corner," to mark the

spot where Air. Ames was killed by the Indian (an

event previously related), and the other at the junc-

tion of Townsend and Bancroft Streets, where the

British officers (paroled prisoners of war) who were

quartered in Pepperell and Townsend, after the sur-

render of Burgoyne, in 1777, were allowed to meet

and sympathize with each other.

The expense of these monumental stones was de-

frayed by the proceeds of an art loan exhibit and

subscriptions from Pepperell people, several of whom
were non-residents.

Soon after his arrival at Cambridge, Col. Prescott

with most of his men enlisted for eight months, it

being the prevalent opinion that by that time the war

would be over. In the latter part of May, following, he

received from the Provincial Congress a commission

as colonel in the army. His regiment of ten com-

panies numbered about four hundred and twenty-five

men. His staff' officers were : Lieut. Col., John Rob-
inson, of Weatford ; Major, Henry Woods, and Adjt.,

William Green, of Pepperell.

On the 16th day of June, 1775, the commander
of the army, in accordance with the recommenda-

tion of the Committee of Safety, took measures to

fortify Bunker Hill. Orders were issued for " Frye's,

Bridge's and William Prescott's regiments to parade

this evening at six o'clock, with all the intrenching

tools in this encampment." They were also ordered

to furnish themselves with packs, blankets and rations
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for tweiity-tbur hours. A detacliiuent of about two

hundrcil Coiineclicut troops, and Capt. Samuel Qrid-

ley'u c'diiipauy of artillery, of forty-nine men and

two tield-piefes, was also ordered to parade. Col.

I'reseott was placed in coraniaud of tbis force, with

written orders from Geu. Ward " to proceed that

night to Blinker Hill, build fortificatious to be planned

by Col. Richard (Jridley, chief engineer, and defend

them until he should be relieved—the order not to be

coniinuiiicate<l until the detachment had passed

Charlestown Neck." The detachment, numbering

about twelve hundred men, paraded as ordered on

Cambridge Common ; and after listening to a prayer

by President Langdon, of Harvard College, com-

menced under cover of night its silent and mysterious

march. Col. Prescott, wearing a simple uniform dress,

with blue coal and three-cornered hat, led tlie troops

over the " Neck," and then, having ordered a halt,

made known the object of the expedition. A long

consultation followed in regard to the place to be fort-

ified, and it wjus finally determined to erect a redoubt

at the southerly end of the Bunker Hill range, on the

eminence locally known at that time as Breed's Hill.

" When the detachment reached Breed's Hill the

packs were thrown off, the guns were stacked, Col.

Gridley marked out the plan of a fortification, tools

were distributed, and about twelve o'clock the men

began to work." Col. Prescott immediately detailed

Capt. Maxwell with several of his men to patrol the

shore and watch the motions of the enemy during the

night. The Boston shore opposite was lined with Brit-

ish sentinels. On either side in the waters around them

were moored several men of war, and floating batteries,

all within gunshot. " This proximity to an enemy re-

quired great caution, and a thousand men, accustomed

to handling the spade, worked with great diligence

and silence on the intrenchments, while the cry of

'All's well,' heard at intervals through the night by

the patrol, gave assurance that they were not discov-

ered. Col. Prescott, apprehensive of an attack before

the works were in such a condition as to cover the

men, went down twice to the margin of the river with

Major Brooks to reconnoitre, and was delighted to

hear the watch on board the ships drowsily repeat the

usual cry." " He was often heard to say, after the

battle, that his great anxiety that night was to have a

screen raised, however slight, for his men before they

were attacked, which he expected would be early in

the morning, as he knew it would be difficult, if not

quite impossible, to make raw troops, however full of

patriotism, to stand in an open field against artillery

and well-armed and well-disciplined soldiers. He
therefore strenuously urged on the work, and even

subaltern and private labored with spade and pickaxei

without intermission, through the night, and until

they resumed their muskets, near the middle of the

day. Never were men in worse condition for action,

exhausted by watching, fatigue, and hunger,—and
never did old soldiers behave better."

The intrenchments had been raised about six feet

in height before they were discovered at early dawn
the next morning. A heavy cannonade from the

ships and Copp's Hill then began, but the .\mericans,

protected by their works, were not injured, and kept

steadily at work. At length a private was killed by

a cannon-shot, and some of the men began to exhibit

signs of fear.

To reassure them and to inspire confidence, Colonel

Prescott mounted the parapet and walked leisurely

around it, inspecting the works, giving directions to

the officers and encouraging the men by approbation

or amusing them with humor. This had the effect

that was intended. "The tall, commanding form of

Prescott was observed by General Gage as he was re-

connoitering the Americans through his glass, who
inquired of Councilor Willard (a brother-in-law of

Colonel Prescott), near him, who the person was who
appeared to command? Willard recognized his bro-

ther-in-law. 'Will he fight?' again inquired Gage.
' Yes, sir ; he is an old soldier, and will fight as long

as a drop of blood remains in his veins.' "

The first attack of the British soldiers was made
about three o'clock and was easily repulsed. Of the

second attack. Judge Prescott, the colonel's son, thus

writes: "The discharge was simultaneous the whole

length of the line, and though more destructive, as

Colonel Prescott thought, than on the former assault,

the enemy stood the first shock, and continued to ad-

vance and fire with great spirit ; but before reaching

the redoubt the continuous, well-directed fire of the

Americans compelled them to give way, and they

retreated a second time, in greater disorder than be-

fore. . . . Colonel Prescott spoke of it as a contin-

ued stream of fire from his whole line from the first

discharge until the retreat."

By much exertion the British officers rallied their

men for a third attack, which was successful. The
ammunition of the Americans was spent. They
fought desperately with their bayonets and the butts

of their guns, but were compelled to retreat. " The

British had entered the redoubt, and were advancing,

when Colonel Prescott ordered a retreat. He was

among the last, and before leaving it was surrounded

by the enemy who had entered, and had several passes

with the bayonet made at his body, which he parried

with his sword—of the use of which he had some

knowledge." He received several thrusts through

his garments, but he was not wounded. He was

always confident that he could have held the fortifi-

cations if he had been supplied with sufficient ammu-
nition. On his return to Cambridge he immediately

reported to General Ward, commander-in-chief, the

result of the battle, assured him that the confidence of

the British would not be increased thereby, and of-

fered to retake the hill that night or perish in the

attempt, if three regiments, of fifteen hundred men,

well-equipped with ammunition and bayonets, were

put under his command. " He had not yet done
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enoufih to satisfy himself, though he had done

enough to satisfy his country. He had not, indeed,

secured final victory, but he had secured a glorious

immortality."

Of the Pepperell soldiers who fought in this battle,

eight were killed and eight were wounded :

Killed—Jeremiah Shattuck, aged thirty ; Nathaniel

Parker, thirty-three; Wm. Warren, twenty ; Waia-

wright Fisk, twenty-four; Ebenezer Laughton,

twenty-seven; Joseph Spaulding, thirty-seven; Benj.

Wood, twenty ; Edmund Pierce, forty-four.

Wounded—Jonathan Stevens, Moses Blood, Simon
Green, Adjt. Wm. Green, John Adams, Thos. Law-
rence (3d), Abel Parker, Wm. Spaulding.

The following letter to John Adams, at that time a

delegate to the Continental Congress, contains Col.

Prescott's own account of the battle :

" Camp at Cambridge, Aug. 25, lllCt.

"StV."—I have received a line from my brother, which informs me of

your deaire of a particular account of the actional Charlestown. It is

not in my power, at preaent, to give so minute an account as I should

choose, being ordered to decamp and march to another station.

" On the 10 June, in the evening, I received orders to march to Breed's

Hill, in Charlestown, with a party of about one thousand men, consist-

ing of three hundred of my own regiment, Colonel Bridge and Lieut.

Bricket, with a detachment of theirs, and two hundred Connecticut

forces, commauded by Captain Knowlton. We arrived at the spot, the

lines were drawn by the engineer, and we began the iutreuchment about

twelve o'clock; and plying the work with all possible expedition till

just before sun-rising, when the enemy began a very heavy cannonad-

ing and bombardment. la the interim the engineer forsook me. Hav-

ing thrown up a small redoubt, found it necessary to draw a line about

twenty rods in length from the fort, northerly, under a very warm fire

from the enemy's artillery.

"About this time, the above field officers being indisposed, could

render me but little service, and the most of the men under their com-

mand deserted the party. The enemy continuing an incessant fire with

their artillery, about two o'clock in the afternoon, on the seventeenth,

the enemy began to land a northeasterly jwint from the fort, and I

ordered the train, with two field-pieces, to go and oppose them, and the

Connecticut forces to support them; but the train marched a different

course, and I believe those sent to their support followed, I suppose, to

Bunker's Hill.

" Auother party of the enemy landed and fired the town. There was

a party of Hampshire, in conjunction with some other forces, lined a

fence at the distance of three-score rods back of the fort, partly to the

north.

*' About an hour after the enemy landed they began to march to the

attack in three columns. I commanded my Lieut.-Col. Robinson and

Major Woods, each with a detachment, to flank the enemy, who, I have

reason to think, behaved with prudence and courage. I was now left

with perhaps one hundred and fifty men in the fort. The enemy ad-

vanced and fired very hotly on tiie fort, and meeting with a warm
reception, there was a very smart firing on both sides. After a con-

siderable time, finding our amnuinition was almost spent, I commanded a

cessation till the enemy advanced within thirty yards, when we gave

them such a hot fire that they were obliged to retire nearly one hundred

and fifty yards before they could rally and come again to the attack.

Our ammunition being nearly exhausted, could keep up only a scatter-

ing fire. The enemy being numerous, surrounded our little fort, began

to mount our lines, and enter the fort with their bayonets. We were

obliged to retreat through them, while they kept up as hot a fire as it

was possible for them to make. We having very few bayonets, could

make no resistance. We kept the fort about one hour and twenty

minutes after the attack with small arms. This is nearly the state of

facts, though imperfect and too general, which, if any ways satisfactory

to you, will afford pleasure to your most obedient, humble servant,

" William Peescott.
" To the Hon. John .\dams, Esq."

Col. Prescott remained with the army in the vicin-

ity of Cambridge, during the " siege of Boston."

After its termination by the evacuation of the British

in March, 1776, he was stationed at Governor's Island,

New York, until after the battle of I/ong Island ; and
when the American forces were obliged to retreat

from New York City, he withdrew his regiment so

skillfully and succeisfully as to call forth tlie public

commendation of Gen. Washington. In the fall of

1777 he, with several of his old officers, went as a

volunteer to ojioose the onward march of Burgoyne,

and was present to witness the surrender of that for-

midable but discomfited army, wiiich, according to the

British program, was destined to insulate New I'-ng-

land from the other Colonies, and thus etlectually

crush the rebellion.

This was Col. Prescott's last military service, if we
except his hastening to Concord, at the time of Shays'

Insurrection, to assist in protecting the courts of jus-

tice and in preserving law and order. He returned

to his farm in Pepperell, honored by his fellow-citi-

zens, whom he served in the various municipal offices

of town clerk, selectman, magistrate, and also as rep-

resentative to the General Court for three years. He
died October 13, 1795, at the age of sixty-nine years,

and was buried with appropriate military honors.

In person he was of tall and commanding stature,

large and muscular frame, well marked and intellec-

tual features, with brown, hair and blue eyes. He
was somewhat bald on the top of his head, and wore

a tie-wig. He had only a limited education, but he
was self-taught, and was very fond of reading, espe-

cially history. He was never in a hurry, never unduly

excited, but always cool and self-possessed in times

of commotion and danger. In deportment he was

plain and courteous; in disposition, kind and benevo-

lent—liberal to a fault, and always ready to assist

others even to his own disadvantage.

Mrs. Abigail (Hale) Prescott, of Sutton, was an ex-

ceedingly amiable, prudent and estimable woman.
Her rare combination of the virtues of thrift without

selfishness, and frugality without parsimony, was a

fortunate supplement to the easy liberality of her

husband.

In the old burying ground at Pepperell, within the

shadow of the old church, stands a plain tomb, built

of four upright granite slabs, forming a square in-

closure about three feet high, upon the top of which

rest two horizontal tablets of slate-stone bearing the

following inscriptions

:

IN

memory of

Mrs. Abigail Pkescott,

widow of the late

CoL. William Prescott,

who died

Oct. 19, A.D. 1821,

Xt. 89.

This stone is erected

in memory of

Col'. William Prescott,

of Pepperell^

who died on the 13*'' day

of October, Anno Domini 1795,

in the seventieth year

of his age.

Simple and unpretentious as it is, the Pepperell

farmer who commanded the yeomanry of Middlesex

at the battle of Bunker Hill needs no costlier or more

imposing mausoleum. His epitaph might well be.
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111 ailiiition to the soldiers that were in Col. Pres-

cott's regiment, the following Pepperell men served

in the Continental Army tbrdiHerent terms of service,

varying frwn three months to seven years ; Daniel

Hohart, killed at the battle of White I'laina in 1776 ;

James Lotke, Deuni.s Organ, Joseph Plummer, John

Whipple, Andrew Tufts, Kleazar Gilson, Nathaniel

Sartell, Isaac Williams, Noah Wright, Samuel Moody

Emerson, .Shubael (Sonant, Jonathan Harron, Ed-

mund Wright, Jacob Nutting, Jonathan Bancroft,

David Tarboll and Dudley B. Kemp.

On the muster-roll for Middlesex County, June,

1777, the following persons from Pepperell were re-

turned as enrolled in Col. Jackson's battalion, Capt.

Benj. Brown's company, viz.

:

Juniiw MoConnor, .)oiiiu Groeii, Ebenezer Sliattiick, Abraham Shat-

tuck, Daniel Sliattnck, nenjainiii (irtton, Sampaon Wuode, Wllliaui Scott,

Jobu Gititou, Ttioma^ Lawrence, William Lal^iii, John Sliattuck (^id),

L«muol Parker.

They served a campaign in Rhode Island.

The I'ollowing were out on the brigantine " Hague,"

under command of Commodore Manley :

Edmund Biood, John Hosley, Samuel Wright, Peter Stevens, John

Stevena, Joel Shattuck, Peter I*ower8, Luke Day, John Barnard, Oliver

Tarlwll, Joeepli Einorson, M. Lovejoy, Theodore Lovejoy, Joseph Love-

joy, Kichard Holden, Daniel Iloldon, Oliver Holden, Ezekiel Gowen,

David Pratt, David Lewis, David Shedd.
*

Few, if any, towns of its size furnished so many
men for tlie war aa Pepperell. It was one of the first

places in which a " liberty-pole was erected," and

there was not a single Tory within its limits. As we
have already seen, it was dangerous for one to at-

tempt even to pa.ss through it.

The patriotic and military spirit in the town did

not cense with the war. The names of Prescott

and Bunker Hill became synonyms of " liberty and

independence." The 17th of June was a " red-letter"

day, whose anniversary quite overshadowed that of the
" Fourth of July." The Revolutionary survivors, es-

pecially those that had been wounded at Bunker
Hill, were looked upon as " heroes in history," and
regarded with feelings akin to veneration. An active

interest in military matters was kept up, and the

title of " Captain " became an honor to be coveted.

A volunteer militia company was organised about

the year 1820 under the name of the " Prescott

Guards." From this company the following captains

were promoted to field officers in the " Old Sixth "

Regiment: Col. William Buttrick, Gen. Geo. Green,

Maj. Jos. G. Heald, Maj. Luther S. Bancroft, Col.

Samuel P. Shattuck, Maj. Geo. T. Bancroft, Col. Al-
den Lawrence, Maj. Edmund A. Parker and Col.

E. F. Jones.

On the 15th of April, 18(51, Col. Jones received the
following order :

Commonwealth of M.is8.iciiusetts, Adj. 0enee.\i,'3 Office,

" Boston, April 15, 1861.
" Coi. Jones, Sir :—I am directed by bis excellency, the Ckjmmander-

in-Chief, to order you to muster your regiment on Boston Common

forthMitli, in c-otnpliunte with a reiinisitiun niadu by the President uf

the United States. The troops are to go to Washington. By order of

his Excellency, the Conimander-iu-Chief.

'* Wm. Schoulf,r,

*' Adj. Qeneral."

Although the regiment was scattered over thirty

towns, yet in a few hours seven hundred men, twen-

ty-two of whom were from Pepperell, were present in

Boston ready for duty. After an exchange of their

old guns for new rifles, Governor Andrew presented

the regimental colors to Col. Jones with these words

:

"Soldiers, summoned suddenly with but a moment for preparation

we have done all that lay in the power of men to do—all that rested

in the power of your State Government to do—to prepare the citizen

soldiers of Massachusetts for this service. We shall follow you with

our benedictions, our benefactions and prayers. Those whom you

leave behind you we shall cherish in our heart of hearts. You
carry with you our utmost faith and confidence. We know that

you never will return until you can bring the assurances that the

utmost dut,v has been performed which brave and patriotic men can

accomplish. This Flag, sir, take and bear with you. It will be an em-

blem on which all eyes will rest, reminding you always of that which

you are bound to hold most dear."

In receiving the flag Colonel .Tones thus replied :

*' Vour Excellency baa given me this Flag, which is the emblem of all

that stands before you. It represents my whole command ; and so help

me God, I will never disgrace it."

The record of the "Old Sixth," its intrepid march
through Baltimore on the twice memorable 19th of

April, the great service it rendered the government

at a most critical period, have all become a thrilling

part of the history of the country.

Congress passed the following vote of thanks,

which was engrossed on parchment and sent to Col.

Jones :

" Thirty-seventh Congress of the United States, at the first session in

the House of Representatives, July 22, 1861. Uesolved, that the thanks

of this house are due, and are hereby tendered, to the Sixth Regiment

of the Massachusetts Volunteers for the alacrity with which they re-

sponded to the call of the President, and the patriotism and bravery

which they displayed on the 19th of April last, in lighting their way
through the city of Baltimore on their march to the defence of the

Federal Capital.

" Galusha A. Grow,
" Spealcer of the House of Repreaeutalives.

•• AUeal

:

" Em. Etheedioe, Clerk."

Pepperell furnished about one hundred and fifty

soldiers for the War of the Rebellion. The regiments

in which they enlisted were the Sixth, Thirteenth,

Fifteenth, Sixteenth, Twentieth, Twenty-sixth, Thir-

ty-second, Thirty-third, Thirth-sixth, Thirty-ninth,

Forty-fourth, Forty-seventh and Fifty-third Massa-

chusetts Infantry ; Sixth New Hampshire Infantry
;

Eighth New Hampshire Cavalry ; Second Ma.ssachu-

setts Cavalry ; First New Jersey Band ; Lowell

Brigade Band ; and the band of the Third Brigade,

Third Division, Twenty-fourth Army Corps.

The following soldiers lost their lives by reason ot

the war :

Marvin Adams died of chronic diarrhcea and fever at New Orleans,

July 9, 1863, aged forty-three.

Aaron Carter, killed in battle at Cedar Creek, Va., Oct. li), 1864, aged

forty-two.
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Thomas H. Builey died of measles at Harrison's Landing, Va. His

body was brought home and buried with appropriate services.

Corp. Cbaa. H. Balcom died of typhoid fever at Suffolk, Va., aged

twenty-one. His remains were also brought to Pepperell for inter-

ment.

Henry G. W. Clark died of wounds received on picket duty in front of

Petersburg, Va., July 7, 18G4, aged eighteen years.

Charles Durant died in Confederate hospital at Petersburg, Va., Feb.

15, 1864, aged thirty-seven. He was wounded at the second battle of

Hatcher's Bun and taken prisoner. Hie death was caused by hemor-

rhage resulting from amputation of the leg.

Henry \V. Durant died of disease contracted in the army, November 4,

1867.

James Fitzgerald died of disease contracted in the army, August 20,

1866, aged thirty seven years.

Maurice Flaherty died of disease contracted in the army June 18,

1867.

Lieut. Thoa. Hosley, killed in battle of Port Hudson, June 14, 1863,

aged twenty-four. He was distinguished for his activity and bravery.

His4jody, when found after the battle, was pierced with eleven buUet-

holes.

Cyrus H. Gray died of disease contracted in the army January 14,

1868, aged fifty.

Eben F. Lawrence died of wounds and diphtheria at Aquia Creek, Va.,

June 11, 1863, aged twenty years.

John F. Miller died of disease contracted in the army September 12,

1868, aged twenty-four years.

Ben,i. Augustus Williams was discharged from the service for disability

at New Orleans, November 2.:), 1862. He died on board the United States

ship " Fenton " when four days out on his homeward passage, and was

buried at sea. lie was thirty-seven years of age.

Robert F. Webb was born in Stroudwater, Gloucestershire County

England, but came to .\merica when a youth. He enlisted in the Sixth

Regiment, and, at the expiration of term of service, re-enlisted in the

Thirty-sixth Regiment; received a first sergeant's commission March

17, 1863, and joined Gen. Buruside's Ninth Corps. After the battles of

Fredericksburg and Peach Orchard, he was promoted to second lieuten-

ant. He was kilted in battle at Poplar Grove, near Petersburg, Va., Sep-

tember 3n, 1864, and was buried in the Ninth Corps Cemetery, in front

of Petersburg. An officer of bis regiment says of him : "Lieut. Webb
was a noble and brave ofiicer, and fought bravely to the last for his

adopted country."

Thomas A. Parker was born in Pepperell, Nov. 27, 1834. Soon after

becoming of age he went to Boston, and obtained the situation of gate-

keeper, South Boston House of Correction. By his fidelity and ability he

gained the confidence of the oHieers of the institution and waa repeated-

ly promoted until he became deputy warden. He enlisted in Company
H, Second Massachusetts Cavalry, June 14, 1864. On the 16th of July

following, at the battle of Rockville, Hanover County, Va., he, and two

hundred others, held the town over night against forty thousand Confed-

erate troops, but iu the morning they were obliged to surrender. He was

taken to Libby Prison, Richmond, Va., and from there was removed to

Danville, Va., where be died of starvation Dec. 10, 1864. After the

close of the war his remains were brought to his home in Pepperell

and buried with all the honors due to a brave soldier and noble mar-

tyr to the cause of freedom.

In 1849 there commenced a contest between the

town and certain members of the First Parish, which

continued several years, and caused a great deal of

local excitement. About the time of its incorpora-

tion the parish acquired possession of two acres of

land, one-half of which was appropriated for a bury-

ing-ground, and the other acre, upon which the

meeting-house was located, was used as a " common."

Upon the incorporation of a second parish in 1831,

the question arose regarding the legal ownership of

this common ; there appears to have been no dispute

about the burial-ground. The First Parish claimed to

be the rightful successors of all property that had been

appropriated to parish uses by the original parish

and town united. This claim the town were willing

to allow, but argued that the " common " had been

devoted to municipal purposes by the united corpora-

tion, and therefore had ceased to be the private prop-

erty of the parish, and had become vested in the

town.

The controversy, however, remained a merely verbal

one until 1849. In September of that year the First

Parish voted " that inhabitants and members of the

parish who may associate together for that purpose,

be authorized to build sheds on the common for their

use, and at their own expense ; such sheds to be located

and built under the superintendence and direction of

a committee chosen for that purpose."

Pursuant to this vote, a row of horse-sheds was
built, extending from the meeting-house easterly to

the spot now occupied by the receiving tomb, the back

of these sheds being only five and a half feet distant

from the burying-yard wall. As the ground slopes

considerably, the sheds were built upon two levels,

but even then the stone underpinning at the easterly

end of each level was several feet high. Along the

southerly wall of the burying-yard were four tombs,

the entrance to three of them being outside of the

wall, and within the common. After the erection of

the sheds, the only access to these tombs was through

one of the sheds, and a small door in the back part

thereof into the narrow space between the sheds and
wall. At the time of the laying of the foundation

the chairman of the selectmen and others, in behalf of

the tomb-owners, forbade the workmen to proceed

with the work, but to no eflect. At a town-meeting,

January 21, 1850, it was voted " that the selectmen

remove the horse-sheds at the expense of the town."

At a subsequent meeting, March 5th, voted "that

the selectmen notify the shed-owners to remove their

sheds forthwith, and if they did not, then the select-

men should see that the said sheds be removed within

a fortnight from this day peaceably." The owners

were notified accordingly, but did not move the

sheds. Before the expiration of the fortnight the

owner of one of the tombs had occasion to open it for

the burial of a member of the family, and, under

authority of the selectmen, took down and removed

the shed in front of that tomb, but the next day the

shed was rebuilt by the owner. A few days after-

wards the selectmen and the owners of the several

sheds, or their representatives, demolished the entire

row of sheds, and removed the lumber from the

grounds.

Thereupon the " hor.se-shed war " began in earnest.

Suits for trespass were immediately commenced
against the parties engaged in the tearing down,.of

the sheds ; which suits the town assumed and de-

fended. For about three years the great question in

town mutters was hnrse-sheds. Town-meetings, were re-

peatedly called for that only. The town oflBcers were

elected on that issue alone. Compared with that

question, all others were of minor importance and in-

terest.

At the June term, 1851, of the "Court of Common
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Pleas " of Middlesex County, a verdict was rendered

ill favor of the |iiaiiititrs, but the defendant appealed

to tlic .Siiprtme Judicial Court, where the verdict was

Met aside, and judgment rendered for the defend-

ants.

The opinion of the Court was that the town was

entitled to a right of convenient access to the burying-

yard, over the cimiinon, and therefore that there hud

been no trespass in the removal of any obstructions

thereto. This settled the case of trespass, but the

question of the legal ownership of the common was

not touched ; and it remains an unsettled question to

this day.

The Worcester and Nashua Railroad, which was

opened for travel in 1848, was located along the east-

ern bank of the NiUihua River, through (iroton. A
station for I'epperell was located opposite Uubbitasset

village. This was a nucleus toward which business

naturally gravitated, and around which a village grew

up, identitied in all its business and social relations

with I'epperell rather than with Groton. A new

bridge was built connecting the two villages, and re-

ducing the distance to Pepperell centre to almost one

mile, while Groton centre was nearly four miles away.

The inhabitants of the new village, therefore, very

reasonably asked to become an integral part of Pep-

perell. This request the town of Groton was willing

to grant, but, with a liberality whose disinterestedness

was somewhat questioned, insisted upon giving away
the whole northeastern end of her township. This

generous gift was finally accepted, and in 1857, by act

of the Legislature, a territory of about two square

miles area was annexed to Pepperell.

Politically Pepperell was always a stanch Demo-
cratic town until 1854, when it was captured by the

"Know-Nothing" faction. But the next year it

wheeled into line with the Republicans, and has ever

since carried a large majority for that party.

The population of Pepperell, according to the sev-

eral census returns have been as follows : 1790, 1132
;

1800, 1198: 1810, 1333; 1820, 1439; 1830, 1444;

1840,1571; 1850,1754; 1860,1895; 1870, 1842; 1880,

2347. At the State census of 1885 it was 2586, and at

the coming census the number will probably reach

3000.

The valuation of the town was, in 1850, $557,000

;

in 1860, $762,000; 1870, $1,102,605; 1880,11,309,000;

1889, $1,675,000.

Ci'KRKs OF Groton Wkst Parish and Pepperell.—Eleazer Gilsou,

from January, 1742-43, to March, 1743 ; Sanmel Wright, Jr., March,
1743, to 1752 : Jouiah Fisk, Jlarch, 1752, to 1753, and of the town until

17C8 ; also from 1770 to 1773 ; William Prescott, 1768-69, 1773 and 1788
;

Nehemiah llobart, 1774 to 1780, except 1777 ; William Green, 1777
;

Henry Woods, 1780 and 1790 ; Joseph Heald, 1781 to 1806, except 1788

and 179"
;
Nehemiali Jewett, Jr., 180G to 1816 ; Dr. John Walton, 1817-

24 ; Hon. Abel Jewett, 1824-23, 1832-33 ; William Buttrick, 1826-27
;

Hon. Jameo Lewis, 1828 to 1832 ; Samuel yarrar, 1831, 1849-52
;

Arnold Hutchinson, 1834-35, 1841-42; George W. Tarbell, 1836-41;
Samuel Tucker, 1843-44 ; John Loring, 1845 to 1849 ; Charles Crosby,

1862, and 1854-64; S. R. Herrick, 1853 ; Levi Wallace, 1804 ; D. W.
Jewett, 1865 to 1880 ; Dr. W. F. Heald, 1880 to 188C ;

1'. J. Kemp, 1886.

RtrEESENTAiiVEs TO THE GENERAL CouBT.—Captain Edmund Ban-

croft, 1776 ; Colonel Henry Woi>d». 1777 and 1780 ; Caplaiu John Nutting,

1781 ; Colonel William Prescott, 1782, '83, '86 and '86
; Joseph Heald,

17H7-1808, except I79S, 1796 and 1802; William Hutchinson, 1809 and

10; Nehemiah Jewett, Jr., 1811 (o 1819, except 1817 and '18; Hon.

Abel Jowelt, 1820, 1821, 1823 and 1831; Francis Blood, 1824 and '26;

Colonel William Huttrick, 1827, 1829, 1832 and 1834 ; Hon. James Lewis,

1827,1830 and 1832; Arnold Hutohlnsou, 1830, 1832, 1838,1839, 1841

and 1843 ; David Ulood, Jr., 1836 and '37
; Joseph G. Heald, 1836; John

P. Tarbell, 1839-11, 1843; Luther Lawrence, 1844, 1845 and 1860;

Charles Farrar, 1847; John D. Fiske, 1851 ; Thomaa J. Dow, 1851 and

'52
: Sumner Carter, 1855 ; Alfred L. Lawrence, 1856

; Charles Tarbell,

18,57; Rov. Charles Babbidge, 1839 ; Samuel P. Shattuck, 1861 ; Albert

Leighton, 1863 and 1871 ; Colonel K. F.Jones, 1865 ; Levi Wallace, 1868
;

A. J. Saunders, 1876; S. P. Lawrence, 1879 ; Charles H. Miller, 1882
;

Frank Leighton, 1886 ; John 0. Bennett, 1889.

Senators.—.\bel Jewett, 1826 to 1828 ; James Lewis, 1828 to 1830
;

John P. Tarbell, 1842 ; Asa F. Lawrence, 1841 to 1844 ; C. W. Bellows,

1848; A. Hutchin.son, 1860; Levi Wallace, 1872 and '73 ; A. J. Saun-

ders, 1877, '78.

Delhoates to the Provincial Conoh^ss.—Colonel William Prescott,

at Salem ; Captain Edmund Bancroft, at Cambridge and*VVatertown.

Delegate to the Convention to Form State Constitution.—Colonel

Henry Woods.

Delegate to thp Convention to Adopt the Federal Constitution.

—Daniel Fiak.

Delegates to Conventions to Amend State Constitution.—In 1821,

Dr. John Walton, Hon. Abe! Jewett ; in 1852, Luther Lawrence.

CHAPTER XXL

PEPPERELL—( Continued).

EDUCATIONAL.

In 1741 the town of Groton voted to have a school

kept a part of the time at Nissittisset. This was,

probably, the first school on the west side of the

river. In 1749 a petition from the inhabitants of the

West Parish, for the means of supporting a school,

was granted by the town of Groton on condition that

a school-room be provided by the parish without

expense to the town. This condition being fulfilled,

the town granted the sum of £13 6«. 8d. The school

appears to have been kept at the home of Jonas

Varnum. In 1753 the district voted to raise £7 10s.

for schooling, and that the school should be kept at

the nearest convenient place to the meeting-house
;

also that all who lived more than two miles distant

might draw their proportion of the money, and

appropriate the same for schooling as they might see

fit. In 1754 it was voted that the school should be

kept in three places, but this number was afterwards

reduced to two. We find the first mention of a

school-house, at the centre, in 1-76 1. It was situated

on the corner where the Town House now stands, but

was subsequently moved southward several rods, to

make room for the building of a store. Yet notwith-

standing the existence of this school-house, it was

voted, in 1770, to have the school successively in four

diflerent parts of the district, and in dwelling-houses.

The school-house is again mentioned in 1771, when a

vote was passed to have a grammar master. But the

school-house appears to have belonged to individuals,
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for in 1772 the district voted to purchase it for the sum

of £10 13«. 4rf., and also to build four more. About

this time the distrii't was divided into six " squadrons,"

as they were called, which were distinguished as

Middle, North, South, East, West and Southwest

:

and a committee of three persons in each " squadron "

was annually chosen, to see that the money that was

appropriated be properly expended. In 1809 the

name of squadron was changed to school district, and

these districts were designated by number. In 181!'

District No. 7 was formed from the easterly part ol

No. 1 ; and the following year, No. 8 was taken from

the westerly part of No. 6, and has always been

known as the " Pine Orchard School." In 1849, No.

9 was formed from parts of No. 3 and No. 5. The

territory east of the Nashua River, on its annexation

to the town in 1857, became District No. 10.

In 1868 the town voted to abolish the district sys

tem, since which time the term " district '' has lost

its municipal meaning, and the designation of the

several schools by number has gradually become

obsolete.

The old district system was somewhat peculiar and

anomalous. The district was a miniature republic,

occupying a certain accurately-defined territory. It

had its annual meetings duly called by legal war-

rant, at which meetings the necessary district officers

were chosen for the ensuing year, and the financial

business of the district transacted. Money could be

raised and appropriated for school purposes, and a

tax for tbe same levied upon the inhabitants ; and in

ail these matters every legal voter of the district was

entitled to a voice and a vote.

The district was obliged to provide, at its own ex-

pense, a school-house, and keep the same in repair

;

also the fuel and necessary incidentals for the school.

The money that was raised by the town and appro-

priated for school purposes was apportioned among

the several districts, but could be used only for the

payment of teachers ; and no teacher could draw from

the treasury any money in payment for his services,

without a certificate of competency from the Board of

School Committee. Without such certificate he even

had no right to enter the school-room to take charge

of the school. The executive officer of the district

was chosen annually, and was styled the " pruden-

tial coramitteemiin." It was his duty to take charge

of the school property, to supply the fuel and other

needs of the school, and to employ the teacher. But

here his accountability ceased. He hired the teacher

and set him to work, but had no authority over him
;

he couldn't discharge him even for gross misconduct.

To the School Committee, and to them alone, was the

teacher amenable. So long as he had their support,

he could, if he chose to be persistent, remain in

charge of his school in spite of the whole district;

but if they discharged him the united district could

no longer retain him, except at their own expense.

This divided responsibility resulted occasionally in

a serious " unpleasantness " between the district and

the School Committee, in case of an unsuccessful

teacher. The prudential committeeman would be

ready to absolve himself from blame with the plea

that the School Committee had "approbated" the

teacher and taken the respon.^ibility upon themselves;

while the committee would, with fair show of reason,

argue that they did not hire the teacher, but simply

examined him, as presented to them ; and that the

examination had been satisfactory.

But the system was, undoubtedly, well adapted to

the condition and needs of the community at that

time. Every individual had an active participation

in the affairs of his district, and felt a live interest in

the welfare of his school. There was a laudable, al-

though rather clannish, ambition to have "our"

school the best in town, and this feeling excited and

maintained in the school an emulation that other-

wise would have been difficult of attainment.

The school-houses ofthat period were also peculiar.

They were nearly all built after the .same conventional

pattern. A low, quadrangular structure of wood, or

of brick, twenty-five to thirty feet square, with a door,

often a porch, at one end, and a chimney at the other.

In the interior, along the centre, was a level space

some six feet in width, called " the floor," from each

side of which a floor inclined gradually upwards to

the side of the building. Upon this slope were built

the heavy plank benches and desks, rising one above

the other like the seats in an amphitheatre. The
teacher's desk was usually either by the door or by the

fire-place ; but in some houses the entrance, the fire-

place and the desk were all at the sameend,andinsuch

case the opposite end was built up and filled with

benches similar to the sides. In some school-houses

the benches extended the whole length of the build-

ing; in others they were divided by aisles into two or

more sections. The seats were narrow, and at such

height as to render it impossible for the younger occu-

pants to rest their feet upon the floor. With a hundred

boys and girls crowded into such a room,—all fresh

from the out-door life and freedom of the farm,—bois-

terous, and sometimes inclined to malicious mischief,

the management of the school was no sinecure. The
first question in regard to the teacher was, " Can he

keep order?" His literary qualifications need not be

of a high order. If he was a tolerably good reader

and speller, had " ciphered " through Adams' Old

Arithmetic, could set a fair round-hand copy, and had

a general knowledge of grammar and geography, he

was judged competent to " teach." But unless he could

also be " master " of his school, his occupation was

soon gone. The branches of study taught were con-

fined to the " three R's," with perhaps a class or two

in grammar or geography. The text-books commonly
used were " Adams' Arithmetic," "Scott's Lessons"

and " Pierpont's American First Class Book," " Web-
ster's Spelling Book," and a compilation of Scripture

stories and extracts called " Beauties of the Bible,"
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Murray's Grammar and Jlorse'e or Olney's Geography

were optional stuilifs. There were no ornamental

branches. The young niun of sixteen to twenty years

of age, who had the ailvantage of only two or three

months' schooling during the year, could not afford to

waste any of his time in fancy studies. To him,

whatever education he was enabled to obtain " meant

business."

The money annually raised for the support of

schools was sufficient to maintain them only five or

six montlis. This time was divided into two terms :

one of three months in summer, and one of three

mouths, more or less, according to funds, in winter.

The summer school was invariably taught by a

"[School Ma'am," and the winter schools, usually, by

a " master." The pay of the lornuT, exclusive of

board, varied from two to thiee dollars per week,' and

that of the latter, from twenty to thirty dollars per

month ; and these wages were considered so liberal

as to cause the supply of teachers to equal and often

exceed the demand. The prudential committeeman

wa.s reiiuired to " engage" the teacher ; and as nepo-

tism in this matter was not regarded dishonorable, he

often improved his opportunity to favor some relative

or friend. Tradition says that at a certain annual

district meeting, during the balloting for committee-

man, a neighbor contrived to get a position directly

behind the candidate, and before the announcement

of the result of the ballot had been fairly concluded,

leaned forward, and made application for his daugh-

ter to teach the school ; and, moreover, verified the

old adage respecting the " early bird."

When, on account of the appropriations being un-

usually small, or the wages of the teacher for some

reason uncommonly high, the term of school was likely

to be abridged, it would often be extended several

weeks by voluntary contributions from the district.

Sometimes a more economical arrangement could be

made for the teacher to "board round," whereby the

contribution was paid in board as an equivalent for

cash ; and the te.acher, moving around, from week to

week, among the principal householders of the district,

was enabled to add a chapter to his experiences in the

" spice of life," and also receive the benefit of a free

course of practice in peripatetics.

Such were the common schools of three-score and

ten years ago. But rude and imperfect as they may
now appear to have been, they fulfilled a noble mis-

sion in their day and generation. To them are we
indebted for our grand system of free public educa-

tion. They were the seminaries in which were fos-

tered those germs of character that in these develop-

ments have made the name of New England a syn-

onym for mental activity, enterprise and independ-

ence throughout the world.

In 1831 the school-house at the centre having be-

come dilapidated, and its location being desired for

other purposes, a brick building was erected east of

the meeting-house. It was divided into two apart-

ments, one being used for a primary school during

the winter, and the other for the scholars of larger

growth. This first attempt toward graded schools

continued four years and was then abandoned f s im-

practicable. At that time the summer school was for

the younger children exclusively. When the lad

had attained the age of a dozen years he was consid-

ered old enough to stay at home and help on the

farm. Henceforth he must make the most of the

winter school, which was kept for the benefit of the

older scholars. Under such an arrangement, with

different teachers, and an interchange of scholars

twice a year, and with no sequence, except that of

time, from one term to the next, a proper grading of

the scliools could hardly have been expected. The

building was subsequently remodeled into one

room, and continued to be used for a school-house

until 1877, when it was converted into an engine-

house, and as such has been occupied by Company
No. 1. In 1849 the Babbita.sset District abandoned

their old house on the corner of Main and River

Streets and built a new one some thirty rods nearer

their village. It was built in modern style and fur-

nished with " Boston desks." For many years it was

the pride of the district, and the model school-house

of the town. It was destroyed by fire in the early

part of 1881 ; and the same year the present house

was erected upon the site. Incited by the good exam-

ple of No. 7, the other districts gradually fell into the

line of progress, and the old school- houses one by one

were remodeled and refurnished, until the last in-

clined floor had been reduced to a level, and the last

ponderous bench become a mere relic of the past.

In September, 1833, Mr. Erasmus D. Eldridge, a

graduate of Amherst College, who had previously

taught in Pembroke, N. H., opened a private school

for the fall in the school-house at the Centre. The

decided success of this school stimulated an interest

in education already awakened in the community,

and the desire for a school of higher grade than the

common district school, and was the cause of imme-

diate active efforts. Early in February, 1834, the fol-

lowing agreement and subscription paper combined

was circulated among the prominent citizens of the

town :

" Pepperell, January 27, 1834.

"We, the Siibscribere, believing that the interests of sound learning

and true religion would be promoted by an Academy established in this

town, agree and engage to pay the sums annexed to our respective

names, to purchase an eligible site, and to erect thereon a building suit-

able for the purposes of such an institution, the following conditions

being understood, viz.

:

" I. The funds thus subscribed shall be placed in the hands of a Treas-

urer chosen by the Subscribers, to be faithfully applied, under their di-

rection, to the object for which they were subscribed.

'* II. This subscription shall be taken up in shares of twenty. five dol-

lars each, and each share shall entitle a subscriber to a vote in the dis.

posal of the property.

" III. When completed the building shall be under the contiol of the

subscribers till such time as they may see fit to appoint a Board of Trus-

tees aud procure for them from the Legislature of the Commonwealth

an act of incorporation.

"1\'. No subscriber shall dispose of his shares without having first
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migDation of Mr. PilUbury and his prudent with-

drawal IVoiu the scene of excitement.

The succeed! MS term the school was taujifht by

Charles Cummings, of Mollis, N. H. During the

winter following, for the first time in its history, the

academy building was unoccupied.

The ue.\t March, 1843, Rev. .Moses P. Case became

principal of the school, and remained in charge until

.May, 1.S44, when he left to take charge of an educa-

tional ius'itulion in Freehold, N. J. But failing to

realize his expectations in that place, he returned to

Pepperell iu March, 184.'), and again took charge of

the academy until November, 1847. He then left, to

become principal of the Putnam Free School, in

Newburyport. He was afterwards principal of the

.Salem High School, and alsoof the Lynn High School.

}Ie remained at the latter but a short time, being

obliged to give up teaching on account of pulmonary

disease. He again returned to Pepperell, where he

spent the remainder of his days. He died November

IS, 18-">;i, at the age of forty-five. As a Christian gen-

tleman, and one of the foremost educators of his day,

he Wits universally esteemed.

During the "interregnum" between the two ad-

ministrations of Mr. Case the school was under the

care of Mr. J. E. B. Jewett. The teachers that suc-

ceeded were as follows: J. Stone, till May, 1849;

F.verett Boynton, till 18.50; Rev. Z. M. Smith, till

November, 18.51 ; L. P. Blood, from April, 18.52, to

November, 1853 ; Charles S. Farrar, during the fall

term of 1854.

In 1841 an act to incorporate the Pepperell Acad-

emy was passed by the Legislature as follows:

" Commonwealth of Maasacbiiswtts. In the year one thousand eight

huDdreil and forty-one. .\n act to incorporate the Pepperell Academy.
" Be it enacted by the Senate and House of Bepresentativesin General

Court assembled, and by the authority of the same as follows : Sect. 1.

David Blood, Sr., Seth Nason and Nathan Shipley, their associates and

successors, are liereby made a Corporation by the name of the Pepperell

Academy, to be established in Pep[)erpll, in the County of Middlesex,

with all the power and privileges, anil subject to all the duties, restric-

tions and liabilities set forth in the Forty-fourth chapter of the Revised

Statutes.

"Sec/. 2. The said incorporation may hold real estate to the value of

five thousand dollars, and personal estate to the value of fifteen thous-

and dollars, to be devoted exclusively to purposes of education."

The three corporators here named were subscribers

and proprietors under the original agreement and

deed, but who their " associates " were does not ap-

pear. The proprietors held a meeting August 2,

1841, and chose a board of fifteen trustees, " to man-

age the concerns of the Academy in future," reference

being made in the records to Article 3d, of the

original agreement. Of these fifteen trustees, only

five were original subscribers ; and a majority of them
were not citizens of Peppereii and were elected, ap-

parently honorary, rather than executive members.
No conveyance of the real estate, either by deed of

vote of the original association, was ever made to the

corporation or the board of fifteen trustees, and no
legal connection can be traced between the two

organizations. Nevertheless the said board of trustees

organized August 11, 1841, adopted a constitution and

thereafter claimed the control of the affairs of the

-Vcadcmy. But as there never was a dollar of funds

in the treasury, their trust must have been in one sense

at least, a " dry " one. They drew up a comprehensive

code of laws and regulations for the control of the

school, and then virtually buried it among the records.

They were expected to be present and preside at the

annual examination of the school at the close of the

fall term, and to hold their annual meeting at that

time ; and for several years these expectations were

partially realized. But their interest in the school

gradually declined. There is no record of any meet-

ing after March, 1855. The board of fifteen had

practically become extinct. One-half of the signers

of the original agreement were dead, and a majority

of the remainder had outlived their interest in the

institution. The last clause of the original compact

had been totally disregarded, and doubts began to

arise as to the legal title to the property. No one

seemed to have any authorized control of the property,

and the building stood ready for the occupancy of

any respectable person who might choose to risk his

chance of a school. It was thus successively occupied

for a longer or shorter time by H. T. Wheeler, S. C.

Cotton, D. W. Richardson, Miss Caroline A. Shat-

tuck and A. J. Huntoon. The building was kept in

repair by funds raised by tea-partie.», fairs and similar

spasmodic eflbrts at sundry times. Occasionally the

teachers paid for actual necessary repairs, rather than

attempt to collect from the public.

In 1860, an interest in the school having been re-

vived through the efforts of Rev. E. P. Smith, Mr.

A. J. Saunders, a graduate of Brown University, who
had been teaching with marked success in Groveland,

was induced to take charge of the Academy. Under
his management the school seemed to recover new
life, and for several years was prosperous. In 1864,

the town having voted for a school of higher grade,

and appropriated .$700 for that purpose, also appro-

priated the academy building, and dispossessed Mr.

Saunders by appointing him principal of the school.

The school was maintained four years, and then sus-

pended till 1873, when it was re-established, con-

tinued six years and again discontinued. Meanwhile

about $800 had been raised by subscription for ad-

ditional stock in the academy, and aconveyance of the

property made to the new shareholders by the surviv-

ing member of the trustees mentioned in the first

deed. The building, having been remodeled and
thoroughly repaired, was then rented to the town for

school purposes.

By the census of 1880 it appeared that Pepperell

contained over five hundred families, and conse-

quently was obliged to maintain a High School ac-

cording to law. The following year, therefore, the

town made due appropriations for such school, and
established it in the Academy building under the
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charge of Harold C. Child, iu September of that

year. Mr. Child has been succeeded by A. F.

Amidon, 1885 ; Edwin H. Webster, 1886 ; and George

VV. Ransom, September, 1888.

In 1888 a new school-house was erected at " Chase

Hill." It is built in modern style with latest im-

provements, aud will accommodate four schools.

Upon its completion, early in 1889, the High School

and Grammar School were removed from the old

Academy building, which was then sold by the pro-

prietors, but still stands unoccupied, patiently await-

ing the " law's delay," for a decision in regard to the

validity of the title and conveyance.

In 1860 a boys' boarding-school was opened by

Rev. David Perry in the house that stood upon the

site now owned by Rev. J. E. B. Jewett. This school

was quite successful. J5ut in May, 1853, the whole

establishment was destroyed by tire, together with

the boarding-house and Insane Retreat of Drs. N.

Cutter aud J. S. N. Howe. Mr. Perry removed his

school to Brookfield, Mass., but returned with it to

Pepperell in 1857, and established it on the farm now
occupied by Col. S. P. Shaltuck. Upon the decease

of his wife, some three years after, he discontinued

the school and left town.

A female boarding-school was commenced in 1852,

in the house now owned by Charles D. Hutchinson,

and for several years was well sustained by Mrs. A.

E. Conant and her two daughters.

In January, 1827, the young men of Pepperell

formed a literary as.sociation under the name of the

" Washington Fraternity." None but members were

allowed to participate in the exercises of their regular

weekly meetings, but every year one or more public

" exhibitions " were given, at which the members dis-

played their rhetorical and historic abilities to the

mutual admiration of themselves and their audience.

By subscriptions and donations from honorary mem-
bers, a library was gathered of about four hundred

choice books and standard works, which, upon the

payment of a small fee, was open to "all persons of

good character in town." The society flourished for

several years and attained to a membership of over

fifty. The interest in the " Fraternity," however,

gradually declined. Several of its prominent mem-
bers, had left town, and after 1833 the meetings of

the society ceased entirely. The library was neglected

and many of the books were taken away and not re-

turned.

Upon the establishment of the academy, about this

time, a "Lyceum" was formed for the benefit, not

only of the school, but of the public generally, which

afforded ample opportunity to all aspirants for elocu-

tionary honors to distinguish themselves.

In 1838 a few of the old members of the Washing-

ton Fraternity " called a meeting to reorganize the

library.'' Luther S. Bancroft, Charles Stevens and A.

Emerson were chosen a committee to " collect what

books are to be found and put them in order." It

16-iii

was also voted " that the library be kept at the acad-

emy," and that "the above committee appoint a

librarian to take charge of the books, and adopt such

rules and regulations as they may think proper."

This committee attended to the matter very promptly

and efficiently. Many of the missing books were

recovered. About three hundred volumes were

gathered up and placed in the academy building.

Henry F. Spaulding, a student, was appointed libra-

rian. The library was much used by the scholars,

and for a time was appreciated ; but after one year

Mr. Spaulding left town, and, no successor being ap-

pointed, the books again became scattered. They
were again collected by L. S. Bancroft, and for two

years were kept in good order in the tailor-shop of T.

W. Atherton, iu the store building situated where

the Town House now stands. In 1842 Mr. Atherton

gave up the care of the books, and Mr. Bancroft re-

moved them to his residence, where they remained

until his death, when they were delivered over to

Col. S. P. Shatluck, one of the few surviving members
of the old " Washington Fraternity." They wore

kept by him until 1877. A public Jibrary having

been established by the town that year, this old i-ir-

eulating library, together v.-itb another library of sev-

eral years' standing, owned by a private association,

and comprising about five hundred volumes, was

donated to the town as a nucleus for the public

library.

This library has received annually from the town

an appropriation of the proceeds of the " dog tax,'>

averaging about $300. It now numbers over six

thousand volumes, and is very generously patronized

by the public.

CHAPTER XXIL

PEPPERELL— { Continued)

.

INDUSTRIAL PURSUITS.

In the petition of the settlers of West Grotou to be

set off as a parish, the territory was, not inaptly, de-

scribed as "good land, well situated." The surface

corresponds well with that of the State ; the eastern

part being level and rather sandy, the central undu-

lating and fertile, and the western decidedly hilly and

rocky. The soil is generally good and well adapted

to fruit culture, to which considerable attention has

been paid. Along the Nashua River are several fine

intervales of productive land of easy tillage.

The town is noted for its beautiful scenery and fine

drives, and is more and more resorted to by the in-

habitants of the cities as a residence during the sum-

mer season. The principal industry in the earlier

history of the place was farming. The prevailing

style of architecture was a square, two-storied house,
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with a large chimney in the centre, around which

were' clustered four or live rooms on each floor.

SonieliniC!*, however, the house was two stories in

front and one in the rear, the roof descending steeply

to within fi>,'ht or ten feet of the ground. If painted,

the color wa.s either red or yellow with white trini-

uiiugs. The barn usually stood at some distance from

the house, often on the opposite side of the road. It

was set on the ground without any cellar or scarcely

an underpinning, and wa.s furnished with but few im-

plements of husbandry, and those of primitive and

ponderou.s make. Many of the farm-houses were

supplemented by a cooper-shop, wherein the enforced

leisure of winter months and stormy days was utilized

by the making of barrels. The delivery of these bar-

rels at Boston necessitated a journey of two or three

days and nights with an ox-team. The merchandise

was loaded upon the "barrel-rigging," a wagon pecu-

liar to those times, and the driver, well supplied with

provisions for himself and provender for his cattle,

took an early start, often several hours before sunrise.

His route was over the old stage road from Boston to

Kecne, N. H. This "great road," which passes

through the southerly part of Pepperell, was then the

principal thoroughfare for travel and transportation,

and was " fortified " by a tavern about every two miles

throughout its entire length. The teamster, there-

fore, had ample opportunities to vary the monotony

of his slow journey by an occasional halt at one of

these "wayside inns," where, while warming up his

outer as well as inner man, he could also refresh him-

self with the latest batch of news from the loquacious

and cosmopolitan landlord. Having disposed of his

merchandise in Boston, the farmer could easily secure

a return load of goods for the home market] and sun-

dry commissions from neighbors, thus making his

homeward trip a profitable one.

Till within half a century the transportation of

produce and merchandise between Pepperell and "the

city" was almost wholly carried on by these farmer

teamsters.

The farmer of these days was dependent mainly

npon his own resources. His table was supplied from

the products of the farm. He raised his own flax

and wool, which was made into clothing by the female

members of the household. The hum of the spin-

ning-wheel was heard in almost every house, "filling

its chambers with music," as in the days of John
Alden and Priscilla; and no maiden considered her-

self as ready to be married until she had with her own
hands spun and wove linen and woolen fabrics suffi-

cient to furnish the chambers and table of her new
home.

For many years the Centre with its meeting-house

was the principal village of the town. The five roads

that centred here were all laid out " to the meeting-

house," which was the ecclesiastical and secular Capi-

tolium of the municipality, while the Common was
its Campus Martius.

A tavern was soon built where the Second Parish

Church now stands. It was kept by John Mosher as

early as 1769, and afterwards by Solomon Rodgers.

Not long after the exploit of the women at Jewett's

Bridge in 1775, an article was inserted in the warrant

for a town-meeting :
" To see what the tow n will vote

or order to be paid to Mr. Solomon Kodgers for enter-

taining Leonard Whiting and his guard.'' Mrs.

Tileston's house was then a store, where was kept

the post-oflice, with its weekly mail brought up from

Groton. The hill on which it stood has since been

cut down in front to the level of the street. Both

the tavern and store projjerty passed successively into

the possession of William Eraser, Esq., Samuel Chase,

Lemuel Parker, Esq., and Captain Lemuel Parker.

The latter converted the store building into a dwell-

ing-house, and removed the business into the build-

ing on the town-house corner, which had previously

been occupied as a store by Captain Nathan Shipley,

and afterwards by Luther Tarbell.

Rev. John Ballard's house was situated on Heald
Street, just opposite the tavern, and feeing the Com-
mon. After Mr. Bullard's death, in 1821, Mr. Tar-

bell purchased the house for a new tavern. He after-

wards built an addition to the southerly end, and
opened a store therein. This tavern and store was

kept up till 1859, when it was totally destroyed by
fire.

Captain Parker associated with himself in the

mercantile business And Emerson, a grandson of

Rev. Joseph Emerson. Mr. Emerson's father was an

eccentric man, and named his first three children

Mary, And, Another. The last-named afterwards

chose for himself another name, which was not

Another; but "And" always retained his conjunctive

prenomen, which, however, was often mistaken by

strangers for the abbreviation of Andrew. The sign

on the store building was "Paeker and Emerson."
Mr. Emerson, having bought out his partner, simply

painted out Mr. Parker's name and left his own name
in full remaining.

The " Evangelical Congregational Society " upon
its organization, in 1832, bought the old tavern lot,

and the building was removed to give place to the

new meeting-house. The old parsonage had been

converted into the new tavern, and now, by the ad-

justments of time, the old tavern was supplanted by

the new church.

Captain Lemuel Parker had already built an ex-

tensive addition to the Shipley store building, and
upon the disappearance of the old tavern he opened

a " Temperance House "—somewhat of a novelty then

—on the corner ; the store and post-oflice occupying

a part of the new addition. A .stage route had just

been opened from Lowell to Springfield, and Pepper-

ell was the first stopping-place for a relay of horses

and breakfast. The stage left Lowell at five o'clock

A.M. and went through to Springfield, a distance of

ninety miles, in one day, which was at that time cou-
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sidered " rapid transit." " Capt. Parker's " was se-

lected as tiie stage tavern, and was extensively known

as a first-class hostelry. The " tavern " in those days

was an institution. There were no less than five in

the little town of Pepperell, and all were well patron-

ized.

The stage-route, after a few years, was rendered

unprofitable by the construction of railroads, and was

discontinued. Captain Parker sold his whole hotel

property to the firm of Cutter, Ames & Swasey, who
also bought the store. They, however, continued in

the business but a short time, and it passed into other

hands. William S. Crosby, Esq., was the last propri-

etor of the tavern and store combined. On his retire-

ment, in 1838, the tavern business was abandoned,

and the house thereafter was rented for a dwelling.

The store was then occupied by Mr. John Loring,

who, with his son, carried on an extensive and lucra-

tive business for many years. Mr. Loring afterwards

removed to the store now occupied by Mr. C. D.

Hutchinson, where he remained until his death, in

1878. The old tavern-house was occupied by various

parties for sundry purposes until 1873, when it was

purchased by the town for a site whereon to build the

town-house.

Dr. Nehemiah Cutter, a native of Jaffrey, N. H., a

graduate of Middlebury, and afterwards from the

Yale Medical School, commenced his practice in Pep-

perell about the year 1818. He became a distin-

guished physician and founded a private asylum for the

insane—probably the first one of the kind in the coun-

try. In 1848 he became associated in the management

of the asylum with Dr. James S. N. Howe, the oldest

son of Rev. James Howe. In May, 1853, the whole es-

tablishment was burned to the ground, some of the in-

mates barely escaping with their lives. Dr. Howe
gathered his " family " together at his old homestead

(now Colonel S. P. Shattuck's) and immediately com-

menced the erection of a large building there, suita-

ble for the accommodation of his patients. In a few

years, his health failing, he relinquished the business,

and Dr. Cutter resumed it at his residence, now Mrs.

Jonas Fitch's. But a life of unusual care and vicis-

situde had made him prematurely old. He had lost

the vigor of his earlier days, and was soon obliged to

retire from active life. As a man he was kind-

hearted and courteous ; as a citizen he was remarka-

bly public-spirited and liberal, generally foremost in

the advancement of all measures for the improvement

and general welfare of the town. In his profession

he was widely known and highly esteemed. He died

March 15, 1859, aged seveuty-two years.

Dr. James M. Stickney had charge of the asylum

for two years, and then returned to the practice of his

profession, in which he continued until his death, in

1889. Meanwhile the building that Dr. Howe had

erected had been removed to the original site, on

Main Street, and here, in 1865, Dr. Howe, having re-

gained his health, re-established the asylum. Dr.

William F. Heald became the owner of the property

in 1882, and, having greatly improved it, gave the in-

stitution the name of the '' Cutter Retreat for Nervous
Invalids." It is at present under the management
of Joseph B. Heald, M.D.
About the year 1817, Mr. Joseph Breck, a son-in-

law of Rev. John BuUard, commenced the manufac-

ture of carriages in Pepperell. He built the house

now owned by Mr. C. D. Hutchinson, and also a shop
just north of the house. His work was confined prin-

cipally to the making of chaises, a two-wheeled vehi-

cle then much in vogue. But he had a natural love

for horticulture, and in 1832 he gave up his trade and
removed to Lancaster, where he commenced the bus-

iness that was more congenial to his taste, and which
has since made his name a household word to every

farmer and gardener. At this time and subsequently

for several years Mr. John Duraut did a large busi-

ness in the manufacture of light wagons. His shops

were situated on Townsend Street west of Colonel Al-

den Lawrence's stables.

About three-quarters of a mile beyond the centre of

the town to the westward is a small water-power on
what is known as Sucker Brook. An unsuccessful

attempt to start a button factory was made here early

in the fifties. A few years later Aaron Burkinshaw,

an enterprising Englishman, who had served his seven

years' apprenticeship in Sheffield, bought the property

and utilized the power for a cutlery factory wliich he

established. He was a painstaking and industrious

workman and a shrewd buyer and seller. He trained

his own apprentices and employed only English

workmen, who, locating here, soon formed an English

hamlet in the vicinity of the mill, on the street named,

by Mr. Burkinshaw, Sheflield Street. Finding that

there was a demand for a fine grade of pocket-knives,

Mr. Burkinshaw made that branch of the trade a

specialty, and built up a good business, which since

his death has been carried on by his sons under the

name of Aaron Burkinshaw's Sons.

Some quarter of a mile below Burkinshaw's the

stream affords another water-power, which, a century

ago, was employed by Captain Nathaniel Sartell for

a grist-mill, and also for a shop wherein were manu-
factured wooden ploughs, the only kind then known.
The captain was succeeded by his son Deacon Na-
thaniel, who changed the grist-mill into a lumber-mill.

The deacon's youngest son, Levi Sartell, now owns the

property, and has built a new mill, into which he has

introduced additional power by steam.

About two miles north of the centre, at a small

"privilege" on Nissittisset River, a settlement was
early commenced. A grist and saw-mill was erected,

a store and tavern followed, and the little village was
for a time quite a centre of business for the vicinity.

In course of time a carding and clothier's mill was
established by Mr. Farewell Farrar, who carried on a
prosperous business for many years. But by the dis-

continuance of wool-growing, the local supply and de-
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mand ceased, and the larger manufactories absorbed

the general trade. The mill was alterwarda bought

by Samuel S. Davi.s and used tor the maiiuliicture of

cotton batting, and later of shoddy wliile that article

was in demand but its usefulness in this direction

was suddenly terminated by an untimely tire; and a

second mill devoted to the same purjioses shared the

fate of its predecessor.

In 18t;t> Mr. Davis built a paper-mill on the site of

the old mills. This was Imrned in ISTL', aiul was im-

mediately rebuilt; l.ut.after having proved an unprof-

itable investment to several owners, was also destroyed

by fire in 1884, and the business was then abandoned.

The place now reminds one of " the deserted vil-

lage." The mills have never been rebuilt, the dam

has broken through and been carried away, and most

of the hou.ses are tenanlless. lis remoteness from the

railroad is a serious disadvantage to the improvement

of the " i)rivilege."

Upon an eminence, near by, commanding an exten-

sive and beautiful prosjiect, stands the old mansion

built by Colonel William i'rescott, and which still re-

mains in possession of the family, having descended

to the son. Judge William rrescott, to the grandson,

William H. I'rescott, the historian, and to William

G. Prescott, Esq., the great-grandson, who is the pres-

ent owner and occupant. It was built in the conven-

tional style of the old New England farm-houses.

Here was born the son, who afterwards became an

eminent jurist, and who invariably spent the summer

months of each year at the old homestead. An addi-

tion to the west end of the house was made by him

for the purposes of a study and library, in which it is

said the grandson, during his annual sojourns in Pep-

perell, wrote considerable portions of those histories

which have immortalized his name. The building is

a plain, unpretending structure, with no especial

claims for notice, except the many interesting associa-

tions with which it is connected.

Not long after the settlement of the parish, a grist-

mill w:is erected on the Nissittisset, at the East Vil-

lage. A store was afterwards built, and then a tavern
;

and the village was generally known as " the Lower

Store.". A I, one time considerable business was done

there in the manufacture of tinware by Colonel Wil-

liam Buttrick. }n 1832 Captain Fred. F. Parker,

who then owned the store, built the large building

still standing on Nissittisset Square, and opened

therein a tavern, which he named " The Nissittisset

House." A part of the building was occupied for a

store. The old store, that had stood nearly in the

middle of the square, was removed. After the death

of Captain Parker, in 1841, the tavern was discontin-

ued. The property was sold and fi portion of the

building, enough to make two dwelling-houses, was
moved to the opposite side of HoUis Street. The
store, however, was kept up by various owners, until

within a few years. The East Pepperell Post-Office

was established here in 1847, J. A. Tucker, Esq.,

who then owned the store, being the first postmaster
;

but in 1S.")8 the office was removed to the Depot Vil-

lage, and has now become an office of the third class.

The mill privilege was for many years owned by

Dr. Ebenczer Ijawrence, and the business was con-

ducted by two of his sons, Joseph and E. Appleton

Lawrence, in 1835 it wius bought by Deacon L. W.
Blake, who, in company with Mr. Luther Ballard, es-

tablished a machine-shop. Mr. Ballard, in 1840,

relinquished his interest in the business to his part-

ner, and went West. Deacon Blake's large family all

had a remarkable aptitude for mechanics. The oldest

son, Deacon Oilnian Blake, took charge of the saw

and grist-mills, while the five remaining sons, as they

successively grew up, were associated with their father

in the machine business. The two daughters, even,

became the wives of prominent machinists. After the

death of the father in 1864, the firm was changed to

" Blake Brothers," and in 1884 again changed to

' Henry Blake & Son." In addition to the ordinary

work of a machine-shop, they manufacture a " belt-

fastener," and " Blake's Turbine Water-wheel," both

patented inventions of members of the family.

The first paper-mill in Pepperell was built at the

lower privilege on the Nissittisset, in the year 1818,

by Mr. Ben. Lawrence. Paper at that time was manu-

factured principally by hand labor, requiring some

three weeks', time between the " beater "' and the

finishing-room. This mill was operated by several

paper-makers, prominent among whom were Ed-

ward Curtis, Col. Buttrick, And Emerson and J. A.

Wilder. While owned by the latter, in 1H41, it was

burnt down, but soon after rebuilt. About 1864 it

was bought by Henry A. Parker, again burnt and

again rebuilt ; it is now used for the manufacture of

sheeting paper and leather board ; and, together with

a lumber-mill and a grain-mill, is known as "The
Nissittisset Mills," the business being conducted

under the firm name of H. A. Parker & Co.

About the year 1834 And. Emerson built a paper-

mill at Babbitasset Falls on the Nashua. The privilege

is one of the best on the river, and had been early

utilized. It appears by the records of the town of

Groton, that ata town-meeting held October 24, 1726,

it was voted " to give liberty to any per.son or persons

that should appear to do the same, to build a mill on

L.incaster River at a place called Babbitasset Falls.

Provided the person or persons be ol)liged to build and

constantly keep in good repair a good and sufficient

corn-mill for said town's use . . . and to do the same

within the space of two years after the date hereof, the

person] or persons to have the liberty of said stream

so long as he or they keep said mill in good repair

and no longer." There is also a record of the laying

out of a road in 1730 past Gil.son's grist-mill at Babitas-

set Falls.

In course of time a forge and small foundry was set

up, and the place thereafter went by the name of
" The Forge." About the same time Dr. Ephraim
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Lawrence commenced the manufacture of powder,

concerning whose quality some amusing though

rather disparaging traditions are still extant. After-

wards afulling and a carding-mill were builtand occu-

pied, the former by Samuel Tenney, the latter by

Isaac Bennett. Mr. Tenuey died in 1825 and was

succeeded in the business by Joseph Tucker, and not

long afterwards Mr. Bennett relinquished his business

to Earl Tenney, son of Samuel. Both the mills gave

place to the new paper-mill. At this time there were

but five dwelling-houses in the village, three of which

were cottages. One of these is the cottage on Mill

Street now owned by Mrs. Harper. Three still stand

at the juncture of Main Street with Mill and Canal.

The Adam Ames house, which occupied the present

site of A. J. Saunders' store, was removed and is the

dwelling of Mrs. Gleason on Canal Street.

With the establishment of this paper-mill, a new

era in the industrial history of the village began.

Mr. Emerson introduced the Fourdrinier machinery,

and commenced making paper with a rapidity that

fairly astonished the old paper-makers. The business

prospered for a time. After a few years, however,

the mill was destroyed by fire. A new building was

erected, but when this was also burned, Mr. Emer-

son's financial embarrassments were such that he was

forced to abandon the business. The property passed

into other hands. New mills were built, which dur-

ing the next twenty years were occupied successively

by diffejent firms with varied success, or want of it.

At one time there were three separate mills, with as

many owners, each competing with the others, and

all dependent upon the same water supply. At length,

in 186"2, H. M. Clark, who was connected with the firm

of S. D. Warren & Co., obtained possession of the en-

tire property and immediately began to develop its

capacities. For the past ten years the business has

been under the control of the Fairchild Paper Co.

The plant consists of two first-class mills, which give

employment to about two hundred and thirty opera-

tives, and manufacture daily twenty tons of the best

quality of book paper and of government paper.

The Champion Card and Paper Co. commenced

operations in 1880 as an adjunct of the Fairchild

Paper Co. But three years later it was established

as an independent company, being incorporated

under the laws of New Hampshire, with a capital of

$50,000. A mill, one hundred and twenty-five feet

wide and five hundred feet long, was built near the

covered bridge and fitted up with the most approved

machinery and furnishmeuts. Under the able and

energetic management of its president, C. M. Gage,

and treasurer, P. A. Hammond, it was so successfully

conducted that in 1887 the capital stock was increased

to $150,000, and the company was re-incorporated

under the laws of Massachusetts. Its manufactures

consist principally of glazed and colored papers and

card-boards of the finest quality, lithographic-plate

paper being a specialty.

The success of the Champion Co. was so apparent

that it stimulated competition. In 1889 another

company was organized and incorporated under the

name of the Pepperell Card and Paper Co., with a

capital of$50,000, B.C. Winslow,Superintendentoftlie

Fairchild Mills being elected president, H. A. Parker,

treasurer, and J. M. McCauseland, superintendent.

A mill, 60 by 160 feet, comprising' two stories and

basement, with an engine-house and boiler-room

adjoining, was erected " at the most convenient place

near Jo Blood's fordway," and was soon in active

operation. The thorough knowledge of the trade

and the business tact and ability possessed by the

managers are a guaranty for the success of the new
enterprise.

The beginning of the shoe business in Pepperell

was made about the year 1824, by John Walcott, a

native of Danvers, who married a Pepperell woman
and afterwards settled in Pepperell, on the farm now
owned by Roland H. Blood. His sons, as they grew

up, went to Natick, and became pioneers in the shoe

business in that place.

At the time Mr. Walcott came to Pepperell divi-

sion of labor was just being introduced into the shoe

manufacture. Previously the entire shoe had been

made by one man, who first carefully measured the

foot of his customer, and then proceeded to cut out,

put together and finish up the i)air of boots or shoes

ordered. The shoemaker was often an itinerant work-

man, carrying his kit of tools under his arm. Mr. Wal-

cott, taking advantage of the new departure, employed

his winter leisure in making shoes. He obtained from

Danvers his stock alre.ady cut and fitted, completed the

work and returned the finished shoes. This kind of

work required but a short apprenticeship. Soon

more than one kitchen resounded to the tap of the

hammer upon the lap-stone, and the number of fire-

side shoemakers increased, until some began to think

that a shop for cutting and giving out the work would

be a good business venture. The prospect was allur-

ing; the capital required was small; the plant con-

sisted of only one or two rooms furnished with cut-

ting-boards, patterns and knives. Here the work was

cut out and then distributed to be made up by the

employees at their homes or in small shops where sev-

eral neighbors could work together. These " brogan

shops," in time, became quite numerous throughout

the town. The first to set up a cutting-shop was Put-

nam Shattuck, who established one in the North Vil-

lage, about the year 1834. Eight years afterwards he

removed his business to the Centre. By this time he

had a number of competitors. But, feasible as the

business at first appeared, it was often found to re-

quire an amount of knowledge and foresight that had
not been anticipated ; hence failure was a common
result. One impediment in the way of success was
the sharp competition with the lower towns. At one

time so much work was done for outside firms that it

required the time of one man as carrier between the
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" brogan shops" in town and the business centres

" down below," as the local phrase was.

Albert Leighton, a native of Westlord, came to Pep-

|>ereU in 1848. He was a shoemaker Irom boyhood,

and had been associated with Edward Walcott in the

introduction of the shoe business into Natick. He

erected one of the tirst buildings in the Depot Village,

(now the Prescott House), and there established a

biisine.ts that eventually became one of the leading

interest* in town. Five years later, having disposed

of his business to Charles Hutson, he followed iu

the wake of the gold-miners, and spent three years

in California. Returning to Pepperell, he built a new

shop on Leighton Street, in which he carried on a

successful business for ten years. He then went

West, but, after a year spent in Racine, Wis., he

again returned to Pepperell, and erected, on Main

Street, a third building, which was occupied by him-

self and his sons as a shoe-factory until it was burned,

in 1879. As a result of the fire, the firm of Leighton

& Sons was dissolved, Mr. Leighton retiring from

active participation in the shoe business, although he

still continued an efficient citizen of the town whose

interests he had already done much to promote, and

to whom much of the present prosperity and many

of the recent improvements of the lower villages es-

pecially are due. He has not only held the highest

offices in town, but has twice represented his district

in the State Legislature.

Immediately after the burning of the old building

the business was reorganized by Mr. Leighton's son,

Frank. Plans were made for a new factory, the

corner-stone of which was laid June 17, 1879, and the

work was carried on so energetically that the build-

ing was ready for occupancy in the fall. The existing

firm, Leighton liros., was formed in 1884, and consists

of Messrs. Frank, Elbert and Charles Leighton, the

latter having charge of their Boston office. Their

commodious and well-arranged factory, furnished with

all the most approved styles of machinery, affords em-

ployment to 350 operatives, and has a capacity for

5000 pairs of brogans per day.

The mineral resources of Pepperell are not abund-

ant. Two clay beds, one near Boynton Street, the

other in the southerly part of the town, have furnish-

ed the material for the manufacture, at various times,

of a few kilns of brick, the one in South Pepperell be-

ing still operated by Jerome T. Lawrence.

In the earlier records of the laying out of the

roads, frequent reference is made to " the silver mine."

This is a strata of shale rock supposed to contain de-

posits of gold and silver extending from near the New
Hampshire line to " the great shading place," as it

was called, on the Nissittissit River, about half a mile

below the North Village. Various parties prospected

here in search of the precious metals. Prominent
among these was Joseph Heald, Esq., one of the

principal men of the town in earlier days, whose
acquaintance with the medicinal properties of plants

had gained for him the additional title of " doctor."

Having acquired some knowledge of mineralogy, he

became possessed with the idea that gold lay hidden

away someti'here in this region. He lived in the

westerly part of the town, near the pond which still

bears his name. The only outlet to this pond is at

its northerly end by a small brook, which, for the first

half-mile of its course, runs through a wild gorge,

whose precipitous sides rise in many places to the

perpendicular height of a hundred feet or more.

Along this "gulf," as it is still called. Squire Heald

thought he discovered indications of a "gold pocket,"

and thereujwn began to excavate a tunnel into the

side of the ravine. He extended this mine into the

solid rock a distance of about sixty feet in length,

with an average height of six feet. Whether any gold

was ever found there has never transpired, but the

town thereby acquired a great natural and artificial

curiosity, which has not even yet lost all its attrac-

tions.

The prospectors at the "Silver Mine " being unsuc-

cessful, became discouraged and abandoned the

" claim." The lode remained neglected until its very

existence became almost a mere tradition. About the

year 1880, however, attention was again attracted to

it. Daniel Bates, of Fitchburg, having made a care-

ful analysis of the rock, and having satisfied himself

there was money in it, obtained a lease of the land,

erected a crushing-mill at the "great shading place"

and began active operations. He persevered in the

work with a pertinacity that deserved success; but at

the end of three years of unremunerative labor and

outlay, his funds failing, he was obliged to ask for co-

operation.

A stock company was formed under the compre-

hensive name of " The Fitchburg Gold and Silver

Mining Co." New and improved machinery and

methods were introduced, and the enterprise was

pushed with renewed zeal for two or three years

longer, when, on account of continued failure, it was

suspended. But within the present year the work

has again been commenced by the company with

sanguine hopes of ultimate success.

Whether these expectations will ever be realized or

not, the continued prosperity of the town is fully as-

sured by the general activity and thrift of its people.

BIOGRAPHICAL.

JONAS FITCH.

Jonas Fitch was born in Pepperell, Mass., March 21,

1811. The majority of people in the State of Massa-

chusetts bearing the name of Fitch are probably the de-

scendants of two brothers, who emigrated from Eng-

land to this country. One settled in Reading, the other

in Bedford. From the latter Mr. Fitch was a lineal
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descendant of the fifth generation. Jonas Fitch, his

grandfiither, and Zachariah Fitch, his great-uncle,

came to Groton and settled there near to eacli other.

Pepperell at tliat time was a part of Groton. One of

their brothers, named William, was killed in the

French War. Jonas Fitch was a man of great

mechanical genius, especially in the art of clock-

making. All the movements of his clocks was his own
handiwork. Several of these time-pieces are still in

existence at Pepperell and Groton. His special

mechanical aptitudes were inherited by his grandson,

Jonas Fitch.

Mr. Fitch removed to Boston in 1832, and, after

working for one or two business firms, accepted em-

ployment from Millard Sears.' The relations between

himself and employer proved to be so satisfactory

that, in 1839, a co-partnership was formed between

them, which continued many years ; after its disso-

lution Mr. Fitch conducted his affairs alone. While

associated with Mr. Sears, the two erected numerous

buildings on Long and Central Wharves, and also in

the neighborhood of both localities.

One of the principal embodiments of Mr. Fitch's

constructive skill is the Masonic Temple in Boston.

All the interior is of his creation. He also wrought

the wood- work on the large Fitchburg Depot and on

the commanding City Hall of Boston.

Many of the Commercial and State Street blocks

were erected under his supervision. The Mount
Vernon Church, one of Boston's stateliest structures,

is also of his workmanship. He was a member of the

commission charged with the duty of supervising the

erection of the new State Prison at Concord. To

this trust he devoted much time and labor. In the

building of the Boston Post-Office he had the respon-

gibilities of the master carpenter.

Not only on the public edifices, but on numerous

beautiful private residences and on substantial busi-

ness blocks in all parts of the city, are the tokens of

his practical architectural genius visible.

Their frequent recurrence is also a proof of the

high estimation in which his creative abilities were

held. Mr. Fitch was one of the very first among the

enterprising artificers who introduced steam machin-

ery into the processes of wood-working at Boston.

His shop contained a full complement of the most im-

proved and efficient labor-saving devices. His pride

was in the fact of his being a complete carpenter—not

a builder, as some carpenters style themselves. When
the memorable conflagration of 1872 had laid so large

a portion of Boston in ashes, he probably did more

than any of his contemporaries in the labor' of recon-

struction. Long before the fire had been extinguished

he had ordered the whole of a large saw-mill's annual

product, and was thus abundantly supplied with the

raw material for large augmentation of his own for-

tune. Exhaustive in his observation, quick to per-

ceive probable necessity, and prompt in providing the

means for its supply, he also enjoyed the utmost con-

fidence of the firms for whom he had raised places of

business. Orders for new buildings pressed them-

selves upon bis acceptance. Wherever Jonas Fitch

superintended the erection of a building, that very

fact was held to be a guarantee of its solid excellence.

In civic affairs Mr. Fitch took a conspicuous and an

influential part. In the years 1859, 1860, 1864, and

1865 he was a member of the Boston Common Council.

He was also a member of the Board of Alderman in

1866; served as chairman of the Committee on the

Fire Department, and as a member of the Committees

on Streets, on Bridges, on Military Affair*andalsoon

several joint committees. Re-elected to the same po-

sitions in 1867, he served as chairman of the Com-
mittee on Faneuil Hall, besides yielding continuance

of service on most of the committees to which he

had belonged in the previous year. During these

two years of aldermanic responsibility he was a per-

suasive advocate for the widening of Tremont, Han-
over and other streets, which were subsequently im-

proved iu the manner recommended.

In 1864, 1865 and 1866 he was a member of the

Water Board ; and from 1862 to 1867, inclusive, was

one of the Board of Directors of Public Institutions.

Mr. Fitch has rendered excellent legislative ser^

vice to his native State, as a member of the Lower
House of its Legislature. He represented his district

in Boston in the year 1855 and 1857. In the first of

these terms he served iu the joint Committee on Pris-

ons and in the last as chairman of the Committee on

Public Buildings. Here his practical knowledge of

architectural construction clothed his advice and

action with unrivaled value. In 1871 he was a mem-
ber of Governor Claflin's Executive Council and

served on the Committees on Finance, Harbors, Rail-

road and Bridges, on the Boston, Hartford & Erie Rail-

road, and on State Prisons. In 1872 he was elected

to membership in Governor Washburn's Council

;

again served on the same committees as those of the

previous years ; in addition, in the Committee on Par-

dons. The ancient and honorable institution known
as Free Blasonry has also received cordial support

from Mr. Fitch. He has been connected with

many of the organizations peculiar to it. His first

degree was taken in St. Paul's Lodge, South Bos-

ton. In December, 1855, he became a member of the

Columbian Lodge in the city proper. On the 16th of

October, of the same year, he was initiated into St.

Paul's Chapter, and was subsequently a member of

the Board of Directors for many years. On the 18th

of November, 1855, he was made a Knight Templar,

and on the 19th of the following month joined the

commandery. On the olst of December, 1874, he
was constituted a life member. He was also a mem-
ber of the Independent Order of Odd Fellows, in

which organization he filled various prominent

offices. He was one of the directors of the old

Mechanics' Mutual Insurance Company for many
years. He also held the same office in the Continental
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Bank, whose ediBce is of his erection. What is more

to the credit of a citizen than all his achievements in

architectural construction or in the administration of

purely business corporations, is the part he has taken

in building up the nation in righteousness. It is con-

stitutionally founded on the basis of equal rights—the

eijiial rights of humanity. Slavery was in moat fla-

grant di!4cord with its fundamental principles, and

gave the lie to its solemn professors. These facts

were as clear as the sun to Mr. Fitch. He became

one of the earliest members of the Abolitionist party

;

and was al^o, and logically, an active member of the

Free-8oil organization, distributing ballots at the

presidential election in which James G. Birney was a

candidate for the Chief Magistracy. Practice was

always iu harmony with principle. His life was the

embodiment of his beliefs. He gave employment to

negroes in his own work-shops at a period in our

national history when .such a policy involved consid-

erable aelf-sacrilice and exposure to hostile criticism

if not to something worse. AV'hatever would benefit

humanity commended itself to his sympathies and

assistance, even if it were only the old hand fire-

engine department, of which he was a member. He
was always proud of his connection with it, and in

later years loved to recount the stirring incidents of

his fireman experience. Mr. Fitch w.as a man of cir-

cumscribed literary education. The school in which

his real education was received was that of the great

world. Here his native ability, caution and sou.nd

judgment were developed and disciplined. Had he

enjoyed the .advantages of High School culture and

retained his individuality, there is no social or politi-

cal position to which he might not have been a suc-

cessful aspirant. Thorough in all that he undertook

and exceedingly exact in all his dealings, he was yet

a man of no personal pride. His pride was in his

work. That expressed himself, and he was invariably

careful that no laxity on his part should mar its ex-

cellence or cloud the brightness of his splendid repu-

tation. In early manhood he was a member of the

old Marlborough Chapel, and was afterward an at-

tendant at the famous Park Street Church, and a

liberal supporter of all its interests. Jonas Fitch

was married, on the 19th of June, 1836, to Catharine

D., daughter of Abiel and Margaret D. Blodgett.

Of four children born to them one died in infancy
;

three are still living; Annie E., wife of John Wal-

lace, Esq., and Charles Henry and Carrie T. Fitch.

Mr. Fitch died on the 19th of February, 1882.

CAPT. ARNOLD HUTCHINSON.

Capt. Arnold Hutchinson, the subject of this sketch,

was born in Pepperell, July 19, 1789. He was the

son of William Hutchinson, who was a native of the

town of Marblehead, Mass., and who bought a large

tract of intervale land on the Nashua River, in the

northeasterly part of the town of Pepperell, settled

thereon in his early manhood, and married Mrs. Sarah

Blood Pierce, of the neighboring town of HoUis.

Their son .\rnold seems to have possessed in a good

degree the indomitable will and untiring energy

which have been prominent characteristics of the in-

habitants of the old town by the sea, which was the

birth-place of his paternal ancestor. His childhood

and youth were passed upon the farm where he was

born, and which in course of time became his own.

His early educational advantages were limited to such

as were afforded by the district schools of that time,

in a small country town. But he availed himself of

these advantages with all the earnestness of his

nature; thus Laying the foundation for a life of active

service in the various duties of his home life and

those of the public ofiices which, by the choice of his

tellow-citizens, he was called in after-years to fill.

He married, May 20, 1819, Amelia Parker, the sixth

of the eleven children of Deacon Jonas and Ruth

(Farmer) Parker, both of whom were natives of Pep-

perell, and they immediately commenced their house-

keeping in his boyhood's home. His wife was a help-

meet indeed. Endowed with good health, and a

strong constitution, she was also a woman of great

strength of character. Possessing sound judgment

and a well-stored and discriminating mind, she was of

great value to her husband. Twelve children were

born to them, ten sons andtwo]daughters, but three of

whom are now living ; two died in childhood, one in

early womanhood and six in the prime of manhood.

He managed successfully his large farm, and for a

number of years taught school during the winter,

either in Pepperell or one of the adjoining towns.

He was one of the stalwart men of his time. In

height he was six feet and two incben, of good pro-

portions, fine physiognomy, a commanding presence

and dignified bearing and gifted with remarkable ex-

ecutive ability—one whom nature made a leader

among men.

Previous to 1829 he held the offices of town clerk,

selectman and other important town offices. Year

after year he was chosen moderator of the annual

town-meeting and in 1829, '30, '39, '40, '42 and '44 he

represented the town in the State Legislature to the

entire satisfaction of his constituents.

In politics he affiliated with the Democrats and iu

1849 was elected State Senator.

When the military spirit of the olden time was a

strong element of power in Pepperell he was chosen

commander of the militia, whence he obtained the

title of captain, by which, as was customary in those

times, he was ever after known.

In religious belief he was associated with the Evan-

gelical Congregational Church, of which he and his

wife were prominent members, having a voice in all

its councils and laboring to promote the interests of

the church and parish.

He was also a stockholder in the old Pepperell

Academy, and endeavored, to the extent of his ability
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to advance the cause of education in his native town.

In 1854 he sold the homestead farm, where he had

spent sixty-five years, and bought the farm of Dea.

Parker, his father-in-law, where he lived until he was

obliged by failing health to give up manual labor.

He then purchased the house on Park Street, which is

now occupied by his youngest son, Charles D. Hutch-

inson. His golden wedding was celebrated after his

removal to this house, and was made a very pleasant

occasion.

Faithful and true in all the relations of life, Capt.

Hutchinson was a courteous gentleman, a helpful

son, a kind husband and father, and a good neighbor,

honest and upright in all his dealings.

He died of pneumonia on the 9lh day of December,

1873, at the age of eighty- four years, four months and

twenty days. Mrs. Hutchinson survived him nearly

sixteen years. She died on the 4th of August, 1889.

She was born November 21, 1799; consequently lived

to the advanced age of eighty-nine years, eight

mouths and thirteen days.

HEWITT CHANDLER WINSLOW.

Hewitt Chandler Winslow was born March 2.'?,

1828, at New Gloucester, Cumberland County, Me.

He was a son of Philip and Berthia (Rideout) Wins-

low, both of whom were natives of New Gloucester,

and is a lineal descendant of both the Winslows and

Bradfords of Plymouth, Mass., his grandmother

being a member of the latter family. Barnabas, the

grandfather of Hewitt, was one of the early inhabit-

ants of New Gloucester. Philip, the father, was a

soldier in the War of 1812. He served on the coast

defences of his native State, and was at Portland

when the encounter occurred between the "Boxer"

and " Enterprise." Hewitt lived with his father till

he was ten years old, when he went to North Yar-

mouth, Me., and " worked out." All the school in-

struction he received was what he obtained by an

attendance on the public schools three or four months

in a year before he was seventeen years old ; but, like

many another New England boy, he found means of

pursuing his studies out of school, and without an

instructor.

He worked during the day, and read and studied

in the evening by the light of the fire-place, the tal-

low-candle and the pitch-pine knot. At seventeen

he went to work in a factory at Gardner, Me., where

he learned the trade of wool-carding and finishing.

He soon arose to the position of overseer, in which

capacity he served for about six years, after which

he engaged in paper-making at the mills of the

" Great Falls Paper Company," and was for some

time foreman. Since 1865 he has had charge of the

paper-mills at East Pepperell. As agent of these

mills Mr. Winslow has performed faithful and effi-

cient work. The company has been knoWn by three

different names since he took charge of its affairs. It

is now called the " Fairchild Paper Company," and

employs over two hundred hands. .\s a business

man Mr. Winslow is devoted to his work and attends

strictly to it. It has been his habit to get to his office

throughout the year at about seven in the morning

and to leave it about eight at night. He is a direc-

tor in the First National Bank of Ayer, and a trustee

and director in the Ay.er Savings Bank.

Notwithstanding his devotion to business, he has

found time in the midst of his busy life to attend to

religious matters. For many years he has been an

active member of the Metliodist Church and a sub-

stantial and reliable supporter of his denomination in

East Pepperell, and has repeatedly held the office of

trustee and steward of the Methodist Church in that

place.

In politics he is a Republican. When a young

man he was active and enthusiastic in the anti-slav-

ery movement. Since then he has identified himself

with other reforms and placed himself on the right

side of questions and subjects the agitation and ad-

vancement of which have been for the good of the

race. He has never used rum or tobacco and his

habits have been exemplary. November 15, 1855, he

was married, in Pownal, Me., to Miss Henrietta True.

Miss True was a daughter of William and Zilphia

Ann True, and was born March 18, 1833. Her fa-

ther was a native of Freeport, Me., and her mother

of Cumberland, Me.

Mr. Winslow has one daughter, Helen True, who
was born in Gardiner, Me., October 25, 1861.

AMOS JOSEPH SAUNDERS.

Amos Joseph Saunders was born in Rowley, Aug-

ust 3, 1826. He was the only son of Joseph and

Mary (Mighill) Saunders, who were also natives of

Rowley. At the age of twelve he entered Dummer
Academy at Byfield, which he attended a year. He
then returned home and spent some years on his

father's farm, occupying his time in the winter

season at shoe-making. But farming and shoe-mak-

ing were not always to be pursued by this enter-

prising New England lad. He had a fondness for

study, an interest in books, and took pleasure in

the discussions of the Lyceum and such other lit-

erary privileges as were afforded by the country

towns of half a century ago. In 1850 he entered

Pierce's Academy at Middleboro', where, with the

exception of a short time spent at Hampton Falls,

N. H., and at Dummer Academy, he remained until

he entered Brown University, R. I., at which he

graduated in 1855, at the age of twenty-nine. This

was the last year in which Dr. Wayland was pres-

ident of the university. He taught a grammar-

school at Danvers, and in August 1856, became

principal of the Merrimac Academy at Groveland.

In 1860 he took charge of the academy at Pepper-

ell, where he taught till 1866, when he resigned on
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account of his health. Shortly after, he became

proprietor of a store iu Pepperell Centre, with a

branch store at East Pepperell, but he soon removed

to the latter place, where he still resides and car-

ries on the business. Since leaving his profession

as a teacher, Mr. Saunders has continued to show

his interest in schools by a long service on the

School Hoard. He has alsa served as selectman,

a.'isessor and member of the Library Committee.

He has for many years been an active member of

the Re|.ublican party. In 1873 he was the Eepre-

sentative of the Thirty-first Middlesex District,

comprising the towns of Groton, Pepperell and

Ayer, and was re-elected in 1875. In November,

1876, he was elected to the Massachusetts Senate

by the Fifth Middlesex District. During his con-

nection with the Legislature, he served on the fol-

lowing joint standing committees: the Liquor Law,

Woman Sull'rage, Claims, Taxation and Education.

In 1874 he was appointed justice of the peace, and

has held the office to the present time. In 1856

he married Lucy Parkhurst Savage, a daughter of

John and Mary Savage, of Rowley. He has three

daughters and one son, viz. : Lucy Blanchard, Jo-

seph Amos, Mary Harris and Stella Fourth. Mr.

Saunders, at the age of sixty-four, is in good health,

and attends to his daily business with the enthu-

siasm and efficiency of a younger man. He exhib-

its the traits of a typical New Englander, who
starts out from the ancestral farm and works his

way by perseverance and industry to positions of

usefulness and trust. Born and reared in one of

the oldest towns in Essex County, where the Col-

onial stock was of sterling quality, he found in

Pepperell elements that correspond with the best

characteristics of those with whom he was associ-

ated in his early days. The place was congenial to

his tastes, and he has actively participated in such

public measures as have conduced to the public

good, and the town has shown her appreciation of

the child of her adoption by honoring him with

the highest offices in her power to bestow.

CHAPTER XXIII.

SUDSON.

BY RALPH E. JOSLIN AND WALTER H. SMALL.

Lovers of the antique will find little in the history

of Hudson to quicken their pulses and satisfy their

longings. The aroma of "other days " is very faint,

and is obscured by such a delightful state of mysti-

cism that the prosaic prober after facts is prone to

ask at every trace, " How do you know?" Well,

sometimes by tradition, sometimes by faith, rarely by
sight.

A town which has yet to see her first quarter cen-

tury completed cannot boa.st of very ancient history

distinctively her own. What there is, is family history,

bound inseparably with Marlborough and the other

sister towns, which were included in one general

grant in 1656.

From the history of Marlborough, then, must be

gleaned those records which apply to this northern

portion, now called Hudson. But the early records

are so badly jumbled, and they have been so care-

lessly kept by their modern custodians (one complete

book is lost) that it is difficult to rest many statements

on absolute certainty. Yet some are definitely set-

tled. Among them is the fact that a large portion of

Hudson, probably all east of High Street, belonged

to the Indian plantation, and all west of that point

was a common cow pasture.

The summary of that history is this : In 1656 thir-

teen leading citizens of Sudbury, feeling they were

becoming too crowded for comfort, petitioned, for

themselves and their rapidly growing families, that

the honored Court " would bee pleased to grant unto

us eight miles square, for to make a Plantation."

They express their preference by saying, " Wee have

found a place which lyeth westward about eight miles

from Sudbury, which we conceive might be comfort-

able for our subsistence."

Agreeably to this petition the General Court granted

them six miles, " provided it hinder no former grant."

But two years previous the General Court had granted

to the Indians, on petition of Mr. Eliot, the Indian

Apostle, the right to make a town eight miles west of

Sudbury, so that the grant to the Sudbury men con-

flicted with it. A committee was appointed to lay

out the Indian grant, and "In case there is enough

left for a convenient township for the Sudbury men,

to lay it out for them." The result was that the new
township lay around the Indian Plantation on three

sides, and the Indian planting-field was directly in

the centre of the proposed new settlement. The Eng-

lish wanted this field badly and they soon began to

encroach upon it. They built a meeting-house on one

corner ; they allowed their cattle to roam over it, and

feed from it, and finally the Indians became disgusted

with their neighbors and moved about a mile away.

The early inhabitants of Marlborough seem to have

been imbued with the spirit of bitterness and con-

troversy,—a quality which has been duly transmitted,

pure and unimpaired, to the present generations.

They quarreled over their records, their grants and

their ministers, and they selfishly intrigued for the

Indian plantation. In 1677 they petitioned the Gen-

eral Court that it should be taken from the Indians,

because they " during the recent war had been per-

fidious and had taken part with the enemy," and

should be given to them. The General Court prompt-

ly said " No."

In 1684 thirty-five of the inhabitants petitioned

for authority from the General Court to buy it from
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the Indians, and again they said "No.'' Nothing

daunted, they got a deed from the Indians that same

year, which the General Court promptly declared

" illegal and is consequently null and void," for in the

original grant it was stipulated that it could not he

sold " otherwise than by consent of this Honored

Court."

But Marlborough was " bigger " than the General

Court, and in 1686 proceeded to divide up the plan-

tation, and from that time, in fact, if not in law, it

became a part of the township. Persistency finally

won, and in 1719 the title was made valid. As be-

fore stated, the part of Hudson east of High Street

belonged to this tract of land ; the part west of said

street was in the original grant.

After a settlement had been formed, and about

1000 acres had been divided among the settlers, on

February 10, 1062, the proprietors adopted the fol-

lowing :
" It is ordered that all the lands situate and

lying within this town, that are not already granted "

(the meadow lands lying along the brooks, and the

Assabet valley) " are and shall remain a perpetual

cow common, for the use of the town, never to be al-

lotted without the consent of all the inhabitants and

proprietors thereof, at full meeting." February 18,

1706, it was voted, "That the proprietors will divide

the Cow Common," but previous to this a settlement

had been begun on the river. How a legal title was

obtained is unknown, but in 169S John Barnes came
to the Assabet, and took up one acre of land on both

sides of the river ; on the north side sixteen rods long

and six rods wide, and on the south side sixteen rods

long and thirteen and one-half rods wide.

On the north side he built a grist-mill, and this is

probably the secret of his obtaining the land, for

there was no mill nearer than Sudbury, and this was

the nearest water-power in the Marlborough town-

ship. The town viewed the project favorably, as is

seen from the fact that October 16, 1699, they laid

out a road over Fort Meadow, by Joseph Howe's

mill, four rods wide to Lancaster town line, and Oc-

tober 25th, Lancaster completed the road. John

Barnes was a member of the committee on the part

of Marlborough. The road was formerly accepted by

the town, April 1, 1700.

It would seem from this, taken from the old town

records, that Barnes did not run the mill long after

building, but in some way put it into the hands of

Joseph Howe, as it seems to have been called by his

name on the laying out of the road, but a formal deed

was not given until January 13, 1701. This was prob-

ably the first piece of real estate conveyed in the

present town, as it was everywhere Jsounded by the un-

divided cow Common. Barnes and Howe both lived

in Marlborough; Howe dying in 1701, as his estate

was settled that year.

On Howe's death the mill probably came into the

hands if Jeremiah Barstow, as we find the mill in his

possession in 1712, when he marries Howe's oldest

daughter, Sarah. Until his marriage he did not live

at the mill, for during Queen Anne's War, among
the garrisons formed, was one called the "mill gar-

rison," at which the families of Thomas Barrett and
John Banister were to assemble. These were farmers,

and seem to have been the only families in this

vicinity, for the garrison was at or near the grist-mill.

After his marriage Barstow built his house on the site

where Solon Wood's store now stands, and proceeded
to increase his possessions by purchase. Ten years

later he sold out to Robert Bernard, of Andover. As
this deed seems to have conveyed a large part of the

present township, portions of it are worthy of preser-

vation :

"To all people to whom these preaents shall couie,

" GreetiDg
; Know y» that I, Jereiniali Barstow, of the towoe of Marl-

borough, in ye County of Middlesex, in the Province of Massachusotis

Bay, in New England, Miller, for & in consideration of six hundred and
sixty pounds, good and currant Money of New England, or equivalent,

to uie in hand, well and truly delivered & paid by Robert Bernard, of

Andover, in the county of Essex, in the Province afforesaid, yeoman,
the receipt whereaf I, the said Jeremiah Barstow, do by these piesence

acknowledge & therewith to be fully satisfied & paid & therefore, thereof,

i& of every part thereof, do hereby acquitt, exonerate, and forever dis-

cbarge him, ye said Robert Beruard, bis heirs, executors, administra-

tors & assigns, & for which consideration as aforesaid, I, the said .lero-

miah Barstow, with the free consent of Sarah, my now married wife,

have granted, bargained, sold & by these presents for myself, my heirs,

executors and administrators, do freely, fully & absolutely grunt, bar-

gain, sell, ahen, enfeoffe, convey and confirm unto the above named
Robert Bernard all that my homestead messuage or tract of land lying

and being in Marlborough afforesaid, containing by estimation forty-five

acres, six score & fifteen rods, be it more or less as the same is butted Sc

bounded and described in ye towne records of Marlborough, together

with my dwelling-house and barn or other housing, with all the fencing

orcharding & gardens upon and belonging to said messuage," etc.

The deed then goes on and conveys eighteen other

lots or parrels of land, amounting to some 310 acres.

Among them is one, " lying near to ye corn-mill place

which formerly belonged to Joseph Howe,'' and "also

one acre more of land lying on both sides of said river

upon part of which ye Corn-Mill and Mill-Dam
standeth adjoined ; also the said Corn-Mill with all

the accommodations & materials thereto belonging."

This deed is signed by Barstow and his wife Sarah,
" this first Day of May in ye eight year of ye reign of

our Sovereign Lord George of Great Britain & King,

Anno Domini, 1722."

From this deed it seems there were few settlers in

this portion of Marlborough, for most of the lots con-

veyed are bounded by other lots of Barstow's or by
common land. Bernard took possession of his prop-

erty about 1724, and opened a public-house on the

road from Marlborough to Lancaster, just above the

mill. The site is now occupied by Solon Wood's
store. From this time settlers gradually came within

the present limits, but they were mostly farmers

;

there was no central settlement. Among them were

the Goodales, Wilkinses, Wheelers, Witts, Bruces,

Howes, Hapgoods and Brighams, whose descendants

still reside here, and in a few cases occupy the old

homesteads.

Eev. Charles Hudson says of these families

:
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Aiuoug lli» earlio.1, IKjrIl.ps, w» luajr uiculiuu llio UuoOulc laliiiljr.

Swiiuel WhesliT detxl^a land to John Witt and John Goodale, from Sa-

lom ; »ud Witt conn'joJ Ui» right to Goodulo ; that pi-oiuiuont family

h»«e oo-upied the l.Iiice »h.Te David U. Goodale rwiidoe, since 170i!.

"Thonuu llaiiitooJ «ftlM in the Indian I'lantation before 1700, on

what »a« uflerwardB calli'd the Colonel Woiaen or Spurr place. His de-

.cndauta have been numeivn!!, and the earl.v generatloUB all resided

wilblii the pre«nt llmitu of Hudson. Shadmch Hapgood, their original

auoealor, came to thin country in I05G, and settled in Sudbury. lie wa«

trsaeberomly slain by the Indiaus in Philip's War. The Wilkiuses

came from OanTara, and settled ou the Indian I'lanlaliou about HIU,

where a number of families of the uauio resided lor several generations.

Artemas Uowe, a descendant of Abraham Howe, married Jlary Bigelow,

1707, and settled on the road leading from the Ilapgoods to the centre of

the town, north of Fort Meadow Brook. He was, probably, the first who

aellled and reared a family of Howes on the present territory of Hudson.

Abiah Uush si'tlled in the northern part of Marlborough, as early, prob-

ably, a< Ii.ao. John Bnico came to Jlarlborough about 1741), and set-

lUtl on what has sinre been known as the Ezekiel Bruce place.

"Solomon Brigham, a lineal descendant of Thomas Brigham, married

2llartba Boyd in 1754, and about 1756 located himself on the road lead.

Ing from the ' milhi' to the centre of the town, on tlio place where

Charles Brigham now resides."

In 1794 Joel Cranston moved to the " mills," as it

was then known, opened a .store and public-house,

and introduced a number of small industries. Five

years later Sila-s Felton came and joined him. Both

were energetic, public-spirited men, and they soon

drew others to the village ; its name was changed to

Feltonville. Among the new arrivals were the famil-

iar names of Peters, Pope, Witt and Wood.

Of these, Hudson says: "George Peters probably

came from Medfield. He married Lydia Maynard,

and had George, Ephraini, Luther, Adolphus and

John H. Jedediah Wood was the son of Peter Wood,

who came from Concord to Marlborough, and was a

descendant of the third generation from William, the

original emigrant. Jedediah married Betsey Wil-

kins, and was the father of Col. William H., Elbridge

and Alonzo. The Popes were from Salem, and for a

time owned the principal land in the village ; the

family have been prominent in the place. Ebenezer

Witt was a descendant of John Witt, who came to

Marlborough in 1707. Ebenezer was son of Josiah

and grandson of Samuel, who represented Marlbor-

ough twenty-three years in the General Court. Ebe-

nezer Witt had one son and three daughters, all of

whom married in the town."

Still there was no extensive growth, for the land-

owners were loath to sell ; they believed in farms

rather than in towns. The introduction of small but

good manufacturing industries, however, gave it a

healthy beginning, and from that time its growth was

slow but steady, until in 1866 it numbered some 1800

inhabitants, who were desirous of a separate corporate

existence. Individual thrift and enterprise and pub-

lic spirit are the requisites for corporate growth. This

is the secret of the marvelous growth of the West; it

is also the secret of the growth of many of our New
England manufacturing centres. It is the secret of

Hudson's origin as a town.

The practical difficulties in the way of transacting

town business and the great obstacle to the natural

growth of the village of Feltonville, owing to its dis-

tance from the centre of Marlborough and the near-

ness of the town line of Bolton, were the subject of

frequent comment on the part of many and the care-

ful thought of those who were most interested in the

future growth and prosperity of the village.

It cannot be said that the citizens of Feltonville did

not gel their share of the town offices or failed in any

other way to receive their proper share of considera-

tion at the hands of the mother town, for, as circum-

stances shaped affairs at that time, it happened that

by a little management on the part of her citizens

she was always able to balance one part against the

other and through their dissension to carry away the

coveted prize. A glance at the lists of town officers

for the years preceding the act of incorporation

will show the names of many persons who have since

been prominently connected with Hudson's growth

and corporate existence. There was too, a feeling of

attachment for the name and the town which was ihe

native place of a large majority of those living in

Feltonville. Sentimental reasons could not long stand

in the way of every-day difficulties, and it is barely

possible that a feeling was growing up in the mother

town that it was perhaps as well to let the ofT-spring

go as attempt longer to keep the lusty child in leading

strings.

We can do no better at the present time than to

quote extensively from an article in the Feltonville

Pioneer which sets out many of the practical difficul-

ties referred to above that could be in a large measure

avoided by the incorporation of a new township.

Says the writer of the article referred to, which is

dated May 13, 1865

:

"All are but too well aware that ao loog as we remain a constituent

part of Murlborougb, or of any of the other adjacent towns, in order

to attend town-meetings, meetings above all others which should be

generally attended, because it is at these meetings that the rights,

liabilities and privileges of citizens are debated and acted upon, we

are obliged to travel a distance of four miles.

" The distance, moreover, to all who reside in that part of Feltonville

within the limits of Marlborough, is over one of tlie hilliest roads in the

vicinity. It would, so far aa ease and comfort of traveling by private

conveyance is concerned, be easier for the inhabitants of this section of

Marlborough to go to either Bolton or Berlin than to climb the hilla to

Marlborough. And this inconvenience cannot be removed except by

bringing our municipal affairs to our own midst.

*' The convenience by rail is next to nothing. The first train to Marl-

borough does not reach there until after the annual town-meeting has

commenced, at least, and then there is no conveyance back after one

o'clock. At the very time when electors should remain, those who pat-

ronize the railroad are obliged to leave and return home.

" Secand : Town Records.—The records of every town most, of neces-

sity, be deposited in the centre of the town. It is impossible that they

should be kept anywhere else. These records are of constant reference^

and it is necessary that the town clerk should reside where the records

are, in order to render them serviceable to persons desiring to exajnine

them. As inhabitants of this remote part of the town, whenever we

wish to examine any of the town records we are obliged to travel four

miles—no small inconvenience. Were we incorporated we should have

our town records at hand.

"Third : Schools.—Under the present arrangement it is impossible,

or next to impossible, for us to avail ourselves of our just proportion of

the higher schools in our several towns of which we are constituenta.

High schools cannot, necessarily, be itinerant institutions. They must

be located in the centre of the towns. Those living in the remote parts
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of the town are consequentlj deprived of much or all of their useful-

*' To illustrate : In Marlborough the high school has been established

at agreat expeuse. The building alone cost nine thousand dollars, which

was defrayed by the whole (own. The current expense of the school is

not far from twelve hundred dollars per annum, which, of course, is

levied upon the whole town. Now how does it stand with Feltonvillc?

The assessors' books of Marlborough will show that there is in that part

of Marlborough itnown as Feltonville over one-third of the whole tax,

able property of the town. Within the same limits there are not far from

20OO population. Feltonville capital, therefore, has paid, and still is pay-

ing, uue-third and more for the high school establishment. How about

the beuffit derivable therefrom ' We are credibly informed that for the

past four years, at least, not a single pupil from Feltonville has patron-

ized this school. The sequence is clear. Feltonville capital is paying for

a school some four hundred dollars annually and enjoys no conceivable

equivalent therefor. The schools in Feltonville are no better and enjoy

no more privileges or advantages thyn the schools of the same grade in

the villages in the centre of the town. The high school for the benefit

of Feltonville is mere nominal, and while we are a part and parcel of

Marlboro' this thing must continue. The distance is so great that it is

entirely impracticable for scholai-s to go to the high school from our vil-

lage. Were we incorporated this evil could and would be remedied.

"In the management of our own municipal affairs we could provide a

high school for the accommodation of our scholars. There would, in ad-

dition to the considerations already presented, be a consequential rise in

value of property by an incorporation. Everything which tends to in-

crease the social, moral or educational advantages of a place necessarily

carries with it an advance in the price of property. The expense of

the government of a new town would not be greater than the outlay we

are subjected to already, whereas our advantages would be increased two-

fold."

This, as has been said, was but one of a .series of

letters which appeared in the local papers, and it is

not left to the imagination to suppose that the facts

thus brou2;ht out gave the citizens food for reflection

which led them to believe that a change was de-

sirable and mu.st be had. As a natural result of the

agitation, a notice was inserted in the columns of the

paper from which we have just quoted, calling upon

all of the citizens of Feltonville to meet in Union

Hall, Tuesday evening, May 16, 1865, to take some

organized action upon this all-important subject.

Pursuant to the call upon the evening in question,

the citizens in the village itssembled, and having

elected James T. Joslin chairman, and Silas H. Stu-

art secretary, a general discussion arose, participated

in by many pre.sent, and a strong feeling was de-

veloped in favor of .separation—peaceable, if possible,

but separation anyway.

It was made apparent also at this meeting that

many citizens of Bolton and Berlin desired to be in-

cluded within the proposed limits of the new town;

this desire upon their part was favored upon the part

of those most prominent in the movement living

within the Marlborough limits.

Mr. Wilbur F. Brigham announced to the meeting

that he had circulated a subscription paper, and that

there was pledged thereon the sum of nine hundred

and seven dollars with which to defray the ex-

penses necessarily to be incurred in carrying out the

work of separation.

Owing to some informality in calling the meeting,

the nature of which does not clearly appear at this time,

it wa.s deemed advisable to dissolve and call another

meeting for one week from that evening. This first

meeting had, however, served the purpose for which
it was intended—to give direction and momentum to

local feeling—and upon the evening of Tuesday, the

2^d day of May, 1865, the citizens of Feltonville

again assembled in Union Hall to lake definite action

in regard to a separation fiom Marlborough, whose

original borders had already been reduced by similar

successful movements.

At this meeting Mr. Francis Brigham was chosen

chairman, and Silas H. Stuart secretary. The original

memorandum book of records, kept by Mr. Stuart,

is still fortunately in existence, and from its pages we
are able to gather an abstract of its proceedings.

The following preamble and set of resolutions were

presented to the meeting for its consideration, and,

after some debate, were adopted ; how unanimously

the records do not disclose :

" WHERE.4S. We, the inhabitants of Feltonville and vicinity, believ-

ing that the time has arrived when it will be for our best interests and
welfare to withdraw from our respective municipal corporations and be

incorporated into a new town ; therefore,

''iieso?ut'rf, That a committee of nine be appointed to take into con-

sideration the subject of estjiblishing the boundary lines of said new
town and the most feasible way of drawing up the petition for that

purpose, and that they be instructed to procure such legal advice aa they

may deem necessary on the subject, and report at some future meeting,

to be called by them."

It was then voted that the chair appoint a commit-

tee of five to retire and nominate the committee of

nine, and report as soon as may be.

The committee of five thus appointed retired, and,

after due consultation, brought in the following list

of names of nine gentlemen upon whom mainly

should devolve the labor of fixing the limits of the

new town and of arranging the necessary details

leading to the consummation of their purpose and
hopes : Francis Brigham, George Houghton, E. M.
Stowe, S. H. Stuart, .T. T. Joslin, of Feltonville

;

Albert Goodrich, Caleb E. Nourse, J. P. Nourse, of

Bolton
i
and Ira H. Brown, of Berlin.

The citizens at large having thus provided the
" sinews of war," and made a selection of their active

agents, no longer appear to have taken an organized

part in the movement, and in following out the fu-

ture movements in this interesting eflbrt for a new
town, we shall have to do only with the doings of the

committee of nine named above.

Again, referring to the records of Clerk Stuart, we
find that this committee convened on the evening of

the 2()th, and, with Francis Brigham in the chair,

proceeded to discuss the question of the boundary

line for the new town. "After a thorough investiga-

tion of the subject," says the record, "it was voted to

make (he boundary line as follows : Commencing at

a point above the house of Daniel Stratton, in Bolton,

and striking across to a point near the house of Octa

Danforth ; thence to a point near the house of Rufus
Coolidge ; thence across Berlin to the Marlborough

line, near the house of Stephen Fay; thence following

the town line to the bound on the Northborough
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Road ; thence to a point about sixty rods south of

Simeon ('unuinghiiiirs house; thence to a point be-

tween the houses of Lewis Hiipgood and Aaron May-

nard; thence to Stow line, near what is called ' Mos-

iiuito Hole ; ' thence by the town line to the point first

mentioned."

This line was changed slightly at the next meet-

ing, so as to take in the E. ALiynard and Lewis Hap-

good places.

The committee, through two of its members, having

taken legal counsel of Tappan Wentworth, ICsq., ofLow-

ell, and Charles Hudson, of Lexington, recommended

that thres petitions be drawn up and presented to the

next Legislature, one from citizens of Marlborough

for a division of the town, with the citizens of Bolton

and Berlin on the same in aid, and from each of the

last two asking to have portions of Bolton and Berlin

• annexed to the new town; and at the meeting of June

2d the committee voted to recommend the name,

Hudson as the name of the new town.

Upon the evening of .Tune 13, 1865, the citizens

again convened in Union Hall to hear the report of

their committee of nine upon the question of the

boundary line. At this meeting the line was again

changed slightly in the vicinity of the house of Dan-

iel Stratton, so as to take in a piece of Stow territory.

It was then moved that a new committee of five mem-
bers be formed to make all the necessary arrangements

for the purpose of incorporating the new town, and

this committee, as made up by the meeting, was as fol-

lows: Francis Brigham, George Houghton and James

T. Joslin, of Feltonville, Mr. Daniel Stratton, of Bol-

ton, and ^^Ir. Ira H. Brown, of Berlin, in whose

hands finally the management and labor of obtaining

an act of incorporation now vested.

At this same meeting an attempt was made to select

the name of the new town, due undoubtedly to the

energy of those who are always desirous of counting

their chickens before they are hatched. It was wisely

voted down, as will appear later, for when this ques-

tion finally came up for settlement it engendered an

amount of feeling that would have probably

wrecked the whole movement at this period.

At a meeting held two months later it was voted to

allow Lyman Perry and others who resided in what is

now commonly called the " Goodale District," to pe-

tition the Legislature at their own expense to be in-

cluded within the limits of the new town, and so fa-

vorably had everything progressed in the work of the

committee of five that the question of a name could

not longer be postponed. It was therefore voted to

mark for a name. Prior to a settlement of the ques-

tion it was stated by citizens of excellent financial

standing that if the new town should be called "Fel-

ton," after Silas Felton, who owned a large store and
operated a grist-mill, he would make the town a

present of one thousand dollars, and it was understood

also that Mr. Charles Hudson would donate $500 to

the use of a public library, should the citizens decide

in favor of calling the new town Hudson, in his

honor.

Under these highly interesting circumstances the

vote taken at once arouses our curiosity and we can

easily imagine the excitement and various arguments

for and against the one man and the other, made use

of that evening to influence the minds of the voters.

As the village had always been called Feltonville and

Mr, Felton offered the larger sum of money it would

be natural to suppose that the citizens would favor

the name "Felton," but the secretary's record shows

that the argument in favor of Hudson was too strong

to be resisted by a majority, and so Hudson it was and

ever will be. The exact vote is worth preservation

and is as follows :

For BuUer 1

" Eastborough 1

" Felton 18
'

' Hudson 35

55

making a total of fifty-five votes thrown, not one-

twentieth of the present voting population of the

town.

On motion of Mr. Charles Brigham, who was and

always continued to be a strong adherent of the " Fel-

ton" party, it was unanimously voted to call the new
town Hudson.

The secretary, Stuart, was authorized to collect the

funds subscribed and the field of action was enlarged

and included, as we shall see, the neighboring towns

and finally the Legislature.

We must now return to the committee of five and

record their proceedings, which have been carried on

during this time and simultaneously with the events

which have just been mentioned. Their first act was

to issue proposals for the necessary maps and plans

which should show the boundary lines of the existing

towns, the proposed boundaries of the new town, and

the rivers, railroads, factories and dwelling-houses, in

so far as possible, situated upon the territory in

question.

Mr. George S. Rawson, a civil engineer of the town

of Marlborough located in Feltonville, obtained the

contract, and the committee in its final report to the

citizens stated that his work was performed in a most

satisfactory manner. Provided with the necessary

equipment to render their propositions intelligible,

the Feltonville committee, as they say in their report,

established "a system of diplomacy" between the

committees from the adjoining towns appointed at the

November meetings, at their request and themselves.

The first act was to invite all the committees to " per-

ambulate" the proposed bounds with the Feltonville

committee, and this invitation was accepted by the

Marlborough committee alone. As a result of this

"perambulation" the Marlborough committee voted

unanimously "not to accept or report to the town the

line which had been devised by the citizens of Fel-

tonville," but on their part a line was proposed to run
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from Stephen Fay's place on the west to the extreme

easterly bound of Marlborough at or near Albion

Parmenter's on the Sudbury road, and this line was

subsequently adopted by both committees although

not all of the Feltonville members were present at the

meeting.

A sub-committee, consisting of Mr. Joslin and Mr.

Brown, was appointed to confer with the Berlin com-

mittee at the office of Dr. Hartshorn, of that town, in

order to arrange, if possible, an amicable settlement by

which the territory asked for from Berlin might be

obtained. Although the committee was courteously

received and the whole question fairly debated, the

proposition of the Feltonville gentlemen to pay the

proportionate part of the town debt, and even more,

was not acceded to, and all negotiations with Berlin

ceased.

The next venture was on the part of another sub-

committee, consisting of Mr. Brigham, Mr. Houghton

and Mr. Stratton, to negotiate an arrangement with

the Bolton committee, but here again the representa-

tives from Feltonville found strong objection and op-

position to their plans. The learned committee on

the part of Bolton were well aware of the important

interests confided to their care, and were on the alert

to guard against the encroachments of the enemy.

The Feltonville committee reported to their col-

leagues that they met the Bolton committee at the

house of S. H. Howe, and finding " the temper and

spirit of their Bolton friends anything but facile in

the premises, no decisive headway was made toward

an amicable adjustment of difterences. This (Bolton)

committee, like the Emperor of France, standing upon

their dignity, and jealous of any infringement of their

territory, neither suggested a change of line nor sub-

mitted any proposition upon which it would be possi-

ble to effect a division." The Feltonville committee,

as a last resort, submitted a proposition, which " was

met with ridicule, and thus terminated attempted

negotiations with Bolton." As nothing but a small

portion of land was taken from Stow, no objection on

the part of that town was made to the proposed sep-

aration of the new town.

At the outset, then, the situation with regard to the

surrounding towns was as follows : Stow acquiescent,

as it had but little interest involved ; Marlborough

practically willing, if obliged to be, but driving the

best bargain possible ; Bolton and Berlin in direct

opposition. The Feltonville committee practically

met with a rebuff on all sides, and the work before it

was by no means small or unimportant.

We have seen that the spirit of the citizens within

the limits of the new town was active and confident,

and their committee, despite the adverse circum-

stances, went to work with a will to secure the desired

end. On the evening of December 18, 18G.3, the Fel-

tonville committee decided upon and submitted to the

committee on the part of the town of Marlborough

the following proposition :
" That the citizens of Fel-

tonville, residing within the limits of said cbntem-

plated new town, will pay to the town of Marlborough

twenty-five per cent, of the debt against the town of

Marlborough, existing at the time an act of incorpor-

ation may be secured, each section to retain the prop-

erty within its own limits without further division,

and each section to support its own paupers, provided,

however, that the town of Marlborough shall not di-

rectly nor indirectly oppose before the Legislature

the prayer of the petition of the citizens of Felton-

ville for an act of incorporation."

This proposition did not meet with any favor among
the Marlborough people, and alter much writing be-

tween the committees, and after having a town-meet-

ing at which the citizens of Marlborough adhered to

their committee's propositions, and after further

negotiations, it was agreed that the citizens of Felton-

ville .should not be opposed in their effort for a new
town on the following conditions, which were finally

accepted by the Feltonville committee. By this ar-

rangement, the dividing line was made to run from

Stephen Fay's, on the Northborough line, to Albion

Parmenter's, on the Sudbury line, the property in each

section to remain the property of that section, with

the exception of the almshouse real and per.sonal

estate, which, should be sold at auction, the proceeds

to go two-thirds to Marlborough, one-third to Felton-

ville, the new town to pay one-third of the Marl-

borough town debt, and to receive one-third of

whatever might be refunded to the town of Marl-

borough by Massachusetts, or the United States for

bounties paid, or State aid given to families, over

and above reasonable expenses, each town to support

its own paupers.

In this way the primary and most important part

of the work was accomplished, and the committees

from the two sections of the old town parted with

mutual expressions of esteem and good will.

Petitions in the mean time had been circulating for

signatures, and were presented to the General Court

at the opening of its session in 1866—one on the part

of the citizens of Feltonville, signed by George Hough-
ton and 264 others ; one representing certain parties in

the northeast partof Marlborough, which had not been

included, as we have seen, in the limits of the new
town, signed by Lyman Perry and seven others, one

on the part of certain residents of the town of Bolton,

signed by Daniel Stratton and twenty-four others
;

and one on the part of certain inhabitants of the

town of Berlin, signed by Ira H. Brown and seven

others. Unfortunately, there was not at this time

entire unanimity on the part of the people living on

the Bolton territory sought to be included in the new
town, and this made an apparent weakness in the peti-

tion on the part of the Bolton people, which was made
use of later on in the legislative hearings to defeat the

efforts of the petitioners to secure the desired territory

from the town of Bolton.

These petitions were referred in due course to the
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Joint Standing Committee on Towns, and on Janu-

ary 30, 18til!, the mutter was set down for a hearing

before tiiat committee. It needs no stretch of the

imagination to believe that January 30th was a day

of great, though suppressed, excitement on the part of

the advocates of the new town, and that large num-

bers took the first train over the Fitchburg, either as

witne-sses or spectators, for the scene of the argumen-

tative battle which meant so much to the divLsionists.

That the adjoining towns of Bolton and Berlin felt it

to be an important matter is seen from the fact that

such well-known advocates as the present United

.'Jtates Senator Hoar, Charles G. Stevens, of Clinton,

atiil Dr. Hiirtshorn, of Berlin, were in attendance, to

guard the interests of Worcester County, Bolton and

Berlin respectively. To Mr. James T. Joslin, of the

committee, was assigned the task of presenting the

cause of the petitioners, who asked the committee to

assign a day when they would view the premises.

February Ist was appointed, and on that day the

committee accompanied by Senator J. W. P. Abbott,

of Westford, of this district. Representative Nahum
Witherbee, of the House, and representatives of the

different parties in interest, came to Feltonville, drove

to Bolton and Berlin, and returned to Boston by way

of Marlborough and the Old Colony road.

The committee was thus enabled to see the e.^cact

situation of the respective towns with regard to each

other and to form an idea of the capabilities of the

section for sustaining a town government. Stopping

for dinner, we are sure that the ladies of Feltonville

put in an argument which had telling effect, in the

way of all the dainties and delicacies of the season.

On the 13th day of February the committee resumed

its hearings, which continued for four days, taking

testimony, and on the fifth day the flood-gates of elo-

quence were let loose. The speeches of the counsel

for the several parties were reported stenographically

at the time, and printed in full in the local paper, and

we are thus enabled to read at this time the respective

arguments for and against this movement.
Dr.'Hartshorn, of Berlin, was the first to take the

floor, and made a brief but concise and forcible argu-

ment in behalf of Berlin alone, leaving it to Mr.
Hoar to deal with the larger interests of Worcester
County and Bolton. The speaker insisted that the

desired territory from his town should not be given

the new town of Hudson because this matter of get-

ting an act of incorporation was merely the ambitious
scheme of the two leading manufacturers of Hudson,
Jlessrs. Brigham and Houghton, for their own ag-

grandizement, and was opposed to the wishes of the

town of Berlin, one hundred and eighty-oue of whose
voters had signed a remonstrance to the General Court.
He declared that the evidence presented to the com-
mittee showed that the main, if not the only, puri)ose
of the petitioners in wishing to get this territory was
to give the new town a better shape topographically,

and to make a little better school district by adding a

dozen houses to the undesirable territory obtained on

that side from the town of Marlborough. In discu.s3-

ing the petitioners for this measure, in which he was

directly interested for the town of Berlin, he .said

they were of two kinds, those from Marlborough and

those from Berlin. Of the Marlborough petitioners

he said that they had no moral weight or standing in

the matter, as they were not residents, and could as

well petition for a part of Boston or Nantucket. Con-
cerning the Berlin petitioners, seven or eight in num-
ber, he declared that only two owned real estate, and
that but a small per cent, of the whole territory asked

for, either in value or extent. An eminent man in

his chosen profession, one cannot fail to see from

reading this speech that he was by no means un-

acquainted with argumentative weapons or unskilled

in their use. He certainly made a good use of every

opportunity presented to him on this occasion.

The argument ofMr. Hoar was based largely upon the

iheory that it would be unconstitutional if an act were

passed granting the wishes of the petitioners in regard

to Bolton and Berlin, because it would interfere with

the lines already established for senatorial, congress-

ional and councilor districts, at that time made to

conform to county lines, that the decennial census had
just been taken and these lines could not be
changed until the next one was taken, and until that

time Hudson's citizens would be voters in one place

for one purpose and in another place for others—an

impracticable and improper arrangement—and even if

it were possible to be done, it would violate that pro-

vision of the State Constitution which provides that

no town or ward shall be divided in makiiig up repre-

sentative districts. He also claimed that it was against

public policy to destroy the unity of the older towns

for the sake of pleasing the younger manufacturing

centres, and that existing towns|should be kept intact

for the very purpose of having different purposes united

in one community, that each may profit from the other.

He depicted in eloquent language the tender associa-

tions, memories, and affections of citizens for their

native towns and expressed the hope that these would

not be destroyed in this instance. He touched upon
the fact that some of the present residents of the por-

tion desired from Bolton did not favor the petition,

and pictured in vivid colors the practical desolation

and annihilation of the old town of Bolton, should

Hudson's wishes be granted. Calling to mind the

great ability of Senator Hoar both as a speaker and

acute reasoner, it is hardly necessary to remark that

his argument, which is only poorly analyzed here,

must have had great weight with the committee.

Mr. Joslin, in closing the case for the petitioners,

answered the objections of counsel for the remon-

strants, especially Mr. Hoar, claiming that not only

was the request of the petitioners constitutional, but

also one that in like cases had been frequently granted

by the Legislature; that the question of changing

boundary lines was entirely within the scope of legis-
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lative authority, and had been extended alike to town,

county, and even State lines, with the permission of

Congress, and cited numerous instances, which he

claimed sustained his position. Referring to the rel-

ative situation of the towns in interest, he claimed

that Hudson's situation was such that naturally she

did not obtain her full share of municipal privileges,

by that fact alone and not on account of any unfriend-

liness on the part of the mother towns; that the growth

of the place was retarded on account of this fact of its

undesirable position and inability to expand in a nat-

ural manner. He maintained that this movement on

the part of the citizens of Feltonville was in the di-

rect line of progress, and that it was not merely not

good policy, but also extremely unjust to an enterpris-

ing community to force it to remain shackled to old

and decaying towns. In closing he marshaled before

the committee the many advantages that would result

to the new town, presented statistics to show that the

village of Feltonville contained all the elements of a

successful town, and appealed to their knowledge of

the results in similar instances in the past to support

him in the statement that no such ruin as had been

claimed would result to the older towns of Bolton and

Berlin from having a distautand differing community

taken from them.

The subject of an act of incorporation for the place

of his adoption was one dear to Mr. Joalin's heart, to

which he had applied himself arduously and enthusi-

astically, and had studied thoroughly, and these facts,

together with the fact that he was a young man with

his spurs to win, must have inspired him to make the

effort of his life, and say, as he did in the opening of

his argument, that he felt that he had been guilty

almost of a criminal act to undertake so important a

matter as the one before them without other and legal

assistance.

A week later the committee reported in favor of an

act of incorporation from the Marlborough and Stow

territory asked for, but refused the petitioners' request

in regard to the Bolton and Berlin territory. The
reasons for this refusal were the want of unanimity on

the part of those living on the desired territory and

the difficulties with respect to political boundaries re-

ferred to above. An act embodying this decision of

the committee was soon passed through the successive

legislative stages and was signed by Governor Bul-

lock, March 19, 1866, from which time the corporate

existence of Hudson takes its date.

In accordance with the provisions of section six of

the act of incorporation, two days later, on March 21sf,

Charles H. Robinson, a justice of the peace, issued a

warrant to James T. Juslin, one of the inhabitants of

the new town, requiring him to notify the inhabitants

to meet in " Union Hall " on the following March
Slat to elect the necessary town officers, and with the

election of these officers on that day the new town

was successfully launched upon its municipal career.

Without giving the names of all of those who have
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held town oflSce during the last twenty-four years, it

may not be without interest to many to note the
names of the first officers chosen to preside over the

interests of the people of this place. They are as

follows: Selectmen, Charles H. Robinson, William
F. Trowbridge, George Houghton ; Town Clerk, Silas

H. Stuart ; Assessors, Alonzo Wood, George Stratton,

Lyman Perry
; Overseers of the Poor, Augustus K.

Graves, Luman T. Jefts, John A. Howe ; Inspecting
School Committee, Rev. H. C. Dugan, George S.

Rawson, David B. Goodale ; Treasurer and Collector,

George L. Mauson; Constable, William L. Withara.
One week previous to this first town-meeting, on

the evening of March 24th, the citizens of Feltonville

met to hear the report of their committee upon incor-

poration, of which so much has been said heretofore.

The committee reported in writing, and, with con-

siderable attention to all the details reported its pro-

ceedings from the time of its formation to the final

passage of the act of incorporation, and in closing

made use of the following language, which might
very appropriately be inscribed upon the walls of the

Town Hall for the guidance of its citizens in town
affairs : "The State in its wisdom has conferred upon
us municipal privileges and rights, and now the State

demands that we as citizens shall so exercise these

rights and privileges that no blot shall be placed up-
on the early history of our town to stand as a lasting

disgrace through nil coming time, nor that the para-

mount interests of the State shall suffer any injury

through our rashness and indiscretion." The money
subscribed was more than sufficient to pay all the

bills incurred in obtaining this act from the Legisla-

ture, and it may be of interest to note at this time in

connection with the large sums of money which are

being paid for services in attempting to obtain acts

of incorporation, the exact amount which was paid

out by the committee of the citizens of Feltonville.

According to the statement of the expenses of the

committee, the entire outlay was $889.15, $400 of

which was for surveying, $433.65 was for expenses at

legislative hearings and the balance for sundry items.

According to the statements of those now living who
were actively interested in this matter, no lobbying

was indulged in, no lobbyists hired or unworthy

methods employed to gain the desired end, although

previously large amounts had been spent by other

towns in this way and the feeling at just that time

was decidedly against the incorporation of new towns.

Hudson, therefore, started upon its history with a clean

and honorable record, and without any unpleasant

feeling toward it on the part of the older towns from

which it had been taken. The question of the name
was the only thing which had arisen to disturb the

entire unanimity of her citizens, and it is undoubtedly

true that there will be many who will always claim

that the wrong name was finally adopted. All that

was desired or that was really needed to make the new
town what it should be, as we have seen, was not ob-
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luliuil ill the first act of incorporation, and Messrs.

Urighiim and Houghton were not in the habit of

yieliling :i jioint which they had started to make, es-

licciaily in ;i matter of this kind where they felt

themselves to be in the right.

Couscqiiently before the next Legislature assem-

bled, new petitions were circulated, signed and pre-

sented at the proper lime to the General Court ask-

ing, this time, only for the territory from Bolton, the

LDinmittoe on the part of Hudson deciding by a ma-

jority vote that the Berlin territory was not of enough

consequence to repay any furllior labor in obtaining

it. With the growth of the tow n in a westerly direc-

tion and the need that is being felt more and more

every year, it is unfortunate perhaps that this deci-

sion wa.s made, as it is becoming evident yearly that

iliis Berlin territory would be a valuable addition to

Hudson, but, left as it is, can never be of much value

to the town of Berlin, and will never grow in popula-

tion or value as it now is.

It is unneces.sary to go into detail us to the second

contest over the Bolton territory, except to say that

it was conducted practically in the same manner

and upon the same lines as in the previous year on

the part of the petitioners. Mr. Hoar, however, did

not appear again in the matter, and the counsel for

the town of Bolton resisted the petition upon the

same grounds presented before, dropping as unten-

able Mr. Hoar's theory of the unconstitutionality of

a change of county or political lines. The petition-

ers obtained a favorable report from the Committee on

Towns, but were beaten by a majority of one in the

House. This was a disappointing result to the Hud-

son party, and immediately new petitions were sent

out and preparations made for a renewal of the con-

test before the Legislature to convene in 18(58.

When it was found that nothing less than separation

would satisfy the people living on the territory in dis-

pute, the committee representing the town of Bolton

came to the conclusion that it was only a question of

time when they would be obliged to assent, and that,

us discretion is the better part of valor, the proper

thing to do was to let them go and make the best

bargain possible for Bolton. The Hudson committee

of five, consisting of Francis Brigham, Joseph S.

Bradley, George Houghton, James T. Joslin and

Augustus K. Graves, therefore found an entirely dif-

ferent disposition manifested on the part of their old

adversaries in the fall of '67, when they met to make
preparations for a renewal of the contest before the

Legislature of '08. Those who were interested in

being set off to Hudson selected a committee of five,

consisting of R. W. Derby, A. A. Powers, Jonathan

P. Nourse, George A. Tripp and Daniel Stratton, and
the town of I?olton's committee of five consisted of

Amory Holman, E. A. Whitcomb, N. A. Newton,
Joshua E. Sawyer and Roswell Barrett. These com-
mittees met several times to discuss the different

phases of the situation, and after several conferences.

at which many speeches were made, and much wit

and eloquence expended, an agreement was made and

entered into, signed by the respective committees,

which provided for a commission of three competent

and disinterested persons who were resident without

the limits of the counties of Worcester and Middlesex,

and had not been at any time a member of any legis-

lative Gommittee on Towns before which the matter

had been previously heard, the chairman of the com-
mission to be chosen by Bolton and Hudson jointly,

and either town to select one of the other members of

the board ; this commission to decide as to the pro-

posed lines of division, and to name the terms upon
which the division should take place, the decision of

the commission to be final and binding upon all par-

ties and to be reported to the Joint Standing Com-
mittee on Towns of the next Legislature within thirty

iJays, to be passed through the Legislature as the wish

of all parties.

In accordance with the terms of this agreement the

representatives of Hudson and Bolton jointly selected

Hon. James D. Colt, of Pittsfield, Mass., as chairman

of the commission, the Hudson committee and the

petitioners selected as their member Hon. Josiah G.

Abbott, and the Bolton committee selected as their

representative Hon. George P. Sanger, the two last

named being residents of Boston, all lawyers, and all

having been judges of the higher courts of Massachu-

setts. These gentlemen accepted their appointment

and met as a body in Union Hall, Hudson, Tuesday,

February 18, 1868, to view the premises and hear

the respective parties in interest. The commission

sat two days in Union Hall and one day at the Town
Hall in Bolton. After due deliberation, the commis-

sion made a unanimous finding, fixing the town
boundaries as they now exist, and providing for an

equitable settlement of the financial relations of the

respective towns, including the payment by Hudson
to Bolton of the sum of $10,000 as an equivalent for

the territory set off to Hudson, the inhabitants of

this territory to pay their back taxes and other obli-

gations, if any, to the town of Bolton. A Legislative

act embodying this finding was submitted to the leg-

islature, met no opposition there, and by the signature

of Gov. Bullock, on March 20, 1868, became an
established law, and ended the struggle between

Bolton and Hudson, which had been going on for

three years. By this addition Hudson gained a large

number of new inhabitants of sterling character, a

large amount of most valuable territory, and rounded

out the limits of the town upon that side as they

should be properly, and making the encroachment of

Berlin upon that side even more noticeable and
embarrassing—so undesirable, in fact, t hat it is entirely

within reason to suppose that not many more years

will pass by, without some effort being made to obtain

the territory which the old committee of '67 decided

not to ask for.

With this very brief Hsume of the history of Hud-
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son's incorporation, a history which contains many
novel features and reflects great credit upon all of its

citizens in general and the committees having it in

charge in particular, it will be necessary to take leave

of this branch of the story. For the present it is

sufficient to say that the new town, after the act of

1868 including the Bolton territory within its limits,

had all the elements of a successful township, a suffi-

ciently wide extent of territory, a larger population

than is usually found in new towns, its citizens very

intelligent and actively engaged in mercantile and

manufacturing pursuits, its voters wide awake and

imbued with a spirit of progress in all things which

prophesied the future growth and success of the

town. To give the names of all those who have

successively held public office and been honored by

its citizens for their ability and devotion is not neces-

sary here, as they can all be found in any collection

of the town's annual reports, and space here forbids

any mention of public acts except those connected

with the greatest advance or change in the town's

welfare.

Educational.—In the matter of education the

town has always been active, and occupies a fair

position in this respect among the other towns of the

State. The tirst school-house was built in 1812. Its

history is a fair sample of the energy of her sons.

At the beginning of the present century there was

only one school-house on their territory. This was

two miles from the " mills," and there was no direct

road between the two places. The people believed

they should have better accommodations for their

children, and began the struggle in a town-meeting.

In 1812 they succeeded in getting a new district

formed and a new school-house voted. There was

much opposition manifested after the meeting, and it

seemed very probable that the vote would be rescinded

at the adjourned meeting, but before the day of ad-

journment came the people had cut down trees, sawed

them into timber, and had the house completed and

ready for occupancy. This was situated on what is

now Washington Street, where Mrs. Ada T. Woods'

house stands. This sufficed until 1855, when there

were demands for a larger and better building. This

time the citizens of Feltonville couldn't agree among
themselves on which side of the river it should be

placed. Finally a site was selected by measuring

from each man's door-yard to get a geographical

centre. This centre was located on the south side of

the river, and a building was erected which is now
known as the School Street Building. This was the

only school building in the village at the time of the

incorporation, though there were two in the outlying

districts.

The new town immediately set at work upon a new

building in the centre and one in the westerly part,

which were completed in 1867 at an expense of over

$13,000. In 1878 another building was erected on

Green Street, and in 1882 a handsome and commodious

brick building was erected on Felton Street for the

use of the High and Grammar schools at an expense

of some $15,000. Twenty teachers are now employed,

some of whom have been in the service of the town
for many years. Appropriations have increased from

$3,000 in 1866, to over $10,000 in IS'.IO.

It has kept pace with its buildings in the course of

study and grading of schools. At the date of in-

corporation the schools were rather of the "district"

order. The first committee set at work to better the

condition, and easy but gradual advancement was

made until the system was completely graded and up

to the standard of the State. This fir.«t School Com-
mittee consisted of George S. Rawson, David B. Good-
ale and H. G. Dugan. Two years later Dr. James L.

Harriman was elected a member, and has served con-

tinuously to the present time. Of the male teachers,

Mr. Lucius Brown, the grammar school master, has

been in service ever since 1878.

When the town was incorporated there was a High
Grammar school out of which grew the present High
School. There have been seven principals, as fol-

lows : W. C. Ficket, 1866-69 ; E. P. Gerry, 1869-71
;

E. R. Coburn, 1871-73; Albert Stetson, George B.

Towle, 1873-74; Frank T. Beede, 1874-79 ; Walter

H. Small, 1879-

Foi the first seven years it was not graded, had no

well-defined course of study and no assistant. A
course was arranged iu 1873, and an assistant engaged.

There have been nine assistants : Miss S. F. Litch-

field, 1873-75; Miss E. P. Parsons, 1875-76; Miss

Mary L. Locke, 1876-77 ; Miss M. E. Manning,

1877-78; Miss Belle Copp, 1878, one term ; Miss F.

C. Foote, 1878-80; Miss R. H. Davies, 1880-82
;

Miss E. C. Atkinson, 1882-83 ; Miss C. Belle Gleason.

1883.

Miss W. May Crook was added as a second assistant

in 1890.

Three buildings have been used: School Street

building, 1866-67; High Street building, 1867-83;

Felton Street building, 1883—.

The number of pupils has varied from thirteen in

1869 to eighty-five in 1889.

Sixteen classes have been graduated, comprising

ninety-six young ladies and forty-five young gentle-

men.

The school equipment has grown from a dictionary

and atlas to a well-selected library in a reference

room, opening from the school rooms; from a single

pneumatic trough for chemical experiments to a

well-stocked laboratory. The most improved ana-

tomical and astronomical charts are used; and the

fouudation of a geological cabinet has been laid.

Philosophical apparatus is also being gradually col-

lected.

The school keeps pace with the needs of the town,

and offers educational advantages equal to any out-

side of the cities.

There have been naturally more frequent changes



260 HISTORY OF MIDDLESEX COUNTY, MASSACHUSETTS.

in the list of teachers in the remaining schoole, but

it is worth while to mention the fact that Miss Mary

K. Hail is the senior teacher in point of consecutive

service, she having been engaged in different Bchools

in town since 1870, more than fifteen years.

Public Library.—To supplement the schools a

good public library is a necessity. The Hon. Charles

Hudson, alU>r whom, as we have seen, the town was

named, recognized this fact, and, in his letter thank-

ing the people for the great compliment e.xtended to

him, made this proposition ;
" If the town of Hudson

at a legal meeting called for that purpose, vote to

establish a free town library for the u.se of all the in-

habilaiits of the town, and .shall appro|>riate or other-

wise secure the sum of five hundred dollars, to be de-

voted to that object, they may -call upon me, my

executors or administrators, for the like sum of five

hundred dollars, to be expended in furtherance of

that object."

The town voted to accept and voted the necessary

five hundred dollars. A committee, consisting of

James T. Joslin, David B. Goodale and Luman T.

•lefts, was selected to carry the vote into effect. The

town received additional donation.s of $100 from Mrs.

Caroline Wood and 5*25 from Silas F. Manson. In

November, ISliS, the town voted 1200 more. With

this the trustees purchased 721 books for general cir-

culation and about 200 volumes for reference. The

library was opened in the room now known as Coch-

ran's drug-store, with Ira B. Goodrich as its first

librarian. Its circulation the fir.'^t year was 5214 vol-

umes to tdl different ])eople. In 1871 it was moved

into the Savings Bank room, and in 187.3 to its per-

manent home in the town hall building. During

this year it received a bequest from Mrs. Emily Bai-

ley of fifty dollars and a gift of twenty-seven volumes

from Hon. Cliarles Hudson, since which timethetown

has made liberal approi)riations yearly, and thelibrary

has grown to some 5000 volumes, with a circulation of

nearly 17,000. The trustees in their last report .say:

" The Library is steadily growing in numbers, 350

new books having been added this year, and is as

steadily growing in public favor. Considering the

few hours per week the Library is open, the demand
is an honor to the intelligence of the town. In two

years 383 new names have been added to the list of

patrons, and over 4000 more books have been drawn."

The present librarian is Mrs. Grace M. Whittemore
and the Board of Trustees consists of W. E. C. Wor-
cester, F. O. Welsh and W. H. Small, each of whom
has been successively elected to the position, three

terms of three years each.

Town-House.—Hudson has always been progres-

sive in her public buildings. Five years after incor-

poration, after it had laid out and constructed roads,

provided for the schools and whatever was deemed
necessary for the public prosperity, it was decided to

build a town-hall, one which would suffice, not for the

present only, but for a prosperous future. A location

directly in the centre of the town was selected, rising

gradually from the main street, and on it was erected

the large brick structure which stands as a monument

to the large-headedness of its projectors, and the lib-

erality of the town in her early years. The building

is fifty-five by ninety-seven feet with a vestibule

seventeen by thirty-four feet. It is built of brick,

with granite keystones and triiuuiings. The lower

story is twelve feet high and contains the rooms for

the town officers, the public library, the national

bank and a small hall for caucuses and small gather-

ings. The second story is twenty-two feet high, with

stage and gallery, finely frescoed, heated by steam and

lighted by electricity. The third story is a series of

rooms, used by Doric Lodge, A. F. and A. M., and

Trinity Commandery. The cost of the building was

$48,531, the site and grading cost 110,000 and about

$2500 have been spent in ornamenting the grounds.

The grounds are made into beautiful lawns, surround-

ed by granite curbing. Abundant shade-trees have

been planted and all the walks are concreted. Few
towns can boast of so thorough and beautiful a hall

as this. It was completed and publicly dedicated

September 26, 1872. Though the town has more

than doubled since then, it still remains large enough

for all requirements.

Fire Department.—The first movement towards

forming a Fire Department was made January 17,

1842, when there was called " a meeting of the young

men of Feltonville to take into consideration the best

methods of forming an engine company." Felton-

ville Engine Company was formed with a member-
ship of twenty-one men, embracing many who were

afterwards prominently connected with the growth

and mercantile interests of the town. Francis Brig-

ham was the first foreman, James Wilson, second

foreman, and Francis D. Brigham, clerk and treas-

urer. The latter received the munificent salary of

two dollars per year for his services. No one could

become a member after election by the company until

he had been approved by the selectmen. The engine

was procured about the middle of the year, and was a

veritable " tub," as she had no suction hose and had

to be filled by pails. She was procured mainly

through the efforts of Mr. Charles Brigham, and cost

about .'{200. A syndicate was formed, and sha.es

were subscribed for by different people in the village,

until a sufficient sum was raised to make the pur-

chase. Mr. Brigham is believed to be the only sur-

viving member of that first and very original syndi-

cate. In a year's time some of the " volunteers" be-

came weary of their duties and withdrew ; a new
company was formed, but it was not very prosperous,

as the close of the year showed only seventy-five

cents in the treasury. This company existed until

1847, when a second reformation was made. In 1849

Marlborough voted to furnish Feltonville an engine if

the citizens of the village would furnish the engine-

house and company. A company of thirty-eight was
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formed and the engine was received July 9th. The
name of the engine was " Hydraulicon No. 3." Her
first actual service was at a (ire in the south part of

Bolton, on November 14th. The first muster ever

held in the village was on December 1st, when the

two engines from the centre came over for a friendly

bout.

The records say: "They were received near the

house of Charles Brigham, where a column was formed

and marched through the principal streets, as far as

the house of Mr. Jones, and theuce to Stephen Pope's,

thence to the left over the bridge, thence to the right

on to the spot selected for the trial, near the house of

Captain Wood. After several trials No. 2 gave up,

their machine being out of order. The line was re-

formed, and the companies marched to the .square in

front of the Mansion House. Members and invited

guests moved to the hall, where refreshments were

prepared by Landlord Cox in excellent style." Sep-

tember 7, 1857, the name was changed to Eureka,

a name held and made prominent ever since. The
present house was built January, 1860, and duly cele-

brated. The jiresent engine was purchased in May,

1872, and has won many prizes—five first, five second

and, one each, third, fourth and fifth ; in all aggre-

gating $2360. The most famous match was with

the E. P. Walker Engine Company, of Vinalhaven,

Me., for a purse of $2000. The trial took place at

Portland, Me., October 12, 1875. The Eureka

made the grand record of 229 feet IJ inches. Besides

this, the okle.st company in the history of the town,

there is the Bucket Hook-and-Ladder Company, In-

dependent Hose, Eureka Hose, H. E. Stowe Hose and

the Relief Hook-and-Ladder Companies. These

companies, with 100 hydrants to furnish water, aftbrd

ample protection against fire, as has been proved in

many cases.

The town has not been visited by many disastrous

fires, though the records show many smaller confla-

grations. The first extensive fire was the piano-shop

of Kaler & Shaw, on Broad Street, July 4, 1874. Oc-

tober 3, 1880, occurred the fire which consumed the

wooden block on Main Street, opposite the town-

house, and the Hudson House. September 18, 1882,

the brick factory of F. Brigham & Company was

burned, at a loss of $60,000. May 9, 1885, Dunn,
Green & Co.'s tannery was damaged to the extent of

over $30,000. This was the most stubborn fire ever

encountered by the firemen, and it seems very evident

that the whole business section of the town would

have been swept away, had it not been for the new
water-works, which at that time had been in opera-

' tion only a few months, and had not been subjected

to a fire test before. Their thorough efficiency was

proved, and few carpers against them could be found

the next day. They had saved over five times their

cost in that one night.

Water-Works.—The sources of Hudson's water

supply is from a lake two miles distant, fed wholly

by springs, and furnishing the pure.st and softest of

water. The lake has an area of ninety a(Tes, and is

located above the town, at an elevation suftici'ent to

furnish the water by gravity, with a good head.

More than twelve miles of main have been put in,

and the water is almost universally used in town,

paying a hand.some per cent, on the investment.

The matter first came before the town in Article 4

of the warrant for town-meeting, held November 7,

1882, which is as follows :

"To Bee if the town willchousi! a cojiiiiiitloe to take into conBldoratiun

and investigate tlie matter of supplying the toM'ii witli water, und, if

considered by tliem practicable and j iidicious, to petition the Legislature,

in behalf of tlie town, to grant them leave to take water from Gates

Pond in Berlin or any other suitjible place or pond in the vicinity of

Hudson, or construct a reservoir on Pope's Hill, so-called, so as to force

water into the same for the use and supply of the inhabitants of the

town, or do or act anything rcstiecting the Hame,"

The town voted: " That a committee of fifteen be

nominated by the Board of Selectmen and reported

to the town at this meeting for their acceptance,

whose duty it shall be to take into consideration the

whole subject-matter of this article, and if consid-

ered by them advisable, said committee is hereby

clothed with full power to carry into ettect the full

intent and meaning of the same." The town chose

as this committee : Benjamin Dearborn, Edmund M.
Stowe, William F. Trowbridge, Charles H. Robinson,

Luman T. Jefts, (?reorge Houghton,,Joseph S. Bradley,

David B. Goodale, Cyrus D. Munson, Rufus H. Brig-

ham, H«nry Tower, James T. Joslin, Rufus Howe,
A. K. Graves and Daniel W. Stratton.

The committee organized with Charles H. Robin-

son, chairman, and D. W. Stratton, secretary, and at

once proceeded to investigate the matter very fully.

They looked into the cost in other towns, the system

used, whence water could be obtained in sufficient

supply and purity, and finally recommended that the

town appropriate a sufficient sum to pay for a survey

and plan for taking water from Gates Pond, and esti-

mated cost of construction of the works. In April,

1883, $300 was voted for this purpose. An act had

been brought up in the Legislature, and it was passed

April 25, 1883. M. M. Tidd was employed as engi-

neer. He made a thorough survey and reported :
" We

find Gates Pond in Berlin to have an area of ninety

acres at its present level. It is a natural pond located

in a country that appears to possess all of the quali-

fications desired.

" It is well removed from settlements, whose drain-

age might be injurious. The water-shed is clean with

a rocky foundation and is precipitous. The pond is

unusually clean ; the water is soft, limpid, agreeable

to the taste, and is without doubt large enough to

contain nearly all the water which the shed is capa-

ble of discharging into it. On account of the steep

character of its shed it is probable that something

more than fifty per cent, of the water will be collected

there. The water-shed contains 141 acres, from which

twenty-one inches in depth can be collected annually.
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This would give 80,613,225 gallons per year, or 220,-

858 gallons ptr day, equals 55.2 gallona per day per

head lor 4000 inhabitauUt for 3G5 days per year. The

ituation of Gates Pond is such that a dam can, at

comparatively suiall expense, be constructed at the

outlet which will hold the water nine feet higher

than the present water level, without nuiterially dam-

aging any one, thus creatinjr an additional storage

ca|>acity of 212,355,000 gallons, which can be drawn

upon in case of a long-continued drought.

"In case that no rain at all occurred for an entire

year, thi.-< amount of water alone, after deducting 42

inches for evaporation, would furnish the town with

581,000 gallons per day for a year. The water in

Gates I'ond at the present time is at an elevation of

103 feet above the curb-stone in the sidewalk at the

pout-office, and 1 12 feet above the sidewalk at the fac-

tory of Stowe, Bills & Hawley. This will give at the

post-office an U-inch fire-stream through 100 feet

of 2J-inch hose that will reach 125 feet horizontal,

or 87 feet high, and will discharge 197 gallons per

minute. This will reach the top of any building in

Hudson and I think would be considered a good fire-

stream."

The report gives a plan of the proposed works at a

cost of a little more than $70,000. The report of the

committee of fifteen, embodying the report of the en-

gineer, was .submitted to the town at a meeting held

December 1, 1883, and the Act of the Legislature was

accepted by a vote of 191 to 90, eleven moreihan the

necessary two-thirds. The record of this meeting

shows the following : Voted, " That the town of Hud-

son will introduce water from Gates Pond in Berlin,

for the purpose of extinguishing fires, and for domes-

tic uses or otherwise, and will proceed to construct

the necessary structures and appliances there." Voted,
" To elect three persons to act as Board of Water

Commissioners." Charles H. Robinson, Edmund M.

Stowe and Benjamin Dearborn were elected and

duly qualified in accordance with the provisions of

chapter 149, of the Acts of the Legislature, for the

year 1883.

In December of the same year it was voted to leave

the whole matter of raising the money in the hands

of the water commissioners and the town treasurer.

The contract for construction was let to Goodhue &
Birney for $04,000. Water was let on for town use

December 10, 1884. There were 114 water-takers at

the time, 8.2 miles of pipe had been laid. A dam was

built at the lower end of the pond, enlarging the area,

raising the surface of the pond and increasing the

head, so that the following results were obtained: At
Benjamin Hastings a head of 75 feet ; at corner of

Central and Kiver Streets, 95 feet; at Wood Square,

110 feet, and at Stowe, Bills and Hawley's, 119 feet.

Extensions have been made every year until there

are 12.81 miles of pipes; .January 1, 1890, the water

was used by 547 families for domestic purposes, and
the town had 99 fire-hydrants. The water loan has

been increased to $125,000. The income from all

sources for 1889 was $7602.07, or deducting the hy-

drant service, $1500, leaves .*;(;i02.07. As the net

water debt at that date was less than $90,000, it makes
a remarkably good investment for the town, the v&lue

of which will increase every year.

Communication.—In 1828 a post-office was estab-

lished at the " Mills" and the name given it was
" Feltonville," from Postmaster Felton, and a mail

and passenger stage was put on the road to Boston.

The route was over the old Sudbury road. The
horses were changed at Wayland. Wagons were driven

over the same road for all mill supplies and general

merchandise. Mr. Oilman Hapgood, who did much
of this business, still survives. After the Fitchburg

Railroad was built through South Acton some of the

freightand passenger business turned in that direction,

but not enougti to destroy the old route. In 1847

the present branch of the Fitchburg was laid out, the

people generally contributing the land, but the rail-

road building the road at their own expense. Owing
to a little difliculty with the citizens ofStowe because

the line did not pass through the centre of their town,

but through that part known as Rockbottom, the line

was not pushed to completion until after 1850. When
the line came to Feltonville, the engine was housed

in George Houghton's factory. In 1853 the line was

pushed to Marlborough. A ledge was struck of so

formidable proportions that the company were on the

point of abandoning the extension, believing that the

business would not warrant the expense. Finally, on

solicitation of "Uncle" Charles Brigham, the com-

pany, then called the Marlborough Branch Railroad

Company, agreed to complete it if he would give them

a warranty deed of all the land they crossed, belonging

to him. This was done, the road was completed, and,

as Mr. Brigham says, " I didn't get much out of it."

It was of course of great general benefit to the settle-

ment, though rather erratic in its movements in its

first years. In one of the first winters no train was

seen for five days. Its first fare to Boston was one

dollar and ten cents, more than the fare for the round

trip to-day.

The facilities affiarded by the Fitchburg Railroad

Company have been increased and improved from

year to year with the increase in size and wealth of

the company, and a new and excellent passenger sta-

tion has but recently been completed in the place for

its patrons. Its yard accommodations for handling

freight and coal are very extensive and convenient,

but there has always been a vital objection to it as a

passenger route to Boston on account of its roundabout

course, its unnecessary length. Any town's growth is
"

seriously impeded which is at the mercy of a single

railroad for passenger and freight rates, and it was al-

ways the desire of those farthest sighted to have Hud-
son so situated as to be able to command a direct

route to Boston by competitive lines.

From the town records it appears that as early as

1
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November 3, 1868, at a town-meeting held upon that

date, the question of a railroad from Northampton to

Sudbury was broached. This road w.as to be called

the Massachusetts Central Railroad and was to con-

nect with Sudbury .and Wayland Railroad, running

from Sudbury to Stony Brook Station upon the Fitch-

burg line. A vote was passed authorizing the select-

men to petition the Legislature for an act of incorpor-

ation for such a road, with a capital stock of three

millions of dollars. A copy of the petition which was

presented to the Legislature is upon record, and a

most devious route would have been followed, had the

road been put through all the towns named in it.

Those most actively interested in ihe new route

secured from the Legislature of 1869 an act of incor-

poration for a road from Williamsburg, Mass., to Sud-

bury. This act also allowed the consolidation of the

Wayland and Sudbury ro.ad with it, so that the'eastern

terminus would be at Stony Brook as stated. Francis

Brigham, of Hudson, is named in this act (chapter 260,

Acts of 1869) as one of the corporators, and under its

provisions the towns mentioned in it, through which

the road might pass, had the power to subscribe and

incur a debt to an amount not exceeding five percent,

of its assessed valuation for the purchase of the capi-

tal stock to assist in building the road.

In accordance with this .act, the town of Hudson

at a meeting held November 2, 1869, voted to sub-

scribe for five hundred and fifty shares of the common
stock of the company and to issue bonds to the

amount of fifty-five thousand dollars to pay for the

same. Later on, in 1872, it was voted to make notes

instead of bonds, to be paid in not less than five nor

more than twenty years. It should be noted that at

the time this vote to subscribe was passed, the town

had had a corpor.ate existence but little more than

three years, and the sum voted under the circum-

stances was a very large one, showing the enterprise

of the place, and the confidence of the people in the

benefit that would follow to the town from the build-

ing of the road.

The history of the building of the road is about like

that of most of our railroads ; first, a delay on ac-

count of the crisis of 1873, then a failure on the part

of those in control to adopt the best methods, fre-

quent changes in the management, all con.spiring

with the opposition of older and competing lines to

obstruct the building of the road. Meanwhile the

funds of the corporation were being spent in the con-

struction of the line at different points wide apart, but

nothing effective was done or any apparent result ar-

rived at until the road became almost a laughingstock,

and was despaired of by all except its most ardent

friends, some of whom were in Hudson. Throughout

this period of depression the town of Hudson, by its

votes, acceded to all the requests of the managers of

the line to help it out of difficulty. In June, 1878,

the town voted to assign its stock to a trustee, Thom-
as Talbot, three-fourths of which should go to the

company in case the road was built and equipped on
or before November 1, 1880 ; but this was not done,

and the town voted to do even more than tl\is and
modified its agreement so that it should be binding in

case the road was built and in operation in part from

the town of Oakham to a point on the Boston and
Lowell Railroad, the Fitchburg terminus having been
given up before this. This second agreement w.as in

the early part of the year 1880, but November came
and found the road still wanting. It was then voted

to extend the agreement one year, or until November
1, 1881. At this last date Mr. Norman C. Munson,
the contractor, had the road in operation to Hudson,
but as this did not comply with the terms of the con-

tract the whole arrangement fell through. Mr. Mun-
son succeeded in keeping the road in operation for

about two years, when he%'as obliged to suspend. In

1883 the road was reorganized, and on December 7th,

of that year, the town voted to exchange its stock for

the same amount of Central Massachusetts stock.

After the reorganization, in 1884, the ro.ad was leased

to the Boston and Lowell Railroad C'onii)any, once
more opened and completed to Northampton.

As a result of all these complications and changes,

the town's stock naturally had been fluctuating from

nothing to a point as high as thirty-three cents on the

dollar, and a majority of the citizens of the town con-

cluded to sell the stock when, in the judgment of the

selectmen and treasurer they could make a good sale

of it. The town finally realized about fourteen cents

upon the 'dollar, and closed its financial connection

with the road.

It would not be a ju.st statement to declare that the

town has thus lost that which was invested in the

road. The results aimed at, competition, lower rates,

more direct communication with Boston, Worcester
and the West, have all been obtained, and will inereiise

in the years to follow. Already it is possible to load

a car at this point to ship through to San Francisco

direct. Like the town-house, water-works and school

buildings, the investment is sure and is proving daily

the wisdom of this town and of others along the line

in encouraging the construction of the road.

It is to be regretted that Francis Brighiim, the one
of all others in Hudson, who, by .speech and his

money, steadfastly upheld and advocated this ro.ad, did

not live to feast his eyes upon the line in operation.

Those who knew how strongly he was attached to the

success of this company, alone can realize how much
it would have repaid him for a great deal of his hard
and generally discouraging labor.

This line of railroad is now under lease to the Bos-

ton & Maine Corporation, and forms an important
factor in its Southern Division. The service is most
efficient, and the indications now are that in the near
future it will be double-tracked and become a trunk
line to the South and West.

Through trains are now run daily over this line via

the Poughkeepsie bridge between Boston and Phila-
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delphia and Washington and between Boston and

Harrishurg, Pennsylvania.

Huiidon is til us most fortunately circumstanced, as

all trains stop at this point.

Military Affaibs.—It wouldbe most interesting,

were it possible to devote the space to it in this place,

to narrate in detail the military history of the people

who have been resideiitsof this place during its differ-

ent stapes of evolution from the "Mills" to Felton-

ville and thence to the present time. There is a

peculiar fascination attending things military, espe-

cially to the younger generation of men, and the old

system of May training, when all were expected to

turn out aa a part of the military forces of the State at

least one day in the year, was productive of a varied

a.ssortment of colonels, maiors and captains, traces of

which still linger in our mftst. The citizens of Marl-

borough and Feltonville, we are inclined to believe,

were more than ordinarily interested in military

afiairs, and among the older men of the place can be

found many who recount with evident pleasure their

memories of "war," mimic war, in which they in-

dulged as far back as 1840.

The Marlborough Rifles was the organization which,

under various changes from time to time, enlisted the

sympathy and membership of most of the young men

of Feltonville, and although it was a Marlborough

organization, a fair share of its commanders were

Feltonville men, among whom were Captain Francis

Brigham, Oilman Hapgood and Daniel Pope, the last-

named of whom was especially fond of the militia.

This company was a part of the Fifth Regiment of

!Militia, commanded at one time by Colonel Benjamin

F. Butler, and attended musters in most of the towns

in Middlesex County. At home the territory now ly-

ing between Felton and Church Streets was an open

field, and drilling took place here, a day at a time,

the citizens patriotically setting out the necessary

rations.

Feltonville was not forgotten in the larger musters,

and the territory lying east of Lincoln Street, then

owned by Caleb E. Nourse, was the scene of martial

arrays, in which the local company made a prominent

showing in their elaborate uniforms. There seems to

be a unanimity of belief that the principal " enemy "

was located about in the rear of what is called Peters'

Grove.

For a short time from 1859 until after the breaking

out of the Rebellion, this company of rifles seems to

have been a part of the Second Battalion, made up of

companies from Sudbury, Natick and Marlborough, I

and commanded by a Major Moore, of Sudbury, who,
|

fortunately, or unfortunately, died at about the time

a call was made for volunteers for the suppression of

the war. His death necessitated adelay, and another

organization, the Third Battalion of Rifles, from Wor-
cester, was sent to the front among the three months'

men. This Major Moore was succeeded in the com-
mand of the battalion by Captain Henry Whitcomb,

of Hudson, who held a major's commission for a time

during the years 1861-62. By the time the services

of this command were wanted a new order of things

was arranged, the old battalion formations were broken

up and the Marlborough Rifles became a portion of

the Thirteenth Massachusetts Volunteers, one com-
pany, " F," under the command of Captain Whit-

comb, and the ol-her company, " I," under the com-

mand of Captain Robert C. H. Schreiber, of Boston.

A third company, " G," of the Ninth Massachusetts

Volunteers, made up of Irishmen, also went to the front

and saw a great deal of hard fighting and suffered the

great hardships of the Army of the Potomac, to which

they were attached. The history of these companies

is the history of the Army of the Potomac from July

16, 1861, when they were mustered into the United

States service for three years, and it need not be de-

tailed here. They suffered their share of the hard-

ships and privations, lost their full share of men by

death or disability and are entitled to the great honor

which always attaches to patriotic and unselfish acts.

A reference to the official records discloses the fact

that a great many of the members of these companies

of the Thirteenth have since become prominent in

the various walks in life both in Marlborough and in

Hudson. As they did not continue a company exis-

tence after the expiration of their term of service, we
are obliged to leave them here.

Less than a year after the companies of the Thir-

teenth and Ninth had gone to the front, or, to be

exact, in the month of May, 1862, the situation was

such that a demand for more volunteers was deemed
imminent, and the citizens of Feltonville having pe-

titioned for the formation of another company there,

an order was issued from the office of the Adjutant-

General of Massachusetts, addressed to Daniel Pope

and eighty-four other petitioners, directing them to

meet in "Union Hall," for the purpose of electing the

necessary officers, the company to be lettered " I," and

attached to the Fifth Regiment.

The company was accordingly organized by the

election of William E. C. Worcester as captain,

Charles B. Newton, first lieutenant, and Luther H.

Farnsworth, second lieutenant. It was the common
expectation then that the company would immedi-

ately be ordered with the regiment to the front ; but it

was not until the 10th day of September following,

that they went into camp at Wenham, Massachusetts,

and upon the 16th day of that month were mustered

into the United States service. Previous to this

there had been several changes among the officers of

the company and regiment. Captain Worcester was

made major and the vacancy in the company was

filled by the promotion of Lieutenant Newton and the

election of William S. Frost, the present county com-

missioner, to the position of secend lieutenant, sev-

eral others declining an election for various reasons.

The membership of this company was made up more

distinctively of Feltonville men, although they are
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found credited to Marlborough, Bolton and Berlin.

On October 22d the regiment left camp for New-
bern, North Carolina, by way of the United States

steamer " Mississippi." This place was reached

on the 28th, and within forty-eight hours the

regiment received orders to march, and for the next

six months they were given a large amount of hard

and dangerous duty to perform. The Fifth was a good

regiment, and its colonel, George H. Peirson, an ex-

cellent officer, so that more than their share of the

time they were doing the most difficult and danger-

ous part of the duty. Their first encounter with the

Confederate troops was at Planter's Creek, in which

skirmish three men were killed ; the next was at

Woodington Church, and the first heavy engagement

was that known as the battle of Whitehall, on the 16th

day of December, 1862, the Fifth being on the right

of the line and in the thickest of the fight. Upon
this tour of duty, which was for the purjjose of de-

stroying the Wilmington and Weldon Railroad, the

regiment mai'ched one hundred and eighty miles, and,

on account of their valiant services, were directed by

Major-General Foster to inscribe on their colors the

names of Kinston, Whitehall and Goldsboro'.

rii March, 1863, the regiment was ordered out for

the purpose of making an advance on account of

hostile demonstrations by the rebels, and was ready to

march in fifteen mmutes from the receipt of the order.

They went to a place known as Deep Gully and suf-

fered much from the extreme cold weather. The next

month, April, saw two more hard marches and a fight

at Blount's Creek. At Cove Creek occurred another

meeting with the " Johnnies," in which the Fifth won
applause. On the 21st of May occurred an attack

upon a large force at Mosely Creek, and the Northern

forces captured more than two hundred prisoners,

forty-three horses and mules, eight ambulances, seven-

teen wagons, one gun, five hundred stand of arms,

seventeen rounds of ammunition, together with the

entire hospital furniture and supplies of the enemy.

This was the last expedition in which the Fifth was

engaged, and in some respects the hardest, owing to

the intense heat, miry swamps and almost impene-

trable jungles through which the troops were forced

to march.

On the 26th of May four hundred men, under com-

mand of Major Worcester, were commanded to pro-

ceed to Wilkinson's Point, on the Neuse River, twenty

miles below Newbern, to erect and occupy fortifica-

tions at that place ; but as the order was counter-

manded, the force returned to camp on the 28th. The
regiment reached home on June 22d, and was enthu-

siastically received by the people of Boston and by the

citizens and authorities of Charlestown. When "I"
company reached Feltonville they received a wel-

come which was more enjoyable to them, and if not

so much of a demonstration as they had witnessed in

Boston, it was nevertheless as hearty as the people of

the place could make it.

The regiment was mustered out of the service

July 2, 1863.

By this hasty review it will be seen that the regi-

ment did an unusual amount of arduous .service dur-

ing its term of enlistment, beginning but a few hours

after it set foot upon hostile soil, and continuing

until the eve of its departure for Massachusetts,

marching about six hundred miles over the wretched

roads of North Carolina and sailing over two thou-

sand miles in crowded transports, and having enough
shot and shell hurled at them to have killed every

one of them a dozen times over had they but hit the

intended mark.

Until July 16, 1864, the Fifth remained a part of

the Massachusetts Militia, but did not see any active

service. Upon this day the regiment was again

mustered into the service for one hundred days and

ordered to the defences at Baltimore. Company " 1

"

at this time was commanded by Captain A. A. Powers,

Lieutenants Frost and Luther H. Farnsworth. Major

Worcester in the mean time had advanced a peg to

the position of lieutenant-colonel. Arriving at their

destination, the regiment was distributed among the

difierent forts in that vicinity, and occupied the time

in doing guard duty, an arduous but by no means
exciting or, under the circumstances, dangerous occu-

pation.

At the expiration of this term of service, the regi-

ment was again mustered out of the service of the

United States, and remained a part of the State's mili-

tary force.

Company "I," at first named the" Banks Guards,"

after the town was incorporated, in 1869, changed its

name to that of the Hudson Light Guard, and as such

was known during its connection with the State force.

The company performed good service in November,

1872, at the time of the Boston fire, doing guard duty

two days and a night, and under its different com-

manders enjoyed varying degrees of prosperity until it

was disbanded by a general order from the Adjutant-

General's office, in September, 1876, when, in common
with others, it was done away with in order to reduce

the size of the State's militia.

For the sake of future reference, a list is appended

of the names of those who held commission in the

company or rose from its ranks to higher offices in

the regiment

:

Lieutenant-Colene], William E. C. Worcester ; Majora, William E. C.

Worcester, Andrew .\. Powers; Captains, William E. C. Worcester,

Charles B. Newton, Andrew A. Powers, Augustns S. Trowbridge, Joseph

W. Pedrick, S. Henry Moore, John F. Dolan, Edward L. Powers ; First

Lieutenants, Charles B. Newton, Andrew A, Powers, William S. Frost,

Augustus S. Trowbridge, Joseph W. Pedrick, David B, Wbitcomb, Cal-

vin H. (barter, William H. Trow, Edward L. Powers, Thomas O'Don-

nell : Second Lieutenants, Luther H. Farnsworth, S. Henry Moore,

William S. Frost, David B. Whitcomb, Calvin H. Carter, Wm. H. Trow,

John F. Dolan, Fred 0. Welsh, Thomas O'Donnell, Frank E. Bmery.

In 1887 the State force of militia was again increas-

ed, and after an interim of eleven years Hudson
again became represented in the Fifth Regiment.

On November 16th of that year a new company was
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muDtered iu aad lettered " M," and haa been eom-

miiiule.1 during the time since by Ciiptain Adeibert

M. Mossmau, First Lieutenant William II. Brigham,

and Second Lieutenant Frank K. Freeborn. The

new company has assumed the old name of Hudson

Light liiiard, and hu.H had an honorable and success-

ful record since its formation.

trUA-si> Au.MV Tost.—Having recounted, all too

briellv, the record of Hudson's .soldiers during the

Rebellion, it is but natural that we would turn next

to an account of their doings since that time.

In April, 18GG, a movement was set on foot to or-

ganize an association of the citizens of Hudson who

had served their country in the army or navy for the

purpose set forth in their declaration of princijiles:

" Of perpetuating the pleasant relations heretofore ex-

isting between us as comrades in arms ; to assist each

other and those of our fellow-citizens who may here-

aller return from the hardships of the service to pro-

cure employment ; also to be in.strumental in assisting

the disabled and the families of those who have fallen ;

to place on record for the use of posterity any facts

that may come to our knowledge concerning the

patriotic service of any of our comrades during the

late Rebellion."

This movement met with a general response from

the .soldiers of Hudson, and, on the 1st day of June

the by-laws of the " Hudson Army and Navy Union "

were adopted, and the new society started on its mis-

sion under the most favorable auspices. The " Union ''

was not intended to be in any sense a machine, nor

was it secret, the meetings being open and any ques-

tion was considered in order and debatable, and many
who could not become members attended the meet-

ings. For a short time the Union was successful, but

before long two disturbing elements arose to cloud the

brightness of its members' dreams. There were too

few offices to go around, and too much politics for

peace, so that the longer the Union lived the less union

existed among the members. In the following spring,

having learned that an ellbrt was being made to unite

the soldiers and sailors of the Union army and navy

in a grand National brotherhood, James S. Bailey

succeeded in obtaining a copy of the constitution, and
consulted with many of the more prominent veterans

with a view tosecuring a charter.

It was decided that this would be a great improve-

ment over the existing order of things, and on March
16, 1867, a committee of ten was appointed to apply
for a charter, and upon the 10th day of April follow-

ing Post No. 9 of the Grand Army of the Republic
was organized with a charter membership of fifty-

nine.

When it came to choosing a name, the admirers and
advocates of the name Reno were in the majority, and
succeeded in adopting this as the name of the new post-

During its existence the post has gathered together
about eight thousand dollars by means of their in-

dividual and collective etforts, and has disbursed

almost all of it iu relieving the necessities of veterans

and their families. As time has gone on, the member-

shiji has increased, and the interest increases rather

than abates as death gradually thins the ranks of

those remaining.

On February 12, 1872, a Ladies' Relief Society was

organized by the wives of the members of the post, and

has been a valuable adjunct to it, its members keeping

alive the social relations always so pleasant among
comrades, and in times of sickness and distress ren-

dering those tender offices which women alone can do.

Thus far we have been treating of Hudson and its

citizens in its corporate capacity and tracing its

growth and prosperity in a collective capacity. Let

us now turn to a cousiderationof the industries which

have been the mainstay of its people and made pos-

sible the achievements which have been described.

Manufactories.—While Hudson remained a mere

farming community there was little growth, little cen-

tralizing; a grist and saw-mill, a general store and a

tavern near the mills sufficed ; but when industries

demanding skilled labor were introduced, the land

near the store and the mills and the tavern began to

be dotted with buildings. The first little attempts at

manufacturing were made nearly a century ago by

Joel Cranston, who tried wool-carding and cloth-dress-

ing. In 1810 Phineas Sawyer started a small cotton-

factory, but only yarn was produced. The weaving

was done in familie.s. Some satinet was also made.

A distillery for cider brandy was put in operation by

Cranston & Felton on the spot where Tripp's box fac-

tory now stands. A little tanning was done, and also

a little saddle and harness-making. None of these

grew to any proportions, but they were the pioneers

of the great manufacturing industries of to-day, draw-

ing settlers to the village and beginning that perma-

nency which creates large business centres.

Of the great staple industry of Hudson to-day, shoe

manufacturing, the beginning seems to have been

made by a Peter Wood. He cannot properly be

styled a manufacturer ; he was, perhaps, a cobbler,

who would make a pair of shoes when ordered. In

1816 Daniel Stratton, grandfather of Town Clerk

Daniel W. Stratton, began manufacturing shoes in a

small way. In 1821-22 he built a small factory on

the spot now occupied iby the house of Mrs. Alfa L.

Small. Here he employed four hands, and carted

his goods to Providence rather than to Boston. In a

few years he moved to the farm now known as the

Stratton Farm. His son, Lorenzo, bought the old

place
;
but, instead of doing business for himself, took

shoes from a Stonebam manufacturer. By him the

old house recently known as the Waldo Brigh-Am

place was built, and work was carried on in the barn.

The factory built by Daniel Stratton was moved
across the road, and now forms the northern portion

of Martin Reynolds' house. The property of Lorenzo

Stratton passed successively into the hands of William

Brigham, Solomon Brigham and Francis Brigham.
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It was at this place that Mr. Brigham learned his

trade, and that he first began that business that has

since endured, and put the making of shoes upon a

permanent foundation in the town. He soon moved

to a small factory which stood just back of William

Chase's Block ; then to the spot now occupied by

Holden's Block ; then to the building now occupied by

C. L. Woodbury. The business thus created has been

carried on continuously ever since under the firm-

name of F. Brigham & Co. This firm has had a pros-

perous career. It weathered the financial crises of 1837,

1847 and 1857 and the seventies. It has made over

twenty millions pairs of shoes, is one of the oldest

firms in the United States, has introduced many im-

provements in shoe-making, has graduated some of

the successful manufacturers of the town to-day, and

has grown from the lap-stone and bristle to the best

modern machinery. As it is our pioneer firm, a brief

history will not be out of place.

Mr. Brigham's beginning and experience is the oft-

repeated story of the beginning and experience of

most of the successful men of business in this country.

He was cradled in adversity, and, without the patron-

age of wealth or helpful friends, had to hew his own

way over the rugged paths of life. He was a prac-

tical shoemaker, working for two years at the bench,

and acquiring in every detail and process the manu-

facture of shoes. At twenty-one years of age he was

running his own business, employing only a few

hands. In those early days of the shoe industry the

men worked in " teams " of four. One would fit the

stock and last, one would peg, another put on the

heels, and the fourth would trim them and take off.

The sole and inner sole were rounded on by hand to

the last. The laster waxed his own thread and se-

cured the ends to the bristle. An old ledger of 1847-

8-9, contains many entries like the following :
" Henry

Priest, Cr., by work in Hapgood's team, $14.95."

" Jonathan F. Wheeler, Cr., By 140 pairs, $11.90."

The lap-stone was an adjunct of every bench, and

the construction of the shoe was as primitive as the

shoe itself. The style seldom changed, and three

pairs of " strap cacks " were sold for one dollar. In

those days the work was given out in large quantities,

and the stock was joined into shoes in small shops

scattered through all the surrounding villages. In

the private houses over a radius of many miles, " Han-

nah sat at the window binding shoes," as EliasHowe

had not then mastered the problem that has since

produced a revolution in the stitching of the world.

This firm used the first sewing-machine in town in

1855 ; it was made by Grover & Baker, being re-

garded as one of the wonders of the world at the

time, and was run by Mrs. Persis E. Brigham. A
sole-cutting machine was used in the early part of the

forties. F. Brigham & Co. introduced the pegging

machine in 1857, and were the first to run it success-

fully in this country. They added the binding ma-

chine to their labor-saving machinery as early as

1856. Lasting-machines were put in in 1861, but

proved to have no practical value. Leveling, crimp-

ing, skiving, nailing, burnishing, trinimiDg, sanding,

heeling, and an infinite number of olliur machines,

adding wonderfiilly to the beauty, durability and
rapidity of production of slioes, have been introduced

and adopted by this firm since 1860. They have al-

ways been among the first to adopt and use the best

machines and appliances for the production of the

best work, regardless of cost.

Prior to 1847 this firm moved twice to larger fac-

tories, owing to the incrca.se in their business. In

1847 they erected what was regarded at the time as

one of the largest and best equipped shoe- factories in

this section of the State. They occupied it ten years,

when steady growtli and the popularity of tlieir goods

called for more room. In 1850 mills and a water-pow-

er, which had been in use since 1690, were purchased

for ten thousand dollars, and the buildings removed

from their old sites, and work was commenced on the

extensive plant they now own.

Since this beginning in 1834 the industry has

grown from a few hands employed in a small shop

to eight large plants with a capacity of 20,000 pairs

per day.

The firm of Stowe, Bills & Hawley was estab-

lished by Mr. Edmund M. Stowe, senior member of

the firm in 1854, L. T. Jefts in 1859, (Jeorge Houghton

in 1857, A. P. Martin in present shop in 1887, W. F.

Trowbridge in shop now occupied by Frank H.

Chamberlain in 1866, Bradley & Sayward in 1880,

Frank H. Chamberlain, then Moultou & Chamberlain

in 1884, and H. H. Mawhinney & Company in

1890. These firms occupy large and convenient fac-

tories, supplied with the best machinery modern

ingenuity has been able to devise, and with all the

perfected methods of protection against fire and

panic. A glance at one factory will serve for all.

At the Main Street factory of Stowe, Bills & Hawley

one finds in the engine-room a powerful duplex fire-

pump, its pipe hot with steam, with large coils of

hose 'ready for instant use. In addition to this is a

large standpipe under full pressure of the town

water, a complete equipment of automatic sprinklers,

chemical fire extinguishers, fire pails, an electric

watch clock to ensure the watchman's punctual

rounds at night, and on the outside a loud automatic

gong to give the necessary alarm. All the factories

are equally well equipped.

Around this central industry has been gathered its

feeders, die factories, last factories, tannery, machine-

shops, building material, elastic webbing.

New industries have been drawn in, such as the

Goodyear Gossamer Company, and the Woodward
Manufacturing Co., with its wood pulleys, foundry

castings and finished planers and band-savvs, and the

New England Knitting-Mills. The making of boxes

was begun about 1844 by Silas Stuart at the location

on River street where Cranston & Felton's apple
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brandy refinery was, baJf ft century before. Mr.

Stuart then made all the boxes needed by the shoe

manufacturers in Marlboro' and Feltonville (now

Hudson). Later on the property was leased by Tripp

Brothers, bought by them in 18C9, and the business

increased until they now occupy a plant of one and

one-half acres, with a building three stories high,

supplied with every needed machine, operated both

by water and steam-power; 100,000 feet of lumber

are made into bo.^es every month, and yet the shoe

industry has so incre.ised that this is only one of

three plants for the manufacturing of shoe cases for

Hudson.

The lu.-it business had the following beginning. In

the month of March, 1859, Philip E. Millay, a native

of Whitetield, JIaine, who had served an apprentice-

ship with an old last-maker, by the name of Silas

Mason, in the town of Gardiner, Me., and who had

also worked ten years as journeyman in the city of

Lynn, came to Hudson with his brothe?, David N.

Millay, and 8t;irted a last factory in the old tannery

building, shortly after moving to the basement of

what was then known as the " Old Red Shop." They

had no last machine at first, but had all their lasts

turned in St. Stephens, Now Brunswick, brought to

Hudson and finished in their factory. In 1863 P. E
Millay bought his brother's interest in the business

which had greatly increased, and also put in his first

last machine to do his own turning, shortly after

moving to his present quarter.s. This business has

always been prosperous and has never been out of the

family.

The tannery business was one of the first industries

ever begun in Hudson, and, like the shoe business,'has

to Butler & Dunn, now Dunn, Gj-een & Company.

Their tannery has received many additions until it is

now one of the most complete in all its arrangements

of any tannery in New England. It is situated in

the centre of the town and borders on the Assabet

River, with a spur of the Fitchburg track running

directly through the yard, enabling them to unload

their bark from the cars into their mills.

The buildings consist of a tannery 225 feet long,

60 feet wide, containing 209 pits ; a leach-house 165

feet long, 25 feet wide containing 24 leaches, with all

the latest improvements ; a beam-house 110 feet long,

46 feet wide, containing 64 limes and soaks ; a cur-

rying shop 320 feet long, 32 feet wide, four stories

high, heated by steam and containing all the modern

improvements in the way of tools and machinery

that are to be found in any first-class factory for the

manufacture of buff and split leather. They have

also a large bark shed, 125 feet long, 42 feet wide

capable of holding three hundred loads of bark_

They have also a large storehouse for hides, a brick

engine-house containing two first-class engines of one

hundred fifty horse-power, also a stable and other out-

buildings.

Dunn, Green & Co. tan and finish here 1050 hides

per week, or 54,000 hides per year. They make bufl'

and split leather, making 108,000 sides and 216,000

splits, or 324,000 pieces a year. To do this they em-

ploy 150 men. Their leather is used in all the prin-

cipal shoe towns in New England, and has long en-

joyed the reputation of being the best buff and split

made in the country. They use the best of domestic

cowhides, as well as the best material and labor that

money will buy. They received a medal and diploma

grown to large proportions, and done much towards from the Paris Exposition, a medal and diploma from

building up the town. Its inception was by Joel

Cranston about the year 1799, and was bought by

Stephen Pope in 1816. His tan-yard was located

where the Methodist Church now stands. He con-

ducted the business successfully for many years, tan-

ning in the best periods 5000 calf-skins, and consid-

erable Russia leather. In 1866 the property was of-

fered for sale, and Mr. George Houghton, believing

that there was an opportunity to make leather suffi-

cient to supply the shoe-factories in town, called to-

gether the five principal manufacturers and submit-

ted to them the proposition. They did not look up-

on the matter very favorably, even though Mr. Pope
claimed that he had five per cent, advantage over

other tanners in his water supply. This was on Sat-

urday evening. Monday morning Mr. Houghton,
with his characteristic push, bought the property and
in six weeks he had built Houghton Street, moved
four buildings upon it, and had built and stoned the

present canal. He afterwards filled in the lower part

thirteen feet. As the old buildings and vats did not
seem suitable for the business proposed, new ones
were constructed and leased to Fay & Stone. The
business was continued for twelve years and then sold

our Centennial Exhibition, and a medal and diploma

from the Massachusetts Charitable Mechanics' Associ-

ation for their exhibit of butt' and split leather, made
at this tannery.

Of the new industries, the Goodyear Gossamer

Company stands at the head. The business was begun

in the fall of 1885 by the present proprietors, Messrs.

L. D. Apsley and J. H. Coflin. These gentlemen had

had a large experience in the gossamer business, and

brought with them a thorough knowledge of the

manufacturing department and an extensive acquaint-

ance with the best wholesale and retail trade

throughout the country, and they have devoted them-

selves to the development of the business with such

success that in their third year they did the largest

gossamer business in this country, leading all their

competitors in volume of sales.

They began business in the frame buildings on

Washington Street, formerly occupied by the Hudson
Fabric Company. To meet the demands of their in-

creasing trade, additions were made to the original

building, from time to time, until their capacity was

doubled ; but it was apparent that a more radical

step was required to keep pace with the growing de-
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mand for their goods, and when, in December, 1888,

their coating and cementing departments were de-

stroyed by fire, the tirm resolved to erect a plant which

would meet the requirements of the future. They

accordingly purchased a tract of land along the

north side of the Central Massachusetts Railroad,

upon which the new buildings now stand. These

buildings are built of brick and iron, and, with the

exception of the stitching-buikliug, are provided with

','i inch Portland cement floors, so that they are as

nearly fire-proof as they can be made. The plant

consists of seven buildings, having the following di-

mensions : 105x44, 80x40, 20x25, 25x25,32x20,35x32

and 130x50. There are now being daily coated with

rubber 6000 yards of the various kinds of cloths, which

include Foulards, wooleus and silks in upwards ol

thres hundred patteru.s. They have recently added

an English coating-machine and built a drying-room

20x25, where the cloth is subjected to a heat of 240

degrees. The various manufacturing buildings are

lighted by electricity, and are well ventilated and

provided with various appliances for the comfort o(

the employees and for economy of labor in doing the

work. When the manufacture of gossamer garments

was begun, the circular and Newport were almost the

only styles of ladies' garments made, but the business

has been developed so greatly that these are now but

a small part of the great variety of styles made. The
firm has always been in the advance in the introduc-

tion of new and attractive styles of garments, and is

constantly introducing new patterns, which are made
in such a variety of cloths, and with|so much attention

to perfection of tit and beauty of design, that this de-

partment of their business resembles that of a large

cloak-making establishment. All qualities of goods

are thus made up—from the ordinary cotton Foulard

to the finest grades of woolens and silks—all of which

are made thoroughly water-proof by their coating of

pure Para rubber.

The most wonderful improvement ever made in

water-proof cloths has become widely known to the

trade under the name of " India Stripes." These

goods were first made and introduced by this firm, and

have become general favorites on account of their

beauty, water-proof quality and durability, being un-

doubtedly superior to all other rubber -surface gar-

ments made. Prior to their introchictiou, various at-

tempts had been made to introduce variety of pattern

upon the rubber coating, but none of them were suc-

cessful as the coloring material either destroyed the rub-

ber coating or disappeared on exposure to the weather.

By the method employed by this firm these objections

have been overcome, and they are enabled to produce

a great variety of stripes in many colors, giving the

garment the appearance of having a cloth surface,

while being more thoroughly water-proof than a

priuted cloth can be made, and retaining their beauty

much longer.

Situated beside the Gossamer Company, and receiv-

ing their power from the same eighty horse-power

Corliss engine, is the Woodward Manufacturing

Company. This company is the outgrowth of a small

business carried on in Lowell by W. A. Woodward,
under the name of the Woodward Machine Company.
Mr, Woodward had been doing a good business in a

small way, but having made several valuable im-

provements in machinery—principally in wood-rim

pulleys—and not having capital, decided to form a

stock company for that purpose. The subject was
brought to the attention of the Hudson Board of

Trade, who appointed a committee to take the matter

in charge, and after thorough investigation another

committee was appointed to solicit subscriptions for

the stock. On January 5th the necessary capital had
been secured, and the company was incorporated with

a capital of $100,000. A tract of land was purchased

on the line of the Central Massachusetts Railroad,

and suitable buildings have been erected to carry on

the business, consisting of a factory 100x40 feet, two

stories, with a foundry 70x40, and dry-house for dry-

ing lumber. The whole is equipped with first-class

machinery.

An account of Hudson's manufacturing interests

without a statement of the great work of one of the

strongest and most influential men would be incom-

plete. Mr. George Houghton, now retired, is the

man referred to. He was one of the " war-horses "

in forming the town, has conducted some of its great-

est business interests, and aided many a citizen to an

honest living and competency. Of lowly birth and

meagre education, the world seemed to hold out little

to him except hard work. He labored faithfully at

his bench, tarning some two dollars a day, until 1857.

Mr. Tarbell, then depot master at Rockbottom, pro-

posed that they should unite forces and make shoes.

Mr. Tarbell was to look after the books and furnish

the money and Mr. Houghton was to have charge of

the work. After cautious inquiries work was begun

in the cottage where Mr. Houghton lived, the west-

ern portion of his present residence. As the business

grew it was removed to a .shed which now stands back

of his home near the hot-house. About this time

Mr. Tarbell withdrew and Mr. Houghton attempted

to close the business to return to his bench, but Bos-

ton parties insisted on sending their orders for him to

fill and furnished him the leather. So he continued

until he outgrew his shed and built his first factory,

sixty feet long and four stories high. He continued

building until, in 1872, his was considered the model

factory in the State. His success was due to native

push and inability to recognize the word " can't."

Before he retired he had done over 117,000,000 of

business. During the war his manufacturer's tax was

the largest paid by any one person in Middlesex

County. A pleasing experience in his business life

was the visit paid by the Japanese Embassy, August

2, 1872. The arrangements for the excursion were

made by a committee of the Boston Shoe and Leather
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Eschange. They made the trip by a special train on

the Kitchburg Railroad, having the same engineer

and conductor who ran the first train over the road in

I80I. The Botlon Journal of August 3d says of this

trip:

"Th« train left Bo«lon »t nine o'clock una nrriveil at Hudson at quar-

ter |>a« ten. The [urty weri' met Hi the station l)y a crowd of peoplo,

who were appareully KitlnBed with a passiliK ghince at the etranRcrii,

who were lutroduc;.d to Mr. George HouRhton and couduited at once to

elie tannery. This branch of industry Is under a social ban in Japan,

the men enguRed in wliicli are placed anions the lowest orrler of work-

men. The modern procesi of cuiiuK liidoB l>.v Immersion in vuta of

ciincenlrated li.|uur. the dreseing and llnishiug of the same by niaoliin-

ery, instead of hand, as was done in the infancy of the businees, was

examined and then the (larty entered the extensive factory, following

through the various departments the necessary stock of leather taken

from the tannery, from which a dozen pairs or so of shoes wore made

during the etjiy of two hours at the factory of Mr. Hotighton. which the

Japaneee will carry homo as specimens of a special branch of Massachu-

setts industry."

The Embassy was reported as " highly delighted

and instructed in the course of their tour through the

establishments of the peggers, and heelers, and stitch-

ers, and binders."

Each kind of business is dependent upon many

others for the highest degreeof efficiency and success,

and Hudson has acquired these various accessories

with the passage of time, so that it may be said to pos-

sess all the modern requirements of trade in the way

of banks, newspapers, electric-lights, telephone and

telegraph companies.

An account of the origin and growth of some of

the principal institutions of this character must be

included in a work of this kind and most properly

follows the history of the larger industries already

described.

Business Accessories.—The first bank located in

Hudson was the Savings Bank. Its act of incorpora-

tion is dated February 26, 1869, and says that Francis

Brigham, Edmund M. Stowe, George Houghton,

their associates and successors, are hereby made a cor-

poration by the name of the Hudson Savings Bank.

The first meeting of the corporators was held in

George Houghton's office, April 12th, where the bank

was organized by the election of the following officers

:

Francis Brigham, president; George Houghton and

Edmund M. Stowe, vice-presidents ; Francis D. Brig-

ham, treasurer ; Luman T. Jefts, clerk, and a board

of sixteen trustees. The treasurer was put under

^0,000 bonds, "with not less than five bondsmen."

April 23d it was voted, '' that each of the trustees of

Hudson Savings Bank deposit a sum not less than ten

dollars, to remain in the bank five years without inter-

est;" $210 were thus deposited, which paid the ini-

tial expenses of the bank. The bank was opened for

business in Brigham's Block (now Cochran's), May 1,

1869. The first depositor was Robert S. Harlow;
amount, $100. On the first day .$2110 were deposited.

There have been few changes in the bank officers.

Francis Brigham remained its president until his

death, in December, 1880. In January, 1881, Ed-
mund M. Stowe was appointed president until the an-

nual meeting, when Francis D. Brigham, who had

been the treasurer, was elected president, and Daniel

W. Stratton was elected treasurer. Owing to ill

health Mr. Brigham did not qualify for the position,

and Edmund M. Stowe was elected president. He
still holds the office. On the completion of Jefts'

Block, in 1881, the bank was moved into it, giving it a

more central location. In January, 1870, the deposits

were $31,076; January, 1880, .$206,244 ; January, 1890,

$528,521. The last statement, July, 1890, shows $547, •

457. In a strictly manufacturing town this shows

three things—the thriftinessof the workmen, the sa-

gacity of the bank officials and the confidence work-

men have in the bank. A large part of its deposits

are loaned to other workmen, who build and eventu-

ally own their own houses. January, 1870, the loans

on real estate were $16,370 ; January, 1880, $134,170
;

January, 1890, $349,775 ; July, 1890, $377,175. This

bank is one of the solid institutions of the town, and

a potent factor in its growth.

Though for many years workingmen could deposit

their money, there was no place where employers

could make their exchanges. All banking business

had to be done through Marlborough, Clinton or

Boston. This inconvenience was severely felt, and in

1881 Mr. Charles H. Robinson began actively to can-

vass for the location of a National Bank in the town.

The first meeting of the subscribers was held October

26, 1881. Charles H. Robinson was chosen chairman,

and H. E. Stowe clerk. On the following evening

another meeting was held, and the corporation was

organized with a capital of $100,000. The following

directors were chosen, November 22, 1881 : C. H.

Robinson ,J. S. Welsh, H. C. Tower, E. M. Stowe, L.

T. Jefts, J. S. Bradley, Henry Tower, G. A. Tripp,

Benj. Dearborn—all of Hudson; N. L. Pratt, of Sud-

bury ; A. D. Gleason.of Stow ; J. D. Tyler, of Berlin
;

.loel Proctor, of Bolton ; E. H. Dunn, of Boston, and

H. B. Braman, of Wayland. The officers elected

were—President, Luman T. Jefts; Vice-President,

E. M. Stowe ; Clerk, H. C. Tower.

Mr. George A. Lloyd, a teller in the Cambridge

National Bank, East Cambridge, was selected as

cashier, January 19, 1882, and Mr. Caleb L. Brig-

ham, the present cashier, as clerk of the bank, March

20, 1882. The charter was dated January 23, 1882,

and business was commenced March 7, 1882.

Mr. Lloyd, having been called to a position in the

Lechmere National Bank, resigned his place in the

Hudson Bank, April 23, 1883, and Mr. Caleb L. Brig-

ham was elected cashier, which position he has filled

ever since.

On the first day there were three depositors ; amount,

$3344.48. In one year the deposits amounted to $74,-

058.09. March 7, 1890, after doing business eight

years, the deposits amounted to $105,733.09. Every

week it disburses on factory pay-rolls from ten thou-

sand to twenty-five thousand dollars. One month
after it opened, its loans and discounts were $106,-
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902.49, and in July, 1890, $200,275.22. During the

last year the cashier's checks on the Blackstone Na-

tional Bank amounted to over $1,700,000. These

statements indicate somewhat the commercial basis

and activity of the town.

The Hudson Co-operative Bank was incorporated

October 22, 18S5, with the following officers ; Luman
T. Jefts, president; Charles H. Welch, secretary;

Josiah S. Welsh, treasurer. It issued its first series in

November and has done a constantly increasing busi-

ness. On May 1, 1890, they began their tenth series.

The deposits amount to $48,035, of which $45,300 are

loaned on real estate. The present officers are

:

Arthur T. Knight, i)resident; Charles H. Hill, secre-

tary; Charles K. Hall, treasurer.

It is doubtful if any manufacturing town in the

county or State can show as good a record of the so-

briety and thriftiness of its citizens as can be gleaned

from the preceding statements of these banks. It

certainly augurs well for Hudson, when the finances of

her working class increase at the rate of fifty thousand

dollars per year as they have since 1888. The town

is supplied with all the modern business accessories,

telegraph and telephone connections; eleven mails

daily, two express companies—one a local express,

Houghton's, founded in 186G by H. B. George and

purchased by Willard Houghton the year following,

the other being the "American." Train service is

better than any other town enjoys twenty-eight miles

from Boston. The Fitchburg Railroad runs five

trains daily and two Sundays; the Boston and Maine,

Central Massachusetts Division, runs eight daily trains

and two Sundays either way between Hudson and

Boston. The running time varies from forty-five to

sixty-five minutes. Fares are very low, a single

ticket on either road costing but fifty-three cents.

An electric light plant was established September

16, 1886, under the name of the Hud.son Electric

Light Company with a capital of $15,000. The
plant consists of a sixty horse-power engine and two

dynamos, with a capacity of forty-five arc and six

hundred and fifty incandescent lights.

Newspapers.—Hudson had its first newspaper

just previous to its incorporation. It was begun in

February, 1865,^by Charles A. Wood, in Hanson's

Hall, which stood on the spot now occupied by Chase's

Block. The owner, twenty-five years later, says :
" It

was in the closing days of the Kebellion, and just

after a few weeks' sojourn in the vicinity of ' the seat

of war,' that the publisher of the Hudson Pioneer, like

hundreds of other ambitious youths, gave up the avo-

cation of guard-mounting and seized the stick and

types to make for himself fame and fortune. The
town, or more properly the village, was hardly of

sufficient size to warrant a venture of this kind. The
newspaper was not a 'long-felt want,' in the true sense

of the word, and, like the history of many another

poor country editor and publisher, it was hard work

and poor pay."

The paper experienced a good many changes in lo-

cation and ownership, but it still exists in a feeble

way under its old name.

In 1883, Wood Brothers, one of whom was the

originator of the Pioneer, believed the time had come
for a genuine live town paper. On September 29,

1889, they issued their first number of the Hudson

Enterprise. It was a twenty-eight column paper, with

ten columns of local advertisements. Its circulation

was about three hundred. Its first issue contained a

good description of the birth of its older rival. " The
office of the Enterprise (in Chase's Block) stands

almost directly over the spot where we commenced
the publication of the first ])aper ever jjrinted in

Hudson, over eighteen years ago. But how dillerent

the surroundings! Then we were located in Manson's

Hall, over a shed of wide dimensions, and in cold

weather, well, wasn't it cold ! We commenced busi-

ness in the primitive style. Our paper was printed

on an old Washington hand-press, and about all our

jobbing was done on the same. All our editorial

work was done in the ante-room adjoining the

work-room, and it usually occupied our time from

five o'clock Friday afternoon until some time Satur-

day morning, when the Pioneer was born, there be-

ing no specified time, as we were at the mercy of Sam
and the ' devil,' until the last sheet was pulled through

and ott' the old press, when we once more assumed

full control."

The Enterprise began with the best modern equip-

ment in steam-power presses. It has grown from the

first size to an eight-page, forty-eight column paper,

with a circulation of 1200. It has also added other

towns to its list, so that its combined weekly issue is

over 4000. Its Christmas issue has always been a

novelty, has attracted much attention and received

many flattering notices. September 3, 1889, they

began a four-page daily, with a circulation of four

hundred. In six months it has increased so that the

edition varies from 800 to 1200, according to the

quality of the news. These papers are all alive, and

devoted to the best interests of the town.

With this narration of Hudson's material interests,

it is a pleasure and a relief to turn to another and

different aspect of its people's growth. While devot-

ed to all possible advancement in worldly att'airs, the

citizens have not forgotten religious matters, nor

failed to cultivate the social side of their natures.

Churches.—There are four churches in a vigorous

and healthy condition, occupying handsome and com-

modious structures, which are paid for. The Baptist,

Methodist and Unitarian are situated together on

Church and Main Streets, while the Catholic is situ-

ated on the next street to the east. Maple, indicating

a bond of unity and good fellowship not always

existing among rival denominations.

The first Methodist in Hudson was Phineas Sawyer

in 1800; he introduced Methodist preaching, but,

owing to his early death by accident, it did not seem
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to flourish until some yeare later. There were many

warm udherenU of the Methodist faith in Hudson

from ISGO-G), but no continuous preaching was had in

town until Mr. tieorge Houghton generously fitted

up II hull near the Kitehburg depot for the use of this

people, and on Sunday morning, April 9, 1865, Rev.

\V. \V. Colburu preached the first sermon to a good-

sized audience. Mr. Colburn was a young, energetic

man, full of the faith and zeal of Methodism, and he

worked untiringly, "in season and outof season," for

the good of the church. So successful were his efforts

in this direction, that in August, 180iJ, the foundation

of the church edifice was put in, and the work so

rapidly pushed to completion, that in the following

winter services were held in the new building. From

this time forth the new society grew rapidly, and is

to-diiy in a most flourishing condition, with a large

membership, and a wide-awake Sunday-school, ably

conducted, and intent on keeping alive the same

spirit which has ever characterized it. The church

is situated on Main Street, in the centre of the town.

Directly opposite it, on a slightly elevated site, stands

the edifice used by the First Unitarian Society, for-

merly called Union Society.

The movement which culminated in the organiza-

tion of this society may be traced to the anti-slavery

agitation in Feltouville, and to the religious services

held in the engine-house, Cox's Hall and Manson's

Hall in 1S48 and 1850. In 1854 the School Street

School-house was built with a small hall in the base-

ment, and Rev. Mr. Stacey was engaged to preach at

five dollars aSunday. This hall was named Freedom

Hall. In June, 1860, when Feltonville had one thou-

sand inhabitants, steps were taken for the erection of a

church, which, when completed, including furnishing,

organ and bell, cost 5^8400. The house is called Law-

rence Church, in honor of Amos Lawrence.

In 1862 Mr. Stacey closed his services for the soci-

ety, and Rev. W. S. McDaniel was called to the pas-

torate. He resigned in 1864, and Rev. H. C. Du^an
took his place, serving until 1867. He was succeeded

by Rev. W. S. Heywood, and he by Rev. Hilary By-

grave, who resigned in 1879. Rev. E. P. Gibbs was

installed in 1880 and resigned in 1883. He was fol-

lowed by Rev. Clarence Fowler in 1884. In an anni-

versary address delivered by Rev. Mr. Fowler, in

speaking of the religious freedom and tolerant spirit

manifested by the early founders of this society, he

related an instance in 1862, when there were some
misgivings about allowing Wm. Lloyd Garrison to

speak in the church, and Francis Brigham voiced the

convictions of the society when he said he would

rather Lawrence Church were leveled to the ground
than that Garrison should not be allowed to speak
from that pulpit. Many founders of the society are

still living.

The Sunday-school, which is the pride and inspira-

tion of the society, has a very large membership, and
great interest is manifested in it by teachers and pu-

pils. The Ladies' Social and Benevolent Society and

the Unity Club are powerful au.xiliaries in the work

of this society, and could not well be dispensed with.

I

A new and commodious chapel is soon to be added to

the accommodations of the church.

The Baptists are the oldest organized society in

town. It was through the earnest efforts of some of

the ladies of Feltonville, assisted by Rev. Henry Fittz,

that it was organized. In 1844 sevices were held in

Cox's Hall and at the houses of those interested.

Later on, various students and ministers followed up
ihe good work, until, in 1851, a church was built on

the site of the present edifice, and Rev. E. L. Wake-
field was ordained as its minister. His services with

the church lasted until 1864, when, on account of

failing health, he was obliged to resign. He was au

earnest and eloquent preacher, and greatly loved by

all. In 1865 Rev. E. H. Page was called to the pas-

torate and resigned in the following year, his place

being filled by Rev. H. G. Gay. After four years'

faithful service Mr. Gay gave way to Rev. W. H.
Ventres, who was ordained in 1871.

DuringMr. Ventres' engagement the present attrac-

tive edifice was erected at an expense of over $23,000,

and all paid for, giving this people one of the finest

churches in town. Mr. Ventres concluded his minis-

trations in 1876, and soon after Rev. Francis S. Bacon
was called to the place, filling it. with marked success

and almost unanimous satisfaction for nine years,

when he resigned to accept a call from Marblehead.

Rev. H. F. Perry, a student of the Newton Theological

School, was asked to supply the pulpit, and the peo-

ple were so favorably impressed with his ability that

he was given a unanimous call. He was ordained in

1890. Thus this society has grown from eight mem-
bers, at the time it was constituted, to a vigorous and
flourishing church, sowing much good seed and ad-

ding continually to its membership.

St. Michael's Society (Catholic) was organized by

Father M. T. Maguire, in 1869, and a church was
built on Maple Street. It supplied all their needs,

until the rapid growth of the society made a new and
larger structure imperative. This was begun in 1889,

and will cost $30,000. The corner-stone was laid

Sunday afternoon, August 25, 1889, at three o'clock,

with the full ceremonies of the Catholic ritual. The
services were in the open air on the site of the new
church. In a receptacle of the stone were piaced a

parchment containing a Latin inscription, copies of

the Hudson Enterprise, and the Boston daily papers,

coins of the period, etc. The ceremony was one of

the most impressive possible. The preacher on the

occasion was Rev. Charles W. Currier, C.S.S.R.

Besides these older societies, in the year 1887 the

formation of a Congregational Church began to be

agitated, but with no immediate result other than to

keep the subject in the minds of the members of that

denomination who had not united with either of the

other churches in Hudson. In 1889 the subject again
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received attention and a canvass was made for mem-
bers of churches of this denomination whose homes

were here, aud they were invited to attend a meeting

for prayer and conference in a private dwelling. The
evening being a very cold one, but few came, but those

who were present deemed it best to repeat the invita-

tion for another evening and the interest and attend-

ance at this second meeting justified their action.

Not long after this small beginning a Sabbath-school

was organized and the Enterprise parlors were se-

cured for the use of the growing society. Following

close upon the organization of the Sabbath-school

came the establishment of Sabbath preaching ser-

of exclusiveness—the outgrowth of older growth and
sectional jealousy—so common in larger towns, to be

found within the social environment of Hudson. A
hearty cordiality and good fellowship pervades the

place. The " stranger within her gates " is made wel-

come—how welcome can be judged from the fact that

some of her leading men are those who came to visit

friends for a day, wore enchanted by the attractive-

ness and cordiality everywhere found, and have stayed

on, until they are now represented by second and
third generations. It is this spirit which is the secret

of the flourishing societies to be found in her midst.

They are manifold. The Mason will find entertain-

ST. MICHAEL S ROMAN CATHOLIC CHURCH.

vices, the pulpit being supplied by pastors of neigh-

boring Congregational Churches, who kindly offered

their services to the young society. At the present

time the outlook is very encouraging, and there is

every reason to believe that a strong church will, in a

few years, result from this small beginning. In 1890

their 'first pastor was settled. Rev. J. C. Hall. The
first enrollment of membership was thirty. The Sab-

bath-school has an average membership of fifty, a

good library and pleasant rooms, and the attendance

upon the preaching services averages about seventy.

A Ladies' Sewing Society has also been formed, and

is in a flourishing condition. The society has pur-

chased a site on Central Street and hopes to erect a

church at no very distant day.

Social Advantages.—There is none of that air

18-iii

ment in Doric Lodge or Trinity Commandery in the

halls in the Town-Hall building ; the Odd Fellow, in

Odd Fellows' Hall ; the G. A. R., in Cochran's Block
;

the Granger, in Jefts' Block ; the Knight of Pythias,

in Lewis' Block ; the Red Men, in Odd Fellows'

Hall, and all others in some one of these halls which

are sub-let to them.

No brother or sister can apparently appear upon

the scene without meeting the sign and password of

his or her particular order. Of all these, Doric Lodge,

A. F. and A. M., is the oldest. In the autumn of

1863 a few members of the lodge in Marlboro', wish-

ing to enjoy the rites of their order with less incon-

venience than the necessary traved to Marlborough

compelled, applied to the Grand Lodge for a dispen-

sation to work in Feltonville. A charter was granted
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Dec. 28, 1863. On .iHniiary 19, 1865 the lodge was

coii.stituteil iind conaecrated by the Grand Lodge,

and a public installation of the officers wius held. The

lodge-rooms were over Lawrence Church, and they

were occupied until 187:2, when the rooms in the

Town-Hall building were leased for twenty years and

furnished at an expense of $2400. Tliese rooms were

dedicated Oct. 18, 1872. On Dec. 28, 1888, the lodge

celebrated its twenty-fifth anniversary, and one of its

pleasantcst features was that it had iis its guest William

I'arkinan, the Grand Master who signed the charter.

The Miuilers of the lodge have been as Ibllows: P. E.

.Millay, J. L. Harriman, Willard Houghton, A. S.

Trowbridge, Lyman Morse, Parkman Nourse, Edward

P. Miles, .lohn F. Wood, Walter H. Small, Francis

Howe and .Foel M. Pettengill. The membership roll

has grown from the original fifteen to one hundred

and eighty. Occupying the same rooms with Doric

[<odge is Trinity Oimmandery, Knights Templar.

The first meeting of those interested in forming a

commandery was held March 23, 1871, and twenty-

five signed the list. This was increased so that wdien

the charter was granted, April 6th, there were forty-

six charter members. Work was begun that month

under command of Sir Knight F. J. Foss, of Maiden,

Past Commander of Hugh de Payens Commandery. It

was constituted and organized in the vestry of the

Methodist Episcopal Church, on December 7, 1871.

Dr. N. 8. Chamberlain was its first Eminent Com-

mander. Those since have been, J. L. Harriman,

\V. E. C. Worcester, Luman T. .Teft«, James T. Joslin,

George B. Cochran, John Hillis, F. S. Dawes, J.

Frank Childs. It began with a debt of 11600, which

was cleared in 1878, and now there is a handsome
surplus in tiie treasury. In December, 1888, elegant

jewels were presented to all the Past Commanders. It

has made nine pilgrimages. Its membership has in-

creased to one hundred and forty.

Hudson Lodge, No. 154, I. O. O. F., was instituted

March 2], 1871. This lodge, although occupying small

and inconvenient quarters in Lawrence Church, had
a steady growth in numbers, and accumulated a very

large reserve fund, amounting at one time to about

eighteen hundred dollars. The charitable provisions

of this order have always been ftilly carried out in

this lodge, and the social feature which has always
been characteristic of Odd Fellowship is particularly

true of Hudson Lodge. Not many years after the

lodge was instituted, the wives of the members who
had taken the third degree formed a ladies' branch of

the order, and by their efforts in a social way gave an
added and extremely pleasant side to the organiza-

tion. In 1887 the members of Hudson Lodge de-

cided that their rooms were too small to accommodate
them properly, and an arrangement was made with
Hiram W. Chiise to add another story to his block on
Wood Square, to be fitted up for the especial use and
convenience of this lodge. The means of the organ-
ization made it possible for them to fit up the new

rooms in a liandsome manner without crippling their

resources. The change to the new hall was made

.September 20, 1887.

With the removal to this hall came an increased

interest in the affairs and welfare of the lodge, and an

added desire on the part of many to become members.

Probably no social organization has made greater

strides forward during the last two years than has Hud-
son Lodge. Its membership list is growing rapidly

and its fund for charitable purposes will soon be larger

ihan at any time in its past history. Since its foun-

dation the following members have presided over its

deliberations and attained the rank of " Past Grand ":

Charles W. Barnes, Hiram P. Bean, Jes.se E. Bliss,

Charles G. Brett, Simeon M. Bruce, Willard G.

Bruce, Reuben A. Derby, N. S. Fairbanks, .Tames G.

Dow, George T. Fletcher, Frederick P. Glazier, Ed-

win B. Goodnow, Charles F. Hall, James T. Joslin,

Ellsworth S. Locke, William G. Locke, Otis H.

Moore, William H. McCarthy, Charles H. Moore,

John Robertson, Oliver B. Sawyer, William F.

Smith, Fred. W. Trowbridge (2d), Martin V. Tripp.

Arthur G. Wood, John A. Woodman, Henry A.

Wheeler.

The names are arranged alphabetically and not ac-

cording to term of service.

Mr. James T. Joslin was the first Noble Grand of

the lodge and has always taken a great interest in Odd
Fellowship. He was Grand Master of the Grand

Lodge of the State of Massachusetts in 1880, and a

representative to the Sovereign Grand Lodge during

the next two years. Since the agitation of the ques-

tion of an Odd Fellows' Home he has been one of the

trustees having that matter in charge.

Dr. Cornelius S. Jackson is the present Noble

Grand, serving a second term in that position.

The wives and daughters, as has been stated, had a

temporary organization for many years, but, except in

individual cases, were not regular members of Eebekah

Degree Lodges. In 1887, it was proposed that a regu-

larly constituted Rebekah Degree Lodge be instituted,

and this plan met with hearty favor. After going

through with the necessary formalities. Magnolia De-

gree Lodge, No. 55, Daughters of Rebekah, was

instituted September 22, 1887, and has had a remark-

ably successful career ever since. The following

ladies have occupied the Noble Grand's chair since

that date : F. Emma Wood, Rachel S. Bruce, Flora

A. Moore.

The other secret orders of the town are strong

financially and in numbers. They have a most un-

doubted effect upon the affairs of the place, but a

want of space precludes any more extended reference

to them in this sketch.

Board of Trade.—A town to grow must have the

elements of growth within herself, public spirit, man-
ifested not only in words, but in deeds. That " union

is strength " is nowhere better illustrated than where

public-spirited men unite unselfishly to advance the
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interests of the town in which they live. Such a

union was effected in Hudson in its Board of Trade.

Agreeable to a call issued to those who had expressed

a desire to organize a Board of Trade, about one hun-

dred of Hudson's wide-awake business men assembled

in the lower town hall on Wednesday evening, March

22, 1887, to devise measures for the formation of an

organization whereby unity of action might be se-

cured for the better promotion of the public interests.

Hon. L. T. Jefts presided and spoke in favor of the

organization of a Board of Tr.ade and the great good

that would probably result to the town from such an

organization, not only to business men, but to all

classes. On motion of R. B. Lewis it was voted to

proceed to the organization of the meeting, and Mr.

Jefts was chosen chairman, F. H. Chamberlain, secre-

tary, and R. B. Lewis, treasurer. A committee was

chosen to draft constitution and by-laws and report at

an adjourned meeting. Some stirring speeches were

made, and the meeting was marked by unity of action

and purpose which foreboded a change for the better

in the business affairs of the town. The meeting ad-

journed for one week to hear the report of committee

on organization. The adjourned meeting was well

attended. The committee on by-laws presented the

same to the meeting and they were unanimously

adopted. A paper was drawn up for signatures and

forty names secured. At the third meeting on the

Wednesday following, April 9, 1887, the membership

was increased to one hundred and one, and the fol-

lowing officers elected :

President, F. A. Robinson ; Vice-Presidents, L. T.

Jefts, E. M. Stowe, J. S. Bradley ; Secretary, F. H.

Chamberlain ; Treasurer, D. W. Stratton ; Correspond-

ing Secretary, W. H. Small ; Collector, J. H. Robin-

son ; Reception Committee, G. T. C. Holden, L. D.

Apsley, G. B. Cochran, J. F. Wood, J. B. Clare, Caleb

L. Brigham, W. H. Brigham ; Board of Directors, W.
H. Moulton, C. H. Robinson, Benj. Dearborn, Henry

Tower, M. Wood, R. B. Lewis, F. S. Dawes, H. C.

Tower, A. K. Graves and G. A. Tripp.

Its object is tersely expressed in its preamble :

"This organization is effected for the purpose of ad-

vancing and encouraging the growth and prosperity

of this town, and for promoting and fostering social

and business intercourse among its members." Its

motto, " Stand Together."

It has stood together valiantly, giving material aid

to established industries, and inducing others to locate

here. It first secured the Elastic Webbing Company,
then formed the Woodward Manufacturing Company
and finally the Hudson Real Estate Company. The
latter is a good illustration of its vim and ability. For

several months efforts were made to bring to town the

large shoe manufacturers, Messrs. Mawhinney &
Company, having factories at Stoneham and Fayville,

and doing an immense shoe business, reckoned among
the soundest firms in the State, with a heavy finan-

cial standing. No satisfactory arrangements seemed

possible at first, as no available factories were suffi-

ciently convenient for their work, but finally two

active members of the board askfd them what could

be done to get them to locate in Hudson. Jlr. Maw-
hinney made a proposition which was that if a factory

could be built for them in Hudson, 250x40 feet, four

stories high and supplied with engine and boiler and
fixed machinery, they would take the plant at a cer-

tain per cent, for a long term of years. To do this

would require about twenty-five thousand dollars. The
Hudson men unhesitatingly gave their opinion that

such a fiictory could be built for tliem, and returned

home lully determined to make the effort. A meeting

of the Board of Trade was immediately called. A
large number of the wide-awake business men ofthe

town were present and entered into the scheme with

enthusiasm. It was thoroughly discussed and a com-
mittee appointed to retire and formulate some definite

plan of action for the acceptance of the meeting.

After a brief consultation the committee returned to

the meeting a proposition to raise $25,000 for the

establishment of the plant by the sale of stock, the

shares to be placed at fifty dollars each, and the

first four members of the committee ajjpended their

names to a document pledging nearly one-tenth of

the required sum. The paper was at once circulated

among the members, and in less than fifteen minutes

the subscriptions had reached over five thousand dol-

lars. A soliciting committee was appointed to raise

the remainder, and in one week the task was done.

The factory, one of the largest in the State, was built

and occupied by the firm, April 1, 1890.

In October. 1889, the Board of Trade published and
distributed a 15,000 edition of the JIu(lso7i Enterprise

of sixteen pages, containing over fifty large illustra-

tions of the town, its residences and business plants.

It was scattered all over the country. The work of the

board is having an appreciable effect upon the town
;

building is very active and yet the demands for tene-

ments cannot be met ; business is " booming '' as

thoroughly as in any Western town, without any
mushroom tendency ; the stores are being remodeled

and fitted with all modern conveniences ; taxable

property is growing rapidly, and the census will show
large gains in population. For many of the data used

in this history we are indebted to the columns of this

Board of Trade paper and desire to acknowledge our

obligation to it, having in several instances found no

better statements anywhere than in this paper of

historical facts.

Natural Advantages.—Nature is often prolific

in her beauties, and certainly no place east of the

Berkshire Hills has been so lavishly endowed as

Hudson.

Nestled in a valley through which flows the gentle

winding Assabet, furnishing power and water supply

to some of the largest manufactories, on every side

are gentle slopes and hills affording most attractive

building sites. Rising sharply from the right of the
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river bank is Bellevue, a tower of strength and

beauty, its green slopes smiling down upon the town,

ottering rest and refreehing shade ader daily toil. It

coinmunds an extensive view of the country in all

direetiouH and nearly all parte of it look directly

down upon the town, with its churches, schools, busi-

ness blocks and manufactories, and yet is removed

friim its noise and smoke and dust.

The outlook is surpassed by no other eminence in

this section, particularly to the east and west, where

the Assabet finds its winding way and where verdant

fields, forests of green bills and vales stretch away as

far as the eye can reach, presenting a charming

panorama of loveliness.

llroad streets lined with beautiful shade trees,

attractive dwellings, well-kept lawns and shrubbery,

form a picture of comfort and prosperity which

speaks elotpieutly for the inhabitants. The area of

the town i.s not large, but it is compactly built, thus

concentrating the eflbrls anil interests of the inhabit-

ants and inspiring each to add to the beauty of the

whole. This pride in the town's growth and pros-

I)erity has induced hundreds to own and beautify

their dwellings, a larger share of whom are working-

men, many holding an unencumbered title to some of

the tinest estates in town. The surrounding country

is equally beautiful, atlbrding pleasant drives in all

directions, and opening to the view delightful scen-

ery. To the west of the town is "Potash Hill,"

towards the north " Falls Hill," to the south " Pros-

pect Hill," from each of which extensive views can

be had of the surrounding country.

There are no extensive streams. The Assabet, the

largest, is a small river having its rise in West-

borough, and Hows through Northboro', Marlboro',

Berlin, Hudson, Stow and Concord, where it unites

with the Sudbury River. On its passage it receives

several smaller streams from Berlin and Bolton, but

they are not very important, though furnishing suffi-

cient power during portions of the year to run some

of the mill industries. Of the ponds, the one in the

eastern portion is the most beautiful. From its

clear, sandy bottom, it has always been called

" White Pond," now dignified into the newer appella-

tion of " iMirror Lake." Few sheets of water can com-

pare with it in purity.

(Teograpliically Hudson is situated in the extreme

northwestern part of Middlesex County, the western

boundary being that of the county as well as the

town, as has been referred to already several times in

this history. Four miles west is Berlin, four miles

north i5olton, four miles south Marlborough, and

four miles northeast Stow. All these, except Marl-

borough, are farming communities, of which Hudson
is the natural trading centre. To this they have
gradually been drawn, until to-day the business centre

of the town is a scene of continual bustle and activ-

ity ; brick blocks have risen in place of the old

wooden ones, special stores have taken place of the

old " general stores," and the future outlook is one of

growth and prosperity,—how prosperous may be

gleaned from the record of growth since 1S6<5. At

that time the inhabitants numbered about 1800; in

1890, about TjOOO ; the valuation in 1866 was $805,-

277 ; in 1890, $2,490,115. The increase from May,

1888, to May, 1889, was $68,428 ; from May, 1889, to

May, 1890, it was $208,345. These figures indicate a

vigorous, healthy, growing town, which will soon

become prominent in the county.

It has been the effort of the writers of this sketch

to avoid all appearance of exaggeration. They
realize that there is little that is exceptional in what

has been told in those pages. It is the story of the

foundation and growth of a New England manufac-

turing town owing its progress to the efforts of typical

Massachusetts men. They believe, however, that even

in this account there is much that may be learned

by those who would themselves succeed, and have an

honest desire to promote the future advancement of

Hudson. We are too apt to hurry over the achieve-

ments of our predecessors and to hold their labors in

too slight estimation. It is well occasionally to step

aside from the rush of business life to gather recol-

lections of the past, to learn something from " the

days of small things," and pay a meed of honor and

respect to those whose work is done and often for the

most part forgotten. Many things of historical in-

terest have necessarily been omitted, many persons,

living and dead, are entitled to much greater recog-

nition than it has been possible to give them, and

many inaccuracies of statement may be found in

spite of our efforts to be correct. Hudson is in its

infancy, and its history, its real history, is before it.

A full and complete account of it must be deferred

to a later time and under other circumstances.

BIOGEAPHICAL.

JEDEDIAH WOOD.

Jedediah Wood was born in Marlborough, May 16,

1777, and moved to the " Mills " when he was twenty

years old. One of the earliest citizens of the place,

he has de.scendauts still occupying the property, and

conducting a business in which he was engaged,

though now, of course, adapted to modern require-

ments. He married Betsey Wilkins, September 6,

1801 ; they had seven children, of whom Col. William

H. Wood was prominently connected with the

growth of the town. The story of Mr. Wood's pros-

perity is this. While still in his teens he was sent

by his father to get a bushel of corn from a neighbor-

ing trader. As he wanted it on credit, it was refused.

Cut to the quick, he then and there decided that the

time should come when his credit would be good.

In time he bought the "Mills" on credit, and car-

ried on cloth-dressing. The farmers wove this cloth
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and it was brought to him from all the surrounding

country, even from Boylston. His work was of such

good quality that some broad-cloth of his dress-

ing received the first premium at the Concord Fair.

His machinery was in the basement of the " Old Red
Shop," which stood on the spot afterwards occupied

by the " Brick Shop." On the north side of the road

below the Caleb Haskell house, he had his field of

teasels, the ripened flower-heads of which were used

in raising the nap of woolen cloths.

In this same buihling he opened a general store. At
that time there was no wagon at the " Jlills," but he

would ride his horse to Marlborough, borrow a wagon,

drive to Boston and buy his goods, and then return

the vehicle. For the first seven years this business

did not pay its expenses, but the cloth-dressing and a

little farming kept the balance on the right side of

the ledger. Cool and moderate in his manner and
habits, he shrewdly conducted affairs, until he estab-

lished the business which passed to his son, Col.

William H. Wood, and is now in the hands of his

grandson, Solon Wood. He became a large buyer of

real estate, owning all from the river to the present

Brigham place on the south side, all east of Maple
Street, and several buildings. He and Squire Pope
were the large land-owners half a century ago. He
lived in the house now known as the " Wood Place,''

at the junction of Park and Washington Streets. He
was a selectman of Marlborough, and was captain of

a military company. During the War of 1812 he was

on duty for a while at Fort Warren. He died in 1867,

nearly ninety years of age.

STEPHEN POPE.

Mr. Stephen Pope was one of the pioneers of the

town. He was born January 11, 178G, and moved to

this place from Bolton in 1816. He was then a

(.Quaker, and every Monday morning he took his two

oldest children to the Quaker school, and every

Thursday and Sunday attended the Quaker services,

then held in the school-house. He engaged in tan-

ning, his yard being on the spot where the Methodist

Church now stands. His tanning was all done in the

primitive way, and the old white horse which turned

the bark-mill was a very familiar object. Whenever
sufficient skins were tanned the horse made the jour-

ney to Boston to find a market.

Mr. Pope's first residence was where R. B. Lewis'

house now stands. He soon desired to own a farm

and bargained for the land from the Bolton line over

what are now Felton and Pope Streets. At the time

he mortgaged it heavily, and has since stated that he

could not get credit for seven pounds of flour. Work,
early and late, prudent habits and care in time

cleared the farm, added other lands until he became

the largest laud-owner in this section. What is now
Felton Street was his apple orchard; Summer, Win-

ter and Spring Streets now cross what was his "mis-

sionary " land. He drove each year regularly to

Salem to pay the interest on his debt, and he always

took one of the children with him. In 182.") he be-

came interested in the Methodist services held in the

village, and as they found difficulty in obtaining a

place in which to hold their meetings, ho lifted up a

room in one of his tan-yard buildings for their use.

When the Baptist Church was built he gave them
the land and bought the first pew, though he never

afliliated with them. When the Fitchburg Branch
was built he gave the land for the depot site. He
occupied various town oflices, was selectman of Marl-

borough and one of the overseers of the poor tor

many years. He was a member of the Massachusetts

Senate when the Senators were elected from counties.

He died in 1870, at the advanced age of eighty-four

years, in the brick house which was removed when
the town-house was built.

JOSEPH S. BRADLEY.

Joseph Stevens Bradley traces his genealogy on his

mother's side to one of the earliest settlers in Felton-

ville—Robert Bernard. It will be remembered that

Bernard was the purchaser of about three hundred

and fifty acres of land from one Barstow, in 1723, a

copy of the deed being given in the early pages of this

history.

The family line runs iis follows : Robert Bernard

married for his second wife Elizabeth Bailey, of Lan-

caster, and the result of this union was six children,

among them a son by the name of Joel, who married

Lucy Stevens, July 16, 1756. One of their children

was Lavinia Bernard, who married Daniel Stevens as

his third wife. Their daughter married William

Trowbridge, December 11, 1814, and was the mother

of the subject of this sketch. William Trowbridge

was a son of Joseph Trowbridge and a machinist by

trade, moving from one town to another, more or less

frequently, as his business necessitated. It thus hap-

pened (hat Mr. Bradley was born in Worcester, Mass.,

May 20, 1823.

When three years of age he was taken to Marl-

borough to live, and at the age of seven came to live

with an aunt, in the house now located near the en-

trance to the grounds of the late Captain Francis

Brigham, that property having been a portion of his

mother's estate. While living here he obtained what
little schooling he ever enjoyed in the small school-

house then located on what is now Washington
Street, which has been spoken of before in these

pages. With the exception of the very short time

devoted to acquiring a knowledge of the three " R's,"

Mr. Bradley's boyhood was passed in earning what
he could to pay for his living. Farther down the

street was the factory of Lorenzo Stratton, and here,

before he was twelve years of age, he learned to make
a whole shoe. Later on he worked in Stephen Pope's

tannery, splitting leather, and, for a diversion, driving
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the old white horee. Thus, without being aware of

the immense value which this knowledge was to be to

him in the future, he learned to know leather thor-

oughly, anil became a practical shoemaker.

At sixteen he worked a while for Captain Francis

Brighani, who at that time was manufacturing shoes

in a brick shop on the site of Holden's grocery store,

on the north side of Wood Square. At seventeen he

was seized with a desire to see something of the

world, and resolved to go to New Orleans. On reach-

ing New York State, however, he learned that yellow

fever wa.H rampant in the South, and turned hi.s steps

northward, landing, a.s much by chance as anything,

in Saratoga Springs, in the summer of 1841. Here

a new world was opened before him ; for even at that

time what was known as Congress Spring was discov-

ered, and its water valued for its medicinal proper-

ties. During that summer about five thousand guests

visited the place, bringing with them the stir and

bustle of a pleasure resort. Mr. Bradley worked at

his trade as a shoemaker upon the opposile side of the

street from where the present Grand Union Hotel

stands. At that time there was a hotel there of the

same name, but much smaller, which has since been

destroyed by fire. During this summer he had the

good fortune to hear 01c Bull, who was on his first

visit to America, and was revealing to astonished and

delighted Americans new realms in the musical world

with his violin. While there, also, the first omnibus

ever seen at the Springs was driven into town by a

young man who is much better known to the present

generation of readers by the name of the Rev. George

S. Ball, at that time a driver in the employ of Massa-

chusetts parties. The 'bus was all the "go," and Mr.

Bradley recalls, with a good deal of pleasure, of riding

from the lake back to the Springs in it, on one occa-

sion, when ex-President Martin Van Buren was a fel-

low-passenger.

Mr. Bradley remained here from June to Decem-

ber, and these months must have been among the

most memorable of his life. He went as far north as

the present city of Ottawa, and the River St. Lawrence

freezing up the next day, he was obliged, much
against his will, to remain there during that winter.

After a decidedly dreary winter here he took the first

boat back to ihe States in the spring. He tired, how-

ever, of a nomadic life, and relumed to Feltonville,

working at the shoemaking trade here, in Worcester,

Woburn and other places until 1850.

On October 1st of that year he began business on

his own account in company with Captain Francis

Brigham and Mr. William F. Trowbridge, his brother,

under the firm-name of " F. Brigham & Co." It will

be remembered that the general outline of this firm's

history has been given elsewhere. At the outset,

however, all was not smooth sailing, and, as Mr.
Bradley has stated, at the end of the first three years

it could not be said that the firm had made a dollar.

Better days followed, and in 1858 the firm moved into

the brick shop which has since been burned. Mr
Trowbridge withdrew from the firm in 18(16, and

Messrs. W. F. and W. B. Brigham came in. This firm

continued until April 1, 1880, when Mr. Bradley

withdrew to enter into a co-partnership with Henry

R. Sayward, of Cambridge, Mass. The firm-name is

Bradley & Sayward, and occupies the F. S. Dawes

factory in Hudson and a somewhat smaller one in

Dover, New Hampshire. This firm is one of the

strongest and most active concerns in Massachusetts.

Their business averages half a million dollars

annually, while the average output at the Hudson fac-

tory monthly is nine hundred and sixty-pair cases. The

Dover factory has about one-half this capacity. No
manufactory in Hudson runs more steadily or with

less friction. The firm's goods are sold mostly in the

South and Southwest, and their customers are found

in twenty-eight States of the Union. From Portland

to Galveston, and from Minnesota to Florida their

shoes may be found.

Mr. Bradley's time has not been given entirely to

his own business. Prior to the incorporation of the

town he served upon several committees seeking to

accomplish the desired change; was a member of the

committee of five on the part of Hudson to make a

final separation from Bolton. He was the first Repre-

sentative sent to the House from Hudson in 1867, and

during that year had the most important matter to

handle that has ever been before the Legislature in

which Hudson interests were solely concerned. In

1870 he was elected town treasurer, and served con-

tinuously in that position until the election in 1890,

when he declined longer to hold the oflice. When
he entered upon the duties of this office he found that

the business had not been done in a systematic man-

ner and used his best endeavors to have the town's

finances put in proper shape. It had been the custom

up to that time to borrow money in a hap-hazard

manner of any one who had a hundred or a thousand

dollars to lend and wished a safe investment at a high

rate of rnterest. Mr. Bradley funded the debt then

existing by means of longer time notes at a much less

rate of interest. The town incurred large obligations

in the purchase of Massachusetts Central Railroad

siock, in building a town-house, new roads and school-

houses, and it is a most fortunate thing that she had so

skilled a financier in charge of this office for so many
years. In 1877 he was elected a member of the Board

of Selectmen, but declined a re-election the follow-

ing year. He has always been connected with the

banking institutions of the place, having declined an

election as president of the National Bank, although

a member of its directorate. He has been for many
years a vice-president and one of the board of invest-

ment of Hudson Savings Bank, and in other organ-

izations at home and abroad he has occupied promi-

nent places. He has always been a believer in the

Unitarian faith and a steady supporter of its church.

He has long enjoyed a reputation for business ability
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and strict integrity. He is a lover of standard booli:s

and has not lost his liking for travel. The surviving

members of his family are his wife and one daughter,

the wife of Fred S. Dawes, of Hudson.

DANIEL WILBUR STRATTON.

Daniel Wilbur Stratton, born April 24, 1848, is the

eldest son of Daniel and Tryphena Eice (Holm.-in)

Stratton. He is of the fourth generation bearing the

name Daniel. His great-grandfather was born at

Weston, May 20, 1749. His grandfather was born

April 22, 1777, and married Cally Smith, of Needham

(born December 20, 1778), April 22, 1800. Cally

Smith was the daughter of Captain Aaron Smith, who
commanded a military company in the War of the

Revolution. With his company he participated in

the repulse of the British forces which advanced to

Concord, April 19, 1775, and as a result of that day's

engagement his command suffered a loss of five men
killed and two others wounded. Daniel Stratton, the

father of the subject of this sketch, was born Septem-

ber 7, 1817, in the north part of the town of Marlbor-

ough (now Hudson). When about four years of age

the family moved to the farm just across the line in

Bolton, upon territory which became a part of Hudson
by the annexation of 1868. Daniel Stratton grew to

manhood and afterwards became the owner of his

father's estate together with much additional property

which he acquired by purchase. In 18G5, when the

movement was made to incorporate a new town from

territory of the towns of Marlborough, Stow, Bolton

and Berlin, Daniel Stratton was the leading petitioner

from the Bolton territory, and was selected as the rep-

resentative from that part of Bolton to serve on the

standing committee of five to prosecute the move-

ment for an incorporation. He entered on this en-

terprise with the zeal and determination which he ex-

hibited in all the affairs which engaged his support.

The undertaking was consummated, and the " Stratton

Homestead" was included within the new town of

Hudson. When twenty-two years of age Daniel mar-

ried, December 31, 1839, Tryphena Rice Holman, of

Sterling, and this union continued fifty years and one

day. A " Golden Wedding" was celebrated by this

couple and their numerous friends December 31,

1889, and on the day following, soon after his retire-

ment for the night, without hardly a premonition, the

messenger of death summoned the head of this happy

and prosperous household to that better land which

is " fairer than day." Although a farmer his life

long, he was every whit a man. Intelligent, pro-

gressive, fearless for the right, independent in his

opinions, the cause of religion, temperance, educa-

tion, good citizenship had no stancher champion or

firmer ally than Daniel Stratton. He held various

town offices.

From such ancestry descends a worthy son. Daniel

W. was reared on the farm under wholesome influ-

ences and amid surroundings the best fitted to develop

the latent aspirations of boyhood and youth. From
the common school he was sent to the high school of

the town, afterward to Wilbrahara Academy. Sup-

plementing this for special training, a course in the

Massachusetts Institute of Technology was taken.

In early manhood he was thus prepared to entei

upon his calling of a civil engineer, in which he soon

became skilled and efficient. As opportunity offered

in the growing town of his birth, and his .abilities be-

came recognized, he was early summoned by his towns-

men to official trusts. Widening and enlarging the

scope of his private enterprises, by engaging in the

insurance business, conveyancing and the settlement

of estates, he was elected town clerk in 1878, which

office he has since held ; in 1887 he was elected to the

Board of Water Commissioners and afterward registrar

and superintendent of the Hudson Water Works ; in

1881 he was made treasurer of Hudson Savings Bank,

and one of its trustees, which trusts he still holds. He
is in the prime of life, with golden opportunities

ahead.

June 9, 1880, he married Annie Scott \Vebster,

daughter of Richard Webster, of Haverhill. The
children of this marriage are Mary Edith Stratton,

Walter Daniel Stratton and Helen Inez Stratton.

GEORGE HOUGHTON.

The subject of this sketch assumed and had legal-

ized in 1844 this name in lieu of Earl H. Southwick.

He was the oldest child of Elisha and Lydia ( Hough-

ton) Southwick, there being a brother and a sister

younger.

Elisha Southwick was a descendant, in the sixth

generation, from Lawrence Southwick, whose name
appears on the records of Salem as early as l(i39.

Lawrence and his wife, Cassandra, were Quakers, and

sufl'ered much from the persecution of people claim-

ing the name Christian. James Savage's " Genealogi-

cal Dictionary of First Settlers of New England '' con-

tains the following :
" 1658 and 1659. In the dark

days of delusion against the Quakers, the whole family

of Lawrence and Cassandra Southwick suffer much
from fines and imprisonment. When the fines of

Daniel and Provided were unpaid, the lender-hearted

General Court, with intent to magnify the glory of

God, ordered them to be sold for slaves to any

Christian in Virginia or Barbadoes." This infamous

act was attempted, but to the glory of God, and the

credit of Massachusetts, no one was found vile enough

to bid at the sale and the maiden. Provided Southwick,

was released by the sheriff".

Elisha Southwick was a Quaker, and was trained

and educated as a teacher and preacher to the faith-

ful. Although nearly a century and a half had
elapsed since the perpetration of the outrage on his

ancestor above referred to, yet the first quarter of the

nineteenth century even, found this sect of believers
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in Maasachusetta subject to many restrictions and

social ostracism. So much was this the case that a

movement was undertaken to settle a Quaker colony

in the valley of the St. Lawrence. A tract of land

comprising about 15,000 acres was secured, and the

settlement was commenced. The church and the

school must be planted with the felling of the forest.

The missionary, pioneer and prophet selected for

this important and arduous duty was Elisha South-

wick. In the strength of opening manhood he

accepted the mission and went to the field of duty.

The undertaking prospered, and in the course of a

few years the young teacher yearned for a help-meet.

He returned to Bolton and found Lydia Houghton, a

young woman of character and resolution, willing to

join her fortune with his, and in due time they were

married. The wedded couple departed for the new

home beyond the limit of State, and under the pro-

tection of the British flag. Earl H. was born on

Canadian soil, July 23, 1822. The trials and hard-

ships of parents were great, and after a few years the

fact appeared that the mind of the father was becom-

ing unsettled, and verging on insanity. Friends

interested themselves, and the family, consisting then

of father, mother and three children, returned to the

town of Bolton. The father was placed in an asylum

where he died August 13, 1830, at the age of thirty-

five. Earl H. was then eight years old ; his mother

a widow with two younger children, in a state of

penury. Poverty, however, is not the greatest mis-

fortune. Lydia, the mother, was a woman of spirit

and courage. She was a woman of action likewise.

Earl H. was provided with a home where, for the time

being, he could earn a living. In due time he was

apprenticed to learn the trade of making shoes. The
mother cared for the others as best she could. Soon

Earl H. lent a helping hand to mother and brother

and sister. Thus the children grew to manhood and

womanhood, and the mother remained true to her

charge. All have now passed to the "silent major-

ity," save the subject of this sketch, who survives.

Earl H. inherited a good constitution and mental

faculties of no ordinary kind. In stature he is

moulded a Southwick; in mental and humane traits

he takes largely the mother's endowments. When a

youth he was advised to take his mother's surname.

He was told that it would be advantageous. That
Quakerism was odious. That his father had lived

and died in error. This by Christians. Had he then

known the history of his race, and the mark they

have left Impressed on the ages, this advice would
probably have never been heeded. In 1881 the South-
wick geneaology was published, and therein is dis-

closed the sufferings, persecutions and indignities en-

dured by his Quaker ancestry; how they remained
steadfast for truth and conscience sake and finally

triumphed. Ere this revelation came, however, Earl
H., now only known as George Houghton, had vindi-

cated the record and had added another illustrious

example to the list already extended. From humble
beginnings, by industry and perseverance, from mak-

ing shoes in » part of his dwelling-house with a team

of four men, he occupied a new shop, sixty by twenty-

five feet, four stories in height, equipped with mod-

ern machinery; in a few years this shop is increased

to 112 feet in length ; a few years later, by still vaster

strides, he becomes the owner and possessor of the

largest manufactory in the town of Hudson, with a

capacity of anywhere from 2000 to 6000 pairs of shoes

per day, as the demands of the trade required. Not
content with this, he finally owned and equipped the

finest tannery and currying establishment in the

State. Willing and determined to help on the grow-

ing industries of the town, he virtually engineered

the erection of a piano-forte manufactory, into which

he put $16,000 of his capital.

A man of indomitable will-power, obstacles to men
of less zeal and determination were brushed aside or

made to serve his purpose, and hence he came to be

regarded a leader, as most emphatically he was, in the

manufactures in which he engaged. From this fact,

when the Japanese Embassy visited America to in-

spect our industries, it was to his establishments that

Boston merchants took their guests to see the wonder-

ful improvements in the manufacture of leather and

shoes. To show the characteristics of the man a sin-

gle example must sufiice. At the centennial indus-

trial display, in Boston, in 1875, his exhibit astonished

the world. It was deemed impossible by the best ar-

tisans to establish a manufactory with steam power

and fixed machinery, on wheels. The difl5culties

were virtually decided to be insuperable. To most

men it would have been impossible. Mr. Houghton
grappled with the problem and made it a perfect suc-

cess. In fact, he put into that procession a shoe fac-

tory on wheels with all the necessary paraphernalia,

drawn by eight powerful horses, and made shoes en-

tire from the beginning to the close of the procession,

and never a belt left its pulley nor a mishap occurred.

To do this required great mechanical skill. What
deterred others but stimulated him. What others

said could not be done he asserted could be done, and

he made good the assertion. His has been a master-

spirit, and to his matchless energy the town is largely

indebted for her present beauty, thrift and enterprise.

Mr. Houghton has been twice married. Both wives

were, in the fullest sense, help-meets to him, and

shared his struggles and successes. He has been a

widower since 1876. Of the eight children born of

these unions, two sons survive. Mr. Houghton has

met with reverses, and has retired from the field as a

manufacturer. His friends, and his town's-people

are altogether such, rejoice that the closing years of

his life may be free from the great burdens which for

many years he bore, and that there is yet in hand and

in store enough of this world's goods, so that the re-

maining years shall be free from the anxieties and

hardships which beset his youth.
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HON. LUMAN T. JEFTS.

Hon. Luman T. Jefts, of Hudson, was born of hum-
ble parentage in Washington, N. H., in 1830. His

opportunities for cultivating the mind were very lim-

ited. When seventeen years of age he attended

school away from home one term ; then, feeling the

need of a more thorough course of education, he ob-

tained permission from his father to gratify his cher-

ished wish, providing he did it at his own expense.

He spent most of the next six years in working every

spare day out of school, attending school as much as

his limited means would allow and then teaching and

attending au academy. Afterwards he became a

clerk in a store at the munificent salary of $300 per

year. After finishing his contract there he went into

the grocery business. We find him, in 1859, at the

age of twenty-nine, with the little money he had

saved by practicing economy, entering into partner-

ship with A. K. Graves for the manufacture of shoes

in the village of Feltonville (now Hudson). After

two successful years in a small way, the partnership

was dissolved, and he alone continued the business,

which has steadily increased, until he is now one of

the most successful business men in this town.

While pursuing his honorable business career, Mr.

Jefts has found time for culture of mind and heart,

having traveled extensively in his own country and

twice visited Europe, and lately Mexico. He has

shown his public spirit by building and presenting to

his native town of Washington, N. H., an elegant

public library building. He has also given to the

Methodist Episcopal Church in Hudson an elegant

parsonage. He has taken a deep interest in the Chau-

tauqua Assembly. He is treasurer and trustee of the

New England Conservatory of Music, and was last

winter unanimously elected trustee of Boston Univer-

sity. He was the first president of the Hudson Co-

operative Bank, and has been president of the Hudson
National Bank since its establishment. He has for

many years been one of the trustees of the Hudson
Savings Bank, and is now vice-president and one of

the committee of investment of the same.

He is a Knight Templar in Trinity Commaudery,
Hudson, belongs to Hudson Grange and is a member
of the Rawson Council, No. 936 Royal Arcanum.

In 1882 he was nominated by the Republicans and

handsomely elected Representative from the Thirty-

third Middlesex District, and served on the Committee

on Banking. In 1885, and again in 1886, was he unani-

mously nominated by acclamation as a candidate for

Senator for the Fifth Middlesex District, a thing unpre-

cedented in the political history of the district. Each

year he was elected by a large majority, and served in

the Senate both years on the Committees on Manufac-

tures, the Liquor Law and Public Charitable institu-

tions. In the Senate of 1887, he served as chairman of

these several committees. At a dinner given by

Senator Jefts, near the close of the session. President

Boardman said : " Recognizing his ability in last

year's Senate, I appointed him chairman of three im-

portant committees, and the work accomplished by
him in these committees convinces me that I made no
mistake." He is now serving his second year as a

member of the Republican State Committee. Start-

ing out as a poor boy, we find him filling every posi-

tion, whether in private station or public life, with

honor and credit to himself, while gaining the respect

and confidence of all who have been associated with

him.

He is interested in every measure that tends to ad-

vance the best interests of Hudson, while he also

finds time to aid outside enterprises.

CHAPTER XXIV.

TEWKSBURY.

BY REV. E. W. I'RIDE.

The town of Tewksbury is bounded on the north by
the Merrimac River and Andover, on the east by
Andover and Wilmington, on the south by Wilming-
ton and Billerica, on the west by Billerica and Low-
ell. Its extent is, by the census of 1890,-13,301

acres with a population of 1713, and lOUO inmates of

the State Almshouse, that being the average number
of inmates of that institution. The valuation of the

town is $1,365,495.

For a small town Tewksbury possesses considerable

river frontage. The Merrimac flows for some three

miles along its northern boundary and separates it

from Dracut, which town alone dividesit from New
Hampshire. The Concord winds along its south-

western part for miles, and formerly was its boundary
on the west till the union of that river with the Mer-
rimac. The " Shawshine," a deep, swift, but narrow
stream, runs through the southeast part of the town
for its entire length. Numerous brooks pour into

these streams; prominent among them is Mills' Brook,

which runs into the Merrimac, Strong Water Brook,

and Heath Brook, which empty into the Shawshine.

There are three ponds of considerable extent—Long,
Round and Mud Ponds.

Two hills—Prospect and Strong Water—rise to a

considerable height, and afibrd fine views of the sur-

rounding country from their summits. These hills

with their wooded slopes form beautiful features in

the landscape.

The north part of the town called North Tewks-
bury, has land of a superior quality, and from various

points the prospects are remarkably beautiful of

Lowell, the neighboring towns and also of the distant

hills of New Hampshire. It possesses a small vil-

lage, a church, and formerly had a post-office which
the proximity of Lowell rendered superfluous.

The other parts of the town are more or less at a
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disadvantage because of the large extent of liglit and

sand}- soils, which, however, often allow the cultivator

to produce earlier crops than can be done where the

land is heavier. Towards the Billerica line on the

south the -sand is so extensive as to form a niiniaturo

desert, whose <lrifts in spots encroach on the neighbor-

ing grass and shrubs.

The chief village of Tewksbury is at the Centre.

There are the Congregational Church—till 1843 the

only one in town,—the post-office, the store and the

station of the Boston & Lowell Railroad. With its

common and trees,its well-kept walks and trim-looking

houses, it is a pleasant village of the old New England

type, from which the goodly ancient stock has not yet

all departed. Much of this beauty in the village is

due to the laudable eflbrts of the Village Improve-

ment Association for the last three years.

Toward the west part of Tewksbury appear two

manufacturing establishments, which intimate the

proximity of the neighboring city. These are the

chemical works of Taylor Barker, and the Ather-

ton Machine-Shop, which turns out a large quantity

of cotton machinery.

On the edt;e of Lowell are many suburban resi-

dences, whose owners do business in the city. Near

the Lowell Cemetery and Concord River many of the

factory population live, whose work is in the adjoin-

ing great manufacturing centre.

In past years Tewksbury was quite a seat for the

manufacture of furniture. Mr. Alvin Marshall was

engaged in this business at the Centre for years, em-

ploying quite a number of men. Gregory & Barrell

also for some time manufactured pine tables and simi-

lar articles. Lowell gradually absorbed these firms

By far the largest business of this kind was that be-

gun in Tewksbury (Centre, in the spring of 1851, by

Joel J'oster, Enoch Foster and N. P. Cole, under the

style of J. & E. Foster & Company, only one, Joel,

being of the age of twenty-one years. The beginning

was small, the power used was horse-power, and in

hired buildings. Soon were built shops and a steam

mill, and from five to fifty men were employed.

Early in the business a great demand sprang up for

furniture in California, and freights were high, and as

the trade was large, the plan was devised of making
the furniture to be knocked down, thereby putting

four bureaus into the space ofone, and boxing up tight,

which gave this firm the advantage of all other

manufacturers, and orders were received which would
take from two to three months to fill, giving all that

could be done. In the mean time a tine trade was
being worked up in all the Southern States, Cape
Town, South Africa, Cuba, etc.

The breaking out of the Civil War caused a heavy
loss, as the blockade soon prevented shipping goods
South.

In 1862 Mr. Cole went to San Francisco and opened
a wholesale store for all kinds of furniture. He was
followed in 1865 by Mr. Joel Foster, and a new store,

wholesale and retail, was opened, adding all kinds of

upholstered goods and draperies, etc.

In 18G8 the business in Tewksbury was sold, and
in 1870, Mr. Enoch Foster, the last member of the

linn to leave town, followed the others to California,

where they manufactured all kinds of furniture in the

State Prison at San Quentin. Here, in the best years,

the sale of goods exceeded .$100,000 per month.
For the facts in this brief sketch of the firm, the

writer is indebted to Hon. Enoch Foster, a name
frequently appearing in almost every oflSce in the gift

of the town.

A large tanning business also was formerly carried

on by the late Mr. George Lee, which has been con-

tinued by his son, Mr. William H. Lee, whose name
frequently appears on the official lists of the town.

Besides these larger manufacturing establishments,

a number of smaller ones have sprung up near the

edge of Lowell. There are also two saw and grist-

mills, known as Trull's and Kendall's, which, before

the extensive use of steam as a motor, ground large

quantities of grain and cut multitudes of logs into

lumber.

The occupation of the mass of the population

of Tewksbury, especially of its older families,

is agricultural. As the town is within easy dis-

tance of Lawrence and Lowell, and quite accessible

to Boston by rail, its business is market garden-

ing. Cabbages are the main crop, but every variety

of vegetable and fruit adapted to a northern clime

is raised and yields an abundant return. Large por-

tions of land are also used for grass farms, and the

production of milk is carried on extensively.

For its moderate area the town has an extensive

road surface. The highways are estimated as extend-

ing sixty-five miles, and are kept in good repair by

teams owned by the town under charge of a superin-

tendent.

The following is a brief description of its botanical

and geological distinctions, furnished by Mr. G.

Homer Galger, late principal of the High School

:

*' The town offers many attractions to the lovers of natural science,

being locally famous for the abundance aud variety of its wild flowers,

Scotch heather, Calhma vztlgaris, is found in small quantities growing

wild.

•* Two varieties of Sundew, Droiera rotundifotia and Droaera longifoUa,

are found growing in abundance. Among the Orchidacefe, besides tlie

Spiranthes, the Oypripedium, the Pogonia, the Arethusa, the Habeilaria

and others, many of the less common genera are found.

" In the ivestern part of the town many notable elms and pines, said

to be among the largest in the State, may be seen.

"Prospect Hill is one of many similar eminences scattered througliout

northeastern Massachusetts, all of glacial origin. Such hills, in geo-

logical language, are known as ' drumlins,' and are supposed to have

been formed by sub-glacial streams in a way similiar to that by which {on

a smaller scale) a stream of water often makes longitudinal ridges of sand

in its bed. A somewhat remarkable ' sand desert,' of a dozen acres or

more in extent, is found on the Billerica Road. A part of this ' desert

'

is sparsely covered by a growth of pines, but along its western edge

runs a kame-like ridge of sand almost entirely destitute of vege-

tation. This sand kame is about 1500 feet long by one-third as wide,

and is about fifty feet in height at its highest point. It has gently-

filopitfg, rounded sides, the trend being southeast, thus resembling the

gravel-kames of glacial origin. It is said that many flint arrow-heads



TEWKSBURY. 283

have been found here. A number of large bouldera of porphyritic

goeiss runuing through the town are fragments torn from the cliffs

uear Lake Wiunepesaukee, by the ice, carried south and left in their

present positiona. Very fine examples of contorted gneiss are found i[i

abundance ; in fact, the town and Its vicinity offer quite as many
attractions to the geologist as to the botanist."

The wood lots of Tewksbury are quite extensive.

In former days much of the timber was heavy, and a

few specimens—alas ! too few— of the fathers of the

forest still remain.

The town is noted for its various and beautiful

flora, and on account of this is often visited by emi-

nent botanists. It is one of the few places on the

American continent where the Scotch heath is found.

This plant is becoming rare, chiefly, as authorities

declare, by its extinction through the encroachments

of other vegetation. It would be well to make an

attempt to save it from total disappearance.

Tewksbury has two churches, eight school-houses,

in which are kept ten schools, one of which is a

High School, a public library, the State Almshouse

and the usual public buildings requisite to such a

community. Of most of these institutions brief de-

scriptions follow.

The Salem and Lowell Railroad, a branch of the

old Boston and Lowell Road, runs through the

southern and central part of the town, and the Bos-

ton and Maine has a branch about a mile farther

north, thus bringing the stations within six miles of

Lowell, and about twenty-two of Boston. The city

of Lawrence is also quite accessible by these rail-

roads and by carriage roads.

Tewksbury is known to the world chiefly by its

State Almshouse, one of three such institutions estab-

lished by an Act of the Legislature, May 20, 18S2.

The other two are at Bridgewater and Monson. All

were opened for the reception of inmates by a proc-

lamation issued by Governor Emory Washburn May
1, 1854. Within three weeks nearly 800 inmates had

been admitted to the Tewksbury Almshouse alone.

The first superintendent was Capt. Isaac H.

Meserve, the first physician Dr. Jonathan Brown, the

first chaplain Rev. Jacob Coggin. For many years

a school for the children was part of the institution,

whose influence was helpful and whose singing was a

marked and attractive feature. Its numbers ranged

from 8G to 153.

The plan of supporting State Almshouses originated

in this Commonwealth ; hence the three in Massachu-

setts were largely experiments constructed to accom-

modate far less numbers than soon crowded them.

In the year 1857, a season of great suffering for the

poor, more than 1200 were daily lodged and fed at

this institution.

The farm, consisting of 250 acres, was originally so

poor as to be a by-word in the Commonwealth, but

now, through judicious and faithful cultivation, has

been brought to a condition highly productive. This

is evident from a few of the products as given in the

last annual report of the superintendent, Oct., 1889 :

English hay, 137 tons ; rye straw, 35 tons; ensilage,

425 tons ; rye, 200 bushels
;

potatoes, 900 bushels

;

cabbage, 2000 heads; milk, 39,544 gallons; eggs,

1860 dozen.s. There were slaughtered from the stock

of the farm 14,111 pounds of pork, 341 pounds of

poultry and 8797 pounds of beef.

The whole institution shows a correspondent and
constant improvement. Where a sandy prospect

withtrnt a shade tree was found, now are shady walks,

green plots of lawn sprinkled with bright and varied

flowers, the whole surrounded with buildings no
longer a disgrace, but a credit to the State.

With the exterior the interior improvements have
kept gradual pace.

Captain Meserve was removed in June, 1858, and
was succeeded by Captain Thomas J. Marsh.

In 1806 the school was removed to Monson.

The number of inmates from the opening of the

Almshouse, May 1, 1854, till May 1, 1889, was 84,599.

During the war nearly a company of men enlisted

from this institution, and many others went as substi-

tutes. Dr. Brown went as a volunteer surgeon and
rendered important service in the ho.spital at York-

town. Other surgeons for the army went or originally

came from Tewksbury service. Even the children of

the school scraped lint for the use of the wounded.

In 1871 the Almshouse at Monson has changed into

a " State Primary School," and that at Bridgewater to

the " State Work-house," and the Tewksbury one

into an almshouse proper, for the accommodation of

the more helpless poor.

In 1866 the office of resident chaplain was abol-

ished, and since that time the religious services have

been conducted by clergymen in the vicinity of

different denominations.

Captain Marsh closed his connection with the insti-

tution July, 1883, and was succeeded in the following

August by C. Irving Fisher, M.D., the presentsuperin-

tendent. The institution had gradually passed from a

shelter for the poor into a vast hospital. Hence the

election of a physician for superintendent.

Chester Irving Fisher, M.D., the present superin-

tendent of the State Almshouse, was born in Canton,

Massachusetts, April 25, 1847, and was the third son of

Cyrus and Caroline (Guild) Fisher. He was educated

in the common schools of his native town, and then

prepared for teaching in the State Normal School at

Bridgewater. After leaving Bridgewater he taught

in Provincetown, where, in 1867, he began the study of

medicine with Dr. J. Baxter, and in June, 1870, was

graduated from the Harvard Medical School. In

April, 1871, he entered the Quarantine Department

of Boston as assistant port physician, and became

port physician, February, 1873. In September, 1875,

having resigned his position. Dr. Fisher entered pri-

vate practice in Holbrook, Massachusetts, where he

continued until he assumed the duties of superinten-

dent and resident physician at the Almshouse, August

1, 1883.
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Siucf his couuection with the inslitulion the most

important improvements are doubtless tlie two new

hospitals erected from his plans and under his imme-

diate oversight—one for women, at a cast of $69,000,

having 110 beds ; and one for men costing $35,000,

with 50 beds. The old hospital for men has been

thornughly renovated and re-arranged under hisdirec-

tion, so that the entiie hospital accommodations are

now ready for 275 patients, thus divided—for men,

140 beds; for women, 110 beds; maternity, 25 beds.

Of these hos|(itals, their lighting, ventilation, conven-

ience.s, lic, competent medical authority has odicially

pronounced that they are the " best appointed, best

equipped and best administered of any hospital for

the indigent sick in the world."

This Almshouse was the first State institution to

adopt electric lighting, which was introduced under

the present superintendent in 1887.

The aim and marked characteristic of Dr. Fisher's

administration have been to incorporate into the

working of the institution the practical and tried ap-

pliances and methods of modern science in all its

available and multiplied branches.

Dr. Fisher is an enthusiast in the great charitable

work to which his life is consecrated. He is one of the

devoted members of the National Association ofChar-

ities, and has published the following pamphlets

:

" The Other Infectious Disease ; or, A Plea for a New
Hospital ;" " The Prevention of Insanity by the

Timely Control of the Dissolute;" and "The Neces-

sity for Social and Statute Recognition of Syphilis."

He has also, as opportunity came, in carefully pre-

pared addresses, presented these and kindred topics to

churches, to clubs, medical and ecclesiastical, and

to any body which might aid in arousing the intelli-

gent part of the community to these subjects, so ger-

mane to the prosperity and health—physical, mental

and moral—of the Commonwealth.

The Tewksbury Almshouse is and has ever been a

model of cleanliness, where the poor have received

wholesome food in abundance, gentle treatment and
the best medical skill the State could furnish. It is

and has been open for the inspection of the public,

subject to the conditions requisite to the conduct of

all public institutions.

History.—Previous to its incorporation Tewks-
bury belonged to what in early times was the large

town of Billerica or "Shawshin." Its history, there-

fore, before 1734 is included in that town once so ex-

tensive. Little can be gathered from those days con-

cerning our northern part of the great township, but

a few items are worthy of preservation.

At thejunction of the Concord and Merrimac Rivers

waa the former Indian town of Wamesit, once the
northwe.stern part of Tewksbury, but now in Lowell, a
great resort of the Wamesits—part of the large tribe

of the Pawtuckets—one of the five great nations
which in the days of the first settlers dwelt between
the Penobscot and Hudson Rivers. Some five hun-

dred acres of the Wamesit purchase was included in

what became Tewksbury, and appears to have been

the site of the Indian praying town of which an eye-

witness, Mr. Daniel Gookin in his Historical Collec-

tions of the Indians in New England, in 1674, two

hundred and sixteen years ago, has preserved a

description worth quoting:

'* Wamesit is the fifth praying town ; and this place is situate iipuri

tlie Merrimack River, being a neck uf land, wliere Concord River falleth

into Merrimack River. It is about twenty miles from lloston, uortb

northwest, and within live miles of Hillerica aud as much from Chelms-

ford ; so that it luith Concord River upon the west northwest, and Mer-

rimack River upon the north northeast. It hath about flfteeu families
;

and consequently, aa we compute, about seventy-five souls. The quantity

of land belonging to it is about twenty-five hundred acres. The land is

fertile, and yieldeth iplenty of corn. It is excellently accommodated

with a fishing place, and there is taken variety of fish in their seasons,

as salmon, shads, lamprey eels, sturgeon, bass and divers others. There

is a great conlluenco of Indians, that usually resort to this place in the

fishing seasons. Of these strange Indians, divers are villous and wicked

men and women ; which Satan makes use of to obstruct the prosperity

of religion here. The ruler of this people is called Numphow. He is

one of the blood of their chief sachems. Their teacher is called Samuel,

son to the ruler, a young uum of good parts, and can speak, read and

write English and Indian competently. He is one of those that waa

bred up at school, at the charge of the Corporation for the Indians.

These Indians, if they were diligent and industrious,—to which they

have been frequently excited,—might get much by their fish, especially

fresh salmon, which are of esteem and good price at Boston in the sea-

son ; and the Indians being stored with horses of a low price, might

furnish the market fully, being at so small a distance. Aud divers other

sorts of fish they might salt or pickle, as sturgeon and bass ; which

would be much to their profit. But notwithstanding divers arguments

used to persuade them, and some orders made to encourage them
;
yet

their idleness and improvidence doth hitherto prevail.

'-At this place, once a year, at the beginniogof May, the English

magistrate keeps his court, accompanied with flir. Eliot, the minister,

who, at this time, takes his opportunity to preach, not only to the in-

habitants, but to as many of the strange Indians that can be persuaded

to hear him ; of which sort, usually in times of peace, there are consid-

erable numbers at that season. And this place being au ancient and

capital seat of the Indians, they come to fish ; and this good man takes

this opportunity to spread the net of the gospel to fish for their souls.

Here it may not be impertinent to give you the relation following.

*' May 5th, 1G74, according to our usual custom, Mr. Eliot and myself

took our .journey to Wamesit or Pawtuckett ; and arriving there that

evening, Mr. Eliot preached to as many of them as could be got together

out of Matt. xxii. 1-14, the parable of the marriage of the king's son.

We met at the wigwam of one called Wannalancet, about two miles*

frem the town, near Pawtuckett Falls, and bordering upon Merrimack

River. This person, Wannalancett, is the oldest son of old Passacono-

vvay, the chiefest sachera of Pawtuckett. He is a sober and grave per-

son, and of years between fifty and sixty. He hath been always loving

and friendly to the English. 3Iany endeavors have been used several

years to gain this sachem to embrace the Christian religion ; but he hath

stood off from time to time and not yielded up himself personally,

though for four years past he hath been willing to hear the word of God

preached, aud to keep the Sabbath.—A great reason that hath kept him

off, I conceive, hath been the indisposition and averseness of sundry

of his chief men aud relations to pray to God ; which he foresaw would

desert him, in case he turned Christian.—But at this time, Ma.v fi, 1674,

it pleased God so to influence and overcome his heart, that it being pro-

posed to him to give his answer concerning praying to God, after some

deliberation and serious pause, be stood up and made a speech to this

effect

:

" ' Sirs, you have been pleased for four years past, in your abundant

love, to apply yourselves particularly unto me and my people, to exhort,

press and persuade us to pray to God. I am very thankful to you for

your pains. I must acknowledge,' said he, ' I have, in all my days, used

to pass in au old canoe [alluding to his frequent custom to pass in a

canoe upon the river] ; and now you exhort me to change and leave my
old canoe and embark in a new canoe, to which I have hitherto been un-

willing ; but now I yield myself up to your advice, and enter into a new
canoe, and do engage to pray to God hereafter.'
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" ThiB his professed subjection was well pleading to all that were pres-

ent, oC which there were some English persous of (juality ; ae Mr. Rich-

urd raniel, a gentleman that lived in Billerica, about six miles off; and

Lieutenant Henchman, a neighbor at Cheliusford ; besides brother Eliot

and myself, with sundry others, English and Indians. Mr. Daniel, be-

fore named, desired brother Eliot to tell its sacliem from him, that it may

he, while he went in his old canoe, he passed in a quiet stream ; hut the

end thereof was death and destruction to soul and body; But now he

went into a new rauoe, perhaps he would meet with storms and trials ;

but yet he should be encouraged topei-severe, for the end of his voyage

would be everlasting rest. Moreover, he and his people were exhorted

by Brother Eliot and myself, to go on and sanctify the Sabbath, to hear

the word, and use the means that God hath appointed, and encourage

their hearts in the Lord their God. Since that time, I hear this sachem

doth persevere, and is a constant and diligent hearer of God's woi-d, and

sanctifieth the Sabbath, though he doth travel to Wamesit meeting every

Sabbath, which is about two miles; and though sundry of his people

have deserted him since he subjected to the gospel, yet he continues and

persists.

** In this town they observe the same civil and religious orders as in

other towns, and have a constable aud other ollicera.

"This people of Wamesit Buffered more in the late war with the Maw-

hawks than any other praying town of Indians ; for divers of their peo-

ple were Blaiu ; others, wounded ; and some carried into captivity
;

which Providence hath much hindered the prosperous estate of this

place."
^

With Billerica, the vicinity of Wamesit passed

through all the horrors of the early Indian warfare.

The conversion of the Wamesits, however, was a

blessing to the whole region. They remained faith-

ful friends of the whites, although often suspected

and also unjustly treated by the latter. The cruelties

perpetrated in Billerica and this part of that town

were not by them. In his " Memoirs of the Indians

and Pioneers of the Region of Lowell," Cowley states

that some Indians of another tribe visited that part

of Billerica now Tewksbury, and killed John Rogers

and fourteen others. Colonel Joseph Lynde, of

Charlestown, with three hundred armed men, ranged

the swamps around here in pursuit of the marauders,

but in vain. Lynde's Hill, which he fortified and

garrisoned, preserves his name. Fort Hill was first

used for defence by the Wamesits, and their friendli-

ness at this time permitted, without any effort, its

use by Lynde and others.

Several garrison-houses were located in this vicin-

ity and also in the north and south parts of the town.

In various portions Indian relics have been found,

some, as those collected by Mr. Follansbee, of

Andover, of the Stone Age. On the farms of Mr.

Jesse L. Trull, of the State Almshouse, and recently

of Mr. Harnden, South Tewksbury, and especially

near the sandy desert in the south of the town,

numerous finds of hatchets, mortars for bruising corn,

chisels, gouges, arrow and spear-heads have been

made.

Indeed, the traces of the Wamesits, or Pennacooks,

Agawains, Piscataquas, Naamkeeks—for their names

were numerous—are rich in the town which sprung

up so near, and included their former fishing station

and praying village, at the junction of the Merrimac

and Concord Rivers. The Merrimac means the Stur-

geon River.

It is reported that after these troublouB times were

over, the Wamesit chief visited the Rev. Mr. Fiske, of

Chelmsford. To his inquiry whether Chelmsford had

suffered much, the pastor replied " No," and devoutly

thanked God. " Me ne.xt," said Wannalancet. It

was a fitting correction of the omLssion to recognize

the faithful agents (iod had employed to save the

whole adjoining country from even more fearful suf-

ferings than it had endured.

The following anecdote, contributed by Miss Mary
F. Eastman, for the past twenty years, with her fam-

ily, a resident of Tewksbury, belongs to this period,

when Tewksbury was the north part of l?illerica :
" A

corporal, .John French, who belonged to the north

part, was wounded at a distance in Brookfield, ' and

in consideration of his wounds, they abated his taxes,

gave him a more prominent place in church and al-

lowed his wife to occupy a seat in the front gallery

with Mrs. Foster, aud those women placed there.'
"

As early as 1725 an effort was made by Jonathan

Bowers, Samuel Hunt and others to incorporate the

more northern part of Billerica into a town, to be

known as Wamesit. It was intended to include in

this new town the whole Wamesit Purchase, which

contained 2500 acres, 500 of which lay on this side of

the Concord River, but 2000 acres on the other side,

in Chelmsford. This effort, which would fittingly

have retained the old Indian name of Wamesit among
the towns of the State, was unsuccessful.

Later the movement was renewed, because of the

inconvenience to the inhabitants of this northern

portion of Billerica in going so far to public worship

as the old meeting-house. Few estimate the import-

ant part religion played in all public and social life

in those early days. Hence when the people in tiiis

part of the ancient town found it a heavy burden

to go so far by horseback, or oxen, or on foot—for

vehicles were scarce indeed,— they desired to have a

meeting-house of their own. Many went to church on

horseback—the husband and wifesometimes with chil-

dren also upon the same animal, frequently taking what

the records call a " bridal" path. At times we hear

of a woman carrying her babe five or six miles to

attend divine service. Hence, on May 13, 1733, the

northern section of Billerica asked the ancient town

to " erect a meeting-house in the centre of the town, or

so as to accommodate the northerly part of the town,

upon the Town's cost, or set them off, so that they main-

tain preaching among themselves." Reluctantly and

after some time Billerica granted the last part of this

petition. They were set off with two-thirds of the

land between the Billerica meeting-house and the

Andover line, by a parallel line extending from the

Concord River to the Wilmington line, " if the in-

habitants on the south-easterly side of the Shawshine

River be willing to join with them." "This final

condition," says Mr. Hazen, in his interesting " His-

tory of Billerica," "called out a petition from Samuel

Hunt and others to the General Court, praying fur

the grant of a town with these bounds, or a commit-
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tee to eiamine and report." The latter was done,

and 88 a result Tewhbury was incorporated December

L'3, 1734. From this and his earlier but unsuccessful

eflort it appears that if any one person has the honor

of being the father of this town it is Samuel Hunt, a

name prominent in all the early history.

It was foruieriy suppo.ied that the new town was

named from Tewksbury, England, because some of

the early settlors of Billerica came from that place,

historic because of its Abbey and famous battle-field.

Of this there is no evidence. No family, either in

Rillerita or in Tewksbury, traces its origin to that

transatlantic home. The following extract from a

paper on the origin of the names of New England

towns, read by Mr. W. H. Wbitmore before the

Msissachusetts Historical Society, gives the only rea-

son so far found for its name

;

"Tewksbury, Dec. 23, 1734, Act. This is the

name of a town in Gloucestershire, England, famous

for its Abbey. It had been, however, one of the titles

of George II., who wiis, in 1700, made Baron Tewks-

bury, Viscount Northallerton, Earl of Milford-Haven,

Marquis and Duke of Cambridge. In 1714 he became

Prince of Wales; and on his accession, in 1727, all

his dignities merged in the crown. Still this use of

the name is the most probable reason for its adoption

here." About the period of the formation of the new

town it was a fashion thus to honor members of the

royal house—a loyalty entirely quenched by the

experience of the Revolution less than fifty years

after.

The new town received 9000 of the 25,000 acres

which then belonged to Billerica, but the surveys

must have been very loose, for after losing some

2000 acres to Lowell, Tewksbury has still over

13,000 acres. Among these acres were some 3000

which composed the well-known Mrs. Winthrop's

farm, or " Winthrop's Farm," as it was popularly

called, which was the grant made to her by the

General Court, Dec. 10, 1641, which confirmed and

defined a former one of 1640. To quote Mr. Hazen's

extract from the State records :
" Mrs. Marg' Winthrop

hath her 3000 acres of land, formerly granted her, to bee

assigned about the lower end of Concord River, near

Merrimack, to bee layde out by Mr. Flint and Mr,

Leift. Willard, w"" Mr. Oliver or some other skilful

in measuring, so as it may not hinder a plantation,

& any p" thereof they may purchase of any Indians

that have right to it." This grant was between the

Merrimack and the Concord, on the east side of the

latter river, and was subsequently laid out by Jona-

than Danforth, " in a true circle," including a part of

Lowell and the adjacent section of Tewksbury. There

it took in the whole northwest part of Tewksbury,

save the 500 acres of the Wamesit Purchase, came to

the east of Trull's Brook at the north, and extended

along the Concord River on the west. The other

2000 acres of the Wamesit Purchase had been ac-

quired by Chelmsford. That whole purchase is now

in the city of Lowell, south of the Merrimack

River.

From the old town the following families were taken

into the new. The list, as given by Mr. Hazen, is im-

perfect, but, as he states, will have interest

:

Brown, Joseph

Brown, William

Farmer, Kicliard

Farmer, Thomas

Frencli, Jobn

French, Thomas

Frost, Daniel

Frost, Edmund
Frost, Joseph

Hall, Richard

Hall, Samuel

Haseltiue, Samuel

Haaeltine, Stephen

Hunt, Jeremiah

Hunt. John

Hunt, Joseph

Hunt, Peter

Kidder, Ephraim

Kittredge, Daniel

Kittredge, Daniei, Jr.

Kittredge, Francis

Kittredge, James

Kittredge, James, Jr.

Kittredge, James, Sor.

Kittredge, John, Dr.

Kittredge, John, Jr.

Kittredge, Joseph

Kittredge, Tiiomas

Kittredge, William

Levestone, John

Levestone, Selh

IManning, Eliphalet

Manning, Thomas

Marshall, Thomas

Needham, John \

Osgood, Stephen

Patten, John

Patten, Kendall

Patten, Nathaniel

Shed, Nathan

Stickney, Abraham
Trull, Samuel

Whiting, John

Mr. Hazen says that " to these forty-seven names

enough should probably be added to make the number
sixty. They include all on our list of the names of Hall,

Hazeltine, Hunt and Kittredge, a loss too serious not

to be felt. The latter family had become so numer-

ous in that part of the town exclusively, that it is not

strange they have been credited with original settle-

ment there. In fact, as noted elsewhere, their ances-

tor, John Kittredge, lived and died southeast of Bare

Bill, in Billerica."

At this time the centre was not the most thickly-

settled part of Tewksbury, but the southeast, as the

ancient and numerous gravestones of the old cemetery

show.

The first town-meeting was held January 14, 1735,

twenty-two days after incorporation. Lieutenant

Daniel Kittredge, a name frequent and honored

in all the ancient affairs of the town, was elected

the first moderator. The following other officers

were chosen: Selectmen, Lieut. Daniel Kittredge,

James Hunt, Jr., Joseph Kittredge, John French,

Nathan Patten ; Town Clerk, Nathan Patten ; Town
Treasurer, Nathan Shed ; William Kittredge, Surveyor

of Flax and Hemp. This last officer lets us see one

of the chief products of the region, next to the neces-

saries of life. This, with the choice of constable,

seems to have been the business of the first town-

meeting.

At the next meeting, January 31st, the first vote

was to choose a committee to determine the line be-

tween their own and the mother town. This business

was prolonged for a considerable period on account of

various reasons, chiefly the reluctance of Billerica to

accept the various propositions. Hereafter the prom-

inent subjects of town-meetings in those days occupy

chief attention,—the church, the highways and the
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schools,—except when the various wars remanded

those affairs to a secondary place. The new town had

not proceeded very far in bringing its corporate exist-

ence into shape before it was found requisite to de-

termine its centre. Accordingly at a meeting held

May 20, 1735, it was " voted that Mr. Enggak should

be ye artis to find ye center of their town," also " that

their committee men and chain men should assist in

finding ye center of ye town." These committeemen

were those chosen to determine the line between the

town and Billerica. They were Lt. Daniel Kittredge,

Samuel Hunt and John French, to whom James

Kittredge was subsequently added. The chain men
were John Whiting and Nathan Shed.

At the same meeting a vote was taken to levy a town

rate of £30 charges to be made by the last assessment in

Billerica. The first rate-list on the town records fol-

lows and is interesting as showing the first tax-payers

of lewksbury:
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town-meetings also, before the church building was

available for that pur|Hi8e. November 7th, Lieuten-

ant Daniel Kittredge, Samuel Hunt, Jr., and John

French were chosen a committee to provide a

preacher, and it was voted the " stated time to begin

ye Public Woi-ship in ye Sabbath Days shall be ten a

Clock in ye morning, that ye timeol" intcrniission be-

tween exercises should be one hour and a lialf, and

that they would sing that way that is now called yc

new." Then " Joseph Baily and Nathan Stickney

were chosen to tune and read ye psalms."

Gradually they approached the time when a church

with all necessary appointments for its existence and

work should be found within their borders. Nov. 7,

173iJ, voted to choose J-ieutenaiit Daniel Kittredge,

Samuel Hunt, Jr., and John French a committee to

provide a preacher.

After much deliberation on the site, after delay

caused by the ditliculties ever attending such aa un-

dertaking, especially in communities not too rich in

worldly goods, they proceeded with the building of the

meeting-house. The town-meeting of March 30,

1736. was an interesting one. It began at the house

of William Kittredge at 12 o'clock noon. Itadjourned

to the centre of the town to see the land proposed as

the site of the new meeting-house, and came back to

Mr. Kittredge's and then adjourned to the evening,

when it was " voted that their meeting-house shall

stand upon the land of Nathaniel Richardson, near a

small pine tree marked with R." They also chose

as a committee, " to let out their meeting-house to be

framed and finished," Samuel Hunt, Jr., James Kit-

tredge,Jr., Nathan Shed, William Kittredge, Abraham

Stickney and Stephen Osgood. Several of the votes

which mark the progress of the work reveal the life

and customs of those days which are no more. June

10, 1736, they voted " that they would raise their

meeting-house by a teacle ;" " that they would not

provide for the raising of their meeting-house by a

rate," and " that they would raise a town rate of £200

for the building of their meeting-house." The exact

date of its completion cannot be given. Probably it

was not entirely finished for some years after its oc-

cupation for public worship and town-meetings, for the

records contain many intimations of the building of

pews and the finishing of parts of it.

After it was completed suflSciently for use the ques-

tion which next engaged the town was the seating of

it. This was no trivial matter. There were many
deliberations and many methods proposed. The ques-

tions of precedence and of payment enlisted the in-

terest of the entire town. Sufficient and careful com-

parison of the town records might enable one to

construct a plan of that ancient seating and mark the

location of the family pews and thus the social posi-

tion of the various households. Finally, in Decem-
ber, 1737, they decided "to seat their meeting-house

and to have respect both to money and age in seating

the meeting-house, to age all above sixty years; " "to

seat the meeting-house by one head, real and personal,

going back to the first assessment that was made in

Tewksbury;" "to leave the pews room joyning the

pulpit, one on the right hand and one on the left

—

one for the minister and one for the town ; to dispose

of the room that remains left for pews to the highest

payers, giving the highest payers the first choice, and

if he refuse to make his choice, the next highest

payer, and so on till the above-said pew-room be

taken up ; that such persons as shall make choice of

the above-said pews are obliged to ceil the meeting-

house sides against their pews up as "high as the bot-

tom of the lower windows." Later the town obliged

the i)ew-owners to glaze the windows opposite their

respective pews and keep such portion of the meeting-

house in proper repair.

The pews were not built all at once, but for several

years permissions were granted to persons as they

sought'for them to build one or more pews. It was

later still before the galleries were even finished.

Hesitation appears to carry out the plans of rating,

etc., for we find that the committee having failed to

do its duty, another was chosen with definite instruc-

tions " to see who the highest payer was from their

first being a town;" and still in 1742 the following

vote spurs up the dilatory: "That the selectmen

build a pew for their minister forthwith."

It is time to hear of their first minister. Although

the town called the meeting-house and minister theirs,

yet within the church was an inner body—the church

proper, united by no local, but by a spiritual relation.

Exactly when the church in Tewksbury was formed is

uncertain, but probably about the close of 1736, for

November 23, 1737, we have the account of the first

minister's ordination over it. Eleven months before

the meeting-house was ready for occupancy the peo-

ple of Tewksbury voted, January 17, 1736, "that Mr.

Samson Spaulding, of Chelmsford, should be our

Minister upon his accepting our Choice;'' also, "to

chose a Committee to treat with Mr. Samson Spauld-

ing, whom we have chosen to be our Minister, and to

make return." That committee was representative of

the town, consisting of Lieutenant Daniel Kittredge,

Sergeant John French and Mr. Samuel Hunt, Jr.,

February 7, 1736, they voted to give Mr. Samson

Spaulding, whom they "made choice on for their

Minister," "yearly for his salary £120 sterling, ac-

cording to the valuation of grain now received among
us—Indian Corn at 6«. per bush., and wheat at 10«.

per bush., aud Rie at 8«. per bush.; " also " to give Mr.

Samson Spaulding, whom the Town has made choice

on for their Minister even for his settlement among
them, £300, and to pay the same at three payments,

namely—£100 a year till the whole sum be paid."

The choice of a minister then was a matter of in-

terest to the whole town, which was connected with

the church in the closest manner. This intimate

connection may be seen by the custom of voting his

salary first of all the business in town-meeting alter



TEWKSBURY. 289

the election of officers, often before the election of the

minor officers, and by a vote spread on the town

records like the following "that a Committee of three

l)e chosen to recommend Pheiiias U. Red and others

into the religious society in said Town."

Hence, September 13, 1786, a fast was appointed

by the town for the 20th day of November, " in order

for calling a minister ;
" then it was voted that the

selectmen appoint the fast and provide the ministers

requisite to conduct it. Entertainment and e.xpenses

for these ministers were also provided. The ordina-

tion of a minister then was a great occasion. The
atlair was too rare and too imjwrtant to be pa.ssed over

lightly. October 6, 1737, voted "that Mr. Sampson
Spaulding, of Chelmsford, whom ye town had made
choice on for their minister, should be ordained on

the 16lh day of November next, salving if the thanks-

giving put it not by, and if it did, then one week

following, on ^Vednesday ye twenty-third of the same

month," and also voted " to have three men for a

committee to provide ministers and messengers for

said ordination." The three were Lieutenant Daniel

Kittredge, Mr. John French and Mr. Samuel Hunt,

Jr. It was decided that the house of Mr. John

French "be place of entertainment for ministers and

messengers at said ordination," also that " the pro-

vision made for the ministers and the messengers at

the ordination shall be provided by the discretion of

the committee chosen for that purpose." How these

few votes bring before us the life of the times, social

and religious ! How one would like to have seen

and heard the worthies as they gathered and solemnly

ordained and installed the first minister of the town!

Of the ordination itself, and of the solemn covenant

of the church, a record happily has been preserved

by the hand of that first minister. From that time,

November 23, 1737, till his long and only pastorate

was closed by death, we have the guidance of Mr.

Spaulding in the history of the church, written by

himself It begins with the solemn church covenant,

a document interesting for many and general reasons.

This covenant, as given below, is instructive in many
respects, and shows the educational, as well as re-

ligious development of the New England towns one

hundred and fifty years ago :

" We (whose names are underwritten) sensibly aclinowledging our

nnwortliinees of sucli a favour & unfitness for sucli a Business, yet ap-

prebending ourselves to be Called of God to put ourselves into a way of

G^^ Communion and seek the Settlement of all the Gospel Institutions

amongst us ; do therefore in order thereunto, & for the better promoting

Ihereof, as much aa in us lies, knowing how prone we are to Backslide,

abjuring all Confidence in ourselves, and relying on the Lord Jesus

Christ, alone for help, so Covenant as follows—Imprimis. As to the

Confession of faith put forth by the Last Synod of Churches, held in

Boston, in New EnghiTid, wee do heartily close with it, so far as we are

or may be acquainted with it and find it agreable to the holy Scriptures,

and promise to stand by, maintain & if need be Contend for the faith

therein delivered to the jieople of God, and if any among us go about to

undermine it, we will bear Due Testimony against them.
" Wee—Also combine together to walk as a particular C^^ of Christ

according to all these holy rules of the Gospel, prescribed to such a

Society, so far as God has revealed, or shall reveal his mind to us, in

that respect.

19-iii

" Wee—do accordingly recognize the Covenant of Grace, in which we
professedly acknowludgu oiirsolvcu devoted to (ht» fettr and Mervice of tlie

one true Uod, our Snpronie Lurd, mid tu the Lord Jphuh Christ, the

High Prient, proi)lict A King of his C'** niito whose Condnct wo Submit
oui-belvcs, & upon whuiii alone wo whiI A hopo for Grnco k Glory, to

wtiom wo hind oursulvea in »n EvorlnHting Coven' never to be Broken.
'* Wee—Likewise givo up onrnflvt-H, one unto liiioDier in the LonI,

resolving liy his Help to clenve Each to other, an folIow-niendjerH of one

Body, in Brotherly love, anil holy wutchfiilncss over each other for

mutual Kiliflcation A to svibject ourselvwa to all the holy ailminiBtrutiuns

appointed by him who is head uf the Church, diupensed according (o

the rules of the Gospel, & to give our Couittant attendance on all the

puhlick ordinances uf ChriNlian IiiHiitutions, walking orderly as he-

cometh SaintH.

" Wee—do likowisi! acknowledge our powlerity to be included with us

in the (ioHpel Covenant, A Hlfssiug Hod Uu- so rirh a favour, do promisM

to bring them up in the nurture and Admonition of the Lord, with

gratest (."are, and to acknowledge them in their Covenant relatiou ac-

cording to the Gospel RuIpb.

" Furthermore. Wee—promise to he Careful to the utmost to provide

the Settlement &, Continuance among tis, of the Ofllces and Otlkers ap-

pointed by Clirift, the chief .Shopheni, for the Edification of the Church

.V accordingly to do our duty faitlifuiiy for their niaintenanre & en-

couriigement, .t to Carry towards them as becomes us.

*' Finally. Wee—du promiwe and acknowledge to preserve Commun-
ion with the faithful Churches of Christ, tor the giving and receiving

of mutual Counsel and assistance in all Cases wherein it shall be need-

ful.

Now the Good Lord be niercifuU to us, and as ho hnfl put it into our

hearts, thus to Devote ourselves to him, Let him pity and pardon our

frailties and humble us for our Carnal Confidence and Keep it forever

upon our hearts to be faithfull to himself A one to another for his praise

& our eternal Comfort, for Christ Jesun' Sake, to whom be glory for

Ever, Amen.

Daniel Kittridg

Nathan Shed

his

Joseph
I
Kittrige

mark
his

John Kittrige
mark

James Kittredg

his

Jacob — Corey
mark

Edmund Frost

William Kittredg

his

Kendal + Pattin
mark

Stephen Osgood

his

Thomas + Kittridge
mark

Ephraim Kiddor Juuer

bis

Ziichariab /. Hardy
mark

Abraham Stickne

his

Ephraim k Kidder
mark

Francis Kittredg

Joseph Caily

John Pattin

Amos Foster

Jacob Winn
Thomas Clark

his

Isaac + Kittrige
mark

his

Thomas V Marshal
mark
his

Joseph + Frost
mark
bis

Joseph
I

Kidder
mark
his

Jacob + Kittridge
mark
his

John + Shed
mark

hia

Joseph 4- Grimes
mark

John Chapman
his

Andrew
| Richardson

mark
Daniel Shed

Nathan Hall

John Twiss

Among the signers of this covenant were most of

the fathers of the town. Mr. Spaulding then gives a

record of his call and ordination. It is brief enough
to copy entire: **Sampson Spaulding, of Chelmsford,

was unanimously chosen by the people of Tewksbury
the 17th day of January, anno : Dom : 1736-7, . . .

and Ordained the 2o day of November, 1737,—the

Rev*^ Elders that assisted in his ordination were Mr.

John Hancock, of Lexington, & his son, Ebenezer;

Mr. Sampson Stoddard, of Chelmsford; Mr, Samuel
Ruggles, of Billerica; Mr. Thomas Parker, of Dra-
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cut; and Mr. Nicholas Bowes, of Bedford. Mr. Par-

ker opened the solemnity by prayer. Mr. Ruggles

preached the sermon from 2 0or. xii. 14: For I Keek-

not yours, but you. Mr. Hancock gave the charge,

and Jlr. .Stoddard the hand of fellow-ship.'" .Vl'ter

thia record of hi.sordination foUows this entry on the

church book :

"
'I'lic Chh. met again the 2'.)th Day of

Jan'y, anno Dom. 1741-2, & made choice of Joseph

Kittredge as a Deacon, to otliciatc in said Chh., and

voted that one sliilling should be added per member

for a year, to what was first voted, viz: y' every

member pay 3». per year in order to provide for the

L'ds Tabic, i.e., 1». M. at a Contribution every halt

year, & y' each one write his name upon the money

given."

Shortly after his establishment among them, Mr.

Spaulding married Miss Mchitabel Hunt, of the fam-

ily so well known in the northwest part of the town.

Thus was started on his long and successful career

the lirst pastor in Tewksbury. For si.xty years, in

peace and war, in prosperity and .adversity, he was

with the town in all its varied fortunes, when there

was one flock and one shepherd. The ancient

church-book is the chief memorial preserved of him

—an invaluably precious record of the doings of the

church, the baptisms he administered, the marriages

he performed and the fur.crals at which be officiated

during those three-score years.

The baptisms during Mr. Spaulding's ministry were

700 ; admissions to the church, 248 ; deaths, 693—as

recorded by himself from the time of his settlement

till shortly before his death. The last record is, "Old

madam Bordman Dy*" Nov. 24, 1793, et<at 80. Short

sickness." It is interesting and pathetic to trace be-

tween the lines his own life in the baptisms and

deaths of his children—as, "Our child, Mebitabel,

aged 2J years and 6 days ;
" and " My daughter Jle-

hitabel's Benj% Dyed April 28, 1779. Mortification."

And we follow his work in the long record from the

time when, in the vigor of youth, the handwriting

was somewhat stiff, till afterward, growing more duc-

tile with years, it becomes stiff again and unsteady

with age. At last, in the letters, the dim eye and trem-

bling nerves become evident, and finally the pen drops

from the hand of the aged servant of God. Then^

following his last record of a death, comes, in a differ-

ent handwriting, most probably his widow's, this in-

sertion : "The Kev. Sampson Spaulding Died Dec.

ye 15th, 1796," just a month and two days short of

sixty years from the time he was "the choice of the

Town to be their minister."

"Tradition says of Mr. Spaulding that when in

advanced years he was possessed of a venerable form

and commanding stature, wearing a white wig and
carrying a long staff, and that with a weak and trem-

ulous voice he spoke unto his people the words of

eternal truth."—Quoted from " Tewksbury," by Mr.

Ti. Huntress and Mr. J. C. Kittredge in Drake's
" Middlesex County."

By 1792 Mr. Spaulding had evidently become so in-

capacitated that the pulpit must be supjdied, for in a

town-meeting January of that year, it was voted to

" hire preaching," a phrase often ap|)earing on the

records, and to raise £30 to pay for preaching that

year. A committee of seven was cho.sen to treat with

Jlr. Spaulding, whose conference with him bail a

highly salisfaclory result.

This was embodied April 2, 1792, in the following

vote: " to give the Rev''. Sampson Spaulding during

his natural life yearly as shall be in proportion to

thirty pounds in case he will resign up so much of

his charge as will not be a hindrance to the town set-

tling another gentleman in the ministry if the town

shall think proper." A committee was chosen to wait

upon Mr. Spaulding and reported " that the Rev. Mr.

Spaulding acknowledged himself fully satisfied and

contented with the vote of the town."

A month or so later the church appointed a fast to

look to God for direction in choosing his colleague,

and at the March meeting the town voted to concur

with the church. More formal action was taken the

May following in the decision to have a day of fasting

and prayer in concurrence with the vote of the church

and also in respect to the leverend gentlemen to be

sent for to attend the fast. It was .also voted that the

day be the 17th of this instant and that " the select-

men should see that there be entertainment for the

Reverend gentlemen that shall come to attend the

fast."

A committee was also appointed to estimate what

the minister's settlement and salary should be that

shall be settled in this town. June 5th the town con-

curred with the church in giving Mr. Titus Theodore

Barton a call for their minister, and offered him £150

for his settlement, to be paid one-half nine months

after his ordination, the remainder in fifteen months,

and a salary of £90 and twenty cords of wood at his

door, yearly " so long as he shall be our minister."

Mr. Barton having accepted the call, preparations

extensive and imposing compared with these days

were made to ordain him. Large committees were

appointed to provide " place and entertainment for the

council that shall come," " to prop up the galleries in

the meeting-house and make it secure against the day

of ordination," and " find materials and make a
' scarfiU ' out before the meeting-house for the min-

isters to be on to ordain Mr. Barton, if it should be

done out of doors " " to provide for the Council and

see that there be good order kept on the Day of ordi-

nation or appoint .some persons to see it Done," and

also " to provide for other ministers, candidates and

scollars that shall come to the ordination."

Less than a year later Mr. Barton received the

thanks of the town for giving up £10 yearly of his

salary and ten cords of wood. Probably in voting

£90 instead of £80, as first granted, there was a little

strain upon the town's ability.

The next matter on the records which pertains to
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the church is in 1798, when at the May meeting the

town decided "to introduce the Bass Viol into the

meeting-house on the Sabbath Day and other days of

Public Worship." The same year witnessed the build-

ing and sale by auction of four new pews. These

were sold to David Rogers, William Brown, Jr., Na-
thaniel Hardy and John Spaulding, for i^Sl, $79.50,

$59 and $52 75, respectively.

Mr. Barton ended his labors with the churcli May
19, ISflo, and onthe^^Oth instant the town voted again

to hire preachiug. September 5, 1S04, they arc found

voting " to appoint a day of fasting and prayer to look

up to God for his direction in the choiceof a minister

to settle with them." They had a " Town's Commit-
tee " and a church's committee to make the necessary

arrangements. It was not, however, till ISDti that

their choice was directed, when, in theMarch meeting,

it fell upon Mr. Jacob Coggin, a name made honora-

ble in the town by himself and son. At that meeting

it was voted to hear Mr. Coggin longer in order to

give him a call. A month later the town confirmed

this vote in a full meeting, and in three weeks after

concurred with the church in giving him a call to

settle with them in the work of the Gospel ministry.

The town " more fully concurred" with this call July

10, 1806. Mr. Coggin was granted 1600 for his settle-

ment and for years received a salary of $520 and six-

teen cords of wood. The story of the preparations

for the solemnity of his ordination is almost a verbal

repetition of what took place when Mr. Barton was

ordained.

Previous to the calling of the next pastor the

church revised its Confession. The following is an

account of this interesting action :

At a meeting of the church September 25, 1804,

which is recorded by Lt. William Siraonds: "The
Covenant entered into when they were first form'd

into a Church state, and the heads of the confession

of faith agreed upon by the Sinod of Boston, May
12, 1680, and solemnly adopt'd by this church when
it was first gathered, as far as they were or might be

acquainted with it, and should find it agreeable to

the holy scriptures, were distinctly read : the Cove-

nant and confession of Faith lately us'd were also

distinctly read. Afier considerable conversation

upon this business this question was put: Will the

church abide by that Covenant on which this Church

was first gather'd ? It passed in the affirmative."

It was then voted to request " Mr. French, ofAn-
dover, Dr. Cummings, of Billerica, and Mr. Stearns,

of Bedford," to " form a more concise Confession of

Faith and covenant and lay them before the Church

for their acceptance or rejection."

After several meetings, which were adjourned be-

cause the committee was not ready to report, we find

that " Oct. 15, 1804, The Church again met agreeable

to notification at 2 °" p.m.," at which the Confession

of Faith and Covenant recommended by the commit-

tee were adopted. The following is the Confession

:

" You (and each of you) profeasedly beliiivo tber« is one Ood, the Fa-
ther, Son and Holy Ghoet—that tlio Hcripturca of tho Old and Now Tcn-
taincntuaio tho word of Cod, written by the Propliots and Apcistles liy

tho inspiratiun of thi) Holy Spirit. You beliuvo in this fall of man, and
the depravity of hunuiU nature ; tho QecoiiHity of being born again in

order to bo fittod for tiie kingdom of heavon ; and that this change is

ordinarily affect'd by ihe Spirit of (iod through lliu instrumonUility of
the word and lueana of grace. You believe in tho remission of sin

through tho sacrltice and atonement of Christ, and that he hnth ap-
jjointvil two special ordinances to be observed by every true beliovor,
viz., huptisni and the supper of the Lord s and that the qnallflcations

for these ordinancea are repentance toward God and faith toward our
Lord Jesus Christ. Vou also believe the future e.\isteuce of the soul,

tho resurrection of tho body and a day of future Judgment, in which
every one will receive a roward according to his works, do you (and
each of you) profess to believe this?"

About 1814 the tithingnien seem to have become
lax, for the town declared it to be its desire that they
do their duty and appointed a committee of ten to

aid them.

It was finally voted, April 16, 1818, to build a new
meeting-house. A committee of seven was chosen,

one from each school district, to view a spot for the

meeting-house and report. A year later a new com-
mittee was chosen for the same purpose, and in Sep-
tember, 1821, another " to get the town measured for

the purpose of fixing on aspot to sett a meeting-house

on." Various committees for similar purposes ap-

pear. In the meeting May 16th it was voted " to sett

the meeting-house to the south end of the old one,

provided the town can purchase the land. This ap-

pears to have been done, the land being purchased of

Deacon John Spaulding for $175. September 16th

the plans, with some exceptions, were accepted and
a vote passed to build the meetiug-house in one year.

A committee of five were chosen, consisting of Josiah

Brown, Joseph Brown, Jr., Jesse Trull, Wm. Rogers,

Capt. Dudley Marsten, to do the work, which, after

the usual delays and experiences, was successfully

completed, and the building was dedicated at two p.m.

July 6, 1824, almost ninety years after the dedication

of the first one. It was a red-letter day. A committee
of fifteen, made uj) from the men most prominent in

town, was a])pointed on arrangements. Samuel
Worcester, Esq., was "Martial of said day."

The pews were auctioned oft' July 7th, except one
on each side, and one to be selected by the selling

committee and Mr. Coggin " for the minister's pew,"
and it was voted to sell in the same order as in the

former house, if they will pay, and also with pews to

give rights to build horse-sheds." It was a very suc-

cessful sale, realizing $5399 deducting from whicli

the cost of the new church, $4590.31, the handsome
balance of $808.69 was left- This was devoted to the

purchase of a new bell, which, not proving satisfac-

tory, was exchanged for the one now in use, which
weighs 1850 pounds.

The town passed at the March meeting, 1825, a unani-

mous vote of thanks to their committee and another to

Mr. Jesse Trull for the present of a clock. The report

of the committee—a model in its way—was accepted

and ordered to be recorded with the vote of thank.?.
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Little relating to the church appears after this

upon the records, except the annual vote of the min-

ister's salary. Even this disappears after April,

1834, for the town accepted, November 11, 1833, the

amendment to the Bill of Rights, which severed the

tie hitherto existing between the church and the

town. Tithlnguieu, however, continued to be elect-

ed annually till it was voted to dispense with choos-

ing them.

This account may fittingly close with a few notes

on matters connected with the church.

It was not till 1737 that liberty was granted "for

individuals to warm the meeting-house." It appears

to have been an appreciated effort, for next year pay

was voted for |)ews to make room for stoves for that

purpose. We can hardly conceive of any use for the

pews without the stoves.

The time between the services wa-s so brief that the

people had no opportunity of going home. Groups

would club together and build and warm small houses

called 8abba-day houses. There a pleasant season

was spent in eating lunch, exchanging the news, and

also discussing the sermon. A descendant of one of

the oldest families in Tewksbury, Jliss Elizabeth

Rogers, writing to a friend, thus speaks of them from

memory: "In those times there was no fire in the

church and intermission was short, not sufficient time

to go home so far, as the old house was oppo.site that

of Mr. David Rogers. Therefore his great-grand-

father built him what was called a Sabba-day house

on his own land, where they could go and warm by a

fire, and in the oven was their dinner. Others were

often invited with the family. Some think lightly of

those houses, but I have a great reverence and respect

for them. The cellar-hole is on my land in Tewks-

bury, although fires h.ive several times burnt around

and in it. There has an oak-tree come up years ago,

and lives through it all. Probably there the sermon

and services were discussed, and I have no doubt

that good arose from that place."

The first deacons were Lieutenant Daniel Kittredge

and Jlr. Nathan Shed, chosen .January 10, 1737^—men
prominent in town art'airs during their entire lives.

Mr. Kittredge was the first moderator and the first

selectman of the town, and served the community in

these and other positions till incapacitated by ill

health and age. Interesting in this connection is one

briefenlry onthe town records, March 9, 1739: " Dea-

con Kittredge, not being able to attend the meeting to

act as moderator, the town then proceeded to choose a

new moderator, namely. Captain Peter Hunt." Af-

fecting is this brief entry in the record of deaths by
the pastor, too soon for town and church :

" No. 37,

Decan Daniel Kittredge Died Mar. 8, 1742," less than

eight years from the incorporation of the town. A
worthy colleague in the deaconship and other trusts,

although less prominent, was Nathan Shed, the town
treasurer for the first six years of the town's existence.

He died December 31. 1773.

Their resting-places are in the cemetery at the

Centre.

The foMowing is a list of the pastors of the Congre-

gational Church of Tewksbury :

TASTOllS.

Ror. Sanii)6on Spaulding, a native of Chelmsford, and a graduate of

Harvard College, 17:J2, was ordained November '23, 1737, and died E>e-

i-eniber 16, 1790.

Uev. TituH Theodore Barton, a p:radnutu of Dartmouth College, 1790,

was ordained as colleague with Rev. Mr. Spaulding, October 11, 1792,

Dismiaaed May 19, 18(13.

Rev. Jacob Coggin, a native of Woburn, and a graduate of Harvard

College, 1803, was ordained October 22, 1806, and died December 12,

1S,'.4.

Rev. Samuel Lanisou's ministry began 1844, and continued during

two periods of nearly two years each, his niiniatry ending in 1851.

Rev. Closes Kimball, a native of Hopkinton, N. H., and a graduate of

Dartmouth (\illege, 182(j, waa installed colleague pastor |with Rev. Mr.

Coggin, February 24, 1847. Disiuissed May 15, 1849.

Rev. Richard Tolnuin, a native of l>orcliester, and graduate of Am-
horat College, 18:ifl, was installed colleague with Rev. Mr, Coggin, Aug.

25, 1862. Dismissed .Inly 11, 1870.

Rev. Samuel F.. French. Ministry began November 1, 1871. Diemissed

October 26, 1882.

Rev. Frank H. Kauson. Ministry began September 2, 1883. Dismiss-

ed June 23, 1880.

Rev. James Alexander.' Ministry began December 12, 1887.

DKACONS.

Daniel Kittredge, chosen Jan. 10, 1738 ; Nathan Shed, chosen Jan.

10,1738; Joseph Kittredge, chosen Jan. 29, 1742; Ahraliani Stickuey,

chosen Oct. 11, 1759 ; Isaac Kittredge, chosen Oct. 11, 1759; Jacob Shed,

chosen May 31, 1774; Eldad Worcester, chosen March 19, 1776; Ezra

Kendal, chosen April 7, 1779 ; Thomas Clark, chosen April 31, 1807
;

John Spaulding, chosen June 27, 1811 ; Joseph Brown, chosen .Tuly 10,

1821; Oliver Clark, chosen Aug., 1826; John Jacques, chosen May 4,

1S32 ; Job Kittredge, chosen May 4, 1832 ; James Bailey, chosen IHay 4,

1832; .\bel Marshall, chosen Oct. 28, 1853 ; Zephaniah V. Foster, chosen

Dec.' 23, 1866 ; John F. Spaulding, chosen Dec. 2;J, 18G6 ; George Pills-

bury, chosen Sept. 22, 1867; Enoch Foster, chosen Jan. 11, 1885.

This was the only church in town till 1843. In

that year the First Baptist Church was formed. In

the late winter and early spring of the previous year,

1842, Lowell enjoyed a large revival of religion under

the celebrated evangelist. Elder Jacob Knapp. Many
came into the city from the neighboring towns.

Among these were a large number from Tewksbury.

Of this number Mr. Jesse Trull, the father of five

sons and two daughters, was converted, with his en-

tire family, including two of his sons' wives. Most of

these converts became adherents of the Baptist de-

nomination. They joined the First Baptist Church

in Lowell. Soon it was deemed best to form a Baptist

Society in Tewksbury. This society was legaJlly

formed March 18, 1843, in the Town Hall, where the

congregation worshipped, and after a very brief ex-

istence at the Centre—where there was no room for

another—this church was judiciously removed to

North Tewksbury, where it now stands on a com-

manding eminence in the most beautiful part of

the town. Soon after the organization of the society,

means were taken to erect a meeting-house. This

was accomplished after much effort and self-sacrifice,

and dedicated in August, 1843.

Since about the year 1830 there had lived in North

Tewksbury three families—Mr. Jefferson Farmer's,

Mr. Stephen Puffer's and Mr. Ebenezer Wood's—that
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attended the First Baptist Church, Lowell. Fur years

their prayers had been that a church of their order

might stand upon the spot where, in the Providence of

God, the First Baptist Church of Tewksbury non-

stands. They .saw the answer to their petitions when,

on September (>, 1.'^4M, this cluirch was organized by

sixty-eiffht constituent inembcru, si.xty of whom came

from the First Baptist Church, Lowell.

In 1846 a lot was purchased and a parsonage

erected, which in 1886 was enlarged by an additional

story, and put in handsome order.

In 1887 extensive repairs were made upon the

meeting-house. Assisted by the gift of flTjOO from

Miss Sarah C. Wood, of Philadelphia, a former par-

ishioner, the building was entirely remodeled at an

expense of about 14000, and now is not often sur-

passed as a country church in beauty and conven-

ience.

The present membership is 123. The congregation

includes a number of families from West Andover.

PASTonS.

Rev. Joseph 51. Graves, 1843^5; Kev. Bnvid Burroughs, 1845-4n
;

Rev. Lorenzo Tiuuiy, 1850-.11 ; Bev, .lohn li. Wooil, 18.''.;i-5,'-i ; Kev. Clif-

ton Fletcher,, 18oG-G'.l ; Uev. Albert lie K. I'aliner, 186il-72; Kev. Eugene

E. ThoniftS, 1S7;1-7G ; Rev. George F. RtiymonJ, 187t>-"8 ; Rev. Kilwiird

W. Pride, 1879-.
DEACONS.

Nathaniel Trull, 1843-84; Abijah Upbam, 1843-57; Lewis Fiske,

1844-78; Thomas Bridge, 18T5-S2; Peter C. Shedd, 1884-86; Jease N.

Trull, 1884- ; A. Monroe Kendall, 1886-.

CHAPTER XXVI.

TEWKSB UR Y—{ Continued).

THE FRENCH AND INDIAN WAR—THE REVOLU-

TION.

The town certainly shows, for a small community,

an exti-emely good record during those struggles for

the supremacy of race on this continent. This can

be gathered from the meagre records of an official

character. The following extract from the papers

preserved in the State-House, Boston, gives the men
who took part in several of the expeditions against

the French in Canada. Probably other items would

reward the search of the more leisurely historian :

" September 22d, 1755.

" A list of the men's names that Goine in the expedition against

Crowno poynt which belongs to the northeasterly Part of ye Ridgement

whereof Eleazer Tynge, Esqr., is Col. which were Presented by me, ye

subscribers' muster-master, by ye subscribers, Capt. of ye several Com-

panys to which ye men belong ; Tewksbury men,—Jonathan French,

Peter Farmer, Samuel Frost, Jr., Nathan Kittredge, Jr., David Kitt-

redge, Benjamin Hoegg, Samuel Danforth, Ebenezer .laquith.

" (Signed), Thos. Kidder, William Brown, Daniel Stickney, Ralph

Hill, Joseph Fitch, Captna."

This expedition against Crown Point was part of

the disastrous movement, under General Braddock,

against Canada, although his particular part of it was

successful. The following extract appeal's to pertain

to the same general movement

:

" A Return of men cnllalod for his Majesty's Service for the total Re-

duction of Canada ; Aaron Beard, Jun., ago 18 years ; Stephen Osgood,

JuJi., age 19 years; Daniel Mace, aeo 24 years."

About this period, under the list of officers com-

missioned for "ye Second Kcginient of !\[ilitia in ye

County of Middlesex," are found the following names

from Tewksbury :

"Joseph Kidder, Capt. of Company in Tewksbury, Wni. Hunt, Lt.

Jona. Shed, '2 Lt., Wm. Brown, Jr., ensign."

But by far the most interesting documents of this

])eriod are two lists of men " drawn out of Captain

William Brown's company," as is <lcclared in one of

them. The second list, a largely duplicate of the

other, is given entire, as far as concerns Tewksbury

men:
" A muster-roll for the pay of a Company of Militia that were raised

by Col. Eleazer Tyng and marched for the relief of Fort William Henry,

under conuuanii of Thomas Flint, Capt., In .'Vug. 1757 : Abraham Stick-

ney (ensign), Samuel Mears, Jacob Shedd (corporal), Samuel Iluzeltine,

Samuel Frizel, Edmond Frost, Jr., Benjamin French, Peter Clark,

Peter Farmer, James Champall, Amos Foster, (Jliver Hall, Oliver Stearns,

Thonuis Cogiu, Oliver Whiten, Samuel Puttiam, Isaac Mace, Joseph

Frost, Timothy Dutton, Eph™. Eisk.

'*Tlie above under the care of ensign Abraham Stickney, of Tewks-

bury Alarm, 1757."

Most of these men rode, and were paid for riding,

sixty miles, at the rate of 2s. 8rf. per day, and were

out five days. The men named in the following list

belonged to the same expedition :

** A muster-roll for Pay and Subsistence of a troop of Horse tiiat were

ordered by Col. Eleazer Tyng and marcin-d for tlie relief of Fort Wm.
Henry, under the command of Daniel Stickney, Aug. 1757 : Jonathan

Ivittredge, Tewksbury, Thomas Kittredge, David Trull, Zebulum Boot-

man, William Kittredge, Jr."

This Fort William Henry was formerly Fort Lake

George, and at this time the troops were under the

command of "his Excellency, Sir Jeffrey Amherst,

Esq., Gener.al and Commander-in-Chief of his Majes-

ty's Forces in North America for the Invasion of

Canada."

The record of those who never returned, as kept by

the pastor, Keverend Sampson Spaulding, is this :

'* In ye service at Fort Wm. Henry, 175G: Seth Jewett, Dy^ Oct'. 2G,

1756, Stephen Merrill Dyi., Joshua Kittredge DyJ., Daniel Griffin, Junf.

Dy*. Corporal Joseph Brown, Dy^. July 14, 1757, Fort Edward ; Timothy

Kittredge, Dyi. Sept, 15, 1758, at Hospital, Albany ; Tlio". Peacock, Dy'.

Sept. 4, 1758, below Oswego Falls'; Samuel Putnam, Dy*!. Sept. 19, 1758,

at Lake George, fever; Beiyn. French, Dyi. An. Dom. 1760, In ye Ser-

vice at Lake George."

From these deaths it is evident that still others

than those yet found in the State archives await the

unearthing of the patient investigator of that im-

mense treasure-house.

The account of this period may littingly close with

a receipt copied from the town records

:

'* April the 23'!, 1756, Mr. Harrison Gray, Province Treas', Esq'. Be

Pleased Sir to Pay to Stephen Osgood the Iialf wages Due to me fm- my
last year's service in the Crown Point K.\peilition, in a redgement under

Colueal Richard Gudley in a company of Foot under (he command of

Capt. Jonathan Butterfield, as Witness my Hand,

"Benjo. Hoaqo."
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" Tewkaburr, June the '^, 17:«7. Uoc' of >lr. l^um-fJniv, Tliirr«>oti

IVuiiJa leu ohilllugs and nix [lence Lnufull uiouey, iu full uf tlio wuges

ilue to b**tij«. Muat.'S for tlie Tuwti, while lie wiw in Ihe Country'tf Ser-

vice in llie eipvditiuu >Vrnie<l iipiiust Crown Point in tlie year 1761!. It

v,^t IU ('.11,1 l;titi.iriK.|(l'4 cuiupnny.

"yn we,

*'T|I08. SI.4R}»li.\LL,

" AOK.kllAlC StiCKNKT,

"JuiiK NRr.niiAH,

Solectmon o(

Tewkflbury."

The Revolution.—^Tewksibury manifested a spirit

of patriotism and sacrifice not less than her sister

towns in the great struggle for independence.

February 8, 1773, the first note of the coming strife

sounds in the town records. Then Tewksbury voted

to choose a Comniitlee of Correspondence with tlie

(own of Uostoii, and Mr. I'zra Kindall, Aaron Beaid,

.(ohn Needham, Natlianiel Heyward and David

Trull were chosen ; and then it was voted to adjourn

to March to hear their draft, which was accepted.

The warrant ofSeptember, 1774, contains an article

" to see if the town will api)oint one or more delegates

to attend a Provincial meeting at Concord ;
" and

another article " to .see if tlie town will provide some

tire armes and more ammunition and choose a com-

mittee to provide for the same." September 21, 1774,

seven months before the battle of Lexington, they

voted to buy more powder for a town stock, and to

buy two more barrels of powder iu addition to the

town stock, and to " leave it with ye committee to

provide bullets and flints as they shall think proper."

Six days after they met according to adjournment,

and chose Mr. .Jonathan Brown as " Delegate for the

Provincial meeting to be holden at Concord on ye

second Tuesday of October next." In November was

considered the article in the warrant " whether the

constables be directed by a vote of the town to pay

the money that they shall have or shall collect of the

Province tax to Henry Gardiner, Esq., of Stow, ac-

cording to the directions of the Provincial Congress."

March, 1775, they voted to indemnify the assessors

for not making returns to Hnrrison Gray, Esq. They
then "voted to raUe minute-men,"—it was high time

after passing such votes,—and to give their minute-

men five shillings apiece " for every half-day in the

week that they train till further notice."

March 9, 1775, voted to choose a committee to sup-

press disorders in town. A large committee of their

best men was chosen. It was none too soon, for in a

little over six weeks their minute-men must march to

face the veterans of Great Britain at Concord, and it

would never do to leave Tory sympathizers in the

town to aid the enemy. That there were Tories then

in Tewksbury is clear, for afterward, March. 1779,

they chose Mr. Ezra Kindall as agent to care for

the Tory farms in town. This meeting, at which
men and money were voted, was held March 9th.

April 19lh the embattled farmers at Concord and
Lexington, as Emerson says, " fired the shot heard

round the world."

Tewksbury was roused that famous night, or rathei

morning, by one of the men started by Paul Revere
on his famous ride through the Middlesex farms. The
messenger passed through this village and roused its

sleeping inhabitants. Then riding on, he stopped on

that spring morning on Stickney Hill, at the hotise of

Captain .Tohn Trull, near the training-ground often

used by the captain for drilling the men, and enlist-

ing them in their country's service. Hearing the cry,

"The British are marching on Concord!" Ca])tain

Trull sprang from bed, and after firing his gun as the

signal previously agreed upon to arouse General Var-
num across the Merrimac in Dracut, threw himself

upon his horse and rode rapiilly to the village. Here
he found the minute-men drawn up, ready at the

word to march. Placing himself at their head, they

were .soon on their way by the Billerica road to Con-
cord, and joined at Merriam's Corner with those from

Billerica and other towns in hot pursuit of the retreat-

ing British. There, all accounts agree that the sharp

conflict changed the retreat into a rout.

One of the Tewksbury men was Eiiphalet Manning.
One of Captain Trull's grandsons, Mr. Herbert Trull,

often related that when a boy, on his way to Salem,

he used to pass Manning's door. Eiiphalet would call

out: " I fought with your grandfather from Concord
to Charlestown. He would cry out to us as we
sheltered ourselves behind the trees: 'Stand trim,

men ; or the rascals will shoot your elbows ofl"."

There were three companies of men which marched
from Tewksbury to answer the Lexington alarm April

19, 1775—one, the minute-men, under Capt. John
Trull, two the companies of militia. The following

are their muster and pay-rolls as cojjied from the orig-

inals preserved in the State-House

:

" i^Vsi.—A Muster Roll of the Minute Company under the Command
of Capt. John Trull, in Colo. Ebenezer Bridges' Regiment, April 19th

and after, 1775

:

"John Trull, Luke Swett, Abraham Bayley, Sampson Spaulding, ,To-

seph Phelps, Jon'^ Frost, Phineas Annas, Isaac Manning, Jonathan

Beard, Eliakim Walker, .Toseph Frost, Peter Hunt, Wm. Hardy, Benj''

DiUaway (Audover), John Dandley, Jacob Frost, Amos Foster, Jonathan

Gould, Jonathan Gray, Paul Hunt, John Haywood, David IV[erriIl, Eii-

phalet Manning, Present Batchelor, Moses Gray, Samuel Manning, Isaac

French, Timothy Rogers, Benjamin Burt, Jacob Burt, Ephraim Frost,

Jeremiah Kidder, John Flint.

" £24 G 71^. John Tbull, Cap'."

These men served from nine to ten dtiys and trav-

eled fifty-nine miles.

" Secoyid.—The 'South East Company,' under Capt. Jonathan Brown.
*' Lexington Alarm.—Tewksbury Southeast Company in Col. David

Greeu'.s Regiment, Co. of Hid., sworn Mar. 11, 1776, Indexed as Le.\-

ingtou alarm, vol. ii. p. 198 : Jonathan Brown, Lt. Abraham Stickney,

Joshua lialiiwin, Amos Foster, Benj. Burt, Elea' Stickney, Thomas
Manning, Saml. French, Jacob Coney, Benj^ Clark, Sam. Longgun,

Aaron French, Eph™ Kindall, Joel French, David Merrill, Wm. Kit-

tridge, Reuben French, Jon"* Foster, Neh. French, Thomas Kittridge,

Jr., Jon* Shead, Eben. Whittemore, Joel Marshall, Thoma.s Sterns,

Aaron Beard, Saml. Ober, Even. Twiss, .Ir., Wm. Kittridge (3d), Is:iac

Kittridge, Jr., Jerem. Kidder, Steph. Osgood, Jude Richardson, Joseph

Frost, Jr., Josh* Clark, Ezra Kindall, Wm. Marshall, Benj. Frost, Jon^

Spaulding.
*' il9-0-6-;i was the total sum paid to the company."
" Third.—The Militia Company under the Command of Lt. Thomas

Clark.
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" Muster Roll of the Militia Company of the T. of Tewksbury under

tbo Command of Lt. Thomas Cljirk in Cnlo Green's Regt., specifying

the No. of miles and days of their niarrli, April 10th, 1775 :

** Lt., Thomas Clark ; Serf^t., Newman Scarlett; Coi'pl. Jacob Shed;

Corpl., Davis Chapman ; Pri v., Ko^er iMcara, Win. Levcston, Natlii

Hunt, Paul Thorndike, Benj" I\Iace, Nell'> Hardy, Saml. Marshall, Benj»

Danforth, Edwi Butsman, Ruht. Nicolas, .Jacob Sanders, Mhen' Kitt-

redge, Danl. Leveston, Saml. Frost, Nath^ Kittredge, ,Iohn Xcedhnuj,

Tim" Rogers, Thomas Blears, Thomas Taylor, Stearns Needham, duel

Wright, David Bayley, Tim" Dutton, Asa Leveston, Elijah Ilazelton,

Saml. Bayley, James Ilazelton, Tim" Hunt, John Hall, He/.'' Thortr

dike.

" £14-12-6 was the money paid to the entire company."

From these three lists it appears how general was

the response to the Lcxinj^ton Alarm and the pres-

ence among them of almost every family name in

town.

Interesting as showing that they hail no large fac-

tory from which arms coultl be ordered is this "order

to Joseph Phelps for making Eleven Bayonets Scab-

bards." JIarch 6, 1775, it was voted "to Indemnify

the Assessors from all or any Charges in not making
a return of the Constables' names and sums in their

Lists the year past to the Hon'° Harrison Gray,

Esq'.;" also voted "to Indemnify the Constables

from Charges in not paying their province monies to

the Hon'* Harrison Gardner, of Stow." They ad-

journed to Thursday, three days after, and then voted

" To Chuse a Committee to Inspect disorders in the

Town," and chose for this purpose :

" Deacon Isaac Kittredge, Dea. Jacob Shed, Nathl. Heywood, Aaron

Beard, Eldad Worcester, Ezra Kendall, John Needham, David Bailey,

Moses Worcester, Jonathan Brown, Thomas Marshall, Eben' Whitte-

nlore.

"

Jlay 23, 1775, they voted " to Chuse a member to

Represent the Town in the Provincial Congress at

Watertown on the Slst day of May Instant." Mr.

Ezra Kendall was chosen. The following May they

made Deacon Isaac Kittredge, Nathaniel Heywood,

John Needham, David Bailey and Thomas Clark the

Committee of Correspondence.

How vividly is the clothing of the .army brought

out in a vote like this "that the selectmen shall make
a return of what coats the Town doth make for the

men in province servis." At the 4th of March meet-

ing, 1776, the Committees of Correspondence, In.spec-

tion and Safety were combined in the persons of

Nathl. Clark, Jr., Nathl. Heywood, Dea. Jacob Shed

and Wm. Brown ; but .at the May meeting following

some evidently thought the number too small, and

they added to it Lieut. John Flint, John French, .Tr.,

and Benjamin Burtt.

For the remaining years of the war the various

fortunes of the cause may be traced on the records in

the efforts of committees to raise men and supplies.

Payments were made to men for going to Cambridge,

Roxbur)', " Boston and the Lines," Dorchester,

Rhode Island, Ticonderoga, New York, Fishkill, the

Jeffreys, " at the westward taking Burgoyne." As

these places pass before us the course of the strug-

gle passes too. Many are the kinds of supplies for-

warded from this little town to the army fighting for

liberty and home. Coats, shirts, shoes, stockings

salt pork, Indian corn, horses and beef, for Continen-

tal soldiers, are taken from the town directly to the

various camps or depots. Nothing brings home to

one so vividly how the war was carried on, what it

cost in treasure, sacrifice and l)lood. As those event-

ful years go by the difficulties in obtaining men
to fill the town's quota increase. More ellbrt and
more bounty money are required. Special collec-

tors and methods h.ad to be emidoyed to collect the

war rates of money or coin. Familiarity with such
details increases admir;ition for those who carried,

the struggle through to its glorious issue. While the

husbands and fathers were in the field their depend-

ent families were well cared for by the town. Fre-

quent are the votes directing the selectmen " to

provide for those families th;it the men are in the

Continental army." Touching also are entries like

these " April 12, 1778, to the widow Rebecca French
£3 5s. lOd 2 ; " " to the widow Rebecca Gray 7s. 9d."

The severity of the struggle appears as the history of

the town goes on in the town records. Many are the

votes like this :
" Sept. 8, 1777, to raise .C200 lor the in-

couragement to raise men for the Continental army,"

to which they added £200 more three weeks later, and
voted " to choose collectors to raise these rates." The
difficulty to find men to serve as collectors reveals the

hardness of the duty. The scarcity of salt felt by the

Colonies at this period is thus made historical :
" Oct.

21, 1777, voted that the salt be delt.to the poor sort of

the people, not to the whole of the town at 15s. p' bushel 1

they paying the money down for it." A committee

was raised " to deal the salt out," and instructed thus:
" that the committee deal out the salt discression.ally

as they shall think proper." Guns, powder, gun-

locks, lead, flints and other necessaries for war appear

often as paid for or ordered.

Along with the war went hand in hand the forma-

tion of a government and the framing of a con.stitu-

tion. May 25, 1778, voted to choose a committee to

examine the constitution or form of government.

This committee was Ezra Kindall, Dr. Eldad Wor-
cester, Ens. William Brown, ,Iohn Needham and
Nathl. Clark. This year 1778 was full of business,

a meeting often occurring each week. In June, the

8th inst., they decided " not to accept the constitu-

tion as it now stands." Almost a year later, May 21,

1779, they " voted to have a new con.stitution or form

of government made" by a vote of 20 against 2.

This year two new drafts of men were called for and
means taken to supply them. The emergency is

shown by the military character of the committee

elected to hire these men—Capt. .Tosliua Baldwin,

Capt. John Trull, Maj. Jonathan Brown—and also by

the decision Ih.at the committee should " give those

men that should engage in the Continental service fifty

pounds per man per month, or ten bushels of Indian

corn per month." By a vote of 37 to 13, at a town-

meeting they decided " to accept of ye proceedings
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of the convention that met at Concord to regulate

I>rice.t," !ind a coumiittee wius chosen " to regulate

prices in town." At the same meeting Jlr. William

Brown was elected " a delegate to go to Cambridge

the first day of September next to meet in conven-

tion in order to frame a new constitution."

From tliia record, .Tanuary 19, 1780, it comes out

that with all their cllorls, they failed, either through

inability or niisciilculation, to fill their quota by one

man. " Warrant of .Tanuary 19, 1780—To see whether

the Town will have the fine made into a rate that is

Come in the Ta.\ Bill upon the town for one man,

which the town wanted for the nine months in the

Continental army." In 1780 the stress of war appears

in the increasing bounties otVered for men and the dif-

ficulties in obtaining them. How characteristic of

the time is the offer of June 21st " To give those men
22 bushels of Indian Cor. p' man p' month, or sole

leather, or stock or Continental money equivalent

thereto, and allowing them i)ay for twenty miles p'

day for out and in, and the men to give the town an

order for the whole of their wages." That year the

town rate voted was £12,000, in part to pay the sol-

diere. In June they are still working to get the

necessary troops, and an article in the warrant is "for

the Town to Proceed in any way or meatherd the

Town shall Think Proper to raise the men that are

called for to Joine the Continental army," and also

" to hear the Request of the Great and General Court

for money to carry on the war." The bounty was

raised almost threefold at the following meeting.

The following August they are hearing the request of

the General Court for " Clothing and Blankets," and

in October for beef, to furnish which great activ-

ities follow. Their committee was finally instructed

to hire money to provide the beef, or pay in lieu of it,

or " to act in any other way they shall think is for the

Benefit and Advantage of the Town Respecting Pro-

curing the Beef" The proceedings are of a similar

character in respon.so to the call in December for fur-

ther men and beef. Affairs had reached the state

that any practical way to comply with these calls was
approved. The chief records of the town become
taken up with raising of men and all kinds of supplies

to keep them in the field, and pay for them both.

Nor were disputes between towns wanting concerning

the crediting of men. June 11,1781, "An order to

Col. Jonathan Brown the sum of £9, it being for two

days going to Boston to git John Danfonh held a

Continental soldier for Tewksbury, and £13 14s. for

three days going to Boston about a dispute between
Tewksbury, Dracutt, Chelmsford and Wilmington,
concerning Continental soldiers, and £21 p'd Thomas
Taylor, Jacob Sanders and Benjamin Danforth, for

going to Dracutt to be sworn, and £10 10s. for two
days going to Boston to Git two Continental men
returned, and £17 8s. for expenses the above
two days, and £12 paid Esq' Varnum for draw-
ing affidavits and swearing the witnesses, and £15

for one day going to Dracutt, and other time spent

in the above affairs, £136 10s." At this time it

took seventy-five Continental dollars to pay for one

in silver. In March, 1781, the selectmen and com-

manding officers are directed " to class the town to git

men to re-inforce the army." In 1781, then, the

townsmen are found, as in other places, combined

into classes, which hired a soldier for the army at an

expense ofsome £27. The receipts and mustcring-in

papers of several of these men from Tewksbury can

be seen on file at the State-House. In 1782 an execu-

tion was sent upon the town for the three-years' men,

and Wm. Brown received 18s. for its cost ; and a suit

is noticed a little later which cost the town 12s.

March, 1781, they voted instructions to their com-

mittee, to engage men for three years or during the

war :
" to men that shall engage, 100 silver dollars per

man per year, or the current exchange," and also " to

fall into line with other towns in their offers." In

June Nathaniel Clark was added to " the militia offi-

cers, to git the remainder of the men to engage in the

army for three years or during the war," and 400 sil-

ver dollars are offered each of the four men that will

so do. Next month, July, they voted to raise £100

hard money, to provide beef for the army, and in Sep-

tember to collect only in bard money. Corn had be-

come to a large extent a medium of exchange, as is

seen from the vote in October, -to see how much the

corn shall be a bushel to pay the corn notes. They
set it at 48. per bushel, and chose a committee to " set-

tle with the soldiers that have corn notes against the

town." In December a vote shows the condition of

affairs :
" Voted, that the assessors give the constables

orders to strain upon the inhabitants and others for

the money that Don't pay in the corn in -20 days from

the time the constables receive the lists ;" and " that

there be places appointed to carry the corn to." Peter

Hunt, Aaron Beard and Joel Marehall were appointed

to receive the corn.

The records are filled with the ways and means to

raise men and supplies. The military condition ap-

pears from the choice of constables this year wlio

were Captain Joshua Baldwin 2d and Captain John

Trull. In 1782 as high as £66 or £67 was paid by

a class for a .soldier. The town appears to have ulti-

mately paid back what the different classes expended

for hiring men for the Continental Army. Thus, Feb-

ruary 27, 1784, " an order to Jacob Frost (and sixteen

others), it being what they paid as a class to hire a

soldier for the Continental Army for three years,

£65 9s. 9rf -Iq."

This list, arranged alphabetically, probably con-

tains the names of all the men from Tewksbury who
took part in the Revolutionary struggle at any time :

Annis, Phiueas

Ames, Isaac

ADDis, James

Bayley, Noab

Bayley, John

Browu, Williani

Bayley, Daniel

Bayley, James

Burt, John

Bayley, David

Beard, Jonathan

Bayley, Samuel
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Burt, Jouathan

Batchelor, John P.

Broun, Timothy

Balilwiu, Joshua

Baglcy, Timothy

Boll, Jonatliau

Babb, Joseph

Brown, Joseph

Bailey, Nathan

Bailey, David, Jr.

Bootman, Kdward

Ball, John

Chambers, James

Corey, Jacob

Chambers, Thomiia

Corey, Jacob Jr.

Chambers, John

Corey, Samuel

Chandler, Thomas
Clark, /ephaniah

Chapman, Daniel

Clark, Benjamin

Clark, Thomas

Davidson, Kbenezer

Davidson, Alexander

Davis, Daniel

Button, Timothy

Dutton, Jonathan

Daudeby, John

Dyke, Aschelas

Daufortb, John

Danforth, Samuel

Dresser, Jonathan

Dresser, Jonathan, Jr.

Davice, Moses

Foster, Isaac

Farmer, Samuel

Foster, Jonathan

Frost, Jonathan

Frost, Joseph

Fisk, Jonathan

Flint, John

Fowler, Philip

Frost, Jacob

Foster, Amos
Farmer, William

Farmer, David

Foster, Joseph

Fisk, Benjamin

Foster, Ebenezer

Frost, Edmund, Jr.

Frost, Joseph, Jr.

Frost, Josiah

Foster, Ezra

Foster, Isaiah

Farmer, Peter

French, Nehemiah

French, Aaron

Gray, Moees

Gould, Jonathan

Gray, Jonathan

Gould, John

Green, William, of Kittery

Glode, Daniel

Griffen, Uriah

Griffen, Daniel

HuDt, David

Hoagg, Andrew

Hunt, John

Hunt, Peter, Jr.

Hardey, David

Hardey, Nathaniel

Hardy, John

Hardy, Peter

Hunt, Eliphalet

Hardy, William

Hardy, Nehemiah

HuDt, Isaac

HogK, Andrew

Hunt, Peter

Hunt, Nehemiikh

HaRseltino, James

lla^t^ltino, Elijah

Harris, William

Hall, John

Howard, John

Hunt, Paul

Haywood. John

Hunt, Nathaniel

Hnrnden, John

Kill, William

Harris, M'illiam

Hunt, Israel

Hunt, Ehene/.er

Hunt, Jonathan

Hunt, Nathaniel, Jr.

Hill, John, of Huston

Haggott, Jonathan

Holt, Jesse

Hoadley, Thomas

Hunt, Samuel

Hunt, Nathan

Jewett, John

Killum, Daniel

Kittredge, Asa

Kittredge, Nathaniel

Kidder, Josiah

Kittredge, Dr. Benjamin

Kittredge, Simeon

Kittredge, Jeremiah

Kittredge, Dr. Francis

Levestone, Joseph

Leavcstone, Asa

Leviston, Daniel

Leveston, John

Marshall, John

Manning, Samuel

Manning, Isaac

Manning, Eliphalet

Mears, Russel (rejected)

Morril, David

Morrill, Jeremiah

Mears, Roger

Marshall, Joel

Mace, Benjamin

Mears, Thomas

Marsten, Amos
Marshall, Samuel

Needham, John

Nicholas, Robert

Needham, Stearns

Patch, Timothy

Phelps, Joseph

Peabody, William

Richardson, Thomaa
Rogers, Phillips

Rickerson, Andrew
Rogers, Timothy

Shed, Jonathan

Swett, Luke

Stickney, Eleazer

Shed, Nathan

Shed, John

Shed, Jacob

Shed, Joel

Stickney, Amos
Shed, Jacob, Jr.

Scarlett, Newman
Thompson, Joshua

Thorndick, Hezekiah

Tnill, John

Tolbert, Henry, of Boston

Trull, Solomon

Tnili, David

Thorndike, Paul

Thorndiko, James
Whiting, Oliver

Worcester, Eldad

Wood, Asa

Walkor, Kliakim

Whitney, Moses

Whiting, Moses

Walker, Supply,of Peqwankitt

Wood, Thomas
Worster, William

W....d, AnuM.

Unfortunately there is no town record of those who
fell on the field, but :i few notes may be iidded, chiefly

culled from the paslor's bookof (^'iiurcli Ileeords. Ju

the muster roll of CMptuin Benjamin Walker's com-

pany ofCoI. Bridges' regimentof Twenty-seventh Foot

is found the name Philip Fowler, of Tewksbury, de-

ceased 17th June, enlisted April 19,1775. In the pay

roll which follows, Fowler is reported missing. The
captain was reported dead, and the com[)any was in

charge of Lieutenant John Flint, of Tewksbury. The
Rev. Mr. Spaulding records among the deaths "Philip

Fowler's son, died June 17th, 17f5,;)er/(a/'5, Silver Cord

Broke. Sud**." The boy fell for his country in the fight,

and his body never having been rerovered, as was not

unlikely, somethingol'ashadowremainod upon his end.

In addition to the ancientpastor'srecord, the follow-

ing certificates are copied from the file preserved at

the State House :

"Tewksbury, April 23, 177G.

" This may Certify that i)hillip Fowler served in the Late Cap*. Ben-

jamin Walkers Company, in 27 Regiment, Commanded by Co". Kbenezer

Bridge, aud the said pbiltip was taken or killed in the fitu at Bunker-

hill, and has not Re'', the Coat that was Dew to him as stipulated by tho

Congress. "John Flint, Leu'."

*'Andoveh, April 2, 1776.

"To the honer'. Conuuitlee at Watertown, pleaa to Deliver the

Coat or the price of one, to the Bearer, that wius Dew to (phiiip Fowcr),

my husband, and the bearer's Receipt shall be your Discharge.

* hir

"Ester X fowi.er."

mark

"This may Certifi that the above phillip Fowller, Dc*., Did not leav«

any Estate worth Administering upon.

" Tewksbury, Ibtb, 1776.

"Ezra Keni>el,

"one of the Select men of Tewksbury."

It would seem that these various testimonies to

Fowler's death ought to place his name upon the

tablets erected on Bunker Hill as among the killed

in that memorable fight.'

Another note by the pastor is '*Lenises (?) Green

(Winchendon), Dy** in Tewksbury, November 13,

1775, Wiounded at Bunker Hill."

From Mr. Whitmore's " Report to the Boston City

Council, on the Bunker Hill Tablets, Appendix B,

Taken Prisoners"—is taken: *' Jacob Frost, Tewks-

bury, *was taken in Bunker Hill fight,' Captain Benja-

min Walker, Chelmsford, Col. Ebenezer Bridge, alive

September 14, 1775, and in prison."

Later among the deaths are the following entries by

Mr. Spaulding in the Church Book

:

John Hunt, Jr., in public service at No, 4, 177G.

John Haseltine, in public service, 1770, small-pox.

Samuel Baily,in public service, 1776.

Enoch Merrill, in public service, 177t).

John Haywood, killed in battle, Rhode Island,

August 29, 1778, shot.

1 His name has since been placed on the Tablets.
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Many of the company lit Bunker Hill commanded

by Captain John llaruden, of Wilmington, in Col.

Bridges' regimenl. were from Tewksbury.

The following from the records seem to mingle

the Indian and Revolutionary Wars: "October 2G,

1779, to Jesse Baldwin it being for six pound which

he paid Nathaniel Hunt for engaging in the Conti-

nental Army During the war and for three pound

six shillings for one blankit, and six pound six

shillings for one pair of shoes, and one pound ten

shillings for a tomehawk, all for said Hunt £2G.2."

The following receipt is one of many from Tewks-

bury men, preserved at the State House :

" Boston, June 11, 1782.

" Received of Cap', .lohn TruU, Clmlrmnn of Class No. 3, for the Town

of Tewksbury, the »ume of aeventy-Bve pounds L money, as a bounty

to nerve in the I'onlinentitl Army for the term of three years.

•• Witness my hand,
'* Jacob yi Cobet's

mark
• Atteat, Tho". Bobinson."

Interesting is the treasurer's account all through

the Kevolutionary period, as showing how heirs of

festate-s, trustees for the same, men and women of all

classes, furnished supplies such as shirts, stockings or

shoes or blankets for the soldiers, and how the same

general response was given by loaning the town money

in this hour of its need.

June 24, 17713, voted "that the Selectmen shall

provide ammunition and shovels, spades and peck-

axes, ifcc, according to their discretion ;
" also, "that

the Town shall provide baynotts for the training

band in the Town,"—" that the selectmen shall pro-

vide fire-armes for those persons that they shall think

proper, and other Acoutrements."

Oct. 14, 1776, they chose William Brown, Aaron

Beard, David Bailey, Nathaniel Heywood and John

Flint, "a committee to make a draught for govern-

ment," which plan for government was accepted eight

days later.

The following entry shows that this town was rep-

resented at the suppression of Shays' Rebellion :

" Oct. 8, 1789, an order to David Rogers for his ser-

vice, being drafted to go in the Sliai's affair, 18s."

CIVIL HISTORY.

For many years in its early history Tewksbury re-

fused to avail itself of representation in the General

Court. May 16, 1738, it was voted not to send a rep-

resentative. For a long period this was the custom-

ary disposal of the matter in the May meeting, coupled

with this language, that they would not send a rep-

resentative, but trust to the mercies of the General

Court. These mercies failed to satisfy them always,

for on the records are several protests, through com-
mittees, against legislative actions.

In any business necessary to come before the Gen-
eral Court they usually chose a committee to repre-

sent them, but preserved a frugal mind in reckoning
with said committees, as a vote like this shows:

"Voted not to allow James Kittredge, Jr., and Sam-
uel Hunt jC17for services at the General Court in

getting the non-residents' land taxed," but " to pay

them later, conditionally."

For years the business and history of the town

pursue the usual channels of such bodies. High-

ways are laid out or closed; bridle, often spelled

" bridal "-paths are laid out most frequently, that

persons may go to public worship. The course of the

present roads, as the one which goes by the old Hunt
place to the Centre, was often determined by these

" bridal-paths.''

The customary course of civil history is broken

only as the more general events in the country break

in upon the peace and quiet of the community. Some
of the votes of these early years are worth preserva-

tion for the landmarks and customs they reveal.

March 10, 1740, " Voted to have three assessors for

the year Insuing, and to chuse them by holding up

of hands." These first assessors were. Deacon Daniel

Kittredge, Cornet John Whiting and Stephen Os-

good. Forty shillings was then the sura paid to each

of the constables, one of whose duties was to collect

the taxes. The town clerk received only five shillings

for his services. The town treasurer, in 1744, re-

ceived £3 for his salary. The same year it was voted

to have " a pound keeper for the year ensuing," to

which office Samuel Peacock was elected.

December 10, 1740, the Rev. Sampson Spaulding

signified that he should not be inclined to take less

than £200 for his salary. Voted not to pay it.

March, 1741, " Voted to give Rev. Sampson Spauld-

ing, their minister, £150 if said minister, being at ye

meeting, signified to ye people that what they would

freely give him he would be satisfied with." In 1742

they voted £160, and he appeared and declared him-

self satisfied with what the town had granted him.

This manifests the same judiciousness and Christian

resignation which may be traced from the beginning to

the end of his ministry.

The finishing of the meeting-house was let out to

Stephen Osgood for £140, on condition that he did so

by the last of September. This he failed to do, for

they voted, Jan. 19, 1742, to give Wm. Kittredge £160

to finish their meeting-house forthwith. More im-

portant is the vote which followed: "That Stephen

Osgood, of Tewksbury, should serve the Town of

Tewksbury for a school-master ye remainder of this

year."

Interesting is the difficulty found in getting a

committee to decide upon the highest tax-payer in

town, the disputes and protests on this matter, and

such a vote as the following of December 9, 1742, that

no person should " bring stuff or timber for building

pews nor to presume to erect a pew till further order

of the town.'' In this line is the vote of April 12,

1743, to choose a committee "to remove all incum-

brances out of the meeting-house which are brought

there without order of the town." This committee
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was intrusted with full power to deal with the matter
;

incumbrance they afterward defined, "they meant,

pews."

September 19, 1751, they chose Thomas Marshall,

Nathan Bailey and John French a committee to seat

the meeting-house, and left it " to the Discretion of

the said committee how to proceed in Seating the

said meeting-house." About this time pews began to

be erected in the galleries, for March 0, 17r>2, " James

Kittredge, ye 4th, Nathaniel Clark, Jr., Zeplianiah

Kittredge,TimothyBrown,SamuelKittredge,Jonathan

Shed, Thomas Kittredge, Jr., Amos Foster, Jr., David

Trull, Oliver Hall, Rbenezer Hardy, Abraham Stick-

uey, Eldad Worcester," were granted " Liberty to

build two pews in said meeting-house—one in the

Westgallery against three of the windows for men to

set in : and ye other in the East gallery against three

of the windows for women to sit in : and said

Petitioners are obliged to maintain the glass windows

against ye said pews and to fill said pews as full as is

comfortable to sit in." They also voted that ye said

petitioner shall have the privilege to leave ye s'd

seats and to hold their right in s'd meeting-house:

Provided the s'd Petitioner keeps ye said Pews full

with ye inhabitants of s'd Town." Almost constantly

through that year the meeting-house needed repairs,

which they finally voted to make March 7, 1757, after

much discussion, as is evident from the variety Of

motions rejected. How much some of the much-dis-

cussed repairs were needed is learned from the order

February 10, 1755, paid "to Mr. Thomas Marshall

for carrying out the snow in the meeting-house 2s."

As early as 1772, some thirty-four years after his

settlement, Mr. Spaulding appears to have suffered

from impaired health, for July 22, 1771, an order was

paid " to Mr. Jacob Coggin,"the first mention ofaname
honorable in the history of the town, " it being for

supplying the pulpit six Sabbaths £8." Beside serv-

ing the town and then the church alone as pastor, his

son. Rev. Jacob Coggin, filled with acceptance the

positions of delegate to the Constitutional Convention

in 1852, and District Elector in 1853, beside others of

minor importance. His name stands on the School

Committee list for many years as chairman. Possessed

of more than the ordinary portion of the spirit of the

Apostle John, he suggested the beatitude, " Blessed

are the peacemakers," by his efforts to ensure peace

in church and town. His gentleness made him
great.

The tithingmen for 1748 were John Chapman
and Nathan Shed, a schoolmaster and a deacon. A
feature of the government of the old town is revealed

in the treasurer's order of March 21, 1763 :
" To Lt.

Osgood, it being for repairing the stocks, and bring-

ing them to the meeting-house 3s." A similar one

occurs on January 12, 1771. "An order to Abrm.
Bailey, it being for repairing the stocks 6s.''

The meeting-house, with its towu ammunition,

stocks and all the things needful for the govern-

ment and businees of an ancient town, must
have been a strange sight compared with its as-

pect to-day. It was not till 1826 that the town

business was done elsewhere unless in a tavern

or some private dwelling. June 13, 1825, it was

determined to build a house to do town business in.

It was erected by October of that year under the super-

vision of Josiah Brown, William Kogers ami ('apt.

Stejihen Brown.

As early as about forty years after the first meeting-

house was built, the questions were agitated of adding

to the meeting-house, or of building a new one. To
do the former was refused in 1772 ; the latter was
negatived March, 1774. Probably the prospect of

war had much to do with their refusal for years to

make any but the most necessary repairs ujion the

church building.

As early as March, 1782, attention to the artistic

worship of God appears in the vote iu March of that

year, to devote "a third part of the front gallery for

the use of the singers." Occasional votes of a similar

character arc found, and frequent ones to recompense

the singing-master, Lt. Thomas Wood: thus, Nov.

29, 1789, " an order to Lt. Thomas Wood, it being for

what the town voted him for instructing the singers

in full, for the time past, and for the time to come,

£2 S(/." Yet, in spite of this comprehensive payment,

is found the vote, March, 1790, "to allow Lt. Thomas
Wood something as a gratis—at times spelled " grat-

ice"—for meeting with the singers to instruct them
to sing.

In 1787 they voted to have public worship in the

afternoon of Sabbath and other days without sing-

ing.

Property qualifications for the exercise of the fran-

chise were early known. In 1804, at the March meet-

ing, it was decided that a person, as formerly, mu.st

not only be twenty-one years of age, but must have

an income of at least £3 or an estate of not less than

£60 to vote.

Neither at an early date were appropriations for

music by the town so novel. March, 1808, they

voted "To raise the sum of $60 to pay the master

who taught the singing-school the present winter

past."

In 1812 they grant $50 for the expense of the sing-

ing-school, and in 1815 Lt. Thomas Wood was given

$12 for meeting with the singers on the Lord's Day,

for one year. In 1817, $50 was raised for the sing-

ing-school.

Not only the church, the roads, the schools, the

poor, diflicultie? between townsmen and neighbors,

at times the estates of widows and orphans, but also

morals were under the care of the town. Thus the

March warrant for 1824 has this article, •' To see what
method the town will take to prevent Idlers and
tiplers frem spending their time and property, or for

the town tn act on the same in any way they may
think proper at said meeting." At said meeting they
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voted that " there be a tipler's list postuU uii." They

recoRnizeil how straight is the road from idleness ivnd

tippling to the poor farm. Each man appears to

have had his own way of spelling, as is evident

from many of the votes quoted in this sketch. For

instance, for generations pews is almost always

"pues."

Among the curiosities of their independent spirit

is the vote of the March meeting of 1798 :
" That the

iuhabiUmta of the town wear their hata only when

they address the niodenitor."

Although the temperance sentiment was far behind

that of to-day, yet the evils wrought by the indiscrimin-

ate sale of strong drink called forth some efforts to

regulate its sale. In the treasurer's accounts for 1744

is this: " Received Mr. Thomas Kittredge's fine for

selling strong drink, £5 14s. old tenor ..."
And also several other fines for breaking the Sab-

bath £11. May 22, 1746 " ^'oted not to give said

Thomas Kittredge the si.K pounds which said Thomas

Kittredge forfeited for selling strong drink without a

license."

August 23, 1775, " Voted that the Selectmen do

approbate Timothy Rogers, Jun'., to be a Retailer."

March 2, 1778, "Voted that the Selectmen do not ap-

probate Will"". Fiske to be a retailer."

Quaint is the first notice in regard to preserving

orderly the resting-place of their dead :
" April, 1797,

Voted and chose John Spaulding, Nathan Shed and

Timothy Hunt to take care of the buring Ground

and Dige the graves." A year later a committee is

found " to inquire into the buring Ground."

After serving the town for twenty-two years as clerk,

which ofiice death found him in, and for twenty years

as first selectman, it is pathetic to read, June 17,

1799, " Voted to chuse a committee to go to the Widow
Scarlett's to git the town books and papers belonging

to the town."

As the necessity was felt, beginnings of a Board of

Health appear thus: May, 1811," Voted and chose a

committee to superintend the small-pox." They at the

same time appointed " the selectmen to superintend

the hospital where the sraall-pox is." A large Board

of Health, consisting of ten citizens prominent in

their respective districts, was chosen August 20, 1832,

" to preserve our citizens against spasmodic cholera."

The next year the selectmen were elected the Board

of Health.

The War of 1812 is brought to attention by the

grant to the soldiers of $13 per man if called to

march and the raising of $500 for the purpose of car-

rying on the war declared by the government. In

September, 1814, $500 was raised for the payment of

soldiers and purchasing of equipments for town stock,

and it was also voted "To make up to the soldiers

that have or may be called out $15 the present season."

As early as 1831 many voted for the annexing of

part of the northwest portion of the town to Lowell.

At this period Belvidere seems to have been some-

what a thorn to the town, for through its influence the

town-meetings were carried several times to the

school-house in that section or to one of the taverns

there. Perhaps a trace of Belvidere may be detected

in this vote of May : 1833, "That every man may kill

his own crows," it having been the custom of the

town previously to pay a premium for killing them.

It was November 11, 1833, that, by a decisive vote

of 101 to 17, the town accepted the amendment to

the 3d Article to the Bill of Rights, by which towns

were no longer required to support religious teadiers

or churches. Consequently the next March meeting,

1834, was the last time Tewksbury provided the min-

ister's salary, namely $575 for the Rev. Jacob Coggin.

It w.as just one hundred years from the time the first

appropriation was made by their pious ancestors and

the founders of the town for a similar purpose.

THE SCHOOLS.

The history of the public schools in Tewksbury

begins December 10, 1740, when it was voted in

town-meeting " that Stephen Osgood of Tewksbury

should serve the town of Tewksbury for a school-

master for ye remainder of this year." December

G, 1748, " Voted to have a writing and reading school

in the town, and that said town be provided with a

school as above mentioned for the space of three

months from the time he is made choice on." Mr.

Francis Kittredge and Captain Peter Hunt were

chosen to provide a schoolmaster for the town as

above mentioned. They were the first School Com-
mittee. They were allowed fifteen shillings per week

for keeping the schoolmaster. The next vote was

in 1744, " voted and chose a committee to pro-

vide a schoolmaster to keep a writing and a reading

school in said town " and they rebelled against im-

ported talent, for " a vote was tryed by the Moderator

to see if ye town would have Mr. Bridges of Andover

for their schoolmaster, and said vote passed in the

negative." They strove to equalize privileges ; for

March, 1744, they voted a consideration of " ten

pounds (old tenor) to ye westwardly part of ye town

for their not having any benefit of ye town school-

master." Then old-tenor money was about one-

quarter the value of the new. For about twenty

years from 1744 money for the schoolmaster was voted

only occasionally, but the usual three months school

appears to have been kept regularly notwithstanding.

In September, 1765, they passed the usuiil vote with

this addition, " and also to prefix the place where the

said school shall be kept." In 1766 the vote was " to

provide two schoolmasters for ye winter season,"

which became customary after the introduction of

" wimins " or " dames' schools.'' In June, the 17th,

1766, an article in the warrant was " for the town to

act their pleasure in seting up wimings school this

season in s'd town," which they refused to do; but on

March 4, 1771, it was voted " to have woman's schools

keep this present year in the town."
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The first mention of a school-house in town is

March 8, 1770,
—

" an order given to Thomas Kit-

treilge for bonis to fit up tlie school-house."

In 1768 the names of five diflerent schoolmasters

appear in the accounts, which suggests difficulties not

yet obsolete in discipline or capacity. The next year

they decided to divide the town into " scjuadrons for

the benefit of schooling," but this was not done until

1771, when the committee's report was accepted to

squadron out " ye town for the benefits of schooling,

and it was voted to have a woman's school kept this

present year." A brighter day begins. In 1771,

December 16th, appears the name of the first fenuile

teacher in town in an order to Lucy Needham for six-

teen shillings for keeping school one month. The

other teachers that year in town were

—

"Mary Brown, paid £2.S, December 26.

" Molly Merrill, paid £2.12, December 26.

"Elizabeth Bailey, paid £2.8," January 7, '72.

All honor to these pioneers of a noble band !

In 1772 it was " voted that each squadron draw

their equal rata of the money voted for schooling."

February, 1776, an order for sixteen shillings to

Molly Brown " for keeping school four weeks in ye

year." Thus four shillings a week was the rate for

teaching, one hundred years ago.

In March, 1703, they voted to build school-house^^

in the several squadrons, and chcise two persons in

each squadron to visit the schools, but it was not till

next year that the money was voted for this purpose.

In 1795 five men were chosen to inspect the

schools. Sometimes they raided the number to ten,

two for each squadron.

Private schools were once known in town. It was

voted, March, 1830, that Doctor Henry Kittredge and

others have liberty to keep a private school in the

town hall, they making good the damages and paying

rent if requested.

About the year 1830 the districts had about $80

each, except the Centre, which had about $100.

Afterwards the appropriations rose gradually.

In 1838 it was voted to print the school reports for

the first time, one hundred copies being ordered.

Dames' schools seem to have been successful, for

they were asked " to see if the town will sell Elinor

Putman the town's part of the school-house." March

1, 1779, is notable for the raising of " £200 for the

use of the schools, to be equally divided to each

squadron according to their rate bills." In 1779 at

the October meeting they negatived a vote "To see

if the town will give those persons Liberty that have

a mind to join and build a school-house at the meet-

ing-hou.se, and also that they draw their equal part

of the town money."

The vote of £200 shows the value of money during

the war years. The usual sum was £30, which was in

1787 increased to £40.

Here is inserted a list of the School Committees and
school-masters and dames so far as they can be gathered

from the books of the town, beginning with the first

teacher, Stephen Osgood, in 1743, till the close of the

critical period in American history, 1789.

Rr'HOOL COMMITTEE.

174^.
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dition uf aissiitijlaclioii niiiii lound, for they voted

and ilio»e a largti toiuuiittee of seven to examine into

the situation of the schools and report. In 1828, and

for 11 few years after, eacli district received for school

money that which it paid. In 1881 it wjis divided

according to the property of each district. This ap-

pears to have been the practice till the vote of 1835,

which chose a committee to divide the school money

to the best of tlieii- judtrment. The history of tliis

question, even in this town, as well as the varying

practice of " hiring" teachers, jiistilies the action of

the Legislature in abolishing school districts through-

out the State, an act with which Tewksbury complied

in the March meeting, 1869, and the selectmen were

instructed to carry out the law in all such cases.

From 184-1 the town voted to accept the report of

the .School Committee, and in 185() the committee was

instructed to print it. The number ordered was 200

copies. In 1857 a committee was chosen to revise the

school system, but its report has not been recorded.

In the autumn of 1887 it became necessary to di-

vide the school at the Centre on account of its size. It

was thought best to make the second school, which

resulted from this division, of a higher grade of

studies, and throw it open to the entire town. Soon

a school of considerable size was found pursuing the

last studies of the grammar year and the usual high

school studies of our educational institutions. In

August, 1888, a course of studies was arranged and

adopted by the School Committee. At the November
town-meeting it was voted that the advanced school

at the Centre be a High School, which it was before,

essentially. The first year it was taught by Miss

Emma V. Kirkland, of Randolph, N. Y., the second

by Mr. G. Homer Galger, of Chelsea, Ma.ssachusetts.

It is now under the charge of Mr. M. H. Jackson, of

East Boston, with an assistant.

Through the death of Mrs. Betsy Lang, the High
school received a legacy of $3000, whose income is to

be used in assisting to pay the teacher, or in books and

apparatus for the school, at the discretion of the School

Committee.

AppRorRUTIONS FOB SCHOOLS.—1773, £30; 1779, £200; 17S0, £800;

1781, £800: 1782, £3T; 1783, £30 ; 1784, £30; 1735, £30 ; 17S6, £40 ; 1787,

£40; 1788, £40 ; 1789, £40; 1790, £40 ; 1791, £40 ; 1792, £50; 1793,

1794, ; 1795, £80 (?) ; 179G, £80 ; 1797, £100 ; 1798, £180 ; 1799, £100
;

1800, £100 ; 1801, £100 ; 1802, £100 ; 1803. $330 ; 1804, ^00 ; 1805, $400

;

1806,1400; 1807,8400; 1808,8400; 1809,8400; 1810,8400; 1811,8400;

1812, $500 ; 1813, 8500 ; 1814, S5l)« ; 1815, 8500 ; 1816, 8500 ; 1817, 8500
;

1818 ; 85IX) ; 1819, $500 ; 1S20, 85(lil ; 1820, 8500 ; 1821, S50O ; 1822, 8S00
;

1823, $500; 1824, $500; 1825, $500, (aJd) $83.33; 1826, $583.33; 1827,

$583.33; 1828,8583.33; 1829,8583; 1830, $583; 1831, $583; 1832,8683;

1833, $1000 ; 18.t4, 8600 ; 1835, $500 ; 1836, $500; 1837, 81000; 1838, $600;
1839, $000; 1840, 80r)0

; 1841,8000; 1842, $600; 1843, $600; 1844, $700;
1845, $700; 1816, $700; 1847, $700; 1848, $700; 1849,8700; 1850,8800;
1851, $1000; 18.52, $1000; 1853, $10,.0

; 1854, $1200; 1856, $1200; 18.56,

$1200; 18.57, $1200; 1858, $1000 ; 1859, $1000 ; 1800, $14110 ; 1861, $1400
;

1802, $1000; 1803, $1000; 1864,81200; 1805, 81200; 1806, $1200; 1807,

$1800; 1868,81800; 1869,81600; 1870, $1800; 1871, 81900 ; 1872, $2000;
1873, $2200 ; 1874, $2000 ; 1875, $2200 ; 1S70, $2200; 1877, $2000 ; 1878,
$2200 ; 1879, $2100 ; 1880, $2200 ; 1881, 8220O ; 1882, $2200 ; 1883, $2800

';

1884, $2800; 1885, 82600; 1886, $2500, $400 for lext books; 1887,83100,
and $500 for text books

; 1 888, S3000, and J500 for text books ; 1889, $3600
;ind $600 for text books ; 1890, $2200, and $500 for text books.

CHAPTER XXVII.

TEWKSBURT—( Continued)

.

THE POOR—SLAVERY—NATURAL HISTORY.

The Poor.—Tewksbury from the first has found

true the words, "The poor ye have with you always,

and whensoever ye will ye may do them good." The
town supervi.sed the interests of widows and orphans'

when required, and often adjudicated cases of difli-

cu-lty which now are carried into the courts,—(lerhaps

not a more excellent way. Sometimes the children

of the poor were bound out by the selectmen.

It was the custom to warn out of town persons

likely to become paupers before they could estab-

lish a claim for support. A fee was paid for this,

which sometimes such persons would obtain tor warn-

ing out themselves and families. Thus, to " Daniel

Pryor 18s., it being for warning himself and iiimily

and Mrs. Mahoney and her child out of town." Then
no one could become a regular and recognized inhabit-

ant without permission. Towns gave worthless and

disorderly persons orders to march, and often assisted

them to do so. When, however, a person or family

had a right to town aid, they were fortunate poor

people, because they would be well cared for. Proba-

bly the last warning out of town recorded is July

17, 1796.

There were in the earliest times a Nicholas Striker

and faroily, whose names appear frequently in the

town accounts. Orders were paid for beef, milk,

wood, sugar, pork, provisions of all kinds ; for rum
and molasses ; for doctoring Striker's wife ; for re-

pairing his house ; for a cow to lend Striker; and at

last for his coffin and funeral expenses. There was a

French family, probably one of the Acadian exiles,

equally prominent in the same way, of which it

seemed the town would never hear the last. With a

sigh of relief, even at this distant day, is read an

order for payment for carrying them to Canada.

Alas ! they are soon back from an uncongenial and

inhospitable clime to tarry until the inevitable end.

In connection with the support of the poor comes

first this direction to selectmen, given March 7, 1742,

that they " bind Elizabeth to some suitable place and

draw not over £20 lawful money for her support."

Again, March 5, 1744,voted to allow "Jacob Cory, Jr.,

one pound five shillings old tenor for his trouble in

getting the £20 the town promised for bringing up

a poor child to the age of eighteen years."

February, 1759, a petition to Portsmouth, N. H., for

cost of the care of Charles Row, a soldier who died in

town of small-pox, 1757.

In 1761 the town was visited by a severe epidemic

of small-pox, as appears from the money paid for

nursing, rum, sugar and articles needed in such

sickness—a list continued to an astonishing degree,

considering the limited ability of the town.
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But as early as May, 1768, they had the custom of

lettiii-; out the poor to the liighest bidder, as is seen

from the extracts wliicli follow : May, 1768, '' Voted

that . . .'s child be put out to the lowest price

where it shall be proper to have it go." November

L'O, 1776, "Voted to appoint and Impower the Select-

men in behalf of the Town or any i)art of them, to

Endent and agree with Some |)crson or persons, to

Support and maintain the Wid" . . . during ]\er

life or any part thereof." Still more ancient is the

flavor of this advertisement, December, 1784:

Whereas, ... is supported by the town and

the selectmen can't git it done without great

cost, this is to see who will take and sup

port her." August, 1786, the warrant has an

article "To see how the town will support the poor,"

which resulted in the decision, '" that the poor be set

uj) to the highest bidder and that the selectmen give

publick notice of the time and place where they are

to be set up." This was usually done by appending

to the warrant a notice that they would be set up in

the evening after town-meeting, thus :
" N. B. The

Poor that are supported by the Town are to be putoul

to them that will do it cheapest, in the evening of the

above said day, and also the Widow Stickney's thirds

for the season."

In this connection stand these entries quoted for

their quaintness : August 17, 1772, " An order to

David Sanders for boarding Nicholas Strieker 35

weeks and finding him a pair of tow briches." Feb-

ruary 18, 1773, '' An order to Benj. Burtt it being for

four pair of gloves for the funeral of . . .'s wife,"

dependent upon the town. February 22, 1779, "An
order to Saml. Danforth for finding . . . her

house room and fire-wood and Sass and Drink."

Some of the items preserved on the records show

vividly the customs and the social life of the former

days. Such is the order given February 23, 1780,

to David Bailey, " it being for one Loos striped

toe lining Ground 2i yards and fore one toe and vvol-

ling wailed Coat 2.1 yard and for one Jacot and for

one pair of shoes, for one pair of stockings, all which

he found for . . . and for Boarding thirty-three

weeks and half to the sixth day of March £66: 8s."

The records are full of similar orders.

As early as October 17, 1780, an article is found in

the warrant " to see if the town will erect a work-

house for the purpose of such as shall become a town

charge." A good many years passed before anything

was done to carry out the sugge^tion.

In 1787 overseers of the poor were chosen. It was

not till 1826 that the present poor-farm, consisting of

some 80 acres, was purchased. In May of that year

it was voted to use it also as a house of correction. A
new poor-farm house, with conveniences suitable for

the inmates, is now in process of building.

Slavery.—Many fail to remember, perhaps never

dreamed, that slavery once existed in Massachusetts,

the leading State in the great anti-slavery movement.

Traces of the "peculiar institution" may be found in

all the early New England towns. Tewksbury is no

exception. The town records contain frecjuent rel'er-

ences to negroes belonging to one and another of the

names familiar in our history. It seems strange to

hear of the Kittredge, the Trull, the Hunt, and the

Rogers families as among the slavehobler.s. Stranger

still is what Mr. Aaron Frost relates, that when slav-

ery was abolished in Massachusetts there were three

slaves in this town : a man owned by Dr. Kittredge,

from whom the poor-farm was bought; a girl named
Rose, owned by Mrs. Rogers, and one named Phyllis,

the property of the Rev. Sampson Spaulding. Her
death is thus recorded :

" 1820, June, Phyllis, a negro

woman in Dca. John Spanlding's family, ninety years,

old age." It speaks well for their treatment that when

freedom came the two maid-servants preferred to re-

main with their former owners.

In those days they not only voted what seats the

singers should have, and adjusted all dilHculties with

them, but passed the following, September, 1786:

" that the negroes have the seat next to the long pew

for their seat to set in."

In this connection the following document is inter-

esting :

—

''Kuow all iiieu by these presents that I, John Kittrcdt^o, uf Tewks-

bnry, in the County of Middlesex, in his Majestie's Province of the

Massachusetts Bay in New England, Chiiiiigeou, Know ye that I, said

•John Kittredge, for ye love, good will and affection that I have and do

bear toward my servant Negroe man Keuben, and also for ye Uood Ser-

vice that the said Reuben hath done and performed for me, l>o by these

presents Declear, Order and Establish that uiy said Servant Kcubeu, if

he lives and survives me, his said Master John Kittredge, that after my
Decease the said Reuben shall be Intirely free and at his own free Lib-

erty for his life time after uiy Decease, so that my Ileirs, Executors, or

Administrators, or Either of them, shall not have any Cuniniand or

Business to order or Dispose of said Reuben. Dated at Tewksbury, the

Sixteenth day of Jannry, in the Twenty Eight year of his Majestie's

Reign, Anquo Domini 175 |
5.

" Signed, Sealed and delivered

in presence of \is. ".Ioh.v Kittredoe.

"Jonathan Kittredge,

"Joseph Ivittredge,

"JouN Chapman.

"The above written instrument of ye ('leronanceof Doctr. John Kitt-

redge's Negioe man Reuben, was entered November ye 16, 1756.

"Per me, Stephen Osgood,

" Totcn Clerk."

Natural History.—The early descriptions of

New England reveal an unusual beauty. The num-

ber and varieties of the trees of the forests primeval

impressed the writers. The same impression of ad-

miration arose from the multitude and variety of the

animals, birds and fish which Tewksbury had in

common with other towns. Some of the quadrupeds

are now extinct.

The abundance of fish made Wamesit the capital

at one time of the tribe after which it was named.

The Merrimac is " the Sturgeon River." In this

river, the Concord and the Shawsheen, and in their

numerous tributaries, abounded all the kinds of fish

known to New England waters. In former days the

northwestern part of the town was known as " Shad-

town," and apprentices stipulated that they should be
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fed only 80 often upon the royal salmon or upon shad.

The soutlieni portion was lor years called " Pigeon-

town," from the numerous |)igfOus which frequented

those purls. At every towu-uieetin;,', from 1743 till

1830, tish reeves, wardens or " fish cares" were ap-

pointed. The following is the first vote: Stephen

Osgood and Samuel Hunt were chosen a committee

" to see that the fish have free passage up and down

those streams where they usually pass to spawn."

Soon after the foundinjr of Lowell, the manufiictur-

ing interests, by polluting the waters, left the com-

mittee without occupation, and it ceased to he elected.

As late as August, 17C0, about which time the

savage beasts disappeared, was killed in Wilmington

the last wild bear in that vicinity. " It was shot by

Ephraim Buck, from beneath the branches of an an-

cient oak, now standing, near the road leading from

Wilmington Centre to the east part of the town."

(Drake's Middlesex, Wil. by L. C. Eanies.)

Interesting is this vote passed December, 1739

:

" Voted to chose two men to take care that the deer

in this town be not destroyed contrary to the last law

made in their behalf." Josiah Baldwin and Samuel

Trull have the honor of being elected the first of a

long list of deer reeves which ends about 1777.

The following vote shows the abundance of small

game compared with its scarceness to-day : 1742,

" voted a town rate of £25 old tenor to pay the

bounty laid on gray and ground squirrels and black-

birds which are caught in the town.'' Bounties for

fiercer animals were not unknown, for in 1757 an

order for six shillings was paid John Ball for kill-

ing one wildcat ; and in 1768 Jonathan Kittredge was

paid ten shillings for one killed—the last of which

there is historical record. There was a bounty on

crows also, whose rate rose and fell with the times.

In 1791, " Voted a bounty for killing crows, 9d. per

head for old ones, and four pence ha'penny for young

ones killed by the inhabitants of this town in the

town : Voted also that the heads be brought to the

selectmen or town treasurer to be examined, and il

they suspect their being killed in the town, then the

person bringing them shall go to a justice of the

pease and sware that the crows were killed in the

town and bring a certificate that he thus swore."

In 1814 it was voted to let fishing privileges to the

highest bidder : .^50 was paid for the privilege

formerly owned by Dr. Worcester at the northwest

part.

CHAPTER XXVIII.

TEWKSBURY- ( Continued).

THE CIVIL WAR—CIVIL AND BIOGRAPHICAL.

The part played by the town in this tremendous
conflict is best seen from the reports and votes spread

upon the town records, supplemented by such remarks

as will explain them.

The sound of the coming strife is heard in the vote

March 4, 1861, " to instruct the School Committee to

cause the Constitution of the U. S. to be read in each

of the public schools of Tewksbury once at least each

term." They also voted, JMarch (ith, the same notable

year, to raise more money and adopted the following

report of a committee raised at the previous meeting

and consisting of George Lee, Elijah M. Read, Jona-

than Brown, D. G. Long, Elbridge Livingstone :

" That the town appropriate the sum of $2000 and

that a committee consisting of the Selectmen and four

other citizens be appointed to disburse this appropri-

ation among the volunteer citizens of Tewksbury in

such manner as in their judgment the circumstances

may require. It being understood that out of said

appropriation an outfit and a reasonable amount of

pocket money be provided for all volunteers from

Tewksbury, and that the families of the absent volun-

teer shall be cared for, and also that this committee

shall also look after their future wants and necessities

during their enlistment and also that the compensa-

tion of the Said volunteer be increased to twenty dol-

lars per month for the time of their actual service."

They also voted and chose the following named gen-

tlemen to act in connection with the selectmen in

distributing the above appropriation : N. P. Cole,

B. F. Spaulding, William Grey, John P. Taylor.

This committee reported at the next annual town-

meeting, March 3, 1862, as follows :

" Your committee entered upon tbeir new and uunsual duties with a

desire to do justice, as well as exercise benevolence towards our young

men, who, at this crisis in our country's march, so nobly stepped forward

to protect the homes and the institutions of this great and favored peo-

ple. Neither were they unmindful of their duties to those who, though

quietly at home, so willingly supplied the means.

" By a vote of the town each man enlisting into the U. S. service was

to receive from the town a sum sufficient to make his wages twenty

dollars per month,

"On the 'i.'id May last the legislature of Mass. passed an act rendering

nugatory all acts of towns for increased pay of w.iges to volunteers be-

yond the term of three months for any individual.

"This deprived a majority of our volunteers of any increased pay.

" At the early stage of our national trouble, our State, as well as our

Xational Government, was not fully prepared to uniform and fit out

troops as fast as the exigencies of the case seemed to require.

" Hence the importance of towns and individuals to interest them-

selves to provide the comforts and furnish necessities to our volunteers

and their families. To this end the attention of your committee was

directed more especially to see that each man had the necessary clothing

and a small amount of money when he should march to the seat of war.

In the act above referred to. the State made ample provisions for the

families of volunteers, which relieve your committee of that service.

*'The act of the town made it the duty of the committee to distribute

aid to the volunteers according to their judgment of their several neces-

sities.

"They furnished six persons with clothing and necessary articles for

the camp, to the amount of one hundred and eighteen dollars and

eighty cents (8118.SO) thirty-three persons with pocket-money at ten

dollars each (810), three hundred and thirty dollars (S330), and two per-

sons with two dollars each, four dollars (Si), to defray their expenses to

Boston to enlist, making the total amount paid and authorized to be

paid, of $452.80.

" It may be proper to state here that quite an erroneous opinion, for

a time, seemed to prevail among some of the volunteers and tbeir friends,

to wit. ; that the town had voted to pay each volunteer ten dollars, irre-
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Bpective of thQ judgment of the committee ; this, as well as other erron-

eous views thiit obtaioeil currency, increased their labor by requiring

frequent explaoatiuns.

" Ten dollars have been paid, or authorized to be paid, to each volun-

teer or his authorized asent or guardian, who has applied for it and fur-

nished satisfactory evidence that they have been lawfully enlisted in

the vulunteer service of the V. S., except one who was aided to the

amount of eight dollars and ninety-three cents (88.93), for needed arti-

cles, but no money. One made no application.

" The base of the action for granting aid was evidence that the vol-

unteer had his residence in Tewksbury at the time of his enlistment.

" The subjoined tabular statement exbibitsthe name of each volunteer

or person aided from Tewksbury, together with the number of the regi-

ment and the description of the battery, squadron or company to which

tliey are attached, so far as could bo ascertained, also sm-h other infor-

mation relating to their condition as is in possession of your committee.

" Your committee respectfully requests to be discharged from furtlior

service, and recommends the selectmen be authorized to perform the re-

maining duties for the committee.

*'B. F. Spaulding. CTinirmiiH."

Meanwhile the town was alive with efforts to re-

cruit the ranks of the army and sustain that army in

the field. As will be seen from the lists of her sol-

diers in this contest, Tewksbury had men among the

first in the ranks, notably in the renowned Sixth

Massachusetts, some of whom still live to tell the tale of

the celebrated march through Baltimore.

July, 1802, came another call for troops, on which

the town at once acted, as thus recorded :

"July 28,1862.

" Whereat, by Proclamation of the Pres. of the U. S., an addition to the

forces now in the service of the country, of 300,000 men, is required and

ordered, and IVltereae, of the whole number to be raised, 15,000 is set

down as the portion of Mass., and WJtereas, by Proclamation of the Gov.

of the State, eleven men is the number assigned to the town of Tewks-

bury as its quota of the above force, therefore,

—

" Voted, That a bounty of Sl-5 be appropriated to each of said eleven

men, who shall enter said service from this town, to be paid to them

when mustered in.

" Voted, That the Treasurer of this town is hereby authorized to bor-

row a sum of money not exceeding, in amount, $1500, on such time as

^e may deem best, etc.

" Voted, That Clerk and Treas. spread these votes on their respective

records, the names of recruits under this call and the amounts paid them

each."

This was July 28th. In less than a month another

meeting was held to act upon still another call

for " three hundred thousand more." Similar reso-

lutions and votes were passed, as on the previous

occasions; SlOO was voted to each man enlisting for

nine mouths, and the treasurer was authorized to

borrow $1500 additional.

Next month, November 4th, at another meeting, it

was decided to pay all expenses attending enlist-

ments.

Coming to the next annual meeting, April, 1863,

the celebrated proclamations of Governor Andrew and

President Lincoln for a day of humiliation, fasting

and prayerare spread upon the records of that solemn

time after ihe usual report.

November 3, 1863, finds the town again convened to

respond to the third call of the President for 300,000

troops. It is a pathetic reminder of the spirit which

tilled the Republic in her adversity to notice that,

before even electing the moderator, by solemn vote

20-iii

they called upon the Rev. Richard Tolman to open
the meeting by prayer.

Here are the votes which pertain to 'the great con-

flict, then raging throughout the land: "That a

bounty of $200 be paid to each volunteer soldier on

being mustered in the United States service, also

that the town choo.se a committee to make an assess-

ment on each individual of his proportion necessary

to be raised for this purpose ;
" " that a meeting or

series of meetings be called by the selectmen as they

may think best to encourage enlistment;" "that

die same committee that is appointed by the Gov-
ernor to enlist volunteers for this town, do asse-ss and
apportion to each individual their proportional part

necessary to raise the above amount."

The next important action was in the meeting of

May 30, 1864, when they voted to pay $125 to each

enlisted man that shall be mu.stered into the military

service of the United States from this town the

ensuing year. Ten men were required to till the

quota. The treasurer was authorized to borrow $1250

to meet demands. The town then seems to have

made an effort for this final demand upon its re-

sources with success.

Immediately after the town-meeting a citizens' meet-

ing was organized by choosing Leonard Huntress

chairman. These rallies were kept up with great en-

thusiasm by men prominent in town affairs and from

all parts of it till the quotas were filled. The first meet-

ing voted " that the assessors be required to assess the

amount of $1250 on the tax-payers of Tewksbury as a

voluntary tax for the purpose of securing the requisite

number of men that may be called for by the Presi-

dent, from this town;" and that Elijah M. Read be

treasurer to receive all the money of the several

collectors chosen at a previous meeting.

The ladies during these severe and trying experi-

ences did their part by gathering necessaries and
luxuries to send to the men defending the flag on

distant battle-fields or bearing pain for it in remote

hospitals. Here, as elsewhere, all classes were fused

into one by ardor for the common cause—union and

freedom.

The end came at last, even sooner than expected,

in the annual meeting of April, 1805, when, after

reporting that the town debt at that date was $8932.-

32, the chairman, Leonard Huntress, appended to the

report of the selectmen these remarks :

*' The selectmen, in addition to the foregoing report of receipts and
expenditures, desire to call the attention of their fellow-citizens, in a

few brief words, to matters showing more especially the town's relation

to the country.

" The war has existed four years. Every call made upon us for men
to put down the rebellion has been honored. Our quotas are all full.

We have also a surplus to our credit of two men.
'' The end now appears to be so plainly drawing nigh that we are in

hopes no additional calls will be made. In fact, the spirit of liberty and
of patriotistn seems to he doing for the army in these last days so good a
work, that we believe our ranks will be kept full.

"Since April 1, 18G4, this town has furnished twenty-four men. Th(3

last one who went was our fellow-townsman, Aneou B. Clark.
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" Wo mentioD hU caw iwrtinilnrly Iwcbiismh ho was llie flntt mail who

cnlw(e4l«*aiirival«». nitd l>y hwi-tMM'iIy qMuIUie»tiinl good cmuluct wft«

liromoted !o n wrK^Hiitcy. S«k»ii ufl«r his promotion ho wm taken prU'

ua«r, ami «u(r»rt«l In t\w ' I.ihtiy ' und on Ilolle UU< iinlil nfiiily uhlkI up,

wh«^D hf« WM exchituKt'il- 111* now ronHitlom hiniiHdf iigiiin lit for duty,

hat l>*«tn examinml wnd inuslcred in ob n \ ttoniu for llaucitrk's Conw.

"Of th'NW thnt wviil In thi> whiter of l«ti;i-M, four »ro known to hovo

diwi. ThirirnuiMfHrtro.r Wellit MiiTiuni. Ali-xiimhT MrlHinuld, Hugh

]McI>oniild und Hugh Mrl^nurrio. Young fllyrriiim w^l^ dork (»t" tho

KintHinlh SIuwiu-huttetlM lluttury, Ntulionvd thun ut Alcniphia, h good

Buldi«r, B corroct onicor. Hud nn Kxemplnry iind upright miui. Ho died

aflur u tiriiifsickntw, Iwlovi'd, wo Ludifvu, hy Iho whole conuniiiid.

"The two McDonuhtM tind MoQuiirrio w«r» not citi/oits of thin town.

Tholr homy wna rrlnio Eilwuid's It<Iand. Toniponuily ut work hero,

tliay enliilud in thoiSovenlh Itiittfry, iind during tho liiNt warm MOtiBon

tliey ull died nonr lh« mouth of tho MinwiBsippi IliviM-. I'or nil of thoao

hnivo oni>ti, and for tho«o who hiive fullou hyforo thorn, tlio town does

uioul temlorly chiTinh llio mumory of thoir gulluMt und tieroic dood«.

'* Whilo thin war Iiik(8, the Holectinvn would roromnierid that our ox-

p«>ii*>8 he kupt RH light lui practiciddo. If men are wanted, they must

1k> furnitthod. If we hiivo thom nut, wo must find thoin elsewhere ; and

iftheycotil money, we nnist pay for (hem. Hut ns tu our affairs at

homo, wo roconnnend a rigid economy."

At the close of this report Mr. llimtress says

:

*' We would therefore suggest for tho current year

:

*' For repairs of roads A bridges to bt* pd in labor @ $1.50 per day 81 -On

For Schools I^i'i'*

For Current HXpenses l-*'0

As the State tax is Stiiid

And the county tjix itf 500

And the bounty money pd to vol wh is to be iisHessed is 3000

Amounting to 81",7iio

" We think the tax-imyers will prefer to pay that amount itromptly

rather than alteniiit to stagger under thorn.

"Tho Town will undorMlaur! that these are only suggestions and will

treat them accordingly.
*'IjK0NAiiu Huntress,

"C7wirmaH of the SeJeclmeH.^^

A vote was passed " to render thanks to him and

his associates for the efficient services of the past year

iu procuring troops to lilt onr quotas." They voted

also " to assess the present year $8000, that being the

amount paid as bounties to volunteers.''

With such a spirit, no wonder that the town in a

very few years paid its war debt and resumed its

wonted prosperity.

The list which follows gives the names of probably

all the men who served the town in the War of the

Kebellion. It is taken from the official record of

Tewksbury.
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ofthese gentlemen the library is indebted for numer-

ous gifts of books. In March, 1878, and yearly from

that date, the towu voted the dog tax to the support

and increase of the library. In March, 1879, an ap-

propriation of $100 was granted for the same pur-

pose. F^.very year since, butotie, the town has given

a sum in addition to the dog tax varying from $100

to S2.30. The shelves now, 1890, contain m26 vol-

umes, and readers are furnished with the popular

magazines. Patrons in remote parts of the town

have books delivered at a point near their home.

The circulation of books for the year ending Febru-

ary 1, 1S90, was 7171, including a few magazines,

the largest number ever used in one year. Many
competent judges have deservedly i)raised theselection

of books, which includes the best of every class of

literature, and which furnish a valuable and increas-

ing belp to the work of the schools. Perhaps some

affluent native of Tewksbury who reads these pages,

may be led to furnish a titling home for these literary

treasures. There are few better ways to perpetuate

a good and ancient name, or to render money a per-

manent source of good, than the establishment and

endowment of Public Libraries,which make accessible

to all the people the best that has been thought and

written in all times.

To trace the history of even a small New England

town like Tewksbury shows that it is representative

of the great type to which it belongs, a form of society

and government unsurpassed by any the world has

ever seen. Even this comparatively small town illus-

trates the principle on which the nuister historians of

to-day proceed in the study of the great drama still

unfoldmg^that the local history should furnish the

beginning which ends in the universal. Tewksbury

stands connected with the great world wide current.

The town had a share in every change and movement

of the land. Her social life was part of the life ot the

day. Often a vote, a phrase, a single word or name
from her records brings up a past which belonged to

that entire ancient world whicli seems to most men
like the stuflf dreams are made of. Even here the old

adage is true that " Every road leads to Rome.

"

LIST OF MODERATORS OF THE TOWN OF TEWK6BURV—FIHST MEETING JAN-

UARY 14, 1734-36.

173o—Lt. Daniel Kittredge; March, Sauuiel Hunt, Jr., William Brown
;

May, June, July, November, Lt. Daniel Kittredge.

17oG—March 2'tth, Joseph Kittredge ; June 10th, November 22d, Sep-

tember 13tli, Daniel Kittredge.

1737—March 7tli, May, September, Lt. Daniel Kittredge; October 6

Joseph Kittredge; December 2'2d, Lt. Daniel Kittredge.

1738—February Itlth, March i.th, May 16th, Deacon Daniel Kittredge
;

August 31st, Joseph Kittredge ; November 27th, Capt. William Browu.

1739—March r>th, Deacon Daniel Kittredge; March 9th, Capt. Peter

Hunt ; May 2id, Cai»t. William Brown ; September *th, November 27t}i,

Deacon Daniel Kittredge.

1740—March 3-l(ith, adjourned May 20th, Deacon Daniel Kittredge;

i»ctoher8tb, Capt. William Brown; December 10th, adjourned to 17th,

Deacon Daniel Kittredge.

1741—March 2d, May ISth, June 15th, Deacon Daniel Kittredge; No-

vember 4th, Lt, William Brown,

1742—.lanuary 19th, Joseph Kittridge
; March let, adjourned to March

t>lh, March 29th, Lt. WilUam Brown ; May 18th, Deacon Joseph Kitt-

redge ; October 4tta, adjourned to the 0th of December, Lt. William
Brown.

1743—March 2d, April 12th, May 20th, September I2th, Lt. Willium
Brown; November 14th, Dea. Joseph Kittredge; December Cth, Lt.

Williiini Brown.

1744—]\Iarch r.th, 30th, May 22d, June 5th, September 7th, Novemhor
13th, Lt. William Brown.

1745—March 4th, adjourned to March 18th, April llth, Cupt. Peter

Hunt ; May 23d, Septttiiiber 23d, November 23d, Lt. Williani Brown.

174(3—March 4th, 26th, May 22d.Capt. Peter Hunt; Soptemhor 23d,

\it, Williani Brown.

1747—March 2d, Capt. Potor Hunt ; BIny 20th, Lt. William Brown
;

September 17th, Lt. Williani Kittredge.

1748—March 7th, i'a|.l. IVter Hunt; March 29th, Thonnw Clark;

May 2nth, no name ; Septi-mber l:itti, William Kittredge,

1749—March 6tb, William Kittredge; May I2th, Stephen Osgood;

September I2th, Williani Ivittredge.

1750—March 5th, Lt. William Kittredge; May I7th, Dea" Joseph

Kittredge ; October 2d. William Brown.

1751—March 4tb, adj<mrned to March llth, Thomas Chirk ; May 14th,

Thomas MarBliall ; September 19th, Williiini Brown.

1752—March 2d. Thomas Clark ; May llth.Joflepii Kittredge
;
geptem-

lier 21st, Thomas Clark ; December Sth, John (^hapman.

1753—March 5th, Thomas Clark ; May, no name ; June 15th, Thomaa
Marshall ; September I.'ltli, Win. Brown.

1754—March 4tli, Win. Brown; March l9th, Dea" Joseph Kittredge;

May 15th, October 15th, Wni. Brown.

1755—March 3d, Wm. Brown ; September liith, Dea" JoBCph Kittredge.

175G—March, September 9th, Capt. Wm, Brown.

1757—January 12th, .lnhn Chapman ; March 7th, ('apt. Win. Brown
;

May 10th, Joseph Brown ; September 29th, Capt, Wm. Brown,

1758-:March Gth, October 2d. Abraham Stickney,

1759—March Sth, May llth, William Kittredge ; September 27th, Capt.

Wm. Brown.

1760—January 17th, adjourufd to January 28th, Wm. Kittredge
;

March 3d, Capt. Wm. Brown ; March 24th, Deacon Abraham Stickney

;

.July 2lBt, October 6th, Capt. Wm. Brown.

1701-March 2d, October I9th, Capt. Wm. Brown.

17G2—March Ist, Capt. Wm. Brown ; May 20th, Stephen Osgood ; Sep-

tember 29th, December 2d, Capt. Wm. Brown.

1763—March 7th, Dean. Abraham Stickney.

1704—October 2d, James Thorndike.

1765—March 4lh, Capt. Wm. Brown ; March 25th, Lt. Wm. Kitt-

redge : May 9th, Capt. Joseph Kidder; September 30th, Wni. Kitt-

redge; October 14th, Capt. Wm. Brown.

176G—March 3d, Capt. Wm. Brown ; May 13th, June 17lb, September

loth, Thomas Marshall.

1767—March 2d, Lt. Wm. Kittredge ; March 19th, Capt. Wm. Brown;

May 14th, Lt. Wm. Kittredge; September 14th, Ezra Kendal.

1768—March 7th, Lt. Wm. Kittredge ; May 16th, Ezra Kendal ; Sep-

tember 29th, Aaron Beard.

1769—March 7th, Thomas Marshall ; September 4th, Ezra Kindell

;

October 27th, Aaron Beard.

1770—March Sth, Timothy Brown ; May 24th, Lt. Wm. Kittredge;

September 20tb, Ezra Kindell.

1771—March 4th, Timothy Brown ; May 24th, Aaron Beard
; Septem-

ber 9th, Lt. Wm. Kittredge.

1772—March 2d, Timothy Brown ; March 30th, Jacob Shed ; May
2l6t, Wm. Brown; September 29th, Eldad Worcester; December 7th,

Lt. Wm. Kittredge,

1773—February Sth. Jonathan Brown ; March Ist, David Bailey ; May
llth, Aaron Beard; July 2d, September 20tb, Wm. Brown; October

18th, David Bailey,

1774—March 7th, Timothy Brown ; May 23d, Lt. Wm. Kittredge

;

September 2lst, David Bailey ; November 23d, Wm. Brown.

1775—January 23d, Wm. Brown ; March Oth, I>avid Bailey ; May 23d,

Ezra Kindal ; August 2d, Aaron Beard ; October 30, Ezra Kindal.

1776—March 4th, Ezra Kindal ; I\Liy 20th, Aaron Beard
; June 24th

Wm. Browu ; October 14tli. November 20th, Ezra Kindal.

1777—March 3d, Ezra Kindal, March 17th, Aaron Beard ; May 22d,

September 8th, Ezra Kindall; September 29th, Aaron Beard; October

2lBt, Ezra Kindall ; December 4th, Wm. Brown.

1778—March 2d, Aaron Beard; March 16th, April 9th, Ebenezer

Whittemore ; May 12th, Ezra Kindall; May 25tb, Aaron Beard; June
2fitb, Samuel Marshall ; September I4th, Capt. John Trull ; September

23d, Jacob Low.

1779—January 2l6t, Ezra KindftU ; March let, Jacob Low ; May yist,
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EiniKlHdell, Jiin» 24lh. A.ron IWrd ; AiiRUOt 12tb, Win. Brown;

.Ssplcuil^r 2*1, Do" Bene Klllr.-.iRc! : October l.Mli, Miy. .lonnthan

llriiwu : NovBiulx-r mil, Aaron Hmiril.

17(iil-J.nu»r.v nii, H«u)« Hurll l
March Cth, Ulli, 27lli, Wm. Brown

;

April 27111, |).«" Kini KinJell ; May 2d. 21>lh, Wni. Brown
;

.li.l.e IHh,

•29lli, !)«• Kira Kimlell : iicIoUt 12tli, Wni. Brown; Noianiber 14th,

DmvnilHir mil, 27lli, Win. Brown.

1781—January ^Jd, Col» .lonatban Brown; March .Sth, 10th, April

Olh, May 14lh. Jniw I8lh, Wm. Brown; Jnly 2d, E/.ro Kind«ll
;
July

>M. IVa. Jacob Shod ; .<..|it»nitH.r :id. Win. Brown ;
October 22d, Col.

Joii> Brown ;
Iii<e[iili.T Ith, Don. K/.rn Kindell ; Pcccniher 24th, Wm.

Bruwn.

I7S2— March 4lh, April Isl, Win. Brown; April l.'ilh, C«il» Jon'

Br.>wn ; May Ifilh, Wni. Brown ; NoToniber 7th, Col» Jon« Brown ;
I)e-

ceniWr Sllth, Wm. Brtiwn.

niU-March M, Timothy Brown ; April 7th, Junp 2d, November

24tb, Win. Brvwn.

17S4-Janiuir>- ."ith, P» Kr.ra Kindoll ; March l«t, Timothy Brown;

\pril Vm\i. Andrew Bordman ; May 14lll, Col" Jon" Brown; September

7lh, 1)» K/ra Kiudell ; Pwembor 2liit, Wm. Brown.

nSS-March 7th, Wm. Brown; March 2lBt, 1» Jacob Shed; April

4lh, Wm. Brown ; May 13th, Aaron Beard ;
Sepleniber 12th, Win.

Brown ; Decoinber 6th, P" K/.ni Kindell.

17S«—February 2d, P" E/.ni Kindoll ; March 6tli. 'liniolhy Brown
;

M.irch Kid, Jonathan Brown, ICsq. ; March 2!lth, April Uth, Wm.

Bniwn ; April 28th, Timothy Rogeni ; May IGlli, Pn. Jacob Shed ; Au-

iiHft 2M, (Iclobornlsl, Pn. Kzra Kindell.

I7S7_Marcli 6tli. April 2d, May llilli, Timothy Brown ; June )3th,

July .'itii, Nalhi Clark; Septonitier 17lh, Pn. Kzia Kindoll; Pecember

17th, Wm. Brown.

17tlg_March .'Jd, Timothy Brown; April 7th, May l:illi, Septeniber

yd, Pecember 18tli, Andrew Bordman.

178»—March 2d, Pn. Kura Kindell ; April litli. May lltli, .-(eptenil.pr

28tli, Andrew Bonlinan ;
Xovemher 2d, Jonathan Brown.

I7l«l—March, April .ith, May l.'ith, Andrew Bonlinan ; June 22d,

July 14tli. P" K/ra KinVlell ; October 4th, Andrew Boardinaii.

]7<ll_April, May, Andrew i lordman ; September, October :id, Wm.

^imond.s ; November 2lBt, Andrew Bordman.

17'.I2—January 3d, Wm Brown ; Slarch .'ith, April 2d, May 7tb, Wm.

Simouds ; Juno .ith, July 2r.th, D. Kzra Kindell ; August 23d, Andrew

Hordmaii ; September 7th, November 2d, Win. .Sinioude ; November

lith, Lt. Samuel Worater.

17'.i3—laliuary 14tli, Wm. .iilnonds ; March 4th, Lt. Wm. SiniondB
;

May Will, Wm. Browu; June 11th, Wm.Simonda; September 30th, Oc-

tober 28tli, Andrew Bordman.

1794—January Cth. March 3d, April 7tli, May 15th, August 18th, Sep-

tember 2.'>th, November 3d, Wm. gimonds ; Pecember 2.'>tli, Jonathan

Brown.

17n,i—March 2d, April 6th, May fith, September 2l6t, Pecember 28th,

Wm. SimondB.

1706— March 7th, April 4th, 0th, August 0th, September 12th, 19th,

November 7th, Wm. Sinionds.

I7j)7_,VIarch Bth, April :id. Nay Sth, September 18th, Wm. SimondB.

1708—March .ith, April 2d, May 17th, June 4th, July 23d, November

5tli, PtKieiiiber 24th, Wm. Sinionds. ^

1799—.May, June 17th, Wm. Sinionds.

18110—March 3d, April 7th, May I.ith, August 1 1th, 26th, October 20th,

AVm. Sinionds.

1801—March 2d, April 6th. May 7tli, Wm. Simouds.

1802—March 1st, May 13th, November Ist, Wm. Siraonds.

IROS—March 7th, April 4th, May 6th, .lOth, October 17th, Wm. Simonds.

1804—March 5th, April 2nd, September 6tb, Pecember r»th, Wm.Si-

monda.

1805—March, Wm. Simouds ; April 1st, Lt. Samuel Worcester; May
Otli, November 4th, Wm. Simonds.

ISOt;—March 3d, 24th, April 7th, 28th, July 10th, Soptembor 4tli, Wm.
SimondB ; November 3d, Pecember 15th, Lt. Samuel Worcester.

1807—March 2d, April f.tli. May 7th, November 2d, Wm. Simonds.

1808—March.7tb, April Ith, June 27th, Wm. iiiimouds ; September 5th,

Samuel Worcester ; November 7th, Wm. Simonds.

1809—March Cth, April 3d, May 4th, Wm. Simonds ; December 1st,

Captain Josiah Brown.

1810—March 6th, Lt. Wm. Simonds ; April 2d, May 10th, Josiah

Brown.

1811—March 4th, April llth, MayOth, August 20th, Wm. Simonds
;

September 23d, Josiah Brown.

1812—March 2d, Wm. Simonds; April 6th, .Toeiah Brown ; May Uth,

Pavid Rogers ; July 6th, Joaiab Brown.

ISK)—March 1st, April Sth, August 30tli, Josiah Brown.

IKI4—January Uth, March 7lh, April 4th, May 13th, September 13th,

November 2d, Josiah Brown.

Ifil.S—Rlarch 16th, April .3d, Slay lOth, Josiah Brown.

IH16—March 4tb, .\pril iBt, May 17th, Josiah Brown; October 4th,

Win. Simonds.

1817—March .3d, April 17th, May 18th, Joelah Brown.

1818—March 2d, April lOtli, Jllay Uth, November 2d, Josiah Brown.

lR19_March 1st, April .5th, May Lith, Wni. SimondB; June loth,

Josiah Browu.

1820—March 6th, April 3d, May 10th, October 20th, Josiah Brown

1821—March 5th, May 17th, April 2d, September 3d, Josiah Brown.

1822—March 4th, Aith, April Ist, May 6th, 10th, September 16th,

Josiah Brown,

1823—March 3d, Josiah Brown ; April 7lh, May 15th, August 26th,

Hermon Marshall.

1824—March Ist. Josiah Brown ; April 5th, May 13th, Heruion Mar-

sball; June 1st, Josiah Browu.

1826—January 3d, Ilemion Marshall ; March 7th, April 4tli, May

I2th, Juno 13th, Josiah Brown.

18;i(;_-March 6tb, April ;id. May loth, November 6th, Josiah Brown.

1827—March 6th, I4tli, April 2, April 3Uth, May 17th, May 3lBt, Josiah

Brown.

1828—Harcb 3d, April 7tli, May 16th, Joaiab Brown.

1820—Jan. 28th, March 2d,Jofliah Brown ; .\pril6th, William Rogers ;

May 14tli, Josiah Brown ; Aug. 24th, Pec. 29th, William Rogers.

1S30—March Ist, April 5th, May 10th, Nov. Ist, Jan. 3d, John Ja'pies.

1S3I—March 7th, April 4th, .lohn JaqueK ; May 11th, Josiah liruwn
;

Aug. 15th, William Rogers.

1832—Jan. 16tli, John Jaqiies ; aiarch 5th, Josiah Brown ; March 12tb,

John Jaquea ; April 9tb, Josiah Brown ; May Uth, John JaqueB ; June

5th, William Rogers; Aug. 20th, John Jaquea; Nov. 13tli, Nathan Purant.

1833^March 4th, JoBiab Brown ; April 1st, May 6th, John G. Moore
;

Aug. 19th, William Rogers; Nov. Uth, John G. Moore,

1834—March loth, March 31st, John G. Moor; April 2l6t, Sept. 29th,

William Rogers ; Oct. 29th, John G. Moor ; Nov. loth, William Rogers.

1835_March"2d, April 6th, John G. Moor; Nov. 9th. Josiah Brown.

1836—March 7tll, Nov. Uth, William Kogers.

1837—March 6th, April 3d, John G. Moor ; Nov. I3tb, Enoch Foster,

1838—March 5tb, April 2d, John G.Moor; April 30th, June Uth

Nov. 12th, William Rogers.

1839—March 4th, April 1st, John G. Moor.

1840—Blarch 2d, April 6th, John G. Moor.

1841—March 1st, M.iy 3d, John G. Moor; Oct. lllh, Henry Kittredge.

1842—March 7th, April 4th, John G. Moiir.

1843-IVIarch 6th, April 3d, .lobn G. Moor; May 15th, Enoch Foster
;

Nov. 13th, John G. Mocir.

1844—March 4th, .lohu G. Moor; May fith. Pec. 9th, Zephaniah

Clark, Jr.

184.5—March 3d, April 7th, Benj. F. Spaulding; April 28th, John G.

Moore ; Aug. Sth, Nov. 10th, Zephaniah Clark, Jr.

1846—March ;id, Benj. F. Spaulding; May 30th, June 27th, Nov. 9th,

Zephaniah Clark, Jr.

1847—March 1st, Aug. 9th, Oct. Uth, Nov. 8th, Benj. F. Spaulding.

1848—March 6th, April 3d, July 4th, Benj. F. Spanlding ; Nov. 13th,

C. F. Blanchard ; Pec. 4th, Leonard Huntress.

1849—March 5th, April 2d, C. F. Blanchard; Oct. Ist, Leonard Hun-

tress.

1850—March 4th, April let. May 6th, Nov. Uth, Leonard Huntress.

1851—Jan. 20th, March 3d, April 7th, Leonard Huntress.

1852—March 1st, April Sth, Nov. 2d, Nov. 8th, Nov. 22d, Leonard

Huntress.

1863—March 7th, April 4th, Leonard Huntrees; May 2d, William

Rogers ; Nov. 14th, Aaron Frost, Jr.

1854—March 6tli, April 10th, Nov. 13th, Leonard Huntreae.

1855—March Sth, Leonard Huntress; April 2d, Nov. 6th, Benj. F.

Spaulding.

1856—Blarch 3d, April 7th, Isaac H. Meserve ; Oct. 6th, Nov. 4th,

Thoma.s P. Marshall ; Nov. 24tli, Isaac H Meserve.

1857—March 2d, April 6th, Leonard Huntress.

1858—March let, April Sth, Leonard Huntress.

1859—March 7tli, April 4th, Leonard Huntress.

1860—March, Leonard Huntress ; Nov., B. F. Spaulding.

1861—March, May, Nov., Leonard Huntress.
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isr).i—March, July, Au^., Nov., LooTuinl Hiiiitiosb.

lHG;i—March, Nov., Leonard Huntresa.

1864—March, May, Nov., Loonaid Huutross.

18ij5—April, annual, Nov., L«onaril HuntrosH.

IStiG—Marcli, Looimrti Hiuitrfw.

1807—Marcli, Nov., Lfuiianl IIiiiitreMB.

1868—March, Nov., Lm»narU lluiilit-ss.

18(39—Slarch, Loonard Huntreas ; Nuv., .It)shna Clark.

1870—March, Nov., Luonanl HuntieHH.

1871—March, Ltionanl Himtreaa; March 27tU, Z. P. Foatcr.

\ii-j2—March, Joshua Claik ; l^Iay, Oron KroHt ; Nov., Sainnol L. Al*

len.

IH7;i_March, Hon. Thonuis J. Marsh ; Nov., Oliver R. Clark.

1S74—Jan., Leonard lluutrfu!* ; March, Hun. Oliver R. Clark ; April,

B. F. Spanldiug.

1875—March '20tli. Nov., Olivur H. Clork.

1876—Jan., Elijah M. Read ; March, Nov., Oliver K. Clark.

1877—Jan., Thomas J. Marsh; March, April, Oliver R. Clark ; May,

Leonard Huntress ; Nov., Oliver K, Clark.

1878—March, Leonard Huntresa ; March *26th, April, Oliver R.

Clark.

187;i—March, Oliver R. Clark.

1880—March, Oliver R. Clark ; Nov., Enoch Fodter.

18n1—March, Olivyr K. Clark.

1882—Slarch, Oliver R. Clark; April, Leonard Huntreas; July, Enoch

Foster ; Nov., Oliver R. Clark.

1883—March, Nov., Larkiu T. Trull {2d).

1884—March, June, Sept., Albert C. Blaisdell.

1885—March, Albert C. Blaisdell.

1886--March, John L. Fleming.

1S87—March, John L. Fleming; March 2lBt, Calvin Shedd.

1888—March, Samuel Sewell.

1S89—March, Joshua Clark.

IS'JO—March, June, John L. Fleming.

TOWN CLERKS OF TEWKSBURY.

1735, Nathaniel Patton ; 17.ifi-44, Stephen Osgood; 1745-46, Richard

Boynton; 1747-55, John Chapman;! 1750, Stephen Osgood; ^ 1757-58,

John Chapman; 1759, Stephen Osgood; 1760-6.^, \Vm. Hunt ; 1764, evi-

dently \Vm. Brown, .Ir., hut no record of election; 1705, Wni.

Brown, Jr.; 1766, David Bailey; 1707-70, 1771-77, John Needhaui

;

1778-99, Newman Scarlett; 1799, Thomas Clark, to fill vacancy ; ISoO-l,

Thomas Clark; 1802-4, Samuel Worcester; 1805-8, William Sinionds;

18U9-22, Josiah Brown ; 1823-24, Hermou Marshall ; 1825-28, Joeiah

Brown; 1829-3;t, William Rogers; 1834-35, John G. Moor; 1830-40,

Aaron Frost, Jr.; 1841-44, Enoch Foster; 1S45-4S, Aaron Frost, Jr.-

1849-54, Jonathan Brown; 1855-68, Alviu Marshall ; 1859-60, Wni. U.

Gray, removed from town October ; Oct., 1800, Enoch Foster, appointed

by selectmen 1860-08; Enoch Foster, resigned April 6, 1808; May 1, 1868,

Samuel L. Allen, appointed by the selectmen; 1869-72, Samuel L.

Allen; 1873-78, Henry E.Warner; 1879-84, William H.Lee; 1885-90,

John H. Chandler.

LIST OF SELECTMEN OF THE TOWN OP TEWKSBURlf—FIRST MEETINQ J.^Nl'-

AUY 14, 1734-35.

l735~Jan,, Lt. Daniel Kittredge, Samuel Hunt, Jr., Jaseph Kittiedgt*.

John French, Nathaniel Pattin ; March, Sumnel Hunt, Jr., Lt. Daniel

Kittredge, J^aeph Kittredge, Nathaniel Putliu, Peter Hunt.

1736—March 29th, Lt. Daniel Kittredge, Mr. John French (then aji-

peared ye protest). Joseph Kittredge, Stephen Osgood, John Wh ting.

1737—Lt. Daniel Kittredge, Joaeph Kittredge, Stephen Osgood, Coit.

John Whiting, Richard Hall.

1738—Deacon Daniel Kittredge, Joseph Kittredge, Stephen Osgood,

Vetei' Hunt, Joseph Brown.

1739—Deacon Daniel Kittredge, Capt. Peter Hunt, Stephen Osgood,

Cort. John Whiting, Joseph Kittredge.

1740—Deacon Daniel Kittredge, Joaeph Kittredge, Stephen Osgood,

Joseph Brown, John Whiting.

1741—Deacon Kittredge, Stephen Osgood, Cupl. Peter Hunt, Joseph

Brown, Joaeph Kittred£e.

1 Doings of the meeting In 1747, recorded by Richard Boynton, town
clerk.

* Yet record of this annual meeting was entered by Juhn Chapman,

town clerk, ia bia handwriting and he appears to have been paid forit.

1712—Stephen Osgood, Doa. Joaeph Kittredge, Capt. Peter Hunt, Dea

Nathan Shed, Lt. William Kittredge.

1743—Stephen Osgood, Doa. Josepli Kittredge, John Whiting, Joseph

Brown, Zuchariah Hardy,

1744—Stoplicii Osgood, Josepli Kittredge, Joaepti Brown, John Whit-

ing, Zuchariah Hardy.

1745— Lieut. William Kittredge, Thomas Chirk, Tltoniaa Miirwhall

Richard Boynton, John Chapman.

1740— liiuut, William Kittredge, Thomas Clark, Thomas Maraluill,

Richard Boynton, John Chapman.

1747—Lt. William Kittredge, Thomas Clark, Tli«.iiia« Marshiill, Uich-

ard Boynton, John Chapman.

1748—Lt. Wni. Kittrodgi', Thuinas Clark, Thonias MurshiiU, Juhn

(.'luipnum, Samuel 'rrull.

1749— Williiim Kittredge, Thomas Mai-nhaU, Riduird Boyntun, Juhn
Needham, John French.

1750—William Kittredge, Thomiw Clurk, Thos. Marshall, John Chap,

man, John Needham.

1751—Thonuis Clark, Thomas Marrtlntll, John Chiipman, J*.hn Kn-nch,

David Bailey.

1752—Tlionias Clark, Thonias ]\hushall, John Chapman, Isiittc Kit-

tredge, David Bailey.

1753—ThoH. Clark, Thos, Maraluill, Jyhu Chapman, Isaac Kittredge,

Joaeph French.

1754—Lt, Wm. Brown, Dea. Joseph Kittredge, John Chapman, Isaac

Kittredge, John Needhum.

1755—Capt. Wm. Brown, Dea. Jos. Kittredge, Thoa, Murelmll, John

Chapman, Isaac Kittredge.

1750—Wm. Kittredgt', Janif-s Harduy, Stephen Osgooil. James Thorn-

dike, Ezra Kendall,

1757—Thoa. Marshall, Juhn Cliapnum, Isiuic Kittredge, John Need-

ham, Abraham Stickney.

1758—Thus. Mamhall, Abraham Stickney, John Chapman.
1759—Wm. Kittredge, James Thurndike, Stephen Osgood, Moses Wor-

cester, Ezra Kendall.

1760—Capt, Wm. Brown. Lt. Wm. Kittredge, .James Thurndike, H.
Stephen Osgood, Wm. Hunt.

1761—Capt. Wm. Brown, Lt. Wm. Kittredge, I,t. St.-pheu Osgood,

James Thorndike, Wm. Hunt.

1762—Capt. Wm. Brown, Lt. Wm. Kittredge, Lt. Stephen t»sgood,

James Thorndike, Wm, Hunt.

1763—David Bailey, James Thorndike, Williajii Hunt, Ezra Kendall,

i^Ioses Woster.

1765—William Kittredge, James Thorndike, Ezra Kendall, Wni.

Brown, Jr., Joaeph Kiilder.

1766—Aaron Beard, David Bailey, Tlionias MarHhall, Timuthy Rogers,

Edmunil Frost, Jr.

1767— Ezra Kendal, James Thurndike, En. William Brown, Capt.

Joseph Kidder, Sarg. Moees VV^oster.

1768—James Thorndike, Wm. Brown, Jr., Ezra Kindcl, fiIo«ea Woster,

Cpt. .Joseph Kidder.

1769—Tliomas Kittredge, Benj. Burt, Eldad Woster,

1770— Lt. Jonathan Shed, Ezra Kiudell, William Brown, Jr., Bouja-

inin Burt, John French.

1771— John Needham, Lt. Jonathan Shed, Do"*. Francis Kittredge,

John French, Jr., Jonathan Brown.

1772—John Needham, Lt. Jonathan Shed (two weeks later Jacob
Shed choscTi fifth selectman aud Jonathan fihcd dismissed, or rather the

vote showing him reconwidored), Francis Kittredge, Jonathan Brown,
David Trull.

1773—John Needham, William Bruwn, .lacob Shed, Nuthi. Clark,

.lun''., Ebeu'. Whittumore.

1774--John Needham, William Brown, Jonathan Brown, Ezra Kiu-
dal, Eldad Wurcester.

1775—John Needham, Ezra Kindall, Thomas Clerk, John French,

Junr, Samuel Alarshall,

1776—John Needham, K/,ra Kiudal, Sam'. Mai-dh;ill, Thomas Ch-rk,
Ebene'. Wbittemore.

1777—John Nt'edham, Ezra Kindall, Lt. Sam'. Marwhall, Thomas
Clark, Nathi. Clark.

1778—Maj. Jonathan Brown, Lt. Samuel Marshall, Aaron Beard,

Ezra Kindal, Newman Scarlett, (Mar, 10, chose Paul Thurndike flfih

selectman).

1779—Newman Scarlett, Nathani^-l Clark, Jacob Low, Ebenez'. Whitte
more, Uriah Griffin.

1780--Newmau Scarlett, Ebenezer Whittemore, En. Wm, Brown, Na-
thaniel Clark, Lt. Thomas Clark.
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1781—Xewnian Scarlett, Win. Brown, Ebenw. WUIttamoro, Nath>.

CUrk, Th.-». OUrk.

nsj—Xowiimu Scarlett, Wlllitaii Brown. Col. Jon*. Brown.

1783—NewnuinScarlftt, Wiii Brown, Col. Jooa. Brown.

j7St—Newnmn Scarlett, Wm. Brown, Col*. Jon*. Brown.

17>i5_Sewnu*u St-arlelt, Wm. Brown, Col". Jon*. Brown.

Ktn;—Nuwman Scarlet!, Joiittllmn Bruwn, K«q., Wm. Brown.

1787—Nowmau Scarlett. Jool MaTBball, Joseph Kittridge, Tlionias

CUrk, Ntttli>. Clark.

17t*—Xewmnn Scarlett, Wm. Brown, Jon* Brown, Esq.

l781>-Jat'ob Shell, Jr., Jonathan Brown, Ksq,, Andrew Bordman.

J71XI Newtmui Scarlett, Jacoh Shed. Jr., Natb>. Clark.

17t>l—Newman Scarlett, Wm. Brown, Israel Hunt.

17'J2—Newman Scarlett, Israel Hunt, Jool Marshall.

1793—Newman Scarlett, Jonathan Brown, Jool Marshall.

17i>4—Newman Scarlett, Jonathan Brown, Suinuul Worster.

l7iKl Newman Scarlett, JonttllinnBrown, Ksq., LI. Samuel Worster.

17c>6_Xowmau Scarlett, Jonwtlian Blown, Samuel Worster, Capt.

IVter lluut, Wm. Simonds.

I7y7—Newman Scarlett, Willium Simonds, Saniu*^l Worster.

I7y8—Newman Scarlett, William Simundtt, Samuel Worster.

171M>—Newman Scarlett, William Slmonds, Eldad Worster and ThoDian

Clark, to fill vacancy by death of Newnmn Scarlett.

IHOO—Thomai4 Clark, Wiltinm Simonda, Kldad Worcoater.

ISOI—Thomas Clark, Win. Simoiids, Kldad Worcester.

1802—Samuel Worcester, Wm. Simonds, Juiiathftu Brown, Esq.

lti(>3_ju nilthan Brown, Samuel Worcester, Wm. Simonds.

ISiH—Jonathun Brown, Sainnel Worcester, Wm. Simonda.

1K()6—Wm. Siinonds, Lt. Thouuis Clark, Ebenezer Beard.

lt^)ti—William Simonds, Thomas Clark, Ebenczor Beard.

HJU7— William Simonda, Thomas CUrk, Ebenezer Beard.

18US—William Simonds, Thomas Clark. Ebenezer Beard.

1809—.lusiah Brown, Wm. Simonds, Ebenezer Beard.

1810—Joaiab Brown, Wm. Simonds, Ebenezer Beard-

1811—Josiah Brown, Wni. Simonda, Ebenezer Beard.

1812—Josiuh Brown, Herman Marshall, Capt. Samuel Hardy,

1S13—Josiab Brown Herman Mai-sball, Samuel Hardy.

1^14—Jutdult Bruwn, Uermau Marshall, Jonathan Clark.

1815—Josiah Brown, Herman Marshall, Jonathan Clark.

IgUj—Josiah Brown, Ilormau Marshall, Jonathan Clark.

1817—Josiah Brown, Herman Marshal), Jonathan Clark.

Xyl8_Jo8iah Brown, Herman Marshall, Jonathan Clark.

Isl9—William Simonds, William Rogei-s, John Jaques.

Hj^O—Josiub Brown, Wm, Rogers, John Jaques.

1821—Josiah Brown, Jonathan Clark, John Jaques, Herman Mar-

shall, Peter Clark.

1822—JtiKiah Brown, Herman Mai-shall, Capt. Dudley Slarsten.

1823—Hemum Marshall, Capt. Dudley Slarsten, Jonathan Clark.

18^—Herman Marshall, Jonathan Clark, Jonathan Clark (2d).

1825—^i>8iah Brown, Wm. Rogers, Esq., Jonathan Clark.

I82ti—Josiah Brown, Jonathan Brown, Samuel Hardy.

1827—Josiah Brown, Jonathan Brown, Stephen Brown.

l8-2g_jogiub Brown, Aanui Mausur, Dudley Marsten.

Ij^og—William Rogers, Junatiiaii Clark (2d), Aaron Manaur.

1830—William Rogers, Jonathan Clark (2d), Aaron Mansur.

Ijjai—William Rogers, Jtmathan Clark (2d), George Brown.

1832—William Rogers, Jonathan Clark (2d|, George Brown.

183'i—Windsor Howe, Jonathan Clark (2d), George Brown, Job Kitt-

redge, Zephaniah Clark, Jr.

1834—John G. Moore, Enoch Foster, Beuj. F. Spaulding.

183')—John G. Moore, Enoch Foster, Beuj, F. Spaulding.

183G—Euofh Foster, Jonathan Clark ('id), Caleb Livingstone.

1837—Enoch Foster, Jonathan Clark (2d), Caleb Livingstone.

183&—Enoch Foster, Jonathan Clark (2d), Caleb Livingstone.

1839—Enoch Foster, Jonathan Clark (2d), Caleb Livingstone.

1840—Enoch Foster, Jonathan Clark, Jr., Caleb Livingstone.

1841—Enoch Foster, Jonathan Clark, Caleb Livingstone.

1842—Enoch Foster, Caleb Livingstone, Edward Kendall.

1843—Enoch Foster, Caleb Livingstone, Edward Kendall.

1844—Zephaniah Clark, Jr., Aaron Frost, Jr., Edward Kendall.

1846—Zephaniah Clark, Jr., Edward Kendall, Henry A. Kittredge.

1840—Zephaniah Clark, Jr., Edward Kendall, Caleb Livingstone.

1847—Benj. F. Spaulding, Edward K(Midall, Caleb Livingstone.

1848—Benj. F. Spaulding, Aaron Frost, Jr., George S. Tuttle.

1849— Leonard Huntress, Caleb Livingstone, Samuel Thompson.
1860—Leonard Huntress, Caleb Livingstone, Samuel Thompson.
1861—Leonard llantress, Caleb Livingstone, Samuel Thompson.

1862—Leonard Huntress, Caleb Livingstone, Aaron Frost, Jr.

1853—Aaron Frost, Jr., Henry E. Worcester, Charles Ballard.

1864—Leonard Huntress, Henry E. Worcester, Benj. F. Spaulding.

1855—Beuj. F. Spaulding, Thomas P. RIai-ahall, Charles M. Clark.

1850—Benj. F. Spaulding, Thomas I*. .Marshall, Charles M. Clark.

1867—Leonard Huntress, Charles M.Clark, Caleb Livingstone.

1858—Leonard Huntress, Caleb Livingstone, Charles 51. Clark.

1859—Leonard Huntress, Caleb Livingstone, Charles M. Clark.

18G0—B. F. Spaulding, Jesse L. Trull, Edward Kendall.

1861—Leonard Huntress, Aaron Frost, Jr., Alvin Marshall,

1862—Leonard Huntress, Aaron Frost, Jr., Alvin Marshall.

18G3—Leonard Huntress, Aaron Frost, George Pillsbiiry.

18G4—Leonard Huntress, Aaron Frost, George Pillsbury.

1805—Leonard Huntress, Aaron Frost, Jesse L. Trull.

186G—Leonard Huntress, Aaron Frost, Enoch Foster.

18G7—B. F. Spaulding, Z. P. Foster, James M. Chandler.

1868—Leonard Huntress, Zephaniah P. Foster, James M. Chandler.

1869—Leonard Huntress, Zephaniah P. Foster, James M. Chandler.

1870-^Leonard Huntress, Zephaniah P. Foster, James M. Chandler.

1871—Zephaniah P. Foster, James M. (.'handler, Samuel L. Allen.

1872—Sanmel L. Allen, Oren Frost, John Clark (2d).

1873—Samuel L. Allen, Oren Frost, Aaron Frost.

1ST4—Samuel L. Allen, John Clark (2d), Chas. Livingstone.

1875—Samuel L. Allen, Chas. Livingstone, John Clark (2d).

1876—Samuel L. ,\llen, Chas. Livingstone, John Clark (2d).

1877~Saniuel L. Allen, Chas. Livingstone, John Clark (2d).

1878—Samuel L. Allen, Chas. Livingstone, John Clark (2d).

187'j—Enoch Foster, Chas. Livingstone, George W. Trull.

1880—Euocb Foster, Chas. Livingstone, George \V. Trull.

1881—Enoch Foster, Chas. Livingstone, George W. Trull.

1882—Enoch Foster, Chas. Livingstone, George M. Plummer.

1883—Enoch Foster, Chas. Livingstone, Geo, M. Plummer.

1884—George M- Plummer, George B. Marshall, Jacob L. Burtt.

1885—Wm. H. Lee, George R. Marshall, Jacob L. Burtt.

1886—William H. Lee, Geo. R. Marshall, Jacob L. Burtt.

1887—Jacob L. Burtt, George M. Plummer, Frank H. Farmer.

1888—Jacob L. Burtt, Frank H. Farmer, Edward P. Clai'k.

1889—Jacob L. Burtt, Frank H. Farmer, Edward P. Clark.

1890—Jacob L. Burtt, Frank H. Farmer, Albert J. Trull.

TOWN THEASUBEES OF TEWKeBORT.

1735-40, Nathan Shed; 1741-44, William Brown; 1745-53, Thomas
Clark (Mr. Thomas Marshal! to fill up the vacancy of Mr. Thomas
Clark, late deceased); 1754-58, Thomas Marshall; 1759-63, Aaron
Beard ; 1764 (No record), Jonathan Shead ; 175G, " Lt. Shead"—Jona-

than Shead ; 1766, Ezra Kt^ndal ; 1767 (didn't serve), John Needham ;

17G8-70, John Needham ; 1771, Ebenezer Whittemore; 1772, Aaron

Beard ; 1773-74, Thomas Clerk ; 1775-7(1, Eben» Whittemore ; 1777-''8,

Lt. Samuel Marshall; 1779-84, Joel Marshall ; 1785-91), Jacob Shed, Jr.

(July 14, William Simonds. vice Treasurer, deceased) ; 1791-1800, Wil-

liam Simonds ; 181)1-04, Ebenezer Hunt; 1805-OG, Nathan Bailey;

1807-10, Samuel Thompson ; 1811-12, Jonathan Clark; 1813-14, John

Chandler; 1815-18, Jonathan Clark ;
18l!i, William Rogers; 1820, Jon-

athan Clark; 1821, William Rogers; 1822, Hermon Marshall; 1823,

John Jaques; 1824, William Rogers; 1825-28, Hermon Marshall
;

1829-31, John Jaques; 1832-35; Job Kittredge; 1836-38, William Rog-

ers ; 1839-48, Zephaniah Clark, .Jr.; 1849-57, William Rogers; 1858,

Henry E. Preston ; 1859, Zephaniah P. Foster; 1860-61, H. E. Preston
;

1862-65, Oren Frost; 1866-07, Jonathan Brown (resigned) August 12,

1867 ; Enoch Foster appointed by selectmen August 31, 1867 ; 1868,

Enoch Foster resigns April Gth ; 1868, Samuel L. Allen appointed

by selectmen May Ist; 1869-72, Samuel L. Allen; 1873-79, Henry E.

Warner ; I85O, William H. Lee ; 1881-83, Timothy W. Gray ;1884, Wil-

liam H. Lee; 1885-90, Frank H. Farmer.

January 23, 1775, they "voted and chose Jonathan

Brown a delegate for the Provincial Congress, meeting

at Cambridge on the first day of February next En-

suing."

May 23,1739-40, no representative; June, 1741-42 and 49, no repre-

sentative.

May 16, 1751, votes to send Representative. None the year ensuing.

1752, '54, '55, '58, '59, '60, 61, '66, no representative.

January 28, 1775, they voted and chose Jonathan Brown a delegate

for the Provincial Congress meeting at Cambridge on the first day

February next ensuing.
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July llj 17T''>, E/.rii KiuJuII chosen.

May 'Zl, 1777, John Flint chosen, but refnsed to sorve ; Ezra Kiniiol

Heemsto have been thus chusun for 1773. For wautof li precept the town

did not act upon the First Article in the warriiiit to chooao a roprosentti-

tive.

Sept. 14, 1778, nu rcprespntiitive; May 21, 1779, '84, '8C, no roprvsontu-

tive.

Dec., 178S, to chuae a Rep. to rep. yo people in the (louj^ress of the

U. S. & vote for U. S. ollicera this yofir 17S8.

June 13, 1787, v. to give their reprenentativo instructions,

HKl-KESKNTATIVES Of TEWKSHUUY TO THE c;UKAT AND OENEKAL COOUT.

1780, Jonathan Brown ; 1780-9:1, Williiini Brown ; 1784, none ;

175r>, Wni. Brown ; 1780, none ; 1787, Deacon Ezra Kiudell ; 1788-m>,

Wni. Brown ; 1791, none ; I79ii, MItchel Davico ; 179:t-95, none ; 179li-97,

Joseph Woodward ; 1798, none; 1799, William Simonds ; l8iK>, none
;

I8U1, WilliHtu Siniunds ; 1802-3, none ; 1804, William Simonds; 18ti5.

none; ISi.iU-T, William Simuiuls ; 1S08, none ; 1809, \S illiani SimondM
;

18l0-lt», JeBstj Trull ; 1817-18, none ; 1819, Jesse Trull ;
1820--21, none ;

182'i, Jesse Trull ; 1823-25, none ; 182(1, Jonathan Brown ; 1Sj7, llonuon

Marshall; 1828, none ; 1829, Joaiah Brown; 18.50, John Jaques ; 1831.

Alphtjus Smith ; ls3l-32, Jonathan Clark (2d) ; 1832, IstwicHohlen ; 1833.

Jonathan Clark (2d), Isaac iloldeu ; 1834-35, none; 1830, Jonathan

Clark (2d) ; 1837, Capt. Abel French ; 1838, Jonathan Brown ; 1839-40,

/ophaniab Clark, Jr.; 1841, Enoch Foster; 1842, Caleb Livingrttoue ;

1843, Edward Kendall; 1844-4li, none; 1847-48, Rev. Jacob Coggin"; 1849,

none ; 1850, Benj. F. Spaulding ; 18.''1, Elijah 61. Heed ; 1852, Nathaniel

Trull ; 1S:>3, Aaron Kroet, Jr.; 1854, Rev. John E. Wuud ;
1855-50, nunc.

District No. 22, Representative Billerica, Wilming-

ton and Tewksbury:

1857, Dana Holden, of Billerica.

1668, Rev. Jacob Coggin, of Tewksbury.

1859, Lemuel E. Eanies, of Wilmington.

Representatives to General Court from Tewksbury,

22d District, including also Billerica arul Wilmington :

1S02-03, George P. Elliot, of Billerica, District 22.

1863, Joshua Clark, of Tewksbury, for District 22.

1864, Jonathan Carter (2d), uf Wilmington, District 22.

1865, Jesse ti. 1>. Stearns, of Billerica, District 22.

18G6, Rev. Richard Tolnian, of Tewksbury, District 22.

18G7, George C. Gillmau, of Billerica, District 22. From this time the

district included Billerica, Chelmsford and Tewksbury.

18138, Dudley Foster, of Billerica.

1869, Charles Proctor, of Chelmsfonl.

1870, Sylvester S. Hill, of Billerica.

1871, Edwin K. Packhurst, of Chelmsford.

1872, Alvin Marshall, of Tewksbury.

1873, Caleb S. Brown, of Billerica.

1874, Zika Gray, uf Chelmsford.

1875, Albert J. Trull, uf Tewksbury.

1876, John Knowlos, of Billerica.

District No. 19, consisting of Tewksbury, Tyngs-

borongh, Dnicut and Chelmsford :

1877, Liithe»-ll. Sargent, of Chelmsford.

1878, William Manning, of Chelmsford.

1879-80, John W. Peabody, of Dracut.

1881, Enoch Foster, of Tewksbury.

District No. 19, consisting of Chelmsford, Dracut,

Tewksbury and Tyngsborough :

1882, Enocli Foster, of Tewksbury.

1883, Jesse B. Butterfield, of Tyngsboro'.

1884, Elisha H. Shaw, of Chelmsford.

1885, Perley P. Perham, of Chelmsford.

District No. 20, including Tewksbury, Chelmsford,

Billerica, Wilmington and North Reading:

1886-87, George W. Trull, of Tewksbury.

1888, Edward M. Nichols, of Wilmington.

1889, Charles W. Flint, of Chelmsford.

SCHOOL COMMITTEES OF TEWKCHURY.

1828— Rov, Jacob Coggin, Dcwi. Oliver Clark, Dr. Jo8ei)h Brown.

1829—Rev. Jacob Coggin, Dr. Henry Kittredge, Samuel Fairbanks.

1830— Kev. Jacob Coggin, Dr. Henry Kittredge, Samuel Fairbuiiks.

1831—Rov. Jacob Coggin, Dea. Oliver Clark, Job Kittredge.

1832— Kev. Jacob Coggin, Dea. Oliver Clark, Job Kittrodgo, Dexter
Bruce, Luko Kastman, Esq.

1833— Rev. Jacob Coggin, Luko Eastman, Edward St. La. Livcruiore,

Joseph Bennett, Joaeph Stuart.

1K34—Rev. Jacob Coggin, Oliver Clark, Henry Kittredge.

lK35~Rev. Jacob Coggin, Oliver Clark, Henry Kittredge.

1S3C—Rev. Jacob Coggin, Dr. Henry Kittredge, Samuel Thomp-
son, ICsij.

1837—Rev. Jacob Coggin, Jonathan Clark (2d), Benjamin F. Spauld-

ing.

1838—Rev. .Tacob Coggin, Dr. Henry Kittredge, Henry E. Preston.

1839—Rev. Jacob (Viggin, Dr. Henry Kittredge, Henry B. Preston.

1840— Kev. Jacob Coggin, Dr. Henry Kittredge, Dea. Oliver Clark.

1841—Horatio C. MojTJam, Henj. F. Spaulding, Jabe/. SlevoUH.

1H42—Rev. Jacob Coggin, CliarleH Ballad, Jeremiah Kidder.

1813- Kfv. Samuel Lamsun, John G. Moor, Zephaniah Clark, Jr.

I,s44—^Peler ("lark, Henry E. Preston, Henry A. Kittredge, Henry E.

Worcester, Abram filaco, Oren Froat.

1845~Rov. Jacob Coggin, Rev. David Burruugbs, Bnnj. F. Spaulding,

George Lee.

18HJ— Kev. .Jacob Coggin, llev. David IJurroughH, BenJ. F. Spaulding.

1847—Rev. Moses Kimball, Kev. David Burroughs, Rev. Jacob Cog-
gin.

1848—Rev. Moses Kimball, Kev. David Biinuughs, Kev. Jacob Cog-

gin.

1S4!I— liev. Jacob Coggin, Kev. David Ilurroughs, Ki-v. Moses Kim-
ball.

185IJ—Rev. Jacob Coggin, Jonathan Brown, Loimard Hnntrestt.

1851—Leonard Huntress, Rev. Jacob Coggin, Samuel Thonijiaon.

1852—Lt'omird Huntress, Rev. Jacob Coggin, Jonathan Ilrown.

1853—Jonathan Brown, Rev. Richard Tolmaii, Joshua Clark.

1854—Rnv. John E. Wooil, Rev. Richard Tolnum, Jacob Coggin, Jr.

1855—Rev. Richard Tohnan, Kev. .lohn E. Wuud, Jacob Coggin, Jr.

185r»—Joshua Clark, Benj. F. Spaulding, Kev, Richard Tolman.

1857—Rev. Richard Tolman, Joshua Clark, Isaac H. Meserve, Peter

C. Shed, Rev. Clifton Fletcher, K. B. French, Reuben A. Upton.

1858—Rev. Richard Tolman, 1 year ; Joshua Clark, 2 years ; Oeorgo
Pillshiny, 3 years.

1850—Rev. Richard Tolman, 3 yeara.

1860—Joshua Clark, Leonard Iluutresa.

1861—Alvin Mai-shall.

1862—William Grey.

March, 1803, voted that the School Committee do appoint a snperin-

endent
; voted his salary be ^[50.

1803—Pliney W. Caldwell, 2 years; James M. Chandler, 1 year;

George Pillsbury, 1 year; Henry E. Worcester, 3 yt^a^ ; Joseph C.

Lowe, 3 years, April 3, 1863, Thomas Bridge, School Committee for 2

years.

March 7, 1864, voted that School Committee consist of hut tliree.

April 3, 186.''), Wm. Grey, for 3 yeare ; Geo. Pillsbury, for 2 years;

Joshua r. French, for 1 year.

1866—Richard Tolman, Joshua F, French, George Pillsbury.

1867—Richard Tolman, Joshua F. French, George Pillsbury.

1868—Rev. Richard Tolmau, Kev. ('liftou C. Fletcher, George Pills-

bury.

1869—Rt-v. Richard Tolman, Joshua Clark, George Pillsbury.

1870—George Pillsbury, 3 years.

1871—Josliua Clark, 3 yeai-a ; Rev. A. De F. Palmer, 1 year.
*

1872—Rev. S. F. French, 3 yeare.

1873—F. M. Spaulding, Billerica.

1874—Joshua Clark, 3 years ; Rev. E. E. Thomas, 2 years.

1875—Rev. S. F. French, 3 years.

1876—Joshua F. French, 3 yeare.

1877—II. G. Pillsbury, 3 years,

1878—Rev. Geo. T, Raymond, 3 years. Oct, 3, 1878, Wm, H. Lee
chosen in place of Geo, T. lUymond, resigned,

187y—March, Rev. Edward W. i'ride, 3 years; J. F. French, 2

years ; Wra. H. Lee, 1 year.

1880—Wm. H. Lue, 3 years.

1881—Joshua F. French, 3 years. July, 1881, Geo. W. Trull to fill

vacancy hy resigua ion of J. F. French.
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1882—E. V. Prido, 3 yean ; Larkln T. Troll (2d), 2 ye«n.

1883—John K, SpnuUllllE, 3 y»»ni.

18*4— LiirklriT. Trail (Jd), 3 jfari, Sept. 1, 1884, Wm, H. Lee Id

placo of J. K. Spauldlug, rwlgned.

1S*5—Mary F. Eunlman, 3 ye«t» ; Albert 0. Blalsdoll, 1 year; ChM.

A. I'lllsbiiry.

18*6— Iter. i:dvard W. Prido, 3 years; Jobn L. Fleming, 2 years

;

It"tijaniin Spaulding, 1 year.

l-^7--U«H>rgo E. LWornlore, 3 years.

1--^— Willlara H. Lit', 3 years ; Albert S. Moore, 2 years.

1M»—Rev. Edward \V. Pride, 3 years.

ISao—Alljert S. Moore, 3 years.

SoT«.—For many of the facts connected with the almshuuse In the

•arly pan of this history the nrilur is under obligation to the superin-

tendent, r. Irving Fisher, M.D., for later years, and to Mr. Charles B.

Marsh, the clerk, for the earlier history.

BIOGRAPHICAL.

CAPTAIN JOHN TRULL.

Many names appear on the town record ofmen prom-

inent in their clay ofwhom the pre,sent generation would

{jladly know more. Such among other.s, are Nathan

Shed, Captain John French, John Whiting, Thomas

Clark, of the earliest times, Captain Joshua Baldwin,

Dea. Ezra Kindell, who survived most all his genera-

tion, dying at 97, Colonel Jonathan Brown, of the Revo-

lutionary period, and "Squire " Brown and William

Symonds of late days, and others too numerous to

mention. Alas, little but their names and graves re-

main except the record of the part they played in the

body politic.

Readers of this sketch will recall, however, the

nameof Captain John Trull, as often appearing, espe-

cially during the Revolutionary days. He was born

in Billerica in 1729, and died in Tewksbury, Oct. 5,

1791, aged G2 years. His wife was Esther Wyman,
born in Woburn, 1740, a member of the family so cele-

brated in the history of that town. It was the house

of a Wyman which became the shelterfor Adams and

Hancock on the great day of Lexington and Concord,

April 19, 1775. Captain Trull had a family of thir-

teen children, all of whom survived him except his

eldest son John, who died in the public service in

New York in 1782 at the early age of 21 years. This

son is said to have enlisted in response to the earnest

and enthusiastic appeals of the Captain, his father,

for recruits as he drilled the company on the old

muster field on Stickney Hill, now on the farm of

Jesse N. and Frank B. Trull. The young John
is described in the Slate muster roll dated 1780,

as 20 years old, five feet eleven and a half inches high,

having dark hair and gray eyes. The Captain had a

second John born a year after the death of the first,

who died in 1867, at the ripe age of eighty-four. How
near this brings Revolutionary days to the present

generation.

The widow of Captain John survived him till Dec.

21, 1831 when she passed away at the great age of

ninety-one years. She is well remembered by her

grandchildren, to one of whom, Mr. Jesse Loring

Trull, the writer is indeb ted for many of these rem-

iniscences.

JESSE TRULL.

The fifth child of Captain John Trull, was .Tesse

Trull a man of great public spirit. He was born

in Tewksbury, October 11, 1767, and died in his

native town December 20, 1853. Beside serving

the town in various minor offices he represented the

town nine years in the Great and General Court be-

tween 1810 and 1826, no representative being ^ent the

other years of that period. In connection with his

legislative experience the following incident, contri-

buied by his daughter, Mrs. John Clark, illustrates

the man and the social life of his day. It was the

custom after his election for the successful candidate

to call together his townsmen and treat them to toddy

and liquor. After his election one year, Mr. Trull,

convinced of the injurious eft'ects of the custom, de-

termined to lionorit in the breach. When his con-

stituency had assembled as usual, he arose—tall and

dignified—and told them that he thought the custom

wrong and that his conscience would not permithini

to give them another drop of liquor, but instead he

would give them a clock to be placed in the inside of

the new church. There was some complaining, but

he was firm in his stand for temperance. The clock

was presented, and is still ticking, a constant memorial

of his adherence toe cause then held in contempt.

It is significant of the social life of those days that Mr.

Trull was not again elected. Another illustration of

the man and the times occurred when Mr. Trull un-

dertook the raising of his house. The friends and

neighbors were assembled, but no liquor was forth-

coming. They refused to do a stroke of work till a

supply was sent for from " Squire Brown's " and fur-

nished to them. In those days this was the only way
of raising new buildings.

Mr. Trull, as already stated, served on the commit-

tee for building the new meeting-house in 1824, and

at the auction of the pews bid oft' the one which sold

highest at $133, a round sum in those times. He was

also one of the committee which purchased the pres-

ent poor-farm.

Till quite late in life he attended and warmly sup-

ported the church at the centre, but in the well-

known Knapp revival of 1842 in Lowell he, with a

large number of his family, was converted and united

with the First Baptist Church of that city. When
the Baptist Church at North Tewksbury was founded

the next year he with his four sons and their wives

became the chief founders and supporters of that in-

terest. It was a time for sacrifice and self-denial.

He may be considered the ancestor to whom this

family traces its position in the community.

Mr. Trull was twice married, first to Mercy Griffen,

who died in 1797, and then to Olive Thorndike, with
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whom he spent a happy and respected old age. By
his first wife he left a daughter, Mrs. Mercy Trull

Foster, who died in 1880. The following were the

surviving children of his second marriage: Mr. John

Trull, of Boston, in his eighty-ninth year; Mr. Her-

bert L., a public-spirited man, died 1882 ; Deacon

Nathaniel Trull, the first deacon of the Baptist

Church and representative of the town to the Legis-

lature of 1852 ; Mr. Jesse L. Trull and Mr. Larkin T.,

and one daughter, Mrs. Elizabeth K. Clark, all of

Tewksbury.

Mr. Jesse Trull was of the old New England type,

an indefatigable worker, aboumling in enterprise and

energy, whose character and judgment were held in

respect by the town.

The writer is indebted to Mr. J. C. Kittredge, of

Gardner Road, Brookline, for the following sketch of

his father. Mr. Kittredge was descended from one of

the oldest families in town. The ancestor, John Kitt-

redge, was educated in England (from whence he

came) in a liberal manner. His son, Doctor John

Kittredge, was probably the first male child born in

the present Tewksbury in 1665-6, January 24, in

a house which contends with the old Hunt home-

stead as being the oldest in town. He was buried in

the South Cemetery, and his tombstone has this in-

scription : "Here Lye? the body of Doctor John

Kiterig, who Departed This Life April the 28, 1714,

in ye 49th year of his age."

JEREMIAH KITTREDGE.

Jeremiah Kittredge was born at the old home-

stead, opposite Round Pond, September 5, 1796,

and died in Boston, November 6, 1855.

He was the eldest son, and second of five children

of Jeremiah and Annah Kittredge.

The family is one of the oldest in Billerica and

Tewksbury, John Kittredge, an ancestor, having been

one of the first settlers of Billerica in 1652.

When Mr. Kittredge was a boy the youth had no

such opportunities for education as are to be had

now, for teachers were but imperfectly trained, and

terras were very short.

He remained with his father until he was twenty-

one years of age, and then started forth, with twenty-

five cents in his pocket, and walked to Charlestown,

for employment. He entered there the grocery store

of Skinner & Herd, where he remained several years.

He was faithful to his employers then as always,

and did his best; by serving them he served himself;

and good habits, with diligence and frugality, were

not wanting. After a proper apprenticeship he,

with a young man by the name of Wyman, in the

same store, established themselves in the grocery

business, opposite the Boston and Maine depot, near

the junction of Haverhill and Charlestown Streets.

The venture was successful, and, after a few years,

the firm was dissolved.

Mr. Kittredge then moved to the corner of Han-
over and Union Streets, the subsequent site of Rev.

Dr. Neal's Baptist Church, now occupied by the

Blackstone National Bank. A wholesale importing

business was carried on here; and that he might

extend it, vessels were built for the purpose of

importing.

These were sent to the West Indian ports, Jcremie,

Jacmel, Saint Thomas and other places in the West
Indie.f, as well as to the Baltic ports.

The principal vessel was the barque Lexington,

built on land in South Boston, purchased for the pur-

pose. Manufactured goods and groceries were e.t-

changed for cotton, logwood, mahogany, coffee and
other commodities.

After staying in this store till about 1835, he
moved to an oflice situated on the north side of Com-
mercial Street, where he remained until his death.

Here he e.xtended the business, adding naval stores

to the otherwise many interests. Camphene (a burn-

ing fluid popular at the time) was invented by him,

and froni which the returns were lucrative. In this

part of the business he associated with himself several

partners, mostly relatives, whom he in this way bene-

fited, as well as being helped by their efficient ser-

vices. He possessed that characteristic of genius,

namely, the power of selecting subordinates well.

The naval-store department brought him into inti-

mate relations with Southern people, whose acquaint-

ance he found agreeable and friendly. Sjurits of

turpentine, far, pitch, rosin and all that is found in

that connection were manufactured and sold by him.

It can be readily seen, from what has been written, that

the business was extensive, and one that could have

been invented and conducted only by a superior man ;

one gifted extraordinarily in a commercial way.

He was essentially, and to the heart's core, a man
of business. His aim was single, and he pursued it

with unswerving energy. Fond of literature and sci-

ence, he could only gratify his taste for them by at-

tending lectures, on account of the limited leisure at

his disposal.

He never entered political life, not accepting even

of a public business trust, although solicited to do so;

bis known integrity and mercantile ability making
him a very desirable candidate for such a position.

He' was one of those many self-made men found in

New England and elsewhere, the fruits of whose toil

seem to put to shame many who have been favored

with far greater advantages.

In those days mercantile enterprises were attended

with more risks and trials than at present, although,

competition was not nearly as great. Fire in.sur-

ance, for one thing, was not as general or effective as

now. Mr. Kittredge met with several losses from the

consuming fiend. When he began his career, and in-

deed until the time of his death, Boston was a much
smaller, and a very different place from what it is at

the present day.
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He lived in the days of Webster, Clay and Calhoun,

and died previous to the great Civil War earthquake,

but not before the signs ol the times were pointing

toward sueh an awful event.

In 1 84;} he purchased from the otlier heirs tlieir

rights in the houit-stead property in Tewksbury; and

in IS.'i-l he removed the old house, which had stood

since early in the eigliteenth century and built tlie

capacious structure, witli ham, at present standing.

It was his intention to make Tewksbury his sum-

mer residence, but unfortunately death came before

he had an opportunity to do so.

Mr. Kiltredge wsw twice married; first to Miss

Lydia Wood, of North Tewksbury, October 19, 1824,

and to Miss Clari,ssa .1. Chapman, of his native town,

aLso, October lit, 1842. From the first marriage there

were three chiklren, two daughters and one son ;
and

from the ne.xt, two sons, George Albert and Jeremiah

Chapman ; of the entire family, the last name alone

survives.

LEONARD HUNTRESS.

Although not a native of this town, no man was

belter known to the present generation than Leonard

Huntress. Born at Rochester, N. H., November 22,

1811, his boyhood was spent in Portsmouth, of that

state, where he learned the trade of printer. On

attaining his majority, 1882, Mr. Huntress came to

Lowell, and was employed in the office of the Lowell

Mercury. The year following he married Miss Lydia

Anne McKinnon, of Portsmouth, N. H., with whom
he spent nearly fifty hajipy years.

In 1884 he ]iurclKised a half interest in the Mercury

and afterwards, in partnership with Daniel H. Knowl-

ton, bought the Lowell Weekb/ Journal, and united it

with the former paper. This firm, Huntress &
Knowlton, on January 6, 1835, started the Lowell

Courier, which appeared as a tri-weekly until 1845,

since which date it li;us been published .as a daily. A
year after the start of the Courier, ^\r. Knowlton re-

tired, and Mr. Huntress published the paper alone,

with the assistance of several able citizens as succes-

sive editors until 1842, when ill-health caused him to

dispose of it. For some eight years Mr. Huntress

engaged in business, but in 1850 was elected to the

Board of (younty Commissioners, on which he served

most of the time .as chairman, till 1876.

In 1842 Mr. H. removed to his farm at North

Tewksbury, which continued to be his home till his

death, July 19, 1885, at the age of seventy-four years.

For over thirty years Mr. H. held in Tewksbury
prominent positions in its public and social life. He
was fifty-three times moderator of town meetings,

nineteen of which were annual. From March, 1861,

to November, 18(J9, he was elected to his position

twenty times in succession which period included the

war years. Seventeen times he was chairman of the

Board ofSelectmen, serving in that capacity during
all the war, and also as recruiting officer. ' Mr. H.

also served on the School Committee for several

years and was frequently elected to minor oflicial

positions. The town records and the preceding sketch

ofTewksbury, show the service he rendered the town

and the estimation in which he was held. Mr. 11.

also was for the period of its existence, eleven years,

trial justice of the court at the alm.shouse. After his

retirement through failinghealtli, Mr. H. found enjoy-

ment in the work of his fin(^ farm and in those literary

pursuits in which he had taken a warm interest all

his life. He was a fine reader, and the aid of his voice

was often sought in social entertainments.

Genial, hospitable, courteous, commanding in

presence, equable and tender, Mr. H. was a fine

specimen of the Christian gentleman of the old

school, a type too rare in any community.

As an illustration of a kind of work he was doing

through life in settling disputes and estates, the

two last years of his life afford an example. He
spent the leisure of that period in the employ of the

Locks and Canals Company in adjusting the damages

to owners of land on the banks of the Merrimac,

caused by the raising of the flash boards at the dam.

This work involved a vast amount of labor, and re-

quired no ordinary tact and address, but was

accomplished to the perfect satisfaction of the claim-

ants for damages and of the company.

In early life Mr. H. was a very prominent member
of St. Paul's Church, Lowell, in building whose

edifice he took an active part. In later years he was

a constant worshipper in the Baptist Church, North

Tewksbury.

His surviving children are, Mr. Frank Huntress,

of Boston, Mass., Dr. Leonard Huntress, of Lowell,

and Mrs. George Dyer, of Washington, D. C.

OLIVER RICHARDSON CLARK.

Oliver Richardson Clark was born on the old

homestead in North Tewksbury, March 16, 1819.

His birthplace, the hotne of his brother. Deacon

Joshua Clark, is part of the celebrated Winthrop's

Farm which now includes the homestead of the

Hunts, Clarks, Fosters and others. The Clark family

is decended from the noted second minister of

Chelmsford, the Rev. Thomas Clark, whose great-

grandson, Deacon Thomas Clark, came to Tewksbury

about the year 1744, and appears frequently in the

lists of town oflicers. He was town treasurer for nine

successive years. Indeed the years are few when a

Thomas, or Joshua, or Oliver Clark is absent from

the town records.

O. R. Clark was educated in the common schools

of Tewksbury, except one term, which was spent in

Phillips Academy, Andover, and two terms at

Warren Academy, Woburn. Through life Mr. Clark

enjoyed reading of the solid and also lighter kinds.

He began life as a shoemaker and cutter of shoe

stock, but soon entered the business firm of Cutter &
Co., Boston, dealers in mahogany and other fancy
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woods. His energy and tiict soou secured advance in

this relation till after a few years he became a

partner in the concern. Having married a danghter

of the senior member of the tirm, Miss Jnlia .\nn

Cutter, on Mr. Cutter's retirement Mr. Clark became

chief partner, a position he retained till his death

March C>. 1887.

Mr. Clark was prominent in political life. An ab-

olitionist in early life, he became an ardent Repub-

lican on the formation of that party, to which he ever

remained warmly attached. For many years he

lived in Winchester, where he was one of the select-

men for ten years, one of the School Committee

for seven years, many times moderator, and treasurer

of the cemetery twenty years. In 18o9 he represented

the Sixth Middlesex district in the House of Repre-

sentatives. He was a member of the Massachusetts

Senate in 1861, and again in 1864. In the latter year

it devolved upon him, as senior member, to call that

body to order, and preside until a presiding officer

was chosen. Gov. Clifl'ord appointed Mr. Clark a

justice of the peace in 1853, which office he held un-

der successive governors till his death.

Mr. Clark returned to Tewksburyin 1872, and there

was prominent, as the official list shows, in town af-

fairs.

He was a devoted member of the Congregationalist

denomination, joining the church in early life. For

fifteen years he was superintendent of the Sunday

School of the First Congregationalist Church, Win-

chester, and for many years he served the Tewksbury

school in the same capacity. The title of " Deacon

Clark," by which he was generally known in town

came to him from having held that office in the Win-

chester Church eighteen years.

Besides filling many minor offices, Deacon Clark at

his death was one of the vice-presidents of the Mer-

rimac Valley Congregational Club, and from 1886 one

of the trustees of the State Almshouse, Tewksbury.

Unbounded energy, sterling Saxon sense, an in-

domitable will, a very sociable nature, strict integrity

in business relations, ardent devotion to temperance

and reform, these are among the prominent traits of

one whom his associates found a kind and genial

neighbor and obliging friend.

THOMAS JEFFERSON MARSH.

Captain Marsh, as hosts usually called him, was

born March 7, 1805, in Exeter, N. H., where he ob-

tained the title as captain of a militia company.

There he learned, and in various places practised the

trade of shoemaking. He resided successively in

Amesbury, Lynn and Boston, but in 1853 he removed

to Waltham, his home for several vears.

The greater part of his life was spent in public of-

fice and he was identified with some of the most im-

portant movements of the time.

For nearly twenty years he was in the Boston Cus-

tom-house in various posilion.s. In lS.)5-.jti lie wa.s

State Treasurer of Ma.ssachiisetts. In early life Mr.

Marsh was a Democrat of the .leflerson stamp. Natu-

alrly when the Republican party was born, he became

one of its ardent and permanent adherents, and was a

delegate from the old Banks district to the convention

which in 1856 nominated .Fohn C. Fremont, the first

Republican candidate for the presidency.

In 1857 Mr. Marsh took an active i>art in the polit-

ical life of Kansas. He played it in a manner of

which so good ajudge as Mr. F. B. Sanborn wrote in

the Springfield Republican, " his Kansas experiences

. . . were creditable to him and should not be for-

gotten."

Capt. Marsh went to Kansas at the .suggestion of

Senator Wilson and George L. Stearns, then chairman

of the State Kansas Committee of Massachusetts.

His mission is thus well described by Mr. Sanborn
" The following letter discloses his errand:

" Ohaeles Robinson, Esq., Lawrence, K. T.:

" DeaT Sir—By the advice of lion. Henry VVileon.'who rotuniod from

Kansas but a Bliorl time since, we liave raiaed a email sum tu awjist the

Free .State Party in tlie Cuming election, and liave engaged TlioniaA J.

Marsh, who will hand you this, to go to Kansas as our agent. Tliis let-

ter of instnictions to him will inform you of our plans, and we trust he

will be able to render you efficient aid in procuring such an organiza-

tion of the Free State as will enable tlieni to vote down the bogus con-

stitution, if submitted to the decision of the people of the territory ; but

in any event to take possession of the teiritorial legislature in October

next. Mr. Marsh will remain in Kansas until the October election, if

hd can be of any use to you.

Truly yours,

Geouoe L. Steabns.

Boslun, June 30, 1857.

" This letter was written in the same week when
Abraham Lincoln made a Kansas speech at Spring-

field, 111., in which he said: 'Nothing but bold,

wicked despotism has ruled in Kansas since it was

organized into a territory. Let slavery sweep over

the territories and God will sweep us with a brush of

fire from this solid globe I The 'small fund' of

which Mr. Stearns spoke became about $4000, and

was raised, chiefly in Boston, by Henry Wilson, Mr.

Stearns and other anti-slavery men. It was judi-

ciously used by Mr. Marsh, and the result was, in

Ocrober, 1857, a territorial legislature chosen by good

majorities, which was controlled by the Free State

men."

While in Kansas he acted for part of the time as

adjutant general.

Shortly after his return he was appointed superin-

tendent of the State Almshouse in Tewksbury. This

was in early summer of 1858. He soon brought its

affairs out of the "chaotic condition" in which he

found them and began the constant improvement

which has continued in and around that institution

to the present day. A farm of which the Boston

Advertiser said that an equal number of acres at the

bottom of Boston harbor would be more arable was

gradually changed into a state of productiveness and

comparative beauty. His government of the indigent
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and sick committed to liis charge revealed bis posses"

sioD of the rare gift of discipline without the appear-

ance of disciplining.

Fri)m early manhood Mr. Marsh was a member of

the Baptist Church. Among his brethren he held

many otlicial trusts and tilled many positions requir-

ing tact and delicacy. He bore the office of deacon

in the old Rowe Street Church during a part of Dr.

Baron Stow's ministry, and afterward the same office

in the church at Walthara. He was an enthusiastic

friend of Christian missions and of all benevolent

work, and in his church and among the brethren had

the reputation so rare of being " loo generous." Capt.

Marsh left the Institution at Tewksbury after over

twenty-five years as superintendent, during which

time it is estimated that over $2,000,000 of the State's

money passed through his hands in a manner which

allowed so good a judge as General and then Gov-

ernor Butler to declare of Mr. Marsh " I believe you

are an honest man."

After leaving Tewkabury Capt. Marsh returned to

his native town, Exeter, N. H., where, after a brief

period of repose, he died February 27, 1888, aged

almost 83 years.

Genial, equable, impressively unselfish, persuasive

in manner and speech, idolized l)y his family, loving

and lovable, Mr. Marsh personally illustrated these

words :

" 1 live for those who love me,

For those who know me true.

For the Heaveu that smiles above me,

And awaits my spirit too;

For the cause tb;it lat-ka assistauce,

For the wrong that claims resistance,

For the great hope in the distance.

And the good that I can do."

iMARY F. EASTMAN.

For the past twenty years Tewksbury has been

honored as the home of one of the well-known laborers

in the great cause of the elevation of woman—of one

who has been the subject of many eulogiums from

pnlpit and press—of whom Colonel T. W. Higglnson

has said :
" If you want to know what I mean by a

clear and satisfactory utterance, hear Miss Mary F.

Eastman lecture."

Miss Eitstman has not only found a field on the

platform but in the pulpit also has uttered her mess-

age with wide acceptance in " sweet and helpful

words," as the Rev. Robert CoUyer said of one of her

sermons.

The writer ia indebted to Miss Helen Eastman for

this brief sketch of her sister's life

:

Mary F. Eastman, daughter of Gardner R. and

Mary Eastman, is a native of Lowell, Mass., but has

resided in Tewksbury for many years. Her early

school training was in the Lowell high school, fol-

lowed by seminary and Normal school courses. It

was with keen regret that she then found all New
England college doors closed to her sex, and she

turned to the only other school of education open to

her—the teacher's profession. To this work she de-

voted herself as to a beloved art. She taught in the

high and normal school for girls, Boston, then at so-

licitation of Hon. Horace ALinn, she went to Ohio to

aid in the work of education which he had under-

taken at Antioch College, and remained until his

death.

About this time, in pursuance of Mr. Mann's rec-

ommendation she was solicited by Minister Sarmiento,

then representing the Argentine Republic in this

country, to take charge of the great work, since so

successfully carried on there, then in its inception, of

introducing into the South American Republic a sys-

tem of schools substantially as it had been developed

in New England. Though much impelled after Mr.

Mann's death, to carry out his desires, MissEastmau,

after due consideration of her youth and inexperience,

declined the important work. Returning to New
England she took charge of the Female Department

of the Lowell High School, her AlmaMater, which had

nearly two hundred pupils. After four years service,

she resigned to take charge of a seminary for young

ladies at Meadville, Pa., where she remained seven

years. While there Miss Eastman was invited to ad-

dress the students of the Meadville Theological School

stating her views on the mooted question of woman's

claim to the ballot. The outcome of this lecture was

a change of work, and she entered the lecture-field

in support of educational, political, and other reforms

—with lectures on travel and on literary topics, meet-

ing with most cordial reception from the public.

She has in the past few years prepared the biogra-

phy of Dr. Dio Lewis and contributes the section on

History of the Education of Women in the Eastern

States, to a forthcoming volume on " Wom.in's AVork

in America."

Miss Eastman since her residence in Tewksbury has

cherished a warm interest in the welfare of the town.

Although leading a busy public life she has served

on the school committee and has generously afforded

her aid in establishing the Public Library and the

Village Improvement Association.
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CHAPTER XXIX.

WATERTOWN.^

BY SOI.ON F. WHITNEY.

Mythical Period— Geograpbg—Pliyiical Features of the Lauds Within i/#

Aucienl Boundaries—Agricultural Character of the People.

The following contributions to a lilstory of this ancient town are the

result of a movement recently made to eatahlish a Historical Society of

Watertown. The secretary of this younK society is the oilitor of this

collection of articles, the faults of which he cheerfully tuulertuUes to

shoulder, while the merits he gratefiilly credits to the several writers.

The editor is more and more impressed with the fact that very much

of Kreat interest to the historical student has been connected with the

people of this town, many cd" whom, although scattered in different

pans of the country still delight, like dutiful children, to refer to old

A\'atertown as the source from which they derived ideas of personal and

iiiuuiciiial independence, of correct moral and religious teaching, of

thrift and industry, which have been of service to them wherever they

have been located.

Not all knowledge is of erplal worth. Not all seed produces fruil

worth the raising. If valuable elements of character have been matured

in this old town, first planted by Sir Kichard Saltonstall, blessed by the

true, independent, tiod-fearing parson, iJeorge rliiilips, and continued

by a loyal posterity, it must be of service to others, and so an honor to

any to hand down the menuny of it to future generations.

To study and preserve the memory of all that has been or may bo of

use to others from the wide donniin of ancient M'atertown. is the pur-

pose of this Historical Society. Solon F. Whitnev, Sec.

Thk history of Watertown is important, as it is

the oldest town now in the county, the town which

lias colonized so many other towns, and which, from

its peculiar independent character and position, has

served as a typical town in the organization of the

state.

Mythical PERion.—That the Norsemen colonized

Iceland and the south-western shores of Greenland

five or six centuries before the voyages of Columbus

is a matter of history. That the claims of the Sagas

that their bold .sailors reached the shores of Labrador,

of Newfoundland, of Nova Scotia and New England

seems hardly incredible. Iceland is distant from

Norway some 650 miles, from Scotland and the Shet-

land Isles about 500 miles, while from Greenland

only about 150 raiies. The ves.sels and the seaman-

ship that enabled the hardy Norsemen to cross from

Norway to Iceland in frequent voyages, would have

enabled them, with the aid of the southern currents

which pour out of Baffin's Bay along the coast of

Labrador and over the banks of Newfoundland and are

well marked along the coast of Nova Scotia and Maine

inside of the Gulf Stream as far south as Cape Cod,

to visit these New England shores. There can be

little doubt but that the many vague stories of the

Sagas have under them facts accomplished which the

more definite language of a later period would have

fixed with such minuteness of dates and measure-

ments and careful details as to have changed the

myths to veritable history. It may be mere myth,

1 Copyright 1890, by Solon F. Whitney.

or theory, or the faith of a dreamer that makes

Watertown the chief settlement of these venture-

some navigators, and the seal of a commerce in what

seemed to the Icelanders and the people of the

north of Europe wonderful growths of gnarled wood
and vines. We have not space in this brief sketch

of the history of this town, so favored by nature, so

neglected as yet by man, for more than this mere

allusion to the claims of new discoveries in tliis

direction by Professor llorsford in liis reniarkahle

communication to the American Geographical So-

ciety made the last year. Wiiat is possibly true it

may be difficult to prove by incontestable evidence.

If true, some remains of grave, or utensil, or arms,

or armor, will yet be found, though one may doubt

if iron or wood would endure the changes of this

climate nearly a thousand years to bear witness to

foimer owners.

Stone walls and dams and excavations may yet

establish the faith of the builder of the lower to the

Xorumboga of the early French and Iviglish navi-

gators, said to have been in the Vinland ot the Norse-

man, and possibly that the mythical city that figures

on so many early maps may have been located where

now are the wharves and streets of this Watertown,

by the head of tide-wtiter on the river Cluirles.

Even if the location of tlie ancient and almtmt

mythical Norumboga in this town is a mistake, it has

already invested these slopes with a wonderful

poetic interest, and will lead many an investigator

to turn the soil with more care and to examine the

surface of the earth with the hope of possibly

tracing the footsteps of former Scandinavian inhabit-

ants. Even if the truth of these eiirlier navigators

to priority of discovery to these northern New Eng-

land shores should be well established, it would not

detract from the honor due to the bold Columbus,

who.se faith led him to find the West India Islands,

even against the derision of his most faithful follow-

ers. What Prof. Horsford claims to be so far estab-

lished, he is abundantly able, with a wealth of

illustration and typography and quotation from early

writers and a good appearance of logical reasoning,

to show.

Indian.s.—When our early settlers came to occupy

these banks, there seemed to be a well established

village of Indians near the falls at the head of tide-

water. That the highlands along the banks from

Cambridge cemetery nearly to Watertown bridge had

been for a long time the dwelling-place of Indians

engaged in fishing seems to be attested by the abunii-

ance of Indian remains found in the soil in the shape

of stone impletnents of various kinds, as well as in

some places evidences of Indian graves. One can

repeat the answer of Thoreau with hope of finding

equally good illustrations anywhere along these

banks. When, on the shores of WaUleii Pond, he was

asked where one could find Indian remains, he

said "Anywhere, if one has eyes to see," as he
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poked out of the soil, with his foot, some Indian

urrow-heads.

Oi:niiit.M'iiicAi, Location and Limits.—Water-

ton n is pleasantly located, for the most part on the

north batik of the Charles River, between Cambridge

on the east and Waltham (in the west. A portion of

the town opposite tlie principal village lies on the

south side of the river, next the garden city of New-

Ion; while on the north it has Belmont, which sepa-

rates it from Arlington. At present of very limited

area, almost the smallest town of Middlesex County,

it has Mount Auburn Cemetery, of one hundred and

thirty-six acres, on its southeastern corner, and the

United States Arsenal, occupying one hundred acres

of its southernmost border, stretching along for a

half-mile on the bank of the river. It is most com-

pactly built about the falls, at the head of navigation

of the Charle.s River, about eight miles from Boston,

with which it is connected by a branch of the

l'"itchburg Railroad, by a branch of the West End

Horse Railroad by the way of Cambridge, and by the

main line of the Albany Railroad, a station of which

is within a half-mile of the town hall. This latter

station, although not within the town limits, greatly

accommodates her people wishing to go to the westerly

or southern portion of the city of Boston, or westward

along the Albany Railroad, or southerly along the

Old Colony Railroad or its branches. The town is

at present only about three miles in length from

east to west, and scarcely a mile in width.

It was not always so insignificant in area. The
history of its location, of its boundaries at dift'erent

times, of its successive losses in territory and of the

causes which led to these changes is interesting and

instructive, and may form a fitting introduction to a

larger history.

Sir Richard Saltons'tall, Rev. Geo. Phillips, and

their companions, of whom we shall speak later, soon

after their arrival from England, and the removal of

the colony from Salem to Charlestown, probably be-

fore the middle of July of 1630, went up the Charles

River,,and, having found a suitable landing and con-

venient fields for agriculture, brought thither their

servants, their cattle, of which they had liberal store,

and their goods, and began a settlement, which after-

wards ( September 7th) was, by vote of the Court of

Assistants, called Watertown.

The vote
—

" It is ordered, that Trimountaine shall

be called Boston ; Mattapan, Dorchester ; and the

towne upon Charles Ryver, Watertown."

The location of this landing is with little doubt the

same as that which continued for many years to be

the town landing, shown on the map in the archives

of the State, in the secretary's office,—the map of 1712.

This landing, known more recently as Gerry's Land-
ing (also called in old records and deeds as " the

landing," "Oliver's landing," and "landing near

Samuel's hill"), is below Mt. Auburn and the Cam-
bridge Cemetery, near the present location of the

Cambridge Hospital. It has been made quite noted

by being selected as the most probable site of Liefs

houses, by Professor Horsford in his claim that here

the Northmen landed, more than six hundred years

before the foundation of this Colony. However that

may be, the reasons given by the professor for this

particular landing-place for the Northmen are good

a prior/ reasons why Sir Richard Saltonstall should

select this spot for his landing. Traditions and all

the indirect evidences of history also point to this

spot as the landing, and the immediate vicinity as the

location of the settlement which, we have seen, early

received the name of Watertown.

It is well to dwell a little on this point, as it is the

key to much given in connection with the early his-

tory. The city of Cambridge in 1883 appointed a

committee of the Board of Aldermen, who made, the

next winter, an exhaustive report on Gerry's Landing,

accompanied with plans and authorities which places

the subject beyond question.

"The landing was the original town-lauding for

Watertown, and, with the way leading from it, is

mentioned in the early records of the town soon after

its settlement in 1630, and continued a part of Water-

town till annexed to Cambridge, April 19, 1754, in a

grant of the General Court of the Province of Massa-

chusetts Bay.'" It was here on the backs of the river

that Sir Richard Saltonstall selected the site of his

future home, to the north and east of the landing, on

land now owned in part by the Cambridge Hospital.

In the Watertown Records, Division of Lands, p.

98, quoted as above, is the following :
" Sir Richard

Saltonstall, 1, one housestall of sixteen acres by esti-

mation, bounded the north-east with Thomas Brigan

(Brigham) and Robert Keie, the South-east with the

river, the south-west with the highway, and the north-

west, George Phillips, granted him."

When we come to consider the persons who com-

posed the earliest band of settlers of the town, their

minister, their buildings, church and houses, we shall

find that here, on territory now no longer a part of the

territory of Watertown, was located the town which,

with the exception of the sea-ports, Charlestown and

Boston, and the probable exception of Dorchester,

antedates all other towns in the Massachusetts Bay
Colony, and which, from its inland situation and its

being the open door to all the country beyond, was

"a hive from which swarmed the people who settled a

large part of the rest of New England," from which

have gone out continually men and women to become
famous in all parts of this broad nation.

To repeat, for the sake of emphasis, the " Town "

of Watertown of 1630, '31, and perhaps '32 was no

part of the Watertown of to-day. The location is

swallowed up in Cambridge.

The Bounds of Watertown.—The bound.? of

Watertown have undergone great changes, both in

the minds of men and on the maps of the country.

At first there was no idea of limit except the limit
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placed by the charter and the convenience of the

early settlers. By the charter the iMassacliusetts Bay

Colony was entitled to enter ujio[i all lands from

three miles south of the Charles River to three miles

ni.rth of the Merrimack. Charlestown on one aide

and Boston on the other side of Charles River near

the sea wore early clioson as liie sea-ports, and began

lo be settled at once in 1()80. VVatertown was tlie

first inland town. It was not limited on any side by

any possible barrier to immense growth. London
wonld not need more land than was possible to it in

Kl.'iO. t^harlestovvn and Boston were mere peninsulas.

In accordance with the words of the charter the lands

of the colony stretched away one knew not how far,

" from the Atlantic to the South Sea."

But her people were mostly humble farmers. Even

Sir Richard Saltonstall, one of the wealthiest men of

the new colony, the first assistant of the Governor in

the government, who had brought good store of cattle

and unmerous servants, wisiied to herd these his cat-

tle within narrow limits, where he could find them)

and although each agriculturist wished a goodly

number of acres for liis farm, he wished also for safety

against unknown savages, to be no farther away from

his fellows than the needs of his "farm and hia cattle

would rcipiire. With the traders the case was some-

what different. They wished to be settled together

as compactly as possible. Their interest in their

commodities called for protection from the savages.

Hence within six months they began to look about for

a convenient place to build a fortified town,—a fort,

—

" a pallysadoe." In that part of the territory of

^\'atertown which extended towards Charlestown a

spot was. selected as "a fit place for a fortified town,"

and in 1631 Deputy-Governor Thomas Dudley and

others here erected house?. Governor Winthrop ]>ut

up the frame of a house, which it is true he took down
again and carried the next year to Boston, which he

probably saw would be the most fitting place for com-

merce and for the government.

In February, 1631-32, it was voted that "there

should be three-.score pounds levyed out of the several

jilantations within the lymitts of this pattent towards

the makeing of a pallysadoe aboute the new town.''

Thus a new town, chosen as a convenient one for a

fortified capital or home of the government, began to

be built up on the east of " the towne," the bounds of

which is the subject of our inquiry.

No definite bounds were established between them
for several years, until the people began to build near

each other and the convenience of the tax-gatherers

required some definite limits.

"William Colbi-aii, John .Iuhli8uii and Al)rahani Palmer, heing ap-

poynted, Utaich 4. 1634-35. by the General Court io lay out the bounds

betwixte AVat*'rtou and Nowe Towne, did make this return unto the

t'ourte, 7tli April, l(5:i5 ;
* It is agreed by ur-, whose names are here

underwritten, that the bounds betwen Waterton & Newe Towne shall

p);nid ii8 they are already, from Charles Ryver to the great Fresh Pond,

A from the tree marked liy Water Towne and Newe Towne on the south

ottst syde of the pound, over the pond, to a white poidar tree oa the

north west syde of the pond, and from that tree upp into the country

aore west & by west, upon a straight lyiie by a meridian cumpaasi* ; and

further, thai Waterton shall lutvo one humlredth rodds In lengtli aboTe

tlie weire, and one-liundrerb rodd beneath the weiro in longtil, A three

score rodd in breadMi tinm liie ryver on the soutliesyde tliereof, and all

the rest of the ground on IluU nyite td the river to lye to Newe Towne.'

'* W1IJ.IAM COLRRAN.

".I<inN JonNfiON,
*' AhrAIIAM I'ALMER."

These boundary lines between Watertown and

Cambridge were again conlirmetl by vote of General

Court, 13th of March, 1639.

Here, after five years' growth and gradual encroach-

ment upon the bounds that might easily have been

claimed by early Watertown men, the General C'onrt

limits their spreading both on the east side and on

liie north side and by the river, with the small ex-

ception about the '' weare " on the south side. Only

possible room left to grow in was to the west and
southwest. To the fortifying of this" Newe Towne" on

I he east, Watertown was required to contribute the

same amount as Boston, namely, X8, whicii was more

than any other town in the Colony, thus showing

probably, as the (iovcrnor and the wealthy traders

lived in Boston, that Watertown was then, as it con-

tinued to be for several years, the most populous town

in the Colony. To the west it might, under the char-

ter, extend its limits indefinitely towards the South

Sea. There was, however, evidently, from the action

in regard to the fortifications at ('ambridge, a feeling

that it was necessary to organize compact communities

for defence against the savages, and perhaps the early

settlers of Watertown had never contemplated the

extension of their territory far from their first settle-

ment, which soon began to be called " the town," in

distinction from the more sparsely-settled country

over which her people scattered in search of belter

lands. It is certain that in 1635, when there were

large arrivals of people from England and consider-

able confidence had been acquired in the i)eaceful or

harmless character of the Indians, that settlers had

pushed up the Charles River and westward to another

river, which ran northward towards the Merrimack.

By vote of the General Court on the 3d of September,

1635, "It is ordered that there shall be a plantation

settled, aboute two myles above the falls of Charles

Ryver, on the northeast syde thereof, to have ground

lyeing to it on both sitlesof the ryver," etc.

Afterwards on the Sth Sei)tember of the following

year, 1636, it was "ordered that the plantation to bee

setled above the falls of Charles Ryver, shall have

ihree years' immunity fiom public charges as Concord

had, . . . and the name of the said plantation is to

be Dedham. . .
."

The same court tliat ordered the plantation "above

the falls of Charles Ryver," Dedham, ordered, "that

there shall be a plantation at Musketequid, and that

there shall be six miles of lan<l square belong to it,

. . . and that the name of the place shall be Con-

cord."
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Thus on the southwest the town of Watertown

was limi'eil by the incorporation of EVdhain, and on

the nortliwest by the incorporation of Concord.

As the lands of Watertown were gradually filled

up and some felt straitened for want of room, they

naturally looked westward towards the ])lea8anl

meadorts along the river " that runs towards Con-

cord," and, -greatly plea.sed by the prospect of posses-

sions along that pleasant river, with its sedgy bank^

and its grassy upland slopes, they linally petitioned

the (jeneral Court for permission to go thither to

found a new town. On the 20th November, 1637, it

is recorded in the records of the General Court held

nt Ncwtowne (Cambridge) :
" Whereas, a great part

of the chiefe inhabitants of Watertown have ])eti

tione<l this court, that in regard of their straitnes ol

accommodation and want of medowe, they might

have leave to remove, and settle a plantation upon

the ryver which runs to Concord, this court, having;

respect to their necessity, doth grant their petition.'

It provided what should be done if said inhabitants

of Watertown did not, to the number of thirty

families or more, actually S3ttle on the land,

—

ordered that they " shall have power to order the

scituation of the towne, and the proportioning oi

lota, and all other liberties as other towns have under

the proviso afores:iid." "September 4, 11)39, it is

ordered that the new plantation by Concord shall be

called Sudbury."

Thus was Watertown entirely circumscribed, and

thus, although there are no very early maps, it is possi-

ble to fix quite definitely the entire bounds of the

town when its bounds came to be defined. Whatever

indefinite ideas its early settlers may have had pre-

viously to this, they hencefi)rth, to obtain more room,

must go beyond the bounds of other towns and settle

in the boundless wilderness beyond. That they asked

for and received grants of such extraneous portions

of land for special services, as after the Pequot and

again after the Narraganset war, we inay have occa-

sion to show. From the largest of such grants the

town of Westminster on the slopes of Wachusett
was largely made. In granting to the new town Con-

cord six miles square, the General Court, from the

want of exact surveys, unwittingly gave to Concord

a portion of territory already included within the

limits of Watertown. For this they granted two
thousand acres of land, afterwards located on the side

of Wachusett. Whether Watertown ever profited

by her part of this territory does not appear; Weston
and Waltham sold their portion. Rut henceforward

the changes in her territorial possessions, like those

which have proceeded, will be of division, of curtail-

ment. Watertown henceforth, by division within, or

by want of a common interest, sufl'ers loss of territory,

loss of inhabitants, which too often the people were,

after long contest, too willing to part company with,

till now, when it is whispered that Belmont wants a

portion on the nortn,and Newton has long clamored

for a large piece on the south, and Cambridge has

hardly recovered from her surfeit of grave-yards on

the east, one can hardly know what our children's

children will find to which the honored name of

Watertown can legally be affixed.

Let us look a little more closely into this process of

division, and fiiUow the geographical changes in

boundaries as they were made.

As to the manner of dividing the lands among the

freemen of the town, we will speak later. The bounds

of the town were hardly fixed before they began to

settle the outermost portions in systematic manner.
On October 14, 1638, it was "Ordered that the

farmes granted shall begin at the nearest meddow to

Dedham line, beyond the line runneth at the end of

ye great divident", parallel to the line at the end of the

Towne bounds, and so to go on successively from Ded-
ham Bounds, " etc. The earliest map preserved in

the archives of the State is a map of a portion of the

extreme southwest corner of the town, next to the

Dedham line,giving the location of lines running east

and north near "Nonesuch Pond," which lies partly

in Sudbury.

This ancient map, bearing the date of 1687, gives

the lines in position with reference to this Nonesuch
Pond, and their direction by the compass, thus de-

termining the boundary line between Watertown and
Dedham, afterwards Needham, and later still, the

line between Weston and Weliesley on the south,

while on the west the line in position and direction

between Watertown and Sudbury, now between

Weston and Wayland. By continuing this line in a

northerly direction until we meet the six miles square

of Concord, we have the early western bound;iry. Of
course this was fixed after many measurements and
surveys by committees appointed by the towns, but

this remains substantially the boundary between

Weston and Wayland to this day.

The boundary on the east, between Cambridge and
Watertown, has been changed several times, always at

the expense of territory for Watertown. At first, as

reported to the General Court in 1635, it was near

what is now Sparks Street and Vassal Lane thence

across Fresh Pond to a certain poplar tree on the

northwest side; thence by a straight line northwest by
west, eight miles into the country, till it meet the west

line between Sudbury and Watertown.or rather would
have met it at an angle beyond and above Walden
Pond, had not that portion been cut offby the grant to

Concord of six miles square.

Frequently during a period of many years after the

apportionment of lands to the 114 townsmen, in 1637,

the division of the lands at the West Farms was a

sourceof disagreement and contention at the regular

and at irregularly called meetings of the town. The
historian of Weston will doubtless show how delight-

ful those fields were, and what objects of contention

among all the townsmen, who had naturally equal

right to some possession among them ; how many pro-
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minent men were dr;iwn away from the older settle-

ment to gain by occuijaiicy these farnis;of the remote-

ness from church privileges, and from schools ; of the

injustice of church rates and other taxes, which were

spent where they could not easily profit by them, till

finally, March 13, 1(582-83, it was voted in town-meet-

ing that "those who dwell on west of Stony Brook be

freed from school tax;" and November 10, lti85, it was

"voted ihat the farmers' petition should be suspended

as to an answer to it until it pleaseth God to settle a

minister among us." In 1(192 a town-meeting was

held to decide upon a site for a new meeting-house,

but there was so great excitement and such difTereuces

of opinion among the people, that the Governor anil

Council were called in to decide the matter. The
Governor audCouncil were unable to please either the

people on the " Farms" or the people in the east part

of the town. In 1694, at a town-meeting, the east

bounds of the West Farms Precinct were fixed at

Beaver Rr<iok, but the General Court, in l(i!)9, fixed

them at Stony Brook. At the May session of the

General Court the petition praying for leave "To set

up the public worship of God amongst the inhabitants

of the west end of Waterttjwn" was granted, the

farmers having been exempted from ministerial rates

the preceding year. After long and vexatious con-

tention the act for the incorporation of Weston was

passed, on the 1st of January, 1718.' Thus there was

cut off from the territory of the old town nearly half

of its area.

The next reduction of area came with the incor-

poration of Waltham in 1738, which took about six-

tenths of the lands left to her. Before Weston was

incorporated that jjart was called the West Precinct

(Weston), this the Middle Precinct (Waltham) and

the eastern portion the East Precinct. With the in-

corporation of Weston, the part now Waltham be-

came the West Precinct. The incorporation of Wes-

ton took away about 10,372 acres, of Waltham about

8891 acres and left the old town only 3833 acres
;

this was less than a sixth of the area of the three

precincts together.

In April, 1754, a portion of the eastern [lart of the

town was joined to Cambridge—all that part between

the mo.st northern bend of the river, near where

Sparks Street now runs and along Vassal Lane to

Mt. Auburn Cemetery. This took away, probably,

most of the lands owned by Sir Kichard Saltonstall

and his early associates, the cluster of dwellings

called " the town." The town of Watertown still re-

tained its right to the wharf and landing on the river

for a century longer.

In 1859 all that part of the town north of Belmont

Street was set off to Belmont, so-called. This was the

result of a long struggle and a fierce contest like each

other excision of territory and loss of inhabitants.

By this act, 1446 acres were taken from the town.

In 1704—5 a committee was appointed to find out

the line between Watertown and Newton on the

21-iii

south side of Charles River. The committee reported

in 1705 the line nearly as at present represented on
the map on the south 8ide,giving by estimation about
88 acres. They have at different times been increas-

ed, till at present, including Water, Boyd and Cook's
Ponds, they include one hundred and fifty acres.'

The la.st excision of territory was arrangeil amica-
bly with Cambridge, .she buying the lands of the

owners and paying the town of Watertown $15,000
for loss of taxable property for lands taken between
Mt. Auburn Cemetery and the river for the Cambridge
Cemetery, and authorized by act of the General Court,

which transferred the Winchester estate to Cam-
bridge ; also the road passing between Mt. .Auburn

and Cambridge Cemeteries.

There now remain within the bounds of the town
including Charles River, the marshes, the ponds, Mt.
Auburn and Catholic Cemeteries, according to the

surveys of Henry Craft.s, 2668.25 acres, of about 4i
square miles. The number of acres taxed in 1890, is

2027.

Physical Featitees of the Land.s Within
THE Ancient Bodndaries.—The whole town, even
in its greatest extension, lies mostly along the north
banks of the Charles River, which finds its way
irregularly over the drift, the broad deposits of sands
and clays which fill the broad valley between Arling-

ton Heights and Prospect Hill on the north and west
and the somewhat elevated lands of Newton on the

south. Beyond the southernmost limits of the old

town, say in what was old Dcdham (now Needham
and Wellesley) the river gradually descends from its

course through a higher plain, elevated say about one
hundred and fifty feet above the sea, to the level

above Waltham, which is thirty or forty feet only
above the sea, and then by gentle falls here and
at the Bleachery, at Bemis, and finally at the paper-
mill in Watertown village, to mingle with the brack-

ish waters of our higher tides from Boston harbor.

The rocks which underlie this region seem to be
slates and conglomerates—ancient rocks belonging to

the lower strata of the earth's crust, from above
which, in the progress of the geologic ages, all later

fossil-bearing rocks havebeen removed by the process '

of plowing by the glaciers, whose traces, well marked
in direction are now and then brought to view, as on
the slate ledges on Morse's field. The hills and plains

as well, as the geologists inform us, are but slight in-

equalities in the general plain once smoothed off by
a sheet of ice a mile in thickness. The depressions

in the general level, like our ponds, perhaps mark
the position of some stranded portion of ice when the
advancing heat gradually drove the ice-field back
towards the North, around which the currents drifted

the sands and gravels which form their banks. By
boring we know that the level of the bed-rocks dip

below the sea here in our town, although their harder

1 For a full treatment of the Bouth side bounds see Mr. Ensign's paper.
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portions ill some places ooiue near the surfiice. Back

on ihe western houmls ot" llie olii town, among the

biiU of Weston and the western part of Wallhiim, the

general level in one hundreil and fifty to two liundred

feet higher. There are line specimens of deposits in

ridges of ancient glaciers, moraines, in various portions

of the town, iw at the W'averly Oaks, while the

rounded hills cf hard clay and gravel de|)08itH are

seen in White's Hill, in Struwherry Hill between Ml.

Anburn and Belmont Streets, and in other places.

Thin we find with considerable variation in level and

in that irregularity of form due to the unequal wear-

ing away of materials of unei|ual hardness, as well as

the irregular deposits of uiorains, a sufficient variety

of surface to produce that picturesque etlect always

noted from the lime of the earliest visitors to the pres-

ent, when city denizens swarm out prospecting for

convenient country homes. The soil of Watertown,

says Dr. Francis, " is remarkably good." The sub-

stratum of clay, even when mingled with sand and

gravel to some extent, make the hill sides rich, moist,

productive. This under-struclure of the soil accounts

for the abundance of fine springs, which claimed the

attention of the early colonists, and which, according

tea tradition, helped give! name to the town, Water-

toirn it was written. It will be remembered that they

sullered for water at (Jharlcstown. The hills, the

river-banks, the lowlands must have been covered

with heavy forests when first visited, although one

would think from the early accounts that the plains

east of Mount Auburn, if not also west of it along the

river near the .\rscnal, over the plains west of Lexing-

ton Street and over the Waltliam plains, were lauds

destitute of forests and so easily plowed and desirable

for tillage.

We can form little idea of the size of the brooks, or

of the abundance of springs found by the early set-

tlers, from the fiict that the forests have been strip-

ped from their fastnesses, and the surface has been

cultivated like a garden ; and, if the water-courses

have not been entirely dried up, as in old Palestine,

we owe it to the nearness to the sea, and the tenacity

of the clay soils for the water, which they give up

slowly.

The hill on which the tower was built, in Mt.

Auburn Cemetery, is 125 feet above the river; while

Strawberry Hill is somewhat more than 250 feet high.

This was afterwards called School-House Hill, and

after the church was erected there, Meeting-House

Hill, and is the hill now marked by the beautiful half-

brick residence of Gilbert K. Payson, which is visible

from all the hill-tops, and many of the housetops

within ten miles of Boston.

The hill nearer the village formerly called Whit-

ney's Hill,' from the fact that John Whitney's, Sr.,

and his sons were supposed to have owned the north

I "WIiitnoy'8 Hill" ia thought by iuiue to be the highluDd over

which LexiDgton Street now pasaei.

and west sides of the hill, more recently called

White's Hill, over which Palfrey Street is now ex-

leiidcd, is i|uite prominent from the fact that it is

nearer the main street, nearer the railroad, and so is

more frequently visited. This is a little over 200 feet

above the sea, or fifty feet lower than Meeting-House

Hill. The stand-pipe of the water-works is placed

here. This is high enough to secure a How of water

to all parts of the town, except to the higher portions

of Meeting-House or Pay.son's Hill.

I'rospect Hill, beyond the plain of Waltham, the

Middle Precinct of the old town, irregular in shape,

rising in its highest portion -482 feet above the sea, is

the most elevated point of the old town, probably the

most elevated portion of the county. This jioint is

seen first by sailors approaching the harbor of Bos-

ton, after the Blue Hills, of course, and gives from its

broad slopes extended and most beautiful views

of the surrounding country, including the city and

harbor of Boston, ten miles distant. Mount Feake is

the first eminence of the town named in history. K
the name is now attached to the hill to which Win-

throp assigned it, it must have lost much of its former

prominence, or Wiutbrop and his party must have

been in merry mood, as there is little to suggest the

name mount in the present site of Mount Feake Ceme-

tery. As this account from the letters of Governor

Winthrop is the oldest we have of the physical feat-

ures of the town, its insertion here may help to a

closer comparison. It bears date January 27, 16.S1-2.

"The governor, and some company with him, went up

by Charles River, about eight miles above Watertown,

and named the first brook on the north side of the

river (being a fair stream, and coming from a pond

a mile from the river) Beaver Brook, because the

beavers had shorn down divers great trees there, and

made divers dams across the brook. Thence they

went to a great rock, upon which stood a high stone,

cleft in sunder, that four men might go through,

which they called Adam's Chair, because the young-

est of their company was Adam Winthrop. Thence

they came to another brook, greater than the former,

which they called Masters' Brook, because the eldest

of their i>arty was one John Masters. Thence they

came to another high pointed rock, having a fair as-

cend on the west side, which they called Mount
Feake, from one Robert Feake, who had married the

governor's daughter-in-law. On the west side of

Mount Feake they went up a very high rock, from

whence they might see all over Neipnett, and a very

high hill due west, about forty miles oft" (Wachusett

Mountain), and to the northwest the high hills (per-

haps Monadnock Slountain) by Merrimack, about

sixty miles off."

The Beaver Brook is now well-known by this name.

Adam's Chair is not now to be found, having prob-

ably been destroyed by the building of the Fitchburg

Railroad. Masters' Brook, now greatly diminished

in size by change of surface and by filling, enters the
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river near the watch-factory bridge. Mount Feake,

within the cemetery of that name, afrord8 the fine

view to the west, it is said, wliich is mentioned in

Winthrop's account.

The Charles River, of course, is the principal body

of water in the old town. Whether the fall spoken

of by the earliest settlers was due to a dam erected by

the Norsemen, as Professor Ilorsford claims, or was

merely a series of ra|)ids, .as it would seem necessary to

suppose it would be ii the dam were removed, we have

not sutiicient historical data to determine. It may not

be proper in this place, for lack of direct testimony,

to enter into an argument to prove, from the testimo-

ny of Clap's party to fiuding near three hundred

Indians fishing about the fall, that there must have

been greater hindrance to the free, upward movement

of the fish to their spawning-grounds than a scries of

gentle rapids, in order to make this such good fishing-

grounds. No direct statements, accounts or allu-

sions have as yet been found to the building of the

dam by our early settlers, while the construction of

the fish-weirs are named again and again.

The dam as it exists at the present time raises the

water above it, so as to present very pleasant water

spaces to vary and enliven the appearance of this

part of the town ; and above, at Bemis, at the Bleach-

ery and at Waltham, many beautiful lake-like ex-

panses of water, with their irregular succession of

tree-covered or grassy slopes, often with intervening

islauds, delight the eye of the observer and combine

to make this river the pride of the poet and the

painter, the constant and ever-present benefactor and

delight of the people who dwell along its banks or

are led by the needs of business, or are attracted by

the charms of travel, to visit its winding course.

It is a matter of history that poets have been

nursed on its banks. Although Longfellow lived just

across the line, in Cambridge, and ever loved to look

on the
" River that in silence windest

Through the meadovvs, briglit and free,"

Lowell was born and lived near the ancient laud-

ing of Saltonstall and Phillips, in what, for more than

a hundred years, was a part of this town.

Fresh Pond, in the eastern part, now entirely

gained by Cambridge; Lake Walden, in the north-

western part, now within the bounds of Concord ; San-

dy Pond, now in Lincoln ; Nonesuch Pond, now in

Weston ; Beaver Pond, and Sherman's Pond, recently

Mead's Pond, now in Waltham, all bel. ng to the old

town of Watertown, and help to diversify the sur-

face and enliven the landscape.

The trees about Waverly, notably some large but-

tonwoods, an immense elm, and " The Oaks," many
centuries old, are frequently visited. It has been

estimated that the oaks are from four to nine hundred

years old. It is said that over seven hundred con-

centric rings have been counted in the stem of a fal-

len oak of the group standing on the beautiful '

moraine beyond the AVaverly Station, on the banks of

Beaver Brook. The writer counted over four hun-

dred in a large branch. These oaks might have been

standing when Lief and Thorfuin visited Vineland

the Good, and if the Charles Kiver is "the river

which flowed through a lake into the sea," Gudrid,

the wife of Thorflnn, may have rested under the

branches of these very trees. At all events, poetry,

the vague, indefinable influences of popular tradition,

science, a praiseworthy regard for the instruction and

the health of future generations, unite in asking that

these ancient specimens of trees and terminal moraines

may be ])reserved by making a park of the fields con-

taining them. If Waltham does not feel moved to

ourchase and |)rcserve this border portion of her ter-

ritory, the State of M.assachusetts certainly should,

before the "monarchs of the forest" fall before the

venal axe.

Agricultural Character of the People.—
From what we know of the formation of the surface

of the country in this vicinity, of the character of the

soil, of the situation of the town in the immediate

vicinity of the best harbor on the coast, and yet just

enough removed to prevent active participation in

commerce, and yet without sufficient water-power for

extensive manufactures, we can see that if its people

became active among the productive agencies of the

Colony, or afterward in developing the resources of

the young State that arose out of the fires of the Rev-

olution in which it took a prominent part, if, in other

words, it had seen intelligently its advantages and set

actively and courageously at work to do what it was

best fitted to do, it would have done exactly what it

did do—namely, apply itself chiefly to agriculture.

Watertown was soon the garden of Massachusetts

Bay.

If we include what originally belonged to her,

she is largely the garden for the production of a large

part of the vegetable food of Boston to-day. She
need not deny to Arlington, the daughter of her

daughter Cambridge, all praise for her accomplish-

ments in this direction. Blessed in like manner, she

too has improved her advantages. And having poorer

facilities for manufacturing industries, being more re-

stricted in her range of employments, it would not

be strange if her gardens outstripped her older neigh-

bor's in productiveness.

Sir Richard Saltonstall made no mistake when he

selected this valley for his home. Winthrop's party,

of whom he was one of the chiefs, left Salem to ex-

plore every nook and cranny of the shores of Massa-

chusetts Bay. The traders and commercial adventur-

ers who formed a large part of the party had in a

measure taken possession of Charlestown slopes and
Boston heights, so near an excellent land-locked har-

bor and the mouths of two considerable rivers. Salt-

onstall explored particularly the Massachusetts River,

called by John Smith, whom all since have followed,

the Charles, and had the wit to see the advantages of
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posiliou iiud soils, iiuil wMcr ami Kirist.s l.pr a iivw m-1-

tlfiueiu, siuh lis lie woiiia luosl i-iijoy to see.'

Sir KichHril Imil been ii iiiiiii of i-onsideriible laiuled

poftsensions iii Vorksliire, on whieli he niusl linve

made groat sacrifices to come with three o!" his sons

and two daughters, with many servants and " some

store of cattle," to seek a new home and greater inde-

peiideiuf in a new connlry. It was with au eye lo

the natiirul advantages of [losition that he landed hi.s

stores and set down for the winter in that part of

VVatertown now within the miinicii>al hounds of

Cambridge.

There was no thought of other towns or cities then

between t'harlestown—or Charlton, as it was first

called—and the place of his choice. We may not be

able to fix upon the exact location of his house, but

it wj»8 not far from midway between the homes of

Longfellow and ot Lowell, if we mention names of

men whom the world knows and honors, and who,

long before they were so widely known, knew and

loved every natural fcatureof theirsuirouudings; or,

—

if we name localities marked by walls of stone and

brick, albeit erected by the s|)irit of charity itself,—

a

little to the north and east of the present Cambridge

Hospital. In the little cove iu the bend of the river,

below the cemetery and near the hospital, was the

landing-place alike of Saltonstall, with hia belongings,

and of Phillips, the sturdy defender of independence

in church and in state, with the several score of others

who have become the progenitors of many a family

now scattered over our broad country.

The lands immediately about the landing were well

adapted for tillage, and being undulating and well

drained on one slope by (he river and on the north

slope into the Ijasin of Fresh Pond, were fortunately

chosen for the honiestalls of the colonists.

There was little waste or forest land in the vicinity

—

the first of which is seen by the fact of its being

divided up into homesteads, or, as they are called in

early records, humeslalls, within a very few years

among the first settlers and their immediate followers,

and the lands out several miles from their first lots

were soon divided up for tillage and pasturage; the

second is seen by the frequent mention of orders

passed to preserve the trees, and as if they were com-

paratively few, and by the price placed on their use or

destruction.

What we have mentioned and what we know con-

cerning the character of the region justifies the first

choice of Watertown by an agriculturist of the

wealth and eminence of Sir Richard. That he did

not long continue to make it his home or for the rest of

his life, I fear we must read between the lines of the

recorded history what is supplied without great diffi-

culty. His servants and some of the people who

> John Smith, who viHitcdthi»4 river In 1614, says "The country of the

MaMachuietts is the paradise of ali those parts ; for liere are many isles

all planted with corn, groves, mulberries, Jsalvage gardens and good
harbors."

were attracted by him, and chosen with reference to

their helpfulness, were agricultural in their training,

rural in their spirit and their knowledge. He must

have been a man »{ force of character, and might

have been impatient iu the short-comings of some

whose attention was diverted by the istrangeness of

their surroundings from their master's interests. It is

recorded November 30, 1C30, that " Sir Richard Salt-

onstall is fyncd V for whipping 2 several persons

w i thou tthe pre.sence ofanother assistant, contrary loan

act of Court formerly made," while before that he " is

Ifyned 4 bushells of malte, for his absence from this

Court."

It seems that long afterwards, some years' after he

had returned to his native England, where he contin-

ued to show his kindly feelings for the Colony by many

and delicate services which he then was enabled to

perform, and after he had shown bis wise moderation

by his counsel against persecution for mere opinion's

sake, that, by vote of the General Court of September

6, 1C38, the Court did discharge the £5 fine, and the

fine of " 4 bu.shells of uiault." Mere feathers these :

unmentionable littlenesses which may show some

movemenis in the social or religious atmosphere which

disaijpointed Sir Richard in his hope of freedom and

independence. There is no disputing the fact that

Watertown had the benefit of his good judgment at

the start, of his choice of a religious leader and

teacher, and of his continued friendship after he had

returned to his native land; but Watertown lost that

influence at the seat of government that allowed con-

tinued protectitm to her territories, which soon began

to be and which continue to this day to be the envy

of others and the constant prey of more powerful

conimunities, as well as of divisions within herself,

the Great and General Court always standing as

judges. Whether the small territory left to bear the

name of Watertown be allowed to remain much
longer undivided, or not wholly swallowed up by some

more powerful municipality, or not, there can never

be denied her the privilege of looking over all the

lands extending as far into the country as eight miles

from the meeting-house, as the home of her founders.

In view of the fact that the children of ancient

Watertown now dwell in almost every part of the

country, and that some of them ha\*e served in every

war to protect her most extended interests, and the

.life of the Union itself, a little local fixmily pride may
be allowed them as they look back to their ancestral

acres and iu iniaginatiou recall the undivided interests

of larger territories, when broad fields and extended

slopes were their ancestors' possessions.

The old mode of farming required more room-

—

room for cattle and sheep to graze, room to plow and

sow grain and ]jlant corn. The concentrated work of

the modern market gardener, with his abundance of

fertilizers, his glass to prolong the seasons, his rota-

tion of crops, was not known and was not possi-

ble. A score or two of acres would hardly have
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satisfied the humblest colonist ; sevcnil hundred were

the possession of a few. Now several men will

find all they can do on a single acre. Now we are

doing all we can to invite new-comers to share

our rich possessions and make them, by increased

social advantages, still richer. Rut as early as July,

1(>35, it was " Agreed, by consent of the freemen (in

consideration there be too many inhabitants in the

Towne, and the Towne is thereby in danger to be ruin-

ated), that no forainer coming into the Towne, or any

family arising among ourselves, sh.all have any bene-

fit either of Commonage or Land undivided, but what

they shall purchase, except that they buy a man's

right wholly in the Towne."

Even as late as the present century, when there was

some prospect of the Boston & Worcester Railroad de-

siring to pass through the town, there was a successful

ellort put forth to k^ep it from spoiling our valuable

lands. It is within the memory of the present gen-

eration that lands were held with so great tenacity

that it was next to impossible for any new man or new

interest to get a foothold within the town. All thisshows

the earlier and the later interests of the people in the

cultivation of the lands for agricultural purposes.

The agriculture of the past was at best the agricul-

ture now common in the towns remote from the large

cities. Even when people began to raise vegetables

for sale in Boston, the mode of making these sales

was most primitive in its simplicity. It is one of the

traditions in the family of one of the largest and

most successful market gardeners in this town that the

vegetables raised by their grandfather were put into

panniers over the back of a horse and sold out to the

families of Boston by the grandmother, whose per-

sonal attractions helped not a little in creating a

market. Compare now the lofty piles of well-filled

boxes which pass from the same lands each day of al-

most the entire year.

It is difficult to obtain and to give exact descrip-

tions of individual cases in this direction. Where
almost every family raise a part or the whole of their

vegetables, and a few raise a little to sell to others,

to one who keeps forty or fifty men and boys and

women at work all or most of the year, and has acres

of grass to enable him to begin the season almost

before the last season has been allowed to close, one

finds no easy dividing line.

With our present easy and rapid means of trans-

portation, any surplus of production, if excellent in

its kind, like Boston asparagus or tomatoes, Brighton

strawberries, or Watertown celery, finds a ready

market, if not in Boston, why then in Portland or

iProvidence, in New York or Washington. While

Oldham, afterwards Cradock, obtained a grant of

500 acres, and Saltonstall one of 450 acres, and .some

settlers of farms grants of from one hundred to three

hundred acres, not many farmers requiring so much
room for their grazing and their mode of farming

could be accommodated in a town of a little over 2000

acres or in the old town of 23,500 acres even. At the

present time a much larger population is possible in

the present narrow limits, where men can find |)ro-

fitable employment with the improved concentrated

methods and appliances.

The popul.ation in 1890 on these 2000 acres is over

7000. It will be shown later that the principal in-

dustries of the town are not now agricultural, yet

your historian nuiy be allowed the remark that, if all

the land were cultivated as highly as the heirs ofJohn
Coolidge cultivate the " vineyard" and other portions

of their lands, or as Joshua Coolidge and his sons

cultivate their lands, or as .Toshua C Stone cultivates

his land, or as Oalvin I). Crawford cultivates his own
and other people's land, some of these finding time

also to manage the alfairs of the town, a still larger

population than at present might be supported from

the soil, and there would be no thought of "there be-

ing too many inhabitants in the Towne, and the Towne
thereby in danger to be ruinated," as was agreed by

consent of the freemen in 1G35.

CHAPTER XXX.

WA TERTO WN-(Conlintied).

ecclesia.stioal history.

Early Location of First Church op Watur-
TOWN.'—On July 30, 1630, Sir Richard Saltonstall

joined with some forty other men in forming the first

church at Watertown, which, next to that of Salem

and Dorchester,was the earliest church of Massachu-

setts Bay. Rev. George Phillips was chosen pastor

and Richard Browne ruling elder. During the first

four years Watertown was the most populous town in

the Colony and probably continued so for fifteen to

twenty years. It came next after Boston, "the cen-

tre town and metropolis," " the mart of the land," as

Johnson called it in 1657 in his "Wonder Working
Providence," in wealth.

As the members of the church, even from the begin-

ningjWere too many to be accommodated in any one

of the small, hastily built tenements at first erected, a

special meeting-house was very probably soon built;

at least the rate of £80 ordered by the town records of

1635 to be levied for " the charges of the new meeting

house" of necessity imply that there had been another

and earlier one. Unfortunately the records do not

show when or where this older one was situated. But

doubtless as Richard Saltonstall, Mr. Phillips, Elder

Browne and most of those first admitted freemen had

all settled in " the town," as that part of the plantation

just east of Mt. Auburn was designated, it was also sit-

uated there.

I By Bennett F. Davenpoit,
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The new meeting-house of IGSS, according to Rev.

Converse Francis, stood upon the knoll on the north

aide olMt. Auburn ^^treet, between where long after-

ward were the houses of Deacon Moses Coolidgc and

that of Mr. Daniel l^awin, on the corner of Arlington

.Street, and later the liousea of Mr. George Frazer and

Mr. Kimball, the level land where the later house

now stands being the Common, used as a training-field.

In the town records of 10;i7 the meeting-house lot

is mentioned as containing forty acres. This doubt-

leas was the whole lot now bounded by Mt. Auburn

and Belmont Streets upon the south and north and by

School ami Arlington Street.s upon the west and east.

It was the laud along this last street which the select-

men, in 16ti7, ordered sold on the meeting-house com-

mon, upon the west side of the way from the meeting-

house to Pastor Sherman's house, the pay to go to-

wards building the bridge atthemill. Butthe town-

meeting held three days later voted not to allow ofthis

sale and bargain with J. Coolidge, Jr. By the records

of 16;5i>, 12-25 the meeting-house was appointed for a

watch-house. By those of KJHS, April 2Sd, those free-

men living remote from the meeting had been ordered

to build and settle upon the town "Plott" as the two

squares were designated bounded by Main and Bel-

mont Streets upon the south and north and by Lex-

ington .ind \Varren Streets, upon the east and west,

and between which from east to west Ilager Lane, after-

ward known as Warren Street, run, the latter, Warren

Street, being the one within the Watertowu pre-

sent limits, while the former is that in Waltham.

The recordsof 1669 February 6th, mention a bell-rope.

It therefore doubtless had a bell.

As the settlements in the town had gradually ex-

tended westward there had, ever since the death of

Rev. Mr. Phillips in 1644, been contention in the

town on account of the meeting-house being located

in the eastern part of the town. On October 14, 1654,

it bad been ordered that a new meeting-house be

built between Sergt. Brighl's and.John Biscoe's,— that

is, between John P. Cushing's mansion-house and the

northwest corner of Belmont and Common Streets.

John Sherman was bargained with to build it by

September 1656, for £400, with the use of the

old seats, the Cambridge meeting-house to be the

pattern in all points. This location caused so much

dissension that the new house was built on or near

the old site upon Meeting-house common. The

seating of the meeting-house was ordered November

7, 1656, to be made according to oflice, age and estate,

three rates, amounting to £4.53 12s. 3rf., having been

raised. This building continued lobe the meeting-

house for the entire town, including both Waltham

and Weston, until after the resignation of Mr.

Bailey in 1692. After that the old controversy about

the inconvenience of the location waxed more
earnest and resulted in a division of the church in

1095. and the building ofa new West Precinct meeting-

house upon the southeast corner of Belmont and

Lexington Streets, upon the homestall lot originally

granted to the Rev. John Knowles, who had been the

assistant or colleague of Mr. Phillips. This building

was upon the north side of the present Orchard

Street. At the new house Samuel Angler was

settled by the majority vote of the town and church,

the Rev. Mr. Gibbs having declined to remove from

the old building with those who preferred to still

assemble there. The division did not result, however,

in a legal separation till 1720.

In 1695 the farmers of Weston had amiably been

assisted by the whole town in building a meeting-

house more conveniently located for them, upon the

land of Nathaniel Coolidge, Sr., on the road at the

head of Parkhurst meadows, a little in front of the

site of the church of 1850. They did not have a

regularly organized church and settled pastor till

1709, although 4hey began to occupy it in 1700. In

1722 they raised a new building.

In 1720 the Legislature ran a division line between

the East and West Precincts and ordered the West

within two years to locate their meeting-house upon

the rising ground near Nathaniel Livermore's dwell-

ing-house—that is, a little northwest of the George W

.

Lyman mansion-house, in Waltham. The East Pre-

cinct was within ten years to locate their meeting-

house upou the southeast corner of Belmont and

Common Streets, upon School-house Hill, afterward

known as Meeting-house Hill. Both precincts

attempted to secure the old West meeting-house, but

to such a height had the dissension gone that both

failed. The West, therefore, bought the old meeting-

house of Newton for not over £80 and erected it upon

the appointed location, that of the present Waltham

church, and in 1723 Rev. Warham Williams was

settled as pastor, The East Precinct erected a new

building upon their location ii) 1723, and Mr. Gibbs

having died, Rev. Seth Storer was settled in • 1724
;

the old church records rem.iined with the East

Precinct. In 1754 they built a new house at the foot

of Common Street, corner of Mt. Auburn Street, and

in 1836 upon the present site.

The old West meeting-house was continued a while

as a separate Third Church, Robert Sturgeon acting

as pastor, for which he was indicted by the grand

jury and fined £20. Not long afterwards the build-

ing was demolished.

The Fihst Parish in Watertown.'—To the pan-

torate of Dr. Francis.—On the 30th day of July, 1630,

O. S., about forty men had assembled (probably in

the house of Sir Richard Saltonstall) in Watertown,

in the Colony of Massachusetts Bay. The object of

their gathering was the organization of the church

known to history as the First Parish Church in

Watertowu. The first name on the list of those

who subscribed to the covenant then adopted was

iBy EeT. Wm. H. Savage.
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that of Sir Richard Sallonstall. This is the cove-

nant to whicli they set their names

:

July 30, 16:10.

"We, whose natneti are hereto subscribed, liuviug, through Gud'a

tuercy, escaped out of the Pollutions of the world, & bnon tjikeu into the

Society of his Peojile, with all thaukfuluess do hereby both with heart

& hand acknowledge, that his graciouK goodness & fatherly care towardN

us; & for further A more full declaration thereof, to the present and

future ages, have *undei'takou (tor the promoting of his glory & the

Church's good, and the honor of our blessed Jesus, in our more full and

free subjecting of oui'selves & ours, under his gracious government, in

the practice of & obedience unto all his holy ordinances .t orders, which

lie hath pleat'od to prescribe and impose upon us) a long & Imzardouw

voyage from Kast to West, friun old Knglaud in Kiirope, to New lOnglaud

in America ; that we may walk before hiru, anil serve him wilbout fear

in holiness & righteousness, all the days of our lives, & being safely ar-

rived hero, and tlius far onwanls peaceably preserved by his spocml

providence, that wo may bring forth our intentions into actions, & per-

fect our resolutions, in the beginnings of some just and meet e.vecu-

tions ; we have separated the day above written from all other services,

and dedicated it wholly to the Lord in divine eniploymeuts, for a da.v of

atlUcting our souls, A humbling ourselves before the Lord, to seek him,

A: at his hands, a way to walk in, l)y fasting A: prayer, that we might

know what was good in his sight; and the Lord was iutreated of us.

For in the end of that day, after the linishing of our public (luties, we

do all, before we depart, solemnly A with all our hearts, personally,

man by man for oui-selvesjfc ours (charging them before Christ A his elect

angels, even them that are not here with us this day, or are yet unborn,

that they keep the promise unblainably and faithfully unto to the

Ooiuing of OUT Lord .lesns) promise, i^ enter into a sure covenant with

the Lord our God, & before him with one another, by oath & serious pro-

testation made to denounce all idolatry and superetition, will-woreUip,

all humane trrtditions .t inventions whatsoever in the worshijt of God,

& forsaking all evil ways, do give ourselves wholly unto the Lord

Jesus, to do him faithful service, observing & keeping all his statutes-

conmiauds & ordinances, in all matters concerning our reformation ; bis

worship, administrations, ministry Jc government ; & in the carriage ol

ourselves, among ourselves & one towards another, as he hath prescribed

in his holy word. Further swearing to cleave unto that alone, & the

true sense & meaning thereof to the utmost of our power, as unto the

most clear light .t infallible rule, & all-sufficient canon in all things

that concern us in this our way. In witness of all, we do ex auhtw, & in

the presence of God, hereto set our names or marks, in the day & year

above written."

That was the beginning of tlie First Church in

Watertown. Oyer the churcli thus founded George

Phillips was settled as minister, having for his rul-

ing elder " one Richard Browne."

The task of the present writer is to give in brief the

biographies of Mr. Phillips and his suoces.sors, with

such margin;il comment as the scope of the present

work will admit.

Before proceeding to such biographical notices it

is, however, fit that we should glance at some of the

personal elements that went to the making of the

First Church.

From the first day of its existence we may see

the working of tendencies that were prophetic of

all that has been notable in the history of tlie

organization. From the first the people of Water-

town were out of harmony with the idea of Church
and of State that gave shape to the Puritan Theocracy,

the ideas of government that found expression in

Wiiithrop and the Board of Assistants, and the

ideas of ecclesiastical exclusiveness and dogmatism

that found expression in the ministers of Boston.

Early in the year 1631 the Governor and his

assistants levied a tax of sixty pounds on the plantti-

tions, for the purposes of fortifying the Newtown
border.

When this action became known in Watertown,

Rev. George Phillips and Mr. Richard Browne, his

ruling elder, united in calling the pcojile together,

and when they had asseinblcil they were asked to

consider the fact that they had not been consulted

about the tax. Acting under the advice of their

leaders, the citizens refused to pay. The result of

this action on the part of Watertown was tliut the

proceedings of the Boston oligarchy came to a sudden

stop. Helbiv any further taxation was attempted, it

was ordered that " two of every plantation be appoint-

ed to confer with the Court about raising a public

stock." This was the origin of representative gov-

ernment on this continent. The lineal and legiti-

mate results of the action taken by the men of

Watertown in Ki'll came in the iSoston Tea Party,

the Declaration of Independence and the Constitu-

tion of the United States. The men who made their

homes on the Charles were the first on this conti-

nent to show that they appreciated the gravity of

what was taking place on these new shores and to

exercise that "eternal vigilance" without which no

people can keep its liberties.

In the organization and administration of the

church Mr. Phillips and Mr. Browne were no less

careful of the rights of the individual than they had

shown themselves in the ordering of civil affairs.

The covenant that was made the basis of their

church was remarkably free from the hair-splitting

dogmatism that has been the bane of the world's re-

ligious life. Its aim was to secure for the church

and for the individual the rights claimed by its sign-

ers as against the various forms of ecclesiastical hier-

achy, and not at all to bind them to any set of

doctrinal propositions. Mr. Phillips was a man of

broad and charitable spirit, very liberal in his theo-

logical opinions, and in his ideas of church govern-

ment a thorough independent. In this last matter

he was entirely at one with his parishioners. This

appears in the fact that when, in 1089, Mr. John

Knowles was settled as his colleague in the parish

he was set apart for the work of the ministry by the

Watertown Church. No council was called to assist

or to sanction their act. No other church was noti-

fied, and no minister.save their own had any part in

the service. This was the first clear assertion of

strict Congregationalism on this side of the ocean,

and established the claim of the Watertown Church

to have been tlie first Congreyational Church in this

country.

In the position he took and held, Mr. Phillips had

the countenance and sympathy of two men who
are entitled to loving and grateful remembrance.

One of these men was Richard Brown, who stood

with Mr. Phillips in his controversy with the Gen-
eral Court against taxation without representa-

tion, and the other was Sir Richard Saltonstall. Mr.
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Brown was » relatiou of Robert Brown, the founder

of the " Brownist " movemeut in Englnml. Before

coming to this couutry he hud been a rulorin a Separa-

idt tliarch in London, had there rendered important

services to peraeoiited Non-conformists. He seems

to have been a man of decided character, and of

no mean abilities a.t a tiiinljer and administrator of

public business. To the end of liis life lie retained

the confidence and the esteem of the people of

Watertown, and was honored by them witli many

olBcea of trust and responsibility. We have seen

that he wju quick to claim his right as a citizen,

when a tax was demanded of him. He had a merit

which is of a rarer sort—he was willing that other

men should have their rights in matters of opinion

and of worship. He opposed all persecution for

opinion's sake, and took the (then) e.xtreme ground

that " churches of Home were true churches.'' But

such radicalism could not then be tolerated, and

though Mr. I'hillips seems to have agreed with him,

Winthrop and Dudley, and others in power did not.

The usual result followed. Brown was deposed

from being elder, but his spirit remained in the

church, and in due time found itself in the majority.

Sir Richard Sallonstall, after he had helped to

found the church on the broad and generous plan

exemplified in the faith and conduct of its chosen

minister and elder, returned to England, where he

resided for the rest of his life. The sentiments he

entertained regarding the matter of religious liberty

were not such as to commend him to the favor of

those who were shaping the ]>iilicy of the Colony at

large, and he probably felt that a peaceful co-opera-

tion with them would not be possible for him. How
completely he was in sympathy with the leaders of

the Watertown church is revealed in a letter that

deserves a place in the remembrance of those who

trace their religious lineage to a source so high and

jiure.

This letter was addressed to the persecuting reli-

gionists of Boston :

" RevercDd & denre friends, whom T unfaynedly love & respect,—

" It doth not a little grieve my Bpiritto lieare what Sadd things are re-

ported dayly of your tyranny and pereeciition in New England, as That

yon fine, whip, A imprison men for tlluir consciences;—First, yon com-

pel suoU to come into yonr assemblys as yon know will not Joyne with

yon in your worship. Si when they show their dislike thereof, or witness

ftguiost it. Then you styrre np yonr magistrates to punish them for such

(as you couceyve) their pubiioko affronts. Truly, friends, this your

practice of compelling any in matters of worship to doe that whereof

they are not fully ptrsnaded, Is to make them sin, for soe the Apostle

(Rom. H A %'>), tells us, & many arc made hypocrites Thereby, conform-

ing in their outward man for fcare of pntiishinent. We who pray for you,

J: wish you prosporitie every way, hoped the Lord would have given you

0 much light A love there, tliat you might have been eyes to God's j>co-

pto here; and not to practice those courses in a wilderness which you

came s > farre toproveut. These rigid ways have layed you very lowe

In the hearts of the saynts. ;I doe assure you I have heard them
pniy iu the publi<)ue assemblies That the Lord would give you meke
and humble spirits, not to strive so much for uniformity as to keepe

ttie unity of the spirit in the bond of peace.

" When I was iu Holland, about the bcgitming of the warres, I re-

member some Christians there, that then had serious thoughts of plant-

iog in New Euglaoi], deeired me to wriln to the governor thereof, to

know if tboe« tliat differ from you In opinion, yet boulding the same

foundation In religion, as Anabaptists, Seekers, Antinomians, .t the

like, might be permitted to live among you, to which I receivf<l this

short answer from your then Governor—Mr. Dudley—God folbid, (said

he) our love fortlie truth should be grown soe could That wo should tol-

erate ermurs ; .t when (for satisfaction of myself A others) I desired to

know your grounds, lie referred mo to the books written here, between

the I'rosbyterians A Independents, which, if that had been sufllcient, I

needed not to have sent so farre to understand the reasons of your prac-

tice. I hope you do not assume to yourselves iufallibilitle ofjudgment,

when the most learned of the .Vpostles confosselh he knew but in parts,

.S saw but darkeley as through a glass, for God is light, A no further

thau he doth illumine us can we see, ho our partes A learning never so

groat. Oh that all those who are brethren, though yet they cannot

thinko A speake the same things, might be of one accord in the Lord,

Now the God of patience and consolation grant you to be thus mynded

towartls uno another, after the example of Jesus Christ our blessed

Savyor, in whose everlasting armes of protection liee loavesyou who will

never leave to be
" Vour truly A much affectionate friend, iu the nearest union,

" Itic: Saltonbtall."

*' For my reverend A worthyly much esteemed friends, Mr.

Cotton A Mr. Wilson, preachers to the Church wtiich is at

Boston, in New England, give this
—

"

Over the church founded by such men in the

spirit of devotion and self-sacrifice that characterized

the Puritan movement, and in a spirit of enlight-

ened liberality so far in advance of the Puritan age,

was set, as we have seen, a man eminently fitted for

the post of leadership.

Mr. George Phillips was born at Raymond, in

the county of Norfolk (Savage says " at Rainham,

St. Martin's, Norfolk"), England. He gave early

evidence of uncommon talents and love of learning,

and at the University (probably Cambridge) dis-

tinguished himself by remarkable progress in his

studies and developed a special fondness for theology.

He settled at Boxstead, in Suffolk, and soon became

suspected of a tendency to Non-conformity. As the

troubles of the time incieased, Mr. Phillips resolved

to join his fortunes with the Puritans who were

about to depart for New England. He arrived

early in the year 1630, and soon after lost his wife,

who died at Salem. Presently, in company with
" that excellent Knight, Sir Richard Saltonstall,"

and " other Christians, having chosen a place upon

Charles river for a town, which they called Water-

town, they resolved that they would combine into a

churcJi-fillowahip as their /('rs^ viork; and build the house

of God before they could build many homes for

themselves." In his office as minister of the Water-

town Parish, Mr. Phillips was eminently faithful

and successful. A man of firmness and independence

in thought and in conduct, he was capable of main-

taining his views with ample learning, and a vigorous

and convincing logic. Though, in several respects

in advance of his time, the nobility of his character,

the candor and courtesy of his manner and the force

of his mind secured and kept the confidence and

respect of his fellow-citizens. He died on the 1st

of July, 1644, lamented not only by his parish-

ioners, but by the Colony at large. As the founder

of representative government in America, he should
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have a statue erected to his memory in the town to

wliieh he gave his life.

It was the custom of early New Eugland for each

church to liave two ministers—one as pastor anil the

other as teacher.

Until 1039 Mr. Phillips was sole minister. lu tiiat

year Mr. John Knowles, "a godly man and a prime

scholar,'' arrived in New England, and on the 19th of

December he was ordained second pastor, in con-

nection with Mr. Phillips. By departing from the

common iLsage of i>astor and teacher, the church put

its theory of independency into practice, and, by or-

daining a man who had never been a minister, or-

daiuing him by their own act, without notice given

to the magistrates, without co-operation or consent of

any minister save their own, the peo|)le declared that

they took their Christian liberty in sober, practical

earnest. Mr. Knowles seems to have been a man of

very liberal views ; in church government an inde-

pendent, and in his broad charity of doctrine a man to

delight " that good Knight, Sir Richard Saltonstall.''

In 1042 he went with Mr. Thompson, of Braintree,

on a missionary voyage to Virginia, but, finding

things there in no condition to warrant much hope of

good, lie presently returned to Watertovvn and re-

sumed his pastoral relation with the church.

This relation he retained for six years after Mr.

Phillips' death, when in 1650 he returned to England.

Making his home in London, he continued to preach

in spite of persecutions until he died at a very ad-

vanced age in 1085.

According to Dr. Francis, " Mr. Phillips' successor

in the ministry at Watertown was the Rev. John

Sherman." By some Mr. Sherman is said to have

begun his pastoral work in 1047, but there is no cer-

tain proof from the records of his having been in

office before 1G48. His relation to Mr. Knowles, who
was here until 1650, is not definitely settled.

Mr. Sherman was born December 26, 1013, in Ded-

ham, in the county of Essex, England. In his home,

and under the preaching of the celebrated John Rog-

ers, the friend and counselor of George Phillips, he

received deep and permanent religious impressions.

In school he was studious and dutiful—once only he

was chastised, on which occasion his otfence was that

he gave " the heads of sermons to his idle school mates,

when an accountthereof was demanded from them"

—

an offence which no modern boy could well be guilty

of

In due time he became a student at Emanuel Col-

lege, Cambridge, but failed to receive his degree be-

cause be refused to make the required subscription.

As he was then not more than twenty years of age,

his behavior revealed not only an early maturity of

thought, but an equal development of honesty and

self-respect. He acted with like decision when it

came to the choice of his theatre of action in life, for

when he was but twenty-one years old we find him in

New England. That was in 1634. In that year he

preached at Watertown as assistant to Mr. Phillips

for a few weeks. Mather informs us that his lirst dis-

course was on a Thanksgiving Day, when a meeling

was held under a tree in the open air. Several clergy-

men who were present " wondered exceedingly

"

when they heard so young a man speak with such

learning and good judgment.

Soon after this he removed to New Haven, and was
invited to settle in that region. Declining to do so,

he was chosen .is one of the magistrates of the Colony ;

bu( being invited to return to Watertown to lake the

place left vacant by the death of Mr. Phillips, he laid

down his office and came back to the banks of the

Charles.

Here he fullyjustified the h'gh reputation he had

made before his departure. He was chosen fellow of

Harvard College, and besides the services rendered to

that institution in his official capacity, he continued

for thirty years to give fortnightly lectures, which

were attended by the students, who walkid from Cam-
bridge to Watertown to hear him. His reputation for

scholarship extended far and wide. A "skill in

tongues and arts," says Mather, " beyond the common,

rate adorned him."

His favorite studies were, however, mathematical

and astronomical, and in these departments he had

no peer in the western world.

In his leisure he made almanacs, in which he set

down moral and religious maxims good for all meri-

dians and all years.

His style of discourse is said to have been full and

rich. His mind was his library, and he could speak

freely and accurately without the help of nianuscri[)t

or even the briefest notes.

In private he was sparing of speech. In council

he was clear and weighty. In all relations of life

dignified and courteous. His last discourse was

marked by a richness of thought and energy of lan-

guage that filled his hearers with admiration. He
was seized with his last illness at Sudbury, where he

had gone to preach, but rallied sufficiently to be able

to reach his own house in Watertown, where he died

on the 8th of August, 1685, at the age of seventy-two.

Mr. Sherman was twice married—six children were

born to him in his first marriage, and twenty in his

second.

On the 24th of August, 1685, a little more than two

weeks after the death of Mr. Sherman, a committee

was chosen at a town-meeting to treat with " Mr.
Bailey, the elder," on the subject of settling in the

ministry at Watertown. Mr. Bailey was at that time

residing in Boston, and a committee was sent to him
requesting him to meet the assembled people and

give them an opportunity " to discourse a little with

him." At a conference held in accordance with this

proposal, he expressed himself willing to become
their minister " if peace and love should continue

.amongst them, and they would make his life com-
fortable."
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Ill Augii^i. i<)^'>. ai .. I,- ue's' town-meeting," a

chII wax iHSued in due Corm. This tall Mr. Bailey ac-

cepted, iiiid on the ("th of October he was " solemnly

»ct apart tor pa.ttornl work at Watortown, without

the impvii/ioii ol' hands."

John liailey was burn near lllackburn. In Jyanoa-

ghirc, England, on the 24th of February, l(i44. His

mother was a woman of deep and earnest relipious

spirit, and under her influence the boy became early

inibueil willi '' a serious sense of Goil and religion."

His father was a man of licentious habits, and in his

absence the young .Iidin conducted the devotions of

the family, until his example so admonished and af-

fected his parent that he broke o(V his evil ways and

became an exemplary Christian.

Having received a good education, young Bailey

began to preach at the age of twenty-two. His first

charge was at Ohe.ster. The principal field of his

labor in the old country was, however, in Limerick,

Ireland, where he was preacher in the Abbey Church.

He devoted himself to his work with such zeal and

constancy that at the end of his fourteen years of ser-

vice his health was .seriously broken. This result

was, probably, hastened by the vexation and impris-

onment that he suffered for his non-conformity in

church matters. He had shown himself to have the

qualities of influence and leadership to such a

degree that he was worth winning over to the Estab-

lishment, and before attempting to silence him, the

Lord Lieutenant attempted to buy him with promises

of preferment. But Bailey was not for sale, and so

went to prison. He was liberated, after something

like a year, on his promise to go beyond seas. Id

fulfilment of this agreement, he came to Boston, and

was for a time assistant minister at the Old South

Church.

In the old book in which he kept a record of his

ministry in Limerick, he gives an account of the

last Sacrament which he observed there with his

friends, under date of January 13, 1683-84. Imme-
diately beneath this entry, and under date of October

t>, 1G8G, is a brief account of his settlement in Water-

town. Here he remained until 1(!',I2, doing his work

with a zeal and fidelity that sorely overtaxed his fail-

ing strength. For a short time he had as colleague

his brother, Mr. Thomas Bailey, an amiable and ex-

cellent man, who died in January, 1G88, aged thirty-

five years and was interred in the old burying-groiind.

In 1691 Mr. Bailey was deeply aillicled by the death

of his wife, and with this event his work as minister

in Watertown was virtually ended. A single entry

in his book records a baptism on May 31, 1691, about
a month after the death of his wife, and with this his

quaint farewell to his people and the town that had
been his home. The diary of a brother minister hints

at the reason for his removal in these words—" Then,
being very melancholy and having the gout, he moved
to Boston."

" The distinguished traits ofMr. Bailey's character,"

says Dr. Francis, " were ardent piety, great tender-

ness of conscience, and an absorbing interest in the

spiritual welfare of his fellow-men." The records he

has left show that he was much given to melancholy,

and to the sort of severe self-judgment to which the

religion of the time inclined men. " If he had been

at any time," says Mather, " innocently cheerful in

the company of his friends, it cost him afterward

abundance of sad reflection." Judging from the

specimens left in his book, his sermons must have

been addressed to the feelings, rather than to the in-

tellects of his audiences. He was evidently a pleasing

and popular preacher, for he records that on the2i)th

of November, 1687, there were in the church many
"from Dedham, Wooburn, Barnstable, Cambridge,

Old Church in Boston, & Y° New Church in Boston,

Cambridge Village, Concord, Dorchester, Roxbury,

Newbury, Charlestown, Weymouth, etc. Y^" text was

in Col ii: 11."

Mr. Bailey was much sought for as a preacher in

the adjoining towns, and one of his hearers who once

heard him in Boston, has left on record his impres-

sion in the words, "I thought he spake like an

angel."

After his return to Boston, Mr. Bailey acted as as-

sistant minister in the First Church, when he was not

too ill for work, holding his office until December 12,

1697, when he died in the fifty-fourth year of his age.

In his record-book, under date of April 27, 1690,

Mr. Bailey writes :
" I admitted " (to the church)

" Mr. Henry (iibbs, who has sometimes preached for

me, and now this quarter of a year has lived with me."

On the 14ih of October, in the same year, the town

voted " to make choice of a help to carry on the work

of the ministry amongst u.s, in this our great need."

At the same meeting it was voted " to treat with Mr.

Henry Gibbs," and to give him forty pounds. These

measures indicate that Mr. Gibbs was at this time

engaged to act as Mr. Bailey's assistant, the latter be-

ing unable, on account of ill-health, to attend regu-

larly to his duties. To this position the young man
was most heartily welcomed by his elder, who enter-

tained for him a very tender regard. When Mr.

Bailey removed to Boston, Mr. Gibbs was left the only

minister in the town. He had not been ordained, but

continued to act as minister to the society, his engage-

ment being renewed from time to time. During the

larger part of his life, the town was greatly disturbed

and divided by the coutroversy that arose over the

question of locating the meeting-house in such a way
as to accommodate the people. For a time a second

society existed, having a minister of its own, and a

meeting-house in which services were held. It being

found impossible to harmonize the discordant ele-

ments, Mr. Gibbs was finally ordained, October 6,

1697. "This was done in the afternoon in the open

air, though a cold day. The Western party, having

the selectmen on their side, got possession of the

meeting-house, and would not suffer the assembly to
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enter there." In 1719, the Kev. .Siiiiiuel Angier, min-

ister of " the Western Party,'' died, and after several

years more of controversy, a part of his eonstituen<'y

were set off to form the town of Waltliani, and tlie

rest gradually became identified either with the old

or the new town.

The Rev. Henry Gibbs was born in Boston, and

was graduated at Harvard College in 168-5. His

father, 5Ir. Robert Gibbs, was a Boston merchant, of

large property, and of considerable distinction. The

position of minister in Watertown during the years of

controversy must have been one to tax both the

wisdom and the patience of the incumbent, but Mr.

Gibbs seems to have met the demands of the time

with singultir firmness, jirudence and good sense, and

to have been held in high respect by all the inhabit-

ants of the town. This fact alone is eloquent in his

praise. Many a man who has gone to the stake with

unshaken courage, would have broken down under

the strain of twenty-seven years of angry debate

and iiett}' neighborhood jealousies. That Mr. Gibbs

was able to bear such a trial, and all the while to " do

justly and love mercy," entitles him to rank with Job

on the roll of the world's wortlries.

His power to keep his head in a time of general

madness finds another illustration in the fact that

he seems to have stood aloof from the mob that

hounded the Halem witches to their miserable fate.

Under date of May 31, 1692, he records the fact that

he was in Salem, observing the trials, and he says:

" Wondered at what I saw, but how to judge and con-

clude I was at a loss ; to affect ray heart, and to induce

me to more care and concernedness about myself

and others is the use I should make of it."

" Mr. Gibbs," says Francis, " was a benefactor both to

his church and to the college. In his will, which was

proved November 11, 1723, he made the following

bequest, part of which still constitutes a portion of

what is called The Ministerial Fund: ' I do give and

bequeath to the Eastern Church of Christ in Water-

town, to which I have borne a pastoral relation, for

the encouragement of the gospel ministry there, my
four acres of pasture land and three acres of marsh,

situate in the East end of said town, for the use of the

said church forever. And I do give to said church my
silver bowl with a foot.'

"His bequest to the college he devised in the fol-

lowing terms :
' And further it is my will, that

within ten years after my youngest child comes of

age, an hundred pounds be paid by my heirs for

the use of the Harvard College, forty pounds thereof

by my son, and twenty pounds apiece by my
daughters ; the yearly interests to be exhibited to

such members 3f the college as need it, firstly to my
children's posterity if they desire it.'

"

As a writer, Mr. Gibba w.as natural and direct-

His words were those of an honest man, who desired

to do good. He died on the 21st day of October,

1723, in the fifty-sixth year of his age and the

Iwenty-seventli year of his ministry, lie was buried

in the old grave-yard at Watertown.

Mr. Gibbs was succeeded in the ministry of 'he

Eastern Parish by the Rev. Seth Storer, who was or-

dained July 22, 1724. There is no record of the pro-

ceedings that attended his settlement on the books of

the to wn, since the transaction concerned only the East-

ern Precinct. In fact, there is not, so far as is known,
any record in existenceof the particulars of his life or

ministry. He inherited the controversy that began
in the time of Mr. Gibbs, between " The Western
party " and the old parish, and experienced, doubt-

less, his share of the discomfort arising during its pro-

gress and settlement.

There were many other distracting incidents aris-

ing during the growth of the town, and out of its re-

lations to the authorities in Boston, but it is believed

that the minister of the First i'arish bore his part in

these matters with patience and wisdom. His term

of service was the longest in the historyof the town

—

over fifty years. He died on the 27th day of Novem-
ber, 1774, in the seventy-third year of bis age. He was
a native of Saco, Maine, where he was born May 27,

1702. He graduated at Harvard College in 1720, at

the age of eighteen. His father was Colonel Joseph

Storer, of Wells, Maine, a man who won considerable

distinction in the Indian wars. As indicating the

conditions amid which his childhood was passed, we
may note the fact that he had a sister Mary, who was

carried away by the Indians as a captive, and was
brought up near Montreal. Dr. Francis relates that

in his time there were still living a few who could

remember Mr. Storer in his old age, and they reported

that he was much loved by young people and
children. This fact he justly regards as an evidence

of the simplicity and goodness of his character. He
never, as far as is known, published any production

ofhispen. He took no part in the theological strife

of his time, but lived the friend and helper of his

neighbors and died lamented by those who had known
him to love and respect him.

For three years after the death of Mr. Storer the

pulpit of the First Parish Church remained unoccu-

pied by a settled minister. This was probably owing

to the excitement and confusion of the time which

saw the opening of the Revolutionary War. The
pulpit was filled by temporary supply, as circum-

stances and the inclinations of the people directed.

There was use for the church, however, at this time,

not contemplated by those who built it, though it was
precisely such use as was forecast by the action of

George Phillips and Richard Browne, in 1631. The
Second Provincial Congress was suddenly summoned
to meet at Concord, April 22, 1775, but immediately

adjourned to meet at Watertown. Here the Congress

assembled, during the remainder of the session, in the

meeting-house. Jolin Hancock having been chosen

delegate to the Continental Congress at Philadelphia,

Joseph Warren presided over the deliberations. The



332 HISTORY <>F ^fT^pr,ESEX COUNTY, M XSSAnnt'SETTS.

tliird iiii.l hust I'roviucial Congress ;il=u met iit Water-

town on Miiy M*t. The nensions were held in the

meeting-houae iw hefore. Josepli Warren was again

chosen president, and Samuel Freeman, Jr., secretary.

The Uev. Mr. Langdon, president of Harvard College,

preached a sermon before the body. The session

lasted nntil the l!Hh of .Inly. (3n the 2tJth of July

the meeting-house was again in use for the assem-

bling of the General Court of the Colony. Subse-

quently the Boston town-meetings were lieUl hcie,

and in 177t! the anniversary of the 5lh of March was

observed by the people of Boston in the meeting-

house in Waterlown.

It was not till November, 1777, that any movement

was made toward the settlement of a minister. At

that time it was voted unanimously to concur with

the town in the choice of Mr. Daniel Adams. He ac-

cepted the invitation to the pastorate, and was or-

dained on the 2yth of April, 1778. The Kev. Mr.

Prentiss, of Medtield, preaehed the ordination ser-

mon, and the Rev. Dr. Appleton, of Cambridge,

delivered the charge.

The settlement of'Mr. Adams was regarded by the

people as adequate cause for rejoicing, and the bright-

est anticipations were apparently about to be realized,

when the town was plunged in grief by the sudden

death of it< chosen leader. In the August following

his ordination Mr. Adams was seized with a violent

illness, and, after lingering for six weeks, expired on

the IGth of September, in the thirty-third year of his

Hge.

He was the son of Elisha Adams, of Medway, where

he was born in 1746. His ancestor, Henry Adams,

came from Devonshire, England, and seltled in Brain-

tree (now Quincy) in 1030. He was graduated from

Harvard College in 1774, and immediately began the

study of theology under the tuition of approved schol-

ars and preachers, as the custom then was.

As a preacher he was received with marked favor,

and his services were desired by several churches. In

the brief term of his pastorate in Watertown he won

the respect of his people by the virtues of his charac-

ter, and commanded their admiration as a preacher.

After the death of Mr. -Vdams the pulpit was filled

by various preachers, employed for various terms of

service, by a committee of the church, until the 13tli

of March, 1780, when a meeting was called to con-

sider the calling of a pastor. Mr. Richard Rosewell

Eliot, who had preached for the society during the

preceding winter, was chosen by a unanimous vote.

He accepted the invitation, and was ordained June

21, 1780. Dr. Francis records the fact that the town

appropriated £1800 to defray the expenses of the

ordination. What sort of festivities were indulged

in is not matter of record. We may infer the condi-

tion of the currency, however, from the sum named.

The period covered by the pastorate of Mr. Eliot

saw the successful termination of the National strug-

gle for independence, and the exciting aud critical

debates that rtv*ulied in tlie adoption of the Constitu-

tion. It was a time of hardship and of trial. The

financial and indu.strial confusion of one great war

were soon succeeded by the business stagnation inci-

dent to another, and there are indications that the

Watertown parish and its minister had their share in

the troubles and depressions of the time.

Mr. Eliot died on the 21 st of October, 1818. He
was sixty-six years old and had been for more than

thirty-eight years the minister of the First Parish.

He was descended in direct line from John Eliot, the

apostle to the Indians, and w.as born at New Haven,

Connecticut, October 8, 1752. He was graduated at

Harvard in 1774. and was a class-mate of Mr. Adams,

his predecessor in Watertown. In his early manhood

he gained much reputation as an orator, but for the

larger part of his life his health was poor and his

strength was inadequate to the full exercise of his na-

tive gifts. As a preacher, he was graceful and pleas-

ing in manner, and his doctrinal views were of the

milder and more benevolent type. His virtues were

such as fitted him to shine in the quiet walks of a

life of piety and beneficence.

SlIPl'l.EJlENTAKY HlSTOKY OF THE FiRST PARISH.'

—Rev. Mr. Eliot's successor was Dr. Convers Francis,

the last minister hired by the town. He had preached

occasionally during the winter after the death of Mr.

Eliot, and on the 12th of April following (181!)), the

town concurred with the church in the invitation,

and ottered him a salary of one thousand dollars and

a settlement of the same sum. The ordination took

place on the 23d of June, in the old meeting-house,

a plan of which we give later, that stood near the

corner of Mt. Auburn and Common Streets, in what

is now the cemetery, and where his remains and those

of his wife now rest.

Dr. Osgood presided at the council, and one might

expect some disputation at this time, when the doc-

trines which were soon developed by the Unitarian

controversy l)egan to be differentiated ;
" but every-

thing went ofl' without an infraction of the peace."

Rev. Mr. Lowell made the first prayer, Dr. Osgood

preached the sermon. President Kirkland made the

consecrating prayer. Dr. Ripley, of Concord, gave the

charge. Rev. Mr. Palfrey gave the right hand of fel-

lowship, and the Rev. Mr. Ripley, of Waltham, made

the concluding prayer: " God grant that my ministry

in this town may be a long, a happy and a useful

one, and that many may have reason to bless the day

when my union with this people was formed.'' The

ministry was a long, and, in many respects, a happy

and a useful one. There are those still living whose

childhood reaches back to that time.

Converse Francis was devoted to the ministry to

which he was called. " But his record upon earth is

blotted with the clouds of his humility and self-

depreciation. There never was a man of such various

» By Solon r. Whituey.
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learning, delightful converse and refined philosophy,

so iibsolutely unconcious of a personality. It seems

at fust as if more self-esteem would have enhanced

his powers." In 1821 he says in a little diary, "God
fori^ive me that, when speakinj;: on the most import-

ant subjects, 1 am so cold and iiidill'erent." "My
mind is filled and pressed with anxious thoughts."

He felt depressed that he could not lift the people to

the level of his glowing thought. His quiet life in

Watertown was made eventl'ul by thoughts and books.

He wrote the life of Eliot, the apostle to the Indians,

for Sparks' " American Biography." A thousand or

more of his manuscript sermons, now in the Public

Library of this town, testify to his industry and his

interest in his people. The classic writers of Greece

and Rome were often in his hands. The literature of

France and Germany presented no barriers by their

strange tongues. His library, a part of which is now

the property of the town, gathered from all nations,

shows his omnivorous reading. He was es|)ecially

interested in the history of the past, the history of

his own town and parish, as his history of Watertown

and his historical addresses testify. He was an active

member of the Massachusetts Historical Society and

the New England Historic Genealogical Society, and,

by his collections of materitils and his substantial

contributions, showed that not only in the Bible, and

in Bible history, but in all history he believed the

thought of God could be traced dealings with his

people.

He was something of a seer. When Emerson was

covered with a cloud of obloquy, and even he could

not agree with his remarks on some points, he says,

'' The more I see of this beautiful spirit, the more 1

revere ana love him; such a calm, steady, simple

soul, always looking for truth and living in wisdom

and in love for man and goodness." Plato was also

a bond between them.

He made (March 28, 1837) some remarks on art, in

speaking of the destruction of his old church :
" In

passing the site of our old meeting-house, I observed

that to-day the last remains had been leveled with

the ground. The old spire came down, the cock

bowed his head to the dust" (it is now perched on

the Methodist spire in the village) "after having

stood manfully up amidst the winds of heaven.

There is an interest attached to the humblest ftirms

in which the genius of man makes itself apparent in

outward shapes, however rude. Every church, every

dwelling-house, every utensil we use in domestic life,

every garment we wear, is a fragment in the great

world of art, which has been building up ever since

Adam. The individual forms and manifestations

vanish, but art is ever reappearing. I believe, after

all, I can never love my new church as I did the old

one; it had been consecrated by years of prayer and
instruction

;
generations had come and gone, and had

sought God and truth within its walls; old men were

there, with their gray hairs, who.ie infant fronts had

been touched with the water of baptism at that

altar."

This is not the place to present his peculiar doc-

trines, or to present arguments in favor of liis sound-

ness in wisdom, or his success in reaching the truth.

The times were fertile in ideas and new organiza-

tions. New England was in labor. Whether the olf-

spring of that day will help to bring on the millen-

nium or not it is not the province of the historian to

discuss. That the as])erity of the controversies which

began in those times is somewhat changed for the

better, and that it found no occjision for being in

Doctor Francis' mild, ([uiet, studious, loving life, there

are many yet to testify.

There is in the Public Library a delightful portrait

of Doctor Francis in middle life, painted by Alexan-

der, a noted Boston artist, and given by his daughter

Abby a few months l)elore her last sickness, the same

time as when she entrusted to the same keeping the

collection of his written sermons, that they might be

near where they were produced, and perhaps where

they would find the children of those to whom they

were pre.ached, who might, for their fathers' and

motheri?' sakes, like somglimes to test the earnestness

and purity of heart with which they were written.

Whether the people of the town would be better

served, would be more highly blessed, by the minis-

trations of the church, if all the differences of opinion

and of sentiment that now divides it into so many
societie.", with such sharp lines of doctrine, could be

obliterated and all return into one fold, with one

shepherd, as uuder the former ministers in the town

church, or not, we will not attempt to answer.

As this period of Dr. Francis' long ministry (twen-

ty-three years), which ended only with his accept-

ance of the important Professorship of Pulpit Elo-

quence in the Divinity School of Harvard University

in the summer of 1842, was the last one in which the

town was united, we may find it pleasant to stop a

moment to look it over.

We hoped to present an elevation of the old meet-

ing-house, which was built, in 175.5, enlarged in 1819,

and demolished in 1836. We must be content with

Apian of the sealing of the church as it is remem-

bered by some of the old people who are still living.

This plan was drawn by Charles Brigham, archi-

tect, at the suggestion of Dr. Alfred Hosmer, presi-

dent of the Historical Society of Watertown, and is

the result of a large amount of labor and careful

comparison of testimony. Here in the building thus

represented were held all town-meetings.

The second Provincial Congress having assembled

in Concord, on the 22d of April, 1775, adjourned to

this house the same day ; the third Provincial Con-

gress assembled here May 31st, and remained in ses-

sion until July 19, 1775.

This house was immediately occupied by the Gen-

ral Court, or Assembly of the Colony, until they ad-

journed to the State-House, in Boston. It was again
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occupied by the Oeneral Court, in UbS, during the

prevalence of Miiiall-|)ux in Boston.

This druwing shows a phin of the old meeting-

hoisso U8 it was when last used as a place of worship,

in IS.JCJ. It stood in what is now a burial-ground, on

the corner of Xlt. Auburn and Common Streets. The

names are of persons who are now known to have

been pew-holders, or to have had siltinsrs.

We wish the time and space allowed us would now

allow us to give a short historical sketch of each )>er-

son whose name is included in this signilieant plan.

We cannot do better than present some reminiscences,

from a member of the Historical Society, of

TiiK Oli> MKKTiNii-Horsi:.'—The old meeting-

house, so truthfully sketched by JMr. Brigham,

has a greater interest for the towns-man of to-

day than could possibly belong to any rhiirc/i

edifice of the present time, similarly reproduced a

century or two hence. The modern structure would

only represent the particular occupants thereof, and

their peculiar trait.s, whereas the one now under

consideration has a secular, as well as a religious

history. Throughout its entire existence it was the

only place where the town-meetings were held, and

that elliptically enclosed space below the pulpit, de

signed for the dispensation of church ordinances, was

also the forum where the edicts of the town were

uttered and recorded.

In this place the moderator rehearsed the usual

" Articles " of the " Warrant '' in their order with the

conventionally reiterated phrases of " To see," " To

know" and " Act thereon," so familiar to everybody

nowadays. The people have not always received a

printed copy of this document at their doors—

a

written copy was posted in a glass-covered case at

the front door of the meeting-house, for the prescribed

number of days. And where also every man, young

or old, before he could take to his home, in lawful

wedlock, the partner of his bosom, must have his

intentions to do so, " published" over the signature

of the town clerk during three successive Sundays.

The town-reports also were not published, and could

be consulted only by a resort to the records of the

town clerk.

In the earlier days of the old meeting-house the

town and the parish were an involuntary co-partner-

ship—the minister was called the "minister of the

town." An inhabitant belonged to the parish, noletu

volens—and in a more chattel sense than was

agreeable to an inconsiderable minority of persons.

A tax-payer might abstain from its teachings, but

there were only two ways of escape from contributing

to its support—either to move away, or die, before the

1st day of May. Afterward the law was so modified

that scruples could be relieved by " signing off" (as it

was called) to some other specified parish. And still

later on, all persons were exempted from involuntary

1 By Joebua Coolidge, Esq.

taxalion for religious purposes. This was the final

sundering of church and state in Massachusetts.

Selfish ends have been attained often by shrewd

foresight and sharp practice. The clustering mem-

ories of the old Mieeting-house call up a transaction

which, in the attending squabble, and the eminent

counsel engaged, had at the time all the importance

of a " cause celebre."

Property belonging to the town had been set apart,

by an act of incorporation, for the support of the

" Minister of the Town."

About fifty years ago, when the population had in-

creased, and new parishes had been formed, a major-

ity of the inhabitants petitioned the Legislature that

the act of incorporation might be so changed that the

incomeof the " ministerial fund," so-called, would re-

vert to the treasury of the town.

The contention then was that, as the ministry of

the town had become a subdivided function, the town

provender should be correspondingly distributed, or

else remain in the granari/. Moreover, the " Minister

of the Town," municip;illy, no longer existed—and

casuists queried whether the " ministerial fund," also,

had not lapsed with the beneficiary. The petition

was argued, pro and con, by eminenc counsel, before

a committee of the Legislature, who reported leave to

withdraw, on account, as was said, of the troublesome

precedent of disturbing old vested rights and inter-

ests—some captious persons have pretended to descry

a similar paradox in this case to that of the old jack-

knife that claimed identity with one that had a new

blade, and a new handle.

The particular topic to which my random recollec-

tions were invited was a Sunday in the old " Meet-

ing-house." I have made a prelude of its week-day

history, whiv'h in its entirety would comprise a his-

tory of town afl'airs for a century, the later years of

which will not much longer be rehearsed by eye-wit-

nesses. My own experience in the Sunday services

of the old meeting-house occurred in its latter days,

now more than three-score years ago, when, and

where, for a short time, in my early 'teens, I took part

in the instrumental accompaniment to the church

choir. The associations and personal friendships of

those days have been unavoidably interrupted, but

they will be remembered as long as the faculty for so

doing remains.

The especial object of interest in the Sunday ser-

vice is the occupant of the pulpit, and to which ob-

ject all other arrangements are incidental and tribu-

tary. The incumbent under our notice, the late Rev.

Convers Francis, D.D., was a man of medium height

and stocky build, made apparently more so when in

the pul|)it, by the ample folds of his silken robe.

Under the canopy of the great broad sounding-board,

which, by its seemingly slender hanging, menanced

whoever stood beneath it with probable deetruction,

he unaffectedly delivered his always carefully written

sermons, a large collection, of which, in their origi-
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nal manuscript, are in tlie custofly of the Free Public

Library.

It seemed strange that one so amply endowed with

exuberance of thought and fluency of speech never

indulged in extemporaneous discourse in the pulpit.

He could "reason of fate, foreknowledge and free-

will," "from rosy iuorn till dewy eve," without note

or break, and for conversation needed only a listener

to make the onflow continuous. He did not att'ect

those graces of oratory that are exemplied by gestic-

ulation, his emotion never found vent through his

arms, nor did he ever attempt to make a point clearer

by laying one foie-finger upon the other. His con-

victions might have been shaken by argument, but

they could not have been burned out of him with

fire. His contempt for all 'isms and 'ologies other

than his own was never disguised by any blandish-

ments of demeanor.

He was equally vigorous in body and mind—books

were as essential to his existence as bread, and were

he required to dispense with either, he would have

experimented up to the starvation point, at least,

u[)on a diet of books alone. Many of those he read

became much enlarged by his annotations upon the

fly-leaves and margins—sentences would be under-

lined—exclamation and interrogation points sprin-

kled in—and in the margins would be found the

" pshaws," or " bahs," or " boshes," or other forcible

expressions, according to the intensity of his agree-

ment or dissent. A great university of learning, to

him, was more worthy of reverence than almost any

other human achievement. He made frequent visits

on foot to Cambridge, where he was ultimately called

to a professorship. This was bis Mecca, and before

whose shrine he passed the remainder of his days.

I occasionally met him in the vicinity of the college,

when he always stopped for a friendly chat about

affiiirs in Watertown, and the current topics of the

day—especially of the anti-slavery movement, which

was then at full tide—in which be took a deep inter-

est, and for tlie noted advocates of which he had great

admiration. The conservatism of his former years

had melted away, and a wider field had been opened

to his views and his desires. Mr. Brigham has given

us a sketch of the pews and the names of their occu-

pants also, with .ill the correctness of a sun-picture;

but the history of a " Sunday service " would be lack-

ing without the mention of an occurrence which was

frequently repeated, and which in any worshipping

assembly of to-<lay would be a startling shock to the

prevailing sense of propriety.

It was the custom to turn up the hinged seats in

the pews in order to make room. At the close of the

standing services they would come down with a whang
and a clatter closely resembling the report of a vol-

ley of musketry by an undrilled company of militia;

yet the devotional demeanor of the occasion was not

disturbed, either in the pulpit or in the pews. In

our sketch personal allusions are precluded through

fears both of forgetfulness and seeming invidiousness.

But there was one more, at le.'ust, who was part and

parcel of our theme. He had a place in the front

centre of the singing-gallery, where he accompanie<l

the choir upon the 'cello. The sexton and the bell

were no more imnotually present in their vocation

than was Col. Thomas Learned. He lived in a house,

the site of which is now occupied by the house l)f

Mr. Charles Q. Pierce—from which, twice every Sun-

day, he could be seen with his instrument of music

under his arm, wending his way to ihe church. And
during the tolling of the " last bell " he was occupied

with "tuning up," and the mingling of the soft con-

cordant sounds were a more fitting and pleasurable

prelude to the succeeding exercises than the preten-

tious hullabaloo now sometimes inflicted as a " vol-

untary." He was also self-appointing tithinginan

whenever the need existed—sometimes he would pro-

ceed to the vicinity of a group of disorderly boys in

the " free-seats," and either push them apart and seat

himself among them or else take the biggest rogue by

the collar and lead him back to his own seat in the

choir.

The attraction as well as the edifying influences of

the singing service were as well understood and appre-

ciated in thos.3 days as at present. If there were i)er-

sons who were inditt'erent, to say the lea.st, to their

own spiritual welfare, might they not be "moved by

the concord of sweet sounds," and thereby be

brought within reach of the more salutary influences

of the pulpit? Therefore, preparatory measures must

be kept in operation for the replenishment of this

branch of the service. Music was not a part of the

town-school curriculum—the average scholar came
out of it, finally, with as little ability (gained therein)

to read a staff of printed music, as he had to compre-

hend the geometrical intricacies of the difl!erential

calculus. Now, " we h.ave changed all that."

This want was supplied by the village singing-

school. It never attempted to exemplify "High
Art," nor to produce extraordinary individual pro-

ficiency ; it did not aim at the training of profes-

sional " stars," but of a company of supernumeraries

that would be available for the Sunday service of

song. Other objects and influences incidentally grew

out of and into it— the social element became prom-

inent ; it afforded remarkably congenial conditions for

the development of the " tender 2)assion ;" conjugal

aflSnities were brought within that si)here of mutual

attraction where, " like kindred drops, they mingled

into one ;" and many a fragrant flower there found

recognition, which otherwise might have " wasted

its sweetness on the desert air."

The village singing-school passed away with the

demise of our sturdy townsmen and intimate friends,

Messrs. .loseph and Horace Bird. They rendered ef-

fectual voluntary aid to the singing services of the

"old meeting-house " for a considerable time, mean-

while qualifying themselves, by study and practice
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under higher prufeiwionRl sources, to become teachers

ol' this parliiuhir science, iu wliich capacity they

were widely known and esteemed, durini; forty years

in our own and many neighboring towns, where they

successfully practicetl their special vocation. They

never nee.led importunity to take part in any move-

ment that had in view the public welfare or the re-

lief of private want.

C)f the male member.-) of the singing choir during

mv own sojourn, whose names and faces are still

vividly in mind, there is not one now to be found.

Of those in the same department, who, in the familiar-

ity of youthful intimacy, were called " the girls," but

two can be recalled, who would hear the sound of

the old church-bell could it again peal forth from the

newly reproduced steeple. And the occupants of the

pews, excepting those who were then in early child-

hood, can now be counted upon the fingers— and

some of these, although living in their original homes,

lire re-iidents of another town. And many of the

family names borne by those who congregated in the

old meetinghouse, have become e.xtinct, or are tend-

ing in that direction.

The losses we have enumerated were in the order

of Providence, and therefore could not have been

averted—others may have occurred through negli-

"ence. The associations connected with the history

of the old meeting-house were of sufficient interest to

have induced, if possible, its further preservation—and

it would have seemed proper action on the part of the

town to have determined by examination and discus-

sion, whether the "sentence" of demolition should

not have been commuted. But fate decreed otherwise.

And the structure that sheltered the Provincial Con-

gress while in direful circumstances, passed away,

"unwept, unhonored and unsung," and the green

lawn upon which it stood was transformed into a

final resting-place for the descendants of those who
reared and occupied it.

Our readers will certainly pardon the wide range

which memory of a place occupied for so diverse pur-

poses as the town meeting-house calls up in the

charming sketch which we have inserted without

change or suggestion.

That the town, the modern New England town, the

unit which is everywhere repeated, although in various

combinations, in the organization of the State and the

nation, had its origin in the parish, we perhaps

have here one of the last chances to see. Originally an

ecclesiastical organization, growing out of the demo-

cratic origin of the Christian church, the idea of the

public good has in time come to be larger than the

idea of kings or of any privileged class. In the history

of this church, this town, we see the municipal order

separating from any ami all churches, and launching

out upon the independent, the broad and generalized

idea of existence for the public good, and henceforth

meeting (from 1847) in a town-house constructed for

the purpose, wholly freed from ecclesiastical questions.

determining, it must be confessed, sometimes in a most

tumultuous fashion, what shall be done for the re-

straining of criminals, the preservation of property,

the eilucation of the young, the care of the poor, and

all those various concerns suggested by the common
convenience.

This is rather suggested by considering the history

of the /own than of the church. But so far they were

inseparable.

Kev. John Weiss was ordained October 2o, 1843.

He resigned October 3, 1845, because of his strong

anti-slavery convictions, but resumed his pastorate on

invitation of the parish in 1846, and continued till

his resignation in November, 1847, when he was in-

stalled a« i)astor of the First Congregational Society

in New Bedford.

Rev. Hasbrouck Davis was ordained March 28

,

1849. He resigned May 11, 1853.

Rev. George Bradford was ordained November 6,

1856. He died February 17, 1859, after a brief but

useful ministry.

Kev. Arthur B. Fuller became pastor March 1,

1860, and resigned in 1862, and enlisted with Com-
pany K, (?) receiving the appointment of chaplain of

the regiment. He was shot in the streets of Freder-

icksburg, having volunteered to go over the river to

the attack.

In June of this year Rev. John Weiss returned by
invitation and preached forthe society until 1869.

Of Mr. Weiss, the first minister ordained after the

society was wholly separated from the town govern-

ment, and serving long after all of the present

churches—but one, the Episcopal—were established,

much might be said. The time is too recent, although

his service began nearly fifty years ago, and feelings

are still too unsettled, the perspective too short, for a

clear and impartial statement of the value of his

labors. His services in the work of the public schools

and in the establishment of the Free Public Library

were of inestimable worth to the town. As time

passes they will rise higher in the regard of his fel-

lows. Mr. Weiss was born in Boston in June, 1818,

and died there March 9, 1879. He went to the

Chauncy Hall School for a while and afterwards to

the Framingham Academy, from whence he went to

Harvard College in 1833, graduatii;g in the class of

1837, taught for a time at Jamaica Plain, entered

Harvard Divinity School in 1840, spent the winter of

1842-43 at Heidelberg University in Germany, and on

his return to this country was ordained, as we have

stated, in 1843, over this old parish church.

Looking back over his whole service, his brilliant

preaching, his interest in all forms of education, his

cheerful and playful manners, his wit, and yet his

earnestness, we are glad to take refuge in the appre-

ciative words of O. B. Frothingham, a classmate and

life-long friend, who says of him, in the course of

quite a long article :

" This man was a flame of fire. He was genius,
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unalloyed by terrestrial considerations ; a spirit-

lamp, always burning. He had an overflow of

nervous vitality, an excess of spiritual life that could

not find vents enough for its discharge. As his figure

comes before me, it .seems that of one who is more

than half transtiguied. His large head; his ample

brow ; his gri'al, dark eyes ; his ' sable-silvered ' beard

and full moustache ; his graj' hair, thick and close on

top, with the strange Hue of black beneath it like a

fillet of jet; his thin, piping, penetrating, tenuous

voice, that trembled as it conveyed the torrent of

thought; the rapid, snddon manner, suggesting some-

times the lark and sometimes the eagle ; tlie small but

sinewy body; the delicate hands and feet; tlie sensi-

tive touch, all indicated a half-disembodied soul."

Soon after he graduated " he read a sermon on the

supremacy of the spiritual element in character,

which impressed me as few pulpit utterances ever did,

so fine was it ; so subtle, yet .so massive in conviction."

Afterwards in New Bedford, he gave a discourse on

materialism, which " derived force from the intense

earnestness of its delivery, as by one who could look

into the invisible world, and could speak no light

word or consult transient effects. Many years later,

I listened in New York, to his lectures ou Greek

ideas, tbe keenest interpretation of the ancient

myths, the most profound, luminous, sympathetic.

He had the faculty of reading between the lines,

of apprehending the hidden uieaning, of setting the

old stories in the light of universal ideas, of lighting

up allusions.

" His genius was eminently religious. Not, indeed,

in any customary fashion, nor after any usual way.

He belonged to the Kationalists, was a Protestant of

an extreme type, an avowed adherent of the most
' advanced' views. His was a purely natural, scien-

tific, spiritual faith, unorthodox to the last degree,

logically, historically, critically, sentimentally so.

" He had an agonized impatience to know what-

ever was to be known, to get at the ultimate. Evi-

dence that to most minds seemed fatal to belief was,

in his sight, conformity of it, as rendering its need

more clear and more imperious. ' We need be afraid

of nothing in heaven or earth, whether dreamt of or

not in our philosophy.' "

He was a more subtle and more brilliant thinker

for being also a poet. Dr. Orestes Brownson, no

mean judge on such matters, spoke of him as the most

promising philosophical mind in the country. To a

native talent for metaphysics his early studies at

Heidelberg probably contributed congenial training.

His knowledge of German philosophy may well have

been stimulated and matured by his residence in that

centre of active thought ; while his intimacy, on his

return, with the keenest intellects in this cimntry

may well have sharpened his original predilection for

abstract speculation. However this may have been,

the tendency of his genius was decidedly towards

metaphysical problems and the interpretation of the

"22-iii

human consciousness. This he erected as a barrier

against materialism. His volume on "American

Religion " was full of nice discriminations; so was

his volume on the " Immortal Life ;'' so were his

articles and lectures. His '' Lileof Theodore Parker "

abounded in curious learning ius well as in vigorous

thinking. He could not rest in sentiment, must have

demonstration, and never stopped till he reached the

ultimate ground of truth as he regarded it.

He was a man of undaunted courage. He believ-

ed, with all his heart, in the doctrines he had arrived

at. He was an anti-slavery man from the beginning.

At a large meeting in Waltham in 1845,10 ])rotest

against the admission of Texas, Mr. Wei.ss, then

minister at Watertown, delivered a speech, in which

he said, " our Northern apathy heated the iron,

forged the manacles, and built the pillory."

To his unfiinchiug devotion to free thought in

religion he owed something of his unpopularity

with the masses of the people. " There is dignity

in dust that reaches any form, because it eventually

betrays a forming power, and ceases to be dust

in sharing it." " It is a wonder to me that scholars

and clergymen are so skilled ab(Uit scientific facts."

"We owe a debt to the scientific man who can show
how many moral customs result from local and

ethnic exijcriences, and how the conscience is every-

where capable of inheritance and education. He
cannot bring too many facts of this description,

because we have one fact too much for him ; namely,

a latent tendency of conscience to repudiate inherit-

ance and every experience of utility." John Weiss was

essentially a poet. His pages are saturated with poetry.

His arguments are expressed in poetic imagery.
" What a religious ecstasy is health ! Its free step

claims every meadow that is glad with flowers ; its

bubbling spirits fill the cup of wide horizons, and drip

down their brims ; its thankfulness is the prayer that

takes possession of the sun by day, and the stars by

night. Every dancing member of the body whirls off

the soul to tread the measures of great feelings, and
God hears people saying :

' How precious also are thy

thoughts, how great is the sum of them ! When I

awake I am still with thee.' Yes, ' when I awake,'

but not before."

John W. Chadwick said of him, " It is hard to

think of Weiss as dead, and the more I think of it,

the more I am persuaded that he is' not."

After Mr. Weiss resigned, the society spent some
time in hearing candidates, but in 1870 Mr. James T.

Bixby was installed, and he preached until 1873,

showing those scholarly traits that have made him so

famous as a writer since.

Joseph H. Levering preached from 1875 to 1878
;

Arthur May Knapp, preached from 1880 to 1887; and
William H. Savage has preached from 1887.

The society seemed to take a new start under Mr.

Knapp, and has fairly roused into something of its

old activity under Mr, Savage.
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Within the last few years a new building haa been

erected for Suu.lay-school work and for social piir-

|M>8,>ii, which has proved an aid in religious and social

ways. The riiitariaii tMub, of this church, the first

t.. be established in any society, has proved of help to

its UH-niben* in leading to new interest and participa-

tion, in church activities, and has been followed in its

form of organization by many new clubs in various

parts of the country.

TllK IlAITIST OHUKfH AND SAnHATII-ScllOOI,.'—

During the summer and fall of 1827, Miss Eliza

ruck.r, Miss Martha Tucker anil Miss K Brighani

united in galliering some of the chililren of the vil-

lage together, Sabbath mornings, to teach them

verses of Scripture and poetry, and also to prt-perly

observe the Sabbath.

They were successful, and the movement found

favor with the people, especially the mothers, who

were glad to have their children properly cared for

on the Lord's day.

Miss Brigham was a teacher in the Town School,

which gave her special oi>portunity with the children

for good.

They held their gatherings in the house of Deacon

John Tucker (the building lately occupied by Otis

Bros.), but their numbers increiused so they had to

seek a larger place, and in the fall of IS27 they hired

the hall in the brick building now occupied by S. S.

Gleason and others.

In this hall the Sabbath-school was held at 0.30

A.M., and preaching service at 10.30 a.m., every Sab-

bath. In .Vpril, 1828, the school was organized, with

a membership of thirty-five, including officers and

teachers. William Hague, superintendent; Josiah

Law, vice-superintendent ; Deacon Josiah Stone,

Elijah Pratt, Mrs. Pratt, Misses Eliza Tucker, Mar-

tha Tucker, E. Brigham and E. A. Wheeler were ap-

pointed teachers.

They occupied this hall until the fall of 1828, when

they were obliged to move to a larger hall; they

found such a hall in the building opposite Market

and Arsenal Streets, where they remained until fliey

moved into the vestry of the new church, in August,

1830, the same year the church was organized, com-

posed of members of the Sabbath-school and others,

which was July 18, 1830, with forty-six members.

The first liouse of worship was completed the same

year and occupied the lot on which the present house

stands.

In 1857 the old house was removed and the new

house was built U])on the same foundation, with a

few alterations. This was dedicated in 1859. During

the si-xty years, the church has had ten pastors, whose

names and terms of service are as follows ; (1) Rev.

Peter Chase, served 1 year and 1 month; (2) Nicho-

las Medbery, served 10 years and 10 months
; (3)

E. D. Very, served 1 year and 1 month
; (4) C. K.

> By Bojral Gilkey.

Colver, served 4 years and 1 month ; (5) B. A. Ed-

wards, served 3 years and 5 months; (fi) William L.

Brown, served 5 years and 3 months; (7) A. S. Pat-

ton, served 3 years and 2 months; (8) William F.

Stubberts, served 2 years and 10 months
; (9) G. S.

.\bbott, served 7 years; (10) E. A. Capen (present

pastor), nearly 13 years.

The present number of members is 335. The whole

number that have united during the si.xty years is

1003, of whom about 230 have died.

The membership of the Sabbath-school is 350.

Thus, from the small beginning, both church and

school have become a power for good.

PuiMjrs CiniKCH AND SociETV.''— During the

spring and summer of 1854 a pious and devoted lady,

who was engaged in missionary labors in the town,

became aware of the fact that many residents of the

town were members of Congregational Orthodox

churches in the neighboring towns and cities. A
careful estimate gave from thirty to forty families.

With these were connected many single individuals

and a large number of children, who preferred to at-

tend Orthodox Congregational preaching. Some of

these had found a temporary religious home in the

other churches of the town. But they had long felt

that their own usefulne.ss and growth in grace were

in a great measure dei)endent upon church privileges,

in accordance with their belief and convictions. For

this they had anxiously waited and devoutly

prayed. It seemed to them that now " the set time

to favour Sion had come," and, acting in accor-

dance with this, and believing that (Jod was ready

whenever tlie instrument by which His work iscarried

on is ready, a meeting of all those known to be in favor

ofsuch an object was called. The first meeting was held

at the house of David F. Bradlee, on Main Street, in

the latter part of January, 1855. The meeting was ad-

journed one week in order to invite some brethren

from the Eliot Church, Newton, to advise in the

matter. At a subsequent meeting the subject was

duly considered. The church was named after

George Phillips, the first pastor of Watertown, and

a committee chosen to procure a preacher. This

committee were providentially directed to Dr. Lyman
Beecher, the father of Mrs. Stowe and Henry Ward
Beecher, who, after hearing some facts in relation

to religious affairs in Watertown, said :
" I will come

and preach for you." He came, and his services were

secured until a pastor was obtained.

Sabbath services were held in the Town Hall

morning and evening. These services were well at-

tended. Mr. Beecher was well advanced in life, but

his eye was not dim nor his natural force abated.

He held his audiences with a tight grasp, and even

Theodore Parker, then at the height of his popular-

ity, who preached in the same hall, on Sabbath after-

noons, with matchless eloquence, hardly held his

- By Dca. L. Macdonald.
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own against the stern logic and fire of Beecher,

many of Parker's hearers being found at the evening

service, careful and attentive listeners.

The society, or parish, was legally organized in the

mouth of March; and the church was organized on

the 17th of April, 1855, with a membership of twenty-

six, received by letter from other Orthodox Congre-

gational churches. A large council of churches from

the neighborhood met in the Methodist Episcopal

Church, the use of which was kindly offered by that

society for the purpose.

At the expiration of Dr. Beecher's engas^ement a

call was given to the Kev. Stephen II. Denneu (then

finishing his studies at Andover Seminary), who ac-

cepted, and was ordained and installed as pastor on

the 11th of July, 1855. A lot of land was bought and

a church building erected on the site of the present

one. The locality was then an ojien country, and the

large building had a seating capacity of double the

present one, and was a conspicuous object for miles

around. It was dedicated and occupied in April,

1857. The congregation increased slowly during the

following years, with a good deal of up-hill work.

On the night of January 13, 1801—one of the cold-

est nights of the season—the building was destroyed

by fire. It had got such headway before the alarm

was given that nothing was saved. The front of the

building was much nearer the street than the present

one, and many feared that the tall steeple might fall

across Mt. Auburn Street, and do much damage. For-

tunately it fell into the burning building.

For a time the enterprise seemed to stagger from

the blow
;
pastor and people had to begin the up-hill

struggle over again. They went back to the town

hall again till a new building could be erected; and

about a year after the destruction of the first build-

ing they occupied their second house, on the 12th of

January, 1862. This is the building now occupied

by the society. It is much smaller than the first

house, but up to this date it is large enough to ac-

commodate the worshipers. It is much more commo-

dious, having a chapel in the rear which is used for

prayer-meetings, Sabbath-school gatherings and social

purposes. There are libr;yy rooms, vestries and kitch-

en. There is a bell in the tower. The inside of the

building is frescoed. The windows are of stained glass.

The choir gallery is over the front vestibule. It is one

of the pleasantest and prettiest church edifices in the

suburbs of Boston. There is a row of graceful shade-

trees in front, and a well-trimmed lawn and concrete

walks, the whole forming a picture in harmony

with the neat private residences which cluster

around it.

In August, 1862, Dr. Dennen, at his own request,

was dismissed from the pastorate, and tor a length-

ened time the church depended on stated supplies.

In the fall of 1863 the church secured the services of

Rev. William L. Gage (afterwards of Hartford), who

remained one year. This brief pastorate was one of

great satisfaction to pastor and people, and the rela-

tions between them ever after were cordial and affec-

tionate. Rev. James M. Bell succeeded its pastor in

the following spring. He filled the ofiice for six

years. He was followed in the pastorate by Rev. E.

P. AVilson, who was installed on the 5th July, 1872.

He remained pastor for near sixteen years, resigning

February, 1888. During the vacancy the church
svas supplied by Dr. Webb, Dr. Dennen and others.

In the autumn of 1889 a unanimous call was given

to the Rev. E. C. Porter, who accepted and commenced
his pastorate on the 1st of October of that year, and

continues his labors at this date. Under his (iiilhful,

and devoted pulpit and pastoral work the church and

society have entered upon a fresh career of prosperity,

spiritually and materially evinced by the large at-

tendance, and interest taken in all the services of the

church, the gala in membership, and the sound finan-

cial condition of the society.

The church has on its roll of membership up to

July, 1890, 247.

The Sabbath school connected with the church has

a membership of 252, including twenty-four teachers

and six officers. The studies are graded from adult

Bible classes down to a primary department, which is

the largest and perhaps the most important of the

school's work. It is in charge of a very efficient lady

teacher, who is devoted to the work.

A deceased lady, formerly a teacher in the school,

Miss Sarah Cook Dana, left a sum of money, the in-

terest of which is to be spent yearly in the purchase

of books for the use of members of the church and
Sunday school, and to be called the " Dana Library.''

It is expected that the Sunday school library will be

merged in it, and the Sunday School have thebenefit

of it. There is already an excellent collection of books

and more are tobe added from time to time, ofstandard

religious works, suitable for promoting sound knowl-

edge and instruction among the members of the

church and Sunday school, all of whom are invited

to take out and read such books.

She also left a fund, the interest of which is to be

spent in purchasing shoes and clothing for destitute

children, to enable them to attend the Sabbath-school.

Several missionary societies exist in connection with

the church, viz : A Sunday-school, the Ladies' Miss-

ionary Society, the Phillips Mission Board, and the

Sunshine-makers. They do a vast amount of work,

and contribute freely for home and foreign mission

work. There is also a Young People's Society of

Christian Endeavor, which is a strong and active as-

sociation. The members are pledged to be active and
earnest in Christian work, outside the regular meet-

ings. There are at this date seventy active and twenty-

five associate menibers on the roll of the society.

The officers of the society are E. A. Benton, presi-

dent; Fred Lyman, secretary and treasurer. Most
of the young candidates for church membership come
from this society and the Sabbath-school,
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The parwh, which forms such au important part in

New Kiigliiiul Cuiigri'gatioiialisiii, has been so modified

by tlii» siiiiily ol" liili; years that only members of

the ilitircli areolifiibU'ii.s niembiTs. Formerly, any

member of the coiigrejtation could be voted into the

parish. In l.SSi!, however, a comiulttee of the parish

which had the matter under advisement for many

years, reported to change ihe by-laws. The report

was accepteii and adopted. Ic reported that all names

then oil the parish register should be continued as

mend.ers, but ihat after January 1, 1887, only mem-

bers of the church were eligible. Members of the

church desirious uf becomini,' members of the parish

shall present a wriUen request to the clerk. A Pru-

dential Comudtlee who shall have an article inserted

in the warrant for the next parish meeting, to be then

acted on by ballot. The parish is called the First

Orthodox I'iirish of Waterlown.

The trea.surer's report lor the year ending Decem-

ber 31, 188i», gives the following itfnis of interest in

regard to ita financial alfairs. The receipts from pew

rents, and the weekly oHerings for the year amount to

$2',I24.GG, and the expenditures to $2778.25, leaving

a balance over to the new account of J146. The Pru-

dential Committee who manage the afl'airs of the

parish, are: E. S. Plaistcd, .lames 11. Snow, \Villard

X. Chamberlain, Clerk ; 11. F. Morse, Treasurer ; J. M.

Johnson. The annual meeting for the election of

officers and other business is held in April of each

year.

Church finances do not pass through the pari.-li

Treasurer. There is also a church treasurer. The

contributions passing through him are the great

Missionary Association collections, which are taken up

through the year, communion collections and other

sums raised by the various benevolent societies of the

church for the i)oor and other objects. The amount

of these from all sources for the year 1889 was itl-iij,

77, making the income from church and parish for

the year $3970,43. These piuss through the treasur-

er's hands, but a considerable amount is a;iven

directly from private hands to benevolent objects, of

which no account is rendered. The growth of the

church has been steady, with periods of marked dis-

couragements and trial. The officers of the church,

besides its pastors already mentioned were: Deacons

—AVm. G. Ladd, Ichabod 11. Wood, Henry Waite,

James G. Fuller, Abiel Abbott, Charles E. Whitte-

more, David B. Makepeace, Frank F. Fay, Orlando

W. Dimick.

The present officers are: Rev. E. C. Porter, Pastor;

Deacons, L. B. Morse, H. W. Otis, L. MacDonald,

Noah Swett ; Treasurer, J. Q. A. Pierce ; Clerk, J. H.

Green.

The Phillips Church believes in carrying out the

commis-sion received from its great head of preaching

the gospel to every creature, and in obedience to that

command, finds warrant for its existence and work.

It believes in the Congregational order, and polity of

Church government, and in the sound Orthodox

faith, once delivered to the saints, and by its preach-

ing, teaching, and other ministries, seeks to bring in-

to obedience to the law of Christ, men's lives. How
far it has succeeded in this cannot be gauged by

numbers or financial success. Living eiiistles known

and read of all men, are self-evident testimonies to

the truth of the (jospel, which the church i)roclaini8

to a lost world, and this is the warrant and necessity

for tlie existence of the Phillips Church. The

following is a list of names of the original members

who were received by letter, twenty-six in number,

from other churches, at the formation o f the Church,

by Council.

Mr. Win. <;. LiulO,

Mrs. Margaret G. Lu<I(I,

Mr. Will. G. I.adil, Jr.,

Mrs. A.KIiiiv II. LadJ,

Mr. David F. Bladloe,

MrH. Mara K. Itradloe,

Mrs. t'atliorint* 0. Cushiug,

Mrs. Klydali French,

Mi-s Snsanah Stic.knoy,

Miss Kli'/.altotli Stickiiey,

Mrs. Hannah I>aiiH,

Mrs. Sarali C. Dana,

Mrs. Fanny H. Btirubani,

Miss Knielino liana,

Mr. Miises Fuller, Jr.,

Mrs. Hannah .Shepherd,

Mr. Ahin/.o W, Hihireth,

Mrs. Clarissa Davis,

Mni. Lucy CoIUdb,

Mi's. Sarah Kager,

Mrs. Hsrriot N. Faxon,

Mr. Ichabod Wood,

Mrs. .\iina H. Wood,

Mrs. I.ydia ']'. Hiidiardson,

Mrs. fliary Hlldreth,

Miss Jaue Tubey.

1Methodist Episcopal Chup.ch.' About the

year 1822, Mr. and Mrs. Leonard Whitney were

received into membership in the Methodist Episcopal

Church, Sudbury, Mass. Removing to Watertown

soon after, and finding no Methodist society in the

tuwn, they opened their own house for services.

These at first were attended by but four persons, Mr.

and Mrs. Whitney, John DevoU and Joshua Rhodes.

Although so few in number, they did not become

discouraged, but continued these private services,

with occasional preaching, for about two years. Rev.

C. S. Macreading, who was then pastor of the

Methodist church, at Newton Upper Falls, took great

interest in the work of establishing Methodism in

Watertown, and freely gave his services to the

undertaking. October 4, 1836, the first class was

constituted in Mr. Whitney's house. Beside the

four persons already mentioned, the following were

either at that time, or soon ;ifter, members : Sylvester

and ('ynthia Priest, George and Grace Bigelow,

Thomas and Eden Campbell, Dorcas A. Siflbrd, Eliza

Whitaker and Mrs. (or Miss) Richardson.

At nearly the same time a Sabbath-school was or-

ganized ; the first superintendent formally placed in

charge was George Bigelow.

Preaching was for some months obtained from va-

rious sources, but as the interest in and attendance

upon the services increased, it was thought that with

a little aid from the Missionary Society, regular

preaching could be sustained. Accordingly a]iplica-

tion for this purpose was made to the New England

Conference. The request was granted, Watertown

1 By Helen Louise Richardson.
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was made a mission, ami Rev. CJeoige Pickering was

sent as first Conference preacher, receiving his ap-

pointment June 17, 1837. Regular services were still

held in Mr. Whitney's house, and here, August 4,

1S.'}7, was held the first Quarterly Conference.

The first stewards of the church, appointed at this

time, were I^eonard Whitney, Cieorge liigclow and

.foshua Kliodes; the last-named soon after removed

to the West, and Sylvester I'ricst was appointed stew-

ard iu his place. It now began to be generally felt

that a larger and a permaneiit place of worship must

be secured.

An old one-storied academy building on a slight

elevation in the centre of the town was available;

this was bought for four hundred dollars, and in the

summer of 1837 was dedicated with appropriate

services.

The first trustees of the church were Leonard Whit-

ney, Sylvester Priest, George Bigelow, Joliii Devoll

and Daniel Pillsbury.

It is said that John Devoll, the first year of the ex-

istence of the society, gave in its behalf every dollar

that he earned.

At the close of this year it was reported that the

Sunday-school numbered twenty, that there was a

Bible class of twenty-five, and though a mission sta-

tion itself, !?21.84 were raised for missions. In 1838

Wallham and Watertown were united and made a cir-

cuit, which arrangement continued till 1846. During

these years Revs. Geo. Pickering, Franklin Fisk,

David Webb, Horace G. Barrows, Bradford K. Peirce

and T. W. Tucker were in turn in charge of tlie

circuit.

The junior preachers during the same time, who
made Watertown their home, were Eevs. O. R. How-
ard, E. A. Lyon, H. G. Barrows and Geo. W. Frost.

Rev. G. W. Frost was a local preacher, residing in

Watertown, and teaching a grammar school ; he was

recommended to the Annual Conference l)y the (Quar-

terly Conference of Watertown, and afterward became

(]uite prominent. Removing to the West, be was ap-

pointed Government Director and Purchasing Agent

of the Union Pacific Railroad; be also served several

terms in the Nebraska Legislature. He died in

Omaha, February 2, 1888.

In 184(j^7 Watertown and Dedham were united as

a circuit, and Rev. W. R. Stone was placed in charge,

with Rev. L. P. Frost, a local preacher residing in

Watertown, as assistant.

In 1847 Watertown was m.ade an independent sta-

tion, with Rev. Daniel Richards as pastor. This

proved to be a very important year in the history of

the church. The necessity for larger and more acces-

sible accommodations w.as felt, and the society thought

that the time had come to change its location, so the

hill property was sold at auction.

A man from Boston, unknown to any present, pur-

chased it for a bonnet factory, but as it proved, he

bought it for the Roman Catholics, and the site has

ever since been occupied by their house of worship.

June (), 1847, wius the last Sabbath in the old building.

Having made the mistake of giving possession too

soon, the society reluctantly left for the Town Hall,

where services were held till August 1, when the

vestry of tlie new church on Main street was ready

fi>r occu|)aucy.

October 2(1, 1847, the church itself, which is that

now occujiied by the society, was deilicated. The
land upon which the church is situated, was purchased

for sixteen hundred dollars, and the building was

completed at a cost of fifty-nine hundred <lollars.

In 1848 Rev. .1. Augustus Adams was appointed to

Watertown ; toward the close of his second year there

was a revival, which was the beginning of a new era

in the history of the church.

Mr. Adams was a graduate of Wesleyan University

was two years principal of a school in Norwich, ('on-

iiecticut, and he and his wife were the first teachers

of the New Hampshire Conference Seminary. He
filled important jiastoratcs honorably to himself and

profitably to the church, and was .assistant secretary

of the conference for several years. He died iu Cali-

fornia, August 27, 1800, whither he had gone seeking

restoration to health.

The pastorate of Rev- Mosely Dwight, who suc-

ceeded Mr. Adams, (1850-52) was very laborious and

successful ; during this time the trustees succeeded

in raising $20G5.00 of the indebtedness upon the

church pioperty. From 1852-58, Revs. George

Bowler, Franklin Furber and H. M. Loud served the

church iu turn, each remaining two years.

During the pastorate of Mr. Loud, and at his sug-

gestion, the members living at Newtonville, estab-

lished preaching services in a hall there, and after-

ward secured the cou.struction of a church building.

Their withdrawal to their new place of worship

made a sensible impression u])on the congregation in

Watertown. During this pastorate also the interior

of the church was handsomely refitted.

From 1858-60 Rev. George M. Steele was pastor. He
was very popular, serving one year upon the town

school committee. He is now Doctor of Divinity,

and has for several years been Principal of Wesleyan

Academy, Wilbraham, Mass.

Rev. Henry E. Hempstead received appointment

here in 1860. In the winter of 1861-62, his mind

being greatly exercised over the civil war then pend-

ing, he sought and obtained release from his engage-

ment with the church, and was appointed chaplain

of the 2'Jtli Regiment of Massachusetts Volunteers.

His chaplaincy was distinguished for ability, useful-

ness and success. He fell opposite Frederickst)urg,

Dec. 21, 1862. In the spring of 1862, by the appoint-

ment of conference. Rev. (afterward Dr.) Bradford K.

Peirce came to Watertown. His pastorate was

characterized by all those fine qualities which made
him so successful in the various important positions

which he was afterward called to fill ; for many
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years he was Editor of Zion'i Herald. Mr. Pierce

remained one year, and was followed by Rev. J.

L. Haiiaford, who also remained one year.

In 1S04 Kev. I.. T. Townsend was sent to W'ater-

towu, and occupied the pulpit two years ;
then declin-

ing the charge of another society, he settled di>wn in

this place and has devoted himself to literature,

teaching, occasional preaching and lecturing, ever

since. He was chosen a member of the scliool com-

mittee in 1SG4, and served until the spring of 18G6.

He was again chosen on the school committee in 1809,

was made chairman of the board, and served with

distinguished ability in this position, until he re-

signed in 1872. liis reports of 1870 and 1S71,

remarkable for anticipating the struggle for separate

church-schools by the Koman Catholic church,

aroused much thought, considerable opposition in

certain quarters, as being premature, and have only

proved his interest and keen insight into the danger

which threatened schools which he thought should be

wholly national and broad enough to be unsectarian.

He is now Doctor of Divinity, I'rofessor in Boston

University, and known and honored throughout

Methodism. In 1864 a Methodist church was or-

ganized in Newton ; this removed from Watertown at

dift'erent times about twenty-live members.

From 1SG6-70 the church was served by Revs. L.

D. Stebbins, J. M. Bailey and Daniel Richards, the

first two remaining one year each, and the last two

years, this being his second appointment here. Rev.

X. Fellows, who faithfully watched over the interests

of the church from 1870-73, was a member of the

school-board while in town ; he was afterward Prin-

cipal of Wesleyan Academy, Wilbraham, M.issachu-

setts. Rev. F. G. Morris succeeded Mr. Fellows and

remained three years. He represented the town one

year in the Slate Legislature.

During the pastorate of Rev. T. W. Bishop (1876-

79) a fine new organ was placed in the church ; during

the same time also an indebtedness of thirty-two

years' standing was paid, leaving the church property

unencumbered ; this happy result was secured large-

ly through the liberality of Mr. Leonard Whitney,

Jr., son of one of the original members.

Since 1879 the church has been served by the fol-

lowing pastors: 1879-82, Rev. Henry Lummis, now

Professor in Lawrence University, Appleton, Wis-

consin; 1882-85, Rev. T.B. Smith; 1885-87, Rev. J.

H. Twombly, D.D., afterward President of the

University of Wisconsin and twice a delegate to the

General Conference of the Methodist Episcopal

Church; and in 1887-91, Rev. Wm. G. Richardson,

who is the present pastor.

In the autumn of 1887, the fiftieth anniversary of

the establishment of Methodism in Watertown was
celebrated.

The exercises began with a semi-centennial ban-

quet in the Town Hall, Oct. 28, at which over three

hundred and fifty persons were present. This was

followed by special services continuing about two

weeks, during which there was preaching by some

of the most distinguished clergymen of the denomi-

nation.

The present Church membership is 195 ; the Sun-

day-school numbers 230.

There are connected with the Church an Epworth

League, Golden Rule Mission Band, "Kings' Own,"

Young Men's Assembly, Ladies' Aid Society and

Woman's Foreign Missionary Society, all of which

are in a flourishing condition. The Young Men's

Assembly, organized during the present pastorate,

originated the Young Men's Assembly of the Town,

the most prosperous, progressive and influential or-

ganization of Watertown.

The present ofliicers of the Church are:

—

Pastor. Rev. W. G. Richardson.

Trustees. George E. Priest, Edward F. Porter,

William C. Howard, William H. Perkins, Wallace

W. Savage, Oliver Shaw, L. Sidney Cleveland, Ches-

ter Sprague, Richard H. Paine.

Stewards. George E. Priest, Henry Chase, Cyrus

H. Campbell, George W. Foskett, Freeman W. Cobb,

Nathan B. Hartford, Wilbur F. Learned, George E.

Teele, Frank J. Holmes, George G. Edwards, Bart-

lett M. Shaw, John Looker, Charles W. Leach.

Sunday School Superintendent. Geo. E. Teele.

Assistant Superintendents. Richard H. Paine,

Bartlett M. Shaw.

A noteworthy feature of the present church edifice

is a gilded [rooster which surmounts the spire, and

which is over a century old ; it having at one time

graced the spire of the old Parish Church, which

stood in the present cemetery at the corner of Mt.

Auburn and Common Sts. In this building were

held the sessions of the Second Continental Congress

while Boston was held by the British, during the

Revolution. This old vane is supposed to be all that

remains of the historic Church. The present church

building is not adapted to the needs of the society,

and a universal desire is felt for a larger and better

place of worship.

Considerable money is already secured for the pur-

pose, and it is hoped, that soon Methodism will be

represented in Watertown, by an edifice commensu-

rate with its needs, growth and means.

St. Patrick's Church.'—Before the year 1830

the few Catholics residing in Watertown and its

vicinity were attended by the priests of Boston, whose

missions extended from Massachusetts Bay to the

Hudson River.

But long before that year occurred events of his-

toric import which form an interesting background to

the history of the Catholic Church in Watertown. In

1631, shortly after the town fathers had selected the

pleasant "plough lands" on the River Charles as the

site for their township, Richard Brown, a ruling

1 By BeT. T. W. Coaghlan.
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elder, iiiuintaineil the opinion that " tlie churches of

Rome were true churches," and in tliis opinion the

Kev. Mr. Phillips, the pastor, seemed to have con-

curred. In order to put an end to the controversj'

which such an avowal then caused, Governor Win
throp, Deputy-Governor Dudley and Mr. Nowell, the

elder of the Boston congregation, came to Watertown

to confer with the Rev. Mr. Thillips an<l Mr. Brown.

No satisfactory conclusion resulle<l from the con-

ference. A day of humiliation and prayer was re-

commended ; but the disturbance ended only when

Mr. Brown ccase'd to be the ruling elder.

After the destruction of the Catholic settlements of

Minas and Grand Pre, many of the unfortunate

Acadians were scattered over these regions.

" Fiieiidl«8fl, humeless, helpless, they wftiniereil from city to cily."

It is certain that some of these Acadians were

among the first Catholics within the limits of Water-

town. For two years one of their priests. Rev.

Justinian Durant, resided in Boston.

In 1775 invitations were sent by Washington to

the Catholic Indian tribes in Maine—the PenobscotB,

Passamaquoddies and St. John's—to join in the cause'

of freedom. Delegates I'rom these tribes came to con-

fer with the Massachusetts General Assembly, which

received them at Watertown. Ambrose Var, the chief

of the Indians of the St. John's tribe, was the sjiokes-

man, and his salutation was " We are thankful to the

Almighty to see the council." The Indians promised

to espouse the cause of the i)atriots, and their only

request was :
" We want a black-gown or French

priest." The General Court of Massachusetts ex-

pressed its satisfaction at their respect for religion,

and declared itself ready to procure a French priest

;

but truly added that it did not know where to find one.

The Indians earnestly joined the American cause,

and how useful their accession, under Orauo, was to

the cause of freedom we may judge from facts recorded

in Williamson's " History of Maine."

So few were the Catholics in this section of Massa-

chusetts one hundred years ago, that the Rev. John

Thayer, the pastor of the Catholic Church in Boston,

in 1790, declared that their number did not exceed

100 souls. Ill the early years of the present century

multitudes of the oppressed people of Europe fiocked

to these shores to enjoy the peace and freedom prof-

fered by the Constitution of the new Republic. By
this influx the number of Catholics was increased to

such an e.xteut that it became necessary to establish

independent parishes in the district attended by the

priests from Boston.

In the year 1830, Watertown, Waltham, the New-
tons, Weston, Concord and other neighboring towns

were formed into a distinct "mission," and a frame

building, 50x3ri feet, was erected on the land now
known as the "' Old Catholic Cemetery," in Waltham.

The pastor of this new congregation continued to re-

side in Boston until 1839, when the Rev. F. Fitzsim-

mons took charge of the parish. At that time the

congregation numbered 300 members. The successors

oftlieRev. F. Fit/.simmons were: Revs. M. Lynch,

Jas. Strain and 1'. Flood.

Shortly after Rev. P. Flood assumed the care of ilie

parish the little church at Waltham was burned ; and

as the majority of the worshippers were in Watertown,

it was deemed expedient to erect a church in that

town. In 184ii Fr. Flood endeavored to secure a

temporary place for holding services, and, after many
vain efforts, succeeded in obtaining the use of what
was known as the " Whig Reading-room," located on

Watertown Square. Here the little congregation con-

tinued to asseinhle until it purchased the old Method-

ist meetiiig-housp, which, being remodelcMl, was the

first Catholic Church in Watertown. The rapid in-

crease in membership soon made it necessary to se-

cure better accommodations, and on the 27th ofSep-

tember, 1847, Bisho]) Fitzjiatrick, of Boston, assisted

hy'Rev. Fr. Flood and Rev. ]'. O'Heirne, laid the

(torner-st(me of the present St. Patrick's Church,

which is a brick structure, having sittings for more

than 800 people.

In 1851 Rev. Bernard Flood, a young priest from

the Grand Seminary of Montreal, was sent to jissist

the Rev. Patrick Flood. During the years of their

administration the parish increased ra|>idly. New
churches were built at Waltham, West Newton and

Concord. After the death of Rev. P. Flood, in 18()3,

the sole charge of the parish devolved upon Rev. Ber-

nard Flood, who, in 18(14, removed to Waltham and

left the remaining portion of the Watertown parish to

the care of Rev. John W. McCarthy. This clergy-

men resided in Watertown until September, 1871. He
was assisted by Rev. Edward S. Galligau. During

their administration Newton Upper Falls w.'w sepa-

rated from the parish and became a distinct congrega-

tion. In September, 1871, Rev. M. M. Green was ap-

pointed pastor, and in the following June Rev. R. P.

Stark was commissioned to assist.him. Fr. Green's

greatest work was the building of the large Catholic

Church at Newtonville. After the completion of this

church, in 1879, Newton became a separate parish, of

which Rev. Fr. Green assumed the charge.

The ]iresent pastor. Rev. R. P. Stack, then began

to direct the Watertown parish. Under his energetic

administration, great improvements have been made.

The church has been enlarged and decorated, the

beautiful parochial residence on Chestnut Street

erected, a cemetery purchased, and an elegant brick

school-house, costing about $35,000, built upon

Church Hill. Fr. Stack has been assisted by Rev. T.

A. Metcalf, John Gibbons and T. W. Coughlan.

In the towns comprised within the limits of the orig-

iginal St. Patrick's Parish of Watertown there are to-

day about 20,000 Catholics, possessing church prop-

erty valued at half a million of dollars. The old

church is fast becoming too small for the number of

worshippers, and a splendid new edifice is among the

probabilities of the near future.
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CHLKCllOF TllK l_!OOI> Mli:iMi;i;ii.— 111 lllu Blllll-

iiu-r of 188:i, Kcv. Eilwiird A. Uanil, who had recently

become a resilient of Watertowii, foiiducted services

of the Episcopal Church at several private houses in

the town. So much interest was developed that a

committee, consisting of Messrs. Thomas G. Banks,

Georjje H. Gregg and William J. Bryant, was ap-

pointed in the fall of ISSJi to consider and report as to

the advisability of holding services each Sunday. As

the result of this committee's report, Grand .\rniy

JIall was securetl and regular .services were held in

that hall from October 21, 1883, to Christmas, 1888.

With the hope that, in the course of a few years,

funds could be obtained for building a church, a bond

of a desirable lot of land on the corner of Jit. Auburn

Street and Russell Avenue wjus secured in the spring

of 1885. March 12, ISStJ, the Parish of the Church of

the Good Shepherd was duly organized, and in May
of that year purchase was completed of the lot of

land previously bonded, containing 16,000 square feet.

In 1887 vigorous measures were adopted to secure

lunds for building a church. Tlio enterprise was cor-

dially approved by Bishop Paddock. Residents of

Watertown belonging to other religious deuoniina-

tions, and friends living elsewhere, generously aided

the parish ; and on Christmas Day, 1888, the first

service of the Episcopal Churcli was held in the

new structure. The building is an ornament to

the town. It is a l.isteful specimen of English

rural church architecture. The walls are of field-

stone, with brown-stone trimmings. The pews,

roof and wood-finish are of cypress. The walls are

plastered inside and are tinted a warm brown. The

cast of the building wiis about .'fl2,500. It will seat

232, exclusive of the Sunday-school room, which is

separated from the church proper by sliding sashes,

and can be utilized to seat 100 more persons. The
structure is so planned that it can be enlarged, at mod-

erate expense, to a seating capacity of over .500. The
seats are free, the expense of maintaining public wor-

ship being met by voluntary contributions. Women,
as well as men, are eligible to membership in the

parish, and about one-half of the members are ladies.

The treasury of the parish has often been replenished

by their earnest and judicious efforts.

The parish now owns over .'^0,000 feet of land. It

is gradually gainjng in numbers and in strength.

From its first organization Mr. Thomas G. Banks has

been the Parish Clerk, and Miss Ethel Cushing the

organist. To them and to Mr. William J. Quincy,

the tre.xsurer, the parish is under much obligation.

The rector is the Rev. E. A. Rand, to whose earnest

labors the parish is chiefly indebted for its beautiful

church. There are now (1800) upwards of seventy-

five communicants. Among the donors to the build-

ing fund w.is the Bishop of Montreal. The ofticers of

the parish for 1890 are as follows:

Senior Warden, John E. Abbott; Junior Warden,
H. A. Scranton ; Parish Clerk, Thomas G. Banks

;

Treasurer, William J. Quincy. Other Vestrymen

—

John Baker, J. A. Frencii, George F. Robinson.

CHAPTER XXXI.

WA TERTO WN—( Continued).

Early People—Land QranU— The Propnftort" Book—Town Goverttmeitt

—Schoolt—The n'eam— The South Siite.

K\ia.y People of W.vteutoawt.—The peo|)le

who first settled the town of Watertown came in June,

1630, with Sir Richard Saltonstall and the Rev.

George Phillips. The mere names of these hardy,

hopeful adventurers form no unmeaning list. Most

of them became proprietors of the soil. Tliey came
with this expectation. The names are found among
the honored and active men of the present day in

every part of the United States, and may be traced

on every page of the nation's history. Not necessar-

ily always famous for great deeds, for there are those

who look back to W.atertown for their lineage, who
now people towns scattered through every State

from Maine to Florida, and across the continent to

the far-away shores of the Pacific. No book of gene-

alogies is more studied than Dr. Bond's genealogies

of the families of Watertown.

A martyred President found a progenitor in a t!ar-

field whose early home was in Watertown. The
present head of our armies, likewise a celebrated

Senator who engineered successfully the finances of

the nation through a great crisis, find in a Sherman
the first of their line in the list of our early settlers.

The Lawrences had their first home on the banks of

Fresh Pond, although they early pushed farther into

the country, and found the beautiful slopes at Grotou,

in the valley of the Nashua. Here the Bigelows

started. The cause of freedom could not have spared

a Phillips; or the South, or the North, for that matter,

in manufactures, the cotton gin of a Whitney.

America's late.st great attempt in philology and
dictionaries is under the charge of a Whitney, as

was the great geological survey of California under

another. The race of Saltonstall is not extinct,

nor is the high, noble and independent character of

the great leader abated.

Upham and Warren and Stowe and Stearns and

Coolidge and Mason and Hoar and Curtis are famil-

iar names. But it is better to give the simple lists of

names as they are found in the early records. There

is no complete list of those who came the first year,

in 1630, with Winthrop, or those who had arrived

before 1636, although, as Bond says, " It is most prob-

able that their number was greater than that of the

settlers of any other town planted in 1630 ; and there

is reason to suppose that, with the exception of Bos-

ton, Watertown continued to be more populous than

either of them for twenty years. The population
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bt'came so crowiled, that the peoplo began very early

to disperse and form new phtntationa." Wc have

shown why they felt crowded. This term is correct

when we think of farms joining each other, and com-

pare them with the boundless expanse of delightful

country beyond. Some towns were settled from Water-

town before the earliest list of jiroprietors was pre-

pared, which is still preserved to us. Some of those

who pushed on to found other towns still retained their

ownership of lands here ; the names of these are pre-

served. JIany left no trace behind them in the

town's records. Some .settled Wetherstield, Connecti-

cut. Some settled Stamford, Milford and Branford.

Dedhani, of this State, was founded by Watertown

people, as was Concord, and Sndbury, and J-ancaster,

and Groton largely, so Worcester, Framingham,

Rutland and Spencer, largely Westminster on the

slopes of Wachusett, Harvard, the most northeasterly

town of Worcester County, and most of the towns of

Jliddlesex County, contained among their settlers

many from the old hive at Watertown.

In Dr. Bond may be found "an alphabetical list of

persons known to have been proprietors or residents

of Watertown prior to the end of the year 1643

;

compiled chiefly from the lists of grantees and pro-

prietors, embracing also some names derived from

wills, deeds, settlement of estates, and descriptions of

possessions." This list occupies a dozen pages closely

printed in fine type, and gives, with each name, some

description, evidence of residence or change of resi-

dence or other valuable notes.

This may be a good place to say that the New
England Historic Genealogical Society received as a

bequest the several hundred remaining coi)ies of

Bond's Genealogies and still holds them, most of

which are in an imperfect condition. The whoie

number might be made perfect by reprinting twelve

or sixteen signatures at an expense of from five hun-

dred to a thousand dollars, which, in time, purchasers

of the volumes would gladly repay to the society. If

the society does not feel called to make this expendi-

ture from funds already in its possession, it is to be

hoped some one may be moved to make a gift to the

society for this purpose, which in time should return

to the society to assist it in doing other similar

work.

A careful comparison of this work of Doctor Bond

with the original authorities increases the wonder

that one man could have collected such a vast

amount of varied information so accurately as this

has been done. I have found a few glaring mistakes,

as the members of almost any family may have found

in the minute arrangement of family names. Many
of these could be corrected, after invited correspond-

ence with the society, in an appendix. But let not

a book dealer do the work for money ; let the society,

or some society, finish the work in the interests of

truth and history. The commercial value even of a

copy in a good condition is now nearly five times

the price at which it in former years was ofTered

without purchasers.

A few names will be given for the benefit of the

many who do not po^sess a copy of Bond.

Daniel Abbott, applied to be admitted freeman in

Oct., ICiSO, before New Town (Cambridge) was settled,

and he was admitted the next May. In April, Kiol,

the Court ordered a military watch of four to He

kept every night at Dorchester and Watertown.

About five weeks afterwards, {May ISth), Daniel

Abbott was " fini'd 5«. for refusing to watch, and for

other ill behavior showed towards Captain Patrick."

.Vs Captain Patrick belonged to Watertown, and as

no watch was ordered to be kept at New Town, there

can be little doulit but that Daniel Abbott was one

of the first settlers of Watertown. He may have

settled within the limits afterwards assigned to New
Town [see Lockwood, page 85-1]. His fine was re-

mitted Sept. 8, 1638 ; and the Colonial Records

(.Tune 4. 1639) say, "Daniel Abbott is departed to

New Providence."

Edimtnd Angier, a freeman 1640, ]ao])rietor of

three acres, east of Jlount Auburn, in 1644, but

probably never a resident of Watertown.

Thomax Arnold, embarked from Kngland in 1635
;

a freeman in 1 640
;
grantee of eight lots and purchaser

of one lot; moved to Providence about 1665; two

homestalls Orchard Street, near Lexington Street.

Johh Bachelor grantee of six lots, some, if not all,

of which were purchased of Norcross. He probably

moved to Dedham in 1637; a freeman in 1640.

John Ball (?)—On the listof Winlhrop [II page340J,

supposed to be the names of those intending to come

over in 1630, is the name of " Mr. Ball." If this

was the John Ball, of Concord, he may have arrived

before Concord was granted : settled first in Water-

town, and moved to Concord, in 1635, jirior to the

date of the earliest list of proprietors of Watertown.

William llarsham, embarked from Englaml, 1630
;

freeman, 1637; grantee of five lots, and purchaser of

one lot ; died 1684. His homestall was west of

Mount Auburn, between Cambridge Road and Bank
Lane.

Michael Batmtnw, of Charlestown, 1635; a select-

man
;
probably moved to Watertown 1637 or 1638;

freeman, 1636 ; not a grantee, but a proprietor of

eight lots ; died 1674. His homestall of fourteen

acres, probably on the southwest corner of Belmont

and School Streets.

Joseph Beviis, selectman of Watertown, 1640; died

1684; grantee of a farm and of a meadow at None-
such

;
purchaser of seven other lots. His homestall

of twelve acres, on the south side of Warren Street,

was made up of two lots in the town plot, granted to

Simon Stone and J. Firmin.

John Benjamin, embarked from England, 1632 ; a

freeman, 1632; first of Cambridge, afterwards Water-

town, where he died 1645. The circumstance that

his name is not in any list of grantees renders it



346 HISTORY OF MIPPLESEX COUNTY, MASSACHUSETTS.

probable that he did not move to Watertown before

1637 or H;38. Hiw homestall of sixty acres was

situated eiwt <>l" i>iiri-lieater Field, and bouiuled nouth

by Charles River. He had three other large lots,

gritutK to Robert Feake.

Bobrrt Hftti (" Best," " Beast "), a grantee in the

Great Dividends and in the Beaver Brook plow-

lands; an original jrranteeof iSudbury, where he died

lOiVi, ». p., l(e<iucalhing his e.•^tate to his brother-in-

law, William Hunt, and other relativen of thin name.

./oAii .Bijf'of, selectman ; freeman, l(>r)0
;
died Hi'.K)

;

grantee of twenty-seven acres in lieu of township ;

proprietor of at least fourteen other lota, amounting

to .'lOO acres. From the number and value of his

possessions, in 1042-44, he then being only twenty-

one or twenty-two years of age, it. seems probable

that the lands were held in his name for his father,

Nathaniel, the " rich tanner."' His homestall was at

the northwest corner of Belmont and Common Streets,

bounded north by the homestall and meadow granted

to John Lawrence.

Elder Richard Browne, left England, 1630 ; free-

man, 16:{l ; A selectman in 1635, '38, '39, '41 and 42;

a grantee of thirteen lots in the town, besides 200

acres granted by the Court out of town. In 1642 he

had disposed of not less than seven of these grants.

His homestall was on the south side of Mt. Auburn

Street, probably a short distance west of the Old

Graveyard, with the tlirce-acre lot of J. Prescott

between his and the street. It is probable that this

was his second residence. He had a seven-acre lot

on the east of Mount Auburn, bounded south by

Bank Lane. Between this and the river he had two

and one-half acres of marsh. He sold these to R.

AS'ellington.. It is probable that he first settled there,

and that it was while he lived there that he was

licensed to keep a ferry.

So far as these names go, taken in order, but with the

omission of many others, we have a specimen of

Bond's manner of treating the whole list of settlers.

Many significant facts are mentioned which suggest

much to the student of early Watertown history. To
the casual reader it must seem little more than a cat-

alogue, as it professes only to be.

Following are a few interesting names and events

culled from the remainder of the list:

Emign Thomas Cakebread : freeman 1635, grantee of

seven lots, which he sold to John Grant; an early

grantee of Dedham ; went thence to Sudbury, where

he died in 1643.

Elder Thomas Carter, left England 1635 ; a freeman

in 1657 ; died in Woburn in 1684
;
grantee of a home-

stal! of ten acres, also had a farm of ninety-two acres

and a lot in the town plot.

Leonard Chester, left England 1633
;
grantee of sixty

acres in the Great Dividends ; also thirteen acres

homestall sold to W. Paine. The above grant im-

plies that he did not nurve to Connecticut until after

July, 1636.

Wm. Clitrke, left England 1630 ; a freeman 1631
;

constable of Watertown, 1632 ; went to Ipswich in

1633.

John Coolidge, heexn&n 1636; a selectman thirteen

difl'erent times between 1638 and 1682; died 1691,

aged eighty-six ; grantee of nine lots
;
purchased two

other lota before 1644.

Henry Cutlris (Curtis), grantee of five lots and pur-

chaser of two lots. His Iiomeatall of sixteen acres

was east of Dorchester Field. He moved to Sudbury.

Gor. Thomnx Dudley purchased the mill in Water-

town in April, 1640, and his lands are mentioned as

boundaries; but his name is not on the list of pro-

prietors.

/Simon Eire, chirurgeon (surgeon), embarked at

London, 163.T
; a freeman, 1637 ; aBelertraan, 163()-43

;

town clerk and clerk of writs for several years ; moved

to Boston in 1645 ; died 1658; was a grantee of twelve

lots amounting to 350 acres ; had purchased four

other lots, one of which was his homestall of sixteen

acres west of the pond and next the Cambridge line.

liobert Feake, came in 1630; freeman 1631 ; a son-in-

law of Gov. Winthrop; a selectman in 1636, '38-39
;

homestall on Bank Lane.

Samuel Freeman, applied to be admitted freeman in

1630; admitted in 1639.

Edward Oarfield, freeman 1635 ; died 1672 ; a

grantee of eight lots before 1644; selectman in 1(537,

'55, '62.

Elder Edward How, freeman 1634 ; died 1644 ; was a

selectman 1636, '38, '40-42; grantor of fifteen lots,

and purchaser of seven lots before '44. [Probably

with Governor Cradock through his agents and under

the direction of the engineer, Thomas Graves, who

came over at the expense one-half of the Ma-ssachu-

setts Bay Company, and one-half at the expense of

Governor Cradock, built the mill, the " water-mill,"

and probably the dam.]

Thomas King, came 1634
;
pioneer of the first plant-

ing of Nashaway (Lancaster).

John Knight, freeman 1636
;
grantee and purchaser

of 392 acres.

John Lawrence, freeman 1637 ; of Groton 1662; died

1666; grantee of ten lots ; who sold, when he moved

to Groton, his homestall to Bisco.

Capt. Hugh Mason, embarked at Ipswich 1634 ; free-

man 1635 ; died 1678
;
grantee of six lota, purchaser of

two lots ; a selectman twenty-eight times in forty, and

town clerk many years.

Thomas Mayhew, freeman 1634 ; went to Martha's

Vineyard about 1644 ; six large grants by the town ; a

selectman 1636-42
;
[purchaser of the " mill " from

How & Cradock, whose sons served as missionary

teachers to the Indians of Martha's Vineyard.]

John Oldham, arrived in Plymouth in 1623 ; free-

man 1631 ; went to Wethersfield ; killed by the In-

dians at Block Island July, 1636, which murder led to

the Pequot War.
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Capt. Daniel Palrich, freeman 1G31 ; killed at Stam-

ford 1643 ;
selectman and captain of train band.

Rev. Oeorge PliiUipn, 1630 ; freeman 1631 ; died July,

1644
;
grantee of eight lots, purchaser of one. Proba-

bly resided always on his lot next honiestall of Sir

IJichard Saltonstall, at the east of Mount Auburn.

John Prescotf, 1641 ; freeman 1 660 ; a first settler^f

Lancaster ; a grantee of a farm of ninety acres
;
pur-

chased five other lots.

Sir Richard Saltonstall, founder of the town 1630;

returned to England 1631
;
grantee of about.558 acres,

which passed to his sons Samuel and Henry. Robert

probably settled in Boston 1642, where he died 1650.

William Shattuck, of Watertown, 1642 ; died 1672,

aged fifty. In 1644 he was the proprietor of two

small lots on the east border of Piquusset Common,
(Waverly).

Capt. John Sherman, I63i, came from England ; a

freeman in 1637 ; died 1691 ; selectman and town clerk

many years, 1636 to 16S2 ; had three grants of over

190 acres, purchased ten lots, had homestall on both

sides of Bowman's Lane (Common Street), immedi-

ately south of Strawberry (School-house or Meeting-

house) Hill.

Eei\ John Sherman, 1634; dismissed to Wethersfield,

,1635; went to Milford 1641 ; dismissed then to Water-

town 1647 ; freeman 1669 ; died 1685. Supposed to have

lived on the east side of Grove Street, on the forty

acre meeting-house lot between Mount Auburn and

Belmont Streets.

Isaac Sterne {Stearns), came 1630 ; freeman 1630

;

died 1671 ; was a selectman 1659, '70, '71.

Having given so many names from this catalogue,

which abundantly illustrate the character of the cata-

logue, the variety of lots owned by most in different

parts of the town,—illustrations of the fact that Water-

town furnished settlers for many other towns,—we have

done as much as we have space for in this place and

have shown how indispensable the list, and especially

the full genealogies of Dr. Bond, are to any student of

the history of Watertown, I might say of almost any

local history.

Freemen.—I cannot do better, perhaps, than give

Dr. Bond's list of the freemen of Watertown, ad-

mitted previous to the union of the Colonies of Plym-

outh and Massachusetts Bay, with the date of their

admission. To become a freeman it was necessary

to be a church-member, and so it happened that men in

respectable social positions were not admitted till ad-

vanced age, or never admitted. It was not necessaryi

however, to be a freeman, or even a church-member,

in order to hold office in the town, or appoint-

ments from the Court, although the rule allowed none

but freemen to hold office or vote for rulers. This

rule was so far modified, in 1664, that individuals

might be made freemen who could produce certifi-

cates from some clergyman that they were correct

in doctrine and conduct.

Bond gives some exceptions to the rule. Thomas

Mayhew held a responsible appointment from the

Governor and Assistants two years before he was ad-

mitted freeman. Joseph Bemis and Thomas Flagg

were never admitted, although they were both select-

men and held other offices. John liigclow, Sr., took

the oath of fidelity in 1652, but he was not admitted

freemitn until April, 1690, at the age of seventy-three.

William Bond was admitted freeman in 1682, more
than twenty years after he had been selectman, juror,

constable, and likewise town clerk, and only a short

time before he was elected magistrate.

Some of the settlers and [iroprictors, or natives

of Watertown, were admitted freemen after they

had removed to other towns. This mark (?) is pre-

fixed to the names of freemen who were early pro-

prietors, where there is an uncertainty or improb-

ability as to their having ever been residents.

Every freeman was obliged to take the freeman's

oath: " I, ,4. i?., being by God's providence an in-

habitant and freemen within the jurisdiction of this

Commonwealth, do freely acknowledge myself to be

subject to the government thereof, and, therefore, do

he.-eby swear, by the great and dreadful name of

the everlasting God, that I will be true and faithful,''

etc. etc.

LIST OF FREEMEN OP WATERTOWN, 1630-90.

1G3I, May,
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freemen, that two Huiulred Acres of iipliuid next to

the Alill sliall be reserved as most couveniiMit to make

a Townshi)).'' There were also other reservations.

The Oonrt of Assistants also made a few grants

within these bounds—these certainly: First, " In

November, 1632, the Court granted to George Phillips,

thirty acres of land up Charles river, on the So\itli

side," etc., probably meadow opposite the United States

Arsenal. Second, " On the tiist of April, l(i.'il, the

Court granted Mr. John Oldham five hundred acres

lying near Mt. Feake, on ihe Northwest of Charles

river," This wa.s before the western boundary was

settled, and before the freemen had made any grants

besides "the small lots." Third, March.!, 163r)-3(;,

the Court "agreed that Sir Richard Saltonstall shall

have one hundred acres of meadow." This lot is

described as remote meadow, bounded with the farm

land. This lay near the farm of two hundred acres

and the one hundred acre lo*. in the Great Dividends,

both granteil soon after by the town. Bond says that

these three grants appear as the only ones made by

the Court within the limits of the town, and none was

thus made after the western boundary was determined.

The homestalls and home-lots assigned to the first

planters comprised from one to sixteen acres, seldom

more ; probably, as is seen by the list in the town lot,

averaging about six acres. Where much larger home-

stalls are found, especially later, it is where certain

persons were able to purchase the lots of several

others. In some cases the persons to whom lots were

assigned in the quite equal division,—although it

was understood and agreed before the colonists came

that the amount of laud received by each should be

determined by the amount ofmoney each adventured,

—were servants to others, and doubtless many pre-

ferred to retain this relation to their neighbors and so

parted with their lots for a consideration. In the

map of 1720, now preserved in the State archives, a

copy of which we should be glad to exhibit, the

location of 10(1 houses is given, very few being given

where the group of houses must have been made at

first, in what was known as " the town," near the

landing ; and compact groups of houses in the lot set

aside for the town just west of Lexington Street,

where very few houses are found to-day ; while over

beyond Beaver Brook, next to the northern limit of

thetown, were clustered about twenty houses, forming

quite a compact village. Not more than twenty-five

houses were then to be found in what is now the

entire village of Watertown. As the change has

gone on in the industries of the town, from

agriculture to manufactures, there has been a gradual

withdrawal of thesmaller houses and absorption of the

smaller lots by the larger holders and a concentration

of interests about the manufactories, which now so

largely predominate in importance.

Till-; GiiEAT Dividends.—The first division of

lands after the small lots, few of which exceeded

sixteen acres, generally one to live or six acres, was

rec(jriled in Ibc old town book, and is dated .Inly 20,

lti3(i.

This list contains 120 names, all the townsmen

then inhabiting. It in headed with these words :

" The grant of the Great Dividends [allotted] to

the freemen, to all the townsmen then inhabiting,

being 120 in number. The land being divided into

four divisions, every division being KiO rods in

breadth, beginning next to the small lots, and

bounded with Cambridge line on the North side, and

with the plowlands on the South, to be laid out

successively one after another (all the meadows and

cartways excepted) 'for them to enclose or feed in

common."

This record is in the first original book of records

of the town, i)reserved as well as may be, but fast

going to decay. Much of the paper is worn away,

is much di^'colored, but tin- hand-writing is still

clear and distinct, written in a very regular, almost

print-like hand.

Bond, in speaking of this list, says that "These

four divisions were sometimes called the Squadrons,

and the lines dividing them, the squadrcm lines."

These divisions are said " to begin next to the small

lots," but it is ditticult to determine this line exactly.

Pcquusset IMeadow is described as bounded on the

north by the Cambridge line, and on the west by the

Gi-eat Dividends. It is conjectured that the Dividends

began not far from the present boundary between

Watertown and Waltham, and that for some distance

these were bounded by the road (now Warren Street),

which was the western boundary of the town plot.

The first Great Dividend, beginning next the small

lots at the east, was bounded on the south by the Bea-

ver Brook Flovvlands, as follows :

[These are t'tlcen from the ori'jinal lists, or earliest copies^ in the towu

ar<-liiveii.]

It Acres

John Kingsbury .... 40

Gregory Stone 40

llry.in i'embletoQ . . . . 7U

John Browne 30

Jolm Dwight 30

John Bernani 60

WiUiam Knap ...... 30

Daniel Periie '2&

Jolm lluyward 50

E«hiiuTiil Lewia 30

George UicharilsOD . . .
o.')

James Cutler 25

Jolm Grigs i;5

Henry Goldstone .... 00

John Cutting 60

tt Acres

Kohert Feko 80

Ahruhatn .Shaw 70

Samuel Hosier 35

Uobt'i-t Luckwootl .... 35

Henry Guttris 20

Sanuiol Swaine .... 60

Jolm Firmin (50

Nicholas Knap 311

William Basum 30

Loll
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6a.; Henry Dow, (ia. ; Gregory Taylor, 6a.; John

Tomson,6a. ; Thomas PTastings, Ca. ; Daniel Pers, 6a.

;

Charles Chaddwick, 6a. ; Edward How, 9a. ; John Ea-

toi:, 3a.; John Smith, Jr., 3a. ; Isaac Mixer, 6a. ; Ed-

mund Blois, 6a.; John Baker, 8a.; Abrani Browne,

6a. ; William Potter, 4a. ; Thomas Filbrick, 3a.

Thomas Garter, -a.

If one acre is allowed Carter, there wouhl be

allotted 200 acres reserved for a township, the 30

acres above being in addition, pn)l)ably extra, or out-

side of this allotment.

In 1642, 3d month, 10th day, it was ordered that

"all the Townsmen that had not Farnas laid out

formerly, shall take them by ten in a division, and to

cast lotf^ for the several divisions ; allowing 13 acres

of upland to every head of persons and cattle."

These names are not entirely legible in the town

records, but Dr. Bond copied them from the files oi

the County Court. The lots range from thirty-four

acres (the smallest farm) to 287 (the largest farm—to

John Bernard), and comprise in all ninety-two farms

of an aggregate of 7674 acres. This copy was taken

from the town-book before it was worn out, and

signed by John Sherman.

The Proprietors' book, giving the grants, appar-

ently, to 1644, and signed by Simon Eire, Michael

Bairstow, Thomas Bartlett, William Jennison, John

Barnard, Richard Beers, John Sherman.

"From the Propbietors' Book. This Book belongs to The Pro-

prietora of the Common and undivided Land in Watertown."

The following are from the *' List of Proprietors,"

with a numbered list of lots assigned to each, with a

ilescription and the bounds of each. We give a few

specimen pages only. P'or example, the first is :

8:r Richard Saltonstall.

1. An bomstrtll of sixteen acres, by estimation, bounded the northeast

with Thomas Brigan and Robert Kois, the southeast with the River, the

Houthwest with the highway & the uurthweet with George PhiUips,

granted to him.

2. fower acres of upland, by eetiuiation, bounded the northwest with

George Phillips, the south with Isaar Hart, and the east with Joseph

Cooks, granted to him.

Z. Twenty acres upland, by estimation, bounded the southeast with

the highway, Southwest with Pequusset meaddow, the northwest with

William Hammond and Thomas Boyden, granted to him.

4. One hundred acres of remote meddoxv, by estimation, bounded with

the Farm land granted to him.

5. One hundred acres of upland, by estimation, being a great Divident

adjoining to his meaddow, and bounded with the farm and land granted

to him.

0. Two hundred acres of upland, by estimation, adjoining to his great

Divident & bounded with the farm bind granted to him.

7. Twenty acres of Plowland, by eHtimation, bounded the south with

Edward How, the north with the highway, the west with John W^hit-

ney, and the enBt with John Knights, granted to him.

8. Ten acres of meadow in Plaine meadow, by estimation, hounded the

east with the Brook, the west with William Fains, the north with the

highway & the south with common hind, granted to him.

9. Thirty acres of Remote meddow, by estimation, bounded with ye

great Dividents, and tlie seventy and lutt granted to him,

111. Thirty acres of plowland, by estimation, in the hither Plaine,

bounded the south with the River, the north with the highway, the

east with Simon Eire and the west with John Traine, granted to him.

11. Twenty-eight acres and a half of upland, by estimation, beyond

the further Plaine, and thy thirty-nine lott granted to him.

George Phillips.

I. An homstuU of twelve acres, by estimation, bounded the east with

Thomas Arnold, the west and north with the highway, and the south

with Edward IIow, gi'Auted to hint.

•-'. Seven acres of upland, by estimation, bounded the north with Cam-

bridge line, the sovith with Samuel Saltonstall, and the west with Isiuic

Hart, granted to him.

."i. An homstall of five acres, by pstimatiou, bounded the southwest and

northwest with the highway, and the east with a drift way, granted to

him.

4. Forty acrea of Flowhmd, by estimation, in the hither Plaine,

bounded the east with Edward How, the west witli the drift way, the

north with the highway *t ye stiutb with the way betwixt ye lotts

granted to him.

r\. Thirty acres of Remote medduw, by estimation, bounded with ye

farm land and ye ninety-third lott granted to him.

ft. Eight acres of upland, by estimation, being a great divident in the

second Divisicpn & tlic twenty-eight lott granted to !iim.

7 Fifteen acres uf uplaml, by estimation, upon ye meeting-house com-

niun, granted to him.

8. Thirty acres of meddow, by estimation, bounded lye west with ye

River, the eoutbeiwt with Cambrifige line, grantedi to him.

EnwARii How.

[The first resident owner of the " >Iill,'' probably with Mathew Crad-

ilock, the builder.]

1. An homstall of twenty acres.

2. Nine acres of iipland.

^. Twelve acres of upland, in the hither plaine.

4. Seventy acres of vipland, a great divident, in li'l division.

5, Thirty acres of upland, in further Plaine.

(y. Fifteen acres of plowland, in the further Plaine.

7. Six acres of Remote meadow.

8. Eighteen acres of Remote meadow.

9. Ten acres of upland.

H). Five acres of upland.

11. Two acres of meadow.

12. Twelve acres of upland in the hither Plaine.

13. Six acres of meadow, next his own.

14. Eiglit acres of meadow in Plaine meadow.

ROBEET FkKE,

1. A homestall of 14 acres.

2. 15 acres of upland.

3. Fi acres of marish.

4. 80 acres of upland.

5. Twenty fower acres of Plowlands.

fi. 40 acres of remote meadow lying beyond Stoney Brook.

7. !) acres of upland.

8. 6 acres of upland.

9. 6 acres of meadow in Plaint meadow.

William Jennison.

1. An homstall of 50 acres.

2. Three acres of meadow.

'.i. Six acres of upland with a pond.

4. Sixteen acres & half of upland beyond the further plaint.

.5. Fower acres of meadow at Bever brook,

fi. Six acres of upland in Dorchestier field.

7. Eight acres of upland. ^

8. Ten acres of Remote meadow.

0. Sixty acres of upland.

10. Ten acres of Plowland in the hither plaine.

Richard Browne.

1. An homstall of twelve acres.

2. 3 acres of meadow.

3. 9 acres of plowland in the further plaint.

4. 9 acres of Remote meadow.

5. 12 acres of Remote njeddow lying next the turn of the river.

fi. 15 acres of upland upon the meeting-house Common.
7. 12 acres of uphmd.

8. 9 acres of upland in the town plott.

9. 7 acres of upland.

10. 2}^ acres of marsh.

11. 50 acres of upland.

12. 3 acres of marsh.
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were kept, ami to show how valuable it would be to

historical .Htudentu to have the eutire book published

with the i.ther ret^^ords of the town. The bounds are

given here only with the tir^t two li.sts. Kroui the

lull lists it might be possible to recoustrucl the full

luap of the town, and to show to the eye the pos-

seiwiontt of eai-h proprietor.

Meanwhile it suggcsU the uecessity of couBulting,

for certain purposea, the records themselves.

Tows (ioVKIlN.MENT ANP HkI.A IION TO THE LkG-

itii.ATt'Ul':.— Or. Bond has shown how weak the town

stood after the departure of Sir Kichard Saltonstall

to Kngland, in lt!:U, in all civil atlaii-s, and, by infer-

ence, accounts for the insignilicant part assigned to

Watcrtown when we consider her wealth and uum-

bcrs, except that of bearing her full share of ta.xes.

Nothing has been s;iid concerning the relations exist-

ing between Sir Kichard himself and Dudley or Win-

throp and the rest, but doubtless the town was us well

served by Sir Richard in England as it could have

been by him here without an open rupture.

As it win, all wius smooth on the surface, although

he was hned by his iussociates, at lea.st, on two occa-

sions, insignificant amounts, which many years after-

wards were remitted, not having been paid. Little is

said of the large sums due him for money advanced,

nothing of the great sacrifices he must have made in

disposing of his large estates in order to come here

with nearly all his family. We do not care to try to

read between the lines any causes of disagreement be-

tween the somewhat narrow Dudley, ready for a con-

test, who sat down so near Sir Richard's choice of

lands, with his attempt to force even the Governor to

build the capital city where there were not the best

conditions for a capital, or to draw the theological

line more taut than it had been drawn on them,

even before they left their homes ; for Sir Richard Sal-

tonstall, every inch a noble aa he was, preferred to re-

tire, with most of his family, from the undertaking,

rather than disturb the general peace, and though he

afterwards wrote a protest to Mr. C'otton and Mr.

Wilson against the si)irit of religious persecution

which he had seen some signs of before he left the

Colony.

At ail events, the spirit shown by Parson Phillips

and Elder Brown, and others, his chosen associates,

resulted, as has been shown by Mr. Savage in a great

gain in the struggle for entire freedom of opinion and

larger local powers in government.

Naniesof magistrates, selectmen and representatives

are given in full in Dr. Bond's indispensable work, to

a certain time in the present century.

Below we continue the lists to the present time.

RErUliSKSTATIVES TO THE GENERAL CoURT OF
MASSJiCHVSB.n^.—Supplementing the list of Br. Bond.

—These were elected on the November of the year

set opposite their names to serve for the year ensuing.

When no year is given no representative was then

elected:

1840,

1844.

I848-4U.

ISiO-SI.

186i.

1W5.

185C.

1857.

1858.

1859.

I860.

18C1.

18G2.

1863.

(:n.|ivill» V. Hlnthrop.

Tliiiiiiiin Liveriiiuru.

Julin II. IticlmrilKuii.

Si>tli Ik'iiiU.

(•uorge Fmzer.

Levi TliuxUT.

Jiiw'pli B. Kiyes.

TliuiiiuH li. Krelicli.

Jiiiiiett (J. Muoro.

Jotfiiili Riitter.

J<i»tuiil) Criifli*.

JoBL-ph Crafts.

P. Jl. .Stone.

DiiliiL't French.

V. T>\. .Slono.

F. M. Stone.

Jobiiili Heard.

V. M. Stone.

W. 11. Ingruliani.

F. 31. Stone.

Joliu K. Sticknoy.

1804.
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Edward F. Porter, 1887-89.

Hiram D. Skinner, 1887-89.

Horace W. Otis, 1889.

Fredericlt E. Critchett, T. 0. 189n.

Abraham L. Ilichards, 1884, '90.

Samuel Walker, 1877-79.

Jeremiah J. Sullivan, 1880-84.

Oharlea Brigham, 188.^-88.

.lames F. Lynch, 1885-86.

Julius K. Hartwell, 1885.

Charles W. Stone, 1886.

T. C, Town Clerk.

Dates alone are dates of selectmen.

Schools.'—It is not certain how soon after the

settlement of Watertown in 1630, provisions were

made for the education of her youth, but the earliest

recorded date of a school-house is September 17, 1649.

This was a small, one-storied building situated on

Strawberry Hill, which afterwards bore the name of

School-House Hill, now thought to be identical with

Meetiug-House Hill. The first record of ii school-

master is November 7, 1649, when the selectmen or-

dered that " David Mechell of Stamford, Conn., be

certified of the town's desire for him to keep school."

The next teacher was Richard Norcross, who
served the town from 1651 to 1675, and, between that

date and 1700, was recalled several times.

As the exact words of the records will give a bet-

ter idea of the nature of the school and the instruc-

tion given, than a summary, a few of the votes are

quoted.

In 1650, " It was voted and agreed upon that Mr.

Richard Norcross was chosen schoole-master for the

teaching of children to reed and write, and soe much
of Latin according to an order of Courtt as also if

any of the sd. Towne, have any maidens that have a

desire to learn to write, that the sd. Richard should

attend them for the learning of them,- as also that he

teach such as desire to cast acompt and that the

Towne did promise to allow the said Richard for his

imployment thirty pounds for this yeare."

In 1651, " It was voted that Mr. Richard Norcross

shall attend the keeping of a scoole within the bounds

of Watertown, where the Towne shall appoynt. That

he shall use his best Indeavors to instruct all such

psons as shall be sent unto him, in English write-

iug or Latten, according to the Capassity of the

psons; and that it is in the Liberty of any inhabitant

to send his Sonnes or Servant for a weeke or two and

to take them away agayne at his pleasure. And
therefore the sayd Mr. Norcross is to keep a strict ac-

count of the number of weekea that every one doth

continew, and that every pson that learneth Eng-

lish only, shall pay 3d. a weeke, and such as write

or Latin shall pay 4d. ; and that Mr. Norcross is to

give notice to the pertickler parents of their just due,

according to this order—and if any pson shall ne-

glect to bring unto his house his full due by the 29th

of the 8th month in (52) that then he shall bring the

names and the sum of their debt unto the 7 men who
are hereby required to take some speedy course to

bring him to his due ; and for the other halfe yeares

pay he is to take the same course and what the

1 By Miss Ellen Crafta and the editor, SolonJF. Wliitney.

23-iii

prtickelers doe want of the full some of 30 pounds
the Towne dooth hearby ingnge to make a supply."

In 1670 " It was agreed tluit the selectmen should

goe through Hie towne in their severall quarters to

make tryall whether children and servants be educat-

ed in learninge to reade the English tongue, and in

the knowledge of their capitall laws according to the

law of the country, also that they be educated in some
othadox catacise."

The result of this investigation seems to be con-

tained in the following statement, 1674. "Thomas
Fleg, John Whitney and Josei)h Bemus gave in an
account of what they had found consarning children's

edducation
; and .lolin Fisk being found wholly negli-

gent of edducating his children as to reading or catti-

cisiag, the seleckt men agreedc that .loseph Bemus
should warn him in answer for his neglect at the next
meeting of the selekt men.
With reference to the daily sessions, the following

vote is recorded.

In 1677 " Agreed with Leflenant Shearman to

ceep an inglish scoole this yeare, and to begin the

9th of Eapri 11 at the scoole house, and the Town to

alow him twenty pounds in the Town reat that shall

be raised in the year 77. And if the Leftenant de-

aireth to lay down this employment at the years end
then he shall give the Town aquarterof a years warn-
ing. And if the Town desireth to change their scoole

masters they shall give the like warning. The Select-

men agree also that the said scoole shall be cept from
the furst of May till the last of August, 8 owers in

the day—to wit—to begin at seven in the morning
and not to break up until 5 at night, noontime ex-

cepted and from the last of August untill the last of

October 6 owers in the day ; so also in the Munths
of March and Aprill and the 4 winttur munths, to

begin at tenn of the clock in the morning and con-

tinue untill 2 o'clock in the afternoon."

Of the other early masters, Mr. Nathaniel Harring-
ton aud Mr. Samuel Coolidge receive the most atten-

tion in the records. The former was engaged in 1750
" to keep the Grammar and English School, to begin

the second Monday in August, and to keep said scliool

from thence till the last day of Ma'ch following, ex-

cept so mucli time as to take care of getting in his

Indian Harvest, and the time he take thereat he to

give account of." He was to receive £30 a year and
board himself. The latter was engaged at £40 a year,

but " was so disorderly as not fit to keep y" school."

Another master was obtained for a short time, then
" the major part of the selectmen agreed to try Mr.
Samuel Coolidge again in the school, and to pay him
according as he should perform." The salary seems
not to have been ample, for several statements are

made with reference to providing Mr. Coolidge with
clothes.

In 1767 is the first mention of lady teachers when
it was voted " to have four women's schools for the

instruction df children in the remote parts of the



354 HISTORY OP MIDDLESEX COUNTY, MASSACHUSETTS.

Town, the schools to be kej)! twelve weeks, the dames

to pniviih' their roiniis or piiy the rent, the salary to

be forty shillings eaoh."

Ill .striking oon'rast to tho luojerii iiii'thods of heat-

in;; the scliooi-hoiiscs are the following votes for fur-

nishing fuel

:

1(170
—"Thoar have ben a coiU|ilaiul by -Mr. iSor-

cross that the schooling of children is like to be hin-

dered for want of wood to keep a tire, and for the

preventing of such an encoiivenance, the school being

the Town's, ll is ordered by the selectmen, therefore,

that the inhabitants that send their chiblren to the

school shall send in for every scholar a quarter of a

cord of wood, by the lilteen day of this instant De-

cember, or 'la. ill money to buy wood withal."

In 1701. " Votetl that those who send children to

SL'hool shonhl send (me-foiirth cord of wood."

Ill 17J7, " Voted that those per-soiis who send their

children or servants to school shall supply the school

with fire-wood when there is occasion for the same."

In 174S, "Voted that 8 shillings per head be

charged for wood."

In I7.'iO, "The selectmen proposed that Mr. Nathan-

iel Harrington, present school-master, for the support

of a tire in the school, he should send to parents and

masters that send your children or servants to school,

to send six shillings per head to procure wood for

said lire."

The first mention of a school committee is in ITtJii.

Henceforward, the school records, previously kept by

the selectmen with the oiher business of the town,

belong to that newly-organized body.

The exact location of the early school-houses, from

1049 to 1796, cannot easily be determined. When
Watertown included Walthara, Weston, Lincoln and

Belmont, the districts must have been large and the

ichool-honscs far apart.

As early as 1083 " it was agreed that all those who

dwell on the west side of Stony Brook be freed from

the school-tax, that they may be the better able to

teach among themselves."

In 179G, " Voted an alteration in the school dis-

tricts. One district to begin at Waltham line, on

the great county road, including the inhabitants on

both sides of the road until you come to the meeting-

house, and all south of that road."

This seems to bring the districts within the present

limits of the town.

Votc<l, also, in this year, " that the money granted

for the support of schools be equally divided between

the three schools."

These school-houses were in the West, East and Mid-

dle District*. The location of the first is not certain
;

the second wiis situated at the junction of School

and Belmont Streets ; the third was " built on the par-

sonage land, between the Jliuisterial House and
Thomas Patten's house." This is still standing and
is the brick building on Mt. Auburn Street near the

lUptist Church. Tliis was, at first, onfy one story

high, but, in 1.816, a vote is recorded that" instead of

a new school-house in a separate place, the Town
should build an addition to the old school-house by

raising the same another story." Among the teachers

who taught in the Brick School-house were Abner

Fciibcs, Moses tiill, Nathan Ball, Win. llenshaw,

Gardner .VIdrich, Mr. Duslin, .fohn Kelly, Win.

White, George Frost, Leonard Frost and a Mr. Allen.

David Packard taught in a little building near it.

The amount appropriated for schools had slowly

increased fnmi £30 to $1200 and, in ISIO, $300 was

voted to the Fast, !?300 to the West, and .ftiOO to the

Middle District, "each district to keep their windcjws

and seats in repair out of their own money." The
accommodations of this Middle District were soon

outgrown, and, in what proved to be a very unwise

way, a small one-story building was erected near the

brick school-house, on the southwestern side, for the

use of the highest class. In a few years a much
larger house was needed, so the present Francis School

was built.

In 1847, "Voted that the town do hereby abolish

the school-district system and adopt the General sys-

tem and that a committee be chosen, to consist of

three persons from other Towns, to appraise the sev-

eral school-houses and district property in Town
whenever either of the Districts wish to have the

Town take the same, and that the Town do hereby

agree to take said district property and i>ay the Dis-

trict the amount of said apprisal."

What private schools there may have been before

1800 can, perhaps, never be known ; but, within the

memory of the oldest inhabitants, many such schools

existed and seemed to suit the needs of all ages of

children, and of both sexes.

The schools for little girls made sewing and em-

broidery a specialty, and sometimes great strictness

attended the instruction. But from schools such as

these came the fine sewers and menders of half a

century ago, when thrifty and useful housewives were

the rule.

Miss Ruth Wellington, Miss Catherine Hunt, Miss

Eliza Stratlon taught schools for little girls.

Miss Martha Robbins, Miss Lydia Maria Francis'

and Miss Hill taught schools for older girls; and

French and drawing were leading features of the in-

structions.

In April, 1832, Theodore Parker came to Water-

town in search of jiupils for a private school. He
boarded in a house still standing next beyond the

' A Slater of Dr. Converse Francis, better known later as Mra. LyUia

M.iria Child, an anthor of considerable renown ; wrote, let, *' Ilobuuiok,

an Indian Stury ;" 2d, " The Rebels, a Tale of tlie Kevuliition ;" then

"Juvenile miscellany," "Girls' Own ISouk," "fllottiers" Book," and

later " An Appeal in Behalf of tiiat Class of Americans called Afiicans."

In 1830 " Philothea," a Grecian romance of the time of I'ericles. In

1841 she became editor of the Natimml AnUr-Slavery Stuiidnnl, In

1843—H two volumes of" Letters from New York."

In 1886 she wrote the " Life of Isaac T. Hopper." Her principal

work, to which she save many years, was the " Progress of Religions

Ideas." She lived until 1880.
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South District or Parker School. On the premises

was u building whose upper story had, only a short

time before, been used for a boys' school, taught by a

Mr. Wilder, of Brighton. This room Mr. I'arker

leased, and opened a school with two pupils.' The

number, however, increased, and kept increasing, un-

til at the end of the year he had thirty-five, and after-

wards fifty-four pupils. He kept this school for two

years, teaching all the common branches, besides

those studies necessary for admis.sion to college. A
fuller account of his labors at this time can be found

in Weiss's "Life and Correspondence of Theodore

Parker."

"In the early part of the year 1822, a number of

the families in Watertown who wanted a higher edu-

cation for their children than the public schools

atl'orded, established a private school for pupils of

both sexes, which they called an 'Academy.' They

built a school-house and engaged a master. The

property was held in shares ; the right to send pupils

to the school being limited to the share-holders. It was

intended that this school should be able to fit boys for

college ; and so far as the Association could do what

was needful, it was an excellent plan. But the

course of studies was left altogether with the master;

and none of the masters remained long.

" The first one who opened the 'Academy' was a

divinity student from the Cambridge Theological

School, Warren Burton, of Tilton, N. H., afterwards a

Unitarian clergyman, and an author of some little

repute. He was unsuccessful. Went away at the end

of a year. Meant to do his duty. Did not know how

to manage children." (Geo. T. Curtis, one of the chil-

dren.) Mr. Burton wrote "The "Village Choir," and
" The District School as it was," the latter of some

note. Mr. Kendall, a graduate ofBowdoin College,

followed him tor a short time; then Joseiih H. Abbot

for a short time. Mr. Abbot kept afterwards for

many years a well-known school for young ladies in

Boston. Mr. John Ajipleton, the fourth master, a

good teacher, and a person of superior mind, left be-

fore 1824. He was afterward an eminent lawyer, and

chief justice in Maine. This academy was built on

ground belonging to Mr. James Hobbins, situated on the

liill near where the Catholic Church now stands, and

was in charge of a great variety of teachers ; some of

them, for instance Mr. Adams, Mr. Townsend, Mr.

Samuel Howard, Mr. Winslow Marston Watson (who

died in 1S8'J in the Garfield Hospital at Washington),

are remembered by some yet living. The last teach-

er in this school, Mr. Oliver AVellington, built an-

other "Academy," still standing on Churcli St., oppo-

site the new Unitarian Building, and occupied as a

private house by the family of the late Wm. Sher-

man. This academy was a flourishing young ladies'

school for many years under Mr. Wellington. The

first academy building was sold, first to the new

^ It is said that one of these was a charity pupil.

Methodist Society ; afterwards it was bought for the

Catholic Society.

From the time that the district-school system was

abolished, when VV'atertown possessed three school-

houses and raised $2800 for the schools, the town

has so increased in population that, in 181)0, there

are .seven school-houses and a corps of thirty-two

teachers, and the town raises over $25,000 a year

lor their support.

The abolition of the district-school system in Water-

town was strongly advocated by the School Committee

of 184!) in an admirable report, which gives the names

of all the teachers, with a variety of statistics of use

in determining the condition of the schools. The re-

port fur 1851 by "The Superintending Committee of

the public schools of Watertown" names only one

teacher in town, Mr, Littlcfield, of the Centre District,

who has been well-known in the schools of Charles-

town and Somerville.

The report of 1852-53 is a very interesting and sug-

gestive document. The name of the writer is not

given, although it must have been one of the three

signers, B. A. Edw)irds, D. T. Huckins and Marshall

Kingman. It is true that it was written four years

after the last of Horace Jlann's twelve annual re-

ports, as secretary of the State Board of P^ducation. It

was written when the town was still struggling in the

folds of the district system, and without a central

high school. It was a patient, noble plea to pefiple

who had not yet come to value schools for their chil-

dren, and after giving four good reasons for establish-

ing a high school, and advising the adoption of the

general system in place of the district system, closes

with a plea for more money for educational purposes,

" believing that, ifjudiciously applied, it will yield to

the town a better percentage by far than banks or

railroad stocks.'' Itsaysofthe objection to the High

School that "it would cost money;" "Itought to

cost money. It is worth money."

In 1853, in April, at an adjourned meeting, the

school district system was abolished. The committee

previously elected resigned and a new committee w.as

elected. This consisted of Marshall Kingman, Na-

thaniel Whiting, Joseph Coolidge, Jr., D. T. Huckins,

Moses Stone, William Lathrop and Oliver Edwards.
" In order to place, if possible, all the schools upon

an equality, the tutorship in each was declared vacant,

and the vacancies thus made thrown open to com-

petition to all. Three gentlemen and eight ladies

were appointed. In October, Mr. William Webster

was elected principal of the High School, which

opened with fifty-two pupils, the full course of study

prepared being for three years.

In 1855 the course of study in the High School was

extended through fouryears, and the future committee

was recommended to retain scholais another year in the

grammar schools, that the standard of all the schools

might be raised one year. In 1856-7, Miss A. L. Pierce

was appointed assistant teacher. She was followed
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in 1857-58 by Mias Abby T. Giddings. The town was

advised to build auolher silioolhoiise in pliice of the

one in the went part of the town, " located so close to

the rsilroadaiJ nolonly to endanger the lives of the

children while at play, but six or seven times a day

the recitations are brought abruptly to a stop by the

warnings of the engineer," etc. The appropriations

for schools in IM-M had risen to J6000, or IGS 2-5

cents on each $1000 of valuation of property from

$1700, in 18-10, (which was only 116 1-5 cents

per $1000). It is now over $3 per $1000. In the

various reports of guccessive committees are found

the painful and necessary confessions of the natural

results of the condition of schools overcrowded with

crude materials,—" resistance to ordinary school in-

lluence. . .usual evil habits of the school. ..taught with a

degree of success equaling that attained by any other

school . . . failure of his health, and his speedy and

sudden death," etc. The picture of faithful work

under overwhelming obstacles, often resulting in the

physical wreck, sometimes death, of the teacher, leads

one having any knowledge of the science of teach-

ing, to wonder if ever the time will come when such

sacrifices will not be required or expected. In 1857,

the High and Centre Grammar School-house was par-

tially destroyed by fire. In 1858, Mr. Henry Chase

was appointed master of the West Grammar School.

In IStiO, Mr. .Joseph Crafts took charge of the Centre

Grammar School, having served for the preceding

four years on the School Committee. Mr. Webster,

after teaching the Iligh.School seven years, resigned to

take a position in the Boston Latin School, and Henry

C'hiuse was transferred from the West Grammar, which

position he resigned w ilhiu a year, and, by unanimous

vote of the committee, accepted the mastership of the

West Grammar School again. Mr. Geo. R. Dwelley

was elected principal of the High School in the spring

of 1862. In 1864, Levi W. Kussell was made master

of the Centre Grammar School, which position he held

until 1868, when he was appointed master of the

tirigham School, in Providence, E. T., where he with

success continues in charge at the present time. In

1866, James M. Sawin was appointed master of the

East Grammar School, where he taught two years,

since which time he is the master of the Point Street

School, of Providence, R. I.

In March, 1866, the committee appointed Solon F.

Whitney, then first assistant in the Bridgewater

Normal School, principal of the High School, and in

September, Miss Mary F. Porter, of one of the Cam-
bridge schools, assistant. Mr. Whitney served until

the fall of 1871, when the new committee reinstated

Mr. Dwelley in the school. Mr. Whitney was soon
appointed a teacher in the Cambridge High School,
where he taught nearly fourteen years, although con-
tinuing to reside in town. Miss Porter, after three
years' very acceptable service, went to the Dorchester
High School, and Miss Charlotte E. Wheeler, from
the New Bedford High School, took her place. In

1870, Miss Susan Porter was appointed a second as-

sistant, but after winning the confidence of all by her

devotion and ability, she, in.April, 1871, was obliged

from ill health to resign, and Jliss KUen M. Crafts

was transferred from a grammar school to fill her

place. In October, 1871, Caroline S. Gushing be-

came first assistant, followed in September, 1873, by

Alice Worcester.

The High iSchool building was, during the sum-

mer and autumn of 1873, remodeled, so that for three

months or more the school was kept in the town hall.

In 1874, Mr. Dwelley resigned the second time, and

Mr. Groce, of Peabody, was elected master, and in

September, 1875, Prof. George I. Dippold, first assist-

ant. Mis Anna M. Gregory had been elected teacher

of drawing in all the schools in 1871, ana Mr. Henry

G. Carey, teacher of music.

In 1877, the committee declared all positions of

teachers vacant at the close of the year, and invited

all who wished to retain the same " to make applica-

tion," with the understanding that those who "should

pass an examination, such as the law of the Common-
wealth contemplated," might be appointed. All ap-

plied but one. Three did not pass, and the commit-

tee were in doubt about eight others.

Mr. Groce, master of the High School, did not ap-

ply, and Prof. Sclah Howell, of Union College, N. Y.,

was appointed to the position. Mr. Groce has taught

in one ofthe Boston high schools most of the time

since. B. F. Nutting, an artist, long resident in

Watertown, was employed in 1878 to teach drawing

in the High School. In 1879 Miss Anna M. Gregory

was employed at a smaller salary, and she continued

to teach with success for several years, until her res-

ignation in 1882. In September, 1877, Miss Ellen

M. Crafts was made first assistant. In April, 1878,

Miss Lilla Frost was appointed sec(md assistant. She

was followed in 1879 by Miss Almira P. Goss, in

1822 by Mr. Elmer E. Wentwortb.in 1883, Mr. Sum-
ner Coolidge, in 1884, by Miss Alice G. Patton, and

in 1887 by Anton Marquardt, Ph.D. In September,

1888, Wni. K. Norton was appointed teacher of

science. He was followed in September, 1889, by

Wm. M. Newton.

The present (1890) teachers ofthe High School are :

Geo. R. Dwelley, of Arlington, principal ; Ellen M.
Crafts, first assistant ; Dr. Anton Marquardt, modern

languages; Joseph Coolidge, sciences, etc.; Miss

Blanch I. George, drawing for part of the time; S.

Henry Hadley, music, for part of the time.

In 1881 a superintendent, Mr. John F. Prince, of

Waltham, was appointed, who made the position a

necessity by the new views of its usefulness, which he

exemplified in his treatment of the schools and by his

able reports. This position he occupied for three

years, until appointed an agent of the State Board

of Education, since which time, the master of the

High School has been called on to perform the duties

of the office.

i
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Watertown was complained of about 1690, to the

County Court, for deficiency in schools ; in 1696 was

fined for not having a school, not being willing to

repair the school-house and pay the person asked ''to

teach, the £20 a year which he demanded. Bond

gives a long list of Harvard graduates who taught in

town for very short periods, the salaries ofiercd be-

ing small, and the amount of training received in col-

lege probably not much in excess of that given in our

high schools of the present time, and probably with

no idea of teaching as a science or an art. Young

men were willing to teach a short time while prepar-

ing for a profession.

Since the days of Horace Mann, more attention has

been given to the art of teaching, schools have been

v.istly improved, and it is hoped that the time, may

sometime come when all citizens of the town may

have such complete confidence in the excellence of

her schools that none will feel willing to tax them-

selves doubly to find better ones outside her limits for

their children, or think of helping to support private

schools within her borders. To show the character

of the schools and the intent of the town to have the

best, we can do no better than give a list of the per-

'sons who have served on the School Committee of the

town since 1849, when the district school system began

to be abolished (abolished in 1853)

:

Rev. Charlps K. Colver, 1849.

Horace Bird, 1849.

Rev. J. Augustus Adams, lSt9.

Kev. Hasbrovick Davis, 18oU.

D. T. Hilcldns, 1850-53, '65-57,

'65-08.

Jesse Wlieelei-, 1850.

Rev. LI. C. Vose, 1850.

Joshua CooUidge, Jr., 1850, '53-57,

•m.

B. A. Edwards, 1851-52.

Rev. 51. IlwigUt, 1851.

Ularehall Kiuguian, 1852-54.

Nathaniel Whiting, 1853-54, '56-

67, 'Go.

Moses Stone, 1853-54.

William Lathrop, 1853.

Oliver Kdwards, 1853-54.

George Frazar, 1854.

Charles J. Barry, 1854-58, '59-64.

Joseph (Jrafts, 1855-56, '58, '69, 06-

69.

James Sharp, 1856.

Rev. Wm. L. Brown, 1856-57.

Rev. S. K. Dennl^n, 1856-58.

John Sylvester, 1857.

James G. Fuller, 1858.

Isaac Watts, 1868.

Rev. George SI. Steele, 1859.

Wm. G. Lincoln, 1869-63.

E. S. Rowse, 1869-61.

Ivers J. Austiu, 1860, '62.

Wm. M. Tobey, 1860-62.

Edward Bangs, 1860.

Rev. Arthur B. Fuller, 1861.

Kev. II E. Hempstead, 1861.

John B. Goodrich, 1862-64.

Bev. A. S. Patton, 1862-63.

Rev. John Weiss, 1863-65, '67-68,

Br. L. B. Morse, 1864-67, '78.

A. F. Fleming, 1864, '65.

Rev. L. T. Townsend, 1864-65,

'69-70.

Dr. Alfred Hosmer, 1865-70.

L. D. Sawyer, 1866.

Geo. F. Sleacham, 1866.

George K. Snow. 1868-71.

George E Priest, 1869.

Charles Brigham, 18K9, '71-73, '77.

•84.

N,J. Edwards, 187(V75.

A. L, Richards, 1870-72, '75, '79-

86.

Abiel Abbott, 1S70.

Charles W. Stone, 1871-74, '76,

'78, '82-90.

John Coolidge, Jr., 1871-75, '79-

'82.

Rev. Nathl. Fellows, 1872.

Rev. M. M, Green, 1873-77.

'Jorneliue Walker, 1873, '74.

T. G. Abbott, 1874.

F. H. Rice, 1875.

D. B. Flint, 1876.

John Murray, 1876-78.

Ann M. Hapgood, 1876.

Wm. H. Dadmuu, 1876.

Rev. T. W. Bishop, 1877-7S-.

Jesse F. Wheeler, 1877-79.

Kev. I. F. Loveriug, 1877-78.

C. F. Fitz, 1877, June to March.

J. J. Sullivan, 1878-80.

A. H. Bailey, 1879-82.

Geo. L. Noyes, 1870-83.

Kev. E. A. Capen, 1880.

Rev. Henry Lummis, 1881.

Rev, Robert P. Stack, 1881-85.

Kev. T. B. Smith, 1883.

A. G. Fitch, 1884-85.

Joshua C. Stone, 1884-89.

Dr. Julian A. Mead, 1885-90.

Dr. L. S. Smith, 1886.

Br. M. J. Kelley, 1880-88.

0. S. Ensign, 1886-90.

Jas. D. Monahan, 1887-90.

Mrs. Ruth Bradford, 1889-90.

Miss H. A. Coolidge, 1890.

PRiNoiPAia or TUE moll school.

William Webster, 1854-01. |
Solon F. Whitney, 1860-71.

Henry Chase, 1861-62.

Goo. R. Bwelley, 1862-66, '71-74,

81-

Byron Groco, 1874-77.

Solah Howell, 1877-81.

BUPEniNTENUENTS OF THE PDBLIO BCHOOtS.

John T. Prince, 1881-83.
I

George B. Dwelloy, 1883-

IJBRARIES.

Social.—That the early settlers brought books

with them when they came, is evident. George Phil-

lips was "a prime scholar," "mighty in interpreta-

tion."

His widow gave " to son Samuel all the Latin,

Greek and Hebrew books now in the house." Yet

we have no record of libraries of any magnitude, or

of any collections of books for common use for the

first century or more.

In 1779 there was formed, in the east part of the

town, near where the first settlement was made in

1630, a social library. It was called, at first, " The
Union Library," afterwards the "Union Social Li-

brary," of Watertown. The old record-book, still ex-

isting—a precious legacy to the present library—be-

gins with the following

:

"Subscription.

" "We, the subscribers, being desirous of promoting learning, do hereby

agree to form ourselves into a society for that purpose, and, as it wilt

be needful for to have a gum of money for to purchase the books for a

library, we hereby do agree to pay per share a sum not exceeding three

dollars, said money to be paid at the time the society hold their first

meeting, and appoint some person or persons to receive it, or a collector

that shall be appointed for the purpose of collecting it ; said money to

be laid out to purchase such books for our use as the Majority of the

society shall agree upon ; we also agree that when twenty shares shall

be subscribed for, that some five of them (the snUscribers) shall apply to

a justice of the peace for a warrant to warn the first meeting for to

choose all officers and making such by-laws for the governing said

Library as shall then be thought needful."

The following names were appended in the same

handwriting as the above :

Christopher Grant,

Peter Clark,

.loshua Grant,

.loseph Bright,

.\mos Livermore, Jr., 3 shares,

Elisha Livermore,

William Stone,

Jonathan Stone,

Leonard Bond,

David Livermore,

Elijah Learned,

Simon Whitney,

Samuel Harrington,

Moses Coolidge, 2 shares,

Thomas Bisco,

Benj. Hastings,

Samuel Sodin,

Thomas Clark,

Jonas Bond, 3 sb.,

Daniel Whitney, Jr.,

Francis Bright,

Nathaniel Bright,

James Barnard,

Wiiliam Chenory,

Moses Chenery,

Elizabeth Bernard,

Samuel Coolidge,

Peter Harrington,

James Simmonds,

Nathaniel R. Whitney,

Jonathan Bird,

Nathaniel Stone,

Joshua Coolidge, with Ju' added in

di^erent ink.

David Stone,

Ab^ah Stone,

Josiah Sanderson.

So far the names seem to have been copied in one

hand, with the same ink, from same paper. The fol-

lowing may be actual signatures of a later date

:
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I,arklu 6111IU1,

Tl M Mvorniore,

SlU'llltrUiuy,

Tluiniuii Lmnieil,

4!(H)ri;r Slt*riir8,

I 'hurlcii Sltme,

L«M>tmrtl ItirbiiniMn,

Atiit« II. Llv<»rm»ire,

KU'iir/or rnulor,

Ilt'txkluli Uitvia,

iMia Sloiic,

Ji»lilli S. I'l.irko.

('.:( Ill iiiiiiilxT.

Juwph Dlnl.

I..
' .«lrr,

< i

II

.S , "gtUD,

J . Jr.,

L«»iMnl :tiuii«,

Jubo H Clark, 1 •b. mui half,

I»lll<il A. Talnlrr,

.\il*m llruwu,

llr|rill«b arant,

Wllllmu M, r.Miifrojr,

TliuiiiM Kicli«r<li«>>ii,

L>Kulul l<«&ruett.

To omit tlie iiexl |>ai;o (M llu- leooril woulil be base

iiigrtititiule to that paiiil'iilly-e.Kiict iiiul l:iw-iibidiii{;

epirit whii li chiirai-teri/etl these men, some of thera

active in that contest which rejected with scorn the

rule of their mother country when it conflicted with

individual rif-'hts, and strove to force by arms tea and

taxes upon unrepresented people. Only a score of

years had passed when this was penned, yet we see

the intent of law-abiding citizens to omit no legal

fprm in starting this little .''ociety for "promoting

learning." Doubtless the names of the three Water-

towu members of the Bo.ston Tea Party would have

been found here had they not unfortunately all died

before this. Here is the record :

*' To Amos BuilJ, Iv^l'., one of tllo justices of Uic pence within and fur

tbo ronuty of 3lidilloM>x:

" We, tlie subscribers, live of the Subscribers to form a Society to pnr-

cbuw Buttks for a Library in tlio Town of Watertown, judging a meet-

ing of tlio Subscribed for sjud Lilirary to bo necessary, do hereby request

you to issue a Warrant for tlie calling of a meeting of said Subscribers

to b« hotilen at the dwelling-house of Jonathan Bird, iniiolder, in said

Walertown, on Monday, the ninth day of December Inst., at six o'clock

I'.M., to act on the following Articles (viz.) :

" To chose all ollicers and make such bye-laws as shall then bo judged

necejHury for governing said Library. Moses Coolidoe,

"Dated at Waterlown the TnoM.\s Clakk,

second day of December, Xatu' R. Whitney,

anoo Domini, 1799. Peteq Clauk,

Samuel Cooudge.

" Middlesex Ss. To Col. Moses Coolidge, one of the Subscribers to

purchase Rtoks for a Library in the town of Watertown :

" You are hereby required in the name of the Commonwealth of Blas-

sachusetts to notify the subscribers to purchase books for a Library in

tbo Town of Waterlown in manner as the law directs, to meet at the

time and place and for the purposes iiic'ntioried in the foregoing applica-

tion. Oiven under my band and seal this 2nd of December, .\,D. 1779.

" A BIOS Bond,
" Justice of the peace for the said Conn, of Middlesex.

"In pursuance of the foregoing Warrant to mo directed, I do hereby

notify the proprietors within named to meet at the tinio & place men-
tioned in the foregoing application, A for the purposes therein expressed.

" Dated at Watertown, the second day of December, A.D. 1779.

" M0SB8 CooLIDGB."

" At a meeting of the subscribers to purchase books for a Library in

the Town of Watertown, duly warmed agreeable to law, by a warrant
from a Justice of the peace, held at the house of Mr. Jonathan Rird, inn"

bolder in said Watertown, on Monday, the ninth day of December, anno
Domini one thout^and seven hundred and ninety-nine.

** Opened said meeting Si proceeded as follows (viz.):

"lit—CboseNath. K. Whitney, Esq'., Moderator.
•' 2nd—Samuel Coolidge, Clerit,

":tnl—Voted that the Society be called k known by the name of the
Union Library Society In Watertown.

"«h—Cliuso Nathi B. Whitney, Christopher Grant, Moses Coolidge,
Thomas Clark, Elisba Livcrmore, directors for the ensuing year & di-

rect«d tbem to purchase the books for tbo Library. Also agreed that

each subscriber iwiy three Dollar* per share for the use aforesaid.

"fitb—Chose Amos Livorinore, jr.. Librarian & Llisha Livennore the

Librarian's assistant for the year ensuing,

"Then adjourned to tbo Stdiool-houso in the Kast-district of said Wa-

tartown. thero to moot on the second Monday of January next, at six

o'clock P.M.

Immediately following this record is a list of si.xty

books, with their cost prices, ranging from nine dol-

lars for Goldsmith's "Animated Nature" to "Sterne's

Journey," at seventy-five cents, and the "Life of Ool.

Gardiner" at sixty-seven cents, on which there was a

discount, however, of twelve and one-half per cent.

Among these books were " Knox's Essays," " Vicar of

Wakefield," "Seneca's Morals," "Cook's Voyages,"

Robertson's" America" (in three volumes), "The
Dignity of Human Nature," "Paley's Evidences,"

Whiston's " Josejihus'' (si.\ volumes), "Watts, On the

Mind," "Evelina," Minot's "History of JMassachu-

setts," " Peter Pindar," " Children of the Abbey " (in

four volumes), a book on "Cattle " and one on " Far-

riery," " Bruce's Travels," Adams' " New England."

Among books bought later, were "Washington's

Letters," "Rollin's Ancient History," " Boston Ora-

tions," "Milton's Works" and the "Life of Washing-

ton; "and still later, "Life of Bonaparte," "Silli-

inan's Journal," " Pastor's Fireside," " Opie's Tales,"

"Freeman's Sermons," "Sketch Book," "Life of

Alexander the Great," Scott's "Letters on Demon-
ology and Witchcraft," " Mary Queen of Scots,"

"Life of Sir Isaac Newton," "Memoirs of Celebrated

Female Sovereigns," "Abercrombie on Iiitellecltial

Powers." "Redgauntlet," "Last of the Mohicans,"

"The Spy," and "Roxabel," and others, in all, two

hundred and thirty-five volumes.

On January 13, 1800, a constitution and code of

by-laws were adopted.

"1st. That the annual meeting should be held at

Jonathan Bird's tavern.'' This still stands at the

corner of Mount Auburn and Belmont Streets, facing

Mount Auburn bridge. They defined the duties of

each oflicer. One of the duties of the librarian was
'' to open the Library to each proprietor the 2d Mon-
day of each month for 2 hours, between 6 & 8 o'clock

p. M. ; the Directors .should receive all monies from

the Librarian, purchase all books, abate fines, except

fines for lending books; examine library, call meet-

ings on request," etc. There were such other rules

as would naturally occur to any one:

"To meet annually the 2nd Monday at Bird's tav-

ern, and to have the library open two hours on each

2nd Monday through the year.'' These were essential

to success. I have heard that those anniial meetings,

held at six o'clock P. jr., at Bird's tavern, were not

wholly unpleasant; and that proprietors, or pro-

prietors' children, visited the library on its monthly
opening of two hours, is well attested by the thumb-
marks which some of the books bear to this day.

At the annual meeting in December, 1800, nearly

the same officers were chosen, and it was voted that
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each member pay three shillings to purchase addi-

tional books, and that the librarian be paid for his

services one shilling a night (or month). Evidently,

great confidence was felt in the librarian or other

officers, for the directors or society seldom met, except

at the annual meeting at Bird's tavern.

At the next annual meeting, called with all the

formalities of a regular town-meeting, held January '15,

1802, Moses Coolidge was chosen moderator, Samuel

Coolidge, clerk ; Thos. Clark, Nathaniel R. Whitney,

Nathaniel Stone, David Stone and Thomas Bisco, di-

rectors. " Voted, that the money which is not col-

lected may be collected it laid out for such books as

shall be thought necessary by the Directors. Voted,

that the lines arising for not returning the books at

the time, the past year, be appropriated for thecover-

ing, with leather, such books as the Directors shall

think necessary."

So the records run on with some changes of names,

with the annual purchase of books, collection of fines

and assessments, and it is fair to believe, for after a

few years the name of the library was changed to the

Union Social Library, with a good social meeting at

Mr. Bird's tavern, with such literary discourse as the

batch of new books would naturally suggest.

After awhile, about the time of the last war with

England, it was decided to pay the librarian for his

services (two dollars) and also the cierk for his, and

the only records are of theannual meetings which wer«

then held at the house of Samuel Bellows (the same

tavern). In the year 1818, .Joshua Coolidge gave his

share to Joshua Coolidge, Jr. ; Col. Moses Coolidge,

still chosen moderator nearly every year, is now made
librarian ; Joseph Bird is made collector and assistant

librarian. The records are very legibly written by

Elisha Livermore, clerk.

In 1842, at a legal meeting, the warrant for which

was issued by Tyler Bigelow, one of the justices of the

peace, a report was received from a committee ap-

pointed to report on the state of the library, and pro-

posing a union with the North District, was accepted

and entered at length on the records.

As thi.s report was prepared with evident care,

partly by men who, twenty-six years afterwards, in-

terested themselves in the Free Public Library, and

as it recommended an immediate union with the

North District, thus endorsing the plan of Horace

Mann for furnishing the whole State with good read-

ing in the District School Libraries, we think it of

importance not only to the history of the library in

this place, but as showing the results of both of these

steps—the society library and the district school

library—in thegradual development ofasystem of free

public libraries, probably nowhere excelled in the

world, and now quite generally patterned after by

England.

We therefore make free extracts from the report,

which was signed by Charles Stone, Daniel Learned,

Joseph Bird, Jr., Thomas Livermore and Joshua

Coolidge, Jr. They report : "That the subject upon

mature consideration seems more feasible and likely

to produce good results to most of the proprietors and

particularly to the district. A large number of the

books are valuable, and only want more attention di-

rected to them and also an introduction to a new class

of readers to still be permanently useful." They

complain that the books are not read ; that the neglect

of them even seems to increase; give as a reason that

not books enough can be bought to keep up the inter-

est ; that personal assessments arc too ai)t to be ne-

glected, and the committee dejilore the evident result

to which all is tending, for several reasons : "First,

that this Library, founded by our fathers many years

since, should not be destroyed by their children, but

continued to our children with increased energy and

usefulness. Second, that many of the books could not

now be purchased, and which, iinite<l with new books,

would make a valuable library. Third and more im-

portant, that if the library should now be broken up,

the tiiste for reading which is now with us, would lie

dormant and perhaps be extinguished, instead of which

it needs, by every proper means, encouragement."

The plan of union with the District School Library

seems advisable. First, because of the new books

added to the library ; second, that the " children, as

they are plodding through the dull routine of educa-

tion,"—it must have been a dull routine before the

days of Horace Mann,—"will be forming a taste for

(»rrect reading, which cannot fail to increase their

usefulness in society ; and still another reason is that

parents also will be able to increase in useful knowl-

edge and thus be better prepared to educate their

children. This is no new idea. Many districts in our

State already have libraries, one even in our own
town. Of so much importance was it deemed by our

Legislature, that it was proposed to form one in every

District in the State, and it is probable, but for the

pecuniary difficulties of the times, it would have been

done." The report goes on to say that the Board of

Education have begun to prepare a number of books

to be sold as cheap as possible to encourage their

adoption. Indeed it would seem that there should be

no objection to a plan of this kind if properly man-
aged, and they would hope that everyone will see the

importance of either aiding the present plan or i)ro-

posing a better one. They recommend a union with

the North District, the library to be called " The
North District Union Social Library." Minute and
wise conditions are appended which were substan-

tially adopted.

The remnant of this North District Union Social

Library, after thirty-six years more of partial useful-

ness and natural neglect, came, in 18";"), by the hand
of .loseph Bird, together with the old and precious

record-book, as a gift to the town, to the care of the

Free Public Library, the natural successor to such

and all other institutions for the education of the

people through books.
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CiRCL'LATiNoLiBKAHiES.—Before speaking more

explicitly of the experiment me;itioned iis District

School Libraricti, attention should be given to the

work of circulating librariet in the town. Several

have existed at different periods, well cared for by their

owners, always open to those who were willing to pay

the small toe for the daily nr weekly nse of the books,

and furnishing such books as the taste or the selfish

interests of their owners dictated. In some ca-ses

these books have given au impulse to study, and

have laid the foundations of learning.

Such :i library was kept by Mrs. Curtis, in the

Kobbins house, near the Great Bridge. Mrs. Curtis

was the daughter of "an intelligent, prominent and

niiicli respected citizen of Watertown, Mr. James

Robbins, who carried on various branches of manu-

facturing,'' and had also a country store. When he

died, in 1810, having been less successful in the latter

part of his life, and having left a numerous family,

with rather scanty means, this daughter, a person of

energy and education, not wishing to be dependent

upon friends, opened this library as one means of

support. Here her two boys, Benjamin Robbins Cur-

tis and George Ticknor Curtis, laid the foundation of

their love of books for which the world has since

been richer. We may never know how much good

was done by that collection for the mass of its read-

ers ; but one grateful son has thrown a little light on

the subject which is encouraging to those who, from

any motives, are trying to bring good books to the at-

tention of those who may be benefited thereby. Of
course, "It was chiefly a collection of novels and

poetry ; and when I name the period during which

my mother kept this library, as from about 1818 to

1825, the reader will sec that Scott's novels from
' Waverly ' to ' Redgauntlet,' and all his principal

poems; Byron's works; Southey's 'Thalaba' and
' Roderick ;' Irving's ' Sketch-Book,' Bracebridge Hall

'

and ' Tales of a Traveler ;

' Cooper's ' Spy," ' Pioneers

'

and ' Pilot ' and many other books, new at that pe-

riod, might have been, as in fact they were, included

in this collection. The books were much sought for

by the surrounding families.

" My aunt's books were not embraced in the circu-

lating library ; but she possessed, among others, an

excellent edition of Shakespeare—of whose works she

was a constant reader—Milton's ' Paradise Lost,'

Young's 'Night Thoughts,' Thomson's 'Seasons,'

Cowper's ' Poems,' Johnson's ' Rasselas, 'Jeremy Tay-
lor's 'Holy Living and Dying,' and the 'Specta-

tor.' I am quite sure that my brother's first know-
ledge of these authors was derived from her books.

In a home so furnished with the lighter and some
of the more solid materials of intellectual develop-

ment, my brother became a great reader at an
age when most boys care for nothing hut their

sports. At first he read novels incessantly,''—this

young judge I and why should he not?—"and I

can well remember the sorrowful resignation with

which he would surrender a volume of Scott, or

Cooper, or Irving, when a call for it came into my
mother's little parlor, from the 'shop.' From novel-

reading he passed to some of the historical plays of

Shakespeare, and afterwards to ' Paradise Lost.'
"

George Ticknor Curtis, in thus speaking of his bro-

ther's experience, says nothing of his own ; but as we
know of his great ability in letters, and the fact that

he was three years younger in the same circulating

library, we are at liberty to draw our own inference.

Many years ago there was a circulating library in

the north part of the town, and, until quite recently,

there has been quite a prosperous one for many years

on Main Street.

The District School Libraries planted by Hor-

ace Mann in almost every town in the State, have left

the evidence of their existence in several districts of

this town. A few of the books scattered among the

families have come into the Public Library. There

are less than a dozen of them from all sources. It

were an ungracious task to show why such collections

of the wisdom of the ages should have so short a life

and be dissipated so soon. The very conditions under

which they were located, without permanent respon-

sible care, being in charge of the teacher, who was

changed each term, made their usefulness, .as collec-

tions, of very short duration. Then, we believe, there

were some grave difliculties of choice of books among
the State authorities ; and the conflicting interests of

publishers were, in this State, however they may
have been managed in other States, very near in-

superable.

They gave many a youth, however, a taste which

helped in mature life to develop that larger knowledge

of books which demands for all, the more permanent

public library.

Book Clubs.—Since 1843, soon after Mr. Weiss

came to town, there has been a very flourishing booh

dub, composed of some of our most appreciative people,

who pass their books and periodicals from one to another

in some prearranged order. More recently other book

and magazine clubs have been formed.

Dr. Francis says, in his historical sketch of Water-

town: " In 1829 a Lyceum was established. Connected

with the Lyceum is a scientific and miscellaneous

library ; there are two libraries besides this—one a

Religious Library, the other a Juvenile Library."

What has become of the Lyceum Library? The sec-

ond one mentioned is probably what afterwards be-

came the Parish Library, given to the Public Library

in 1870 by the First Parish. This gift was an acces-

sion of over three hundred volumes, " rich in works

of scholarly and devout thinkers."

Free Public Library.—The Free Public Library

of Watertown was first opened to the public on the

31st of March, 1869, with 2250 volumes on the

shelves, and $3000 in cash and subscriptions to be

expended for books.

By the conditions of the original gift of $6000 in
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money to the town, given by quite a large number of

residents and former residents of the town, in the year

1868, tiie town agreed " to accept the gift to establish

a Free Public Library, provide a convenient place to

receive it, and make it useful to the citizens. The

said Library shall belong to the town, be cared for,

and enlarged as circumstances will permit by annual

votes of the town, in meeting assembled."

When the first catalogue was published, in March,

1870, the original subscription of $6000 having been

expended and several considerably large contributions

of books having been included, there were five thou-

sand (5401) volumes, and nearly two thousand (1956)

pamphlets and papers. When the second catalogue

was published, in 18SI, there were over twelve thou-

sand (12,447) volumes, and nearly twelve thousand

(11,830) pamphlets and paper. At present, in 1890,

there are about 20,000 volumes and over 25,000

pamphlets and papers. The library is located in a

handsome building which, with improvements intro-

duced since its erection, has cost, with the lot on

which it stands, about $45,000.

The town has not in these twenty-two years failed

to do its part in preserving, in maintaining, in en-

larging, and in making useful this noble trust.

The history of the formation and growth of this

library is creditable to the public spirit of the town.

It was not, as we have seen, the first attempt in town

to make a collection of books for public use ; it was the

first attempt, as far as we know, to make a collection

for the use of the entire town without expense to any

reader.

The history of this library, perhaps not unlike the

history of the public library in many another town,

is full of interest. It is creditable to the public spirit,

the energy and zealous self-denial of many of its cit-

izens. What they did others can do, so that no town

or community, following their example, need be with-

out some kind of a public library. In the first steps,

regard was had for what had been accomplished else-

where, particularly in the neighboring town of Brook-

line, and in New Bedford.

In the movement for a public library in this town,

it was accepted as a fundamental principle that peo-

-ple would pay for what they considered of real worth.

That those who had enjoyed peculiar advantages of

education, or by wealth had the necessary leisure for

reading and acquaintance with books, would natur-

ally know their value. Then, that those who from

being associated with these would be influenced by

them, would like to appear to prize what the others

prized, and help what the others helped. In a word,

that if a certain number could be found who knew
the value of a library to themselves, and so by infer-

ence to a community, who also to their knowledge

could add a certain amount of Christian benevolence

suflicient to enable them to make a sacrifice of the

ownership or immediate possession of books that they

called their own, and had themselves enjoyed, or were

willing to transfer the investment of a portion of the

funds which stood or might stand in their own name,

to the charge of public trustees to be chosen for the

purpose, in order that they might be invested in

books for the ])ublic use; in short, if ther(^ could be

found a sullicient number of |>eople who could see

that the wealth in their possession was something

hold in trust, and could see that by transferring a por-

tion of their money for this specific purpose of a pub-

lic store of books, they would more certainly advance

the common good by this treasury of learning, to

which all alike might go for information, and trans-

fer their care to those to be benefited, and so relieve

themselves so far from further care ; if, in a word, an
appropriate appeal were made to the better educated

and more benevolent members of the community,

the foundation of a library would be secured. The
appeal was made. The result more than established

the correctness of the assumption. At each decided

step in the direction of greatly increased expense,

during the more than twenty years of experimental

life of the library, such people have been asked to

contribute of their means as an evidence of faith in

the value of things asked for, and then the town has

been a.sked to complete the appropriation.

Any community can have a public library if the

more intelligent and benevolent will personally from

their own means contribute one-half of the cost, and
then will assist the rest of the community according

to their rates by taxation to bear their share by public

appropriation of the other half. The mass of any
community can be brought to see that thus they, the

principal gainers of the advantages of such an appro-

priation of fnnds, and only contributors to a part

according to their amount of property, do a good
thing for themselves and their town by voting the

other half. The mass, I say. Alas! there are some
stubborn exceptions to the truth of so natural and
obvious an assertion.

The time will come when towns will vote libraries

as they do schools, directly. When the experimental,

missionary stage of the work has passed, then sup-

plies for libraries will be voted as for roads, for public

lighting, for schools, as a matter of necessitj'. For
they will see that by creating a taste for reading

among the children, for instance, who, growing up in

idleness and vice, would form the criminal classes, they

will be merely transferring a part of the expense of

police and police courts and jails to other and better

forms of restraint. In getting the idle and ignorant

into reading-rooms, they are forming habits that will

lead to knowledge and thoughtfulness and desire of

personal independence and useful employment, and
thus so far do away with the necessity of police

machinery. The cost of insurance of the safety of

property in a community decreases as the common
estimate of the desirability and use of a public library

becomes more universal. The productive energies of

a people are increased by increase of knowledge. The
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quality of tlie skill of ii c.mumuiity improves with

the iui|iriiveiui<nt of the miiultt of tlie workers and

with the elevation of their tiisle and artistic sense. It

is nut necitwary to predict converts to some particu-

lar idea or sect ils the result of opening to a people

the fountains of all knowledge. To one who believes

that all knowledge, all truth in its vast ramifications,

proceeiU from and tends to one vast origin and end,

and is a part of the great cosmos, there can he no fear

tLs to the final result of opening all the Hood-gales of

li;.,'hl for the benefit of the .seeker after truth. There

will be limitations enough left in the capacity of men,

in the willingness of humnn beings to consider the

more desirable forms of truth.

We have indicated in a general way some of the

peculiar conditions in this town favorable for the

growth of ihe public library when once planted. The

spirit of intlependence of thought and action, exem-

plified in iu entire history, fiom the fouudation by

Sir liichard Saltonstall and George Phillips, and the

somewhat broad-minded Deacon Brown, like the light

of a vestal lamp has never been allowed to bo quite

e.xtinguished. In looking over the history written by

the successive School C'ominittees, one is almost op-

pressed, it must be confessed, with the fear of the near

approach of some fatal extinguisher of policy or par-

simony. But it is only that the selfishness perhaps of

those who bore the lam|), or their short-sightedness for

the time, allowe<l the tlames to burn low. Again and

again the flame rekindles. In the report of 1850 we

read " thrift, thrift, Horatio," " it would be easy to

show that good schools would pay us in good dollars,"

although the committee sadly, one would think, and

with fear, recommended the raising of ifSoO for each

of the three school-districts with their total of 500

scholars. Now they cheerfully and confidently ask

for $120,000 for 917 scholars. The committee of 1852,

when an additional school-house was imperative,

"respectfully suggests the est.ahlishment of a High

School." In 1856, " If Watertown wishes to grow in

numbers and in wealth, let her continue as she is

now doing, appropriating liberally for the education

of her children."

In 1805, " Mr. Jesse A. Locke proposed a set of

prizes for actual improvement iu demeanor and schol-

arship ; so that industry, patience and a sense of

duty received the stimulus." In 186G, "The com-

mitte have determined, by aid of private subscrip-

tion, to create the nucleus of a High School Library."

In 1807, " There hiis been established a good [High
School and Teachers'] library, which contains 276

volumes." "This Teachers' Library is a novelty,

and the habit of using it has Jiol yet become general

among those whom it is intended to benefit." " The
pupils have come to depend upon the library."

The very man who .as a boy attended those meet-
'

ings of the Social Union Library Association iu his

father's tavern, Mr. .Joseph Bird, who afterwards was a
teacher of music with Horace Mann at West Newton,

and at home was a hearty supjxjrter of the scheme for

District School Libraries, the custodian of the Union

District Social Library of which we have already spok-

en, himself an omnivorous reader, obtained the first

contributions for a " Teachers' Library," which were

so generous as to inspire the hope that with similar

effort extended through the town, a fund of sufiicient

amount could be obtained to make the establishment

of a town library—a free public library for the whole

town—possible. The les.son was a good one, the hope

has been fully realized.

It was '' At a meeting of the School Committee

called by Dr. Alfred Hosmer, chairman, .May 7, 1807,

voted to choose Messrs. Alfred Hosmer, .John Weiss

and Joseph Crafts a committee to consider the subject

of a town library, and report at the next meeting."

On July 2d it was " Voted, that the secretary trans-

mit to the donors of the books that now compo.se the

High School Library, the thanks of the committee,

in behalf of the town, for such a generous contribu-

tion to the cause of education in Watertown."
" Voted that the thanks of the School Committee be

cordially expressed to Joseph Bird, for his personal

interest and efibrt in securing the valuable books that

now comjtnse the High School and Teachers' Library

in Watertown."

Within a few weeks after the appointment of the

committee named above, namely, on the 3d of June,

1807, the School Committee issued the following in-

vitation :

"The School Committee of this town, convinced of

the importance of establishing here a Free Public

Library (these last three words were printed in large

letters, which extended across the whole page), and

wishing to have some plan devised Viy the citizens, in-

vite you to attend a preliminary meeting, at the ves-

try of the Unitarian Church, on Thursday evening,

June 6, at 8 o'clock, to assist in the dissussion of the

subject. Per order of the committee. D. T. Huck-
ins, Secretary."

The meHing was held, the subject discussed by

Rev. John Weiss, Mr. Miles Pratt, Capt. Joseph

Crafts, Mr. Joseph Bird, Mr. Jesse A. Locke, Rev. J.

M. Bell, all in favor ; a plan w.as adopted, and a com-

mittee was chosen to raise funds. Mr. Locke offered

to give the $600 which he had received for his salary

as representative of the town to the Legislature of the

former year.

The committee cho.sen were. Dr. Alfred Hosmer,
the chairman of the meeting. Rev. John Weiss,

Joseph Bird, Miles Pratt, Jesse A. Locke, Leonard

Whitney, Jr., Joseph Crafts, Rev. J. M. Bell, Rev.

W. F. Stubbert, Dr. D. T. Huckins, Mr. James
Sharp and Solon F. Whitney.

This committee met with a generous response, both

from citizens and from former residents of the town.

It was able to ofTer, at a meeting called to consider

and act upon the subject, on the 28th of January,

1868, within about seven mouths, the sum of six
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thousand dollars ; which it did on the following con-

ditions : "That the town accept the gift of six

thousand dollars.' to establish a Free Public Library,

provide a convenient place to receive it, and make it

useful to the citizens. The said Library shall belong

to the town, and be cared for, and enlarged, as cir-

cumstanceo will permit, by annual votes of the town

in meeting assembled."

The town, at this meeting, appointed as committee

to report a plan of organization, Messrs. Jesse A.

Locke, Edward Bangs, Henry Chase, Alvin Adams,

David B. Flint, and the chairman. Rev. John Weiss,

and the secretary, Solon F. Whitney, "f the former

committee.

At a town-meeting held July 22, lcS68, this com-

mittee reported and the town adopted as a plan of

organization the rules and regulations, which, with

some amendment, remain in force to this day.

The town at this meeting appointed ten trustees to

serve till March, IStiO, viz.:—
,Iobn AVeiss,

Josiah Sticknt-'y,

.lames H[. Bell,

Joseph Bird,

Jesse A. Loclte,

Alfred iloBiiier,

David T. Huckins,

Abiel Abbott,

Joshua Coolidge,

t'barles ,T. Burry.

At the same meeting the town voted that the trus-

tees be authorized to take the room under the town-

hall, then occupied as a store, " or any other portion

of the Public Buildings which tluy may select for

the use of the Library."

Also " Voted that the Library sh;ijl not be open on

Sundays."

This Board of Trustees organized by making John

1 The contributions from non-residentg to the original fund of six

thousand dollars were :

—

In 1808-1809.

Seth and George Bemia, of H. H. Hunuewell, of Boston . SfidO

Newton 8500 Edward Whitney, Belmont . 100

Heirs of Abijab M'hite, Cam- Mrs. Theodore tlhase, Boston 100

bridge 500 Edward S. Rowse, St. Louis . 100

George T. Bigelow, Boston . 100 B. R. Curtis, Boston .... 60

George C. aud Abby Francis, Mrs. Mary Jennisen, Newton 10

Cambridge 100 L. L. Thaxter, Newton ... 10

Mrs. G. W. Lyman, Waltham 60

In 1872. In 187,'i.

William Cole, Baltimore . . $100 Heirs of Jonas White, Cam-
bridge $100

Besides numerous contributions of $1, 8.S, or $10 each, from residents,

there were also the following :

—

AlTin Adams JIOOO George T. Heacham .... $.00

Jesse A. Locke (JOO Rev. John Weiss 60

Joaiah Stickney 2G0 Andrew J. Ross 50

Adolpbe Lewando 160 Miss Mary Pratt 50

David B. Flint 100 Charles J. Barry 50

Miles Pratt 100 John Trickey .W

B. B. Titcomb 100 Charles Bemis 60

John Templeton 100 Edward Bangs 50

Harrison P. Page 100 George B. Wilbur 60

George N. March 100 Caleb Ladd 60

George K. Snow 100 Royal Gilkey 60

Dr. Sanmel Richardson . . 25 Joshua G. Gooch 25

Joseph Crafts 25 Thomas L. French 25

Solon F. Whitney * 25 Jesse Wheeler 20

Samuel L. Batchelder ... 25 John K. Stickney 20

Dr. Alfred Hosnier 50 Oliver Shaw 16

WeisB, chairman, and Alfred Hosmer, secretary, aud

chose Solon F. Whitney, librarian.

They proceeded at once to prepare lists of books,

ai)propriated a vacant room under the High School

room for their reception and preparation for use.

After occupying this room about seven months, they

moved the books to tbe town-hall, and, as was stated

in the first lines of this sketch, were able to open the

library to the public on the 31st of March, 18(i!l.

The eagerness with which the people accepted the

profl'ered privileges is witnessed by the fact that the

circulation rose at once to ten thousand volumes the

first year, and has gone on increasing till the number
of nearly forty thousand volnmes has been attained

during the i)ast year.

Opening oif THE Public Library.—The first even-

ing the tru.stees were all present; the people came in

great numbers aud business at once began.

There was then no lime wasted in speech-making, no

band of music, no display of ilags. neillierorator or poet

who, in grand and stirring periods or glowing rhymes,

sounded the praises of the authors whose works were

displayed on the shelves, or of the persons who had

been instrumental in collecting the library ; no

speech-making except the cheery conversation of

the trustees as they took the signatures of those de-

siring to become takers of books, the few words of

librarian and assistants as they helped each to a

new book ; no sounds of music except the busy tones of

all as they i)assed through the alcoves and praised

the collection or criticised the absence of some loved

author; no tiags except the long written lists that

served at first as catalogues of books. The blooming

periods of orators and the musical and flowing rhymes
were indeed there, but bound between pasteboard

covers, asleep till some touch of the hand of the prince

should come to wake them from sleep; the solid prin-

ciples of philosophy and of conduct were, indeed,

oflTered, and no taste too delicate and no moral condi-

tion too enfeebled to drink else but health and in-

spiration from some of the pages written by the mas-

ter spirits of this and all past ages there offered free

to all.

The opening of this library to the people of Water-

town we may acknowledge, at this distance of time,

when most of the principal .actors have passed on to

other fields and are beyond reach of praise or blame
of our poor words, was an occasion the wisdom, the

magnitude of which far transcends in char.acter and
importance most of those occasions that are mar-
shaled in with so much display and circumstance,

when all are moved to contribute 'heir presence and
their aid in magnifying the event.

Our children in some future time shall gather to

lay the corner-stone of some grand temple of learning

and rational enjoyment, when they will recall the

simple and business-like proceedings at this opening,

and calling to their aid the muses of music and of

painting, of architecture and of sculpture, will rouse
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the kindled souU of a more seusitive ami apprecia-

tive pe'iple to the full .signififance of the opening

event, when the few, by the sacrifice of books from

their own store*, by the gift of fiwuln from their own

Binall incomes, aided by larger git^s from those who

had opportunity to lest the bencfita of stores of books,

from some who, perhaps, saw this a cheaper way to

(Hilice the town and protect their own abundant

wealth, had been brought to unite in such an under-

taking in those early days when not more than one-

eighth of the towns and cities of the Commonwealth

had taken the first step to establish that long list of

libraries now almost equal in number to the number

of the separate municipalities in the State.

These lame words can only make this attempt to

recoril the beginning of the march of this company

in the grand army now covering the whole land, whose

onward and majestic tread shall, in its own time, ex-

alt the lowly and break down the proud, shall offer

to every appreciative soul the help of the choicest

spirits of earth, and breaking down every barrier of

power or wealth or social distinction, bring together

in the kingdom of intelligence and moral worth

those who begin to catch some glimpse of those shores

of the blessed lands where all shall find full scope

for the best of which he is capable, and all circum-

scribing hindrances to full development be removed.

Kmerson says when you find some fine piece of statu-

ary that you greatly enjoy or some picture that stirs

your soul, place them where the public may enjoy

them and your pleasure shall be all the greater.

In this spirit many were led to begin this library.

Continued in this spirit, it will ever grow in magni-

tude, in richness of adornment, as well as in the re-

sources it will accumulate to give pleasure to the

latest generation of a happy posterity.

The wealth of our language is too poor to give full

credit to the clear intuitions, the nobje motives of

some of those engaged in laying the foundations of

this Watertown Free Public liibrary. John Weiss

made the larger part of the first selection of books.

That selection challenges the scrutiny of all oppo-

nents of public libraries. Some of the books in the

collection, it is true, were such as our people felt

moved to give from their own stores. Some of these

were not what more intelligent 'people, with ample

means, would have selected from the shelves of pub-

lishers when choice was free. The trustees wished to

encourage all to give according to their means and
according to their knowledge. All good books are use-

ful,—some to some people, others to others. They
desired to avoid giving offence to any by rejection of

gifts of any books which any person felt moved to

offer to the common good, while exercising the great-

est care and discrimination in spending the money
which was the free offering of the best of the entire

people.

John Weiss, looking up to the spire of one of the
churches, and thinking of the exclusiveness which in

the name of religion bars out all who can not pro-

nounce a certain shibboleth, was moved to say that the

time will sometime come when the work of the

public library will be sustained with hope and with

honor when all such narrowness shall be despised

and forgotten. With the keen eye that looks through

shams and the clouds that beset ignorance and selfish-

ness, he saw with that piercing vision the weakness

in the harness of other men, while feeling with

humility the mortal weakness of his own.

John Weiss was aided on the board of trustees, by

men, who, being yet above the sod and liable to still

greater efforts, to show still greater works, had better

not be praised too openly. But one large, noble fel-

low, whose faults as well as virtues are still vividly

before his companions, " .To Bird," as he was familiarly

known and called, " who read every book that came

under his hand and remembered every book he read ;"

who made the man who had no music in his .soul feel

like a child to begin the humble steps to musical ap-

preciation if not musical performance, who roused

the wealthy to the first gifts for the teachers' library

and gained the aid of the ablest folloivers of Horace

Mann in a wise selection of books for the same : who
had in his younger days co-operated with Horace

Mann himself in his noble work at Lexington and

West Newton, came to some of the others one day

with his big soul, too big for his big body, all aglow

with the enthusiasm w hich success had begun to kindle

in him, to express his joy and thankfulness that his

appeals had been heard and that this larger prospect

of a town library seemed possible. Joseph Bird, the

music teacher, the man whose voice never failed to be

heard when he thought the truth or the justice or

even the fitness of things required his help, was at

the first one of the most outspoken friends of the

library. Too quick to see the advantages to be gained

by a forward movement, too rash to protect his

flanks by outlying or his rear by reserve forces, he

failed to accomplish alone what a more careful and

better disciplined man would have accomplished.

But take the ten first trustees as a body of men who
were .selected to lead the weak hope, to pioneer a new
undertaking in a new field, for what they were, with

their peculiar surroundings, and success was well

assured from the beginning.

There were John Weiss, the keen eye, the facile

tongue, the wise leader ; Josiah Stickney, full of years

and good taste ; Jesse A. Locke, whose generous and
grateful heart made the first pledge of his winter's ser-

vices in the legislature to the project ; Joseph Bird, big

with hope and fertile in expedients ; Abiel Abbott, the

conscientious lawyer, and Charles J. Barry, prompt in

every duty, all gone to their reward. Then among
those still living there were Alfred Hosmer, the general

who had the courage of his convictions; Joshua
Coolidge, who knew when to hold back and when the

crucial hour required his utmost effort ; David T.

Huckins, who held not too long on the funds needed
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for supplies, and James M. Bell, the large and liberal-

minded clergjMiian—these were the men to pioneer this

noble undertaking.

It may not be unwise to reflect that they were well

sustained by the people. Miles Pratt, who would not

hold office himself, gave freely of his counsel, and

helped to gather the sinews of war ; Joseph Crafts,

the daring captain whose raids brought in the last

subscriptions to complete the required iJGOOO, Henry

Chace, who said the few must always take the lead
;

and others whom time fails to allow us to enumerate

—

these served on committees during those preliminary

months when the enterprise wavered and further pro-

gress was in doubt, and when one of the committee,

Rev. Mr. Stubbert, thought '' there was a radical un-

preparedness in the public mind for the library ;" and

another and a wealthy member of the committee with-

held for a time the aid he never could quite give to

the project. These were the times of doubt and delay.

The time is yet too soon for most to see what the effect

in the end shall be. But your historian must, as in

duty bound, record the advance already made.

The New Public Library Building.—The room

oa the first floor of the Town-House answered very

well the purposes of the library for several years.

Beginning by taking the room long occupied first by

William Sherman, then William H. Ingraham, and

last by Joel Barnard as a dry-goods store, it was

soon found necessary to take the other side, occui^ied

for many years by Samuel Noyes for medicines and

groceries. Then, by changing the position of parti-

tions, taking in an engine-room, certain rooms were

obtained for town offices. The location was admirable

for the uses of the library, but the growing collection

could with difliculty be managed, and the room

seemed to grow closer and closer. The question of a

new building was discussed in the annual reports and

in the local press, until in 1882 the way seemed clear

to obtain a new building. In the librarian's report

for that year he said, " We have looked forward with

longing eyes for several years to the possession of a

proper building for this library." In the report for

1881 he said, " Fortunate is the town, too, it seems

to us, that others feel this need so pressing that they

are ovilling to ofler to the town, dollar for dollar, the

means needed to put the library in a sufficiently

large, well-ventillated, well-lighted, fire-proof build-

ing."

The attempt was made to raise $20,000 by subscrip-

tion, and then ask the town to raise as much more for

a suitable building. The trustees themselves sub-

scribed, showing their good faith, and Hon. HoUis H.

Hunnewell, son of Dr. Walter Hunnewell who once

lived on Main Street and practiced the heating art in

our village, generously offered to give $10,000, one-

half of this. Mr. Samuel Walker oft'ered over $4000

if the library were located on Main Street,' and other

1 The question of location was, as early in the history of the first

large amounts were quickly pledged ' so that even

more than the amount stipulated was secured. The
town then came together and appropriated $20,000,

and appointed a building committee to proceed at

once to obtain plans and estimates, and then to pro-

secute the work until the building was completed
and turned over to the Board of Trustees. The
architects chosen by this committee were Shaw &
Hunnewell, of Boston; the contractor, David Per-

kins, also of Boston.

The plans were shown at the March meeting of

1882, and during the summer the work was pushed
on vigorously. It was wholly enclosed before cold

weather, finished during the early winter, and on the

12th of February the books were moved in, the venera-

ble Joshua Coolidge helping in person to make the

transfer from the old rooms to the new.

Following is a general description of the public

library building. Its jilan, viewed from ;\Iain Street,

is like an inverted T, being of two principal divis-

ions. Standing about eighty feet from the line of

street, the building presents a frontage of sixty-two

feet, broken by a central projection, gabled, twenty-

six feet wide and ten feet deep, containing the main
vestibule and basement stairway. The front main
division is 24 x 62 feet, divided into a distributing

room, 30 x 18 feet, on the right of which is a reading

room, 18 s 21 feet, with the addition of a large half-

circle window, and on the left a reference and study

room of the same size. Works of art can be displayed

in either of these rooms. Back of these, forming the

stem of the T, is a structure '66 x 49 feet, containing a

book room 34 x 48 feel, while a projecting portion

provides a librarian's room, 9 x 14 feet, opening out

from the book-room.

Large arches form the dividing lines between these

several apartments, so that really the whole interior,

except the librarian's room, is exposed to sight, the

effect being to present an interior of generous propor-

tions to the eye of the observer. If it is found desirable

to divide off more closely the study-room, or reading-

room, curtains may be hung between the arches. A
unique effect is produced by finishingthe internal walls

church, a troublesome one. The church-lot on Church Street had many
advocates, as had also the old parsonage lot on Mt. Auhurn Street, hut

this gift of Mr. Walker, and the promised opportunity for a public park

adjoining carried the day.

- The amounts subscribed and the names of the subHcribers who did so

great a service to tho Public Library and to the town are here given :

H. II. Hunnewell . . . .810,000 Charles B. Gardner JIOO

Samuel Wall;er 4,200 Rev. R P. Stack 100

Edward Whitney .... 1,000 Geo. K. Snow 100

Seth Bemis 1,000 Samuel Noyes lOO

Mrs. Lucy W. Titconibe . 1,000 J. H. Conant 100

D. B. Flint 600 Wm. H. Ingraham 60

Charles J. Barry 600 E. B. Eaton 60

S. B. Payson 600 Wm. H. Dadmun 2.1

Mrs. P. C. Brooks .... 600 Mrs. B. A. Bradford .... 26

Solon F. Whituey .... 200 Mrs. A. L. Richards .... 25

J. K. Stickney 100 T. G. Abbbott 25

Mrs. Theo. Chase .... 100
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with faced and iiumUled brick, upon which the fresco

ilecoriitioMS arc made, wli lie panels, formed by bands of

cement on the corners and anodes, are also decorated.

Lartje brick tire-places tinislied above with terra cotta

further embellish the study and reading-rooms. All

ceilings are open timbered, divided into panels, and

lathed, pla.-itered, and frescoed between the beams.

The book-room will hold .'J0,000 volumes, is sixteen

feet high on the walls, and tdaiited up to twenty feet

in height to ceiling, •ialleries can be put in when

reiiuired, doubling the book .ilorage capacity. The

height of the distributing room is fifteen feet on walls,

arched up to eighteen feet six inches, for central ceil-

ing. The siile-rooms are fifteen feet high, level ceil-

ing. In the biwement, finished in 1888, ten feet in

clear, are a large, well-lighted reading-room, a patent

otlice report room, a trustees' room, besides rooms for

the steam heating apparatus, toilet and other conven-

iences. The Hoor is concreted with cement and over-

laid with hard wood, with air-spaces between; the

ceiling and walls are decorated with taste, the work

having been done by Haberstroh of Boston. A good

supply of water and proper drainage are also pro-

vided.

French Renaissance is the style of architecture

chosen, the basement being constructed of Roxbury

nibble stones, the walls above of brick with Now
Brunswick red freestone trimmings, and the hipped

roofs are covered with red slates. The front is dressed

quite freely with stone columns, jjiiasters and window

decorations, and jjresent a bold appearance. A large

half-circle bay on thesoutheasterly side forms a beau-

tiful feature of the design and increases the size of the

reading-room. A flight of stone steps leads to the

vestn)ule, the door of which is at one side of the front

projection, and not directly exposed to view from the

street. The outside walls have an average height ol

twenty feet from grade, and the brick walls are four-

teen inches thick, having a two-inch air space. The

trusses and floor timbers arc hard pine, the objects in

view being strength, durability and safety. For arch

columns and other wood finisli of the interior, ash.

stained, is used. Large windows of ]>lain glass furnish

abundant light. Finials, ridges and conductors are

made of copper.

The ba-sement was not finished before the building

was delivered to the Library Trustees in 1884. It

was not supi)o.sed that there would be need of more
space than given on the upper Hoor. Few of the

Building Oonuuitleehad had experience with libraries.

One of the best librarians of the country, Mr. Cutter,

of the Boston Athena;um, said, " It was a good rule

to build five times as large as would be needed at

once." The area of the single floor was but a little

larger than the space in the town-house. In less than

ten years from the occupancy of the building, addi-

tional room will need to be asked for. The shelves

in 1890 are so full that inconvenience is experienced,

in some departments, in preserving an orderly ar-

rangement of books. The reading-rooms were felt to

be limited.

TiiK Pratt Gii'T.— TVte "Asa Pratt" Fund.—In
1888, after some correspondence with Mr. Charles

I'ratt, of Brooklyn, New "^'ork, son of Mr. Asa Pratt,

late of Watertown, as to the details of a scheme in

which he wished to benefit the working people par-

ticularly, of his native town, he offered to give for

the Asa Pratt heirs the sum of ifSOOO for the es-

tablishment of a fund to furnish periodicals of use

particularly to the industrial portion of the commu-
nity, on condition that the town would fit up the

lower rooms for reading-rooms in an appropriate and

substantial manner. The following is an exact copy

of the ofler of the gift and the attending conditions :

Mr. Asa I'ratt lived in Watertown for over sixty

years. lie died November !), 1878, leaving his widow

a life interest in his estate. Khe having recently died,

the children, in closing up the estate, are desirous of

commeihorating as a worthy example one of whom
it was .said, " He conducted business as a manufac-

turer of furniture in Watertown in his own name for

nearly fifty years. Many pieces of furniture have

been in constant use for more than half a century and

are still in good condition, thus giving evidence of

the integrity of his work. He raised a large family

and although in humble circumstances he always paid

one hundred cents on the dollar and taught his

children to follow his example." All who knew him
said : "Asa Pratt was an honest man."

Learning from your published report, and other-

wise, that the establishment of an additional reading-

room has been proposed which shall be particularly

for the benefit of the industrial portion of the people,

and knowing it would be consistent with the memory
of his life (he was for many years a member of the

Board of Public Education), and to aid the efforts of

her people for such education as tends specially to

make all tnen more useful citizens, the executors of

his estate, on the behalf of his children, hereby offer

to give to the town of Watertown the sura of five

thousand dollars (or its equivalent, live thousand-

dollar fifty-year live per cent, gold bond.s), for the es-

tablishment of a fund to be known as the " Asa Pratt

Fund," upon the following terms and conditions, viz.:

that

" ^. 'Plifl town shall finish tho base4iieiit ruotii of the library building,

or provide other similar suitable room, witli au independeut entrance

from the outside, properly supplied witli siifticient light and heat and

the necessary appropriate furniture, and kt^ep tbo same open and access-

ible to tlie public not less tliau the library above, of which it shall form

a part.

" 2. Said fund shall be kept safely invostdl. and a part of the yearly

income thereof as stated below shall every year be paitl over to the trus-

tees of the public library and by them be applied (o the jiiirchase of

such pei'iodical literature, including papers, as in their opinion shall be

of paiticular interest and use to the industrial portion of the commun-
ity, and which consequently may bo of use to all. The part of said

yuarly income to be thus paid over and applied every year, shall be for

each of the tirst five years the sum of one hundred and fifty dollare ; for

each of the second five years, one hundred and seventy-five doUars, and
for each of the third five years, two hundred dollars, and so on ; that is
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to say, at the beginning of every porioi! of five years after tbe first five

years, the yearly allowance for said purchaeo Bhall bo incroaaed twenty-

live (icllars over such ulluwance diiriiif; the procedins pt-iriml of live

yyars. The balance ufsaiii yearly incuniy in t-xeess uf what is paid uver

to eaid trustees and expended under tho foregoing pruvieiou shall be

added to and become a part of said principal.

"3. No sectarian iiiHuonce shall govern in the selection of reading

matter purchased with any portion of the income of said fund.

"4. The care, control and investment of said fund, and all addi-

tions thereto, and the general supervision of the trubt hereby created,

and the power to carry into effect its purposes and npirit, shall be vested

in a pernuiuent bitaid eninposed uf three reputable freeholtlers uf tbe

town, one of wlioni shall be Mr. 11. W. Otis, the ullior two to he ap-

pointed by the trustees of the Free I'ublic Library and the Seleclnion ol

the town acting jointly. All vacancies on account of death, removal

from town, resignation, or otherwise occurring in the Board, may be

tilled in like manner by the joint action of the Trustees and Selectmen.

Members of tlie Board uuiy hold their mejubersliip during their pleasure,

provided they comply witli tbe terms and sprit of this trust.

"5. The town auditor shall have the right whenever the town, the

selectmen, or tlie trustees wish it, to inspect the securities in which said

fund may he invested, and report as ri'quested.

"II. W. Otis, Hrecut<.r.

" I engage to bo resp'iusible for the payment of the above sum ;ui soon

as tlie town shall take satisf.ictory action.

'* CUAS, I'UATI',

" 2:i2 Clhtton Avenue, Brouliyu, N. Y., March 3, 1888."

The town, at the regular annual March town-meet-

ing, after very full discussion, took the following ac-

tion :

" Voted, That the town accept the gift of the heirs uf Asii I'ratt with

thanks, and will gladly comply with the conditions of the gift.

"Voted, That tbe trustees of tbe Public Library and the Selectmen

be a committee to take into consideration the whole matter of providing

for :i reiuling-room, and, if thought expedient, a trustees' room, unil thai

a sum not exceeding S3000 be put at tlieir disposal to accomplish the

ends in view."

The following obituury notice c(»pied from tlie

Boston Journal o'i November 12, 1878, acquires addi-

tional interest to our readers, in view of the action of

the town at its annual meeting in accepting the pro-

ceeds of IMr. Asa Pratt's estate increased by the gen-

erosity of his sons, to establish a fund for furnishing

reading matter for a new reading-room in the Free

Public Library building for the benefit of wurking-

inen

:

"Asa Pratt.—Asa Pratt, one of tbe most venerable and esteemed cit-

izens of this section, died in Watertown on Friday hiHt, in the eighty-

tilth year of his age. He was the son of Jacob Pratt, who was born in

Maiden in 17.04, where he lived until bis death in his ninety-first year.

His son Asii, at the age of fourteen, was put out to learn a trade. After

serving an apprenticeship of seven years in Bu.ston in learning the trade

of cabinet-making, he removed to Watertown anil started business on bis

own account, September 18, 1818. For about fifty years he continued his

business on substantially the same spot where he started it, until old age

compelled him to rest. Ue was an honest man and did honest work.

His dealings with men were true ; he feared debt, and amid the many
struggles of maintaining a large family, he wouM never contract dehtt5

that he Could not meet to the last dollar. He never made changes, but

stuck to bis trade in tlie aime place, lie bouj^ht his little linme wliere

he took bis bride as a young man, and it was the home of his children

until be bad to build larger, but within two hundred feet of the same

spot he lived for sixty years until his death. Ho had romarkaVde

health. He was a kind father and singularly unaelfisb in all his rela-

tions of life. He could not brook a mean or selfish thing of any kind.

He bad a large family. Seven of his children survive him, displaying

tlie same traits of industry, honesty and generosity. He was a charter

member of tlie Pequosette Lodge of Freemasons, and before his death

was the oldest member of that order. The social, genial, faithful ways

which first won him esteem among his fellow-Masons continued to the

end. For tbe past ten or fifteen years, since ho gave up his business.

A a Pratt has lived a quiet, meditative life. He iiad -neither poverty uor
riches. His wants, which were simple, wero all supplied, and ho had
a little for everv call of charity. He leaves his Widow, now in hor

seveuty-eightli year, in comfortable circumstances, and with a good

name, which is better than riches."

Several of the workingnien of the town who felt a

deep interest in the project of a free readifig-room,

addressed the following letter to Mr. Chas. Pratt, who
represents the Pratt heirs. It secured a large number
of signatures :

'* Watkiuown, March V2, 1888,

"ToCiiAS. Pratt, Es(^, Itrotiklyn, N, V.

" Dear Sir,—The undersigned citizens of Watertown, ami householders

whose homes represent the earnings of their own bands in some form of

productive inrliistry, desire to tlmnk you for the gift that has come
Ibrough j'oui' kindness to tbe class we represent.

*' Wo are workingmen, and we think that wo appreciate the united

and social coiuiition of a large class of our people somewhat more di-

rectly and fully than those conditions can be uudoi-stoodby pereons who
see tliom only from tbe outside, and we have long f. It the jirossuie of a

public need that, up to this time, has not been met. Itnt now your gen-

erous romemliranco of your former' home opens the way to a good wo
iiave hoped for, but which has been heyuiid our reacli. We confidently

e.\p(!et to see the most beneficial results from your bequest, and we wish

In assure you that our best endeavors shall bo given to turn our experi-

ments into facts.

"The list of names at the end of this note will not be a long one, but

each name will stand for a man who sends you greeting and the thanks

of a grateful heart.

" Hoping that you will lung live to see the good that will come from

your gift, we remain sincerely and faithfully yours."

The selectmen of the town meeting with the trustees

of the Public Library, according to one of the condi-

tions of the trust, appointed with Horace W. Otis,

Charles Brigham and Albert O. Davidson, trustees of

the Asa Pratt Fund.

It should be stated that Mr. Pratt has done more
than he promised. He placed the funds ($5000)

in the hands of the special Board of Trustees, he sent

the librarian money to furnish the reading-rooms

entire with fitting and durable furniture, and as an
earnest of his pleasure in the first year's administra-

tion of the fund, sent the library a check for a hun-
dred dollars for reference books, which has been ex-

pended for valuable works that have been much
called for by students of art and manufiictures and
history. It is the express dirt^ction that these be all

credited to the ** Asa Pratt Fund'' in honor of his

father, whose useful life was spent in this place.

It may be too soon to record the influence of this

gift in enlarging the effectiveness of the public

library. That it is gladly and thankfully used by
many young men and women is apparent to those

constantly in the rooms.

Catalogues, and Use of the Librauy.—
As a new card catalogue is being prepared for the

use of the public, it may be well to state the fact that

a card catalogue of the \vhole library was begun in

18()8, long before there was any Library Bureau, and
consequently when few card catalogues were known
outside of Harvard College. The Boston Public
Library had begun one for the use of the librarian

and assistants, not yet for the public ; the Boston Ath-
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enipum pasted iu titles into great blanii-books like

scrap-books.

This (.'atalogue wiis begun as the aidof the librarian

in doing his work, and was written mostly nights and

holidays. It was patterned after the catalogne of Mr.

(afterwards I'rof.) Ezra .Vbboit, as.-iistant librarian of

Harvard College Library, with of course simplification

of the subject portion of the catalogue, with more

specific subjects as adapted to a smaller library. The

work done twenty years ago is the basis of work done

now.

All other lists and catalogues, as shelf-lists, acces-

sion catalogue and bulletins have been kept up from

the beginning, every title thus being written five or

six times in different relations for different purposes

in the manuscript lists. No labor of this kind has

been spared to make the library a well-organized and

ellective instrument.

The library has had good direction from trustees

and experts in the clioice of books, so that for the

purposes to which this has been put, in the education

of this town, it may be said to be fairly equipped

with good books of good authors.

Considerable attention has been given to assisting

pupils of the schools and other learners to the use

of the materials which the library contains.

Its life seems to be comparatively active. It has

nearly three volumes for every man, woman and child

in town, and these are read on the average twice each

year. This rale would give Boston a library of a

million and a half of volumes, and a circulation of

about three millions annually.

Its friends expect it to do much better than this.

A love of reading, and the habit of thinking by the

aid of the printed page, seems not to be the natural

inheritance of all people. Doubtless the new era of

progress which started in Europe with theinvention of

printing and the use ofthe printed page, the emergence

of universal intelligence from the gloom of the Dark
Ages, has to be wrought over again ia the personal

history of each individual ofthe race. Agassiz traced

in the successive beds of fossil rocks the zoological

history ofthe world
; this he found again repeated in

like order of development in each individual ofthe
higher species of the present time, by tracing the

programs from the first signs of life in the embryo to

the condition of maturity. It is clearly within the

province of the historian to note the successive stages

of growth of use and usefulness of public libraries, to

note butli the early and successive stages in the growth
of the public library as a complete organism, and to

note the early and successive stages of growth in the

minds of individuals brought or coming within the
sphere of it.s activities. This large view helps to clear

the air of much confusion of ideas in understanding
the nature ofthe life of a public library, and prepares
wonderfully to settle intelligently the many questions
constantly arising in regard to the proper administra-
tion of these great public trusts. For instance, the

ever-recurring question as to what books should be

allowed in a public library. Should they be selected

with reference to a certain standard of literary

excellence? Should they accord with certain political

or religious creeds? Should they treat only of facts

of science or history? Sliould they ignore all that

has misled or deceived the expectations of the past ?

Is it best or to be allowed to trj' to catch the eye and

excite the imagination of the thoughtless by some-

thing within the scope of their minds? In the

ailniinistration of this library, the experiment of try-

ing Mrs. Southworth and Oliver Ojilic for those who
else would not, jierhaps could not, read Scott and

Dickens, Irving or Bancroft, has been made. Science

and philosophy have on the other hand been given

out to babes. The effects have been noted. This is

a field for intelligent experiment. It should not be

expected that the results of modern culture can be

gained by relapsing into the freedom of that

accidental untrained life which our fathers found

among the aboriginal savages. Christian science and

Christian philosophy, aided by the best literary pro-

duct of the world to the latest day are no more than

equal to the best results desired and possible.

The history of this library, to gather up the ex-

perience of twenty years in a single statement, has

shown that the best books, the most carefully selected

and sometimes the most costly, brought at the op-

portune moment when the want had been created,

the assimilative ])Owers being in condition, have sup-

plied the material for the want of which perhaps a life

failure would have resulted rather than the laying of

a foundation for future growth.

The great need of a young man or a young wo-
man who finds that it takes most of his time and

strength to live, whose whole life and energy is ab-

sorbed in the material and mechanical conditions of

existence, is to catch some glimpse of the world of

mind, of imagination above him. Doubtless other

libraries than this have been able to catch such an

one's attention by a printed page not too obscure for

his enlightenment and his enjoyment.

Not to spend too much time in describing individ-

ual cases in the history of the library, it may be

claimed, doubtless without fear of contradiction, that

some in every condition of mental development, the

more the higher we go, have found it a garden of de-

light and of refreshing, the open door to new views

and more effective labors. Such will prove their

grateful appreciation by leading others to still greater

help, stili higher and wider, and more constant men-
tal activity.

In this town, a model New England town, with its

full share of dull material existence, the library has
been evolved in the course of progress as the repre-

sentative of the best intellectual forces, as that con-

necting link, if one can excuse the figure, which
binds this toiling, busy life to the onward car of pro-

gress. It is for the masses what the schools are to
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the young, what the university is to the scholar. It

is, iu fact, the university of the masses.

It requires men yet on its board of coutrol. It re-

quires administration with firmness, freedom to try

new means and measures, and intelligence to observe

results and draw conclusions.

OFFICEKS OF THE WATERTOWN FREE I'UHLTC LIBRAKY,
ISliS-IS'JtI.

Rev. Joliii Weiss, 1808-72 (chairman, 18C8-09 ;) Alfrod Uosuicr, M.D.,

181)8-79 (secretary, 1868, '69, '70, chairman, 1871, '73-'76
;
) Josiah

Stickney, 1868-72; Joseph Bird, 1808-00; .Jesse A. Locke, 1808-73

(chairman, 1870) ; Abiel Abbott, 1868-89 ; Rev. Jas. M. Boll, 181.8-09

;

David T. Huckins, M.D., 1808-09 (treasurer. Isi.S); Charles .1. Harry,

1808, '69, 1873-83 (secretary, 187.'>, '70, chairman, 1877-83) ; Joshua Coo-

lidge, 1868-88 (treasurer, 1871, cliairmaii, 1872, '83-87
; ) lieorj-e N.

March, 1869-87 (secretary, 1871, treasurer, 1809, '70, '72-84, '8.'i-'87)
;

Goo. K. Snow, 1872-84 (secretary, 1S77-SJ); A. C.Stockin, 1872-84; (sec-

retary, lS7'2-74) ; Clmrles F. Fit-/., 1879-81 ; Rev. Robert P. Stack, 1882-

(treasurer, 1854); Williaui Gushing, 1884 (secretary, 1S84); Rev. Ed-

ward A. Rand. 1884-87 ; Edward E. Allen, ISSS- (secretary, 1885, '80.

treasurer, 1800-) ; A. 0. Davidson, 1886-90 (secretary, 1888) ; Chas. S.

Ensign, 1887-90 (secretary, 1887, chairman, 1888, '89
) ; Homce W. Otis,

1888 (treasurer, 1888); Charles Brigham, 1889- (treaMurer, 1889, chair

man, 1890) ; Geo. E. Priest, 1889- (secretary, 1889) ; Herbert Coolidge,

1890- ; Wm. U. Bustin, 1890-.

Limt.\UI.VNS.

Solon F. Whitney, librarian, 1868- ; M. Agnes Gribble, assistant li-

lirarian, 1872-73 (now Mrs. Geo. H. Chapin) ; Nelly Bradford, assistant

libiarian, 1873-77 (now Mrs. Solomon B. Stebbins) ; Jane Stockwell, as-

sistant librarian, 1877- ; Ella Sherman, assistant librarian, 188.'J-88 (now

Mrs. Jiinies Noroross) ; Helen Cushing. assistant librarian, 1888 (now

teacher in I'hiladelphia ; T. E. Maciirday, assistant librarian, 1889 (now

in Boston Public Library) ; M. Louise Whitney, cataloguer, 1889- ; Mabel

Learned, assistant, 1 890-.

The Wears—The South Side—Morse Field.'

—History narrates that Captain ,)ohn Smith, when
exploring the Mas.sachusetts coast, iu 1614, proceeded

up a river which he named the Charle.s, landed on

the south bank, probably within a few rods of the

present Watertown Bridge, and his party refreshed

themselves from the pure springs located in this

vicinity.

When the settlers of the town located within its

territory they considered themselves tlie sole proprie-

tors of the territory on both sides of this river, but

preferred to settle on the north bank, as it was better

adapted for immediate cultivation, and safer from, the

Indians, who frequented the opposite shore for hunt-

ing and fishing, and who had a settlement at a place

called Nonantum. The land on the south side was

marshy, back of which extended blufls heavily tim-

bered, or higli blufls rising abru|itly from the shore.

For home-lots the south side was too inconvenient

and too remote from the main settlements in case of

danger from the neighboring Indians.

AVhen the settlers in Newtown (Cambridge, from

1638) crossed the river and settled in " Little Cam-
bridge " (Brighton), and extended to New Cambridge

(Newton), they were gladly welcomed by the planters

1 By Charles S. Ensign, LL.B., a life member ofthe New England Histor-

ic Genealogical Society ; member also of the Historical Society of Water-

town.
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in Watertown. So, when in May, 1634, the colony,

under Rev. Thomas Hooker, who had, under the

order of the General Court, in lG3'i, removed from

Mount Wollaston to Newtown, complained to the

General Court for lack of room, jiarticularly meadow
land, Watertown and Boston oU'ercd them land, which

was accepted. This oiler iiii'ludcd a part, if not all,

of the thirty acres of land granted by the Court, No-
vember, 1632, to Mr. George Phillips (the minister in

Watertown), " on the south side, beginning at a creek

a little higb.er than the pines, and so upwards towards

the wears." Bond says that the plot was nearly op-

posite the United States Arsenal ; but it may have
cxteiuied beyond and reached nearly to the present

Watertown Bridge. The Court, in September, 1634,

''ordered that the ground about Muddy river (Brook-

line), belonging to Boston, and used by the inhabit-

ants thereof, shall hereafter belong to Newtown, the

wood and timber thereof, growing and to be grown,

to be reserved to the inhabitanlsof Boston : provided,

and it is the meaning of this court, that if Mr. Hooker
and the congregation now settled here, shall remove
hence, that then the aforesaid meadow grounds shall

return to Watertown, and the grounds at iMuddy river

to Boston."

By the permission of Governor Winthrop, granted

in April, 163:2, without the order of the General Court

(for which he was severely condemned by his un-

friendly deputy, Dudley), the inhabitants of Water-

town were allowed to construct a fish-wear. May
!), 1632, "it was ordered" by the (ieneral Court,

"that the town of Watertown shall have that privi-

lege and interest in the wear they have built up
Charles river, according as the court hereafter shall

think meet to confirm unto them.''

Johnson, in his " Wonder Working Providence,"

says, " This town (Watertown) abounds with several

.sorts of fish at their seasons, bass, .shad, salmon, frost

fish and smelts."

Wood, in his " New England Prospect," 1633, nar-

rates, " A little below the fall of waters " (the present

dam across the river) " the inhabitants of Watertown
have built a wear to catch fish, wherein they take

great store of shads and ale-wives. In two tides they

have gotten one hundred thousand fishes."

Historians say that the leading spirit iu the build-

ing of the wear was Mr. John Oldham, a freeman in

1631, " whose house near the wear at Watertown was
burnt in August, 1632." Sept. 4, 1634, the General
Court " ordered that no man shall fish with a net

nearer the wear at Watertown, than the further part
of the island in the river, and there also never to

cross the river wholly with any net except it be at

high water or after."

In April, 1635, a committee was appointed by the

General Court to determine the bounds between New-
town and Watertown, and reported, " It is agreed by
us whose names are under written, that the bounds
between Watertown and Newtown shall stand as they
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are already, from Charles river to the Great Fresh

pood, and fri>iu the tree marked bv Watertown and

Newtown, on the northeast side of th'e pond, and over

the poud to a white poplar tree on the northwest

side of the pond, and from the tree up into the coun-

try, northwest by west, upon a straight line by a

meridian ronipaxs ; and further, that Watertown shall

have one hundred rods in length above the wear, and

one hundred rods beneath the wear in length and

three-score rods in breadth from the river on the south

side thereof, and all the rest of the ground ou that

side of the river to lye in Newtown. William Col-

bron, .lolui .lohnson, Abraham Palmer."

This triut contained by estimation, on the south

side, about seventy-live acres, afterwards called the

Wear lands. In town-meeting, Jan. 3, 1035-36, it was

" agreed that there shall be four rods in breadth on

each side of the river, and in length as far as need

shall require, laid (out) to the use of the wear so il

may not he prejudicial to the Water Mill. Also, one

hundred and forty acres of ground to the wear upon

the other side of the river, to be laid out in a conven-

ient place."

" Agreed, that there shall be laied out to the use of

the Water Mill twenty acres of ground neare to the

Jlill & foure rods in breadth on either side the Water,

and in length as farre as need shall require, so it be

not preduiciall to the Ware."

Mr. Hooker and his company never settled upon

the grants of land made by Watertown and Boston,

and continuing dissatisfied and complaining, finally

were permitted to remove to Connecticut and settle

upon land which later was called Hartford. My
direct ancestor, James, was one of that colony.

The General Court thereupon appointed a committee

to settle the boundaries between Newtown and Muddy;

River (Brookline), which made the adjustment in

April, 1636. Newtown retained the large territory

gained in 1635, comprising Brighton, Arlington, Lex-

ington, Billerica, pan of Bedford, part of Tewksbury,

extending to the Mcrriniack River, while Watertown

never recovered the territory which it had originally

granted. The reason for this may be accounted for

in the fact, " it was not a shire town, nor place for

much trade, no shipping-port, only reached by small

vessels, and no resort for official men and capitalists."

" After Sir Richard Saltonstall's departure, until 1686,

there were no resident assistants or magistrates-

The people were devoted to agriculture and some

mechanical trade in the intervals of farming," plain

in their habits and simple in tastes, and had no inter-

est or pride in municipal aggrandizement.

In 1G79 when the boundaries between Cambridge

and New Cambridge or Cambridge village, (that is,

Newton.) were fixed, it waif stipulated " that this

Watertown reservation on the south side of Charles

River, two hundred by sixty rods, should be main-

tained and held by Watertown for the protection of

her fish wears."

The boundaries not being satisfactory, were in 1705

again readjusted so that this territory was increased

by estimation to eighty-eight acres. It is stated that the

lines have been since rearranged so that the total num-

ber of acres, including that covered by water, is one

hundred and fifty, and is surrounded by Newton,

except on it.s northern boundary, which is the Charles

River.

From the orders of the General Court it would seem

that the wear built by the town in 1632 was public

property. But soon after il became private property

and was held in shares.

The General Court had granted the " Oldham •

farm," on the north side, to Mr. John Oldham, April

1, 1634. He mortgaged this grant to Mr. Matthew

Cradock. The land was not ordered laid out until

June 2, 1641, after Oldham had been murdered by the

Pequot Indians at Block Island, July, 1636. But

Oldham had soon after sold this grant subject to the

mortgage ofThomas Mayhew, and this plot included

the wear. For the General Court confirmed the

town's grant of one hundred and fifty acres with the

wear (Jan. 3, 1635-36) on June 2, 1641, when it was
" agreed that Mr. Mayhew shall enjoy the one hutidred

and fifty acres of land on the south side of Charles

River by Watertown wear."

Thomas Mayhew, a freeman in Medford, May,

1634, came to Watertown in 1635. He received six

large grants from the town. He was a townsman or

selectman from 1636 to 1610 inclusive; also in 1642 ;

also representative to the General Court from 1636 to

1(j44. He is described as a merchant in his deeds.

From 1638 to 1642 he was a commissioner for Water-

town " to end small causes." On October 10, 1641,

Nantucket and two other adjacent islands, and on the

23d of October, Martha's Vineyard and Elizabeth

Islands were granted to him and his son Thomas by

James Forett, agent of the Earl of Stirling, who con-

stituted him Governor. He removed to Martha's

Vineyard in the spring or summer of 1645.

He built the first bridge, a foot-bridge, in 1641 over

Charles River, and one record states that this was the

reason for the grant of 150 acres on the south side of

the river.

In 1643 the General Court granted to him " three

hundred acres of land in regard to his charge about

the bridge by Watertown Mill and the bridge to be-

long to the County."

Thomas Mayhew Sept. 29, 1638, granted to Simon

Bradstreet, of Ipswich (Governor of Massachusetts,

under the first charter from 1679 to 1686), for six

cows worth about $200 each. " All that his farm con-

tainynge by estimation 500 acres lying in Cambridge

w"" all the buildings thereto belonginge."

Sept. 23, 1646, Simon Bradstreet, Andover, gent,

for £140, conveyed this tract to Edward Jackson,

Cambridge, naylor, described as "his farm of 500

acres, which was lately in the tenure of Thomas
Mayhew, adjoining the wear lands."
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This tract commenced near the division line of

Newton and Brighton, and included the present New-

tonville.

His mansion-house, the first dwelling-house in New-

ton, was located only a few rods from Washington

Street, near the Catholic Church.

Feb. 27, 16.39-10, Mayhew conveyed to Governor

Dudley for £90 the rent of his wear for the last four

years, leased to Robert Lockwood, Isaac Sternes and

Henry Jackson for six yenrs. Also the river side and

inheritance of the wear forever, subject to a certain

mortgage (referring to that made to Cradock).

March 2, 1(543-11, Dudley sold to Edward How for

£59 10«. 2rf. all right and income to the wears in

Watertown, except £22 15s. 2il. due from Stearnes

and Lockwood.

Elder How, by his will June 3, 1G44. conveys to his

heirs " the wears with all their privileges thereto

belonging," which continued in the possession of his

sons in law, Nathaniel Treadway and John Stone for

many years.

Treadway, with Sufferanna (How), conveyed one-

half interest. May 30, 1662, ta Nathaniel Coolidge, Sr.,

and Stone the other half, May 2.5, 1663.

At a town-meeting held April 12, 1671, " Upon
consideration that the Indians being like to buy the

privilege of the wears and fishing at the river, which

the town apprehended will be much to the damage

of the town, they (the Indians) being like to be bad

neighbors, the town voted, all, as one man, that they

were altogether against their having the wears, or that

they should set down so near the town." It was

voted to purchase the same for the town's use, and a

committee chosen to negotiate with the owner, Na-

thaniel Cooledge, Sr.

Since this period the wears have been the town

property, and rented every season for the highest

price to be obtained as regulated by law.

In 1738 complaints were made to the General

Court by the people of Newton, Needham, Weston,

Medfield, Sherburne and the Indians at Natick

against the inhabitants of Watertown for stopping the

course of the fish in Charles River.

In 1745 an act was passed making it an offence to

raise the dam of the mill between the breaking up of

the ice in winter and the 1st of May so as to prevent

the fish from passing over, with a penalty of £5 for

each offence.

In 1798 an act was passed authorizing the in-

habitants of Watertown, Weston and Waltham to reg-

ulate the fishing within the said towns, the proceeds

to be divided among said towns as each paid towards

the expenses of maintaining the Watertown bridge.

Weston and Waltham becoming in later years freed

from this charge, lost all rights under the law.

In 1805 an act was passed authorizing Newton to

regulate the fishing within its town limits.

In 1815 and 1856 acts were passed constituting

Brighton and Watertown one fishery, and regulating

the same. This interest, once valuable to the town,

has ceastd on account of the pollution of the stream

by the numerous factories established along the banks

of the river. Possibly it may be re-established as soon

as the projected sewer system shall become in use and

the stream of water again fresh and pure.

Mayhew sold the Oldham farm, March 18, 1647-48,

to Nicholas Davidson, Charlesiown, attorney of Re-

becca Cradock, alias Glover, with the mortgage can-

celed for 1000 acres in Martha's V^ineyard. Soon .>fter

it was seized on execution granted to Richard Dura-

mer against Mayhew, and on March 21, 1648-49, it

was appraised at £70. It is sometimes called the
' Dummer farm " in the early records, but is not

that tract on the south side generally known as

such.

Possibly this Dummer claim arose from this trans-

action :
" Tho. Mayhewe of Watertown March' granted

to Rich. Dummer Newberry Genl'l. and his heires

(in consideration of fower hundred pou (nds) in hand

payeii) his farme in Watertown, w""" he bought of Sim
(on) Broadstreet Gent'l. containing five hundred ac.

And all the Weire and one hundred and forty ac. of

land thereto belonginge w"" certaine provisones by

way of mortgage in the same expressed, and this

was by indenture dated the 29th of the 7th (Sep-

tember) 1640."

Mayhew mortgaged to Dummer in 1640 the parcel

he had sold to Bradstreet in 1638, unless he only

intended to mortgage the farm to secure the payment

for the six cows, while Bradstreet treated it as a valid

sale. When Bradstreet sold it to Jackson in 1646,

he gave a " warranty and bond of £2 to secure it

from any claim, either against himself or Thomas
Mayhew."
The Court of Assistants made Bradstreet a special

grant of 500 acres of land on the south side of Charles

River, condition that " he was to take no part of it

within a mile of Watertown wear, in case the bounds

of Watertown shall extend so far on that side of the

river," which gave him a confirmance of title.

Through this territory were laid out two roads,

—

one designated the " Country or County road "—cou-

structed in 1635-37, the present Galen Street, and

the great thoroughfare from Boston over Boston Neck,

Roxbury, Brookline, New Cambridge (Newton) and

over the Mill Bridge through Watertown to Waltham
and Weston, and by this road Roxbury people went

to the Watertown gris*-mill. This was the only road

leading to the west until the Worcester turnpike was

built. It was probably laid out by or through the wear

lands, under the town votes of September 14, 1635

:

" Agreed that John Warren and Abraham Browne

shall lay out all the highways and to see that they be

sufficiently repaired," and that of 1637 : "Ordered,

that there shall be eight days appointed for every

year for the repairing the highways ; and every man
that is a soldier or watchman to come at his appointed

time with wheelbarrow, mattock, spade or shovel, and
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for default hereof to pay for every day 5s. to the

town, mid a cart for ivcry day to pay 19«."

Tlio otliir hi>.'liway was laid out in 1725-26 and

forum the prtseiit Waterli.wn Street, it having orig-

inullv c<.iiimenoe<l at the eoriier of the |)resent Cali-

fornia Street and Filth Avenue. Through this terri-

tory, from ifa soureeu near Newtown Centre, runs

"Cold Spring" Brook, in early history called "Smelt
|

Bruv.k." hy reason of the fish of that name that used

to pass up the water, which Hows through Boyd's and

Cook's I'onils into the Charles River.

Presentment was made against the town in 1695

and 1705 for want of a bridge over Smell Brook. In

behalf of the town in 1705 Jonas Bond, Esq., (known

as the " marrying 8.|iiire") answered it was a shallow

place, and a good bottom, and needed not a bridge.

The Court ordered that the .said way be forthwith

mended on pain of paying X5.

lu I6:iL' Xewtown (Cambridge) had granted to

Thomas Shepard, late pastor, 300 acres of laud be-

yond Watertown mill, adjoining that which was

Thomas .Mayhew's, also 200 acres more near Samuel

Shepard's farm.

The Rev. Mr. Shepard died in l(i4i) and this land

passed to Richard Park, although there is no record

of such transfer. Some authorities stale that a small

part of the northeasterly portion of this tract along

the Charles river or weir lands was in Watertown.

E.xcepling this small portion the residue of the terri-

tory of the south side came into the jiossession of

Richard Dummer as has been shown, wluch was con-

tirmeil by a grant from the ( ieneral Court.

Richard Dummer sold to William Clements of

Cambridge for £tiO, twenty-five acres bounded souther-

ly by the highway from Watertown to Roxbury, (pres-

ent Wa-shington street, Newton), — northeasterly on

Charles river, and ]i:irlly in Watertown and partly

in Newton. Clements sold the same to Daniel Bacon

of Bridgewater, tailor, lor LBO in lOtit). Daniel's

sons, Isaac and Jacob, settled on this tract, Isaac

having in 1(581, bought five and one-half acres from

his brother Daniel of Salem. Jacob's house was sit-

uated on the present Galen Street, probably on the

site of the hill ; while Isaac's house was located far-

ther towards Newton, probably near Williams Street.

Isaac's part subsequently was conveyed to Oaks An-

gler, who kept a tavern on the site where the Nonan-

tum house now stands. March 13, 1692-93 Jacob

sold seven acres for £39 to John Barton, and John

Barton. Jr. and James, sold their interest In 1742, to

Jonas Coolidge, of Newtown, a house-carpenter.

In 1672, Jeremiah Dummer, son of Kichard ('?) of

Boston, sold to Gregory Cooke, shoemaker, Cam-
bridge, 112 acres lying partly in Cambridge (Angier's

corner, Newton) and partly in Watertown, with

house and barn thereon, for £145; bounded on the

east by the highway, north by the Charles river,

south by Edward Jackson and Daniel Bacon, and

west by Thomas Park's laud, and this included the

weir lands. The old Gregory Cooke niansitm stood

on the southerly side of the site of Mr. Henry Full-

er's house in Newton.

Abraham Williams of Watertown, freeman in 1652,

purchased in 1654 a house and six acres of John

Callon or Callow, and married Joanna Ward about

16(;0, and in 1662 purchased a house from Wni.

Clements situated on the Country Road, (Galen

Street) southerly from Gregory Cooke's farm. The

present Williams Street leading from Galen, was

named from him, as he dwelt near it on the west

side of the main-road. James Barton, a rope-maker,

in Boston, of large means, in 16S8 bought 103 acres

in Newton, a portion of which bounded on the May-

hew farm. He bought other lands extending over

the Watertown line, and erected his dwelling-house

on the south side of Charles river, probably situated

not far from the present Watertown Street.

He and his wife Margaret were buried in Newton.

His daughter Ruth married John Cooke, the grandson

of Gregory. His sou John bold the homestead to

Daniel Cooke.

Gregory Cooke died in 1690-91 and his only son

Stephen administered upon his estate, appraised

April 7, 1691, at £191. 11«. His second wife, the widow

Susanna Goodwin, married September 15, 1691, Henry

Spring, who died 1695. He was from 1680 to 1695

the town " prizer " of Watertown.

Stephen Cooke was born 1647, married November

19, 1679, Rebecca, the daughter of Thomas and ]\Iary

Flagg of Watertown ; admitted into full communion

in Mr. Bailey's church March 4, 1687-88, and possibly

chosen deacon June 30, 1697 ; died in Newton, 1738,

aged ninety-one. He built a grist-mill on his land

near Smelt Brook, which he conveyed to his son

Stephen in 1733.

Stephen Cooke's large estate came into the posses-

sion of his grandsons, Stephen and Daniel.

Daniel, who married in 1722, for his second wife

Mary, the daughter of Abraham and Elizabeth (Bis-

coe) Jackson, died in 1754, his three children having

died before him. In 1735 his father deeded to him

the homestead, probably the hou.se being the one

occupied by Gregory, his grandfather. Daniel left

his large estate to his nephew, Captain Phineas, the

son of his brother Samuel, of Windham, Connecticut.

Captain Phineas built in 1760 the house at present

standing on the corner of Centre and Pearl Streets,

over the Newton line. He married in 1759, Abigail

Durant, by whom he had seven children, and died in

1784. One daughter, Mary, married Captain John

Fowle, and another, Sukey, the youngest, married Dr.

Walter Hunnewell.

Stephen, the brother of Daniel, had an interest in

the mill on the north side of the river, which he sub-

sequently sold. He received the mill built by his

grandfather on the Cooke lands, and on September 1,

1749, he deeded it to his son John, with forty acres,

with dwelling-house, barn, mill-house and corn-mill.
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This tract was bounded easterly by County Road, or

roail to Boston, (Jalen Street, seventy-seven rods, and

Southerly by Daniel Cooke's land.

January 10, 1782 John conveyed to his son John

ninety feet of land on the Boston Road, bounded

southerly by Daniel Cooke's.

Stephen's house remains standing on California

Street. Close by it is that of .loliii, the latter being a

frame building witli brick aides. John's son's house

was a snuill red house on Galen Street, removed to the

rear of the present frame block. A greater portion of

the Cooke estate still remains in the posse.ssion of the

family.

In a chamber in the John Cooke house, Paul Re-

vere engraved the plates, and assisted by John Cooke,

struck ofl' Colony notes, ordered by the Provincial

Congress.

It is stated that Benjamin Edes first stopped at this

house when he escaped from Boston with his printing

press, and that the first number of " The Boston Ga-

zette and Countnj Journal" was issued from here, be-

fore he established himself near the Great Bridge.

While others dispute this fact, yet like the would-be

president in 1884, the south side " claim everything."

On the easterly side of Galen Street, near the Bridge,

stands what has long been known as the " Coolidge

tavern,'' built in 1740-42 by William \Villiams, a

ship builder.

Stephen Cooke claimed all the land upon the river

in the town as being within limits of the weir lands

and as he had an undisputed title to all land westerly

of the Bridge, he purchased in Jlarch, 1722-28, from

John Phillips, a grandson of the first minister, for

£60, three acres by estimation (of the old grant) to

strengthen his title. The land is described as within

the bounds and limits of the " Township of Cam
bridge."

James Barton in March, 1727, had sold to William

Williams in Newton a " house-right," for £440,

twelve acres of land near the Great Bridge. Its

boundary line on the west and north-west was the

county road.

In 1728 Stephen Cooke sold to William Williams,

described as of Newton, for £10 15 s. twenty-six rods

of land on the southerly side of the Charles River,

bounded northerly and easterly by the county road,

and westerly by the town land now laid out for a

road.

The old road referred to began at the south side of

the bridge at a point about opposite to the square on

the north side of the river, the present Beacon square,

firom which the present Riverside place commences,

and ran in a southwesterly direction through the

present Water Street into the present Galen Street,

and possibly a little southwesterly before entering

the country road.

In 1742 William Williams sold his mansion house

and barn with seven acres to Ebenezer Thornton

of Watertown, a ship builder, who was living on

the premises. Mention is made of the " Ancient

Country road running from said river between the

aforesaid mansion house and said barn, across and

aslant near the north-west corner of the prem-

ises into the new country road to be excepted and

reserved out of this deed for said Town's use." Jlen-

tion is made of a wharf twenty-feet square andagang-

way leading thereto. Tlic gangway is the present

Water Street, and the wharf adjoining the line of H.

Barker &, Co.'s starch factory at the foot of old Fac-

tory Lane (Water Street) by an old elm tree, was

owned by Sanuicl Hunt, a trader of Watertown. He
had purchased the same in 1730 of Thornton and

Williams with four acres of land for 1'400. In the

deed he is described as a ship-builder of liostoii.

Kbenezef Thornton, a trader in Boston, in 1738 re-

moved to Watertown and engaged in the business ot

procuring timber for house and ship-building. The
south side and adjacent territory being heavily tim-

bered offered him ample o])|)ortiinity for carrying on

the business. Moreover, it was considered safer thau

Boston which was poorly protected from a sudden at-

tack by an enemy.

In April, 1716, he purchased " a mill-stream, dams,

etc." in Dunstable, near the New Hampshire line,

and he had valuable timber interests in Dracut on

the Merrimac River. The town of Boston, March 8,

1734, voted to erect fortifications within its limits and

Ebenezer Thornton with Elisha Cooke, Esq., Edward
Hutchinson, Edward Winslow and others were chos-

en a committee under this vote. They erected the

fortification at," North Battery Wharf," and " J^rt

Hill."

He married in 1721 Elizabeth Gilbert, the daughter

of Capt. Thomas, a famed shipmaster and navigator

of Boston, and son of Jonathan Gilbert, of Connecti-

cut, (an ancestor of mine) who was Colony Marshal

from 1636 until 1676-77. She died in Watertown,

June 10, 1740, aged 38 years, 4 mouths, 3 days. After

her death he married the widow of Matthias Cussens.

Possibly Thornton and Williams were engaged for

a short time in the business of procuring lumber for

household and shipping purposes, though he h.ad

removed to Mansfield, Conn., when he sold to

Thornton.

In 1740 Richard King had settled in Watertown,

and in 1742 Thornton sold him a piece of land on

which he erected a shop and engaged in the same

business with Thornton. In 1745 Gov. Shirley ap-

pointed him a commissary of the troops destined for

Annapolis Royal. October, 1746, he mortgaged his

shop and lot to Jonas Coolidge " for surety in con-

sideration the within named Jonas was my surety for

money due to the Govt, when I went on the serv-

ice to Anna|)olis Royal." February 16, 1740, he

petitioned the selectmen for leave to erect a sawpit or

scallold at the south end of the Bridge, which was

denied. In 1746 he removed to Scarboro', Maine,

engaged in trade, became a large exporter of lumber,
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and the wealihifst iimii in town. His son, Riifug,

who difil in lS2y, uged 7J, was the ci'li-braled jurist.

and William, who died in 1852, aged 84, known as

General King, was the first governor of Maine, and at

one time one of the largest ship owners in the United

State*.

There is no doubt that ship building to a limited

extent was carried on at this imint, and that the old

bridge slip was used for that purpose, and i)robably

Hunt's wharf, known latterly as Coolidge's wharf.

Ebenezer Thornton's eldest daughter, Elizabeth,

born March 4, 1722, married Jonas Coolidge, the

house carpenter, in 1742-43. Ebenezer sold him this

house with three acres of land for £300 in August of

that year. Jonas suld a moiety in the dwelling-house,

and about five acres of land to his neph'ew Nathaniel

Coolidge, Jun., in 1762.

Becoming " non compos " and placed under guard-

ianship, in 1764 a partition of their interests was

legally made, by which Nathaniel obtained the

northerly part of the home lot and dwelling-house

and subsequently control of the remaining half.

Jonas Coolidge died in the spring of 1767.

Jonas Coolidge'a elder brother Samuel, known as

"Sam, the schoolmaster," a graduate of Harvard in

1724, was a|ipointed town school-master in 1725. He

was librarian of Harvard College 1734-35. Also chap-

lain for a short time on Castle Island. He became

intemperate and mentally deranged. He was accus-

tomed to wander from home as a vagrant, sleeping in

barns and out of doors, and the selectmen were con-

tinually in trouble about him by complaints coming

from theselectmen of Hi)xbury, then fromCharlestown,

then Dorchester, to be repeated continually. Nov. 4,

1743, Thanksgiving day, a collection was taken during

church ."crvice to be laid out in clothing for him.

Ill 1751 he was again appointed school-master, but

soon wandered otf according to his custom. "At a

meeting of the selectmen at Mr. Jonathan Bemis', on

the 4th of December, 1752, Mr. Samuel Coolidge was

present, and the selectmen gave him a thorough talk

relating to bis past conduct, and what he might ex-

pect if he did not behave well in the future they

declared unto him that they ]>ulliim into the school

again for trial, and if he behaved well he should not

be wronged, and th.it he was to begin the school the

11th day of this December. Mr. Coolidge complained

that he wanted a winter coat; desired Mr. Bemis

to get him a bear skin coat, and get Mr. Meed to

make it, and to give the selectmen an account thereof."

The demented man when walking along the

way was continually muttering and talking to

himself in Latin, and once passing an apothecary

shop, drenched by a pouring rain, was addressed

by some one from within in these words: "Domine
Coolidge! pluit tantum nescio quantum, seisne

tu"? (Master Coolidge, it has rained very hard,

I don't know how hard, do you know?) Quick as a

flash the angry man seized a stone, sent it crash-

ing through the window, breakingglaasaud show bot-

tles, and said :
" Frcgi tot nescio quot, seisne tu "'?

.(I have broken a great many things, I don't know how

many, do you ?)

He died January, 1767, aged sixty-three years, and

was buried at the town charge.

Nathaniel Coolidge, Jr., kept a tavern, here as a

licensed inn-holder from 1764 to 1770 when he died,

and was succeeded by his widow, Dorothy (Whitney).

By the town records, it apjiears that the widow

Ruth Child, daughter of Caleb Church the miller,

was licensed as an inn-holder in 1717-18 near the

bridge on the south side of the river, but where, can-

not be located
;
possibly on or near this spot.

While there had been for some years a great deal

of commercial life in Watertown, still in the early

part of the Revolutionary war it was a very important

and busy town, for within its limits the Provincial

Congress and the " Committee of Safety " were hold-

ing continual sessions. The town was crowded with

temporary residents and tradesmen from Boston, who

were often entertained bj' private hospitality. The

public schools were closed as the buildings were used

for armories and the streets daily resounded with the

noise of fife and drum and marching men.

This tavern known as " The Sign of Mr. Wilkes

near Nonantum Bridge,'' was a popular resort for

gatherings, for town and social meetings were often

held within its doors. In the winter of 1775, the

Massachusetts House of Representatives held a ses-

sion in it while workmen were engaged in putting up

stoves in the meeting house. Here, in 1775, it was

agreed, was to be the rendezvous for the " Committee

of Safety "in the case of danger. On its northerly

side along the river, was the road leading from the

ferry that for many years was used between the

north and south shores.

In front of the tavern door once stood a post upon

which was a swinging decorated sign board upon

which was the portrait of King George III., where it

hung until the news of the Declaration of Independ-

ence was received, when it was taken down and after-

wards raised to its former position with the portrait

of George Wa^hington upon it.

Here during the war, many distinguished persons

in the colonies, as well as officers in the American

and British armies, were entertained. The bar-room

was the middle room, facing Galen street, and British

officers stifled their shame at the continued Americi'u

success in steaming hot flip, for which they paid in

gold, which the government compelled Madam Cool-

idge, much to her disgust, to exchange for colonial

currency.

The selectmen paid "widow Dorothy Coolidge for

Rum, the 19th day of April, for the men in the Lex-

ington battle, 12s. 8d.," the town records mention.

The Rev. J. F. Lovering in his centennial oration,

delivered July 4, 1876, stated that " General Wash-

ington stopped here on his way to take command of



WATERTOWN. 375

the army at Cambridge, July 2d, 1775 and ate break-

fast, Mrs. Coolidge making for him journey-cake, i. e..

Johnny-cake.'' While Leathe's version is, that on

Sunday, July 2d, at 12 o'clock the Commander-in-

Chief with General Lee arrived and reached the meet-

iug-house where after divine service, Congress assem-

bled to receive him. He dismounted and was pre-

sented at the door of the broad aisle with an address

by the Speaker, James Warren. After an hour and a

half spent he proceeded to Cambridge where hearrived

at 2 o'clock. On the next day under the elm tree

near the Common he formally took command of the

American array.

On December 11th, at noon Mrs.Washington attend-

ed by her sou .John Custis and wife reached Water-

town in her own carriage drawn by four horses, colored

postillions in scarlet and white liveries, military escort

and a guard of honor. Two hours were spent at the

Fowle house as the guest of Mrs. Warren, and the

party arrived in Cambridge at 3 o'clock.

During the winter season, dinner and evening part-

ies were given in town, which were attended by the

General and Mrs. Washington, and probably the town

has never witnessed such social gaiety since that

time.

October 17, 1789, President Washington again vis-

ited Watertown on his way to Boston, and was re-

ceived with great enthusiasm, the ringing of the

meeting-house bell and royal salutes, quite in contrast

to his first reception, when powder and shot were too

scarce and v.aluable to be thus used. On his return,

November 5, he came from Lexington to Water-

town over the same road that the minute men had

taken April 19, 1775 ; rode quietly without escort to

the Coolidge tavern for supper and rest. He took

supper in the public dinicg-room which extended the

entire length of the south end of the house. At the

table he was served by attendants who wore white

dresses and neat checked aprons. He lodged in the

northwest chamber next to the river.

This property latterly came into the possession of

the late Mr. John Brigham, who lived here while he

had a lumber yard near by along the river.

Across the lane, the present Water street, was situ-

ated the house of Samuel Sanger, then Daniel, later

Abraham Sanger, the boatman, who early in the pres-

ent century, twice or more each week, was accustomed

to row upon the river to and from Boston as a pas-

senger and express carrier.

A few rods south upon the same side of the road

once stood an old house, the mansion house of John

Hunt, representative from the town to the General

Court in 1741, 1751 to 1758 ; a farmer of the excise in

1752, and retail trader from 1740 to 1770. Jonas

Coolidge in 1745 sold him eleven acres with the old

mansion built and occupied by James Barton. It was

built about 1715. It was from the windows of this

house flashed the light long past midnight that told

that Adams, Warren and Gerry were in counsel, an-

swered back from a score of farm-houses where the

women were busily engaged in baking and cooking

for the soldiers in camp. Here Major General Jo-

seph Warren lodged, and In the southwestern corner

room on the first floor ate his breakfast, June 17,

1775, going directly to Bunker's Hill, where he gave

his life for his country, Before he started he urged

upon the ladies of the household to prepare lint and

bandages, saying " That the poor fellows would want

them all before night." Slowly on horse-back he

went down the hill to the bridge but galloped back

and again bade them all farewell.

Had he a premonition that he should never see

them again ?

William Hunt, son of .lohn, a graduate from Har-

vard in 1768, a lawyer and justice of the peace, rep-

resentative in 1784-1794; 1800-1801, had married

Mary Coolidge, the daughter of Nathaniel and Doro-

thy. When Washington first came to Watertown,

she was about twenty-one years old, and probably

charmed him with her handsome face and maidenly

ways, for in 1789, after supper, he mounted his horse,

galloped across the bridge into the square, where

Mistress Hunt then lived, on the west side opposite

the Spring Hotel, and as the sick matron appeared at

the window of her mansion he politely raised his hat

as she courteously saluted him.

John Hunt was a distiller having his still next to

the wharf of Samuel Hunt, with a store, and did a

successful business. He had a stone wharf further to

the east upon the river, not far from the bounds of

Newton. In 1768 he sold his homestead and distil-

lery to his eldest son Samuel.

The Hunt property finally came into the possession

of Nathaniel K. Whitney, Jr., and was the birth-place

of Miss Annie Whitney, the sculptress; of Mr. Ed-
ward Whitney, who has done so much for the Public

Library of Watertown. and the Society of the First

Parish, although he found himself in Belmont after

the incorporation of that town. In fact, this was the

birth place of all Mr. Nathaniel E. Whitney's child-

ren, and was occupied by him until his removal to

East Cambridge on being apppointed clerk of the

Court. A few years ago the property was purchased

by the late Mr. F. E. Howard and the building re-

moved to Water Street, where it is now devoted to

tenants of a humbler class.

The death of Washington was greatly mourned in

this town and a funeral service to his memory per-

formed with great pomp and solemnity. A negro

slave, who, when Washington had been a guest at his

master's house, had served him, wore as his emblem of

mourning an old scarlet coat worn at the Battle of

Bunker Hill, trimmed with crape, and stood thus ar-

rayed in the meeting house during the service on suc-

cessive Sabbaths to the great amusement of the

worshippers.

Watertown square and the main street for many
years was a lively spot and the merchants did a thriv-
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ing trade. Moiuy w:ui scurcc, l>ut barter and ex-

chuuge waa carried on witli the liiriuen) tor miles

around.

"Angier'g Corner," (Newton) was named from

Oakcs Angier, the sou of the Rev. Samuel Atigier, a

saddler by trade.

In 1742 he met with Samuel Jackson and Daniel

Cooke, purcha.sed from Jonas Coolidge 11 acres with

an old house. He erected a tavern on the site of the

present Nonantuui House which he kept for many

years.

It was a small hamlet with about a dozen houses,

two taverns and a small store. It was nicknamed

"Hell's Corner" from the disreputiible orgies that

fre<iiiently took place in one of the tavern.s. Some

of the more progressive citizens deemed it would l)e

more advantageous if the territory was annexed to

Watertown, and in March, 1779, a committee was

chosen on the part of the town to join with some of

the inhabitants of Newton in a petition for the an-

nexation to Watertown, but the movement was

unsuccessful. In JIarch, 1782, the attempt was

again undertaken with like result.

The records show that in April 1781, the town

voted to establish a poor-house upon the south

bank of the river, but this vote was never carried

out.

A few years later Esquire Wni. Hull, afterwards

General Hull, undertook the scheme of having a large

town or village at Newton Corner to include the

greater part if not all the territory on the south

side.

In September, 1704, he purchased from Stephen

Cooke some fifty acres with dwelling-house and barn

—

including the Phineas Cooke house, with the right to

imjirove the upper mill-])ond (Boyd's), for fish-ponds,

baths, etc., and mortgaged the same to Cooke for

£1211. He was living in the Phineas Cooke house,

while building the Nonantum House which he

afterwards occupieil, and had a wharf on the Charles

river near the Watertown line. The present William

Street leads direct to the spot, near which was his

malt-house. He became somewhat financially em-

barrassed and in 1805 conveyed all his interest in

this Cooke tract to Eliakim Morse, a wealthy merchant

in Boston, who paid the mortgage and released the

Phineas Cooke homestead.

Dr. Eliakim Morse studied medicine with his uncle

in Woodstock, Conn., came to Boston, engaged in

foreign trade and accumulated a large estate. He
built the colonial mansion that stands upon the most

elevated spot of the Cooke estate. It was built by
days' work and when finished was the finest mansion
in style and situation for miles around. It was

|

through his cfforls the country road was named Galen
Street in honor of the father of medicine among the

ancients, the road having been widened and made
more uniform and beautified with trees. After his

death the homestead passed into the hands of Mr.

Harrison Page, while the meadow-land near Newton

was mapped out into building plots. Morse and

Chestnut (now Boyd) Streets, were laid out, and the

laud thrown into market, and settled upon mostly by

persons allied in all respects to Newton. On this

tract Ibrmerly ttood a finegrove of handsome chest-

nut trees. Back of the Morse estate near Watertown

Street, stands the homestead built by Capt. Samuel

Somes who married one of the daughters of Stephen

Cooke. Somes was a handsome, vivacious man of free

and convivial habits and the captain of a "crack"

military company in Boston known as the Fusilecrs.

Once the company had a field day on this territory

which attracted a great crowd from the surrounding

villages.

Next northerly to the Dr. Morse estate stands the

Abraham Lincoln house built 1824-2IJ by Stephen

Cooke. On the easterly side of Galen Street, adjoin-

ing Water Street, the early portion of this century

was built what is at present known as the "Stone

house." It was built before 1768 by John Hunt,

either for himself or his sou John, who was his busi-

ness partner. He sold it to Josiah Cajien in 1772.

In 1832 it was kept by Nathaniel Broad, as a

tavern, who died there. Kev. Theodore Parker in

the month of April of that year opened a school in an

old bakery that stood in the rear of this mansion,

formerly Hunt's shop, but since removed to the

corner of Maple Street, (opened within a few years)

and Galen. Having leased it he personally assisted

in flooring it, made a rude wainscot, a dozen desks,

and opened school with two pupils one of whom was

a charity scholar. Here he met Lydia D. Cabot, his

future wife, who was boarding in the same family. He
taught school for two years with great success until

he had earned money enough to permit him to pursue

his theological studies. He preached occasionally

on Sabbaths in the town-hall and elsewhere during

this time, and enjoyed the friendship of the Kev.

Convers Francis.

Close by the division line, on the corner of Galen

and Williams Streets, stands the old Segar hou.M',

built by Ebenezer Segar in 1794. Connected with it

in the rear was an extensive building and a brick

shop where, in 1820, the New England Lace Company
had their factory. The street was called Lace Fac-

tory Lane. In 182.3 the factory was removed to Ips-

wich. The originators of the factory with some of

the workmen came from Nottingham, England, as

their factory there had been broken up by those who
were opposed to lace being made by machinery in-

stead of by hand, under the Heath coat patent. Many
of the leading young ladies found pleasant and con-

geuial work in the factory and the departure of the

works from the town was regretted.

Subsequently the property belonged to Stephen

Perry, aud was the boyhood home of William Stevens

Perry, the present Episcopal Bishop of Iowa. In this

house were held the first services of that denomina-
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tion gathered in Newton, iiiul the parish of Grace

Church organized.

On the opposite corner stands the liouse of Ruv. A.

B. Earle, the well-known evacgelist, occupied during

his life-time by lawyer Alfred 15. Ely, of Newton,

known in civil and military life, who died July 30,

1872.

In March, 1827, the Newton and Watertown Uni-

versalist Society was organized, 11 nd on August I'lth

it dedicated a house of worship, situated on the corner

of Galen and Water Streets.

It was dissolved in 186t) and the town purchased

the building for a school-house, the present Parker

School, named in honor of the late Rev. Theodore

Parker. The people of the town of that time remem-

ber the frequent town-meetings necessary to secure

this building to the use of the schools. The tactics

of 1695 and of many another time, when public im-

provements have been finally voted against the wishes

of conservative opponents were used, yet without an

appeal to the Governor.

From Galen Street by the bank of the Charles

River next to the Coolidge tavern is an ancient way,

a little lane, a gangway as called in early deeds, run-

ning a short distance to Hunt's wharf, then turning

abruptly into Factory Lane, running westwardly up

the steep liill to Galen Street by the Parker School —
now known as Water Street. By and upon the river

bank there have ,been and are located many indus-

tries. Besides the ship building before mentioned,

was the potter's shop of Samuel Sanger in 1771.

Beyond Brigham's lumber yard and wharf was for-

merly a hat-factory,—afterwards a wire-factory,—now
occupied by the Warren Soap Works, commenced in

1868. Next are the works of the Newton and Water-

town Gas Light Company, with the electric plant

lately located. Beyond was the wharf and warehouse

of Samuel Hunt, which came into the possession of

John Hunt. At the end of this lane stood the dis-

tillery and store of John Hunt, which he sold to his

son Samuel, with his wharves and dwelling-house, in

1768. Some fifty years later it was changed into a

starch-factory, which business still thrives under the

management of H. Barker & Co., though the build-

ings are of later date. Factory Lane was a private

lane that led by the distillery through Mr. Hunt's

estate to the Samuel Hunt wharf.

Among the other factories may be mentioned the

wool factory of Capt. Joseph Crafts, later John W.
Hollis's on Galen Street; the knitting-factory of

John W. Tuttle, succeeded by the Porter Needle

Company, later by the Empire Laundry Machinery

Company, on California Street; the bicycle factory of

Sterling Elliott and the Stanley Dry-plate Company
on the river bank south of Maple Street.

Ths ice business of Howard Bros, is located on Cali-

fornia Street. The White and the Derby type

factories, no longer in existence, were in the vicinity

of Watertown Street. On Morse Street, near the

ponds, still remains an old silk-mill, now a paint-uiill,

and the factory of knit and woolen goods of Mr.

Thomas r)all)y, while on the same street near Galen is

Sanger's sash and blind factory.

In 1871, by Chapter 18-1, the Legislature granted

the right to the Massachusetts Central Railroad Com-
pany, to extend its tracks from Weston through Wal-

tham, Newton, Watertown, Cambridge and Hrightoii,

or any of them to some point adjacent to the location

with the Boston and Albany liailroad (Jompauy, and
it was expected that the site would be laid out along

Water Street to Faneuil to connect with the Boston

& Albany Railroad.

In 18G8, Chapter 151, the " Nonantum Horse Rail-

road Company " was chartered by the Legislature.

Miles Pratt, Nathaniel Whiting and James F. Simons,

Jr., were the incorporators, and they were empowered
to build and maintain a track from the flag-staft' op-

posite the Spring Hotel, Watertown, to Lowe's apothe-

cary store in Newton ; the capital stock being fixed

at $50,000.

In 1874 commenced the agitation and petitioning

for various causes, for the annexation of the whole or

part of this territory to Newton, and ten times has

this effort been made without success, though in 1889,

fifty-nine out of one hnndred and twenty voters were

petitioners, with only eleven neutrals.

This territory financially is valuable to the town as

it consists of ninety-four acres, valued with the

factories and buildings for taxable purposes at eight

hundred and fifty thousand dollars.

In 1888 there was completed in conjunction with

the City of Newton, a system of surface drainage for

Morse Field. The sewer system known as " Charles

River Valley," adopted in 1889 by the State Legisla-

ture, will pass through this territory along the banks

of the Charles River through Faneuil and Brighton

into the main sewer in Boston and out into the har-

bor.

This territory well drained, supplied with pure

water, electric lights, good municipal privilegesat low

taxation, in a few years will be covered with the

homes of law abiding citizens attracted by its superior

advantages.

Whatever in the future may be its municipal

government—town or city—one thing is certain, the

south side of Watertown has been no unimportant

factor in the history of the old town of Watertown.

CHAPTER XXXIL

WATBRTO WN—{ Continued)

.

MILITARY HISTORY.

Ludlmwars— The E^vuhdifiiary Period— 37ie Cicii War,

The military history of this town has never been

written. Perhaps it is yet not time to separate this
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impurtiiiit i>art di our ciiiiiiiuui iii?iiir_v auil trace from

Captain I'atrkk of the early train bands to Com-

mauiler E.lward E. Allen of the Ancient and Honor-

able Arlillery, all that brilliant list of names of men

who were so essential to the mere existence of society

and who so abundantly filled the important civil posts

of duty. The pages of our history are thickly strewn

with military titles.

The ori^'inal danger from the Indians, and during

the first 150 years, is shown in the following article

on the Indians by Rev. Mr. Rand. Sonieth.ing of the

condition of military atliiirs can be seen in the article on

the Revolutionary Period by Mrs. Bradford. The

contribution of our town to the great Civil War is

seen in Mr. Ingraham's record.

But the war of 181:2, the Mexican war of 1845-48,

and the dread of war at other times have kept alive

the military spirit and brought out and trained those

fitted to command or willing to serve their county in

this way. These always have the respect and the

gratitude of their more quiet neighbors.

The IsDi.iNS of Watertown.'—Cotton Mather

who is never dull says of the Massachusetts Indians:

'"Know then that these doleful creatures are the ve-

riest ruins of mankind which are to be found any-

where upon the face of the earth. . . . One might see

among them what an hard master the devil is, to the

most devoted of his vassals. These abject creatures

live in a country full of mines; we have already made

entrance upon our iron ; and in the very surface of

the ground among us, there lies copper enough to

supply all this world ; besides other mines hereafter

to be exposed. But our shiftless Indians were never

owners of so much as a knife till we came among
them. Their name for an Englishman was a knife-

man. . . . They live in a country where we now

have all the conveniences of human life. But as for

them, their housing is nothing but a few mats tied

about poles fastened in the earth, where a good fire is

their bed clothes in the coldest seasons. ... In

most of their dangerous diseases, 'tis a powow that

must be sent for ; that is, a prie.st who has more famil-

iarity with Satan than his neighbors. This conjurer

comes and roars and howls and uses magical cere-

monies over the sick cian, and will be well paid for it

when he has done. If this don't effect the cure, the

man's time is come, and there's an end. . . . Their

way of living is infinitely barbarous. The men are

most abominably slothful, making their poor squaws,

or wives, to plant and dress and barn and beat their

corn, and build their wigwams for them."

One other thing this versatile pen has placed on
record, that the Indians in their wars with the Eng-
lish, finding inconvenient the yelling of the English
dogs, "sacrificed a dog to the devil; after which no
English dog would bark at an Indian for divers

months ensuing. This was the miserable people

> Condensed fi-om Bev. Edward A Band.

which our Eliot propounded unto himself the saving

of." [Life of Eliotl

The inquiry arises when in Watertown's history do

we first meet with Indians?

If Professor E. K. Horsford be correct, it was in

that memorable battle which Thorfinn and his brother

Norsemen fought with the Skraelings, this side of

Cambridge Hospital, a battle-field which justly can

never belong to any other than the children of Nor-

umbega. It was then about the year 1000 that the

Watertown Indians loomed up above the misty hori-

zon-line of history.

We have, however, in the seventeenth century a

sight of the Indians that cannot be questioned.

Capt. Eoger Clap (so printed in Shurtleff's " Bos-

ton ") came to this country in the year 1630. He
arrived .at Hull May 30th, in the ship "Mary and

.John," which " Great Ship of Four Hundred Tons,'' as

he calls it, did not bring theeolonistsany farther than
" Nantasket Point." There the hard-hearted Captain

Squeb left them to shift for themselves, "in a forlorn

place in this Wilderness." The colonists, though,

" got a Boat of some old Planters " and toward the

west they went sailing. They came to Charlestown,

which had " some Wigwams and one House," and

may have been a mighty city, but all in embryo.

This did not satisfy their ambition. Capt. Clap

says that they " then went up Charles river, until the

river grew narrow and shallow, and there we landed

our goods with much labor and toil, the bank being

steep, and night coming on, we were informed that

there were hard by us Three Hundred Indians. One
English Man that could speak the Indian language

(an old Planter) went to them and advised them not

to come near us in the Night ; and they barkened to

his Counsels and came not. I myself was one of the

Sentinels that first Night. Our Captain was a Low '

Country Souldier, one Mr. Southcot, a brave Souldier.

" In the Morning some of the Indians came and

stood at a distance off, looking at us, but came not

near us, but when they had been a while in view,

some of them came and held out a great Bass toward

us ; so we sent a Slan with a Bisket and changed the

Cake for the Bass. Afterwards they supplied us with

Bass ; exchanging a Bass for a Bisket Cake, and were

very friendly unto us.

" O Dear Children I Forget not what Care God had

over his dear servants, to watch over us, and protect

us in our weak beginnings. Capt. Squeb turned

ashore Us and our Goods like a mercyless Man, but

God, even our merciful God, took pity on us ; so that

we were supplied, first with a Boat, and then caused

many Indians (some Hundreds) to be ruled by the

Advice of one Man, not to come near us ; Alas, had
they come upon us, how soon might they have de-

stroyed us ! I think we were not above Ten in Num-
ber. But God caused the Indians to help us with fish

at very cheap rates."

In this account which Capt. Clap addressed to his
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children a short time before his death, he proceeds

to say that the party did not stay there on the banks

of the Charles many days. They had " orders to

come away from that Place (which was about Water-

town) unto a place called Mattapan (now Dorches-

ter)."

When Capt. Clap told his simple, touching, rever-

ent story, little did he think that his item about the

bass would suggest to some ingenious mind a scene

for our picturesque town seal.

The inquiry arises who were these Indiana found

ou the banks of the Charles?

A part of the aboriginal population called the

Massachusetts Indians. Drake, in his work on the

Indians, tells us that it has been affirmed that

Massachusetts meaus, "An hill in the form of an

arrow's head." Roger Williams said that the Massa-

chusetts were called so from the blue hills.

Gookin, in his Historical Collections, says :

"The Massachiiaetts, being the next great people northwarJ, inbati-

ited principally about that place in Massachusetts Bay, where the body

of the English now dwell. These were a numerous and great people.

Their chief sachem held dominion over many other petty goveruouis.

as those of Weechaga eka.s, Neponsitt, Punkapaog, Nonantum, Nasha-

way, some of tlie Nipmuck people, as far as PokointakuUe, as the old

men of Massachusetts affirmed. This people could, in former times,

arm for war about three thousand men, as the old Indians declare.

They were in hostility very often with the Narr.agansitts ; but held am-

nity, for the most part, with the Pawkunnawkutts, who lived on the

south border, and with the Pawtucketts, who inhabited on their north

and southeast limits. In An. X612 and 1613, these people were also

sorely smitten by the hand of God with the same disease before mention-

ed in the last section ; which destroyed the most of them, and made

room for the English people of Massachasetts colony, which people this

country and the ne.xt called Pawtuckett. There are not of this people

left at this day above three hundred men, besides women and children."

The Indian names occurring in these " collections"

have all the peculiarity of Indian pronunciation.

Some of the words have a sound as easy, sonorous

and musical as a brooklet's flow, and to pronounce

others, one fears he must lose his teeth before he gets

through.

We recognize Non.antuni in the quotation as a name
preserved to-day in this neighborhood.

The Indians, naturally, would be attracted to the

Charles River Valley. Here they found a water-way

for their canoes. Here in this neighborhood were

unfailing and abundant fisheries. It was a loamy

land for their corn. It sparkled with springs. We
then can readily imagine how its smoke from their

fires were mingled with the haze hanging above our

beautiful fields. I recently visited the land in the

rear of Mr. Cassidy's residence and on the banks of

the Charles River. That industious historical stu-

dent, Mr. Jesse Fewkes, has told me of a blutf once

in that neighborhood, but now removed. His testi-

mony is that " the verge of the bluff about 300 or 400

feet to eastward from the southeast corner of Mason's

land " contained many Indian relics. " After the

black loam had been removed," there were found by
him " nearly one hundred implements of stone."

Indians once peopled all this land, as has been

shown. What was our beautiful winding Mount

Auburn Street but an ancient Indian trail ? That

trail, with its picturesque turns through forest and

across meadow, only needed to be widened and leveled

that our ancestors might use it.

We have an Indian name associated with the town

in the title Pequossette, or as in the town records,

I'equnssett.

One summer day in lii30, into this Indian land

came the head of that long column of civilized lite

that has been streaming through Watertown for over

two hundred and filty years. Those first settlers

came up the river in boats, landing somewhere on the

present Arsenal grounds, it has been asserted, but

more recent opinion favors the old landing-place in

the rear of Cambridge Hospital. They must speedily

have come in contact with Indian life, and it is a

very interesting question whether there may have

been any meeting for aland-trade with the oUl occu-

pants of the soil, and whether the men paid anything

for the land they took. As far as we have any written

evidence, it was squatter sovereignty of a very bad,

bold kind that was practiced, and to-day we are living

on ground that, in one sense, has never been paid for.

It will interest us to know that in the early history of

the Colony an interesting controversy raged on the

subject of the purchase of laud from the Indiana.

Roger Williams was astorm centre of that controversy.

He differed with the General Court of the Colony in

several particulars. In one he questioned and denied

the right of the civil power to say what a man should

believe, or how he should worship, or whether a man
should worship at all. That very convenient as-

sumption of power on the part of the King to grant

and distribute Indian territory as he might please,

Roger Williams also disputed. He prepared a docu-

ment in which he defined his views on ownership and

soil.

No Indian, though, ever closed his wigwam door

on Roger Williams. Providence Plantation was paid

for when the exile started his new home.

If the first Watertown settlers, unlike Roger Wil-

liams, took the land they found, but made no payment

for it, the conscience of the publicjwas not entirely at

ease upon the subject. We find a spasm of repentance

in an act of the General Court, Sept. 6, 1638 :
" It was

agreed that the Court of Assistants should take order

for the Indians, that they may have satisfaction for

their right at Lynn and Watertown." This seems to

have been only a preface to other action. March 12,

1638-39, "the Court desired Mr. Gibbons to agree

with the Indians for the land within the bounds of

Watertown, Cambridge and Boston." Stijl again on

May 13, 1640, the Court took action :
" it was ordered

that the £23-8-6 laid out by Captain Gibbons shall

be paid him, vidt. £13-8-6 by Watertown and £10 by

Cambridge ; and also Squa Sachem a coat every win-

ter while she liveth.''

Whether Squa Sachem went round every winter



nsn ITTSTdr.Y OF MIPDLESKX COUNTY, MASSACHUSETTS.

guy iliiii ci>mlorluiiii' in > umi'i iicw or secoud-

Imii.l liiicry, I cuiiiiot siiy. The matter of greater m-

tiTfst to us juHt now is how much luiul that piece of

I'ambriilire dry goods may have helped to pay for.

This is Hoiid's interpretation oftlie whole transaction :

"it was probably the Indians' claim to the 'ware

lands ' and Nouantum on the south side of the river.

This conjecture is favored by the circumstance that

('amhridge (Newton) and Hoston (Mmldy Kiver)

were endiraccd in the commission, and I liiU Water-

town and Cambridge paid the expense.''

In 1G71 the Indians tried to buy back the previous

fishing property and privileges in Watertowu with

which they had parted.

.Ml the above attracts our curious attention. Here

in this beautiful Ohiirlcs Kiver valley abounded the

Imlians, owning all these lands, aTid in arrow-tip,

spear-point and hammer-head they have left along

the green river banks, by pond, and spring, and brook,

the chirography of their ownership. And of any

payment for that territory as a whole, what evidence

have our ancestors left behind ?

The Charles River valley was traversed by Indian

raids, as when King Philip's warriors swept their

swath of tire through that little Medficld hamlet by

the winding river. Indians though did not fire

Watertown, which was so far down the picturesque

valley. Our town was rather a garrison-house to

which the settlers of other towns might flee. It be-

came, too, a reservoir from which went out streams of

aid to those in distress.

It is true there was friction accompanying the

intercourse of Watertown people with the Indians.

There was too much human nature on both sides to

assure smooth running of all the machinery. The

very first year of the young colony's life, trouble

broke out among the servants of that Sir Richard who

headed the Watertown colonists.

There is in the colonial records an item proving

this: " Upon a complaint made by Sagamore John

and Peter, for having two wigwams burnt, which

upon examination appeared to be occasioned by James

Woodward, servant to Sir Richard Saltonslall, was

therefore ordered that Sir Richard should satisfy the

Indians for the wrong done to them (which he did by

giving them seven yards of cloth), and that, his said

servant should pay unto him for it at the end of his

time, the sum of £5 (505)."

Gov. Winthrop in his history makes reference to a

Watertown man who was guilty of putting tempta-

tion in the way of the Indians. This is AV'inthrop's

reference to it made under the date of Sept. 4, 1632,

in the Governor's famous diary-history

:

" One Hopkins of Watertown was convict for sell-

ing a piece and pistol with powder and shot to James
Sagamore for which he had sentence to be whipped
and branded in the cheek. It was discovered by an
Indian, one of James' men, upon promise of conceal-

ing him (for otherwise he was sure to be kiUed)."

Savage, in his notes on the text of Wiuthrop's his-

tory, adds this quotation from the colony records

:

"Hereupon it was propounded ifhisoll'ence should

now be punished hereafter by death." The raising of

this question shows how serious an evil in the mind of

somebody was this traflic in ammunition with the

Indians. The proposition though, was not allowed to

embarrass the men in council, for they put in practice

what has proved to be a convenient device nowadays:
" Referred to the next court to be determined.'" One

escape from any perplexity to-day is to bequeath its

settlement as a thorny inheritance to the people com-

ing after us.

Watertown Indians were not involved in a bloody

war to which I am about to make reference, the

Pequod War, but it is a singular fact that a Water-

town man was the innocent occasion of it. That was

.lokn Oldham. This is Francis' version of Oldham's

fate : "He became a distinguished trader among the

Indians, and in 163() was sent to traffic with them at

Block Island. The Indians got possession of 01d>

ham's vessel, and murdered him in a most barbarous

manner. The boat was discovered by one John

Gallop, who on his passage from Connecticut was

obliged by change of wind to bear up for Block Island.

He recognized Oldham's vessel, and seeing the deck

full of Indians, suspected there had been foul play.

After much exertion and management, he boarded

this and found the body of Oldham cut and mangled

and the bead cleft asunder.'' Winthrop's account of

the discovery is very realistic. You can seem to see

the little pinnace ofl' on the blue water, while John

Gallop courageously dashes in upon them, scattering

them like a lot of ship rats that were swarming on the

deck. It was a foul, bloody murder they had committed.

When the news was carried home, tlying from ham-

let to hamlet, it aroused an intense excitement. The
fighting men of the towns were quickly on the march.

In August ninety men were sent off" to find and pun-

ish the savages. One of the commanders was Ensign

William Jennison. He acquired glory enough from

that campaign to be made a captain, the next month
of March. George Munnings, another Watertown

man, was not so fortunate. He came home again,

but left an eye behind him, so that the Court gave him
five pounds and "the fines for one week," whatever

those may have been. This campaign only made an-

other necessary. The succeeding spring, Massachu-

setts resolved to equip and send to the war one hun-

dred and sixty men, and Watertown was directed to

raise fourteen.

The now Capt. William Jennison was on the com-

mittee to marshal and furnish that force, and also on

a committee to divide a quota of fifty additional men
among the towns. Watertown's share of glory this

time was four men. These figures would prove that

our town contained about one-twelfth of the fighting

force of Massachusetts. Prominent in this Pequod
campaign was Capt. Patrick, of Watertown.
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Connecticut had a hand—a bloody one—in this

war. Her forces were commanded by Capt. John

Mason. It is thought the Robert Seeley next in

command to Mason may have been a Watertown man
who had moved to Connecticut. Bond says, " prob-

ably." I would th.at it might be shown tliat no Water-

town man had a hand in tliat part of the figlit.

Winthrop says, " Our English from Connecticut, with

their Indians and many of the Narragansetts, marched

in the night to a fort of the Pequods at Mistick, and

besetting the same about break of the day, ai'ter two

hours' tight they took it (by firing it) and slew there-

in two chief sachenig and one hundred and filly

fighting men, and about one hundred and fifty old

men,.women and children, with the loss of two Eng-

lish, whereof but one was killed by the enemy."

This fort was surprised at an early morning hour.

After the astonished sentinel's cry, " Owanu.x ! Owan-

u.\ !
'' (English ! English !) came a volley from Ma-

son's men. These now forced their way into the en

closure, finding sixty or seventy wigwams and a foe

bewildered and in their power. The cry of fright-

ened savages confused by this fierce, abrupt assault

rent the air. How suppress them ? " Fire the wig

warns!" some one must have cried. The fire-brand

was adopted as a weapon.
" This decided the battle," says Barry. " The

flames rolled on with terrific speed, crackling and

flashing upon the stillness of the morning air, and

mingling with shouts and groans of agonizing de-

spair, as body after body disappeared and was con-

sumed."

With such an awful holocaust was John Oldham,

of Watertown, avenged. A defence of the cruelty of

this reparation has been attempted. What defence

can be maintained ? Oldham was savagely murdered,

and the Indians were savagely punished. The only

thing that can be said is that Capt. Mason's men in

an hour of awful excitement, fearful lest the enemy

might be too strong for them, confused and bewil-

dered, appealed to a power which, once in motion,

feels neither fear nor pity. It is a relief to know

tliat Massacliusetts, which afterwards brought up its

forces and helped finish the war, did not apply the

torch to any "old men, women and children."

It has been said that Watertown territory was not

invaded by hostile Indians. Neither was there any

insurrection raised by resident Indians. Alarms

doubtless were frequent. A tremor of fear very soon

agitated Watertown's early history. Francis speaks

of a trouble which was misinterpreted, but shows that

the early settlers of Massachusetts were apprehensive
;

" Among the wild animals, the wolf was a very com-

mon annoyance, and against him they were obliged

to keep special watch. On one occasion in the night,

we are told, the report of the musket discharged at

the wolves by some people of Watertown, was carried

by the wind as far as Roxbury, and excited so much

commotion there, that the inhabitants were, by beat

of drum, called to arms, probably apprehending an

attack from the Indians." A less formidable crea-

ture than the wolf was the occasion of an alarm re-

corded by Winthroj), the responsibility for which, I

judge from the context, was shouldered by outsiders

upon the Indians. This was one early spring-day

after the settlement of our beautiful valley -town, and

the alarm was succeeded by a visit from the Indians.

"John Sagamore, and James, his brother, with divers

sannops, came to the Governor," says Winthrop.

'James Savage has some reason, though slight, for

assigning the residence of these ludians to the

neighborhood of Watertown, or between the Charles

and the Mistick Rivers."

Concerning the alarm connected with this visit,

Winthrop says, "The night before alarm wasgiven in

divers of the jjlantatioiis. It arose through the shoot-

ing otf .some pieces at Watertown by occasion of a

calf which Sir Richard Saltonstall had lost: and the

soldiers were sent out with their pieces to try the

wilderness from thence till they might find it."

Would that behind all the shiveringsof fright there

had been only a poor little calf astray in the Charles

River wilderness. I have referred to the I'equod War,

one season of alarm that had serious foundation. I

have noticed the fact that its occasion was a Watertown

man. It was in 1675 that all New England was
shaken by King Philip's War as by an earthquake.

It is singular how deep a dent in New lOngland's his-

tory this war made, and yet not so strange when we
remember that the combatants on either side were

actuated by a grim purpose, that of extermination.

To-day, any historical trace of that war is viewed

with strangely fascinating interest.

Our Watertown ludians were not involved in that

war. Geographically its source was too far to the

south of us. The spirit of the Indians in this neigh-

borhood made a still greater separation. This was

the neighborhood of the " praying Indians," to whom
I shall make reference hereafter. It was an Indian

whose home had been in Watertown, Waban, who
was prominent in friendly warnings to the English

that the dreadful war was contemplated and was

surely coming. The war cloud had risen and was

growing and blackening steadily, day by day. "In
the mean time several of the Christian Indians had

expressed their belief that a plan was on foot for the

general destruction of the English in the colonies;

and among these was Waban, a Nipmuck, at whose

tent, amongst that people, Mr. Eliot had first preached

to them in their own tongue. Waban, himself, hav-

ing been the first of his tribe to be converted, became
afterwards the principal rulerof the Christian Indians

at Natick. In April, 1G75, Waban came to General

Gookin and warned him of Philip's intention shortly

to attack the English ; and again in May he came
and urged the same, and said that 'just as soon as the
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Ueea were leaved out, the Indiaus wmuhI tall upon the

towim.""

I shall give reasons Inter why tlii^ Waban may be

chwsitied a» at one time u Watertown.liidian. His

spirit was doubtless an exponent of the motives and

purposes of others in this neighborhood, his loyal

breiutt registorin}? the temper of many of his race in

the Charli'S River Valley.

Watertowii then hud no conflict with its dusky-faced

neighbors, as the war draKScd aloiif; it.s bloody cour.'<e.

It felt the war, though, in the persons of those whom

this mother of towns had sent out to people other val-

leys, or through those it hurried away as combatants

into this awful, savage shook of arms.

Watertown jieople participated in the Sudbury

town-celebration last year, and while there a visit

was made to the famous battle-ground where Cap-

tain Samuel Wadswor\h, of Milton, and his brave

forces so stoutly contended with the Indians—

a

contest that ended in a massacre of the whites.

We remember what a lonely spot the battle-ground

was, with its outlook on the swelling hills and

across the green Sudbury valleys. Sudbury would

have been a sorer sufferer in that Indian invasion hail

it not been for Watertown men. The Indians first

attacked the settlement on the east side of Sudbury

River, making pitiful bonfires of most (>f the houses.

The people, though, made a stout opposition, and who

should appear for their defense but the stalwart Cap-

tiiin Hugh Mason. He and other sturdy fighters from

Watertown so punished the Indians that they were

forced to retre.it to the west side of the river. Across

the wide meadows we can see them fleeing, scowling

in wrath at the Watertown men, who gave them such

a drubbing.

King Philip's War closed in 1676. The decisive

blow was given by the English at the destruction of

the Narragansett fastness in the great cedar swamp

southwest of Kingston, Rhode Island. It was a blow

that meant demolition, destruction, the utter collapse

of the Indians, and forever, as an organized race-

power here in New England. The English forced an

entrance into the Indian fort, and, like their prede-

cessors who closed the Pequod War, they summoned

to their aid the same merciless weapon of fire.

We, of this day, cannot appreciate the bitter feel-

ing aroused on both sides of the strife in King
Philip's War. It developed into a process of exter-

mination. What the Indians planned for the English,

the awful barbarity of the former attested. On the

side of the English there was a lamentable process of

hardening. It would sometimes seem as if au

Englishman put his sensibilities into an iron-clad

suit of armor when the case of an Indian came before

him. When we place those days in the scales and
weigh them, we must not forget that there was in

every direction a rough way of dealing with offenders.

I New Kngland Ulst>jrical and Genealogical Register, Soldiers Id King
Philip's War, by Rev. G. M. Boge, vol. xliv. .July, 1890, p. 276.

Edward Eggleston incidentally brings this out in an

article on pre-Revolutiouary times in New England
;

" The New England reverence for the Sabbath tended

to repress social enjoyment in the accidental en-

counters of Sunday, but the week-day lecture suffered

from no such restriction, and was for a long time

much more in favor than even the Sunday service.

From all the country round, in spite of the poverty

and ditlicult conditions of pioneer life, people (locked

to those week-day assemblages. Cotton's lecture in

Boston was so attractive that it was found convenient

to establish a market on the same day
;
punishments

in the stocks, in the pillory, at the whipping-post, or

on the gallows, were generally set down for lecture

time, perhaps in order that as large a number of

people as possible might be edified by the sight of a

sinner brought to a just retribution. Nor did these

exhibitions of flogging, of cutting off ears, and of

men sitting in the stocks, or dangling from a gallows,

tend to diminish the attendance." We are not sur-

prised when this is added :
" At one time during

Philip's War scarcely a Boston lecture-day i>aa8ed for

a number of weeks without the congregation being

regaled with sight of the execution of 07te or more In-

dians."

The question here arises with fitness. Why were

not any Indians in this vicinity more interested in the

schemes of King Philip ? The Indian nature was

enough of a hot-bed to develop seeds of discontent.

It has been thought that Phillip's war "spread a con-

tagion of hostility far to the southward by means of

that quick intelligence which existed between the

tribes."^ Were our Charles River Indians less intelli-

gent than those to the south of us? King Philip's

War makes in my story a dark back-ground on which

I can paint with all the more vividness and eflectiveness

a beautiful scene of an embassy of peace and good

will by some of our English ancestors—an embassy

that sounded its first message near us in this very val-

ley, and whose growing influence developed all

through this region a different kind of an Indian from

the one that swung the tomahawk and shrieked the

war-whoop in King Philip's War. I mean the work

started by John Eliot, the famous Indian missionary.

Although pastor of a church in Koxbury, his sym-

pathies could not be bounded by the walls of that

fold. His affections went out to the great, unshnp-

herded flock in the forests and by the rivers, and he

resolved to reach these children of another color and

another race. The first step was a knowledgeof the In-

dian tongue. It has been told of him that " he hired

an old Indian named Job Nesutau to live in his

family and to teach him his language. When he had
accomplished this arduous task, which he did in 'a

few months,' he set out upon his first attempt." '

2 Th« Century, " Nathaniel Bacon," by Edward Eggleton. Vol. 40,

p. 424.

* " Biograpliy and History of the Indians of North America," by

S. G. Drake. Book 2, p. 111.
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Eliot himself, in " A true Relation of Our Beginning

with the Indians," which at the time he modestly

kept anonymous, has told this story :
" Upon Oct. 28,

1646, four of us (having sought God) went unto the

Indians inhal)iting within our bounds, with desire to

make known the things of their peace to them. A
little before we came to their Wigwams, five or six of

the chief of them met us with English salutations,

bidding us much welcome ; who leading ua into the

principal Wigwam of Waaubon, we found many more

Indians, men, women, children, gathered together

from all quarters round about, according to appoint-

ment, to meet with us and loarn of us." '

Eliotspciit three hours with his Indian hearers, very

plainly talking to them about their duty. They de-

clared they were not weary, " but wee resolved," he

adds, "to leave them with an appetite; the chief of

them seeing us conclude with i)rayer, desired to know-

when we would come again, so we appointed the

time, and having given the children some apples and

the men some tobacco and what else we then had at

hand, they desired some more ground to build a town

together."

The interesting point comes up where occurred

this first meeting destined to have such an effect, to

be a little spring from which would gush out the be-

ginnings of a wonderful river.

Gookin in his reference to Eliot declares, " The

first place he began to preach at was Nonantum, near

Water/own mill, upon the south side of Charles River,

about four or five miles from his own house, where

lived at that time Waban, one of their principal men,

and some Indians with him." - How near Water-

town mill did Eliot begin his labors? Inside the

boundaries of the old town ? Nonantum was an in-

definite patch of Indian territory, and stretched on

toward the busy rumbling mill, and " near the mill
"

naturally leads one to locate the wigwam of Waban
inside of that hazy, old-time Watertown line. As a

Watertown-raan, I may not have the least doubt in

the world that the little spring with its wonderful out-

flow was on Watertown ground. I have called Waban
a Watertown-man. As a student seeking historical

evidence, I can only say that " near the Watertown

mill " leads me to infer that Waban probably built

his wigwam in old Watertown, which, as a man of

wisdom, he would surely do.

It would take a long paper to hold inside its limits

the story of John Eliot's wonderful work. The
" praying Indians " became a distinct and large class

in New f^ngland life. They had their villages at

Natick, at Pakemitt or Punkapaog (Stoughton), Has-

sanamesitt (Grafton), Okommaamesit (Marlboro'),

Wamesit (Tewksbury), Nashobah (Littleton), Magun-
kaquog (Hopkinton).

1 Collections of the Mass. Hist. Society. Vol. 4 (3d 8eriej*J, p. 3

2 Collections of the Mass. Hist. Society for the year 1792. Vol. 1,

p. 168.

Gookin calls these " the seven old towns of praying

Indians." There were others in Massachusetts, but I

mention only these. Waban's history is that of an

interesting character and of an old neighbor. He
moved finally to Natick. " When a kind of civil

community was established at Natick, Waban was

made a ruler of fifty, and subquently a justice of the

peace. The following is said to be a copy of a war-

rant which he issued against some of the transgres-

sors :
' You, you big constable, quick you catch um

Jeremiah Offscow, strong you hold umsafe, you bring

um, afore me, Waban, justice peace.' A young jus-

tice asked Waban what he would do when Indians

got drunk and quarreled ; he replied, ' Tie uin all up,

and whip um plaintiff, and whip um fendant, and

whipum witness.'"'

Waban was a good friend of the English. From
his class the praying Indians came sympathetic neigh-

bors in peace, and active allies in war. They were a

bulwark to our interest in the colonial life. If there

had been ten John Eliots or a less number even in

New England, peace everywhere would have been

regnant. As it was, the Indian character in the

Charles river valley which iuciudes .so much of old

Watertown, was powerfully influenced.

That Watertown was not insensible to the gauntlet

of trials that other towns were called upon to run, has

been already noticed. Hubbard commenting on a case

of difference of opinion between Watertown and the

government in the earliest days of our town-life, uses

this language of Watertown, " they stood so much
upon their liberty." Watertown always had an

independent way, and would not permit unchallenged

any encroachment upon its rights. It can also be said

that it did not see unmoved an invasion of the inter-

ests of others. When other towns might echo with

the whoop of plundering, firing savages, it marched

out its fighting men to the rescue. I have spoken of

the fight at Sudbury ; I give only one more instance

here.

When Groton was attacked in March, 1G76, what

action did Watertown take ? Over the spring roads

tramped forty of our ancestors to the relief of the as-

saulted town. Lancaster, like Groton, was a place in-

debted to Watertown for help in its early settlement.

Lancaster was not forgotten when the Indians raided

it. William Flagg, John Ball and George Harrington

by their graves proved that Lancaster was remember-

ed by Watertown men. Among the forms of other

combatants rising out of the turmoil or the dark days

of Indian strife, various Watertown men could be

named who were "faithful unto death.''

But Watertown in its connection with the history

of the red men appears in another and still more
honored character. This neighborhood not only wit-

nessed the coming of the Gospel of Life to the In-

dians, but this neighborhood sent out a like embassy

s General History of New England, by Win. Hubbard, p. 144.
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elsewhere. It in an interesting coincidence too that

the soutli .-liile of the river »itncs.sing the preaching

of the Gospel to the Iniliiiri.s, gave preachers who

should take the same Good News elsewhere. I refer

to Thomas Mayhew who lived on the historic "south

aide," and also to his son, Thomas Mayhew, junior.

H.md in his painstaking genealogical list refers to

the very honorable relation the name of Mayhew sus-
|

taincd to our infant town, and .speaking of Thomas

Mayhew's probable arrival in 1G31, says: "For the

ensuing l'\ years, it appears by the colonial records that

few, if any other persons so often received important

appointments from the General Court." '

Watertnwn early lost this shining light on the other

side of the river. Where it shone ne.xt and how lion-

eficiently, I will let Gookin tell out of his ancient

Historical collections of the Indians in New Eng-

land :
" Martha's Vineyard, or Martin's Vineyard,

called by the Indians Nope, which we have in the

former book described hath been through the grace

of Christ, a very fruitful vineyard unto the Lord of

hosts, and hath yielded a plentiful harvest of con-

verted Indians.

"The first instruments that God was pleased to use

in this work at this place, was Mr. Thomas Mayhew

and his eldest son, Mr. Thomas Mayhew, junior. The

father was a merchant, bred in England, as I take it,

at Southampton, and he followed the same calling in

New England, at his tirst coming over which was in

the beginning of the settlement of Massachusetts col-

ony. His abode was at Watertown, where he had

good accommodations of land, and built an excellent,

profitable mill there, which in those first times brought

him in great profit. Hut it pleased God to frown upon

him in his outward estate ; so that he sold what he

had in ^lassachuselts to clear himself from debts

and engagements, and about the year 1642 transplanted

himself to Martha's Vineyard with his family. . . .

His eldest son Thomas, being a scholar and pious

man, after some time was called to be minister unto

the English upon that Island. It pleased God strong-

ly to incline the two good men, both the father and

the son, to learn the Indian tongue of that island ; and

the minister especially was very ready in it; and the

old man had a very competent ability in it. These two,

especially the son, began to preach the gospel to the

Indians abimt the year 1048 or l(i4fl, a.s I best remem-

ber and had set ap|iointed times to meet with them."

It w:\s a .scene of most attractive interest, these two

men thus closely united as father and son, coming to-

gether in this effort to reach those so spiritually distant.

The work was not only ))ushed upon the Vineyard, but

it wa-s carried to Nantucket and prosecuted there.

These ertorta met with encouraging success. In 1657,

the younger Mayhew sailed for England, but reached

another country, " even a heavenly." The vessel was

1 " Genealogies of tlie Families and Descendants of the Early Sett-

lers of Watertown, and Early History," by ITonry Rend, M.T>., p. 857.

wrecked, and thus the work of evangelizing the In-

dians at theVineyard and Nantucket received a serious

blow. It is touching to notice how this death of the

son alfected the noble father. It came to him as a

call to a new consecration of his energies to the be-

loved work of reaching the Indians. Gookin testi-

fies, " But old Mr. Mayhew his worthy father, struck

in with his best strength and skill, and hath doubtless

been a very great instrument to promote the work of

converting many Indian souls upon these islands."

It would be a work of fascinating interest to spread

out here a letter from this old Watertown miller giv-

ing the details of his work in reply to " fifteen

queries" from his friend Gookin. I will only say that

the Vineyard had its "praying towns" of Indians,

and of Nantucket, Thomas Mayhew said, " Upon that

island are many praying Indians." He testified ihat

he had "very often, these thirty-two years, been at

Nantucket." It is an interesting Mayhew-fact that

not only father and son but two grandsons became

identified with work for the Indians. Long and goodly

and golden was this Mayhew-line reaching out from

Watertown to the Indians at the Vineyard and Nan-

tucket. When Gookin wrote his account, Mayhew
was "about eighty years of age,"' his head white with

age as ever were his miller's clothes with dust at the

famous " Watertown mill." He died in the ninety-

third year of his age. He is reputedly the first builder

of any bridge over the Charles, and that has been

classed as a foot-bridge. Dr. B. F. Davenport, in a

summary of notes of official record about mills,

bridges, etc., includes this from the old colonial

books: "June 2, 1641, Mr. Mayhew to have 150 acres of

land on the south side of Charles river of Watertown

weire. The tole of Jlr. Mayhew's bridge is referred

to the governor and two magistrates to settle for seven

years." ^

That old foot-bridge built by Thomas Mayhew
across the Charles? Standing in the dusty doorway

of his mill and watching some red men tripping

across the humble bridge, little did he then think

how crowned with loving work for the Indians would

be his after years. Over waters many and troublous,

his own hands stretched the bridge by which his

dusky brethren safely passed to the green fields of

perpetual peace and joy.

Watertown thus appears in two characters ; in the

Mayhew- family as a missionary to the Indians, and in

the days of the invasion as a protector of its white

brethren in peril.

The red man long ago passed a.way from our border.

His canoe no more glides on our glass)' waters, and

the .smoke of his fires no more clouds the painted for-

ests of autumn. A romantic interest in him though

lingers among us. This may be owing in part to a

twinge of conscience that justly may visit us as we

- Paper before the Watertown Historical Society, by Dr. B. F. Dav-

enport, Sept. 17, 18«9.
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recall certain old-time dealings with him. As our

ancestors and their ancestors cannot meet in this

world, certainly, to settle old claims, we, the children

of the white settlers, can do something, to secure for

all the dusky race alive to-day, fair, impartial, even-

handed treatment.

In the beautiful valley of the Charles, in the old

Indian camping-ground, may this spirit of just'ce ever

have its home.

The Revolutionary Period.'—Watertown stood

second to none in her independent spirit during the

early days of the Colonists.

In 1774, when a Provincial Congress was formed,

Watertown sent Jonathan Brown, ita t'lwn clerk and

treasurer, as its representative. At that meeting, Oc-

tober 3d, it was voted that "the collector of ta.xes

should not pay any more money into the province

treasury at present." On the 17th of the same month,

the town voted to mount and equip two pieces of can-

non. At this time the inhabitants were thoroughly

awake to the dangers that menaced the country.

The port of Boston was closed, and many of the

citizens had removed into the country, Watertown

receiving a large share of them. They had resisted

the tea-tax and submitted to many personal discom-

forts to maintain their principles. The women had

been counseled to foiego the joy of their Buhea, and

we read that a number of patriotic gentlemen in this

town " who used to regale themselves with the best

of liquors have determined to drink only cyder and

small beer for the future."

At the jtmction of what is now Belmont and Mount

Auburn Streets, stands an old house whose aspect

speaks of ancient days; it is known as the Bird Tav-

ern. This same house, in Revolutionary days, was

occupied and used as an inn by Edward Richardson.

Here, under guard, were deposited arms and military

stores ; but for many years there had been little use

for them, and the bixteen pieces of cannon belonging

to the Colony proved to be quite useless when the call

was made for action.

Feeble attempts towards a military organization

had been in operation since the time when the quota

of men from Watertown was four—in the war against

the Pequods—till the years 1691-92, when the town

was divided into three military precincts, under the

command of Captain William Bond, of Watertown,

for the First Precinct ; of Lieut. Garfield, for the Sec-

ond Precinct (now Wallham) ; of Lieut. Josiah Jones,

for the Third Precinct (or the Farmers, now Weston),

till the present call to arms.

The tires of patriotism were not quenched, they

only slumbered on the hearthstones of the people to

be kindled at need. The rusty matchlock and pow-

der-horn, had long hung unused upon the rafters, and

the fertile fields and pleasant homes bore witness that

1 By Bath A. Bradford.

25-iii

they had beaten their swords into ploughshares and

their spears into pruning-hooks.

Early in September, 1774, the town ordered that

its militia should be exercised two hours every week

for the three autumn months, and that its stock of

arms and ammunition should be inspected.

November 21, 1774, a committee of nine was ap-

pointed to carry into effect the association and re-

solves of the General Congress held at Philadelphia,

and likewise those of the Provincial Congress ; the

latter had been presided over by the Hon. John
Hancock, but he hiid been chosen delegate to Phil-

adeli)hia, and Dr. Joseph Warren, of Boston, was

elected to succed him.

Town and country were now thoroughly awake,

and the call to arms was felt to be imperative, at least

the call to be in readinejss, and January 2, 1775, it

was voted in town-meeting " that a minute company
should be formed for military exercises, each man be-

ing allowed for his attendance once a week four cop-

pers (for refreshment).

Its oSicers were : Captain, Samuel Barnard
; First

Lieutenant, John Stratton ; Second Lieutenant,

Phineas Stearns ; Ensign, Edward Harrington, Jr.;

Sergeants, Samuel Sanger, Abiier Craft, Christopher

Grant, Jr., Josiah Capen, Jr., Stephen Whitney

;

Corporals, Moses Stone, Jr., Isaac Sanderson, Jr., and

Nathaniel Bright.

Two of these officers had already shown their

patriotism by assisting at the Boston Tea Party, De-

cember 16, 1773,

—

Captain Samuel Barnard, son of Samuel Barnard

and Susanna Harrington, who was baptized June 19,

17.37, and married Elizabeth Bond, daughter of

Daniel Bond and Hannah Coolidge. He afterwards

received the rank of major and died August 8, 1782.

Second Lieutenant Phineas Stearns, a farmer and
blacksmith, son of Josiah Stearns and Susanna Ball,

born February 5, 1735-36. He became a Captain in

the Continental Army, and led his company at Dor-

chester Heights, and served at Lake George in 1756.

He was offered a colonel's commission, but declined

it on account of family cares, and after the evacuation

of Boston he discontinued in the public service. He
married Hannah Bemis, eldest child of Captain Jon-

athan and Huldah (Livtrmore) Bemis. Second he

married Esther Sanderson, a cousin of his first wife.

He died March 27, 1798.

Another Watertown citizen assisted at the de-

struction of the tea,—John Randall, son of John and

Love (Blanchard) Randall. He was born October

2, 1750. He married Sarah Barnard, daughter of

Jonas and Abigail (Viles) Barnard. He also served

in New York one year.

On the morning of the memorable 19th of April,

1775, the Middlesex regiment under Col. Thomas
Gardner assembled at the Watertown meeting-house.

Rumors had reached the town, through the mes-

senger Paul Revere, of the advance of the British, and
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they were in debate when Michiiel Jackson, who

comniiiiiiU-d the Ni-wtoii Cumpiiny that Jay, arrived

ill hot hiiste, having just hoard, tlirougli tlie messenger

William Dawt-s, who rode through Roxbury, Broolc-

line and Brighton, of the need of immediate action.

Obtaining the tloor, he told them " that the time for

talking had paused, and the time for lighting had

come; that if they meant to oppose the march of the

British, they must immediately take up their march

for Lexington, and that he intended that his com-

pany should take the shortest route to get a shot at

the British."

His blunt, vigorous speech broke up the council,

each company being left to take its own course, and the

Watertowii company, under the couimaiid of Captain

(afterwards Major) Siiiuuel Barnard, lel't for Lexington;

near that town tlioy joined the Newton company, where

they encountered Lord Percy's retreating column.

The most they could do now was to harass the

English. This they did from every point possible.

The retreating army at the close of the day found

themselves at Charlestown, where they crossed the

river under cover of the guns of theships-of-war, hav-

ing lost that day, in killed, wounded and missing,

273; the Americans, 93. The Walertown company

only lost one man, Joseph Coolidge. A monument
has been erected to his memory at the old grave-yard

by his descendants.

The records inform us, through bills paid by the

town to Widow Dorothy Coolidge, who kept a tavern,

and to Mr. John Draper, a baker, that rum and

bread were served to the troops on that day.

Leonard Bond, at the age of twenty years, was the

first in this town to lake up arms in 1775, in defence

of liberty.

There are in the possession of descendants of Na-

thaniel Bern is a sword and a gun marked with

the name of his father, David Bemis, and the date,

January, 1775. With this gun, Nathaniel, then nine-

teen, started for Lexington on the 19th of April, 1775.

He did not arrive there in season to take part in the

fight, but came upon the British soldiers on their

retreat.

The tradition is that he fired upon them and

secured the sword,—that of an officer whom he shot.

As these two names are not found on the militia

roll for that day, we may conclude that iu the excite-

ment of the occasion many unpaid volunteers took

part in the skirmish.

The following is a copied list, from the time-worn
document in the State archives at Boston, of the

Watertown militia company that marched to Lex-
ington on the 19th of April, 1775, in Col. Thomas
Gardner's regiment:

Capt. Samiiol Barnard,

Lieut. John Stratton,

2d Lieut. PbincaASteartig,

KoHign Edward Harrington,

Seij. Samuel Sanger,

Seij. Chriiitopher Grant,

Serj. Josiah Capen,

Sorj. .Stephen Wiiitney,

Corporal Isaac Saunderson,

Corporal Moses Stone,

Corporal Nathaniel Bright,

Corporal William Harrington.

Vathan Coolidge,

William Loathe,

Xutbanitd Benjamin,

Thonuu Learned,

Stephen Cook,

Daniel Coolidge,

Josiah SaundersoD,

Moses Coolidge,

Seth Sauudunlon,

Francis Brown,

Jolm Sanger,

Isaac Prentice,

Tilly Mead,

Thomas Hastlngfl,

Abraham Whitney,

Aires Tainter,

John Whitney,

Josiah Norcross,

David Whitney,

Daniel Whitney,

John Villa,

Zachariah Sbedd,

Daniel Mason,

Jonathan Whitney,

Spencer Gooding,

David Stone,

Jonathan Coolidge Gooding,

William Chenery,

Thomas Stafford,

PBIVATZS.

Edward Harrington.

Thomas Coolidge,

Samuel Soden,

John Fowie,

David Capen,

Peter Harrington,

Samuel White, Jr.,

Saninel Barnard, Jr.,

Jonathan Bright,

Daniel Sawin, Jr.,

Phineas Childs,

Joshua Stratton,

Jonas Bond, Jr.,

Thomaa Clark,

Bichard Clark,

Samuel White,

John Reuimington,

John Cbonory,

Simon Coolidge, Jr.,

Daniel Cook,

Jonathan Stone,

Phineas Ksel,

Benjamin Capen,

John Hunt, Jr.,

Bezaleel Learned,

Amos Bond,

John Bullmau,

Elias Tufts,

In all 70 men.

Richard Everett,

Three days after the battle of Lexington the Sec-

ond Provincial Congress adjourned from Concord to

Watertown, where its sessions, as well as those of the

General Court, were held in the old meeting-house at

the corner of Common and Mt. Auburn Streets, until

the adjournment of the latter body to the State House
in Boston, Nov. 9, 1776.

In 1775-76 the Council met in an adjacent house

on Mt. Auburn Street, then occupied by Marshall

Fowle.

In recent years Marshall Street was opened, and

this building had to be removed back upon the street,

and it now stands opposite the High School building.

Dr. Joseph Warren was president of the General

Assembly, and after his death, at the battle of Bunker

Hill, the Hon. James Warren, of Plymouth, was

chosen to succeed him.

In 1776 the anniversary of the Boston Massacre,

on the 5th of March, was observed in the usual form

in the meeting-house in Watertown. The Hon. Ben-

jamin Austin was moderator ; the Rev. Dr. Cooper

offered the prayers ; and the Rev. Peter Thacher, of

Maiden, delivered an oration on the dangerous ten-

dency of standing armies in time of peace ; this met

with warm approbation, and was afterward printed

by Edes, at Watertown, in the form of a pamphlet.

Before the final assault of the British at Bunker
Hill, Col. Thomas Gardner's Middlesex regiment, in

which was Abner Craft's Watertown company, was

ordered to the field. Its brave commander received

his death-wound while leading on his men. Under
its major, Michael Jackson, it pressed forward, and
pouring a well-directed fire upon the advancing

Britons, gallantly covered the retreat. Lieut.-Colo-

nel William Bond, of Watertown, succeeded Col.
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Gardner in the command, and his regiment was here-

after styled the Twenty-fifth Regiment of the Conti-

nental Army, and belonged to Gen. Green's brigade,

which was stationed at Prospect Hill. Early in March

of the following year Col. Bond recoived marching or-

ders for New York, where they arrived on the 30th

of that month. On the 20th of April next they

were ordered to Canada by the way of the Lakes.

This expedition proved disastrous to the Americans,

partly on account of the extreme sickliness of the

season. Col. Bond returned from Canada with his

force greatly weakened by disease and death, and en-

camped on Mount Independence, opposite to Ticon-

deroga.

In a letter published by the Boston Oazette of

Sept. 23, 1776, we learn that Col. Bond died from

disease in camp, Aug. 31st, and was buried at Camp
Mount Independence, Sept. 4, 1776. "His charac-

ter was honored by a discharge of three 24-pounders

and the usual volleys of musketry.''

Capt. Edward Harrington, of Watertown, in this

same regiment, died in the same place, Sept. 23,

1776, probably from the same cause.

The following is a list of men who served in New
York in the fall of 1776 : David Whitney, Daniel

Cornwall, James Austin, Henry Sanderson, Daniel

Sawin, Jr., Abijah Stone, Moses Stone, Jr., Daniel

Cook.

The following who served at Ticonderoga for one

year, 1778 : Samuel Benjamin, John Benjamin, John

Whitney, William Jenison, Jonathan Wellington,

Elijah Tolman.

These for five months in the same place : Newton

Baxter, Francis Brown, Eben Eustis, David Smith,

Stephen Hagar.

In Dec, 1776, fifty Watertown men marched to

New York.

In March, 1776, the militia were ordered by Gener-

al Washington to reinforce the army at Dorchester

Heights, and the records give a list of ninety-five

men, under the command of Capt. Phineas Stearns,

with Edward Harrington, Lieut. ; Josiah Capen, Jr.,

and Stephen Whitney, Sergeants; Moses Stone, Jr.,

and Nathaniel Bright, Corporals ; and Nathaniel

Coolidge, Clerk.

In 1777 the following men were sent to reinforce

the northern troops : Daniel Parker, Samuel Sprague,

Henry Bradshaw, Moses Hager, Jonathan Stone,

John Sawin, Jacob Sanderson, Zack Shed, Benj.

Capen, Jed'h Leathe, Jonathan Livermore, Peter

Kichardson.

In Nov., 1777, the men who went to Cambridge

were: Ruggles. Whitney, Jonathan Crafts, David

Bemis, Jr., Thaddeus Fuller, Stephen Harris, Thom-

as Learned, Samuel Wellington, James Mallard,

Daniel Mason.

Up to the year 1782 we continue to find paid lists

of men who served in the war at Boston, Cambridge

New York and in Canada.

The most of these names are familiar as being

names of families now living here, while a few others,

such as CiBsar Wumphy, William Notonk-^ion, Sam-
uel Littleman, given as hunters by occupation, indi-

cate descent from the aborigines of the cmntry.

The hard, dry facts, and lists of names left to us by

history upon time-worn and yellowed manuscripts, but

feebly express the vigorous and sturdy manhood those

names represent. With keen imagination we would try

to vivify them, and make those times a living present;

one of the most eftectual means is through the news-

paper. We are fortunate on having in the Public

Library the original sheets of the Boston Gazette and
County Journal, the leading organ of the patriots.

This paper, which was published by Edes & Gill at

Boston, gave ofJ'ence to the government by its spirited

and fearless advocacy of the American cause.

On the 1st of June, 1775, Edes, who had more zeal

and courage than his partner, escaped from Boston by

night, and in a boat rowed up the Charles River, tak-

ing with him a press, and a (b'w types by which he

could continue his paper. He landed near the Great

Bridge, and deposited his materials in a building near

by on the north side.

Until recently this old dilapidated building might

have been seen. Now the foundry of Walker k
Pratt covers the site. Here, from June 5, 1775, till

Oct. 28, 1776, he issued its weekly sheets, and he was

made printer to the Provincial Congress and to the

Assembly and the paper attained a wide popularity.

We clip from its pages the following :

" TO THE PUBLIC.

" General Hospital at Cambridge, Jan. 3, IVTfi.

"An Appeal from John Morgan, Director Generator Continental Hos-

pital and chief Physician to the army. Returns thanks to Concord,

Bedford, Sudbury, .\cton, Marlborough, Stow and Lincoln, for gifts or

old linen, fine tow, saddlers, or sole leather (for tourniquets), web or

quartering, tape, thread, needles and pins, and would further like old

sheets and worn linen, and requests that other printers would give this

notice a place in their papers.

" P. S. Blankets are greatly needed for the Uospitals, for which a

suitable price will be given (and to be forwarded with all possible dis-

patch)."

It is of interest for us of a later generation to know

through ancients documents that the hospital referred

to was not one large building, but several private

mansions mostly now standing in a good state of

preservation,—houses deserted by their Tory owners

who, on the evacuation of Boston, fled either to

Halifax or England,—one owned by Capt. George

Ruggles, a large square house, now called the Wells

House, on the north side of Brattle street ; from here

the men wounded in the battle of Bunker Hill were

carried out after their death and buried in the field

opposite ; another on what is now Arrow street

belonging to Col. David Phipps, the grounds extend-

ing down to the river ; the Maj. Henry Va-<sal house,

which is now known as the Batchelder estate; this

being the largest house. Gen. Morgan used it as his

headquarters, and his medical staff were quartered
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there; the gruuu.ln mljoin'ed the estate of Major

Thomas Mitlliu, arterwanlii General Mifllin. Uis

garden waa the tJoest in Cambridge, and the wounded

Boldierw were all.jwed to walk in it ; this pluce aftcr-

wardx became the Itratlle estate, and is now in part

the site of the Riverside Press. The Thomas Oliver

house was also useil for hospital purposes ;
this is now

the James Uussell Lowell place.

Previous t<t Morgan's position as director-general

of the hospital at Cambridge. Dr. Benjamin Church,

a grandson of the old Indian fighter, Capt. Benjamin

Church, held the ollieo. He had been a prominent

Whig and was tru.-^led implicitly by the p.irty, and

was one of the deputation sent to meet Gen. Wash-

ington and escort him from Springfield to Watertown,

thence to Cambridge. It was discovered that he had

been carrying on a secret correspondence with the

enemy, ami a long letter of his was intercepted. In a

closing sentence he asks that " the answer be sent to

some confidential friend at Newport, to be delivered

to me at Watertown."

This letter of his was printed in the Boston Gazette

at the Watertown office. Church was arrested and

imprisoned in the very house where he probably

penned the ofl'ensive letter. On a door of a room in

the Vassal house is the name B. Church, .Tr., deeply

cut in the wood, which a century's re-painting has

vainly tried to obliterate. From this house he was

taken in a chaise and to the music of a fife and drum,

escorted by General Gates and a guard of twenty men

to the place of his trial in the meetiug-honse at Wa-

tertown.

This trial took place November 7, 1775. He was

expelled from his seat in Congress and publicly

branded as a traitor. The General Court resolved

that he be sent to Norwich, Connecticut, and confined

in jail " without the use or pen, ink or paper, and

that no person be allowed to converse with him ex-

cept in the presence and hearing of a magistrate of

the town, or the sherilV of the county where he is con-

fined, and in the Knglish language."

The following spring, about May, Dr. Church and

his friends sent a petition to Congress for his release

from prisun, as his health suffered from confinement.

The plea was granted on condition that he gave his

word of honor, witli sureties of one thousand pounds,

that he would not hold correspondence with the

enemy, and that he be brought to Massachusetts to be

in charge of this Colony, and not privileged to go out

of its limits without a license. This sentence was
afterwards commuted to transportation for life. He
sailed in a ship for the West Indies, and as it was
never heard from afterwards, it was supposed to have

sunk with all on board.

Four days before the battle of Bunker Hill the

Continental Congress voted to appoint a general for

the Continental Army.

At the suggestion of John j\dams and on the nomi-
nation of Mr. Johnson, of Maryland, George Wash-

ington, of Virginia, was chosen commander-in-chief,

and on the 17tli of June, 177r), his commission, signed

by John Hancock, was reported to Congress and ac-

cepted. Four major-generals were also appointed

—

Artemas Ward, Charles Lee, Phillip Schuyler and

Israel Putnam. To those were added eight brigadier-

generals.

On the 21st of June, Washington left Philadelphia

on horseback to lake command of the army at Cam-

bridge. He was accompanied by Major-Generals Lee

and Schuyler.

At Springfield he was met by a deputation from

the Provincial Congress then holding at Watertown.

Tradition says that on the evening of July 2d they

arrived at the Coolidge tavern, on the south side of

the Great Bridge, where they spent the night ; that in

the forenoon, it being Sunday, they left the house for

the meeting-house, where, after divine service con-

ducted by the minister. Rev. Seth Storer, Washington

was presented with an address from the assembled

Congress by their Speaker, the Hon. James Warren.

After an hour and a half the party proceeded to

Cambridge, where, the nest day, under a great elm-

tree on the Common, he formally took his title as

commander-in-chief of the American Army.

On the 11th of December next, at noon, Mrs.

Washington, attended by her son, John Custis, and

his wife, reached Watertown from the South in her

own carriage, drawn by four horses, colored postilions,

in scarlet and white liveries, military escort and a

guard of honor. Two hours were spent at the Fowle

house as the gue.st of Mrs. Warren, and the party

arrived at Cambridge at three o'clock, where she was

joined by General Washington.

An extract from "The Diary of Dorothy Dudley,"

published in 1876, gives this pleasant record :

"December 11th, Mrs. Washington, our general's

lady, has arrived, .and with her many ladies of the

families of our officers. She has had a long, tedious

journey from Mt. Vernon, with bad roads and trying

weather, and has come by short stages, stopping often

to rest and change horses. She has gone directly to

her husband's headquarters. Mr. Custis, her son,

accompanied her with his wife."

The Mrs. Warren, wife of Hon. James Warren, of

Plymouth, who entertained Mrs. Washington at the

Marshall Fowle house, Watertown, was Mercy War-

ren. She was the author of "The Liberty Song,"

written in 1769, beginning,

" Our wortby forefathers,—let's give tbeni a cheer

—

To climates UDknowu did courageously steer
;

Through oceans to deserts for freedom they came.

And dying, bequeathed us their freedom and fame." '

October 17, 1789, President Washington again

visited Watertown on his way to Boston, and was

received with great enthusiasm. The meeting-house

bell was rung and royal salutes given quite in con-

1 Mary L. D. Ferris in New England Magazine for July, 1890. " Our
National Songs."
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trast to his first journey, when powder and shot were

too scarce and valuable to be thus used.

Ou his return, November 5, he rode from Lexing-

ton to Watertown over the same road the minute-men

had taken, April 19, 1775, and without escort went

quietly to the Coolidge tavern for refreshment and

rest. He took supper in the public dining-room in

the south end of the house, and lodged in the north-

west chamber next to the river. This house is now

standing and is owned by the heirs of the late John

Brigham.

A few rods south stood the mansion-house of .lohn

Hunt, a town representative, farmer and trader. Here

Maj.-Gen. Joseph Warren lodged and ate his break-

fast before he started for Bunker Hill, where he gave

liis life for his country. Before starting he urged the

ladies of the household to prepare lint and bandages,

saying, "The poor fellows will want them all before

night." Slowly on horseback he went down the hill

to the bridge, but galloped back and bade them again

farewell.

Abner Crafts, who commanded the Watertown

company at the battle of Bunker Hill, was an inn-

holder before he took up arms. He continued to

serve during the war, and had command of the

military escort which was granted by Congress to

Lady Frankland (Agnes Surrage) on her removal

from Hopkinton to Boston during the siege of

Boston.

Under all the discouragements of the times, the

people of Watertown maintained their independent

and patriotic principles, and when, on the 20th of

May, 1776, "A resolve of the late House of

Representatives, relating to the Congress of the

Thirteen United Colonies, declaring them independent

of Great Britain being read, the question was put to

know the mind of the town, whether they will stand

by and defend the same with their lives and estates
;

and it passed in the affirmative unanimously."

After the capture of Burgoyne's Army, Watertown

was selected as one of the places where the ofBcers

should be quartered.

To the minds of a majority of the plain and sober

citizens this arrangement was quite repugnant ; so

they called a town-meeting in December, 1777, at

which they plainly expressed their views, andthrough

the selectmen their vote was communicated to the

deputy quartermaster. However, several officers

came and were quartered here, some at Angler's

Corner in Newton, and at other places about town.

January 17, 1778, the representative of the town,

Jonathan Brown, was instructed to use his influence

and give his aid towards ratifying and confirming the

Articles of Confederation and perpetual Union among

the United States of America, as agreed upon by

Congress.

On account of the prevalence of small-pox in

Boston, in June, 1778, the meeting-house in Water-

town was again opened for the use of the legislative

sessions, and the minister, the Rev. Daniel Adams,

was their chaplain, and his fervor and power in

discharging the duties of that office were long

remembered.

In September of the same year the Legislature re-

sumed its sessions in Boston.

Civil-War.'—Roll of Honor.—As the record I am
about to make, agreeable to the statute of the Com-
monwealth, may be examined by coming generations

anxious to know who might be entitled to have their

names entered upon this Roll of Honor, I will make
sucli explanation as to me seems desirable for a per-

fect understanding of all matters relating thereunto.

At the opening of the Rebellion the loyal citizens of

Watertown felt it incumbent upon them to take such

measures as they deemed meet and proper to aid the

general government to sustain the institutions of our

Fathers and to crush this iniquitous rebellion, not

only by word and vote, but by the more powerful

weapons of war.

They accordingly met, as the reader may see, by

referring to the town records of that date, and took

such steps as led to the organization of a military

company, which was duly organized May 5, 1861, and

which went into camp at " Camp White," Watertown,

on the Ist of June. It was accepted by the Governor

and ordered to report at Camp Cameron on the 2nd

of July following, at which date it was mustered into

the service of the United States for three years or dur-

ing the war. Uniforms' for both officers and men
were furnished by liberal citizens and the town, and

the expenses of drill and organization were paid, and

also a bounty of thirty dollars to each of the volun-

teers in addition to the other expenses incurred.

I shall, therefore, enter upon this roll all the names

of that company, with their respective places of resi-

dence, whether they composed the quota of this town

or not, and also all of those who responded at the sub-

sequent calls of our country, but I shall index those

only who, as far as I shall be able to ascertain, went

to compose the quota of our town.

(Signed) W. H. Ingraham, Town Clerk.

This company was attached to the Sixteenth Regi-

ment, commanded by Colonel Powell T. Wyman, of

Boston, and was entitled Company K.

Commissioned Officers.

Names. Birth-place.

Captain Henry C. Lindly Watertown,

l8t Lieut. Stephen E. Meeserve Watertown.

2d Lieut. Frank "W. Hilton,- Watertown.

Serijeants.

Names. Birth.place.

Clarke, Charles E Waltham.

Stearns, Samuel F Lynn, resided at Watertown.

Capell, Jonas F Lexington, color hearer.

Coburn, Charles F Watertown.

Norcrose, Thomas C Watertown.

1 By Wm. H. Ingraham, as recorded in a special volume deposited in

the town archives.

2 Promoted to 1st Lieut, of Co. D, September 28, 1661, and John Eatuu,

South Beading, was commissioned September 28, 18G1,
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CorvoraU.

A„m«. B,rA-pU<c<l

W.l.n, Th^ar. E Ouiibrldge.

King. I'Ullip H V-.IenowD.

BrlKhuii, Mullilu Nmlck.

Sniitl.. Am 1)
!*»"'=''•

Kupp. Jo«pl. D Watertowii.

King. K. A \V«l..rto«i,.

rirw.ll. JohD N Bolton.

AiUnu, Georg. B Newton.

fV<ral«, 0>. E, iM Begl.

Atwood. S.muel S Taunton.

Bright, Qllbert Wntcrtown,

Bright, JoMph Watertown.

Bridge., CharlM Z Watertown.

Benton, P^rrln • • • Uolbrook, K. H.

Bean, Edwin Natick.

Bowman, G»o. H W- RoJbuO'.

Brown, ChariM E. Watertown.

Bradley. James E E. Braintree.

Curfiman, Horace W Turner, Me.

Cole, Ralph Lexington.

ColUgon, John H Watertown.

Cummlnga, Andrew, Jr. Watertown.

Corrigan, Joseph Cambridge.

Craigen, George F Boston.

DollofT, John E Watertown.

Dolloir, Benj. W Watertown.

Boherty, John Watertown.

Engley, George Wrentham.

Kldridge, William E Watertown.

Flynn, CoruellusJ Watertown.

Freeman, Joseph Watertown.

Flohr, Andrew L Watertown.

Franklin, Samuel Newton.

Earned, David Waltham.

Harrington, Herman P Waltham.

Harrison, James K Watertown.

Holbrook, John George Watertown.

Hanford, George C Cambridge.

Hancock, Charles Watertown.

Kenny, Patrick Waltham.

Kearney, James Watertown.

Keyes, Sylvester W Natick.

Knott. George W'atertown.

Eelahar, I Newton.

Keating, Daniel Brighton.

Lyman, William U Watertown.

Lyman, Edward Watertown.

Lord, Eben N Watertown.

Leaverton, James W Watertown.

Lnkcr.J Watertown.

Mansir, John H Watertown.

Mackin, James E Watertown.

Miller, Henry I Watertown.

Miller, Charles A Watertown.

Morse, Charles A Watertown.

More, George F Natick.

McGonuigal, Barney Waltham.

McCoolitr, Patrick Ashby.

Mnlluuey, Matthew Waltham.

Murphy, Daniel Cambridge.

Mullen, David Cambridge.

Manchester, G. D Cambridge.

Nichols, Abram G Burlington.

Qualter, John ... Waltham.

Bichardson, Charles Littleton.

Rohbins, George, Jr Watertown.

Risley. George W Watertown.

Kibley, Chester Watertown.

Hodman, John Waltham.

Bood, J. L Ludlow.

Sanderson, Horace Waltham.

Sanderson, Henry Waltham.

Sanger, Wm. U Watertown.

Smith, Gregg Watertown.

Smith, James H Watertown.

Sumner, Alison R Watertown.

Swluburn, Samuel Natick.

Sharpe, James E Watertown.

Shattuck, Aniory N Natick.

Sherman, Robert Waltham.

Smith, John J Waltham.

Smith, Johna Cambridge.

Sullivuu, Dennis Watertown.

Staccy, Albert H Northboro".

'fainter, George W Charlestown.

Thompson, C. H Waltham.

Tibbhtta, N. D Newton.

Whitmarsh, Thomas F E. Bridgewater

Ward, John M Watertown.

Webb, LA Watertown.

Worth, Alonzo K Watertown.

Wright, Frank Natick.

Whittemore, George H Watertown.

Watson, Joseph Cambridge.

Added to the company after the regiment left the

State and returned by the commanding officer:

Cullen, Michael Boston.

Gossou, Elijah D Lexington.

Laniaire, John Watertown,

Moore, Peter Watertown.

O'Brien, Thomas Watertown.

Pratt, James R Boston.

Rev. Arthur B. Fuller, of Watertown, received the

ai)pointment of chaplain and was witli the regiment

up to the battle of Fredericksburg, when, having re-

signed his position as chaplain on the morning of

that battle, he took a gun and entered the ranks as a

private ; was among the first that volunteered to cross

over the river to the attack and fell, shot dead, in the

street of Fredericksburg. His body was recovered

and was brought home to his friends and was buried

in Mt. Auburn by the side of his relatives.

1862.—On the 7th of July the President issued a

proclamation calling for 300,000 volunteers. The

number assigned to Watertown as her quota was thir-

ty-six. A town-meeting was called and it was voted

to pay one hundred dollars bounty to each volunteer

to fill the quota, and a committee was chosen to en-

list that number. They succeeded, and the following

names were enrolled

:

Alonzo Pomeroy, Watertown 39th Eegt., Co. G.

Samuel W. Hutchins, Watertown 39th Eegt., Co. G.

Henry W. Ham, Watertown Sergeant, 39th Regt., Co. G.

John Whitney, Watertown Private, 39th Regt., Co. G.

Orson C. Thomas, Watertown Private, 39th Regt., Co. G.

Jack M. Delauey, Watertown Private, 39th Regt., Co. G.

Wm. H. Corser, Watertown

Blilo B. Skeele, Watertown

William H. Woodbury, Watertown .... Sergeant.

Washington Madden, South Randolph . .

Geo. H. Goodwin, South Randolph ....
Z. M. H.iyden, South Rivndolph

Wm. Hyland, Watertown

Charles A. Spaulding, Watertown

William Bright, Watertown

James Broderick, Watertown

Patrick O'Hara, Boston, Watertown ....
Joseph Adams, Watertown

George Cochran, Boston

Paleuion C. Mills, Watertown 33d Regt.

Thomas Sheahen, Watertown 36th Regt.

William .Mellen, South Boston Sdth Begt.

Charles H. Chapman, Watertown 35th Eegt.

I
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Duuiel Haggerty, Watertowii :iSth Kogt.

\Vm. \V. West, Watertown 33d Kegt., Co. B.

Parker McCuen, Watertowo 33cl Regt., Co. B.

John Douttlly, Watertown :i3d Regt., Co. B.

John Cromiiton, Watertown :t.1d Regt., Co. K.

John JIcKinloy, Watertown 33ii Eegt., Co. B.

Emile Evers, Watertown :i3d Regt., Co. li.

Joseph Goth>ib, Watertown 3.'.tli Regt., Sergeant Co. B.

Thomas McNeil, Watertown 36th Regt ,
I'rivate.

Edward N, PicUering, Watertown 36th Regt., Sergeant, Co. B.

Wni. II. llogan, Watertown 35th Regt., Sergeant.

Robert ."Vtkins, Watertown 35th Keg(., Sergeant.

John llavison, Watertown 35th Regt., Sergeant.

Patrick OHara 39th Regt., Co. G.

The above were duly mustered iuto the service of

the United States, Camp Stanton, at Lynnfield, and

received their bounty as per vote of town.

The following naines are residents of Watertown

who volunteered for the three years' service and went

iuto other companies, but who served to fill the quota

of this town, and were allowed as an offset to the

town when the requisition was made for an additional

number of 300,000 volunteers :

Riifus BabcocU, Watertown Co. H., l«tU Regt,

Terence Rogers, Watertown Co. T, 16th Regt.

Hugh Rogers, Watertown Co. I, ICth Regt.

Patrick Rogcl-s, Watertown Co. I, 16th Regt.

Johnson .\tcher8on, Watertown Co. I, 16th Regt.

Augustus Severnse 2d Cavalry.

John F. Bernard, Watertown 2d Cavalry.

George K. Howard, Watertown 89th New York.

Charles F. Sherman, Watertown Nlmms Battery.

Phineas F. King, Watertown Nlmms Battery.

Wm. G. White, Watertown Co. A, 16th Regt.

Charles Jackson, Watertown Co. 0, 13th Regt.

Wm. H. Jackson, Watertown

E. J. Trull, Watertown Co. A, 1311^ Regt.

John Conley, Watertown New Orleans, with Butler.

Patrick Crotty, Watertown . . Co. I. 23d Regt.

Edwin U. Brigham, Watertown Co. A, 13th Regt.

Elijah NorcrosB, W'atertown Co. L, 14th Regt.

Harrison I. Craig, Watertown Co. G, 7th Battery.

Wm. Bowling, Watertown Co. G, 32d Regt.

Raselas Ireland, Watertown 14th Regt.

Rev. Henry A. Hempstead, Chaplain .... 29th Regt.

Edward S. Rowse, Watertown St. Louis.

Henry A. Wilkins, Watertown 20th Regt.

Samuel G. Noyes Sharpshooters 40th Regt..

Wm. H Johnson, Watertown Rhode Island Regt.

Adolphus Klous, Watertown 5th Battery.

Owen Dinan, Watertown 30th Regt.

Charles Howard, Watertown 14th Regt.

James Hutchinson, Watertown 2d Regt.

Michael M. Warren, Watertown 9th Regt..

Hugh Grey, Watertown 38th Regt.

James B. Childs, July 29, 1862, Watertown . Co. A, 12th Regt.

On the 4th day of August, 1862, a further call for

an additional number of 300,000 more soldiers was

made upon the loyal States, and a town-meeting was

called, to be held the 13th day of September, and by

adjournment to the 17th day of the same month, at

which meeting the town voted to pay the sum of one

hundred and fifty dollars to each citizen of Water-

town who should volunteer for the term of nine

months, and be accepted and mustered into the ser-

vice of the United States as a part of the quota of

Watertown, and they also directed the selectmen to

open an enrollment list immediately. In response to

that call the following persons volunteered, and were

accepted and mustered into service September lU,

1862:

Ntimet. Betidma. Tlieae were attujned lu

Joseph Crafts, Watertown Co. K, 5th Regt.

Ira J. Osborne, Watertown Co. K, 6tli Regt.

John H. Carter, Watertown Co. K, 6th Regt.

William F. Baldwin, Watertown Co. K, 6th Regt.

Charles Brigham, Watertown Co. K, 6th Regt.

Jacob G. lioyce, Watertowii Co. K, 6th Regt.

Charles Adams, Watertown Co. K, 5th Regt.

Joseph Lyman, Watertown Co. K, 5th Regt.

George A. I)e.\ter, Watertown Co. K, 6th Rogt.

James H. Blancliard, Watertown Co . K, 5th Rogt.

Patrick Burns, Watertown Co. K, 5th Rogt.

Judson Bent, Watertown Co. K, 6th Rogt.

Andrew De Wyre, Watertown Co. K, 6th Regt.

Thomas Dardis, Watertown Co. K, 6th Regt.

James Dunn, Watertown Co. K, 6th Regt.

James A. Ellis, Watertown Co. K, 6th Regt.

Charles Foster, Waterlown Co. K, 5th Regt.

Micajah C. Howes, Watertown Co. K, 5th Rogt.

Charles F. Uill, Watertown Co. K, 6tli Regt.

George E. Harrington, Watertown Co. K, 5th Regt.

James Wilson, Watertown Co. K, 5th Begt.

Oliver M. Over, Watertown Co. K, 6th Begt.

Charles V.. Hilton, Watertown Co. K, 5th Regt.

George W. Horn, Jr., Watertown Co. K, 5th Regt.

Edward 0. Ireland, Watertown Co. K, 6th Regt.

William Jones, Watertown Go. K, 6th Regt.

Jaiues Kennedy, Watertown Co. K, 6th Regt.

Austin W. Lindley, Watertown Co. K, 6th Regt.

George C. Nichols, Watertown Co. K, 5th Regt.

Ward M. Otis, Watertown Co. K, 6th Regt.

Peter A. Ober, Watertown Co. K, 6th Regt.

John A. Pond, Watertown Co. K, 6tb Regt.

Charles H. Priest, Watertown Co. K, 5th Regt.

Seldou H. Rosebrook, Watertown Co. K, 6th Regt.

Jeremiah Russell, Jr., Watertown Co. K, 5th Regt.

Mark N. Sibley, Watertown Co. K, 6th Rogt.

Charles E. Sanger, Watertown Co. K, 5th Regt.

John S. Stanley, Watertown Co. K, 6th Regt.

Joseph U. Tygbe, Watertown Co. K, 6tli Regt.

Patrick Toole, Watertown Co. K, 6th Regt.

Daniel A. Wilson, Watertown Co. K, 6th Regt.

Amos L. Derby, Watertown Co. K, 5th Regt.

Horace W. Otis, Watertown Co. K, 5th Regt.

Edwin A. Stackpole, Watertown Co. K, 6th Regt.

George L. Rhoades, Watertown Co. K, .5th Regt.

Thomas Pondergast, Watertown Co. K, 5th Regt.

F. A. Howard, Watertown Co. K, 5th Regt.

Edward F. Richardson, Watertown .... Co. K, 5th Regt.

Daniel P. Tilton, Watertown Co. B, 44th Regt.

I. W. Sylvester, Watertown Co. B, 44th Regt.

C. 8. Fields, Watertown Co. B, 44th Regt.

Henry S. Treadwell, Watertown Co. B, 44th Regt.

Aaron W. Harris, Watertown Co. B, 44th Regt.

Frank I. Uutchins, Watertown Co. A, 47th Regt.

F. D. Chant Light Artillery, 11th Regt.

George W. Booth, Watertown Light Artillery, lltb Regt.

Samuel Grienwood, Watertown Jones' Battery.

Charles F. Began, Watertown Co. E, 50th Regt.

Charles Miller, Watertown Co. E, 50th Regt.

Samuel D. Bodge, Watertown Assistant in Hospital.

Franklin Coffin, Watertown Connecticut Regt.

Thomas H. Patten, Watertown Co. E, 44th Regt.

James A. Robbius, Watertown Co. E, 44th Regt.

Frank S. Learned, Watertown Co. E, 44th Regt.

Henry T. Pierce, Watertown Co. E, 44th Regt.

Joseph G. Wilkins, Watertown Co. A, 44th Regt.

J. L. Day, Watertown Co. A, 47th Regt.

John W. Hartford, Watertown Co. A, 47th Regt.

Daniel C. Hawes, Watertown Co. A, 47th Regt.

James Kearney, Watertown Co. A, 47th Regt,

Henry W. Christian, Watertown Co. B, 43d Regt.

George B. Priest, Watertown Co. H, 52d Regt.
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CHAPTER XXXIII.

ir.^ TER TO irA'—

(

Continued).

BUSINESS rNTERESTS—BANKS.

The Business Interests of Watertown.—The
local bu>iiie»s of Watertown has never been very

lar^e, but the opportunities for its citizens to supply

tlieir wants for food and clothiug and other necessi-

ties have generally been good. When transportation

from Boston to the outlying towns was by wagon

—

this was long after that first period when transporta-

tion was by boat, along the estuaries and up the riv-

ers,—when, in fact, all transportation between Boston

and the central and northern parts of Maasachusetis,

and with New Hampshire and Vermont, was made

by teams,—Watertown was on the great road, vf here

six-horse coaches and six-horse wagons were common,

passing through her streets as commonly as single

teams pass now. Then there were convenient stopping-

places—taverns for the entertainment of man and

beast. There were at least six taverns, where we have

scarcely one now. Then there were stores also where

the countrymen could sell their produce and buy

their dry-goods and groceries, their hardware, their

medicines. In the early days money was scarce,

salaries of the minister and schoolmaster were paid

in corn and other grain. Of course nearly all trade

was barter trade ; exchange of produce at the stores.

A farmer would come in with his family, making a

day of it, to make his purchases for several weeks or

months at once.

Trade has changed greatly from what it was sixty

or eighty years ago.

Now the farmer, if not supplied at his own door, or

in his own village, goes directly to Boston by rail,

makes his purchases with the money which has been

returned perhaps by the commission dealer for his

produce, sees the sights and returns the same day, or

after a very short slop.

The stores in Watertown now supply what the ladies

or the families do not care to take the time to go to Bos-

ton for. It is true that the people, in many cases,

would be far better served nearer home, and at cheap-

er rates ; bnt one cannot expect the average person

who wishes to buy a few dollars' worth of dry-goods,

say, to refrain from the temptation to overhaul the

entire stocks of the large dry-goods stores in Boston.

Then " that is as good as a play," and so they have
their satisfaction for their time and money, even al-

though they choose poorer and less tasty goods, and
at higher prices than they would have given nearer

home, but they have seen great quantities of goods
and a large number of people buying.

.
In this way we try to account for this present

tendency to rush to the largest places for everything,

which is common to the multitude, not reflecting that

they often buy of cheap salesmen who have no name

and no care to establish a reputation, when they might

have purchased nearer home of the proprietors them-

selves, it is true of smaller establishments, but yet

men who have judgment and taste and everything

to gain by serving their customers and neighbors

well.

Back in the earlier days, which the oldest now

scarcely remember, before 1830, William Sherman,

who had as a young man taught a school on the

corner of School and Belmont Streets, and for a year

in Mcdford, was engaged in the dry-goods business.

He began with Mr. Biyelow and later entered into part-

nership with Jesse Wheeler in 1834, under the name
of Je.sse Wheeler & Co. In 1836 Jesse Wheeler went

to West Newton and Mr. Sherman formed a partner-

ship with Mr. Bigelow. Later than this he kept a

store on the south side of Main Street. When the

town-hall was built in 1847, William Sherman was

the first occupant on the east side, with his stock of

dry goods. In 1849 he sold out to Wm. H. Ingraham,

who was for so many years the town clerk and who
has occupied so many offices" of trust in the service of

the town and is in 1890 the chairman of the Board of

Selectmen. William H. Ingraham carried on a dry-

goods business here for two years, until, in 1861, he

was followed by Mr. Joel Barnard, who remained

until 1869, when that side was fitted up for the use of

the Free Public Library, and Mr. Barnard built the

brick block next east of the town-hall, now occupied

by the apothecary, James B. Woodward.

In 1838 Mr. Jesse Wheeler returned from West

Newton and established a store near the corner of

Mount Auburn and Main Streets, where he kept a

great variety ofgoods such as were usually kept in a

country store, including dry-goods, crockery, cutlery,

boots and shoes, etc.—in fact almost everything ex-

cept provisions and building materials.

In 1845 Jesse Wheeler bought the building which he

occupied for many (twenty) years. In 1846 Mr. Delano

March, who had served as clerk with Mr. Wheeler,

was taken into the firm. Many prominent business

men have begun their business education in this

hou^'e. In 1853, Mr. March retired to enter the firm

of Locke, Chandler & March, Boston, afterwards

March Brothers, Pierce & Co., wholesale dealers in

gentlemen's furnishings.

Otis A. Train, who had been in theemploy of the firm

for several years and had formed a matrimonial copart-

nership with Mr. Wheeler's oldest daughter, entered

this house which for a while from this time was

Wheeler & Train, until Mr. Wheeler bought him

out.

In 1857, Horace W. Otis began as a boy with Mr.

1 Wm. H. Ingraham, chairman of the Board of Selectmen for 1890,

served also in 1875 and 1876, and as town clerk from 1860 to 1863, 1881-

1889, twenty-three years, and representative to General Court 1862, 1878,

1879 ; assessor fur 1879-1890, (except 1880) many times moderator, fre-

quently serving on important committees.
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Wheeler. Ward M. Otis began in 1860. Both served on

the quota of Watertown in the War of the Rebellion,

and on their return from the war boughtout the stock

and stand of Jesse Wheeler, and since that have

continued to carry on the business. During the past

year, encouraged by their growing success, they have

erected on the west corner of Main and Spring

Streets the large brick block which they now occupy.

Their business in the changed tendency of tlie times

to greater specialization, is more limited in variety of

kinds of goods than were kept by Jesse Wheeler in

1853, although they have a very much larger store

and a much larger stock of goods. Dry goods and

boots and shoes in sufficient variety for a place of

this size can probably be found always on their shelves

and counters. The second story of their new build-

ing is occupied by the Young Men's Christian As-

sociation, and the third floor by the Pequossett Lodge

of Free Masons, who sub-let to the Odd Fellows, the

Young Men's Assembly, and various other organiza-

tions. This is one of the finest business blocks yet

erected in the town. Its architect was Alberto F.

Haynes. Our limited space will not allow us to de-

scribe the dry-goods store of Geo. C. Lunt & Co.,

formerly Luut & Tarlton, or the apothecary stores of

James B. Woodward, or of F. M. Martin for many
years known as Sullivan's, or of George F. Taylor, or

the new one of E. E. Jennison, all on Main Street.

So we must not stop to describe the stores of the

grocer, Benjamin Dana, who built the Dana Block on

Main Street, and the large residence on SummerStreet,

now occupied by the Rev. William H. Savage. He
was wise in securing the location of the works of the

gas company on the banks of the river, although the

government has not yet' made the slight expenditure

necessary to enable vessels to bring their supplies of

coal directly to their wharf. We need not mention

the line of grocers who have followed him, improving

the methods of doing business until now one beholds

an artistic display of all that one can ever need placed

out openly so that any one can see the prices plainly

marked, to tempt his purse and help him to purchase

wisely, as at Benton's Boston grocery, or Hartford's

round the corner, or at Hall's in the Noyes Block, or

in some others.

The furniture store of Luther Bent, established

in 1835, in a small building now within the foundry-

yard, then moved to a building now occupied by

Page's paint-shop, then to the building he and his

son now occupy, when it was on Galen Street, over

Mill Creek, where F. H. Martin carries on a similar

business. Mr. Leathe, before the great fire of 1841,

had a bakery on the corner of Church and Main

Streets. After that lamentable fire which destroyed

the First Parish Church and much valuable private

property besides his own, he put up the building now

^ As we go to press, we hear that Congress lias appropriated $2U,000

for this purpose, on certain conditions.

Standing, and a part of which has since his death

soon after its erection, been occupied by his successor,

Charles H. Bright, for the same purpose. At the

present time there are several other places where

bread and other bakers' supplies are furnished to a

growing population. Mr. Bright's memory of dates

of past events is rather remarkable. In one psirt of

this building, a room is occupied by Charles Lenox,

the barber, whose father lived in a small house

which stood where the Town Hall now stands, and

who was, like the sou, a mine of story of the early

part of the century. This notice should not close

without mention of the office and jewelry store ol

Hiram Whitney, with its coins and other antiquities

in the same building of which he is now the owner.

Builders.—Among the builders whose honora-

ble record has been made during the past fifty years

should be mentioned H. W. Macurday, who has

erected in this and the adjoining towns more than a

hundred buildings of the best class, the first of which

is now occupied by some of. the heirs of John

Coolidge, near the old cemetery at Mount Auburn.

The house of Albert O. Davidson, on the beautiful

site of the old David Bemis house, at Bemis, was also

one of his construction, as were nearly all of the

houses along that parkway called Garfield Street.

So also the houses, beautiful for design and beauti-

ful for situation, occupied by the Pierces, fiither and

son, on the descent of Mt. Auburn Street, and the

house of the miller, James W. Magee, opposite the

cemetery, on the corner of Chester Street.

Chester Sprague, an active builder, has recently

built up nearly the whole of " Otisville," and of Ir-

ving Park and vicinity, and has begun on a large

scale to build on Whiting Park, of which he is part

owner, a large number of modern houses, at moderate

cost. The beautiful location, the nearness to steam

and horse-cars, the desirable neighborhood, have al-

ready secured the success of the Watertown Land

Company in this enlargement of the residential por-

tion of our town. This company, composed of four

persons only—Horace W. Otis, Ward M. Otis,

Chester Sprague and Samuel S. Gleason, the real

estate agent-—has laid out about one hundred lots,

of which about one-half are sold; and has reserved

several acres of beautiful woodland, on the slope and

summit of White's Hill, up which the estate extends.

This wooded hill is a pleasant feature of every Water-

town landscape. It is to be hoped that this may be

joined with some of the land already belonging to the

town, and which gay groups of tennis-players occupy

every pleasant afternoon, and be converted into a

public park for the continued healthy out-door exer-

cises of future generations.

In naming the prominent builders who have done

and are doing so much to develop the town, one

should not omit the plumber, Charles H. Rollins.

There are several architects in town. Most promi-

nent among these is Mr. Charles Brigham, who,
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although yet a youn",' mau, has done the town good

eervice by designing many of the public and private

buildings, while chiefly engaged in much larger un-

dertakings in Boston and other cities. While erect-

ing such structures, for instance, as the Maine State-

House, the great extension of the Massachuseft-s

.State-House, and other similar buildings, he has found

time to serve as chairman of the Board of Selectmen

for a number of years, has been a member of the

School Committee, is chairman of the Board of Trus-

tees of the Free Public Library, a director of the

Union Market National Bank, and is the president

of the Watertown Co-operative Bank. His own resi-

dence is a moilel of good taste.

.Vlberto F. Haynes has also designed many of the

better bouses of the town, nearly all in "Otisville"

and Irving Park, the new Otis Building, and the

Church of the Good Shepherd, which, with its walls

of field-stone and its beautiful stained-glass windows

of delightful tones, is an ornament to one of the best

parts of the town. San ford Phipps has designed

houses on Green Street, the new Almshouse, and the

Grant Grammar School-house which stands in the

Park.

Henry Ru8.sell, Sr., now the Jr. of the same name,

Geo. A. Page, and B. T. Rundlett, are each ready to

paint the new houses that are to be built, in as good

style .IS they have for many years done their work in

this and adjoining towns.

ProviHom.—One need not go to the city for pro-

visions, for Wm. H. Lyman, and Hackett Bros., and

X. B. Hartford, and Field andMelvin are to be found

with well-stocked stores near the square, and others

will visit your houses with well-filled wagons. James

H. Snow will serve you with fish, Howard Bros, with

ice, Thomas Gavin or W. H. Pevear & Co., or George

H. Sleeper will bring you coal or other fuel, so that

life in this beautiful town can hardly be called a bur-

den.

Building Materials.—If one needs to enlarge his

buildings or erect new, Gilkey & Stone, as for very

many years, have a large stock of lumber and other

building materials always on hand. Geo. E. Teel

and Rich. H. Paine have each a generous supply of

all kinds of building and other hardware in stock.

When one's house is done, or before, Wm. H. In-

graham, or Wm. E. Farwell the collector, or S. T.

Sharpe, or even Geo. H. Tarleton will give you choice

of companies in which to place the risk of loss from

fire, thus dividing, at a moderate expense, the anxiety

which valuable possessions bring.

Dentists.-~\n another place will be found a sketch

of the physicians of the past and present. This

might include the dentists also, whose services are so

important in our modern civilization. The name of

Dr. D. T. Huckins is found there, and in several

other connections among the town officers of the past

forty years, and should be given here. His office

is in the new Otis Building. Dr. R. H. Home occu-

pies the second story over the National Bank, while

for a short time since J. P. Niles has had a room in

Noyes' Block.

streets and Sidewalks.—The streets of the town have

been greatly improved during the past twenty years,

partly under suggestions of N. Henry Crafts, the civil

engineer, a native of the town, who made a most

thorough and exhaustive report on a system of streets,

"drain.age and sewerage" in 1878, as he had on water

supply and drainage in 1874 and in 1875 ; and ]iarl-

ly by his assistants of that time, who have followed

up the work as they have had opportunity. Credit

is due to the Learned brothers, AValdo and Wilbur,

in this direction ; as also to Charles F. Jackson, a na-

tive residentcivil engineer, who served the town and

his country in the late war.

The town published a large edition of the valuable

reports of Mr. Crafts, and these will furnish the basis

of future comprehensive drainage works, which must,

in the course of time, be undertaken for the proper

disposal of sewage and in the pre.servation of the

good name which the town has ever had,—especially

when its population was more scattered,—for healthi-

ness as a place of residence.

The Town Improvement Society has set out trees

and called attention to the general appearance of the

streets. The town, with the hearty co-operation of

individual owners, has, with their assistance, mainly

through David F. Tripp and his helpers, put down
on almost every street not furnished with brick side-

walks, as on Main Street, good walks of concrete, so

that one can walk, even in a rain-storm, from Cam-
bridge to Newton or Bemis, with less danger than

even a few rods the other way, to that neat appear-

ance of one's foot-wear, which it is said that George

Washington prized so much.

Ship-building and the Navigation of the River.—
William Wood, who was here in 1633, says, in his

"New-Englands Prospect" (chap, x.), "On the east

side (of the Mistick River) is Mr. Cradock's plantation,

where he hath impaled a park. . . . Here, like-

wise, he is at charges of building ships. The last

year one was on the stocks of 100 tons. That being

finished, they are to build one twice lier burden."

That was said of Medford, not of Watertown where

Matthew Cradock had, with William How, built a

mill. We do not kpow that any vessels of any con-

siderable size had ever been built in Watertown until

1890. Indeed, most of those living in town have

almost forgotten that the river is navigable, or should

be, as far as the bridge. Some remember the wharves

on the south side, spoken of by Mr. Ensign
; some re-

member when, as boys or girls, they rode in the boats

or on the freight flat-boats of Mr. Sanger, who, by
propelling by poles with the help of the inflowing and
outflowing tides, continued to move the heavier

freight up and down the river to and from Boston and
Charlestown. At least one remembers when, about

the year 1821 or 1822, a vessel laden with lumber
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came up to the wharf below the buildings ot the

Walker Pratt Company, and discharged her cargo on

the wharf. This lumber was from trees cut on the

farm of Mr. Simon Barrett, of Hope, Maine. This

was taken over to Camden, Jlaine, put into this ves-

sel, under the command of Captain I'endleton, and

brought to Boston, and up the Charles River to the

bridge, and discharged upon the wharf and land of

Mr. Luther Barrett. With this lumber, Mr. Barrett

built the large shop on what is now Beacon Square,

which he occupied .is a paint-shop, the lower story

being for the storage of carriages, the painting being

done in the second-story to which the usual inclined

plane led. (This shop, having been accidentally

burned after the death of Mr. Barrett, was replaced

by the present structure, which we have said was oc-

cupied by Luther Bent in the early days of his furni-

ture business).

A little dredging would make the whole river navi-

gable to the bridge, and be of very great value to the

town.

It is hoped that a new era in the navigation of the

river has begun. The old condition of the river may
be restored and improved.

On the 30th of July, 1890, the first steam vessel was

launched by Mr. John Cassidy, from his land, which

, was once, as shown by specimens found, an old Indian

camping-ground, just above the United States Arsenal.

This may be followed immediately by the building of

others. To make these of such use as they should be,

the river, of course, should be cleared of impediments,

the draws should be improved, and in the course of

time we may hope to see the beautiful scenery along

the banks, as in the days of our fathers, enjoyed by

those passing up and down, more rapidly now and

more easily, by the aid of steam, to where the terraced

slopes of Newton and Watertown greet the eye.

This vessel of Mr. Cassidy's, of about 400 tons bur-

den, a double-propellor, named the " Watertown," was

launched in thepresenceof over five thousand people,

including the officials of Newton, Waltham, Belmont

and Watertown, with a band of music, with speeches

and congratulations, and a banquet, to the delight of

all. So far, your historian can go. May some future

writer record the success of an experiment begun two

hundred and sixty years after th.at of Cradock near

his "impaled park '' on the Mistick.

Wood, in 1633, said " Ships of small burthen may
come up to these two towns (Cambridge and Water-

town), but the oyster banks do bar out the bigger

ships." It will be possible to avoid the oyster banks,

if only the general government do what it should to

clear the channel and encourage the formation and

maintenance of that commerce that would bless not

only the old town of Watertown and the immediate

neighborhood of Boston and Massachusetts Bay, but

the entire country as well.

Doubtless the policy of England in dredging out

and improving the mouths of her rivers and estuaries,

—fitting training courses for supplying her navy with

skilled men,—helps to keep alive the spirit of emula-

tion in naval improvements as well as to furnish

the practical education required to enable her in any

time of need to man her navies with an irresistible

force. It is dictated by wisdom and practical economy.

It would be pleasant to behold, with the improved con-

dition of usefulness of the Charles River for naviga-

tion, also that condition of wholesomeness of its

waters, indicated by the presence of the multitudes of

fishes found by our fathers. The testimony of science

is that this desirable condition is only a question of

the application of the proper means, with energy.

Banks and Banking.—The banks, although among
the most important agencies through which the busi-

ness is conducted, have, as a matter of evolution, come
late in the growth of the old town. The town of Water-

town is now very well accommodated with institutions

for the deposit and safe keeping as well as for the loans

and collections of money, and the ordinary trans-

action of monetary affairs.

The Union Market National Bank was organized

in 1873. The first meeting of the association for

organization w.as on the 9th of April, 1873. It was

voted at first to call the bank the Watertown National

Bank, but it afterwards was decided to call it the

Union Market National Bank, and that the capital

^should be $100,000, with the privilege of increasing

to $300,000.

Those who signed the certificate of organization

were John H.Conant, Charles J. Barry, Royal Gilkey,

George K. Snow, George N. March, Thomas L. French

and James S. Allison.

It was voted that there should be seven directors,

and the following were chosen : George N. March,

George K. Snow, Royal Gilkey, Thomas L. French,

Charles J. Barry, John H. Conant and James S. Alli-

son.

In the choice of president there was at first a tie

between Charles J. Barry and George N. March, but

at the next meeting one of the directors having re-

turned from Washington, Geo. N. March was elected.

Capt. J. K. Stickney was made cashier. On May
23d, Messrs. Barry and French resigned from the

board, and S. F. Woodbridge, of Cambridge, and N.

E. Hollis, of Boston, were elected.

A code of by-laws was adopted in June, and on the

7th of July, 1873, the bank opened for business, the

board of directors met in their room, and notes were

discounted.

George N. March continued to occupy the presi-

dent's chair till the fall of 1883, when Oliver Shaw
took his place.

Tilden G. Abbott was elected assistant cashier in

July, 1873. Before 1880 Capt. Stickney resigned his

post as cashier, and was elected vice-president, which

position he continues to hold. T. G. Abbott was

made cashier, which position he held until January,

1884, when he left suddenly with loss to the bank.
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Capt. Stickiiey, H3 vice-president, performed the

duties of cashier until Mr. Nosh Swett was appointed

cashier ou the 20th of February, 1S84.

George S. Parker was made assiatant cashier in

Januiiry, 1887, and Harry Brigham clerk in October

of the same year.

The capital stock was fi.xed in 1873 at $100,000

;

in .May, 1874. increased to $200,000; Oecember 30,

187t;, reduced to $1;.0,000; May 17, ISSl, increased

again to $200,000, and March 5, 1884, decreased again

to $100,000. At this last amount it still stands, although

there appears from the books to be a large surplus.

The stockholders were originally wholly in the

town, although now probably more than one-half of

the stock i» held out of town.

The history of the bank was in its earlier days one

of varying fortune, but for the past few years, under

the conservative man.igement of its present officers,

of promise for the future. The bank has proved a

great convenience to the business men of the town,

never refusing smiill loans to citizensof the town who

can furnish good security, allows more ready transfers,

and facilitates the accumulation of ready funds for

building purposes, and for the general uSes of business.

Its stock is seldom offered in the market; the last

sale noticed, which was in 1889, was at about $140, the

par Talue being $100. It has paid dividends of five

per cent, semi-annually for several years.

The Walerlown Savings Bank was incorporated by

act of the Legislature, April 18,1870. The persons

named in the act of incorporation were Nathaniel

Whiting, Charles J. Barry and .Toshua Coolidge. The

first meeting of the incorporators was held September

1, 1870, when the charter was accepted and twelve

associate members were elected. The bank was

opened for business in a room on the second floor of

Noyes' Block, November 10, 1870, when the deposits

of the first day amounted to $924. At the expiration

of five years, the bank was removed to the first floor

of McMast«rs' Block, and opened for busine-s every

day in the week from one to four p.m., and on Thurs-

day evenings from seven to nine o'clock. This caused

a great increase in its deposits. During the first six

years of its existence, before the new law went into

effect, dividends of six percent., computed from the

first day of each month, were earned and paid.

With regard to the management of its affairs, it may
be said that depositors have never been required to

give the legal notice of intention to withdraw funds,

not even in the panics of 1873 and 1878. Of all the

loans made, the only direct loss sustained from its

commencement has been the sum of $204, and only

one foreclosure of a mortgage has been made, and in

this the auction sale brought nearly three times the

loan claimed by the bank. The interest on every

outstanding loan has been paid in full to October, 1889.

This is a record of which the investment committee
of the bank should have full credit, their only reward.

The unpaid service of successful business men is ren-

dered to the bank as an encouragement to small in-

vestments, which may be spared by those earning

small amounts, for the building of homes and for pro-

vision against the days when sickness or old age re-

quire aid.

The number of persons holding books is 3054.

j
The amount on deposit is §367,781.79.

I

In 1880 the bank was removed to the Union Market

National Bank Building, and in 1887 the bank was

removed to the first floor of Barnard's Block, where

in the summer of 1890 the room was refitted and im-

proved in appearance. After the death of the presi-

dent, Charles J. Barry, Dr. Alfred Hosnier accepted

the post of president, which he held until March 25,

1890, when Albert O. Davidson was elected to the

position.

In Dr. Hosmer'a presidency the by-laws were thor-

oughly revised, a work in which Dr. Hosmer took

great interest, and. was untiring in establishing the

best possible forms of doing business, including a new

and model deposit-book for the use of depositors.

A statement of the condition of the bank June 30,

1890, is as follows :

Deposits S368,447.03

Undivided Earning! 11.642.42

Guarantee Fund 9,092.00

Beal Estate LoaDs $227,640.71

Personal Loans . . • 10,000.00

Railroad Bonds 72,262.50

Municipal Securities 34,315.00

Bank Stock 35,718.87

Expense Account 761.42

Cash 8,482.95

1890-91—OFTICEBS.

President, Alhert 0. Davidson ; Vice-President, John K. Stickney

;

Clerk, Ward M. Otis ; Trustees, John K. Stickney, Oliver Shaw, S. S.

Gleason, A. 0. Davidson, Wm. H. Ingrahani, Geo. E. Priest, WardM.
Otis, ChesterSprague. J. B. Woodward, E. B. Eaton, C. D. Crawford, B.

P. Stack, C. Q. Pierce, C. W. Stone ; Board of Investment, Albert 0.

Davidson, Wm. H. lograham, Calvin D, Crawford ; Treasurer, George

E. Priest ; Book-keeper and Cashier, Wni. E. Farwell ; Corporators,

Joshua Coolidge, John K. Stickney, Oliver Shaw, D. B. Flint, Francis

Kendall, S. S. Gleason, .\.0. Davidson, Alfred Hosnier, Wm. H. Ingra-

ham, George E. Priest, Ward M. Otis, J. B. Woodward, T. P. Emerson,

Chas. B. Gardner, E. B. Eaton, C. D. Crawford, R. P. Stack, C. Q. Pierce,

J. J. Sullivan, Moses Fuller, W. A. Learned, C. W. Stone, Fred. G.

Barker, H. W. Otis, F. H. Edgcomb, A. H. Hartwell, A. A. L. Gordon,

Julian A. Mead, Chester Sprague, Fred. E. Crawford.

The Watertown Co-Operaiive Bank was organized

June 5, 1888; chartered June 23, 1888; began busi-

ness June 28th, with an authorized capital of $1,000,-

000, with regular monthly meetings on each fourth

Thursday.

It has already entered on its fifth series of shares,

has invested its money among its own shareholders,

enabling some to build houses for themselves and pro-

viding them a systematic and easy mode of payment,

while earning for the shareholders a good rate of

interest. The dividends earned so far are at the rate

of six per cent., while all the necessary expenses of

starting such an institution have been paid, and there

is a small surplus in the treasury.

The present officers are Charles Brigham, president

;

A. H. Hartwell, vice-president; S. S. Gleason, secre-
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tary and treasurer ; with a board of fourteen direc-

tors, including besides the above, G. C. Holt, L. B.

Porter, L. S. Frost, H. H. Powell, J. E. Hackett, J. H.

Norcross, H. VV. Otis, L. S. Cleveland, H. D. Skinner,

T. P. Einerrton and A. B. Cole. The auditors are

G. F. Robinson, J. H. Perkins and E. J. Smith. At-

torney, F. E. Crawford.

The purpose of this bunk is to help wage-earners

to become investors and real property-owners, at least

owners of their own houses. The system has a strong

advocate in the present Governor of the State, Gov.

Brackett, and has proved its capacity for good in

many places, notably in Philadelphia, where thou-

sands of houses have been built by its aid.

CHAPTER XXXIV.

WA TERTO WSr—{ Continued).

Manufacturing and Mechanical Industries.

—For a place of the size of Watertown, its industries

are numerous and varied. Situated at the head ol

tide-water on the Charles River,—a river that might

better bear its ancient and appropriate and more sug-

gestive name, Massachusetts River,—it was, when first

discovered by our English ancestors, the scene of ac-

tivity, the home and fishing-ground of a considerable

tribe of Indians. Gathered about its fall, where " thf

sweet waters mingled with the tide" from the ocean

were the more intelligent and active of the red men,

busy, at certain times in the year, in harvesting the

abundance of fishes that, following the law of nature,

were on their way through the rapids or over the

dam to their spawning-grounds, or rather waters, in

the upper courses of the river and its tributaries.

Civilization and the progress of the arts have

brought great changes in the kind of industries here

pursued. The abundant supply of water, soft and

clear, except when polluted by the increase of popu-

lation and of manufactures, is still available for other

uses. It furnishes by gravity, in its flow to the sea,

abundance of power, and when roused to greater ac-

tivity by Pennsylvania coal, is capable to an almost

unlimited extent of turning the wheels of machinery,

or of performing those other uses which the inven-

tive genius of man is making so helpful in the life of

the world.

The situation of Watertown, so near the sea and so

near Boston, now the great centre of trade and man-

ufactures and wealth, the metropolis of New Eng-

land, and with such abundant facilities for communi-

cation with all parts of the country, is particularly

favorable for all kinds of manufactures which r,?quire

to be flistributed by railroad or by steam-boat to other

parts of the country.

With a little effort on the part of its citizens, and a

fair amount of help from government in dredging the

stream, steamers or sailing vessels bearing freight

could come to or go from the bridge or the river

banks. Considerations of health, as well as the re-

quirements of the rcsthetic sense of a half million

of people, will demand also that such improvements

of very valuable natural advantages of river bed, with

its double flow of tides, and its constant outflow of

the rain-fall of a large district, shall at no distant day

be accomplished.

Thus, all the natural facilities for large manufact-

uring industries have been furnished, and the natural

and beneficial growth in the demands of a large

and rapidly increasing people, in the direction of

utility and health and beauty, promise constant in-

crease in these facilities. Why should capital be so

timid in developing what capital will eventually find

80 necessary for its own interests in this particular lo-

cation. •

Enterprise here would hasten those changes for the

better which the experience of older places has

shown to be wise, and which the natural growth of

population makes so desirable as to become inevitable,

and which could be early made at far less expense

than later.

The improvement of the river bed, of the river

banks, the arrangement of border streets, so as to

facilitate access to the river, the use of the river for

transportation and for pleasure, and especially as an

ever living, ever changing river park, the voice of

great cities and small cities, of Loudon, Paris, Flor-

ence and Pisa, for instance, not to mention those

nearer home, shows what might be accomplished at an

early period with far less expense than later. With

this whole region under large municipal control,

this improvement would doubtless be undertaken

more quickly. In view, however, of the dreaded

dangers of such concentration of power as this would

imply, our people will probably continue to enjoy in

prospect only the water-park of the future and post-

pone its realization for their children, or their chil-

dren's children.

The WcMer & Pratt Mannjacturing Coyirpany.—One
of the largest industries of this town is conducted by

this corporation, which manufacture and sell, both at

wholesale and at retail, stoves, ranges and furnaces,

hot water and steam heaters, and steam and hotel

cooking apparatus. They also make a specialty of

apparatus for the ventilation of buildings, and do tin,

copper and sheet-iron work as well as tin-roofing.

The company, as at present organized, wa4 incorpor-

ated uuder the general laws of the State, in 1877,

with a capital of $300,000. The buildings occupied

here in town extend from the river along the bridge

nearly to Main Street, and along Main Street nearly

to Beacon Square, with the exce])tion of a narrow

line of stores and the grist-mill immediately upon

the street, covering an area of about two acres. The
principal store-house is on Galen Street, a long, fine-
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looking briok structure, two stories high, while the

principul fouuUry is on the eiistern siile of their

gruuudi), nearly opposite the end of Mount Auburn

Street. This is also huilt of brick and, with it.s hi|{h

windows, must be well adapted to the needs of the

niouldeni, while it presents a neat and tidy appear-

ance on the street. Aa one approaches the village of

Watertown from either of the Nowtons, over the an-

cient bridge, known in colonial times as the Great

Hriilt'e, the first which was thrown across the Charles

River, he is struck by the appearance of the nia.ssivc

buililings on the right, with brick walls and their

solid stone substructure rising apparently out of the

midst of the river, and thee.xtensive wharf extending

many hundred feet down the stream, ready, one cau

see, to utilize the improvements in the river which

some future river and harbor bill will make possible.

It is true this wharf is at present partly covered

with buildings, gome of which are of brick; and by

piles of flasks and other useful lumber, such as is

necessary in all large iron foundries. If, however,

the improvements in the river bed should be extended

by dredging as far as the bridge, as Mr. Pratt hoped

and labored to have done, and as doubtless will some-

time be done, we should see the masts of vessels or

the smoke-stacks of steamers at these same wharves,

with their cargoes of coal and iron, and the piles of

stoves, ranges, and steam and hot-water heaters ready

for shipment to all parts of the world.

The officers of the corporation at present, 1890, are

George W. Walker, president; George E. Priest,

treasurer; Oliver Shaw, general superintendent.

There are four directors, George W. Walker, George

E. Priest, Arthur W. Walker and Oliver Shaw.

The foremen in charge of some of the principal

departments of their manufactory are: F. H. Edge-

comb, in the patent-shop ; Wm. F. Atwood, in the

moulding-room ; George B. Moore, in the mounting-

shop ; John Applin, in the machine-shop.

About one hundred and thirty men are employed
at the Watertown factory, and about $2000 per week
is required to pay their wages. In Boston a large

building on Union Street, Nos. 31, .33 and 35, is occu-

pied as a wholesale and retail store and for the various

purposes of their business, for pipe-work, tin-work,

stove-rooms, etc., where forty or fifty men are em-
ployed as tin-plate workers, steam-fitters, and sales-

men. Of course other salesmen are kept "on the
road." There is an agency in San Francisco which
sells quite extensively on the Pacific coast. Con-
siderable quantities are sent to Southern Africa, through
Boston and New York exporters, although the larger
part of their trade is for the New England market.
The company use about 2000 tons of iron and 800

tons of coal and coke each year in the Watertown
works. Some idea of the extent of foundry work
may be gained by the quantity of moulding sand
required for the moulds, which of course is used many
times, when we reflect that 400 tons of it are bought

each year. Of course thousands of feet of lumber

are required for flasks and patterns, for packing and

freighting.

The teaming is in the hands of Mr. George H.

Sleeper, who keeps ten horses and three men at work

all the time, in trucking between the Watertown works

and the Boston store. Large use is made also of the

Filchburg and the Boston and Albany Railroads for

iron and coal and for .sending away the products of

their manufacture.

The !f:^00,000 stock is held by a few persons, princi-

pally by four or five stockholders who have been in

the business for years, or who have gained it by in-

heritance. It is seldom or never quoted on the market.

When this industry started in 18.55 it was as a foun-

dry and was established by Miles Pratt, Allen S.

Weeks, William G. Lincoln, John J. Barrows and

Thomas Barrows, under the firm-name of Pratt,

Weeks & Company.

In the spring of 1857 the firm dissolved, and Mr.
Pratt carried on the business during the rest of the

year alone. Then a company was formed by Mr.

Miles Pratt, Mr. Luke Perkins and Mr. Wm. G.

Lincoln, under the firm-name of Pratt & Perkins.

The business continued under this name until the

autumn of 1862, when Mr. Lincoln and Mr. Pratt

bought out Mr. Perkins, and then the business was
conducted under the firm-name of Miles Pratt &
Company. This firm continued the business, which

was somewhat varied and greatly enlarged during the

war, until 1874, when it was consolidated with George

W. Walker & Co., of Boston, under the firm name of

Walker, Pratt & Company, which combination con-

tinued without further change until it was incor-

porated, in 1877, under the present style as the Walker
& Pratt Manufacturing Company. At first the busi-

ness was small, employing about twenty men, and was
confined to the manufacture of parlor and cooking

stoves.

When the war broke out, in 1861, the firm went

into the manufacture ofammunition and gun-carriage

castings. The demands of the nation were urgent,

the capacity of the works was increased gradually

until about one hundred men were kept constantly

employed. The story of the war, especially at the

front, is ever filled with interest. It is of a time that

tried what there is in man, and frequently called out

the noblest traits of character. Not less at home,
frequently, was it necessary to strain every nerve and
exhaust every device which inventive genius could

originate to quickly turn " the plough-share and the

pruning-hook," the materials which had been devoted

to the quiet purposes of peace, into those effective

engines and missiles of war now required to save the

life of the nation, suddenly attacked by a desperate

enemy who had prepared to wage, in spite of all

warnings, a sudden and destructive warfare for the

possession of the seat of government and against the

very life of the Nation. How the bold spirits, with-
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out thought of their own lives, rushed to Washington,

and what dangers and difBculties they encountered,

we have often heard. While no diminution of honor

can be permitted in speal^ing of their labors, it might

be asked what could they have done without being

supported and supplied by those at home. Miles

Pratt was especially active in every way ; a zealous

and fervent man, fertile in devices, and of great e.\-

ecutive ability, he could be active in serving his

country at home. Colonel Rodman, then in com-

mand of the Arsenal herein Watertown, and Miles

Pratt together talked over the needs of the Nation in

arms and missiles of war. Colonel Rodman asked of

Mr. Pratt if iron balls could be made by his men en-

gaged in moulding stoves and furnaces. Jlr. Perkins,

the superintendent in the foundry, entered into the

need.s of the hour. All the men were ready to try

what they could do. Long before any orders could

come, or any expenditures could be authorized by

Government, without waiting to see if or how they

were to be paid, the men were at work moulding shot

for canister, for 12-pound guns, for 24-pound guns,

even for 13-inch and 15-inch guns—yes, both solid

shot and shells. Colonel Rodman, as an eftective ord-

nance officer who knew just what was needed, seconded

by the spirit and ingenuity of a large body of men,

organized and spurred on by Jliles Pratt and his assist-

ants did much to supply the men at the front with the

effective implements of war. Those from Watertown

had the confidence ofmen in action. Of course all that

could be done here was but a mite compared to the de-

mands of an army which increased to over a million

men. But these works were rapidly increased through

1861 and 18(J2. Two hundred and seventy-five (275) tons

of iron per month were used under contract for the

manufacture of war matciials ; 2500 to 3000 tons of

iron per year were moulded into shot and shell for

the preservation of the Union.

The large store on Galen Street was begun in 1874,

and was gradually extended across the race-way to

the island where the pattern store-house stood, and

this was replaced with a secure and almost fire-proof

brick building in 1880.

This building extends 264 feet along Galen Street,

is sixty feet wide and practically three stories high,

for it has a high basement story. It occupies the

site of what have been known for many years as

the Blackman house, the Barrett house, and the Major

Peirce house. The Blackman house was where

Benjamin Edes printed che Boston Gazelle, when Bos-

ton was occupied by the British, The pattern store-

room on the island, with a solid wall towards Galen

Street,—that is, a wall built without windows, although

ornamented with piers and arches,—shows on the

south side by its tiers of windows, four stories above

a solid stone foundation wall. Here are kept the

many thousands of dollars worth of patterns required

by the great variety and, constant progress of their

work. Next to this are the store-rooms for furnaces,

stoves and ranges. Here may be seen at certain

seasons of the year, hundreds of ranges packed ready

for shipment—in fact, very large quantities of all the

variety of goods manufactured by the company,

which here accumulate when the demand falls off

and which are drawn upon when the season for in-

creased demand approaches.

Next to these store-rooms, and before we reach the

large sample and sales-room of the company, comes
the huge arch-tvay through which the teams pass to

the inner works, the machine-shops, the foundries,

the blacksmith-shop and the other parts of this large

interior area. Here in the drive-way are ample
facilities for loading and unloading from the store-

rooms, above and on either side ; from which can be

lowered into the wagons the heavy freight either

for the railroad or for Boston. This is furnished not

only with hoisting apparatus, but also with platform

scales, for weighing each load or any part of a load.

The entire process of manufacture is and has been

for thirty years conducted under the constant 8U|)er-

vision of BIr. Oliver Shaw, who watches particularly

that all the various departments work harmoniously,

and so that the minimum amount of material may do

the maximum amount of work—that is, that strength

and endurance are secured where required, with

the smallest consumption of iron, luit with enough to

answer the purpose, who, with knowledge of men and
with kindly and considerate attention to their peculiar

abilities and fitness for their several duties, has, in all

these years of growing prosperity of the company,

won their confidence and respect. His position,

which he seems to hold so easily, has been reached by

no favor or chance. The young man may take note

that the ability to do every kind of work, to fill any

man's place and do any man's work in a superior

manner, may naturally constitute one, with modesty

in his bearing, a recognized leader among leaders, a

master among masters.

The cupola, or furnace, capable of melting fifteen

tons of iron at a blast, where skill and knowledge

are required to liquefy the iron with no unnecessary

loss of fuel, or iron, or time, is under the charge of

W. A. Pratt, with his two men to help him.

The moulding department, connected with the

furnace-room and situated on either side of it, has an

area of about 14,000 square feet. Here one may see

fifty or sixty men, at work preparing in the soft and
yielding moulding-clay and sand the forms which
ornament in iron the homes of the poor and wealthy

over the land—men whom no atnount of dust and
dirt will prevent you from recognizing as the same
who in clean linen and neat dress, preside in the

chairs of the town fathers, or as orators in town, or

parish, or society meetings, who prove that brains

are equally effective in the utilities, as in the elegan-

cies of life. It is not necessary in this place to de-

scribe the mode of work, the improved appliances for

securing the ends desired. This foundry does not
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diit>T from the many foundries in the country, ex-

fe|Pt lu one nmri ilirt'ers from aiinther. Some of the

men earn quite large wages by their Hkill and celer-

ity. This room id uuder the charge of \Vm. F. At-

woimI.

The cleaning and mounting-shop, where the rough

castings are t^ikeii to be dre-sed, cleaned, and put to-

gether, is in charge of Geo. B. Moore, who has

seen thirty years' service in this place. Twenty-tive

or forty stoves or ranges are finished daily, requiring

the services of sixteen experienced mounters and si.\

helpers.

Perhaps the most important department, if one de-

partment m.iy be said to be more important than an-

other, where each one is essential to the whole, as

wtll as to each other, is the pattern-making room.

Here twelve men are employed, with a great variety

of tools ami machinery, in making patterns, both in

wood and in iron. This calls for skill and ingenuity,

and in making new designs, some degree of artistic

sense. Not only this, but some degree of judgment

is required to adapt the pattern, in view of the

varied rates of cooling and shrinking of iron, in the

lighter and heavier parts of the casting, to produce

the desired etfects without danger of breaking or

change of form. Allowance must be made in the

size of the patterns for this shrinkage. Here seven

men are employed on wood, and five men on iron, all

under the charge of F. H. Edgecomb.

Mr. John AppUn has eight men under his direc-

tion in the machine-shop, where drills, lathes, plan-

ers, and ail the usual kinds of tools required in such

places, are kept busy in the varied calls for work of

Buch kind.

One of the contrivances patented, by Geo. H.

Tainter, a man in their employ, is known as the

Tainter Damper. The name Tainter is somewhat

famous also, in connection with the mechanical

devices, made by a son of Mr. Tainter for Prof. Bell,

of Bell's Telephone.

Nickel-plating, required in the present demand for

neatness and elegance, even in cook and parlor

stoves, is done on the premises under the charge of

David Flanders.

All this machinery would be dead and useless

without sufficient motive-power. This is supplied

by a Campbell & Whittier forty horse-power engine.

There is a powerful steam-pump, ready for fire pur-

poses, which is used in testing the strength and con-

dition of boilers and radiators, before the.y are put
into buildings. The steam is produced in two forty-

five horse-power sectional boilers, with thirty sec-

tions each, manufactured by the company.
The blacksmith-shop is in charge of Mr. Grace.
The tin-shop, where all the varieties of tin, zinc

and galvanized iron, piping for furnaces and venti-

lation, where ware for cooking purposes is made, is in

the main building on Galen Street, next to the sales-

room, and is in charge of H. A. Philbrook.

The directors and oflScers of this company manage

for their own interests—this goes without saying,—but

idso with a liberal policy to their men and to the town.

George W. Walker, the pre-sident, and bis son,

Arthur \V. Walker, one of the directors, live in

the city of Maiden. George W. Walker has held

many offices of trust and honor in his town and hiis

represented Maiden in the Legislature.

George E. Priest, the treasurer, and Oliver

Shaw, the general superintendent, and nearly all the

employees live here in town. Mr. Shaw is also presi-

dent of the only national bank in town, the Union

Market National Bank, and has acted during many
years as one of the selectmen, for a good part of the

lime their chairman. Mr. Priest is one of the board

of trustees of the Free Public Library, is treasurer of

the Watertown Savings Bank, served the town and

his country in the array during the late war, and both

are identified with most public movements. The re-

spect with which they are treated by their townsmen

mark the high character of work of this company in

all it undertakes.

The business of this establishment was at first

almost exclusively in supplying New England house-

holds with the essential stove lor kitchen and siiting-

roum use. Now contracts are taken for the most ex-

tensive and complicated heating apparatus, which
they are ready to manufacture and put up, although

they do not despise the smaller and humbler class of

manufactures. Among the larger contracts which

they have executed one might mention the healing

apparatus for the Hotel Vendome, Boston, that for

the Danvers Hospital for the Insane built by the

State, and that in the Madison Square Theatre in New
York City. Some of their contracts have amounted
to upwards of $80,000 each.

This company are now manufacturing the cele-

brated Crawford Range, now known in its improved

form as the Crawford Grand, which is selling all over

New England. While no great contracts, of course,

can be made for so simple and universally employed

device for meeting our commcJli needs, probably the

success of their business depends as much upon the

call for this as for the larger and more extensive, and,

therefore, the apparently more important heaters used

in the larger institutions. They have recently been

getting out a stove or range in which wood will be

exclusively used for fuel, known as the Palace

Eureka, designed to meet the wants of the Pacific

Coast, yet, as they think, adapted to a considerable

portion of New England, where wood is still in abun-

dance.

This company manufacture hot-water heaters also,

one which they have recently patented, and are pre-

pared to introduce into buildings where they are pre-

ferred. Much is said about the economy of hot-water

heaters at the present time. The company allege

that the most economical, heaters used, as' all will

allow, are stoves in each separate room, if fuel alone
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and not the labor of taking care of them or the inci-

dental dirt and discomfort are to be thought of. If

good ventilation is also required, with the smallest

amount of care, then the question is between hot air

furnaces so called, and steam or hot-water heaters.

Either steam or hot-water heaters placed in each

room may, by direct radiation, supply the required

amount of heat without ventilation. If hot-watar or

steam-pipes are placed in boxes to which a constantly

fresh supply of air is admitted and this allowed to

pass into and heat the rooms of a house, giving the

same results as the hot-air furnace, then a little ex-

perimenting will determine which is the more eco-

nomical and whicli will give tlie best distiilnilion of

heat, considering all things—-the means of egress for

vitiated air and the local direction and force of vary-

ing winds, for instance.

The requirements of a perfect heater for dwelling-

houses and for larger buildings have been the study

of this company for years, and as fast as auy new

ideas arc gained, they are, as the company claims, put

into substantial and durable form for their own ad-

vantage and for the advantage of our large intelligent

New England community, to whose wants they chiefly

cater in all their manufactures.

JEtna Mills.—The ^tna ]\[ills are situated nearly

a mile above the first dam, above tide-water, on the

Charles River, and have for the last few years ob-

tained a reputation for producing various woolen and

worsted goods for ladies' dresses of the very finest

quality. Goods are made with fine broad-cloth and

other styles of finish of every variety of shade and in

all colors used for dress-goods by the ladies, as well

as in stripes, plaids and figured designs.

The j32tna Mills Company was organized in 1862,

and in 1867 the present agent, Albert 0. Davidson,

came from the Tremont Mills, Lowell, to take charge,

and " the present extraordinary success of the institu-

tion is largely due to bis eminent business tact and to

the adoption of those systematic methods which are

80 essential to the welfare of a large corporation."

The capital stock of the company, organizeQ under

the general laws of Massachusetts, is !?:250,000, the

annual jiroduct about $500,000. The directors of the

company are: Joseph C. Stephens, of Boston ; Arthur

Hobart, of Boston ; Edmund W. Converse, of Newton
;

Morrill A. Smith, of Boston ; Edwin F. Atkins, of

Boston ; Edwin A. Hildreth, of Harvard, Mass., and

Albert O. Davidson, of Watertowu.

Joseph C. Stevens has been president of the corpora-

tion for several years, since the death of Nathan Faye.

Samuel Smith was treasurer until 1887, and Arthur

Hobart, accountant for twenty years, has been treasu-

rer since that time.

The number of persons employed by the corpora-

tion is from 275 to iiOO, two-fifths of whom are women,

and the weekly pay-rolls amount to over $1600.

A new mill was built a few years ago, 117 feet long,

54 feet wide, and three stories high, the walla of

26-iii

which were made partly of stone, 30 inches thick,

partly of brick, H! inches thick, with heavy hard-

pine beams; built thus firm and strong to support

the new and improved machinery then introduced,

chiefly looms for the weaving of fine cloths, of which

over 20,000 yards are produced each week.

These mills occupy buildings on both sides of the

river, where water-wheels supply a |iart of the power

required by the mills. The power generated by the

wheels on the south side of the river is transmitted

125 feet, across the river to the north mill, by an

endless wire rope, passing over wheels in the two

buildings. Between these mills is a rolling dam-

claimed by some to be the only one in America, the

only other dam of the kind being in England, at

Warwick Castle.

While the water-power was at first sufiicient to do

all the work required—and at times there is a large

amount of water passing over the dam, ai)parently to

great waste—it is found that steam is desirable for

various purposes in the manufacture of woolens, and,

in order to tiave at all times sulficient power for all

purposes, a steam-engine is required.

The engine-room is on the ground-floor, is 30 feet

wide, by 60 feet long, and contains a fine Corliss en-

gine of 125 horse-power. The steam for this and for

heating, drying and other purposes, is furnished by

four large boilers, of which three are constantly in

use, the fourth being held in reserve in case of acci-

dent to either of the others. Two of these are made
of steel. About three tons of coal are required each

day.

The different departments of the mill are each un-

der competent overseers, who are held responsible

each for his part of the work.

The sorting department, under the charge of J.

E. Butler, occupies a brick building on the south side

of the river, and, with the store-house adjoining, con-

tains at times over 100,000 pounds of wool of the va-

rious kinds. Here may be seen the finest Australian

wools, with their long, silky fibres; the brilliant Cash,

mere; the Alpacca; the finest and softest camels' hair,

so delicate, for the finest fabrics. Here are bales of
" Ohio clip," some in the natural state, some cleaned

to pure white, in contrast with the black Egyptian near

by. The more common kinds of wool are used for some
purposes.

The scouring-room and the dyeing-room are in

charge of Mr. Alfred Pepler, who has in his store-

room all the different kinds of dyes required in pro-

ducing the greatest variety of shades of all the lead-

ing colors. Only by long practice and great skill can
all the delicate effects be produced which, either in

the sunlight or under artificial light, are so much
admired by ladies of taste. One unskilled can only

look with wonder on the unmeaning compounds which
he sees in the dye-rooms ; his admiration must be

reserved for the finished fabrics.

The dyed wool is passed through the dryers, the
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|.iiker-rooiii, tlie Knuzo-r(x>m, to the onrdinti-room,

wbioh iH iiiuler tlic siiporvinion of Mr. l.ovelund.

Here the wool is fiir.leil, a work our griimliiiothorM

ii»e«l fre»iaontly to seiui thi-ir wool lor miU« to Imve

.lone lit oanliiig-iuilis. There arc few old people who

do not roMiiiiil)er the soft rolls of wool brought home

from the lurdiuR uiill, whkli their grandmothers used

to spin into thread and yarns for knitting and weav-

ing. This work is done now in a superior manner by

marvelous meehauism, by whieh the lilires of the

wo(d are gathered together in fine rolls and wound

loosely on large spools, ready for the spinning depart-

ment. The automatic, self-feeding eards, with their

thousands of steel fingers to arrange the fibres in line

ready for si>ooling, and the nice mechanical adjusl-

ments, womlerful to us, would have greatly surprised

our ancestors, yet it is by the gradual inipn>venients

in such mechanism that enabled first Seth Hemis to

do the work at all, and now these mills to do work of

the quality for which they are noted. The capacity of

this room is fifteen sets of cards.

The ne.xt department in regular order is the spool-

ing department, under iMr. J. H. (Jlitl'ord, where the

wool is spun and wound on bobbins ready for weav-

ing. The immense spinning jennies, capable of do-

ing the work of several hundred women, do it with

almost the same niotion,^now advancing, now reced-

ing, now twisting, now rolling up on the spool,—but

with far greater accuracy and evenness of thread.

In the new building is the weaving department, in

charge of Henry G. Chapman. Here looms of dif-

ferent degrees of complexity, some capable of utiliz-

ing twenty-four frames,—from different manufac-

tories,—each in care of an attendant, push the shuttles

with deafening sound through the warp in varying

figures according to the fancy of the designer. While

here we arc inclined to think this the principal pro-

cess, the most important step of all in the manufac-

ture of cloths, but in the finishing department, in

charge of Mr. VVatslong, where the inspection of the

fulling, which has reduced the width one quarter, and

increased the thickness and the closeness of thread

since it came from the looms, one may see the "teaz-

eling," the " trimming," pressing, measuring, folding

done, and the cloths packed, after being sampled,

ready for market.

All rooms in the factory are furnished with gas

fi.ictures for lighting, and automatic fire sprinklers for

extinguishment of accidental fires, while there are

hydrants with coils of hose in various parts of the

mill and the yard, connected with large pumps read-

ily operated by the steam engine or the water-wheels.

The early history of this mill is quite interesting.

This d:im it is claimed was first built by David
Bemis and Knos Sumner in 1778. David Bemis

liad bought 39 acres of land on the Watertown side

in 1753, and a few years after, 25 acres more, nearly

all the land on which the village now stands. This

homestead, where his sons were born, afterwards

known !is the Ritchie estate, was the old house bo

beautifully located on the knoll near the mills, which

was removed to make room for Mr. Davidson's house

in 18.S0. Dr. lOnos Sumner owned the land on the

Newton side, but sold out in 1771) to three men who

built a paper mill. David Bemis became two-thirds

owner of this the next year, and with his son Capt.

Luke Bemis carried on the paper mill until 1790,

when he died. After his death his sons, Capt. Luke

and Isaac Bemis, became sole owners and continued

to carry on the business of paper making until the

death of Isaac in 1794. The process of manfacturing

paper at that time was necessarily very slow and

tedious. The sheets were made in moulds imported

from England. Each sheet required separate dipping

of the moulds in the pulp, which when sufficiently

consolidated, was turned on to a sheet of felt where it

was allowed to dry. David Bemis had built in 1778

on the Watertown side a grist-mill and snufl-mill, the

first mill on this side at this place. At his death, his

two sons, Seth and Luke, became full owners. About

179t), Seth bought out the interest of his brother Luke,

and began to manufacture chocolate, and to ]>repare

dye-woods and medicinal woods and roots for use. In

1803 he made additions to the old mill; he com-

menced the spinning of cotton by machinery, making

cotton warp, which though prepared by quite imper-

fect machinery, proved to be so much belter than that

spun by hand, and therefore, in such great repute,

that Mr. Bemis could not supply the demand. The

business proved thus very profitable.

To understand the cause of this great demand for

cotton warp, we need only to reflect that by many a

family through Maesachusetts, it was the custom to

weave at home cotton cloth, cotton and wool for

blankets, and with dyed wool a coarse kind of satinett

for home wear, as well as rugs and carpets for the floor.

The writer remembers full well the old hand-loom

which stood in the capacious attic of his grandmother's

house, which was built at this time only a little over

twenty miles away on one of the turnpike roads leading

off intothe country. This house, built of brick, stood

near the centre of a large farm which had always

been owned, and still is owned in the family, a Water-

town family, since it was first purchased of the Indians.

Here were the flax and the wool spinning-wheels also.

But it must have been a great relief to the over-worked

women of the family to find, by Mr. Bemis' intro-

duction of power-machine-spun threads for warps,

" Bemis' warp," as it was known, so great a help in

their labors.

One is tempted, in speaking of the great improve-

ments introduced by Mr. Bemis in the manufacture

of cotton goods, to reflect upon the great change that

has finally resulted in the present domestic economy
of our New England households. Then the women,
both young and old, were taught a multiplicity of

occupations that trained both the hands, the eye, and

the mind as well.
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" The preparation of the cotton for carding was at

that time a slow and expennive operation. It was

carried out in small parcels, to be picked by hand in

families living in the vicinity, at about four cents

per pound, exclusive of carrying out and bringing

back, which required most of the time of one man

and horse. To facilitate the [irocess of picking, sucli

families as were engaged in the occupation were

mostly provided with a ' whipping frame,' the bottom

of which was woven, or made of strong cords so

loosely that the seeds and dirt could pass through
;

the cotton, being placed thereon, the two sticks, one

in each hand, being laid on smartly for two or three

minutes, became very much loosened. For several

years the business of cotton picking aflbrded employ-

ment to a multitude of persons, enabling them to

obtain a comfortable livelihood."

" Mr. Bemis constantly improved and increased his

machinery for spinning, etc., discarding the old and

adopting that which was new and better. After a few

years he caused a machine to be made for preparing

cotton for carding, which did not difier materially

from the 'cotton pickers' of the present day. This

machine bore the grim title of 'the devil'; and

though not very attractive in appearance, particularly

when in notion, performed in a very expeditious and

satisfactory manner the service intended, much to the

regret of the numerous laborers, who were obliged,

in consequence of the invention, to seek their daily

bread by other methods." '

This Mr. Seth Bemis, the senior of that name, en-

gaged in manufactures at this place, was a graduate

of Harvard College, graduating in 1795, and, although

his knowledge of Greek roots and Latin poetry was

not essential to success in the profitable management

of a cotton factory, doubtless the knowledge was no

great burden to carry, and as it did not from the pride

of possession incapacitate him from entering heartily

into the solution of the various practical problems

that presented themselves, it might have sharpened

his wits so that he was able to improve upon all who
had gone before and even to almost unconsciously

anticipate one of the greatest inventions of the age,

namely Whitney's cotton gin."

The town of Watertown enjoys the distinction,

through Mr. Bemis' inventive and active disposition,

of having made the first cotton duck ever manu-

factured. It was at a time after the embargo of 1807

had been laid by our general government upon all

foreign commerce, and great difBculty had been ex-

perienced in getting duck for sails, that Mr. Winslow

Lewis, of Boston, extensively engaged in commerce,

IFrom S. F. Smithes "History of Newton," published by the American

Logotype Company, Boston, 1880.

2 Eli Whitney, a descendant of the Watertown family of that name,

had in 1794 obtjiined his first patents on tlje celeltrafed saw gin, that

raised a man's effectiveness in cleaning tlie cotton from the seed, from

about six pounds each day to one thousand pounds a day. This was ap-

parently not introduced in the North for several years.

in conversation with Mr. Seth Bemis, spoke of the

difficulty of getting duck, the coarse linen cloth used

for sails, asked if he could not make something of

cotton that would answer the purpose. Mr. Bemis

had been engaged in the manufacture of sheeting,

shirting, bagging for the southern market, bed ticking,

etc., and had had the aid of some Knglisli weavers on

hand-looms. He said he would see about it. Mr.

Lewis was unwilling to be at the risk alone of pro-

viding machinery on the uncertainty of success, but

promised to help to find a market for the cotton duck

if it could be made, a large quantity of which he him-

self would require for his own vessels. Mr. Bemis

succeeded in having tlicwork done and for some years

received a large return for his venture, as much as $1

per yard being received during the war for duck.
" It was in 1803 that Seth Bemis commenced spin-

ning cotton by machinery.
" In March 1809, he employed a Mr. Douglas to

construct a twisting machine of 48 spindles.'

"In October of 1809, he employed six English

weavers, paying them fourteen cents per yard for

weaving, and in November following made sales of

duck in Boston, No. 1 at 65 cents, and No. 2 at 58

cents per yard." "The sheetings and shirtings sold

for 42 cents per yard." " This was probably the first

cotton sail duck ever made and sold in this country."

In consequence of the impossibility of finding a market

nearer for all his products, during the war of 1812-15,

Mr. Bemis sent his duck and other manufactures, by

his own teams to Baltimore, and even further south,

bringing back cotton, tobacco, and other southern pro-

ducts, taking several months to make the journey and
return.

In 1812-13 with the aid of an Englishman, Mr. Be-

mis made from coal and used to light his factory, the

first illuminating gas used in America. This had, how-

ever, to be discontinued after a few years, because of

its leaking from the tin tubes through which it was

conducted.

During some of the years following, while this was

the leading factory for the grinding and preparation

of dye woods and dye 'stuffs by machinery, for the

manufacture of cotton goods and woolen yarn, the

grinding of glass,—and with which continued to be

carried on a grist mill, as also a shop for making and

repairing machinery,—the operatives were called to

their meals at the house ofCaptain Luke Bemis, where

they found board, by the blowing of a tin horn, from

which circumstance the village received and continued

to have, even till our day, the rather suggestive title

of "Tin Horn."

Mr. Bemis purchased of his brother Luke and his

partner, Caleb Eddy, a brother-in-law, in 1811, the

mills and water-power on the south side of the river

and thus became sole owner of the entire water-power.

3 From Report of BostOD Board of Trade, 1857, quoted in Nelson's

" Waltham.*'
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llo scioii aiuT j.Mii UP uif lii'^iiMi .\liiiiuiin.iuring Com-

puuy Ills riphl to raioe I lie height of the water by fliish-

boanls tor $lii(i(l per inch for twelve inches. Although

gaining #l:.',Uiio by the (tale, he afterwanls regretted

thin lon» of power, or others have who have followed

him. In 1822 he built the present stone rolling-dam.

lu 1S27, the Bemis JIauufacturiug Company was in-

corporated, in which his brother Luke was interested,

for the uianufucture chiefly of satinets and duck.

However in 1S.'U> this corporation was dissolved. Mr.

Seth Heniis and Thomas Cordis, members of the com-

pany, bought the entire property and continued the

same business until 1839, when Thomas Cordis sold

out to Seth Bemis and Seth Bemis, jr., who continued

the business on both sides of the river of manufactur-

ing cotton and wtiolen goods in part, and at last on

the Newton side of the manufacture of drugs and dye

woods. In 1847 they sold the dye wood business to

William F. Freeman, and Seth Bemis continued to

manage the Waterlown mills until his death in 1849,

when ou the settlement of the estate in 1851, Seth

Bemis, jr., became the sole owner. From 1848 to

1800 the Watertown property was leased to Hiram

Cooper, who manufactured hosiery and domet iiau-

nels. The product for a part of this time was about

$100,000 a year, and a hundred men were employed.

In ISGO, he sold the entire property to William F.

Freeman it Company, who having developed the bus-

iness largely, in turn transferred the property to the

.Etiui Milt Company, who greatly enlarged the works

on this side, and although for many years, certainly

until after IStiT, continued to grind and prepare dye

woods, gradually enlarged and improved their manu-

facture of woolen goods until at present their products

are well known among the finest and best woolen goods

for ladies' use to be found in the market.

It was in 1810 that the " Waltham Cotton and

Wool Factory Company" was established, although

not until 1813 that the " Boston Manufacturing Com-
pany," under the lead of Francis C. Lowell, Patrick

T. Jackson, and Nathan Appleton began to apply the

knowledge of the improved cotton machinery which

they had seen in operation 'in England, and which

they greatly improved and put into the new factory

two miles above, which turned Waltham from a

smaller and an agricultural town to a rapidly growing

centie of manufactures. Thesuccessof this led in 1822

to the incorporation of the Merrimack Manufacturing

Company and the founding of the city of Lowell.

With the advance of improvements it became
necessary to specialize, and thus gradually the great

variety of kinds of business carried on successfully

by Seth Bemis, sr., has. come to one of narrower
range, but of a magnitude and the product of a quality

of which he had never dreamed. We have followed

with great brevity, hardly touching here and there

the fortunes of these mills, through their possession

by the Bemis family from 17&3, the date of the first

purchase, for over a hundred years.

The charact«r of Mr. Seth Bemis, sr., is treated by

another hand elsewhere. His son, Seth Bemis, jr., was

always a friend to educational and religious institu-

tions, as he wiuione of the original contributors, with

his brother (ieorge, to the fund for the establishment of

the Watertown Free Public Library, giving $500. In

1882 he gave §1000 towards the building. The family

numbers ten students and graduates of Harvard Col-

lege; one of them, George, gave largely to this college

an<l to the Boston Alhenieuni, thus showing their

own appreciation of the best educational institutions

and their willingness to contribute to them for the

welfare of others; and proving, in this family at

least, the enobling and liberalizing tendency of suc-

cessful activity in manufactures. In closing, one

might add his testimony of fitness in the change of

the old name of " Tin Horn," and even of the later

more euphonious and descriptive '' ^Etua Mills" to

the brief, well deserved and suggestive name, Bemis,

which the Fitchburg Railroad Company, and the

United States Post-office Department, and all by com-

mon consent, apply to this village. Long may it

honor its name, but may it never forget by its con-

tributions and its commingling in all social and

municipal relations, that it is a part of the old town

of Watertown.

Tlie Watertown Lidurated Fibre Company.—'ih.is

company, one of the latest formed, incorporated in the

year 1888 under the laws of Maine, with a capital of

$100,000, of which Mr. J. H. Conant is at present the

principal, if not the sole owner, is engaged in the

manufacture of various utensils from wood pulp,

ornamental or useful, which are impervious to water.

The buildings are located on a large lot of land

near the West Grammar School-house, on Howard
Street, and very near the Fitchburg Railroad, which

gives with its side tracks, facilities for receiving

materials, and for sending away their manufactured

products to all parts of the country.

The material used is the ground pulp of spruce

wood, which is reduced to a semi-liquid state, and

pumped into moulds-where, under hydraulic pressure,

of some 120 pounds to the square inch, the water is

forced out, and the masses of fine wood fibres are con-

solidated into any desired form.

These forms, when dried, may be sawn, turned,

sanded into any more desirable forms like any masses

of wood. They are then given a bath of hot linseed

oil or of chemicals largely composed of pure linseed

oil, then baked in an oven for about eight hours at a

temperature of 270° Fahrenheit. Then the process is

repeated several times until the compound is entirely

impervious to any liquids. The ware is then fin-

ished, polished, ornaiuented, and made attractive for

the various purposes for which it may be used.

The number of men at present employed is seventy-

five, their wages about $750 per week, the value of

the products of the factory about $100,000 per year.

These works were started by Mr. Conant in 1885,
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have been increased in extent several times, in the

same location, until they are now doublo their former

size. They occupy three principal buililings anil five

smaller buildings. The largest huil<ling is 120 feet

long and fifty feet wide, and is three stories high.

The engine and boiler-house is fifty feet by forty feet,

and is two stories high, the upper stories being occu-

pied as a drying-room. The treating building is

eighty feet by fifty feet, two stories high. The upju'r

story is used for indurating and water-prooliug the

product, and consists of a work-room and four ovens.

These ovens are thirty feet deep, one seventeen feet

wide and nine feet high ; the three others have the

same depth and height, but are only nine feet wide.

They are heated by steam, which is furnished by

two boilers of 100-horse power each, which also

furnish steam for driving the engine. The engine is

one of tlie Fitchburg Kngine Company's manufac-

ture, and has a capacity of seventy-five-horse power.

The buddings are lighted by electricity from a

dynamo in tlie building, are thoroughly protected as

far as such buildings can be protected, by a system of

pipes and sprinklers throughout the large buildings,

the water for this purpose being supplied by the

Watertown Water Supply Company. The water for

use in the process of manufacture, of which large

quantities must be used, is obtained from4.hreeor four

wells, which give an abundant supply.

Some of the articles now manufactured are water-

cooler.'* for ice-water, umbrella-holders, fire-casks,

store barrels, pails for ordinary use and for fires, the

latter having a peculiar form to fit them for their use

and to prevent them from being used for any other

purpose, pans, slop-jars, and churns.

In timej'utensils required to hold liquids of every

kind may be made. The material is much lighter

and less brittle than porcelain or other earthen ware,

or glass, much less costly, less likely to leak or fall to

pieces than wood held together by hoops. The use

of this manufacture is increasing each year and its

appearance is being constantly improved.

Educated decorative artists are employed to orna-

ment the ware with fitting design.s, some of which

make one think of the lacquer of the Japanese.

Mr. F. E. Keyes was the first superintendent, and

leaving because of ill health, Mr. L. S. Frost took his

place in July, 1886, and has had charge of the works

ever since. Mr. B. S. Bott has charge of the decorative

department. U. S. Dixon is the engineer. Mr. F. C.

Goss has charge of the machine-shop and repairs.

The Porter Needle Company.—The Porter Needle

Company occupied buildings on the south .side of the

river on Watertown Street, not far from Galen Street.

Their business was established October 1, 1879, but

manufacturing was not begun until January 1, 1880.

The company was composed of Mr. Edward F. Por-

ter, of this town, president ; Mr. Hugh Robinson, of

Jersey City, vice-president; Mr. Lewis B. Porter,

treasurer ; and Mr. W. D. Porter, secretary.

Their business consisted in the manufacture of sew-

ing-macliine needles, sewing-machine shuttles, bob-

bins, tools, and machinery. They employed as many
as seventy-five (7')) men, and turned out 20,000

needles per day, with a monthly pay-roll of $2000.

They also furnished other manufacturers with blanks.

They invented some fine machinery for the manufac-

ture of shuttles and bobbins.

The business was continued with varying success

for six or eight years, until 1888, when
The Porter Shuttle and Bobbin Company, managed

by Lewis B. Porter, succeeded to a part of the business,

the manufacture of needles having been discontinued.

This company continue the manufacture of shuttles

and bobbins for sewing-machines, also manufacture

various kinds of attachments for several kinds of sew-

ing-machines.

The stock in this company is owned entirely by

Lewis B. Porter, who carries on the entire business.

He employs twenty or twenty-five hands, men and

boys, and distributes about $800 monthly. The sales

are wholly from the factory to sewing-machine manu-
facturers and to large jobbers of sewing-machine sup-

plies. This is at present the only factory devoted

wholly to the manufacture of shuttles and bobbins in

the country, and the outlook indicates a large industry,

as the sewing-machinemanufacturers are looking more

and more to special factories for their shuttles and

bobbins.

The Empire Laundry Machinery Company.—'I'his

company now occupy a part of the buildings formerly

occupied by the Porter Needle Company. It was

formed in 1883, with headquarters in Boston, to man-

ufacture a combination of inventions developed by

the Cambridge Laundry, of Cambridge, and by I'or-

ter & Co., of Watertown, and gradually grew to larger

proportions as new appliances were manufactured,

partly by Porter & Company and tested by the Cam-
bridge Laundry, until since 1888 it has succeeded to

the use of all the buildings but one occupied formerly

by the Needle Company.
The company is at present composed of George L.

Shorey,of Lynn ; H. S. Porter, of Roxbury ; and L.

B. Porter, of Watertown. It was incorporated under

the general laws of the State, with a capital of |10,-

000, with individual loans of $40,000 more, from the

members, which with the surplus earnings gives a

working capital of about $75,000.

As they are now doing a business of a quarter of a

million dollars a year, and require larger buildings

they have bought a tract of land containing about

60,000 feet, and are making plans for extensive build-

ings and enlargements ; and they propose to include

all the capital used, with an enlargement of the same,

into its incorporated stock, making it 1100,000 or

more.

The company's special and patented machinery

may be found in nearly every country upon the globe,

and there are few hotels or large institutions that do
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not uae »ome of their luacbiuea. About fifty ilill'ereiit

maihitu'n and applianctw are now made, of every

kind, fruiii boilcra ami engines that supply the power,

to the supplies used either in domestic laundries for

family work or the lauiulries of hotels and larger in-

stitutions.

Among the machines and appliances nianufaclured

may be mentioned : waching-machinca, both of wood

and of metal ; extraetors for removing water from

goods, wringers, centrifugal wringers; starching ma-

chines; ironing miichines of many kinds, including

the mangle, parallel ironer, bosom, neck and wrist-

banil ironer, shirt body ironer, bosom ironer, univer-

sal ironer, collar and culf dampener, ternary mangles

;

with a great variety of hand machine.s, from washers

to sad irons; stoves for heating hand-irons, blowers,

presses. As Watertown is quite a centre for all kinds

of lauuilry work, these and more may be seen in oper-

ation in some of the laundries near the factory.

There are at least three such laundries, a visit to

which would at almost any time repay any one to see

what can be done in this direction by machinery.

These machines are being sold very widely in this

and other countries. The new building planned for

this factory is to be 250 by 150 feet, one story high,

with solid, well-protected floors for heavy machinery,

with good light partly from above, well heated by

steam and lighted by electricity, and well protected

from danger of fire. Its approaches on three sides

will be convenient for receiving materials and sending

oir machines.

Lewando's French Dyeing and Cleansing Establish-

ment.—This establishment cleanses and dyes all kinds

of fabrics and materials used as clothing, or as draper-

ies, upholstery, carpets or rugs for floors.

The property is at present owned by George S.

Harwood, of Newton, who has about|150,000 invested

in it. Wm. Lincoln Crosby, 17 Temple Place, Boston,

is at present manager.

The superintendent of the works at Watertown for

the last two years is Peter Burbank, who has had

nearly thirty years' experience in the business. There

areemiiloyed here during the ditlerent sea-sons of the

year from one hundred to two hundred persons, over

one-third of them men, the other two-thirils women.

There is distributed in weekly wages from $1000 to

$2000.

The principal office for the transaction of business

is 17 Temple Place, Boston ; there are branch offices

in other parts of Boston, in New York, Philadelphia,

and other cities, with a system of advertising and

sending by mail and express that reaches the whole

of the United States and the Provinces.

The laundry has been recently refitted and fur-

nished with the improved machinery manufactured

by the Empire Laundry Machinery Company of this

place, and turns out about 4500 collars and cufls, 500

shirts, and a large variety of other articles each day,

or about |.500 worth each week. Starch made in

Watertown is believed to be the best and is therefore

used.

They have a most systematic method of receiving,

marking, accounting for and treating each article in

each bundle taken into the works, so that each owner

is sure to receive his own property when finished.

Mistakes seldom occur. P"lan:iels are washed by

hand so as to prevent shrinking, but most goods in the

huge washers ; they are dryed in the excelsior dryer,

turning 1400 revolutions per minute, and starched and

ironed when re(iuired, by special machinery for the

dillerent kinds of fabrics or garments. Those requir-

ing polishing are, if collars or cufls, for instance,

[lassed through a parallel ironer; all are dried by

steam. A large part of the water required here, as

well as in the dye-house, is furnished from six artesian

wells, although a large quantity of water is taken by

measure from the Watertown Water Supply Com-

pany.

In the dye-house experienced chemists and expert

dyers are employed. Experienced pressmen and

presswomen are required in a part of their works.

The requisite knowledge and skill necessary to sustain

the reputation which the establishment has acquired,

is the result of long experience.

A boiler of 120 and two of forty-five horse-power

are used to supply the motive-power and to furnish

steam for heating and drying purposes. Three steam-

engines of about eight, six, and ten horse-power operate

the laundry and other machinery, including a large

pump for raising the water from the artesian wells. If

we had s|jace to describe the processes in the different

departments, and give the names of those who have

charge, or have acquired greatest skill, we certainly

should begin with the dye-rooms. It is understood, of

course, that when an old garment is to receive a new

color, it is as far as possible discharged of its former

color in order that the dye-stuffs may have their

proper effect. Otherwise it must be determined by

experiment upon a small part, or by former experi-

ence, what peculiar combinations are required to be

made in order to produce the exact shade desired.

Patrons send with their fabrics or garments, bits of

color of the kind ordered, little thinking of the

patience or skill acquired by long experience, needed

to make it possible to make even an approach, in

some cases, to the eflects desired. The art is so pecu-

liar, the knowledge so technical, and so beyond the

comprehension of the uninitiated, that for most, ad-

mission to this room would be only bewildering, and

to those prepared to understand the secrets of the

workmen, manifes'ly unpermissible.

There are drying-frames to prevent shrinking,

frames and cushions for laces and for drapery cur-

tains, naphtha cleaning rooms for certain kinds of

work, a separate department for cleaning and dyeing

gloves, of which 10,000 pairs are sometimes done in

a month. One might be greatly surprised to see a

soiled pair of light-colored gloves come out fresh in
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their delicate tints, aa if never worn, while black can

always be imparted to those that seem to most, hope-

less of further usefulness.

In the cleansing house, men's clothing, ladies'

dresses and robes, blankets, carpets, curtains, draper-

ies can be thoroughly cleansed by what is known as

the dry process. Elaborate ball and stage dresses are

thoroughly cleansed without taking them to pieces.

Velvets, laces, shawls, are handled with great care,

and so skillfully and delicately treated, that they sel-

dom receive injury. Oue of the new and secret pro-

cesses on which they pride themselves, and of which

they make great use, enables them to remove the dis-

agreeable shitiy appearance which smooth woolen

cloths take on after a little wear ; 5000 garments

have been thus treated within a year and a half

The manager says this business was begun by Mr.

Lewaudo, in Boston, in 1829. Still we find in the

Waterlown Enterprise of 1880 the following state-

ment :

"The Wateriown Dye-House was founded by Mr.

James McGarvey, in a small way, on Pleasant Street,

about forty years ago. After a few years Mr. Adolphus

Lewando succeeded him. Shortly after, the building

was destroyed by fire, and Mr. Lewando decided to re-

move the business to Saccarappa, Me. The move,

however, proved to be an unfortunate one, as the dis-

tance to Boston was a serious obstacle in the way of

securing orders, and Mr. Lewando decided to remove

to Dedham,Mass. There the enterprise was attended

with fair success, but for some reason the proprietor

deemed another change necessary, and, in 186.5, the

business came back to "its birth-place—AVatertown

—

since which time it has continued to grow in pros-

perity until it has reached its present magnitude. At
the time of Mr. Lewando's death, which occurred, we
believe, about 1871, a Mr. Farmer, of Boston, suc-

ceeded him and carried on the business for about

three years. At the expiration of that time a son of

Mr. Lewando's associated with him in business

a gentleman by the name of Gate, and this firm re-

mained in occupation for one year. The business

then passed into the hands of Messrs. Harwood and

Quincy, who erected at different times the large brick

block now almost entirely occupied by them for their

business, the block of houses on the river-bank above

their works, and the buildings on piles in the river

above the island, below and on the opposite side of

the Galen Street or 'Great Bridge,' and who re-

modeled the remaining buildings as the enlarged and

improved condition of their business demanded.

"In 1886 Mr. Quincy retired from the firm, so that

since that the business has been carried on by Mr.

Harwood alone.

" This business is now claimed to be larger than that

now carried on by any similar establishment in the

United States, and is rapidly increasing."

Metropolitan Laundry.—This laundry was started

many years ago in connection with the shirt factory

of Mr. Charles J. Hathaway, who began to manufac-

ture shirts in large quantities and to sell them in

Boston at wholesale as early as 1848. At lirst a

necessity in the manufacture of white shirts, it was

managed as a part of the shirt factory. During its

history it has passed through many different hands

until at present it has grown into an independent

establishment by itself and is now owned and man-
aged by Mr. II. 11. Sawyer, who runs it under the

above title. It is true that some of its work comes
from the adjoining Metropolitan Shirt Factorj', but it

has with it no necessary connection, except to sup-

ply the latter company with steam and power from

their large boiler.

The present capacity of the works is 40,000 or

.')0,000 [)ieces each week, and employs about forty per-

sons. The building is large enough for a larger busi-

ness, and will be fully utilized soon, if the present

rate of increase of business continues. The goods

laundered are partly new from manufacturers, or are

Irom families residing in difi'erent places, from whom
the work is obtained by a regular .system of collec-

tions, mostly within New England.

This laundry is newly and very fully furnished with

new machinery of every variety from the Empire
Laundry Machine Company of this place. It is the

aim of the present proprietor to do first-class work ; so

he spares no effort in trying to provide, with first-

class appliances of every kind, the best help this

place affords, where work-people have been trained

by long experience to do excellent work, and also

leeks in other places their most skillful workmen.
Goods can be laundered now in a very short time.

While following for convenience the old system of

weekly collections and deliveries, work is on occasion

done very quickly. As in the large hotels of Europe,

here one can have his linen thoroughly laundered

while he is taking a nap, or a bath,—a Turkish bath.

As the huge baskets are brought in, filled with

parcels from the families, by the collecting wagons,

each piece is marked, recorded, sorted, and put into

the rotary washers for their first washing. These are,

some of them, of wood ; some since copper has fallen

from its high price, are wholly of metal, a composite

metal, which has strength and endurance and dues

not ordinarily discolor delicate clothing. About an

hour spent in turning and reversing in strong solu-

tions of soap and the following baths of clear water,

without wearing by rubbing, is generally sufficient to

remove all dirt and leave the clothing white and

clean. The clothes, carefully packed in the centrifu-

gal wringer, soon have every drop of water whirled

out of them. This machine hums like a top, and by

its rising key indicates a very great velocity, it is

said 1400 or 2000 revolutions each minute. The
clothes are then passed through the starchers, to the

dry room, where the last trace of dampness is re-

moved, then to the ironers and the polishers. We
have not space to describe all the processes upon the
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perlectioD of which Ihc cxcelleuce oi ilu wi.rk done

(lependit.

Of course where there iire many coUiirs, or cuf&,

or shirU, or luticlcs of auy one kind to bo done,

miiehines, as here, juat titled to a bosom, a cull", or a

collar may be provided for that particular use which

will operate almost automatically. By specialization

of work, a greater degree of Bkill is reached.

A woman in any kitchen or laundry, however,

might have a self-heating iron, or, in other words, a

smoothing or polishing iron with a sujiiily of gas and

air to burn inside of it, so as to maintain the uniform

temperature required for such purposes.

.\ forty horse-power boiler supplies the steam

for heating and drying purposes, also to the

small steam engine of twelve horse |)ower which

drives all the machinery with precision and order.

The visitor comes away with the feeling that at the

present time there is a great advance upon the days

of our fathers, and that woman has indeed been re-

lieved of much of the mere drudgery of labor.

The number of persons employed here is between

forty ami lifty,—eight or ten men, the rest women.

Shirt Fdctnries.—The shirt industry of America was

founded in 1832 in New York.
" It was in the Presidency of Andrew Jackson, in

1832, when people were talking of nullification, about

disposing of the surplus in the national treasury,

about the Abolitionists of Boston, about the right of

petition which John Quincy Adams was making a

brave fight for, when Boston was a week's journey

away from New York, when there was as yet no West,

and Cincinnati was a frontier village, St. Louis a

trading-post, Chicago a wilderness, no railroads, no

telegraphs, no newspapers that printed news, no great

factories, no sewing-machines, no machinery for mak-

ing shoes, hats, clothing, furniture; only rude iron-

working tools, rude printing-presses, imperfect steam-

engines. There were great planters then, great mer-

chants, but no great manufacturers. What men made,

they made with their hands." What a change with-

in sixty years in manufactures ! What a change in

the condition of the common people, especially of

women !

It must have been in the thirties that the first shirt

factory was started in Watertown, and that by a wo-

man, not long after the one in New York City, and

probably without knowledge of that. Mrs. Silas M.
Bates (her name was Mrs. Potter then) began, in a

house, on Main Street, that was removed to make
place for the present Public Library building, with

the help of girls whom she hired for the purpose, the

manufacture of shirts for sale by the dozen. She af-

terward occupied a house on the opposite side of

Main Street, farther from the square, and finally, be-

tween 1840 and 184.5, put up the building now occu-
pied by J. G. Barker as a shirt factory, on Spring
Street, nearly opposite Fayette Street. It is said that
she had a place for the sale of these shirts in Bos-

ton. Possibly this was so, although it has been said

that Mr. Hathaway's store on Milk Street was the first

wholesale shirt house in Boston.

Mr. Hlackwell followed her and carried on business

here for several years. He had already begun in an-

other building near the railway.

Mr. Barker, who followed him in this building, has

been in the business about thirty years, and at the

present time employs one man and about fifteen wo-

men at his works, and as many more outside who do

their work at homo an<l bring it to him when fin-

ished.

Mr. Barker makes all kinds of shirts, mostly of the

better grades, for some of the best firms in Boston.

"Boston was early the seat of shirt manufacturing

for the trade, C. F. Hathaway having established

himself in that city, with a factory at Watertown,

Mass., in 1,848. He built up a considerable business,

manufacturing mainly for jobbers, and the ' Hath-

away shirt' became widely known throughout New
England, with a well-deserved reputation for careful,

honest workmanshiji, good material, and full size."

This is from a leading journal which treats of the his-

tory of this manufacture.

The Metropolitan Shirt Factory is the principal

shirt-factory in town. It was bought of Mr. Hatha-

way some twenty-five years ago and is situated on

Spring Street, near the corner of Palfrey Street. With

some change of name and in the style of the firm, it

is essentially the same, except that it is increased

in extent. It is run by Simons, Hatch & Whitten,

manufacturers and wholesale dealers in men's furnish-

ing goods, whose place of business is on Winthrop

Square and Otis Street, Boston.

• This firm have several factories for different kinds

of work in diti'erent places ; at this they manufacture all

their " fine grades of wliite, dress, fancy, and night

shirts."

The capacity of these works is about one hundred

dozens per week, with an immediate prospect of en-

largement. Two men and about fifty women are em-

ployed. G. F. Faxon, the superintendent, lias been

engaged in this work and in this place about thirty

years. The power is supplied by an engine in the

adjoining laundry, which drives the fifty sewing-ma-

chines at a high rate of speed, and the two button-

hole m.'ichines, one of which is capable of making
1600 button-holes each day.

The cutting-room is 160 feet long. This room has

the longest cutting-board in use. It is 120 feet long,

is capable of accommodating a full 40-yard web of

cloth. Indeed, forty-eight to sixty webs of cloth laid

one over the other exactly are stretched out on this

cutting-table. The patterns for all the different

pieces which go to make up the finished garment are

laid upon the outstretched webs, according to the

judgment and skill of the cutter, so arranged as to

waste no possible portion of the goods, and yet give

each part its exact and proper form. These patterns



WATERTOWN. 40!i

are made of light wood, or of thick paste-board bound
with brass, along the edges of which a sharp knife in

the deft hands of the cutter strikes down through all

the thicknesses at once.

The goods when received are piled on counters or

shelves by the side of the table, from the huge cases

which we may see at the end. Tliey are of different

materials, each with its great variety of designs and

each of different combinations of colors. Some are

for wriUgee shirts, for seaside or country-lawns, and

beautiful enough for the most fastidious in taste.

In the sewing-room the thirty or more nimble and

skillful pairs of hands pass the pieces which have

been put together, as they alone know how to do it,

under the sewing-machines, where the seams are fin-

ished faster than could have been imagined possible

a few years ago. The button-holes even are made and

finished by improved machines ready for use. See

this woman place the band under the machine ; the

stitching i)roceeds down one side, turns automatically,

returns down the other side, is barred, the hole cut,

and is ready for use in much less time than it takes

to say it. These shirts have their handkerchief pock-

ets and their watch-pockets, the latter with a barred

opening for the watch-chain.

These soft, zephyr-like fabrics surely require no

starch. In this next room they are smoothed out,

examined, folded ready for the neat boxes in which

they are packed, and marked according to style and

size, ready for the trade, or are put up with exact ref-

erence to orders from various parties all over the

country, each with its appropriate numbers and
marks. Each dealer has his own name and address

woven in colored letters, with a neat design, placed

upon each garment which he orders. Thus it would

seem from the garments themselves, when finished in

this one factory, that they had been made in a hun-

dred different factories, all the way from Maine to

California, from Minnesota to Florida, while the deal-

ers know for all the glory they get for this superior

manufacture they are indebted to the one firm, Simons,

Hatch & Whitten.

One naturally inquires what is the condition of

these shirt-makers? Are they like the poor women
for whom Hood has enlisted the sympathy of tlie

tender-hearted ? Are they
'* With fingers weary and worn,

With eyelids heavy and red

Compelled to sit in unwomanly rags,

Plying the needle and thread ?
"

For my readers surely wish to know whether indeed

they cry with mute lips and pleading eyes,

*' men, with sisters dear 1

men, with mothers and wives I

It is not linen you're wearing out,

But human creatures' lives."

Not a bit of it. The steam-engine drives the nee-

dles. The introduction of steam-driven sewing-ma-

chines into Massachusetts in the manufactureof shirts,

we are informed by the superintendent, was first

made by this factory. Seams are sewed up almost

quicker than you can wink. The animation of the

sewers' faces, and tlie beauty of the materials with

their graceful figures and harmonious blending of

shades, the cheerful hum of the sewing-machines,

combine to make a sight which it is pleasant to re-

member. And long before darK the scene changes
;

the women are released witii full freedom

*' To breathe the breath

of the cowslip and primrose sweet,

With the sky above their heads,

And the grass beneath their feet.'*

Formerly three dollars a week wiis considered good
wages for a smart girl. Now few, even with their

nineliours a day, earn less than six to ten dollars a

week.

To quoteagain from a prominent publication on tiiis

subject

:

" The growth of the factory system, with its

accompanying economies, has vastly improved the

condition of women employed in shirt-making,

shortening their hours, lightening their work and in-

creasing their wages. Before the introduction of the

sewing-machine, but few women were employed in

factories. The industry was almost exclusively a

domestic one, and, like all domestic industries, the

wages paid were not sufficient for subsistence."
'' Where by hand a woman would do but one shirt

in a day, the usual product now is about a dozen
shirts to each machine, and the average earnings of

machine operatives, good, bad and indifl^erent, in

large country factories, are six to ten dollars per

week.'' ' Steady, industrious girls, working full

time, will earn more than this." " So the cost of

shirts has been reduced somewhat more than one-

half, while the average earnings of the workers have
been increased about three-fold." This applies to the

work done in the factory. Finishing done in the

homes still brings the smaller returns. Women will

work cheaper in their homes, in the leisure they can

get from necessary duties, and with the help of

children.

We wish we had the space to inquire, in this

connection, a little more fully into the condition of

the women employed in factories. " It is said that in

large cotton manufacturing towns, where female help

is much employed, the condition of the latter is

noticeably deteriorating, in social status, morals and
wages.''

This is said not to be the case in shirt factories.

We know it is not the case in our shirt factories. It

certainly is not necessarily so. It was not so in the

days of the Lowell Offering, when factory girls edited •

and published that paper. It need not be so now,
with the store of good books which our Public

Library offers free to all who ask for them, with our
free evening schools, with the hours of leisure after

and before regular work, when the fields can be seen

in pleasant weather, when good reading can fill the
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liiiiirx olstorius, mid pood society in mir cliurohes is

iilways open. A hasty run tliroiigli our sliirt factorie.M

sliows tliiit a still better eondition of iiitelligeiK-e,

morals HiiJ society is possible among wage-earning

women, it" they themselves will strive more in that

direction.

Warren Soap Manufactory.—We have spoken of

the shirt factories and the laundries and the machine-

shops where the new laundry machinery is made.

Hut these would make poor work of it without soap

and starch.

"Soap is a chemical compound of vegetable or ani-

mal fatty substances with soda or potash, employed, on

account of its properties of loosening and di.isolving

greiLsy and other matters, as a detergent or cleansing

article for the toilet, for washing clothes, and similar

purposes."

"8oap is mentioned in the Old Testament, in Jer. ii

:

22 and Mai. iii: 2; but the Hebrew words thus trans-

lated mean the lye salt potash, commonly made from

the ashes of plants, and the salt soda, better known

as a mineral product."

—

Jppleton's Cyrlnpedia.

"Soap, both as a medicinal and as a cleansing agent

was known to Pliny, who speaks of two kinds—hard

and soft—as used by the Germans. There is reason

to believe that soap came to the Romans from Ger-

many."

—

Kncycloprrdia liritannica.

Natural alkaline waters are found and used, clays

are sometimes used as absorbents of grease, by fullers,

in cleansing cloths. Ammoniacal waters are some-

times used for the same purpose. Now these three

alkalies,—potash, soda, and ammonia—softened by

the introduction of various fatty substances, are the

active factors in all soaps.

Watertown early sought to provide itself, and a

part of the rest of the world, with so necssary an

article.

At present the Warren Soap Manufacturing Com-
pany is an incorporated company, incorporated this

present year of 1890. The stock is not quoted on the

market; it is, in fact, owned entirely by three men :

Mr. Albert C. Warren, of Auburndale, a son of the

former owner of the works ; Mr. George L. Stevens, of

Boston; and Mr. Alfred H. A. Groeschner, of this

town. Twelve men are employed at the works, four

salesmen are employed, who travel through the

country, and Crichett's teams visit the works almost

every day, according to their needs.

Soap may be made in the laboratory in great variety)

from hundreds, yea thousands of animal and vegetable

oils, combined with either of the three alkalies. Some
of these products are fragrant and delightful to every
sense. In the manufacture of textile fabrics in large

quantities, where oil is used freely to assist in the
process of manufacture, as well as to reduce the
friction of machinery, large quantities of soap must
be used to cleanse the fabrics before they are fit for the
dyer or for the market. The Warren soaps are known
over the country in large cotton and woolen manu-

factories of hosiery and other fabrics, as well as in

public and family laundries.

As we approach the works we are struck by the

appearance of long lin^s of barrels and casks and

hogsheads running across a large yard, and piled

under a row of sheds. These are marked Warren

Standard Soaps. They are scouring soaps, fulling

soaps, finishing soaps, etc., put into casks for ease of

handling, and are ready to be shipped to the factories

from Maine to Texas as they are ordered. The last

half year over two million pounds have been manu-

factured and shipped, nearly as uuuli as the entire

previous year.

Enterirrg the large buildinng beyond, we come first

to the oflice, now refitted for their rapidly increasing

business.

The next room is the laboratory, where samples of

every barrel of alkali, of tallow, and of oils are accur-

ately tested, as every cask of soap is tested before it

leaves the factory. All substances used in making
soap are tried by delicate chemical tests, so that just

what goes into a batch of fifty tons of soap is thor-

oughly known, and is recorded for future reference

The next room, is tlie shipping-room, with its appli-

ances for weighing, marking and recording the de-

scription of all packages sent away.

We can look, in the next room which is the boil-

ing-room, at the huge kettles that hold one hundred

and fifty barrels of seething, foaming, steaming liijuid.

Two of these largest kettles have been put in during

the past year. " You can call spirits from the vasty

deep, but will they come when you call them.'' The
three witches may, with uncanny gesture, walk about

these pots, and may cast in their horrid contributions

from the four quarters of the globe, and produce a

compound that would defy the evil one himself to

know or to baffle, but the resident member of this

company will prove every inch of this mass when
cold, and tell you just what are its powers and how
far it can go to the service of man. If unsatisfactory,

he will order it back again to stew and stew, and boii

and boil, with the addition of many a compound, till

it is more ready for the service of man. You and I do

not expect to learn the secrets of his art, which it

would be worth a fortune to know ; we must be satis-

fied to see and use the results of the knowledge and

skill acquired by a score or more of years spent in

closest application to secure the results.

The building belongs to the Gas Company. The
alkalies are imported. The carbonates and caustic

potash come from Germany, caustic soda and its car-

bonates from England. The freight from Liverpool

to East Boston is less than from East Boston to the

Watertown works. This building was once used as

a bat factory, afterwards as a soap factory by Mr.

Robbins, then for wool pulling, then for the manu-
facture of Johnson pumps, then for making wire

fencing. It was first used by Mr. H. M. Warren,

who employed Mr. Groeschner, in the manufacture of
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magnesium for artificial light in stereopticon exhibi-

tions. This agent is available now, is more easily

managed than the calcium light, more convenient

than electricity on account of its portability. There

is, however, a disagreeable iiroduct of smoke of ni.ag-

nesia in fine powder,—which can be taken care of.

But the quantity of the article required is not suffi-

cient to make its manufacture remunerative.

In 1868, Mr. Warren began to make family soaps.

After three or five years the bulk of the business

came to be the production, in constantly increasing

quantities, of textile soaps. We said that more than

forty different kinds of soaps are made here. These

vary, as one would suppose, with the materials used.

Just what these are we do not expect to learn.

While these soaps are known to the trade as uni-

form in character, scientific accuracy requires us to

say that each batch of soap requires constant watch-

fulness : for different materials, or niateri.als supposed

to be the same, but really of ditl'ercut qualities, vary

and require nice balancing, one with another, to give

uniform and constant results. No cask is allowed to

leave the factory without being first tried by careful

tests. Resins are not used to increase the weight of

their soaps.

The sale of soaps to large manufactories requires

skilled experts, who, on occasion, can go into the

works themselves and prove the quality of the soap

offered by showing what work it is capable of doing.

This may be vitiated by unskillful treatment. Thus
an industry is gradually built up as confidence grows

in the constant and uniform character of its products.

It was in 1880, at th« death of Herbert M. Warren,

the first proprietor, that the present company was

really formed. Of this firm, incorporated not till

1890, as we have said, Mr. Groeschuer—long a

resident of Watertown—has been the superinten-

dent and chemist at the works from the inception of

the business. Mr. Warren acts as treasurer for the

company, and Mr. Stevens acts as business manager,

taking charge of the sales, each doing his part with

harmony, energy, success.

Starch Factories.—On the same street, Water Street,

along the -south bank of the river, is what has been

known for many years as the Starch Factory. Indeed,

this roadway was long since known as Starch Factory

Lane. There was formerly a distillery here. When the

present proprietors began, only one building was oc-

cupied. This, some fifteen or twenty years ago, was

burned. Now Messrs. H. Barker & Co. occupy five

buildings, which they have successfully erected as the

demands of the business have increased. They now
employ sixteen men here and ten at a building about

a half-mile up the river. This starch is made from

wheat flour, is shipped to New York and other places

by the ton, packed both in barrels and in boxes. It

is used wherever the best starch is required.

Another starch factory, on the north bank of the

river, on Pleasant Street, near Bemis, is manufacturing

large quanties of wheat starch. These works, carried

on by the Crystal Springs Manufacturing Co., em-

ploying ten or twelve men, under the immediate

charge of Charles R. Fletcher, are trying a new pro-

cess, nowhere else employed, by which the gluten,

separated from the starch, is saved and made a valu-

able health food [iroduct, called I'oluboskos, much

nourishing. This is characterized by its ea.sy digest-

ibility, and is therefore suitable for weak stomachs.

Dyspepsia, the curse of our driving, nervous civiliza-

tion, it is hoped, will find here a foe.

The principal building is fifty feet wide and one

hundred and fifty feet long. The capacity of the

works is about five hundred barrels of flour each

week. The Boston office is at 86 State Street, under

the management of F. H. Odiorne, president, and

Wm. B. Buckminster, general manager. The new
process employed in the works is patented by Herman
Barker, who is one of the board of directors of the

company.

The starch and the soap made in town would be

adequate for the laundries now existing here, were

they to be multiplied a hundred-fold.

The Mill and the Dam.—Governor Cradock, the first

governor of the Massachusetts Bay Company, who
was a wealthy London merchant, who never came to

New England, yet owned two of the vessels of Gov-

ernor Winthrop's fleet, the "Ambrose" and the

"Jewel," had sent out in 1628, two years before Sir

Richard Saltonstall came to the Charles River, a cer-

tain Thomas Graves, who, judging from the words of

the contract made with him, was a skillful engineer.

"This 10th of March, I, Thoma.s Graves, of Graves-

end, in the county of Kent, gent., and by my profes-

sion skilful and experienced in the discovery and

finding out of mines, as also of lead, copper, mineral

salt and alum, in fortifications of all sorts, according

to the nature of the place, in surveying of buildings

and of lands and in measuring of lands, in describing

country by map, in leading of water [courses] to

proper uses for mills and other uses in manufacturing,

etc., have agreed," etc., etc. This Graves was to

serve the company and Governor Cradock and to be

at the expense of both—each one-half; he was to be

retained three years if they wished. There is men-

tion of a Thomas Graves admitted freeman twelve

years after. It is to be presumed that he remained

and made himself useful both to the Massachusetts

Company and to Governor Cradock. For this Thomas
Graves, admitted freeman, was probably either the

engineer himself or his son, then of age.

On the 17th of March, 1628, a warrant was made to

pay for iron and steel, also to pay for buhrs to make
mill-stones:

i. t. a.

110 at 28. apiece, bought of Edward CassoD, of London, mer-

chant tailor 11

14c. of plarttor-of-Parie @ ISd. per c 110
Porterage, weigliing the plaster and casting out of the buhra,

12d. and 23d 3

£12 i
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Thin sliows lliitt betiire 8tarti:iK tlic culuiiistH lor the

new I'oiiiitry , tliiit some one of the I'ompuny, presuma-

bly the Governor, the weiilthy mercliaiit in London,

bouglit in London (it seems of a merchant tailor) some

of the materials necessary for (irst-class niili-stones.

There is no record of the biiihiing of a dam in Wa-

tertown or of tlie building of the mill. Tlie fad is

stated that Edward How and Matthew ("radock, the

former (.iovernor, the wealthy London merchant,

sold, the latter by his agent, each one-half of the mill

at Watertown to Thomas Mayhcw, in August, 1035.

Perhaps Matthew Cradock's agent, Thomas Graves,

the skillful civil engineer by his own profession and

by iho company's allowance, built the mill and the

iliitn for the same, in the rai>ids at the head of tide-

water, at the e.xpense of his employer, Cradock, and

of Mr. Edward How who probably took care of and

run it until they sold it to Mayhew.

It is true there might have been a dam built there

before by the Norsemen. Even if there had been, it

must have been washed away during the chances ol

heavy floods weighted with fallen trees overthrown by

cyclones or with masses of ice piled up by the spring

melting, as has frequently been done since.

This Graves built the large house in which the

Governor and assistants first met in Charlestown.

He built fortifications for the early company.

IIiiUiugKworth d- Whitney Oompuny.—The Hollings-

worth & Whitney Company occupy a site in Water-

town which, for fifty years, has been devoted to paper-

making purposes. About 1839 William May had a

mill there, and for him worked Leonard Whitney, Sr.,

who subsequently bought the jiroperty, and associated

with him his son, under the firm-name of L. Whitney

& Son. Mr. Whitney, sr., retiring, sold out to Thurs-

ton Priest, and the firm became Whitney & Priest,

who, besides making paper, added to their business

the manufacture of paper bags by machinery. In

April, 1802, the firm changed. Mr. Priest, retiring,

sohl out to E. A. Hollingsworth, and the firm became

Hollingsworth & Whitney. At this time the plant

was small, the water-power very meagre, and business

rapidly growing.

This led the firm to consider the making of improve-

ments, and in 1807-68 the present building, 60x200,

with boiler-house and steam-engine room, was built,

to accommodate both branches of the business, and

where the production of paper had before been thirty

tons per month, it was increased to 120 tons, while the

bag department had its facilities doubled. Since the

new mill was built, improvements have been made, so

that now there is turned out daily eight tons, or 208

tons monthly, and the capacity of the bag department
is 2,000,000 daily. Jlr. Whitney died July 5, 1881,

and Mr. Hollingsworth on January 6, 1882. On the
1st of April, 1882, a corporation was formed under the
laws of the Commonwealth, bearing the designation
of Hollingsworth & Whitney Company, which now
carries on the business.

The works of this company occupy the site of the

"ancient grist-mill," the water-mill" of the earliest

record, and of many another mill of later date, as, for

instance, a chocolate mill which was afterwards mov-

ed to Dorchester, and became the Baker Chocolate &
Cocoa Mill, now known by its product over the world,

an early saw-mill, and others of which there is no dis-

tinct record.

The Watertown Mill.—The Ovist Mill.—This was
originally a grist-mill, the business being at first the

grinding of grists for the farmers who came from

near and from afar. It is at present conducted by
Perkins & Co., has two runs of stone, with a capacity

of grinding COO bushels of corn a day of ten hours.

The corn ground comes from the western prairies, the

flour sold comes mostly from Minneapolis, the hay
and oats from Maine and the Canadas.

The grist-mill was moved down the " mill creek "

to the site it now occupies was -afterward moved
nearer the river to accommodate a cotton-factory

which began in 1805, by occupying the stories above

the grist-mill, then the whole of it, which finally gave

way to the return of the corn-mill, when that prop-

erty was absorbed by the foundry and stove works

now belonging to the Walker Pratt Company.
The building of the original mill and dam we have

already ascribed with some degree of certainty to

Cradock and How. The time was as early as, or

earlier than January, 1034, for on this date a grant of

land was made to it by the General Court. This was

purchased and for some years owned by Thomas
Mayhew. The ownership is traced by Dr. Bond to

1710. We can take up the train again in 1789, when
John Remington .sold to David Jackson. On some
future occasion we hope to present in a satisfactory

manner this entire history, which is very complicat-

ed because of change of owners of fractional por-

tions, and change of work done at different periods.

The grist-mill holds the first right to the use of water

for power. In case of failure of water supply, its

wheels must be satisfied first. With change of loca-

tion on the ancient Mill Creek, probably the oldest

mill creek in the country, this right has now been

suspended or alienated. The first duty of the Charles

River in Watertown is to grind corn, and no man
now knows how or when it was first imposed. The
Mill Creek is thought by some to be a natural water-

course. No one can disprove it. Prof. Horsford

thinks it was built by the Norsemen.

Newspapers.—The Enterprise.—This paper was es-

tablished by Samuel S. Gleason, Nov. 5, 1879, under

whose management it steadily increased its circula-

tion, its size and its influence. The paper is devoted

to local interests, is bright, enterpri.sing, and open to

all who try to advance the interests of the town.

After seven years given to the interests of this paper,

Mr. Gleason withdrew from the paper, giving it

wholly into the charge of Fred. G. Barker, who had
been its printer for nearly its whole existence. Mr.
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Gleaaon has, for the last few years, given up his time

to the real estate business, which he hag greatly de-

veloped in this jilace.

Mr. Barker prints several periodicals, employs nine

persons on his miscellaneous work. Having taken

up printing as a recreation, when a boy in school, he

has constantly increiused his facilitios and his skill,

until his office has acquired a rejjutation fur excell-

ent work.

Gas and Electric Light.—The Newton and Water-

town Gas Light Company has one of the best gas and

electric light plants in this State. It is situated on

Water Street, Watertown. The company was organ-

ized March 18, 1854, with a capital of $200,000. The
officers of the company are: President, .Joseph N.

Bacon ; treasurer and clerk, Francis Murdock; direc-

tors, Joseph N. Bacon, George C. Lord, William

Claflin, Francis Murdock, C. C. Walworth, Charles

M. Seaver, John K. Slickney, IT. L. Hovey, Abraham
Avery

;
general superintendent, Waldo A. Learned.

The office of the company is located at No. 421 Cen-

tre Street, Newton, and both Watertown and Newton
are well supplied with light.

They now consume about 4000 tons of coal, in

place of the 400 of the first year, have about sixty

miles of pipe, produce about 44,000,000 feet of gas,

and are rapidly extending their means of lighting by

arc and incandescent electric lights.

Express Business.—T. P. Emerson bought out the

express business of F. E. White in 1867, employing

at first four men and six horses. lie now employs

nine men and twenty-six horses.

J. H. Critchett & Sous, do a large express and

teaming business.

There are also Allen's Railroad Express, Ken-

ney's Express and Nally's Express. The heavy

business of the town requires large freighting and

teaming facilities, which are at hand.

Livery Stables.—Horses for driving can be bad in

almost any number, of Briggs E. Potter, who bought

out G. B. Stockwell in 1885, and by purchasing and

enlarging his buildings, has increased his number of

horses, from eleven of his own with eight boarders, to

twenty-three of his own with thirty boarders. Gen-

tlemen are finding that through him a kind of co-

operative horse-keeping is both more economical and

more convenient than having a stable ou their own
premises. Telephones make it as easy to order one's

horse from Potter's stable, as from his own in his

back yard, where its presence is sometimes not desir-

able.

F. K. Hubbard a few years since bought out Mr.

Kelley.and manages his business in a way to win the

confidence of the public. An attractive line of car-

riages tempt people to drive, and his prices are

reasonable for the teams furnished. The interests of

the community are conserved by this centralization

of this industry to a single location.

Machine- Shops.—There are the machine-shops of the

Empire Laundry Machinery Company, machine shops

for their own use andtlieirown repairs in the Walker
Pratt Manufacturing Company's works, and in the

large paper-mills of the Hollingswortli & Whitney
Paper Company, and also within the grounds of the

.Etna Mills Corporation, where Mr. Mayall's inven-

tive and ingenious mind finds scope in tlie frequent

changes and adaptations rpipiired in that factory. So,

of course tliere are machine-shops witl\in the arsenal

grounds. Tiie public, however, have recourse to only

one machine-shop for general work in this place.

This was started in 1886 on Patten Street, near tlie

railroad, by Matthew Pry or. His principal business

is the manufactnre of small hardware and small nov-

elties, steam fittings, and general jobbing, door-stops,

saw sharpeners for carpenters, parts of electric clocks

and the like. General repairs of lawn-mowers, sewing-

machines, bicycles, in fact, almost anything which

an ingenious man or boy can make, will not be turn-

ed away. This shop, although small, has quite a va-

riety of machine tools, for it is crowded with ma-

chinery which is propelled by a small steam-engine

on the premises. Mr. Pryor has gradually increased

his business as his ingenuity and good nature have

come to be appreciated ; his shop is always a good in-

dustrial school for boys wishing to learn, and, if your

historian is able to judge, is wortliy of much larger

patronage, a larger shop, with more extensive business.

Ross' Carriage and Wagon Eactory.—Ovi Spring

Street, near Main Street, is now located the

carriage factory of John Ross, which is known for its

thorough and substantial work. Heavy express

wagons or the lightest pleasure vehicles have been

made. Dr. Hosmer's carriage, fitted for protection in

bad weather, was made here. So was Dr. Mead's.

Mr. Ross does both the iron-work and also the wood-

work and the painting and finishing at his shop. He
employs four men. Mr. Ross bought out Mr. George
Finneley in 1867. Mr. Ross miide for the town the

hook-and-ladder truck which has seen some service,

and promises to do much more. In contrast with this

oaay be mentioned a buggy which he built, that, when
complete and ready for use, weighed only thirty-seven

pounds.

Boots and Shoes.—Shoe Manufacture.—No large

manufactories have ever been carried on in town.

Little but custom work and repairs have been at-

tempted here. Among those engaged in this business

should be mentioned Mr. A. D. Drew, who generally

supplies foot-wear for any customer who has the

means and the courage to once give him his measure.

Although he expects more pay for his boots and shoes

at the start, it has been found in the end by some of

our shrewdest investors to cost less in the end to be

kept whole-footed.

Mr. Drew began in 1849, on the corner of Pleasant

and Galen Streets. He was alone for one year, then

moved into the upper part of a building that stood

where the post-office now is, where be had three men
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for three yean, liicn no ncciipieil a building where

Lunt A Co.'n ilry-f-iKMU »lore now is. About 1850 he

uuiveil into the buiUliiig on the corner of (iiileii ari<l

Mt. Auburu Strei'tit, where heempioycil live men. He

had iiUo 8t tlie »«nie time a gmall shop in Newton.

In 1801 he moveil iicrosn (.ialen Street to the opposite

corner, where Mr. Sheridan was bis apprentice. Dur-

ing the war he Rmved up-stairs, and employed seven

men. Here he did tlif hirgest business of his life,

loo large to be entirely prolitablo, altlumgh it includ-

ed such jobs as, for instance, thirty-three pairs ol

cavalry bootd at $30 per pair; and boots for nearly

every man in Company K.just before the close of the

war. He, himself, enlisted in May, 186.5, but did not

have occasion to leave Camp White, which was

pitched on Main Street, just beyond the West School-

himse.

Mr. Drew served in the old Fire Department, ol

which for some years he was chief, and where hit-

name will ever be preserved.

He has done gnod work enough for the preserva-

tion and safety of our homes, for temperance and

good order, to say nothing of the stores of good boots

and shoes which he has made, to merit an old age ol

honor and repose.

Painters.—Among the active business men of the

past fifty years may be mentioned Henry Russell,

painter. He began in Brighton, but became estab-

lished in this town in 1847. He employed in his

business of painting, glazing and papering houses,

sometimes as many as thirty men. Many in all the

surrounding towns were familiar with his work,

which was done according to agreement, with en-

ergy and faithfulness. He was chairman of the

parish committee of the First Parish for many years,

serving with equal energy and fiiithfulness till his

death, in 1889.

John Page has for many years followed with credit

the same business which his son George A. Page now

follows, occupying the old Barrett building on Beacon

Square.

CHAPTER XXXV.

WATERTO WN—{^Continued).

SOCIETIES, PHYSICIANS, &C.

Among the societies organized in town for work of

various kinds, social and benevolent, may be named
the following :

Freemasonry in Watkhtown.'—The first Ma-
sonic body organized in Watertown was Meridian

Lodge, chartered Dec. 11,1707, having a jurisdiction

embracing towns between Boston and Concord, and
concerniDg the early history of which little is posi-

> By Allwrto.F. Baynes.

tively known. The late Leonard Whitney, sr., of this

town, was a member, and related that in the troub-

lous times of Masonry it was customary to vary the

place of meetings from town to town, members driv-

ing to the ai>poiiited place, carrying guns with them

to ward olf possible danger. Mr. Whitney at that

time resided near the Acton Powder-mill. He, with

.Asa Stone, Asa Pratt, Mr. Dana, and others who were

early members of Pequossette Lodge, used to delight

in talking over the experiences of the Anti-Masonic

period. Jleridian Lodge lost its original charter and

lodge furnishings by lire, and after several removals

became established permanently in Natick, where it

has fine lodge-rooms and a large membership, being

at the i)re8ent timeoneof the leading and best-working

lodges of the State.

For many years Watertown had no Masonic lodge

prior to the coming of William Webster, as principal

of the High School, from Lexington. He had recently

taken the degrees in Pettee's Lodge (so-called because

its meetings were held in Worshipful Brother Pettee's

house), in West Cambridge, and with the assistance

of old-time Masons obtained a charter for Pequossette

Lodge. He left Watertown several years later, taught

school in Rye, New York, and died in that State four

or five years ago. He was the first Master of Pequos-

sette Lodge, and the first one of its Past-Masters to

die. The original olBcers and members of Pequos-

sette Lodge were as follows: William Webster, W.
M. ; Daniel H. Marslall, S. W. ; Joseph B. Keyes, J.

W.; Henry Derby, Treas. ; Warren J. Lindley, Sec.

;

Henry C. Vose, Chaplain ; George Marsh, Marshal
;

Isaac Wivtts, S. D. ; George K. Hooper, J. D. ; Alfred

Howes, S. S. ; Adolph Lewando, J. S. ; Asa Stone,

Tyler. Members—Asa Pratt, Daniel Howard, Charles

Wilkins, Sewall Hiscock, J. H. Clarke, Robert Mur-

ray, David B. Horn, Samuel Richardson, Daniel

Marshall, George Hill, William Nichols, Horace

Ciark, William B. Fowle, Jr., Leonard Whitney and

George A. Hicks.

The preliminary meeting was held in Constitution

Hall, Dana Block, December 17, 1856. At the next

meeting, January 13, 1857, the name was changed to

Masonic Hall, and the Grand Lodge dispensation

was received and accepted.

The first initiates were George W. Harrington,

Luke Perkins and Miles Pratt, February 13, 1857.

At the next meeting William W. Russell and* John

K. Stickney were the first admitted members. The
latter is now an honorary member.

May 8, 1857, Robert L. Davis and James W. Magee
were given the third degree. Mr. Davis has retained

active membership and a lively interest in tli^ lodge

ever since, and has contributed more than any other

individual member to the success of the lodge.

After working one year under dispensation, in ac-

cordance with Masonic custom, Pequossette Lodge
was duly constituted, December 23, 1857, with im-

pressive ceremonies, by Grand Master JohnT. Heard,
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and at the close about sixty members and guests were

provided with a "bountiful and luxurious" repast, as

the records state, at the tSpriiig Hotel, Samuel Batch-

elder, mine host, being a member of the lodge.

The first death was tliat of Daniel Marshall, who

was buried with Masonic honors, September 3, 1858.

The first public installation was held December 29,

1858. October 14, ISIU, the lodge attended the lay-

ing of the corner-stone of the new iMasouic Temple.

Boston. December 23, 18G4, a public installation

was held in the town hall.

The first meeting in the new hall, Noyes' Block,

was held September 8, 1870, and the hall was dedi-

cated October 5, 1870, an address being delivered in

the town hall by Wor. Bro. John B. (Joodrich.

.January 9, 1890, the lodge occupied, for the first

time, its new and spacious rooms in the Otis building,

of which it holds a ten years' lease. These quarter?

have been dedicated to Freemasonry, and were ar-

ranged especially to meet the needs of Pequoasettt

Lodge.

The total membership has exceeded 300. The

present membership is about 140. The largest num-

ber of members admitted in one year was 24, in 1863.

Of the early members, Robert L. Davis is now alone,

out of 33 admitted to January, 1858 ; and of the 151

admitted during the first ten years, less than 30 re-

main. Among those taking membership or degrees

were Rev. Dr. Luther T. Townsend, of Watertown
;

the late Rev. Bradford K. Peirce, of Newton, editor ot

lion's Herald ; James S. Allison, Jonas Chenery, oi

Belmont ; George K. Snow, .Joseph Crafts, George

Sleeper, and a large number of the active business

men and influential citizens of the town.

List of Past Mii-sters : William Webster, 1858-59;

Robert L. Davis, 1860-t51, 1870-71; William J. Un-

derwood, 1862 ; Thomas N. Hooper, 1863-64 ; Joseph

Sanger, jr., 1865; John B.Goodrich, 1866; William

H. Clark, 1867; Charles W. Stone, 1868-69; Charles

T. Perkins, 1872 ; Charles Brigham, 1873-74; Samuel

F. Stearns, 1875-76; Robert F. Home, 1877-78;

Charles H. Bradlee, 1879; Benjamin H. Dow, 1880-

81 ; Isaac Harrington, 1882-83 ; George H. Tarlton,

1884-85; George G. Davidson, 1886; Alberto F.

Haynes, 1887-88.

The officers at present are as follows : Herbert H.

Sawyer, W. M. ; Frederick E. Critchett, 8. W. ; Ben-

jamin W. Brown, J. W. ; Charles W. Stone, Treasurer

;

George F. Robinson, Secretary; Rev. William H.

Savage, Chaplain ; Robert L. Davis, Marshal ; Charles

F. Bustin, S. D. ; John JI. Johnson, J. D. ; James H.

Fraser, I. S. ; Freeman H. Edgcomb, Tyler. The

Treasurer has held the office for twenty years, and the

Tyler for twenty-five years.

While Pequossette Lodge has been established

only thirty-three years, it is older than any other

secret society of this town, although at present there

are a dozen or more of these, founded mainly as in-

surance organizations. The Masonic Lodge has held

a steady, even tenor, and is to-day better situated and
enjoying a greater degree of prosperity than ever be-

fore. Its record is naturally of an individualii'.ed

character, representing the social and fraternal phase

of men who have left, or are making, their imprint on

our growing comnumity. Its regular meeting is held

the second 'J'hursday in each month, and there are

Saturday evening gatherings of a distinctively social

nature in the lodge apartments.

Opd-Fellows.'—Lafayette Lodge, No. 31, Inde-

pendent Order of Odd-Fellows, was instituted and
charter granted the 26th of January, 1844. The lodge

prospered until 1850, and in 1852 the charter was

surrendered. Nothing was done until .\pril 1, 1863,

when the charter was returned and the lodge rein-

stated, since which time it has continually prospered,

and has met with considerable success, the member-

ship now being 138. There have been and are now
enrolled upon the books the names of men who have

been prominent and closely connected with Water-

town. It has initiated over 400 men into its ranks,

and has the honor of being the mother of three

lodges. Of its.work little can be said, as the order of

Odd-Fellows is a secret organization. But suffice it

to say that in all its history there has never been a

brother injured or harmed by it, but, on the contrary,

many have been benefited by it, and that must mean
that it has helped to make better men, better citizens

and a better town. Upon the roll-books are the

names of Thomas L. French, just deceased, and
William H. Ingraham, who have the honor of being

members for over forty years, a record which all Odd-

Fellows feel proud of. The objects of the order are

clearly defined and embodied in these few words,

viz.: To visit the sick, to relieve the distressed, to.

bury the dead and to educate the orphan. This, so

far as he can, every Odd-Fellow tries to perform.

Oflicers for 1890 : H. H. Powell, N. G. ; J. W. New-
comb, Per. Sec.

The Young Men's Christian Association.''—
The Young Men's Christian Association of Water-

town was organized in March, 1887, having for its

object the promotion of the spiritual, social, intellec-

tual and physical welfare of young men.

Rooms were secured in W. H. Lyman's new block,

then in process of erection, and a lease taken for three

years.

The rooms were opened, in a fittiug'manner, on Sep-

tember 3d, of the same year, with a consecration ser-

vice in the morning, after which they were open to

inspection of the public. At 12 m. an address was

delivered in the Town Hall by Rev. L. W. Munhall,

D.D., and a reception to the public in the evening,

when refreshments were served to 800 people.

Mr. George S. Turner was elected the first presi-

dent of the association, and served three years. Fred.

G. Barker was elected in 1890. The president has been

'By Charle8 H. Rollina. -'By James E. Norcross.
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ably supported by au f;iriicst corjia oi vnuiig men,

and tlie As.suci«tiou h:is pronpercd.and been tbe means,

by tbe blessing of liod, of doing niuob good for tbe

young men of tbe town.

Mr. H. L. Peabody, of llaverbill, Mass., was the

first general secretary, and since January 20, 1890,

Mr. J. E. Norcross, of Watertown, has been the gen-

eral secretary. Tbe E.\ecutive Committee, alive to

the needs of tbe young men, rented new quarters in

the Otis Itldck and ninved into Ibeni July 1, 1890.

Tbe unceaiiug demands of the Association were

thus met for a time and great encouragement given to

prosecute the work.

The four rooms thus secured are a reading-room,

where may be found a choice collection of reading

nitilter, open to young men from 9.30 a.m. to 9.30

P.M. ; a lecture room, with au oflice for the General

Secretary, in which are held the various services of

the Association, also lectures and practical talks ; a

small room to be used as a study and library; and a

room to be devoted to boys' work.

Tbe Association has a nourishing Ladies' Auxil-

iary connected with it, under the leadership of its

president, Mrs. Alfred Turner; also an orchestra,

which contributes a great deal to the attractiveness of

the Association's services and socials.

The finances have been ably managed, and the

close of each year has found « balance in the hands

of the treasurer.

The membership of the Association is, October,

1890, 2.i0; and the officers at present are as follows:

President, Fred. G. Barker ; Vice-Presidents, F. G.

Barker, H. S. Wood, T. G. Banks ; Rec. Secretary,

B. M. Shaw ; Cor. Secretary, W. L. Rockwell ; Treas-

urer, S. Henry Coombs ; Gen'l Secretary, Jas. E.

Korcross.

"The SoriETY for the Relief of the Sick''

was organized in the year 1816, during the pastorate

of the Rev. Richard Rofieweli Eliot, when all the

towns-people worshipped in one meeting-house. A
severe epidemic bad visited the town, after which it

was thought wise to have articles on hand for loaning

in cases of sickness and also to have a fund which

could be drawn upon in cases of need. For those

days this was a new departure, and deserves tbe merit

of originality. The following was its first appeal:
" Donations in money, old garments, bedding, articles

suitable to be made up for children, nourishment for

the sick, and fuel, will be gratefully received by tbe

directors and appro])riated according to their best

judgment." Its officers for the years 1816-1817 were

:

Mrs. Eliakim Morse, president ; Miss Caroline How-
ard, vice-president; Miss Martha Robbins, secretary

;

Mrs. N. Bern is, jr., treasurer.

Its directors were : Mrs. R. R. Eliot, Mrs. Luke
Bemis, Mrs. Isaac Dana, Mrs. Stearns, Mrs. A. Blake,

Mrs. Jonathan Stone, jr., Mrs. Robbins, Mrs. Abijah
White, Mrs. Gay, Mrs. Bigelow, Miss Katherine Hunt,
Miss H. L. Coolidge.

One hundred and six of the principal ladies in

town became members of the society, each paying the

annual fee of one dollar.

During the years that have passed since, many have

made siib.stanlial gifts to the society, and some of the

older inhabitants at their deaths have left small lega-

cies to be added to its funds. Among these gifts we

may mention that of Lydia Maria Child, which is a

pleasant reminder of her tender memory for the peo-

ple among whom she pas.«ed a portion of her earlier

life with her brother, Dr. Francis.

Thus this society has grown steadily, down to the

present time, doing its work quietly, but efficiently.

It assists all deserving poor, irrespective of creed or

race, and loans its articles ot use for the sick to any

who wish then).

Its meetings are monthly, in the afternoon, at the

houses of its members. Donations of any amount are

always welcomed and will be well applied.

Its present officers are: Ruth A. Bradford, presi-

dent; Emily Robbins, vice-president; Margaret V.

Kendall, secretary; Abby V. Barry, treasurer.

The Women's Christian Temperance Union
OF Watertown was the result of prayer and an

earnest awakening on the part of Christian women to

the sin of the drink habit, and its terrible effects upon

the individual and the home.

This Union was organized in 1875, very soon after

the organization of the National Union.

The first general officers were Mrs. D. A. Taiuter,

Jlrs. Abbott, wife of Rev. Granville Abbott, who was

then pastor of tbe Baptist Church, Mrs. Joseph Bark-

er, and Mrs. John Hall.

The first year's membership was ninety-nine. The
first work was to help the Reform Club, visit the sa-

loon-keepers, and assist the family of thelinebriate.

Very soon it was found that preventive work must

be done, and efforts were directed towards the forma-

tion of a better public sentiment in regard to the

social and medicinal use of alcoholic liquors, and con-

cerning the traffic which makes the inebriate.

With this end in view the Union has given great

prominence to tbe distribution of literature showing

the effects of alcoholic poisons upon tbe system, the

extent of the drink traffic, and the iniquitous power

of the saloon. Many petitions have been circulated,

and able speakers have been secured from time to

time to present various phases of the Temperance
question.

The Union is gratified in having been an instru-

ment in removing wine from the Communion Table

of the Methodist, the Congregational and the Baptist

Churches; in obtaining hundreds of signatures to the

pledge, and the introductionof Scientific Temperance
Instruction in the Public Schools. By persistent ef-

fort of tbe Union, Watertown was one of the first six

towns of the State to place in the hands of the pupils

of the Public Schools text-books giving such instruc-

tion.
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Among other departments of their work which have

received attention from the Union, are Sabbath Ob-

servance, Evangelistic work, Police Station and the

Almshouse Franchise and Flower Missions.

The present membership is seventy-seven,with four-

teen honorary male members.

List of officers : President, Mrs. S. Elizabeth Chase
;

Vice-Presidents, Mrs. Arminda S. Hall, Mrs. Persis

H.'fainter, Mrs. Sarah J. Stone, Mrs. Lizzie G. Dimick,

Mrs. Helen Greene, Mrs. Mary F. Rand, Mrs. Flor-

ence Dutton, Mrs. Sarah H. Berry, Mr.^. Eliza M.

Teele, Mrs. Alice A. U. Phipps ; Recording Secretary,

Mrs. Frances D. Niles; Corresponding Secretary, Mrs.

Sarah H. Carter; Treasurer, Mrs. Angeline C. Craw-

ford.

The Young Men's Assembly.—Several gentlemen

called an informal meeting in May, 1888, in the

hall of the Grand Army, to consider the formation

of a society which should have for its object the busi-

ness and social upbuilding of the town. The invita-

tions to this meeting were given by L. S. Cleveland

and Chester Sprague, seconded by the young men
who belonged to a Bible class in the Methodist Epis-

copal Sunday-school, and others to whom they made
known their object. The first suggestions of such an

organization were perhaps made to this class, known
as the Young Men's Assembly of the Methodist Epis-

copal Church, of which Mr. Cleveland was president.

Each member of the class heartily endorsed the pro-

posed plan of enlarged action and agreed to support

it earnestly. The plan had also been discussed with

others and approved by Samuel S. Gleason, Benj. H.
Dow, Chester Sprague, George E. Priest, and Rev. W.
G. Richardson, who kindly lent their aid and influence.

By the personal efforts of these and others spoken

to, the informal meeting in May proved to be a suc-

cess, and the organization since known as the Young
Men's Assembly was formed with a membership, the

first evening, of forty. The first regular meeting was

held in June, with a membership limited to sixty.

This limit has been raised at successive periods till

now it stands at one hundred and seventy-five, with a

list of names waiting to be added when there are va-

cancies. Included in the scope and work of this as-

sembly is the creation of a Board of Trade, now con-

sisting of George E. Priest, Samuel S. Gleason, Ward
M. Otis, George C. Lunt and Chester Sprague. This

organization has been recognized by the business as-

sociations of the State and delegates chosen to repre-

sent the same in the State Convention of the Boards

of Trade.

This assembly has awakened interest in other

towns, for, after visiting this, gentlemen of other

towns have formed similar organizations. It was

originally proposed to encourage the introduction of

matters of business in which any were interested,

which seemed important to themselves or to

others, or to make suggestions that might prove of

value to others, especially to the town. It adopted

27-iii

an idea embodied in the Chase Banquet Association,

which had proved eminently successful—"the better-

ment of its members," from a business standpoint as

well as an educational one. Its object is social and
business improvement. Its meetings have been held

one evening of each month ; they begin with a sim-

ple banquet, and an hour spent in social converse,

foliowed by addresses by members or invited guests.

So far the s[)irit most actively developed has been

to encourage all kinds of mutual helpfulness both in

personal and municipal affairs. It may be too soon

to say that the spirit of self-seeking and mutual fault-

finding has disappeared from the town, and a hab:t

of self-denying helpfulness of others has taken its

place; but your historian should simply acknowledge
that this is true of the leader of this iissembly, L. S.

Cleveland, now re-elected its president for the third

year, by a unanimous and most persistent vote.

The officers for 1890-91 are the same as from the

first : L. S. Cleveland, president ; S. 8. Gleason and
Chester Sprague, vice-presidents ; F. W. Cobb, secre-

tary and treasurer.

Miscellaneous Societies.—Among the other so-

cieties organized in town are the following:

Young Men's Catholic Association, orgSimzeA in 1889.

—Michael J. Green, president; James J. McCafTerty,

secretary.

Isaac B. Patten Post, 81, Qrand Army of the lie-

pubiio.—J. R. Harrison, commander ; George F. Rob-
inson, adjutant.

Isaac B. Patten Women's Relief Corps, .59.—Mrs. A.

M. Condon, president ; Miss Edith M. Smith, secre-

tary.

Arthur B. Fuller Camp, 102, Sons of Veterans.—
Established in 1889. A. F. Nutting, captain ; G.
Westley Priest, first sergeant.

Abraham Lincoln Commandery, 67, United Order of
the Golden Cross.—Instituted in 1879. ,1. H. L. Coon,

N. C. ; A. J. Coolidge, K. of R.

Charles River Court, Mass., Catholic Order of For-

esters, 1883.—James J. Barnes, C. R. ; John Hurlihey,

secretary.

Local Branch, 393, Order Iron Hall, 1886.—E. F.

Pratt, C. J. ; George S. Parker, accountant.

Franklin Association, 19, Northern Mutual Relief As-

sociation.—Vresm^n H. Edgecomb, president; W. H.
Pevear, secretary.

Watertown Lodge, 70, Ancient Order United Work-
men, 1889.—Thomas Perkins, master workman

; Ap-
pleton Phipps, recorder.

British America Association, 6.5, 1889.—J. H.
Looker, president ; G. S. Thomson, secretary.

Watertown Mutual Relief Association, 1880.—M. M.
Walsh, president ; M. P. Hynes, secretary.

Watertown Non-Partisan Woman's Suffrage League,

1887.—Dr. S. Adelaide Hall, president; Mrs. Alice

A. C. Phipps, secretary and treasurer.

Unitarian Club—Organized in 1888. Julian A.
Mead, president; J. C. Brimblecon, secretary.
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WfJnetday Club—SiUrted in 1«8S by Arthur M.

Kmipp, it« firxl prt-sulfnt. Wni. Ciisliiiig, president;

Ellen -M. Criilti*, Hecrolary.

Hitlurioil Sui-ie(y of Watrrtown, entabliBhed in 1888.

AllreJ Hosmer, M.IV, presitlent ; Rev. K. A. Rand,

vice-president; Solon F. Whitney, secretary and

treasurer. It has at present lilly-two members.

Chtirkf A'irer i'lmncit, St!, A. /,. 0/ //., 1879.—Com.,

Mfiirv SliplHrm; Secretary, Wm. .T. Quincy.

linaril of TtiuIi-. 18811.—S. S. Cileason, (ieorge C.

Lunt, W. M. Otis, (ieorge K. Prie.ft, (.'he.fter Spraguc.

lAulies' Benevolent .Unm-iation, connecteil with the

First I'arish. Miss Kinily Robbin.s, president; Mr«.

.1. F. Itreen, secretary.

fit Lnie's //'line /or C/i/A/zrH.—Arlington and Alt.

Auburn Streets. Sisters Annie and iMary in charge.

Toifii Improixinnil Soci>ly, 1H83.—Ward M. Otis,

president; Wm. H. Ingraham, clerk.

SouROF-s OF Information Concerning the Old
Town" ok Watkrtown, Mas.s.'— I have endeavored

to collect into the following list the more important

sdurcc.-i of information which couid be profitably ex-

amined by the Historical Society of Walertowii, in

its study into the history of that ancient township.

.\8 a matter of convenience they have been grouped

somewhat chronologically, and after the dates of

separation, under the headings of Watertown, Walt-

ham and Weston.

The six 4to vols, of The Records of the Governor

and Company of the Massachusetts Bay in New
England, from ir>28-8(), published by the State in

1853-54, contain much material of the greatest im-

portance. The Massachusetts State Archives on file

in the office of the Secretary of State at the State

House, contain a mass of original papers, the most of

which have never been printed. Here in vol. V, p.

32 of Maps and Plans, is the oldest ^ known map

of the town. This bears the date of 1720, when the

town still included Waltham. It shows the location

of all the houses of that time, and gives the names

of the occupants of some of them. A commission

made an extended report in print to the State in 1885,

upon the nature and present condition of these ar-

chives.

The orginal records of John Hull, treasurer of the

Colony, ]67.')-80, are in the po.ssession of the New
England Historic (ienealogical Society. Watertown

town records, the earliest extant, begin on page 2 of

the record-book, with the date of 1634. From Nov.

28, 1643, to Nov. 9, 1047, the transactions of the town

are lost. A faithful transcript of the earlier records

of the town were made by Mr. Joseph Crafts. A copy

of the records down to 1651, was printed in the Waier-

' Bjr Dr. Bonuott F. Uavonport, with addttioiiH by the editor.

STIiero is an older map of a small portion, the soutliwoRt rorner,

"callwl Nonesuch," which fixes two of the throe main lines of the old

town, in position and direction, and is in vol. 3, p. 1.

This bears date Sept. 26, 1C87, when Weston was still a part of the

(own, and Wellesley was a part of Dodham.

fawn PequoeseHe, beginning with the number for July

18, 1879.

The town's earliest extant record-book of births,

marriages and deaths appears from its title page to

have been opened in 1(')48, although it has had tran-

scribed into it some records of an earlier date. These

latter are also upon the Suttblk County Records and

have been printed in the sixth and seventh volumes of

theNcw Knglaud Historical and Genealogical Register.

In preparing his History of Watertown, Dr. Bond

had faithful copies of all these earlier town records

taken, which since his death have been deposited

with the New England Historic Genealogical Society

in Boston. The Society also have his own personal

copy of his history, with his collection of errata and

addenda thereto, which would make another volume

nearly half as large as the published history.

The records of the Watertown church, organized

,Fuly 28, 1630, and next to that of Salem, the oldest

in the Colony of Massachusetts Bay, are not at pres-

ent known to be extant prior to those of 1686-92,

which were kept by the Rev. John Bailey.

The files of the Suflblk and Middlesex Court, as

well as those of Probate and Registry of Deeds, con-

tain a mass of depositions often containing matter of

great historical interest. The original volumes of

Records of U. S. District Tax of 1798, which are in

the library of the N. E. Historical Society, give all

taxable polls.

Rev. C. Mather's Magnalia, published in 1702, con-

tains many biographies and notes of interest to Wa-
tertown, as also Governor John Winthrop's Journal,

or History of New England, 1630-49.

The Massachusetts Historical Society's Collections

and Proceedings.

The American Antiquarian Society Collection.

The New Elngland Historical and Genealogical

Register and Memorial Biographies.

Magazine of American History—valuable articles.

Eliot's, Allen's and Drake's Biograj)hical Diction-

aries.

Thatcher's Medical Biography.

New England Prospects, by W. Wood, published

London, 1634.

History of New England, 1628-52, by Ed. Johnson,

London, 1654.

Letters from New England, by John Dunton.

Churches of New England, in the American Quar-

terly Register, Vol. XI.

Prince Society publications.

Hutchinson's, Barry's and Palfrey's Histories of

Massachusetts and of New England.

Hubbard, W. : History of New England to 1680.

Drake, S. G. : Five Years' French and Indian War
in New England.

Alex. Young's Chronicles of the First Planters of

the Colony of Massachusetts Bay, 1623-36 ; also for

reference his Chronicles of the Pilgrim Fathers of the

Colony of Plymouth.



WATERTOWN. 419

Force's Tracts.

Narrative and Critical History of America, edited

by Justin Winsor.

Watketown.

President Sam. Landoii'.s Election Sermon before

Congress, in Watertown, witli Historical Notes, pub-

lished in 1775.

Dr. C. Francis, Historical Sketch, delivered on the

second Centennial Anniversary of the town, IS^iU.

Dr. C. Francis, three Historical Sermons upon

leaving the old and dedication of the new church,

1836.

Barber's Massachusetts Historical Collection, 1840.

Bond's Genealogies and History, 2d ed., 1860.

Rev. A. B. Fuller's Records of First Parish, 1861.

Harris's Epitaphs from the Old Burying-Ground in

'Watertown, 1869.

Drake's Middlesex County, 1880.

250th Anniversary of First Parish, with address by

A. M. Knapp, 1881.

Tea Leaves. With Introduction by Francis S. Drakej

Boston, 1884.

The Cambridge of 1776, with the Diary of Dorothy

Dudley. Edited for the Ladies' Centennial Commit-

tee, by A[rthur] G[ilman].

Waltham.

Topographical and Historical Description, by Rev.

Sam. Ripley. Massachusetts Historical Society Col-

lection, 1815.

Churches of America, Quarterly Register, 1839.

Barber's Historical Collection, 1840.

Epitaphs, by J. B. Bright, in N. E. Historical and

Genealogical Register, 1865-66.

July 4th Historical Address, by Josiah Rutter,

1877.

Waltham, its past and present; and its industries.

With a historical sketch of Watertown. By Charles

A. Nelson, 1879.

In Drake's Middlesex County History, by A. Star-

buck, 1880.

Waltham City, by Eph. L. Barry, 1887.

Historical Notes in Waltham Free Press, [by Fran-

cis Leathe, of N. Y.] in 187-.

Weston.

1st Centennial Anniversary Sermon, by Rev. Sam.

Kendall, 1813.

Churches of America, Quarterly Register, Vol. XL,
1839.

Petition of 1735, to Legislature, to join with neigh-

boring part of Concord and Lexington to form New-
ton, N. E. Historical and Genealogical Register, 1858.

Barber's Historical Collection, 1840.

50th Anniversary of Settlement of Rev. Jas. Field,

with Historic Address, by Rev. E. H. Sears, 1865.

July 4th Oration, by Charles H. Fiske, 1876.

In Drake's Middlesex Couniy History, by C. A.

Nelson, 1880.

Norumbega, by J. Winsor, in Massachusetts His-

torical Proceedings, No. 22.

Norumbega, by A. B. Berry, in Magazine of Ameri-

can History, Vol. XVI.
Norumbega, by J. H. Colby, pamphlet.

The Problem of the Northmen, by E. N. Horsford.

The discovery of the ancient City of Norumbega.
E. N. Horsford. [Edition i)rivately printed and
beautifully illustrated. Special copy belonging to

the society.]

Physicians.—The information respecting the phy-

sicians of Watertown in early times, during the first

hundred years, is very scanty, and their number very

few. We have not discovered that any of the pastors

of Watertown practiced the healing art, which was
not unusual in early times. James Sherman, of Sud-
bury, son of Rev. John Sherman, of Watertown, was
a pastor and a physician, and two of his sons, John
and Thomas, were physicians, and were said to be

some time of Watertown ; but in 1708 they resided

in Springfield.

The earliest notice of any medical practice was
March, 1630-31, when "Nicholas Knapp was (by the

court) fined £5 for taking upon him to cure the scurvy

by a water of no value, which he sold at a very dear

rate." Probably his only medical education had been,

like that of his numerous followers, to study the cred-

ulity of Human nature, and how he might most suc-

cessfully dupe it. Mr. Simon Eire, " chirurgeon," was
the first physician of Watertown, where he resided

about ten years, 1635 to 1645, when he moved to

Boston. As there is no evidence that there was any
other physician resident of Watertown for many years

afterwards, it is not improbable that he sometimes
visited it professionally, as he retained his estate

there. But if there were no physicians, their place

was supplied by some of the goodwives. Grace, wife

of John Livermore, was an obstetrician, and she was
sometimes summoned to court as a witness in cases

where she had acted professionally.

Daniel Mason, youngest son of Capt. Hugh Mason,
graduated at Harvard College in 1666, was a physi-

cian, living as late as 1679, but it is not known
whether he ever practiced medicine in Watertown.

He was captured by an Algerine, and is supposed to

have died in Algiers. (Bond's MS. notes to his own
history.)

In the County Court files is a petition of the select-

men of Watertown, dated 1690, in which they say that

S. G. came from Cambridge to Watertown, " to the

home of Ellis Barron whose wife had skill in matters

of surgery."

The next physician after Dr. Eire was Dr. Philip

Shattuck, who prob.ably practiced there from about

1670 to 1722. He resided in the northeast part of

Waltham.

Dr. Pallgrave Wellington was his contemporary, be-

ing only five years younger than Dr. Shattuck. He
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residetl on the Oiimbridge road, on or near the loU) of
]

G. Cliiinli and W. Wooliot. He ilied I7\r,.
|

Or. Rirhird H'<opcr was a contenip.iniry of Drs.

Slmttuok and Wellington, and resided al the east of

Mt. Auburn. He died early in 169«. His son Henry

wa» a physician of Watertown a few years, and about

1723 he moved to Newport, Rhode Island.

Jh. Jimiih Cuiiirrs. from Woburn, settled in Water-

town probably about the time of the deiease of Dr.

Shattuek and the removal of D. H. Hooper. We
have not aseertftined where he resided, but perhaps it

was the residence afterwards occupied by his nephew,

pupil, legatee aiul e.xecutor. Dr. Marshall Spring. He

died in 1774, after a residence probably of nearly fifty

years. (I$oud, page 1('74.)

The following is the epitaph on the stone resting

horizontally upon pillars, over Dr. Convers' grave in

the village burying-ground

:

" To llio nnicli bonortid and rcspertfl moniory of

JoSIAII COSVKRK, KSQ.,

wlio, by divine |»Tiiiifaio[i, renigni'il his viilnuble life Augnst, 1774, aged

7.1."

"If real nimlinil iilnlilinB, iiniti-d with dvpr.v hiinuiii and wicial virtue,

the most active oxtenaivo generosit}-, nniverwil lienevoliMireand charity,

may desorve to outline the Panegyric ol a uldering stone, the envy of

the grave and the devouring tooth of lime, certainly the Virtues and

many excellences which distinguish the character of Dr. Convers are

very eminently entitled to Buch a jioculiar tribute frcun the grateful

Public.
" This honest stone, what few vain marbles can.

May truly say, here lies anhonest man."

JJr. Marshall Spring was born in Watertown, Feb.

19, 1741-2, graduated at Harvard College in 1762,

and died Jan. 11, 1818, aged seventy-six years. He re-

ceived great assistance from his materiial uncle, Dr.

Josiah Convers, with whom he studied medicine, and

whose property he afterwards inherited. Francis says,

"Dr. Spring became one of the most distinguished

physicians in the country ; and perhaps no one can

be mentioned in whosejudgment and skill a more un-

reserved confidence was placed. His practice was

very extensive, and his house was the resort of great

numbers of patients from the neighboring and from

distant towns."

Says Thatcher, " His mind was not filled by fashion-

able theories of the day any further than they ac-

corded with his own views of practice. His natural

sagacity or force of judgment led him to deep and

critical observations into the causes and nature of

diseases, and their remedies. He asked few questions,

used his eyes rather than his ears, seemed to gain

knowledge of each particular case by intuition. He
often effected cures by directing changes of habit, of

diet, of regimen. He used little medicine, always

giving nature fair i)lay. Though differing from his

neighbors politically, being a decided Tory at the

time of the Kevolution, he was early on the ground at

Lexington, skillfully attending the wounded. It was

said that he would have been sent out of the country,

had not his services been so valuable, so indispensa-

ble to his patients.

In 1789 he was a member of the State Convention

which adopted the Constitution of the Ilnited States,

which he opposed, never having believi^d in the

capacity of the people for self-government. He w:ih

for several years a member of the Executive Council

of Massachusetts, and discharged his duties with

talent and fidelity.

Dr. Spring was in his person rather short, but com-

pact and well proportioned; always a fine-looking

man ; after the age of fifty, till the time of his death,

he was spoken of as one of the handsomest men of his

time. His habits of living were a model for others.

He used food and drink for nourishment, not for

gratification of appetite. His meals were frugal, his

board, though hospitable, was never spread with

luxuries. He was careful in his investments. It is

said that he once remarked that real properly had

always something to show for one's money, while other

property might vanish. He built the Spring Hotel

for his friend, Col. Richardson, a famous hotel-keeper,

whom he wished to retain in town. He left $2(10,00(1

or $800,000 to his son, but nothing to religious or

charitable institutions.

He was a wit, keen and (juick at repartee. Chief

Justice Parsons delighted to measure wea])ons with

him in the keen encounter of wit. The onsets of

the chief justice were rapid, keen and overwhelm-

ing. The replies of the doctor were moderate, pun^

gent, successful. Their meetings sometimes happened

in the presence of a large company, who remained

silent, delighted to see the giants play."

Waller Hnnnewell, M.D., the subject of this sketch,

was probably descended from Roger Hunnewell, who
came to New England not long after the settlement of

the Massachusetts Colony. In the early records the

name was spelled at various times Hunniwell, Hun-

nuel, Honywell and Hunnewell. Dr. Hunnewell was

born in Cambridge, Augu.% 10, 1769, and received his

early education in the public schools of that town.

Though only six years of age when the Revolutionary

War began, he was old enough before its close to re-

ceive impressions which enabled him to remember

some of its more important events. He graduated at

Harvard in 1787, in the class with John (^uincy

Adams, William Cranch, Thaddeus Mason Harris

James Lloyd and Samuel Putnam. He studied

medicine with Dr. Marshall Spring, of Waltham, and

settled in Watertown. The medical school of Harvard

College had, at that time, scarcely entered on its

career and the offices of leading physicians were the

schools of instruction for young men preparing for

the practice of medicine. The first graduate from

the Harvard Medical School was in 1788, and in that

and the three succeeding years the graduating class

had but one member, and not until 1813 did it con-

tain more than four members. The life of Dr. Hun-
newell was for the most part the usual one of medical

men of his day. The town in which he settled was

small and his practice was scattered^ covering a terri-
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tory which ineliuluil some of llio neighboring towns

and involving almost incessant rides by day and night

and unremitting labor. Like other medical men, too,

of his time, his practice included bolh medical and

surgical cases, and involved the treatment of cjvses

of much wider range than are found under the care

of a single man to-day since the divorce of sur-

gery from medicine and the division of general

practice into specialties. The consequence was that

physicians of the period referred to had a more com-

plete medical education than is to be found, especially

in the cities and their neighborhood, in our day, and

thus Dr. Huiinewell became a thoroughly educated,

widely informed and skillful man. In another re-

spect, too, the physician's career of his time diflered

from that of to-day. Not only were medical fees of

smaller proportions if i)aid in money, but many ol

then) in the country towns were satisfied by country

pay, eggs and butter and chickens from the farmer,

tea and coll'ee from the grocer, and preaching from

the minister.

The practice of Dr. Hunneweil furnished no ex-

ception to the general rule and his cellar and larder

were largely supplied by means of no other circulat-

ing medium than medicine, the tooth-puller and pills.

Upon such a practice, however, he thrived, and in

such a practice he continued actively at work until

he was eighty years of age. He was for many years

the only physician in Watertown, and as his reputa-

tion widened be became a frequent visitor to the sick-

beds of Newton and Cambridge and Waltham. He
was a devotee to his profession, permitting himself to

take no active part in the public affairs of either town

or State. As a Whig in politics he rejoiced in the

success of his party ; as a Unitarian in theology he

was interested in the welfare of his church; as a

Mason he share<l the duties as well as the labors of

his order. He was a man of unswerving integrity,

of commendable liberality, of cultivated tastes, a

kind neighbor, a good friend, a thoroughly respected

citizen.

Dr. Hunneweil married. May 12, 1800, Susannah

Cook, of Newton, and his children were Jane, born

June 23, 1801, who married John A. Underwood, and

Horatio Hollis, born July 27, 1810. The last-named

child, Horatio Hollis Hunneweil, as a merchant has

had an eminently successful career. At the age of

fifteen he entered the banking-house of Welles & Co.,

in Paris, France, and there remained until 1839, when

he was twenty-nine years of age. Samuel Welles,

the head of the firm of Welles & Co., was born in

Natick, Massachusetts, April 22, 1778, and graduated

at Harvard in 1796. He married, in London, in

1816, Adeline, daughter of John Fowie, of Water-

town, Mass., and died in Paris in August, 1841. Ar-

nold Welles, uncle of Samuel, was born in Boston,

December 25, 1727, and had a son, John, born in

September, 1764, who married, iu 1794, Abigail

Welles, sister of Samuel. The ninth child of John

Welles, named Isabella Pratt, born September 7, 1812,

married, in Paris, December 24, 1835, Horatio Hollis

Hunneweil, mentioned above. Mrs. Hunneweil in-

herited the Wellesestate, in that part of Natick which

is now Wellesley, and Mr. Hunneweil has m.-idc large

additions by purchase until it now includes about six

hundred acres. This estate, occupied during thesum-

mer by Mr. Hunneweil and also in separate houses

by his married children, lies on both sides of the road

leading from the Wellesley Station to Natick. That

part of it occupied by Mr. Hunneweil himself lies on

the borders of Wellesley Pond, on the other side of

which arc the grounds of Wellesley College. The

mansion built by him stands out of sight from the

road, and is reached by an avenue winding through

spacious lawns and shaded by ornamental and forest

trees, which reminds the visitor of the approaches to

some of the best estates in England. Mr. Huniu'well

inherits from his father a t:iste for horticulture, wliiidi

his abundant means enable him to gratify, and as he

walks through his almost endless green-houses he

points out his rare varieties of fruit and flowers with

undisguised enthusiasm and fondles them with the

tenderness of a parent in his children's nursery. Dr.

Hunneweil, of whom this sketch is written, died in

Watertown, October 19, 1855, at tjie .age of eighty-

six.

JDr. Hiram Hoitmer was born in Walpole, N. H.,

September 4, 1798. He was one of twelve children

of Jonas Hosmer (1758-1840), a farmer ; Jonas was the

son of Jonathan, bijrn in 1712, who had a brother who

was a noted surveyor, and was the son of Stephen, who

was the son of Stephen (1642). who was the son of

James (1607-85), who came from Hawkhurst, in Kent,

England, about twelve miles from Dover. James was

in Concord, Mass., in ]()35, took the oath of freeman

in Boston, May 17, 1637, and settled on the right bank

of the river north of Darby's bridge, on farm lately

occupied by Elijah Hosmer. James, the son of this

first James, was killed in the Sudbury fight in 1676.

As a boy he worked on his father's farm, occasion-

ally for neighbors, at a compensation which seemed

to him in better days, ridiculously meagre. He
learned the trade of cabinet-maker, which he after-

wards abandoned for medicine. His education was at

first at a district school, oue term at an academy, and

afterwards with the celebrated Dr. Amos Twitchell,

of Keene, N. H. He afterwards spent some mouths

under the tuition of Drs. Hale and Walk ins, in Troy,

N. Y. Hp, attended lectures in lioston and received his

degree from Harvard University in 1824. It was in this

very year(1824) that he established himself in Water-

town, where he remained until his death, April 15,

1862, which was from abdominal disease. Many liv-

ing remember the kind face of the old doctor, and

say that the portrait recently presented to the Public

Library of Watertown, by his nephew, Dr. Hir.im

Hosmer, is a faithful and life-like picture. Most have

an incorrect idea of the cause of his death, for many
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year* before, "diirinj,' 11 convalescence from typhoid

fever, he had iin incomplete heniipleRia of the right

Bide. In April, 1850, he had a light attack which

slightly benumbed the right arm. In February, 1860,

he had a cerebral hu-morrhiige, which two of the most

eminent of the profession thought must speedily prove

fatal. Contrary to all reasonable expectation, he ral-

lied, instead of sinking, and early in the summer was

able to walk and ride out ; and two years and two

months afterward he died of abdominal disease."

He had a successful career ; a large experience, great

profes-sional tact, a ready and correct judgment, an

appreciation of " Nature in Disease," and a perfect

comprehension of, and devotion to the highest inter-

ests of medicine, in the best sense of the term.

One writes of him :
" He was esteemed wherever he

was known. He was not a great book-man, but was

a diligent student of nature, and ever studied care-

fully the diagnosis of his patients, as well as the mode

of treatment. He was judicious in the treatment of

the sick, not afraid of powerful medicines when such

were really needed, but more commonly employed

mild remedies."

Dr. Hosmer was married, September6, 1827, to Sarah

Watson Grant, of Walpole, N. H., who died in 1836.

Of four children, the youngest only survives all her

family, and is now the distinguished sculptress, Har-

riet Hosmer. She was born October 9, 1830; being

naturally of a delicate constitution, her treatment and

early education well illustrates the good sense and

wisdom of her father, and should be mentioned here.

He encouraged her to pursue a course of physical

training unusual to her sex. If half the stories cur-

rent among the people are true, she must have aston-

ished the older people by her daring riding, sometimes

standing on her dashing horse as he tore through the

street. At an early age she began modeling in clay.

Having completed her school education, she took a

regular course in anatomical instruction at the Medi-

cal pollege of St. Louis. In the summer of 1851 she

returned home, and commenced her bust of " Hesper,"

which, on its completion in marble in 1852, attracted

much attention in Boston ; and her father placed her

under the instruction of Gibson, the sculptor, in

Rome. From here we have her busts of "Daphne,"
"Medusa," and the statue of " ^Eoone." One of her

best works is " Beatrice Cenci," which was made for

the St. Louis Public Library. Oneof her most popular

works, which has been copied many times, is " Puck,"

a charming statue.

She was established for many years as a profession-

al sculptor in Rome, reaping a substantial reward in

a large income. In 1859 she finished a statue of
" Zenobia in Chains," a work on which she labored

80 zealously for two years as to impair her health. A
statue of Thomas H. Benton, now in St. Louis, which
i8 cast in bronze

;
" The Sleeping Faun," for the en-

trance of an art gallery at Ashbridge Hall, England
;

a full-length reclining figure of a young girl for a

funeral monument in the Church of St. Andrea della

Fratti in Rome, and a design for a '" Lincoln Monu-

ment" in Washington, D. C, are among her works.

It is hoped that in her return to Rome, to renew her

art work, she has already restored, by her father's

wise art, the health which will enable her to still fur-

ther vindicate the right of woman to strength and

usefulness and a most honorable career.

Dr. Samuel Richardson , descended in the sixth gen-

eration from Samuel Richardson, who was born in

England in 1610, emigrated to America in 1636, and

also was one of the founders of Woburn.

The doctor was the only son of Captain Ebenezer

and Rhoda (Coolidge) Richardson ; born at Newton,

Mass., Jan. 13, 1795; married, 1820, to Mary Kid-

der, daughter of Isaac and Mary Kidder, of Town-

send, Mass. He studied medicine with Dr. Moses

Kidder, of Dublin, N. H., and Dr. Stephen H.

Spauldintr, of the same place; afterward with Dr.

Amos Mitchell. Dr. Richardson practiced medicine

at Peterborough, N. H., until 1838, when he removed

to Watertown, Mass. His wife, Mary, died in 1861.

In June, 1873, he married Sarah Barnard, of Water-

town, who still survives him. Dr. Richardson died

here, Feb. 12, 1879, leaving a son. Dr. Coolidge

Richardson, of Ware, Mass., and a grandson in this

town, Mr. Charles B. Gardner, a gentleman of gener-

ous culture, who died the last part of July, 1890,

leaving an only son, Roy Richardson Gardner, who
having passed his examinations for Harvard College,

is to spend a year in European travel, partly for his

health.

Alfred Hotmer, M.D., born at Newton Upper
Falls September 11, 1832, has the same name as his

father, who was also a graduate of the Harvard Medi-

cal School, and a member of the Massachusetts

Medical Society. His grandfather, Jonas, born in

Acton, Mass., in October, 1758, had a brother Abner
killed in Concord, in the memorable fight at the

bridge, April 19, 1775, while resisting, with other

members of Captain Isaac Davis' company, of Acton,

the advance of the British regulars. This gracd-

'ather married, iuDecember, 1778, Betsy Willard, by

whom he had twelve children, and, like many thrifty

countrymen of that time, drove, as he had oppor-

tunity, a trade, while the rest of his time was spent

as a farmer. This trade was that of a mason. His

great-great-grandfather, James Hosmer, at the age

of twenty-eight, with a wife and two children, left

his native Hawkhurst, in Kent, England, for America
in 1635, and settled in Concord, Mass., on fields still

tilled by descendants of the same name, after these

two hundred and fifty years.

His father, Alfred Hosmer, a tenth child, and born

at Walpole, N. H., in Nov., 1802, learned the trade

of a shoemaker, but with great hope and persever-

ance entered upon the study of medicine, and at the

age of twenty-three was admitted as a student to the

office of Dr. Amos Twitchell, of Keene, N. H. He
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attended the usual course of lectures in the Hfedical

School of Harvard University, and received the de-

gree of M.D. in 1828. Enfeebled by acute rheuma-

tism in early youth, resulting in ii serious orfriinic

affection of the heart, he died in I8;i7, at the early

age of thirty-five, leaving his three young children to

the care of a courageous, energetic, and judicious

mother, whom, as Mary Ann Grahme he had married

in December, ISHl. Her father, who belonged to an

old Scotch family, had come to New York when

quite a young man, and there had established liimself

as a merchant.

Alfred Hosmer, the son, having attended the pub-

lic schools of Newton until his ninth year, when his

mother found it expedient to remove to VValpole, N.

H., where he found meagre opportunities for acc|uir-

ing the thorough preliminary training which is neces-

sary for the liberal education which he desired, was,

nevertheless, admitted, without conditions, to Harv-

ard College, and graduated with honor in 1853.

Having early selected, for the work of his life,

medicine, which his father pursued, he tenaciously

held to his early choice, and, soon after graduating,

was admitted to the otiice of his uncle. Dr. Hiram

Hosmer, of Watertown, well known in all this region

as a most skilful practitioner, and during the follow-

ing two winters attended lectures at the Harvard

Medical School, the third year being spent as house-

officer in the surgical department of the Massachu-

setts General Hospital. lu 1856 he received the de-

gree of M.D. from his Alma Mater, and spent a

large portion of the following year in professional

studies in Paris.

It was the autumn of 1857 when he located in

Watertown, from which time he has devoted himself

iudustrously to general practice with a success that

proves ability and has secured his rei)utation of being

among the best practitioners of the State. In June,

18<iO,he married Helen Augusta, the youngest daugh-

ter of the late Josiah Stickuey, and has two children,

a daughter and a son.

Dr. Hosmer became a Fellow of the Massachusetts

Society in 185()
;
has repeatedly been a member of its

council; was its anniversary chairman in 1877, and

in 1882 its president, one of the youngest who have

been elected to this high office. He was made presi-

dent of the Obstetrical Society of Boston, for two

years; was president of the Middlesex South District

Medical Society ; was medical examiner for the

Seventh District of Middlesex County. He took an

active part in organizing the Massachusetts Medico-

Legal Society, was its first president, holding the

otiice three years ; was for many years post surgeon

at the United States Arsenal at Watertown.

In 1879 he was made Fellow of the American

Academy of Arts and Sciences; and in 1881 he was

made a member of the State Board of Health, Lunacy

and Charity, and became chairman of the Health

Committee.

He has contributed to the pages of the Boston

Medical and Niirgical Journal, papers of which the

titles, in part, are " Diagnostic Importance of Examin-

ati(uis of the Urine ; "' " The Abuse of the AlimcEitary

Canal;" " Life anil Disease;" " Increase of Danger

incident to the Puerperal State ;
" " A Case of Vaginal

Lithotomy;" Wounds of the Knee-Joint ;
" "Intro-

ductory Address before the Massachusetts Medico-

Legal Society ;
" " In what Oases shall the Medical

Examiner decline to view a Dead Body?" '"A Pecu-

liar Condition of the Cervix Uteri which is I'oninl in

Certain Cases of Dystocia."

But not alone in professional labors has Dr. Mosmer

won distinction. In the best work for the education,

religious culture and moral up-building of the

people by whom he has been surrounded, and for

placing men on their own feet financially, by moder-

ating their spending, and stimnlating their saving

and wisely investing the surplus of iicalth aiui pros-

perity for the days of sickness or adversity, he has

been always active and will be long remembered.

Dr. Hosmer was a member of the School Committee

from 18G5 to 1871, of which he was chairman during

18G(i, '(17, '68 to April, 186!t.

He was a member of the Board of Trustees of the

Free Public Library from 1868 to 1878, was secretary

from 1868 to 1870, and chairman 1871, 1873 to

1877. He was elected one of the trustees of the

Watertown Savings Bank, April 11, 1876; was presi-

dent from 1874 to 1890 ; was instrumental in framing

the code of by-laws adopted in 1885.

He was one of the originators of the Historical

Society of Watertown, and did much to make the

formation of the society possible, by arousing an

interest in local history, and has been its first and

only president.

In the First Parish, familiarly known as the

Unitarian Society, he has for many years been

moderator of its annual meetings, has always kept

up an interest in its doings, has contributed liberally

to its support, was greatly interested in the erection

of the Unitarian Building for Sunday-school, for

society and social uses, for which he solicited au<l

obtained considerable contributions, and to the erec-

tion and planning of which he gave most thorough

and constant attention.

Dr. Dai'id T. Huckins was born the 24lh of Feb.,

1819, at Meredith, N. H. He did not pass through

the regular undergraduate course at college, but is a

graduate of the Medical Department of Dartmouth,

at Hanover, N. H. He has practiced to some ex-

tent as a regular physician, but has been better

known for the many years of his residence in this town

as a dentist. He has filled several important public

offices. He was a member of the School Committee of

the town in 1850, 1851 and in 1852—the year when it

was decided to abolish the old district school system

and establish a High School,—1853, 1855, 1856, 1857,

1865, 1866, 1867 and 1868. He was a member of the
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first Board of Trustees of Public Library in 1868, and

its treasurer.

He is known in scientiBc circles for his large and

fine collection of shells.

Dr. Luther B. Mor.ie was born in Rochester, Vt.,

in 1820, August 4tli. He taught public school forsi.\

years in his native i^tate, prepared for college at semi-

naries in Castletoii, Brandon and Montpelier, Vl.

On account of poor health in early nianhood, did not

pursue a college course, but attended medical lec-

tures at Dartmouth College, at the Vermont Medical

College at Woodstock, and at the New York Univer-

sity. He graduated in his native State at Vermont

Medical College in \M:\ and established himself in

his profes.sion at Lowell, Mass. During his residence

here he was city physician for two or three years, a

director of the City Public Library, a member of the

School Committee, and represented the city in the

Legislature in the years 18.53 and 1854.

He came to W.itertown in 1802 and has had exten-

sive practice iluring his residence in town. He was a

member of the School Committee in 1864-67 and in

1878, was town physician for a number of years, and

a member of the Board of Health for one year. In

1863, after the second disaster at Bull Run, he, with

thirty-three other Massachusetts surgeons and physi-

cians, responded within thirty-si.x hours and reported

themselves ready for duty at Washington for that

special service.

While in Lowell and in Watertown he has been

an active member of the Orthodox Church, holding

the office of deacon for thirty-eight years.

Dr. Ju/iiin A. Mead was born in West Acton, Mass.,

in 1856 ; was fitted for college at Phillips Academy,

Eseter, N. H.; graduated at Harvard College in 1878,

and from Harvard Medical School in 1881, and spent

two years in Europe at the Universities of Leipsic,

Vienna and Paris in fitting himself for his profession.

He came to Watertown in November, 1883, to assist

Dr. Alfred Hosmer, whose practice in this and the

neighboring towns had become too extensive for one

man ; and since the illness of Dr. Hosmer in Decem-

ber, 1888, he has succeeded to a large part of his prac-

tice.

The present Board of Health was originated by him,

and he was its first presiding officer, and, with Law-

yer Sullivan, framed the rules and regulations which

govern the board. In 1883 he was appointed by Gov-

ernor Robinson a medical examiner for Middlesex

County, which office he still holds. He was for three

years assistant surgeon, and for two years surgeon of

the Fifth Regiment, under Col. Bancroft.

OuLside of his profession he has taken quite a promi"

nent position, having served on the School Committee

of the town for six years, for the last five of which

he has been chairman. He is a member of the parish

committee of the First Parish, and for two years has

been the president of the Unitarian Club of this

town. He is the member of the Wednesday Club,

and a member of the standing committee of the His-

torical Society of Watertown.

Other physicians in town at present are Michael J.

Kelley, Geo. A. Tower, E. True Aldrich, Charles S.

Emerson, S. Adelaide Hall and W. S. Beaumont.

Old Resiuents.—Mr. Samuel Walker was born in

Langdon, New Hampshire, February 9, 1818. His

father, Mr. Gilson Walker, a farmer of five or six

hundred acres, raising large numbers of sheep with

other stock, hay and grain, found time to serve his

town for over thirty years as town treasurer. He was

a son of Abel Walker, of Shirley, Massachusetts,

whose father, Samuel, one of the eighty who responded

to the Lexington alarm on the 19th of April, 1775, an

enterprising citizen, treasurer of Shirley for a dozen

years, was the great-grandson of Samuel Walker, sr.,

of Woburn, who was born in England in 1615, came

with his father. Captain Richard Walker, to find a

home in Lynn, in 1630.

Mr. Samuel Walker, the subject of our sketch, thus

preceded by an honorable and trusted ancestry, some

of whom distinguished themselves as pioneers in the

settlement of New Hampshire, notably of Charles-

town and Langdon, came to Boston in 1843, when he

was twenty-five years old, and to Watertown for a

home in 1854. He was at first engaged in the sale of

country produce, say till 1859, since which time he

has been engaged in the manufacture and sale of

coal-oils. He was the second to import coal from

Scotland—Downer was the first—for the manufacture

of oil, before the discovery of the oil fields of Western

Pennsylvania, which quickly supplied the market

with crude petroleum. This had to be distilled and

purified and prepared for use, a work for which the

previous manufacture had led the way, but it soon

came to revolutionize the artificial means of illumin-

ating our homes and our shops, our factories and our

streets, and in time, as it already cooks our food, will

come to be the source of heat for steam-boilers and

locomotives, as in Russia, and will probably drive our

dynamos for all electrical work.

Walker's high-test white oil, like Pratt's astral oil,

is one of the best for illuminating purposes.

Mr. Walker has served the town of his adoption as

selectman in 1877, 1878 and 1879; has represented

the towns of W^atertown and Belmont in the Great

and General Court in 1881 and 1882. He was one of

the benefactors of the Free Public Library in 1883,

giving the sum of $4,500 towards the new building

while disclaiming any patriotic or charitable motives,

giving it, as he said, as "an investment in improve-

ments to his own home." This fronts on the beau-

tiful lawn surrounding the library building, but is

separated by a dense line of trees, a street and the

railway. He can see this lawn in summer, as any one

in town can see it, by going around to the street in

front of it.

Robbins and Ourtis Family.^—" Mr. James Robbins

1 Compiled by Miss Martha Robbins.



J.



I







WATERTOWN. 425

was a prominent and much respected citizen of Wa-
tprtown, who carried on various branches of manu-

facturing, and was also interested in a country store.

He died in 1810. He left a widow and a numerous

family of children, with but a small estate, for in the

later years of his life he was not very prosperous."

"He owned and lived in a large, old-fashioned

house which stood on the bank of the river near the

' Square,' and just at the entrance of ' Watertown

Bridge,'—an ancient bridge that led toward Newton."

He was a son of Mr. Solomon Bobbins, who lived

in Brighton.

Mr. James Robbins had three wives. His first

wife's name was Warren, his second, Capen ; his third

Lois White, sister of Jonas White. By his first mar-

riage there were two children—Saraband Ann Rob-

bins. Sarah married Israel Cook. Ann married

Francis Faulkner, who had a chocolate-mill that stood

on the Island in Watertown. Then he removed to

Billerica and established woolen-mills, which his de-

scendants still own and carry on.

The children by the second marriage were Josiah,

Lydia and Jonathan Robbins. Josiah was a man of

considerable information, through travel and study

acquiring different languages. A good part of his

life was spent in Trinidad, where he married the

daughter of an English officer. In the declining

years of his life he lived in Carrollton, Kentucky, where

he and, his wife died. From Mr. James Robbins'

lastmarriage there were nine children. Loia Robbins,

Martha, James, George and Isaac Robbins, were

the only ones who grew to womanhood and manhood.

Of these, Lois Robbins, the eldest of the nine chil-

dren, married Captain Benjamin Curti.s, the son of

E)r. Curtis, of Boston. "Of this marriage there were

two children, —Benjamin Robbins Curtis (see portrait

on opposite page), born Nov. 4, 1809, and George

Ticknor Curtis, born Nov. 28, 1812." Capt. Curtis died

while his children were in their infancy. To their

mother were they indebted for all they attained. Un-

tiring in her devotion, counting upon their success, if

by persistent effort and self-denial it could be attained,

she had the reward in her old age of seeing all her

hopes realized, both sons going through college with

honors and excelling as lawyers— Benjamin being

made judge of the Supreme Court; George distin-

guished in law and literature. In the celebrated Dred

Scott case, Judge Curtis will ever be associated as

deciding that the negro was not a " chattel ;" but a

citizen.

"The dissenting opinion of Judge Curtis, in the

Dred Scott case, was greatly praised throughout the

Northern States for the clear, learned and able man-

ner in which it maintained the capacity of free per-

sons of color to be ' citizens' within the meaning of

the Judiciary Act, and for the power with which he

asserted the authority of Congress to exclude slavery

from the Territories."

"The first religious impressions of any man of dis-

tinction are an important item in an account of his

life and character. Through life he was a man of

very strong religious feelings and principles. They
were derived partly from his mother and partly from

the Unitarian influences which surrounded his youth."
" From his mother he was taught his sense of re-

sponsibility to God, and ' the fear of tiod was the only

fear under which he ever acted.'
"

" (lis mind was enriched by learning, but not over-

laid by it ; and to aim to appear learned was as foreign

to his nature as any otiier form of pretence."

He began his professional career in Boston in 1834.
" His moral sentiments and convictions were very

strong; but they lay deep beneath the surface, form-

ing, like conscience, the unseen and silent guide of

life."

" In his boyhood he spent much of his time with

his UDcles, James, George and Isaac. Thoy were all

engaged in a maiuifacturing business. But the eldest,

Mr. James Robbins, was very fond of farming, and
was a good amateur farmer. Through him, his agri-

cultural tastes were imbibed in his boyhooil, in the

rural scenes of his native place and on his uncle's

lands."

In the impeachment trial of President Johnson,

Judge Curtis was regarded as " the one man in the

country, by the President, Cabinet and his friends,

who might possibly stay wh.at they regarded as an

attempt to crush the constitutional indc])enilence of

a co-ordinate department of the government." To
him they appealed. 'Twas decided according to the

Constitution there should be a " trial," that the

Senate should be a Court, the members of which

should be under the sanction ofan oath or aflirmation,

and there should be a "judgment." By constitutional

provision, and by established precedents, the accused

was entitled to " the assistance of counsel for his

defence. " In the selection of counsel to defend the

President, the first name suggested was that of Judge

Curtis, and accepted in full Cabinet, andempliatically

by the President himself "Judge Curtis had no

personal acquaintance with Mr. .Johnson, no interest

in his political or persona! fortunes, nothing but a

sense of duty to lead him to accept the responsible

position of leading counsel for the defence on this

great trial." " It involved serious pecuniary sacrifices,

for the President was unable to offer the smallest

compensation, and Judge Curtis had a very lucrative

practice." " The President had nothing to which to

appeal in the raind of his advocate, but a conscious-

ness that he might be able to do a service to his

country, and this was sufficient." " The impeachment

trial began before the Senate, on the 30th of March,

18(58, theChief Justice of the United States presid-

ing.'' " It was believed that a large majority of the

Senators were bitterly hostile to the President."

Judge Curtis was to open the defence. He shared

the anxiety that was felt by others on account of the

hostility of so many of the Senators to the President;
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but when he rose to speak he maiiifeated no solicitude

whatever. He knew that he coiiUI place the defence

ufthe President upon unanswerable grounds of law,

and that, when this had been done, his acquittal would

depend entirely upon there being a sufficient number

of the hcwiile Senators who were capable of rising

above parly and acting for their country. "That

Judge Curtis rendered a great public service, that

when he had concludeil his address to the Senators,

the acquittal of the President was substantially

secured, and that nothing needed to be added to an

argument which had exhausted the ca.<e, is the con-

current testimony of most of those who were ])rfsent,

or who have read the trial."

" He died in Newport, September 15, 1874. Jn Dr.

Robbins' Memoir, read before the Massachusetts

Historical Society, is the following tribute to his

character. " It does not admit of denial that Mr.

Curtis' character bore that genuine i^tamp of great-

ness which cannot be counterfeited or disputed, the

test of which is the .spontaneous recognition and

homage of men. Everywhere, and at all times, on the

bench, at the bar, in every assembly, whether large

or small, in the most select company, and in general

society, his jiresence was impressive and commanding.

No man, however great, could look down upon him.

Very few could feel themselves to be his peers. Most

men, even those of a high order of mind and charac-

ter, instinctively acknowledged his supremacy."
" In one thing surely it will be allowed that he was

great; for throughout life he had been mindful of

the prayer, and had received its answer, ' So teach

us to number our days, that we may apply our hearts

unto wisdom.' "

White Family.—One of the prominent men in

Watertowu in the early part of the century was Mr.

Jonas White, who owned a large farm on which was

a lovely wooded hill, which is now standing and is

still called White's Hill.

Mr. White, on May 2, 1749, married Lucy Stearns,

and had four sons and one daughter. The daughter

married Hon. Levi Thaxter, a lawyer in the town,

and their son, Levi L. Thaxter, who died in the year

1884, was well-known in the literary circles of Boston

and Cambridge, as a man of culture and refinement,

and also a very fine reader of the poetry of Robert

Browning. His wife, Jlrs. Celia Thaxter, is now one
of the most prominent literary women in the country,

being a beautiful writer of both prose and poetry.

Three of Mr. White's sons died at an early age.

William, a young man of great promise, entered Har-
vard College in the year 1807, hut never graduated, as

there was a rebellion in his class, and all left or were
expelled. He is said to have been a brilliant talker

and a delightful companion. Jonas studied medicine
but in consequence ofan accident, gave up practicing.

He died unmarried, as did both William A. and
Josiah. Abijah, the eldest son, married Miss Ann
ilaria Howard (a daughter of Samuel Howard, who

waa one of the members of the celebrated " Boston

Tea Party," 1776), and remained on the farm with his

father. In those days the ranches of Nebraska and

Colorado were unknown, but Mr. White did a large

business in cattle-raising on the farms of Peter.sham,

Hubbardston, Princeton and other towns within fifty

miles of Boston. In company with Boston merchants

he exported large quantities of beef to the West In-

dies, and in this way acquired a handsome fortune.

He had six daughters and oue son, William .\bijah,

who graduated at Cambridge in 1838, in the class with

James R. Lowell, William W. Story (the sculptor),

Nathan Hale, and other men of note.

William was of a most benevolent and philan-

thropic disposition, and did a great work in Water-

town in promoting the temperance cause. So much
respected was he that, on his return to Watertowu

after a long absence, a public reception was given

him, and a silver cup presented, as an expression of

respect and aflf'ection from the citizens. He was also

very prominent in the abolition movement. He died

in 1856.

Lucy, the eldest daughter, married George Richard-

son, whose father lived in the fine house which was

afterwards converted into the Nonantum House at

Newton. One of the daughters, Ann Maria, married

James Russell Lowell, the poet, but she did not live

long after her marriage. William Abijah married

Harriet Sturgis. Lois Lilly married Dr. Estes Howe,

of Cambridge. Mary Greene married Charles Wyllis

Elliott, from Connecticut. Agnes Howard married

Arthur Lithgo Devens. Caroline Oilman married

Montgomery Davis Parker.

The old house, from which the most generous hos-

pitality was dispensed by Mrs. White, who was beloved

and respected by every one who knew her, is still

standing in the village street, just beyond the park.

The Coo/iclge Family}—This family is of great

antiquity, traceable as far back as Edward the First

(1300). The name was spelled in various ways, there

being no fixed orthographic rules, and the mode was

governed mostly by the sound. The practice derived

from the Normans, in the tenth or eleventh century,

of giving surnames from manors or localities, pre-

vailed. William de Coulinge appeared in the roll of

the hundreds as holder of lands in Cambridgeshire.

The de was generally dropped from surnames about

the time of Henry Sixth (before 14.50).

The branch of the family fiom which those in this

country descended was settled in Cambridgeshire,

was of the landed gentry, and of great respectability.

They adopted the name as now usually spelled.

John, the youngest son of William Coolidge, of

Cottenham, Cambridge County, England (baptized

September 16, 1604), was perhaps one of the first

settlers of Watertowu, in 1630, although the date of

his arrival has not been ascertained. He was admitted

' By Austin J. Coolidge, H. C, 1847, and member N. E. H. AG. Society.
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freeman May 25, 1636, but that lact does not disprove

a much earlier arrival, as none were admitted free-

men until they became members of the church, yet

were eligible to office upon taking the oath of fidelity,

without admission either as church-members or free-

men.

The homestead of John Coolidge was upon the

highlands at the northwesterly side of Fresh Pond,

and he acquired other lands in different localities.

He was representative to the General Court in 1()58,

selectman thirteen times between 16oS and 1G82, and

was often engaged in the settlement of estates. His

will, dated Nov. 19, 1081, was proved June !(!, Kiid.

He died May 7, 1(391, aged eighty-eight years, and his

wife, Mary (whose origin is unknown), died Aug. 22,

1691, aged eighty- eight years. In the ancient graveyard,

under a stately elm, near the corner of Arlington and

Mount Auburn Streets, two modest head-i-toires of

slate, about two feet in height, mark the burial spot

of the united head of the family in America.

Their children were sons, John, probably born in

England about 1G30; Simon, born 1632 ; Stephen, born

October 28, 1639; Obndiah, born April 15, 1642;

Nathaniel, probably born 1644-45; Jonathan, born

March 10, 1646-47
; daughters, (probably) Elizabeth,

born about 1634-35; and Mary, born October 14,

1637. Their father's will omits from mention son

Obadiah, who died 1663, unmarried, and Elizabeth,

who married Gilbert Crackbone, of Cambridge, June
17, 1G5(), and, after Crackbone's death, in January,

1671-72, married Richard Robbing, March 26, 1673,

and died without is.sue, probably before date of her

father's will. Mary married Isaac Mixer, Jr., and
left daughters Sarah and Mary, remembered by the

ancestor. Stephen married, but died in 1711 without

issue, and his estate descended to his brothers and

sister Mary's children. Thus, of the eight children,

the perpetuation of the Coolidge name depended upon
the four sons, John, Simon, Nathaniel and Jonathan.

These men were among the most respectable citizens

and left a numerous progeny. John had fourteen

children (among them two pairs of twins); Simon
had eight, Nathaniel had thirteen, and Jonathan had
seven children, averaging more than ten each.

JoHX, the oldest son,' was connected with operations

in fortifying Brooktield, in King Philip's War in 1676,

and was selectman six times between 1684 and 1690.

There came very early among the settlers ofWatertown,

a feeling that there was net room for the population
;

hence, migrations began. Many of the descendants

of this man are found among the settlers of Sherburne,

Natick and adjoining parts of Middelesex County.

His son, Lieut. Richard, was representative of Water-

town in 1722, and .selectman eleven times from 1711

to 1728. Samuel, Richard's son was a graduate of

1 Bond counects John, the grandson of the settler, with King Philip's

War, but be was tlien only fourteen years old; Stephen, a son of the

settler, was also a soldier in that war.

Harvard College in 1724, librarian in 1732, and
chaplain at Castle Island. Other deacendants—John,
born 1753, was soldier in the Revolution ; Nathaniel

kept a public-house at south Side of Watertown
bridge, from 1764 to 1770, and was Belettman in

1777-78; Grace, daughter of .losepli, of .Sherburne,

married .Joseph Ware, father of Ashur Ware, Harvard
College, 1804, LL.D., Bowdoin, 1837, and judge of

District Court United States for Maine; Carlos

Coolidge was a graduate of Middlebury College, 1811,

and was Governor of Vermont.

Simon, the second son of the settler, appears to

have been the progenitor, so far as is known, of all

of the name now residing in Watertown, and of the

larger proportion of the family here in preceding

years. Some of his descendants in the period from

1780 to 1795 migrated to the region of Maine now
called J.ay and Livermore, and became numerous
from that point ea.stward to HallowcU and Augusta,

and southward to Portland. His son Joseph became
one of the leading men in Cambridge, and was deacon

of the church. The daughter of Joseph (Rebecca)

married Rev. Edw. Wigglesworth, first Mollis Pro-

fes.sor of Divinity in Harvard College ; son Stephen,

graduate Harvard College, 1724 ; daughter .Mary,

married Rev. Samuel I'orter, graduate Harvard Col-

lege, 1730, and minister of the church in Sherburne.

Simon, grandson of Simon, born 1704, purchased,

in 1728, lands along what is now Grove iStreet. The
house where he lived, demolished before the present

century, was ashort distance beyond the house known
to the present generation as the old Coolidge house,

whish stood, until within three or four years, opposite

to the residence of the late Deacon John Coolidge.

The house second named may have been in existence

prior to the purchase referred to.

Here lived Simon's eldest son, JosEi'ii, born 1730,

who was killed by the British troops .April 19, 1775.

The tradition is, that he was ploughing at the "Vine-
yard" in the early morning—heard of the march of

the King's troops, put up his cattle, look his gun,

went to the village, fell in with a small company has-

tening forward from Needham, and, being more fa-

miliar with the way, acted as guide. This small body

of men met and was fired upon by the British Hank

guard at the high rocks in the edge of Lexington.

Joseph Coolidge fell ! One hundred years after, the

family erected a monument iit memory of the event

in the ancient grave-yard near the place of his burial,

and near the spot also where he heard his country's

call. Commemorative exercises were held on Dec-

oration Day, May 30, 1875, a more genial day than

the 19th of April had proved to be, whose wintry

blasts contrasted strangely with the heat of that day

a century before. Joshua, the eldest son of this

man of Lexington fame, helped on the earth-works at

Dorchester Heights, where Washington's position

suddenly induced the British to leave Boston. The
grandsons, Joshua, Josiah, David and John, were
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large land-holders, and among the best citizens of

the generation just departed. A representative man,

prominent among tho^e still worthily sustaining the

reputation of the family, is Joshua Coolidoe, oldest

of the great-grandsons, who has served the town well

in the arta of peace, on its School Board, and for

many years a trustee of the Piihlic Library.

Nathaniei., the third son of the settler, was .select-

man in 1677 and 1092. He became owner of the

wear and the fishery at the bridge, and of the tract

between the river and Mill Creek, the mill and the

dam, where now are the Hollingsworth & Whitney

Paper-Mills, the Lewando Dye-House, and the Walk-

er & Pratt foundry ; also jiurchased e.xtensive tracts

elsewhere, among them a fifty-acre lot, ninety-three

acres and one hundred and seventeen acres, lying

possibly on both sides of Mt. Auburn Street, some-

where between Garfield Street and East Watertown.

Among his descendants were great-grandsons Sam-

uel, graduated Harvard College 1769, a distinguished

classical teacher, and his brother, Col. Moses Cool-

idoe, selectman in 1777, 1792. Persons still living

remember his homestead, on what is known as the

Frazer place, at East Watertown. Cornelius, a son

of Col. Moses, was graduated Harvard College 1798,

and a merchant in Boston. Gen. Jonathan Coolidge,

of Waltbam, selectman from 1791 to 1807, was a

great-grandson. David Hill Coolidge, lawyer in

Boston, is also a descendant.

Jonathan, the youngest son of the settler, was born

March 10, 1046-47. His son John settled in Boston.

His grandson Joseph, born February 10, 1718-19, mar-

ried Marguarite Olivier, daughter of Antoine Olivier, a

French Huguenot. From him were sons Joseph in

three generations : Joseph, born 1747; Joseph, born

1773, married Elizalieth Bulfinch; and Joseph, born

about 1799, graduated Harvard College 1817, and

married Ellen Wales Randolph, daughter of Thomas

Mann Randolph, Governor of Virginia, and wife

Martha, who was daughter of Thomas Jefferson, Pres-

ident of the United States. The wealth and enter-

prise of this last Joseph were visible in the last gen-

eration, and are perpetuated in his family. Among
his sons was Sidney, who fell at the battle of Chicka-

mauga, September 19, 1863; living representatives

are Thomas Jefferson, a distinguished manufacturer

and capitalist; Joseph Randolph, a member of the

legal, and Algernon of themedical profession. Thomas
Bulfiach (Harvard College 1819) and Rev. James I.

T. (Harvard College 1838) were also descendants of

the first Joseph. The members of this family have

swelled the roll of Harvard graduates by the name
of Coolidge, descendants of the first settler, to thirty-

four, not to mention those of other names, descend-

ants by intermarriage.

Interwoven with the Coolidge family are the names
of Bond, Stone, Bright, Brown, Clarke, Mason, Liver-

more, Hastings, Jennison, Frost, Whitney, Russell,

Stratton, Wigglesworth, Stearns, Richards, Harring-

ton, and many others, through whom it may fairly be

computed the descendants of the first settler were as

numerous as those bearing bis name, and scattered

through New England and the Western States. Four

towns bear the name of Coolidge, in Kansas, Ken-

tucky, Wisconsin and New Mexico. These children

of two hundred and sixty years, dispersed so widely,

all regard with patriotic pride and devotion Water-

town ;us their maternal home.

BIOGRAPHICAL.

SETH BEMIS.

Seth Bemis, who was born the 23d Januarj', 1775, was

the youngest son of David and Mary Bemis, the latter

the daughter of Nathaniel and Ann (Bowman) Bright.

He was a lineal descendant in the fourth generation of

Joseph and Sarah Bemis, who were in Watertown as

early .as 1040, and were supposed to have come from

London, England, in the " Sarah and John." His

ancestors bad been substantial citizens and land-

owners in Watertown, their names appearing on the

early town records among those of the selectmen.

His father owned the water-power where now the

.Etna Mills are established, carrying on a grist-mill

and paper-mill, and at his death, in 1790, the mill

property came to his sons Luke and Seth. The
subject of this sketch fitted at New Ipswich Academy
for Harvard College, where he graduated in 1795,

taking good rank as a scholar. After graduation he

spent about a year in the law-office of Franklin

Dexter. At this time the attention of fore-seeing

and progressive New England men was turned to the

establishment in this country of manufacturing in-

dustries, and Seth Bemis was among the earliest to

join the movement, buying out his brothers' interest

in 1796, devoting much time to experiments with

machinery, for the different branches of spinning

and weaving yarns and cloth, both of cotton and

wool. About 1809, at the suggestion of Winslow
Lewis, a large Boston ship-owner, he began to ex-

periment with the manufacture of heavy cotton goods

suitable for sail-cloth, and the War of 1812 found him

extensively engaged in the manufacture of cotton

duck, a large part of which was marketed in Balti-

more and the South. After the close of the war he

took up other branches of manufactures, and was

associated in his enterprises with some of the well-

known Boston merchants of the day, among them

John Bellows, Thomas Cardis and William H. Board-

man. At a late period, in partnership with his son,

Seth Bemis, Jr., he carried on a large business in the

grinding of logwood, and the preparation of dye-

stuffs. Besides his industrial enterprises, he was

much interested in agriculture, and believing that

merino sheep could be profitably raised in this coun-
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try, he became largely engaged at one time in breed-

ing them on a farm owned by him in Maine, lor

this purpose importing some of the finest blooded

stock.

He was always an active member of the Unitarian

parish, taking great interest in its work. He repre

sented his town in the Legislature, and, although

averse to holding office, was an earnest advocate of

public improvements. He died on the 4th April,

1851, in the seventy-sixth year of his age.

He married, on the 24th April, 1808, Sarah Wheel-

er, of Concord, iMasssachusetta, who belonged to a

family, descended from the earliest settlers of thai

town. His wife died on the 2'2<\ of .Tune, 1849.

They had four children, who all survived them :

—

Jonathan Wheeler Bemis, born iie\)t. 17, 1810, who
graduated from Harvard in 1830, and from the Har-

vard Medical School in 1834. He settled in Charles-

town, where he followed his profession over thirty-

five years. In November, 1859, he married Lucy
Wyeth, of Cambridge, and has four children. In

1871 he retired from practice and moved to Cam-
bridge, where he now lives.

Sarah Wheeler Bemis, born 2oth of July, 1812,

who now lives in Newton, just across the Charles

River from the old homestead.

Seth Bemis, Jr., born ISth of September, 1814, who
fitted for Harvard College at Exeter Academy, but

went into business. He was a well-known mauufac-

turer, and was associated with his father for many
years, the success of their dye-stuft" business being

due, to a large extent, to his energy and capacity.

After retiring from active business, about 18G0, he

moved across the river to Newton, where his sister

now lives. Up to the time of his death he continued

to hold several positions in manufacturing and other

companies. He died 21st of October, 1887, in the

seventy-fourth year of his age.

George Bemis born 13th October, 1810, who gradu-

ated from Harvard College with high rank in 1835

and from Harvard Law School in 1839. He became

a noted lawyer of Boston, where he practiced many
years. During the War of the Rebellion he was

greatly interested in the success of the National

Government, and rendered valuable assistance in the

conduct of its diplomatic correspondence both during

the war and in the years immediately following its

close. His patriotic interest in international law led

him to make a study of this subject, in which he be-

came deeply interested, and by his will he left a legacy

founding a Professorship of International Law in the

Harvard Law School. During the latter years of his

life he lived much in Europe, where he died the 6th

January, 1878, at Nice, France, in the sixty-second

year of his age.

Another branch of the Bemis family who have long

been residents of Watertown was Charles Bemis, a

son of Nathaniel am! Abigail (Bridge), a grandson of

David and Mary (Bright), a^ great-grandson of Jona-

than and .4nna (Liverraore), a great-great-grandson

of .Fohn and Mary (Harrington), who were next in

descent from .Joseph and Sarah, who came to Water-
town al)out l(J40. They were believed to have come
from London in the "Sarah and John." (See Drake.)

Homcstall, 10-A.

Said Charles Bemis graduated from Harvard Col-

lege in 1808, and studied law with Judge Artemas
Ward, and practiced his profession during his life iu

Watertown. He married Annie Vose, of Boston.

They had three children—Dr. Charles Vose, of Med-
ford, whomarrieil Elizabeth F. Henry, of Keene,N. H.
daughter of Hon. Wm. Henry, of Chester, Vt. Dr.

Bemis has been for many years one of the trustees of

the Massachusetts General Hospital. They Imve two
d:iugliters, Fanny Elizabeth ami Alice Gocjdliue.

Abby Vose married Charles J. Barry, son of Wil-

liam Barry, of Boston, and I^slher (Stetson) Barry,

formerly of Randolph. Mr. Charles J. Barry, born

in 1811, graduated at Boston High School. After

spending some time in the office of A. C. Lond)ard,

he engaged in the wholesale coal business, (irst in

Boston and afterwards in Charlestowu, where he was
known for his punctilious attention to his business.

He took up his residence in Watertown in 1852, was
elected on the School Committee in 1854, again in

1858, and continuously until 181)5, was made one of the

Board of Trustees of the Free I'uhlic Library in 18GS,

and again in 1873, serving until his death in 18S3,the

last six years being chairman of the board. He was

one of the three charter members of the Watertown

Savings Bank, was its president from the date of its

organiz.ation in 1870 until his death. Mr. Barry was re-

markable for his exact and regular habits as a business

man, enjoying the perfect confidence of all, while he

gavemuch of his time the latter years of his life to en-

courage the young and the poor to save their money
while they could for sickness and old age, to save

their leisure time by using it in reading good books.

He was constant in his attendance at church and
liberal in his support of the First Parish, of which he

had long been a member.

Lsaac Vose, entered Harvard College, but owing

to ill* health did not graduate. He studied law

with Judge Putnam. He is unmarried and lives at

the ancestral place on Main Street, near itsjunction

with Lexington Street.

MILES PRATT.

Miles Pratt was descended from .Joshua Pratt, who
came to Plymouth in the ".\nn" in 1023. At a very

early date lands were granted to him in that part of

Plymouth which is now Carver, and from that time

to the present one branch of the family has made that

town its place of residence. David Pratt, the father

of Miles, lived in Carver, and having secured some-

thing more than a common-school education, devoteil

the earliest years of his manhood to teaching school.
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Eventually, however, he carried on a foundry in the

north part of his native town. He married Sarah,

daiigliter of Tliomas Barrows, of Carver, a descendant

of .lolin ISarrows, who also received granta of land in

Carver at an early date and died in 1692. David

Pratt had three children—Mary, who married George

Barrows; Sarah, who married Mareus M. Sherman,

and Miles, the snbject of this sketch. Miles wiisborn

in Carver, September 17, 1825, and at the age of

tifieen years entered upon the occupation of selling

hollow-ware, the product of his father's factory, and

from that time until his death his career was one of

active industry.

About the year 1850, after being with his father

gome years as a partner in his business, he entered

the store of B. W. Dunklee & Co., dealers in stoves,

as salesman, and remained in their employ one year,

when, with a son of Mr. Gould, an old president of

the Blaekstone Rank, he formed a partnership under

the firm-name of Tratt & Gould, in the retail stove

business. In 1854 he formed a new partnership, under

the name of Pratt, Weeks & Co., with William G.

Lincoln, Allen S. Weeks and his uncles, Thomas and

.lohn Jay Barrows, as partners. At that time bis

father, David Pratt, having retired from business, the

new firm engaged for a year in the manufacture of

castings in Carver, while building a foundry in Water-

town for the manufacture of cook and parlor stoves

and stove-ware. In 1855 the new foundry was

finished and a considerable business was soon built

up, mainly for the Eastern market and that of the

Provinces.

In 1857, owing to severe financial depression, the

firm dissolved, and while its creditors suffered no ioss,

Mr. Pratt was deprived of the earnings of his previous

years, emerging from the wreck of his firm a poor

man, but with integrity and business vigor unim-

paired. With a determination rarely exhibited in such

cases he at once took a lease of the Watertown

foundry on his own account, and carried on its busi-

ness alone with marked success until the following

year, 1858, when he formed a partnership with Luke
Perkins, also a native of Carver, under the title of

Pratt & Perkins, with Wm. G. Lincoln, one *>f his

old partners, as a special partner. In 1863 Mr. Per-

kins left the firm and the firm of Miles Pratt & Co.

was formed, with Mr. Lincoln as the partner. In

1874 this firm waa consolidated with that of George

W. Walker & Co., of Boston, under the name of

Walker, Pratt & Co., with Mr. Lincoln and Horace

G. and George W. Walker as partners. In 1875 the

company was incorporated under the name of the

Walker & Pratt Manufacturing Company, with

George W. Walker as president and Miles Pratt as

treasurer. After the death of Mr. Pratt, George E.

Priest became the treasurer, and the company is still

doing a large and successful business in the manu-
facture of stoves, ranges, furnaces, apparatus for hotel

kitchens, radiators and boilers for steam and hot water

heating, with their store at 31 and 35 Union Streets,

Boston. Since 1863 Oliver Shaw, also a native of

Carver, has been the superintendent of the manu-

facturing business, and largely to his fidelity and skill

the company owes its success.

Mr. I'ratt married, in 1851, Sarah B., the daughter

of Zebulon Chandler, of Carver, a descendant from

Edward Chandler, who appeared in Du.xbury in 1633.

Mrs. Pratt died March 25, 1858, leaving no children,

and on the 6th of October, 1859, Mr. Pratt married

Ellen M. Coolidge, of Watertown, and had an only

child, ({race, who married Frederick Robinson, of

Watertown, and is still living. He died at Water-

town on the 9th of August, 1882, and was buried at

Mt. Auburn. His death occurred at a time when his

brain and capacity for work appeared to be in their

fullest vigor and when, with the threshold of his bus-

iness enterprises, with its difficulties and embarrass-

ments and obstacles, successfully surmounted, he was

enjoying the fruits of his labors and indulging in am-

bitious and well-founded hopes of enhanced success.

The career of Mr. Pratt portrayed in this sketch

demonstrates the most prominent characteristics of

the man, singleness of purpose, disturbed by no allur-

ing temptations, a determination to succeed never

weakened by obstacles in his path, and an unswerv-

ing integrity, without which neither singleness of

purpose nor determination to succeed could have

been of any avail. Good business man as he was, he

permitted no outside schemes and euterprises to dis-

tract his mind, and accepted no office except that of

trustee of the Watertown Savings Bank, of which he

was the most active founder. Brought up in politics

as a Whig, he preserved his independence of speech

and thought, and abandoned the party of his youth

when he believed it untrue to the principles of human
freedom. Afterwards a Republican, he was still inde-

pendent and recognized no authority binding him to

its ranks, when he believed' that it had outlived its

usefulness and purpose. Nor in religious matters,

more than in politics, was he bound by traditions.

Born in the Orthodox Congregational Church and edu-

cated under its influences, he became in the later

years of his life a Swedenborgian and died in that

faith. In all things he kept his mind free, always

open to convictions, and when convictions came to

him he was obedient to their commands.

SAMUEL NOYES.

Samuel Noyes was the son of Christopher and

Martha (Reed) Noyes, and waa born in Plymouth, N.

H., June 27, 1804. He attended the district-school

in winter, and aided his father in the store in summer.

In .lune, 1827, Mt. Noyes found employment in

Boston, where he remained two years, afterwards went

to Cambridge and worked in the grocery-store of

Deacon Brown four years.

In April, 1833, became to Watertown and opened
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(what was then called) a temperance grocery-store,

corner of Arsenal and Mt. Auburn Streets. Many
prophesied at the time that this new project would be

a failure, for it was custoniary in those days for

grocers to sell liquors, and they did a thriving busi-

ness in that line.

Mr. Noyes was a strong temperance man, and did

not approve of the use or sale of liquors. There were

three stores in town at the time which dispensed

spirituous liquors, but Mr. Noyes having the strong

courage of his convictions, ])lodded along in his way,

his business slowly but constantly increasing. He
was soon in need of a larger store, and moved in 1847

into the town hall building, where he remained for a

number of years. In 1870 he built the brict block

on the opposite side of the street, known as Noyes'

Block. He continued to do business there until 1879,

when he sold out and retired, having been in active

business in Watertown forty-six years.

In June, 1836, Samuel Noyes married Amanda
George, of Plymouth, N. H., and had six children,

viz., Mary, Hattie, Samuel G., Sarah B. (who died in

infancy), Charles H. and Emma L. Four of these

children are now living,—Mary (now Mrs. Noyes),

Samuel G. (unmarried), Charles (unmarried), Emma
L. (now Mrs. Sidney E. Home), living in Mendota,

Illinois.

Samuel Noyes married for his second wife, Mrs. Mary
Home, and had two children, Wendell and Sidney E.

Mr. Noyes is a Republican in politics, was town

treasurer and collector of taxes for twenty years,

always attended the Baptist Church, and was treas-

urer of that society fifty-five years.

THOMAS L. FRENCH.

Capt. Thomas L. French was born in Cambridge,

Mass., Sept. 16, 1809. He was the son of Cyrus and

Deborah (Learned), and grandson of Isaac French.

Capt. French's lather died when he was quite

young, and early in life he was obliged to depend

upon his own resources. At the age of fifteen years

he was apprenticed to Samuel F. Sawyer, of Cam-
bridge, Mass., to learn the trade of mason and

builder, and at the age of twenty-one he went in

business for himself in Holliston, Mass. He re-

mained in Holliston about four years, then moved to

Watertown and continued the same business until

within a few years when he retired I'rom active

life. Capt. French did a large and lucrative business

in Watertown, and during the late war was master

mechanic at the United States Arsenal and built most

of their large brick linildings.

He was very active in town affairs—selectman

fifteen years, in the Legislature one year, and held

other minor town offices. The captain was never de-

feated for any ofiice tendered to him by his towns-

men but once. During his active life few men were

better posted in town affairs than he. The title of

captain he received from being fire warden in the

days of the old volunteer Fire Department.

Capt. French married, for his first wife, Esta Pond,

of Watertown. There were three children by this

union, two (jf whom died in infancy.

Georgetta is still living. IMrs. French died Oct. 18,

1852. For his second wife, Mr. French married Mrs.

Isaac French. She died Jan. 6, 1854.

Mr. French died Aug. 12, 1890.

CHAPTER XXXVL

HOLLISTOX.

BY ALBERT H. BLANCH ARD, M.D.

The town of Holliston reaches to the southern

point of Middlesex County, and forms a large part of

its boundary in that direction. The boundary line

separates it from Medway and Millis, in the county

of Norfolk, and from a portion of Milford, in the

county of Worcester. It is a daughter of Sherhorn,

having been formed entirely from that ancient town.

The history of Shcrbom is therefore the history of

Holliston until the date of incorporation of the latter

town, in 1724.

Grants of the land now included in this township

were made by the General Court, as early as 1659, to

Major Eleazer Lusher, of Dedbam, and to Dean Win-

throp, son of Governor John Winthrop; and also,

from 1664 to 1674, to Lieutenant Joshua Fisher, of

Dedham, to John Parker and one Hopper. Lusher's

grant of two hundred and fifty acres comprised the

present central part of Holliston, and twelve acres of

meadow " lying on the brook Wcnnakeening" (Hogis-

tow Brook); and Winthrop's grant of six hundred

acres or more abutted upon Medfield line in one di-

rection and upon a pond (Winthrop's) in the other.

Major Lusher sold his grant to Lieutenant Henry

Adams, of Medfield, in KKiO; and after the death of

Lieutenant Adams it was bought by Hon. William

Brown, of Salem, and afterwards came into the pos-

session of his son, Colonel Samuel Brown, and .Judge

Samuel Sewall. Lieutenant Adams took immediate

possession and is said to have mowed the meadows

the same year. He sent cattle here and some of his

sons resided here, es|iecially Jasper, who seems to

have had the management of the land and gave his

name to "Jasper's hill," now Mt. Hollis, from which,

by signal fires, he communicated with his father in

Medfield. He lived here, unmarried, for a period of

about fourteen years until driven off" by the Indians

under King Philip in 1076.

The second plantei; was William Slidlifld, wlm,

with his brother Edmund, bought in 1662 the grant of

Lieutenant Joshua Fisher, of Dedham, at"Chabbo-

quasset," in the southeast quarter of the present town.

He took possession, but did not settle there probably
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until 1674. Edmund Sheffield does not appear to

have settled there at all. Ol this land no deed had

been obtained in 1688, Lieutenant Fisher having died

in HJ72, before he had completed a deed to the Shef-

fields. William was in much trouble on this account,

and, us he did not know what action to takt, presented

the following petition "on a tniininf; day" m .Sher-

borne, November 22, 1688, "to y' fathers, with all the

inhabitants of Sherborn:" " Wm. Sheliiekl, of .Sher-

born, the aged, your humble petitioner, doe humbly

intreat you to show your love to me, to give, grant or

conlirui my laml which 1 bought of Ll. Fisher, ol

Dedham, to conlirm to me and mine, I shall be very

thankful to you forever; for I am like a man having

myself half in the mire, and want to be holpen, help

I pray you and damnifie no man with it." In answer

to this " request the inhabitants then present did gen-

erally by their vole, grant and conlirm to him the

said land soe far as they had any interest in it." He

seems by an order of the Court to have obtained his

deed at a later date. He had extinguished the In-

dian title to his tract in 1675. He became a wealthy

man for those days, and in 1686 was rated the third

hio-hest in Sherborn. He was a selectman in the

early years of Hoilistoi) and served on the iirst board.

His son, William .Sheffield, bought Hopper's farm of

280 acres in the west part of Holliston.

Winthrop's grant was purchased by Captain John

Goulding, and extensively improved by him. He

settled there about 1705, and was a man of wealth

and of " herculean size and strength," and a principal

inhabitant in the early affairs of the town ;
was town

clerk ten years and selectman ten years.

Alexander Marsh also settled on a part of Win-

throp's grant, on the north shore of Lake Winthrop.

No other grants appear to have been occupied until

1680, and then only by jjroprietors of grants made

prior to the incorporation of Sherborn, or that were

made by the town of Sherborn. Under the latter

head, in 1679, " Sherborne granteth to such as shall

make a saw-mill on a Brook [Bogistow Brook, where

the blanket-mill stands] about half a mile on this bide

the corner rock that was Natick bounds, the sum ol

50 Acres of upland adjoining to that brook, and 3 or

4 Acres of meadow, if it may be found upon that

Brook, as may be convenient—also 10 Acres ofSwamp,

the Cedar timber excepted. This saw-mill to be built

by the end of 12 months, and be continued three years^

or as the selectmen then in being, and the owners

shall agree. So the land to be settled to the owners."

Samuel Lind, of Boston, soon accepted this offer and

built a " corn-mill " and afterwards a saw-mill upon

it. The same privilege was used in later years for a

trip-hammer mill, woolen-mill, cotton-mill and ma-

chine-shop, and in our day fqr the manufacture of

blankets. The building was burned about 1843, and

a new one afterwards erected.

The second division of the common lands of Sher-

born was made in 1682, including all of Holliston

;

and until then no other settlers were admitted. But

soon after that date arrangements were made for tak-

ing possession of these lands and purchasing the same

of the Indians. All of these settlers were particular

to " extinguish the Indian title." They considered

that the Indians had a right to the lands, and they

bought that right i'nd took deeds therefor. William

Sheffield purchased directly of one of the chiefs, John

Awosaniog ;
others united in obtaining a common

quit-claim deed from several Indians who were au-

thorized to convey the same.

Not many families had settled in Holliston when

the year 1700 had arrived. For this there were two

principal reasons : the one above-mentioned, that no

new settlers were admitted until after the year 1682,

and another one, that this territory was several miles

distant from the church in Sherborn, a serious matter

in those days, when the opportunity to attend the

stated services of the sanctuary was considered one

of the highest privileges. Even as late as the year

1723 there were only thirteen subscribers to the peti-

tion to be set oft" from Sherborn, and it is believed

that all but five heads of families signed the petition.

The inhabitants of Sherborn were about to erect

a new meeting-house, and those residing in the west-

ern part of the town (now Holliston) were strenuous

in their endeavors to have it placed on a spot which

should accommodate them. The town endeavored to

respond to this reasonable request. On March 6, 1723,

the qualified voters met at the meeting-house, and im-

mediately adjourned to meet at " the platt, seventy

or six-score rods Easterly from Dirty Meadow bridge,

or Thereabouts" (about half a mile east of the rail-

road station, in East Holliston), when and where it

was unanimously voted by all present, "that a meet-

ing-house be built for the town to worship God in,

on Lord's Days, upon a certain hill by the road side,

. . . so that the town remain together for the

strengthening thereof." November 18, 1723, the

inhabitants " voted to nullifie and make void this

vote of March sixth, in consideration that the Form

and Situation of the Town is so ill Convenient that

one Meeting-House Cannot be so placed as to Suit

the Whole town, but that in time there will be need

of two to accommodate the Inhabitants." And £160

was granted to defray the cost of a new meeting-

house on the old site. This was, without doubt, a

sensible decision, and subsequent events have so

proved it.

" At said Meeting after Sundry votes had passed, relating to the build-

ing or reljuildingof ye publick Meeting house, the following motion was

made by Sundry of y* Principle Inhabitants of ya said town. Who are

Dwellersonye West side of Dopping Brook. The request of us, the

Subscribers, in behalf of Our Selves and the Other Western Inhabitants

of y" town ; Uo desire that the following articles may be put to vote,

viz. ; Whether they will not be free to Grant us y« liberty of IJaviug

that part of Sliettield's Farm Lying on ye East Side of Boggestow Brook

and Edmund Morse's Land and possessions on >« East side of Dopping

brook aforesaid, over and above y« Dividing line projected between the

Eastern and Western parts of the town from Colonel Buckminster's cor-

ner, &c. Then Wo will do all publick Duty to the tuwu u& ht-iet'oforo
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till the Genii. Court Shall Set us olV Except in y« ('i)8t of Building or re-

buihling the meeting hon^e, na it has been this day voted. Andifso
We'll ask fur a dividing line no further Eastward.

"Jonathan Whitney,
•' Timothy Lealand,
"* Aarou RIorse,

" Moses Adams, Jr.,

"Joseph Johnson,

" Ebeuezer Pratt,

Jolui (loulding,

Joshua Underwood,

Thomas Jones,

Isaac Adams,

John Twitchell,

Jtihn Larnit."

On the iibove the following vote is recorded : "The
town by their vote do save to the .said Western In-

habitants over l)o|)|)ia IJrook, whensoever they are

sett oti', their proportion iu ye XltJO this day granted

towards ye 15uildingye publick Meeting House where

it now stands." And the remainder of the ahove mo-
tion was also passed, " for the sake of future peace

and good Neighborhood." This amicable spirit lias

been continued even to the present day; and for

many years Sherborn and HoUiston constituted one

of the State districts for choice of Representative to

the Legislature.

June 3, 1724, a petition of the inhabitants of the

westerly part of Sherborn was presented to the Gene-

ral Court, showing the "great inconvenience they are

under by reason of their great distance from the

place of Publick Worship, the said town being near

12 miles long, and the meeting-house situated at the

Easterly End; That they have applyed to the Town
to be sett off, but cannot obtain a division by such a

line as they think reasonable ; and therefore prajing

that they may be made a distinct and separate township

by such boundarys as are in the said petition partic-

ularly set forth." In council, read and ordered that

Adam Winthrop, Jona Dowse, Esqs., to whom the

House joined Ebenezer Stone, John Quincy, Esqs.,

and Mr. Edward White, be a committee to repair, as

soon as may be, to Sherborn, and make inquiry into

the matter of this petition, and report what they

think proper for this Court to do thereon. The
charge of the committee to be borne by the peti-

tioners.

June 16, 1724. A petition of Timothy Leland and

others. A committee of the inhabitants of the West-

erly part of Sherborn, praying that this Court would

direct the said town not to levy any tax on them for

building the meeting-house until September next.

The committee appointed to consider their former

petition, not being able to proceed to Sherborne till

the recess of the Court
;

In council read and ordered that the prayer of

this petition be granted. In the House read and con-

curred in.

November 20, 1724. Reported and recommended the

Western part be erected into a precinct and separated

from the First Parish by the line that now divides

Sherborn from Holliston and Ashland ; that they be

obliged within eighteen months to erect and finish,

at their own charge, a suitable house for worship
;

that they provide, as soon as may be, a learned and

Orthodox minister ; that they be allowed to assess the

28-iii

lands of non-residents within said precinct lil. per

acre towards the charge of building and settling a
minister; that they be freed from paying any part of

the £lt!0 lately assessed by said town for building a

meeting-house in the easterly part of the town; that

they continue to pay their proportion for the support
of the present minister of the town until they obtain

a minister of their own, and no longer; that they pro-

cure and maintain a school-master to iuBtruct their

youth in reading and writing.

Their re|)ort was accepted in the several articles

thereof, "saving that the Western i)art of Sherborne
be a town and not a. precinct, and that u bill be
brought in to erect the said lands into a township

;

and that the inhabilaius of the western part pay the

charges of the committee, viz., £10." This bill juissed

to be enacted by both Houses, December 3, 1724, and
the New town was called Hollistou, in honor of

Thomas Hollis, Esq., of London, a benefactor of Har-
ward College; and Mr. John Goulding, a principal

inhabitant, was euijiowcred and directed to summon
the inhabitants qualified for voters to meet for the

choice of town ofhcers, to stand until the next annual

election according to law.

Thomas Hollis returned the compliment by pre-

senting the town with an elegant folio Bible for the

pulpit, in which is inscribed, "The Gift of Thomas
Hollis, of London, JIarchant, To the Meeting-house

in Holliston, whereof Mr. Janus Stone is pastor, and
his successors." This inscription is supposed to be in

thg handwriting of Mr. Hollis. Rev. Dr. Tucker
gives the following history of this volume : "It wjis

a noble folio printed at Oxford [in the year 1679],

and for the first one hundred years of the church's

history had been used by its pastor in the service of

public worship. Becoming too much worn for that

place, the selectmen had giveu ic to the poor-house,

where it would have been soon utterly finished, had not

the worthy descendant of its donor, Dea. Thomas
Hollis, of Boston, got news of its whereabouts, after

much search, and secured its possession by giving a

new copy of the Scriptures to that institution. The
church, on ascertaining this several years after, with

some persuasion induced Mr. Hollis to relinquish the

valuable relic, which he greatly prized, and which no
money could have bought from him, by pledging

itself to guard the treasure for all time to come,

from harm. The volume was too much dilapidated

for rebiuding, but by order of the church, a shrine

was made for it, resembling a massive book, and in

this elegant encasement the venerable heirloom is

safe from further harm iu the keeping of the Church
officers."

There is a doubtful tradition that Mr. Ilollis sent

also a bell for the nieyting-house, but that by fraud

on the part of some one through whose hands it

passed, a cracked bell was substituted and offered to

the church committee here, who refused to accept it.

Another report is, that through mistake or connivance.
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the bell was sent to the church in Hollis, New Hamp-
shire, or to the Hollis Street Church in Boston.

This incorporation was made about (ilty years after

the incorporation of Sherborn, the mother town, and

seveJity-two years after the first settlement west of

Charles Kiver, " so slow was the progress of settle-

ment in New Eucland after the first immigrations in

1G20-41." The towusliiii then comprised 15,0S(i acres,

but in 182t) it sustained a small reduction by an ex-

chanjre of land with Medway and a larger one in 1846

by the incorporation of Ashland.

The first town-mcetinj!; was held December 21, 1724,

eighteen days after the incorporation, at the house of

Timothy Lclaiid, now occupied by A. .1. Travis, about

half a mile from the nail factory towards Ashland.

Town officers were chosen according to the provisions

of the act, and the organization was completed. The

first selectmen were John Goulding, William Shef-

field, Ebenezer Hill, Jonatliau Whitney and Thomas

Mai-shall. Jolin ftoulding was the town clerk and

was annually re-elected to that office until 1734.

" This gave the first impulse to the operations of this

infant member of the body politick."

January 4, 1724-25, only eleven days after the first

meeting, a second meeting was held, at which it wa^

resolved to erect a meeting-house thirty-two feet by

forty feet, with twenty feet posts, and .£100 old tenor

(about $44.45) was assessed on the inhabitants towards

defraying the cost, each man assessed being allowed the

privilege of paying one-half of his rate in labor. It

finally cost about £100 more and was completed in

1728.

The situation of the meeting-house was a subject

of considerable discussion. Colonel Samuel Brown,

of Salem, a large proprietor, who owned the farm for-

merly possessed by Lieutenant Henry Adams, of Med-

field, piomised them a site, to be selected from his

land. They first thought of the spot which was fin-

ally used. But as a large proportion of the inhabit-

ants dwelt in the northern and eastern portions of the

town, it was once decided, for their convenience, to

build near the present nail-factory, on Jar Brook.

But after future consideration they were convinced

that this location would not eventually accommodate

the majority of the people as their numbers increased,

and, looking at further requirements, they decided

" to set their meeting-house south of Jasper's Hill,

on the West side of the road that goes over there, on

the Hon. Col. Brown's farm." A lot of three acres

at that place was then given by Colonel Brown to

be perpetually occupied as a site for a meeting-house

and burying-ground. The wisdom of this last choice

is now seen ; and this remained the only church

edifice in the town for nearly a century. Early in

the same year (1725) the town established public

worship, services being held at the house of Mr.
Timothy Leland, and continued there until the com-
pletion of the meeting-house. For many years there

were only temporary seats for the congregation, and

it was not until 1749 that members were allowed to

build pews, and that a committee w;is chosen " to

dignify the seats." Each man constructed his own
pew in those days, and the mode of assigning the dif-

ferent degrees of dignity to the diflerent seals is some-

thing astounding to the degenerate people of our

times. To Captain John Goulding and "old Mr. Eben-

ezer Leland," the father of Deacon Timothy Leland,

were allotted two of the most honorable pews.

In the year 1772 this meeting-bouse was repaired

and enlarged, and it then answered the purposes of

the inhabitants until 1822, when a substantially new
church building was erected. Of this edifice of 1822,

Rev. Dr. Dowse,' in his centennial address, remarks :

" That meeting-house is supposed still to be here, but

it has been so often enlarged and remodeled that it

is very difficult to recognize anything that belonged

to the original structure." It was again altered,

raised and a vestry built below in 1859.

June 26, 1727, a meeting was held for the election

and call of a minister. The result of the meeting was

an invitation to the Rev. James Stone to undertake

the work of the ministry. But as the meeting-house

was not finished and the church was not then organ-

ized, his ordination was deferred until November 20,

1728. A church of eight members, including the

pastor-elect, was founded on the same day, according

to Fitch and others ; but Dr. G. M. Adams says there

was an interval of three weeks between the two cere-

monies.

Mr. Stone was born in Newton, Massachusetts, in

1703, and was graduated at Harvard TTniversity in

1724. His great-grandfather, Simon Stone, was one

of four brothers who came to this country from Eng-

land in 1634, and settled at Watertown. One of his

sermons, said to be the last he ever composed, was

published after his decease, with an introduction by

Rev. Oliver Peabody, of Natick, and Rev. Samuel

Porter, of Sherburne, who thus comment upon his

character :
" He was held in great esteem by his own

people, as well as those in neighboring towns, for his

great sweetness of temper, his good humor, his in-

structive conversation, his exemplary piety, his great

diligence and his faithfulness in the work of the min-

istry." * His salary would now be considered en-

tirely inadequate. It was fixed at £75, old tenor,

equal to $33.33, to be raised to £80 when the town

had received an increase of ten families, and to £85

when there should be an increase of ten more. He
was to receive a settlement of £100, or about $44.

His salary was finally raised in 1742 to £150, or $67.

But in addition to this he had his firewood and the

use of a house and land. On application by the fi)wn.

1 Centennial Address delivered in Hollieton July 4, 1876, by Rev. Ed-

mund Dowse. Published by the Town. Printed at .South Framingham,

1877.

2A Century Sermon delivered in HollistoD, Mass., Dec. 4, 182U, by

Kev. Charles Fitch, pastor of the Congregational Society. Printed at

Dedham, 1827.
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the Hon. Samuel Sewall and his children conveyed,

May 9, 1728, to a committee of the town, Jona. Whit-

ney and George Fairbank, in trust, eleven acres of

land " for ye sole proper use, benefit and behoof of ye

first Orthodox, Congregational or Presbyterian minis-

ter of ye (iospel which shall be settled in ye said

town of IloUiston, and to his heirs and assigns for-

ever." The committee conveyed it to Mr. Stone Jan-

uary 2, 1730, and in the same year was probably built

the ancient house long known as the Stone tavern.

The Winthrop house aflerward.s stood upon a part of

the same land. It was destroyed in the great tire of

1875 ; and the HoUis house took its place, but was

burned March 12, 1887. Mr. Stone died July I'J, 1742,

in the thirty-ninth year of his age and the fourteenth

year of his ministry. The town voted £G0 to defray

the expense of his luneral.

The only candidate for the pastorate, after the de-

cease of Mr. Stone, was the Rev. Joshua Prentiss,

who was ordained and installed on the 18th day

of May, 1743. He received £200, old tenor, at settle-

ment, and £140 annually. After two years his sal-

ary was gradually to be increased until it amounted

to £200 per annum.

Mr. Prentiss (cr Prentice, as he wrote it himself,

his descendants calling it Prentiss), was born at Cam-

bridge, in 1718, and was graduated at Harvard Uni-

versity in 1738. He had been trained from an early

age with a view to this holy calling, and early devoted

Idmself to the service of God. Rev. Charles Fitch

says that " his preaching was plain, instructive and

evangelical. For about five years before his death

his health was so greatly impaired as to render him

unable to preach, except occasionally. And, perhaps,

it was owing wholly to this circumstance that tbe

congregation was induced to procure, in 1784, a dis-

solution of the pastoral connection subsisting between

him and them.
" But the fact which seems most unpleasant upon

this subject is, that having fallen behind in the pay-

ment of his salary, the people should refuse his pecu-

niary claims, and compel him to the ungrateful task

of a civil prosecution. The demand was, however,

ultimately discharged without a legal process, greatly

to the credit of the people and the satisfaction of the

pastor. From the time of this settlement until his

death, peace and good feeling prevailed, as is evident

from the fact that after his dismission the town

exempted his estate from taxation, and appr<)|)riated

for the use of his family a seat in the meeting-house.

Mr. Prentiss finished his earthly course April 24,

1788, having attained the age of man, his threescore

years and ten, forty-two of which he employed in the

ministry among this people." He was thrice mar-

ried, and had nine children, the second of whom. Dr.

Thomas Prentiss, was pastor of the church in Med-

field from 1770 to the time of his death in 1814. The
eighth child, Margaret, married in 1789, Rev. Timothy

Dickenson, the successor of her father at Holliston.

" It was during the ministry of Mr. Prentiss, and
in the year 1748 that a number of families living re-

mote from the place of worship, and contiguous to

^ledway, were, for the sake of better accommodation,

set off from the congregation of Holliston by an act

of the General Court, and comprised as a component
part of the West Parish, in Medway, at its original

incorporation. The number of families belonging to

the religious society of this town was at that time

stated to be about ninety." '

After the dismissal of Mr. Prentiss there w;is a long

interval before the settlement of another ])astor.

Thirteen successive candidates were heard, and the

people were without a minister for one hundred and
five Sabbaths. But finally they decided, with " perfect

unanimity," to call Rev. Timothy Dickenson. Jlr.

Dickenson accepted the invitation, and was ordained

at Holliston, February 18, 1789. Plis salary was £200,

old tenor, at settlement and £80 per annum. He was

born at Amherst, Mass., June 25, 1761. "The traits

of character, which, more than any other, marked the

opening period of his existence, were the mildness

and araiableness of his natural disposition. He was

also noted in early childhood for a great fondness for

literary pursuits. So that, " although his constitution

was naturally slender, and his health feeble and in-

terrupted," a very considerable portion of the hours

which were not employed in manual labor were

devoted to study. He lived with his parents, and
labored on a farm until sixteen years of ago, when
beholding his country engaged in a common and

dubious struggle for independence, the deep interest

excited in his bosom for her welfare roused his youth-

ful ardor and would not suffer him to be dissuaded

from espousing her cause and enlisting as a private

soldier in the militia. In this capacity he continued

to serve in the army about fifteen months.
" Upon leaving this post of suflering and danger, his

health having been enfeebled by the exposures and
hardships to which he was unaccustomed, he com-

menced fitting for college under the tuition of the

Rev. Dr. Dwight, late president of Yale College, who
was then engaged in the instruction of a private

school at Northampton." - He was graduated at

Dartmoutt College in 1785. "While at college Mr_

Dickenson made a public profession of religion. He
was diligent and persevering in the prosecution of his

studies ; appeared to advantage at recitations and all

the literary exhibitions of his class ; and acf)uired

the reputation of a correct classical scholar." ' After

graduation he served for one year as preceptor of

Moore's Charity School, which was connected with

the college, and afterwards ofliciated as minister in

several different parishes in New Hampsliire before

he received the call to this society. In the Novem-
ber following his ordination he was married to a

daughter of Rev. Joshua Prentiss, with whom he lived

1 Fitch, before quoted, p, 18. 2 Fitch, pp., 18, 19. 20.



436 HISTORY OF MIDDLESEX COUNTY, MASSACHUSETTS.

until his death. They had seven children, two of

whom were physicians.

Mr. Dickenson as a preacher was " plain, faithful

and atfectioiiate. Me had a clear, strong and ideasant

voice, which enabled hiiu to speak with peculiar pro-

priety and energy ; and as lie aimed to draw the at-

tention of his hearers to his subject rather than to

himself, so he seldom failed of deeply impressing

their hearts and consciences." It appears that he

was sometimes too \Ai\\a and searching in his dis-

courses and that dis-satisfaction arose in consequence

among some o( his people ; so that in June, 1804, the

church called a council to consider the matter. The

council, while advising moderation and forbearance,

also advised a dissolution of the pastoral relation in

the month of August following, unless an amicable

adjustment of the difliculties should previously take

place. Hapi>ily these disagreements were gradually

reconciled, so that by the 2r)th of June the parish

passed a resolution in favor of the continuance of the

connection. And Mr. Dickenson remained in the

office of pastor and peacefully exercised the duties

thereof for about nine years afterward, during the re-

mainder of his life. After a lingering and painful

sickness, he calmly expired on the 6th day of July,

1813, having completed his fifty-second year and the

twenty-fourth year of his ministry.

For seventeen months after the decease of Mr.

Dickenson, the society was without a regular pastor,

the pulpit being supplied by candidates. The fourth

minister was the Rev. Josephus Wheaton, a man who

had been recommended to this society as one .adapted

to their needs, and well fitted to smooth and quiet the

disturbed relations of its members. He received a

unanimous invitation to take the pastoral charge,

which he accepted ; and he was ordained and in-

stalled December 6, 1815. His salary at settlement

wiis $000, and his annual stipcind also $600.

Mr. Wheaton was the son of Joseph Wheaton,

Esq., and was born at Rehoboth, Mass., March 16,

1788. "His natural disposition," says Fitch, " was-

amiable ; his behavior peaceable, condescending and

kind." He early evinced a strong thirst for knowl-

edge, and by his own energy and perseverance, ob-

tained a thorough education. He graduated with

distinguished honor in 1812 at Brown University,

where he continued his residence, studied theology

and at the same time was preceptor in an Academy in

Providence and then tutor in the University, where

he gratified his love for classical studies. While still

a tutor, he was licensed to preach, and was invited to

supply the sacred desk in this town. " His concilia-

ting deportment, amiable temper and dignified, yet

unaffected manners, won the atfection of those who
were not always pleased with his theological senti-

ments. He was completely successful in uniting and
harmonizing this people at a time when they were
found not a little discordant in opinion and feeling;

and enjoyed in an unusual degree, their respect, con-

fidence and afifection from the commencement to the

close of his ministerial life."

Mr. Wheaton was a student as well as pastor, and

excelled in a knowledge of the classics. His literary

character and his talents as an instructor made his

house a favorite resort for young men fitting for col-

lege or perfecting their education. He was an in-

structive and brilliant preacher and had a very at-

tractive style of delivery, although some times too ra-

pid. His whole scml appeared to be in his work and

he was sometimes eloquent in his discourse, aiming to

dress his thoughts in choice language.

The good and the talented often die young, and it

was so with Mr. Wheaton. After a gradual decline

of three years, he finally left the scene of his earthly

labors on the fourth day of February, 1825, at the age

of nearly thirty-seven years. He left a widow and

three children, two of whom adopted the profession of

the law, to which Mr. Wheaton himself had a predi-

lection before devoting his mind to the ministry.

Before his decease, Mr. Wheaton had the pleasure

of witnessing the completion of the new meeting-

house, in which he had been highly interested. It

was dedicated on the third day of December, 1823,

precisely one year less than a century after the incor-

poration of the town. "Mr. Wheaton delivered the

sermon on the interesting occasion, and it was pub-

lished ; and it stands as a lasting monument of the

man and the event, at the very close of his earthly

labors." Several other sermons were published and

also a work by him on school education.

The minister.-) up to this time all served during the

remainder of their lives after installation, according

to the olden custom. Those who follow remained

only for shorter periods of time.

Rev. Charles Fitch, a native of Williamstown,

Mass., was the successor of Mr. Wheaton, and was

installed pastor of this church, January 4, 1826. He
was a son of Ebenezer Fitch, D.D. the first presi-

dent of Williams College, and was born June 26,

1799. He entered Williams College at the age of

fifteen, graduated in 1819, and entered the Theologi-

cal vSeminary at Princeton the same year, graduating

therefrom in 1821. Among his ancestors were many
professional men, and Mr. Fitch himself possessed

literary attainments of a high order. After serving

as pastor of a church in Cherry Valley, N. Y., for

three years, he was invited to return to Massachu-

setts in 1825, with the expectation of filling a vacan-

cy in one of the larger towns. Finding the position

had been filled before his arrival, he accepted, after

a short time, the call to this church. The installa-

tion sermon was given by Rev. Dr. Wisner, of Bos-

ton. He labored here for six years, and his efforts

were highly successful. His fidelity w.as appreciated,

his reputation in the town was high, and his memory
is held in grateful remembrance. During his re.si-

dence here he delivered, December 4, 1826, a Century

sermon which was printed and has become a valuable

i
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record of the early history of the church and towu.

To this sermon the present writer is indebted for

many of the facts presented in this paper.

Mr. Fitch was dismissed Jfay 1, 18,'}2, principally

on account of some differences of feeling among the

parishioners, and many of those who liad become

interested in religion under his ministration united

with the newly formed Jfethodist church at that

time. After filling several other positions, he became

pastor of the Presbyterian clinreh at Mt. Vernon,

Indiana, in 1851, and of the Piesbyterian church at

Frankville, Iowa, in 1856. He resigned that ollice to

enter the army as chaplain, May 5, IStil, but lost his

health in the service and died while at home on a

leave of absence. May 3, 1863, at Evansville, In-

diana.

The sixth pastor was Kev. Elijah Deraond. He
was born at Rutland, Mass., November 1, 17SK), grad-

uated at Dartmouth College, in 1S16, and at Andover

Seminary, in 1820. After serving at the churches at

West Newbury and Lincoln, Mass., he was installed

pastor of this church, October 31, 1832. Although

remaining in HolHston but three and one-half years,

Mr. Demond must have performed faithful work, as

twenty-nine persons were added to the church during

his pastorate. He was dismissed by council, April

11, 1836. He afterwards preached in several other

towns in this State, and passed the last years of his

life at Westborough, where he died July 20, 1877, in

his eighty-seventh year.

During Mr. Demond's pastorate the subject of

warming the meeting-house again came up for con-

sideration. According to the ancient custom, the

only source of external heat up to this time had been

the foot-stoves which were brought from the homes

and were replenished at noon at the houses near-by.

" In 1829 the subject had been agitated and a commit-

tee appointed to report upon'the best method. But at

the nest meeting, the town first " voted to accept the

report of the committee relative to the best method of

warming the meeting-house," and then " voted not to

warm the meeting-house at all." But in 1833 a vote

was passed to warm the house, and a committee was

' authorized to procure a stove or stoves and place

them in the meeting-house at their discretion, and that

the funnel of said stove be extended through the roof

of the meeting-house." There was decided opposition

to this innovation. On the first Sunday after the stove

was put in, one of the leading opposers of the change

came out of the meeting house bitterly complaining

of the headache which the heat of the stove had caused

bim. But the laugh was turned upon him when it

appeared, that, as the day was mild, no fire had been

lighted."

In 1835 occurred the decease of Miss Elizabeth

Prentiss, a daughter of the second pastor of the

church. She lived for the purpose of doing good and

1 Historical Discourse at Celebration of Oue Huudred and Fiftieth An-

niveraary of the Formation of ttie Church, by George M. Adams, D.D.

was truly " an excellent woman ;" and among her

benefactions was her methodical plan of a.ssisting

young men to prepare themselves for the ministry.

In the year 1836, the parochial business which had

always been conducted in a town-meeting, was for-

ni.illy separated and a new organization was formed

including only such as wished to join it.

Rev. John Storrs born in Mansfield, Conn., Sept.

6,1801, was the next minister. lie graduated at

Middlebury College in 1824, afterwards studied the-

ology and was ordained at Barre, Mass., in 1820. He
afterwards settled at Norwich, Conn., before coining

to Holliston, and was thirty-five years of age when
installed here, December 20, 1836. The installation

sermon was given by Rev. Joel Hawes (afterwards

D. D.) of Hartford, a native of Medway, Mass., and

(me of the young men who had been encouraged and

assisted by Miss Elizabeth Prentiss, before mentioned.

This sermon was printed by a vote of the church.

Mr. Storrs labored diligently during the six years

of his ministry and thirty-six new members were ad-

ded to the church. He was dismissed November 8,

1842. Afterwards he filled some other stations and

then settled in Winchendon, Mass., in 1849, as pastor

and died there in May 1854. The interest felt in him

by his former people in Holliston was evinced by

their request to print his funeral sermon at their own

expense.

The eighth clergyman who had charge of the

church was Rev. Timothy Dwight P. Stone, born at

Cornwall, Connecticut, about 1811, the son of Rev.

Timothy Stone, and adopted son of Rev. Ebenezer

Porter, D.D., professor in the theological seminary at

Andover. He graduated at Amherst College in 1834,

and afterwards studied divinity at Andover. This was

his first parish, and he was ordained here March],

1843, Rev. Dr. Leonard Woods, of Andover, preach-

ing the sermon. Like his predecessor, Mr. Stone

served six years and had the satisfaction of witnessing

substantial additions to the church during his pastor-

ate. Impaired health led him to seek a dismission in

1849, and his ministry terminated on the second day

of March. He then became chaplain of the State Re-

form School at Westborough, was afterwards princi-

pal of the State Normal School of Connecticut, and

later a teacher at Albany, New York.

Rev. Joshua T. Tucker (afterwards D.D.) follows

next in the line of ministers. He was the son ofJoshua

Tucker, of IMilton, Massachusetts, where he was born

September 20, 1812. He came from old Puritan

stock, being a descendant of Robert Tucker, who
lived in Weymouth in 1639. He fitted for college at

Phillips' Academy, graduated at Yale in 1833, and

pursued his professional studies at Lane Seminary,

Cincinnati.- After ordination in the State of Illinois

in 1837, he served as missionary and pastor in Illinois

and Missouri until 1848, and also as an editor at St.

Louis from 1846 to 1848. He was installed the ninth

pastor of this church June 6, 1849, Rev. William M.
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Rogers, of Bo»ton, delivering the sermon, and the

venerable Dr. Ide, of Mcdwiiy, Riving for the third

time the clmrge to :i Ilolliston pnstor. " At the com-

meneement of his ministry about 1^)0 families," says

Dr. Aduuia, " were connected with the congregation,

and the church numbered 174." A period of great

religious interest oecurred during his pastorate, and

at Its close the church had increased to 409. Many

young men have gone forth from this church during

its history as missionaries and pastors; but durinir

Dr. Tucker's years of service there was an unusually

large number. Edward B. French, George F. Walker

and the three brotliers, Lyman, F^lijah and Calvin

Cutler (sons of Amos and Sarah Cutler) were all or-

dained to the work of the ministry during his time.

Dr. Tucker visited Europe on account of his health

in 18511, and during the five montlis of his absence

the pulpit was supplied by Rev. William M. Thayer,

of Franklin. It was at this time that the meet-

ing-house was raised, rooms were arranged in the

basement and an addition built at the west end for

the accommodation of the organ and choir. Then

the house was .again dedicated, December 2, 1859,

Rev. Dr. Andrew L. Stone, of Boston, preaching the

sermon.

Dr. Tucker was a man of much ability, both as a

preacher and a writer, and many of his sermons and

other literary compositions have been published-

While here, he was associate editor of the Boston Re-

corder, a denominational paper well-known at that

time and now merged in the Congregationa/isf.

Dr. Tucker was much interested in the history and

antiquities of the town, and among his discoveries

was one which he thus describes: "One day when I

w.as in the village tin-shop, my eye was caught by an

unusually shaped vessel lying in the corner, on a pile

of old refuse, which I picked up and examined. It

was a flagon of perhaps three pints' capacity, bearing

this inscription : 'The gift of Mrs. Dorothy Ware,

late of Sherborne, to the church in Holliaton, 1745.'

The workman stated that some one had brought it in

and sold it and that he should melt it up for solder, as

it w.is a much purer metal than could now be got for

that purpose. I purchased it of him at his own price,

and retained it as private property." This tankard is

said to be now in the 'possession of the Worcester

Society of Antiquity.

Another pewter Hagon was found in a distant town,

the owner having purchased it of a tin-peddler nearly

fifty years ago. Its existence having become known
to persons here it was purchased and is now in the

possession of John M. Batchelder. It is inscribed,

" The gift of the town of Sherbourn to the church in

Holliston, a memorial of friendship, Anno Dom.
1728."

The condition of Dr. Tucker's he.alth obliged him
to ask for a dismission in 1867, and he gave a fare-

well discourse on the 31st day of March. This ser-

mon was printed and contains many factii of historical

value, relating to the church. Although he termi-

nated his duties at that time, the formal act of dis-

mission was not performed until the following

November, by the same council which ordained his

successor. He afterwards served as pastor of the

Second Congregational Church in Chicopee, for about

ten years, and has, since 1877, devoted his time to

literary work. He has resided in Dorchester and in

Andover, Mass., and is at present in the latter town.

Rev. William H. Sav.age was the tenth jiastor of

this church. He was born in Woolwich, Me., and
graduated at Bowdoin College in 1858. He became
Professor of Mathematics in Delaware College in

1859. He enlisted in the Seventeenth Maine Regi-

ment in 1862, and was appointed captain of Company
A, serving in the Army of the Potomac. He after-

wards studied divinity at Andover, and was ordained

minister of the church at Holliston, November 7,

1867. Rev. Professor Park, of Andover, delivered the

sermon, and Dr. Tucker gave the address to the peo-

ple. Mr. Savage's pastorate continued but little

more than two years, and was the shortest of any of

the ministers of this church, whereas Dr. Tucker's

was the longest since the time of Jlr. Dickenson. Sub-

stantial additions were made to the church, however,

forty-one new members being admitted, one of whom,

F. A. Warfield, soon commenced preparation for the

ministry, and has since been pastorof Union Church,

in Boston. He is now at Brockton, Mass.

Late in the year 1869, on account of the health of

himself and family, Mr. Savage asked for a dismis-

sion, which was granted December 30th of that year.

He afterwards served as pastor of the Congregational

Church in J.acksonville, 111., and of the Unitarian

Church in Leominster, Mass. He is now in the Uni-

tarian Church at Watertown, Mass.

He w.as succeeded by Rev. Henry S. Kelsey,

who was installed October 13, 1870, Rev. Jacob M.

Manning, D.D., of the Old South Church in Boston,

preaching the installation sermon.

"Mr. Kelsey was born at Evans Mills, Jefl'erson

County, N. Y., gradu.ated at Amherst College in 1855,

and studied theology at the seminaries in New York

City and East Windsor, Conn. Before entering the

ministry he taught several years in Amherst College,

and was professor in Beloit College, Wisconsin. He
was ordained at Crranby, Mass., in October, 1863, and

installed at Rockville, Conn., in 1866."

In the year 1872, at the suggestion of Mr. Kelsey,

the new parsonage was built—in part by subscription

and in part by a portion of the Eames Ministerial

Fund—and the deed was made to the trustees of that

Fund. This bequest was made by Captain Aaron

Eames, a member of the church and a resident of the

north part of Holliston (now within the bounds of

Ashland), who died about 1824. His farm and other

property, to the amount of seven or eight thousand

dollars, were given " to the Parochial part of the

town," for the support of evangelical preaching. The
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first trustees, chosen in a town-meeting in September,

1824, were Captain Samuel Bullard, Captain Abner

Johnson, Dr. Timothy Fisk, !\Ir. Charles Marsh and

Mr. James Cutler. They were directed to " draw a

petition requesting the General Court, at their next

session, to incorporate them into a body politic for

the purpose mentioned above." Vacancies in this

board are filled by vote of the parish.

Mr. Kelsey remained but a few months longer than

his predecessor. Having received an invitation from

another church, he asked to be released from his en-

gagement here, and was dismissed March 6, 1873.

He was installed at Woburn, Massachusetts, soon

after, and has since acted as pastor of a church in

New Haven, Connecticut.

The twelfth minister was Rev. George M. Adams
(afterwards D.D.). He was installed September 11,

1873, Rev. Edmund K. Alden, D.D., of South Boston,

delivering the sermon. Rev. Dr. Tucker, Rev. Mr.

Kelsey and Rev. Dr. Dowse, of Sherborn, took parts

in the ceremony, the latter assisting for the fifth time

in settling a pastor over this church. Dr. Adams was

born in Castine, Maine, was educated at Gorham Acad-

emy, Gorham, Maine, and at Bowdoin College, where he

graduated in 1844. He has been for several years a

member of the Board of Examiners of that college. He
studied theology at Bangor, Maine, Halle and Berlin,

Germany, and Audover, Massachusetts. He was or-

dained at Conway, Massachusetts, September 18, 1851,

and was installed pastor of the Congregational Church

in that town. He remained there until 1863, when he

became pastor of the North Church in Portsmouth,

New Hampshire, serving in that oflSce until 1871. He
then made an extensive tour in the Holy Land with

his family. After his return he was installed pastor

of the church in HoUiston, as above noted.

In 1852 he married Miss Sarah Hills Crosby, of

Bangor, Maine, who died in 1859. In 1862 Miss

Louisa Lord Dana, of Brookline, Massachusetts, be-

came his wife. Dr. Adams is a very able man and

possessed the respect and esteem not only of his own
people, but of all the inhabitants of HoUiston ; and it

was with great regret that they learned of his decision

to withdraw from the parish and the town.

He served for twelve years on the School Committee

of this town, much of the time as chairman ; and his

removal was a great loss to the cause of education.

He was also one of the trustees of the Public Library

from its found.ation until the year 1889 ; and his por-

trait still looks upon the scene of his labors there, in

which he took so much interest. Dr. Adams was dis-

missed from the care of this church April 1, 1889, but

continued to supply the pulpit until May 1st.

Of his writings there have been printed an histor-

ical discourse delivered July, 1871, at the two hun-

dredth anniversary of the North Church, Portsmouth,

New Hampshire ; and an historical discourse delivered

at the one hundred and fiftieth anniversary of the

Congregational Church at HoUiston.

Dr. Adams has, since his removal, resided at Au-

burndale, Massachusetts, and Castine, Maine.

In July, 1890, the church and the parish each voted

to invite Rev. Frank I. Wheat, of Franklin, N. Y.,

to settle here as the pastor. He was ordained and
,

installed the thirteenth pastor by a council of clergy-

men of this Conference, Septeu;ber 11, 1890. Rev.

A. E. Dunning, D.D., of Boston, delivered the ser-

mon, and Rev. L. R. Eastman, of Framingham, Rev.

Dr. G. M. Adams, the predecessor of Mr. Wheat, and

Rev. Dr. Dowse, of .Sherborn, were among those who
took parts in the service. The fine music added much
to the interest of the occasion. It was rendered by a

large choir, under the direction of Mrs. S. C. Stoddard,

musical director. Miss M.S. White, organist, and Mrs.

C. F. Thayer, soloist.

Mr. Wheat was born in Franklin, N. Y., in 1862.

He was educated in the schools of the town, in Wil-

liams College and Boston University, where he grad-

uated in 1889. He studied theology also in Boston

University and graduated in June, 1890. While a

student he served as pastor of a church in North Bev-

erly, Mass., for two years. He is the youngest pastor

ever installed in this church.

A Society of "Christian Endeavor" is connected

with this church and numbers about fifty members.

The Sunday-school was first permanently organized

during the pastorate of Rev. Joseplius Wheaton.

Deacon Timothy Rockwood was the first superintend-

ent and the number of scholars was between forty

and fifty. The first meeting-house was a very plain

structure, without steeple or spire, and had a strong

resemblance externally to a country school-house of

the olden time, except that its dimensions were great-

er. " In the year 1787 the meeting-house was enlarged

according to the following votes:—'Voted that there

be an addition made to the meeting-house by putting

fourteen feet into the middle.' ' Voted to build a

Porch in the front of said house with two pairs of

stairs in the same to go into the Galleries.' The gal-

lery stairs up to this time had been in the audience-

room, at each side, about one-fourth the distance

from the rear of the church to the pulpit. It was

voted to have the house painted inside and out, the

outside to be an orange color, the in.side to be a stone

color. It was al.so ' Voted to appropriate the two

seats in the front Gallery, on the Women's side, to

the use of the singers.' ' Voted that Lieut. Josiah

Hemenway, Sylvanus Johnson, Ensign Nathaniel

Johnson, Ebenezer Littlefield and Isaac Foster be

Quiristers.' These votes contain the first reference 1

have found to singing in the meeting-house in either

town or church records."

'

*

When the new church was built in 1823, a bell of

1600 pounds weight, cast by Holbrook, of East Med-
way, was placed in it; and this was the first church

bell in town. The inscription on the bell reads : " I

1 George M. Adams, D.D., Bermon before quoted.
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to the church the living call, and to the grave do BUni-

luoii ill!."

When this buildiiit; wiw dediciited, Mr. Wheaton

says ill liis Keruion, " Tbere is a iiropriety llicrefore^

iu eri'iliiig suitable liouses of woi-sliij" wlieii ciiciim-

HtaiK-e» require. It is not necessary to wail until the

hotiBc is ready to crumble into ruins. ... In

such circumstances, when it becomes old and incom-

modious, it is proper that a new house should be erected

and ill a style corresponding with the dignity of the

purpose for which it is designed." The church clock

on the interior gallery was the gilt of Nathaniel

Johnson, Esq. ; the tower clock was purchased by the

society.

The old meeting-house was taken down and the

materials sold in parcels at auction. The broad pine

jianels which formed the front of the singers' gallery

were bought by the late .lames White, father of Wil-

liam White, and were placed on the side of a room

in a new house which he built about that time. It is

said that the central panel had painted on it the

date of the completion of the meeting-house, 1728,

the date of its enlargement, and a much earlier date,

probably that of the first settlement of the town.

"But iu an evil hour for our interests," says Dr.

Adams, " an over-tidy servant scrubbed olT the time-

worn figures and left the panel clean."

Mr. White also bought the broad door-stone of the

church, some five and a half feet square, and cutting

it in the middle, made two stones for the entrances to

his house.

The meeting-house was refitted and painted in

1845, and in 1850 it was repaired and enlarged by

cutting it in the middle and inserting a piece of suffi-

cient length to allow the building of four additional

pews in each row, or twenty-four pews in all. The

chandelier was the gift of Elial Littlefield.

Since the remodeling of the edifice in 1859, already

noticed, the church is in the highest degree conven-

ient for every religious and social meeting which it is

desired to hold there.

In the year 1S31 public worship was commenced in

the Town Hall by persons of the Methodist faith, and

a church was organized, Kev. Jonathan Cady being

the first minister. " From an early date," says Rev.

Dr. Dowse, "there were some citizens of the town

who belonged to this denomination, and these were

increased by the influx of population from abroad, so

th<it it was deemed expedient to organize a separate

religious enterprise. The society was small and fee-

ble at first, but it has grown in numbers and wealth

until it long since has not only become a fixed fact,

but a great nforal and Christian force in the commu-
nity."

The first sermon preached by a Methodist minister

wa-s delivered by Kev. Mr. Bonsil in 1794, in the barn
of Mr. Ebenezer Cutler, and others followed occasion-

ally; but some persons had previously attended ser-

vices at Hayden Row in IJopkinton, near the borders

of HoUiston. The meeting-house was built here in

1833 and dedicated September 18th of that year. It

was repaired and remodeled in 1874 and rededicated

February 3, 1S75. The society was incorporated, ac-

cording to law, December 27, 1850. There have been

altogether thirty-four pastors to this church, whose

times of service have varied from a few months to

three years. The present incumbent is Rev. John

H. Emerson. The present parsonage, which is con-

venient to the church, was purchased in 1850 ; but

there was a parsonage before that time, on Norfolk

Street, built about 1848, chiefly through the efforts ol

Jonathan Cutler, Esq. There has been a Sabbath-

school connected with the church from the begin-

ning. It then numbered fifty scholars and the first

superintendent was I. G. Rawson. The superintend-

ent now, in 1890, is D. C. Mowry and nearly 150 per-

sons attend it. An auxiliary society for Christian

effort is the Epworth League, consisting of fifty-five

members in its adult branch and thirty-five in the

junior branch.

May 31, 183G, sixteen persons were legally organized

as the Universalist Society of Holliston. This society

at first held its services in the town-hall. Two
years after its organization a meeting-house was

built, which was dedicated January 9, 1839. In

1854 it was raised up and stores were built under it.

The society was served by seven ministers during

the twenty-four years of its regular existence which

terminated in 1860. Services have, however, been

held since that date, and are still conducted in 1890.

The Baptist Society occupied their meeting-house

from 1864 until the close of the year 1867, when their

own vestry was ready for use. In 1867 the Univer-

salist Society voted to sell their meeting-house, and

it came into the possession of the Catholic Society.

They held it until 1870, when it was moved away,

and the land was used by the latter society as a

site for their new church. The Universalist Society

has lately been re-incorporated, and holds service

every Sunday afternoon in Reform Club Hall, gen-

erally conducted by a clergyman from the Milford

Church.

The Baptist Society was formed iu 1860. It held

its first public religious meeting in the town-hall on

February 12th and the church was organized on the

28th day of the t(>llowing August, a council being

convened at that time. It consisted of nineteen

members. The first preacher was Rev. J. D. E. Jones,

of Worcester, and Rev. B. A. Edwards (1860) was

the first regular supply. Revs. J. L. A. Fish, Geo.

W. Holman, R. G. Johnson, A. A. Bennett, F. L.

Sullivan, E. L. Scott and E. D. Bowers have followed

him, and the present pastor, in 1890. is Rev. M. N.

Reed, installed in 1889.

The society continued to hold services in the low-

er town-hall until 1864, when it hired and occupied

the meeting-house of the Universalist Society until

1867. They commenced to build a new meeting-
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house in 186(5, and on December 29, 18G7, tlie first

service was held in the vestry. Work was continued

on the house amid the difficulties incident to the be-

ginning of a new enterprise, and it was finally com-

pleted, and was dedicated January 2G, 1870. It is a

commodious and tasteful building. The church

and society are now well establi.shed and their future

is promising. The Sunday-school wiis organized

February 20, 1860, with nineteen members, A. G.

Fitch being the superintendent. The membership

in 1890 ia 142, and the present superintendent is

George W. Leland. A Society of Christian Endeavor

is connected with the parish.

This church celebrated the thirtieth anniversary

of its foundation on the 10th day of September, 1890.

The event had been anticipated with pleasurable ex-

pectations, and they were fully realized.

" In response to invitations, past pastors, former

resident members and the local members assem-

bled in the main audience-room, together with

the general public, to unite in celebrating the attain-

ment of thirty years of church prosperity. The
auditorium was finely decorated, a motto ' 1860-1890 '

being conspicuously displayed on the wall. An ad-

dress of welcome was given by the pastor, Rev. M. N.

Reed, a most graceful and fitting prelude to the

exercises of the day. Rev. A. A. Bennett, of Japan,

and Rev. E. D. Bowers, of Sharon, represented the

former psistors, and gave pleasing reminiscences of

their connection with the church, and congratula-

tions at the present and prospective prosperity of the

society." ' Letters were read from other pastors and

friends. Rev. A. A. Bennett presented the church

with portraits of Rev. F. L. Sullivan, Rev. E. L.

Scott, Rev. E. D. Bowers and Rev. M. N. Reed, the

gift of W. H. Clark. These, in addition to the

portraits already possessed by the church, make the

collection complete. A fitting response was made by

George W. Leland, in behalf of the church. A social

evening was passed in the vestry, where old friend-

ships were renewed, and memories of former days

were recalled. The music was fine, and appropriate

to the occasion, under thedirection of E. W. Colburn.

Prof. G. F. Rice presided at the new and excellent

organ, which had recently been obtained. Altogether

it was a red-letter day for this prosperous society.

An Episcopal society was formed in Holliston in

1864, Rev. Benjamin T. Cooley being the first rector.

When public services first commenced, there was but

one communicant in the town ; but after five years ora

little more, when the services were discontinued,

there were about forty members. They worshipped

in the lower town-hall. The society purchased of the

town a lot of land on Mt. Hollis, and laid the founda-

tion for a church, but they never reached a condition

when they could erect a building. In the great fire

in May, 1875, the records of the society, together with

1 J. F. Fiske, in ttie Milford Netoa.

a silver communion service, the gift of Bishoj)

Huntington to the church, were destroyed. The parish

still has a legal existence, and the meeting of the

wardens and vestry is held annually. Occasional

services are also held.

Catholic services had been held in the town-hall

for a considerable tin)e, conducted by priests from

neighboring |>arishcs, when in the year 1870 a new
parish was formed, and Rev. R. .1. Quinlan was

appointed rector. He has remained in that position

to the present day, and a large church has been

gathered from the population of this and the

neighboring towns. As before stated, this society

purchased the old meeting-house of the Universalist

Society ; and in 1873 they commenced the erection of

a church-building on that lot. Services were first

held on Christmas of that year, in the vestry, before

the completion of the church. It has since been

completed and is a substantial edifice, well adapted

to the wants of the parish. A Sunday-school, of which

the rector is superintendent, is connected with the

church. Rev. Mr. Quinlan has for several years been

a member of the School Committee.

The permanent physicians of Holliston have been

few in number. During many early years of its his-

tory the people were probably served by i)hysicians

from neighboring towns, and after 1772, Dr. Jonathan

Tay (familiarly called Dr. Toy), who lived in Sher-

born, not far from the Holliston line, included this

town in his circuit. He lived until 1827.

The first regularly educated physician who settled

here was Timothy Fisk, JI.D., a graduate of Harvard

College in 1801. He was born in Holliston, Novem-
ber 3, 1778, the tenth child of David and Sarah (Bul-

lard) Fisk, and a descendant of John and Lydia

(Adams) Fisk, who came from Watertown to Sher-

boru (now Holliston) soon after the year 1700. Dr
Fisk commenced the practice of medicine in his na-

tive town, and for about sixty years was the valued

and trusted physician of a large number of inhabit-

ants. He was a man of the highest character and a

valuable member of the community. " For forty

years," says Walker, " he was a member of the Con-

gregational Church and one of its most faithful sup-

porters. He died suddenly in his chair, dressed as

for his usual duties, December 17, 1863, from conges-

tion of the lungs. His funeral was largely attended,

and his name will live in grateful and endeared re-

membrance." He married Rhoda, daughter of Isaiah

and Abigail Daniels, of Medway. They had five

childreii, of whom two survived their father, Frederick

and Ferdinand.

Sewall G. Burnap, M.D., was also a prominent

physician and citizen of the town. He was born

in Temple, N. H., March 12, 1802, studied med-
icine at Dartmouth College and graduated in 1826.

He settled at once in Holliston and practiced here

for forty-eight years. He was an excellent physi-

cian, and possessed the esteem and attachment of
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hig patieuu. He had also ii good standing among

bis brothers In the profession, and at one time

served aa president of the Middlesex South District

Mediial Soiiely. He was also several times appoint-

ed in his turn iicouiisolldr of the Jlassachusetts Med-

ical Society, and occupied that place at llie time of

his death. To him tlie present writer is much in-

debteil for counsel and advice in the earlier years of

his |iractice.

Dr. Burnap was a prominent and u.seful citizen and

hiijhly respected by his townsmen ; was for many

years a member of the Oonj^regational Church, and

was a director ot the Holliston Bank from its forma-

tion. He died October l(i, 1874. Not long after com-

ing to this town he was appointed postmaster, and held

that office for sixteen or seventeen years, using the

small bniUling attached to his residence for that pur-

pose. He married, in 18;i2, Betsy Brown, of Holliston,

who died in 1851. He afterward married Elizabeth

S. Blanchard, who still resides here. He left no

children.

Hiram Lake,M.D., has been a physician in Holliston

for foity-four years and has enjoyed a large practice.

He was born at Rehoboth, Massachusetts, August 25,

1820, and was educated in the public schools of that

town and in the academy at I'rovidence, R. I., where

he was prepared for aidmission to the Medical College.

He graduated in medicine at the college in Cincinnati,

Ohio, in 184fi, and settled here in the same year. He
is a genial man, a good citizen and has identified his

interests with those of his adopted town. In addition

to his medical practice, in which he has secured the

regard and good will of his patients. Dr. Lake has

filled many offices of a public character. He has for

years been a trustee of the Methodist Episcopal

Church ; treasurer of various temperance societies
;

chairman and secretary of the Board of Health for

twenty years ; and treasurer of the lodge of F. and

A. Masons. He is a member of the Lodge and En-

campment of the I. O. O. F„ and is a trustee and au-

ditor of the Holliston Savings Bank.

Charles C. Je.wett, M.D., was born in South Ber-

wick, Maine, in November, 1831, settled in Holliston

as a physician about 1854, and practiced here about

seven years. July 2, 18fil,be enlisted in Company B,

Sixteenth Regiment, Massachusetts Infantry Volun-

teers, and when the regiment was completed, he was

made its surgeon. He afterwards served as surgeon-

in-Chiefof the Third Brigade, Third Division, Second

Army corps. Returning in 1864, be remained for a

while in Boston and then resumed practice in Hollis-

ton. But after a short residence he removed to

Brooklyn, N. Y., and died in that city.

Charles E. Spring, M.D., was born in Grafton, Vt,
November 19, 1842, and came to this town as a phy-

sician in 1874. He was educated in the common
schools and in Burr & Burton Seminary, at Manches-
ter, Vt., and graduated at the Albany Medical Col-

lege in 1864. He was then immediately appointed an

acting assisting surgeon U. S. A., and was stationed

for about one year at Hampton Hospital, Va. After

the close of this service he settled as a physician at

Jamaica, Vermont, where he remained until he re-

moved to Holliston. While at Jamaica he married,

in January, 1867, Viona M. Adams. They have had

five children, of wliom four are living. Dr. Spring

hius been highly successful as a physician, and holds a

liigh rank as a citizen. He represented this district

in the Legislatures of 1888 and 1889, has been a mem-
ber of the Board of Health during nearly the whole

time of his residence here, a member of the School

tJommiltee for about fourteen years and secretary of

that board for a portion of that time. Failing health

admonished him to seek rest and recuperation in his

native State, and he passed there the whole of the

summer months of 1890, his absence being greatly

regretted by his numerous friends in this town. In

September of that year he returned home and re-

sumed practice to a limited extent.

Dr. Spring died October 25, 1890, since the above

was written.

Dr. Andrew J. Stevens was born in Haverhill,

Mass., graduated at the Harvard Medical School, and

settled in Provincetown, Mass. After remaining

there about three years he removed to Holliston,

about the year 1874, and practiced here for some

thirteen years. He then removed to Maiden, Mass.,

where he now resides. He was succeeded by Dr.

Edward Roth, who remained for about one year, and

transferred his practice to Dr. F. Grant Atkins, in

September, 1888. Dr. Atkins, who is here in 1890,

was born in Devonshire, England, in 1842. He was

educated at Harrow and at King's College, London
;

studied medicine at London and Edinburgh, and grad-

ated at the latter college in 1869. He is a member

of the Royal College of Surgeons of London, and a

licentiate of the London College of Physicians.

After practicing in Derbyshire, England, he came

to this country, in 1888. He is married and has one

son.

Dr. George W. Stearns graduated in Philadel-

phia in 1851, and first came to Holliston in 1881.

He has practiced here for five or six years, hav-

ing lived elsewhere a portion of the intervening

time. He is here and in practice, however, in 1890.

In the summer season he resides and practices in Cot-

tage City, Mass.

Dr. I. C. Pope was born in Westborough, Mass., in

1855, and was educated in the public schools and

in Worcester and Wilbrabam Academies. His

medical education was obtained at Jefferson Medical

College, Philadelphia, where he graduated in 1888.

After practicing in Waltham, Mass., more than a

year, he came to Holliston in February, 1890. He
was married, in 1880, to Miss Nellie V. Hall, of Mil-

bury, Mass.

There are no other physicians who have lived here

for any great length of time. Dr. George Wilkins
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was bere for three years, and died May '2, 1820, aged

thirty-two years, according to an inscription in the

Central Cemetery. Dra. Heard, McClure, Page,

Hitchcock, Barker and perhaps others were in town

at diderent times during the past titty years, but for

short periods only.

For many years one or more members of the dental

profession have been present in Holliston. Dr. G. L.

Cooke, of Milford, came liere every week for a long

time, having an office in the town ; and Dr. Hayes

was settled here for a number of years. The only

dentist at the present time is Dr. E. C. Stoddard,

who has been in practice in Holliston for about ten

years.

The legal profession has been represented by sev-

eral practitioners; but of them, one only was long a

resident of the town. George M. Woodward, Her-

man Bragg, George C. Travis, J. H. Ladd, W. A.

Kingsbury (now judge of the District Court, at Fram-

ingham) ; and, iu 1890, J. P. Dexter, a student of

Henry Hogan, have been here at different times.

Rev. George F. Walker, in his article before quoted,

says concerning Esquire Bullard, " The first and only

lawyer who had a permanent residence in Holliston

was Elias Bullard : He was born in West Medway,

December 30, 1799. He received a common-school

education, and was aided in preparing for college by

the venerable Dr. Jacob Ide, of West Medway, and

graduated from Brown University in the class of 1823.

He studied law with Elijah Morse, Esq., of Boston,

three years ; was admitted to the bar, and came to

Holliston, October 7, 1826, commencing the practice

of his profession. In 1834-35 and in 1870 he was

elected to represent the town in the Legislature, the

last time having the honor of calling the House to

order, as the senior member. In the practice of his

profession he has an unusual record of justice, and his

counsels have ever beeu those of pacification. He
was willing to assist those in trouble at a loss of his

own pecuniary advantage. Had his life been spared

through the remainder of another year, to October 7,

1876, he would have completed half a century of the

practice of his profession in Holliston. He died No-

vember 2, 1875. His funeral was largely attended by

the citizens of the town, and from the surrounding

towns. He was for several years before his death a

consistent member of the Congregational Church,"

Esquire Bullard, as he was called by every one, was

one of the most prominent and respected citizens of

Holliston in his day, and during his life he was

chosen to fill all the offices in the gift of the town.

He originated the plan of a town library.

Schools.—In less than seven years after incorpora-

tion the town granted money for the support of a

public school, the education of the children being

considered nearly or quite as important as the estab-

lishment of church privileges. In 1738 three districts

were formed, the North, West and Central, and it was

voted to build a school-house in each district, and that

£100 be assessed upon the inliabitants to defray the

cost, and that each man have liberty to work out his

part of the assessment. May 27, 1754, there was
" Voted, Ten pounds For a Reading and Highting

school Tliis present year." In 1765, £25 were appro-

priated for public schools, and were divided among
the three districts. "The first school-houses were not

magnificent in their dimensions or appointments.

Tliose in the north and west were fourteen by
eighteen feet, with ' seven-foot posts,' and the one in

the centre, si.xteen by twenty feet. They were doubt-

less large enough to accommodate the scholars of

those days, and being warmed in winter by fires in

large open fire-places, the ventilation must liave been

good, with little danger of a too high temperature." '

In 1801 eight school districts were formed and $334

were appropriated for the support of the eight schools.

At the JIarch meeting in 1807, a committee was

chosen to have the general care of the schools, con-

sisting of Dr. Timothy Fisk, Lt. Elijah Walkins and

Capt. John HavenJ; 1500 were granted for schools.

The appropriation for school purposes continued to

increase with the increasing number of scholars. In

1830 it was $700, in 1875 it was $6000, and of late

years $6800 annually. In 1846 the town took posses-

sion of the property of the school districts.

The number of schools has gradually increased

until, in 1890, there are, besides a high school, five

grammar, one intermediate and nine lower schools,

five of which are not graded. F. B. Gamwell is the

superintendent of schools, and in his report pre-

sented in March, 1890, he recommends a concentra-

tion of schools by the conveyance of scholars, as

allowed by law, to central points where the benefits of

graded schools can be enjoyed by all the children of

the town. This plan has been adopted by some towns

in this State, to the manifest advantage of the pupils,

while with judicious management the expenditures

required of the town have not been increased.

A private high school was commenced in the town

as early as 1831, under William Gammel, teacher.

He was succeeded by Daniel Forbes, in 1833 ; Pardon

D. Tiffany, in 1834, and Edward Stone, in the winter

of 1835-36. The school was not kept continuously up

to this time, but generally for one or two terms in a

year, the fall term having the largest attendance.

In the spring of 1836 Rev. Gardner Rice was in-

duced to take charge of the school for one term. So

great was his success that by the wishes of all he con-

tinued to occupy the place as principal for about eight

and oae-half years. When he commenced his labors

the total attendance was seventy-six, but it soon began

to increase, and continued to increase until the

number of pupils in 1842 was 361, which was the

largest number in any year. The aggregate attend-

ance during the whole time of service of Mr. Rice

and his assistants was 2140, comprising not only

1 Rev. Geo. F. W^alker in Drake's " History of Middlesex County.'"
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n-Bidents of Holliston, but of many surrounding and

some diutant towns. lu 183G Ariister Rice changed

the character <>f the school somewhat by introducing

the manual labor system, and, in 1837, the name of

Hollinton Hif;h School wa.s changed to " HoUiston

Manual-Labor School." The success of this insti-

tution was such that, in 183it, it took the. name of

"Holliston Academy," and the following aiinounce-

meut, made at that time, will show the general

character of the institution and the principles upon

which it was conducted:

"The object of instruction at this institution is not

only tocommunicate a knowledge of facts, but to fit the

pupil for the duties of life, by developing and dis-

ciplining the [lowers of the mind, enabling it to think

and act for itself. The course of study is designed to

be systematic and extensive, including all those

branches which are requisite to prepare the pupil for

the common business of life, or for a higher course of

collegiate or ])rofessional studies.

"Since morality and virtue are essential to the

peace and prosperity of this or any other institution,

every reasonable precaution will be used to preserve

and maintain in all departments of the school a

strictly moral state of feeling.

"The discipline of the school is designed to be

stricily parental, and in the administration of this

discipline direct appeals to the better principles of

the heart will be re.sorted to, rather than severe and

disgraceful punishment. If, however, the conduct of

a student render it evident that he is not susceptible

of such influence, he will immediately, and if possible

without unnecessary disgrace, be returned to his

friends. Every effort will be given to those gentle-

men and ladies who are calculating to teach, both in

obtaining schools aTid in preparing them for their

schools."

Master Rice secured the affection and respect of his

pupils and aroused their enthusiasm, and they always

looked back to their .school-days under his tuition

with the most pleasant feelings, as was shown in the

year 1875, when some two hundred of them surprised

him by a visit fo his home in Shrewsbury, Mass.

The town-hall was used as a school-room for the

High School until the year 1851, and the general ap-

preciation by the town of the labors of Mr. Rice was

demonstrated by a vote passed September 23, 1844,

by which he was " exonerated from paying any claims

which the town hold against him, incurred by his use

of the Town-Hall for a High School." Mr. Rice re-

tired from the academy in 1844.

Several other teachers followed,—Messrs. Cutler,

Hoitt, Peterson, Gleason, Graves, Sears, Washburn,
Parker, Pond, Kingsbury, Choate, Stiles, and Baker,

—and the school was continued. In the year

18-50 Deacon Timothy Walker, who had removed
from Medway to Holliston, erected a building on the

south side of Jasper's Hill for the use of this school,

the land, a lot of nine acres, being provided by the

subscriptions of individuals. It was called Mt. Hol-

lis Seminary, and that hill has since been generally

known its Mt. Hollis. It wjls dedicated in ,Iune,

1851, the address being delivered by Rev. J. P. Cleve-

land, D.D., then of Providence, R. I. Rev. George

F. Walker, now of Hampden, Mass., a son of Deacon

Walker, was the principal at this time. In 1856,

when Dr. I. H. Nutting had the charge, the town,

through a committee, made arrangements with him to

receive the pupils of the town qualified to enter a

high school ; and this contract was continued until the

town purchased the Seminary building and estab-

lished a public high school there. The building was

destroyed by fire October 25, 1871. Another high

school-house was built on the same lot in 1874 and

has been occupied to the present time. The principal

for 1889-90 was Carl E. Holbrook, who, for the pur-

pose of continuing his studies, resigned his position

at the close of the spring term of 1890, to the great

regret of the School Committee and the citizens. C.

H. Marshall has been appointed to succeed him.

We now return to the civil history of the town.

Dr. G. M. Adams, in his historical discourse, alluding

to the early days of the colony, remarks :
" We can

better understand the changes which a century and a

half have wrought, and can better enter into the ex-

perience and life of the good men who laid the foun-

dations for us, if we glance at the condition of the

country in 1728. The number of inhabitants in Hol-

liston did not, probably, exceed one hundred and

fifty. There was no village. About thirty farm-

houses were scattered all over the town. The towns

of Milford, Natick and Upton were not yet incorpor-

ated. There was no church in either of those places,

nor in Southboro' nor Grafton. Worcester, in 1718,

had 'fifty-eight humble dwelling-houses,' some of

which were furnished with windows of diamond-glass

and others were lighted through oiled paper. There

was probably no academy nor High S.chool in Massa-

chusetts. There were three colleges in the country,

—

Harvard, Yale and William and Mary's College, in

Virginia. Massachusetts had about one hundred and

seventeen thousand inhabitants, a small proportion of

what Boston has now. In what is now the United

States there were, besides Indians, six hundred thou-

sand inhabitants, less than the present population of

Philadelphia. But of course there were then no

United States. There were ten English Provinces

along the Atlantic coast; Florida was Spanish, Loui-

siana, including the valley of the Mississippi, belonged

to France. Benjamin Franklin was struggling to

earn his living as a printer in Philadelphia; Wash-

ington and Lafayette were not yet born.'' And Dr.

Edmund Dowse, in his centennial address, says:

" This condition of things in the homes and business

continued essentially the same for a long period. The

people were engaged .as a whole in reclaiming and

tilling the lands. The shoemaker, blacksmith, car-

penter and storekeeper were regarded only as adjuncts
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to society. It was convenient to have just enough

mechanics and tradesmen to meet the wants of the

people, and they desired no more. Even these did

not pretend to live by their trades, but in addition

cultivated their lands. Under these conditions the

population continued to increase slowly from year to

year, and the outward circumstances of the people to

improve. At the end of the fust century the popu-

lation had grown from one hundred to thirteen hun-

dred.' During this period the town was healthy,

with one exce|>tion, of short duration. Between the

18th of December, 17r)S, and the 30th of January,

1754, a distressing and fatal sickness prevailed (called

The Great Sickness), that resulted in the death of

fifty-three persons, it being more than one-eighth of

the population at that time. This sickness, both in

its nature and cause, appears to have been involved

in mystery. That it had a natural cause I do not

doubt, but, as it was confined to the limited period ol

four or six weeks, having never appeared before or

since, it does not militate against thehealthfulness of

the locality. The average number of deaths annually,

during the first century, was seven. This includes

the period of the great sickness." If wc deduct the

deaths from that epidemic, the average would not ex-

ceed six and a half The same disease appeared in

Sherborne about the same time, but its duration was

greater, extending into the month of April, when
there had been twenty-five deaths. In that town it

was called " The Memorable Mortality."

This sickness occurred in Holliston during the min-

istry of Rev. Joshua Prentiss, and he ajipears to have

observed it and to have taken notes of the symptoms

in quite a scientific manner. A full record, taken

from the notes of Mr. Prentiss, is given in Mr. Fitch's

Century sermon.

This was a grievous blow to the young community.

Many families were broken up entirely and the popu-

lation was almost decimated. They were obliged to

apply for assistance ; and Tuesday, April 9, 1754, the

following entry appears in the Journal of the House
of Kepresentatives of the Province: "A Petition of

the Selectmen of the town of Holliston, representing

the distressed circumstances of said town, by reason

of the grievous sickness and mortality there, praying

for the compassionate consideration of this Court, for

the reasons mentioned. Read and committed to Cap-

tain Joseph Williams, Captain Ashley and Mr. Green-

wood, to consider and report thereon." The report

of the committee was accepted and the sum of twenty-

six pounds thirteen shillings and four pence was

granted, to be paid out of the public treasury to the

selectmen, " and by them to be applied for the use

and reliefof such poor and indigent persons as may
most need the same."

1 Morse, in hie " History of Sherborn and Holliston," says that the

population WHS 1304 in 18:)0, 1782 in 18K), 2428 in IS.'iO and about 3100

in 1856. In 1890 it is 26S0. In 1812 there were but thirteen houses on

tlie main street.

As before intimated, the business relating to the

church was, during many years, transacted in the

same town-meetings in which the regular business

of the town was conducted ; but after fifty or sixty

years a distinction was made. Then, all the legal vo-

ters were called to the town-meetings, while only

those who paid a ministerial tax were called to the

"town-meetings for parochial business." All the

records were kept by the town clerk in the same
record-book, until 18;J6, when a separate i)arish was
organized, with its own meetings and records. It was
also the custom for the ministers to receipt for their

salaries in the town record-book, and these signatures

are scattered through the records until the last one
appears, April 1, 1829. The first town clerk was
Captain John Gonlding, who served ten years, from

1724 to 1734; and the last one is George 1'.. Fiske,

who is now filling his thirteenth year in that oilice.

John M. Batchelder is the present town treasurer, and
is serving his eleventh year in that capacity.

Until 1825 the town meetings were held in the

meeting-house; but during that year a town houoe
was built, the upper story of which was used for the

town hall, while the lower story was occupied by the

church for a parish hall. This house was situated on
the (Common, near the road and adjoining the ceme-
tery lot. It was used for town and parish purposes

until 1855, when it was sold and moved oif. It was
replaced the same year by the present town house,

which was set farther back from the road. The lower

hall in this building has been used for meetings of the

various parishes and other societies. Edwin Payson,

of Boston, was the architect, and S. & W. L. Payson
the contractors for the new town house.

Aaron Phipps, afterwards deacon and treasurer of

the church, and a superior man, was apprenticed to

Dea. .Tames Russell, a blacksmith ; and during that

time, 1747 to 1751, planted the magnificent elms in

front of the Col. Whiting house. The large trees

standing before the Congregational meeting-house,

which were cut down in 187(5 when the road was wid-

ened, were set out by the Rev. Mr. Dickenson, not far

from the year 1800.

The French and Indian war occurred about the

middle of the eighteenth century. We find no record

of men who went to that war from Holliston, but

probably there were a few. There were always ad-

venturous spirits in every town who were ready for

such expeditions.

It was not long after the cessation of those hostili-

ties that the feelings of dissatisfaction with the mother
country began to arise, which culminated in the war
of the Revolution. When her oppressions became too

onerous to be borne, this town was prompt in declar-

ing its convictions. As early as 1768 a committee
was chosen " to join with the committee of the Town
of Boston, as well as with the committees from the

several towns of the Province, in a convention, to be
held at Fanauil Hall, in Boston, aforesaid, on ye 22d
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of this Instant, in order that such measures may be

consultcl anil advised as His Majesty's service and

the peaif aiai xafety of this Province may require."

Thev were evidently not then ready to throw off their

allef^iance to the Crown, but were resolved to main-

tain their rights and prepare for future contingencies,

as the next vote, passed on the same day, will show :

"To recruit the Town stock of ammunition by pur-

chasing a barrel of gunpowder, one hundred French

flints and one hundred and fifty weight of balls."

March 5, 1770, it was voted "that we will not by our-

selves, or any, for or under us, Directly or Indirectly,

purchase any European Goods of those persons

Termed Importers. . . . Neither will we have the

Least Dealings whatever with any Country Shop

Keeper who shall [)urcha8eany Goods of Said Import-

ers, and that we will use the utmost of our Endeavor

to Encourage and assist those applauded Merchants

of the Town of Boston in their non-importation agree-

ment, to whom this Town Vote their sincere and

hearty Thanks for these Late Measures pursued by

them for the Good of their Country, and that the

moderator of this Meeting Transmit a Copy hereof to

the Committee of Merchants in Boston."

"Voted that ye Town Clerk post up the names of

the above S"* Importers at ye most public place in the

Town."

This meeting was held on the day of the Boston

Massacre. Henry Prentiss, a son of Eev. Joshua

Prentiss, wiis an eye-witness of the scene and he

wrote a long letter to his father, giving a graphic de-

scription of the same. It was found among the

papers of Mr. Prentiss and is quoted in full by Eev.

George F. Walker in his article.

May 23, 1774, the Town chose a committee of cor-

respondence with Boston and the other towns in the

Province. July 4, 1774, "voted to double the town

stock of Ammunition." November 17, 1774, " voted

to post up the names of all who shall sell or consume

any of the East India Teas." At the annual town

-

meeting in March 1775, before proceeding to the

election of Town ofiicers, it was " voted that no man
shall serve in any Town office or place wherever, who
shall refuse or neglect to subscribe their consent to

and compliance with the advice and assotiation of

the last Continental Congress and that they shall be

treated with neglect." A similar vote was passed be-

fore the annual elections of officers in 1776, 1777 and

1779. The following instructions were given to Ma-
jor Abner Perry when he was chosen representative

to the General Court, May 20, 1770. Alter rehears-

ing the resolve of the last General Court, which re-

quested towns to advise their next representative as

to the support which they would give to Congress,

in case that body should declare the Colonies inde-

pendent of the Kingdom of Great Britain, tbey say :

" To which the Inhabitants of the town of Holliston,

Being Legally assembled, would humbly Reply (viz.)

that the Said Honble. Congl-ess are (undfer God) the

most Competent Judges of matters of such Vast Im-

portance to these Colonies ; We would therefore Re-

fer it to their Wisdom, and do Solemnly Promise &
Engage with our Lives and Fortunes to support them

in the measure, if they, (whom we look upon as the

Guardiansof our Liberty) shall judge it to be best."

From year to year each representative was instruct-

ed by vote of the town to stand by the Continental

Congress and the liberties and rights of the Colony.

July 5, 1776, the day following the Declaration of In-

dependence, the town voted to raise i'll to he paid to

" Each man that shall Inlist to go as aforesaid, and do

a turn for this town as a hired man." The Declara-

tion of Independence is written out in full in the town

records, as it also is in the records of Sherborn.

Januarys, 1778, the town voted their full approba-

tion of the articles of confederation of the United

States as "Sent to the said Town by the Gen" Court

of this State."

" But perhaps the most convincing evidence," says

Dr. G. M. Adams, " of the thorough patriotism of the

town is seen in the large sums of money which were

voted and paid for carrying on the war. In the year

1776, the town granted four hundred pounds for the

defence of the country. This was when all the other

expenses of the town, including the Minister's salary,

were less than two hundred pounds. It is recorded

that at a town-meeting in September, 1776, "the Rev-

erend Mr. Prentice, personally appeared and gener-

ously gave ten pounds to the town, towards defraying

the charge that has arisen in this town by the present

war." In 1777 the town granted for war expenses,

one thousand one hundred and forty-nine pounds, all

other town expenses being one hundred and seventy

pounds. In 1778 the war appropriation was £2191.

In 1779, currency had begun to depreciate, and the

town granted for war expenses more than £4000,

which was equal to about £2000 in silver. In 1780,

currency was not worth more than one-thirtieth or

one-fortieth of its nominal value, and the town ap-

propriated for the war, seventy -two thousand pounds,

which was still equal to about £2000 in silver. In

1781 the war appropriations were £24,750 old cur-

rency and £600 silver money, equal to about £850 in

silver.

The names of the men from Holliston who served

in the Continental army are recorded on various mus-
ter rolls in the archives of the State, and did time

permit a thorough search, we could give very nearly

the exact number. Col. Simeon Cutler served under

Washington, and Col. Abner Perry, Maj. Jacob Mil-

ler and Capt Daniel Fames were conspicuous among
the officers of that army. " They contended for the

right, and they won and rejoiced in their achievements,

but they had no conception of the great and glorious

results as we see them to-day."

In 1780, September 4, the town met and voted for

the tirst Governor of this State, and John Hancock
received 39 votes and James Bowdoin two votes.
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In 1790 the town first cast its votes for a representa-

tive to Congress. In 1791 nineteen persons and tlieir

families were warned to leave the town because they

had moved into it without having obtained the town's

consent. In 1795 the Minister's salary was lirst voted

in the Federal currency, and it was .i!266.G7.

We now come to the commencement of an import-

ant era, the beginning of manufacturing industries

which have been such a prominent factor in the pros-

perity of HollistOM. Previous to 1793 there had been

no manufecturers or mechanics in the township ex-

cepting those who, in a small way, supplied the im-

mediate wants of the farmers and their families.

And the farmers did not desire to have manufactures

introduced, some of them even being strongly opposed

to the plan.
•

But in that year Colonel Ariel Bragg began the

manufacture of shoes. " He commenced business

with forty pounds of sole leather and four calf-skins,

from which he made twenty-two pairs of shoes, which

he caiTied to Providence, R. I., in saddle-bags on

horseback, with a bundle of hay behind him; and

having disposed of his goods for $!21.50, returned and

invested his gains in new stock. In 1800 and 1810

Hezekiah and Jonathan BuUard began business on a

similar scale. In 1816 Deacon Timothy Rockwood
began to manufacture goods and transport them to

the Boston market in a horse-cart. In 1821 the

names of Batchelder, Currier, Littlefield (who made
fine shoes for ladies) and others were added to the

list of manufacturers, all doing business upon small

capital and transporting their goods and stock them-

selves in their one-horse wagons. It is said that Mr.

\V. S. Batchelder first endeavored to settle in Sherborn

for this purpose, but was unable to purchase any land

there for manufacturing uses, so mucli were the farm-

ers opposed to new projects. He afterwards built up

a large business in Holliston. A tannery at the West
End and one at Chicken Brook, with currier's shops

different places, furnished the leather. Shoe-pegs

were not in general use and steam hardly used at all

in manufactures.

As the business increased, one of the events of the

day was the inauguration, in 1828, of a line of two-

horse baggage-wagons from the neighboring town of

Milford to Boston, passing through Holliston and

making two trips a week. On the first morning this

new conveyance i)assed through the town, Mr. W. S.

Batchelder and his wotlimen turned out to see it, and

great was the outcry at the extravagance of Milford

people, particularly of Chapin & Claflin, who owned
the line; and Mr. Batchelder cried out, "Milford is

getting proud, and when I can't take my shoes to

Boston in my own team, I'll give up the business."

He afterwards changed his mind, however, for he

lived to carry on a business so extensive that it re-

quired a one-horse team all the time merely to take

his goods to the railroad station, which was but a

short distance.

As time went on many other persons set up the

manufacture of shoes and boots, and Holliston be-

came quite well-known in this busintss. There were
ten large shops and several smaller ones. In 1874 it

lurnished emjiloyment for about six hundred jjcrsous

and turned out goods to the value of .•? 1,000,000.

Among them was Mr. John Batchelder, a brother of

William S., who continued the manufacture even to

the year 1889. He adopted and maintained a high
standard and was distinguished for the excellence of

his workmanship. No better boots than his were
found in the market.

Hon. Alden Leland was, for many years in the

business, and had during part of the time as a part-

ner, Mr, P. R. Johnson, who still carries on' the

manufacture in the town. Mr. Leland began to make
shoes in 18;il, and was iu active business for more
than fifty years. He was also a prominent man in

the attiiirs of the town. Born in Chester, Vermont,
Nov. 30, 1807, his father, Oapt. Nathan Leland,

moved to Holliston, when the son was an infant, and
the latter spent the remainder of his life here, where
most of his ancestors belonged. Growing himself

with the growth of the town, his interests were iden-

tified with it, and he received all the honors and
duties which his town and his county could induce
him to accept. He held every office of note within

the gift of the town, was Representative in the Legis-

latures of 18:^8, 1842, 1848 and 1852, and was a mem-
ber of the Constitutional Convention in 1853. He
w;is State Senator in 1805 and 1866, and a member of
the Governor's Council in 1875 and 1876. He was
the first President of the Holliston Savings Bank,
and at his death had been President of the National

Bank for six or seven years. An active power in the

town during its greatest prosperity, he did much to

make that prosperity. He was a zealous member of

the Congregational church, but iu religion as in poli-

tics, he recognized the honesty of others with differ-

ent beliefs, and won the confidence of all. He was
twice married, first to Anna Temple, and second to

Rhoda A. Leland. He died in Holliston, Aug. 30,

1883, leaving a wife and three children.

In the year 1879, the " hard times" seriously affect-

ed this business, and it began to decline. It has

never recovered its former prosi)erity, and there are

at present but five shops of much magnitude.

Although this has been the largest and most lucra-

tive business, yet other branches of manufacture

have flourished and have performed important ser-

vice to the interests of the town.

In 1814, when the shoe business was still in its

infancy, and gave no sign of its future success, Hon.
Ellihu Cutler, filled with the desire to do something
towards the improvement and progress of his native

town, conceived the idea that manufactures migh't

build it up, by bringing into the town more money
and more people. He resolutely set about the work,
gradually overcame the opposition to new enterprises,
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exhibited a plan of a mill, and formed a company of

his townsmen, who erected the first mill in llolliaton,

in 1814, for mauufHcluriMtr purposes. This was a

tlin-ad mill, situated on Bogistow Brook, where W.

J^. I'ayson afterwards manufactured wood-work and

hoxes, with power from a steam-engine as well as the

brook. Thi- gave the first impulse in the right direc-

tion. By good tact ami persuasion, he succeeded in

drawing more people into the town, bought land and

sold house lots, and also houses which he had built,

and gradually formed the nucleus of a village. He
labored inces-sautly for the improvement of the town.

One accession brought another, other matiufacture.s

were established, and as the shoe busines continued

to improve, Mr. Cutler had the satisfaction during

his own lifetime, of seeing the fruits of the labors

which he had commenced.

Klihu Cutler was a son of Col. Simeon Cutler,

whom we have mentioned as having served under

Washington in the Revolution. He was born May
'25, 1771, in Holliston, attended the district-school

during its short terms, and assisted his father on the

farm and in the tavern which the latter kept. He
learned the trade of a wheelwright. Notwithstanding

his limited advantages, " his mind," says Morse,

" naturally strong and active, somehow acquired a

good common education, and even mastered treatises

on metaphysics. The information he acquired, and

his ability to impart it, rendered his society attractive

and jirofitable.

Mental culture, often acquired by the study of busi-

ness as well as books, early marked his countenance,

and gave dignity to his manners. These, coupled

with a good measure ot common sense, rendered him

the first young man in Hollistou His first ap-

pearance in a public capacity was that of marshal oc

the great and mournful occasion of the funeral of

Washington. From about that time, for nearly forty

years he was connected with the public measures and

transactions of Holliston ; and if not the projector of

all, what one, it might be asked, was ever brought to

an advantageous conclusion without him ? No portion-

of the influence he exerted, or of the good he accom-

plished, is to be measured by the offices he filled."

He was appointed a magistrate early in this century
;

was chosen a member of the convention to amend the

State constitution in 1820, a reprepresentative from

Holliston in 1827-28, and subsequently a State

Senator, being the first man sent to the senate from

this town, as his son Elihu was the second. He wa?
also an active man in the affairs of the parish, and
helped most efficiently to reconcile discordant views

at a critical time. He died .lune 9, 1857, at the age
of eighty-six, full of years and of honors.

The mill site of Mr. Cutler was afterwards occupied
by Randall Travis, tanner and currier, by Hamlet
Barber and Luther Bellows, by Samuel and W. L.

Payson, then by W. L. Payson alone, and then by
Payson & Cutler.

The manufacture of straw goods was commenced in

1815 by Charles and George Leland. It was after-

wards conducted by Mr. Thayer, and then by Lewis

Slocum, who, in 1801 improved and increased the

business. He was followed by Slocum & Thomp-
son ; Thompson it Mowry ; Mowry, Rogers & Co., ;

and since 1882 by D. C. Mowry & Co., the present

firm, who do a very large business. The factory now in

use was erected in 1S()2, but several additions have

since been made, so that it covers an area of seven

thousand square feet, and contains five floors, there be-

ing also a one-story and basement ell. There are

steam boilers and two steam-engines, and the works

are equipped throughout with the njost improved

facilities for the manufacture of men's, boys' and
chMdren's straw hats of every description. The trim-

mings are imported from France and Germany, and

the braid from China and Japan, where it can be

manufactured more cheaply than in this country.

Two hundred hands are employed during the busy

season, under careful and complete supervision. The
amountof sales is from .'?150,000 to $200,000 per annum.

Some idea of the magnitude and variety of the busi-

ness may be formed from the fact that two thousand

sample hats are made every season, which is ten times

the number formerly provided.

The manufacture of coach lace was commenced by

Prescott Littlefield, about 1827, and was continued

for some eight years. He employed eight or ten

hands, mostly girls, and the weaving was done by

hand-power. After the death of Mr. Littlefield the

business was discontinued, and the place passed into

other hands. A portion of the building was used for

a shoe-shop, and was soon burned. It was the first

shop burned in Hollistou ; and being one of the ear-

liest fires of the town, it allowed the new fire company

to display their engine in action. This may be re-

membered by some as the old crank machine, " Water-

witch," kept at Metcalf 's station for many years. The
origin of this, as of so many later fires in the town,

was shrouded in uncertainty. For the purpose of

saving property the windows and doors were removed

at an early stage of the fire.

Earlier in the century, and perhaps before 1800,

Janifs Stone, a son of landlord John Stone, and

grandson of the first minister, established a plough-

factory, employing seven or eight men, near School

and Washington Streets.

About and after 1828 a trip-hammer forge and au-

ger-factory, saw-mill and other shops occupied the

site of the present blanket-mills. There was also, at

one time, a cotton-factory there, as before noted.'

In 1834 a comb-factory was built on Jar Brook.

The hard times of 1837 caused a suspension of work

for a season, after which it was again in operation un-

til it was burned, about January, 1860. When at the

height of business the annual sales amounted to about

$100,000. Houghton & Joslyn and Houghton & Dan-

iels were the proprietors.
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III 1866, Messrs. Stetson and Talbot commenced in

the aame place the manufacture of shoe nails, and

shoe and upholstery tacks. They are made of iron,

zinc and copper. About twonly-two persons are now

employed in this establislinient, and in the year 1889

more than one and a quarter milliuti pounds of num-

ufactured goods wcreturncd out, asjjccialty being made

of nails for heeling-machines. The motive-power is

the water of Jar iirook and a steam-engine, which

run a plant of improved machinery. The building

consists of a main shoj), forty by one hundred and

sixty feet, liaving an ell tifty by si.\ty feet in size.

Copper pumps were first made in 1887, by Hough-

ton & Joslyu. At first two or tliree hundred were

made in a year ; but the business has steadily in-

creased, owing to the excellence of the goods and the

enterprise of the present managers, until during some

years from three to four thousand were made annu-

ally; and the reputation of the pumps is such as to

create a dem.and for them in foreign countries as well

as at home. Since 1851, the business has been con-

ducted by S. Wilder & Co., and the same lirra-name has

been retained since the death of Mr. Sidney Wilder in

1888, although conducted by Chas. and Geo. Wilder.

They manufacture both common and force pumps,

cistern and air-chamber pumps; and although the in-

troduction of water-works in m.acy towns has modified

the call for pumps to some extent, they are still a staple

article and must continue to be so. The members ol

the firm are skillful practical workmen and give their

personal attention to the business. None but the best

materials are used.

The manufacture of knit goods was begun in 1874,

by George B. Fiske. One machine was employed at

first, but the number has gradually increased until

twenty hands or more were furnished with work, and

in some years tlie sales have amounted to twenty

thousand dollars. The goods find a ready sale and

comprise a variety of useful articles of clothing. The

business became well established among the manu-

facturing enterprises of the town. Of late it has

been conducted by the " Mt. Hoi lis Manufacturing

Co.," who now confine themselves chiefly to the pro-

duction of knitted shirts.

The corporation known as The Holliston Mills was

formed November 14, 1881, for the manufacture of

blankets of different grades, some of a high quality

being made. It continued for some years, but, owing

to changes in the trade in those goods, ceased oper-

ation February 1, 1888. In December, 1889, it came

into the possession of Edward Clark.

In 1880, Samuel Whiting commenced the manufac-

ture of chairs and packing-boxes, and prosecuted a

considerable business for several years. He employed

improved machinery, driven by a steam-engine, had

from five to fifteen men and furnished goods of a high

quality. He is now succeeded by Ellas Hunter, who
makes boxes only.

A corporation called the Holliston Harness Co.

29-iii

commenced business here March 7, 1890. They man-
ufacture all kinds and grades of harness and sell at

wholesale only. They employed eighteen persons at

first, but have forty now. John Hughes is the man-
ager.

Holliston has had the misfortune to be fre-

quently invaded by fires. The most extensive of

all was " the great fire," which occurred May 26,

1875. Says Walker: "Within three hours from the

time when the alarm was first given twenty-two
buildings were burned, all but one of which were
completely destroyed. Among these were the hotel,

a large livery stable, a block of stores, two other

stores and several dwelling-houses. A large s^pace in

the centre of the village was left bare of buildings
;

but the enterprise of the people has rebuilt where the

ruins were, and the general api)earance is greatly im-

proved. Statistics ii^sued by the State Insurance

Commissioners show, however, that this town has no
more fires than the average of towns of the same pop-
ulation. The town has approved steam fire-engines

and a hydrant engine.

" For the ex>inguishment of fires and for domestic
and other purposes," the lloUistou Water Company
was incorporated in the year 1884, for the supply of

pure water to the inhabitants of the town. The charter

was renewed in 1887, and the company is now busily

at work, in 1890, with the expectation of introducing

the water before the close of the year. The water is

obtained from springs in an immense well excavated

for the purpose, in East Holliston. The overflow will

be collected in an artificial lake, and a stand-pipe on
Mt. Hollis will give the desired " head" to the water.

Mr. John D. Shippee is the manager, and he is ener-

getically prosecuting the work. The work of laying

the pipes for conveying the water to the stand-pipe

was commenced early in September, 1890. Mr. Z.

Talbot has been the treasurer of the company from
the beginning, in 1884.

Some twenty-five or thirty years ago eflbrts were
commenced to improve the quality of the fruit of the
cranberry vine and to increase its productiveness. It

was naturally supposed that, as other fruits had been
made better by cultivation, this crop might also be

improved. With this end in view, Mr. Laurin Le-
land, in 1854, began the work of planting the vines

in a meadow suitably prepared to furnish the cran-

berry with its natural food. In some cases this was
done by paring the meadow and then covering it with

a thick layer of sand; in other cases by merely
spreading the sand on the natural meadow. Large
crops of fruit of finer quality were thus obtained. Mr.
Ezra Leiand was afterwards associated with him in

this work.

In 1860 Deacon George Batchelder commenced by
planting one hundred square rods of meadow with
the vines. This he gradually increased until eight

acres or more were cultivated. These berries are not

only larger in size, but they are harder and of darker
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color than the native fruit, and are more highly

prized in the market. H. B. Tibbelta succeeded

CJeorge Italchfldcr, and liUH done even a better busi- I

ness. A. 1!. I'lbliotls started ii meadow of his own in I

1890.

Notliing appears in the town records concerning

the War of 1812; but it is evident that Home men

from this town served lu soldiers at that time, because

inscriptions to thalofl'ect are found on grave-stones in

tlie buiyin>r-gronnds, and one soldier of that war,

Luther (irceii, was living in the town only a few

years since. Thf records at the State-House would

doubtless furnish the list uf names.

No other events of importance occurred in the civil

history of the town for many years, except those

already mentioned under their appropriate headings.

In the year 1847, greatly increased accommodations

for traveling; were funiislied by the Boston and Wor-

cester Railroad t'onipany. On .luly 4th of that year
i

the first trip was made over the Milford Uranch of

that road, as far as Holliston Centre. The deep cut

through Phipps' Hill wsus made with ditliculty and

occupied a long time, so that it was not until Novem-

ber, 1S4S, that the train went through to Milford.

" This railroad has been of great advantage to the

industrial interests of Holliston, and biis had a profita-

ble business in the transportation of passengers and

freight." The greater part of that section of the

village lying beyond the railroad has been built up

since the introduction of these facilities. For a long

time the people of the town have desired an early

train to South Framingham, but could not induce the

company to furnish it. But at length, through per-

sistent ellbrts, they succeeded in July, 1890, in obtain-

ing it. This train leaves Milford at 6.30 A.m., and

returns at 6.12 P.M., thus accommodating many per-

sons who wish to commence their daily work at 7

o'clock and others who desire to take early trains to

Boston and other [>oints. (ireat satisfaction is felt at

the accomplishment of this long-sought object.

It is less than forty years since banking facilities

were conveniently furnished to thecitizensof the town.

During all the previous time that business was done

by the banks of Dedham, Wrenthani and Framingham,
" cau.sing,'' says an old resident, " many a wintry trip

to tho.se d istant towns." Some private banking was

done by inhabitants on farms near by, " where one
worth 110,000 was a nabob, and if worth 11.^,000, a

bloated aristocrat."

But in 1854 the Holliston Bank was formed and in-

corporated with a capital of .'||;100,000, and it has

furnished accommodations to this and neighbor-

ing towns. Its first president was William S. Batch-

elder and its cashier, Rufus F. Brewer. The latter

served for several years, when he was succeeded by
Thomas E. Andrews, who occupied the posi'ion until

.Tuly 16, 1883, since which time John H. Andrews
has fdled the office of cashier. Mr. Brewer died in

Philadelphia in 1888. Mr. Batchelder served as

president until his death, in 1876, when Hon. Alden

Leiand was elected to that station, which he occupied

also during the remainder of his life. He was suc-

ceeded by Siduey Wilder in 1883, and by John M.

Batchelder in IKDO. The bank was reorganized as a

National bank Jantuiry 23, 186.'j, and in April of the

same vear the capital was increased to ."fl.OO.OtJO. By

careful management a handsome surplus has been

created, amounting to about $30,000.

The bank has from the first been closely identified

with the developement of this particular community,

home interests having guided its |)olicy to a great

extent, and home enterprises of genuine merit having

received its hearty and valuable co-o|peration. It

occupies its own brick banking-house on Washington

Street, built in 1872, and furnished with the most

approved modern appliances for convenience and

safety.

The Holliston Savings Bank was incorporated in

1872, and is an instituticni of great value to the town.

Its office is in the National bank building, and it has

had but one treasurer, Orrin Thomson, Esq. Hon.

Alden Leiand was the first president, and was

succeeded by Seth Thayer and D. ('. Mowry, who
now occupies that ('hair. The amount of deposits

from the beginning is about S1,.")00,000.

Several old cemeteries are found in Holliston, and

they were established at different periods, according

to the locations of the inhabitants and their require-

ments for burial-places. The oldest is the Central

Cemetery, near the first church and the town-house,

where several of the early ministers are interred.

There is also quite an old cemetery at the north part

of the town, one in the western portion, two at Bragg-

ville, andoneat East Holliston. Glenmount Cemetery
was laid out some years since in the eastern quarter of

the town, but is not at all used at present. Although

some of these cemeteries are not without rural attrac-

tions, yet most of them are limited in space and be-

long to the old order of burying-grounds. In a

cultivated community like this there was therefore

a natural desire for a more extensive location, and

one which should be capable of more ornamentation.

And accordingly a plot was selected on the banks

of Lake Winthrop, containing thirty acres. It con-

tains a grove, which, with the water-view of the lake

and its islands, forms a diversified and beautiful spot

for the interment of the dead, and one which is

attractive and pleasant to the minds of the living. It

was incorporated in 1859 as Lake Grove Cemetery,

and was consecrated June 1, 1860, Rev. J. C. Bodwell,

of Framingham, delivering an eloquent address, and

Rev. Dr. Tucker the consecrating prayer. It contains

more than three hundred burial lots, many of which

are tastefully adorned, and there are several hundred

not yet laid out. Beautiful monuments have been

erected near the graves, and the entire enclosure is an

honor to the town. It has always, since its opening,

continued to be a favorite place for interment, and
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will compare favorably with similar parks iu other

towns.

We now approach a period filled with events of the

most moment(;us character for this town, as well as

for all the towns in the State—a period when men
were turned from the peaceful occupations of life to

the trying and hazardous career of war. The inhab-

itants of the town were forced to change the whole

current of their lives, and many of them to adopt, in

the emergency which arose, duties to which they had

been wholly unaccustomed, and modes of living dia-

metrically opposite to those in which their ])revious

life had been passed. A long and bloody vivil war,

the hardest and most severe of all wars, was upon us,

and a contest for the very existence of the Union

was waged for four long and terrible years. The

part which the citizens of this town took in that

struggle is so well described by Rev. George F.

Walker, in his historical article, that I cannot do

better than to (piote it. He writes, " When, on the

morning of April 12, IStil, tlie first gun of the Civil

War was fired against Fort. Sumter, and its echoes

stirred the patriotism of the entire North, the people

of HoUiston were ready, as worthy sons of Revolu-

tionary sires, to take their full share of the burdons

of the war. On the Ifith of April, President Lincoln,

by proclamation, called for seventy-tive thousand

volunteers, and on the 29th the town took measures

for the raising of a military company, and it was

soon ready to march, when ordered to join the Fed-

eral forces. To help those who were willing to en-

list, and to relieve them of anxiety respecting the

support of their families, who were to be left at home,

the town voted, September 30th, to pay one dollar a

month to the wife of any soldier enlisted from this

town, and fifty cents per month for each child, in

addition to the aid received from the State. It was

also provided by vote, the next year, that the fatnilies

of the nine months' men be paid the same as the

others.

" In the spring of 1862, when the National Capital

was threatened by the approach of the Confederate

troops, and the Governors of the loyal States were

issuing their proclamations for men to go to its aid,

the anxiety of the inhabitants of Holliston was so

great that a mes.senger was dispatched on horse-

back to Boston, to ascertain whether the Capital was

taken or not. The messenger retwned, riding into

town just as the public services in the churches were

concluded, and when he announced that the Capital

was yet safe, cheer upon cheer rang out upon the

still air of that quiet, beautiful Sunday afternoon,

attesting the happiness with which the good news

had filled the hearts of the people.

"It was voted July 22, 1863, unanimously, 'That

the families of citizens of Holliston, whether alien or

otherwise, who serve in the United States Army,
either as drafted men or substitutes for drafted men,

shall receive the same aid from the town treasury as

has been paid to the families of volunteers;' also,

' To continue the same aid to the families of those who
have fallen in the service of their country, as they

have heretofore received from the Bclectmen, until

March 1st next, unless their pensions are .sooner re-

ceived.' June 20, 1864, it was voted 'that the Town
Treasurer be hereby authorized to pay each volunteer

or drafted man a sum not exceeding $125, whenever

such volunteer or drafted man shall be called for to

fill the quota of Holliston;' also, ' voted that the

town appropriate the sura of $3000 to pay soldiers en-

listed under the last call for troops, dated March 14,

1864.' Another vote was passed the same day, viz.:

'To choose a committee of five to make provision for

a suitable reception of the returned .soldiers belonging

to Holliston.' June 18, 1866, the selectmen were in-

structed, by vote of the town, ' to pay all volunteers

who re-enlisted in the field for the credit of Holliston,

who have never received a bounty, one hundred and

twenty-five dollars, and to those who have received

only a partial bounty, the balance sufficient to make
that sum.'

''The whole number of soldiers from Holliston,

counting both enlistments and re-eulistments, who
served in the Federal Army during the Civil ^Var,

was three hundred and fifty-four. (3f these, sixty-six

were natives of the town ; and the names of fifty-

three are upon the soldiers' monument as having lost

their lives. Nine were captured and confined in Con-

federate pri-sons, of which number five died. While
the war was in progress, the people at home did not

forget those who were in the field, and after some of

the great battles committees were sent to the front to

care for the well-being and comfort of the wounded.
" Just before the war commenced, Sewell H. Fisk,

from Holliston, was driven out of Savannah, Georgia,

with indignity, because he was from the North. He
enlisted in Co. B, and went back with the army and

died in the United States Hospital at Newark, N. J.

Another soldier, Simon C. Marston, being left alone

on guard at Brandy Station, saved the books of the

Holliston Company from the rebels, who came up

suddenly, by strapping them in hjiste upon his back

and leaving with them."

This company was Company B, of the Sixteenth

Regiment ofMassachusetts Infantry, whose first colonel

was the lamented Powell T. Wymau, of Boston, once

a schoolmate of the writer of this article. He was

killed iu action at the battle of Glendale, Va., .lune

30, 1862, before he had been a year in service. This

regiment was also called the Middlesex County Regi-

ment. Co. B was organized in Holliston, and its first

oflicers were James M. Mason, captain ; William A.

Amory, first lieutenant ; and Ca.ssander F. Flagg,

second lieutenant.

In 1866 the town appropriated $3000 for the pur-

chase and erection of a soldiers' monument. It is a

square, granite monument and stands in the south-

east corner of ttie Central Cemetery, where it can
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plainly be seen from the main street. It consists of a

base, ornamented peilestal and .shafr. On the front

side of the pedi'stal a Hag is sculptured in rilief, and

on the opposite laie is a shield with the following in-

scription in small capitals:

" KBHTth in TiiK Town of Holmbton,

In Mcuohv ur Ilr.R Solihkrs

Who I)ii:i> in Tint Wak ior the I'mon,

1S7I."

On each i>( llic rcinaiiiiiig sides is a sword encircled

with a wreath, also in relief. On the base of the

monument are the follcnvinjj; words:

" lluNUR To THK HnWK."

t_)ii the sides of the shaft are carved the names

of the soldiers of HoUiston who lost their lives in the

defence of their country. Those names are: M. Vose,

l\ Abbott, r. Harvey, u'. 0. Waite, S. H. Fisk, E. M. B.

Terry, W. H. Clough, H. A. Harris, J. Speakman, E.

H. Uurricr, A. O. Hunting, C. H. Wheeler, M. McOor-

mic, A. Adams, C. H. Cole, E. Leland, .1. E. Dean, A.

(ioodwin, M. Slattery, F. U. Joslyn, J. H. Cooper, J.

Hamilton, J. W. Slocum, W. G. Gaylord, G. E. Jenk-

ins, H. F. Chamberlain, T. Lacy, C. Drury, L. Dickey,

.1. Keeves, F. W. Clapp, H. F. Hawks, H. S. Bailey,

A. (lalviii, Jr., W. E. Lougee, J- S. Bullard, J. Galla-

cher, E. S. Hutchinson, C. S. Watkiiis, F. Riley, 1'.

Gary, Emerson "Eames, B. L. Durfee, J. M. Mann, C.

H.Allen, William Crowell, N. Brown, Jr., R.Feeheley,

G. Holbrook, G. J. Walker, W. H. Goodwin, E. G.

Whiting and \V. B. Jennesson, fifty-three in all.

There is also the record of the battles in which the

soldiers from this town were engaged, viz: Gettysburg,

Locust Grove, Wilderness, Spoltsylvania, North Anna,

Cold Harbor, Cedar Grove, Petersburg, Andersonville,

Richmond, Bull Run, Fair Oaks, Glendale, Malvern

Hill, Chaiitilly, Newbern, Manassas, Fredericksburg,

.\ntietam and Cliancellorsville, twenty in number.

An honorable record for the men of Hollistou.

In connection with this subject, we may appropri-

ately consider the Grand Army of the Republic, an

outcome of the Civil War. The credit of originating

the idea and plan of this organization is due to Dr.

B. F. Stepbeiisoti, surgeon of the Fourteenth Hlinois

Regiment. In 18G() he conferred with Chaplain Rut-

ledge, explained to him the design he had conceived,

and together they drew uj) a list of by-laws, and

April 6, 1866, they founded Post No. 1 of the State of

Illinois. The order rapidly increased and spread

over the country, and still continues to flourish.

There are between seven and eight thousand posts at

the present time, with a membership in August, 1890,

of 4.55,510. National encampments are held an-

nually ; that for 1890 assembling in Boston, where a

whole week was given to meetings and festivities, and

great enthusiasm prevailed among the thousands who
were present from all parts of the country, and many
even from the Southern States.

Post No. 6, of Massachusetts, was instituted March

10, 1867, at Holliston. A member ' of this Post writes,

"vVmong the institutions of Holliston which are

widely useful. Post 6, G. A. R., deserves a prominent

place. Its charities have been extensive, and its

composition being such as to remove it both from the

field of politics and sectarianism, it has been able to

reach in an unobtrusive way many a sutl'erer and has

brought comparative comfort to many a poor, butde-

serving family. Its disbursements, since its organi-

zation, have amounted to nearly $7000 (l|t!12,OU0 in

1890). It has had a varying history. It has been

burned out three times, but each time has arisen with

its membership more firmly united, and with a

stronger desire to fulfill the high purpose to which it

is most sincerely consecrated.

"The relief committee of the Post has worked in

entire sympathy with the town authorities, and has

been an important auxiliary in the work of finding

out the needy and honestly paying the amounts voted

year by year by Vhe town. It is named the Powell

T. Wyman Post, in aft'ectionate remembrance of the

first commander of the Si.xteeiith Regiment. It has

for some years occupied a building on Green Street,

owned by itself, and well deserves the respect which

it enjoys in the community."

In 1890 this building was removed to Exchange

Street, and was greatly enlarged and improved.

The number of comrades in 1890 was fifty-two, and

the Commander was D. F. Travis; I. H. Carpenter,

Senior Vice ; O. L. Cutting, Junior Vice ; J. N. Fisk,

Adjutant ; and I. M. Hart, Quartermaster.

Several years after the foundation of the G. A. R.,

a new order called the Sons of Veterans, was institu-

ted. It is composed of the sons of soldiers who served

in the late war and received honorable discharge

therefrom. The associations are called Camps, and

Camp B. A. Bridges, (so called from late oflicer of Com-

pany B, and Captain of Company E, Sixteenth Regi-

ment Massachusetts Volunteers), No. 63, of Massa-

chusetts, was organized May 5, 1865. The captain in

1890, was N. E. Bridges, and the number of members

thirty-four. This Camp is armed.

The Women's Relief Corps, formed in 1881, is an

au.Kiliary to the G. A. R., and assists the widows and

children of soldiers, by supplies of clothingand mate-

rials. It is also a general assistant to the Grand

Army, in its work of benevolence. In 1890, Mrs. Z.

Talbot is Preaidsnt, and Mrs. Lewis Bullard, Secre-

tary.

Several societies for social and benevolent purposes

exist in Holliston. The Mt. Hollis Lodge of Free

and Accepted Masons was chartered in 1865, or, ac-

cording to their usage, February 14, A. M. 5865. The
number of members at present is about eighty; the

lodge continues to prosper, and holds monthly meet-

ings in Masonic Hall. The Worshipful Master in

1890 is H. C. Kingman.

1 C, S. Wilder.
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A lodge of the Sons of Temperance was formed

here many years since. It was re-organi/.ed in De-

cember, 18S1), and now has about twenty members.

The Worthy Patriarch is Albert E. Phipps.

Societies for the promotion of tem|)erance have for

a long time been present in Holliston, the first one

having been orgaiii/eil as oarly as IS'27. In 187G the

cause received a fresli ini|iulse, and three societies

were working in this direction. M the ])resent time

the ell'orts in this moral reform are conducted by so-

cieties auxiliary to the religious societies of the town,

by the Sons of Temi)erance and by the Reform Club

and its auxiliary, the Women's Christian Temperance

Union, No. 15.

A lodge of the Independent Order of Odd Felhiws

exis.ed in the town some years, and many members of

that order reside here at present. A re-organization

or a new organization is contemplated in the near

future.

The Ancient Order of Hibernians is a social and

charitable society for the mutual aid of its members.

There is a National, State and county organization,

and each of them meets semi-annually. In this State

there are from ten thousand to twelve thousand mem-

bers, and in Middlesex County about thirty-eight

hundred members. M. F. Coughlin, of Holliston, is

the county delegate. The society in this town, Divi-

sion No. 24, was chartered July 19, 1870, with twenty

members. It holds meetings every Monday night in

A. O. H. Hall, Forbes' Block, and has there a read-

ing-room and billiard ball for the purpose of interest-

ing its members. It always has from $500 to $1000

deposited in the bank, from which to draw its requi-

sitiona for aid. The president in 1890 is (". F. Dris-

coll, and the secretary, John H. Coughlin, and the

membership has increased to fifty.

A lodge of the Knights of Honor (No. 047) was or-

ganized in Holliston June 5, 1877. It is a society

for mutual benefit, and meets on the first Friday of

each month in Masonic Hall. The number of mem-
bers was fifty in 1880 ; it has now increased to eighty-

two. William H. Smart is the Dictator in 1890.

February 18, 1884, Grange No. 115 of the Patrons

of Husbandry was founded. It has attracted to its

membership not only farmers and their families, but

many others who are interested in its objects. It is a

social order for the mutual improvement of its mem-
bers and the advancement of the interests of agricul-

ture and horticulture, and persons of both sexes are

admitted. It has proved to be a desirable organiza-

tion, and has developed much latent talent among its

members. Its meetings are held twice in each month,

and in the fall season it holds an annual fair. The
number of members in 1890 was one hundred and

forty, and the Worthy Master was J. B. Parkin.

July 4, 1870, the citizens celebrated the centennial

anniversary of the independence of the nation in a

highly appropriate and eutbusiatic manner. Various

committees w'ere chosen, who made full preparations

for theevent, and the celebration was a success and a

pleasure to all. Salutes were fired and bells rung in

the morning, a procession was formed and marched

through the principal streets, and all then assembled

in the Congregatioiml Churfli. The exercises con-

sisted of an invocation by Kev. J. Gill, prayer by Kev.

(>. M. Adams, readingof Declaralidn iif Independence

by I'rofessor (i.Y. Washburn, uratinn by l!cv. Kilnumd

Dowse, of Shcrborn, an<l benediction by Rev. (ieorge

F. Walker, then of l{lack.-:tone, a former resident of

the town. Excellent singing was interspersed, in-

cluding Whittier's Centennial Hymn.
At the conclusion of these exercises the procession

was reformed and marched to Mt. Hollis Grove, where

ample refreshments bad been provided. The Hollis-

ton Band then furnished music, and Hon. Alden Le-

laud, president of the day, introduced C. S. Wilder

as toast-master, and many appropriate sentiments re-

ceived responses from |)resent and former citizens.

IManv buildings were deciirated, and as a whole more

elaborately than ever before in Holliston. Fire-works

in the evening and music by the band closed the cel-

ebration, which was a notable one and will Ih' long

remembered.

The 150th anniversary of the formation of the Con-

gregational Church was celebrated Wednesday, June

11,1879. The church was formed October 31, 1728,

0. S., so that the exact anniversary, allowing for the

change from old to new style, was November II, 1878.

The celebration was postponed to the more pleasant

season of the year. In resjionse to special invitation,

a large number of the forn\er members of the church

and congregation returned to Holliston for the occa-

sion. Many were present also from the neighboring

towns. The meeting-hou-'e was very fully and beau-

tifully decorated with flowers, ferns, evergreens, mot-

toes and emblematic designs. All but one of the

former pastors of the church now living were present,

and thitt one responded by letter. Exercises were

held both forenoon and afternoon, and a social re-

union took place in the evening.

The historical discourse, delivered by the pastor,

Rev. George M. Adams, was an exceedingly interest-

ing and valuable paper, presenting facts and remin-

iscences of great importance for future reference, as

the writer of this article has learned, during its pre))-

aration. This anniversary was an occasion of great

interest to all who had ever been connected with the

church or congregation.

During this same year, July 19, 1879, the public

library commenced its existence. The jdan of form-

ing a town library originated with Eiias Bullard,

Esq., who in his will left $1000, under certain con-

ditions for that purpose. Seth Thayer, Esq., then

contributed $500, and several others lesser sums. The

town appropriated $.500 at first and have since granted

$400 annually for its support. The library is kept in

the t()wn-house and is opened for use during the after-

noons and evenings of Wednesday and Saturday of
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each week. It is found to be it very popular institu-

tion, ilisa Jusepliine K. Kockwood is and has been

the librarian.

The charge of this Library is committed to six trus-

tees, two of whom are annually chosen by the town for

three years. Portraits of Eliiw Bullard, Esq., Mr.

8cth Thayer and Rev. George M. Adams, 1). D., adorn

the walls of the room, that of Rsiiuire Bullard having

been presented by his daughter. Mrs. Robert R.

Bishop.

The Holliston Mutual Fire Insurance Company
was incorporated and carried on business for about

twenty years. William R. Thayer, O. B. Bullard,

A. N. Currier and Thomas E. Andrews were its man-

agers at different dates. It closed in 1862, and the

insurance was transferred to George B. Fiske, who is,

and has been for many years, an agent for several

companies of that kind. A Loan Fund Association

also existed here many years ago.

Mr. John N. Fiske, a native of the town, has for

many years been e.stablished as a job and inimufac-

turiug printer, and employs steam as a motive power.

His work is good and tasteful. Mr. Fiske has also

been the enumerator of the census of 1890.

No newspapers are printed in the town. But an

edition of the Framingham Gazette, called the Hollis-

ton Transcript, is furnished weekly to the citizens.

The Milford Daily News is also sent here regularly.

Of both of these newspapers James F. Fiske is the

correspondent, and also of the Boston Qlobe. Mr.

Fiske has been a reporter for many years. He has

also been town treasurer, and was postmaster for

seventeen years, the longest term of service of any

person in that office. He was succeeded, July 12,

1886, by Frank Cass, who remains postmaster in

1890.

There is a good variety of stores in Holliston, suf-

ficient for supplying the wants of the people, both

in beallh and in sickness. '

A " History of Sherborn and Holliston," with gen-

ealogies, by Rev. Abner Morse, was published in Bos-

ton in 1856.

It is said that Rev. Timothy Dickenson (1789-1813)

wrote a pamphlet history of Holliston, extending to

his day.

Rev. Mr. Fitch's century sermon (1826), Rev. Dr.

Dowse's centennial address (1876) and Rev. Dr.

Adams's historical discourse (1879), all contain valu-

able points concerning the history of the town.

BIOGRAPHICAL.

HENRY BULLARD.

Henry Bullard is a direct descendant of Benjamin
Bullard, one among the first planters of Water-
town in 1630, and who drew land there in 1637 and
1644. His son Benjamin settled in the extreme

southern part of Sherborn prior to 1658, a portion of

his farm being within the bounds of Medway (now

Millis).

Henry is the son of Titus and Esther Bullard and

was born, at his present residence, July 13, 1815.

His grandfather, Henry, born in 1749, settled here in

I he southejist part of Holliston and built the present

house; 8(1 that Mr. Bullard is of the third generation

occupying the homestead. A large farm is attached

and it has been successfully carried on by the subject

of this sketch.

After acquiring an education in the common and

high schools of that day, Mr. Bullard served as a

teacher in this town and in Framingham. That he

was successful may be inferred from the fact that he

was invited to take charge of the High School in

Framingham. He was obliged to decline, however,

as he had an engagement to enter business in Hollis-

ton. He afterwards conducted business in a store

for three years in Cincinnati, Ohio, and for eight years

in Medway, Mass. Then the declining health of his

mother called him home, and he has since resided on

the farm. He married Bethia S. Wheeler, of Med-

way, about fifty years since, and they have had seven

children, all of whom are still living. Mrs. Bullard,

a most estimable woman, lived to a good age and

passed to a higher life in 1890, beloved and lamented

by all.

Mr. Bullard has been a selectman of Holliston for

five years, during four of which he was chairman of

the board. He has been the first vice-president of

the Holliston Savings Bank from the time of its

organization, and has also been a trustee and member
of the Investment Committee of that institution. He
is an owner of real estate in Holliston, Framingham

and several other towns, and devotes a considerable

partof his time to its care. He is a member of the

Holliston Grange of the Patrons of Husbandry.

APPLETON BULLARD.

Appleton Bullard was born in Medway, Mass.,

March 17, 1804, the son of Malachi and Polly (Little-

field) Bullard. He was the third child, Elias Bullard,

Esq., of Holliston, being the first, and Rev. Malachi

Bullard, of Winchendon, the second. A younger

brother, Hartwell, resided in Westborough. At the

age of about thirty years Mr. Bullard was married to

Hepzibah L. Harding, of Medway, and settled in

Holliston. While here he was a prominent citizen,

held in much esteem by the people of the town. He
was selectman, assessor, overseer of poor, and in fact

held most of the town offices at one time or another.

About 1854 he returned to Medway about the time

of the decease of his father and mother (who died

nearly at the same time) and took charge of the farm

at the homestead. He there remained during the rest

of his life, and also held all the town oflices there.

But he died in Holliston, suddenly, at the residence
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of his brother Elias, and wilhiu two or three hours of

the death of the latter, November 2, 1875. Mrs. Bul-

lard reniairicd in Medway until four or tive years

since, when she reniovod to Mcti'iill's Station, IIol-

liston.

Mr. Dullard was a member of the Congregational

Clairth for many years. He was a carpenter and

worked at that trade both in Medway and HoUiston.

He assisted his father in building the Congregational

Chureh in Hollislon in l.s:;2, and he built churches in

Jlillis, West Medway and Bellingham.

ELIAS BU1,LAR1).'

Elias BuUard was born in Medway December 31,

1799. He was the son of Malachi and Polly Bullard,

and was tlie oldest of six children. He early niani-

feated a fondness for books, ami, determining to lit

for college, was placed by his father under the charge

of Rev. Dr. Jacob Ide, of Medway, with whom he

pursued his preparatory studies. He entered Brown

University in 1819, and graduated in 1823. He studied

law with Elijah Morse, Esq., of Boston, and upon

being admitted to the bar, commenced practice in

Hollistou, October 7, 1820. It had been his intention

to locate in Boston, but a decided indication of lung

difficulty, with hemorrhages, compelled him to follow

the advice of his physician, and seek a location fur-

ther inland. He remained continuously in Holliston

in the practice of his profession until his death, a

period of forty-nine years. He was the first lawyer

to settle in the town, and no other one settled there

during his life.

During this long period of professional labor, Mr.

Bullard transacted the business of a wide circle of

clients, and maintained the constant respect of all

who knew him. His advice was sought on acconut

of the fairness of his mind and the soundness of his

judgment ; and the confidence of the community was

reposed in him to an unusual degree. He was dis-

posed towards the peaceful settlement of controversy,

and much litigation was tranquillized and stopped, by

his calm and restraining influence, before it was en-

tered upon. As might have been expected, he was

frequently called to act in positions of pecuniary trust

and responsibility.

He faithfully performed his part in town affairs,

and took interest especially in the schools, serving

many years upon the School Committee. He three

times represented the town in the Legislature—in

1834, 1835 and 1870. In the latter year he was the

senior member, and called the House to order. In

his address upon that occasion he spoke of the great

changes which had taken place in the more than a

generation since his first session.

He was largely concerned in the building of the

Milford branch of the Boston and Worcester Hail-

1 Contributed.

road through Holliston, and was counsel for the cor-

poration in the matter. He was throughout life a

constant reader and a studious man, was considerate

and mindful of the rights of others, and broad and tol-

erant in his views and conduct. He was a great lover

of home, lie married I'ersis Daniels, of .Sherborn, who
survived him, and of this union were born Iwo children

—Mary Helen, who also survived her father, the wife

of Robert R. Bishop, of Newton, and Josephine Dan-

iels, who died before his deci^ase, the wife of Dr.

Daniel W. .lones.

Mr. Bullard died November 2, 1875, lamented ia

the town, and in surrounding towns, to an extent

which seldom occurs. He was a member of the Con-

gregational Church in Hollistou.

MOSES A. HARRIMAN.

Mr. Harriman was born in Bridgewater, N. H.,

May 3, 1812. Before he came to Hollistou in 1835,

he was a school teacher in the State of Ohio, and

also resided in Natick, Mass., where he worked in

making shoes for Henry Wilson, afterwards ilistin-

guished as a Senator and Vice-1'resident of the United

States. Alter removing to Holliston, he lived at first

in the west end of the town with Amasa Forristall and

made " brogans." In the year 1839 he i)urchased the

Austin Bellows est.ite in East Holliston, built or en-

larged the shop there, and commenced the manufac-

ture of shoes and boots. This business he continued

during the whole remainder of his life, devoting the

greater part of the time to the manufacture of boots,

in which he had quite a considerable trade.

In 1841 he married Susan Newton, a resident of

Holliston, but a native of Shrewsbury, Mass. They

had two children, but neither have survived. An
adopted son is in business in Boston.

Mr. Harriman was a member of the Board of As-

sessors for two years. He joined the Methodist Church

in 1845, and ever afterwards led a consistent Christian

life. He was for many years a trustee and steward of

that church, and was one of its chief financial sup-

porters. He was also for some time the superintend-

ent of its Sunday-school.

Mr. Harriman was an active business man and he

secured the good will of all with whom he had deal-

ings. Although reserved in his conversation concern-

ing matters of business, he h.ad the good tact to

manage it successfully, and succeeded in accumula-

ting a handsome competency, lie was a favorite with

his workmen, who attended his funeral in a body and

keenly felt his loss. Ue died September 12, 1879.

ZEPHANIAH TALBOT.

Mr. Talbot was born in South Hanover, Mass.,

June 22, 1834. He was educated in the public

schools and in Hanover Academy, and then as

a full apprentice in the Corliss Steam Engine Co.,
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at Provideiioe, Rboile letlaiid. He was a staff officer

ill the Uiiiteil folates Navy, from LStJO to 1866,

being assislant eiifrliieer. Applying for duty in

active service, he was ordered to, proceed from San

Francisco to the North. He received two promotions

and served as chief engineer on tlie Gunboats Cho-

cura and Iosco, and superintended the placing of the

engines in them. He was on duty in the North At-

lantic blockading squadron and was present at the

capture of Fort Fisher. He continued in the service

after the close of the war, and was appointed first as-

sistant professor of steam-engineering at the Naval

Academy, Annapolis, Md., this branch being then

lirst introduced as a study. In the year 1866, he re-

signed his oflice for the purpose of entering business.

Mr. Talbot's first connection with Mr. D. K. !Stet-

son was at Woodvillc, Hopkiutoii, Mass., in the man-

ufacture of shoe nails and tacks. In the year 1860,

they removed to HoUiston, established themselves on

the site of the old comb factory in East HoUiston,

whereas Stetson & Talbot, they continued the above

mentioned business for twenty-one years. In 1887

Mr. Talbot purchased the interest of Mr. Stetson imd

has since conducted the business himself. A refer-

ence to the description of this industry in another

part of this article, will show the magnitude of the

business. He has obtained one patent and applied

for three others connected with this manufacture.

Mr. Talbot was a member of the Board of Select-

men in 1866; chairman of the Board of Assessors four

years, from 1876; and a member of the school com-

mittee for ten years, a portion of that time as chair-

man. He was also a director of the National Bank
and Trustee of the Savings Bank for several years.

In 1882 he was chosen treasurer of the HoUiston

Mills, and has continued to occupy that post. He
has also been tre.asurer and a director of the HoUis-

ton Water Company since its first incorporation in

1884.

In May, 1863, he was married to Eliza F. Paul, of

Boston. They have had four children, one of whom,
Henry P., after a course of study at the Institute of

Technology, in Boston, proceeded to Europe for fur-

ther education, and in 1S90 took the degree of Ph.D.
at Leipsic.

CHAPTER XXXVII.

MAIDEN.

BY WILLIAM T. DAVIS.

Malden was originally a part of Charlestown.
Charlestown was first visited, as far as is certainly

known, by John Smith in 1614. There is no evidence
that earlier explorers, including Verazzano, Gosnold,
Martin Pring, Waymouth, Champlain and Hudson,
either entered the harbor of Boston, or even saw its

adjacent lands. John Smith, aftersome years' connec-

tion with the Southern VirginiaOomi)any, returned to

England, and in 1614 sailed with two ships " to take

whales and also to make trials of a mine of gold and

copper.'' On his arrival at Monhegan, near the mviutli

of the Penobscot River, he anchored his vessels and

sailed with eight men in a shallop, along the more

southerly coast as far as Cape Cod, giving the njftne

of New England to the country, and " drawing a map
from point to point, isle to isle, and harbor to harbor,

with the soundings, sands, rocks and landmarks."

A copy of this map was submitted by Smith, on his

return to England, to Prince Charles, afterwards

Charles the First, who attached names to the various

points there delineated. Of these names, Plymouth,

named, it is believed, in honor of Sir Ferdinando

Gorges, at that time Governor at the castle in

Plymouth, and one of Smith's patrons; Cape Anne,

named after Anne of Denmark, the mother of the

Priuce, and Charles River, named after himself, re-

main, while all the other names, includiug Cape

James for Cape Cod, Milford Haven for Provincetown

Harbor, Stuard'sBay for Barnstable Bay, Point George

for Brant Point, Oxford for Marshfield, London for

Cohasset, Cheviot Hills for the Blue Hills, Talbott's

Bay for Gloucester Harbor, and Dartmouth, Sandwich

and Cambridge, for places near Portland, never came
into use.

Smith was followed by Thomas Dermer, in 1619,

who put into Massachusetts Bay, and visited Plym-

outh, but there is no evidence that he sighted the

northerly shore ofthe bay. The "Mayflower" followed

in 1620, the " Fortune" in 1621, the " Ann" and " Little

James," in 162.3, all making Plymouth their only

destination, and in the last of these years Robert

Gorges, appointed Lieutenant-General of New Eng-

land, came in a ship which was the pioneer in the

great movement which ended in the settlement of the

Massachusetts Colony. All the enterprises connected

with these arrivals on the New England coa.st were

conducted under the authority of an English com-

pany, first known as the Northern Virginia Company,

and afterwards as " The council established at

Plymouth, in the county of Devon, for the planting,

ordering, ruling and governing of New England in

America."

This company, together with the Southern Virginia

Company, or, as it was called, the Virginia Company,

was established in 1606. On the 10th of April in that

year King James divided by letters patent between

these two companies, a strip of land one hundred

miles wide, along the Atlantic coast of North Amer-

ica, extending from the thirty-fourth to the forty-

fifth degree of north latitude, a territory which then

went under the name of Virginia. This territory ex-

tended from Cape Fear to Passamaquoddy Bay. The
patent, or charter, to the Virginia Company was

granted to certain knights, gentlemen, merchants

and adventurers of London, who were permitted to
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claim between the the thirty-fourth and forty-first

degrees, or between Cape Fear and a point witliin tlie

boundaries of New Yorlc harbor. The patent, or

charter, to theNorthern Virginia Company was grant-

ed to knights, gentlemen, merchants and adventurers

of Bristol, Kxeter and Plymouth, who were permitted

to claim between the thirty-eighth and foity-fiflh de-

grees, or between the southoastorri corner of Maryland

and Passamaqudddy Bay. That portion of the strip

between the thirty-eighth and forty-first degrees in-

cluded in both patents, was open to the company first

occupying it, and neither company was permitted to

malce a seUlement within one liundred miles of a

settlement of the other company.

In 1G20, the King having become displeased with

Sir Edwin Sandys, the Governor and Treasurer of the

Southern Company, forbade his re-election, but hi.s

successor, the Earl of Southampton, being no less

obnoxious, he was disposed to ^how special favor to

the Northern Company, and granted it a new act of

incorporation under the title, already referred to, of

" The council established at Plymouth, in the county

of Devon, for the planting, ordering and governing

of New England in America." Under their new
charter a new grant was made to the company, ex-

tending from the Atlantic to the Pacific and bounded

by the fortieth and forty eighth degrees of latitude.

Under the authority of this company the settlement

of the Massachusetts Colony was made. In 1622 they

granted to Robert Gorges all that part of the terri-

tory " commonly called or known by the name of the

Massachusiack upon the northeaside of the Bay
called or known by the name of the Massachusett."

This grant, according to the best authorities, included

the region about Boston harbor, bounded on one side

by Nahant and on the other by Point Allerton, and ex-

tending thirty miles into the interior, " with all the

rivers, islands, minerals, etc.," within its limits. This

grant included, of course, the territory afterwards occu-

pied by the town of Charlestown, and Charlestown when
settled included Maiden, Everett, Melrose, Woburn,

Stoneham, Burlington, Somerville, a large part of Med-
ford and a small part of Cambridge, West Cambridge

and Reading, Arlington, Lexington and Winchester.

In 1623 Robert Gorges, as has been already stated,

was appointed by the Plymouth Council, Lieutenant-

General of New England, and came over to secure his

grant and establish a colony. In the next year, hav-

ing failed in his colonial enterprise, he returned to

England " until better occasion should offer itself unto

him." It is probable that on his departure he left

some remnants of his colony behind, as in 1626 there

were planters at " Winnissemit," and as William

Blackstone, the first settler of Boston, appears in the

records as the agent of Gorges in 1626, and others con-

nected with him and his enterprise were at about the

same date inhabitants of what was later the Massa-

chusetts Colony.

After the death of Robert Gorges his older brother

John, to whom his grant descended, leased, in or about

162S, a part of the land claimed by him to John Old-

Iiam and John Dorrill. This lease included the terri-

tory afterward embraced within the limits of Char es-

town, and covered " all the lands within the Slassa-

chuselts Bay, between Charles River and Abousett (or

Saugns) River, containing in length by straight line,

four miles up the Charles Iliver, with the main land

northwest from the border of said Bay, including all

creeks and points by the way ; and three miles in

length from the mouth of the foresaid river Aboueett

up into the main land, upon a straight linesouthwest,

including all creeks and points ; and all the land in

breadth and length between the foresaid rivers, with

al! prerogatives, royal mines excepted."

In 1628 the council for Plymouth, the successor of

the old Northern Virginia Company, notwithstanding

the grant they had made to Robert Gorges in 1622,

under which Oldham and Dorrell claimed as lessees,

sold the territory included in that grant to the Mas-

sachusetts Colony, bo\in(ling the lands conveyed by

points three miles north of the Merrimack River and

three miles south of the Charles River, and extend-

ing from the Atlantic Ocean to the South Sea. Old-

ham, of course, protested against this sale of lands

to which he had reason to believe that he was right-

fully entitled, but for some rciwon the Plymouth

Council held the claim to be void and disregarded it.

On September 6, 1628, John Kudicott arrived in

Salem, as the representative and local Governor of

the Massachusetts Colony. Included among the mem-
bers of the company arriving with Endicott, accord-

ing to some authorities, were Ral|)h Sprague and his

brothers Richard and William, who, not long after

their arrival set out on an expedition, during which

they traveled about twelve miles to the westward

from Nahumkeik (now Salem) and " lighted of a place

situate and lyeing on the north side of the Charles

Uiver full of Indians called Aberginians." It is said

that by this band of adventurers it was agreed, with

the approbation ofGovernor Endicott, " that this place

on the north side of the Charles River, by the natives

called Mishawum, shall henceforth, from the name

of the river, be called Charlestown."

But authorities difl'er as to the place, time and man-

ner of the settlement of Charlestown, and as to the

l)ersons by whom it was settled. Besides the lease of

lands to John Oldham and John Dorrell, there was a

claim made by Sir William Brereton, under a deed

dated January 10, 1629, of " all the land in breadth

lyeinge from ye east side of Charles River to the

easterly parte off the cape called Nahante, and all the

lands lyeinge in length twenty miles northeast into ye

maine land from the mouth of the said Charles River

lyeing also in letigth twenty miles into the maine land

northeast from ye said Cape Nahante ; also two Islands

lyeinge next unto the shore between Nahante and

Charles River, the bigger calli^d Brereton, and the

lesser, Susanna." This claim also was rejected by the
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Plymouih C.u.u .i, and the MassachuselU Coiupauy

in England sent a li'tter to Kndicott by the " George

lionavoiitiiri-," which arrivt-il in .Salem June 22, 1029,

Iroiu ttliicli the lollowing is an extract :

'• Wo pny you nud the i-ouncll Ihero l.i mlvlse serlouBly toKftlior for

Itio uutlnlonaiicv of our i>rl»llfi!o« nriil iwuciwlilo Koviniiiminl, wliicli, if

II lii»y Ik- dune by It luiiipunitK couiw, wo luucb di'siro it, tliuimh with

•uiiio inc.livi.nlifiicf, «iw our (joviTuuienl iiiiil |irivili?Ko« l)u uot brouglit

In .-.puti-Mipt, wijlilnt; nillior tliun- inlKlit l>t' "ucli » uuinu mi might ilniw

Ihn lioathrn liy our nood oxiinipli- to the enibmciiiK of Cliiint »nd hia

Ko>|iol Ibali llmt otTcUca sliould hy Riven to tlio lircitliiui, and ii Bcundiil

to our religion through our disiiKrii'm.iit iimoiigiit ourBilves. Hut it

neeewity n-iiuire u more severe eouri'o where fuir nieani* will not prevail,

we pray you to deal, a« In your diitcretionn yiui Hliall think litteBt for the

gener*! giKHl and safety of the plantation and preservation of our priv-

ileges. .\ud iK'Cttuse we would not omit to do anything wliieli might

Irengthen our right, we would have you (i\» Boon aa tliiDe ships, or any

of them, arrive with you. whereby you may have men to do it) send

forty or hfty persons to Ma«saehusett« Hay to inhabit there, which we

pray you not to protract, but to do it with all »|ieod ; and if any of our

comiMoy in parlleolar shall desire to settle tlieiuselvcs there, or to send

servants thither, we desire all aroonmiodation and ,enco\irngenient may

b.' given them thereunto, »l\ereby the better to strengthen our posses-

sion there against all or any that shall intrude upon us, which we would

not have you, by any means, give way unto ; with this caution uotwith-

glandlng—That for such of our countrymen as you And there planted,

no as they be willing to live under our government, you endeavor to give

them all fitting and due acconimodiition as to any of ourselves
;
yea, if

you see cause for It, tliough it be with more than ordiruiry privileges in

point of trade."

Immediately after the arrival of the ships referred to

in the above letter, Thomas Greaves and Rev.

Francis Bright, with a party of colonists, were dis-

patched for Urassachiisetts Bay to take possession of

the lands included in their patent and silence the

claims of Oldham and Dorrell and Brereton. The

precise date of their arrival at C'harlestown is render-

ed doubtful by the uncertain statements of different

historians. It is probable that Thomas Greaves and

the letter from which the above extract is taken

arrived at Salem in the " tfeorge Bonaventure
''

on the 22d of June. It seems also probable that

Higginson and Bright arrived in the " Talbot " and
" Lion's Whelp "on the 29th of June, and yet the con-

clusion reached by Frothingham, in his " History of

CharlestowD," is that Greaves and Bright reached

Charlestown on their expedition from Salem on the

24th of June. It does not even appear sure that

Ralph and Richard and William Sprague, already

referred to as settlers of Charlestown, were not

companions of Greaves and Wright, instead of

their forerunners. At any rate, it is certain that

about the last of June or the first of July, the

settlement of Charlestown was definitely made, and

during the year l»j29 Higginson wrote :
" There

are in all of us, both old and new planters, about

three hundred, whereof two hundred of them are

settled at Neihum-kek, now called Salem ; and the

rest have planted themselves at Mas-athulets Bay,

beginning to build a towne there which wee doe call

Cherton on Charles Towne." There seems, however,

to be a concurrence of opinion, after attempts to

reconcile conflicting jtateineuts, that the day of the

arrival of Greaves, the agent of the Massachusetts

Colony, at Charlestown, was .lune 24th, old stylo, or

July 4th, new style, and that therefore that is the date

of the foundation and settlement of the town.

At this place a settlement was made with the con-

sent of John Sagamore, the local native chief of a

tribe of the I'awtuckets, a chief" of gentle and good

disposition, a handsome young man conversant with

us," as Thomas Dudley said, "affecliug English ap-

parel and houses, and speaking well of our God."

On the arrival of a second comptiny following

the lead of Endicott about one-third of the number

more than one hundred in all, proceetleil to Charles-

town. On the arrival of Winthrop, in 1030, with a

company of fifteen hundred persons, in a well-equipped

fleet fitted out in England at an expenseof more than

twenty-one thousand pounds sterling, the Charles and

Mystic Rivers were speedily explored, and Charles-

town was selected as the place for the settlement ot

the Massachusetts Colony. At that lime the proxim-

ity to tide-water, the two rivers, the Charles and

Mystic, and the scattered lands which had been

cleared by the natives, made the spot as attractive

as any which could be found in the territory of New
England. The presence of the Indians was, however,

a constant menace to the peace and safety of the

settlement, which demanded the utmost sagacity and

watchfulness to guard against. Sagamore John made
his home upon the creek which runs from the marshes

between Powder Horn Hill and Winnisimmet into

the Mystic. While he was the nominal ruler of the

tribe, his mother, the Squaw Sachem and the widow

of Nanapashemet, the old ruler, was the actual head

of the tribe.

During the prevalence of small-pox in 1632, the

Squaw Sachem and her two sons. Sagamore John and

Sagamore .Tames, died, and Wenepoygen, a younger

brother, liecame chief. He was given by the settlers

the name of George Rumney Marsh, from the place

where he lived, on the southern border of the present

town of Maiden. Until 1851 he entertained kindly

feelings towards the colonists, when he made claims

to land which he declared had been the property ot

his brother, Siigamore John, which the Ixeneral (Jourt

finally attempted to settle by ordering twenty acres to

be laid out for him to make use of. After the deaih

of his mother, the Squaw Sachem, he became the

chief of the Pawtuckets and the nominal head of the

Nipraucks, who occupied lands towards the Connecti-

icut River. He joined King Philip in the war of

1675 and 1070, and, when taken prisoner, was sent a

slave to Barbadoes. Finally released, he returned to

Massachusetts, and died the last Pawtucket sachem,

in 1084.

Notwithstanding the near presence of the natives,

the people of Charlestown began at a very early

period to push out into the adjacent country, and

within and without the borders of that town to settle

wherever they could find land suited to their needs.

New colonists were constantly arriving from England,
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and during the first ten years after the arrival of

Winthrop it is estiiniited that four thousand families

had readied the shores of New Kughiud, including

more than twenty-one thousand persons. They had

come from a country whero tlie ownership of land

was a prize whioli only tiie wealthy were able to se-

cure, and the almost limitless bounds of the western

world attracted a continued wave of emigration, with

liberal homesteads and farms, almost free of cost, as

the expected rewards of their enterprise. The eager-

ness displayed in our own day by the settlers of Okla-

homa and other newly-opened Territories to possess

advantageous sites for homes, finds a parallel in the

days of our fathers, when almost for the asking the

poor English laborer, with only sutlicient means to

secure a passage across the Atlantic, could become

the lord of lands on a footing, so far as ownership

was concerned, with the more favored in his English

home.

Soon after the settlement of Charlestown a move-

ment was made to establish a church. Tlie Massa-

chusetts Colony had instructed the three ministers,

Messrs. Higginson, Skelton and Bright, who were

among the members, that in case they could not

agree who should ''inhabit at IMassachusetis Bay,"

they should ''make choice of one of the three by lot,

and he on whom the lot should fall should go, with

his family, to perform that work." Rev. Francis

Bright was finally selected, and engaged for £20 for

the expenses of his journey, his passage out and back

and a salary of £20 per year. He was to receive also

£10 for the purchase of books, and a dwelling-house

and land, to be used by him and left to his successor

in the ministry. If he remained seven years he was

to receive one hundred acres of land for his own use.

Mr. Bright, however, was not a thorough Puritan, and

the increasing non-conformity of the colonists dis-

inclined him to continue as their pastor, and in July,

1030, he returned to England. It was said of him on

his departure "that he began to hew stones in the

mountains wherewith to build, but when he saw all

sorts of stones would not suit in the building, as he

supposed, he, not unlike Jonah, fled from the presence

of the Lord and went down to Tarshish."

In 1G29 Thomas Greaves, the agent of the Colony at

Charlestown, nent to England the following descrip-

tion of the country in the neighborhood of his place

of settlement

:

" This much I can affirme iu generall, that I never catiie in a more

goodly country in all my life, nil things considered. If it hath not at

any time been manured and husbanded, yet it ia very beautiful in open

lands mixed with goodly woods, and again open plainee, in some places

rtve hundred acres, some places more, some les3 ; not much troubleeome

for tocleare, for the plough to goe in, no place barren but on the tops of

the fails ; the gT-aase and weeds grow up to a man's (;ioe in the lowland,

and by fresh rivers abundance of graase and large meadowea without

any tree or shrubbe to hinder the sith. I never saw, except in Hungaria,

unto which I always paralell the countrie in all our moat respects, for

every thing that is heare eyther sowne or planted proapereth far better

than in old Kngland. The increase of come is here farre beyond expec-

tation, aa I have seene here by experience in barly, the which because

it in 00 much ubovo youru couceptloa, I will nut mention. And cutlle

do prosporo very well, and those that are bredd here farro greater lliuii

those with you In Kngland. Vhiesdoo grow here plentifully laden with

the biggcHt grapes that rvi^r I saw, some I liaveseene fouro inches about,

81) that I am hulil to siy of thld countrii* aa it Is coninmnly said In Oor-

niany of Hungarla, that furcaltel. corue and wine U excelluth. Wo
have many more hopeful cumnuHlUles hero In this country, the which

time will loach to make good use of. In the mean time we ahutind

with such thinga which next iindi-r God doe make us aubaitit ; as tlsli

fowl, dcert', and aundrio 8ort« of frullH aa niusk-mellcous, watur-nud-

leonn, I niliaii pompeons, Indian pcaro, beane.", aud many uthor odile

fruits that I cannot name. All which are made good and pleiuumt

through this maiue bleMing of God, the healthfulnease of tUv countree,

which far I'xceodfth all i>arls that ever I have beeno in. It in obHcrved

that few or no in- doe here fal sicke , uiilesa of the scurvey, that they

bring from aboard the ship with them, whereof I have cured some of my
companio onelyby labour."

Such letters as this written to Kngland—and there

were many—served to excite the adventurous spirit of

the age and enlarged the wave of immigration, whicli

was already flowing with full tide on the New Eng-

land shores. After the arrival of Winthrop, in 1G30,

the settlement at Charlet*town rapidly grew and ex-

tended its boundaries. Sbawmutor Boston was soon

settled.

"Some went without the neck of this town who travelled up into the

main till thoy came to a place well watered, whither Sir Richard Salton-

stall and Mr. Phillips, minister, went, with several others, and settled a

plantation and called it Wattertowne. Others went on the other side of

I'harlea River, and tlwn travelled up into thp country and likt-wiae find-

ing good waters, settled tiiere with Mr. Tjudlow and called the planta-

tion Porchester, whither went Mr. Maverick and Mr. Warbam, who

were their ministers.

"In the meantime Mr. Biackslout!, dwelling on the other side of

Charles River alone at a i)hice by the Indians called Shawmutt, where

he only had a cottage at or not far off the place called Blackstone's

Point, he came and acquainted the tJovernor of an excellent spring there

without inviting him tliither. Whereupon after the death of Mr. John-

son and divers others the Governor, with Mr. Wilson and Ihe grnitest

part of the church, removed thither: whither also the frame of the Gov-

ernor's house in preparation at this town wita (also to the discontent of

some) carried when people began to build their houses against winter

and the place was called Boston.

" After these things Mr. Pinchenand several others planted betwixt

Boston and Dorchester, which place was called Roxbnry.

"Now, after all this, the Indians' treachery being feared, it was

judged meet the English should place their towns as near together aa

could be, for which end Mr. Dudley and Mr. Broadstreeto, with some

others, went and built and planted between Charlestown and Watortown,

who called it Newtown (which was afterwards called Cambridge)

" Others went out to a place between Charlestown and Salem, called

Saugust (since ordered to be called Lynn)-

" And thus, by reason of diacouragements'and ditiicuUiesthat strangers

in a wilderness at firat meet withal, though as to some things but sup-

posed, as in this case, people niiglit have found water abundant in this

town and needed not to have perished for want, or wandered to other

places for relief, would they but have looked after it. But this, attentled

with other circumstances, the wisdom of God made use of as a means for

spreading his Gospel and peopling of this great and then terrible wil-

dLM-ness, and this sudden spreading into several townships came to be of

far better use for the entertainment of so many hundreds of people that

come for several years following hither, in such multitudes from most

parts of old Kngland, than if they had now remained altogether in this

town.
" But after their departure frutn this town to the peopling and plant-

ing of the towns aforesaid, and in particular of the removal of the Gov-

ertior ami the greatest part of our new gathered church, with the Pas-

tor, to Boston, the few inhabit.ints of this town remaining were con-

strained for three yeare after generally to go to Boston on the Lord's day

to hear the word and enjoy the sacraments before they could he other

wise supplied."

Thus by the dispersion of the Colony into adjacent
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territory the lollowiiig towns were established before .

1G49 :
I

Uoston.iii ICIiO; l).«rchestor, 1(>30 ; Roxbiiry, 1030;

WKtertown, 1(530 ; Meill'orri, lt!3(); Ipswich, Ui34
;

^

Concord, l«3o; Lyuii, 1637; Sudbury, 1G39 ; Glou- i

cealer, l(i39; Haverhill, 1645; Miinchcster, 1645 ;
|

Aiulover, 1646; Marblehead, Ui49; Newbury, 1635;
|

U.wley, 1630; Siili4>iiry, 1610; Wonham, 1643;

Woburii, 1642; Briiiiilree, 164(1; Dedhaiii, 1636; Wey-

luoiilh, 163.'); Hiriiiham, 163-'); Hull, 1614. These,

with Ailerii, .settled in 1629, were all the towns wi.hiii

the limits of the Massachusetts Colony established

before May 2, 1649, the date of the establishment of

the town of Maiden.

It was not long after the settlement of Charlestown

that dillieultics arose concernin;; town boundaries.

These were finally settled by the General Court. In

1633 the Court established lines between Charlestown

and Newtown or Cambridge by ordering that the land

" impaled by Newton men, with the neck thereto ad-

joining where Mr. Greaves dwelleth, sli.ill belong to

the said Newton." The Charlestown bounds were to

" end at a tree marked by the said pale and to jiass

by that tree in a straight line unto themeadowing be-

tween the westermoslpart of the great lot of land grant-

ed to.Iohii Winthrop and the nearest part thereto of

the bounds of Watertown." The land granted to John

Winthrop here mentioned inehided the acres of the

Ten Hills farm. On the 2d ofJuly 1683, the Courtaiso

granted to the town of Charlestown " Mistick Side," as

it was called, ordering that " the ground lying betwixt

the Norlh river and the creek on the North side of Mr.

Maverick's, and up into the country, shall belong to

the inhabitants of Charlestown.' On the 3d of March
1636, another order of Court was made providing that

" Charlestown bounds shall run eight miles into the

country from the meeting-house if not other bounds

intercept, reserving the propriety of farms, granted

to John Winthrop, Esq., John Nowell, Mr. Cradock,

and Mr. Wilson to the owners thereof, as also free

ingress and egress for the servants and cattle of the

said gentlemen and common for their cattle, on the

back side of Mr. Cradock's farm." No further grants

were made to the town after 1640, and not much time

elapsed after that date before its boundaries began
to be broken by the formation of new towns.

In 1633 William Wood, the author of "New Eng-
land's Prospect," gives the following description of

Charlestown

:

" Od tUo north aiiJe of (Jharles Klver is Chnrlestowii, wljicli is another
neck of land on whose north side runs Mistick Kiver. This town from
all things may he well paralelicd with her neighbor, Boston, being in

the same fashion with her hare neck and constrained to borrow con-
veniences from the main and to provide for themselves farms in the
country for their better subsistence. At this town there is kept a ferry-

boat to carry iiassengers over Charles Uiver. which between the two
towns is a quarter of a mile over, being a very deep chauuel. Here may
ride forty ships at a tinlc. Up higher it is a broad hay, being about two
niilea between the shores into which runs Stony River and Muddy River.
Towards the southwest, in the middle of the hay, is a great oyster bank.
Towards the northwest of this bay is a great creek, upon whose shore is

(•Knitted the valley of Medfurd, u very fertile and pleasant place an<l lit

for mon- Inhabitants than are yet in it. This town is a mile and a half

from Charlestown." "The next town is IMistiek, which is three miles

from Charh'stown by land and a league and a half by water. It is

seated by the water side very pleasaittly ; there be nut many huusea as

yet. At the head of this river are great and spacious ponds whilherthe

.\lewlves proas to spawn. This being a noted plac«f for that kind of llsh,

the English resort hither to take them. On the west side of this river'

the Guvenior hath a faim where ho keeps most of his cattle. On the

eaat side is 3lisler Cradock's plantation, where be hath imjialed a pai k

where he keeps his cuttle till he can store it with deiT. Here, likewirie,

he is at charges of building shij)S. The lust year one was upon the

stocks of a hundred ton ; that being anished, they are to build one twice

her burden. Ships without cither ballast or loading may Ooat down

this river ; otherwise the oyster bank would binder them which crosseth

the channel."

After the departure of Rev. Mr. Bright from

Charlestown, in 1630, whose ministrations were not

over an organized thurch, the fir.^t church of Boston

was organized July 30, 1630. John Wilson was

chosen teacher; Increase Nowell, ruling elder ; Wil-

liam Gager and William Aspinwall, deacons. This

was the fourth church in New England. The Plym-

outh Church was the first, the Salem Church the

second, the Dorchester Church, organized in Eng-

land, the third, and the Boston Church the fourth.

This church was first gathered in Charlestown, and

at the end of three months removed to Boston. During

the two following years the people of both Boston

and Charlestown attended this church. On the 5th of

June, 1632, Rev. Thomas James arrived atCharlestown,

and immediate steps were taken to form a church in

that town. On the 14th of October thirty-five per-

sons were dismissed from the Boston church, and on

the 21st of that month the first public services were

held. The new church was formed November 2, 1632,

and Mr. James was chosen pastor. The thirty-five

persons forming the church were Increase and

Parnel Nowell, Thomas and Christian Beecher,

Abraham and Grace Palmer, Ralph and Jane

Sprague, Edward and Sarah Convers, Nicholas and

Amy Stowers, Ezekiel and Susan Richeson, Henry

and Elizabeth Harwood, Robert and Jane Hale,

George and Margaret Huchesou, Thomas and Eliza-

beth James, William and Ann Frothingham, Ralph

and Alice Mousall, Richard and Arnold Cole, Rich-

ard and Mary Sprague, John and Bethiah Haule,

William Dade, Thomas Minor and Thomas Squire.

In 1633 the relations between Mr. James and his

people became so unpleasant that a division of the

church was threatened. This division, however, was

healed when Rev. Zechariah Symraes arrived in

Charlestown and became pastor, as the successor of

Mr. James. During the pastorate of Mr. Symmes the

town of Maiden was established. In 1638 the town

of Charlestown voted that a large part of the grant

of land which afterwards included Maiden should be

reserved " for such desirable persons as should be

received in," or for "such as may come with another

minister." The part so reserved was described as

lying "at the head of the five acre lots and running

in a straight line from Powder Horn Hill to the heftd
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of Nortli River, together with three hundred acres

above Cradock's farm.'' Before 1040 a few settlers

had found their way from Charlestowu to the Mistick

side, but before the establishment of the town of

Maiden no church had been organized within that

territory. Forming an exception to the general rule,

the town preceded the church, and ^Yas not its

creation. Hut though no organized church existed,

the distance from the parent church at Charlestown

rendered it necessary to establish independent re-

ligous services, and employ some minister to officiate.

It is recorded that at that lime, Mr. Sargeant, " a

Godly Christian," and some young students from the

college broke the seals to the people. As the settle-

ment on the Mistick side grew, the desire soon

sprang up in the minds of the people to form both

an independent town and an organized independent

church. On the 1st of January, 164;*, a committee

of men living on the Charlestowu side of the river

was chosen " to meet three chosen brethren on Mis-

tick side," to agree upon the terms of a separation

and the boundaries of a new town. The committee

reported that, " to the end the work of Christ and

the things of his house there in hand may be more

comfortably carried on, it is agreed as followeth :

that the Mistick side men should be a town by

themselves." In accordance with the report of the

committee, and in consequence of the assent of the

Charlestowu men to the formation of the new town,

the Court of Assistants, on the 2d of May, ltj49, old

style, or the 12th of May, new style, " upon the peti-

tion of Mistick side men, they are granted to be a

distinct towne, and the name thereof to be called

Maulden."

The name of the town is due to the fact that

some of the settlers came from the town in Eng-

land bearing that name. It wag largely the cus-

tom, not only among the Puritans of Massachu-

setts, who had only recently left the scenes of

their old English homes, but also of the Pilgrims

of Plymouth, who had long been weaned from

loving associations of English life, to give to New
England towns, and even to hamlets and outlying

districts and farms and hills and plains, the names

with which they were familiar in the land from which

they had come. The wri.,er of this sketch owes to

some of these names on the estates of early Plymouth

settlers the discovery of the spot of their birth, or

that from which they had migrated to the New World.

Maiden in England lies in the county of Essex, about

thirty-eight miles from London, and is supposed to be

the anc'ent Camalodunum, once the capital of Cuno-

beline, an old British King ; and the seat of the first

Roman Colony in Great Britain. Cunobeline or

Cymbeline flourished in the year 4 of the (christian

era. Not many years later the Emperor Claudius,

after his invasion of Britain, established at Maiden a

Roman colony, and it is said, made it a place of magnifi-

cence and beauty. It was written Maeldune by the

Saxons, being composed of two words—Mael, across,

and dune, a hill. In the time of the Conqueror it was

called Meldone, and subsequently Meaudon, Mauden,
Maldon and Maiden.

The early records of the town of Maldon are lost and
therefore no list of its earliest settlers has been pre-

served. It is known, however, that among them were
.loseph Hills, Ralph Si)rague, Edward Carringlon,

Thomas inquire, John Wayte, James Greene, Abra-
ham Hill, Thomas Osborne, John Lewis and Thomas
Caule. Of many of these men little is known. Jos-

eph Hills came with his wife Rose from Maiden in

England. In U)47 he was the .Speaker of the House
of Deputies and edited llie revision of Massachusetts

laws printed in 1048, which was ihe first code of laws

established by authority in New England. It was
undoubtedly in honor of him that the town was
named. He removed to Newbury in 1665.

Ralph 8prague was the oldest of three brothers, all

of whom came to Charlestowu. The two others,

Richard and William, have been already referred to.

They were the sons of Edward Sprague, a fuller, of

Upway, in Dorsetshire, England. Ralph was about

twenty-five years of age when he arrived. In 1630

he was chosen constable and made freeman, and, in

1632, was one of the founders of the Charlestowu

church. He was a selectman and representative,

and a member of the artillery company. He died in

1650, leaving four sons—John and Richard, born in

England; Samuel, born in 1631, and Phineas—and a
daughter, Mury, who married Daniel Edmands. His
widow, Joanna Sprague, married Edward Converse,

and died in 1680.

Thomas Squire was a freeman in 1634, and, in 1636,

a member of the artillery company.

After the organization of the town Joseph Hills

was chosen its first deputy to the General Court,

John Wayte, the first town clerk, and Thomas Squire,

William Brackenbury, John Upham, John Wayte
and Thomas Caule, selectmen, and Richard Adams,
constable.

In 1650 Rev. Marmaduke Matthews was invited to

settle as pastor over the church in Maiden, which
until that time had no ordained minister. Mr. Mat-
thews was born in Swansey, in Glamorganshire, in

Wales, in 1605. It is known that in 1623 he was a
scholar in All Souls' College, Oxford. He arrived

in Boston from Barnstable, England, September 21

1638, and was tirst settled over the church in Yar-
mouth, in the Colony of Plymouth, where he went
with its earliest settlers. Nathaniel Mortiu, in "New
England's Jlemorial," speaks of him as one "of the
Godly and able Gospel Preachers with which the

Lord was pleased of his great goodness richly to ac-

complish and adorn the Plymouth (!olony." He left

Yarmouth about the year 1647, and removed into the
Massachusetts Colony.

Previous to the invitation extended to Mr. Mat-
thews to settle in Maiden, invitations were sent to
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Mr. Miller, of Rowley, Mr. Blenman, John Wilson

(son oflhf Boston miiiidler), 8iimuel Mather, Ezekiel

Cheever and several olhor.t. Hut dillicultiea, soon

alter the settlement of Mr. Miittliews, arose in the

church. In 11)49 the people of Hull, where Mr. Mat-

thews hail preached, asked the General Court for

" encouragement '' to him to return to them. At that

time the Court assisted feeble churches, and the en-

couragement asked for was tinanciai aid from the

Colonial treasury. The Court re])lied—" that it in

no way judged it meet to grant the inliabitaiita of

Hull their desire," and further said that they found

several erroneous expressions, "others weak, inconve-

nient and safe,"' for whicli it judged it proper to order

th.it Mr. Matthews should be admonished by the

Governor in the name of the Court. It was true that

the preaching of Mr. Mattliews was peculiar, and his

doctrinal opinions were dillerent from tliose of other

New England ministers. Before his settlement in

Maiden the churches of Charlestown and Roxbury

remonstrated with their Maiden brethren against his

ordination. In 1050 Mr. Matthews asked of the

Court the privilege of explaining his language to

which exceptions had been taken, and, on the 22d of

May, the Court ordered that he should have a hearing

at the house of Mr. Philips, of Boston, before the

elders of Boston, Charlestown, Roxbury and Dor-

chester. The explanation at the conference was not

satisfactory, and at the General Court held on the 7tli

of May, lt>51, a bill was presented complaining of the

" former and later miscarriages " of Mr. Matthews,

and he was ordered to appear and make answer.

After a hearing it was determined that he "had for-

merly given much offense to magistrates, elders and

many brethren by unsafe and unsound expressions in

his public teaching; that he had failed to give sat-

isfaction to those magistrates and elders who had

been appointed for the purpose at his request ; that

he had since delivered other unsafe and offensive ex-

pressions ; that magistrates, ministers and churches

had written to the church in Maiden to give infor-

mation of these offences, and to advise against pro-

ceeding to ordain him ; and that yet, contrary to all

advice and the rule of God's Word, as also to the

peace of the churches, the church of Maiden hath

proceeded to the ordination of Mr. Matthews ; there-

fore, taking into consideration the premises and the

dangerous consequences and effects that may follow

such proceedings, it orders that all the offences touch-

ing doctrinal points shall be duly considered by a

committee of nine of the magistrates and Deputies."

The committee was authorized to call to its aid the

reverend elders, and was directed to report at the

next session of the Court. The Maiden church was

also ordered to appear and answer to the complaint

of ordaining their minister under such circumstances.

The nine magistrates sitting in the case were, Simon
Bradstreet, Samuel Simonds, William Hawthorne,

Edward Johnson, John Glover, Eleazer Lusher, Dan-

iel Gookin, Richard Brown and Humphrey Atherton.

Mr. Matthews was required to appear on the 11th of

June, 10r)l, and on the ir)th he submitted the follow-

ing so-called confession to the council :

"To ye Honored CoiumiUee of yo Generall Court, appoinU'd to examine

Honieductrinull points dulivured utt liult and bincu yt time at Maiden,

liy M. M.

Uonoi'ed uf God and of bid people :

'* Having given you an account of my Bence and of my faltli in ye

cunctuBionH, wich were accused before you {or otlicrs) alioiiid count tliat

faitli a fanaio, and tbat eence to be non-geucu, 1 desire yt God may forgive

tlieni : I due, conceaving yt ttuch doe not yet soe uell know wbat ttiey

doe, aa they Mhall Ivuow Iiereufter.

*' Yet, in ciuio yt tliia bliould reaclt any satisfaction to sucli aa art (yett

uneatietied witli my expreBsiontt, fur to Itnow tliat I doe aclinowledge y t

tliere be sundrie defectB in sundry jiointa yt 1 llave delivered; 1 doe

bereby Hignjtie yt tlirough mercy I cunuot but see and albo iugenu-

ouBly confesso y t some of my aayingd are not safe nor sound in tbe super-

lative degieo, to-wit : they are not meet safe, nor yett eyther sound or

safe in a comparative degree ; for I easily yeald yt not only wiser men
probably would, but also I my self possiblie mought have made out x'b

jnind and my own meaning in terms more sound and more safe than 1

have done had I not been too much wanting, both to bis sacred majesty

whose unworthy messenger I was, and also to my hearers, and to my
self, for well I desire to be humbled, and of which 1 desire to be healed

by ye author of both. As I do not doubt but y t conscientious and chjir-

itable-liearted Christians (whose property and practice it is to put uppon

doubtfull positions not ye worst construction but ye best) will discerne

as I doe, yt there is a degree of soundness in what 1 doe own, though

but a positive degree.

" However it is and (I trust) forever shall be my case to be more cir-

cumspect than I have hitherto been in avoyding all appearances yt way
for ye time to come y t soe I may ye better approve my self, through ye

grace of Christ and to ye glory of God, such a workman as need not be

ashamed. In ye interim I remayne amongst his unworthy servants ye

most unworthy, and :

—

Your accused and condemned

fellow-creature to commend in ye

things of Christ.

" Mahmadcke Matthewes.

" Bosto7i, this 13th of ye 4 month, 1651."

The above confession was not held to be satisfac-

tory, and the marshal was ordered to levy on his

effects to pay the fine which was imposed upon him.

As no effects could be found beside his library, it was

ordered that the execution be " respited until other

goods appear besides books." In the mean time he

remained with the Maiden Church, retaining its con-

fidence and esteem. On the 28th of October, 1651,

the following petition, signed by the women of his

church, was sent to the General Court

:

" To the Hon'd Court :

"The petition of many inhabitants of Maiden and Charlestown of

Mistick side humbly sheweth •

"That tbe Almighty God, in great mercie lo our souls, as we trust,

hath, after many prayers, endeavors and long waiting, biought Mr.

Matthews among us and put him into the work of the ministry ; by whose

pious life and labors the Lord hath afforded us many saving convictions,

directions, reproofs and consolations; whose continuance in the service

of Christ, if it were tiie good pleasure of God, we much desire ; and it is

our bumble request to tbe honored Court tbat you would please to jiass

by some personal and particular failings (which may, as we IiumMy

conceive, be your glory, and no grief of heart to you in time to come),

and to permit him to employ those talents God hath furnished him

witbal; so shall we, your bumble petitioners, with manj' others, he

liound to pray, .."kc, 28—8—51.

" Mrs. Sergeant,

.loan Sprague.

.lane Learned.

Elizabeth Carrington,

Margaret Pementer.

Han. Whitemore.

Eliz. Green,

Mary Rust.
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BiidKot Squire.

Mary Wuyte.

Siimh llii:«.

An liibbls.

FMz. Green.

Will. IJlanctier.

KHz. .\iluni8.

Kfhoc. Hills.

Santh Bucknani.

Tlitmltlttuil Sheppie.

Fnin. Cooke.

Eliz. Knowker.

Bridget Dexler.

Lydiii fireenland.

Eliz. Grover.

Hun. Barret.

KHz. Mirrablo.

Sarah Oslmurn.

.\a. Hott

Mary Pratt.

Eliz. Green,

.loan Chadwicke.

Margaret Green.

Helen LiiUJington.

Snsan Wellington.

Joana Call.

Rachel Attwoud.

MarRe Welding."

But notwithstanding this petition anil a subsequent

further confc.^.sion of Mr. Matlhews, tho Court refused

to remit the tine, and in October, 11151, arraigned tlie

Maiden Church for persisting in the ordination of

their minister. In their answer to the ariaignment

the church said, " We Isnow of no law of Christ or of

the country that binds auy church of Christ not to

ordain their own otlicers without advice of magistrates

and churches. We freely ackuowledgc ourselves en-

gaged to any that in love aflbrd any advice unto us.

But we conceive a church is not bound to such advice,

any farther than God commends it to their understand-

ing and conscience. Our laws allow every church free

liberty of all the ordinances of God according to the

rule of the Scripture ; and in paiticular, free liberty

of election and ordination of all their officers from

time to time, provided thty be pious, able and ortho-

dox, and that no injunction shall be put upon any

church officer or member in point of doctrine or dis-

cipline, whether for substance or circumstance be-

sides the institutions of the Lord."

The answer was of no avail, and on the 31.st of Oc-

tober, 1651, a fine of fifty pounds was levied on the

estates of three of the members of the church, who
were required to assess the sum on the remainder of the

ofl'ending brethren. Finally the fine of the ten pounds

against Mr. Matthews was remitted, and ten pounds

of the fine levied on the church members were re-

mitted, and in the course of the ten following years

the remaining forty pounds were paid.

In 1(152, Mr. Matthews left Maiden, and after

preaching a short time in Lynn, returned to Kugland,

where he became vicar of the St. John Church in

his native town of Swanzey. After the accession of

Charles the Second to the throne, under the Act of

Uniformity, passed in 1662, he gave up his living

rather than yield to the requirements of the law. Af-

ter twenty years, during which, as he said, he was

"comfortably maintained by tl>e children of (rod, by

his own children and by the children of the world,"

he died in 1683.

Though it is no part of the writer's plan to present

in this chapter anything more than an outline of the

ecclesiastical history of Maiden, leaving to the pen of

another the delineation of its details, the experience

of the Maiden church in its earliest pastoral relations

is here included as essential to a correct portrayal of

the methods and principles of the government by

which Massachusetts Colony was controlled, and under

which the various towns came into being.

In the I'lymouth Colony it was dill'iTent. While
the Puritans of Massachusctl.-- brought with them the

narrow spirit against which they had contended in

the Old World, the Pilgrims of Plymouth, almost for-

getful of the persecutions from which they had suf-

ered, weaned during their residence in Holland from

the ties which had once bound them to their Knglish

home, and chastened by their long exile into a new
life in which old resentments had no place, per-

mitted in their little communities the freest scope to

individual freedom of opinion on matters pertaining

to the church. So long as the spirit of the Pilgrims

prevailed in the Plymouth Colony, it had never failed

to exert an influence in mellowing and softening the

asperities of its more rigid neighbor. Hut in later

years, when the tiilc of population hail Howed in from

Massachusetts to settle its towns and control its legis-

ation, then and not till then were laws, betraying a

narrow and persecuting spirit, copied from the Massa-

chusetts Code and placed on ils statute-books.

In 1654 Mr. Matthews was succeeded by Michael

Wigglesworth. Mr. Wigglesworth was born in Eng-

land in 1631, and at the age of seven years arrived at

Charlestowu with his father and family. They re-

moved to New Haven shortly after, and after prepara-

tion for college under Mr. Kzekicl Cheever, he entered

Harvard, and graduated in 1651, one of a classof ten,

which included, besides himself, Seaborn Cotton, son

of Rev. John Cotton ; Thomas Dmlley, son of Gov-
ernor Thomas Dudley ; John Glover, Henry Butler,

Nathaniel Pelham, perhaps a son of Herbert Pelham,

thefirsttreasurerof the college; John Davis, Isaac and
Ichabod Chauncy, sons of Rev. Charles Chauncy, of

Scitnate, but afterwards president of the college, and
Jonathan Burr. After graduating, he became a fel-

low and tutor at Harvard, and Increase Matthews,

one of his pupils, said of him that, " With a rare

faithfulness did he adorn his station. He used all the

means imaginable to make his pupils not only good

scholars, but also good Christians, and instil into

;hem those things which might render them rich bless-

ings unto the Churches of God. Uato his watchful and

painful essays to keep them close unto their academ-

ical exercises, he added serious admonitions unto

them about their inferior slate; and (as I find in his

reserved (japers) he employed his jirayers and tears to

God for them, and had such a flaming zeal to make
Ihem worthy men, that upon reflection, he was afraid

lest his cares for their good and his affection to them
should so drink up his very spirit, as to steal away his

heart from God."

Mr. Wigglesworth, as might be expected from his

appointment as a tutor at Harvard, was a scholar of

large attainments and culture, and in 1662 published

a poem entitled "The Day of Doom," of which two

editions were published within four years, the first of
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which was of 1800 copies. Altogether seven editious

have been ii-sued in this eouiitry mid one in England.

In lGt;'J he published a poem on the sanitification of

afflk-lions, of which at least live edilioiia have been

publitthed Ills ministry eontinued until his death,

June 10, 170j, during which he was preventeil from

preaching some years by ill health, and was aided in

his ministry at tlillerent times by three colleagues.

The timt was ISfnjauiin Blinker, who was ordained

December '••, lli(>;i, and remained in service until his

death, March 12, lOO'.l. Mr. Bunker was the son of

George Hunker, of Chiirlcstown, and was born in thai

town in 1635. He graduated at Harvard in lU58,one

of a class of seven. The second was Benjamin Black-

man, who wa.^ settled about 1074, and left in 1678.

He was the son of Hcv. Adam Hlackman, of Stratford,

Connecticut. .Vfter leavini; .Muldcn he preached in

Scarboro, Maine, from which place he removed to

Saco, which town he represented in the General Court

in 1683. The third was Thomas Cheever, who was

ordained July 27, 1681, and was dismissed May 20,

1686. He was the son of Ezekiel Cheever, and grad-

uated at Harvard in 1677. After many yearsof retire-

ment, he was ordained the first pastor of the first

church in Chelsea, October 19, 1715, where he re-

mained until his death, in 1760, at the age of ninety-

one years.

The connection of the family of Rev. Mr. Wiggles-

worth with Harvard College was a remarkable one.

His son Edward, a graduate at that college in 1710,

was its first llollis Professor of Divinity, and con-

tinued in office forty-three years until his death, in

1765. Edward, the son of Edward, a graduate in

1749, succeeded his father in otBce and continued in

service twenty-six years until his resignation, in 1792.

The last Edward was succeeded in the professor's

chair by Hcv. David Tappan, grandson of Samuel

Tappan, of Newbury, who married Abigail, daughter

of Rev. Michael Wigglesworth.

After several ineffectual efforts to settle a successor

to Mr. Wigglesworth, on the 1st of July, 1707, the

Maiden Church was presented by the grand jury for

being without a minister and was ordered to obtain

one at once. Several more attempts were made to

secure a pastor, all of which failed until the 14th of

September, 1708, when Lieutenant Henry Green and

John Green, in behalf of the town, informed the Court

''tha' they have had several meetings of the church,

and one of the town, in order to the accommodating of

that affair, but can make nothing take effect; but yet

are in a very unsettled and divided frame and so like

to continue and leave themselves to the pleasure of

the Court." The Court, however, ordered " that Mr.
Thomas Tufts is a suitable person qualified for the

work of the ministry in Maiden, and see cause to set-

tle him there in that work, and further ordered the

town of Maiden to pay him for his maintenance dur-

ing his continuance in said work amongst them, after

the rate of seventy pounds money per annum; the

same to be levied upon the respective inhabitants of

the town, according to their respective proportion to

the province tax for the time being."

In tl'.e mean time, while the Court was thus consid-

ering the matter, an invitation had been extended to

Rev. David Parsons, of Springfield, who made his ap-

pearance in Maiden to preach on the Sunday when
Mr. Tufts entered on his ministry in compliance with

the order which the Court had issued. A committee

applied to the Court in behalf of the church to sus-

pend its order, and on the grant of their petition Mr.

Parsons was ordained early in the year 1709. In

1721 he was dismissed and removed to Leicester,

where he was installed September 15, 1721, and dis-

missed March 6, 1735. Mr. Parsons graduated at

Harvard in 1705, in the class with Edward Holyoke,

who was president of the college from 1737 to his

death, June 1, 1769. He died in Leicester in 1737.

Rev. Joseph Emerson succeeded Mr. Parsons and
was ordained October 31, 1721. He was the son of

Rev. Joseph Emerson, of Mendon, and was born in

Chelmsford April 20, 1700. He graduated at Harvard

in 1717, and married, December 27, 1721, Mary,

daughter of the Rev. Samuel Moody, of York, Maine,

by whom he had nine sons and three daughters.

Three of his sons were ministens—Joseph, ofPepperell

;

William, of Concord, and John, of Conway. His
grave-stone, in Maiden, says: " Here lies interred the

remains of that learned, pious and faithful minister

of the Gospel, the Rev. Mr. Joseph Emerson, late

pastor of the First Church in Maiden, who very sud-

denly departed this life, July the 13, Anno Domini
1767, in the 68th year of his age, and forty-fifth of

his ministry. How blessed are the dead who die in

the Lord. Precious in the sight of the Lord is the

death of His saints."

The successor of Mr. Emerson was Rev. Peter

Thacher, who was ordained September 19, 1770. He
was the son of Oxenbridge Thacher, and was born in

Milton, March 21, 1752. He graduated at Harvard

in 1769, in the class with James Winthrop, Theophilus

Parsons, William Tudor and Peleg Wadsworth, and

was declared Ijy Whitefield to be the ablest preacher

in the Colonies. Mr. Thacher was a delegate from

Maiden to the convention which framed the Constitu-

tion of Massachusetts, and took an active part gen-

erally in the transformation scenes of the Revolution-

ary period. In 1785, on the r2th of January, he was

installed as the successor of Rev. Dr. Cooper, in the

Brattle Street Church, in Boston, leaving the Maiden

church after a pastorate of fifteen years. He died in

Savannah, Georgia, December 16, 1802, a victim to

a disease of the lungs, from which he had sought

relief in the milder air of the South.

Rev. Adoniram Judson followed Mr. Thacher, and

was ordained January 23, 1787. Mr. Judson was

born in Woodbury, Conn., June 25, 1751, and gradu-

ated at Yale College in 1775. After his settlement

in Maiden he was installed at Wenham, December
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26, 1792, and at Plymouth, May 12, 1802. lu 1817

his connection with the Plymouth Church was Jis-

solved, and having fully embraced the Baptist faith,

he preached a few years in Scituate, and there died,

November 25, 182G. He married Abigail, daughter

of Abraham and Abigail Brown, of Tiverton, Rhode

Island, and had four children,—Adoniram, Abigail

Brown, Elnatlian and Mary Alice. Adoniraui, the

oldest of their children, was the distinguished mission-

ary at Burmah, and was born in Maiden, August 9,

1788. He graduated at Brown University in 1S07,

and opened a private school in Plymouth, where he

prepared for the press a book entitled, " Young
Ladies' Arithmetic,'' and also a work on English

Grammar. In 1808, while traveling through the

United iStates, his mind became imbued with infidel

views of religion, and with no decided plans as to his

course in life, he was for a short time a member of a

theatrical company. In 1809, having passed through

a season of skepticism and doubt, he joined the

Third Congregational Church, in Plymouth, over

which his father was the pastor, and after a short

time spent at the Andover Seminary, he was admitted

to preach by the Grange Association of Congregation-

al Ministers, in Vermont. His ordination took place

February 6, 1812. About that time he married Ann
Haseltine, and sailed February 19, 1812, for India,

with a view to devoting his life to missionary-work.

He settled in Rangoon, where be labored for nearly

forty years, for the promotion of the cause he had es-

poused. He acquired a thorough knowledge of the

Burmese language, into which he translated the

Bible and other books. In 1820 his wife died, and

in Ai)ril, 1834, he married Mrs. Sarah H. Boardnian,

the widow of George Dana Boardman, a brother

missionary. By his second wife he had five child-

ren—Adoniram, Elnathan, Henry, Edward and Abby.

His second wife died September 1, 1845, and in June,

1846, he married Emily Chubbuck, well known in

literature as Fanny Forrester, by whom he had one

child, Emily, who married a gentleman by the name
of Hauna. Mr. Judson made only one visit to his

native country during his whole missionary service,

during which he married his third wife. The writer

of this sketch saw him during this visit, and the

saint-like expression which he wore, together with

his intercourse with those about him, gave him the

impression of a man who, though lingering among
the scenes of earth, seemed to belong to a higher

and purer world.

The successor of Mr. Judson in Maiden church

was Rev. Eliakim Willis. He was born in New Bed-

ford, January 9, 1714, and graduated at Harvard in

1735. He was settled first over the church of the

South Precinct of Maiden, October 16, 1751. After
!

about forty years' service in that precinct this church

was united with the North or First Church, March

25, 1792, and it is probable that he was either ordain-

ed about that time, or assumed, by an agreement be-

30-iii

tween the two churches the pastorate of the reunited

church. In order that the reader may understand

the reference to the South church, it will be neces-

sary to go back to an earlier date in Maiden's eccles-

iastical record.

The first meeting-house was built not far from the

year 1650, though the jirecise date of its erection is

not known. In 1727, its size i)roving inadequate to

the wants of the congregation, it wiLs proposed to

build a new one. Two sites were at lirst proposed,

one near the old church site near Bell Rock and the

other in the orchard of the parsonage ; but both of

them were finally abandoned and the town voted to

build " between Lewis' Bridge and the pond on the

west side of the country road." Up to that time

those who dwelt at "Mislic" Side within the limits of

Charlestown, had worshipped with the inhabitants of

Maiden. In 1726 " Mistic " side was annexed to Mai-

den, including all the territory of Charlestown on the

northerly side of "Mistic'' River, and the easterly side

of North River, except a small strip of land at Penny
Ferry, and comprises about one-ha* of the town of

Everett. The members of the church living in the

annexed territory were dissatisfied with the location.

They said, however, that they would agree to a loca-

tion selected by a committee of " wise and indifler-

ent men."

Yielding to their wishes, the town voted, on the

17th of November, 1727, to choose a committee of
" five eminent men of the colony, to whom the three

localities mentioned should be submitted for their

decision.''

The committee reported in favorof the Lewis Bridge

location, but a majority of the Board ofSelectnien be-

ing south side men refused to put the report on rec-

ord. The Court, however, interposed and not only

required the report to be recorded but ordered the

meeting-house to be built between the bridge and the

pound, on the site now occupied by the meeting-house

of the First Church. The house was raised August

28, 1729, audit is described as being unpainted inside

and outside, with the pulpit on the north side op-

posite the south door which was the principal en-

trance. Two stairways in the corners led to the

galleries, and the record states that " the east stair

was for women and the west stair for men, and they

could not get together in the gallery without getting

over the railing. The first sermon preached in the

new church was preached by Rev. Mr. Emerson,
August 16, 1730, but very soon after the south side

people became dissatisfied and, though contributing

to the support of the ministry absented themselves

from church worship. In 1733 they petitioned the

Court to be made " a distinct Township or Precinct,"

with Pemberton's Brook as the northern bound. This

was opposed by the town and the petition rejected, but

in 1734 a council of neighboring churches established

the Maiden South Church and a meeting-house was
built on land given by Jonathan Sargeant for that
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purpose. It was built on Nelson's Hill, but it is stated

that it was never fully com|.leted, and is represented

as huviiiKbeeu in 17S7in ii dilapidated condition.

llev. Joseph Stinipson, of Oharlestown, wasordain-

ed the first pastor i)f the South Church, September

24, ll'i!''. In 1737 the town was finally divided into

two preeincts, and the south people were henceforth

relieved from bearing their share of the support of

two ministers. Mr. Stiinpson was a graduate ofHar-

vard in 1720. He was partially disabled from per-

forming his duties as pastor and was dismissed in

1744. He renuiined in Maiden after his dismissal

until his death, in 1752.

In June, 1747, Rev. Aaron Cleveland, a native of

Cambridge, and a graduate at Harvard in the class ot

1735, was insUilled. He remained in Maiden three

years, when he removed to Halifax, Nova Scotia, and

became a clergyman of the Established Church. He

died in Philadelphia in 1754.

Rev. Kliakim Willis, already referred to, succeeded

Mr. Cleveland soon after his dismissal. Some oppo-

sition was made * his settlement" on account of an in-

ability to support him, and the prospect of the two

parishes being united again if his settlement be de-

ferred." When Mr. Judson was ordained in 1787 the

same objection was made by a part of the church, who
" feared that it would offer au effectual barrier in pre-

venting the mutually wished for union of the two

Churches, both of which have severely felt their sep-

aration, and thus remaining will probably terminate

in the ruin of both." A protest against Mr. Judson's

.settlement was made by the dissatisfied persons who

afterwards left the church and joined the South

Church, thus giving a temporary encouragement to

the people of the south. The South Church, on the

strength of reinforcements, repaired their old meet-

ing-house and struggled on until the dismissal of Mr.

Judson opened a way for a return of the new to the

old church, a re-union of both and the continued ser-

vice of Rev. Mr. Willis as the pastor of the united

churches, in 1792. Mr. Willis remained as pastor

until his death, which occurred March 14, 1801. His

funeral took place on Wednesday, March 18th, and

Rev. Messrs. Roby, Prentiss, Osgood, Thacher, Lothrop

and Eliot attended as pall-bearers. Rev. John Lothrop

made the first prayer at the funeral, Dr. Peter Thach-

er preached the sermon and Rev. Mr. Prentiss made

the concluding prayer.

Rev. Aaron Green succeeded Mr. Willis, having

been ordained September 30, 1795, as his colleague.

He was born in Maiden, J.-inuary 2, 1765, and gradu-

ated at Harvard in 1789. On the 8th of August 1827,

he resigned his pastoral charge and soon after removed

to Andover, where he died December 23, 1853, the

last survivor of his class. During the pastorate of Mr-

Green, Samuel Shepard, a Baptist, arrived in Maiden'

in 1797 and preached a sermon which planted the

seed from which the Baptist Society of Maiden finally

sprang. Regular services were established in 1800,

first in a school-house and afterwards in a barn when

the school-house wius closed to the "Schismatics," as

they were called, and on the 27th of December, 1803,

the first Baptist Church with a membership of forty-

two persons, was formally recognized by a council of

the neighboring churches. In 1804 a meeting-house

was built on Salem Street, on a site now endowed in

the Salem Street Cemetery. This house was occujiied

until 1843, when a new meeting-house wasbuiUal the

corner of Salem and Main ytreets. The present Bap-

tist meeting-house was built on the same site, after

the destruction of the two preceding it by fire.

In 1802, also during the pastorateof Rev. Mr. Green,

the meeting-house of the First Church was taken

down and replaced by the present brick structure,

which has been several times enlarged and remodeled.

It originally had two towers or cupolas, in one of which

a bell was hung, presented to the church by Timothy

Dexter, of Newburyport.

During the pastorate also of Mr. Green the First

Church suffered another depletion by the formation

of the Methodi-st Society in North Maiden. In 1813

most of the people in that section of the town were

Republicans in politics, and became much excited by

the delivery of a sermon in the old church strongly

inclining to Federalism. A new society was conse-

quently formed, which gradually drifted into Method-

ism, and became the parent of the present Methodist

Episcopal Church in Maiden Centre. The new society

held its first meetings in the house of James Howard,

and afterwards in one of the school-houses of the town.

Services were held in the school-house on School-

house Hill until 1825, when a meeting-houae was built

on Maiu Street. In 1843 the meeting-house now used

was built.

In this sketch of Maiden only one additional event

in its ecclesiastical history will be referred to, and

with that event the divisions and subdivisions of the

First Church will end. After the formation of the

Baptist and Methodist Societies, that church passed

through a most important experience, and one which,

so far as its doctrinal life was concerned, radically

changed its current. Mr. Green, who was not inclined

to preach doctrinal sermons, belonged to the Arminian

School, and the majority of his people were far from

di.spleased with the expression of his liberal senti-

ments. There was even among some of them an in-

clination towards Universalism. The seed sown by

him only needed some crisis in the church to develop

it, and the crisis was reached when, after the resigna-

tion of Mr. Green, the selection of a new minister

became necessary. In the discussions which pre-

ceded this selection, the widely differing sentiments

of members of the church showed themselves and the

struggle between the old and new order of things was

a serious one. The struggle ended by the choice of

Rev. Sylvanus Cobb, a Universalist minister, who was

installed July 30, 1828, against the wishes of a consid-

erable portion of the church, which at once withdrew
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and took steps to form a new society. The disaffected

members met at first in Sargent's Hall and afterwards

in one of the school-houses. A claim was set up that

the new society was in reality the First Church and

entitled to all its privileges including, the possession

of its records. It is not necessary to recur to the un-

fortunate dissensions of this period, and it issufficientto

state that the new society was organized in 1832 under

the name of the Trinitarian Congregational Society,

and Rev. Alexander W. McClure was ordained as its

pastor. A meeting-house was erected in H ask ins

Street in 1833, and finally removed to Main Street

near the square, where it was destroyed by the famous

gale of September 8, 18G9. The old society with its

new faith, retains the name of the First Parish and

worships in the old church built in 1803.

Returning now to the general history of the town,

the record states that only a few years after its estab-

lishment it« people experienced tlie necessity of more

room, and presented the following petition to the Gen-

eral Court.

"To the Houd Court now assembled at Boston, the 1*^ of the -l'** mo.,

16G'2, the petition of the inhiibitantu of Maiden humbly showing;

"That the bounds of our town are exceeding streigbt, the most of our

improved land and meiidow being limited about two miles in length and

one in breadth ; and that also the most part of it by purchase from

Charlestown, whereof we were a small branch ; from whom also we had

all the Commons wo were, which is very suihU and rockio.

** That hitherto we have bad no enlargement from the countrie, nor

can we have any neere ailjoining, being surrounded by eiiudry town-

ships. That our charges to the countrie and ministry much exceedeth

mindry others who have many times our accommodations and as many
here do know.

'* Our teacher, Mr. Wigglesworth, also hath been long visited with

verie great weaknesses from which it is much feared he will not be re-

covered.

" For these and other weightie considerations, our most humble peti-

tion to this much honored Court, is that a tract of lands of about fouret

miles ficjuare at a place called'Pennycooke, may be granted as an addition

to us, for our better support and encouragement, in the service of Christ

and the Countrie ; to be laid out by Mr. Jonathan Dauforth or some

other artist, and Capt. Ed. Jonson or John Parker.

" So with our heartie prayers to God for yourjMtmost peace and pros-

peritie, we crave leave to subscribe ourselves.

'*yr verie humble servants,

"Joseph Hills,

"Will. Brackenbury,

"John Wayte,
'' John Sprague,

"Abra. Hili,

" Tho. Call,

"Job Lane,

" Peter Tafta,

" Robert Harden,
" In the name of the rest."

This petition was rejected, and it was ordered by

the Court, '* upon information that Peunicook is an

apt place for a township, and in consideration of the

Lord's great blessing upon the countrie in multiply-

ing the inhabitants and plantations here; and that

almost all such plans are already taken up, it is

ordered by the court that the lands at Peunicook be

reserved for a plantation till so many of such as have

petitioned for lands there or at others, shall present

to settle a plantation there."

It was not until 1726 that the boundaries of the

town were enlarged. In that year, as has been al-

ready stated, " Mystic side " was annexed, including

so much of the town of Charlestown as lay on the

northerly side of tho IMystic lliver and the easterly

side of north river, except a small strip of hind at

Penny Ferry." Since that time the boundary lines

have been changed at various times.

On the 10th of June, 1817, an act was passed setting

ofl'from Maiden to Medford a tract,

—

"Beginning at the boundary-line between Raid towns, at tho point

wbero tho creek, running from Creek Head, so called, crosses said boun-

dary line ; thence running in a boutheasterly direction, by Huid creek,

pursuing tho course thereof, to a stake on tho southerly side thereof, on

the limd of Kalhan Ilolden, bearing south fifty degrees eattt and distant

from the place of beginning, in a stntight line, about one hundred and

twenty eight rods ; thence south six degrees west across the iiradbury

farm, so called, about two hundred rodn, to a stake in tho line between

said farm and land of Richard Dexter ; thence south nine degrees east,

so as to divide the land of said Dexter, and passing in a straight lino be-

tweeti said Dexter*s land and land of Benjamin Tufts, about one hun-

dred and thirty rods to Mystic Uiver, at a stake ; thence westerly, by

Mystic Uiver, to tho old dividing line between siiid towns, and by said

old line to tho place of beginning ; Provided herein that said lands and

the inhabitants tbereun ttball be holdeu to pay all such taxes as have

been lawfully assessed or granted by said town of Matden, In the same

manner as they would have been holden if this act had not been

passed."

On the 3d of May, 1850, the town of Melrose was

incorporated and set ofl' from Maiden, the territory in-

cluded in the act of incorporation,—

" Beginning at the monument set up at tho junction of the towns of

SauguB, North Chelsea and Maiden ; thence running north eighty-eight

degrees twelve minutes west to the town of Medford, said line, where it

crosses Main Street, so called, being one hundred and sixty-seven feet

south of the mile-stone standing on the easterly side of sjiid street, south

of the dwelling-house of Joseph Lynde (2d,), and on Washington Street

one hundred and twenty-two feet north of the land uf Kobert T. IJarrett,

on said street, on the most northerly corner of sjiid Barrett's land, ad-

joiniog land of John J. Mahoney."

On the 9th of March. 1870, an act was passed in-

corporating the town of Everett, including that por-

tion of the town of Maiden,

—

" Beginning at the Stone monument in the lino between said Maiden

and the town of Medford, which is marked number 'three;' thouce

running easterly and southerly by the centre of a creek and Maiden

River to the centre of the Maiden Canal ; thouce by tho centre of said

canal to the range of the north line of Wyllis Avenue ; thenco by said

last-named line and the northerly side of said avenue to Main Street;

thence across Main Street to the southerly line of Belmont Street

;

thence by the southerly side of Belmont Street to Ferry Street ; thence

crossing Ferry Street, obliquely, to the nortlierly side of Rich Street;

thence north fifty-six degrees east, by the northerly side of Itich Street,

fourteen hundred and ninety-one feet to a stake ; thenco south eighty-

four degrees east six thousand and eleven feet to u stake in the line be-

tween said Maiden and the town of North Chelsea, said stake being two

hundred and forty-seven feet northerly from the stone monument iusaid

last mentioned line, which is marked M N C eleven ; and thence south-

westerly, Northwesterly and northerly as the present dividing lino be-

tween said Maiden and North Chelsea, Chelsea, (Jharlestown, Somerville

and Medford runs to the first-mentioned bound.''

On the 20th of April, 1877, a portion of the town

of Medford was annexed to Maiden, beginning,—

•

"At a stone bound at Creek Head, so called ; thence running north-

westerly to an angle in the wall on the northeast lino of Salem Street

forty-eight and one-tenth feet westerly from the east face of the west

gate-post in front of William Tothill's house ; thence running northerly

parallel with and nine hundred and eighiy-stx and sixty-six onohun-

dredths feet distant westerly from the present line dividing Medford and

MaMen to the line between Medford and Stoneham ; thence running
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euterty, by th» la«t-i«m«l lino, to llio liiii< bolweto Medford and Mai-

den ; Oi.nce nioning MUtUerly by IU« prwont easterly boundary of

Medrord to (he poliil of beginning."

On the 20th of Fobriiary, 1878, the above act was

iimeiuled so at to make the seeoud and third courses

of the boundary lines read as follows :

"Thence running uortlicrly lo a «lone monument on the southerly line

of the town of Stonehani ; thence easterly nine hundred ninety and

•Ixty-four one hundn-dths feet to a stone monnment at the Intetooction of

(he soolherly line of said Stonehani and the westerly lino of the town of

Molroee."

Thouf^h the growth of Maiden has, in recent years,

been e.xceedingly rapid, its population has been of

course seriously affected by these changes in its

boundary lines. Until the present century its increase

was slight. lu 1800 it numbered only 1059, in 1810,

only l.'^*^^, and not much more when its territory was

first impaired by the annexation of a part to Med-

ford. When the town of Melrose was set off and

incorporated in 1850, the population was 4780, of

which Melrose took 1260 ; at the time of the incor-

poration of the town of Everett, in 1870, its popula-

tion was 9570, of which Everett toolc 2200, leaving

7370. In 1875, the population was 10,843 ;
in 1880,

12,017 ; in 1881, at the time of the incorporation of

the city of Maiden, about 12,300, and by the recent

census, something over 23,000. Various causes have

combined to cause the rapid increase of population

in these later years. The establishment of railroad

communications developed the shoe manufacture

and other smaller trades, so that the manufacturing

product of the town, which was, in 1837, only 1350,000

per annum, began to increase after the opening of the

Boston and Maine Railroad in 1849, and has gone

on at more than equal pace with the population.

The Edgeworth Company alone has had an annual

product of more than 12,000,000, and that of the Rub-

ber Shoe Company has exceeded that amount. All

the various enterprises which are the necessary con-

sequences of growth have been established, and before

the incorporation of the town as a city an ample

Fire Department had been organized, a Public Library

had been incorporated, and in 1870, a system of

water works was completed. The annexation to

Medford, in 1877, of about two hundred acres with

only about one hundred inhabitants, was neither

seriously opposed nor felt. The division of the town

in 1870, however, resulting in the incorporation of

South Maiden as the town of Everett, was made
against the earnest opposition of the town. It took

from the old town all the territory which was annexed
from Charlestown, in 1726, and the southeastern

portion of the old town. It was made after a con-

test continuing through nearly a quarter of a century,

and after six ineffectual efforts. It was the old and
common story, repeated in the experience of many
towns, of an outlying district containing a minority

of the population, jealous of its rights and claim-

ing to be oppressed by unjust and inequitable taxa-

tion, for the benefit of the majority in the central

town. The rapid growth and increasing prosperity

of the mother town has been so great, however,

that the dissensions which preceded the division have

been healed, and the loss, which at the time seemed

irreparable, has long since been forgotten.

Next to the ecclesiastical history of the town, its

educational record is one of the most interest. Its

schools at the present time are of a high order, and

receive the most liberal support from the tax-payers.

The early history of the schools is of the most mea-

gre character and only interesting as showing from

what small beginnings the present system has grown

and how thoroughly, under our free institutions of

government, the people of this, in common with other

towns, appreciate the necessity of a good common-

school education as a condition of public welfare.

The earliest reference to schools on the records which

has been preserved is under date of 1691, when it is

mentioned that Ezekiel Jenkins continued to be the

town's school-master. In 1693, John Sprague, Jr.,

acted in that capacity, and in 1697, John Moulton.

John Sprague, who was a resident in the town and

town clerk, was in service again in 1699, and recorded

in the town books, under date of March 27lh, that:

" John Sprague chose scool-mastar." The incorrect

orthography of Mr. Sprague should not be taken as

evidence of his want of education or of a lack of ca-

pacity to impart instruction. The writer, who has

examined and copied many old records, has found

that in the colonial days orthography seemed to be

guided by no fixed rules, and that men who we know

were men of study and culture, would spell the same

word in several different ways and often on the same

page.

In 1701 Maiden was indicted " for want of a school-

master for writing and reading," and in 1702, John

Sprague was again " chose scool-marstar for ye yeer

insueing to learn children and youth to Reed and

Wright and to Refmetick, according to his best skill."

His school was kept in four several places at four dif-

ferent times, in the year and he received ten pounds

for his service.

In 1703, on the 1st of March, it was " votted that

ye scool shall be kep in ye watch-hous for this yeere,"

and on the 8th of the same mouth, " by a vote,

Ezeckiell Jenkins is chose scool-mastar for the pre-

sent yeer ; and the scoole to be kept at his own

hous, he is to have 3 pounds for ye yeer ; and ye

benefit of ye scollars." This school was doubtless a

mixed private and public school, and Mr. Jenkins

probably received fees from the pupils. In 1705

Nathaniel Waite was employed and received twenty

shillings from the town, and "the benefit of the

scholars." In 1708 John Sprague was again chosen

schoolmaster and declined, Nathaniel Waite taking

his place. In 1709 "Jacob Wilson chose scool-mastar

for ye yeer ensuing to larn children To Reed and to

Wright and Refmetick, and he is to have two shillins

paid him by ye r,own ; and he is to have ye benefit of
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ye scoolars." In 1710, Moses Hill was employed for a

short time, followed in the same year by Thomas

Pols, of Boston, John Sprague and Samuel Wiggles-

worth, of Ipswich. In the same year, too, it was

voted that the " school be removed into three parts of

the town, the first half yeer in the center, and one-

(piarter in ye southwardly end, and one-quarter in ye

northardly end of ye town."

Mr. Wigglesworth's engagement being for six

month.s. it was voted that the school should be kept

four months in the parsonage, and the other two

months in some house in the north part of the town.

With the exception of Mr. Pols and Mr. Wiggles-

worth, all the teachers up to this time had been

Maiden men, and Mr. Wigglesworth was a native of

the town, being the son of Rev. Michael Wiggles-

worth, who died during his pastorate in Maiden in

1705. Samuel Wigglesworth was the only one of the

teachers mentioned who had received a collegiate

education. He graduated at Harvard in 1707, and

was probably reading for the ministry with Eev. Mr.

Parsons, when it was voted that the school should be

kept in the parsonage.

In 1711 Mr. Wigglesworth was engaged for an

additional six months' term, and it was voted to build

a school-house between John Wilson's house and the

pound. In 1712 it was voted "yt ye school-house

shall be built 20 foots in lengte, 16 foots wide, 6 foots

stud between joints," and thirty-five pounds were voted

to pay for the construction. It was built by William

Green, of Maiden, and the contract for the work dated

October 27, 1712, was signed by him and by Henry
Green, Thomas Newhall, Samuel Sprague and John

Green, selectmen of Maiden. In 1713 Francis Fox-

croft was engaged for six months, with a salary of

fifteen pounds, and it was voted '"that ye school-house

shall be improved for a wach hous when there is an

occasion, and nott To disoblige ye school in sd hous

at aney time." Mr. Foxcroft was a son of Hon.

Francis Foxcroft, of Cambridge, and graduated in

1712.

Thomas Vernon was employed in 1714, and in 1715

John Bishop was engaged for six months, with a sal-

ary of £18. In 1717 Daniel Putnam, who graduated

from Harvard in that year, was engaged for nine

months, and in 1718 Richard Dana was employed
" for one quarter, sartain," with the pay of £10 10s.

Mr. Dana was the grandson of Richard Dana, who
settled in Cambridge in 1640. He was born in Cam-
bridge, July 7, 1699, and graduated in Harvard In

1718, the year of his teaching in Maiden. He mar-

ried the sister of Judge Edmund Trowbridge, and

was the father of Francis Dana, chief justice of the

Supreme Judicial Court of Massachusetts from 1791

to 1806.

In 1719 Maiden was again presented to the Court

for want of a grammar school, and ordered to obtain

a schoolmaster. In 1720 Josiah Marshal, a Harvard

graduate of that year, was engaged for a quarter of a

year, and in 1723 Nathan Bucknara, probably a Mai-

den man, and a graduate from Harvard in 1721, was

employed to keep school twelve months. At that

time the school was kept five months at the centre

of the town and throe and a half months each in the

north and south parts. In 1726 .Tohn Kmerson, a

college graduate of that year, was employed, and in

1730 £60 were voted for the salary of a schoolmaster,

and the school-house, called old, though only eighteen

years of age, was given to a poor man, named Thomas
Degressha.

In 1732 and 1733 John Sprague was again in the

service of the town, and in 1737 it was voted that the

school be kept half of the time on the south and half

on the north side of Pemberton's Brook. In 1751

Nathaniel Jenkins was engaged for six months for

£16, and remained in office forty years. The original

occupation of Jlr. Jenkins was that of a shoemaker;

liut with some qualifications for teaching, he placed

himself under the instruction of Rev. Mr. Emerson
and prepared himself for the profes.sion in which he

served so long. He is represented to have been an

excellent teacher, and to have kept a school in which,

in his later years, the higher branches were success-

fully taught. A complete history of the school sys-

tem of Maiden up to the present time is impracticable

within the space allotted to this sketch. The simple

record here given, taken largely from the centennial

book of Maiden, published in 1850, to which the

writer is also indebted for other material, must suffice,

with a statement, however, of the system as it is now
perfected and managed.

According to the last report of the School Com-
mittee, there were in Maiden 3412 children between

five and fifteen years years of age. Of these, 2317

attended the public schools ; 605, the parochial

schools; thirty-one, private schools; and 459 were

either at home or at work. For the accommodation

of the public school children there were fifteen

schools. In the High School there were two hundred

and thirteen. With the rapid growth of the popula-

tion the average increase during the last three years

of scholars in this school has been twenty. The

school was under the management of George E. Gay,

as principal, with six assistants.

The Centre School, was under the charge of Lewis

A. Burr, principal, with thirteen assistants.

The Maplewood School, with an average attendance

of three hundred and ninety-seven, was under the

care of Arthur L. Doe, principal, with twelve assistants.

The West School, with an average attendance of

three hundred and forty-fqur, was under Laura A.

Leonard, principal, with eleven assistants.

The Belmont School, with an average attendance

of two hundred and seventy-two, under John S.

Emerson, with six assistants.

The Judson School, with an average attendance of

one hundred and fifty-nine, was under Mary F. Grif-

fith, with three assistants.
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The Emerson School, with an average attendance

of one liiindroil and three, was under Carrie F. Oak-

man, with lour assistants.

Tlie Converse School, with an average attendance

oCono hundred and thirty-seven, was under Emeline

L. Rogers, with three jwsistants.

Tlie Greenwood School, with an average attendance

of one hundred and thirty-four, was under Ella P.

I'uyson, with three assistants.

The Linden School, with an average attendance of

ninety-four, was under Abby M. Fellow's, with two

lu-'si.'itants.

The Oak Grove School, with an average attendance

of sixty-seven, was under Ella M. Coops, with one

iutsistant.

The Coverly School, with an average attendance of

one hundred and forty-seven, was under Clara M.

Sweetser, with, three assistants.

The Pierce School, with an average attendance of

one hundred and fifty-six, was under Anna C. Ennis,

with three assistants.

Besides these schools there were the Evening

School, with an average attendance of ninety-six,

under the charge of C. M. Sargent, and the Evening

Drawing School, with an average attendance of fifty-

one, under the charge of George E. Morris.

The School Committee, according to the last report,

consisted of lion. Joseph F. Wiggin, mayor, chairman

ex qlfirio—Erastus B. Powers, chairman, Aaron C.

Dowse, William H. Hawley, Roswell E. Robinson,

Henry A. Fenn, C. Maria Nordstrom, James B. Foster,

Wilbur H. Sargeant and William F. Whitcher. The

superintendent of schools was Charles A. Daniels,

and the secretary of the School Committee, Frank E.

Woodward.

Intimately connected with the cause of education

is the Public Library, which was established by a vote

of the town, March 12, 1877. Its establishment was

due to a bequest of $5000, made by John Gardner, of

Gliarleslown, who was a son of Dr. Henry and Sarah

(Beecham) Gardner, and was born in Maiden, April

19, 1813, and died March 16, 1876. The library was

opened to the public February 14, 1879, with 364.!

volumes, and at the close of the first year 1870

volumes had been added. At the close of the second

year the shelves contained 6112 volumes and 670

pamphlets, besides paintings and other articles of

value. The number of volumes in the library Decem-

ber 3, 1889, was 16,837, and the number of pamphlets

3990. The total circulation for the year 1889 was

59,084 volumes. For that year the city of Maiden
appropriated the sum of 14600 for the support of the

library, and the dog-tax, amounting to $1985.84.

There were received by the treasurer from other

sources during that year, $2781.39, mak ing total

receipts of $9307.23.

The expenditures during the year were : For books,

$1238.62; salaries and service, $2528.13; binding,

$349.69; expenses and supplies, $1629.86; catalogue

expenses, $503.58; insurance, $92 ; Maplewood deliv-

ery, $200. The following funds are held by the

trustees: the Converse Memorial Building Fund,

.*25,'000; uninvested income from the same, $2137.75;

the Holm Fund, $5000, and the Lord beq nest, $500.

Deloraine P. Corey is president; William F. Lang,

secretary; Thomas Lang, treasurer ; Henry L. Moody,

librarian, and Edward S. Currier, Elisha S. Converse,

George W. Walker, William A. Wilde, A. R. Turner,

Jr., Daniel L. Millikin, trustees, together with the

mayor, chairman of the Board of Aldermen, and

president of the (.'ouncil ex officio.

Resuming the history of the town, it will be proper

to allude to the part taken by Maiden in the various

wars which have disturbed the current of New Eng-

land life. Mr. Corey says, in his sketch of Maiden,

that ''since the days of King Philip the people of

Maiden had always borne their share in the various

expeditions which were sent forth. Maiden troopers

under Captain William Green, whilom of the Three

County Troop, marched on an expedition against the

Indians in 1695; and Edmund Chamberlain, a son of

that Edmund Chamberlain who fell at the Narragan-

sett light, who was born after his father was slain,

died from disease contracted in the expedition to

Port Royal in 1710. About the same time James

Hovey was a prisoner in the hands of the French and

Indians in Canada. Later nine young men from

Maiden laid down their lives in the performance of

their duty in the celebrated siege of Louisbourg in 1745.

In the successive campaigns of the French Wars,

which began in 1755 and extended over a period of

nearly eight years, the men of Maiden took an active

part. Lieutenant Simon Wade was wounded in the

futile expedition against Crown Point and was killed

iit the capitulation of Fort William Henry in 1757,

when the savagesof Montcalm's army, in the presence

of their French allies, inhumanly massacred the

greater part of the unfortunate ganison. In a com-

pany commanded by Dr. Ebenezer Marrow, of Med-

ford, in 1758, were Lieutenants Samuel Burditt and

Darius Green, with thirty-one non-commissioned offi-

cers and privates of Maiden. This company was sent

to the westward with the forces under General Aber-

crombie and participated in the unsuccessful and

bloody attempt upon Ticonderoga, in which the colo-

nial troops experienced a heavy loss and were after-

wards much reduced by sickness. The Maiden men
who died in this campaign were James Whittemore,

John Burdictt, Jr., Ezekiel Floyd, Joseph Jenkins

and Nathaniel Wait. In a company in service in

1762 commanded by Captain Moses Hart, of Lynn,

were eleven men of Maiden, and individuals were

scattered in various regiments during the war. This

war was the nursery of the Army of the Revolution
;

and there seems to have been a growing fondness for

military life at this time among all classes. The en-

rolled militia of Maiden in 1758 was one hundred and

thirty-four men under the command of Captain John
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Dexter. In 1763 its officers were Captain Ezra Green

,

Lieutenant Jabez Lynde and Ensign Thomas Hills."

With the termination of the French Wars the peo-

ple of Maiden settled down once more to the pursuits

of a peaceful life. In common with the people ot

other towns in New England, they had been initiated

into the methods of military life and were prepared

for a renewal of strife if the welfare of their country

demanded it. It is, indeed, a question ditilcult to an-

swer whether such a readiness would have been found

to resist the aggression of the mother country had

not the people of New England become accustomed

to the use of arms and to the scenes ot war in the

prolonged struggles with the French only a few years

before. It is certain that Washington found in that

struggle that military training and discipline which

fitted him for a leadership of the armies of the Colo-

nies against the cohorts of a King.

In 1770 the town voted " that we will not use any

foreign tea, nor contenence the use of it in our

families, unless for sickness, till the revenue acts are

repealed." On the 22d of November, 1772, at a meet-

ing held in Boston to consider the subject of the salary

of the judges, a letter of correspondence to other towns

was adopted. This letter called on the towns to stand

" firm as one man," to open a free communication of

sentiment with Boston and expressed a conrtdencetbat

"regard to themselves and the rising generation would

not suffer them to doze or set supinely indifierent on the

brink of destruction while the iron band of oppression

was daily tearing the choicest fruit from the fair tree of

liberty." At a meeting of the town of Maiden held on

the 5th of January, 1778, to consider the communica-

tion from the town of Boston, it was voted that Cap-

tain Ebenezer Harnden act as moderator, and that

Captain John Dexter, Mr. James Kettell, Mr. Ezra

Sargeant, Ensign Benjamin Bianey, Mr. Ezekiel Jen-

kins, Mr. Thomas Hill, Mr. David Sargeant, Mr.

Samuel Sprague, Mr. John Grover, Jr., Mr. Josiah

Howard and Mr. Samuel Waitt " be a committee to

take into consideration the request of the town of

Boston respecting ye late alarming report that sti-

pends are affixed to the offices of the judges of ye

Superior Court of Judicature in this province, added

to many other grievancies under which the people

have for some years groaned, and also to draw up in-

structions for their Representatives and lay ye whole

before the town for their acceptance."

At an adjourned meeting held on the 14th of Jan-

uary, 1773, the committee reported as follows :

—

"Flaving taken into Beiious consitleration j^ state of y» rights of y«

colonists of this jirovince in particular, as men, as Christians and as

British subjects; and also the list of these infringements and injurious

violation of these rights transmitted to us from the vigilant and patri-

otic inhabitants of y« town of Boston, by their committee of correspond-

ence,

" Resolved^ Ab far as we are capable of Judging that y« said rights and

also y« list of infringements and violations of the rights are exhibited in

a just point of light, and, therefore, with hearts deeply penetrated by

the cruel oppressions and indignities with which we are treated by our

elder brethren at home, and with y* shuddering prospects before us, un-

der y« present critical situation of our public affairs ; the alarming in-

quisitorial Court appointed ut Khudo Island ; also replete with deep cod-

cern for our prosperity,

" Itraolvtd, That we will, at all Times, and upon all jnet occasions,

with uiir best blood and treasure, In conjunction with our brethren of

this province and y* other provinces, pursue every juBtittable and consti-

tutioual measure for tlio obtaining a redrosH uf onr insupportJiblo bur-

ditUM, and In y« defence and supiwrt of our invaluable rights, Civil and

Iloligioufl, purchased by our uncostora at y» expense of their treasure

and their blood ; and therefore

** Risolrcd, Tbat our Itoprosentativo bo instnictcd to use his utmost

endeavors in tbo General Assembly that the Honorable Constitutional

Judges of tho Superior Court of Juutice in this province should have a

support equal to their importance. Also, that our Representative use

his eudeavora ttuit an address he again made to our gracious Sovereign

for tho restoration of our invaded rights and privileges, and that this

people may bo treated as indeed they are, loyal subjects of Creat Brit-

ain. Bloroover, since it hulli pleased the groat Governor of tho Uni-

verse of late to answer y» prayers of the people by terrible things in

Righteousness,

*^ Resolved, That our Representative be Instructed to use his endeavors

that a day of humiliation bo appointed for our many and great Iniqui-

ties ; and to seek of Him a right way for us and fur our little ones and

for all our substance, and that a letter of grateful acknowledgments be

sent to our worthy Brethren, tlie inhabitants of Bo8tt)n, for their vigi-

lance and a\ikil upon this ami many other occasiouH; with hearty good

wishes and prayers that they may see good days according to the time

in which they have in peculiar manner seen insult and massacre.

"John Dextee, per order.'*

Accompanying the report were the following in-

structions to the Representative of Maiden in the

General Court:

"To Capt. Eheneser Harnden:
" Sir,—The right of choosing a person to represent ns in tho General

Assembly carries in the nature of the thing the right to infltruct him.

And though vve reposed the highest confidence in you when we chose

you into the office, yet we then reserved this right to ourselves to be

made use of on extraordinary and alarming occasions.

"Such an occasion we esteem that to be in which we now instruct

you. This is the late rumor which has prevailed of salaries being atllxed

to the Honorable Judges of the Superior Court, etc., paid to them by the

King independent oi tho people, out of a revenue nnconstitutioually

raised upon us. This we esteem an intolerable grievance, a grievance

which strikes at yo root of onr liberties. We now, sir, desire and in-

struct you to make use of every legal method in your power to obtain

redress hereof. Particularly to exert your utmost influence in y« Gene-

ral Assembly that an ample and honorable support be offered to them out

of ye treasury of this province. We also instruct you to forward in y«

General Assembly an humble address and remonstrance to our gracious

Sovereign, begging from his royal clemency and justice relief under this

proceeding. This we hope will reach not only y* royal ear but heart

also, and will be followed by y^ best efforts.

" When we chose you tu represent us in y*^ General Assembly we did

it esteeming you a staunch and firm friend to our civil and religious lib-

erties.

*' We have no reason to alter our sentiments concerning you in this

regard. Yet that.your own opinion and sentiments may be confirmed

by having those of your constituents, we now, sir, instruct you to

exert yourself to tho utmost in order to obtain a redress of our present

grievances, and a confirmation of those rights and privileges, which to

enjoy without molestation induced our forefathers to emigrate from their

native land and plant that in which we now dwell.

" We trust, sir, we shall always find you in the numberof those mem-
bers of the General Court who, while they feel and express the warm-

est loyalty to their Sovereign, steadily and firmly maintain y« rights

of their constituents.

*' As we cannot but think that the prevailing iniquities of our Land

have induced a righteous God to permit men of violence thus to harass

us, so, sir, we instruct you to use your utmost influence in the General

Assembly that some effectual measures may be taken in order to carry

y" good and wholesome laws of this province for y suppression of im-

morality into more full and complete execution ; and also that a day of

humiliation may be observed througli the province on account of his

favors upon us in these regards, and deprecate his displeasure and ask

his divine iuterpo-sition in favor of our sinking land.

"JouN Dexter, per order."
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The report and instructions were uniinimoiisly

adopted, and the meeting adjourned to the 21st of the

same month. At the luljourned meeting the follow-

ing letter was adopted, and it was voted that the clerk

should send a copy of the same to the Boston Com-

mittee of Correiipondence:

"To thp tv(ii«r(ub1e IntiAtiltniits of the tuwn of Botiton ; It Is wllli Iho

uliiio«t Kiittsfio'titin itud pU'iiBiirt' tliut we have, from time to tioie, ^)b-

verved ,votir Mtllcltoim c'un> uiid pi-mlent eiKlciivots to HiippreM nil iip-

pearnnce* of tyranny iind oppreMlon, anJ to mnlntiiin the |uist rights

and privileges of u ilistreMeU iieopie. And pnrliciilarly of Inte that you

liave not boen iutimiilatetl by ye alarming reports that have reached our

ears ; tiut n« our fears and ilistrowes increase your zeal and resolution

abro4id.

** We give you our hearty and sincere thanlcs for all the salutary

measures you have adopteil for the columou safety. And we heartily

wish anti di-sire that everj' town in this Province and thro' the laud

may have such a sense of danger and of duly as rea«lily to lend a help-

ing hand in this time of need. By the papen transmitted to yon here-

with you will find that a committee has been chosen by this town to

airresiK>nd with yours on niiitters of publlclc .concerDment. We trust

you wilt always tlnd tlieni and us ready to receive any intimation of tbis

nature from you and to Join in surb measures as may be tliouglit best.

And may tile great overruier and disposer of ali events Bo direct and

succeed your wise endeavors ua that ye yoke of tyninny may be entirely

brolten and New England's yet invaluable priTlleges inviolate to the

latest generattons.

'* Slay all vice and immorality bo Bupjiressed and piety and virtue

reign triumphant. And may you in particular, the respectable inhabit-

anta of Boston, thro' tlie propitious smiles of heaven see the bappy

fruits of your unwearied diligence iu tbe cause of liberty. May you al-

ways be deemed among tlio early projectors and constant pursuers of

tliose legal and con.Htitntional metliods which may establish our charti-r

rights on a biLsis durable as tbe foundations of tbe earth ; and may pos-

terity, yet unborn, nse up and call you blessed."

Another meeting was held on the 13th of Decem-

ber, 1773, at which Captain John Dexter was chosen

moderator, and Captain John Dexter, Mr. Ezra Sar-

geant, Captain Eben Harnden, Dr. Jonathan Porter,

Mr. Thomas Hills, Jlr. Ezekiel .Jenkins, Mr. Jame.*?

Kettell, Ensign IJenjamin Blaney and Captain N.

Hatch, were chosen a committee to report on certain

papers received from the town of Boston relating to

the importation and landing of the article of tea.

The committee reported at the same meeting a pre-

amble and four resolutions sustaining the inhabitants

of Boston iu their action.

On the 25th of August, 1774, at a meeting called to

consider the affairs of the Province, Ezra Sargent was
chosen moderator, and, among other things, it was

voted " that the Committee of Correspondence for this

town, viz.: Captain .Tolui Dexter, Mr. James Kettell,

Mr. Thomas Hills, Mr. Samuel Sprague and Captain

Ebenezer Harnden, or any three of them, shall attend

a general meeting of the committees of the several

towns in this county, to be convened at Concord the

thirteenth Inst., to consult and determine what is ex-

pedient to be done at this very critical juncture of

affairs; and that the said Committee of Correspond-

ence shall, from time to time, as there may be occa-

sion, consult and advise with the committees of any
other towns in this County or Province on the affairs

of our public grievances."

The resolves passed at the meeting in Concord
were presented to the town at a meeting held on the

9th of September, 1774, and were unanimously ap-

proved. At a meeting held on the 20th of September

it was voted that Captain Ebenezer Harnden and
Captain John Dexter be appointed delegates to at-

tend a Piovincial Congress to be held at Concord the

second Tuesday in October. It was also voted that a

committee, consisting of Captain John Dexter, Cap-

tain Eben Harnden, Deacon Joseph Perkins, Mr. Ezra

Sargeant, Mr. John Green, Jr., Mr. John Wait, Mr.

David Sargeant, Captain Benj. Blaney, Mr. Joseph

Howard, Mr. John Bucknani, Mr. Ezekiel .fenkins

and Lieut. Amos Upham, be appointed " to hear and

consider any matters of controversy that may arise in

this town between man and man, between party and

party, and use their wise and prudent endeavors for

an amicable and pacific accommodation of such dif-

ferences; and if possible promote that love, peace

and friendship which will so much strengtlieii the

common cause as well as prevent unnecessary and

expensive law-suit.s, and that the town will support

said committee in their determination so far as they

shall appear to be just, and in such manner as shall

be thought proper."

At the same meeting it was voted that Capt.

Ebenezer Harnden be the representative of the town

in the General Court, and on the 28th a letter of in-

structions to the representative was adopted. Again,

on the 27th of May, 1776, instructions to Ezra Sar-

geant, then representative, were adopted by the in-

habitants of the town, and their instructions, here

given in full, will close the record of the preliminary

steps taken by the town in approaching the War of

Eevolution :

" To Mr. Ezra Sargemil

:

"Sir:—A Kesolution of the late Honorable House of Represen-

tatives, calling npou the several towns in tbis Colony to express tlieir

minds with respect to tbe important question of American Independence

is the occasion of our now instructing you.

" The time was, sir, when we loved tbe King and the people of Great

Britain with an affection truly filial ; we felt ourselves interested iu

tlieir glory, we shared in their joys and sorrows, we cheerfully poured

the fruit of all our labors into the lap of our Mother Country, and with-

out reluctance expended our blood and oiu- treasure in their cause.

"These were our sentiments towards Great Britain; while she con-

tinued to act the part of a parent state we felt ourselves happy

in our connection with her, nor wished it to be dissolved. But

our sentiments are altered ; it is now the ardent wish of ourselves tliat

America may become Free and Independent States. A sense of unpro-

voked injuries will arouse the resentment of the most peaceful. Such

injuries these Colonies have received from Britain. Unjuslifiablo

claims have been made by the King and his minions to tax us without

our consent. These claims have been prosecuted in a manner cruel and

unjust to the highest degree ; the frantic policy of Administration hath

induced them to send Fleets and Armies to America that by depriving us

of our trade and cuttiug the throats of our brethren they might awe us

into submission and erect a system of despotism which should so far en-

large the influence of the Crown as to enable it to rivet their shackles

upon the people of Great Britain. This was brought to a crisis upon

the memorable nineteenth of April. We remember the fatal day—tho

expiring groans of our murdered countrymen yet vibrate in our ears ! I

We now behold tho flames of their peaceful dwellings ascending to

Heaven; we hear their blood crying to us from the ground, vengeance,

and charging us, as we value the peace of their names, to have no further

connection with a King who can unfeelingly hear of the slaughter of his

subjects and composedly sleep with their blood upon his soul. The

manner in which the war has been prosecuted bas confirmed us in their



MALDEN. 473

setitimeDts; Piracy and inunlor, robbery ami breach of faith Imve beoo

coiiBpiciioiis iu tlie conduct of the King's Tnxipa, dofonBelcss towus have

been attacked mid destroyed—the ruins of Charlestown, which are daily

in our view, daily remind H9 of this. Tho cries of the widow and the

urplinn demand our attention; they demand that tlie hand uf duty should

wipe the teara from tlieir eyes and that the sword of their country

should aveut^o their wrongs. >Vo long enterlain^'d hopi-s that the spirit

of the British Nation would once more indue..' them to assert their own

and our lights and bring to co>idi;;n punishment llie elevated villaiuH

who h;ivc trampled upon the siicred rights of man and aft'ronted the

m^osty of the people,

" We hoped In vain. They have lost their love to freedom ; they have

lost the spirit of just refleutment. We therefore renounce with disdain

our connection with a kingdom of slaves; we hid a tiual adieu to

Hritain. Could an accommodation bn now aftected we have reason to

think that it would be fatal to the liberties of America—wo should soon

catch the contagion of venality and dissipation which has subjected

Ilritain to lawless domination. Were wo placed in the situation we were

iu the year 1773; were the powers uf appointing to office and com-

manding the militia in the hands of flovernoiii, our arts, tradesand man-

ufactures would be cramped ; nay, more than this, the life of every man

who has been active in tho cause of his country would be endangered.

For these reasons, as well as many others which might be produced, we

are confirmed in the opinion that the present age will be deficient in

their duty til (lOfl, their posterity and themselves, If they do not estab-

lish an Amcrinin Republic. This is the oaly form of Government which

we wish to see established, for wo can never willingly be subject to any

other King than He who, being possessed of infinite wisdom, goodness

and rectitude, is aloiio fit to possess unlimited power.

" We have freely spoken our seutiihenL** upon this important subject

;

but we mean not to dictate—we have unbounded confidence in the wis-

dom and uprightncBs of the Continental Congress; with pleasure we

remember that the affair is uniler their direction ; and we now instruct

you, Sir, to give them the stnmgeet assuninco that if they should duilare

America to be a Free and Independent Republic, your coustitueuts will

support and defend ilio nicasure to the last drop of their blood and the

last farthing of their treasure."

Nor was the spirit displayed in this communication

a spirit of boasting, which was dentined to fail when put

to the test. In the repeated calls for men to recruit

the armies of the war, ^Maiden performed its full share.

The list of soldiers furnished is not a long one, but it

must be remembered that at that time the popula-

tion of the town was only nine hundred and eighty-

three, of whom forty-eight were negroes and four

hundred and sixteen under sixteen years of age.

According to Mr. Corey, in 1767 there were seven

work-houses or shops in the town, with a trading stock

of two hundred and forty-four pounds. The people

had at interest eleven hundred and sixty-nine pounds

six shillings and eight pence, and the live-stock of

the farmers consisted of eighty-four horses, one hun-

dred oxen and four hundred and eighty-six cows, be-

sides sheep and a few swine. The products of the

land were fifty-eight hundred and thirty-nine bushels

of grain and six hundred and fifty- two barrels of cider

with one thousand and fifty-two tons of hay, of which

eight hundred and sixteen tons were salt hay.

With these slender resources the people went into the

war with a determination and spirit of self-sacrifice in

which no town excelled, if there were many that

equaled it.

The following list of soldiers of the Revolution is

as complete as can be made out from the rolls iu the

office of Secretary of State :

Enlisted in Capt. Russell's company of Col. Jonathan Brewer's regi-

ment for duty on Prospect Hill, Charlestown, 1775 : Gideon Williams.

Enlisted in Kphmlm Corey's eompaay. Col. Preecott*a reglnient, 177G :

Stephen Sweetaor.

Kntisted In Capt. Abner Cranson's compaoy for duty on Prospoct Hill,

1775 : Jonathan Mower.

Enlisted iu Capt. Wood's company, CoLJonathnn Ward's regiment,

1776 : Nehomiah Newell.

Enlisted iu Capt. Nailer Hatch's company, 37th Reglmont of Conti-

nental Army umJer Lieut. -Col. Wm. Bond, 1776 : Nailer Hatch, capt.
;

Nathan Katon, Hout. ; Elijah Caswell, sgt. ; Barmibas Newhall, sgl.
;

Unite Cox, Bgt. ; Chas. Hill, Corp. ; Amos Sergeant, Dun. Knower, Ebitii.

Kftton, Ebon. Bams, Fluyd Pnitt, (leo. Barrington, John Grover, JohIiviu

Caswell, Josiah Puin, James Pain, .loseph BaUlMJn, Jttsliua Gill, Joel

\Vliitmore, John Graham, John Spraguo, James Nichols, Joseph Hollo-

way, John Hatch, Nathan Bucknam, Nathan Burditt, Obadlah Jenkins,

Prince Hill, Phinehas Sergeant, llobert Bunlilt, Stephen Pain, Solomon
Sergeant, Sannnd Hollowuy, Samuel liishop, Samuel Burditt, Samuel
Grover, Solomon Dow, Silas Sergeant, Thomas Wheeler, William

Spraguo.

Kniisted In Wm. Perkins' company of artillery Col. Richard Grldley's

regiment, 1775 : Eliaklm Caswell.

Marched to Watertown April ID, 1775, Benjamin Blaney, capt.: Na-
than Lyndes.

Sent to Point Shirley under Capt. Benjamin Blaney In 1776,

Enlisted in Capt. Stephen Dana's company. Col. Mcintosh's regiment

177ti, for one month : Nehemiah Oaks, John Sergeant, lifer ; Jacob Ser-

geant, Samuel Waitt, John Jenkins, Joseph Jenkins, Katlil. Floyd
Benjamin Bill, Samuel Oliver, Nathan Hills, John Paine, Joseph Bald-

win, Charles Hills.

Enlisted in the Continental Army for three years, 1777; Samuel
Barns, Andrew Bennett, Samuel Bishop, Samuel Berry, Juhn Blackford

John Boyd, John Burnam, Wm. Bvicknam, John Blanchard, Joses
Bucknam, Itobert Bushley.

Enlisted In Capt. Benjamin Edgell's company, Col.John Jacobs' regi-

ment, 1778 : Samuel Grover, John Grover.

17S2, James Barrett ....(; mos
1782, Benjamin Hilts . . . G mos
1782, William Wrentnell . 6 uios

17S0, Anthony Iloskios . . 3 mos
1780, John Taylor G mos
1780, Jerry Lovering ... 6 mos
1780, John Bailey 6 mos

Benjamin Blaney, Captain,

Nathan Lynde, Lieutenant,

William Wait, Lieutenant,

Amos Sheets, Sergeant,

Amos Howard, Sergeant,

Nehemiah Oaks, Sergeant,

Jabez Lynde, Sergeant,

Bernard Green, Coipnriil,

Micah Wait, Corporal,

Jacob Parker, Corporal,

John Venter, Corporal,

W. Sergeant, Drummer.
Samuel Green, Fifer.

1780,

1780,

nso,

1780,

1780,

1780,

1780,

1780,

1780,

1780,

1779,

1779,

1779,

1779.

1781,

1781,

1781,

1781,

1781,

1781,

1780,

1780,

1780,

1730,

1780,

1780,

1780,

1780,

1780,

1780,

1777,

1779,

1779,

1778,

1782,

1782,

1782,

1782,

1782,

17S2,

1782,

OTHER EN1.ISTMKNTS.

Joseph Shaker . ,

William Watts .

Thonuis Baltom.

Danii'I Green . .

Joel Whittemore

John Low 3 years

Daniel Kankin ... 3 years

Edward Pierce ,

Jonathan Knower

James Salluck . .

Joshua Geary .

Pomp Magus . . .

Samuel Ilazelton .

James Barrett . .

Thomas Wheeler .

Phillip Pratt . . .

Enoch Jenkins
,

Obadiah Jenkins .

Sam'l Barns, Capt . 3 years

And. Bennett, Corp . 3 years

. 3 years

. 3 years

. 3 years

. 3 years

. 3 years

. 3 years

. 3 years

• 3 years

. 3 years

. 3 years

. 3 years

. 3 years

3 years

. 3 years

. 7 years

. 3 years

Edward Pratt . .
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rraDrU I'billlpa,

John TuOl,

Eirm llowBnl,

BeqJ«iulD Ljode,

Beuuiil VluUfD,

Wlllluii S|inmui>,

riill<>inon MoiirtM*,

J«iu(^ Witilp.

Kolwrl OlluT,

JuDntliaii (iiirtliior,

Wllllalii Iphaiu,

iAlwKitl NoM'ball,

John Jt)uklD«,

JitStfph Ji-ukiDS,

Jobo Gould,

Stuphen I'ain, Jr.,

B«iOaiiiiii BiickDuni,

Dttvid Sargeut,

Sauiuul Hulilwiu,

L«Ti Jowpb FerklDB,

Jobu Mttnoer,

Jdbii Kriinstlcll,

PhiDeaa Sprague,

Km Uatcb,

Among the men who have been specially mentioned

lis conspifuiiiis in service during the war, were Capt.

Keiijamin IJIaney, Capt. John Dexter, Capt. Naler

Hatch, Sergeant Bernard lireen, Corporal Timothy

Tl'fts, Pomp Magus, (a negro), Capt. Daniel Waters,

Capt. Jonathan Cakes, Dr. John Sprague and Dr.

Ezra Green ; the liut four |)erforming their chief ser-

vice on the sea. Capt. Waters distinguished himself

while in command of thearmedsliip "Thorn,"carrying

eighteen gunsand one hundred and twenty men, l)y the

capture of the English brigs "Tryon" and " Erskine,"

carrying thirty-four guns and one hundred and sev-

enty-one men. Capt. Oakes commanded at various

times the Brigan tine "Hawke" and the ship "Favorite,"

in wliich he made successful cruises. Dr. Rprague, in

tlie military service in the early part of the war, was

afterwards in the schooner "Active" and surgeon on

board the State sloop " Winthrop," in which he re-

uiaincil until the close of the Revolution. Dr. Green,

also first in the military service, afterwards became
surgeon of the "Ranger," commanded by Paul Jones,

and later of the ship "Alexander." But it is making
an invidious distinction to mention even their names
while there were so many others equally patriotic, and
if not performing, yet ready to perform as brilliant

service.

In the troubles with the French at the close of the

last century and in the War of 1812 Maiden took

little part and suffered few burdens. Nor was the

embargo a matter of special interest to its people.

While the people in the sea-ports encountered embar-

rassments and losses, those only a little removed from

the coast saw only the clouds without feeling the

storm. JIalden from the date of these events led a

peaceful life, gradually increasing its population and
business, and, as the neighboring city of Boston began
to overflow its borders, felt the wave of prosperity and
wealth flowing towards the town.

On the 23d of May, 1849, the two hundredth anni-

versary of the incorporation of the town was celebra-

ted. An oration was delivered by James D. Green,
and a poem by Gilbert Haven, Jr. A procession was
formed under themarshalship of Augustus L. Barrett,

assisted by Aaron Barrett, Charles Eastham, J. P.

Lord and Francis Odiorne, and escorted by the
Washington Light Infantry, of Boston, with the

Boston Brigade Band, and marched to Bell Rock
Pasture, where the ceremonies were had. On the
platform were seated, besides the Orator and Poet,

Gilbert Haven, the president of the day, John P.

Bigelow, the mayor of Boston, Samuel T. Armstrong,

Rev. Messrs. Streeter, Neal and Church, of Boston,

Rev. Mr. Hague, of Roxbury, Rev. Mr. Whittemore,
of Cambridge, Rev. Messrs. Buddington and Ellis,

George ^Vashington Warren, Richard Frothinghani,

Rev. Dr. liallou, Daniel P. King, Rev. Mr. Upham,
Isaac Hill and Rev. Aaron Green. After the cere-

monies the procession was again formed, and
marched to the dining-pavilion, where accommoda-
tions had been provided for two thousand persons.

In the evening there was a display of fire-works, and
the town was illuminated.

When the War of the Rebellion broke out, the

people of Maiden were ready to perform their part in

the terrible emergency. On the 20th of April, 1861,

at a citizens' meeting, it w.-us resolved " that we be-

lieve it to be the duty of every lover of his country

and his race to assist in crushing out the rebellion and
treason now existing in the Southern States " —
"and that the Town of Maiden, true to its ancient

history, will furnish the men and the means to the ex-

tent of her ability for this object and we recommend
the immediate formation of a company of volunteer

militia to aid in preserving the (Jovernment of the

United States." A committee was chosen to raise

funds and purchase uniforms, consisting of J. H. Ab-
bott, George D. B. Blanchard, J. S. Rice, Paschal P.

P. Ware, M. Crocker and Lorin L. Fuller. The sum
of $2526.0o was raised by the committee. At a legal

meeting of the town held on the 1st of May, 1861, it

was voted that the selectmen, with a committee of

seven, be authorized to expend a sum not exceeding

$10,000 in aid of the families of volunteers. The
committee consisted of Matthias Crocker, George D.

B. Blanchard, Lorin L. Fuller, J. H. Abbott, Rich-

ard Ward, G. L. Fall and George W. Wilson.

On the 15th of July it was voted by the town to

pay a bounty of $100 to each volunteer mustered in

before the 20th of August.

At the same meeting a recruiting committee was
chosen, consisting of David L. Webster, Gilbert Haven,
E.S. Converse, R. G. Hill, Caleb Wait, Henry Rams-
dell, Henry W. Van Vorhees, Daniel Emmons, Mat-
thias Crocker, John Shackford, Hubbard Russell, Geo.

P. Cox, Charles S. Maldt, Thomas Darling, John
Turck, Matthew Fitzpatrick, James Cutter, James
Cruickshanks, Lorin L. Fuller, J. H. Abbott, Hub-
bard R. Lewis, Wm. H. Hill, Joshua Webster, James
McShane, A. H. Evans, C. Cronan, Wm. H. Cromack,

Thomas M. Butnam, F. D. Hayward and Henry A.

Wentworth.

On the 27th of August, 1862, it was voted to pay a

bounty of SI 00 e.ach to men enlisted for nine months.

Most of the men raised during the spring of 1861

enlisted in Company K, Seventeenth Regiment, for

three years, and a few in Companies A, C, D, H and I

of the same regiment.

In 1881 the population of Maiden exceeded twelve
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„A «nd bv an act passed U&Tch 31st. in that

^tir'^Xorated La city and dividec. into

Ik ; ds. The act of incorporation provuled thu

Z Jovernment should be vested in a mayor, a boa d

„t seven aldermen and a Common Councd of e.gh-

tr The Board of Selectmen were required to

aide the town into six wards, and it was provided

,1 the election of city and ward officers should

Icetnually onZ first Tuesday of Decern or

; ,d that the municipal year should begin ou the firs

Mond.v of January, following. In 1887 the act was

: i ;,Sd so that the city should be divided into seven

Xds and that one alderman and three members of the

Council should be chosen from each ward The city

officers for the fii.t municipal year, 1882, were as

follows

:

Zararion.

Henry L. Moody.

Sujjf. of Alrmhomt.

GoorgoW. Stilus.

Mayor.

Elisha S. Converse.

Aldermen.

Ward 1. Tristram Griffin.

" >. .lolinM. Uevir.

" 3. Joseph 51. ItnssoU.

" 4. Georgo T. Coverly (Chn.)

" 6. Lorin h. Fuller.

" 6. Frank M. Clark.

Common Council-

Ward 1.

Charles F. Shute.

John P. Russell.

Win. Perkins.

Ward 2.

Wm. H. Murphy.

Wm. F. Hackett.

Michael McNamee.

Ward 3.

James Bartlett.

James C. Taylor.

Edward 0. Holmes.

Ward 4.

Henry E. Turner, Jr.

Patrick H. Desmond.

Sylvester W. Gould (resigned).

George T. Bailey (for vac.)

Ward 6.

James Pierce, president.

Charles Sprague.

Frank F. Silliman.

Ward 6.

Charles h. Davenport.

Daniel P. Wise.

Osceola A. Whitmore.

CiliJ '.Cleric.

Leverett D. Holden.

Clerk of Otmncil.

George A. Gardner.

Treasurer.

Albert F. Sargent.

AndUor.

Marvin Lincoln.

Solicitor.

Thomas Savage.

Engineer.

Albert F. Sargent.

Anae^eors.

George C. Blanchard.

Charles A. Whittemore.

Aea E. Brown.

Overseers of I'oor.

Henry M. Hartshorn.

Timothy Conuell.

Dana Holden,

Water Coinmissioners.

Herbert Porter.

Wm. F. Chester.

George W. Walker.

Collector of Taxes.

Charles A. Holmes, resigned.

Geo. li. Hitchcock, vacancy.

School Committee.

Edward Gay.

Elnathan D, Howes.

Buseell B. Wiggin.

Joseph \V. Chadwick.

Marcellua Coggan,

Benj. B. Lawrence,

Andrew J. Freeman,

John M, Corhett.

Alfred .\. Turner, Jr.

Sinking Fund Commitai'mers.

Stillumu K. Roberts.

Albert H. Davenport,

George W. Walker.

James H. Whitaker.

Ezra A. Stevens.

James Pierce.

Trustees of PuWic Librari/.

John K. C, Sleeper.

Russell B. Wiggin.

Daniel L. Millikin.

Wm. A, Wilde.

Thomas Lang.

Joseph W. Chadwick.

George W. Walker.

Wm. F. Merrill.

Deloraine P. Corey.

Cliief of Police.

Harris P. Mitchell.

Chief Engineer Fire.

Thomas W. Hough.

Suji. of Streets.

Andrew J. Weutworth.

City Physician.

Peleg Wadsworth.

Supt. of Schools.

Wm. U. Lambert..

Sec. and Treaa. of Sink. Fund Com.

Theodore N. Fogne.

Water Rtgitlrar.

Phineaa Spraguo.

Supt. of Walter Works.

Ward W. Hawkes.

The mayors of the city since 1882 have been:

John K. 0. S100p«r. 1883. Marcellus Cc^gnn. 188M7.

Lorin L. Fuller. 1884-85. Joseph F. Wiggin, 1888-90.

The Fire Department of the city consists of a chief

engineer, four a.saistants, one engineer of steamer, one

stoker five drivers, twenty-eigbt hosemen, ten hook-

and-ladder men, and one secretary to the Board of

Fn.nneers The apparatus of the department cousisU

o( two steam fire-engines, one old steam fire-engine

stored, two hose-wagons, three hose-carriages, one

hook-and-ladder carriage with 333 feet of ladders, one

supply wagon, one double pung, three single pungs,

one pang for hooks and ladders, one engineer scai-

riao-e one engineer's sleigh, six thousand feet of hose,

a fi"re-alarm, nine horses, four houses and two hun-

dred and fifty hydrants. The amount of money ex-

pended during the year 1889 was $14,842.05.

The amount of money paid out by the treasurer

during the same year for city expenses was $624,-

888 18 Of this sum $110,373.43 was paid out for

the'support of schools; $15,430.53, for streetlights;

$54,909.12, for streets ; $1(;,424.70 for the Poor Depart-

ment, and' Police Department $16,076.52.

The following is a complete list of those who have

represented Maiden in the General Court since 1G80:

Job Lane, 16SG

Joseph Wilson, 1C88-89. '94, 1"03-

04

Henry Green, 1089, '94, 1703-04

John Sprague, 11190

Phlneas Sprague, 1C91

John Green, 1692-94, '90

John Greenland, 1695, 1708, '10-

16, '17, '20

Edward Sprague, 1696, 1703

IsaaoHill, 1898

Phiueas Upliam, 1705, '16, '18

Jacob Wilson, 1716, '19, '31, '37

Jonathan Sargent, 1721, '24-28, '30

Samuel Backnam, 1722, '39

Timothy Sprague, 1732, '34 '

Samuel Wayte, 1735-30

Joseph Lynde, 1739, '41, '43

Samuel Green, 1742

Joses Bucknam, 1744-51, '63

Barnard Townseud,1755

Benjamin Hills, 1764, '67

Thomas Pratt, 1758-69

Ezra Green, 1760, '62

John Dexter, 1763-64

Ebeuezer Harnden, 1765-74

Ezru Sargeant, 1775-77, '81, '84, |86

Benjamin Blaney, 1778-80, '83, '87

Wm. Wait, 1788

Thomas Hills, 1789

Isaac Smith, 1790-95

Barnard Green, 1797

Edward Wade, 1798

Jonathan Oakes, 1799-1802, '06-

'13

Jonas Green, 1811-16

Ebenezer Harnden, 1813-14

Ehenezer Nichols, 1816-17, '19

Nathan Nichols, 1819-20, "A '2*

Cotton Sprague, 1823-26

Edward Wade, 1826-'28, '31, '32

Isaac Stiles, 1829

James Crane, 1832, '36

Wm. H. Richardson, 1832

Wm. Pierce, 1833, '35

Sylvanus Cobb, 1833, '36

Uriah Chamberlain, 1835

George Emerson, 1836

Timothy Bailey, 1836

Daniel A, Perkins, 1837

E. N. Harris, 1837

Leavitt Corhett, 1838

Theodore L, Stiles, 1839

j

Wm. Nichols, 1839

! Wm. Oliver, 1840

j

Benjamin G. Hill, 1842

I
Jonathan Oakes, 1843

Samuel 8. Upham, 1815

Lemuel Cox, 1847

Thomas Wait, 1850

Wm. Johnson, 1851

Temple Dodge, 1852

Henry W. Van Vo'orhes, 1863

David Faulkner, 1854

Wm, J. Eames, 1855

David K. Shepard,'1856

George P. Cox, 1857

Phineas Sprague, 1858

J. Q. A. Grlffln, 1859-60

Richard Ward, 1861

Caleb Wait, 1862

George W. Copeland, 1863-65

' James Pierce, 1866.
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Ill 18G7 Maiden and Sonierville constituted the

Fi.urth Representative District of Middlesex County

and were ropresented as follows:

1867-J»niai PIsn-e of Maiden

Ptt»IJ JI. B««n of MsHi-n

Ji.liu A. HiighM . . ... . of Sonurvllli.

1.-08—John A. UucliMi. . ... of SouuTvlllo

John Kuncy ... of Souiprv llli-

tl«irgf P. l'»x of SlBlilon

IgC'.i—(iiHirKO P. Cox of Jlnliinu

John Hunpy of Soniprvillo

ChiirlM II. Guild of aomervillo

1870—Cii'oriso P. Cox of SInldili

Jowph M. Iliiaaoll .of Muldeu

grlwin Z. Bowman of Soincrvllle

1811—Selwlu Z. Bownmn of Soniorville

CharlM II. liillld of SomiTvillo

Jo<k|ihM. RuMi-ll of Maiden

1872—ChailM 11. Taylor ofSomerville

Samiul .\. Carllon ofSomerville

John H. Abhott of Maldou

In 1873 Maiden, Everett and Sonierville constituted

the Fourth District, and were represented as follows:

1S73—Quiiicy A. Vinal of Sonierville

Alonzo U. Evans of Kverett

John H. Abhott of Maiden

1874—J. A. Cummings of Sonierville

Homco UoBkins ofSomerville

J. K. C. Sleeper of Maiden

1875—.lames Pierce of Bloldeu

J. A. Cummings of Sonierville

S. Z. Bowman of Sonierville

187C- Charles G. Pope of Sonierville

Theodore N. Foque of Maiden

Alouzu H. Evans of Everett

In 1877 Maiden and Everett constituted the Eighth

District and were represented as follows

:

1877—.lolin K. C. Sleeper of Maiden

Henry M. Hartaliorn of Maiden

1878—Klishtt S. Converee . of Maiden

Georgo S. Wanihull of Everett

1879—Elibha S. Converee of Maiden

James P. Magee of Maiden

1880—James P. Magee of Maiden

George S. Slarsliall of Everett

1881—Ezra A. Stevens of Maiden

"William Johnson of Everett

1882—Ezra A. Stevens of Maiden

"William F. Chester of Maiden

1883—William F. Chester of JIaldeu

George E. Smith of Everett

188t—Joshua H. Millett of Maiden

George E. Smith of Everett

1885—Joshua H. Millett of Maiden

George W, Walker of Maiden

1886-George W. Walker of Maiden

Dudley P. Bailey of Everett

In 1887 Maiden alone constituted the Ninth Dis-

trict, and was represented as follows

:

1887—William A. Wilde. 1889—Henry E. Turner, Jr.

Daniel L. Mllliken. Thomas E. Barker.

1888—Daniel L. Milliken. 1890—Thomas E. Barker.

William A. Wilde. Henry E, Turuer, Jr.

The city of Maiden is supplied with water from

Spot Pond and Eaton's Meadow, for which it owes a

debt of $580,000, of which the following amounts were

issued and became due at the times specified :

J200,000 at 6 per cent, issued July 1, 1870, due July, 1890.

J1,000,000 at 6 per cent , issued July 2, 1872, due July 2, 1892.

JSO.OOO at 6 per cent., issued July 1, 1876, due July 1, 1896.

125,001) at S\^ per cent., issued July 1, 1886, due July 1, 1895.

$15,000 at 4 per cent., issued Jan. 1, 188C, due Jan. \, 1901.

110, (KXl at 4 per cent.. Issued July 1, 1880, due Jan. 1, 1901.

J4i).0li0 at 4 iwr cent., iasuid July 1, 1887, due July 1, I'.i07.

85,0tH> nt 4 per cent., issued Oct. 1, 1888, due July 1, 1907.

tlcl.iKHI at 4 per cent., Issued Oct. 1, 1888, due July 1, W07.

$2.^,0^K) at 4 per cent., issued July 1, ISsi), due July 1, 1907.

$26,000 at 4 per cent,, issued Oct. 1, 1888, due July 1, 1908.

$20,000 at 4 per cent., Issued Oct. 1, 1888, due July 1, 1908.

$20,000 at 4 per cent., issued Jan. 1, 1889, due July 1, 1908.

$16,000 at 4 per cent., issued April 1, 1889, duo July 1, 1908.

S'20,000 at 4 per cent., issued Aug. 2, 1889, due July I, 1908.

The sinking fund, for the liquidation of the water

debt, is $172,031.02, leaving a net water debt of

.•?407,06S.98.

The assessed valuation of the city is $16,133,537.50,

consisting of real estate, $14,073,900; pi'isonal es-

tate, $2,024,200, and resident bank stock, $35,437.50,

on which the rate of taxation in 1889 was $15.50 on

one thousand dollars.

The funded debt of the city, December 31, 1889,

exclusive of water debt, was $220,050.

A sewage system for the city is now being pro-

vided for. The Legislature of 1889 passed an act

providing for the building, maintenance and operation

of a system of sewage disposal for the Mystic and

Charles River valleys. It provided for the appoint-

ment of commissioners by the Governor and Council

to construct a sewer through the city to deep tide-

water. The Commonwealth is to issue bonds for the

construction and operation of this sewer, and one-

eightieth part of the amount is to be assessed in each

of the first ten years in each city and town embraced

in the system ; one-sixtieth part in each of the second

ten years; one-thirtieth part in each of the next ten

years, and the remainder is equally divided in the re-

maining ten years. The proportion of the tax is to

be determined by three commissioners, appointed by

the Supreme Judicial Court, subject to revision every

five years on the demand of any city or town inter-

ested. The main sewer, thus constructed under the

direction of the Commonwealth, is to be used as an

outlet for a local system, including the whole city.

When both the State and local systems are completed.

Maiden, now suffering from the want of adequate

drainage, will be able to boast of one of the most

thorough and effective sewage systems in the Com-
monwealth.

With these details, this portion of the sketch of

Maiden, already filling more space than was allotted

to it, must close. The writer feels that it should have

been written by some son of Maiden familiar with its

antecedents, its localities, its institutions and its peo-

ple. He is sure, however, that what it may lack in

thoroughness and detail will be more than made
up by the history which, it is hoped, will be soon

published by that more competent historian, Mr. D.

P. Corey, who is now zealously engaged in the work,

and to whom the writer wishes to express his thanks

for material, giving his sketch even the little merit it

may possess.
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CHAPTER XXXVIII.

MALDEN—( Continued).

THE ECCLESIASTICAL HISTORY OF MALDEN.

BY REV. JOSHUA W. WELLMAN, D.D.

The fathers of New Eni^Iand were godly men,

who, in their native land, had hcen trained in the

stern school of persoention. While sull'eriiig for eon-

science sake, they had little time to mature |iliins

for the ordering of their anticipated colonial life be-

yond the sea. The Pilgrims, who landed at Plymouth

in 1620, had established the order of their church

some years before, but the civil compact linder which

they were to live was drawn up on board the "]\[ay-

llower.'' The Puritans, who came with .lohn Win-

throp to Massachusetts P)ay in 1630, had previously

determined, to a certain extent, the form of their civil

organization, but upon reaching these shores had no

very clearly-defined ide.as respecting the ecclesiastical

polity which they should adopt. Concerning this mat-

ter of church-order, however, they were wise enough to

receive instructions from leading men in the Plymouth

Colony. From the first, they seemed to have enter-

tained the general idea that both godliness and liberty

should somehow be made dominant in the realm ot

civil government, and also in that of religous faith

and life. They, as well as the Pilgrims, had left na"

tive land, home and kindred, and at peril of life had

come into a vast a*id terrible wilderness that they

might secure to themselves and their children relig-

ious liberty. They were not slow, therefore, to accept

the teaching that they should make the church in-

dependent of all extraneous human authority, and

then guard its freedom with the utmost vigilance.

They were anxious to secure in some way the perma-

nent protection of religious liberty. Upon reaching

the New World, the first thing they did in the direc-

tion of establishing good order in their community,

was to determine the form of their church. That

question decided, the church itself was at once or-

ganized. The manner of organization was simple and

reverential.

The church at Charlestown was formed July 30,

1630, and the order of proceedings was as follows :

"On a day solemnized with pniyers and fasting, the Reverend Mr.

Wilson, after the manner of prot^eeding in tlie year before at Salem,

entered into a church covenant with Winthrop, Dudley and Johnson.

Two days after, on Sunday, they associated with tlieni three of the

assistaota, Mr. Nowell, Mr. Sharp and Mr. Bradstreet, and two other

persons, Mr. Gager and Mr. Colburn. Others were presently added ; and

the church so constituted elected Mr. Wilson to be its teactier and or-

dained him to that charge at Mishawunx (Charlestown). At the same

time Mr. Nowell was chosen to be ruling elder, and Mr. Gager and Mr.

Aspinwall to be deacons.'' (Palfrey's History of New England, vol. i.

p. 316.)

Such was the form of their church. The first

churches in New England were distinct, independent,

voluntary, local organizations, each having the right

to elect ita own officers, to receive and dismiss mem-
bers, to ordain its ministers, also to dismiss them

for cause, to discipline disorderly members, and to en-

gage freely in any work which would promote piety

and good morals in the community. Such at least

they were in theory.

The large company of " about a thousand " jjersons,

who came over the sea in a licit under the lead of

John Winthrop, did not come as a wholly unorgan-

ized body. They had given more thought to the civil

than to the ecclesiastical polity under which they

should live. This Colony had been organized under

a charter, and their government in its final form con-

sisted of a Governor, a Deputy tiovernor, a Court of

Assistants and a General Court. The latter was the

legislative body. The Court of Assistants, though

exercising legislative power, yet also, with the Gov-
ernor, constituted the executive branch of the gov-

ernment, and were called "The Magistrates.'' But
how were the magistrates and the General Court to be

constituted such ? Where should the a])pointing or

electing power be lodged ? Tliey had now organized

a church, the integrity, the good order, the purity, the

freedom and all the rights of which must be preserved

at all hazards, lest its members should be plunged

again into the fires of persecution. The State must
be brought practically under the power of Christian

men. The Church and State, therefore, must be so

related to each other as to be mutually helpful, the

Church securing high moral and religious character in

the perso7mel of the government, and the State main-
taining the good order, the purity and the faith of

the Church. In this way it was supposed that the

State would be made a Christian State ; in other words,

that the entire legislative and administrative govern-

ment would become in character and power what
Christian men would make it. But, for obvious rea-

sons, the churches as such could not be allowed to take

part in the administration of civil afl^airs. The free-

men—that is, those to whom alone the right of suf-

frage had been entrusted—were not all professedly

Christians in the evangelical meaning of that term.

Could the body of freemen be composed exclusively

of such men as were of mature age, and had confessed

Christ, and had taken the freeman's oath, that body
would naturally elect only godly and able men to

places of power in the civil government, and then the

State would become practically a Christian State-

Accordingly, at the very first meeting of the General
Court for election.s, in the Bay Colony, which occurred

on May IS, 1631, the law was enacted, that for the

future the right of sufl'rage should be given only to

such men in the Colony .as were members of churches.

In due time, on this plan, the body of freemen would
be composed entirely of church members, and the

General Court would come into being by what was
then considered a popular election, but in which only
certain members of churches could vote. Whatever
may be said of the wisdom of this law, the motive in
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the enactment of it wa.< high and pure. It8 purpose

waa distinctly stated in the preamble. It was enact-

ed "To the end, the body of the commons may be

preserved of.honest and good men.''

"The conception,' as Mr. Palfrey has justly re-

marked, " if a delusion and impracticable, was a

noble one. Nothing better can be imagined for the

welfare of a country than that it should be ruled on

Christian principles; in other words, that its rulers

shall be Christian men—men of disinterestedness and

integrity of the choicest quality that the world

knows—men whose fear of God exalts them above

every other fear, and whose controlling love of God

and of man consecrates them to the most generous

aims." '

The theory was. as hits been stated, tliat the

churches should be independent, subject, within the

sphere of their own proper action, to the dictation

or control of no superior authority, civil or ecclesiasti-

cal, and acknowledging Christ only as their head.

But ere long and most inconsistently the General

Court began to supervise and even direct the action

of individual churches; to judge of the qualifications

of ministers ; to inflict penalties upon churches which

ordained ministers without the approbation of

neighboring ciiurchcs, or of the magistrates; to re-

quest, and to specify the purpose of, the assembling

of synods ; to receive the reports of the transactions of

such synods, and to exercise the right of approving

or disapproving of the same. Thus, strange to say, in

the same colony in which the law was enacted that

only church members should be allowed to take the

freeman's oath, and be invested with the right of

sufiVage, the supreme legislative body and the

magistrates were found to be possessed of an authority

in ecclesiastical matters superior to that of the

churches themselves. This legal union of Church and

State, however well meant, in which only church

members could be entrusted with the elective

franchise, and in which the civil authorities were

invested with a superior power in the management

of ecclesiastical aflairs, was destined to be the source

of great injustice and trouble to individual churches;

yet it was continued for sixty years.

In the meanwhile the freemen, or legal voters, who
in time were all church members, elected not only

the deputies, or members of the General Court, and

the magistrates, but also the officers of the precincts

or towns in which they lived. The time at length

came when all the legal voters in a town-meeting

were members of the church. There was no parish,

no ecclesiastical society, in the modern sense of those

term. The towns were the only local organizations

connected with the church. In a town-meeting the

legal voters could transact both civil and ecclesiastical

business; and the records of those meetings were at

once town records, and what would now be called

» F&lf»;'B "History of New EDgland," toI. 1. p. 345.

I parish records. On this limited territory there was

i
a clear organic union of Church and St.ite; but the

I
Church power here \\a» supreme. As a consequence,

the secular and religious affairs of the community

were so interwoven and blended that it is now
extremely difficult to disentangle the ecclesiastical

history from the civil history of an ancient New
England town. If either history is to V>e written

truthfully and perspicuously, the writer must occas-

ionally state, or at least make intelligible reference

to, certain events and transactions that properly

belong to the other history. The attempt, however,

will be made in the following annals to keep as

nearly as possible within the limits of ecclesiastical

history.

It should also be said, in a preliminary way, that

the sources of information respecting the early history

of Maiden are unfortunately quite meagre. The
town records previous to the year 1G78 have disap-

peared. The existing records of the First Church
reach back only to the year 1770. This church, at

present date (1890), is two hundred and forty-one

years old. Its records covering the first half of this

period are lost. Aside from such of the town and
church records as have been preserved, a valuable

source of historical material is found in " The BiCen-
tennial Book of Maiden." This small volume was

published in connection with the enthusiastic cele-

bration of the two hundredth anniversary of the in-

corporation of the town, which occurred in 1849. Its

authors were a committee appointed by the citizens,

and consisting of Rev. A. W. McClure, then pastor

of the First Church ; Rev. J. G. Adams, then pastor

of the Universalist Church ; and William H. Richard-

sou, Jr., then a prominent citizen ofMaiden. The chief

purpose of the book was to put on record the memo-
rable public services of that great Anniversary Day.

But the committee wisely added a considerable

amount of historical and genealogical information,

which, if not as ample nor as methodically arranged

as might be desired, must yet have been gathered at

cost of much laborious and faithful research, and is

now of the greatest value. Indeed, in no other one

volume can at present be found so much of the kind

of material which is indispensable in writing the

history of Maiden. There is also in " The History of

Middlesex County," by Samuel Adams Drake, au in-

valuable article upon Maiden, written with rare his-

toric insight and accuracy, by Deloraine P. Corey,

Esq. To Mr. Corey and to the authors of" The Bi-Cen-

tennial Book of Maiden" the present writer is largely

indebted. The additional information that will be

presented has been gathered, item by item, from va-

rious and widely-separated sources.

The Organizatiok oe the First Church.—
The following account of the origin of the town, and

of the First Church in it is given, in quaint language,

by Edward Johnson, in his famous book entitled,

" Wonder-Working Providence ofZion's Saviour in
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New England." Speaking of events which occurred

in 1648, he says :

" About this time tlie town of Maiden bad hi« flnit fouiidntlon stone

laid by certwin poreoiia, wbu iiwued out of C'linrleslown, and indeed bml

her whole etructure within the bounds of tbis more elder Town, bcinn

severed by the broiid sproadius river of Jlistick the one from the other,

whoso tronbleaome passH^e caused the people on the North side of tin-

river to plead for Town privileges within themselves, which acconlingly

was grunted tbeni. . . . The people gathered into a church some dis-

tance.of time before they could attain to any Church Olticor to adminis-

ter the Seals unto them, yet in the meantime at their Sabbath nssemblies

they had a fiodly ChriBtian named Mr. Sarjant, who did preach the Word

unto them, and afterwards they « ere supplied at times with Bouie yonnR

students fix>iu the l/olledg, till the year lor.l)."

From this statement we learn that the entire terri-

tory of Maiden was at lirst within the hounds of

Charlestown ; that the people who lirst settled upon

this territory came Irom " the elder Town," that is,

from that part of Charlestown whicli was on the

south side of Jlystic River; tliat the people on the

north side, or " Mistick side," as it was called, weri'

moved to " plead for Town-privileges," on account oi

the " troublesome passage" over " the broad spread-

ing river ;
" that " the people gathered into a church,"

and maintained regular Sabbath services of preach-

ing and worsliip, "some distance of time" before

they could obtain a minister; that, during a part of

this period, one " 3Ir. Sarjant" " did preach the Word

unto them," and that afterwards a similar service was

rendered by young students from Harvard College.

Mr. Sarjant was doubtless the William Sargeant who,

as Mr. Corey affirms, " was here as early as 1G43,"

and whose lands, " which were possessed by his de-

scendants nearly two centuries, were in the southern

part of the town." The fact that he was by occupa-

tion a " haberdasher," that is, a seller of small wares,

such as ribbons, needles and thread, indicates that he

was a lay-preacher, who, doubtless by his godliness

and experimental knowledge of Christ and the Holy

Scriptures, was able to edily the people. He was ad-

mitted to the church in Charlestown, January 10,

1639. He came from England in 1638, and was made

a freeman in Charlestown in 1639.

The exact date of the organization of the First

Church in Maiden is not known. There is evidence

that it was not organized before 1649. From the "Bi-

centennial Book" we learn that:

"The Middlesex Registry of Deeds, (Lib. 11, pp. 82, 83) contains a

record of a defaced agreement (and attestation thereto,) between the

Commissioned of Charlestown and ,'\[ysticside, for dividing the unappro-

priated common lantls, in which occurs the following clatise ;
' In con-

sideration, the brethren of Mystic-side are, by the providence of God,

shortly to go into a church estate by themselves, and for the more com

fortable proceeding and carrying on of that work of Christ among
tbem.'—This instrument, it is said, purports to have been drawn by

authority of a certain writing bearing date, March 26, 1649. From
this it appears that the church at that time was not organized, but un-

doubtedly was a few weeks after."

Such was the conclusion of Dr. McClure, and it

seems to have been well grounded. " The instru-

ment" containing an " agreement " must have been

drawn after the date of " a certain writing," for it was

drawn "by authority" of that writing. That writing

was dated March 26, 1649. It must, therefore, have

been after that date that "the brethren on Mystic

side," were preparing "shortly to go into a church

estate by themselves." Very likely the " instrument

"

was drafted on the same day its the " writing " (only

lifter the " writing"), as both appear to luive been es-

sential to the consummation of " tlie agreement."

Moreover, that the word "shortly" indicates a period

of not more than a few weeks is made quite probable

by the fact that the i)eople of Mystic side, at this

very time, were taking meusures to secure the incor-

poration of their town. Their jietition to tlie Gener-

al Court was responded to, on May 11, 1649, in the

following laconic Act of Incorporation :

'*In answer to the peticon of seull inhabitants of Mistick side, their

reijuest is gruunted, vi/,., to be a distinct tonne of tbomsolvcB, anil the

name thereof to be Maulden," (Records of Massachuuetts, vol. 111. p. 102).

As late, probably, as March 26, 1649, or sixteen

days before the date of the above Act of Incorpora-

tion, " the brethren on Mystic side," most or all of

whom were doubtless members of some church, as

the very term " brethren " would seem to indicate,

were preparing " shortly to go into a church estate."

It can hardly be doubted that these same" brethren "

were the men, or among the men, who petitioned the

General Court to incorporate their town. It is quite

certain, then, that they were seeking at once the

incorporation of their town, and the organization of

a church within it, and, more than probable, that

they obtained both at about the same lime. The
date of the organization of the First Church in

Maiden, therefore, is almost certainly not far from

May 11, 1649.

The statements of Edward Johnson are indefinite.

Referring, perhaps, to the year 1648, he says :
" About

this time the town of Maiden had his first foundation

stones laid," but we know that the town was not

incorporated until 1649. His subsequent statement,

that " the people gathered into a church some dis-

tance of time before they could attain any Church
officer to administer the seals unto them," gives us

no date. For ought he says, the expression "some
distance of time " may refer to the period between

May 11, 1649, and the date of the settlement of the

first minister in Maiden. It is absolutely certain

that no church was organized in this town before

March 26, 1649, for after that date, or at that date,

" the brethren " were preparing " shortly to go into a

church estate." This is the testimony of a legal

document witnessed and recorded. As compared
with this legal and positive statement, the careless

and indefinite statements of Johnson are of no
weight.

Moreover, there is evidence that the chief purpose

of the Mystic side men in seeking the incorporation

of their town was, that they might enjoy better re-

ligious privileges. Richard Frothinghan, in his " His-

tory of Charlestown," informs us, that as early as

January 1, 1649, "a large committee was chosen from
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the inhdbitants" residing on the south side of the

Mv*tic Rivor, "'to meet thres chosen brethren on

Mistick aide,' to agree upon tlie terms of a separa-

tion, and the boundaries of a new town. This com-

mittee made an elaborate report beginning: 'To the

end, the work of Christ, and the things of his

house there in hand, may be more comfortably car-

ried on, it is agreed as followeth
: '

" that the Mistick

side men shall be a town by themselves, &c. This

language indicates that, at that date, the work o(

(.'lirist bad been begun on Mystic side, and that the

things of His house were '' in hand," but not that a

church had been organized, and that they were

in the full enjoyment of Christian privileges. The

truth appeared to be, that they had already estab-

lisheil, in an informal way, religious services on

Mvstic side, which had been conducted for the most

part by a Christian layman, William Sargeant, but

that now they proposed to organize a church, settle

a minister, build a parsonage, and, perhaps, a meet-

ing-house.

When the First Church in Maiden was formed there

had previously existed in the territory now com-

prised in the Commonwealth of Massachusetts forty-

two churches. Three of these had beeu organized

in England, and transferred bodily to this country.

Two of the entire number, however, had removed to

Connecticut. The Maiden Church, therefore, when

formed in 1649, was the forty-first church in Mass-

achusetts. Several of those early churches have,

within the last hundred years, ceased to be orthodox

Congregational Churches; and at present date (1890)

there are only twenty-three orthodox Congregational

Churches in this Commonwealth which are older

than the First Church in Maiden. This church is

more ancient than any church of the same denomi-

nation within the former limits of Boston. Only one

church, indeed, of this order, within the present lim-

its of Boston is older, and that is the First Church in

Charlestown (now a part of Boston). The Old South

Church, Boston, so famous in history, was organized

in l(iG9, and the Park Street Church as late as 1809

The latter is a young church in comparison with

that sisterhood of ancient churches to which the

Maiden Church belongs.

The First Members of the Church.—It would

be interesting to know more than we do of the men
and women who were the original members of this

ancient church gathered on Mystic side. But we

may be thankful that, while the biography of no one

of them has come down to us, we are not left in entire

ignorance of their general character. The fact tha'

they " issued out ofCharlestown " tells us something.

We know what sort of people settled in that town

nineteen years before. They were Governor Win-

throp's people, godly men and women for the most

part, Puritans in faith and character, people of such

sterling integrity and worth a.s the world always has

need of—of such moral and religious stamina, indeed,

as are more needed in every community and nation

than any other class of people. On board the ships

that brought them over the sea they had an abundance

of religious services
—

" Preaching and catechising,

fasting and thanksgiving, were duly observed." Win-

throp, on the voyage, wrote a little book, en tilled " A
Model of Christian Charity," which evinced that in

his own heart was living the spirit of Christ. Before

dwelling-houses could have been prepared for all

! the company they organized the Church of Christ,

and established the Christian ministry. Those who
joined them during the years immediately following

were like-minded. Indeed, no other class of people

were permitted to make their homes in the Colony.

The colonists speedily pushed out from Charlestown,

southwest across the channel to Shawnnit (Boston),

westward to New Town ((Cambridge), and northward

across the Mystic River to Mystic side (Maiden); and

soon to regions still beyond, taking possession of the

wild lands, subduing the wilderness and establishing

Christian homes. And Cotton Mother, speaking of

this people, tells us that, "Wherever they sat down
they were so mindful of their errand into the wilder-

ness, that still one oi their first works was to gather a

church into the covenant andorrfer of the gospel."

(Magualia, vol. i. p. 79.)

As early as 1631, or only one year after the settle-

ment of Charlestown, English people were living on

Mystic side. Seven years later the population had come
to be considerable ; and ten years from that date, or in

1648, the inhabitants on this territory were numerous

enough to be moving for the organization of a

church. This movement and their previous zeal in

establishing and maintaining regular religious ser-

vices are what we would expect of men and women,

who belonged to Governor_Wiuthrop's colony. There

were among them some of the first settlers of Charles-

town. We know that several of their number came

over the sea later. But they all belonged to one and

the same class of English people. They were Puritans.

They accepted heartily the Calvinistic interpretation

of the Scriptures. Their religious beliefs had made
them righteous and self-sacrificing, courageous and

great lovers of liberty. They feared and loved God.

Christ was dear to their hearts, and lived in their

lives. Sin and irreligion were hateful to them,

prayer and Christian service were their delight.

Such in character and faith were the people who
founded the First Church in Maiden.

Some of the original members of the Maiden Church

were previously original members of the church in

Charlestown. Others of this number joined the

Charlestown Church some years after it was formed,

Others still, who were among the original members of

the Maiden Church, may never have united with the

First Church in Charlestown. There is evidence that,

in some instances, good Christian people resided for

several years in Charlestown, and yet were never con-

nected with the church In that town, for the reason

1
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that from the first they expected to remove sooner or

later to some otlier plantiition. Edward Johnson, the

author of " The Wonder- Working Providence of

Zion's Saviour," was one of tliis chiss.

He was a prominent man in the Colony, and eminent

in Christian service
;

yet he resided six years in

Charlestown without becoming a member of the

church there. He then removed to Woburn, and

took an active and leading part in the organization of

the First Church in that town. Some of the founders

of the church in .Maiden may have pursued a similar

course. In that case they removed their church rela-

tion directly from some church in the old country to

the new church in IMalden.

No catalogue of the original members of the Mai-

den Cluirch has been preserved, yet the names of

some (if them are known. Mr. Corey speaks of "a

document in relation to the church, written in 1()48,"

which contains the names of several "of the leading

men of Maiden." Aa this document pertained " to

the Church," the men whose names itcofltained prob-

ably (oiik part in the organization of the church the

next year. "They were Joseph Hills, Ralph .Sprague,

Edward Carrington, Thomas 8quire, John Wayte,

James Greene, Abraham Hill, Thomas Osborne, John

Lewis and Thomas Caule."

Joseph Hills was a lawyer by profession, and an

eminent man, not only in his town and church, but

also in the Colony. Dr. McGlure places him in his

list of " distinguished citizens," and records the fol-

lowing particulars respecting him :

" He was born in 1602 ; came to New England at

least as early as 1639, and was admitted as freeman in

1645. He resided at first in Charlestown, then in

Maiden, and at last in Newbury, whither he re-

moved in 1657, and where he died February 5, 1688,

aged 86 years. He was representative from Charles-

town in the General Court for 16-17, in which year

he was also Speaker. He was for some time captain

of the Maiden Company, and represented Maiden from

1650 to 1656. He was for several years one of the

Assistants of the colony. . . . His first wife was Rose

Dunster, a sister of Henry Dunster, the first president

of Harvard College."'

Mr. Corey, speaking of the part Mr. Hills took in

laying the foundations of the town, says: "He had

been engaged in important commissions with the

leading menof the government." " He had just com-

pleted the famous revision of the Massachusetts laws,

which was printed in 1648, and which was the first

code of laws established by authority in New England.

He came with his wife. Rose, from Maldon, in Essex,

England, and in compliment to him. Mystic side is

supposed to have received its new name." Mr.

Frothingham speaks of him as " the principal char-

acter in Maiden ;
" and Edward Johnson describes

him as " active to bring the laws of the country in

31-iii

•"(Bi-Centennial Book," p. 168.)

order, and as " the leader of the Maiden band" even

before the first town officers were chosen. •

Ralpli Sprague, one of the founders of the church

in .Maiden, came from England, " at his own cost,"

probably with Higgin.son's company, to Salem, in

162!). His wife, Joan, carae with him ; also two

brothers, Richard and William. He was one of the

pioneers who, that same year, came through the

woods from Salem to the mouth of the Mystic River,

took possession of the place on the southern side of

the river, afterwards and now called Charlestown,

and settled there. Probably he was a member of the

church organized at Salem under those godly minis-

ters, Skelton and Higginson. He was certainly a

member ot the church organized in Charlestown, and
which in a few weeks removed to Boston, for his name
is ill the list of those, who, in lihi'2, were dismissed

from the First Church in Boston to organize a new
church in Charlestown. This Second Church in

Charlestown, now called the First Church, was
the church from , which the brethren carae who
organized the church in Maiden. Ralph Sprague
took the oath of a freeman in 1631, was made con-

stable at the General Court in 1630, held several

military otfices, and was frequently representative in

the General Court. He died in November, 1650.

Edward Carrington, as Dr. McClure informs us,

was admitted freeman in Charlestown in 1636 ; was
one of the principal men in Mystic side at the time of

the incorporation of Maiden. He also seems to have

been a man of some wealth and considerable infiuence.

Thomas Squire came to Charlestown with his wife,

Bridget, in Winthrop's company, in 1630 ; was No. 83

on the list of church members, in Boston ; was dis-

missed in 1632, with others, to oiganize the new
church in Charlestown.

" John Wayet, Esq., was very prominent among the

first settlers of Maiden. He was the representative

of the town in the General Court from 1666 to 1684,

and in the last-named year, was Speaker of the

House. He served many years also as one of the

selectmen." (Dr. McClure.)

James Greene came from England, was in Charles-

town in 1646 and in Mystic Side in 1647. He was a

member of the church in Charlestown. He and his

wife, Elizabeth, were doubtless among the original

members of the First Church in Maiden. He died

March 26, 1687, aged seventy-seveu years.

Abraham Hill was made a freeman in Charlestown

in 1640, and died in Maiden, February 13, 167(5. He
was the ancestor of the Hills in Cambridge and of

several noted families in New Hampshire. His wife's

name, perhaps, was Sarah.

Thomas Osborne was in Charlestown in 1644, and
was made freeman in 1649. He lived on Mystic side.

His wife, Sarah, was one of the sisterhood who
"stood up manfully in defence of their pastor. Rev.

Mr. Mathews, against the General Court." In 1662

he and his wife were dismissed to the church in
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Cbarlestown. The next year he " united with Gould

a.1 Ik Biipliil, haviii); enil)nu-iMl the opinions of that

Hfct as early iu> U'M." (Savaf^o.)

John Lewis came to Charlestown in 1(534. His

first wife's name was Murparct, and by her he had six

chililren. 11 in second wife's name was Mary Brown,

iiml «ix ehildren were born to them. Me cljcd Sep-

lemlier III, lii.'i".

Thomii.i ("aule, or Call, "a baker, came from Kii(?-

Iiind with his wife, Bennett, and three children. He

died May, Uwil."' The name of his second wife wa.s

.loanna, and she was one of the brave women who

pleaded for their inini.Hler before the General Court.

(Dr. Met 'lure.)

•Such were the ten men who, it is thought, were

among " the leading men of Maiden " at the time it.s

First Church w:us organized. Six of them surely were

among the original niendiers of the church, and veiy

likely all of them were. As a class, they were evi-

dently men of ability, integrity and influence. They

were worthy to be the founders of a Christian Church

and to aid in founding n Christian Slate. Among the

original members were also William Sargeanl, " the

godly Christian " and lay-preacher, and his good

wife, .Toan. John Upham, who was a leading citizen,

held many important offices and trusts in both the

town and the Colony, and was " deacon of the church

for at least twenty years," and his wife, Klizabeth,

were likewise in the list of first members. In the

same class, too, without doubt, were most, if not all,

of the thirty six women who, as will later be shown,

so honorably ami publicly stood up in defence of

their minister when they thought him wronged. To

this select number others doubtless belonged, whose

names, though now unlettered on the pages of the

earthly church records, are, we believe, imperishably

" written in the l^amb's Book of Life."

The church, which thus began its history early in

May, K54'.), entered at once and vigorously upon the

difficult task of obtaining a minister. The members

do not seem to have been uiululy fastidious. Within

about a year they extended calls to no less than nine

candidates, viz., to "Mr. Miller, then at Rowley;

Mr. Blinman, Mr. John Wilson, son of the first pas-

tor of Boston; Mr. Samuel Mather, Mr. Kzekiel

Cheever, Mr. Lyon, to one of the Watertown oflicers,

to one of the Charlestown church officers and to Mr.

John Breck.'' (Dr. McClure.) Several of these were

probably at the time students in Harvard College

preparing for the ministry. Some of the list after-

wards became distinguished ministers. None of them

accepted the call from Maiden.

Rev. Mahmadukk Mathews the First Minis-

ter.—The first pastor of the church was Rev. Marma-
duke Mathews. He received and accepted a call

some time in the early part of the year 1650. The
exact date of his settlement is not known. During
h)8 brief pastorate he was a sorely afflicted man, but

his troubles were not occasioned by unhappy relations

between him and his church, but partly by neighbor-

ing churches, and chiefly by the General (!ourt and

the magistrates. His e.a.se was a remarkable one, and

deserves much ampler treatment than we have space

to give it.

Uev. Marmaduke Mathews, son of Matthew Ma-

thews, born in HJOti, at Swansea, in southern Wales,

graduated at Oxford February 20, 11)21, at the age of

eighteen ; arrived at Boston September 21 , KiliX. His

wife, Catharine, united with the First (Church in Bos-

ton February 6, 1639. He settled in Yarmouth and

was the first minister in that town, remaining there

from 1639 to 1643. Winthrop calls him a "godly

minister." Morton, in his " Memorial," under date

of 1642, mentions his name as among "the special-

ist " of "a con.siderable number of godly and able

gospel preachers," with whom "about that time the

Lord was pleased, of his great goodness, richly to ac-

complish and adorn the Colony of Plimouth," " who
then being dispersed and disposed of to the several

churches and congregations thereof, gave light in a

glorious and resplendent manner as burning and

shining lights." Hutchinson speaks of "a set of

pious and learned ministers" who were pastors of

churches in Plymouth Colony in 1643, and Hubbard
aflirnis that one of this number was Marmaduke
Mathews.

Having closed his ministry in Yarmouth in 1643,

Mr. Mathews, probably in 1644, removed to Hull and

preached in that town, it would seem, several years,

for in 1650 he was spoken of as having lately preached

in Hull.

The civil authorities in Plymouth Colony appear

to have had some dealing with Mr. Mathews before

he left Yarmouth. Mr. Frederick Freeman, in his

"History of Cape Cod," informs us that even under

the jurisdiction of the Pilgrims,

" A strict watcli was kept over the clinrcliee by the magistracy. No
church could be gathered without the permission of the magistrates,

and any luinister preaching without their approbation was liable to a

penalty. Mr. Mathews thus offended, and was fined ten povinde."

But the antiquarians have not yet decided with

any unanimity whether he committed this offence

through mere inadvertence ; or because he did not be-

lieve that a minister of Christ, in his beliefs and offi-

cial service, should be subjected to the will of the

i civil authorities ; or was thus punished because he

was judged to have preached erroneous doctrines.

Yet Mr. Freeman, in a foot-note, adds the following

apparently just remark: "Mr. Mathews has been

represented by some of hiscontemporaries as 'weak

and eccentric,' but we are inclined to think the weak-

ness was mere artless simplicity, and the eccentricity

the frankness of a man void of subtlety."

The imposition of this fine, however, in 1643, and

the troubles connected with it, may have occasioned

his departure from Y'armouth, which occurred the

same year. The people in Hull were satisfied with

his ministry, yet for some reason he left them. They
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then i)etitioned the magistrates of the Massachusetts

Colony that he niif^ht be rc/itnird to iheni. On May

2, 1649, the following remarkable response was made

to their petition :

"The Court thinks it noway meet to grant . . . tlieir desiro foi-

^Ir. Mntliews returning to thoin, nor resiilmt; with tlu'ni, and do declare

tliiit tlu-y IiTid oeveral erronioiis expressions, otliers weiilt, inconvenient

und iins.ife, for wiiich it jud^olii it meet to order, lliut tlio said Mr.

Mathews sliould be adnionislicd by tlio Governor iu the uanio of this

Court." (Itecordsof fllassacliusetts, vol. ii. p. *27G).

This action of the magistrates indicates that in

some way tliey had already reached the conclusion

that this minister's preaching was not what it should

be.

Two days later, or on May 4th, the General Court

or House of Deputies received a petition from the

people of Hull "for the encouraging [that is, the

furnishing of pecuniary aid to] i\Ir. Mathews to go

to them and i)reach amongst them.'' The reply of

" the whole Court " is: "That Mr. Mathews should

not return to Hull, nor reside with them." And
further they "do declare that they find several erro

neous expressions, others weak, inconvenient and

unsafe, for which they judge it meet to order, that

the said Mr. Mathews should be admonished by the

Governor in the name of the Court." Doubtless the

admonition was duly given by the Governor. Mr.

Mathews did not return to Hull.

In the early part of the next year, 1650, Mr. Math-

ews is preaching acceptably to the people in Mai-

den. The church wishes to ordain him as its pastor.

In the mean time Mr. M.ithews requests of the Court

an opportunity to explain the language used in his

preaching to which excejition had been taken. The
voluntary presentation of this request was frank and

honorable, and discloses an ingenuous confidence on

his part that he could give a satisfactory explanation.

On June 21, 1650, the Court ordered that his reque?t

should be granted, and that on the 28th of that month

an opportunity should be furnished him to "give sat-

isfaction for what he had formerly delivered as erro-

neous, &c., to the elders of Boston, Charlestown, Rox-

bury and Dorchester, with such of the magistrates as

shall please to be then present (if he can.) '"

Mr. Mathews appears before that council, but fails

to give satisfaction. Two churches, that of Charles-

town and that of Eoxbury, wrote to their brethren

in Maiden, earnestly advising them not to ordain

him. "The latter, in reply, requested that any 'sin'

in their pastor-elect might be pointed out, and they

would consider it. No reply was received from Rox-

bury previous to the ordination, and only the views

of Mr. Nowell, from Charlestown, but whether in be-

half of the church, or as a magistrate, is not stated.

Mr. Mathews was ordained."^ The brethren in Mai-

den were aware that the church in Salem "ordained,"

that is, installed, Mr. Skelton as its pastor and Mr.

1 Records of Massachusetts, vol. iv, part i, p. 21.

2 Frotbiogliam's * History of Charlestown," p. 122.

Higginson as its teacher; that the church in Charles-

town ordained Mr. Wilson as it< teacher. They
knew also that the Cambridge platform, adopted two

years before (1648), allowed a church not only to

choose, but ordain its own oOicers. Why, then,

should they not ordain as their pastor the man whom
they had chosen to that oflice? In ordaining Mr.

Mathews they supposed they were doing what they

had a perfect right to do, and evidently intended no

disrespect to magistrates or to other churches, and

had they and their pastor been left to themselves,

they might have long labored together in the interest

of Christ and His kingdom—for ought that can now
be seen— in great peace and joy.

Another year passed. On May 7, 1651, the Gene-

ral Court again assembled. Early in the session Mr.

Mathews was summoned to appear and give satisfac-

tion for " former and later miscarriages." He appears

at the appointed time. May 15th, and listens to

charges, nine in number, grounded upon certain pas-

sages taken from his sermons. He " owned not" the

charges ; but they were supported by the testimony

of two Maiden men, John Hawthorne and Thomas
Lynde. Hawthorne, at another time, was anxious

to obtain from the Court a license to keep a tavern in

Maiden, and sell intoxicating drinks. The hearing

appears to have continued through several days. Mr.

Mathews made an elaborate defense in a paper of

considerable length, in which he explained in detail

the several passages in his sermons on which the nine

charges had been grounded. He was a trained schol-

ar. He delighted in careful distinctions and defini-

tions. These seemed to him obvious and important,

and in his simplicity he thought he could make them

seem so to others. He read his Hebrew Bible flu-

ently, held it, perhaps, in his hand, as he discoursed

to the plain men of the Court upon the meaning of

certain Hebrew words, and gave the exegesis of cer-

tain passages in the Hebrew Scriptures.

The tribunal before which he stood was made up of

sturdy, honest Puritans. They were farmers, mechan-

ics, wood-choppers and captains of military compa-

nies,—good men and true, doubtless, all of them.

But they could not understand the fine theological

distinctions and exegetical subtleties of the Oxford

divine. Only fourteen years before, the whole Col-

ony had been thrown into the wildest excitement

and panic by the Antinomian teachings of Ann
Hutchinson, which were judged to be subversive of

good morals and of all civil law and order, as well asof

the divine law and Christian faith. The deputies

and magistrates were suspicious that Mr. Mathews
was another Antinomian, or something worse. In

reality, he was far removed from Antinomianism, al-

though, beyond question, he did believe in the inde-

pendence of the local church, and that a Christian

minister is responsible for his religious beliefs and
teachings to no authority save that of the church of

which he is a minister, and that of Christ, the only
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Head of the riiurfh. A|>piireiitly it was Uuh belief, his

rare »clioliirslii|> not always wisely exhibited, his fond-

uess fur usiiin unusual words and expressions in at-

teiuplinKlouiakepliiiu what ho regarded as important

iheoloKiitil ilistinelions, that aroused suspicious and

oeeasioned all Ids Ironbles. In his theological belief

he appeara to have been a strict ( 'alviuist. There is no

evldeme tliat ho wjisaspiritiialist, oratrausceudenlal-

ist. in tlie ordinary sense of those terms. Hut his mind

worked analytically, and he was in the habit of i>rc-

itenting his analysis of scriptural doctrine in his ser-

mons. For example, one charge made against him

was that of teaching, that the saints have a larger va-

riety of righteousnesses than Christ Himself hits. His

reply was :

"When I said that saints have more variety of

righleousne».ses than Christ hath, it was in the explica-

tion of the word in Isaiah, 45: 24, which in the origi-

nal is in the plural number, righteousnesses. '8urely

in the Lord have 1 ri^jhteousnesses and strength ;
' not

that they have more variety of righteousnesses than He

hath to give; because they have froin Him, besides

inherent righteousness and moral righteousness, im-

putative righteousness also, which He needed not

for himself."

This statement, in which he discriminated between

the ditl'erent kinds of righteousness, may have seem-

ed to the plain men of the Court to be dark sayings,

" unsafe and inconvenient ex[)ressions," but there was

nothing in them that was inconsistent with the

strictest Calvinism; and this was evidently the judg-

ment of his own people, amopg whom was Joseph

Hill, one of the ablest, most intelligent and orthodox

men in the ( Jolony. Mr. Mathews' rhetorical and some-

what startling method of presenting this discrimina-

tion was doubtless what alarmed the brave cajttains

and other deputies in the General Court.

Another charge made against the Maiden minister

was that of teaching that no sin should be reproved

save the sin of uuhelief, and that no virtue should be

enjoined save that of faith. This charge was grounded

upon a fact—namely, the teaching, by Mr. Mathews,

that all sins are included in that unbelief which the

gospel 80 severely condemns ; and that all virtues are

included in that faith which the gospel ao earnestly

enjoins. Hut this teaching is by no means equivalent

to saying that there are no sins to be reproved ex-

cept unbelief; or that there are no virtues or duties

to be enjoined except faith. Consequently Mr.

Mathews replied :

" I do believe and profess that all sins, of all per-

sons, both under the law and under the gospel, are to

be reproved both in unbelievers and others. And if

any words, at any time, in any place, among any per-

sons, have fallen from my lips or pen, which in the

judgment of any seem to sound otherwise, I do not

own them as my judgment." (Hutchinson papers.)

This answer was doubtless honestly given ; and if

80, it ia difficult to see why it was not satisfactory.

All that is recorded of Mr. Mathews goes to show

that he was a highly cultivated man for the times in

which he lived. That he wjis most devout and spirit-

ually-minded, there can be noipiestion. That he was

thoroughly evangelical in his faith, of a pure and pa-

tient spirit, perfectly frank and guileless, and unusu-

ally faithful and zealous in all the work of the

Christian ministry, is almost equally certain. He
presented to the Court carefully prepared and able

—

]ierhaps too able—answers to all the charges prefer-

red against him. Then came a written testimony,

signed by nine members of his church in Maiden,

affirming that in his answers to the Court he had stat-

ed, upon the points in question, for substance what he

had delivered in his sermons,—nine brethren thus

testifying lor him against two Maiden men testifying

iu opposition to him. Moreover, there is still extant

a deposition, iu favor of the pastor, signed by five of

the leading brethren of his church, dated May 16th

and certified by a magistrate on the 17th, in which

they affirm that the answers " our Reverend Pastor,

Mr. Mariiiaduke Mathews, hath given unto the Court"

"arc the substance of what was publicly delivered

by him, and are the truth and nothing but the truth."

But all was in vain. The church, as well as its pas-

tor, was under suspicion, and the testimony in his

favor—though it so greatly preponderated in both

character and quantity the testimony against him

—

availed nothing. The tribunal would not acquit him.

On the contrary, " the Court declared" that the ac-

cused minister had " formerly and latterly given of-

fence to magistrates and elders, and many brethren,

in some unsafe, if not unsound, expressions in his

public teaching ;" that he had " not yet given satis-

faction to those magistrates and elders who were ap-

pointed to receive satisfaction from him ;
" that since

that time he had " delivered in his public ministry

other unsafe and offensive expressions," on account of

which "magistrates, ministers and churches" had

been moved " to write to the church of Maiden to ad-

vise them not to proceed to his ordination,"—that

" yet, contrary to all advice and the ruleof God's word,

as also the peace of the churches, the church of

Maiden hath proceeded to the ordination of Mr.

Mathews."

The Court, therefore, "taking into consideration

the premises and the dangerous consequences and

eflects that may follow such proceedings," ordered

that the offences "touching doctrinal points" should

first be duly considered by a Committee of Magistrates

and Deputies. This committee consisted of " Mr.

Simon Bradstreet, Mr. Samuel Simonds, Captain Wil-

liam Hawthorne, Captain Edward Johnson, Mr. John
Glover, Captain Eleazer Lusher, Captain Daniel

Gookin, Mr. Richard Brown and Captain Humphrey
Atherton." These five captains and four untitled

citizens were to examine a scholarly minister, a

graduate of Oxford, and decide the question of the

soundness or unsoundness of his theology. They
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were to meet on the 11th of June following, at the

Ship Tavern, Boston ; and it was thoughtfully pro-

vided that, "in case of diliiculty." the committee

could call in some of the *' Reverend Klders " to give

" help and advice." They were reipiired to make re-

turn to the Court at its next scHsion, The church of

Maiden, for the olfence of ordaining Mr. Mathews

without the approhation of magistrates and churches,

was ordered to make answer at the next session of the

t^ourt. It was also ordered that Mr. Mathews, for

"surtering himself to be ordained, contrary to the

rules of God's word,'' "to the olfence of tlie Magis-

trates, Reverend Elders and some churches, should

give satisfaction to the Court at its present session hy

an humble acknowledging of his sin for so proceed-

ing." But in case he refused to do this, he was "to

pay the sum of £10 within one month." Fifteen

deputies dissented from this judgment. The whole

number was forty-one.

Mr. Mathews failed to appear before the Court to

make humble acknowledgment of his "sin" in sutier-

ing himself to be ordained the pastor of the church

in Mnlden. Consequently the marshal was ordered

"to levy" on his goods "the sum of £10 as bis fine."

The marshal, in attempting to execute this order

could find no goods in the possession of the minister,

except a library, and in due time he so reported to the

Court. Thi3 latter, consequently, at its next session,

ordered that the execution of the judgment of £10

against Mr. Mathews "shall be respited till other

goods appear besides books."

Mr. Mathews was popular with bis people; and his

church, being indignant with Mr. Lynde, one of its

members, for having given testimony against the pas-

tor before the Court, proposed to subject him to se-

vere discipline for his offence. The Court of Assist-

ants, hearing of this, addressed to the church a letter,

dated March 4, l(i01, which is significant as indicat-

ing the relation of the magistrates, or of "The Coun-

sel I," as they called themselves, to indiviilual

churches. The letter is as follows:

"C/(7-w(wn Prifwis and Brethren:

"We, heiiiii, ciudibly iuformed of some purpose of youre to proceed

further to ceiij*ure Thomiia Lynde for the testiiiiony he gsive in Court

againat ilr. Mfttbews, and that to exooinniunication, and knowing our-

Belvea with wliat tenderness and caution he gave his aforesaid teati-

niony, and what disturbance your proceeding may probably occasion,

both in the churches and civil government ; we tliought it no less fhau

our duly, in a case of this concernment, ?jet withoKt amj intention or desire

in (he least to infringe the liberty the L'ird Jesus Christ, hath purchased /or his

c^mrc/(es, to desire you to take counsoU and advice of three or tour of

your next neighbouring churches in the case aforesaid, before you pro-

ceed to further censure ;— it being also Thomas Lynd'a earnest request,

as we are informed ; so that if the case shall appear clear to otbei"8, as it

may seem to do to you, you may then proceed with more peace and com-

fort, and be more fully convinced, if then he should continue obstinate.

But in case it should ap[>ear otherwise to other churches than it doth to

you, the rule of God's word may be further attended therein, fur the

preservation of true love and peace, which we desire you will jtiintly

endeavour to promote with ourselves. So we rest your loving friends.

" By order of the Counsell,

"Edwabo Rawson, Seerttiinj.'*

(Maas. " Hist. Coll.," vol. iii., second series.)

In the mean time the committee of nine captains

and yeomen, appointed by the Court to investigate

the theology of Mr. Mathews, proceeded to discharge

their duty. A detailed narrative of the proceedings

in that investigation, on June 11, 1(151, at the Ship

Tavern, Boston, would be of exceeding interest. But

no such narrative has been preserved. There is ex-

tant, however, a characteristic letter which Mr.

Mathews addressed to that committee. The date of

the letter—June \H, l(jr»l—indicates that it was writ-

ten after ho had appeared before the committee, au<l

had passed the ordeal of his examination, lie wrote

thus

:

"To ye Honored Coiumlttee of ye General! Court, appointed toexamino

sttme doctrinall pointH delivered att Hull and since yt time at Mal-

ilen by M. M ,, Honored uf God ami of his prupltj

:

" Having given you an account of my sence and of my faith in yo

conclusions vvch were aec'uaed before you, I thought good to anjuaint

you, yt, if any among you (or others) ahould count that faith a fansie,

and thatsence to bo uon-sence, I desire yt God may forgive them : 1 doe,

cQUceaving yt such doe not yet so wi-ll know what they tloe, as they

shall know hereafter.

"Vet, in case yt this should n-iich any satisfaction, to such as are

(yett) unsatistb'd with my i'.\preasions, lor to knnw that 1 doacknowl-

edgi- yt there he aundrie defects in suudrie points yt 1 have delivered,

I duo hereby signifie yt through mercy I cannot but see and also in-

genuously confess yt some of my sayiTigs are not wife n(u- sound in the

superlative degree : to wit : they are not most safe ; nor yett eyther

sound or safe in a comparative degree; for I easily yeald yt notontdy

wiser men probably would, but also I myself posiblie niuught, have made

out X's mynd ((Christ's mind) and my owno meaning in lermes nmre

sound and more safe than I have done, bad I not been too much wanting

both to his sacred majesty, whose uuworthy'messonger I wan, and also to

my hearers, and li> myself, for wch I desire to be humbled, and of wch 1

desire to he healed by ye author of both. As I do^^ nut doubt hut yt

conscientious and charitable heaited t'hristians (whose property and

practise it is to put uppon doulHfull positions nut ye worst construction

hut ye best) will discern, as 1 doe, yt there is a degree of soundness in

what I do owno, though but a positive degree.

" However, it is and (I trust) ever shall he, my care to be more circuin

spect than I have hitherto been in avoyding all appearances yt way for

ye time to come, y t soe I may ye better approve myself through ye grace

of Christ and ye glory of God, such a workman as newd not be ashamed.

In ye interim I remayne amougst his unworthy servants ye must un-

worthy, and
" Your accused and condemned

fellow-creature to commend in

ye things of Christ,

" MaUM.^DUKE M.\THEWK8.
*' Bufiton, this 13th of ye 4 month-, IGJl."

(Frothinghaui's "History of Cljarleslown," pp. 124, 125.)

The committee's report is dated June 17, 1G51, and
reads thus

:

"Upon serious consideration of the charges brought in against Mr.

Mathews, together with the answers to thorn by himself given, as also

upon conference with himself concerning the same, we, the Connnittee,

yet remain much unsatisfied, finding several particulars weak, unsafe

and unsound, and not retracted by him, sume wheieof are contained in

this paper, with his last deliberate auswer thereunto.

"Simon Broadstreet,
"William Hawtuokne,
*' Kic'iiAiU) Bkown,
"John Gloveh,
" Elea'zku Lusmek,
"HuMVHKEy Atheilton."

Three other members of the committee did not sign

this rei)ort. One of the three, however (Samuel

Symonds), notified the Coiirt that he was not present

at the examination of Mr. Mathews ; but having per-

used his writings, he fully assented to the* report of

the committee.
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ilie Court in its autumnal uession resumed ite con-

sideratiou of the cane of Mr. MulhewB and that of his

church. lu re»|.oiise to summons, the pastor and

three uioiiibors of tlie church in Malilen—Mr. Joseph

Hills, Edward Carrington nnd John Wayle—appeared

before " the whole Courr," Oct. 24, ItJoI. Mr. Math-

ews' case was taken up first. The Court had not

received much light from its committee respecting

the theology of the pastor. Moreover, the idea seems

at last to have dawned upon the magistrates and

deputies that the churches and ministers were better

tilted to deal with theological questions than a com-

mittee of soldiers and citizens. Accordingly, as Mr.

Mathews had not given satisfaction through " their

Committee or otherwise," the Court declared "that,

although the civil and church power.s may proceed

concerning olfenders in their several ways, without

interfering one with another, yet, in this case, upon

consideration, they judge it doth stand with wisdom

to have the churches to act before themselves.'' Ac-

cordingly, it is decided that the church of Maiden

shall speedily <leal with Mr. Matthews. And if he

"doth acknowledge his errors and unsafe expressions,

and give satisfaction under liis hand," and the magis-

trates are informed of it within six weeks, "the mat-

ter at present may so rest." Otherwise the secretary

of the Court "shall give notice to the churches of

Cambridge, Charlestown, Lynn and Reading"—not

excluding other churches
—"to send messengers" to

constitute a council, which shall give advice to the

church in Maiden, and also shall decide the questions

at issue respecting the theological beliefs of Mr.

Mathews.

The Court next considered the offence of the church

in ordaining Mr. Mathews without the approbation

of the magistrates and other churches. The three breth-

ren present, under the lead of Joseph Hills, himself an

able lawyer, and at that time a member of the Gene-

ral Court, defended their church with great ability.

They presented a written argument. Mr. Frothing-

ham speaks of it iis a " manly and well-prepared doc-

ument," and adds

:

" It argues, first, that the offensive expressions

delivered at Maiden were not so much before ordina-

tion as after; and 'for the business of Hull,' Mr.

Mathews had undergone his punishment, and ' stood

clear in law :
' second, that in case they had ' swerved

from any rule of Christ,' they should have been pro-

ceeded with ' in a church way,' for they ' both owned

and honoured church communions :
' third, that they

had invited two churches, before ordination, to pur-

sue this course, and were ready to reply to any charges

of ' sin ' they had committed : fourth, they begged the

Court to consider what passed between them and the

magistrates, and 'that no return was made only by

Mr. Nowell :

' fifth, that it was with grief of heart

they seemed 'to wave or undervalue' the advice of

any magistrate or church, but, considering the liberty

of the churches, allowed by law, to choose their own

ofBeerg, and apprehending him (Mr. Mathews) to be

both pious, able and orthodox, as the law provides,

we proceeded.' The gist of the document, however,

is contained in the last specifications—a part of

which reads as fidlows:

"'Our plea is, that we know no law of Christ or

the country, that binds any church of Christ not to

ordain their .own officers without advice from magis-

trates and churches. We freely acknowledge our-

selves engaged to any that in love offered any advice

unto us, but we conceive a church is not bound to

such advice farther than God commends it to their

understanding and conscience. And if a church act

contrary to such advice, we see not how, or by what

rule, they are bound to take offence against a chiircli

of Christ in that respect, namely, for not attending

that advice, or that a church of Christ so doing should

be concluded offenders in any court of justice, and so

plead that our laws allow every church free liberty of

all the ordinances of God according to the rule of the

Scripture ; and in particular free liberty of selection

and ordination of all their officers, from time to time,

provided they be pious, able and orthodox. And

that no injunction shall be put upon any church ofli-

cer or member, in point of doctrine or discipline,

whether for substance or circumstance, besides the In-

stitutes of the Lord.' " (" History of Charlestown,"

p. 127.)

But under all this able and seemingly conclusive

reasoning in defence of the chuich, the Court remained

unconvinced. The church, thus arraigned and de-

fended, was condemned as guilty of a gross offence in

ordaining its own minister. It has been suggested

that the Court grounded its action upon a statute of

1641, which empowered the civil authority to forbid

any church to be gathered without approbation of

magistrates and other churches, and also " to see that

the peace, ordinances and rules of Christ are observed

in every church." (Felt's " Ecclesiastical History,"

vol. ii. p. 53.) But was there, in this case, any breach

of the statute ? The Court might also have defended

its right to deal with the church at Maiden, if there

was occasion for it, by appealing to the Cambridge

platform; for that platform, while allowing each

church to choose and ordain its own officers, also de-

clares, that, " It is the duty of the magistrate to take

care of matters of religion, and to improve his civil

authority for the observing of the duties commanded

in the first, as well as for observing the duties com-

manded in the second table ;" and to restrain and

punish certain sins, among which are " heresy '' and
" venting corrupt and pernicious opinions that destroy

the foundation." But admitting that the magistrates

were legally in possession of this right, was there, in

this instance, any occasion for the exercise of it?

The sentence against the church reads thus:

" The Court orders, that the membere of the Church of Maiden shall

be fined for their offenses the sum of fifty pounds, which shall not extend

to any person that hath given this Court satisfaction, and that con-



MALDEN. 487

seutud uut tu Mr. Matluiwri" ordiiiiitiuii. Ami it is fm-ther onieryii, tlmt

tlie iMiil fifty pouiiiia Hliiilt l>o levied by execution on the estates of Mr,

.I(int»pli Hills, Kdwiird Cjirrini^ton and ,Ii>hn Wiiyte, who aro hereby em-

ji.nvered to iimke prop >rtioti of the snid sum on the reat of the members

uf the church, except before excepted,"

There seems to have been preserved no complete

list of the theological errors charged against Mr.

j\lathew,s. Statements of some of these charges, how-

ever, with Mr. Mathews' answer, are extant. Two of

them, with the answers given, have been noticed.

There is not space to pre.fent more; but it seems well-

iiigh ine.xplicable that such answers a.s he gave were

not satisfactory—at least to the more intelliicent of

the reverend ciders of the churches—and that they

did not interpose in his behalf.

.Mr. Mathews, convinced at last that he could not

make biin.self understood, and that he mus/ he labor-

ing under some real inability to set forth clearly, and

with proper and safe expressions, the truths of God's

Word, on the 28th of October, 1651, sent to the Court

the following confession :

" To the HoilourabJe Court :

" Marmaduke Matthews buiiibly sbeweth,

—

" That through uiercy I am in some measure sensible of my great insuf-

ficiency to declare the counsel of (jod unto his people (as I ought to do),

and how (through the darkness and ignorance that is in me) I am very

apt to let fall some expressions that are weak and inconvenient ; and 1

do acknowledge that in several of those expressions referred to in the

e.vamination of the Honoured Committee I might (had the Lord seen it

so good) have expressed and delivered myself in terms more free from

exception ; and it is my desire (the Lord strengthening me), as much as

in tue lieth, to avoid all appearances of evil therein for time to come, as

in all other respects whatsoever; which, that 1 may do, I humbly de-

sire your hearty prayei"s to tiod for me, and, in special, that I may take

heed to the ministry committed to me, that I may fulfil it to the praise

of tiod and profit of his people.

" Your humble servant in any service of Christ,

*' Mabmaduk]^ Mathews."

The same day, October 28th, thirty-six women of

Maiden, several of them wives of the leading men in

the church, honored their pastor, and gained for their

own names a glorious immortality, by sending to the

court the following petition :

" To the Bond Court :

"The petition of iiuiny inhabitants of Maiden and (.'harlestowu, or

Miatick side, humbly sheweth ; That the Almighty God, in great mercy

to our souls, a^ we trust, bath, after many prayers, endeavors and long

waiting, brought Mr. Mathews among ns and put him into the work of

the ministry ; by whose pious life and labors the Lord hath afforded us

many saving convictions, directions, reproofs and consolations ; and

whose continuance in the service of Christ, if it were the good pleasure

of God, we much desire ; and it is our humble refjuest to this honored

Court that you would be pleased to pass by some {tersonal and particular

failings (which may, as we humbly conceive, be for your glory, and no

grief of heart to you in time to come), and to permit him to employ thost-

talents Ood has furnished him withal. So shall we, your humble peti-

tioners, and many others, be bound to pray, Ac,

" Joan Sargeant, Thankslord Shepperd.

Joan Sprague. Fra, Cooke.

Jane Learned. Eliz. Knoher.

Eliz. CarringtoD, Bridget Dexter,

Bridget Squire, Lydia Greenland.

Mary Wayte. Margel Pemerton.

Sarah Hills. Han. Wbittttmore.

An. Bibble, Eliz. Green,

Eliz. Greene. Mary Rust.

Wid. Blancher. Eliz. Grover.

Eliz. Addams. Han. Barret.

Sarah Bucknam. Eliz. Mirrable.

isiruli Osbourn,

An. Hett.

Mary I'ratt.

Kliz, Green,

Juan Cbadwicke.

Marge t Gr^en,

Helen Luddington,

Susan Wilkinson,

Joanna Cull.

Kachell .\ttwood.

Marge Welding,

Rebec, Hills."

If any persons now living can trace their descent

from any one of those noble matrons, they may well

be proud of their lineage.

On the 31st of October Joseph Hills, in behalf of

his brethren, made further representation :

" In this they set forth the great pains they had taken to procure a

minister—having applied to not less than nine ' orthodox, approved men *

^before they had any thought of Mr. Mathews. They also urged lliat

the written objections to him, sent by certain ' honored magistrates,' tlid

not come in the form of ollicial acts, but merely as advice, which the

church felt at liberty to accept or not, as thoy pleased," (Dr. Mc-
Clure,)

But no argument, pleading or petition was of any
avail ; the Court was inexorable. The only response

made to the pathetic petition of the thirty-six

women, and the repealed pleadings of .Joseph Hills,

himself a deputy and a member of the church for

which he pleaded, was the stern judgment of the

Court, that the young church should be burdened and

disgraced by a fine of fifty pounds.

The next year, (May 27, 16.52) "The messengers

of the churches of Charlestown, Cambridge, Lynn and
Reading make these returns to the Court," They
report some confession from Mr, Mathews, but are

not fully satisfied. In view of this result of council,,

the Court," having perused Mr. Mathews' confession,"

" and finding it not to be such and so full as might be

expected, yet are willing so to accept it at present as

to pass it by," but refuse to remit the fines imposed

upon Mr, Mathews and the church, " the country be-

ing put to so great trouble, charges and expenses

in hearing of the cause." But at the autumnal
session (October 26, 1652), the Court, in response

to petitions, remitted Mr. Mathews' fine, and ten

pounds of that imposed upon the church. On May
29, 1655, in answer lo the petition of Joseph Hills

and seven other members of the church, in which

they humbly acknowledge their offence, and crave a

remitment of over thirteen pounds of the fine yet un-

paid, the Court accepts the humble acknowledgments

but refuse to remit the fine. Finally, on the 31st of

May, 16G0, it was ordered that the whole matter of the

line imposed upon the church should be submitted to

the County Court of Middlesex- for examination and
adjustment. " In 1662 the Court abated ten pounds

of the fine of Edward Carrington.'' It cost the

colonial government something to collect that fine

from the Maiden church. It is doubtful whether the

whole of it was ever paid. But at a later date the

General Ccmrt gave to Joseph Hills a considerable

tract of land in recognition of his valuable public

services.

Mr. Mathews appears to have left Maiden of his

own will, probably in 1652. He preached for a short

time in Lynn, but in two or three years returned to
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his native town, Swansea, in Southern Wales, where

he waa kuowii iiud beloved. He becHiiie at once

vicar <)l>t. John's Church in that town, where he

. labored with zeal and success, until the Act of

Unilorniily was passed in 16G2. This was too much

for him to bear. In the interest of religious freedom

he refused to submit, and was oneof the two thousand

Puritan ministers who were driven from their

churches and silenced. Dr. Calamy says of him :

" He left a good living when he had nothing

else to subsist upon. He afterwards preached

by connivance of the magistrates in a little chapel

at the end of the town. He was a very pious

and zealous man, who went about to instruct people

from house to house. All his discourse, in a manner,

was about spiritual matters. Jle made no visits but

such as were religious and ministerial, and received

none but in a religious manner. . . . He lived above

the world, and depended wholly upon Providence for

the support of himself and his family. . . . He lived

to a good old age, and continued useful to the last.

He died about 1G83.'"

After Mr. Mathews' departure from Maiden, Mr.

Nathaniel Upham preached for a time as stated sup-

ply. He was the son of John and Elizabeth Upham.

His father has already been referred to as one of

the original members of the church, and one of its

deacons for twenty years. Nathaniel was born in

England, and was but three years old when the family

arrived in this country. He was admitted as free-

mason in 1653, and was then probably not far from

twenty-one years of age. He married, on the 5th of

March, 1001, in Cambridge, Miss Elizabeth Steadman,

and on the 20th of the same mouth he died. Dr.

Mcl^lure thinks that " he was undoubtedly one of the

students from the college mentioned by Johnson, as

assisting to supply the pulpit before the coming of

Mr. Mathews." If so, he took only a partial college

course, for his name is not in the catalogue of the

graduates of Harvard.

Kev. Michael Wigglesworth and His Col-

LE.AGUES.—This distinguished divine, the second min-

ister settled in Maiden, was born October 18, 1631,

probably in some part of Yorkshire, England. His

father's name was Edward. The son, in his brief

autobiography, says :

" I was born of Godly Parent,*, that feared the Lord greatly, even

from their youth, but in an ningodly place, . . . that was cooHunied

with fire in a great part of it, after God had bronglit them out of it.

Those godly parentaof mine meeting with oppoHition and persecution for

religion, because tiiey went from their own Parish Church to hear the

word and receive the Lord's Supper, etc., took up resolutions to pluck-

up their stakes and remove themselves to New England, and accord

ingly they did so, leaving dear relations, friendsand acquaintances, their

native land, a new built house, aflourishing trade, to expose themselves

to the hazzard of the seaa, and U) the dislressjng difficulties of a howl-

ing wilderness, that they might enjoy Liberty of Conscience and Christ

in his ordinances. And the Lord brought them hither, and landed them
at Charleslown, after many difficulties and hazzards, and me along with

them, being a child not full seven years old," The family arrived

1 " Non Conformist's Memorial," vol. ii. pp. 627, 628.

"probiibly in tbo latter part of .\ugu8t, 1(1:18." (Memoir of Rev.

Michael Wlggleawortb, by John Ward Dean, pp. 14, 13G.)

In October they went to New Haven, and for a

time were in straitened circumstances, as they " dwelt

in a cellar, partly underground, covered with earth,

the first winter." The next summer the father, am-
bitious to give his only son a good education, placed

him under the instruction of the celebrated Ezekiel

Cheever, then a young man, afterwards a teacher in

Ipswich, Charlestown and lioston. The boy's educa-

tion was soon interrupted by the lameness and ill-

health of his father.. Hut in his fourteenth year, as

he was judged " not fit for husbandry," he was again

sent to school, and " in two years and three-quar-

ters " was deemed fitted Tor Harvard College; "and
thither,'' he says, " I was sent far from my parents

and acquaintance." He speaks pathetically of the

sacrifices his father made in securing the education of

his son, and tells the story of his own conversion :

** It was an act of great self-denial in my father, that, notwithstanding

his own latnenesfi and great weakness of body, which reijuired the ser-

vice and Iielpfulness of a son, and Iiaving but cuie sou, to be the stalT

and supporter of his weakness, ho would yet, for my good, be content to

deny himself of that comfort and a«-sistance I nn'gbt have lent him."
" When I iirat came to the College I had, indeeil, enjoyed the benefit of

i-eligious and strict education, and God in his mercy and pity kept me
from scandalous sins before I came thither and after I came there ; but

alasl I had a naughty, vile heart, and was acted by corrupt nature, and

therefore covild propoimd no right and noble ends to myself, but acted

from self and for self. I wjw, indeed, studious, and strove to ont<lo ni.v

compeers, but it was for honor and applause and preferment and such

poor beggarly ends. Thus I had my ends, and Cod had his ends far dif-

fering from mine. . . . But when I had been there about three

years and a half, God, in his love and pity to my soul, wrought a great

change in me, both in heart and life, and from that time forward I

learned to study with God and for God. And wheretw before that I

Iiad thoughts of applying myself to the study and practice of physick,

I wholly laid aside those thoughts and did choose to serve Christ in the

work of the ministry, if he would please to fit me for it, and to ac-

cept my service in that great work."

He was graduated in 1651. Mr. Dean informed us

ihat, "In the college catalogue, the name of Michael

Wigglesworth stands at the liead of his class ; " that

" he was chosen fellow of the college not long after he

was graduated, and was one of the earliest members
of the corporation, chosen by the body itself;" and

that, " he was a tutor as early as .luly, 1652." Later

in his life he was considered a candidate for the pres-

idency of the college, and probably was elected to

that office, but declined to accept the position." (See

Mr. Dean's "Memoir of Michael Wigglesworth," pp.

88-89.)

Having prepared himself for the Christian minis-

try while serving the college as a tutor, he received

a call to become the minister of the church in Mai-

den. The exact date of the ordination is not known.

Dr. McClure says:

" When about twenty-two years of age he was invited to preach in

iMulden. It \vm some five months before he concluded to accept the in-

vitation. He supplied the pulpit a year and a half, being much troubled

to decide what his duty miglit be, before he was inducted into the pas-

toral office. This waa in or about the year lGo4."

Mr. Dean, in his " Memoir of Mr. Wigglesworth,"

says: "I presume that his ordination did not take
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place till after Aug. 25, 165G," as that was the date

of Ilia dismission from the church in Cambridge and

rccomnu'iuiiition to tlie church in Maiden.

Mr. Wigglesworth was a young man of deep piety,

and sincerely devoted to the .service of Christ. Cotton

Mather, speaking of him as n tutor in the college,

says:

" With a rare faillifiilru-s.1 likl he mloni Iho Station. IIo nsoil all tlio

means iiimginable to mulvp bin Pupils not only Kooti Srliolars. bnt also

good Clirlsliana, ami to instil into tli.'ni lliosc things uliicli niinlit n-mler

them ricli Bleisinga nntu till- Clinrthi's of (ioil. . . . lli< I'Miplojoil

his I'myers ami IVal-s to Cod for them ; ami had such a tlaniing /.t'ul to

make them worthy men, that, upon Kertection, he was afraid, lest his

cares for their Good, and his affection for tiiem, should 80 ilrinit up liis

very Spirit as to steal away his liealt from CJod." (Funeral sermon.)

It was a young man of such piety, and of such

evangelistic fervor, as well as of rare scholarship,

who came to Jlalden to be its second minister. He
was ordained lus Teacher. His predecessor, Jlr. .Math-

ews, was ordained as Ptuitor. This distinction, then

familiar to the churches, was not so much a dis-

tinction of offices as a division of ministerial labors.

According to the Cambridge Platform :
" The pastor's

special work is, to attend to exhortation, and therein

to administer a word of wisdom ; the teacher is to at-

tend to doctrine, and therein to administer a word of

knowledge." Either might administer the sacra-

ments. The pastor was to have the watch and care

of the church ; the teacher was to instruct the people

in the doctrines of Christianity. The distinction im-

plies that there were to be, if possible, two ministers

in every church. Few young churches were able to

support two minister.s. But Mr. Dean suggests that,

" Perhaps Mr. Wigglesworth may have thought him-

self not well fitted for the active duties of parochial

life, and may have chosen the office of teacher, to in-

dicate the service he was best able to render to his

parish."

The ardent piety and the passion for the conversion

and salvation of souls, which he carried into his min-

isterial labors, are disclosed in a few extracts from his

private Sabbath memoranda, first published by Dr.

McClure :

" March 21, 1G58. Oh, how vehemently do I desire to serve God, and

not myself, in the conversion of souls this dayl My aoul longs after

thy house and work, God I

"

** January 9, l6.^1). BIy soul panteth after thee, God I After more

of thy favors, more of thine image. satisfy me with the fatness of

thy house, make me to drink of tlie rivers of thy joys, so that for the

outward pressures 1 may have inward supportings and consolations. 1

long to serve thee, O Christ 1 help thou me I

"

'• February G. My «oul, be cheerful in thy work ; thou servest a good

Master.*'

"June r>. Now, in the strength of Christ, I desire to seek him and

the advancement of God's glory, in the salvation of souls this day. Oh,

that I might see the fruit of my labors before I die 1 O my soul I per-

form this as thy laat."

Mr. Wigglesworth's physical constitution was never

robust. He sutfered repeatedly from attacks of severe

sickness. Not many years after his settlement he was

found to be afflicted with some occult disease, which

seriously interrupted his public ministerial labors,

and at length occasioned the entire suspension of

them. He thought of resigning his office, but his

people seem to have been unwilling that he should

do so, though he soon ceiused to receive a salary.

During the time of this enforced relinquishment of

his pulpit (a period of at least twenty-one years)

three ministers in succession were calletl to be his

colleagues, and each was ordained as pnnlor of the

church.

The first of these was Rev. Benjiimin ISunker.

He was born in Charlestown in 1G35, and was the son

of George and .ludilh Bunker, llis father owned
some of the high land in that town, and Bunker Hill

received its name from him. The son was graduated

at Harvard in lOo.S, and was ordained pastor of the

church in Maiden December 9, 1663, when he was

twenty-eight years old. He died in his pastorate,

February 2, 1i;G9-70. The fact that " Mr. Wiggles-

worth wrote his elegy, in which ho gives him a high

character for .liiicerity, modesty and devotion to his

calling," indicates that the relations between them

were fraternal and helpful.

The second colleague was Rev. Benjamin Black-

man, son of Rev. Adam Blackman, first minister of

Stratford, Ct. Sprague's Annals, (article on Wiggles-

worth) inform us that he " was ordained in Maiden

in 1674, and resigned his charge in 1(178." Mr. Dean re-

marks :
' Rev. Mr. Blackman was ordained as pastor."

The town records simply state that he " supplied the

desk four years, and left in the year 1678." His de-

parture appears to have occurred " in consequence of

some discontent." In 1679 " a committee .settled

with Mr. Blackman ;
" but " nine years afterwards, in

May 1688, he sued the town for arrears still due."

(Dr. McClure.) He went from Maiden to Scarboro',

Me., where he seems to have been respected as a

preacher and a citizen. He was the representative of

that town in 1683. It is believed that he died in

Boston.

Rev. Thomas Cheever, son of the celebrated school-

master, Ezekiel Cheever, was the fifth minister in

Maiden, and the third colleague of Mr. Wigglesworth.

He was born August 3, 1658, graduated at Harvard

in 1677, came to Maiden in his twenty-second year,

"began to preach there on the 14th of February,

1679-80, but was not ordained till the 27th of July,

1681. His connection with this parish lasted about

six years, including the time he acted as stated supply."

(Mr. Dean, in Memoir of Mr. Wigglesworth.) In

1686 some difficulty arose between him and his people,

on account of certain offensive words uttered by him.

What the words were is not now known, but " they

are supposed to have been of a theological nature."

(Mr. Corey.) The trouble was so serious that an

ecclesiastial council was called, " which met in Mai-

den, April 7, 1686, and adjourned to Boston, where

meetings were held May 20th and 27th, and June

10th." The council, while not approving of the

offensive words, yet advised the church to grant Mr.

Cheever " a loving dismission." (Mr. Dean, Memoir
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of Mr. Wigglebworth, pp. 90, 91.) Alter his diemis-

«al he "lived in r^'tireiueiit nearly tliirty year^," but

"on Ooiober 11', 171.>, he was setlled as pastor of the

First Church ih Chelsea, where he oftiointed over

thirty-four yiuni, and where he died, December 27, i

17-J'J, at the advanced age of ninety-one." (Mr. Dean.)

The fad, that while settled at Chel-sea he preached in

Maliien two Hornioiis, which were printed, indicates,

that plcuitant relations had been restored between him

and the Maiden Church.

At the time Mr. Bunker was ordained, Mr. Wig-

V'U-sworth was in the West Indies. He had sailed for

Ik-rniuda, .'September 23, lt>G3, mainly for the benefit

of bis i\ealth, but also, as he liiniaelf says, " to help the

peo|ile's modesty," in puttini; in bis place " a better

watchman " and "a more painful laborour." Pie re-

mained in Bermuda seven months and m half, and theu

returned home, none the better for the stormy voyage

and warm climate, and consequently much discourag-

ed. But the allectionate manner in which the people

received him upi>n hi.^ return, greatly cheered his

heart.

Although for many years after this he was not able

to preach, he was yet not inactive. He was faithful in

conver.sing with his people, as he had opportunity,

upon the subject of personal religion ; and these con-

versations were etlectual in the conversion of many,

and in the instruction and comfort of Christians. He
also employed his pen, and became the most cele-

brated poet in NewEnglandin that early time. His

purpose, however, was not to obtain fame, but to

serve Christ, even when disabled by sickness, in the

proclamation of His gospel. The first poem he pub-

lished was "The Day of Doom." As many as ten

editions have been issued. The date of the last is

18G7. The first edition (1692) of eighteen hundred

copies was sold within a year, which (as Mr. Dean

thinks), considering the smalj population of the

country at that time, " indicates a popularity almost,

if not quite, equal to that of ' Uncle Tom's Cabin,'

in our time." -

For a.century anaa half at least, it was highly es-

teemed by the Christian people of New England for

the religious instruction and inspiration it imparted.

Judged as poetry, the work has no great merit. Some
of its lines are uncouth and rough. The author was

evidently more anxious about the religious teaching

than about the smoothness of his verse. He accepted

the extreme views held by some theologians of his

day, respecting the future state of the non-elect who
die in infancy, and expressed this view in a few lines

in his long poem. Because of these few lines, some
in modern limes have expressed their abhorrence of

the whole poem and of its author, believing the latter

to have been a man of hard and cruel, if not fiendish,

temper. Yet in truth he was possessed of a most sweet

and gentle spirit, his life was full of kind words and
deeds, and was devoted to the good of others. Of this

work it has beea said :

*' It brvallini tbrotigliout a atraiu of piety. . . . True, there are eoiuo

things In tlita composition wlilcli do not perfectly suit tlio HKKluruto re-

ligion of (lie |ire«enl Juy
;
yet, wlu-lller IIiIm be owing to the iiiilirove-

menl or ilcgenemcy of our virtue I leuve to be iiiiHWered by the lived

nnd coiiDcfencea of my brethren." (l\Ir. lieHii'ii ** MemotrH,'* p. 09),

Another published poem was entitled, " Meat out

of the Kater." This too, received the jiublic favor.

Mr. Wigglosworth also, during the interruption of

his public ministry, devoted himself to the study, and

soon after to the practice of medicine. He seemed to

have become a skillful physician, for his medical ser-

vices were in demand by the people, not only of

Maiden, but also of the towns beyond. By bis kind

offices to the sick, and bis tender sympathy for the

sull'ering, he appears to have endeared himself to

many. Some, however, may still regard him as a hard,

unsympathetic man, and never forgive him for a few

lines of his poetry. Rut the Rev. Andrew P. Pea-

body, D. D., a distinguished Unitarian, who is an op-

ponent of many of Mr. VVigglesworth's beliefs, is yet

quoted by Mr. Dean as saying of the Poet Preacher

of Maiden

:

" He was, it is believed, uotwitbstaniiing liie repulsive creed, ' m man
of tlio beatitudes,' a pliyaiciun to tlie bodies no less tliaii to the souls of

liis parishioners, genial and devotedly kind in the relations and duties

of his social and pndessioUHl life, and distinguished—even in tlnise days

of abounding sanctity— for the singleness and purity of heart tlnit char-

acterized his whole walk and conversation." ("Memoir of Mr. Wig-

glesworth," pp. 1*24, 125.)

During the terrible witchcraft delusion of 1G92, Mr.

VV'igglesworth appears to have taken no active part

on either side. But in the iast year of his life, in a

letter to Dr. Increase Mather, be interpreted the suf-

ferings of the people at that day, from drought and

war, as " a judgment of God for the innocent blood

shed in those melancholy times."

His restoration to health was sudden and unex-

pected.

About the year lOHil,—" It pleased God," Bays Dr. Cotton Mather,

" wondronsly to restore hie faitllful servant. He that had been lor

near twenty years almost buried alive cornea abroad again, and for as

many yeara more must, in a public usefulness, receive the answer and

harvest of the thousands of supplications with which the God of bis

health had been addressed by him and for him." (Funeral Sermon.)

During these last twenty years of his life he was

the only minister in Maiden, and his faithful minis-

trations appear to have been abundant and, with

the exception of one time of sickness, continuous.

"It was a surprise to us," remarks Dr. Mather, "to see a little,

feeble shadow of a man, beyond seventy, preacbing usually twice or

ihrice in a week—visiting and comforting the afflicted, encouraging the

private meetings, catechising the children of the"flock, managing the

government of the church and attending the sick, not only as a pastor,

l)utas a physician too, and this not only in his own town, but also in

all those of the vicinity. Thus he did unto the last, and he was only

one Lord's day taken off before his last."

Attacked by a fever, after a sickness of ten days

he entered into rest. His death occurred at nine

o'clock on Sabbath morning, June 10, 1705. He was

nearly seventy-four years old. As already intimated,

the famous Dr. Cotton Mather, of Boston, preached

the funeral sermon. Mr. Wigglesworth had been in
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MalJen, the Lord's " failht'ul one for about a jubilee

of years together."' His frail form was laid away amidst

the graves of many of his parishioners, " and his

sepulchre is with us unto this day."

Not far from the time when Mr. Wigglesworth

received his call to becoiuo the minister of Maiden,

or in 16j4, he was united in marriage to ^[iss >[ary

Reyner, of Rowley. After some five years of happy

married life, she died Dec. 21, 1659, leaving one child,

Mercy, hardly four years of age. The bereaved hus-

band's grief was sincere and deep. He lived a widower

about twenty years, or until 1G79, when he married

Miss Martha Mudge, probably the daughter of

Thomas kludge, of Maiden. Slie was then about

eighteen years of age, and six years younger than his

only daughter. This great disparity in age occa-

sioned much opposition to the marriage. His kin-

dred disapproved of it. His people frowned upon

it. His brethren in the ministry remonstrated. His

intimate friend. Dr. Increase Mather, a<ldre;=sed to him

a letter of expostulation, in which he said, among
other things: " The like never was in New England.

Nay, I question whether the like hath been known
in the Christian wo.-ld." His letter in reply to Dr.

Mather, though not preserved, doubtless contained a

full aud frank explanation. It was shown to several

other ministers ; and while they were not satisfied,

they seem to have made no further opposition. It is

believed that he never regretted the marriage, for

after her death he spoke of her with great affection

and gratitude. One son and five daughters were

born to them. She died Sept. 4, lt)Ot), after a mar-

ried life of about eleven years, aged twenty-eight.

His last wife was Mrs. Sybil Avery, widow of Dr.

Jonathan Avery, a physician of Dedham, Massachu-

setts. She was a daughter of Nathaniel Sparhawk, of

Cambridge. The exact date of their marriage is

not known, but the year was probably 1691. "She
was born about the year 1655, and consequently was

about seven years older than his previous wife, though

more than twenty years younger than he. She be-

longed to a family of some distinction in the colony."
" She survived her husband a little over three

years," and "died August 6, 1708, in the 54th year

of her age, leaving oue child, Edward." (Dean's

"Memoir," pp.105, 121.) This youngest son, Edward
Wigglesworth, D.D., was the first Professor of Divin-

ity at Harvard College on the Hollis foundation, and

held the office for forty-three years. His immediate

successor was his own son, Edward Wigglesworth, Jr.

D.D., who continued in office twenty-six years. Mis

immediate successor on the Hollis foundation was the

Rev. David Tappan, the grandson of Abigail, the first

daughter of the Maiden preacher by his second wife.

This daughter was married to Samuel Tappan, of

Newbury. Dr. McClure properly speaks of it as "a
very remarkable circumstance," that the first three

Hollis professors " who held I he chair for eighty suc-

cessive years, with high reputation, should have been

respectively, the son, grandson and great-grandson of

that good man." Michael Wigglesworth. (" Bi-Cen-

tennial Book," pp. 155-156.)

Rev. David Pauson.s, the Sixth Mini.ster is

Mali>en.—The church now proceeded to the difficult

task of finding a minister who could fill the huge

vacancy made in the town of Maiden by the lamented

death of Mr. Wigglesworth. But soon a sad division

appeared in the church, and a still more serious con-

flict began between the church and ihfe town—the lat-

ter at that time standing, in its relation to the church,

as a parish. Within two years five ministers in suc-

cession were approved by the church ami nominated

to the town. In four of these cases the town con-

curred with the church, but usually with a

divided vote. All these calls were declined, probably

on account of the contentions and the small salary

offered by the town. The civil authorities then inter-

fered. The following summary account of this inter-

lerence in given by Dr. McClure :

"July 1, 1707, the Town of Maiden was presented

by the Grand Jury to the Quarter Sessions Court

for not having a minister settled according to statute,

and ordered to obtain one forthwith, and was threat-

ened with the severity of the law. September 9th the

Selectmen made answer that they have applied them-

selves to Mr. Clap, and were waiting for his reply.

The Selectmen were required to give further answer

at the adjourned Court. September 30th the Select-

men answer that Mr. Clap had replied in the nega-

tive a few days before; they requested further time,

which was granted. December 9ih the Selectmen

report, ' that they have had a general meeting of the

town, and are in a hopeful way of being supplied,

having applied themselves to Mr. Gookin. . . .

March 9, 1708, Lieut. Henry Green, in behalf of the

town, reports, that they have applied to Mr. Joseph

Parsons, who has the matter under consideration.

. . . Sept. 14, 1708, Lieut. Henry Green and
John Green, in behalf of Maiden, inform the Court

'that they have had several meetingsof the Church,

and one of the Town, in order to the accommodating of

that afl^air, referring to a minister, but can make noth-

ing take eflfect, but yet are in a very unsettled and
divided frame, and so like to continue, and leave

themselves to the pleasure of the Court.'

"

In view of all these transactions, "The Court do

unanimously agree and conclude as followeth: That
Mr. Thomas Tufts is a suitable person, qualified as

aforesaid for the work of the ministry in that town of

Maiden, and .see cause to settle him there in that work
;

and do order the town to pay him for his mainten-

ance during his continuance in said work amongst

them, after the rate of £70 money per annum."
(" Bi-Ceutenuial Book," pp. 158-159.)

In the mean time Mr. David Parsons, of Spring-

field, was invited by the church to preach as a can-

didate. It so happened that he and Mr. Tufts ap-

peared in Maiden at the same time, both desiring to
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preach on the same Sabbnth. It was arranged that

one should preucli in the morning and the other in

the afternoon. They did so. Promptly, on Monday,

the thiinh met and voted to give .Mr. Parsons a call,

Iwenty-Hix out of thirly-one, voting for him, and the

others not voting at ail. Two days hiter, on Wednes-

day, October '17, 1708, the town met, and by a vote of

fifty-three approved of the action of the church.

Twelve persons, however, signed a protest, to the

efTect that they conceive such action to be a con-

tempt of authority, and do think that they are not

able to maintain two ministers at once. But a hum-

ble [letition waa sent to the lieneral Court, praying

that the order of the l^uarler Sessions Court, which

had appointed Mr. Tlioma.s Tufls to be the minister of

Maiden, might be revoked. In response the Court

directed "that the said order should be stayed until

the result of the call to Mr. Parsons should be known.

It would not be surprising if a clergyman, who ac-

cepted a call given sohsistily and under such peculiar

and extreme jjressure, did not find his ministry a

pleasant one. He was ordained, probably, in the

spring or summer of 1709. The town contracted to

put the pa'rsonage in repair, and to give him a salary

of sixty pounds a year, the use of the parsonage

and " all the naked money," that is, all the money

dropped into the contribution box by strangers and

the more liberal inhabitants.

On June 14, 1720, the town was presented to the

t^uarter Sessions for non-fulfilment of the contract

with Jlr. Parsons. The iirosecution was directed by

a committee of the church, and the defence was made by

acommittee of the town. The verdictof the jury sus-

tained the complaint. After an examination of the

parsonage by some of the justices, it was ordered that

the selectmen pay a fine often pounds unless they

speedily " repair the house and fences." The repairs

were made and subsequently the case was dismissed.

In 1721, Mr. I'arsons, after a ministry of some twelve

years, was dismissed, by advice of a council, and

doubtless commended as a good and faithful minister,

for he was settled again the same year (September 15,

1721), ;is the first minister in Leicester, where he la-

bored in the ministry until I\Iarch 6, 1735, at which

date he was dismissed. He died at Leicester in 1737.

When he came to Mahlen there were divisions in the

church and town, and they seem to have continued

through his ministry, but evidently were not all oc-

casioned by himself. If be had strenuous enemies,

he also had devoted friends, quite a number of

whom, in the ardor of their personal attachment to

their pastor, removed with him to Leicester.

Rev. Joseph Emerson, the Seventh Minister
OF Malden.—Mr. Emerson's faithful and successful

ministry extended over a period of forty-five and
one-half years. He was born in Chelmsford, April

20, 1700, and was the son of Edward, "some time
deacon of Newbury," and Rebecca, daughter of Cor-

nelius Waldo, " from whom," says one of her de-

scendaDts, " came that beloved name into the family."

("Memoir of RalphWaldo Emer-^on," by James Elliot

Cabot, vol. ). p. 8.) Deacon Edward Emerson was

the son of Rev. Joseph Emerson, " the pioneer minis-

ter of Mendon, who barely escaped with his life when
the village was destroyed by the Indians," and of Eliz-

abeth Buckley, granddaughter of Rev. Peter Buckley,

who, "being silenced by Laud for non-conformity,

crossed the sea, in 1634, to New England, and pushed

out through the woods . . . to Concord, and there

spent most of his fortune as a pioneer of civilization."

He was a famous minister in his day, greatly honored
" by his people, and by all the ministers in the coun-

try." Rev. Joseph Emerson, the Maiden minister,

who. could boast of such a distinguished ancestry,

is represented to hive been a precocious child ; was

able to pray in the family, in theabsenceof his father,

before he was eight years of age, " to the edification,

and astonishment" of those present; was admitted to

Harvard College in 1713, when he had but recently

finished his thirteenth year, and was graduated in

1717. "He began to preach to general acceptance

when he was eighteen." He was engaged in teaching

and preached occasionally, during the next two or

three years. In Alarch, 1721, the church and town of

Alalden, holding separate meetings on the same day,

voted to call Mr. Emerson to be their minister. At
that time he wa.s not far from twenty-one years of

age. He was ordained October 31, 1721. On De-

cember 27, 1721, he married Miss Mary Moody, of

York, Maine, daughter of Rev. Samuel Moody and

Hannah Sewall, who was " the only daughter of John
Sewall, of Newbury, and the first cousin of the Rev.

Dr. Sewall, minister of the Old South Church, Bos-

ton." "Father Moody," though distinguished for his

eccentricity, was a man of prodigious mental force

of unimpeacli.able integrity and sincerity. His min-

istry was uncommonly successful. He "was a

zealous friend of revivals of religion." Whitefield
" visited him and preached to his people." He
has been spoken of as "a man of transcendent zeal

in doctrine and practice." " When the otiended par-

ishioners, wounded by his pointed preaching, would

rise to go out of church, he cried out, ' Come back,

you graceless sinner, come back !
' And when they

began to fall into ill customs and ventured into the

ale-house on a Saturday night, the valiant pastor went

in after them, collared the sinners, dragged them
forth, and sent them forth with rousing admonitions."

("Memoirs of Ralph W. Emerson," vol. i. p. 10.)

The children of Rev. Joseph Emerson and Mary
Moody numbered nine sons and four daughters.

Seven sons and three daughters lived to grow up.

Three of his sons were ministers, viz. : Joseph, who
was born Aug. 25, 1724, graduated at Harvard in 1743,

ordained at Pepperell, February 20, 1747, and died

October 29, 1775 ; William, who was born May 21,

1743, graduated at Harvard in 1701, and was ordained

at Concord, January 1, 1706, and died October 20,
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1776 ;
ami John, who was born Xovcmber 2r), 174r),

grailuated at Haivjird in 17G1, was ordained the first

minister of Conway, December 21, 1769, and died

•hnie 2t'>, 182f), at the age of eighty-one. Rev. Wil-

liam Emerson was " the patriot minister of Concord."

Hf |>re;uhod to the minute-men, and was a leader in

the Ki'voliitionary movements of the day. lie w;us

distinguished for his eloquence as a i)reacher, and cs-

[lecially "noted for his beautiful reading of the

hymns." He was also a man of literary tastes, but

had little opportunity to cultivate them. He volun-

teered to serve as the chaplain of a regiment, and

when, in 177<), a reinforcement was sent from Massa-

chusetts to the army at Ticnndcroga, he went with

the troops as chaplain. But the unaccustomed expo-

sure brought on a severe attack of bilious fever, and

he died at Rutland, Vt., at the age of thirty-three.

"His wife was Phebe Bliss (his ' Phebe-bird ' he

calls her in one of his letters), daughter of the Rev.

Daniel BHks, his predecessor in the Concord pulpit."

Two children were given them, William and Mary
Moody. This William Emerson, Jr., was born in

Concord, May (>, 1769, graduated at Harvard in 1789,

was ordained at the age of twenty-three at Harvard

(a town some twelve miles from Concord), May 23,

1702, and was called to the First Church in Boston in

1799. He married, October 2o, 1796, Ruth Haskins,

fifth daughter of Mr. John Haskins, of Boston. The
fourth child and third .son of Rev. William Emerson,

Jr., and Ruth (Haskins), was Ralph Waldo Em-
erson, who was born in Boston, May 2.''), 1803. This

celebrated author, therefore, was the great-grandson

of Rev. Joseph Emerson, of Maiden. Mary Moody
Emerson, the sister of Rev. William Emerson, Jr.,

was a remarkable woman, and her unique char-

acter is vividly set forth by her nephew, Ralph Waldo
Emerson, in an article published in the Atlantic

Monthhi of 1883.

Rev. Wm. Emerson, Sr., the eminent patriot and

eloquent preacher of Concord, was doubtless a man
of sincere and earnest evangelical feith. But Rev.

John Pierce, D.D., affirms that Rev. William Emer-

son, .Tr., minister of the First Church in Boston, "in

his theological views, perhaps went farther on the

liberal .side, than most of his brethren with whom he

was associated." And he significantly adds, " I know
not to what extent he preached his peculiar views,

but I am not aware that he has ever definitely express-

ed them in any of his publications." Dr. Charles

Lowell, says of him :
" He was, to say the least,

far from having any sympathy with Calvinism."

(Sprague's Annals, vol. viii. Unitarian.)

Mary Moody Emerson spent most of her childhood

and youth in Maiden, first with her grandmother

Emerson until the latter died, and then with her aunt,

a sisterof her father. She was a woman of keen intel-

lect, and appears to have accepted, with satisfaction,

the religious faith of her fathers. There was nothing

negative in her nature, and she could not endure a

religion made up chielly of negations. Her idea

seemed to have been that all men of earnestne.is and

power must believe in Calvinism when they know
what it is. Duplicity was no part of her character,

and she could have hail no patience with any con-

cealment or compromising of religious faith.

Kev. .loseph Emerson, of Maiden, was a stanch

Puritan in faith and character. He heartily accepted

the Calvinistic interpretation of the Scriptures, and
preached faithfully what he believed. His heart was

full of kindness and his nature was .sympathetic, yet in

his preaching he was never negative, indefinite or

compromising. His own son, the Rev. .loscpli Emer-
son, of Pepperell, in a sermon jircached in Maiden in

memory of his deceased father, said of him: "He
was a Boanerges, a son of thunder to the workers of

iniquity ; a Barnabas, a son of consolation to the

mourners in Zion." He preached and prayed and
labored for the conversion of his pco|ile, and not in

vain. He believed in the new birth, and in revivals

of religion. He and Samuel Moody, his father-in-law

and Daniel Bliss, the predecessor of his son William
in the ministry at Concord, it is said, " were prominent
sujiporters of Whitefield, and invited him into their

pulpits." Daniel Bli.ss, " a llamc of fire," as his suc-

cessor and son-in-law called him, was " the introducer

of a new style of preaching, bold, ' zealous, impassioned,

enthusiastic,' which brought him into trouble with

the lukewarm Arininianism of the day." ("Memoir of

Ralph W. Emerson," vol. i. p. 12). The Mablen
minister is believed to have been in profound sym-
pathy with this style of preaching. At the same time

he had a rejiutation as a high scholar, and delighted in

scholarly studies. Mr. Cabot spoke of him as "a
heroic scholar." His own granddaughter, Mary Moody
Emerson, calls him " the greatest student in the

country," and remarks, that " He wa-s a reader of the

Hiad, and said he would be sorry to think that the

men and cities he read of never existed." He "left

a library considerable for those days." Withal he
seems to have been an eminently prudent man, wise

in speech and action. During his ministry a prolonged
and fierce conflict raged in the town, respecting the

location of a new meeting-house, which resulted in a

division of the people, and the organization of the

South Church in Maiden, yet he " was not reproached
by any as the cause." He was a positive man, and
did not remain silent in those troublesome times in

his parish. He spoke openly and preached faithfully

against the contentions and alienations, but appears
to have retained the respect of both parties. He must
have been a man of vigorous health, as during his long
ministry of more than forty-five years he lost but two
Sabbaths by sickne.ss. He died suddenly. The quaint
language of the town record is : He " deceased in the
evening of the 13 day of July, 1767, very soon after

lying down to sleep who was cheirly and in health
before " All his living children, ten in number, were
present at the funeral of their father, and followed
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bim ai his form was borne to tbe grave. He was

gr»?ally beloved l>v h:» people, and long after hi.s death

hU uauie was fauiilar and his memory fragrant in

Muldeu.

Ki:v. PwKii TiiAiiiKH, D.D.—Mr. Thather was

the lighlli minister of the First Church in Maiden.

He v/•.il^ born in -Milt'in, March 21, 17."i2, and was the

son of O.xonbridge Tlmeher, ''a very eminent lawyer,

and a eoiidjulor of the early patriots of the Kevolu-

lion." He was the grandson of Kev. Peter Thacher,

who married a daughter of Rev. John Oxenbridge, ,

the bitter a pastor of the First Church in Boston. He
was the great grandson of Rev. Thomas Thacher, the •

first pastor of the Did South I'liurch, in Boston. The !

grandfather of our Mr. Thacher was pastor of the

church in Milton for forty-six years; and his father.

Rev. Thomas Thacher, was pastor of the Old South

Church for about nine and two-thirds years, having

been installed the first piistor of that church, Febru-

ary Itj, llitil), and living in the pa-storate, October 15,

lt)78. J/if father was Rev. Peter Thacher, minister

at Salisbury, in England. He did not come to this
j

country.

The eighth minister of the First Church in Maiden,

therefore, belonged to an eminently ministerial family.

Jle was graduated at Harvard College in ]7()9. After

tbe death of Mr. Emerson the old animosities among

the people of Maiden seemed to have revived, and

there was muih division and conflict over the ques-

tion of electing a new minister. At this critical

juncture, Mr. Thacher, by invitation from a single

man, preached one Sabbath morning in the Maiden

church. " His youthful and engaging mien," says

Dr. McClure, " his silvery voice and golden eloquence

so charmed the disturbed elements, that during the

intermission it was decided by acclamation that this

was the man to heal the dissensions." He was or-

dained September 19, 1770, when he was only eighteen

years of age. He was a magnetic and brilliant

preacher, yet perhaps more eloquent than profound.

He had sincere evangelistic fervor, especially in the

earlier part of his ministry. It is said of him that,

—

"His ruling patwion, from Lis earliest years, seems to have been to

proclaim the Gospel of the ^race of God to his fellow-men ; and to this

everything else was rendered subordinate, and, so far as possible, subser-

vient. With the studies belonging appropriately to his College course,

be connected tbe study of Theology ; and at tbe time of his graduation

he was well-nigh prepared, according to tbe usage of tbe time, to enter

on bis professional career. . . . His first efforts in the pulpit awak-

ened an uncommon interest. The multitudes crowded after him, and

hung upon bis lips almost as if ho had been a representative from some

brighter world. Wbitefteld, in reference particularly to tbe fervour of

his prayers, called him 'the Young Klijah ; ' and the strictness of his

orlhoilo.xy, not less than the depth and warmth of his devotion, gave

him great favour, especially with the more zealous portion of tbe com-

munity." (Sprague's '* .\nnal8," vol. i. p. 720.)

The Hon. Harrison Gray Otis, who sat under Mr.
Thacher's preaching during his later ministry in

Boston, speaking of his settlement in Maiden, says :

—

*' lie thus bPcamo endeared to his people by bis affectionate deport-

ment; and, being gifted with a good person, melodious voice, fine de-

livery and fervid eloquence, be soon came to be regarded as a model of

th» pulpit omtor, and to be rated higher than Bonie of liiscoDtemporaries

who were at UusI bis equals In erudition, but without the advantage of

Ills brilliant endowments." (Spniguo'a" Annals," vol. j. p. 719.)

Mr. Thacher's ministry in Maiden covered the ex-

citing period of the great Revolutionary struggle,

and the abundant ojiportunity giveu him to sway

the people by his impassioned eloquence was well

improved. By both pen and speech he gave utter-

ance to words by which the patriotic j)a.ssion8 of

the population were wrought up to white beat.

Some of those words, as we read them now, seem

still hot with the old lire that burnetl in them wlien

they came fresh from his pen and lips. During

those stirring years the town of Maiden repeatedly

gave " instructions " to her representative in the Gen-
eral Court. These "instructions" were drawn up by

Mr. Thacher and adopted by the town. One oftho.se

documents closes with these words :

" The people in the province are a free and brave

people ; and we are determined, in the strength of our

God, that we will, in spite of open force and private

treachery, live and die as becomes the descendants of

such ancestors as ours, who sacrificed their all that

they and their posterity might be free." Another of

these papers, dated May 27, 1776, ends thus:—" And
we now instruct you. Sir, to give them [members of

tbe Continental Congress] tbe strongest assurance,

that if they should declare America to be a Free and

Independent Republic, your constituents will support

and del'eud the measure lo the Last Dhop of Theik
Blood and the Last Farthikg of their Treas
URES." ("Bi-Centennial Book," pp. 210, 212.)

It is said that Mr. Thacher even, " on one occasion,

joined a military corps, but, having put himself

under command of the military officer of the town,

he was ordered to remain at home, that he might

serve the cause of bumanity in the discharge of

the appropriate duties of his office." (Sprague's " An-

nals," vol. i. p. 720.)

After a ministry of some fourteen years in Maiden,

Mr. Thacher was called to the pastorate of the Brat-

tle Street Church in Boston. Such a proceeding was

unusual in those times, the union of pastor and peo-

ple being then regarded, not only as sacred, but

inviolable except for the most imperative reasons.

The complaints of his people in Maiden "were loud

and biiter." But the [(rospect of a larger service in

a wider field prevailed with their pastor, and the peo-

ple yielded. While they refused to the end to

sanction the action of the Boston Church, they gave

to their pastor a letter of affectionate commendation.

"He was dismifsed Dec. 8, 1784, and was installed

in the Brattle Street Church, Jan. 12, 1785, where he

continued in office seventeen years, or until his last

illness.''

" His religious character is represented to have shone most briglitly in

the earlier and later periods of his life. During the period when ho was

brought into contact with the world, politically and socially, at so uumy
points, the fervour of his religious feelings is said to have nuidideiably

abated, and his public niinialiatiou to have become, if not less popular.
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at IcH^t leS9 spiritiinl nnd less efTectivo. But tcwaitlB the close of hip

niiuistry, eeppcially wluMi Iho evil iliiys of iidvorsity ciime, hiH mind re-

rovereil thr" tun*' of deop pvangolicnl fevlin;; which he had early exhib-

ited, and ChriBtiaiiity, I»y her most Kcrenc and heavenly lutlnonceH, ilhi-

minated liifl patli to the grave." (Sprapo'-'H ",\iiiialH," vol. i. p. 722.)

Having gone to Savannah for the beueiit of his

health, lie tiled there December 16, 1802.

Soon after he was settled in Maiden, on October 8,

177l>, he married Mrs. JCli/.abeth I'oole. Ten children

were born to them ; two of them becoming distin-

guished clergymen, and one an eminent lawyer.

Many honors were conferred npon him, and among
them the degree of Doctor of Divinity by the Univer-

sity of Edinbnrgh, in 17!U.

The Ancient Meeting-Houses in Malden.—
The meeting-house in which the scholarly Mathews
preached, and, during the early part of bis ministry,

the gifted Wigglesworlh also, was located, as Mr.

Corey itiforms us, " a little to the westward of Bell

Rock." It was probably a small and plain building,

designed to be used only temporarily as a place o(

worship. Bel! Rock—an historical locality in Mai-

den, and well known to all the older inhabitants— is

about a third of a mile south of the present city hall,

on the west side of ]\[ain Street, a few rods from the

old parsonage bouse, which is on the opposite side of

the street, and at) the present time (1800) is owned
by George H. AVilsou, Esq. This rocky elevation re-

ceived its name, according to tradition, from the cir-

cumstance that in the early time a bell was placed

upon it to cull the people together on the Sabbath for

worship, and on other occasions. This bell, it is said,

was rung at first by being struck with a hammer, and

afterwards by being swung in a frame from which it

was suspended. Not till 1693 did the town vote
" that the bel! shall be hanged on the top of the meet-

ing-house."

On November 9, lfi58, the selectmen, by written

contract, engaged one Job Lane to build a new meet-

ing-house, for which they were to pay him "the sum
of one hundred and fifty pounds in corn, cord wood,

sound and merchantable at prices current, and fat

cattle." This second house of worship was also locat-

ed near Bell Rock
;
probably a little to the south of

it. The contract required that it should be " a good,

strong. Artificial meeting House, of Thirty-three foot

Square." " All the sells, girts, mayne posts, plates,

Beams and all other principal Timbers shall be of

good and sound white or Black oake." Among other

things, there were to be " a territt on the topp about

six foot sijur, to hang the bell in with rayles about it,"

" thre dores . . . east, west and south," a " pull-

pitt and cover to be of wainscott to conteyne ffive or

SIX persons," a " deacon's seat allso of wainscott with

door, and a table joyned to it to fall downe, for the

Lord's Supper," and " seats throughout, made with

good planks, with rayles on the topps, boards at the

Backs, and timbers at the ends." " The windows,"

says Dr. McClure, " were few and small, on account

of the great expense of them, and were construcleil

with diamond panea in leaden sashes, according to

the fasliinn of the times."

"A Seating Committee," elected by the town, an-

nually assigned to each member of the congregation

his seat in the bouse of worship, arranging the people

"in an order corresponding to their share of the min-

ister's rate,—age, deafness and dignity being taken

into account." The work of this eommiltee was

called "dignifying the seats," and must have been,

for both the committee and the people, a serious busi-

ness. It was an out-cropping, in an uncongenial

clime, of the old English aristocratic temper. More-
over, it was thought neces.sary to good order, to seat

the men on one side of the house and the women on

the other side. A few of the most wealthy and nota-

ble persons in the community were sometimes, by

special vote of the town, permitted to build for them-

selves, at their own cost, square pews separated from

the common seats.

March 14, 10'J2, the town of Maiden voted, that

"Corronal page hath liberty to build a pew." Colo-

nel Nicholas Page was a wealthy merchant and a

prominent military officer, whose favorite residence

was on a fine farm in Chelsea. When living there he

worshiped with the people of Maiden and generously

aided them in supporting the minister. He presented

to the First Church in Maiden two elegant silver

chalices, which bear this inscription: "The gift of

Col. Nicholas Page to the Church in Malilen, 1701."

They are still used by the church at every communion
service. Colonel Page appears to have been the first

man who received permission from the town of Mai-

den to build for himself and family a square pew;
subsequently a few others were accorded the same
privilege. These persons, of course, were exempted
from coming under the orders of the committee ap-

pointed to "dignify the seats." The deacons also ob-

tained a similar exemption, as they occupied "the

deacons' pew," which was always located immediately

under the .front of the pulpit, and was elevated some-

what above the level of the other pews. A pew was

also set apart for the deacons' wives, and probably

another for the minister's family. The remainder of

the congregation were seated by the seating commit-

tee. But who should seat that committee? It is easy

to see that this might become a momentous question,

especially ifthe committee should be inclined to dignify

themselves unduly by appropriating some of the most

honorable seats. A single record shows bow the

town of Maiden, in one instance at least, solved this

difficult problem. On January 2, 1695, at a town-

meeting it was " Voted, that Two deakens shall seate

those commitis that is acointed [appointed] to Seate

ye meeting-hous." It was doubtless thought that the

deacons, as they could not have been ofl'eiided by any
official and unfair assignment of their own seats,

would be under no temptation to take revenge, but

would exercise an impartial judgment in deciding
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tbe grave qaefltion of the rank and dignity of the sev-

eral meiubuDi of tlie aeutiii;; committee.

Many of the younj; iieoplo were permitted to sit

together in the giilieries of the meeting-house. Con-

»e<iiiently the town »l' Maiden, following the general

pruclice in New Kmj;1iiiu1, made careful provision to

keep thcni in order. .Vt one time the householders,

or niaKters of families, were reiiuireil to take turns in

performing this police service. Afterwards a parish

ollicer wa-t annually elected, who was called "the

tithing-man," and one of whose duties it was to main-

tain strict order in the house of God during the hours

of public worship ; hut he probably was never a

very popular man among the more ardent and impul-

sive youths of Maiden.

Near to an old-fashioned meeting-house in New
England would almost or quite invariably have been

seen the horse-blocks and horse-sheds, or stables. The

former were for the convenience of the women in

mounting their horses ; and the latter were for the

sheltering of the horses during the long services of

public worshij). In Mahlen, December 9, 1689, it was

voted in town-meeting, that six men, whose names

are given, should have " the privilege of a peece of

land of 24 foots long and 9 foots wide, ... for to set

a stable to shelter their horses on the Sabbath days."

Similar votes were passed in subsequent years. On
March .'i, )711, seventeen men were accorded the priv-

ilege of erecting stables on the town's land, near to

the meeting-house, not exceeding "three foots and

half in breadth for on hors." The narrowness of the

stables indicates that the people did not ride to meet-

ing in any kiml of" wheel-carriage," but "on horse-

back."

The second meeting-house, the building of which

was begun in 165S, appears not to have been finished

until after June, 1660. But it answered the needs of

the people, iis a house of worship, for more than forty

years, or until 17U2, when it was enlarged " by cut-

ting it in two, and carrying oft" one end twenty-four

feet." In 1721 the town raised forty pounds" for the

further enlargement of the meeting-house." In 1727,

sixty-seven years after the building of this second

meeting-house, or twenty-five years after the first en-

largement of it, it was found necessary to build again

the house of (Jod. The ()uestion of location was in-

stantly raised, and a prolonged and bitter conflict en-

sued, during which seeds of strife and division, of

personal alienation and animosity were sown, which

sprang up and bore bitter fruit through scores of years.

Mr. Emerson had then been settled only five or six

yeare. He was a wise man and a lover of peace, but

he could not calm the tempest. The people in the

south part of the town contended for the old site near

Bell Rock; the people in the north part for the site

on which now stands the Universalist house of wor-
ship. Other sites were proposed, but received little

consideration. The painful details of the struggle

need not be rehearsed. It is sufficient to say, that

tbe contest raged until the General Court interposed

with the stern order that the new bouse should be

placed on the north location.

On August 28, 1729, the frame of the third meeting-

house in Maiden was raised. It "was built," says

Dr. McClure, "with but one gallery; but afterwards

another wiw built above the first. These were appro-

priated to children and youth." According 'to Mr.

Corey's vivid description :

The building "was unpainted, both inside and
outside. The pulpit stood on the north side, opposite

the great south door, which was the |)rincipal en-

trance. Another door-way, on the easterly side, gave

additional facilities for ingress and egress. In two

corners stairways gave access to the gallery ; and the

descrijition quaintly adds: 'The eiist stair was for

women and the west stair for men, and they could

not get together in the gallery without getting over

the railing.'" Rev. Thomas C. Thacher, son of the

eighth minister of Maiden, writing, in 1849, of this

third house of worship, in which, when a child, he

listened to the eloquent preaching of his father, says :

" There seems to rise again before me that ancient,

weather-beaten church, the place of my earlier wor-

ship, and where my venerated father taught and
prayed. . . . Some of my ancient friends may re-

member that old meeting-house. It was one of the

plainest and strictest of its sect. It looked the old

Puritan all over. It had no tower nor belfry. Its

little bell was hung outside on a beam projecting

from the gable-end of the building. Close by stood

the old school-house, with its enormous fireplace

and rude benches, where I learned my rudiments."'

In this plain meeting-house the people worshiped

for about seventy-three years. It gave place, in 1803,

to a brick church, which, though repeatedly remod-

eled, has stood to the present time (1890), and is now
used by the Universalist Society, or the First Parish.

When this house was built, if we may judge from the

laconic parish record, there was no long debate or

conflict respecting the building of it or its location.

Perhaps the people recalled sadly the traditions that

had come down to them respecting the dissensions

and conflicts of the former lime. The record is dated

Dec. 7, 1801, and reads thus:

"Voted, to build a brick meeting-house. Voted, to

purchase the bricks rather than make them. Voted,

to pass over the 6th and 7th articles. Voted, to ad-

journ." This house was dedicated .lanuary 19, 1803.

The bell for this church was given by the eccentric

Mr. Dexter, usually called " Lord Timothy Dexter.''

The two cupolas, which were at first placed upon the

house, were taken down in 1824, and in the place of

them was erected the present steeple.

The Parsonage Land and Houses.—On Decem-
ber 22, 1651, the town, by vote, gave and granted to

tbe then "present preaching elder (Mr. Mathews),

l"Bi-Centennial Bgok,'" p. 181.
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and hU next successor, and bo, from time to time, to

his successors, four acres of ground purchased of

James Green for that end, and the house built there-

upon, at tlie charge of all the inhabitants." This

land was the parsonage land, now owned by George

H. Wilson, Esq. This house was probably located a

few rods south of the dwelling-house now owned by

Mr. Wilson, and was occupied by the successive min-

isters of Maiden for about seventy-three years. On
August 1, 1724—Mr. Emerson tlien being the minis-

ter—this parsonage-house, with nearly all its con-

tents, was consumed by fire. Within a few mouths a

new house, located a lew rods north of the site of the

burned liouse, was completed, and Mr. Emerson with

his family moved into it, January 5, 1725. Dr. Mc-

Clure affirms that " the frame of thU house—the rest

of it having long since been pretty mucli renovated

—

is still standing." It was sold to Mr. Wilson by the

First I'arish in 1845, and at the present time (1890)

is still standing, and still owned by Mr. Wilson. This

is the house in which the celebrated missionary. Rev.

Adoniram Judson, was born, on August 9, 1788, his

father. Rev. Adoniram Judson, being at that time

the pastor of the First Church in Maiden. The pres-

ent age of this ancient house is one hundred and six-

ty-five years.

The Malden South Church.—The action of the

General Court, in arbitrarily deciding the question

of the location of the tliird meeting-liouse, did

not terminp,te the contentions and alienations that

had vexed the town. The southern people were

grievously ofiended by the order of the Court.

On the 9th of August, 1730, Rev. Mr. Emerson

preached the farewell sermon in the old meeting-

house near Bell Rock, from the text: "Remem-
ber how thou hast received and heard." The

next Sabbath the congregation worshiped for the

first time in the new meeting-house. But the day

was not a joyful one to all the people. A divi-

sion of the parish was impending. The old aliena-

tions continued. At length the malcontents decided

to withdraw and establish public worship in the

southern part of the town. On Sept. 13, 1730, they

held their first separate meeting, and sometime in the

next year began to erect a house of worship on
" Nelson's hill." Tlie location was on or near the pres-

ent corner of Hancock Street and Broadway, in

Everett. " The meeting-house," says Mr. Corey, " was

never fully completed, and it is said to have been in

a very dilapidated condition in 1787." " It was

reached by a way twenty-six feet wide, which led

from the highway." Dr. McClure speaks of it as

standing, " on that black and lonely hill," " in the

midst of lots," and remarks, that " those who resorted

to it never enjoyed the convenience of a public road."

The separate meeting first established was main-

tained for three years. " A Council of three

churches" was then called to organize a church. It

seems to have taken two or three days to effect the

32-iii

organization, for the council met April 16, 1734, and
on April 18th, "embodied what for fifty-eight years

was known as the Maiden South Church." The
number of male members at first was sixteen. No
officers were chosen until the 4th of September in that

year, when .lohn Mudge was elected deacon, and
.Jonathan Sargeant and Ebenezcr Upham were

elected ruling elders. On Sept. 24, 1735, Rev. Joseph

Stimpson was chosen pastor, who, on account of his ill

health, was dismissed in 1744. The next pastor. Rev.

Aaron Cleveland, was installed in 1747, and in two

or three years was dismissed. He was an intimate

friend ofDr. Benjamin Franklin ; was the great grand-

father of the Hon. William E. Dodge, of New York
city, and of the Rt. Rev. A. Cleveland Cox, Bishop of

the diocese of Western New York ; and he was the

great-great-grandfather of Grover Cleveland, Ex-
President of the United States. He died in Phila-

delphia, at the house of his friend Benjamin Frank-
lin, August 11, 1757. The third and last pastor of the

South Church wasRev.EliakimWillis,who was ordain-

ed Oct. 25,1752. Theexistenceof this church from its

beginning seems to have been little more than a lin-

gering death, " In the course of thirty or forty

years," says Dr. McClure, " their interests so far de-

cayed that they barely maintained the forms of pub-

lic worship. Mr. Willis was obliged to take the par-

sonage to satisfy his claims for salary. He then

preached for some time, for a little pittance, which
was raised from Sabbath to Sabbath," depending

mainly " upon his labor as a fiirmer for a livelihood."

In 1787 a brief spasm of life was given to this dying

church, by the addition to it of a score of disaffected

members of the First Church. Their first work was
to repair tlie long-neglected meeting-house. "They
found the windows badly shattered, tlie clap-boards

hanging down by the end, and the whole edifice pre-

senting a most cheerless and desolate aspect." Five
years later this house, which should never have been
built, was abandoned forever as a house of worship.

The South Church decided to terminate its separate

existence, and to return to the mother church. On
Marcli 25, 1792, the two churches assembled in the
" North Meeting-House," and there " voted to be in-

corporated, with their officers, into one body."

Rev. Adoniram Judson, Ninth Pastor or the
First Church.—He was the youngest son of El-

nathan and Mary Judson, was born in Woodbury,
Conn., in June, 1752, and graduated at Yale College

in 1775. He married, November 23, 178(i, Abigail

Brown, who was born December 14, 1759, in Tiverton,

R. I., and was the eldest daughter of Abraham and
Abigail Brown.

The First Church, on December 8, 1784, had reluc-

tantly parted with its popular minister. Rev. Peter

Thacher. On July 3, 1786, it voted to call to the pas-

torate Rev. Adoniram Judson. His settlement, how-
ever, was strenuously opposed by some of the people.

The church found great difficulty in agreeing upon
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the composition of the council that slioiild be called

to ordain the pastor-elect. The majority voted from

time to time to call an ordaining council, specifying

each time the churches which should be invited to

send delegates, until no les.-* than four such votes had

been passed. Letter niissivcH were issued for three of

these councils. One was prevented from assembling

by a great storm. Of the other two, the first met

November IS, ITSO ; but after an examination of the

circumstances attending the call, ita members were

not able to apree upon a result. Mr. Judson, after

understanding tliat " the ditRculties," whicli caused a

diil'erencc of opinion in the council, "did not imme-

diately relate to him," rei|uestcd a dissolution of that

body." "And upon his desire the council dissolved.''

The last council summoned by letters missive as-

sembled January 23, 1787; "and notwithstanding

there were found some objections against the ordina-

tion, they deemed it their duty to proceed to the e.x-

aminatii>n of the pastor-elect." Having carefully ex-

amined him, " the Council were unanimously satisfied

with his qualifications for the Gospel Ministry," and

accordingly " ordained him to the pastoral office."

(Church Records.)

The "objections," which probably came for the

most part from persons who were not members of the

church, but of the parish only, appear to have been

made, not against Mr. Judson personally, but against

his theological beliefs. These opponents, however,

were extremely earnest and persistent. They pleaded

also that the settlement of Mr. Judson would prove

"an effectual barrier in preventing the mutually

wished-for union of the two parishes in this town,

both of which have severely felt their separation and

thus remaining will probably terminate in the ruin of

both." Twenty-one men, under the lead of Capt.

John Dexter, presented to the council an earnest pro-

test against thif ordination of Mr. Judson, which,

however, proved of no avail. The signers of this pro-

test are reported to have been men of prominence and

influence, and most of them soon seceded and

united with the people ofthe South Precinct. Probably

various considerations influenced those who set them-

selves so strenuously against the settlement of Mr.

Judson. Indeed, it looks as if a serious attempt was

made at this time by a minority, to change the

doctrinal faith, if not the ecclesiastical polity, of the

church. It is quite significant that the vote of the

church to call Mr. Judson (as well as that to call a

previous candidate. Rev. David Avery) was preceded

by another vote, which was worded as follows :

"For the infommtioD of tho Gentlomen that we May luvite to Settle

aniODgo U8. . . . Voted, that we consider ourselves a Congregatiuual

Cbnrch Id CummunioD and Fellowship with the Churches of that order

in this and Neighhoring States, and Expect the Pastor that may he Sett

over us in the Lord to be Instated aud to Conform in all Ecclesiastical

Slatteri to the Geuerul Pructice and Usages of this aud other Churche^

of tliat Denomination agreeable to the word of God." (Church

Records.)

The only specific theological objection, which waf

put on record, to the settlement of Mr. Judson, was

that of Capt. John Dexter, who entered a protest

against " Settling a Minister of Bade llopkintonian

Principels," referring evidently to the principles of
" ConsistentCalvinism." But what Capt. Dexter and

his party called " B.ide" principles were the Christian

beliefs which, at a later day, made the son of that

pastor-elect a self-sacrificing and apostolic missionary
—" The apostle of Burmah," as he was called, whose

name is immortal. What that objector and his party

fi)und fault with were those interpretations of the

Scriptures which inspired tho men who founded the

jVndover Theological Seminary, who organized the

American Board for Foreign Missions, and nearly all

our great missionary and benevolent societies ; which

inspired in the churches that evangelistic spirit that,

under God, has brought on the great revivals of relig-

ion, for which New England has been distinguished

during the present century. It was a sad day for the

First Church in JIaUlen when it had on its roll, or on

its parish-roll, the names of men who were opposed to

such " Principels," and called them " Bade." This

factious spirit was unanimous. Indeed, it proved to

be the beginning of a sad history. Mr. Judson was an

able and godly man, but he labored in vain to unite

the divided people. After struggling at the task for

about four and a half years, at his own request, an

ecclesiastical council was called, which sanctioned the

dissolution of the pastoral relation. He was dismissed

August 21, 1791, with emphatic commendations from

the council, and also from the people to whom he had

ministered. He was installed in December, 1792,

pastor of the Congregational Church in Wenliam,

Mass., and, after a pastorate of seven years, was

dismissed at his own request, in 1799. In 1802 he

was installed pastor of a Congregational Church in

Plymouth, Mass., aud remained there fifteen years, or

until 1817, when he resigned on account of a change

in his views respecting the mode and the subjects of

Christian baptism. He died in Scituate, Mass.,

November 25, 1826, aged seventy six years. Although

he at last followed his distinguished son into the

Baptist denomination, he was buried, at his own re-

quest, from a church dedicated to the service of his

earlier faith.

To the question which has repeatedly been asked,

"What was the relation of the Judson family, when
residing in Maiden, to the First Baptist Church in

that town ? the answer must be, 7ione whatever, for

the simple reason that there was no Baptist Church

in Maiden at that time. The pastorate of Rev. Mr.

Judson, with the First (or Congregational) Church

in that town, as we have seen, commenced January

23, 1787, and terminated August 21, 1791 ; but the

First Baptist Church in Maiden was not organized

until 1803, or until twelve years after Mr. Judson

hiid left the town. His distinguished son, the

missionary, was born in Maiden, August 9, 1788, and

doubtless in his infancy received in baptism the seal
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of that ancient covenant which Paul teaches is not

disannulled in the Christian era. lie was only three

years of age when his family left Maiden, and was

twenty-four years old before he became a Baptist.

Twenty-one years, therefore, had passed after he left

"\r.ililt'n before he embraced the distinctive views of

I he Baptists ; and bis father did not embrace them

until twenty-six years after be had left this town. It

is diHicult to see, therefore, what special relation any

of the Judson family had to the First Baptist Church

ill Maiden. But in God's Providence it is an honor

to the town, and all the Christian Churches in it may
well rejoice and give thanks that such a noble

missionary as Dr. Adoniram Judson, "the apo.stle of

lUirniah," was born in Maiden.

Rev. Eliakiji Willis, the Tenth Pastor of

1 i(E First 'CHURCH.^When the First and South

Churches in Maiden met in the North meeting-

li(iuse, March 25,1702, and "voted to be incorporated,

with their officers, into one body," that vote made the

Kev. Eliakim Willis the minister of the First Church

Previous to that vote the First Church had no pastor,

luit was provided with deacons. The South Church

I'nibably had no deacons, but was provided with a

pastor. When, therefore, the two churches " with

their officers," were merged into one church, the latter

was fully officered. There does not appear to have

been any formal installation of Mr. Willis into his

office. No council was called, either for an install-

ation service or to advise, or even to recognize the

union of the two churches. There was, doubtless, a

reason for this. Any examination of the beliefs of

Mr. Willis, or of those held by his former church,

might have made trouble.

Little is known of the early life of Mr. Willis. He
was born in Dartmouth, Mass., June 9, 1714. Dart-

mouth at that time included the territory now com-

]>rised in the city of New Bedford. He was graduated

at Harvard College in 1735 ; was called to the pastor-

ate of the South Church in Maiden, October l(i, 1751,

and was ordained October 25, 1752. He had been the

minister of the South Church about forty years, when
he was called to be the tenth pastor of the First

Church. And when he entered upon the latter pas-

torate he was nearly four-score years of age. He was

then for several years the sole settled minister in

Maiden. He died in the pastorate, March 14, 1801,

at the age of eighty-seven years. The funeral services

were held on the 18th of March. Six neighboring

ministers were invited to serve "as pall-holders," viz.:

"Revd. Messrs. Roby, Prentiss, Osgood, Morse, Thacher

and Lathrop. Doct. Morse being on a journey, Doct.

pjliot was apply"* to in his room." The services were

conducted with "great solemnity." The meeting-

house was " shrouded in black." The members of the

church wore badges of mourning. " Doct. Lathrop

made the first prayer. Doct. Thatcher preached from

2 Tim., 4 Ch., 6, 7, 8 verses. Mr. Prentiss made ye last

prayer." An imposing procession followed the body

of the venerable minister to the grave. Although

his prolonged ministry in Maiden appears not to have

been in spiritual results a successful one, yet in his

death he was highly honored.

September 27th, " a letter left by Mr. Willis, and
delivered by his executors," was read to the church,
" wherein he begs the church to accept from his ex-

ecutors a bible, and exhorts that the scriptures may
be read in public every Lord's day ; whereon the

church voted that the scriptures be read in public,

forenoon and afternoon, every Lord's day, except in

severe cold weather.'' Mr. Willis also " lett a number
of theoliigical works as the basis of a parish library."

In his theological beliefs Mr. Willis was evidently

an Arminian. The .Vrniinianism of his day, however,

must not be confounded with that of the Wesleys.

It was, indeed, in several respects, the extreme op-

posite of the Wesleyan Arminianism. The latter was
" warm, vital and evangelical ;" the former " was cold,

formal, unreligions, sceptical, tending to scepticism

and infidelity." (" Sketches of the Theological History

of New England," by Enoch Pond, D.D., p. 28.)

It would more properly have been called Pelagianism,

or Semi-Pelagianism. Prof. Moses Stuart affirmed

that the Arminianism that troubled some of the

churches of New England in the last century, and in

the beginning of the present, was not the theology of

Armiuius, but " was Semi-Pelagianism in some re-

spects, and Semi-Rationalism in some others ; a com-
pound of latitudiuarian sentiments." "Arminianism
now is, one might almost say, everything or anything
that is opposed to orthodoxy. It exists in all forms

and all gradations." (" Biblical Repository," 1831, p.

304.) Perhaps themost prominent characteristicof the

so-called Arminians was their violent opposition to

about every doctrine that is distinctively Calvinistic.

Yet they generally claimed that they were standing

only for a broad, liberal and tolerant theology ; that it

was really of no consequence what a man believed
; that

a good character and a respectable life were the main
things ; and that these can be attained apart from any
experimental religion or change of heart. "They
discouraged warmth and engagedness in religion as

things of a bad tendency," and were afraid of noth-

ing so much as what they called enthusiasm. Innova-

tions in point of doctrine were considered of small

importance. If people attended public worship on
the Sabbath, and paid their taxes, and made no pre-

tensions to any unusual seriousness, but sneered and
scofled at those who did, they might expect to be re-

garded as very good men." (" Sketches of the Theo-
logical History of New England," by Dr. Enoch Pond,

pp. 29, 30.)

The Arminian ministers wholly disregarded, in their

preaching, the Scriptural distinction between saints

and sinners, between the regenerate and the un-
generate. They abominated all evangelistic fervor,

and especially revivals of religion. The advent of

Whitefield and the power of his preaching aroused
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their anger, and he was excluded from their pulpits.

They ceased to make a credible eviden<e of conver-

sion a condition of admission to the church, and in-

vilod ail persons of decent character and respectahle

lives to come into full communion. The consequence

was that few became chnrch-niembcrs, and in many

instances even the con-jrcgalions sadly diminished.

The undeniable historic fact is, that this si>-called

Arminiauisui was the wmimon, broad highway to

Unitarianism and to Universulism.

In less than a year after, Mr, Willis was ordained

as the minister of the Honth Church in Maiden, or on

December 2S, 17'>2, that church adopted a new Con-

fession of l-'ailh anil Covenant which were written

undoubtedly by the pastor. As a confession of faith

it was extremely meagre and vapid, having in its

original form only three articles of belief. As a creed

it was also iiidetinite, superficial and equivocal. In

one part it was unintelligible, and in some of its state-

ments glaringly defective and misleading. Any Ar-

minian of that day could have subscribed to this

creed without hesitation. Evidently it was intended

to be an Arminian confession of faith. At a later

date the Universalists in Maiden made it the basis of

their creed and covenant.

\Vlicn Mr. Willis became the pastor of the First

Church (March 25, 17i)2) he brought with him this

Confession of Faith and Covenant. There is no rec-

ord of its adoption by the First Church
;
yet it ap-

pears to have become, in some way, its Creed and

Covenant, and to have remained such so long as that

church was permitted to sustain any relation to the

First Parish.

Mr. Willis also not only brought into the First

Church the members of the South Church (very few

probably in number), who had been religiously edu-

cated under his Arminian preaching and creed, but

also brought back to the First Parish, at least, if not

into the church, the score of men who were so in-

tensely dissatisfied with Mr. Judson's " Bade Hop-

kintonian Principals," and who, in consequence ol

hia ordination, withdrew to the South Parish. The

only class of people in New England, at that time,

having any connection with evangelical churches,

who were strenuously antagonizing orthodox beliefs,

were the so-called Armiuians. The twenty-one se-

ceders, who were so bitterly opposed to the evangeli-

cal beliefs of Adoniram Judson, were delighted with

the beliefs of Mr. Willis. This corroborates the view

that both Mr. Willis and the seceders from the First

Parish were Arminians.

Less than three years after the settlement of Mr.

Willis as pastor of the First Church, at a' church

meeting held November 10, 1794

:

*'The Paator acquainted thebretbren with hie desire of Itnowing

tlieir nuDd, relative to the admisaion of any of a blamelesa life and con-

vernation, to the owning or recognizing of the Covenant, that titeir

children might bo admitted to Baptism,—also relative to the terms or

manner of receiving members Into full communion (i.e.), with or with-

out a written Relation.'*

The church record adds

:

"After some time spent, with respect to the tlrst, the Church ad-

journed to the 24th instant.**

The next records are as follows :

" Nov. 24 the t"!hurch met accortllDg to attjournment. After some

time epont, being much divided in sentiment, and several members be-

ing al>sent, voted to actjourii, for further consideration, to ye flrut tues-

day of April next, to meet at the north meeting-house.

" 1794.— At a Church meeting Decemb^ ln*i» the I'lwtor comnninicated

to then) a Itetjuest to him Signed by a Number of the Uruthren of the

Church to H])point a Chh meeting, that the Last Vote of tlie Church

might be Kecoiisiilered, and tile nuilter ttien under Consideration be

taken up, if the Chh shuuld think fit,—after some Conference, the

Church Voted in the Negative, by the majority of One.
" ny."!, April 7">.—The Church met according to adjournment, and

!•' Chose Deacon Uamsdell Moderator. 2"'"?, the Church being almost

equally divided, relative to the subject, whicli had been under cuusid-

eration, voted, that the Meeting be dissolved; wliich is accordingly

dissolved,"

It is quite probable that Jlr. Willis, early in his

ministry with the South Church, introduced " the half-

way covenant," so-called—that is, invited people of

respectable character and conversation to receive

baptism and own the church covenant,—without

coming to the Lord's Supper,—in order that their

infant children might be bajitizcd ; and that, at a

later date, he took a further step, and invited to

" full communion,"—that is, to the Lord's Supper,

as well as to baptism,—all persons of decently moral

character and life. It is certain, as the church

records show, that he attempted to introduce the

half-way covenant into the First Church; and quite

likely he attempted to accomplish this as a prepara-

tion of the church to take a further step, and receive

into full membership all persons who were not openly

immoral. The tendency of the half-way covenant,

and of receiving to full communion those who gave

no evidence of having been born of the Spirit, was

to fill the churches with unconverted members, and the

pulpits with unconverted ministers. The church rec-

ords clearly show how perilously near the First Church

in Maiden—the church of Mathews, Wigglesworth,

Emerson and Thacher—came to abandoning its an-

cient evangelical faith, and entering upon a course

which would have brought it speedily to Unitarian-

ism, or Universalism, and then very likely to a

lingering death like that of the South Church, and

finally to extinction.

Rev. Aaron Green, the Eleventh Minister

OF THE First Church.—He was born in Maiden,

Jan. 2, 1765, and was the son of Ezra and Jlary (Vin-

ton) Green. He was the grandson of Samuel (born

in Maiden in 1679) and Martha Green ; and the

great-grandson of John Green, who was probably

born in Maiden in 1650, and was the son of .Tames

Green, who came from England, and settled on Jlys-

tic side in 1647. Rev. Aaron Green was graduated

at Harvard College in 1789, and was ordained in his

native town, Sept. 30, 1795, as colleague pastor with

the venerable Mr. Willis. After the death of Mr.

Willis, in 1801, Mr. Green remained the sole pastor
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of the First Church until lie was dismissed, August

8, 1827. The period of his entire ministry in Mai-

den was nearly tliirty-two years. In 1796 he mar-

ried Knnice Orne, of Lynnfield, and their children

were four sou.s and one daughter. His half-brother,

Dr. Ezra Green, born ,Iune 17, 17-lG, graduated at

Harvard in 171)5, a surgeon in the army and navy

(luring the War of the Revolution, settled in Dover,

N. H., and married Susannah Hayes. He died July

25, 1847, aged 101 years. Another lialf-brothcr,

Bernard (xreen, born Jan. 14, 1752, was in the army of

the Revolution, served the town of Maiden in various

offices, represented it in the Legislature, and died July

15, 1839, aged eighty-two years. Rev. Aaron Green,

upon the resignation of his pastoral charge, removed

to Andover. Like his two brother.s, he reached a

good old age. He survived all his college class-

mates, and died Dec. 23, 1853, eighty-nine years of

age.

Theologically, Mr. Green was in sympathy with his

predecessor and colleague. Rev. Eliakini Willis.

Tradition represents him as preaching none of those

great truths of revelation which the Holy Spirit is

wont to use for the conviction and regeneration of

men. His hearers were never aroused by the stu-

pendous proclamations that " Except a man be born

again, he cannot see the Kingdom of God," nor were

they urged to instant "repentance towards God and

faith towards our Lord Jesus Christ," as conditions of

salvation. Doubtless Mr. Corey is correct in affirming

that " Mr. Green, whose sermons were rarely doc-

trinal, but mainly on the practice of piety and the

efficacy of good works, was of the Arminian School,

and it is said that his preaching was not displeasing

to a majority of his hearers." The constant burden

of the Arminian i)reaching in that day, we are told,

was " do and live, do and live," and it is added, that

" the congregations were all the while doing less and

becoming more dead." Doubtless no minister holding

an earnest evangelical faith, like that of Rev. Adoni-

ram Judson, could have been called and settled as a

colleague with Rev. Mr. Willis; or if called, it would

have been by only a bare majority of the church, and

in the face of a most remorseless opposition from the

parish ; and the faithful pastorate of such a minister

would have been more burdened with tribulation and

persecution than was even that of Mr. Judson. Mr.

Green, however, for a time at least, gave satisfaction

to the majority of his people. He seems to have ac-

cepted heartily Mr. Willis' Arminian creed and cov-

enant. Indeed, under his direction, that document

was printed as late as 1823, and it was set forth as

the " Confession of Faith, and the Covenant of the

First Congregational Church in Maiden." In this

printed copy are found a few, yet important, changes

from the original form. There is no reason, however,

to believe that these changes were made by Mr. Green.

They were probably made by Mr. Willis himself, at

the time he persuaded the First Church to adopt this

creed and covenant. The changes, however, were not

for the better. The Confession of Faith (as distin-

guished from the covenant), in its original form, h.id

three articles of belief—one very defective, respecting

the being and character of God ; another, as equally

defective, respecting the sacraments of the church;

and a third respecting " the communion of the

churches." The third article of belief is omitted in

the printed form which is represented to have been

adopted by the First Churcli. Very likely this

change was made in expectation that ere long the

church could be wrested from " the communion of

Churches," which it had so dearly prized through all

its long history. But if such an expectation was

cherished by any, they were destined to be disap-

pointed. Several other changes were also made, all

disclosing a positive trend towanls a still more nn-

evangelical faith. In the mean time there were few

additions to the church, and many in the congrega-

tion, hearing nothing from the pulpit which con-

vinced them of the truth, the reasonableness and the

mighty spiritual power of the great historic beliefs

of this church, were becoming increasingly averse to

them.

Under such conditions there must have come sooner

or later a crisis. In those days few Arminians in the

pulpits, or in the pews, remained stationary. Ere long

some of them denied the personality and regenerating

work of the Holy Spirit, and became Universalists

;

others denied the divinity and propitiatory sacrifice

of Christ, and became Unitarians. In the third decade

of the present century each of these issues was reached

by ditl'erent persons in Maiden. A few became Uni-

tarians. A larger number became avowed Universal-

ists. Had the Universalists at this time quietly with-

drawn from the First Church and Parish, as they had

a perfect right to do, and organized their own church

and parish, and built their own house of worship, as

the Baptists had already done, and as the Jlethodists

were then doing, it would have been, beyond all ques-

tion, honorable on their part, would have prevented

a great and prolonged conflict, and saved the town

from what is now, and must forever remain, a most

painful passage in its history. But they decided to

take a different course.

The first signal of the coming contest appears to

have been an article in the warrant for a parish meet-

ing, to be held May 8, 1826, which read thus:

'*8th. To see if they [the members of the First Piirisli] will permit

Mtiiiaters of other (lenomiiiatiotis in good stumling to preach Lectures

iti the Brick Moeting-Houso, when tlieBuuio is not occupied by their re-

spected Pastor, and i)asB any Votes on the subject that tlie good of the

Parish, The promotion of friendship and good will may suggest, .\glee-

able to the petition of William Darrett, K8ii.,and others."

At the meeting held on May 8th it was voted "' Not
to admit Ministers of other denominations in good

standing to preach in the meeting-house when it is

not occupied by our Rev. Pastor." The next year,

upon the written request of Artemas Cutter and

twelve others, an article to the same efl'ect, but in
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more explicit terms, was inserted in the warrant for

a pariitli uieoting, as fiillowg

:

"To see if they will permitt ministers in good

standin}? of the Universalist denomination to preach

Lt'ctiires in the Urick niceting-house when it is not in

use l>y our respected Pastor, and pass any Votes on the

subject that tlioy may think Propper.'' At the meet-

ing of the jiarisli held agreeably to this warrant on

January 8, 18L'7, it was " Voted, second. To permitt

ministers of the Univcrsalist denomination to preadi

Lectures in the Brick meeting-house when it is not in

use by our respected Pastor. Voted, third. To choose

a Committee to wait on our respected Pastor and get

perniission of him for Preachers of the Universaliat

<len(>minatii>n to preach lectures in the pulpit ot the

Brick meeting-house."

A week later, or on January IfJ, 1827, a written re-

quest, signed by William H. Richardson and twenty-

seven others, was i>resented to the Parish Clerk, to

call a parish meeting, to act upon two articles:

—

" First, To choose a moderator. Second, To see if

the Society will Prohibit Jlinisters of the Universalist

denomination preaching Lectures in said Brick Meet-

ing-house." At the meeting of the parish, held in

accordance with this request, on January 24, 1827,

it was " Voted, not to prohibit Ministers," etc. On
January 27, 1827, Joseph Lynds and ten others re-

quested the clerk to call a meeting of the parish, to

be held February 3, 1827, to act upon two articles,

the second of which was, " To see if the Society will

prohibit Ministers of the Uni versalist denomination,"

etc. The society met according to the warrant, Feb-

ruary 3d, and " Voted not to prohibit Ministers of the

Univcrsalist denomination preaching lectures in the

Brick Meeting-house."

A similar article was in the warrant for a parish-

meeting to be held May 27, 1827, but at the meeting

it was voted to pass over that article. On June 10,

1827, the resignation of Mr. Green was read from the

pulpit, by the preacher for the day, Eev. Mr. Sewall.

The conflict in the parish had evidently become ex-

tremely violent, and the pastor could endure it no

longer. He was a good and kind-hearted man, and

had been generally beloved by his people. His

preaching had been so indefinite and neutral as to give

no oil'ence to anybody ; and now, in the time of strife,

he thought to keep his speech and conduct so indefi-

nite and neutral as to satisfy both parlies. But, as

usual in such cases, he seems to have satisfied neither.

The Universalists had no further need of him, as he

would not announce himself a Univcrsalist, and unite

with th(m in their attempt to change the long estab-

lished religious faith of the church and parish. The
members of the church (who, though now few in

number were nearly all,—strange to say, considering

the religious instruction they had so long been receiv-

ing—thoroughly orthodox in their beliefs), were dis-

pleased, because their pastor did not take an open
and firm stand with them, and lead them in a brave

defence of the ancient faith of their church. He
could not see it to be his duty to take either course,

but in the midst of the battle determined to flee from

the scene, and leave the contending parties to settle

their strife as best they could.

In his letter of resignation, while he expressed sin-

cere affection for his people, and gratefully recognizes

their love and kindness to himself, he also speaks in

plain terms of his grievous trials, and earnestly de-

fends the neutral course he had taken, which seems

to have been severely criticised by some of his people.

His resignation was accepted, after he had been

kindly invited to supply the pulpit for a short time.

-Vn ecclesiastical council was called to approve of this

sundering of the pastoral tie, and he was dismissed

August 8, 1827, with warm commendations from the

council and from both the church and the parish.

The Separation of the First Church from
THE First Parish.—Previous to May 8, 1826, cer-

tain members of parish had become acquainted with

several Univcrsalist ministers. " Whittemore, Ballon,

Streeter and Dean, Universalists, had preached in Mai-

den in the old brick school-house once standing on

Pleasant Street." At the above date began the efibrts,

already noticed, to introduceinto the pulpitof the First

Church these or other Univcrsalist i)reachers, al-

though Mr. Green was still the pastor,—efforts which

overwhelmed him with grief, forced his resignation,

and brought on a controversy which for years filled

the town with the moat painful dissensions and bit-

ter enmities.

Mr. Green's resignation of his pastoral office did

not arrest, but rather intensified, the contest between

the Universalists and those who adhered to the ancient

faith of the church. The struggle, however, was con-

tinued mainly, not within the church, but within the

parish. It would seem from the records of the par-

ish, and also from those of the Church, that the Uni-

versalists were now determined that tlie entire prop-

erty of the parish should be used—as it never before

had been used, and as it was never entrusted to the

parish to be used—for the support of a Univcrsalist

minister and for the propagation of Universalism in

Maiden. On the other hand, nearly all the members
of the First Church resented the attempt to settle

over them a Universalist minister, without the vote

of the church and against its will. They knew that

from the beginning the Congregational Churches had
enjoyed the priceless liberty and the sacred right of

electing their own pastors; and that the parish, at a

later date, had come into being mainly to exercise a

trusteeship in the service of the church, and had

never intentionally, by the Bill of Rights or by any
legislation, been invested with the right to vote in the

election of a pastor, except in concurrence or non-

concurrence with an election previously made by the

church ; and that all the property in the care of the

parish was trud property—property entrusted to it for

certain specific purposes and for no other—which
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could never be honestly and rigbtfuUy used except in

support of the faith and the minister of that particu-

lar church to which the parish itself was legally and

organically united.

The number of the members of the church at that

time, according to the church records, was eighty-

three, twenty of wliom were males, and sixty-tliree

were females. The number of active members then

living in Maiden was probably less. The male mem-

bers doubtless, were all, or nearly all, members also of

the parish, and others in the parish sympathized with

them and actively supported them. The women of the

church wore not members of the parish ; had they

been, the final issue of the conflict, beyond qupstii)n,

would have been quite different from what it was.

The comparative strength of the two parties was

usually indicated in the choice of a moderator at the

parish meeting, although often the number of votes

cast was not recorded. At a meeting of the parish

held Aug. 1, 1827, in the choice of a moderator, "Ed-

ward Wade, Esq. (the candidate of the Universalists),

had eighty-eight votes, and Ephraim Buck, Esq. (the

candidate of the Congregationalists), had one hun-

dred and eleven, and was elected." This was an im-

portant meeting, for (on account, apparently, of some

illegality in the calling and transactions of several

previous meetings, including tlie annual meeting in

May), all the jtarish officers were to be elected, and,

what was of still more moment, "a committee to sup-

ply the pulpit was to be chosen." As the Congrega-

tionalists were now the majority, they elected the parish

officers and also the committee to supply the pulpit.

But at the next annual parish meeting, held March

20, 1S'2S, although the number of votes cast for moder-

ator was not recorded, Edward Wade, the leader of

the Universalists, was elected to that office, and all

the parish officers elected, also the five members of

the committee chosen to supply the pulpit, were

Universalists. It would be interesting to know how
the orthodox majority of the year before liad been

overcome, and a Universalist majority had been

gained. But the parish records are silent upon this

subject, and they were never again under the control

of the Congregationalists.

Previous to this annual parish meeting the Rev
Sylvanus Cobb, a young Univensalist preacher of

considerable reputation in his own denomination, and

especially distinguished as a controversialist, had

pre.ached several times in Maiden, probably in the

h:ill of the school-house then standing on the south

side of Pleasant Street, upon the site now occupied by

the Masonic Building. Mr. Cobb had made a favor-

able impression upon the Universalists, and at the

parish meeting above referred to (March 20, 1828),

" The foUowing motioD was made and adopted, viz., that from the

high opiiiniou this society Entertains of the Rev* Sylvanus Cobb our

Committee be requested to Employ him a3 our Mioister for one year

—

on such terms as sbtiU be satisfactory to hitn and honorable to the so-

ciety—and in case of his deliuiiuency for any part of said time, such

other person or persons as they may think proper."'

But at a parish meeting held June 25, 1828, it

was

"Voted, To adopt the motion made In wrUlag by Mr. Bonj« G. Hill,

which Is as follows—That the high satisfaction derived from tho Po»-

toral Labours of the Rev. Sylvanus Cobb since his stay in Slalden that it

is dneined a subject of expediency to appoint a Committee to wait on hlni

to obtain his terms of settlement with the society and report (as soon as

can be convenient) to this meeting. Voted, That Mr. Ben)» Lyndo, W"
Barrett and Dea. Eben' Townsend bo a committee for the purposes

above. Voted, Not to proceed any further on businosa of this meeting

untill the committee aforesjiid rejiort their doings."

This committee, after an interview with Mr. Cobb,

who was already residing in the parsonage, returned

to the meeting and presented in writing a long report,

in which are stated in minute detail the terms upon

which Mr. Cobb agrees to settle " over said Parish or

Society as their Pastor." The society at once voted

that the report be accepted, " and that Mr. Cobb be

settled agreeably thereto ;
" also that the " installa-

tion " shall take place July 30, 1828, and that a com-

mittee be chosen "to write letters of communication

to the several Clergymen which they may deem pro-

per to officiate at the solemnization of the connection

between this society and the Rev. Sylvanus Cobb."

Several other votes are entered upon the record as

having been passed, and finally the clerk records that,

by vote, the meeting was dissolved, and officially signs

his name. Then he adds another record, as follows:

"N. B. this Vote was taken but overlooked to be put in ita regular

place, which vote was na fullows, viz., Voted, that this Parish concur

with rte recommendation of the church. . . . The recommondation is as

followeth ... at a meeting of the fii-st church of Christ in Maiden at

the Parsonage liouse June 'SA^ 1S'-S, voted unanimously that this church

recommend to the Parish with which we stand connected to settle Kev.

Sylvanus Cobb as our Pastor. Eben', Townsend, Clerk pro tem. Attest

Ch'. Hill, Parish Clk."

On the day appointed for the installation services,

(July 30, 1828) " the Council met in the parlors of

William Barrett—Hosea Ballou, of Boston ; Seba.stian

Streeter, Thomas Whittermore, of Cambridge ; Russell

Streeter, of Watertown, and Walter Balfour, of Charles-

town, assisting."

Turning now to the records of the First Church in

Maiden, we find several entries which are of marked

significance, especially when compared with the above

recorded transactions of the so-called " First Church,"

and of the First Parish. Under date of " Maiden,

May 31, 1828," is found the following record of aciion

taken by the First Church at a church meeting

:

" Whereas a complaint has been laid tin before the First Congrega-

tional Church in Maiden against B'. Ebenezer Townsend, specifying

that, contrary to the wishes ami faith of the Churcli, he is aitiing and

assisting in supplying the pulpit in tlie Firnt iAiUgregalional Society in

this place with an Univerailist preacher, which doctrine to this Church

is heresy ; and whereas the first and secimd steps according to the gospel

have been taken witlt him without obtaining satisfaction ; and whereas

he has been cited to appear before the Churcli and answer to said com-

plaint, and ho having failed to render any satisfaction to the Church
;

therefore Voted, that we consider said Townsend's (conduct ?), as stated

in the above complaint, a breach of Church covenant, and that ho be

no longer a member of this Church. Voted that the above be read be-

fore the Church at their next connuunion, before the administration of

the ordinance of tho supper.

Attest, Ephraim Buck, Clerk."
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liieiii\( rii'irii [iriMnii ii scene which most pa-

Ibetically diuflotiea lht> sweet ami tender spirit of the

I

church ami the uiitiiiliiig fidelity of its

i.i their evangelistic and Ohristly mission,

even in the darkest days of its great tribulation. The

refiird reads thus:
"JtAlDES, Junol, 1828.

"Tt>U 4tky the Mcnnteul of the Lord'd Supper vtm (Iiiiluistei-ed, and

rmtiiB Here HdinltleJ b> pr^tftwMloa to this Oiurch, viz.: Uriah

Ir, Cntuvllle Jefla, Charlotte Uakee and Eliza A. Pierce. The

[iiK « mat were liaptiM>d, .\ltoet,

''Et'URAiu Buck, Clerk."

This scene, coming in as it does in the height of the

hattle, amidst the clash of arms, "the thunder of the

captiilns and the shouting," seems even now like a

rift in the overshadowing blackness through which

can be seen heaven.

The record iiniuediately following the above is aa

follows:

"MAI.UEN, July 30, 1S28.

"Thij day the Ilev. SylvauiiB Cobb, an Univer&ihst preacher, is said to

be Installed to the iiaiitum! caro of the first cliiirch in ^laldon. Tlie

church, huvlni; heard that the above installation was to tal^o place, pre-

purvU aud sent ii) t>o< rulluwing [remuustrauce, but the council refused

to hear it.

liEUONSTBANUE.

"To the Eccleeiiisticul Council to be couveued in lilaiden July Siith,

18*28, for the purpose* of iuslulliug the Itev. Sylvauus Cobb, as I'astor of

the tltxt Cliurvli and I'urish in said town.

"CiiMLiiMr.N,—Having heard that a meeting of the lirst Church in

Maiden, williout tlifdesire, or retpiest, or knov\ ledge of the members, had

l>een called by the Uev. SylvanuB Cobb, who himself was not a menitier
;

and that at baid uuautliori/ed meeting, attended only by Mr. Ebenezer

Townsend (excommunicated from our Church May 31, 1828), his wife,

SuMinnah, and Miss Klizabeth H. Sargent, the Kev. .Sylvauus Colli) wat«

elected by them a member, as they claim, of the first Church in Maiden
;

and that afterward the aforesaid persons, together with the Iter. Sylva-

nus Cobt, proceeded to receive to Church fellowship sundry other per-

sons, and also to elect the Rev. Sylvauus Cobb to be the Clerk, and the

said Khene/er Townsend to be a Deacon of the ssiid first Church, as they

claim ; ami ali>o having heard that the first Parish in Maiden bad given

to the Kev. Sylvauus Ctibb a call to settle in the ministry over the said

firvt Parish ; and that Wednesday, the thirtieth day of July Instant, was

appointed for the installation

—

•* We, the undersigned officers and members of the church connected

with the said Hrst parish, having never alienated ourselves, by certificate

or otherwise, from the said Church or Parish, wholly disown and disap-

prove of the doings^of the above named Ebenezer Townsend, his wife and

Miss Elizabeth A. Sargent and those connected with them in the above-

named transactions, as being entirely unprecedented and contrary to

all ecclcBiastical usage, and contrary to our own wishes and feelings.

.\nd we do also hereby remonstrate against any ecclesiaatical Council

pl\jceeding to install the Kev. Sylvauus Cobb as pastor over the First

Church in Maiden. Slalden, July 29, 1828.

"EeuaAiM Blck, ) ,^ Lewis Fishes,
f oeacons.

"Sii.AS Sarqent, j Nathan Newhall,
" Alios Sahuent, Wm. II. Richakdson."
" PlIINEAS SPKAQVE,

*• We, the undersigned, being members of the First Church in Maiden
approve of the aliove remonstrance." To this approval of the remon-
Btmiice are aftlxi-d the signatures of twenty-nine women, and the whole
is followed by the oUlcial certification :

*' True copy, Ephraim Buck,

Clerk."

This remonstrance had no effect at the time, as the

council of Universalist ministers which was called to

install the Rev. Mr. Cobb refused to hear it read.

It is but fair to look next at the records of the

Universalist Church in Maiden. Opening the book,

we find that they are called •' Records of the First

Church of Christ in Maiden." The record of the

first meeting is, in part, as follows:

" M a meeting of the First Church of Christ In Maiden, holden at the

Parsonage houiKi, May 22>, 1828 :

"l*t. Voted that we approve the doings of the Parish in employing

Kev. Sylvauus Cobb to lead in our public de\otions, and minister unto

us the word of life, the present year.

"2*. Voted that Hev. .Sylvauus Cobb and Mrs. Eunice II. Cobb he re-

ceived into fellowship as members of this riiurrh.

*'3't. ^oted to receive IJrs. Cllarles Hill, .\i-tenius ('utter and Edward

Wade into fellowship iw members of this (Miurcli,

"4*>>. Choso Br. SylvanuB Cobb Secretary of this Church."

A committee was then appointed " to prepare a new
draught of the Confession of Faith and Covenant used

by the Church in the admission of members, with

suitable amendments, and also to draught a code of

By-Laws." The meeting was then adjourned.

The question inevitably arises at this point, Who
elected Rev. Mr. Cobb and received him iys a member
of the First Church in Maiden? It is recorded that

he wa.s received at a meeting of the First Church in

that town. J5ut it is certain that neither the deacons

nor any other of the numerous members of the First

Church who signed " the remonstrance " had re-

ceived any notification of that meeting, or had any

knowledge of it until after it had been held. Was
that so-called church meeting comi)osed, at its open-

iug,of simply Ebenezer Townsend, his wife Susannah,

and Miss Elizabeth H. Sargent? and did they three

assume to be the " First Church in Maiden," and as

such church receive members and elect Mr. Cobb as

secretary ? If so, the prayer :
" God have mercy on

their souls," ought to have gone up from the hearts of

all good people in Maiden ; and not for those three

persons only should the prayer have been offered, but

also for all who abetted or sanctioned such a transac-

tion. It is not believed that such a procedure would

now be regarded by any member of the Universalist

Church in Maiden with any other than feelings of

repugnance and reprobation.

The First Universalist Church in Maiden held its

second meeting on June 7, 1828, at which it received

seven persons by confession of faith, adopted " a new
draught" of the Arminian Confession of Faith and

Covenant, written by Rev. Eliakim Willis, " with

suitable amendments,'' and also adopted a resolution

as follows :

" Renolved, That wliereas Peacons Buck and Sargeaut have withdrawn

themselves from the Parish with which we, as a Church, stand con-

nected, have absented themselves from our religious meetings, aud have

united themselves to another religious Society, we can, therefore, no

longer recognize them as Deacons of this Fii-st Church of Christ in Mai-

den ; and it is expedient that we proceed to choose at least one person

to that office at the present time. . . . Chose Br. Ebenezer Townsend
First Deacon of this Church."

But Deacons Buck and Sargent, in the "Remon-
strance" of July 30, 1828 (quoted above), distinctly

and publicly affirmed that they were still "officers

and members of the church connected with the First

Parish, having never alienated ourselves, by certifi-

cate or otherwise, from said church or parish," nor
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had they united themselves to any other religious

society. They continued for years after this to be

officers of the First Church and members of the First

Parish. There is no record, up to this date, of any

vote by which the First Parish had formally and le-

gally sundered its long-continued connection with the

First Church, nor of any vote by which the First

Church had formally and legally sundered its long-

continued connection with the First Parish.

It should be noticed that Ebenezer Townsend ap-

pears at this meeting as a member of the church, so

called, there assembled, and is elected deacon. But

there is no record of his having been received to this

Universalist Church. He must, therefore, have been

one of those two or three members of the First Church

who, on May 22, 1828, met secretly at a private house,

called themselves " The First Church of Christ in

Maiden," received Rev. Mr. Cobb and four other per-

sons, as they claimed, into the " First Church," and

then elected Mr. Cobb secretary of that church. Mrs.

Susan Townsend and Miss Elizabeth H. Sargent are

also recognized in the records of the Universalist

Church as members of that church, but there does

not appear to be any record of their reception into

that church. This indicates that they united with

Mr. Townsend, on May 22, 1828, in calling them-

selves "The First Church of Christ in Maiden." It

does not appear that any others were associated with

those three persons in that uotorious act of assump-

tion and fraud, until they had received Mr. Cobb and

others as members.

The First Universalist Church in Maiden held its

third meeting " at the Parsonage, June 23, 1828." The
record of this meeting is as follows :

" Is' Chose Br. E. Wade, Moderator pro tern.

" 2^ Chose Br. E. Towuaend, Secretary pro tern,

"S-^ Voted uuanimously, That this Church recommend to the Pariah

with which we stand connected, to settle Rev. Sylvanus Cobb as Pastor

of our Church and Parish.

" Eben Townsend, Secetary pro tern.

" A true copy of the Record of the meeting.

"SvLVANUs Cobb, Secretari/."

Returning now to the history of the First Church,

we cannot find that more than three of its members
united in the organization of the Universalist Church,

viz.; one man and two women ; and the one man was,

after due form and process of discipline, excommuni-
cated from the First Church before the Universalist

Church held its second meeting. The brethren of the

First Church, and other men in the town who sympa-
thized with them, retained their connection with the

First Parish so long as there was any hope of restoring

the parish property to the uses for which it had been

intrusted to the parish. As late as January 23, 1832,

they appear to have made a most earnest but fruitless

effort, through the power of the ballot, to discharge

their obligations as honest men, placed in care of

trust property, a part of which had come down to

them, unperverted in its use, through nearly two

centuries. At a meeting of the First Parish, held at

the above date, the whole number of votes cast for

moderator was 228. Of this, Edward Wade, Esq., a

leader of the Universalists, received 134
; the good

physician and orthodo.x deacon, Epbraim Buck, re-

ceived ninety-three ; and Thomas Odiorne received

one. Another unsuccessful attempt of this kind was

made at a parish meeting held March 26, 1832. This

was the last effort which the orthodox party made,

through the ballot, to save the parish properly to the

uses for which it had been intrusted to the parish.

It may not be best, in this place, to describe in detail

the proceedings by which a Universalist majority was

.secured in those deci.-ive parish-meetings. It is a

painful story. Suffice it now to say that the ni.ajority,

according to abundant and trustworthy evidence, was

obtained by methods which were anything but right-

eous and honorable. And when that nuijority w;is

obtained, the bars were put up. New rules for the

admission of members were forthwith adopted, which

thereafter made it impossible for any persons except

Universalists to become members of this ancient

orthodox parish.

After the orthodox party had failed to restore by
their votes the parish property to the service of evan-

gelical faith, the service to which it was consecrated

by its donors, they brought suit at law against the

parish. But this, too, failed of success. The courts

at that time were dominated by the influence of an
extraordinary decision of the Supreme Judicial Court

of the Commonwealth, which had bereft the Congre-

gational Churches of some of their dearest rights and
most sacred liberties. That decision was given in the

year 1820, in what has usually been termed " the Ded-
bam case," but is now correctly cited as Baker versus

Fales, 16 Mass., 488, and was regarded by some of the

most eminent lawyers of the time, headed by Daniel

Webster, as an unwarranted and unrighteous deci-

sion.

The Universalists in Maiden pleaded that decision

as justifying their method of organizing their church,

their seizure, by a majority vote unrighteously ob-

tained, of the entire iiarish-property, which had been
sacredly devoted by the contributors of it to the sup-

port of an evangelical church and ministry, and their

devotion of that property forever to the support of a

Universalist Church and ministry. Possibly they

had the legal power to do at that time what they did.

But might does not make right. No power, no civil

constitution, no law or statute, no decision of courts,

can transmute falsehood, fraud and breach of trust

into righteousness, else American slavery, with all its

inexpressible wickedness and infamy, and a thousand

other tyrannies, persecutions and atrocious wrongs,

would have been made righteous.

The members of the First Church clung affection-

ately to their place of worship, attending faithfully

the religious services held at the brick meeting-

house, until, without their consent, against their pro-

test, and to their dismay and grief, the Universalist
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uiajority in the pariith called the Rev. Mr. Cobb, an

avoweJ I'liiventalbt, to become the settled pastor of

the First C'luirch and Parish, and he accepted the

call. Then the stern, remorseleM voice of arbitrary

power said to theiu, as it said to their Puritan Fathers

in England two centuriea before—Conform to a faith

and til • worship which your souls abominate, ait un-

der preaching which you believe to be false and haz-

arddUH to the eternal interests of men, or llee hence

and go whither you will. They would not be false to

CkxI and their vows; they would not deny their Lord

and His gospel, nor defile their consciences ; and so

they lied from their own house of worship, endeared

to them by a thousand .sacred associations and tender

memories, where they and their falliers and mothers

had worshipped lioil, where they had received baptism

and had conle.ssed Christ as their Saviour and King.

The exiled Mock turned first into Captain John Sar-

gent's Hall, a little dingy upper room near the corner

of Salem and Ferry Streets, now used as a court-

room. Afterwards they gathered for their public

religious services in a small hall in the second story

of the brick school-house on Pleasant Street. There

were no persons of wealth among them. They had

left a good meeting-house, a fine parsonage-house,

and amide parsonage lands, the parish wood-lots,

and a ministerial fund of about ^000—the whole, ac-

cording to one estimate, valued at aliout §20,000. They

were few in number, and could ill atl'ord to bear the

pecuniary burdens which they now assumed. But

they were rich in faith, in hope and in good works.

The brethren of the First Church, and other

men sympathizing with them, had now separated

from the Universalist Church and minister, but not

from the First Church. As has already been shown,

in the conscientious discharge of their duty as en-

trusted with the parish property, they took active

part in the parish meetings as late as March 26, 1832.

But in July of that year they organized a religious

society, which, in the place of the First Parish, was

soon legally connected with the First Church. In the

preamble to the Constitution and By-Laws of that

society, they say :

—

"Whereas we coDsider tlio service and worship of God, in its purity

and Bimplicity, nut only a higli and important duty, but an inestimable

privilege, one tliat infinitely transcendsall others, und one for the support

ot which all tliingH eliie, if necessary, should be sacrificed ;—and being

fully persuaded in our own minds that the right ways of tlie Lord are

perverted in the first religious Society in this place; and that any

further utteinpts to restore the ancient order of tilings in the first reli-

gious Society would he not only useless and vain, but fraught with

more evils than w>uld be atoned for by all the ministerial property be-

longing to suld Society if obtained ; therefore we whose names are here

inserted . . . do, on this twentieth day of July, in the year of our Lord

eighteen hundred and thirty-two, hereby constitute and form ourselves

into a religious Society, by the name of The Trinitariun Congregational

Society ;—and we do hereby mutually covenant and agree with each

other, and with such other persons as may heiTafter unite with us, that

we will maiulnln and support the public worship of God (to the extent

of onr ability), according to the ancient usages of Congregational Socie-

Ucs In New England."

The First Church was now wholly separated from
the First Parish. It had passed through the greatest

trial in its long history of nearly two hundred years.

But it had not been alone in its tribulations. It

had known the blessedness of fellowship in suf-

' fering. In the early part of the present century

eighty-one Congregational Churches in Massachusetts

were forced in a similar way to separate themselves

from the parishes or societies with which they had

been connected. In most of these cases, however, Uni-

tarians were the aggressors, and pursued a course in

many particulars similar to that adopted by the Uni-

versalists in Maiden, taking from orthodox Churches

their meeting-houses, parsonage-houses, ministerial

lands and all other property. In some instances they

wrenched from these churches even their communion
service and church records. The action of the Uni-

versalists in Maiden with reference to the communion
service of the First Parish will be noticed further on.

Rev. Alexander Wilson McClure, D.D., the
Twelfth Pastor of the First Church.— The fol-

lowing extracts have been taken from a manuscript

biography of Dr. McClure, which has been com-

menced (and it is hoped will be completed) by one

eminently fitted to give to the world, in appreciative

and elegant words, the life of this brilliant man, this

m.isterful and brave minister of Christ

:

" Alexander Wilson McClure was born in Boston, May 8, 1808, and

was named for his maternal grandfather. Captain .\lexander Wilson,

whose mother was the only daughter of Rev. John fllorehead, the first

Presbyterian Minister of Boston. His ancestry was Sjotcb-Irisli on

both sides of the house, his great-great-grandfather on his father's side

being John McClintock, one of the besieged at Londonderry, Ireland,

during the famous siege of 1689. These families were identified with

the great Protestant struggle of the period in tlie North of Ireland.

His uncle. Rev. David McClure, was a distinguished Missionary to the

Indians of his day.

" His father, Thomas McClure, was a merchant of vigorous intellect

and great force of character. He was possessed of fine business ability

and was the owner of Schooners and Coasters which carried on active

trade along the Eastern Coast quite far to the Soutli.

" His mother, Mary Wilson, . . . was a woman of much personal

charm, and possessed a dignified and elegant bearing, which, added to

a fine wit and talent in conversation, made her a prominent member of

the social circles of her day.

" He was the youngest of all his father's children, and on him was

lavished all that a father's pride and a mother's afi'ection could suggest.

His capacity was considered exceptionally good from earliest childhood,

and ills precocious scholarsliip excited the wonder of his parents and

teachers. At the age of eight he was reading Shakespeare with avidity,

bad finished Rollin's Ancient History and other works, and at fifteen,

when ready to enter College, be had made himself acquainted with all

the bool^s in the Library of the Boston Athenaeum. He was trained in

the Boston Latin School and entered Tale College in 18'23. ... A
finished and high-bred bearing was, through life, one of his prominent

characteristics. At College his life was of the gayest. His well disci-

plined mind enabled him to perform bis college duties with very little

labor, an'd his irrepressible spirits sought amusement and excitement in

ways which often defied the strict rules of tlie College. His father dying

very suddenly at the conclusion of bis sophomore year, he was trans-

ferred by his mother to Amherst College, where he graduated at the age

of nineteen."

During Mr. McClure's senior year there occurred a

season of special religious interest in the college, and

under its quickening influence, with all the enthu-

siasm of his nature, he consecrated himself to the

service of Christ, and soon "Set his face towards the

ministry." There is a vivid account of his conver-
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sion, including a letter which he wrote to his mother

at the time, in one of Jacob Abbott's books, entitled

"The Corner-Stone," pp. 320-331. His name is not

given, but it is known that the subject of the narra-

tive was Senior JlcClure. The depth of his convic-

tions and the genuineness of the religious change

which he experienced doubtless had much to do in

determining his subsequent theological beliefs. In-

deed, he was born into an era of heated theological

discussion. His father had be^n a prominent mem-
ber of the old Federal Street Church, Boston, and for

years sat under the preaching of the distinguished

Dr. William Ellery Channing. But when Dr. Chan-

ning embraced Unitarian views, the sturdy Scotch-

man, Thomas McClure, could not brook the new

gospel, left the church, united with the Park Street

Church, and was subsequently elected one of its dea-

cons. Such an experience of the father could hardly

have failed to exert a moulding influence upon the

religious character of the son, especially after his

conversion.

Mr. JlcClure entered Andover Theological Semi-

nary in 1827, and was graduated from the same in

18.30. In the seminary he was the cl.ass-mate of men
who afterwards bore such distinguished names as

William Adams, D.D., LL.D., George B. Cheever,

D.D., Bela B. Edwards, D.D., William G. Shaufler,

D.D., and President Leonard Woods, D.D., LL.D.

The year following his graduation Mr. McClure

was a resident licentiate at Andover. At the begin-

ning of this year, or some time in the autumn of

1830, his life, like a new-creating power, came into

the history of Maiden. He preached as stated sup-

ply to the First Church—probably coming from An-

dover every Saturday—until April 6, 1831, when he be-

came acting pastor. In this capacity he labored until

December 19, 1832. At this date he was ordained to

the Christian ministry, and installed pastor of the

First Church in Maiden. The ordaining council as-

sembled in the hall of the Brick School-house at nine

in the morning. Public services were held in the

Baptist Church in the afternoon. Rev. Dr. Lindsley,

of the Park Street Church, Boston, preached the ser-

mon. "The services," writes the clerk of the church,

Dr. Buck, " were solemn and interesting, the day was

pleasant and the congregation respectable." Six days

after his ordination (December 25, 1832), at South

Hadley, Mass., Mr. McClure and Miss Mary Brewster

Gould were united in marriage. Jlrs. McClure was

the daughter of Rev. Vinson and Mindwell Wood-
bridge Gould, of Southampton, Mass. The young

pastor and his bride were soon received into the house

of Dr. Buck, and resided there for about a year. The
house was on the corner of Main Street and Gould

Avenue, on a lot which is now vacant.

The advent of Mr. McClure to Maiden, in the au-

tumn of 1830, was most opportune. Rev. Aaron

Green had been dismissed August 8, 1827. For about

seven months after his dismissal the First ChiM«h

and the orthodox members of the First Parish had

control of the pulpit, and it wsis supplied by various

orthodox ministers. " Mr. Talcot Bates" appears to

have preached us a can<lidatc for settlement, and

some of the people desired that he should be called to

the pastorate ; but the parish, at a meeting held Dec.

2G, 1827, voted not to extend to him a call. Rev.

William W. Niles also preached as a candidate, and
made a number of warm friends, at whose request a

parish-meeting was called to sec if the njcnibers of

the parish would invite him to settle with them in

the ministry. But the parish, January 8, 1828, re-

fused even to consider the question of his settlement,

by a vote of fifty-three against twenty-nine. There

is no record that the c/mrch took any action in either

of these cases. The Universalists, on March 8, 1828,

having, by a majority vote in the parish, obtained

control of the pulpit, and having at that date voted

to invite a Universalist—Rev. Sylvauus Cobb—to otB

elate as their minister for one year, the First Church

was driven to seek another place of worship and an-

other minister. The first indication, in the records

of the church, of any change in its place of worship,

is under date of May 18, 1828. On that day, it being

the Sabbath, the First Church worshiped in Captain

John Sargent's Hall, and Rev. Cornelius B. Everest

preached. At a church-meeting, held after divine

service in the afternoon, it was voted, that the Rev.

Mr. Everest "be invited to exercise all the rights and

duties of a Pastor of this church." He accepted the

invitation, and appears to have served as acting pas-

tor for about one year. The Rev. John R. Adams,
brother of Dr. William Adams of New York, preached

to this little flock for some time previous to the com-

ing of Mr. McClure. When the latter began his ser-

vice as stated supply, the First Church had held ser-

vices of worship separate from those of the First

Parish for more than two years ; but the conflict was

still raging. None of the orthodox party had sev-

ered their connection with the First Parish, and the

clangor and heat of iheological debate still filled the

town

.

•

McClure was a strict Calvinist. He belonged to

the class of theologians designated at that time as

Old School, in distinction from those called New
School. Those men whom Capt. John Dexter con-

demned, on account of their " Bade Hopkintonian

Principels," weie New School in their theology, or, as

they preferred to call themselves, " Consistent Calvin-

ists." Theologically, Mr. McClure was in sympathy

with his predecessors in the Maiden pulpit, Mathews,

Wigglesworth and Emerson. Rev. Mr. Wigglesworth,

after his decease, was referred to, in an oration deliv-

ered at Cambridge, as " Orthodoxus MaJdunatus."

The same title might appropriately have been given

to Rev. McClure. But the difference between the

Old School and the New, of that time, was trifling in

comparison with the difference between both of those

Schools and the Armiuians. Mr. McClure was
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ihoruuglily evHiiKeliial iii hia faith. Out of his owu

expvrieuce, lu wtll a* out of the Word of Ood, he had

leuroed to believe in the reaHty tind the necessity of

the uew birth. Under a profound sense of the de-

pendence of «11 men upon the regenerating grace of

the Holy Spirit for salvation, he preached, and lab-

orwl iiiui prayed for the iuimediate conversion of the

impenitent among his people; and not without

marked success. He had not preached a year before

a powerful revival of religion came on. When be en-

tered tipon his labors in Maiden he was but twenty-

two years old. When the time came to gather the re-

cent converts into the church, and welcome them to

the Lord's Table, as Mr. McClure bad not been or-

dained, anil therefore could not oliiciate at the sacra-

ment of the Lord's Supper, it was arranged that Dr.

John Codman, of Dorchester, should perform that ser-

vice. .Accordingly, on communion Sabbath, Novem-

ber G.18.'J1, Dr. Codman being present and conduct-

ing the services, twenty-three persons were received

into the church, by confession of Christ. It is certain

that no such scene as this had been witnessed by this

church for more than half a century, if ever before.

Moreover, this large addition was made to the church

when it was in the midst of tiery trials and sufferings,

such a.s few churches in our country outside the Con-

gregational denomination have been called to endure.

Rev. S. Osgood Wright, in his "Historical Dis-

course, delivered in Maiden, December 1, 1831,"

remarks

:

" The greatest uddition evei known to have l)een made at anyone

time [to tlie Firet Church in Maiden] waa made on Nov. 6, 1831. Twen-

ly-lhri.'t' were then added b.v profejwion. Rev. i^Ir. iMcOlure is the pres-

ent miiiibler." And he also says, "Since they [the First Clmrcli] left

the nit'eting-huuae, they have added to their number thirty-three—

tweuty-nine by profession and four by letter. The whole number of

niemben) b now eiglity-six—twenty-fuur males and sixty-two females."

In connection with this revival occurred an event

of special significance. Mr. McClure was then only

an acting pastor. Yet, guided by him, the church

was led to examine as never before the Arminian

creed, and covenant which Eliakim Willis had foisted

upon it f«rty years before. Under that creed, and

under the preaching, the teaching, the religious in-

difference and moral corruption that went with it,

one church in a growing town had become extinct

;

and the First Church itself had first sunk into an

ominous indifference and stupor, and then had been

thrown into convulsions and conflicts which brought

it to death's door. But now the church, quickened

and enlightened in the atmosphere of a powerful re-

vival of religion, saw these mournful facts in all their

relations as in thelight ofthe noon-day sun, and took in

their full significance. Then came decisive action. On
November 2, 1832, that entire day having previously

been set apart for the purpose, the members of the

church, now spiritually revived, assembled, and with

great solemnity, with fastings, confession and pray-

ers, and in the presence of neighboring ministers,

they abolished that Arminian creed, and with joy

and thanksgiving adopted a thoroughly evangelical

Confession of Faith upd Covenant, thus placing the

church once more upon its ancient foundation—that

upon which it stood in the days of its greatest spirit-

ual power and glory, '• the foundation of the apostles

and prophets, Jesus Christ himself being the chief

corner-stone." This occurred only four days before

that communion Sabbath on which twenty-three re-

cent converts wore received into the fellowship of the

church, and received only upon credible evidence

that they had been born of the Spirit.

In the mean time it devolved upon this young min-

ister, not only to preach the gospel for the conversion

of his impenitent hearers and Ihestrenglheningof the

faith of Christians, but also to cheer the desponding

hearts of the little e.\iled band, and to lead them in a

vigorous defence of both their faith and their rights.

The manuscript biography already referred to has in

it this passage :

" Mr. McClure roused the orthodox minority to action, and resorted

to a lawsuit to obtain the property which had been bestowed by the

Calvinistic founders of the Maiden Church. iJut the case wiuj lost. All

that remained fur them to do was to begin a^ain as an infant church,

buy a site, and erect a new house of worship lu* they might be able.

The only property which they retained was the treasures which cer-

tain depiirted members had dedicated to the sacramental use of the

Church. Mr. 5Ic('lure—then twenty-two years old—guarded these

quaint and sacred vessels at no little risk to himself. Now that the in-

terest in points of theological belief haa champed, we cannot conceive

of the intense excitement they caused then. During a course of four

lectures on ' Universalisni ' delivered by Mr. McClure, in Maiden, in

1832, he was escorted home after each by a body of young men to protect

him from personal violence at the hands of the opposing party."

When Mr. McClure began his ministry in Maiden,

the First Church was at its lowest. Its enemies were

exultant and defiant. Their leader. Rev. Sylyanus

Cobb, was a man of large physical presence. Mr.

McClure had none of that kind of largeness to boast

of. He was of slender stature, and very youthful in

appearance. He was received in the town by the

opponents of his faith and of his church in a manner

anything but courteous. They spoke of him as " a

mere boy," and he was insulted upon the streets. At
first they deemed it quite safe to make him in various

ways the butt of their ridicule. But those who,

either in private or public, assaulted him or his re-

ligious faith with contemptuous speech, seldom or

never made the second attack. He was a man of fine

scholarship, and an accomplished theologian, of good

breeding and high spirit, and withal, an almost match-

less controversalist. All this made it dangerous to

assault him. But he was also a man of brilliant and

caustic wit. His power in the use of irony and sar-

casm, and of quick and sharp repartee, has seldom

been equaled. Those who at first thought to deride

him, soon regarded him with suitable fear, and for

their own protection, if from no higher motive, treat-

ed him with marked respect. His sincere piety and

his downright earnestness in all the work of the

Christian ministry endeared him to his own people,

gained for him the confidence of all, and softened the
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asperity of even the worst enemies of his faith. A
minister who was acquainted with him, and well in-

formed respecting his achievements in Maiden, says:

" I h:id a profound respect for his gifts, his character

and his work. In the earlier years he fought a Lard

battle, but fought it bravely, and came at last to be

greatly esteemed and honored by those who had

fought against him."

Mr. McClure's wit was often as harmless aa it was

brilliant, but sometimes it hurt. In either case, how-

ever, it was a jiart of himself, as natural as the tones

of his voice. He never put it on exhibition. It

might be said of liim, as Ralph Waldo Emerson said

of his Aunt Mary, that he " never used [his wit] for

display, any more than a wasp would parade his

sting." He used it only for a purpose, and generally

it was effective. The following incidentillustrateshis

ability in the line of sharp repartee. It is related

by a distinguished profes-donal gentleman who was

present at the meeting.

" On one occasion, Mr. McClnre, as chairman of the School Committee,

arose in a town-meeting and reqviesteil a larger appropriation of money

for the Knpport of the public schools, and snpported his request by facts

and arguTnents. Instantly a man whose reputation for generosity was

not high, sprang to his feet to oppose the additional appropriation. His

remarks, however, were largely a violent tirade against clergymen. He
declared them to be useless members of society, cumberere of the

ground, \my fellows, a heavy burden upon the community, snpported at

great expense by the town. He also remarked that in deference to his

wife lie paid ten dollars a year for the salvation of his soul, and he con-

sidered that a dear and even extravagant price. He sat down amidst

loud laughter and applause. Mr. McGlnre calmly rose from his seat,

explaining further the urgent need of a larger appropriation for the

schools, and then added ;
—'.\Uhough I differ from the gentleman, who

has just spoken, on the main question at issue, 1 am happy to say that

there is one point on which I fully agree with him, and that is that ten

dollars a year paid for the salvation of his soul is too much. But the

gentleman forgot to state the reason, which is, that ten millions of such

souls as his could dance together on the point of a cambric needle with-

out jostling, at the same time crying, ! the iraniensity of space !
' The

speaker sat down amidst ' thunders of applause,' which were repeated,

and so long continued that the man of small soul left the hall."

The meeting voted unanimously to increase the ap-

propriation for schools.

He remained pastor of this church until Nov. 9,

1842, when at his own request, mainly on account of

impaired health, he was dismissed. From 184-1 to

1846, he was the acting pastor of the Presbyterian

Church it St. Augustine, Florida. He then returned

to Boston where he was the editor of The Christian

Observatory from 1847 to 18.50. He was also assistant

editor of The Puritan Recorder for three years. The
First Church in Maiden called him the second time

to its service. He supplied the pulpit six months,

and then he was installed its pastor, Nov. 22, 1848.

But after a successful pastorate of about three years

and a half, he received an urgent call from the Grand

Street (Reformed Dutch) Church, Jersey City, N. J.,

and was dismissed from the church in JIalden, April

28, 1852. The First Church, in reluctantly granting

his request for this second dismissal, says:—"Our
hearts are moved with grief at parting from our long

tried, and faithful friend and Pastor, and with a feel

ing akin to desolation in view of our bereaved state."

He remained in the pastorate of the Grand Street

Church about three years, when he was called to the

Secretaryship of the American and Foreign Chris-

tian Union, and for several years tilled that ollice.

In 1850, he was sent to serve as chaplain of the

American Legation at Rome, Italy. "The Ameiican
Chai)el in Paris was erected largely by funds which
Dr. McClure secured with great zeal and labor."

In March 1859, "broken down by bronchial digea.se,

he retired from public service, and was a great suf-

ferer until his death." He died in Canonsluirg, Pa.,

Sept. 20, 1S(J5, but he was buried in the cemetery on

Salem Street, in Maiden, by the side of his three

little children whom he laid there so tearfully years

before. It was probably his own request that his

body might rest where sleep so many of the (leople

whom he loved, and to whom he ministered in the

Gospel of Christ.

The entire length of Dr. McClure's ministry in

Maiden, as stated supply, acting pastor and pastor,

was about sixteen years. He was respected more and
more in the town, and the esteem and affection of his

own people for him increased to the last. Feelings

equally appreciative and affectionate al.so appear to

have been cherished by him towards this town and
especially the jseople of whom he was pastor. Mrs.

McClure, who is still living, speaking of her husband
in a recent letter, remarks : "His love for Maiden,

for the church and people amounted to enthusiasm,

—

his youthful, ardent love." He was also highly es-

teemed by his brethren in the ministry. One of the

leading ministers of Boston affirmed that " no one
had ever done so much for his mind and heart as Dr.

McClure had." Amherst College, his Alma Mater, in

1854, gave him the honorary degree of Doctor of Di-

vinity.

He was a versatile scholar, and his abilities were as

varied as they were great. In one of the notices, pub-
lished at the time of his death, occur these words :

*' A great man is fallen—yea ascended. His talents were universal,

his learning was great, in science, history, his own language, Latin,

Greek, Hebrew, French, German, Italian. His wit was brilliant, his

memory extraordinary ; his disinterestedness notable. But his great

excellence was his humble trust in Christ, and his unreserved consecra-

tion to His cause."

In the biographical sketch, from which quotations

have already been made, among other characteristics

mentioned are the following :

*' His friendships and personal attachments were almost idolatrous
;

he was a faithful and disinterested friend ; he never shirked nor failed

to appear when his presence and influence were needed in adversity.

Ho was bold as a lion in defending those who were unjustly assailed

while he could, in a masterly way and by a few words, expose the pre-

tentious, and lay bare a sophism. He was a devotional man. Listen-

ing to his facetiousness, which would keep a company excited with
mirth, one would be greatly struck, in hearing him pray, with the deep
reverence and awe, and the earnest supplicatory tone of his pniyere. He
was a godly man, a sound divine, a trenchant controversialist (jis witness

his unparalleled Lectures on Ultra-Univerealisin), and withal he was a
true Christian gentleman. His forgiving spirit was an eminent char-

acteristic. "While his sensitiveness was acute and hie feelings were im-
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poWn, tfmaUMM bf\ no loJ«.m.nl in him. 11<- w« truly magnnni-

moiM."

Dr. XliClurc wiw ii prolific writer for the press. He

published valuiible articles in the Chri.-tian Ohatrva-

tory, 1.1" which lie \va« e.litor, New Brunswick Review

iiiul ill the Literary and Thrulogical lieinew ; also in

the Boston Recorder, the I'urilan Becordfr, of which

he wus for several years co-editor with Dr. Parsons

Cooke, ami in other religious papers. He was the

author of u 8inall book entitled, "The Life-Boat," an

allegory, which liiul a large circulation ;
of " Four

Lecture.1 on Ultra-Uuiversaliani," ii volume which

quickly reached a fourth edition, and which was

called "a theological classic unanswered and unan-

swerable ; " of the lives of .John Wilson, John Nor-

ton, John Davenport and John Cotton, in "The

Series of the Lives of the Chief Fathers of New Eng-

land," and a book entitled, "The Translators Re-

vived," which gives a biographical sketch of each

translator concerned in King James' version of the

Bible.

Dr. McClu re occupies a conspicuous position in the

history of Maiden. Becoming pastor of the F''irst

(.'hurcli at the time it was swiftly approaching extinc-

tion, he, under (Jod and His truth, arrested its down-

ward progress, revived its failing life and courage,

and restored to it its ancient honor and power. He
changed, largely, the currents of thought and belief

in Maiden, and the morals and manners of the com-

munity were much the better foi' his coming into it.

Upon questions of fiiith, and of right and wrong, he

was never indefinite or equivocal. He was no trim-

mer. It was impossible for him to be guilty of hedg-

ing, or of cowardly concealment. He was grandly

positive in his beliefs, and grandly brave in proclaim-

ing them, though be did not know that he was. He
appears to have been utterly ignorant of the experi-

ence of fear in any line of duty, and therefore was not

conscious of doing a brave thing in giving clear and

positive utterance to any truth or message of God.

In dealing with troubled and anxious souls, he was

gentle and tender as a mother, but it was not in him

to fear wicked and defiant men. He was himself a

faithful friend and a righteous man, and his delight

in all true and royal souls was unbounded. Some of

the ministers of Maiden have been great and godly

men, who wrought better than they knew, and bet-

ter than the people of their time knew. Dr. McClure
was one of these, and the impress of his own strong

and manly character—and especially of his grand

loyalty to truth and righteousness—still abides upon
the town. He is one of that blessed company to whom
has been fulfilled the words of the Seer of Patmos,

written by commandof a Voice from Heaven : "Their
works do follow them."

Rev. Chauncey Goodrich, the Thirteenth
P.vsTOR OF THE First Church.—Mr. Goodrich was
born in Middletown, Connecticut, July 20, 1817. His
father was the distinguished Chauncey Allen Goodrich,

D.D. LL.I)., who was born in New Haven, Connecti-

cut, October 23, 1790, graduated at Yale in 1810, was

tutor in that college from 1812 to 1814, was or-

dained at Middletown in 18G0, was Professor of Rhet-

oric and Oratory in Yale from 1817 to 1S39; and

then of Pastoral Theology in the Theological De-

partment, holding this position unti 1 his death,

which occurred February 25, 1800. The mother of

Rev. Chauncey Goodrich was Julia, the daughter of

Noah Webster, LL.D., the celebrated lexicographer.

The son graduated at Yale in 1837, taught one year in

a private school in Virginia, spent two years in the

Theological Dcparlmenl at New Haven, and was or-

dained Pastor of the F'irst Church in Maiden August

30, 1843, where he labored successfully until, at his

own request, he was dismissed November 1, 1847.

Mr. Goodrich was a scholarly, modest and courteous

man, accustomed to the society of educated people,

and was much resjiected and beloved in Maiden. A
lady who remembered seeing him in Maiden in her

early childhood, speaks now of" his gentle, refined face

and manner."

The church and .society parted with him, after his

ministry with them of about four years, with expres-

sions of sincere regret. He was installed Pastor of

the Congregational Church in Watertown, Connecti-

cut, August 22, 1849, and on account of impaired

health relinquished that pastorate November 1, 1856.

After that time he resided in New Haven, and, among
other literary labors in which he was engaged, aided

his father in preparing the revised edition of " Web-
ster's Unabridged Dictionary." He also continued

in this work after his father's death. He departed

this life March 27, 1868, aged forty years.

On October 22, 1843, shortly after his ordination at

Maiden, he married Miss Elizabeth E. Coe, daughter

of Rev. Noah Coe, at Greenwich, Connecticut. Their

son, an only surviving child, graduated at Yale in 1806.

Rev. Aaron C. Adams, the Fourteenth Minis-

ter.—Dr. McClure closed his second pastorate in

Maiden April 28, 1852. Mr. Adams was installed

.July 29th, of the same year. The latter was born in

Bangor, Maine, in 1815, and was the son of Eliashib

Adams (who was the son of Eliashib, of Canterbury,

Connecticut), and of Anna (Leland), daughter of Rev.

John Leland, of Peru, Massachusetts. He graduated

at Bowdoin College in 1838, and at Bangor Seminary

in 1839. On .July 10th, of the latter year, he was or-

dained.

During the earlier years of his ministry he labored

in Maine. Afterwards he settled in New Jersey.

Coming next to Maiden, in 1852, he continued in his

pastorate there for five years, and was dismissed at

his own request, July 15, 1857. The next year he

was installed pastor of the Congregational Church in

Auburn, Me., where he labored for ten years. In

1868 he accepted a call to the pastorate of the Con-

gregational Church in Wethersfield, Conn. This po-

sition he held until 1879. At the present date (1890)
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he continues to reside in Wetliersfiekl. Mr. Adams

has served in the Christian ministry about fifty-one

years, and is still engaged in the work he loves, hav-

ing now the pastoral charge of a parish in the vicin-

ity of his resilience.

Mr. Adams' ministry in Maiden was rich in spirit-

ual fruits. On a single Sabbath—May 6, 1 855—forty-

five persons united with the church ; thirty-seven by

confession of Christ and eight by letter. During the

five years of his ministry here seventy-nine united

with the church ; twenty-eight by letter and fifty-one

by confession of Christ. The church, upon bis resig-

nation, put on record its testimony " to his tVuthful-

ness as a pastor and a preacher," also to the pain it

felt in parting with him, and expressed to him its

"Christian sympathy and affection." Mr. Adams
himself speaks of his life and work iu this town

thus

:

"BIy five ycare at Blalilen I reckon as among Uie brightt'st and most

Btimulating in my ministry. W<' had an excellent company of brethren.

Our Sunday-School and prayer-ineetiuga were uncommonly interesting

and helpful ; and there wore seasons of special progress and ingathering.

1 left there with great reluctance."

Mr. Adams' wife was Harriet S. Johnson a daugh-

ter of Dr. A. and Julia (Sargent) Johnson. Their

two sons, John S. and George E. Adams, are

both deacons, the former in the Harvard Church,

Brookline, Mass., and the latter in the Shawmut
Church, Boston. The two daughters, Charlotte E.

and Harriet S. are married, the former residing in

Salt Lake City, and the latter in Wethersfield, Con-

necticut.

It is a matter of some interest that Mr. Adams was

one of four brothers—"brought up in the old Puri-

tanic fashion,"—three of whom became ministers of

the gospel. Two of these have entered into their

rest— Rev, George E. Adams, after a ministry of forty-

eight years, and Kev. John C. Adams, after a minis-

try of over thirty years. The Rev. Aaron C. Adams
having already labored in his calling fifty-one years

the total length of the three ministries is one hundred

and twenty-nine years.

The Fifteenth Minister of the First Church
WAS Rev. Charles Edward Reed.—He was born

January 28, 1830, in Taunton, Mass., was graduated

at Andover Seminary, in 1867, and was ordained in

Maiden, April 7, 1858. His pastorate was terminated

by act of council, December 1, 1869. He is now in

business in Milwaukie, Wis., and is a member and an

olficer of a Congregational Church.

Rev. Addison Pinneo Foster, D.D., was the
sixteenth minister of the First Church.—
His father was Rev. Eden B. Foster, D.D., long the

able preacher and faithful pastor of the John Street

Church, Lowell, Mass. The son was born September

25, 1841, at Henniker, N. H., fitted for college at

Phillips Academy, Andover, was graduated at Wil-

liams' College, in 1863, spent two years in theological

study, at Princeton, N. J., and graduated at the sem-

inary at Andover, in 1866. His first pastorate was

with the Appleton Street Church, Lowell, Mass.,,

where he was ordained, October 3, 1866. On account

of impaired health, he relinquished his pastoral charge

in 18(!8. After resting for two years, ho became act-

ing pastor for one year at Dubuque, Iowa. He was

installed pastor of the First Church, in Maiden, Mar.

29, 1876. After a brief, but successful ministry, he

resigned his charge. The brethren of the church, by

formal resolutions, urged him to remain, expressing

their high ap]u-eciation of his character, and recog-

nizing gratefully the success of his ministry. But he

insisted ujion the acceptance of his resignation, and

was dismissed by Council, September 18, 1872. He
was installed pastor of the First Church, Chelsea,

October 1, 1872; was called thence to the First Con-

gregatioualist Church, in Jersey City, N. J., in the

spring of 1877, and labored in that pastorate about

nine years. Dr. Foster was installed as pastor of

Immanuel Church, Boston, April 1, 1886, and fills

that position at the present time.

Rev. Joshua W. Wellman, was called to be the

Seventeenth Pastor of the First Church, in Mai-

den, and was installed March 25, 1874. After a serv-

ice of little more than nine years, he relinquished the

pastorate under advice of physicians, and was dis-

missed by sanction of Council, April 17, 1883.

The present pastor is the Rev. Theodore Clau-
dius Pease. He was born October 14, 1853, in

Poughkeepsie, N. Y., was graduated at Harvard Col-

lege, in 1875, and at Andover Seminary, in 1880. He
was ordained to the ministry, and installed as pastor

of the Congregational Church, in West Lebanon, N.
H., September 8, 1880. From that pastorate, he was
called to be the eighteenth minister, of the First

Church, in Maiden, and was installed December 16,

1884.

Modern Meeting-Houses of the First Church.

After the Church was deprived of its house of wor-

ship in 1828, it worshipped for about five years in an

"upper room." In 1832, the Trintarian Congrega-

tional Society, which in Sejjtember of that year, be-

came connected with the First Church began the

erection of a meeting-house.

This house was completed in the spring of 1833.

The building committee, of which Rev. Mr. McClure
was chairman, made its final report, April 2, 1833,

and received the thanks of the society. The dedica-

tion of the church probably occurred not far from that

date. This house of worship was located on the

southeast corner of Maine and Haskins Streets. Im-
mediately eastof it was also erected a parsonage house.

This house appears to have been built by a joint-stock

company, upon land sold to thecompany, with certain

conditions, by the society.

Mr. and Jlrs. McClure, having boarded with Dr.

Buck during the first year after their marriage, and
having resided another year in a house owned by
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William Barrett, and situated oii naakins Street, juat

eaat ol tlu-
i
rweiit Unitarian Church, moved into the

liew i.ar^..ii;ii,'e houne. Tills was their home during

ihi- r<i.uiii.der uf Mr. JKC'lurt'.-. linst pastorate. Dur-

ing his sriond pastorate, they resided in the second

li.ii-e west of the depot of the Boston and JIaine

K..ilroad. To tlio same parsonage, however, Rev.

fhttuucey Goodrich brought his young bride in Octo-

ber, \»-iH, they having been united in marriage less

than two nionlhs alter his ordination. But at the

, 1. -, cil'iliB ministry of Mr. (ioodrich, the parsonage

».(s .sold. The hou.te is standing at the present time,

and is still used lus a d\velling-hou.se.

In building the meeting-house a debt w.is incurred,

which, though not large, was for many years a heavy

burden upon the small .society. In this house the

church anil society worshipped about seventeen years.

Ill I.S4S, those of the congregation, who resided in

South Maiden, e.\i>rc»scd a desire to organize a church

and build a house of worship in their part of the town.

Consequently in March of that year, twenty one mem-

bers of the First Church were dismissed that they

might organize a new church on the territory now

comprised in the town of Everett. Most of those

who now remained with the First t'hurch regardeil

their house of worship as located too far to the south.

It was, therefore, moved in 1850 to the site now occu-

pied by the Fire Engine House near the Square, and

at the same time was enlarged. Here the church and

congregation had their church home for nineteen

years, when they found themselves again straitened

for room. As the hou.se was in the process of being

elevated, and also enlarged the second time, it was

blown down in the memorable " September gale " of

1869. This occurred in the last year of the pastorate

of Rev. Mr. Reed. The society immediately addressed

it.self to the work of building again the house of God,

which was completed in about a year, and was dedi-

cated March 23, 1871. This is the house of worship

which is occupied at the present time by the First

Church. Six days after the dedication of this house,

Rev. Addison P. Foster was installed as pastor of the

church and society.

The rRosPEKiTY 01" THE Chuech.—The growth

of the First Church, during the sixty-two years which

have elapsed since its separation from the First Parish

has exceeded its growth during any previous sixty

years of its long history. When Mr. McClure began

his labors as acting pastor of the church in April,

1831, the entire number of church members resi-

dent, or recognizejl as members, could not have been

much over sixty ; for Rev. S. O. Wright in his " His-

torical Discourse," delivered in December 1881, (a

month after the reception of twenty-three, on one

Sabbath, by profession), afiirmed that the whole num-
ber of members was then eighty-six. But in the Di-

rectory of the First Church for 1890, the number of

members is stated to be 572, of whom 452 are residetit

and ninety-six non-resident.

In 1831, the congregation could be accommodated

in a small hall in the second story of a school-house.

But in 1890, a church with seats for an audience of

about nine hundred is barely sufficient for the congre-

gation. The members of the Sabbath-school at the

present time number 543. The church also sustains

a nii.ssjon Sabbalh-school of 163 members in that part

of Maiden called Edgeworth. Members of the church

are likewise connected with a religious enterprise on

Belmont Hill, which is designated " Mystic-side Con-

gregational Union," and which, it is expected, will

soon grow into a church. The school at Edgeworth

is sustained by "The Edgeworth Mission Society,"

and was organized in 1852, with about twenty schol-

ars. Its sessions were held at first in a freight depot,

then in a private house, later in a school-house. A
chapel was builc in 186G, and was dedicated in Decem-

ber of that year. This Sabbath-school, during the

thirty-eight years of its history, has had only three

superintendents: Thomas S. Wiljiams, Esq., for some

years superintendent of the Boston and Maine R. R.,

Dea. James Freeman, for many years Deacon of the

First Church, and Mr. Joseph W. Chadwick, Master

in the Boston Latin school. Each of the first two

served in this office about ten years. Mr. Chadwick,

the present superintendent, has served about nineteen

years. A prayer and conference meeting (with preach-

ing occasionally) is held every Sabbath evening. The

history of this mission has been one of great success

and of marked usefulness.

Other Congregational Churches.—In the

spring of 1848, the Cougregationalists who resided in

North Maiden,—a territory now comprised in the

beautiful town of Melroee,—feeling that the growing

population in that vicinity should be better provided

with religious privileges, organized an Orthodox Con-

gregational Church. They erected a house of worship,

which was dedicated in 1849. The same year the

Rev. Stillman Pratt, who had preached to them for

several months, was installed as their pastor. Such

was the origin of the present prosperous Congrega-

tional Church in Melrose.

The organization of the Winthrop Church in

1848 in South Maiden,—a territory which is now
comprised in the pleasant and rapidly growirg town

of Everett—h-as already been mentioned. It wor-

shipped for a time in the hall of the South-West Dis-

trict School-house. Its first minister was Rev.

George E. Pratt, who was ordained in 1849. This

church was unhappily divided in 1858. But the two

parts were brought together again in 1861, constitu-

ting the present united and efficient Congregational

Church in Everett.

The First Congregational Church in Maple-
wood.—On July 2, 1873, four persons at the house of

Mr. Frank P. Harriman, of Maplewood, Jlalden,

prayerfully considered the question of the organiza-

tion of a Congregational Church in that part of the

town. On Wednesday of the following week another
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prayer-meeting was held with special reference to

the same subject, at the house of Mr. John H. Potter.

The following paper was drawn up December 22,

1873 :
" We the undersigned, residents of Maplewood

and vicinity, desire that a Congregational Church be

established in this place, and guarantee our 8upp^)rt for

the furtherance of that object." Twenty-two persons

signed this paper. These people decided at ouce to

hold services of public worship on tiie Sabbath. Kev.

J. W. Turner was invited to serve as acting pastor.

The IVIassachusetts Home Missionary Society oll'ered

to contribute $400 towards his support, provided op-

portunity should be offered him to preach and labor

elsewhere one-half of the time. It was soon arranged

that he should divide his services between Maplewood

and Edgeworlh ; the lirst place being in the easterly,

and the other in the westerly part of Maiden. The

people at Maplewood leased Randal's Hall, and the

first service of public worship was held on the morn-

ing of the first Sabbath in January, 1874. They had

furnished the hall and named it "Salem Hall." A
Sabbath-school was instituted, in the afternoon, of

eighteen members. On January 20, a Sabbath-school

was fully organized with Mr. Frank P. Harriman,

superintendent; Mr. John H. Potter, assistant super-

intendent; and Mr. E. P. Woodward, secretary and

treiisurer. During the first year the average attend-

ance w;is forty-sis, and during the second year fifty-

three.

" The First Congregational Society in Maple-

wood " was organized March 30, 1874. " The First

Congregational Church in Maplewood" was organ-

ized, by advice of a Council, iu Salem Hall, on

June 10, 1874. In the same hall the church and

society worshipped nearly three years. In the lat-

ter part of this period the society erected a house

of worship, which was dedicated June 7, 1877. A
debt was incurred, and some difficulty has been ex-

perienced in canceling the same, but there is now

a good prospect that the society will soon be en-

tirely free from debt.

Rev. J. W. Turner may properly be called the

father of this church. He was an able and earnest

preacher, a true and godly man, and he became

warmly attached to the little flock that gathered

around him, and was greatly interested in the or-

ganization and prosperity of this church. He
closed his labors with this people in February,

1875.

On the 16th of May, iu the same year, Rev. Silas

Ketchum was called to be the pastor of this church

and society. He preferred not to be installed, but

served as acting pastor until October 1, 1876. Mr.

Ketchum was a scholarly and accomplished man.

His able sermons and faithful pastoral labors were

highly appreciated by his people, and they parted

with him with sincere regret. The next acting

pastor was Rev. Alfred S. Hudson, whose ministry

in Maplewood commenced October 8, 1876, and who

33-iii

at the same time was acting pastor of the young

Congregational Church in Linden (a portion of the

city of Maiden, lying northeast of Maplewood.)

He continued with the church in Maplewood nearly

seven years. His labors were earnest and faithful,

but were prosecuted in the face of some difficulties,

for which, perhaps, neither he nor his church were

responsible. His pastorate terminated in June, 1883.

After this various ministers supplied the pulpit until

September 1 1883, when Rev. II. Allen Shorey be-

came acting pastor, and served as such until Octo-

ber 1, 1884. At that date Rev. William F. Obear

commenced his labors as the acting pastor of this

church and society. He is still with them, and his

ministry is happy and successful.

The church is united and faitliful, supporting a

flourishing Sabbath-school and all departments of

church work, and is inspired by the hope of still

larger prosperity. The present number of church

members is eighty-five, of whom thirty are males and

fifty-five females.

The Union Congeegational Cuuiicti in Linden

(Northeast Maiden), was organized with fourteen

members, by advice of an Ecclesiastical Council, June

13, 1876. Of the fourteen members, eleven presented

letters to the Council, and three made public confes-

sion of Christ. A Sabbath-school had been organized

January 17, 1874, and at about the same time union

religious services had been commenced in a hall then

standing on Lynn Street. The Sabbath-school and

the weekly religious service had been continued until

the time came to form a church. "The Union Con-

gregational Society" was organized May 6, 1S7G, to

act in connection with the church, and was incorpor-

ated June 7th of the same year.

At a meeting of the church held soon after its or-

ganization, J. F. Jeferds and William J. Pratt were

elected to serve as deacons until January, 1877. At

its second meeting the church voted to call Rev.

Alfred S. Hudson to become its acting pastor for six

months from October 1, 1876. The society subse-

quently concurred with the church in extending this

call to Mr. Hudson. He continued his ministry,

however, with the church and society for about five

years, terminating his pastoral labors November 26,

1881. Rev. Edmund S. Potter succeeded Mr. Hudson

as acting pastor, commencing his labors June 1, 1882,

and he still continues his acceptable and successful

ministry with this people.

The Union Congregational Society soon after its

organization initiated measures to build a house of

worship. The corner-stone was laid October 11, 1876.

Religious services were held for some time in the

vestry. The auditorium was furnished in the fall of

1879. A debt was incurred which was gradually di-

minished until the last payment was made December

28, 1886, and the society began the year 1887 free from

debt. But the house was not formally dedicated until

October 24, 1879. The present members of the church
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number forty-nix, of whom thirteen lire uiales and

•.hirly-throe iire iVinales. The present »ii|>criiiteii(K-iit

of the Sabbath klIiooI i» Mr. H. I!. T<>Miliii.>(6ii, iiii.l

the uuiuber of membem id two hiiiiclrt'd anil six.

This tliurch abides in the unity of tlie Spirit and in

ihe bond of peace; and witli itjt wise and faithful pas-

tor Ik doinj; K<i.id work forChri.st ami llLs kingdom in

that part of the city.

TiiK l"iu.>r ItArn.sT OiiuiuH in M ai.hkn.—This

church was organized in 1803. During the previous

century and a half the First Church has been the

only church at JIaldon Centre. Various influences

at la-stcondiined to bring about the fouudingof a Hap-

tist Church. Some of these intluences had been active

for at least si.xleen years, or from the time of the set-

tlement of Kev. Adonirani Judsoii as pastor of the

First (_'hurch. The Baptista were strictly evangelical

in faith. They believed in conversions and revivals

under special manifestations of theregeueratinggrace

of Ihe Holy Spirit. Some of the more spiritual and

godly mendicrs of the First Church had become

alarmed in view of various sad developments of Ar-

minianism, under the ministries of their pastors,

Willis and Greene. Such Chri-stians would naturally

be attraetetl by the earnest evangelistic preaching of

Baptist ministers, even though taking at first no spec-

ial interest in their views of baptism. Their own

deeper religious needs were not met by the preaching

to which they were accustomed to listen. They had

been shocked to learn that members of their own

church and congregation were bitterly opposed to the

conversion of souls and to revivals of religion. The

following statftments respecting the actual religious

condition of Maiden at that time are undoubtedly in

the main true, and they largely explain the demand

which e.xisted for evangelical preaching and for the

founding of a Baptist Church:

"Nut a fitw of llie monilx're of tlio Parigli Churcli, ailmittod tlirougli

infant luiiitism, liail boconio tlio active op|ioiients of lliu groat levivHl

which was then coniiiiuncing in Now Kngland. An energetic [irotost to

the ecttloTiiont of Mr. .luilson, tlie fatlier of <inr beloved Burtnali mis-

sionary, liad been entered on tlio records beranse be was of tin- ' Bade

llopkintonian Prineipels.' And IheopjKjsition to what was then so prop-

erly called * ex|)eriinental religion ' at lengtli prevailed and Mr. ,1 ndson

retired. But the eyes of many wore opened. . . . But while some pro-

fe«fied their coDvietioua, and united with Baptist churches in the vicinity,

others remained, waiting to see wliereunto this thing would grow.

Meanwhile there was in this town an alarming dearth of spiritual reli-

gion. .Such was the stale of things when, in 1797, Rev. Dr, Sbepbard, of

Brentwood. N. H., visited Maiden, and was invited to preach at the

bouse of Mr. John Tufts. This serinon, the first Baptist sermon ever

preached iu the town, attracted immediate attention, so different was its

whole spirit from anything heard at the Parish Church. Meetings

wor« continued on the afternoon and evening of every third Wednesday,

Rev. Messrs. Shephard, Peak and Smith officiating. God blessed the

enterprise and a revival of religion was the result. Sabbath preaching

began in 1800." (Church Manual of the First Baptist Church in Maiden.)

In 1803 Rev. Henry Pottle, an earnest and warm-
hearted Baptist minister, preached in Maiden. A
revival followed and about fifty were subsequently

baptized. It is sadly indicative of the moral and
religious degeneracy of the town, once distinguished

for its godliness, that this revival of religion awoke

the spirit of persecution, and the little band of Bap-

tist Christians were driven from the (Jentre Scliutd-

housc. It \va.s the same spirit thtit a few years before

so furiously op|>osed Adoniram .ludson, on account of

his evangelical faith and preaching, drove him from

the First Church, and put in his place Kliakim Willis

with his Arminian creed and ])ieaching. The only

place now open to the BapliHts was a barn on Salem
Street, owned by Mr. Benjamin I'aulkner. In this

barn they worshipped until September, 1804, " unde-

terred by the winter storm or the opposition of their

enemies." Under the direction of Mr. I'ottle a church

was organized, composed mainly of recent converts.

*'Tbeyuiet at the house of Mr. I'iiillipn, ami ]Mr. Joseph Dyer was
chosen clerk. \ committee was appointed to call a Couucii, that their pro-

ceedings might be regular in fortii, and tliat the new church might be in

fellowship with the surrounding cluircbes of flieir ' Kaitli ami Order.*

The t'uuncil, composed of delegates frotn tlie [taptist clnircbes in Boston

Newton and Beverly, convened on the '.i7tli of February, Istta, in the

barn, where the brethren and sisters, forty-two in number, were duly

constituted and recognized as a <'liurcli, under the name of the First

Baptist f'hurcb in Slalden." (t'burcb Manual.)

In January, 1804, probably in the barn, this church

for the first time commemorated the Lord's death,

the number of communicants being sixty-four, fifty-

two of whom were recent converts. In September of

1804 their meeting-house was so nearly comjileted

that they occupied it as a 2)lace of worship, and when
finished it was dedicated. It was located on ground

now included in Salem Street Cemetery. In this

" exceedingly plain house, with its large windows and
.square belfry," the church worshipped thirty-nine

years. The first deacons of the church were Samuel
Wait, Jr., and Samuel Wheeler. Rev. Mr. Pottle

appears to have terminated his successful ministry

with this church early in 1807. The number of

church-members at the time he left was 110. He was

succeeded in 1807 by Rev. William Bently, who re-

mained only one year. He was followed by Rev. Ely

Ball, who served as preacher, but was not invited to

be pastor. From 1808 to 1815 there was no settled

pastor. The church in these years appears to have
suffered from internal strifes and divisions. During
this period various ministers supplied the jiulpit, one

of whom wiis Rev. J. Livermore, who preached two

years. Rev. Samuel Wydown was then called to the

pastorate, but he left at the end of one year. In 181fi

Rev. Ebenezer Nelson, who had removed from South

Reading to Maiden, became the pastor of the church.

He labored for seven years, but remained nominal

pastor two years longer. He died in office May 4,

1825, in the seventy-second year of his age, and the

fortieth of his ministry. He is said to have been the

first and only minister who has died while in official

connection with this church. His successor was a

young man, Mr. John Cookson, who was ordained

pastor of the church March 24, 1824, and left after a

pastorate of two years. Rev. J. N. Brown was in-

stalled as pastor December 20, 1826, and remained one
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year. A call was extended to Rev. Avery Briggs,

September 28, 1828, who served the church four

years, during which he baptized nearly sixty per-

sons. The house of worship was also enlarged aud

furnished with a bell. Tlie next pastor was Rev. Con-

ant Sawyer, who continued in ofiicc llirce years.

Eev. E. N. Harris was settled lus pastor April 1, 1837,

but soon " avowed his belief in Universalisni, and, by

his unchristian iulluence, involved the church and

society in great difficulty. He was finally excom-

municated, but subscciuently renounced his errors

and sought restoration to the church." Kev. Joseph

M. Driver officiated as pastor from 1838 to 18-10

;

and Rev. Nathaniel W. Williams from 1840 to 1843.

During the pa'etorate of the latter there was a sea-

son of special religious interest ; William Oliver,

John B. Faulkner and Thomas Wait were chosen dea-

cons ; and a spacious and elegant meeting-house was

erected on the corner of Main and Salem Streets at a

cost of 110,000. This house was dedicated February

22, 1843. In June, 1843, the church recalled a former

pastor, Rev. John Cookson. He was succeeded in

1848 by Rev. Charles B. Smith, whose pastorate was

terminated in 1850. His successor was Rev. William

F. Stubbert, who began his pastorate September 1,

1851.

In 1853 the meeting-house, ten years after it was dedi-

cated, was repaired and a baptistery was added and at

thesame time the vestry was made more commodious,

the entire improvements costing about $5000. But

this beautiful house of worship w.as destroyed by fire

March 3, 1855. Invitations from the Congregational

and Universalist Societies to occupy their houses of

worship were accepted, and the work of erecting a

new house upon the old site was soon commenced.

The new church was dedicated February 14, 1856.

During Mr. Stubbert's pastorate of eight years,

seventy-two persons were admitted to the church by

baptism and sixty-seven by letter. Elisha S. Con-

verse and William Hunter were elected deacons, the

former in 1854, the latter in 1856. Mr. Stubbert left

in 1859.

The next pastor was Rev. Daniel W. Faunce, D.D.,

who began his ministry with this people in May, 1860.

But two years later the church was again afflicted

with a great calamity. Their house of worship, only

six years after it was completed, was consumed by

the fiauies. It was in the midst of our great Civil War.

The recent building of the church now destroyed had

drawn heavily upon the resources of the people.

Nevertheless they bravely set themselves to the work

of building again the house of God upon " the same

hallowed spot." The new church was dedicated

March 31, 1864. In this year, Deacons John B.

Faulkner and Elisha S. Converse having resigned their

office. Freeman A. Smith and Alfred R. Turner were

elected deacons for the next seven years. The pastor-

ate of Rev. Dr. Faunce was one of marked success.

He labored with the church six years and then re-

signed, to the great regret of his people. During his

pastorate one hundred and thirteen persons were

added to the church, and of these sixty-one received

baptism.

In 1867 Charles Merrill and David Hutchins were

elected deacons. And on the 17th of July in that

year Ucv. George F. Warren, of I/owcll, was installed

as pastor of the church. He resigned his pastorate

November 7, 186;».

Rev. Samuel W. Foljambe, D.D., began his minis-

try with this people May 1, 1870, and resigned his

office October 1, 1886. His psistorate of more than,

sixteen years was longer than that of any of his pre-

decessors in the service of this church. The ministry

of this eloquent preacher and faithful pastor proved

a great blessing to the people. His hearers received

knowledge of the truth, and were edified. Many
were convicted of sin, born of the Spirit and added to

the church. Early in his past(jrate two new Baptist

Churches were organized, which were offshoot.s of the

church under his care. From the First Bapti.st

Church in Maiden

:

"July 18, 1871. eighteen persons (afterwards increased to twenty-two)

were dismissed to aid in forming a cliurcli iu Everett ; and Aug. 17,

1871, letters of dismissal were granted to nineteen persons (subsequently

increased to twenty-four) to form a church in Maplewood, the outgrowth

of the Sahbath-school established in 1868."

John H. Parker was elected deacon in 1871 and re-

elected in 1878. E. T. Uuderhill was elected deacon

in 1874, William Hardy in 1880 and Horace M. Wiley

the same year, and William Mann in 1882. John H.

Parker was reelected in 1878 and 1885 and Horace M.

Wiley in 1887. James B. Upham was elected 1888.

James H. Morse, Jesse Cudworth, Joseph Hague and

David Hutchins in 1889, and G. Fred. Estie in 1890.

The present pastor of this church and society is

Rev. J. Nelson Lewis. He began his ministry with

them October 23, 1887, and recognition services were

held November 16th of the same year. The members

of this church at the present time number 625, of

whom 210 are males and 415 are females. The mem-

bers of the Sabbath-school number 891.

The question of a new and larger house of worship

was again pressed upon this people in the early part

of the year 1888. At a special meeting held on the

3d of December in that year, a committee was ap-

pointed to procure plans and raise money. The com-

mittee cousisted of Deacon E. S. Converse, E. F.

Bickford, A. R. Turner, Jr., Deacon J. B. Upham,

W. C. Laugley, Jr., James Pierce, De.acon John H.

Parker, Deacon Jesse Cudworth, Deacon David

Hutchins, John N. Williams, Deacon H. M. Wiley

and G. L. Richards. A. R. Turner was chosen chair-

man and G. L. Richards secretary.

"On Monday evening, Jan. 28, 1889, a public meeting was held in the

church to create an interest in the movement. Speeches were made by

the Pastor, Kev. J. Nelson Lewis, A. R. Turner, .Ir., E. F. Bickford and

E. S. Converse, who said formally that if the people woidd raise $30,000

for the new church he would give $30,000, and if more was raised, he

would give dollar for dollar. Stereopticon views of.plans for the church

were also shown.
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" Bj Jul« I, l',". Ili< .lurur.t of t3l>,0i<0 li*d be«n lubHrilwd, which

, by E. S. fonvorto. lu tho meaui

^ McKay, of IkMloii, u lliisarchilecl.
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oJTar to contribute aa much more aa the chun-h itud a'M-iety should rHiw

prior to Jan. 1, 1i>92."

In addition to this ample contribution of Mr.

Converse to aid in building the new house of wor-

ship, he hius reccully presented to the Bai)ti8t 8ociety

a fine i>nriiouage house, the grounds of which are

contiguous to the spacious meeting-house lot. The
value of this parsonage house, and of the land given

with it, upon a part of which the north end of the

new church stands, has been estimated to be $20,000.

It is due to this public and princely benefactor to

add that he and his estimable wife have also, within

a few years, presented to the city of Maiden the

munificent gift of a Free Public Library Building,

which is to serve as a fountain of intellectual light

and life, and also as the memorial of a beloved son

who w;is suddenly taken from them in his early man-
hood. To this noble gift Mr. Converse has added

permanent funds for the purchiise of books. He has

also given costly paintings and beautiful statuary.

The First Baptist Church in Maiden, like other

churches, has had its times of trouble and trial. The
flames have twice consumed its house of worship.

It has been obliged repeatedly to make great sacri-

fices in building the house of God. Nor has perfect

peace always reigned within itself, as is indicated by
a famous pamphlet, entitled :

" The History of Wars
and Fightings (Without Shedding of Blood), in the

Baptist Church in Maiden, Written By John
Sprague, S'. Ma". One of the Members 1812." Yet,

on the whole, this church, during the eighty-seven

years of its history, has been blest abundantly in

things temporal and spiritual. It has wrought bravely

and nobly for Christ and His Kingdom. The early

days of this church fell upon the most critical period in

all the long hi.story of evangelical faith in this to\vn,

and it proved itself equal to the hour. It rendered
a splendid service in the defence and propagation of
that faith at just the time when its enemies were
flushed with seeming victory, and unbelief, gross in-

temperance and ungodliness abounded. If it shall
remain true to the same evangelistic beliefs and fear-
lessly proclaim them for the salvation of men, the
prospect is, that with ampler means it will render in
the future still grander services for God's Kingdom

of truth and righteousness in Maiden, in the land

and in the world.

The Fir.st Baptist Church in Maplewood.—
Religious meetings began to be held by Baptists in

this part of .Maiden February 22, I88l!. Preaching

services, conducted by Hcv. O. F. Warren, then pas-

tor of the First Baptist Church at the Centre, soon

followed, attended with considerable religious interest.

A Sunday-school was organized in August, 18(58, with

sixty scholars. For a time its sessions were held in

the Grammar School-house, but at length the use of

this house was forbidden by a single member of the

School Board. His action, however, was soon over-

ruled by the full board. In the fall of ISG!) a chapel,

which was nearly completed, was blown down by " the

great September gale " of that year, and made a com-

plete wreck. But a meeting of the Baptist Church

at Maiden Centre was at once called, and $1000 were

subscribed. The people at Maplewood raised SSOO

more; and another chapel better than the first was

erected. It was dedicated March '!, 1870. In .Sep-

tember of the same year Rev. William Boyd became
" the first regular supply." He ceased to supply the

pulpit in April, 1871. A similar service was then

rendered by Mr. J. K. Richardson, a student in New-
ton Theological Seminary. A Baptist (Jhurch of

twenty-eight members was organized August 2, 1871,

and was recognized October 18, 1871. Mr. Richard-

son was its acting pastor until his theological course

was completed at Newton, when he accepted a call to

become the pastor of the church, and was ordained

July 10, 1872. But receiving a call from Rutland,

Vermont, he closed his ministry with this church in

April, 1874. On April (>, 1875, Rev. M. N. Reed be-

gan his pastorate with this church, and terminated the

same in November, 1877. The next ministerial laborer

with these people was Mr. T. G. Cass, a student at

Madison University, who came June 25, 1878, and

one year from that date was ordained as pastor of the

church. Early in the year 1880, the entire debt of

the church ($1500) was paid oft". In 1882, under the

energetic leading of the pastor, aided by the Massa-

chusetts Baptist Convention and by contributions from

churches and friends, the present commodious house

of worshi|i was erected, to which was attached the old

chapel as a vestry. The cost of the whole was over

$11,000, all of which was secured before the house was

dedicated in October, 1882. Rev. Mr. Cass resigned

his pastorate early in 1883, to accept a call from the

Baptist Church in Claremont, N. H., and Rev. ,S. A.

Severance became pastor in April of the same year.

He continued his labors until October, 1889, when he

resigned to accept the pastorate of the Baptist Church
in Keene, N. H. In December, 1889, Rev. George W.
Rigler, of Antrim, N. H., accepted a call from the

church in Maplewood, and is its present pastor. This

church, with its congregation and Sabbath-school, has

steadily increased through the nineteen years of its

history, the members of the church numbering at the
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present time 164, and the members of the Sabbath-

school 225.

The Centre IMethodist Episcopal Church.—
Itinerant and other Methodist preachers held religious

services in private houses ivithin the limits of .Maiden

many years previous to the organization of a Method-

ist Church in the town. As early as 1791 Rev. Jesse

Lee preached in the east part of the town, near the

Saugus and Chelsea line, and under the influence of

that sermon two men, Mr. John Waitt and another

Mr. Waitt, were converted. In 1800, or not far from

that year, Mr. Joseph Snelling and Rev. Thomas C.

Pierce came out from Boston and preached in Mai-

den, Mr. Snelling discoursing with great impressive-

ness upon the lives of poets.
,

But the earliest movement of the Methodists in the

direction of church organization was made in North

Maiden (now IMelrose). As early as 1813, religious

services, preliminary to the founding of a Methodist

Church, were conducted there by Rev. Timothy Mer-

ritt. He was succeeded in this labor the same year

by Rev. Thomas C. Pierce, and he by Rev. Ephraim
Wiley. Under the direction of Mr. Wiley, "in the

summer of 1815, a church was duly organized accord-

ing to the Discipline.'' Mr. Wiley was succeeded in

1818 by Rev. Orlando Hinds, " who officiated one

year, during which a meeting-house was built." The
church thus org.anized was the mother Methodist

Church in Maiden.

On May 12, 1815, two persons were converted un-

der the influence of a revival in North Maiden.

These persons were James Howard and his wife,

Mary (Cox) Howard. In the early part of the fol-

lowing year (ISlll) Mr. Howard and his family moved

to Maiden Centre, and for several months resided in

the house of Mr. Samuel Cox, which is still standing,

on Pleasant Street, opposite the last factory. The
next year he moved into his new house on the west

side of Summer Street, near the corner of that street

and Rockland Avenue.

It is said that when Mr. and Mrs. Howard moved

to Maiden Centre, they and Mr. Jolin Waitt, who
lived on Cross Street, were the only Methodists in

that part of the town. Religious meetings were con-

ducted at an early day in the house of John Waitt.

But at the residence of Mr. Howard, in August, 1816,

appears to have begun the movement which led to

the organization of a church. Some time in that

month, at the request of Father Howard, as he was

called, and at his residence. Rev. Ephraim Wiley

held a public religious service, and preached from

the text: "These are they which came out of great

tribulation, and have washed their robes, and made

them white in the blood of the Lamb." Soon after

this a class was formed under the leadership of James

Howard, which met at his house and was maintained

for several years. Perhaps it was merged into the

class which, as we shall see, was formed in 1820, but

Mr. Howard continued to be its leader. In the mean

time religious meetings, under the lead of Methodist

ministers, were held, first in the school-house at the

corner of Salem and Sprague Streets, then in Stiles'

Hall, at the corner of Pleasant and Washington

Streets—where now stands the new and beautilul

Methodist house of worship—and also in the hail of

the Brick School-house on Pleasant Street, which ap-

pears to have been the cradle of infant churches in

Maiden.

On August 15, 1819, Gilbert Haven, the father of

Bishop Gilbert Haven, requested the First Church,

of which he was then a member, to give him a letter

of dismission and recommendation to the Baptist

Church. He was persuaded, however, to withdraw

his request. Mr. Haven, himself a man of warm and

earnest evangelical piety, was evidently restless under

the cold, indefinite preaching of the Arminian minis-

ter who at that day was pastor of the First (Congre-

gational) Church; and on June 3, 1821, he again

asked for a letter of dismission, but now he expressed

a desire to be recommended to the Methodist Church,

which was then being organized, or had recently been

formed there, showing that it was not chiefly any

change of view respecting Christian baptism that led

him to leave the First Church. His request was

granted.

Rev. S. Osgood Wright, himself a Methodist min-

ister, in his historical discourse, already referred to,

which was preached December 1, 1S31, gives what is

|irobably a trustworthy account of the origin and

early history of the Methodist Church at Maiden

Centre. Speaking of Mr. James Howard, his wife

Mary and Mr. John Waitt, who, as he affirmed, were

the only Methodists living at Maiden Centre in 1816,

he says :

"They continued to live in tiie love and fellowsbip of the Church of

their eapousal, without receiving any accessions to their numbers until

the year 1820. At this time a revival commenced in the north society

and extended to the centre of the town. Several persons now withdrew

from the Baptist Chnrch and one from the Congregationalist, who to-

gether with several others, were formed into a clasg. These, like many
in similar circumstances, had many diihcnlties to encounter and many
lirejudiies to overcome. Being without a house of worship, they met in

the schuul-house hall (the Brick School-house), and were supplied a

portion of the time with preaching by the miuister of the north church.

Receiving a gradiial accession of numbers, they proceeded to erect a

meeting-house, which was dedicated in 1S25. Kev. Joseph Marsh

labored very successfully with this society at this tiirie ; and to him be-

longs much praise for itis activity and perseverance in providing a house

of worsliip. The first preacher who resided with them was Rev. Eben-

ezer Ireson, who came in 1828. Rev. John T. Bnrrill succeeded hitn,

and remained two years, and gave place to Kev. Timothy Merritt, the

present minister. This church has had its seasons of adversity and pros-

perity. It has moved onward nnder the guidance of the diiy-star of

hope, and sat down in tears and the darkness of clouds uud disappoiut-

nunit. It has received a gradual increase of members, and the whole

number is now fifty.'*

The meeting-house, referred to by Mr. Wright as

dedicated in 1825, is still standing upon its original

site. It has, however, been remodeled into a double

dwelling-house, and is located on the west side of

Main Street, the fourth building south of Mountain

Avenue. The date of its dedication is said to have
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been April 27, 1S2U. The second house of worehip

WM located at the corner of IMoasaiit and Waverly

fSlreets, and was dedicated October 20, 1842. Thia

house also is still stiuiding, and is now occupied as a

store l.y a furniture ilealcr. Mr. C. 0. Homer. The

thir.1 house of God huiU by this church, and the one

in which it now worships, wsus dedicated May 13,

187». This large and beautiful house is located at

the corner of Pleasant and Washingtou Street**, on

the site of the old Stiles Hall, in which the early

Methodists in Maiden gometinies worshipped.

The names of the ministers who were in charge of

this church previous to 1S2() are not known. But

beginning with Rev. .losepli Marsh, of that year, the

church has had thirty-eight pastors, one of them—

Itev. Joseph Cumniings—serving in two pastorates,

separated by an interval of thirty-one years. The

present minister in charge is Rev. W. P. Odell, who

is now in the fourth year of his successful pastorate.

PA6T0B6 OF TOI8 CHURCH.

18211. R«T, Joecpli Mareli.

1827. 0. W. Fiiirlunka.

IS'iS. Rot. Elwnczor IresoD.

1829-30. Rer. J. T. Burrill.

18.11. ReT. Tiniotliy Morritt.

18.T2. Rev. A. U. Swiiicrton.

\sa. Rkv. ('. Noble.

1834. RcT. N. B. Spuilldiog.

1835. Bev. R. W. Allun.

1836. Rev. E. Olhonmn.

1837. Rev. H. B. Skinuer.

18:18. Rev. Cliarles Iliijward.

18.39. ReT. S. G. Hilor, Jr.

1840. Rev. Moses Palmer.

1841-42. Rev, Geortie Lnnilon.

1843. Rev. Jueeph Whitniiin.

1844. Rev. G. W. Frost.

1845. Rev. Jacob Satiborn.

la4tS-47. Rev. Joseph Ciimmings.

1848-40. Rev. Joseph De0Di8OD.

This church was organized in 1821, and its Sunday-

school in 1822. In its early years it had a hard strug-

gle, as many a church of Christ has had, for exist-

ence, and at times since that day it has been main-

tained only by the loving devotion and large sacri-

fices of its members. But glorious has been its victory.

Its days of small things and struggle for life are over.

It has, for the present, the finest house of worship in

the city, also a larger number of church members
than any other church in the city, save the Catholic,

and the largest Protestant Sabbath-school, except the

school of the First Baptist Church. The number of

its church members at the present time is 666, and
the number of its Sabbath-school 736. This church

stands up bravely for all true moral reforms, for

truth and righteousness in the city and in the land,

and for pure and earnest evangelical religion every-

where.

The Methodist Episcopal Church, Maple-
wood, Malden.—The following historical sketch of

this church has been courteously furnished by its

present pastor. Rev. .T. W. Fulton. It has been in a
few places slightly abbreviated, or condensed.

185C-6I. ReT. W. S. Studley.

]8.'i2. Rov. W. R. Clark.

1853. Rev. J. D. Bridge.

1854-65. Rev. Wm. R. Bagiiall.

185G-.57. Rev. Loreu/.o R. Thayer.

1858-59. Rev. Daniel Steele.

18r,0. Rev. Isaac S. Cushiiian.

1861-02. Rev. E. 0. Haven.

18(a-65. Rev. J. W. F. Barnes.

1860. Rev. L. T. Townaend.

1807. Rev. A. 0. Hamilton.

1808-70. Rev. T. Berlon Smith.

1871-73. Rev. J. J. Jones.

1874. Rev. Joseph Scott.

1875-77. Rev. D. C. Knowles.

1878-79. Rev. Joseph Cumniings.

1880-8'2. Kev. S. F. Jones.

1883-85. Rev. J. H. Mansfield.

1880-9(1. Rev. W. P. Odell.

The first religious gathering in this part of the

city was held iu the year 1837, in the first school-

house that was ever built here. A Baptist brother,

Aaron Waitt, preached at 6 o'clock p.m., Sundays,

in warm and pleasant weather. No conversions are

reported, and no organization was accomplished.

In 183i) and 1840, Father Blodgett, a farmer in

Lin<len, and a Methodist local preacher, obtained the

use of the house occupied by Samuel Burrill, which

now stands on Salem Street, at the head of Beach

Street, and during those years held two prayer-meet-

ings a week, bringing the people in stormy winter

weather in his sleigh. People also came from East

Saiigus to help him. From these meetings a revival

started, which re^ached most of the families in this

part of Maiden. Many were converted. Among the

number was Mi-ss Lydie Reagh, who organized, in

1843, the first Sunday-school in Maplewood. This

school was held during the summer in the school-

house that stood where Mr. Rockwell's house now

stands, at the corner of Rockwell and Salem Streets.

The first superintendent was Josejjh Cheever. There

were five classes. As cold weather came on, the

school was held at Miss Reagh's house. It gradually

dwindled away to one girl, Francis Ferrald, who

came every Sunday for six months, to recite her lesson

to Mi.ss Reagh.

In 1850, in one room of a small school-bouse,

which stood where the present school-house stands, a

second Sunday-school-house was organized. Charles

Meade, the teacher of the public school, assisted

by Sanford B. French, Albert Norton and Temple

Dodge, of Maiden Centre, all Congregationalists,

were the leaders. 3Ir. French was superintendent.

After sustaining this school for some time, three of

these brethren moved away, and it was thought, on

account of the predominance of Methodists, chat a

church, if one should ever be organized, must be of

that denomination. So the Congregationalist broth-

ers then asked the Methodists to take charge of the

school.

Mr. Wilbur Haven then became superintendent,

and Mr. Newcomb his assistant. Miss Rebecca

Knowles, of Maiden Centre, led the singing.

In the same school-house preaching services were

conducted by a local preacher—Mr. Staples, of Lynn,

who received $200 a year. He was followed by Ed-

ward Oathman, of Chelsea, and he by local preachers,

Fathers Blodgett, of Linden, and Poole, of Lynn, who
preached alternate Sundays.

The first house of worship erected in this part of

Maiden was that of the Methodist Episcopal Church,

in 1857. From the congregation which worshipped

in it was organized the present Baptist and Congre-

gationalist Churches, of Maplewood. This first house

of worship was located where the present Methodist

Church stands. The land was given by W. R. Fer-

nald and Joshua Webster, on condition that it should

always be used for a Methodist Church, and that said
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church should always stand directly oppositea certain

elm tree.

The building committee were Silas Anderson, W.
A. F'ernald, Edward Fuller, George Barber and John

Eraersou. The contract for the cellar was signed

April 18, 1857, by H. R. Lewis, contractor. The first

money for the cellar was given by Mr. W. Huntley,

who, when solieiled by Father Hlodgett, remarked

that he had nothing to give but some old cent-pieces

in a barrel. This Father Blodgett accepted with

thanks, and the ne.xt day carried ofl' the barrel in his

old tip-cart. Upon opening the barrel it was found

to contain thirty-five dollar.s in old-fashioned one-

cent pieces, and these weighed fifty-seven pounds.

The ladies organized a society for furnisliing the

I

church, .some of them, under the lead of Miss Reagh,

j
binding shoes to obtain money. The church was

' dedicated in Feb., 1858, and the sermon was preached

by Rev. E. O. Haven, afterwards Bishop Haven, who
was a cousin of Bishop Gilbert Haven.

The members of the first Board of Trustees were

Gilbert Haven, Charles Pratt, Edward Fuller, W. R.

Fernald, Thomas Reagh, Father Blodgett and Eben
Neagles. Local preachers, Blodgett and Poole were

in charge.

In the spring of 1858, Rev. E. O. Haven was ap-

pointed to this charge by Conference. The number
of church members at this time was twenty-six. He
was followed by Rev. Charles H. Sewell, who v.'as

pastor for 1859 and 1860. His successor in 18(>1 was

Rev. A. P. Andrews. During the pastorate of the

latter the church was burned to the ground. In 1862,

Rev. E. O. Haven was again pastor. In 1863 and

1864, Rev. L. P. Frost, a local preacher, was in

charge. Until 1863 the school-house was used as a

place of worship. But in that year a chapel was

built at a cost of about $3000, nearly one-half of

which came from the insurance upon the former

building.

The church was subsequently served by the follow-

ing pastors :

181)5. Rev. W. C. Sawyer.

1866-G7. Bev. S. Gushing.

1868-69. Rev. .Idin W. Hamilton

1870. Rev. .T. W. Traek.

lS71._Rev. (_'. e. Will.er.

During Mr. Smith's term of service, on account of

the discipline of a member, a number left the church,

which so reduced its finances that Mr. Smith felt

compelled to leave the pulpit, but he still kept offi-

cial control, and Rev. George H. Clark supplied the

pulpit the remainder of the year.

Afterwards the pastors were:

1878. Rev. B. W. Allfn. I884-8«. Bev. Joseph CaniUin.

187a-80. Rev. S. S. Rudgers. 1887-89. Rev. SetU Gary.

1881-83. Rev. J. H. Emersun.

During the last year of Rev. Mr. Gary's pastorate

the church was entirely remodeled, at an expense of

$4500. This work was not completed until the pres-

ent year. The edifice was re-opened and re-dedicated

1872-73. Bev. E. W. Copeland.

1874, Rev. I. H. Packard.

1S75. Rev. Charles Young,

1876-77, Boy. 0. N. Smith.

June 22 and 23, 1890 ; $2500 had previously been

raised by suliscription, and at the time of dedication

the remaining $2000 was secureil. The present edi-

fice is a Gothic structure, finished and furnished in

oak, and lighted by electric lights.

The pre.sent number of members in the church is

one hundred and twenty, and in tlic Stibbath-school

two hundred.

TIuis thiough several reverses this church has been

brought, an<l is now in a prosjierous condition.

Among its pastors may be fountl several who have

received the honorary title of Doctor of Divinity, and

one who wtis made Bishop.

This church now, in grateful review of the past,

can sing :

'•Thus far the Lord hath led nie ou,

Thus fur Ills [lower prolongs my days."

May they also ever be able to sing, with faith in

God for the future :

"And every evening shall make known
Some fresh memorial of His grace."

Bklmont Methopist Epi.scoi'AI, Church.—This

church was organized by members of the " Bel-

mont Union Church " on July 26, 1888. This Union

Church was preceded by the " Glendale Christian

Union Society." Tlie latter was organized more than

twenty years ago by the Young Jlen's Christian A.sso-

ciation of Maiden. It was strictly undenominational,

and maintained a Sabbath-school and religious meet-

ings in a school-house on Ferry Street. This Union

Society undoubtedly accomplished good, but its trials

were many, including a lawsuit. The source of its

troubles was twofold : it was a Union Society, and its

location, after South IMalden became the town of

Everett, was near the line between Everett and Mai-

den. Either of these sources of trouble is almost in-

variiibly, if not always, sufficient to occasion the death

of a mission or a church. The Glendale Christian

Union Society became extinct. The Baptists of Ever-

ett took possession of the property it had gathered,

and there is now on Ferry Street a Baptist Mi.«.sion

Society.

The Christian people who withdrew from the Glen-

dale Union still felt the need of religious privileges

in that part of the city, and some movement was

made to procure a site for a chapel on Ferry Street,

in Maiden. In the mean time Sir. John P. Russell

offered as a free gift a lot of land containing about

five thousand square feet, situated on Fairmont

Street, Belmont Hill, on condition that a chapel

should be built upon it, an<l that the church to be or-

ganized should be forever strictly undenominational

or non-sectarian. In consequence of this offer of

Mr. Russell, on June 5, 1882, "The Belmont Chris-

tian Union Society in Maiden " was legally organ-

ized. The written in.strument, or constitution, under

which it was organized, consisted of Preamble, Stand-

ing Rules and By-Laws. The standing rules were
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only two in number. The itecond of these reads as

follows :

lowing l'> lAw

Irty tnm k union to ft denomination al

: itiid uo HM'tariiin clliKUMlon Hliall

' .il «!• do fiirttivr ftgrpe lotho f«»l-

.n" wi.tr gu»eriiuieul of tbls Society."

At the same meeting at whiih this society was or-

ganized, and pledged to remain forever a Union Soci-

ety, it accepted liy a unanimous vote Mr. Kussell's

gift of land, with the conditions upon which it was

olfercd, and also voted that the sincere thanks of the

society should be expressed to the donor. The land

was deeded to the society by Mr. Russell, and the con-

ditions already referred to wereexpres.sed in the deed.

Upon this basis the society received subscriptions

from benevolent people of various relijjious denomina-

tions, also sums of money raised in other ways, and

with the same built a chapel upon the land they had

received. A Ii^abhath-school wa-s organized, prayer-

meetings were held, ami preaching on the Sabbalh by

various evangelical ministers, mostly Congregational,

was maintained until September 15, 1884, at which

date the society voted to hire Rev. William F. Obear

to serve as acting pastor for one year, beginning on

the 1st of the following October, at a salary of .S500,

it being understood that he should also labor one-hali

of the time as acting pastor of the First Congrega-

tional Church in Maplewood.

Under the lead of Rev. Mr. Obear, on May 13,

1885, " The Belmont Union Church " was organized

with eight members. It was organized, as its name
indicates, a-s a strictly undenominational, though

evangelical, church, and this in honest fulfillment

of pledges made to the donor of the land, and vir-

tually also to all the donors of money. Mr. Obear

labored successfully with this society and church for

three years. During this period thirty-six persons

were added to the eight original members of the

church, a large portion of whom united by confession

of Christ, making a total of forty-four members.

The church and society then invited Rev. John E.

Wheeler to serve as pastor one year. He entered

upon his duties November 1, 1887, and labored about

nine months. During this time nine persons united

with the church, five of them by confession of Christ.

The members of the Sabbath-school numbered nearly

200.

In July, 1888, a warrant was posted for a meeting
of the society to be holden on the 24th of that moiith.

The second article in the warrant was as follows :

"To hear a proposition from the Methodist Episcopal,

Church in Maiden, and to take such action on the

same as may be deemed advisable." The society ac-

cordingly met July 24th, and, after the meeting was
organized, voted to hear the propositions sent from
the Methodist Episcopal Church in Maiden. It was
presented in writing and was in substance, that, "The
Belmont Christian Union Society shall sell or convey
to Trustees oftheBelmontMethodist Episcopal Church

when organized " all the property real and personal

"of said Union Society, and that llie said Trustee.^ of

the Belmont Methodist Episcopal Church will, in

such case, assume the mortgage outstanding on said

real estate, and also all the floating debts of said

Union Society, amounting to about $1000. It was

also added : "This proposition is upon the under-

standing that Mr. ,Tohn T. Russell will release to the

said Trustees of the Belmont Methodist Episcopal

Church all right and title and interest he may have

at law or equity by reason of the conditions con-

tained in his deed of said real estate to the Union So-

ciety, dated June 29, 1882."

After hearing this proposition read, the Union So-

ciety, in violation of one of its own " Standing Rules,"

and also of its solemn contract and promise to remain

forever a Union Society, upon the basis of which

contract and promise money had been raised to build

a chapel, voted—though not unanimously—"to auth-

orize the selling or conveying of all the real and

personal property " in its possession to the trustees of

the Belmont Methodist Church, " whenever such

Board of Trustees shall be organized." It was under-

stood that Mr. Russell had given his assent to this

arrangement. Whether the questions of his legal

right to autliorize such a transaction, and of the legal-

ity and morality of all these proceedings, were prop-

erly Considered, the records of the society do not in-

form us. The presiding elder, however, was present,

and read to the meeting the written proposition from

the Centre Methodist Episcopal Church.

Two days later, or on July 26, 1888, .some thirty

members of the Belmont Union Church met at the

chapel. No public notice of the meeting had been

given. A minority of some eighteen or twenty mem-
bers had no knov/ledge that such a meeting was to be

held. The thirty members thus assembled voted to

give to themselves letters of dismission from the Bel-

mont Union Church, and recommendation to the

Belmont Methodist Episcopal Church, soon to be con-

stituted. They then voted to authorize the clerk of the

Union Church to give letters of dismission and recom-

mendation to such absent members as should desire

him to do so. These thirty persins were then and

there constituted and declared to be by the presiding

elder, who had been present through all the proceed-

ings, a Methodist Episcopal Church. The pastor ot

the Centre Methodist Episcopal Church—the Rev.

Willis P. Odell—was also present, and was declared

by the presiding elder to be the pastor of the new
church. Such was the origin, according to the records

and the testimony of competent witnesses, of the Bel-

mont Methodist Episcopal Church in Maiden. No
comment is needed.

The Belmont Union Church never by vote declared

its own dissolution, and therefore still exists as a true

Church of Christ, with all the rights, liberties and

possessions which belonged to it at the time when
thirty of its members thus left it. The fact that this
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church does not at present maintain public religious

services does not render it non-existent.

The second and present pastor of the Belmont

Methodist Church is Rev. Oliver W. Hutchinson. He
began bis labors September 15, 1888. The church was

organized with thirty members and a Sabbatli-school

with 130 members. The church now (1890) has eighty-

six members, and the Sabbath-school about 250. The
chapel has been moved to a larger lot on the corner

of Boston and Fairmont Streets, and has been en-

larged, the whole at an expense ofabout $3000. The
entire property is now valued at about iSGOOO. "The
church is entirely free from debt. The congregation

and Sunday-school constantly grow. The people

feel encouraged; they believe they are laying the

foundation ofa large and prosperous church."

The First Univeesalist Church and First

Parish.—Some account of the origin of this church

on May 22, 1828, of its connection with the First

Parish, and of the installation, July 30, 1828, of its

first minister. Rev. Sylvanus Cobb, hiis already been

given. Mr. Cobb continued in office until August 28,

1837, when the parish accepted his resignation. His

successor was Rev. J. G. Adams, of Claremont, N. H.,

who was installed February 28, 1838. The Universa-

list Church the same year, or ten years after its

organization, uuder the ministry of Mr. Adams
through its Deacons, Artemus Cutter and Abraham T.

Neally, made a formal demand upon Silas Sargent,

deacon of the First Church, for "all the property"

then " in his possession belonging to the First Church
of Christ in Maiden." The property referred to in-

cluded the communion service and probably a small

trust fund. Deacon Sargent refused to surrender this

property without the consent of the First Church.

The Universalist Church then began a suit at law

against Deacon Sargent, and the case was bronght be-

fore the Supreme Judicial Court. But representa-

tives of the two Churches, after two meetings for

conference, both parties being desirous ofavoiding the

vexation and expense of litigation, on October 25,

1839, signed an agreement according to which the

Universalist Church was to withdraw the suit at law

then pending before the Supreme Court, and forever

waive its claim to the property in dispute, yet without

admission that that claim was unfounded or unjust,

and the First Church was to pay to the Universalist

Church one hundred dollars, yet without " at all

admitting that their claim to the property in dispute

is or can be invalidated." This agreement was
ratified by the two churches.

It is worthy of record that in subsequent years the

two pastors of these churches, McClure and Adams,
united heartily in promoting temperance, and in

other labors for the welfare of the town. " Antago-
nistic," says Mr. Corey, " as they were in their re-

ligious beliefs, with the memories of the recent con-

flicts of their societies still alive, they stood shoulder

to shoulder and hand in hand in the many reforms

which they instituted or promoted, and cemented a

friendship which time did not destroy, which is still

green in the heart of the surviver, and which may
make more joyous the meeting on the shores of life."

Mr. Adams' ministry with the Universalists con-

tinued fifteen years. His resignation was accepted

by the parish with much reluctance, Feb. 2, 1853;

the members of the Parish at the same time putting

on record expressions of their high esteem and warm
affection for him as their pastor and friend.

The next minister of this people was Rev. D. P.

Livermore, who was instal'ed Dec. 18, 1853. After a

ministry of nearly two years his resignation was

reluctantly accepted, to take effect Nov. 1, 1855.

His successor was Rev. W. C. Brooks, who probably

was installed in September of 1856. He resigned

Dec. 31, 1857, and the dissolution of the pastoral

relation took place April 1, 1858. He was followed

by Rev. Thomas J. (rreenwood, who "entered on his

labors as pastor of the First Parish, May 2, 1858."

He labored in the pastoral oflice with marked fidel-

ity for five years, bringing an unusually large num-
ber of persons into the church. Yet his official

relation was terminated by the parish in August,

1863. His successor was Rev. Thouuis Gorman, who
accepted a call, and entered upon liis duties, but

after a few months' labor, resigned the pastorate.

Rev. J. F. Powers was the next minister. He
began work on the first Sunday in April, 1866; and,

after a pastorate of five years and seven months, re-

signed on account of exhaustion from overwork,

preaching his last sermon on the third Sabbath in

October 1871. Rev. William S. Bell was then invited

to become the pastor. He was installed in October,

1872, but as early as March 10, 1873, the parish

voted to accept his resignation.

The parish next called to the pastorate Rev. Wil-

liam H. Ryder, of Arlington, who began labor July

1, 1873, but was not installed in his office until Oct.

5th of that year. Mr. Ryder, by his eloquence in

the pulpit, and by his efficiency and popularity as

a minister, largely promoted the prosperity of

the church and parish. After serving in this posi-

tion about nine years, he received a flattering call to

become the pastor of the Universalist Society in

Cincinnati, Ohio, and accepted the call. Upon his

resignation, his pastoral relation to his people in

Maiden was dissolved July 15, 1882. A series of

resolutions expressive of deep regret at parting with

him, and of sincere esteem and gratitude, were unan-

imously adopted by the parish.

Rev. G. F. Babbitt was called to be the successor

of Mr. Ryder, and was installed Feb. 29, 1884. After

some two years of service, not being able longer to

believe in the distinctive doctrines of Universalism,

and having accepted the evangelical faith as held by

the Baptist denomination, he resigned his pastorate

and was dismissed May 1, 1886, and is now success-
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fully laboring aa the pastor of a Baptist Church in

VVeatboro', Miuwai'husetts.

The present pitslor is Kev. \V. F. Dusseault, who was

called from M;irll>oro', Mass., ami whs insUillod May

5, 1887. Mr. l)u:<seault is the t-li'venlh pastor of the

Universaiist Ohunh and I'arish in Maiden.

It is worthy of notice that there appears U> be but

one record of any action on the part of this church

in calling or disniissillH a minister. The parish ap- 1,1, p„turiito llic church wu« twice enlmgod, a purochl.il resilience and

hucuuiiug Ihuir cou-

eqiully icaloin, purchoMd a lot in Wcdford. But it WM found that

their unllfHl sironglh wan neceeeary and tlie land \va« Bold, and the

Catholic-* of b.)th [dacos united ami [lur. hased the preuenl site, hetwoon

Meilfonl and Mahlon, and built a church therion. Thi» »«« in 18.'.4, the

year over nienioruble m that which saw proclaimed the dogina of the

Iniumculate I'oncei.tiou, in honor of which the nowlj-erected church

WM named. The first Maas was offered there on f'hrlstmaa day. As it

Unit »too<l the little church accommodated three or four hundred peo-

ple.

"Father McShane succeeded Kather Kyan ; Father Scully labored

there as |iiU)tor later on ; Father Gleaaou became pastor in 1808. During

Dears to have assumed the entire authority and re-
|

a.chooihousebuiit, andtho School siston, of Notre

^
. . • .1

. ..lo„w.,t into the diocese-the former parochial residence be

sponsihihly in every institiiee—.save in the settlement '"'y_

f electing and dismissing the chiefof Mr. (.'obb

officer of the chnrch.

The brick meeting-house, built by an orthodox

church and parish in 18()2, is now occupied by the

Universaiist Church and Parish. The house, how-

ever, has been repeatedly remodeled an.l renovated.

The change in its strueture was made in 18^0, during

the ministry of Rev. Sylvanus Cobb, when the build-

ing was " divided into two stories, the upper being

used for public worship and the lower containing a

large hall and other rooms for |)ublio purposes." This

ancient meeting-house has been well preserved by the

First Parish. It "seems," as Mr. Corey .justly re-

marks, " to bear an ever-present air of youth."

The Church of the Immaculate Concep-

tion.—The following sketch of the history of this

church is taken, in an abbreviated form, mainly from

an elaborate and interesting historical article pub-

lisheil in the Sacred Heart Jievieii', July 12, 1890.

Maiden had existed as an incorporated town two

hundred and four years before any Roman Catholic

Church was established within its limits. Previous

to 1853 the few Catholics in Maiden were obliged to

hear Mass in adjoining towns. But during that year

Rev. .lohn Ryan was appointed the first Roman

Catholic pastor in .Maiden, by Rt. Rev. Bishop Fitz-

patrick. His pastoral care, however, was not con-

fined to Maiden, but extended overMedford, Melrose,

Wakefield, Stoneham, Winchester and Everett.

The Revieto presents as follows the early history of

Catholicism in Maiden :

" The first Mass was celebrated in Oreen'a Hall, now known as Dowl-

ing'a Block, corner of I'lea^anl and Middlesex Streets. There were

about 200 Catholics assembled on that occasion. The Sunday-school in

the beginning numbered about sixty children. For some time Father

Ryan resided with a parishioner on .lackson Street, then purchased the

house which is now the convent. In this dwelling the Holy Sacrifice

was offered until the basement chapel of the chnrch was ready for divine

service. Among the prominent parishioners of early days may be men-

tioned Denis Grimes, in whose house Father Ryan resided ; John Raf-

ferty, first sexton ; and .Tohn .lames Mahoney, who had been American

Consul to Algiers ; in passing wo may say that the beautiful residence

and grounds now occupied by Mr. Dutton, of the firm of Houghton &
Dutton, of Boston, was in those days the home of Mr, Mahoney.
" The progress of the church was extraordinary, notwithstanding the

fact that Maiden, like many another city, held within its boundaries a few

desperadoes whose threats and deeds proved tlieni validly entitled to the

name in which they gloried, ' Ktu>w-uothiugs,' and made them aliens,

Indeed, to the great body of enlightened .\mericaDB.

'* Within one year the few Catholics in Maiden purchased a lot of

land for a church on Sum mer Street, and the Catholics of Medford,

In 1884 Rev. M. F. Flatlcy was appointed pastor

of the parish in Maiden, and is now its permanent

rector. At that time Wakefield, which, at first, was

a mission attended from Maiden, had a parish, and

F.ather Flatley had been its first pastor. Winchester

had been set off with Woburn and Everett with Chel-

sea. Stoneham had a distinct Catholic paridi, with

a mission in Melrose, and there was a separate parish

in Medford.

" Father Flatlcy was born in Ireland In 18-13. After nmking his early

studies there in a private classical school, he came to Anieric-a, gradu-

ated in 186.1 from Holy (^ross College, Worcester ; received the first

honors of his class, carrying off the gold medal. Hia theological studies

were made in St. Mary's Seminary, Baltimore, and there he was or-

dained a priest, Dec. '28, ISfiS. He then turned to the diocese of Boston,

for which he had studied. It was in St. .lames' Church, Boston, of

which Father James A. Healey (now Bishop of Bortland, Me.) was then

pastor, that l^'atlier Flatley spent the first five yeara of his ministry io

the hoiieat of cuUings. In June, 1873, he wa-s sent to Wakefielil."

His pastorate in Wakefield is represented to have

been laborious and successful. During the business

panic of 1873-78, with the co-operation of his people,

he paid off a debt of $14,000. Having been trans-

ferred, in 1884, to the parish in Maiden, he was made,

in 1888, its first permanent rector.

"During his abort pastorate here he has renovated and beautified the

L-hurch, so that it will now compare favorably with many of the churches

of the Archdiocese. He has purchased three acres of land, known as the

Ooburn estate, in the east end of Maiden, and there he has opened a

uew mission, and in the near future he will build there a church and

school.

" Near the Parochial School on Highland Avenue, is another beautiful

lot of land which he has secured, and will devote to parish purposes.

He is about to open a new cemetery of seventeen acres which is now

being laid out into lots. With the enormous running expenses of the

parish he has paid nearly $-26,000 of the debt."

Father Flatley is assisted by three curates—Fathers

Cnrran, Sullivan and Cunningham:

*' Rev. F. J. Curran . . . was born in Randolph, Mass., Feb. 14, 1852.

He made his early studies in Randolph, graduated from the High School

IMarch 1(1, 1871, being the first Catholic to receive a diploma. The fol-

lowing September he entered St. Charles' College, Md., graduated there-

fi-om in 1S74, and in September entered St. .loseph'a Seminary, Troy, N.

y. lie was ordained priest Dec. 21, 1878. His first appointment was

to St. Peter's, Cambridge, where he labored a year and a half, being as-

signed to Maiden June 8, 1880. During hie ten years in this parish he

has been identified with every good work.
•' Rev. D. F. Sullivan was born in Boston May 3, 1855

;
graduated from

Holy Ci-oss College, Worcester, June 2, 1876 ; entered St. Joseph's Semi-

nary, Troy, N. T., 1876 ; ordained priest Dec. 20, 1879. After serving
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in Cambridgeport and Wincheater two years, bo was appointed to Rruldou

Dec. 27, 1881.

'* Rev. F. A. Cunninghuni was born in It(;»xbury in 18t>3 ; he graduated

in Boston College in 1884. A post-graduate of 188.'), he received the de-

gree of B..\., went to the American College, Itome, the same year
;
was

ordained there in 1880. He merited the honor of writing the poem,

'.America's Greeting,' upon the occasion o^he golden jubilee of our

Uol.v Father, Leo XIII."

" The Catholic Church of ^falden is finely situated on Pleasant Street.

It is built of brick, is cruciform, has a cupacily of seating l;UH). The

basement cliapol is plain, yet very devotional. The main church is beau-

tiful. The painting's are worthy of B[tecial note. . . . It was during the

renovatii>n of file church eflected in tlie present pa^tomte that these

paintings were added. The statue of the Sacred Heart, which stamis

within the sanctuary, is the most beautiful in this country. It is the

very statue that took the prize at the Paris Exposiliou of I88y. . . . The

sanctuary is lit by an arch of thirty gas jets ; the body of the church by

sixteen upright candelabra each containing twenty-two lights. There

are forty altar-bdys and a s;inctuary choir of forty members attached to

this church."

The " School Sisters of Notre Dame " constitute a

teaching order, which is distinct from that of the

"Congregation of Notre Dame," and from that of

the Sisters of Notre Dame, and was originally founded

in France in 1598.

" The first house in America was established at St. Mary's, Pennsyl-

vania, in 1H47, hut was subsequently transferred to Baltimore, wliere

Mother Mary Clara is Superior. In 1850 a house was established in

Milwaukee, Mother Mary Caroline, Superior. This is the General

Mother-House for America, and is the special head-house and novitiate

for all the western houses, Baltimore being the same for the eastern

province. . . . Their parochial schools are attended by 56,222

children. In academies there are 2010 pupils ; in lusylums 1713 orphans.

"Their firstschool in the north was opened in September, 1881, in Jlal-

den ; the second iu Canton, 1885, Rev..Tohn Flatley, now of St. Peter's,

Cambridge, then rector ; the third in Roxbury, 1889, Redemptorist

Fathers in charge."

Itia reported, that in the parochial .school in Mai-

den—
"There are 7.^0 pupils, boys and girls. Their ages range from five to

fourteen years inclusively. The school embraces three departments—the

primary, preparatory and grammar, each subdivided into two grades,

each grade composed of two divisions,

*' The coui'se of study is as follows : Elementary or advanced, accord-

ing to the grade of the pupil ; Christian doctrine, embracing Catechism,

Holy Scripture and Church History ; object lessons, introducing phys-

iology, botany, geology, etc. ; spelling, reading, combining elocution
;

arithmetic, mental and written ; book-keeping and algebra, geography,

history, grammar, rhetoric, composition, both of letters and essays, and

natural philosophy."

It is stated in the last report of the superintendent

of schools, that in the year 1SS9 the number of

children between five and fifteen years of age in the

parochial school in Maiden was 605, and that the

number in the public schools was 2317. The Review,

from which we have so freely quoted, makes no allu-

sion to oui' public schools, nor to the education of any

cliildren in the city, except those in the parochial

school. This would have no special significance, if

the Catholics in this city, as in all northern cities

and towns, were not greatly indebted to our system of

public schools. Many Catholics, educated in our public

schools, are well aware, that neither they nor their

children would have received any school education

whatever, had it not been for our system of free

schools. These educated and intelligent Catholics

would doubtless be much* gratified if their church

authorities and publications would gratefully and

courteously acknowledge this large indebtedness.

We have not been able to verify the statement of the

Review, that Catholicism iu its early days in Maiden

suffered from "a few desperadoes, whose threats and

deeds" ''made them aliens indei'd to the great body

of enligiitciied Americans." But even if the state-

ment be true, it is but fair to say, that the citizens of

Maiden have no sympathy with anything that tends

to interfere with the fullest freedom in the worship

of God.

St. Paul's Episcopal Chukcii.—Previous to the

organization of this church, another Episcoi)al Church,

known as " Grace Church," had existed for a brief time

in Maiden. The following historical account of these

two churches is mainly an abbreviation of written

documents which have been kindly furnished by pres-

ent officers of St. Paul's Church :

On Sunday, September 27, 1861, evening service,

according to the rites of the Protestant Episcopal

Church, was held by Rev. William H. Munroe (then

rector of Trinity Church, Melrose), for the first time

in Maiden, in a small hall on Irving Street. Even-

ing services were continued in this hall until Decem-

ber 1st, when a larger hall, over the Boston and

Maine Depot, was secured. In this hall evening ser-

vices were conducted until June 1, 1862, when both

morning and evening services were held. A morning

service, however, was held on Christmas, 1861, on

Sunday after Christmas, and on Easter Sunday, 1862.

During all this time the church was dependent upon

clergymen from neighboring towns to conduct the

services.

On October 17. 1861, at a meeting held in the

evening, the following document was presented and

signed

:

"The undersigned, citizens of Maiden, hereby associate ourselves to-

gether as a Religious Parish and Society, under the name of Grace

Church, for the worship of Almighty God, in accordance with the Canons

and Liturgy of the Protestant Episcop.al Church, Oct- 17, 1861.

•' G. W. Clark, J. S. F. Cushing, William Embley, John P. H. Gush-

ing, James Hamnett, Samuel H. Woods, Mary C. Clark, Mary P. Cox,

Abbie W. Woods, J. A. Woods."

A subscription list was also made up for the support

of a rector, amounting to |99.

During the first five months of 1862 a series of ser-

mons on the doctrines and polity of the Episcopal

Church was given iu this hall, on Tuesday evenings,

by Bishop Randall, Drs. Bolles and Lambert, Rev.

Mr. Palmer, Dr. Wells, Rev. William R. Huntington,

Rev. P. D. Huntington and Dr. John Cotton Smith.

On May 3, 1862, a petition for a warrant to call a

vestry to organize Grace Church was signed. This

petition was granted by B. G. Hill, justice of the

peace, and a warrant was issued May 6th. The meet-
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ing thus legiilly called was held May 12, 1802. Prayer

was ott'erwi by Kev. William H. Sliinroe, of Melrose,

J. 8. F. dishing was elected clerk, and G. W. Clark,

moderator. J. 8. 1-". Oushing and William Kmbley

were elected wardens. Ci. W. Clark, William A.

llerriek, .lanie.t Hammett, William Linderby and

Thomas M. Kaiilback were elected vestrymen. J. S.

F. Cushing, S. H. Woods and tJ. W. Clark were

elected delegates to represent the church, and to ask

its admission to the Diocesan Convention to be held

in Hosliin, June 4, l.Sti2.

From the number of votes cast it would appear

that ten persons were present at this meeting. The

Kev. Joseph Kidder olhciated aa rector from May to

October of lSti2, giving his services as a labor of love.

December 30th the Rev. Dexter Potter was invited

to become the rector of Grace Church. He accepted

the invitation and ren)ained with the church until

February 3, 18(!4. During this period the church

and congregation appear to have been quite small, as

on November 3, 18G3, the number of communicants

in the church was twenty, and the numbei of Sab-

batb'school scholars from thirty-five to forty.

April 25, 1864, Rev. C. Ingles Chapin was called to

the rectorship at a salary of $800. lie made the fol-

lowing report to the convention in the spring of 1805 :

"Grace Church, Maldon : Baptisms, 17 ; communicanta last reported,

19 ; died, 1 ; removed, .1 ; added, 19; pre»eut number, 34 ; confirnieud,

9 ; marriugee, 1 ; burials, 5. Sunday-school : Teachers, 7 ; scholars,

fi. 3Ii!«loiiary collections, $20 ; for Sunday-school, $55 ; "for Children's

Cliapel Fund, $110; Christuias and Easter festivals, 841.50 ; other pur-

poses within the Parish, 9225.

'• By the blessing of God our work has been prospered. The present

pressing need of the Parish is a suitable church or chapel. This want

supplied, there is nothing to prevent a rapid growth."

As early as May, 1862, the refusal of a lot of laud

known as the Heater Piece, on the Dexter estate, was

obtained, but afterwards the site, for some reason, was

not regarded as a suitable one for a church. But in

JIarch, I860, under Rev. Mr. Chapin's rectorship, the

subject of land and a church was again brought up,

and a committee was appointed to examine a church

in Chelsea, with a view to its purchase and removal,

but the project was found not to be feasible.

August 4, 1805, Rev. C. Ingles Chapin resigned and

soon after services ceased, and Grace Church existed

only as a corporation. The records of Grace Church
came to an end with a meeting held Nov. 22, 1869, at

which time James Hammett was clerk.

Persons who were members of Grace Church affirm

that this abrupt termination of its services, followed

after a time by the extinction of the church itself, was
occasioned by some lack of harmony in the brother-

hood, and also of funds to meet necessary expenses.

After the cessation of religious services, quite a

number of the members of Grace Church hired seats

at the Methodist Episcopal (llhurch, and on Easter

Sunday, 1866, the house was given up entirely to the

parish of Grace Church, Bishop Randall preaching in

the morning and Rev. George Denham in the even-

ing, the choir using the Episcopal Church music

throughout the day.

Steps were taken early in the year 1867 preliminary

to the organization of another Episcopal Church in

Maiden. On Jan\(Bry 13th of that year services of

worship, conducted according to the liturgy of that

church, began to be held in private houses, and on

February 1st the rooms of the Young Men's Christian

Association, in Waits' Block, having been engaged,

the services were held in them. On. March 26, 1867,

a meeting was called of all persons interested in form-

ing a parish or corporation in Maiden, according to

the rites and usages of the Protestant Episcopal

Church, and a petition, requesting B. G. Hill, justice

of the peace, to call a meeting for the purpose of or-

ganizing such a parish, was signed. A warrant for

this meeting was issued April 14th. The meeting thus

legally called was held April 21, 1867, and a Protest-

ant Episcopal Church was organized under the name
of iSL Paul's Church. This meeting was held in

Waits' Block, and officers of the church were elected,

as follows : As Wardens, Charles F. Stansbury and

A. B. Converse; as Vestrymen, C. A. Stearns, G. W.
Wilson, William W. N. Cox, Alexander Henderson

and O. N. Coburn ; as Treasurer, G. W. Clark ; as

Clerk, Alexander Henderson. A constitution and

by-l.aws were adopted and signed by the following

persons

:

Charles F. Stansbury, William Stearns, A. B, Converse, G. Wilson,

0. N. Coburn, G. W. Clark, AIe.\ander Henderson, Leonard Woods,

M.D., J. S. Chapin, James Hamnott, J. M. Kaulback, Joseph A. Hill,

J. S. F. Cushing, J. Kdward Burtt, 0. L. Hanford, Cliarles Downer and

William Linderby.

The hall over the Boston and Maine Depot was

leased at $125 a year. The use of a part of the furni-

ture formerly used by Grace Caurch was offered by

its treasurer to St. Paul's Church.

April 16, 1868, Rev. George Putnam Huntington,

son of Rev. Dr. Frederick D. Huntington, Bishop of

Central New Y^ork, was called to take the pastoral

charge of St. Paul's Church and Parish. He accepted

April 17th, for one year, at a salary of $500, and enter-

ed upon his duties the following Sabbath. On May
30, 1869, he was elected rector, and accepted the

ofiice.

At a meeting of Grace Church, held May 14, 1868,

the following resolutions were ofl'ered and adopted :

'* Resolved, That the organization known as Grace Church be from this

date dissolved, and the property belonging to it be transferred to an

organization known as St. Paul's Church, Maiden."
" This action was legalized by an Act of the Legislature passed March >

.31, 1S79."

During the period between April 2, 1867, and No-
vember 28, 1870, several committees were appointed

to consider and report upon the question of the loca-

tion and erection of a house of worship. Numerous
sites and various plans for obtaining a house of wor-

ship, including the project of removing a church from

Medford, were reported. But none of these reports

were found on the whole to be acceptable. Finally,



MALDEN. 525

on November 28, 1870, a committee was authorized

to purchase a lot on Washington Street, of Mr.

Charles Heath. This land was eventually secured,

and upon it was erected the present Episcopal Church.

" This church was consecrated l»y Bishop Eastburn,

on May 23, 1872. The total cost ol' the buildings and

grounds was $15,729.72. The parish house was built

in ISS'i, at a cost of about $2500.

" Rev.George P. Huntington resigned the rectorship

on account of ill health, August 15, 1884. Rev. John

Milton Peck was called to be his successor, and

preached his first sermon February 22, 1885. He re-

signed June 4, 1887.

" Mr. Peck suddenly departed this life July 24,

1890, at Meuahaunt, near Falmouth, Mass., where he

was passing the summer with his family. In his

early life Mr. Peck was a Congregationalisl, but later

became an Episcopalian, and entered the Ei)iscopal

ministry. He had served as rector in the Episcopal

Parishes of Rutland, Vt., Clareraonl, N. H., and in

several other places. He came to Maiden from

Bridgewater, highly recommended by the bishop. He
has since preached in various places in the vicinity of

Boston, and during the present summer had supplied

the Episcopal pulpit in Brookline, where he preached

the Sabbath before he died. Rev. Mr. Peck was a

scholarly man, and of much literary culture. He has

written several pleasing poems."

The present rector in the Episcopal Church in

Maiden is Rev. George Alexander Strong. He
preached his first sermon as rector, October 15, 1887.

At the present time the wardens of the church are

Allan J. Chase and William Be de las Casas ; Clerk,

William D. Hawley; Treasurer, Matthew C. Grier;

Vestrymen, Alfred Tonks, Charles B. Shaw, Charles

J. Addy, George T. Brown, Otis E. Waitt and George

C. Tate.

The present number of communicants is 220, and

of Sunday-school scholars, 20G. The seats in this

church are free. The charter requires that " no rent

charge or exaction shall ever be made or demanded
for occupation or use of its seats." The expenses are

met by the Sunday offertory.

St. Luke's Episcopal Church, Linden, Mal-
DEN.—The following sketch of the origin and history

of this church is official :

" The services of the Episcopal Church in Linden

began November 23, 1873, when but few persons took

part in the worship. From 1873 to 1876 the Rev.

George P. Huntington, then rector of St. Paul's

Church at Maiden Centre, held full evening prayers

and preached on the fourth Sunday, in the afternoon,

every month. The last of these services was held

September 24, 1876. But services of worship were

again commenced by Rev. Mr. Huntington January

8, 1882. From that time different neighboring clergy-

men conducted worship until December 31st, when
Mr. T. L. Fisher first read the evening service, and

from that time officiated as lay-reader, the Rev. Mr.

Huntington coming once a month to celebrate the

Holy Communion. Mr. Fisher was ordained to the

diaconate in May, 1883, and continued in charge until

he was ordained to the priesthood in December, 1884.

He entered upon the duties of his ministry on Christ-

mas Day.
" Services of public worship thus far had been held

in various places, but in the last part of this period in

Associate Hall. The cellar for the new church was

completed before December 17, 1883, and the church

was consecrated by the Bishop of Massachusetts, April

29, 1884. The cost of the church was ^103. This

sum, however, does not include payment for decoration

of the walls of the church, the altar, lecturn, prayer-

desks, chancel rail, clergy chairs, two chandeliers and

memorial windows, all of which were presented.

" St. Luke's Parish was tbrmally organized by the

election of a vestry on July 1, 1885. The Rev. T. L.

Fisher closed his services as rector of St. Luke's

Church on the first Sunday in Lent, 1888. The Rev.

L. H. Merrill entered upon his duties, as the successor

of Rev. Mr. Fisher, October 18, 1888, and terminated

them in February, 1890. He was followed by the

present rector. Rev. Edward Owen, who began his

labors in the same month in which Rev. Mr. IMerrill

left. The present number of commuuicants is fifty,

and the Sunday-school scholars number fifty-five."

The First Unitarian Congregational Society
of Maiden was organized with ten members (six

males and four females), December 21, 1875. The
names of the original members were, Nathaniel W.
Starbird, A.saR. Brown, Harrison J. Dawes, Seth C.

Jones, Martha J. Noyes, Caroline M. Franch, Jose-

phine Coburu, Louis D. Starbird, C. M. H. Abbott

and Daniel M. Wilson. To these were added twenty-

seven members the first year, and nine the second

year.

All members of the society subscribed to the fol-

lowing statement

:

" Tlie undersigned unite in the following faitli and purpose. Our
faith 1b in God, and in His .Son Jesus the Christ. And w,e horeliy form

ourselves into a Society, that we may co-operate in the study and prac-

tice of Christianity."

The first pastor was, Kev. Daniel M.Wilson, who be-

gan his ministr/with this people in 1876, and closed it

in December, 1878. The second pastor was Rev. Henry
Westcott, who was installed November 1, 1881. While
taking his summer vacation, he died suddenly of

heart-disease, July 16, 1883. The third and present

pastor is Rev. Benjamin H. Bailey, who entered upon

his labors with this society April 9, 1884.

The organization of this society took place in

Richardson's Hall, in Central Square, but its religious

services were held mainly in Odd Fellows' Hall until

the dedication of its new house of worship, which

took place October 11, 1878. This house was erected

at a cost, aside from the laud, of $8000, and is located

on Haskins Street, not far from Main Street. The
members of the society number, at the present times
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wveoty-two, forty-five of whom are males, and twenty-

seven are females. The Sabballi-school was organizeil

with eight members in 1877. The number of iU

memben* now is over one hunilreil and ten.

This society at the present time is more prosperous

than it ever was before. Within a year it has pur-

chased a new and superior organ for its church, at

a cost of *lt;<K). Its accomiilishcd and faithful pastor

is respectinl and beloved by his people, and is con-

stantly adding to his friends and enlarging the so-

ciety.

TiiE Faulkner Eva.ngelkal Union CHrucu.

—This church is located at '" Faulkner Station,"—

a

name given to that portion of the city which is ac-

commodated by a railroad depot of that name, and is

situated between Maiden Centre and Maplewood.

The evangelii-tic movement which led to the organi-

zation of this church was commeuced by Mr. Fred-

erick A. lloudlette. In 1882 he erected the Mystic

Hall, near Faulkner Station, as a place of public

worship, though a part of the building was devoted

to other purpo.ses. For a time he bore the entire

financial burden of niainliiining religious services.

His chief associate in conducting religious meetings

was Oapt. Cieorge W. Lane, an earnest and successful

Sabbrtth-school missionary for a number of years on

the coasts of Maine and North Carolina. A Sabbath-

school was organized in Mystic Hall in October, 1882,

with six teachers and sixty-eight scholars, and with

Mr. Houdlette as superintendent. Earnest evangel-

istic prayer-meetings were also held weekly, and ser-

vices of worship, with preaching, on the Sabbath.

Rev. E. S. Potter, a Congregational clergyman, who

had then labored in the ministry with large success

forty-eight years, was invited to serve as acting pas-

tor, and he entered upon his labors June 4, 1882, and

preached his last sermon September 1, 1889.

On March 22, 1883, at a meeting held in Mystic

Hall, of which Mr. Houdlette was chairman, and

Mr. E. A. Atwood, secretary, a society under the

name of "The Faulkner Evangelical Union," was

organized with Mr. A. C. Dowse as clerk; Mr. George

R. Conrad as treasurer; Messrs. J. I. Stewart and

Daniel Wilder as auditors; and Mr. E. A. Atwood as

superintendent of the Sabbath-school. The religious

belief of the society was expressed in the following

formula

:

"TbiB Union recognizes tlie Scriptures of the Old and New Testa-

ments u it« solo authority in matters of doctrine, and its infallible rule

of faith and practice. It requires on the part of its members a substan-

tial awent to them. It requires that the public ministry shall accord

with them. But, because not all persons agree in their interpretation

of the Scriptures, and to the end that none may be offended or excluded

from its fellowship, this Union does not require, .18 a condition of meni-

t)cnhip, tliat ever>' candidate shall perfectly understand them, or agree

with every other member in their interpretation of the same, being

Tory confident that the I.ord hath much truth yet to brcali forth out

of His Holy word." [Then follows the Apostles' Creed.]

In the summer of 1885 Deacon John B. Faulkner,

who had been a member for many years and an officer

of the First Baptist Church in Maiden, a gentleman

of wealth, and in honor of whom the railroad station

had received its name, intimated his intention to

present a lot of land to the Union, and to build upon

it a house of worship, whereupon the Faulkner

Evangelical Union, by taking the necessary legal

steps, became, on December 8, 1885, an incorporated

society. On the 17th of the same month Deacon

Faulkner conveyed, by deed, to the Faulkner Evan-

gelical Union, a lot of land valued at $1000. In the

deed the donor makes the following statement:

"I donate this property to the Society, and Church when instituted,

Itnown by the name of The Faulkner Evangelical Union, to be en-

trusted to tho Prudential Cuniniittee of said Society, with a Board of

Trustees, who shall act in concurrence with tho above-named Commit-

tM.
" The object of this donation is the establishment and maintenaoce of

the ordinances of religion in accordance with the belief and usages of

the society as it now exists. And furthermore this house uf worship

shall be kept Ireo from all incumbrance whatsoever, to have and to hold

the granted preuiiBe8,wilh all tho privilegesand appurtenances thereto be-

longing, to the said 'I'lie Faulkner Evangelical Union, to their own use

and behoof forever."

The organization of the Union Society was designed

to be preliminary to the organization of a church.

Accordingly "The Faulkner Evangelical Union

Church" was organized on February 12, 1886, with

Mr. E. A. Atwood as clerk and tretisurer. The con-

fession of faith adopted was evangelical.

The house of worship was completed in June, 1886.

The entire expense of the building, including the

land, was about $7000, and the whole was a munifi-

cent gift to the Faulkner Evangelical Union and

Church from Dea. John B. Faulkner. The church

was dedicated June 9, 1886. In the public services

of the afternoon, Dea. Faulkner, with fitting words,

presented the keys of the church to the chairman of

the Board of Trustees, closing with the remark: "I

hope this will prove a blessing to the people." In

the evening a sermon was preached by Rev. John L.

Withrow, D.D., of the Park Street Church, Boston,

and Rev. W. F. Obear, of Maplewood, ofl'ered the

dedicatory prayer.

The present number of church members is forty-

four, and the members of the Sabbath-school number

about one hundred and twenty. Rev. Harry P. Ran-

kin, a Methodist minister, is the present acting pastor.

There are now in Maiden, ministering to the relig-

ious and spiritual needs of its more than twenty-three

thousand inhabitants, fourteen Christian churches.

One of these churches is two hundred and forty-one

years old. The other thirteen have come into exist-

ence during the period of the last eighty-seven years.

With all their imperfections, mistakes and partial

failures, they have yet stood as bulwarks against im-

morality, intemperance, all unrighteousness and

crime. Without churches and the preached gospel,

Maiden would have been uninhabitable to respectable

people. They have been the light, the joy and the

glory of the town ; while in their ministries of salva-

tion and consolation they have been to thousands as

the open gates of Heaven.
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CHAPTEK XXXIX.

MALDEN—( Continutd).

SOCIETIES.

BY GEO. HOWARD FALL.

Tfiere are over seventy societies to be found iu

Miilden to-diiy. ftfaiiy of these are secret and com-

panilively uniraportant. tjiiile a number have no

uiurc nieiiibt'is than ullicers. Still others are little

more than mutual admiration clubs. .Scicieties which

are purely secret or self-centred have little cllaim

upon the pen of the historian. To be of general in-

terest, they must be connected with the general wel-

fare, or must, at least, be typical of the community's

development. An individual's history is of value

just so far i.s it represents the spirit of the times or

just so far as his life and acts present a history of the

times. Of the same nature is the history of a society.

If it has sought to accomplish public work, whether

good or bad, the historian is bound to recognize it.

But if private matters and individual interests only

have been considered, a history of it would be a tax

upon public forbearance.

Many of the societies are doing general work,

and illustrate phases of social development. Of these

there is none more important than the Maiden Delib-

erative Assembly. This society was organized Decem-
ber 8th, 1875, by ten young men, who met at the

house of Mr. Charles D. Weld. Its object and pur-

pose was (first) the full and free discussion of the

leading questions of the day; (second) exercise and

training in parliamentary practice. Its founders

were Elijah tieorge, Otis E. Waitt, Sidney D. Shat-

tuck, A. R. Turner, .Ir., A. F. Crocker, Chas. D.

Weld, Horace F. (Ueason, J. C. Auld, Frank F. Sar-

gent, J. Q. A. Brett. The society now numbers over

eighty members, comprising representatives from

every class and profession. Such subjects as the fol-

lowing have been discussed :

Htsohed, that it will subserve the best interests of

Maiden to adopt a city charter ; That church proper-

ty ought to be taxed; That a property qualification

should be one of the conditions of the exercise of

the suffrage ; That the enactment of national laws

providing for compulsory education should be en-

couraged ; That the right of suffrage should be ex-

tended to women ; That all railroads should be owned

and controlled by the State ; That the Bible should

be read in the public schools ; That Pomeroy ought

to be hanged ; That Chinese immigration ought to be

prohibited ; That prohibitory legislation is conducive

to tlie best interests of this Commonwealth ; That

England would be justified in interfering in the laws

between Turkey and Servia. That Free Trade will

best advance the commercial interests of the United

States; That all National, State and Municipal offi-

cers should be denied the right of suffrage during

their term of office; That labor organizations are

detrimental to the general welfare; That capital pun-

ishment sboulil be abolished; That the President of

the United States should be elected for a term of six

years, and no longer ; That Tilden was fairly elected ;

That bad cooking is the cause of more misery than

alcoholic liquors; That women should vote in muni-
cipal elections; That the poll-tax should be abol-

ished; That life is not worth living.

This society has exercised a potent influence upon
Maiden affairs. Many officers, first of the town, and
later of the city government, have been among its

members, and in the assembly room learned to fairly

view those questions which otherwise they might
have seen only through the mist of local and politi-

cal prejudice. In the town-meeting, and in the

ward-room, speeches have been continually m.ade

under the stimulus of passion and self-interest. In

the assembly room, one motive controlled discus-

sion,—that of the pure reason. No limits except

those of time have ever been allowed to interfere

with the freedom of debate. Again and again have

the citizens poured into the meetings as the one

place where they could hear fairly di.scu.ssed the

living questions of the day. These were called the

public meetings of the assembly, and ladies were

always welcome.

The great success of this society has been due to

two causes. First, any man could join provided he

possessed good morals and intellectual capacity.

These were the only requisites. The society ha.s

never been ruled by a " set." Secondly, freedom from

burdensome rules and orders. Members are al'owed

to come into and gooutof the room when they please.

Hence an uninteresting debate will clear the hall;>er

se ; and disputants know that in order to keep their

audience they must have something to say worth

hearing. Ninety per cent, of all debating societies

are killed out by the strictness of their rules.

Among the many subjects of public interest which
the assembly has considered was one concerning the

advisability of revising the city charter. The assem-

bly voluntarily took upon itself, early in 1888, the task

of preparing the outlines of a new charter. A com-
mittee of five was appointed, who examined all the

charters of neighboring cities, and also studied for

some six weeks the problem of municipal govern-

ment. As a result, the modern problem of city gov-

ernment became widely disc\issed in Maiden, and the

end is not yet. This self-appointed task of the assem-

bly is only an instance.

The water question, the sewerage, the electric light,

streets, fire department, etc., etc., have all been over-

hauled and examined from an impartial standpoint.

The Sewerage Bill, for the Metropolitan Valley,

which passed the Legislature recently, is due largely

to the efforts of the assembly. The assembly brought

the merits of the scheme before the people of Mai-
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The citizens of
den, at one of iu public meetings,

Maiden iliil the rest.

The folluwiiij,' f;eiillenieu have served as presidenU

of the a»»euiblv »iiae its organization : Elijah George.

Hnro- r. Uailrtrd, Cieorge K. Foster, A. A. Knights,

George A. Littletield, Frank P. Bennett, A. K.

Turner, Jr., lieorge O.Ayers. Alfred U. Jones, Sid-

ney I>. S'hatiuck, Jerome H. Fiske, John S. Fatten,

Clmrles O. Weld, George L. Gould, Alfred E. Cox,

Daniel L. .Milliken, A. J. Freeuian, R. R. Robinson,

Tristram Gritliii, Klnathan D. Howes, Clarenie A.

I'erkins, F. H. I'age, William F. Merrill, Frank E.

Woodward, Charles R. Magee, F. O. WoodruU; Geo.

Howard Fall, George L. Richards, ,Iohn M. Corbett,

(.ieorite H. Woodrull, Eugene H. Cox, Charles G.

.Sbaedel, II. Hubbard, F. A. Lu.x, Harry H. Barrett,

Fdwin S. Blaine, H. L. Boutwell, Curtis S. Pease,

F. 1. Wiuslow and George W. Cox.

Olk AS1> Sew— The H'oman's Club of Maiden.—

On Friday, October 18, 1878, thirteen Maiden women

met at the house of Mrs. H. H. Robinson, at the in-

vitation of Mrs. Harriette R. Shattuck, "to consider

the feasibility of forming a woman's club in Maiden."

From tbis small begiuuing, "Old and New" has

gradually grown into a large club, numbering, in

March, is'JO, 100 members. It is the only woman's

club in the city, and one of three in Middlesex Coun-

ty. The presidents during the twelve years of its

existence have been Harriette R. Shattuck, Rosella

F. Baxter, Loriette A. Eaton, Harriette H. Robinson

and Cora E. Pease.

December 10, 1889, the club was duly incorporated

under the charter-name of the Old and New, of Mas-

sachusetts. The incorporators are Cora E. Pease,

Ella F. Bean, Cynthia M. Shepherd, Harriette R.

Shattuck, Adeline A. Nichols, Rosella F. Haxter,

Harriette H. Robinson, Lena D. M. Siuer, Caroline

D. Waldron and Caroline A. Danforth. The purpose

of the club, as stated in its charter, is literary and

educational work, and establishing and maintaining

a place for social meetings for the convenience of the

women of Maiden and vicinity. Mutual improve-

ment is its object, and incidentally, whatever work

for the outside public it may be able to do in addi-

tion. In pursuance of the first object, lectures and

other entertainments are given by members of the

club, and by persons invited to address it, on literary,

ethical, scientific and domestic topics. Half of the

twenty-four raeeting.seach year are in charge of three

committees, who, on the afternoons respectively as

signed to them, provide speakers and topics appro-

priate to their respective departments. The other

half of the meetings are in charge of the club itself,

which provides for them in executive session. Dur-

ing the last year the club listened to essays upon
" Utopias ; Old and New ;

" " Mirabeau and the

French Revolution;" "Robert Browning;" "The

Schools of Russia;" "Electrical Engineering;"

"Dust and Dampness;" "Some Curious Beliefs of

the Ancient Botanists and Herbalists;" "A Group of

Tolstoi's Women;" "Ethics in its Practical Rela-

tions;" "Morals of Materialism;" and the "Re-

moval of Lord Elgin's Marbles from Greece."

Of the thirteen meetings conducted by club mem-

bers alone, two have been devoted solely- to business.

One was occupied with accounts of summer vacations,

one with readings by members, two with debates, one

with housekeeping essays, and a short entertainment

to close, two with essays by members, the subjects be-

ing " The Science t)f Financial Success " and " The

Ethics of Financial .Success."

The main idea of mutual improvement Inus been

advanced by original work, in writing, speaking and

debating, as well as in listening. One feature has been

an original magazine, containing compositions in

prose and rhyme from the members of the club. There

are al.so a writing-group and a reading-group formed

by the club, the former having been in existence about

nine years, and the latter less than one year. The

writing-group has been a great means of developing

the literary and critical talent of those club members

who belong to it. Its president from the beginning

has been Mrs. R. F. Baxter. It is a rule that each of

the twelve members of this group shall write at least

five articles each year ; and these articles arc read in

the group and critici-sed in a friendly but candid spirit

by each one present. By this means the members have

learned not only to bear the more adverse criticism,

but also to know how to criticise frankly in return.

Courses of public lectures are occasionally given by

distinguished lecturers, under the auspices of the Old

and New. Another feature of the club's outside work

is the formation of a committee which sends reading-

matter every week to a number of women living in

isolated localities.

It remains to speak of the management of Old and

New, which is the most important fact regarding it,

and the secret of its success. The leading princi[>le

upon which this club is founded is the belief that

every woman has within her the germ of some latent

talent, which only needs cultivation in order to bear

fruit. " Old and New " stands for the development of

the individual, and its main intent is to draw its

members out and encourage them to speak their inner

thought. In order to carry out their ideas, it was

necessary to adopt two principles,—democratic man-

agement and rotation in office. The business of the

club is transacted by its members in executive .session.

Thei'e are no executive committee or directors, and,

although under the charter trustees are necessary,

these officers are merely nominal. They can do nothing

unless first instructed by the club at a regular execu-

tive session. The opportunity for wire-pnlling is thus

reduced to its lowest terms. A new matter is first pre-

sented before the whole club by any individual who
wishes to present it. It is then fully and fairly dis-

cussed, and, unless referred to a committee for some

reason, is decided by a majority vote.
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It has been a rule from the beginning thiit no officer

except the secretary iiiid ihe treiisnrcr anil no member

of a committee shall serve in the same position for

more tiian two consecutive years, or be eligible for

re-election until a year has intervened. It was felt in

the beginning, and is now still more strongly, that a

club whose object is " mutual improvement'' cannot

attain that object without giving opportunity to all

to compete for the honorary offices. Without the

provision for rotation, experience shows that only one

or two women ever have a chance in any society to

become a president or a vice-president, or a chairman,

and thus to learn to preside and to conduct meeting.s.

The result in Old and New has been that in twelve

years six women have become educated in the duties

of a presiding officer.

The principle of rotation in office does not apply so

strictly in societies for |)hilanthropic or special work;

but in a woman's club, where women meet together

to learn and to grow, it is at the same time a safe-

guard and an inspiration. Old anil New has |)rovi'd

the value of this principle by long and successful ex-

perience.

The Wom.yn's Christian Temperance Union.

—This association was organized April 19, 1876. Mrs.

P. S. J. Talbot was chosen president ; Miss Hattie A.

Sawyer, secretary ; and Mrs. Charles Merrill, treas-

urer. Mrs. Talbot still holds the office as president,

a continuous service of more than fourteen years.

The object of this Union is to educate public senti-

ment to the standard of total abstinence from alco-

holic liquors as a beverage, to secure the right educa-

tion of the young as to the use of alcoholic liquors

and narcotics, to reclaim the fallen, to enlist and

unite the women of the city in temperance work, to

obtain the legal prohibition of the li(|uor traffic, and

by co-operation with other associations in the State

and nation, to promote the cause of universal temper-

ance and sobriety. The first work of the Maiden

W. C. T. U. was to assist in organizing a reform club,

hiring a club-room, furnishing it with a library and

games to interest these reformed men, that they might

not return to their former resorts. A gospel temper-

ance meeting was held every Sunday evening with

large and interested attendance. Large numbers

signed the pledge, and many intemperate men were

reformed.

A juvenile temperance society was formed with Mr.

S. F. Fairfield and sister as superintendents. It be-

came very prosperous, with a membership of five

hundred, and still continues under the name of the

" Loyal Temperance Legion." Its present very

efficient superintendent is Mrs. Dr. Peleg Wadsworth.

One of the " boys " from this region recently organ-

ized a total abstinence society in the University at

Berlin, Germany, which is Increasing in influence

and popularity.

The W. C. T. U. has placed scientific temperance

text-books in the Public Library, and in all the libra-

34-iii

ries of the Maiden public schools; also treatises on

tobacco ; and, in answer to their petition Ihe School

Hoard have placed the temperame te.xt-books in the

hands of each public-school teacher, also in the hands

of the pupils of the three highest grades in all the

public schools of Maiden, at the same time directing

that the children of Ihe lower grades shall be taught

orally by the teachers, examinations being reijuired

as in other studies.

Interesting temperance books by the best authors

have also been placed in all the libraries of the Mai-

den Sunday-schools. Temperance l&ssons are taught,

temperance Sunday-school concerts are held, and
hundreds of children and teachers have signed the

pledge, and the rolls of honor which are passed once

a year in the Sunday-schools, under the supervision

of the W. C. T. U. superintendent.

liiterature, written upon the different j)hiuse8 of the

temperance question, is very widely circulated among
the people at large. The press and the churches are

influenced by the society to encourage and sustain a

hialthy, earnest temperance sentiment in the cora-

numity, which has for the past fourteen years been

successful. No licenses for the sale of intoxicating

liquors have been granted by the city government ex-

cept for medicinal and mechanical purposes; and in

no town or city of Massachusetts has the prohibitory

law been so thoroughty respected and enforced as in

ftlalden. The wonderful growth of Maiden, it having

doubled its population in ten years, is largely due to

the fact of there being " No license,'' the result in a
great measure of the W. C. T. U's. faithful work.

The work of the Woman's Christian Temperance
Union permeates every branch of society, and has de-

partments seeking to reform the many vices and social

evils which so constantly tempt the young from the

path of truth and virtue. It is non-sectarian in relig-

ion, and non-partisan in politics, seeking to save in

the name and spirit of the divine Master whom it

loves and serves.

Malden Medical Improvement Society.—This
society was instituted in 1888, but it was really an

outgrowth of the Holmes Medical Club, which was
started in the city of Maiden some ten yeare ago, and
included the select physicians of Maiden, Medford,

Melrose and Stoneham. This society is conducted

on the same plan as the State Medical Society, meet-

ing monthly, when essays and papers are read. There
is also a presentation of cases. In the winter of 1889,

there was given a course oflectures worthy of note. In

this society was born the idea of the Maiden City

Hospital; and when Deacon Converse was jisked

what he could do to help embody the idea, he re-

sponded nobly by giving $10,000 in cash, and several

acres of beautiful land. John L. Sullivan is the pres-

ent president of the society ; John B. Mahoney, secre-

tary; Godfrey Ryder, treasurer.

The British-American Association.—The chief

aim of this association is to get the British-American
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j)e«ple to become naturalized citizens, thereby ena-

bling them to vote; also to encourage social inter-

course amoui; the members. The present officers are

Sam I. P. Pri.st, president; James Scales, vice-presi-

dent ; A. .T. Crocklord, secretary. The society now

numbers about forty members.

Mai.den I.NPrsTuiAi, .\ir) Society.—This society

was organizcil in 1S75, the year of the great fire at the

Rubber Works. Its object, as stated in the constitu-

tion is to relieve and prevent destitution, by render-

ing prompt, efficient, and judicious aid to the deserv-

ing, nece-sitous poor in our own town ; and to encour-

age thrift, by endeavoring to cultivate the self-respect

and self-reliance of those to whom aid is rendered.

The society also er.dcavors to find employment for

the unemployed, and is conducted on the same plan

as the Boston Industrial Society. The members

number about two hundred, and meet once a year to

select officers and to distribute about $1000. Any

citizen can become a member by paying the small

amount of one dollar. The present officers are E. S.

Converse, president; J. K. C. Sleeper, vice-president;

John W. Chadwick, secretary ; William H. Sargeant,

treasurer, and John H. Parker, auditor.

UxiTEii Order of the Golden CROS.S, Mystic

COMMANDERY.—This association w.ia organized for

the purpose of paying to its members a death benefit

of from $500 to $2000, also of caring for sick members

and for mutual help. It is a secret order, composed

of about 100 members in Maiden Centre, and about

eighty in Maplewood.

The order itself was organized in Tennessee in

1876, and now numbers about 18,000 to 20,000 mem-
bers. It ranks third among the great orders, the

Ancient Order of United Workmen holding the first

rank, .secondly the Knights of Honor, and thirdly

the Golden Cross. One of the features of the Golden

Cross Order is that the members pledge themselves

not to drink, buy or make intoxicating liquors while

they belong to the order. Ladies are permitted to

join. Harvey L. Boutwell, Esq., a citizen of Maiden,

goes to Louisville, Kentucky, this year, as the Su-

preme Representative of the Grand Comraandery of

Massachusetts. This society has gained more mem-
bers within the past year than any other similar order

in the United States.

GoodTemplar.s.—Laurel Lodge, No. 152, 1. O. G.

T., organized in 1887, and now numbers from forty to

fifty members. It is a temperance organization,

whose object is to reform the drunkard, and keep

sober men sober. It is the largest secret temperance

organization in the country. The Sons of Temper-
ance is an older order, but not as influential. When
it was first organized it admitted men only; but a

few years later the Order ofGood Templars was formed,

for the purpose of admitting women .as well as men.

'

The order flourished rapidly, and did such good work
that the Sons ofTemperance changed their rules and
admitted ladies, following the example so nobly set.

Free Masonry.—Masonry is more flourishing in

Maiden than in any other city or town of its size in

the Commonwealth. The oldest organization is the

Mt. Vernon Lodge. Its charter bears the date of

A.D., 1857, and its members now number 230. Offi-

cers: Worshipful .Master, John Newell; Senior War-

den, Joseph F. Wiggin ; Junior Warden, Edward G.

Wise; Treasurer, James Hammett ; Secretary, Alfred

Tonks.

Converse Lodge.—This newer organization received

its charter the 8th of January, 1887, and the brothers

now number 142. Officers : Worshipful Master, Fred-

erick J. Foss ; Senior Warden, .Joseph W. Sanders
;

.Junior Warden, Eugene Nelson ; Treasurer, Joseph

JI. Russell ; Secretary, Charles R. Magee.

Following these orders come first : The Royal Arch

Chapter of the Tabernacle, which received its charter

in March, 1887. The companions now number 197.

Officers: Most E.\cellent High Priest, Geo. K. Nor-

ris; Excellent I\ing, Frederick G. Currier; Scribe,

George L. Griffin ; Treasurer, Joseph M. Russell

;

Secretary, Arthur W. Hutchins.

Second : Melrose Council, Royal and Select Masters,

organized December 12, 1856 ; constituted February

27, 1868 ; 193 members. Ofllcers : Thrice Illustri-

ous Master, William Bickford ; Deputy M.aster, James
Emerson ; Principal Conductor of the Work, Freder-

ick G. Currier; Treasurer, Winslow B. Southworth
;

Recorder, Arthur W. Hutchins ; Master of Ceremo-

nies, George E.Cofraa; Captain of the Guard, Clarence

O. Walker; Conductor, Edwin A. Kelley; Chaplain,-

James H. Waite ; Steward, Chas. C. Blanchard; Sen-

tinel. Henry L. Putnam.

Third : Beauseant Commandery, Knights Ihmplar.

Date of charter, October 20, 1886. Officers: Emi-
nent Commander, SirT. Fred. Martin ; Generalissimo,

Sir Rudolph Cramer; Captain-General, Sir Henry D.

Wilder; Treasurer, Sir Joseph L. Bicknell ; Secre-

tary, Sir Allan J. Chase.

Malden Young Men's Christian Association.

—In the fall of 1884 this institution first took form

and shape in the mind of one young man whose hope

it had been for several years, and then by the union

of several others, whose desires were as strong as his.

As a result, a dozen or more young men who desired

an opportunity for self-culture and improvement in

various studies, decided tojoin together in a kind of

class, to meet at their houses one evening in each

week, and talk over the readings which they should

undertake in their leisure hours. They represented

the various religious denominations of Maiden, and

sought religious progress as well as intellectual cul-

ture. The meetings were continued during the win-

ter, and when the spring approached the class de-

cided to hold a small prayer-meeting on Sunday even-

ings for the purpose of helping and influencing the

young men of the city. The first meeting was held

at the Baptist vestry, and then alternately among the

various churches. Next they rented a hall in Bar-
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rett's Building .and finally in Bailey's Building. By

this time many citizens were asking that the work

might become permanent and that an active and efFi-

cient association might lie lurmed. At this time the

class consisted of the I'ollowing members: G.Louis

Richards, Samuel M. Fairfield, F. J. Salsman, Dr.

George M. French, Geo. C. Currier, Chester Crosby,

Arthur Leonard, Caleb Crawford, William Merrill,

Fred. Schwartz, Chas. J. Bartlett, Richard Kerr, 11.

S. Ploward, N. E. Nourse.

September 10, 188.5, an initial meeting for the pur

pose of organizing a larger association was held at the

vestry of the Baptist Church. At this time a com-

mittee, representing the several churches, was ap-

pointed to canvas for members. The ten who were

appointed for the purpose entered immediately upon

their task, and at the October meeting reported that

the signatures of over three hundred young men had

been secured, also that a general feeling in favor of

the work existed in the community. At the next

meeting, held October 21st, Walter C. Douglass, th(

State secretary of the Massachusetts associations, was

present. Tn his remarks, he said :
" We have a defi

nite and distinct work to do—to labor for young men.

This work is needed to meet the various temptations

and pitfalls which the adversary has placed in their

wa)'. As the devil works distinctly in every large

community for the downfall of this class more than

any other, so our work is for the same class and to

the opposite result."

The Maiden institution, which chose to base its

action upon the principles which had made possible

the formation and successful prosecution of sixty sim-

ilar associations in other parts of the State, adopted

the truths expressed in that part of the constitution

which states that " the object of the association shall

be to improve the spiritual, intellectual, social and

physical condition of young men by appropriate

means and methods in harmony with the spirit of the

gospel."

A further extract from the constitution, relative to

the duties of members, shows what the institution ex-

pects of itself: " The members of this association shall

seek out young men and endeavor to bring them

under moral and religious influences by introducing

them to the members and to the principles of the as-

sociation. November 25, 1SS.5, at a meeting held in

the vestry of the Methodist Church, the following

Board of Directors was constituted: Hon. J. K. C.

Sleeper, George E. Gay, G. Louis Richards, Clarence

0. Walker, John H.. Parker, Herbert Porter, W. H.

Sargeaut, M. C. Grier, Rev. M. M. Cutler, William B.

de las Casas, A. D. Cromby, A. J. Chase, Freeman

A. Smith, H. B. Griffin, S. M. Fairfield.

The board was empowered by the constitution to

choose a president and two vice-presidents for the

association. For president it chose the principal of

the High School, Mr. George E. Gay, a man pre-

eminently fitted for the position. For vice-presidents

Hon. J. K. C. Sleeper and Clarence O. Walker.

Matthew C. Grier and Wilbur H.Sargeant were made
r(!spectively secretary and treasurer. To the impor-

tant position of general secretary, the board called

William R. Comer, who was formerly connected with

the Boston association. The next and very important

step was to secure proper headquarters. The Masonic

building was then being erected, and, through the

generosity of Maiden citizens, handsomely furnished

rooms were opened to the public in that beautiful

building in November of 1880. The rooms were

made free, to be used by any young man, whether a

member of the association or not. Classes for vocal

music and instruction in penmanship were formed,

and a course of entertainment furnished for the win-

ter. At the annual meeting, in December, 188G, Mr.

Gay declined further service, and Mr. Herbert Porter

was elected president in his stead. Under his effi-

cient care and faithfulness, for two years, the associa-

tion gained in number and extended its influence.

October 12, 1888, a vote was passed, making the

associatiiMi a corporation under the laws of the State.

With the new form of organization came a ch:inge in

the filling of the offices. Those who had been the

incentive and spirit in previous years declined to fur-

ther serve, and at the head of the association was
placed Mr. William B. Hawley, who also served effi-

ciently for two years.

The community, seeing, by the earnest efforts of

former workers, that the influence of the association's

work was being felt in every home, and in almost

every church, gave it a zealous support. In August,

1889, Mr. William R. Comer resigned his position as

general secretary, and Mr. W. H. Simonds, who was

acting in a similar capacity in Keene, N. If., was

elected to the office. It is due to !\Ir. Comer, how-

ever, to say that the present prosperity of the associa-

tion is largely due to his ability and faithful efforts

during the j'revious years, which were the formative

years of the society.

Each year of the association's existence had brought

forth several young men to that point in every man's

life when he accepts or rejects the proffered Gospel of

salvation. But it was left to the laborers in the fall

of 1889 to see the spiritual harvest for which many
had long looked. The assistance of Messrs. Martin

and Peabody were secured for this service, and the

association could say with the apostle, "And the

Lord added to the church daily."

In the fall of 1889 a short-hand class was formed

and largely attended. In the spring of 1890 an Out.
ing Club was organized, and, through the generosity of

Hon. E. P. Converse, grounds were secured at the

Fells for lawn tennis and base-ball.

In five years the Maiden Young Men's Christian

Association takes its place the eighth in size in the

State, though the city itself ranks as the eighteenth

in size. A large proportion of Maiden's best citizens

have enrolled their names among its members. To
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theoo-operation iind influence of such men have been

adde<l the noble ell'orls ..(" the Womeii's Auxiliary.

These laiiiw hiivo careil for the i«iirlor, keeping it sup-

plied with tli.wers, an.l havi' furnislieii refreshments

ttt tlie «.««<ni«tion'i* reception. The value of their

labor in behiilf of the ansociiitiou can never be «tti-

mated.

The societies existing in Maiden at present are as

follows

:

MJUtONlC.

Mminl V.ni.in Ludfco, chsrifml IfWS ; TonrerM Lodgr, A. F. A A. M.,

rharleird ISliT ; Kay>l Arch I'huptor of Ihe Tabcruncle, ili«rt«r«l 1886

;

M«li\»- CoMiicil, K. 4 S. II., iiimiluted IWT ; Bwiim-aiil <uiiiumu(l«ry uf

Knii:liuT«tn|>|ju, inatliulaHl IsifC.

0M> rEl.Lowg.

iliildlnsx lA>d(;v, No. 17, charterwl liiM ; Maiden liodge Aaociation, I.

o. O. F., Slidill'KX KDcanipniitiit, No. !>, ctmrtoreU 18«7 ;
Maiden Odd

Fallon' Aaorlallon ; I'alriarrlu MlliUllI, I. U. O. F. ;
Canton Mulden,

No 5S.

MIS4-IU.&NEOV8.

.\nif rit-an I..'Kiori of HMimr. ,irKiuii/c'<l 1879.

Aucirnt (iixl.r .rf llilwrniaiis Diviaiun No. 12; orgauli«d 187'.'.

Ancient Oriler of InileJ \\ orkmen, Mi/.inh Lodge, No. 16 ;
orgBnized

IS79.

BrilUh-Anierican Aasoclatiun, Linden Branch, No. 4, Linden.

Grand Arm)- of the Ropnblic, Mt^or Goneral Hiram G. Berry Po»t,

No. 40.

Order of the .Son» of Veteronn, George H. I'atch Camp, So. W).

Slajor-General Uiiant G. Berry Woman's Relief Corpa, No. 6j organ-

lie.! 187S.

Golden Rule Alliance, SI. .lohn Chapter, No. IT; organized 1880.

Home Circle, Jlyslic Side Council, No. 32 ;
organized 1882.

Inde|i..ndent order uf Ued Men, Wenepoykin Tribe, No. 47.

KnlBlilK of Honor, Maldfn I/odge, No. 352 ; organized 1876. Maplo-

wood I.fdge, No. 853, Maplewood ; organized 1878.

Knights of rythias, Spartan Lodge, No. 59. Frank L. Converse Lodge,

No. 75,

Kniglita and I.adie>< of Honor, Linden Ijodge, No. 391, Linden.

M. C. O. O. F., loiia Court, No. 10; organized 18";).

New Knglaud Order of I*r.iIection, Reliance Lodge, No. 3, Linden.

Same, Trogrea Lo*lge, No. 11, organized 1888.

.Maseachimotta Volunteer Militia, Company L, Fifth Regiment, .Mai-

den Rilliv ; orKani7i'<l 1883.

Ortler of Coltilubu.", John Hancock Settlement, No. 2 ; instituted 1889.

Order uf the Iron Hall, Local Branch No. '238, Linden.

Orderof Tonti. Waahlngton Lodge, No. S.') ; instituted 1886.

Order of Cnited Friends, Longfellow Council ; inatituted 1882. Same,

Salome Council, No. 61, Linden ; instituted 1883.

1>. F. V. 11. O.

Royal Arcanum, Mystic Side Council, No. 265 ; organized 1879.

Same, Linden t.'ouncil. No. 17'.', Linden ; organized 1878.

R. S. of G. F.. Siloaln .\Baenibly, No. 86.

Woman's Chri!*tian Temperance Union of Maiden.

I'anl Itevere, No. 18, Temple of Honor ; organized 1877.

Whittemore Lodge, No. 18<», Independent Order Good Templars.

Sagamore Council, No. 3, Temple of Honor.

St. Mary's Toul Abstinence Society, organized 1885.

l.ai)rel Lmlge, No. 1.52, Independent Order Good Templars.

I'auline Revere Social, No. 16, Temple of Honor.

Reliance Division, No. 18, Sons of Temperance.

Garfield Division, No. .55, Sons of Temperance.

I'nion Endowment, organized 1889.

Cnited Order of Golden Cross, Maiden Commandery, No. 45 ; instituted

1879. Jlyotic Commandery, No. 216, Faulkner ; instituted 1882. Same,

BLiplewood Commaudery, No. 219, Maplewood ; ini*titutedlS82.

Cnlted Order of Pilgrim Fathers, King Philip Colony, No. 17.

High Rock Colony, No. 39, Maplewood, instituted 1882.

Carpenteia' and .Toinern' I'nion, No. 152, instituted 1889.

Maiden Ikianl of Trade, institute<l 1889.

Maiden Civil Ser\-ico Reform Association, Maiden Deliberative As-

sembly, Maiden Firemen's Relief Association, Maiden Industrial .\id

Society ; Maiden Society fur Medical Improvement, instituted 1888.

Maplewood Reading-Room.

I'nion Maternal Society, organized 1886.

Maiden Slulual Beuellt Association, organized 187S.

Old and .New—The Woman's Club.

Samaritan Circle.

Young Moo Christian Association, organized 1885.

Women's .\uxiliary and Young Men's Christian Association.

Woman's Christian Tompenuce Union.

BIOGRAPHICAL.

ELISHA SLADE CONVERSE.

Elisha Slade Converse, son of Elislia and Betsey

Whoatou Converse, was born in Needham, Mass.,

July 30, 1820. Ili.s parents removed to Woodstock,

Conn., in 1824, and here be remained until twelve

years of age, when he went with his parents to

Thompson, Conn., and for nearly a year worked in a

cotton factory at that place. In 1833 he came to

Boston, where he lived for a .short time with his

brother, Deacon James \V. Converse, and attended the

McKean School. He was subsequently employed by

his brother-in-law, Mr. Aaron Bu Jer, of South Boston,

as clerk in his store, where he remained until 1836.

He then returned to Woodstock, where he attended

school aud worked on a farm until seventeen years

old. At this time he went to Thompson and engaged

for two years with Mr. Albert G. Whipple to learn

the clothier's trade. He soon after formed a partner-

ship with Mr. Whipple which continued until young

Converse was twenty-one years of age, when he

purchased Mr. Whipple's interest and continued the

business.

In 1S44 Mr. Converse removed to Boston and

formed a partnership in the shoe and leather business

with Benjamin Poland, under the firm-name of

Poland & Converse. During this period he lived

with his brother, Deacon James W. Converse, on

Pearl Street, aud also at Jamaica Plain. In 1847 he

removed to Stoueham, where Poland & Converse had

a branch business of grinding and preparing drugs,

spices, etc. This partnership was dissolved in 1849,

and Mr. John Robson became associated with Mr.

Converse, and the business was continued under the

firm-name of Converse & Robson until ls.53, when

Mr. Converse withdrew from the partnership, and

founded the Boston Rubber Shoe Company. He
was elected its treasurer, in which capacity he has

remained to the present time. This company is one

of the representative institutions of New England.

Mr. Converse early manifested laudable interest in

religious matters. He united with the First Baptist

Church of Thompson, at Brandy Hill, in 1832, and

while living in Boston was a member of the Federal

Street Baptist Church. He became a member of the

Baptist Church in Maiden in 1847 and was chosen

deacon in 1854, and officiated until his resignation,
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March 17, ISGJ. He removed to Maiden in 1850,

locating on Linden Court.

Upon the organization of the Maiden Bank, in 1851,

he became one of its directors, and in 185(> was chosen

president, and has occnpied that position to the pres-

ent lime, a period of thirty-four years.

September 4, 1843, he united in marriage with Mary

Diana Edmands, and their family consisted of four

children, viz. : Frank Eugene, born October 1, 1846,

and died December 15, 18(J3; UTary Ida, born .January

7, 1853, married January 4, 1882. Mr. Costelln C.

Converse, of Boston ; Harry Elisha, born May 7, 18133
;

and Francis Eugenia, born Jlay 14, ISCio.

All measures tending to advance the interests of

Maiden have found in Mr. Converse an earnest advo-

cate. He represented the town in the General Court

in 1878 and 1870, and in 1880 and 1881 was a member
of the Senate, an<l upon the incorporation of Mahleii

as a city he was chosen its first mayor by an almost

unanimous vote. He is the man whom the citizens

of Maiden most delight to honor.

In 18G3 a sad affliction was visited upon Mr. and

Mrs. Converse by the tragic death of their eldest sou,

who at the time was assistant cashier of the ^lalden

Bank. He was shot and killed in the bank at noon-

day by E. W. Green, of Maiden, the motive being

robbery. He was a youth of seventeen, of great

promise and of singular purity, the inspiration and

delight of a wide circle of loving hearts to whom he

stood for sweetness and light. The Converse Memorial

Building, erected as a memorial to Frank Eugene,

was dedicated October 1, 1885.

In 1888 Mr. Converse gave a fund of $25,000 for the

extension of the memorial building when necessary,

and has recently given, in money and land, about

§30,000 in aid of the Free Hospital.

IiAVID AYERS.

David Ayers, the son of David and Sarah (Seaverns)

Ayers, was born in Needham, Mass., in that part of

the town which is now Wellesley, July 27, 1818.

The only school education which he received was

in the common schools of his native town, with the

exception of about four months' instruction in 1833

in the private school of Mr. Marshall S. Rice, of New-
ton. In 1832 he removed to Boston, and for a little

more than a year was office boy for the late Theophilus

Parsons, Esq., at that time practicing law in Boston.

When not needed at his office he worked at Mr.

Parsons' house, doing such work as was required of

him.

After leaving Mr. Parsons' office he entered Mr.

Rice's school, as stated above, and in the fall of 1833,

he left school again, returned to Boston, and became
salesman and helper in the retail grocery store of

Benjamin Dutton, his brother-in-law. In 1835 he

entered the employ of Baxter & Dutton, and in

1837 that of Stratton & Houghton, both firms being

wholesale grocers. He remained with Stratton &
Houghton until 1843, when he became a partner with

Mr. John Stratton, under the firm-name of Stratton

& Ayers. At the end of about ayear this partnership

was dissolved. He remained, however, in jMr. Slrat-

ton's employ until 1847, when he again became a

partner in the firm of Stratton & Ayera. In 1850

John Stratton retired from the firm, and his son,

George F. Stratton, took hi.s place. In 18G1 Mr. Jamea
F. Eaton btxame a member of the firm, the name of

which was then changed to that of i^tralton, Ayers «&

Eaton.

In 1SG5 .Mr. George F. Stratton retired, and Ayers

& Eaton continued in business until 1875, when
ihey also retired from active business. In 185G he

was mariied to Martha E., daughter of Ivory Lord

and Nancy (Hill) lluckius, of Great Falls, N. H.,

l>y whom he had four children, of whom two sons

and one daughter are now living, viz., George 1).

Ayers, a member of the Suffolk Bar; Charles II.

Ayers, a merchant of New Haven, Conn., and Cora

E. Ayers, still residing in Maiden. Mr. Ayers joined

the Iude|iendent Order of Odd Fellows in 1843, and is

still a member of that fraternity. In that order he is

a member of iMassachusetts Lodge and Massasoit

Encampment, and also the Grand Lodge and Grand
Encampment of Massachusetts. He is a Past Grand
of JIassachusetts Lodge, and Past Chief Patriarch of

Massasoit Encampment, Past Grand Warden of the

Grand Lodge, and was for several years one of the

District Deputy Grand Masters. He is also a Past

Grand Patriarch of the Grand Encampment of Massa-

chusetts. In 1858 he became a citizen of Maiden,

and has taken an active part in its allairs, especially

in town-meetings. Never, unless sick, was he absent

from any of them. He served on many important

committees, took an active interest in schools, and
served seven years, from 1873 to 187G inclusive, and
from 1884 to 188G inclusive, on the School Committee.

From 1872 to 1878, inclusive, he was a member and
secretary of the Board of Road Commissioners of the

town of Maiden. He is careful, methodical and
painstaking in all matters, especially where jmblic

interests are concrned. He thoroughly studied all

public questions in regard to which he was called

upon to act. In all the positions he occupied he took

great pains to know his duty, and was just, firm and
resolute in the performance thereof. He has been

one of the trustees of the Maiden Savings Bank since

1878, and one of the examining committee of the

bank since 1880, both of which positions he now fills.

He has also been one of the vice-presidents of that

institution.

His views are broad and progressive. He always

endeavors to keep abreast of the times, is bold and
outspoken, but tolerant of the opinion of others. In

politics he is a progressive Democrat, a tariff and
civil service reformer. He is one of the vice-presi-

dents of the Maiden Civil Service Reform Association.
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REV. M. F. FLATLEY, P.B.

Rev. M. F. Flntlcy. P.R., Maiden, Mass., was born

iu Ireland, where he made his early sludie.H in a pri-

vate iliuaiical school, and in St. Jarlath's College,

Ttiani.

When ahout eighteen years of age he arrived in

Hom4.11, and tlio same week entered the Cdllcgc of the

Holy Cross, Worce.ster, Mass. Here he studied

rhetoric and idiilo.sophy, and graduated with the

highojt honors, June, 18G5. In September of the

same year he entered the Theological Seminary of

St. Mary's, Baltimore, Md., conducted by the Sulpic-

ian Fathers.

After a thcolngical course of three years an<i ii half,

he was ordained priest, December 28, 18()8, in the old

cathedral, by the Most Rev. Martin J. Spaulding,

D.n., Archbishop of Baltimore.

His first mi.ssiou was Brookline and Brighton—at

that time, .Fanuary 18t;!), forming but one parish,

.hily l"i, ISdi), lie was ai.poiuted to St. James' Church,

Boston, as a.ssislant to Kev. James A. Healey, now

Bishop of Portland, Maine. After serving four years

in this large and important parish, emb-racing the

entire centre of the city, he was appointed by His

Grace, the .\rchbishop, in June, 1873, to be the first

pastor of Wakefield and Reading.

While in St. James' I'arish, Boston, lie was a con-

stant and zealous worker in the cause of temperance.

He organized the St. James' Young Men's Total Ab-

stinence Society, and was its director for four years.

He won for it the most costly and beautiful banner in

the State, and made the society the largest and most

flourishing in the city. He was one of the chief or-

ganizers of the Massachusetts Catholic Total Alistin-

ence Union, also of its first convention, and was

elected its trea.surer five successive years.

Being the first priest to live in Wakefield, he had

to provide everything for church and parochial house.

He raised the church—only a portion of it was built

—

fourteen feet, had it wheeled round to face up-town,

built a brick basement, and purchased the land for

its extension. He also purchased a parochial house

and ground.s. Notwithstauding the panicky times,

he paid off a debt of i514,()00 and left the church and

church property entirely free from debt, when he was

transferred from Wakefield to Maldeu, In July, 1884,

Archbishop Williams ai)pointed him adminisirator of

Maiden, and in September of same year he was ap-

pointed its pastor. In the year 1888 he was promoted

and appointed permanent rector of Maiden.

During his short slay iu Maiden he lias already

greatly improved the exterior, and at much expense

has beautified the interior of the brick church. He has

purchased land for school purposes, and on one of the

lot-s he is now erecting a brick school-house, to cost

about $75,000. He has also purchased land for a new
cemetery, and a costly estate of three acres near the

centre of Maiden, on w'hich church and school will

be erected, and form the beginning of a new parish.

Father Flatley has lately returned from an extended

tour of Europe, Egyjit and the Holy Land.

REV. JOSHUA W. WELLMAN, D.D.

Rev. Joshua W. Wellman, son of James Ripley

and Phebe (Wyman) Wellman, was born in (Jornis-h,

Sullivan County, N. H., November 28, 1821. His

father. Deacon James Itipley Wellman, was born in

Cornish, N. H., February 21, 1789, and died there

November 1, 1860. He was the son of James and

.Vlthea (Ripley) Wellman. James Wellman, the

grandfather, was the son of the Rev. James Wellman,

who wa.s installed the first i)astor of the First Church

in Cornish, September 29, 1708. He was born in

Lynn, Mass., was graduated at Harvard College in

1744, and died in Cornish, aged eighty-five years, De-

cember 18, 1808. Althea (Ripley) Wellman, the

grandmother, was a descendant in the sixth genera-

lion from Governor William Bradford, of Plymouth

Colony. .Joshua Wyman Wellman, after attending

the public schools in Corni-sh till he was fifteen years

of age, was fitted for college at the Kimball Union

Academy, Meriden, N. H., from which he was grad-

uated in 1842, entering Dartmouth College that year,

and graduating in 1846.

In the winter of 1888-;3y he taught school in Hart-

ford, Vt., and later, during his college course, in Up-

ton and East Randolph (now Hoi brook), Mass. From

1846 to 1849 he taught in Kimball Union Academy

a part of each year, and in 1847 was for two terms

principal of the academy in Rochester, Mass. Enter-

ing the Andover Theological Seminary in 1847, he

was graduated in 1850, and was then a resident licen-

tiate in the seminary for one year.

He was ordained to the Christian ministry and in-

stalled as pastor of the historic First Church in Derry.

N. H., Juue 18, 1851, where he remained five years.

He was installed pastor of the Eliot Church, Newton,

Mass., June 11, 1856, and dismissed October 23, 1873.

His pastorate in Newton included the exciting period

of the Civil War. During the early period of the con-

flict he visited the South and saw something of the

horrors of war. He was strongly opposed to slavery

and supported the war as necessary to save the Union.

His plain statement of his views in his sermons pro-

duced considerable excitement at a time when many
believed that the pulpit should be silent on such

subjects. He continued, however, in every way

ttdiich seemed to him to be proper, to help forward

the cause of justice. The church became eminently

|)atriotic, and twenty-seven men from the congrega-

tion enlisted in the war.

During this pastorate the church grew from small

membership to be one of the largest and most promi-

nent churches in the State.

March 25, 1874, Mr. Wellman was in.stalled pastor

of the ancient First Church in Maiden, Mass., the





«



fe.:

r^^tA "^yfr-^^^^





ASHLAND. 685

history of which is given at length in this volume;

and which, under his care, grew into a large artd in-

fluential church. He remained in this position till

May 6, 1883, since which time he has not been set-

tled, but has continued to preach in various locali-

ties, while using much of his time for literary work.

October 24, 185-4, he married Ellen M., daughter

of Caleb Strong nnd I'liulence (l)urfee) Holhrook, of

East Handojph (now Holbrook), Mass.

Their children are: Arthur Holbrook, who marrieil,

October 11, 1887, Jennie Louise Faulkner; Edward

Wyman, who married, October 1, 1884, Emma R.

Patch ; Ellen Holbrook, who married, October 24,

1883, Robert Cushman King, and Annie Durfee

Wellman.

Mr. Wellman was elected a corporate member of

the American Board of Commissioners for Foreign

Missions in 1867, and he has been one of the man-

agers of the Congregational Sunday-school and Pub-

lishing Society since 1870; and a trustee of Phillips

Academy, in Andover, since 1870. He is a member

of the New England Historic Genealogical Society,

a corporate member of the General Theological Li-

brary, of Boston, and for many years a director of the

.Vmerican College and Educational Society, of which

he is now vice-president. He was a leading advocate

of the formation of the Congregational Club of Bos-

ton, of which he was an original member. Olivet

College, in 18G8, and Dartmouth C!ollege, in 1870,

bestowed upon him the degree of Doctor of Divinity.

He has published : "The Church Polity of the Pil-

grims;" " Review of the Sabbath Hymn and Tune-

Book;" "Our Nation under the Government of God,"

a war sermon preached in 1862; " Christianity and

our Civil Institutions ; " "A Review of Dr. A. V. G.

Allen's Biography of Jonathan Edwards ;
" besides

numerous sermons, addresses and magazine articles.

He made an argument before the Visitors of Andover

Theological Seminary, in the famous 'Andover Case,"

so called, which was published in the book called

the 'Andover Case."

CHAPTER XL.

ASHLAND.

BY GEORGE T. HIGLEV.

The Surface.—The town of Ashland is situated

in the southwesterly part of Middlesex County, and

is bounded northeast by Framingham, east by Sher-

born, south by HoUiston, southwest and west by Hop-

kintOD, and northwest by Southborough. Its meas-

urement from east to west is four miles, from north to

south three miles, and it contains twelve and five-

eighths square miles. Its population in 1885 was 2633,

and its latest valuation (1889), wasSl,300,901. Its out-

line is irregular, the only straight divisional line

against neighboring towns beingthe HoUiston bound-

ary. The Franiingham line isnearly straight, having

but a slight bend at Winter Street. Against South-

borough there are three bearings, against Hopkinlon

four, and in the short distance bounding on Sherborn,

there are two, the bend in this line being but sliglit.

The town was incorporated March Hi, 184(), being

composed of portion.s of the towns of Framinghani,

HoUiston and Hopkinlon. The part taken from Hop-
kinton was the territory lying between Cold Spring

Brook and Sudbury River; from HoUiston, that lying

east of Cold Spring Brook and down the river to the

old Framinghani line traced below ;from Framingiiam,

the rest of the territory on the south side of the river

and all on the north side. The old line betwetm

Framinghani and HoUiston, beginning at a point on

the river a few rods below the iron bridge, crossing

Union Street, ran easterly nearly parallel to the uor.h

boundary of Wildwood Cemetery, to a stone bound

near the northeasterly corner of the " Old Orchard,"

in the woods on the Town Farm, thence southerly to

abound in the road about ten rods north of the house of

the late W. D. Cole, and thence easterly with a slight

southerly deflection past a stone bound situated on

land of Mrs. W. H. Wright, at the entrance of the

Cozzens meadow, to the angle in the middle of the

Sherborn line. This old boundary line cut in two the

farms of the two Grouts, Higley, Dearth and others.

The surface of the land is moderately hilly. Taking

a bird's eye view, the most marked feature is the de-

pression caused by the Sudbury River, which flows

through from west to east. A hardly les.? noticeable

depression is the valley of Cold Spring Brook, which

stream, after traversing the southwest part of the town,

joins the river well to the east. Indian Brook, com-

ing down to the river from the southwest, in the west

part of the town, yields another line of low-lying sur-

face. Away in the extreme east there is a wide plain

of low land, mostly swamp and peat meadow, lying

south and west of Waushakum Pond. Into this pond

flow two brooks coming from the south, one from be-

yond the HoUiston line. From these various depres-

sions, in all directions, the land rises to hills of mod-

erate elevation. The low lands are wide or gently

slope upward, and upon the elevations are plains, the

surface everywhere atlbrding convenient farms. On
most of the elevated lands, woods and cultivated fields

are intermingled.

But few points in the landscape are so conspicuous

as to have acquired distinctive names. What is now
"the village" was, before the incorporation of the

town, called Unionville. The extended hill which

rises slowly at the southwest of the village is called

"Magunko," in remembrance of an Indiansettlement

of the same or a similar name once located upon its

eastern slope. In the north part of the town a slight-

ly higher elevation has received the name of " WUd-
cat Hill;" noith of the river, in the east, " Balhird

Hill" and "Banner Hill," at the southwest of the
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cemetery, are names now seldom heard. Of the

names which have formerly been applied to certain

districts, imnu-« not always euphonious, none seem to

survive cjcept lluit of "
< )rej;on," which dcsignntes a

small cluster of houses bordering on Soutliborough,

and " Chattanooga," which is the name of the new

factory village at the westerly end of the U)wn. These

names are also a|>plie<l to the schools in their respec-

tive districts. For the rest of the town the names

given to the schools apply t4> the district-s :
" Number

Two" designating the southwest part of the town,

and "Number !?i.x
" the southeasterly district. Ref-

erence is still made to the " Cutler District," to des-

ignate the school and territory about one mile north-

east from the village, and otherwise known as "Dis-

trict Number Five." Ihit this appelhiticn is goiug

out of use, the family for whom the district was

named having now moved away. While to point out

any particular locality the name of the person living

near may be given, yet, at the present time, the in-

fluence of no family seems to be so pervasive as to

give its name to the neighborhood.

Of the population of the town, which is now,

doubtless, somewhat above tlie figures of 18X5, about

one-third live upon its farms, these inhabitants being

scattered evenly over its surface, though somewhat

less thickly in the northern part than elsewhere.

The remaiuder are gathered in a village situated at

nearly the geographical centre of the town, upon an

almost level plain lying at the junction of the river

and Cold Sjiring Brook. Before these waters meet,

the river, whose general How is easterly, sweeps round

by a bend to the south, thus cutting oft" or blunting

the sharpness of the angle which would otherwise be

formed by the junction of the streams, and forming

an almost circular boundary to the village on the

east. On the southwest this plain pushes up Cold

Spring Brook, and up the river valley to the west,

while it presses back against the land lying between

these two valleys. Thus is formed the village plain,

a basin more than half a mile in width, and extend-

ing far up the river, and having pleasant overlooking

hills on all sides. Sudbury Kiver forms the uorther-

ly and northeasterly boundary of the village, Cold

Spring Brook the southeasterly and southerly, and

the steadily-rising slope of land which, at its eleva-

tion, is called " Magunko," the southwesterly.

The whole town is traversed from west to east by

the Boston and Albany Railroad, of which the Ash-

land Station is twenty-four miles distant from Boston.

The New York and New Knglaiul Railroad Company
run their cars from Ashland Centre, at their junction

with the Boston .and Albany, through Hopkinton and

Milford to Providence, Rhode Island.

Incokpokation.—In 1837 the first petition for

setting ofl' the town, signed by James Jackson and

130 others, was presented to the Senate. The Com-
mittee on Towns reported a bill which, however, was
denied a " third reading." The petition was afterward

referred to the next General Court. In 1838 the sub-

ject *as again brought uj), many remonstrances from

clusters of individuals being sent in. Each of the

three towns from which it was |)roi)Ofled t« take a

portion of the territory voted to oppose the measure,

and sent agents to carry out their wishes. The peti-

tion got no further than the committee of the Senate,

whose report of " leave to withdraw " was accepted.

The matter rested till 1840, when a new petition,

drawn up and circulated by Calvin Shepherd, Jr.,

and signed by James .lackson and 20',t others, was

again presented to the Senate. This petition was re-

inforced by others until about all the voters residing

within the limits of the proposed town had become

petitioners. At this time the towns of Franiingham

and llolliston voted not to oppose; while Hopkinton

passed a contrary vote—yeas, 159 ; nays, 115—and ap-

pointed their resident lawyer, Samuel Walcott, Esq.,

agent to act for them in opposition. Remonstrances

were sent in from various persons residing in the

three towns interested. The petitioners were repre-

sented by a lawyer from Sudbury. A very thorough

hearing was had before the joint Committee on

Towns ; all the facts favorable, or the contrary, were

brought out by the opposing parties. The reports of

this committee and of that of 1838 recite at length

the statistics of population, resources and business,

and present a showing favorable to the petitioners.

The bill, as proposed by the committee, with the excep-

tion of the change of name from Union ville to Ashland,

suggested by Calvin Shepherd, Jr., who was then a

member of the House of Representatives, was pa.ssed by

both Houses, was signed by Governor Briggs, and

took effect upon its passage, March 14, 1846. The
boundaries of the town, which had been determined

by the survey of William F. Ellis, are fully defined

in the act of incorporation. Within a year or two

afterwards the selectmen of Ashland, meeting in con-

ference with those of the neighboring towns, set up

monuments at each of the angles. There have been

several eflbrts made, by persons interested, to cliange

the boundaries, but only one has been successful. In

1853, for the benefit of parties who then occupied the

mill at Cordaville, the bound on the south side of the

river, which stood at first west of the road leading

from the mill to Hopkinton Centre, was carried down
stream to its present position, leaving that road

wholly in the town of Hopkinton.

The act of incorporation attempted to apportion

equitably the town burdens. Ashland was to support,

during their natural lives, one-twelfth of the Fram-

ingham paupers, one-fifth of those belonging to Hop-
kinton, and one-eighth of the Holliston poor. Hollis-

ton pauper-farm, which remains to the present time

within the Ashland limits, was not to be taxed, a

provision which, at the request of Ashland, was an-

nulled by the Legislature of 1848. Ashland was re-

quired to assume six hundred dollars of Hopkin-

ton's debt, which sura was soon afterwards paid. It
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seems to have been admitted that Ashland became

owner of all tlie jnibli(! property located on its ter-

ritory, which fonsistt'd iirincip:illy of a very few

school-houses. Hopkinton, however, craved the fire-

engine, whicli one night certain of its inhabitants

carried away, but in the law suit which followed, the

Court decided lliat the engine must be returned,

which was done.

Organizatiox.—The first town-nieetinj; was held

March 31, 1840, in the Chapel Hall. .Vt this meeting,

which wa.s called by Major Calvin Shepard, as a jus-

tice of the peace, a full corps of town ollicers was

chosen. The town's first honors were bestowed upon

Calvin Sheiiard, Jr., Josiali Huruliani, Dexter llock-

wood, Andrew Allard and .Vlbert KIlis, they bein<r

chosen selectmen. Benjamin Homer began his

twenty-years' term as treasurer. Among the other

officers elected familiar names appear: William F.

Ellis, S. N. Cutler, William Karnes, William Seaver,

James ,7ackson. Panlel Kamos began his service .a.s

moderator. C. F. W. I'arkluist was chosen town

clerk, perhaps fdrhis even, free penmanship, an illus-

tration of which could afterwards, for many years,

usually be seen posted at the side of the meeting-

house door, where he " published " all the proposed

marriages. At that first meeting a rule was estab-

lished, which hius prevailed ever since, that warrants

for town-meetings u\ust be ])(isted at least eight days

before the meeting, and another attempt was then

made, which has failed, whenever tried, to the present

day, to enact a code of town by-laws.

Atthesecoud meeting, held on April 8th, the assessors

were intrusted with the duty of arranging the highway

districts, and they appear to have marked out thir-

teen, a number not substantially varied from, but for

a short period, through the entire history of the town,

to the abrogation of the law relating to highway

surveyors in 1889. A committee of seven were

chosen to take iuto consideration the whole subject of

school districts, schools, school-houses, and the divi-

sion of the school money. The names of Elias Grout

and William F. Ellis stand respectively first and

second on this list. Their report made at the ad-

journed meeting, with slight amendments, was

adopted. No less than five town-meetings were held

before the end of June. During those months about

the whole work of the town seems to luive been laid

out, and particularly the subject of roads and school-

houses was dealt with.

F0KTHER Acts of the Town.—At the annual

meeting in 1847 the appropriations were $2000

for town expenses, $.500 for highways, and $800

for schools, figures that were not much changed

during the first years of the town. In 1850 the

fire-engine called the " Magunko " was bought for

1^500. About the same time the town purchased of

James Jackson his interest in the Chapel building.

In this year the question of building a town-hall

began to be agitated in connection with necessary

school provisions for the Centre District. It was not,

however, until ISM, and after many plans had been

proposed and votes i>a.ssed, that the appropriation of

$10,000 was finally made, and a committee actually

set about the work of building. The IJuilding Com-
mittee were, Elias Grout, Andrew Allard, John A.

Whitney, James Jackson and William .lennison. In

December of that year this committee rei)')rted the

building erected at a cost slightly less than the ap-

propriation. They appear to liave charged the town

twenty-five dollars each for services. At the same

meeting the superintending School Committee were

authorized to make necessary changes in the system of

conducting the schools and to hire a grammar-school

teacher. The graded system for the Centre District

was introduced the next year.

In 1858 the old custom of letting out the paupers

to the lowest bidder was still in force, though the

overseers of the poor were allowed the alternative of

hiring a farm upon which to place the town i>aupers.

li.ate in the following year the Thomas Fiske farm

was purchased for that purpose. Six years later the

town sold this place, and purchased of Elias Grout a

more commodious farm in the easterly part of the

town, which has since been occupied as the home of

most of the Ashland paupers. From the year 1801,

through the war, the town furnished its several quotas

of soldiers, responding inomptly with men and money,

when called upon. Some account of its work may be

found elsewhere.

Up to the year 1871 the old "Magunko" had

served to extinguish the few fires which had over-

taken the town, " Capt." John A. Whitney standing

high upon the engine and urging on the thirty labor-

ing men who were working the brakes. But the days

of hand-power were p.assing away. In that year the

sum of $7500 was voted for a steam fire-engine, hose-

carriage and house, and the next year hooks, ladders

and a truck were added, the whole resulting in an

excellent fire equipment, since appreciated on many
occasions. The firemen at first paid .$3.50, annually,

and allowed their poll taxes, later received .fO, and

in 1878 $12.

About this time action wius taken by the town in

favor of the Hopkinton Railroad, with the proviso

that its northerly terminus should be at the centre of

the town. Within two years following $10,000 were

invested in the capital stock of the road, an invest-

ment which proved a loss to the town, as a subse-

quent sale by the mortgagee divested the stockholders

of all property in the road.

The purchasing of Wildwood (Cemetery in 1809,

and the establishment of the Public Library in 1880,

will be spoken of in subsequent paragraphs.

For some account of the laying out of roads, and
provisions made by the town for schools, reference

may be had to the sub-sequent portions of this narra-

tive, which treat of those subjects.

Public provision was first made for lighting the
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Htr<«t8 iu 1881, an appro|iriiilion of $300 being then

nmdo for Unit purpose. Many iniliviiluals had before

erefti'il liimp-piwts, imd ihe town now furnished

lamps iind service. At n iiitor date the town nUn net

many tif the posts, ami the streets in tlu- villaj;e were

fairly well lighted with kerosene oil lumps. At Ihe

close of ISSy an electric light company from South

Krainingham was admitted to do business, and at the

btginning of the following year had erected two arc

and iiboni forty incamlesicent lights.

\l the close of the war the town's indebtedness

was $:tO,000. The building of the school-house on

Main Street, the subscriptions to the Hopkinton Rail-

road, the purchase of the land and preparing the

grounds of Wildwood Cemetery, and the provision of

a steam fire-engine, were extraordinary expenses in-

curred since the war, carrying up (he indebtedness in

1872 to $o3,0(H». Annually an appropriation has been

made to reduce the debt, varying from .'?4000 to $loOO.

In 1882 the town debt was $25,000 and consisted

principally of notes not soon to mature. To have in

readiness the means of paying these obligations at

maturity, a sinking fund was established and three

commissioners were appointed. The .sinking fund,

by vote of the town, is to be discharged in 1890. At

the beginning of 1889 the town debt had been re-

duced to about $10,000.

Tows Oi"i"iri;KS.—When the voters of the town of

Ashland first assembled in the Chapel Hall for the

transaction of business, the work to bo done was not

new to them. They had learned the method of pro-

cedure by attending similar meetings in the towns

from which they had come. A full proportion of

those who gathered had been accustomed to take an

active part in such meetings, and had held offices in

the parent towns! This will account for the direct-

ness with whidi they (iroceeded to lay out within the

first few months the whole work of organization. The
first town officers elected were therefore not a random
or an experimental selection, but they were men who
had been tried and found equal to similar work before.

Thus was early e.stablished a rule which has been fol-

lowed since, to elect to office those men who have

proved themselves iiualified. The burden of doing

the town work has been jissigned to substantially a cer-

tain few persons, who year after year have been chosen

to the offices, sometimes upon one board, sometimes

upon another, but almost always their names appear-

ing somewhere in the list. Those men who have
served as selectmen have often at other times been
chosen assessors or overseers of the poor. Not un-

frequently a new man will be elected as a third as-

sessor or overseer, but it will always be found that

at least one of the board has held some important

office before and has demonstrated his fitness to be
trusted. It has been the policy of the town usually

to re-elect the town clerk in recognition of the fact

that his knowledge of the doings of the town ac-

quired in past service is valuable, and may be used

in assisting other officers. For about the same reasons

the treasurer is not often changed; experience has

taught him how best to manage the town's finances.

Upon the board of school committee it has been the

custom to elect one or moi-e of the clergymen, if then-

are such in town who are noted for scholarship, and

have remained sufficiently long to form an acquaint-

ance with the people. I'olitics have invariably been

ruled out of meetings held for the election of town

officers. The man supposed to be best fitted for the

office-according to the judgment generally prevailing,

has as a rule been elected. The assessors, school

committee, treasurer and tax collector have always

been paid for services, the allowances, however, at

first being small. The town's first treasurer, who
retired at the end of 1865, never charged above thirty

dollars annually, and for most of the time he was

serving, only ten dollars. The treasurer for 1866

charged $100, setting an example which has been

followed by all the succeeding treasurers. The school

committee for many years were paid only one dollar

per day, the assessors two dollars. The members of

these boards now get two and one-half dollars. The
selectmen made no charge for services for many
years, nor did the overseers of the poor. More re-

cently the work of the ditierent boards has increased,

and their pay has been advanced in proportion. The
trustees of the library, the trustees of Wildwood
Cemetery, the commissioners of the sinking fund

and the park commissioners seem to be the only

boards whose members now receive no pay for ser-

vices. The matter of pay is never a just criterion by

which to judge of services which have been rendered,

as many of the town's agents have spent time and
money freely, with no expectation of a recompense,

and without even receiving afterwards any public

acknowledgment of their valuable services. The writer

is happy to record that the town has once in its whole

history, departed from its usual custom of unappre-

ciative silence. When their first treasurer, after long

and obliging services, retired from the office, the town,

at their meeting of March 5, 1806 (so say the

records), did " extend a vote of thanks to Benjamin
Homer for his acceptable services as treasurer the

past twenty years." The real agents of the town who
have done the work are only partly represented in

the lists of town officers, and of these there is allowed

only space for two lists. The selectmen since the

organization of the town are as follows, viz.:

1S4G—Culvin Slieperd, Jr., Josiah Bui-uhaiu, De.\ter Rockwood, .\n-

drew .Vllanl, .Mbert Ellis,

1847—William Jeimi^uu, renuel Clurk, Dexter Eockwood, Ellas

Grout, Williuin Eiimes.

18-IS—William F, Ellis, Josiah Cloyes, Jobu Works.

1849-52— Klins Grout, Willnrd R. Eanies, William Eaines.

1853—Siuieou N. Cutler, Willard R. Eaines, William Eames.

1854-Elias Grout, James JaeUsou, William C. Jeuuisou.

1855—William Earues, J. E. Forbush, Cbarles Twitehell.

1856-57—William Eauies, lleiijamin Homer, Heury Cutler.

1858—Elias Grout, Henry Cutler, John Clark.

1859—Eliaa Groul, Williaui Eames, Benjamin Homer.
1860-Cl—Elias Grout, W. .V. Scott, J. }f. Pike.

il
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1862—J. N. Pike, Henry Cutler, Chorles Alden.

1863-64—J. N. Pike, Cliarloa AMon, Jolin Cliirk.

186S—J.N. Piki'. Charles .\ldon, Alviih 5Ictc<ill'.

18GG—J. N. Piko, .\lviili Metftilf. Il.'iijiuniii Homer.

18li7—J. N. Piki', Alv.ih M.'truir, C. II. Tilton.

]8C8—\V. F. Ellis, W. U. Kami's, If. 'I'. lhuJn|>80D.

1869—W. K. Ellis, Eliiis tirout, \V. .\. F. Noyes.

lS7i)—Johu Clark, B. T. Thompson, J. H. Uiidmun.

1871—John CIrtrk, Henry (hitler, J. H. Dadnuin.

187:!—John Chirk, Alvali Mulcalf, S. A. Colo.

1873—Charles Aldon, S. A. Cole, K. N. Rosa.

1871-76—Clmrli'S .\lrton, Abncr Greenwood, J. A. Whitney.

1877-78—.^bner lircouwood, R. X. lloss, S. S. linker.

1879-81)—A.Greenwood, S.S. Baker, J. .\. Balcom.

1881- K. N. Ross, C. H. Tilton, A. Metcalf.

188J-83—C. H. Tilton, U. N. Koss, C. F. liront.

1881-85—Ailriaii Foote, J. A. Bnlcom, B. H. Harlshorne.

1886—A. W. Karnes (2d\ J. .K. Bulcom, G. C. FIske.

1887—A. \V. Eiimei (2d), \V. F. Ellis, O. C. Fiske.

1888—Adrian Foote, C. II. Tilton, J. A. Balcom.

18811—Adrian Foote, ,1. A. Biilcom, W. W. Smith.

1890—A. Foote, J. .\. Balcom, C. K. Loring.

Only one Senator has gone from Ashland, J. N.

Pike, in 1S72. Since 185(> Ashland ha.s been united

with Hopkiiiton in its representative district. For

the years 1856 and 1857 the town passed votes not to

send a repre.sentative. The following representatives

from Ashland served in the years below specilied ;

ISSl-fi'J, James Jackson ; 1853, Elias Grout ; 1854, Simeon N. Cutler;

1855, William M. Thayer; 18.n9, William F. Kills; 1.SG2, Btiyamin

Homer; 18», .lohn Clark ; 1868, William Seaver ; 1871, J. N. Pike;

1874, Charles Alden ; 1877, Wm. F. Ellis ; 1880, S. K. Thayer ; 1883,

Caleb Uolbrook ; 1886, F. N. Oxley ; 1S89, Abncr Greenwood.

Ways.—The public ways as they existed at the

incorporation of the town were nearly all retained,

while others have been added. By consulting a map
of Ashland, it will be observed that the roads formerly

extended through the town in three systems. Thus

there were roads crossing from HoUiston, Hopkinton

and the southerly partof Southboro',and all centering

in Framingham. The Hopkinton road lay through

the village of Unionville, and the traveler could take

his choice of ways, by the old road through Cherry

Street, past what is now the Dwight Printing Com-

pany's grist-mill over the " Common," or by the more

level way through Union and Fountain Streets and

Park's Corner. The road from HoUiston led past the

old burying- ground, William Fames', the Poor Farm
and Park's Corner, with a diversion by the Joseph

Morse place to South Framingham. Tlie inhabitants

of the southern part of Soiithborough and further west

went by the " Oregon " road, traversing the northerly

part of the town. All the inhabitants dwelling north

of the river, as far west as "Chattanooga,'" and those

south of the river living east of the paper-mill and

north of W. D. Cole's, depeniled upon Framingham

for school privileges, and went to Framingham Centre

to trade, to vote and to attend church, excepting that

for a time a Baptist church might have been reached

at Park's Corner. The people of Unionville journeyed

to Hopkinton to church and town-meeting, while the

inhabitanl.s on the east side of Cold Spring Brook

north to the Framingham line toiled slowly over the

hills to HoUiston for the like privileges. At the

incorporation ofthe town a new centre oftrade, church

influence and municipal business was created, which

it became necessary to connect with the outlying

districts by passable roads. Ways were also required

to render the schools accessible to the inhabitants of

the new districts. For these purposes new roads

were built, the principal of which areas follows : from

F. O. Grout's house through the woods over the old

disused Central Turnpike to the junction with Foun-

tain Street ; from the " Oregon " District southerly to

its junction with Winter Street, opening a road to

Fayville; from Cordaville, through what is now
" Chattanooga," to Winter Street, Southborough

building its portion ; from William Fames' phice

southerly to the Warren Morse place, avoiding the hill

and the distance round " the old red school-house "

in the woods ; Cross Street in District No. 3, to give

the inhabitants living on High Street access to their

school ; Concord Street from Fiske's to Front Street.

At a few points roads have been altered, straightened

or discontinued, notably near the Albert Hayden

place, by which the road over " the Common " to

Framingham was shortened and improved, and near

Jo.^iah Burnham's house, the old road having been

abandiuied and a new one built for convenience of

the neighborhood in reaching both their school and

the vill.age. At a somewhat later date Main Street

was continued from Union Street toward HoUiston,

in a straight line to its junction with Prospect Street,

thus avoiding the necessity of the detour past the

cemetery ; and quite recently a way was built from

the house of William Fames, past District No. 6

school-house, by which a dillicult hill on the old road

has been avoided. Most of the early roads were laid

out by the county commissioners, and met with more

or less opposition from the town.

In the village there have been changes in the roads

since the town was set off. Pleasant Street was very

early built by the town, Mr. Jackson giving the land,

and was a substitution for a discontinued road, which

clung to the south shore of the Mill Pond. All the

buildings upon Pleasant Street to Alvah MetcalPa

house, and all on the avenues leading south from this

street to the railroad, have been erected since the or-

ganization of the town.

The land for Central Street was given by the own-

ers, Benjamin Homer and the heirs of Capt. John

Stone, and the street was constructed by the town

about 1850. At the opening of the new cemetery

Homer Avenue was laid out, affording a direct way
thereto. The old road from the railroad crossing to

Klias Grout's house was formerly broken at Union

Street, the northerly part leading into that street at a

point slightly nearer the new house of Mr. Holbrook

than at present, and the southerly [part hugging the

bank of the river from Union Street to Cold Spring

bridge. The northerly part of .\lden Street, as far

south as Central, was opened to the public by Charles

Alden, in honor of whom it was named, in 1868, for
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the piirpotie of makicg liis laiid iiccessiblc to building.

The part noutii of Union Street was laid open about

the sanio time l>y Albert Lelaod, the owner of the

land in that neiRliborhood. The connecting portion

bftwei'n Union and Central btreets was seized and

laid out by the town several years later, in the face

of some opposition. Ksty Street was opened by C. C.

Esty, the owner of most of the land tlirough which

it wjis constructed, in 18(58, and was afterwards accept-

ed by the town.

lUii.i>isi:-<.—Substantially all the buildings now-

standing upon the streets so far mentioned have been

erected since the incorporation of the town, and

nearly all between the years IStiS and 1873. On the

other hand, the houses as they now appear, with a

few exceptions, were at that time standing on Main

Street, from Union to its northern terminus, and on

Kront .Street from the .Jennings house west to Mrs.

•lerusha Whitlemore's. On Union and Cherry streets

very few of the houses are older than the town ; on

Concord and Granite streets all are new. None of

the buildings in town are very old. One who came

to town in 1818 says that there were then in sight on

the whole plain, from a point of view at the factory,

besides the " Long Block " and the" Board ing-House,"

only the houses of Michael Homer and Capt. Stone

at the east, the " Old Mansion " at the south, and that

of Matthew Metcalf away at the west. Across the river

at the north, part way up the hill, was the Clark house.

As to the business buildings, when they were

erected, for what purposes, and who occupied them,

can be gathered from the account to be given later of

the industries of the town.

Landmarks.—In the changes that have taken

place, many landmarks have been removed. It is

only about twenty years ago that the dwelling-

house was burned which was situated on the spot

built upon by Sir John Frankland, near the Hop-
kinton line, and which contained as parcel of

itself portions of the original Frankland house.

In the ejtsterly part of the town the old house for

many years occupied by J. E. Morse, said to have

been built by .James Haven two hundred and sixty

years ago, has recently been burned. The " Old

Mission '* house occupied by Roger Dench over one

hundred and fifty years ago, and which stood upon
the premises of Mrs. Eliza A. Howe, but a few

feet southwesterly from her house, was burned in

1877. The long quadrangular house formerly occupied

by Capt. .John Stone, located on the north side of

Union Street, about where the house occupied by
Curnyn now stands, was taken down about 18-50. A
little to the southwest, on the new school grounds, may
still be seen the cellar-hole of the barn used in con-

nection with this house. The house occupied by
Benjamin Homer in 1846, and which had descended
to him from his grandfather through his father, was
moved about 1870 to its present location on the east

side of Homer Avenue.

Bt'RlAL-GiiouNDS. — In 1846 there were three

burial-grounds within the limits of the town. In the

woods at the extreme south, almost at the HoUistoa

line, on the old disused road leading from William

Eames' house, over the hill, there is a spot of land

which has been used for a burial-ground until quite

recently by the inhabitants of that neighborhood. In

the days when the travel from Framingham to Hol-

liston passed, this locality was not so lonely and

desolate as now. What is probably the oldest burial-

ground in town is the half-acre of land on Union Street,

near the Newhall boot-shop. Here are a tomb and

grave-stones, marking the graves of some of the early

settlers. Since the town was set off this yard has

become the property of the town, and has been walled

in and otherwise improved. Until ISti'J the principal

burial-ground was the two acres lying in the rear ot

the Congregational Church. Originally at this [loint

there was a small grave-yard owned by the Uniftn-

ville Evangelical Society. Later the town of IIop-

kinton became the owner of the lot, and added suffi-

cient land to increase the yard to its present size.

Within a year or two Hopkinton has released what in-

terest, if any, it had remaining to the town of Ashland,

so that the last named town now owns the fee in the

land. The yard seems to be for the most part filled

with graves, yet the holders of the lots continue to

bury their dead within its limits.

WiLDWOOD Cemetery.—In 1869 the town pur-

chased of Charles iilden twenty-three acres of land,

situated half a mile east of the village, on the north-

east side of Homer Avenue, and lying on the southeast

bank of the river. The ground rises from the river

in an irregular and pleasing manner, to an ele- <

vation of about seventy-five feet in the extreme

rear, the surface everywhere presenting a full

view of the village which lies below. When first

taken, most of the land was covered with a growth ot

oak and chestnut-trees, which have since been partly

cleared away in those portions which have been

graded and wrought for use. Only a small part ot

the whole tract has yet been occupied, but this

section has been carefully laid out in paths and lots,

the natural contour of the surface readily lending

itself to the designs of the landscape artist. A con-

siderable sum of money was at first expended in im-

proving the grounds, and suflicient portions of the sur-

face were then wrought to meet burial requirements to

the present time. Many families have purcha.sed lots

upon which they have erected monuments. Burials

have begun upon the high grounds and by the river

side. The grounds are well-kept, the town employing

a gardener who devotes his time to the work. A small '

stream of excellent water runs through the grounds

along the southwest part, at the foot of the hills,

which is used for drinking and also for watering the

hill-slopes, the water being forced up by machines.

Wildwood Cemetery is the name given to this beau-

tiful burial-ground. Eight years ago the town
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bought an additional acre of land at the entrance of the

grounda, and removed therefrom tlie old buildinpjs, so

that now tlie inhal)it:inta of Ashhiiid liave secured for

all time a worthy place for the burial of their dead.

The original committee appointed by the town to

prepare the grounds, making a cemetery out of the

forest, appear to have done their work well. Their

names are Warren Whitney, Henry (Sutler, Willard

R. Eames, Charles .Mden and Alvah ^letcalf. The

cemetery is now under the government of a board of

five trustees chosen by the town, one of whom is

chosen annually to serve for a term of five years.

Sf'HOOLS.—The town of Ashland adopted the

method of conductintr schools whieh had prevailed in

Framingham. There was no division into territorial

districts, each having a corporate standing, owning

and holding its school property, as was the case in

many country places, but the town bought the land

and erected the school-houses. At the same time

there was a quasi-district arrangement, the methods

of the district system being in part followed. There

were chosen at the annual town-meeting two com-

mittees, called respectively the school committee and

the prudential school committee. The former had a

legal standing, but the latter existed by custom and

by acquiescence on the part of all concerned. Under

this system the prudential committeeman had charge

of the school-house in his district, provided fuel and

hired the teachers. A meeting was usually held in

each district at least once a year, at which the pru-

dential committee for the ensuing year was nominated

and the question determined, by bidding or otherwise,

as to who should provide the fuel for the next year

and the price to be paid for it. The nominee of the

district was invariably elected at the succeeding town-

meeting. The school committee proper, usually called

the superintending school committee, in distinction

from the prudential committee, consisted of three

persons chosen for their fitne.ss for the ofiice. They
were taken from the class of liberal, or at least well-

educated men ; often they were old teachers. The
duty of the school committee was to examine the

candidates for teachers, to visit the schools, to have a

general superintendence over them, including the

text-books, and to make an annual report, in writing,

to the town upon their condition. In this way the

schools were conducted many years in an acceptable

manner, especially to the inhabitants of the outside

districts.

But the influence of the cities and larger towns be-

gan to be felt, where the cumbersome machinery of

the system above described had been abandoned, and

a simple system introduced of schools conducted

under t!ie sole charge of one committee, and graded

by classes so far as practicable. In 1859 the town

abandoned the election of a prudential committee,

and added three members to the school committee,

which, again increased in 1SG8, became a committee

of nine, one-third elected each year. For a time care

was taken that, at least, one member of the nine

should be chosen from the residents of each district,

in order to maintain the proper eqiiilil)rium of school

influence throughout the town. The districts, too,

at first, held their meetings, as before, to nominate

the candidate for election from their district. I$ut it

proved inconvenient always to maintain this rule, and

deviations from it were more and more allowed, till

the rule had at last become obsolete. Then it began

to be felt that a committee of nine persons was larger

than could be needed for a small town, and that the

school business could be done more conveniently and

no less efficiently by a board of a smaller number.

The town about 1S80 had reduced the number to

three, one member to be elected annually, and this

arrangement, jnoving entirely satisfactory, has pre-

vailed to the present time.

The division of the school money among the dis-

tricts was at first made by vote of the town, and seems

to have been based on the number of families or

scholars in the district. But the rule was varied,

sometimes equal amounts being a.ssigried to all the

districts. Once the Centre District was allowed to

count as one and one-half. Later the division was

left to the judgment of the superintending school

committee, and this committee ap|)ear8 to have re-

covered from the town gradually a recognition of the

rights which the law really gave them.

Feeling that the burden upon .scholars of purchas-

ing school-books had become excessive, in order to

reduce the price, in 1882 the town appropriated f.300

to be used in purchasing a supply to be sold without

profit for cash. This plan was pursued successfully

two years, when the law requiring towns to furnish

school-books free to their scholars went into effect.

The supply on hand was then turned over to the new
use. Books and supplies are now purchased as

needed, and are issued by the agent of the town upon

the requisition of the school-teachers.

In the spring of 18Si), taking advantage of the new
law, a union with the town of Ho]>kinton was effected

and a superintendent of .schools was chosen for the

two towns, who has now completed one year of suc-

cessful service.

The locating of schools which pre-supposed a divi-

sion of the town into districts was done by the com-

mittee on schools appointed at the second town-meet-

ing held on April 8, 1846.

The limits of the district having been determined,

to find the actual sjiot for the location of the school

-

bouse, measurements were ma<le to decide as to its

geographical centre, and the house was built at a

point on the road nearest that centre. There were

originally seven districts, reduced to six when the

school-house in District No. 3 was erected. Five new
school-houses were built very early, and they stand to-

day in their original locations, though in three of

them no schools now assemble. The school in the
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Centre Dintrict. otherwise called District No. 1, was

kept in the ihapel, a twostiiry brick builiiing, which

gt«.«| on the site nf the town-hiill, but more to the

front. Only the tir-t story in Ibis builiiing wiis fitted

with school lurniture, and regularly occu|>ied for

M-hool purpooes. There were seats for about fifty

scholars. Overflow schools were sometimes kept in

the hull above and in other buildings in the village.

Hefore l.S'iO the number of pupils attending the Cen-

tre iSchool had become double that in District 6. Be-

tween these two schools there were many contesUs in

spelling occurring on winter evenings. The schools

in the other districts were smaller, particularly in

Nos. 2 and i. .\fter \S-Vt the attendance in the out-

lying schools began to decrease, a tendency which ha.s

not been checked even to the present time. The

result has been seen in the closing of the schools in

Districts 2, 3 and 5, though the bust-named school

was also weakened by the cutting otf of a portion of the

di.ttrict by the Howage from " Dam 2." lu the north-

erly part of the territory of District ^, in 1887, a new

school-house was built to accommodate the children

from the new village at t'liattaiiooga Mills.

Meantime a great change has been going on in the

centre of the town. It was early found that the school

accommodations were insufficient, that something

more than one school-room in the Chapel building

was needed. It was also believed that there were

now scholars enough in this district to put in success-

ful operation the graded system, which had proved

beneficial in the cities and larger towns. At a meet-

ing of the town held in 1855, it was decided to erect

a town building, upon the first floor of which provi-

sion should be made for the schools in the centre of

the town. Four school-rooms of a size to seat fifty

pupils each were provided and furnished in a sub-

stantial and, for the time, superior manner. The

schools in this district then began anew under the

graded system. From 1856 for two years a high

school was taught by H. F. Allen, and about 1863

portions of the tuitions of scholars atteuding the pri-

vate school of Warden Reynolds were paid for a year

or two by the town. With these exceptions it was not

attempted to carry scholars bejond the grade of the

grammar-school, requiring those who desired to pur-

sue more advanced studies either to go out of town

foi^the needed instruction or to obtain it in the occa-

sional private schools which were taught on the tui-

tion plan.

High School.—In 1867 the number of scholars

having increased, to meet the general desire, as well

as to keep abreast with neighboring towns, it was

again voted to organize a high school, though the

number of resident families was not suflicieut to com-

pel the town to take such action. From the date of

its final establishment there has been no interruption

to the high school. At first the services of but one

teacher were required. Later, when the number of

scholars had increased, an assistant was furnished,

and now for many years two teachers have devoted

their time to the school, and, if short periods at the

change of teachers be excepted, with almost uniformly

satisfactory results. The principal, at least, has

alwavs bad the preparation atlorded by a college

course of study ; the assistant now employed is a col-

lege graduate. So successfully has this school been

conducted, that very few scholars have gone away to

other schools, even for acquiring the necessary pre-

paration for college or the higher technical schools.

Following is a list of the principals of the high

school, with dates and periods of teaching :

J. O. Norris,55 weeks, from June, 1867 ; H. E. Mar-

rion, 8 weeks, from September, 1868 ; Francis Savage,

27 week.s, from January, 1869 ; H. E. Bartlett, 40 weeks,

from September, 1869 ; J. A. Page, 1.3 weeks, from

September, 1870 ; A. S. Roe, 187 weeks, from January,

1871 ; J. B. Messervey, 40 weeks, from September,

1875; A. J.George, 240 weeks, from September, 1876;

W. H. Thompson, 40 weeks, from September, 1882
;

F. E. Whittemore, 120 weeks, from September, 1883;

E. H. Alger, 13 weeks, from September, 1886; C. W.

Ayer, 4 weeks, from January, 1887; H. A. Blood, 63

weeks, from February, 1887 ; Walter Moores, 80

weeks, from September, 1888.

Other Schools.—The grammar school, though

belonging to the series of graded schools in the Cen-

tre District, has been open to pupils from all parts of

the town, who have chosen to attend. This school

has always been the special care of the committee,

and none bnt teachers of sterling character and large

experience have been employed, The appointments

of teachers to the lower grades, and in the mixed

schools, have usually been made from the graduates

of the high school, or of one of the State normal

schools. It has been the practice of the committee to

retain goou teachers, advancing them in grade and

pay, and marriage of a female teacher has not worked

a forfeiture of her position. The schools have suf-

fered at times from the excursions of marauding sup-

erintendents from larger places, but the offer of high-

er wages has not always proved a sufficient lure.

Teachers have usually preferred to keep their present

assured positions, though they get less money. An
exception, however, must be allowed in the case of the

high school principals, who have as a rule left at the

end of from two to six years for better positions, as

the town though liberal in all school matters, neces-

sarily sets a limit to salaries. Contrary to the tenden-

cy in the outlying districts, the number of scholars in

the centre of the town has always been increasing.

Before 1870 the four rooms in the town hall building,

with the addition of one of the ante-rooms up stairs,

could not be made to seat all the scholars. A room

was fitted up in Adams Block, at the corner of Rail-

road and Aldcn streets, providing for about forty of

the ."mallest scholars. This arrangement not proving

permanent, as no other quarters could be secured, the

school committee, with the consent of the selectmen,
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put up and furnished the small school building now

standing east of the town hall. Still the rooms were

crowded, the number of pupils running up aa high as

seventy-five in the lowest grade. In 1871 eighty

rods of land were bought on South Main Street, and

the four-room school-house now oc('U|iied was erected

and furnished at a cost of about ten thousand dollars.

This relieved the pressure, furnishing accommoda-

tions sullicient to the present time. More recently

the conviction gained ground that the rooms in the

town hall building did not meet the modern require-

ments of school-rooms, and that some of them were

needed for other purposes; as a result, in ISS'J the

town voted to erect an appropriate schocil building on

their lot of land, situated on Central Street, lately

bought for the purpose, and are now engaged in put-

ting up a building which will accommodate the high

and grammar schools, and one other school.

Until about the year 1855 there were only two

sessions or terms of the schools, consisting usually of

twelve weeks each. The summer term began in

May, a female teacher being employed, and none but

the smaller scholars attending. The ])rincipal school

was in the winter term, commencing the first Mon-
day after Thanksgiving. A male teacher was em-

jiloyed, and, as all the large boys and girls in the

district attended, the strong qualities of the teacher

were sure to be tested. Soon after the year above

named, female teachers only began to be employed,

and the number of weeks of schooling was increased.

For many years the schools below the high school

were kejit thirty weeks annually, the time being

divided into three equal terms. Recently, two to

five weeks have been added to the length of the

school year. The high school year has always been

forty weeks. With the change from male to female

teachers in the winter, the attendance of grown-up

boys and girls in the district schools fell away. It

m.ay, however, be said that those who, under the

early custom, would have attended school in the

winter, but now remained at home, were few, for

most of this class, about this time adopting the new

fashions of living, went into the boot-shops, ov, going

away from home, struck out for themselves. Rut

looking back and comparing the palmy days of the

district school with those of later times, it cannot

but be observed that a certain amount of sturdiness

has been subtracted from the outlying districts, and

its substitute for the people of those districts must

be found, if at all, in the growth and culture afforded

by the high school now convening in the centre of

the town.

Two Teachers.—It is impossible to refer to each

of the long line of teachers who have toiled in this

town ; but going back a considerable period, a pass-

ing reference may be made to one or two who have

left a specially lasting impression by virtue of their

personal influeuce. Under the old district adminis-

tration the names of L. H. Cobb and Samuel Upton

will occur to tlie minds of residents who have now

passed middle life. Upton taught in tlie Centre

District for two or three winters, conducting a large

school with very great ability. He was at the time

taking his course in Dartmouth College. He after-

wards became a lawyer, and is now a judge in the

highest court in New Hampshire, his native State,

(jobb was also a Dartmouth student, a classmate of

Upton, and preceded him in school work in Ashland.

Cobb taught five winters in District No. 6, taking the

school through the period of its greatest strength.

There were then in that school fifty scholars, of ages

varying from four to twenty-one. His administra-

tion was severe but just, and truly inspiring. So

much interested in his work was he, that, in addition

to his regular duties, he aided his scholars in forming

a lyceum, the meetings of which were held weekly

during the winter terms of several years. About

everything of an intellectual order within the capac-

ity of the scholars was planned and executed at these

meetings. There was always a debate, with the reg-

ular array of disputants, after the manner of lyceums

in those days. There was a " naper," upon the prep-

aration of which much time had been spent ; there

was declamation, music, everything but a play. To
add to the interest, other schools wore invited to par-

ticipate in the exercises, the final wind-up usually

being a good-natured combat in spelling. At these

meetings lectures were sometimes given by Cobb,

Upton and others, including Sanborn Tenney, then

the Park's Corner teacher, afterwards the professor in

natural science. The result of all this fervor, breath-

ing intellectual life into No. 6, was the awakening of

aspirations among the youth of that district. Two of

the boys at least who participated in the debates of

that lyceum have, as men, made their mark : E. F.

Dewing, after the war, judge of the District Court in

New Orleans, and afterwards, for years, to the time

of his decease, a prominent lawyer in a neighboring

town, and Rev. J. E. Twitchell, D.D., for many years

a successful pastor of prominent city churches, and

now located in New Haven, Conn.

Libraries.—The earliest known library kept for

use within the territorial limits of this town was the

collection of books, principally novels, purchased and

owned by Ephraim Bigelow. He lived on the place

occupied by the late W. D. Cole in the easterly part

of the town. From about 1815 for tvventy-iive years

people came from all directions, within a radius of

five miles, to take out books, paying for their use at

the rate of two cents a week. When the school library

was provided for the Park's Corner District in Fram-
ingham, this collection was carried over to that point

and placed in the care of George Fay, who also had
charge of the school library.

About the year 1830, Matthew Metcalf, Elias Na-
son and Andrew Allard went to Boston together and
bought one hundred and fifty volumes, jiaying two

hundred dollars, and placed them in the counting-
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room of the kUIoii nu i..ry lur l-iihtuI circulation.

Thf Mt'lfctii.ii wiiH iiia.li' mostly l>y Mr. Nason, who

wait then loiuliliig siliool in tin- villiigo. This library

wati id use about ten years, when tho books were sold

to the rHiiiilics iiitercstetl in them. The oriijiiial con-

tributions wore Ironi one to live dollars, and no

chiirRf was made for the use of the books. About

1S40 the State had a series of bonks prepared under

the supervision of the Hoard of Kilucation, which

were furnished upon payment, to those towns that

denired to introduce them. These books treatetl upon

scientific and historical subjects, and were bound in

a uniform style. Fifty or more volumes were placed

in each of the sihool-rooius in Framingham and Hop-

kinton and were issued to the households in the dis-

tricts. Much interest was manifested in this move-

ment, and the books were eagerly read ;
but no new

books were added, so the interest gradually fell

away. The library belonging to what is now the

Centre District is supposed to have been scattered

and lost. Twenty volumes, originally in the district

now comprising the westerly part of the town, are

still ill existence and in a fair state of preservation.

Shortly before the war a few persons clubbing to-

gether bought about fifty volumes, mostly histories

and biographies, and placed them in the office of the

shoe-shop of C. H. Tilton, in charge of George H.

Ellis as librarian. The subscribers had free use of

the books ; other persons were allowed to t.ake them

out upon jiayment of a fee. After about one year the

club suspended and divided the books among the

members. '

In the year 1859, with money raised by subscription,

the .\gricultural Library (so-called from the prevail-

ing character of the books) was purchased and put

into general circulation. This was the first effort

made, after the incorporation of the town, to furnish

a free library. It would appear from the books of the

librarian still preserved, that there were upwards of

125 volumes in this library. The principal patronage

came from the farmers, but nearly all the families in

town, at one time or another, appear to have taken

out books. No additions were made and the books

gradually disappeared. Mr. S. W. Wiggins, the libra-

rian, at whose store the library was kept, still had in

his possession at the establishment of the present

Public Library, eight volumes, which he placed in

that collection.

A period of twenty years now followed, in which

discouraging views prevailed, and the untoward end

of the Agricultural Library was cited by way of illus-

tration, forgetting that to attain .success other books

than those on farming are needed, as well as frequent

reinforcements by the addition of new books. But

that the towns-people desired to read, if only books

of the right kind could be furnished, was shown all

through this period by the patronage given to private

circulating libraries.

First came to town one Uriah Pollard in 1870,

bringing 500 fresh volumes, mostly novels and histor-

ies, and putting them in circulation at a charge of

two cents a day. This library was kept in the store

of Horace Yeaton,in a building since burned. For

two or three years this venture proved profitable to

the owner, as the circulation was large. The period of

popularity wa-s prolonged by the addition from time

to time of a few new volumes. After the interest had

fallen oflthe library was sold.

Next, a club of a dozen persons was formed, and

fifty dollars raised, by which a small library was pur-

chased, to be kept at the drug-store of Billings & Ox-

ley. This movement lasted a year, at the end of

which time the books were sold by auction to the sub-

scribers.

Then followed other circulating libraries, each in

turn having its day. Mrs. Franklin Moulton pur-

chased a small library of interesting books, which she

kept at her residence on Railroad Street. W. T. Hill

selected about 200 volumes, mostly novels, covering

and labeling them neatly, and keeping them several

years at his printing-office. Still later, S. A. Davis,

profiting by the example of others who had turned an

honest penny in the business, placed a library of

about three hundred volumes in his periodical store

on Railroad Street. This, like the libraries which

preceded it, was composed of popular works, and

was largely patronized until the opening of the Public

Library. He still retains his books and loans them as

they are called for.

In parallel movement with the libraries there have

been circulations of books and magazines owned by

clubs, which, after having gone the rounds, would be

divided or sold at auction among the members. There

have been few, if any, years in the history of the

town when one or more clubs of this character have

not been in the field.

At least one special effort has been made to furni.sh

the public with the free use of magazines and papers.

E. P. Tenney during his pastorate with the Congre-

gational Church, raised funds by solicitation, hired a

room in the then post-office building and had it fur-

nished ior a general reading-room. This room was

kept open one year, day and evening, with, however,

but a small attendance of readers.

Even after the partly successful experiment with

the Agricultural Library before referred to, there

were those who believed that a free public library,

if properly managed, could be made to succeed, and

furthermore that the interests of the town demanded

that an effort should be made to establish such a

library.' In the spring of 1871 A. S. Roe, then

principal of the high school, now master- of the

Worcester high school, made strenuous efibrts to

awaken an interest in the subject; some of the citizens,

at his request, met at the town hall building and dis-

cussed the question. It was thought that one thou-

sand dollars would be needed to start a public library

with prospect of success. Mr. Roe drew up a sub-
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scription paper and commenced its circulation. Alvah

Metcalt" Heniy Cutler and a few others put down

liberal sums; but when two hundred and fifty dollars

had been subscribed, it was found that the limit to

which the people would then go had been reached.

Many persons, when approached, proved to be unwill-

ing to contribute, jjiving as a reason that the time had

not yet come for a public library. The town, it was

said, was struggling under a large war debt, and the

consequent heavy taxes, and was suffering under the

general depression in values and incomes, which had

overtaken the whole land at that time. So the sub-

ject was reluctantly dropped.

Public Liisk.uiy.—The condition of the town's

finances annually improved. Year by year some part

of the debt.was paid. In 1880 the opinion began to

be entertained that the time had come for the estab-

lishment of a free public library. It was in thesjjring

of that year that (i. T. Iligley, having requested the

insertion of an article upon the subject in the warrant

for the aunual town-meeting, made a motion at tluit

meeting, which was carried, that such a library be es-

tablished by the town under the provisions of the

statute law. This proved to be a beginning. A com-

mittee, consisting of G. T. Higley, W. F. Ellis, S. S.

Baker, Adrian Foote, Elias Grout and Paul Stevens,

were chosen to carry this vote into ett'ect. No action

was taken till the succeeding fall. At that time the

committee, having called to their aid many of the cit-

izens, planned a series of entertainments which after-

wards took place, with the efl'ect of raising the needed

funds, and at the same time awakening a general in-

terest in the subject. In this movement the churches

and other public organizations participated. All the

population, exceptions, if any, being very few, took an

active personal interest. The funds obtained from

entertainments were more than doubled by cash sub-

scriptions, which immediately followed, the whole

secured sum amounting to nearly one thousand dol-

lars. With this eight hundred volumes were pur-

chased, which became at once a working nucleus.

The town voted to assign the dog tax to the library,

and this, with two hundred dollars appropriated an-

nually to the present time, has now served to collect a

library of nearly three thousand volumes. The selec-

tions of books have been made by the trustees, princi-

pally through their secretary, who has made it a strict

duty to study the subject. Books that have become

standard are easily found. To acquire a knowledge ol

new books, the notices which appear in the literary

columns of the papers and in periodicals devoted to

the subject are studied, and from notes taken the pur-

chasing lists are made. Books asked for by persons

using the library, especially by teachers and students,

are bought if no valid reason exists for excluding

them. This process of selection has been found to

work satisfactorily, as only the best books and those

that are wanted are admitted. All ages, and classes,

and dwellers in all parts of the town use the library.

35-iii

In it the schools find aid in their work, special priv-

ileges being granted in the use of the books to teachers

and students. A board of six trustees chosen by the

town, one-third annually, conduct the library. A
printed catalogue hiis been prepared for home use,

supplementary slips being added after each new pur-

chase. Although the books are freely entrusted to the

care of young persons to be taken to their homes,

after nine years' constant use, not half a dozen vol-

umes have been lost, or were unaccounted for at the

last annual examination of the library. The system

in use, of fines, of charging upon personal cards, and

of requiring each applicant for a book to till out a slip

to be left with the librarian, absolutely protects the

library from all loss or damage, except the ordinary

wear and tear.

Hitherto the library has occupied one of the ante-

rooms in the town hall building. At the last meeting

of the town a vote was passed to move it into one of

the large rooms on the first floor of this buildijjg,

where it is intended also to fit uj) a public reading-

room.

Mills, Waters, Etc.—At the time the town was

established, most of its business was done in the mills

located upon the river. First in order of importance

was the four-story frame mill of the Middlesex Union
Factory Company, in which cotton-cloth was manu-
factured. This mill, which stood upon the present

site of the Dwight Printing Company's machine-,

shop, at the corner of Main and Myrtle Streets, had
been built some thirty years before by a. corporation

called the Middlesex Manufacturing Comjjany. In

1827 certain Boston parties had bought the property,

and one year later had become incorporated under

the name first mentioned.

James Jackson, who had had experience in a mill

in Sutton, had come to this place about 1825. He
was appointed resident manager of the new company,

and had remained in this oflice to the time our narra-

tive commeuces, in 1846. At this time a small build-

ing stood near the east end of the factory, occupied

for counting-room by the company, and for a store.

" Long Block," then glorying in three times its pres-

ent length, was across the street, filled with tenants,

operatives in the factory. The " Boarding-House,"

standing at the head of the street, vacated about six

years bef ire by Mr. Jackson himself, was now occu-

pied, as its name imports, as a home for the unmar-
ried employees. The small houses farther to the west

were filled with factory tenants. Since Mr. Jackson's

advent the enterprise had prospered. By buying
stock from time to time, he had, in 1846, become sub-

stantially the owner of the property. At this time

the mill was still running at its full capjicity, turning

out products viilued at $65,000 annually
; but owing to

competition and other causes, later the business be-

came unprofitable, and was closed, Mr. Jackson
retiring. The factory was never again started ; in 1854

it was burned to the ground, Thus came to an end the
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Lu-.M," . I,,, rprise which had given birth and proa-

perily Ui iho villiiue of L'nioaville, and had definitely

led u|> lu the eatuldiniiiiieiit of tlio town.

The c.iuntint?-rooui liuil.ling survived the fire, and,

after being- used for some year* a.-* ii store, was moved

way ; nothing of the factory remained except the

large wooden undershot water-wlieel, which for many

years afterwards was allowed to revolve, at first, pre-

snaiably, lo keep it from rotting, but finally, as we

»mall boys concluded, solely for amusement. Close

upon the dam stood the grist-mill then as now, only

that the farmer who then brought his corn lo grind,

was never sure of having his grist ready when he

wanted it, as the factory took what it needed of the

water first; if any was left the grist-mill had it. But

the failure of the factory brought revenge to the grist-

mill, which ever since has had its own way. In the

spring of 1808 the liostou Flax-Mills bought the

property, and proceeded to erect the frame building,

known as the machine-shop, now standing at the

corner of Main and Myrtle streets, intending to occupy

it for the niiinu(acture of linen goods. Before the

works were completed, in the fall of that year, the

whole properly was sold to the Dwight Printing

Company.

The Dwight Printing Company was organized as a

corporation under Massachusetts laws in 1868, with a

capital of $300,000. There were originally three stock-

holders,—William Dwight, Jordan, Marsh & Com-

pany, and Francis Skinner & Company. Subse-

quently Jordan, Marsh & Company bought out the

other stockholders, thus becoming sole owners of the

three hundred shares of stock. Still later the indi-

vidual membere of this partnership succeeded to the

ownership of the stock, and are now its sole owners.

The Dwight Printing Company first boui^ht of the

Boston Flax Mills, about six acres of land, which

comprised the original plant of the Stiddlesex Union

Factory Company. This conveyance covered the fac-

tory and grist-mill water privileges, and the lands

below the dam, including the canal, which had been

formerly used in connection with them. Other con-

veyances to the company followed, by which title was

obtained to 125 acres of additional lands along the

northerly banks of the river and the north shore of

the Mill Pond.

The purpose of this company was to establish an

extensive business in bleaching, dyeing and printing

cotton cloths.

Immediately after its organization the company
prepared plans for a series of extensive buildings,

such as would be needed in their business. Within

the next two years seven large granite buildings, in-

tended lo be covered with mansard roofs, were begun

and (carried forward, four of them to completion. A
machine-shop already built was furnished, utilizing

the water-power. At the same time a new street was

out through the company's land on the north side of

ihe river, and ten double houses were erected for the

use of employees. Including bouses standing upoa

the lands purchased by the company, tenements for

forty families were provided. The company's build-

ings were erected under the supervision of Qen. Wil-

liam Dwight, Jr., who came to Ashland and remained

during the process of erection. Ivichard M. Uoss was

chief mechanic, and Adrian Foote was put in general

charge of the company's property, taking up his resi-

dence in town and remaining to the present time.

The effect of the sudden entrance of this company

into town and its conspicuous building operations was

to raise the price ofreal estate, and cause other new busi-

ness to start up. New stores were opened, houses were

built. Land which before had been held only for

agricultural purposes, was surveyed and put upon the

market for building lots. Workingmen who had

saved a few hundred dollars, thought the time had

come for them to secure homes ; so buying thirty or

forty rods of land, they built houses, raising by mort-

gage the balance of funds needed to complete them.

Those were times of general inflation; the cost of

labor and materials was high ; consequently their

houses, when completed, represented high values. The

mortgages placed upon them were sometimes larger

than the whole cost of similar premises fifteen years

later, or before the war.

The company had only partly erected their build-

ings, when it began to be rumored that the city of

Boston was in search of a further water supply, and

had its eye upon the Sudbury River. This at once

put an entirely new complexion upon the prospec-

tive value of this enterprise. If the water of the

river was to be taken for domestic use, it was clear

that the proposed business of the company could not

be carried on, as products from the dyeing processes

must necessarily go into the water and pollute it.

It was therefore decided to cease work upon the

buildings until the water question should be finally

determined.

This action of the company in suspending all

operations came disastrously upon the town. The

prospects predicated upon the increase of business

which would be caused by the carrying on of the

company's operations, came to an end, causing gen-

eral disappointment. Houses and other buildings

became vacant, and the values in real estate fell

away.

In 1872 the city of Boston obtained from the Leg-

islature an act which condemned finally to their use

the waters of the Sudbury River and its tributaries.

From this time it was manifest that the company's

buildings could never be occupied as at first intended.

The question now was for what purposes, and to

what extent could they be used. To determine this

question, a suit was brought against the city of Bos-

ton, in 1876, in the nature of a claim for damages

for injury to the company's water rights. The ques-

tions of law involved were carried up to the Supreme

Judicial Court, and the decision, drawn up by Justice
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Ames, reported in Volume 122, of the Miissachusetts

reports, p.ige 585, finds that while riparian jiroprie-

tors " retain all their common law rights in the river,

80 far as they are not inconsistent with the use de-

fined in the statute," the petitioner had acquired no

ri^lit by expre-is grant or prescription " to liefoul the

water, or render it uiitit for drinking purposes," and

was not entitled to damages. This was equivalent to

deciding that the water of the river could still be

used for " domestic purposes, for watering cattle in it,

for cutting ice," and also for mechanical power if

not attended with pollution.

Since that time the property has awaited a pur-

chaser ; SoOO.OOO have been expended inland and

buildings, the latter containing 175,000 feet of floor

room. A spur track from the Boston and Albany

Railroad brings freight and coal to the doors of the

buildings, affording the best of facilities for handling

goods. The ])lant has been kept in good condition,

and will some day doubtless be put to a profitable

use.

The Dwight Printing Company also owns the

" Bigelow PaperMill property," including about

nine acres of land, a wide flowage, and valuable

water rights situated on Sudbury Kiver about one

and a half miles west of Ashland Village.

A. D. Warren, a thread manufacturer of Wor-
cester, in the latter part of 1879, came to Ashland,

and leasing for a term of years one of the Dwight

Printing Company's buildings, fitted up a factory for

the manufacture of spool cotton.

After the mill had been running but a short time,

in January, 1880, a corporation was organized under

the name of the Warren Thread Company, with a

capital of twenty-five thousand dollars. All the stock

was immediately bought by Eben D. Jordan, James

C. Jordan, Eben D. Jordan, Jr., and Adrian Foote,

who from that time to the present have rem.ained the

sole owners of the stock. Eben D. Jordan was

chosen president, and Adrian Foote treasurer. This

mill takes cotton yarn as it comes from various fac-

tories in New England and twists it into thread.

The thread, which is of many sizes and colors, is

wound upon spools, and after being marked accord-

ing to quality and to suit customers, is shipped to all

parts of the United States. About seventy-five hands

are employed at the mill, who have work the year

round. The value of the annual product is about

three hundred thousand dollars.

The next concern of importance was the paper-mill

of Calvin Shepard & Son. The "son" was Calvin

Shep.ard, Jr., who, at his father's dealSi, succeeded to

the property and business. The mill stood half a

mile east of the village, at the junction of Fountain

and Union Streets, just west of the iron bridge. The
paper, which was for newspaper supplies, was at first

made by hand. Afterwards water-power was used,

and finally steam and water-power combined. The
water to carry the mill was taken out of the river

just above the dam recently removed, at a point about

seventy feet southwest from the bridge, and was car-

ried directly across Union Street to the north. The
raceway has been filled with earth, though its south-

erly end can yet be traced. The old site of the mill

has been entirely obliterated by the Boston Water
Board in leveling tlie ground upon the bank of their

water-basin. The first mill was burnt down in 1842,

and was immediately rebuilt on a larger scale. Shep-

ard employed twenty to twenty-five hands. He
turned out an annual product of about $.30,000. His

business, at first successful, owing to com])ctiti()n and

other causes, at length became unremunerative, and

was closed about 1850. For a year or two after that

date he attempted the manufacture of combs, but did

not succeed in making this new business profitable.

The property was now sold to Lcc Clullin, and Shepard

moved to Taunton. In 1857 he took up his residence

in Boston, serving most of the time for thirty years

afterward as visitor for the Overseers of the Poor and

Provident Association. He was one of the most

prominent men in the early history of the town. He
is now residing in Edgartown much enfeebled with

age.

Charles Aldea bought the Shepard Paper-Mill

property of Lee Claflin, of Hopkinton, about 1S55.

He introduced machines to pulverize quartz and other

minerals. Just before the war he had succeeded in

obtaining a monopoly of the emery manufacture,

having the sole right to import the Smyrna stone, the

only stone then supposed to be available. The war

coming on, the call for emery to be used in polishing

and for other purposes was enormously increased, and

Alden, having the facilities for its manufacture, turned

his whole attention to that business. During the war

his business was thriving and remunerative, and he

acquired property. Later there was still a market

for emery, as it came more to be used in the arts, but

on account of others engaging in its manufacture and

other sources for the supply of stone being found, a

competition in the business arose, which greatly re-

duced the profits of its manufacture.

In 1868 Alden changed the form of the business

ownership, which had already become a partnership,

to that of a corporation, under the name of the Wash-
ington Mills Emery Manufacturing Company, him-

self, at first, holding a majority of the stock. This

company became owner of the property, and contin-

ued to carry on the business at that point until the

city of Boston bought its real estate and water rights.

Shortly before the expiration of the time allowed the

company to remove their buildings, they were con-

sumed by fire, the insurance being recovered only

after a protracted lawsuit. The company then re-

moved its business to New England Village, now
North Grafton.

In about 1870, Alden, having disposed of his inter-

est in the emery manufacturing business, built a

mill on the west side of Union Street, just north of



iC^ HISTORY OF MIDDLESEX COUNTY, MASSACHUSETTS.

iiiu iri.M ni 1.1.1 , i..r the manufacture of emery-wheels.

\ *t.K.k coiii|iiiiiy WHS fi.niifil for this purposo, under

the namo of tlio Vilrifieii Wheel luul Emery Com-

pany, with AUleii «8 liffit nianiigcr. Tliis iMimpiuiy

oMrrieil on it« Im.titie.ss till liDiiglil mit by the eily of

IJoKton, after which the buiiUiiig was taken down and

removed.

After .Vlden withdrew from this last-named com-

pany he built an emery-mill on the spur Irack at the

Cutler Jlills; but hail hardly begun busine!<s when

the city of Boston also absorbed this concern, remov-

ing the buildings. This closed the businesB enter-

priseti of Alden in .\shland.

Very marked results accompanied the success of

his early emery business. lie purchased a large

tract of land of lienjamin Homer, in IStiti, and about

the same lime smaller tracts from thi- heirs of John

Stone and others, and commenced building hou.ses.

His operations were mostly in the neighborhood of

Homer .Vvenuo and the street which bears his name.

Nearly all the houses on these streets were built by

him or with the aid of his money. To any reputable

pereon who would buy from him a house-lot he would

furnish means for creeling the house, taking back a

mortgage to secure the money loaned. The registry

in which Ashland real estate conveyances are re-

corded contains evidence of a large number of deeds

given by .\lden between the years 1867 and 1873.

His share in the work of building the Jlethodist

Church is referred to in the account given of that

church.

In 1879 Alden removed from town, engajiing in

other enterprises till nearly the time of his death,

which occurred in 1888. His funeral was attended

at the Methodist Church, in Ashland, and his re-

mains were buried in Wildwood Cemetery, the land

for which was bought of himself, and which, as one

of the board of town trustees, he had helped to lay

out and beautify.

About a mile below the Shepard Paper-Mill stood

the Cutler Mills. At this point the water-power ear-

ly employed in connection with the iron foundry of

Gilbert Marshall and Richard Scars was used by

Sears to run the saw-mill built by him, and from 1818

to carry also the grist-mill erected by Calvin Bige-

low, the owner at that date of the water privilege.

Subsequently the property, passing successively

through the hands of .Tames Whittemore and Wil-

liam Greenwood, finally came into possession of S. N.

Culler. The grist-mill stood at the northerly extrem-

ity of the dam, was a one and one-half story building,

and was painted in the old-time Venetian red. At

the southerly end of the dam was the saw-mill, with

its up-and-down saw and all the openers to the

weather, for which such mills of old were famous. This

mill was also rigged with a set of stones for the grind-

ing of gypsum into flour, or "plaster," as it was

called, which in those days was used by farmers to

sow upon old pasture lands, and to piit in their po-

tato-hills as a fertilizer. The farmers brought their

corn to the mill for grinding, and the miller took a

toll of two quarts for each bushel ground. In the

winter logs were brought to the mill-yard on sleds,

and later in the season the boards or planks into

which they had been sawed were carried away. All

these processes were carried on leisurely, much to the

comfort of the patrons of the mill, who, while their

grist was being prepared, learned the news from the

miller. Cutler at first continued the operating of

these mills in the old way, but later he began buying

corn, and, after grinding it into meal, selling to the

stores. His new business grew rapidly, one or more

of his sons were admitted into partnership, and the

name of ihe firm now became S. N. Cutler & Son.

They bought their corn by large quantities in the

West, and became heavy patrons of the railroads,

thus inducing the Boston & Albany Railroad Compa-
ny to build a spur track for their benefit. A large

and convenient mill furnished with elevators and

other apparatus, was erected on the side of the stream

next to the track. This mill was wholly burned in

the fall of 18G7, but the next spring it had been re-

placed and was running. Thus by energy an exten-

sive and valuable business was established, which was

continued till the removal of the firm in 1876. At
this time the city of Boston bought the whole prop-

erty, and subsequently took down the building, so

that now no trace remains. The original site of the

old red mill is now many feet under water in "Basin

2," of the city's system of water supply, on the Sud-

bury River. A little to the west of where the high-

way formerly passed under the railroad the bed of

the spur track may still be traced, but the site of the

principal mill has been dug over and is lost in the

graded bank, or lies partly covered by water.

One mile west of tiie village, on the Sudbury River,

is located the box-mill of Alvah Metcalf. The dam
and the original building were erected about 1835 by

John Cloyes, for the manufacture of sash and blinds.

Very early a set of stones was put in for grinding

corn. In 184-1 Cloyes sold to Daniel White, who one

year later conveyed to Henry Brown. In 1847 H. F_

Goodale, of Marlborough, became owner. As a tenant

under Goodale, Micah B. Priest, also of Marlborough,

manufactured boxes u.sed in casing boots shoes

and bonnets. Metcalf bought the property of Good-

ale in 1860, and continued the business, gradually

increasing it. In 1870 the mill proving too small for

the amount of business to be done, was pulled down,

and the present commodious building erected. To
supplement the water-power, not always sufficient in

summer, steam was provided. The stones for grind-

ing corn were left out of the new mill. Two years

ago a stone dam was built, so that now the mill has

superior facilities for turning out boot-boxes. About

two million feet of boards are made into boxes an-

nually. The careful supervision and personal labor

of the owner have built up this successful business.
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Haifa mile farther west are the remains of the

Bigelow Paper-Mill dam. This was once the site of

a flourishing business in the manufacture of a fine

quality of haml-made paper. Tiie original owners

wore John, David and Perkins Bigelow, and Gardner

Wilder (2d.) They bought land lying upon the stream

in 1817, and in that or the following year built the

dam and mill. Shortly before the establishment of

the town, the last of the Bigelows had withdrawn

from the business. David Bigelow, who maintained

his hold longest, resided in Framingham Centre, and

rode daily to his mill. There are still remaining

traditions of the personal beauty and superior social

influence of the women belonging to the Bigelow

families. About 184G ' Plon. Isaac Ames, judge of

Suffolk Probate Court, for himself or as attorney for

Hazen Morse, was interested in this mill. Silas

Warren, Samuel Whitney and prob.ably othefs were

connected with it, and engaged, after the town was

organized, in the manufacture of wall-paper. Samuel

Whitney used to tell how, when he once found him-

self short of materials, he went into his potato-field

and gathering the vines and weeds, ground them up

and made them into pulp, thus saving fifty dollars

in the way of stock. But the business was at length

closed and the property remained idle. The mill was

burned about 1866.

After this propeity had ceased to be used it passed

successively, by deeds, to .John Clark, 1864; E. P.

Dewing, 1S6-J, and to Thomas Corey in 1868. In 1869

the Dwight Printing Company bought the land, water

privilege and rights of flowing, and are now the owners.

The dam had been maintained until very recently,

but now the middle part has been washed away.

Siill farther west on the river, near the town

limits, on the site of the " Old Forge," are located

the Chattanooga Woolen-Mills, ow'ned and oper-

ated by Taft & Aldrich. At this point there is a

dam and a fall of about twenty-five feet, with two

wooden water-wheels of one hundred and sixty horse-

power. About the time of the incorporation of the

town, W. B. and A. .T. Wood, the owners, built a

paper-mill, which, for several years, was run by Isaac

Ames. In 1863 David Fales & Company started up

the works, manufacturing satinets and woolen goods.

They carried on the business for about eight years,

after which the mill was left idle. In 1873 the Woods
sold the whole property to C. and C. T. Aldrich, who
enlarged the mill and put in steam-power, to be used

when the water was low. In 1876 Charles Aldrich

sold his interest to L. H. Taft, of Uxbridge, who, six

years later, sold to his father, Moses Taft. The pres-

ent firm is composed of Moses Taft and Charles T.

Aldrich, the latter residing upon the premises and

conducting the mill. Taft & Aldrich employ about

seventy-five hands. Since Aldrich came, a village

has grown up at this point, which is called Chat-

tanooga, and a school-house has been built in the

neighborhood.

On Cold Spring Brook, about three miles from its

junction with Sudbury River, there was formerly a

saw-mill and grist-mill, which in early times were in

operation when the water in the brook was suificient

to run tliem. After the incorporation of the town

S. N. (Sutler & Company appear to have had an in-

terest in the property. But the mill was many years

ago abandoned, and the privilege is now lost in the

flowage of " Dam 4 " of the Boston water supply.

On a small brook which empties into Wausliakum

Pond, at the place late of W. I). Cole, for many
years prior to 1850, stood a shop owned by James
Bigelow. Here was a small water-power which

Bigelow employed to run a turning-lathe and a saw

rigged for wheelwright work. Bigelow could make
anything, from a clock to an ox-cart. While en-

gaged in rimming out a gun-barrel at his lathe, an

end of his neckerchief caught on the shaft of the

rimmer, which, winding round quickly, before he

could become disengaged, caused his death.

There are no great ponds within the town limits,

excepting a portion of Waushakum. The F"ram-

inghara boundary line, which crosses this pond,

leaves in Ashland, perhaps, a little less than a quar-

ter part. This part of the pond aflbrds the best

fishing. Here, until about twenty years ago, sports-

men caught good strings of perch and horned-pout in

the summer, and pickerel through the ice in the

winter. But since the pond h.as been " improved,"

by the cultivation of black ba,ss, no fisherman h.as

any luck.

The Ashland waters, once a principal source of

pecuniary benefit, the town can no longer call its own.

Of the six once flourishing mills that stood upon the

banks of the Sudbury, only two remain, and these no

doubt are doomed. In 1872 the City of Boston ob-

tained from the Legislature an act conferring the

right to take the waters of the river and all its

tributaries for the purpose of acquiring an ad-

ditional water supply. As rapidly :is its plans could

be formed, the city proceeded to obtain, by purchase

or seizure, all the business property upon the river

east of the village, and cleared ofl' completely the

banks of the stream in this section. It placed an em-

bargo upon the valuable water-power in the centre,

without oftering the owners any compensation. The
two remaining privileges west of the village it has so

far permitted the owners to use, but always in the

face of uncertainties as to bow long or in what man-
ner they may be allowed to use them. With the ex-

ceptior^ of the small amount of water required to keep

up the flowage of the stream, and the amounts that

may be necesssiry for extinguishing fires, for domestic

purposes, and for generating steam in the towns
bordering on the river, all the waters of the Sud-
bury and its tributaries above a certain point in

the town of Framingham have been presented as

a gift by the Legislature to the city of Boston,

reserving only to immediate owners the right to
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iii'll their interest therein for sucli price as they

may be able to ^et, or to recover compensation for

property taken only by tlie vexatious process of law.

The city of lJo.ston, in acconlance with the provisions

of IhiH act and the rules of law, has paid the price

for lands bonglit and has satisfied the judgments ob-

tained for hinds and rights seized in the ciises of those

who by law were entitleil to recover and who have

brought suits. Hut the large indirect damage to the

town, in the de.><truction of its business ayd ta.xable

property, has not been paid, nor is it by law recover-

able. The nuuiy and valuable rights of private

owners to drain into the river and its tributaries,

hei/.ed by the city, have not been paid for, and liie

right to obtain compensation is now irrecoverably

lost, because the owners had received no actual notice

of the seizure and did not bring their action for

damages within the time allotted by statute. Under

the guise of general legislation, the city of Boston has

obtained the passage of punitive laws, restricting the

rights of land-owners in the free use of their property

and widely enlarging the sphere of the law of nuis-

ance. The agents of the Boston Water Board have

continually annoyed the ownersof lands lying upon the

banks of the river and the in-flowing brooks, by com-

ing uninvited upon their premises for the ])urpose of

discovering sources of pollution to the water, and by

issuing orders for removal of such causes of pollution

without First having procured any authoritative deter-

mination of what is a pollution of their water supply.

" Dam 2," of the Sudbury water system, which was

built about 1878, in the town of Framingham, flowed

the river to the Shepard Dam. The city of Boston

built an iron bridge just below this point, and also a

bridge below the site of the Cutler Mills, and, by

laying out and building such parts ss were necessary,

opened two good road:? to Park's Corner, in place of

the one old road, in part submerged, which formerly

crossed the river at the Cutler Mills.

Less than a mile up Cold Spring Brook the city,

in about 18S5, built a dam nearly half a mile long,

for storing water on this brock. The lands covered

by this basin were obtained from the owners by pur-

chase, the deeds conveying full title. In 1890 the

city of Boston began the dam on Indian Brook, hav-

ing obtained title to the lands proposed to be covered

partly by purchase and p.^rtly by seizure.

The agents of the Boston Water Board h.ave for-

bidden fishing upon the ice in their basins in the

winter, though no prosecutions for that offence have

yet been made. All persons are prohibited, from

bathing in the Sudbury or its tributaries.

In 1888 an .ict was passed by the Legislature for-

bidding bathing in the Waushakum Pond, as the

Sherborn prison takes water from that source ; but

this act seems to be strictly confined to the waters of

the pond ; therefore, it is suggested that Ashland boys

may learn to swim in the Bigelow Pond, on the afflu-

ent brook, a mile to the southwest.

Boot and Shoe Business.—In the early yearff of

the town the work of making shoes was not all done

as it now is—in the factory—nor was the business all

carried on by a few large concerns. There were small

manufacturers, who would buy a few sides of leather

in Boston, cut and make them into shoes in their

shops in the country, and then return to the city,

selling the products of their own Labor. In those

days there was no difficulty in finding a market for

such goods at paying prices. Men, who, in the end,

became large manufacturers, frequently began in this

way, acquiring a practical knowledge of every part

of the business, from the selecting of the stock,

through the processes of manufacture, to the final

disposition of the goods in the market. This manu-

facturing in a small way was then common, and was

often taken up by men, who, for the time being, hap-

pened Ito have no other employment. In this way,

too, work could be afforded for a whole family, as

there would be some part that each member could

assist in doing.

When the small shop began to enlarge and furnish

work for persons outside of the family, the business

was carried on in a way quite unlike the present. In

1846, and for a few years afterwards, there were no large

gatherings of workmen in the shops of the manufac-

turers ; all the work, except the cutting of the leather,

was done away from the shop. The shoemaker would

come, often from a neighboring town, with his team,

and take out stock enough to keep him in work for a

week or more. Quite far back, when shoes, rather

than boots, were made in this section, the workman
would take the leather just as it came from the hands

of the cutter, who did his work without the aid of

machinery. Going home with the stock, his wife

would bind and close the shoes, while he did the

bottoming. His boys would be taught while young

to peg, and, later, to last, and, still later, before they

had reached the age of twenty-one years, they would

acquire skill in fitting and trimming, thus becoming

expert in all the parts of the bottoming process.

There were many farmers who worked on shoes

in the winter, when they had nothing else to do;

and, generally, the work of the shoemaker could be

taken up and laid down to suit circumstances.

Where the manufacture of boots was carried on, the

crimping, closing and treeing, though at first done by

the workmen at their own houses, was at length con-

fined to the shop of the manufacturer. Slowly ma-

chines were invented for doing the work at the

factory ; but for a long time the bottoming was per-

formed wholly by hand, and at the homes of the

workmen. Finally, upon the introduction of the

pegging machine, the bottomer was obliged to go

where this was set up, as such machines cost too much
for him to buy. The invention of other machines

soon following, the employment of steam-power at

the factory to run them finally required the assem-

bling of all the workmen at that place. Now within
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the kist twenty years the little s'hops, which so com-

monly stood by the houses of the workmen and were

used by them, have been abandoned, and the com-

paratively free life of the shoemaker of thirty years

ago has been exchanged for the routine work of the

factory operative. Wiiges may have increased, and a

better average living been gained, but the former

freedom of the individual has been partly lost in the

changed methods of doing work and especially in the

surrender of rights to associations which have been

established for the jirotection of the workingman.

As the manufacture of boots and shoes has been

and still is the principal bu-iiness in this town it will

be proper to give a somewhat full account of tliis busi-

ness, beginning at the time the town was incorporated

and tracing the history of the different shops.

Calvin Dyer in 1S4(; was occupying for his boot-

shop the building on Main Street, which is now the

stable of Mrs. John Phipps. lie had a few years be-

fore erected both the house and shop standing at this

point. At an earlier date he had manufiiclured in

the Mitchell and Bryant shop, to be spoken of later.

He was very active in getting the town set off. He
remained, however, only a year after that event,

moving his family to Worcester, himself accepting

employment as passenger conductor on the Boston

and Worcester Railroad.

Daniel Morey followed Dyer in this shop, but did

not continue long iu the business. The buildings

had been mortgaged to Lee Claflin, and the mortgage

was now foreclosed.

In 1852 Simpson Jones bouglit these premises of

Claflin, and moved in from the Broad barn, where he

had started a few months before. The boots manu-
factured by him were sold by Whitney & Hines, of

Boston, on commission. Later he manufactured for

Lee Claflin. In about 1860 the shop which stood at

the corner of Union and Main streets, on land now
owned by John Connor, had been vacated by William

Wheelock, and as this was a larger and more con-

venient building, Jones now occupied it, turning his

former shop into a stable. About this time he be

came a partner in tlie firm of Newhall & Company,
of Boston, he receiving the stock and making up the

boots, while the Boston partners attended to the buy-

ing and selling. This substantial business was con-

tinued till his death, in 1865.

William Wheelock came from Mendon in 1857.

John Clark built for him a shop at the junction of

Union and Main Streets, upon the Connor land, then

owned by Clark. Wheelock, as a partner in the firm

of Severance & Wheelock, at once began manufoc-

turing boots in this building. This business lasted

but a year or two. Wheelock then bought the land

where now the Newhall shop is located, and moving
there a small building from Hayden Row, made of this

a nucleus about which a larger shop was built. As a

partner in the firm of Boyd,3righam & Wheelock,

he here attended to the manufacture of shoes till

about 1871, when his, health failing, he was obliged to

cease doing business. He died with consumption two

years later. Wheelock introduced into his shop a

caloric engine, which in that day was in these parts

considered a novelty.

II. Newhall & Company, of Boston, bought this

shop of Wheelock and carried on the business until

1882. They enlarged the building and put in steam-

power. The factory was first in charge of Samuel
Seaver until his death, in 187G. For the ne.xt four or

five years C. M. Adams was superintendent, and dur-

ing the last year a Mr. Godfrey, from Milford. The
firm finally transferred its business to their shop in

Woodville, giving as a reason that they could manu-
facture there at a lower figure. The building has

since remained unoccupied.

In May, 1846, the boot-shop of Kdwin A. Forbush,

which stood on the south side of Union Street, at

what is now the Neff' place, was totally burned.

This shop was never rebuilt.

Forbush after the fire, for a few mouths, did busi-

ness in a part of the antiquated "Stone" house,

which then stood on the opposite side of the street.

He next formed a partnershij) with William Seaver,

and for about two years they manufactured boots in

the Seaver shop, to be referred to later. They also

played checkers very late of nights, if tradition may
be trusted, both being experts in the game and quite

equally matched. In 1849 Forbush bought one of the

" Sullivan " houses and erected a boot-shop within

the yard of the enclosure. It has always been suj)-

posed that this building was located very uear,indeed,

to the west line of the lot, as there was a sharp con-

troversy in words about the rights of the respective

owners, echoes of which have not yet wholly died

away.

Forbush, after dissolving connection with Seaver,

for a short time manufactured boots in his new shop.

About this time he invented a machine for siding

boots. He got Lee Claflin interested, and by his aid

fitted up a foundry for the manufacture of machines

in one of the Shepard Paper-Mill buildings, which

were now owned by Claflin. After experimenting here

at a cost of $40,000, Claflin having tired of the ven-

ture, Forbush took his machine to Lawrence and

there had castings made. Afterwards a Milford con-

cern became interested, but at this point Forbush

abandoned the enterprise, and nothing more Wiw done

to bring the machine into use. The model was

burrted in the Boston fire of 1872. It is said that at

one time Forbush was ottered one hundred thousand

dollars for his invention. When Forbush returned to

Ashland, as Thayer and Wiggins were manufacturing

boots in his shop, he formed a partnership with P.

Ware, Jr., and commenced on shoes in Leland's

Block, of which building some account will be given

later. The businass was continued, either in this or

his own shop, until after the coming on of the war.

A sewed shoe was made by this firm for army use.
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Later, jkins in the shape of the ordinary buffalo robe

were i-iit into uppers and made by them into mocca-

sin*, the fur side in. After di^solving partnership

with Ware he continued in businesw aioiie, still mak-

ing moccasins; now working lor Wilson, Corey &

Company. After North Carolina was opened at the

clo»eof the war he went to Winston, in that State,

and leased a plantation for a term of years. He also

o|H'ned a store in Winston. Meantime his shop in

A>hlund was occnpicil by his son, P. W. Forbush,

who for about two years manufactured shoes, which

were sold by i\ Ware in Bo.ston. E. A. Korbush re-

turned to Ashland in 18t)9, and after running his shop

one year, ceivsed work on account of failure of health.

Ten months later he died.

lieorge S. Downs, during the sickness of Forbush,

carried on the business as his agent. After his death

Downs began business for himself, manufacturing

shoes for Potter,White & Bailey. This business wsis

continued for several years, until receiving an ofler

of a lucrative position as superintendent of the shoe-

shop in the State Prison, he moved away. That was

the end of this boot-shop as such. About ten years

ago this building w.is converted into a tenement-

house. Forbush was an active, public-spirited man
;

he wa.s frequently elected to town oflice, for mpny

years was chosen moderator of the town-meetings,

and was a leading member in the Baptist Church.

William Seaver came to Ashland from Hopkinton

about 1840. In IS-IG he was manufacturing boots in

the first sbo|) built and occupied by him, the same

building now standing on Front Street next to the

hardware store of Perry & Enslin, and occupied as a

dwelling. Seaver also built and occupied till his

death the dwelling-house standing next door west.

After the dissolution of the partnership with E. A-

Forbush, spoken of above, he continued the business

alone in the same building. About 1852, in this build-

ing, George W. Jones was interested with him as a

partner for about three years. Later, Seaver moved
into a shop across the street, standing on the present

site of the barn of A. Greenwood & Son. After a

time his sons, George and Henry, were admitted into

partnership. They manufactured mostly small boots

of cheap grade. In about 1863 Seaver accomplished

some real estate exchanges, and as a result became
owner of the whole land now covered by the Green-

wood coal shed and Blake's building. He then sold

off the small buildings that occupied the ground, to

be taken away and converted into dwelling-houses,

and moved upon the spot now covered by Blake's

building, a shop of about the same size, which had

stood at the junction of Main and Union streets, and
had been formerly occupied successively by Wheelock
& Jones as before related. He sold to Blake and Bal-

com the easterly part of the lot, and they erected a

building of similar dimensions to his own, leaving

between the two buildings a clear space of forty-

eight feet. Here he and his sons, under the firm-

name of Seaver & Sons, carried on the business till

1872, when the Boston fire destroyed a- large amount

of goods belonging to them, and upon which the in-

surance proved almost worthless, owing to the failure

of the companies carrying the risk. This fire was

the cause of finally closing his business as a boot

manufacturer. For many years afterward he was en-

gaged in the business of undertaker, keeping goods

for sale and personally conducting funerals. He died

in 1888, after a somewhat prolonged illness. From

the first he was a prominent man in town afl^airs,

holding various town offices. He was a deacon of

the Congregational C^hurch, almost covering it-s whole

history. As a justice of the peace, he tried civil

causes, while justices still had jurisdiction. Earlier,

criminal cases also were tried before him. His judg-

ment was often sought in matters having a legal

bearing.

Hiram Temple came to town .ibout the time of

its organization, and commenced manufacturing boots

in the second story of the passenger station, which

then stood on the north side of the track near the

Main Street crossing. Temple seems to have suc-

ceeded to the business of Montgomery Bixby. While

in this building George F. Seaver joined Temple, first

as an employee, later becoming a partner in the busi-

ness. When the Baptist Society, moving into their

new church, abandoned their chapel on Front Street,

Temple bought and fitted this building for a boot

shop and store. George Brewster was put in charge

of the store, which occupied the front part, while the

boot business was carried on in the remaining por-

tions. After two or three years a fire totally con-

sumed the building. Temple then erected a build-

ing on the south side of Eailroad Street, near where

now stands the store of Mrs. McPartlin, which, in

connection with his partner, Seaver, he occupied for

the boot business. In a short time, selling out to his

partner, he moved to Marlborough where he still re-

sides.

Seaver soon left this location and started business

at Park's Corner. Returning after about a year, he

joined his father in the partnership spoken of above.

After the dissolution of this business connection,

about the time of the Boston fire, he manufactured

boots as a partner with one Thompson in a building

owned by Ezra Morse, situated near Morse's lumber-

yard on Front Street. Within a year or two a fire

occurred, by which this building was consumed.

Seaver, then going West, closed his business connection

with this town. In 1888 he died in Chicago. He
served as town clerk for several years.

Albert Leland came from Holliston and set up the

manufacturing of boots shortly before the establish-

ment of the town ; his first shop, now known as the
" Light-House," and situated near Cold Spring Brook,

on Main Street, was located in the rear of the Grout

& Enslin Grocery. From this building he moved into

Broad'sbarn, where he was manufacturing about 1849,
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wheu it was burned. In 1850 he erected tlie building

now owned by Mrs. Ann Manning, situated on Summer
Street. Here he manufactured boots in the rear,

while he kept store in the front part of the building.

S. F. Woodbury became a partner witli him in the

store business in 18r)2. In 1853 he and Woodliury

bought the corner lot on the oppo.site side ofSummer
Street, extending from Main Street to what is now the

market of A. W. Eames. The southerly part of the

land was sold to Charles Wenzell. Upon the front

part Lcland & Woodbury erected the building since

known as Lelaiid Block, or Central Block. The first

building was begun in 1858, and the work had pro-

ceeded as far as tlie roof-l)oards, when a violent wind

blew down the whole structure. Some defect in

the foundation contributed to its fall. It is said that

there was scarcely a whole timber left in the mass of

ruins.

With the aid of contributions from citizens who
sympathized with them in their misfortune, funds were

secured again to set up the building, which was now
carried to completion. In 1858 Woodbury conveyed

his interest to Leland. The building, as first erected,

stood too high for convenience, so it was lowered

some six feet, to its present level. The shingled roof

was afterwards covered with slates, and the homely

columns, which for many years stood at the front,

were removed. In this form, substantially, the build-

ing stood till June, 1889, when, catching fire from the

blazing livery-stable of W. A. Scott, the high-pitched

roof was burned off. Later in this year, B. C. Hatha-

way, of Westborough, became owner, and added to

the attractiveness of the building by putting on the

present flat roof, and otherwise changing the external

appearance.

Albert Leland moved into this building about 1854,

and afterward carried on the manufacture of boots,

for the most part alone, till about 1870, when the

second and third stories of the building were changed

into tenement dwelling!?, and the two floors in the

roof into halls and bed-rooms. About 1857 Leland

rented all of the building, which had before been occu-

pied for manufacturing boots, to P. Ware, Jr., who,

with E. A. Forbush, manufactured shoes for some two

or three years. When this firm moved out, Leland

again took up the boot business, taking into partner-

ship George B. Cole, his son-in-law. The building

was now divided up, several concerns occupying dif-

ferent floors and carrying on business at the same

time. In 1864, besides Leland & Cole, Blake & Bal-

com were occupying.

In 1866, Leland & Cole having dissolved, were

running separately on difl^erent floors, and on a third

floor C. M. Adams was doing business. Nearly all

the time in connection with the making of boots,

Leland had carried on a store chiefly with others, of

which some account will be given later. He was a

man of solid proportions; physically and mentally,

and by his enterprise accumulated a snug property.

jiart of which he left to his favorite church, the Baptist.

He died in 1877.

George B. Cole was at first in partnership with

.\lbert Leland, and later was doing business for him-

self in Central Block, as h;w been stated above. In

1868, when Blake .t Balcom vacated the Clark shop,

now stamling on the east side of Main Street, a little

south of Union Street, Cole began occupying and

afterward bought it in 1872. In the same year he

built the house next beyond, where he resided for a

time. In this shop he continued the manufacture of

boots, either alone, or in connection with his brother

S. Augustus Cole, until 1876. In that year, while

returning from the Centennial Exhibition at Phila-

delphia, he took a violent cold, which shortly after-

wards resulted in his death, he not having yet

reached middle age. He was an active, courteous

man, who took an interest in the aflairs of the town,

and of the Baptist Church, of which he was a mem-
ber.

Shortly before 1850, Sylvester Hartshorn and Abra-

ham Tilton formed a partnership, under the name of

Hartshorn & Tilton, and fitted up for a shop, the

old William Greenwood blacksmith building, which

stood on Cherry Street, a few feet south of the pres-

ent dwelling of A. T. Jones. This firm manufac-

tured boots for only a year or two, and then dissolved.

Abraham Tilton went on with the business in con-

nection with Charles H. Tilton two years longer.

Abraham had before manufactured boots at the place

of his former residence in the westerly part of the

town. About 1853 he built a shop near his house on

Pleasant Street, in which he manufactured boots

some eight or ten years. After his death the shop

was altered into dwelling-house tenements.

Charles H. Tilton, in 1853, bought a lot of land on

the bank of what is now the Dwiglit Printing Com-
pany's Canal, at a point opposite Dea. Perry's house,

and built a frame shop about 23 by 28 feet. In that

building he commenced the manufacture of boots,

which was continued by him at this place three years,

after which this building was moved a short distance

up Pleasant Street, and converted into a dwelling-

house. In 1856 he purch.ased a quarter of an acre of

land on the south side of Pleasant Street, where his

present shop stands, and erected a two-story building

of moderate dimensions, here entering upon business

on a larger scale. The war coming on, he eng.iged

in making army shoes. Larger quarters were now
called for. In 1862 one hundred feet were added to

the buildings. The processes of making shoes were

now rapidly changing. Machinery was added year

after year, Tilton being always ready to try any new
machine that promised success. Steam-power, being

required to run the machinery, was next introduced.

All parts of the manufacturing were now done in the

factory, very little of the bottoming even after this

time being put out, and a few years later none at all.

The work was principally upon boots of medium
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weight, for whii-h a market waa found throughout the

country, and especially in the West. The name of

the maker wat ittampfil upon the beHt qualities of the

gootls. Ab«iut 1874 another oue hundred feet was

added to the iimiii building, and a factory was built

to supply the shup with lasts. This latter busiueas

was ijiven up in 1880, that this building might be

added to the capacity of the boot-shop, and at the

same time two hundred feet more were built on, and

n larjje store-lmuse erected, the latter being connec-

ted to tlie niain building by a foot-bridge. Previous-

ly a side-track had been laid to the factory by the •

Boston & Albany Railroad Company; so that now .

hand-trucks, for carrying stock or goods, could run

from the railroad freight-i)latform to all points in the i

buildings. Tiiese building operations resulted in es- l

tablishing in Ashland one of the largest and most
|

convenient bodt-sliops intheState. Meanwhile there

had grown up along with the shop a whole neighbor-

hood of houses, Tilton having erected many of them,

and himself owning twenty-five tenements; he also

added two large frame barns, in which were kept

blooded stock. Having retired from the boot busi-

ness in 1885, he is now giving attention to his farm

and to the imfirovement of his stock.

Houghton, Coolidge & Co., ihe large firm of man-

ufacturers and dealers in boots and shoes, who have

several boot and shoe factories in the State, and

whose principal place of business is on High Street

in I3o.-iton, took a leiise of the Tilton shop for a term

of years in 1885, and at once entered upon a large

manufacturing business. They found this shop fully

equipped with machinery, provided with sufficient

steam-power, and with i'reight-ears at its doors. Since

that date the business has gone forward with only an

annual stop of a week, to take account of stock. This

shop aflbrds employment for about five hundred men,

women and boys, and turns out three thousand pairs

of boots and shoes daily. The value of the annu.al

business is $1,000,000. The pay-roll for 1890 will

amount to $275,000, being double that of the first

year. The workmen are paid regularly on Thursdays

of each week. The plan pursued by this firm is to

manufacture samples of boots and shoes in the fall

and winter, which they show to their customers

throughout the country. Orders are received through

the medium of traveling agents, who go the rounds

twice a year, to be filled at difl^erent dates through-

out the season. As fast as orders are taken, the

shop is put at work upon them, and the goods are

manufactured, which, if not wanted for delivery im-

mediately, are stored in their own store-room, or in

the large unoccupied stone buildings of the Dwighl
Printing Company. At all seasons of the year, es-

pecially from July onward till the middle of the fall,

large quantities of boots and shoes are shipped to all

points in the West and Southwest, being loaded di-

rectly from the storage buildings into the freight cars

of the Boston and Albany Railroad. In the winter

the help are working mostly upon shoes, at other

seasons upon both boots and shoes. All classes and

qualities for men's and boys' wear are made in this

shop. The resident managers of the factory are W.
B. Tein|>le and J. E. Tilton.

Paschal Blake came to town in 1862 and worked

the first six months for Abraham Tilton. Afterwards

he was in partnership with Tilton one year. He
then set up business for himself, commencing in

rooms in the Leland building. After a few months

Josiah A. Balcom formed with him a partnership

under the name of Blake & Balcom. At the end of

two years the firm moved into the shop on Main

Street, fitted for them by John Clark, who had

moved the building upon this spot from across

the road in the field where it had served as a barn.

In 18G8 they bought of William Seaver a lot of land,

where now are the coal-sheds of Abner Greenwood,

and built upon the easterly side a two-story shop of

about the same dimensions as Blake's building, now
standing just at the west. Seaver & Sons had erected

a similar shop on the site of the last-meulioued

building. A space of about forty-eight feet which

was left between these shops peoj)le began to suggest

might well be utilized as a continuation lor Concord

Street toward the Main Street crossing. But the

owners of these two buildings thought a better use

could be put to that open space, so they built each

half-way across a narrow two-story projection, giving

the appearance on the Front Street face of one large

building and on the back side of two projecting

wings. This firm continued to carry on the business

till 1874, when they dissolved partnership, Balcom

buying the real estate. About this time the shop

lately occupied by Seaver & Sons was in the market.

Blake, purchasing this, set up and carried on business

alone. On April 6, 1879, the whole combined

building was consumed by fire. Blake has since

continued to re.side in Ashland, but has uot engaged

further in the manufacture of boots.

Josiah A. Balcom, after dissolving partnership with

Blake, as above related, commenced the manufacture

of boots alone in the same shop. He pursued mostly

that method of doing business whicii at this time was

becoming customary among the shops, that is, to fill

orders for goods, and not to make up a large stock in

advance of orders, destined to commission houses to

be marketed at a loss. He did about the same vol-

ume of business as before the dissolution. He re-

mained here till the fire before spoken of, after which

he opened business again in the Cole shop, near Union
Street. His work now was principally upon shoes.

His business increasing, in 1886 he bought a lot of

land situated next to his home on Alden Street, and

erected a three-story frame building, equipping it with

modern conveniences, including steam-power. Here,

every working day in the year, his business goes for-

ward regularly, the steam whistle summoning and dis-

missing the workmen, who, having once been admitted
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to this shop and given satisfaction, are permanently

retained.

C. M. Adams began themanufacture of boots in 1866

in the second story of the Wiggins store. Remaining

here a year or two, he moved into Leland Block,

where he continilod business about three years. He
then moved into buildings of his own recently com-

pleted at the corner of Alden and Railroad Streets.

He occupied for his boot business a portion of the

larger building and the second story of the bakery

stable, which stood upon thesiteof the present bakery

shed. In 1879 a (ire which started in the stable con-

sumed that buildinjr, and catching the large building,

destroyed that also. The building as it now appears

was inimeiliately re-erected, Mr. Adams occupying,

however, with his boot business only the middle por-

tion of the first floor, and that only for a short time

subsequently to his connection with H. Newhall &
Company, aa superintendent in their shop. At a still

later period, in partnership with C. S. Brewer and C.

F. Davis, he manufactured shoes for a year or two in

the " Gothic Arcade," on Aldcn Street, and afterward

alone, his own building being occupied with other

business. For two or three years, at a period before

the fire, D. R. Chamberlain was in company with

him. After this partnership was dissolved Chamber-

lain continued to work for him until the final failure

of his health.

In 1888 Charles Grieshaber, buying out the stock of

0. M. Adams, commenced the manufacture of shoes

in the Gothic Arcade, a one-story building situated

on Alden Street. This building is furnished with a

hot-air engine, which is used in Grieshaber's business,

affording the necessary power.

Montgomery Bixby was manufacturing boots, at

about the date of the organizaticm of the town, in

the second story of what was then the railroad pas-

senger depot, being followed a year or two later in

the occupancy of this building by Hiram Temple, as

has been before related. Bixby had been preceded

in business by Calvin Dyer, and at a still earlier time

by Mitchell & Bryant, when the building stood a few

feet north of the Main Street crossing.

It has been before stated that about 1857, S. W.
Wiggins was in the boot business three years, in part-

nership with E. S. Thayer. At the time when the

town was organized, besides keeping store on the

first floor of the brick building now owned by J. N.

West, in the second story he was manufacturing

boots alone. This business he had been engaged in

for several years, commencing in 1841. Benjamin

C. Pond, a man well known in the early days of this

town, was foreman in this shop. The business was
then carried on according to methods now out of

date; there was more barter than cash ; keeping a

store at the same time, the boots manufactured by

him were bartered in Boston for hardware and other

stock for the store. In buying stock for the shop

the barter also came in play ; so many feet of upper-

leather, so many pounds of sole-leather and so much
cash would be given for a case of boots. Here in

town the workmen on boots were paid largely in

orders on the stores. Where a boot-shop and store

were carried on by the same jierson, the work was

paid for in goods chiefly out of the store. After

Wiggins moved into his new building, in 1850, the

custom of orders declined rapidly, and within a lew

years became obsolete. Upon moving away AViggius

closed his boot business.

George W. Jones, in about 1853, after dissolving

partnership with Dea. Seaver, manufactured boots

for Whitney & Hincs over his store, situated at the

corner of Main and Summer Streets. This business

was continued but a short time.

Stores.—It is not intended to give a full account

of the stores which have done business in this town
;

only a few can be referred to. Many, if not all the

early stores were general—that is, dry-goods, groceries,

crockery and furniture were kept for sale in them.

The (irst in the order of time kept in the village was

the store which stood at the east end of the cotton

factory. This was opened by Homer Tilton, about the

time the factory was built. AMr. Barton foUowedTil-

ton,who, in turn, was followed by William Jennison.

Jennison was in occupancj' at the time when the town

was set off. Soon after he moved into his own store, of

which mention will be made below. George W. Fair-

banks was the last occupant of this store, which was

closed about 1855.

One of the earliest general stores was kept by Eben
Tombs in the basement of the house of W. R. Fames-
This store was finally closed about 1840.

In 1841 S. W. Wiggins moved into the brick build-

ing now owned by J. N. West, occupying the first

floor for a store, and the second for a boot-shop

as has been related. In the store business he followed

a Mr. Parks. The succession before this had been

from Studley & Homer, through Valentine & Brew-

ster, to Parks. In early times the second story of

this building was entered by an outside stair-way at

the east end, and was occupied for offices when not

in use for other purposes. Wiggins continued to carry

on the business of a general store at this place till

about 1850, when he put up the large frame building

standing on the north side of Front Street at the

corner of Concord, and which is still known as his

building. Upon its completion he moved in, and

kept a general store for two or three years, when he

sold out and went West. The business was now
carried on successively by William Jones, by Thayer,

Sweet & Company, Cheever & Thayer (Silas F.), and

Cheever alone until 1860, when Wiggins again came
into possession. For a long term of years Wiggins
now had the ownership and control, establishing a

firm character for the store. In 1876 the business

passed into the name of E. S. Thayer & Company,
Wiggins remaining manager. Later, his health be-

coming less secure, he slcwly withdrew, and finally
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the store wm* closed. A portion of the building was

leiUed t<i A. .\. Odburii, and lias since been occupied

by him lor the sale of dry-goods and clothing.

William .leiinisou ia well remembered by persons

of middle a^'e.iut being for a series of years one of

the principal slore-keepcrs in town. He began a few-

years before the town was incorporated in the factory

•lore. In 1845 be bought land of the Unionville

Evangelical Society and built what is still known as

the " Brick Store," situated on the northeast side of

Main .Street, west of the Congregational Church.

About the same time he built the house nearly oppo-

site, which he occupietl with his family. He kept a

general store till 1851, when, dying, the business came

into the hands of his son William. The la.st-named,

aided by his brother Albert, both of whom had ac-

quired experience under their father, carried on the

business for a few years longer. They then sold out

anil moved to New York. After the departure of the

Jennisons the brick store never seemed to retain ita

tenants. It has been occupied at intervals to the

present time chiefly for a store and market. In 1847

the Dwight Printing Company became the owner of

the real estate.

George A. Tilton was engaged in various ventures

for the sale of goods from about 18C0 to 1887. Be-

ginning with a stock of drugs in Woodbury's build-

ing, he moved into the Brick Store, which he bought

about 18G2. He now added a stock of groceries. In

1867 he sold the business to W. A. Tilton and E. F.

Greenwood. About this time he erected two small

buildings at the east of the brick store to meet the

then great demand for business accommodations. A
few years later these buildings becoming vacated, he

moved them to Alden Street and converted them into

a store for himself which he called the Gothic Arcade.

This store was afterwards closed and the real estate

pa.ssed into other hands.

William A. Tilton, beginning as an apothecary in

the Brick Store, afterwards erected on leased land the

small building at the east of the Central House, which

he occupied in this business for six years. He then

sold to K. T. Billings, who has continued as proprie-

tor to the present time. The building is now owned
by George E. Whittemore. For several years Bill-

ings has served as town clerk, having his office in

this building.

Something has been said about the boot business of

Albert Leland. His store business was hardly leas

important. In the first building he erected, which is

now owned by Mrs. Manning, and situated on Sum-
mer Street, he provided for a general store, which was
kept in the front part, customers ascending several

steps from the street upon entering. In 1852 S. F.

Woodbury became "a partner in the business of this

store. A few years later Central Block was built by
Leland & Woodbury, as has already been related,

and Woodbury continued a partner with him in the

store business. In 1858 the partnership was dissolved,

Woodbury taking the stock. As bag been before

mentioned, these were the days of store orders, given

by the boot-shops, which probably formed the basis

of half the trade. If the manufacturer owned a store,

he was doubly fortunate, for he got a profit both on

the boots the workman made and on the goods he

bought. After a few years ^^'oodbury retired and

William Jones was taken into partnership with Le-

land. Horace Yeaton succeeded Jones, and after

Yeaton others, either alone or in company with Le-

land, kept a general store till lS(i9. AfU'r this time

Leland did not engage in business.

In the year hist named Bernard Billings opened a

drug-store on the first floor of Central Block. In

1872 F. N. Oxley became a partner, and the firm

took the name of Billings & Oxley. In 1875 Oxley

bought the interest of his partner and continued the

business alone till 1890, when he sold to C. E. Thayer,

the present proprietor.

.Tames O'Brien, who occupies the westerly front

room in Central Block for his shoe-store and harness-

shop, first commenced business in 1874, in White-

house Building. He made the change in location in

1879, then adding boots and shoes to his stock. His

trade has been largely increased.

George W. Jones bought a lot of land of Captain

Stone and erected a building at what is now the cor-

ner of Main and Summer Streets, in 1846. He after-

wards occupied these premises for the purposes of a

general store. In 1853 this building was moved
southerly on Main Street fifty or sixty feet, to be

used as a dwelling-house. At the same time a build-

ing which had stood in the rear and been occupied as

a barn was brought forward to the corner and re-

ceived additions. This constituted his store till about

1870. In 1867 A. A. Coburn had become interested

with him, and together they now enlarged the build-

ing to its preseut dimensions. About this time Jones

formed also other business connections in Boston.

When he died, in 1872, he was a partner in the firm

of Jones, Williams & Faxon.

In 1870 William Enslin bought one-third interest

in this real estate. This stand was now occupied by

A. A. Coburn and Franklin Enslin, who had formed a

partnership under the name of Coburn & Enslin.

A large general-store business was done till 1878,

when the firm dissolved, dividing the stock and

the building, Coburn taking the dry-goods and Ens-

lin the groceries. Coburn continued to trade here

in dry-goods and clothing till 1886, when he moved
into the Wiggins Store, on Front Street, where he

now Is. Enslin dealt in groceries until 1877, when
he sold to E. F. Miller & Son, who after a short time

sold to 0. F. Grout and C. W. Enslin. The last

named formed a partneship under the name of

Grout & Enslin, and have continued the business to

the present time. Ever since Jones opened a store

on this corner a substantial and prosperous business

has been done at this point.
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In 1883 Henry I. Pike and J. E. Woods came from

Westborough, and forming a i)artnershii> under the

name of Pilfe & Woods, commenced doing a grocery

business iu the new brick building of A. Greenwood,

situated at corner of Front and Concord Streets,

riiey called themselves the Boston Branch, put prices

iluwn and sold mostly for cash. They at once secured a

ijiiod trade in this and neighboring towns. In the spring

.il' 1SS9 the partnership was dis.solved, Woods keeping

the business and I'ike going back to Westborough.

About ISoO .lohn Clark came from Acton and be-

gan the manufacture of tinware in the lower part of

one of the Brewster buildings, which stood on the

site of Greenwood's stable. He also kept hardware

for sale. After two years he bought the land on the

north side of Front Street, then vacant since the

burning of Temple's shop, and erected the building

now used for dwellings and the hardware-store of

Perry & Knslin. He now greatly increased his busi-

ness of manufacturing tin-peddlers' supplies. In

1855 Edwin Perry began working for Clark in the

store and in issuing goods to the peddlers. Five

years later Clark sold the business to Lyman Patch

and Perry,—the former taking a deed of the real

estate. The business now went on under the name

of E. Perry & Co. After about four years Patch sold

his interest back to Clark. Then for seven years the

business was conducted under the name of Clark &
Perry. A large number of tin-peddlers' carts were

now sent out, covering the country in some directions

to the distance of thirty or forty miles. The firm

usually owned the carts, the peddlers often, but not

always, providing the horses. These were the palmy

days of tin-peddling, as the good price then obtained

for rag stock encouraged barter, by which the tinware

was largely disposed of. In 1877 Clark sold all his

interest, including the real estate, to Edwin Perry

and Franklin Enslin, who have continued to the

present time an extensive business under the firm-

name of Perry & Enslin.

S. F. Woodbury, after the firm of Leland & Wood-

bury had been dissolved, carried on the store in the

Leland building for about two years. He then

bought and enlarged the Temple boot-shop on Rail-

road Street, where he kept a store for a short time.

In about 1870 he erected another building just at the

west, a portion of which he occupied for a clothing-

store. In 1873 he exchanged his stock with Horace

Yeaton for real estate, and three years later bought

it back. He closed business in 1877.

C. B. Stockwell occupied for a shoe-store the west-

erly portion of the Woodbury building until it was

burned, in 1877. He then leased a lot of land on

Front Street, where he built a small store, which he

is now occupying.

About 1875 A. F. Farwell fitted up a confectionery

factory and store in the building next west from the

brick store, where he continued in business till he

sold, in 1887, to R. E. Hunt, the present owner.

Of the stores established more recently, and now
running, are the dry-gooils store of C. T. Scott and

the grocery of O'Connor & Shaughnessy.

S. A. Davis began his business as a dealer iu news-

papers and periodicals in 1870, having his fii-st store

in Whitehouse building. Later he became a dealer

in fruits and confectionery. After Draper vacated

the store in Broad's building on Railroad Street in

1877, Davis took possession and has remained in this

location to the present time. When changing to

these larger quartei's he found room to add a stock of

fancy goods and books for a circulating library.

From time to time clothing dealers have brought in

stocks and opened stores, but none have been able to

establish a permanent business. Of those who have

remained longest, may be named H. M. Dufur, the

noted wrestler, and George S. Hutchins.

Tailous.—Among tailors, Waite's name is remem-
bered in part from the tailor's work his widow did for

many years after his death. Bodemer, who followed

in the early years of the town, had for his place of

business the renovated blacksmith's shop which once

•stood about where the steamer-house now stands.

Next came Baylies, who occupied the same quarters.

Later, Lewis Kingsbury for several years had his shop

in West's building. W. M. Draper, who in the seven-

ties occupied the store now of S. A. Davis, made his

way chiefly by his marked personal traits. John N.

West came from Boylston and established his business

about 1867. He had bravely maintained his hold,

brought up a family of children and was still wprk-

ing at his trade when, a few years ago, by a sudden

stroke he was totally di.sabled.

Want of space forbids reference to the long line of

dressmakers and milliners.

Bakery.—Ever since C. M. Adams first erected his

building at the corner of Alden and Railroad Streets,

in 1870, the town has had the benefit of a local bakery,

as the serviceable oven at that place has attracted its

counterpart, the baker. Frank B. Tilton, coming from

Natick, was the first to open a bakery in this town.

He was followed by Fiske & Stratton, several other

bakers successively followed in the business in Adams
Block, none remaining above a year or two, until

Michael F. and Thomas R. Twiss took possession in

1884. Under the name of Twiss Brothers they have
carried on the business to the present time.

Markets.—Until about twenty-five years ago there

were no meat marketsin the village, the people there, as

elsewhere, depending for supplies upon the carts which
called 'at their doors. A. W. I^ames (2d) opened a

market iu a building erected for him on Summer
Street in 1870, and the business lias been continued

ever since at that point. Many difl'erent persons have
at times kept meats and provisions for sale at various

stands, but few have continued long iu the business.

Besides Fames, Theodore Jones and John H. Jack-

son at the present time keep well-patronized markets,

and send around carts in this and neighboring towns.
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For many yenre Melvin Whitteinore haa carried on

trade in fish, both Irora hin market and his wagon.

Cakiksteiis.—At the head of the lint of carpen-

ters who are noted for length of service, and results

acc<inipliBhi«l, -tiands Hitliard R. Brewster. He came

to town soon after James Jackson, being specially

engage lo look uller the carpenter work needed about

the cotton-factory. In 1.S45 he built a house on

Front Street, which he occupied till his death, in 1878.

.Vbout 1835 he succeeded to the business of Sludley &
Homer. They had built a carpenter's shop just

at the west of their brick building, now known as

J. N. West's, and had carried on a lumber-yard and

store at that point. To conduct the store business in

the brick building, Brewster took into partnership

fir«t William and later Samuel Valentine. The

store and partnership were dropped in a few years,

but the carpenter's shop and the lumber-yard he kept.

Later this shop was moved to the spot now covered

by the brick block of Abner Greenwood, and fitted

for a dwelling. It was finally taken down in 1885.

He now built and occupied a carpenter's shop situat-

ed oil Front Street, about where now stands the coal-

shed of .\bner Greenwood. This was probably about

1840. His lumber-yard, near West's building, about

the same time he moved upon land now of the Boston

and Albany Railroad Company, lying between their

track and Front Street, east of Greenwood's building.

In his yard he kept a good stock of lumber for sale,

till near the time of his decease. About 1850 he

rented the lower part of his carpenter shop to one

Hammond, who came from Dover, for a wheelwright

burinesi, and the second-story to Aaron Bice for a

harness-shop. He built at this time a second carpen-

ter-shop at the east of the one rented, standing about

on the site of Greenwood's barn. Subsequently this

building was rented to John Clark, William Seaver,

the Sons of Temperance and other tenants. Both ol

these buildings were finally moved away and convert-

ed into dwellings. About 1850 he and Orlin Allard

built a steam-mill on the south side of Front Street,

near the railroad track, at about the location of Ezra

Morse's buildings, and fitted it with machinery for

making doors, sash ami blinds. This mill had a steam

planer, the first used in Ashland. Charles V. Guy
superintended the running of the mill, which after a

year or two was burned, taking fire in the absence at

breakfast of the attendant. Some years later Guy
went west with Wiggins, and engaged in the manu-
facture of lumber.

Brewster built for their owners many of the houses

and other buildings in town. He was active in es-

tablishing the Congregational Sunday-school and
church, though not a church member. His influence

was fell in the settingoff andbui'.ding-up of the town,
and his aid wsis freely given to its business interests.

Charles Homer, one of the children of Michael
Homer, learning his carpenter's trade in Fram-
ingham, commenced business here in partnership

with Studley, reference to which has already been

made. He soon went away, later engaging ia

government work. For one of these contracts with

the government he claimed that a large sum of

money wius due him, which could never be obtained.

He tinally returned to Ashland to spend his last days,

and died in 1888.

Edward and Charles Knowlton were doing carpen-

ter work before andaftertheestablishmentof the town.

Charles Knowlton superintended the rebuilding of

Shei>ard's paper-mill after the fire in 1842. Alonzo

Perkins was at one time associated a.s a partner with

Charles Knowlton. He was among the early soldiers

in the Civil War.

Eleazer Whittaker was mostly engaged in doing

carpenter repairs at the cotton factory. He was said

to be very "ingenious," could "make and attach a

mosquito's bill.''

Willard Stiles was following his trade as carpenter

in 184<). He built many of the older houses. His
son, Gilbert Stiles, succeeded to the business.

Abijah Adams and George H. Adams, his son,

came from Rutland about 1855 and built a house and
shop on Main Street, where now the daughter of the

former and the son and widow of the latter reside.

E. L. Sherman, whose native place is Westborough

and who is still working at his trade as a carpenter,

came to town in 1844.

Warren Wright, who began carpentering with

George H. Adams, his nephew, formerly drove stage

from Hayden Row through Hopkiuton Centre to

Ashland. J. F. Porter is known beyond the limits

of the town as a builder, and is now erecting the

school-house on Central Street. Charles H. Bigelow,

son of James Bigelow, whose early home was the W.
D. Cole place, was noted before he had become par-

tially disabled, for the excellence of his work. It is

said that Bigelow would work half a day with George
H. Adams, as partner upon a job, without speaking,

these two silent men fully comprehending each other.

Blacksmiths.—In former times blacksmiths' shops

were located without much reference to villages, just

where their owners happened to reside. In 1846,

Daniel Lamb had for many years pursued this trade

in a shop on the Sherborn Road at the limit of the

town. Lamb kept working at that spot till disabled

by old age. The shop remains, but has been turned

to other uses. Just above the Shepard, or, as it is

called in the older histories, the Howe dam, on the

river bank, Alexander Clark, with his sons, Newell

and Alexander, kept a blacksmith-shop. The busi-

nfss at this place was discontinued about 1840.

Newell Clark was in the Greenwood shop for a

short time about 1840. In 1841 he occupied a black-

smith-shop for a year or two, which stood where

Greenwood's old office now is on the south side of

Front Street. This building was afterwards moved
off and changed into a dwelling-house. Clark went

to South Framinghain and opened business.
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William Greenwood's blacksmith-shop stood on the

west side of Cherry Street, at a spot a little to the

south of the present residence of A. T. Jones. This

seems to have l.een the principal shop in this region

in pre-Ashland times.

About 1843 Addison Fisher came from Medway
and opened a blacksmitli-sliop on Front Street at a

point about where Blake's building now stands. Capt,

Moses Clatiin followed Fisher in the business.

In 1847 Abner Greenwood, quitting the old location

of his father, William, on Cherry Street, commenced
work in this shop. In 18.')0 ho built his shop on Con-

cord Street, and soon after the two dwelling-houses

next to the south. In ISO.'? he formed a partnership

with Harvey I'iper, who had before worked for him,

which continued till ]85(), when Piper bought the

business. In 1859 Piper moved into the basement of

Taggart's new wheelwright shop across the street, and

Greenwood resumed blaeksniithing alone in his shop.

Here he continued till 1808, making money, when
Gibbs took the business, selling out to Whitconib.

George Boutilier occupied this shop twelve years,

beginning in 1878. In 1882 Greenwood erected the

fine brick building standing at the corner of Front

and Concord Streets.

Herbert H. Piper, upon the failure of his father's

health, succeeded him in business and remained two

years in the Taggart basement. He then leased a

spot of land on the east side of Concord Street, and

building a shop, has since carried on his trade there.

Painters.— Henry J. Dadmun, who was born in

the northern part of what is now the town of Ash-

land, in 1808, early learned the house-painter's trade,

and followed it in this town and vicinity throughout

his life, which closed in 1879. About 1850 John W.
Spooner came from New Bedford and engaged in the

same business. Later these men formed a partnership

under the name of Dadmun & Spooner. For many
years they worked together; then sei)arating, they

shared between them nearly the whole business of the

town. Both built houses and paint-shops. Dadmun,
after dissolving the firm connection with Spooner, took

his son James into partnership, and later C. F. Grout.

James died two years before his father. The business

was closed at the latter's death. Dadmun and Spooner

were both men of marked individuality. Spooner,

being active in the prosecution of temperance work,

was threatened with injury, and the firing of his build-

ing more than once seemed to him proof that injury

was actually intended. C. H. Spooner and G. T. Jones,

once employees of Spooner, now have a monopoly of

the house-painting work in Ashland.

0. A. Wilcox in 1870 erected a building on the

west side of Concord Street, close to the canal, in

which to do ornamental and carriage-painting. After

following his trade for a series of years, he sold his

building and business to R. A. Taggart. Since that

time some half a dozen different persons have occupied

this building, each for a short time only.

WiiEKLWRIGHT.—With the exception of Ham-
mond, who for a short time occupied one of the

Urewster carpenter-shops, R. A. Taggart is the only

one who has made an exclusive business of doing

wheelwright work in the village. He built and occu-

|)ies a shop on the west side of Concord Str.jet.

Coal DEALEUS.—At first George W. Jones did all

the coal business, two or three car-loads a year sup-

plying his customers. In 1867 Ezra Morse succeeded

to Jones' coal business, and two years later added a

stock of lumber. He erected sheds and continued in

the business about ten years.

In 18(J6 J. N. Pike and C. H. Tilton erected a coal-

shed between Front Street and the railroad, and en-

gaged in the business, I'ike soon selling to his part-

ner. In 18tJ9 Abner Greenwood bought the shed

and comraenced a business which he has carried on

to the present time. He deals in anthracite coal

exclusively, handling one thousand tons annually.

He also sells hay, lime and cement.

C. H. Tilton in 1873 again returned to the coal

trade, building sheds along the railroad near his

boot factory. In 1885, when he closed his boot manu-
facturing, he transferred the coal business to his son,

U. H. Tilton, Jr., who now carries it on.

Ice Dealer.—For many years G. C. Fiske has

supplied ice to the people of Ashland from his two

ice-houses. In addition to this business he carries on

the farm formerly worked by his father.

Barbers.—There have usually been at least two
barber-shops in the village. Charles H. Nichols,

whose place of business is on Front Street, com-
menced in 1871.

Hotels.—Capt. John Stone built and opened the

Railroad House, now Scott's Hotel, in 1834 ; a barn

was also built, standing more to the front than the

present stable, with cow-yard where Central Block

now stands. Stone at that time quit the old dwelling

on Union Street, known as the "Simpson " house,

and moved into the hotel with his family. He car-

ried on the hotel only about a year. Later he took

up his abode in the dwelling situated a few rods to

the west, which has ever since been occupied by him
or his descendants. Stone continued to own the

hotel property and leased to ditl'erent parties. The
lessees seem to have occupied in the following order,

none of them for long periods : lleignolds, Fuller,

.4ngier, Atherton, Barber, Warren, Bates & Thayer
Bates, Scott.

Smith Bates and Silas F. Thayer bought out Silas

Warren in 1848. The business included the livery

stable. In the spring following, Thayer sold to his

partner the hotel business, but retained the livery.

Thayer carried on the livery stable nine years and
then sold to W. A. Scott, himself moving to Hopkin-
ton. Bates sold the hotel furniture and business to

Scott in 1849. From that time to the jjresent Scott

has carried on the hotel and stable. In 1S()8, after

the death of Captain Stone, he bought the whole
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hotel property. The stable was burned July 30,

1851, at the time of an ollisers' drill, when there

were many strangers in town, and a>;ain on June 15,

IS.**!*. It has now again been rebuilt. In the years

befi.rc the town wsis incorporated the second story in

the w.MKlen easterly extension of the hotel wsis some-

tiine-s ur<etl as a hall for public meetings. In 1869

O. A. Wilcox bought the lot of land on the north

side of Front Street, on which now stand the Cen-

tral lloune and post-office building. There were two

houses then upon it. Altering and enlarging the

more easterly of these to its present proportions and

furnishinj; it, he opened a hotel which was named the

Central House. Here he carried on the business, until

1878, when becoming dissaiistied with results, he moved

to Kansas. The receivers of the Mercantile Savings

Hank having taken possession as mortgagee, at first

leased these premises to various persons, as tenants at

will, and finally sold in 1S79 to F. D. Osgood, who

shortly afterwards conveyed to Michael Manning, the

present owner of the property.

In ISO!) the Megouko House and livery stable,

situated on Pleasant Street, were erected and furnished

by C. H. Tilton. S. F. Thayer returned from Hopkin-

ton to conduct the business. At the end of four

years the livery stable was closed, and the hotel

business passed into the hands of C. F. Hanson.

Hanson was followed successively by Babcock and

Greely. In about 1880 the hotel building was finished

into tenement dwellings.

There have usually been one or more restaurants

in operation in the village, their lease of life not

often extending beyond one year.

LiVEKY Stables.—The history of the Scott livery

stable has been given in connection with the account

of the hotel now bearing the same name.

The livery stable on Summer Street, for many years

conducted by S. F. Thayer, was built by Charle.«

Wenzell about 1801, he buying the land from Albert

Leiand. Wenzell kept stable five or six years, and

sold to Ed. Carter, who continued the business

only a year or two. The whole property now came

into the hands of John Clark, who took James

MofTatt into partnership in the livery business. Later

Clark sold to Moffatt the business, retaining owner-

ship of the real e.state. In 1875 Thayer bought the

personal property, and in 1889 his son, Charles E.

Thayer, became owner of the real estate.

In 1846 S. F. Thayer began keeping livery stable

in a building which stood upon the present site of

Mary C. Broad's dwelling-house. In the same year,

1847, Willard Broad became owner of this building
'

and the house which stood at the corner, whose loca-

tion is marked by the cellar-hole, visible now for

many years. Thayer occupied only for a year, then

moving into the "Stone" stable on Main Street.

Afterward Broad's barn was occupied successively by
Wenzell for a livery stable, and Albert Leiand as a

boot-shop, till it was burned in about 1850. The

second story was occupied from about 1845 as a boot-

bottomer's shop by Willard Broad, who hired work-

men and ran teams. Years later Broad was a pioneer

in the gilding of boot-tops, and accumulated a small

property before the shops introduced gilding-ma-

chines.

Railroads.—In 1S34 the Boston and Worcester

Railroad Company, having completed its road from

Boston to this point, ran its trains into the low build-

ing which now forms the easterly end of the freight-

house. This was its first station. Later the two-

story boot-shop, which had stood back of the Main
Street flag-house, was moved forward to the north

side of the track and served for purposes of a railroad

passenger station in its first story and for a boot-shop

in its second. There were outside stairs at the east

end. Below, just east of the building, was an open

shed, which at a later date was moved easterly and

attached to the first depot, making of the whole the

present freight-house. About 1S50 the passenger sta-

tion was sold and moved to the north side of Front

Street, where such part of it sis survived a subsequent

fire was rebuilt into the present post-office building.

A new station was erected on the south side of the

track, on the spot now covered by the west end of the

present building, which served till 1888, when it was

moved across the street and converted into the store

uow owned by Mrs. McPartlin. The present fine

building was erected in the last-named year. It is to

be followed by a brick freight-house, to stand on

Front Street.

In 1872 the Hopkiuton Railroad Company, having

completed their road from Milford to Ashland, com-

menced running trains, and there has been no inter-

ruption in the service to the jjresent time. The new

track laid on the south portion of the Boston and

Albany road-bed, leading from Cherry Street east,

admits the trains to the station of the latter road.

Owing to the failureof the Hopkinton Railroad Com-
pany to meet their obligations, the mortgage on the

road was foreclosed in 1883. At the sale the property

was bought by George Draper, who afterwards sold

to the Milford and Woonsocket Railroad Company,

which in turn has leased to the New York and New
England Railroad Company for a term of ninety-nine

years. The latter company is now in possession,

John T. Jackson being the local freight agent, while

passenger tickets are sold by the agent of the Boston

and Albany Railroad Company.

The last-named company has been the successor ot

the Boston and Worcester Railroad Company since

1867. Timothy Vincent was the first general station

agent at this point. In about 1841 he was succeeded

by James H. Jones, who continued in that position

till October, 1873; during the last four years of this

period the business being mostly done by his son, C.

U. Jones, who had been appointed clerk. Since the

resignation of his father, J. Newton Pike has served

as agent.
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Express Companies.—Ever since the first days of

express comi>anies Ashhiud has had an agency. Wil-

liam W. Whitaker will be remembered as one of the

earliest of the agents and afterward a.s manol'all-

work about the station till his death, about five years

an'o. E. F. Greenwood was for many years the active

agent of the Adams Express Company, now repre-

sented by A. J. Lowe. J. N. Pike is agent of the

American Express Company and H. G. Stiles of the

Ashland and Boston Express Company.

Post-Office.—The Unionville post-office was es-

tablished January 7, 1835, presumably, in great part,

for the benefit of the cotton-factory. Matthew Met-

calf was the first post-master, and the factory store-

building was the place where the post-office was kept.

On March 17, 1840, William Jenuison succeeded to

this lucrative position, and on March 6, 18-i6, James

0. Clark was made happy by appointment to it. All

this time the office was kept in the factory-store,

which building, considering it was also the counting-

room for the factory, and devoted to various other im-

portant purposes, must have been the principal busi-

ness centre of the village. The general post-office

at Washington, from which names and dates have

been obtained, has this note :
" April 29, 1846, name

changed to Ashland." As the town was incorporated

on March 16th it will be seen that the Post-Office De-

partment, so far as it was concerned, graciously ex-

tended the life of the dying Unionville just forty-four

days, Clark held the office till April S, 1847, when

Willard W. Warren obtained the appointment. Dur-

ing, or perhaps at the commencement of Warren's

term, the post-office was transferred to the store of G.

W. Jones, at corner of Main and Summer Streets.

James H, Jones was appointed January 18, 1851, and

opened an office in the railroad station. He perform-

ed the work of postmaster unassisted for years, in ad-

dition to his regular duties as railroad agent at this

point. Later, his daughter, Caroline H. Jones, aided

him, gradually taking upon herself the whole work.

When Jon&s" health finally failed. Miss Jones was

appointed assistant, and conducted the office, her

father only signing necessary papers. About 1873

the location of the post-office was changed to* the

small building in the curtilage of the Jones hou.se, on

Main Street. Jones died August 18, 1885. On Sep-

tember 21st of the same year, Adrian Foote was ap-

pointed to the office. On February 26, 1887, Caleb

Holbrook assumed the work as post-master, which he

had before carried on as Foote's agent. The office

was removed in 1885 to the Coburn Building, situa-

ted on the north side of Front Street.

Newspapers.—The Ashland AdvertUer is the orig-

inal local newspaper. It was first published August

7, 1869, by George W. Morse, of whom some notice

appears elsewhere. H. H. Tilton soon acquired a half-

interest. The printing was first done in rooms in the

second story of the Jones Building, on a hand-press.

About a year later the editing and printing were

36-iii

transferred to the third story of the Broad Building,

where the paper remained till its removal to South

Franiingham, January 21, 1876, and c(msolidation

with the Pramingkam Qazctte. The following per-

sons were concerned as owners or editors, or both,

while the business remained in Ashland : Morse &
Walker, Walker & Mayhew, Geo. P. Mayhew, Edgar

Potter and Potter &. Vincent. The Ashland Adoerti-

xer is now printed weekly at South Franiingham, by
the Lakeview Printing Company, and contains about

the same matter as the Franiingham Gazelle, but

somewhat difierently arranged on the local pages.

The Ashland Advocate and Ashland Tribune are week-

ly papers, having a circulation in Ashland, and are

printed, respectively, in Marlborough and South Fra-

niingham.

Surveyors.—Mathew Metcalf was a surveyor of

land fifty years ago. He was also a justice of the

peace and made many of the deeds of that day. His

handwriting, though fine, was always even and clear.

William ¥. Ellis, who had been a student with

Metcalf, began work as a surveyor, shortly before the

organization of the town. He did substantially all

the local work of that kind till about ten years ago,

when his railroad engineering, in which business he

had also become an expert, took him away temporar-

ily. He still retained his residence in Ashland and

returned in 1887, to resume his local work. Follr)w-

ing the employment of surveyor so many years in

Ashland, he became acquainted with the farms and

other divisions of land, having in many cases person-

al knowledge of the bounds and dividing lines. He
was a justice of the peace, and his bold, uniform hand-

writing may be found upon very many of the deeds,

atfecting Ashland property, passed during the last

fifty years. He also wrote wills and administered

upon estates. He was kept much in town office, and

there is probably no board of town officers upon

which he has not served. His influence in establish-

ing and conducting the town has been second to none.

He died suddenly of heart-disease, in August, 1888.

George A. Ellis and William F. Ellis, sons of the

Ellis above mentioned, while learning the business of

surveyor, assisted their father, but moved away upon

entering on business of their own.

George H.Stone, a son of Captain .lohn Stone, has

been known as an engineer and surveyor, although he

spent most of his life in operations away from town.

He studied in the office of Simeon Borden, of Pall

River. Beginning for himself, he was first engaged

in the engineering department of the Boston & Wor-

cester Railroad Company. He was living in Xatick

from 1857 to 1862, at which latter date he joined the

army, being attached first to the Sixth, and later to

the Twenty-sixth Regiment of Massachusetts Volun-

teers. He was made lieutenant of engineers, and

placed on the stafl' of General Weitzel, at New Or-

leans. In this city he was in charge of the work of

restoring the levees destroyed by the rebels at their
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retreat. After the war he returned to Natick, aiiJ

lalt-r wan eiijcajteJ abmit n year and a half as engineer

ill thecoiistnutioii of the European and North Amer-

ican lUilroad in Maine. In ISd'.) he removed to Ash-

land, niakint' that his home, and engaging in various

enterprisett till liis death, in 1879.

PllYiSIoiANS.—Any account of the pliysicians wlio

have practiced in the town ofAshland would be inade-

ijuate without some mention of Dr. James S.Sullivan,

whose memory is still fresh and cheering in the

minds of the older people. He came here in about

1836, and remained several years. He had an oflice

in the second story of the West Building. He built

the two "Sullivan " houses, that is, those now owned

hy Mrs. E. M. F. Forbush and Airs. Mary E. IJrewer.

He possessed a large heart, as well as a bright mind,

and became much beloved. He married Miss Jane

Valentine, of Hopkinton. He went away in about

184.'5, wandering ^Vest and South, spending some years

ID Darien, Cieorgia, and finally dying in Savannah.

Dr. Jonas C. Harris followed Sullivan. He first

lived in the "Simmons " house, that being the house

ne.xt easterly from Mr.f. Willard Broad's. He built

what is now known as the " John Clark " house, sit-

uated on Main Street subsequently to the setting off

the town, which he helped accomplish. He was ad-

mitted to be a good physician even by his enemies.

His nature was of a positive kind that hews out its

own way. He was made a colonel of militia. He
moved away about 1863, going to Cambridge, where

be has since remained, having a successful practice.

About this time or perhaps earlier, l)rs. Learned

and Wheeler were in town, the latter conducting a

school for boys in one of the "Sullivan " houses.

Dr. Jackson, an eclectic physician, came before

Harris went away. He spent several years in practice.

Dr. William Barrett took the house of Dr. Harris

upon the departure of the latter, and practiced medi-

cine very successfully for a number of years. His

wife was a sister of E. A. Forbush, of whom mention

has been made. Dr. Barrett went away to Boston,

where he has found a large field for labor.

Dr. ^Villiam Rcjgers was a successful physician here

for many years. He live<l in the " Buck " house, the

same now owned by the Adams sisters, on Front

Street. He was of a social nature and made many
friends. His health failed and he was obliged to

give up working in his profession some fifteen years

ago. He has been dead for several years.

Dr. Seaver lived in the "Simmons" house and
practiced medicine for several years.

Dr. J. M. Wiggin followed Seaver, residing for a
time in the same house. About 1870 he built a resi-

dence on the corner of Railroad and Alden Streets,

and practiced medicine successfully to nearly the
time of his decease, in 1882. He was a man of good
judgment and decided oi)inions. He held town office,

acting on the Board of Overseers of the Poor. He
had formerly been a Methodist preacher, and ap-

peared in the pulpit occasionally during his stay in

Ashland.

Dr. G. C. Pierce came to Ashland in September,

186(5. He is a graduate of Dartmouth College and of

the Harvard Medical School. He spent two years in

Bellevue Medical School, New York VAly. He is a

member of the Massacluisetts Medical Society and

other societies. About 1870 he built a house at the

corner of Central and Alden Streets, in which since

that time he has resided and had his office. Being

one of the physicians longest in practice in this vi-

cinity, he is called to neighboring towns for attend-

ance and consultation. He was for many years a

member of the School Committee.

Dr. J. H. Kedfearn came to town first in 1879 and

remained four years. He then engaged in business

which took him to Texas during the winter seasons.

After an absence of six years he returned to Ashland.

His office is at bis residence on Main Street. He
graduated from the College of Bhysiciann and Sur-

geons in New York City. He is a member of the

Massachusetts Medical Society, and corresponding

member of the (rynoecological Society of Boston.

Dr. I. J. Clark took up bis residence in this place

in 1883, and continued in the practice of medicine

till 188(5, when fie sold his businass and moved to

Woburn. He has now been for several years prac-

ticing in Haverhill.

Dr. F. E. Mayberry succeeded to the business of

Dr. Clark, remaining three years, when he removed

to Hoosick Falls, N. Y.

Dr. Geo. W. Butterfield, who is a graduate of the

Boston University Medical School, began the prac-

tice of medicine in this place iu 1883. In the same

year he moved into the John Clark house, on Main

Street, where he has since resided and had his oftice.

He has recently bought that place. Practicing bo-

mojopatbicaliy, be rides much into neighboring towns.

He is a member of the School Committee.

For many years Dr. White came from Hopkinton

one day in each week, and, having a room in Scott's

Hotel, attended to dentistry.

About 1870 Dr. H. A. Mansfield opened a dental

office in Broad's Building, and prosecuted his busi-

ness for several years, when he went to Evanston, in

the suburbs of Chicago, where he has recently died.

Dr. F. E. Lewis succeeded to the office and busi-

ness of Mansfield, remaining for a term of years,

then removing to Natick. where he now has an office.

Dr. M. G. Leonard opened a dental office in 1883,

in Adams Block, remaining only about a year.

Dr.. E. J. Dixon now practices dentistry at his

office in Greenwood's Block on Front Street.

Lawyers.— It is quite certain that a young man
opened a law-office in Ashland as early as 1850, but

he could have remained only a short time. No one

seems to remember his name, or anything about him,

except that his hair was red.

George W. Norris was the first lawyer to take up a
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continuous abode in town. Ho came in June, 1869,

and remained till May, 1876. He had an office in the

Jones building, which during the latter part of his

stay he occupied only in the evening, being at his

Boston office during the day. Alter a time lie bought

and moved into the cottage house standing near the

east end of Pleasant Street, where he continued to

reside until his departure from town. He was a mem-

ber of the School Committee during a term of years.

After leaving town, in 1885, he was appointed Gov-

ernment agent with the tribe of Nez I'erces Indians.

For several years he remained with his family at thi.s

post. He now resides in Boston, having a law-office

in Rogers Building.

George W. Morse came to Ashland in 1869, while

he was yet a law student in Boston. He was admit-

ted to the bar in June of that year, and opened an

office in Central Block. In the following July he

started the Ash/and Adverther. While he remained

in town he w.is editor of this paper. In July, 1870,

having gathered a law business in Boston sufficient

for his support, he sold his interest in the paper, and

removed from town, carrying away as his wife, Miss

Clara R. Boit, one of Ashland's school-teachers. He
now has a large law business in Boston.

George T. Higley, who is a graduate of Amherst

College, and of the School of Law in Boston Univer-

sity, began the practice of law in 1873, opening an

office in Broad's Building. He still remains in his

original ipiarters. In 1875 he removed his family

into the house then erected by him, situated at the

corner of Central and Alden Streets, where he contin-

ues to reside. He was a member of the School Com-
mittee for many years.

Henry Hogan, having recently been admitted to

practice law in the State Courts, does law business in

the town in the evening, being away at another office

during the day. He was a student at the Bo.ston

University School of Law.

Societies.—Ancient Free and Accepted Masons.—
The North Star Lodge was chartered June 14, ka^.

5865. The society met at first in the hall in Wig-
gins' buildiug. In 1884 commodious rooms were ele-

gantly fitted up in the third story of Greenwood's

Block, in which the meetings have since been held.

Grand Army of the Republic.—Col. Prescott Post,

No. 18, was instituted August 12, 1867, and meets

every Wednesday evening in their hall in the Jones

building. Its membership numbers fifty.

Independent Order of Odd Fellows.—A.shland Lodge,

No. 164, was established October 9, 1872. The meet-

ings were held first in the G. A. R. Hall, afterward for

a time in the old Masonic Hall. For many years pre-

vious to 1890 this society occupied the hall in Adams
Block, fitted up for their use. At the commencement
of that year they took possession of large, finely-

furnished rooms in the third story of Central Block.

Daughters of Rebecca.—Aurelia Lodge, No. 80, was

instituted June 21, 1889, and meets in the Odd Fel-

lows' Hall on the first and third Fridays of each

month.

Order of the Eastern Star.—Olive Branch Chapter,

No. 12, was chartered June 28, 1881, and convcne.sia

the Masonic Hall on the first Tuesday evening of

each month.

Woman's Relief Corps.—Col. Prescott Relief Corps,

No. 15, was instituted April 12, 1880. This society

meets in the G. A. R. Hall.

Ancient Order Hibernians.—Division No. 22 meets

in its hall in Central Block, on the first Tuesday of

each month.

Patrons cf Husbandry.—Ashland Lodge, No. 124,

meets in the G. A. R. Hall on alternate Tuesday

evenings. Its charter dates from April 7, 1885.

Knights of ^ Labor.—Washington Association, As-

sembly No. 4530, was chartered November 3, 1885.

This society hold their meetings in their hall in

.Xdams Block.

Looters' Protective Union.—The local Branch of this

society meet in their hall in Broad's Building.

Other societies have been organized and meet in

the interest of life insurance, temperance, athletics,

and for other purposes.

tJHURCHES AND MiNi.STKRS.—The First Universal-

ist Society in Ashland held its first meeting for or-

ganization May 13, 1871. John Clark was chosen

treasurer, and John W. Spooner, John Clark, H. H.

Tilton, H. W. Barrett and T. A. Osborn a parish

committee, with George W. Norris as clerk. There

were also among its corporators William Wheelock,

O. A. Wilcox, Hubbard Willsou and others. The
.society leased the hall in Adams Building, at the

corner of Railroad and Alden Streets. Meetings

were held here regularly for about two years.

George Proctor was hired iis preacher the first year.

He was succeeded by Anson Titus, and by students

from Tuft's College. A quartette choir and organist

were employed, and much interest was shown in the

enterprise. The number of families, however, whose

members desired to attend the meetings was found

insufficient to warrant their continuance.

Catholic Church.—On December 20, 1858, Fa-

ther P. Cuddihy, of Milford, first celebrated mass in

the town hall in Ashland. At that time Ashland,

Hopkinton and probably other towns were a part of

his i)arish. From this time onward Father Cuddihy

or his curate came to Ashland and read mass about

once in three months. It was some years later that

another parish was formed, with Hopkinton as the

centre, and embracing also Ashland and other towns.

Father Thomas Barry was placed in charge, and at-

tended to the Ashland mi.ssion, having services once a

month. He w;is succeeded by Father Minietti,who

was in turn succeeded by Father John ,1. Ryan. It

was during the term of Father Ryan that money was

raised, chiefly by subscriptions, and a lot of land sit-

uated on Esty Street was purchased to be devoted to

religious purposes. The building of the church
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which uow fltuuiln U|>o!i thnt laml wiia begun July 1,

1.S74, ami wiu iiirried forwunl by decrees, so an not to

incur too much of h debt. Late in tlmt year the

churcli liud liceu buili so lar an to be covered in, and

the basement put in a condition for use. First ser-

vices were held on December 26, 1874, at which Fa-

ther Kyan ollicialed. Father J. S. Cullen, who had

been curate in the ll.ipkinton jiarish from the days of

Father Harry, was now lussiyned as priest in charge of

a new pariah embracing llie held of Framiiigliam

Centre, South Framingham and Ashland. For a

short lime he resided in Ashland, in the brick house

on Union Street, and then moved to South Framing-

ham. Up to the time when tlie churih was occupied,

services hiid been held iti the town hall; afterward

there were regular services in the basement of the

new building. A Sunday-school, which had been

early established, wjus held weekly. The church went

on increasing in numbers and financial strength.

The building was carried forward to conijiletion in

the year lSS;t, and on the IGth day of December, in

that year, the final dedicatory exercises were held.

The church is a substantial building of pleasing de-

sign, having a finished basement and an audience-

room with a seating capacity of 400. To the rear is

an addition containing rooms for the priest. Shortly

after the completion of the church Ashland was des-

ignated as a pari.sh, and Fr. jVI. F. Delaiiey was as-

signed as the jiriest in charge. He took ii|i his resi-

dence at the B. V. Brown house, on Summer Street.

At that time there was a debt of about $6000 ; this

has since been removed by means of subscriptions,

pew-rents, fairs and the annual tax of one day's earn-

ings levied up(jn the members, and the church is now
free. The membership of the church, if estimated

upon the basis of the whole Catholic population, is

about 700; if confined to those who give attention to

religious ob-servauces, it is somewhat less than half

that number. Frequently the audiences in attend-

ance upon religious exercises occupy the entire seat-

ing capacity of the church. Recently plans have
been made for a dwelling-lious'e fur the priest, to be

erected to the southeast of the church. On the 1st

of May, 1890, Fr. Delaney was sent to Natick to have
charge of a much larger church, and Fr. John Heff'er-

nan has been stationed in Ashland.

Congregational Church.~Th\s church grew out of
a previously existing Sunday-school, which was es-

tablished as far back as 1828. About 1832, $600
were subscribed, principally by those interested in

the cotton factory, and with this sum, a second story

was built upon the village school-house, to be occu-
pied for religious purposes. This building stood on
the site of the present Town Hall, but nearer the
street, and was called "The Chapel." The second
story of this building was fitted up with movable
seats, made of pine boards, and afforded seating capa-
city for about one hundred persons. Besides being
in use for religious purposes on Sundays, during the

week it was occupied, as occasion demanded, for lec-

tures, lyceum debates, town-meetings and other pub-

lic purposes, until it was torn down iii 185.'), to give

place to the present Town Hall.

The Union F^vangelical Society was organized as a

legal body from the worshipers in the chapel Feb.

17, 1835. In the spring of this year, the society

bought of James Jackson about two acres of land,

on the northeasterly side of Main Street, opposite to

the chapel, with a view to erect a meeting-house

thereon. The land purchased, besides comprising the

lot at present occupied, extended back into the ceme-

tery, and westerly to include the land now covered by

the "Brick Store." The southeasterly line of th^

lot was the same as at present, hut was produced to

near the back side of the cemetery; thence turning

at a right angle, the line ran northwesterly to the

canal, and up the canal as far as the confectionery

store. The last-named land was sold to William

Jennison, and the portion of the land northeasterly

of the present cemetery wall was sold to the town

of Hopkinlon, and is now owned, with the remainder

of the cemetery, by the town of Ashland. A strip

of land on the west side of the present church lot

was set apart to be leased for sheds, the " lessees to

hold the land as long as sheds shall be supported for

use of horses on said land." A committee was ap-

pointed to " build the house on the credit of the

society," consisting of James Jackson, Josiah Cloyes,

Jr., Calvin Shepard, Jr., William Jennison, John

Stone, Richard R. Brewster, Abel Greenwood, Jr.,

Matthew Metcalf and Joseph Ballard. The house

seems to have been modeled after the Baptist Church

in Westborough. It was completed that season, and

was dedicated January 21, 1836. This was the build-

ing now known as the Congregational Church, and

the only change in its external appearance to this

day has been caused by the substitution, in 1889, of

stained windows in place of the old plain glass, and

the erection of a chapel, about 1870, attached to the

rear. In 1846 the name of the society was changed

by vote to the " First Parish in Ashland," since which

time all its acts have been done in that name. Re-

cently some doubt having arisen as to the legality of

this change, in 1889 an act of the Legislature was

passed establishing this name and legalizing all acts

before done under it. The records of this society,

both church and parish, have been preserved, and

are tolerably complete. The method of conducting

the church is in the dual form customary in the Con-

gregational order, the " parish " holding the title to

the property and transacting the business, and the
'' church " conducting the religious exercises. Any
person, male or female, above twenty-one years of

age, is eligible to membership in the parish, but is

received only upon its formal consent. No one is

admitted to the church except upon assenting to its

creed and articles of covenant.

The church at its organization numbered twenty-
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one members, all but three joining by letter from

ne'gliLioniig churches, of whom thirteen came from

Ffiuuiiigham. Many more members soon joined, and
\

the church appears to have been always self-support-

ing. Its nlembcr^hip in the course ot fifteen or twenty

years arose to about one hundred and fifty, but has,

especially since the establishment of the Methodist

Church, which drew from its numbers, fallen away,

BO that there are now but one huudrcd and twenty.

Twice in the history of the church the inside of the

building has been reuuideled, the first to accommodate

a larger audience, the second, which occurred in 1889,

to secure a conformity to modern ideas. The pews

were originally sold by auction to attendants at the

church, are still largely owned by individual pro-

prietors, and are taxed for the support of preaching.

The society has taken part of the pews for unpaid

taxes and these are rented. A portion of the expenses

is now raised by subscriptions, and the Social and

Literary Society turn in .1 contribution of about two

hundred dollars annually. There is no piermanent

debt, and the parish has never placed a mortgage

upon the premises.

Promiuent mcu iu the town, though not members

of the church, have been and still are active members
of the parish. A prosperous Sunday-school convenes

every Sabbath in the year in the church and chapel.

With this is connected a library, often renewed. A
few years ago a branch of the Christian Endeavor or-

ganization was established, which has served to add

to the membership of the church, doing iu a more

quiet way the work formerly accomplished by revi-

vals.

This church has had but few deacons, their terms

of service having been long. Calvin Shepard, Jr.,

was appointed at the organization of the church; a

.few years later William Seaver was chosen. These

two men served for many years, the latter continuing

to act until shortly before his death, which occurred

in 1887. After Deacon Shepard moved away from

town. Dexter Rockwood was chosen and continued to

act till his death. Later have followed in the office

Edwin Perry, William Ockington and W. H. Hoven-

den, who are still acting.

The following is a list of the ministers who have

been settled or hired for periods of more than one

year : James Mclntyre, who, while a student in

the senior class at Andover Theological Seminary,

had commenced preaching to the congregation in

April, 1834, was ordained and installed pastor of the

church January 21, 1836. He was employed at a

salary of live hundred and fifty dollars. His father-

in-law, Bartlett. of Newburyport, built for him the

house standing opposite the' church, which was occu-

pied by him while he remained iu town, and was

sold to James Jackson on his departure. He is said

to have been a remarkably genial man, and suc-

ceeded w,ell in uniting iu one congregation the var-

ious denominational elements. After two years, his

wife dying, at his own request he was di>missed, and

returned to Elkton, Md., his native place. Forty

years later, by invitation, he attended the semi-centen-

nial celebration of the Sunday-school, and received

the hearty welcome due to the pleasant memory of

his early labors.

The next pastor was Joseph Haven, Jr., also a

young man from the seminary at Andover. He was

ordained and installed November 0, 1839, and re-

mained seven years, carrying the church through

the period during which the ([uestion of a new town

was agitated and its organization effected. He is

said to have taken a strong interest in the formation

of the town. He was a man of fine personal appear-

ance and an able preacher. He and his father, also

a minister, who lived with him, bought of Captain

Heywood the house now owned by S. W. Wiggins,

and occupied it during his stay in town. The salary

paid him was six hundred and fifty dollars. His

contract with the society made provision for termi-

nating his term of service by either party giving six

month.s' notice. It is said that, spurred on by advisers

who believed in the potency of doctrinal sermons, he

once preached a discourse in which the short-comings

of other denominations than his own were pungently

set forth, and that this caused offence in the minds of

some. The Baptist portion of the congregation from

this time withdrew, and took steps to establish a

church of their own denomination. On December
l(i, 184(i, he was dismissed to accept a call from Har-

vard Church, in Brookline, in charge of which he

remained four years. Afterwards he became succes-

sively Profes.sor of Mental and Moral Philosophy In

Amherst College, Professor of Systematic Theology

iu Chicago Theological Seminary, and again Professor

of Mental and Moral Philosophy in Chicago Univer-

sity. He died May 23, 1871. His books on " Mental

and Moral Philosophy " and the " History of Ethics "

have had a wide sale.

Charles L. Mills, following Mr. Haven, was in-

stalled as pastor February 11, 1847. He was a man
of advanced middle age. His health gave way, and

he was dismissed at his request in April, 1849, return-

ing to Middlefield, Conn. A very pleasant memory
still remains of the happy influence of Mrs. Mills as a
" perfect lady."

William M. Thayer, of Franklin, was ordained and

installed June 20, 1849. He was a graduate of Brown
University and had recently studied theology with

Dr. Jacob Ide, of Medway, a theologian of the old

school. Mr. Thayer's seven years of ministerial

labor were exhibitions of strength and /.eal. His

interest extended to town affairs so that he became

popularly known, and was chosen to represent the

town one year in the Legislature. He bought the

lot of land and built the house now owned by B.

W. Houghton, on Pleasant Street. His voice finally

failed him and he was dismissed, December 25,

1856. He returned to Franklin, where he has
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aince re«ide<l. After the recovery of his voice he

eiigHf;eil in lei'tiiring on (t-miierance, bei-omiri); well-

known tbrouj;lii>iit llie State. He win for many years

necretary of tlie Ma-^wK-husetU Total Abstinence So-

ciety. He is htill eugajteii in preaching and lecturing.

He is the author of a series of juvenile works, setting

forth In u popular manner the lives of distinguished

Americans.

T. F. Clary, a niiin of middle age, followed Mr.

Thayer, lieing installeil December 25, ISoti. He came

from Thetford, Vt., where he had concluded asuccess-

lul pastorate. He was thought by many to beau able

preacher, but misl'ortunes seemed to combine against

iiiui, resulting i:i his dismissal, March 80, IS,"!;).

Horace Parker, a recent graduate of .\mherst Col-

lege, next supplied the pulpit for two years. He was

ordaiucil but not installed, May 31, ISiil, the records

of the council showing an implied protest at the

irregularity of such a proceeding. He w.'is a direct,

practical preacher, and succeeded in adding members

to the cburcb. lie has since labored iti the churches

at Leominster, Asliby, Pepperell, Lunenburg, and

other places. In the winter of 186-l-6r) he was with

the Christian Commission in the army.

A. H. Currier was ordained and installed December

3, lSi>2, aiul held the office of jiastor for three years.

This was during the stress of war times, and he gave

strong support to all town measures in aid of the war.

He built and occupied the house on Pleasant Street

now owned by G. W. Norris. There was strength

and reasonableness in his preaching and a peculiar

degree of gentlemanline.ss in bis manners. April 2S,

18ii5, he was dismissed to become pastor in a much
larger tield of the Second Congregational Church in

Lynn, where he labored for many years. He is now

a profes.sor in Oberlin (!ollege.

(teorge Ci. Phipps was stated supply from Septem-

ber, 18t)"), to December, ISiiT. He was a very accept-

able preacher and a genial companion. He went

away to be settled over the church at Wellesley,

where he remained for many years. He is now jias-

tor of the Congregational Church at Ncwtou High-

lands.

M. M. Cutter followed as pa.stor, being ordained

and installed December 29, ISfiS. He, too, was of a

social turn, ai.d was belove'i, especially by those

young people who, like himself, were devotees of the

musical art. He was dismissed, at his own request,

March .31, 1873.

E. P. Tenney wa.s stated supply from the spring of

1873 till .Tune, 1876. Subsequently his efforts in this

vicinity in raising funds for Colorado College, of

which he bad been appointed president, were suc-

cessful. He is now living in Manchester-by-the-Sea.

Thomas Morong preached first on July 1, 1876.

Later he was hired as stated supply. On June 12,

1878, he was installed pastor, and remained in the

service of the church till March 4, 1888. During this

time the church prospered. Never did it seem easier

to raise all needed funds. Mr. Morong's thought was

mature, often unique, always interesting. His ser-

mons were carefully prepared, his illustrations being

often drawn from the fields of science, with which he

had made himself familiar. With him, in i)articular,

botany was a favorite study. Taking it up first as a

pastime, be became afterwards a close student and a

recognized authority in this science. He is now en-

gaged in making original researches in South

America, being in the employ of certain botanical

societies. He was finally dismissed from his pastor-

ate February 24, 189(1.

On the same day Charles II. Dutton was ordained

and recognized as pastor of the church. Mr. Dutton

is a graduate of Amherst ('ollege and luis been a

student in the Hartford Theological Sinninary.

All the ministers of this church, it is believed, have

been graduates of colleges. All have brought with

them wives, who have in a greater or le-^s degree

assisted them in their pastoral work. Seven of the

twelve have been ordained, thus showing the prefer-

ence of this church for young pastors.

Baptist Church.—The first preaching service oc-

curred December 30, 1841. The gathering was at

William Waite's house, situated, as the streets are

now named, at the corner of Main and Cherry.

Aaron Haynes, of Southborough, delivered the ser-

mon. On January 6, 1S42, a regular prayer-meeting

was established, the houses of the attendants in turn

serving as the place of assemblage. Occasional

preaching services were also held at dwelling-houses,

and sometimes in the chapel then standing on the

site of the present town-hall. In May, 1S43, regular

Sunday services were begun in the hotel kept by

Thomas Barber (now Scott's Hotel), students from

Newton Seminary officiating.

On November 8th, in the same year, the Union-

ville Baptist Church was organized, with a member-

ship of forty-five, twenty-two residing in the town of

Hopkinton, twenty-three in Framingham, many hav-

ing formerly been regular attendants at the meetings

of the Congregational Church and contributing to its

support. Only two of the original members of the

Baptist Church are now living,—Mrs. Caroline Bal-

lard and Mr. Frank Chickering.

.\n eflbrt was soon made to provide a house of

wor.ship. Through a committee appointed for the

purpose, a lot of land now lying on the south side of

Front Street, opposite the dwelling of Mrs. E. A.

Forbush, was purchased of William Seaver, and a

cellar, of which the remains can still be seen, was

commenced. The purpose for which the land was to

be used had been kept a secret, and when it became
known that a Baptist church was going up at that

point, there was a small tempest in the neighbor-

hood. So this spot was exchanged for other land

owned by Seaver, on the opposite side of the street,^

the same now occupied by the hardware concern of

Perry & Enslin. A frame chapel was now built ou
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the land thus finally acquired, having the dimensions

of thirty-one by forty-five feet, and at a eost of one

thousand dolhirs. This building was dedicated on

March 20, 1810, by a|>|)ro|iriate religious services,

and at the same time was ordained Zenas P. Wilde, the

first pastor of the church, who had responded favor-

ably to the moderate call by the society of three hun-

dred dollars annually. This building was occupied

by the church for their religious services during the

next five years, after which time it was sold and

used for a boot-shop until its destruction by fire.

On the 30th day of April, 1849, the society adopted

as their corporate name the Ashland Baptist Church.

A larger place of convening was now found to be

needed. A comniitteeconsisting of Benjamin Homer,

Edwin A. Forbush, Charles Morse, -Vlbert Leland

and Richard Montague were chosen to erect a church

upon the new lot of laud lately purchased of Cai)tain

John Stone, situated on tlie east side of Summer
Street. The committee's action resulted in securing

for the society its present commodious building,

which was dedicated on April 10, 18.50, by services

conducted by the pastor, B. F. Brousou. Funds to

purchase the land and buildthis church were obtained

by subscription, but not in suffl'dent amount; so that

a debt remained, which was discharged by Oliver

Brewer and Charles Morse, who received the notes of

the church deacons for the moneys advanced by them.

During the ministry of Rev. K. Holt this indebted-

ness, or what remained of it, was paid ofl', so that the

society then became quite free from debt. Since then,

on account of misfortunes, other debts have been in-

curred, though the church is now payiug the running

expenses. The present mendjership is cue hundred

and twenty, about one-third of whom are non-resi-

dents. The church records to March 26, 1846, the

date of the burning of the E. A. Forbush boot-shop,

were destroyed in that fire. A general minute has

been entered covering the early years, and the princi-

pal facts relating to the church down to nearly the

prc'^ent time were recently gathered by Miss M. A.

Homer and are preserved in a manuscript history.

Prominent among the early members of the society

appear the names of Michael Homer, Benjamin

Homer, T. S. Burlingame, who was the first deacon,

Alvah Ormes, Lyman Fay and F. A. Forbush. Later

Albert Leland became connected with the church,

and afterwards to the time of his death was, perhaps,

its most influential member. He was a man of prop-

erty, and at his decease left to the church a devise of

real estate which wilt eveutually become operative.

For consistency and usefulness in more recent

years the life of I)ea. David R. Chamberlain is cited,

who died February 14, 1880.

In calling a pastor it has not been the custom of this

church, at least in recent years, to convene a council

for installation ceremonies. Any person who has

been ordained in the Baptist Church, is eligible to

serve as pastor, and the only distinction in hiring

seems to be that the term may be limited, or left in-

definite, according to the circumstances of the given

case. Both methods have been practiced by this

church, the present pastor, B. T. Frost, having been

employed for an indefinite period.

Following is a list of pastors, with a few brief notes

concerning them :

Z. P. Wilde closed his labors .Inly 2, 1846, and after

preaching in Marblehead, Boylston, and perhaps

other places, became a missionary in New York City.

He was noted for his able pastoral work.

B. F. Bronson was pastor from December 7, 1846,

to November 10, 1850. He was afterwards connected

with churches in Waltham, West Putnam, Connecti-

cut and Andover, Mass., where he is now living in

retirement.

Prof. Ifenry Day came from Brown University to

take charge of this church March 1, 18.51. He re-

mained only till June 6, 1852, when he returned to

his college work. He is remembered iis an interesting

preacher. Later he was a pastor in I'hiladclphia

and in Indianapolis, and now resides in tlic last-

named city.

N. Medbury, who lived upon the farm now occupied

by William Enslin, was pastor from 1853 to 1854.

K. Holt officiated from January 3, 1856, to January

29, 1860, then going to Milford. He is now living in

Petersham.

W. W. Ames was pastor from February 26, 1860,

to September, 1861.

D. F. Lamson commenced work with the church

April 20, 1862, and closed on November 29, 1865. He
not only conducted his church ably, but worked for

and with the town in promoting enlistments, and in

awakening enthusiasm during the war. Later he

became pastor of churches in Northboro', Worcester,

Hartford, Conn., and in Manche.ster-by-the-Sea, where

he is now residing.

R. B. Moody ably occupied the pul|)it from April

26, 1866, to February 22, 1868. Afterwards he was
for many years pastor of the church in I'lymouth,

and is now at the Monument Church in Chariestown.

G. B. Potter's term of service was from May, 1868,

to November, 1870. He died at Newton, and was

buried November 25, 1870, in Wildwnod Cemetery.

Annually his grave is decorated by his surviving

soldier comrades.

W. R. Maul, who served from January 15, 1871, to

November, 1872, was thought by Benjamin Homer,
who listened to his sermons every Sabbath, to be the

ablest preacher who had stood in the Baptist pul|)it.

He was afterwards pastor at Hoboken, and is now at

the Mariners' Church on Staten Island.

J. D. Meeson followed, October 5, 1873, to A|)ril I,

1875, going thence to Lebanon, N. Y. He is now
in Melrose without a charge.

N. B. Wilson was pastor from November 1, 1875, to

April 31, 1878, and L. S. Fitts from September, 1878,

to May 1, 1881.
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A. M. Higgins tooV charge on May 1, 1881, and

continued to February H, 1883, whoii he went to

Somerville to re.nido. lie ni>w priiulien at different

plaee«. ax ii|i|nirlniiilie.s are atVonled.

('. D. IJ. Mimliuni wii« |ia«t<>r Irmu May 1, 1883, to

June, 188t;, ti'iiig "t thai tiiiif to Caiilon. He has

built a resldenie in Sluneliani.

I). O. Mai-donalil was pastor from August, I88t>, to

January, 1888, while pursuing his studies in the theo-

logical seminary. He ha^ now returned to labor in

C'linada.

8. T. Frost, the preiient piustor, began his labors in

July, 1888.

Mtthoiliil Kpifinpal Churih.—There were people

residing in town who, although they had bten in the

habit of attending religious .services at the Congrega-

tional or liaplist Churches, had never felt quite at

home.

It had been intended, whenever a favorable time

came and suffu'lent means could be insured to carry

it on, that a church of the Methodist faith should be

eatablished. In view of the growth of the town, and

the fact that a competent leader having linancial

means—in the person of ('harles Alden— wiis ready to

take up the work, in IS(ii; (he ipicstion of establish-

ing a church began to be entertained. The move-

ment commenced with the holding of prayer-meetings

at the houses of believers in that fiiith. Hesides Mr.

Alden, Mr. Hayden, Hiram McUen, George Scott and

others, including per.sons from Hopkinton, became in-

terested and met together at the meeting.s. It was not

till the spring of 18l>8 that plans had become fully ma-

tured. At that time Mr. Alden attended the General

Conference, and, making known the purpose of the

Methodist people here to establish a church, obtained

the assignment of his friend, Rev. George W. Mans-

field, as a niini.ster to this station. Mr. Man.=field

had been resting for two year.s, that he might recover

his broken health. He came at once and opened his

work, commencing preaching services in the Town-
hall, which were continued here each Sabbath, until

the succeeding spring.

Soon after the"arrival of Mr. Mansfield the work

of establishing a church was begun. The records

show that on .Tul\ 15, lS(iS, the Methodist Episcopal

Church of .Vshland was organized, according to the

forms of law. On July .^th, preceding, the Quarterly

Conference had appointed as trustees, Charles Alden,

George Scott, William A. Tilton, J. N. Pike, and A.

T. Davis. At the the meeting of the trustees held on

the date of its organization, .T. N. Pike was chosen

president, and A. T. Davis secretary. At the same
meeting a committee on the building of the church

was appointed, consisting of the persons above named
with the exception of Mr. Davis, and with the ad-

dition of three more members—Charles H. Tilton

Alvah Metcalf and John Crismess. This committee
went speedily to work, Mr. Alden taking a very ac-

tive part. A lot of land situated on the eastern side

of Alden Street, at the junction of Church Avenue,

was furnished by Alden from lands owned by him-

self. Plans for the building were obtained and the

work commenced and pushed forward, so that before

the next spring the church was completed, furnished,

provided with an organ, and ready for occu|)ancy.

The church was dedicated free of debt, March 3,

18()il, the presiding elder conducting the exercises.

The funds for building and furnishing this church

which, incluiling all expenses, cost about $1."),000, were

furnished chiefiy by Charles Alden in the first in-

stance, and it is said in the final outcome, that the

enterprise cost him $S()U() in actual money. At a

meeting of the trustees held May 24, lH(i!t, the fol-

lowing vote was passed, " that we, the trustees accept

the deed of the M. E. Church from Brother Alden,"

and that the " trustees extend to Brother Alden a

vote of thanks for the interest he has taken and the

money he has expended in building and furnishing

the M. E. ('liurch." For the purpose ol' reiiulmrsing

Mr. Alden in part for moneys advanced, subscriptions

were obtained from the people. About 1500 were

raised at a fair held by the church, which were used

to defray expense of carpets and other furnishings.

In the building of the church and collecting a con-

gregation, the ertbrts of the pastor and his wife were

constant and etiective, much of their success being

due, doubtless, to skill derived from previous ex-

perience in .similar work. This church started off

with a membership of sixteen, which has been in-

creased so that the present number is one hundred

and tliirty. It.s original members came in part from

the other churches, but there was never any other

than kind feelings exercised toward the churclies from

which they came. Alden had for several years, up

to the time when he began to attend the Methodist

meetings, been a regular attendant at the Congrega-

tional Church, and superintendent of its Sunday-

school. That church had recently shown courtesy

toward its Methodist attendants by hiring for several

months as its pulpit supply, a Mr. Gushing, who was

a Methodist minister. This church has freely joined

with other churches in all work which can best be

done unitedly. A flourishing Sunday-school is con-

nected with the church.

The succession of pastors is as follows, their terms

beginning about April 1st, the regular time for

change of ministers in this denomination. George W.
Mansfield was with the church from April, 1868, three

years. His excellent work has already been alluded

to. His wife was a very able assistant. Since

leaving Ashland his health has allowed him to con-

tinue in his ministerial labors. He has now been at

Gloucester since April, 1889.

A. O. Hamilton was with the church two years be-

ginning April, 1871. He vv'as noted for good dis-

courses, and particularly for his fine performances as

a reader. While here he was pursuing, as he found

time, the study of medicine, and is now a physician
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in practice in East Boston, having taken charge of

but one church since leaving Ashland.

Loramus Orowell was a scholarly preacher and had

formerlj' been a presiding elder ; coming in 1873, he

remained one year.

In 1S74 Henry lAimmis commenced a pastorate of

three years, during which time he became greatly re-

spected both by his chuich and the people of the

town. As a member of the school committee, oppor-

tunity was artbrded for making use of his wide and

accurate scholarship. After serving as pastor at va-

rious stations, he is now discharging the duties of a

professor in one of the Western colleges.

J. K. t'nshing followed in 1877, remaining three

.years. He was a genial man and an acceptable

preacher. He too became well known in town, hold-

ing for a time the office of school committee. He has

left sani|iles of his large, even handwriting in the

committee's record-book, having served as secretary

of that board. He is how pastor of the Stanton

Avenue (^'hurch in Boston.

Elias Hodge followed in 1880, his term of service

being two years. He was an acceptable preacher

and an agreeable companion.

W. H. Cook came in 1882, remaining one year.

E. A. Manning was an able preacher and a wide-

awake citizen. He was often employed to report

public meetings for the press. It is in this capacity

that for many years his erect figure upon the stage has

become familiar to the frequenters of the Chautauqua

meetings at the Framiugham camping-ground. He
came to Ashland in 1883 and remained two years.

In 1885 Pastors Full and Hopkins supplied.

J. C. Smith was assigned to this church in 1886.

There were those who thought his sermons equal to

any that have been delivered in the church. He re-

signed in the summer of 1887, and has recently

deceased.

C. H. Talmage, while pursuing his course of theologi-

cal study in Boston University, was sent hereto supply

the pulpit in the last part of 1887. In the following

year he was appointed pastor. He manifested energy

in all his work. He succeeded in collecting the scat-

tered congregation and in securing much-needed re-

pairs of the church edifice. The next year he was

assigned t« a church in Boston Highlands.

Harvey H. Paine came in 1889 and is still with the

church.

Civil War.—When the war broke out in 1861 the

town was in debt $16,000, chiefly for the cost of the

Town Hall built six years before. The town, how-

ever, assumed readily the new burden imposed by the

war. No one at first supposed that there was to be a

long, hard trial of strength between the contending

[tarties. As the war progressed it became apparent,

however, that only the greater resources of the North

would enable that section finally to prevail. The
town of Ashland came forward in response to every

call and provided its full quota. At first it was only

necessary to appeal to the patriotism of the citizens

to secure the required number of volunteers. After-

ward inducements were oll'ered in the way of bounties

to the persons enlisting and aid to their families.

The bounties paid varied widely, but tended to in-

crease as the war went on, sometimes running above

$400. Ashland [jrovided for the calls made out of its

own citizens, if a very small number of recruits near

the close of the war be excepted. When soldiers

were wanted public meetings were held, which were

addressed by citizens and by speakers from abroad.

At the close of the meeting volunteers were called for,

and under the inspiration of the hour were readily

obtained. The tirst call by the President for twenty

conii>anies of three months' men, made April IT), 1861,

was filled from the State Militia. Of the thirty-nine

regiments of three years' men called for on May 3,

1861, Massachusetts procured by solicitation the priv-

ilege of sending six regiments. In the Eleventh

and Twelfth, sent forward at this time, Ashland fur-

nished a considerable number of men.

In July of the same year an act of Congress au-

thorized the President to call for 500,000 men, and

thenceforward requisitions were made upon the

States as soldiers were wanted. In response to the

calls upon tlie town of Ashland, enlistments were

made onward quite to the close of the war, chiefly for

three years. The Thirty-second Infantry and Second

Cavalry contained a large number of these men. In

response to the I'resideut's call of August 4, 1862, for

300,000 nine months' men, a considerable number en-

listed in the Fifth Infantry. The other enlistments

are widely scattered in the service, and are mostly for

three years, a few being for one year and one hundred

days, respectively. The town made liberal promises

to its volunteers. Taking early advantage of the war

acts passed by the Legislature, they voted in the fall

of 1861 to appropriate money in aid of the faniilie.s of

the soldiers, and in the summer of 1862 for the en-

couragement of enlistments. Subsequently similar

votes were passed, adding to the sums appropriated;

and in March, 1863, it was voted that the selectmen be

instructed to send for the bodies of deceased soldiers.

In 1865 the poll-taxes of the soldiers were abated for

that year. The whole amount of money appropriated

and expended by the town for war purposes was

about .iil2,000 ; a sum nearly as large, raised and paid as

aid to the families of the soldiers, was afterward re-

paid by the State. According to the report of the

Adjutant-General, Ashland furnished one hundred and

eighty-four men for the war, which was a surplus ot

eleven above all demands.

Among these soldiers, three only were commis-

sioned officers, these men having been promoted from

the ranks. The following is a roll of officers and pri-

vates, intended to include residents of Ashland, and

persons serving upon its quotas. The first date given

is that of muster in. A final date standing unexplained

shows the close of service, which may he by expira-
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lion of term, by order of War Department, or by

other discharge.

i<* K-j<. I^f (l'""*"*". ("> (i.-W.-l-iir llr-uku, Corp., Jiilj27, "M,

NooQibrr l«, •«; »:UTi.l<r 5l,.ullun, July 27, 'iH, NovcinUr Ui, '64;

;1, July .'7, ul, NoveuilMir 10, 'IH.

->I.«M rl«rk,'.Jul.v 19, 'ft*, November 10, 'W ; Ch»rle« H.

j..„. ,, IJ, 'M, NuveailHir It>, '<W,

VUH I'miildtkra Cb. /•/.. llOO da»f)—Frao^ * Johnson, let lieut.

All*;, fl, 'Ol, Notenilwr 16, '(H.

VM VmallMlitd tV., In/. (1 »«ir)—Otis Chk'kerillg, Novembor 28, '64.

Juni. JT, '64 ; Ji»>pli 1'. tXklngton, Noi. 25, '64. June 27, '65.

UK S«yl. V. (0 MoaKU), Co. C—CborlM E.Klmboll, September 16, '62,

Juljr 2, '63.

(\«»f«mr/K (Slurterwl In, September 16, 'f>2 ; luustcreil out July 2, M)

—Uoli II KliiK«l>ury.»erKl.; Henry Perklu), Corp.; Frank .\. Wall,

Corp.; \Veb«t«r Bro«ik«, Geu. S. L'hnmberlaln. Knincis B. Cbickering,

Alb«rt B. Com«y, S. AuKuntun P»vU, (ioorge A. Ellis, Levi Fairbanks,

(Jeo. S. ruber, Henry M. Kniil, John W. Gonell, Ezra Moree, Corp.;

Marrena M. Greenwood, Jow.ph W. HartsborD, Elipbalut J. Jones,

Elbrl<lKe Moullon, Joseph P. Ockinglon, John A. Parker, Augustus

l'erkln».('harle« C. Pollard, Stephen Spii,iner, Dana SI. Wenzell, William

II. WhiHler ; Henry 0. Harriinan, Corp., Jan. 13, '03, died of typhoid

feieral Newl^ern, North CatuHna.

42J Hrgl. Uf. (9 rao,ilA»), Cb. B.—David Robinson (Holllston) Septom-

her 3. O'.", August 20, '63.

iSdlltgl. Inf. (9 monlAi), Co. B.—Stanislaus Fontaine, October 11, '62
;

John Garln, October 11, '02, July 30, '63 ; Thoroiis Rowley, October

if, '02.

44a Rtg. Inf. (9 mon(*«) Co. if.—Avery Sylvester, September 12, '62,

June 18. '03.

illk Htg. hf. (9 numlht), Co. F.— William F McNamara(Framingham)

September 21), '02, July 7, '63.

OompaHy f.—Charles H. .Moore (Marlboro'), October 7, '62, October 21,

'62, transferred to '* K" Co., July 7, '63.

hUi Bat. U. Arl. (3 years).—Paesiello Emerson, December 22, '63

;

wounded at Uerryville, Va., discharged June 12, '65.

MM Bat 1.1. .in. (3 years).—John H. McGarrity, Sept. 16, '64, Jan.

14, '05, trans. 6th Battery, June 19, '65 ; Eugene Shepard, Sept. 10, '64,

Aug. 4, '65.

id Htg. H'rg. ArL, Co. B.—Fred. O. Grout (Blackstone), Aug. 31, '64,

Jan. 15, •05, trans. Co. E, 17th Inf., June 30, '05 ; Edward C. Marsh,

July 29, '63, Sept. 3, '65.

CumpaHy E.—On P. Howland, Sept. 20, '04, June 20, '05 ; William H.

Kaaon, Sept. 19, '64, Dec. 16, '64, trans. 17th Inf., Co. G, prom. Corp.,

June 30, '05.

Company G.—Geo. P. Read, Dec. 7, '63, April 4, '04, died Anderson-

Tille, Ga. ; Avery Sylvester (Worcester), Dec. 7, '03, Oct., 'C4, died Flor-

ence, S. C. ; Wright Walker, Sept. 19, '64, Jan. 17, '65, trans. 17tli

Inf.

Company L.—Amos R. Babcock, Dec. 22, '63, Sept. 3, '65 ; William

D. Bell. Dec. 22, '03, Sept. 3, '05.

4IA B«J. ;rry .lr(. (1 year), Co. K, 26th UnaUacked Co. H'ry AH.—
Charles f. Pollard, corp., Aug. 23, '04, June 17, '65.

29(A Vnallachcd Co. Wvy ArL (1 year). —James Madden, Sept. 19, 'I'.l

June 16, '65.

Id Reg. Car. (3 ytan), (%. B.—George A. Cook, Corp., Sept. 23, '63,

Feb. 22, '64, prisoner, June 13, '05
; Eastman Duley, Sept. 17, '03, July

20, '65 ; George F. Duley, Sept. 22, '63, Oct. 1, 64, died Andersonville,

Ga.
; E. A. Forbueh, Jr., alias James Smith, Sept. 14, '63, July 20 '65

;

George V. JlatBh, Jan. 6, '64, July 20, '05
; Stephen Spooner, Sept. 4,

'63, Feb. 22, '64, killed by guerrillas near Drainsrille. Va.

Company C—Benjamin Johnson, Dec. 15, '63, Dec. 30, '63.

Company D.—Stephen A. Cole, nergt., Jan. 5, '64, wd. Fort Stephens,

Md., July 20, '66
; Arthur I.. Parker, Dec. 8, '63, wd. Five Forks, Va.,

»f*y 24, '05, for disability ; Harlan P. Boyd, Jan. 5, '64, July 20, '65, as

absent, sick ; Orton W Cole, Jan. 5, '64, July 20, '65; Russell W. Col-

lier, Jan. 5, '01, wd. Vienna, Va., July 6, '65
; Charles D. Hart, Dec. 21,

'63, wd. Fort Stephens, Md., trans. V. R. C, July 20, '65
; Jo.seph W.

Hartahorn, Jan. 5, 'Ol, July 20, '65
; George W. Jlorse, Jan. S, '64, Sept.

13, '64, wd. Shenandoah Valley, Va., June 21, '65 ; Edward McKnight,
.Ian, 5, '64, Sept. 13, '64, lost right arm Shenandoah Valley, Sept. 11, '05

from hoepital ; Arthur W. SHIos, Jan. 5, '64, July 20, '05.

Company £.—Augustus J. Davis, (S. Augustus Davis,) Sept. 9, '04,

June 13, '05
; Charles F. Davis, Sept. 6, '64, June 13, '05.

Company f.—John S. Nottage, Feb. 23, '04, cap. and died Sept. 29,' 04,
Danville, Va.

CVunjxuiy J7.—Chaa. E. Duley, corp., Deo. 21, '63, Aug. 25. '64, wd.

Berry ville, Va., July 20, '05; Jyhn Cowhey, Dec. 31, '63, July 10, '05,

for disability.

Company A'.—Hiram Mellen, Dec. 12, '03, July 20, '05.

Company t'rihiou'u.—Dennis JtcCarly.

1st lifg. Inf. (3 yearf) Co. K.—Charles W. Hathaway (Framingham),

Aug. 17, '01, May 25, '04.

'2d Beg. Inf. (3 t/«ur»), Co. K.—Tlioma.s K. Clapp, May 25, '61, wd.

bat. Cedar Mt., Aug. 9, '01, for disability ; Bei\)amiii F. Montague, May
25, '01, .\ug. 9, '62, killed at bat. Cedar Mt. ; 'I'iniotby Sullivan, May 25,

'61, Oct., '63, enl. U. S. Army.

WHh Reg. Inf. (3 yeara), Co. C—Martin Kennedy (Boston), Dec. 8,

'0,1, June 21, '64, trans. 37th Inf., trans. 20th Inf., June 10, '65.

lU/i Reg. Inf. (3 yeare) Band (niuHt. in Aug. 3, '61, nnist. out Aug. 8,

'62).—Samuel S. Baker, Abner E. Bell, Charles S. Brewster, George F,

Coxon, Edward Daniels, Lorenzo Frost. Benj. H. Hartshorne (Sept. 23,

'01, di.Hubilily), Robert J. Neal (Boston), Wm. A. F. Noyes, .Augustus

Perkins, Charles Spooner.

The same band, leaving out Hartshorne and adding Benj. G. Browo.

James H. Dadmun, Gilbert W. Holbrook and Prince Spooner, served-

(three years) in Third Brigade, Second Division, Second Army Corps,

from July 10, '63, to July 1, '65.

Company A.—Juhii Shaugbnessy (Boston), June 13, '61, Feb. 22, '64.

Company C.—Edward Gross, June 13, '61, .\ug. 15, '62.

Company //.—William Mansfield, June 13, '01, Feb. 22, 04, to re-

enlist ; William lilanslield, corp., Feb. 23, '04, July 14, '05
; Charles

B. T. Kuowlton, June 1.3, '01, July 13, '03, killed Gettysburg, Pa.

Company I.— William Maley, (Boston), June 13, '61.

Vlth Reg. Inf. (:l years), Co. B.—Granville II. Smith, Corp. (Framing-

ham), June 26, '61, Oct. 20, '62, died of fever at Smoketown Hospital
;

Isaac R. Babcock, June 26, '61, July 8, '64 ; Alonzo G. Duran ^E. Ray-

uiond, Me.), June 20, '01, Sept. 17, '02, killed at -Vntietani, Md. ; Lorenzo

Frost, June 20, '61, Aug. 1, '61, trans, llth Inf. ; Arthur L. Parker, June

26, '01, Feb. 2, '63, wd. and disch. ; John B. Whalen, June 20, '61, July

8, '64.

Company F.—Augustus Perry, July 22, '63.

Company G.—Thomas Johnson, July 22, '03
; Emil Buff, Sept. 22, '63j

Charles L Stoddard, July 21, '03, April 6, '64, disability.

Company H—James L. Bell, July 21, '63, June 25, '64, trans. 39th Inf.,

Co. B. Juue 29, '65
; Henry B. Smith, July 21, '63, June 25, '64, trans.

39th Inf., Co. B. died Andersonville, Ga.

Company I.—George A. Cook, Corp., June 20, '61, Oct. 12, '62, for

wounds rec'd in battle ; Hans C. Hanson, July 21, '63, June 26, '04,

trans. 39th Inf., Co. D, died Andersonville, Ga. ; Sanford P. Lane, July

21, '63, June 25, '64, trans. 39th Inf., prisoner and died probably at An-

dersonville, Ga.

Unassigued Recruits.—Francis Baldwin, July 21, '03
; William Ryan.

Sept. 22, '63, April 1'2, 1804.

nth Reg. Inf. (3 years), Co. H.—Charles E. Duley, (Sudbury) July 16,

'01, Dec 15, '62, disability.

Company I.—James Sullivan (Marlboro'), July 10, '61, Aug. 1, '04.

16(A Reg. Inf. (3 years), Co. B.—Edward T. Dean, sergt., July 2, '61,

July 27, '64
; Albert H.adley, corp. (Uolliston), July 2, '61, July 27, '64

;

Eastman Duley (Sherborn), July 2, '61, Dec. 11, '62, for wounds received

in battle ; Chester E, Lessure, Corp., July 2, '61, May 13, '63, killed

I hancellorsville, Va. ; Edward Enslin, July 2, '61, July '27, '64
; Wil-

liam H. Maynard, July 2, '61, Jan. 7, '62, disjibility ; Edvviu L. Perry,

Nov. 4, '61, Dec. 12, '63, trans. V. R. C. ; AlLert A. Whittemore, July

2, '61, July 27, '64
; Elbridge G. Whittemore, July 2, '61, Sept. 24, '61.

disiibility.

VithRegt. Inf. (3 years), Co. K—Wright Walker, Sept 19, '64, Juno

30, '65.

18(;i Reg. Inf. (3 years), Co. F.—Geo. H. Houghton, Aug. 24, '61, Dec.

19, '62.

With Reg. Inf. (3 years), Co. .4.—Michael Hennesey, Mar. 4, '62, Mar.

29, '04, to re-enlist; Michael Hennesey (Cambridge), Mar. 30, '04, taken

prisoner, died Feb. 22, '65, Salisbury, N. C.

I'ompavy C.~Albert Beiss, sergt. (Boston), July 18, '61, wd. at Fred-

ericksburg, Va., Feb. 18, '62 ; Jacob Beuder (Boston), July IS, '61, Mar.

l>, '63, com. sergt.

Co7npaMy F.—James McGuire, Mar. 4, '02, May 28, '62, wounded

Froilericksburg, Va.

Company C—John Wells, Sept. 19, '64, June 8, '65.

Unassigned Recruits.—Michael Bradley, Mar. 4, '62
; James Kennedy,

Mar. 4, '62.

2Ut Reg. Inf. (3 years), Co. J.—Mathias Hockman, Aug. 29, '02, Aug.

30, '64.
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ff.—Adoniram J. Sniitb, Oct. 4, '61', Jan.22i Seg. Inf (3 t/ears), 0>.

31, '03, disability.

23ii l!eg. Inf. (3 'Jfars), Co. A.—EWwn S. Rend, Oct. 0, '61, Dec. 2, '63,

to reH>nlist ; Elliott S. Keed, Dec. 3, '63, July 28, '65.

24lh H'S Inf. (3 yfors), Co. y4.—Geurgo H. Wiirren, Sept. «, '61, Sept.

6, '64.

26th Reg. In/. (3 ijcars), Co. .4.—Frederick A. Nottage, Oct. 10, '61,

Dec. 17, '03, to le-eulisl for Iloiikititon, .Inly 13, '66.

Comjuiug fi— Martin I.. Parrnenter (Wobsler). Oct. 9, '61, Dec. 17, '63,

to re enlist ; Martin L. Parnieiiter (Webster), Dec. 18, '63, July 13, '65.

Compainj ff.—.lobn S. Powers (Friiniingham), Aug. 14. 'i;2, .Tan. 18,

'64, to re-enlist ; .lolin S. Powers (FramingUaui) Jan. 19, '64, June 3, '64,

killed Cold Harbor, Va.

Pii<i«igii«'i BfCJiiii*.—Aaron Kice, Feb. 2,1, '64, Fob. 26, '64.

26//I Seg. Inf. (3 yearn), Co. .1.—John H. Balcoin, musician (Pepperoll),

Sept. 2, '61, Dec. 31, 1864, to ro-enlist ; John 11. Balcoin, mnsiriau, Jan.

1, '64, Aug. 26, 180,5.

291* Ileg. Inf. (3i/«or«) Co. H.—John U. Aldrich, Doc. 10, '01, Oct. 22,

1862, died Long Island, N. Y.

31»( l!eg. Inf. (3 years), Co. A".—Willard \V. Watkius, Fob. 4, '62, Feb.

4,1864, to reeuliet; Willard W. WatkinB, eergt., Feb. 15, "64, Sept. 9,

1865.

32d Iteg. Inf. (3 yeor^, Co. II.—Augustus A. Coburn, Ut sergt., Jan.

6, '64, Dec. 4, 1804, 2d lieut., disch. at close of war; Albert C. Andrews,

Ut sergt., Jan. 5, *04, June 29, 1805, absent, wounded ; Aug A. Coburn,

sergt. (Framinghuni), Aug. ;il, '62, Jan. 4, 186!, to re-enlist ; William

Formeau, sergt.. Jan. 5, '64, June 29, 1805 ; .Albert C. Andrews, Corp.,

Aug. 11, '62, Jan. 4, 1864, to re-enlist; James L. Bell, Corp., July 21,

•63, June 29, 1805 ; William Formean, corp., Aug. U, '02, Jan. 4, isr.4,

to re-enlist ; Goo. B. Twitchell, Corp., Jan. ,% '04, wd Sept. 16, 1804,

trans. V. R. C. Mar. 28, 1805 ; liscar W. West, corp , Aug. 11, '02, Jan.

4, 1804, to re-enlist; Oscar W. West, Corp., Jan. 5, '64, July 11,1805;

Edward F. Whittemore, Corp., Jan. 5, '64, May 12, 1864, lost right arm

near Spottsylvauia, June 3, 1865 ; 'Willard Aldrich, Aug. 11, '6'.', Jan. 4,

1864, to re-enlist ; Willard .aldrich, Jan. 5, '64, July 12, 1.965 ; William

Fitz, Aug. 11, '02
; Preston W, Forbush, Aug. 11, '62, assigned to quar-

termaster's dept.. May 30, 1865 ; David Hennessey, Aug. 11, 't>2, Jan,

4, 1864, to re-enlist ; David Hennessey, Jan. 6, '64. May 23, 1804, pris-

oner North Anna .River, paroled Nov, 30, 1864, died .\nnapolis, Md.;

Frank A. .Fohnson, Aug. 11, "02
; John Jlaley, Aug. 11, '02; Andrew J.

Perry, Aug. 1], '02, Dec. 18, 1863, trans. V. R. (.'., Jan. 4, 1864, to re en-

list ; Andrew J. Perry, Jan. 5, '64, June 18, 18G4, wd. at Petersburg,

July 13, 1866 ; Silas S. Seaver, Aug. 11, '62, Jan. 4, 1864, disability
;

Geo. B. Twitchell, Aug. 11, '02, Jan. 4, 1864, to re-enlist ; George H.

Vbse, .iug. 11, '62, May 30, 1805 ; Edward F. Whittemore, Aug. 11, '62,

Jan. 4, 1864, to re-enlist; Samuel G. Winch, Aug. 11, 62, May 30, 1865.

ra^l Eeg. Inf. (3 !;o>i)«), Co. C—William Bell, Aug. 0, '62, Sept. 12,

1863, trans. V. R. G., Sept. 6, 1864, disability ; George Scott, .\ug. 6,

'62, June 11, 1805.

Z.Vh Reg. Inf. {i yean), Co. ^4.—Wm. H. Fraokland, Corp., Aug. 9,

'62, Oct. 4, 1802, sergt., Nov. 3, 1803, disability.

Company C—.lohn W. Hodges (Ohelsea), Aug. 19, '62, Dec. 13, 1862,

killed.

36tt Reg. (3 years), Co. F.—Chas. O. Motcalf, musician, Aug. 13, '62,

April 30, 1864, disability.

381/1 Reg. /.;/. (3 years), Co. JT.—William O. Andrews, Aug. 20, '62,

Nov. 3, 1863, i^sability.

59/A Rrg. Inf. (3 years) Co. B.—Levi Ramsden, Jan. 4, '64, wd. Spott-

sylvauia, Fob. 9, 1865, disability.

Company C.—Abner P. Chase, Jan. 4, '64, Sept. 17, 1862, wd. Antie-

tam, Va., April 8, 1866, disability.

6blh Rrg. Inf. (1 year), Co. E.—Lionel D. Phillips, Sept. 9, '64, Jan. 6,

'65.

Veleran Reserve CSii-ps.—Edward J. Ford, Sept. 20, '64.

Navy (3 years).—William Sloan, Aug. 19, '64, furnished by J. N. Pike;

John Sullivan, .\ug. l'.i, '64, furnished by John Clark ; John Wilson,

Oct. 20, '61, furnished by Henry Cutler.

8(/i Marine Reg. Inf. (3 years), Co. A.—Hoores R. Adams, Sept., '61,

Sept., '64.

6(4 N. H. Reg. Inf, (9 monHM).—Lorenzo Frost, after Aug. 8, '02.

13(4 N. Y. Cav. (1 year), Co. if.—George T. Higley, Oct. 8, '64, trans.

3d Provisional N. Y. Cav, Sept. 21, '65
; Wakefield L. Higley, Oct. 8,

'64, trans. 3d Pro. N. Y. Cav., died in hosp. W.ishington, D. C, Sept.

4, '65.

Rciiding in or Credited lo the Quota of Aslilaad, but Regiment, if any, un-

fowuin.— Lorenzo Bolden (colored), Vicksburg, Miss., Dec. 3, '64
; Adol-

pbus Burgesa (colored). Fort Monroo, Feb. 6, '66
; Beiij. Davenport

(colored), Vickaburg, Miss,, Nov. 3, '64 ; Herman S. Greenwood, July

12, '6:{, Dec. 10, '63, disability ; John Harvey, enl. out of town ; Henry

W. Jackson; Thonnw C. Pontl, July 21, '63, disch. for disability; Wm.
H. Pratt, July 21, '63, Sept. 16, '63, disability ; Henry Wellington.

Drafted (3 years) and Furnished Snlt^lilutt's or Paid Commutation.—

Lyman Bock, July 10, '63
; K. Francis Clallin, July 10, '63

; Charles

Cloyes, July 10, '03
; Daniel Fenton, July in, '03 ; Edwin Perry, July

10, '63
; Alfred B. Rugg, July 10, '03

; Samuel .Seaver, July 10, '03
;

Charles H. Tllton, July 10, '03
; J. Edward Tillon, July 10, 'r,:i ; Jacob

Winchester, July 10, '63
; Curtis B. Young, July 10, '63.

BIOGRAPHICAL.

ALVAH METCALF.

Alvah Metcalf was born in Appleton, Maine, April

12, 1824. He was theeifrhth in descent, from Micluiel

Metcalf, who came from Kiijjland, and settled in I)ed-

ham, in 1(537. His father was born in Franklin,

Mass, but had removed to Maine when a young man,

and there his eight children were born and brought

up. Alvah was the second child by his mother,

Melinda Phillips, of Auburn, Mass. ; he is the

seventh in direct line from Rev. George Phillips, the

first minister in Watertown, Mass., who came to

America from England in 1630. His opportunities

for an education were few, but he improved what he

had. He attended district school only winters, and

when there was no school in his own district he went

to andther near by. In those days a fire-place

occupied the greater part of one end of the room, and

four-foot logs were rolled in without being split.

During the summer of his eighteenth year he worked

in Massachusetts, and in the winter of 1845 he ob-

tained his last schooling. But his education did not

end there. He has always been a great reader, giving

especial attention to history and science. Natural

Science is his hobby and he never tires of studying the

works of the great naturalists. His strong application

and his retentive memory have stored his mind with

knowledge,' 80 that he may, without doubt, be classed

among the best of self-educated men.

While at home in Maine, Mr. Jletcalfhad worked

chiefly at coopering, but at the age of twenty-one he

came to Massachusetts. Arriving at. Boston in the

morning, he at once set out by stage for Franklin,

where he was to work duiing the summer. He
reached his destination at night, not having eaten

anything since he left the schooner in the morning,

for he was afraid that he miglit want his only remain-

ing si.v-pence for some other purpose. The next two

years he spent in a cooper-shop in Smithfield, R. I.

Mr. Metcalf obtained his first e.'cperience in wood-

working when he was cmiiloyed by Milton Whiting,

in his saw and grist-mill, llnionville, Franklin. Here

he worked for seventeen dolhtrs a month, laboring at

least fifteen hours a day. The ne.\t year 1850, he

took charge of the business himself, and hired the mill

for four years. In 1855 he hired part of the mill
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belonRing to Peter Whiting. The upper part was

u»ed for milking *hoiidy aiid cottou batting, but in the

lower rtlory -Mr. Metcalf sawed logs and made the

jKtardH ii(. into boxes tliat were used for straw-goods,

bot.U and shoes. Many places in thi.t vicinity were

supplied from this mill. In 1S66 he bought the

Luther Korkwood I'arin in Uollistou for $2600, and

moved his family there.

Farming, however, didn't agree with him, or rather

he didn't like fanning, so the r.e.xt year he traded the

farm for the mill and house that he now owns in Ash-

land. At this time he was worth about $4000.

The original dam at this place was built by John

Cloyes about 1835. It was eighteen inches high,

and the power obtained was only sulBcient to run a

turning-lathe and a grind-stone. Later a mortising

nuichine was put in. and sash and blinds were manu-

factured. In 1844, Cloves sold out to Daniel White,

who the next year conveyed it to Henry Bacon. In

1847 it came into possession of H. F. Goodale, of

•Marlboro", who let it to Micah B. Priest, also of

Marlboro'. It was with Mr. Priest that Mr. Metcalf

exchanged his farm in 1857, and became owner of the

mill where he has since carried on the manufacture

of boxes, and gradually increased the business.

During the war this mill always had plenty to do,

because there was always a supply of lumberon hand,

and customers could be sure of prompt attention to

their orders.

Adjoining the mill is a small shop where for about

five years kegs were made for Emery Mills, then

situated in the eastern part of the town. Nearly all

of the towns in this vicinity have at one time or

another been furnished with boxes, as South Framing-

ham, Natick, Hollistou and Westboro'. The quality

of box furiii-hed has always been first-class, and

orders are quickly filled.

In 1S70 a new and larger mill was built in place of

the old one in such a way that only a few hours were

lost in changing from the one to the other. The new

mill is 44xGl feet, with two ells each 24 feet square.

The attic is used for storing boxes and lumber,

the second story is given up to the manufacture of

boxes, the ground floor is used chiefly for planing,

while in the ba.senient are the water-wheels and the

engine, the latter necessary through the increased

business. The engine is of twenty-five horse power. A
stone boiler-house has been built behind the mill, and

a large chimney constructed. Two years ago a stone

dam was built in the place of the old wooden one.

New and improved machinery has been added, and

recently a large tank and automatic sprinklers have

been introduced for protection against fire. Over two

milion feet of lumber is used annually, and $30,000

worth of boxes were sold. From 1871-75 the manu-
facture of flocks was carried on in addition to the

box business, while the stones for grinding grain

were left out of the new mill.

Mr. Metcalf has been twice married—first, May 30,

1860, to Harriet H. Vose, and second, to Harriet M.

Makepeace, October 11. 1859. By his first marriage

he has three children ; by his second, seven. His

services to the town have been many and varied. He
has been measurer of firewood, highway surveyor,

overseer of the poor, assessor and School Committee.

For nine years he was one of the trustees of Wild-

wood Cemetery, and on the Board of Selectmen he has

served six years. He has been one of the trustees of

the Methodist Church since its beginning, having

also been one of the building committee. He is also

a member of the Masonic Order.

In 1877 he took a trip to California, being gone two

months. He visited Santa Barbara, Ventura, Log

Angeles and the Yosemite Valley. The valley is en-

tered by two routes from Merced—the Mariposa and

Coulterville. Mr. Metcalf went in by one of these'

routes and came out by the other, traveling over four

hundred miles by stage. He was one of a party of

eight who, with a guide, took mustangs and rode out

to the Mariposa Grcve of Big Trees. He brought

home with him agreat many curiosities, most of them

illustrative of his favorite study—natural science

These now fill a large cabinet in his home and are

with much interest shown to all his guests.

In 1881 he lost a part of his left hand in a planer.

It was ciit oft' below the wrist. Being a temperate

man the wound soon healed, and in a week he was out

to the mill to look after his business. He retains the

use of his wrist and the amount of work he can do,

though maimed, is surprising. While on the Board of

Selectmen he was zealous in suppressing the liquor

traflic.

He has always been a hard worker and a careful

planner. Though he has lost considerably in business

accommodations, he has never failed to meet his own

obligations, and by personal supervision and strict at-

tention to business he has built up the large manufac-

tory he now controls.

CHAELES TAFT ALDRICH.

The ancestors of Mr. Aldrich were Englishmen,

some of whom came early to America, settling in

Rhode Island, near the site of the present enterpris-

ing town of Woonsocket. The grandfather of the

subject of this sketch was Isaac Aldrich, one of the

pioneers in woolen manufacturing in New England

and engaged in it soon after Samuel Slater introduced

cotton machinery at Pawtucket.

Charles, son of Isaac, born in Rhode Island in

1815, married Abigail K. Taft, of Uxbridge, in 1842.

They had eight children, of whom Charles T. is the

oldest, who was born in Millbury, Mass., April 12,

1845. His childhood and youth were passed in com-

pany with his brothers and sisters at the home of his

parents. When about four years old he met with an

accident which resulted in a lameness for life. It

was thought his lameness would prevent his taking
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any part in the business in which many of this t'ani-

ily had been engaged, so thai alter leaving the gram-

mar school he attended the High School with the in-

tention of fitting for college. During this stjige of

preparation for the higher degrees of learning the

desire to learn the business of nianulacturing fre-

quently showed itself. He tinally decided to waive

the college course and master the details of woolen

manufacture. To do so he entered a woolen-niiil in

which his father, Charles, was a superintendent, and

there learned the business, and in 18(52 went to Hell-

inghara, Mass., and there commenced the manufacture

(if flannels with his father. In this business he was

>'iiccessful until 18GS, when the mill was burne<l, eii-

t:iiling much loss. He then went to Kansas with the

intention of farming on a large scale, but the great

drouth of 1869 put an end to his eftbrts in this direc-

tion. Leaving Kansas, he went into Arkansas and

built a Hour-mill in the vicinity of " Pea Ridge," a

location made memorable by the great battle fought

there during the War of the liebellion. Owing to

illness caused by the climate, he returned to New
England in 1871, and commenced the manufacture of

horse blankets in Worcester. This business was very

profitable, owing to his using material that had not

been utilized before, and also to the prevalence of the

" epizootic " distemper among horses that year, which

created an unusual demand. In 1873 Mr. Aldrich

settled in Ashland, where he commenced the manu-

facture of satinets and blankets for the New York
market. This manufacturing seems likely to'continue

in the family, as his oldest son, Charles T., Jr., is engaged

in the same business in a mill in Worc^'ster County>

and the other sons are with their father at home. Mr.

Aldrich married Emma G., daughter of Smith Aldrich,

of Blackstoue, in 1864, and from this union there are

Charles T. Jr., born July 19, 1866; Henry A., born

March 31, 1868; Louis H., born November 4, 1870,

and Alice M., born June 11, 1873. Mrs. Aldrich died

November 23, 1889, deeply mourned by her family

and friends. Mr. Aldrich is a Methodist in religion

and a Republican in politics. Although interested in

public matters, he has avoided political offices and at-

tended closely to his business and built up a pietty

home and village about his mills. Mr. Aldrich has

recently sustained a severe loss in the burning of his

mill buildings, October 7, 1890. This water privilege,

situated on the Sudbury River, is a very valuable one,

and the mills will be rebuilt, unle.ns the city of Bos-

ton shall decide to take the water, a project now
under discussion.

Mr. Aldrich is a specimen of robust manhood from

which the lameness of his childhood does not seem to

detract, and belongs to the class of New Englauders

known as self-made and successful.

ELIAS GEODT.

The subject of this sketch is a descendant in the

sixth generation of Captain John Grout, the famous

miller of Sudbury, who came to this country as early

as 1638. His father, Elias, Sr., was born in Medlield,

but settled in Sherborn, and in 1801 removed to the

south part ot Framingham. He served in the Revo-

lutionary War, was a "minute-man" from Sherborn

in 1775, and was in the battle of Hunker Hill.

Elias, Jr., the youngest son of Elias, Sr., and his

wife, Eleanor (Dadmun), was born June 3, 18U).

He received a good education at the Framingham
and Leicester Academies, and was a successful teacher

in the cpmmon schools for many years. At the in-

corporation of Ashland, in 1846, his farm was in-

cluded in the new town, which has honored him with

most of the offices within her gift. He was repre-

sentative in the Legislature of 1853, selectman,

assessor, overseer of the poor, school committee for

many successive years.

Being raised upon a farm he has ever taken an

intelligent interest in agriculture; was president of

the Middlesex South Agricultural Society, 1861-62,

and a member of theState Board, 1863-65.

Mr. Grout has often been intrusted with public and
per.^onal matters, where carefulne.ss, integrity and
sound judgment were required. In 1862 he was sent

to England by the .Jennings Heirs Association, to in-

vestigate their claims to the great William Jennings

estate there. After a careful iiKpiiiy and search of the

archives of the Library of the British Museum, Doc-

tors' Commons, Chancery Courts, Government State

Paper Office, and other sources, he reported to his

associates that no claim of real or .sujiposcd heirs in

America could be sustained—a conclusion fully con-

6rraed by agents since employed.

In 1865, Mr. Grout was engaged by H. J. Sargent

and other heirs of the distinguished James Swan, for-

merly of Boston, to go to Charleston, West Virginia,

to examine into the legal status of the vast tracts

purchased by said Swan in the last century, 1780-

1790. On this trip, in May, ls65, he met a son of

the late Josiah Randall, trustee of certain French

claimants to these lands, and the following winter he

was employed by Mr. Randall, and spent three

months e-xploring the lands in question, and examin-

ing the records in some fifteen counties—reporting in

writing to Mr. Randall in Philadelphia.

After disposing of his farm, Mr. Grout engaged in

the cotton business from 1867 to 1882, with head-

quarters at Kingston, N. C. Since then he has

enjoyed the quiet of his pleasant home and family.

He married Nov. 21, 1839, Harriet Fiske, daughter

of Richard and Betsey Fiske, of Framingham, a

lady of good education, rare beauty of person and
excellence of character. Their children were : Charles

Muzzey, born October 24, 1840, lost at sea off Bahama
Islands, October 3, 1864 ; Channing Fiske, born July

24, 1842, married, first, Carrie P. Tilton, second, Sarah
Jones ; merchant, Ashland ; Edgar Folkii, born

December 24, 1845, owner of cattle ranch, Wyoming;
Mary Rowland, born May 7, 1850, married Samuel
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E. Poole, deceased, of Ashland. She has one son,

Cbarltnt li. I'oole, born June 18, 1870.

< liAia.i.- HENIIY TILTON.'

The Tilton llunily are of Kuglish origin, and Abra-

huni Tilton wii» the first to t-inignite to America, com-

ing with the colony of one hnndred ami twenty Eng-

liHh and Scotch liimilies, which arrived in Boston in

1718. John Morse, who was the maternal ancestor

of the Tiltons, also came over with this colony.

.Vmong this band of sturdy settlers are to be found

the names of many who, as pioneer settlers, laid the

foundations of what have since become prosperous

towns and villages in New Hampshire, Maine and

Massachusetts. Abraham Tilton joined his fortunes

with that portion of the colony (eighteen families)

which settled Hopkiuton, and where to this day are

to be found worthy representatives of that name. In

the fourth generation from Abraham was Leonard^

the father of the subject of this sketch. Leonard was

born in Hopkinton, October 7, 1800. Catherine H.

Morse, the wife of Leonard, was born in Dummerston,

Vermont, January 7, 180G. They had six children,

the lirst-born being Charles Henry, who was born

November 30, 1829. His parents are both deceased,

his father June 11, 1841, and his mother September

13, 1877. When Charles H. was three years old the

family moved to Bennington, Vermont, and here he

remained until the death of his father. It was here

that his school-days w'ere passed, his educational ad-

vantages being such as were afforded by the district

schools of the Green Mountain State. On the death

of his father, who left but a very limited estate,

Charles, whose assistance in the support of the family

was needed, left school and with the family removed

to that part of Hopkinton now Ashland, where

Charles entered a shoe-shop and for a number of

years, by prudence and close attention to all details

in the manufacture of boots and shoes, not only be-

came well-versed in the business, but also became an

important factor in the family economy. At the

age of twenty-one, being di.-satisfied at the prevailing

rate of wages paid to competent and skilled operators,

Charles started in a small way for himself, his first

case of boots (which were children's red topped boots)

being made from stock supplied on credit by a Boston

leather merchant, who was a shrewd observer of young

men and knew the value to such, of a kind word and

kindly assistance ; nor was young Tilton's case the

only one where Hon. Lee Claflin gave timely assist-

ance by allowing credit to such as could bring the

collateral inherent in an honest face. Mr. Tilton

was successful in his business undertakings, and
gradually worked his way up to an enviable promi-

nence in this great New England industry, establish-

ing himself in one of the finest and best-appointed

^ Contributed,

shoe factories in the Commonwealth, it being known

all over this section of the country as " the model

boot and shoe factory," which was built by him on

his own land, of which he had bought some one hun-

dred a(Tes, erectiug thereon some forty dwellings,

laying out streets and, with his own hands, setting out

shade and fruit trees, thus making it the most beauti-

ful section of Ashland. October 1, 1850, Mr. Tilton

married Caroline M., daughter of Henry and Myra

C. (Coggins) Babcock, who has borne him two chil-

dren—Jennie M., May 23, 18li0, and Charles H., Jr.,

November 30, 1862. Jennie M. was married, May 25,

1888, to Rev. Carey F. Abbott, of Nashua, N. H.,and

they have one child, Ilutb Tilton, born November 2(5,

1889. In politics Mr. Tilton has been a thorough-

going Republican since that party was first organized.

While avoiding political office, he has in town affairs

been efficient and useful, being for a number of years

on the Board of Selectmen and for four years its chair-

man, also a member of the Board of Assessors, justice

of the peace, a director in the South Framingham

National Bank and president of the Middlese.x South

Agricultural Society.

He retired from the boot and shoe business in 1886.

Mr. Tilton is a lover of the horse, as is also Charles

H., Jr., and has some fine specimens in his commo-

dious stables at Ashland. He is also a breeder of fine

cattle, and his opinion on matters relating to the

breeding and care of stock is quite professional.

.\s a citizen, Mr. Tilton is upright and law-abiding;

is a contributor to the support of the Congregational

Church ; is well-informed on the general topics of the

times, and with easy fortunes is taking a good share

of that happiness and contentment which should go

hand in hand with merited success in one's life work.

J. NEWTON PIKE.

Says an old philosopher, "All men, whatever their

condition, who have done anything of value ought to

record the history of their lives." Eventful periods

occur at rare intervals in the lives of men the most

distinguished, but even in their more retired walks of

private life there are few whose lives are not marked

by some vicissitudes of fortune, which, however

trivial they may seem, are yet sufficient to excite

great interest.

The events which give the highest interest to biog-

raphy are of a volatile and evanescent nature and are

soon forgotten. It is the part of th* biographer to

collect these passing events and fix them indelibly

upon the pages of jjistory, that succeeding genera-

tions may know how their predeces.sors lived, what

ideas governed them, what trials and difficulties they

encountered and how they overcame them, and even

their domestic relations, for all these teach a lesson

that will be serviceable by pointing out what paths

led to success, and what roads are to be avoided as

leading to failure.
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There is none so humble tluit his life can fail to

be an object of interest when viewed in the right

light. How much more will this interest be enhanced

when we contemplate the life of a man who, by his

I own heroic struggles, has hewn out his own pathway

to success and compelled the fates to grant him his

reward. Most certainly one who by his own ellort-s

has attained allluence and social position, and ihriiugh

all the changing events of life has preserved his in-

tegrity unimpaired, is deserving the pen of the

historian.

Such a man is the subject of this sketch. He was

born .\ugust 24, 18"24, in that part of the town of

Ho])kintnii, Mass., which is now incorporated in the

town of Ashland. Here, too, his father, Benjamin,

was born, and his grandfather, Jonathan, lived for

many years. The latter was a minute-man, and par-

ticipated in the famous battles of Hunker Hill and

Ticonderoga. At the former engagement he stood

within a few feet of the immortal Warren when he

received his death-wound.

J. Newton Pike was one of four children and spent

his youth at his father's home, enjoying the school

privileges of his time, viz., twelve weeks in the winter,

and twelve weeks in the summer, at the district

school. These opportunities he improved to the

best possible advantage until the spring of his

thirteenth year, when, his father's health being poor,

the boy was obliged to give up the summer term and

assist in earning a livelihood for himself and the

balance of the family.

In the suinmer of his fifteenth year he went away
from home to work on a farm, returning in the au-

tumn and attending the winter school. At twenty-

one, through the kindness of a friend who loaned

him the necessary funds, young Pike attended the

autumn term of the Hoj)kinton Academy, and during

the winters of the nest four years taught school, be-

ing employed on a farm during the summer months

of '46 and '47, and in the track department of the

Boston & Albany Railroad during the summers of '48

and '49. In '50 he was placed in charge of a force of

men in this department on this railroad, and contin-

ued therein until October, ISOO, when he resigned

this position, and accejjted that of clerk in the office

of the Emery Works of Charles Alden, where he re-

mained until 1875. These works were merged into

the Washington Mills Emery Manufacturing Com-
pany, of which corporation he w.as chosen clerk. In

'74 this plant was purchased by the Vitrified Wheel
and Emery Company, and Mr. Pike was made fore-

man of the emery department of the business, retain-

ing that position unti"! in '78 the city of Boston pos-

sessed itself of the Sudbury River, for a part of its

water supply, which permanently closed the manufac-

ture of these goods in this section. Superintendent W.
H. Birnes, of the Boston & Albany Railroad, learn-

ing of Mr. Pike's release from service with this com-

pany, tendered him the position of station-agent at

Ashland, which position he accepted and has occupied

constantly ever since.

In 18C0 Mr. Pike was elected a member of the

Board of Selectmen for the town of Ashland. The
War of the Rebellion breaking out, he distinguished

himself by his devotion to his country's (lag, and his

services in raising troops, and in assisting the families

ot soldiers, caused his townsmen to elect him chair-

man of the board in 18t)2, which position he filled for

six years with great credit to himself, and to the gen-

eral satisfaction of his townsmen.

In 1871 he was elected Representative from the

Filteentli Representative District, consisting of the

towns of Ashland and Hopkinton, and in 1872 was

sent to the Senate from the Fifth Senatorial District,

consisting of the towns of Newton, Natick, Framing-

ham, Ashland, Sherborn, Wayland, Weston, Hol-

listou and Hopkinton.

In 1871, Mr. Pike was appointed trial justice by

His E-Kcellency, William ChUlin, (xovernor of the

Commonwealih, which position he continued to fill

until the establishment of the district courts. He
has also served repeatedly as member of the School

Committee, and overseer of the poor.

Jlay 12, 1851, Mr. Pike married Martha, daughter

of Josiah and Martha Burnham,—a fortunate union,

for Mrs. Pike proved to be a true helpmeet in the

fullest sense of the word, and has, by her wise coun-

sel, ready hand and abiding faith, helped to win the

victories of life. And now, as the twilight approaches

and the shadows are falling toward the east, together

they look back to that May morning with feelings

of gratitude that life has yielded them so much of its

joys and comforts.

Two children have blessed this union—Edgar A.,

born May 16, 1864, and died June 19, 1865 ; Willie

B., born April 18, 1866. He married Angy, daughter

of George and Jane Boutilier, November 9, 1887, and

lives with his parents.

Another member of the family who has been as one

of their own children to Mr. and Mrs. Pike is Mollie

E. Burnham, born October 8, 1869, and whose parents

died when she was six years old, since which time

she has been a member of Mr. Pike's family.

Mr. Pike was made a Mason at Framingham, and

was one of the charter members of North Star Lodge
of this town at its institution.

In 1870, with his wife, he united with the Method-

ist Church, and has been one of its trustees ever

since, and for the past ten years superintendent of its

Sabbath-school.

Modest and retiring in his manner, upright and

honorable in his business transactions, loyal to his

friends, conscientious in the discharge of his life

duties, he has won the esteem and respect of all who
knew him, and life has been crowned with a gener-

ous degree of success. May he long live to enjoy the

same.
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CIIAI'IEK XLl.

EVERETT.

BY DUDLEY P. BAILEY.

TiiK lown of Everett, formerly known aa South

Malilcn, WHS iiRi>r|ii>riited MurcL 9, 1870, and named

ill honor of Kdward Everett. It coutuiiis a territo-

rial area of about 23'>5 acres, lying between the

Myatiu River on the south (separating it from Boston

and Charlestown), Medford on the west, (Maiden

Kiver forming the boundary), the city of Maiden

on the north, CheWea and Revere on the east, Island

End River forming the boundary for a part of the

distance.

A tongue of land, extending on both sides of Broad-

way, from Mystic River nearly to Mystic Street, con-

taining the old Charlestown Almshouse, belongs to

and is under the jurisdiction of the city of Boston.

.Vbiiut five hundred acres, in the southwesterly por-

tion of the town, consist of salt marsh, and the whole

of that section is hut little above tide-water, hut from

the Eastern Division of the Boston and Maine Rail-

road, and the Saugus Branch, the land gradually rises

toward the northeast, reaching an altitude of 133 feet

above mean low water on Belmont Hill, and 175 feet

above mean low water on Mount Washington, which

last is the highest point of land in town. Between

these two hills runs a narrow valley, broadening into

extensive meadows, as it stretches northwesterly to

Maiden. On the easterly side of this valley rises

Corbett Hill, from the summit of which the land

slopes gently northeasterly to the Maiden line. The
greater proportion of the town is not more than fifty

feet above mean low water.

The general shape of the town approaches the form

of an ellipse, its longest axis running northeast and

southwest. Its greatest length is about two and one-

half miles
i

its greatest breadth about one and three-

quarters miles. The number of acres taxed in 1890

was 1810.

About one hundred acres in the northeasterly por-

tion of the town are occupied by Woodlawn Cemetery,

one of the most beautiful in the vicinity of Boston.

Between 1.50 and 200 acres are occupied bystreets and
ways, and a considerable portion consists of water

surface.

Of Everetl's geology, Nason's "Gazetteer of Massa-
chusetts," says :

" The geological formation is upper
conglomerate, drift and the St. John's Group. The
soil is sandy loam in some parts; in others clayey."

This last feature is found almost uniformly on the

high lands. Clay land suitable for the manufacture
of bricks is also found on the lowlands not far above
tide-water.

There are about 1100 to 1200 acres suitable for

building. Some of the best building land is compris-
ed in the strip of territory southwest of Belmont Hill

and Mt. Washington, and just above the railroad ex-

tending from Chelsea to Maiden. The soil in this

tract is composed for the most part of a sandy loam,

with a sub-stratum of gravel.

Farming is carried on to a limited extent, mostly in
i

the form of market gardening. The number of farms

in ISSS was forty. The aggregate value of their pro-

ducts was $GG,07G, the largest items being milk, $19,-

955; green-house products, $12,520; vegetables, $13,-

577. The total value of the agricultural property

was $460,925. Of the taxable area, 940 acres, accord-

ing to the census of 1885, were devoted to agricultural

pursuits, of which 350 acres were cultivated, and 390

acres uncultivated, the latter including 12 acres of

woodland.

The number of manufacturing establishments in

1885 was forty-four, of which two were corporations

having eighteen stockholders, and forty-two private

firm.s, with fifty-eight partners and members. The
total capital invested was .fl, 129,698, of which *00,400

were invested in buildings and fixtures, and $127,070

in machinery. The value of stock was $878,010; the

value of goods made, and work done, was $1,490,795

;

the number of employees was 717 ; the amount of

wages paid, $304,270 ; the aggregate number of day's

work performed was 11,880 out of a possible 13,500

—

an average of 208 working days for the year, leaving

13 per cent, of lost time. The oldest branch of manu-

factures is that of bricks, oue establishment in this

branch dating from the year 1795. Of the total manu-
factured product, bricks, building materials and stone

work represented $803,454; clothing and straw goods,

$33,941 ; iron goods, 100,000; oils, paints, colors and

chemicals, $492,497. The fire losses by the different

manufactories for the ten years ending June 30, 1885,

were $140,750.

Everett ranked in 1885 as the seventy-eighth town

in the Commonwealth in regard to its manufacturing

products, and the one hundred and fifty-first in regard

to the product of each individual.

The principal manufacturing establishment in

Everett is that of the Cochrane Chemical Company,

consisting of several large buildings, occupying thir-

teen acres of land and employing about 140 hands.

The business was begun by Alexander Cochrane at

Maiden in 1858. On his death, in 1805, he was suc-

ceeded by his .sons, Alexander and Hugh Cochrane.

In 1872 they purchased the establishment in Everett,

founded in 1808 by the New England Chemical Com-
pany with a capital of $300,000, this company having

been financially unsuccessful. After purchasing the

works of the New England Chemical Company,

Messrs. A. and H. Cochrane erected two new build-

ings, doubled the capacity of the works and made
Everett the principal theatre of their manufacturing

operations. The building west of the Eastern Rail-

road was burned in 1882, but has since been rebuilt.

The company manufactures acids aud other chemicals,

chiefly sulphuric, muriatic, nitric and other acids.

The Union Stone Company was established in 1869
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and formerly carried on quite a biisinees, employing

about forty hands in the manufacture of emery wheels

and emery wheel machinery for grinding and polish-

ing. The works were burned in 1881, and though

they were rebuilt the company apparently never re-

covered from the blow. In 1889 it failed and in

March last its works, consisting of a factory and

71,000 feet of land, were sold at auction.

The Waters Governor Works, established by Mr.

Charles Waters for the purpose of manufacturing

steam-engine governors on a patent issued to Mr.

Waters January 3, 1871, were located in Everett,

about eight years ago in a building formerly owned

by Heivey Waters and designed by him for a scythe

factory. Mr. Charles Waters died in 18S0, and Mr.

Edward Dewey purchased the business and on April

27, 1882, became owner of the factory at Everett,

where he shortly after commenced manufacturing

operations, which were continued by himself and Mr.

R. B. Lincoln, under the firm-name of Edward Dewey
& Co., until the death of Mr. Dewey, April 9, 1890.

Since that time the business has been carried on by

Mr. Lincoln, the surviving partner. The establish-

ment employs from forty to fifty hands and manu-
factures from 2500 to 4000 steam governors 'annually.

In November, 1888, Messrs. O. J. Faxon & Co.

started, in one of the buildings connected with the

works, a foundry which manufactures castings for the

governor works and piano plates.

The furniture factory now owned and operated by

Charles H. Bangs was originally established by Mr.

Geo. D. Otis in 1885 for the manufacture of chamber
furniture. The establishment was purchased by Mr.

Bangs in March, 1888, and is now devoted to the

manufacture of drug-store interiors, for which Everett

has the largest establishment of its kind in the world.

The business was begun by Mr. Bangs in the latter

part of the year 1885. The idea originated with Mr.

Bangs of making such work in sectional form for con-

venience in shipment and adaptability to different

situations or locations. This method has become very

popular on account of the quality of the work that

can be produced by being able to concentrate the re-

quired workmen upon a single specialty. The enter-

prise has grown from a very modest beginning to one

of large proportions, Mr. Bangs having in his em-

ploy at the pre.sent time between eighty aud ninety

employees, including a great many different trades,

such as designers, draughtsmen, carvers, show-case

makers, glass-grinders, metal-workers, silver-platers,

millmen, cabinet-makers, glass-stainers, etc. Besides

these several men are employed for setting up the

work, which is now being shipped to every part of

the United States, and several the past year have been

exported. The present output of the establishment

is at the rate of nearly a quarter of a million per

year, and the demand seems to be rapidly increasing.

Many of the finest drug-stores in the country are the

product of these factories.

37-iii

Stephen H. Kimball's factory was originally estab-

lished for the manufacture of children's carriages in

1875. The factory was partially burned January 29,

1879, but was afterwards rebuilt and enlarged. The
establishment is now devoted mainly to the manu-
facture of invalid chairs and athletic goods.

In 1881 White, Wiley & Co. established a varnish

factory near the Chelsea line. The firm dissolved

January, 188;i, and the factory in lOverett was trans-

ferred to Messra. Wiley & Richardson, who carried on

the business until April, 1888, when Mr. Benj. J.

Richardson, one of the original firm, became sole pro-

prietor. No information hits been furnished in re-

gard to its operations.

Though not coming within line of manufacturing

business, the sale of spring water has assumed pro-

portions which entitle it to mention as one of the im-

portant industries of Everett. Everett or South Mai-

den spring water has from time iuimemorial been noted

for its excellent (pialities. The first systematic at-

tempt to make it an article of merchandize was made
by the Everett Spring Water Co. in 1881, when they

purchased the land at the junction of Ferry aud
Chelsea Streets, andsoon after established a plant in-

cluding the present Everett Spring House. They have

since done an extensive business in the sale of Everett

Spring Water.

The Belmont Hill Spring, owned by the Belmont
Hill Water Co., enjoys a deservedly high reputation,

and the water from this supply commands a large

sale.

The Glendale Springs, operated by S. G. Bennett,

are of more recent d.ate.

A large proportion of the residents of the town are

engaged in business in Boston. The population

of the town, according to the census of 1890, is 11,04.3,

as compared with 2220, May 1, 1870. The valuation

of the town May 1, 1890, was $7,889,650, of which $7,

451,300 was real estate and $438,350 personal property.

The assessed valuation of real estate is divided as fol-

lows :—Land, $3,355,9.50; buildings, $4,095,350.

The number of dwelling-houses May 1, 1890 was
2225, as compared with 414 in 1870. The total tax-

ation for the State, county and town pur()oses in 1890

was $120,585.92, and the rate $14.50 on the $1000. Ofthe
total population of 5825 shown by the census of 1885,

4610 were native-born aud 1215 of foreign birth. Of
the native-born, 3253 were born in Massachusetts, 637
in Maine, 313 in New Hampshire, 116 in New York,
and 92 in Vermont. Of the foreign-born, 436 were
born in Ireland, 463 in the British Provinces, 173 in

England and Scotland. As to civil condition, 3012
were single, 2503 married, 299 widowed aud 11 di-

vorced.

As Everett was originally a part of Maiden, its 'his-

tory grows out of that of the parent town, ofwhich it is

a continuation. The history of South Mjilden there-

fore first demands notice.

The whole town of Maiden was originally included.
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by Tirtue of a grant in 1638, within the territorial

liniita of C'liivrlogtown, the o.mitry north of Mystic

River beiiitc known im "Mystic Side" or "Mystic

Fit'ltl." The exiict diite of the first settlement is not

known, hut iis early iw U'>:i'.», Itii'l'li Spragno, who in

the iToieilinj; year liail lanili'ii :il .Suleiii, and taken

up his resilience at Oharle.stown, willi his two brothers

Kiehtinl ami William, passed over and explore*! lliu

country on Mystic Side, which they found an " un-

couth wil.lerness," full of" stately timber," inhabited

by a remnai>t of the once powerful tribe of Pawtuc-

kcts, under the rule of an Indian chief called Saga-

more John, who dwelt at iteacham I'oirit, now the

Van Voorhis esUitc.

His tribe had been under the leadership of the

Sachem Nanapashemct, who was killed in 1619.

.\fter his death his widow, the Squaw Sachem, estab-

lished her authority over the tribe, and among the

curiosities to be found at tlie Middlesex liegistry of

Deeds la a grant from the Squaw Sachem of a large

territory in the vicinity, probably including the ter-

ritory of Maiden and of several adjoining towns,

dated in 1639.

In 1().'!4 an allotment of land was made to the seve-

ral inhabitants of the tract, afterwards known as the

Five Acres Lot, bounded by the line running from

the Powder Horn Hill to the North or Maiden River;

and the Charlestown IJook of Possessions, as early as

l(i38, shows allotments of numerous tracts on the

Mystic Side, within the territorial limits of Everett.

Penny Ferry was established where Maldeu Bridge

now is in 1G40, and it continued to exist until the

opening of the bridge in 1787. The road to the ferry,

according to Corey's " History of Maiden," lay near the

edge of the marshes, between the burying-ground and

Mystic River, in part coinciding with Bow and Main

Streets.

So far as known, the earliest settlers in what is now

Everett, were William Sargent, described as a " godly

Christian," in 1643 or earlier ; Thomas Whittemore,

near Chelsea line. 1645 or earlier ; Thomas Caule, at

the Ferry, as early as 1643 ; Deacon John Upham, in

1650, apparently in what is now West Everett; Peter

Tutts, between 1638 and 1640. He kept the Penny
Ferry, where Maiden Bridge now is, in 1646. William

Bucknam, the ancestor of a long line of prominent

citizens of Maiden, appears as a purchaser of real es-

tate as early as 1649, and was certainly a resident at

Mystic Side prior to 1664. The old house supposed

to have been erected by him was, until about a dozen

years ago, occupied by our veteran fireman, Joseph

Swan, one of his descendants, and stood on the site of

Mr. Swan's present residence. Portions of this edifice

are still standing near the spot. It is among the old-

est buildings in town, if not the oldest.

By act of the Court of Assistants passed May 16,

1849, O. S., " Upon the petition of the Mystick Side

men they are granted to be a distinct Towne, and the

name thereof to be called Mauldon." The boundary

between Charlestown and the new town appears to

have been established on a line running from near

Powder Horn Hill in a northwesterly direction to

the North (now Maiden) Itiver, and Stei)hen Fosdick,

Thomas Whittemore, William Sargent and Richard

Pratt arc mentioned as abutters thereon.

The portion still remaining within the limits of

Charlestown included all the southwesterly |)orti(m

of Everett, and must have corresponded nearly with

what was afterwards the Southwest School District,

though including a somewhat smaller area. Judging

from references in ancient deeds, tlie line, which

passed through the Bucknam farm would extend

from southeast to northwest, some distance southerly

from Nichols, High and Hancock Streets. The ex-

act location cannot now be given.

These territorial arrangements continued until

1726, when the remaining territory of Charlestown

north of the Mystic River was annexed to the town

of Maiden except a small strip of land at I'enny

Ferry, which has been mentioned before as still be-

longing to the city of Boston.

Steps had been taken to effect a separation from

Charlestown as early as 1721. It appears from the

Maiden town records that " At A General Town
meting jn maiden on ye second of June 1721, .Tohn

pratt moderator, It was putt To vote to se wher This

Toun will Joine with our Charlestown naightb<iur» jn

petitioning To ye Generall Court for Ther coming off

from Charlestown to be one Township with maiden

according To ye warrant. And ye vote passed on the

Afirmative. And That is all yt dwell on ye north

side of mistick River up To maiden line; and from

boston line To medford line." Chelsea was then a

part of Boston and so remained until 1738.

On account of the opposition of Charlestown the

separation was not consummated until 1726, when it

was eftected in answer to the petition of Joses Buck-

nam, Jacob Wilson and Jonathan Birrett. The tract

thus set off comprised about one-half of the present

town of Everett, and thirty- four years later, in 1760, it

was inhabited by thirty families.

South Maiden had always been separated in some

measure by natural geographical features from the

rest of the town by the Great Swamp, extending from

the Chelsea line westerly so that a comparatively

narrow strip of habitable territory connected the

south with the rest of the town. The southerly part

had not been long annexed to Maiden before they

began to desire separation.

The immediate occasion for this movement was the

re-location of the meeting-house at the Centre, which,

by an order of the General Court, made August 4,

1729, was to be placed where the Universalist Church

now stands, instead of on the old site at or near Bell

Rock. The location of this meeting-house gave rise

to a very bitter controversy between the north and

the south parts of the town. The new meeting-house

was occupied for the first time August 16, 1730, and
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on the 13th of September following, the people on

the smith side held their first separate meeting for

public worship. In ]7.'W tliey appear to have erected

a house of worship on what is now Belmont Hill, on

the lot now occupied hy Hawes Atwood as a resi-

dence, at the corner of High Street and Broadway.

The lot for the church was given by .Tonathan Sar-

gant, a worthy descendant of the "godly Ciiristian"

before mentioned, " in consideration of the love,

good-will and affection that I have for and do bear

for the Christian people that inhabit in the south part

of Maiden, and for the propagation of the Gospel

among them," and " for the erecting of a new meeting-

house in onler to the worshipping of God in the Con-

gregational way.'' His deed is dated August (!, 17.'U,

and tlie lot comprised a quarter of an acre and was

reached by a way twenty-six feet wide which led from

the highway.

A council of three churches met April 16, 1734,

and on the 18th embodied the South Church with

sixteen male members. On tlie 4th of September

following .lonatlian Sargant and Kbcnezer Upliam

were chosen ruling elders, and John Mudge, deacon.

Rev. Joseph Stimpson, of Charlestown, was settled as

pastor of this church September 24, 1735, and con-

tinued to serve, with some interruptions on account

of ill-health, until 1744, when he was dismissed.

The south part still remained by law an integral

part of Maiden pro;)er, but a movement had been in-

augurated some time before to have it incorporated as

a separate town or pi'ecinct, and at a public town-

meeting, held March 5, 1733, it was " voted that Jon-

athan Barrett, John Willson and Lieutenant Samuel

Bucknam to be ageants to appear at the Generall

Court the second Wednesday of the next Sessions to

act in behalf of the town of Maiden, referring to a

petition of Joses Bucknam, John Mudge, and sundery

other of the inhabitance of the Southerdly part

of said town, which petition is that the Generall

Court would set them of into a disstinct Township or

precinct, according to the bounds mentioned in said

petition."

At a town-meeting held May 17, 1736, "according

to the desire of Mr. Jonathan Sargant and others, it

was put to a vote to see if the town will set them of

with all the inhabitants and estates into a distinct

township or parrish by the bounds hereafter mentioned,

beginning at a stake and heep of stones in the marsh

by Molton's island, which is the station-line or

bounds between Boston and Maiden, and so as bos-

ton line runs to the creek where Boston line crosses

the creek in Capt. Oliver's farm, and from thence on

a strate line to pemberton's brook at the bridge,

and from the said bridge south and southwesterly as

the lane run.s to the end of hutchinson's lane, and

from thence on a strate line to sandy bank river, then

as the river runs to the mouth of it, and from the

mouth of the said river southeast as the grate river

runs to wormwood point, formerly so-called, [now

a part of the VanVoorhis estate] and from the said

point northeastwardly as the river runs to the first

station, with all there proportionable part of all there

ministerial lands belonging to the said town, and it

passed in the negative." These bounds would include

somewhat more than the present territory of Everett.

In 1737 the elforts of South Maiden for separation

were more successful, and by act of the General Court

passed December 27, 1737, the .south part of Maiden
was set oil" as a separate pari-sh by the lines prayed for

by the petitioners, "Saving that Samuel Bucknam,
,lohn Shute, James Hovey, James Green, Obadiah
Jenkins, Isaac Waite, Isaac Wheeler and Jonathan

Knower" were allowed to continue with the North
Precinct, so long as they, with their families, should

attend the public worship there.

From this time much of our knowledge of South

Maiden and of the men who were prominent in its

affairs for more than a hundred years later, is derived

from the records of the South Parish and South School

District.

The first precinct meeting was held January 23,

1738, at which Captain Samuel Green was chosen

moderator ; Thomas Waite (3d), clerk ; Captain

Samuel Green, Stower Sprague, Benjamin Blaney,

Samuel Stower, Joseph Willson, committee to call

precinct meetings.

At a meeting held March 13, 1738, a permanent or-

ganization was etllcted : Klder Jonathan Sargant,

moderator; Thomas Waite (3d), clerk; James Bar-

rett, Captain Samuel Green, Nathaniel Upham, John
Burditt, Joseph Willson, committee ; Lieut. Thomas
Burditt, Thomas Waite (3d), Stower S|>rague, Benja-

min Blaney, John Winslow, sissessors; .loses Buck-
nam, treasurer ; and Phinehas Sargant, collector.

A parish was a territorial corporation at that time,

and taxes were assessed for the support of public wor-

ship in the same manner as ordinary town taxes. The
assessors held their fii-st recorded meeting at the house

of Benjamin Blaney, now occupied by William J. Part-

ridge, June 9, 1738, and assessed a sum of seventy-five

pounds for the support of" ye ministry."

At a meeting of the South Precinct March 30, 1739,

"a vote was called for to see if ye Precinct would finish

ye school-house, and ye vote pased in ye negitive."

At a public meeting of the South Precinct in Mai-
den, May 8, 1739, voted, " To finish ye outeside of the

meeting-house."

The South Precinct maintained a troubled existence

of fifty-five years For about three years after the

departure of Mr. Stimpson they were without a pastor.

On April 2, 1747, Rev. Aaron Cleveland was called to

the pastorate at a salary of £360, "old tenor "—depre-

ciated paper-money, not worth twenty cents on the

dollar. Shortly after, on April 24, 1747, the South
Parish voted to raise £1200, old tenor, for the purpose
of providing a parsonage, and selected the tract of
land which, with eight acres added in 1749, is now
known as the "Sargent and Popkin Estate," on Main,
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I'rwo.U. Eviriu iuul Tremont Streets. The old par-

uomige limy «lill l>e «fen iit the corner of Jliiin aud

PnMcott Streets. Mr. Cleveland coninieiued his

labor* May 23, 1747, and continued to serve until

Nov., 1750. For somewhat more than a year Iroin

this time the parish was without a piifltor. On Oct.

U;, 1751. it ooiuurrtd with the church iu calling Rev-

Kliakini Willis as the precinct's minister, but the

negotiations for his settlement were comewhal pro-

tracted, and it was not until February 20, 11^,2, that

the terms wore definitely ti.xed, the salary to be £53

ti<. S</. specie value, use of the parsonage, enlarged

and repaired, and 18 cords of wood. Considerable

opptwilion wiu« developed by a portion of the parish,

who desired re-union with the North Precinct, which

now propoiicd to [>ull down the new nieeling-house and

remove it to its original site. These overtures were

rejected and Mr. Willis commenced his labore. The

atliiirs of the parish steadily declined from this time,

owing largely to internal discord and the withdrawal of

inlluential members. In 175S it proi)osed a re-union

with the North Parish, the united parish to maintain

two ministers to be paid from the town treasury, but the

North Parish acted upon these proposals " in the

negitive." On March 23, 1766, the South Precinct,

tiiiding itself unable longer to raise the money to pay

Mr. Willis hia salary, voted to convey to him its par-

sonage-house and land, 'on condition that he would

relinquish his civil contract and preach to them for

three years, the weekly contributions to belong

to the parish, and to be paid to Mr. Willis for

the purpose of extending the period of his service.

This parsonage estate remained in the hands of Mr.

Willis and of his devisees until 1870, when all of it

except the house-lot \v;is sold and cut up into build-

ing lots. At the end of the term for which he was

thus compensated, Mr. Willis, at the request of the

parish, engaged to continue the work of the ministry

for a free contribution. From March 27, 1775, to

June 5, 1787, through all the period of the Revolu-

tionary War, and for four years after, there is no

record of any parish meeting.

At the latter date, in consequence of dissensions in

the North Parish, growing out of the ministry of Rev.

Adoniram Judson, a considerable number of wealthy

members left the former and joined the South Pre-

cinct. With this seasonable reinforcement, the pros-

pects of the South Parish brightened. The then

dilapidated old meeting-house on Belmont Hill was

repaired, and for four years the parish enjoyed an era

of prosperity. On the dismission of Rev. Mr. Judson,

in 1791, the way was opened for a reconciliation

between the North and South Parishes.

At a meeting held January 12, 1792, the South

Parish accepted the terms of union reported by a

joint committee of the two parishes, and on February

23, 1792, after a separation of fifty-five years, the arti-

cles of union were confirmed by the General Court.

Rev. Mr. Willis became the pastor of the united

churches, and so continued until his death, though

with Rev. Aaron Green as colleague after September

25, 1795.

By the terms of the agreement it was stipulated

also that the Rev. Mr. Willis should be allowed to

preach in the South Meeting-house six Sabbaths a

year so long as be should continue able to administer

the sacrament to any of the then church.

The old meeting-house continued to stand for sev-

eral years longer, but was at length sold about the

year 1796. On December 10, 1800, we find the last

entry of a meeting of the South Parish, at which

meeting it was " Voted that the Money the Jleeting-

House was Sold for that Belonged to the .South Par-

ish in Maiden Should be as a fund in the bands of

the Treasurer of the South Difttrict upon Inlrcst so

long as the District Continues to be a District in the

South Part of Said Town and that the Intrest of that

Money be anualy be Laid out By the Said District

Comttee for the Benitit/)f the Schooling of the youth."

At this point we may notice a few of the prominent

citizens who were residents in this part of Maiden

during the latter ])art of the eighteenth and the early

part of the nineteenth century.

Captain Isaac Smith was for many years a repre-

sentative of the town of Maiden in the General

Court, and was said to have been an influential mem-
ber. Though taken from the almshouse in Boston

when a boy, he sustained, as a citizen, an enviable

and untarnished reputation. He is mentioned as the

commander of an armed vessel in the Revolutionary

War. He lived first in the north part of the town

and afterwards removed to South Maiden, where he

had large lauded possessions, which, after his death,

in 1795, were for the most part sold to his son-in-law.

Captain Nathan Nichols, for many years a prominent

and respected citizen of Maiden. At the time of his

death Captain Smith was said to have been the

wealthiest man in Maiden. As indicating the stand-

ard of wealth in those days, it may be added that

Captain Smith left, after his estate was settled, about

$20,000 to be divided among his ten heirs.

Rev. Eliakim Willis, already mentioned as pastor

first of the South Parish and then of the united par-

ishes, was a man of eminent piety and very highly

respected in the community. He was born in New
Bedford, January 9, 1714, and graduated from Har-

vard College in 1735. He died March 14, 180 J, aged

eighty-eight. He was chairman of the committee

that reported the instructions of the town of Maiden,

addressed to Ezra Sargent, then representative in the

General Court.

There still remained at or near 1800 several citi-

zens who had tak en a prominent and honorable part

in the Revolution ary AVar. Among these may be

mentioned Captain Benjamin Blaney, who com-

manded the company of militia from this town in the

battle of Lexington, and the company which marched

to join Washington's army^in [New Jersey in Decern-
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ber, 1776. His father was a prominent man in the

South Parish, antl a magistrate of some note, and was

found dead in the road when returning from the

discharge of his duty, not without suspicions of

murder. Captain Rhmey was prompt in duty and

persevering in clfort. He frequently served as mod-

erator in parisli meetings. He removed from tlie

town in the hitter part of his life.

Colonel John Topkiu was of a Welsh family, and

was born in Boston in 1743. Hefore the Revolution-

ary War he was a member of Paddock's artillery

company. In the army he w:i8 a captain of artillery

in Gridley's regiment, and was in the battle of Bunk-

er Hill and at the .siege of Boston. He was commis-

sioned captain in Knox's artillery and was in the

battle of White Plains; he was made a major in

Greaton's regiment January 1, 1777; was aide to

General Lincoln at Saratoga and was commissioned

lieutenant-colonel of Crane's artillery regiment July

15, 1777, in which position he continued until the

disbanding of the army, in 17!S;>. After the war he

resided in Bolton and later in South Maiden, in the

old South Parish parsonage-house devised in part to

his wife by Rev. Mr. Willis, on Main near the corner

of Preseott Street, where he died, May 8, 1827. He
was a member of the Society of Cincinnati, and was

for many years an inspector of customs in Boston.

He walked to and from Maiden, four miles, every

day, from 1789 until he was more than eighty-four

years old. His most distinguished descendant was

Rev. John S. Popkin, born January 19, 1774, a cler-

gyman and professor in Harvard College, and his

successor in the Society of the Cincinnati.

Captain .Jonathan Oakes was born in Maiden, Oc-

tober 4, 1751, and was in command of a vessel in the

merchant service before he was twenty years of age.

In the latter part of 1776 he was captain of the pri-

vate armed brigantine " The Hawke," of ten guns and

eighty men. The next year " The Hawke" was taken

into the service of the State, and sailed with Captain

Manley, on the disastrous cruise in which his asso-

ciates were captured at Halifax. Captain Oakes was

more fortunate, and, being separated from them, he

escaped and took several valuable prizes. He continued

in command of the " Hawke " until 1779, making three

important captures in 1778, when he purchased an in-

terest in the armed brigantine " Thomas," of which

he took command. In 1780 he made a cruise in the

ship " Favorite," of ten guns, and when he returned

he took command of the " Patty," of which he was

an owner. In 1781, while in comand of the latter

vessel, he took the British brig " Betsey," bound to

Lisbon. He was a representative in the General

Court for twelve terms, the longest service on record

with one exception. Captain Oakes died August 16,

1818, at the age of sixty-seven years, leaving a son of

the same name, who also was for many years a prom-

inent citizen of South Maiden. Two grandchildren

of the latter are now living in Everett.

Captain Daniel Waters was among those who
marched with Captain Blaney on the day of the bat-

tle of Le-xiuiiton, where he saw his only service upon
the laud. Immediately upon the investment of Bos-

ton he was appointed by Washington upon the gun-

boat doing duty on ('harles River, and, in 1776, was

promoted to the schooner "Lee," in which position

he distinguished himself by bringing the prize ship

"Hope," which had been captured by Captain Mug-
ford, into Boston Harbor, in the face of the British

fleet, and by assisting in the capture of a number of

transports, in one of which was the colonel and a por-

tion of the Seventy-first Regiment, with supplies of

great value to the ('ontinental service. He was ap-

pointed a captain in the United States Navy, March

15, 1777. He sailed as li volunteer with Captain

Manley in the "Hancock," and upon the capture of

the British frigate " Fox," of twenty-eight guns, was

put in command of that vessel. Both vessels were

captured at Halifax by a superior Itritish force. Cap-

tain Waters was taken a prisoner to New York, where

he was retained until April, 1778, when he was ex-

changed. In March, 1779, he was in command of the

United States brig " General Gates." He commanded
the ship " General Putnam," a privateer of twenty

guns, on the expedition to the Penobscot, in 177'J.

In December, 1779, he sailed on a cruise in the armed

ship " Thorn," of eighteen guns and 120 men, and, on

Christmas morning captured two British brigs, "Try-

on '' and " Sir William Erskine," after inflicting great

loss upon both. These two brigs carried thirty-four

guns and 178 men. The " Thorn " lost eighteen men,

killed and wounded, among the latter being Captain

Waters, who received a wound in the knee, from the

efl'ects of which he became permanently lame. The
"Tryon," after being captured, escaped, while the
" Thorn " was pursuing the " Erskine," but in a shat-

tered condition.

In January, 1780, Cai>t. Waters fell in withtheship
" Sparlin," of eighteen guns and seventy-five men.

from Liverpool for New York, which was taken after

an action of forty minutes. His next, and probably

his last voyage, was as commander of the armed ship
" Friendship,'' from Boston, to which he was appoint-

ed iu January, 1781. After the war he retired from

the sea and lived on his farm in Jlalden, where he

died March 26,1816. The site of his residence was

at or near the present location of the Everett Spring

House, and his lands extended on the westerly side

of Ferry Street, as far north as the estate of Thaddeus

Peirce, and southerly to Island End.

Besides the persons above mentioned, the names of

Nalor Hatch and Nathan Nichols, appear as com-
manders of armed vessels. Capt. Hatch commanded
a company which was stationed at Beacham's Point,

on the Van Vooris estate, during the battle of Bunker
Hill. He also commanded the earthworks afterwards

thrown up at Beacham's Point, and at the junction

of Main and Bow Streets.
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For many of the foregoing particulars I am indebt-

ed to the historical sketch of Maiden, by Deloraine

P. Corey, iu Drake's '• History of Middlesex County,"

to the " Bi-eentennial Book of Maiden," and to

Mussey's " Reuiiiiiscenees and Memorials."

It may be woll to notice in this place some of the

changes in the southern part of the town. In the

course of one hundred and si.xty or seventy years

since its settlement, it had become a fairly prosperous

farming comnuinily, with convenient roads and means

of communication with Boston. It ig probable that

the oldest road is that leading to Penny Ferry, al-

ready mentioned. It is imiKissible to give the exact

date at which this road was laid out.

In 17!HJ a county road was laid out three rods wide

from Main Street to what is now Everett Square, and

thence northeasterly in a nearly straight line over

Belmont and Ojrbett Hills, and through the swamp,

and then turning easterly to Linden. A portion of

(his road is now known as Lynn Street, a part as School

Street, and for upwards of a mile between these two, it

was mostly within the limits of what was afterwards

the Newburyport Turnpike. The road to Wormwood
Point, now known as Beacham Street, was laid out in

1081 ; Shute Street as a town-way in 1695, and after-

wards as a county road. Chelsea Street, formerly e.x-

tending through Hucknam and Locust Streets to

Main Street, was laid out in \C>'>Z. Another old road

is Ferry Street, formerly known as the county road to

Winnisiramet. Main, Ferry and Chelsea Streets have

been several times widened by the county commis-

sioners. Elm Street, Nichols Lane, (now a part of

Nichols Street), Paine's Lane (now a part of Chelsea

Street), and Baldwin Avenue are also old roads. So far

aa can be ascertained, these are the only roads in

South Maiden of an earlier date than 1800. Former-

ly, ordinary travel went around through Medford, and

thence to Boston, makiug quite a journey and inter-

fering seriously with public convenience. The build-

ing of Maiden bridge, which was formally opened to

the public by the firing of cannon and other festivi-

ties, Sept. 29, 1787, proved of great benefit to South

Maiden, offering, as it did, a direct route to Charles-

town and Boston.

This bridge was built by private capital, and was for

seventy-two years owned and operated by the Maiden
Bridge Corporation as a toll-bridge. The payment of

the tolls imposed a heavy tax upon the public travel,

and continued to impede the growth of South Maiden.

To reach Boston it was necessary, according to the
" Bi-centennial Book of Maiden," to pass two toll-

bridges, and a man could not ride into Boston and out

again without paying the heavy lax of forty-seven

cents.

The south part of Maiden did not long remain
without a separate local organization. The South
Parish wa.s succeeded by the South School District.

On the (jth day of May, 1799, the town of Maiden
voted "To accept the report of the committee ap-

pointed to divide the town into districts." This

report provided for three districts,—the North, the

Middle and the South Districts,—the boundaries of

the South District to begin at the wharf on Maiden

Bank, so called, thence running easterly over the hill

to the Chelsea line, leaving Jacob Perkins and Asa

Tufts a little to the southward of said line. This

line was probably not far from the lino between the

South and North Parishes, and included a slightly

larger area than the present town of Everett. The
South Precinct had evidently had a school-house for

many years located on the southeast side of the

County road, laid out in 1796 ; but on the division of

the town into districts, it was deemed advisable to

build a new one, and on October 7, 1799, the town

voted to build a school-house in the south part of

the town, of the same dimensions as the one proposed

for the north part, and to raise $600 for the purpose

of building these school-houses. William Emerson,

Stephen Pain, Jr., Joseph Barrett, Jr., Bernard

Green, Esq., and Capt. Amos Sargent were appointed

as a building committee for both. On the 7th

day of April, 1800, the selectmen were empowered

to purchase land as a site for the school-house, and

pursuant to this authority they purchased of Thomas
Sargent, for $20, the lot near the corner of Hancock

Street and Broadway, where the house of Hon.

Alonzo H. Evans now stands. The South School-

house was erected thereon at the cost of about $300,

and continued on or near that spot for the next forty-

two years. The old school-house was bought of the

proprietors by the town at an appraisal for $50, and

sold for .$35. The first meeting of the South District

was held December 10, 1800, on the same day as the

last meeting of the South Parish. Capt. Benjamin

Blaney was chosen moderator, Ezi-a Sargent (since

1758 clerk of the South Parish) was chosen clerk,

Capt. Jonathan Oakes, Stephen Pain, Jr., Capt. Amos
Sargent a committee ; Mr. John Howard, treasurer.

It was voted " that the Committee Shall hire such

a Master, and when they think best for the Beuifit of

the Children." It was also voted " that the fifty Dol-

lars that Belonged to the Proprietors of the old School-

house ly on interest, and that the interest of it be an-

nualy Laid out for the Benifit of Schooling of the

youth of the South District."

In 1802 Uriah Oakes, whose descendants to the

third generation are still living in town, appears as

treasurer. The last entry in the handwriting of Ezra

Sargent is under date of Blarch 12, 1804. He was

succeeded April 12, 1805, by Winslow Sargent.

From April, 1808, to March 4, 1819, there is no

record of any meeting of the South District. At the

meeting held on the latter date Captain Ebenezer

Nichols appears as moderator ; Isaac Parker, clerk

;

N.athan Lynde, treasurer ; Captain Eben Nichols,

Captain Nathan Nichols and Isaac Parker were chosen

a committee to purchase land for the district at their

discretion.
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At a meeting held March 25, 1820, it was voted "to

remove the School-house, and Ciiptain Nathan Nich-

ols, Captain Ebenezer Nichols, Captain Uriah Oakes,

Captain Thomas Oakes and Thadeus Pierce were

chosen a. committee for the purpose." June 14, 1823,

Captain Nathan Nichols was chosen clerk, and from

that date to 1S30 the records are very neatly kept in

his handwriting. He was tor many years a prominent

citizen of Maiden and a man of sound business quali-

fications, and grandfather of our present town treas-

urer. On the 12th of March, 1830, Solomon Corey

was chosen clerk, and so continued until 1834.

Nathan Lynde was treasurer of the South District

from March 4, 18U), to March 21, 1835, a period of

sixteen years. From the year 1820 the names of

William Pierce, Thaddeus Pierce (father of the pres-

ent Thaddeus), Thomas Oakes, Captain Henry liich

Elisha Webb, David Faulkner, Daniel A. Perkins,

Leavitt Corbett, Alfred Osgood and Scth (traninier

frequently appear in the proceedings of the South

District.

At a meeting held March 27, 1837, measures were

taken for establishing a primary school, which was

subsequently opened in Webb's Hall, so-called, in the

house now owned and occupied by Dea. Calvin Hos-

mer. By a report of the financial concerns of the

South District for the year 1839, the cash receipts are

stated at S641.52.

In 1841 the increa-sing population of the South Dis-

trict and the local jealousies of its different sections

led to an agitation for a division, and on March 19,

1842, Captain Jonathan Oakes, William Pierce, Ste-

phen Stimpson, Benjamin Nichols, Benjamin S. Shute

and Solomon Shute were chosen a committee to report

on a proper division line between the two districts

This committee reported Jlarch 21, 1842, in favor of

a line running across the hill so as to leave Daniel A.

Perkins, Jonathan Baldwin, Jr., and William Whitte-

more on the west side of the hill, the east side to keep

the school-house and land for their own. At a town-

meeting held April 18, 1842, it was voted that the

South District be divided according to the above line,

and all the inhabitants southwest of said line were

set oft" as a new district by the name of the South-

we.st School District. At this time there were in

South Maiden eighty-eight houses and one hundred

and five families as compared with fifty-two houses

in 1828.

The South School District continued in existence

until 1853, and the old school-house was, in August
following the division, removed to the present Glen-

dale School-house lot on Ferry Street, which the

South District purchased of Mary Policy for the sum
of S300, originally containing about two acres, of

which an acre and three-quarters were sold. The old

school-house was repaired and continued to be used

until 1854, when it was replaced by a new building,

which continued in use until 1885, when it was, in

turn, replaced by the present Glendale School-house.

John Cutter, Jr., was chosen clerk of the South

District June 18, 1842, and served until March 7,

1849, when he waa succeeded by Charles D. Adams,
who continued in office until the abolition of the dis-

trict system.

The Southwest District, as tlic new district was
called, embraced the larger portion of the impulation

and wealth of the former South District. It held its

first meeting on May 12, 1842. William Peirce was
chosen moderator; William Johnson, the last clerk

of the South District before the division and for many
years a prominent citizen of Maiden and Everett, as-

sessor, town treiisurer, representative to the General

Court in 1851 and 1882, was chosen clerk; Stephen

Stimpson, Prudential Committee. A BuildingCommit-

tee was chosen consisting of Jonathan Oakes, Stephen

Stimpson, George Winslow, Uriah Oakes, Charles

Baldwin, Henry Van Voorhis and William Peirce.

This committee was authorizeil to select and purcha.se

a lot of land as a site for the school house, and to bor-

row not exceeding $1500 for building the same, in

addition to $500 to be raised by taxation, making a

total of $2000 placed at the disposal of the building

committee.

A plan j>repared by A. Benjamin was presented and

it was voted to make the building two stories high,

and thirty by forty feet in size on the ground. The
committee were authorized to expend not exceeding

$2400 for this building. The Prudential Committee
were authorized to employ such teachers as they

judged proper, and a school was opened in a small

house on School Street, while the new building was

in process of erection. By a report of the Building

Committee, presented at a meeting held August 22,

1842, it appears that the contractor, Mr. Elisha B.

Loring, received for labor and material furnished

$1581.89. The cost of the land, which was purchased

of Jonathan Oakes, now worth probably $5000 or

more, was $150. The chairs for the building cost

$108, and the furnace $149.44. These and various

other items brought the total cost up to $2595.11. A
vote of thanks to the Building Committee was adopted

and the Prudential Committee was directed to employ
a male teacher.

The upper story was not at first used for school

purposes, but continued to be used as a hall, and the

Building Committee were authorized to furnish the

same with seats. The Prudential Committee were
also at the same meeting authorized to let the school-

house hall for all religious worship, lyceunis and sing-

ing-schools, but not to allow dancing or drilling.

At the annual meeting of the district held March
21, 1842, Solomon Corey was chosen clerk and con-

tinued to hold that oflice until the abolition of the

district system in 1853. A school district library was
established in 1842 and rules were adopted for the

regulation thereof on March 21, 1843. David N. Bad-

ger was chosen as the first librarian at the same
meeting.
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School* were opened in the new school building in

the fall of 1842. From the report of the Prudential

Committee March, 1843, it appears that the number of

school cliildren in the Southwest School District, be-

tweeu the apes of four and sixteen years, was 119, and

that the amount paiil for teachers' services from the

iirifanizatioii of the district was ^0(3, male teachera

receiving thirty dollars and female teachers sixteen

dollars per mouth, and other incidental expenses

brought up the'totid expenditures to $.347.67. The

district continued to prosper and was steadily reduc-

ing its debt when, on Friday, tlie '27lh day of Febru-

ary, 1840, at about one o'clock in the morning, the

new school building took fire and was totally de-

stroyed with its contents, including apparatus and

library. The loss was estimated at #2700; the insur-

ance was only #1200. The examination of the schools

was to have taken place the same day.

On the rjth day of March the district met and

voted to build a new school-house larger than the

first, and chose as a Building Committee, CTCorge

Winslow, Stephen Stimpson, Samuel H. Clapp, Capt.

Jonathan Oakes, William Peirce, James H. Dix,

Charles Baldwin and David N. Badger. From a re-

port of the tre:usiirer at the same meeting it appears

that the total expenditure for schools was $497.02

for the preceding year. It was voted that the new
school-hou.'se be fifty-five feet long, forty-two feet

wide, two stories high ; the first story to be fitted up

immediately for school purposes, the second to be

used as a i)ublic hall until needed for use as a school-

room. It w.as also voted to raise $500 for the build-

ing by taxation this year. An attempt to reconsider

this action March 24th, was defeated by a vote of forty-

two to twenty-five, but the width of the building was

reduced to thirty-six feet instead of forty-two, and

the expenditure was limited to $.S300, which was

considerably exceeded. The new building, like the

old, was erected by our late esteemed fellow-citizen,

Mr. E. B. Loring, with that thoroughness which was

characteristic of his work. It continued to be used

for school purposes by Maiden and Everett for forty-

three years, and after being remodeled in 1871, and

partially burned in 1875, was abandoned for school

purposes in the fall of 1889. Transformed into an
engine-house during the year 1890, it promises to

serve out a further extended term of usefulness.

The final report of the Financial Committee, sub-

mitted March 18, 1847, shows a total expenditure on
the building of $3642.32, of which the contractor, Mr.
E. B. Loring, received $2903.33, including extras.

The whole number of scholars in the district. May
1, 1846, between the ages of four and sixteen years
was 166. On the 30th day of October, 1847, it was
voted to let the school-house hall free for Sabbath-
schools. A committee consisting of Jonathan Oakes,
Solomon Corey and Daniel A. Perkins was chosen at

the same meeting to i)etition the Legislature for leave

to assess and collect their own district taxes. This

movement developed into an effort to have South

Maiden set oil' and incorporated as the town of
*' Winthrop," and a petition for this purpose, headed

by Jonathan Oakes, was presented to the General

Court, February 2, 1848, by Mr. Bowker, of Boston,

and referred to the Committee on Towns, which, on

April 13,1848, reported "leave to withdraw" and the

matter was referred to the next General Court, April

17,1848. At the next session, on January 11, 1849,

the petition was taken from the files of the previous

year and referred to the Committee on Towns, which

again reported leave to. withdraw March 19, 1849,

which report was accepted March 29th. At the follow-

ing session redoubled efl'orts were made for separation,

and numerous petitions were presented from South

Maiden, beginning with one headed by James H. Dix,

presented by Mr. Brewster, of Boston, January 16,

1850. Other petitions followed, headed respectively

by Miss Joanna T. Oliver and Willard Sears.

From a statement entered in the record-book of the

Southwest District under date of February 1, 1850, the

following interesting facts appear in regard to Maiden

and the proposed new town.

The whole town grant for schools for 910 scholars

was .f3000, of which the Southwest District with 147

children received $495.35, and the South District with

77 children received .t259.49, and both with 224

children, $754.84.

The valuation of the Southwest District was: Real

estate, $255,658
;
personal, $70,321. South District:

Real estate, $102,843; personal, $18,145. Total,

$446,967, without including estates of non-residents.

The estimated number of polls in the proposed

town of Winthrop was 305; number of inhabitants

was 1169. The whole amount of property was stated

to be $711,233.

The parent town of Maiden, attacked on the north

by the petition to incorporate Melrose (which was

successful), and on the south by the petition to incor-

porate AVinthrop, struggled earnestly to preserve its

territorial integrity, and succeeded in postponing the

incorporation of South Maiden for twenty years more.

The Committee on Towns reported leave to withdraw

as before, and this report was accepted April 29, 1850.

The effort for separation was by a petition presented

to the Legislature March 25th. The matter was

April 18th referred to the next General Court in

which the petitions were taken from the files Feb. 14,

1857, and adverse report made April 18th, and accept-

ed April 21st.

The last meeting of the Southwest District was

held March 16, 1853, at which Solomon Corey was

chosen clerk ; Timothy C. Edmester, Prudential Com-
mittee; Stephen Stimpson, treasurer; Wm. Pierce,

and H. W. VanVoorhis, Finance Committee. Their

term of ofiice was short, for at a town-meeting held

April 4, 1853, Maiden abolished the district system.

As showing the relative importance of South Mai-

den, the following figures, giving the school appro-
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priations for the whole town and the proportion

allotted to South Maiden for four years previous to

the abolition of the district system, will be of interest

:

SCHOOL APPROPRIATIONS.

Teari. \nolt! Town. roilion AUollrd Per c™(. of Tolal.

(o S. ami S. IF. Ditla.

1849-60 SWOO $754.84 25.10

18.10-51, :!501l 897.2'2 26.6

1851-62 ilMO 1,408.27 35.2

1852-63 4001) 1,186.56 29.6

On the 1st day of May, 1853, the number of tax-

payers in the Southwest District was U(;», and in the

South Di.strict, eighty-eight. As indicating the com-

parative wealth and taxation of 1853 and 1889, it may
be added that there were in the South and Southwest

Districts in 1853, only fourteen taxpayers, who were

assessed $100 or more each, .against 173 in Everett in

1889. After making all due allowance for increased

rates, these figures indicate a marked increase in

wealth. The liames of the tax-payers in South Mai-

den paying $100 or more in 1853 were : Eliphalet

Kimball, $113,89; Nathan Lynde's heirs, $240.43;

.lohn Lewis, $l(il.92 ; Nathan Nichols' heirs, $450.50;

Uriah Oakes' widow, $337.31 ; Wm. and G. W.
Pierce, $172.53; Rebecca Perkins, $110.84; Joseph

Swan, $189.87; Stephen Stimpson, $123.(57; Simon
Tufts, $273.84 ; H. W. and J. C. VanVoorhis, $582.94

;

Geo. Winslow's estate, $189.18; Leavitt Corbett,

$192.15; David Faulkner's widow $135.22.

The abolition of the district system marks the

close of another epoch in the history of South Mai-

den, .and at this point it may be well to note some of

the changes which had occurred during the previous

fifty-four years since the establishment of the South

District.

One of the most important public works belonging

to this period w.as the construction of the Newbury-

port Turnpike, which was laid out pursuant to a

warrant of the county commissioners dated Septem-

ber 22, 1804. The proprietors were incorporated

March 8, 1803. The work of laying out this road

extended through the ye.ars 1804, 1805, 1806. The
portion in South Maiden was laid out and constructed

in the two latter years. This road was laid out four

rods wide and lias so continued to the present time.

It covered in part the location of the county road

laid out in 179G to East Maiden. It continued to be

operated as a turnpike road until 1852, when it was

made a public highway by the county commissioners.

In 1856 the boundaries were established by suitable

monuments, and it has for more than eighty years

constituted one of the important landmarks within

our territory, and one of the great arteries of travel.

It extends in a straight line northeasterly from Mai-

den Bridge to near the northerly boundary of Ev-

erett, where it turns slightly to the west just before

reaching the Maiden line.

From the re-union of the North and South Par-

ishes iu 1792, until 1847, there appears to have been

no regular places of worship in the south part of

Maiden, though for a time before the district was di-

vided. Miss Lambert, a day-school teacher, main-

tained a Sabbath-school in the (dd red school-house

on the hill, where Mr. Evans' house now stands. In

1847, such was the growth in population and wealth,

that the religious needs of the community began to

require some local religious organization and ser-

vice. Hy the union and co-operation of several mem-
bers of the diderent evangelical churches and other

benevolent persons residing in South Maiden and

(Chelsea, a Sabbath-school was opened in the school-

house of the Southwest District, on the first Sunday

in May, 1847. The first superintendent of this Sun-

day-school was Deacon Calvin Hosmer, a member of

the Baptist Church in Maiden. J. H. Dix was secre-

tary and treasurer, and \V. C. Barrett librarian. At
the first session thirty-six persons were present, and

such was the interest maniR^sted that theformation of

a church began to be seriously considered. For the

I)urpose of trying the experiment for a few months,

the hall in the Southwest District was opened for

public worship on December 19, 1 847, and Rev. J. A.

Benton was engaged to supj>ly the pulpit lor the first

Sabbath. On the evening of March 8, 1848, a number

of persons residing in South Maiden, and members of

different churches, convened at the house of Mr.

Uriah Oakes to consult with reference to the forma-

tion of a church, and Uriah Oakes, John Willcntl

and Samuel H. Clapp were made a committee to pre-

pare articles of faith and make other needed prepara-

tory arrangements.

The council met the 16th day of March. Among
the facts presented for the consideration of this coun-

cil were the following : Within a radius of one mile

from the school-house there dwelt a po|iulation of

600, steadily increasing. Tlie Sunday-school, which

began with 36 members, then numbered 140, and for

the last four Sabbaths the average attendance had

been 118. The attendance at the meetings for public

worship in the hall had varied from 80 to 240 in the

day-time, and from 60 to 200 in the evening, and the

increase had been gradual from the beginning, and

during the last three Sabbaths the average had been

223. The council voted to proceed with the organi-

zation of the church in the evening, the exercises of

which were. Reading of results of council; Scriptures

by Rev. Mr. Guernsey, of Charlestown
;
prayer by

Rev. Mr! McClure, of Maiden ; sermon by Dr. Blag-

den, of Boston ; constituting the church and prayer

by Rev. I. P. Langworthy, of Chelsea; fellowship of

the churches by Dr. Edward Beecher, of Bpston ; and

concluding prayer and benediction by Rev. J. A.

Benton.

The names of the original members of the church

were as follows : Isaac Clapp, Samuel H. Clapp,

Uriah Oakes, Nehemiah M. Rider, Wm. Whittemore,

Jr., John Willcutt, Eliza A. Baldwin, Harriet Bat-

telle, Elizabeth Blaney, Susan P. Clapp, Rebecca J.
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T. Mansfield, Charlotte Oakes, Sarah Oakea, Elizabeth

W. Oliver. Joniina T. Oliver, Lucy B. Oliver, Lucy

Pierce, Eli^iibeth Stimpson, Esther WbitU-niore,

lather K. Wliitteniore, Joanna T. Whitteuiore,

Muriah }L Whiltemore, Emeline Willcult, Mary A.

Wil».>n, twenty-lour in all. Jliss Joanna T. Oliver,

whose portrait may lie Keen in the vestry of the Con-

grej,'ational Church, was one of the earliest pioneers

aa she was one of the most earnest workers in this

liel.l.

This liltle church met almost uniformly for busi-

nesw, at limt at the residence of Mr. Uriah Oakcs.

March :;.'>, 1848, at the regular busine.s8 meeting held

at the house of Mr. Oakes, it was voted that thi.s

church shall be called the " Wiutbrop Congregational

Church," probably in anticipation of the incorpora-

tion of South Maiden as the proposed new town ol

Wiiilhrop. Uriah Oakes and John Willcutt weretlie

first deacons. Kev. J. A. Benton \vM, on July 19,

18-JS, unanimously called as acting pastor, in which

position he continued to officiate until November,

1848. Though the period of his ministration was

short, he deeply inHuenced the polity of the church,

inasmuch as he was the author of the Confession of

Kaiih and Hy-laws, which, with some changes in

1^71 and 188G, still continue in use. After the de-

parture of Mr. Benton^ the church was for about a

year without a regular pastor.

On the 18th of October, 1849, Rev. Francis G.

Pratt, of Andover Theological Seminary, pursuant to

a call of the church, August 19, 1849, wjus installed as

the tir>t regular pastor of the church, in which position

he continued for more than eight years, until April

13, 1808. During his ministry land was pur-

chased for a house of worship, and the building

which the church still occupies, with a seating capa-

city of about 350, was erected in 1852. It was dedi-

cated December 8, 1848, and the first Sabbath ser-

vices were held in the new church on December 12,

1852, previous to which time the meetings had been

maintained in the Southwest District School-house.

The house and land cost about $12,000. In securing

this Dea. Eliphalet Kimball was a prime mover, and

Samuel H. Clapp, James H. Dix, Alonzo H. Evans,

Wm. Whittemore, Wm. Baldwin and J. M. Gilford

were also prominent in this movement. The pastor-

ate of Mr. Pratt was a prosperous one for the church,

many members being added during his ministry.

On the 8th of September, 1859, Rev. James Cruik-

shanks was installed, jiursuant to a call extended to

him on the 9th of June, and accepted June 26th.

The church was far from unanimous in this call, and
during the deliberations of the council there was
presented a protest, in behalf of fifty-five members of

the church, against the settlement of Mr. Cruik-

shanks. After listening to both sides, the council

decided that the proceedings were regular, and they

proceeded with the installation. Thereupon sixteen

members, having been denied regular letters of dis-

mission, withdrew under the advice of an ex-parte

council, and formed the Chapel Congregational

Church of South Maiden, of which Rev. L. II. An-

gler was pastor. They purchased a lot of land and

erected a chapel on the site of the present residence

of Mr. George C. Stowers, at the corner of Cottage

and Winter Streets, which last street from that fact

was for some time called Chapel Street. The new

Chapel Congregational Church continued to exist

until October, 1801, when, after various negotiations,

both that and the Winthrop Congregational Church

were disbanded, and reunited in one body as the

South JIaklen Congregational Church, October 31,

1861. Of this council. Rev. Dr. Blagden, pastor of

the Old South Church, of Boston, was moderator.

The original cause for the disruption had been re-

moved in the resignation of Rev. Mr. Cruikshanks,

which was tendered June 15, 1859. He was dis-

missed by council June 29th following. The first

deacons of the new church were Uriah Oakes, E. P.

Foster and George Whittemore. The chapel was

burned January 2, 1867.

On April 6, 1862, Rev. Oliver Brown, of Quincy,

Mass., became acting pastor, in which position he

continued until February 26, 1864, having received

January 4, 1864, a vote of thanks for his earnest and

successful labors in the interest of peace. On Feb-

ru.Try 26, 1864, a call was extended to Rev. David M.

Bean to become pastor, which was accepted March

5th, and on June 28th he was duly installed by a

council called for that purpose. During his pastor.ate

occurred a powerful revival, as the result of which

there were added to the church July 1, 1866, nineteen

individuals, besides numerous others in the course of

his ministry. On November 24, 1868, Rev. Mr. Bean

was dismissed by council. On January 28, 1869, a

call was extended by the church to Rev. Albert

Bryant, formerly missionary in Turkey, who accepted

and was installed March 25, 1869. During his min-

istry in 1871, the creed and by-laws were revised, and

a young people's prayer-meeting was instituted. Mr.

Bryant's pastorate continued until May 13,1874, when
he was dismissed.

On the 4th of August, 1874, a call was extended to

Rev. W. J. Batt, which was declined, and in January

following, a call was extended to Rev. Webster

Hazlewood, who was installed July 7, 1875, resigned

February 10, 1876, and was dismissed by council May
4, 1876. From August 1, 1876, until October 17,

1881, Rev. Wm. H. Bolster served as acting pastor,

harmonizing the dissensions growing out of the pre-

vious pastorate, and leaving the church in a healthy

and prosperous condition. From an able historical

sermon delivered by Mr. Bolster, November 11, 1877,

many of the foregoing particulars are derived.

On the 26th of April, 1882, Rev. George Y. Wash-
burn, a graduate of Andover, who had supplied the

pulpit for five months, was ordained and installed.

During his ministry large numbers were added to the
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church, which also prospered in other directions. On
July 1, 1883, as the result of a revival, thirty-five

were added to the church, twenty-four on profession

of faith. A debt of §4000, which had existed since

the building of the church in 1852, was extinguished.

This desirable result was consummated April 2(), 18S(5.

The church has since been newly frescoed in a very

tasteful manner by Mr. Everett B. Wilson, a graduate

of the Everett grammar school. In 1887 and 1888,

especially the latter, there were revivals resulting in

numerous additions to the church. The Courtland

Street Mission was inatituied March 29, 1885, and in

the same year a cb!ii)el was erected there by Ca)itain

Samuel J. Sewall, one of the public-spirited citizens

of Mystic Village.

Mr. William H. Whipple was the first superin-

tendent. Religious services and a Sunday-school

have since been maintained there- The whole num-
ber in the Sunday-school is 126; average, 80. Near

the close of Mr. Washburn's pastorate, the church

became interested in the Mystic Side Mission, main-

tained by the Maiden and Everett Congregational

Churches, through the Mystic Side Congregational

Union, organized March 28, 1889. Under the au-

spices of this association a Sunday-school was opened

March 31, 1889, in a room formerly occupied as a

grocery-store, at the corner of Main and Woodville

Streets, Everett. The membership has increased

from 61 to 190, with an average attendance of 130

in the spring of 1890. The Union has purchased

34,000 feet of land on Willis Avenue, with a view to

erecting a house of worship. The superintendent is

James M. Morey, of Maiden.

Mr. Washburn closed his labors in April, 1889.

During his pastorate the twenty-fifth anniversary of

the re-union of the Winthrop and Chapel Churches

was appropriately commemorated, October 31, 188G>

on which occasion Mr. Washburn delivered a very

interesting historical sermon.

Rev. Eddy T. Pitts was called to the pastorate July

30, 1889, and, having accepted the call, commenced
his labors on Sunday, September 1, 1889, and still

continues in this position. The membership of the

church in October, 1889, was 258, as compared with 145

in 1879. The number in the Sunday-school in April,

1890, was 410, as compared with 230 in 1879. The
number of volumes in the Sunday school library in

April, 1890, was 374. The receipts of the society dur-

ing the year 1889-90 were $3096.14; the expendi-

tures $3,080.57.

The account of the Congregational Church has car-

ried us far beyond the period under notice at the

time of its institution. Returning now to the period

prior to the abolition of the district system, a few

facts require mention. Some time after the establish-

ment of the Fire Department in Maiden, an engine was

procured and an engine-house built in South Maiden
in 1847. The first fire-engine was a common hand-

engine, named " General Taylor," in honor of the

hero of the Mexican War, then freshly wearing the

laurels of victory. This continued in use as the only

engine in South Maiden and Everett until 1878. The
engine-house erected in 1847 was partially destroyed

by fire in 1860, when it was sold and removed to the

lot next southwest of Whittier's store, where it still

stands, remodeled into a dwelling-house. The pres-

ent engine-house, about to be abandoned, was erected

in 18G0, and the engine-house lot w;i8 at the same
time enlarged.

Woodlawn Cemetery, occupying about one hun-
dred acres, in the east part of Everett, besides seventy-

six acres more, owned by the corporation, waa organ-

ized August 31, 1850. The grounds were consecrated

July 2, 1851; the corporation confirmed and estab-

lished April, 1855. The first interment was made on

the evening of July 1st, next preceding the consecra-

tion. The whole number of interments to .Tune 1,

1856, wa-s nine hundred and forty-eight.

The order of exercises at the consecration consist-

ed of music, reading of the Scriptures, by Rev. I. P.

Langworthy, prayer by Rev. Wm. I. Buddington,

original hymn by Rev. J. H. Clinch, of Boston, ad.

dress by Rev. Geo. E. Ellis, of Charletown, hymn by
Henry W. Fuller, Esq., prayer and benediction by
Levi Fuller.

Mr. Henry W. Fuller was connected with the

cemetery from its origin to his death, August 14,

1889, and to make it what it ia may be said to have
been his life-work, and the cemetery is his most en-

during monument.

Woodlawn is one of the most tastefully adorned

cemeteries in the suburbs of Boston, and does last-

ing honor to the elegant taste of Mr. Fuller. It

embraces an area of about one hundred acres be-

tween Elm and Fuller Streets. The corporation has

made repeated attempts to procure from the town

leave to bury in an adjoining tract of land contain-

ing about seventy-six acres, known as the Corbett

farm, purchased by the corporation in 1868, but

heretofore without success. The number of inter-

ments in Woodlawn Cemetery to January 1, 1879,

was 11,459, and the total to April 25, 1890, was

19,187.

The town h.as during the present year laid out a

tract of land of about twelve acres between Fuller

street and Woodlawn as a burial-ground, to be called

Glenwood Cemetery.

A new road to Chelsea, now known as Second
Street, was laid out by the county commissioners in

1852, and was built in 1854, at a cost of $5279.89.

A post-office was established in South Maiden, and
Solomon Corey, father of the late incumbent, was
appointed the first postmaster, January 17, 1852.

The first post-otfice was established, and was for

several years kept in the store of Mr. Uriah Oakes,

at the corner of Chelsea Street and Broadway, now
occupied as a fruit store. In 1857, James H. Dix
succeeded Mr. Corey, and removed the post-office to
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the store now occupied by Whittier Brothers. Mr.

Dix continue*! to be postmaster during 1857 and

s part of 1858, and wat in IKHH succeeded by George

W. C'lia^e, who served until June 10, 1859, when

David X. Hailger was appointed, and continued in

the ollice until about .January 1, IStSn, when he was

sui-iecdeil by Joseph Gerrish, wlio was postmaster

from ISti.') to 18(50. David N. liadger was then reap-

pointed, and served until November 7, 1871, when

George K. Kimball was appointed as the first post-

master of Kverett proper, in which position he re-

mained until .luly L'o, 1872-

Before the erection of the Masonic Building, Mr.

Biiilger had kept the post-oflice in his building on

Broadway (the old engine-house reconstructed),

next southwest of Whittier's store. The post-office

was remove<l to the Masonic Building in the fall of

1871. Shortly after Mr. Kimball's appointment sev-

eral iinprovenients were introduced. Two daily mails

were established instead of one, as had formerly been

the case, and letter-boxes were provided. Mr. Kim-

ball having removed to Chelsea, Dr. James B. Ever-

ett was appointed postmaster July 25, 1872, having

been the acting postmaster for several months prior

to that dale.

He continued in service until April 6, 1886. In

187t> Mr. Kimball again returned to Everett, and as

assistant postmaster was connected with the office

during the remainder of Dr. Everett's term. The
postal service during this period wa.s greatly extended

and improved. Everett was made a money-order

office in 1879. Shortly afterwards, in the same year,

an additional daily mail was established, making three

daily. A telephone was connected w ith the office ic

1880. A Sunday mail was established early in 1881.

A telegraph office was opened November 6, 1882. In

1884 it became an international money-order office.

On the Gth of April, 1886, t'olumbus Corey, son of

the first postmaster, succeeded Dr. Everett. The
office up to this time had been kept in Dr. Everett's

drug-store, buton the appointment of Mr. Corey anew
office, with suitable appointments, was fitted up also

in the Ma.sonic Building, separate from any other

place of busine.s.s, a change which had become im-

perative owing to the growth of the business. In the

thirty-eight years which have elapsed since the es-

tablishment of the post-office, the business has shown
a wonderful increa.'^e. This is indicated by the in-

crease in the compensation of the postmaster from

$53.90 in 1853 to §141.66 in 1863, $430 in 1873, and
$12(10 in 1882, when it became a Presidential office.

The business of the post-office for the year ending
March 31, ISiH), amounted to $5602.82, and the com-
pensation of the postmaster to $1700. On the 1st day
of June, 1890, Mr. Corey was succeeded by Mr.
Charles Manser, who had been designated as the

choice of the majority of the Republicans by a caucus
heW in Everett Hall, April 21, 1890. On July 1,

1890, another daily mail was established, making four

every week-day. A free postal delivery was establish-

ed Nov. 1, 1890, the houses having been numbered

pursuant to a vote of the town adopted in March,

18SM). Through the kindness of Postmaster Corey

the following interesting facta, relating to the growth

of the business during his term of service, have been

furnished

:

y'l-ar emiing 3[ouej/ ortlert issued Fonlut notes ToLil Itecripl.s.

March ;U. DomMtic. Foreign, insued.

1887 402 129 482 S3460

1888 019 191 497 40O1

1889 778 354 682 6034

1890 051 321 617 6C03

A large part of South Maiden, or Mystic side, was

originally laid out in small lots of five and ten acres

each. The greatest admirer of the system of peasant

proprietors could ask for nothing better ; but in the

course of two centuries, these holdings, too small to

afford the owners a livelihood, had one by one been

absorbed by large landed proprietors until nearly the

whole area of South Maiden was divided among a

small number of large farms, several of them exceed-

ing 100 acres each.

About the year 1845 these large tracts began to be cut

up and sub-divided, and laid out into house-lots, and

during the twelve years from 1845 to 1857, no less

than twenty-five large and important tracts of land

were thus surveyed and placed upon the market in

lots desirable for building purposes. Among these we
may mention the Daniel Waters estate in 1845; the

Winnisimmet Company's land in 1846; the former

farm of Jonathan Oakes, on Belmont Hill, and the

farm of Timothy Clapp, in 1850 ; the Belmont lauds

and the estate of Jonathan Oakes' heirs, on School

Street, in 1852; the Lynde farm in 1854; Mount
Washington and the Samuel Pierce farm, on both

sides of Bradford Street, in 1856. The opening of

these large tracte to settlement had no small influence

in promoting the subsequent increase in population

and wealth.

The period just then beginning opened up several

important facilities for public travel. The Eastern

Railroad and the Saugus Branch were both opened in

1854, and communication by street railway with Bos-

ton was opened in 1858; one line of cars running up

Main Street to Maiden, operated by the Maiden &
Melrose Railroad Co., afterwards leased to the Middle-

sex Railroad Co., incorporated June 6, 1856 ; and

another line up School Street and Broadway and

through Summer Street to Woodlawnand Cliftondale,

operated by the Cliftondale Railroad Co., incorpo-

rated April 1, 1859. In the course of a few years

later they made half-hourly trips during the day, and

hourly trips until late in the evening, and the fare to

Maiden was ten cents. The last-named route was

abandoned many years ago.

During the preceding half-century the tolls on

Maiden Bridge had been materially reduced, but the

tolls levied upon travelers upon that and the Warren
and Charles River Bridges slill constituted a serious
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incumbrance upon public travel. The two latter

bridges were made free April 30, 1858. One of the

most important events :i8 regards tlie growth of South

Maiden was the abolition of tolls on Maiden Bri<lge,

which was laid out as a public highway, free from

tolls, April 1, 1859. The significance of this event

was not misunderstood by the inhabitants of South

Maiden, and the day was observed with great rejoic-

ings. The town bells were rung, and a detachment of

the Oharlostown Artillery lired a national salute at

morning, noon, evening and at eleven o'clock. A
procession, beaded by Captain Stei)hen Stimpson as

chief marshal, followed by a cavalcade of prominent

citizens on horseback (among them Hon. Alouzo H.

Evans and Deacon Calvin llosmer), escorting the

selectmen of the town in a barouche, drawn by four

white b(nses, with the Maiden IJrass Hand, the Gen-

eral Taylor Engine Coni[:any, and the children of the

public schools in several vehicles, and others, pro-

ceeded across the bridge with flags flying, as far as

Charlestown Square and back again to South Maiden,

where they partook of a bountiful collation, and

listened to patriotic addresses in the afternoon.

A great impetus was given to the growth of the

population, which rose from lllJy in 1850 to 1547 in

1800, and 1980 in 1807. The assessors' valuation, not

including the estates of non-residents, increased from

$779,125 in 1854, to $910,075 in 1800, and to §1,104,-

493 in 1807. The number of miles of accepted streets

in 1859 was eleven, increased in 1869 to fourteen.

At the outbreak of the war thirty-seven of the citi-

zens of South Maiden responded to their country's

call, but until the organization of a Grand Army
Post here the record of their names and deeds was

never brought together, and is even now imperfect,

though the most important facts so far as known are

given below.

Previous to 1883 there was no Grand Army Post at

Everett, partly owing to the fact that Everett was not

a distinct municipality until several years after the

war. In the spring of 1883 a few of the veterans con-

ceived the idea of organizing a post. On canvassing

the town it was found that fifty or si.iwty old soldiers

were at that time residents of Everett. The post was

formally instituted on Thursday evening, June 14,

1883, in Everett Hall, with a membership of twenty-

four, by Deputy Commander Geo. S. Evans and staff.

The name of James A. Perkins Post was adopted in

honor of Lieut. James Amory Perkins, of the Twenty-

fourth Massachusetts Volunteers, a gallant and effi-

cient ofiicer, who was killed in an assault upon Port

Wagner on Morris Island, August 10, 1803, at the

early age of twenty-seven years.

The Post prospered and increased from the outset,

meeting first in Odd Fellows' Hall until the spring of

1884, when it leased what was lately known as Grand
Army Hall, on Chelsea Street, adjoining the Masonic

Building.

About this time a relief fund was established for

the relief of old soldiers and sailors and their families,

whether members of the organization or not, and it

iu)w amounts to a considerable sum. In the spring

of 188!) the Post lea.sed its present quarters on the

third floor of Plaisted's Block. The nienibershii> in

April, 1890, amounted to nearly ninety. It annually

observes Meluorial Day with appropriate ceremonies,

and from an eloquent address by the adjutant of the

post, Comrade Andrew J. Bennett, delivered on Sun-

day afternoon. May 29, 1887, a few extracts are given,

with some additions giving such particulars as can be

obtained in reference to the men of South Maiden
who oftered themselves on the altar of their country

during the Civil War.
" KoLi. OF Honor of South Malden, 1801-1805.

These are the names of patriots who have passed over

to the majority: Robert Atkins, Third Iowa, who left

a peaceful home, never in the flesh to return.

James M. Baldwin, First Massachusetts Cavalry
;

Harry H. Currier, Forty-fourth Massachusetts; Hugh
L. (furrier. Forty-fourth Massachusetts. Well I knew
these in the old days, in the decade before the strug-

gle ; in the sunshine of youth, before we dreamed

that auy occasion would present itself in their lives to

make them heroes.

Edward E. Clapp, Pennsylvania Infantry, who fell

at Spottsylvania in 1802 ; one whose life, yielded up

at the demand of his country, had given the promise

of large usefulness. " He had that fine fibre of man-
hood which is better than genius.'' Rest, beloved son

and afl'ectiouate brother ; soldier of the Republic,

faithful unto death, rest 1

*' Greeu be tlio turf above you, friends of our better days
;

None knew you but to toveyou, none named you but to praise."

Charles Dean, Sr., morocco dresser, died at Soldiers'

Home, Chelsea, May 27, 1887; Hervey Dix, Third

Iowa, who fell in 1801, in a victorious engagement at

Kirksville, Missouri, whose last words were, "The
Third Iowa never surrenders." The lyric muse has

chanted his dirge in a requiem dedicated to his regi-

ment. His fiimiliar form, I doubt not, is present to

the mind's eye of those who knew him.

Stephen Emerson, theological student, graduate of

Harvard College, First Massachusetts Infantry, killed

at Chancellorsville, May 5, 1803. Had this youth re-

turned, he might, perhaps, have been our Laureate. A't

the call to arms he do'tfed his college gown, girt on his

armor, went to the front and died like a hero. " Greater

love hath no man than this, that he lay down his life

for his friends."

Joseph P. Emmons, brickmaker, about twenty-two

years old, a former Maiden school-boy, died at Ander-
sonville. Company I, D. C. Cavalry, and afterwards

Company G, First Maine Cavalry; Wm. H.
Faber, rope-maker, Nineteenth Massachusetts ; an old

Maiden school-boy. Some of you will remember
when the flag was at half-mast in this village, in 1664,

his death having been reported. He recovered, re-

turned and died at home.
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Kphraim nail. Nineteenth Msusachusetts, one of

Iho iU-vfr»'nt men «f ..no of the cleverest regiments

st-nt out by Clio <il>i H:iy State.

Jewif Linoiilii, riiirtytilth >[iu4sai-husetl« ; a smooth-

fatotl lioy. His coniraile rcliites that one morning

when his company was moving out to tlie front, and

Jeiwe, Hi'iik ami debiliated, had been ordered by the

surjreon to remain in camp, ho persisted in following;

••
l?oli looks so lonesome, going otf without me," said

the Ik.v.

Kdwin Lord, First Massachusetts Cavalry. A brave

man.

.loseph .Spoonor, First Massachusetts ; type of stal-

wart New England stock, grand soldier of the glorious

First Massachusetts, whom Hooker led and Cudworth

loved, who was in all the campaigns from the bap-

tismal battle of lllackburn's Ford, in July, 1861, till

one day in 18(14, when the survivors stood before our

war liovernor, who characterized them as " War-worn

and scar- worn veterans."

.lohu Spooncr, Forty-fifth Massachusetts. Younger

brother of the preceding. Somewhere along the

broken line, where the waters of thetrulf beat against

the coast of the Lone Star State, he found a grave.

Augustus S. Stimpson, First Massachusetts Cavalry.

He was a fireman, as was bis comrade. Lord. The

circumstances of this man's life, before he became a

solilier, from week to week, and month to month,

maile him familiar with danger.

William Whittemorc, Korty-fourth Massachusetts.

We could not think of him as dead ; it seemed as

though at any time we might see him approaching

us, with the smile of greeting in his eyes."

The following is the list of names of living com-

rades who enlisted from South Maiden:

fieiirge Alkina, 2<1 Miias.

Bnrtk'U Buldwiii, iBt SIiiss. C»v.

Frank A. Brown, 17t1i Mom., the

first nmn tu cnlUt frum South

Maiden.

SeltaaUiin Cutter.

Chas. H. Dcao, M Ham. C«t.

Dftniol Dosmontl, 3:td Slass.

Jolin Earle.

Cieo. Kniereon, 45th Miu«.

Horaci.' Flneg.

Alexander Greene, Ist Cav.

ThoB. (irover, 45tll Ma«8.

Edward Lawton, 17th Mass.

Fred. Ltnculn, Navj.

Kli8ha A. l.orin^;, :'.i>th Ma«s.

Frank M. Loring, -loth Ma^.

Stephen McMagh.
ilirau) Mills, Navy.

Wm. II. Blirick, ITtli SIobs.

Isaac Newton Organ, :{8tb Mass.

Wni. (\ I'ertlmdy, 33d Ma«8.

Wni, F. J'ike, 5tli and tllst Mass.

Edward I.. Sluite, J^th Muss.

Gulinn 11.Van Voorhis,44th Mas^.

James A. Wallace, 4.'ith Mass.

Andrew J. Bennett, 1st Mass. Lgt.

Battery.

It is to be hoped that a suitable monument may be

erected in our new town cemetery to the soldiers who
fell during the War of the Rebellion.

The Universalist Society, the second religious so-

ciety in South Maiden of those now existing, was
formed in 1865. As near as can be ascertained, re-

ligious services began to be held by them in 1864, but

the earliest record of any meeting for business is

under date of March 28, 186.5, at Badger's Hall. This
meeting was called to order by Wilson Quint. Wil-
liam Johnson was made chairman and R. .M. Barnard
clerk. A committee consisting of Messrs. Quint,

Lewis and Barnard was appointed to make arrange-

ments with Rev. B. K. Ru.ss, of Somerville, to preach

for one year as a supply. The society continued to

worship in Badger's Hall until September, 1872, their

' principal ministers being Rev. T. J. Greenwood, Dr.

A. A. Miner, Rev. H. ,1. Cushman, Rev. L. L. Briggs,

Rev. A. J. Canfield, Rev. W. H. CJudworth and Rev.

W. H. Rider, then a theological student. Just before

the incorporation of the town they completed their

organization as a religious society, July 8, 1809, the

petitioners for tliis jiurjiose being William John.son,

.\nthony Waterman, J. D. Bean, H. M. Currier,

David N. Badger, James Pickering, Thomas Leavitt,

Flisba B. Loring, Elisha A. Loring, Francis B. Wal-

lis, Thomas Lewis, Adams B. Cook, R. M. Barnard,

Philip Ham.
Shortly aflerithejincorporation of the town, a move-

ment was commenced for buililing a church, and on

May 22, 1871, it wjis voted to commence building

when subscriptions reitcbed $3000. On the 24tb of

September, 1871, a building committee was chosen,

consisting of Anthony Waterman, Elisha B. Loring

and R. M. Barnard. On the 19th of October, 1871,

the committee was instructed to commence. The lot

at the corner of Summer Street and Broadway was

purchased, and the corner-stone laid May 14, 1872.

The first religious service was held in the vestry June

22, 1872, and the building was formally dedicated

Wednesday, September 25, 1872, and the first relig-

ious service in the new church was held on the Sun-

day following. This church was remodeled in 1889,

and re-dedicated January 17, 1890, with appropriate

ceremonies.

The first superintendent of the Universalist Sun-

day-school was Mr. Wilson Quint, who was succeeded

by J. D. Bean, Mr. Philip Ham, Isaac E. Coburn,

Rev. R. P. Bush, September 10, 1888, and Mr. A. J.

Bennett. The Sunday-school has increased from 150

in 1879. to 227 in the spring of 1890. The Sunday-

school library contains 550 volumes. The pulpit con-

tinued to be occupied by preachers settled in neigh-

boring towns, principally Rev. Warren H. Cudworth,

until December 1, 1879, when R. Perry Bush, then a

student in the divinity school at Tufts College, was

engaged as a stated supply until April 14, 1880, when
he was unanimously called as pastor, and was in-

stalled June 13, 1880.

The original cost of the building and land was

§10,000, and it had a seating capacity of upwards of

200, which by the remodeling was increased to about

400, at a cost of $9000. It is adorned with memorial

windows, the gift of R. M. Barnard ami Henry
Schrow. The architects of the remodeled building

were Jlessrs. Brigham and Spoflbrd.

In 1866 two new school-houses were erected, one on

Thorndike Street and the other on Ferry Street, at a

cost of about $8500, finished and furnished. Schools

were opened in the lower story of both buildings in

the spring of 1867, the upper stories being left unfin-
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ished until some years later. Both of these buildings

have since been sold. In 1868 a school-house was al-

so erected on Hancock Street at the corner of Hanson

Street, costing for building and land $2165.01. The

tirst school in this building was established in the

spring of 18()9. This school was discontinued in

November, 1874, and the land and building sold at

auction for 4=1 341.17, in 1875.

On July 15, 1 867, a Sunday-school was organized

in the (ilendale District by members of the Young
Men's Christian Association of Maiden, which result-

ed .Tanuary 1, 1S70, in the organization of the (ilen-

dale Union Christian Society, with twelve members,

which purchased the lot of land on which the Glen-

dale Chapel now .stands, August 1, 1872, for $672. In

1882 a movement was inaugurated for building a

house of worship; the corner-stone was laid July (>,

18S2, and the completed edifice was deilicatcd Octo-

ber 11, 1882, the sermon being preached by Rev. W.
F. Mallalieu. The cost of the building and land was

about S2700. A Sunday-school was maintained there

and also occasional religious services until 1888, wlien,

these having been discontinued, the chapel was leased

to the First Liaptist Church in Everett, which, on

December 16, 1888, opened a Mission Sunday-school

there, which had a membership of 126 in December,

1889. The number of volumes in the Sunday-school

library is about 300.

The only other [organization antedating the incor-

poration of the town is that of the Palestine Lodge of

Free Masons, which originated in a meeting held Sep-

tember 2.3, 1868, at which permission was asked of the

Mt. Vernon Lodge of Maiden to form a lodge of Free

and Accepted Masons in South Maiden, and Palestine

was the name agreed upon for the new lodge. The peti-

tion, signed by 14 members of Mt. Vernon Lodge was

granted at the regular communication of Mt. Vernon

Lodge held December 3, 1868. The dispensation was

granted Decembers, 1868, by Charles C. Dane, Grand

Master of the Grand Lodge of Massachusetts. The
Grand Master ai)pointed George W. Pierce, Master;

Henry L. Chase, Senior Warden, and Alfred Tufts

Junior Warden. The first regular communication of

the Palestine Lodge was held in the engine-house

hall, January 14, 1869, at which the organization was

completed, as follows : Treasurer, Thomas Leavitt
;

Secretary, James P. Stewart; Senior Deacon, J.

Franklin Wakefield; Junior Deacon, Philip Ham;
Senior Steward, John G. Berry; Junior Steward, Al

bert W. Lewis; Inside Sentinel, Benjamin Corey;

Marshal, Stephen A. Stimpson; Tyler, Thomas Lea-

vitt ; Chaplain, James Skinner.

The lodge continued to operate under dispensation

until December 8, 1869, when it received a full char-

ter.

The charter members were George W. Pierce, Hen-
ry L. Chase, Alfred Tufts, Thomas Leavitt, James P.

Stewart, J. Franklin Wakefield, Philip Ham, Steph-

en A. Stimpson, Benjamin Corey, Albert W. Lewis,

Henry W. Van Voorhis, John C. Van Voorhis, Peter

Hanson and John G. Berry, the same who petitioned

for the dispensation. But four of 'hese, Messrs. Lea-

vitt, Lewis, Stewart and Ham, still remain nu-mliers
;

Messrs. Pierce, Tufts, Wakefield, Hanson and Stimp-

son have died, and Brothers Chase, H. W. and .1. C.

Van Voorhis, Corey and Berry have withdrawn.

The lodge was formally constituted December 22,

1869, by Gran<l Master William Scwall Gardner, aiul

suite, and the first board of oHicers was installed at

the same meeting. The lodge contimied to hold its

meetings at engine-house hall until the spring of

1872. The need of a building, both for their own and
town purposes, was apparent, and the action of the

town in postponing the erection'of a town hall sug-

gested the idea of erecting a building suitable both

for town and lodge purposes. .\s the result, the Ma-
sonic Building, at the corner of Broadway and Chelsea

Streets was commenced in October, 1870, completed

in 1871, and enlarged in 1872. The lodge moved to

their new hall in the spring of 1872, and the same was

dedicated with a[>propriate ceremonies on Tuesday

evening, June 1 1th, in the same year, by Grand Mas-

ter Sereno D. Nickerson, of the Grand Fjodge of

Massachusetts. The Masters of the lodge have been

as follows: George W. Pierce, 1869-70-71-72; Chas.

D. Stearns, 1873-74 ; Charles F. Atwood, 1875-76

;

Philip Ham, 1877-78; Columbus Corey, 1879-80;

Nathan Nichols, 1881-82; .lohn F. Nichols, Jr.,

1883-84; James A. Wallace, 1885-86; Francis A.

Dyer, 1887-88 ;• George W. Whittemore, 1889-90.

There have been admitted in all 165 members, of

whom eleven have died, thirty-four have been dis-

missed, and fifteen excluded.

With all these developments of local life, (he agi-

tation for incorporation as a separate town, which had
slumbered since 1857, revived in full force. In the

autumn of 1867 petitions were circulated, and, having
obtained numerous signers, were presented in the

uext General Court. The first was that of Hawes
Atwood and sixty-two others, presented by Mr.
Hughes, of Somerville, in the House on Jan. 10, 1868,

for the incorporation of South Maiden as a new town.

Remonstrances were also presented. The attempt

was unsuccessful, and on the 25th of February, 1868,

the committee on towns reported reference to the

next General Court, which, on the 27th of February,

was accepted.

At the next session the effort was renewed, the

petition of Hawes Atwood and others being taken
from the files of the previous year and referred to the

Committee on Towns. January 18, 1869, several ad-

ditional petitions were also filed with some remon-
strances. March 16th the committee again reported

leave to withdraw, but a minority dissented and re-

ported a substitute bill. On the 19th day of March,
the report coming up for consideration, a substitute

bill incorporating the town was moved by Mr. Good-
speed, of Athol, on behalf of the minority of the Com-



592 HISTORY OF MIDPLKSEX COUNTY, MASSACHUSETTS.

mittee on Townii, This bill was debated on two 8UC-

ci'iwive (lay*, and on March 25th was rfjctted by a tie

vote of t)7 to 07, and on the same day the report was

iiccepled, 09 to 07. On the 26tb of March reconsider-

ation was moved, and ihe matter was again debated

on March 3(t, ISO'J, when the motion to reconsider

was rt-jocted by a tie vote of 1<»1 to lul. After this

the report was accepted, thus ending tlie struggle for

that year. The name of Wintlirop having already

been appropriated by another town, it became neces-

sary to subhlitute some other name for the proposed

new town, and Kvcrett was selected at a meeting

held at the t'oiigregalionalist vestry. The vote of the

town of Maiden to purchase the francliise of the Spot

• I'ond Water Company, thus incurring a heavy water

debt, furnished another argument to the petitioners

for 8ei)aration in the struggle of 1870.

At the next session of the Legislature in 1870, there

were two projects before the General Court—one on

petition of K. S. Converse and others to annex the

whole of .Maiden to Boston, on which leave to with-

draw was reported ; another, a petition to incorporate

the town of Kverett. Tetitions came in more numer-

ously than before, there being some 309 petitioners

against 00 remonstrants. The committee, of which

William Cogswell, now member of Congress, was

chairman, reported leave to withdraw February

1 4, 1870, but a minority dissented and reported a

substitute bill, and on February 23d the motion to

substitute the bill was debated the remainder of that

day and a part of the next, when the bill was substi-

tuted—yeas, 120; nays not counted. The next day,

on ordering the bill to a third reading, the vote stood :

yeag, 130 ; nays, 09. Among the distinguished names

recorded in favor of the division were those of T. H.

Sweetser, .1. E. Fitzgerald, 15. F. Mills, Bushrod

Morse, G. II. Ruffin,C. U. Train and A.J. Water-

man (both of the last afterwards attorney-generals)
;

and on the other side. General William Cogswell, A.

W. Beard (late State treasurer, and now collector).

Sehvyn Z. Bowman (afterwards member of Congress),

T. C. Hurd (clerk of courts of Middlesex County),

and J. K. Tarbox (afterwards member of Congress).

The bill was engro-ssed in the House, February

2()th, and sent to the Senate, where, after passing

through [irior stages, it was, on the 3d day of March,

ordered to a third reading, 216 yeas to ten nays,

among the yeas being Messrs. George M. Buttrick,

(now a resident of Everett), C. R. Ladd (afterwards

auditor) and Patrick A. Collins (late member of Con-

gress). The bill was engrossed in the Senate on the

following day, and on March 9th it was enacted in

both Houses and signed by the (governor.

The achievement of this victory after so protracted

a struggle was signalized by great rejoicings in Everett.

On the evening of the day on which the bill was signed

the people gathered in the public square and in the ves-

try of the Congregational Church ; speeches of congrat-

ulation were delivered, and a salute of 100 guns fired,

with other demonstrations of rejoicing. In May the

organization of the new town was celebrated by a

sumptuous collation under one of Yale's largest tents,

in which some six hundred persons participated.

Alonzo H. Evans presided, and, after a short address

of welcome, read letters from the Governor of Mass-

achusetts, the mayor of Boston and other distin-

guished persons. Interesting speeches were also made
by Eieut.-Colonel Parker, Hev. Albert Bryant, Patrick

A. Collins, A. O. Brewster i'.nd others. Among those

prominent in the contest for the incorporation of the

new town were A. 11. Evans, Hawes Atwood, William

Johnson, Anthony Waterman, Stephen H. Kimball,

Henry S. Whitmore, Columbus Corey, William E.

Titcomb and Thomiis Leavitt.

The first town-meeting warrant was issued by James
G. Foster, justice of the peace, March 9, 1870, and the

first town-meeting was held March 21, 1870, in the

vestry of the Congregationalist Church, where the

town-meetings continued to be held during the first

year alter the town was incor|)orated. At this town-

meeting Alonzo H. Evans was chosen moderator,

Joseph H. Caunell, clerk, by 119 votes over J. F.

Wakefield, who had 104 votes, Mr. Cannell having

served by auccesisive re-elections to the present time.

Hawes Atwood cast the first vote. Hawes Atwood,

A. H. Evans, Columbus Corey, Anthony Waterman
and Elisha B. Loring were appointed a committee on

the division of debts, public property, etc., with

Maiden. It was voted to have five selectmen, and the

first board elected, who were also overseers of the

poor, consisted of Henry W. Van Voorhis, Wm. H.
Lounsbury, Elisha B. Loring, George W. Peirce and

P. Richmond Pratt. Of these, George W. Peirce and

Elisha B. Loring have since deceased. Mr. Loring

had filled many places of trust in the parent town of

Maiden, and served by successive re-elections until

March, 1870. He died February 21, 1890, after living

to an advanced age, universally trusted and respected.

James G. Foster, Wm. Johnson and Otis Merriam

were elected assessors. Daniel Euimons was chosen

treasurer, by 116 votes to 104 for P. P. P. Ware,

and served by successive re-elections until January 1,

1880. For School Committee, George S. Marshall

and diaries F. Atwood were elected for three years
;

J. H. Whitman and Wilson Quint for two years, and

James G. Foster and H. M. Currier for one year.

Mr. Quint declined to serve on the School Committee,

and the joint convention of selectmen and School

Committee elected Dr. J. F. Wakefield.

Solomon Shute, Benjamin Corey, E. B. Edmester,

Thomas Leavitt, George Sargent and Timothy Jlur-

phy were elected constables. The number of ballots

cast at the first town-meeting was 232. A code of

by-laws was adopted May 17, 1870. The first audi-

tors, chosen November 8, 1870, were Columbus Corey

and Joseph H. Cannell.

On the 4th of April the following approi>ria-

tions were made ; For schools, including contingent,
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$8000.00 ; highways, $3500.00 ; sahiriea of town offi-

cers, $835.00 ;
poor, $500.00 ; Fire Dcpiirtiiient,

$200.00 ;
contingent, $3000.00 ; street himps, $500.00

;

bridges, $500.00 ; interest on town debt, $3000.00.

The-so—witli tlio State ta.x, $2720,40; county tax,

$1100.91; overhiys, $974.53—made a total tax levied

the fir.st year of $24,845.84.

The number of dwelling-houses in town May 1,

1870, was 414; the number of acres of land taxed,

1959, or about 120 acres greater than it is at present,

120 acres west of Maiden River having been set off

to Medford in 1875 ; the number of children be-

tween five and tifteeu years of age, 432.

In tlic division of tlie town property, the town of

Everett received all the real estate located within its

limits, willi some personal property, valued in all at

$37,(>0t).99, and in consideration of same, it assumed

$38,500.00 of the debt of the old town. As showing

the changes in the rates of interest, it may be re-

marked that the first loan procured by the town of

Everett bore seven per cent, interest, and this rate

was paid for several years. By the report made to

the secretary of the Board of Agriculture, by the

town clerk, October 17, 1870, it appears that there

were at that time twenty-six miles of streets, four

having been laid out and accepted tlie first year, viz.

:

Lincoln Street, Fremont Avenue, Garland Street, and

Oak Street, now called Central Avenue.

The school accommodations of the town at that

time consisted of the old Centre School-house, with

two small rooms and one large one; the Gleudale

School-house, with two small rooms, and the Han-
cock Street, Ferry Street and Thorudike Street

School-houses, with one finished room each.

Among the first things that came up for considera-

tion by the new town, was that of providing a Town-
House, which was indefinitely postponed ; the pro-

posed alterations in the old Centre School-house

met the same fate. At a town-meeting held January

11, 1871, it was voted to lease the hall and offices in

the Masonic building for town purposes. The first

town-meeting in Everett Hall was held March 28,

1871, where all subsequent town-meetings have been

held.

The incorporation of the town gave a marked im-

petus to all kinds of local improvement. Several

additional tracts of land were laid out into house-

lots, and opened to settlement, and the increase in

population and wealth the first five years was very

rapid, the population increasing from 2220 in 1870,

to 3051 in 1875, and the valuation from $1,736,379.00

to $4,404,650.00.

Nor was it in material growth only that this pros-

perity was manifested. Two religious societies,

the Baptist and Methodist, came into existence

within the first two years after the town was incor-

porated. The Methodist Church originated in a

class-meeting held at the house of Joseph Ladd,

April 12, 1870. The society was formally organized

38-iii

October 11, 1870, and ground was broken for their

church on the same day. The church had sixteen

constitueut members. The first pastor was Rev. W.
F. Mallalieu, D.D. The corner-stone of the new edi-

fice was laid December 19, 1870, and the completed

structure was dedicated May 24, 1871, the cost of the

building and land being $14,000. Rev. William

Cheney was pastor from April, 1871, until April, 1872
;

Rev. Edward \V. Virgin from April, 1S72, to April,

1875; Rev. Edward P. King from April, 1875, to

April, 1878; Rev. Edward R. Thorndike from April,

1878, to April, 1881 ; Rev. Thonuis Corwin Watkins
from Ai)ril, 1881, to April, 1884; Rev. J. W. Dear-

born from April, 1884, to April, 1887; Rev. F. T.

Pomeroy from April, 1887, to April, 1890, and Rev.

Charles Young from April, 1890, to date.

The Sunday-school, which numbered in .\prll, 1890,

352, as compared with" 198 in 1879, was organized May
28, 1871. Charles W. .Tohnson was the first superin-

tendent, and served four years. The parsonage was

built in 1875. The membership of the church in

April, 1890, was 218 and 14 probationers, as compared

with 128 members and 14 probationers in 1879. The
church was seated with pews in place of settees,

which had been previously used, in 1886, at a cost of

$500. The number of volumes in the Sunday-school

library is 500. The total amount of money raised for

church expenses from the date of organization has

been $35,000.

Until 1882 this church was burdened with a heavy

debt. Sunday, June 4, 1882, w:is set apart for raising

the debt, and voluntary subscriptions were asked for

and some $4000 were pledged, to be paid in two
years in four payments. The pastor, Rev. T. C. Wat-
kins, labored indefatigably to make up the remainder,

and his efforts were finally crowned with success. To
him belongs the honor of being the pioneer in the

movement for raising the church debts in Everett,

and within a very few years every other church in

town, stimulated by the example of the Methodists,

had likewise paid its church debt. On Tuesday, July

4, 1882, subscriptions having been made covering the

total amount of the church debt of $8000, the event

was commemorated by ajubilee in Library Hall.

The Baptist Church started about a j'ear later than

the Methodist. The first meeting was held at the

house of Levi Brown, on Charlestown Street, April 5,

1871, at which it was ascertained that there were some
forty residents of Everett who were members of Bap-
tist Churches, besides others of Baptist sentiments. On
Sunday, April 9, 1871, the first public religious .service

was held, consisting of a prayer-meeting in Everett

Hall, followed by the organization of a Sunday -.school.

Deacon Levi Pierce was moderator, and Mr. J. H.
Parker, of Maiden, was the first superintendent, and
5. H. Kimball the first treasurer.

On June 8, 1871, a meeting was held at Levi Brown's

house for the purpose of organizing a church, and a

nucleus was there formed- The church was formally
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constituted July 8. 1871, with thirty-two charter

iiiemb«r8, l.y ii council of which Rev. G. W. Gardner.

O.I)., wiw iiKxIorator. The sermon mm preached by

Kev. S. W. Koljaml.e. of Maiden. W. O. Dodge was

elected first cUrk ; Dr. Levi I'ierce, treasurer, who

reHi);ncd and wiw snccecded by G. L. Packard. P.

F. I'acknrd ami Levi Pierce were the first deacons.

For several months Mr. J. H. Arthur, a student in

the Newton Theological Seminary, afterwards a

miasionary in Japan and i-iuce deceased, labored with

great snccess, and gathered in a large nnmber of

members. IJev. W. F. Stubbert was called to the

pastorate October 10, 1871. but declined. On .lanuary

22, lHff2, a unanimous call was extended to Rev.

William H. Smith, who accepted the call and com-

menced Ills labors on the first Sunday in February,

1872. lie was installed May 9, 1S72. This pa.storate

was of slicirl duration, as dis.sension8 soon sprang up

in the church. Jlr. Smith resigned, and his resig-

nation was accepted April 11, 1873, to take ell'cct

Jlay 1st.

On the 24th of September, 1873, the church was

formally organized as a corporation, and, on the 15th

of October following, purchased the lot of land on

which its church edifice stands, from David N.

Badger. The corner-stone of the church was laid

June 24, 1874, by Rev. S. W. Foljambe. During a

considerable portion of the period since Mr. Smith's

resignation the pulpit had been supplied by Rev. .1.

R. Stul)bert, a student in Newton Seminary. On the

22d day of September the church was formally

dedicated, and Rev. Frank B. Sleeper, who had been

called to the pastorate July 8, 1874, was installed.

The first Sunday service in the new church was held

September 27, 1874. There were seventy-three

members at the date of the dedication, and eighty-

three in the Sunday-school. The land, building and

furnishing cost about $13,000. The building has a

seating capacity of about 280 in the main part, and

seventy-five in the vestry. Mr. Sleeper continued

pastor until November 25, 1877, when he resigned and

accepted a call to the First Baptist Church in

Gardner. For some time after this the church was

without a pastor, but depended upon supplies for

preaching, among whom Rev. L. G. Barrett deserves

mention as one whose labors were especially fruitful.

September 23. 1878, a call was extended to Rev. W.
F. Stubbert, D.D., of Bloomfield, N. J., who had been

preaching for the church since May. He consented

to remain for a time, but closed his labors January

25, 1879, after a short but most useful pastorate, in

which he did much to restore and encourage the

church. Rev. L. L. Potter, then a student, was em-

ployed for six months, April 7, 1879. The church

then numbered 135. Mr. Potter was called as a

permanent pastor, and was formally installed October

9, 1879. His pastorate lasted but about a year, as be

resigned September 5, 1880, and closed his labors

September 30th. The pulpit was then supplied for

gome time by Rev. A. N. Dary, who was called to the

pastorate February 25th, while still a student at

Newton, and ordained August 4, 1881. He resigned

September 23, 1883, and closed his labors October 1st.

Rev. William O. Ayer, was called January 1, 1884,

anil began bis labors with the church February 10th,

and was installed February 2(;, 1884. During his

pastorate, stimulated by the example of iheMelhodists

the church resolved to pay off its debt, which

amounted to upwards of $5200. The day chosen to

invite pledges for this purpose was Easter Sunday,

Ai)ril 13, 1884, when, after a sermon appro])riate to

the occasion, pledges were invited, and in less than

one hour the whole amount was guaranteed, the final

payment being made in March, 1887. During the

year 1886 extensive repairs were made on the church.

The Sundav-school has had, beside* Mr. John H.

Parker, ofMaiden, four superintendents, viz.: William

O. Dodge, N. J. Mead, R. A. Edwards and Amos
E. Hall, the jjresent incumbent. There are about

500 volumes in the Sunday-school library. Rev. W.
0. Ayer resigned June 20th, and closed his labors

June 29, 1890, after a useful and successful pastorate

of nearly six and one-half years, during which the

membership of the church was increased from 174 to

271, a net gain of 97. The number of persons baptized

was eighty five.

The educational wants of the town received early

attention. The upper story of the Ferry Street

School-house was finished, and a grammar school

opened there in the autumn of 1870, which three

years later was reduced to a sub-grammar grade. A
movement was started in 1871 to erect a new and

commodious school-house in place of the old Centre

building, which had been standing nearly a quarter

of a century, but this was defeated, and instead, the

Centre School-house was remodeled and refurnished

with improved seats and desks, which had previously

been of an antiquated design.

In the autumn of 1870, although the population of

the town had not reached the number essential to

make a High School obligatory, a beginning was

made at the Centre School-house with a class of six-

teen, of whom five graduated in 1874—the first grad-

uating class. The school has been from the com-

mencement under the charge of Mr. R. A. Rideout,

who had been from 1866 a teacher in the Centre

Grammar School, first of South Maiden and after-

wards of Everett. The whole number of different

pupils connected with the High School since its estab-

lishment has been 379, of whom sixty-nine have taken

a business course of two years. The number of gradu-

ates has been 122, several of whom have served the

town with credit as teachers in the public schools,

while others have filled other positions of usefulness.

In the thirteen years from the establishment of the

Maiden High School in 1857 to 1870, inclusive, only

fourteen pupils from South Maiden graduated from

that institution. The Everett High School was kept
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first in the old Centre School-house, from which it

was removed to the third floor of the Miisoiiic build-

ingiii 1S72, iiiid from tliat to the Locust Street School-

house in 1875, where it remained until 18S1, when

it had dwindled to only fifteen pupils. In 1882 it

was removed to its present quarters, where it has

shown a marked increase in numbers until within

the past year. An assistant was first employed in

1872; a second assistant wa.s employed in 1880.

Among our educational iiistitulioiis should be men-

tioned the Home School, established April 15,1874,

and at first kept in the Cuneo Building near Everett

Square. In 1875 it was removed to a building erected

for its use next southwest of the Congregational

Church, where it remained until 1880. It was at first

under the charge of Sirs. A. V. I'otter and Miss O. J.

Pierce, and after the retirement of Jliss I'ierce was

continued under the management of the former. In

June, 18sO, it awarded dii)lomas to its first graduates.

In September of the same year a college preparatory

department was a<lded. Subse(]uently a branch of

the school was opened at Natick in 18S5 ami has been

very successful.

Owing to the rapid growth of the town a more re-

tired location was found to be desirable, and in 1888

a tract of land on the corner of Summer and Argyle

Streets, containing 40,000 square feet, was purchased,

and in the following year a large and commodious

edifice was erected, which was opened for the school

in September, 1889. The architect was Mr. Geo. F.

Wallis, the builder Mr. G. H. Peters, of Everett. The
elevated location of the building commands a flue

view of the surrounding country, and the school has

been equipi)ed with all the appliances for doing the

best work. The course of study embraces four years.

Although the introduction of water by the town of

Maiden was one of the prominent grievances urged

as a ground of separation, Everett had not been in-

corporated more than a year before the necessity of a

water supply became apparent, and on the 29th of

March, 1871, a committee of five was chosen, consist-

ing of Otis Merriam, Anthony Waterman, Lewis P.

True, W. H. Lounsbury and George S. Marshall, to

see what arrangements could be made for a supply (il

pure water from the city of Charlestown, and also tu

meet a committee of the Legislature for the purpose

of securing the necessary legal authority.

On June 29, 1871, the act of the Legislature of

April 19, 1871, authorizing the introduction of water,

was accepted, and a committee of five, consisting of

Alonzo H. Evans, W. H. Lounsbury, Otis Merriam,

Anthony Waterman and Lewis P. True, was appointed

to procure estimates from ditferent sources, and tore-

port on the best plan. On the 5th of September this

committee reported, their report was accepted, and the

town voted by a large majority to introduce water,

and to authorize the treasurer to issue bonds of the

town, to an amount not exceeding $50,000.00, for a

term of twenty years, at a rate of six per cent, inter-

est per annum, to defray the expense of the introduc-

tion of water. It was estimated that this sum would

be sullicient to lay nine and one-fourth miles of pipe.

Otis Merriam, II. W. Van Voorhis, .Vlonzo II. Evans,

W. II. Lounsbury and Charles AVoodberry were

chosen water commissioners, with full powers for

making all contracts and laying all pipes. Thiscom-
millee entered into a contract with the city of Char-

lestown, October ;'), 1871, by virtue of which the city

of Charlestown was to furnish water, the town of Ev-
erett to lay and maintain the necessary pipes and
structures for the distribution of the water, the city

of Charlestown receiving eighty-five per cent, of the

water rates, Everett receiving only fifteen per cent.

The water commissioners concluded a contract with

George II. Norman, of Newport, Ilboile Island, Octo-

ber 11, 1871, for laying 40,000 or more feet of pipe,

with seventy-five hydrants and gates for same, for the

sum of $4t;,G40.00, of which 5000 feet were to be ten-

inch pipe, 4000 feet eight-inch, 18,000 feet six-inch,

and 13,000 feet four-inch pipe. The work of laying

the pipes was not commenced till early in October,

but before it could be completed cold weather set in,

and it was necessary to suspend operations until the

following spring. About 23,000 feet of pipe had been

laid. The original estimate of $50,000.00 having

proved insufficient, the town was authorized by the

Legislature to expend a further sum of $50,000.00, to

be raised by taxation or borrowing. The town, on
April 22, 1872, accepted this act, and authorized the

further issue of bonds, like those previously issued,

to the amount of $50,000.00. The work was resumed

as soon as the spring opened and carried forward

without interruption, until about thirteen miles, or

three and three-fourths miles more than the original

estimate, had been constructed. Water was intro-

duced May 1, 1872. The cost of the works to Febru-

ary 28, 1873, was about $84,000.00.

The burdensome contract with the city of Charles-

town continued in force until June 1, 1880, when,

through the eftbits of a committee, consisting of

Thomas Leavitt, F. P. Bennett, Geo. Taylor, I. T. Win-
chester, N. J. Mead, G. F. Foster and Daniel Russell,

a modification of this contract was secured, by which

Everett has received fifty per cent, of the water rates

since July 1, 1886.

The water-works were further improved in 1888 by

the construction of a plant for providing a high-water

service, which was put in successful operation in July,

1888, the entire cost being less than $10,000.00, this

including the purchase of a lot of land, the erection

of a pumping-station on Irving Street, with the neces-

sary machinery, and also thei)urchaBeof land and the

erection of a reservoir on Mt. Washington.

The total expenditures on account of the Water De-
partment to DecemberSl, 1889, have been $159,255.49,

besides $2853.77 expended for hydrants, about $10,-

000.00 for the high-water service, and $103,020.00 for

interest on the water debt to Dec. 31, 1889. Of this
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amount, *i:.i..-.;. rmvi;ien proTided for by taxa-

tion. Tilt' water rates roieiveJ from the incorpora-

tion of the town to Deii-Mil.er31, 18S9, were *4G,r)52.72,

of which about $;!0,(X»0.00 liave been received itince

the uiodificntion of the water contract in ISSG. The

receipts in ISS'J were $10,003.39, and in 1890 about

$11,000.00, the receipts being now adequate to pay

the cost of maintenance of the waterworks and the

interest on the water debt, besides providing a sink-

ing fund. It is probal>le that it will be unnecessary

to impose any further burden on the t:ix-payers on

account of the water-works, and that taxation may

thus be materially reduced. The gross amount of the

water debt December .'il, 1889, was $100,000.00. The

total amount of pipe laid to December 31, 1889, was

lot;,319 feet, or about twenty miles, of which 12,444

feel were two-inch pipe, 941 feet of three-inch, 46704

feet of four-inch. 47,021 feet of six-inch, 2G81 feet of

eight-inch, and 7128 feet of ten-inch pipe.

The Everett Lodge of Odd Fellows was instituted

March 18, 1875, with fifteen charter members, as fol-

lows: X. r. Ferguson, CO. Sanborn, Carlos E. Bolton,

W. \V. Bullock, Nathan B. Raymond, J. O. W. Dear-

ing, William Tyzzer, Jr., Josiah A. Kingman, William

11. I'ierce, George A. Colby, Joseph W. Bartlett, A.

B. Robinson, David Smith, George W. Paine and S.

C. Currier. The first meeting was held in theM.^souic

Hall, through the kindness of Palestine Lodge, and

subsciiuent meetings were held in Everett small hall

until July 18, 1875, when the lodge moved into a room

fitted up for that purpose on the third floor of the

Masonic Building, where they remained until April,

1888, when, having purchased the present fine brick

Odd Fellows' Building, formerly known as the Library

Building, and having fitted up the third floor for a

lodge-room, they moved into their present quarters,

which were dedicated with appropriate exercises May

2, 1888. The membership of the lodge in the Spring

of 1890 was 180, as compared with 69 in the year 1879.

A. F. Ferguson was Noble Grand for thirteen years,

being succeeded by Walter C. Day, who at present

fills that position.

The rapid increase of population made it evident

that new school accommodations would soon be re-

quired. The upper story of the Thorndike School-

house was finished in 1873 at a cost of about $1000,

and a new school was opened there in the fall of 1873.

la the spring of 1873 plans were brought forward for

the erection of two new school-houses, one at Mt.

Washington and the other at Locust Street. The Mt.

Washington School-house project was defeated. Fav-

orable action was at first secured upon the Locust Street

School-house, but at a subsequent meeting reconsid-

eration prevailed, and the matter went over until the

spring of 1874, when an appropriation of $8000 was

made, to which §800 was later added from the school

appropriation.

The cost of the land, 15,020 square feet was, .S2388.-

50, and the building erected, by Mead, Mason & Co.,

cost $5253, making a total coat of land, building,

furnaces, $8826, without finishing the upper story.

Two schools were opened in the building in Novem-

ber, 1874, and in 1875 the upper story was finished at

a cost of about $1350, bringing the total cost to about

$10,786. The building was further enlarged in 1SS8,

by the addition of four school- rooms, besides addition-

al hall room, the old building being moved back.

The architects were Messrs. Brigham and Spo fiord,

and the contractor Mr. G. M. Coan, and the appro-

priation for the same was !?7000. An additional lot

of land in the rear was purchased for .'fI900 in 1889,

and the total cost of the building as it stands has been

upwards of $20,500. Largely through the efforts of

Mr. S. C. Currier, a town clock was procured and

placed in the tower of this school-house in 1889, and

the event was celebrated by a gathering at the school-

house, at which addresses were made by various citi-

zens.

The building of the Mt. Washington School-liouse

was delayed until 1877, when an appropriation of

$5000 was made at a town-meeting held March 8,

1877. The original lot of land, consisting of 12,779

scjuare feet, was purchased of the Boston Five Cents

Saving Bank for $1277.90 (ten cents per foot). The
plan was drawn by G. F. Wallis, and the building

erected by J. H. Kibby & Son, of Chelsea, costing,

with the upper story unfinished, about $6000. Schools

were opened iu the lower story in the s|)ring of 1878.

The upper story was finished in 1S8U, and the building

was reconstructed and enlarged, as it now is, in 1887.

the architects being Brigham & SpofTord, and the con-

tractor, J. A. Corkum. The lot has also been enlarged

by the purchase of 19,000 feet of additional land,

and the whole cost of building and land as they now
stand has been upwards of $16,500.

During the period of hard times, from 1875 to 1881,

the educational interests of the town suffered se-

verely. The population of the centre of the town

outgrew the accommodations furnished in the old

Centre School-house, and in 1876 Badger's Hall, since

remodeled into dwelling-houses, was engaged, and a

primary school opened iu the same. This sufficed

for two years, when the necessity of further enlarge-

ment compelled the hiring of a room over the present

store of I. T. Winchester, where a school, first of the

intermediate, but aftersvards of the primary grade,

was located. At a town-meeting held Juiy 15, 1878,

a motion to appoint a committee to consider the

matter of purchasing a lot of land and erecting

another Centre School-house there, was defeated by a

vote of 143 to 29. On May 27, 1879, another similar

eff'ort was defeated by a vote of 93 to 60.

In the spring of 1881 a committee of nine, ap-

pointed in November, 1880, to consider the subject of

school accommodations in concurrence with the

School Committee, reported in favor of additional

accommodations, both for the Centre and the Mystic

Village Districts. An appropriation of $6000 was
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made for the latter, with little opposition in addition

to the proceeds realized from the sale of the old

Tliorndike Street School-house, making an available

fund of SG600, with which the prej'eut Thorndike

Street School-house was erected in the same year,

three schools being opened in the building in the

following autumn. The architect of the building

was Tristram Grifhii, and the contractor, Joel Snow.

The proposal for an additional Centre School-house

encountered a bitter opposition, extending until late

in the night at several successive town-meetings ; but,

notwithstanding all the opposition, an appropriation

of 112,000.00 was secured, and a building committee

selected. The lot of land on Church Street, contain-

ing 19,088 feet, was purchased of M. G. Turner, for

$2278.40, on the 10th of May ; the fillitig and grading

of the lot cost $470.70. Mr. Tristram Griffin was the

architect. Ground was broken for the building Janu-

ary 21, 1881 ; the foundation was constructed by Mr,

W. M. Dodge for $940.00. The contract for the

building above the foundation was awarded to

Kichardson & Young, of Boston. The cost of the

building, aside from the furnishings and blackboards,

was 17384.70. The furnaces and other appliances

brought the total up to the appropriation of $12,000.

The building was dedicated on January 2, 1882, with

appropriate ceremonies, in which the Hon. .John D.

Long, then Governor, and Hon. J. W. Dickinson,

secretary of the Board of Education, participated.

It was not the building in itself which elicited this

marked demonstration, but the fact that it marked a

turning-point in the educational history of Everett,

which has been steadily onward from that day to the

present time. The building was first occupied for

school purposes Monday, January 9, 1882. The lot

was further enlarged later in the year, by the pur-

chase of additional land between the original lot and

Liberty Street, at a cost of $1000.00, giving a total

area of 26,49-5 square feet. In 1886 the building was

enlarged by adding two rooms for the lower grades,

and one room of double size for the High School, with

suitable recitation rooms. The enlargement was de-

signed by Mr. Tristram Griffin, the former architect,

and the 'additions were constructed by the foi-mer

contractors, Richardstm & Young, of Boston, the

foundation being the work of Patrick Linehan,

of Maiden. The total cost of the addition was $7000.00.

In it are the High School, and six schools of the

primary and intermediate grades.

In 1885 the Glendale School-house, after being in

service for thirty-one years, could no longer ac-

commodate the increased school population of that

district, find at a town-meeting, held March 10, 188-5,

an approj#iation of $6500, with the proceeds realized

from the sale of the old building, was made for

the erection of a four-room school-house on the

old site. The architect employed by the building

committee was John Lyman Faxon, and the contract-

ors were Mead, Mason & Company. The building

contains four rooms, and the total cost of the

edifice, with eleven thousand five hundred and

seven feet of additional land purclia.sed in the rear

and heating apparatus, was about $8300, of which

the contractors received $0625. Four schools, much
better graded than before, were opened in the new
building in November, 1885.

Within two years after the enlargement of the

Church Street School-house in 1886, so rapid wjis the

increase of population that the Centre schools began

to be again over-crowded, and complaints were made
as to the sanitary condition of the old Centre School-

house, which at the incorporation of the town was

far the best of our school-houses. A committee of

nine was appointed to consider the subject, and this

committee reported unanimously in favor of selling,

or otherwise disposing of, the old Centre School-house,

and of appropriating the sum of $25,000 for the purpose

of erecting a brick school-house in the central i)artof

the town sufficient to contain eight rooms, each 28 by

36 feet. The appropriation recommended was unani-

mously piussed, and the matter of erecting the building

was committed to the same committee, and this com-

mittee purchased twenty-two thousand square feet of

land at the junction of Broadway and Broadway
Court, at eighteen cents per square foot, making the

total cost of the land $3960. The committee em-
ployed Wesley L. Minor as architect. The founda-

tions were constructed by Patrick Linehan, of Maiden,

at an expense of .$988.25, and the building contract,

above the foundations, was awarded to Mead, Mason
& Company, at the price of $18,722, to which extras

amounting to upwards of $2000 must be added.

Various other items have brought the cost to date up

to $27,941.86, and there is still an unsettled claim on

account of the contractors. Ou the 23d of September,

1889, three schools were opened in the Broadwav
School-house, and on the 14th of October the last of

the remaining schools in the old Centre School-house

was removed to the new building. The old building

was thus finally abandoned, after a continuous service

for school purposes by the towns of Maiden and Ever-

ett of forty-two years.

The erection of the Broadway School-house C(mi-

pleted the entire reconstruction of the school accom-

modations of the town of Everett. There remained

no longer a solitary school-house inherited from the

town of Maiden. Everett has now six large, com-
modious and fairly well ventilated school-houses con-

taining thirty-nine school-rooms, with a seating

capacity of two thousand and twentj'-nine, and two

recitation rooms—all costing $103,275. '['he town
employs thirty-eight teachers. Within the past two
years these school-houses have been provided with

electric one-session signals.

The subject of an evening school had been agitated

for some years, but never took shape until 1889. On
the 19th day of March, pursuant to the recommenda-
tion of the School Committee, an appro]iria(ion of
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f500 wan made, and on the 16th day of October fol-

lowing, after the legal notices had been given, an

evening school was opened in the Broadway School-

house, the 8c(wioii8 being maintained Monday, Tues-

day, WedncKdiiy and Thursday evenings from 7.30 to

tl.;iO. The uninber of dillerenl achohirs attending

duringthe first term was 115, the largest number at any

one se.s.sion wi\s «t, and the average number present

for the whole term, ending Friday, Dec. 20th, was 2!».

The oldest scholar attending wiis 41 years of age, the

youngest 13, and the average age was 15 2-15 years.

This institution affonls a means of education to any

who have previously enjoyed very limited opportuni-

ties in this direction, ami bid.s fair to achieve perma-

nent Usefulness.

For five years after it« incorporation, Everett was an

integral part of the representjitive district, consisting

of Maiden, .Si.merville !ind Everett, represented in the

Legi.slalurc by three members. The first ell'ort to se-

cure a representation from Everett was in tlie autumn

of 1872, when A lonzo II. Evans received the nomi-

nation at a Republican caucus and was elected. As

Everett was a small part of the district, it did not

secure representation again until 1875, when Mr.

Evans was again nominated and elected, having thus

served in the Legislatures of 1873 and 1870, both

years on the C'ommiitee on Banks and Banking.

In 1876 the re-arrangement of the districts as-

sociated Everett with Maiden as a district having two

representatives, of which, by agreement with Mai-

den, Everett was to have six representatives in

ten years. The first representative in the new

district was George S. Marshall, who was nomi-

nated after an animated contest in the largest

caucus ever held in Everett up to that time, by

a vote of 150 to 140 for Robert M. Barnard, and

was elected in November, 1877, serving in the Legis-

lature of 1878 on the Committee on Banks and Bank-

ing. He was re-elected in 1879, serving in the Legis-

lature of 1880 on the Committee on Education.

William Johnson was elected as his successor in

1880, serving in the Legislature in 1881 on the Com-
mittee on^Woman's Suffrage. He was succeeded in

1882 by George E. Smith, Esq., who was elected, after

a spirited contest at the polls, over our late esteemed

fellow-citizen, John S. Nichols. Mr. Smith was re-

elected in 1883, thus serving in the Legislatures of

1883 and 1884, on the Committee on Education in

1883, in 1884 on the Committee on Taxation ; also as

House chairman of the Committee on Roads and

Bridges.

He was succeeded in 1885 by Dudley P. Bailey,

who was the la-st representative from Everett in the

old district. In 1886 Everett became a district by it-

self, entitled to one representative, and Mr. Bailey

was re-elected as the first representative in the new
district, serving in the Legislatures of 1886 and '87

aa House chairman of the Committee on Taxation in

both years, and on the Committee on Probate and In-

solvency in 1887. He was succeeded by Joseph H.

Cannell, who was elected in 1887, and re-elected iii

1888, serving in the Legislatures of 1888 and 1889 on

the Committee on Street Railways. In the caucus of

1889 the candidates were Adams B. Cook, Thomas

Leavitt and John S. Cate, the latter being nominated

and elected, serving in the Legislature of 1890 on the

Committee on Street Railways.

All of the foregoing representatives elected have

been Republicans. The Democratic nominees from

Everett who have contested the elections have been

as follows: 1871, Joseph E. Nichols; 1872, Columbus

Corey ; 1873, E. A. Alger, Jr., and C. Corey; 1874, C.

Corey; 1875, J. E. Nichols; 187G, J. E. Nichols;

1877, Daniel Kmmons; 1878, Daniel Emmons, (Demo-

cratic) and Alfred Tufts ((Ireenback) ; 1879, Wear T.

Melvin, (Butler Dem.) and George F. Foster (Reg.

Dem.); 1880, Charles F. Atwood; 1881, Charles F.

.Vtwood; 1882, John S. Nichols, Sr. ; 1883, Charles F.

Atwood; 1885, Otis W. Greene; 1886, Woodbury A.

Ham; 1887, Charles 0. Nichols; 1888, William

Bassett.'

Everett has never been represented in the Senate

until two years ago. In 1874, Alonzo H. Evans,

the first representative, was nominated, but in the

great political avalanche of that year he was defeated.

From this time, owing to local'jealousies, no candi-

date from Everett succeeded in securing the nom-

ination of the Senatorial District Convention until

1888, when Mr. Evans was nominated and elected,

being re-elected in the autumn of 1889, and serving

in the Senate in 1889 and 1890. In both years he was

chairman of the Senate Committee on Banks and

Banking, and served .also on the Committee on Taxa-

tion.

It would be interesting to write our political history

more in det.ail, but it would be a very delicate sub-

ject to tre.at, and it is perhaps better that many of the

local contests of the past should not go into history.

As a part of our local municipal history the follow-

ing names of the different citizens who have filled

the more important town offices since the incorpora-

tion of the town are presented :

Selectmen : W. H, Lounabury, 1870-72 ; H. W. Tan Voorbis, 1S70-72 ;

George W. Pierce, 1870-71 ; E. B. Loring, 1S70-75 ; P. Kicbniond Pratt,

1870-71 ; Josepb E. Nicbols, 1871-7:! ; Columbus Corey, 1871-70 ; Clarke

Thompson, 1872-70; Lewis P. True, 1872-74, 1880-87; Samuel J. Cox,

I87:)-75, 1877-80 ; Philip Ham, 1874-70, 1880-8:! ; Charles F. Atwood,

1870-79 ; Adams B. Cook, 1870-79, 1880-81 ; Woodbury A. Ham, 1679-

80, 1881-83; Guliau H. Van Voorhis, 1879-80, 1887-90; Nathaniel J.

Mead, 1880-81 ; Isaac T. Winchester, 1881-83, 1884-86 ; Geo. F. Foster,

1S83-S4; Fred. Johnson, 1883-84; Harden Palmer, 1883-86; Nathaniel

B. Plummer, 1884-80 ; Frank P. Bennett, 1886-87 : Francis E. Dyer,

1880-90 ; John S. Cote, 1887-89 ; Charles H. Spencer, 1889-90.

Clerk : Joseph H. Cannell, 1870-90.

Treasurer: Daniel Emmons, 1870 to Jan . 1, 1880 ; \Vm. Johnson, 1880-

80; Joseph E. Nichols, 1886-90; Nathan Nichols, 1890. Blr. Johnson

died in office in 1886, his fellow-citizens testifying their regard for him

1 In 1889 there was no Democratic candidate for representative, and

the opposition concentrated on Tbomaa Leavitt, Independent Bepubll-
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by re-eloctiug Uiiii while on bis dying beil. Appropriate resolutions

wore passed in Iionor of him in town-nieetinp, April 27, 1886.

Assessors : Wni. Johnson, 1S70-8I1 ; Jiia. 0. Foster, 1870-74 ; Otia Mer-

riam, 187(1-73; Robert M. Barnard, 1872-73; Joseph E. Nichols, 1870-

78, 1880-87 ; Henry W. Van Voorbis, 1876-78, 1880-S6 ; Columbus I'oley,

1877-87,1890; Francis E. Dyer, 1878-80; Albert W. Lewis, 1880-00;

Amos Roberts, 1887-89; Geo. G. Ladd, J8S7-90 ; Duuiel 0. Dearborn,

1880-90.

School Committee : Jas. G. Foster, 1870-71 ; H. M. Currier, 1870-73
;

Geo. S. Marshall, 1870-73, 1876-79; Chas. F. Atwood, 1870-76 ; Dr. J.

F. WakeHeld, 1870-71, 1881-84
; J. H. Whitman, 1870-73 ; G. C. Hickok,

1871-82, 1886-87 ; Andrew J. Bennett, 1872-74 ; E. A. Alger, Jr., 1873-

74 ; Dudley P. Bailey, 1873-74, 1876-80, 1882-90 ; Albert W. Lewis,

1874-78, 1879-90; John H. Burt, 1874-70 ; Isaac E.Coburn, 1874-77; Fran-

cis E. Dyer, 1874-78 ; Harden Palmer, 1877-83 ; James B. Everett,

1878-81 ; Henry A. Tenny, 1S7S-81, 1883-85 ; Stephen F. Hoogs, 1880-

85, 1886-89, 1890 ; Nathan Nichols, 1880-90 ; John C. Spofford, 188G-90
;

Geo. M. Buttrick, 1887-00; Itoscoe E. Brown, 1869-90; Geo. N. P.

Mead, 1880-90 ; Mary 0. Bullfinch, 1889-90 ; Sarah J. Clough, 1889-90;

Darius Hadley, 1890.

Auditors: Columbus Corey, 1870-71; J. H. Cannell, 1870-76; Thos.

Leavitt, 1871-74, 1875-76 ; George F. Foster, 1872-73, 1874-75, 1878-79
;

A. F. Ferguson, 1874-7.'), 1S7B-S0 ; S. A. Stimson, 1870-77, 1888-89; H.

A. Tenney, 1877-79 . Charles E. Jennings, 1S79-83 ; Frank P. Bennett,

1879-81; Geo. H, Burr, 1881-80, 1889-90; Henry K. Veazie, 1883-90;

Chaa. C. Nichols, 18S6-88; Henry E.Taylor, 1890.

The first Water Committee consisted of five persons, to be elected an-

nually, pursuant to chapter 205. of the acts of 1871. The persons

chosen on this conunittee were Charles Woodberry, Wm. H. Lounsbury,

H. W. Van Voorhis, Otis Merriam, A. H. Evans, and they served for

two years, when they were succeeded by the Water Board elected pur-

suant to chapter 6S of the acts of 1873, %vho liavo been as follows : W.
H. Lounsbury, 1873-70; Irving A. Evans, 1873-74 ; Geo. F. Foster,

1873-74; Thos. Leavitt, 1874-80, 1882-00; Chas. D. Stearns, 1874-77;

Chaa. W. Merrill, 1870-78 ; Stephen A. Stimson, 1877-81
; Nathan Nich-

ols, 1879-82
; Nathan B. Smith, 1880-82 ; Geo. Taylor, 1882-85 ; Daniel

Russell, Jr., 1882-S6, 1890; Kobert H. Jenkins, 1885-90 ; Isaac T. Win-

chester, 1886-90.

A sinking fund was established in 1876. The fol-

lowing citizens have served as sinking fund commis-

sionere :

Amos Roberts, 1876-89 ; Josiah A. Kingman, 1876-89 ; Chas. Wood-

berry, 1870-77 ; Joseph H. Cannell, 1876-90; Jaa. P. Stewart, 1889-90;

Jas. E. Larkin, 1889-90.

The selectmen acted as overseers of the poor for

the years 1870-80. The overseers of the poor since

th.-it time have been as follows :

Robert B. Rogers, Sr., 1880-82 ; Adams B. Cook, 1880-85, 1888-90
;

Stephen 0. Currier, 1880-81, 1882-83 ; N. F. Shippee, 1881-84; Samuel

P. Cannell, 1883-90 ; Geo. S. Marshall, 1884-90 ; D. P. Murphy, 1886-88.

The selectmen also acted .as Board of Health dur-

ing the ten years 1870-80. The members of the

board since that time have been as follows :

Geo. F. Foster, 1880-81
; Adams B. Cook, 1880-81 ; Alfred Tufts,

1880-81 ; Francis E. Dyer, 1881-82
; Isaac T. Winchester, 1881-84 ; Dr.

W. G. Hanson, 1882-80 ; Dr. J. F. Wakefield, 1883-86; Joseph M. Bas-

sett, 1884-80; John Eeed, 1886-87; Wm. Goodhue, 1886-90; Dr. Ab-

bott Sauford, 1880-88 ; D. W. Fitzgerald, 1887-88, 1889-90
; Dr. E. W.

Hill, 1888-89 ; Dr. W. K. Knowles, 1888-90 ; Dr. E. C. Newton, 1890.

Trustees of the Public Library : James B. Everett, 1880-90 ; Henry

A. Tenney, 1880-90 ; Geo. E. Kimball, 1880-90 ; Dudley P. Bailey, 1880-

90 ; F. B. Wallis, 1880-84, 1889-90
; C. P. Atwood, 1880-81 ; Geo. S. Mar-

shall, 1880-81 ; Wm. G. Coleswortby, 1880-82
; Edward K. Thorndike,

1880-81 ; Kev. B. P. Bush, 1881-90 ; W. G. Beaver, 1881-83 ; Geo. H.
Burr, 1881-90 ; Geo. E. Smith, 18S2-90 ; Albert N. Dary, 1883-84 ; Gil-

man C. Hickok, 1884-90 ; Martin J. Cahill, 1884-89.

The selectmen have acted as surveyors of highway

for the years 1870-72, 1874-75, 1879-80, 1885-87.

The following gentlemen have been elected as survey-

ors of highways

:

Daniel Enmes, 1872-74; Geo. W. Paine, 1870-77 ; Benj. F. Nicliols,

1880-85, 1887-89.

The Highway Department h.ia been managed by

the following gentlemen as road commissioners for

the terms named

:

Louis p. True, Caleb Richardson and Geo. W. Paine, 1875-76; Hubert

M. Barnard, 1877-78, 1889-90 ; Samuel J. Sewall, 1877-79; Geo. W.
Pierce, 1877-78; Leonard Einorton, Sr., 1878-79; Benj. F. Nichols,

1878-79
; Solomon Sliute, 1889-90 ; Thos. Leavitt, 1889-90; Amoe Stone,

1890.

Until the year 1881 the financial year of the town
ended on the last day of February and the town-

meetings were held on the fourth Tuesday in March.

By tin amendment of the by-liiws made in 1881 the

financial year was made to correspond with the cal-

endar year, the accounts being made up for ten

months ending December 31, 1881. In 1882 and

subsequent years the annual town-meeting has been

held on the first Tuesday in March. The by-laws

were further amended April 28, 1887, by adopting

certain building regulations, and these, not having

been found sufficiently stringent, were amended and

strengthened in December, 1881), and with these and

certain other amendments the by-hiws of 1881 con-

stitute the regulations governing town alfairs.

The expenditures of the town of Everett for the

first two decades of its history, 1870-89 inclusive,

have been as follows

:

Total.

1870-80. 1880-89. 1870-89.

School, current expenses . . .5110,079.06 lfl74,9S3.3.'> S28.'»,903.01

" special 23,073.06 83,000.601 100,073.72

Public Library 10,924.60 10,924.60

Highway, current expenses . . 60,847.00 77,098.89 137,945.95

" construction .... 60,833.14 16,073.30 76,.506.50

" gravel lots 6,916.25 8,000.00 13,916.25

" street watering 6,118,81 6,118.81

Maiden Bridge . . . 4,600.00 .... 4,6O0.(K)

sidewalks 12,386.45 12,386.45

" street lights .... 8,114.67 26,176.33 34,291.05

Shade-trees 274.00 1,189.96 1,463.96

Stone crusher 2,833.63 2,833.63

Fire Department, general . . . 13,785.15 25,738.23 39,iJ23.38

" " special . . . 6,.'i36.48 1,618.95 7,185.43

Poor Department 18,128.36 38,065.88 56,194 24

Police^ 2,600.50 20,867.24 29,407.74

Interest on town debt 40,082.64 42,935.56 83,018.19

Interest on water debt .... 43,020.00 00,000.00 103,020.00

Sinking Fund 12,025.00 39,488.65 61,513.65

Water-works 107,607.48 60,610.02

1

168,217.50

Hydrants 2,829.37 2,829.37

Slate military aid 6,608.26 6,680.60 13,288.75

Salaries 24,370.42 32,817.71 .'•)7,188.13

Defalcation 23,297.53 .... 23,297.63

Miscellaneous 29,749.08 39,833.54 69,582.02

Taxes abated and refunded . . 7,717.23 1.5,671.98 23,389.21

Tax titles 671.72 4.31.89 1,10.3.61

Total for town purposes . . $609,837.08 $812,005.60 81,421,843.28

State tax 828,408.80 848,190.(X) 870,658.80

County tax 16,403.35 27,211.64 43,014.99

State and county taxes paid $44,872.15 $75,401.64 $120,273.79

Total $664,709.83 $887,407.24 $1,542,117.07

t Unsettled claims in course of liquidation to be added.

2 Included in miscellaneous until 1877. No specific appropriation.
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Of these expenditures »1,205,122.38 were raised

by taxation—$463,294.21 in the years 1870-80 and

$741,828.17 in the ten years 1880-89 inclusive.

Water bonds were issued to the amount of $100,000,

and *77,000 borrowed lor other town purposes, be-

sides the portion of the Maiden debt assumed and

loans paid i>ll', and thore have been received from var-

ious sources other than taxation and loans (chiefly

the bank, corporation and dog taxes, sale of town

property and water rates), $214,164.90, making the

total taxation, loans (net) and other receipts,

$l.r>9G,287.84. The total princii)al of the water debt,

January 1, 18W, was $10(),(»00, and of the town debt,

$117,500, of which ^JSS.rjOO were inherited from Mai-

den. Against this was held a sinking fund of

$69,675.21, of which $32,725 has been derived from

taxation, $22,359.55 from interest on investments,

and the balance from various sources.

Down to KS78 the Fire Department had continued

very much in the condition in which it was in 1847,

except that in 1875 a hook-and-ladder company was

formed, apparatus purchased, and a house erected for

the same, .•^t a town-meeting held May 9, 1878, the

town voted to jmrchase a steam fire-engine and

equipment.s, an appropriation of S3400 being made.

Atler the new steamer, the " Joseph Swan," had been

purchased, the Fire De|>artment was reorganized and

made more eflieient. On March 19, 1885, an appro-

priation of ^'IGOO was made to provide an electric

fire alarm, and the remodeling of the old Centre

School-house for an engine-liouse, at a cost of S(5700,

will atl'ord facilities which promise to increase still

more the efliciency of the department.

At the time the town was incorporated the street-

car accommodations were very poor, the rails being

mostly of wood, surmounted by iron straps. The

running time w'as very slow, and the fares high. On
the Eiistern Railroad and the Saugus Branch were

located two unsightly structures, built in 1854 for

stations, utterly inadequate to the wants of the pub-

lic. The fares were eight cents for single trip and

six and one-half cents for commutation tickets.

This was reduced in May, 1879, to six cents for single

fare, and five cents for commutation tickets. In the

fall of 1879, after a united effort, a new station was

secured between Broadway and Main Street, the lot

being purchased by private subscription and the

town laying out Railroad Street in the rear. In 1880

a station was established at East Everett, the expense

being mainly defrayed by private subscription, and
trains began stopping there on Monday, December

20, 1880. In 1881 a freight track was located at the

foot of Carter Street on the Saugus Branch. In

1882 a new station was built on the Saugus Branch,

about one thousand feet north from the site of the

old station, at the foot of Waters Street. The open-

ing of the new station was celebrated by a banquet

and entertainment, at which about 250 persons were
present. Though the removal of the station aroused

much bitter feeling at the time among those who
were discommoded, it has proved beneficial in the

end, as it resulted in establishing still another station

on the Saugus Branch at West Street, which was

opened about the Ist of March, 1890, although trains

had stopped there for passengers since June, 1888.

The horse-car accommodations continued to be

very unsatisfactory until within the last three years,

the running time being frequently changed, besides

being very slow, and the management unprogressive,

not to say stupid. There was, however, some im-

provement, as the track had, in the course of years,

l)een relaid with iron rails, and in some places paved,

and fares somewhat reduced. The route to Everett

Springs had been oi)ened Sept. 14, 1882, as a branch

line.

The rails were laid to Elm Street in June, 1884,

and cars commenced running hourly trips on this

route as an independent line July 1, 1884. Half-

hourly trips were inaugurated May 2, 1885. The ex-

tension to Woodlawn Cemetery was commenced July

24, 1884, and cars began running hourly and half-

hourly trips most of the day before August 10, 1884.

X larger number of half-hourly trips was instituted

May 8, 1886.

One of the most important events affecting our

horse-car accommodations was the advent of the

Lynn & Boston Railroad, which secured a conditional

location to Everett Square in April, 1886, and an

unconditional location June 9, 1886. Cars com-

menced running over this line August 11, ISSG, and

have made hourly trips from that date to the present

time.

The Middlesex Railroad at last began to awake to

the fact of impending competition, and when, later in

the year, through consolidation with the Highland

Railroad Company, more progressive elements were

infused into the management, the outlook for better

accommodations visibly brightened. During the

summer and fall of 1887 the work of improvement
commenced in earnest. On July 4, 1887, the fares to

Boston were reduced from six to five cents. The
horse-car tracks which had previously been located on

School Street, were relocated on Broadway. From
the Eastern Railroad to Everett Square a double-

track paved with granite blocks was laid, and a single-

track, also paved, extended over the hill to Ferry

Street, and thence through Ferry Street to Maiden
Centre. Cars commenced running over Belm(mt

Hill betwen Maiden and Boston December 19, 1887.

During the same year a new route was located

through Bucknam Street with the track in the mid-

dle of the street and paved. Cars commenced run-

ning over this route December 8, 1887, the location

on Chelsea Street from Bucknam to Main Street

being discontinued. In 1888 a paved double-track

was laid below the Eastern Railroad to Sullivan

Square, resulting in further reduction of running

time, and greater regularity and frequency of trips.
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During the past year the track has been moved iuto

the centre of Main Street and paved, resulting in

another great improvement, and in June, 181)0, a loca-

tion was granted tor a doubic-ti-ack on Ferry Street

between Elm and Chelsea Streets, and also on Chel-

sea Street from Ferry Street to Everett Square. It is

expected that a second track will soon belaid through

Main Street, and that the advent of electric-cars may
still further shorten the running time between

P>erett and Boston.

During 1888 also tlie horsp-car tracks were laid

in Ferry Street from liroadway to Elm Street, and

the East Middlesex Railroad Company commenced
running cars by that route to Chelsea and the

Beaches.

At the time the town was incorporated, and, indeed,

for many yearn afterwards, its sidewalks were in very

poor condition, though gradually improving. Since

188(J the improvement has been more rapid, the town

having iu that year adopted the practice of paying

one-half the expense of setting edge-stones and lay-

ing brick or concrete sidewalks in front of the estates

of those who will pay onehalf of this expense. The
widening of Main, Chelsea and Ferry Streets, in 1874

and 1875, involving an outlay of !ji43,218, was one of

the principal public improvements in our highways.

In 1882 and subsequent years, largely through the

etlbrts of the Everett Town Improvement Associa-

tion—a most useful society, which existed -from 1882

to 1887—the streets of the town have been quite ex-

tensively adorned with shade-trees. In 1888 the sys-

tem of lighting the streets with electricity was intro-

duced.

The Everett Public Library was dedicated May li

1879, and was opened for the delivery of books May
10, 1879. It had been proposed as early as 1871,

when the proceeds of a ball held November 21, 187b

were set aside as a contribution to a fund for that

purpose. The movement first took definite shape at

a meeting of citizens held in Everett Small Hall,

June 21, 1878, when a board of directors was chosen

and a committee appointed to solicit contributions of

money and books. The library, when opened, was

composed mainly of books thus contributed, number-

ing 1289 volumes. It was maintained as a private

enterprise through the liberality of various public-

spirited citizens until May 3, 1880, when it was turned

over to and accepted by the town, and has since been

maintained at the public expense. A reading-room

was opened January 26, 1884, but discontinued within

about a year, as not required by the public wants-

The number of volumes in the library December 31'

1889, was 6181 ; the number of deliveries in 1889,

27,850, as compared with 10,940 in 1880. The total

expenditures upon it to December 31, 1889, have been

$11,603.47, of which $4145.89 have been expended for

books and magazines. The town makes an annual

appropriation for the library ($1000 in 1890, besides

the dog-tax, amounting to $1279.08).

The first town-clock was a gift to the town by Mrs.

Caroline M. Barnard. It is a large tower-clock weigh-

ing 900 pounds, was placed in the tower of the Congre-

gational Church, August 15, 1888, and started August

25th. The expenses attending the necessary changes

in the tower were met by subscription secured

through the agency of a committee of the Everett

Town Improvement Association. It was formally

presented to and accepted by the town at a meeting

held November 13, 1883, and suitable resolutions of

thanks to the public-spirited donor adopted.

Up to the year 1876 the large Catholic population

residing in town had enjoyed no local place of relig-

ious worship. In June of that year a Sunday-school

was opened, and regular Sunday services shortly af-

terwards began to be held in Everett Hall, in which

they continued to l)e held for a year and a half. On
July 13, 1877, 12,160 S(|uare feet of land on the corner

of Broadway and Mansfield Place were purchased for

$3040. The erection of the present church edifice

was begun in 1877, the vestry being finished ready for

occui)ancy about January 1, 1878, and the main au-

ditorium some years later. The church is under the

pastoral care of Rev. Joseph F. JMohan, rector, or-

dained in 1871, who was until lately assisted in his

labors by Rev. James G. Gilday, as assistant rector.

It is estimated that about one-quarter of the popu-

lation of Everett is connected with Ibis church.

Grace Episcopal Church dates from June 10,

1886, when the first service was held in the rooms of

the Young Men's Christian Association, conducted by

Rev. J. S. Beers, Rev. G. W. Durrell and the choir of

St. Thomas' Church of Somerville. On February 5,

1886, at a meeting of those interested in the establish-

ment of an Episcopal Church, held in the same place,

it was voted to continue the services, and a system of

pledges was adopted. On February 15, 1886, the first

election of officers took place and the society took

definite shape. On March 12th the name of Grace

Church was decided upon, and the committee reported

that they had hired G. A. R. Hall for SOnday

services.

The society was first conducted as a mission, and

Rev. Francis Gilliat, the first missionary, assumed

charge May 4, 1886. The society grew and prospered,

and on January 21, 1887, it was voted to purchase

the land on Chelsea, at the bead of Corey Street, for

church purposes. It was conveyed to them April 23,

1887, at the price of $6500. On the 14th of Decem-
ber, 1887, Mr. Gilliat tendered his resignation, and

Rev. J. P. Pierce, of Dorchester, supplied the pulpit

until April 22, 1888, when Rev. Percy Barnes suc-

ceeded Mr. Gilliat as missionary. On June 8, 1888,

the society voted to build a chapel on the land be-

longing to the parish. This was commenced July

16, 1888, Norman C. Clark, architect. The new
chapel cost, with furnishings, about $5000. The first

service in it was held December 23, 1888. On De-

cember 2, 1888, Mr. Barnes resigned and Rev. J. P.
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Tierce again took temporary charge. On April 22,

1889, llie soeiety voted to request the appointment of

Kev. T. H. Martin, of Pine Meadow, as misoionary in

the church, who commenced his labors .Tiily 7th.

After ha%ing operated for upwards of four years as a

miiution, the society was organized as a parish with a

governing power of the rector, two wardens, clerk,

treasurer and eight vestrymen, on the 10th of April,

1881).

The youngest of the religious societies of Everett

is the .Advent ("linreh, which was organized March

28, IS8!I, with eight constituent members. The date

of the first n\ecting for public worship was March 31,

1SS9; iheotHciating clergyman was Elder L. Boutelle.

The church has not yet had a settled pastor. The

number of members now belonging to the church is

21. It has raised for church expenses during the

pasi finnncial year about i^OO, and $25 for benevo-

lent purpiwes. \ f?ntulay-«chool was organized May

12, 1889, at a meeting of which R. S. Sidclinger was

moderator, with 12 members, since increased to 40.

.lohn H. Murphy has been its superintendent since

organization. The first officers of the church were:

Elder, .T(din H. Murphy : Deacon, A. A. Anderson ;

Clerk, Kemly S. .Sidelinger; Treasurer, Charles H.

Weeks. The Sunday-school library numbers 225

volumes.

The Everett Young Men's Christian Association,

which has been a living force for good in town dur-

ing the past five years, was organized September 15,

1884, although a society for 8i)ecial work among
young men bad e.\isted previously for about five

months. The first officers were Francis Batchelder,

president ; William F. Moore, secretary ; Benjamin

F. Noyes, treasurer ; the first two having held simi-

lar positions in the provisional organization, and

having continued in these positions by subsequent

re-elections until September, 1889, when, with all the

other members of the board, they declined a re-elec-

tion. Captain Noyes died in November, 1884.

His place was filled temporarily until the follow-

ing May, when George H. Small was chosen for

the office. In 1885 the Executive Committee was

increa-sed to five, and \. N. Smith was chosen vice-

president, and held office until Sei)tember, 1889. Mr.

W. B. Marshall was the first assistant secretary, but

declined a further election at the end of two years,

and Mr. W. B. Price was chosen in his place, being

elected the following year. Thus only one change

was made in the board during four years. The har-

monious and efficient action of this first Executive

Committee contributed in no small degree to the suc-

cess attained by the Association. The present officers,

elected in September, 1890, are Rollins A. Edwards,
president; F. C. Danforth, vice-iiresident ; W. B.

Marshall, secretary ; F. Batchelder, treasurer, F. J.

Harding, a.ssistant secretary and E. E. Randall, assist-

ant treasurer.

The first room occupied by the Association was the

banquet-room in Odd Fellows' Building, then known

as Library Building, which was opened with appro-

priate exercises in the hall above on the evening of

November 24, 1884. Rev. Phillips Brooks, of Boston,

was the principal speaker, being followed by Rev.

W. O. Ayer, and the president and the secretary of

the Association. Later a change was made to the

front room in the same building, and the Association

being obliged to vacate this, another change was made

to Everett Small Hall as the only available place.

During the spring and summer of 1887 the demand

for a building grew more and more pronounced,

stimulated by the inconvenient quarters in which Ihe

Association was then located, and in October of that

year the organ of the Association, the Y. M. C. A.

Star, published the plans and elevation of the pro-

posed building. This seemed to crystallize the move-

ment. A canvass was begun soon after, and in 1888

the present lot of land was ]iurchased, the cornerstone

of the building was laid July 21, 1888, and the i)resent

commodious and convenient building was erected

after much persistent and self-sacrificing work, at a

cost of 117,030, Brigham and Spoflbrd being the

architects and G. M. Coan, contr.aetor. The seating

and furnishing of the hall and other parts of the

building cost about $2500 more. The ladies of the

town supplied the piano used in the building, and also

raised enough money to pay for furnishing the mem-
bers' parlor. After the Woman's Auxiliary was

formed, they furnished seats for the large hall, besides

making a gift of $500 for the building fund. The

Boys' Branch paid for fitting up their room and social

hall. The Yoke Fellows furnished the room in the

tower, and the Heartsease Band, the reception, read-

ing and amusement rooms. The grand piano in the

large hall was a gift from the Say and Seal Club. Mr.

Herbert Loud and other friends have presented ])ic-

tures. The building was dedicated with appropriate

ceremonies, November 12, 1888, Rev. Phillips Brooks

again being principal speaker, while Rev. W. O.

Ayer, with Messrs. Batchelder and Moor, officiated in

the same capacities in which they did almost exactly

four years previously. The religious work has always

been kept in the foreground, and the strong Monday
evening meeting, for men only, has really been the

backbone of the Association. The gymnasium was

opened in December, 1888, and at once attained a de-

served popularity among the young men. Mr. Walter

C Day volunteered his services the first season and is

now engaged on a salary. In April, 1888, the Boys'

Branch was formed, the first officers being Ellie H.

Dorety, president ; George D. Marshall, vice-presi-

dent; Charles W. Hapgood, secretary ; and Fred. N.

Small, treasurer. M.aster Dorety took a great interest

in the work and made an excellent presiding officer.

His untimely death in the summer following was a

great loss to the Branch. The Woman's Auxiliary

was formed on May 1, 1888, and the assistance ren-

dered has been invaluable in upbuilding the Asso-
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ciation. The first board of officers wiis, Mrs. A. P.

Potter, president ; Mrs. A. Campbell, Mrs. J. W.
Moore, Mrs. J. W. Masury, Mrs. J.S. Gate, vice-presi-

dents; Miss Grace L. Batchelder, secretary ; and Miss

Carrie L. Stimpson, treasurer.

This Association has entertained the district

convention on two occasions, and the first Woman's
Auxiliary convention ever held in the world took

l)Iace in Everett.

From a very interesting and valuable article in our

enterprising local paper, the Everett JItrald, on (,)cto-

ber 29, 18.S7, the Ibllowiiig summary, showing the re-

gious status of 1
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imrchaMed of Mr. Johnson all his interest in the

I/era/il, »nd benime publisher as well ns editor. Both

(if till- liH-al papers are issued on Saturday, at a sub-

scription price of two dolhirs per annum.

Ill addition to the above, the Rev. T. C. Watkins,

for a short time during hi.s pa.storate, i>ublished a

small local paper devoted to the interests of the

MctlKHJist Society, called the Sunbeam, and the Rev.

F. T. roiiieriiy ccmducted a similar eiiterpri.se, called

the J-yiriitl/y Hand.

The Yiiung Men's Christian As-sociation has also

issuetl a small slici't for several years past, called the

)'. At. C. A. Slur, established in April, 1886. The

lir<t four issues were published at irregular intervals,

but from September, 188G, it was issued regularly

once a munlh until recently, when the practice was

resumed of issuing it at irregular intervals.

One of our late-Ht local institutions is the Everett

Savings liank, which was incorporated March 1, 1889.

The first meeting of the corporators was held April

11. ISS'J, and the corporation was organized with the

following officers: President, Wilmot R. Evans;

vice-presidents, Woodbury A. Ham, Robert M. Bar-

nard ; troa.siirer, Samuel P. Cannell; clerk, Henry K.

Vcazie; trustees, Woodbury A. Ham, Wilmot R.

Evans, Robert M. Barnard, Samuel P. Cannell, George

S. Marshall, Samuel M. Johnson, Isaac T. Winches-

ter, Adams B. Cook, Daniel B. Fessenden, Thomas

Leavitt, Cyrus S. Hapgood, John S. Cate, Nathaniel

J. Mead, Henry K. Veazie. Joseph E.Nichols, James

P. Stewart, Francis E. Dyer, Thornton A. Smith,

Dudley P. Bailey.

The bank opened for business May 11, 1889, and

the total amount of deposits received up to the. close

of business on June 30, 1890, was $40,864, and the

total number of depositors had been 331. At the

same date there remained on deposit $20,247, held by

three hundred and sixteen depositors, showing an

average to each depositor of $64.07.

The Everett Co-operative Bank opened for business

October 14,1890; President, Samuel Freeman (2d),

vice-president Charles B. Ladd, secretary and treas-

urer, Charles E. Jennings.

The following societies also exist in town besides

those already mentioned:

American Legion of Homr.—Lincoln Council, No. 753. EBtablisbed

Octolwr 1,1881.

Ancient Order of United Workmen.—Fmuklia Lodge, No. 61. Estab-

liabetl Ngvomber 11, 1S8X

Order o/ the Sons of Veterant.—Gea. A. P. Ulartin Camp, No. G2. Eatab-

lisbed Ai>ril lie, 1886.

Women'tnelirfOorpi—jBTaeii A. Perkins Corpa, No. 40. Establisbed

April :^C, 1880.

Home Circf«.—Comfort Council.

Improred Order of lied Men.—ABSowomuett Tribe, No. 66. Estab-

lished December 1;), 1887.

Knij/lUa and Ladies oj i/uiior.—Longfellow Lodge, No. 609.

Kni^hU o/ tlie Golden Eojie—Halspear Castle, No. 66. Establiehed
Febriuiry 8, 1887.

New Bngland Order of FtotecUon.

Ordrr of Tonli—Bny State Lodge.

Koyal Jrcanum.—Palladium Council, No. 287. Established March 22,

1879.

Royal C<meiave of Knighte and Ladiee.

Bone of Tcntjjcrnnce.—Golden Star I)iviHion, No. 81. KHtubli^bed

December, 1884.

VnUed Order OoMen (Xrefc.—'Wendell Phllll|»i Coniniauderj', No. 279.

Established February 20, 188S.

Vtiited Order of l*ilgrim FaUiere.—Gov. Bradford Colony, No. 78.

The
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one; he followed an easy-disposilioned town treas-

urer and collector, who took no ])ains to enforce the

prompt payment of the taxes assessed. Mr. Stone, be-

ing a systematic and prompt business man, proceeded

in an energetic manner to collect the back taxes com-

mitted to him, and all others when they were due
;

many solid business men, who had been benefited by

the former collector's indulgence, protested, but, lind-

iiig Mr. Stone was in earnest, paid. One large rail-

road corporation repeatedly rel'used to pay its taxes
;

one afternoon, as an important train was about to leave

the station, he attached the engine just before it was

coupled to the train ; the result was a check for the

amount due, with the costs, was handed to him, and the

train alloweil to depart. Altera few such instances

taxes were paid reasonably prompt.

In the fall of IS^S Mr. Stone was elected treasurer

of the county of Middlesex, and held that ctiice for

thirty years, until January 1, 188(5, when he decliueil

a re-election. The following will show the public ap-

]ireciation of his services:

" Mr. Amos Stone, who has held the important oflicc

of County Treasurer for Middlesex for some thirty

yeai-s, having decided to retire on account of advanc-

ing years, he being sixty-eight years of age, the County

Convention for Middlesex, which was held this week,

nominated for the office Mr. J. O. Hayden,one of the

proprietors of the S<omerville Journal. ]Mr. Hayden is

every way qualified for the position and he will dis-

charge the duties of the office with the fidelity and

accuracy that has distinguished his predecessor for

over a quarter of a century.

"The following resolution was unanimously passed

by the Middlesex County Republican Convention, held

in the city of Cambridge, October 7, 1885, as a testi-

monial to the long services of its retiring County

Treasurer, Amos Stone. The resolution was offered

by the Hon. Selwyn Z. Bowman, of Somerville :

**Iiaioli'ed, Ttiat we, the Republican delegates in County Convention

assembled, desire to place upon record our a^jpreeialion of tbe character

and services of Amos Stone, Esq., who for thirty yeara has so ably and

acceptably performed the duties of Treasurer of this County of Middle-

sex. His long term of service is the best evidence that lie lijis per-

formed those duties to the satisfaction of the people, regardless of party,

and that be has had their contidenco and esteem. We congratulate him

upon bis long and honorable career in so prominent and responsible a

position in which he has always shown himself a courteous gentleman,

an able financier and .1 clear-headed business man, .and, as be volunta-

rily withdraws from the cares of public life, we caTi assure him that be

takes with bim the best wishes of the people that his remaining years

may be full of happiness and prosperity,"

In 185-t the Charlestown Five Cents Savings Bank
was incorporated. He took an active and leading

part in its organization, and was elected one of its

tru.stees and its first treasurer, which positions he has

continuously held.

It has proved one of the most prosperous and suc-

cessful banks in the Commonwealth. For more than

ten years he, as treasurer, with the assistance of the

president, performed all the labor of the bank without

any compensation to either.

In 18G1 the Mutual Protection Fire Insurance

Company was incorporated and organized, in which

he took a leading part, and was chosen one of its di-

rectors, and soon succeeded to the presidency, which

position he now holds.

In IStJIi he was elected a director in the Monument
National Bank, and, on the death of lion, .lames O.

tJurtis, was elected its president, which iK)siti<in he now
holds.

He was one of the original shareholders of the

Mystic River Company, a large landed corporation,

and for more than twenty years has been its clerk

and treasurer.

In the several positions held by him as treasurer,

he has administered the duties with signal ability,

allowing no waste of the public funds, and has con-

ducted the business as though it was his own private

affair, allowing no monies to be paid out except duly

approved by the proper boards or officers, and in strict

conformity to law.

His attention to business, great executive ability

and physical endurance, enabled him to work six-

teen hours per day, and to perform all the duties in

the several offices that he held at the same time, and
during the thirty years that he held the office of

county treasurer, never employing a clerk or assist-

ant during the entire term. The writer of this Inus

frequently heard him say that he never wanted more

than six hours of sleep out of twenty-four.

His strict fidelity and clear head have enabled hira

to perform all the duties without loss to himself or the

several treasuries committed to his trust.

With all his cares and close application to business,

he was ever ready to hear and give judicious advice

and council to aid the poor and unfortunate to over-

come their difficulties and troubles, nor felt himself

demeaned by so doing, some of whom to-day rtjoitre

in the beneficial results of the same, and in possessing

a good business position and property through his

advice and assistance. He was generous, and gave

freely to relieve the wants of the distressed poor, dis-

pensing his charities mainly in pcr.son, so that he

could see to whom, where and in what manner his

money was given and the results thereof

In politics he was formerly a Democrat—voted for

Franklin Pierce—then he became a Rei)ublican and

voted for John C. Fremont and has continued in that

party since.

When the Rebellion was begun he was one of the

first to come to the support of the Government ; be-

fore the Government had made any provision for the

soldiers enlisted, was one of the twenty-one persons

who paid the expense of fitting out the first three

companies from Charlestown to go to Washington to

defend the Capital. Although exempt from draft by

reason of age, he sent the first representative recruit

from Charlestown at his ow'u expense, also sent a

colored recruit, and contributed hundreds of dollars

during the continuance of the war for military pur-
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pontw. Early in lite lie joined tlic Free Marions iind is

•liiile proniineiil in the order, and is now treiusurer of

two MuMonio organizations.

Ue reniaineil a Hingle man until after he was fifty

yean* ol" iiK'e ; ''e married Sarali E. Mills; they live in

the town of Kvcrett, Mi<ldlescx County, Massachu-

Hflts, where they liavo a heautit'iil and plfasanl home.

They moved from t'liarlestown Ut Everett in 1872.

Until recently Mr. Stone hiis not taken an active

|.art in town all'aire iu Everett, though a liberal con-

tributor to all matters of public interest. In 18S8,

when a committee was a|)pointed to consider the ques-

tion (if .senera(;e, he was apjioiiited a member antl

was chosen chairman. On Manh T), IS.Si), this com-

mittee presented an able report, drafted by Mr. Stone,

which was adopted by a vote of 267 to 1. A com-

mission of five, of which Mr. Stone was chairman, was

chosen to carry out the recommendations contained

in the report. In March, 18i)0, to enable him more

etVettively to carry out these recomniendations, he

was elected one of the road cqmmissioners of the town

of Everett for three years, the first and only town office

he ha.s ever held.

JOHN C. SrOFFOKl).'

One wf the younger residents of Middlesex County,

whose successful professional career is worthy of

mention, is John C. Spofford, of Everett, Mass.

Mr. Sjiotford was born in Webster, Androscoggin

County, Maine, November 25, 1854, where his early

life was that of the American country boy: working

on the farm iu summer, and in winter attending the

district school, where he first began to play with

draughting tools, and to look forward to his present

profession. Afterward, however, this education was

considerably extended at MonnKmth Academy, Mon-

mouth, Maine, and at the Maine Wesleyan Seminary,

at Kent's Hill. Following the time-honored cust(nn

of New England students, Mr. Spoflbrd at this period

taught school for several terms. He has always since

taken an active interest in educational matters,

having served on the School Committee in his native

town, and having been for four years a member of

the Everett School Board.

At about this time also, Mr. Spoffi)rd worked a good

deal at the carpenter and the mason's trades, and

thereby acquired an actual knowledge of building

construction, which has since proved of great service

to him.

In 1879 he entered the office of H. J. Preston, in

Boston, and began in earnest the study of archi-

tecture.

In February, 1881, Mr. Spoffiird was engaged as a
draughtsman by Messrs. Sturgis & Brigham, well-

known Boston architects, and remained with that

firm until 1886, having charge in that time of the

construction of many important public buildings

1 Contributed.

and noteworthy private residences. Among these

were the Commonwealth building, in Boston, the

residence of H. H. Kogers, of the Standard Oil Com-
pany, in New York City, and the Massachusetts

Hospital Life Insurance Company's building, on

State Street, Boston.

In March, 1887, Mr. Spofford formed a partnership

with Mr. Willard M. Bacon, under the (irm-nanie of

Spodbrd & Hacon, but withdrew from this a year

later and united with Mr. Charles Brigham, formerly

of Sturgis it Brigham, in forming the present firm ot

Brigham ASpofliird, who are well-known as the archi-

tects of the alterations and enlargement of the Capitol

buildings of Maine and Massachusetts.

Of the less important work that has issued from

their office the following buildings may perhaps be

considered especially noteworthy :—The City Hall

at Lewiston, Maine ; the Town Hall at Fairhaven,

Massacluisctta ; the Memorial Hall at Belfast, Maine
;

the Episcopal Church at Melrose, Massachusetts;

the Union Scpiare Baptist Church at Sonierville,

Massachusetts; a church at Roxbury ; the residence

of .1. Manchester Haynes, at Augusta ; that of B. D.

Whitcomb, at Elm Hill, Roxbury, and that of C. H.
Souther, at .Tamica Plain. The new stationsat Stoiigh-

ton and Roxbury, on the Providence Division of the

Old Colony Railroad, are also their work.

Mr. Spoflbrd has taken much interest in Masonry

and Odd Fellowship and in the work of various fra-

ternal societies; among others in that of the Knights

and Ladies of Honor of which he has been Grand

Protector of Massachusetts.

In Aug. 1888, the subject of this sketch succeeded

the Hon. Ainsworth R. Spofford (the libarian of Con-

gress) as president of the " Spoflbrd Family Associa-

tion." At that lime seven hundred members of this

family gathered from all parts of the United States to

commemorate the fact that 250 years before in the

year 1G38, John Spoflbrd and Elizabeth Scott came

from Yorkshire, Eng., and settled at Rowley (now

Georgetown,) Mass. Mr. Spofford is also connected

with the well-known Wentworth familj', being a lineal

descendant of that John Wentworth who held by

Queen Anne's appointment the Lieutenant-Gover-

norship of the Province of New Hampshire, from

1717 to 1730. Captain John Wentworth, Mr. Spof-

ford's grandfather's great-grandfather fought on " the

plains of Abraham," at the Battle of Quebec, and

helped to carry Wolfe to the rock beside which he

died.

The character of a certain eminent man was once

summed up in these words

:

" He could toil terribly."

The writer has known Mr. Spoflbrd from his earliest

childhood and feels sure that no one who has met him

often, either in the hay-field, or in the school-room,

or at the draughting table, will be disposed to dispute

his ability to do, when necessary, two days' work in

one, and come back next morning ready for another

I
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day of the same sort, and his friends, relying on the

marked ability to witintand tlie wear and tear of life

which his kins-people have shown, hope from his hand

and brain in the future much good architecLural work.

In the longevity below mentioned there is some-

thing curious.

How few of us can look back u[)on a child-

hood spent in a house wherein dwelt tive generations

of our own kin.

Some sneering foreigner once said that very few

.\mericans could tell their great-grandlather's name.

However that may be, it is very certain that there are

not in any land many living who can call back, as a

thing seen with their own eyes, the form and features

of their graridlallier's gi-andfather. At the age of four-

teen Foster ^\^entworlh, the great-great-grandfather of

Mr. Spoflbrd, entered the Revolutionary Army as a

waiter for his father, the Capt. John Wentworth men-

tioned above. When he died, at the age of ninety-

nine John O. was about 7 years old.

Mr. Spotioril married, on the 7th of July, 18S1, Miss

Ella M. Fuller of Turner, Maine. Mr. and Mrs. Spof-

ford soon after removed to Everett and made it their

permanent home. They have one child, Mabel Fuller

Si)otrord, born April 11, 1SS3.

CHAPTER XLII.

FRAMINGHAM.

BY REV. lOSIAH H. TEMPLE.

Framingham is situated in the southwestern part

of Middlesex County, midway and on a direct line

between Worcester and Boston. The old turnpike

between these cities r.an through the Centre village;

thecoston & Albany Railroad runs through the South

village ; the Old Colony Railroad, Northern Division,

from New Bedford to Fitchburg, and to Lowell, runs

through both the South and Centre villages.

When the act of incorporation was granted in 1700,

the town was bounded easterlyby Sudbury, Coehitu-

ate Pond and Natick lands ; southerly by Sherborn

and the Indian lands ; west by Marlborough and north

by Sudbury. Its present boundaries are, northeasterly

by Wayland, easterly by Natick, southeasterly by

Sherborn, southwesterly by Ashland, west by South-

borough and Marlborough, and north by Sudbury.

As originally laid out, the Plantation contained

about 20,500 acres. Subsequently several tracts, of

greater or lesser extent, were transferred to other

towns. Simpson's Farm of 500 acres was set to Hop-

kinton, when that town was incorporated in 1715.

Holliston took off a point of the southern extremity

of the town in 1724. In 1727 Southborough took in

the long strip of land known as Fiddle Neck. The
Leg was annexed to Marlborough in 1791. By these

subtractions the area of tlic townshi|i was reduced

to 18,970 acres. In 1846 a tract of about 3000 acres

wassetotrto form, with parts of Hopkinton and Hol-
liston, the new town of .\shland. In 1871 a tri-

angular piece of land was taken from the town of

Natick and annexed to Framingham. The present

area of the town is 15,930 acres.

The more striking natural features of the territory

are the range of high hills ou the north, near Sud-

bury line, known by the names of Nobscot, Doeskin

Hill and Gibbs' Mountain ; the four ponds lying in

a cluster near the soutbern border; Cochituate Pond,

on the eastern border ; and the Sudbury River, which
Hows diagonally through the town from southwest to

northeast. The view from the top of Nobscot is

broad and diversified; and the prospect from the

Normal School, on the westerly face of Bare Hill, is

one of great variety and rare beauty.

English adventurers explored these lands as early

as lt)H3, and became acipuiinted with the features of

the country ; but the Ccdonial government took no

action intended to promote a settlement here till

1640, when a considerable grant, within its limits,

was made to the widow of Rev. Jos.se Glover. In l(i33

a company of four men started from Walertown to go

to the Connecticut River. The party consisted of .lohn

Oldham, Samuel Hall and two others, who went to

look out a place for a new settlement at that then dis-

tant point.

The only way from Ciunbridge to Hartford, where

the path would not cross any considerable stream of

water, was up the northern bank of the Charles River

to Waltham Centre; thence to the northerly end of

Cochituate Pond ; thence, following a southwesterly

course through the village of South Framingham,

into what was the northwest part of Sherborn ; then

turning more west, through Hopkinton, and follow-

iug the upper south slope of the water-shed of the

streams that ran into Narragansett Bay and the

Sound. The route was somewhat circuitous, but

comparatively safe.

The Oldham party probably had a limited knowl-

edge of the geography of the country, and followed,

in the main, an old Indian trail. The chronicle of

the time says that Mr. Oldham " lodged at Indian

towns all the way." This trail was followed in 163(5

by Rev. Messrs. Hooker and Stone, and their large

company, on their journey from Cambridge to Hart-

ford, and was known in contemporary records for two

generations as " The Old Connecticut Path."

In the earliest notices of the territory now embrac-

ed in this town, it is described as Wilderness Land
lying north of the path from Sudbury to Nipnox.

Later (1662) it is called " The tract of waste lands be-

longing to Thomas Danforth, Esq., lying between

Marlbury and the Old Connecticut Path;" and still

later (1693), " A Plantation situated between Sud-

bury, Marlbury, Sherborn, and the Indian Plantation

at Natick, and westerly is the wilderness." A con-
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siderable part of tlu^r wi..«.>, viz. : those which lay on

the eiL,tirly .siilc olSuabiiry River, was disposed of by

the tieiieral Court to iiidividiiuls and to the Natick

plantation, between the years 1040 and KUiO. In

lGt>tM)2 the Court grunted to Thonuis Daiiforth, Esq.,

the larger part of the lauds on the westerly side of

the I iver. To this granted land Mr. Danforth added,

by purehuse, the tract situated west and south of

Farm I'ond, e.'cteiiding as far as the old Sherborn line.

The combined gift and purchase covered about two-

thirds of what constituted the townshii) ;
and the

place was, for many years, oUicially designated as

" Mr. Danforth's Farms."

No record hau been discovered of any act of the

General Court by which these lauds were created into

a plantation. Settlers came on slowly and were much

scattered. Until H)75 all the adults were members

of the church in Sudbury ; and most of them had

home-ties there, and did not desire and were not

able to bear the burdens of separate civil and eccle-

siiLstical charges. When Sherborn was organized into

a township, the inhabitants living in the south part

of our territory " bad privilege and did duly " there,

the statute providing that " for all such places as were

not yet laid within the bounds of any town, the

same lands : with the persons and estates thereupon,

shall be assessed by the votes of the town next unto

it; the measure or estimation shall be by the distance

of the meeting-houses." A few families dwelling in

the northwesterly part of the plantation went to meet-

ing and paid taxes in Marlborough.

Inpian Occupation.—The natural features of the

country included in the limits of the original town

grant mark it as a desirable abiding-place of the

native red man. The swamps abounded in beaver

and other fur-bearing animals; the ponds were stop-

ping-places of migratory fowl, and the breeding-

places of shad and salmon ; the several falls, and the

mouths of 'he smaller streams running into Sudbury

Kiver and Stoney Brook, were excellent fishing-

places; the higher Iiills sheltered the larger sorts of

wild game, and were well covered with chestnut

trees to furnish a store of nuts ; and the plains sup-

plied rich and easily-tilled planting-fields.

The Indian had a faculty of adapting means to ends,

and uniformly pitched his tent, and chose his village

site, with a view to take advantage of natural facili-

ties for securing food, game and fish in their season,

corn and nuts for the late summer and fall supply.

Looking at our territory, and taking the natural

advantages of location as a guide, we should expect

to find Indian villages of considerable size at three

distinct points, viz., at the outlet of Cochituate Pond
near the falls at Saxouville, and around Farm Pond.

All the conditions requisite to Indian congregate life

are found at these localities. And the probability

arising from these natural indications, is made a cer-

tainty by the existence at these several points of un-

mistakable Indian remains, and by historical records.

The Indian Village of Washakamaug.—
When Thomas Eames took up land, and built a

house at the north end of Farm Pond in 1669, the

lands to the east and southward were owned by John

.Vwassamog; and most of the Eames farm was subse-

quently purchased of him, or his children. How
this tract came into Awaasaniog's p'jssession, is stated

in legal instruments bearing his signature. In a pa-

per duly executed, appointing his son his successor,

and dated December 1, 1684, he recites :

"John A wiiBsiiniug, of Nalickc, not now like to contiiniu long l)ofnre

Ilia tlccc'1181*, and nota)>Iu to looko ut'ttT the Indiun litU^ thiit yet do remain

nnpaid for by Knglietli liroprietora, d4> hereby acknowledge Thouioa

Awa»8Uinog, my natural Mon, my natnral heir, and betnist and empower

him in my Btead to Hell, bargaine, and alienate any of that land the

Indian title of uliicli do yet belong tome, according to the tuiganiore

title

IliH marko.

John O Awoeonmg.'' t

In a deed dated January 21, 1684-85, in which his

sons and other blood-relations joined, conveying the

title of his Framingham and other lands to the said

lieir and successor, John Awassamog recites as fol-

lows:

"Know all men by these presents, that wo, John Awaesamoag, Samuel

Awassanioag, John Mooqna, Peter Kphriiiin, Eleazer I'egan and .loshna

Awaesamoag, Indians of Natick, in the county of Middlesex, in New
Kngland, for reasons us thereunto moving, have given and granted, and

do by the.'-e presents grant, alione, onfeotfe, assigne, make over and con-

lirm unto Thonuia Awassamog, Indian of the same (own and county

aforesaid, all that our whole native title, right and interest in that tract

of land lying, situate and being betweene the bounds of Natick, Charles

river, -Mailborough, and a point of Blackstone's river lieyond Mendon

—

all of which said right, title and interest in the said land (that is not

already legally disposeil of) we, the said John Awassanioag, Samuel

Awassamoag, Joshua Awassanioag, John Mooqua, Peter Kphraim and

Eleazer Pegan, do hereby avouch and declare to be,at the deliveryof

tliese presents, our own proper estate, and lawfully in our power to

alienate and dispose of,— it being our natural right, descending to us

from the chiefe sachem Wuttawushan, uncle to the said John Awassa-

moag, Sen., who was tiie chiefe sachem of said land, and nearly related

to us all, as may be made to appear." 2

This deed carries the title and ownership of the

lands in question back to " the chief sachem wut-
TAWUSHAN, uncle of John Awassamoag, Sen.," and

fixes approximately the time of his occupancy here.

This date could not vary much from 1620-30.

At any rate, the records make it clear, that about

1630 the lands lying between Farm Pond and the

Natick line, and indefinitely southward, were owned

by the chieftain Wuttawushan, and that the title

descended to his nephew Awassamog, who was living

on our territory in 1649-50, and till 1684, and through

whom the title passed to the Eames family.

About the year 1635, Awassamog married Yawata,

the daughter of Nanepashemet, chief of the Pawtucket

tribe, whose possessions extended from Chelsea and

Lynn on the coast, through Middlesex County to the

Pawtucket Falls (Lowell) on the Merrimack River.

The young couple lived for a time at Winnisimet

(Chelsea), where their oldest child Muminquash

(known afterwards as James Kumneymarsh) was born.

t Mass. Col. Records, v. 631. - Maea. Col. Becords, v. 531, 532.
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Their other children were known as John Awassa-

mog, Jr., Samuel Awassamog, Joshua Awassamog,

Thomas Awassam()g and Amos Awassamog.

When the apostle Eliot began his labors with the

Indians at Nonantum, .Vwassamo^ appears to have

been living at Mistick (.Medfbrd), and sometimes at-

tended JMr. Eliot's preaching.

Awassamog died in the early part of 1685. That

his last years were spent near his Framingliam home

is made evident I'rom the recital in the deed given by

his sons to the sons of Thomas Eames, of the tact,

that " for sundry years until his death, he, the said

Thomas Eamc?, did give relief to John Awassamog,

chief proprietor of these hinds."

His widow was alive in lUSti, when she signed a deed

of lands of her tribe in Salem. She f)robably died at

the house of her son, .James Kumneyuiarsh, in the

bounds of Natick.

Indian Villaoe at Cochituate.—This word is

spelled in official documents, Wachittuate, ('oijcha-

wicke, C'atchchauitt, Oliarchittawick, Katchetuit,

t!ochichawauke, Uochichowicke, etc. As is so common
with Indian place-word.s, modern usage has changed

the original application of the term. Neither the In-

dians nor the early English settlers applied the name
to the pond, but to the high bluff just south of the

outlet. The exact Indian use of the term is given by

Thomas M.ayhcw, Peter Noyes and Edmund Rice, in

their record of the laying out of Mrs. Glover's farm in

1G44 :
'' The southwest bounds are the little river that

issueth out of the Great Pond at CofhUunlc."

The word signifies, " place of the rushing torrent,"

or " wild, dashing brook," referring to the outlet in

time of high water.

Of the original native owners of the land at this

point and the immediate vicinity we have no positive

knowledge. This tract wiis included in the grant

made by the General Court, under the right of emi-

nent domain, to the Indians at Natick, after that

plantation was established ; and the deeds to the

English purchasers, all of whieh bear date subsequent

to this grant, are signed by Waban, Piambow, Tom
Tray and others. These names and some other

reasons favor the inference that these lands were in-

cluded in the inheritance of the tribe which dwelt at

the Falls below, to be noticed hereafter.

But fortunately for history, the village-site ou the

blutf was left untouched by the plow till a period

within the memory of men now living ; and the re-

mains clearly indicate the permanent residence of a

considerable clan. Mr. Joseph Brown, who was born

near by, and was often on the spot, says, " I have

been in the old Indian fort which stood on the highest

point of the hill south of the outlet of Long Pond, a

great many times. It used to include about an acre

and a half of land. A circular bank of earth with

ditch outside, the whole about four feet high, enclosed

it; and there was a raised mound in the centre, made,

I suppose, for a lookout. There were several cellar-

39-iii

boles—'granaries'—inside the bank. It was woods

all around ; but this pljice was always bare. It was

tiixt plowed up by Col. James Brown, who leveled

the bank, filled up the holes, sowed rye, and made it

into a pasture. There was an Indian weir in the

brook, at the fmjt of the bluff, a little way down from

the outlet." To this clear statement nothing need

be added.

(iuitc recently, two large mortars were found here;

also abunilanio of pc-stlcs, gouges, si>ear-head8 and
fragments of steatite kettles, etc. Six or seven large

granaries are still vLsible.

Tlie size of the evidently strong fort indicates that

the Indians regarded it as a place of importance, as

well as a place of security. The land on the west

slope of the hill wius favorable for a jvlantiiig-field.

The height of the hill made it a good lookout-jioint.

But the carefully constructed wclr shows that the

fisheries here were a i)rime factor in native estima-

tion. The number of large granaries (which were

lined with clay) shows tliat immense quantities of

shad and salmon were caught, dried and stored here

in the spring, for use in time of need.

Indian Village at the Falls.—The following

deed, executed before the General Court had made
formal grant of the land in question, is pretty con-

clusive evidence of aboriginal ownership on the part

of thegrantors, and it goes far to establish a very

early occupancy by the same parties :

'* TbiB witnessetli that William Bomau, Captain Jogiali, Itoger, &
James, and Keaqiiisaii, Indians, now liveing at Naticke tho Indian

Plantation uoaro Sudbury in the MaHsiichusetls Itay in Now England,

(Tor and in cunsideration of a valluable sumo of Toage and otliLT sondes

tons in hand paid by John Stone of Sudbury aforenamed to our full

content & batiafaction, before the signing an<i delivery liereof have
given, granted, bargained A sould, assigned, enfeofle<l & continued, and
by theia presents do give, grant, bargain k sell, lUisigne, enfeolfe and
cuufirme unto the said Jno. Stone, bis Heyrea A aasigties. a parcel! of

Broakeu up and tTeneed in land, lyiugon the South side of .Sudbury line,

upon tlie Falls of Sudbury River, and bounded with the (Joniiuun land

surrounding. The said land conteyning by estinuitit>n about ten Acres

more or lesae. To have & to holdd the said land with (he ffences and all

other the privileges and api)urtenance8 tliereof be the sjinie more or lease,

to him the said .luo. Stone, his Heyrea and Assignes forever, to his and
their only proppor use Abehooffe. In witness whereof wee the above

named Indians have hereunto put our hands k scales this ITith day of

May 1656."

A part of these names are known to be those of

Indians belonging to the northward, at Stow and
beyond. This fact, and other circumstances, lead to

the belief that the place was under the jurisdiction

of the Wamesitts, whose headquarters was at Paw-
tucket Falls (Lowell) ; and there is a probability that

the Indian village at Cochituate belonged to the

same tribe, before it was given to the Natick planta-

tion.

The wigwams included within this lot stood where
Mr. Simi)son's cottage and garden now are.

The fort of this clan was on the east side of the

river, on the point of the bluff opposite the Saxon-
ville Mills. It had a bold front and sides, and was
easily defended, and withal was handy to their fish-
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iiig-plai-es iiiul corn-tielils. A spriu^' of water came

out near the soulheant Coot. The large granaries

were where in now J. U. Eutwistle's house-lot, and

were plainly to be seen when he graded up the

place.

Home Indian graves have lieon discovered near the

spot, and remains inili<-ating (hat the bodies before

burial were doubled nj) by bringing the knees against

the chin, and laid upon the side.

Many choice ornaments, as well as the common

domestic utensils ami implements of war. have beeu

found along the top of the bluH'.

NoiwroT.—This hill «ii.s the residence of the noted

Indians, (dd .lethro and his son Peter. The great

stone-heap, evidently intended as a look-out, stands

on the highest point of the hill. It is named in the

records as early a.s lO'it.

Mi'KKKU Of THE ExMii.s FAMILY.—The princi-

pal tragic event which happened in our plantation

during King IMiilip's War was the murderous .assault

on the family of Thomas Eanics, February 1, 1(575-70.

The I'^amcs house stood on the southern declivity

of Mount Wayte, the nearest neighbor being distant

one and a half miles. The family consisted of Mr.

Kames, his wife and ten children, varying in age

from twenty-four years to seven months. The father

was absent, having gone to Boston for a guard, and

a supply of ammunition. A party of eleven Indians,

headed by Netus, came suddenly upon the defence-

less family, burned the barn, cattle and house, killed

the mother and five children, and carried off five or

si.x children and such plunder as they needed.

The family tradition is, that the mother had ex-

pressed the resolution never to be taken alive by the

savages; and that, true to her word, she bravely

defended her home, using hot soap and such weapons

as were at hand in the kitchen. According to the

confession of one of the murderers, the party, com-

prising six of the former residents at Magunkooki

had returned to that place for some corn which was

left the previous autumn in their granaries, and find-

ing that it had been destroyed, started at once,

partly for food and partly for revenge, towards the

nearest English farmstead. And it is probable that

the stout resistance of the courageous woman so

provoked them that they left nothing alive.

The children were carried to the neighborhood of

Wachusett, and two of them to Menameset. Three

of them found means to escape from their captors,

and returned in the course of a few months. The

two girls, one probably a daughter of Mr. Eames by

a former marriage, were seen by Thomas Reed, at

Turner's Falls, about the middle of May. They

were heard of later, near Albany. The younger was

redeemed, the elder never returned.

Of the Indian murderers, three were tried, con-

victed and hanged, two were sold into slavery, two

died violent deaths, and two .were pardoned.

Name.—On the Colonial records, the place is offi-

cially designated !W Mr. Danforth'a /"'ur/tts, and Frai/i-

inijham. In a single instance, on the Middlesex

County records, where entry is made of the births of

two children of Thomas Eames, and one child of

Joseph liradish, the name is written FramliHr/ham.

And in a petition drawn up by Peter Clayes in lii'JS,

and presented to Ihc Legislature, this spelling is used.

Neither has anything more than a clerical authority;

and both may have been clerical inadvertencies. In

the records of the Middlesex County Court, under

date Dec. 23, 1()73, and elsewhere, the name is writ-

ten Framingham, and uniformly .so in the fieneral

Court records; and in Mr. Danforth's numerous

leiises, of dill'eretit dates, and in his will, the name is

written without the I. Mr. Danforth's own usage is,

of course, final authority in the matter. Oct. 27,

1675, a tax was laid, " to meet the charges of the

present war with the Indians," ami Framingham was

assessed tl. Dec. 28, 1675, Framingham is ordered

to raise one soldier, as its proportion of a levy of .'iOO.

Uut whether the word be spelled with or without

au I, there is no doubt that the Plantation received

its name from the birthplace of Thomas Danforth in

England.

The Old Connectkjut Path.—This traveled

way was alluded to in connection with the early

journeys of Mr. Oldham's party and the migration

of Rev. Messrs. Hooker and Stone and their com-

pany from Cambridge to Hartford. At a later date

this path—which is named on the Sudbury town

records iu 1643, and was formally laid out from

Watertown to Mr. Duuster's I'arm (in the present

town of Wayland) in 1649—became an inijiortaut

factor in the settlement of Framingham, and deserves

special notice. It influenced the course of explora-

tion hither, and most of the early land grant to

patrons and settlers were located on this path.

Coming from Watertown to the northerly (^nd of

Cochituate Pond, thence it followed the present road

to the house of Joseph Brown, where it turned more

to the west, crossing Cochituate Brook at the fordway,

where was afterwards the fulling-mill dam ; thence

by a southerly and southwesterly course to a point

about thirty rods east of Hollis Hastings' ; thence on

nearly a straight line to the Para rubber-works, and

across the railroad, when it turned slightly to the

west, going past the South School-house site, and

from thence bearing to the left, over the Beaver Dam,
nearly as the road now runs into Sherborn,aud round

the southerly side of the Quinneh meadow, just shun-

ning the marshy lands,' and turning more west, crossed

Cold Spring Brook, about thirty rods above its junc-

tion with Hopkinton River ; thence westerly to the

cold spring on the Frankland place, in the west part

of Ashland, and so through Grafton,' in this State,

and Thompson, Conn.

» See Russell's Grant, Mass. Col. Rec, iv. pt. 1, p. 370.

2 " Hassanamesit is near unto the old road.way to Connecticut." Maafl-

Mint. Soc. Coll., 1, 185.
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Early Land Grants—il^rs. Glover's i^an».—The

earliest s^raiit of land within our town limits, by tho

(ienoral Court, was made l(;.'!'J-40, to Sirs. Klizal)eth

Glover, widow of Rev. Josse Glover.

This farm, laid out as (iOO acres, was found on

measurement to contain 9G0 acres; embracing all

that land lying between Hudbury town-line (now

\\'aylanil) on the north, Sudbury River on the west,

(^ocliitnate lirook on the south, Cochituate I'ond on

tho east, and from the northeast point of this pond to

the nearest point of Dudley Tond, and so liy this

pond to its northeast corner, and from there north,

direct to the old Sudbury line.

Tlinmas Mni/hrw's Farm.—" October 17, 1643, Mr.

Jlayhew is granted 800 acres of land in regard to his

cliaigc al)ont the bridge by Watertown mill, and the

bridge to belong to the country " [JA«.<. CoL Rrc, ii.

'il]. In lUGO, Mayhew assigned his grant to John

Stone and Nathaniel Treadway.
" In obedience to this grant and assignment. Now

laid out this 18th day of June, 170S, said iSOO acres to

the heirs of John Stone and Nathaniel Treadway:

This land, lying between Jlarlborough, Jlagunkook

and Framingham, and so bounded : This land is some

good, some bad, some pine and some oak land, and

some meadow in it, as may appear from the plat of

the same surveyed by David Haynes."

Grants to Edmund iJice.—" October 23, lOriS, Ed-

mund Rice, of Sudbury, preferring a jietition for the

grant of three little pieces of meadow, containing

about 20 acres, and 30 acres of uj)land, lying a mile

from Cochituate Brook, hath his request granted."

In 1055 Edmund Rice petitioned the General Court

for another parcel of land "near the path leading to

Connecticut ;
" and June 3, 1059, is the record : "Laid

out, the farm of Mr. Ednmnd Rice, of Sudbury, in the

place appointed by the Court, that is, beginning at a hill,

leaving Conecticott path on the north or northwest-

erly of it, and a brook on the south of it, and two hills

and a little piece of meadow on the east of it, with

five acres of meadow lying on the east side, being

part of the same grant; also the said tract of land

being bounded with the wilderness on the west, all of

which said tract of land containeth eighty acres."

This eighty acres lay between Beaver Dam Brook,

Glea-son's Pond and Gleason's Hill ; the southwest

corner bound being a tree at the Beaver Dam.
Grants tu John Stone.—In 165G Mr. Stone bought of

the Indians eleven acres of land at the Falls in Sud-

bury River, which, with fifty acres additional, was

confirmed to him by the General Court in May the

same year. Later he secured, by purchase, other

considerable tracts of land upon the river below the

Falls, and elsewhere.

Russell's Farm.—" May 15, 1(J57, Mr. Richard Rus-

sell having binn very serviceable to the countrie in

his publicque imployment of Treasurer for many
years, for which he hath had no annuall stipend, this

Court doth graunt him five hundred acres of land, in

any place not formerly graunted, upon Nipnop River,

at his choice." This grant wa.s laid out May (i, 1(J59,

and is thus described : "Laid out unto Mr. Richard

Russell, Treasurer, five hundred acres of land, lying

in the wildernes.s, upon both sides of the path that

leadeth from Sudbury toward Nipnop, & is bounded
on the northeiist with Washakam I'ond, and a

swampe adjoyning thereto, and on the west by a

marked tree and the west side of an iLshon swampe,
and on the south with the ui>land adjoyning to the

southerly or southwest i)oint o( that niea<low which

lyeth on the westerly side of the aforesaid meadow,
and on the north extending on the north side of the

aforesaid path, and is surrounded with the wilderness.

Edmund Rice, Tiio. Noyes."
Wdijte's Farm.—" May 25, 1()5<S, In answer to the

petition of Richard Wayte, one of those that were

tirst sent out against the Pequotts, & for scverall ser-

vices, the Court judgcth it mcete to graunt him three

hundred acres of land."

The record of the laying out of this grant is as fol-

lows: "Laid out unto Richard Wayte, niarshall, three

hundred acres of land in the wilderness, between

Chochittuate and Nipnop, in manner following, viz.

there being a necke of land about two hundred &
twenty acres, more or less, & is surrounded with Sud-

bury River, a great pond, & a sniale brooke that run-'

neth from the said pond into the river, and from the

southerly end of the said [)()nd running to the river'

againe by a westerly line ; and on the westerly side of

Sudbury River to extend his hounds from the said

river twenty pole in breadth so farre in length as his

land lyeth against the said river ; also, on the north-

erly & northeast of the said brooke & pond, he hath

five patches of meadow, containing about twenty

acres more or less, being all surrounded with wilder-

ness land ; also, on the northeast side of Wsishakum
Ponds he hath sixty acres, being bounded with the

gaid pond on the southwest, and an Indian bridge on

the east, and elsewhere by marked trees, the wilder-

ness surrounding.

"Oct. 20, 1658. Thomas Danforth, Andrew
Belcher."

Corletfs Farm.—"In answer to the petition of

Daniel Weld and Elijah Corlett, schoolmasters, the

Court, considering the usefulness of the petitioners in

an employment of .so common concernment for the

good of the whole country, and the little encourage-

ment that they have had from their respective towns,

for their service and unwearied pains in that employ-

ment, do judge meet to grant to each of them two
hundred acres of land, to be taken up adjoining to

such lands as have been already granted and laid out,

by order of this court."

Mr. Corlett was schoolmaster of Cambridge, ami

his farm of 200 acres was laid out within our bounds.

May 28, 1661. It took in the Elisha Frost farm, and
the land to the west.

Mr. Danforth's Farms.—" Oct. 16, 1660. Whereas,
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ut the rtN|Uc»dt of this Court, Mr. Thomas Danforth

hath atleuJed the service of this Court in surveying

the laws at the press, and making an index thereto,

thisi'ourt judgeth meet, as a gratuity lor his pains,

to grant him two hundred iind fifty acres of laud, to

he laid t>ut in any place not legally disposed of by

this Court/' This Ktt was laid out adj(»iuing Sudbury

town-line, on the west side of Sudbury Kiver.

'• May 7, 1GG2. The Court judgelh it meet to grant

to Mr. Thomas Danforth, two hundred acres of land,

aditiining to same lands he hath between Conecticot

path and Marlborough, and appoint Knsign Noyes of

Suilbury, with old Goodman Uice auil John How, to

lay it out, with other lands granted to him by this

Court ; and the act of any two of them to be account-

ed valid, both for quantity and quality." This 200

acres was laid out adjoining to and west of the for-

mer grant of 250 acres.

On the same day, /.e., May 7, 1662,

" It Ih iirdeifii, ttittt for und in consiclorotion of BIr. Thomas J)ituforth

hilt fiiriili*)iiiig Uio Conimiwioncre to York, i.e., Mujur (.^uiioriil DuiiiBon

uiiil Miy. Will. Ilawtboni, wiUi ten jmuudd muiiey, hIiuU have ^;rautuil

biiii lu* a« iul-tidoii lo Uu> two hiiiulrcHi acrt-s of Iivml grantctl liini by this

Cuirt in Gtb |»aKO of tliis Stvwion, no much land IjiiiR between Wbip-

HUlTuraKe «»»! Ooiiocticntt i>ath, adjoining to his funii, as old Goodman

lUco aud Gottdumu Uow of Marlborow eball jud^i' ^ho 8aid ten pouudu

to Ik' wurlh, and Mn-y are impowcred t<> bound the wuiio to him."

"l>cl. S, It'ttVJ. Laid out unto Ttmniafl Danforth Knq. a parcidl of

laud lyinK bflweono >Iarll)oroti<;h and Konetticut Path, and is bounded

e+wlerly by Sudbury huids aiUoiued to tliat part of tlioir bounds neere

I.aiinutn, t)ie htnd of John Stone, and a part iif Natick I'lantuliou
;

iiouiberly I'y the lands of tlie said Tliomas Danforth and Natick lauds;

nortlM-rly with the other i)art of Sudbury bounds towards Marlbury;

and westerly with the country lauds, tho said west line buing limited

liy a pinu trco marked witli V and standing uu tlie nurtli side of that

brancli of Sunbiiry river tliat »-onicth froui Marlbury [Stonijy brook] and

on lliy wfHt sido of Antiellico brook, and from tho said pine continuing

a southwest line unto the otlicr branch t)f Sudl)ury ii\L'r that isllie

bounds of Natick plantations lllopkinton riverj ; and from lliosald pine

tree northerly continuing unto Sudbury IhjuihIb, running by a tree

marked in the bigliway that Icarlotli from John Stone's house to Marl-

bury ; in which tract of laud bounded as abovesaid is contained two

hundred acres of land beluugiug nuto John Stone [the Corlett Farm]

and is oxcepttMl out of that laid out unto the said Thomat^ I>aufortli ; also

four hiir.dred and lifty acres of lanr] granted by the General Court in

two several grants to the said Thomas Danforth ; and the remainder

thereof is for the satisfaction of moneys disbursed by the said Thomjia

Danforth for the use of the country, by the appointment of the General

Court. Given under our banda the 27th of May, 1662.

"Kdmond Rice,

"John Uow,

" At a County Court held at Cambridge, Oct. 7, ltH12, Edmond Rice

and John Uow, appearing in (3ourt, acknowledged this alwve written to

bo their act, according to the appointment of the General Court.

" Daniel Gookin,

*'Symon Wjllaru,

"Richard Ri'Ssell,

"The Court allows & approves this return." *

This grant covered most of the Framiiigham terri-

tory on the westerly side of Sudbury River, and be-

tween the river and Southborough line.

Thus it appears that for the ten pounds money paid

out, Jlr. Danforth received a tract of about 14,000

acres. Adding the 450 acres previously set off to

him, and the Wayte and Russell farms, he held in all,

1 Mass. Col. Bee., iv. pt. 2, pp. 67f'68.

by gift and purchase, not less than 15,500 acres of

laud within the limitsof the old Framingham planta-

lion.

William Croumes Grant.—A farm of 500 acres was

granted, October 8, 1G62, to William Crowne, ** as an

acknowledgment of the great paines he was at in.

behalf of this country when he was in England.

"

This farm lay on the southerly side of Hopkintou

River, and covered what is now the village of Ash-

land—then reckoned Framingham territory.

Grants to Thomas Fames,—Oil his petition of Octo-

ber 17, lOHJ, the Court made a grant of 200 acres to

Mr. Fames, which was laid out ** in the wilderness

adjoining to Lancaster."

Jan. 24, 1070-77, Mr. Fames asked the Court for a

grant of the Indian lands at iSouth Framingham, near

his former home. The following deed recites all the

particulars of this grant

:

"WiiEKi^AS in Court at Nonantum January 24^^ l(j7i) Thomas Kama
pro|HJiinded to liave a parcel of land belonging to N'atick that is encom-

psishied by ye land of Mr. Tboinus Danfortli, John Death am) John Stone

on three parts, and the Indiaiiwtheti consented that in exchanijc of lands

between Slierborn and Xatirk the abovo said parcel of land (k'sired by'

Thomas Kams should be included in ye lands that Sherburn men have

in Kxchatigo from Natick, as attested by a copy of that Court record

under ye baud of Major Daniel tlookin deceased : Also whereas in answer

to a motion made by Thomas Kams to ye *>'eneral Court held at IJoston

ye 28^^ day of May ItiTlf the Court did there allow and conlirm the grunt

and Exchange made of ye lands above mentioned, as appeared by ye

record of ye said Court : Also whereas Sherburn in ye Exchange by them

made with Natick did omit to include the above said lands therein, so

that to ye day of ye date hereof ye said Natick Indians have liad no cou-

siderution iu money or lands for their above said lands that was pro-

pouuded by Thomas Kames as above : Also whereas Thomas Kames be-

fore his decease was peaceably seized of sai<l binds, and did settle ye same

by disposeing some part thereof to bis cliildren that now are dwelling

thereon with four families, and did al^o sell to othei's sundry parts

thereof that are now dwelling thereon, all which to dispossess would be

very great injustice; Now htoto all num by these jircsettls, that we I'eter

Epbniim, Thomas Waban, Daniel Touawampa Minister, Jonas Mottji-

hant, Jost-ph Tubamomoso, Indians of Natick with ye consent and by

tho order of the rest of ye Indians of that plantation, for and in consid-

eration of the premises, as also not forgetting the great siifferiug of ye

said Thomas Eames by those Indians that burnt his bouse, barn and

cattle, and killed his wife and three children, and captivated five more,

whereof only three returned, who are now dwelling on ye saiil lands,

whome uow to mine a second time by turning them off those lands we
are not willing to be any occasion thereof; Also, we well knowing, that

although the above said Thomas Eames by reusou of his being impover-

ished as above said, did not procure a legall conveyance of yo said lands,

yet for sundry years until his death did give releife to John Wansamug
Cheife proprietor of those lands; We the above named Peter Epbraim,

etc. for and on ye behalfe of ourselves as also the rest of ye Indians, that

can claim anj»right or title iu yo above said tract or parcell of land ; for

and in further consideration of Ten pounds, current money, to us in

hand paid before yo sealing and delivery hereof by John Eames sou of

ye above named Thomas Eames deceased, who dwelleth upon part of ye

Biiid lands, the receipt whereof we do acknowledge by these presents ; aa

also for twelve pounds more current money for yo use of oureelves, and

ye rest of ye Indians of ye said plantation to be by us disposed of as the

Governor or Leiu' Governor for the time being shall order, for ye true

payment of which twelve pounds, the said John Eames hath given a

specially under bis hand and seal bearing date with these preseuts ; have

given, granted, bargained, sold, enfeiffed, etc."

This farm was bounded north by Sudbury River

from the point where the Eames Brook enters to a

point near the north side of the Agricultural grounds,

thence the line ran easterly to the northeast corner of

the State Muster grounds ; the east line ran from this
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point by a southerly course to Beaver Dam Brook,

which brook was it8 aoutherly bound'; the west bound

was the Wayte meadow and Farm Pond. The eighty

acres ah-eady granted to Edmund Rice was excepted

out of the ;,'rant, under the tille vested in Jolin Death.

Jlr. Eames also received a grant from the town of

Slierborn, of a home-lot of thirty acres. This was

located on Chestnut Brook, about half a mile up the

stream from the Hunt place, and adjoined the home-

lot of Thomas Awassamog.

Till' Ilelc/ier (iiid- J.ijnde Farm of ITiO acres, lying

north of the Corlett grant, was a gift from Thomas
Danforth, dated March (i, 1(172-73, " to Ids loving kins-

man, Andrew Belcher, Jr."

Oookin and How's Purc/iagevms a tract of 1700 acres

covering what is known as "Rice's End," and includ-

ing the celebrated Indinn Head Farm. These pro-

prietors bought the tract of the Indians of Natick,

May l;>, 1082.

Buf'KMlNSTER's LEASE.—Reserving the common
lands at the southwesterly part of the town, and GOO

acres on Nobscot and Do&skin Hill (the former for

the use of all his tenants, and the latter for the bene-

fit of his heirs), .and excepting the farms of Winch
and Frost, and the Mellens, Rlr. Danforth in May,

1693, executed a lease for 999 years of the balance of

his Framingham lands, to Joseph White, of Roxbury,

and Joseph Buckminster, of Muddy River. Owing to

failure on the part of the lessees to pay the annual

rental, this lease was canceled, and another lease to

lUickniinster alone, was executed March 25, UI99,

running 999 years, the annual rental being twenty-

two pounds current money.

Two Classes of Land Titles.—All the lands ly-

ing easterly of Sudbury River were held by right of

frrant from the General Court, or purchase of the In-

dians, and confirmation by the Court ; while the title

to the west side lands included in Mr. Danforth 's

irrants, is derived from a lease running 999 years.

First Settlers.—Only a part of the men who
received grants of land within our territory became

actual settlers. The first man to build upon our soil

was John Stone, who removed from Sudbury (now

W.ayland), and put up a house at Otter Neck, on the

west side of Sudbury river, in 1(346 or 1647. By what
right he held or claimed the land here is not known

—

probably that of squatter sovereignty,—but so far as

ajipears, no one questioned his title.

The next settler was Henry Rice, who received a

deed and built a house on his father's grant in 1659.

liihn Bent bought land of Henry Rice, came on in

11162, and built near the. fordway over Cochituate

I'.rook, on the west side of the Old Connecticut Path,

'rhom.as Eames settled near Mt. Wayte in 1669.

.Toseph Bradish was here at this date, but his location

is unknown. Two of John Stone's sons, Daniel and

David, settled near their fiither as early as 1667. And
these were probably all the inhabitants living within

uiir limits when Philip's War broke out and put a

stop to settlements. These families were all from

Sudbury, and are denominated in deeds and other of-

ficial documents, "Sudbury Out-Dwellers," or "Sud-
bury Farmers."

The first recognition of the place by the colonial

government as in a sense a distinct plantation, is in

1675, when Framingham was taxed a country rate <d'

one pound, and was required to furnish one siddier

for the country's service.

The death of King Philip in 1676, ami the killing

in battle or hanging of the jirincipal hostile chiefs,

and the destruction of the Indian villages and strong-

holds, gave assurance of a permanent peace, and set-

tlers began to come on in considerable numbers. But
for twelve years the new-comer.* were Sudbury people,

and (except the Stones) located on the east side of

the river, and on the Eames, Rice, and Oookin and
How grants. John Death bought one-half of the

Benj. Kice land in 1()73, but did not buiUI till 1677.

His house stood near the Beaver Dam. Thomas
Oleason had bought the north half of the same land

in 1673, and located near the pond which bears his

n.ame, in 167S. In 1676 or 1678 John Eames and

Zachariah Paddleford took up lots on their father

Eames' grant, and with their father became inhabit-

ants. John Pratt and Thomas Pratt, Jr., settled on

Pratt's Plain at the same date; and in 1679 Isaac

Learned settled south of Learned's Pond.

About 1687, when Mr. Danforth had matured and

made known his plans for disposing of his lands by

long leases, settlers began to locate on the west side

of Farm Pond, and on the west side of Sudbury

River. The Whitueys and the Mellens, from Water-

town, settled on Danforth land in 1687 or 1688 ;

George Walkup, Stephen Jennings and John Shears

were in possession of lands near Nobscot in 1689
;

the Havens, from Lynn, came on in 1690 ; Samuel
Winch was here at that date; Thomas Frost built

south of Nobscot as early as 1693 ; the Nurse, Clayes,

Bridges, Elliot and Barton fiimilies settled at Salem

End in the spring of the same year. All these lo-

cated on Danforth land.

And these last named, as well as the settlers for the

next ten years, came on mostly in groups. The
Salem End families came from Salem Village (Dan-

vers) ; the Pikes, Winches, Boutwells and Eatons

came from Reading. Bowen, the Hemenways, Sea-

ver, Pepper, Heath, etc., came from Roxbury. John
Town, the first to locate near the Centre Village,

came from Essex County, and was allied by marriage

to the Salem End families.

Settlers came on rapidly, particularly upon the

west side lands, after 1690 ; so that at the date of Mr.

Danforth's death, in November, 1699, there were in

all about seventy families located in our territory, and

a population of near 350 smils. Eleven houses had

been built at Rice's End, fifteen on Pratt's Plain and

Sherborn Row, ten on Mellen's Neck and southward,

twelve at Salem End, seven on Pike Row aiul the
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roail to Sotithbiirougli, iiiul twelve at North Framing-

liaui, iiii'hidiiig Stone'H Kiul.

A romantic oh well as tragic interest attaches to the

colony that located at i^aleni End. As before stated,

tliute families came from Oanvers, then called Salem

Vill«};e, where they were involved in the strange

coni|>licationM and sad result.s of the witchcraft delu-

sion. Rebecca (Town) Nurse, the wife of Francis,

and mother of licnjamin and Sarah (Town) Olayes,

the wife of Peter, were sisters, and were among the

earliest of the accused victims and sufferers. They

were committed to the prison iu Boston, March 1,

lG!t2. IVlrs. Nurse was llio nuither of eight children

and was an honored member of the old church in

Salem. At her trial, the evidence against her

was so weak that the jury twice failed to convict; but

on a third return to court, because she failed to give

satisfactory answers to certain questions which they

proposed, they brought her in guilty. It was after-

wards shown that from deufness, she had failed to

fully com[)rehend the proposed questions. She was

executed July 19, 1(!92.

The wife of Peter Clayes was tried, and found

guilty, and condemned to death. In August she was

committed to the jail at Ipswich, to await execution.

Her husband wiw allowed to visit her in ])rison, and

spent much of his time there. And iu some way she

found means to escape, and was concealed by her

friends till the removal to Framinghani, the next

spring. As the witchcraft frenzy abated in the fall

of 1G92, prob.ably the authorities were not anxious

to recapture the fugitive. Mrs. Clayes was the

mother, by her first husband, Edmoiid Bridges, of

Benjamin and Caleb Bridges, who were of the Salem

End Colony. It should be said to his credit, that

Gov. Danforth was largely instrumental in allaying

the witchcraft excitement, and stopping convictions

by the court.

Incorporation of the Town.—The first move
ment of the settlers, looking to incorporation into a

township, was made March 2, 1692-93. The names
attached to the petition are of men dwelling at Rice's

End, South Framinghani and Park's Corner, i.e., east

side settlers. The intention evidently was to have
the centre village of the new town on Pratt's Plain

(now the State muster grounds), and attain, by grant

or otherwise, the " wilderness land,'' i.e., Danforth's

farms, lying to the westward. But Mr. Danforth had
already conceived the plan of bringing his large

landed estate under settlement and into town privi-

leges, and the east side scheme failed.

That fir.st petition has important historical value,

and is here inserted :

"Tho Petition of their Jl.-ijii" Biibjecls now Dwelling upon sundry
flannetl granted in tbuee Koniute landtt scittuate and iyeing betweene
Sndbnry, Concord, Marlbury, Natick and Sherborne, and westerly is tho
willdenietB

—

** Humbly Showcth

"That your petitioners some of us have there dwelt neer fforty

Yearea, And hare from lime to time Increased our ouuibers. And more

esiteciully of Late, Sue that now wee are about (Forty ITaniilies, Some
haveing Imilt and mime Imilding, And wee iiope may sincerely say that

wee have endeavored to attend the Wonibip of God, Some of us att on<(

Towne ,t some ittt anotlier as wee best miglit. butt liy Reason nf our
remoteness, four fTlve and some six miles from any Meeting-Iiuuse, Are
uncapable to carry our ffamilyes with i]S nor yelt to saiictitie Coil's Sali

baths ns woe ought besides uuuiy other inconveniences (Inevitable) iu

our present circumstances. And there being {.ands Adjaci-nt that might
well accoinmoilato more (Taniilyes lyelng partly iu Natick liounde, tho

Indians t« whomo it belongs being mostly gone some by death ami
others removed olse\vhore, and our westerly bounds being the wilder,

ness, Soe that woo have a prospect If this Hon''' Court shall favour this

our bumble address, That our numbers will be ffurther Increased, where-
by wee may be enabled (o carry on the worship ot (lod A have the bene-

tltt of prudentiall order among ourselves

*' The Premis(>s Considered

" Yo' petitioners doe therefore humbly refpiest y* favour of yo'

exellency and this Iloni-i O.url, That by the authority of this Court wa
may be made a Township A have the order and privileges that have
beene accustomed to others in our circumstances <.e. S»»nie Kasemeut in

our Taxes that wee may the belter bee enabled to carry on our puhlick
Town charges

; That some aildition may bee granted us out of tho wil-

derness adjacent. And in case the Hon''' Court shall see rejwon to I.y-

cence Natick Indians to nnike sale of any part of their barge Plantation

that wee may have liberty to purchase those Lands Ihal wilt bee accora-

modable to this place."

Signed by John Bent, Benjamin Whitney, John
Eames, Thomas Gleason, Isaac Jjcarned, John How,
Thomas Pratt, David Stoue, David Rice, Thomas
Drury, Nathaniel Haven and twenty others.

The next move was made by west side settlers in

169-1-95. This was checkmated by Sherborn, which
started a plan looking to the annexation of Rice's

End and Pratt's Plain to that town.

In 1((97 a petition—largely signed by b()th east-side

and west-side inhabitants—was blocked by the Sud-
bury farmers living near Cochituate Pond.

These conflicting interests were hard to be adjusted.

Sudbury had contributed some of her best men as

settlers on these lands, and still exercised a quasi

jurisdiction over the northeasterly portion, under the

title of Sudbury Farms. Sherborn had naturally

drawn the settlers who dwelt around Farm Pond
towards her meeting-house, received them to her

church and conferred civil and political privileges in

consideration of taxes for the support of public wor-

ship. Her opposition to a new town here was most
determined and persistent and potent. And when,
after a struggle of seven years, it became evident that

the new township was to be erected, she secured the

insertion of a clause in the .act of incorporation,
" saving unto Sherborn all their rights of land granted

by the General Court to the first inhabitants, and
those since purchased by exchange with the Indians

of Natick or otherwise.'' This clause gave rise to a

legal contest of nine years' duration, the double tax-

ing of several families, much bad feeling, and was
only ended by the Legislature granting unto the

town of Sherborn "4000 acres of wilderness country

land where they can find it any way convenient for

said town, in compensation for these seventeen fami-

lies."

The act incorporating the town of Framingham
bears date June 25, 1700.
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At this time there were tliirty-three houses on tlie

westerly, and thirty-one on the eiusterly side of the

river. The number of inhabitants was " above three

hundred and fifty souls."

No Crxtual Village-Site.—A peculiarity of

our town is, thiit tliere is no central point marked out

by nature as tlte village-site, to which all material and

social interests easily gravitate. The geographical

centre was broken, swampy land, inconvenient for

roads and uninviting for settlement. The original

meeting-house site, in the old cemetery, was pitched

upon, because it accommodated the more thickly set-

tled out-districts, viz., Rice's End, Pratt's Plain,

Park's Corner and Salem End ; and because it was

nearer to Sherborn Row (now South Framingham)

than the Sherborn meeting-house was, and thus would

bring these families within the statute which required

all settlers to seek civil and religious jirivileges in the

town to whose meeting-house their residence was

nearest. The site of the present Central village was

selected as a compromise of conflicting interests, with

which nobody was quite satisfied. The lands most

eligible for homesteads and for cultivation were dis-

tant from this point, and were distant from each other.

And what added to the difliciilly of centralizing and

uniting our early population was the fact that these

detached clusters of settlers were each a little centre

of its own in previous associations and social ties.

The Stones were a power by themselves, and were

given places of honor in Sudbury church and town,

to which they were strongly attached. The same was

true of the families at Rice's End. The Pratt's Plain

settlers bad received like favor from Sherborn church

and town. The Bigelows, Learneds, Whitneys and

Mellens had common associations formed while they

lived in Watertown. The Havens were large land-

holders, and were somewhat isol.ated. The Salem End
families had been mutual sufferers from the witchcraft

delusions and judicial trials at Danvers, and had

taken refuge and found a peaceful home in this then

wilderness land. The Reading and the Roxbury
colonies, which located in the northerly part of the

plantation, had each its separate interest and ties.

The selection by Col. Buckminster of bis homestead

farm in the upper valley of Baiting Brook, naturally

brought his old neighbors to locate near him, and to

consult his wishes and follow his lead.

And the fact that the settlers on the east side of

the river held their lands in fee simple, while the

.settlers on Danforth lands had only leases, was a cir-

cumstance, perhaps trival in itself, but which had its

influence in separating interests. The leased farms

held several valuable rights in common, from which

the east-side settlers were debarred. Mr. Danforth

was a man of large views and well-defined aims. He
planned to build up a township of enterprising men
by leasing the land on easy terms, and securing to

each tenant a right of pasturage and fuel in the

reserved commons, which embraced a tract of about

5000 acres. In addition, Mr. Danforth set apart a

large tract " for the benefit of the ministry."

The diverse social elements were slow in assimilat-

ing, were often agitated by disturbing infiuences,

and once came perilously nearer a destructive ex-

plosion. The ministerial lands were the subject of

unchristian contention, and the commons, which

were intended to be a band of union and mutual

advantage, became a field for individual avarice and

over-reaching.

First Meutino-House.—To meet the needs of

the many families who could not go to the neighbor-

ing towns to attend public Sabbath worship, and to

strengthen their appeal to the Jjpgislature for an act

of incorporation, our settlers proceeded, in the sum-

mer of lGi)8, to erect the frame of a meeting-house,

and cover it in. This house stood on the high land

in the east central part of the old cemetery. As
originally built, it was in size thirty by forty feet,

and two stories high, fronting the south. It was so

far finished that Sabbath services were held in it the

next year. It was boarded and clapboarded, but not

painted. The windows on the front side were of

uniform size, and in regular order; on the ends, and

north side, they were put in where, and of such size,

as individual ])ew-owncrs pleased—probably many of

them without frames. Originally there was one large

double door in front ; but individuals were allowed,

or took the liberty, to cut doors at the ends and north

side, wherever most convenient to reach their re-

spective pews.

Inside, the walls were unfinished. The jmlpit

stood on the north side, opposite the great door. A
gallery extended across the ends and front side—the

east end and half the front was called the "women's

gallery," and reached by the " women's stairs," at the

southeast corner ; the west end and half the front

was called the " men's gallery," and reached by the

men's stairs," from the southwest corner. A " bar
''

across the centre of the front gallery indicated the

dividing line, which was not to he crossed by either

sex. Long seats of the rudest construction ran around

the galleries, next the walls, and in front.

On the lower floor were two bodies of seats, or

benches, separated by an alley—the east range al-

lotted to the women, the west to the men. The dea-

cons' seat was in front of the pulpit. Under the

galleries were long seats, running parallel with the

walls. By special vote of the town, individuals were

allowed to take away portions of these long seats,

and build pews, against the walls, six feet by four

and one-half or five.

The site selected was " the most accommodable

spot" on the ministerial land for the scattered popu-

lation. It brought " the seventeen families " nearer

to a idace of worship than Sherborn meeting-house.

The east side settlers gravitated to the Great Bridge

by ea.sy paths from Rice's End and Sherborn Row.
The people from Nobscot and Stone's End had paths
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to Pike'« Row, iiiid theme by the Edgell place on

nearly u stniiglit liue to the meeting-house. A road

from the HeiiieiiwaVH throiigli Temple Street, met the

road from Sulem End on the present U. \V. Whiting

place, which then ran eaat past the house of C. J.

Frtwt, about twenty rods east of which it received the

path r'rom ihe Mellen and Haven neighborhoods, and

then led direct to the meeting-house.

The Fiit*T Minister.—August 21, 1700. Tlie

town made overtures to Mr. .lohn .'>will, of Alilton,

then sujipiying the pulpit, to continue their minister,

ollering him, in case he should be settled "one

hundred acresof land and ten acres ofmeadow." [The

land comprised the tract, whose boundaries extended

from the bridge by the old cemetery, southwesterly

to Duck Pond and tlie southern declivity of Rare

Hill; thence southerly to Sudbury lliver; thence as

the river runs to the bridge aforesaid.]

May 22, 1701. The town "voted to give a call to

Mr. .lohn Swift to abide and settle with us, the in-

habitants of Framingham, as our legal minister."

(_"hose Al)ial l.amb, David Rice, Benjamin Bridges,

John Town, .lohn Haven, Peter Cloyce, Sen., Sam-

uel Winch and Thomas Drury to give the call in be-

half of the inhabitants.
•' Voled, T<> Kive Mr. Swift, in iiddition to the land and meadow, .£00

in money yearly, and find him in hiu wood {tliirty-five cords); to fence

in twenty acre«, with n good ditch where it is ditchable, and where it

can't bo ditched to i*«t op a good five-rail fence ; and also to give .£1U0

towardji tlic IniiKlin^' of a houi^e, one-fifth of tlia same in money."

The church was organized, and a pastor ordained

October 8, 1701.

Externally, the meeting-house was not attractive,

nor was it very comfort.able within. But all the peo-

ple had lielped to build it, anil all loved it as their

sanctuary, and as marking the " God's Acre" where

their dead were buried. W^itb a small enlargement in

1715, it met the wants of the first generation of

settlers, but the second generation and the new
comers demanded something better, and with great

unanimity in 1725 voted to buiid a new house on the

old spot. Through the opposition of a minority,

actuated by ide.as of location, and in part by a purpose

of land speculation, the building was delayed, and

the question of location came near splitting the town

asunder, and actually rent the church in twain.

1733. A presentment was issued by the Superior

Court against the town, for not having a decent meet-

ing-house in said town.

The Second Meeting-House was built in 1735.

It stood at the northeast corner of the centre Common,
(just inside the present fence), fronting south. Size

fifty-five by forty-two feet, thirty feet between joints.

Had three stories. Doors on south, east and west

sides. £550 wits granted to build the house, and
finish ithe outside—though it was not painted till

1772. £350 was granted, at different times, for finish-

ing the inside of the house. The pulpit was on the

north side, and double galleries extended around the

other three sides. The committee wiis iu.structed to '

build a pulpit, a body of long seats below, leaving an

alley between the men's and women's seats, lay the

floors, make scats in the lower gallery, and two pair

of stairs (men's and women's) to said gallery. The
space next Ihe walls under the galleries was reserved

for pews.

The new meeting-house, though standing literally

" in the woods," and surrounded by swamps, became

a potent factor in town affairs*, and as a converging

[loint for the town highways ; and between 1735 and

1745 these were readjusted and laid out in the

main as they exist at|iresent.

The population had increased from 350 to 900.

The appropriations for ordinary town expenses in

1745 were £735, old tenor—£200 for highways, £300
for )>reaching, £135 for schools, .£100 for incidentals.

The first pastor, Mr. Swift, died April 25, 1745.

His successor, Mr. Matthew Bridge, w.as ordained

February 19, 1746. The town granted him a settle-

ment of .£()00, old tenor, and a yearly salary of £2(10.

The exjienses of his ordination were £109 Ss. 2d. ;

including £96 9.^. 4d. for keeping the ministers and

messengers two days ; £3 !8s. ; for chickens, £10 2».

for beef and £6 3». for tavern bills.

As a result of the contest about the ministerial

land, growing out of the claim and seizure of said

lands by the lessee of Mr. Danforth, a divided sentiment

had obtained in the church, aggravated by difficulties

with the first piistor. The settlement of a new minis-

ter was the occasion of the culmination of the alienated

feeling. The majority wiis uncomprorai.sing, and the

minority seceded and took steps which led to tl»e

organization of a second Congregational Church in

October, 1740. A small meeting-house was built, and

Mr. Solomon Reed was ordained pastor of the new
church in January, 1747. The new organization

numbered over eighty members, and maintained a

separate existence about ten years, when a part re-

turned to the old church and a part united in forming

the First Baptist Society in Framingham.

Emigr.-vtions.—Framingham contributed largely

of her enterprising inhabitants towards the planting

of colonies at several new centres. A considerable

number of our citizens became grantees of Oxford in

1713. Among them were' Town, Barton, Elliott,

Earned, Gleason, Lamb and Stone. Some Mellen,

How and Haven families removed to Hopkinton be-

tween 1715 and 1720. The Bents, Stevenses, Stones

and Howes were among the early settlers of Rutland.

Others become incorporated with Holliston in 1724,

with Shrewsbury in 1727, with Grafton near the same
date and with Templeton a few years later.

In the Wars.—The following Framingham names
are found on the rolls of the expedition to Canada in

1690 : John Jones, Francis Moquet, Daniel Mack
Clafelin, Joseph Trumbull, Caleb Bridges, Daniel

Mixer, Daniel Stone, .Jr., Samuel Wesson, Jacob

Gibbs. They enlisted in the Sudbury company, and

were sharers in the grant known as the Sudbury-
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Caiiiula Giant of 1741, which was h)caU'<l in Maine,

embnioiug the present towns of Canton and Jay. The

survivora of this company, while prosecuting their

claim in 1741, met several times at Mr. Moquet's

tavern in Framinghnra.

Forts AND Gaiihison-Hoiises.—The war known

as Ciueen Anne's War came on soon after the incor-

poration of the town. It was declared in May, 1702,

and terniinated by the treaty of Utrecht, March 30,

1713. This was a period of general alarm, in which

Framingham participated; though few of our men
were drafted into the service. In the expedition to

Port Royal, September 1(!, 1710, Joseph lUickminister

was captain of grenadiers in ciir Charles Hobby's

regiment, and sailed in the brigantine " Henrietta."

Others from Framingham in this expedition were

David Kice, died April 20, 1711 ; Jonathan Proven-

der; Benjamin Provender, died .lanuary 21, 1711;

Joseph Adams.

Ample precautions were taken to meet hostile visits

from the Indians, who scourged the frontiers. A
sentry was posted on the top of IJare hill, during the

time of public worship, on the Sabbath, to give alarm,

in case of the appearance of the savages. Several

forts or garrisons were built in different parts of the

town, by neighbors clubbing together for mutual pro-

tection. l''rom the vote of the town ill 1710, for dis-

tributing the ammunition, it is probable that at that

date there were not less than four such garrisons. The
location of three of them is known. One stood near

the then house of Joseph Buckminster, a little to the

southeast of the present house of E. F. Bowditch

;

another at Salem End, between the present houses of

.lames Fenton and Dr. Peter Parker, on the north

side of the brook; a third on Melleu's Neck, to the

north of Joseph A. Merriam's. The fourth was prob-

ably located near the south end of Learned's Pond.

The Salem End fort was built of logs, with a watch-

box above the roof at the gable end, and was sur-

rounded by long pickets firmly set in the ground.

This outer defence had a heavy plank gate, hung on

wooden hinges. There was a stoned-up cellar under-

neath, where food could be stored, and a well just

outside the gate. When an alarm was sounded, all

the families within reach hurried to the fort. It is a

current tradition, that on a dark night, when the

neighboring families were collected here, with two

watchmen in the sentry-box, the dogs gave warning

that an enemy was near. The sentries fired in the

ilirection whence the sounds came, and the alarm

ceased. The next morning, blood was discovered

near the gate, and tracked across the swale to near

the Badger farm.

Mr. Barry gives the following :
" An aged inhabit-

ant of this town relates an instance of narrow escape

from death, on a like occasion, which occurred to his

grandmother. Having gone alone to the yard to

milk, about two hours before sunset, she carefully

looked around to see if there were Indians in the

neighborhood. Supposing herself secure, she pro-

ceeded to her work, and wliile in the act of milking,

an Indian (who, n-s was their custom, had disguised

himself with brakes, and crawled along on his belly)

suddenly struck her in the back with a knife. Slie

instantly s[>rung, and by the ell'ort twitched the knife

from the Indian's grasp; and before lie could rise,

had advanced so far, that she succeeded in reaching

the house, with the knife in her back. An alarm was

immediately given, by three successive discharges of

a musket, which soon brought a reinforcement from

the neighborhood of what is now called the Silk

Farm, where was a garrison well provided with

powerful dogs and arms. On pursuing, however,

they found no traces of the Indian. The woman sur-

vived her injury."

The farmers went to their work in the fields, carry-

ing with them fire-arms for protection. The hu.sbaiid

wouUl go with his wife to the barnyard, and watch

while she milked the cows. " An aged woman of this

town heard, from her grandmother, an accountof this

practice in her day ; the latter adding, that her hus-

band's presence was, after all, of no great service, for

instead of watching for Indians, he would throw him-

self upon his back, and sing loud enough to be heard

througli the neighborhood." (Harry.)

At this (late, and for many years after, one or more

dwelling-houses in every district was built so as to be

arrow-proof and bullet-proof. A description of the

Learned house, which stood where Mrs. Katherine

Fames now lives, will answer for all. It was a two-

story house without a leanto. The frame, i. c., the

sills, posts, girths and plates, were of heavy timbers.

Instead of studs in the lower story, logs split in half

were set upright, face and back alternately, so as to

match by overlapping the edges. The space under

the windows on the back side w.as filled in with

bricks ; on the front side and ends with two-inch

planks. The lathing was nailed to the logs on the

inside, and the boards were nailed in like manner on

the outside. The doors were of planks, and the v,'in-

dows were provided with inside shutters.

Some of these garrison-houses were lined with

planks instead of split loijs. The Dr. Stone house,

which stood on Pratt's Plain, near the arsenal ; the

.lohn Eames house, built where is now R. L. Day's

house ; the Nathaniel Haven house, which stood

west of Washakum Pond (the Charles Morse place,

now in Ashland); the original Nathaniel Eames
house, late .lonathan Eames', were plank-lined garri-

son-houses. A similar house, built about 1730, by

Nathaniel Haven for his son, and placed on the op2>o-

site of the road from the father'.s, is still standing, as

is the Nathaniel Eames house. The former is owned
by Joseph Morse.

Father Rai.le's War,—This war lasted from 1722

to 172(i. Its principal theatre was in the province of

Maine; but the French Indians from Canada made
assaults on the infant settlements along the entire
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iiarllicrii border of MiuwRchiisctts; and all our towns

were oiilliil upon to contribiilo their quota of men.

Franiinghani shiired in these levies. Colonel Joseph

BuckininHter, then in command of the South Middle-

se.x Kenimcnt, sent troops to the relief of exposed

points. Jonu. Lamb waa employed to transport mili-

tary stores from Boston to Rutland, then a frontier

town. In Sergeant Tlionius Buekminster's " Rutland

Seout " were Pavid Pratt, Philip Pratt, and Thompson

Wood, of Franiinghani. Gideon Bridge.s, Jeremiah

Belknap, llaekaliah Bridges, Simon Goddard, Jere-

miah Weilges and Benoni Hemenway were out in a

(letaehment from August 2,')th to November 28, 1722.

Maniel How, Benjamin Hemenway, Mark Whitney

and Daniel Rider, of this town, served in Captain

Samuel Wright's Rutland Company, from November

10. 1723, to June 10, 1724. Jeremiah Wedges and

Uriah Clark were in service at Fort Dummer, Feb.

1st to May 31, 1724. In 1725, June to November,

Kaniel Mow, promoted to be .>.ergeant, Thomas Walk-

up, Benoni Hemenway, .John Stone and Samuel Hud-

sou, apprentiee to Jonathan Rjgg, were in Captain

Samuel Wright's company.

Mutltr Boll of Captain Itaac Clark't Company of Troopert, out from

August Slut to Si'iitonibur 18, 1725

:

Capt.
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Kbenezer Newell'a Roxbury Company, and received a

commission as lieutenant; but before maixliing he

was transferred to Capt. Jonathan Hoar's Concord

Comjiany, and was promoted September 8th to be

captain. The company was attached to the Crown

Point expedition, and was in service till December

17th. Jonathan Gibb.s was lieutenant in the same

company; Amos Gates was sergeant; Ebenezer

lioutwcU was corporal ; George Walkup was drum-

mer, and in a short time was promoted to be drum-ma-

jor. Jonathan Treadway was taken sick and sent home
(in furlough November ;>(!, and died December ]7lh.

Other Framingham men enlisted in Capt. Newell's

company at the same time as Lieutenant Xixon, and

were in the Crown Point expedition, and discharged

January 3, 1756 : Sergeant Shears Berry, Sergeant

Isaac Gleason, Corporal Jonathan Belcher, Abijah

Berry, Eben. Darling, John Darling, John Edgell,

Simon Edgell, Thomas Nixon, Josepii Sever, Benja-

min Tower.

Four men from this town joined Capt. Stephen

Hosmer's company, for the Crown Point expedi-

tion, one of whom, David Sanger, died at Albany,

December 15th. Three of our men were in Capt.

John Taplin's company, same expedition; and six

others enli.sted in different companies, making forty-

four in all who took part in this lir.st campaign of

the war.

In 1756 thirty-eight of our men were in the service.

Capt. John Nixon and his compatiy were stationed

at the camp near Lake George. His brother Thomas,

aged twenty, was ensign, and Simon Edgell, twenty-

two, was sergeant. Benjamin Angier, William Puffer,

Jacob Townsend, Isaac Allard and Ensign John

Stone died in the service this year. Daniel Coller was

taken captive by the Indians near Lake George.

Francis Gallot was taken prisoner at Oswego, when
that fort was captured, August 14th.

Captain Josiah Stone, with his troop of horse, was

in service at Crown Point, September 15th to Octo-

ber 30th.

The year 1757 was long remembered as the year of

great preparations and great disappointments. The
expedition against Crown Point and Ticonderoga

was popular, and officers and men enlisted readily

—

to be balked in their expectations by the order of

Lord London, who sent them on a fruitless ex-

pedition against Louisbourg.

The following characteristic letter will explain it-

self:—
" Framinqham, July 18, 1857.

*'BIay it please the Hon''' bis Majeety's Council

:

'* In obedience to an order from your Honours of tbelotb of May, l?.*)?,

I bave talten effectual care and caused every person, botb upon the Alarm

List aud Trained band List, in tbe Regiment of Militia under my com-

mand and also tbe respective Town stocks in said Regiment, to be furnish-

ed with Arms and Ammunition according to law,and now rea<Iy with my
whole Regiment, to meet and confront tbe French in any part of the

Province, at a minute's warning, even with seven days' provisions.

" I am, Tour Honours most obt. serv^

" Job. Buckminstee.**

The regular companies from this neigliborhood,

last year, remained in the service; and most of

our militia were called for in one or other of the
" alarms '' about Fort William Henry. Timothy
Pierce, son of Thomas, was made i)risoner at the tak-

ing of this fort and carried to Canada.

In 1758 seventeen Framingham men were with

(\il. Ruggles' regiment, mostly in Capt. John
Nixon's company, on the New York frontier

;

Ensign Thomas Trowbridge and fifteen men were

in Capt. John Taplin's company, raised for the re-

duction of Canada, and ten men enlisted in

Captain Aaron Fay's comi)any for the .same

destination. Micaj.ah Gleitson wius in the expedition

against Louisburg.

Ralph Ilemenway enlisted and marched with his

company, but was taken sick and lay in the hos]>ital

for some time. The General Court allowed him for

bis extra expenses, £3. 6. 0.

1759. Niagara w:us invested in'CTcn. Prideau.x, July 6

and was taken on the 24tli. Ticonderoga was reached

by the division under Gen. Amherst, July 22, and

after a siege taken ; when Crown Point was abandon-

ed by the French, who retired to the Isle aux Noix, at

the northern extremity of the lake.

Cajit. John Nixon, with many of his old officers

and men, turned out March 31, and was stationed at

Worcester, in Col. T. Ruggles' regiment, till April

30. At this date his company was reorganized, and

attached to Col. John Jones' (of Hopkinton) regi-

ment, which marched under Gen. Jeffrey Andierst,

for the invasion ofCanada. Tlie company was in ser-

vice till Dec. 20. The Framingham names are as fol-

lows :

Capt. John Nixon.

Lieut. Joseph Gibhs.

Lieut. Tbom.ia Nixon.

Eus. James Mellen.

Jonathan Pierce, aged 25.

Silas Ilemenway, aged 21.

tieorge Lilly, aged 21.

Nathaniel Brown, aged 18,

Oliver Robinson, aged 19.

Caleb Drury, Jr., .aged 23.

llezaleel Wright, aged 19.

Ebenezer Cutting, aged 17.

Jona. Ilemenway, aged 19.

Elijah Houghton, aged 20.

Thomas Kendall, Jr., aged 45.

Isaac Fisk, Jr., aged -22.

.lobn Matthews, aeed 40.

Josei'b Stone, aged ^7.

Dan. Tombs, Jr. (Hopk.), aged 19,

Gilbert Dench (Uopk.), aged 17.

Ebenezer Haven, aged 22.

Esau Northgate, aged 37.

AlleTi Flagg, aged 18.

Daniel Haven, aged 4r>.

.Toseph Bigeluw, aged 24.

John Gould, aged :is.

Ptiinebas (iraves, aged 24.

Elijah Drury, aged 22.

Isaiah Taylor, aged 2.'*.

Mtcah Gleason, aged 17.

Peter Gallot, aged '24.

Daniel Haven, aged 20.

Isaac Fisk, Jr., served through the campaign. While

returning home he was taken sick between Crown

Point and No. 4, and with great difficulty got as far

as Mt. Grace (in Warwick), seventy miles from home.

His father went with a horse to fetch him to Framing-

ham. But he was so ill that he could not get on or

off a horse without help ; and the father was absent

seven days, and he was not able to do anything for

about six weeks. Expenses allowed by the General

Court, £1.1.4.

1760. Ten Framingham men enlisted for the reduc-

tion of Canada, and were a.ssigned to Capt. William
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.Iiinee' Co. (of llolliston), and were in service from

Fub. 14 to Dei', -'li.

Cupt. Nixon's company was in aervice from April

15 to Nov. 17, 17t>l. It waH a popular company, and

numbered tbirtcon oflicers and .eiglity-oi},'lit pri-

vttUtt. Eight of tlio otlioers and twonty-three of the

nuMi were from Kramingham.

The .<mall-po.\ \va.s very prevalent in Canada at this

time, and many of the Anieriian soldiers took it.

•• Tlio p*'Htlon of IUli>li Hi^ninu'iiwuy, of Fnimlitgliani.

*'To IiIh Ex(K*II«»!n'y Km lU^nmrd :

" lliiiiilily «lii'».lli Unit hie nan, Joliii lU'iiiiiu'invay. onliatcil in 1761

uiiU«r rapt, tlrigliiiiii, of SonlliboroUKi), t'ol. Whilcolnb'ii rOKJinoue, auJ

canlliiiii'd in n'rvli'o till llit< iirniy l.roki' up'; niiil in Ills riilnrn took Iho

niall-pox. mid wu tultt'ii ilown six tlityit uftor liis rotuni Imnie, iintl (!on-

tlnutnl IhlrtFcn duvs.nnJ dlwl ; by rc»»on of wliiili yo\ir potitiuiior wu»

put to icrfnt tnnildi* uiid cti«t : liotuni to niuvc-liiH family Iialf a niilo dis-

tant : and could not tal4i» tlit-ni Iiomo in \vm tlum tliroo niontlifl; and

[vaid two nuriHii t;t. 4., ln'sidoft ir. nliillinKt^ for nccesMarietf. Prays the

Court to allow tiini, aji othotv are allowed in such caam."

The General Court allowed him £4. 4.

Miscellany.-— 17.")4. The first four months of this

year are made memorable by the prevalence of a

fatjd ilistemper, known as the great "sickness." The

town records notice the death of seven persons as vic-

tims of the disease ; but it is nearly certain that other

deaths occurred, which were not recorded : The God-

dard family, living on the place now of J. H. Temple,

and the families living north of theMountain, appear

to have been the greatest suflers. Rev. David God-

ilard, minister, of Leicester, while on a visit here, was

taken down, and died January 19. His mother died

February 4th, and his father, the Hon. Edward God-

dard, died February 9. Others of the family were

siek but recoveied. Joshua Uemenway, .Tr., died

January 30.

The distemper broke out in Ilolliston about the

middle of December, and between that date and

March there were forty-six deaths in a population of

four hundred. " Four families were wholly broken

up, losing both their heads. The sickness was so pre-

valent that but few families escaped. For more than

a month there were not enough well to tend to the

sick and bury the dead : tho' they spent their whole

time in these services ; but the sick suffered and the

dead lay unburied ; and that, notwithstanding help

was procured, and charitable assistance afforded by

many in neighlioring towns. In the height of the

disease there were from two to five burials each day."

[Journal of Rev. Mr. Prentice.] The selectmen applied

to the Legislature for aid, and " the sum of £26, 13, 4,

was granted and paid out the public treasury to the

selectmen of Holliston, (in consideration of the calam-

itous circumstances occasioned by the late mortal sick-

ne.ss that prevailed there), to be applied forthe use and
relief of such poor, indigent persons as may most need

the same."

The number of deaths in Sherborn was between
twenty and thirty.

1755, Nov. 18. A terrible earthcjuake took place a

little after four o'clock, in a serene and pleasant night.

and continued near four and a half minutes. The
shock was the most violent ever known in the coun-

try. Its course was from northwest to southeast, and

it extended entirely across New Kngland and the

Middle States.

1756-7. During this winter snow fell to the depth

of nearly six feet. The following extracts from a

journal kept by Henry Fames, indicate the jirogress

of the storms :
" Dec. 17, 175(i, snow 15 inches deep.

Snow 2()lh day, 15 inches more. Snow 23d day, 7

or 8 inches more. Cold rain, 20th day; 27th, warm
three days, then some rain. Jan. 3, 1757, cold N.

W. snow, about two or three inches. Jan. 9, about

noon very hot fog, then rain. 17th, very cold N. W.
wind. 22d, rain, and thaw very fast. 24lli and 25lli,

snow to the value of 10 inches ; the night after, eight

inches more. 30th and 31st, thawed away most of the

snow that came last ; the whole depth above 4 feet

and 4 inches. Feb. 2, snow and hail seven inches

deep. 5th, snow seven inches dee|) more. 6th, rain

most of the day. 7th, snow three inches deep. 10th,

S. wind and rain, till the snow wasted the most of it."

Polls and FiSTATES, 1760.^—From an ollicial re-

turn it appears that at this date F^aminghain bad

Number of ratable polls 301

Number of non-ratable polls 30

Number of dwelling-houses 198

Number of work-houses or shops '28

Number of mills 8

Number of Iron fouudaries 1

Number <if eervnnU /or life 7

Trading stock fCO 13 (i

Money at interest £93G 17 4

Number of horses 162

do of oxen 265

do of cows 724

do of sheep "
. . 880

do of Bwine3 months old 35

do acres of cow pastures 1,023^^

do bushels of grain raised 20,(165

do barrels of cider made 1,716

do tons of English hay ^''lu
do tons of meadow hay l,02l)ij

Slaves axd Colored Inhabitants.—The num-

ber of slaves returned in the preceding table is seven.

Perhaps no better place will occur for giving a list

of the Negro slaves (so far as is known) owned at

different times by Framingham families.

In 1716, John Stone lield as a slave, Jane, wife of

John Jackson, of New London, Connecticut, who
commenced a process to recover her freedom.

Jane, a negro girl owned by Col. Buckminster, was

baptized in 1722.

October 9, 1733, Thomas Frost bought of Jonathan

Smith of Sudbury, for £60 current money, a negro

man named Gloster, aged about 30 years.

Plato Lambert, born December, 1, 1737, was taken

wlien an iniivnt by Mrs. Martha Nichols of this town.

Primus, owned by Aaron Pike, was baptized in

1744.

Mereah, owned by widow Samuel Frost, was bap-

tized in 1746.



FRAMINOHAM. fi21

Jenny, owned by Lieut. Thomas Winch, and Vilot

owned by Jonathan Rugg, were baptized in 17-16.

Flora, owned by Deaeon Peter Baleh, was baptized

in 1747, and is named in liis will made in 1755.

Flora, Brill, and Titu.f, owiied by Mrs. Ebenezer

Winchester, were baptized in 17-18.

Hannover a negro man owned by Nathaniel Bel-

knap, was baptized in 1755.

Phebe, owned by Captain Simon Edgell, wiis bap-

ti/.ed in 171)7. The following bill ofsalerel'ers to this

Negro girl, who was assigned by Mrs. Baleh to t'ap-

tain Kdgell. It will show the mode of conducting

such transactions

:

'*Kni)w all Men by these Presents, that 1 .Tosiali KlclmnlsoD .Iiin. of

Sudbm-y in the County of Miildlesex, geutleiiiou, for and in coiiHidem-

tiou of tlio 8iiin of one Pound six Bliillinys and eielit pynt-o, lawful

inouoy, lo nio in band well and truly paid at tlie entiealiiij; lutieof tty

Elizabeth Italcb of Frainiu;;iuini widow, tlio Keceipt wlu-ieof I do

hereby acknowledge, and for tlie consideration thereof. Do .SW/ to tbo

said Kli/.abet>i IJalcb and to lier lieirs and at«igU8 forever, .1 Netjro/e-

m<il^ VhiU named Phehe, of about two yoara old, with her wearing ap-

parel «he now hatli. And I the Riid .Tosiali Covenants to aiul with the

said Kli/abeth Halcli and her heirs and tLssigns, that the Siiid Negro

Child is my Slave for Life, and that I have good right to sell arul con-

vey her i[i numiier aforesaid for the lerTu of her natural life ; auil that

liy force ami virtue hereof the said Klizabelh llalch shall hold her the

said I'hebe for a sla^e for the term of her natural life. In Wiliiess

whereof, I the said Josiah Kiehardsou ,luu., have hereunto set my hand

and seal this l;Uh day of August 1704.

" In presence of " JosiAil Kicuahoson Ju.v [Senl]

" Samuel Junes."

Dill, a negro woman, in the service of Deacon

Daniel Stone, died December Hi, 1767.

Rev. Mr. Swift owned live slaves, which were dis-

posed of in his will, dated September 171o, as follows :

Francis, negro man, to his son, Rev. John Swift, of

Acton ; Guy, negro man, to his son-in-law, Rev.

rhillips Paysou, of Walpole ; Nero, negro man, to

his son-in-law, Ebenezer Robie of Sudbury. His

two negro women. Dido, wife of Nero, and Esther,

her daughter, he left for the service of his wife until

her decease, after which they were to be the property

of his daughter Martha, wife of Major John Farrar.

Nero, or Nero Benson, was trumpeter in Captain

Isaac Clark's troop in 1725. He married in 1731,

Dido Dingo. He was a member in full communion

(jf Mr. Swift's church ; and in 1737 transferred

Ills relation to the church in Hopkinton, showing

that his spiritual liberty was not restricted. He was

admitted to Rev. Mr. Loring's church in Sudbury,

November 0, 1746, and died at Sudbury, July 3, 1757.

He left a wife and three children, one of whom, Wil-

liam, was owned for a time by Joseph Collins, of

Southborough.

Cato Hanker was owned by Joseph Haven, Esq.,

and was born in his house (the David Nevins place).

He was a shoemaker, and received his freedom ; and

April 10, 1721, bought for ten shillings, ten square

rods of land of Daniel Haven, where he built a small

house. The house stood on the north side of the road,

a short distance to the eastward of the David Haven

house, on land now owned by the Sturtevants. In

his old age he was accustomed to toll that he bad

many times stood in the road east of his house, and

"fished both ways" in time of high water. He left

a son, William.

A noted chanicter of the class under consideration

was Prince, .sometimes called Prince Young, but

whose name is recorded as I'rince Yongey, and Prince

Jonar, by which last name he is noticed in the town

records in 1767. He was brouglit from Africa whiiu

about twenly-ilve years old, having been a person of

consiileration in his native lainl, from which circum-

stance, perhaps, he received his name. He was

bought by Col. Joseph Buckminster, Jr., and was

afterwards owned by his son, Doa. Thomas Buck-

minster. He married, in 1737, Nanny Peterattucks

of Framingham, by whom he hail several children,

among thein a son who died young, and a daughler

Phebe, who never married.

Prince was a faithful servant, and by his honesty,

temperance and prudence, so gained the confidence

of his lirst master, Col. Joseph Buckminster, that he

was left with the management of a large farm during

his master's absence at the (ieneral Court. He occu-

pied a cabin near the turnpike, and cultivated for his

own use a piece of meadow, which has since been

known as Prince's meadow. He gave as the rea.son

for choosing this spot, that it resembled the soil of

his native country. During the latter part of his life

he was otlered his freedom, which he had the sagacity

to decline, ]iithily saying, " Massa eat the meat; he

now pick the bone." I'rince shunned the society of

persons of his own color. He always appeared in

public armed with a tomahawk
; yet he was a favorite

with children, and would bear great provocations

from them. He learned to read, and possessed the

religious turn of mind characteristic of his race. In

his bust sickness, he remarked with much siinplicity,

that he was " not afraid to be dead, but to die." He
passed an extreme old age in the family of Dea.

Thomas Buckminster, and died December 21, 1797,

at the age of about 100 yenrs.—Jiarri/.

Cato Titus was in Framingham in 1770.

Brin, commonly calleil Blaney Cirusha, was at one

time owned by Col. Micah Stone. He is named in

the tax-list of 1757. He was in the military service

during the Revolutionary War; was at the battle of

Bnnker Hill. He died February, 1820.

Another noted character, still well remembered by

many of our inhabitants, was Jim Riggs. He was a

mulatto, born in St. Domingo ; Wiis owned as aslave at

the South; escaped from slavery, and alter many ad-

ventures, reached this town. According to his own ac-

count he was hostler to Gen. (then Col.) Washington

in the campaign of 1755, and was then nineteen years

old. He was in service in the Revolutionary War.
He built a shanty near Lawson Buckminster's grist-

mill, back of Mrs. Newell's house. He did jobbing,

and made baskets in the families of Buckminster,

Belknaj), Home, and the families of How, Eames and
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Haven at the south part. lie died at the liouHe of John

Weiizull, Sen., in lt>-S, and wiu buried iu the South

Cemetery. He must have been about ninety-two at

hill deuth.

Oiher eohired men of note who have lived iu Fram-

indhani, were l'ri»|Ui» Attueic!-, Peter Salem and Cato

Hart. Their biograpliy iiroperly belongs to the next

ciiH|iter.

The strong race prejudice e.\isted in this town as

elsewhere. Pews in remote corners of the meeting-

houses were specially assigned for the occupancy of

negroes. As late as lS2t), when the First Baptist

Siciety built its meeting-hnuse at the Centre, pews for

the exclusive use of colored people, were constructed

in a kind of attic gallery, reached by separate stairs.

PliYsu'lANS.—Dr. Be/.aleel Kice commenced prac-

tice here an early as 1720, and continued till 1743.

Dr. Joseph Nichols lived in Framingham from 1730

to 1752.

Dr. John Mellen is named in the town records in

1747.

Dr. Ehenezer Ilemenway was in practice in this

town from 1750 to 1784. He lived on the Loring

Manson place (now W. B. Ward), and had a grist-

mill on the stream.

Jeremiah Pike, a noted bone-setter, was contem-

porary with Dr. llciiienway.

Dr. John Sparhawk wiis in Framingham in 1757.

Dr. Richard Perkins, H. U., 1748, son of Rev.

Daniel Perkins, of West Bridgewater, was in practice

here in 1758.

The wife of John Trowbridge, Sen., practiced as a

midwife.

Tavkkns.—Jonathan Rice kept a tavern and store,

a little south of S. D. Hardy's, 1708, and for many
years. Jona. Maynard had a house of entertainment

before 1723, at the Aaron Bullard place, south side of

Bare Hill.

Daniel How opened a tavern about forty-five rods

southeast of the old Charles Clark place, in 172C,

which he sold iu 1736, or '37, to Samuel Gleason, who
continued the tavern for many years.

About 1728 Hezekiah Rice oi)ened a tavern at the

Captiiin Uriah Rice place (now A. S. Furber's).

Francis Moquet kept tavern at the old Buckmins-

ter stand (near E. H. Warren's store) from 1729 to

1735. He afterwards bought the place next east of

O. F. Hastings', where he had a tavern and store as

late as 1749. After Mr. Moquet left the Buckminster

stand. Col. Joseph Buckminster took it, and spent his

days here, iis did bis son, Joseph, and grandson, Dea-

con Thomas.

Nichols kept tavern at the Nathan Goddard
place.

John Trowbridge, Jr., had a public house before

1757, and for many years thereafter. January 11,

1759, he sent the following petition to the General

Court: "The Petition of John Trowbridge, Jr., of

Framingham, sAeuid/i, that he entertained Capt. Eudi-

cott's Company on their march from Boston towards

-Vlbany, in the year 1757 ; that on application to

him he cannot obtain payment, although (as he is in-

formed) the said Endicott has received the billeting

money for his whole company; that he apprehends

he is left without remedy against the said Endicott,

by reason of his not being present with his company

when they rei'cived their entertainment at his lumse;

praying for relief."

"Jan. 11, 1759. Josiah Drury, of Framingham,

petitions for license by the General Court, as an Inii-

h(dder in said town, the person who lives in his

neighborhood who had for some time kept a Tavern,

not having renewed his license, and the selectmen

Judging the place convenient for that business." The
Court of Sessions were inipowcred and directed to

grant the license prayed for. The tavern was at the

east part of the town.

War oi- tjih Rkvoi.ution.—October 21, 1765, the

town " voted to instruct their representative in the

(ieneral Court: 1. To promote and readily join in

such dutiful remonstrances and humble petitions to

the King and Parliament, as have a direct tendency

to obtain a repeal of the Stamp Act. 2. That you do

not give your assent to any Act of Assembly that

shall imply the willingness of your constituents to

submit to any taxes that are imposed in any other

way than by the Great and General Court of this

Province, according to the institution of this dovern-

ment."

September 26, 1768, Mr. Thomas Temple was chosen

to join the Committee in Convention at Faneuil Hall,

in Boston, "to consult such measures as may be for

the safety of the Province."

Crispus Attucks.—The quartering of troops on the

town of Boston, and the exasperation of the people at

such an attempt to overawe and coerce them, pre-

pared the way for the tragic scenes of the 5th of

March, 1770, known as The Boston Massacre.

A principal character in the bloody ailray was a

Framingham man.

Crispus Attuuks, who is admitted to have been the

leader of the party, was a mulatto, born near the

Framingham town line, a short distance to the east-

ward of the State Arsenal. The old cellar-hole where

the Attucks family lived is still visible. He was

probably a descendant of John Auttuck, an Indian,

who was taken prisoner and executed at the same

time with Capt. Tom, in June, 1676. Probably the

family had intermarried with negroes who were slaves,

and as the offspring of such marriages were held to be

slaves, he inherited their condition, although it seems

likely that the blood of three races coursed through

his veins. He had been bought by Dea. William

Brown, of Framingham, as early as 1747. But he

thus early acquired some ideas of the value of man-
hood and liberty, as appears from the following

advertisement in the Boston Gazette of October 2,

1750:
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'* Ran away from bifl Mof^tcr, William Brown of Krumingliura, on tlio

.^(itli of Saptemiier last, a mulatto Follow, about twi'iity-aevon years of

8Ke, nauiod Crinpos, G feet 2 iticlips liigh, short curled hair, Ilia kneeis

nearer together than common, and hail on a light coloured Heaver-Hkin

coat, plain lirown fustian j'ncA'tt, or brown all-wool one, new bui-k-sUln

llrei'Chcs, blue yarn stockiiiKS, and a checked woolen shirt. Whoever

will take up saiil Runaway and convoy liini to his aforesaid MiLiter, shall

havo ton jmunds old tenor Reward, and all iieceBsary charges paid. And

all Masters of vessels and others are hereby cautioned against coucealtiiK

or carrying otf said Servant, on penalty of the law."

A descendant of Dea. Brown says of him :
" Crispus

was well informed, and, except in the instance re-

ferred to in the advertisement, wa.s faithful to hi«

master. Ho was a gooil judge of cattle, and was

allowed to buy and sell upon his own judgment of

their value. He was fond of a seafaring life, and

probably with consent of his master, was accustomed

to take coasting voyages. Tlie account of the time

says, " he lately belonged to New Providence, and

was here in order to go to North Carolina."

He was of huge bodily proi)ortions, and brave almost

to recklessness. John Adams, who defended Capt.

rreston at his trial, says: " Attiicks was seen about

eight minutes before the firing at the head of twenty or

thirty sailors iu Cornhill, and had in his hand a large

cord-wood stick. . . . He was a stout fellow, whose

very looks were enough to terrify any jierson. . . .

when he came down upon the soldiers by the sentry-

box, they pushed him otf; but he cried out, ' Don't be

afraid of them ! They dare not fire! Kill them ! kill

them ! Knock them over ! ' " At the firing he was

killed instantly, two balls entering his breast. He was

about forty-seven years old.

May 28, 1770, the town, by unanimous vote, de-

clared against "the pernicious practice of purchasing

and drinking Foreign tea, and also of trading with

the importers of English goods ;
" and March 25, 1774,

it was endorsed, "That we ourselves, or any for or

under us, will not buy any teas subject to duty ; nor

knowingly trade with any merchant or ciiuiiiry trader

that deals in that detestable commodity." And the

declaration was made :
" And since such means and

methods are used to Destroy our Privileges, which

were purchased by the Dearest Blood of our Ances-

tors, those that stand foremost in a proper Defence

of our Privileges, shall have our greatest Regards
;

And if any shall be so regardless of our Political

Preservation and that of Posterity as to Endevor

to Counteract our Determination, We will treat them

in the Manner their conduct Deserves."

May 18, 1774, the town chose the following Com-

mittee of Correspondence : Joseph Haven, Esq.,

Capt. Josiah Stone, Dea. William Brown, Ebenezer

Marshall, Lieut. David Haven, Joseph Buckmiuster,

Esq., and Maj. John Farrar.

Capt. Josiah Stone, Joseph Haven, Esq., and Dea.

Wm. Brown were appointed delegates to the Provin-

cial Congress, which met at Concord in October.

Capt. Stone, with Dea. Brown as his substitute,

was sent to the Second Congress ; and Joseph Haven,

Esq., and Capt. Stone were sent to the Third Congress.

September 9, 1774, the town voted "To purchase,

at the town's expense, five barrels of i)owder and
cwt. of bullets or lead, for an addition to the town's

stock."

September 30, 1774, voted " to purchase a chest of

25 fire-arms and two (ield-pieces, of such size as the

(\)mmittee shall judge jiroper." Joseph Winch,
Daniel Sanger, James Glover and Captain Renj. Ed-
wards were the committee. This meeting was ad-

journed for four days, and public notice was given

requesting that " every person above the age of six-

teen years shall attend, to consider and deter-

niinc with regard to the Militia as the whole body
shall judge proper." A very full meeting convened,

and it was voted " that there be two Militia Com-
panys besides the Troop in this town : and that each

company choose such officers as they judge best to

have ciimmaiid in this day of distress in our Public

.\fiiiirs."

The Provincial Congress, which met in October,

adopted a plan, providing that all able-bodied men
ihould be enrolled, and that those should assemble

Immediately, and elect their proper ofiicers, and that

these company ofiicers should assemble as soon as

may bo, and elect field ofiicers: and that the militia,

so organized, should be subject to the orders of the

Committee of Safety.

At a meeting of the town, November 8th, " it was
voted to accept the resolve of the Provincial Congress

relative to the Militia." And this led to the forma-

tion of two companies of ininii/e-iiirn.

Fortunately the papers showing the method of

organizing these com|)auies are preserved, and are

herewith copied :

*' "Wo, the subscribers, from a soriso of our duty, to preserve our Liber-

ties and Privileges; And in conipliauco with tho Resolves of the Tro-

vinciul Congress, together with the desire of onr siiiierior olhcers, volun-

tarily enlist ourselves Minute-men, and promise to hold ourselves iu

readiness to march at tho shortest notice, if requested by the ofiicers wo
shall hereafter elect."

This paper was signed by Simon Edgell, Thtmias

Drury, Samuel Abbot, James Clayes, Jr., John Fisk,

Moses Learned, Matthias Bent, Jr., John Eaton,

Lawson Buckmiuster, Frederick Manson, and others,

to the number of sixty-eight.

This company organized December 2d, as appears

from the following certificate:

*' These may certify that in Framinghaiil, on tho second of December,

1774, a number of men enlisted as Minute !\Ion, and was formed into a
companye ; then made choice of Mr. Simon £dgoll captain, Thomas
Drury lirst lieutenant, Lawson Buckmiuster second lieutenant, ofiicers

for said Companye according to the directions of the late Provincial

Congress in their Resolve in October 20, 1774.
'* Signed

*' Samuel Bullard,
" MicAH Stone,
•' Abner Pehry,
** JoH.\ Trowbridge,

" N. B. Said companye consists of 70 men, including otBcers."

At the same time a second company, comprising

sixty men, was enlisted, and organized in the same
svay. The officers elected were : Thomas Nixon, cap-

Field oflicetv

of this

Regiment.
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tain; Mioajiih Gleimoii, first lieutenant; John Eames,

seconil lieutenant; Samuel (.ileason, ensign; Kbene-

rer Henienwav, clerk. Some of the other leading

namortwere: Peter Clayes, .Vbel Chilils, Mosea and

Nathaniel j:amc8, John Farrar, Jr., Jona. Hemen-

way, Jona. Hill, Needhani Slaynard, Ana and John

Nurse, .lona. 'iVni|ile, Joseph Winch.

These eonip.iiiies at onep put themselves in active

drill in 'he manual and field mano'uvre. Each man

was reijuired to provide himself with a musket,

bayonet, cartridge-box and thirty-six rounds of

ammunition. The companies met as often as ouce a

week, and squads of men, by arrangement, would

meet at the houses of the ollicers, and spend evenings

going through the maniud exercise. Says one of

them :
"

1 have spent many an evening, with a number

of my near neighbors, going through the exercise in

the barn lloor, with my mittenson."

These minute loinpaiiies were in part composed of

the young and adventurous spirits among us; but

inanvofour most substantial citizens enlisted, and

were faitliful in drilling, and ready to " fall m" when

the emergency came.

1775. " January 2, 1775. At a town meeting duly

warned, it was voted, that there shall be a contribution

for the town of Boston under their present Distress.

Ami Slaj. .lohn Trowbridge, tiideon Haven, Daniel

Sanger, Benjamin Mixer, Kbenezer Mar.shall, David

Patterson, Deacon William Brown and Dr. Ebenezer

Hcmcnway were chosen a committee for that purpose

;

and next Wednesday and Friday at 1 o'clock were

appointed as the times when the people shouhl

assemble at such se,veral places as the committee shall

designate, to bring in their subscription.s."

Capt. Josiah Stone and Deacon William Brown

were chosen delegates to the Second Provincial

Congress, to meet at Cambridge the 1st of February.

Capt. Benjamin Edwards, Joseph Nichols, Daniel

Sanger, Capt. Amos Gates and Col. Micah Stone were

chosen a Committee of Inspection, " whose duty it

shall be to see that the Association of the Continental

Congress be duly carried into full execution."

The Battle of Lexington and Concord.—April 19,

1773. The news that the British troojis were on the

march for Lexington and Concord apjiears to have

reached Framingham before eighto'elock in the morn-

ing. The bell was rung, and the alarm guns fired

;

and in about an hour a considerable part of the two

companies of minute-men and one company of the

militia were on the way to Concord, which place

they reached about noon. Capt. Edgell went on foot

the entire distance, carrying his gun. Those living

at the extreme south and west sides of the town

were a little behind the party from the centre and

north side.

Soon after the men were gone, a strange panic

seized upon the women and children living in the

Edgell and Belknap District. Some one started the

story that " the Negroes were coming to massacre

them all!" Nobody stopped to ask where the hostile

i negroes were coming from ; for all our own colored

' people were patriots. It was probably a lingering

memory of the earlier Indian alarms, which took this

j

indefinite shape, aided by the feeling of terror

awakened by their defenceless condition, and the

uncertainty of the issue of the pending fight. The
wife ofCapt. Edgell and the other matrons brought

the axes and pitchforks and clubs into the house, and

securely bolted the doors, and passed the day and

night in anxious suspense.

Our companies reached Concord, not in season to

join in the fray at the North Bridge, but in season to

join in the pursuit of the fiying Briti.sh column.

From the evidence preserved, it appears that a part

of our men particijiated in the daring assault at Mer-

riam's Corner, and that all had arrived and were active

in the more successful attacks in the F^incoln woods.

Captain Edgell and Captain Cleason had seen service

in the Indian wars ; they were cool and daring, and

kept their men well in hand, which accounts for the

iew casualties of the day among them. Captain

Nixon and our two captains, who acted in concert,

well knew the need of discipline in harassing a re-

treating enemy, and that most casualties happen on

such occasions from rashness and needless expo.sure.

A single deliberate shot, from a man behind a safe

cover, is ell'ective, when a dozen hurric<l shots are

harmless.

Our captains kept up the pursuit till the British

reached and passed Cambridge ; and then the men
disposed of themselves as best they could for the

night.

The following incident shows the value of presence

of mind in emergency. In the pursuit from Concord,

when on the borders of Lexington, Noah Eaton (2d),

of this town, fired upon the British, and squatted be-

hind a knoll to reload, just as a regular came up on

the other side of the knoll, and as it proved, for the

same puri)08e. Eaton instantly brought his gun to

his shoulder, and demanded a surrender. The soldier

laid down his musket, when Eaton proceeded to re-

load. Seeing the state of the case, the soldier re-

marked, '" My gun is empty, but I could have loaded

in half the time you take, as I have cartridges." The
soldier returned to Framingham with his captor the

next day, and continued in his service.

Josiah Temple, then living at Lechmore Point,

Cambridge, started with a detachment of militiamen

to intercept the British, on their return, and in the

severe skirmish which took place just on the line be-

tween Lexington and Cambridge, received a musket-

ball in the shoulder, which he carried to his grave.

Daniel Hemenway, a member of Captain Edgell's

company, was the only one of our minute-men who
was wounded that day ; but he kept on with his com-

rades to Cambridge, and remained in the service four-

teen days.

Ebenezer Hemenway, of Captain Gleason's com-
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pany, shot a British soldier named Thomas Sowers,

near Merriam's Corner, and took liis gmi, whicli he

brought home witli him.

As will appear from the muster-rolls, all our Kram-

ingham men followed the British as far as Cambridge,

and passed the night there. And only eiyhl of the

total oi one hundred and fifUj-lhri:e returned home the

nest day. The rest remained in the service for longer

or shorter periods, as indicated below.

Captain Kdgell took .seventy-seven men to thescene

of action, thirty-eight of whom returned at the end of

four days; the others continued in the service from

ten to nineteen days. Ca|)tain Edgell was out twenty-

two days. The .second company marched under Cap-

tain Micajah Gleason, Caj)tuin Ni.xon having been

promoted. This company numbered forty-nine men,

who were in service from three to twenty-eight days.

Captain Jesse Eames took twenty-four men of the

militia to Concord and Cambridge that day, most of

whom were out ten days.

It was at the earnest entreaty of the Committee of

Safety and the general oflioers, that Captain Edgell,

Captain Gleason and Captain Eames, and so large a

part of our minute-men and militia remained at Cam-
bridge. The Executive Committee had summoned the

Provincial Congress to meet April 22d ; and they begged

these minute companies to hold the ground till more

permanent companies could be enlisted.

On the 2od the Congress resolved to call on Massa-

chusetts to furnish 13,500 men for eight months' ser-

vice.

On that day Captain Gleason resigned command of

his minute company, and immediately raised from

his own men, and other companies on the ground, a

company of fifty men, and reported for duty. His

commission is dated April 23d, and his company was

that day mustered into service.

The next day, Lieut. Thomas Drury, of Captain

Edgell's company, resigned his commission, and com-

menced recruiting a company for the eight months'

service. On that and the few following days he en-

listed sixty-three men. His commission as captain is

dated April 24th, and his company drew pay from

that date.

In all, eighty-nine Framingham men were enlisted

for the eight months' service in 1775.

April 24th the Committee of Hafety sent ten sets of

beating papers to Colonel Jonathan Brewer, a native

of Framingham, but who, since 1770, had resided in

Waltham, on the border of Watertown. He prompt-

ly raised a regiment, composed of eight companies and

400 men.

The officers of the regiment, all of whom enlisted

April 24th, were

:

Colonel, Jona. Brewer, of Waltham, born in Framingbam.

Lieutenant-Colonel, William Buckminster, ofBarre, born in Framing-

ham.

Major, Nathaniel Cud worth, of Eaat Sudbury.

Adjutant, John Butler, of Peterborough.

Quartermaster, Charles Dougherty, of Framingham,

40-iii

Surgeon, D. Tonrlisand, o( Booton.

The same day, April 24th, Captain John Nixon
was tendered a commission as colonel of a regiment;

and on the 27th the Committee of Safety ordered that

he receive nine sets of " beating papers," which he was
to send to such men of his acquaintance as were con-

sidered suitable to be commissioned as captains. The
fielcl officers ofthe regiment when organized were ; Col-

nel, John Nixon, of Sudbury; Lieutenant-tlolonel,

Thos. Nixon, of Framingham ; Major, Jolin Hutlrick,

ofConcord ; Adjutant, Abel Holden, ofSudbury
;
Quar-

termaster, John White, of Haverhill ; Surgeon, Isaac

Spollbrd, of Haverhill ; Surgeon's Mate, Josiah I^ang-

don, of Sudbury. The officers of the regiment drew
pay from .\\,\\\ 24th, and it was recognized by Gen-
eral Ward, and sent by his orders on several impor-
tant esi)editions; though it appears not to have mus-
tered into service, as a rtgimcnt, till June 5th.

April 24th, nine sets of beating-papers were issued

to Colonel David Brewer, a brother of Colonel Jona-
than, then a resident of Palmer. June 15th, the

Committee of Safety reported that " Colonel David
Brewer had raised nine companies, amounting, in-

cluding officers, to 465 men, who are now posted at

Roxbury, Dorchester and Watertown." This regi-

ment was commissioned June I7th. The lieu-

tenant-colonel was Eufus Putnam, of Brookfield
;

the major was Nathaniel Danielson, of Brimfield
;

the adjutant was Thomas Weeks, of Greenwich
; with

Ebenezer Washburn, of Hardwick, quartermaster,

and Estes Howe, of Belchertown, surgeon. Micah
Dougherty, of this town, enlisted for the eight months'
service in Captain Jona. Danforth's company, in Col-

onel David Brewer's regiment.

Samuel Brewer, a native of this town (brother of

Jonathan and David), but then living in Rutland, en-

listed in the eight months' service, was appointed

adjutant-general of the troops in Roxbury under
General Thomas. He was wounded at Bunker Hill,

June 17th. In 1770 he raised and commanded a regi-

ment which served at Ticonderoga. He, with his

regiment, was in the campaign of 1777, which ended
with the defeat of Burgoyne.

Battle of Bunker Hill.—By returns dated June 17,

1775, it appears that Colonel Jonathan Brewer'.s regi-

ment comprised eight companies, and numbered 371

men. Col. .lohn Nixon's regiment had eightcompan-
ies, and numbered 390 men. Both these regiments

took a leading part in the Battle of Bunker Hill.

Colonel Brewer was ordered by General Ward early

in the morning to go to the support of Colonel Pres-

cott. About half of his regiment was absent on leave

or in camp at Biookline, so that he went upon the

hill with only about 180 men. The regiment took a
position at the left of the redoubt, in the open field,

which it held through the day, leaving the line of
battle only when General Warren, who stood at the

head of the rail-fence breast-work—between the regi-

ments of Brewer and Nixon—deemed it prudent to
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retire, ("oloiiel llrcwcr nioiveil a jiiiinful wound

;

Lieuteimnt-Ciiliiiiel liiickiiiinstor, just before llie re-

treat, receiviil a llaIl!;erou^^ wnunil Inmi a musket-ball

entering tlie riftlit shoulder and eoniing out in the

luidille of his back, which made him a eripide for life.

.Vdjutant liutler was wounded in the arm. Seven of

the regiment were reported killed, and eleven

wounded.

I'dIomcI Ni.ton's regiment was sent to the support

of I're.seott abo:it the same time as t'olonel Brewer's.

His men lielpeil to build the hay breastwork, took

position behind it next to Colonel Brewer, and held

their ground till the British got possession of the gap.

SwfK states tliiit Colonel Ni.\on marched upon the

field with three hundred men. The two Framingham

companies

—

t'a|itain Drury's and Captain (tleason's—
who were attached to the regiment, had respectively

sixty-three and fifty men. A part of Captain Drury's

men were sent to the redoubt to support Prescott just

before the British charge. Oneof them, Peter Salem,

who shot Major Pitcairn, was a member of this eom-

pany. The rest of the company was at the head of

the rail-fence. Sergeant Ebenezer Eaton, of this

town, happened to have position near where General

Warren stood during the action, started to leave the

defences with him, was close to him when he received

the fatjil shot, and, with some comrades, attempted to

carry him otV the field; but the British onset forced

them to leave the body. Colonel Nixon was severely

wounded during the third attack and had to be car-

ried off the hill. Lieutenant William Maynard, of

Captain Druryls company, received a bullet in his

hip, which he carried to his grave. Three of this

regiment were reported killed .ind ten wounded.

Most of these casualties happened after the men left

the breastwork. The reason why the shots of the

British did .so little execution during the action is

found in a statement made by Sergeant Eaton: "The
British fired over our heads; the tops of the young
apple-trees where we stood were cut all to pieces by

their bullets."

After the 17th the several regiments went into camp
at different jpoints. (Colonel David Brewer remained

at Roxbury through the season, where he probably

died late in the autumn. Colonel Jonathan Brewer's

regiment was stationed at Prospect Hill. He re-

mained here till November Kith, when, by some new
arrangement of companies, he was requested to trans-

fer the command of his regiment to Colonel Asa
Whitcomb. For this graceful act he was thanked by
the Provincial Congress; and General Washington
issued an order the same day: "That Col. Jonathan
Brewer be appointed Barrack Master untill something
better worth his acceptance could be provided." He
held this appointment till the army moved to New
York the next year. Colonel John Nixon and his

regiment went into camp on Winter Hill, where he
remained until March, 1776, and probably held the

post till the arniy moved to New York. He was com-

missioneil brigadier-general August 9, 1776, and was

put in command of (iovernor's Island. On the evac-

uation of New ^'ork City his brigade moved up the

North River anil took a leading part in the campaign

of 1777 against Burgoyne; was at Stillwater Septem-

ber I'Jth, and at Saratoga October 11th. General

Nixon was a member of the court-martial for the trial

of General Schuyler October 1, 1778. Owing to ill-

health, occasioned by his wounds and his long-con-

tinued service in camp and field, he felt compelled to

resign his commission; and September 10, 1780, he

received an honorable discharge.

On the promotion of Colonel John Nixon, his

brother, Thomas Nixon, was put iu command of the

regiment. He took an active part in the campaign

against Burgoyne, and was stationed at various im-

portant points on the North River from 1777 to the

close of the war, when he was honorably discharged.

Captain Micajah Gleason followed the fortunes of his

colonel, and was killed at White Plains in the fall

(October 28tb), of 1776.

An order was issued by the Council of War, De-

cember 1, 1775, for raising r)000 men " to defend the

fortifications at Cambridge and Roxbury." In re-

sponse Captain Simon Edgell raised a company of

thirty-three men and reported for duty at Roxbury,

where he was in service six weeks. Immediately on

his return he raised a company of eighty-five men,

and served at Cambridge till April 1st. In command
of a company of seventy-eight men, he marched for

Ticonderoga, August 15, 1776, and was in service till

December 4th. The company was attached to Colonel

Samuel Brewer's regiment. Captain Edgell was in

service in Rhode Island in 1778.

Sergeant Frederick Manson and a squad of ten

Framingham men were in service at Noddle's Island

from June 19 to December 2, 1776. As sergeant-

major he and Drum-Major Joshua Eaton were in the

battle of Stillwater, September 19, 1777.

Captain Joseph Winch raised a company of ninety

men, and marched August 14, 1777, via Bennington,

for service in the Northern Department, and was out

till December 10th. This company took part in the

battles of Stillwater and Saratoga.

Lieutenant .Jonathan Temple, of this town, enlisted

in Captain John Walton's company, Colonel E.

Brooks' regiment, and was in service on the North

River through the year 1776.

Captain John Trowbridge was in service " in the

Jersies " for three months, in 1777. Uriah Rice was

a member of the company.

In the campaign of 1777 Framingham had, in the

regular service (not including Colonel T. Nixon), nine

commissioned officers, viz. : Captain John Gleason,

Lieutenants Peter Clayes, Charles Dougherty, Micah
Dougherty, Cornelius Claflin, Samuel Frost, Nathan
Drury, Jonathan Maynard, Luther Trowbridge.

The First Three- Tears' Men.—By a resolve of Janu-

ary, 1777, the towns were required to furnish a quota
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of men, enlisted or drafted for three years, to be at-

tached to the regular army. Framingham enlisted

fifty-three men under this call.

In Colonel Abner Perry's regiment of militia, or-

dered to Rhode Inland on an alarm, .luly 27, 1780,

were Lieutenant-Colonel John 'I'rowbridfre, JIajor

John GleasoM, Adjutant James Mellen, Jr., C^uarter-

master Frederick Manson, of this town. In addition,

same service, were Captain Nathan Urury and thirty-

six men. Captain David Brewer and twenty-three

men. Captain Lawson Buikiuinster and forty-nine

men. Lieutenant .lohn Mayhew and thirteen men
were in service in llhode Island from June :5d to Sep-

tember 30th.

Lieutenant Peter Clayes, promoted to be captain

and ten Framingham men served during the last

years of the war in Colonel Thomas Nixon's regiment.

Lieutenant James Jlellen and thirty-tuur men were

in Captain Staples Chamberlain's company, on a

forty days' expedition to Tiverton, R. I., in the spring

of 1781.

Lieutenant Joshua Trowbridge and seven Framing-

ham men were in service July 5th to November 30,

1781.

Under the call of December 2, 1780, for "the last

three-years' men,'' this town raised forty-three men ;

of these twenty-seven were re-enlistments, or those

who originally enlisted for the war. The difficulty

of raising these men is seen from the fact that the

town voted to raise £50,000 to hire soldiers. The
committee was authorized to agree to pay the men in

money or cattle, and to pay the advance wages before

they should march. The following receipt shows the

large bounties paid :

"We the Bubscribers having enlisted ourselves into the Continental

Army for the term of Three Tears, and do hereby acknowledge to

have received of the Town of Framingham for that service, the sum
of one hundred dollars hard money per year—We say, Received by us,

"April 16, 1781. "Abel Benson.

"John Freeman.

"James Dose.

" Solomon Newton.
" EpHRAiM Newton.

"Nathaniel Peatt.

"John Pratt.

"Ephhaim Pratt."

1780. Beef.—" October IG. Capt. Joseph Eames,

Lieut. Samuel Gleason, Jr., aud Lieut. Joseph Mixer
were chosen a committee to purchase the Beef now
called for to supply the army ; and the town granted

the sum of £17,000 to pay for the same, which sum
was ordered to be put into the next town rate."

" November 27. Another order for Beef for the

army was issued. The amount required of Framing-

ham was thirty-one hundred weight. And December

4th, a further order required 21,431 pounds. And the

town granted the sum of £35,000 to purchase the

Beef now called for."

1781. February 1st. The town was called upon to

furnish a quantity of shoes, stockings, shirta aud

blankets for the use of the army. The hill was as

follows

:

"Tho Selectmen of FramiDgbam Dr.

To .39 polrs of »lioo» @ HO ol.l tenor flBfifl

To.39iialr»orho«« 24 old lunor »:i6

To3'J palrsof shirU Mold tenur lr.0O

To 19 blaukela 9S old tenor 180,'i

CharKOS for collertfnK said clothing 201

Charges for truns{iurtiug the sanio GU

£0183

" Allowed X61S2 old currency, which is equal to L\U\.\\^ now emU-
sioD bills.'*

In June an order was received requiring the town
to furnish 8854 lbs. of Beef for the array ; and the

sum of £220, new emission, was granted to pay for

the same.

Deaths.—The following is a list of the men from

this town wliodied in service during the Revolution-

ary War. Probably it is not complete; for it is a

singular fadt that, with few exceptions, the company
and regimental rolls, now preserved, contain no

detailed record of Ciisualties. The only reference to

such is to give in figures the number of the dead,

wounded and missing.

Cnesar Boston, died ; served 21 months and 2 days.

Rev. Matthew Bridge, died of dysentery.

Capt. Klijah Clayes, died at White Plains, 1776.

David Cutting, wounded, and perished in a burning barn.

.Samuel Eames, died of disease.

Corning Fairbanks, killed at Bunker Hill.

Francis Gallot, died at Stillwater.

John Gallot, died of disease.

Charles Gates, died of disease.

Capt. Micajah Gleason, killed at White Plains, October 2S, 1770.

David Haven, killed near Saratoga, October 8, 1777.

Isaac Hemenway, died January 31, 1778.

Job Houghton, died 1779.

Moses Learned, Jr., died September 17, 1782.

Daniel Maxwell, killed; served 27 mouths and 17 days.

Nathan Mixer, killed in battle at Bennington,

Solomon Newton, Sr., died in 1782.

Josiah Nurse, d. at Seaconk, R. I., September, 1778.

John Pike, Jr., died of disease.

Moses Pike, killed August 28, 1775.

Jonathan Rice, died of disease.

John Holbrook Rice, died at Danbury, Ct.

Peter Rice, Jr., died at Hackensack, September 15, 1780.

Joseph Temple, died of disease.

Josiah "Waite, died of disease.

Epbraim Whitney, k. by accident, September Itt, 1775.

Jonathan Whitney, killed in battle.

Captinty of Lieut. Jonathan Maymird.—Jonathan

Maynard, of this town, then a student in Harvard
College, enlisted in the eight months' service April

24, 1775, in Capt Thomas Drury's company. June
17th, he was with his companj' at the battle of Bunker
Hill. The next year he went with the army to New
York, and was in the campaign of '76 and'77 on the

North River, aud in the battles of Stillwater and
Saratoga. In 1778, he wiis lieutenant in one of the

companies in Col. Ichabod Alden's Seventh Mass.

Regiment, Gen. J. Nixon's brigade. • While Alden's

regiment was stationed at or nearWest Point, viz., May
30, 1778, Lieut. Maynard with a small party went out
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on a foraging exiurxioii to a consiileralile distance

from the camp, when tliey were set upon by a scout-

ing baiul of Fnclians, and after a sharp skirmish taken

prisoners. They wore londnoted for a distance of

several miles away from the American lines, when a

halt was ma<le, and all l>til the lieutenant were toma-

hawked and scalped. .\s he wore a sword, he was

considered a Rreat prize, and was conducted to the

amp of Brant, their chieftain. The precise locality

of this chiefs camji at this date has not not been

ascertained.

After a brief consnltation, it was decided to burn

the captive. The fa;;ots were collected, and he was

lied to a tree, and the (ire was ready to be kindled.

Though a stranger to all in the group, and ignorant

of the fact that the Indian chief was a Free Mason,

as his last hope, Lieut. Maynard gave the Master

Mason's sign of distress. The sign was recognized

by Mrant, who was standing by ; and he ordered the

execution to be postponed. Maynard was put under

guard ; and in due lime, with other prisoners, was sent

to Quebec. He was held in captivity here till De-

cember 2t), 1780, when he was exchanged.

Lieut. Maynard rejoined his company at West

Point, January 4, 17S1. His old colonel, Alden, had

been killed by the Indians at Cherry Valley, Novem-

ber 11,1778, and the regiment was in command of

Col. John Brooks. Maynard received his lieuten-

ant's pay of £S per month for the full time of his

captivity. A few weeks after his return, i. e., January

2!), 1781, he was promoted to the captaincy of his

company (his commission is dated February 22d),

and continued in the service at various points on the

North River, and as recruiting officer, till November

19, 1782. when he resigned and received an honorable

discharge.

Peler Salem.—He is sometimes called Salem Mid-

dlesex. He was a slave, originally owned by Capt.

Jeremiah Belknap. He was admitted to the church

under the half-way covenant Aug. 16, 1760. He was

sold by Capt. B. to Major Lawson Buckminster, be-

fore the war. He served as a minute man in Capf.

Edgell's company April 10, '7^>. April 24th he enlisted

in ("apt. Thomas Drury's company for the eight

months' service. He enlisted for three years Jan. 1,

1777; and re-enlisted April 16, 1782, for a like term.

As no slave could be mustered into the army, his

enlistment by consent of his master worked a practi-

cal emancipation. And there is no doubt, from the

well-known patriotism of Major Buckminster, that he

cheerfully iissented to the enlistment.

Peter served faithfully as a soldier, during the war,

most of the time in Col. Thomas Nixon's regiment,

and as the colonel's body servant. He was in the

battle of Bunker Hill June 17, 1775. During the

action he, with others, was sent from Capt. Drury's

company, as a support to Col. Prescott in the re-

doubt. He reached the redoubt just as Prescott's

men had spent their last powder ; and with a single

charge in his gun, and perhaps another in his powder-

horn. Just then, in '.he language of Judge Maynard,
" I saw a British officer . . . come up with some

pomp, and he cried out, ' Surrender, you rebels !'

But Pre.scott . . . made a little motion with his

hand, an<l that was the last word the Briton spoke
;

he fell at once." There is a concurrence of testi-

mony which leaves no doubt (hat this shot wjus fired

by Peter Salem. Major Pilcairn fell into the arms of

his son, who bore him ofl'to his boat, and thence to a

house in Prince Street, Boston, where he died. The
loss of so gallant an officer at this critical moment
formed one of the most touching incidents of that

eventful day.

At the close of the war, in 1783, Peter married Katy

Benson, a granddaughter of Nero, and built a small

house on land then owned by Peter Rice, on the exact

spot where now stands the dwelling-house of Moses

M. Fiske, near Sucker Pond. He lived here till 1792

or '08. But his marriage proved an unhappy one ; and

Peter left his native town and settled in Leicester.

On his return to Framingham, Peter was not

treated in all respects like the common poor ; but to

the credit of his former masters be it recorded, that

Maj. Lawson Buckminster and (^apt. Jeremiah Belk-

nap, together with Samuel Henieiiway, gave a bond

to the town " to support him during his natural life."

He died at the house of William Walkup, Sen., Aug.

16, 1816, and was buried in the north central part of

the old cemetery, where a suitable monument has

lately been erected by the town to his memory.

It is a fact of interest, as illustrating the prevalent

sentiment of the time, and as a contrast with the pres-

ent, that the men who were trusted with the lead of

public affairs at the opening of the Revolution had

reached, or passed, the period commonly designated

middle life. Thomas Temple, who was sent as a dele-

gate of the town to attend the first general Convention

ill Faneuil Hall, to inaugurate resistance to the op-

pressive measures of the British ministry, was 54

years old at the time of his election. Joseph Haven,

chairman of the first Committee of Correspondence

and delegate to the first Provincial Congress, was 76

;

Josiah Stone, his associate in both trusts, was 50

;

Dea. William Brown, also associated with them, was

51. Ebenezer Marshall, 5.3; Joseph Fames, 55;

Benjamin Eaton, 51 ; John Farrar, 56 ; John Trow-

bridge, 45; Dr. Ebenezer Hemenway, 65, were the

active members of the more important committees.

Joseph Nichols, the youngest of the political leaders,

was 37. .John Nixon was 48 when he led his minute-

men to Concord in '75 ; Simon Edgell was 42

;

Thomas Drury was 40 ; Micajah Gleason, the junior

among our military leaders that year, was 35.

Deaths by Lightning.—An incident occurred this

year (1777) which made a lasting impression on the

public mind. While Mr. Wheaton was supplying the

pulpit, he'tiegotiated for the purchase of a horse; and

arranged with Mr. John Clayes, who lived at Salem
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End, where is now the L. O. Emerson house, to ex-

amine and try the animal. June 3d, a little after

noon, some of the neighbors came together to witness

the trial. Besides Mr. Clayes, there were present

Abraham Rice, Peter Parker, Simon Pratt and his

son Ephraim. Mr. Parker UKiiiiited llic horse, and

had ridden to a considerable distance away, when a

small cloud suddenly came up from the northwest.

Uu his return, the company, who had been in the

bouse during his absence, came out towards the road.

.\ few drops of rain were at this moment falling. As

Mr. Parker rode up, Mr. Clayes stepped outside the

gate, leaving the others leaning against the fence

within ; and just as he took the horse by the bridle,

the lightning struck the party, and prostrated them

all on the ground. Mr. Clayes, Mr. Rice and the

horse were instantly killed. Mr. Parker lay as il

dead, but gradually recovered consciousness, though a

long lime elapsed before he fully regained his health.

The boy, who was standing a short distance from the

rest, recovered immediately. Mr. Pratt came to

slowly, and suB'ered from the stroke for a long time.

Mr. Clayes was struck In the head, the fluid passing

along the neck and breast and down both legs, leaving

I
a we'U-deflned mark, but not injuring his shoes. The

I hoi'se was also struck in the head, and marks of the

lightning were visible down both fore legs. The
party all wore woolen clothes, and were all singed in

body and dress. There was but this single flash of

lightning from the cloud, and only a few drops of

rain. Mr. Rice was in his eightieth year, and Mr.

Clayes was forty-one. The sad event was commemor-

ated in an elegy written by Miss Lydia Learned,

which was printed and widely circulated. Two
stanzas are inscribed on the grave-stone, which may
l)e found in the old cemetery.

Bounty Land.—By an act of the Massachusetts

Legislature passed in 1801, 200 acres of laud in the Pro-

vince of Maine were granted to such officers and sol-

diers as enlisted in this State and served through the

war. A large number of our men were entitled to this

bounty land ; and probably many of them received

it. It is known that three men, then living in Fram-

iugham, received a title to land under this act, viz. :

Cato Hart, John Harvey and Isaac How.
Cato Hart, a negro, enlisted for the war February,

1777, in the Framingham quota ; was attached to the

Seventh Continental Regiment, and was honorably

discharged at the disbanding of the army. His resi-

dence in 1805 was in Meudon. He received a deed,

dated August G, 1805, of 200 acres of land, being Lot

No. 12, in Mars Hill, near the boundary between

Maine and New Brunswick, " for patriotic .services

rendered in the Revolutionary War.'' He assigned

the deed to Jona. Mayuard, E-iq. The grant was in-

cluded in the tract which was surrendered to Great

Britain by the Ashburton Treaty of August 20, 1842.

This lot, and the other granted lots and townships in-

cluded within the said surrendered territory, were

recently surveyed and located, and the titles obtained

in some way, by a sharp claimant, who received from

the United States Ciovernment large aums of money
in payment for the same.

John Harvey, then of Southborough, afterwards of

Framingham, enlisted among the Fiist Three- Years'

Men, and served through the war. His deed of 200

acres bears date August G, 1800 ; was assigned to

Esq. Maynard; and full payment for the land was

recovered of the United States Government, by the

claimant above referred to.

Lsaac How (wife Lois) sold his 200 acres, being

Lot No. l>8 at Mars Hill, in 1833, to Lawson Huck-

minster, for $100.

The population of the town at the close of the war

wiw about 1500, and from the loss of many of its

young men, and the unsettled habits of those who
survived, the increase was slow for the next twenty

yeara. The heavy drain of money, though cheerfully

borne, for payment of bounties to soldiers, and cloth-

ing and supplies for the army, in connection with

the depreciation of the circulating currency, left most

of our families in greatly reduced circumstances; and

the main thought and anxiety was how to avoid ex-

penses and repair damages, and get on one's feet

again. The soldiers came home poor, many of them
sick, most of them with plans of life deranged, and

with discouraging prospects for the future. The
State levied taxes ; and the town levied taxes; and

real estate owners were called to bear the heaviest

burden of this direct taxation. The farmer could not

conceal his farm from the assessor, or the tax-gath-

erer, or the sheriff. And this pressure upon the agricul-

tural industry accounts for the distress, and disor-

ders, and opposition to State taxes, which showed

itself in the central and western countie.s, and ripened

into open resistance. Demagogues and adventurers

—always the product of " hard times"—took advan-

tage of these unsettled and irritating conditions to

stir up .strife, and gain notoriety and influence. The
culmination of atlairs was what is known in history

as the "Shays' Rebellion."

Our town records furnish only the following items

in relation to this uprising: January 15, 1787, upon

summons issued by the commissioned officers, the

three militia companies of this town met, and en-

listed the number of men called for. They rendez-

voused at Weston January 20th; were with the

forces under coniniand of Major-deneral Lincoln,

and marched as far as Worcester. (Jur men returned

home February 27th. Framingham was called upon
to furnish stores for this expedition, and sent 2296

pounds of bread, 1 120 ])ounds of beef, and five bush-

els of beans, for which the State allowed the sum of

e3t; 13s. 6(/.

Among the losses sutlered by this town in the war
none was more seriously felt than that of the pastor

of the church, Rev. Mr. Bridge. As before stated, he

was ordained in 1746. Under his ministry religion
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flourished, personal animosities were healed, sectional

divisions were largely united, and all the best inter-

ests of society were nurtured. He was considerate

and conservative, and a true patriot. Duty to his

country, and duty to the large number of his people

then in the army, induced him to tender his services

t<i the tiovernment, and he was appointed a chaplain

to the regiments stationed at Cambridge in the sum-

mer of 177.'>. While in the ili^charge of his duty he

was seized with an ejiidemic disease which prevailed

in the camp, of which he died shortly after his return

home, Sept. 2, 177r>, in the fifty-fifth year of his age,

and thirtieth of his ministry.

In the general disturbance and uncertainty of the

times the pastorate remained vacant for several years.

The town was ready to otfer a minister a fair salary

in the then currency, or in farm products ; but ithe

values of both currency and products were constantly

changing ; what was a fair salary to-day might be of

little marketable value to-morrow. Mr. David Kel-

logg began his labors as candidate and puljiit supply

in April, 1778, his pay for each Sabbath being " the

price of eight bushels of Indian corn at market." He
,

received & call to settle in the fall of that year, on a I

salary of 100 pounds per annum, a fifth part of which

was to be paid in pork, and a large portion of the

balance in beef, cider, sheep's wool and flax. In

July, 1780, the call was renewed, 100 pounds being the

stipulated salary, " to be paid in Indian corn at 3 '

shillings per bushel, and rye at 4 shillings." He was '

ordained January 10, 1781. i

The peculiar terms of payment of Mr. Keilogg's

salary made it a matter of nice calculation how much
he should annually receive. Hence it was customary

each year, at the annual town-meeting, to choose a

committee to confer with the pastor, and determine

the present prices of corn and rye, and how much
more or less than £100 is equivalent to the original

agreement. In April, 1809, such a committee re-

ported :
" That 250 bushels of rye at 6«. per bushel

produced $250, and 33.3J bushels of corn at 5s. amount

to $277.78, making i?-i>27.78, which quantities of grain

are agreeable to the original contract, and with which

sum Mr. Kellogg will be content." In 1821 a simi-

lar committee reported as follows : "That estimating

rye at 75 cts. per bushel, and corn at 50 cts., Mr. K.'.-;

salary, according to the terms of his contract, amounts

to $375.17. And in consideration that he, during a

considerable part of the late war, when corn and rye

were worth from one to two dollars per bushel, con-

sented to receive a much less sura than was due by

his contract, your committee have thought it reason-

able to recommend a grant of $450,"—which sum the

town voted to appropriate.

The ministry was a power in society at that day

;

and one of the important influences which counter-

acted the attendant evils of war, and helped to tide

over its effects, was the broad conservati.sm and high

character and Christian labors of Mr. Bridge and his

successor. Always, but especially in the time of so-

cial crises and convulsions, the great facts and

truths of our holy religion lift a man's thoughts

above his earthly environments, and the godly life of

its ministers points and leads the way to the better |;

realities of heaven. Mr. Kellogg continued the only

settled minister in town till 1807, when Mr. Charles

Train commenced preaching for the Baptists, from

which date the two held contemporary pastorates for

about a quarter of a century. To these two men
Framingham owes directly, in a large degree, her

^^

present high standing in intelligence, morals, and |
that general thrift which is not found except in con-

nection with culture and virtue.

SixoiNO.—This part of religious worship had an

important place in the Sabbath services in our fa-

thers' time. In Mr. Swift's day few, except the pastor

and deacons, had psalm-books ; and it was custom-

ary for the minister to read the psalm in full, when

the senior deacon would rise, face the audience, and

repeat the first line, which would be sung by the con-

gregation ; and so on to the end of the six or eight

stanzas. Before Mr. Bridge's day, an edition of the

Psalms and Hymns was printed, containing a collec-

tion of thirty-seven tunes inserted at the end. Mr.

Bridge was a good singer, and was accustomed to

meet such of his people as chose to come for instruc-

tion and practice in music. July, 1754, a vote was

passed by the church, " desiring seven brethren, viz.,

John Cloyes, Benjamin Pepper, John Farrar, Beza-

leel and David Rice, Samuel Dedman and Daniel

Adams, together with Mr. Ebenezer Marshall, to take

immediate care to qualify themselves to set the psalm

in public ; and as soon as they are properly qualified,

to lead the assembly in that part of Divine Wor-

ship."

The first attempt to form a choir was made in 1768,

when a number of singers petitioned the town " to

appropriate the front seat in the upper gallery for

their use, that they might sit together."

Soon after the formation of the choir, stringed in-

struments were introduced, to set the tune and lead

the voices. But it gave great offence to older people.

On one occasion, when the violin was disabled, an

old man, in terms more forcible than polite, gave

thanks aloud that ike Lord's fiddle was broken ' Some
years later, when Billings' Collection was introduced,

and the choir, for the first time, sang the tune of

" David the King," an aged man cried out, " Hold,

hold!" and seizing his hat, left the meeting-house.

The custom of " lining the psalru " continued for a

longtime after the organization of a choir; but it

was very annoying to them. It ceased about 1785,

and on this wise: Old Deacon Brown, who, as sen-

ior deacon, had the right to perform the service,

was rather slow in his movements, and had the habit

of adjusting his glasses and clearing his throat before

beginning to read. At the date in question. Col.

David Brewer was chosen chorister. Taking advan-
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tage of the deacon's well-known habit, on the first

Sabbath of his leadership, the colonel (acting, no

doubt, on a previous understanding with his choir)

struck in singing so quick after Mr. Kellogg had fin-

ished reading, that the deacon had no chance to be-

gin his work. He looked up in amazement—and so

did a great many others in the congregation. After

that there was no more attempt to "deacon the

hymn."
In 1798 the town granted thirty dollars to hire a

singing-master. For several years the annual pro-

ceeds of the aiewive fishery in Cochituate Brook

were given to the singers, and hence received the

name of the singers' Jkh privilege. The town was ac-

customed to choose annually a committee "to regu-

late the singing." In" 1805 the town " voted that the

singers shall regulate themselves, so long as they

shall continue to fill the seats assigned them, and

behave with decency and order."

Villages.—As before stated, the geographical cen-

tre of the town possessed no natural advantages to

make it desirable to settlers. The steep northerly

declivity of Bare Hill, and the broken and swampy
lands to the west and north, as well as eastward, were

the reverse of attractive and convenient. It was an

acknowledged rule to place the meeting-house where

the whole people would be best accommodated ; and

roads were laid out from all out-districts, to the meet-

ing-house as a centre. Such was the case as regards

the first house of worship, which stood in the old

cemetery. But this spot was wide of the true centre.

The second meeting-house place (laid out in 1735, al

the northeast angle of the Centre Common), chosen

as a sort of compromise, was nearer the territorial

centre; but it was equally inconvenient for building

and business purposes. Once established, however,

the roads were made to converge here, and the sanc-

tuary became the attracting centre of religious inter-

ests, and hence to a large extent of social solicitude

and plans for the public good. And the building of

the academy here at a later date settled the question

of the central village site ; and business enterprises

governed themselves accordingly.

1800.—The Cextee Village.—At this date the

site of our village was mostly covered with wood and

bushes, or given up to pasturage. The meeting-house,

which stood in front of the Otis Bijynton house, was

surrounded with large forest-trees. The Academy
occupied the site of the stone school-house. The
work-house was about four or five rods northwesterly

from the town hall, and the school-house stood on the

road-side nearly in front of Mrs. Bean's. A small

red store stood where is now Esty's Block. This was

built in 1781 by Daniel Bridge, felt-maker and hatter.

Mr. Houghton's tavern, just finished, occupied the

site of the present hotel ; Abner Wheeler's store, also

just finished, stood on the site of Trowbridge & Sav-

age's store. To the northward could be seeu the par-

sonage of Rev. Mr. Kellogg, now W. H. Mellen's, and

the Capt. Simon Edgell farm-buildings. To the east

were Buckmlnster's tuvern, on the site of Geo. H.

Waterman's house ; Daniel (iregory's dwelling-house,

now Orre Parker's; the tower-like hay-scales in front

of the tavern ; Gregory's store on the river-bank,

where E. H. Warren's houHe now is ; and a small house

nearer the cemetery, with a slioji behind it. Across

the bridge were I. Warren's tannery and ilwelling-

house, Eli BuUard'.s house, al the angle of the roads,

and Isaac Stone's house and barn, on the Abner
Wheeler place. On the south side of Bare Hill was

the old Swift house, then occupied by Nathaniel \.

Jones, and the John Town house, then owned by

.\aron Bullard. On the Salem End road, the first

house was Ezekiel Rice's, known as the Amasa Ken-

dall place. On what is now Pleasant Street, Wm.
Maynard lived in a small house then standing in the

corner of the garden west of Dr. E. H. Bigelow's
;

Jona. Maynard lived in the Charles Williams bouse;

Timothy Earaes, the mason, lived in a small house on

the Richard S. Briggs place ; and Lawson Buckmln-

ster's tavern stood where is now the dwelling-house

of Moses Ellis.

1800.

—

South Framingham.—This, now the lead-

ing village of the town, was then a dull place. San-

ger's tavern and store. Rider's elder-mill and Tor-

rey's shoe-shop comprised the business of the place.

And families of Glea-son, Learned, How, Eames,

Rider, Haven and Pratt comprised the population.

The impulse given to business by the coming in of

the Clarks and others, and by the establishment of

straw works on a large scale, the opening of the rail-

road with its natural accessories, and the starting of

new and large business enterprises, will be narrated

in their proper place.

Saxov\-ILLE IX 1800.—At this date "The Falls,"

as the place was called, had importance chiefly be-

cause of its unfailing water-power, and its saw-mill,

two grist-mills and fulling-mills.

The first corn-mill within the limits of the Fram-
ingham Plantation was built here by Elder John
Stone, before 1G59. A little later a saw-mill was set

up on the same dam, probably by Daniel Stone, Sr.,

May 22, 1711, Daniel Stone, Sr., sold "one-fourth

part of the stream, together with the corn and saw-

mill standing thereon," to Samuel How, Sr., of Sud-

bury. After the death of Mr. How his share was

bought, February 15, 1714, by Deacon Stone and his

SOD, John Stone. X fulling-mill standing on " an

island which was part of the dam," was in operation

here as early as 1735, probably built by Micah Stone,

who also had a clothier's shop. The privilege was

held by the Stone family till 1824, when it was sold to

the mill corporation. After the War of 1812, Isaac

Dench bought the right to use the waste-water of the

pond, and built a small shop on the rocks forming

the north wing of the dam, where he put in a turning-

lathe for the manufacture of wheel-hubs, bedsteads,

etc. His son Gilbert owned it at the time of his
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death, in 1828, when the wiiter privilege was appraised

at $300.

The higtory of tlie Saxon Factory Co. and its sue-

cessorii pruperly lielonRs to a .subseiiuent section.

Soon al'ier 1718, Deacon William Brown pnt in a

grist-mill on the privilege in Oochitiialc Brook, east

of the road. Thin continued in use till 1813. His

son Ebenezer built a saw-mill on the same dam about

1790. In 1811 the privilege was sold by Ebenezer

Brown to Ilopa-itill Leiand and Col. Calvin Sanger, of

Sherborn, who organized the Framinghani Manufac-

turing Co., and erected a cotton-mill, wliich did a

large business for many yeai-s. The properly passed

into the hands of I. McLellau, of Boston. In .(uly,

1844, this privilege was sold to William H. Knight,

who put in machinery for spinning woolen yarns.

Mr. Knight sold to the city of Boston.

Before the Kevolulion Deacon Brown built a full-

ing-mill at the ('/(/ /ording-place, southwest of his

dwelling-houae. This came into the possession of his

son Andrew—Major Andrew, he was called,—who

carried on business here till his death, in 1803. The

property then fell to Roger Brown, brother of An-

drew, and through him to his son. Colonel James.

Luther Rice occupied the fulling-mill for a time, and

put in machinery for spinning cotton thread. In

1829, Colonel James Brown sold the privilege to Wil-

liam H. Knight. Mr. Knight changed the machiuery,

and immediately commenced here the manufacture

of carpets.

At the date in question, besides Stone's and Brown's

mills, there was Tucker's tavern at the north end

of the Pond, the store on the corner opposite F. H-

Sprague's, the blacksmith shop at Gleason's old

stand, and another at the corners on the road to Lan-

ham, and Fiske's Tannery, all of which contributed

to the importance of that end of the town as a busi-

ness centre.

1800.

—

Park's Corner.—At the date under consid-

eration. Park's Corner was a busy place. The tavern

(then kept by Jonas Dean) and the store attracted a

large custom. Marshall's forge turned out farming

tools in variety. Major Hale, who lived to the south,

on the Royal (irout jdace, was a large manufacturer

of wool cards. And this corner was then, and con-

tinned t'> be for a quarter of a century, the rallying-

point of the First Baptist Society, which had an im-

portant influence in the ecclesiastical affairs of the

town.

1800.—Brackett's Corner.—From the earliest

settlement of the town this was a busy place. For
many years Joshua Eaton's tannery and Trowbridge's

tavern made the corner by School-house No. 7 a
greater business centre. But Capt. Isaac Clark, car-

penter, on the west, and Boutwell's tin-shop, on the

east, naturally helped to draw business towards this

corner ; and David Patterson, blacksmith, and tavern-

keeper, who came here in 1758, and built the Brackett
House, contributed materially to its prosperity.

Josiah Winch, the brick-mason, commenced business

here for himself in 17'.)0. But the coming of Solomon

Brackett in 1794, and Amos Parkhurst a year or two

later, gave a new start to business enterprise. Mr.

Brackett wjis a blacksmith, and took the old Patter-

son stand, which he carried on for a few years; and

then, wiili the aid of Amos Parkhurst, set up a bakery

which became famous, and flourished for a long term

of years; and after his death was carried on by his

son and son-in-law. In 1845 the number of hands

employed was four; value of bread baked, $8000.

Masonic Louoe.—The "Middlesex Lodge" of

Free Ma^ns was instituted in this town in nofl. The
original members were Joiia. Maynard, Master ; Peter

Ciayes, Senior Warden ; Barzillai Bannister, Junior

Warden; John Nixon, Samuel Frost, Thomas Nixon,

Aaron Brown, Gilbert Marshall, Benj. Champney,
Thomas Buciilin, Winalow Corbett, Samuel Haven.

Lodge meetings were held first in the Academy Hall
;

then in the hall over Henderson's store; then in

Esty's Block; then in its present hall over Eastman's

store.

Fkamingham Aktillery Company.—This com-

pany was organized in March, 1799. The original

members were Josiah Abbott, Elisha Belknap, John

Bent, Eben' Brown, Eli BuUard, Josiah Ciayes, Joseph

Eaton, Elisha Jones, John Nurse, Lawson Nurse,

Artemas Parker, John Parker, Nathan Parker, Daniel

Sanger, Zedekiah Sanger, David Stone, Purchase

Stone, John Temple. The company paraded the first

time July 4, 1799, under the following officers: Eli

BuUard, captain; John Nurse, first lieutenant; Eben'

Brown, second lieutenant ; Purchase Stone, pioneer;

Elisha Belknap, fifer; David Stone, drummer. The
gun-house was built in the fall of 1799, on the lot

where the old town-house stood, now Otis Boynton's

corner. In 1808 the town sold to the Commonwealth
a spot in frontof the present dwelling-house of James
W. Clark, whither the gun-house was removed, and

where it remained till 1834. The successive com-

manders of the company have' been Eli BuUard, John
Nurse, Lawson Nurse, Martin Stone, com. April 12,

1810, dis. March 13, 1813; John Temple, com. April

13, 1813, dis. November 25, 1814 ; James Brown, com.

February 15, 1815 ; Adam Hemenway, Alex' H.

Jones, Leonard Arnold, Amos Johnson, Jr., Charles

Trowbridge, dis. December 23, 1829. At this date

the company disbanded; and the guns and other

State property were returned to the arsenal at Boston.

The gun-house and land were purchased by Rev.

George Trask, March 20, 1834.

This company was ordered out during the War of

1812, and was stationed at South Boston, and at Com-
mercial Point, in Dorchester. It was in service from

Sept. 10 to Oct. 30, 1814. The oflicers in command
were John Temple, captain ; James Brown and Adam
Hemenway, lieutenants; Leonard Arnold, Elisha

Frost,- Jr., Abel Eaton, Thomas Hastings, sergeants;

Amasa Kendall, Thomas Arnold, Richard Fiske, Jr.,
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Alex' H. Jonea, cori)oral8 ; Horace Frost, fifer

;

AVMlliam Belcher, drummer. The number of privates

was twenty -seven.

A new era in the history of the Centre Village be-

gan with the building of the Brick t?ehool-house and

establi.shing of the Academy, 17it:2-'.ty. The young

men and young women, who had bad no occasion to

go there except on the Sabbath, now gathered there

every day in the week, and naturally began to take

some interest in its surroundings and growth. And
new names, and young blood from abroad, came in at

this juncture. Or. .1. B. Kittredge, a well-educated

and ambitious young physician, located here in 1791.

Eli BuUard, the lawyer, came here in 1793. Timothy

Kames, the brick-mason, and John Houghton, black-

smith, set up business in 1794. Isaac Warren com-

meuced the tanning business in 1797. Abner Wheeler,

trader, was here in 179S, followed three years later by

his brother, Benjamin. Nathan 8tone, carpenter, and

Martin Stone, blacksmith, settled here in 1801 ; Asa

Holt, the saddler, in 18il2
; William Larrabee, shoe-

maker, occupied the old Red Store in 1803.

In 1805 a movement was made looking to the build-

ing of a new meeting-house in the near future. The
three-story house of worship, which bad stood seventy

years, began to look old and antiquated, and a bouse

more modern in its style and appointments was

needed. June 2, 1806, it was voted to build a house

of wood, sixty-five feet square, two stories high, with

a tower, not a porch. Land was purchased of Martin

and Nathan Stone and Captain Simon Edgell, lying

north of the Common, on which to set the house.

May 4, 1807, the town " voted, that the selectmen

dispose of the privilege of selling liquor on the Com-
mon, during the time of raising the new meeting-

house,'* May 2Glh, " Began to raise the meeting-

house ; June 1st, finished raising it."

The house stood on the spot now occupied by the

meeting-house of the First Parish. It had entrance-

doors from the base of the tower only. Both outside

and inside were fully finished. A gallery extended

around the east, south and west sides, with square

pews next the walls, and long seats on the slope in

front. On the ground floor, square pews, raised one

step, were built around the walls ; and four ranges of

slips, with centre and side-aisles, filled the body of the

house.

The cost of the house was $12,475.37. The bell,

which cost $437.64, was the gift of Colonel Micah

Stone. The pews and slips were sold without reserve

to the highest bidder. The amount received from the

sale was $14,884.

The meeting-house was dedicated February 24,

1808; sermon by the pastor, Kev. David Kellogg,

from Haggai ii. 7.

1823.—Stoves for warming the meeting-house were

set up. Hitherto, the men kept warm as best they

could ; the women were accustomed to carry foot-

stoves, filled with coals from the fireplace at home.

The cost of the two stoves, ])ipe and chimney, and a

blind for the large window behind the pulpil, was

$266.41.

Cri/iiiff the Bans.—The custom prevailed till abonl

1830, of announcing in the public meeting-house, just

before the opening of the afternoon .service, all inten-

tions of marriage, entered with the town clerk, during

the preceding week. The said clerk would rise in hi8

pew, and read in a distinct voice: "Marriage in-

tended—between John Smith, of Boston, and Keturah
Jones, of this town." As a rule, the lady found it

convenient to be absent from meeting that alleriioon.

Thu Wokckster Turnpike.—In the warrant for

a town-meeting May 6, 1805, is an article: "To see if

the town will approve or disapprove of a Turnpike
road being made through any part of this town." No
action was taken on the article. The movement,
begun at this date, resulted in the incorporation,

March 7, 1806 [act in addition passed June 10, 1808],

of the Worcester Turnpike Corporation, to make a
road to run from Roxbury to Worcester, via the Neck
of the Ponds in Natick, thence near the house of

Jona. Rugg in Framingham, thence to the house of

Deacon Chamberlain in Southboro', etc., with power

to erect four toll-gates. The old stage road between

Worcester and Boston was via Northboro', Marlboro',

South Sudbury, Wayland, Weston, Waltham. The
new road considerably shortened the distiince between

Worcester and Boston. The steep hills kept olf the

teaming of heavy merchandise, but a stage route was

at once established; and as Framingham was the cen-

tral point for changing horses and making rej)aira it

gave a great impetus to local business. The through

travel rapidly increased; the stage lines were extended

to Northampton and Albany; and the promptness of

the service made this the favorite route; so that for a

long term of years not less than seventeen stages

passed through this town daily. The opening of the

Boston and Worcester Railroad, in 1835, drew off the

through travel, and, as a consequence, the corporation

gave up the turnpike in 1841, and by the action of the

county commissioners it became a county road. From
1810 to 1835 the stageman's horn was a signal as

common and well known as the railroad engineer's

whistle of to-day.

The Framingham Post-OfBce was established De-

cember 29, 1810, Jona. Maynard postmaster. The
office was kept at Martin Stone's tavern, afterwards

Henderson's and Gaines'. Mr. Maynard was suc-

ceeded by Samuel Warren, March 29, 1832; John
Clark, April 30, 1853; S. B. Wilde, April 12, 1861;

Mrs. J. H. S. Wilde, July 30, 1864; George F. Hart-

well, September 15, 1876 ; Charles A. Hemenway,
March 29, 1886.

New Enterprises.—With the new meeting-house

and turnpike came new professional men, and new
mechanics and business enterprises, which gave a new
impulse to life at the Centre. Josiah Adams, Esq.,

who was to take an important part in social as well
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an civil allairs, came here in 1S07; as also ilid the

Rev. Charles Triiiu, who was to be not lesa potent in

whatever contritiutea to the town's well-beinR. Wil-

liam Hcnderdoii, an energetic business man, took

(jrepory's store in 18Uti; removed to the Squiire and

put up a two-story building for a store and Masonic

Hall in ISI 1. It stood where is now Wij^bt's carriage

barn. Asa Brigham, tjiilor, located here, on the old

Kingsbury corner in 180!l. His shop is remembered as

'S<|uirc Kingsbury's oHice. Eustia & .Simmons, car-

riage-trininiers and harness-makers, established busi-

ness hero, where is now Miss Moulton's Block, in

1810; .lohii Hallard (2d) came the next year, and event-

ually bought out the business. .Vniasa Kendall, car-

penter, was here in 1812. Josiah W. Goodnow,

aibinet-maker, built a shop just west of Eustis &
Simmons in 1812, and the house (known as the

Qoodnow house) in 1814. Captain Peter Johnson,

builder; Isaac tStevens, tailor; Peter Coolidge, black-

smith, came to the village in 1813. De.\ter Esty,

'ouilder, and Jesse Belknap, Jr., wheelwright, came

in 1814; Nathan H. Foster, gunsmith, and John

Kent, carriage-maker, in 1815. Foster's shop stood

on the site of Lewis Stiles' market; and Kent built

an addition to J. Ballard's harness shop. Jesse

Whitney, shoemaker, William K. Phipps, tailor, and

Thomas Rice, Jr., carpenter, settled here in 1816.

Mr. Phipps' shop occupied the site of G. Joyce's

house; and Mr. Rice built on John C. Hastings' cor-

ner. Mr. Rice afterwards bought the Red Store,

moved it up .street, went into the grocery trade, and

the same building is now the dwelling-house of Mrs.

Eliza Haven.

Samuel Warren, who learned the cabinet-maker's

trade of Stephen Rice, bought Goodnow's shop and

started business in 1818. Uexter Hemenway, house

carpenter, bought the old Gregory store by Warren's

bridge, and began business for himself in 1820. Hol-

lis Cloyes and George W. JIansir, house-painters,

began business the same year, and were joined by

Obed Winter, three years later. Otis Boynton, book-

binder, came to town in 1822 ; Mitchell & Hunt, hat-

ters, in 1823. The hatter's shop is now Otis Childs'

dwelling-bouse.

Dr. Simon Whitney began his long and successful

professional career in 1822.

Education—jScAoo/a.—Fortunately for the town,

there were, among the early settlers, men and
women who had received a good common education,

and were qualified to teach others.

The first mention in the town records of a public

school is under date of September 3, 1706, when the

town voted " that Deacon Joshua Hemenway should

be our school master the year ensuing, and that Benj.

Bridges and Peter Clayes, Jr., should agree with him
what he should have for his pains."

Previous to this whatever instruction was given to

the children was on private account, and in the fam-

ily. Probably the wife of Daniel Stone taught such

children as chose to come to her house atStone's End

;

Thomas Drury did the same for the children at Rice's

End ; Isaac Learned for Sherborn Row, and Joshua

Hemenway for t^alem End and the north side settlers.

And when appointed public school-rnaster, Deacon

Hemenway received the scholars at his own house,

as no school-house was built till ten years after this

date.

Writing-Maater.—" AprU 3, 1710, voted that Dea-

can Joshua Hemenway shall be school master for to

learn youth to write henceforward, and when he has

a mind to lay it down, he will give the town timely

notice to provide another school master."

School-Dames.—March 2, 1713, voted, " Lieutenant

Drury and Ebenr Harrington to be school masters to

instruct the youth of Framingham in writing; and

the selectmen are appointed to settle school dames in

each quarter of the town, which masters and mis-

tresses are to continue until August ne.xt; and Dea-

con David Rice and Isaac Learned are chosen tf)

agree for and with a school master for to serve from

said August until the end of the year." Deacon
Hemenway was engaged, and " paid out of the town

treasury the full sum of ten pounds current money of

New England."

Grammar Schools.—July 7, 1714, voted, " that 25

pounds be raised for defraying the charge of a gram-

mar school in town." Edward Goddard was appoint-

ed grammar-master, and taught for a year.

Moving School.—Dec. 8, 1714, voted " that the school

be kept the present winter season in 5 places in town,

viz. 1 month each at the house of John Gleason,

Thomas Pratt, Samuel Winch, Cort. Samuel How,
and Benj. Bridges. The next year Abraham Cozzens

proposed to keep school for one year, for 17 pounds,

one-half to be paid before the middle of January,

and one-half by the last of March : accepted. Voted

that the school be kept nine weeks on the south side

of the River, and eight weeks on the north side." In

1716, " voted to have a moving school kept in the

four quarters of the town, at Edward Goddard's,

Ebenr Winchester's, John Eames, Jr.'s, and John
Stone's, four weeks at each place: " and Mr. Edward
Goddard agreed to keep the school for 15 pounds,
" provided that those that send any children to be in-

structed at my dwelling house to pay 6d. per head per

week." The system of " moving schools " was kept

up till 1750.

School-House.—Mar. 5, 1716. The town voted to

build a school-house, and set it about 20 or 30 poll

from the west end of the meeting-house. When built,

the house was 22x16 feet, and 6 feet between joints.

It had two large fire-places, one at each end. Cost,

£17 10«.

Mar., 1717. The town was " presented " for not

having a grammar school " according to law." The
school-house was unfinished ; and " suitable " masters

were averse to the mooing system. In Dec, 1717, a

committee was appointed " to indent with a school
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master (suitable) as by law is directed, for one quarter

of a year." The committee reported Feb. lOlh, " that

they have used utniost diligenee, but can find no mas-

ter to be hail as yet." Auf,'. 5, 171S, [tlie school-

hon.se \Vi\.s still untinishedj the town voted "that the

committee, Jona. Lamb, and Nathaniel Eames, go

forthwith to Mr. Edward Goddard, and see upon what

terms ho will serve the town as school master for a

year; and if he will serve as cheap or something

cheaper than another, then they are to make a bar-

gain with him for a full year." Abraham Co/./.ens

would serve for £1.'}, and was hired for the year, and

also for 1719.

1719. The school-house was finished, Mr. Epliraim

liigelow making the furniture, viz., " a table, and seats

for the yiiuth to sit upon," for which he charged 12s.

S-chool-danies were employed in the out-districts.

1720. Mr. Robert Pepper was emphiyed to keep

the grammar school, for ;J0 pounds. Voted, "that

the school master may have the free use of the school

house for himself and family to dwell in, the year en-

suing. Voted that the school be kept in G distinct

places in the several parts or corners of the town."

Mr. Pepper was retained till the fall of 1724.

1724. July 21st, voted "that the committee to hire a

school master shall first treat with a scholar of the

College ; that they treat with Sir James Stone (H.

U, 1724), and acquaint him that the town is desirous

to enjoy him as their school-master, in case he can

comply with their custom, viz., to teach any small

children of either sex that may be sent to him, and

to remove into the several quarters of the town." He
accepted the proposal on condition of receiving a

salary of £45 ; which sum was granted. He con-

tinued to be employed for three years.

1727. Mr. James Bridgham (H. U. 1726) was em-
ployed to keep the school the present year ; salary,

£25 ; to be kept in six places, the school-house to be

one of them.

1729. Mr. Noyes Parris (H. U. 1721) school-master;

salary, £30.

1730. At this date our own sons began to graduate

from college, and for a time were put in charge of

the school, in preference to strangers. Mr. Phinehas

Hemenway, son of Dea. Joshua (H. U. 1730), kept the

school this year and the next ; salary, £50 ; school

kept in six different places.

1732. Mr. Samuel Kendall, (H. U. 1731), a nephew
of Thomas and Eliezer, was our .schoolmaster;

salary, £48.

1733-34. Mr. John Swift, Jr. (H. U. 1733), school-

master; salary, £55.

1735. Mr. Joshua Eaton (H. U. 1735), school-master,

salary, £60.

1738. Mr. Chas. Gleason (H. U. 1738), school-raas-

ter ; salary, £70.

1739-10. Mr. Joseph Buckminster, Jr. (H. U. 1739);

school-master ; salary, £70 ; the school was kept in

seven different places.

1749. The Dutrict System.—The town proceeded this

year to divide the territory into nine wards or dis-

tricts, viz., the Centre District, which took in all the

families living within one and a half miles from the

nH'cting-ht)iise, and eight districts in "the out-

skirts," each of which wjis to have its own school.

This movement was a great innovation on the

moving nchool system ; and it gave ho great satisfaction

that measures were taken to make it permanent. An
article was inserted in the warrant for the next May
meeting, " To see if the town will choose a meet per-

son in eoc/i District of the out-shirt schoolx in said

town, to draw their respective parts of money out of

the town treasury." And Messrs. Richard Haven,
Ebenezer Gleason, Ebenr. Goddard, Joseph Nichols,

Thomas Temple, Noah Eaton, Daniel Stone and
Bezaleel Rice were chosen said committee, with power

"to dispose of the said money in manner as each

District shall order." The next step was to build

school-houses in the several out-districts. This mat-

ter and a re-construction of the districts was referred

to a committee, which reported October 22, 1750, as

follows

:

" 1. We find it necessary that there be one school-

house in the Centre of the town, or at the meeting-

house, according to the former vote of the town r

" 2. We find that the out-skirts of the town cannot

be divided into less than four schools, and, all things

considered, that it is not beneficial to divide them
into more. Report accepted.

" Voted, the sum of £30 10s. 4rf. lawful money, to

pay for the school-house now built at the Centre.

" Voted the sum of £80 lawful money, to build the

four new school-houses i.e., £20 for each ; said houses

to be 20x14 feet and 7 feet stud, to be finished work-

manlike." District or prudential committees were ap-

pointed, viz. : Thomas Temple, Noah Eaton, Daniel

Stone and Bezaleel Rice.

The town had failed, for some years, to support a

grammar school, and this year was presented by the

grand jury, and paid fine and costs, £11 Is.

1751-52. Mr. Benjamin Webb (H. U. 1743), gram-
mar school master, with a salary of £35.

1755. " The town exprest their minds by a vote,

that women's schools should be kept at the five

school-houses in the summer season, to the amount of

half the money granted for the school, and the other

half for the support of a grammar school the other

half year. Vot^d that the grammar school should re-

move to the several school-houses in manner as here-

tofore, until the town give instructions otherwise.''

Granted £30 for the support of the school.

1757. Dr. John Sparhawk, school-master.

1758. Mr. John Haven (H. U. 1757), was school-

master, and continued to teach till 1767.

June 3, 1765. Voted that the town will improve five

school-dames, eight weeks each, this year. Voted that

the grammar schools be kept in the public school-

houses
;
and the school be doubled, and that there be
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two miuitere ciu|.l<))ed »i.\ moutlis at one aild the

same lime, in the winter lialf year : £G5 grunted for

the support of uchool.i. Tlie Hanie arrangement con-

tinued for the three lollowiug years.

17ii8. Voted that each squadron keep a woman's

school sixteen weeks in the year, and £25 is granted

for lliis purpose. Votetl, tliat each squadron have the

lihcrty to employ men instead of women to keep the

schools above expressed, so long as their money will

hold. -Mr. James I'arker (H. U. 17G3), was .one of the

school-masters this year.

1769. No women's schools were kept this year; but

each squadron was allowed to expend £i for writing

schools.

•lune 4, 1770. Voted to have one grammar school, to

be kept in the several school-houses six mouths, be-

ginning in October; and also a writing school for the

same time. V'otal that Dr. Ebenezer Hemenway opeu a

grammarschool athisowu house theothfrsix months;

and that there shall be sixteen weeks women's school

kept in each school-house at the same time. Major

John Farrar and Thomas Temple were appointed a

committee " to provide a grammar-master." £80

lawful money was granted for the support of the

grammar and writing schools. This arrangement con-

tinued for three or four years.

In 1774 the town was divided into eight school dis-

tricts. In some cases the old school-houses were

utilized ; in some they were moved to more central

spots ; in others, new houses were built.

May 10, 1790. " The committee appointed by the

town to take into consideration the expediency of

dividing the town into school districts agreeable to a

law passed June, A.n. 1789, Report : that the district

lines be hereafter the same that they have been for

several years last past, reference being had to the

town book for ascertaining said lines.''

" Voted, that there be one writing school kept 12

months each year, as follows ; in the district including

Stone's mills, 8 weeks; in the north district, 7 weeks;

in the southeast district, 5S weeks; in Salem End dis-

trict, 8 weeks, 2 weeks of which to be kept on the

Common, if the inhabitants there provide a house for

the purpose; in the remaining 4 districts, 6 weeks

each. And no scholar shall be sent out of one district

to another, without the consent of such district. That

a grammar master be immediately engaged for 12

months, and keep school as follows: one month in

each of the districts ; and no scholar to be sent from

one district to another, except those that study Eng-

lish grammar, or the Greek and Latin languages. The
remaining 4 months the grammar school to be kept

in the Centre." £70 was granted for the support of

schools.

April 2, 1792. "Voted to have 9(5 weeks women's
schools ; 48 weeks grammar school ; and 68 weeks

writing school, proportioned as they were last year."

The school districts held their annual meetings for

the transaction of business, and chose a clerk who

kept a record of the doings of the meetings. The
prudential committees, who were nominated by the

district at the annual meeting, had charge of the

school-houses, provided wood, hired school-dames and

drew their respective proportions of school money out

of the town treasury. Later, they hired school-mas-

ters as well as dames. By the rules adopted by the

town in 1800 (see below), the power and duties of

prudential committees were much extended. In more
modern times the State law made the hiring of teach-

ers the duty of the School Committee. But in this

town the two committees commonly acted in har-

mony, and thus the preferences of each district were

carried out.

The district system was abolished by vote of the

town in 18tJ6.

/School Committees.—In early times the business of

providing a school-miister, or writing-master, or

school-dames, was intrusted to special committees, or

the selectmen. When the town was divided into dis-

tricts, prudential committees were chosen in each

ward. In 1798 the town " voted to choose a commit-

tee of five persons, to inspect and regulate the schools,

viz. : Jona. Maynard, Esq., Capt. Peter Clayes, Capt.

John Trowbridge, Capt. Samuel Frost and Lieut.

John Jones. In 1799 the committee consisted of

Messrs. Maynard, Trowbridge, Eli Bullard, Esq., Eli-

sha Frost and Ebenr. Eaton. But the duties of the

committee were not clearly defined, and the relation

of this committee to the prudential committees was

matter of doubt. And in 1800, Capt. John Trow-

bridge, Dea. Thomas Buckminster, Col. David Brewer,

John Fiske, Ebenr. Eaton, James Clayes, Elisha Frost,

Esq. Maynard and Esq. Bullard were appointed a

committee to draw up by-laws for regulating the

schools. Their report was as follows

:

" 1. That the committee-niau of each school district be directed to visit

the school the week after it opens, to consult with the teacher whether

the scholars are furnished with books suited t^ the stage of learning in

which they are.—And if any scholar is destitute of a book, whose parents

are unable to furnish him with the same, said committee-man be direct-

ed to furnish him, and bring in his account to the town for payment

;

but if any scholar be destitute of a book whose parents are able to fur-

nish the same, and shall continue without a book for one week after

being visited as aforesaid, said child sbuU be excluded from the school

until properly furnished.

"2. That it be the duty of the district committee-man to notify the

chairman of the Visiting Committee, of the time when the school will

close in order that said Committee may regulate their visits accordingly.

" 3. That the Visiting Committee be desired to visit the women's

schools, to see that the first rudiments of reading and spelling are prop-

erly taught.

"4. That it be recommended to the inhabitants not to send any scholar

to the writing school but those who can read words of two syllables by

spelling the same.

" 5. That each master of a writing school furnish himself with a Bible,

and that he read a portion thereof himself, or cause the same to be read

in his school at least once a day.

"
t». That no work be allowed to be done iu women's schools, except the

art of Lettering. [This meant working the alphabet, or moral proverbs,

with the needle, on ' Samplei-s,' which were then, and continued to be

for the next quarter of a century, the pride of the girls.]

" 7. That the committee-man of each district be directed to see that the

foregoing articles be canied into effect."
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In 1801 the town granted $600 for the support of

schools ; and voted " that if 175 of the same be equally

divided between the nine districts; that two-fifths of

the whole sum be apportioned for the women's

schools, and three-tifths for the master's schools ; that

no master or mistress be admitted to teach a school

without tirst obtaining the certificates required by law

;

and that no scholar be admitted into a master's

school unless they are capable of being classed."

By vote of the town in 1802, it was made the duty

of the School Committee to examine school-masters

and mistresses, and to visit the several schools.

The number of the superintending committee varied

from three to nine, and they served without pay. In

1833, through the influence of O. S. Keith, Esq., a

man of culture, common sense, thorough knowledge

of schools, and devotion to the interests of common-

school education—seconded by Kev. tJharles Train

—

the town voted to reduce the number to three, and to

pay each man one dollar per day for his services.

This was afterwards increased to two dollars per day-

The committee this year were Rev. Charles Train, O.

S. Keith, Es(i., and J. .1. Marshall. In 18(!7, on the

abolition of the office of prudential committee-man,

the School Committee was enlarged to twelve. And
in 1871 a superintendent of schools was appointed, on

whom was devolved the supervision of the several

schools, his compensation being a fixed salary. In

1881 the number of the School Committee was reduced

to six.

In 1827 the town voted " that the vote passed in

182.5, specifying the number of weeks' schooling to

be kept in each district by a master, be abolished

;

and that each school district be at liberty to expend

their proportion of money granted for schooling, as

they think proper."

In those days the winter schools were always in

charge of male teachers, sometimes undergraduates,

who took this method to obtain means to pay college

expenses ; but they were largely our own boys, who
were educated at the academy. This plan continued

in all our districts till 1848. In 1849 the innovation

was made of employing females to teach the winter

school in Districts No. 1 and 5. The School Commit-

tee this year were Carleton Parker, B. G. Northrop

and Jona. Aldrich. Other districts soon came into the

arrangement, so that in 1855 the change was com-

plete, except in No. 8, where Charles S. Whitmore
continued to teach for the winter terms of 1855

and '56.

The Schools Graded.—The first attempt to introduce

anything like gradation, depending on age or scholar-

ship, into our schools, was made in 1831, when in the

Centre and at Saxonville the districts voted to have

a fall term of eleven weeks, to be in charge of a fe-

male, where all the children in the district under ten

years might attend ; and all over ten might go to the

winter school. The movement proved a success. The
number of pupils in the fall at the Centre was 65, in

the winter 63 ; at Saxonville the numliers respectively

were 40 and 66. When the Town Hall was erected,

in 1834, the lower story was divided into two large

and convenient schoolrooms, and two departments

of the school permanently established. The division

of the Saxonville territory into two districts obviated

the difficulty of too many scholars, for a time; but

eventually both these districts organized two depart-

ments.

The systematic grading of the schools in the Centre,

at Saxonville and at South Framingham grew up

with the necessities of each case.

The grammar school at Saxonville was organized

in 1856, at the Centre in 1857, at South Framingham
in 1869.

The high schools were established earlier. The one

at Saxonville was opened in 1852. It was kept in

one of the rooms uudcr the town hall there till 1857,

when the new school-house was erected. The high

school at the Centre was established in the fall of

1852. As stated in another place, it was the legal

successor of the Framinghjim Academy, and was kept

in the academy building till 1857, when the present

school-house was built.

The grading of the schools was completed, and a

regular course of study for the Centre high fchool,

comprising four years, was inaugurated in 1865, by

the committee, consisting of Kev. J. H. Temple,

Rev. S. D. Robbins and Rev. Geo. E. Hill. The same

cour.se, modified by circumstances, was introduced in-

to the Saxonville high school. The School Committee

in their annual report for this year, say :
" All the

schools of the town are now pursuing a uniform, sim-

ple and effective system of study—a system which is

not a mere theory, nor a forced growth ; but one that

has silently and slowly taken shape, to meet the

actual wants and the conditions of our schools. There

is uniformity of text-books in all the schools of the

town ; and all the scholars are doing the same work,

in the same way. The mixed schools in the outer

districts have each its own classification, and a uni-

form grade. The village schools are graded by a com-

mon standard : and all of like capacity are working

up in the use of the same text-books towards the high

schools."

The growth of the town in population has required

a corresponding enlargement of the means of educa-

tion. New school-houses have been built, and more
teachers employed, and the system of management
has been changed to meet modern ideas and
demands.

The following summary of the report of the School

Committee and superintendent for the year 1888-89,

will show the present condition of our public

schools :

Nu«il)er of porRons in town, betv'eeu the ages of five and
fifteen, April 1, 1888 1630

Number of Kchoola 37

Number of male teocbers 2

Number of female teachere 38
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8|xscl»l Inuhiir i.f matlc 1

Spn-UI Ira^'lier i'f ilrawlDg 1

Namlxir uf dillrrpiit puplta altuDiliDg achool duriug the

y^r 1«78

AtiTsicv number boloilEing IKJU

A»rr»gi? J*ily atleiiJAUce 1*3*

Per CtfUt. uf ttvf mt:" itlteliilttnce ^'2^.

8cbul&n by grmiled

—

NuuiUt to hlgbai-hoolB 133

Number In grammar scboolfl 290

Number In intt-rmethiktv schuoll 3M
Numtier in prtinnry acbtiolB 858

Number lu mixed scbouU IW
Number in NuruiHl Practice 81

Krening School.—By vote of the town, $1000 was

iipprKpriateiJ ttir t!ie support of an evening school at

.S)Uth Franiiiiirhani. This was kept for a term of

twenty weeks. Whole nuniher in attendance, 147 ;

average attendance, about 70.

The general plan or course of study in the schools

of the lower grades covers a period of nine years.

The high scliool course covers four years. Nominally

there are two dcparlraents in this school, called the

English course and the classical course, merged, how-

ever, into one, so far as tjie branches pursued are

common to both. The English course is intended to

lit pupils for business, for teaching in primary schools

and for active life in the best society. The classical

course, in addition to the common English branches,

embraces the higher niatluniatics and the Latin and

Greek languages, sufficient for admission to college.

Tbwn Grants to Schools.—The following table shows

the number of children of school age in town, the

amount of money granted for the support of schools,

and the cost;)ec capita, at different dates. No return

of the number of school children, before 1795, nor

between 1801 and 1834, has been found :

DaU.
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1833. This half-to\viishii> w:is iiiolufled in the land

ceded to Great Britain by the Ashburton Treaty ; and

has since been surveyed and located by a claimant,

who has been paid for the same by the United States

Govenimenl.

The academy thus established became an import-

ant factor in the social life, the educational standing

and the material prosperity of the town. The varied

and good fruits of the institution have been ripening

for three generations, and are not yet all gathered.

It numbers among its alumni hundreds of successful

tt':i<'hers and professional men, embracing the names

of those well known in ecclesiastical, political and

judicial departments in our own State and through-

out the country.

In 1822 the trustees erected a dwelling-house for

the preceptor, where is now the High School build-

ing, at a cost of $8r)00.

In 1820 John Trowbridge devised by will a legacy

of $5011 to the trustees, the interest of which ha.s

since been applied, agreeably to the directions of the

donor, in aid of young men of this town preparing

for college.

In 1S37 the original brick structure was taken

down and replaced by a stone school-house (now-

used by the primary school). The cost was .SiiOUO.

In 1838 Jlicah Stone left by will a legacy of 13000,

the interest of which was to be applied to the reduc-

tion of the charge of tuition to pupils belonging to

the town. This legacy was recovered by the heirs

after the academy was merged in the town High

School.

By acts of the Legislature, passed May 30, 1851,

and March 15, 1852, the trustees of the academy were

authorized to convey to the town all the property,

belonging to said corporation, including all trust

funds, provided the said town shall establish and for-

ever maintain, upon the real estate so conveyed, a

town High School. The School Committee were

authorized to act as trustees, and the town treasurer

to act as the corporation treasurer. The Supreme

Court decided that this transfer of property to the

town, and vesting the rights aud powers of the trust-

ees in certain impersonal officers, virtually dissolved

the Academy corporation. Had the board of trustees

continued in the exercise of their functions, and kept

proper records, even though the same individuals

should hold the two offices of trustee and School

Committee, the trust fund would not have been for-

feited.

Stn/c Xonnal School.—The first Normal School estab-

lished in Massachusetts, and the first school devoted

exclusively to the education of female teachers, was

opened at Lexington, July 3, 1839. This school was

removed to West Newton, September, 1844; aud was

transferred to Framingham, December, 1853.

In 1852 the Board of Education, tindiug larger ac-

commodations necessary than were furnished at New-
ton, determined to build a new school-house, at Newton

or elsewhere, as eligibility of site, and otters of material

aid, might afford the stronger inducement. A few of

our public-spirited men made offer of a lot of land,

which possessed singular advantages for such an in-

stitution, and the town granted a liberal sum of mon-
ey in aid, and the board decided to locate here. The
site selected was on the northwest slope of Bare Hill

commanding a wide and varied prospect, sufficiently

elevated to insure pure air, and protected on the

north by a beautiful grove of native trees, the grove

being the gift of Wm. M. Clark.

As appears from the deeds, James W. Brown con-

veyed to the Commonwealth two and one-quarter

acres and ten rods ; Josiah Stedman, one and three-

quarters acres and ten rods ; I. S. Wheeler, one acre

and eighteen rods; Wm. M. Clark, forty-four and one-

third rods of land. These deeds bear date December

30, 1852, and are conditioned on the erection here

and maintenance of a State Normal School.

The town voted to give to the State the sum of

$2500 towards the erection of the building, on con-

dition that the school should be established and con-

tinued here. The Boston & Worcester Railroad

corporation also contributed $2000 for the construc-

tion of the building.

The school-house was erected in 1853, after plans

prepared by Alex'r R. Esty. The whole cost of the

building was $12,552. The house was suitably dedi-

cated December 15, 1853, and was immediately occu-

pied by the school. Subsequently, ^three and one-

half acres of land, adjoining to the first purchase,

were bought by the State, and a commodious board-

ing-house erected.

In the fall of 1854 a plan was matured by Eben S.

Stearns, principal of the school, and the School Com-
mittee of Framingham, for the organization of a

model graded school, to comprise the pupils in the

several schools in the Centre District, which should

be under the joint superintendence of said principal

and the School Committee, in which regular instruc-

tion should be given by the advanced pupils of the

Normal School, free of charge to the town. The
plan was sanctioned by a vote of the town, and was
tried for a single term. But, before its advantages

and disadvantages were fairly tested, it was aban-

doned.

In 1867 measures were taken for starting another

model class, as a department of the Normal School

work. In 1870 the building was enlarged, and a

room fitted up expressly for a model school. The
town furnished the room, and engaged to pay one-

half the permanent teacher's salary. Each Normal
scholar is required to give instruction here, for a cer-

tain part of the senior year. It is nominally a town
school, and under town supervision; but practically

is in charge of the jirincipal of the Normal School.

The pupils range from the lowest primary to the

highest grammar grades, and are received from our

own districts and from the neighboring towns, by con-
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!.eiit of the Sfhuol (AmiuuUic. TuiUoii i? irue. Uere-

lotore tlie town lias jmiil #200 annually, but it is now

pnyinfi $-!70 towanis the support of the school.

The building occupied as a school-room since 1853

proving inadequate to the needs of the institution,

the Legislature of 1S8S made an appropriation for a

new house. This was erected during the past year, at

a cost of $100,000. E.Nternally and internally, it com-

bines good taste, elegance, and adaptation to the want*

of a model Normal School.

The principals of the Normal School, since its re-

moval to Franiiugham, have been, Mr. Eben S.

Stearns, 1849-.'>5 ; Mr. George N. BIgelow, 1855-

66; Miss Annie E. Johnson, 1866-75, and Miss

Ellen Hyde, 1875— . The regular course of study

comprises two years, with provision for an advanced

course of two years additional. Tuition is free to all

who intend to bfcome teachers in the public schools

of the State. Total number of pupils who have been

connected with the school to the close of the school

year 1888 is 24SG ; number of graduate?, 1040.

Town Libnirij.—yU. Barry says ; "The last of the

Common Lands (about 40 acres) was sold about the

year 1785, and the proceeds appropriated to the pur-

cha.se of a public library." Of the history of this

library little is known. The books were kept in 1809,

in the house of Martin Stone. In 1815, Rev. David

Kellogg, Rev. Charles Train, Josiah Adams, Esq.,

Benj. Wheeler, Nathan Stone, Maj. Lawson Buck-

minster, Jesse Haven, Uol. Jonas Clayes, and others

organized (or re-organized) Ihe Social Library. This

was managed by aboard of tivetru.stees, a clerk, treas-

urer, and librarian: price of shares, $4; annual fee,

50 cents. Each proprietor was entitled to take out

two volumes for the term of 60 days. No. of volumes

in the library, 443, which was increased by gift and

purchase to about 600. This society flourished for

several years. In 1834 the proprietors and others

formed The Lyceum Librari/, on much the same plan

as the preceding. This was succeeded, after a few

years, by The Franiiugham Library, which continued

till the formation of the Public Library. In 1851,

Lorenzo Sabine, Col. Moses Edgell, I. S. Wheeler,

Benj. Yeaton and others organized The Heading Club,

and fitted up a room which was supplied with the

leading American and English magazines.

In 1854, James W. Clark, George Phipps, Charles

Upham, Francis .Taques, C'll. Moses Edgell and

others started a movement which resulted in the

establishment, April 9, 1855, of the Framingham Town

Library. The books owned by the Framingham
Library, and the periodicals held by the Reading

Club, were generously given as a nucleus of the new
Public Library and reading-room. The original town

grant to the library was $1125. The books were kept

in one of the lower rooms of the Town Hall. In 1857,

Geo. Phipps made to the library a donation of $350.

In 18G5, James W. Clark niiidc a donation of $300,

and in 1873 a further donation of $500, to the library.

In 1S73 Jlrs. Eliza B. Eaton left to the town a legacy

of $500, the income to be expended for the use of the

library. Col. Moses Edgell, who died Feb. 8, 1875,

in his will provided that the town should be the resi-

duary legatee of his estate ; and the sum thus accru-

ing should be kept and known as the Edgell Library

Fund, the income of which should be expended for

the purchase of books for the library, works of art,

and in defraying the expense of taking care of the

same. This fund amounts to $47,000.

The present Library Building (known as " Memor-

ial Hall," to commemmorate the soldiers who died in

the late war) was erected in 1872-73, at a cost of

$28,500.

In 1887 a donation of .'S3200 was made to the town

by Mrs. tieorge H. Gordon, and the Library building

was enlarged by an annex to the book-room for the

accommodation of new shelves, thus greatly increas-

ing the capacity of the hall.

The annual appropriation by the town for the sup-

port of the library, for many years, was $400, and

one-half of the dog tax. Since the o|)e!iing of the

new Memorial Hall the appropriation has usually

been $1200, and one-half of the dog tax.

Branch agencies for the delivery of books atSaxon-

ville and South Framingham were established in

1874.

In 1871, George Phipps gave the sum of $3000,

with which to purchase a bronze statue of "The
Soldier," and 1881, George B. Brown donated $250,

being one-half the cost of the granite pedestal on

which the statue stands.

Number of volumes in the library, January 1,

1889, 13,877.

Graduates.—The following is a list, substantially

complete, of persons, natives or residents of Framing-

ham, who have received a collegiate education

:

Pbinebas HemeDWay, H. U. 17.30, Cong, min., Townsend, Mass.

Drtvid Godriard, H, U. 17.31, Conp iiiin.. Leiceflter, Mass.

Klias Haven, H. U. 17;J3, Cong, niin., FraokUu, Mass.

.lotiu Swift, H. U. 1733, Cong, min., Acton, Mass.

Nathan Haven, 11. U. 1737, died.

Joseijh Buckminster, H. U. 1739, Cong, min., Rutland, Mass.

Aniariah Frost, H. U. 1740, Cong, rain., Milford, Mass.

John Mellen, H. U. 1741, Cong, niiu., Sterling, Mass.

John Wilson, H. U. 1741, physician, Hopkinton, Mass.

Ebenezer Winchester, H. U. 1744, physician.

Samuel Haven, H. U. 1749, Cong, iniu., Portsmouth, N. H.

Jason Haven, H. U. 17.54, Cong, min., lledham, Mass.

Moses Hemeuway, H. U. Xlbb, Cong, min., Wells, Me.

John Haven, H. U. 1757, teacher, Frani., Greenland, N. H.

Kliab Stone, H. U. 1758, Cong, min., Reading, Mass.

Mosea Adams, H. U. 1771, Cong, min., Acton, Mass.

John Reed, Y. C. 1772, Cong, min.. West Bridgewater, Blasa., D.D.,

M. C. 1794, six years.

Solomon Keed, Y. C. 1775, (Song, min., Petersham. Mass.

Jonathan Maynard, H. U 1775, justice of peace, Fraui.

Samuel Reed, Y. C. 1777, Cong, rain., Warwick, Mass.

Moses Haven, H. U. 1782, died.

Timothy Reed, D, C. 1782, lawyer, W. Bridgewater, Mass.

Jacob Haven, H U. 1785, Cong, min., Croydon, N. H.

Joseph Bi.\by, H. D. 1791, died.

Daniel Stone, H. U. 1791, physician, Sharon, Mass.

Samuel Temple, D. C. 1792, teacher, author, Porcliester, Mass.

Joseph Locke, D. C. 1797, lawyer, Billerica, Mass.
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John B. Fisko, D. 0. 1798, lawyer, Now York.

Williutii Ballard, II, U. 171)9, pliysician, Framingham.

Moses M. Ki9ko, D. C. 18IJ2, teacluir, Nashville, Tenn.

Jolm Brower, H. U. 1804, |ihysician, IMiiladelphia.

.Tones liiickininstor, II. U. 1804, toucher, , Toun.

Williaiu Haven, It. U. 1809, died.

Williani Katon, W. ('. 1810, CoUR. niin., Fitchhni-p. MaM.

John 1.. Tarkhnrst, li, U. 1812, Cons, niiii., Seandish, Mo.

I>ana Clayes, Mid. 0. 1815, Cong, nun., Meriden N. II.

Joseith Bennett, U. U. 1818, Cong, niin., Wohurn, Mtua.

Jeniny I'arkhnrst, Y. 0. 1810. physician, I'hiladel[ihia.

Kdward F'rost, H. U. 1822, physician, Waylanil, Mass.

Increase S. Wheeler, H. U. 182t), merchant, Framingham.

John T. Kittrcdge, A. C. 1828, physician, Framingham.

Joshua T. Katon, Y. 0. 1830, Episc. clorg., Ohio and N. Y.

Peter l*arker, Y. C. 1831,* missionary to China, minister plonipotouti-

ary, etc.

Elbridge Bradbury, A. C. 1831, Cong, min., Saudisfiold, Mass.

Abnor B. Wheeler, H. U. 1831, jihysician, Boston, Mass.

Arthur .S. Train, B. U. 1833, Bupt. min., Haverhill, Mass.

Josiah Abbott, Y, C, l.'f.i.'i, physician, Hollis, N. H.

Wnl. J. Buckminster, II. U. 1835, editor, Boston, Mass.

Edward Stone, B. U. LS:!.**, Unit, niin., Norridgowock, Mo.

Edward Brewer, H. U. 183ti, farmer.

Oliver J. Fiske, B. IT. 1837, Bapt. min., Tennessee.

Charles R. Train, B. U. 1837, lawyer, 31. C, Boston, Mass.

Charles P. Johnson, A. C. 1839, lecturer. New York.

James W. Brown, W. C. 1840, teacher, Framingham.

Sumner Clark, A. C. 1840, Cong. min. in New llanipshire.

Bei^. A. Edwards, B. U. 1841, Bapt. min., Bolton, Mass.

Horace D. Walker, Y. C. 1841, Cong, min., Abington, Mass.

Addison Ballard, W. C. 1842, I'resb. min.. Prof. Lafayette Coll.,

Easton, Pa., D.D.

Isaac F. Shei>ard, II. U. 1842, consul general, China.

E. 0. Haven, Wesl. U. 1842, Meth. Episc. niin., bishop.

Samuel W. Eaton, Y. C. 1842, Cong, min., Lancaster, Wis.

Robert Gordon, H. U. 1843, lawyer, Framingham.

Bufus F. Brewer, H. U. 1845, teacher, Framinghain.

C. C. Esty, Y. C. 1845, lawyer, M. C, Framingham.

John Edmunds, Y. C. 1847, librarian, Philadelphia.

George A. Iloyt, D. C, 1847, physician, Framingham.

Onslow Ueraenway, B. U. 1848, died.

David P. Temple, Y. C. 1851, teacher, York, Neb.

Thomas G. Kent, Y. C. 1851, lawyer, Mill'ord, Mass.

F. C. Brewiie, H. U. 1851, ornithologist, Framingham.

Abner 11. Weuzell, \. C. 1853, lawyer, Marlborough, Mass.

Frederick Wheeler, H. U. 1854, lawyer, Framingham.

Dixi 0. Hoyt, A. C. 1855, physician, Jlilford, Mass.

George T. lligley, A. C. 1857, lawyer, Ashland, Mass.

Frederick A. Billings, A. C. 1859, farmer, Framingham.

James H. Schneider, Y. C. 1860, teacher, Bridgewater, Mass.

George Rice, Y. C. I860, physician, Framingham.

Harry B. Scott, H. U. I860, colonel in late war, land agent Burling^

ton, Iowa.

Solomon H. Brackott, H. U. 1862, teacher, St. Johnsbury, Vt.

George F. Bemis, \V. C. 1862, jeweler, Framingham.

Clark Carter, H. U. 1802, Cong, minister, Lawrence, Mass.

Frederick L. Hosmor, H. U. 18i;2, Unit. min.

Edwin T. Home, H. U. 1864, teacher, Boston, Mass.

Ednnind S. Clark, T. C. 1805, merchant, Boston, Miisa.

Henry G. Blair, H. U. 1866, druggist, Omaha, Neb.

Charles H. Parkhurst, A. C. 1866, Presb. min.. New York.

John K. Brown, H. U. 1869, missionary, Ilarpoot, Turkey.

Sidney \. Pliillips, P. C. 1869, lawyer, Framingham.

Walter Adams, H. U. 1870, lawyer, Boston, Blass.

Michael II. Simpson, H. U. 1871, died in Italy.

George D. Bigelow, D. C. 1873, lawyer, Boston, Mass.

Kalph Stole, H. U. 1873, lawyer, Buffalo, N. Y.

Howard E. Parkhurst, A. C. 1873, professor of music.

Arthur M. Clark, T. C. 1877, Rom. Catli. priest.

Howard K. Brown, H. U. 1879, lawyer, Boston, Mass.

Frederick H. Ellis, H. V. 1870, lawyer, Bostrm, Mass.

Samuel E. Somerby, H. U. 1879, lawyer, Boston, Mass.

Frank Simpson, H. U. 1870, manufacturer, Framingham.

Elizabeth B. Root, Wellesley Coll. 1880, teacher, Philadelphia.

Emma C. B. Gray, Smith Coll. 1880, teacher.

Frank E. Bice, Y. C. 1882, civil engineer.

4]-iii

Wm. H. Thompson, A. 0. 1882, toacbar.

George M. Richanlson, H. U. 1882.

Herbert A. Kichanison, II. U. 1882.

Charles F. Ma«m, II. II. 1882, bnrsor of H. U.

Arthur K. Stone, H. U. 1883, physician, Boston.

George Pomoroy Eastman, A. 0. 188-1, Cong. min.

Warren .S. Adams, D. C. 1885.

ThcophiluH Huntington Root, II. U. 188*, Cong. niiu.

Gertrude Howe, Wellesley Coll. 1885, teacher,

t>8good Tilton Ivastman, A. C. 1880, dork, Kainias City, Mo.
Charles Albert Brown, H. U. 1880, merchant. New York.

Frank .Mexander Kendall, H. U. 1886, architect, Boston.

John McKinstry Morriam, H. U. 1886, lawyer, Boston.

Robert Hogg, H. V. 1880, merchant, Boston.

William J. Fennessy, Montreal Coll. 1880, Cath. priest.

Edward .1. Ilarrlman, H. U. 1888.

Linie W. Bridges, class of 1891, Smith College.

Frank F. llowo, class of 1802 In H. U.

Fanny Bigelow, class of 1892, Mt. Holyoke Coll.

Ethel D. Puffer, class of 1802, Smith College.

Nettie M. C. Kntwistle, class of 1803, Smith College.

Ecclesiastical.—As stated in its clironological

order, a church was organized in Framingham, Oc-

tober 8, 1701, and Rev. John Swift (H. U. 1097) was

ordained the first pastor. He died April 24, 1745.

His successor, Rev. Matthew Bridge (H. U. 1741),

was ordained February 19, 174G, and died September

2, 1775. During his pastorate, I.e., in the autumn of

1746, the Second Congregational Churcli was formed,

and Rev. Solomon Reed (H. U. 1739) was ordained

as pastor. He remtiined in office ten years, and soon

after his dismi.ssal the church disbanded. The suc-

cessor of Mr. Bridge in tlie First Church was Rev.

David Kellogg, (D. C. 1775 ; D.D. 1824). He was or-

dained January 10, 1781, and continued in the pas-

toral office till his death, August 13, 1843, at the ad-

vanced age of eighty-seven years, nine months.

In his views of church polity, Dr. Kellogg was a

thorough Congregation.alist. Previous to his ordina-

tion, on specific inquiries being put to him t)y the

church, he announced his intention to conduct him-

self according to the Congregational principles of

church discipline, as understood and applied by this

church, from its earliest history, and gave his assent

"to the Cambridge platform (eldership excluded), as

the rule of ecclesiastical government, agreeably to the

custom of these New England Churches.''

" As a Congregation alist of the old lichool, he was

settled in the Christian ministry; and, to the princi-

ples, usages and habits of thought of the times co-

temporanetms with his settlement, he adhered to the

last."

—

Barry.

In personal appearance Dr. Kellogg was more than

ordinarily prepossessing. In stature he was above the

medium height ; with a well-proportioned and mus-

cular frame ; a fresh yet placid countenance ; strongly-

marked features, expressive of an even temperament,

good sense, deci.sion and benevolence. His general

bearing combined dignity with ease ; his step was firm,

his presence commanding. He had the air of one

who to native refinement added true culture and
knowledge of the world. It was evident that he was

conscious of a truthful and manly spirit; and, with a

sense of the high character of his profession, was
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united a goiiiiil niiture, which found pxprexsion in

those courteous manners by wbidi he was ever sodis-

tinguinlied. He was, in the best sense, a Christian

|rentlenian of the old school.

Coniing to this t«)wn towards the close of the Revo-

lutionary War, he had the opportunity, and his char-

acter and tiilent.i and purposes lilled bini for a large

and bencliceiit influence in shaping the course of

local events. I'nseWish, conservative, of broad views

and lively sympathies, he was a power for good in all

departments of the town's life.

Owing to a division of sentiment between the church

and the jiarish in regard to Christian doctrines, in

lS;t(), Dr. Kellogg and tlie majority of the church with-

drew from the old meeting-bouse, and built a new one

which was dedicated t'eptember 15, 1830 ; and the same

day Rev. George Trask (Bowd. Col. 182C), was or-

dained colleague pastor. Mr. Tnisk wiis dismissed

April i!, 18.'!G. The successive pastors of the church

have been : Rev. David Brigham, (U. C. 181.S), in-

stalled December 29, 18;!(i, dismissed May 9, 1814;

Rev. Increase N. Tarbox, D.D. (Y. C. 1839), ordained

November 22, 1844, dismissed July 2, 1851 ; Rev.

Joseph C. Bodwell, D.D., (D. 0. 1833), installed June

30, 1852, dismissed November 5, 18t!2 ; Rev. John K.

McLean (U. C. 1858), installed February 19, IStJS,

dismissed Sei>tember 1, 18G7 ; Rev. M. J. Savage, in-

stalled January 23, 18G8, dismissed April, 1870; Rev.

Lucius R. Eastman, Jr. (A. C. 1857), installed June

8, 1871.

At the separation in 1830, the parish held the meet-

ing-house; and the church connected therewith has

been known as The Church of the First Parish. The

pastors have been Rev. Artemas B. Muzzey (PI. U.

1824), ordained June 30, 1830, dismissed May 18, 1833

;

Rev. George Chapman (H.U. 1828), ordained Novem-

ber 6, 1833, died in office June 2, 1834 ; Rev. William

Barry (B. U. 1822), installed December 16, 1835,

dismissed December Ki, 1845 ; Rev. John N. Bellows,

ordained April 15, 1840, dismissed 1849 ; Rev. Jos-

eph H. riiipps, ordained 1849, dismissed 1853 ; Rev.

Samuel D. Robbins, installed 1854; dismissed 1807;

Rev. H. G. Spaulding (H. U. 1860), installed 1868,

dismissed 1872; Rev. Charles A. Humphreys (H. U.

18(50), installed November 1, 1873. .

I'irnl Baptist Church in Framingham.-—The earliest

denominational effort in this town by the Baptists,

was made about the time when Rev. Mr. Reed re-

signed the charge of the Second Congregational

Church, and by persons who had been connected

with that church. This was probably in the spring

or summer of 1757. Elders Whitman Jacobs and Noah
Adams, from Connecticut, preached here; and in 1762,

Mr. Jacobs administered baptism to four persons.

A Baptist Society appears to have been organized that

year, which supported preaching part of the time.

Between 1762 and 1792 about thirty persons were
baptized in Framingliara

; but there is no evidence

that they were constituted into a church. In 1809,

there were but five Bai>ti8t professors here, viz.. Rev.

Charles Train, Beiij. Haven, the wife of .fobn Fiske,

the wile of Moses Fiske, and the wife of Amasa How.
In 1810, Elder Grafton baptized two persons;

and in 1811 Mr. Train baptized five. August 4, 1811,

a church was organized under the name of " The
Baptist Church of Weston and Framingham." A
powerful revival commenced in this church, and

si)read through the town in 1814-15, as the result of

which about fifty were added to the church. In the

fifteen years while this church continued a branch of

the Weston church, the numbers added were 177 by

baptism, and 32 by letter. May 3, 1826, this church

became a distinct body, with 119 members.

The First IJaptist Society in Framingham was in-

corporated ,fune 22, 1812.

Preachers and Pastors.—Mr. Joseph Byxbc, Jr.,

who lived on the Hopkins (T. B. Wales, Jr.) place,

was probably the first stated preacher. Others were,

Nathaniel Green, who lived and died in Leicester;

Simon Snow, of Upton, preached here and at Weston
two or three years, afterwards became a Congrega-

tionalist, and died at Thomaston, Me. ; Noah Alden,

of Bellingham, was here in 1773 ; Elisha Rich, a gun-

smith, lived in town for a time, and preached regu-

larly on the Sabbath ; removed to Chelmsford, and

thence to the West; Edward Clark sui)])lied the desk

from 1780 to '90; removed to Medfield, but returned

in 1801, and preached till the settlement of Mr. Train.

Rev. Charles Train (H. U. 1805), was ordained Janu-

ary 30, 1811 ; dismissed September 1839. Rev. Enoch
Hutchinson was installed August 24, 1840 ; dismissed

January 8, 1841. He was a college graduate, and
distinguished scholar in the Arabic language and
literature. Rev. James Johnston preached from June
27, 1841, to August 10, 1845. Rev. Jona. Aldrich

(B. U. 1826) commenced his labors September 27, 1846,

and resigned April 3, 1851. In this time he baptized

eighty persons. Rev. Wm. C. Child, D.I)., a gradu-

ate of Union College, was pastor from May 1, 1851, to

April 1, 1856. During his pastorate fifty-three per-

sons were baptized. Rev. .Joseph A. Goodhue (D. C.

1848), was here, 1859 to July 31, 1862. Rev. A. W.
Carr succeeded, and remained till November 1, 1865.

Rev. Arthur S. Train, D.D. (B. U. 1833), was in-

stalled in 1860, and died in office January 2, 1872.

Rev. W. P. Upham commenced his labors October 1,

1872, and resigned in 1877. Rev. George E. Leeson
(B. U. 1874) was ordained July 29, 1877 ; died in office

August 20, 1881. The present pastor. Rev. Franklin

Hutchinson, was born in West Hoboken, N. J., Au-
gust 26, 1853 ; educated at N. Y. University, and

Union Theol. Sem., class of 1881 ; ordained June
18, 1882.

ITie First Methodist-Episcopal Church.—A move-
ment to establish this denomination in this town was
made in 1788.

Probably Lieut. Jona. Hill became acquainted

with the tenets and methods of the denomination
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when in the army near New York, in the Revolution-

ary War ; at which time l-Vancia Asbury, the first

bishop of the church in the United States, was actively

at work in that region.

The first class consisted of Jona. Hill (leader),

Benj. Stone, Isaac Stone and their wives, and Matthew

Stone. They first met for relij^ious worship in the

dwelling-house of Benj. Stone. This was one of the

earliest—if not the earliest—church of the order,

gathered in Massachusetts. The records of the old

Needham Circuit do not extend back of 1791 ; and

there is no doubt that the Saxonvilie Class helped to

make up ihc reputed mimber of thirty-five members.

For several years the (.hnrcli in this town was

visited by various preachers, viz.: John Hill, Bishop

Asbury, Jesse Lee, Ezekiel Cooper and George Picker-

ing, through whose missionary zeal Methodism was

firmly established in New England.

For thirty-five years the growth of Methodism in

town was slow, and confined to a few families. In

1825 Mr. Lewis Jones, who was an earnest man and

a successful worker in the denomination for a third

of a century, gathered a class at " The Corners," north

of Saxonvilie, of which he was appointed leader. The
names of the members of this class are as follows :

Lewis Jones, Sarah Stone, Catherine Hill, Persis

Hdl (afterwards Eaton), Joseph Potter, Jane Walker,

Joseph Moulton, Olive Moulton, Hannah Stone,

Betsey Eaton, Luther Underwood, Walter Stone,

Eliza Stone, Pamelia Hill, L. Dudley, Sallie Flagg,

Eliza Belcher, Elbridge Bradbury, Betsey Bailey,

Roxana Godenow, Elenor Godenow, Lewis Dudley,

Patty Dudley, Ann Moulton, Abagail Bradbury, Wil-

liam Dudley, Susan Stone, Sally Underwood, Fisher

Ames, L. Ames, M. Eaton and Jenny Eaton.

A meeting-house was erected at the Corner in 1833-

34, and a society was duly organized during the last-

named year.

A prominent and worthy member of the church dur-

ing this comparatively early period of its history was

Jotham Haven, a local preacher, father of the late

Bishop E. O. Haven.

During the single decade that the society continued

to worship in the church at the " Corners," it enjoyed

only a scant prosperity. The Conference preachers

who served it were C. Virgin, Peter Sabin, N. B.

Spalding, Paul Townsend, Thomas W. Tucker, George

Pickering and Willard Smith. The society, in the

year 1842, considering themselves financially too

feeble to support a Conference preacher, Rev. L. P.

Frost, then teaching in Wayland, near by, was en-

gaged to supply the pulpit, which he did most accept-

ably.

In 1844, for the better accommodation of people

living around the factories, the church was removed

to the village.

In 1880 the present tasteful and commodious house

of worship was erected, at a cost, including the land,

of about $10,000. It was dedicated January 6, 1881.

JTie iSiixoiiri/le Bcliifious Sorkty was incorporated

February 22, 1827, and a meeting-house was built the

same year. Religious worship wjis at first conducted

by ministers of the Unitarian denomination, and sub-

sequently for a time by the Methodlsl.M and otiiers. A
Congregational Church was organizeil May 2(i, 1 S,33,

which later took the name of the Ivlwards Church in

Saxonvilie.

The first pastor of this church Wits Rev. Corbin

Kidder (A. C. 1828), ordained July 30, 1834; dis-

missed October 25, 1837. His successors have been
Rev. Isaac Hosford (D. C. 182G), ordained February

24, 1838, di.smissed March 10, 1847; Rev. Birdsey G.

Northrop (Y. C. 1841), or-.lained March 10, 1847, dis-

missed November O, 1857 ; Rev. Henry Allen (D. C.

1849), installed November 6, 1857, dismissed October

1,1859; Rev. John H. Pettengill (Y. C. 1837), in-

stalled April 10,1800, dismissed 1802; Rev. George
E. Hill (Y. C. 1840), installed October 1.'), 1803, dis-

mis:<ed 1870; Rev. Charles Jones (U. C. 1832), in-

stalled October 4, 1870, dismissed 1879; Rev. Samuel
Bell (D. C. 1800), was stated supply 1880 and '82

;

Rev. Theodore L. Day (Y. C. 1807), commenced his

pastoral labors in March, 1883, and continued in

oflice till his death, in 1885. He was succeeded by

Rev. Moody .\. Stevens, the i)resent pastor.

A Uiiirermliit Sueirty was formed November, 1829,

and built a meeting-house, which was dedicated Sep-

tember, 1832. The society employed ministers, who
entered upon their pastoral duties without the form

of a regular installation. After maintaining preach-

ing for about twenty years, the society dissolved.

Catholic Churches.—Mission work was commenced
at Saxonvilie by Rev. George Hamilton as early as

1844, which resulted in the organization of St.

George's Parish and the erection of a church, which
was opened for public worship September 14, 1845.

The successors of Fr. Hamilton have been Rev.

Edward Farrelly, Rev. John Walsh, Rev. Anthony J.

Rossi, a graduate of St. Mary's 'Seminary, near St.

Louis, Mo., and Rev. James E. Rogers.

In July, 1877, a new parish, known as St. Bridget's

Parish, was organized, taking in Framingham Centre,

South F'ramingham and Ashland.

This parish purchased the church edifice at the

Centre, built by the Universalists, and later built a

commodious church at the South Village, which is

now known as St. Stephen's Church. Regular wor-

ship is maintained at both places. This parish is in

charge of Rev. John S. Cullen.

The South Framingham Baptist Church was consti-

tuted March 17, 1854. A meeting-house was erected

and dedicated March 15, 1855.

The pastors have been. Rev. Bradford H. Lincoln,

installed March 30, 1854; dismissed Nov. 2, 1855.

Rev. Samuel W. Foljambe, installed April 20, 1850
;

dismissed December 31, 1858. Rev. Theron Brown
(Y. C. 1850), installed December 15, 1859 ; dismissed

November 29, 1801. Rev. Samuel Brooks (B. U.
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1852), wn« here about two years. Rev. A. M. Hig-

gii.ts(l!. U. 1S5-J), iustnllcd March 31,1SC)5; dismissed

January 1, 1S«7. Rev. T. T. Killmer (Koch. U.), iu-

stallcd January 3, 18(i8 ; dismissed . Hev. George

R. Uarrow, installed February I, 1S74; preached two

years. Rev. Henry G. Satlbrd (B. U. 1858), installed

IVcember 12, 1875; dismissed 1885. Rev. K. S.

Wheeler.

.St. John's Church, Prokslnnl Episcopal.—On appli-

cation otH'harlcs K. Train, Geor{,'e Kastwood, T. 0.

Hurd, J. W. Hrown, A. K. Esty and others, the parish

was duly organized December 21,1800; wardens, J.

W. Hrown, A. K. Esty ; clerk, T. C. Hurd. Services

were held for a time in the town hall ; then in the

old Uiiivcrsalist meeting-house. In 1870 a tasty

stone church was erected ou the west slope of Bare

hill, and first occupied on Easter Sunday, 1871. It

was consecrated June 12, 1872.

.1 Mellioilinl Ephcopal Church was gathered at South

Fraiiiingham in February, 1860, and formally organ-

ized at the Quarterly Conference held at the Iiouse of

II. W. Carter, November 5, 18(J9. There were at this

date about twenty members in full connection. Ser-

vices were held in Waverley Hall till the autumn of

187.'?, when the Kennedy property was purchased by

the society, and the hall since known as "Irving

Hall" was fitted up for a place of worship. The

dedicatory sermon was preached December 21, 1873,

by Rev. William U. Chirk, I).I). A new and hand-

some church edifice has lately been erected.

The South Congregational Church, composed largely

of members dismissed from the church at the Centre

for that purpose, wiis organized at South Framing-

ham, January 2, 1873. The lirst meetings were held

in Nobscot Hall. A commodious chapel was built

and dedicated in 1874. A large and imposing church

edifice was erected in 1883. The original number of

members was 57; number January 1, 1880, 239.

Rev. D. M. Bean (Y. C. 1858), was acting pastor, 1873-

79; Rev. Wm. R.' Eastman (Y. C. 1854) was in-

stalled I'ebruary 12, 1880, <lisuiissed 1888; Rev.

Frederick E. Emrich was installed January 29, 1890.

The First Universalis/ Society of South Framinghain

was organized April 28, 1878; re-organized under the

statute April 5, 1882. The original number of mem-
bers was twenty-seven. A neat church edifice was

built on Franklin Street, and dedicated Nov. 9, 1882.

,1 Presbyterian Church was organized at South

Framingham two years ago, which has worshipped in

a hired hall. A contract has just been made for

building a church on the corner of Hollis and Win-
throp Streets. Rev. J. W. Flagg is pastor.

Cemetkiues.— 77(6 Old Burying- Ground. Aa was

customary in those days, the first burials of the dead
were in the grounds immediately surrounding the

meeting-house. And as these grounds were included

in the "Meeting-house Lands" reserved by Mr.
Danforth, there was a manifest propriety in using

them for this sacred purpose.

This ground was fenced in with "a good four-foot

wall" inlS05-0(!; but it was much neglected, and

cows and sheep were pastured thereon. About the

year 1850 a system of improvements, in charge of

Mrs. J. .T. Clark and Jos. G. Bannister, was be-

gun, and has been carried on more recently by

Dexter Hemenway. The walks have been graded and

graveled; the head-stones righted up or buried on

the top of the graves, and the grounds generally put

in order. The expense of these improvements baa

been borne in part from the avails of the " IMay Fes-

tival," originally started by some public-spirited la-

dies as early as 1849, and continued annually to the

present time.

South Burying- Ground.—This small plot of land^

one-half acre, was set apart for burial purposes in

1824. January 24, 1824, Joseph Haven executed a

deed of this land, to Levi Metcalf, Obed Daniels,

Elisa Grout, John Wenzell, and others, " proprietors

of the South Burying Ground in Framingham." In

1874, the surviving proprietors deeded the land to the

town.

In 1883, Willard llowo donated to the town the

sum of $250, to be known as the "Howe Cemetery

Fund," the annual income of which is to be used

" for the care of the South Cemetery in Framingham,

and especially of Lot No. 14."

Sa-roHville Cemetery. This Burial Lot, then com-

prising one acre, was purchased by the town of

Charles Fiske, in 1838. In 18G5, Mr. Fiske sold to

the town another acre, on the easterly .side.

The Catholic Cemetery, consisting of about five

acres, was consecrated in 1856.

Edgell Grove Cemetery.—June 27, 1846, the town

appointed a committee, consisting of Moses Edgell,

N. S. Bennett, Warren Nixon, Patten Johnson and

Dexter Esty, to procure a lot of land near the Centre

village for a new burial place. In 1848 nine and a

half acres of woodland, lying nfirthwest of the Com-

mon, was purchased of Colonel Edgell, and formally

consecrated by appropriate ceremonies. In 1858 three

acres additional, lying on the southwesterly side, were

purchased of James W. Brown ; and about three

acres on the northerly and northeasterly sides, were by

deed of gift, made over to tiie town by Colonel Edgell

at his decease. April 30, 1802, James W. Clark ilo-

nated to the town eight and a half acres, lying on the

southwest side, and in 1870 gave a deed of the land

lying upon the southeastern line of the original

grounds. Other lands have been purchased, so that

the present area is twenty-eight acres.

By his will, Col. Moses Edgell bequeathed the sura

of :?20,000, a part of which is to be expended in build-

ing within the grounds, a chapel ; and the remainder

is to constitute a permanent fund, the income of

which is to be expended in the care and improvement

of the cemetery. George Phipps bequeathed the sum

of 1500, the income of which is to be applied, 1, in

the proper care of the donor's own lot ; 2, for the
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general benefit of the cemetery. There is also a fund

of about $500, the income of which is at the disposal

of the trustees. There is also a fund, now amounting

to $()010, contributed by owners of lots, the income of

which is to bo applied to the ]>erpetual care of the

said lots. And it is worthy of record that from the

avails of the annual " May Festival," organized May
1, 1848, and managed by the ladies, there have been

expended for improvements in this and the oldceme-

tci-y, not loss than SilAOO.

Industriks.—Such was the situation of tlie town,

and such the character of the inhabitants and such

tiie facilities of obtaining water power that the chief

dependence of our people from the first, was on home
productions and manufactures. Wool and flax for

irarments, corn and the smaller grains for food, grist

.•uid saw and fulling-mills, tanneries and most of the

jiicchaiiical tr.ades came with the early settlers, and

grew in numbers and scope with the growth of i)opu-

lation.

Stone's corn-mill at the Falls, built in 1G59, and

the saw and fulling-mills there before 1735, have al-

ready been noticed. Savil Simpson built grist and

saw-mills on Ilopkinson River in 1707; and Col. .fo-

seph Buckminster put in a grist-mill on the brook

near his house about the same date.

The mechanical trades essential to the wants of

everyday life were introduced early. Most of the

first comers had some practical knowledge of the use

iif carpenter's and shoe-makers' tools. Some men had

a smattering of several trades. Thomas Kames, a

settler in 1669, was m.ason and brickmaker. Isaac

Learned, cooi)er, was here in 1679; .lohn How, car-

penter, 1689; Isaac Clark, carpenter, 1692; Caleb

I'.ridgcs, bricklayer, Benjamin Bridges, blacksmith,

the wife of Joseph Trumbull, weaver, were here in

lii93; Jeremiah Pike, spinning-wheel maker, 1696;

.loseph Buckminster, tanner, 1703; Jonathan Rugg,

lihacksmith, 1704; Jonas Eaton, carpenter, brick-

maker and tanner, 1706 ; John Singletary, cooper,

1709; Dea. Moses Haven, shoemaker, 1710 ; Eben-

ezer Hemenway, weaver, 1711 ; .Tonathan Maynard,

weaver, 1713; Joseph Haven, shoemaker, and Eben-

(ver Boutwell, tinker, 1721. William Ballord, the

tailor, and Thomas Temple, the cabinet-maker, came

later, but before the old French War. Professional

weavers made only the better class of dress goods,

woolen and linen, and linsey-woolsey; the mother of

the family usually had a spinning-wheel and loom,

and made the common clothing goods.

Forges were established by Andrew Newton on

Hopkinton River in 1745, and by Ebenezer Marshall

on the same stream, at the site of Cutler's mills in

1747. These turned out axes, hoes, scythes and farm-

ing tools generally. Later a forge was put in on the

river, north of Addison G. Kendall's.

Manufactures.—It was not till after 1800 that the

water-power of Sudbury River and its main affluents

was fully utilized for manufacturing purposes.

The Revolutionary War taught our people to de-

pend on themselves for the necessaries of life, and

the rude machinery of the household and the liilling-

mill met the demand. But the return of peace and

prosperity created new wants which these primitive

appliances could not supjily. Immense importations

from abroad were made, and foreign luxuries became
home necessities. This state of things was suddenly

arrested by the breaking out of hostilities between

England and France, and the restrictidus placed upon
commerce by these governments ainieil directly

against each other, but indirectly affecting our coun-

try. The embroilment of our government led to the

embargo act of 1807, and the interdict of commercial

intercourse with England and France of 1809, and
culminated in the declaration of war against Great

Britain in 1812. This embroglio threw our people

again upon their own resources for supplying the

need of clothing and commodities. Extensive niau-

ufiicturing establishments were started for almost

every sort of merchandise.

The dams already constructed on the Hopkinton

and Sudbury Rivers and Cochituate Brook were

brought into use for new and more comi)licated

ventures.

The first of the new enterprises was the cottcm-

factory on the Hopkinton River, at what is now Ash-

land Centre. .January 23, 1811, Samuel Valentine,

Jr., bought the privilege of Samuel Clark, and in con-

nection with Aaron Kames, Eli.as Grout, Fisher Met-

calf and others, organized the Middlesex Manufac-

turing Company. Buildings were erected and the

manufacture of cotton goods commenced. The enter-

prise had a varied history till 1828, soon after which

it came into possession of James .(ackson, a man of

energy and business tact, through whose influence

the village of Uuionville sprang up, which flourished

and grew into an important centre. Mr. Jackson sold

the property in 1852. It is now owned by the Dwight

Print Company.

Cotton Factory at SaxonviUe.—The starting of this

enterprise was only a few months later than the one

at Unionville. In the same year Hopestill Leland,

of Sherborn, bought the Deacon Brown privilege on

Cochituate Brook, of Ebenezer Brown, and erected a

cotton-mill. February 6, 1813, Calvin Sanger, Aaron

Leland, Joseph Sanger, Leonard Dearth, Benjamin

Wheeler, Luther Belknap, Hopestill Leland, .Jr.,

Comfort Walker, Moses Adams, Lewis Wheeler,

Micah Adams, Joseph L. Richardson, Phillips Clark

and Elias Whiting were incorporated as the Fram-
ingham Manufacturing Company, for the purpose of

manufacturing wool and cotton, with i)ower to hold

real estate to the value of $30,000, and personal estate

to the value of $50,000. The next year, Mr. Leland

sold six acres, with corn and grist-mills, to this com-

pany, and thirty-two acres to Calvin Sanger—all the

interest of the new enterprise. Mr. Walker located

here, and the company started with energy and soon
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gathered a considerable number of fuiuiliea, having

children old enough to work in the mill, opened a

store in charge of Samuel Murdock, employed a

blacksmith (Joseph Prichard) and did a large, though

not profitable, business for a number of years. The

property eventually |)assed into new hands repre-

sented by I. MeLellan, of Boston. The factory build-

ing was burned in 1834. In July, 1844, this privi-

lege 'was sold to William H. Knight, who put up a

building and set up machinery for spinning woolen

yarns. Mr. Knight sold to the city of Boston.

Woolen Factory at Sajconi-itle.— .Vpril 5, 1822, the

following persons, viz., Jere. Gore, John S. Harris,

Stephen Gore, Jr., Ephraim Jones, all of Boston, and

Abner, Benj. and Eliphalet Wheeler, of Framinghara,

bought of Charles Fiske, Isaac Deuch, Josiah Stone,

Abel Eaton, Abner Stone, and others, the land on

both side.s the river, together with the water privilege

and biiiUliiigs, dwelling-houses, etc., at the Falls in

Saxonville, and the ne.xt year built the first woolen-

mill. February 4, 1824, the parties above-named

were incorporated under the name of the Saxon Fac-

tory Company, for the purpose of manufacturing wool

in the town of Framingham, with power to hold real

estate, not exceeding the value of $100,000, and capi-

tal stock to the amount of $200,000. May 8, 1824,

Jere. Gore and his associates sold the entire estate

and water rights, for $20,000, to the Saxon Factory.

The canal had been dug and a mill erected in 1823.

February 8, 182.'), the Saxon Factory and the Lei-

cester Factory were, by act of the Legislature, "made
one corporation, for the purpose of manufacturing

wool, cotton and machinery in Leicester and Fram-

ingham."

June 11, 1829, Joseph Head, Henry Gardner, Ed-

ward Miller, H. H. Jones and others were incorpor-

ated as the Saxon Cotton and Woolen Factory, for

the purpose of manufacturing cotton and wool in the

town of Framingham.

February IG, 1S.S2, the name of the company was

changed to that of the Saxon Factory. The statistics

of this company April 1, 1837, were: Woolen-milLs,

5; sets of machinery, 11; wool consumed, 744,000

lbs.; cloth matnifactured, 268,040 yards; value, $311,-

800; males employed, 105 ; females, 141; capital in-

vested, $415,000.

In 1837 the New England Worsted Company pur-

chased the entire property of the Saxon Company
and removed their worsted machinery from Lowell to

Framingham. The main business since then has

been the manufacture of worsted carpet-yarns and
woolen-blankets. In 1858 this entire property was
bought by M. H. Simpson and Nathaniel Francis,

and the name changed to the Saxonville Mills. No
change was made in the kind of goods manufactured.

During the late Civil War the company filled large

orders for blue Kersey army cloth. The statistics

for 1805 were: Number of mills, 4; sets of machin-
ery, 25; pounds of scoured wool consumed, 2,000,000;

gross value of stock used, $800,000
;
yards of blanket-

ing manufactured, 1,500,000; value, $900,000; pounds
of yarn manufactured and not made into cloth, 600,-

000 ; value, $300,000
;
yards of army cloth made,

150,000; value, $200,000; males employed, 393; fe-

males. 390. Statistics for 1875: Mills, 2; capital,

$800,000; value of goods manufactured, $850,000;

males employed, 263; females, 268. In 1878 the

company commenced the manufacture of hair-cloth,

in imitation of seal-skin ; but the move was not a

success. The mills were burnt in 1883, and re-built

on a dillerent plan—a large single story edifice.

Carpet Factory.—In 1829 Mr. Wm. H. Knight bought

of Col. James Brown the old fulling-mill privilege on

Cochituate Brook, changed the cotton-thread machin-

ery and immediately commenced the manufacture of

carpets. His means were limited, and not at all

commensurate with his skill. At first he would j)ur-

chase wool only sufficient for a single piece of car-

peting, work it up, take the piece to Boston, and from

the proceeds buy more wool. The business prospered,

and in 1839 Mr. Knight bought the "bridge lot,"

eighty rods below the fulling-mill site, where he put

in a dam, erected new buildings and started large

carpet works. In 1844 he purchased the old cotton-

mill privilege, where he put in machinery for si>in-

ning woolen yarn. Controlling and using these three

water-powers, which embraced the whole fall of the

stream, his business rapidly increased, so that in 1845

—only fifteen years after his humble beginniug—the

returns show : Amount of wool annually consumed.

465,000 pounds; yards of carpeting produced, 199,037
;

value, $149,530; males employed, 191 ; females, 41.

Mr, Knight sold all his property and water-rights

on Cochituate Brook to the city of Boston, June 25,

1846. The buildings connected with the bridge lot

works were burnt on the morning of March 20, 1847.

Paper-Minis.—In 1817 Dexter and David Bigelow

erected a mill on the Hopkinton River, for the man-

ufacture of writing-paper ; and in 1828 Calvin Shepard

and Son purchased the site of theDench Mills, on the

same stream, and put in paper-making machinery.

These privileges are now in Ashland. In 1837 the

stock manufactured was 278 tons ; value of paper,

$46,000; males employed, twelve; females, eleven;

capital invested, $50,000.

Book-Bindery.—Otis Boynton established a book-

bindery here in the spring of 1822. In 1833 .Tohn J.

Marshall joined the concern, and a book and station-

ery store was opened. The business was carried on

till February, 1864.

Hatters.—Daniel Bridge, felt-maker and hatter,

built a shop in the Centre in 1781, and remained here

a few years. In 1823 Silas Hunt and Ira Mitchell

established a hat manufactory, where is now Otis

Childs' dwelling-house. In 1845 four hands were em-
ployed, and the net income of the business was $2500.

The business was given up in 1852, Mr. Mitchell aud

Mr. Jones removing to Milibrd.
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Tanneries.—Colonel Joseph Buckininster and Jonas

Eaton built tan-works very early. Joshua Eaton,

soon after 1723, established a tan-yard near School-

house No. 7. David Stone and Jonathan Hill had a

tannery north of Saxonville before 1769. They sold

to .lohn Stone, of East Sudbury, who sold March 17,

1788, to Elijali Clayes, who carried on the business

till .March 27, 1790, when he sold to Miiah Fiske, by

whom and his son Charles it was conducted for half a

century.

Isaac Warren bought the Jolin Fiske Tannery of

Eli BuUard in 1797, and carried on the business till

his death.

In 1780 Thomas and Ezekiel Williams of Uoxbury,

tanners and curriers, bouglit the Mixer Tannery, on

Koaring Brook, near Southborough line, where is now

the brick-yard, which they sold in 1790 to Benjamin

Eaton, Jr., who continued the business, and died

there.

There was a tannery north of the Albert G. Gibbs

house, known as the Oeiich Tannery, but by whom
started is uncertain. In 1809 .loseiiii Bennett sold it

to his son Nathaniel S., who sold April 21, 1817, to

Lewis Keyes and Francis Dana, who sold December

8, 1818, to Aaron and Henry H. Hyde, who carried on

the business for many yi^rs. These tanneries were

operated on the cold process, requiring at least six

months to properly cure the hides. The introduction,

elsewhere, of the hot liquor process, and modern

machinery, broke up the business in this town.

Straw Braid and Bonnet Mamifacture.—In 1799 or

1800, the wife of Joseph Bennett and her daughter,

Betsey, commenced the plaiting of grass and rye

straw, which material was made into hats and bonnets

;

and thus a profitable business was started, which con-

tinued for some years. The bonnets were trimmed

around the edges with nipping braid made of three

strands.

The following memorandum shows that Mrs. Mary

Rice, wife of Capt. Uriah, started a like business at

nearly the same time :
" Oct. 2, 1800, we began to

work on straw bonnets and trimmings ; and cleared

S340." Mrs. Rice carried on the business for about

fifty years. Her trade was principally in Boston,

Salem, Gloucester and Portland.

Maj. Benj. Wheeler went into the straw braid and

bonnet business in 1807. His trade was largely with

the South, and amounted in some years to $30,000.

About 1813, Capt. J. J. Clark commenced the bonnet

business, which he continued till 1830. The wife of

Joseph Sanger was also engaged in the manufacture

of straw bonnets.

The starting of this business in town created a new
and profitable family industry. The braid was made
by the girls and boys at home. The winter rye was

cut in June; the straw scalded and cured. That part

which grew within the sheath was cut in uniform

lengths, and whitened by brimstone fumes, and split

on a hand machine, coarse or fine, according to the

demand and the skill of the braider. The fine braid

was known as " Dunstable." A smart girl would

braid 10 to 12 yards per day of the fine, and 18 to 24

yards of the coarse. Fine braid was sold at 3 to 3J
cents per yard. Store-keepers took it in payment for

goods. They sold their goods for two prices, casit

price i\\n\ straw price ; the latter being considerably

higher than the other.

The wife of Lovell Fames commenced manufactur-

ing bonnets in 1825 ; and about 1830, her son Horace

took charge of the business, and added a distinct de-

partment of bleaching and pressing, for himself and
the bonnet makers in this and the neighboring towns.

Franklin Manson coninienced working for Mr. Fames
in 183(1; and in 1840, Mr. Manson took the business

into his own hands. In 1844, Mr. Manson entered

into partnership with George Richardson, for the

nuinufiicture of straw bonnets. Their straw shop

(now Liberty Block) was built in 1845. The partner-

ship was dissolved at the end of two years; and soon

after Sir. Manson built a shop, and carried on busi-

ness on his own account, till 181)4.

Alexander Clark commenced the manufacture of

straw bonnets, as a distinct business in 1838, and with

his brother Newell continued till 1853, when he began

the manufacture of palm leaf hats and shaker hoods,

which he and his son kept up till a late date.

After leaving Mr. Manson, George Richardson and

his brother Augustus carried on the bonnet business

till 1800.

Augustus Richardson built a new sliop, where he

raanuftictured straw goods to a large extent, for some

years; and was succeeded by George P. Metcalf and

H. K. White.

Curtis H. Barber succeeded to the business of Mr.

Manson in 1864, and now has a large manufactory of

his own, near the Baptist meeting-house.

The statistics of this industry in this town, are:

1836. Straw bonnets manufactured, 2950 ; value,

$5350. 1845. Number of bonnets manufactured,

31,000 ; value, $20,100. The cost of the braid was

$450. 1855. Number of straw bonnets made, 107,-

000; straw hats, 60,000; males employed, 25; fe-

males, 300. 1865. Number of straw bonnets made,

120,000; value, $180,000. Number of straw hats

ni.'ide, 120,000; value $12,000. Number of males

employed, 50; females, 800. Number of palm leaf

hoods manufactured, 230,000 ; value, $65,000. Num-
ber of males employed, 6 ; females, 40. 1875. Value

of straw goods manufactured, $830,000. Capital in-

vested, $255,000.

Massachusetts Silk Comjinny.—March 14, 1836,

Thomas G. Fessenden, Geo. C. Barret and Wni. H.

Montague were incorporated as The Massachusetts

Silk Co., " for the purpose of raising, reeling, throw-

ing and manufacturing silk, in the town of Framing-

ham." Capital stock $150,000. April 25, 1S;W, the di-

rectors bought, for .$7150, the home farm of Col. Nat.

Fiske, containing 139 acres, with buildings, etc
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Eight or till inr.-^i>i l;iiid were planted with mulberry

cutt)ntj;s, whii'h grew luxuriously. The compauy

was taxml for two or three years.

A little before this date, Wni. Buckniinster, Esq.,

plante<l what is now known ivs the old agricultural

grounds, with mulberry euttings, with a view to the

feeding of silk worms. The trees flourished ; but the

worms were not a sueeess.

Friimini/hinn Iiidin Rubber Company.—Jlay It!,

lS;lt>, Wni. K. Phipps, Dexter flemenway and Lsaac

•Stevens were ineorporated as the Framinjihani India

Rubber Company, "for the purpose of niiinuraetiiriug

all arlieleseonsistingwholly or in part of India rubber,

in the town of Framingham." Capital stock, $70,000.

Wm. K. riiipps was the originator of the project. He
W!1M of an inventive genius ; and had discovered a

method of dissolving rubber, and spreading it on

cloth, etc. The company commenced work in the

summer of 1835, in Mr. Phipps' shop. After incor-

poration, they bought three-fourths of an acre of land,

and built a large shop where they manufactured large

([uantities of rubber-coated canvas for car-tops, cloth

for aprons, using silesia for the base, and some rubber

shoes. The price of the raw rubber was six or seven

cents per pound. IJe.sides the corporators, James

Boyd of Boston, Samuel Warren, Micah Stone, John

Ballard (2d), and Gardner Kellogg were stockholders.

The conii)any carried on business for three years

;

sold the real estate to J. J. Marshall, who converted

the shop into a dwelling-house (now owned by Mrs.

M. F. Tracy and Mrs. J. Hammond). The stock-

holders met with no loss, and made no gain.

Soon after Mr. Phipps' success in dissolving rubber

was known, Dr. Simon Whitney commenced making

experiments and discovered a new process. May 16,

1836, Simon Whitney, (!eo. BuUard, W. E. Faulkner,

and Barker, of Weston, were incorporated as the

Water Power India Rubber Company, " for the pur-

pose of manufacturing all articles composed wholly or

in part of India rubber, and also various kinds of ma-

chinery." Capital stock, $130,000. This company

erected a shop on Stocy Brook, just below Bullard's

Bridge, where they made men's wearing apparel,

aprons, bonnets, etc. The name of the company ap-

pears on our tax-list 1836-42. The shop was removed

to the William Moulton place, and is now W. C.

Wight's livery stable.

The Gossamer Rubber Company began work at the

South village in 1876, and removed to Park's Corner

in 1877. The Para Rubber Shoe Company commenced
business at the South vill.ige in 1884. The history of

these last two enterprises belongs to a separate section.

•Hastings' Carriage Manufactory.—Hollis Hastings

commenced the manufacture of harnesses and car-

riages in 1832. In 1835, he bought the old Town
House, and removed to the corner, south of his

father's wheelwright's shop, where he carried on
carriage and harness-making in all their branches,

with success, for about thirty-five years.

Fire Department.—Id 1818 a fire-engine was pur-

chased by subscription ; and the town appropriated

$70 to build an engine-house. It was placed directly

back of Symuies' harness-shop.

Fire-wardens were lirst chosen in ISll). In 1823

a set of fire-hooks, a harness for the engine, twenty-

four buckets, and poles for the wardens were pur-

chased, at an expense of $100. A fire-engine was

procured atSaxonville in 1828 or '29; and an engine-

house was built there in 1833. In 1835 the town

voted to remit their poll taxes to all regularly enlisted

firemen. In 1841 a new engine was bought for the

Centre, and the old tub removed to the South village,

and a company formed there. An act to establish a

Fire Department in Framingham w.as passed February

3, 1847, which was accepted by the town, and the

department organized in 1853.

There are now owned by the town two steam fire-

engines, one located at the Centre and one at Saxon-

ville. A hook-and-ladder company has been organ-

ized at the South village. There is also a well-ap-

pointed hose company. A system of fire-alarms has

been established in each of the villages. The hand-

engine was transferred to Nobscot, where a full and

efiicient company has been formed.

Railroads.—The project gf building a railroad from

Boston to Worcester was agitated as early as 1827.

The charter was granted June 23, 1831. Two routes

were surveyed, one where it is built, and the other

through Framingham Centre. The route through

the Centre was regarded as the most feasible ; but

the Wheeler brothers and others interested in the

turnpike strongly opposed this plan, and their op-

position led to the selection of the southern route.

The road was opened for travel to Angler's Corner

Aprils, 1834; to Ashland September 30, 1834; to

Worcester June 30, 1835.

The first train through this town consisted of an

engine (the " Yankee," weighing six tons) and seven

cars, of about the size of a stage-coach, with doors at

the sides. The train stopped at the South Framing-

ham station for a while, and then stopped at Farm
Pond to take in water, which was passed up in pails.

The fare between Framingham and Boston was

seventy-five cents in summer and $1 in winter.

The opening of the railroad gave a great impetus to

the business life of the South village, and caused a

declension as marked in the Centre.

The Saxonville Branch Railroad was opened in

1846. The Milford Branch was completed and opened

in 1847. In 1850 a branch was built connecting the

South and Centre villages.

The Agricultural Branch Railroad, from South

Framingham to Northboro', was built in 1854; and

purchased and extended by the Boston, Clinton &
Fitchburg Company to Fitchburg, in 1805. The
Mansfield & Framingham Railroad was completed

and opened in June, 1870 ; and the Framingham &
Lowell Road in August, 1871. The last three roads
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are leaseil aiui operated by the Old Colony Uoad aa

its Northern Division.

Banks.— The Framingham Bank was incorporated

JIarch 2.'), 1833 ; tlie persons named in the act as

corporators were Micah IStone, Dexter Fay, Sullivan

Fay, Elijah Perry, Rufiis Brewer, Moses Kdgell and

Josiah Adams. Capital stock, $100,000; incresLsedin

1846 to §150,000, and in 1849 to $200,ii00. It was

changed from a State to a National bank in Novem-

ber, 18G4. The succes-sive presidents have been

.losiah Adams, Micah Stone, Oliver Dean, Sullivan

Fay, Francis .laques, Moses Edgell, .lames W. Clark,

I. S. Wheeler, J. J. Valentine. Oishiers: Rnfus

lirewer, William H. Foster, Edward Illsloy, Francis

Jaques, Francis T. Clark, James J. Valentine, Fred.

L. Oaks. The first dividend was declared April,

1834; and in no instance since have the regular semi-

annual dividends in April and October been passed.

This bank was removed to the South Village in

1888, having purchased the assets and assumed the

liabilities of the bank established there.

The South Framingham National Bank was organ-

ized June 14, 1880, with a paid-up capital of $100,000.

President, James W. Clark ; cashier, F. M. Stockwell.

The succeeding presidents were Adolphus Merriam

and Franklin Manson. Fred. L. Oaks succeeded

F. JI. Stockwell as cashier. In 1888 this bank sur-

rendered its charter, and its business was assumed by

the older bank.

Framingham Saving-i Bank.—This institution was

chartered in Jlarch, 1846, and commenced business

the following May. Col. Moses Edgell, in whose

mind first originated the idea of a savings bank in

this town, was chosen president at its organization,

and held the office till 1871. He was succeeded by

George Phipps, who remained in office until his death,

February 19, 187G. Charles Upham succeeded Mr.

Phipps, and died in otfice, March 10, 1880. Luther

F. Fuller, Adolphus Merriam and F. E. Gregory have

since held the office. The secretaries and treasurers

have been Rufus Brewer, Edward Illsley, Lorenzo

Sabine, Coleman S. Adams, L. F. Fuller. Amount
of deposits November 1, 1846, $4969; amount

November 1, 1882, $1,314,318.58.

A branch, for receiving and paying deposits, was

opened .it the South Village in March, 1883, and the

bank removed there the next year. In August, 1885,

an injunction was placed upon the bank, since which

date its business has been confined to the care of its

securities, adjustment of losses and bringing its

affairs into shape for a full resumption of business.

The Farmers' and Mechanics' Savings Bank of South

Framingham was incorporated April 23, 1883, and

commenced business in May. President, Willard

Howe ; Treasurer, George E. Cutler. Amount of

deposits, March 1, 1890, $403,982.

TIlc South Framingham Co- Operative Bank was or-

ganized in 1889; authorized capital, one million dol-

lars.

Bos ION W ATi;u-\VoitKS.— ( 'oihituale System.—The
act, authorizing the city of Boston to take tlie water

of Long Pond was passed March 30, 184(). It con-

ferred the right to construct a dam at the outlet, eiglit

feet higher than the lloor of the existing flume. In

1859 the Legislature gave the city power to raise tlie

dam two feel more.

Aug. 13, 1846, the city received a deed from W. H.

Knight, conveying all his right and title to Long and

Dug Ponds, and the adjacent lands, which had been

purchased by him of the Framinghani Manufacturing

Company, and of individual owners, and comprising,

beside the water privilege, one factory building situ-

ated at the upper i)rivilege, 83x33 feet, three stories

high, and filled with worsted and woolen machinery,

in full operation ; also two large dwelling-houses and

six acres of land adjoining; three dwelling-houses and

one acre of laud at the middle privilege; and at the

lower |irivil('ge, one factory, 147x33 feet, three stories

high, with ells, all filled with niacliinery in com|ilete

working order ; also one other factory, 10(tx33 feet,

three stories high, filled with carpet looms. The price

paid Mr. Knight was $150,000.

The works were so far completed that water was

introduced into Boston ()ct. 25, 1848.

The full capacity of Cochituate Pond in gallons is

2,011,105.000.

The original co.st of the works, in and around the

pond, including the conduit, was $1,403,212,31.

Siidbury liiver System.—The act atithorizingthecity

of Boston to take the water of Sudbury River, Farm
Pond and their allluents, in and above the town of

Framingham, was passed April 8, 1872.

The formal taking of Sudbury River under this act

was done January 21, 1875.

A temporary dam across the river, below the mouth

of Eames' Brook, to turn the water into Farm Pond,

was built immediately; and also a trench was dug

from the southerly end of the pond to Beaver Dam
Brook, by which the water could be conveyed into

Cochituate Pond.

In December, 1875, and February, 1 876, the city of

Boston made seizure of the lands bordering on

Hopkinton River and Stony Brook, for the purposes

of storage basins ; and proceeded to construct thrte

dams—No, 1, below the junction of Hopkinton River

and Stony Brook ; No. 2, on Hopkinton River, and

No. 3, on Stony Brook. Reservoir No. 1 covers 126

acres ; No. 2, 154 acres ; No. 3, 285 acres ; Farm

Pond, 190 acres. The combined holding capacity is

4,847,552,989 gallons.

These basins and the conduit were so far finished

that water was let into Chestnut Hill Reservoir

February 13, 1878, though the dams and biusins were

not considered finished till the succeeding wiuter.

The original cost was:

Puitl B. F. Butlorand tlio Mill owners, iiicltiitiug M.

II. Simpson 85«,l!in

Paid land damaged 007,&72
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P»ld bulldlDK iww lilghwsjra 60,512

r«14i-u«t uf tlirr« JutiidauJ gato-huUfei 322,329

P»lJ C..1 or .oi.Jull 2,778,400

rai.lci»l of »in:lu~rliig, unJ iul«:«IUueoo» . 321,228

Piiid teiuiKjrurj cuuuecUou 76,011

»4,«]S,842l

Tliese figures do not iiuludo the cost of Chestnut

Uill reservoir, iiuJ the distributing servife below,

nor the cost of laud, construction of dam and basin

No. 4, completed at a later date.

Newsi'AI'KUS.—The tirst newspaper established in

this town W!is tlie Framingham Courier, a good-sized

folio, printed and published weekly by George

Brown. It was started in April, 1835, and was

continued for less than a year. The Framingham

Giuette was established in June, 1871, by Pratt &
Wood. Thv Framingham 7^-/6hh<; was established in

October, 188.3, by Charles J. McPherson.

Saxosvili.k Post-Ofkice.—This ollice w.is estab

lished March T), 1828, Francis A. Hertody, post-

ino-ster. He was succeeded by Charles Fiske, January

4, 1830; Henry F.A.Richardson, February 28,1854;

Samuel P. Griflin, June 22, 1855 ; Samuel S. Danforth,

August 15, 1859; John R. Clark, August 15, 1861
;

Luther F. Fuller, May 30, 18(!5; Patrick Hayes, Jr.,

1885; J. W. Parmenter, 1889.

The South Framingham Post-Office was estab-

lished February 12, 1841, Joseph Fuller, post-master.

He was succeeded by Edward A. Clark, April 1, 1844;

Samuel 0. Daniels, July 7, 1849; Willard Howe,

July 1, 1853; ,Tohn B. Lombard, 1885; Edward F.

Phinney, March, 1890.

The Nobsoot Post-Office was established June

18, 1878, Josiah S. Williams, post-master.

Provision for the Poor.—By his will, dated

1728, Abraham Belknap left £10 for the support of

the poor of the town. In 1730 the town granted £5

for the relief of a poor family. And the custom pre-

vailed for many years to take up a contribution on

Thanksgiving and fast days, and to pay for the board

and clothing of the sick poor out of the town treas-

ury. Overseers of the poor were first chosen in 1741.

In 1757 the overseers hired the house, built by Rev.

Mr. Swift for a study, for, a work-house. A work-

hguse, 32 x IG feet, was built in 1771, on the Centre

Common, a few rods northwesterly from the present

town hall, where the able-bodied poor were placed

and kept at work. It was taken down or removed

about 1805. In 1813 Col. Micah Stone left to the

town a legacy of about 110,000, the annual income of

which was to be applied to the support of his own
needy descendants, if any, and the balance to the

general poor. For many years the custom prevailed of

letuug out the town's poor to the lowest bidder for

terras of five years. In 1823 Col. James Brown took

them ; in 1828 John Wenzell was the lowest bidder. In

1832 the town purchased the farm of Mrs. Solomon

' These figures ore taken from the printed Reports of the Boston

Witter Board,

Fay, enlarged the buildings, procured stock, etc., at a

t<jtal cost of $49t>4.17. The house was burnt in 1841,

and the present more commodious one erected. In

1868 George Phippa gave to the town the sum of

S<10,000, " To be held as a perpetual fund, calU-d the

Phipps Poor Fund, the annual income of which

is to be distributed by the selectmen, at their discre-

tion, for the support of the worthy poor of the town

out of the almshouse." In his will Mr. Phipps left

the additional sum of $10,000, the annual income of

which is to be expended under the same conditicms

as the first gift, said fund now amounting to $20,000.

War of the Rebellion, 1861-05.— The acticm

of Framingham on the breaking out of the Rebellion

was jirompt and decisive. Upon the first tidings of

an attack upon the Goverment of the United States

many of our young men enrolled themselves in the

active militia; and by the end of .\pril, 1861, nearly

a full company was raised and ready for organization

and equipment.

May 6, 1861, a town-meeting was held to act on

the following articles : First, " To see rf the town

will appropriate money to constitute a fund to pro-

vide a suitable outfit for such military companies as

may be organized in this town and accepted by the

State, and to furnish all necessary aid to the families

of members of the companies, residents of the town,

during such time as they shall be absent in the ser-

vice of their country." Article second, " To see if the

town will choose a committee to receive and expend

said fund."

Under these articles the following preamble and

votes were passed

:

"\Miereas a grave and extraordinary emergency now exists ; wliereby

the security of our beloved government is tlircateued l)y a portion of

tile people who are hound and sworn to support, defend and obey it

:

And whereas, in the prosecution of its designs, the rebellious portion

have resorted to the employment of armed force ; have unlawfully

and forcibly seized and do now hold much property belonging to the

common government, and do generally disown and set it at defiance ;

J iij ifAereus, we, the citizens of this town, do profess, and are ready

to maintain our unswerving loyalty to the government obtained by

our fathers by the sacrifice of their Idood and treasure, and handed

down to us as a sacred and inestimable gift, under which we Iiave

enjoyed those blessings which make life happy :—We have assenibled

together this day, to take such measures as are in our power, to assist

in preserving and maintaining tor ourselves and our children, this good-

ly heritage.

" Voled 1. That the town appropriate the sum of 88000, to constitute

the proposed fund,

"Toted 2, To choose a committee of nine, to take charge of and

expend the said fund ; and C. C. Esty, Oliver Bennett, Wui. H. Car-

ter, David Fiske, Joseph Fuller, George A. Trowbridge, Francis

Jacques, \Vm, Hastings and Uenry Cowles were chosen that conimit-

teee."

It is worthy of notice that the above provision for

aid to the families of soldiers is seventeen days prior

to any action by the Commonwealth.

The militia company proceeded to perfect its organ-

ization, and continued in active drill till the 24th of

May, when it was ascertained that it would not be

received into any existing regiments. And the Legis-

lature, in extra session, having made provision for
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the maintenance of the militia at the expense of the

Commonwealth, the town's aid was suspended, and

the company disbanded. Most of its members, how-

ever, enlisted for the war in existing or projected

regiments.

Upon the 4th of .July, 18()2, the President issued a

call for more volunteers for three years' service. The

quota of this town was forty-four. At a meeting of

our citizens a committee was chosen to obtain sub-

scriptions for a fuud to pay a bounty of $100 to each

volunteer who should enlist under this call. Forty-

eight subscribers contributed the sum of $4700, and

the same was paid out in bounties.

In August, 18()2, a call wiia issued by the President

for volunteers for nine months' service.

September 1, 1862, at a town-meeting it was

*' Vvled To reimburse frum the town treasury to the contributurs the

Bum of S-170O, already advanced to pay bounties. Fo/'(/, that tliere be

paid frum the town treasury, $l(Kt to each volunteer, wlien mustered

into service, as a bounty. I'otett, that tlie sum of $18,111)0 be appropria-

ted for tlie purposes above named, to be expended under the direction

of the selectmen."

The contributors of the $4700 fund held a meeting

September 3, 1SIJ2, and voted that the said sum of

money now reimbursed by the town, be placed in the

hands of a committee, to be called the Citizens' Mili-

tary Committee, to be expended at their discretion, for

the promotion of enlistments, and for the relief oi'

soldiers and their families.

At the March meeting in 18G3 the town " voffd,

that the selectmen be instructed to bring home and

inter the bodies of such soldiers as may die in the

service, at the town's expense ;" and directed the

trustees of the Edgell Grove Cemetery to set apart a

suitable lot for thai purpose, to be called the Soldiers'

Lot.

As autliorized by statute, at various times the

town raised and paid the bounties for men to fill all

our quotas.

Tutjil amount expended by the town in bounties and

recruiting expenses ..... If33,828.86

Amount paiti by the town ns aid to families of soldiers,

most of which has been reimbursed by the State . . 820,456.87

Amount of individual subscriptions to the various re-

cruiting and bounty funds 29,142.50

$83,428.23

In addition to the above-named money expenditure,

the Ladies' Association, Auxiliary to the Sanitary Com-
mission, were active and generous in preparing and

forwarding boxes filled with articles of necessity and

comfort, for the sick and wounded soldiers, in the

barracks and hospitals. Such associations were or-

ganized at the Centre, at Saxonville and at South

Framingham. These blessed ministries of love were

above all price.

The number of soldiers of all grades enlisted and

sent into the field by Framingham during the war was

as follows :

One hundred days' men .

Kiue mouths' men . . .

2

89

One year's nu<n 8

Three yeurs' men, cjivulry 43

Three years' men, hejivy artillery '26

Three years' men, lleht artillery 42

Three years' men, Infantry , . . 169

Men enlisted In United SttUes Army 4

lieu enlisted in United Stilted Nuvy 21

Toliil lot

Number of men killed in action or died of wounds,

twenty. Number of men died of disease while in ser-

vice, eleven.

DisTKiCT Court.—The Southern Middlesex Dis-

trict Court was established in 1874. It meets daily

at the court-room in South Framingham. .luslice, C.

C. Esty ; Special .luslices, L. If. Wakefield, Waller

Adams. Judge Esty was succeeded by Willis A.

Kingsbury in 1885.

Camp-Misetinq AssociAfiON.—October 2, 1871,

Rev. W. R. Clark and E. D. Winslow purchased

forty-five acres of land, including Mt. Way te, at the

northerly end of Farm Pond, and laid out the ground

for preaching-stand, tents and cottages. The first

"camp-meeting" was held in August, 1872, The
Chautauqua Assembly now holds its annual sessions

on these grounds.

State Muster Grounds.—These grounds, situ-

ated on Pratt's Plain, at the junction of F.astern Ave-

nue and Concord Street, were purchased by iheConi-

monwealth in 1873. The lot covers about llf) acres.

The Union Street Railway Company was

organized iu 1888. The track extends from the Cen-

tre to the South Village, and from there to Saxon-

ville.

Professional Men.—Lawyers.—In early times

our people sought legal advice, and jiut their suits in

charge of lawyers located at or near the county-seats.

Rev. Mr. Swift was often employed to draw up wills,

as was his successor, Mr. Bridge. Thomas Drury,

Joshua Hemeuway, Edward Goddard, Col. Buck-

minster, senior and junior, held the olBce of justice

of the peace, and wrote deeds ami other official

papers. Mr. Goddard was well educated, and under-

stood the principles of law, as well as the forms of

legal proceedings, and was often employed by the

town in the prosecution and defence of suits. The
same was true of Joseph Kuckmiiister, Jr. .Joseph

Htiven, Josiah Stone, Jona. Maynard severally held

commissions as justice of the peace, and did a large

ofiicial business. Mr. Stone was appointed special

judge of the Court of Common Pleas in 1782.

Eli Bullard, (H. U. 1787) opened a lawyer's office in

Framingham in 1791, and was in practice till his

death. Josiah Adams, (H. U. 1801) admitted to the

bar 1807, was here till his death. William Buck-

minster, (class of 1809 H. U.) admitted to the bar

1811 ; at Vassalboro ', Me., till 1822, then in this

town till his death. Lawson Kingsbury, (D. C. 1808)

w.'is here from 1814 till his death. Omen S. Keith

(H. U. 182G,) was in practice here 1830-38; removed

to Boston. Charles R. Train _(B. U. 1837), iu practice
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here 1840-63 ; removed to Boston. C. C. Esty (Y.

C. 1845) comnjeiiceil practice in 1848; appointed

judge of the District Court 1874. Robert Gordon (H.

U. 184S) opened an ollice herein 18G2, and remained

tillhis death F. F. Heard, H. U. 1S4.S, had an of-

fice in this town, 18."il-5G. Coleman S. Adama, studied

law in Baltimore, Md.; opened an otHce in Framing-

ham, ISoS. Theodore C. Hurd, U. C. 1858; in town

ISUO til! he was chosen cleric of the courts of Middle-

sex County. E. W. Washlmrn had a law ofllce at

South Franiing;ham, 1S70-7S. Those who have re-

cently entered the profession here, are Sidney A.

Phillips, 1). C. 186;); Walter .Vdaras, H. U. 1870;

George C.Travis, 11. U. 18(l!t; Ira B. Forbes, Charles

S. Barker, Fred. M. Esty, Willis A. Kingsbury, H. U.

1873; judge of District Court, John W. Allard, D. C.

1S.')4; .John M. iMerriam. H. U. 1886; J. L. O'Neill.

P/ii/»ici(tii«.—.lohn I'age, 1712-23; Be/.aleel Rice,

1720-43; Josepli Nichols, 1730-a2; .John IMellen,

1747; Ebenezer Hcmenway, 1750-84; Jeremiah Pike,

a noted bone-setter, was contemporary with Dr. Hem-
enway ; John Sparkhawk, 1757; Richard Perkins,

H. U. 174.S, was in practice here 1758; Elijah Stone,

1765-1804; Daniel Perkins, 1785-92; Richard P.

Bridge, 178;i; John B. Kittredge, 1791-1848; Timo-

thy Merriam, 1791-1835; Ebenezer Ames, 1812,13,

removed to Wayland ; Simon Whitney, 11. U. 1818,

was in practice here 1822-61 ; John T. Kittredge, A.

O. 1828, was in practice with his father till his death,

1837 ; Edward A. Holyoke, 1838-43 ; Otis Hoyt 1838-

47; EnosIIoyt, 1847, till his death, 1875 ; John W.
Osgood, 1842-(J7 ; George A. Hoyt, D. C. 1847, 1852-

57 ; George M. Howe, 1862-82 ; Allston W. Whitney.

1852-67; O. O. Johnson, 1850-82; Henry Cowles,

1852 till now ; Edgar Parker, 1866-70; E. L. Warren,

1870-78 ; George Rice, Y. C. 1860, physician and

pharmacist; George Beard, eclectic physician, has late-

ly died; Z. B. Adams, H. U. 1853, completed a course

in the Harvard Medical School ; studied in Paris
;

surgeon in the army 1861-64; located in Framingham
1868 ; E. A. Hobbs, J. J. Boynton, L. M. Palmer, J.

J. McCaun, O. W. Collins, Anna M. Wilkin, L. B.

Holbrook, have recently located at South Framing-

ham, (icorge Holman died, Marcus Ide died, Walter N.

Sharp, at Saxonville. Enos H. Bigelow at the

Centre.

Members of Congress.—Lorenzo Sabine, Thirty-

second Congress; Charles R. Train, 1859-63; C. C.

Esty, 1872-73.

State Sknators.—Captain Josiah Stone, 1780,

five years; Jona. Maynard, Esq., 1801, seven years;

Rev. Charles Train, 1829-31 ; Josiah Adams, Esq.,

1841; Joseph Fuller, 1852; Abial 8. Lewis, 1856;

James W. Clark, 1871; Edward J. Slatterly, 1887.
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Board of Health 1,000.00

Town Library 3,230.00

ll.v.tr.ints 2,000.00

Firo alarm 1,600.00

G. A. B COO.OO

Dicomtion Day 200.00

Salaries of town ollicera 4,170.00

Abatement of taxes 1,200.00

Incidentals . 2,037.00

CHAPTER XLIII.

FJ{AMIXGIIAM—{ Conlinued).

BY c. J. Mcpherson.

Ix attoni|iting to speiik of Soutli Framini^liam, the

writer :isks the considerate judgment of tliose of his

neighbors who are natives of the town and who, con-

sequently, must be better posted upon the condition

of things here a quarter of a century ago and more.

No attempt is made in this chapter to treat of tlie

earlier days, that portion of the history of the whole

town of Framinghain being left in the well-qualified

hands of the Rev. J. H. Temple. This chapter deals

only with the more modern developments, and a pic-

ture of the place as it is to-day, and is written by one

ot her busiest toilers, an adopted son whose love for

and pride in the old ius well as the new town, is

scarcely second to any.

Twenty-five years ago South P'ramingham had al-

ready shown signs of an ambition to be something

more than the unpretentious farming village of earl-

ier d.ays. The Boston & Worcester (now the Boston

& Albany) Railroad liad been opened in 1835, the

branch toSaxonville in 184i!, the branch to Milford

in 1847, the branch to Framingham Centre in 1850.

Thus more than ten years before the war the vil-

lage had become a point of some size on the railroad

map of the State. But it was destined to become at

an early day one of the greatest of New England rail-

road centres. The value of a railway running north

and south, across the several main lines east and

west, was early seen, for such a line would be a great

distributing road for ports to the south, like New
Bedford, Fall River and Newport, besides being a feeder

to the roads with which it intersected. So it was that

iu 1865 the railroad from South Framingham to

Fitchburg was completed ; that from South Framing-

ham to Mansfield in 1870 ; and that from Framing-

ham to Lowell in 1871. The last three named roads

form a part of the Old Colony system ; the first three

named are owned by tiie Boston & Albany. Still an-

other road is projected by the Old Colony Company,

this being a direct line from South Framingham to

Boston, by way of Dedham or West Roxbury. The
last annual meeting of the Old Colony stockholders

authorized the directors to proceed with this con-

struction. To-day there are living in South Fram-
ingham about 250 railroad employees, besides their

families. There are over one hundred trains daily,

passenger and freight, arriving and leaving here.

The elegant stone Boston & Albany pa-ssenger station

wm built at a cost of over $60,000. The freight-yards

of both systems are large ones, that for the Old Col-

ony being an especially busy place, as trains are

broken and made up hero for all Southcitstern Mass-

achusetts. The Old Colony brick round-house con-

tains twelve locomotives, and is already too small for

the business here. These unrivaled railroad advan-

tages account very largely for the wonderful growth

of the place, and promise great things for its future.

The Boston & Albany management is now rapidly

pushing its four parallel tracks westwanl from Bos-

ton to South Framingham. The agent in charge of

the Boston & Albany interests here is C. T. Boynton

;

the Old Colony agent is G. F. Amadou.
Years ago South Framingham was a favorite picnic

resort, but with the exception of charming Lakeview,

most of its attractive groves have had to give way to

modern improvements and growth. To-day the town

is one of the most beautiful to be found anywhere.

With the exception of the business section, most of

its surface is undulating, and through it like great

silken threads wind the Sudbury River and its tribu-

taries. Nestling within its borders are four beautiful

great ponds, named respectively Farm, Waushakuni,

Learned's and Gleasou's. l''n.m the first two the

city of Boston takes part of its water supply. The
town has been as healthful as beautiful. A few years

ago the Water Board of the city of Boston, building a

conduit across Farm I'ond, drained otf the pond,

leaving the bottom exposed to the sun all summer.

The consequence was a small epidemic of malaria,

which lasted for two years or so, but with that brief

exception good health has been the rule here. This,

with the natural attractions of the place, brought

many people to reside here, even before the develop-

ment of the place as a business centre.

The Public Schools have been excellent and

with excellent supervision, having had a sui)erinten-

dent for many years. Dr. O. W. Collins filling that

position at present. The School Committee consists

of six members, two being elected each year for three

years. The number of scholars in town in 1880, be-

tween the ages of five and fifteen years, w;t8 11 14, and

that number has gradually increased from year to

year, until for the school year ending April 1, 1890,

the number was 2009. The rapid growth of the town

the past eight years, consequent upon the establish-

ment of several factories here, brought in some who
had not had the advantages of an early education,

and for these an evening school hius been maintained

the past three winters, the average attendance nightly

being about fifty. In addition to the high schools,

the State Normal School at Framingham Centre

offers excellent advantages to our young people.

New Villages.—With the coming of the new in-

dustries came busy little settlements around them.
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Hastiogsville, jiiBt beyond tlie yuite muster-field, on

till" road to .SHXtmville, taking its name from the

Uaslings lamily, who lived and did husiness there,

was one ol" the older settlements. Alter the cominp

of the I'ari Knbher Factory came the dwellings in

what iH known im the Para District. About a mile

away, on the broad acre^ of Loker Hrolhcrs, has

grown up, since the beginning of 1884, what is known

:ls Lokerville, with over 100 handsome cottages, a

chapel, schoul-h.inse and store. Just over the Sher-

born line, near the " I'ar.i." is .Sherliornville, a col-

lection of new houses, accommodating about 300 peo-

ple, all on account of the ParA business. Around the

boot-factory has grown up a bustling centre, with a

Bchool-houso and store. This is called Coburnville,

uanieil for a member of the boot manufacturing firm,

Mr. N. P. (.'oburn. .Vround the three new rattan

industries is growing up u handsome settlement

called Prattville, in c<mipliment to iMr. Wellington

N. Pratt, who owned most of the land and is enter-

prisingly developing it. Mr. H. M. Everit, of New
Haven, Conn., has laid out many acres into handsome

streets and liouse-lots, and so has Jlr. T. L. Sturte-

vant and Mr. .John II. (ioodell. The sections owned

by them are being rapidly built upon.

South Framingham has gained rapidly in popula-

tion and valuation during the last ten or fifteen years.

The growth of South Framingham practically meas-

ures the growth of the town, for, substantially, the

whole of the gain has been in this village. In 1875

the populaticm of the town was 51G7 ; in 1880 it was

6235 ; in 1885 it was 8275 ; by the census of 1890 it is

nearly 10,000, and very few towns in the State are

growing faster. By the census of 1885 it was shown

that South Fraraingham's ratio of gain, taken by it-

self, would place it at the bead of the list of towns in

the State in the percentage of gain. In eight years fol-

lowing 1880 the ratable polls had increased 1000.

The number of cows in town is just about the same as

ten years ago, but the gain in horses is 300. The gain

in real estate valuation for the past ten years, conse-

quent on the great amount of building, has averaged

over $250,000 yearly, the gain for the past year being

$325,000. The gain in personal property has been

nearly $100,000 yearly, making the total gain in South

Framingham for the past ten years about $350,000

yearly. For this time the average of the tax rate is

$11.60 on $1000, and this, notwithstanding the build-

ing of several new school-houses, a new engine-house,

a very complete new Fire Department, new stone-

crusher, many new streets and bridges, the grading of

streets for the introduction of the street railroad, the

introduction of electric street-lights and a hydrant

service, evening schools, new police station, etc., all

of which have been paid for in full.

The census of 1890 shows Framingham to be, with

one exception, the largest town in Middlesex County,

only the eight cities in the county being larger. The
I^egislature of 1890 passed a bill allowing the annex-

ation of a part of Sherborn, borderingon South Fram-

ingham, to this town ; but the town, fearing the pos-

sibility of a large expense in draining that territory

on account of its contiguity to Boston's water supply,

declined to accept the act. Had the territory been

annexed, Framingham's population would thus have

been increased from three hundred to four hundred
;

but to all intents and i)urposes, except for voting, this

population is now a part of South Framingham, doing

its trading and working here, and being situated over

two miles from Sherborn Village.

The last Keprescntative to the State Legislature

from this village was .Joel C. Clark, who served in

1879. The town has sent a Ucprei^entative every year,

but he has always come from one of the other villages.

The Hon. Edward J. Slattery was elected to the Slate

Senate from here, serving in 1887 and 1888. The

town selectmen elected from this village since 1860

have been : O. W. X.iverraore, '60-61
; (iilnian Ful-

ler, '62-64, '74-76; Andrew Coolidge, '6.')-70; Wil-

lard Howe, '71-72; E. L. Sturtevant, '73 ; Elea/.ar

Goulding, '77-81, '83; B. T. Manson, '81-82; B. T.

Thompson, '82; George E. Cutler, '84-85; J. H.

(Joodcll, '86-89; C. N. Fuller, '86, '88; A. M. Eames,

'87; George O. Bent, '88-89; R. M. French, '90; C.

P. Knowlton, '90.

The present Senatorial district comprises the city of

Marlboro' and the towns of Framingham, Natick,

Hopkinton, Holliston, Ashland, Sherborn, Sudbury,

Wayland, Weston, Maynard.

The Representative district, entitled to two Repre-

sentatives, includes the towns of Framingham, Hol-

liston, Wayland, Sherborn.

The town is in the Ninth Congressional District

and the Sixth Councilor District. On account of its

central location and easy accessibility by railroad,

many of the political conventions are he'd here. The

working committees of the two principal political

parties in town have usually been large, with sub-

committees in the different villages. As a rule, the

citizens have not adhered strictly to party lines in

their selection of town officials, although occasionally

this rule has been departed from. At the present

time the Republican and Democratic parties in town

are of nearly the same size, while the Prohibitionists

have a modest representation. When the State Leg- •

islature authorized large towns to establish the pre-

cinct system of voting in fall elections, Framingham
adopted the change in 1886, and found it a most

agreeable one. The town has four precincts.

In 1889 the Australian ballot system of voting was

first tried, and it proved to be popular at once.

For a number of years a slight effort had been made
to abolish the board of three road commissioners,

who had full charge of the work upon the roads and

bridges of the town, but it was not until the present

year—1890—that this movement was successful, and

the provisions of the statute enacted by last year's

Legislature, allowing the selectmen to appoint a sup-
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erintendent of streets, was accepted and the road

commission abolislieil. The selectmen appointed Mr.

William II. Walsh superinteniient of streets, he hav-

ing been one of the road commissioners forsome years

past. Within two year.s the town officers' headquar-

ters have gnulually been removed to South Framing-

ham, and now tliey are all located here. The time is

lookeil forward to as being not far away when Fram-

iiigliam will apply for a city ciiarter, and many of

her most conservative citizens believe that the time

has come when that form of government is best adapt-

ed to her needs. From time to time the agitation

for a division of the county, or the formation of a

new county out of two or three others, has been agi-

tated, and Framingham has been designated as the

most convenient place for the county-seat. The new

county may never materialize, but South Framingham

will continue (o be the natural centre of many miles

of territory in this vicinity.

The property in town exempted from taxation, liy

the report of the assessor in 1888, is appraised at

$125,200. This amount is made up of the churches,

grounds of the Camp-Meeting Association, Middlesex

South Agricultural Grounds, and Home for the Aged.

In addition to this is the property owned by the Com-
monwealth, including the State Normal School prop-

erty and the State Muster Field.

The property owned by the town, .as appraised by

the assessors, exclusive of cemeteries, amounts to

about $150,000. This does not include the sewerage

system, which cost $150,000, and which is bonded.

With the exception of the latter, the town is practic-

ally free from debt, beside having several funds left by

public benefactors. The Col. Moses Edgell fund for

the benefit of the Public Library amounts to $47,000,

while the Joseph Phipps fund for the worthy poor of

the town is $20,000.

Considerable attention has been paid to caring for

shade-trees on our resident streets, and the result re-

pays well the care expended.

The Sherborn Reformatory Prison for Women may
be said almost to be one of the institutions of this

town, since it is located upon the dividing line be-

tween this village and Sherborn, a part of the property

being each side of the line. The South Framingham
railroad and mail facilities are used, but the institu-

tion will probably be referred to at more length by

Dr. Blanchard, in his chapter on Sherborn.

The town has had a Board of Health for years, al-

though that board has had comparatively little to do.

Special attention has been paid to vaccination, to

drainage, to infectious and contagious diseases that

might be spread through the schools, and regulations

have been maintained and circulars issued concerning

small-pox, scarlet and typhoid fevers, measles, diph-

theria, etc. Until within four months the board for

the past few years has consisted of Dr. Z. B. Adams,

Dr. J. J. Boynton, F. H. Sprague.

The Western Union Telegraph office is open night

and day, and so is the telephone exchange, as well us

on Sunday.

A Free Public lleading-Uoom is maintained by the

town, being located now in Nobscot Block. This is

well supplied with magazines and papers, and (roni it

books are distributed from the main Public Library at

ihe Centre Village, which is one of the (ddest free

|)nblic libraries in the world, and which contains about

15,000 volumes.

The town is lighted by electric lighU, both arc and
incandescent, the hitter being deemed the more ualis-

factory upon streets much shaded by trees.

The public buildings owned by the town are not as

a rule conspicuous for size or elegance. Some of the

school-houses arc well adapted to tlie demands upon
them, as are the engine-houses. At both the Centre

andSaxonville villages there is an old-fashioned town
hall, comfortable for ordinary gatherings, but both

totally inadequate to accommodate the voters of the

town at town-meeting times. From time to time the

project of building a large town hall at South Fra-

mingham has been discussed, but the wise view has

been that it were better to wait a little while longer,

when the rapidly increasing population should make
a city of the town, for then a city hall will be re-

quired—a building altogether different in size and
arrangement from a town hall.

Business Blocks.— Waverley Block was built in

1851, and for that time it was an especial credit to

the town, containing stores, offices, and a public hall.

An addition was afterwards built. The block had a

slated pitched roof, with cupola, but in the summer
of 1889 fire nearly consumed it, and it was rebuilt

with a flat roof. It stands in a conspicuous position,

opposite the railroads, on the south side, and on the

corner of Irving Square. It is owned by Henry
BuUard, of Holliston.

Nobscot Block, a commanding wooden structure,

was built in 1871 by P. G. Rice for Wm. A. & George

Rice.and is now owned by E. C. Rice, these all being

brothers. It is located near the railroads on the

north side, contains stores, offices, the District Court-

room, and two banking-rooms. During the present

year it has been much improved.

Union Block, situated opposite the railway station,

on the south side, was built in 1870 by Geo. W. Bige-

low and C. C. Esty, principally for the wheel business.

It was afterwards let for other purposes, and finished

off for stores, offices and other business apartments,

in which way it is now occupied.

The Odd Fellows' Building Association set the ex-

ample of building with brick when it erected its hand-

some block on the south side of Irving Square in

1876. Besides the Odd Fellows' apartments, which

have also been let to other societies, the block contains

stores and offices.

In 1882 Mr. H. Gardner Fames built Elinwood

Block, just south of Odd Fellows' Block. This is a

wooden structure with stores on the street level, and
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the Opera- House overhead. It is uow owned by Mr.

Wrn. II. Trowbridge.

The old Libtrtij Jlloct was remodeled id 1884 by

the owiiem. ^ltl*.sr^'. Cutler, Kaiiiiey and Claik, and a

handsome now brick aiine.x was built. Thi.s is ou the

norlh aide of the railroad and at present the post-

oirue in bHiiled there, besides rylbian Hall, stores.

oHii-eH, club-rooms and banking-rooms.

David Kanios built Cenlral lilork in Irving Square,

ol' wood, in 1SS-. It contains stores and olliccs.

U,nnti»i$ lllvct, on Howard Street, was built of

wood in 1X81. It has sttires below and tenements

overhead.

Within a year past a new era in the construction

i>f liusiness blocks has been ushered in, in the build-

ing of some handsome new brick blocks of modern

arrangement.

.loshua Smith took the initiative by building the

largest block in town, a sustantial four-story brick

structure with brown-stone trimmings. It faces the

railroads, on the south side, overlooking Irving

Spiare. In it are six large stores. Masonic Hall and

bani|uet hall, club-rooms and oflices. Tt is heated by

tiie hot waicrsystem and lighted with gas and electric

lights. It b.'is just been finished.

The Tribune Building followed close after the Smith

Block, and is nearly completed at this writing. It is

of four stories, of brick with brown-stone trimmings,

and overlooks Irving Square. Besides the IVibune

newspapeV quartei's, there are four large stores, the

largest |iublic hall in the place, next to the Opera-

lIouHC, oflices, club-rooms, photograph studio and

public bath-rooms. It is heated by steam and lighted

by g!is and electric lights.

Thf Miinson Buildiny Company is now building on

the north side of the railroad, opposite Nobscot Klock,

a handsome brick block of four stories, also to have

brown-stone trimmings. This block will have four

large stores, two public or society halls, banking-rooms

and oflices, one of the features being a first-class fire-

proof and burglar-proof vault.

Besides the blocks above enumerated, there are

many smaller ones where stores and offices are lo-

cated.

PUBMC Halus.—Of these there is no lack. Largest

in size is the Opera-House, and following in the order

of their size comes Union Hall in the Tril)uiie Build-

ing, Masonic Hall in Smith Block, Oild Fellows'

Hall in Odil Fellows' Block, I'ytliian Hall in Liberty

Block, Hibernian Hall ou Howard Street, the two

new halls in the Manson Building, Nobscot Hall,

used as the District Court-room, G. A. R. Hall in

Irving Block, St. Stephen's Hall in Liberty Block.

HoTisr.s.—These may be enumerated as follows

:

Old Colony House, Winthrop House, South Frara-

ingham Hotel, Everit House, Coburn House, Procter

House, Grant House.

Fire Department.—It was in 1841 that the old

Framingham Centre fire-tub was brought to South

Framingham. It was then called "Franklin No. 3."

Along in the forties it was exchanged for a new tub

of the S. & D. Thayer make, and Hiis new accession

was dubbed "Niagara No. '•'>." This tub was run

until 1859, when it was exchanged for another new

tub of the llunneman build, and this was also chris-

tened " Niagara No. 3." The company which manned

the " Franklin " numbered thirty, but there were

forty-five members in the last "Niagara" company.

When, in 1885, the street water hydrant service was

completed for use, the old Niagara hand-tub Wius sent

to Nobscot (North Franiingluim), and out of the old

com])any two new companies were organized—one

the hose company, the other the hook-and-ladder

company, which was named after Willis M. llanney,

one of South Framingham's enterprising citizens.

For the hose company a reel-carriage was bought,

but this has recently been superseded by the more
modern hose-wagon, in which the hose is folded. A
handsome and well-equipped hook-and-ladder truck

of the Gleason & Bailey make was the next purchase.

Since 1885 two handsome steam fire-engines of the

Silsby build have been bought for the other villages

of the town,—one each for Framingham Centre and

Saxonville, the last one arriving in April, 1886,

—

while a fine new engine-house for the Centre village

was dedicated a few months ago. Before the close of

1886 the town was supplied with the Gamewcll fire-

alarm system. To-day there are twenty-one boxes,

and in addition to ringing the bells of the town, a

large steam-gong is blown,—this latter being located

upon the water company's ])uniping-station.

The Framingham Water Company was organ-

ized in 1883, after more or less discussion in town as

to the benefits to come from street water and the duty

of the town to provide it. The corporators were

Messrs. Willis M. Kanney, Charles F. Cutler, (Jeorge

E. Cutler, Sidney A. Phillips, William C. McLellan.

The Holly system was the one adopted, the water

being drawn from galleries in Farm Pond, one of the

sources of the city of Boston's water supply. The
water is forced directly through the mains by means
of two large pumps, one high pressure and the other

a compound pump. While but one of them is used

at a time, both are kept ready for instant service.

The works were completed ready for use in the early

summer of 1885, and an exhibition of their working

was given on the occasion of the July 4th celebra-

tion of that year. There are now thirteen miles of

pipe in the system, and the plant is competent to do

twice the volume of business required of it, with the

present pumps. Willis M. Ranney is president of

the company, George E. Cutler, treasurer, and Sidney

A. Phillips, clerk and counsel. Thus far only South

Framingham has been piped, but the service is now
being extended to certain portions of the Centre,

notably the Normal School district. Within the past

two years a strong feeling has been expressed in town

that the town should itself own and operate the water-
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works, and a committee was appointed, in tlie spring

of 1889, to examine into the matter, confer with the

company and report. The report, while making no

definite recommendations, appeared to favor town

ownership of the works. There are about eightj* tire

hydrants in South Framingham, and about eiglity

pounds pressure is constantly maintained at the

pumping station.

District Court.—"The First District Court of

Southern iMiddlesex " was established here in 1.S74,

witli one justice, two special ju.sticea and a clerk. The

court meets every day in the year except Sundays and

legal holidays. The court-room is in Nobscot Block.

At the organization of the court, the Hon. C. C. Esty,

of Kraniingham, was appointed justice, with L. H.

Wakefield, Esq., of H(i[5kinton, and E. C. IMorse, Esq
,

of Natick, special justices. The towns in the district

originally included Framingham, Ashland, Hopkin-

ton, Natick, Sudbury, Wayland, HoUiston and Sher-

born, but Natick and Hopkinton were afterwards set

off from the district. Justice iVIorse's last service on

the bench of the District Court was on April 19, 1881,

and Natick being set off April 28, 1881, Mr. Morse

was made a trial justice in that town. Mr. Wake-
field has remained to the present time the first special

justice of the court. His residence is now South

Framingham. Judge Esty retired in December, 1885,

and Willis A. Kingsbury, Esq., then of Holliston,bul

now of South Framingham, was appointed in his place

in January, 1886, and assumed his office for the first

time on February 9, 1886. He still holds the posi-

tion. When Special Justice Morse retired, in April,

1881, Walter Adams, Esq., of Framingham, was ap-

pointed to the vacant position, which he still holds.

He first held court on June 22, 1881. At the organi-

zation of the court, Sidney A. Phillips, Esq., was

appointed clerk, which position he held until 1878,

when he retired, and Ira B. Forbes, Esq., was appoint-

ed. He held the office until 1880, when the present

clerk, Joseph H. Ladd, Esq., was appointed on August

30. In this court there are from 600 to 900 criminal

complaints issued in a year, and from 100 to 125 civil

entries made.

Telephone Business.—South Framingham men
were among the pioneers in the telephone business.

A Mr. Hardy had a license from the American Bell

Telephone Company to build a telephone line from

Boston to AVorcester. This right was bought by three

South Framingham men in 1880—Messrs. Charles F.

Cutler, who was in the grain business ; Willis M.

Ranney, who at that time was bookkeeper for Cutler &
Co., and Joel C. Clark, who was in the printing busi-

ness. These three organized The Central Massachu-

setts Telephone Company, with C. F. Cutler, presi-

dent; J. C. Clark, secretary ; W.M. Ranney, treasurer.

They built the line from Boston to Worcester, with

local exchanges in about all the towns on the line.

In about two years these same gentlemen went to the

western part of the State and brought out the Spring-

42-iii

field Company, consolidating it with the other, under
the name of the Consolidated Ma-ssachusetts Tele-

phone Com|)any. In 1884 the company sold out to

the Lowell teleplione syndicate. Messrs. Cutler and
Clark remained in the telephone business, going to

New York, New Jersey and Pennsylvania, where
they now have large interests. Mr. Ranney engaged
in the lumber and wood and coal business in South
Framingham, and became president of the Framing-
ham Water Company.
The PosT-Oi-i'it'E.—The South Framingham post-

office was established February 12, 1841, Hon. Jos-

eph Fuller being appointed postmaster, and retaining

the position until April 1, 1844, when Edward A.

Clark was appointed. Mr. Clark's term of service

expired in July, 1849, and S. O. Daniels was then

postmaster until July 1, 1853. From the latter date

Willard Howe served as postmaster until July 1,1886,

when he resigned after a service of thirty-two years

in the position, to a day. John B. Lombard assumed
the duties of the office on July 1, 1885, holding it

nearly five years, or until April 1,1890, when Captain

Edward F. Phinney assumed the otiice. When Mr.

Howe took the olfice, in 1853, his salary based on the

commissions, was $125 yearly, and out of this came
all the expenses of rent, fuel, lights, clerk hire, etc.

To-day the office is one of the second-class, with

$2000 salary for the post-master, while the government

pays the expenses above named.

Following is the report of the count of the num-
ber of pieces and weight of matter, with amount of

postage thereon, mailed during the seven consecutive

days beginning at 6 o'clock a.m. Monday, May 5th,

and ending at 6 o'clock a.m. Monday, May 12, 1890,

at the post-office at South Framingham, which was

taken, in common with other offices throughout the

country at the same time, for statistical purposes, and

by order of the Postmaster-General

:

Domestic. No. of Weight Aiiit. of
First Class Matteb. pieces, lbs. o/.. puotuge.

Letters mailed to other offices 6897 IIC 7 tllS 91
Local letters • . . 973 13 4 lU '24

Postal cards to other offices 630 3 5 6 30
Local postal cards 334 13 2 34

Secund-Class Matter.
mailed by pilbUshers toother otticeH, Ic. per lb. .'>70 55 .W
Mailed by publishers for local delivery .... 7(59 63
Mailed by publishers iu county, tree 70 5
Newspapers, Ic. per 4 oz., to oilier offices . . 168 .34 '2 1 76

Third-Class Matter.
Mailed to other offices 47 2'2 1 91

Fouetk-Class Matter.
Mailed to other offices .'i6 28 8 4 73
Foreign letters 61 17 3 25
Other matter 12 2 8 22
Official matter 116 2 3

9602 347 16 J15I1 24

Amusement Halls.—Waverley Hall was built in

1851, by Elias Howe. For a long time it was the only

hall in the village. Subsequently Irving Hall and

Nobscot Hall were built, but it was not until Elm-

wood Hall was erec'.ed by H. Gardner Fames, in

1882, that any attempt was made to provide scenery for

theatrical performances. Elmwood Hall seated nearly

900 people. The first real scenery was used in it in

March of 1883. During the roller skating craze,
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MoBBTs. F. H. Hum aiui Kdgar S. Twichell built

Aliiha Riiit on South Street, in the auiniiier of 1883,

and the following year Mr. Kanies built Elmwood

Rink, in tin- rear of the hall. Mr. Eamea si>ld the

hull anil rink to NViu. H. Trowbridge in 1885, and the

following year -Mr. Trowbridge greatly enlarged and

altered the building, changing its name to Elmwood

Opera-House. It is now one of the cosie-st little

theatres in the State outside the large cities, seats

about 1 100 people, has a horse-shoe balcony, large

stage with machinery, scenery and properties, abund-

ance iif dressing-rooms, electric lights, is handsomely

frescoed, and withal a moat attractive place.

hAKKVlKW.—Soutli Framingham has had some

particularly handsome and inviting picnic resorts,

made so largely by the several small lakes or large

ponds in the town. For many years Harmony Grove,

on the easterly banks of Farm Pond, was a popular

place. Jn 1871 Uev. \Vm. R. Clark, D.D., and E. D.

Winslow purchased forty-five acres at the northerly

end of Farm I'ond, for the South Framingham Camp-

Meeting Association. This land, which included

Mt. VVayte, was improved and laid out for the pur-

poses intended, and has ever since been a popular re-

sort. Methodist camp-meetin<rs are held here year-

ly, but the grounds have gained their principal fame

during the past ten years, from being the gathering

place of the New England Chautauqua Sunday-school

Assembly. During the ten or twelve consecutive

days of the " Assembly," many thousands of people

visit the grounds, and the reports of the meetings are

widely published. The superintendents of instruc-

tion have been Bishop John H. Vincent, and Rev.

Drs. Jesse L. Hurlbut, of New York, and Albert E.

Dunning, of Boston. Hon. B. B. Johnson, of Wal-

tham, is president of the Assembly, which has become

incorporated within a year, and of the Camp-Meeting

Association, which owns the grounds, Rev. Dr. W.
R. Clark is president of the Board of Directors, and

ex-Gov. Wm. Claflin, LL.D., is chairman of the

Land Committee. Samuel Cochran is superinten-

dent of the grounds. There are about 100 hand-

somely painted and well kept cottages on the

grounds, besides the tents which are used in the

summer time. In addition to the large covered audi-

torium, with seats for four or five thousand people,

there is a large dormitory, dining-saloon with steam-

boiler and other accessories, stables, etc. The Public

Assembly buildings are the Hall of Philosophy, or

Hall on the Hill, Normal Hall, the C. L. S. C. Alum-

ni headquarters building, and handsome and conven-

ient buildings, each for the Methodist, Baptist and

Congregational headquarters. A sample program of

the ten days' meetings is the one just held, which con-

sists of twenty lectures upon literature, history, trav-

el, science, art, political economy, ten lectures on

temperance, two monologue entertainments, or char-

acter impersonations, eight concerts, with a chorus

of 200 trained voices, besides soloists and instrumen-

talists, sermons, normal and children's classes,

chorus trainings, C. L. S. C. round tables, camp-

fires, athletic games, illuminations of the grounds

and fireworks, and many special features. It is not

strange that such a program, with some of the best

talent in this and other lands, should make this place

popular. These meetings are held in .luly.

The St.vte Mustek-Fikld comprises about 115

acres and is kept in good order for the annual en-

campment of the State militia. These grounds were

bought by the Commonwealth in 1873, and are ad-

mirably adapted to the purpose for which they are

used. Captain Luke R. Landy is superintendent.

Besides his residence there is an arsenal in which are

placed various military stores; there are the guard-

houses, brigade headquarters," cook-houses, fort, rifle-

targets and butts, stables, etc. Two brigade musters

are held annually, with about 2500 of the State

militia present each time, and besides these there are

meetings for rifle practice and other drills. The street-

cars from South Framingham to Sa.xonville run by

the field, which at muster-time is, with the exception

of the parade-ground, white with tents.

The Sewerage System.—South Framingham has

a sewerage system of which it may well be proud, both

from the fact that it is practically the pioneer .system

of its kind in the country, with the possible excep-

tion of Pullman, 111., and on account of its thorough

construction and complete adaptation to the needs of

the place. It is probable that no other city or town

in the country of its size has a sewerage system ap-

proaching this in completeness, and the question is

asked : Why has South Framingham so expensive a

system? The cause dates away back to the time

when the city of Boston was permitted to take the

waters in this vicinity for her water supply. Having
once taken these waters, it was necessary to preserve

their purity for domestic purposes, and so the big

city early began a crusade against the people in the

towns along her water supply, to compel them to dis-

continue all pollution of these streams.

So important was this matter deemed that the

Legislature of 1884 provided for the appointment of

a State Drainage Commission to inquire into and re-

port upon the protection of water supplies, the

methods of sewage disposal, and the application of

such methods to the towns and cities in the Common-
wealth which seemed most to call for it. This com-

mission, reporting upon the Sudbury and Cochituate

basins, said that in the case of some small towns, in-

terference was unnecessary, " but ia respect to Natick

and South Framingham the present need of sewerage

relief is crying.'' A joint system was proposed by

this commission, substantially as it stands to-day, to

include the Sherborn Woman's Reformatory, if desir-

able. They recommended that Boston pay $20,000

towards the cost of such a system, and the Common-
wealth $15,000, the estimated cost being $135,000.

But the town ot Natick would take no steps in the
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matter, and Framingham eventually felt compelled

to do it alone, in order to preserve her manufactur-

ing industries, for it was these latter, chiefly, which

polluted the tributaries to Boston's drinking water.

Early in 1885 we find Boston instituting a suit

against the town of Framingham for the abatement

of nuisances and pollution of her water supply.

In February, 188(), the legislative Committee on

Drainage gave a hearing to the Framingham Board

of Health, for authority to build an open drain from

South Framingham to Saxonville, beyond the water-

shed of the Boston water supply. It was designed to

drain certain low, wot sections of the village through

this drain, rather than to provide for sewage from the

houses and factories of the whole village. It was a

good scheme in itself, but did not go far enough.

A town-meeting on November 29, 1886, had for its

special business the discussion of the proposition to

petition the next Legislature for leave to construct a

system of sewerage for the town, and the meeting in-

structed its selectmen to so petition, and they were

constituted the town's Committee on Drainage. Hear-

ings were then held from week to week to ascertain the

ideas and desires of the citizens, and at the hearings

the claims of the several methods of sewage disposal

were advanced. Some favored the open drain to Sax-

onville ; some advocated a trunk sewer from Worces-

ter to Boston, with opportunities for the towns along

the way to enter ; some believed in the precipitation

idea, and this system of disposal, by means of chemi-

cals, was illustrated by experiments by a German

chemist ; the intermittent filtration and broad irriga-

tion methods were discussed. Meantime the town's

Drainage Committee had busied itself gathering in-

formation, and finally it secured the services of Civil

Engineer S. C. Heald, of Worcester, for preliminary

investigations, surveys and estimates, and $1500 was

appropriated by the town for this purpo.se. A draft of

a bill, representing the needs of the town, was pre-

pared by Town Counsel, Walter Adams and Hon.

William Gaston, of Boston, and presented to the

Legislature. Upon this bill legislative hearings

were held, the legislative Committee on Drainage vis-

ited the town and examined the premises thoroughly,

and in spile of the active opposition of Natick's Rep-

resentatives, the bill passed the Legislature almost

unanimously, and was signed by the Governor. En-

gineer Heald recommended the adoption of the irri-

gation system, which was also the recommendation of

the State Drainage Commission, and it was this sys-

tem which the town adopted. The city of Boston

offered to pay $25,000 towards the cost, and on Feb-

ruary 20, 1888, the town appropriated $140,000 to

construct the system, bonds for that amount being

issued, to run for twenty years. The town chose as a

committee to have in charge the construction of the

system, Messrs. Walter Adams, John H. Goodell,

Charles H. Fuller, Patrick Hayes, Jr., William H.
Hastings, Franklin E. Gregory, James E. Entwistle,

Edward J. Slattery, Henry L. Sawyer. The town

chose as a Bond Committee, to act with the town

treasurer, Messrs. James J. Valentine, Francis C.

Stearns, Thomas L. Barber. For Commissioners of

the Sinking Fund, the town chose Clifford Folger for

one year, Franklin 11. S|)rague for two years, Frank-

lin E. Gregory for three years. The plan wiw ap-

proved by the State Board of Health, and thus every-

thing was made ready for construction. The act of

the Legislature gave the town the right to take a suit,

able tract of land just over the Natick boundary line,

belonging to Framingham parties, for a sewage farm.

Engineer Heald, in his report, reviewed the me-

chanical filtration, chemical precipitation and irriga-

tion systems, and strongly advised the adoption of the

latter, and his recommendations were adopted. He
was employed as the engineer, but, going to Europe

shortly after, he left the whole work of preparing the

plans, specifications, etc., to Engineer John J. Van
Valkenburg, who superintended the construction

throughout, and afterwards became the town engin-

eer. The work was most thoroughly done, and to-

day stands far ahead of any other system of the kind

in the United States, the system at Pullman, 111.,

being after the same idea, but not nearly so complete.

Of the 24x36 inch brick sewer in our streets there

is over 3100 feet, and of the sewer-pipes of various

sizes there is over 22,000 feet additional, with 135

man-holes. The sewage runs by gravity through the

streets to the pumping-station. At this place the

main 24x36 inch sewer delivers the sewage into a man-

hole ten feet in diameter, and from this it flows in

either of three directions : first, if desired, directly to

the pumps, or to either of two large subterranean

reservoir^, each with a capacity of 200,000 galhms.

The Davidson Compound Condensing Pumping En-

gines lift the sewage from these reservoirs and forces

it through about 10,000 feet of 12-inch iron force-

main to the filtration field of 70 acres. From the

large manhole which this force-main enters, the sew-

age flows by gravity along the fields, being conducted

wherever desired by the use of gates, each field con-

taining about an acre and being surrounded by em-

bankments. This system is receiving many visitors

from towns and cities which have to face the problem

of sewage disposal. Its management is in the liands

of a Sewer Committee of three, one of whom is elected

each year for three years. Messrs. John H. Goodell,

Russell M. French and Patrick Hayes, Jr., comprise

the committee at present, and Major .1. M. Wiswell is

the superintendent.

Street Railroad.—One of the modern imijrove-

menfs is the street railway, connecting this village

with Framingham Centre and Saxonville. For years

the coach run between the South and Centre villages

by William C. Wight had been deemed a sufficient

conveyance, oftentimes run;iing empty. Theestablish-

ment of the Para Rubber Shoe Works at South

Framingham brought many employees from Saxon-
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ville, ami these were conveyed moruiug aud night in

coaches and barges. The many special occasions,

like town-meetings, hearings, caucuses, entertain-

ments, conventions, which brought the people of the

three principal vilhigesol" the town together, as well

as the necessities ol' the factory operatives and the

conveyance of the South Framingham High School

students to the school at tlie Centre, inspired the

idea that a street railway might be made to pay, and

this matter was taken up by the local newspapers and

so agitated that at length several sjchenies were ad-

vanced for the construction of such a road. One of

the first of the schemes was that of the Suspension

Transportation Company, which petitioned the select-

men for the right to construct and operate a line be-

tween the Soulii and Centre villages. The idea was

to plant a line of posts on which, upon side brackets,

would be strung twi) heavy cable wires, one at the

top, and one about eight feet below. Between these

two wires a car holding perhaps twelve persons was

to be operated by an electric current passing out over

one, through the car motor, and returning to a central

station upon the other wire. Obvious objections

were raised to this sclieme, and the petition was

dismissed. Meantime, by the continued agitation,

people were becoming convinced that some kind of a

road would soon be a necessity. Early in February

of 1887. certain gentlemen in town, prominent among

whom were Charles H. Emerson, Samuel B. Bird,

Clitlbrd Folgcr, L. F. Fuller and Ira B. Forbes,

together witli the Haines Brothers and others of New
York, associated themselves together to form a

corporation known aa the Framingham Street Rail-

way Company. The capital stock was placed at

$35,000, and the length of the road was Uf be four

miles. J>om the South Framingham terminus near

the Boston & Albany passenger depot, the road was

to run through Framingham Centre to the Old Colony

railroad station. One branch was to run to the

State muster-field on Concord Street, and another

short branch to the Para Rubber Works.

The very next week a rival association was formed,

many of the gentlemen interested in it being those

who had been for some time intending to ask for a

franchise, but who were not disposed to hurry matters,

until awakened by the prompt action of Haines

Brothers and their allies. The last corporation was

to be known as the Framingham Centre Street Rail-

way Company, and differed from the first-n.amed

company in that while that was to. be controlled by

outside parties, this latter company was composed of

a long list of stock-holders, .all of whom, with two

exceptions (and they only owning three shares), were

citizens of Framingham. The capital stock of this

latter company was to be $20,000, and the number of

miles of road two and one-half, the route being the

same as that of the other company without the Para

and muster-field branches. The leading spirits in

this enterprise were Sidney A. Phillips, William C.

Wight, William H. Hastings, C. C. Stevens, George

H. Waterman.

With petitions for location from both of these

companies before the selectmen, the latter were forced

to carefully examine their respective merits. The
competition was warm and close, and it began to put

the Haines Bros, at a disadvantage. To reinforce

their position, these gentlemen and their associates

supplemented their first association with another one,

to be called the Saxonville and South Framingham
Street Railway Company. Its route was to be from

Saxonville to the State muster-field, connecting willi

the Concord Street terminus of the " Framingham
Street Railway Company." This last bit of stratagem

proved a wise move, for it secured the active co-op-

eration of Saxonville citizens, who had no direct rail

communication with the other villages of the town.

After much investigation by the .selectmen, the two

companies in which the Haines Bros, were interested

were denied the franchise asked for. A new associ-

ation was at once formed to take their place. This

last association was named " The Framingham
Union Street Railway Company," and it was organ-

ized with a capital of $60,000. It was a virtual con-

solidation of the two companies which had been giv-

en leave to withdraw, and provided for building a road

from South Framingham to the Centre and Saxon-

ville, as well as the branch to the Para factory. It

included more citizens of the town on its list of stock-

holders than any of the other companies, there being

sixty-eight Saxonville names alone. With the home
capital, practical railroad men from Fall River and
New Bedford were associated, and on July 20, 1887,

this new company was granted a franchise. Work
went rapidly forward. Charles H. Emerson was

chosen president, and Samuel B. Bird treasurer, and

they, with Clifford Folger, L. F. Childs, James R.

Eutwistle, L. F. Fuller, E. F. Sprague, of this town,

and Charles F. Shaw, of New Bedford, acted as di-

rectors, but Mr. F. W. Brightman, of Fall River, was

one of the moving spirits of the whole enterprise.

The construction and equipment were of the very

best, four miles of the road being paved the entire

length, and the total cost being much more than the

capital stock. Stables and car-houses were built, both

at Framingham Centre and Saxonville. The formal

opening of the road occurred on May 29, 1888, the

day before " Memorial " day. Three cars, trimmed
with flags, loaded with invited guests, made the initial

trip, ' Uncle Dexter ' Hemenway, the oldest man
in town, and who had driven the first pick into the

ground for the construction of the road, riding on the

first car. The railroad has been of great value to the

town in bringing the different villages together, and,

under the careful and efficient management of Presi-

dent Emerson and his associates, has from the first

proved a good investment. It is now in contempla-

tion to replace the horses at an early day with an

electrical system of propulsion.



FRA^riNGHAM. 661

Within two months of the time of writing (July,

1890) a franchise has been granted by the selectmen

for an electric street railway through the village from

the Natick to the Ashland town lines. This road, if

built, it is presumed is to form part of a road running

through Wellesley and Newton to Boston.

Nkwspapkus.—The newspaper business in town

has been comparatively uneventful. The Frnminij-

ham Courier, started at Framingbara Centre in 183/5,

lived less than a year.

Edgar I'otter started The Framingham Enterprise

in Feb., 1874, consolidating in \Ki7) vi'whThc OazMc.

The Fraiiiuifiham Gazette was established at South

Framingham in 1871, by Pratt & Wood, of Marlboro'.

It WHS bought of them by C M. Vincent in the fall

of 1873. About one year later, in September, 1874,

Messrs. W. W. Pease and F. M. Jernegan formed a

partnership with Mr. Vincent, with the firm-name of

C. JI. Vincent & Co. In the fall of 1873 Edgar Pot-

ter had purchased The Ashland Adoerfisei; starting

The Framinifham Enierjirise the following February.

The Middlesex Newspaper Company was formed De-

cember 14, 1875, with C. M. Vincent, president ; J.

C. Clark, clerk and treasurer, and these two, with

George C. Travis, directors. The new company not

only bought The Gazette of C. M. Vincent tSt, Co., but

it also bought of Mr. Potter The Enterprise and The

Ashland Advertiser, merging the former into The

Gazette. The company also started The Holliston

Transcript and The Hopkinton News, the latter of

which was discontinued in 1880, the fbrmerstill being

published. Mr. Vincent was made editor, serving as

such for one year, when Mr. Potter became editor for

one year, from January 1, 1877. About January 1,

1878, Rev. L. B. Hatch, having bought a controlling

interest in the stock, became editorand manager, with

Walter W. Pease as assistant manager. Mr. Hatch

was president of the company and Mr. Pease a direc-

tor. The latter was also foreman of the office. Judge

C. C. Esty was a director in 1879, and when Mr.

Hatch resigned as president in October, 1880, Judge

Esty succeeded him in that office. On January 9,

1883, Mr. W. W. Pease became president ; F, N. Oxley,

of Ashland, treasurer ; and they, with Hon. Joseph

T. Pease, directors. Mr. Oxley sold his interest in a

few weeks to W. W. Pease, and from that time Mr.

Pease was president and treiisurer, as well as editor

and manager, with Jos. T. and H.. M. Pease asso-

ciated with him as directors. On January 11, 1889,

the stock of the company was bought byOra 0. Davis

and Walter F. Blake, who had worked in the office-

About two months afterwards, March 18, 1889, the

business was sold to the J. C. Clark Printing Com-
pany, the whole concern then taking the name of

The Lakeview Printing Company. The Gazette,

which bad been a seven-column folio (four pages, of

seven columns each), was enlarged, in 1883, to eight

columns to the page, and in 1889 it was further en-

larged to nine columns to the page. Ora O. Davis is

now manager of the paper, Mr. Blake being treasurer

and general manager of the company. The Gazette

has paid but little attention to politics, taking a neu-

tral stand anti aiming to make an acceptable home
paper, free from offence on this score.

The Framingham Tribune was started October '11

,

1883, by Charles . I. McPherson, in a small office in

Union Block. The type-setting was done here, but

the paper's forms were sent out of town for the press-

work at first, as the publisher had no presses. Mr.
McPherson started the Shrrbarn TrUninc at the same
time, doing the work at the same oflicc. In addition

to these he had for some time, and still continued to

publish The Walpole Star and The Norwood Jieview,

which he had printed at Mansfield. The latter were

eight-column folios, but the two Tribunes were seven

column folios. But seven numbers of the latter were

printed before more room was taken in the same block

and a new Cottrell cylinder press was put in, on which

No. 8 of Vol. I was printed. This was on December
14, 1883. A small steam-engine followed the press.

No. 8 was an enlargement, the paper being eight col-

umns to the page, instead of seven. Mr. Walter H.
Davis, who had been doing a small job jirinting busi-

ness in town, entered into i)artnership with Mr. Mc-
Pherson, under the firm naiiic of McPherson & Davis,

and a small job printing business was added to the

newspaper business. The partnership had lasted but

a few weeks when another enlargement came. A stock

company organized under Massachusetts law with

$5000 capital was formed, Messrs. McPherson and
Davis owning a majority of the stock. " The Union
Publishing Company '' was the style of the new or-

ganization, and it owned and printed at the start The

Framingham Tribune, Sherborn Tribune, Walpole Star,

Norwood Review. A little later The Medfuld Bulletin

was bought and published for two or tluee years, being

afterwards sold again. Still later TheAshland Trihune,

Southboro' Tribune, Sudbury Tribune were started and
are still published by the company. The first number
of the Tribune under the Union Publishing Company
was on April 25, 1884, being No. 27 of Vol. I. This

number marked still another enlargement, the paper

now appearing as a six-column quarto (eight jiages of

six columns each.) Mr. McPherson became general

manager of the new company, and Mr. Davis, clerk,

while both of them were directors. The former has

been editor and manager from the beginning to the

present time. At the time of the organization of the

new company Wm. B. Jones, since deceiiaed, became,

associate editor for a short time. On June 19, 1885,

the Tribune took on the form of an eight-column

folio again. One half the paper had heretofore been

printed in Boston, and was known as a " ready print,"

but by this last change all the printing was done at

the home office, although a considerable (piantity of

stereotype plate general matter was used. From Jan-

uary 1st to June 4, 188(5, the paper was a seven-column

folio, then an eight-column folio again until October
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29, 1886, when it again took the eight-page, or quarto

form wfiich it has ever since retained, except when,

as is ol'ceii the case, it appears as ten pages. In
]

Miirch, IStjO, alter liiiving twice previously outgrown

and enlarged the ollice quarters, a removal was made

to the new brick Liberty Block, where the third floor

was taken, and a new boiler and engine put in.

riiis, in turn, has been outgrown and other room

in tin- Imildiiig gradually taken, until now a removal

has bteu made to specially preimred and convenient

quarters in the new tour-siory brick "Tribune Huild-

ing." The 'JVibtiuf has, been independent politically,

striving to be first of all a first-class local newspaper.

It-s circulation is over 2000 copies.

On November 1, 1890, The Daily Tribune was

launched, with a fair share of advertising patronage

and support. The size of the daily is four pages of

si.x columns each, the price being two cents a copy.

It covers all the neighboring towns for news, and is

independent politically. It is an offshoot from the

Jl tr% Tribune, and is under the same management.

The Basks.— The Framinghmn Savintfs Bank was

chartered in 18-46, and did business at Framingham

Centre until 1884, when it removed to South Fram-

ingham. Its presidents have been Moses Edgell,

Geo. Phipps, Charles Upham, Luther F. Fuller,

Adolphus Merriara, Franklin E. Gregory. Messrs.

Phipps, Upham and Merriam died in office. The

treasurers have been Rufus Brewer, Edward Ilsley,

Lorenzo Sabin, Coleman S. Adams, Luther F. Ful-

ler. Walter Adams, Esq., is the bank's solicitor.

The statement May 1, 1890, shows $1,860,734.14 de-

posits, and it is undoubtedly one of the strongest

banks in the State. At present the officers are:

President, Franklin E. Gregory; Vice-Presidents,

Samuel B. Bird, .7. Henry Robinson, Franklin Man-

son ; Treasurer, Luther F. Fuller ; Trustees, F. E.

Gregory, 8. B. Bird, J. H. Robinson, F. Manson, L. F.

Fuller, John S. Cullen, Adrian Foot, Walter Adams,

Francis C. Stearns, Geo. C. Travis, Edward F. Ken-

dall, Clifford Folger, Simeon H. Williams.

The Farmers' and Mechanics' Savings Bank was or-

ganized April 23, 1883, and opened for business June

4, 1883. Willard Howe has been president, George

E. Cutler treasurer, and Stearns G. Davenport clerk,

from the start. To-day the deposits amount to $430,000.

The bank lias never lost a dollar, and has paid divi-

dends of from four to five per. cent since the start.

The vice-presidents are A. C. Blanchard, D. T.

Bridges, J. R. Entwistle. The trustees are Willard

Howe, H. L. Sasvyer, James Fennessy, Jos. W. Bul-

lard, Chas. D. Lewis, S. G. Davenport, Geo. E. Cutler,

Franklin Enslin, Willis M. Ranney, Sidney A. Phil-

lips, James R. Entwistle, Patrick Hayes, Jr. Sidney

A. Phillips, Esq., is the bank's solicitor.

The South Framingham Co- Operative Bank was

chartered April 18, 1889. The deposits now amount
to over ?=28,000. A dividend of six per cent, was de-

clared at the end of the first year's business. Charles

J. McPherson is president; Alfred M. Fames, vice

president; Harrie L, Davenport, secretary and treas-

urer. Willis A. King.sbury, Esq., is solicitor. The

directors are R. M. French, E. Goulding, J. J.

MctJann, Joshua Smith, W. A. Kingsbury, Alvah T
Bridges, R. L. Everit, F. H. Fales, J. H. Goodell, J.

B. Johnson, G. L. Whitney, J. H. Conway.

The Framingham National Bank was incorporated

as a State bank in 1833, and changed in 1864 to a

national bank. Up to 1864 it had paid out in divi-

liends a little more than $383,000. Since 1864, the

time when the institution became a national bank,

the dividends have considerably exceeded $500,000,

and in all its kistory no semi-annual dividend has

ever been passed. The capital is $200,000. The

bank had always been located at Framingham Centre

until 1888, when it removed to South Framingham,

having bought out the business of the South Fram-

ingham National Bank. James J. Valentine, who

for twenty-six years had been clerk and cashier in

the bank, is president ; Franklin E. Gregory is vice-

president, and Fred. L. Oaks is cashier. The direc-

tors are J. J. Valentine, F. E. Gregory, John B. Wal-

cott, W. M. Ranney, Walter Adams, S. B. Bird, T.

L. Barber.

The South Framingham National Bank was organ-

ized June 14, 1880, and began business in July of

that year, with a capital of $100,000. Although the

bank did a good business and was prosperous, certain

of the older stockholders looked with favor upon a

proposition of the Framingham National Bank to as-

sume their business, paying a good premium for the

stock, and, although the bank had $150,000 on de-

posit, and $200,000 worth of good loans, it went into

liquidation in August of 1888, receiving from the old

bank about $114 for each share of stock. The presi-

dents of the bank were James W. Clark, Adolphus

Merriam and Franklin Manson. The cashiers were

F. M. Stockwell and Fred. L. Oaks.

Churches.—In South Framingham there are seven

churches,—Roman Catholic, Congregationalist, Bap-

tist, Methodist, Universalist, Episcopal, Presbyterian,

while at the other villages of the town most of the

above denominations are represented, as well as the

Unitarian. Brief sketches are given of the churches

at South Framingham.

77(6 Baptist Church is the oldest one in the village.

Previous to the last month of 1851 the inhabitants of

the village attended church at Framingham Centre,

but the growth of the South village consequent to the

establishment of the straw hat and bonnet industry

demanded a place of worship nearer home. Occa-

sional meetings had been held at the various dwellings

and in the village school-house, and for some time

a Bible class had been conducted on Sunday evenings

by Alexander Clark, and on week-days some portion

of the Bible was read aloud in his straw shop. This

was early in the forties. Not long after Revs. Apple-

ton Belknap, of Framingham, and B. F. Bronson, of
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AshlaDd, and other ministers preached for a few Sun-

days in Mr. Clark's shop, seventy- five persona or more

attending the-se services. The writer is indebted to

an historical address delivered on March 16, 1879, by

Rev. H. U. Saflbrd, for most of the information con-

cerning the growth of tlie Baptist Cliiirch. He tell»

us that in 1844 Rev. I. N. Tarhox became pastor of

the Centre Congregational Church, and in 184G Rev.

Jonatlian Aldrich, of the Centre Baptist Church, and

that soon after there was a revival of religious interest

in town. A considerable number of the young men
and women connected with the straw sliops at South

Franiingham became interested and were converted.

In 1851, Elias Howe, then of Boston, built Waverley

Hall in the central part of the village, and during its

building he spoke of holding meetings in it, and upon

its completion, previous to the dedication ball, he in-

vited Rev. Mr. Olmstead, a Baptist minister, and

editor of the Watchman, then residing in Framing-

ham, to preach up(m a Sunday evening early in No-

BTember. Mr. Olmstead, being unwell, came with a

substitute in the person of Rev. S. S. Cutting, another

Baptist minister, associated with Mi. Olmstead on the

Watcliman's editorial staff, also a temporary resident

of Framingham, and he preached to a large and at-

tentive company. At the close of this meeting a call

was issued, inviting all who were interested in having

stated religious services in the village to meet to con-

sider the matter. This meeting was held in the depot

on the evening of November 18, 1851. Hon. Jo.seph

Fuller was chosen chairman, and it was voted to have

stated religious meetings. The nearness of Newton
Theological Seminary, where pulpit supplies couldbe

easily obtained, was one principal reason why it was

unanimously voted at this meeting that the preaching

should be of the Baptist faith. Waverley Hall was

hired for the meetings, and Messrs. Olmstead and

Cutting were engaged to preach half the time, alter-

nating with students from Newton Seminary. In two

days the sum of $281.50 was pledged for these meet-

ings, and the first service was held on Sunday, De-

cember 7, 1851, Rev. S. S. Cutting preaching to a

large and attentive congregation. On December 21st,

a Sunday-school was formed, having thirty-uiue

scholars at the start. During these nearly forty years

this Sunday-school has continued with but one biief

interruption one summer. Elbridge Gale was the

first superintendent, with Alexander Clark for assist-

ant. The office of superintendent has since been

filled by Alexander Clark for twenty-eight years, and

for shorter terms by Deacons Edwards and Phillips,

and Messrs. J. C. Clark, G. C. Travis, E. F. Phinney,

Rev. E. S. Wheeler, A. M. Lang, Mr. Lang holding

the oflice at present. The membership of the school

at present is 200.

Preaching was continued in Waverley Hall during

the first year, but on account of an advance in rent the

regular services were then given up, but some months

afterward Richardson's (afterwards Liberty, now Py-

thian) Hall was secured for one year. The services

had thus far been carried on by the South Framing-
ham Baptist Society. On March 17, 1854, the South

Framingham Baptist Church was organized with

twenty-two members. On SutKlay afternoon, March
2Gtli, the church was formally recognized by a council

of the Baptist churches from the neighboring towns.

Rev. B. H. Lincoln, of Bordentown, New Jersey, was
the first regular pastor, commencing his labors on

Sunday, April 9, 1854. In April, 1855, the deed was
secured for the present church location, the lot cost-

ing $1500. Subscriptions to the proposed new church
edifice were generous, and a committee, consisting of

A. Clark, F. Manson, Newell Clark and .1. Hemen-
way, was appointed to go ahead with the erection of

a church edifice. A. R. Esty, of Framingham, was
selected iis the architect, and in December of 1854

the vestry of the present building was ready for dedi-

cation, and this service was performed on the Satur-

day evening preceding the first Sabbath in January,

1855. The whole house, upon its completion, was
dedicated on Thursday afternoon, March 15, 18.55.

In the spring of 18G7 a bell costing $S00, and
weighing ItiOO pounds, was put into the belfry. Early

in 1869 a few of the families connected with the

church aided in starting the new Methodist Church,

and in January, 1873, the organization of a Congre-

gational Church drew still further from this church.

Early in 1878 the organization of a Universalist

Church drew still a little more from the attendance

;

but all these years the growth had been more than

commensurate with the drains upon the church by
deaths, removals and the formation of new ones.

The pipe-organ was put into the church by Alexander

Clark and son Willard, in 1861, and for nearly thirty

years Mr. Willard E. Clark has served as organist.

The pastors of the church have been : Rev. Brad-

ford H. Lincoln, 1854-55; Rev. Samuel W. Koljambe,

1856-58; Rev. Theron Brown, 1859-61 ; Rev. Samuel
Brooks (acting), 1862-64; Rev. Alexander M. Hig-

gins, 1865-67; Rev. Thomas T. Filmer, 1868-73; Rev.

George R. Darrow (acting), 1874-75; Rev. Henry G.

Saftbrd, 1875-84; Rev. Edwin S. Wheeler, 1884-90,

still pastor. The present church membership is 221.

Connected with this church is the new Hills Chapel

Mission at Lokerville, the handsome little chapel

having been erected in that rapidly-growing section

of the village in 1888, largely through the gift of the

late Mr. Samuel Hills and wife. A Sunday-school is

also maintained at Hills Chapel.

Connected with the J5aptist Church are the Young
Christians" Association, Ladies' Missionary Society

and the Ladies' Social Circle. The latter circle was

organized in 1851, even before the church was organ-

ized, and has been a powerful factor for good.

Through it the church was originally furnished, the

bell was bought, and many works of benevolence

have been carried out.

Methodist Episcopal Clmrch.—It was in February of
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1869 that some people of the Methodist persuasion

finitgot tiigt'ther here with a view to forming ii so-

ciety. Meeting from house to house, they were form-

ally organized at the house of Horace W. Carter on

November 5, 186^, the Quarterly Conference being

held there. Kesides the other attendants there were

at the .start twenty members in full communion.

Waverley Hall was used lus a meeting-place until

187.'\ when the Kennedy property, adjoining, was

purchased by the society, and Irving Mall became the

place of meeting. Rev. William R. Clark, D.D.,

preached the dedicatory sermon December 21, 1873.

By degrees, as the society grew, it was found that the

hall was too small for its meetings, and the project of

building a church was agitated. The Kennedy pur-

chase had grown more valuable as the town grew, the

hall was in demand for other purposes, and there wa.s

land enough adjacent to the Irving building, but a

part of their original purchase, for a suitable church

building. Under these favorable conditions the idea

of building a meeting-house grew rapidly, and in 1883

Mr. H. W. Corson, of Natick, was employed to pre-

|iare plans and build the present meeting-house,

which has a capacity for seating 250 in the audito-

rium, with parlors in the rear which can be made a

part of the auditorium by raising the sash partitioni

which is hiiii}^ on weights. Other rooms are provided

above and in the basement. The new church was

dedicated February 21, 1884, and so much has the

society since grown that it is often tested to its full

capacity. Within a month of the time of writing, a

handsome pipe-organ has been put into the church.

The full church membership is now 135, besides

twenty-five probationers. The Sunday-school now

numbers ItiO, and is steadily growing under the super-

intendency of Mr. C. T. Boynton, who has been su-

perintendent the past four years. The pastors who
have been stationed here since the society's formation

are: Rev. F. 15. Hampton, who died after preaching

two Habbaths, and Rev. J. M. Avann, 18(59; Rev.

Seth C. (?arey, 1870-72; Rev. John H. Mansfield,

1873; Rev. .loshua Gill, 1874-75, and 1879-81; Rev.

D. K. Merrill, 187(5; Rev. Phinehas Sloper, 1877;

Rev. John H. Emerson, 1878; Rev. Almon F. Hoyt,

1882; Rev. William Full, 1883-85; Rev. George E.

Sanderson, 188(5-87; Rev. A.J. Hall, 1887-88; Rev.

E. W. Virgin, 1890.

Grace Congregational Church.—The first steps

leading to the formation of this church were taken

July 11, 1872, when, by appointment, a prayer-meet-

ing was held in the ante-room of Nobscot Hall, at

which thirty persons were present. These meetings

were continued week by week and increased in at-

tendance and interest. Nov. 5th it was decided to or-

ganize a Congregational Church in South Framing-

ham, and committees were chosen to take the necessary

preliminary steps for the formation of the church and
society or parish, also to see if funds could be raised

to meet the expense of the first year.

On Dec. 1, 1872 the first regular Sabbath service

was held in Nobscot Hall, at which Rev. L. R. East-

man, .Ir., pastor of Plymouth Church, Framingham

Centre, preached. This hall, afterwards the District

Court-room, continued to Ije the place of meeting

of the church until the completion of the chapelin

January, 1874.

The church was organized January 2, 1873, as the

.South Church of Framingham, with fifty-seven mem-
bers, and recognized by a council of the neighboring

churches held that day. Of those thus uniting, thirty-

four were from Plymouth (Jhurch, Framingham,

which may be called the mother church, both from

this circumstance and from their active sympathy

and help. The Home Missionary Society was repre-

sented on the council, it being supposed that the

church would need the help of this society ; but it did

no*^, as it was self-supporting from the start.

In April, 1873, the church and society extended a

call to Rev. David M. Bean to become their pastor.

This call was accepted and he began the duties of

the [lastorate May 4th, without installation.

In July of that year the society purchased of Frank-

lin Manson the lot of land on which the church and

chapel are situated, and steps were taken at once to

erect a chapel. Jan. 29, 1874, " The Chapel " was dedi-

cated. Rev. E. K. Alden, D.D., preaching the ser-

mon. The cost of building and land was about

$8100, fully two-thirds of which was raised before

dedication, and the balance during the two years fol-

lowing. The chapel was thirty-six by sixty feet, and

would seat about 250 persons.

The pastorate of Bev. Mr. Bean was a ver}' impor-

tant period in the history of the church. It contin-

ued until August 1, 1879, for a period of a little over

six years. During this time the church enjoyed a

steady and healthy growth. It increased in mem-
bership from 67 to 133, 54 being received during this

time on confession of faith.

In .January, 1880, the place adjoining the church

property on the east was purchased with the inten-

tion of remodeling the house for a parsonage. The
total cost of the parsonage property when these

changes were made was about !F5,500.

February 12, 1880, Rev. William R. Eastman was

installed as p-istor.

Soon after the establishment in the place of the

Para Rubber Shoe Company it was apparent that the

chapel was too small, and about the Ist of January,

1873, the first steps were taken toward the building

of a church. At this time the church had been or-

ganized ten years and had a membership of 144. Mr.

L. B. Valk, of New York, was employed its architect.

The corner-stone of the building was laid August

31st, and it was completed in the following March
and dedicated the 2d day of April, free of debt,

the cost being about 810,000. The bell, costing about

$500, was the gift of Mr. George M. Amsden. The

church is about sixty by seventy feet and seats 490
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persons. The floor is bowled, and seats are arranged on

circular lines.

In November, 1886, the property adjoining the

church on the south was purchased by Elbridfre E.

Kioe for |.")500. An extension was added to the

church in the rear of the pulpit and a pipe-organ

placed therein at a total cost of about $;?80(>.

May 20, 1SS8, Rev. W. K. Easttnan presented his

resignation as pastor, to take effect September Ist.

He was regularly dismissed by a council held July

9th. During the eight and a half years of his pa.stor-

ate seventy-four persons were received on confession

of faith and the church increased in numliers from

132 to 245.

The Rev. Frederick E. Kmrich commenced his la-

bors as pastor February 7, 1889, the church having ex-

tended him a call to become their pastor for one year.

December 19, 1884, the church incorporated as Grace

Congregational Church, and the property of the

society was soon after transferred to the new organiza-

tion. January 29, 1890, Rev. F. E. Emrich was

installed by council as the pastor of the church. As

the result in part of a series of special meetings forty-

one persons were received into the church on confes-

sion of faith from January 1, 1890 to the July commun-

ion, and the total membership has increased from

251 to 313. The attendance at the church services

has so increased that there is a great demand for

more sittings, and a movement is now on foot (July,

1890) for enlarging the church and providing better

accommodation for the Sunday-school, for which

purpose it is proposed to raise .$10,000.

The seats in the church have always been free

(that is, not sold or leased), and the expenses have

been met by a system of voluntary offerings. Four-

fifths of the seats have been assigned to those desiring

regular seats, the balance being reserved for strangers.

The following have served the church as deacons :

Andrew Coolidge, 1873-80; Simeon H. Williams,

1873-81 ; Benjamin T. Thompson, 1878-80,-'82-85,'87
;

Charles H. Emerson, 1880-82; Edwin A. Freese,

1880-83
; Fred. L. Oaks, 1881-84, 86, '89

; Frederick

J. Stevens, 1883-86, '88—Fred. W. Taft, 1884-87,'89—

Sampson Bridges, 1885-88, '90.

The Sunaay-school was organized as soon as the

church was started. Its present membership is over

450. The average attendance in 1889 was 244, and

for the first half of 1890 over 280. The present sup-

erintendent is Dr. (Jeorge Rice. A full list of those

who have held the office is as follows: Wm. W.
Wood, 1873 ; Geo. L. Clapp, 1874-75; Frank A. Day,

1876 and January to September, 1880; Geo. B. Over-

hiser, 1877 ; Dr. George Rice, 1878-79, 1889-90; Fred.

L. Oaks, September to December, 1880, 1881-82, 1887-

88; Frederick J. Stevens, 1883-86. Other societies

connected with the church are as follows : the

Ladies' Association, a social and home missionary

organization, formed April 14, 1874 ; the Ladies'

Foreign Missionary Society, organized February 10,

1875 ; theYoung People's Society of Christian Endeav-

or, organized December 4, 1883 ; the Junior Society

of Christian Endeavor, organized October 27, 1884;

the Gleaner, a children's missionary society, organ-

ized in 1884.

Roiii'in Catholic.—St. Stephen's Roman Catholic

Church is the largest and handsomest in the village.

The first movement to provide a place of worsliip in

this village for Roman Catholics was in 1876, when
meetings were held in Waverlcy Hall, Rev. A. J.

Rossi, of St. George's Parish, Saxonville, being in

charge of the movement. Asa result, the old Sax-

onville Parish was divided, and St. Bridget's Parish

was established in July, 1877, the church edifice at

Framingham Centre, built by the Universalists and

afterwards used by the Episcopalians, being pur-

chased. This still left South FrHminglmm Catholics

without a local place of worshii), all attending St.

l?ridget's Church at the Centre. In 1878 Rev. .Tohn

S. (Uillen, who was rector of St. Bridget's, started a

mission in Waverley Hall, the Catholic population

then in the village numbering about .300 souls, in-

cluding infants. The meetings were well sustained,

and as the village grew, so did the parish. The es-

tablishment here of the Para Rubber Shoe Co.'s busi-

ness in 1882 had an electrical effect upon this parish,

as indeed it had upon the whole village, and the hall

accommodations were soon inadequate to the demands

upon them. The new St. Stephen's Parish was set

off from St. Bridget's, and formally organized by it-

self in May, 1883. A centrally located church site

was purchased of Augustus Richardson, on Concord

Street, and plans were made for a new church edifice.

The corner-stone was laid December 16, 1883, in the

presence of 1000 people, the stone being blessed and

laid by Vicar-General Wm. Byrne, D.D., Archbishop

Williams being at the time in Rome. The sermon

was preached by Rev. P. A. McKenna, of Hudson.

On Christmas Day, 1884, the new building was oc-

cupied for the first time. It was built by A. Fales &
Sons, of this village, P. W. Ford, of Boston, being the

architect. It seats about 1000 people. A deep-toned

bell was afterwards put in the tower, and a very fine

pipe-organ was put into the church in 1887. A new

cemetery, consisting of twenty-four acres, beautifully

situated between this village and Saxonville, was pre-

pared in 1888-89. and consecrated on November 8,

1889. A lot of land has been bought on Clinton Street,

near the church, upon which a handsome parochial

residence is to be erected at once, the plans being al-

ready prepared. There are now about 3000 parishion-

ers, and a flourishing Sunday-school has an attend-

ance of about 450. The church has a large and

well-trained choir. Connected with the parish is the

Ladies' Sodality of the Blessed Virgin, with about 75

members, the League of the Sacred Heart, the St.

Stephen's Cadete, an organization of about 240 chil-

dren, who are pledged to total abstinence from intox-

icating liquors until they reach their majority, and
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who are alao pledged to avoid profanity, and respect

God's name. Father Ciilleii's as'-iatantn have been

Rev. J. J. Nilaii, fur three yearo from 1879 ;
Rev. J.

A. Ddiiiii'lly, fi>r nine months fullowing; Rev. E. P.

Allen, D.D., I'or two years ; Rev. J. W. Galligan, for

five years, until July, 1889; and Rev. D. C. Riordan,

the present assistant rector, from that time. Be-

sides the large St. Stephen's Purish, Fr. Cullen also

has charge of St. Bridget's at Franiingham Cen-

tre, he and his assistant dividing the work between

them, and they also conduct religion.? services each

Sunday at the Sherborn Reformatory for Women,

which is partly in South Franiingham. It is probable

that a second assistant will soon be needed.

riiii-enni/int C/iiinh.—The First Universalist So-

ciety in South Franiingham was started in Novem-

ber, 1877. For one year it worshipped in Nobscot

Hall (now the District Court-room) and then removed

to Liberty Hall, where it worshipped two years. The

pretty little church edifice now occupied by the

society was built and dedicated by this people, the

services of dedication being on November 9, 1882.

The church, built of wood, with a tower and steeple

containing a bell, has a seating capacity of about 250.

The " First Univcrfalist Parish of South Framing-

ham" was organized April 28, 1878, with twenty-

seven members, choosing as officers : Moderator,

Adolphus Merriam ; Clerk and Treasurer, S. G.

Davenport; Standing Committee, Daniel Hewes,

John Hemenway, F. P. Stearns—" these five officers

to constitute the trustees of the parish." Rev. W.
A. Start, of Cambridge, secretary of the Massachu-

setts Universalist Convention, was the founder of the

society, and he supplied the pulpit until Rev. Albert

Hammalt came, he being ordained October 13, 1880.

Rev. W. W. Hayward was settled over the parish

December 11, 1883, and the present pastor, Rev. W.
F. Potter, took charge of the parish in May, 1889.

The Sunday-school was organized soon after the

society, and for nine years Mr. B. F. Merriam has

been its superintendent. Its membership is about

100. Connected with the society are a Ladies' Asso-

ciation, a circle of King's Daughters, and a circle of

Sisters of Bethany among the children.

Episcopal Mksion—St. Andrew's Episcopal Mis-

sion was started in the Methodist Church in 1884,

preaching services being held at first once a month,

with Sunday-school every Sunday afternoon. Rev.

Frank S. Harraden, rector of St. John's Church,

Framingham Centre, was in charge of the movement.
Meetings were subsequently held in G. A. R. Hall,

then in Liberty Hall, and early in 1887 the mission

began to hold its meetings in the Universalist Church,

arrangements being made with the latter society for

the use of the church for a part of each Sunday.
About 1886 there was an agitation in the mission for

a church edifice of their own, and Mr. R. M. Everit,

of New Haven, a large land-owner in this village,

made the people a present of a good building lot for

a church, but the movement for building has been

abandoned for the present. Mr. Harraden departed

for another field in 1889, and October 1st, of that year,

Rev. Arthur Hess became rector of St. John's Church

at the Centre, with the same charge over the mission

at South Framingham. The mission now has about

seventy-five adherents, with a membership of forty in

the Sunday-school. There is a Ladies' Aid Society,

and a social circle among the young people called

The South Framingham Guild.

The Presbyterian Church.— It was on .Tune 13, 1S8G,

that the first Presbyterian tervices were held in town,

the place being Grand Army or " Irving" Hall, in

this village, where both the Methodist and Episcopal

missions had previously worshiped. Rev. Edward

Hunting Rudd, a Princeton student, took charge of

the work for the first three months, starting the first

meeting, and showing marked ability for his work.

That the movement had the endorsement of the

other churches in the town may be judged from the

fact that at this first service the Methodist organist

played the organ, and the Baptist choir led the sing-

ing, while at subsequent meetings the pastors of most

of the other churches participated in the services.

One week after this first service a Sunday-school was

started. After Mr. Rudd's departure the pulpit was

filled from time to time by Rev. W. L. Cunningham,

of New Jersey ; Rev. S. E. Lane, D.D., of South

Framingham; Rev. James W. Flagg, of Vermont;

Rev. J. A. McDonald, of Nova Scotia, and others.

The church was formally organized on December 8,

1886, with twenty-three members, when the commis-

sion appointed by the Boston Presbytery for that pur-

pose was present. It took the name of the " First

Presbyterian Church of South Framingham." On
June 11, 1887, the church called Rev. James W.
Flagg, of South Ryegate, Vermont, to be its pastor,

and Mr. Flagg was installed over his new charge on

October 12, 1887. Under his guidance the church

has grown steadily, having now a membership of

eighty-five. The Sabbath-school numbers seventy-

five scholars and ten officers and teachers, and has

had Mr. Charles W. Waller for its superintendent from

the first. Up to July 1, 1887, the society worshiped

in Grand Army Hall, but at that time removed to

larger quarters in Pythian Hall in Liberty Block.

In July of 1889 a movement was started looking to

the building of a new church. Over $1000 was sub-

scribed on one Sabbath by the members, and Messrs.

T. L. and E. L. Sturtevant presented the society for

a church site a fine corner-lot on the corner of Hol-

lis and Winthrop Streets. On that site the founda-

tion and under-pinning is all completed for a com-

fortable edifice, having the main auditorium rais^ed a

few feet above the street, with vestry, parlors and

other rooms below. It is expected the new edifice

will be built before winter. There is a Young Peo-

ple's Christian Endeavor Society connected with the

church, which is doing good work.
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Societies, Associations and Clubs.— South

Franiingham,like most other large towns, does not lack

for representatives of the many fraternal, benevolent

and social societies. Among these socieiies the Ma-

sonic is the oldest. Middlesex Lodge, at Framing-

ham Centre, was organized in 17115, and all through

till' dark days of the persecutions of the order never

missed indding a meeting. It still holds in its mem-

bership many South Framingham men, and under

the present Master, Walter Adams, Esq., ha.s been

particularly prosperous ; but as the latter village

grew, and before the days of horse-oars in town, it was

found inconvenient for a large body of men to go two

miles to the Centre to the meetings, and so it came

about that

AlphaLodge,A. F. and A. M., was instituted in South

Framingham, in 1875, the first meeting for organiza-

tion being on September 2S(,h of that year, the place

being Irving, (since known as G. A. R.) Hall. There

were 25 charter members, and the membership now

is 107. The Past Masters have been W. H. Phipps,

by dispfensation, and the following by election : Chas.

P. Knowlton, Chas. F. Cutler, L. M. Butler, N. L.

Sawtelle, Alexander Hoyt, F. M. Pratt, L. M. Pal-

mer, and the present Worshipful Master is Fred. L.

Oaks. Edgar Potter is secretary. Meetings have

been held the past few years in Odd Fellows' Hall

;

but Masonic Hall, in the new Smith Block, has just

been fitted up by the lodge. The regular meetings

are held the second Wednesday evening of each

month.

Concord Royal Arch Chapter, A. F. and A. M., was

organized at Concord in 1826, but removed to Fram-
ingham in 1852. It is made up to-day of Masons
from both Middlesex Lodge, at Framingham Centre,

and Alpha Lodge, at South Framingham. Joseph

Drew Thomas, of South Framingham, is the present

Most Excellent High Priest, and Edwin Moultrop, of

Framingham, is secretary. The Chapter is noted for

its fine work. It meets at South Framingham.
A Chapter of the Order of the Eastern Star, a la-

dies' auxiliary to the Masonic bodies, has recently

lieen formed, and has 48 members. It has been

named Orient Chapter. Mrs. Ann M. Hooker is

Worthy Matron, and A. J. Heath, Secretary.

Framingham Lodge, No. 45, I. 0. 0. F., was char-

tered Augu.st 29, 1844, first meeting in Saxon ville,

but gave up its charter June 1, 1853. It was rein-

stituted in South Framingham, February 24, 1875,

since which time it has held regular meetings every

Wednesday evening. It now has 180 members.

Wright Summers is Noble Grand, and Charles E.

Mather, Recording Secretary. The lodge has fine

quarters in Odd Fellows' Block, the handsome brick

block being owned by the Odd Fellows' Building As-

sociation.

Wanshakum Encampmeyit, No. 52, /. 0. 0. F., was

organized May 3, 1877, having then eight members.

It now has 115 members, arid meets in Odd Fellows'

Hall tiie first «iid third Fridays of each month. F.

W. Bridges is Chief Patriarch, and C. H. Bridges,

Scribe.

Fidelily Degree Lodge, Daughters of Rebecca, auxili-

ary to the t)dd Fellows, was instituted May 14, 1886,

wiili a membership of ()0. It now has 202 members,

and a very fine paraphernalia. It meets the second

and fourth Friday evenings in the month, in Odd Fel-

lows' Hall. Mrs. E. H. Martin is Noble Gran<i, and

Mrs. J. B. Robie, Secretary.

Pericles Lodge, No. 4, Knights of Pythias, was insti-

tuted in Odd Fellows' Hall, on Nov. 5, 1885, with 25

charter members. It afterwards removed for a time

to G. A. R. Hall, and in 1887 leased and fitted up

Pythian Hall, in Liberty Block, which it now occu-

pies and controls, and sub-leases to other organiza-

tions. Albert A. Jackson is Chancellor Commander,
and H. F. Hamilton, Keeper of Records and Seal.

The lodge now has a membership of 110 in good

standing.

Mizpah Ax.scmbly, No. 6, Pythian iSisterhond, was or-

ganized March 14, 1889, with 12 charier members.

At present the membership is 23. It holds meetings

twice a month in Pythian Hall. Mrs. J. H. Saffbrd

is Chancellor Commander, and Miss E. L. Kittredge,

Keeper of Records and Seal. This Assembly is aux-

iliary to the Knights of Pythias.

Plymouth Rock Council, No. 37, Order of United

American Mechanics, was instituted November 26,

1888, with 45 members, and now has 90 members,

meeting every Monday evening in Masonic Hall, in

Smith Block. E. A. Temple is Councilor, and H. E.

Miller, Recording Secretary.

Netiis Tribe, No. 43, Independent Order of Red Men,

was instituted June 13, 1887, with 20 charter mem-
bers. It was instituted in Odd Fellows' Hall, where

for some little time it held its meetings, afterwards

meeting in Pythian Hall for three years. Since July

1, 1890, it has met in the new Masonic Hall, in Smith

Block. The tribe has already shown steady growth,

and now has a membership of 128. It has a good

paraphernalia, and does good work in the exemplifi-

cation of the degrees. Otis Cutting is Sachem, and

David H. Durand, Keeper of Records.

Waimeta Council, No. 29, Degree of Pocahontas, an

auxiliary to the Red Men, was instituted November

14, 1889, having then forty-seven members. The

membership is now seventy-five, and it meets twice a

month, firstatid third Fridays, in Masonic Hall. Mrs.

A. D. Leland is Worthy Pocahontas, and Mrs. Mary

E. Porter, Secretary.

Gen. J. G.Foster Poxl No. 1G3, G. A. A'., was instituted

March 25, 1884, with thirty members. It now has a

membership of seventy, all well uniformed, and main-

tains a cosy G. A. R. Hall, which it sublets to other

societies. It meets thesecondand fourth Tuesday even-

ings in the month. Capt. E. F. Phinney Is commander,

and Maj. J. M. Wiswell, adjutant. Previous to the

organization of Foster Post, D. Brigham Eames Post,
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No. 142, existed iit South Framiiighaui. It was

ittartwl in tlic winter of 18()i»-70, but allerwiinls moved

to Saxoiivlllf, ami its iianit- was changod to HurnHide

Post.

O'fii. J. <•'. Foster Camp f>V, Sons of Vetiraiu, was

organized March 5, 188t>, with thirteen members, and

at the present time ha.i forty-tive. It meets the second

and liiurth Thursday evenings in the month, iu G. A. R.

Hall. Wni. O'Callahan is captain, and 8. Kred. Wil-

son, lirst sergeant. The Oamp is well uniformed and

well drilled.

den. J. G. Ihslcr Woman's Jielicf Corps was organ-

ized May 10, 1884, with twelve members, and now

has seventy-five. It is an independent corps, and has

been a power for good in its chosen work, and a most

valuable au.xiliary to the " boys in blue." It meets the

first and third Tuesdays in G. A. K. Hall. Mrs. E. F.

Phinney is president, and Mrs. M. E. Porter, secre-

tary.

Garfield Council, No. 857, Boyal Arcanum, was in-

stituted in G. A. R. Hall, September 25, 1884, with

fourteen charter members. The membership is now

thirty-nine. It meets the second and fourth Friday

evenings in the month in Pythian Hall. O. J. Mc-

Pherson is Regent, and E. S. Twichel, Secretary.

Trimount Lodge, No. 670, Knights of Honor, was in-

stituted June 15, 1877, with fourteen members and

now has twenty-six members. Meetings are held the

first and third Mondays in the month in G. A.R.Hall.

E. A. Johnson is Dictator, and W. M. Ranney, Re-

porter.

Framingham Council, No. 1163, American Legion of

Honor, was instituted September 19, 1883, with thirty-

two charter members, and now numbers seventy-eight

members. It meets the second and fourth Monday
evenings of the month in G. A. R. Hall. A. A.Jackson

is Commander, and W. K. Ephlin, Secretary.

Framingham Commandery, No. 400, United Order

Golden Gross, was instituted July 17, 1889, with thirty-

one members, the membership at present being

twenty-eight. Meetings are held in G. A. R. Hall

the first and third Wednesday evenings of each

month. O. A. Hemenway is Noble Commander and

H. F. Nichols, Keeper of Records.

Lalreriew Colony, United Order of the Pilgrim Fathers,

was instituted September 13, 1888, with twenty-seven

members and now has thirty-five. Meetings are held

in G. A. R. Hall the first and third Thursday even-

ings in each month. Mr. F. F. Stacey is Governor,

and Mrs. M. E. Newton, Secretary.

Local Branch, No. 979, Order of the Iron Hall, was
instituted February 13, 1889, with thirty members.
It has since had sixty members, but the membership
now is forty-eight. George M. Farrar is Chief Justice,

and Asa D. Forbes, Accountant. Meetings are held

the first and third Friday evenings in the month in

G. A. R. Hall.

Gen. Nixon Commander-y, No. 33, People's Five Tears'

Benefit Order, was organized in October of 1889. It

nad then, and still has, forty members. W. F. Rich-

ardson is Worthy Commander, and Edward F. Phin-

ney, Worthy Secretary. It meets monthly in G. A. R.

Hall.

Linden Lodge, Independent Order of Good Templars,

was organized September 16, 1889, with twenty-seven

members, and now has ninety, with an ambition to

be the best lodge in the State. Meetings are held in

G. A. R. Hall every Saturday evening. J. A. C.

Hamil is Chief Templar, and E. B. Parsons, Sec-

retary.

Division 30, Ancient Order of Hiberniani>, was or-

ganized June 11, 1884, with twenty-three members,

and now has eighty-five. Meetings are held on Sun-

days, in A. O. H. Hall. James W. Burk is President,

and W. O'Mally, Secretary.

Morning Star, Temple of Honor, No. 28, was organ-

ized in October, 1884, with twenty-five members, and

now has thirty. It meets in G. A. R. Hall, the second

and fourth Friday evenings of the month. Geo. 0.

Blades is Worthy Chief Templar, and Geo. L. Clapp,

Worthy Recorder.

The Woriian'a Christian Temperance Union was or-

ganized March 1, 1878. It has seventy-five members.

Mrs. S. J. Wakefield is president, and Mrs. W. A.

Bailey, secretary.

The Loyal Temperance Legion, comprising children

of from ten to sixteen years old, was organized in

March, 1889, with thirty-eight members. The mem-
bership is now 240, and meetings are held every

Tuesday afternoon, except in vacation time. Henry
Hilton is president, and Miss Evelyn Stearns, secre-

tary. Mrs. W. W. Pease is chorister.

St. Stephen's Total Abstinence Society was organized

Jan. 6, 1885, with thirty members and now has one

hundred. Meetings are held Sunday afternoons in

their hall in Liberty Block. David T. Flynn is pres-

ident and John J. Gannon, secretary. An ofl-shoot

from the society is the company of St. Stephen's Ca-

dets, a handsomely uniformed and well-drilled com-

pany of young men.

The Union Associates were organized in November,

1883, with twenty members for social purposes. The
membership now is fifty, and new rooms are being

prepared in the Tribune Building. The regular busi-

ness meetings are held monthly, but the rooms are

open for members every day and evening. William

O'Callahan is president and Arthur Miller, secretary.

The Catholic Union was organized for literary and

social improvement in February, 1890, with thirty

members, and now has forty. Meetings are held on

Thursday evenings in St. Stephen's Hall. James J.

McCloskey is president, and Thomas R. Hill, secre-

tary.

The Framingham Club, the leading social organiza-

tion of the town, was organized about the first of 1890,

being incorporated on March 11th, with ninety mem-
bers. The membership now is 114. Chas. E. Haber-

stroh is president and Chas, Bulle, secretary. The

i
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club-rooms are in Smith Block, and are open to mem-

bers every day and evening in the year.

The Commercial Club wiis organized in February,

188S, its membership being limited to twenty-five.

Thomas L. Barber is president, and R. L. Everit is

secretary. The club's room is in Liberty Block.

The Framiiigham Historical and Natural History

Society was organized March 31, 1888, with twenty

members, and now has eighty. C. A. Belknap is

president, Willard Howe, secretary, and Edgar Pot-

ter, curator. The object of the society is the collec-

tion and preservation of articles relating to and illus-

trating the history of Framingham and vicinity ; nat-

ural and scientific curiosities; specimens of natural

history ; recording and preserving items of passing

events that may become items of interest in the fu-

ture, and the erection of a building as a safe reposi-

tory of the same. The society's quarters, with its

collection, are at the residence of Willard Howe on

Concord Street.

The Framingham Dramatic Club is an association

formed in May, 1890. Austin W. Phipps is manager

and Miss Fleda Brown, secretary. The object is the

presentation of local dramatics, and the club meets

in Elmwood Opera-TIouse.

The Framingham Medical Society was organized

December 29, 1887, with ten members. It is an asso-

ciation of physicians from this and surrounding

towns, the membership, at present, being fourteen.

Meetings are held monthly on the first Tuesday at

the houses of members.

The Framingham Hospital is the result of some

years of agitation, and the society is now incorporated

under a charter from the Legislature of 1890, with

the right to hold 850,000 wort'n of real and personal

property. Active steps will soon be taken to make
the organization, of practical benefit to the community.

The Framingham Drill Club is an organization of

young men and boys, most of whom are students in

the schools of the town, and the objeruis chiefly phy-

sical improvement. The club comprises about eighty

members, and is divided into two companies, making

a small school batallion. Out of compliment to

Supt. Luke R. Landy, of the State muster-field at this

]>lace, who was chiefly instrumental in organizing

them, the boys voted to be known as "The Landy
Cadets." The boys are uniformed, have regular

drills, and are allowed under the school law to carry

arms. Their drill-master has been Lieutenant Hun-
ter, of Company L, of the Ninth Regiment, of Natick,

and under his instructions the boys have come to a

high degree of proficiency in drill, with a corre-

sponding improvement in their general carriage.

The Woman's Club was organized in May of 1889

with twenty-three members, and now has thirty-five,

rhe object is mutual improvement along an intellec-

tual line, and it meets fortnightly on Tuesday after-

noons. Mrs. Sewell Fisher is president and Mrs. C.

F. Beard, secretary.

The Framingham Art Club was organized May 1

,

1890, with thirty members, ami now has forty. Mra.

C. F. Beard is president and .Mrs. O. U. Fuller,

secretary. The studio is in Smith Block and lessons

are given three times a week. .\t present instruction

is chiefly confined to drawing and painting, but other

branches of art will be taken up in time. It is de-

signed to give exhibitions from time to time, and to

establish an evening art school.

Waushakum Brass Band waa formed in the spripg

of 1888, and is finely uniformed. The membership
is twenty-eight. Ed. S. Hemenway is leader. The
band- room is in Union Block.

Elmwood Bugle, Fife and ]>rum Corps was organized

Oct. 20, 1880, and numbers fifteen musicians, well

uiiiform('<l. W. E. Walters is captain. Meetings are

held in Alpha Rink.

The South Middlesex Driving Association was organ-

ized in May, 1890, and its track is at the grounds of

the Middlesex South Agricultural Association, in

this village. The track is kept in good condition for

practice, and occasionally trotting races are held,

with liberal purses to the winners. C. J. Fillmore is

secretary of the association, L. P. Sleeper is track

manager. The directors are II. S. Drake, J. H. Jordan,

E. L. Deschamps.

The Middlesex South Agricultural Society, which was

organized in 1854, formerly held its fairs at Framing-

ham Centre, but in 1809 twenty-five acres were

bought on Union Avenue, in this village, and con-

venient exhibition buildings established there, as well

as a half-mile trotting track, the whole at a cost of

$16,000. Since then a few acres have been sold, but

the grounds and buildings are in excellent condition,

and the annual exhibitions in September are largely

attended. Each year.SOOO is received from the State

for premiums, nearly twice that amount being offered

exhibitors. The annual meetings are held the first

Monday in December. N. B. Douglas, of Sherborn,

is president, and Samuel B. Bird, of Framingham,

secretary.

The Firemen's Mutual Relief Association was organ-

ized January 21, 1889, among the firemen of the town

for the objects which its name implies. William H.

Burke is president, and George T. Fuller, secretary.

There are about 40 members. Quarterly meetings

are held on the first Monday evenings of January,

April, July and October.

The South Framingham Bcu^e Ball Association, main-

tains grounds on Concord Street, which are fenced

in, and on which baseball and other athletic sports

are held. Frank E. Farrar is man.ager of the asso-

ciation, and Russell M. French, treasurer.

A Nationalist Club has been started, July, 1890,

with C. A. Simpson, president, and W. D. Mc Pherson,

secretary.

J'he Industrial Unions.—The industrial unions (if

the town are quite well organized, and hold regular

meetings. Among these unions in the village are the
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Carpenters' and Joiners', Painters' and Decorators',

Lasters' Protective, lutcriiatiomil Leather-Workers',

RubberWorlcerB', Brotherhood of Railroad Brake-

men, Traiiniieii's Protective Association.

Among the orRanizations which have lately gone

out of exirttence in the village are:

The Citizens' AsMciatiun, a body of gentlemen seek-

ing to improve the growth and prosperity of the town,

was organized l-'ebruary 8, 1886, but died after two

years, although accomplishing much good in that

time.

The Literary Society was started in March, 1875,

with fifty members, and had over one hundred mem-

bers afterwards. It was very prosperous for ten years,

but in 188(3 surrendered, giving the money in its

treasury—about SoO—to the Choral Union.

The Choral Union, organized in 1884, existed be-

tween four and five years, and had a marked eflfect

upon the musical culture of the town. Concerts were

given from time to time, but, like many another good

thing, it finally succumbed to lack of interest.

ButilNESS Inteuestis.—As a business centre, South

Framingham has already achieved considerable dis-

tinction. It ia the .natural centre of a circle of

twenty-five or thirty miles, within whose radius are a

score or more of thriving towns. We have seen that

it is on two main lines of railway with their branches

;

being situated twenty miles west of Boston, twenty

miles east of Worcester, twenty-five miles south of

Fitchburg and Lowell and thirty miles north of

Taunton. Moat of the village is of level land, and

the business part is considerably cut up with railroad

tracks, affording numerous sites for manufacturing

establishments. Unlike many towns, this one is not

tribute to any other town or city, but is an independ-

ent community, rapidly growing from its own re-

sources. Previous to 1840 there were but a few strag-

gling houses each side of the Boston and Worcester

Railroad track. The development of the straw-hat

and bonnet industry in the "forties" drew outsiders

in, until in war time we find that business flourishing

in town, and there was practically no other manu-

facturing business here.

The bonnet business which had been begun by

Mrs. Lovell Fames in 1825, and enlarged by her son,

Horace, who took charge in 1830, was purchased by

Franklin Manson in 1840, and carried on until 1864

by him, when it was sold to Curtis H. Barber, who
subsequently took his son, Thomas L., in with him.

To-day this large business is carried on by T. L.

Barber & Company, at a finely appointed factory on

Park Street, which year by year has been extended

and improved. In the busy season about four hun-

dred employees are kept at work, one hundred and

forty of whom are men, the rest women. The product

is ladies' straw-hats in different styles, and the firm

has a very high reputation for fine work. The sales-

rooms are with Messrs. Gotthold & Company, 561-563

Broadway, New York.

Mr. Temple, in his " History of Framingham," has

told of the connection of Alexander and WiUard E.

Clark in the business, also of Augustus and George

Richardson, George P. Metcalf and H. K. White.

The firm which succeeded these latter gentleman was

(A.) Richardson & Crafts. This firm was succeeded

by the new firm of Crafts, Emmons & Billings ; this

in turn by Emmons & Billings, with a change later

on to H. O. Billings & Co., and still later, in 1888,

by the prcHent firm of Staples & Smalley. These

latter gentlemen came from Westboro', leasing the

factory of Mr. Billings. About the 1st of December,

1887, a large part of this factory was burned, but Mr.

Billings, with great enterprise, set about rebuilding,

and by dint of hard work on the part of a large force

of men, night and day, in .about two weeks a large

and better factory than any of its predecessors stood

finished. Messrs. Fales & Sons, belonging here, were

the builders. This great speed was necessitated on

account of the busy season at the factory. In recog-

nition of Mr. Billings' enterprise and his determina-

tion to keep the busiiiess in town when outside par-

ties had offered him inducements to remove elsewhere,

250 of the business men of the town tendered him a

complimentary banquet, which probably has never

been equaled by any other similar event in the town.

This factory now employs in the busy season about

250 hands.

The largest industry in the town to-day is that of

the Pard Rubber-Shoe Company, of which A. L. Coo-

lidge, of Boston, is president, and J. L. Stickney,

treasurer. It was in 1881 that this company was

formed in Boston with a capital stock of $300,000, in-

creased a few months afterwards to $500,000, and still

later to $1,000,000. Certain enterprising gentlemen

here saw the opportunity to secure the industry for

the town, and shortly the terms were arranged. By
these terms a company known as the South Framing-

ham Manufacturing Company was formed in town to

put up the buildings and lease them to the Para Com-
pany. The total cost of the land and buildings was

$101,000. They were completed early in 1882 and

occupied. The officers of the building company are:

Franklin Manson, president; Sidney A. Phillips,

Esq., clerk ; Willard Howe, treasurer. The plant is

well located, but a few minutes' walk from the post-

office and railroad station, covers fifteen acres, and is

on the line of the Boston and Albany Railroad, from

which a spur track runs into the factory yard and by
the large store-houses. The average number of em-
ployees is about 1000, divided between both sexes.

Joseph D. Thomas is superintendent, and he has had

a large experience in the rubber business in this and
foreign countries. Until recently the company made
rubber clothing as a part of its product, but this

branch of the business has been discontinued and at-

tention paid wholly to footwear. The product em-
braces all grades, from the heavy lumbermen's boots

to the finest and most highly-finished ladies' rubbers.
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Some of these latter are finished with fancy cloth,

silk or satin and fur-tipped tops. The ordinary arctics

and rubbers are made, as well as a line of fine tennis

shoes. Messrs. Houghton, Coolidge & Co., of Boston,

are the selling agents. The Para pay-roll amounts to

about i?10,000 per week, and about 14,000 pairs of

boots and shoes are made daily. There are over five

acres of floor space in the establishment. The largest

steam-engine is of 1000 horse-power.

The Gossamer Rubber Clothing Company began work

here in 1875, their plant—all brick buildings—being

located on the line of the Boston & Albany Railroad.

Messrs. Ira M. and Wra. H. Conant, of Boston, com-

prise the company, and T. H. Videto is superintend-

ent. The Boston office is at 300 Federal Street. The

South F'ramingham plant is valued at about $75,000.

The Messrs. Conant were the pioneers in this business,

and this is believed to be the oldest gossamer company

in the country, and the facilities are such that a larger

product can be turned out than from any other rubber'

clothing mill. All qualities of rubber cloth for clothing

are made, from the common cotton to the richest silks.

About twenty hands are employed in the coating de-

partment, and some 300 girls are employed in the

Boston department, making the cloth into clothing.

Gregory & Co.'s Boot Factory, which is the second

largest industry in town, and one of the largest boot

factories in New England, was established here in

1882. At that time the firm was known as Bridges &
Co., and it was only on January 1, 1890, that Mr. D. T.

Bridges retired from the head of the concern, after

having been connected with it for forty-three years,

and being a partner for thirty-three years. The busi-

ness was originally located in Hopkinton, and had

twice been burned out before it was finally decided to

locate at South Framingham on account of its

superior business facilities. On April 24, 1885, the

new factory was half destroyed by fire, a brick par-

tition wall saving the rear half. The burned part

was immediately rebuilt. The factory stands on high

ground, but a few rods from the Boston & Albany Rail-

road, from which it has a special track; 240x40 feet

is the ground size, and four stories above a high

basement, the height. Store-houses and other build-

ings atford additional facilities. The goods made are

mostly of the heavier kinds, although many of them

are handsomely finished. The firm comprises N. P.

Coburn, of Newton ; ex-Gov. William Claflin, of New-
ton ; James A. Woolson, of Cambridge ; D. T. Bridges,

W. F. Gregory, Oliver B. Root, of Framingham.

Five of the foremen have been with the concern an

average of over thirty-five years, and many of the

employees have worked for the firm a long time. The
usual number of employees is about 400, although

more can be accommodated, and are employed at

times.

Williams' Box Factory was located in the "Old

Stone Mill," on Howard Street, in 1870, the firm-

name then being Fales & Williams. The firm car-

ried on a general building and wood-working busi-

ness, but dissolved partnership in 1875, when Mr.
Abner Fales continued the building business, and
Mr. S. H. Williams the mill business. Tlie box
business finally outgrew the " Old Stone Jlill," and
.Mr. Williams erected a model plant a short distance

away, the Old Colony Railroad, beside which the mill

stands, putting a spur track into the mill yard. This
new mill, three stories high, was built by A. Fales &
Sons in 188ij, and occupied in January of 1887. It

is fitted with the most modern machinery for sawing
the logs into boards, planing them, and manufactur-
ing packing-boxes for the rubber boot and shoe and
other factories in the neighborhood. About thirty

men are employed, and 12,000 to 15,000 feet of boards

are made into boxes daily. The mill is ruti by steam-

power.

The Framingham Box Company was started in Feb-
ruary of 188i). Previous to that, about the 1st of

.\ugust, 1888, Mr. S. G. Damren started a paper-box

factory here, being located on the third floor of S. H.
Williams' box factory. After running it for a few
months he was obliged to go to Maine oti other busi-

ness, and the box business was sacrificed. It had
been shown, however, that such a business could live

in town, and so a company was incorporated with

$5000 capital, all paid in, and Mr. J. W. Jones, who
had been Mr. Dararen's foreman, was secured as gen-

eral manager, being also a stockholder. J. J. Valen-

tine is president of the company, and W. M. Ranney,
treasurer. The company, which started with ten

hands, now keeps thirty constantly employed, mak-
ing 5000 boxes daily. While shoe-boxes are a special-

ty, almost every variety of paper-boxes are made,
some of them being very handsome. Mr. Jones is

one of the most progressive box-makers in the coun-

try, and the business is rapidly growing under his

management.

A. M. Barnes & Co., wheel manufacturers. Alfred

M. Eames began making wheel-hubs in the basement
of Union Block :n 1871, and continued that business

'intil 1877, when he enlarged the business, going into

the manufacture of wheels. His brother, Edwin A.,

had, in company with Geo. W. Bigelow and C. C.

E?ty, been manufacturing wheels in Union Block,

under the firm-name of Eames, Bigelow & Co., their

business being transferred to the Framingham Wheel
Co. in 1874, the latter company discontinuing busi-

ness in 1882. Edwin was a very fine wheel-maker,

and is to-day, and became superintendent of Alfred's

business, which in 1877 employed but three men but

now employs abouttwelve, making all sizes of wheels,

but making a specialty of the highest grade of light

carriage wheels, supplying the best carriage-makers in

New England. A large business is also done in

rims, spokes and hubs. The buildings include two
three-story factories, boiler and engine-house and sev-

eral store-houses. Both brothers have been in the wheel
business constantly from boyhood. Edwin went to
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Worcoster at the iige of iiiiioU't'ii, :imi in tour years

was I'oreiiiHiioflhcithop, in wliich capiiL-ity he remain-

ed seven or eight years, coming to Soutli Franiiiigbam

and starting the linn of Eanies, Bigelosv & Co. in 1870.

.

Alfred was superiutendcnt of the Toledo Wheel Co.,

coming here in 1870 and starting businesx. About

1874 Edwin went to West Chester, Pa., where he was

foreman for one year, then going to Elizabeth, N. J.,

where he wils foreman for live years. In 1881 he went

to Paris and fitted up with the latest improved ma-

chinery one of the largest wheel concerns in Europe.

The Framitigham Electric Company is now an im-

portant factor iu the town's economy. Mr. S. O.

Daniels, a native of this town, but afterwards a busi-

ness man of Isatick, had established an electric light-

ing plant in the latter town, and on December 23,

188t}, Mr. Daniels started work on a small plant for

South Framingham. The lights were started on

January 15, 1887, with a power of seven arc lights.

When once the utility of the system had been de-

monstrated, and more customers had been secured,

Mr. Daniels bought of Gov. Wm. Claflin a lot of land

in the centre of the village on the Milford Branch

Railroad track, and erected a fine plant there. March

28, 1888, Mr. Daniels suddenly died at his home in

Natick of apoplexy, and the electric business was left in

charge of H. W. True, who had been Mr. Daniels'

superintendent. The business having been put into

a stock company, the controlling interest was pur-

chased by the Thomson-Houston Electric Company,

and Mr. True was installed as manager. Under his

wise and energetic management the business of the

company has been very much extended, and the town

now uses electricity exclusively for its street lights.

Improvements have been made at the generating

station from time to time, and at this time the ca-

pacity of the station is 125 arc lights and 2500 incan-

descents, while there are actually in use about 100

arc lights and 2000 incandescent lights. There are

two engines and several dynamos, all of the latest

type.

Ordway's Reed-chair Factory.—It Wiis in February of

1888 that Mr. A. H. Ordway, attracted by the fine rail-

road facilities, removed to this place from Mattapoi-

sett a coniparativeiy small chair-manufacturing bus-

iness. Temporary quarters were secured in the Dunn
Building, on Howard Street, but in the fall of the

same year a convenient factory of three stories above

the basement, 40x100 feet on the ground, was erected

on land secured of Wellington H. Pratt. This fac-

tory was finished and occupied in November, 1888,

and this business has proved one of the most desira-

ble in the town. Mr. Ordway confines his manufac-

tures chiefly to one or two patterns of a base-rocker

arm-chair of reed-work, and these are shipped all

over the country. About forty hands are employed,
and the factory is equipped with all the necessary

conveniences. Besides the chairs, an elegant line of

bent-wood and plush-upholstered foot-rests is made.

Marston's Rattan Factory.—Attracted by Mr. Ord-

way's business and the inducements held out by the

place, Mr. H. A. Marstou, of Wakefield, moved his

business here in the fall of 1889, building himself a

model four-story factory, 40x100 on the ground, be-

sides a brick boiler and engine-house, bleach-house,

etc. He located his factory directly opposite Mr.

Ordway's, and between them there is a branch of the

Old Colony Railroad. Mr. Marston's busiueas is the

importation of rattan from Singapore and other for-

eign points, and the splitting of it up into a fine

class of cane, leaving the pith or reeds for chair-man-

ufacture, like Mr. Ordway's. Mr. Marston's ma-

chines are of his own manufacture and patent, and

he maintains a machine-shop in his factory for build-

ing them. lie lights the factories from his own

electric plant, and heats them from his steam-boilers.

Beside the cane and reed manufacture, Mr. Marston

is a large dealer in wooden chairs of Western manu-
facture. There are about fifty employees.

New England Rattan Company.—Mr. A. H. Ord-

way was chiefly instrumental in securing the location

here of Mr. H. A. Marston's business, and Mr. Mars-

ton in turn, aided by other citizens, induced the New
England Rattan Company to move their business

from Wakefield to this place, and the latter company

was not slow to see the superior opportunities for

transacting business here. So it followed that in

March, 1889, a fine four-story factory with high base-

ment, was finished for their occupancy, just opposite

those of Messrs. Ordway and Marston. The company
manufactures an elegant line of rattan and reed chairs

of many patterns and styles of finish, besides tables,

easels and other parlor furniture in bamboo work.

The oflicers of the company are : President, W. E.

Ryan ; Secretary and Treasurer, Mathias Hollander;

Directors, H. Ryan, L. S. Mansfield, R. M. French,

H. Leuchtman, Richard Cuff. About forty-five

hands are employed.

The Union Publishing Company was formed and be-

gan business here in April, 1884. From fifteen to

twenty hands are employed. Rooms were first taken

in Union Block and successively enlarged until March
of 1886, when the third floor of' Liberty Block was

taken. These qu.arters having become too small,

the company has now moved into the new Tri-

bune Building on Irving Street. The company does

a general job printing and newspaper publishing bus-

iness, the papers published being the Framingham
Tribune, Ashland Tribune, Sherborn Tribune, Southboro'

Tribune, Sudbury Tribune. C. J. McPherson is presi-

dent and manager, and A. P. McPherson, treasurer.

The Lakeriew Printing Company was organized

early in 1889 to succeed the J. C. Clark Printing

Company, which was established here in 1872, occu-

pying quarters ever since iu Union Block. The com-

pany employs from fifteen to twenty hands, and does

a general job printing and newspaper publishing

business, besides being agent for certain specialties.
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The papers published are The Framingham Gazette,

Afih/find Arlrertwr, IfoL'is/on Transcript. C F. Cut-

ler is president, and W. F. Blake, treasurer and

manager.

The Last-Factory of E. 1). Stone was established

about ten years ago, Mr. Stone coming from Auburn,

Me. A .superior grade of shoe-lasts is made, its prin-

ripal rustomer.s being the Par.i Rubber-Shoe Com-

piiny, near whose works it is located, and the shoe-

fac-lories in this and vicinity towns. It is well

equipped with .steam machinery and employs about

ten hands.

A. Fairs & Sons have a well-equipped steam-power

plant, on the line of the Old Colony Railroad, for the

inannf'actnrc of builders' finish and materials. They

are large builders themselves, erecting many railroad

stations and other large buildings. They employ, on

an average, from forty to fifty men, although some-

times having many more.

Leather Goods.—In 1886 William D. Higgins

started in the village the manufacture of leather

music-rolls, collar and cuff-boxes, toilet-cases and

similar work, keeping a small force of men at work.

Recently he has sold out to H. F. Twombly & Co.,

who now conduct the business. George H. Eames
started in the same business last year, and has made
it so successful that he has recently built and moved

into a new factory off Union Avenue.

T. L. Slurterunt, who is an inventor of some notei

is now building steam-yachts here on the shores of

Waushakum Pond. His latest invention is a steam-

boiler with a wonderful capacity to generate steam.

Its fuel is gas or. petroleum, and its great generating

power allows of its being of very small size. Thus a

thirty horse-power engine is put into a thirty-foot

boat, and the result is a remarkable speed. Among
"Sir. Sturtevant's other inventions are the Sturtevant

Sione-Crusher and Pulverizer, a rifle and cartridge.

^Ir. Sturtevant has also been a large owner in the

I'.owker Fertilizer business, starting it with Mr. Bow-
ker about twenty years ago.

T/ie Ice Biisines.^.—The local trade has been well

supplied from the ice-houses of C. C. Stevens, C. L.

Foster and John Willis, but in the summer of 1889

iiiimeuse ice-houses, with all the attendant machinery,

vtables, dwelling-house, etc., etc., were built near the

shore of Waushakum Pond by the Drivers' Union Ice

I 'ompany of Boston. This plant, which is situated

on the Milford Branch Railroad, cost about $50,000,

and in it can be stored 50,000 tons of ice, which is

^ ithered here of purest quality.

The Frtuningham Gns Fuel and Power Comjinny,

which holds a franchise from the town, was organized

in 1888, under Massachusetts law, with $75,000

ra|)ital. It proposes to furnish gas for all domestic

and manufacturing purposes, such as for illuminating,

heating, cooking, for gas-engines, making steam,

forging, etc. Land has been bought on Irving Street,

and at this writing the construction of the system is

43-iii

nearly completed. C. J. McPherson is president of the

company and H. S. .Tackson treasurer.

Grain h'/cvafor.—Spragne it Williams, who,in addi-

tion to their grocery business, have done a large grain

business, erected in the spring of IS'.IO a grain-

mill and elevator, on HoUis Court, adjacent to Mil-

ford Division of the Boston & Albany Railroad track.

It is supplied with every requisite labor-saving con-

venience.

The Heef Refrigerator of Geo. E. Fitch & Co. was
established in the village in 1884, being connected

with Armoiir & Co.'s great Chicago establishment.

The next year a convenient new building was built

with a large ice capacity and overhead railroads for

handling the more than $100,000 worth of annually

dressed meat which comes to it iti refrigerator cars

and is disbursed. John ,T. Anderson manages the

business, another branch of which is cared for at

Westboro' by Mr. Fitch.

H. L. Sawyer, in addition to his large tin, piping,

stove, hardwareand plumbing business, has for several

years manufactured japanned powder-flasks and fish-

bait boxes at his Howard Street factory.

Thomas Wise & Co., machinists, manufacture the

Wise steam motor, which has been used somewhat in

the United States Navy. Mr. Wise is also the maker
of a storage system of incandescent electric lights.

E. E. Orandall & Co. m,anufacture and deal in all

varieties of carriages, besides conducting a general

repair-shop for all branches of the business.

F. F. Avery manufactures an extensive line of mat-

tresses for shipment to other cities as well as neighbor-

hood trade.

N. B. Johnson makes a superior grade of harness

dressing under the name of the T'erfection Harness
Dressing. He employs a number of selling agents.

A. n. H. Warren & Co. conduct the book-bindery

which was moved here from Cambridgeport in the

summer of 1889. Excellent work is turned out, cus-

tomers coming from other towns and cities.

E.rpress Business.—With the business growth of the

place, the express companies have kejjt pace. Of
these there are now seven, all well equipped for

business. These are the Adams, American, New
York and Boston Despatch, Boston & Worcester,

Farrar's, Davis, Dart & Go's.

Among the industries conducted here the past few
years may be mentioned the Sterling Rubber Works,
manufacturers of gossamer rubber clothing, which
were removed to Readville about four years ago; the

Framingham Wheel Works, Charles E. Bradley's

carriage-works, the J. M. Anthony machine-shop, the

three latter concerns going out of bu-iiness.

Cutler & Company's grain mills did a good business

until about 1879, when they were destroyed by fire,

and the business removed to their mills at North Wil-
braham, although the business office is still retained

at South Framingham. A spring-bed business, con-

ducted by a Mr. Frail, of Hopkinton, employed about
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fiaeen men. The factory wa.t located off South Street,

but was burned about ten years hro, aixi the busi-

oesa waa diecontinued.

Professional Men.—In addition to the clergy-

men, mentioned among the churches, there are—
Pkysiciant: J. J. and J. S. Boynton, L. M. Palmer,

J. J. McCann, E. A. Hobbs, O. W. Collins, F. W.

Patch, Anna Wilkin.

fieiiliitf: C. F. Beard, George F. Beard, W. I.

Brigham, W. C. Chamberlain, J. A. Hayes.

Lawyers: W. A. Kingsbury, Sidney A. Phillips,

Walter Adams, L. H. Wakefield, George C. Travis,

C. C. Kstey, Ira B. Forbes, F. M. Esty, John W.

AUard, Cliarlee S. Forbe.s, J. L. O'Neil, John M.

Merriman, T. W. Barrelle.

Civil Engineer : J. J. Van Valkenburg.

Architects: J. W. Patston, George L. Nichols.

E.MPLOYiNn Mechanics.—The following individ-

uals and concerns are all in business in the place,

and some of them employ quite a number of hands:

Builders: A. Fali>s & Sons, Wells & Tuttle, James

Daisley, Avery Daisley, John P. Kyte, J. R. & R. P.

Clark, James H. Combs, James McMahan, N. T. Ab-

bott, John Butland, Edward Damor W. E. Fay, Rice

Brothers, C. R. Harding, Edward I . .Simpson, all car-

penters ; and A. D. Swan, C. P. llaakiU, masons.

rtumbers, Qiis and Steam Pipers : H. L. Sawyer and

James Sheldon ; Thomas Wise, piper.

Wheeliorights, Blacl-smiths, Carriage-builders and

Horse-shoers : Thomson Brothers, W. J. Arbuckle,

E. E. Crandall &Co. ; M. McNamara, shoei.

Painters : Gilman Fuller, H. R. Mockler, J. E.

Vollnier, Joseph Hamil, J. F. Roach, E. E. Crandall

& Co., W. T. Wright, Robt. McCann, J. H. Randall.

Roofers and Concrete-pavers : French Brothers, M.

E. Balcome & Co., Drury & Co.

Stone-masons: John Gallagher, D. McLaughlin,

Peter Teabeau, Jesse Bryant, William Green.

Lather: Edwin Hamblin.

Shoe-makers: Thomas Rinimcr, John Slater, .John

J. Slattery.

Harness-makers : D. C York, Joshua Smith.

Hair-cutters : John A. Morse, Alonzo Sackett, Geo.

Gaudig, Henry Taylor, Frank Farnsworth.

Marble and Granite-worker : J. B. Whalen.

Oranite-worker : James O'Connor.

Tradesmen.—Dry Goods : Clifford Folger & Co.,

A. M. Lang, A. J. Wood & Co.

Clothiers: E. B. Mclntyre & Co., F. C. Hastings,

C. H. Whitcoinb & Co., The Wardrobe.

Boots and Shoes : Geo. E. Fowler, Geo. A. Carr &
Co., J. F. McGlennan, A. J. Hemenway, Clifford Fol-

ger &Co.
Gentlemen's Furnishing Goods, other than those

named : O. S. Buttolph.

Furniture: A. R. Newton & Son, .1. J. McCloskey.

Grocers: Sprague & Williams, Stearns Brothers,

Adams & Morse, Slattery & Flynn, C. S. Oaks, M. E.

Hamilton, Whitmore & Daboll, Robt. McGlory.

Marketmen : E. H. Kittredge & Co., L. F. Eameg,

F. H. Hunt, Coburn & Hooker, W. H. Greeley, W.
F. Ward, Hawkes & Hemenway.

Fish-Markets : Fitts Brothers, Bennett & Gerrieh.

Butter, Eggs and Cheese: Wellington H. Pratt,

Geo. M. Amsden.

Junk-dealer : Samuel Falkner.

Bakers: Wra. Slralton, T. H. Abbott, J. G. Klier.

Coal andWood : Willis M.Ranney,H. C.Kingman,

Otis Cutting.

Lumber and Building Material: W. M. Ranney,

Fales & Sons.

Lime, Sand, Cement, Hay, Etc. : H. C. Kingman.

Grain and Flour : CulXer & Co., Sprague & Wil-

liams, Eastman Brothers.

Milliners: Mrs. E. E. Teague, Miss A. .1. Wood,

Miss Grace Lee, Miss E. B. Fuller.

Dressmakers : Mrs. Withington, Mrs. A. Page,

Miss Hill.

Jewelers and Watch-makers : Cyrus N. Gibbs, W,

W. Haynes, J. M. Bacon, A. W. Edmonds.

Druggists: Charles L. Curtis, G. W. Cutler, Geo.

Rice, I. A. Lombard.

Confectionery: F. M. Wilbur, Geo. J. Masterson,

besides grocers and druggists.

Hardware and Paints: W. E. Harding & Co., H.

L. Sawyer.

Toys, Pictures, etc. : Geo. E. Watkins & Co.

Newsdealers: Allen Robie, G. W. Cutler, G. J.

Masterson, Armstrong's Restaurant.

Restaurants: H. C. Bowers, G. W. Armstrong, S. S.

Given.

Florists : W. S. Phelps & Sons, C. J. Power.

Real Estate Agents : B. Judd, W. F. Richardson,

A. H. Tucker.

Local Teamsters and Expressmen : Geo. H. Davis,

A. J. Sullivan, Edwin Stone, E. E. Ramsdell, Ira L.

Dunaven, D. McLaughlin, John Horr, A. Saucier.

Livery Stable Men and Hackmen : Joshua Smith,

D. J. Cooney, A. W. Fay, C. J. Fillmore, Lawrence

Flynn, Jr., W. A. Flynn, F. E. Brooks.

Tailors: M. Cotter, K. Ryan, C. D. Bates, J. M.

Morrissey.

Carriage Dealers : ^.'E.Cra.nd-M & Co., Thomson

Bros., Rock & Young.

Fruit Dealers : S. & G. Garbarrino, E. T. Yon.

Undertakes : W. T. Gove, P. N. Everett, M. Under-

wood.

Laundries: L. E. Russell, Sun Kee & Co., The

Charlie Company.

Photographers : J. L. Sweet, F. J. Williams.

Billiard Parlor : F. E. Deraing.

Insurance Agents: W. E. Clark & Son, .T. S. Adams,

Burtis Judd, F. M. Esty, A. H. Tucker, S. G. Davenport.

Auctioneers : H. W. Cotton, J. H. Fames, Edgar.

Potter, W. F. Richardson.

Milkmen : A. P. Houghton, L. Gould.

Dog Kennels and Breeders : J. R. Teague, J. A. Morse.

Bill Poster: Manager of Elmwood Opera House.
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' MICHAEL H. SIMPSON.

Michael H. Simpson was empliiitically an Essex

County man, although much of his long and active

business life was spent in Suflblk and Middlesex

Counties, where he brought into a high state of de-

velopment the well-known industries connected with

the"Roxbury Carpet Company" and "Saxonville

Mills." He was the son of Paul Simpson, Esq., a

wealthy ship-owner of Newburyport, during the days

when a phenomenal success sometimes attended the

sending of cargoes of merchandise to foreign ports.

Deciding early upon a business career, young Simp-

son entered into it with that energy and keen insight

which distinguished him in afterlife. Before they

were of age, he, with Charles H. Coffin, of New-
buryport, and George Otis, son of Harrison Gray

Otis, of Boston (afterwards partners), made a highly

successful venture by sending a ship and cargo to

Calcutta, they being sole owners. This may, perhaps,

be considered the basis of the fortune which Mr.

Simpson afterwards acquired. His business career

soon showed that to a fine physical constitution he

united a keen sagacity in adapting means to ends,

unusual executive ability, and an indomitable will.

By the connection of his firm with the wool trade of

South America his attention was drawn to the neces-

sity of freeing Buenos Ayres wool from burrs to

enhance its value. His inventive brain soon grasped

the situation, and he produced a machine for this

purpose which proved of great value, the modern
burring-machine, now in general use, being the out-

growth of this invention. In the various industries

with which his name was connected, for him to dis-

cover a need or necessity for improvement was to

give himself no rest until he had devised a way for

the accomplishment of the desired end. His exten-

sive career as a manufacturer and employer of labor

also gave scope for the development of those finer

qualities of mind and heart which characterized the

man. It was his delight to lay out parks and drives,

in connection with his estates, which he always

opened to the i)ublic. In order to give employment,

he would purchase tracts of waste land and convert

them into richly productive fields. As a friend and
companion he was genial and charming. He possessed

:i mind well stored with the resources of history and
philosophy.

lie ever recognized a beneficent, over-ruling Provi-

'li'uce in all the ways of life, and sought by precept

and example to inculcate the principles of a high

morality in all those with whom he was brought in

i-ontact. His love for his native town manifested

itself in his generous benefactions to the Public

Library, towards town improvements, a fund for

keeping the streets watered and in various other ways.

^Ir. Simpson was twice married. His first wife was

Elizabeth Rilham, of Boston, by whom he had several

children. His second marriage was to Evangeline E.

Thurston Marrs, of Framingham, who survives him.

His death occurred at his residence in Boston, De-

cember 22, 1884.

HON. PETER PARKER.

Peter Parker, one of the most honored and most
successful of the early missionaries who went to

China from the United States, was the third son of

Nathan and Catherine (Murdock) Parker, and was
born June IS, 1804, in Framingham, Massachusetta.

When he was four years of age his father had a

severe attack of illness, from the cftects of which he
never fully recovered; and, as his two older brothers

had died in infancy, Peter was very early obliged to

assi.st in the support of his parents and of his three

sisters. At the age of fifteen he taught the common
school in the adjoining town of Holliston, and for

some years was employed as a teacher in the difter-

ent school districts of the neighborhood. In a short

memoir of himself, which he wrote, he says that

while thus employed he never failed to put into the

hands of his father all the money that he received,

" not reserving a single dollar " for his own use. Be-

fore leaving home to teach in Holliston, he had made
a public profession of his determination to lead a re-

ligious life, and it was not long before he informed

his friends that he wi.shed to prepare himself to en-

ter the Christian ministry. But the ill health of his

father, and the dependence of the family on his lab-

ors, interposed difljculties, which for some years pre-

vented his beginning the necessary studies. At last,

when he had attained the age of twenty-one, his fa-

ther was able to make arrangments by which he
could be assured of a support for himself and family

for the rest of his life, and friends having offered to

provide Peter with the pecuniary assistance he might
need while obtaining a liberal education, after he had
exhausted the few hundred dollars that he had of his

own, he entered Day's Academy, in Wrentham, and
began in March, 182(), in his twenty-second year, to

fit for college. In September, 1827, he entered Am-
herst College, as freshman. There he remained three

years, till he gained the consent of his friends to go to

Yale College, in New Haven, where he received the

degree of Bachelor of Arts, graduating with the class

of 18.31, in which were a large number of men who
afterwards became distinguished in the different

walks of life. After graduation he began the study

of theology in the Yale Divinity School.

About this time the officers of the American Board
of Commissioners for Foreign Missions were consid-

ering the possibility of doing something for the evan-

gelization of the great Empire of China. The diffi-

culties in the way seemed insuperable. The re-

strictive policy which characterized the government
of that country made anything like full and intimate

intercourse with the people well-nigh impossible.
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Hut it had been found that the Chinese were very

ready to avail tliemselves of the services of the phy-

sicians of the East ImiIIu Company, and tliat these

benevolent men had been verysuccessfnl in obtaininp

the confidence of those whose maladies ihey had

healed. It therefore occurred to the friends of missions

in the United States, that a missionary who should

also have had a rhorough medical education might

be able to use his ability as a physician to pain access

to the people, and thus introduce Christianity among

them. With this objeit in view, it was proposed to

Mr. Tarker, who was known to be ready to devote his

life to missionary work among tlie heathen, to fit

himself to go to China as a medical missionary. Ac-

cordingly, while pursuing his theological studies in

the Yale I>iviriity School, he at the same timestudied

medicine in the Yale Medical School, and in March,

1834, received the degree of Doctor of AFcdicine.

Having also completed his theological studies, he

was ordained as a Christian minister in rhila<lelphia,

the following Ifith of May, and sailed from New York

for Canton, .Fune 4th, which city he reached October

26th, in the same year.

After spending some time in the acquisition of the

language of the people. Dr. I'arker opened in Canton,

November 4, 1835, a free hospital for persons affected

with diseases of the eye, of the treatment of which

the native practitioners were particularly ignorant.

The success which lie at once attained surpassed

all that the most sanguine hopes of the friends of

missions had anticipated. The first day, though

previous notice had been given, no patient ven-

tured to come. The second day, a solitary female,

afflicted with glaucoma, presented herself. The third

day half a dozen persons appeared ; and after this

those who were suffering began to come in con-

stantly iucreasing numbers. At the end of a year

the aggregate of patients who had been relieved

amounted to 2152; and,according to the Report which

was i)ublished at the time, " had the object been to

swell this catalogue, and were the strength of one in-

dividual sufficient for the task, the number might

have been increased by thousands." The success

whicli had at once attended the labors of Dr. Parker

made it evident that he had proved himself admirably

fitted for the work which had been entrusted to him.

Perhaps, much of this success was due to the rare

qualities of the man. Possessed of an imposing

physique, with a manner which was naturally digni-

fied and composed, there was, in addition, something

so benevolent, so kindly, and so truthful in the ex-

pression of his face, and the tones of his voice that he

irresistibly inspired every one with whom he came in

contact with confidence in the honesty of his pur-

pose and his readiness to extend sympathy and as-

sistance. While working for the relief of the suffer-

ings of those who came to the hospital, it should also

be stated that he sought in every way in his power to

commend to all the value of the Christian religion.

The doors of the hospital continued to be open to all

comers till June, 1840, when, in consequence of the

disgraceful and persistent efforts of the British Gov-

ernment to force the Kmperor of China to alter the

laws of the country, so that Englishmen could sell

opium without let or hindrance to the ('hinese peo-

ple, ensued war. The port of Canton was threat-

ened with blockade by the English fleet, and it be-

came necessary to close the institution. From the

time that it had been opened, in 1835, during a

period of a little over four years, upwards of nine

thousand persons had received treatment and relief.

Dr. Parker said :
" Patients from all parts of the

Empire had availed themselves of the benefits of the

hospital. The applicants during the first years of its

establishment had been confined to the lower and

middle classes ; now persons of all ranks—military,

naval and civil—were among the number ; the Nan-

hoe hien, or district magistrate, the custom-house

officer, salt inspectors, provincial judges, provincial

treasurer, a Tartar general, Governors of Provinces,

Commissioner Linn himself, and a number of the

imperial family, had sought relief of the foreign phy-

sician." The account of what Dr. Parker had done,

and his successful and repeated performance of many
very difficult surgical operations, had attracted the

attention and admiration of medical men in the

United States and Great Britain, and a high place

had been accorded to him in the profession.

It certainly was a great misfortune that at this

time he was obliged to withdraw from Canton. What
he bad already done was felt by all persons who were

interested in the cause of missions in China to have

been of inestimable value, by disarming the preju-

dices of a great multitude of influential people

against the foreigners, whom they had been taught to

think of as " outside barbarians.''

During the years of his first residence in China, in

addition to his work in the hospital, Dr. Parker on

several occasions rendered valuable assistance in the

general work of missions. The most important, per-

haps, of his services of this kind was in connection

with the expedition, undertaken in 1837, by several

of the missionaries in China, which had for its object

the establishment of a mission in Japan. That ex-

pedition proved to be a failure as far as the immediate

object in view was concerned ; but, on his return to

Canton, Dr. Parker ])ublished an account of the

voyage, and of a visit which was made to the Loo

Choo Islands.

The closing of the hospital in 1840 gave Dr. Parker

an opportunity of returning to the United States for

a visit. Having started from Chiua in July, he

reached New York in the following December, and

spent the next eighteen months in unwearied efforts

to diffuse information through the country respect-

ing China, and to interest Christian people every-

where in the cause of missions among the Chinese.

In addition, he had interviews with Presidents Van
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Buren, Harrison, and Tyler, and with the Secretary of

Slate, Mr. Daniel Webster, before whom he urged

the importance of sending a United States minister to

Cbina, as soon as the war then waging should come

to an end, for the purpose of arranging a commercial

treaty with that government, and of giving protec-

tion to American citizens resident in the country. It

was owing to the representations which he made,

tbat tbe Hon. Caleb dishing was sent to China in

Ibe following year as American Minister. Dr. Parker

also made a hurried visit to England, for the purpose

of calling the attention of English Christians to tbe

advantages which might be obtained by sending out

medical missionaries to Cbina. He was successful in

bringing the subject to the attention of the Arch-

bishop of Canterbury, the Duke of Wellington, the

Marquis of Lansdown, the Bishops of Loudon and ot

Durham, and a large number of other distinguished

men. He made the ac(|uaintance of Sir Benjamin

Brodie, Dr. Holland, Sir Henry Halford, and other

prominent English pliysiciaus and surgeons. He was

presented in Paris to Louis Philij)pe, the King ol

the French, and had the opportunity of a long

conversation with him on the condition of affairs in

China.

Having returned from England to the United

States in June, 1842, he sailed a few months later from

Boston for Canton, having previously been married

in Washington. March 29, 1841, to Miss Harriet C.

Webster, daughter of Mr. John O. Webster, of

Augusta, Maine. Mrs. Webster accompanied him,

and was the first foreign lady to reside in China.

On reaching Canton he re-opened the hospital, and

was even more successful than before. But it was

not long before Hon. Caleb Cushing arrived, in

February, 1844, as Envoy Extraordinary and Minis-

ter Plenipotentiary of the United States to China,

who at once requested Dr. Parker to become Chinese

Secretary and Interpreter of the Legation. After

careful consideration, and with the hope that; he

might have wider opportunities of usefulness, he

accepted Mr. Cushing's ofler. He gave up his con-

nection with the American Board, but with the help

of native assistants, whom he had trained, he was

able to continue his oversight of the hospital till in

1855, fiuding his health impaired, he resigned his

secretaryship, and returned to America, During

these years he repeatedly acted as Charge d' affaires

ad interim.

A few months after reaching home, at the special

request of the government, he returned to China as

United States Commissioner and Minister plenipo-

tentiary, for the purpose of revising the treaty of

1844. On his way to China, passing through Lon-

don, he had a consultation with the Earl of Claren-

don, in order that the policy of the two governments

they represented might be concurrent. In Paris, also,

he bad an interview for the same purpose, with

Count Walewsky, the French Minister for Foreign

Affairs. His duties as Commissioner occupied Dr.

Parker for two years, when he felt obliged to resign

and to return to America, his health having been

somewhat enfeebled owingto the eflects of asunstroke.

He fixed his residence in Washington, with his

paternal homestead in Framingbani as a summer
resort. His later years were spent in retirement, the

only public office which he held being that of Regent
of the Smithsonian Institution, to which he was

elected in 18t)8. Alter several years of infirm health

he died in Washington, January 10, IK88, in his

eighty-fourth year.

ADOLl'liUS MERRIAM.

Adolphus Merriani was descended from a pioneer

family of the town of Concord, Mass. His ancestor,

Joseph Meriam, came from the county of Kent, Eng-
land, in 1638 and settled in Concord. From that

early date until the death of Joseph Merriam, the

father of Adolphus, in 1850, through five generations,

the family name was prominent in the history of that

town. The Meriam settlement became known an

"Meriam's Corner." It was at this spot that the first

vigorous attack was made on the retreating British as

they left Concord on the memorable 19th of April,

1775. Josiah Jleriam, the grandfather of Adolphus,
was one of the men at the North Bridge, and used an
old flint-lock which his ancestor had brougfit with

him from England. It was bis house that the British

entered on the retreat, and in it exercised freely their

spirit of mischief and plunder. This house, by the

way, is not the Meriam house which is now standing,

but wiis an older one, all trace of which is gone, that

stood nearer the corner of the Bedford and Lexington

roads.

Joseph Merriam, the father of Adolphus, when a

young man moved from Meriam's Corner to a farm on

the Virginia road, near the Lincoln line. Here
Adolphus was born August 23, 1820. He was the

youngest of ten children. His early life was that of

a farmer's boy, with its usual amount of hard work
and limited advantages. In addition to the few years

of study in the district school he enjoyed a term in

the Framingham Academy.

When he was seventeen years old he went to South-

bridge, Ma-ssachusetts, and entered the office of the

Hamilton Woolen Company, in which his brother,

Charles, was interested. For several years he served

what may be called a term of apprenticeship in the

business of woolen and cotton manufacture. His

master and model was Samuel L. Fiske, whom he
faithfully served and ardently admired, and whose
influence had a marked effect in strengthening his

own natural habits of thrift, of promptness in dis-

charging obligations and of honesty and honor in

business affairs.

In 1846 he married Caroline McKinstry, daughter

of John McKinstry, of Southbridge. Mr. Merriam
remained in Southbridge twelve years. During this
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time he was steadily promoted until he was entrusted

with the Buperintendency of larjje interests connected

with the Hamilton Woolen Company. In 1850 he

purchased a small mill in Springfield, Vermont,

which he operated successfully for four years. He

then returned to Southbridge and entered into a part-

ner<hip with Joshua and Gayton Ballard in the

manufacture of woolen goods.

Mr. iMerriani was very active in all public matters

in .Southbridge. He was one of the leaders of the

Lyceum. When a young man he identified himself

with the temperance movement, to the principles of

which he strictly adhered during his life. He corre-

sponded with Rev. Adin fiallou and George Draper,

with reference to the social community which they

founded at Hopedale, and seriously contemplated

joining it. He served the town as assessor and select-

man, was connected with the National and Savings

Banks of the town, and during the war was active as

selectman in filling the town quota and in advocating

the Federal cause.

In 1864 he moved to South Framingham, where

he lived until his death. He became interested in

the manufacture of woolen goods in Millbury, where

he was associated with Peter Simpson ; and in Corda-

ville, in company with Hubbard Willson. He was

also a director of the Uamiltou Woolen Company,

and clerk of the corporation, and a director of the

^tna Mills at Watertown. In addition to these in-

terests he was for many years a director and president

of the American Powder Company, and president of

the Gunpowder Trade Association of the United

States.

When the Framingham Savings Bank became em-

barrassed, it was the demand of the community that

Mr. Merriam accept the presidency of the reorganized

board of trustees. He was at the time the president

of the National Bank, and was very reluctant to add

to the business cares which already demanded close

attention. The duties involved in the reorgani-

zation, and in the restoration of the credit of the

Savings Bank, were very exacting and subjected the

president to much annoyance and anxiety. He en-

deavored to perform them with the same care that he

expended in his own affairs. He often expressed his

confidence in the final restoration of credit and re-

sumption of business by the bank, ar;d his calm con-

fidence and patient work did much to assure deposi-

tors, and to bring about the successful termination of

the bank's misfortune.

In addition to discharging this public trust, Mr.

Merriam, in the course of his life, cared for many pri-

vate trusts, all of which were scrupulously managed

and settled.

Mr. Merriam avoided prominence in public affairs

in Framingham. His influence, however, was exerted

quietly toward the promotion of many worthy politi-

cal, social and moral causes. He was the first presi-

dent of the South Framingham Literary Society, and

4
was one of its most constant workers during the ten

years of its life. For a short time in his school-days

in Concord, Theodore Parker had been his teacher.

In later life he was an earnest student of Parker's

sermons and writings, which he felt were in accord

with his own religious convictions. When the move-

ment to establish a society of liberal Christians in

South Framingham was initiated he gave it his

hearty supjjort. Later he was made the moderator of

the First Universalist Society, and worshiped with

that society constantly until his death.

Mr. Merriam died November 27, 1888, after an

illness which had incapacitated him for active work

for several months. The summary of his character

which appeared in the Framingham Tribune, at the

time of his death, is so just that it may well conclude

this sketch : "The death of Adolphus Merriam brings

a loss to Framingham that will be keenly felt. In

all matters where his interest was enlisted his course

was marked by keen insight and sound judgment.

Perhaps his distinguishing trait was his plain and

simple manner, wholly devoid of the ostentation af-

fected by some men when they achieve a small part

of the success that was his. Always genial and ap-

proachable, it was his lot and pleasure often to advise

other men, and his advice was always worth seeking.

His presence will be sadly missed, but his influence

will be felt for a long time to come."

JOHN BALL EITTREDGE, M.D.'

Doctor Kittredge was a descendant of John Kitt-

redge, who settled in Billerica as early as 1660, where

he died October 18, 1676. He was a considerable

land-owner in Billerica, and received a grant of sixty-

four acres in the limits of what became Tewksbury,

on which some of the later generations of the family

have resided.

The eldest son of John, Sr., was named for his father,

settled in Billerica, studied medicine, and was the

first of a long line of noted physicians. Dr. John (3d),

the eldest son of Doctor John (2d), called his eldest

son John (4th), whose eldest son was John (5th). The

brothers of John (5th) were Simeon and Benjamin.

Benjamin was born March 7, 1741. He was a well-

known physician of Tewksbury and Andover, and

was the father of eight sons, all physicians, viz : Ben-

jamin, of Exeter ; Henry, of Tewksbury ; John Ball,

of Framingham ; Jacob, of Billerica and Ohio ; Rufus,

of Portsmouth ; George, of Epping, N. H. ; Theodore,

of Kittery ; Charles, of Watertown.

John B., the subject of this sketch, was born Octo-

ber 8, 1771 ; studied with his father, as was the cus-

tom of the time, came to Framingham in his twenty-

first year, and probably entered the office of Dr. Dan-

iel Perkins, and took his practice when he moved

West the next year.

' By J. H. Temple.
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Fraraingham was then in a kind of transition state.

The Revolutionury War had changed the social order

and business conditions, as well as the inhabitants.

The older men were striving to repair the wastes of

war; the younger men were planning new enterprises

and taking the load in municipal all'airs. The po[>u-

lation of the town was much scattered, and the cen-

tres of trade and enterprise were at several point-s

near the outskirts. Aside from the meeting-house,

there had been little to attract people to the territor-

ial centre. The minister. Rev. David Kellogg, was,

however, strong in the regards of the people, and, by

his talents and high ministerial character, was a

power for good in all social and religions and business

atl'airs. And the signs all pointed to the site of the

present village as the coming centre of town activity

and influence.

The young physician wisely located at this point,

and allied himself with the new movement and with

the pastor of the church.

He was a man of fine preiience, and affable, though

dignified manners, and every way calculated to make
a favorable impression.

The inception of the plan for the establishment of

a grammar-school of high order at the Centre—which

soon was transformed into the Framingham Acad-

emy—gave Dr. Kittredge the opportunity of ingra-

tiating himself with the leading families, by further-

ing in every wise way the new educational institution

and drawing in pupils. He gave a hearty support to

the movement ; and his interest in the Academy
and the public schools continued through his active

life.

Undoubtedly the reputation of the family as physi-

cians predisposed the public in his favor ; but he was

a born doctor, and started with the determination of

achieving success. He gave bis time and his best

work and leading interest to his profession, and made
everything else subsidiary. And he had broad sym-

p.athies, which prevented favoritism. A family in

humble circumstances was sure of receiving his kind

attention and the most considerate treatment.

Technically, as judged by present standards, his

medical education was defective. But practically, he

was well equipped—by natural taste, by quick percep-

tive powers, by the habit of close observation, by the

logical faculty of tracing cause and effect, as well as

careful reading of the works then extant.

Perhaps his forte lay in his accurate diagnosis of

disease. It may have been partly intuition; but his

careful analysis of symptoms, and study of temper-

aments and habits of living, and family predisposi-

tions, aided the natural perception.

And his cheery and hopeful demeanor in the sick-

room was a powerful adjunct to the medicine he pre-

scribed. " We'll have you out again in a few days I"

was the inspiring assurance with which he was wont

to bid good-bye to his patient.

His large practice brought fame and wealth. And

after his means became ample, he was greatly helpful

to young men of good character and habits—particu-

larly mechanics just starting in business on their own
account—by loaning them money on their individual

note. It was done not grudgingly, but willingly.

The debtor felt that the lender took an interest in

liim and his success, and had confidence in his hon-

esty and ability ; and thus the loan was a powerful

motive to diligence and economy, as well as a work-

ing capital.

Dr. Kittredge died February 29, 1848. He married

Mary Kellogg, daughter of Rev. David Kellogg, pas-

tor of the church in Franii: gham. Their childreu

were: 1. Ellen, who married Dexter Stone, a mer-

chant of Philadelphia, and had two daughters, Mary,

and Ellen K. ; 2. John T., who graduated at Amherst
College 1828, studied medicine with his father, began

practice in his native town, and died at the early age

of twenty-six.

HOM.IS UASTINOS.

The subject of this sketch is descended from

Thomas Hastings, who, at the age of twenty-nine,

with his wife, Susanna, came to New England in the

summer of 1034 and settled in VVatertown. He em-
liarked at Ipswich, England, April 10th of that year,

in the " Elizabeth," William Andrews master, and

probably arrived in May. He was admitted a free-

man May 6, 1635, and was a selectman of Watertown
from 1638 to 1643, and again from 1050 to 1671. He
was town clerk in 1671-77 and '80, and Representa-

tive in 1073. His wife died February 2, 1650, and in

April, 1651, he married Margaret, daughter of Wil-

liam and Martha Cheney, of Roxbury. His children

—all by the second wife—were Thomas, born July 1,

1652; John, March 4, 1654; William, August 8,

1055 ; Joseph, September 11, 1657 ; Benjamin, August

9, 1659; Nathaniel, September 25, 1661 ; Hepzibah,

January 1, 1663, and Samuel, March 12, 1665. He
died in 1685, at the age of eighty.

Of the children of Thomas, John, born as above, in

Watertown, married, June 18, 1679, Abigail, daugh-

ter of John and Abigail Hammond, of Watertown,

and died March 28, 1718, only a few days before

h's wife, who died on the 7th of April following. He
left eight childreu ; Abigail, born December 8, 1680

;

John, baptized December 4, 1687 ; Elizabeth, bap-

tized December 4, 1687; Hepzibah, baptized at same

date; William, baptized July 13, 1690; Samuel,

born 1695, and Thomas and Joseph, baptized July 10,

1698.

Of these children, Joseph married, October 2, 1710,

Lydia, daughter ofAbraham and Mary (Hyde) Brown,

of Watertown, and had fourteen children: Elizabeth,

born March 4, 1717; Lydia, November 26, 1718;

Grace, April 2, 1720; Joseph, June 1, 1722; an infant

unnamed, 1724; Lucy, April 9, 1720 ; Josiah, Febru-

ary 28, 1728; Jonas, September 15, 1729; Susanna,

May 26, 1731; Eliphalet, October 10, 1734; Thank-
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fill, October 12, 1736 ; Sarah, November, 1737 ; an

iutaiit, 1739, aud Lois, May 4, 1742.

ur these, Eli|ihalet, bom in Walthain, as above,

nmrrieil, August 20, I'Ol, SuMan, ihuiglitiT of Samuel

and Anna (Bemis) Fiskc, of Waltham. He was in

the French and Indian War, and present at the cap-

ture of Quebec, in 1759. He was also a soldier in

the Revolution and died in Frauiinghara in 1824.

His children were Lucy, born September 30, 1761

;

Elias, February 13, 17G3; Susanna, baptized in Feb-

ruary, 17G5; Louisa Ann, born April 19, 17(i7 ; Wil-

liam, September 12, 17l)9; .\iina; Elii)lialet, Novem-

ber 22, 1774; Charles, September 22, 177U ; Thomas,

June 19, 1780 ; Samuel, November 14. 1782, and

Susan, October 18, 1780.

Of these children, Thomns was born in Waltham,

and married, April 3, 1803, Nabby, daughter of Sam-

uel and Martha (.Icnnings) Abbot, of Framingham.

He died August 22,1804. His children were Sam-

uel Abbot, born October 3, 1803, William, June 15,

1805; Hollis, May 8, 1807 ; Thomas, April 18, 1809 ;

Eliphalet. July 31, 1811; Josiah, July 25, 1813;

John Kittredge, March 17, 1816 ; Otis Fisk, Novem-

ber 18, 1818, Dexter, August 4, 1822.

Hollis Hastings, one of these children, is the sub-

ject of this sketch. He was born in Framingham,

and received his education in the public schools of

that town and of Weston. He learned the trade of

harness and carriage-making, with Marshal Jones, of

Weston, and during thirty-tive years carried on that

business in his native town. With sufficient means,

the fruit of his industry and skill, he retired from

active business, and has since occupied his time in

the care of his property, and in satisfying his desires

to see the world and learn something of his brother

men in their varying conditions of climate, of govern-

ment and social life. To this end he has visited

every State in the Union, including those recently

admitted when they were Territories, and has twice

visited the Old World. The information acquired in

his travels has e.xpanded and strengthened a natur-

ally active and receptive mind, and enables him to

discuss with unusual intelligence the questions which

on both sides of the ocean agitate the public mind.

His independence of thought enables him to freely

think out the problems of the day, and reach conclu-

sions untrammeled by the shackles which too often

keep men in old ruts after the purpose for which they

were made has disappeared. In politics originally a

Webster Whig, more recently an independent voter,

he weighs questions as they rise, and votes with this

or that party which the most readily meets in his

opinion the demand of the hour. He believes that

parties should be organized solely to subserve the

interests of the country, and not to perpetuate

themselves, and that when a parly begins to act

solely for itself it is time for it to die. Brought up
in the orthodox Congregational Church, he has con-

tinued a member of that faith. While in Europe

his letters, written for the Waltham Sentinel, of which

his brother was the editor, were full of interesting

matter, and marked by intelligence and thought in

the discussion of foreign affairs. His interviews with

Lord John Russell and others, in which he forcibly

presented what are called the Alabama Claims, were

especially interesting.

Mr. Hastings has never been a seeker for office, and,

with the exception of a terra on the School Board of

Framingham, his life has been spent outside of the

active political field. He married. May 2, 1832,

Abigail White, daughter of Dr. Norton, of Framing-

ham, who died March 8, 1880. His children have

been, George, born January 31, 1833 ; Horatio Car-

ter, March 11, 1834; Dexter, November 24, 1835;

Emily Carter, December 31, 1836 ; Nancy Dean, Au-

gust 10, 1839; Samuel Dean, March 15, 1841 ; Josiah,

July 2, 1844; Richard Briggs, January 12, 1846, and

Jane Elizabeth, January 29, 1848.

Mr. Hastings is still living at the age of eighty-

three, with mind and body unimpaired, and in the

management of his afl'airs exhibits no abatement of

the shrewdness and skill which have characterized

him through life.

EEV. JOHN S. CULLEN.

Rev. John S. Cullen was born in the town of Old-

castle, County of Meath, Ireland, on Christmas Day,

December 25, 1848. He came to this country with

his parents in the early part of 1852, settling at Black-

stone, Mass., where he attended the public schools until

about eleven years old, when he was sent to St.

Joseph's College, in Susquehanna County, Pa. There

he stayed from the fall of 1860 to 1863, when he en-

tered Holy Cross College, Worcester. He remained

there three years. From there he went, in 1860, to

Nicolet College, near Three Rivers, P. Q., staying

there one year and graduating. In 1867 he went to

Grand Seminary, Montreal, to study theology, remain-

ing there until December 31, 1871, and being ordained

there as a priest. On Jan. 15, 1872, he came to

Hopkintou, Mass., as assistant pastor, and remained

in that position six years, when he was appointed to

take charge of the missions at South Framingham
and Ashland. He lived in the latter town about

eight months, removing to South Framingham in May,

1879. About this time St. Bridget's Mission was es-

tablished at Framingham Centre, and added to his

care. During his ministrations the uncompleted

church at Ashland was finished, and in January of

1885 that town was made an independent parish and

given to Rev. M. F. Delaney. The work grew so at

South Framingham that an assistant was soon

necessary, for in addition to the growing St. Stephen's

Parish there, the mission at St. Bridget's was main-

taining in addition to the regular Sunday services at

the Woman's Reformatory at Sherborn. The corner-

stone of the new St. Stephen's Church edifice was laid

in December, 1883, and the structure was occupied on
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Christmas of 1884. The parish now numbers about

MOO souls and Father CuUeu is sincerely beloved by

all. Diirinj;' his residence in Hopkiiitun he served

lour years on the School Uoramittee of the town, and

he has been a member of the Kramingham School

Board as well as one of the trustees of the town library

for nearly six years, usually receiving tlie hearty sup-

port of all parties and a unanimous election. He has

been a trustee of tlie Framingham Savings Bank for

about ten years, and has served on various town com-

mittees. His interest and labor in the work of total

abstinence from into.\icating liquors has been a

power for good among the people of his parish and of

the town generally. Among the young people and

children he has especially loved to promote pure

living and abstinence from profanity and other

bad habits. It can truly be said that he is resjjected

by all his townsmen and beloved by many besides his

own people. He i.s now building a handsome and

comfortable parochial residence, and ail wish him

many years of comfort and usefulness in it.

JAMES K. ENTWISTLE.

James R. Entwistle was born in the village of Sax-

onville, town of Framingham, in 1845, and here he

has ever since made his home, with the exception

of two years spent in the West. He was educated in

the town schools, and at an early age worked in the

Saxonville Mills, and also in the store of Hunt &
Fuller in the village. In 18(33 the young man went

to Boston to work in the jobbing shoe trade, but the

following two years he spent in the West, being

located at Evansville, Ind., and Cincinnati, Ohio-

Returning to Boston, he entered the employ of Hos-

mer & Winch, boot and shoe jobbers, and since 1875

has been a member of the firm of Hosmer, Codding

& Co., of that city, jobbers in boots, shoes and rub-

bers. This firm is enterprising and well-known and

is doing a large business.

Mr. Entwistle's business capacity has been recog-

nized in his selection as presitient of the Framingham
Electric Company, which supplies the town with

light, as a secretary and a director of the Framing-

ham Union Street Railway Company, and it is not

too much to say that he has been a prominent factor

in the success of that company. He was an incor-

porator and is a trustee of the Farmers' and Mechanics'

Savings Bank of South Framingham. His church

affiliations are with the Congregationalists, being a

contributor to the support of that denomination.

He is also a member of the Edwards Parish at

Saxonville. He is a prominent member of the Ma-
sonic Fraternity and has been for years a member of

the Royal Arcanum. That his capacity for good

service has been appreciated by his townsmen is

shown by the fact that he was for several years upon

the School Committee of the town, was chogen the

first auditor of the town's accounts, served on the

Board of Selectmen of the town in the years 1877 and
1878, and represented the town in the Legislature in

1882 and 1883. He was a mendter of (he Sewerage

Committee which had in charge the construction of

the town's sewerage system, and has been for some
years chairman of the Board of Registrars of 'VoterB.

In politics he is a Democrat, and in 1888 he was a

delegate to the National Convention at St. Louis,

which nominated Mr. Cleveland for President. Self-

made, popular, in the prime of life, any biography

made of Mr. Entwistle at this time must be incom-
plete.

ALEXANDER CLAKK.

Alexander Clark, Jr., was born in Framingham,
November 7, 1811. His father was the village black-

smith and the son worked for him in the same busi-

ness, afterwards engaging in it for himself, and later,

in company with his brother Newell, starting a shop
in South Framinghani, where now is the drinking

fountain in Irving Scjuare. This was about 1831 ; but

when the square was opened, the shop was removed
to the site on which afterwards grew up Charles E.

Bradley's carriage- manufacturing business. Selling

their business, Alexander and Newell went into the

manufacture of straw bonnets in 1838, under the

firm-name of A. & N. Clark. This firm was suc-

ceeded later by that of A. Clark & Son, Alexander's

son, Willard E., being associated with him. From
bonnets this firm went to making palm-leaf hats and
Shaker hoods in 1853. These had an immense sale

all over the country and the firm cleared many thou-

sand dollars, but the hoods afterwards went out of

style, and shop and machinery lay idle. The firm

then fitted up a factory for the manufacture of shoes,

but soon gave up the business. Alexander retired

from active business some fifteen or twenty years ago,

since which time until his death, which occurred

.\ugust 11, 1890, his attention has been given to the

care of his real estate, of which he ])ossessed consid-

erable. In 1853-54 when the town Fire Department

had just been organized, Mr. Clark was third assist-

ant engineer of the Department, being in charge of

the South Framingham Division. He lived to see

the tiny village grow almost to the dimensions of a

small, bustling city.

Mr. Clark was always deeply interested in religious

work. Before 1840 there was no church at South

Framingham, and he conducted Bible readings at his

house on Sundays, and read the Bible aloud in his

shop on week-days. Sunday services were afterwards

held in his shop, with preaching by neighboring min-
isters. He was foremost in starting the Baptist

Church in 1851, was its first- treasurer, and assistant

superintendent of the Sunday-school at the start.

When the church edifice was built he was chairman
of the building committee, and for thirty years he

was superintendent of the Sunday-school, being for
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many years also a member or leader of the choir. For

years be officiated as undertaker in the village.

Mr. Clark wiu three times married,—on June 23,

1835, to Nancy Daniels, who died December 5, 1838;

on April 7, IS-10, to the widow Abbie Blake Adams,

to whom was boru one son, Willard E. ; on April 17,

1889. he took for his third wile Nettie Ashbrook

Steeves, of Moncton, New Bninswick, who survives

him.

CHAPTER XLIV.

BELMONT.

BY THOMAS W. DAVIS.

It was said, somewhat irreverently, by an earnest

advocate of the Hoosac Tunnel, before that wonderful

triumph of modern engineering had become an ac-

complished fact, that the finger of God marked the

valleys of the Deerfield and Hoosac Rivers for the lo-

cation of a great railroad, and the full force of the re-

mark is readily gra,sped by any one who, stand-

ing on the ridge which separates those streams,

observes the line of deeper green which in-

dicates the de.^cent of the hills on either hand to the

course of the waters below. The objection was at

once offered that, to make this argument avail, the

finger should have pierced the mountain, and thus

have made the route complete. Human enterprise has

now supplied that which was lacking, and from the

Atlantic plain of the Mystic and the Charles, across

the valleys of the Nashua and the Connecticut with

its tributaries, under and between the highlands of the

Green and Taconic Ranges, the iron horse makes his

regular journeys to meet the waters of the Hudson at

Troy, It is interesting to note how, in its advance

from one river system to another, the railroad has

seized upon a depression here in the mountain wall

of separation, a sloping upland there, and to observe

again how communities spring into being all along

the lines that help to tie the opposite ends of the

land together. No town in New England, unless it

be a railroad centre, owes its existence as a distinct

municipality more directly to railroad enterprise,

than does the town of Belmont. Its struggle for birth

ended happily in the same contest that determined

the completion of the Hoosac Tunnel, and there was

a peculiar fitness in the union of the friends of the

town and the advocates of the Tunnel in their efforts.

In the gradual growth of the ice trade, which was

for 80 long a period of years an important factor in

the development of Boston as a leading port of com-

merce, a railroad had been built from Charlestown to

Fresh Pond, for the purpose of carrying its ice to tide-

water. An extension of this road to the westward was
projected. To pass from the valley of the Mystic to

that of the Charles the most feasible route was found

to be between Fresh and Spy Ponds, and thence along

the southern border of Wellington Hill. At the

western extremity of the hill, a slight elevation turns

Beaver Brook from a southerly to a westerly direction,

and causes it to empty its waters into the Charles

River at Waltham, and the location of the railroad

followed the brook in its westerly course. Aside from

the advantages of this route, as determined by the

topographical survey—advantages so great that another

highway to the West has since taken thesameoutlet

—

it was an additional recommendation that the valley

at the base of Wellington Hill was sparsely populat-

ed. It formed the outskirts of two old towns. Water-

town and West Cambridge (now Arlington), and was,

by reason of its remoteness from the centres of those

towns, occupied exclusively by a farming poiiulation.

In 1843 a charter was obtained for the Fitchburg

Railroad, and it was opened to Waltham in Decem-

ber of that year. At the crossing of Concord Turn-

pike was placed the station of Wellington Hill, des-

tined to make the centre of the charming surburban

town of Belmont. At this time there were about one

hundred and twenty-five families residing upon the

territory now included within the limits of the town.

Improved facilities for communication with the neigh-

boring metropolis led to a steady growth in numbers.

The increase was not rapid. There was no place of

public worship nearer than West Cambridge or

Watertown, no store, post-office, nor public hall. The
policy of the railroad in respect to train accommoda-

tions andratesof fare was a fluctuating one, as, indeed,

it continued to be for many years. The roads and the

schools were not such as to offer special attractions to

those seeking a residence.

Believing that they could govern themselves and

provide for their needs as citizens more satisfactorily

than was possible while they continued in the towns

of which they formed a comparatively unimportant

part, a large majority of the residents near Wellington

Hill and in the village which had been begun around

the station at Waverley, applied in 1854 to the Gen-

eral Court for an act of incorporation as a town. This

petition was signed by Charles Stone and 127

others. Remonstrances were presented by citizens of

Waltham, from which a few acres were asked ; of

Watertown, which would lose half of its already cir-

cumscribed territory ; of West Cambridge, whose
" Flob End " suddenly acquired new value, and a

few voters in the proposed new town ; the land

companies, two in number, owning real estate in

Waverley and at Strawberry Hill also opposed the peti-

tion, and by concurrent vote of the two Houses ofthe

Legislature, the petitioners had leave to withdraw.

In 1855 petitions, headed by Jacob Hittinger,

David Mack, Albert Higgins and Leonard Stone

were received in the Senate and referred to the Com-

mittee on Towns. Remonstrances from the towns,

whcse territory was aflected, were also presented, and

from citizens of Watertown whose residences were in
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the proposed town. After several hearings a bill was

reported, which did not go beyond the house first

taking action upon it, being refused a third read-

ing in the Senate by a vote of nine to four.

Immediately aller tlie adjournment of the Legis-

lature, measures were taken by the .appointment of

committees and subscription of money for expenses,

to keep alive the interest of the people in the project,

and a petition from Jacob Hittinger and 101 other.s

was presented to the Legislature of 1850. Remon-

strances were also presented. The Committee on

Towns reported leave to withdraw, but a bill was sub-

stituted, which passed the Senate and was defeated in

the House. In 1S67 a petition was presented, signed

by Jacob Hittinger and 129 others, the usual remon-

strances being ofl'ered. After a 'jareful and exhaus-

tive examination into the merits of the enterprise,

the Committee on Towns were unanimous) in report-

ing a bill, which was defeated in the Senate.

The petition of 185S was signed by Jacob Hittin-

ger and 201 others. The remonstrants, like the peti-

tioners, were more numerous than in previous years,

as the possibility of favorable action upon the peti-

tion became greater. Leave to withdraw was re-

ported, and a substitute bill was introduced in the

Senate only to meet with defeat. In 1859 the peti-

tioners, again headed by Jacob Hittinger, were 203

in number. The usual remonstrances were presented.

A majority of the Committee on Towns reported a

bill which, after long and careful consideration,

passed the House, and the struggle was at last ended

by the favorable action of the Senate and the approval

of the Governor, Hon. Nathaniel P. Banks, which

was given March 18, 1859.

The town, as incorporated, took from Waltham
429 acres, from West Cambridge 1773 acres, and from

Watertown 1446 acres, making a total of 8648 acres,

or 5.75 square miles. Arlington bounds it upon the

north, Cambridge upon the east and Watertown on

the south. Its western boundary touches Lexington,

Waltham and Watertown. Its town-hall is six and

a half miles W.S.W. from the State-House. The pop-

ulation in 1853, when the first petitions for incorpor-

ation were circulated, was 1004, which was increased

to 1175 at the d.ate of incorporation. The valuation

in 1859 was §2,036,077.

The first town-meeting was held March 28, 1859.

At this meeting the act of incorporation was accepted,

and Mansur W. Marsh, Jacob Hittinger, J. Varnum
Fletcher, Jonas B. Chenery and Joseph Hill were

elected selectmen, and Mr. Marsh was subsequently

chosen chairman of the board ; J. Oliver Wellington,

Josiah Bright, Edwin Locke, William J. Underwood
and H. R. Fillebrown were elected assessors; Samuel

P. Hammatt, town clerk, and George S. Adams,

treasurer and collector of taxes. The first town tax

was $12,.500,85, which was raised by a levy of $5.11

on .SIOOO, and a poll tax of $1.50 on 325 polls. One
hundred and twenty-six regularly called town-meet-

ings have since been held, and Xhirty-six adjourned

meetings.

The second meeting of the new town was held

.'Vpril 13, 1859. Under the fourteenth article of the

warrant, " to see if the town will defray the expenses

necessarily incurred in procuring their act of In-

corporation," etc., the town voted to pay the expen-

ses, and the treasurer wivs authorized to borrow, upon
the notes of the town, a snilicient sum for the pur-

pose, not exceeding $9000, and to pay the same over

upon such vouchers as were approved by the sub-

committee of the petitioners for incorporation. Bills

were immediately presented and paid, amounting to

88779.20. A suit in equity was thereupon brought

by Jonathan Frost and others, to obtain a decree

compelling a restoration of the money to the town
treasury, the note having been paid in due time

from moneys obtained by the tax levy of 1859. The
case was heard before the full bench of the Supreme
Court in Marcli, 1862, and an order was issued re-

(piiring the treasurer to restore to the town treasury

the sum paid out with interest, the whole amounting
to $10,681.14, but deducting $478.68, which was al-

lowed to the plaintiffs in equity, for counsel fees and
other expenses incurred in bringing the suit for the

benefit of the town. Mr. .\dams, the trea-surer, was
reimbursed by a subscription. Later decisions have

gone further than this, in forbidding a town to raise

by taxation money to be expended in opposing its

own dismemberment.

For much of the early history of the territory now
included within the limits of Belmont, one must

look to the town from which it came. There was

but little common interest among its scattered inhab-

itants until they united in the struggle for corporate

existence. Ecclesiastically, politically and socially,

they were identified with the towns in which they

dwelt. In the latter part of the year 1855 the need

of a suitable building for public worship became felt

to such a degree that January 1, 1856, a paper was

put in circulation upon which the sum of $7000 was
pledged in amounts ranging from $100 to $500. At
a meeting held January 3d, of that year, the follow-

ing committee was chosen to build a " meeting-

house:" David Mack (chairman), Samuel 0. Mead,

Charles Stone, Edwin Locke, Albert Higgins, John

L. Alexander and J. M. Holliugsworth. In Septem-

ber, Mr. Mack resigned his position and J. Oliver

Wellington was elected chairman in his stead. The
church was located on Concord Turnpike, near the

railroad station. It was built by John C. Sawin

from plans by Enoch Fuller, and was completed in

the fall of 1857. Its total cost was about $13,000.

The church was dedicated December 2, 1857, and

was occupied as a place of worship by the Belmont

Congregational Society (Unitarian) until February

12, 1890, when it was destroyed by fire. At the time

of the fire it had become the property of J. V.

Fletcher. Nearly two years before it had been decid-
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ed to erect a new building under tlie leadership of

the ladies of the Arachne Club; subscriptions were

secured, and entertainments iu aid of the enterprise

were given, prominent among the subscribers being

the lirui of J. V. Fletcher & Co. and Edwin F.

Atkins, who gave $5000 each. The buiUling commit-

tee consisted of J. Henry Fletcher, William E.

Slowe, H. O. Underwood, Mrs. J. M. Hernandez and

John F. Richardson. A site having been selected,

nearly opposite the old church, the new building was

erected in 1889, iit a cost of upwards of $20,000.

Hartwell & Kichard.son were the architects of the

new church, and the builder was E. Atvvood, Jr.

The walls are of field stone, the gables and tower of

wood, covered with cement plaster. The tower, at

the northerly corner of the building, contains the bell

from the old church and a clock provided by the

town. Within, the linisb is of cypress, the roof of

the auditorium being of hard pine. Beautiful me-

morial windows are placed in this room. The vestry

and ladies' parlor are upon the same floor as the

large audience-room, and can be made a part of it

when required, and a well-appointed kitchen and

dining-room testify to the fact that the modern

church supplements its work as a factor in Christian

civilization by ministering to the social needs of hu-

manity. The churcli was dedicated April 9, 1890,

with appropriate services, including an original hymn

by the pastor, and the dedicatory sermon by Rev.

Brooke Herford, of Boston.

The pastors of the Society since its organization

have been Rev. Amos Smith, from October, 1857, to

March, 1872 ; Rev. Harvey C. Bates, October, 1873,

to September, 1876 ; Rev. Ivory F. Waterhouse,

March, 1877, until his death, at the age of fifty years,

March 2, 1882; Rev. J. Bradley Oilman, May, 1883,

to March, 1886; and Rev. Hilary Bygrave, from

November, 1886, to the present time. Rev. Mr. Smith

continued to reside in Beimont after his resignation,

until his death, September 12, 1887, at the age of sev-

enty years.

The first steps to provide for legular public worship

at Waverley were taken at a meeting held May 27,

1861. There were present at this meeting Daniel

Deshon, John- Taggard, .John Sylvester, Har-

rington, Samuel Greene, William Lowry, Frank Cot-

tle, W. A. Blodgett and Seromus Gates.

A committee was appointed to solicit subscriptions

to an amount " not less than five hundred dollars,"

for the support of worship for one year from June 1,

1861. At an adjourned meeting held Saturday, June
1st, the committee reported that they should be able to

secure the necessary funds, and it was voted to extend

an invitation to Rev. Charles Jones to preach for one

year in Waverley Hall, at a salary of four hundred

dollars. The call was accepted. The following year

an attempt was made to substitute the Episcopal for

the Congregational form of worship and two subscrip-

tion papers were, under the direction of a committee.

pre-scnted to the inhabitants of the village. The can-

vass which followed resulted in a larger support, both

in money and numbers, for Congregational worship,

and at a meeting held May 12, 1862, it was voted to

continue that form. An ellbrt made at a subsequent

meeting to reconsider this vote was not successful.

Rev. Hubbard Winslow was now invited to become

the pastor of the little society, and he filled that oflice

until June 1, 1868. For more than a year following

the pulpit was supplied by various preachers. Sep-

tember 1, 1804, Rev. Josiah W. Turner assumed the

pastoral charge at a salary of eight hundred dollars

per annum. July 11, 1865, an ecclesiastical council

of the neighboring (Trinitarian Congregational)

churches was held, for the purpose of recognizing

"The First Congregational Church of Waverley."

The original members of the church were : Rev.

Josiah W. Turner, Mrs. Almena W. Turner, Rev.

Daniel Butler, Mrs. Jane D. Butler, Daniel Deshon,

Mrs. Eunice Deshon, John Sylvester, Mrs. Lucy J.

Sylvester, William Jewett, Mrs. Lois M. Jewett,

Seromus Gates, Mrs. Lemira H. Gates, William

Lowry, Miss Frances M. Grant, J. Douglas Butler,

Miss Mary F. Turner. William Lowry was the first

deacon of the church, in which office he has been

succeeded by Solyman W. Grant and William Jew-

ett.

Rev. Mr. Turner was installed as pastor February

1, 1S66, and was dismissed July 1, 1873. His suc-

cessors have been : Rev. John L. Ewell, December

10, 1874, to March 16, 1878 ; Rev. William H. Teel,

July 3, 1878, to August 1, 1883 ; and Rev. George P.

Oilman, from November 16, 1883, to the date of writ-

ing.

The society supporting the church was legally

incorporated Feb. 29, 1868, as the " First Congrega-

tional Society of Waverley." Active steps were at

once taken under the leadership of the pastor for the

erection of a house of worship. A lot at the north-

east corner of White and North Streets was donated

by the Waverley Company, subscriptions were pledged

and the corner-stone of a church was laid August 12,

1869. The building was erected from plans drawn by

Hammatt& J. E. Billings, and was dedicated Janu-

ary 13, 1870. The style of the church is Early

Gothic. Its plan is a quadrilateral with a bell-tower

in the corner and is divided into church and vestry

in connection. The church proper has an open tim-

ber roof and windows of painted and stained-glass of

simple design. All the finish and pews are of oak,

and the pulpit and furniture are of black walnut.

The seating capacity is about two hundred and twen-

ty. It may be remarked in passing, that the Sab-

bath-school at Waverley antedates the church by sev-

eral years.

The Waverley Christian Union was organized in

December, 1882. Its membership consists of those

who contribute to the support of the union and sub-

scribe to the following covenant:
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"In the love of the truth and in the spirit of Jesus

Christ, we join for the \vorslii|) of Goil iimi theservice

of man."

The society hits lield a regular preaching service

and a Salibath-school in Waverley Hall since the

date of its organization. The pastor of the Belmont

Congregational Soiiety has thus far been the |>astor

of the union. Thirty- four persons were baptized by

Rev. J. B. (iilnian at a service held November 1,

I88f>. Additions have been made to the society from

time to time, and the erection of a house of worship

has been contemplated, and will be accomplished in

the not far di.stant future.

All Saints' Guild (Episcopal) was organized on

All Saint.1' Eve, October Ml, 1S87, at the home of

Miss Lucy A. Hill, \Vaverley. For nearly two year.t

previous to its organization, Rev. Edward A. Rand,

of Watertown, conducted occasional cottage services,

the first of these being held at the residence of Mr.

H. A. Scranton, Waverley, on Good Friday evening,

April, ISW, Sunday afternoon services were held

during the summers of 1S87 and 1888 af Miss Hill's

residence ; evening cotiageservice has been held

once a month on a week-day since the formation of

the Guild, and latterly, Rev. Mr. Rand, assisted by

Rev. Thomas Bell, of Arlington, has conducted a

Sunday afternoon service once a month at the Town
Hall, Belmont. The present officers of the Guild are

:

Rev. Edward A. Rand, president ; Mrs. H. A. Scran-

ton, vice-president ; Miss E. J. Woodward, secretary
;

Mrs. A. A. Adams, treasurer, and an executive com-

mittee of eight members.

The families in the northeast part of the town have

very largely continued to find their church-home in

the town of Arlington. A mission enterprise in the

Mount Auburn district of Watertown has also re-

ceived liberal support from residents of Belmont.

The Roman Catholics in the town, although main-

taining a Sabbath -school for a number of years, have

been connected with jiarishes in Arlington, Cambridge

and Watertown until a very recent date. After hold-

ing regular services at the Town Hall for some

months, a site was selected for a church on Common
Street, near School Street, and subscriptions were be-

gun for the expenses of erection in May, 188(i. The
work was pushed forward rapidly under the super-

vision of a building committee, consisting of Edward

Quigley, .lames Hart, W. J. Reed, J. F. Leoiuird and

C. .1. McGinniss. The first Mass in the church was

celebrated June .5, 1887, and it was dedicated March

31, 1889, by Right Rev. John J. Williams, Archbishop

of Boston, assisted by a large number of the clergy of

the diocese. The dedication sermon was by Rev. D.

< )'CallMghan, of South Boston, and an address was

given by Rev. Robert J. Fulton, of Boston College.

The pastor of the church, which bears the name of

St. Joseph's, is Rev. Thomas H. Shahau.

Upon the territory incorporated into the town of Bel-

mont were three school-houses, one on Brighton

Street (still standing on the same location), one on
Washington Street and one at the corner of Beech and
North Streets, at Waverley. In the building on

Brighton street were two schools, the higlier of which,

the North Grammar, was taught by Mr. Arthur 1'.

Smith. The other buildings each contained a primary

school. A (iflh school, called the South Grammar,
was at once organized in the Washington Street

school-house and placed under the charge of Mr.
David Mack. The reputation of both of these gentle-

men as instructors testifies to the educational advan-
tages enjoyed at even this early day in onr history by

the youth of the town. .Vrrangenients were also made
by which pupils already admitted to the High Schools

might complete, witliDUt change of school, the course

of study they had entered upon. .AiKilher school-

house, on Grove Street, was at once provided for, the

scholars in the southeast portion of the town remain-

ing until the completion of this building in the

.schools of Watertown. Mr. Smith resigned his posi-

tion in the North Grammar School in 18(54, and the

school was, a few munths later, reduced to an inter-

mediate grade upon the establishment of a new Cen-

tral (irammar School. Ill health necessitated the re-

tirement of Mr. Mack in September, 1801. His suc-

cessors were Rev. James Thur.ston, 1861 ; William W.
Colburn, 1861-r)2; Augustus W. Wiggiu, 18G2-

6.3, and De Forest Satford, 1 Stili-C}, when the

school was merged in the Central Grammar School,

of which Eben H. Davis became the first principal.

In the following year this school took the name of the

High School, which it has since retained, although in

1869 it was, for a few months, reduced to a grammar
grade. Mr. E. H. Davis resigned in 1870 to accept a

superintendent's position. His successor was Thomas
W. Davis, who was directed, in taking charge of the

school, to restore it to its higher grade. Mr. T. W.
Davis resigned in 1881 to engage in teaching in the

city of Cambridge, but has continued to reside in Bel-

mont. Charles L. Clay was principal in 1881, and in

December of that year was succeeded by the present

principal, Henry H. Butler. The liberality of the

town in educational matters is illustrated by the fact

that this school has been maintained for so many
years with no recpiircment therefor under the laws of

the Commonwealth. Its sessions for two years were

held in the vestry of the Cimgregational Church. The
High School building on School Street was erected in

1867 at a cost of $15,000, and was dedicated December

2d of that year. The hall in its lower story was occu-

pied by the town for its meetings until 1882, after

which both stories were ilevoted to school purposes.

The Washington Street building was moved to the

same enclosure as the High School in 18G7, and is

still in service.

The school-house at the corner of Beech and North

Streets was burned in 1872. A new brick building

was erected the next year in a more central location

at the corner of North and Waverley Streets, the cost
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ofbuilding and land being about $16,000. Meanwhile,

the school was aecommoilated in the vestry of the

Waverley Coiigrep;ational Church.

A school-house on Cushing Street, in the Mt. Au-

burn District, was built in 1871. This and the build-

ing on Grove Street were purchased by Cambridge

iu 1880, when the territory adjacent to Fresh Pond

was annexed to that city. The teachers whose ser-

vices to the town have continued through the longest

term of years are 5Ii.su Hannah B. McGinniss and

Miss Harriet A. Hill, who were appointed in 1870,

and Miss Etta C. Leonard in 1871. The labors of the

teachers in the schools have been, with but slight

exception, faithful and self-denying, and it is pleasant

to record that they have been appreciated. A n unusually

large proportion of those employed have been persons

ofsuccessful experience elsewhere. Skilled superinten-

dence of the schools began with the school year of

1890, the first incumbent of the office of superinten-

dent being L F. Hall, who also Buperintends the

schools of Leominster, devoting to each town a fixed

amount of time per week. A vote of the town at the

annual meeting of 1890, was favorable to the erection

of a new building, to embody the advanced ideas of

the day, in respect to ventilation and general sanitary

arrangements, and to provide accommodations for a

largely increased number of pupils, but the measure

has as yet failed to be carried into effect, motions to

appropriate the money necessary for its erection not

having received the two-thirds vote which is required

when payment is to extend through a series of years.

The Public Library dates its existence from the

year 1868. Much of the credit for its inception

belongs to the late David Mack, who circulated the

original subscription papers for a " Free Public Li-

brary," was one of the Library Committee and the

first librarian. With him, by vote of the town, were

associated upon the committee the chairman of the

Board of Selectmen, the chairman of the School

Committee, and Rev. Amos Smith and Rev. J. W.
Turner, "the two settled clergymen of the town, ex-

officio." Rev. Mr. Smith declined to serve and the

chairman of the School Committee resigned his

position upon that board and so ceased to be a mem-
ber of the Library Committee. The first report of

the committee, made by Mr. Mack, showed the num-
ber of volumes in the library to be 817, of which

667 were acquired by purchase and 118 were received

from the library of the Farmers' Club. A room in

the new High School building, adjacent to the hall

occupied by the town for its meetings, was assigned

to the library, and the town appropriated $500

towards its organization and maintenance. The room
was open for the delivery of books one hour each

week. In 1872 the librarian made his second report,

showing an increase to 1650 volumes, and including

an earnest appeal for enlarged accommodations,
which was renewed in the following year. At the

annual meeting in 1873 the town voted to place the

library in the charge of trustees, and one of the

first steps taken by the new officers was to remove the

library to a larger room in the basement of the Uni-

tarian Church. Two members of the board have

served upon it from its organization to the present

time, and the term of office has from the beginning

been, by election, for three years. Mr. Mack resigned

the position of librarian in 1876 and was succeeded

by Walter H. Stone. The catalogue of 1877 contains

the names of 2849 volumes. The purposes of the

management were concisely stated in the report for

that year. "Believing that a few good books thor-

oughly read, are more beneficial than any course of

reading more extended in surface, but lacking in

depth, the trustees commend, to younger readers

especially, that they learn to draw deep from ' the

wells of English undefiled' of our standard writers,

while at the same time provision is made for gratifying

the taste of those who read for recreation, and derive

profit therefrom incidentally." In the report for the

year 1881 the trustees congratulated the citizens upon

the approaching completion of the new Town Hall

and Library Building, and acknowledged a donation

of $1000 from an anonymous " well-wisher of the

Public Library." The town increased two fold in

the following year its annual appropriation for the

library. This appropriation has, since that time,

averaged nearly $1000, including the amount returned

to the town from the " Dog Tax,'' after the damages

done by these animals in the county have been set-

tled. The removal of the library to its present

quarters was made in the summer of 1882, at which

time a reading-room was also instituted and open to

the public two afternoons and evenings each week

and for about three hours every Sunday. Mr. Stone

resigned his position in 1883, and Mr. Edward W.
Brown, the present librarian, was appointed in his

stead. In 1886 the privilege was granted to the High
School of the use of the library, by allowing the

principal to draw from it twenty-five volumes at any

one time, to be used in the school at his discretion.

The library now contains 6700 volumes, a large pro-

portion being works of standard value, and in the

reading-room are to be found the leading popular

periodicals of the day.

The hall in the High School building not being

conveniently located, and being totally inadequate to

the needs of the town, preliminary steps were taken

in March, 1881, looking to the erection of a Town
Hall and Public Library building. In April of that

year an appropriation was made by unanimous vote

of the town and a Building Committee appointed, con-

sisting of W. J. Underwood, J. V. Fletcher, J. S.

Kendall, D. F. Learned, Varnum Frost, S. S. C. Rus-

sell and W. E. Stowe.

A lot, eligibly located and containing upwards of

40,000 square feet, was presented to the town by

Elisha Atkins. The structure erected upon this site

is so complete in all its appointments that it has been
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the model for similar buildings in thriving towns of

the Commonwealth. It is of Queen Anne archi-

tecture, built of brick and terra cotta, situated at the

junction of Pleasant Street and Concord Avenue. In

a basement, wholly above the natural surface of the

ground, which slopes toward the south, are the rooms

of the officers of the town, with an apartment for

chemical engine and hose-carriage at the rear.

Upon the main floor above, lighted from the north,

is the Town Hall, with its gallery, lobby and ante-

rooms, stage and dressing-rooms, the latter being in a

half-story under the stage and above the engine-room.

The chief entrance to the building is under a broad,

deeply-recessed arch, in the southwestern front, the

place of honor being given to a bronze tablet bearing

the names of the Belmont heroes who fell in the War
of the Rebellion.

A side entrance upon thesame wall of the buildinj;

admits to a corridor between the main hall and the

rooms above the town offices which are occupied by

the Public I>ibrary. These rooms consist of a waiting-

room, in wliicb is the desli of the librarian, separated

by a wooden screen from the reading-room at the

front of the building, with tire-place and alcove in the

circular tower, and a book-room which is reached by

a passage-way behind the librarian's desk, and which

has space for about 15,000 volumes. The architect was

Henry W. Hartwell, of Boston, and the cost of the

building was nearly $50,000. It was dedicated .lune

22, 1882, on one of those perfect days which nature

provides in the loveliest montli of the year. The for-

mal exerci.«e8 of dedication consisted of prayer by

Rev. W. H. Teel ; presentation of the keys of the

building by W. J. Underwood of the Building Com-

mitteej their reception b)' .Tosiah S. Kendall, of the

Board of Selectmen, and T. W. Davis, of the Trustees

of the Library ; the " patriarchal blessing " of the

Commonwealth, by His Excellency, John D.Long;
and short addresses by President Robert R. Bishop, ol

the State Senate ; Henry W. Muzzey, of Cambridge,

and Dr. J. C. Harris, of Arlington, representing at

the time those places in the General Court; W.
H. Ingraham, of Watertown ; Mansur W. Marsh and

Rev. Daniel Butler, of Belmont. The exercises were

interspersed with music by the Belmont Choral So-

ciety. An extract from the remarks of one of the

speakers, as printed in an account of the proceedings,

sets forth so clearly what may be called the motive of

the building, that it is reproduced here :

" It has been said that, at the creation. Eve was

taken, not from man's head to be his ruler, nor from

his feet to be his slave, but from his side as his equal,

his companion and hU friend. So, upon the same

level, have you placed the Public Library, represen-

tative of the education to be derive<l from books, and

this hall, in whicli the lessons are to be taught by liv-

ing men. Here we are to be developed by intercourse

with the minds of our fellows ; there we may hold

communion with the spirits of those long passed away.

There we can learn the history of the past ; here we
ourselveaare to be makers of history, while weexercise

the highest powers of human government in the

meetings of a pure democracy regulating it.s own inter-

nal affairs. In both places we are to instruct and
train our children in the duties and responsibilities of

citizenship. But the fitness does not end thus. .On

yonder tablet, without the doors of this building, are

the names of those who, in the discharge of such re-

sponsibilities, gave their lives for their country, and
we honor their memory to-day. Long be it ere the

land is called upon to undergo another baptism of

blood. But in the peaceful walks of daily life, where,
nevertheless, hard battles may be fought and victories

gained, or on the field of death, if (!od so wills, may
one and alt wlio gather here to stand beside us or fol-

low in our foot-steps, so live and act and so die as to

prove how faithfully and thoroughly the great lessons

of duty and patriotism have been taught within these

walls."

A promenade concert in the evening closed the

pleasures of the day, during which the whole town
had kept " open house," and all seemed to rejoice in

the final removal of the stigma aflixed by a speaker

in the Legislature a quarter of a century before,

when he reproached the people for asking for incorpor-

ation as a town before they had ivithiu their limits

"a church, a public-hall, or even a blacksmith-shop."

The Park simth of the railroad tracks, at the

junction of (Jommon Street and (Concord Avenue, was

laid out in the year 1881. Part of the funds needed

for its purchase were raised by subscription, and the

balance was furnished by the town, which has assum-

ed its maintenance. The Park Commissioners are W.
J. Underwood, J. Willard Hill and Edwin K.Atkins,

who have served continuously since the creation of

the Board in 1882.

The grounds around the railroad stations adjoining

are also parks in themselves, and show the results to

be obtained by intelligent care.

The Fire Department of the town of Belmont may
be said to date from about the year 1826, when
an engine was located near Meeting-house Hill.

The engine and company connected with it bore the

name of " Protector, No. 3," while in the town of

Watertown. In Belmont the name became " Pro-

tector, No. 1."

In 1833 the town of West Cambridge purchased an
engine for the South District. The engine and com-
pany stationed in this locality is " Howard, No. 2."

In 1873 a Babcock Extinguisher, to be manned by a
company of ten men, was purchased, and located on
Pleasant Street near Concord Avenue. On the com-
pletion of the Town Hall, this machine was placed

in a suitable room in the basement. In 1887, after

the introduction of a .system of water supply, two hose

companies were organized and |)rovided with wagons
carrying 600 feet each of hose. The wagons were
built by a Belmont manufacturer, Mr. Eden Price,
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and are stationed, one at Waverley, in the vill:it,'c hall

building, and the other at the Town Hall. The com-

panies are named rtspeetively Waverley Hose, No. 1,

and Helmont Hose, No. 2. In addition to this organ-

ization the town is the owner of nearly forty Johnson

hand-r.uni|>s, distributed among householders. The

various urganizatioiis have a fair record of service.

It may be noted at an historical fact that they do not

go so far afield at the present time as they were once

inclined to do, in the days when steam fire-engines

were less common, and the aid of a body of enthusias-

tic workers was welcomed by the adjoining towns as

a valuable auxiliary in conquering the devouring

element, and of late years no attempt has been made

to reach and extinguish the rising moon. In June,

1890, a fire-alarm telegraph was put in operation,

with signal-boxes at a few points, and alarms .struck

on the bell of the Congregational Church at Waverley,

on a large gong at the Town Hall and on small bells

at the houses of the engineers. The engineers of the

department are David Chenery, chief; Herbert H.

Russell, George A. Prentiss and David S. McCabe.

The post-oflice at Belmont was established in 1856.

Dr. J. L. Alexander was the first postmaster. He was

succeeded a few years later by the present incumbent

of the office, Aaron A. Adams.

The post-ofBce at Waverley was established in

1858. The first postmaster was Seromus Gates, who

held the office about fifteen years, and served in the

mean time a term of enlistment in the Forty-second

Massachusetts Regiment in 1864. He was succeeded

by Larra W. Munroe. The present postmaster is

Herbert H. Russell.

The unanimity with which the town, in 1881, pro-

ceeded to the erection of the Town Hall has already

been spoken of. The most serious difterence in opin-

ion among the voters was of earlier date and is

worthy of passing notice. In May, 1871, a petition

was presented to the selectmen for the laying out a

road from North Street in Waverley, over the High-

lands and Wellington Hill to the southerly line of

Arlington, there to connect with a similar road from

the ])rincipal street in Arlington, the whole to bear

the name of Highland Avenue. The selectmen viewed

the premises and laid out the road substantially as

asked for. It was to be nearly two miles in length,

and to be built at an expense of perhaps $30,000, but

probably more money would have been needed to

complete it in a satisfactory manner. At the annual

meeting in 1872 the action of the selectmen came be-

fore the town for acceptance. It was at once evident

that there was strong opposition to the project, many

of the voters feeling that the town would receive a

benefit from the road entirely disproportionate to the

outlay incurred. Consideration of the article in the

warrant was at once proposed to the adjourned meet-

ing to be held a month later, and at that time the

town voted to again postpone all consideration of the

subject to the next annual meeting, and also refused

to pay for the surveying and jdans which had been

made. March 4, 1873 the town voted not to acce])t

the road. April 7th a motion was made to reconsider

this vote. The motion to reconsider was lost, and,

as it was known that the county commissioners had

been applied to to lay out the road as a county way,

parts of the pro])osed avenue lying in two towns, a

committee was appointed to appear before that Board

and oppose any action. It was, however, voted to

pay the expenses incurred by the selectmen in pro-

curing a survey. July 28th, upon an order fr<im the

commissioners to build the road, action was postponed

for a month to obtain further information as to ex-

pense, etc., and to allow bids to be made for building.

August 25th the town voted not to build. The
matter was again brought up in a meeting held Sep-

tember 22d, upon a proposition to construct the road

without sidewalks, and with a narrow road-bed for the

time being. By a vote of more than two to one it

was then voted that the town " refuse to build High-

land Avenue, so-called, as ordered by the county

commissioners, either thirty or fifty feet wide, or with

or without sidewalks, or in any manner." As the

commissioners did not endeavor to carry their order

into eftect, the subject ceased for the time to be an

issue in local politics. The bids for construction

showed a great difference in opinion among contrac-

tors as to the cost, the lowest bid being $26,500, the

highest in the neighborhood of $90,000.

In 1877 a proposition was made that the commis-

sioners be asked to lay out the road "in an economi-

cal manner," not to cost over $18,000, certain modifi-

cations having been made in the plans. Considera-

tion of the subject was indefinitely postponed, the vote

standing 120 to eighty-six, and the effort to construct

the road was never renewed.

The petition of the Watertown Water Supply Com-
pany to the Legislature of 1885, for authority to lay

mains and supply water to inhabitants of Belmont,

led the town to take action looking to a system of

works under its own control. A committee was ap-

pointed to appear before the legislative committee

and act as might best ])rotect the interests of the

town. The result of tbeir labors appeared in the

passage of a bill empowering the town to provide an

independent supply, or to contract with the Water-

town Co. or the city of Cambridge, on such terms as

might be agreed upon. The act was at once accepted

by the town. In the following winter a movement

was inaugurated in the village of Waverley, having

for its object the commencement of operations under

the act. This movement was soon merged in a more

extended action on the part of citizens throughout

the town, a citizens' committee of twenty was organ-

ized, and at the following annual town-meeting,

after a sharp parliamt-utary contest, the town voted

to proceed with the work. The decided majority ob-

tained by the friends of the measure disarmed its op-

ponents, and the necessary appropriations were made



BELMONT. 689

by a unanimous vote. The Water Commissioners

elected at a subsequent meeting were W. J. Under-

wood, T. D. Blake and Gustiivus C. Holt, who still

j
continue in office. The town has about ten miles of

I

street mains, with sixty-nine hydrants, (the sys-

tem is being extended from year to year), which are

connected with the pipes of the Watertown Water

Supply Co., and carry the water obtained by that

company from basins dug near the Charles River

near Bemis Station in VV^atertown. The.town divides

with the company the receipts from private services.

At the expiration of its contract with the Supply

Company, the town is at liberty to make a new con-

tract, or to provide an independent supply if it so

desires. The system gives general satisfaction.

Gas Introduced.—Gas for public lighting was

introduced into the town in 1867. The expense was

so great in proportion to the benefit received, and the

Arlington Gas Light Co., which holds the right to lay

pipes in the streets, not doing that work except in a

small section of the town, the lighting of the streets

was performed mainly by gasoline, from 1874 to 1889.

Dissatisfaction with the results opened the way for the

introduction of the electric light. Early in the year

1889 the Somerville Electric Light Co. introduced

an experimental service, and found little difficulty in

obtaining a vote of the town favorable to a contract

for a short term of years. The system is of incandes-

cent lamps, with are lights at a few central points.

The system has not yet come into use for domestic

lighting, nor, with a single exception, for business

purposes.

The Civil War.—The record of the town in the

Civil War is a highly honorable one. With a total

population of less than 1250, it furnished, under the

twelve calls of the President of the United States,

one hundred and forty-seven men, and paid out a.s

a town and by subscription of citizens, upwards of

$26,000 for bounties and other direct expenses of the

town in filling its quota. Those who went into the

service could not do so accompanied by their neigh-

bors and friends, but were obliged to serve with

strangers. Half a dozen men in any one regiment

was as large a group as went together into the ser-

vice. The bronze tablet at the entrance of the Town
Hall records the names of those who made the

supreme sacrifice—the gift of their lives—for the

sake of the nation. The inscription is as follows :

In MeDioriam

John Locke, James McGinniss,

Sept. 22, 1862. June 24, 1868.

GuARLES v. Mabsh, Albert C. FnOST,

Missing. Sept. 17, 1863.

William H. Benson, Lewis H. Marsh,
Oct. 10, 1862. May 13, 1864.

The surviving veterans are associated in the Grand
Army of the Republic, with Francis Gould Post, No.

36, of Arlington, under whose direction the annual

ceremonies in the town on Memorial Day are con-

ducted.

44-iii

A New Hall.—Until the year 1871, Waverley
Hall was the name given to the hall in the second

st«ry of the store building erccteil by the Waverley
(Land) Co., near the railroad station at Waverley.

file building in that year became private property, and
alterations were made by which the hall ceased to

exist. A substitute was provided by the town in the

second story of the new school-house, erected in 1874.

When it became necessary to use this for school pur-

poses, the initiatory steps were taken at a meeting of

residents of the village, at the house of George H.
Stearn.s, looking to the erection of a building in

which provision could be made for meetings for

religious and social purpcses. After careful delibera-

tion a stock company was formed in 1881, called the

Waverley Hall Company, which proceeded to erect a

suitable building on the south side of Church Street.

The structure is of the Swiss style of architecture,

two and one-half stories in height, forty by sixty

feet in size, and has a tower in which is a bell, con-

tributed by citizens, and a clock, voted by the town.

The building was i)rovided with furniture from the

proceeds of a fair, supplementing private subscrip-

tion. The lower story contains a store, and the room
of the Waverley Hose Company. The main hall, with

its stage and convenient dre.ssing-roonis, occupies the

second story, and the half-story above is devoted to a

kitchen and small ball which can be used for society

purposes, and for a supper-room. The present board

of directors are John Fenderson, president; F. E.

Whitcomb, vice-president; G. C. Holt, clerk and

treasurer ; Isaac Watts, J. L. Ellis, G. H. Stearns

and H. M. Ellison.

Physicians.—It is a testimony to the healthful-

ness of Belmont that for many years it had no resi-

dent physician. Those who needed medical assist-

ance called upon the doctors in the towns around, and

the same practice is largely followed to-day. Dr.

George H. Caldwell v/aa located in Waverley in 1876

and 1877, but was engaged in other business, while

attending to such calls as were made upon him. Dr.

George W. Jones commenced practice in Belmont in

1879, and removed to Cambridgeport in 1881. The
present physicians are Dr. IT. A. Yeuetchi, from 1885,

and Dr. L. B. Clark, who established himself at Wa-
verley early in the present year.

Secret Societies.— lielmont Lodge, of Free and
Accepted Masons was erected in March, 1804, under a

dispensation from William Parkman, Grand Master,

and a charter was granted in March, 1865, to eleven

Master Masons, viz. : William B. Bothamly, William

W. Mead, William J. Underwood, Jonas B. Chenery,

George W. Ware, Jr., Orlando M. Homer, Charles L.

Heywood, Horace H. Homer, John Alexander, John
G. Smith and Albert Higgius. Messrs. Bothamly
Underwood and H, H. Homer are still members of

the lodge, the membership of nearly all the others

having been terminated by death. The Worshipful

Masters have been William B. Bothamly, William
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\V. Mead, Alvin L. Fisher, George 11. Porter, Henry

M. Haines, John H. Lakin, Charles E. Chenery,

George H. Chenery, William M. Nassau, William

Mnnroe, .Tolin H. Pettinger, J. Lucius Ellis, Frank

Chaiidlcr, .Tames D. Evans and William H. Pierce.

The lodge met in the (old) Waverley Hull until

1S70, In the Town Hall in the High School building

until 1S80. The lodge-room in the station of the

Fitchburg Railroad, at Belmont, was dedicated by

Charles \. Welch, Grand Master, and officers of the

Grand Lodge, February 26,1880. The lodge has a

membership of 75. William W. Mead, the second

Master, died August 14, 1883, while holding the

office of secretary. He had been devoted to the in-

terests of the lodge from its formation, and no men-

tion of the body would be complete which did not

include a tribute to his memory. He was prominent

also in the affairs of the town, having been a member

of the School Committee from 1872 to 1881, and town

clerk from 1871 until his death. He was the son of

Samuel O. Mead, who was one of the leading spirits

in the movement for the incorporation of the town

and in the formation of the Belmont Congregational

Society.

Waverley Council, No. 313, Boyal Arcanum, was in-

stituted April 30, 1879, at the hall in the school build-

ing at the corner of North and Waverley Streets. Its

meetings were held at different places until 1882,

when a lease was taken of the upper rooms in the

new Waverley Hall building. The Past Regents of

the Council are William Munroe, H. W. Ball, T. W.
Davis, J. H. Pettinger, John Fenderson, G. H. Stearns,

Isaac Watts, F. E. Whitcomb, J. L. Ellis, J. D.

Evans, G. C. Holt and W. H. Benjamin. The pres-

ent officers are W. G. Roberts, Regent ; H. S. Harris,

Vice-Regent ; J. B. Perault, Orator ; W. H. Benja-

min, Past Regent; C. W. Benjamin, Secretary ; Ed-

ward Ilaskins, Collector; H. H. Russell, Treasurer
;

J. R. Mackessy, Jr., Chaplain ; Benjamin Hamman,
Guide ; B. A. Harris, Warden ; W. J. Reed, Sentry.

The Council is in a flourishing condition.

Belmont Savings Bank.—In 1885 a charter was

obtained from the Legislature for the Belmont Sav-

ings Bank largely through the instrumentality of

Hon. J. V. Fletcher, who was a member of the Com-

mittee on Banks and Banking. The use of a room

in the Town Hall was granted gratuitously to the

bank, which was organized in the latter part of that

year, and commenced business in January following.

About a year after, the bank suffered from the depre-

dations of burglars, who carried away bonds and

other securities of several thousand dollars in value

and a small sum of money. In spite of the interrup-

tion and delay in realizing income occasioned by the

robbery, the bank has paid dividends regularly and

is upon a substantial footing. Its officers remain as

when first organized, and are as follows : President,

J. V. Fletcher ; Vice Presidents, J. S. Kendall, G. F.

Blake, Frederic Dodge and J. O. Wellington ; clerk,

T. W. Davis. The above, with J. H. Fletcher, Jacob

Hittinger, T. D. Blake, J. L. Ellis, Henry Frost, G.

C. Holt, .1. E. Locke, Chandler Robbins, A. E. Hill,

J. W. Hill and D. F. Learned, constitute the Board

of Trustees. The treasurer is W. L. Chenery.

The deposits in April, 1890, amounted to $42,442.41.

Industries.—Until the annexation of the Mount
Auburn District to Cambridge, the cutting and stor-

ing of ice was a leading industry during the winter

months, the first ice exported from this to warmer

countries having been taken from Fresh Pond by

Frederick Tudor, who sent a cargo to Martinique in

1805. The War of 1812 put an end to the traffic for a

time, but with concessions from the Cuban govern-

ment it was resumed a few years later. The amount

exported by Mr. Tudor in 1832 was forty-two hun-

dred tons, all of which was taken from Fresh Pond.

In 1833 the first shipment was made to the East Indies.

Belmont's representative in the ice trade was Jacob

Hittinger, a sketch of whose life is appended to this

article.

The manufacture of brick in the town was begun

in 1873 by the Cambridge Brick Company, on the

territory afterwards annexed to Cambridge. The
company was not successful, and the works were

abandoned. In 1888 Parry Brothers & Company
bought twenty acres of land on Concord Avenue,

three-fourths of a.mile from the Belmont station, and

have a plant in successful operation. Near this are

the sausage works of W. H. Burke, established in

188(5. Wagous are manufactured by Eden Price, at

the corner of Pleasant and Brighton Streets. Belmont

has always been, however, pre-eminently an agri-

cultural community. Special attention has been paid

for many years to the cultivation of small fruits, to

say nothing ofthe days when thestrawberriesfrom Bel-

mont were always the first in the Boston markets,

long before railroad transportation was reduced to the

science which enables us to enjoy " the best berry that

God ever made" before the snows of winter have

ceased to fall upon our hillsides
;
passing without

mention the festivals ofthe years gone by, when from

far and near guests came to taste the fruit in the

atmosphere that had brought it to perfection. The

census returns of 1885 show that the town is first ill

the county in the value of its fruit products, and at

the same time second in the value of vegetables

raised for the market. The acreage devoted to these

purposes is limited, lying mainly in the eastern

portion of the town. It was said with truth at the

time of its incorporation that Belmont took from both

West Cambridge and Watertown much of their

richest land, some of it being, in the opinion of good

judges, the best farming land in the State. In the

northern and western sections the soil is generally

good, but not so deep or fertile.

The dairy products are very small. The town is

notable in stock-raising for having been the first place

in the country in which a purely-bred herd of Hoi

1
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ein cattle was maintained. This was at the " High-

nd Stocli Farm" owned and carried on for many
jars by Winthrop W. Chenery, and until recently

the possession of a member of his family. Importa-

Dns were made by Mr. Clienery in 1852, '54, '59 and

1. "The considerations which in the first instance

d to these importations vverea conliilcnt belief in the

iperiority of the dairy cows of North Holland . . .

id also in their adaptation to the climate of New
ingland, which in its variableness is strikingly

milar to that of Holland." The animals imported

I 18G1 formed the ground-work of the present llol-

ein stock of this country. In 1872, Mr. Chenery

irepared the Holstein Herd-Book, which was pub-

shedby authority of the Association of Breeders of

horoughbred Holstein Cattle, of which he was then

president.

Following the usual course of places convenient to

lir large cities, and possessing marked natural at-

actions, the population of the town is becoming

residential." An increasing proportion of the in-

ibitants have no direct interest in the soil, except as

furnishes an agreeable and healthful location for

le homes which are taking possession of the hill-

and confining the husbandmen to even narrower

mits. In 1881 the Massachusetts Central Railroad

constructed and opened to travel as far as Hud-
i)n, twenty nine miles from Boston. The original.

ying-out of this road in Belmont was south of its

' resent road-bed, and crossing the Fitchburg Railroad

y an overhead bridge near Hill's Crossing. On ac-

mnt of the large number of grade-crossings made
eeessary by thisroute, it was opposed by many citizens.

'he road was finally located parallel and adjacent to

le Fitchburg road upon its north side from Hill's

'rossing to Clematis Station, in Waltham. Failing

) pay its expenses, the road exiierienced financial

iflSculties and a change of name, and now, as the

'entral Massachusetts Railroad, is leased and operated

y the Boston and Maine Railroad, as a part of its

luthern division, and over it trains are sent out to

he west and south, by way of the bridge across the

ludson River at Poughkeepsie. Together, the two

oads give good accommodation to travel and at reason-

ble rates. Few towns can boast of finer views than

re to be had from the slopes of the swelling hills

liat emborder the villages of Belmont. It merits its

ame, which was derived from the residence of John
'. Gushing, later known as the Payson estate, upon the

treet separating Belmont from Watertown. This

treet was formerly known as the Back Road, but

Iter Mr. Cushing called his estate Belmont, the name
ms given to the street, and later it was considered

he most appropriate that could be chosen for the

lew town. Until invaded by the Payson Park Land
!!o., in 1886, the hundred acres or more surrounding

he mansion-house furnished the best example of an

i^merican residence upon English models to be

ound in this part of the country. John P. Cushing,

who had in early life amassed a fortune in China, re-

turned to the United States and acquired from differ-

ent owners the land upon which, about the year 1830,
he erected his mansion-house at a cost of more than
•'?I15,000. At the left and in front of the house was
the undulating lawn containing thirty acres, and
surrounded by trees, the main driveway at ita side

being shaded by long, irregular rows of lofty elms.
Behind the hou.se was the great flower garden, flanked
by high walls and green-houses, with a grand con-
servatory at the rear. Alone the east side of the
vegetable garden, which lay behind the conservatory,
past the great deer |)ark, a winding walk among the
trees led to a rustic summer-house upon the highland
anciently called Pcquossette Hill, from which a varied

and extended view of Boston and its suburbs wiw re-

vealed to the observer. Broad and fortilo fields ex-
tended to the westward. Mr. Cushing's later years

were marked by active participation in public allairs

and by generous, unpretentious charities. He ex-

pended large sums to beautify the grounds, which were
liberally thrown open to the public. .Vfter his death,

which occurred April 12, 1862, the estate came into

the possession of Samuel R. Payson, who occupied it

for a quarter of a century. He continued the policy

which had marked its management while Mr. Cush-
ing was its owner, and when it was purchased by the

trustees of the Land Company it was estimated that

more than half a million dollars had been expended
to adorn aspot already made beautiful by nature.

The mansion-house and land immediately adjoin-

ing are now owned by Mr. R. F. Harding, and under
his charge has been founded the Belmont School, the

management of which is in conformity to the princi-

ples of the Episcopal Church, and whose object is " to

give not only a thorough preparation for the Univer-

sity and the Technical School, but also a liberal

training in branches not now required for entrance to

college." The school was opened September 25, 1889,

and is, like its appointments of building and grounds,

to rank with the best in every particular. Its loca-

tion is in itself a continual inspiration.

A short distance to the westward of the Payson es-

tate, after passing the " Haunted House of Water-
town " upon the left, we come to the residence of

Samuel Barnard, of the family of Major Barnard, who
commanded a company at " Lexington alarm." A
little further, on the side of the hill sloping to the

lowland known in olden times as Pequo.ssette

Meadow, was the house built by Nathaniel Bright in

the latter part of the seventeenth century. Previous

to the incorporation of Belmont this was the oldest

house in Watertown, and one of its owners, in 1876,

was Nathaniel T. Bright. It has since been torn down.

The land continues in the possession of the family.

Aside from this house there were, in 1820, only four

houses on that part of Watertown which now com-
prises the village of Waverley, and all of these had
yielded to the ravages of time before the new town
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was formeil. The old cellar of one of them is still to

1* distiiigiiishfd at the foot of the hill on Belmont

Street, but no one knows or inquires as to those who

once dwelt upon the spot.

At " Commodore's Corner," Belmont Street enters

WatiTtowii. (1p|nisite this corner (in Watertown)

WHS the meeting-house of the Middle Precinct, erected

in l('>tir>. Its locution was a compromise between con-

tending factions. It was an unsuccessful one. The

buililing was a cause of continued bitterness during

the few years it was suttered to stand, for it was only

1722 when it was voted in town-meeting to sell

" What was letl of the old meeting-house." Lexing-

ton Street turns from Belmont iSlreet northward at

this point. This was the " Old Concord Road." Its

first well-<letined change of level marks the summit

of "Elbow Hill." The new road goes through the

top of the hill, the old one went around it, and only

a little unevenness in the turf shows the bounds of

the original thoroughfare. In the valley below, the

street crosses the railroad. The first st.ition of the

Fitchburg Ivuilroad here was called I'lympton's

Crossing. The street continues past the entrance to

the grounds belonging to the Massachusetts General

Hospital to the foot of Mill Street, near Beaver

Hrook, which is the line of division betweeu Belmont

and Waltham. All the land east of liCxington Street

to the line of the Bright estate on Belmont Street

and across the valley nearly to the summit of the hill

north of the railroads, comprising about three hun-

dred acres, was included in the plots of the Waverley

Company, which was incorporated in 1855, after its

affairs had been managed for some months by J. C.

Dunn, G. O. Hubbard and Pastes Howe as trustees. A
considerable part of the ancient Pequossette, or King's

Common, was among the holdings of this company.

The village of Waverley was the outgrowth of their

enterprise. The company was not upon good terms

with the railroad management, and the result has

been shown in the slow development of what was, in

its inception, one of the most promising settlements

in the vicinity of Boston. The sales of land were,

for many years, few and far between, until in 1875

the company disposed of one hundred acres upon the

so-called Waverley Highlands to the Massachusetts

General Hospital. It is expected that at some future

time buildings will be erected here for a retreat for

insane persons, when the removal of the McLean
Asylum from Soraerville becomes definitely necessary,

and the grounds are being skilfully improved and de-

veloped with a view to such occupancy. In the

mean time nearly $75,000 has been expended in the

construction of a " Convalescents' Home " upon the

southwest slope of the hill, to which patients from the

General Hospital on Blossom Street, in Boston, are

brought where pure air seems to be all that. is needed

to secure their recovery. The view from the Home
covers the villages of Watertown, of Newton and

Waltham, and is bounded by the hills of Norfolk and

Worcester Counties. The grounds of the hospital are

bordered on the west by Mill Street. This is one of

the original streets of Watertown, running parallel

to Beaver Brook, u[)on which, in 1GI)2 or ItJGS, Thom-

as Agar, of Roxbury, built a mill for fulling cloth.

This was the second mill erected within the old

boundaries of Watertown. Its precise location can-

not now be determined. In 16G3 it was sold " to

Thomas Loveran, late of Dedham, County Es.sex,

Old England, cloth-worker." In 1(>()9 or lf!70 Love-

eran sold it to Timothy Hawkins (from whom Agar

bought the privilege) and Benjamin Garfield. Near,

possibly at the site of this mill was I'lynii)ton's sati-

net factory, which was destroyed by fire in 1848. The

great water-wheel was set in motion during the fire,

and so resisted the flames. Its last fragments disap-

peared in 1870, and the ruins of the wall into which

it was built still remain at the foot of what is now

called the cascade. An illustration of the wheel

forms the frontispiece of Country Life, |)ublished in

ISliS by R. M. Copeland, who then owned the prop-

erty, and it has been reproduced in i)opular maga-

zines. Richard M. Staigg, the artist, afterward resid-

ed upon the estate. Beaver Brook was a favorite

resort of James Russell Lowell, and the mill formerly

standing at the upper pond is the scene of one of his

most charming poems, of which a contemporary says,

" there is no finer specimen of an ideal landscape in

modern verse."

" Hushed with broad siiuligbt lies tbe bill,

And, niinutfng tbe long day's li>»i,

Tbe cedar's shadow, slow and still.

Creeps o'er its dial of gray moss.

Warm noon brims full the valley's cup,

The aspen's leaves are scarce astir,

Only tbe little mill eends up

Its busy, never-ceasing burr.

Climbing tbe loose-piled wall that hems

The road along the mill-pond's brink, |

From 'neatb the arching barberry-stenis.

My footstep scares tbe shy cbewink.

Beneath a bony buttonwood

The mill's red door lets forth the din
;

Tbe whitened miller, dust imbued.

Flits past the square of dark within.

No mountain torrent's strength is here
;

Sweet Beaver, child of forest still.

Heaps its small pitcher to the ear,

And gently waits the the miller's will.
j

Swift slips Undine along the race

Unheard, and then, with flashing bound,

Floods the dull wheel with light and grace.

And, laughing, hunts the loath drudge round."

A few rods below, on the other side of Lexington

Street, on the Waltham side of the brook, are the

far-famed Waverley Oaks, the most remarkable group

of aboriginal trees in New England. Here Lowell's

poem, " The Oak," was conceived. There are in all

twenty-six of these trees. Of the principal group,

which stands upon a long mound, .supposed to have

been produced in remote ages by glacial action,

Underwood writes :
" The oaks are seven or eight in



BELMONT. C93

number, as like as so many stout brothers, planted on

sloping drives west of the brook. They have a

human, resolute air. Their great arms look as if

ready to 'hit out from the shoulder.' Elms have

their graceful ways, willows their pensive attitudes,

firs their loneliness, but the aboriginal oaks express

the strength and the rugged endurance of nature."

It was the opinion of Ag:issiz that no trees on the

Western Continent have greater age, and an exami-

nation of one which fell some years since, indicated

that it had withstood the tempests of more than eight

hundred years.

Mill Street now ends at the Concord Turnpike.

Beyond and leading to Lexington is its contiiniation,

Winter Street, near which, upon the estate of Geo.

H. Cotton, is the well-known lielmont Natural Spring,

whose waters are largely sold in Bo-^ton, to those who
demand something purer than Cochitnate or the

lystic can supply.

Eastward from the junction of Mill and Winter

Streets, Concord Turnpike (in modern speech—ave-

nue), leads over Wellington Hill to the central vil-

lage of Belmont. Upon the summit of the hill is

the Highland Stock Farm, where were bred the Dutch

cattle, to which reference has been m.ade in another

place. Descending the slope, the panorama spread

before the observer is unsurpassed, unless, possibly,

we except the view fk)m Arlington Heights, a mile

to the northward, and embraces the metropolis and

its suburbs in every direction. The handsome estate

upon the north of the avenue was at one time owned

by Henry M. Clarke, a wealthy paper manufacturer,

and upon it he built the costlie.st barn of its time in

New England. After the place became the property

of Charles Fairchild, a residence was built upon it

for the occupancy of William D. Howells, and the

frieze in the study bore the Shakespearean inscrip-

tion, " From Venice to Belmont." Elisha Atkins, of

the Union Pacific Railroad, lived in the house on the

brow of the hill, his son and successor, Edwin F.

Atkins, being domiciled in the Ware homestead on

the south side of the avenue. Near his house is still

to be seen the weather-beaten stone which, until

1859, marked the junction of the three towns from

which Belmont was taken. This part of the hill,

with the Town Hall and church at its foot, furnishes

the landscape which, displayed upon a trefoil to sym-

bolize the three towns, forms the background of the

seal of the town, adopted in 1882, while far to the

front the seal displays an ideal figure, a colossal

statue of Pomona, the goddess of fruits and gardens.

Back of the E. F. Atkins estate runs a section of the

old turnpike, abandoned because of its steepness, and

now grass-grown. W. Sloane Kennedy, the biog-

rapher of Longfellow and Whittier, has pitched his

tent beside the old road, and looks out upon a view

the beauty of which he must himself describe.

The grounds around the home of the writer in-

clude a disused portion of this very turnpike along

which Emerson often trudged as he went to and fro

between Concord and Ilarviird College.

" It is now in part a wild and lovely grass-grown

lane, commanding an inspiring view of Cambridge,

Medford, Roxbury and the sea. At night, the myriad
lights of the vast entoiirnye ^Uller below and far away;

on tlie <l;stant horizon the steady ele<tric liglitw at the

Point of I'ines gleam out, and always the red light

of the revolving lamp down the harbor waxes, wanes
and disappears, to again appear, linger a moment and
then be again snufled out in the black void amnnd it."

Just below, upon the old road, Mrs. Abby Morton
Diaz, another biographer—for did she not write the

"William llonry Letters"?—has found a lioine. At
the left of her enclosure are the grounds on Pleasant

Street surrounding the house of the late David ]Mack,

specially remembered in Belmont for his connection

with its library, but of more extended reputation be-

cause of his membership in the phalanx which gath-

ered at Brook Farm nearly fifty years ago. For a

number of years he conducted a school for young
ladies here, and was for a time a teacher in the public

schools. He died July 24, 1878, at the age of seventy-

four years. Here also lived for a few months the

artist, George Fuller.

At the corner of Piciwant Street and Concord Ave-

nue is the Town Hall and Public Library Building,

on a corner of the homestead of Eleazer Homer,
whose house, with its old-fashioned combination of

brick and wood walls, is still standing. Before it, for

many years, was to be seen a fine specimen of the

Kalmia latifoUa, or mountain laurel, renuirkable for

its beauty, and thriving in a region in which the shrub

had never been indigenous. Across the railroad tracks

is the Belmont P.ark, beyond which are the handsome
dwellings upon the old " plantation," now occupied

by the Underwood family. The mansion-house

of James Brown (now the property of his son), with

its charming lawn and dense woodland at the north,

looks out upon the park and plantation and the new
Unitarian Church beyond.

In the quaint old house south of the Brown estate,

among other relics of tlie past, is the arm-chair of

Henry Price, the first Grand M.a-ster of Freemasons

in America, who, at the age of eighty-four years, met

an accidental death a hundred years ago. On the

other side of the way, beyond the buildings of the Un-
derwood estate, is the octagonal building now used as

a summer-house, which, at the time of the incori)ora-

tiou of the town, was the station of Wellington Hill,

standing at the junction of Common Street and Con-

cord Avenue.

Passing along Common Street, and leaving the

little Catholic Church of St. Joseph's on the left, we
reach the Winthrop W.Chenery estate, now the prop-

erty of W. L. Lockhart. So gradual is the ascent to

the top of the hill above that with a sense of surprise

we look back at the view which includes the spires

of Arlington and Medford. A few steps farther and
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we gaze to the westward upon the village of Waver-

ley, lying almost at our feet, with the hills of Wal-

thani forming a background. Continuing upon Com-

mon Stri'ct we may come again to the Payson Park i

but Washington Street—one of the oldest streets in

the town—anciently called Hill Street, from Pequos-

sette Hill, near whose summit it passes, turns here to

the east. Descending its slope toward the valley of

Fresh Pond, past the homes of the Stone family, we

enter School Street, on the right. At the very foot

of Pc<iU(issette Hill is the Hitlinger residence, where

Jacob Hittinger lived at the time when, for five suc-

cessive years, he headed the list of those who sought

for recognition a-i an independent town. From the

green-house.^ which his sons have erected on this farm

14,000 cucumbers have been sent to the Boston mar-

ket in a single day. Trespassing, by courteous .per-

mission, upon the private way leading through the

farm to Grove Street, we stand upon the confines of

the town and look upon the little village of the dead,

set apart thirty years ago for the final resting-place

of those who, one by one, would cease to be reckoned

among the world's living, as they went forward to a

longer and better life among the great majority.

Until 1880 the larger part of the village of Mount

Auburn, located on (the modern) Strawberry Hill,

between Belmont and Mount Auburn Cemeteries, be-

longed to the town of Belmont. In April of that

year, after a prolonged hearing before a legislative

committee, all this territory, with other land adjacent

to Fresh Pond, comprising in all 670 acres, was an-

nexed to the city of Cambridge. The city had for

several years endeavored to secure control of the en-

tire shore of the pond for the purpose of maintaining,

under her own regulations, the purity of her water

supply. Defeated in successive Legislatures, her ef-

forts at this time were successful, and in spite of the

unanimous protest of the townspeople, Belmont lost

one-tenth of its taxable property, one-third of its

school-children and one-sixth of its area, being left

with a territory of about 3075 acres. On the new
boundary line between Belmont and Cambridge, not

far from the old Bird tavern, on Belmont Street, is a

singular depression, called the Amphitheatre upon the

maps which Professor Hosford has prepared in illus-

trating his theory of the location of the ancient city

of Norumbega, only a few miles away.

The eastern boundary of the town coincides with

that part of Brighton Street to which Cambridge has

given the name of Adams Street on one side of Con-

cord Avenue and Wellington Street upon the other.

Near the junction of these streets lived Richard Rich-

ardson, selectman in Cambridge from 1791-95, who
built that i>art of the Concord Turnpike which lay

near the line between West Cambridge and Water-

town. Not far from the toll-gate at this point he built a

tavern, anticipating that the turnpike would become

a great thoroughfare, and he had large holdings in

the stock of the company. The investments were not

profitable and he lost heavily. A immber of his de-

scendants reside in this town.

Wellington Street is Brighton Street again before

we reach Hill's Crossing and the stations of the rail-

roads, which are built on land formerly belonging to

the llill family. The name has been associated with

the locality for nearly two hundred years. Its most

noted member was Isaac Hill, editor and statesman,

who was born April C, 1789, in that part of the West

Precinct of Caml>ridge which became a part of Bel-

mont. He was the owner and editor of the New
Hampshire I'd/riot, published at Concord for more

than twenty years, beginning in 1809. Failing of an

election to the United States Senate in 1828, he was

Second Comptroller of the Treasury under Jackson in

1829, and was chosen to the Senate in 1830. At the

close of his six years' term he was elected Governor

of New Hampshire and held that office from 1836 to

1839. In 1840 he became Sub-Treasurer of the Unitedj

States at Boston. After his retirement from public

life he continued his editorial labors until his death

at Washington, D. C, in 1851.

This part of West Cambridge was known as the

South District, and v/as disrespectfully spoken of as

"Flob-end." From it came many trusted and re-

spected officials of the town. The names of Hill,

Frost, Russell and Locke, of Wellington and Prentiss,

are to be found on page after page of the old records.

From this section, too, was Mansur W. Marsh, first

chairman of the selectmen of Belmont, who had pre-

viously served West Cambridge in the same capacity,

having been a selectman of that town eleven years,

represented it in the Legislature and held the posi-

tions of assessor and School Committee. His service

as selectman in the two towns was in all twenty-two

years, at intervals from 1841 to 187(5. It is gratifying

to record that he still lives, the oldest citizen of the

tovJn, enjoying in the evening of life the satisfaction

that attends the consciousness- of long and faithful

labor for the public good. His residence on Prospect

Street, was, in 1775, the "house on the hill," to

which the women and children fled for refuge on the

19th of April, when the British, passing through

Menotomy to destroy the rebel stores at Concord,

made the homes of the valley unsafe. While Bel-

mont justly claims a share in the associations and

glory of the battle of " Concord, Lexington and Cam-

bridge,"—for all this part of her territory was included

in the West Precinct of Cambridge,— it is not known

that any English soldiers came that day within the

present limits of the town. Tradition speaks of one

poor fellow, wounded and separated from his com-

mand, wandering down Spring Valley, and doubtless

wishing for the night to come and hide him from un-

friendly eyes while he made an expiring effort to

reach the barracks from which he set out in high

spirits a few hours before; but whether he lived or

died, or indeed was more than a creature of the im-

agination, history refuses to tell.

*
i
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The tornado of 1S51 pjisseJ through the present

town of Belmont. Beginning near Prospect Hill in

Waltham, and extending acTos.s the Mystic River

in Medford, its destructive force was i)Ut forth with

the greatest energy as it passed across the northern

point of "VVatertown into West Cambridge. Rev.

Charles Brooks, of Medford, in describing it, says,

" It exhibited a power in the elements never witnessed

by the oldest inliubitants of this region. Houses

strongly built were demolished as if they had been

made of paper ; oak and walnut and cedar trees of the

largest growth were entirely uprooted, some of Iheui

snatched out of the ground and carried through long

distances ; roofs of buildings taken up as if by sudden

suction, and carried into the embrace of the cloud

and transported for miles." Tlic damage to estates

now in Belmont was reckoned at about .flO.OOO.

Returning along Pleasant Street from our jaunt

about the town, the Wellington homestead recalls

the name of Jeduthun Wellington, whose enterprise

and public spirit gave the first distinctive name to

this locality. He was, in fact, a leading citizen of his

day ; he had been sergeant and lieutenant in the

Revolutionary Army, afterwards colonel of militia,

and had received the honors of his towns-folk as

selectman for eighteen years, precinct assessor, treas-

urer and collector, and Representative in the General

Court for nine years. To encourage travel over the

turnpike passing near his house, his yoke of stout

oxen was at the service of the teamster, who other-

wise might not be able to climb the old road which a

later generation has ceased to use. It was little won-

der that the friend in need should be regarded with

favor, and that the steep bit should become known as

Wellington's, and then, Wellington, Hill. The eleva-

tion is three hundred feet above the sea level, mid-

way in height between Prospect Hill on the west,

and Meeting-house Hill on the south. The rain fall-

ing upon its eastern slope finds its way through Wel-

lington Brook and Alewife Brook, or Menotomy
River, into the Mystic ; that which drops upon its

western front reaches the ocean by a longer route

through Beaver Brook and the Charles.

Various attempts have been made to establish a

local newspaper which should represent the interests

and give the weekly history of the town. These pub-

lications have had a brief existence. The Middlesex

Townsman, published at Arlington, but with a branch

office in Belmont, was discontinued for lack of sup-

port, after being issued weekly for about eighteen

months. During the year 1889, the Belmont Courier

appeared regularly under the management of Harry

W. Poor. This paper depended for its circulation

upon the town of Belmont alone. It paid expenses,

and it was proposed to continue its publication for

another year, but upon the acceptance by its proprie-

tor of a position upon the Boston Globe, he decided

to discontinue it. The local news is now gathered by

the Belmont Bulletin, a special edition of the Wafer-

town Enterprise, prepared for circulation iu the town
of Be!m6nt.

"The History of Guildhall, Vt.," a volume of 275

pages, bears the imprint of Waverley, Mass., 1886,

and its author, E. C. Benton, was his own coDipositor,

pressman, and publisher, the printing being done upon
a private press at liis own residence.

In addition to the i)rivate school of David Mack,
and the Belmont scliool of B. F. Harding, which have
already been alluded to, an eflbrt was made (o estab-

lish in Belmont the Wayside School, which had bad
a successful experience in Concord under the super-

vision of Miss AI. C. Pratt. Miss Pratt was at the head
of the school when it was moved to Belmont, but her

connection with it soon cea»e<l, and, largely bccauso

of the lack of proper acconimodations at the outset,

the school was discontinued, after occupying in suc-

cession houses on Pleasant Street, Clark Street, and
the Thayer mansion at Waverley. In these days, when
physical training goes hand iu hand with mental cul-

ture, it is perhaps not out of place to refer to tlie rid-

ing-school of J. Howard Stone, as one of the educa-

tional institutions domiciled in the town; and to puss

from this to the organizations engaged in fostering a

taste for athletic sports, the Belmont Base Ball Asso-

ciation, which is in the third year of its existence, the

Belmont Tennis Club, whose grounds on Thomas
Street are newly laid out, and were formally opened by

a reception to friends, given July 4, 1890. A similar

organization has convenient grounds at Waverley.

Belmont is notable for the number of its old fami-

lies, those whose ancestors have resided upon the ter-

ritory from the time when the division of lands was

made among the pro|)rietors. The final division was

made by Watertown in ltj;W, and by Cambridge in

1685. Representatives of the Watertown families of

Chenery, Clarke, Livermore, Bright, Barnard and

Stone, are occupying lands which were in the posses-

sion of their ancestors two hundred and fifty years

ago, and the names of Wellington, Locke, Hill, Frost,

Richardson and Prentiss, perpetuate the remembrance

of those who assisted in 1085 in the settlement of

Menotomy, or the West Precinct of Cambridge. The
ability and reputation of these families is indicated by

the public positions which have been so often and so

acceptably filled by their members. In independence

of thought, sound judgment, and loyalty to right, the

citizens of Belmont stand second to none of their

sister communities, and in exemplifying these traits,

they only portray the characterof those who occupied

these hillsides and these valleys many years ago.

A list of the leading officials of the town since its

incorporation is appended :

SEtKCTMKN.—Manatir W. Mareh, 1859-63, 1867-71,1870 ; Jacob Blttin-

Ker, 18S9-61; J. Varninii Flelchor, 18.59-61, 1807 ; .lonM B. Chenery, 18i9;

Joseph Hill, 1859 ; Tlion Livermore, 1802-03, 1809-70; Win. Henry Locke,

1802-64,1806; Anioe Hill, 18i'.4-0i;
; ChoB. L. Iloywooil, 1804 ; George

W. Ware, 1805 ; Daniel L. Tuinter, 1865-06; Fred. W. Bright, 1807-68;

Joslab S. Keuilall, 1808-70, 1873-79, 1881— ; Inimc Walts, 1871-72; J.

Willard Uill, 1871-72 ; Henry Richardson, 1872-74 ; George W. Ware,
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Jr, lBT3-7^ ISeu : ThuniM 8. UitUnger, 18T5 ; Couvera F. LiTorniore,

1870-80; ll.-Dry Kn.1, Jr., I8;7-*i2 ; J. Henry Flotcher, 1881-*9 ;
Jacob

llUlingrr, Jr , l,^(sJ— ; KniDk CliaDjIer, I8m>—

.

AM«*fc.us.-J. Oliver Wclllugton, 1860-76 ; Joslah Bright, 1889-60;

KdwiD Locke, ISi'J; Willliim J. Uudor«;i)od, 1859-64, 1867-75; H. B.

Flllet>ruwii, 1859 ; Thomus Llvemiore, 18lil-64 ; Joslsh S. Kondull, 1865-

79, 1881—; George S. Teele, I8l*.<'iC ; Winthrop L. Chcnery, 1875-79 ;

Leonanl 9. King, 1877 ; Henry ItlolittrJiwu, 1878-80 ; Joseph 0. Wel-

llORlou, 1880—; Willliini Munruo, lS8t>-8.; ; Thonms W. Dftvia, 1883—.

ToK.'« I'UBKH.—Siiniuel V. llKUiuiKlt, 1809-60 ; Francis E. Tate«, 1861-

70 ; Wllllnm W. Meiiii, 1871-s:t ; Winthrop L. Chencry, 1S83—

.

Town TuCASluitt .vxi) CotLtLToE.—George S. AdaniB, 185»-66;Edwin

Locke, 1867-75 ; Winthrop L. Clienery, 1876—.

Si'UooL CoMmTTK.—Re». Amos Smith, 1859-64 ; Kdwio Locke, 1859-

<A ; Iiuc Walts, 1859-60 ; Danl F. Learned, 1859-69, 187-.'-S0 ;
Adolphus

Brown, 1859; Amos Hill, 1800-60; William J. Underwood, 1860-fil,

18«5-«9 ; Key. James Thureton, 1861 ; Josiah S. Kendall, 1862-65 ;

George L. Underwood, M.D., 1862; William A. Blodgctt, 1863-68;

Warren S. Frost, 18U6, 1868-73, 1879-81 ; Bev. Josiah W. Turner, 1868-

71; WwarU Whitney, 1808; Samuel P. Hammatt, 1868-69; Henry

BIchardson, 1869-85 ; Mansur W. Marnh, 1870 ; Horace Bird, 1870-7li

;

George W. Ware, Jr, 1870-71; Ber. Daniel Butler, 1871,1876-80; Wil-

llun W. Mead, 187'J-81 ; Winthrop L. Chenery, 1872-75 ;
Solymon W.

Grant, 1873-78, 1878-79 ; Luther W. Hough, 1874-75, 1882-87 ; J. Hen-

ry Fletcher, 1876-78 ; George H. Caldwell, M D., 1877 ;
George W.

Jones, M.D., 1880; IteT. William H. Tcel, 1881-82 ; Harry O. Under-

wood, 1881-84 ; l!>ediTic Dodge, 1882— ; William JIunroe, 1S82 ; Horace

W. Ball, 1883— ; liiwiird Haskins, 1883-86, 1890— ; Harry H, Baldwin,

1885— ; Edward K. Otis, 1886 ; Mrs. Caroline A. K. Whitney, 1887-8'J
;

JIni. Mary F. W. Homer, 1889— ; John H. Edwards, 1889 ; Mrs. Jenuie

0. Underwood, 1890—

.

Tki'Stees OP l'iim.u- Libkaki.—William J. Underwood, 1873— ; J.

Varnuni Fletcher, 1873— ; Leonard S. King, 1873; Bev. Harvey C.

Bales, 1874-76; Thomas^W. Davis, 1877— ; William B. Stowe, 1883—

;

John M. Brown, 1883— ; Frederic Dodge, 1889—

.

Representatives in General Court.—In 1863

Winihrop VV. Chenery represented the district in-

cluding Waltham and Watertown. The redistricting

after tlie incorporation of the town did not take place

till after the State census of 1865. Since 1866 Water-

town and Belmont have formed a representative dis-

trict. The Belmont representatives from this district

have been

:

Henry M. CTarke, 1867-fiS ; George W. Ware, Jr., 1882 ; Edward

Whitney, 1876-77 ; Rev. Daniel Butler, 1883 ; J. Varnum Fletcher,

1885-86 ; J. Henry Fletcher, 1890.

J. Varnum Fletcher was State Senator from the

Second Middlesex District in 1887 and 1888.

BIOGRAPHICAL.

COL. THOMAS LIVERMORE.

Among the oldest families of the ancient town of

Watertown is that of the subject of this sketch, Col.

Thomas Livermore, a descendant in the sixth gener-

ation of John, who landed on these shores from Eng-

land in 1G34. The homestead of the family for many
generations has been on what is now School Street in

the northe.istern part of the old town, in the vicinity

of Fresh Pond. Here they appear to have planted

themselves at an early day, and not unlikely cleared

the primeval forest to found a home. Two Amos
Livermores, son and father, together with Oliver,

Daniel and Samuel, reach back from Thomas to John,

the original settler. They chose a fertile tract of

country sloping gently from west to east, and termi-

nating on the verge of the Pond. In this sheltered

and sunny jilace live or six generations of Livermores

have cultivated and improved the land until it has

become rich in orchards and gardens, and is dotted

here and there with pleasant, comfortable homes.

Thoniiis was born May 30, 1798, on that portion of

the original tract now owned and occupied by his

children, in an old house which was burned in his

boyhood and replaced by his father with the present

spacious dwelling.

His advantages of education were limited to the

district school, then open but a few months in the

year and often taught by young collegians in the win-

ter term, more anxious to earn a few dollars than to

properly instruct and guide the young. The work

and responsibility of the farm, intercourse with men
and acquaintance with practical affairs formed his

chief means of education. Thus he grew up to man-

hood used to hardship, in habits of patient indus-

try and careful economy. Early in life he united

with the First Congregational (Unitarian) Church

of the town, then under the ministrations of Rev.

Converse Francis, afterwards professor in the Divin-

ity School of Harvard University. It shows in what

estimation he was held by his pastor and associates

that he was chosen a deacon of the church in his

twenty-fourth year, an office which he held for more

than a half a century. Thomas Livermore and Sarah

C. Grant were united in marriage April 20, 1824.

She was the daughter of a neighboring farmer, like

himself used to care and responsibility, and through

the nearly fifty years of their married life a most

faithful and devoted wife. Mr. Livermore early be-

came a member of the Watertown and Waltham Ar-

tillery Company, of which he was chosen lieutenant

in 1821 and rose to be captain, major, lieutenant-col-

onel and colonel during the following eight or ten

years. His tall, erect, commanding form made him

especially conspicuous as a military oificer, and he

always retained something of a military air and man-

ner, due no doubt to his early training in the Artil-

lery. To the Ancient and Honorable Company of

Boston he was elected an honorary member. He
seems never to have lost his interest in military

parades, and long after he had withdrawn from the

company used to attend the trainings and musters.

Col. Livermore wa.s deeply interested in politics. In

early life an ardent Whig, he remained true to that

party until the great struggle for freedom in Kansas,

when he became identified with the Free-Soil party

and afterwards with the Republican. In 1844 he was

elected on the Whig ticket to the House of Represent-

atives of the State Legislature. But when that party

broke up on the slavery issue, he took his stand on

the side of freedom and ever after gave his vote and

influence to sustain the good cause. In the War of
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the Rebellion he was a stanch supporter of Lincoln

and the army, and rejoiced heartily in the downfall

of slavery and the triumph of the Union.

In municipal affairs he was active and faithful in

securing efilcient management. For several years he

was elected on the Hoard of Selectmen in Watertown,

and for two years a member of the School Committee.

In 1809, when Belmont was incorporated, that

portion of Watertown where he resided was annexed

to the new town, and his interests were transferred to

its growth and prosperity. Here he became identified

with a new church and a new community, and served

them as willingly as he had served the old. He was

soon chosen on the Board of Selectmen and on that

of the assessors, and through the remainder of his

life he gave his sympathy and influence to the wel-

fare of Belmont.

From this sketch of the life of Col. Livermore,

it is evident that he was a man in whose integrity

his fellow-townsmen had entire confidence. They

trusted in his judgment, thVy relied upon his honesty,

they regaided him as one who was above all crooked

and self-seeking ways in his management of public

affairs. Plain, unpretending, straightforward, firm

and faithful in what he believed was right, such is

the record of his life and such the character which

he sustained among his fellow-men. Col. Livermore

was in feeble and failing health for some months be-

fore his death. Of his ten children, seven had passed

on before him, and three remained in the old home

to cheer his declining days. The end came on March

28, 1873, at the age of seventy-five years, and the

stalwart form, that had borne so well the toil and

burden of life, was laid at rest in the peaceful shades

of Mount Auburn. Mrs. Livermore passed a serene

and cheerful old age, surrounded by those who
tenderly ministered to her needs, and in her eighty-

seventh year rejoined him in the immortal world.

JACOB HITTINGER.

Jacob Hittinger was a descendant of an old French

family and was born in Roxbury, March 10, 1811.

His father died while abroad five years later, having

previously removed to Charlestown, where young

Hittinger received his education. In 1825 he entered

the employment of George Pierce as a gardener, and

five years later engaged in the produce business in

Boston with William E. Otis & Co. Of this firm he

was a member for several years, being actively inter-

ested at the same time in the firm of Hill & Hittin-

ger, whose business was cutting and shipping ice

from Spy and Fresh Ponds. The firm of Hill & Hit-

tinger was dissolved in 1841, and was succeeded by

the firm of Gage, Hittinger & Co., of which the only

surviving partner is Hon. T. T. Sawyer, of Charles-

town. It was to this firm conjointly with John Hill,

Mr. Hittinger's former partner, that the merchanta of

Boston were indebted for the notable enterprise dis-

played, when, 1844, the harbor being frozen, a passage

was cut from the wharf at East Boston, through which
the Cunard steamer could proceed to sea on the day
appointed for her sailing. A failure to accompliHJi the

work would have seriously atlecle<l the future of Bimton

as a commercial port. .Mr. Ililtiiiger's interest in the

firm of Gage, Hittinger & Co. was dispcned of a lew

years later, but he continued to furniih Ice to its suc-

cessor, Gage, Sawyer .V; Co., and was interested in the

early shipments of ice to the Barhadoes by Lombard
& Whitmore. In the closing years of hiit busineiM

life he carried on the trade in his own name.
Mr. Hittinger's first wife wics Mary Wilsf)n. At

her death she left a daughter, who became the wile

of Charles Davenport. He married again, April

30, 184ti, Mary Elizabeth King, a younger sister of

Rev. Thomas Starr King, whoso name is borne by

the oldest son of this union, Thomas S. Hittinger,

superintendent of the Fresh Pond Ice Company, of

which company Mrs. Davenport's son is the treasurer.

Soon after his second marriage .Mr. Hittinger bought

a large tract of land adjoining the old Cushing Estate,

within the limits of the present town of Belmont.

With the exception of a few months spent in Charles-

town, this place was his residence until the eml of

his life. His intelligent management redeemed from

the marshes all that part of the estate which is now
occupied by three of his sons as one of the largest

market gardens in the vicinity of Boston. Of the

seven sons of the second marriage six are living, the

fourth in order of age, Daniel Webster Hittinger,

having died at Belmont, October 28, 1875. Mrs.

Hittinger continues to reside in the houpe standing

on the estate at the time of its purchase.

Mr. Hittinger's interest in the town of Belmont

was shown by his leadership for four successive years

of the petitioners for the incorporation of the new
town and his devotion of time, influence and money
to their interests. For many of the neces-sary ex-

penses incurred he neither asked nor received any

recompense. He was a member of the first Board of

Selectmen, chosen in 1859; was re-elected in 18G0

and 18G1, and was an influential citizen until the last

years of his life. Pecuniary difficulties, arising in the

critical business years of 1873 and 1874, left him a

poor man. Though he never recovered his financial

standing, he could look with pride upon the stalwart

sons whose filial attention ministered to the comfort

of his dying hours, and feel that they were ready to

take up and bear successfully the burdens which old

age removed from his shoulders. He died at Bel-

mont, April 4, 1880, leaving behind him the record

of a life of activity and integrity, and of an influence

exerted for the permanent advantage of the commu-
nity in which his lot had been cast.

OEORGE FORDYCE BLAKE.

The subject of this sketch is descended from one of

our oldest New England families, and one that has an
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lionorable record. His ancestor, William Blake, came

to this country from Little Baddow, Essex, England,

in 1G30, the year that Governor Winthrop and the

Massachusetts Bay Colony came over, and settled at

Dorchester, Mass. In lt)36 he removed, with William

Pynchon and others, to Sprinj;lield, Mass., but his de-

scendants for three generations continued to reside at

Dorchester and Boston, where they were highly es-

teemed, two of them having held the ofBce of deacon

of the church and selectmen of the town, and one was

a nicnilior (if the (icncral Court. At the period of the

outbreak of the War for Independence we find In-

crease Blake living in Boston, on King (now State)

Street, near the scene of the Boston massacre, and en-

gaged in the manufacture of tin-plate goods. His

public-spirited refusal to 8upi>ly the British with can-

teens, which he had furnished for the jirovincial

troops, aroused the retaliatory spirit of the Tories;

his shop and other property were destroyed, and

after the Battle of Bunker Hill he found it expedient

to remove to Worcester, Mass. His son, Thomas

Dawes Blake, the father of the present representative

of the family, was born in Boston in 1768, and was

educated in the schools of Worcester. He was en-

gaged for a few years in teaching, then studied medi-

cine and later settled at Farmington, Me., where he

continued in the practice of his ^ofession until his

death, in 1849.

George Fordyce Blake was born in Farmington,

Me., May 20, 1819. .Vt the early age of fourteen he

was apprenticed to learn the trade of house-carpen-

try. In 1839 he left his native town to start in the

world for himself. He first went to South Danvers

(now Peabody), where he remained seven years, work-

ing at his trade. From that place he went to Cam-

bridge to take the position of mechanical engineer

at the brick-yards of Mr. Peter Hubbell, with the

general charge of the works. There he manifested

that fidelity, thoroughness, intelligence and inventive

talent which have contributed so largely to his suc-

cess. Naturally modest, never over-sanguine, that

success seems to have surprised him more than those

who knew him best. While thus employed, he de-

vised a water-meter for which he received his first

patent, in 1862. After the removal of the brick-

yards to Medford, it was found that the clay obtained

there could not be worked with the ordinary machin-

ery, and Mr. Blake planned and constructed a new
machine for pulverizing the clay, which was patented

in 1861. In order more efficiently to free the clay-

pits from water, he invented what is perhaps his

greatest achievement—the Blake Steam-Pump—and
thus laid the foundation of his fortune. The practical

testing of his pump, at the yards, proving its great

capacity, he, in company with Mr. Job A. Turner
and his former employer, Mr. Peter Hubbell, com-
menced in 1864 the manufacture of steam-pumps and
water-meters in a building on Province Street, Bos-

ton. The business grew so rapidly that several suc-

cessive removals to better quarters were necessary,

and in 1873 the firm purchased and occupied the large

building on the corner of Causeway and Friend

Streets. Their foundry for large castings was at East

Cambridge. In 1874 a joint stock company was in-

corporated under the title,
—

" The George F. Blake

Manufacturing Company," with Mr. George F. Blake

as president. In 1879 the company purchased the

large plant of the Knowles Steam-Pump Company, at

Warren, Mass., thus greatly extending their facilities.

But even with this increase of capacity it was found

necessary, in 1890, to remove the Boston manufactory

to East Cambridge, where extensive works were

erected, covering four acres, with a main building 400

feet long by 100 feet broad, with every convenience

for the successful prosecution of the work. The busi-

ness has been recently sold to an English syndicate

for the sum of $3,000,000, though Mr. Blake still re-

tains an interest.

In the course of his successful career Mr. Blake has

given unremitting attention to his business and has

brought his intelligent judgment to bear upon all its

various details. For a long time, until the growth of

the business made that an impossibility, all the plans

and drawings for the special adaptation of machinery

were made under his personal supervision. The re-

sult is seen in the vast business that has grown up.

The Blake pumps have gone to all parts of the world

and have been adapted to every conceivable use,

some of them, constructed for supplying cities with

water, having a capacity of 20,000,000 gallons in 24

hours.

In 1869, Mr. Blake removed to Belmont. His

beautiful home stands on a breezy hill overlooking a

wide stretch of country to the northward and west-

ward of Boston, and is surrounded by fine trees and

well-kept lawns. While his busy life has kept him

from muclT direct participation in public affairs, he

has always taken a deep interest in all public ques-

tions, especially such as pertain to the moral well-

being of the community, and, when free from the ex-

acting cares of his business, has found true delight and

recreation in his library among his favorite books.

HON. J. V. FLETCHER.

A sketch of the town of Belmont would be in-

complete which did not contain extended mention of

a family so thoroughly identified with its inception,

birth and growth as that of Hon. J. V. Fletcher. He
was one of the active workers in securing the act of

incorporation, became a member of the first Board of

Selectmen, and scarcely any matter of public interest

and benefit has appealed to the citizens for support

that has not received from him matori.il encourage-

ment. The people have endorsed his actions by

assigning him the duty of representing their interests

in the General Court, and a wider constituency has

ratified the local verdict by electing him to a seat in

the Senate Chamber.











>r a^





BELMONT. 699

Jonathan Faruum Fletcher is a descendant in the

seventh generation of the Robert Fletcher who came
from England to Concord, Mass., in 1(530, and became

prominent in the affairs of that town, which was in-

corporated five years later. His son William removed

to Chelmsford. Joseph, the grandson of William,

settled in Westford u|)()ii his marriage in 1715, and

here, a hundred years later, February 28, 1812, the

subject of this sketch was born. Of his early years

Mr. Fletcher says little, but the fact that he is the

owner of the ancestral home at Westford, delighting

to steal a day now and again from business cares to

j

visit it, and that it has become under his handsa Mecca

I

of pilgrimage for members of a Large and widely-

' scattered family, .sufficiently indicates the pleasant
' associations clustering about the spot in which he

;
spent his boyhood. He is a trustee of the Westford

Academy. Before attaining his majority he engaged

i

in the provision business in Medford, at the age of

I twentv-four he took to himself a wife, and in the

I following year, 1837, he established the business in

Boston with which his name has been associated for

more than half a century, and in which he is still

actively engaged. During most of this time he has

been the occupant of two stalls at the very centre of

Quincy, better known as Faneuil Hall market, and

he is now the senior tenant of the building. Two
additional stalls have recently been added, to

accommodate an increasing business.

In 1851, when theFaneuil Hall Bank was chartered

by the Legislature, Mr. Fletcher was one of the three

parties named in the act of incorporation. After be-

ing a director of the bank for nearly forty years, he

became its president upon the death, in 1888, of Mr.

Nathan Robbins, who was also one of the original

corporators. He is also vice-president of the newly-

established Hammond Packing Company.

In the town of Belmont Mr. Fletcher held the

office of selectman in 1859,'60 and '61, and was

again elected in 1867. Since that time he has held

no town office, except the position of trustee of the

Public Library, which he has filled continuously since

1873, the year in which the board was created. He
was one of the building committee of the town-hall,

and two marble clocks in the main audience-room,

and in the reading-room, are the souvenirs of his

connection with the building. In 1885 and 1886 he

was representative from the district comprising the

towns of Belmont and Watertown, and in November,

1886, was chosen Senator from the Second Middlesex

District. During his service in the Senate, in 1887

and 1888, he was chairman of the Committee on Banks

and Banking, and discharged other important com-

mittee work. His son, J. Henry Fletcher, is the

present representative (1890) of the Sixteenth Middle-

sex District.

Upon a charter being obtained, largely through his

instrumentality, for the Belmont Savings Bank, Mr.

Fletcher resigned his trusteeship in the Charlestown

Five Cent Savings Bank, to become president of the

new institution, and his closest auperviBion is given

to its affairs.

Mr. Fletcher married, in 1836, MarcyAnn Hill, of

West Cambridge. Their golden wedding wan

pleasantly observed by a large gatliering of personal

friends and business associates of .Mr. Fletcher.

They resided in Charlestown for abouttwenly years,

during which time Mr. Fletcher wius for two years a

member of the Common Council, and four years al-

derman of that city. The residence in Belmont waa
built shortly before the incorporation of the town,

upon the estate which had been for many yearn oc-

cupied by Mrs. Fletcher's father. Mrs. Fletcher died

October 31, 1888. " Her children rise up and call her

lilassed." A beautiful window in the new Unitarian

Church at Belmont is her husband's tribute to her

memory.

Mr. Fletcher's duties as the head of the Faneuil

Hall Bank tend to draw him away from the active

life of the market, in which he has so long been a

central figure, and are a preparation for the rest from

physical exertion which he has earned by so many
years of well-directed, successful toil.

In his home at Belmont, and elsewhere, as occasion

offers, he enjoys exercising the privileges of hospital-

ity. His first dinner to his associates in the Faneuil

Hall and Belmont Banks, after becoming president of

the two institutions, was marked by a feature worthy

of the highest commendation and repetition, the pres-

ence at the tables of the clerks and other employees

as well as the directors and trustees. It is a pleasure

to see wealth bestowed upon those who can use it

aright. In business enterprise, in hospitality and in

charity, Mr. Fletcher has shown himself worthy, and

when he chooses to resign the helm of his vessel, he

has the satisfaction of knowing that the sons and

daughters whom he has trained will be his fit suc-

cessors as trustees of the goods which the Lord has

bestowed.

WILLIA.M L. LOCKHART.

William L. Lockhart, whose portrait accompanies

this sketch, is easily at the bead of the manufactur-

ing undertakers of this section of the county. His

life is a striking illustration of what can be accom-

plished by a strong, resolute will. Joined to business

tact and devoted to the development of a special

line of trade. As his name indicates, Mr. Lockhart

is of Scotch ancestry, belonging to a family which

came to Nova Scotia in the early years of its occupa-

ticm by Euglish-speaking people. He was born July

20, 1827. In boyhood he assisted his father, who
followed the occupation of a ship-carpenter, and

acquired a love for the sea, which he has never lost.

At the age of eighteen he shipped as cook for a voy-

age along the coast. Evidently the duties were not

as agreeable as he had anticipated, for he left the

vessel at Eastport, walked to Machias, and thence

J
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continued his journey to Boston, where he endeav-

ored to fnid a place to learn a trade. Not being suc-

cessful, he returned home, but in a few months came

to Boston again and engaged as an apprentice at

fifty dollars a year and his board. Having learned

the carpenter's trade, he pursued it for a while, but,

with a foresight that indicated his business sagacity,

decided to devote himself to a specialty, and with

this ill view entered the employ of John Peak, a

leading coflin-maker, and spent four years in learning

every detail of the business. At the age of twenty-

seven, with a capital of $300, which represented the

industry and patient economy of years, he began for

himself at Cambridge, not far from the Court-house.

In 18G0 nearly all that ho had made was swept away

by !iie, but, undaunted, he at once proceeded to re-

estJiblish himself, and to erect a building near the

railroad station at East Cambridge, which, with its

additions and extensions, he has occupied to the

present time, although his oflices and sales-room.s are

in a line building constructed from his own plans, at

the corner of Staniford and Causeway Streets, in

Boston. His establishment is, in all its appointments,

the most complete in New England, if not in Amer-

ica, and all those to whom the need common to hu-

manity comes, " to bury their dead out of their sight,"

have reason to appreciate the provisions made to

remove all responsibility Irom the mourner and place

in professional hands the cares incident to such oc-

casions. Every detail of the business is conducted

under his direct and personal supervision. During

the earlier years of his business life Mr. Lockhart's

residence was in Cambridge. He has lived in Bel-

mont about twelve years, having purchased, in 1878,

the estate of the late Winthiop W. Cheuery on Com-

mon Street. A view of the mansion has appeared in

these pages. Its exterior is unchanged from the days

of its earlier owner. The apartments within con-

form to the critical tastes of the present occupant,

who is assisted by his estimable wife in dispensing

hospitality to the friends who meet beneath his roof-

tree. Mr. Lockhart's delight in the beauties of

nature is shown by the enjoyment he finds in the sur-

roundings of his residence, in the care with which he

has maintained and developed his forest, garden and

field. His early bent for the sea is gratified by his

ownership of the well-known yacht "Alice," and the

months he spends from season to season upon the

coast of the Southern States. He has never been an

aspirant for public office, though taking a deep inter-

est in matters relating to the public welfare, feeling

that one's best service to the world can be rendered

in faithful attention to the work which has been set

for his hands to accomplish.

CHAPTER XLV.

WALTffASf.

BY NATHAN WARREN.

The history of a New England town is full of interest

and ia an object-lesson in the fundamental princiides

and practice of our government. The rise and

progress of such an institution for self-government is

that of a little Commonwealth conducted by its own
citizens under the purest and simplest form of de-

mocracy. The town in New England is a miniature

Commonwealth. *Hn Legislature is the town-meet-

ing; its legislators are the voters in their individual

capacity. The development of such a government in

its political and material afJ'airs, in all matters pertain-

ing to its social and educational welfare and in its

religious character, so far as religion was in former

times more intimately connected with the body

politic, is a study of more importance than the n»ere

recital of events and the growth of wealth and popu-

lation. Whether the town remains practically at

a standstill for a hundred or more years, like some of

our towns—yet prosperous in all that makes happy

homes, a well-ordered community—and insures a fair

competence to its people in their walks of life, or

whether under the impetus of manufactures or trade,

or from a fortunate position for enterprise or

residence, it shows great progress in business and

population and all that belongs to municipal impor-

tance, its course is governed by the same elements of

republican characteristics and the same principles of

popular jurisprudence.

To trace the beginnings and locality of early settle-

ment—the circumstances which dictated the direction

of progress and development; the cau.ses which gave a

turn to local political affairs and led to divisions and

the creation of new towns ; the names and qualities of

the " forefathers of the hamlet," and of those of their

descendants who have guided public sentiment and

have fostered and encouraged private and public enter-

prise; the incidents of local history, important in

their results rather than in the nature of their oc-

currence—is a subject worthy of the historian in the

bearing it has upon the institutions under which we,

as a people, have sought peace and prosperity. The

town is the unit of our system of government. It is

the primitive source of popular sovereignty. It is

the child as well as parent of our institutions, and in

New England attains a power and individuality not

known and recognized to so full an extent in the

rest of the country. The details of its history are

pregnant with the fate which has wrought great events

on the continent.

Waltham was incorporated January 4, 1737-38, old

style—by the modern calender January 15, 1738. Its

history for the first century of settlement is so blended

with that of the parent town of Watertown that it is
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difficult to separate the incidents of its existence for

tliat period or to fix upon wliat was distinctive to its

territory and inliabitants. With no dclinod village

or local parish interests until shortly before its in-

corporation, the early records give us but vague infor-

mation as to what portions of the annals of Watortown

particularly apply to the early history of the part

subsequently set off as Waltham. Until the last of

the seventeenth century its territory was practically

a wilderness. A fringe of farms occupied the hills in

its northern limits. The Groat or Sudbury Koad

traversed the plain on its southern limits by Charles

Kiver, but no collection of houses, church or school-

house marked any locality to give prominence in

traditions or data to anything distinctively belonging

to the locality.

Watertown, within the limits of which, as above

stated, Waltham was included for the first century of

its settlement, was one of the first settled [>laces in

the Massachusetts Bay Colony, ranking as fourth in

the order of incorporation. It has well been called

the " mother of towns," for out of her territory have

been formed the towns of Weston and Waltham and

parts of Lincoln, Cambridge and Belmont. Besides

these contributions from her area she sent forth col-

onists to the Connecticut River settlements, to

Weathersfield, Connecticut, Martha's Vineyard and

the neighboring new settlements in Eastern and Cen-

tral Blassachusetts, so that hardly a town in Middle-

sex County but h;is families which trace their origin

to this prolific and enterprising mother. In lG3(i it

was the most populous town in the Colony, and fears

were entertained that the population was getting too

crowded for the general welfare. This feeling was

doubtless one of the reasons which prompted the

healthy exodus to other localities.

Within its original limits is the location of the

newly-discovered city of Norumbega. This illusory

town of the early voyagers, half-mythical, half-au-

thentic, has recently given rise to considerable specula-

tion. The discoveries made have not been accepted

as establishing an ante-colonial settlement, but at

least have given a touch of romance to the beautiful

and historical Charles River, and the localities along

its banks, where enterprising traders from other

lands may have given the primitive wilderness a dis-

play of thrift and busy civilization. The imagination

may fondly picture the waters of the river along the

borders of Waltham and Watertown freighted with

strange and picturesque craft, bearing to unknown

countries the products of the forests, the results of the

long and patient toil of the trapper and of the barter

with the aborigines. Here, by the researches of the

eminent man who has zealously followed his investi-

gations, are the evidences of a busy, intelligent poi)u-

lation who have left their record in various places

within the ancient borders of Watertown. But the

early colonists make no note of their observations of

any evidences of previous occupation by civilized

men, and it is only after the lapse of two centuries

and a half that additional renown and pre-historic

information have been given to the region.

In the cursory review of the history of Watertown
in its general relation with that of Waltham, and so

far as it has special reference to the latter, we find

much of sterling and absorbing interest that canuut
be omitted and yet must be touched upon hut lightly.

The first authoritative record of discovery or of a visit

by European settlers was .May '.W, Hi'M), when a party

of ten from Dorchester went up Clharles River in

a boat and landed at a spot supposed to be where the

United States Arsenal now stands. They were hos-

pitably received by the Indians, who were quite

numerous in the vicinity, and were supposed to have
planted some crops, but they made no permanent
settlement. Later, in .Tune of the same year, Sir

Richard Saltonstall moved from Charlestown uji the

Charles River, and established a settlement, to which

the name of Watertown was given. Rev. Mr. Phil-

lips accompanied him as the pastor of the church, and

thus on its religious and municipal basis the nucleus

of the original town and prosperous offspring wa« se-

curely and permanently located. The new settlers

were of the best class of immigrants, hardy, indus-

trious, familiar with husbandry or some trade, and
imbued with those staying qualities necessary to suc-

cessful colonization. Many of them were from the

west of England, but the greater number doubtless

came from London and vicinity. They were Puritan

non-conformists who came to worship (iod in their

own way and to bear heroically the consequences of

their acts. Physically and morally they were well

equipped to wrestle with the wilderness and to lay the

foundations of a State where the nobility of man
should be above that of rank.

On July 30, 1030, the church estate w;ls formally

established as the first work for permanent organiza-

tion, the covenant was subscribed by about forty men
and civil and ecclesiastical government authorita-

tively commenced. At the Court of Assistant*, Sep-

tember 7th, it was ordered that the town be called

Watertown.

The character and qualities of the early settlers are

conspiouous for an occurrence which had an im-

portant bearing upon the future policy of the Colony,

and reflects honor upon those who manifested the

spirit of the occasion. It was the resistance to tax-

ation without representation. When the Court of

Assistants, in 1632, ordered Watertown to pay its pro-

portion of a levy towards making a palisade about

Newton, the assembly of the people voted " that it

was not safe to pay moneys after that sort," as they

were not represented in the Court of Assistants. The
agitation of this subject gave origin to the committee

of two from each town and to the representative body

composed of these committees to manage the atfaira

of the Colony and to become what is now known as

the House of Representatives. Thus to the people of



702 HISTORY OF MIDDLESEX COUNTY, MASSACHUSETTS.

AViitertown is due the historic credit of originatinR

tliis popular representative body, and of establishing

its power over taxation. With a prophetic instinct

its primitive law-makers composed of the freemen in

their collective wisdom seemed to have foreshadowed

the contest that was to occur between their descend-

ants and the mother country nearly a century and a

half later on the same great principle of taxation

without representation.

The first recorded adventure and exploration of the

part of the country now comprised within the limits

of \V;iltham wa.s on the 27th of .January, 1632, when

(Jovernor Winthrop and "some company with him

went up by Charles River about eight miles above

Watertown." This journey was doubtless on foot

and for the purpose of laying out a public road. The

account of this visit is a valuable contribution to

local history and description, and the names applied

by the explorers to the prominent features of the

landscape are retained to the present day. Winthrop's

journal says they " named the first brook, on the

north side of the river (being a fair stream and com-

ing from a pond a mile from the river), Beaver

Hrook, because the beavers had shorn down divers

great trees there, and made divers dams across the

brook. Thence they went to a great rock, upon

which stood a high stone, cleft in sunder, that four

men might go through, which they called Adam's

Chair, because the youngest of their company was

Adam Winthrop. Thence they came to another

brook, greater than the former, which they called

Masters' Brook, because the eldest of their

company was one John Masters. Thence they came

to another high pointed rock, having a fair aspect on

the west side, which they called by the name of

Mount Feake, from one Robert Feake, who had

married the Governor's daughter-in-law. On the west

side of Mount Feake they went up a very high rock,

from whence they might see all over Neipnett, and a

very high hill due west, about forty miles oft", and to

the N. W. the high hills by Merrimack, above

sixty miles off." Beaver Brook is still quite a large

stream, emptying into Charles River on the north,

and forming the natural eastern border to what has

been known as Waltham Plain. The pond described

was what is now a meadow between Lexington Street

and the Lyman estate. This pond was on the western

branch of the brook, a half-mile or more above the

confluence with the eastern branch. It would seem

from Wipthrop's own record that he regarded the

western branch as the main stream and so applied the

name. The pond, or its present site, is the only one

that can be identified with his record. But within

the past generation a heated and quite amusing contro-

versy has arisen over the appellation of this and the

eastern branch. It is claimed that the latter is the

only original and duly accepted Beaver Brook of

history and tradition, and that the western branch is

Chester Brook. To the eastern branch has been

given the appropriate and euphonious name of Clem-

atis Brook. This application was considered almost

a sacrilegious innovation ujjon the sanctity of old

names, but it remains in popular use. The wordy

contest over the subject was conducted zealously in

the local paper of the day, almost to the personal

estrangement of the principal advocates of the re-

spective names, but still the brooks run on as men
may come and go and dispute over what was the

proper name to be applied to carry out the original

designation of the Puritan Governor.

The next local object, Masters Brook, emptying

into the river on the north, forniing the western

boundary of the plain, retains its ilcsignation, while

Mount I^eake is the site of the cemetery of the same

name. The high rock may be what is called Boston

Rock Hill, near where the reservoir of the water-

works is located ; while Adam's Chair is supposed to

have been destroyed by the Fitchburg Railroad. But

historical lore is doubtless at fault or Winthrop's

journal was inaccurate. He speaks of Masters Brook

as larger than Beaver Brook. This could never have

been. That description fully meets the case of Stony

Brook, a mile up the river, and flowing into it like-

wise on the north. This journey and the facts ad-

duced therefrom have been amply treated by local

historians, but with evident inability to reconcile the

account with objects visited. The conflict of names

and descriptions doubtless arose from Winthrop's in-

advertence in writing his journal or to the confusion

of localities in making up his record after his return

from his tour of exploration.

The Indian name of Charles River in Waltham was

Quinobin, and the designation has been preserved in

the name of some local organizations.

The query has often arisen as to what was the face

of the country in the early settlements. Was it con-

tinuous and uninterrupted forest and wilderness?

Were the settlers obliged to make a clearing in the

primitive forest for every tract of land to be cultivated,

for every house to be erected ?

Reference is seldom made to the fact by historians,

either because it has not been deemed of sufHcient im-

portance, or because the settlers made little record on

the subject. But " Wood's Prospect," that quaint and

highly-instructive volume of experience in New Eng-

land in 1633, states that the country was not all for-

ests. There was much clear land, not only naturally,

but from the work of Indians, who had made and pre-

served such tracts for their planting.

The first grant of land within the limits of Waltham
was that of five hundred acres to John Oldham. This

grant was in the southwestern part of the town, and

included Mount Feake and in the vicinity of Roberts

Station. No reason is assigned for this especial favor

to one individual. Oldham was a prominent man of

those days, and had figured quite conspicuously in the

Plymouth Colony and among the wayward and con-

vivial settlers at Merry Mount, and established a
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reputation not quite consistent with Puritan simplicity

and rectitude. He had led an eventful life, and his

leading qualities were quickly recognized by the

community with which foituneor his own incliiiutiiins

united liim. Jle was one of those men who naturally

and by force of circumstances come to the front when
occasion requires a leading mind. When theCioncral

Court was established he was chosen one of the (irst

representatives from Watertown, and in the original

town he continued to reside, never occupying the

grant allowed him. lie met his death tragically liy

Indians when trading otl' Hlock Island. His death

was followed by even more tragic and war-like results,

for it gave origin to the famous Pequot War. Thus

the first and largest grantee of Waltham, the enter-

prising trader, the energetic magistrate, unconsciously

brought about the first serious and disastrous Indian

war in New England.

As the necessities for land increased with a growing

population, more territory was divided into large

areas, to which local designations were given. These

divisions relate almost exclusively to the territory of

Waltham. The earliest general grant after tlie

original small lots was that of the Great Dividends,

made in July, 1636i The land was divided into four

divisions, each one hundred and sixty rods in width,

running parallel along the northern limits of the

town. These divisions were sometimes called squad-

rons, and the lines dividing them the squadron lines.

It is conjectured that they commenced near the pres-

ent boundary lines between Watertown and Waltham,

and ran in a northwesterly direction. The next

general grant of land was the Beaver Brook Plow

Lands, extending from the Driftway (now Gore

Street), near the eastern line of Waltham, south of the

great dividends to the Oldham grant in the west. The

part of this grant situated east of Beaver Brook was

called the "Hither" or "Little Plain," while the

section west of Beaver Brook was known as the

Farther or Great Plain. These designations are now

all obsolete, save that, perhaps, of the Great, or Walt-

ham plain, on which the city is now principally

located.

In addition, in 1638, was the Lieu of Township lots

apportioned to those freemen who had no lots at the

township. They were situated west of the Plain

south of the great dividends and extended westward

beyond Stony Brook. This comi)Ietod the general di-

vision or allotment of lands in Waltham.

The course of settlement was not towards the level

lands of the plains, but for some reason it followed

only the hills skirting the northern part of the town.

As the population was quite exclusively of farmers it

doubtless chose the stronger and more fertile land of

the hills rather than the sandy soil of the plain. Be-

sides that, it was moving in the direction of the gen-

eral trend of migration from the original settlement

at Mount Auburii. In this section of the town for

nearly two centuries was located the numerical and

intellectual strength of the town. The region in now
devoted to farming and still retjiins the local appel-

lations of Pond Kndand Trapelo, applied to dlllV-n'nt

sections. The former derives its name from the large

pond in the northwest of Waltham, called at ilitferent

times Mead's, Sherman's or Hardy's as the chance of
the possessor of adjacent lands or the caprices of the

day may determine. Trapelo traces \ln name from no
reliable origin, though it is supposed or imagined that

the word may be a corrui)tiiin of the words " trap be-

low," used to localize a place of trapping. It is to be

regretted that this historical ami expressive name is

notofficially recognized in any local designalioii. The
well-known Trajielo road, still an important thorough-

fare, named often in ancient reconis ami famous in

tradition, is modernized into Nurlh Street. But in

popular parlance the name is still applied to the dis-

trict.

Another locality in that part of the town still re-

tains its ancient cognomen of " Piety Corner," a

name derived from the fact that some of the deacons

and leading men of the church formerly resided in

that vicinity.

Sudbury road, now Main Street, early laid out as a

principal thoroughfare to the western settlements, ex-

tended through the comparatively uninhabited plain,

important only as a means of communication to dis-

tant regions. The fact that the territory wjis unsettled

doubtless accounts for it,s generous width and straight

direction, as otherwise it might have followed a course

to lead past the scattered farm-houses situated at the

caprice and convenience of their owners.

The first bridge over Beaver Brook was built in

1673, and the records state that a gallon of" liccur"

was provided on the occa.sion, doubtless as a neces-

sary element in its construction.

The growth of Waltham as an outlying part of

Watertown was slow and without annals of note. Its

areas were used mainly as pasturage grounds, into

which it was divided by local and natural bounds.

Large ranges were established extending from Beaver

Brook to Stony Brook, and doubtless for a half-cen-

tury that land was held in common, unfenced, though

allotted in small sections to different owners. The
principal hills received early in the settlement the

names they now bear, and Mackerel Hill, Prospect

(at first, for some reason never explained, called Knop's

Garden), Bear Hill, are recorded as landmarks to bound

and designate tracts of land and the progress of set-

tlement.

With the increase of population dissensions natur-

ally arose in regard to church and educational affairs.

The people thought it a hardship to go to the east

end of Watertown to church. The school also was

situated at the same place. These two pillars upon

which New England progress and advancement rested

were desired for local convenience. Military neces-

sity also prompted a more convenient policy of as-

sembling the able-bodied men. In 1691 the town
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was divided into three precints, Eastern, Middle and

Western, pr;ii'ticiilly now the municipalities of Water-

town, Walthnin and Weston respectively. Lieut.

Gartield's company was the train-band of the Middle

Precinct, and thus on a semi-military basis Waltham

commenced its territorial identity.

In lt'>92 a town-meeting was held to decide upon

the location of a new meeting-house nearer the cen-

tre of jiopulation, but the irreconcilable division of

sentiment prevented any agreement,. An appeal was

made to Governor Phipps and Council to settle the

dispute through a committee. The committee made

a recommendation that a new meeting-house be erec-

ted at Commodore's Corner, in the westerly part of

the present limits of Watertown, and about one-half

mile east of the Waltham line. This meeting-house

was to take the place of the original church and be

the " place of meeting to worship God, for the whole

town." After much controversy and under protest of

many of the freeholders, the request of the committee

was accepted and the meeting-house built in 1696.

Rev. Henry Gibbs, the pastor of the old church, re-

fused to accept the charge of the new church. With

the disappointed portion of the residents, he remained

with the old church, and Rev. Samuel Angier was

chosen as pastor of the new church. The town sup-

ported from its treasury both churches, and constant

difficulties arose from the expense of repairing the

houses, and otherwise maintaining two antagonistic

societies. Mr. Angler's church subsequently became

the First Church of Waltham, and its establishment

foreshadowed the inevit.able division of the town.

The dissensions were maintained in an embittered

struggle of several years, and all efforts for adjust-

ment only confirmed the contending parties in adhe-

sion to their course. The General Court was brought

into the controversy, and in 1712 ordered that the

church be moved at the expense of both precincts to

such a spot in the Middle Precinct as the latter

should select. This order was treated with contempt-

nous disobedience, and affiiirs continued to work out

their solution by the ordinary development of local

interests and prejudices.

In 1713 Weston was set off and incorporated as a

town, and the territorial division of Waltham, com-

prising the Middle Precinct, became thenceforth

known as the Western Precinct. The reduction of the

area and population of the town, by giving munici-

pal independence to the part which had been most
strenuous in its demands and complaints, in regard

to facilities for attending church, proved to be no sol-

ution of the difficulties between the remaining .sect-

ions. Permanent reconciliation seemed as far ofi" as

ever, and the two churches divided the counsels of

the town on all matters pertaining to local govern-

ment in religious, political and educational matters.

Efforts were made for the location of a church edifice

in the Western Precinct, and in 1715 the town voted
" to build a meeting-house for the accommodation of

the inhabitants of the most westerly part of the

town," but naught came of the decision. Before this,

in 1703, a grave-yard at present called Grove Hill

Cemetery, in Waltham, had been laid out in the

westerly precinct. This sacred abode of the dead,

around which in our New England towns the affec-

tions of the people are centred, added an increased

local attachment to the ])recinct, apart from the pa-

rent town. The spiritual consolation of the church

within their limits seemed as essential to the inhabit-

ants as the holy and mournful associations of the

last resting-place, to which, from the administrations

of the pastor and the simple and pathetic solemnity

of the fuueral, the dead were borne. At the death of

Mr. Angier in 1719, and his interment in this grave-

yard, the determination for a meeting-house in the

precinct gathered new force. The town relented in

its opposition, and in April, 1721, approved the rec-

ommendations of a committee, that "the west meet-

ing-house be removed within two years to a spot

about twenty rods west of Nathaniel Livermore's

house."

In 1720 the line separating the Eastern and West-

ern Precincts was determined and laid out conform-

ing to the present boundary line, and the Western

Precinct began to exercise the powers approaching

those of separate municipal government

Precinct-meetings were held, records kept, local

committees for public affairs chosen, and the farmers

began to realize the privileges of a primitive kind of

popular sovereignty in their governmental affairs.

As the church was not considered worth moving,

an edifice of the kind was purchased in Newton and
removed and set up on the new location. This loca-

tion was at the junction of the present Lyman and
Beaver Streets, in the triangular lot west of the beau-

tiful mansion and grounds of the Lyman estate. The
site is at some distance from the circle of the settled

limits of the town, in the midst of sylvan beauty of

the most grand and picturesque character on one

hand and on the other the expanse of highly culti-

vated fields and lawns. The repose of its early life is

scarcely changed by the progress and activity of a

busy town whose growth has proceeded in an opposite

direction. Here for upwards of a century it stood in

its solitary simplicity, the spiritual home of the com-

munity, the monitor of events most marked and im-

portant in local history. From its pulpit came the

inspired teachings of the successors of the beloved

Angier, many of them men of eminent ability and
honored reputation, whose names have a veneration

belonging to a life passed in sincere service for the

welfare of their followers, leaving its impression of

good done for no love of favor or earthly reward.

Rev. Wareham Williams was chosen pastor in 1723,

and was the first settled minister of Waltham, serving

in the pastorate until his death, in 1751.

With the settlement of the ecclesiastical question

another remained of almost equal magnitude to dis-

I

I
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turb the harmony of the two precincts. This was the

ediK-ational question in the establishment of a local

school. It is to the credit of our ancestors that they

considered the school interests of so vital importance

as to justify the division of the town and public re-

sentment over the manner in which their requests for

years for the creation of schools had been ignoreil.

The refjular article in the town warrant for the grant-

ing of " money for the encouragement of learning in

the West Precinct" would come up only to be mea-

gerly acted upon. Finally two of the assessors, Wil-

liam Brown and Nathaniel Harris, refused to levy the

usual school tax upon the inhabitants of the West

Precinct. This was another instance of the spirit of

resistance to taxation without representation, which

from the first animated the people and cast its beacon

light for the future. Upon a petition to the General

Court that body ordered " that the town have two

school-houses and two masters, of which each precinct

to have one."

At a precinct-meeting in 1729, Allen Flagg offered

a part of his orcliard as a site for a school-house.

After some opposition on the part of the town the

order was passed to fix upon a piece of ground be-

tween old Deacon Sanderson's and Mr. Allen Flagg's,

near Harris' Corner, to be the place to build a school-

house on for the West Precinct. This place is what

has since been known as "Piety Corner."

The final cause of controversy and ultimate division

was the refusal of the town to grant the precinct the

care and extension of highways required by its growth

and increase of population. Both precincts had by

this time come to the wise conclusion that a house

divided against itself cannot stand, and the East Pre-

cinct reconciled itself to the fact that a permanent

separation was better than an inharmonious union.

For some years the Western Precinct had repeatedly

petitioned for a separation and for their incorporation

into a town, but the Eastern Precinct had strenuously

and successfully opposed the action. Now it gener-

ously consented to a division and took formal action

to that end.

A petition was presented to the House of Repre-

sentatives on December 14, 1737, by William Brown,

Daniel Benjamin and Samuel Livermore in behalf of

the inhabitants of the West Precinct of Watertown,

"praying the said precinct may be created into a

separate and distinct township, which is also agree-

able to the East Precinct in said Town, as appears

by their note accompanying the petition." A bill to

that effect was passed and was signed by His Excel-

lency, Governor Belcher, .January 4, 1737-38, and the

name of Waltham given to the new town.

The name given in the act is the first intimation

of what it was proposed to call the town. It is not

known by whom or why it was suggested. But it is

supposed to have l)een given because some of the res-

idents came from one of the towns of that name in

England. Waltham Abbey, a town near London, is

45-iii

generally accepted as the place from which the name
was derived. The name is beautiful and appropriate

in ita signification, being a compound of two .\nglo-

Saxon words meaning a forest imme. The wild and
extensive fi>rests still extant in Wnllhani and those

which are preserved and cared for on some well-known

estates, with the shaded roads winding amidst their

borders of native trees, give even at this day a pleiui-

ing suggestion of the appropriateness of the name.
At the time of the act of incorporation it wajt or-

dered that William Brown be informed to assemblo

the legal voters to elect the town clerk and other of-

ficers, to stand until theanniversary meeting In March.
At a meeting held .January 18th, pursuianl to the

notification given by Deacon Brown, the following

officers were chosen :

Moderator : Deacon Thomas Livermore.

Selectmen: Deacon William Brown, Deacon Thomas
Livermore, Mr. Daniel Benjamin, Mr. Joseph Pierce,

Lieutenant Thomas Biglow.

Town Clerk and Treasurer: Samuel Livermore.

Constable: Mr. Joseph Hastings.

Assessors: George Lawrence, John Cutting, John
Chadwick.

Sealer of Leather : Mr. Joseph Stratton.

Fence Viewers: John Ball, Jr., Joseph Hagar.

Surveyors of Highways: John Ball ve .Sd, John
Viels.

lytheing-Men : Isaac Peirce, Theophilus Mansfield.

Hogreves: Josiah Harrington, EInathan Whitney.

Thus the new town was fully inaugurated in its

municipal character and started on its career to work
out its destiny.

The number of inhabitants at that time was proba-

bly about five hundred and fifty. The boundaries of

the town were the same as those of the precinct, and
the area comprised about eight thousand eight hun-
dred and ninety-one acres. Since the incorporation

but two changes of any moment have been made in

the boundaries and area. In 1849 it received an ac-

cession of territory from Newton, on the south side of

Charles River, and in 1859 it lost a part of its terri-

tory in the northeast part of the town to form a part

of the new town of Belmont.

The situation of Waltham is most eligible and it«

natural scenery is varied and beautiful. It combines

the rugged and picturesque outlines of eminences

which skirt the northern and western limits of the

city, wild forest growth, the cultivated areas of

thrifty farms and estates under a high state of tillage,

walks and drives amid sylvan beauty, stretches of

water in ponds and bro(<ks and rivers to diversify the

scene and give to the landscapes the efl'ect so pleasing

to mind and eye, and withal the busy and thrifty ap-

pearance of a typical American manufacturing town
where a great proportion of the laborers and artisans

live in houses of which they hold the title. The
thickly-settled part of the city is on an undulating
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plain, while the surrouniiiiig hills form with it a kind

of natural amphitheatre. This is intersected by

Charles River, giving rise to the designations of

'•North Side" and "South Side" respectively of

those parts of the city. The river is spanned by

numerous bridges of substantial structure, which af-

ford ample coninuiuicali.in to bind the i)eopIe together

in the bonds of common local interest. Charles

River, besides being the primal element of Waltham's

prosperity in the facilities it furnishes for manufac-

turing purposes, is one of the chief elements of the

natural attractiveness. Its course above the factories,

where its waters are devoted to the utility of man, is

one of great beauty and charming effect. Winding

amid picturesque banks densely wooded, with the

foliage e.xtending to the water's edge, broadening into

a miniature lake with a beautiful island in its midst

like a gem upon its bosom, furnishing in the intrica-

cies of its shores the delightful vistas where the eye

loves to lose itself, occasionally varying its natural

features with the outlines of some residence, it sug-

gests, with its irregular expanse and wild romantic

banks for many miles of its cour.se, a theme worthy of

the artist's pencil or poet's imagination.

On the other hand. Prospect Hill, one of the high-

est eminences in the vicinity, rising four hundred and

eighty-two foot above the sea-level, an elevation i)er.

haps insignificant in its comparative height, affords a

remarkable view, combining in its range of vision

every variety of landscape and giving at a glance so

much that may be said to be representative of New
England in its traditions and history, its learning and

culture, its arts and manufactures, its commerce and

agriculture. In this connection no more faithful

sketch of the scenery here unfolded can be given than

that presented by the most prominent and distin-

guished .son of Waltham in a local address

:

'* From the crest of the lesser Prospect Hill is presented a panorama o

beauty, eiiihraciug an entire sweep of the horizon, except when bi'okeu

by the summit of the adjoining eminence. The unaided vision follows

the vessels of our own or of distant lands, entering and departing the

harbor of Boston. On the west, the many mountain ranges of New
Kngland rise up before us, mountain on mountain, until summit and

cloud are united. Vou can here watch the heavy, varying shadows of

Wacbuset and Blonadnock, and follow range upon range, until the

moiintniiis disappear in the cloud-caps of the azure sky. i.)n the south,

in the river valley, clusters the line of picturesifue and prosperous New
Rnglan<l villages that till the plateau of the river to the sea. In what
part of the world can we find a cluster of thrifty towns and cities that,

in beauty or prosperity, equal those that lie at the foot of the Tri-nioun-

tain city ?—river, lake, and ocean, hill and vale, copse, dell and forest,

plain cottage and the stately mansion, diversifying the prospect. Every
line of railway that creeps out upon the plain is marked upon this busy
and beautiful map of New England life by an unbroken succession of

the habitations of men and the houses of God. Nature and art thus

combined, the evidences of happiness and prosperity multiplying on
every side, present a scene that surfeits every sense with pleasant emo-
tions."

The soil of Waltham and the natural features

otherwise are well adapted to agriculture and the

purposes of more thickly populated residence. The
soil in the northern part, which, as has heretofore

been stated, was the locality first settled, is strong

and fertile ; that of the plain on the north side of

the river is a lighter, sandy loam, with a substratum

of sand, while that of the south side is of the same
general character, but with a substratum of almost

impervious clay. There are no sterile tracts or irre-

claimable swamps of any great e.xtent to impede the

successful progress of the husbandman or present

obstacles to the resident. The rocky summits and

sides of the hills are covered with a thrifty growth of

forest when allowed to grow without the impediment

of axe or forest fires. Oak, in its several varieties,

white pine, elm, the common maple, birch and hem-
lock are the principal indigenous trees, while nearly

all kinds of this latitude arc found scattered through

its forests.

Such are some of the natural features of Waltham
at its incorporation, which exist to a greater or less

extent to-day, and are appropriately connected with

its history. Their utility has entered into its develop-

ment. The physical characteristics of a place have

their political signiiicance in the broad sense of the

term.

It may be interesting also, both for casual and his-

torical purposes, to note the general appearance, char-

acteristics and environment of the town in other than

its natural aspects at the time of its incorporation,

when it entered upon its history as a separate muni-

cipality, and took the cares and responsibilities of an

individual township. Waltham was then little more

than a community living in scattered farm-houses,

with no well-defined village or centre of population.

Between Beaver Brook and Pleasant Street was an

inn and a few houses, presenting the nearest sem-

blance to a village. The single church was quite

isolated, standing at some distance from this locality.

The territory to the west, where is now located

the busy and thickly populated limits of the city,

then extended as vacant land, devoted to pasturage,

a little agriculture and forest growth. Waltham
Plain, a familiar appellation in all the surrounding

country, was only a broad tract of unoccupied land,

intersected by a wide and straight country road—the

Sudbury Road, then a great thoroughfare of traffic

and communication, and one of the main arteries of

travel in the Colony from Boston to the interior and

western towns.

Consequently, the number of taverns for the enter-

tainment of man and beast was out of proportion to

the population. There were two or three in the east-

ern section of the town and as many in the western

section. In this connection it is said that towards

the close of the century the Sudbury Road was the

greatest highway leading from Boston, and the travel

of stages to New York and the interior of heavy

teams and lighter vehicles of use and pleasure was

important and incessant. There were at one time

nine inns within the limits of the town. As in those

days, next to the meeting-house on Sunday, the

inn was the centre of news and local gossip, as well
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as a place of hilarity and hospitality, the imagination

may picture along the old road many characteristic

scenes of life and excitement incidental to the ulden

time and to the traditions of the country inn as cel-

ebrated in ]>rof-e and poetry.

There were few other streets in the town. Beaver

Street, as at present named, and the Trapelo Koad,

were the principal thoroughfares leading in the direc-

tion of Boston. Traverse roads, like Skunk or

Mixer's Lane, sometimes recorded as the way to the

school-house, now called Bacon Street, leading to

Piety Corner; Prospect Lane, running over the hill

as at present ; South Street, e.\tending to the Poor

Farm, a lane where now is Harvard Street, running

to the fields adjacent to Mt. Feake; Grove Street,

known as the back road to Watertown ; a road leading

from Piety Corner to the hills towards Lincoln, Pig-

eon Lane, running northward to Trapelo, were about

all the highways which broke the solitude of the lit-

tle town and opened the intervening laud to cultiva-

tion and settlement.

In the northern part lay the social, political and

financial strength of the town. The farmers of

Trapelo, Pond End and Piety Corner came over to

the town-meetings in the church and managed public

affairs both by intellectual and nnmerical force. At

this period they furnished the most prominent town

officers and representatives and administered the gov-

ernment with firmness and good judgment. The
abilities of the early residents are displayed by their

acts and results ; and the names of Wellington,

Bright, Smith, Ijivermore, Lawrence, Stearns, Niles,

Clark, Childs, Sanderson, Fiske are represented

among the citizens of the present day.

At this period the Province was in a quiet state in

its political affairs and in its relations with the mother

country. The contest between the New England

Colonies and the French, which was to te-stso severely

the spirit and valor of the people in the successful

attack upon Louisbourg, had not commenced, but the

cloud was rising upon the horizon. The Provinces

still regarded England :is their old home. No sub-

jects were more loyal. There was no thought of aught

but devotion to the mother country. Jonathan

Belcher was Governor. He was appointed by the

Crown, and although he was born in the Colonies,

was an ardent advocate of the royal prerogative.

George the Second was King and Walpole was at the

head of the ministry, hastening to his fall, which was

to close a remarkable career in office. While the

Provincials felt a deep interest in everything pertain-

ing to the welfare of the kingdom, they werejealous of

any infringement of their rights of local government,

and already controversies were arising between the

Governor and the General Court on questions of local

issue, which were eventually to be settled only by

war and final separation. Already had Montesquieu,

with his far-reaching prescience in political affairs

and keen penetration of coming events, noted the

fact that in the forests of America was arising a peo-

ple who would ultimately become a nation and nliake

ofl" the trammels which bound them to another govern-

ment.

Religion had hwl much of jts austerity and intol-

erant character among the people through the lapBe

of time and change of mind and character since the

early settlement. But still the church ruled in secu-

lar as well as in sjiiritUHl alliiirs. Its potent influence

was felt in all the walks of life. It was tlie nucleus
of the body politic as well as the soul of the spiritual

body. On every Sabbath-day the greater part of the

population congregated at the meeting-house. The
men, and women, and boyssat apart, the latteroflen on
the pulpit or gallery-stairs. The deacons sat in front

facing the congregation, while the sexton turned the

hour-glass as the hours were exhausted in the discus

sion of the heads of the long sermon.

The choir, made up of the graduates of the winter

singing-school, rendered the plaintive and vigorous

hymns of the ancient psalmody with native harmony
and sonorous effect. The gathering of the people at

church, especially those who came from a distance,

and brought their dinners, gave to the community an
opportunity for neighborhood greetings and for the in-

terchange of the current news of the day and the gos-

sip which gave a savor to the uneventful routine of

life. The sacred and secular associations which clus-

ter around the meeting-houses of that day are an

effective part of the unwritten yet not less important

and interesting history of the land.

It was about this period that the great awakening
in religious matters took place in tiie Colonies. Ed-
wards, the great philosopher and theologian, repre-

sented the (Xilvinistic doctrines and expounded them
with a vigor and effect, earnestness and erudition

hitherto unknown in the country. Whitefield, re-

cently arrived from England, was making a tour of

the Colonies and quickening religious zeal by his fer-

vid eloquence, his charm of manner, sincerity of

views and marvelous versatility as a pulpit orator.

A lively interest was created throughout the Colonies

by the controversies over opposing principles of faith,

and acrimonious and sometimes bitter discussions

arose through a more liberal interpretation of the

Scriptures and progressive independence among the

people on sectarian matters.

Newspapers wore hardly known in the country

towns, and not of general circulation. There were

but a very few throughout the broad extent of the

Colonies, and tho.se gave but the most meagre synop-

.sis of what may be called the news of the day.

In general literature we find our times in the days of

Pope, Swift and Fielding Iti Englan<l, and of Franklin

and Edwards in our own land, who may be consid-

ered the pioneers in American literature. There was

little variety to select from throughout the households,

and that pertained mainly to a religious character.

In private libraries, as shown in the enumeration of
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books bequeathed or administered upon, it is curious

to note the religious commentaries and works upon di-

vinity, without one ray ofthe light of poetry, or tictinii,

or descriptive writing, though such works were then

extant, and to-day are regarded as of standard char-

acter. The constant reading and re-reading of these

works gave a fund of limited knowledge on those sub-

jects, but above all inculcated a purity of style and

diction and a vocabulary of excellent Knglish which

marked the writings and utterances even of those

whose ways of life led them from the domain of let-

ters. Subsequently when our towns sent forth their

little manifestoes against the tyranny of the British

Crown, and the farmers gave expressions to their

sentiments in words full of meaning, their written

protests called forth admiration in British Parliament

for their incisive English, purity of style and ele-

vation of thought and expression.

In financial matters an irregular and debased paper

currency was afflicting the people and causing em-

barrassments and losses in trade. There were differ-

ent issues of paper, and the early and latest were

called respectively old and new tenor and passed in

a ratio of three or four to one. In nearly all trans-

actions and payments recorded at this time, the stip-

ulation is made that the terms shall be of old or new

tenor.

Slavery existed to a limited extent, and we may
occasionally note the sale of a servant or quaint

observation upon the disposition of such a chattel in

a will.

Local amusements were few and simple. They
were confined mainly to the neighborhood gathering

or perhaps a dance at the tavern. Stern realities

took the place of the social amenities of life and

taught the dependence of all upon the pursuit of a

livelihood amid the severe scenes of nature and the

primitive hardships and inconveniences of a country

still new and unredeemed from the wilderness.

But in Boston the colonial life shone resplendent,

and the town, with its closer connection with Eng-
land and its centres of wealth and trade, reflected in

ambitious imitation the customs prevailing in the old

countries. And I cannot close this sketch of the

times at the period when Waltham was enrolled

among the towns of the Bay Colony better than by

introducing, from the interesting book of W. R. Bliss

on " Colonial Times," a vivid picture of Boston as it

appeared to the denizen from the outlying country in

this very year, 1738 :
" From the elevated site of St.

George's Tavern on Roxbury Neck the traveler saw
the steeples of Boston, its harbor lively with vessels,

the King's ships riding before the town. As he rode

along the narrow way leading into the quiet town the

most prominent object attracting his attention was a

gallows standing at the gate. When he rode within

he found in everything around him a wonderful con-
trast to the quiet and monotonous views which had
always surrounded his life at his country home. The

streets were paved with cobble-stone and were

thronged with hackney coaches, sedan chairs, four-

horse shays, and calashes in .some of which gayly-

dressed people were riding, the horse being driven by
their negro slaves. Gentlemen on handsome saddle-

horses paced by him. He noticed with amazement
the stately brick houses and their pleasant gardens in

which pear-trees and peach-trees were blooming. In

the Mall gentlemen dressed in embroidered coats,

satin waistcoats, silken hose and full wigs were tak-

ing an after-dinner stroll with ladies who were attired

with bright silks and furbelowed scarfs, and adorned

with artificial flowers and patches on their cheeks.

Boston was an active, thrifty, trading town ; its shops,

distilleries, wind-mills and rope-walks were all

agoing, and as he turned into King St. and pulled up
to the Bunch of Grapes tavern, he was near the Town
House and conveniently situated for all purposes of

business or pleasure."

Such is an imperfect view of the aspect of the

country and of affairs at the time Waltham entered

the sisterhood of towns of the Massachusetts Colony.

And as every town, as an integral part of the Colony,

had its direct influence in the policy that was to de-

cide the destiny of the country, we can trace the

humble yet important sphere of such a community,

the relations which it bore in the pending era of his-

tory. It was the character and sentiment of the

towns banded together by a common feeling and in-

dependently asserting their rights and publishing to

the world their principles of government which pre-

pared the whole people for concerted action, as

though by common impulse, and precipitated the

Revolution that was to startle the world and work

changes in governments and peoples far beyond the

limits of the American Continent.

In the first annual election after the incorporation,

in March, 1738, an entire change was made in all the

oflicers from the highest to the lowest, with the excep-

tion of the clerk. Thomas Hammond, John Bemis,

John Smith, Ensign Thomas Harrington and Deacon
Jonathan Sanderson were chosen selectmen. Samuel

Livermore was chosen clerk and treasurer, an office

he was to continue to hold for many years in suc-

cession. Lt. Thomas Biglow was chosen Represen-

tative. A pound was built, as we are informed by the

appropriations, and the " town Stockes were fitted

up." Thus we are impressed with the facts that un-

ruly cattle and men were to be cared for and re-

strained in the very inception of government. Action

was also taken in July of the same year towards the

permanent establishment of a school, and a commit-

tee was appointed " to treat with Mr. Thomas Har-

rington and agree with him if they can to keep the

school for one-quarter of a year as cheap as they

can." The agreement was made, and annually there-

after for some years £80 were appropriated for the

ensuing year. Subsequently, the same year the school

was made a moving school. For this purpose, the
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territory was divided iatotliree squiidroDs or districts,

and the school was to he kept a proportioiuite part

of the year in each squadron. Kach squadron was

to furnish a place for the school and board for the

teacher. The First Squadron included that portion of

the town east of tlie churcli and nortli of Beaver

Street ; the Second that west of the church and north

of Beaver Street; and the Third all south of Beaver

Street, including the plains from the Watertown line

to Stony Brook. This division gives an adequate

idea of the sparse population within the limits of tlie

present thickly populated portion of the city, and of

the disproportionate number of inhabitants in the

farming area of the north and east. The regular

school-house remained at "Piety Corner" where it

was first located.

The records also throw light upon the customs of

the time in the ample provision made for the funeral

of a widow buried at public expense. Four pairs of

men's and two pairs of women's gloves were provided,

and also " such a quantity of rum as should be found

necesriary." Also in another case, gloves were fur-

nished at public expense for the minister and select-

men and for the bearers, who, according to the custom

of the day, literally bore the corpse on their shoul-

ders to the graveyard, and cider for all who attended

the funeral services.

In January 1739, ajoint committee was appointed

by Watertown and Waltham to arrange for the ap-

portionment of the outstanding debt of the town ol

Watertown at the time of the division. The debt

was satisfactorily divided with the arrangement that

Watertown should assume £95 5s. Sd. and Waltham
£80 8s. lid. In March of the same year a commit-

tee of the three towns originally comprised in the

territory of Watertown, Weston and Waltham was

appointed to renew the boundaries of the grant at

Wachusett Hills. This tract of land was granted to

Watertown by the General Court in compensation

for land taken from the town when Concord was laid

out. The boundaries of Concord by its grant of six

miles square encroached upon Watertown, and after

repeated grants, which were never located, the Gen-

eral Court, after the lapse of a century, apportioned a

tract of two thousand acres at Wachusett. This land

was held jointly by the three towns until Waltham
and Weston sold their share in 175(3 for £267 tis. 8(/.,

or two thousand pounds, old tenor.

Another joint ownership of the three towns was

that of the Great Bridge which crossed Charles River

at Watertown. It was built at the head of tide-water

and was undoubtedly the first bridge over the river,

and for many years the only one. It furnished the

only access by land for the towns north of the river

to Boston by way of Boston Neck. The building and

maintenance of the bridge was always a subject of

much controversy until the present century. Water-

town maintained that as it was for the use and

convenience of so many towns, it should be sup-

ported by the county, but it« claims in this rettpect

were not allowed. When Weston and Walt hum wore

set off, it was one of the stipulations that tliose towns
should bear their proportion of it« support. In 17-12,

on the adjustment of the accounln by tlie selectnieu of

the three towns, the share of Waltham was £59 6».

7d. Waltham continued to contribute to the support

of this bridge until the beginning of the present cen-

tury, when, in relinquishing its share of proprietorship

of the weirs located near the same place on tlie river

which were originally owned by Watertown, its obli-

gations for further contributions were canceled.

About this time, on voting to re-apportion the pews
in the meeting-house for the ensuing five years, the

first choice was given to the largest tax-payer and so

on in order through the house, with the provision

that where the claims were equal, age should deter-

mine the choice. Samuel Livenuore, in considera-

tion of the use of his land for the meeting-house to

stand upon, was granted a pew on the east side of the

pulpit for himself and heirs during such occupation.

The ammunition of the town was kept in the

belfry. The stock required by law amounted to 150

pounds of powder, 300 pounds bullets and 450 flint*.

In 1744 the number of men reported by Captain Sam-
uel Livermore, as under his command, waa 90. Capt.

Livermore was a man of much prominence and many
offices—captain of the militia comjjany, deacon of the

church, sexton, town clerk, town treasurer, represent-

ative repeatedly to the General Court.

As the cause of education was one of the primarv

causes of the separation from Watertown and the es-

tablishment of the town, the records show that the

subject of the schools was ever an important one in

the town-meeting. The moving schools were for a

time abandoned and then re-established. Finally,

district schools were organized permanently in differ-

ent quarters of the town and maintained with regu-

larity. Waltham has ever kept up its traditional

interest in the schools, supported them generously,

and maintained their high character in accordance

with the standard of the day. No town has with more
careful vigilance guarded the public welfare in this

respect. In all that regards public education, it has

stood in the front rank and been true to the hisUiry

and memories of its origin.

Also from the beginning of its corporate existence

another subject of contention which i)recii)itated the

division has ever received esjiccial care and support.

The highways were an early and fruitful theme of

local consideration. In the belief that they were not

what they should be when the former municipal rela-

tions were maintained, the town from the first made
ample provision for their care and extension, and

displayed the sincerity of it« views by it,s action.

Among the most liberal appropriations were those for

the highways. These appropriations, expended with

care and system, have been maintained to the present

time. Waltham roads in the past have stood the test
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of criticiam, and have been cited in official reports

without its borders for their construction and care of

mainteniince. It is only since larger increase of

wealth in other suburban communities, allowing

greater expenditures per mile and per capita, tliat

her roads have not held the first place in comparative

excellence.

In the French and Indian Wars, which drew all

New England into active and bloody participation,

Waltham t'urnishol its due proportion of soldiers.

Though the records do not show that separate compa-

nies for such service were organized, there are the

names of its citizens borne on the rolls of companies

organized in the vicinity. Louisbourg, Lake George

and Ticonderoga drew from every New England

hamlet the youth who sought to defend the Colo-

nies and maintain the military renown of their an-

cestors.

The growth of the town was slight during these

years, as nothing occurred to stimulate the coming of

many new residents. The community depended on

its natural increase. Early marriages and large fami-

lies marked provincial life. The yeomanry of Wal-

tham, like thai, of all its sister towns, was developing

into vigorous hardihood with the strong physical and

intellectual qualities that in due time, under a des-

tiny which they could not foresee, were to startle the

world with a revolution in the form and principle of

government, and give a new turn to human affairs.

They were unconsciously forming a character and

hu.sbanding resources to stand them in the days of

trial. The school-house and the town-meeting were

inculcating the principles and powers of self-govern-

ment, and the spirit of freedom was abroad in the

land.

The files of the probate records give us interesting

details of the inner life of families and estates, and of

the customs and legal forms affecting social and busi-

ness matters.

The inventory of the personal effects of Isaac

Brown, who died at this time, is recorded. He was

evidently a yeoman and shopkeeper. Besides the

firelock and sword, which were usually included in

the list of valuables transmitted by will or inherit-

ance, was one negro girl, " Vilet," whose value was

placed by appraisal at £26 13s. 'id. Among his shop-

goods were "garlix," "osnabrig," ''Dowlas" and
" Tammy," articles then undoubtedly recognized by

the fashion of the day. John Ball in his will directs

that if his negro man "prove Cross or Disobedient to

the commands of his wife that he be sold by his Ex-

ecutor." Capt. John Cutting's estate furnishes an

inventory of literature, including the "Great Bible"

and two small Bibles, some of Mather's works, " Christ

dying a sacrifice,'' "the Blessed Hope," "Sundry

Pamphelets," besides five slaves, with their appraised

value as follows ; Slave Lucy, £20 ; Bartholomew, £20;

Dinah, £20 ; lahmael, £15, and Thomas, £1. In some

inventories the list of books left or bequeathed inclu-

ded what is now regarded as the standard literature

of the day ; in others, Latin and Greek classics in the

original ; but generally the books were of a solemn

and deeply religious character.

In 1757, when the Acadians or French Neutrals

were exiled from their homes and distributed among
the different provinces, some of the unfortunates

were sent to Waltham. They became a burden of

|)uhlic support and were not the objects of that hos-

pitality and charity to which their misfortunes would

seem to have entitled them. Every town would re-

lieve itself of them when occasion would allow, ami

if one of them strayed from another place he was

quite peremptorily ordered away. At one time as

many as thirty were residents in the town. Different

in race and religion, speaking a foreign tongue, ac-

customed to another mode of life, friendless and

homeless, they undoubtedly suffered a physical and

raent.al pain which in these days would appeal to our

warmest sympathies. But the bitterness of the con-

test along the Canadian border waged between the

English and French, and their descendants, with the

cruel participation of the Indians and the fierce

animosity of religion, steeled the hearts of the pro-

vincials against the humane feelings which otherwise

would have marked their conduct.

Much of the local legislation is on the subject of

schools, their assignment to different parts of the

town, the hiring of teachers and appropriations for

their pay. After several suggestions which were not,

at first, favorably received, the town in 1760 voted to

hire a school-«iistress. Mrs. Geo. Lawrence was ap-

pointed and may be assumed to be the first female

teacher in the town.

In 1761 a work-house was ordered to be built and

a committee appointed for the purpose. It was prob-

ably located near the corner of Weston and South

Streets. In the same year action was taken, in co-

operation with Newton, to build a bridge over

Charles River near the mouth of Beaver Brook.

This was at the location of the present Newton

Street bridge, and was the first bridge over the river

within the limits of Waltham.

The close of the French War, in 176.3, while it

brought peace to the Colonies, and dispelled the fears

of the savage invasions, to which the northern bor-

ders had been subject, drew in its train the results

which soon alienated the people from England and

precipitated the final separation. England began to

devise new means to pay for the war and keep up its

military establishment in America. The Stamp Act,

in 1765, was among these resources. Instantly the

people were aroused. Every little hamlet felt that a

question of principle was at stake, more than that of

the mere amount of the tax. Waltham was in touch

with its sister communities on the questions of popu-

lar colonial rights, which agitated the public mind

for the next ten years, and its records give ample evi-

dence of the patriotic spirit which animated its peo-

i
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pie and sought expression in the resolutions and
action of its town-meetings. It was the town-meet-

ings which kept public opinion aroused and made
tlieir intluenee felt, even across the sea, so that the

British Parliament passed an order forbidding that

they should be held, except for the choice of ollicers

and the appropriations for ordinary expenses.

In 1764 Joseph Dix was chosen representative and

commenced a service of fifteen consecutive years,

thus representing the town through the critical period

of American history. He succeeded SSamuol Liver-

more, who had served seventeen years, fourteen of

which were of consecutive service. At this time the

population of the town was 603, including four-

teen slaves. There were ninety-four houses and 107

families.

Boston was the commercial and political centre of

the Colonies, and as the seat of provincial government

gave inspiration to all the lesser towns within the cir-

cle of its influence. Its resolutions and actions were

endorsed so as to give greater force to its leadership

and to its greater interest in all that appertained to

public welfare. In 1767 the town endorsed 15oston's

approval of the measures to " i)romote industry, econ-

omy and manufacturing," and later, by other acts,

showed its disposition to keep in step with the pre-

vailing and growing sentiment of liberty.

Late in the year 1772 the famous Committee of

Correspondence of Boston was formed and commenced

that work which was great because great results fol

lowed. The object of the committee was to open a

correspondence with all the towns in the Colony and

with other Colonies, and to publish to the world the

sense of wrong inflicted upon the people by the home
government. It was a plan to create a unity of sen-

timent and action, and encourage an interchange of

opinion on the great question of the hour. It has

been aptly termed the foundation of the American

Union. The time had come when the feelings of

every little community were brought to a tension that

could not stand mere inaction. Submission was deg-

radation and ultimate loss of liberty, and the spirit of

loyalty, ever so manifest, must yield to higher prin-

ciples.

January 23, 1773, the letter from the committee

was read in town-meeting. It asked for an explicit

declaration of the sense of the people, and solicited

full communication of their sentiments. It also set

forth in spirited words the grievances of the Colonies

and the invasion of their civil and religious rights.

The town appointed a committee, consi.sting of Sam-

uel Livermore, Esq., Jonas Dix, Esq., Captain Abijah

Brown, Leonard Williams, Esq., and Deacon Isaac

Stearns, "to take the same into consideration, draw

up a vote in answer to said Letter, and report." But

there is no record that such a report was ever made.

Another letter, setting forth the barbarous and un-

christian practices of African slavery, was read at a

town-meeting in May, and referred to the repiesenta-

tive, toact upon according to his discretion. In July,

1774, the selectmen voted to lay in a stock of ammu-
nition, consisting of four half-barrels of powder, four

and one-half liundred-weight of liullel.s, and.'iOU llint*.

in September, in response to a recommendation of an

assembly of delegates from Middlesex County, held

at (Joiicord, that the town appoint local Comniitt<'e« of

Correspondence, the following vote wiw paused at a

town meeting :

" V'oted and chose Captain William Coolidge, Deii.

Elijah Livermore, Captain Abijah Brown, Lieutenant

Abijah Child and Ensign Abraham Pierce a commit-
tee for other towns to send to in pny emergency, and
they to send to other towns on any emergency." This

committee was a local Committee of Safety. When
the question came uj) among the several towns of re-

solving the General Court into a Provincial Congress,

the town appointed Captain Abijah Brown, Leonard

Williams and Jonathan lirewer a committee to adopt

instructions to the representative on the subject.

Subsequently Jacob Bigelow was chosen delegate.

Waltham had two delegate.s, Jacob Bigelow and
Eleazcr Brooks. Watertown, three ; Newton, tliree

;

Weston, three.

December 12, 1774, a town-meeting was held to take

into serious consideration the As,sociation of the

Grand American Continental Congress, and according

to their resolves, to choose a committee to attentively

observe that such association be punctually and

strictly carried into execution. Jonas Dix, Cornet

Nathaniel Bridge and Dea. Elijah Livermore were

chosen committee.

At a town -meeting held .fan. 9, 1776, the question

was put " to know the mind of the Town, whether

they will all be prepared and stand ready-equipped

as minute-men, and it passed in the affirmative."

Jonas Dix was chosen delegate to the Second Con-

gress at the same meeting.

The selectmen for the eventful year, 177;'>, were

Jonas Dix, Cornet Nathaniel Bridge, Lieut. Daniel

Child, Josiah Brown and John Clark. One or two

merit more than passing notice for their personal

qualities and worth, and de.served prominence, as all

do, for the important era in the history of the country

in which they served and guided the affairs of the

little town. "Squire" Dix, as he was called, was a

man of great ability, as recognized by the important

committees on which he served in Congress, and by

the frequent sutfrages of his fellow-citizens for posi-

tions of responsibility and honor. No man seemfl to

have served the town with more activity, and have

done more for the cause of liberty in those historic

days. Nathaniel Bridge was intimate with Washing-

ton, and entertained him at his house while in com-

mand at Cambridge. Thus in the men whom she

chose to represent her, at home and in Congress, by

the acts of her town-meetings, and by the patriotic

fervor and devotion of her inhabitants. Waltham w.is

fully in accord with the neighboring towns when the
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impeuding struggle for resistance and finally for inde-

pendence was to commence.

When the first net of the Revolution transpired at

Lexington, April 19, 1775, it would be expected that

Waltham, a contiguous town, would be prominently

conspicuous through her militia company with the

events of the duy. But the records are singularly ob-

scure in regard to any part taken by the towns peo-

ple in that memorable affair. There are a few indi-

vidual instances of citizens who joined in the pursuit

of the regulars, but there is no other authority, either

by record or tradition, that the military force was

near the scene of action. It has been a source of

wonder and conjecture among local historians and

orators, why the town did not unite with the neigh-

boring towns in sending its company to the scene of

duty. It has even been surmised that Waltham was

a Tory town, with a majority of its citizens in sym-

pathy with the royal cause. But recent researches in

the archives of the Slate fully disprove such intima-

tions. There is amj)le evidence that the citizens were

fully aroused with the spirit of patriotism and the

militia company was in active service, though not

present at the contest along the line of march of the

British troops. The record of the Committee of

Liberty shows that during the" winter preceding the

battle, cannon, ammunition and military stores were

stored at Waltham. Doubtless in contemplation of a

raid by British troops, and from the danger through

the proximity to Boston, of their sudden seizure, the

committee had the cannon, mortars, powder, balls,

shells, etc., transported to Worcester and Concord.

Previous to tlie Concord expedition, spies had been

over the road between Boston and Worcester, and had

been apprehended at Weston. When it was known
that the troops were preparing for a march into the

country, it was a matter of doubt whether their desti-

nation w.as Concord or Worcester, and on the day of

the battle when Percy's troops marched out over

Boston Neck, it was even then a matter of conjecture

as to whether they were intended as reinforcements to

the troops returning from Concord, or as a diversion

in the direction of Worcester. As Waltham was on

the direct road to Worcester, it was but natural that

alarm should spread through its borders and the local

company should be ready for work near at home.

Many families left their homes with their valuables

in anticipation of attack, and the greatest anxiety per

vaded the little comunity. But the muster-roll of the

Waltham Company, in the State archives, tells its own
story. It gives the list of 12 officers and 109 privates

who were on duty for three days at this time, marched

28 miles and drew pay for the service according to the

following certificate

:

*' Company in Walthaui, cald out by Colonel Thomas Gardner on

alarm in defence of tlio Liberties of America under the command of

Abraham Fierce, Capt. to Concord, and Lexenton fiteand the nnmberof
niilea traveld and how our Expenaes and these Ling may sartifie tliat my
Company waa lieept upon gard til Saturday the i day after the fite at

Concord. *' Abraham Peihce, Captain."

The list is remarkable in the fact that it shows

that more than one-half of the male population of

Waltham above sixteen years was under arms that

day and did their country service. But what route

they marched and what were the incidents of their

service cannot be ascertained.

Immediately after the battle troops began to gather

from the country and march towards Boston ; some of

the regiments were encamped at Waltham, but were

removed with the main army to Canibridge. Walt-

ham raised a company for the service. This company

was commanded by Captain Abijah Child, and was

attached to the Thirty-seventh Foot, commanded by

Captain Thomas Gardner. Besides this company

there were men from the town scattered through other

regiments of the* army. Captain Childs' company

was undoubtedly in the battle of Bunker Hill, as the

regiment was in the battle and Colonel Gardner was

there mortally wounded and six men were killed,

though no names are given in any of the accounts.

In the subsequent records of the town votes are passed

for reimbursing some of the citizens for accoutrements

lost at Bunker Hill.

The most prominent military man of the town was

Colonel Jonathan Brewer, who commanded a regi-

ment in the Continental Army, and was at Bunker

Hill, where he was wounded. He made an offer to

Congress to raise troops for the invasion of Canada.

When this expedition was organized and marched to

the capture of Quebec, under Arnold, through the

wilds of Maine under great privations, Waltham men
were with it, and afterwards were awarded additional

pay for their sufferings. As Colonel Brewer, Captain

Childs and other oflicers were with Washington in

the Jerseys in 1776, it is supposed that the Waitham

Company shared the fortunes of the army out of New
England. To all the requisitions of men during the

remainder of the war, the town responded with patri-

otic devotion and the soldiers were rewarded with

liberal pay and bounties by their fellow-citizens.

In March, 1776, Captain William Coolidge, Thomas
Wellington and Lieutenant Samuel Stearns were

chosen a Committee of Correspondence. As they are

also referred to as the Committee of "Inspection"

and " Safety," doubtless they had general supervision

of the local military and the share of Waltham in

conducting the war during their term of service. In

May, 1776, the town voted to engage their fortunes

and lives in support of a declaration of independence

should Congress for the safety of the Colonies so de-

clare them. When the declaration was proclaimed it

was read and spread at length on the town records.

After opposing in one year the formation of a State

Constitution, the town instructed the representative

in 1777 to join with others in the formation of such

Constitution as shall best promote the happiness of

the nation. In 1778, at a meeting, it was voted to in-

struct the representative to vote in favor of ratii'ying

the Articles of Confederation.
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In August, 1779, Jonas Dii, Esq., and Capt. Jonas

Clark were elected delegates to the Constitutional

Convention.

During the remainder of the war the struggle bore

hard upon all the towna. Constant calls came for

men, some to serve with the Continental Army, and

others to perforin special service where the exigencies

of war and the possibilities of attack might require.

As orders were issued respectively at ditt'erent times

to the first and second companies of militia, it is in-

ferred that there were two companies in town at that

period. The currency had become so depreciated

that fabulous sums were paid for bounties, and also

for wages and salaries of those in civil stations and

for the necessaries of life. A convention was hold at

Concord for the regulation of prices of merchandise

and labor, and in obedience to the recommendation

of that convention the following schedule of prices

was fixed : Hay, 36.1. per hundred-weight ; oats, 36s.

per bushel ; labor for haying and wall-laying, 42s.

per day ; mechanics with tools and found, (J0«.

;

blacksmiths for shoeing a horse, £4; meal of butchers'

meat and vegetables, 12s. ; same with tea, 15s. ; mug
of flip, 12s. ; bowl of toddy, 12s; making a coat, £6

;

breeches, £3, etc.A committee of eleven was elected and

directed by the town to carry out the provisions of the

order. Persons who should charge more than these

rates were to be dealt with by the Committee of Inspec-

tion, Safety and Correspondence, and have their names

published in the newspapers. In the demand for

soldiers, the bounties in many cases were specified to

be in silver.

In 1780, the first election under the new State

Constitution was held, and the vote of the town was :

for Governor, John Hancock, 54; James Bowdoin, 3.

The natural increase of population, probably owing

to the demands of war, had not been sustained, and

in 1783 the population numbered but 683. When the

new Constitution of the United States was referred to

the people of the State for ratification, Leonard

Williams was chosen delegate to the Convention. In

the vote for ratification in 1788, though the majority

of the delegates from Middlesex County opposed the

new Constitution, the delegate from Waltham voted

for it, thus showing that he forecast the future

correctly in relation to that great instrument of civil

goveruniant. When, in the first year of the adminis-

tration, Washington visited Massachusetts, he passed

through Waltham. He was received at Weston by a

horse company and escorted through the town with

every demonstration of the respect to which he was

entitled.

It was not uncommon for people in identifj'ing

themselves as new citizens of a town, to have the fact

publicly known and to be formally accepted as such.

In 1793, Chlistopher Gore was received as a citizen,

in accordance with his own request, expressed in

writing. He was a distinguished lawyer of Boston,

and afterwards rose to high political prominence as

diplomatist, Governor and United States Senator.

He bought large tracts of land, and built an elegant

home. His residence and surrounding estate are to-

day among the moai attractive of the State. The
grand imposing mansion, not ornate but substantial,

the spacious grounds and beautiful old trees, and the

extensive fields under high cultivation, show the

accumulated taste and care of nearly a century. A
place of the same character, which has been celebra-

ted for about as long a time, is the Lynum estate,

with its mansion-house, lawns and gardens, its farm-

houses and fields. Both of these jjlaces have been
quite historical as examples of American estates pre-

served for some generations in their original and
ideal grandeur and proportions.

Until 1790 the finances of the town were conducted
in the tables of pounds, shillings and pence, but after

that time dollars and cents came into universal use.

In the War of 1812 Waltham manifested a spirit of

generosity to her soldiers, paying them liberally, in

addition to the stipend allowed by the government.

The military company was called into service, but the

service was of the bloodless character which apper-

tained to guard duty, or the watching against the

attack of an enemy which never came. Party spirit

ran high, and opposition to the war and criticism of

its management were carried into town-meetings and
elections, social gatherings, and even into the church.

Rev. Mr. Ripley in one of his sermons gave vehement
and independent expressions to his views, which

raised a great feeling. Some of his congregation left

the church, and the town took up the matter in a

town-meeting, but after much discussion and a close

vote, the meeting decided to take no further action.

About this time the character of the town for the

future took a decided ch.tnge. Hitherto Waltham
had been quite exclusively an agricultural commu-
nity, and had followed the uneventful and tranquil

life of such a condition. Two or three mills had
been established on its streams. A small woolen-mill

had been operated on the east bank of Beaver Brook,

or Clematis Brook as now called, and a paper-mill

stood near where the mills of the Boston Manufac-
turing Company now stand, but they were too insig-

nificant to establish for the town any reputation for

manufacturing industries, or to give employment to

many people. In 1813 the Boston Manufacturing

Company was organized by Francis C. Lowell, Na-
than Appleton, Patrick T. Jackson and others, for

the manufacture of cotton cloth by the newly-invented

power-loom, and Waltham was selected as a site for

the operation. Boyce's paper-mill was bought with

its water privilege, and additional privileges were

purchased of some mills in Watertown. The new
enterprise was started originally for the purpose of

weaving cloth, the spinning to be done elsewhere, as

was common in England and other countries at that

day. Some mills in Rhode Island were at that time

making cloth by the same process. But the plan of
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the Waltham Mills was changed before completion,

so as to embrace s|>iiiniiig as well as weaving, and

thus the Walthaiu factories were the first in America

where cotton was lakeii in its raw state and made

into eloth in one establishment and under one roof.

The sketch of the manufacturinjr industries elsewhere

precludes the necessity of giving but a mere cursory

and hricHy historical review of this enterprise; but

even the most general description of Waltham would

be incomplete without special reference to this manu-

factory, which has been so closely identified with the

history of the town, with its growth and progress,

and the material Welfare of the people. Leaving out

its industrial feature, it has been a potent element in

the development of the town and of the country, far-

reaching beyond the mere operation of mechanical

appliances for material interests. There is a moral

and intellectual as well as mechanical side to the

origin and successful inception of this adventure in

American manufacturing which brings it within the

domain of history in its highest sense.

Lowell was the soul of the new undertaking, the

inventive genius and inspired projector. On a visit

to England, just before the War of 1812, he observed

and studied the source of her greatness on sea and

land. He saw that it lay in her commerce and manu-

factures. He burned with patriotic devotion to trans-

fer some of that power to his native land. He gave

his mind and hand to the work, and studied practi-

cally and theoretically on forms of machinery to im-

prove those he had seen abroad. With prophetic

eye he saw that our streams, running idly to the sea,

the cotton and wool grown upon our soil, the faculties

of the American race could all be utilized and com-

bined in a system of manufacturing industries to give

the country wealth and prosperity and greater inde-

pendence and importance among the nations of the

world. Of his associates, Appleton was the man of

means, the capitalist, the broad-minded, far-seeing

man of affairs; Jackson was the executive manager,

the treasurer and agent, who looked after the details

of management. With them there was afterwards

associated Paul Moody, a skillful, practical mechanic,

whose knowledge and experience could adapt the in-

genious devices of Lowell. To these men is due the

credit and honor for transcending that of starting and

successfully developing a new work of industry. They
seemed actuated by the highest moral and patriotic

impulses. Lowell and Appleton had observed in

England the ignorance, poverty and degradation of

the factory operatives. They determined that their

operatives should be kept on a higher plane and have

the advantages of the better influence of life. With
the factories, a church was established and a school-

house was built, and the treasurer consented to be the

local committee-man of the school. Good boarding-

houses were erected and maintained with due regard

to the purposes for which they were built. A library

was purchased and a lyceum was fostered. Thus

every opportunity was given for the employed to feel

the dignified and ennobling influence of labor.

These high principles on the part of the originators

of the mills, and the policy pursued for a long series

of years, gave evidence of the firm basis on which

American cotton factories were established. They

are bright lights in the history of manufactures, and

the lapse of time gives them even greater lustre and

importance. It is an interesting fact that for three-

ijuarters of a century, during which the factory has

been continuously in operation, no strike or estrange-

ment between employers and employees has ever

occurred.

In 1819 the company purchased the mills of the

Waltham Cotton and Wool Factory Company, an es-

tablishment erected 'n 1812 on the banks of the river

in the southeast part of the town, and proceeded to

build additional mills aVid a bleachery, where cloth

could be bleached by chemical process. This location

has since been known as the Lower Place, and its in-

terests have been principally identified with those of

the main corporation. The street which connected

them by the banks of the river was long one of the

most beautiful in town, extending amid groves of

forest-trees surrounding some beautiful estates; but

these groves have lately disappeared, and the man-

sions are turned into tenement-houses under the on-

ward march of progress, and the shaded seclusion of

road and adjacent lands have necessarily been sacri-

ficed to the requirements of business advancement.

Before this time the town had somewhat outgrown

the spirit of unity, and the local feelings and jeal-

ousies of a scattered community had begun to mani-

fest themselves to a degree. A sectional division in

church matters had created and developed a schism

which followed local rather than religious lines. The
origin of this difficulty is said to have been a sleigh-

ride, which was gotten up in the parish, and to which

several were not invited who thought they were en-

titled to such recognition. Explanations were given,

apologies were made, but all to no purpose. The
social compact which bound the different parts of the

town together was hopelessly broken. The agitation

extended to the utmost borders, and discordance took

the place of harmony, and faction of unity. The
residents of the hills entertained a hostile feeling to

those of the plains. The only semblance of a village

was still near Beaver Brook. The coming of the

factories would increase the power and population in

the southern section of the town, by the river and on

the broad area of the plain, still but sparsely settled,

and move the populous part of the village ia that di-

rection. The farmers of the north part did not re-

gard the advent of manufactories, their artisans and

operatives, with any considerable degree of satisfac-

tion. They opposed the factory people in town-meet-

ings and in church, and with a natural conservatism

looked upon the new-comers as temporary sojourners

not permanently interested in the affairs of the town.
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But a few years changed these feelings. Those en-

giiged in the mills actively participated in the affairs

(»f thf^ town for the general good ; the spirit of good

I'itizenship prevailed, and the Anieriean rule of

obedience to the will of the majorlly reconeiled any

differences on the score of occupation or locality.

The manufacturing corporations provided church

services in the scliool-house for a number of years,

until the congregation was large enough and able to

erect an edifice. With the growth of population, and

the varying shades of religious belief, other churches

have arisen from time to time, so that one or two

places of worship of each of the prevailing denomi-

nations of New England are well sustained in the

city.

Another institution which the manufacturing com-

pany fostered and encouraged by financial assistance,

as well as by moral recognition, Wius the library and

lyceum. The Kumford Institute of Mutual Instruc-

tion, founded in 182t;, was largely composed of those

working in the factory. It was one of the earliest

and most useful institutions of its kind in this part of

the country, and its history has been honorably and

notably connected with that of the town. It origin-

ally started as a debating club, with evening studies

on subjects of the day, generally of a scientific na-

ture.

Public lectures were given, often by its own members
and distinguished persons from abroad. A library

was a special feature from the inception, and the com-

pany generously donated a collection of books it

purchased for its operatives, called the Manufacturers'

Library, and contributed for many years funds for the

purchase of new books. It erected a building with

a hall for lectures and rooms for a library, which it

rented to the institute free, on condition that it de-

voted sixty dollars a year to the purchase of books.

This building, called the Rumford Building, was sold

to the town in 1854, and, with alterations and en-

largements, is the present City Hall. The library

was given to the town by the institute in 1865, and

was the nucleus of the present.

Another illustration of a minor character of the

encouraging care for education is the fact that the

factory bell rang every morning at quarter of nine

o'clock to call the children to school. For upwards

of half a century, as regularly as it summoned opera-

tives to and from their daily toil, its peals summoned
children to their lessons.

The schools of Waltham have always been kept up

to a high standard of excellence, and have ranked

with the best in the State. It has been noted already

that one of the causes of the separation of the town

from- Watertown was the insufficiency of school ac-

commodations, and hence the principle and practice

so strongly contended for have ever been sustained by

the descendants of the seceding fathers. Appropria-

tions have always been made with no niggardly hand,

and the people have generously taxed themselves to

provide for the education of the youth. In the year

1833 the first town or high school was established.

This was located in the first story of tiie new town-

hall erected at that time. Previous to that time all

Iiublic schools had been in the common single grade

district school, and the Uywu had lield its meetings in

the church. The town-house, which stood on the

site of the present Nortlilirammar School, at the cor-

ner of Lexington and School Streets, was devoted ex-

clusively to school purposes in 1849, for both the high
and grammar schools, and in I 8(11) was abarnloned for

the purpose and sold for removal.

Near it stood the armory of the artillery company,
and the public llag-stafl', and the vacant land around
on both sides of the adjacent street was the only

public common then owned by the town. In 1854

the town purchased a larger part of the present

beautiful common of the Boston Manufacturing Com-
pany, which had reserved it from their land for [lublic

purposes, and, with a commendable spirit, parted

with it only on condition that it should be forever

used a-s a park. Addition and extension on the

southern side, made by the city in 188G, have com-
pleted its area to just i)roportions, and furnished the

people with a most attractive public s(|nare, adorned

with trees, in the midst of its busiest life. The
original preservation and maintenance of such a park

in a place where land has enhanced in value every

year and is in demand for the local growth and
materia] prosperity show obviously the character of

the people and their sentiment in regard to objects of

|)ublic use, adornment and recreation. For it is with

a strong opposition of a minority when the expense

is to be borne from the public treasury, that such a

reservation can be made.

During the first half of the i)resent century Walt-

ham was a i^opular resort for military gatherings of

the day. Its broad plains and ample hotels furnished

facilities for the mustering of the militia forces and

their entertainment, without the necessity of camping

on the tented field. War and all its associations

were more of a tradition than a reality to nearly all

but the few surviving Revolutionary soldiers, and the

annual muster and May training had something of a

picturesque and grotesque character, compared with the

military encampments of to-day. Few even of the

officers had ever seen any service, and the semblance

of actual warfare maintained for a day or two of duty

seems to have partaken of the mock-heroic. The
gaudy trappings, the variegated uniforms, the indiffer-

ent discipline, made of a militia training a picture

rivaling thecombinations of a kaleidoscope. With the

hilarity and lively scenes of such an occasion, all the

country round about took an active interest. In the

days of compulsory service, the un-uniformed forces

presented a contrast to the uniformed and organized

companies. The latter, from different towns, of'ten

entered into a spirit of rivalry, in the colors and elab-

orate details of uniforms and equipments. The shrill
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fife and rattling drum, with the more pretentious mar-

tial music of a country band, added materially to the

pomp and circumstance of the muster-field and the

annual training.'

A Keuii-military celebration was the " Cornwallis,"

held on the 19th of October, the anniversary of the

eventful day at Yorktown, and commemorative of

the surrender of Lord Cornwallis to Washington.

There was a strange blending of the sublime and

ridiculous on these occasions, with the marshaling of

the opposing forces, the mock battle and surrender,

and tlie travesty upon the reality of war. It was one

of these autumnal gatherings at Wallham which

prompted some descriptive lines of Lowell in his

Biglow papers.

But the preservation of the patriotic and military

spirit in this way served its purpose when the days of

trial came and the spirit and patriotism of the young

who witnessed these scenes of imaginary warfare was

to be tested in the actual conflict of arms for the sal-

vation of the country.

With the establishment of the cotton manufactur-

ing industry and its gradual and successful growth,

the town had a healthy and steady increase of popu-

lation and general prosperity. There were few other

important industries for many years. "The corpor-

ation," as it was called, and its leading men were the

principal features of the town in its municipal and

material development. The village extended up the

main highway in the direction of the factories, and

the centre was permanently located where to-day may

be considered the heart of the city, with its principal

buildings and offices. With all that was incidental

to its progress, there was a well-ordered public senti-

ment that all was well for future prosperity. The
streets were generally laid out wide and straight, and

were kept in excellent repair—in fact, the town was

one of the first to adopt the McAdam system in the

construction of the principal thoroughfares. And in

nearly all town matters, with the exception of some

minor afl'airs which are always exceptional, a liberal

policy w«s pursued to the ultimate welfare of the

whole community.

In 1843 the Fitchburg Railroad was built to Wal-

tham, and in 1845 it was extended beyond to Fitch-

burg. This naturally gave something of an impetus

to growth for some years, but the policy of that cor-

poration from about 1850 to 1860 was such an anom-

aly in railroad management as to check much pro-

gress from that source, and to turn the tide of subur-

ban travel in other directions. The action of this

railroad, in regard to transportation and public ac-

commodation, has been considered a great detriment

to the town in the past, and has in that regard affect-

ed the record of its history. The progressive policy

for the past twenty-five years can hardly make
amends for former mistakes.

In 1853 the Watertown Branch of the Fitchburg

Railroad was extended to Waltham, thus giving the

people the facilities of a separate line of communica-

tion with Boston. The low fares and frequent trains on

the different roads now furnish the citizens unusual

advantages in the way of railway passenger traffic.

In 1849 the town received an addition of territory

which ultimately had a great effect upon its growth

and prosperity, and widened the area of its industrial

facilities. This gain of territory was from the annexa-

tion of a part of Newton, adjacent to Charles River,

and contiguous to the populous part of Waltham. At
that time there was on one portion the works of 'he

Chemical Company, and a few dwellings, but the re-

mainder was largely wild land, with some parts given

to agriculture. It has developed with almost the

phenomenal rapidity of a western town, and has

grown into a thrifty and populous part of the city.

This smart growth is mainly the result of the estab-

lishment of the American Waltham Watch Com-
pany's works. Previous to this time some new man-

ufacturing enterprises had sprung up—an iron foun-

dry ; a manufactory or laboratory where some of the

first experiments were made with petroleum in the

manufacture of oil, paraffine, etc.; a crayon factory,

the original and still quite exclusively the principal

manufactory of black-board crayons in the country,

the product of the inventive genius of one of the citi-

zens. But the inception of watch-making by per-

fected machinery, in a manufactory at first organized

under Mr. A. L. Dennison, has more than other en-

terprises advanced the progre.«s of Waltham, given it

a character as a manufacturing centre and extended

its name for its fine products over the civilized world.

The ill success of the first enterprise, its restoration

and successful development under the executive abil-

ity of Mr. Royal E. Robbins, are an interesting and

essential feature of the history of local manufactures.

But this great establishment, with the liberal and in-

telligent spirit of its projectors, the skill and high

character of its mechanics and operatives, male and

female, the inventive genius displayed in machinery

that by delicate and intricate movements performs

the part of handiwork, with greatest rapidity and pre-

cision, is an important element in the history of the

city, apart from its industrial character. In the high-

est degree it is representative of American skill and

management, and of the moral and intellectual stand-

ard of artisans. No better evidence of thrift and

social culture is needed than the beautiful and attrac-

tive homes, with ample grounds, owned and built by

those whose livelihood is derived from this well-or-

ganized and successful manufactory.

At an agricultural and industrial fair in 1857, the

first of the kind ever held in the town, the local pro-

ducts of the field, the home and the workshop were

gathered in an exhibition which showed the extent

and diversity of the industries of a town of 6000 in-

habitants. This fair was held under the auspices of

the "Agricultural Library Association," an organiza-

tion which, with a change of name after a few years
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to the " Farmers' Club," has done much to foster the

interests of the town. Composed not exclusively of

farmers, but more generally of those of other occupa-

tionsf il has, through its weekly meetings in the win-

ter and other gatherings, done much for the common
welfare in cultivating among those whose business

leads in different directions, that social and friendly

intercourse n[ion which a general community of in-

terests deiiends.

In 1859 Waltham sacrificed a portion of its terri-

tory, about 429 acres, for the incorporation of the

town of Belmont, flie part taken was all that east

of Clematis Brook, which is now the northeastern

boundary of the city. Little opposition was made

to the surrender of this area, as in a liberal spirit the

people were not averse to contributing to the forma-

lion of the beautiful rural town which is now one of

its attractive neighboring communities. With what

was gained from Newton and lost to Belmont the

area of the city is about the same as when first incor-

porated.

In 1861, when the Civil War burst upon the land,

the citizens of the town displayed the loyalty and

patriotic ardor, manifested throughout New England

and the "North, and by public and private demonstra-

tion entered into the spirit of devotion to the Union.

Immediately on the firing upon Fort Sumter, a mass-

meeting of the citizens was called, patriotic speeches

were made and enthusiastic and determined action

was taken to support the cause of the Governmeal.

Captain Gardner Banks announced his purpose to

raise a company for service and the enlistment rolls

were opened and well filled at the meeting.

Flags were displayed on the factories, school-

houses, public and private buildings, the common
was lively with squ.ads of recruits drilling, and the

usual aspect of the village instantly underwent a

change.

A town-meeting was held and official action taken

to carry out the will of the people, without distinction

of party, in vindication of national honor and the in-

tegrity of the Union. Money was appropriated for

extra pay to soldiers for a specified time, and for sup-

port of their families. The women of the town, emu-

lating the example of the men, held sewing meetings,

and worked upon uniforms and other articles of neces-

sity for the comfort and welfare of the soldier. The

uniforms of the first company were made almost ex-

clusively by their skillful and patriotic eflTorts. Few
then supposed that the war would last more than a

few months, but the impressive and serious earnest-

ness with which the first, as well as subsequent steps

were taken showed the existence of the old spirit of

the fathers and of the staying qualities of people who

reluctantly, dutifully, and with firm determination

took up the gage of battle.

Many enlisted in other companies in and out of the

State, and the number offering for service was greater

than the demand.

The first company was attached to the Sixteenth

Massachusetts Volunteers. Later in the same year,

when a call for more troops was issued, the militia

company of Light Dragoons formed the nucleus of

two cavalry companies which were attached to the

First Massachusetts Cavalry. Thesecompanies served

with distinction throughout their term of service.

In 1862, when the reverses of the Union arms and
the power of the rebellion com|iellcd the government
to call for still more troops, the town, with e<|ual en-

thusiasm and liberality, responded U) the demands
upon it for more soldiers. And when the draft was
made, all quotas were filled without a conscription of

but a few men. Private subscriptions, besides the

town appropriations, provided liberal bounties and
every duty of patriotism was loyally fulfilled.

The women of the town were loyally active during

the whole period of the war in providing for the sol-

diera in the field, and doing everything in their power
to alleviate their sufferings and enhance their com-
fort, through the medium of Soldiers' Aid and Relief

Societies. In 1864 a large fair was held in aid of the

Sanitary Commission, which was very successful and

through which a generous sum was raised for the

great cause.

The town furnished about 400 soldiers and sailors,

and nearly every Massachusetts regiment was repre-

sented by some of its citizens. Fifty-three of the

number, as nearly as can be ascertained, never re-

turned, but nobly sacrificed their lives in battle or in

the hospital for the cause of their country. Soon after

the war, Waltham was among the first towns to erect

a soldiers' monument. This monument, an ornamen-

tal granite shaft, inscribed with the names of those

who gave their lives, is located upon the Common.
It also organized one of the First Grand Army Posts

in the State, which to-day is active in perpetuating

the memory of those who served their country in the

time of its peril.

The only regular military organization is the

Waltham Rifles, organized in 1874, and attached to

the Fifth Regiment Massachusetts Volunteer Militia.

Waltham has always in due time responded to the

demands upon it called for by its advancement in

population and prosperity. In 1829 the first fire-

engine was purchased, and in 1844 a Fire Department

was organized under a perfect system, with engineers

and subordinates. Previous to the purchasing of an

engine there had been an independant organization

of citizens called the Fire Club, each member of

which was equipped with two buckets and other im-

plements for extinguishing fires and saving property.

This club now keeps up an informal organization

by an annual sujtper. The first steam fire-engine was

added to the department in 1871, and the fire-alarm

telegraph introduced in 1881. The present Fire De-

partment is a finely-organized and well-managed in-

stitution in the city. Its adequate equipment, and

the harmonious feeling between the different com-
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paniea, and between the men and officers and engi-

neers, render it one of special efficiency and character.

The toroe now consists of one steam fire-engine, one

chemical engine, four hose carriages, one hook-and-

laddcr truck, supiily wagon, etc.

The Waltham Bank was estahlished in 1836. Luke

Fiske was the lirst president, and Nathaniel Maynard

the first cashier. The capital originally was $100,000,

and was subsfquently increjised to $150,000. The

Savings Bunk was established in 1853.

The streets were first lighted in 1852. The Gas

Light Company was formed and ga.s introduced in

1853. The same company added an electric plant to

its works and introduced electric lights in ]88t>. A
horse railroad was built and opened between Wal-

tham and West Newton in 1868, and in 1872 was ex-

tended up Main to Weston Street. It was changed

to an electric road in 1890.

The people had been agitating the question of the

introduction of water for some years, and different

sources of supply had been suggested. After con-

siderable deliberation and a careful examination of

different places and methods, the town decided, in

1873, to take water from a filtering basin near Charles

River above the fiictories by pumping into a reservoir

on Boston Kock Hill. In e.xcavatiug for the filtering

basin, springs were struck on the land side of the

basin, giving a supply of pure water ample for all

present necessities, besides the facilities for direct

draught from the river.

.Tuly 4, 1876, the centennial celebration of National

Independence was carried out with much public spirit

and parade. A military and civic procession marched

through the |)rincipal streets, and an historical oration

was delivered by Josiah Rutter, Esq., in a large tent

on the Common. Concerts and children's entertain-

ments were given at Ruraford Hall, while boat-races

and games furnished recreation for others. A fine

display of fire-works on the Common ended the suc-

cessful and patriotic celebration of the day.

Mention has already been made of the date and lo-

cation of the first bridge over Charles River on the

site of the present Newton Street Bridge. This

bridge, within a few years, has been rebuilt into an

arched bridge of stone. Moody Street Bridge was

built in 1847, originally of wood; it has since been

rebuilt of iron. Farwell Street Bridge, below the

bleachery, is a structure of iron. In 1889 a massive

new arch bridge of stone was completed from Pros-

pect to Maple Streets, near the watch factory. This

is the most expensive and imposing bridge across the

river, and furnishes one of the most attractive

thoroughfares, whether for business or pleasure. It

supplanted a wooden foot-bridge erected in 1885,

mainly for the convenience of the watch factory

operatives living on the north side of the river.

The Massachusetts Central Railroad constructed

its road through Waltham in 1881, and thus gave ad-

ditional facilities for communication with Boston,

and westward into the interior of the State and be-

yond.

Where the citizens as a whole have been backward

in supplying the neces.sary improvements, private

citizens have by public »|)irit and enterprise in some
cases supplied the deficiency. With the growth in

population, places of public gathering for meetings,

entertainments, and the ordinary purposes of a large

community become inadequate in size and number.

The town had outgrown Rumford Hall, which, with

its historical associations as the assembly room of

Rumford Institute, wa.s also used as the Town Hall.

Propositions were made for erection of a new and

sp.icious Town Hall. Town-meetings were held with

warm discussion. It was voted to build a hall on

the Common ; subsequently, that vote was reconsider-

ed and another location chosen. One meeting would

negative the act of another, and the attempt to have

a new Town Hall came finally to naught. In 1881

under the spirited management of a few gentlemen, a

stock company of citizens was formed and Music Hall

was erected. This structure, with its frontage of

stores and offices and' spacious vestibule and audi-

torium in the rear, is a useful and ornamental insti-

tution of the city. In 1890 alterations were made by

which it was more especially adapted for theatrical

entertainments, and it is now largely used for the

drama, as well as for the general purposes of a large as-

sembly room. The name was changed to Park Theatre.

Under the judicious management of the present lessee,

Mr. W. D. Bradstreet, as a local theatre it furnishes

the people two or three times a week in the season

with a good variety of literary, dramatic and musical

entertainments.

By the census of 1880 the population was very

nearly 12,000, the requisite number for a city. As
the town-meetings were oftentimes too large for the

proper transaction of business, and the rate of in-

crease of population was such as to render a change

to a city form of government inevitable within a short

time, the subject of application for a city charter began

to be advocated. The proposition naturally met with

much opposition at first from the more conservative

people, and the first vote of the town was against the

measure. But renewed interest was at once manifest-

ed, and on a second vote, November 30, 1883, the

town voted seven hundred and twenty-four to six

hundred and sixty-five to apply for a city charter,

and appointed a committee of fifteen to prepare a

charter. The Legislature granted the charter June

2, 1884, and it was accepted by the people July, 1884,

by a vote of nine hundred and seventeen to six hun-

dred and thirty-nine. In date of organization Wal-

tham was the twenty-third city of Massachusetts.

Public sentiment in the town had been quite freely

expressed in favor of a one board city government,

the council or legislative branch to consist of but one

body, instead of a Board of Aldermen and Common
Council, as customary in other cities of Massachusetts,
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A charter with this provision was granted. This

novel feature was regarded as an innovation, and the

fii'st experiment in Walthani has been watched with

consideralile interest by those interested in municipal

government. A board of twenty-one aldermen, with

three from each of seven wards, was instituted, and

has been found to work satisfactorily. The only

change from that system deemed desirable was one

to break up the local character of the representation

from each ward. In 1889 an amendment was adopt-

ed to the effect that one of the aldermen from each

ward be elected by the people at large.

The change from a town to a city form of govern-

ment was ma>le January, ISSfi, when the inaugura-

tion eserci.scs took place in JIusic Hall before a large

assemblage of the people. The chairman of the

Board of Selectmen, Mr. Timothy Leary, in transfer-

ring the affairs of the town to the new custodians,

impressively commented upon the past history and

record of the town, the himor and honesty of its offi-

cials aii<l the sacred character of the trust for the peo-

ple which had been m.aintained inviolate since the

date of incorporation. There had been no record of

the malfea-sance of any officer or of the loss of a dol-

lar of public money through the dishonesty of any

official. The last Board of Selectmen was Timothy

Leary, F. Buttrick, T. P. Smith, Charles H. Emerson,

Lebbeus S. Foster.

Hon. B. B. Johnson had been elected the fir.st

mayor, and he assumed the duties of the office with

recognition of the fact that the new .system of the

Aldernianic Board was, in a measure, e.xperimental,

and would be regarded for its successful and practical

operation beyond the limits of the municipality.

Henry N. Fisher was elected the president of the

Board of Aldermen. The city has been conducted so

as to commend itself to the citizens, even the most

conservative, who strongly opposed such organization.

Hon. Charles F. Stone served as mayor in 1886,

aod Hon. H. N. Fisher from 1887-90.

Henry N. Fisher was president of the Board of

Aldermen from 1885-86, Charles P. Bond from 1887-

88, '90, and Thomas B. Eaton in 1889.

The City Treasurers have been J. C. Thorpe, 1886-

86 ; E. A. Harrington, 1887-90.

The Oily Clerk.—U N. Hall, 1885-90.

The City Auditors.—E. A. Harrington, 1885-86
;

E. J. Sanderson, 1887-90.

City Solicitors.—ThonvAs H. Armstrong, 1885-88;

George L. Mayberry, 1889-90.

The one hundred and fiftieth anniversary of the

incorporation of Waltham was celebrated January 16,

1888, under the auspices of the city government and

a committee of citizens. The exercises were held in

Music Hall, and consisted of an introductory address

by His Honor, Mayor Fisher, an historical address, an

original poem by Rev. E. N. Hayward, a hymn by

W. M. Fullertou, music and singing, and a short ad-

dress by His Excellency, Governor Ames. In the even-

ing there was a banquet, at which General Banks
presided, and at which speeches were mftde by prom-
inent gentlemen. This banquet was followed by

dancing. As the celebration was arranged in a lim-

ited time, the preparation of the historical nddre.t.i

was referred to a committee of three, each of wl i

prepared a portion. This rather novel plan of joint

authorship worked admirably, and was Hucci-nsfully

carried out to a complete ciunposition adapted to the

occasion. The committee on historical address were
Charles F. Stone, Nathan Warren and Thomas H.
Armstrong. It was impressively read by the Hon. F.

M. Stone.

The history of Waltham, thus briefly and iniper-

lectly sketched to the present day, is a [lart of the

history of the Commonwealth and of the progress and

development of the country. It is what a free, intel-

ligent people have made it, under the blessings of our

form of government and the foundations laid by the

early fathers. There is no glamour of war, of royal

endowments or special privileges in its simple annals.

It is no exception to hundreds of other tlirifty places

throughout the land— in its general prosperity,

its industrial progress and its representative charac-

ter of American enterprise. Besides its sons and daugh-

ters who have remained and contributed to the city's

growth many have gone out from its farmsand factories,

its schools and homes, to the uttermost parts of the

earth, have helped build up other States and earned

an enviable name for their enterprise and genius.

Their fortunes may be linked with other destinies,

but their fondest memories go back to the place

they once called home.

W^altham has furnished two Governors of Mas.sa-

chusetts, Christopher Gore and Nathaniel P. Banks
;

one United States Senator, Christopher Gore ; a

member of Congress for several terms, a Speaker of

the National House of Representatives and a Major-

General of Volunteers, in the person of N. P. Banks;

five Senators in the Massachusetts Legislature,

—

Luke Fiske, Gideon Haynes, V. M. Stone, N. P.

Banks and David Randall. It.s Representatives to

the General Court since 1800 have been as follows

:

1802, Jonathan Coolidgo ; 1804, .lonathan Coolidge; 1S06-O8. Abner
Sanderson , 1800-17, David Townneud ;

1S2II, Fluvid Tuwnnond ; 18LM-2i,

Luke Fi8ko ; 1S2:{, Tiiiko Fii^ko and Cltiu*. I.ytiiiiu ; 182-1, leaac Bf-niis, Jr.,

and David Townsond ; l«2ri, Liikn Fiske ; 1826, David Town(<end ; 1827,

David Townspnil and iBmic Hemis, Jr.; I828-;t(>, Jonaw Clark ^1831. Amos
Harrington and David Townsend ; 1832, Jonaa Clark and Jolin Viles;

1837, David Kemlall and Kobcrt Anderson , 18:18, I.nko Fiske; 18:tlMn,

Elisha Crelioro : 1841, Jonas Clarke ; 1842, .lolin Abbott ; 1843-44, John
SI. Peck ; 1849-52, N. P. Banks, Jr.; 18i>3-54, Honilio Mooro ; IS.W,

.Sanuiel O. Upham ; 18S(>, William P. Ohilds ; IS^'T, Horatio Mooro ; lalS,

.tames G. Moore ; 18:.0, Josiah Rutter ; 180", F. M. Slone ; I8(il, Daniel

French; 18B2, F. M. Slone and Josiah Heard; 1803, James O . MiH>re
;

1861-05, F. 51. Stone ; 1800-07, Kniory W, l.ano ; 1808-<K|, Ro.val S. War-

ren ; 187(1, Uonitio Moore ; 1871, Thonuis Hill ; 1872, W. A. Adania ; 1873,

William Roberts ; I«74, W. A. Adams; 187o, Wm. E. Bright ; 1870. F. M.
Stone; 1877-711, David Randall ; 1880-81, Nathan Wamin; 1882, Bufua

Warren ; 1883, .lohn S. Williams ; 1884, Robl. Treat I'aine, .Ir ; t8g.S-8B,

Erskino Warden ; 1887-88, p]r«kine Warden and Samuel O. I'ldiam ; I881»,

Henry S. Milton ; 1800, Henry S. Milton and Clias. Moore.

In the years omitted the town sent no representative.
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The population of Waltham at different periods has

been as (bllows

:

17t!5, ••.i;:?; 1783,689; 1790, 882; 1800, 903; 1810,

1014: 1820, 1677; 1830, 1857; 1840, 2504; 1850,

4464; 1860, 6397; 1865. 6898; 1870, 9065; 1875,

9%7; 1880, 11,712; 1885, 14,609; 1890, 18.533.

A sketch of Waltham would not be complete with-

out special reference to its most eminent citizen, the

product of its soil and its thrifty manufacturing life,

(ii'iieral Nathaniel Prentice Banks is a loyal son of

this, his native town, where he now resides. Born of

humble and respectable parentage, connected with

the factory life, growing up amidst the busy scenes

of the early manufacturing industries of America, ob-

taining limited education at the village school, he

exemplifies in the highest degree the possibilities of

the American youth. Commencing work in the fac-

tories when a mere boy, he availed himself of the

facilities for self-education, proving himself an apt

pupil under adverse circumstances, and early evinced

remarkable oratorical powers. In the village lyceum,

and in town-meeting, he was able to cope in debate

with the strongest opponents. He has always been

true to his early instincts, and by his fine personal

presence, and his fervid eloquence, he has maintained

the dignity of labor. From the time when he was

first elected to represent the town in the Legislature,

after matiy unsuccessful trials, to the present day, he

has been prominent in public affairs ot the State and

nation. In the changing fortunes of political life, in

peace and in war, he has maintained the high charac-

ter of personal and public honor and integrity. Hon-

ored with age and universal respect, he is again serv-

ing the people of his district in the National House

of Representatives. At home he is the unpretentious

citizen, deeply interested in whatever appertains to

the welfare of the community.

The growth of Waltham has been steady and con-

servative, without spasmodic successes and reverses,

and speculative attempts at progress, to be followed

by reaction. Improvements are made as suggested

by the necessities of the time and by prudent prepa-

ration for the future. Taxes are kept within reason-

able limit, and the public enterprises are generally

carried out with proper consideration of cost and

need. A system of drainage has been inaugurated

and extended with due regard to the growing require-

ments of such work. An improved system of sewer-

age to connect with themetropolitan system of Boston

and vicinity, under an act of the Legislature, will

soon be commenced. With its eligible location, the

firm basis of its present manufacturing enterprises,

and the inheritance of the past, Waltham may well

look forward for a prosperous future as one of the

leading manufacturing cities of the Commonwealth.

CHAPTER XLVI.

WALTEAM—( Conlin ue<l).

MILITARY HISTORY.

BY NATHAN WARREN.

The original territorial division of Waltham as a

part of Watertown was on a military basis and for

the purpose of a public defence by arms. The ne-

cessity of promptly summoning men together in view

of Indian troubles o'ccasioned the division of Water-

town into three precincts, each with a military com-

pany or train-band. What is now Waltham, as

elsewhere stated, was the Middle Precinct, and was

assigned to Lieutenant Benjamin Garfield's command.

As all the male inhabitants capable of bearing arms

were required to be ready for military service at any

time, the early history of the town is seen to have

been of a semi-military character. The formation of

the precinct wa.s in 1691.

It is not a matter of record what part the men of

Waltham took as soldiers in the early wars, but doubt-

less in Queen Anne's War, which raged from 1702 to

1713, between the colonists on one hand and the

French and Indians of Canada on the other, the pre-

cinct furnished its share of men. Military titles were

very common, and generally used in reference to those

who bore them in civil affairs. Probably few were

acquired in actual service, but were won in peaceful

duty of the annual trainings. Their bestowal and
use show, however, the natural military spirit of the

people. In March, 1744, Captain Samuel Livermore

reported ninety men under his command.
Of enlistments of Waltham men in the Colonial

service we find that of Ebenezer Bigelow, in Captain

Stephen Richard's company in 1740, and that of

Captain John Cutting in 1744, while in 1748 Nathan

Morse and John Barnard were serving at Fort Shir-

ley. In the old French and Indian War, from 1755

to 1763, in which New England was engaged, from

Lake George to Louisbourg, until the final victory of

Q,uebec, the town furnished many men. Ensign

Robert Smith, Lieutenant Ebenezer Brown, Sergeant

William Cox, Cornet Jonathan Pierce, Jonas Cutter,

John Bean, Phineas Stearns, Joseph Wellington,

Thomas Wellington, William Benjamin, Daniel

Fisk, Abram Hill, Abijah Brown, Thomas Harring-

ton, Isaac Gleason, Josiah Whitney, David Fisk,

William Cummings were in the service. In the

Crown Point expedition were Abram Gregory and

Abijah Gregory. Benjamin Lawrence and Thomas
Hammond were also in the .service, and in 1737 Cor-

poral Jonathan Pierce and Ensign William Liver-

more. In Captain Jonathan Brown's company served

Josiah Barnard, Isaac Corey, John Whitehead, Nicho-

las Lucas, William Cox, David Standly, Timothy

Flagg, Abram Sanderson, Lowden Priest, Jonas

Steward, William Graves, John Wellington, John
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Wellington, Jr., Phineas Stearns, Trueworthy Smith,

and Jedediali "White.

This Wiir was the si-hool of the Kevohition and

gave to tlie returning soldiers of every town and

hamlet a knowledge and experience in the art of war,

and a military prestige which served well wlien re-

sistance to the mother country became necessary.

When the eventful li»th of April, 1775, came, Wal-

tham's company of minute-men was on duty, though

not at Lexington. There is no record of the place

of service, iiut tho muster-roll tells a story of duty

performed by twelve oihcers and one hundred and

nine men, who marched twenty-eight miles and were

on duty for three days as follows:

"Company in Walthani Cald out by Colonel Thomas (tardner on

Atariii in defence of tlm Liberties of Amarica iui<ler tho Command of

Abraham Pt-irce, Capt., to Concord and Lexenton tite and thr nnmber nf

miles travpid and boor our Expenses and these Lins may BarliTie that my
Company wa*: Keupt upon gard till Satex'day the 4 day after the tite at

Concord.

''Abraham Peirce, Capt., 28 mile, 3 days, 15«. ; Samuel Steams,

Lieut., 28 mile, :i days, lOs. \0d. ; John Clark, 2 Lieut., 28 mile, 3 days,

h)g. lOil. ; Isaac hagar, Kins., 28 mile, 3 days, 0». lorf. ; .ladidiah thair,

Serg., 28 mile, 3 days, 7«. 04d. ; EUsha Cox, Serg., If. tH*/. ; Jusiah

mixer, Serg., 7s. id. ; Samuel harriugton, Serg., Ts. -Id. ; Joshua Swan,

Corp., 7* ; John Gleson, Corp., 7s. ; William Ct>oledg, (^rp., "8.
; Josiali

Barnard, Corp. ; .Toeph hager, guns, Jonas Starns, Samuel Bigelow,

Beselah tlagg, William Stager, Abijah Biglow, Beniamin harrington,

Joshua Carlield, Elijah Livermore, Josiah Hastings, 1 day ; Josiuh

Brown. 1 day ; Ephrim hammond, timmothy flagg. Narthael Bridg,

William Brig, Benjamin Stratton, Stephen Welman, Samuel I<ovet, Wil-

liam Brown, Josiah Brown, EleserBradshaw, Jonas Smith, Nathan vils,

Jonas vils, Leuard M'illiams, Elisbua Starns, Jonathan Starns, Jonathan

warren, Edward Garfield, EHsha harriiigtun, Benjamin White, Samuel

Gall, guns (Gale), Asra Dench. Andrew Benjami[i, Samuel Gall (Gale),

Abijah Fisk. Zack Weson, Amos fisk, Jose harrington, William liager,

guns, Jonathan hager, Matthias Collins, Benjamin bager, Jonathan dix,

John Sims, Cuttin Clark, Ephriam Peirce, Jech B ill, Josiah Connors,

micah Bumpo, Isaac Gleeson, amos harrington, Oliver haget, Seth Pond,

daniel Cutting, Isaac Parkhurst, Joseph Corey, Jonathan Cox, Phinehas

Warren, Eiiphit Hastings, Peetr Warren, william warren, John Coledg,

Eliphit warren, Samuel Guddin, Samuel fuller, Juidg Lanance, Jonas

Larrance, Elijah Cutting, Benja Gallop. Elijah tolman, Isaao Child, Ab-

ijah Child, Jonas Child, Abrani Beeamis, Abrm Bemis, guner, Jonas

Smith, giinr, Joeiah Bemis, Ruben Bemis, Isaac Bemis, Abram Child,

Elisha Child. Elisha Cuttler, Phinehas warrin, Job Priest, James Priest,

John vils, 2 days; Isaac Peirce, 2 days; Samuel Robards, Phinehas

Larrance, Jonaii Dix, Esquir, Jonas Dix, Juner, Josiah Whitney, Wil-

liam willington, Jordg willington, thaddeus willjngton, 1 day ; Joseph

willington, 1 day ; Elijah Larrance, Daniel Starns, Josiah Sanderson,

Abnar Sanderson, John Sanderson, Josiah Smith, Abijah Livermore,

Joddiah white, Elisha Livermore,Ely Jones, Amos Brown, Joseph Brown,

1 day ; .lohn Larrance, 1 day ; William Cooledg."

May 13, 1775, the selectmen delivered to the fol-

lowing soldiers each a blanket, " they being enlisted

in the service of Massachusetts for the Defense of the

liberty of America :"

Eliphalet Hastings, Jonas Lawrence, Elijah Cutting, Elisha Cox, Wil-

liam Liiok, Samuel Roberts, John Glynn, Josiah Converse, Cutting

Clark, Abraham Parkhurst, Matthew Peirce, Josiah Bemis, Jr., Daniel

Warren, Elijah Mead, Samuel MuUikin, Amos Fiske, Zechariah Weston,

Job Priest, David Smith, Benjamin (iaUop, Amos Harrington, George

Wellington, Micah Bnmpo, Jonas Smith, Jr., John Viles, .Iviniah Lovett,

Elisha Harnngton, Ilabakkuk Stearns, Jesse Goodell, Nathan Wright,

Assa Gould, Bezaleel Wright, Abijah Fiske, Rufus Stacey, Isiuic Bemis,

Elisha Stearns, Reuben Bemis, Tiniothy Flagg, Eliphalet Warren,

Moses Warren, William Sprague, Thaddeus Child, Andrew Benjamin,

John Symms, Edmund Lock.

A company was formed under Captain Abijah

46-iii

Child and attached to the Thirty-aeventh Regiment
of Foot, comman<led by Colonel Tiiomiw < iardner.

This regiment was at the battle of Hunker Hill, where

(.'olonel (tarciner was mortally woundud. The other

casualties a.s a regiment are not given in any recordH

of the battle, but it is quite authoritatively known
that the Waltham Company waa engaged. The mus-
ter roll of the compai»y, October (J, 177r», given the

retnrii of Captain Abijah ('hild's company in the

Thirty-seventh Regiment of I'oot of the (Continental

Army, eomnianded by J^ieutenant-Colonel William
Bond:

'*Cami' at !*nospKCT Hili.[Sombrvii,lk], October 6, 1775,

" Captain, Abijah Child, Waltlmm ; Lioulenaiit Joahnn Swan. W«|.
tham ; Ensign, Jedekiah Thayer, Walthani ; Sergeant*, KlUtia Cox, Jo-

siah Converae, Jonas Sndth, Elittha Harrington, Walthftm ; C^triKirali,

Isaac Bemis, David Smith, Wallliaiu ; Drumnier, Ber^amin (iaJlop,

Waltham; Privates, Keiitcn B<'niifl, Jofliali Hi>uiiii, Andrew Bonjnmlit,

Klijah Cutting, Tluiddcns Child, Abijah I'hild, Jr., Amtm Fi*ke, Abi)fth

Fisk, Tanothy Flagg, George Willington, John (ilynn, Jonaa I^Wf^nro,

William Lock, Josiah Lovett (dincharged Sept^-mlter L'O, 1774), Kdmnnd
Lock, Elijah BIcad, Samuel Mullikin, Matthew Pierce, John Poek,

Abram Parkhurnl (discharged), Samuel Roberta, William Spnigur,

Klitiha Stearns, Josiah Smith, Habbakuk Stmrns, John Vilen, iMniel

Warren, Micah Biiinpu."

In June, 177G, the town voted £ti 6«. Hd. to bo paid

to each non-commissioned officer and soldier who
shall engage in the expedition to Canada. The
money was appropriated to the following men :

Jno. Coolidge, Josiah Wyer, Ezra Peirce. David Stearns, Jnn. Glea^on,

Jona Stearns, Elisha Livermore, Edward Brown, Stephen Wellmmn,
Elias Hastings, Eliphalet Hastings, Isaiah Edes, "fur my negro," AbUah
Fisk, \\ ni. Ilager, Jno. Lawrence, Jno. Hager, Saml. Gale, Jr., Joclah

Sanderson, Eli Jones, Nathankd Sanderson, Abijah Browu. Jr., Benj.

Ellis.

In December, 177*3, the following persons enlisted

for three months in Colonel Samuel Thatcher's regi-

ment, equipping themselves with guns, blankets and
all implements:

Saml. Luf kin, Sol. Keyes, Jno. Glodo, Jas. Davis, Wm. Chamber*,

Wm. Chambers, Tim. Brown, Siiml. Lufkin, Jr., Tim. Farrar, Tm.
Davidson, Jerh. Williams, Ijeml. Wheeler, Abe! Parker.

In 1778 the town sent into the Eight Months' Cam-
paign, so-called, thirty men, viz.:

Col. Jona Brewer, Col. Abijah Brown, Capt. Abijah Child, Capt. Abm.
Child, Lt. Oliver Hagget, Capt. Jedediah Thayer, Josiah Convert,

Elisha Harrington, Lt. Istuic Bemis, David Smith, KlishaSteams, Thada.

Wellington, Eliphalet Wanvn. Chs. Warren, Moses Mead, Jr., Geo.

Wellington, Kuben Bemis. Josiah Bemis, Jr., Amos Fisk, Abyah Fisk,

Timothy Flagg, Juna^i Lawrence, Wm. Lock, Jusiah Leaveatt, Edmund
Lock, Hani. Warren, Zack. Weaton, Moses Warren, Amoe Harriugton,

Frans. Brt'wer.

And to the (Cambridge lines, for the two months'

men :

Lieut. Isaac Bemis, Phineafi Warren, Jr., Joseph W'Iot, John Hidden,

Samuel Gale, Jr., Joel Ilanington, Samuel Goodin, Tbadg. Goodia«

Etienr. Phillips.

As the war progressed, increasing sums were paid

as bounties and for substitutes, and there were many
enlistments and re-enlistment.H of those whose names

appeared early in the serviee. In the depreciated

currency oi the time, upwards of two thousand

pounds were paid for a single recruit for a few
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months. The calls for men were often for a small

number fur the town for special service, or in differ-

ent localities. Kvidently these requisitions bore

hard upon the town, but the quotas were filled

through the siicriticcs which the patriotism of our

fathers was always ready to make. The last Revolu-

tionary soldier of Waltbam was Nathan Lock, who

died in IS.'il, at the ape of ninety years.

Fn the War of ISli' Wiiltham responded to the rail

for troops with its military company. The servicer

of the company were required for but a brief period,

and were devoted to garri-son duty at Boston Harbor.

The following is the roll of the company in service:

.lcK4<>pli HtMir, JotiM Lawrence, Klijuh Lawrence, Nathaniel StcitrnH,

Kichani Wellington, .lucoli Lawrence, .\niBaa Harrington, John Sauder-

Biin, (id), Alexander II. Piper, Henry Kisk, Richard Cntter, Isaac Far-

well, William Gum, Darinn Wellington, .lacob Ryan, Timothy Morris,

Iluniel Eniemon, William Trask, Thomas Barnea. Abel Hubbard, William

1 lark. .laiueji Jones, Noah Hardy, ,lohn Cole, William D. Winch, Otii

I'nITer.

David Stearns, of Walthani, was purser in the

United States Navy in this war, and was on board the

"Frolic" in themeinorablesea-fight with the" Wasp."

Diflerent uniformed military companies from time

to time have been conspicuous in the history of the

town, and formed part of its annals in this respect

One of the earliest and most famous of these organi-

zations during the present century was the Waltham

Light Infantry. It was composed of many of the

leading citizens of the town, and was considered a

leading corps on training-days and at the annual

muster. Its uniform of gray coat, with bell buttons,

white trousers, and heavy leather cap with plume,

was calculated to enhance the martial appearance of

those who trained in its ranks. It was succeeded in

time by the Waltham Artillery. This company was

formed in 1841, and its guns, two brass six-pounders,

were transferred from Watertown, where they had

been used by a company which had passed out of

existence. It was disbanded in 1857. Its last cap-

tain was Captain Gardner Banks, who commanded

the first company of volunteers from Waltham in the

Rebellion.

The Waltham Light Dragoons was organized in

1853, and during its existence was a prominent organ-

ization in military circles. At musters, in its tour of

duties, it was frequently called into requisition as

an escort to the commander-in-chief, and attracted

especial attention for its soldierly bearing, and also

from the fact that cavalry companies were even more

rare in the militia than at present. Its uniform was

similar to the cavalry uniform of the regular army at

that time. When the Rebellion broke out, it formed

a nucleus of two companies in the First Massachu-

setts Cavalry, one commanded by its past commander,

Captain William Gibbs, and the other by its captain,

M. A. Moore. The organization was kept up until

near the close of the war, when it disbanded.

When the Rebellion broke out Waltham evinced a

patriotic spirit common to all the loyal States, and, as

related elsewhere in the general history of the town,

immediately took steps to afford the necessary assist-

ance in maintaining the Union. The first company
of troops rai.sed was attachcfl to the Sixteenth Regi-

ment of Ma.ssachusctts Volunteers as Company H,
and was officered by Captain Gardner Banks, First

Lieutenant William A. Smith and Second Lieuten-

ant F. P. H. Rogers. This company, with iUs regi-

ment, saw severe service, gallantly sharing in nearly

all the battles of the .\rmy of the Potomac for three

years, until the expiration of the term of enlistment.

Lieutenant Smith died after a short service, and

Lieutenant Rogers was killed in the first action in

which the regiment was engaged. Besides this com-

pany and the two cavalry companies above-men-

tioned, Waltham furnished many men for other

'ompanies and regiments. Among these may be

named the Thirty-fifth, Fortieth and Fifty-sixth

Regiments of the three years' troops, and the Fifth,

Forty-fourth and Forty-fifth of nine months' troops.

The record of all these men in the war was most

iionorable, and it would be invidious to select many
tor commendation where all are deserving. The
highest ofiicer from the town was Major-General N.

P. Banks, whose name and services were conspicuous

during the entire period of the war. Captain (after-

wards Colonel) Gardner Banks, of the Sixteenth Mas-

sachusetts Volunteers, was his brother, and another

brother. Lieutenant Hiram B. Banks, of the same

regiment, was killed in the second battle of Bull Run,
Two brothers. Lieutenant George F. Brown, and First

Sergeant Charles L. Brown, of the Sixteenth Regi-

ment, both killed at Gettysburg; and Commissary

Sergeant Frank Miles, of the First Cavalry, who died

in the service, besides those named, are marked ex-

amples of the young men of the town who sacrificed

their lives for their country.

The town officially, in its town-meetings, and pri-

vately, by the public spirit and generosity of its citi-

zens, provided liberally for the soldiers and the cause

of the country. In a patriotic manner it answered

.all the calls lor men, and gave liberally from its store

for bounties to those who entered the service. Itg

military record is not the least of an honorable heri-

tage which it leaves to the futuie.

List of Soldiers of Waltham in the Rebellion.

Arnold, Charles I., enlisted July 31, '62, Soth Reg. Co. D ; discharged

June 9, '6.5, cause, expiration of service.

Arnold, Marshall N., 35th D, from the camp.

Abbott, \Vm. H., Dec. 16, '61, 30th I ; Oct. 26, '63, disability.

Adams, John S., Aug 15, '02, 3sth K ; Dec. 22, '64, expiration of ser-

vice.

Adams, John, July 25, '62, 35th D ; June 9, '65, expiration of service.

Alden, Albert, Sept. 21, '61, 24th I ; Jan. 20, '66, e.vpiration of service.

Arnold, Thomas M., Aug. '62, 40th A ; June 9, '65, expiration of service.

.Ukins, Johnjr.,2nd Lieut., Sept. 23, '61, 4th cav., Mj April III, '64, to

re-enlist in 4th cav.

Brown, G,orge F. lieut., June 29, "61, 16th H; killed at Gettysburg

July 2, '63.

Brown, Charles L., June 29, '61, leth H ; died July 16, '63, of wounds

received at Gettysburg.

Ulagge, George F., Oct. 16, "61, 24th C ; May 28, '63, disability.



WALTHAM. 723

Brackett, Kdward J., July 25, '62, 35th I) ; Jan. 4, *65, ampuUtion of

foot.

Barnettt William, Aug. 6, '62, S/ith D ; Jun« 9, *65, oxpiratiou of sor*

vice.

Boartiman, Frederick, Aug. 6, Y>2, 36th !> ; June 9, 'fi.% expiration of

service.

Boardnmn, I,eonanl, Aug. fi, '62, ^iAth P; June 9, '6.1, expiration of

service.

Mnidy. Patrick, Sept. 2.i, '61, let cav. L , Sept. 24, *r.4, expiration of

Hervice.

Hunks, (Jarduer, promoted to cap!., major, !iout-col. Juno 'JO, '61, 16tli

n ; Si>pt. 2, '63, disability.

Baxter, Oreon A., licut., Sept. '-t', '61, 1st cav. M ; died of fover Oct. I,

(14, at WilliamBburg, Va.

llrannon, JIartiu, Sept. 2.'), '61, lat aiv. L; Sept. 24, '6 1, expiration of

service,

liiiuks, Hiram B., Ueut., April, '62, 16th K ; killed at Manassas, Vb.,

Aug. 29, '62.

Bryant, Joliu, June 29, '61 ; Mch. 30, '63, disability.

Budgf, Cbarles M., Aug. 6, *62, 35th D ; March 30, '66, wmnid in right

arm.

Babcock, Rufus L., June 2'.", '61, Kith H ; Murcli 20, "6,'^, died of

disease.

Burgess, Henry F., June 29, '61, 16th H ; died at Antlersonville July

21, '61.

Buxton, John H., Sept. 4, '61, 22d G ; Feb. 21, '63, dieability.

Briggs, Benjamin F., July 26, '62, 35th ; June 9, '65, expiration of

service.

Boultou, William, .lune 29, '61, 16th H, July 27, '67, expiration of

service.

Burrows, James jr., June 29, '61, 16tb H ; July 27, '64, expiration of

service.

Burbeck, John F., July 2, '61, l6th B ; Dec. 26, '63, to re-enliet.

Ballard, iieorge F., Jan. 16, '62, 99th ; Jan. 16, '65, expiration of ser-

vice.

Brown, Nathan, Jan. 18, '62, navy ; March, '65, expiration of service.

Bemis, A. Percy, 13th B ; deserted.

Barnes, Otia H., Nov. 28, "61, 32d B ; Feb. 9, '63, disability.

Barnes, George L, Oct. 28, '61, 32d B ; Nov. 28, '62, eickuess. Promoted

2d lit'ut.

Baldwin, William F., Nov. 11, 'c.l, 32d B ; died July 28, '63, of wounds

received at Gettysburg.

Blanchard, William L., Aug. 29, '62, 44th E ; June 18, '63, expiration

of service.

Brogan, Michael, Sept. 16, '62, 5th K ; July 2, '63, expiration of ser-

vice.

Blanchard, Edward R., Aug. 29, '62, 44th E ; June 18, '63, expiration

of service.

Baldwin, Frank, Sept. 12, '62, 44th E ; June 18, '63, expiration of ser-

vice.

Barnes, Theodore L., Sept. 12, '62, 44th E ; June 18, '63, expiration of

of Service. Died at home April 4, '64.

Brady, James W, Jan. 4, '64, 4lh cav.

Biake, John D., Feb. 4. '64, 56th I; died Sept. 16, '64, a prisoner at

Richmond.

Coppenger, John, June 29, '61, 16tb H ; Nov. 10, '62, disability.

I "usens, Ivory L., Aug. 18, '62, 32d K; June 29, '65, expiration of

Her vice.

Cousens, Samuel, Aug. 13, '62, 32d K ; Dec. 20, '64, expiration of

service.

Crosby, Charles C, Aug. 21, '61, 21st D ; Sept. 24, '64, expiration of

service.

Connelly, Patrick, June 29, '61, 16th H ; June 20, '64, expiration of

service.

Coolidge, James E., July 28, '62, 36th D ; June 9, '65, expiration of

service.

Corrigan, Joseph, July 2, '61, I6th K ; killed June 18, *62, at Fair Oaks.

Cox, Michael, July 2, '61, 16th C.

Caughej-, George H., Sept. 17, '61, 1st cav. M ; Dec, '64.

Cunningham, William, Oct. 28, '61, 1st cav. H; Feb. 11, '63, disability.

Re-enlis(ed '64.

Connelly, Michael, Juno 13, '61, 11th D.

CuUen, Michael, Jan. 13, '61, 28th I ; Jan. 1, '64. to re-enlist.

Cloudman, William H., June 29, '61, 16th H ; July 27, '64. Promoted

sergt. major.

Corey, George H.. Sept. A, '61, 3d baltcry ; 8*pl. 16, "54. vxpiratfon ol

service.

Carey, John, May 1, 'fll, 28lh C ; Nov. 21, '62.

Chnpin, Ezm, June 20, '61, 16th 11; July '/?, '64, sxpirallon ot

serrice.

Cla«by, DanielJ. JunK'29, 'Al, It.th II; Aug.2H.'n3, wounds rfM;elTrtd

at Chancelliirevlltv.

Conlan, J., Sopt.23, '61, Ut c*t. I.; April '20, •fl4, to r»-«nlUt. Fluftl

dlMcliarge, Nov. 14, '65.

Carney, John, Sept. 23 '61, Int cat. L ; Aug. 19, '(^4, dlulilllty.

Clarke, Charlen E., July 2, '61, loth K ; July '27, '64, expiration of

service.

CouBens, Goorgv B., Aug. 17, '61, Ifttli 11 ; *tV>, expirmllun of Mrvlce.

Clinton, F. D., Aug, '29, *62, 6lh K ; July 2, 'l't3, expiratlun of iervlce.

Carson, E. C, Aug. 29, '62, Mh K ; July 2, '6:t, oxplrallun of Mtrrlev.

Collinii, John, Sept 16, '6'2, 5tli K ; July 2, '(kI, expirallon of aprvlce,

Crowley, William, Sept. 16, '62, fttli K ; July 2, '63. expiration of

service.

CollinB, John. Sept. 16, *62, Mh K ; July 2, '63, expiration of aerrlco.

Crowley, F. C, lleut. Sept. 16, '62, 6lh K ; July 2, *63. expiration of

service.

Curtis, John D., Sept. 16. '62, 5th K ; July 2, 'tU, expiration of nervloe.

CtntlR, J. If., Sept. 12, '62, 14th F; Juno 18, 63, expiration of Mrrlce.

Connors, Timothy, 4th excelsior brigade. 1 ,No further record.

Couaens, Charlea W., Fob. 4, '64, 56th I.

Cnrr, Henry C, June 29, '61. ir.th H ; kille*! May 3, '63, at Chancellor^.

ville.

Darling, Gardner H., June 29, '61, 16th H ; July 24, '64, expiration of

service, severely wounded.

Donahoe, John H.. Dec. 26, '61, 99th N. Y.

Darling, Charles H., Sept. 20, *61, 1st cav. V ; '65, expiration of service.

Re-enlisted '64. Final discharge Nov. 14, '66.

Dillon, John, June 29, '61, 1st cav. H; died Oct. 7, 62, of wounds
received at Bull Run.

Dennett, E., Sept. '23, '61, Ist cav. M; Sept. 24, '64. expiration of

service.

Durivage, Henry A., Dec. 6, '61, 30th cav. ; drowned, April 22, '62, near

the mouth of Miss, river.

Dwelle, George B , Aug. 6, '62, itSth D ; June 9, '66, expiration of

service.

Doherty, Edward, killed at Chancellorsville.

Daily, John, Sept 10, '62,5th K ; July 2, '63, expiration of service.

Dean, William, Sept. 12, '62, 44th E ; June 18, '63, expiration ofwrvic*».

Daunigan, John, Jan. 6, '64, 56th F ; died June 3, '64, In the service at

Piiiladelphia.

Emerson, Warren A ,
June 29, '61, I6th H ; June 8, "62, arm amputated.

Edsou, Henry, Aug. Ifi, '61, 16th G ; July 27, '64, expiration of acrrice.

Emerson, George N., July 29, '61, 13th B.

Emeisou, Warren F., Aug. 29, *62, 44th E; June 18, '6.3, expiration

of service.

Egan, Thomas, Dec. 13, '61, 28th E ; died at Belle Isle prison. Jan. '64.

Fogg, William, Oct. 7, '61, 23d K; May 7, '63, disability.

Frost, Charles L., Sept. 23, '61, Ist cav. M ; Sept. 24. '64, expiration of

service.

Frost, Leslie D., July, '62, naval ; served on the veaseU Sonoma and

Savannah.

Fairbanks, Lumen F.. June 27, '61, 6th H ; killed July 2, '63, at Gettys-

burg.

Flaunory, Lawrence, July 31, '62, .35th O; June 0, '65, expiration of

service.

Field, George F., July 25, '62, 36th D; Juno 9, '65, expiration of service.

Fisher, Henry N., Aug. 10, '62, .Vth D; March 4, 't»3, wound received

at Antietam.

Forsyth. John Jr., Juno 29, "61, 16th H ; kijloil July 3, '63, at Gettys-

burg.

Fisher, James H., April 21, '61, 16th H; July 27, 'M, expiration of

service, wounded.

Fillebrown, Oliver, Sept. 23, '61, Ist cav. SI ; Sept 24, '64, expiration

of service.

Fillebrown, ITonry A., 5th battery ; expiration of service.

Falls, George F., May 5, '61, N. Y. D; killed at Gettysburg.

Foster, Matthias 3., Jan. 29, '61, I6lh H; July 27, '64, expiration of

service, promoted Heut.
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Meld, Edward H., Sept. I, '61, lit c«v. M ; Sept. 24, '64, uplnitioD of

«er*ice.

Flaher,Cbarles R.,Sept. I«, '6i, Mil II ; July 2,'()3, eipinition ofiwrTice.

Flake, WlllUm F., Sept. 16, '62, 6th K.

Klllfbrviwii, (i«>rge K, Sept. 12, '1.2, 4llh E; June IS, '63, eviiiralioii of

wrvlce,

Furwell,tieorgeU., Sept. I'2, '1^2, I'lli .\ ; June IS, '63, expiration of

•ervjce.

riike, Uarcua M., Sept. 12, '62, 44th A ; June 18, '63, expiration of

errice.

Froet, C. Kr»nk, S«pt. 26, '624Mb A; July 7, '6;l, expiration of Bervice.

FielJ, Lyiiiau Jr., .lune 2:1, '61, Itltli 11; killed at Fair llaks, Juno 10, '62.

Farnuni, IJeorRe W., 2.1^ K.

Flynn, Palrick, Jlny i-i, '61, 2J 1 ; July 14, '6.5, expimlion of service.

Fletcher, Willlnm II. May 2:1, '61, Ist B ; Jlav 25, '61, expiration of

serrlce
;
pro. to Ist lieui.

Glenn, Itolwrt. Sept. 6, '61, Ist cav. M ; Oct. 9, '64, expiration of service.

Green, Chnrltw, Jan. 1, '62, 2«lh E ; Feb. 10, "63, wound received at

Froderiekshurg.

Guinan, Jlichaol, Doc, '61, 17th D ; Feb. 10, '65, expiration of service.

floodnoiv, A. W., Juoe 29, '61, 16th II ; July 27, '64, expiration of

ervlfe.

Goodnow, A. R., 8opt. 2, '61, 22d A ; Oct. 17, '61, expiration of service.

Gay, ('. .«., Sept. ii, '61, 1st car. M ; Sept. 24, '64, expiration of service.

Gallagher, John, Oct. 28, '6', 1st cav. H.

lillaon, Lemuel, September 111, '61, 1st cav. L ; Dec. 11, '62, disability.

Grinnell, Aiuos, June 20, '61, 16tli H ; July 27, '64, expiration of ser-

vice.

Grant, Daniel G., June 20, '61, Ir.tli II ; July 27, '64, expiration of ser-

vice.

Galloway, Charles, June 29, '61, 16th H ; Nov. 16, '62, disability.

Goodnow, E. W., Sept. 23, r61, Ist cav. L; resigned '65, promoted to

Ist lieutenant.

Gray, George, Dec. 21, '63, 20tb I ; Jan. 1, '64, hospital steward.

Green, George M., .lune 20, '61, 16th H ; Aug. 12, '63, wounded at

Chancelloi'sville in the hip.

Garrity, John, July 25, '62, 36th D.

Olbbe, John M., Sept. 12, '62, 44th F ; June 18, '63, expiration of ser-

vice.

Gillespie, John, Sept. 16, '62. 6th K ; died June 23, '61, near Peters-

burg.

Grant, Samuel, Sept. 1, '62, 5th K ; July 2, '63, expiration of service.

Gibbs, Frank F., Sept. 12, '62, 41th A ; June 18, 63, expiration of ser-

vice.

Gibbs, Capt. William, Sept. 6, '61, 1st cav. L ; Feb. 3, '62, by personal

request.

Holbrook, Charles, served in the navy.

Hutchins, H. E., served in the navy.

Howard, Henry W., Aug. 14, '62, :iSth K ; '65, expiration of service ;

promoted to captain.

Hastings, Charles E., July 31, '62, 35tb D; March 13, '63, disability.

Holland, Henry, IVth H.

Hickey, Edward, June 29, '61, 16th H ; killed July 3, '63, at Gettys-

burg.

Hovey H. L., Sept. 23, '61, Ist cav. M ; May 22, '63, disability.

Harlow, S. R., Aug. 24, '61, 20th ; Nov. 21, '62, disability.

Iloyl, William R., Sept. 23, '61, 1st cav. L ; Sept. 24, '64, expiration of

service.

Hoyt, ClmriesN., Juiie20, '61, 16th H ; July 14. '65, expiration of service.

Howard, Andrew F., Sept. 20, '61, 16th H ; July 27, '64, expiration of

service.

Holbrook, Maynard, Aug. 14, '62, 40th C ; killed at Cold Harbor, 1864.

Hall, Frank C, July 31, 'l\2, l.'ith D ; June 9, '1.5, expiration of service.

Hatch, Edward, Juno 29, '61, 16th H ; killed May 3, '63, at Chancellors-

ville, Va.

Hatch, David G., June 20, '61, Ifith H ; killed at Gettysburg, Pa., July

2, '63.

Harrington, Herman P., July 2, '61, 16th K; July, '64, expiration of

service.

Hayes, William, Oct. 6, '61, 1st cav. M ; died '63, at hospital Hilton

Head.

Hickey, Thoma«, Sept. 23, '61, Ist cav. M ; '65, expiration of service ; re-

enlisted in '64.

Harned, David, July 2, '61, I6th K ; Dec. 22, '62, disability.

Holbrook, Joseph, June 29, '61, 16th H ; died at Falmouth, Va,, disease.

Ilenmm, A. P., June 29, '61, 16th H ; July 27, '64, expiration of service,

llavy, Palrick, Oct. 4, '61, Ist cav, M ;
'04, expiration of service, re-

eulidled.

Hildretli, James O,, 40lli A,

Harnilen, Nathaniel A,, Aug. 11, '62,40th A.

Hariiilen, Wilson, Aug. II, '62, tilth A,

Hoyt. Otis, promoted capt, June 20, '61, 16th H ; July 27, '64, expiration

(if si'rvice, woundeii at Hull Run.

Hodgden, Sowell I,., Juno 29, 61, Ir.lli II ; June 29, '64, expiration of

servii^e,

Holbrook, Bradford, June 29, '61, I6II1 H ; March '23, '63, disability.

Iluutress, George E., June 20, '61, I6II1 11 ; June 29, '64, expiration of

service.

Hall, Henry C, Juno '29, '61, 16th II ; July '27, '64, expiration of service.

How, Henry W., June 20, '61, lull H ; killed June So, '62, at Glendale,

Va.

Hunt, C. R., Aug. 10, '61, Ist cav, M ; October, '64, expiration of service.

Howe, Hiram F,, Oct. 31, '61, 1st cav. 1; Sept. 24, '64, expiration of

service,

Healy, Jolin, June 29, '61, 10th U ; Aug, 12, '63, disability, wounded at

Cliancellorsvillo, Va,

Hartwell, A, H,, Sept, 12, '62, 44th A ; June IS, '63, expiration of service,

Hartwell, Henry W,, SepI, 12, '62, 44th A ; June Is, '63, expiration of

service.

Hill, Edward L,,Sept, 12, '62,44th A ; June lS,'6;t, expiration of service,

Houghton, B, S,, .Sept, 16, '62, 5lh K ; died at Newborn, N, C, Jan,, 1863,

Howe, ('harles A,, Sept. 16, '62, 5th K ; .luly 2, '63, expiration of service,

Ilutcbinson, .lolui A,, July 1, "61, lotli E; Jan, 25, '66, expiration of

service ; ro-enlisted in '64.

Harrington, Charles F., Oct, 20, '62, Andrew's sharpshooters, Oct,, '04,

expiration of service,

Johnson, George E,, Sept, 23, '61, 1st cav, M ; Sept, 23, '64, expiration of

service,

,Tenkins, William, Aug, 11, '62, 40th A ; June, '65, expiration of service,

Joyce, Patrick, Sept. 16, '62, 5th K; July 2, '63, expiration of service.

Jackson, A. M., May 5, '61, 74th N. T. D ; Sept. 27, '62, disabUitv.

Kane, Rogers, Jan, 1, '62, died Aug. 4, '62, at the hospital.

Keyes, Samuel A., June 29, '61, 16th H ; Dec. 19, '62, disability, wounded

at Bull Run,

Kirk, Thomas, June 28, '61, 16th H ; Jan, 29, '63, wound in the head,

Kiff, Orlando S,, Oct, 9, '61, 1st cav. M ; Nov. 14, '65, expiration of ser-

vice, as absent sick.

Kidder, Charles L., ? ug. 25, '62,35th D ; Feb. 6, '63, disability, wounded

at Antietam.

Kimball, Lafayette, June 29, '61, 16th H ; Jan, 6, '63, disability,

Kimljall, Geo, H,, Apr. 16, '61, 13th B ; Jan. 31, '62, com, 4th La„ N, A,

Kenney, Patrick, July 2, '61, leth K ; .Tan, 26, "63, disability,

Kelley, Jeremiah, Aug. 24, '61, 19th 1; spring '66, expiration of

service.

Kendall, Charles D., Sept. 23, '61, Ist cav. M ; Sept. 24, '64, expiration

of service,

Kalhuer, Daniel, Dec, 13, '61, 28th I ; Nov, 17, '66, expiration of

service.

Kendall, Aniory H., Aug. 29, '62, 44th E ; Juue 18, '63, expiration of

service.

Kennedy, Martin, Apr, '62, navy
; Oct., '64, expiration of service, vessel

Maratansa,

Keith, Theodore S , acting as assistant surgeon.

Lane Leonard C, July 1, 1863, leth E ; wounded Mine Run, '63, disabil-

ity, Dec. 15, 1864.

Luce, Charles, June 29, '61, 10th H ; Nov. 23, '62, disability.

Luce, Henry B,, Juue 20, '61, 16th H ; July 14, '65, expiration of ser-

vice, re-enlisted July 11, '64.

Lombard, R, T,, June 29, '61, 16th H; lieutenant, promoted captain of

Co, F, lltli Rog,, '04, afterward major llth Reg.

Locke, William M,, April 26, '61, 16th H ; July 27, '64, expiration of

service.

Lawton, George, June 29, '61, 16th H ; killed July 3, '63, at Gettysburg,

Pa.

Lawless, John, navy; was present at the taking of Mobile.

Loyd, John, navy, assistant engineer.
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I.lvermore, William B., Sept. 12, '02, 44tl. E ; Juno 18, •03,eipiraUou of

service.

L»tio, t'oruelius 0., Sept. 12, '6->.

I.iiWiolice, Ntttlian K., Dec. B, 'r,l, cuv. Httuolieil to 3l1tli Bog.. .luu" H-

'62, disability.

Moore, M. A., Capt. Sept., HI, 1st cav. M ; '63, ill8abilit.v, >lle<l al Wal-

thall, '64.

Mann, Elias, Ahr. 8, '02, 38tb ; Oct. 10, '65, expiration of service, liicil

(let. 13, 'f>."i, of lunj: fever cansed by exposure In the service.

Miller, Leonard H., Aug. II, '02, SStli K ; died in New Orleans, July 13,

'63, uf disease.

McAdanis, Thomas, July 'ir.. '02, 35th D; Jlay 28. '63, disability,

wounded, died at Wallham, March 26, "05.

Miles, Francis, Sept. 23, '01, Ist cav. Jl ; died Oct. 10, '62, of fever, at

Tort Royal.

Marron, James. Sept. 2.1, '01, 1st cav. M ;
March 29, '03, disability. Re-

enlisted, taken prisoner and confined at Lil^by Prison, Va.

Mc^amee, James, Juno 29, '01, 16lh H ; July 27, '64, expiration of ser-

vice.

McGuire, Patrick, '62, 28tli ; died in New York in consequence of

wounds received in battle.

Murray, William, Sept. 23, "01, let cav. M ; Sept. '24, '64, expiration ol

service.

McLearIng, Barnard, 9'.Hh N. Y.

McMullen, Patrick, Sept. 17, '01, 24th D ; Sept. 17, '64, expiraUon of

service.

Manson, Frederick, Aug. 14, '02, 40th A ; May 23, '05, expiration of

service.

McLellan, F., 28th G.

Miles, Thomas, Sept. 23, '01, Ist cav. M , Jan. 19. '05, resigned, first lieu-

tenant.

Mullaney, Matthew J., Apr. 30, '01, 16th K ;
Oct. 2<l, '02, wounds re.

ceived at Glendale, June 30, '02.

May, George T., May 5, '61, 11th D; June 20, '64, expiration of ser-

vice.

McOonigal, Earner, July 12, '01, 10th K ; died at Andersonville Prison-

July 29. '64.

McGuinness, Franeis, July 2'2, '61, 17th H ; Aug., '04, expiration of ser-

vice.

Mack, Thomas F., July 24, '61, 20th H ; March 5, '62, disability.

McAvoy, Andrew, Dec. 10, '01,30th I ; Jan. 1, '04, to re-enlist.

Murphy, Thomas, July, '02, 80th ; July 0, '65, expiration of service.

Moore, Charles F., April, '01, 10th H ; July 27, '64, e.ipiration of ser

vice.

Manton, Patrick, Sept. '.'3, '61, let cav. L; Sept. 24, '04, expiration of

service.

McMahan, John, Aug, 29, '61, 13th B ; Aug. 1, '64, expiration of ser-

vice.

McVey, Patrick. Sept. 23,'01,'24tb I ; Oct. 3, '03, disability.

Manning, John, navy.

Murray, James, Dec. 11, '01, Cth Mass. battery . died in New (Irleaiis,

Dec. 10, '02.

Maynard, George H., Feb. 22. '61, 13th D ; Feb. 17, '63, for proinolioii.

Millar, William K., Sept. 12, '62. 44tli D; July 2, '8S, expiration of ser-

vice.

Millar, Leslie, Sept. 13. '02. 44th E ;
June 18. '63, expiration of service.

Millar, Thomas, Aug. 19, '62, 5th K ; July 2, 03. expiration of service.

McBiide, M ichael. Sept. 16, '62, 5th K ; died on passage home from New

hern, N. C, '62.

Morse, Lewellyn, Sept. 20, '62, 45th G ;
May 7. '63, expiration of ser-

vice.

Moore, John F., Aug. 29, '62, 44th F. ;
June 18, '03, expiration of ser-

vice.

Matthews, William H., June 29, '01, loth U ; July 27. '01, expiration of

service.

Murray, Henry. .luly,'64. 60th O ; 'Cr., expiration of service, re-enlisted

Dec. 24. '64.

Moore. Darius B., July 13, '63, 32d D ; killed at Laurel Hill, Va..May

12, W.

Noonan, Edward J.. Sept. 23.'61, Ist cav. L ;
re-enlisted.

Nelson, Samuel, Sept. 16, '62, 5th K ; July 3, '03, expiration of ser-

vice.

Newcomb, John S., Dec. 3, '63, 2d II. artillery G ; died Aug.. '04, at

Andersonville prison.

O'llrion, Patrick, Sept. 23, '61, lit oit. M ; iIIkIivimI, r<-«nlM«L

o Hern, Patrick, Jan. 10, 'O'i, IWIIh N. V. ; July, '05, explnitlon of ler.

vice, ruenlUte.! Feb. Ill, 'M.

Parker. A udonion K., Juiio W, '61, lOth II ; Dec. 27, 'IB, diKblllly.

Powers, Kdwanls, Oct. 5, '61, lit c»v. I. ; Oct. 5, '04, Mpltmllun of wr-

vice.

I'eabody, Henry W., July 26, '02, 3itb D j Jwi. I), '«6, axplratlou of •or-

vice.

Keck. J.dili M , Sept. 16, '01, 14lh Hand ; Aug. 16, '02, Uw dlaclwr|iUK

military bands of music.

Perry, John, June '29, '01, ICth II ; Juno T), '04. •iplrmiloii of eor-

vice.

Polechio. Joseph. June 29, '01, lOth II ; Juno SV, '04, explmllou of Mir.

vice, transferretl to Co. D.

Piper, Nahuni, June i'J, '01, loth II ; July SI, '04. oxplrallon of mr-

vice.

Parks, J. L., Sept. 23, "61, Istcav. M ; Fob., '03,dl»blllly.

I'owi re, John E., June '29, '01, loth 11 ; '63. dliwblllty.

Parks. George E., Sept. 14, '01, Ist cay. M ; Sept. '24, '04, elpimlion ol

service.

Parks, Charles H., Juno 29, '01, lOtli H ; July '26, 'tW, dlsahllily.

Peterson. Joseph. Aug. 22, '02, 40lh B ; June 10, '05, expiration o( oer-

vlce.

Palmer, Mason M., June 29, '01. lOth II ; Dec. '24, '02, disability.

Parmeuter. Henry W., June -29, '61, loth II ; June '29, 04, expiration of

service, messenger at Waaliington. D. C, 'i>6.

Potter. James M., June '20. 01, 10th U ; Sept. 15, '63, dinbilily.

Peck, William B., Sept 17, '01, l«t cov. L ; Jan. 4, '04, hosplul alow-

ard.

Pope, George B., Sept. 12, '02, 44th E ; Juno 18, '03, expiration of ser-

vice.

Parsons, Charles G., Aug. 0, '02, llth Mow. buttery ; L. A. July 7, '63,

expiration of service.

Parsons. William n., Sept. 10. '62. 5th K ; July 2, '03, expiration of

service.

Perkins, Joseph S.. Aug. I'.i, '02, 6tli K ; July 2, '03, expiration of ner-

vice.

Priest, Francis H., Sept. 10, 'fl'2, 5th K -. died in the service at Newberii,

Priest had been with the company from Newbern to Goulilsboro' . N.

C. ; had marched 100 miles; naa returniug sick and exhausted : Id

sight of Newbern he exriaiiiied, " Thank God, wo are neor home," and

soon after died.

IJualters, John, July 2, '01, 10th K ; Jan. U, 'itl. disability.

(juiun, James, Jan., '02, a9th N. V.

Qualters, Lawrence, July '25, '82, 35th D ; Juno 9, '06, expiration of ser-

vice.

Qualters, M. J., Oct. 12, '61, 1st cav. L ; Nov. 16, '65, expiration of ser-

vice, re-enlisted in '04 4tli cav. L.

Roony. James. Sept. '23, '01, Ist cav. M ; April 15, '04, to re enlist ; re-

enlisted. Died at Waltham fhiiii exposure In Libhy prison.

Uyan, George W., Nov. 21, '01, 32d B ; Jan. '22, 'Kt, disability.

Ryan, Samuel, Dec. 13, '01, 30th I ; Jan. 0, '06, promotion to V. S. C. T.

Ist lieut. of 1st Inf. Corps D'Afrique.

Reed, Lewis A., Juno 29, '61, lOlb II; July 2, '64, expiration of ser-

vice.

Rogere, John S., Sept. '2:1, '61, Isl cav. M; '65, oxpirotioo of service,

re-enlisted "04.

Riddle, II. W'., Sept. 23, '01, let cav. M; Sepl. Ii4, '04, expiration of

service, as absent, sick.

Rupert. Charles, June 29, '01, 16th H ; July '27, '04, expiration of ser-

vice. Ist lieut. Feb. 14, '64.

Russell. John H., June 29, '01, llltb H; May 6, '0.3, disability, w..uiidi"l

Nov.. '01.

Kodman. .lolm, July 2, '01, lOlh K.

Uogers. Francis P. II., lieut., June '29. '01, 10th II , kille.1 at Fair Oaks.

Va., June 19, '02, promoted to 1st lieut.

llcdiinsoii. N. S., Juno 29, '01. 10th H ; Oct. 17. '03. disability.

Robliis..n, William H., June 29, '01, li'.th II ; Feb. 10, 'la disability.

Robinson, George F., June -29, '01, loth II ; Deu. 31, '02, wound received

June 18, '62, near Fair Oaks.

Itohlnson, Hiram A., Nov. 28, '01, 3'2d B ; June 29, '05, expiration of

service, re-enlisted Jan. 5, '61.

Rogers. Patrick. Nov. 9. '01, navy, served on tlio veasel "Sagamore."

Roberhj. William, chief engineer. Aug. 16. '65, navy resigned Sept., 'M
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roentenMl tU ; oenred on vt«el« " Mlcbigan," " Roanoke," *' Fulton,'"

•' Memphis," "Ningura," " Houaatonic."

KaiiJ, Nahum, Sept. H', '62, 5lh K ; July 2, 'C3, to ru-enlist. re-euliute.i

and JImI tu AQdorauuTilltt, Aug. 13, '64.

Scolt, Mward 8., June 29, '61. Ulh H ; Fob. u, 63, for dlaabtlity.

SUckney, tieorgeA., July 22, '02, 35th D ; June 9, '66, expiration of ser-

vice.

Smith. Simeon, June 29, '61, letb U ; Oct. 2. '62, disability, died on bia

way home.

Spring, George W., July 31, '62, 36tb D ; June 9, '65, expiration of ser-

vice.

Stearns, William A., June 29, 61, 16th H Oct 29, '62, disability.

Smith, John F., June 29. '61, 16lb H ; July 14, *65, expiration of ser-

vic»', re-«uli»ied iu the Uth Inf.

Sanderson, John L., Sept. 23, '61, let cav. M ; Sept. 24, '64, expiration

of service.

Sandereon, Henry B., July 2, '61, 16th K ; July 27,' '64, expiration of

service.

Sullivan, Daniel. Sept. 13, '61, 29th A ; died Feb. 15, '63, at New Or-

leans.

Sherman, Himm O., July 31, '62, 35th D ; Nov. 29, '64, expiration of

Bonrice, promoted to 2d lieut.

Sandereon, Geo. , Oct. 5, '61, let cav. L. ; Oct. 6, '64, expiration of

service.

Stearn?, William H., July 12, '61, 16ih 11 ; July 27, '64, expiration of

service.

Stedman, John, April 20, '61, 16th H ; July 27. *64, expiration of ser-

vice.

Sawin, John C, Sept.,23, '61, Ist cav. M ; Sept. 24, *64, expiration of

service.

St. John.Georgi' B., June 29, '61, IGth H ; Feb. 14, '63, disability.

Smith, John J., July 2, '61, 16th K ; Feb. 11, '63, disftbility.

Sandereon, Converse S., Oct. 5, '61, let cav. L ; Oct. 5, '64, expiration of

service, trausferred to Co. L, 4th cav.

Sawyer, Charles H., Oct. 23, '61, lat cav. M ; Oct. 23, '64, expiration of

service, transferred to Co. M, 4th cav.

Savage, Samuel G., June 29, '61, 16th H; 2d Lieut. May 6, '63, disabil-

ity, died at Wasbiiiglon of wounds rtceived at CbuDcelloraville.

Soule, John W., June 29, 'Gl, 16tb H ; July 27, '64, expiration of ser-

vice, wounded at Glendale.

Stone, George G., June 29, '61, 16th H ; diedat Waltham, Feb. 24, '65,

transferred to V. 11. C. Mar. 15, '64, surgeon's clerk, '65.

Sherman, Robert C, Aug. '61, 16th K ; killed July 2, *62, at Fair Oaks,

Va.

Sanderson, Horace, July 2, *61, 16th K ; killed May 3, '63, at Chancel-

loreville, Va.

Sullivan, Dennis, Sept. 16, '62, 5ta K ; July 3, '63, expiration of service.

Smith. Thomas G., Sept. 16, '62, 5th K ; July 2, '63, expiration of ser-

vice.

Smith, £dward P., Sept. 12, 'f;2, 44th E ; June 18, '6.'i, expiration of ser-

vice.

Sherman, John M., Sept. 12, 62, 44th E, June 18, '63, expiration of ser-

vice.

Stearns, Ephraim, Sept. 26, '(j2, 45th G ; July 7, '63, expiration of ser-

vice.

Smith, Thomas P., JSept. 26, '62, 45th G ; July 7, *63, expiration of

service.

Smith, John S., May 5, '61, 5th Excelsior Brigade, N. V. ; '64, disability.

Sullivan. James, 35th D.

Stickney, Warren, June 29, '61, 16th H ; July 27, '64, expiration of ser-

vice.

Smith, William A., June 29, '61, IGth H ; Nov. 4, '61, disability, Isl

lieut., died at home from exposure iu the army.

Stickney, Thoraiis E., Feb. 4. '64, 56th I ; May 29, '&4, killed at North

Anna River, Va.

Thompson, Samuel, Sept. 23, '61, 1st cav. M; Sept., '64, expiration of

service.

Townsend, Jacob G., Juno 29, '61, 16th H ; Nov. 21, '62, disability.

Trayner, Charles, May 5, '62, 2d I ; July 3, '63, he was killed at Gettys-

burg.

Teadley, Daniel, I'Jth I.

Thompson, Thomas W., Aug. 6, '62, 35th D ; June 13, '65, expiration of

service.

Thompson, M. M., Aug. 16, '62, 36th D ; Aug. 9, '65, arm [shot ofl at

Trenton, N. J., July 4, '65.

Thomas, Hiram, Aug. 10, '62, .Tith D, May 11, '66, disability.

Thom|*on, Levi, June 29, '61, 16tb H ; Dec. 20, '63. to re-enlist.

Thompson, C. H., July, '61, 16th K ; July 27, '64, expiration ofservice.

Thayer, JohnG., Dwc. 19, '61, 1st cav. M ; '64, disability, died in Cali-

fornia from exposure in service.

Taylor, Jaiiiee C.Sept '61, 32d K ; Feb. 'G3, disability.

Tower, Herman C, Sept. 12,'62, 44th E ; June 18,'63, expiration of servirt^

Thomp^-on, Henry R., Sept. 26, '62, 45th A ; July 7, '63. expiration of

service.

Townsend, James A., 42d.

Viles, Julin, July 10, '61, 13th ; Sept. 1, '62, by act of Congress.

Viles, John E., July 1, "61, 16th H ; July 27, '64, expiration of service.

Viles, Waiter S., June 20, '61, 5lb D, Sickles' Brig.; July 23. '63, leg

amputated.

Whitney, John H, July 26,'62, 35th D ; June 9,*65, expiration of service.

Wyiiiau, John M., July 25, '62, 35th D ; April 23, '63, disability.

Whitney, William G., July 29, '61, 16th H ; July 27, '64, expiration of

service.

Whiting, Charles A., June 29, '61, 16th H ; July, 27, '64, expiration i>l

service.

Wormwood, A. F., Oct. 5, '61, 1st cav. M ; Sept. 24, '04, expiration of ser-

vice.

Wheeler, George E., June 29, '61, IGth H ; Jan. 19, '63, disability.

Wheeler, Charles M , July 25, '62, 35th D ; April, '63, wound in arm,

transferred to V. R. C.

Whe.:-ler. Edward B., Aug. 16, '62, 35th D ; '62, disability, re enlisted

and discharged Feb. 27, '63.

Wills, William R., June 29, '61, 16th H ; Oct. 18, '62, white swelling

on the knee.

WriRht, Henry E., June 29, '61, IGth H ; Dec. 4, '62, wound in left hip.

Wright, Almon, June 29, '61, 16th H ; July 27, '64, expiration of service.

Wright, Jason B., June 29, '61, 16th H ; July 22, *63, disability, leg am-

putiited.

Wright, Lyman, June 29, '61, 16th H ; Jan. 29, '63, disability.

Whilcomb, Horace G., Oct. 5, '61, Ist cav. M ; '65, expiration of service.

Watere, Michael, Oct. 5, '61, 1st cav. M ; June 2, "63, disability.

Weeks, Albert, Jan, 1, '64, 26th E; Aug. 26, '65, expiration of service,.

Watei-8, William, Dec. 13, '61, 28th D.

V'ilkina, Ira D., Jr.. July 12, 'Gl, 16th G ; Jan. 4, '64, to re-enlist.

Wood, William, Aug, 14, '62, 38th E ; July 23, '63, disability.

Wellington, Nathan, July 25, '62, 35th D; June 9. '65, expiration of

service.

Wellington, F. D., June 29, '61, 16th H ; May 13, '63, disability, injured

severely by the falling of a tree.

Whitney, George A., Feb. 9, '62, 32d F ; April 19, '65, expiration of

service.

Wellington, John M., Sept. 12, '62, 44th A ; June 18, '63, expiration of

service.

Wellington, George F. S., Sept. 12, '62, 44th A ; June 18, '63, expira-

tion of sei-vice.

Wellington, Wm. S., Sept. 12, '62. 44th A ; June 18, '63, expiration of

service.

Warren, Nathan, Sept. 26, '62, 45th G ; July 7, '63, expiration of service.

Whitney, Henry L., Sept. 2G,'62, 45th A ; July 7,'63, expiration of senioe.

Whitcomb, Otis A., Sept. 16, '62,5th K ; July 2, '63, expiration of service.

Whalen, John H., Sept. 10, '62, 5th K ; July 2, '63, expiration of service.

Wormwood, James G., Sept. 19,^ '62, 5th K ; July 2, '63, expiration of

service.

Winslow, Zeuas, Sept. 16, '62, 5th K ; July 2, '63, expiration of service.

Wellington, James L., March 3, '62, 32d F ; '65, expiration of service.

CHAPTER XLVII.

WALTSAM—[Continued).

BY JOHN W. WILLIS, M.D.

Among the earlier doctors of Waltham was Uriah

Hagar, M.D., who studied with Dr. Spring and Dr.

Hunnewell, of Watertown. He probably took his

medical degree at Harvard.

He was born in 1776, and began practice in Walt-

I
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ham about 1800. For nearly twenty years he was the

only doctor in Walthiini. lie died in 1841.

Ebenezer Hobbs, A.M., M.D., was born in Weston

in 1794. (Jraduated from Harvard in 1814; received

his medical degree there in 1817, and settled in Walt-

ham. He continued in practice bnt a lew years,

when he was appointed to the responsible position i>l

superintendent of the Boston JIanulkcturing Com-
pany of this town, which office he held for more than

forty years, till failing health, which immediately

preceded his death, compelled his resignation. A
part of this time he was al.so the treasurer of this large

corporation. He left its all'airs in a highly prosper-

ous condition.

This formal record falls short of showing the great

influence which for many years he exerted upon the

affairs of Waltham. A gentleman dignified, yet

kindly, in manner; one to whom leadership is natur-

ally accorded. He belonged to a school which seems

to be passing from among us. He died in 18G3. His

successor seems to have been Samuel Luther Dana,

A.M., M.D., LL.D., who was born at Amherst, N. H.,

July 11, 1795. He was prepared for college at Phil-

lips Academy, Exeter, N. H., and with his brother,

the late Prof. James Freeman Dana, entered Harvard

in 1809.

The brothers were endowed with a love for the

Natural Sciences, and entered upon rhe study of cer-

tain branches of it with great enthusiasm. They often

made excursions through the country lying thirty

miles around Boston for the purpose of examining its

geological structure and collecting mineralogical

specimens.

The result of these researches was a volume pub-

lished by the brothers in 1818, entitled the " Miner-

alogy and Geology of Boston and its Vicinity."

Immediately after graduating, in 1813, young Dana
commenced reading law with his uncle, Judge Samuel

Dana, then residing in Charlestown.

Having, however, a military inclination, stimulated,

perhaps, by the times, he received, March 12, 1814, an

appointment as third lieutenant in the United States

First Kegiment of Artillery. May 1st following he

was promoted to second lieutenant, and served

through the war with Great Britain, in New York

and Virginia.

At the close of the war, in 1815, the army was re-

duced, but Lieutenant Dana was offered retention in

the artillery arm, which he declined, and resigned

his commission May 31, 1815.

Shortly afterward he commenced the study of medi-

cine with Dr. Amos Bancroft, of Groton, Massachu-

setts. He received his medical degree and com-

menced the practice of his profession in Gloucester,

Massachusetts, in 1818.

From 1819 to 1826 he practiced in Waltham, re-

linquishing which, he established there a chemical

laboratory for the manufacture of oil of vitriol and

bleaching salts.

He subsequently founded the Newton Chemical
Company, occupying grounds which were then a part

of Newton, but since annexed to Waltham.
He was manager and chemist for ihis company

until 1834.

He then received the appointment of resident and
consulting chemist to the .Merrimac .Manufacturing

Company, Lowell, JIassachusetts, whither he inoveil,

and performed the duties of that office until his death,

which occurred March 11, 18G8.

Dr. Dana was an original investigator, especinlly

in chemistry as applied to the incluslrial arts, and
made many original (ibservations and discoveries,

notably in the manufacture of sulphuric acid. His
investigatioi.s into the more obscure points of the art

of printing on cotton-cloth shed much light upon the

subject, and led to many improvements in the pro-

cess. His discoveries with respect to bleaching cot-

ton were first published in the " Bulletin de la Society-

Industrielle de Mulhause."

The principles there established have led to the

American methods of bleaching, of which Persez, in

his " TraitC' de I'lmpression dcs Tissues," says, " It real-

ized the perfection of chemical operations." While
in England in 1833 he published a clear exposition

of the changes which occur in the manufacture of

sulphuric acid.

When the discussion of the dangers arising from the

use of lead pipes for conveying water for drinking

purposes came up in this country he took part in it,

writing several pamphlets and making a report to the

City Government of Lowell upon the suliject.

His translation and systematic arrangement of the

treatise of " Tanguerel on Lead Diseases " was an im-

portant contribution to medical knowledge.

Dr. Dana gave much time to agricultural experi-

ments, especially with reference to manures, and his

"Farmers' Muck Manual" was a very valuable dis-

cussion and exposition of an important subject. His
" Essay on Manures '' received the prize offered by

the Massachusetts Agricultural Society in 1843.

Dr. Dana enjoyed the friendship and acquaintance

of the leading scientific men of this country and

Europe. He was twice married, his wives being

sisters, daughters of Kev. Joseph Willard, president

of Harvard University from 1781 to 1804.

Dr. Dana received the degree of LL.D. from .\m-

herst College in 1847.

Horatio Adams, M.D. was born in 1801. He took

his medical degree from Harvard in 1820, and in 1857

the honorary degree of .V.M. wa.s conferred upon

him also by Harvard.

His whole professional life was spent in Waltham.

Very early in his residence here he took a jirominent

and leading position in his profession. In 1858 he

gave the annual address before the Mitssachuselta

Me<lical Society, and all through his life, by voice

and pen, joined prominently in discussions of the

medical questions of the day. X paper on the action



728 HISTORY OF MIDDLESEX COUNTY, MASSACHUSETTS.

of water on lead pipe, written by him, was published

by the Massachusetts Medical Society. He was prom-

inent in town allairs, and was on the first Board of Di-

rectors of the Kitclibiirg Railroad.

He was also president of the American Waltham

Watch Company. He died in 1861.

Benjamin Faneuil D. Adams, son of Horatio

Adams, M.D., was born in Waltham in 1839. He
took the degree of A.B. in 1860 and M.D. in 1864,

from Harvard. After several months in Europe, he

commenced the practice of medicine in Waltham.

A large and responsible practice, in virtue of his own

merits as well as in remembrance of his recently de-

ceased and honored father, was at once accorded him.

He was chairman of the first Board of Health formed

in Waltham. He was obliged by ill health to relin-

quish practice in 1882, and has since lived in Colo-

rado Springs, Colorado.

Theodore Kittredge, M.D., was one in the long

line of physicians of this name. The family line

both in the number of generations and individuals

seems of sufficient interest to be in part recorded here.

It will be ea.sier to follow the genealogy by numbering

the generations,

1st. John Kittredge, born in England, was one of

the founders of Billerica, where he received a land

grant in 1660. He died there in 1676.

2d. Dr. .Tohn Kittredge, the first in the line of

physicians, was born in Billerica in 1666. He ap-

pears to have passed his life there and died in 1714.

3d. Dr. John Kittredge of Billerica, born 1685,

died 1756.

4th. John Kittredge, born in 1709, appears not to

have been a physician, but the hereditary tendency

asserts itself directly with increased force for his son.

5th. Dr. Benjamin Kittredge, born 1741, died 1776,

leaving eight sons, every one of whom became phy-

sicans. They were named and located as follows

:

6th. Benjamin, Exeter, N. H. ; Henry, Tewksbury,

Mass. ; John, Framingham, Mass. ; Jacob, Billerica,

Mass., removed to Gallipolis, Ohio, in 1815, and died

there in 1824 ; Rufus, Portsmouth, N. H.

7th. George, Epping, N. H. ; Theodore, Kittery,

Maine ; Charles, Watertown, Mass.

8th. Dr. Theodore Kittredge, son of George, was
born in Epping, N. H., in 1801. He graduated from
the Harvard Medical School in 1823. He seems to

have practiced medicine in his native town till 1832,

when he removed to Waltham. He married Harriet

Wiuslow, daughter of the distinguished Rev. George
Pickering, one of the founders of Methodism in this

country, and among the first to preach it in Massachu-
setts. Dr. Kittredge was a man of much energy of

character. He bad a large practice in Waltham, and,

from his prominence and extended acquaintance in

the Methodist denomination, was often called to sur-

rounding towns. He was a devoted member of the

then new sect, a class leader for many years. With
the exception of one year spent in Bath, Maine, the

remainder of his life from 1832 to 1879 was passed

in Waltham, making, with his Epping labors fifty-six

years of continuous and active practice. He died in

Waltham in 1879. He had two brothers, one of

whom. Dr. George Kittredge settled at Newmarket,

N. H. He was at one time a member of Congress

from New Hampshire. The other brother, Charles,

was a druggist.

9th. Dr. Frank Rufus Caleb Kittredge was born

in Epping, N. H., in 1828. He graduated from

Harvard Medical Sch6ol in 1853. Most of his life

was passed in Waltham. He was a man of much
natural ability, well educated in his profession and
otherwise. His pecuniary necessities never compelled

labor, and he failed to take so prominent position in

his profession as under other circumstances, his abilities

natural and acquired, would have commanded. He
died in 1888. It will be noticed that only the direct

line—although two hundred and twenty-five years in

length—has been followed from the first Dr. Kittredge

to the Waltham branch. There has been and are

many other doctors in and from other branches. It

may well be doubted if any other name in this or any

other country has furnished so many generations or

so large a number of physicans as has that of Kitt-

redge.

Royal S. Warren, M.D., was born in Alstead, N.
H., in 1822, and received his degree from Harvard
in 1846. He settled in Waltham in 1847, and

commanded a large practice, till, in 1865, he met with

a railroad accident from no fault of his. While cross-

ing the Fitchburg Railroad at Moody Street he was

run into and terribly injured. He was confined to

his house for about a year, and barely escaped with

his life. He was permanently disabled. In 1868 and

1869 he represented Waltham in the Legislature. He
also served on the School Committee. He removed
to Colorado Springs, Colorado, in 1880, where he has

since resided.

Charles Dowse, M.D., was born in Brighton, Mass.,

in 1813. He was educated at Wesleyan University

and Harvard Medical School, where he took his

degree. For the last six years of his life he practiced

in Waltham, where he died in 1860. His widow, a

sister of Hon. Wm. Baldwin, of Boston, survives him.

The physicians, members of the Massachusetts

Medical Society, now resident in Waltham are:

Theron Temple, Berkshire Medical College, 1856.

Practiced in Waltham since 1882.

John Q. A. McCollester, Jefferson Medical College,

1856. Practiced in Waltham since 1888.

John W. Willis, Harvard, 1861. Practiced in Wal-
tham since 1861.

Edward R. Cutler, Harvard, 1863. Practiced in

Waltham since 1870.

Cornelius J. McCormick, Harvard, 1876. Practiced

in Waltham since 1876.

William F. Jarvis, Harvard, 1880. Practiced in

Waltham since 1882.

I
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Alfred Worcester, Harvard, 1883. Practiced in

Waltham since 1883.

Henry A. Wood, Harvard, 1883. Practiced in

Waltliam since 1887.

Claribel M. Hutcliinson, Woman's Medical College

of the New York lulirniary, 1887. Practiced in Wal-

tham since 1889.

Walter 8. Hays, Bellevue Medical College, 1885.

Practiced in Waltham since 1889.

Wayland.—Among the older physicians of Way-
land, or East Sudbury, as it was then called, was

Kbenezer Roby, born in Boston in 1701, graduated at

Harvard in 1719. He settled in Wayland about 1720,

visited England, from whence his father came, in

1723, and traveled on the Continent. In 1730 he

married Sarah, daughter of Rev. John Swift, of Fram-

! ngham.

One of the wedding presents from the father to his

daughter was a negro slave. The house in which he

lived was burned quite recently. He continued in

the practice of medicine to the time of his death,

which occurred in 1772. His tombstone, now stand-

ing, testifies to the high esteem in which he was held

as a man and physician.

His successor was his son. Dr. Ebenezer Roby, Jr.,

who was born 1732, and died in 178G.

Dr. Joseph Roby, son of Ebenezer, Jr., succeeded

to the practice of his father ; making the third in line.

He died in 1801.

Dr. Nathan Rice appears to have been ne.xt in the

order of succession. He was born in Fraraingham in

1769, commenced the practice of medicine in Way-
land in 1796, and died there in 1814. His father,

David, and grandfather, Bezaleel Rice, M.D., were

of Framingliam.

A grandson is the present Watson E. Rice, M.D.,

of North Grafton, and two of his granddaughters are

the wives respectively of Alvah Hovey, D.D., presi-

dent of Newton (Baptist) Theological Institution, and

John W. Willis, M. D., of Waltham. A third grand-

daughter is the widow of Rev. Carpenter, and is a

missionary in Japan.

Dr. Ebenezer Ames succeeded Dr. Rice in 1814. He
was born in Marlboro", 1788, graduated in medicine

from Harvard, and spent the whole of his professional

life in Wayland, where he died in 1861. Dr. Ames
through his long career was much respected as a

citizen and for his professional ability.

Waltham Hospital.—The " Waltham Hospi-

tal " was chartered in 1886. No definite steps tow-

ards active organization were taken till 1888, when

the promoters of a small private hospital, which was

now becoming able to serve the purpose for which the

Waltham Hospital was incorporated, were elected to

membership in the latter, thus giving to the hospital

de facto the advantage of being de legis a corporation

capable of receiving gifts large or small.

The president of the trustees is Hon. F. M. Stone ;

the attending physicians are J. W. Willis, M.D., E.

R. Cutler, M.D., 0. J. McCormick, M.D., W. F. JarviH,

M.D., A.Worcester, M.D., H. A.Wood, .Ml).

Consulting physicians and aurgeonn, .M. H. Itich-

ardson, M.L)., Boston; ,1. W. Klliot, M.D., Boston;

.\ddie.S. Whitney, M.D., Boston; J. A. .Mead, .M.I).,

palhol.igisi, Watertown
; matron, Miss May llnckctt.

The mirsirig service is furnished by the Wallhiim
Training-School for Nurses, altliough the two cor-

porations are entirely distinct.

Waltham Trainino-School iok Nt)n.sii.s—The
physicians of Waltham, like many others of their pro-

fessional brethren, had long felt the need' of better

nursing service. The great majority of the old-time

nurses—although with many notable and honorabU
exceptions—had taken up their business simply be-

cause they did not know what else to do with them-
selves. Considerations of fitness or preparation for

their work had small i)lace.

Up to this time traiiiing-,schools for nurses only ex-

isted in connection with hospilal8,*and the service of

a trained graduate nurse was difficult and expensive

to obtain. Consequently only the wealthy outside

of ho.spitals could command it. Considerations like

these impelled the membora of the Massachusetts

Medical Society, resident in Waltham, and working

harmoniously together, to attempt the establishment

of such a school without the aid of a hospital.

Such a thing had not before been done, but that

had little deterring influence. Had not Waltham
been the first to take cotton in its natural state from

the field, and, under one roof, by machinery, produce

cotton cloth? Had not the .Vmerican Waltham
Watch Company produced the first watch ever made
by machinery ? The foundation ideas were that

nurses could be trained in private practice, that in

many respects would be better prepared for their sub-

sequent work than those who had n;erely hospital

training, and while receiving such trainingcould ren-

der excellent nursing service under their instructors.

The plan was acted upon in February, 1885. Pub-

lic interest was easily aroused, for the public iis well

as the doctors had felt the need. A small guaranty

fund was readily subscribed. A committee of three

ladies, in connection with the doctors, undertook the

business management. A class of seven young

women was formed, for a pupilage of two years, who
were to receive their board, a portion of their ward-

robe, .about one hundred dollars for the first, and one

hundred and fifty for their second year, instruction

by lecturesand at the bedside from their medical teach-

ers, and at the end of two years a certificate or di-

ploma of graduation. The scheme was a success

from the start. It almost immediately became self-

sustaining ; the guarantors were called on for very

little. Constantly larger clas-ses have been formed

each succeeding year, and the demand for service

of graduates of the school is greater than the supply.'

* For furtlitT tnforniiitton seo " A New Way of Training Nurses," by .\.

Worcester, M.D., published by Cupples Jt Hurd, Boston.
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HoMOiOPATiiic Physicians.—George RuBsell,

M.D., Harvard Medical College, commenced to prac-

tice here about 1840. In 1848 removed to Boston,

but still retained a good share of his business here.

He was succeeded by Thomas Wales, M.D., Harvard

Medical College, who remained here but about a year;

and was Ibllowed in ISftS by Charles F.Adams, M.D.

(place of graduation unknown). He continued here

until 1858, and was succeeded by Charles F. Saun-

ders, M.D. (place of graduation unknown). He re-

mained until 1860, and was succeeded by Edward

Worcester, M.D., University of New York, who is

still in practice.

Irving S. Hall, M.D., Homceopathic Medical

Collegeof Pennsylvania, came herein 1874; is still in

practice.

J. F. Hadley, M.D., Boston University Medical

College, located here in 1885; is still in practice.

A. C. Reed, M.D., Boston University Medical Col-

lege, came in 1889, and still remains.

CHAPTER XLVIII.

WALTHAM—( Continued).

ECCLESIASTICAL HISTORY—BANKS.

BY ALE.XANDER STARBUCK.

Churches.—A by no means to be overlooked

cause of Waltham's secession from the parent town

was the location of the meeting-house. In olden

times, when the meeting-house might be an extra three

or four miles off and attendance at service a not to be

deferred duty, the location was a matter of serious im-

portance. The first site was selected with a view to

accommodate those by whom it was to be used. In a

large township, such as Watertown originally was, the

centre of population was liable to change to a very

marked degree, and the meeting-house, which once

was centrally located, prove on the outskirts of popu-

lation. A readjustment was sought, and if satisfac-

tion was not obtained a new meeting-house would

often be authorized with a new centre of population,

which often proved the nucleus of another town. So

it was with the Farmers' Precinct, or Weston, and so

it was with the Middle, afterwards the West Precinct,

or Waltham.

In 1692 the old meeting-house was located opposite

the old graveyard, just southwest of Mount Auburn.

An eflbrt was made to remove it where it would be more

convenient for the people. After much ill-feeling a

new building was put considerably farther west, at a

locality known as Commodore's Corner. The pastor,

Rev. Henry Gibbs, refused to recognize the new order

of things and continued to preach in the old building

and Rev. Samuel Angler was called to the pastorate

of the new society. Mr. Angier's church, being the

one recognized by the authorities, was, therefore, the

origiual church.

November 4, 1712, the General Court ordered that

as the ministers of the Middle Precinct had been sup-

ported by voluntary subscription it was voted that

each congregation bear the charges for its minister

and repairs of its meeting-house. Furthermore, that

both precincts bear the expense of removing the mid-

dle meeting-house to such a site as that precinct

should determine. The majority of the town treated

this order with contempt.

May 13, 1715, the town voted to "build a meeting-

house for the accommodation of the inhabitants of

the most westerly part of the town." This was the

present Waltham, Weston or the Farmers' Precinct

having been previously set off. This vote was never

carried out. In 1719 Rev. Mr. Angler died and was

buried in the burial-ground set ofi' to the precinct,

now Grove Hill Cemetery.

In November, 1720, inhabitants of both precincts

prayed for a division line in order that assessments

might be properly apportioned in accordance with the

order of the Court of November 4, 1712. The line

was laid out starting from the Charles River, running

"on a north course forty-nine degrees east," and end-

ing at the southwestern bounds of what is now Arling-

ton. The report of the committee of the General

Court further recommended the removal of the West
Meeting-house within two years to a spot about twenty

rods west of Nathaniel Livermore's bouse, and that

the old meeting-house be removed or a new one built

on School-house Hill, the West Precinct to bear its

part of the expense of the removal or rebuilding of

the east house. This report was concurred in by the

Court, and April 24, 1721, the town voted to comply

with the recommendations. This practically settled

the ecclesiastical differences, but gave nuclei around

which could cluster the inhabitants, who were ulti-

mately to form two townships.

After the death of Mr. Angier no pastor was regu-

larly settled for quite a period. Rev. Hezekiah

Gold, Rev. Timothy Minuet and Rev. Mr. Gibson

were among those who preached to the people. Mr.

Francis names Robert Sturgeon also as one of the

pastors, but this must be an error, since the General

Court, in November, 1722, accuses him of having been

privately ordained to a "pretended middle church."

The report says he had been rebuked by two councils

and recommends that he be prosecuted by the Attor-

ney-General if he persists in his course. This report,

which also recommends the demolition of the Middle

meeting-house when the new West one was built, was

agreed to. Rev. Warham Williams was finally or-

dained pastor June 11, 1723.

At the time of Waltham's incorporation the people

were worshiping in a meeting-house which stood near

the present entrance to the Lyman estate. Re\'. War-
ham Williams died in 1751, and in 1752 Rev. Jacob

Cushing, of Shrewsbury, was ordained as pastor. In
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1767 the old church was abandoned and a new church

built on the triangular lot nearly opposite the en-

trance to the Lyman estate. This building stood

until it was torn down in 1741. Mr. Gushing died in

1809, and was succeded by Rev. Samuel Ripley.

During the War of 1812 some of the society not ap-

proving the anti-war stand adopted by Mr. Ripley,

engaged Rev. Elisha Williams to preach for them in

a school-house then situated east of the old burying-

ground, and afterwards in the hall of the Kimball

tavern. The society reunited again after the war,

but in 1820 fresh trouble arose and the Second Relig-

ious Society was formed.

The first society continued under Mr. Ripley's

charge until 1841, and then became extinct. The

other societies receive attention under their respec-

tive heads.

Christ Church, Episcopal.—This church was organ-

ized A. D. 1848, under the ministry of the Rev. A. C.

Patterson, who was then officiating in the vicinity of

Boston, for the purpose of planting the Episcopal

Church in places where it had not been established.

Services were first held in Rumford Hall, which con-

tinued to be used by the parish as their place of wor-

ship for about one year. In the mean time the pres-

ent church, on Central Street, was erected. The

Rev. Thomas F. Fales was called to be the first rec-

tor, and entered upon his duties in November, 1849.

In 1890 Mr. Fales retired, and was made pastor

Emeritus. Rev. H. N. Cunningham, of Watertown,

Conn., has accepted a call to the pastorate. The

church has been once enlarged since its erection,

adding about one-third to the number of its sittings.

Methodist Episcopal Church.—About the year 1820

the nucleus of the Methodist Episcopal Church be-

gan to form in the shape of class meetings, a class of

twenty-four being gathered, with Charles Barnes as

leader. The class met regularly until 1825, when, a

majority of the members removing to Lowell, it was

discontinued. Circuit-preaching was occasionally

bad and small appropriations were allowed for its

support.

Between 1828 and 1830 class-meetings were re-

sumed, Marshall Livermore being leader, succeeded

by Marshal Jones, and he (in 1833) by Dr. Theodore

Kittredge. Services were occasionally held in the

factory school-house on Elm Street, Smith's Academy
on School Street and the Masonic Hall on Main

Street. In March, 1837, regular services were com-

menced at Masonic Hall, Rev. Ziba B. Dunham, pas-

tor. The next year the church then owned by the

Second Society and standing on the Common was

purchased, and in June, 1838, a regular organization

was formed with about forty members. Between 1838

and 1843 Waltham and Watertown were united in

one conference, the following pastors being resident

here: 1838, Rev. T. Pickeriiig ; 1839, Rev. Edward A.

Lyon; 1840, Rev. H. G. Barrus ; 1841, Rev. G. W.
Frost; 1842, Rev. B.K.Pierce. In 1843 Waltham

was separated from Watertown. Since then the fol-

lowing pastors have been assigned to this .society:

1843, Rev. David Kilburn ; 1845, Rev. John Paulson;

184«;, Rev. Moses Wrbsler ; 1848, Rev. JacohSanborn,
(under Mr. Sanborn tin- church was raised and a ves-

try put in); 1850, Rev. ti. W. Hates (Mr. Bates died

while in charge) ; 1851, Rev. N. J. Merrill ; IS-W, Rev.

Luman Boyden ; 1854, Rev. J. S. Harrows; 1850, Rev.
T. W. Lewis; 1858, Rev. E. A. Manning (in the fall

of 18.'J9 the church was moved to the situ of the pres-

ent one, reniodeh-d and dedicated January 25, 1800,

the society in the mean time meeting in Rumford
Hall. On Sunday night, May 27, 18G0, the edifice

was entirely destroyed by fire, and again Rumford
Hall was called into requisition. The new church
was completed and dedicated March 13, 18111). 18t')l,

Rev. S. Kelley ; 18G3, Rev. D. K. Merrill ; IHti.-i, Rev.

C. L. Eastman ; 1868, Rev. D. E. Chai)in ; 1870, Rev.

L. J. Hall; 1872, Rev. J. Wagner; 1875, Rev. W. A.

Braman; 1876, Rev. W. W. Colburn ; 1879, Rev. G.

H. Mansfield; 1880, Rev. I. H. Packard; 1883, Rev.

G. F. Eaton; 1886, Rev. J. M. Avann ; 1880, Rev.

Charles Tilton. During Mr. Avann's pastorate a

branch organization was formed on the south side of

the river and in 1888 a church building was erected.

In 1890 a separate church organization was created

for the South Side body, and it was incorporated aa

the Immanu-EI Church. Rev. W. A. Wood has been

pastor of the new society since its organization.

Ti-initarian CotKjreyational Church.—Sixty-five years

ago the only meeting-house in Waltham was located

on the triangular lot of land formed by the three

roads near the residence of the late Geo. W. Lyman,
Esq. To meet the wants of the growing village, and

particularly the operatives of the Boston Manufactur-

ing Company, all of whom in that day were Protest-

ants, the "Second Religious Society '' was formed in

1820. It was agreed that the denominational rela-

tions of the church which should be formed should

be determined by a majority of the subscribers to the

new society. Accordingly it was voted that the

church should be C(mgregational. It was organized

in the Congregational way, September 28, 1820. Its

original members were eighteen in number. The
society built its meeting-house on Church Street, on

the spot now used as the Catholic Cemetery, dedicat-

ing it January 10, 1821. Four years later there were

found to be great differences in their views of doctrin-

al truth between " the Church and the Society." A
separation took place. The church unanimously in

April, 1825, adhering to their pastor. Rev. Mr. Hard-

ing, then took the name of the Trinitarian Congrega-

tional Church. .\ new " Society " w;is organized and

a house of worship was built on Main Street, near

Lyman Street. Here the church continued to wor-

ship till within twenty years. Their present edifice

was dedicated in 1871. The pastors of this church

have been

:

From 1820 to 1837, Rev. Sewall Harding.
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From 1837 to 1857, Rev. John Whitney.

From 18.58 to 18t>4, Rev. R. B. Thurston.

From 18G5 to 1878, Rev. E. E. Strong.

From 187S to 1881, no settled pa-stor.

The |)re8eut pa.stor. Rev. li. M. Fullerton, took

charge of the society in the year 1881.

The Catholic Soi-iehj.—The Catholic Society was

instituted in Waltham in 1830. At the time the

building occupied by the Second Society on Church

Street was* burned, the sheds belonging to it were

saved. The Catluilics purchased the lot and these

sheds with it, and fitted up a section of the sheds for a

church. They used this temporarily, however, and

shortly after built a wooden building for this purpose.

This was destroyed by fire in June, 1848. Up to

1839 there was no settled pa.stor, clergymen from Bos-

ton conducting the services from time to time. In

1839 Rev. T. Fil/.simmons was appointed pastor. He
was succeeded by Rev. M. Lynch, and he in turn by

Rev. Luther Strain. Mr. Strain continued pastor

until 1847, at which time Rev. Patrick Flood was ap-

pointed to succeed him. During the pastorate of

Mr. Flood, which continued until his death, in Decem-

ber, 1863, the large brick church on School Street was

erected. The building was occupied in 1860 and ded-

icated in 1877. Upon the death of Rev. Patrick

Flood, Rev. Bernard Flood, a nephew, was appointed.

He also died, as it were, in the harness, in December,

1876, from sickness brought on by his labor and expo-

sure in superintending the remodeling of the church.

Rev. Timothy Brosnahan, his successor and the pres-

ent pastor, was appointed early iu 1877, and under his

pastorate the church edifice has been completed and

furnished, the grounds laid out and beautified, and

the present parochial residence built (in 1884). So

heavy^were the labors in this parish, one of the largest

in the vicinity of Boston, that it was necessary to

have an assistant, and Rev. J. J. Murphy was given

that position in 1870. On his appointment to a par-

ish in Weymouth, Massachusetts, Rev. J. S. McKone
was appointed to the place. He in turn was trans-

ferred to a church in Ea.»t Boston, and was replaced

by Rev. Frs. J. J. Mahoney and J. Lally. Fr. Lally

died in 1888. Fr. Mahoney was promoted to his po-

sition and Rev. John A. Daily was appointed.

First Parish.—The church in which this society

holds its services was dedicated February 9, 1839, and

Rev. George F'. Simmons was installed as pastor Oc-

tober 27, 1841, Rev. Samuel Ripley being " associate

pastor." Mr. Simmons closed his ministry here, on

account of ill health, in April, 1843. Mr. Ripley re-

signed his pastorate April 6, 1846, on his removal

from town.

During the first thirty years which elapsed after the

resignation of Mr. Simmons the parish had but four

pastors. Of these the Rev. Thomas Hill was longest

settled, having been fifteen years minister of the par-

ish, returning here after eight years' absence and re-

maining until 1873. The dates of the beginning and

close of the pastorates which have filled these

thirty years are as follows :

Ordination of Rev. Thomas Hill, December 24,

1845. Resignation January, 1860. Ordination of

Rev. J. C. Parsons, June 0, 1860. Resignation, May,
1864. Installation of Rev. C. McCauley, December

29, 1869. Resignation, December, 1872.

The church edifice was thoroughly repaired and re-

modeled in the year 1867, under the superintendence

of Mr. Henry W. Hartwell, to whose skill its present

attractive appearance does great credit. Rev. Edward
0. Guild was installed June 7, 1873, and resigning

after about five years' service, was succeeded by the

present pastor, Rev. Edward J. Young.

Baptist Society.—The First Baptist Church in Wal-

tham was organized November 4, 1852, with a con-

stituent membership of twenty-one—eleven females

and ten males. During the first three years of its

e.xistence it sustained Sabbath services in Rumford
Hall, holding its weekly prayer-meetings at the pri-

vate residences of its members. At the expiration

of three years its present house of worship was

erected, and dedicated February 14, IS.'tS; Rev.

Baron Stow, of Boston, preaching the sermon, and

Rev. M. B. Anderson, of Roxbury, offering the dedi-

catory prayer.

The first pastor was Rev. M. L. Bickford, whose

pastorate extended from August, 1853, to June, 1863.

The pastoral oflSce was then filled successively by Rev.

E. B. Eddy, Rev. A. M. Bacon, Rev. W. H. Shedd,

Rev. W. H. Barrows, 1872, and Rev. F. D. Bland, 1875,

who retired in 1879. Rev. J. V. Stratton was installed

in 1880.

During his pastorate a division occurred in the

church, and a new society, the Beth Eden, was organ-

ized on the soutji side of the river, in 1887. The
meetings of the new society were begun in the build-

ing used for a skating rink, and were afterwards held

in Endecott Hall. A new church edifice, begun in

1889, is in process of erection. Rev. George W.
Gardner was installed pastor of the new society in

November, 188S. On account of ill health he has

been compelled to resign his pastorate, his resigna-

tion to take ettect in November, 1890. Mr. Strat^ton's

pastorate ended in 1887, and the following year he

was succeeded by Rev. William M. Mick, the present

pastor.

Universalist Society.—In the spring of 1837 the Uni-

versalists in Waltham .set up a meeting in the. hall of

the Waltham Bank building, on Main Street, for

regular public worship, and in August of that year

Rev. William C. Hanscom, a young man of uncom-

mon promise, became their preacher; but rapidly-

failing health soon caused him to relinquish his work,

and after struggling with that fatal disease, consump-

tion, until May, 1838, he passed quietly away in the

triumphs of the faith he had so fondly cherished, A
humble marble monument marks the resting-place of

his remains upon the summit of our Grove Hill Ceme-
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tery. The late Rev. Sylvanus Cobb, D.D., in thespring

of 18:58, suceet'ded him us [ircacher to that people.

Hoiiig .straitened for room, they obtained permission

from the town and removed from the Bank Hall into

the Town Hall, in the old grammar-school building on

Lexington Street. But the aceomniodations allbrded

them in this place, though somewhat better than

those they had left, were found to be still insutlicient.

About this period the First I'arish Society erected

their present church edifice on (^hurch Street, and it

was by invitation of those members of that parish

who declined to accompany the main body into their

new place of worship, that the Universalists removed

from the Town Hall into the old parish meeting-

house, then standing near the residence of (Jeorge W.
Lyman, Esq. Up to this time the body had existed

only as a voluntary association, but on the (ith of

March, 1839, they organized in legal form into a

religious society, and took measures to secure an act

of incorporation, by the name of the " First Univer-

salist Society in Waltliam." Encouraged by the

profiered assistance of the late Theodore Lyman, Esq.,

the society proceeded to erect a house of worship

upon a lot presented to them by Mr. Lyman, on the

corner of Lyman and Summer Streets.

In the spring of 1840, Rev. Mr. Cobb relinquished

his charge, and in the autumn of the same year was

succeeded by Rev. Edwin A. Eaton, who ministered

to the society about three years ; and in the spring of

18-14 he was succeeded by Rev. T. G. Farnsworth.

He retired from the pastorate in 1848, but continuing

his residence in the town, he continued his member-

ship also in the society during its existence. From

1848 to 1855 the society had no settled pastor, but by

temporary sup[)lies continued, with little interruption,

to maintain regular public worship. In 1854 they

sold their lot on Lyman Street, and removed their

meeting-house to the corner of Main and Spring

Streets. Rev. Massena Goodrich was their pastor

from the spring of 1855 to 1857. He was succeeded

in the fall of 1857 by Rev. Henry A. Eaton, whose

ministry with them continued between one and two

years, during which time a serious dissension arose in

the society, the result of which was, the meeting-

house passed out of their hands, and they ceased to

exercise the functions of a religious organization.

From an early period of its existence there was

within the society a church organization and a flour-

ishing Sunday-school.

A new society was organized in September, 1865,

by the name of " The Universalist Society of Wal-

tham," and established regular public worship in

Rumford Hall. Rev. Benton Smith, through whose

labors, as the missionary of the Massachusetts Uni-

versalist Convention, the body was gathered, minis-

tered to the society some four years. Rev. Mrs. P. A.

Hanaford supplied their desk for one year ; and in

September, 1871, Rev. M. R. Leonard entered upon

the duties of his charge. Mr. Leonard was succeeded

in 1884 by Rev. L. P. Blackford, the present pa«t<>r.

The present church eilili^'e wiis erected in 1880.

H'tiKhnin Society of Ihe Nrw .IrruttaUm Church.— It is

now more than si.vty years since the Heavenly Doc-
trines, drawn from the Sacrod Scrijjtures and re-

vealed through the writings of Emanncl Swedridiorg,

found interested readers ami recrivi-rs in Waithani.

Meetings were held at first at the residence of Cap-
tain .I(din Clark, and were continued in, private rooms
until the need of more ample accommodations for

the increasing numbers was sensibly felt. This witnl

was fully supplied about thirty years ago by the

buildiyg of a stone chapel on Lexington Street, in a
section of the city known of old as " Piety tjorner,"

and since that time Benj. Worcester has led in pub-

lic worship. A part of the building was also used for

the " Waltham New Church School," which was
removed to the more commodious ipiurters it now
occupies in the brick building near by, buill in 1KG4,

expressly for its accommodation.

In December, 186ii, nearly everything perishable of

the chapel was de.stroyed by fire, the walls alone

standing to mark the spot hallowed by many pleas-

ant and sacred associations. In one year from the

time of the fire a larger and more beautiful church

had arisen on the same site, in which religious ser-

vice has since been regularly held.

On Sunday, .fuly 4, ISG'.l, a distinct society of the

church was formally organized, the mcmberttbip

numbering twenty-four, to which there have since been

some additions. The total number of church-mem-
bers resident here, however, is considerably larger

than the society represents, many retaining their

connection with other societies.

In addition to his labors as leader of the society,

Mr. Benjamin Worcester has charge of the New
Church School.

Ascoision Church.—The Episcopalians were the

first society to erect a church edifice on the South

Side of the river, and much of the honor of this

work belongs to Rev. Thomas F. Fales, pastor of

Christ Church. In 1882 the society was organized

and in 1882 the present edifice was erected. Rev. H.
S. Nash was installed its first pastor, a position he

occupied until 1885, when he resigneil and the place

was 8up2)lied by Rev. Carlton P. .Mills. Mr. Mills

was succeeded in 1888 by Rev. Mylton Maury, and

he in 1889 by Rev. .\. B. Shields, the present rector.

Bants.—In thespring of 1836 a petition by Luke
Fiske, George Miller and Nathaniel Maynard, for an

act of incorporation under the title of the Waltham
Bank, was granted- by the (ieneral Court, and the

company was incorporated with a capital of $100,00((.

A meeting was held at the Ma.ssasoit House, then

standing at the corner of JIain and Linden Streets,

to accept the act of incorporation. Ephraim Allen

was elected moderator and Luke Fiske was chosen

president of the corporation. The act was accepted

and by-laws adopted. Luke Fiske, Ephraim Allen,
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VVillard Adams, Nathaniel Stearns, William Hobbs

and Jonas Clark, of Waltham, and Benjamin Dana, of

Watcrlowu, were chosen directors. At a meeting

held May 30th, it was voted to add five directors to

the lis', and James Draper, of Waylaud, Marshall

Joues, of Weston, William Porter and George Miller,

of Waltham, and William Brigham, of Boston were

elected to the board. June 2d a committee was ap-

pointed to consider the question of a banking-house-

June iUh the committee recommended the erection of

a brick building thirty-si.'c feet by twenty-six feet and

two stories high. July 5th it was determined to

build on the lot where the bank building now stands.

At the same meeting Nathaniel Maynard was elected

cashier. The first meeting in the new building was

held October 1, 183C, and the fact that stock had been

paid for to the amount of $oO,000 in gold and silver

was sworn to. October 24, 183(i, the first emission of

bills, amounting to $154,500, was authorized, and No-

vember 7th a further emisssion of $44,300 was di-

rected. The capital was subsequently increased to

§20(1,000, but in 1804-65, in consequence of losses, it

was reduced to j!l50,000, at which point it now

stands. In December, 1864, the bank was chartered

as a national bank, and on April 1, 1865, commenced

business under its new charter. The law passed by

the Legislature, compelling the separation of deposit

and savings banks, made it necessary to build a wing

on the westerly side.

The Savings Bank was incorporated March 18,

1853, and the act was accepted April 15, 1853. On

the acceptance of the act the following officers were

elected : Horatio Moore, president ; Eliphalet Pear-

son, vice-president; D. A. Kimball, secretary and

treasurer ; Horatio Moore, Ebenezer Hobbs, E. Pear-

son, J. H. Priest, R. P. Davis, Gillum Barnes, George

Bigelow, Leonard P. Frost, Phineas Upham, Thomas

Page, Samuel B.Whitney and D. A. Kimball, trus-

tees. The other original members were: Nathan

Hagar and Nathaniel L. Sibley, of Weston; Jona-

than S. Parker, of Lexington ; Asahel Wheeler and

Galen Merriam, of West Newton ; D. T. Huckins, T.

Livermore, Seth Bemis and H. Cooper, of Watertown

;

Wm. F. Wheeler and Wm. Foster, of Lincoln ; Wm.
Mills and Thos. Rice, Jr., of Newton Lower Falls;

Horace Heard, of Wayland ; Thomas Barnes, George

W. Frost, John Roberts, Amory Moore and Daniel

C. Stratton, of Waltham.

The old building was demolished in 1888, the two

banks occupying quarters temporarily in the J. W.
Parmenter building on Moody Street. The new
building was completed in September, 1889, at a cost

of $50,000, and on September 30th of the same year

was first occupied for business.

CHAPTER XLIX.

WALTHAM—( Continufd).

SCHOOLS AND NEWSPAPERS.

BY ALEXANDER STARBUCK.

Schools.—Waltham's separation from the parent

town of Watertown appears to have been principally

due to three causes : first, the early separation into

military precincts ; second, the location of the church
;

third, educational interests. As early as April 7,

1729, a meeting of the inhabitants of the West Pre-

cinct was held to consider, among other things, a lo-

cation for a school-house. Allen Flagg agreed to

donate to the precinct a suitable strip of land at the

north end of his orchard for the purpose, and it was

voted to accept the offer. February 4, 1729-30,

Zachariah Smith, Allen Flagg, Thomas Harrington,

Thomas Bigelow, Jonas Smith, John C'hilds and John

Cutting were delegated to see the selectmen and have
'

inserted in the warrant for the next town-ineeting an

article providing for an appropriation to build on the

land of Mr. Flagg a school-house. The town de-

clined the gift and refused to grant the money,

greatly to the disappointment of the petitioners.

That action was taken in March. In May a com-

mittee was appointed at a meeting of the people of

the West Precinct to endeavor to have that district

set off as a separate town, "and take Effectual care

that the same may be Established that Learning may
be Advanced among us or some other proper methods

whereby to obtain the same." A petition represent-

ing the sentiment of the people of the precinct was

forwarded to the General Court, which ordered the

town served with a copy and cited it to show cause

why the petition should not be granted. April 19,

1731, a committee was chosen by the town to oppose

the division. Nevertheless the Court recommended,

among other things, that the town provide two school-

bouses, with two duly qualified schoolmasters,—one

for each precinct. The town (August 16, 1731) re-

fused to accept the recommendations and the assess-

ors of the West Precinct,— Nathaniel Harris and

Deacon William Brown,—feeling that the East Pre-

cinct was unjust to them, refused to assess the grant

made by the town for the support of schools. Again,

in March, 1732-33, an attempt was made for separa-

tion and again it was unsuccessful.

June 28, 1736, Nathaniel Harris, William Brown

and Daniel Benjamin, in behalf of the people of the

West Precinct, and against the resolute opposition

of the East Precinct people, obtained permission from

the General Court to set off land from the com-

mon lands devoted to highways, sufficient to raise a

sum of £1500, which was to be invested and the

interest used for the support of schools. So bitter

was the feeling growing out of this act that it culmi-

nated in a meeting of the inhabitants of the West
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Precinct, December 7, 1737, at which a vote was

|iassed to petition the General Court for separation.

The prayer vviis grunted, and .lainiary 4, 1737-38, the

town ot' Wiiltham was incorporated.

lu July, 1738, the selectmen appointed two of their

miniber to secure a schoolmaster. In August they

reported that ihey had agreed on Daniel Harrington,

and he was employed. There were three school dis-

tricts. The principal school at that time was in the

location known as " Piety Corner." Salary of Mr
Harrington, £20 per quarter.

January, 1739-40, Adam Boardman was school-

teacher. January 25, 1741-42, Joseph Roberts was

ingaged to teach at £5 per month, and on March
1 0th of the same year it was voted to have a "mov-
ing" school. In May John Cams agreed to keep the

school for two months in the district where John Dix

lived, at the north part of the town, at £5 per month
with an allowance of 19«. per week if he boarded

liimself. In September the "movable" school was

discontinued; £10 was appropriated to repair the

school-house, and £80 to support the school.

In November the selectmen agreed with William

Lawrence to teach the school for eight months, dating

from the previous July, the pay to be £6, old tenor

and his board. Mr. Lawrence was succeeded in 1745

liy Elisha Harding. In March, 1746-47, a " moving "

school was again established, and Deacon William

Brown was chosen to teach the North District. March,

1747-48, Samuel Livermore, Jr., was appointed to

teach the West, Centre and North Districts. Jan-

uary, 1748-49, Caleb Upham was appointed a school-

teacher. In September, 1751, a discussion arose as to

whether the teacher should be a male or a female. It

was finally decided in favor of the former; and in

Xovember of the same year it was voted to spend the

town's money to support the school in the school-

house, and that the teacher should be "a grammar-
school master."

1752, Jonas Clark and Samuel Livermore, school-

masters. Mr. Livermore continued to teach until

1756. He was succeeded by Isaac Livermore, who
taught until some time in 1758. Leonard Williams

taught in the latter part of 1758 and the early part of

1759. In March, 17(50, the town appropriated £2 to

carry on a children's reading-.school in the southwest

part of the town. Deacon Isaac Stearns was appoint-

<'d by the selectmen to engage a school-mistress for the

northerly portion of the town, and it was agreed to

have a grammar school-maste.- teach one quarter in

the school-house. Mrs. George Lawrence was se-

lected by Deacon Stearns, and we may safely con-

rlude that she was the first female teacher regularly

engaged by the town. In 1761 Jonathan Livermore,

Samuel Williams and John Wyeth were paid for

teaching school. In 1762 Samuel Williams and a

Mrs. Clark performed the same service; in 1763 Mrs.

Lawrence, a daughter of William Coolidge, a daugh-

ter of Lois Fiske and Mr. Williams were selected. In

May, 1764, payment was ordered for the following-

named schoi>l-teachers : Tlmnuis Fisk's daughter, Jo-

seph Hagar, Jr.'s wife, Joseph Memis' wife, (teorge

Lawrence's wife, Hopestill Bent's daughter-in-law,

Jonathan Sanderson, . I r.'s wife, John Dix's duuglit«r,

Ebcnezer Brown's son and Samuel Williams. In

March, 1765, it was voted that the grammar school

should be a " moving " school during the remainder
of the year. Leonard Williams ami lOlijah Brown
were appointed to teach it. The town granted £41
for educational purposes in Scptemhur, of which £12
were for the women's schools.

In 1769 Jonas Dix, Jr., was appointed teacher of

the grammar school, and conliime<l in the ollice un-

til 1772, when he resigned on account <d' ill liiallh.

The town voted in the same year to build a new
school-house near the old one, but took no further

action towards carrying out its vote. In 1770, how-
ever, a committee was appointed to carry the vote

into execution and to repair the old buililing.

In 1771 a son of Josiah Brown was one of the five

teachers employed by the town. In 1772 William
Fisk succeeded Jonas Dix, Jr. Miss Ruth Russell and
a danghter of Jonathan Hammond were also teachers.

In March, 1774, the town voted to build a new school-

house near the meeting-house. By the report of the

committee having the matter in charge, made in

September, it appears that the work was done at an

expense of £81 5s. 3(/. In November of the same year

the town voted to take down the old school-house and

build one in the northwest section of the town.

In 1777 Jonas Dix, Jr., and William Fisk are re-

corded as teachers. In 1779 Samuel Kendall, Mr.

Morse, Mr. Bridge and Eunice Mixer were paid for

teaching. In June, 1780, the appropriation for

schools was refused, probably because of the financial

pressure of the Revolution. October 1 1th the town

again refused an appropriation, but November 29th it

granted £3360. The currency of the time wa« in a

sad state, as may be inferred from the fact that

£12,000 was appropriated for the purcha.se of 7200

pounds of beef. The teachers for that year were

Eunice Mixer, Samuel Kendall, Mr. Boardman, Ru-

hamah Wellington and Mr. Bridge.

In 1781 Jonas Dix, Jr., and Mr. Bridge appear to

be the instructors. The selectmen voted in Decem-
ber of that year to engage Ebenezer Bowman to keep

the school " near the meeting-house." .Mr. Bowman
continued to teach the following year. In 1 782 Nathan-

iel Bridge's name also appears on the list of teachers.

In September, 1783, John Remington was hired to

teach the school near the meeting-house, and Jose[>h

Jackson that at the foot of the hill. In the following

year Benjamin Green, Jr., was paid for teaching and

he was again engaged to teach the grammar school in

1785. September5, 1785, the town wasdivided into four

school districts—Pond End, Trapelow, the southwest

part of the town above Mixer's Lane (Bacon Street)

and the Middle District, which included the balance
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In February, 1786, Jonas Dix was engaged to teach

the grammar school for one year. In March .Tohn

lieiiiiiigtoii Wius paid far teaching and Abijali Higelow

was engaged to teach at the new school-house at the

west end of the plain, as long as the appropriation

lasted, he to keep " two schools a day " after April 1st.

Mr. Jackson, Nathan Underwood and John Child

also appear to have been teachers during the year,

('apt. Hamuel liigelow ap|)ears to be one of four

teachers employed in 178". In 1700 Messrs. Bridge,

Dix and Mead were paid for teaching. The school

grant of December, 175)0, was thus apportioned to

the several school-hou.ses : Upper end of Plain, £25

()«. Srf.,' Foot of Hills, €22 2.S.; near the meeting-home,

£30 Hk. 3(/.,- Tra|)elow, £18 'As. 10</..- proprietorsof new

school-house (proliably at the Lower Plain), X4 2.« Hd.

In 17iil it was voted to buy the school-house at the

Upper Plain and Trapelow, they having been pro-

nounced suitable and the proprietors being willing to

sell. .\n appropriation of £77 lis. was made for the

one at the Upper Plain, the amount being divided

among twenty-one ])roprietor8, all residing on upper

Main and on South Streets ; £56 18«. lOd. were

paid for the one at Trapelow. The house near

the Widow Barnard's was not accepted. In the

selectmen's records for 1791 appears an order ap-

propriating 88. ()(/. to pay for a horse and chaise " to

bring the.school mistress from Framingham.''

In April, 1792, a vote was passed to remove the

school-house near the meeting-house to a point just

below the present cemetery on Main Street. In Sep-

tember, 179.5, the town appropriated £50 to purchase

stoves and shutters for the schools and make some

repairs, and chose a special committee of three from

each school district to attend to the expenditure of

school appropriations. They probably acted as a

school committee, and the organization was continued

from year to year, as we lose sight of special appro-

priations for teachers. In 1797 the schools taught by

males are styled " men's " schools and those taught by

females " women's " schools. In this year the town

appropriated $25 to establish a singing-school. In

1801 a School Committee of ten was elected, and this

arrangement appeared to work so satisfactorily that it

was continued voluntarily until the statute law made
it mandatory. In 1803 the town appropriated $120

for a teacher of music. In 1813 the Factory Village

(Bleachery) was set oft" as a separate school district.

In 1817 the town voted to set off the Boston Manu-
facturing Co.'s estates for a school district and to dis-

continue the one at the Bleachery. In this connec-

tion it is well to note that for many years the Boston

Manufacturing Co. sustained schools of its own for

the instruction of the children of its employees.

Rev. Mr. Ripley appears about 1819-20 to have
caused considerable trouble in his flock by using a

portion of his time in teaching school, and it was
made a matter for town interference, an effort being

made to appoint a committee to interview him and

induce him to quit teaching, but his friends were too

numerous and the project was abandoned. In 1829

the town voted to exclude needle-work from the

morning session of the summer schools, allowing it

in the afternoon, and in 1830 a small sum was appro-

priated to procure medals to be given the most de-

serving scholars.

In spite of the law of 1789 in regard to the estab-

lishment of grammar schools, no effort was made to

comply with it until 1820. In 1821 the town was

sued for non-compliance with the act, but little heed

was paid to the suit. The attempt to establish such

a school was unsuccessfully repeated year after year.

In 1832, however, the town appropriated $1200 to

build a grammar school-house and town-house on the

old meeting-house common. Subsequently a vote

was passed to erect the building on the "gore of

land " owned by Mr. Lyman, that gentleman offering

to give the land and $200 to assist the work. This

did not seem to suit, and after vote upon vote the

town purchased of Mr. T. R. Plympton the land now
occupied by the North Grammar School, increased

the appropriation somewhat and erected the building

there. When the present structure was put up, the

old building was sold and removed to the corner of

School and Exchange Streets, where it was remodeled

into a tenement-house. In 1833 the town appro-

priated .$300 to enable the School Committee to hire

a school-master and establish a High School, and di-

rected the committee to commence such a school at

the earliest possible day. The first principal of this

school was Franklin Hardy. After him came Josiah

Rutter (1835), William H. Ropes (1838), E. A. W.
Harlow (1841), Charles F. Simmons (1842), Daniel

French (1842), William H. Ropes (1844), Leonard P.

Frost (1847). During Mr. Frost's term of service

the town gave up the hall in the upper story, changed

it to make it suitable for school uses and establiehed a

High School there distinct from the grammar school,

Mr. Frost taking charge of the former and his broth-

er, George W., of the latter. In 1859 L. P. Frost suc-

ceeded his brother George; after him came William

E. Sheldon (1869), Alonzo Meserve (January, 1871),

John I. Prince (September, 1871), John S. Hayes

(1879), John I. Prince (1S79), Bradford W. Drake

(1879), who is now teaching. In 1868 the town es-

tablished a grammar school on the south side of the

river and Arthur P. Smith was elected principal, a

position he still retains. In the High School the

principals succeeding L. P. Frost are Timothy W.
Bancroft (1859), Andrew J. Lathrop (1864), James C.

Parsons (1865), Minton Warren (1874), William E.

Bunten (1876), Ruel B. Clark (1877), Charles W.
Parmenter (1878), Eugene D. Ru.ssell (1889). There

are at present fourteen school buildings, about 2400

scholars and seventy teachers.

The present High and North Grammar School

buildings were erected in 1867 ; the South Grammar
building in 1876; the West, 1876; Heard Street,
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1880; Prospect Street, Orange Street and Bacon

Street, 1883; Grove Street, 1887; the High Street

Primary remodeled 1890. The Newton Street build-

ing was erected in 1833, but bears no semblance to

the original structure.

In 186-1 the advocates of the New Church I'aith

erected the school building used by them and have

maintained a school there which receives pupils from

all over the United Slates. In 1888 the St. Joseph

I'aroihial (Roman Catholic) School whs established

and the building was completed tor school purposes.

Newspapers.—The newspaper life of Waliham,

so far as can be ascertained, commenced with the

[lublication of The Hive, the first number of which

appeared under date of March 2, 1833. It was an

eight-page periodical, printed in magazine style with

a page form eight and a half inches by five inches. Ii

was edited and published by S. B. Emmons, who
for many years kept an apothecary store on Main

Street, in the building west of the Towuseud Block.

It was for many months printed at the office of James

B. Dow, then located at No. 122 Washington Street,

Boston. By its first editorial we learn that it was " dc.

voted to the publication of Original and Select Tales,

Essays, Music, Biography, Travels, Original and

Select Poetry, Amusing Miscellany, Humorous
Anecdotes, etc., etc." It was published on alternate

Saturdays, at one dollar per year. For some reason,

which does not appear through a perusal of its

columns, publication was suspended from May 25,

1833, until February 14,1835, the numbering both in

issues and pages proceeding at the latter time as

though there had been no interregnum. When its

publication was revived it was printed by " Dill and

Sanborn, Music, Book and Job Printers, 43VVashington

Street, Boston." September 5, 1835, it was printed in

Waltham for the first time by W. C. George, who had

just established himself in Waltham as a book and

job printer. January 16, 1836, the last number of

The Hive appeared. In his valedictory editor

Emmons said :
" This number of the Hive completes

the present volume. It will be succeeded shortly by

a paper of a larger size, to be published every week."

On the 7th of May, 1836, the first number of the

Waltham Star, the paper probably alluded to by Mr.

Emmons, appeared. It was published by Willard

C. George. The second number appeared under date

of June 4, 1836, and the third June Uth. Its life

was a briefone and its publication was soon suspended

for want of patronage. The Middlesex Reporter was

published in V/altham about one year commencing in

1841. Nathaniel P. Banks, Jr., was its editor. It

appears that two other attempts were made to establish

newspapers in Waltham between 1836 and 1848, but

names and dates are not at hand. The Waltham

Mirror made its opening bow on July 6th of the latter

year. It was a quarto, with a page form twelve and

one-half inches by nine and one-half inches. It was

published semi-monthly by V. S. Williams, who kept

47-iii

a periodical and general goods st-ire in Wellington's

buihling, just west of the bank, and was edited by
II. B. Skinner, M.D., who had a Boston ollice at 60}

Cornliill. The JAi'rror lived about a year and then

went the way of its predecessors.

Between 1849 and 1856 two more unsuccessful

attempts were made to convince the people of Wal-
tham that they needed a newspaper. May 18, 1850,

I). Faniham commenced the publication of the lium-

furd Journal. Like its predecessors its life was brief.

In April, 1852, appeared the tirst number of the

JfansaMit Balnnee and Waltham Advocate, published

in Rumford Building by Kelley & Co. It also soon

died.

Apparently undismayed by the failures of the pre-

ceding twenty-three years, Josiah Hustings, in 1856,

launched the Waltham Sentinel on the sea of journal-

ism. Mr. H.astings had previously published a two-

page advertising sheet which was distributed free.

On the 15th of February, 1856, he issued the first

number of Waltham's first successful newspaper.

The currentsand the winds seemed propitious, and for

twenty years the Sentinel paid its weekly visits to

hundreds of Waltham firesides. It was edited by
" an association of gentlemen." Its end was mel-

ancholy, even to the verge of the tragic. In 1876

the elder Mr. Hastings, his son William, who for

many years had assisted his father in the conduct

of the paper, and three grandchildren, the son and
two daughters of William, died within the brief

period of a few weeks. There was no one of the

family left whose training was in the direction of

newspaper work, and in 1877, the Sentinel was sold.

It was purchased by George Phinney, proprietor of

the Waltham. free Press, and became merged in that

paper.

In February, 1863, Georj,e Phinney, who had had

previous journalistic experience in Bridgewater, com-

menced the publication of the Waltham Free Press.

At that time there was no distinctively Republican

paper in Waltham. The /^ee Press early became

the Waltham organ of that party, and has conlin-

ued the exponent of Republican ideas to the pres-

ent time. In the fall of 1884 Mr. Phinney dis-

posed of the paper to Robert B. Soraers, at that

time a compositor in the office of the Waltham

Dailij IHbune. Alexander Starbuek was requested

to take the position of editor, and did so. In the

fall of 1885 Mr. Starbuek purchased a half-interest

in the paper, and in November of that year the

office, which up to that time had been located on

the north side of the river, was removed to its pres-

ent location, on the south side. March, 1888, Som-

ers & Starbuek commenced the publication of a daily

edition, which continues in successful operation at

the present time. October 1, 1889, the newspaper

and job-printing business, which, up to that time,

had been run jointly, were divided, and the partner-

ship dissolved, Mr. Somers assuming the job-print-
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iDg and Mr. Starbuck taking the newspapers. In

its early life the Frtt Pre^s passed through a varied

experience. It was started in the second story of a

building in the rear of Central (then Miller's)

Block, which was previously used for sleeping apart-

ments for the hotel in the upper stories of the

block, but which has since been turned quarter

round and moved to the line of Le.xington Street.

While located here it passed the ordeal of fire. It

was then moved to a stone building back of Town-

send's Block, and for a second time encountered

fire. No serious accident, however, has since be-

fallen it.

The ne.'tt newspaper to be established in Wal-

tham was the Waltham Record, which was started

in 187H by Barry & Berry. After a few months'

e.xperience Mr. Berry retired from the firm, and

Mr. Barry[carried on the business until 1885, when he

disposed of the Record to Pratt Brothers, of Marlboro'.

The paper was transferred to that town and merged

with a large number of publications issued from

the Marlboro' office. While in Mr. Barry'.s charge

it wase-xceedingly well conducted. During the latter

portion of its publication in Waltham it was issued

semi-weekly.

The Waltham Daily Tribune was first published

October 2, 1882, under the management of Eaton &
Reed. It was first issued in Hovey's building on

Moody Street, just south of the railroad. Mr. Keed

subsequently disposed of his interest to Mr. Eaton.

Mr. Eaton continued in possession and retained the

position he held from the first as editor, until March

1888. He then sold out to a company of gentlemen]

who formed a corporation under the name of " The

Waltham Tribune Company." For several months

the paper was under the management of E. G. Bond.

Late in the fall of 1888 he was succeeded by H. E.

Browne, the present editor and manager. The com-

pany w.is incorporated in 1888 with a capital of

$14,000.

On May 5, 1886, E. G. Bond published the first

number of the Charles River Laborer, a weekly news-

paper issued, according to its prospectus, in the in-

terest of the workingmen particularly. It was printed

by Rice & Drake, at their ofiice, on Pine Street, near

Moody. It lived a little more than a year.

October Ifi, 188H, the Waltham Times, a daily news-

paper, published by Rice & Drake and edited by

T. P. James, made its appearance. It lived about a

year, and suspended publication.

Several amateur periodicals have appeared from

time to time, lived a few months and then quietly

died out, but as they were not designed to enter the

professional field, no attempt is made to give them in

detail.

A single attempt has been made in Waltham to es-

tablish a magazine. In March, 1836, Willard- C.

George published the first number of the Repertory, a

monthly magazine of twenty-six pages, published at

$1.00 a year. Mr. George must have received but lit-

tle encouragement, as it is said that the second num-

ber of the periodical never appeared.

The Christian Freeman and Family Visitor, edited

by Rev. Sylvanus Cobb, was printed by Josiah Hast-

ings about two years, beginning in the spring of 1830.

The office was then removed to Boston, the paper

being some years after merged into The Trumpet,

which in turn was merged in The ChriMan Leader.

CHAPTER L.

WALTHAM— (
Continued)

.

THE AMERICAN WALTHAM WATCH COMPANY.

The projector of the enterprise of systematic watch-

making, which has become an industry of no small

proportions in America, was Aaron L. Dennison.

He was a typical Yankee youth, born in Freeport,

Maine, in the year 1812. As he early evinced a taste

for mechanical pursuits he was apprenticed to a

watchmaker. After serving In that capacity about

three years, in Brunswick, Maine, he went to Boston,

where he obtained a situation with Messrs. Currier &
Trott, where he endeavored to perfect himself as a

journeyman.

The varieties of style in the construction of Swiss

and English watches, and the diversified jobs wliich

naturally come into the hands of the watch repairer,

would tend to stimulate ingenuity and develop

thought in one who was interested in his work.

Mr. Dennison certainly seems to have been pos-

sessed of progressive tendencies, so that it very nat-

urally occurred to him that there might possibly be

some improvement in the methods of watch-making,

especially in the direction of a greater uniformity in

sizes of corresponding parts in watches of the same

make. Visiting the United States Armory at Spring-

field, Massachusetts, he became greatly interested in

the machinery used in the manufacture of muskets

on the " interchangeable plan," and very naturally

the idea of applying the same system to the manu-

facture of watches presented itself to him ; and the

more he contemplated it the more firmly was he con-

vinced that the general system or method which was

evidently such a success in the making of firearms,

might, and without doubt would, in time be employed

in the performance of the required operations on the

smaller and more delicate parts of pocket time-

pieces.

Having become possessed with this general idea,

Mr. Dennison devoted many hours of his spare time

to the study of the numerous details involved in the

adaptation of such a scheme.

His continued contemplation of the subject only

served to convince him that the mechanical difficul-

I
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ties could be surmounted, and that therefore the

scheme of machine-made matches was practicable,

and, in time, was sure to be adupled.

Wilh the earnest and very natural desire to see in

tangil'lc form some results from his long-continued

stuily, Mr. Dennison endeavored to imparl to capital-

ists some of the enthusiasm which his long contem-

plation of the scheme liad aroused in himself

It is quite probable, however, that capital at that

time was even more conservative llian it now is; so

tliat it is not surprising that several years should

elapse before any one was found bold enough to risk

Ills money in an enterprise the success of which was

at least problematical.

But in 1849 Mr. Dennison had an interview with

Mr. Edward Howard, who seems to have been filled

with an enthusiasm equal to his own, but with quite

a dili'erent scheme for its object. At that time Mr.

Howard was, in company with Mr. D. P. Davis, en-

gaged in the manufacture of clocks and scales, and

also standard weights and measures, for which they

had a contract from the State of Massachusetts. They

had also done something in the way of making fire-

engines; and at that time Mr. Howard was greatly

interested in a scheme for building locomotives on an

extensive scale.

Mr. Dennison succeeded not only in dissuading Mr.

Howard from any attempt to engage in the locomotive

business, but made him a convert to his own project

for watch-making. Having then obtained an ally,

who soon became quite as enthusiastic as himself,

Mr. Deunison's own courage and confidence increased,

and the two men began their search for a capitalist,

who would be able, by the aid of their prophetic

vision, to discern a profitable return for an invest-

ment in their novel undertaking. This individual

they found in the person of Mr. Samuel Curtis, of

Boston, who consented to invest the sum of $20,000

in the enterprise. The undertaking having been de-

finitely decided upon, the next thing to be determined

was as to the nature of the first practical action.

Without doubt Mr. Dennison had long before plan-

ned in his own mind very many details, and was pre-

pared to submit a definite course of procedure. His

suggestion was that a personal visit of inspection and

investigatiori be made to the watch-making districts

of England, and, at the same time, arrangements for

the purchase of needful supplies which could not be

readily procured in American markets, such as

enamels, jewels, etc.

This recommendation of Mr. Deunison's was adopt-

ed ; and accordingly he soon went to England, where

he spent several months in gathering information as

to the systems and methods in use by the English

watch-makers ; his observation only serving to con-

firm him in his belief that Americans could readily

compete with them, especially in view of the fact

of the extreme conservatism of the English, which

prevented their ready adoption of new methods.

In a letter written by Mr. Dennison, while in

Europe, he says, " I found that the parly selling up
as manufacturer of watches bought his Lanciuihire

movements,—a conglomeration of rough materials,

—

and gave them out to A. B. 0. and D. to have them
finished

; and how A. B. C. D. gave out the diflerent

jobs of pivoliug certain wheels of the train to E. cer-

tain other parts to F., and the fusee cuttiup; lo G.—
dial-making, jeweling, gilding, motioning, etc., to

others, down almost the entire length of the i;lphahet.

. . . Finding things in this condition, as a matter of
course, my theory of Americans not finding any
diUiculty in competing with the English, cHpeciully if

the interchangeable system and manufacturing in

large quantities was adopted, may be accepted as

reasonable."

During the absence of Mr. Dennison the oilier

parties in the enterprise were not idle, bo that after

his return, work was commenced on a model watch,
and some machinery and tools. Work was com-
menced on a factory building in October, 1800, and it

was comple;cd in the following January. It was
located on Hamden Street, in Roxbury,—now a part

of the city of Boston,—and designated as the High-
land District. At that time the business was con-

ducted under the name of " The American Horologe
Company," and the capital invested consisted princi-

pally of the $20,000 furnished by Mr. Curtis, together

with the practical manufacturing experience of Messrs.

Howard & Davis, and the enthusiasm and confidence

of Mr. Dennison. Of this combination, the dollars

gradually but surely and forever disappeared; the

manufiicturing experience was considerably enlarged

;

and the enthusiasm probably remained unchanged.

Of course, in commencing the business of watch-

making, one of the primary matters lo be decided

was the form of watch to be adopted, which involved

the construction of a model from which to work in

the building of the tools and machines required. A
small room was partitioned off in the Howard &
Davis clock factory, and two men were detailed to

begin this work. They were the brothers Oliver and
David Marsh. They were soon joined by Mr. Charles

S. Moseley, whose name is familiar in many of the

watch factories of the country, and to whom is due the

credit of designing many machines now in use in all

American watch factories. Among others who were
engaged on the original watches and machines, it is

proper to mention here Mr. James Baker, who after-

ward became a foreman of one of the departments of

the Waltham factory, which he lefl in 1874, to en-

gage in mercantile business, returning, however,

after a few years' absence, and is still industriously at

work.

Mr. Nelson P. Stratton also soon became emjiloyed

in the new enterprise ; and very naturally, for he was

a watchmaker by trade, having been engaged with

the brothers James & Henry Pitkin, who in 183S

attempted to establish a watch factory at Hartford,
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Conn., and did indeed make about 800 movements,

but, as their cost was greater than imported watches,

the enterprise was iibandoued.

Believing that Mr. Stratton's experience in the Pit-

kins' factory would be of great value, Mr. Dennison

persuaded him to give up his position with Messrs.

McKay, Spear & Brown, jewelers, on Washington

Street, Boston, and cast in his lot with the promoters

of the new industry.

In faking this action no mistake was made, for Mr.

Slratton soon became prominent in the management

of the business ; but of him more will be said here-

after. Of the other workmen who were employed at

an earlv date, mention .should be made of Mr. James

T. Shepard, a brother-in-law of Mr. Stratton, who

left the Springfield .\rmory to contribute his labor

and skill to the new undertaking. He early became

the head of one of the departments of the work, and

still continues in the same position in the Waltham

factor)'.

Among others who, early entering the service of

the company, naturally came to occupy responsible

positions, were Mr. .lohn J. Lynch, who was foreman

of the jeweling department, until his death in Sep-

tember, 1885, and Mr. Albert T. Bacon, who was for

many years the general superintendent of the Wal-

tham factory.

Mr. David Marsh was adjuster of high-grade

watches, until he left the factory to enter mercantile

business.

In the summer of the next year (1851) a model

watch was completed. In size it corresponded with

the 18 size movement as made at the present time by

all American factories, but it is said to have been

radically different, however, in that it was designed

to run eight days with one winding, instead of about

thirty-six hours, as does the ordinary watch. But it

was soon found that such a form of watch was im-

practicable, and it was abandoned for the one-day watch.

Before any watches h.ad been completed, the name
of the company was changed to the Warren Manu-
facturing Company (probably in honor of Gen.

Joseph Warren, whose birth-place was not far from

the Roxbury factory), and the first hundred move-

ments produced bore this name. These were com-

pleted and placed on the market in 1853. The next

few hundred were named Samuel Curtis. But it was

soon realized that the company name was not suffi-

ciently suggestive of its business and it was changed

to the Boston Watch Company.

The two or three years' experience at the Roxbury
factory seems to have convinced the managers that

the location was in many respects an unfavorable

one, inasmuch as it was extremely dusty in the sum-

mer months, and it was also felt that in planning for

the future growth of the business, no slight regard

should be had for the requirements of the employes,

and provisions be made for their happiness and com-
fort in the direction of homes.

Influenced by this feeling, Mr. Dennison began to

search for a new and more favorable location. In

his explorations among the suburban towns within a

reasonable distance from Boston, he found a most

charming spot which seemed to possess all the desired

qualifications. This location was at Stony Brook, at

the extreme eastern boundary of the town of Weston,

and about eleven miles from Boston, on the line of

the Fitchburg Railroad. But the owner of the de-

sired land, Mr. N. L. Sibley, not having the enthusi-

astic faith in the future magnitude of the watch-

making industry which possessed Mr. Dennison, could

not be made to realize the very great pecuniary ad-

vantage which would accrue to him from the estab-

lishment of such a factory.

Failing to agree with Mr. Sibley on terms of pur-

chase, that location was given up, and search was

made for some available site, which was soon found in

the " Bemis Farm," which was situated on the south

side of the Charles River, about three-quarters

of a mile from the centre of the village of Waltham,
and only ten miles from Boston.

Having then found a satisfactory location for the

factory, the next thing was to make it evident to the

employes that country life was a thing to be very

greatly desired. Accordingly, Mr. Dennison used to

plan excursions into the country, the objective-point,

of course, being a certain pasture on the south bank

of the Charles River. And then he would endeavor

to awaken in his companions a little of the enthusiasm

which seems always to have possessed him, by point-

ing out to them some of the very charming locations

on which to build houses. It is related that, on one

of these outing days, Mr. Dennison mounted a stone

wall, and waving his long arms toward the adjoining

field, he exclaimed to his companions, " Somewhere
about there, gentlemen, there is going to be a watch

factory." The factory was subsequently built on the

spot then designated ; aud moreover, some of the

men actually located their homes on the very lots

chosen for them.

The establishment of an industry so novel and, in

the opinion of its j^rojectors, so promising as watch-

making, naturally set in motion other schemes for

money-making, which .should be more or less de-

pendent upon or co-operative with the new factory.

The Waltham Improvement Company wiis incor-

porated in March, 1854, with a capital of $100,000.

They purchased most of the land in the vicinity of

the watch factory site, amounting to several hundred

acres, and laid it out into building lots, with main

thoroughfares and intersecting streets.

Of the capital stock of this land corporation, the

Boston Watch Company held thirty shares, at $100

each.

Work was soon commenced on the new factory

buildings, and prosecuted so vigorously that by Oc-

tober of that year they were ready for the reception

of the machinery and tools. An engine and the
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needful boilers were put in place, shafting put up, and
the machinery moved from the Roxbiiry factory and
put in operation.

This factory was built in the form of two parallel

wings running towards the river, with a square build-

ing connecting the two in front, in which were located

the various offices.

The material used in the construction of these orig-

inal buildings was found on the spot, in the form of

ducted the business from September 1, 1867, under
the firm-name of Appleton, Tracy <& Co.

Almost immediately the great c<mim>>rciHl and
financial crisis of that year occurred, and for about

a year it was necessary to carry on the works without

returns from sales. With the aid of the New Yoric

firm of Robbins & Appleton, and of gome friendly

bankers in noston, means were found to keep the

factory running until, in the autumn of 1858, belter

ihc gravel which constitutes the bulk of tlie soil of limes ajipeared, and a market for the product wan
that region. This gravel was mixed with lime mor-

tar, and the compound poured into a mould of plank,

which was constructed in the form of a section of the

liuilding. After a section of this "concrete" had
stood a sufficient time to become hardened, another

section wjxs built upon it in like manner, and so the

process was continued, till the desired height was at-

tained.

This method of construction was so successful that

it was proposed to continue it, and one or two smaller

buildings were made in the same manner; but when,

after partly completing a building designed for use as

a boarding-house, a rain-storm washed it nearly all

down, confidence in that form of construction seenia

to have suffered a fatal shock ; for it was not again

attempted. Of these original buildings, the last one

was demolished in 1879.

For some time after entering the new factory about

fifty hands were employed, but few, if any, watches

were produced. This necessitated a continual draft

upon the very limited capital of the company, re-

lieved by little, if any income, so that it was but a

question of time when financial trouble would be

inevitable. And in less than two years matters had

become not only serious but desperate. All the

money which could be obtained had been absorbed,

the product was small, and, with a natural prejudice

against a new watch, the sales were slow ; and by the

spring of 1857 the end of the second stage was reach-

ed, and the company made an assignment.

The property was offered for sale by the assignee,

and, on one rainy day in May, there was a gathering

in the open court between the buildings, and in a

short time the factory, with all its equipments, to-

gether with what unfinished product it contained,

passed from the ownership of the men who had toiled

so hopefully for it.

Mr. Royal E. Robbins, of New York City, who had

for some years been in the watch importing business,

bid in the property, for himself and the firm of Tracy

& Baker, who were to quite an amount creditors of

the unfortunate watch company ; the price being

$56,000.

The new firm-name was Tracy, Baker & Co. ; but

as this factory was so far distant from the watch-case

business of Messrs. Tracy & Baker, which was

located in Philadelphia, those men soon disposed of

their interest to j\Ir. Robbins, who associated with

him Mr. James Appleton and Mr. E. Tracy, and con-

gradually made. But it was a severe struggle, and a

great trial to the faith and patience of Mr. Robbins.

His capital beingall involved, and his ability to carry

through to success such a novel and risky enterprise

being a good deal ([Ucstioned, he was reduced to

straits for money, which, in view of the subsequent

history of the concern, presents a great contrast of

conditions.

Many a time Mr. Robbins deposited with his own
hands in Boston banks large boxesof watches, as col-

lateral security for his notes, discounted at eighteen

per cent, by capitalists to whom he bad been intro-

duced.

The co-operation of the workmen was secured, and

many concessions on their part, of both time and
wages, were considerately contributed to tlie mainten-

ance of operations throughout this disastrous jieriod.

It was difficult enough, as many business men will

remember, for the best and longest established con-

cerns to borrow in that year, and it may well be be-

lieved that the effort to revive a bankrupted watch-

making business found very little favor amongst the

few who had money to lend.

However, in 1858 the clouds began to break. The

factory had by hard experience learned how to make
watches by machinery, and to make iheni well, at a

comparatively low cost. The future began to look

very promising, but more capital was needed. In

these circumstances Mr. Robbins proposed to the

Walthain Improvement Company, that, inasmuch as

the prosperity of that company was in a great measure

dependent upon the success of the watch firm,

their mutual interests would be best promoted by a

union of properties in one company, whose capital

should be made large enough for their objects. This

proposal was so evidently wise that it met with accept-

ance, and " The Waltham Improvement Company, at

a shareholders' meeting, held August '2C>, 1858, voted

to buy the watch factory property, real and personal,

excepting the stock of finished goods then owned by

Royal E. Robbins, forthe sum of $100,000 and a bonus

of S2(),000 ; and therefore voted to increase the capital

stock of the company tojt'iOO.OOO." Mr. Robbins im-

mediately subscribed the additional capital.

Dr. Horatio Adams was president of this company,

^Ir. W. H. Keith was clerk, and Mr. Robbins was

elected treasurer and general business manager,

which position he has continuously held during the

thirty-two succeeding years.
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With this consolidation the firm-name of Appleton,

Tracy & Co. disappeared, and the business was owned

and conducted by the Waltham Improvement Com-

pany ; but on Feb. 8, 1859, the name was, by act of the

Legslature, changed to the American Watch Company,

and under tliat name its products achieved a world-

wide reputation. On March 31, 1859, the officers of

the Improvement Company were formally chosen to

similar positions in the .\merican Watch Company.

Dr. Adams continued to hold the office of president

till February 16, 1861, when he resigned on account

of ill health, and was .succeeded on March 28th by

Mr. W. H. Keith.

Jlr. Dennison continued to hold the position of

superintendent till 1861, at which time he severed

his connection with the company.

Mr. Stratton also acted for a time as assistant sup-

erintendent.

Until 1800 nothing was realized from the business

in the shape of dividends, but in that year a five per

cent, dividend was declared—the first profitable re-

turn obtained from watch-making in America.

The productive capacity of the factory was gradu-

ally increased by the duplication of existing machines

and also by the designing and constructing of new

ones. Mention has already been made of Mr.

Moseley, as having been somewhat prominent in this

line. Another mechanic of special inventive ability

was obtained in the person of Mr. Charles Vander-

woerd, of whom more will be said hereafter.

In further search for competent mechanics, Mr.

Dennison seems to have bad the United States Armory
still in his mind, and Mr. Ambrose Webster was

brought on from Springfield, and installed in the

machine shop.

Mr. Webster was able to contribute to the factory

quite an essential element. He possessed, either by

nature or by virtue of the training and discipline of

an apprenticeship in the United States Armory [then

under military superintendence], an appreciation of

the value of thorough system, and his help in this

direction was of very great service, especially at that

time, when it seemed evident that the business was

destined to live, and when it was important to so

plan the methods of manufacturing that the product

should be reliable, both as to quantity and quality.

Mr. Webster continued at the head of the machinery

department till 1872, when he took the position of

assistant superintendent; but during the six or more
years immediately preceding that time his sphere of

duties had so enlarged as to require an assistant, who
had direct charge of the machine-shop.

The first person who acted in that capacity was Mr.
George Hunter, who later went to Elgin, Illinois, and
aided in starting the watch-factory there. In that

factory he took at first the position of machine-shop
foreman, but is now, and for the past fifteen years has
been the general superintendent.

On May 19, 1860, the capital of the American

Watch Company was increased to $300,000. Hardly

had the newly re-organized company caught a glimpse

of daylight ahead, after the gloom of failure and

struggle, when the Civil War broke out, an.l all busi-

ness came to a stand-still.

With little or no hope of being able to find a

market for their product, unless that product should

be so small as to be made at an actual loss, it was de-

cided to reduce the expenses to the lowest point, but

at the same time to keep the factory in operation so

as to hold the leading operatives.

To this end the machine-shop was provided with

work at building a few small lathes, for which a

market was found ; the hours of work were reduced,

and most of the workmen who did not enlist in the

army were discharged. A few hands were kept at

work making machinery and in the production of

watch movements and cases. t

But the very events from which so much was feared

were directly the means of great prosperity to this

young industry, for almost immediately a demand for

watches for soldiers sprang up, which lasted through-

out the war.

This sudden and unlooked-for demand for watches

was, fortunately, not an exacting one, save for num-

ber. Had the demand been for watches of such a de-

gree of excellence as is now required, for accuracy

and finish, it could not have been met; for the simple

reason that few trained and experienced workmen

were then available. But, using such facilities as

were obtainable, in the way of workmen, machines

and tools, vigorous efforts were put forth to supply

the welcome demand.

In common with everything else at that period, the

prices of all watches were high—perhaps relatively

higher than at any other time in the history of this

company. So that it is not a matter of surprise that

the profits of the business at that time were very large

indeed. As a result of that season of prosperity a

large surplus was accumulated, and in 1865 the capi-

tal was increased to $750,000, the stock being dis-

tributed among the stockholders in the form of a spe-

cial dividend.

In 1862 the company bought out the plant and

property of the Nashua Watch Company; and, as

they were at once incorporated with the Waltham
works, it may be interesting to give a brief sketch of

the history of the rise and fall of that establishment.

About 1857 or 1858 Mr. B. D. Bingham, of Nashua,

N. H., who had been a maker of clocks and regulators,

entered the employ of the Waltham Company, that

he might learn the various processes by which watches

were being made by machinery.

At that time Mr. Stratton was assistant superin-

tendent of the factory. He had invented an im-

proved main-spring barrel and obtained a patent upon

it, and also a hair-spring stud, both of which had

been adopted by the company.
Both Mr. Stratton and Mr. Bingham were quite
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ambitious, and, in the belief that the problema of 8uc-

lessful watch-niakiug had been practically solved,

ihey begun to lay plans for the catablishniont of a

similar enterprise.

In the confidence that capitalists could be induced

lo invest in the undertaking, these two men visited

N'ashua, N. H., in 1X5!), and did succeed in llie for-

mation of a company, with a capital of $100,000. Re-

uirning to Walthara, they enlisted the services of

several of the best men employed by the old company,

among whom were Mr. Moseley, Mr. Vanderwoerd and

some others.

A building was secured in Nashua, and fitted up so

as to adapt it to the requirements of the work to be

done. Mr. Stratton's desire was to make a watch of

a higher grade than the Waltham Company had at

that time undertaken, and with that purpose, work

was at once commenced on the required machinery

and tools. Mr. Moseley served as the master me-

chanic, and, in connection with Mr. Vanderwoerd,

constructed a number of excellent machines.

But here the old story was quickly repeated, for in

1862 the money had all vanished ; and, although

about a thousand watches had been well-advanced to-

ward completion, the stockholders declined to put in

any additional money, and matters of necessity came
to a standstill.

There being no hope of further money, the only

thing remaining was to save as much as possible from

the wreck—for such the enterprise begun with so

much confidence had then become. It is not a mat-

ter of surprise that, with the knowledge of two fail-

ures in this industry, it was a difficult matter to find

parties ready to invest in the purchase of this property-

But Mr. Stratton finally succeeded in effecting a sale

to the American Watch Company, the price paid

being about one-half the original cost of the plant.

The Waltham Company paid $53,000 for the entire

property, which, in addition to the machinery, in-

cluded the watches then approaching completion,

which were made in both what are known as sixteen

and twenty size.

The Nashua factory was kept in operation while

the addition of buildings needful for accommodating

its machinery was being made to the Waltham fac-

tory, Mr. Charles W. Fogg being sent from Walthara

to superintend the work, until the fall of 1862, when
the property was removed to Waltham.

For several years these tools were kept by them-

selves, a new department being created, and put under

the general charge of Mr, Fogg, with Mr. Vander-

woerd in charge of the mechanical part of the work.

Mr. Fogg retained his position till about 1877, when
he retired from active life. The "Nashua Depart-

ment" was maintained till July, 1878, when a portion

of the work was consolidated with similar work of

the original factory; and in 1884 the other i)arts of

the work were distributed among the several depart-

ments where they appropriately belonged'.

The Nashua watches were of the form of construc-

tion designated as '"three-quarter plate," and, by vir-

tue of their form, and also the excellence of their

workmanship, as made at Waltham, took the higlicut

rank among American watches, but were not for nniny

years a source of direct profit to the company.
Having very brietly reviewed the history of the

Nashua Watch Factory, and seen how in that

Instance, as in the case of the original venture of .Mr.

Dennison, the fondect and most confident anticipa-

tions of success were doomed to disappointment, It

may be appropriate to make mention of the peculiar

fiuscinatlon which has seemed to be connected witii

the enterprise of watch-making in America.

When, on the .sale of the property of the bankrupt
Boston Watch Company to Mr. Robbins, in 1857,

Mr. Howard retired, he took with him a confident as-

surance that watch-making could be made profitable,

and, attempting to demonstrate the fact, he again

embarked in the business at the original place in

Roxbury, where the business has since that time been

conducted, but with what measure of financial success

it is not our province to indicate.

Not disheartened nor intimidated by the failure of

the Nashua enterprise, several of the prominent men
of the Waltham factory (including some who were

engaged in the Nashua scheme), believing that the

rapidly-growing part of the country in the West
would prove favorable for the establishment of a fac-

tory patterned after the one at Waltham, visited

Chicago, and so succeeded in interesting capitallsttt

that the building of the Elgin, III., factory resulted.

The fact that the principal owners of the Elgin fac-

tory were men of wealth, and thus able to replenish

their frequently exhausted treasury, alone prevented

the repetition there of the unfortunate experiences of

the earlier Waltham and Nashua factories. But

notwithstanding the fact that ten years passed before

the Elgin Company began to realize anything In the

way of dividends, and with the struggles and disasters

of the New England companies well known, there

has ever seemed to be a fascination In the idea of or-

ganizing watch factories which has caused to he

brought into existence a multitude of such establish-

ments, to the financial ruin of many a too confident

investor, and the heavy losses of very many more.

From this digression we now return to the consid-

eration of the fortunes of the American Watch

Company.

As has already been said, the original factory

buildings were constructed of "concrete;" but when

future enlargements took place, another form of con-

struction was adopted. Following the building of

the additions made needful by the absorption of the

Nashua concern, several new wings were added, the

years of 1864 and 1865 being particularly busy ones

in this direction.

A short two-story wing had already been built in

front, the lower story being devoted to the uses of the



744 HISTORY OF MIDDLESEX COUNTY, MASSACHUSETTS.

gliding department, and llie upper one to the work

of fitting the " trains." Further additions were made

by constructing other wings parellel with the street,

the original two-story flat roof corridor building giv-

ing place to one of brick, with an additional story,

which was used sis u tinishing-room. A second cor-

ridor building wiis built, also of brick. This was lo-

cated about a hundred feet south of the first, and the

two connected by a two-story workshop ; another

siuiilai wing extended about eighty feet to the south

of this second corridor, and in it was established a

portion of the Nashua machinery. In addition to

these, the machine-shop wing was extended toward

the river, and two wings parallel with the front, but

between it and the river, were built. Besides these,

a second engine-house and boiler-house were built

and equipped. With the exception of the two corri-

dor buildings, and the engine and boiler-houses, all

of these buildings were constructed with wooden

frames filled in solid wit'i brick.

This period of extensive building seems to mark an

epoch in the history of the enterprise, which may
perhaps be designated as the fourth stage. While

the business was located at Roxbury it may be said

to have been in the ideal stage. And after removal

to Waltham, up to the year 1857, came the period of

experiment and failure. Following that, and lasting

till 1861, came a period of suspense, succeeded by the

four years which we have just considered, and which

may properly be regarded as a period of achieve-

ment and firm establishment.

The fifth stage, commencing about 186C and reach-

ing to the present time, has been one of continued en-

largement, of which more will be said hereafter.

Still further additions are definitely planned, and

will doubtless be completed in due time.

In conjunction with the renewal and enlargement

of the factory buildings, the company was engaged

in providing homes for its people.

A large number of dwellings were erected within

a convenient distance of the factory. These were

planned in a variety of styles, and of varying sizes,

so as to accommodate the operatives with larger or

smaller families.

In many cases money was advanced to employees

who desired to build houses for themselves. The
streets were also adorned with young shade-trees,

which at this time are assuming fine proportions.

The character, and consequent reputation, of the

watches made by this company had been steadily

gaining, and as a consequence were in demand, and
found ready sale. But the attempts of foreign mak-
ers to retain their market in America, and the compe-
tition resulting from the multiplication of watch fac-

tories, has had the eifect to continually reduce the

prices, and so compelling a corresponding reduction

in the cost of manufacture, either at the sacrifice of

quality, reduction in wages, or in greatly increased

production.

Manifestly the first of these plans could only result

in eventual failure ; but even if it could be otherwise,

a concern which had by the labor of years gained a

high place in the estimation of the watch trade would

realize the value of what had cost them so much, and

endeavor by all means to retain their good reputation

by adhering to their high standard of quality.

The increased sales of watches also made necesssary

the corresponding increase of means lor their produc-

tion ; and, while the tools which had been in use up

to the period of which we are writing (1865) had

probably never been equaled, it was by no means

certain that very great improvements might not be

made, both in capability and accuracy. It was na-

tural that in the beginning of the enterprise the idea

should obtain that accuracy of operation would be

secured by delicacy of construction, and therefore the

machinery of those earlier years was made very light,

and with resulting sensitivenesss, which involved a

corresponding delicacy of manipulation on the part

of the operative, which could only be acquired by a

period of education, and with results depending

largely upon individual ability.

But the experience of years had demonstrated that

delicacy of machinery did not insure uniformity of

result; and from about this time the theory of

machine-building has been materially modified in the

direction of increased strength and solidity. But

while obtaining a very marked improvement in

strength, and consequent uniformity of operation, no

radical departure was made in the principles of the

machines, the increase of factory capacity being

secured by the multiplication of existing machines.

There were occasional exceptions however, in the

direction of semi-automatic machines, serving to

foreshadow what might be done when the proper time

should come.

But without doubt the policy pursued in this matter

was the wisest for that time. Moreover, it may be

doubted if the peculiar mechanical or inventive

talent required for the production of automatic

machines had then been developed to any considerable

extent; although there was not lacking evidence of

no mean order of ability in machine construction.

The era of automatic machine construction com-

menced a few years later, and Mr. Vanderwoerd was

probably more prominent in his achievements in that

direction than any other individual. The most inter-

esting and valuable of his inventions was a machine

tor making the delicate screws which are so indis-

pensable in the structure of watches. This machine

is able to accomplish the work of three men, and is,

moreover, so arranged that but little attention is re-

quired, so that one man can easily attend to as many
as six machines.

When the United States Government called for

volunteer soldiers to aid in putting down the Rebellion,

and all through the loyal North men were leaving

home and bilsiness, and enrolling themselves in the

I
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raaks of the soldiery, the managers of the watch

factory were active and earuest in endeavors to

raise the needed recruits. Men who were valuable to

the company by reason of their skill and experience

were not on thataccount dissuadud from offering their

services to their country in its hour of peril and need
;

but were urged to enlist in the army, with the prom-

ise of employment on their relurn.

Of the numbers who went to the front, some re-

turned in safety, some were honorably discharged in

consequence of woun<ls, others came home maimed,

leaving perhaps some of their limbs to mingle with

the soil of the sunny South ; and some gave up their

lives on tlie field of battle.

A stranger would be impressed in observing the

employees as they leave the factory, by the number
of persons walking by the aid of canes, others need-

ing crutches, still others having but one arm ; and it

might seem that they were engaged in a business

which was especially dangerous. Quite the contrary

is the fact, however, for, among the tens of thousands

of persons who have been employed during the ex-

istence of the company, there has not a single fatality

occurred, the most serious accidents resulting in the

loss of one or two fingers, in almost or quite every in-

stance the result of individual carelessness.

The unusual number of lame and halt who are here

gathered is explained by the fact that many veterans

of the war are still employed, and that the nature of

the work is such that bodily inlirmities, which in

many other industries would prove serious obstacles,

do not prevent the performance of certain kinds of

work which is essential. So, too, there are many in-

dividuals who are not in the enjoyment of vigorous

health, and who are yet compelled to labor, who here

find work which is within their ability.

But notwithstanding the i'actthat so many persons

in delicate health, and a larger number by no means
robust, are here employed, it has been a matter

of surprise to those who have investigated the sub-

ject, to find that the death rate is remarkably low.

In 1888 Mr. John Swinton spent some weeks in

studying the social life of Waltham, as connected

with the watch factory, and, in an article written by

him, he says, "One of the facts which has surprised

me most, in studying the state of things in the watch

factory, ia the extraordinarily low rate of mortality

among the operatives. I find, by the carefully kept

records of each of the departments, that it is below

a half of one per cent, per annum.

"This is, of course, owing partly to the healthful-

ness of the locality, partly to the absence of child

labor in the factory, and partly to the excellent sani-

tary conditions in which the buildings are kept at

every season of the year. It is, nevertheless, proof

of the wonderful measure of welfare in the lives of

the 2500 workers now under review. It wovild not

be hard to mention factories in which the death rate

runs as high as three or four per cent, per annum."

But while the above statements are no doubt cor-

rect, it ia not to be supposed that sickness is a thing

unknown.

It has always been the cslahiiribed policy of the

company to nnike the most careful and generous pro-

vision for the comfort and health of iUt operatives,

yet no provision can insure against the visiti* of epi-

demics which occasionally visit the various sections

of the country (like " La Grippe," which occa-

sioned a more general and serious disturbance than

anything of like character within the history of the

company).

To secure the advantages of mutual assistance in

cases of need, the operatives in the year 180G estab-

lished the " Watch Factory Uelief Association." Ar-

ticle 2 of its Constitution stated that " The object of

this Association sliall be to aid all members whose

circumstances are such as to need relief m cases of

sickness or injury while in the employ of the Ameri-

can Watch Company, or whose sickness or injury

shall have been contracted while in the employ of

said company. None but members shall receive aid

except by concurrent action of the Relief Committee

and the vote of the Association. Persons working an

learners shall be exempt from dues the first four

months of their services with the American Watch

Company."

Other articles provided for choice of officers,

among whom was "a Relief Committee, consisting of

four gentlemen and three ladies, to whom all appli-

cations for relief must be made, and whose duty it

.shall be to see that timely assistance is rendered to

all in need."

The dues prescribed were, from the foremen, sixty

cents per quarter; from all other men, fifty cents;

and from women, thirty cents.

A further provision was, that " no Superintendent

or Foreman shall be eligible to any office in the As-

sociation."

A feeling of independence, and a disinclination to

accept charity in any form, without doubt deterred

very many members from applying for aid when in

sickness; and quite possibly occasional payments to

some who were not in actual need served iu time to

create a demand for a change in the method of relief;

and, in 1881, the Association was re-organized on a

strictly mutual basis; the assessment of dues was

changed from quarterly to monthly iutervals, and the

amount of duos reduced to twenty-five cents, without

distinction as to sex or positiou. The restrictions as

to the holding of office were also abolished. The

amount of money allowed to applicants for relief is

fixed by the constitution at $4.00 per week, after the

first week (for which no appropriation is allowed),

and in no case is the benefit to cover a period ex-

ceeding ten weeks in any one year. It is further pro-

vided that, in case of death of a member, the sum

of S50.0II shall be appropriated for funeral expenses.

The books of the treasurer of the Association show
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that since its organization, in 1866, it has paid 103

such claims ; and that, up to the close of the year

1 .S89, there had been paid out a total of nearly

*45,00(> in yearly amounts, varj'ing from $945 in 1866,

to $.'.814 in 1889.

Since the re-organization of the .\ssoeiation, in

1881, the condition of the treiusury has allowed the

omission of ten regular assessments, and never in its

history has a special assessment been required until

1889, that being occasioned by the prevalence of the

epidemic, " La (irippe." The sympathy of the man-

agement of the Watch Company with the aims and

objects of this Relief Association has been manifested

by its annual contribution of $200 to its funds.

The years immediately following the close of the

Civil War, while constituting a period of general

business activity and apparent prosperity, were not

without intervals of an.xiety and depression in the

watch-making industry. It has, however, seemed a

very remarkable thing that at times, when business in

general has been languishing, and many industries

have been obliged to completely suspend operations,

this factory has been almost uniformly kept busy.

This is the more strange because it would be expected

that in times of dullness and scarcity of money,

watches would naturally be a drug in the market.

But with the exception of a few mouths in the fall

and winter of 1873-74, when financial disturbance

was 80 nearly universal, this factory has been kept

steadily at woric. And it is probable that it may be

truthfully said that few, if any, towns in our country

suffered less during that period of business troubles,

than did Waltbam.

Such a measure of prosperity as was shared by this

whole community was, without doubt, due almost en-

tirely to the exertions and the sagacity of the watch

factory management and its selling agents, and cannot

but be a matter of the greatest gratification.

The steady increase in the volume of business made
necessary a corresponding increase of capital. And
on August 3, 1870, half a million dollars were added,

—making a total of $1,2.30,000. But within three

years even this amount was found insufficient; and
on January 14, 1873, the capital was increased to

$1,500,000.

With the desire to secure, if possible, a more com-
plete identification of interest in the business on the

part of the employes, and, at the same time, giving

them the opportunity for a profitable investment oftheir

accumulated savings, Mr. Robbins made a provision

that the employes should be allowed to subscribe for a

portion of the new issue of stock on terms much
more favorable than could be obtained by other par-

ties. This opportunity was embraced by many of the

operatives, and while some of them subsequently dis-

posed of their shares, many others are still securing

their semi-annual returns. And if they are desirous

of disposing of their stock, they can do so at a large

advance.

When the Xational Centennial Exhibition was deter-

mined upon this company entered heartily into the work

of providing an exhibit which should be a fitting indi-

cation of the progress which America had made in this

branch of industry. Besides exhibiting a very large

number of finished watches, in various grades, and in

cases of silver and gold, a workshop was fitted up with a

number of the most interesting automatic machines

which had then been added to the equipment of the

factory. These machines were kept in practical op-

eration by a corps of ojjeratives, who were inconstant

attendance during the entire season of the Philadel-

phia exhibition.

This exhibit proved to be one of the most attrac-

tive in the whole fair, and was from morning till

night surrounded by a dense crowd of eager and in-

terested visitors. In addition to these objects of such

interest to the curious, the company entered a number

of watches of various grades, to be submitted to the

most searching and exacting tests, to demonstrate

their accuracy as to time-keeping qualities.

It is a matter for congratulation and pardonable

pride, that, although in competition with the watches

of the old and celebrated makers of the Old World,

the watches entered by the American Watch Com-

pany secured the highest award for accuracy. As an

indication of the wonderful precision which has been

attained in time-keeping mechanism, it may be said

that the three watches which gained the highest

award showed a mean daily variation of only .23 of

one second ; and an avenige difference of but .44 of

one second between the first and eleventh weeks of

the official tests.

The result of this competitive trial, together with

the wonderfully attractive exhibition of watches, and

the machines employed in their manufacture, was, as

might naturally be expected, to bring into more ex-

tended and favorable notice the Waltbam Company,

and to create an increased demand for their goods.

It moreover forced from the European watch-makers

the unwilling acknowledgment that America had taken

the lead, and that evidently the days of watch-making

on the old plan were about numbered.

When Mr. Dennison severed his connection with

this company, in 1861, the position of superintendent

was assumed by Mr.. Albert T. Bacon, who has been

mentioned as having early entered the service of the

original company in Roxbury. At about the same

time Mr. Stratton was sent to London, to serve the

company as its agent for the purchase of supplies.

He remained there until 1878, when he retired from

active life.

Mr. Bacon continued in the position of general

superintendent until 1875, having as his assistant

during the last two years Mr. Ambrose Webster, who
was promoted to that position from his former one ol

master mechanic.

Mr. Woerd's abilities as an inventor of machinery

having been recognized by Mr. Robbins, he was, in
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1874, assigned to the position and duties of mechani-

cal superiutendent of the entire factory
; and held

that office until the resignation of Mr. Bacon, when
he was appointed general superintendent of the fac-

tory, with Mr. G. H. Shirley as his assistant.

Mr. Webster retired in 187G,shortly after Mr. Bacon

resigned.

While Mr. Woerd unquestionably possessed the in-

ventive faculty in a large measure, he was notso well

eipiipped to act as a manager, and his administration

on the broader scale was not successful, and he retired

in 1883.

Shortly after Mr. Robbins became identified with

the factory the commercial and the manufacturing

branches of the business were separated, and since

that time the entire product of the factory has been

marketed by the selling agents of the company,

Messrs. llobbins & Appleton, who have evinced great

business ability, in creating and maintaining, as well

as supplying, an increasing demand for the Waltham
watches.

This has been accomplished by the employment of

a corps of trained salesmen, in their established offices

in New York, Boston, Chicago and elsewhere ; and

also by sending out " missionaries," whose duties are

to visit the numerous watch- dealers, and ascertain

their wants, listen to their suggestions or complaints,

and rectify their mistakes.

Among those early employed in this capacity was

Mr. Ezra C Fitch, a young man who came from an

apprentice's bench in the store of Bigelow & Kennard,

of Boston. After being in the Boston office of Rob-

bins & Appleton for a time, he was sent out " on the

road," visiting various districts, principally in New
England. He was subsequently transferred to the

New York oflice ; and while connected with that

office he traveled over nearly every section of the

United States, becoming acquainted with nearly all

the leading watch-dealers of the country. Later he

devoted his entire time to the business of the New
York office, remaining there for several years, acquir-

ing an experience End developing a business sagacity

which naturally raised him to the head of the office,

and later to a partnership in the firm of Robbins &
Appleton.

Duringthe latter part ofMr. Woerd's administration

it had become evident that a change was demanded,

it was decided to place Mr. Fitch in the general

management of the factory; and in March, 1883, he

removed from New York City, and entered upon his

new line of work and responsibility.

One great advantage obtained in this appointment

was the fact that Mr. Fitch was able, by reason of

his commercial experience and his extensive acquaint-

ance with the trade, to appreciate their wants as they

could not be felt by those whose entire experience

had been in the direction of manufacturing.

About three months after the advent of Mr. flitch,

Mr. Woerd severed his connection wiih the factory,

and the oflSce and dutieit of f^enernl superintendent

were assumed by Mr. Fitch, lie was also chosen to

a place on the Board of Directors ; and in May, 188(1,

was elected president of the company, all of which

positions he now occupies.

At the time this factory was started, and for many
years thereafter, all watches were made in the form

now designated a-s "key-winding," in which the

main-spring was wound by means of a key, which
was entirely separate from tlie watch, and which was
liable to be mislaid or lost, and to use which required

the opening of the watch-case, with the liability of

the introduction of dust, to the injury of the delicate

mechanism. After a time improved means for wind-

ing were adopted, in which the separate key was dis-

carded, and the winding performeil by means of an

arbor extending through the case-pendant, upon the

outer end of which was fastened a knob or " crown."

By means of a lever, concealed within the case, or a
" push piece " projecting through its side, the

mechanism could be disconnected from the winding,

and made to engage with other wheels, for the pur-

pose of moving the hands. This form of construction

is known as the " stem-winding " or " keyless " watch,

and has to a great extent superseded the old form of

winding.

Desiring to still further improve their watches, both

in quality of workmanship and in mechanical devices,

the company in 1882 secured the services of Mr. D.

H. Church, of Chicago, who was known as a thorough

watch-maker, and possessed of unusual skill and in-

genuity. One of the first results of Mr. Church's

endeavors was the production of a device for still fur-

ther improving stem-winding watches, so as to do

away with the " hand-setting lever," which involved

the necessity of opening the case during the operation

of setting the hands. This new form of construction

was soon adopted, and became very popular, being

technically known as the " pendant-set."

In giving the history of an enterprise such as we
have been considering, it would be of interest to

dwell to some extent upon the careers of the

individuals who have been prominent in its develop-

ment ; but it has been the endeavor of the v/riter

to subordinate individuals so far as possible, in the

simple story of the origin, trials and growth of this

world- renowned industry. And it remains in closing

to make mention of a few things which are of inter-

est, and may well become matters of permanent

record.

In 1885, by an act of the Massachusetts Legislature,

this company was authorized to increase its capital

to $4,000,000 and also to change its corporate name

by the insertion into it of the word " Waltham ;"

and under that authority it has, since March of that

year, existed under the name of the American Wal-

tham Watch Company.

In the same month it was voted by the stockholders

to increase the capital from $1,500,000 to $2,000,000.
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In March, 18S9, it was voted to still further increase

it, so aa to make the amount $3,000,000.

On that occasion Mr. Uobbina made his thirtieth

annual report a.s treasurer ; and its close gave a brief

review of the thirty years' work. Among other

interesting items he slated that up to February 1,

1879, 1,112,133 watch-movements had been made

;

and at the close of the year 1888 the number had

reached 3,800,-196, showing that the production of the

last ten years had been more than double that of the

preceding twenty years ; also that the sales since he

became treasurer had reached an aggregate of nearly

$48,000,000.

While it is a matter for congratulation that this

vast sum without question indicates a large total

return to the stockholders, it is also no less a fact

that the employees have shared in the prosperity of

the business to an extent which, to say the least,

is by no means common.

It has been a matter of no small pride with the

management that the scale ofwages has been a liberal

one. It is also a matter of almost universal com-

ment with visitors to the factory, as they are shown

through the various departments, or observe the

2800 operatives as they pass out at the close of

work, to note their appearance of superior intelligence

and refinement.

It would be difficult to find another manufacturing

concern the ranks of whose w'orkmen have produced

so many persons who have entered professional life,

or adopted other forms of business as employers.

Among the graduates from this factory there are

several editors, lawyers, physitans, dentists and artists.

Others have become merchants and manufacturers.

Many are holding honorable positions in municipal

affairs. One is mayor of the city, another is post-

master, and another a member of the State Legisla-

ture.

The high character and superior intelligence of the

people who here find employment, together with the

liberal wages paid, will, in a great measure, account

for the absence of labor troubles, which have be-

come so common in many industries. But much is

also due to the governing desire on the part of the

officers of the company to be just and fair in the con-

sideration of all matters involving differences of

opinion, and apparent conflict of interests.

The introduction of improved methods of work
and the employment of labor-saving machines will

without doubt occasion temporary individual hard-

ships, but thoughtful men realize that such things are

to be expected, and are in fact inevitable ; but will

also realize that the permanent prosperity of the in-

dividual operatives is dependent upon the financial

success of their employers.

The decay of the watch industry in England, con-

sequent upon their loss of the American market, and
the fact that large numbers of Waltham watches are

sold abroad, has compelled the English to acknowl-

edge that, in certain respects at least, the American

system possesses a superiority. Several attempts have

been made within the last few years to inaugurate

the same general plan in some English establishments,

but it is understood with only a partial degree of

success.

Within recent months articles have been published

in English horological journals, in which the at-

tempt has been made to rob Mr. Dennison of the

credit of havingoriginated the system of interchangea-

bilily of parts, made possible by the employment of

a series of special machines. Nevertheless, the fact

remains that such a scheme, if ever conceived in

Europe, was never carried out, nor ])ractically de-

monstrated until Mr. Dennison acconi[)li8hed it. So

that whatever of honor or credit such an accomplish-

ment can claim is certainly due to Mr. Dennison and

his co-workers in originating this factory.

A person unacquainted with the almost infinite de-

tails involved in the conduct of a complete and exten-

sive watch factory, can have little appreciation of the

difficulties and perplexities which are continually

arising. Nor can he comprehend the extremely wear-

ing nature of the duties involved in the judicious

management of such a business.

For these reasons it has often been felt that the

safe and profitable limit of production could not be

very greatly in excess of that already attained.

But the invention and use of improved machines

continues to make possible an increase of product,

without greatly complicating the details ; so that it is

expected that within a few months at least two

thousand movements per day will be produced.

The completion of watch No. 2,000,000 in January,

1883, was made the occasion of a slight celebration,

which took the form of a banquet. It was given by

the foremen of the various departments of the fac-

tory ; they having as invited guests, Mr. E. E. Rob-

bius, the treasurer ; Mr. C. V. Woerd, the superin-

tendent; Mr. G. H. Shirley, assistant superintendent,

and representatives from the offices of the selling

agents. The most interesting feature of the occasion

was the address of Mr. Robbins, who, after expressing

his pleasure at meeting his captains and lieutenants

in that social way, gave a most interesting n.arrative

of some of the early difficulties and struggles of the

Watch Company, some of which have been recorded

in the foregoing pages. That occasion was so thor-

oughly enjoyed by all present that, as one result,

The Watch Factory Foremen's Association was or-

ganized, holding regular meetings for the discussion

of matters pertaining to the interests of the factory.

Similar banquets have been held each succeeding

year, the officers of the company, the selling agents,

and the foremen successively being the hosts.

On the completion of watch movement No. 3,000,-

000, the company fitted it with a handsome gold case,

and presented it to the Foremen's Association ; and

it has been carried by differetit members, no one being
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allowed to possess it for a longer period than six

months.

The present rate of production will, within a few

months, bring the number of finished niovenients to

a full 5,000,000, which event might well be the oc-

casion of a celebration.

As in the natural world there seems to be a par-

ticular pest or enemy to the various forms of vegeta-

tion, so there has within a few year.s been developed

to a marked degree an influence which has been the

cause of verj' serious disturbance in the time rate of

watches. The attempt to discover a remedy for this

diiSculty has engaged the time and taxed the ingenu-

ity of the management of this company and some of

its prominent assistants for many months, and the

problem has been successfully solved by the discovery

of certain alloys, which possess the jiroperties of elas-

ticity and suflicient expansion under the influence of

heat, and also the non-magnetic property. So that

watches are now made which can be safely exposed

to strong magnetic influences without fear of injury.

The rapid introduction of electricity as an agent for

the convenient transmission of power and for the pro-

duction of artificial light will, without doubt, be the

cause of injury to large numbers of watches of ordi-

nary construction, and it is therefore felt that the abil-

ity to construct non-magnetic watches, which is alone

possessed by this American company, is to be of in-

creasing value.

Allusion has been made to the great amount of de-

tail involved in the manufiicture of watches, as con-

ducted at this factory. The statement of a few facts

will make this evident to the ordinary reader.

This company, at the present time (1890), is manu-

facturing watch-movements in five different sizes,

and of each size several different grades are made.

While the diflerent grades of any one size may, and

do, possess the same general appearance, yet in cer-

tain details there are radical differences, and in others

there are required modifications in the operations

which enter into their construction and finish.

An ordinary watch-movement is composed of up-

wards of one hundred and fifty distinct pieces, and a

careful list of the distinct operations required to com-

plete them all shows the number to be over three

thousand seven hundred, or an average of twenty-five

operations for each piece. Some of them are, of

course, quite simple
; but others are complicated and

involve the employment of special machines, many
of which are, from their character, very expensive.

It will doubtless be evident that a business involv-

ing so much of detail, and demanding such a degree

of accuracy in workmanship, can be successfully con-

ducted only by the most careful attention to all the de-

tails of it; and that thorough system is indispensable.

To attain these ends, the work of the factory is di-

vided into twenty-two departments, each under the

direct care of a foreman, some of whom have one or

more assistants. The departments are as follows:

Full PlMe Deputmant Laonard GnwDO, ForonwD.
Tliroi>(|uiirt<T Plato Dtpartmsnl . . Loroii/u .N,.l)l<.

rinion Turning ••
, . M»rlln Tlwuiu

PinlunCultlng "
. . C. R. Hill "

>JKap<!niont "
. C. 0. U.rsm "

Flat Steel "
, . j. -f. Slio|.»nl

Jewel-Muklug "
. . w. R. Will.

•'""••""K
"

. . Alfred Witrnn
Engiavinn ••

. . wilUiim .Miimj
I'*!""™ "

. . J. L. Koy.er
Main and Hair-Siirlng "

. . John I^ik«u "

Screw-Mnklng "
. . c. II. Mniiu

Dlal-Sliikluc "
. . K. W, Wethorbo. "

Dliil-Palutlng ••
. K. L. Hull

Punch and Hand N. P. Mulloy •

Machiun w, II, Wninn "

OiWInK A. P. Wllllami
Finishing "

. . Tlioniiu Gill

Packing "
. . MlM A. Clark

Ropairing "
. . J. N. Ilnniiiiund

CarppnterIng " .0. W. II. llMull.in

.Tanitiir and Suppliet "
. . 0. J. 01nf>

Aside from the foregoing, who have specific duties,

there is a corps of what may be called executive oUi-

cers, whose duties and cares are more general, but not
less exacting and wearing. The nature of their duties

is suggested by the several titles, viz.

:

General Superintendent E.G. Filch

Assistant Superintendent G. H. Shirley

Master Mechanic E. A. Manth
Master Watchmaker D. H. Church
Chief Inspector D. \V. Eldrldgo

The oflicers of the corporation have been as follows:

186R.— Horatio Adania, M.D., (Waltham Imp't Co.), prmident ; B. E.
Kobbins, treasurer ; \V. H. Keith, clerk*.

IS.'tD.— Horatio Adams, M.I), (.\mcrican Watch Colnpanj), prenidenl

;

It. E. Robl'ina, treasurer
;
W. II. Keith, clerk.

ISfil.—W. II, Keitli (American Watch ComiwMiy), president ; K. E,

liobbins, treasurer ; Henry Martyn, clerk.

18t'i7.— I, W, Slulliken (American Watch Conipaay), prealdeut ; R. E,

Robbins, treasurer ; Henry Martyn, clerk.

1871,—I, W. Mulliken (American Watch C^)iDpany), presideDt ; R. E.

Robbins, treasurer ; W. W. Titcomb, clerk.

1874.—F. M. Stone (.\mericau Watch Company), president
; R. E.

Robbins, treasurer ; W. W. Titcomb, clerk.

1878.—Horatio Moore (American Watch Company), president ; B. E,

Robbins, treasurer ; W, W, Titcomb, clerk.

1S83.—Horatio Moore (.Ymorican Watch Company), preaidcnt ; R. E
Robbins, treasurer ; P. W. Carter, dork.

1.SS5.—Horatio Moore (American Waltham Watch Company), presi-

dent ; R. E. Robt)ins, treasurer ; P. W. Carter, clerk,

1888,—Ezra C, Fitch (.\moricau Waltham Watch Company), presi-

dent ; R, E. Robbins, treasurer; P. W. Carter, clerk.

In dosinf this imperfect, and .somewhat fragment-

ary, sketch of the origin, trials and triumphs of this

pioneer in the watch-making industry in America, it

may be said, that while many other enterprises are

much more easily conducted, and may yield returns

to their stockholders far exceeding this, it may well

be doubted if in the whole country, or indeed in the

world, there can be found an enterprise more widely

and favorably known, or one which has been able to

promote such a general diffusion of sound prosperity,

as has resulted, directly and indirectly, from the es-

tablishment and management of the manufacturing

industry now conducted under the name of "The
American Waltham Watch Company."
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CHAPTEK LI.

WA LTHAil—i Continued)

.

PUBLIC LIBRARY.

BY NATHAN WARREN.

The Waltham Public Library was organized

aa a free public library in 1865. At that time the

KuiutorJ Iii>tilute, an institution of long standing

and great influence for good in the town, offered to

give its large and well-selected library, on condition

that it be made a free public library, and that its

charge and support thereafter should be assumed by

the town. The town accepted the proposition and

the present Public Library was thus formed and or-

ganized. The managcnienl of the library was in-

trusted to a board of eight directors, four of whom

were to be chosen iu each year, and the funds for the

maintenance of the library and the purchase of

books were appropriated from the town treasury.

Rooms for books, and a reading-room, were secured

in the second story of the Walthum Bank Building.

Miss Lorenza Haynes was appointed librarian, and

thus the library, as one of the free public institu-

tions of the town, started on its course of usefulness.

But the history of the library before it was taken

under the fostering care of the town, is the most in-

teresting feature of its existence. It shows the desire

and successful efforts of a people to obtain informa-

tion, and draw from the store of public knowledge

that knowledge so essential to the welfare of a free

and intelligent people. It also furnishes a shining

example to the everlasting honor of the first cotton

manufacturing establishment in America, of the care

of the corporation for the moral and educational well-

being of the operatives, and of the people residing in

the locality of the manufactory. When the Boston

Manufacturing Company established its mills in

Waltham, among its early acts, besides the encourage-

ment of the church and the school for those connected

with the factories and their children, was the promo-

tion of a library of useful and entertaining knowledge.

Funds for that purpose were placed in the hands of

Rev. Sewall Harding, the pastor of the church, who
made the first purchases of books. Thii was in the

year 1820. These books were loaned to the operatives

at stated periods, and the library was called the

Manufacturers' Library. When the Rumford Insti-

tute was org.anized in 1826, besides providing for lec-

tures and debates, it started a collection of books.

This institution was substantially encouraged by the

manufacturing company, and as a foundation for a

permanent library, the Manufacturers' Library was

transferred to the Institute. This was a nucleus of

the large and well-selected library which was finally

given to the town as a public library. From small

beginnings, the gradual accretions of books, from gift

and purchase, swelled the number and insured a per-

manent and valuable collection. The manufiicturing

company with continued liberality erected a building

for the lectures of the Institute, and provided cases

and facilities for keeping and delivering the books.

The proceeds of rent were devoted to the purchase of

new books. The class of books purchased and added

were of a general character, adapted to the use of

such a population, and of a high order, which shows

the care iu their selection. The library was open

every Saturday evening, and the annual fee for its

privileges was merely a nominal sum. To minors

especial encouragement was given for availing them-

selves of the use of the library and attendance at its

lectures. Thus the library in the sphere of its use-

fulness, and the additions to its shelves, grew with

the growth of the town, and was an important ele-

ment in the social, moral and intellectual life. The
noble and broad-minded men who were the projecti^rs

of the factories showed that they were guided by

higher motives than those which attached to mere

business enterprises. When the library was trans-

ferred to the town, it comprised about three thousand

well-chosen volumes.

Soon after its organization as a Public Library,

the Social Library, of the First Parish Church, was

given to it. This library had been establithed under

the statutes passed for the encouragement of learn-

ing and knowledge in that way, and was connected

with the church of the town, though the books were

mostly of a general and secular character. In 1873

the library of the Farmers' Chib, consisting of

about two hundred and fifty volumes of agricultural

works, was added to the library as a gift from the

club.

As the extent of the library and the convenience of

the people required better accommodations, in 1880,

by the advice of the directors, the town authorized

the removal to a new block erected by Charles A.

Welch, at the corner of Charles and Moody Streets,

where, upon the ground-floor, much better facilities

were secured. The area was judiciously divided into

reception, reading, reference and alcove rooms, and

the location has proved itself as well adapted to the

purposes as any place not especially provided for

such use in its original design. It is hoped that at

some future time public or private munificence may
provide a building devoted to its exclusive use as a

Public Library. By the city charter the man?ge-

ment of the library is in charge of a board of six di-

rectors, two of whom are elected annually by the

Board of Aldermen. The appropriations by both the

town and city have always been liberal and have

been granted with an adequate comprehension of the

benefit of such an institution. By co-operation with

the School Board the library is made greatly to aid

the scholars of the public schools in their studies.

Special attention has been given to reference books;

and the room devoted to their use is one of its most

interesting apartments. The librarians have been
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Miss Lorenza Hayoes, Mr. A. J. Lathrop and Miss

Sumner Joiinson, who at present liolds that position.

The number of books is about fifteen thousand.

CHAPTER LII.

WALTITAM—{ Continued)

.

MANUFACTORIES.

BY ALEXANDER STARBUCK.

Not many years after the settlement of Waterlown

advantage was talien of the water privileges within

its borders for the establishment of such manufactures

as the limited needs of the colonists required and

would support. The earliest one of whitii we have

any accouut as having been cstablislied within what

are now the corporate limits of Waltham was a full-

ing-mill, erected at or near the site known as Ken-
dall's Mill, on Beaver Brook. On the 30th of May,

1662, Timothy Hawkins sold to Thomas Agar, of

Roxbury, fuller, three-quarters of an acre of land at

this place, " with all the accommodation of water, for

the erecting and maintenance of a fulling-mill in said

place, and on the river that passeth through the

same ; also the right of way." Mr. Agar did not

continue the business long at this place, for the record

says that December 18, 1603, but little more than a

year at best from the time he could have had his

mill in operation, he sold the land, " with the fulling-

mill thereon erected, to Thomas Loveran, late of Ded-

ham, Co. Essex, Old England, cloth- worker." Lover-

an seems to have continued in business here until

1669-70. .January 3d of that year he sold the mill

to Timothy Hawkins and Benjamin Garfield. Prior

to 1690—how long before does not appear—the mill

was used for grinding corn. In 1700 Samuel Stearns,

a son-in-law of Timothy Hawkins, was the owner in

whole or in part of the property.

It appears by a vote passed by the town of Water-

town, at a meeting held January .5, 1679-80, that a

grist-mill was in process of erection on Stony Brook,

the town voting " that the new corn-mill now set uj)

and to be finished at Stony Brook, be freed from rates

for 20 years." In 1684 this mill was owned by John

Bright and others. According to Bond: "These

mills were probably owned some time by Lieutenant

John Brewer, and afterwards, for a long time, known
as Bigelow's Mills." Bond also says: "The mills

built on the three points just referred to " (that is,

near the weir established at Watertown and the two

localities mentioned in this article) " were the only

ones in the town for the first seventy, |)robably the

first hundred, years after its settlement." There was

probably a mill also on the brook running east of

Lexington Street, and crossing Beaver Street, a

branch of Beaver Brook.

Probably the next mill which was erected in Wal-
tham was the one known as the Boies Paper Mill,

and wa-s built and carried on by John Uoien. Mr.
Boies manufactured brown and white pajier and his

mill stood on land now occupied by the Itoston

Manufacturing Company. It was at that time a jiic-

turesque locality. The date of the erection of the
mill is not definitely fixed, but it was probably be-

tween 1780 and 1790. The MaamchiitetU Magazine.

for April, 1793, published an engraving of the mill,

showing the dwelling of Mr. Koies near by, and
accompanied it with the following description :

" We
have the pleasure to present our patrons with a south
view of Mr. John Boyce's Paper Jlanufactory, com-
bining a prospectus of his dwelling-house and out-

buildings, together with a view of the meeting-house,

the seats of Messieurs Townsend and Pacy, and
Charles Kiver. The situation is acknowkdged to be
one of the most elegant and delightful in the town-

ship of Waltham, and has deservedly acquired the

name of EDEN VALE. It is about ten miles from

Boston, and one half mile from the Great Road on
the Plains." Boies' estate in 1798 was valued at

§1550.

A similar mill was built by (Jovernor Gore, near

the site of the present Waltham Bleachcry, prior to

1800. In 1802 Nathan Upham erected a small

wooden building on Stony Brook, near the Weston
line and commenced the manufacture of coarse

wrapping |)apers. Nathan, and Amos his brother, had
<ervedan apprenticeship with John Boies. They con-

tinued the business until 1820, when they disposed of

the mill to John M. Gibbs, who also continued the

manufacture until 1835, when he sold the mill to

John and Stephen Roberts. Stephen died in 1845,

and John became sole owner. Eventually John's

sou William became a partner, and the business was

carried on under the style of .lohn Robcrt.s and Sou.

John Roberts died in 1871, and William still carries

on the business, but the firm-nnme is unchanged.

The goods produced are sheathing and asbestos

papers principally, and large quantities are yearly

produced. The old wooden mill was long ago re-

placed by a more commodious and substantial stone

structure, and the water-power of the brook was

assisted bj(t the steam engine.

In 1810 the Governor Gore mill was purcha.sed by

the Waltham Cotton and Woolen Company, which

was organized that year. It is said that this company
at one time employed about two hundred hands and

its weekly products reached 10,000 yards. Accord-

ing to " M. U." in the Massachusetta Historical

Society's Collections for 1815, the mill at that time

run, in its cotton department 2000 spindles, and
worked 300 pounds of cotton per day ; in the woolen

department were run 380 spindles, four jennies and

two jacks. Fourteen woolen looms were in operation

and sixty pounds of wool used per day. A portion

of the weaving was done outside the factory in the
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neighborinK and even in some distant towns. It was

unsuccessful, however, as a financial venture and

nine years after its incorporation (in February, 1819),

its property was sold to the Boston Manufacturing

Company for i?2()(),000.

The Boston Manufacturing Company was incor-

porated in February, 1813. Francis C. Lowell and

Patrick I. Jackson purchased the mill and water

privilege established by Mr. Boies and, joining with

Nathan Appleton and others, organized the company

and were incorporated by the Legislature with a capi-

tal of $40",000. Work was at once commenced on

the buildings, and the mill nearest Moody Street was

completed during the first year. While the building

was in process of construction Mr. Lowell visited

Kngland to study the mechanism of weaving as

practiced there and to obtain improved machinery,

with the intention of providing for the complete pro-

duction of cotton-cloth by machinery.

The new mill built by the company was of brick,

five stories high, ninety feet long and forty-five feet

wide, and running 3000 spindles. The roof was of

the double-pitdi pattern. Within five years this

portion of the mill has been remodeled to conform

to the more modern portions. It was several months

after Mr. Lowell's return from England before the new

power loom was perfected. The first record of its

work is on the books of the. company under d.ate of

February 2, 1816, at which time the entry was made
of " 1242 yards 4-4" or thirty-six inches wide cotton.

There is no doubt that this entry records the date of

the first manufacture of cotton-cloth in America

where all the operations were performed under one

roof. The goods mentioned were made in imitation

of the cotton imported at that period from India.

The first product was at the rate of 4000 yards per

week. Only one store in Boston, that of a Mrs. Bow-
ers, on Cornhlll, dealt in goods of this kind, and as

home-made cotton-goods were not viewed with par-

ticular favor, the sales were not by any means en-

couraging. The experiment was tried of selling the

product by auction. It proved successful ; about

thirty cents a yard being realized, and the busine.ssof

the company was firmly established.

In 1818 a new mill was erected, and the production

thereby increased to 25,000 yards per week. Three
widths were made: 30 inches, 37* inches and 54

inches ; the price being 30, 37i and 50 cents per yard,

respectively.

In 1833 the canal now in use by the company was
built. In 1836, by reason of drought, the water-sup-

ply failed, and a steam-engine was added to the mill

equipment. In 1847 the old wooden dam was re-

placed by the present granite one. In 1852 a new
mill, 200 feet long and 80 feet wide, was built for the
manufacture of extra-wide sheetings; and soon after

the first wide sheetings made in America were woven
in this mill. The number of spindles at that time
was 40,000. In 1873 a new mill, 150x91 feet, was

built; in 1879 an addition of 117 feet was built to this,

and in 1882 another addition was made. In 1888 the

remodeling of the old mill made the structures uni-

form ; and at the present writing, another new mill,

100 feet long, 70 feet wide and four stories high, is be-

ing built between River Street and the Fitchburg

Railroad and between Elm and Moody Streets. The
number of spindles at present in use is 60,000, but the

new mill will largely increase this number.

Soon after the Boston Manufacturing Company pur-

chased the plant of the Wahham Cotton and Woolen
Manufacturing Company the old mill was demolished,

and a new building commenced for the bleaching of

the company's product and the manufacture of a bet-

ter grade of cotton-cloth. The original intention was
to utilize the bleachery simply for the bleaching, fin-

ishing and dyeing of the company's goods, but the

field waa gradually extended until its customers are

found in every portion of the United States. The old

methods, including the large wooden drying-sheds,

were replaced in 1873-74 with more modern appli-

ances and buildings, the present structures being

built of brick. The present capacity of the works is

a little over 100,000 yards of cloth per day.

In 1868 the Boston Manufacturing Company com-
menced the manufacture of hosiery, but the manu-
facture was, after several years' trial, abandoned, or

rather superseded by that of underwear. The present

production of undershirts and drawers is about 150,000

dozens per year. The industry was started at the

bleachery, but the machinery was subsequently re-

moved to one of the company's new mill-buildings,

near Moody Street.

The people of Waltham are much indebted to the

pioneers of the Boston Manufacturing Company for

many things. The corporation established, and for

many years maintained at its own expense, schools.

The Rumford Institute, which for many years was
one of the educational institutions of Waltham,
originated among its employees, and was carefully

fostered by it until within comparatively few years.

The library organized by the institute was the nucleus

for the present Public Library. In various other ways

has the company shown a lively interest in the wel-

fare of Waltham.

In the year 1819 Patrick T. .Jackson and others

commenced the manufacture of sulphuric acid in a

building near the junction of Charles River with

Beaver Brook. About six years after the business

was removed to a large lot of land bounded at present

by High, Newton, Pine and Hall Streets. Here for

many years a very extensive manufacture of this

acid was carried on by a corporation called the New-

ton Chemical Company, the land at the time of

their incorporation being a portion of Newton. For

many years this establishment was without a rival in

its special busines's. The manufacture was abandoned

in 1872, and the land is now nearly covered with

dwelling-houses.
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In 1835 Dr. Francis F. Field, a dentist, invented a

procesa for the manufacture of crayons for the use of

schools, tailors, carpenters, etc.

This was the beginning of a business which was

for several years carried on by Mr. Zenas Parmenter

and by Messrs. Parmenter, Powers & Powell in a little

shop, near the corner of Lexington and Punu Streets.

A fire destroyed their shop and their increasing busi-

ness demanding more room, they removed to the up-

per part of a building on Felton Street owned by

Davis and Farnum. The accommodations here did

not long suffice, however, and about 18G3 the old bed-

stead factory, the site of the present factory, was

liired. At first only the upi)er portion of that build-

ing was used, but the then firm of Parmenter &
Walker soon occupied the whole building and has

since so enlarged it on the east, the west, the north,

the south, and perpendicularly that not a semblance

(if the original structure is left. In 1881 Mr. Par-

menter purch.ised Mr. Walker's inteiest, and in Jan-

nary, 1882, a company was formed and incorporated

under the title of the Parmenter Crayon Company,

with a paid-in capital of $45,000. From the insig-

nificant beginning of fifty years ago, the business has

reached colossal proportions. From two cases a week,

which was formerly considered a good showing, the

(iroduction has increased until now it has an average

cif from twenty to twenty-five cases per day, with

facilities fortwicethat amount. The goods are shipped

lo all parts of Europe, and to the more distant por-

tions of the globe, including New Zealand and Japan.

In 1862 Messrs. Kidder and Adams, machinists in

the employ of the American Watch Company, be-

lieving that there was an opening for the manufac-

ture of watch repairer's tools, left the employ of that

company and commenced the manufacture of lathes

lor the trade. Their enterprise did not prove suffi-

ciently remunerative, and their business eventually

|iassed into the hands of Mr. John Stark, who has

since continued it.

Mr. Stark died in 1887, and the business is now
carried on by his sou.

In 1872 Messrs. John E. Whitcomb and George F.

Hallou, then in the employ of the American Watch
Co., left the service of that company, and commenced

the manufacture of watch-makers' lathes. They

made what has ever since been known as the " Whit-

comb " lathe, embodying in it the distinctive features

which the experience of the watch company had

found to produce the best results. In 1874 Mr. Ballou

retired from the co-partnership, and in 1876, Mr.

Ambrose Webster, who had resigned his position as

assistant superintendent ofthe American Watch Com-
]>any, joined with Mr. Whitcomb in the association

known as the American Watch Tool Company.

October 15, 1886, Mr. C. Hopkins Van Norman
I ommenced the manufacture of watch-makers' tools.

The business increased to such an extent, that in

1 889 a large wooden building was erected near Pros-

48-iii

pect Street to accommodate it. The capital stock

was increased in 1890, and the plant removed to

Springfield, Mass.

The demand for lathes and tooU made by the«e

companies extends throughout the civilized world.

The American Watch To(d Company ha.s furnished

a very considerable portion of the equipment of sev-

eral watch-factories in this country and in Europe.
In 1883, Mr. Charles Vanderwoerd, after a connec-

tion of twenty years with the American Watch Com-
pany, resigned his position of general superintendent,

and purchased the plant of some machinists who had
recently commenced the manufacture of watch-
makers' tools. A company was organized under the

name of the Waltham Watch Tool Company, for the

purpose of making watch tools and machinery. Alter

making considerable machinery for watch- factories,

the attention of the company was turned to the

manufacture of watches on its own account. A tract

of land on Charles Street w.is purchased from the

town, and a brick building, 100x25 feet, and three

stories high was erected. The original plans con-

template a structure with a central tower about forty

feet frontage with a wing each side, the part now
built being only a wing. The entire frontage of the

completed building will be 240 feet.

In the rear of the factory is a two-story wooden
building which is used as a carpenter's shop and gild-

ing-room. In June, 1885, the present name of the

corporation, " The United States Watch Company,"
was adopted in place of the former one, as express-

ing more clearly the business of the company.

The company is meeting with encouraging success

in the sale of its watches and is considering the com-
pletion of its building according to the original de-

signs.

In 1844 Mr. K. P. Davis established an iron

foundry in a building near the Moody Street crossing

of the Fitchburg Railroad. The business subsequently

passed into the hands of Frederick J. Davis, who, in

1860, erected a much larger building for it between

Felton Street and the railroad. Soon after the es-

tablishment of the business in its new location Mr.

John R. Farnum acquired an interest in it, and the

business was carried on under the name of Davis &
Farnum. The firm-name was changed in 1876 to the

Davis & Farnum Manufacturing Company, by which

name it is now known. The excellence of the work

turned out by Davis & Farnum soon so crowded them

with orders that their establishment on Felton Street

was entirely inadequate to meet their increasing busi-

ness and the tract of land near the Bleachery, now
occupied by them, was purchased and the buildings

erected in 1870. The foundry building is 250 feet

long and 125 feet wide, with three cupolas, having a

combined melting capacity of thirty-five tons per day,

running what is termed a three-hour heat. There are

also a pattern shop about 100 feet square and a sheet-

iron shop 100 feet by 50 feet, besides an office build-
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ing aud tenement-bouses. About 150 persons are era-

ployed by the company during its busy season.

The specialty of the company and the branch of

business in wliich it has won its chief distinction is

the c(iuipnient of gas plants with every detail in

machinery and apparatus. Its operations in tiiis line

have extended not only through New Enghind, but

through the West and South aud into the British

Provinces.

In ISSO Mr. Henry Richardson, whose service aa a

uiacliinist in the employ of the .\merican Watch

Tool Co. had led him to .study the subject, began to

e.xperiment in tiie manufacture of a fine grade of

emery wheels, with the design to produce a wheel

better adapted to the fine work of watch and watch-

machine makers than any at that time made. He

was successful and the following year associated with

him Mr. Henry KShuman, also a machinist. A por-

tion of the brick building, now wholly occupied by

the firm, wiis leased and the busines-s vigorously

pushed. The business was originally conducted under

the name of The Richardson Emery-Wheel Co., sub-

sequently being changed in style to The Waltham

Emery-Wheel Co., its present title. In 1883 Mr.

Harlan 1'. Ilydc became associated with the firm as

treasurer and general manager. Mr. Hyde's previous

experience of nearly twenty years in the business

made him a valu.able accession. Mr. Shuman retired

from the firm about six years ago. The business has

steadily increased, new buildings have been erected to

meet increiising demands, and instead of Messrs.

Richardson and Shuman being able to supply the

trade the labor of fifty employees is taxed to the ut-

most to that end. Even the buildings used are found

inadequate and the company has purchased an ex-

tensive tract of land near the Central Massachusetts

Railroad, where a large brick building, 250 feet long

by 40 feet wide, especially .adapted to the work is

being erected. A considerable portion of this build-

ing will be two stories high. Commodious oflices will

be arranged and separate buildings for engine and

boiler-rooms will be built.

The Waltham Gas-Light Company was incorpora-

ted in 1853. At the meeting for organization in

January, 1854, Horatio Adams, R. P. Davis, I. R.

Scott, R. S. Warren and Horatio Moore were chosen

directors, and Thomas Page clerk and treasurer.

Horatio Adams was elected president. The author-

ized capital was ^150,000, although only $35,000

worth of stock was at first issued, the works being

constructed for less than the paid-in capital. In

October 1854, gas w.as first supplied to customers, the

price being $4 per 1000 cubic feet. In 1855 the pro-

duction was 3,000,000 cubic feet. The present pro-

duction is about 25,000,000 cubic feet. The paid-in

capital has been greatly increased until it reaches

now $140,000. In 1886 an electric plant was added

to the equipment, and on the 24th of December of

that year the electric light was first used for street

and store illumination in this city. In 1890 a con-

tract was made to supply power to the Newton Street

Railroad, and as the electric plant in use by the com-
pany had been outgrown, and there was a con-

siderable demand for power for industrial pursuits,

new buildings were erected, a new engine and boiler

added and the equipment in every way largely in-

creased.

In 1889, the Judson L. Thompson Manufacturing

Company of Syracuse, N. Y., having outgrown its

facilities for manufacture in that city, and being

desirous of locating nearer the market for its goods,

which consisted of metal buckles for rubber foot-

wear and small hardware decided to locate in Wal-
tham, a tract of land at Roberts Crossing being placed

at the company's dispo.sal by the owner, William

Roberts, Esq. A brick building 400 feet by 75

feet has been erected, and the business of the com-

pany has been removed to this city.

Three shoe factories fiourished in Waltham between

the years 1855 and 1860—one owned by Bills & Jones,

located on Bacon Street, another owned by C. S.

Gay, near the corner of Bacon and Pond Streets, and

a third owned by B. F. Clough, aud situated back of

Prospect Street. The one owned by Bills & Jones

employed just i)revious to the War of the Rebellion

about 100 hands, that of BIr. Clough employed 60

persons in 1857, and the other about twenty-five. The
business was long ago abandoned and the buildings

remodeled into dwellings.

An industry which originated in Waltham, and

which, while it did not in the brief years it was lo-

cated here materially affect this municipality, has

produced most important results in the commercial

world, is the refining of kerosene oil. There seems

to be no reasonable doubt but the first successful ex-

periments in this country, if not in the world, through

which kerosene oil became a cheap and popular

illuminant, were conducted in an iron building known
for years as the " Tar " factory, erected on the north

bank of the Charles River, just east of Peterson's ice-

houses. The building was constructed in 1852 or 1853

and was built for the purpose of utilizing gas tar, the

waste of gas-houses. The early products were coal-

tar benzole, naphtha, dead oils and pitches. Quoting

from a letter written by Joshua Merrill, Esq., presi-

dent of the Downer Kerosene Oil Company, " From
the distillates were derived a variety of products such

as coup oil, used in combination with fatty oils and

castor oil. Another product, benzole, was used in

making gas by passing air through it in a machine

invented by Drake. It was a success and was largely

used until the more volatile petroleum naphthas super-

ceded it. Picric acid was another product made from

phenic acid, a product of the coal-tar distillation.

The dead oils were sold mostly to a Mr. Hiram
Hyde, who erected a plant near the factory for preserv-

ing wood by creosoting, the dead oils containing large

percentages of creosote. It was not until about 1855
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that Luther Atwood and William Atwood made kero-

sene at these works. They used a product obtained

in Canada, probably the outflow of the petroleum

wells, which were, up to this date, unknown to exist,

but they had, in some former time, llowod out oil

through the surface of the ground and it had evapor-

ated, leaving a kind of pitch. This was a true petro-

leum product and the Atwoods at once discovered its

utility for oil-making. The oil made from the Canada
petroleum surface pitch was the first burning oil

made in this country. James Young, of Glasgow,

Scotland, had made a product from coal di.stilled in

retorts as early as 1850. Young's oil was very poor,

disgusting in odor andof poor quality, while Atwood's

was white in color, sweet in smell and of excellent

burning qualities. I con.sider Luther Atwood the

father of the burning oil industry from coal and petro-

leum, and to Waltham belongs the honor of having

h.ad him for a citizen from 1852 to 185G, and the [)lant

from which the great industry subsequently devel-

oped."

The building now occupied in its greatly enlarged

form by the Parmenter Crayon Company was used

by Stratton Brothers for awhile for the manufacture

of furniture. The extent of the business carried on

by them in its most prosperous time may be judged

from the fact that in 1857 they employed thirty men,

making on an average 6260 bedsteads, 624 arm-chairs,

375G what-nots, 2496 tables, and 2600 ottomans a year.

In 1S59, however, little trace of the business was left.

An organ-factory was established in 1890 by E. W.
Lane. The business is, however, as yet in its infancy.

Other small industries might be mentioned, but the

amount of capital invested and number of hands em-

ployed make the industries important only in the

aggregate.

BIOGRAPHICAL.

JONATHAN BROWN BRIGHT.'

Jonathan Brown Bright was born in Waltham,

Mass., April 23, 1800, and died there, Dec. 17, 1879.

Mr. Bright's volume, "The Brights of Suffolk,

England," printed for private distribution in 1858,

but accessible to genealogical inquiries, closes with

Henry Bright, Jr., who came to New England in

1630, and settled in Watertown, Mass. Heury Bright,

Jr., married Anne Goldstone, who came from Suffolk,

England, in 1634. Through her be inherited the

homestead of her parents, in Watertown, east of and

adjoining the estate of the late John P. Gushing, and

opposite that of the late Alvan Adams. Here Henry

Bright, Jr., lived and died.

His son, the first Nathaniel Bright, of Watertown,

married Mary Coolidge, of the same town ; and their

son, the second Nathaniel Bright, married Ann Bow-

By the Rev. Thomas Hill, D.D., LL.D., of Portland, Me.

man, all of Watertown. The homestead of the sec-

ond Nathaniel Bright wan about three-fourtliH of a
mile west of the Goldstone place, and still renuiiuH

in the hands of his de.scendanls. The old house
upon it, taken down in 1877, was said to have been
built before 1700.

The tiiird Nathaniel Bright, son of the second,

married Sybil Stone, of Sudbury, Maiw., a descendant
of Gregory Stone. Their son, John Hriglit, of Wal-
tham, married Elizabeth Brown, of Watertown,
daughter of Captain Jonallian lirown. This John
Hright settled, in 177c!, In Waltham, where he lived

until his death, in his eighty-seventh year, in 1840.

His ten children, of whom Jonathan Brown Bright

was the youngest, were born in the house which stood

nearly where that stands in wliich the latter died, on
the main highway into Waltham, on tlierastern bank
of Ikaver Brook, the estate being divided by (trove

Street.

Elizabeth Brown, the mother of Jonathan B.

Bright, was a daughter of Jonathan Brown, of Water-

town (captain in the army at Lake George, 1758), and
Ksther Jfason, of Watertown, a descendant of Hugh
Mason. Captain Jonathan Brown wxs a son of .lona-

than Brown, of Watertown, and Elizabeth Simons,

of Lexington. This Jonathan was son of Captain

Abraham Brown, of W^atertown, and Mary Hyde, of

Newton. Captain Abraham Brown dropped the final

e, which his father, Jonathan Urowiu', and his grand-

father, .\braham Browne, had carried. -Vbraham

Browne had married Lydia , in England, and

settled in Watertown, Mass. ; and his son Jonathan

married Mary Shattuck, of that town.

The old Brown estate, an original grant to the first

Abraham, now reduced in size, is still owned by

descendants of the name. The main body of the

house was built by Captain Abrah.am Brown, but a

part is still more ancient. It stands on the roail from

Watertown village to Waltham, a little to the east of

the estate once owned by Governor Gore, afterwards

by Theodore Lyman.

The items given above may be recapitulated in the

following table, giving the pedigree of .Fonathan B.

Bright on both the father's and the mother's side.

Itonrj* Bright Jr. =— .\nne Goldstone.

Nnthaniel Hright = Mary Coolidge.

Nathaniel Bright = Ann Bowman.

Nathaniel Bright = Sybil Stone.

Jolin Hright = Elizabetli Brown.

.\hrahani Browne -= Lydia .

Jonathan Browne — Mary Shattuck.

Capt. Ahmhani Brown — Ularj Hyde.

Jonathan Brown «- KlizahetU Simonda.

t'apt. Jonathan Brown >=• Esther MaMD.
Elizabeth Brown =» John Bright.

John Bright, the father of Jonathan Brown Bright,

was a farmer and ataiiuer. Only two of the descend-

ants of Henry Bright, Jr., are known to have re-

ceived a college education—Henry, Harvard 1770, and

Nathaniel Francis, Harvard, 1866. But they have

been and are, almost without exception, men of good
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sense, with a taste for reading, and of practical,

sound judgment. Mr. John Bright'a large ftimily

made industry an essential virtue among his children
;

and his strictly religious character made him a strict

disciplinarian to enforce it. At the age of four Jonathan

B. was sent to the district school ; and during the

next ten years was taught to read, to write and to

cipher, working at home during the long vacations.

At fourteen he was sent for one quarter to Wesiford

Academy, after which he took lessons for a short

time of the Rev. Samuel Ripley, so long pastor of the

First Parish, Waltliam ; hut, having uo desire for a

collegiate education, he resumed labor on the farm

and in the tan-yard.

In 181t! he attended, one term only, Framingham

Academy. The next year, having no more taste for

tanning or farming than for study, he went, with an

older brother, to New Orleans by sea, thence up the

river to St. Louis, and became his brother's clerk in

a store. Here he remained until of age, with the ex-

ception of one season in a branch store at Franklin,

on the Missouri. As soon as he was of age he began

a retail business for himself in St. Stephens, Ala-

bama ; but the next year moved to Selma. During

the following year, 1823, of the seven men of Northern

birth in that town, four died of fever ; and the other

three, including Mr. Bright" suffered severely with

the same disease. This decided him to quit the

South. In 1824, finding no vessel at Mobile for Bos-

ton, he went to New York and sought employment.

Making an engagement with Blackstock, Merle & Co.,

cotton brokers, he paid first a brief visit, after seven

years' absence, to his home ; then returning, spent

twenty-five years in New York, first as clerk, after-

wards as partner ; the firm changed to Merle & Bright,

and then to Merle, Bright & Co.

In 1849 he returned to the homestead on Beaver

Brook, then occupied by his maiden sister Mary, with

whom also an unmarried brother John resided. Mr.

Bright built here a larger house a few feet east of the

old one ; and he and his only child, with the brother

and sister, constituted the family. Thirty-two years'

absence had not diminished his attachment to the old

place and to the companions of his childhood. They
passed aw.iy before him, but the thirty years of quiet

enjoyment which followed his retirement to the place

of his birth were made much happier by the pro-

longation of the sister's life nearly to the close of his

own.

In 1827 Mr. Bright married Miss Mary Huguenin
Garbrance ; but his happiness with her was inter-

rupted by her early death in 1830. Her only child,

a daughter, came with her father to Waltham in 1849,

and in 1861 married her cousin, William EUery
Bright.

The thirty years, from 1849 to 1879, in which Mr.
Bright lived free from active business cares, were by
no means years of idleness. With the exception of a

journey in 1859 to Nassau, Havana, New Orleans and

St. Louis, and a shorter one in 1860 to Buffalo and

Quebec, the occupation of all those years was found

in his native town, doing private kindnesses and
fostering public improvements. I remember that one

of the earliest impressions I received of him was from

the chairman of the board of assessors, who told me
that he had just had a peculiar experience : Mr.

Bright had come in, after the town had been assessed,

and said, " You have not made my tax large enough
;

add so many thousand dollars to my personal proper-

ty." It revealed the character of the man ; it was

both his integrity and his public spirit that made him
thus voluntarily assume a larger proportion of the

public expenses.

In 1856 he was put on a town committee to select

ground for a new cemetery ; drew up the report, which

was accepted, and named all the avenues in the new
grounds, Mt. Feake, after ancient Waltham families

—

a tok.en of the strong interest which he then took in

the matter of genealogy.

He furnished a good deal of valuable local history

and antiquarian lore to the Waltham Sentinel and

the Waltham Free Press, during the years 18.56-63.

He was an active promoter and leader of the Union
League of the town during the Civil War ; and before

that in the organization of a Farmers' Club, which is

atill in active operation. But the wire-pulling neces-

sary to success in carrying on matters dependent on

popular votes was so distasteful to a man of his pure,

simple and manly integrity, that, after 1858, he reso-

hitely declined to serve on any committee in town

affairs.

In 1848, just before retiring from business in New
York, Mr. Bright accidentally heard that Dr. Henry
Bond, of Philadelphia, had a genealogy of the Bright

family. Mr. Bright had a great interest in that mat-

ter, although up to that time he had had no leisure to

examine it. He immediately wrote to Dr. Bond, and

the correspondence was kept up until the latter gen-

tleman's death. Dr. Bond proved to have descended,

in one line, from Henry Bright, Jr., and was also re-

motely connected with Mr. J. B. Bright by the mar-

riagS of his grandfather to Mr. Bright's aunt. Dr.

Bond visited Mr. Bright at Waltham and spent some
weeks there, while both were much engaged in col-

lecting genealogical material. Mr. Bright afterward

employed Mr. H. G. Somerby to make researches in

England ; and in 1858 printed his valuable records of

"The Brights of Suffolk, England."

Since that volume was printed Mr. Bright has col-

lected material which would fill three more volumes

of the same size, relating to the family on this side

the Atlantic, and to other families of the same name.'

1 Mr. Bright was admitted a resident member of the New England

Historic Genealogical Society Dec. 11, 1850, and made himself a life

member March 20, 1863. He interested himself much in the society, and

was a frequent donor to its library. In 1S70 he gave five hundred dol-

lars to the Building Fund, for purchasing and fitting for the uses of the

society the building which it now occupies.
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The descendants of Henry Bright, Jr., have been

mostly farmers and mechanics, occasionally shop-

keepers, none holding other than town or parish

offices; but none dish6noring the name. The number
bearing the name is small, not exceeding, to the year

1850, one hundred and fifty ; but the descendants in

the female line have been more numerous.

By a will dated December 15, 1800, Mr. Bright be-

queathed to Harvard College fifty thousand dollars,

the income of which should be equiUly divided be-

tween the purchase of books for the college library

and the support of scholarships to which Brighls,

lineally and legitimately descended from Henry
Bright, Jr., shall have priority of claim. "I have se-

lected Harvard College," he says, " the most ancient

and venerated seat of learning in my native State, to

be the custodian of this legacy, as an expression of

my appreciation of its liberal yet conservative charac-

ter; trusting that its government will always respect

the sincere convictions of the recipients of the income

thereof." His daughter was made sole executrix,

and by a codicil her husband was added as co-exe-

cutor. They paid over the full legacy a year in

advance of the time allowed by law; so that the

college entered at once upon the enjoyment of the in-

come.

Mr. Bright's phrase " liberal yet conservative chiir-

acter," which he applies to the college, might well be

employed in describing himself. With an energy of

character which in less than thirty years lifted him
from the humblest commercial beginning to a

competence that could afford such a legacy, he com-

bined a genuine shrinking modesty which obscured his

worth from careless eyes. His energy led him to join

in aiding liberalizing movements; his modesty held

him in reserve and allowed his cool, sound judgment
to keep him in a more conservative position. His

independence was maintained by this happy self-re-

straint, which would allow him to run into neither

extreme of standing by old errors nor of rushing into

new ones.

Early in life Mr. Bright adopted views of the

Christian religion in substantial agreement with

those of Dr. Channing, and he never saw reason to

modify them in any essential degree. His warmest

virtues were kept, as it were, cool and in the back-

ground by this wise and modest caution. Hegave time,

labor and motiey to many good causes, public and pri-

vate ; and he gave with a kindly, cheerful spirit
;
yet

BO unostentatiously and so wisely that men's attention

was more taken up with the results of the actiou, thau

with the action itself. In private, personal kindnesses

he exercised a great delicacy ; so that, in some cases,

the recipient of a needed help received regular peri-

odical donations of a fixed sum, and endeavored for

some time in vain to know from whom, or through

what channel, they came ; in other cases the recipi-

ent thought of the gifts as tokens of friendship,

rather than any pecuniary aid.

WILLIAM E. BRIOnr.

William Ellery Bright was born in Mobile, Ala.,

September 2G, 1S31, and dii'd at Waltham, Milss.,

March 12, 1882. His father was Henry Bright, who
was born in Waltham, August 31, I'y.S. lliK mother
was Abigail Fiske, who was born November 3, 1794.

His earliest American ancestor upon hi» father'8 sido

was Henry Bright, born in the county of Suirollc,

England, in 1G02, and coming to this country in 1030
with the company that settled at Watcrlown, Mann.
The subject of this sketch was of the sovuiitli genera-
tion from this founder, and the order of his unci-itry

was aa follows, viz.

:

Henry', John^
Nathaniel', Henry",

Nathaniel', Henry'.

Nathaniel*,

On the maternal side he was also of the seventh

American generation. The succession was as follows :

John', Jacob',

William', Abigail',

Thomas', Henry'.

Jonathan',

Mr. Bright received a good early education at pri-

vate schools in New England, and was for many years

a member of the well-known firm of Torrey, Bright &
Capen, one of the leading carpet stores of Boston.

In 1861, February 28th, he was united in marriage

with Miss Elizabeth G. Bright, daughter of Jonathan
Brown Bright, of Waltham. From this union are

three children,—a son, bearing his father's name,
and two daughters, who, with their mother, survive.

A correspondent of the Boston Transcript, who
writes after a long and intimate acquaintance with

the deceased, says of him :
" He was a man of excel-

lent business faculty, with a calm, clear and capacious

head, a soul of the highest rectitude and honor, and
a heart framed of generosity and kindness. In 1875

the good people of Waltham elected him to the Gen-
eral Court, and urged him to be a candidate again the

next year, but the pressure of hia business obliged

him to decline. For the same cause he declined

various other local offices which he wiis, from time to

time, solicited to undertake. A continuous residence

of some thirty years in that town had made him well

known; his steadfast integrity and his approved in-

telligence and liberality had gained him unbounded
confidence; while the warm heart and open hand
which he carried to works of piety and charity, his

uniform suavity of manner and his good judgment
and frank co-operation in matters of public interest

iu town and church, endeared him to the hearts of

all who knew him."

JOHN ROBERTS.

Mr. John Roberts the subject of this sketch, was

born in Boston in 1802. At the age of fourteen he
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left school and went to work in a shop for wagon-

building, where he remained until he was twenty-one.

At that time he established himself in Watertown in

the same "business iind continued there until 1835.

Previous to this time there had been a small paper-

mill on Stony Brook, in the southwest part of Wal-

tham, near the confluence with Charles River. In

1835 Mr. Roberts, with his brother Stephen, who had

had practical experience in paper-making, purchased

this mill and entered into the business of paper man-

ufacture. In a few years he bought out his brother

and thereafter conducted the business alone until the

last part of his life, when his son was associated with

him. The firm-name of John Roberts & Son is one

of the oldest and best known in the paper manufac-

turing trade. Mr. Roberts put all his energy, indus-

try and leading qualities into his new business, and

established the basis of an honorable and successful

career, with the competence that follows good judg-

ment and thrifty management. Being naturally of an

inventive mind, he introduced many improvements

of his own into machinery and the process of manu-

facturing. Among his inventions was a machine for

tarring sheathing-paper used for building purposes.

Previously this paper had been dipped by hand. Mr.

Roberts' invention gave him a specialty in this kind

of paper and established a high grade of standard

article in tarred paper. He also manufactured the

first fine grade hardware papers in this country,

which are now so extensively used. In all improve-

ments in machinery and methods his foresight and

practical knowledge guided him to get the best. He
was one of the earliest manufacturers in the United

States to introduce the celebrated Fourdrinier machine

into the manufacture of paper, a machine which, in

its many modifications, is universally in operation in

paper manufacture. The picturesque mill of stone,

covered by a luxuriant growth of woodbine, sur-

rounded by the beauties of nature and the evidences

of thrift and prosperity, stands upon the original site

and continues in successful operation under his son,

William Roberts.

Mr. Roberts was a man of great firmness and force

of character, of the strictest integrity and high busi-

ness principles. Beneath the practical exterior of

his nature he had a warm and generous heart which

quickened in the desire to assist others who were

worthy and in trouble. In a quiet and unostentatious

way he materially helped many a young man in his

business who was struggling with adverse circum-

stances and who, he thought, was honest and capable,

and needed only pecuniary aid in order to be estab-

lished on a good business foundation. His generosity

though well known, was bestowed with little display.

He was especially interested in the laying out and
adornment of Mount Feake Cemetery, where, by the

banks of the river on which he had lived and passed

the greater portion of his life, his body now reposes.

He died in 1871, at the age of sixty-nine years. As

a public-spirited citizen, most patriotic when the

country was in danger, he took an active part in

whatever related to the welfare of the community.

JONAS W. I'ARMENTER.

Mr. Jonas Willis Parmenter was a man of good,

country-bred New England stock, who rose to

prominence in local business matters and to afflu-

ence by untiring industry, shrewdness and integ-

rity. Born in 1817, in the town of Sudbury,

where the family name has been prominent since

the days of early settlement, he came to Wal-

tham in early manhood, aud was, until the time of

his death, actively engaged in pursuits identified

with the interests of his adopted home. He com-

menced with no capital but a clear head and willing

hands, and worked up through the hard discipline

and experience of the man dependent entirely upon

him.self. He was at first employed in the Bleachery

in an humble capacity, and afterwards started a small

trade on Main Street. About 1850 he engaged in the

coal business, and carried on that business success-

fully until failing health obliged him to retire. From
small beginnings, with good business ability, zealous

attention to the conduct of his affairs and unim-

peachable credit, he built up a trade that steadily

increased in amount and prosperity with the growth

of the town. With this business as a foundation he

amassed a handsome property acquired by trade and

fortunate investments. Although his regular busi-

ness was local, in his investments his operations took

a broader range. His judgment in this respect was

quite marked for the unerring sagacity displayed.

Mr. Parmenter was endowed by nature with a large

share of common sense, with good judgment and large

perceptive faculties. When he decided fully on a given

question or course of action subsequent events almost

invariably proved him to be right. His long service

with the Waltham Savings Bank, as one of the trust-

ees, and with the National Bank, as director, brought

him in connection with many people seeking loans,

and to them he gave the same attention as to his own
immediate business. He never allowed his personal

bias to influence him in accepting or rejecting an ap-

plication for a loan, but guided his decisions entirely

by the value and character of the security offered.

In financial matters he was of excellent judgment

and wise, natural foresight. By his connection with

the Waltham Improvement Company, which was

soon merged into the American Watch Company, he

early became interested in the latter, being its firm

friend when friends were not as plenty as in these

days of its great prosperity.

He was a reserved man and of few words, but of

warm feelings in all the domestic relations of life. In

the home circle, where he was best known, he was

revered for his qualities of mind and heart. He had

strong convictions and never concealed them but by
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his natural reserve. He never sought, public oflice,

though he served occa-sionally in some capacity of

trust. The last office he held was that of Water
Commissioner. He was an officer of many corpora-

tions, and at the time of his death was a direc-

tor in the Waltham National Rank, Newton and

Watertown Gas- Light Coinpany, Waltliani Gius-Light

Company, Bay .State Brick Company, and a trustee

and member of the Investment Committee of the

Waltliam Savings Bank. In all positions which he

held he performed his duties with unfaltering trust.

The later years of his life, until his death, in 1880,

were passed amid much pain and severe suffering,

which he bore with great courage and patience.

FRANCIS BUTTRICK.

Mr. Francis Buttrick has been prominently identi-

fied with the business interests of Wahhara for up-

wards of a half-rentury. In the real estate operations

incident to a growing New England town, and in the

nsvuership of houses and other buildings which are so

intimately connected with the welfare of the people

and the prosperity of the place, he has been one of

the leading men. He is now by far the largest real

estate owner in the city. He has grown u]) with the

material development of Waltham, and is still active

in whatever pertains to the management of his prop-

erty. Mr. Buttrick was born in Pepperell, Mass., in

1814, and removed with his family to Concord in 1828.

Here, after receiving a limited education at the public

schools, he learned the trade of house carpenter with

his father. Working in that and the surrounding

towns as a journeyman, became to Waltham in 183S,

where he continued the same occupation. In 1844

be commenced business on his own account as builder

and employer. In 1857 he bought a lumber-yard,

[ilaning and saw-mill and box manufactory, and

entered into quite extensive operations in that line of

business, giving up his occupation as a carpenter.

He had lately retired from active participation in his

lumber business, which is now organized as the But-

trick Lumber Company.

Through his business as carpenter and builder, be

became interested in real estate, mostly of improved

character, with buildings devoted to the wants of a

manufacturing and laboring community. From small

beginnings in this way he has, by good judgment and

sagacity, fair dealing and .attentioTi to his affairs, ac-

quired a possession of real estate, varied and valuable,

in different parts of the city. As a landlord and

party in interest in property held by others, Mr. But-

trick has always been kind-hearted and disposed to

assist those who were inclined to assist themselves.

He has helped many to preserve their homes, when
under a more exacting man they might not have been

able to keep them. As a citizen, he has always taken

an interest in the affairs of the town and city, and con-

tributed his advice and support to all matters, public

and private, atl'ecting the welfare of the community.
In material aid to the many objecU cunsUmtly pre-

senting themselveH for individual iiKslstanco, ho \im
bestowed his benefactiona willingly and liberally.

Mr. Buttrick has been for many years a diri'cl4ir in

the Waltham Nalioiuil Bank, in president of Iho

Waltham Music Hall Cumpany, and a dirirtor in tho

New Kngland NortlnveHtt-rn Inveatment Company.
He was one of the original promotors and incorpora-

tors of the Waltham Co-operative Bank, and for iiev-

eral years has been its president. This inHtltution

has been most successful and praiseworthy in ito

practical operation in encouriuring men to Invott

their earnings to the best advantage in their own local-

ity, and to build for themselves homes. .Mr. Buttrick

has ever taken a deej) interest in this institution, and

has given it from the first, the benefit of his active

efforts and good judgment.

He was a selectman of the town for several years,

and was a member of the la>:t Board of Selectmen,

when the town government was changed to a city

form of government.

Mr. Buttrick is a man unassuming in life ami man-
ner, bears the burdens of business eiusily and quietly.

Genial and hospitable in social life, always on thesido

of good government and sound policy in public allairs,

local and general, conservative and level-headed in

bu.sincss mattere, he commands the respect of his

townspeople, and the confidence of all who know him.

In 1849 he was married to Miss Augusta M. Far-

well. He has no children.

CHAPTER LIII.

SOJfEBVILLE.

BY WILLIAM T. UAVIS.

In writing a history of Soraerville, as a contribu-

tion to a history of Middlesex County, in which the

histories of all its towns are included, the writer

thinks it will be superfluous to record the incidents

in its career before its incorj)oration, and while it was

contained within the bounds of Ciiarlestown, from

which it was separated in 1842. The histories of

Maiden and of the county of Jliddlesex, to be found

in these volumes, cover enough of the ground prior

to the incorporation of Somerville, and render any

further allusion to it unnecessary.

In 1841 the people liv-ng in the westerly part of

Charlestown, becoming dissatisfied with the burdens

of taxation, unrelieved by corresponding benefits,

held a meeting on the 22d of November in that year,

at the Prospect Hill School-house, to discuss the

question of a division of the town. At that meeting

Joseph Miller prcsiilcd, and Edwin Miinroe, Jr.,

acted as secretary. A committee of seven, consisting

of Francis Bowman, Asa Pri'xhard, Edward Cutter,
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RobertG. Tenney, Benjamin Iladley, John S. Edgerly

and John Tapley, waa chosen to obtain the views of

the people on the question and report at an adjourned

meeting. At the adjourned meeting, held on the 29lh

of November, a committee of six, consisting of Fran-

cis Bowman, John S. Edgerly, Clark Bennett, James

Hill, Jr., Oliver Tufts and S. S. Runey, was chosen to

investigate and report on town afl'airs generally, and

more particularly on the taxes paid by their section

of the town.

On the 3d of December the committee reported that

in 1840 the assessed tax of the town was $34,093.76

of which the sum of $5,687.78 was assessed on the in-

habitants and property above the bridge, over the

Middlesex Canal. An analysis of this tax showed

that the portion of it paid by inhabitants on property

in that section was $4,378.30, while the sum of

$1,068.28 was assessed on non-residents, $110.24 on

residents for property below the bridge, and $130.20

on the Tufts Miles tan-yard. They also reported that

in May, 1840, the population of that section wa.s 1519,

the number of families 224 and the number of polls

437. They reported that in 1841 the number of polls

was 527, and the assessed tax of the whole town $57,-

522.98, of which the sum of $9,416.20 was paid by the

inhabitants and property of that section, divided as

follows: $7,221.34 by the inhabitants on property

within the section, $1,821.83 on non-residents, $166.03

on residents for property below the bridge, and $217

on the Tan-yard Wharf.

It was determined at this meeting to make an effort

to secure an act of incorporation for a new town, and

a committee of nine, consisting of Charles E. Oilman,

Hiram Allen, Edwin Munroe, Jr., Caleb W. Leland,

John C. Magouu, Oliver Tufts, Charles Miller, Samuel

Thompson and Robert G. Tenney, was chosen to se-

cure the signatures of persons favorable to a division.

It seemed necessary to make efforts to this end greater

than the result proved were necessary. An attempt

to obtain an act of incorporation had been made in

1828, and had failed. A petition was sent to the

Legislature at that time to be incorporated as the

town of Warren, and the petitioners had been given

leave to withdraw. It was now, therefore, deter-

mined to proceed with energy and with care, and to

secure such evidence as would satisfy legislators that

the best interests of all concerned demanded a divi-

sion. The above committee was instructed to use

all honorable means to secure an act of incorporation

and to employ counsel. The committee organized by

the choice of Charles E. Oilman as chairman and

Edwin Munroe, Jr., as secretary. Ephraim Buttritk

was retained as counsel, and after some discussion

the name of Walford was selected for the proposed

new tow n , in honor of the first white settler of Charles-

town. At a later meeting, however, that name was

abandoned, and the name of Somerville, having no

special significance, was substituted.

At the session of the General Court held in 1842,

the following petition, signed by Guy C. Hawkins
and many others, was presented, which was opposed

by many citizens in the main part of the town, by the

inhabitants immediately outside of Charlestown Neck
by some of the people in the upper part of the section,

asking for the division :

"To Uie Honorable SataU and Houae of HejMesefilalivea o/ Uie Common-

wealth of MauachtueUe, in General Court aasembUd

:

*' KfBpoctfuHy represent the undernigned tliiit tbey are citizi^na of

CbarleHlowu, in tlie Couiinoiiweulth of MaasachuBetU aforesaid, and

resident in that part of »iid town lyin^ westerly and nortliweeterly of

thetjridge near the Middlesex Canal at the Neck, so-called, and the high-

way leading thence to Maiden Bridge and houmled by Mystic Kiver on

the northeast and north, and by the town of Cambridge and Weet Cum.
bridge in the south and southwest—that the part of Charlestown embraced

within the limits aforesaid contain an area of about four square miles and

a population exceeding fifteen hundred inhabitants tliereof, and that the

interesta, convenience and just rights of the inhabitants require that the

territory included within said limits shall be set off from the town of

Charlestown and incorporated into a separate town.

"Wherefore your petitioners pray the Honorable Legislature that the

territory aforesaid, with the iuhabitanttj thereof, may be set off and in.

corporated into a separate town by the name of Somerville, and aa in

duty bou[id will ever pray."

The following petition, in aid of that of Mr.

Hawkins and others, was signed and presented to the

Legislature by persons presumably residing in Charles-

town, outside the dissatisfied district:

" To the Uotiorable Senate and House of Representatives of the Common'
wealth of 3Ia6sach»Belts in General Court assembled:

" Humbly show the undersigned citizens of said Commonwealth that

they are severally the owners and proprietors of real estate, although they

do not now reside thereon, but elsewhere situated in that part of Charles-

town, in the Commonwealth of Massachusetts, being Westerlj- and South-

westerly of the bridge over the Middlesex Canal at Charlestown Neck,

so-called, that the interests and just rights of your memorialists require

that the part of Charlestown being Westerly and Southwesterly of said

bridge should be incorporated into a separate and distinct town.
'* Wherefor your petitioners pray that the prayer of Guy C. Haw-

kins and others, now pending before your Honorable bodies for the in-

corporation of that part of Charlestown into a new town by the name
of Somerville, may be granted and in duty bound will ever pray."

Dr. E. C. Booth, in an intere.sting sketch of Somer-

ville, says that " when the matter came before the Leg-

islature, toward the close of the session, it was found

that the act could not be secured w^ith the boundaries

as they were designated in the petition. The Rev.

J. D. Oreen, member from Cambridge, a moment
before the vote was to be put, declared nothing could

be efl'ected at the present session unless the line was

drawn outside the neck as it now exists, and a narrow

strip in the northerly part of the town extending

near to Mystic Pond was ceded to Cambridge. Oniy

two of the committee of the petitioners were present;

but Mr. Hawkins declared he would assume the re-

sponsibility of the concession, and the act thus

modified passed the Legislature and was approved by

the Governor March 3, 1842." The act as is follows :

" Be it enacted by the Senate and House of Representatives, in Gen-

eral Court assembled, and by authority of the same, as follows :

"Sect. 1. The westerly part of the town of Charlestown, in the

County of Middlesex, bounded and described a^ follows, viz.: beginning

at the southerly corner of Widow Stearns' lot, near the town ledge, and

running north seventy degrees east four hundred and four feet ; thence

north thirty-five and a quarter degrees east of Mystic River ; thence

along the Mystic River to the line of the town of Medford ; thence
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aloUR the Meilford line tu Alewivo Brook ; tbeuce uloDg tlio brook to thti

lino of the town of Ciitiibrldge ; thence along the Oftiubrlilge line to the

junction of Millor'a llivor with Charles River; thence ftloiig the weeterly

side of Charles River to ttio westerly corner of the Mill dam ; thence

along the sontli westerly side of the Milt Pond to a point where a line north

by the nmgnotic needle, will strike the point of beginning, is hereby incor-

porated into a town by the name of Somerritlo ; and the inhabitanta of

the town of Sonierville are hereby invested with all the powers and

privileges, and shall be subject to the duties and requisitions of other iu-

corpomte towns according to the constitution and laws of this Coniniou-

wealth.

"Seot. 2. The Inhabitants of said town of Somerville Bhall be hoblen

to pay all arreai-s of bixos which have been assessed upon them by the

town of (?harlestown, before the paasing of this act, and also their pro-

portion of ail county and State taxes that may bo assessed upon thelu

previously to the taking uf the next State valuation, said proportion to

be ascertained and determined by the last town valuation ; and the

said town of Somerville shall be bolden to pay their proportion of the

debts due and owing at the time of the passage of this act from the

town of Charlestowu, aiul be entitled to receive of the town of Charles-

town their proportion of all the corporate property now owned by said

last mentioned town, such i)roportion to be ascertained and determined

by the last valuation of said Charlestown.

** Sect. 3. The said towns of Churlestown and Somerville shall be

respectively liable fur the support of all pereous who now do or here-

after shall stand in need of relief as paupers, whose settlement was

gained or derived from a settleiueut gained or derived within their re

spective limits.

"Sect. 4. Until the next apportionment of representatives to the

General Court, the town of Somerville .shall be entitled to one represen-

tative in the General Court and the town of Charlestown shall be enti-

tled to four representatives.

"Sect. 5. In case said towns shall disagree in respect to a division of

paupers, town property, town debts or State and county taxes, the Court

of Common Plena for the County of Middlesex are hereby authorized to

and shall, on application of either town, ai)point three disinterested per-

sons to bear the parties and award thereon ; which award, when ac-

cepted by the Court, shall be final.

"8ect. 6. Any justice of the peace in the County of Middlesex is

hereby authorized to issue bis warrant to any principal inhabitant of the

town of Somerville, requiring him to warn the inhabitants of said town

to meet, at the time and place therein appointed, for the purpose of

choosing all such town officers as towns are, by law, authorized and re-

quired to choose at their annual meetings.

"This act shall be in force from and after Its paasage."

On the 30th of April, 1856, an act was passed alter-

ing and defining the boundary line between Somer-

ville and Cambridge, which provided that

" The dividing line between these towns should hereafter be as fol-

lows ; beginning on Milk Row (so-called) at a point being 20 ft. 8

inches distant from the point on Milk Row where the land of Anna
Hunnewell is divided from the land of Benjamin Rand, and thence run-

ning in a northeasterly direction along the boundary line of said estates,

there measuring from Milk Row 222 ft. 4 inches, thence turning at a

right angle and running northwesterly along the west side of a

until it strikes Cottage street (so called), there measuring 2!16 ft. 6 inch-

es, then turning and running along the southerly side of said Cottage

street in a direction north of west until it reaches Elm street (so called),

there measuring 308 ft. until it intersects on the westerly side of Elm
street the line before established between the said towns."

The territory of the new town was four square

miles in extent and contained 2700 acres. Within

this territory were the several hills called Quarry

Hill, Ploughed Hill, Winter Hill, Prospect Hill and

Cobble Hill, and Ten Hills Farm, which, consisting of

600 acres, lay on the banks of Mystic River and was

granted to John Winthrop, September 6, 1630. On
this farm Winthrop built a house which he probably

occupied during a portion of the year. The first ves-

sel built in New England was built by Winthrop

on this farm called " Blessing of the Bay," and
'

launched about July 4, 1631. Id 1677 it paused out
of the hands of the Winthrop family and in 1740 wu
bought by Robert Temple and from him acqiiiri'd the
name of Temple's Karm, by which it wim kimwn in

later days. In still later ycarH it liiix been owned by
Eliaa lla.sket Derby and leased to .Samuel jHC(|UeM, in

whose hands it became famous for the tliorougli and
successful manner in which it was conducted.

On Quarry Hill the old powder-house stood, In

which powder was stored at the beginning of the

Revolution. On the Isl of September, 1774, (ien-

eral Gage sent MeulenaiitColonel iMadison with L'U".

men in thirteen boats up the .Mystic, who croiwed Win-
ter Hill, and, seizing the powder, conveyed it to Castle

William. Forts and redoubta were built on the other
hills in 1775 and on the 18lh of July in that year, on
Prospect Hill, General Israel Putnam unfurled a (lag

bearing on one side the inscription, " An ap|>eal to

Heaven,'' and on the other, three vines, the armorial

bearing of Connecticut and the motto of the State.

On the Ist of January, 1776, with a salute of thir-

teen guns, a Union flag with thirteen stripes wa.s on
this hill ilung to the breeze. In 1777, Burgoyne and
his soldiers were encamped as prisoners on Prospect •

and Winter Hills under a guard commanded by Gen-
eral Nathaniel Goodwin of Plymouth. On Cobble
Hill, the McLean Insane Asylum, a branch, as it

may perhaps be called, of the Massachusetts General

Hospital in Boston, was built and opened in 1818.

This hospital stands on the grounds once Occupied by

the residence of Joseph Barrell and received its name
from John McLean, who gave to the institution about

SI 15,000. It has received numerous other gifts, among
which may be mentioned those of Samuel Eliot, in

1819, of $10,000; of Joseph Lee, in 1830, of $20,000,

and of Mary Belknap, in 1832, of $88,602, the residuary

amount of her estate. The different superintendents

of the institution up to the present time have been Dr.

Rufns Wyman, a native of Woburn, appointed March
23, 1818, Dr. Phineas G. Lee, a native of New Britain,

Conn., appointed in 1832 ; Dr. Lutlier V. Bell, a na-

tive of Francestown, N. H., appointed in 1866 ; Dr.

Chauncy Booth, a native of Coventry, Conn., ap-

pointed in 1856 ; Dr. John E. Tyler, a native of Bos-

ton, appointed in 1858; Dr. George F. Jelly, a na-

tive of Salem, appointed in 1871, and Dr. Cowles,

the present superintendent. On Cobble Hill a fortifi-

cation planned by Putnam and Knox was begun

November 22, 1775, which was a part of the works

encircling Boston and afterwards forcing its evacua-

tion by the British forces in 1776.

On Ploughed Hill the Ursuline Convent was built

which was destroyed by a mob in 1834. It wiib

first established in Boston and removed to Somerville

in 1826. On Central Hill, as it is now called, but

really one of the eminences of Prospect Hill and con-

nected in the early part of the Revolution with the

other eminences by a rampart, are located the City

Hall of Somerville, the Public Library and High
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School building. There are few localities in Massa-

chusetU from which so comprehensive and interest-

ing a view of the surrounding country may be had,

and it redeems the city from the monotonous expres-

sion which the generally flat character of the terri-

tory would otherwise give to it.

On Winter Hill separated from Prospect or Cen-

tral Hill by a valley which forms a considerable por-

tion of the main part of the town, the most extensive

fortilications of 1775 were built. They were begun

by Stark on the 18th of June, and when finished they

were oecujiied by General Sullivan with troops from

New Hampshire.

At the time of the incorporation of the town it.s

valuation was 1988,513, and its population 1013.

It had one grammar-school, five primary schools, no

meeting-house, less than two hundred houses, no

stores, one factory and one old tub fire-engine. It

had been simply an outlying suburb of Uharlestown,

its people maintaining themselves by the products of

their milk and vegetable farm.s. The factory referred

to was the Milk Row Bleaching Company which was

incorporated April 18, 1888, with a capital of $.50,000,

for the purpose of bleaching calendering, printing,

dyeing and finishing silk, cotton and linen yarns.

This company wa.s authorized, April 17, 1848, to in-

crease its capital to $100,000 and to change its name
to " The Somerville Dyeing and Bleaching Com-
pany."

There had been enterprises established within the

territory forming the new town, however, which had

brought its people into closer contact with the busi-

ness world, and had doubtless excited a feeling of un-

rest in the quiet life they had pursued. The Middle-

sex Canal had been chartered in 1793 and opened in

1803 from Charles River to the Merrimack. In 1804

the Medford turnpike was opened, and in 1835, about

the time that other important avenues of travel were

constructed, the Lowell Railroad was opened. The
final incorporation of the town was one of those steps

in the process of evolution which when taken seem

almost matters of accident, but which are really con-

summated in obedience to inexorable law.

In compliance with the act of incorporation, a

warrant issued by Ephraim Buttrick of East Cam-
bridge, justice of the peace, directed to Charle.f

Edward Oilman, dated March 5, 1842, requiring him
to call a town-meeting at two o'clock in the afternoon

of March 15th, for the organization of the town at

the Prospect Hill School-house. At a meeting of

citizens held March 10th, of which Columbus Tyler

was chairman, and Nathan Tufts, Jr., secretary, a

committee of three was chosen to nominate a commit-

tee of nine to nominate a list of town officers. The
committee of three was composed of Guy C. Haw-
kins, Charles Adams and James Hall, Jr., who nomi-

nated forthe committee of nine : O. N. Towne, Wm.
A. Tufts, W. A. Russell, Jr., Joseph Miller, Charles

Miller, John Runey, Robert Vinal, Hiram Hackett

and Wm. Bonner. At the town-meeting held on the

14th of March, Francis Bowman was chosen modera-

tor and Charles E. Oilman, clerk. Edward Tulls was

chosen treasurer and collector, and Nathan Tufts,

John S. Edgerly, Caleb Leland, Luther Mitchell and
Levi Russell, selectmen. The School Committee
were James Hill, Henry Adams, Levi Russell and
Alfred Allen; the Assessors, Guy C. Hawkins, John
C. Magoun and Oliver Tufts ; Assistant Assessors.

Nathan Tufts, John Runey and Charles Adams

;

Overseers of the Poor, Isaac S. Spring, Charles Adams
and Robert G. Tenney; Board of Health, Hiram
Allen, Robert G. Tenney and P. W. Hayes ; Constables,

Robert Sanborn and Benjamin Fiske; Field-Drivers,

Robert Sanborn and Asa Tufta; Fence-Viewers, Wm.
Bonner and Wm. A. Tufts ; Tythingmen, Wm. Bonner
and Moses Griflin ; Finance Committee, Robert

Vinal, Wm. Munroe and Luther Mitchell. The
selectmen were made surveyors of highways.

At an adjourned meeting held on the 4th of April,

$1800 was appropriated for schools; $2000 for high-

ways ; $450 for county tax ; $200 for the poor, and $300

for contingencies. At the same meeting Wm. A. Rus-

sell, JesseSimp.son and Robert Sanborn were chosen a

committee on fisheries, and Hiram Allen, Levi Rus-

sell, T. Frost, Robert G. Tenney and Charles Adams,
fire-wards; John S. Edgerly wa.s added to the School

Committee; and Francis Bowman was chosen to fill

the place of Levi Russell on the Board of Selectmen,

who had declined.

The following persons were subsequently chosen

selectmen in the year set against their names up to

1871, the year of the incorporation of Somerville as

a city

:

1843, Fraucie Bowman, Luther Blitchell, Caleb W. Leland, John S
Edgerly and O. N. Towne.

1844, Lutber Mitchell, Caleb W. Leland, John S. Edgerly, James Hill,

Jr., 0. N. Towne and Benjamin Hadley.

1845, Francis Bowman, Benjamin Hadley, George 0. Braatow, Joeeph

Clark and Silaa Kingsley.

1846, Ben.jamio Hadley, Joseph Clark, Silas Kingsley, Edward Cut-

ter and Isaac S. Spring.

1847, Isaac S. Spring, Benjamin Hadley, Edward Cutter, Joseph

Clark and Gardner T. Ring.

1848, Abram Welsh, John S. Edgerly, Thomas J. Leland, Gardner T.

Ring and Charles Dliller.

1849, John S. Edgerly, Thomas T. Leland, Charles Miller, Abram
Welsh and Gardner T. Ring.

1860, John S. Edgerly, Charles Miller, Thomaa T. Leland, Chester

Guild and James Hill.

1851, John S, Edgerly, Thomas T. Leland, Charles Miller, Chester

Guild and John Runey.

1852, John S. Edgerly. Thomas T. Leland, Charles Miller, Nathan

Tufts, Jr., and John Runey.

1853, John S. Edgerly, John Runey, Nathan Tufts, Jr., James M.
Shute and Joseph Clark.

1854, John S. Edgerly, John Runey, James M. Shute, Joseph Clark

and John K. Hall.

1855, John K. H.all, James M. Shute, C. C. Walden, Benjamin Wood-
ward and Bonjaniin Randall.

1856, James M. Shute, C. C. Walden, John C. Tenney, John S. Edger-

ly and N. C. Hawkins.

1857, James M. Shute, John S. Edgerly, Samuel Uamblin, Betgamin

Randall and John C. Tenney.

1868, James M. Shute, John C. Tenney, Benjamin Randall, Mark
Fiske and Samuel Hamblin.
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I860, James M. Shuto, John C. Teimoy, Bmijaniln Ruudull, Mark
Fiske mid John S. Ware.

18G0, Beujainin Randall, Mark Fiske, Albert Konnemm, lieury A.

Snow and Thoniiu C.'uuDJngliam.

ISGl, Itol^annu ICundall, lU-nry A. Snow, Thuniiui Cunniiigliani, Al-

bert Kenneduii and Chark-.t II. Guild.

1862, Bei^aniin Uandall, Ilunry .V. .Snow, Thomas Cunningtiani, Al-

bert iveuneMoii anil Charles 11. (>uild.

18G3, Henry A. Snow, Thomas Ouunlngliam, S. C. Wbitohou, Levi

Tomson and John R. Poor.

ISOt, JobuU. Poor, Levi Tonison, Francis llougbtou. Nelson Howe
and George W. Hadloy.

18G.'i, Nelson Howe, Levi Tomson, George W. Hadley, John K. Poor

and Francis llonghtun.

ISf.r., John It. Poor, Nelson Howe, Francis HoughtoD, George W.
Hadley and Silas H. Holland.

l.sr,7, Francis Houghton, George W. Hadley, Silas H. Holland, George

O. Itrastow and Jacob T. Glines.

IsltS, Francis Houghton, Silas H. Holland, Jacob T. Glines, Charle*

S. Lincoln and John A. Paine.

1869, Francis Houghton, Sihis H. Holland, Jacob T. Glines, John .\.

Paine, Charles S. Lincoln, Horace Haskins, John G. Hall, Austin liel-

kmi|) and Robert A. Vinal.

1S70, John G. Hall, Horace Uaskins, Austin Belknap, Jr., Cyrus S.

Crosby, Jacob T. Glines, Robert A. Vinal, Francis Houghton, Charles S.

Lincoln and Nelson Howe.

ISTl, Austin Belknap, Charles S. Lincoln, John G. Hall, Robert A.

Vinal, Honice Uaskins, Cyrus T. Crosby, Person Davis, Jacob T. Glines

and Francis Ilonghtou.

The following persons have represented Somerville

in the General Court from the date of its incorpora-

tion in 1843 to the present time :

land1843—Caleb W. Li

1844—None

1845—Caleb \V. Leiand

1846—None

1847—None

1848—None

1849—George 0. Brastow

1850—Same

1 851—Same
1862—Edward C. Purdy

186S—None

1854—Chester Guild

1855—James M. Shute

1856—Isaac Story

1857—John S. Edgcrly

1858—EoUin W. Keyes

1869—Isaac F. Shepard

1860—Asa Fisk

1861—Columbus Tyler

1862-George 0. Bnistow

1863—Chester Guild

1864—Charles Powers

1865—Robert \. Vinal

1866—Frederick R. Kinsley

In 1867 Somerville and Maiden constituted the

Fourth Representative District of Middlesex County

and were represented as follows:

1867—James Pierce, Maiden

David M. Bean, Maiden

John A. Hughes, Somerville

1868—John Runey, Somerville

John X. Hughes, Somerville

George P. Cox, Maiden

1869—George P. Cox, Maiden

John Runey, Somerville

Chester H. Guild, Somerville

1870—S. Z. Bowman, Somerville

George P. Cox, Maiden

Joseph M. Russell, Maiden

1871—S. Z. Bowman, Somerville

Chester U. Guild, Somerville

Joseph M. Ruasell, Slalden

1872—John H. Abbott, Maiden

Charles Taylor, Somerville

Samuel A. Carlton, Somerville

In 1873 Somerville, Everett and Maiden constituted

the Fourth Representative District in Sliddlesex

County and were represented as follows :

1873—Quincy A. Vinal, Somerville

Alonzo H. Evans, Everett

John H. Abbott, Maiden

1874—K. C. Sleeper, Maiden

Horace Haakins, Somerville

J. A. Cummings, Somerville

1875—S. Z. Bowman, Somerville

J. A. Cummings, Somerville

James Pierce, Maiden

187C—Theodore N. Foque, Maiden

Charles G. Pope, Somerville

Alonzo H. Evans, Everett

In 1877 the First Ward of Somerville constituted

the Fourth Representative District of Middlesex

County, the Second Ward the Fifth District, the

Third and Fourth Wards the Sixth District, and these

districts were represented as follows ;

I...(r.,(. iHMlricL

1877-Cbarlo« 0. Popo . . . . 4Ui 18«2—CIiuIm 11. Guild . . . «|U
Tluimas ('unulugluim . fitli Quincy A. Vinal . . . . ftili

Enoch K. BIon»' . . . . OlU Edward Ultuiu (Kb
1878— Richard il NIckerwn . 4Ui 188:1—KlU»li 0. Clark . . . . «th

Tholunii Cunulughaiu . 5lh Cliark* H. Lincoln . . 6lli

Jacob T. Gllni-a .... 6lh Klwarl Ullne* . . . . fltli

187U—Richard E. Nlckemou . 4lh 1884— Elijah c. Clark .... 4lh

James Long 5tll John M. Woods. . . .Mb
Jacob T. Glines .... Ulli JoMph M, llollejr . . . ulh

1880—John Haskell lluller . . lib 1884— Levi T. 8. DmvU ... . 4Ul

Robert h. Spear .... .'>th Wni. H. riyaa .... Mb
Person Davis 0th JoMpb M. Italley . . . lilli

1881—John Haskell Butler . . 4lh 1886— Uvi T. 8. I>«vl» . . . . 41li

Quincy A. Vinal .... 6th Wm. II. Flynn .... Mli

Person Davis CUl Samuel C. Darllog ... Mb

In 1887 the same wards constituted the Fifth, Sixth
and Seventh Districts:

Diilricl. Dutrld.

1887—Samuel Culler 5th 1889—Joshua U. Davis . . . .51b
James T. Darlln .... Otb Francis H. llayniuud . iMi

Samuel C. Darling . . .7th Irving L. Hu««.ll . . .Tib
1888—Samuel C. Darling . . 6lb 1890—.kishna II Davis . . . ,-,lb

Francis H. Raymond . Olh Francis U. Raymond . Ctii

Irving h. Russell . . . 71b Fred. K. Kilmer . . . 7lb

As has been already stated, at the time of the in-

corporation of Somerville as a town there wan no

religious society or meeting-house within itn borders.

In earlier times the existence of a distinct parish was
almost invariably tlie pioneer of a new town. All

through the periods of colonial and provincial days

the precinct was established as the nucleus of a sep-

arate municipal life, and indeed the town was almost

another form of the precinct, adding civil services

and methods to the ecclesiastical life of the people. In

later times the factory on some outlying stream be-

came the centre of a new po]>ulation, which in time

found it necessary to demand a distinct corporate

individuality. But Somerville, an exception to both

rules, was a mere extension of the people of CUiarles-

towii farther out into the rich lands near the .Mystic,

without any well-marked or natural line of division

—

a people who gradually became so numerous as to

pay a considerable sum of the town tax without re-

ceiving its ecpiivalent in improvement of schools,

roads and other features of a well-governed com-
munity.

The first movement made towards a separate relig-

ious organization was made by Elizabeth I'age Whitt-

redge, of Beverly, a teacher in one of the public

schools, who, on the lat of June, 1842, opened a

Union Sabbath-achool on Medford Street. Its offi-

cers were George Tapley, superintendent ; Elizabeth

Page Whittredge, assistant; Miss E. A. Bonner, sec-

retary, and Jeremiah Thorpe, librarian. This Sab-

bath-school formed the nucleus of the first church,

which held its first meeting in an upper room of the

engine-house the third Sunday in March in 1S44.

Rev. Richard Manning Hodges, of Cambridge, offic-

iated, and about thirty families were represented.

Mr. Hodges continued liis service with the society

about a year, and on the 2L'd of August, 1844, the

First Congregational Society was organized. Imme-
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iliately after, a meeting-house was built on Highland

Avenue, on land presented to the society, by Jacob

Mudge and Ezra Sleeper, of Boston, and dedicated

September 3, 1845.

Mr. Hodges is thought by the writer to have been

a native of Salem, and graduated at Harvard in

1815. Before preaching in Somerville he was at one

time settled in Bridgewater, but at the time of his ser-

.vice in Somerville was unsettled and a resident of

Cambridge. Dr. Richard M. Hodges, the successful

and distinguished physician of Boston, is his son.

The following i)ersons took an active part in the

formation of this society: Henry Adams, Sanford

.Vdams, Hiram Allen, Charles Bennett, Mary Bonner,

William Bonner, Emily Bonner, Levi Bolles, Sam-

uel C. Bradshaw, Jr., George O. Brastow, Edward

Cullen, Fitch CuUen, John S. Edgerly, Charles

Forster, William B. Graves, Guy C. Hawkins, James

Hilt, Jr., Mary B. Homer, Mrs. Jordan, Charles

Miller, Abigail Prentiss, Mary Runey, John Runey,

Stephen B. Sewall, A. C. Spring, O. N. Town, Nathan

Tafts, Timothy Tafts, Columbus Tyler and Robert

Vinal.

The successor of Mr. Hodges, or rather the first

settled minister in this society, was Rev. John Turner

Sargent, of Boston, who was installed February 8,

1846, and resigned March 4, 1848. Mr. Sargent was

also a Harvard graduate and a member of the class

of 1827. He was a member of the family in Boston

bearing that name, of which Col. Henry Sargent, an

artist of note and a member of the Academy of Arts

and Sciences, and Lucius Manlius Sargent, the author

of " Dealings with the Dead by a Sexton of the Old

School," were well-known members. He was a man
of thorough education, scholarly habits and refined

tastes, and could not fail to cleanse and purify the

moral atmosphere of any community in which his lot

might be cast.

Rev. Augustus R. Pope followed Mr. Sargent and

continued in the pastorate until his death. May 24, 1858.

Mr. Pope was a native of Boston and graduated at

Harvard in 1839, and from the Cambridge Divinity

School in 1842. Before his settlement at Somerville

he had been settled over the First Church of Kings-

ton, and both in Cambridge and Kingston the writer,

who knew him well during the latter part of his life,

had opportunity of seeing the energy and devotion

with which he carried on every work he was entrust-

ed to perform. In Somerville his boundless activity

could not find full play within the narrow limits of

his church, and various enterprises and interests,

among which were those of an educational character,

received and profited by his earnest labors.

Rev. Charles Lowe succeeded Mr. Pope, and was

installed May 8, 1859. Mr. Lowe graduated at Har-

vard in 1847, and from the Cambridge Divinity School

in 1851. He remained with the society until ill

health compelled him to resign on the 18th of June,

1865. He continued, however, to reside in Somer-

ville until his death, in June, 1874, and though, serv-

ing as the secretary of the American Unitarian As-

sociation, to be of service as trustee of the Public

Library and in other capacities to the community in

which he lived.

Rev. Henry Hervey Barber succeeded Mr. Lowe
and was installed December 2, 1866. Mr. Barber had

previously been settled five years in Harvard. Rev.

J. S. Thompson succeeded Mr. Barber, but at the

present time, October, 1890, the society is without a

pastor.

The first meeting-house of this society, built of

wood, was burned July 22, 1852, and the second, built

of brick, which was dedicated April 28, 1854, was also

burned October 8, 1867. The present brick church

erected on the same site was dedicated January 31,

1869.

The Perkins Street Baptist Society was organized

May 4, 1845, and held its meetings in a building on the

Neck and was called the Neck Village Baptist Society.

In the summer of 1853 the building was removed to

Perkins Street in Somerville and enlarged, and on the

22d of February, 1854, by an act of the Legislature

the present name of the society was assumed. On
the 8th of January, 1866, the meeting-houee of this

society was burned, and on the 26th of June, 1867,

its present church edifice was dedicated. Previous to

1845 the easterly part of Somerville had few inhabi-

tants, and the first meeting-house of the society was

built at the corner of Main and Haverhill Streets in

Charlestown at a cost of $6124.98, and dedicated June,

1845. The new edifice, built in 1866, cost $25,000.

The first pastor of this society was Rev. William

Stow, who was ordained June 25, 1845, and remained

in service until 1850. He was succeeded by Rev. C.

H. Topliff, who was ordained September 30th in that

year, and Rev. N. M. Williams followed Mr. Topliff

in 1 852. Other pastorates followed, but at the present

time the society has no pastor.

The First Orthodox Congregational Society was

organized at a meeting held at the house of Ebenezer

Davis, September 15, 1853. Oliver Dickson was chosen

moderator, S. N. Watson, clerk, and Isaac S. Gross,

treasurer. The Prudential Committee chosen were :

Ebenezer Davis, Joseph Lovett, Temple Paul, G. S.

Wheelwright and John R. Poor. On the 28th of

June, 1854, a committee was chosen to select a lot of

land and procure plans for a church edifice. The
corner-stone of the church was laid October 10, 1854,

and the house on Franklin Street was dedicated July

12, 1855. On the 4th of May, 1855, Ebenezer Davis,

Oliver Dickson and Joseph Lovett were chosen dea-

cons ; N. J. Knight, Joshua H. Davis, James L. Tyler

and O. H. Granville, examining committee; Joseph

Lovett, treasurer ; and Moses H. Sarger.t, clerk. On
the 30th of November, 1855, it was voted to extend a

call to the Rev. Benjamin Judkins, Jr., and he was

installed January 3, 1856. Mr. Judkins closed hia

pastorate June 2, 1858, and after a supply of the pul-
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pit by Rev. David Temple Packard, he was invited to

become pastor, and was installed September 21, 1860.

Mr. Packard resigned April 1, 1866, and preached his

farewell sermon on the 23d of September.

On the 16th of March, 1867, the meeting-house of

the society was burned, and on the 27th of June, 1867,

Rev. L. R. Eastman, Jr., was installed. The corner-

stone of a new house of worship was laid August 27,

1867, and the house was dedicated September 30, 1868.

Mr. Eastman resigned April 29, 1871, and was followed

by Rev. Wm. S. Hubbell, of West Roxhury, who was

installed February 1, 1872. Mr. Hubbell resigned

November 5, 1881, and his successor. Rev. Wm. E.

Merriman, wa.s installed April 19, 1882. The present

pastor of the society is Rev. James H. Ross.

The following are the other religious societies in

Somerville: The First Baptist was organized Decem-

ber 30, 1852. Its house of worship is on Helmont

Street near Summer, and its present pastor is Rev. F.

O. Cunningham.

The Free-Will Baptist Soctety has a church edifice

on Broadway, between Lincoln and George Streets,

and was removed from Charlestown to Somerville

October 1, 1874. The present pastor is Rev. E. D.

]\[oulton.

The Union Square Baptist Society was organized in

1885, and has a place of worship at 73 Bow Street.

Its present pastor is Rev. Charles S. Scott.

The West Somerville Baptist Society was organized

in June, 1874. The church edifice is on Elm Street,

corner of Winslow Avenue, and Rev. Drew T. Wyman
is pastor.

The Winter Hill Baptist Society was organized

June 27, 1881. Its house of worship is on School

Street, opposite Maple Avenue, and Rev. E. D. Mason

is pastor.

The Broadway Congregational Church was organ-

ized in .June, 1864. Its present pastor is Rev. C. E.

Andrews.

The Day Street Congregational Society was organ-

ized in April, 1874. Its house is on D.ay Street, corner

of Herbert, and Rev. H. C. Hitchcock is its pastor.

The Prospect Hill Congregation.al Society, which

was organized December 30, 1874, has a church edi-

fice on Warren Avenue, near Union Square, which

was dedicated October 19, 1876. Its pastor is Rev.

Edward S. Tead.

The Winter Hill Congregational Society was organ-

ized January 29, 1883. Its house is on Central Street,

corner of Broadway, and its pastor is Rev. Charles L.

Noyes.

The Emanuel Episcopal Church was erected in 1870,

on Central Street, corner of Summer, and Rev. N. V.

Bishop is pastor.

The St. Thomas Episcopal Church was erected in

1870, on Somerville Avenue, near Union Square. Its

pastor is Rev. George W. Durell.

The St. James Episcopal Church is on Newbury

Street, near Broadway.

The St. Ann's Catholic Church wm dedicated Sep-
tember 25, 1881, and stands on Thurston Street, corner
of Medford. Its pastor is Ri-v. John B. Galvin.

St. Joseph's Catholic Church wits dedicati'd Novein-
l)er 21, 1874, on Washington Street, corner of Wclister

.Vvenue. The pastor is Rev. Clirislopher T. .McfJrath.

The Broadway Metliodist Church was organized in

.Tune, 1873, and its house of worship on Broadway,
opposite Sargent Street, was erected in 1872. Its

pastor is Rev. A. M. Osgood.

The First Methodist Society, whose house is on
Bow Street near Summer waa organized in 1856. It«

pastor is Rev. George Skene.

The Flint Street Methodist Society was organized

.Vovember 17, 1868, and has a house of worship on
I'^lint Street. Rev. C. M. Melden is its pastor.

The Park Avenue Methodist Society is locate<l in

West Somerville, on Park Avenue near Elm Street,

and its pastor is Rev. H. Mathews.

The Union Square Presbyterian Society was organ-

ized September 25, 1887, and has a house on Warren
Vvenue. Its pastor is Rev. C. S. Dewing.

The First Universalist Society was organized in

1853. Its first church was burned January 2, I860,

and the present one on First Street, corner of Tufts,

was dedicated in 1869. It« present pastor is Rev.

Charles A. Skinner.

The Third Universalist Society was organized Au-
.;ust 10,1881. Its place of worship is on Morrison Street,

corner of Elm, and Rev. Mr. Smith ofliciatcs as the

pastor.

The Winter Hill Universalist Society was organized

June 23, 1879, and is located on Thurston Street,

corner of Evergreen Avenne. Rev. Charles A.
Skinner ofliciates as pastor.

In 1850 a Fire Department was estaVjIished by an

ict of the Legislature passed on the 2d of .\pril

of that year, and the equipment for extinguishing

lires has grown from the single tub-engine located

.vithin the territory at the time of the incorporation

(f the town, to an apparatus surpassed by no com-

munity in the State of eijual size and population.

The Fire Department now consists of James N. Hop-

'icins, chief engineer, and Nathaniel C. Barker, assist-

ant, with the following apparatus and men: Steamer,

.Somerville, No. 1, located on Highland Avenue, with

H. A. Byrnes, engineer, W. A. Burbank, fireman, L.

D. Bixby, clerk, Irving C. .Taekson, driver, L. D.

Bixby, driver of hose-carriagn, .Tames A. JIcLane,

fireman, Frank Langen, assistant foreman and

seven hoscmen ; the John E. Wool Hose Company,

No. 1, on Webster Street, with Thomas H. Daley,

foreman ; the Winter Hill Hose Company. No. 2, on

.Marshall Street, with F. W. Ring, foreman ; the George

H. Foster Hose Company, No. 3, on W.ashington

Street, with C. H. Bridges, foreman ; the George O.

Brastow Hose Company, No. 4, with Samuel H.

Stevens, foreman, and the R. A. Vinal Hook-and-

Ladder Company No. 1, with Edwin H. Bright as
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foreman, and a fire alarm with forty-six stations.

Besides the above the Depiirtment has two fire

extinguishers and about eight thousand feet of hose.

The sum expended for the current expenses of the

Department during the year 1889 was $32.G96.d5.

In 1853, by an act of the Legislature passed Febru-

ary -I'M in that year, the Charlestown Gas Company

was allowed to extend its pipes into Somerville, and

on the 11th of April in the same year the Cambridge

Gas Co. was allowed the same privilege ; but on the

13th of April, 1854, Augustus K. Pope, .Tames M.

8hute and others were incorporated under the name

of the Somerville (Jas Company. In 18r)l the first

directory of Somerville wa.-* i)ublished, containing the

names of five hundred and sixty-one males. It

was published by Edward Tufts, of Somerville and

is a small duodecimo pamphlet of thirty-two pages.

At that time the population of the town, which in

1842 was 1013, and in 1S43 had increased to 1445, had

still further increased to 3540. The names of the

iustices of the peace contained in the Directory were

Henry Ad.ams, Alfred Allen, George O. Brastow,

Luther V. Bell, Ebenezer F. Cutter, John F. Hall,

Jonas H. Kendall, John C. Magoun, Samuel Poor,

Edward L. .Stevens and Columbus Tyler.

A list of the streets and places, of which there

were fifty, may be interesting for purposes of com-

parison with the present localities of the town. They

were as follows

:

Broadway, from Charlestown to West Cambridge,

Elm, from Broadway to fililk.

Medford, from East Cambridge to Medford.

Adams, from Broadway to Medford.

Central, from Broadway to Milk.

Sycamore, from Broadway to Medford.

Derby, from Broadway to Medford Turnpike.

Walnut, from Broadway to Bow,

CroHe, from Broadway to Medford,

Bush, from Broadway to Pearl,

Glen, from Broadway to Flint.

Franklin, from Broadway to Cambridge,

Mount Vernon, from Broadway to Perkins,

Pearl, from Cross,

Hedford Turnpike, from Charlestown to Medford.

Park, from Beech to Broadway.

Heath, from Park to Derby.

Bond, from Park to Derby,

Perkins, from Franklin to Charlestown,

Cambridge, from Charlestown to Cambridge.

Tufts, from Cambridge to Cross.

Joy, from Cambridge to Poplar,

Linden No, 3, from Cambridge to Milk.

Boston, from Cambridge to W'alnut,

Linden, from Milk to Walnut.

Prospect, from Cambridge to Cambridgeport.

Dane, from Cambridge to Milk,

Vine, from Cambridge to Milk,

Snow Hill, from Beacon to Milk.

Beacon, from Somerville to Cambridgeport.

Church, from Medford to Central.

Milk, from East Cambridge to Cambridge,

Bow, from Milk to Milk,

Laurel, from Milk to Sumner.

Oak, from fililk to Beech.

Spring, from Milk to Summer.
Belmont, from Milk to Summer,
Porter, from Elm to Summer.

Linden No, 2, from Elm.

Russell, from Elm to Cambridge.

Orchard, from Kus^tell,

Cottage Place, from Uussell,

namlet, from Church.

Summer, from Central,

Beech, from Oak to Spring,

Uarvard, from Beech to Summer.

Elm Court, from Harvard.

Harvard Court, from Harvard.

Myrtle, from Perkins to Cambridge.

Florence, from Perkins to Pearl.

On the 29th of April, 1854, the Middlesex Railroad

Company was incorporated and coiistructed, in 1855,

a street railway to Boston, from the eastern boundary

of the town through Washington Street. In May,

1851, the Medford and Charlestown Railroad Com-
pany was chartered, and on the 29th of May, 1857,

George O. Brastow, Henry A. Snow and Isaac F.

Shepard and others were incorporated as the Somer-

ville Horse Railro.ad Company, one of these occupy-

ing Main Street and Broadway and the other Wash-
ington, Milk and Elm Streets. The Somerville Horse

Railroad Company was authorized by its charter to

receive the rights, powers, privileges and franchises

ot the Middlesex Railroad Company, so far as the

same relate to proceedings within the limits of Som-
erville. At the present time all the variou.s lines of

street railway in the town are owned and managed

by the West End Street Railway Company, whose

centre of operation is in Boston, which was incorpo-

rated in 1887.

In 1880 the population of the town had increased

to 8025, and its valuation, which had increased from

$988,513 in 1842 to $2,102,631 in 1850, had further

increased to $6,033,053. The number of houses was

at this date 1282, the number of polls 1751, and the

town debt was $90,924.

The first militia company in Somerville was the

Somerville Light Infantry, organized in October,

1853. In May, 1854, the company was enrolled as

Company B, Fourth Regiment, Third Brigade, Sec-

ond Division ; but the regiment was afterwards num-
bered the Fifth, instead of the Fourth. The first

captain was George O. Brastow, who was succeeded,

June 29, 1854, by Francis Tuft.s, who served until

April, 1859. Captain Brastow was then re-elected,

and served until the autumn of 1861. Captain B. F.

Parker succeeded Capt.iin Brastow, and still later it

was commanded by Captain W. E. Robinson, Captain

J. N. Coffin, Captain G. W. Daniels, Captain Charles

F. King, Captain R. Kramer and Lieutenant R. T.

Blackwell, and was disbanded July 6, 1876.

Coming now to the period of the late war, the ac-

tivity and patriotic spirit which characterized the

people of the whole Commonwealth were displayed

in Somerville. Before the blow was struck, the Som-
erville Light Infantry, in anticipation of trouble on

the part of the government of the State, had been,

like other militia companies in the Commonwealth,
notified of a possible call for men and of the necessity
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of retaining only such men in their ranks as would

be willing to rcs[ioud at a moment's notice. When,
therefore, on the 15th of April, 18(31, dispatches were

received announcing the surrender of Fort Sumter
and the issue of a proclamation by the President of

the United States, calling for seventy-five thousand

men for three months' service, Somerville was fully

prepared to perform her share in the emergency.

Further dis|iatches announced that Governor Andrew
had issued orders to the commanders of the Third,

Fourth, .Sixth and Eighth Regiments of Massachu-

setts Militia to report, with their commands, on Bos-

ton Common the following day. A littU; later the

Fifth Regiment, under tlie command of Colonel Law-
rence, of Jledford, was called for, and the Somerville

company quickly responded. On the 17th of April

a meeting of the citizens was held for the purpose of

rendering such aid to the company and to the fami-

lies of its members as might, under the circum-

stances, become necessary. Henry A. Jones was

chosen chairman, and Aaron Sargent secretary. A
committee of five, consisting of B. F. Adams, James

M. Shute, Columbus Tyler, Charles H. Guild and

Charles S. Lincoln, was chosen to prepare a plan,

and subseijuently at the same meeting the following

resolution was reported and adopted :

" Jicsolred, that in the opinion of this meeting the

town should take measures to provide for such fami-

lies of members of the Somerville Light Infantry as

may need aid during the absence of that company

in defense of the National Government and of the

rights and liberties of mankind."

Remarks were made by James JL Shute, Columbus

Tyler, E. H. Wakefield, M. H. Sargent, Ebenezer

Davis, Asa Fisk, John R. Poor, C. C. Walden and

others. Subscriptions were at once raised, amounting

to .f430S..'J0, and of this amount the sum of j!700 was

presented to Captain Braatow, who had entered the

hall with his company.

It was voted that the remainder of the amount sub-

scribed should be deposited in the Leehmere Savings

Bank, subject to the drafts of the Board of Select-

men. On Saturday, the 20tli of April, the company
gathered about the flagstaff in Union Square, where

the flag was saluted and Rev. ]\Ir. Fairbanks made a

fervent prayer. A procession was then formed under

the direction of John K. Hall as chief marshal, and

marched to the Congregational Church, in Franklin

Street, where each member was presented with a Tes-

tament by Moses H. Sargent, each of which bore the

following inscription :

'' And behold I am with thee

and will keep thee in all places whither thou goest

and will bring thee again into this land, for I will not

leave thee until I have done that which I have spoken

to thee of."—Gen. 28 : 15. The procession then es-

corted the company to Faneuil Hall, in Boston, where

it was quartered until the next morning. On Sunday,

the 21st, it went to New York by the Fall River route,

reaching that city in the evening. At New York the

regiment embarked on steamers for AnnnpolU, and
reached Washington on the morning of Saturday,
April 27th. It was quartered in ihe United Suites
Treasury Building, |.erformiiig guard duty during four

weeks ; and then encampeil for one week in I'amp
.Vndrew, on the Virginia bank of tlie l'ot«imac, about
four miles from Washington. On Monday, Juno 2d,

the regiment eneain|ied in Camp MaHsachuHetls, about
one mile southwe.U of Alexandria, where it remained
until Tuesday, July Itlth. The regiment waMengRge<l
In the battle of Bull Run, in which Frank E. Hana-
ford, a member of Company B, was kilk-d. On Sun-
day, the 28th of July, the regiment left WaxliingUni

;

and arriving home, the Somerville company was re-

ceived by the Sect)nd Battalion of Infantry, and es-

corted ty citizens, under a salute of one hundred
guns, to Prospect Hill, where, gathered round ihellag-

statt" they were addressed by Rev. Mr. Fairbanks and
N. B. Proctor and an ode of welcome was sung. Cap-
tain Morton responded to the addresses of welcome,
and received also, with his men, the more private

congratulations of his neighbors and friends. W.
Francis Morris, a member of the company, wa« left iu

the hospital, in AVashington, sick, and died on the

Slstof July.

At a legal meeting of the town, held on the 21»lh of

April, ISGl, it v,-as voted to instruct the selectmen to

provide for the families of volunteers, and to author-

ize the town treasurer to borrow a sum not exceeding
$5000 for the purpose. On the 2Sth of April it wjis

voted to borrow S^tiOOO for the purpose of aiding fam-

ilies. In June, 181)2, the President called for three

hundred thousand men, and of this number the quota

of Somerville was niuety-two. On the I'Jth of July
the town voted to raise a company to fill the quota
and to pay a bounty to each volunteer of one hundred
dollars. For this purjiose it was voted to borrow
twelve thousand dollars. A committee of sixty, with

the selectmen added, was ehoscn its a rallying com-
mittee. On the 27th of August, 18fi2, the town voted

to pay a bounty of one hundred dollars to other volun-

teers, and on the 24th of September to pay an addi-

tional bounty of seventy-five dollars to members of

the Somerville Light Infantry.

On the 27th of April, 18(13, it was voted to borrow

ten thousand dollars for aid to soldiers' families, and
on the 10th of December, 1863, other a]q)ropriatiou8

were made forthepurposeof enlisting volunteers. In

1862 the Somerville Guard, raised to fill the quota

called for in June of that year, was recruited to the

full number of one hundred and one men, and en-

camped on the 12th of August on Prospect Hill,

when it was mustered in for three years, and remained

until the 3d of September, when it encamped at Box-
ford. It was attached as Company E to the Thirty-

ninth Regiment, and on the6th of September took the

cars for Washington. After a short encampment at

Arlington Heights, it went into quarters at Pooles-

viile, Maryland, where it passed the winter.
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In April, 1863. the regiment removed to Washing-

ton, and on the 9th of July joined the Army of the

Potomac, with which it remained until the close of

the war. The tasualties of the Somerville Guard,

during its service, were as follows: F. J. Oliver,

Washington Lovett, Joseph W. Whitmore, Henry E.

Howe and llichard J. Hyde died in rebel prisons;

William D. Palmer, Samuel 0. Felker, Robert Pow-

ers, J. H. Roberts, William M. Harburn, Eugene B.

Hadly, Willard C. Kinsly and John Moran were

killed. Besides these, Frederick A. Glines, James

M. Allen, Charles G. Jones, David Gorham, John E.

Horton, George H. Hatch and David Kendrick fell

victims to disease.

It is unnecessary to recount all the various votes of

the town concerning the enlistment of men and appro-

priations of money for bounties and aid to families.

It is sufl5cient on this point to say that the whole

amount of money appropriated by the town for war

purposes, exclusive of State aid, was $133,039.41, and

'that the amount contributed by citizens was $65,823.38.

It is stated by Dr. Booth, in his sketch of Somer-

ville, already referred to, that "Somerville furnished

forty commissioned officers and one thousand and

eighty-five men f.>r the war in all branches of the ser-

vice, which w\a9 a surplus of one hundred and forty-

seven above the number required. Ninety-eight were

killed or died of disease incident to the hardships of

war, and two hundred and fifty were wounded. A
marble monument was erected in the cemetery in

1863 to the memory of the dead, and was paid for by

the money raised at the citizens' meeting, held April

18, 1861, for the purpose of aiding the Somerville

Light Infantry, previous to its departure for a three

months' service. It was the first soldiers' monument

erected in Massachusetts."

The writer finds no roll of soldiers in the office of

the clerk of Somerville, and has therefore been

obliged to rely on the Massachusetts record published

by the adjutant-general of the State for such a list as

he is able to furnish In this record he finds only

four hundred and fifty-one names entered as belong-

ing to Somerville, and their names will be found in

the list included in this sketch. To be added to this

list are, of course, the names of three or four hun-

dred who entered the naval service to the credit of

Somerville which the writer has not the data at hand

to include in the list. To be further added are the

soldiers credited generally to Massachusetts, of whom
Somerville had its share placed to its credit. The

writer trusts that it may be properly within his prov-

ince to suggest to the authorities of the city that

early steps be taken to secure from the archives in

Boston and Somerville and other available sources a

complete list of all soldiers and sailors entering the

service either credited to or belonging to the town.

The following is a list of the members of the Som-
erville Light Infantry belonging to Somerville, who

were mustered into the United States service in April,

1861, and served three months

:

George 0. Braatow, capt

Wm. E. KobioBon, 1st It.

Kred. R. Kinaley, 2d It.

Walter C. Bailey, Bgt.

John Iliirriugton, egt.

Wni. K. Corlen, S(;t.

John C. Watson, sgt.

lloury H. Robinson, corp.

James E. Paul, corp.

Isaac Barker, Jr., corp.

Albion AdauiB.

John Adams.

Ilawes Atwood.

Edwin C. Bennett.

Martin H. Binney.

Warren A. Bird.

Charles 11. Bonner.

Kdward Brackett.

Albert Caawell.

Elkanali Crosby.

John E. Davis. •

John T. Giles.

Joseph J. Giles.

Joseph Hale, Jr.

Henry C. Hammond.
Frank E. Hannaford.

George F. Harris.

John K. Hodgkins.

Jamee R. Hopkins.

Pliny R. Howe.

Richard J. Hyde.

Horatio Jenkins, Jr.

Charles Kilham.

Willard C. Tiusley.

Charles A. Mooney.

Francis W. Moors,

George W. Nason, Jr.

Fletcher N. Nelson.

Judson W. Oliver.

Joseph W. Paine.

Oscar Parsons.

Charles H. Powers.

Charles C. Qiiimby.

Benjamin F. Schellinger.

Lucius H. Shuttuck.

Wm. E. Shaw.

Nathan A. Simonds.

Charles H. Sweeney.

John Van De Land.

Edward M. Walker.

Kinsley Wallace.

Wm. W. Watson.

George F, Whitcomb.

Joseph Toung.

Miistered Sept. 19, 1862, for nine

months in Co. B, f>th Regiment:

Benjamin F. Parker, capt.

Walter C. Bailey, Ut It.

John Harrington, 2d It.

Edward W. Denny, Ist sgt.

Jaraea E. Paul, sgt.

Kinsley Wallace, sgt.

Charles T. Robinson, egt.

Uenry A. Angier, sgt.

Eben' C. Mann, Jr., corp.

Charles E. Davis, corp.

Granville W. Darcett, corp.

Nathaniel Dennett, corp.

Edwin Turner, corp.

Cyrus B. Rowe, corp.

Willard L. Hawes, corp.

Wm. F. Snow, corp.

ThoB. R. Watson, corp.

James H. Fla^g, mus.

Frank Walburg, mus.

Henry H. Robinson, 2d wa
Nathi T. Abbott.

Melvin AdamB.

Wm. A. Aiken.

Lewis A. Alien.

Joseph Antliony.

Wm. W. Anderson.

Joseph Arnold.

Joseph A. Austin.

Wm. Ayers.

George W. Barnes.

Thomas A. Barr.

Ronianus E. Beers.

Charles K. Brackett.

Samuel R. Brintnell.

Calvin A. Bruce.

George W. Burroughs.

AloDzo Butler.

John CashiD.

RuBsell T. Chamberlain.

John Clausen.

Fred. R. Cobb.

Jauies Cuuningham.

Fred. Gushing.

Ferdinand D. Daniels.

Wm. E. Dickson.

James H. Dellaway.

Adolphus DuBseault.

Wm. Elliott.

James Emmott.

Henry E. Gilson.

AlvinF. Glidden.

Moses F. Greenwood.

Daniel Hallahan.

Peter B. Haley.

Joseph Hanson.

Daniel A. Hartwell.

Michael Havlin.

Patrick Hayes.

George W. Hinckley.

Charles B. Hollander.

Charles H. Holland.

Edwin A. Hubbard.

Wells W. Huston.

James H. Jewett.

Georgo A. Kimball.

John C. Leavitt.

John W. Leavitt.

Nicholas Lee.

George E. Lincoln.

Wm. E. Locke.

Eli \\. Loveless.

Wm. Manning.

George W. Maynard.

John A. Mills.

George E. Mitchell.

Henry M. Moulton.

Michael Mumnaugb.
Edward Netlinger.

Benj. B. Parsons.

George E. Pattee.

Albert H. Paul.

John A. Poor.

John H. Potter.

Charles A. Pressy.

Gardner W. Ring.

Henry H. Robinson.

John W. Roberts.

Edward L. Sbattuck.

Joseph Sinclair.

Edward Stout.
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George E. SturtevADt.

Sam. J. F. Thayer.

Francis H. Thoinpeoii.

Samuel G. TiinipkinB.

Francis E. Whitcoiiih.

.Iiiscph A. Wliito.

Alborl Williams.

Gporgo A. Willett.

Kdward E. Wiuslow.

(-'harlcs 11. WoodwoU.

.lohii Younie.

.Tames Clark.

MuBlered Jiil.v 31, 1861,

Alvin G. Lovejoy.

I'erer Tlioriipeou.

Muslored Jan. 1, 1864,

Frederick Whitcomb.

jlfiufcrcd S.pl. 5, 1861, far 3 J<ni«

ill .111 B<i«.>r;; ;

HeuryC. Hanimoni), Corp.

Mustered Sept. 0, IS61,

W'm. F. Steer.

.\hiflered Jan. 3, 1864, {or 3 ydis

m ith Battery :

GeorRe W. Colbath.

IMustered March 9, 1864,

.Inhn Harkins.

Mmlrrfil Aug. 10, 1862,.ror 3 l/f<"«

in Wth Batten.i

:

.I'lliti n. Snllivan, Corp.

iMnstered Slarch 16, 1864,

•lames Gordon.

Rliistered Feb. il, 1S64,

Sam. 1". Hatch.

M\l6terwl .Tan. 12, 1864,

John Horrigan.

Mustered Feb. 1."), 1864,

Michael Horrigau.

MuMfreil tirjil, 16, 1862, for nine

months in Co. G, 42<J Reg. :

Charles Paine.

Mmlered Sept. 12, 1862, for iii>i€

monllm in Co. F, iith Reg. .-

Herbert Osborn.

Mustered Sept. 22, 1862, for nine

months in Co. E, i'lh Reg.

:

Herbert 0. Porter.

Samuel F. Teele.

AtoDzo \V. Temple.

,Wi.<terf<i Sept. 29, 1862, for nine

months in Co. H, hOth Reg.

;

Joseph A. Pike.

jVini-T.'d Oct. 17, 1862, /or nine

mouths in Co. D, .'i3rf Reg. :

John E. Moulton.

Mustered Oet. .'i, 1861, for 3 years

in \st hiiUenj "f Light Artillery :

Frank A. Hoyt, bugler.

Mustered Oct. 3, 1863, /r.r 3 i/eori

in 2d Battery :

Lucian A. Hodgdon, 2d U.

Mustered Feb. 16, 1S64,

Seth H. Hatch, artificer.

Mustered March 18, 1864,

Mustered Jan. 26, 1SG4,

George Maden.

Wm. Stahl.

Mustered Jan. 23, lKr.4,

Fraucis II. Mason.

Mustered Aug. 10, 1862,

Michael McCarrolI.

49-iii

Mustered Feb. 1, 1864,

James A. Nutter.

Mustered Feb. 25, 1861,

Hornco Record.

Mustered Jan. 2.'., 1864,

.lohn Stales.

Mustered Jan. 2, 1864, /or 3 yean
in llrft Battery ;

Charles M. Miller.

;ifi«/«r..il il/mv/i 24, 1864, /or 3

years in \^th RaUeni

;

George Gordon.

Mustered Fel: 27, 1864, for 3 years

Iji 14/A Battery:

Frank Page.

Mustered March 14, 1864, .fcr 3

years, Ul Reg., Heavy Art. :

Wni. n. J. Webber.

Mustered Jan. 2, 1864, for 3 years

in 2d Reg., Heavy .irt. :

Lewis Perry, corp. Co. C.

Mustered Aug. 14, 1863,

i Edward W. Denny, Ist It.

Mustered Dec. 25, 1863, Co. L.

Henry W. Dey.

Mustered Jan. 2, 1864, 3 years, 1»(

«.'.;. of Cor. ;

William W. Wardell, 1st Ileut.

Must. Sept. 12, 1861, Co. tt,

John Clarkaon.

Wm. D. Francis.

Mustered Sept. 14, 1861,

Heliodorus Wellijigton.

Mustered Sept. 17, 1861, Co. C,

.Tobn A. Glinits, sgt.

Charles C. Quindty, Corp.

Charles F. Bartlett.

George W. Bartlett.

Alansou Bond.

Mustered Sept. 25, 1861,

Ira B. Knowlton, wag.

Mustered Jan. 1, 1864,

Jonathan Atkinson.

Mustered Sept. 23, 1861,

Gilbert Wakefield.

Mustered Oct. 5, 1861, Co. G,

Richard Hill, sorgt.

Mustered March 21, 1.864, Co. H,

Charles Patterson.

Mustered .Tan. 6, 1864, 3 years, new

Batt. of Cav. :

Edward B. Daniels, sergt.

Edward W. Hudson, bugler.

Robert C ILiveniy.

Mastered Dec. 4,1861,3 years, Ut

Reg. of air., Co. M.-

Fred. D. Maynard, corp.

Mustered Jan. 11, 1864, iinass. re-

cruitt, 1st Reg. of Car. :

Tjouis Mather.

Mustered March 21, 1864,;

Daniel Kamsey.

Mustered Aug. 13, 1863, 3 peari,

2d Beg. Cav., Co. B.-

Bernard F. Sheridan.

Mustered Aug. 10, 1863, Co. H,

Charles Malhews.

Mlistereii Aug. 11, 1863, Co. I,

John O'Brien.

! Hasterod Aug. 14, 1888, Co. K,
James O'Donnell.

', Mustered Feh. 5, 1864, 3 years, 3d

I

Reg. of Oar. Co. B.-

John nusrh.

Mnslernl Jan. 6, 1864, 3 years, tlh

Reg. of Oat., Ch. C:
Herman Hutchinson.

Mustered Doc. 4, 1861, Co. I,

Ri(-hard CunnlDgham.
James FItzpatrlck.

Frederick D. Slaynard, corp. Co
M.

MuBlored July Vi, 1Hi;4, Co K,

John Foley.

Mustered March 26, 1864, 3 .l/car«,

5Wi Reg. of Cav. :

William H. Hawea, Isl Kergt.

Mustered May 24, 1861, 3 i/enrs,

Ut Reg., Co. F:

Fred. A. S. Lewis,

Mustered May 2,1, 1861, Co. G,

Edward I., Gilnian, capt.

Mustered Aug. 20, 1862, 3 years, 2d

Reg., Co. C:

Joseph Curtin.

Mustered Aug. 18, 1862, 3 years,

SIh Reg., Co. E:
Michael Kelley.

Mustered Feb. 10, 1862, Co. H,

Michael Cookley.

M>istered Jan. 2, 181)4, 3 yeart, 1 \lh

Reg., Co. E:
Jnnies W. Smith.

Mustered Dec. 29, 1864, Co. F,

Andrew 0. Hatch, corp.

Mustered .Ian. 30, 1864,

John Biswaoger.

Mustered Sept. 1, 1862, Co. I,

Charles H. Lawrence.

Mustered June 13, 1861, Co. K,

John Hitliitati.

Mustered Jan. 4, 1864,

Wm. Heaves.

Mustered .Tune 26, 1861, 3 years.

12th Reg., Co. A :

Albert K. Mitchell.

Moses Ha7.ettine, Corp. Co. O.

Nathaniel Hazeltine.

Mustered July 16, 1861, 3 years,

13(;< Reg., Co. A :

Charles V. Ruasell, Corp.

Russell J. Whitton, corp.

Mustered July 28, 1861, (Vi. E,

Frank A. Ley.

Must' red July 12, 1861, three years,

\Mh Reg., Co. I) .-

James Carroll.

Muslered Jan. 2, 1864,

James Swift.

Musteicd Jan. 12, 1861, Co. F,

Lyman Center.

JohTi Harkins, July 12, 1861.

John McCabe.

Reuben K. Thome.

Mustered Aug. 24, 1861, 3 years,

Klh Reg., Co. F .-

Tinothy Collins, Corp.

Fred. Q. Cruden, corp.

Mtulertt July 27, IBflS. I*r<r yMi>,

UW* Negimetll, fV). O .-

GMtrge Wood.

Muntenxl Aug. 28, liKI, do. I,

Martin llradburn, wag.

Kilward A. Bullock.

Mustereil.'v.pt. 1.1, 1861, C.i h,
Frank \. Novell.

IllrhanI llarpin, Feb. 17, I»n4.

Wm. Allen, Feb. 17, IDA!, un-

Qmirge ItaTli.

George Wllann.

Dennis McNamara, Aug. 211, IMI,

unaligned.

Must4rtd .Tuly, 13, 18(14, three ytari,

ai/A Itegimenl, Co /.-

John Foley.

Muslered Amy. 27, 18M, three years,

22d Regiment :

Edwin 0. Hennelt, capl.

Patrick Barry, June 27, IRI14, Co.

C.

Patrick Hclliigh, Sept. 8, IBAI,

Co. I.

John Murphy, July 6, I8r.4.

Mu'lered Oct. 9, 1861, Ihrre years,

23'/ Regiment, Co. A :

Fre<l. A. Gallelhy.

Jonas L. Whitney.

Timothy Stanly, OcL 29, 1861. Co.

H.

RnfusKlng, niuB , Oct. 18, 1861,

Co. F.

Trvin M. Bennett, curp., Nov. 6,

1861, Co. H.

Fletcher N. Nelson, (let. R, 1861.

Mustered Nov. 18, 1861, (ArM|feuri,

24(A Regiment, Co. D

;

George W. Ayera.

Mustered April 26, 1861, three ye-irs,

26/* Regimeul, Co. F

:

.Samuel F. Teel.

Patrick Sherlden, .Ian. 3. 1864, i7o.

H.

Muslered May 23, 1864, three Jf'iri,

28/A Regiment :

Martin Binney, 1st It.

Dennis Day, Dec. 13, 1861, Co. A.

Timothy Lyons, Jan. 2, 1864, Co.

C.

Dennis W. Johnsiui, Dec. 28,

1S63, Co. D.

James Ijan-eon, March 14, 1864.

Richard Shalley, Jan. 24, 1862.

John (Jormley, Dec. 13, 1861, Co.

B.

Peter Tehon, Jan. 2, 1864, Co. I.

KdwApl Carnilen, March 21, 1864,

uuasstgned.

Mustered itoy 14, 1861, three ye.irs,

20()1 Regiment:

Tliomaa Hayes.

Dela H. King, Jan. •-, 1864, Co. T.

Tlnunas Itt>nd, Aug. 31, 18(V4, un-

a0signe<l.

Mustered Jan. 2, 1864, three yeor*,

'Wth llogimrnt, Co. A .-

Charles Slars, Corp.

John Battlea, Dec. 13, 1861, Co, H.
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The following enlisted for one hundred days, and

were mustered into the service July 25, 1804, in Co.

B, 5th Regiment:

Juliu N. Cofflu, ciipt.

Cliarlw T. Kubinson, Ut It.

flrauvilli* W. Ihmi.>Irt, L'd It.

(:m)rgo W. Viiiruii{;lis, Ut sgt.

Wui. K. Dii'kHuii, 0gt.

CburU>0 K. Ilutttut, agt.

IMiilip (). Wooilberry, Hgl.

KdwunI II. Aikoii, corp.

JaW/. p. IH'lt, Corp.

liourgt* 11. Ilnle, curp.

Fri>il. W. Julinr^iii, corp.

Frank WulliurK, nius.

AWin R. Bftiloy.

Win. Ituckniiui.

Ueury F. Carter.

Jobn W. llatcb.

Ueuiy HodhOQ.

Frank .fames.

Henry Lnvoring.

James Mcf'art.

Frank McDermott.

Wm. A. Mollcn.

George B. Neiss.

Caleb A. Page.

EiJward Poacock.

Thomas S. Pratt.

Luther H. Prehton.

George F. liicker.

J. W. UobiuBon.

Wm. 0. llussell.

Samuel H. Stoveus.

Charles H. Tylnr.

Frederick A. White.

MitsUrtd iiilii the nervice for one

hundred days, July 20, 1864, in

Co. D, 42i( litginuiit :

James E. Merritt.

Mtut«red Nov. 10, ISGI, three yenre,

32d Regiment:

Joseph Austin, Ist It.

John A. Norria, Nov. 27, isiil,

Co.O.

Wm. H. Norris, Oct. 3], 18tn.

JameB Donahoe, July 9, 18G2, Co.

O.

John Murphy, July ('., 1864, Co. M.

Miuilered June 7, 1805, three years

39(/t Ucgimenl:

Fred. II. Kinely, col.

Melville C. ParkhurHt, ciipt., Juno

7, 1865.

Joseph Giles, let It., Aug. 14, 18C2.

Willard 0. KiuKly, Ist It., Nov. 13,

1862.

John H. Denault, iHt It., Sept. 8^

1864.

Edwin Mills, 2d It., Jan. 8, 18C4.-

George A. Bodge, 2tl It., April 3,

1865.

Edwin WoUs, egt.-niaj., Aug. 12,

1862.

Elkauiih ('rosby, egt.

John Kennedy, Bgt.

George Myers, sgt.

AVm. D. Palmer, sgt.

Wm. H. Thomas, sgt.

George Vande Sarts, sgt,

Wm. M. Carr, corp.

Willard C. Fairchild, corp.

Fred. A. Glines, corp.

David Gorham, corp.

John E. liorton, corp.

Leolie Sti'vuns, corp.

Duniol I'rowloy, nius,

James II. Newell, num.

Jessu B. Abbott.

James M. Allon.

Wm. J. Arnold.

Wm. A. Baker.

Cliarles Ji. Belding.

August Bontz.

James Bertcber.

John T. Bolton.

Wm. F, Boynton.

George W, Wren.

Daviy P. Buckmau.

Joliu By rues.

John B. Cantield.

GustavuH A. Clark.

Ambrose W. Coles.

Chandler G. Cole.

Herbert Collott.

Thomas Conner.

George Cutter.

Amos F. Davis.

Albert H. Dodge.

Wut H. Dodge.

•Jonathan C. Dyer.

Charles E. Ediepsou.

Samuel Emei-son.

George A. Farrar.

Walter Fay.

Charles C. Fellows.

Samuel O. Felker.

Charles E. Fitcbam.

John E. Fuller.

Elijah H. Gilcrease.

Dexter Gray.

Edward L. Grant.

Wm. F. C. Graham.

Eugene B. Hadley,

Edward M. Uale.

Jubu Ualford.

John H. Hanley.

George R. Harlow.

Will. M. Harburn.

George H. Hatch.

George A. Hills,

Patrick D. Hogan.

Patrick Horgan.

Henry E. Howe.

Richard J. Hyde.

Thomas L. Hyde.

Charles G. Jones.

Thomas Kelley.

David Kendrick.

E. F. Kenneston.

John F. Locke.

Washington Lovett.

John McCarthy.

Alexander McGurdy.

Samuel McJunkenB.

George McNall.

John McQuade.

James H. Merrett,

John S. Merrett.

John Moran.

George A. Northy.

Thomas O'Brien.

Henry O'Neil.

fohn O'SuUivan,

Wm. Odiorne,

James McNay, Co. B.

Daniel Cooper, May 19, 1804, Co.

F.

John Mi:!tlullin, Jan. \1, 1^04.

Mustered Mar. ], 18ti4, three tjcnn,

^lih n<gimeiU, Co. G:
Michael ('ashman.

Andrew Fogerty.

Wm. Hyde.

Mmtertd Jan. 14, 1864, three yean*

5fli/t lieginu'ut, Co. C.-

George King.

Andrew Graham, Feb. 0, 1864.

Joseph W. Martin.

Henry H. Hill, Jan. 4, 18f.4, Co.

E.

Wm. Howarth.

John M. Lovett.

George Shnetdi.

John Creamer, Mar. 12, 1864, Co.

H.

Wm. H. M. Calvert, April 2, 1864,

Co. I.

Mustered Feb. 10, 18G4, Eeg. Army :

Joseph Hale.

Francis J. Oliver.

Jutbiun J. Oliver.

Jeremiah T. Pnine.

Gideon W. Perry.

Henry W. Pinkam.

Hoberl Powers.

John S. Uoherts.

Sumner P. Rollins.

Henry Shaw.

John B. Sliaw.

,Iobn Sheehan.

Addison Smith.

Herman C. Stickney.

Frank W. Thompson.

Joseph W. Whetinore.

William C. Willeutt.

Mustered Sep. 3, 1862, three yearn,

i{)th Regiment:

CharleKM. Gooding, 1st sgt.

Mustered Mar. 4, 1864, three yetirs,

both ReyimetU

:

Edward F. Littlefield, Ist It.

James A. Littlefield, 1st It.

James R. French, Dec. 26, 1863,

Co. A.

In the early days of the town its meetings were

held either in the Medford Street School-house or in

the engine-house on the corner of Prospect and

Washington Streets, When the Unitarian Church

was completed its vestry was used for a time, but

after the erection of the High School-house which was

founded in 1852, town-meetings were held in its lower

hall until the Forster School building was erected in

1SG7, when the large hall in the upper story was tit-

ted for a town hall and used by the town until the

incorporation of the city in 1871.

On the 3d of May, 1866, an act was passed by the

General Court authorizing Charlestown to supply the

town of Somerville with water, and on the 14th of

May, 1868, another act was passed authorizing

Somerville and Charlestown to lay pipes for the sup-

ply of water. Before that time the main reliance of

the town had been in wells. A contract was made
with the Charlestown authorities for a supply of

water, provided their present supply was more than

suificient for Charlestown and Chelsea, at the rates

charged to the inhabitants of those cities, with a re-

bate to the town. The sum of ^$100,000 was raised

for the purpose of carrying out the enterprise, and the

town at once received the necessary supply. In 1870

under a subsequent act of the General Court, the town

was authorized to raise an additional sum of $100,000

and afterwards a third amount was raised, making the

sum total of water loan $400,000. The town is now
supplied with Mystic water by the city of Boston

through pipes, and a water tower for high service of

its own. Boston collects the water rents and returns

to the city of Somerville fifty per cent, of the same.

The expenditure for high service was authorized by

the Legislature May 21, 1889. Tne pumping station

and tower intended for the high service alone can

furnish a supply of two million of gallons in twenty-

four hours. A small part of Somerville near the

Cambridge line is supplied with water from Cam-
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bridge, but the Somerville Water Board in their Re-

l)orl for the year 1889 advise that 7051 feet of pipe

laid by the Cambridge Ooiniiany, and supplying

alinut two hundred and liftv houses, be replaced by

the .Somerville )iipes ; so that the supply of the

whole town shall he exclusively their own.

On the 31st of March, 18()0, the town of Somer-

ville was authorized to lay sewers. The system is now
progressing rapidly towards completion, and during

tlie last year nearly twelve thousand feet have been

laid. During the same year the cost of construction

and maintenance was $lli,il(>8.()4.

On the 2',Hh of April, 1871, the town of Som-
erville appointed a committee to prepare a set of

liy-laws for the organization of a I'ublic Library.

Trustees were chosen October 21, 1872, and on

the 11th of November met and organized. The
trustees were John 1'. Marshall, Quiucy A. Vinal,

Charles (1. Pope, Charles H. (iuild, (y'harles Lowe
and >Samuel A. Carlton. Isaac Putnam was chosen

librarian and the library was opened in a room in

City Hall in May, 1879, with 238(5 volumes.

The present elegant and commodious Library

Building on Prospect Hill was finished in 188."), and

dedicated in the Unitarian tUiurch on the 29th of

September in that year. Mark F. Burns presided,

and the principal address was delivered by Justin

Winsor, the librarian of Harvard University. Short

addresses were also made by Rev. George W. Durell,

Rev. John 8. Thomson and George A. Bruce. The
Ubrary contained at the close of 1889, 17,015 volumes,

of which 11(52 were added during the year. The
available revenues for the same year were an appro-

priation of $3000. Receipts from dog licenses al-

lowed by the town, .f2382.90 ; fines, $293.70 ; receipts

from catalogues, $44.05 ; payments for books, $1.5,50,

making a total of $573(5.21. The expenses were:

Salaries, $1874.88 ; books, $2520.81
;
printing and sta-

tionery, $40G.(57 ; binding, $14(5.95; newspapers, .'J12;

gas, $182.01 ; fuel, $233.05 ; water, $29 ; repairs, $382.83
;

labor, $121.15; express, .$41.15; incidentals, $48.00;

insurance, $142.50, making a total of $(5151. (!(5.

In 1SG8 two petitions were presented to the Gener-

al Court for a division of the town, but the petitioners

received leave to withdraw. In that year also, under

the direction of the selectmen, a census was taken

which showed a population of 12,.535. In 1869 a

movement was made looking towards annexation with
( 'harlestown and Boston, and the representatives to

the General Court from Somerville were instructed

to vote for it. The movement, however, failed, and

from that time until 1871 the popular feeling grew

in favor of a city charter. In that year a petition

was presented to the Legislature, and on the 14th of

April, 1871, the act was passed.

On the 7th of December, 1871, the selectmen met

and counted and declared the vote for city and ward

officers. For Ward One, Ansel Lewis was chosen

warden, and M. B. Stebbins clerk ; for Ward Two,

Robert A. Vinal, warden, and Samuel S. sia-, clerk;
Ward Three, Samuel M. Penriock, warden, and ForcHt
f!. Hawes, clerk ; Ward Four, Lebbeus SteUon, war-
den, and George W. Pratt, clerk. George O. llarslow

was chosen mayor, and the following aldernien and
Common Council

:

Wm. II. Fiirlwr

riHrk lWiiin»n

Goorge W. Hadluy

.lubn R. Poor

Olmrlea G. Popo

K. \. r«rU»

.John T. Hoi Ion

Wttltor S. Banicrt

f\ K. Ityrnea

Mtclmel Dcelian

Oreu S. Knapp
GcrKii W. Wyatt

At<i*'ttnm.

Dlllii'l r. I linn

JlirohT. llllim

Perwoli IMviM

John G. Hall

COHKCU.

Allmrt Kpniimmn

Thomu II. I/unl

W«lj C. ('rung

K. D. Cvnant

Patrick llairvrly

Stewart Fruiich

H. F. WoliJa

Natbl. MorriaoD

The following persons have served a8 mayors of the

city since 18T2, in the years set against their naiiiex :

1872-73, George 0. Braatow ; 1«7 1 -7,'i, Wm. II. Furlii-r; l>.7''.-77,

AuBtin Belknap; 187K-SO, George A. Bnico ; 18«l-fi|, John A, Cum-
niingB; 1885-88, Mark F. Burns ; 1889-00, I'liarlmG. Po|>«.

At the ceremonies attending the inauguration of

the city government January 1, 1871, the meeting

was called to order by August Belknap, chairman of

the Board of Selectmen, and a |>rayer w:us otfereil by

Rev. Henry F. Harber. Hon. (icorge O. Braslow

then delivered his inaugural address. George Oliver

Brastow was born in Wrcntliam, September 8, 1811.

After a few years' residence in Maine he removed to

Somerville and engaged actively in busines-s. In

lS45hewa.sa selectman, from 1844 to 18G2 on the

School Committee, Represenlative in 1849-51 and

18(52, a member ol the Senate in 1854, 18(>(>-C9, and

President of the Senate in 1808 an<l again in l.S(!9

after the resignation of Robert C. Pitman on his ap-

pointment to the bench of the Superior Court. His
connection with the Somerville Light Infantry and

his service in the war have been already men-

tioned. After his return from the war he wius for a

time a paymaster in the army, and in 1874-7(1 he was

a member of the Executive Council. He died No-
vember 23, 1878.

AnniiKKS or Mayoe Bkabtow, .Ian. 1, 187'.!,

" (teutl^men o/ Uit I'ilij CoitncU

:

—In entering up4>n the (Itiliea amigniMl

me by the very flattering vote of my feIIow-citi/,on9, the flnit iinpulae

nf my heart ia to cxprei« my thanks for the honor which their coufl*

• Icnce confers iiixl to acknowledge my Aill appreciation of the reHp^mai-

bility wliich it impoaefl ui)on me. The cliauge frvni a town to a city form

of government was regarded by the wise and good men wlioeatalilislied

our State, as of KutHcient importance io be recognised and proTided for

in the Constitution of tlie Commonwealth.
" For about two conturica after Ilie settlement of the Colony the people

of Mnaanchusetit* adhered without cliange to the town ayslem of local

government. In small conuuunitiea the town organizjition is the nioet

desirable and the best, because it ia the most ainipic and the moat demo-

cratic. It brings the people frequently together to conaldorand diacnai

all matterspertaining to their municipal welfare, and by them all such

business is transacted in the town-meeting. But where a town has in-

creased in population beyond a certain limit, and its Tarious public needs

become more and more weighty and prcoeing, it ia Impoasible for the peo
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Iile In the crowdwl U)\vn-rop«-tiug to give to all the quet>tiunB which

Hfise that i;ari>rul delit^nilion which Iheir importance deinamlg ; con-

8eqiit*atly a di'Ifgattnl or city form of goveruiuent b«eoniefl a nece(«i(y.

The n'ul (lifftTt'iu-ei In the two forniB of government is just this: In the

town the |>ei.)|ile act direi'lly for thoniKelvec in * open town-meeluig,*

In the city the jteople eUu't certain olhi-ore to acl for them. This change

is eutirt'ly optional with (he iHu.ple themsolvee. No town can become a

city unleori itacili/ons desire iho rhnngo.

"Tlio city chtuler of Sonitrville, grunted by the last Legialatiire, ha*

been voted ii|K»n and legully accepted, and a city form of government

adopted tiy the people ; and to us, the City Council, they liave delegated

the public uffrtire of our new city. The Board of Aldermen and the

Cuinmon I'onncil, In the exeniee of their viirious duties, hipld to the City

Oovernmunt similar relative powers which the Senate und the House of

Kepriveiitatives do to the State tiovornniont ; the upper branrli being

conttidetLHl the conservative and the lower branch the popnlar body.

'* Each branch In its action bus a check upon the uihor
;
and this fea-

ture, and the fact that every nieaF^iire miiPt paas through several wtagoa ol

consiJt'iution before it is tinally adopted, is a peculiarity of a city form

of government as compared with that of a town, and furniBhes ample

security against hasty and inconsiderate action.

" I'pon ns itt imixised a great trust, and a weighty repponsibility—to

ns the welfare of our benulifu! and rapidly-growing city is confided.

" It is well that a divine blessing has been invoked for the future

welfare of our city, and it waa fitting that a thank offering was rendered

for tlie past prot-perity of our town.

"
1 congratulate you und I congratulate our fellow-citizens that this

change iu nur niunioipal government, which is the most important

event in our history, is made under circumstances so promising and so

encouraging.

"The present debt of the town, including the water bonds, is five

hundred und niuety-throe thousand three hundred and forty-nine dol-

lars, and the last assessed valuation of its public property is six hundred

and sixty thousiind dollars.

"The growth and increase in population and taxable property in

Somerville, and her progress in all that tends to improve and elevate a

comniunity, have been constant and rapid, from its incorporation as a

town in lh4'2 to the present time. Its beginning was small and humble,

and the contrast between its then 'day ofsmall things ' audits present vig-

orous population is most striking. At the time of itsincorporation the pop-

ulation of the town was only ten hundred and thirteen ; to-day our

population is fully sixteen thousand. In 1842 the assessed value of tax-

able property of the town wiis nine hundred and eighty eight thousand

five hundred tiiid thirteen dollars. In 1871 it was fifteen million seven

hundred and seventy-five thousiind dollars. The whole amount of money

raised by taxation in 1H4^ was four thousand seven hundred and tifty-

doUars ; in 1H71 the fimount was two hundred and sixty thonsand four

hundred and sixty doUare and ninety-five cents. In 1842 there were

but four schools and four teachers in Somerville ; to-day there are fifty

two schools and sixty-five teachers. The whole amount appropriated

for the support of Bcliools in 1842 was eighteen hundred dollars; the

amount appropriated the last year for the same purpose was fifty-nine

thousand four hundred rlollars. When incorporated as a town, and

for two yeare subsequent thereto, there was not a church edifice within

our corporate limits, nor did there exist a religious society distinct from

former parish conuectiuus ;to-day there are eleven church edifices, with as

many distinct organized religious societies. It will be seen from this brief

enumeration that our public schools have been one of our most popular

and cherished institutions, and always in advance of our progress in

wealth and population. They have ever stood high on the public rec-

ord ; and for several years Somerville has ranked number one in the

whole list of towns and cities iu the Commonwealth, judged by the

amount of money appropriated for each scholar. That the high charac-

acterof our schools liatcontributed ninch toward the rapid and vigorous

growth of our town there can be no doubt. They were never as a whole

in a more satisfactory condition than at the present time ; and I ven-

ture b\it little when I pledge, in the name of myself and my associates,

that they shall not be permitted to recede from their present high posi-

tion from any lack of judicious fostering care on the partof the new

City Government.

"The removal within a few days of the scholars of the High School from

the building occupied by thom in past years to the new and elegant edifice

just being completed, will leave the old Uigh School building unoccupied

and subject to such use as you may direct. I respectfully recommend that it

be set apart for a City Hall, and used for the purposes of the City Gov-

einment. With few alterations and small expense it can be made to af-

ford ample ami convenient accommodations for all our wants for several

years to come. If this recommendation meets the approval of the City

Council, I would suggest that the necessary allemtions be at once made
;

and that they incbulo a thoroughly lire-proof vhuU, sufliciently large for

the safe-kooping of the town as well as city records, the preservation

nf which nuist forever bo of inctilcuable importance.

"The proper care of our streets should, and, I have no doubt, will, re-

ceive that attention at your hands which their importance demands. At

Iho present time they are generally in bettor condition thiin usual ; es-

pecially is (his (he fact in regar<i (n (lit' main thoroughfares. In a city

making such nipid growth as ours, iind wlicre individual interests and

enterprise are consbinlly opening new stieets, the question of accepting

and maintaining thom by the city is one of daily increasing importance,

and will require the exorcise of our best judgment, in order that the

interests of the city, and of individual citizens, may be alike projierly

regarded. In this connection, I would recommend that a careful atten-

tion be given to the provisions of the betterment act, which have so

much impoi'tanco and such salutary bearing upon the question of laying

nut new streets and the altering of old r.nos ; as they liave, Jtlso. in re-

gard to drainage and the cotit^truction uf sewera. These two siiltjects

are so intimately connected that it is hardly possible— nor ie it desirable

—to 6"parate them. With so much presenting itself which requires

early attention, and while so little can be accomplished in one year, it

is impossible but that individuals must be luore or less annoyed by tem-

porary delays ; and there will be much less difficulty in deciding what

ought to be done than in determining what can best be deferred for a

brief season. When and where reasonably practicable, without impos-

ing too heavy taxation upon the people, the want of public improvement

surely ought not to retard private enterprise ; nor should the waiting

patience of individuals be unreasonably taxed. I trust that by constant

vigilance on your part, by reasonably liberal aiipropriations of money,

judiciously and prudently expended, the work of public improvement

will be sure and constant, and the past hopes and expectations of our

citizens be fully realized.

" Closely connected with the matter of streets and highways are the

street railroads, which pass through our municipal thoroughfares. They

were originally constructed with the T rail on the side of the streets
;

but having, in the judgment of the citizens, become practically the

cause of too much inconvenience, they were last summer removed from

Milk, Washington and Elm Streets, and new tracks were constructed in

the centre of the streets, with flat rails, and thoroughly paved. This

change has proved beneficial and satisfactory to our people. The same

chauge should be made on Broadway, and I recommend the application

of all proper means for its speedy accomplishment. In the matter of

common sewers, it is your duty to carry out what has been begun, and

of perfecting the present system. A considerable extent of sewerage has

been constructed, and, so far as I know, the plan has been proper and

the work well done. You will judge whether any iiuprovement can be

made upon the existing plan, and if so you will adopt them.

"Our Fire Department is, as it has been for many years, in a most

efliciont and satisfactory condition, and is regarded by our people with

feelings of just aud honest pride, not only for the services it has ren-

dered, but for the manly conduct and bearing of its officers and men.

For the toils, hardships and dangers which firemen encounter, their

greate.st reward, next to an approving conscience, is in the knowledge

that their labors are properly appreciated by their fellow-citizens ; and

in both these respects I am sure the Somerville firemen have been richly

rewarded. The proper mainteuauce and eucourageiueut of this indis-

pensible organization is iu our keeping.

"The comfort and convenience of a large proportion of our peoi'le have

been much enhanced by the introduction of Mystic water. JMore than

twenty-eight miles of pii)e are laid in our streets, with one hundred and

forty-six hydrants connected therewith and judiciously distributed over

our territory. The former appropriation for the water works has been

expended, and the respi>nsibility of their further extension, and of making

the requisite appropriation therefor, devolves upon you.

"The Police Department of Somerville has increased in numbers and

efficiency with an increase in population and wealth, until ithiw become

of great interest and importance. In ray judgment the force is well

organized and the members generally are vigilant and faithful to their

trust. In every large community a well-organized police is indispensable

for the protection of persons and property, aud for the maintenance of

good order ; and although strong by being clothed with the authority of

law, its usefulness aud efficiency depend upon the personal character

and manly deportment of its individual members, aud upop the moial
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support and eyiupathy uf tbo citizons, of wbosM Uvea uud propert/ tbey

lire the coiisttint prnt«ctorB ami Kuardiiins.

" Upon tlie Ili'rtlih Ih^partnuMit ro.sta a great rcspoud.bility. It is

chaigtMi witli duties vvlikh iininediutvly nflect thccouiforl and woll-beiDK

of every citizen. Inliinuli'ly connectod witli ttds dopartiueiit isainfttter

uf great importance, and uue wliicli clemuuds judicious cuiiaiderutloa

and ellicieiit action. I allude to tlie nuiwiuee In Miller's Kiver, cauded

Uy au accumulation of filth which covere a large area i>f Hats which are

bare at low water. Tlie tials are jmrtly in Sonierville ami itartly in

Cambridge, the river being the huundury lino between the two cities for

a Considerable ditslance, und both are equally rospunnibio for the

nuisance. Dviriug ' the heated term' uf last munnier, when the tide

wad out, the stench from the llata waa most odenMive. The eeloctmen

of Soniervilleandthe City Government ofCambridgo sought by united ami

harmouious action to improve tho condition of this locality. Tlio aid of

the State Board uf Health wa^ sought and stringent rule^ were adopted

for the preventation of further corruption of the water ; but in the judg-

ment of the authorities of Cambridge and Somervillo and of the State

Board of Health, nothing short of the tilling tlio flats with wind or

gnivel ciudd cure the existing evil, and such tilling cannot he under-

taken without jicrnUHsion from the Legislature. I know you will

heartily unite with the authorities of Oaiuhridgo in procuring the

needed legislation, and in devising the best and most speedy mode fur

abating the nuisance, and thereby reclaiminga large extent of worthless

territory to valuable building land. The improvement contemplated

embraces the construction by the two cities of a large box sewev of

sufficient size to conduct oITall the water of the Btroam, and to serve the

purpose for drainage for quite an extent of both localities.

" With the requisite legislation granted, it is hoped and expected that

the several owners of the Huts will at once enter upon the work of fill-

ing, and that without any re;i8unablo delay this great improvement will

be accomplished. Of course it will take time to complete the improve-

ments, and the people, realizing and acknowledging the fact that the

work of a year cannot be accomplished in a day, must endeavor for a

while to cultivate the virtue of patience.

" The services of the Board of Overeeera of the Poor, which in tin-

early history of our town were hardly required, are now and liave been

of late years of much importance in relieving the wants of the tiestitute

and needy. The people will require of their servants that this class be

kindly cared fur ; that necessary aid be cheerfully, not grudgingly

bestowed ; that none among us shall suffer from want of the neressnrieri

of life, and that no child be kept from school for want of jiroper cloth

ing. The Board of Soldiers' Relief have a most sacred duty to preform.

The sick and needy of our returned soldiers who etuhired hardships and

privations, and periled their lives for the preservation of our National

tJovernment, are worthy objects of our favor and solicitude. The peo-

ple of Somerville who in the time of their country's need exhibited so

much liberality in encouraging enlistments, and in care and providing

for the wants and conifurti of her men in the field, and their families at

home, will never consent that one of them shall suffer from want, or that

he or any one of his family shall ever be classed or treated as a pauper
;

and especially will they require that the families of our fallen heroes

shall be regarded with the most tender care. If the occasion per-

mitted I would gladly eay more in regard to the part which our peo-

ple took in promoting enlistments and furnishing volunteers for the

war ; but a single statement of Gen. William Sehouler in the second

volume of his m.jflt valuable 'History of Massachusetts in the Civil

\Var' mustsuflice. After speaking of the great liberality of our peo-

ple, both men and women, he says, 'Somerville furnished eleven hun-

dred and til iriy -five men for the war, wliich was a surplus uf one hundred

and forty-seven over and above all demands.' That statement stands ah

the proud record of our town, when its population was much k-ss than

at present, and that record will forever stand aa enduring proof of the

patriotism and liberality uf its people, who, by their devotion to the

public welfare, have in the years that have passed been steadily laying

the sure foundation of our city, which is destined at no distant day to

rank favorably among the older cities of our ('ommunwealth.

'* Gentlemen of the retiring Board of Selectmen : I cannot let the occa-

sion of entering upon my term uf oflicial 8ervit:e pass, without exjjressing

to you my appreciation of the magnitude and impurtanie uf your pub-

lic duties during the past year; and also my high appreciation of the

fidelity with which those duties have been discharged. In thus expreew-

iug to you my own judgment, and my own feelings, I am sure I am but

giving utterance to the sentinienta of all our citizens who have had op-

portunity to know and judge of your otficia! action. The faithful man-

ner in which the duties of a long line of town oflJcers have always been

porfornied, bwb«on mcMt crvditA) !•» (o ihi-ni, and m<«i >^%ii»S^tx>rj (uaii

ttppreciatlTu public ; nnd I cungretulato you itml In mtrlui; fr\im publk
service, you carry with you the cunlldencv, Uie mUxmh and the u^t
wirthes of 4>ur entire community.

"ilentlemenofthi'City Ouuncll: Tho|>poplpur Sumprrdlu.itlwnytcuii-

fiding and liberal, aro evi<r wairhful und exuding In rripint to all nut-
tera pertaining to the public good, and whilix (hey will Jij>tify llborml

apprupriutioui for the widfurc uf tlitt clly, Ihry will fxuct of lusuwro-
munt aiealouii devotion to Itit \arioiu dtithti, nnd a Judlcluiii eouoomy In

he oxjiondlture of the public tey. Lei lu mw t^i It Umt a<>duly tm
neglected, nnd that nut a dulUr bo wtuUcd."

Allusion li:i3 already heeii ma«U' to tlie nmall pop-
ulation of Somervillo, the meagre number of itM

school children and the few Hclioola maiiitHined for

their education at the time of the incorporation of

the town in 1842. After that date it became not only

necessary to improve schools already existing, but to

add new ones to meet the ra|»i<lly iucre;wing wanl« of

pupils. After the schools (tf low jrrade had been pro-

vided for, it was voted in the spring of l-sru to estab-

lish a HiKh School. The buililing now occupied as

a city hall waa first erected for the school. It was
designed to accommodate one hundred scholars,

and was dedicated on the '28th of A|tril, 18A2.

It opened with si.vty scholars, and Kobert Ileckford

with an assistant had char^'c. From ]X')4 to IS.08 two

assistants were employed. The old building being soon

outgrown, the present building on Prospect Hill woa
erected in 1871, and dedicated February 27, 1872. Since

Mr. Beckford left the school it has been under the

management of H, H.Babcock and George [.*. Baxter.

In May, 1889, the number of chlMrenin the town be-

tween the ages of five and tifteen was (U').J, for whom
during the last year, one hundred and sixteen schools

were provided, under the care of one hundred and

thirty-five teachers. The following is a list of the

school-houses in that year with the date of their erec-

tion and number of teachers. Most of these houses,

it will be understood, accommodate more than one

school

:

Buildings. Erection. Tchrs.

High 1871 10

Prescott 1SH7 12

Edgerly 1871 8

Davis 1884 4

Luther V. Bell .... 1ST4 18

Prospect Hill 1848 8

Cummiugs 1884 4

Brastow 18U1 2

Bennett 1868 4

.lacksou 1861 4

Webster 1808 8

I'nion 1842 1

Forster iSllC. 14

Bingham ISHU 4

The amount expended for the support of schools

in 189W was, For school contingent, $2(),55G ; fuel,

*t>,04^).yO ; school-house incidentals, $14,22'>.:i8 ; sala-

ries, $lW.r).4!t, making a total of $13M,8SMJ.77. Be-

sides these aniount.s ihc sum of ;?2r>,<M)0 was appropri-

ated for school-house in Ward 2, of which ::=1 1,727.14

was ex])ended, and the sum of $L'r>,oOO was appropri-

ated for addition to the Morse School-house, of which

$543y.88 was expended. Beside the above schools

Buildings. En>ctiun. Tchm.

Cedar Street 1843 1

Monte I8tj'.t i»

Beech Street 1872 1

Spring Hill \^5tt I

Franklin 184H 4

Harvard IsAl I

Burns I88G 4

Highland 1880 9

UdcoId ...... 1885 4

Elm Street 2

Music 1

Dniwing 1

A^wing 1
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there were the St. Joseph's Parochial School, under

the care of Sister Mary Gertnule and eleven assistants,

and the Kindergarten Scliottl on Somerville Avenue,

conducted by Alice L. Warren and Sarah E. Kilmer.

The following is a complete list of expenditures of

the city in 1889 for various departments:

Fire Departnient, $40,010.71 ; Health Department,

|i5220.M ; Highways, 5^51,358.1)5 ; Indigent Soldiers

and Sailors, $1500; Interest, $45,824.16; Miscellan-

eous, $1).S73.25; Police, $41,241.08; Public Library,

$0151.00; Public Grounds, $9109.58; Printing and

Stationery, $.'>189.11 ; Keduction of Funded Debt,

$38,000; Salaries, $25,494.91; Schools, $133,890.77
;

Sewers, $15,710.07; Sidewalks, $8,054.89; Street

Lights, $10,980.17 ; Support of Poor, $14,010.92 ; Wa-

tering Streets, $9228.28; Water Maintenance. $16,-

542.35 ; County Tax, $21,307.03 ; State Tax, $27,560
;

Overlay, $0997.37 ; School-house in Ward 2, $14,727.-

14 ; Addition to Morse School-house, $5439.88 ; Wa-

ter Works Extension, $82,279.20. The value of the

property of the city is estimated at $1,287,023.44. The

funded debt, December 31, 1889, was $952,500. and

at the same date the valuation was $30,004,600.

The following societies and institutions are in ex-

istence in Sonierville at the present time;

SOEiierville SaviugH Bauk, lucurpurate<I February 21, 18S5.

Suiiiervillu Cu-o|>erativu Bank.

John Abbot I.oiJge of Masons, chartered September 8, 1858.

Soley liOtlgi- of MaauuH, chartered April 2, 1S79.

Suiiurrville R. A. Chapter, charter«fd October 10, ISTl.

Uritiiit OjunL'il of Uo.val and Select Masters, establiehed Jan. 26, 1889.

<>aaiH Lodge of 0d«I Fellowa, instituted September 17, 1808.

Paul Itevere Lodge, instituted March 15, 187a.

Caleb Rand Lodge, instituted May 2!i, 1888.

Somerville Encampment, No. 48,

Grand Canton Washington, No. 0, P. M., instituted May 9, 1883.

Component, No. 16.

Component, No. 17.

Erwiiiie Lodge, No. 76, Daughters of Rebekah ; IvaDhoe Lodge, No. 7,

instituted January 28, 1870.

Odd Follows* Building Aaaociation, incorporated June 4, 1884.

American Legion of Honor, Prospect Council, No. 111.

Ancient Order of Forestere.

Ancient Order of Ilibernians, Division No. 6, instituted 1876 ; Diviaiou,

No. 17, instituted 1872.

Ancient Order of United Workmen, Somerville Lodge, No. 48.

British American Asaociatiun, Branch No. 10, organized October, 1S87
;

Branch No. 5^.

Brotherhood of Carpenters and Joiners, Local Union No. 24, organized

July IG, 1888.

Equitable Aid Union, Mystic Union, No. 703, instituted March 9, ISSii;

Somerville Subordinate Union, instituted May 23, 1889.

Willard C. Kinsley Post 1.19, G. A. R.

Sons of Veterana, Henry B. Leighton Camp, 16.

Woman's Relief Corps, Willard C. Kinsley, No. 21.

Somerville Fife, Drum and Bugle Corps.

Home Circle—Harmony Council, No. 43, ins. March 8, 1882; Irving

Council, No. 44, ins. March 23, 1882 ; Somerville Council, No. 103
;

Washington Council, No. 9, ins. February, 1880.

Knightfland Ladies of Honor, Evening Star Lodge, No. 792.

I. 0. of Red Men, Webcowet Tribe, No. 66 ; Wonohaquaham Tribe,

No. 69.

Knigbta of Honor, Warron I^oilge, No. 182, instituted November, 1875
;

Mt. Benedict Lodge, No, 872, instituted January, 1878 ; Cameron
Lodge, No, 1146, instituted July 2, 1S78 ; Winter Hill Lodge, No. 423.

Knighta of Labor, Asaembly No. 2619 ; Ernest Assembly.

Knighls of Pythifia, Franklin Lodge, No. 41, instituted May 23, 1870.

L. O. L., Mount Horeb Lodge, No. 19, organized April 18, 1871,

Order of the Iron Hall, Local Branch, No. 257, org. Nov. 11, 1886 ; Lo-

caTBreDcb, No. 314 ; Local Branch, No. 430 ; Local Branch, No. 886.

org. Oct. 26, 1888; Sisterhood Brancli, No. 690, org. Nov. 12, 1887;

SisliThoiKl Bmnch, No. 866, org. October, 1S88.

Ma«8. Catholic Order of Foresters, Count Benedict, No. 39.

Now England Itrder of Protection, Prospect Lodge, No. 71 ; Warren

I/odge, No. 26.

Pla**torors' Union of Cambridge and Somerville.

Royal Arcanum, Elm Council, No. 36, instituted Doc. 5, 1877.

Company M, 8th Regiment, M. V. M.

Royal Society of Good Fellows, Mt. Benedict 'AtiBembly, No, 119, ins.

Oct. 25, 1887; Prospect Aaaembly, No, 73 ; Somerville Assembly, No.

22, org. July 1, 1880.

Royal ('onclave of Knighta and Ladies, Charles E. Uilman Council, No.

24 ; John A. Cummiugs Council, No. 13 ; Mystic Council, No. 14 ;

Provident Council, No. 7.

Women's Christian Temperance Union—East Somerville, Union Si|uare,

West Somerville, Winter Hill.

Young Women'sChristian Temperance Union.

St. Josepli'fl Total Abstinence and Benevolent Society, org. Dec. 14, 1873.

I'nited Fellowflhip, Reliance Council, No. 55.

Order of United Friends, Revere Council, No. 235; Union Square Coun-

cil, No. 202 ; Exi'.elsior Council, No. 3 ; Somerville Council, No. 6
;

Unity Council, No. 59.

Golden .Star Lodge, No. 82, L. 0. G. T., org. 1881.

Sons of Temperance, Kinsley Division, No. 88; Prospect Division, No
89; Prospect Section, No. 7, org. 1888; Putnam Commandery, No
38, org. 1888 ; Crystal Wave Commandery, No. 264.

Order of Tonti, Somerville Lodge, No. 316.

Tenders' Union.

U. 0. of L. O. L., Unity Lodge, No. 7. org. 1884.

United Order of Pilgrim Fathers, Clarendon Colony, No. 73 ; Delft

Haven Colony, No. 27.

United Order of the Golden Cross, Grand Commandery of Mass.

Atlas Real Estate Association, organized Jan. 4, 1889.

Central Club, incorporated Dec. 13, 1886.

Fireman's C'haritable Association.

Hillside Club, Winter Hill, org. Oct. 18, 1882.

McLean Asylum.

(5wl Club, organized June 14, 1880.

Royal Arcanum Social Club, Excelsior Council.

Shiel Literary Association.

Somerville Chess Club.

Somerville Union Hall Association, incorporated April 17, 1809.

Webcowet Club.

Somerville Catholic Lyceum.

Somerville Cycle Club.

Somerville Improvement Society.

Somerville Young Men's Christian Association.

Somerville Wharf and Improvement Company, incorp. March 29, 1880.

Firemen's Relief Association, incorporated March 28, 1890.

Somerville High School Association.

Among the manufacturing establishments in the

town are the American Tube Works, organized in

1871, and having a capital of $300,000; the Eagle

Shade Roller Company, incorporated in 1881, with a

capital of $100,000 ; the Middlesex Bleachery, with a

capital of $300,000, and the Union Glass Company,
organized in 1864, with a capital of $50,000. Among
other industries is the North Packing Company, with

their slaughtering establishment on i\ledford Street,

with a capacity of two thousand hogs per day.

The Somerville Police Court was established by an

Act of the Legislature, passed April 23, 1872. Its

officers are Isaac Story, justice, Charles G. Pope and

John Haskell Batten, special justices, and Herbert

A. Chapin, clerk.

The city government for the year 1890 is composed

of the following officers:

Mayor : Charles G. Pope.

Aldermen ; Ward I. Charles Hemenway, president, Charles B. San-

born.

\
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Ward 2—George A. Kimball, Allen F. Carpenter.

Ward 3—Ezra D. Souther, Alvaiio T. Nickunwii.

WurJ 4—Jobu \V. Couvurtfe, Alburt W. Ethnaiids, George I. Vincent,

clerk.

Common ColTNCiL: Ward 1—Clarence H. Wllloy, Edwin A. Wilcox,

Eilric Klbridge, George W. I'ricbard.

Ward 2—Cliarles S. Dultore, I.. Hoger Wi.ntwortli, William .1. Mc-

Lean, William M. Armstrong.

Ward 3—C'linrlea B. Osgood, president, W illiam K. Piilnif.r, William

L. Harber, Kniiik K. Dirkcrman.

Ward 1—iMaac K. Weblicr, William \. Unnnewell, Frank K. Morrill,

Newell F. Caswell, Cliuiica S. Kobertson, clerk.

Scniior. CoMMlTTKR : Charles G. l*ope, mayor ex ojWcfo, Charles H.

Osgood, president of Conncil rx ojflcin.

Ward 1—.S. Newton Cutler, term expires LS'Jl ; Horace C. While,

term expires 1892 ; Honice P. Uenuuiway, term expin'S IS'.K).

Ward 2— .\. II. Ourvill, term expires Isltl ; .lames K. Beard, term ex-

pires lsy2 ; Charles 1. .Shepartl, term expires \SW.

\Vard 3—Norman W. Hingbani, term exiiires LSyl; Quincy K. Itick-

erman, term expires ls'.t2 ; Williatu I*. Hill, term exjiires Is'.m.

Ward 4—Giles W. Bryant, term expires 1S'.I2
; Martin W. Carr, term

expires 1S90 ; Addie B. Lfpliani, term expires l!Sl»t.

SlU'EKlNTENPFNT OF Scnool.s .\N0 Skcketauv : f'laroiieu K. Meleny.

AssE.sson8 : Beiyamin F. Tbonip.soii, term expires 1800; George W.

Hadley, term exi>ires 1891 ; Hiram D. Sniitli, term exi)ire8 1892; Wui.

P. Mitchell, clerk.

Assist.\NT Assessors: Ward 1—George W. Bartlett.

Ward 2—Pavid .\. Sanborn.

Ward .3—Eilgar T. .Mayhew.

Ward t—Samuel T. liichanls.

BoAKD OF IIe.vltii t J. Frank Wellington, chairman, term expires

18'JI ; Alvah B. Dearborn, term expires 1892 ; Charles B. Cj-ane, term

expires 1892 ; Williani P. Mitchell, clerk ; Caleb A. Page, inspector.

Overseers of the Poor ; Charles G. Pope, mayor, chairman ex officio ;

Charles G. Brett, four years from 1889 ; Herbert E. Hill, four years

from 1886 ; Edward B. West, Daniel 0. Stillson, Charles C. 'I'olsou,

agent ; Frank W. Kaati, secretary.

W.vTKR BoARO : _ Adtia C. Widding, Walter C. Meutzer, Samuel W.

Holt, Frank G. Lombard, Frank A.Titus, Nathaniel Dennett, superiu-

tendent ; Frederick W, Stone, secretjiry.

Registrars of Voteus: Cromwell G, Rowell, chairman, Charles P.

Lincoln, William B. Hawes, George I. Vincent, city clerk.

Trustees of Library : (Jeorge A. Bnice, term expires 1892; William

E. Weld, term expires 1893; James E. Whitaker, term expires 1S93;

John B. Veall, term expires 1893 ; Charles S. Lincoln, term exi>ires

1891 ; Christopher E. Rymes, term expires 1891 ; Elijah C. Clark, term

expires 1892 ; Henry Flitner, term expires 1891 ; Charles H. Brown, term

expires 1892.'

Librarian : Harriet A. Adams.

City Clerk : George A. Vincent.

City Treasurer and Collector : John F. Cole.

Messenger : Jairus Mann.

Solicitor ; Selwyn Z. Bowman.

Auditor : Charles S. Robertson.

Engineer ; Horace L. Eaton.

Superintendent of Streets : Thomas H. Eanies.

Superintendf.nt of Buildings and Lights: Thomas R. Rnulstone.

Chief of Police: Melville C. Parkluirst.

Chief Engineer of Fiee Department: James R. H(H)kins.

Inspector of Buildings : James R. Hopkins.

City Physician: Alvah B. Dearborn.

Inspector of Milk and Vinegar: Thomas Cunningham.

There are three newspapers iu the town, with job

printing offices attached—the Somerville Journal, the

Artisan, and the Sentinel.

On the 2.5th of March, 1874,jSomerviIle was author-

ized Ijy law to t:ike land for a public ]iark. Under

the authority conferred by this act, about sixteen

acre.s of the Temple, or Ten llills farm, on the banks

of Mystic River, have been taken and converted into

a park, which has probably cost up to the present

time between three and four hundred thousand dol-

lars.

Besides the clergymen and mayorH whoau iiaiiiM

have been mentionod in this sketch, there are many
others who should be referred to ii8 identified with
the life and prosperity of Somervilio. It is making
almost an invidious distinction to include liero the

names of a few, wliile there are and have been numy
wortiiy of credit. To the names of James .M. !?liiite,

Thonuts Cunningham, (ieorge U. Urastow, (itnirge A.

liruce. S. 'A. Bowman, .1. R. I'oor, Nelson llowo,

Charles >1. (iiiild .iiid .1. Haskell might be added a

longlist of tho.se of other citizens who have per-

formed their full share in promoting the welfare of

their native or adopted town.

In closing this sketch of rfonu-rville il may not

be improper to allude lo the probiible future of this

enterprising and rapidly-growing town. Had il not

been detached from Charlestown it would of course

have been long before this n part of Boston. Wo far

as the cause of its being is concerned, and the inspi-

ration of ita life it is really a |>art of Boston now.

Upon the business of Boston, and its ]>rosperity and

growth, the future increase and prosperity of .Sim-

erville depend. So many of it.s jicople, both male

and female, are engaged in enterprises and seek em-
ployment in that city, that the welfare and good gov-

ernment of the metropolis are almost as much nuilters

of interest to them as their own. The time, there-

fore, may not be f:ir distant when the city which its

people have noiirishi>d in its infancy and youth, will

become in its full manhood a part of that great muni-

cipality which, with Somerville, Cambridge, Med-
ford. Maiden, Everett, Chelsea, Brocklineand Water-

town embraced within its limits, will, at the end of

another decade, include nearly nine hundred thousand

inhabitants within its borders.

BIOGRAPHICAL.

HON. JAME.S .M. .SlIIITK.

Mr. Shute is descended from Richard Shute, who
appcareil in Medford in 1G42, and had a wife, Eliza-

beth, and a sou, Kichard. The son, Richard, had a

wife, Lydia, and a son, .fohn, born in Maiden, March

26, !()99. .John h:id a son, Ebenezer, who wjus one of

twelve children, and was born in Maiden, Sept. 28,

174(1. Ebenc/.er had a son, Ebenezer, born in Maiden,

who married Susanna Beal,of Hingham, and had six

children. The last Ebene/er was a carpenter and

builder, and removed to Boston, where the subject of

this sketch, one of hischihlren, was born, May 5, 1812.

Mr. Shute atlemhMl the |>ubllc schools of Boston

and graduated at the Boston lOnglisli High ScluMd.

He learned the tr:ide of printer, and soon ;iftcr se-

cured employment with the Boston Type and Stereo-

type Foundry. This foundry wa-s esttiblished in

Charlestown, in 1817, by Elisha While, as a branch

of his foundry iu New York. In 1818 the property
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was bought by Charles Ewer and Timothy Bedling-

toii, who iippoiiiteil Samuel Hftskell superintendent,

and fiiiully removed the establishment to Boston,

where it was conducted for several years, on Wash-

ington Street, in the rear of the store of Samuel T.

Armstrong, between Court Street and Cornhill. Up
to that time the method prevailed of moulding and

easting type by hand. The process was of course a

slow one, and made the daily product of tyi)e small

and its cost high. About the year 1820 the first

machines were invented for casting type, and their

use was attempted by the company. In 1829 the

foundry company was incorporated as the Boston

Type and Stereotype Foundry.

Jlr. Shute, after some years of faithful service as

an employee of the company, was appointed, while

still a young man, its agent and treasurer, and with

his asaumi'tion of its management may be dated the

birth of that prosperity which has since marked its

career. He continued in the management until 1852,

when the establishment was sold to John K. Rogers

and David Watson, and carried on in the name of

John K. Rogers & Company until in 18C5, it was

incorporated as the Boston Type Foundry, the name

the company now bears.

When Mr. Shute a-ssumed the management of af-

fairs the experiments with the type-machines had

not proved successful. The type produced by them

were pressed in the form with a want of uniformity,

and thus here and there a letter failed to make its

proper impression on the printed page. Mr. Shute

after further trial abandoned their use and ordered

them destroyed. At this juncture David Bruce, of

New York, appeared at the foundry with a machine

which he claimed remedied all the defects of the old

machines, and ottered it for sale to the company. Its

merits were at once detected by Mr. Shute, and its

defects also ; but, believing that the defects could be

remedied, he bought the right to use it in the manu-

facture of type for general sale, and to manufacture

the machines for the New England market. Mr.

Leonard, an intelligent artisan, was at once engaged

to make a new machine, heavier in all its parts, with

some alterations suggested by Mr. Shute. The result

was a successful one, and until the patent on the ma-

chine expired the company held the market at its

own price. The process of electrotyping fancy types

and borders was also introduced by Mr. Shute, and

added largely to the profits of the company's business.

During his connection with the foundry company he

laid the foundation for wealth on which, in later

years, by shrewd business management he has been

steadily building.

In 1848 Mr. Shute removed to Somerville, then a

town in the sixth year of its municipal life, and at

once won the confidence and esteem of his fellow-

citizens. From 1853 to 1859, inclusive, after his

retirement from active business in Boston, he served

as chairman of the Board of Selectmen of his adopt-

ed town, and on declining further service, the town,

at its annual nieetingheld on the 5th of March, IStiU,

voted " that the thanks of the town be presented to

the Hon. James M. Shute, for the able, energeticand

faithful manner in which he has for several years

performed the arduous duties of chairman of the

Board of Selectmen, and that they be entered upon

the books of the town."

From 18()1 to 18G4, inclusive, he was a member of

the E.vecutive Council, and no member of the board

during those years held more confidential relations

with Governor Andrew, or was held by him in

higher esteem. During the busiest and most exacting

years of the war he was chairman of the Finance

Committee of the Council, and the admirable finan-

cial condition of the Commonwealth at the close of

the struggle is a sufficient commentary on his service.

As chairman of the Hoosac Tunnel Commission

for several years, he rendered valuable service to the

State. On the resignation, in WM, of John M.
Brooks, a member of the commission he was anxious

to have ex-Governor Andrew appointed in his

place, and proposed to surrender to him the position

of chairman. Governor Bullock, of course, was

ready to make the appointment, and Mr. Andrew

gave a hesitating consent to accept it. This consent,

however, he afterwards withdrew in the following

letter to Mr. Shute which is included in this sketch

for the purpose of showing both the relations exist-

ing between him and Mr. Shute, and the conscien-

tiousness which he carried with him into the perform-

ance of public duties

:

"96 Washington Stkeet, Boston, Oct. 16, 1S66.

" My dear Mr. Shute :—I have again reconsiiiere"! the subject of which

we talked yesterday, and witli every desire tu iielp you, and to aid the

grand design of another through route to tlie Lalies, I am still wholly

uuable to perceive how / could he of substantial advantage without Bo

far neglecting ' The Law ' as to injure ine pecuniarily very much uiore

than any compensation I should receive would repay. For I could never

he aatiflfied without trying to master every problem, nor without doing

my utmost to conquer success, on whatever line of action we might under-

take to ' tight it out.' Thus 1 should soon find myself iu over head and

ears, to this work, neglecting all other things, working at a trade other

than my own, and losing sight of the onlij trade which til my own ; and

when I know f^o many men whom 1 think to he better Atted at the

moment than 1 am to take a leading part on your Board, 1 do not feel

that, in declining it, I omit any duty. I am very grateful for your kind

and generous appreciation of me, as well as for the cordial and friendly

way in which you have always treated me during an acquaintance both

intimate and confidential, in which we have shared together the cares

of office.

" Nor do I fail to recognize the Governor's good will and consideration

towards me in consenting to entertain my name when presented and to

give it precedence. I owe, both to the Governor and yourself, my
hearty thanks, and hope always to remain,

" Your sincere friend & servant,

"John A. Andrew."

Mr. Shute married, November 25, 1835, Mary Eaton,

daughter of Thomas Robinson, of Boston, at that

time engaged in business in Chili, and has had thirteen

children. Of these, two died in infancy, one, a girl,

at four years of age, and two sons at full age. Of
these two sons, Thomas Robinson died in the Feejee

Islands, and the other, James M., Jr., married Helen
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Damon, of Holden, and died in Somerville. Tlie re-

maining children, five diuigliters and three sons, are

all married. Walter, the oldest son, is engaged in the

lumber business in Charlestown ; Frank, the second

son, carries on the hardwiire business in Boston ; and

Arthur, the third son, is in the lumber business in

Ellsworth, Maine. Two of the daughters live in Cam-
bridge, two in Somerville, and one in Boston.

About 1870 Mr. Shute sull'ered a severe fracture of

a thigh-bone, from the effects of which lie was for a

long time contine<l to his house in Somerville. After

a partial recovery he removed to Boston al)out twelve

years ago, purchasing the house No. l;i7 Newbury
Street, where, with his wife and the children of his

deceased son James, he still lives. Thewritef of this

sketch has known him for many years, both in public

and private life, and has had occasion to know the

esteem in which he has been held, botli as a private

citizen and a servant of the State.

KNOWLTON SAMPSON CHAFFEE.

Matthew Chaffee lived in Boston as early as 1636,

and was a ship carpenter by trade. He was made a

freeman May 17, 1637, and was a member of the Artil-

lery Company in 1642, and removed to Newbury in

1649, where he bought a large farm of Dr. John Clark.

Thomas Chaftee was in Hingham in 1636, and removed

to Swansey before 1660. From one of these the sub-

ject of this sketch is descended.

He was born in Becket, Massachusetts, July 11,

1814. His father and grandfather, both named
Thomas, lived in Becket and carried on the business

of farming. Thomas Chaffee, the father, born in

Becket, March 15, 1768, married at Ashfonl, Conn.,

November 21, 1791, Abigail, daughter of Colonel

Abraham Knowlton, of Lee, and had the following

children : Sampson Knowlton, born August 4, 1792;

Frederick, November 25, 1793 ; Wolcott, May 3, 1795

;

Numan H., December 15, 1796 ; Alma, February 9,

1801 ; Anna H., February 4, 1803 ; Thomas S., March

24, 1805 ; Lucinda, January 12, 1807 ; Prentiss, Jan-

uary 1, 1809; Abigail H., April 12, 1811, and Knowl-

ton Sampson, the subject of tliis sketch, July 11,

1814.

Mr. Chaffee attended the public scliools of his

native town and the Lenox Academy, leaving the

latter institution at the age of eighteen. As his

father's means were small he was obliged at this age

to earn his own living and assist if possible in the

maintenance of the family home. His first occupa-

tion was that of driving a peddler's wagon, which in

the days before railroads were built, when small

traders found it difficult to travel to central points for

purchasers, and drummers were unknown, was an

important one, and was carried on in New England

to an extent almost equaling in magnitude in some

instances, by especially enterprising men, the busi-

ness of many well-known wholesale merchants of our

own day. In this line «( l)u»im'ss tlu- \Mr .lameH
Fiske began his career, and the highly fiuir.h.d car-

riiiges and well-groomed horses of the various ownerM
and drivers rattled into the villagf< of MiwsHchusctU
with as much llourish and e.vcitement aj* attended the
arrivals of coaches on the ditferent important lines uf

travel. It was not long before Mr. Chaffee owned and
drove his own team, and by unusual enterprise and
activity laid the foundations of the wealth which in

later years lie has been able to accumulate.

With a min<l and resources outgrowing one after

another the limited opportuniliiit which such a man
would naturally find in the kinds of business first

sought by him in earning a livelihood, after a few

years of peddling he engaged in the stage husinesit on
the great through route from Springfield to Albany.
First as driver ami aficrwards as a proprietor, he con-

tinued in this busiuoss until the establishment of rail-

road lines drove the stages off the road. While acting

as driver his day's work was in auuimer and winter,

in all weathers from Springfield to West Stockbridge

and back. By the exposure attending these early oc-

cupations lie secured a rugged constitution which has

served him well in the responsible enterprises with

which he has since been connected. While still a

young man he removed to Somerville, in the earliest

years of that town, and established himself in the coal

business at tide-water in East Cambridge. After liv-

ing in Somerville three or four years he removed to

East Cambridge and has since that time made that

part of Cambridge his home.

In the coal business his means permitted him to

start only in the humblest way. By economy, thrill,

thorough integrity and the exercise of a shrewd

judgment in the general management of his trade,

the business, however, grew to large proportions, and

the savings of his earlier years began to swell into

rapidlyaccumulating wealth. So thoroughly were his

business qualities appreciated by those with whom he

came in contact, that he was early made a director in

the Lechmere National Bank at East Cambridge, and

fiually ptesi<lent of the Union Horse Hallway Com-
pany. He was also for many years the treasurer of

the Union Glass Company in Soniervillc, of which

his son was until his death business manager. His

position in these two companies finally demanded the

use of all his time and the coal business waa abandoned.

His position in the railroad company was especially

anardousaud res|)onsibleone. The I'liion Company
owned and ran all the Cambridge lines, and the

Everett and Watertown and Newton lines, and, under

his watchful eye and incessant scrutiny, grew into

that great corporation which became finally the

property of the West End Company, and the nucleus

of that organisation, which is doing so much towards

the solution of the |iroblem of rapid-trmiHit in the

city of Boston.

Mr. Chaffee married in Lee, January 27, 1836,

Amelia Shaylor, daughter of Plioy Sbaylor, of that
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town, and has had one son, Charles S. Chaffee, who

(lied in 1S78, at tlie ago of tliirty-nine years, an active,

enterprising man, wlio attiietime ofliis death, as lias

already been mentioned, was the liusiness manager

of the Union tilass Company in f^omerville.

Mr. Chaffee was brought up in the Baptist faith,

and still belongs to the Baptist organization. In

politics he was reared a Whig, butbecame a Democrat

on the dissolution of tlie Wliig party, and is an earnest

and conscientious opponent of the policy of the

Republicans, lie was a deleg.ate to the Democratic

National Convention in Charleston in 18(10, and at

that time a supporter of Douglas for the Presidency.

He was a member of the House of Representatives in

ISO.'J, and of the Senate in 1S()8, and in various other

ca))acities he has faithi'uUy served confiding con-

stituencies. After a long life of active labor, he now

lives in East Cambridge, in feeble health, and since

the death of his wife, in 1889, lias depended for the

comforts which an old man needs, on the faithful and

loving care of an adopted daughter, who anticipates

every want and alleviates the burdens of his declining

years.

CHARLES H. NORTH.

The subject of this sketch was born in Thomas-

ville, Georgia, April 8, 1832, and is the son of Charles

P. and Lydia (Kendall) North, of West Winsor,

Vermont. He is descended from .Tohn North, who came

to Boston in the "Busan and Ellen" in 1635, at the

age of twenty, and settled in the same year in Farm-

ington. Conn. His father, Charles P. North, was born

in West Winsor, and his grandfather Aaron North,

who became a permanent resident in West Winsor,

was born in Farmington, Conn. Charles P. North,

the father, was in business a number of years in the

South, but when the war of 1861 broke out he was

living in Covington, Kentucky. Early in the war he

enlisted in an Ohio regiment, and while serving with

the rank of captain, was killed at the battle of

Shiloh.

At the age of four years Charles H. North, the

subject of this sketch, went to West Winsor, and was

brought up in the family of his grandfather Kendall,

the father of his mother. Until he was fourteen

years of age he attended the common schools of that

town, and from fourteen to eighteen was employed in

farming. At the age of eighteen, he went to Waltham,

Mass., where, after a year's service in a bakery, he

entered French's Academy, and there received an ad-

ditional year's education. At the age of nineteen he

entered the employ ofSewall Blood, a Wallham baker,

and was engaged two years driving his customers'

wagon. At the age of twent)'-one he removed to

Boston, and was employed in the Quincy Market by

John P. Squire, at twelve dollars a month. He had
already, before going to Waltham, a short experience

in the same market.

At the age of twenty-two he leased stall No. 29, in

Quincy Market, and there established himself on his

own account in the business of selling pork. The
energy and rKlelity to business which he displayed

had already borne their fruit in result unusual for

so young a man, and gave promise of a career of

enterprise and success. His enlarging business re-

quired more room than a single stall could furnish,

and not long after he established himself in No. 29,

he bought out the lessee of No. 27, and occupied an

entire square. Not long afterwards, he added the

store now occupied by him in North Market Street

to the needed accommodations of his business.

Until 1867, Mr. North continued alone in business,

but in that year he formed a partnership with .John

N. Merriam, S. Henry Skilton and Newman E.

Conant. Under the new partnership the business of

killing hogs was added to their previous enterprise,

and a killing and packing-house was established in

Somerville. In 1872, Mr. North bought out the share

of Mr. Merriam in the business, and that gentleman

retired from the firm. At the end of ten years more
he bought out Mr. Conant, and until the present year

the firm has since continued with only Mr. North

and Mr. Skilton as members.

In January, 1890, a corporation was formed with a

capital of twelve hundred thousand dollars, and the

partnership ceased to exist. Of this corporation en-

titled the " North Packing Company," G. F. Swift, of

Chicago, is pre.sident ; E. C. Swift, of Boston, treas-

urer; Charles H. North, general manager, and S.

Henry Skilton, assistant manager.

In June, 1878, the packing-house of the firm of C.

H. North & Co., in Somerville, was burned and a loss

was sustained over and above insurance of eight hun-

dred thousand dollars. Another packing-house was se-

cured before the tire was extinguished, and prepara-

tions were at once made, not only to resume, but to

largely increase the former business. With present

accommodations the company is killing two thousand

hogs daily, and arrangements are soon to be com-
pleted for the transaction of double that amount of

business. At the present time the pay-roll of the

company contains the n.ames of thirteen hundred

men, receiving thirteen thousand dollars per week.

Probably the name of no man in the world is better

known throughout the various channels of the special

trade in which he is engaged than that of Mr. North.

He finds his market in every nation of the globe, and

it is not an exaggerated statement that the product of

his establishment would furnish an abundance of

food for a half a million of persons every day in the

year.

Mr. North has discovered several remedies which

are sold on their merits and which he believes are

a great relief to suffering humanity. These remedies

are : North's pure white pepsin, North's rheumatic

cure, kidney cure, cure for heart disease and liver

cure.

Mr. North after removing to Boston made that city
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his place of residence until 1876, when he removed to

Prospect Hill, Somerville, where he now lives. He
married, September 24, isr^i, Jane, daui^hter of Micali

N. Lincoln, of Went Winsor, Vermont, and has eight

children now living: Wayne H., Charles L., Jennie,

Mark N., fieorge, Onata, Frederick Iv. and Harry J.

Mr. North is in theology orthodox, and in politics

Republican, having departed from the Democratic

faith in the tnuisformalion scenes immediately he-

fore and after tlie secession of the States of the South.

It is only necessary to read the record of his career,

to form a true estimate of the predominant traits in

his character. To have created and controlled tiie

great enterprise in which he has for so many years

been engaged, reipiircd peculiar and strong natural

powers, both i>hysical and mental. These Mr. North

possesses to an eminent degree. Good intellectual

capacity, a readiness to plan and promptitude to ex-

ecute, a devotion and concentratedncss in his work,

an indomitable resolution and a courage almost

heroic, and witlial a hopeful spirit not easily

quenched, are the elements which have given their

possessor power, and made his career a success. He
illustrates well the true American, who with health,

strength, industry and integrity, under the elevating

influences of a free government, cannot fail to win

both reputation and wealth.

RUPUS BAERUS STICKNEY.'

The subject of this sketch is descended from Robert

Stickney of Frampton, in Lincoln.shire, England.

William Stickney, son of Robert, was baptized

December 30, 1558, and married, June 10, 1585, Mar-

garet Pieraon. William, son of the last William, was

baptized in St. Mary's Church in Frampton, Septem-

ber 6, 1592. He came from Hull to New England

in 1037 with his wife Elizabeth and three children,

Samuel, Amos and i\Iary, and landed at Boston from

whence he went with his family to Rowley, of which

place he was one of the first settlors. Samuel Stick-

ney, one of his three children, was born in England

in 1633 and married, first, in Rowley, April 18, 1653,

Julia Swan, and second, in Bradford, April 6, 1074,

Prudence (Leaven) Gage. William, one of the chil-

dren of Samuel, was born in Bradford, January 27,

1074, and married in that town, September 14, 1701,

Anne Hazeltine. He died in Bradford, February 21,

1706, leaving three children. William, one of the

children was born in Bi'adford, October 14, 1705, and

manie<l in Billerica, in June, 1729, Anne Whiting,

who died in Billerica 'March 25, 1749, at the age of

forty- four years. He married second, November 23,

1749, Hannah (Ballard) widow of Jeremiah Abbot, of

Billerica. His second wife died February 17, 1789,

at the age of seventy-five. Eleaser Stickney, one of

the fourteen children of the last William, was born in

iBy Wm, T. Davia.

Billerica, .\ugust 30, 1740, and marriivl tliere. January
25, 17ii2, Martha, daughter of Samuel Brown, who
died May 21, 1818. On the 24th of April, 177.'.. he
enlisted from the town of Wilmington, iw recoiid

lieutenant in C'nptiiiii .lohn llaruijen's company in

Colonel Kbenezer Bridge's regiment, lie w:i>< nller-

wards ensign in Captain I'lbenezer I larndeii's company
in the same regiment, and was with that company at

the battle of Bunker Hill. In 1776 he enlisted a«

private in CapUiin Jonathan Brown's company, in

Colonel David Green's regiment, and served in one or

another station three years. Atler the war he removed
to Tewksbury, and there died, .lanunry 5, 1824.

William Stickney, one of the fourteen children of

Eleazer, was born in Billerica, .Inne 22, 1783, and
removed to Boston in l.Stl5, where he married, March
22, 1809, Lucy, daughter of Micah and Lucy (Mowe)
Drury, who was born in Framingham October 3, 1787,

anddied .hine2l, 1812. He married, secomi, in Bonton,

December 29, 1814, Margaret Nowell, who was born

in Boston, .Inly 30, 1792, an<! died Decendier 15, 1.S40.

He married, third, in Boston, .luly HI, 1842, Catherine

P., widow of Artemas Hyde, and daughter of Joshua

Hardy, of Boston. He at various times after leaving

Boston lived at Medford and Charlestown and Somer-

ville, and <lied in Somerville, .lanuary 12, 1808.

Rufus Biirrus Stickney is the son of the la.itmen-

tioned William, and was born in .Medford, (Jcto-

ber 1, 1824. His father was engage<i as a retail

grocer in Salem Street, in Boston, many years, and

while in that business, began to prepare mustard for

table use, and carry it about for sale. He finally

abandoned his grocery bu9ine.ss, and, removing to

Medford in 1822, built in that town a small factory

for the manufacture of mustard, the .sale of which

had so largely increa-ied as to warrant the enter|iriae.

In 1825, when Rufus was nine months old, he remov-

ed to Charlestown, and there erected a larger factory

for his still increasing business. Rufus attended the

public .schools of Charlestown until lie was thirteen

years of age, when he entered his father's establish-

ment, and began a business career, which has been

eminently prosperous.

Up to 1842 the manufacture of mustard had been

carried on by hand. At that time Rufus, who wns

then eighteen years of age, induced his father t^i put

an engine into his factory, and thus make himself

better able to meet demands which bethought he saw

an opportunity of largely increa-sing. At that time,

also, bis father established a grocery store in connec-

tion with his mustard enterprise, and devoting him-

self to the store, surremlered tiie care and manage-

ment of the factory to his son. In 1846, Knfiis

separated from his father, and began to mamifacture

mustard on his own account in South Boston, where

he remained two years. In 1848 he formed a part-

nership with J. R. Poor, of Danvers, under the firm-

name of Stickney & Poor, and the new concern built

d factory in Charlestown for the purpose of grinding
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and packing mustard, spices and coffee. A store was

also soon opened in Cliatliiini Kow, in Boston, for the

sale of goods, tiie tirm afterwards for some years

occupying tlie stores 19 and 20 India Street. Jfr.

Poor left the firm in 1877, and since 1880, Mr. Stick-

ney, retaining the old firm-name, has occupied the

store No. 205 in State Street Block.

In 1807, Stickney & Poor built another and

larger brick factory in (^harlestown, retaining the old

wooden one for purposes of .storage. The business of

Mr. Stickney now consists of the manufacture of

mustard, coffee and spices, including cloves, cassia,

mace, pimento and ginger, the grinding of herbs, the

preparation of yeast powders, sauces and llavoring

extracts, in which be employs about fifty bands, and

finds for his product a market in every State in the

Union. He imports his own raw materials, obtaining

his mustard seed from England, Holland, Italy and

California.

Mr. Stickney married, October 1, 1846, Mariana D.,

daughter of Henry Homer, of Boston, and had four

children—one who died in infancy; Anna, who died

in June, 1890; Susie, now living, and Rufus, whowas

engaged in business with his father, and died August

6, 1886. He married, second, October 26, 1865, Abbie

L. Beck.

A fair estimate of the character of Mr. Stickney is

suggested by his career. There are few men in busi-

ness in Massachusetts whose name is more widely

known. The products of his establishment have found

their way into many thousands of households, and

wherever they are used or known they carry with

them a trade-mark which commands the utmost con-

fidence and trust. From small beginnings, with a
knowledge and experience commencing at the early

age of thirteen years, he has built up an industry of

large proportions and accumulated wealth. His

career is only one of many illustrations of the folly of

modern legislators who, forgetting that the factory is

as much a place for the instruction of youth as the

public school, pass laws forbidding their employment

in those very occupations which can alone best pre-

pare them for a life of enterprise and usefulness. Had
Mr. Stickney remained longer over his books, under

the eye of a teacher, he would probably have failed to

learn the alphabet of a trade, upon a thorough knowl-

edge of which, in all its parts, his success in life was

to depend.

Mr. Stickney has devoted his whole time and ener-

gies to his business. In political associations a Re-

publican, he has neither accepted nor sought office.

In religion an avowed Unitarian, he has always

avoided conspicuous notoriety in the affairs of his

church. Shrewd, sagacious and prudent in financial

affairs, he has been ready to give counsel and advice

when asked, but has refrained from accepting posi-

tions of responsibility and trust when he knew that

he could not give to them that care and scrutiny

which the confidence of those interested demanded

and deserved. At the age of sixty-six he is still

managing his all'airs with unimpaired activity and

zeal ; and as a merchant and citizen, be has secured

universal respect and esteem in both his commercial

and civil life.

CHAPTER LIV.

SOFKINTON.

BV CLEMENT MESERVE.

i

HoPKiNTON, which received its name from Edward
Hopkins, is situated on the highest land in the ex-

treme southwesterly corner of Middlesex County,

about thirty miles southwesterly from Boston, on the

line of the Hopkinton and Milford Railroad.

It is bounded on the north by Southborough and

Ashland, on the east by Ashland and Holliston, on

the south by Holliston and Milford, and on the west

by Upton and Westboro'. The Congregational Church
is in latitude 42° 13' south, and longitude 10° 31' west.

Its Indian name was Quansigomog, and originally oc-

cupied by the Nipmuck Indians.

The geological formation is calcareous gneiss, and

the land is hilly, broken and rocky, but produc-

tive and well watered, it being the principal source of

the Charles, Sudbury and Blackstone Rivers. The
town contains two large ponds. The larger of these

is called Lake Whitehall, and is the source of the

Sudbury River. The other pond, called North, is one

of the sources of the Blackstone River. The ponds

and streams abound in pickerel, perch, bream {fomotk

vulgaris), and other edible fish, which made the place

a favorite resort for the aborigines at the time of the

settlement of the town. The town contains three

large swamps, originally covered with cedars, which

appears, by the town records, to have been of great

value to the early settlers.

Saddle Hill in the northern, and Bear Hill in the

southern part of the town, are noted rocky eminences,

on which the rattlesnake formerly had its home.

The Hopkinton Mineral Springs, situated west of

Lake Whitehall, were discovered in 1816, and .at one

time were quite celebrated as a fashionable resort.

The waters contain carbonic acid, carbonate of lime,

and now one of the springs is impregnated with sulphur.

In the eastern part of the town—now Ashland

—

the

Rev. John Eliot, previous to 1669, had established a

band of "praying Indians" on the northern slope of

Magonco Hill, and as early as 1669 had taught them

to make cedar shingles and clapboards, of which Elliot

says, " Unto which work in moyling in the swamf) ye

are fitter yn many English, and many English choose

to buy ym of the Indians yn make ym themselves."

Of these Indians Major-Gen. Gookin, in 1674, gave the

following report :
" Wagwonkkommonk is the seventh

town where the 'praying Indians' inhabit. The
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signification of the place's name is ' the place of great

trees.' It is situated partly within the bounds of

Niitick, and partly upon jjiiiil granted by the county.

It licth west-southorly from Iiuston, about twenty-four

miles—midway between Natick and Jlnjisniiuiiissett

(now (irafton). The number of the iniiabitanta are

about eleven families and about (ifty-five souls. There

are men and women eight members of the church at

Natick, and about fifteen baptized persons. The
<|uantily of the land belonging to it is about .SOOO

acres. The Indians plant upon a great hill, which i.s

very fertile; and tliese people worship (iod and keep

the Sabbath, and observe civil order a.s do other towns.

They bave a constable and other officers. Their

ruler's name is Pomhamon, a sober and active man,

and pious. Their teacher's name is Job, a person well

accepted for piety and ability among them. This

town was the last .settling of the old towns. They

have plenty of corn, and keep some cattle and swine,

for which the place is well accommodated.''

It appears that Nitus Annerocker, Joshua Assalt,

.lohn Dublet, William Joseph and John Jackstram

were members of the praying band of Indians, who,

with others, under the lead of Nitus, made an attack

on the 1st of February, 167(), upon the house ot

Thomas Kames, near Farm Pond, in Framinghara.

Mr. Eames had gone to Boston, but the mother and

her nine children made a stout resistance; but she

and four of the children were killed, and the remain-

der taken captive. Nitus, the leader of the party,

was killed at Marlborough, on the 27tli of March fol-

lowing. Annecoekerdied soon after, and three others

were tried, condemned and executed Sept. 21, 1676.

What were left of the Magunco Indians at the close

of King Philip's War moved from the place and

joined the Natick Indians, who for a long time held

possession of the Magunco lands. It was voted by

them, September y' 24, 1715, " That the land of Ma-

gunkook be sold to the trustees of Edward Hopkin's

legacy ; that Capt. Thomas Waban, Samuel Abraham,

Solomon Thomas, Abraham Speen, Thomas Pegan,

Isaac Nehemiah and Benjamin Fay be a committee

of agents for the proprietors of Natick to agree with

Captain Sewell, Mr. John Leveritt, Major Fitch and

Mr. Daniel for y' sale of the lands of Magunkook and

to all things requisite in y" law fory" effectual invert-

ing y' said lands in y" trustees of Hopkin's legacy."

On July 20, 1715, the trustees had petitioned the

• Jeneral Court for a license to purchase a tract of

waste land known by the name of Magunkayoog.

This petition was granted, and in accordance with

the petition and vote the following deed for eight

thousand acres was executed by the Indians

:

'* A Copy of Record-Book 17, Page 627.

"Attest, CiiAs. n. Stkvkns, Reg.

'*Tbi8 Indeuture, umde the KleveDth Day of October, Anno Domini

one Thousand Seven Hundred and fifteen. Anno/, Itegni, Ilt-Kis (leorgiz

nunc Magna Britania, &c., Secundo, Between Thomaa Waban, Samuel

Abraham, Solomon Thomas, Abraham Speen, Thomaa Pegun, Isaac

Xebemiah and Benjamin Tray, a Committee or Agents for the Indian

Proprieloreof t\\» Pliintallon of Vatlrk, oiiiim ih.- |,||..

iwx and Provlme of thi> Miu.^icliii.^u« II.) ui .N,.v. . ,,n„
part,aud .lo«<ph Dudley. WMIIam Taylrr, WallMill \ .„u.,„.i
.Sewan, Khaklrii Hutchinson, Penii TuuriMnd, MoMd llr<.u.tl»M. J'.l.n
lllggiii».in and Simoon Slmldnnl, Hkj" , lurrrUK Mmhrr, |i,»i„r In
Divinity, Couon M«th,.r, Doc tor in IHilully, Jon. Lotfi*!!, Pmldaul
of Harvard ColledKt'.JiTiMulah Duninior, John Ilurrfll, K»|"., William
Bratllo, Jliniiiter of CalMbriditf, NVhi'inlah WalK-r, MlnlMor of Bui-
bury. Danlei Oliver ,« Jlioma. KIt.h. M.t. haul. Andrao IWIcliar, Ad-
dinglon Davenport and A.hiui WInthMp, f>.," , All Inhabitants irlthlli

tlie Plovlnco aforesaid, 'rrn><ti>i-s «ppointi'<l by • Dxirvo In Ilia MajMllns
lllgh Court of Chancery. I)al.-.l the Mnelmnth day of M.rrb. Anno
Domini IT 12, for the I'urchaalnu Hoaa<» or l.aiid fur the |>«r)iotuallnK

of the Charily of y llunornhli. l':.l««nl llo|iklu., K«| , and liii|iru>lhg

y'Muno on y" other |iart, Wllii.»u.tb, that Ibe Mild Tbonuu Walan,
Samuel Abrabiini, .Solomon Thomaa, Abraham Hptwa, Thomaa »|[Uii,
Isaac Nebelulali and Hontaniin Tray, a Coniiuilti<e or Agenta as afuro.
said, for Divers goml Caumi. and Con«ld..r.ition«, Them thereunto niov
ing mon> especially for, and in Coi»l<lerallun of ihti Sum of Sli
llunilred pounds In Koud Bills ol Credit on the Pruvlncx afuroaald To
Ihem in hand paid To A for the use, beiioOt and Imhoofe of the I'mprl-
etors of the Plantation ut Natick and of the Onler or .S«tlli.d Indian
Inhabitania thereof By the Truslevs above named at and Inifura the
KuBeaiing and Delivery of this prewnt Indenture. The llccelpl of
which sum to full Consent and Satlslacllon they do harvby arknowl'
edge, and for Ihemselves and all other the pnijirietoni and InhubltauU
of the Plantation or Town of Nali.-k af.ire'Miid, tlioire hfin.s, Kiii<utora,

Adms., Agents or (>}iiimittees, Acquitt. Kx rate and Discharge the
said .lom.ph Dudley, William Tayier, Waitallll Wlulbrup, Saiu" Ssw-
all, Eliakim Hutchinson, Penn Ti>wiis(.nd, K4lwanl Ilruiulletd, John
Iligginsun, Simeon Stoddard, Increase Mather, Cotton Mather, John
Leverett, .leremiali Dumuier, John llurrell, William Brattle, Nehemiah
Walter, Daniel Oliver, Thuiiuis Kitch, Andrew Belcher, Addlngtoli

Daveniiult and Adam Winthrop, Trusli'es as aforeniid, ami theireauc-

cessora forever. Have given, granted, bargained, sold, aliened, KuleiiHed,

C-onveyed and Conlirmed.aiui by these preseuls Do fully, freely, clearly

and absolutely give, Grunt, bargain, S<dl, alien, Kiifeotre, Itoleaae, f^un-

veyand Conhrme unto the said JoHejih Dudley, William Tayier, Wall-

still Wiutlirop, Samuel Sewall, Kliakim llntchlnson, Penn Towuaend,
Kdward Itromfleld, John Iligginson, Sinisuu Stoddard, Increiue Mather,
t^otton Mather, John Leveretl, Jeremiah Dnmmer, John Uurrell, Wil-

liam Brattle, Nehemiah Walter, Daniel Oliver, Thomaa Fitch, Andrew
Belcher, Addington DavenjHjrt and Adam Winthrop, Tiusleos as afonv
sjiid (who have lately obtained liberty of the Great and (ieneral Court
or Asaembly of the Province aforesaid to Purchase the Same * to

Iheire Successors for Kver Ail that Certain Tract or parcell of I^ud
Situate, lyiug and being within the County of MIddleaex alureaald

('ommonly Called and known by the Name of Magiinkawog, cootalDing

by Eslimation Kigllt Thousand Acres, bo the Same more or loss iHiundofl

Eastwardiy and soutliwardly by Sherborne; Westwardly partly by Men-
dou, principally by Province Lands; Ntirlhwardly l>y Sudbury Kiver, or,

however, otherwise bounded or Reputed to l>e bonnde^I. The talil l^nd
beiug more particularly Delineated, Set forth and Di'H«-ribe<l in and by

Itie Plan or Draught thereof hereunto aniiexe<l. Together with all and

singular ye Honseing, Kdillices, Buildings, fruits, Treea, Wooils, l-nder-

woods, wayes. Waters, Water Courses, Rivers, Puntia, Brooks, Cleeks,

Mines, Minerals, profits, Priviiedges, righto, Coniodlties, lieredltanienta,

emoluments, appur*^* whatsoever thereunto belonging or in any wise ap-

pertaining, and the Reversion and Reversions, Komajiider and Renialfi-

ders. Rents, Issues and proHts thereof. To Have and To Hold the said

Tract or Parcell of Land with the uiembers, prx'flts, privitedgea and ai>-

purtenances thereof and all other yo above granted Premisea unto the

said Joseph Dudley, William Taylor, Waitstill Winthrop, Samuell Sew-

all, Kliakini Hutchinson, Penii Tuwnsend, l-Mivard llrouifleld, John
Iligginson, Simeon Stoddard, Increase Mather, C'ottoii Mather, John
Lcverett, Jereiniiili Duiiimer, John Burrill, William Brattle, Ni'hemlah

Walter, Daniel Oliver, Thouiaa Fitch, Andrvw llolcher, Addington

Davenjiort ^ Adam Winthrvtp, Trustees as aforesaid To k for tha

proper & sole use k uses Expressed In the Said Decri'O of His MivJea-

ties High Court of I'hancery and t4i A for no other use. Intent and

Purpose whatsoever to them ,t to tlieire Succoworn for Kver. And yn

said Thomas Walaui, Samuel Abraham, Solomon Thomaj, Abraham
Speen, Thomaa Pegun, Imuc Noliemiah anil Itoiijaniin Tray, Agents aa

aforesaid, Do Covenant and Grant to and with the Trustetvt aforvnaiued,

and thelre Successors, That they, the said Grantors, in Iheire Capnrlty

aforesaid. Have in themselvea by vertue of the power and .Xil'hority to

them given by the Indian Proprletorv of Natick, aforesaid, full power
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and I,iiwfutl Autluirity To pivi-, Rmiit, Soil and Convey the Haiti flr*ntw1

Ijinil A* prpniiiwH in matnuT iiH nrtri-(«ii<l. The sanieltelnK fre«» iindclenr

iind Clenrly Kxunerated A Discharged uf * fruin all fiirmor and oilier

(iiftij, lirniils, Uar^uiuH, SaleH, LejutoK, MortgageB, Joynfnrert, I>owere,

Tillei*. lioiilileH, t'liafK*'.-* and Inriinilinuiees whalaoever. And further,

they the Muid Thuinaa Waliaii, Sii el Abraham, Solomon Thomiu),

Alimhant Speen, Thomas Pegnn, iMUtc Neheniiah and Itenjainin Tray,

AgentH afon*H»id, Po hereby ('oveiM»nt and Grant for thonieelvtm A ye

ProitriotorH of Natick, aforoMiid (who are the ownere of the Maid Granted

Land and premise*'), and for thoire Kevorull and Reepective heires, Kx-

ecntorH and AdniinibtratorH To warrant A Defend the same and every

|Kirt lliereof unto them the aaid JokujiIi Dndley, William Tailor, Wait-

still Winthrop, Saninel Seivall, Ijliakiin Hutchinson, Penn Towneend,

Kdward Bromtield.John Iligginson, Simeon Stoddard, Incvea^^e Mather,

(""otton Mather, John Leverett, Jeremiah Dnmmer, John Iturrill, Wil-

liam Itrattle, Nehemiah Walter, Daniel Oliver, Thomas Kitch, Andrew

Belcher, A»hlington Davenport A Adam Winthrop, Trustees as aforesaid,

and theire Successors for the uses aforementioned forever against tile

I,«gall Claiines and Demands of all and Kvery person and persons whom-

soever, Saving out of the Said Granted Land the farm of Messrs. Simpson

and Parker's farm, so calleil, who have heretofore purchased the same.

In witness whereof the said parties to these presents have hereunto In-

terchangeahly sett theire hands A Seals the day & year first above writ-

ten—Tlioiniis Waban and a Seal. The mark of Samuel Alii-ali:iiii and a

Seal, The mark of Solomon Thomas and a Seal, The mark of Abraham

Spcen A a Seal, The mark of TIioiiuls IVgiiii and a Seal, The mark of

Isaac Nehemiah and a Seal, IJeiijamin Tray and a Seal. Signed, Sealed

and Delivered in the presence of us John Cotton, Sani'i Bullard, Wi"

Ryder, Jr., .lohn Waine«iuou in Middlesex, October 16, 1715, Thomas

Waban, Samuel Abraham, Solomon Thomas, Abraham Speen, Thomas

Fegllii, Isiuic Nehemiah and Benjamin Tray, a Committee or Agents for

the Indian Proprietors of Natick, personally appeared before me, one of

His Majesties Justices of y" Pe.ace for yo s'' A acknowledged the within

written InstrumeDt by them and in theire said Capacity Executed to be

theire free act A Deed, Thomas Oliver, Justice ofy Peace.

"Charlestown, February 17, 1715-lC, Rec'd & Accordingly Entered

'* By Sam" Phipps, Reg'.

" Oct. 1.'^, IVl.'i-le."

Afterward the General Court gave to the trustees

the province land, thus swelling their [losse.ssions to

twenty-five thousand acres, which, on the petition of

the trustees, was incorporated into a township by the

name of Hopkinton. About one-half of these acres

was leased for ninety-nine years, and the remainder

was held as common land.

The province was granted on the condition that

the fee should remain in the province. This reser-

vation prevented the trustees from making valid con-

veyances, and the condition was removed December 1,

1710. But this question still remained: Could the

trustees legally give leases to run more than twenty-

one years, the land being "College or School laud"?

To remedy this, Ihe General Court, December 3,

1719, by a special act gave the trustees power to exe-

cute leases for a term "not exceeding ninety-nine

years."

Under these full powers, the trustees jiroceeded

to renew the leases already made, and to give other

leases, all to run for ninety-nine years from March

25, 1723, at an annual rent of three pence per acre.

These terms, being unsatisfactory to the tenants, were

changed by authority of the General Court, to an

annual rent of one penny sterling per acre until

March 25, 1823, and three pence per acre during the

remaining time of the leases. In 1823 troubles

arose again concerning the payments of rent, and the

Courts and Legislature were resorted to by both par-

ties. Tlie matter was formally settled in 1832, when
the Legislature agreed to pay $8000 to the trustees,

and the tenants $2000. In consideration of this

amount, the trustees abandoned their claim in the

land.

Edward Hopkins came from Knglaiid in l(i37, and

settled ill (Joiinecticut, and became its Governor.

Returning to I'.iigland, he died in 1057, bequeathing

the sum of five hundred pounds out of his estate in

New England to trustees, to be invested, after the

death of his wife, in houses and lands in New Eng-

land ; and thai the income from these should be de-

voted to the su|iport of students in the grammar and

divinity schools at Cambridge, Mass., and to the pur-

chase of books to be given to meritorious students

at Harvard College.

The widow died in 1698, and after suit in chancery

the trustees obtained a verdict in satisfaction of the

legacy of five hundred pouuds, amounting, with inter-

est, to eight buiidred pounds. Six hundred pounds of

this sum was wasted in the purchase of the Maguncoy ,

land in Hopkinton.
|

Hopkinton was originally bounded by Sudbury,

Sherborn, Mendon, Sutton and Westboro'. At this

time the town contained 25,000 acres. On ,Tuue 14,

1735, by an act of the General Court, about 4000

acres were set off and formed a part of Upton, leaving

about 21,000 acre.s.

The boundaries of the town remained the same un-

til March 16, 1840, when a part was taken to form

the town of Ashland. The town at the present time

contains 18,509 acres.

It appears that in 1062 the Hon. William Crown

received a grant of land, which, according to its de-

scription, would cover nearly the entire village of

Ashland; the deed and plan describes five hundred

acres " at a place near Cold Spring Brook, near the

road which letideth from Sudbury on to Connecticut,

known as the (Connecticut Path), on the .south side of

a branch of the Sudbury River, at a place called by

the Indians, Magunco hill."

The path referred to in the description of the grantto

the Crown was a trail followed by a small party who
passed up between the Charles and Sudbury Rivers,

through Hopkinton, Graftou and Thompson in Con-

necticut, to the Connecticut River in 1633, and was

followed by Hooker and his party of one hundred

and sixty persons and about the same number of cat-

tle, who started from Watertown in 1035 for the Con-

necticut River, crossed Cold Spring at the ford-way

and entered upon and passed over the Crown Grant,

thence through Hopkinton, following the old Indian

trail, to what was called at that time Hassanamissit

(now Grafton).

The town of Hopkinton was incorporated Decem-

ber 13, 1715, and the first town-meeting was held

under the charter, March ye 25, 1724, under the fol-

lowing warrant

:

" Whereas theJGreat and General Court of ye provence of the Massa-
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chiiaetts Ray in New Kngland, hav*^ enacted and constitiitcfl all tliow

Iiiridrt formeiiy called Mngiimcoiig together with other waste liimiM

lying westwiinl to Siitcn lino from si\id Ma>;iinicu:iK lowtiAlii|) l>y lht<

Uiiiuo of Hopkinton ; and gruuted all iiml Bingular the privclt-gea aud

poworB uf li township thuroiinto. Ami whon^iiH it hiu* heoii a continiUKi

practice and cuBttmi in the huvituI towns within thn pruvi'iicc i\nniiully

tu chuutie Selectmen for tho ninnH;;in^ of th(^ prudi'iitiiilK of such towint,

utid other Town (^llircre for the i-xecnting of other nmttera and thiiiK^

in the law Hjipoiuled l\v them to be done iind iK-rfornied ; and whereas

it is eimcfi'd hy ye siiid <;reat and General Court that the Kreeliolders

and lohabitjintsof each town qualitled to vote in town ftfTain* shall some-

time in the mouth of Marrh, annually convene according to notice given

to tlie said KreehoMem and Iiihiibitants, and nominate and ohotwe

Selectmen or Townsmen, and all other olflcen* and convenient for the

ordering the prudeutials of the town, and exetMiting of all other mat-

tern and things in the law appmnied by tliem to be done, and wbereiui,

the Fieehohiers and other Inhabitants nf the town of Hopkinton

have often desired the direction and jiBsistauce of the Coniety of the

Trustees of the said Town of Hopkinton in order to there meeting and

convening together for the purpose and intentions aforesaid, and the

said Coniety have desired the .Subscriber, one of the said Conimity and a

Justice of the Pese within the said County of Middlesex to make out

and sign notification, there being no Selectmen or other Town OHicors

in the said town. These are therefore t<t notify the town tennante both

Free Iloldei-s and other Inhabit;iiit.s of llopkintou aforesitid to meet at

their Public Place for Divine Service and wurehip on the Lord's l>ay,

on Wednesday the tweuty-tlfth of Ularcli, next coming, at ton of the

clock before noon, to choose Selectmen and all other olficera that the law

allows of and directs unto. Given under my hand ami seal iu this

twenty-ninth day of Fehy. in tlie twelfth year of the reign of King

George, Auno goodomi 17ii—2-1. Joun Leveritt,
* ^Justice of the Pcice."

" ftfr. John How you nre directed to set up the above written notifica-

tion iu some public place in Hopkinton.
** J. Levkuitt.*'

On the da}^ luiiued ill the warrant the town to the

number of upwards of thirty met and transacted the

following business:

" Voted—that we resolve to take upon us the powers of a Town antl

proceed and choose Town olticers as the law directs shall be choosen in

the month of March.
" Voted—to choose five Select Bleu.

" Voted—that all peraons that have taken land and have made im-

provements in said town and are here present may vote.

" Voted—that Jnliu How sliall be Moderator in said meeting.

" Voted—that Johu How should bo Town Clerk and the first Selectman.

" Voted—that John Wood should be second Selectmau.

" Voted—tliat Henry Melen should be third Selectman.

" Voted—that Joseph Haven should be fourth Selectman.

*' Voted—that Jamea Colar should be fifth Selectmau.

"Voted—that the divisenal line as tt) the Constables Collections to be

the byway leading from Woiusloas meadow, so-called, to the meeting-

house place and so continue to the river.

" Voted—that Sainuell Watkeii should be Constable for tho year en-

suing, in ye East End of ye town,
'

' Voted—that Mr. Benjamin Buruap should be Constjibli) iu yo West

end of ye town.
*' Voted—that Mr. Elnathau Alleu should \)v Towu Treasurer for ye

year ensuing.

" Votod^tbat Johnathan KnowIt»ui, Thomaa Walker, Mr. John

Wood and James Coles, Senior, should be Surveyorys of byways for ye

year ensuing.

"Voted—that Mr. Robert Uambletou and Mr. Robert Huston should

be Tying men. ^
" Voted—that Joseph Comens, Ebeuezer Lock should be fence

viewers.

"Voted—that Francis Parse and Thomas Coock should be hogh

reves.

" Voted that swine should run at large this year.

"Voted—that Daniel Stoue and Johu IJutler should bo field drivers.

'* Voted—That Thotuas Walker should bo Clark of the nuirket."

The following is a list of those who served as select-

men in the years set against their names :

1724-35—Joseph lUven, Capl. John W«icm1, Jnho Jorm, BeiOoilB
Burnitp, Henry Mellen. Aug. 'J(i, I7J'., John IImw hm rhuMO M-lnrCnuui

\o supply the place uf C«pt. John \\ uo<l, rvmuTtNl bjr death.

17Ji>-J«—John Mow, J.w(«ph Uawii, Kobert lluiutuii, Uout. Iloiiry

Walker, Peter Mow.

17'^r»--j7--^bw«ph Muven, Bt>njainln Uuninp, .luhii Jomv, Mnnrjr llul>

Ion, Peter How.

lT.i7'JS— Henry Walker, John Mow, Pettr How. l>anl*<l I'Ufllii, Uul>.

ert Muustun.

172K-29—Hunry Walker, Henry MelU<ii. Jiiwph M»toii, J<«rph Iit»-

by, Sitinuel Work.
1729-:i»i—Henry Walker, iVier How, JuMph UUby, Juhu Umtrr.

Isaac Whitney.

I73u-:H—Juhu Jontvt, JuM'ph HaMMi, JoM-ph IMxb>, PkuI {..tuiKdou,

Johu Brewer.

1731-;iL'—Johu Jonen, Jotteph ll»vi*n, Paul l.rfinKdou. Jidin Hrvwvr,

Deacon Bixby.

]7:t'2-:i;{—Paul I>anifdon, Nathaniel Smith, John Jonra, John 0»tjuru«,

Edmund Bowkor.

17!i;i-:i4—Capt. Jonoa, Joseph Ha\eu, Paul Langdon, JuIh-/ noi]|;i<,

Peter How.

17:M-;i.')—Capt. Jones, JottepU Haven, I.leut. Paul Langdun. KhenvMr
Kimbal, Peter How.

17:iri-3r.—Daniel Claflin, Johu Brewer, Jowph Holleu, tCh^neMi

Luck, Jacob tiitdM.

17'ifi-;t7—Peter How, Jabez Dodge, Thoniiu) Walkvr. Kn"> John Wuod,
John Brewer. Theannviiil meeting held )u March was, b>' the tienenil

Court, on the Otb day of June, declaretl null and void, and on ih« 26*^

day uf July the following board wuu chusi'n : Cupt. John JontM, Klvn-

czor Kimbal, Deacon Boiijamin Burnap. Liuut. John WimhI.

1737-38—John Jonva, Peter lluw, Ixaac Whitney, BeiOantiii Bumnp,
Jr., John Wood.

1738--:VJ-—Juhu Junes, Joseph Huven, Pelcr How, Jabo?. Iiodgp, Kben-

ezer Kimbal.

1739-4<>—John Jones, James Gooch, Johu Hodcn, KbeneMr Kimbal,

Botij. Hurnap.

17t(Ml—Jolin Jones, Joseph Haven, JamwGooch, John Wuod, Joteph

Houghton.

1741-PJ—Capt. tJouch, BenJ. Buruap, Thomas Walker, Lieut. Woo<l,

Jacob Gibbs.

1742—i;t—John Joues, James (Juocli, Charlw Blurrls, Opt. iK-nch,

Deacon Kimtile.

I74;i-M—John Jones, Capt. James lioocli, <_'harliw Morria, Henry

Meilen, Roger Ueuch.

17l-Mr>—Major John .loiies, Henry M.-llen, Thoma* Walker, C. Mor-

ris, Bcnj. Wood.

1745-lit—.Toliu Jones, Jamea Guuch, Henry Slclleo, Charles MorriA,

BenJ. Burnap.

174G-47—Peter Huw, John Wood, Thomas Walker, John Joom, Juwph

Haven.

1717-4S—James Gooch, John Joneti, Dec. Kimble. Solomon Parkii,

Poc. Melleu.

17'}S~4!>—Julin Jones, Jamea Gooch, Henry Slellen, John Wood,

Thomas Walker.

1749-50—Johu Jones, Beiy. Wood, Henry Mellen, Janieit Work, John

Rockwood.

1750-51—John Wood, Daniel Burnap, Timothy Townttend, Jo«vph

Cody, Joseph Haven, Jr.

17.V2—John Wilson, Henry Mellen, John Jones, Thonuui WikhI, Ja«on

Walker.

1753—.John Wil.-son, Jowph WikmI, Jacob Gibbs, Bonj. Wood, Gforge

(.'arriel.

1751—.lohn Wilton, llenr> Mellon, Jne(>ph Wo«k|, Jnmea Work,

Kleazor Ruler.

1755—John Wood, Jowph Cody, John Nutt, John Wilson, Henry Mvh
leu.

175G—Thumaa Mellon, Joseph Alboo, Ijsnisou Jonos, Caleb Clanin,

John Wood.

1757—Thomas Mellon, Jumph Albce, John Wilson, Jolin Johm, John

Chamberlain.

1758—Joseph Albee, John Wilson, Thomas Mollen, Richanl Smith,

James Nutt.

1759—John Wood, Samuel Charuborluin, Joseph Mellon, John Wllmn,

Juson Walker.

X760_JohD Wilson. Joseph .Mellon, Jacob Chamberlain, William

EamcB, Israel Walker.
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1761—John Wilfcm, Jowph AIl)rt<». .Innu^B Wark, John Joiiph, Joseph

Mullen.

1762—John Wllnon, John Honif><, Ji>hn Jones, Jr., Jt*epli MpIIpii,

Samuel Ohanibcrlnin.

17<;3—Thuuiaa T^lellen, Timothy Townsen"!, John Holmee, Jolin ('hnm-

herlHiu, Jacob GibbB.

17(i4-_john Wilson, John Jonee, John Albee, John Nutt, Samuel

ChunibtTlitln.

17t}5—John Jonee, Jamos Wark, Thomas Mellen, Timothy Townsend,

Samnet Chunibtrlain.

176i;_John Wilson, Joeeph M**Uen, John fhaniborlain, Jacob tiibba,

John Osborn.

1767—Joseph Mellen, John Wilson, Kloazer Rider, Timothy Town-

send, Jamee Nutt.

1768—Thomas INlellen, Joseph Albcc, Tinuuby Townsend, John fliam-

berlain, Abraham Tilton.

1769- Jason Walker, John Holmes, John Jones, Jamos Wark, John

Clark.

177((_John Wilson, Jason Walker, John Jones, Joseph Wood, Samuel

Parks.

1771_.Io6eph Melk'U, Samuel Chamberlain, Kogor Peuch, Elisha

Hayden, James Hii^cock.

1770_john Wilson, John Holmee, James Nutt, Samuel Parks, Roger

Dencb.

l773_Thomftf! Mellen, Decon Haven, Samuel Chamberlain, Gilbert

Iiench, William Andrews.

1774_(_'»ipt«in Mellen, Captain Townsend, Jasper Daniels, Jacob

Glbbs, Colonel Jones.

177:,_Captain Holmes, Samuel Parks, Barrekias Morse, Gilbert Dench,

Jasper Daniel.

1776_ Captain Holmes, Colonel Jones, Barrekias Morse, Samuel

Parks, Ebenezer (;latlin, Jr.

1777—Colonel Jones, Moses Haven, Samuel Parks, Samuel Bowker,

Walter McFarland.

177S—Colonel Jones, Barrekias JMor^e, Captain Dench, Edmund
Chamberlain, Henry Mellon.

1779—Colonel Jones, Barrekias Morse, Samuel Parks, Captain Holmee,

Isaac Clark, Jr.

1780—Captain Dench, David Cutler, Captain Eames, Isaac Clark,

Samuel Hayden.

1781—Colonel Jones, Bars. Morse, Captain Holmes, Henry Mellen,

Matthew Medcalf.

1782—Henry Mellen, Matthew Medcalf, Abner Fieke, Captain Mc-

Farland, James Freeland.

1783—Matthew Medcalf, Captain Holmes, Bars. Morse, Isaac Clark,

Isaac Buruap.

1784— Colonel Jones, Matthew Medcalf, David Cutler, Samuel Haven,

John Freeland.

1785—Matthew Medcalf, Bars. Morse, Henry Mellen, James Nutt,

John Hayden.

1786—Captain Holmes, Colonel Jones, Bars. Morse, Samuel Parks,

Ebenezer Claflin, Jr.

1787—Captain Walter McFarland, Lientenant Abel Fiske, Isaac Bur-

nap, Captain N. Perry, Jeremiah Stimpson.

1788—Captain Gilbert Dench, Captain John Holmes, Lieutenant Isaac

Burnap, .loseph Walker, Captain Nathaniel Perry.

1789—Henry Mellen, Joseph Walker, Samuel Haven, Nehemiab How,
Timothy Townsend.

1790—Abel Fiske, Walter McFarland, Henry Mellen. John O. Wil-

son, Beuj. Adams.

17'.il—Abel Fiske, Henry Mellen, Isaac Burnap, Aaron Clatliu, Wm.
Valentine.

1792—Henry Mellen, Walter McFarland, Nebemiah How, Wm. Val

eutine.

1793^Mattbew Metcalf, Culonel Nathan Perry, Joseph Walker, Wm.
Valentine, Wm. Nutt.

1794—Henry Mellen, Nehemiah How, Joseph Walker, Nathan Perry,

John Goulding.

1795—Joseph Walker, Nehemiab How, Samuel Haven, Dr. Jeremy
Stimpson, Eleazer Perry.

1796—Joseph Walker, Nehemiah How, Samuel Haven, Isaac Burnap
Moses Berry.

1797—Joseph Walker, Nehemiah How, Samuel Haven, Isaac Burnap,
Johnatban Stearns.

1798—Joseph Walker, Henry Mellen, Nathan Perry, Nehemiah How,
John Haven.

1799—Timothy Shepard, Henry Mellen, Nathan Perrj*, Joel Norcross,

Joaiah Rockwood.

1800—Dr. Shepard , Henry Mellen, Dec. Walker, Nathan Perry, Capt.

Wm. Wood.

1801—Nathan Perry, Nehemiah How, Walter McFarland, Johnattmn

Stearns, Wm. Wood.

1802—Nathan Perry, Wm. Wood, Asa Eames, Johnatban Stearns.

1803—Timothy Shepard, Nathan Perry, Moses Chamberlain, Josiab

Lockwood, Sampson Bridges.

1804—Timothy Shepard, Benj. Adams. Joel Norcross, Benj. Pond,

Isaac Burnap.

1805-Benj. Adams, Benj. Pond, Joel Norcross, Moses Chamberlain,

.lohn Goulding.

180G~MoBeB Chamberlain, Betij. Adams, Benj. Pond, Abijah Ellis,

.loseph Morse.

1807—Asa Eames, Abijah Ellis, Samuel Phipps, Aaron Smith, Benj.

Herrick.

1808—Abijah Ellis, Samuel Phipps, Abel Smith, Daniel White, Fisher

Metcalf.

1809— Abijah Ellis, Samuel Phipps, Nathan Perry, Elisha Adams,

Joseph Morse.

1810—Walter McFarland, Nathan Perry, Joel Norcross, Joseph Val-

entine, Ameziah Claflin.

1811—Moses Chamberlain, Nathan Perry, Joseph Walker (2d), Perry

Daniels, Joel Norcross.

1812—Joseph Valentine, Joel Norcross, Nathaniel Loring, Isaac Bur

nap, David Barnes.

1813—Joseph Valentine, Amaziah Claflin, Nathaniel Loring, David

Eames, Samson Bridges.

1814—Joseph Valentine, Amaziah Claflin, Samson Bridges, Wm.
Rockwood, Wm. Wood.

1815—Joseph Valentine, Amaziah Claflin, Wm. Wood, Wm. Rock-

wood, Joseph Walker.

1816—Benj. Adams, Joseph Walker, Samson Bridges, Nathan Phipps,

Wm. Rockwood.

1817—Nathan Phipps, Samson Bridges, Joseph Walker, Isaac Homes,

Joseph Smith.

1818—Nathan Phipps, Samson Bridges, Isaac Homes, Joseph Smith,

Joseph Morse.

18)9—Joseph Valentine, Samson Bridges, Amaziah Claflin, David

Eames, Elijah Fitch.

1820—Joseph Valentine, Nathan Phipps, Samson Bridges, Elijah

Fitch, Isaac Homes.

1821—Nathan Phipps, Samson Bridges, Elijah Fitcb, Isaac Homes,

Thomas Buckley.

1822—Kathan Phipps, Joseph Valentine, Michael Homer, Nathan

Woolson, Carlton Corbett.

1823—Joseph Valentine, Elijah Fitch, Carlton Corbett, Michael

Homer, Samuel Prentiss.

1824—Joseph Valentine, Nathan Phipps, Samson Bridges, Arba

Thayer, Daniel Singletary.

1825—Joseph Valentine, Nathan Phipps, Arba Thayer, William Jeni-

son, Mathew Metcalf.

1826—Nathan Phipps, Arba Thayer, Mathew Metcalf, William Jeni-

son, Timothy Perry.

1827—Nathan Phipps, Arba Thayer, Mathew Metcalf, Timothy Perry,

Nathan Adams.

1828—Abraham Harrington, Arba Thayer, Matbew Metcalf, Timothy

Perry, John Goulding, Jr.

1829—Mathew Metcalf, Nathan Phipps, James Jackson, Aaron Smith,

John H Jones. •

183C—Mathew Metcalf, Nathan Phipps, Arba Tbayer, John H. Jones,

Ama^ia Eames.

1831-Samuel B. Walcott, ArbaTIiayer, Amara Eames, Nathan Ad-

ams. Richard Gamage.

1832—Samuel B. Walcott, Mathew Metcalf, Amaziah Claflin, Samson

Bridges, Richard Gamage.

1833—Samuel B. Walcott, Nathan Phipps, Samson Bridges, Ezra

Haskel, John Stone.

1834—Samuel B. Walcott, Nathan Phipps, Samson Bridges, Amara
Eames, Ezra Haskel.

1S35—Samuel B. W'alcott, Nathan Phipps, Amara Eames, John Stone,

Samuel D. Davenport.

1830—Samuel B. Walcott, Moses Phipps, Samson Bridges, Josfah Bur-

nam, Cromwell Gibbs.

1837—Nathan Phipps, Josiah Burnam, Cromwell Gibbs, Albert Wood,

Abner Albee.

i
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lg3g—Albert Wood, Amara Eames, Josiah Burnam, Williard Wads-

worth, Silas Mirick.

1839—Mathew Metcalf, Williard Wadsworth, Wiltiam A. PblpiM,

Joseph Woodward, William Adaiiia.

Igiii—Williard ^Vttdsworth, Joseph Woodward, Williiiiii Adams, Mont-

gomery Bixhy, Nathan Cohurn.

Uj41—MviRps Phipiw, Nehemiah Piorce, WilUurd Wadaworth, Jona-

IMielpB, Silfls Hlooro.

1842—Moijus Pbippfl, Nehemiah I'hipps, A. K. Kllery, Hoiijamin Momcr,

Almore Adiims.

1843—Amara Eauies, Nehemiah Pierce, Ahmm K. Kllcry,

lgi4—Amara Eamee, Albert Wood, John Workes, William A. PbippB,

Addison Thompson.

IS4.5__Amiira Kamos, Cromwell Gibha, William Seavor, Calvin Dyor,

John Workes.

1846—Cromwell Gibbs, Nehemiah Pierce, Nathan P. Cohurn.

I)s47—ilfiiry Wiildron, Charles Seaver, Joseph Woodward, Benjamin,

F. Ilerrick, Augustus Phipps.

1848—Augustus Phipps, Charles Seaver, Joseph Woodward, Benj. F.

llenick, Almon Adams.

1849—William A. Phipps, William Clafliu, Isaac V. Adams, Lowell

Claflin, UirainOomee.

1850—William Claflin, Isaac V. Adams, Dexter Rice, Uriah Bowkor,

A. G. Walker.

1851—Albert Wood, Samuel D. Davenport, Eliakim A. Bates, John A.

Bdgley, David W. Eames.

186'2—Albert Wood, A. G. Walker, Uriah Bowker, William Adams,

Cromwell Gibbs.

1853—Augustus Phipps, JoHeph Woodward, Amasa Pierce, Uriah

Bowker, Artemus Johuaon.

1854—Albert Wood, Uriah Bowker, A. W. Johnson, Amasa Pierce,

Cromwell Gibbs.

1855-Isaac V. Adams, Almond Adams, Addison Thompson, Samuel D.

Davenport.

1856—Almon Adams, I. V. Adams, Ambrose Woolson, A. W. Johnson,

Cromwell Gibbs.

1857—Albert Woods, A. W. Johnson, C. W. Claflin, Daniel T.

Bridt;es, F. B. Mansfield.

1858—Almond Adams, C. W. Claflin, D. T. Bridges, P. K. H. Matthews,

David Eames,

1859_B. F. Herrick, F. B. Mansfield, Gardoer Parker, E. A. Bates,

David Eames.

I860—E. A. Bates, F. B. Mansfield, Otis L. Woods, David Eames,

L. B. Mayberry.

1861—N. P. Coburn, E. A. Bates, B. F. Mansfield, David Eames, Otis

L. Woods.

1862-N. P. Cohurn, E. A. Bates, Gardner Parker, C. P. Morse, Thos.

Meade.

1863—N. P. Cobitrn, E. A. Bates, Gardner Parker, C. P. Morse, Thos.

Meade.

1864—N. P. Coburn, E. A. Bates, Gardner Parker, C. P. Morse, Thos.

Meade.

1865—E. A. Bates, E. Thompson, Thos. Meade, Charles Seaver, M. C.

Phipps.

1866—E. A. Bates, E. Thompson, M. C. Pliipps.

1867—B. A. Bates, M. C. Phipps, S. S. Maybry, Thos. Meade, Sylves-

ter Phipps.

1868—E. A. Bates, M. C. Phipps, S. M. Kyes, O. L. Woods, R. M.

Fahey.

1869—R. M. Fahey, Otis L. Woods, J. Fitzgerald, Addison Pine.

1870—E. A. Bates, R. M. Fahey, Robert C. Jenkins, Amasii Pierce,

.lohn Fitzgerald.

1871—Wni. A. Phipps, 31. C. Phipps, Dexter Rice, Wm. IJ. Claflin,

Owen Woods.

1872—Win. A. Phipps, M. C. Phipps, Wra. B. Claflin, Owen Wood,

F. W. Wood.

1873—Wm. A. Phipps, M. C. Phipps, Wni. B. Clallin, Owen Wood,

F. W. Wood.

lg74_^Vni. A. Phipps, M. C. Phipps, Wm. B. Claflin, Owen Wood,

F. W. Wood.

1875—W. A. Phipps, M. C Phipps, Wm B. Claflin, Owen Wooda, F.

W. Woodi.

1876—Owen W^oods, Albert Adams, Henry Flynn.

1877—Owen Wood, Martin B. Phipps, Henry Flynn.

1878—Owen Wood, Martin B. Phipps, Henry Flynn.

1879—M. C. Phipps, C. Meserve, 0. C. White.

50-iu

1880—0. MeMire, M. 0. Phlppis D. J. O'Drlen, M. M. Woodt, Wm.
O'Shaughnofvy.

1881—0. Mewrro, D. J. O'Urlon, SI. M. WtwU
1882—M.C. Phipps, D. J. 0*nrloo, M. M. Wuoda, L. H, Wftkcn*ld.

Wm. 0*Shunghnewy. *

188.^—KnutusThompion, D. J. O'BriflD, M. M. Wood*. M.C. IMitpfM,

John Phvlun.

1884—EniHtuB Thompson, D. J. O'Brien, M. M. WoodB, John PbMin,
Horace Wood.

1885—Horace Wood. D.J. O'Brien, John Phclan.

1886—Horace Wood, I). J. O'Brien, John PkeUo, Gnuiby A. Urtd«M,
Ganlnor P. Woo<l«.

1887—M. M. Wooda, D. J. O'Urlon, John Phvlun, Uoraoe Wood, It.

M. Fahy,

1888-M. M. Woods, Philip If. Carroll, HonM.-© Phlpp«.

1889— Horace Pliip|M, Mitrcii't M. Wuodfi, John Loughlln.

1890—H. Phipps, John Loughlln, Krod A. Wt>od.

A list of the moderators of the unnual ineelings,

treasurer, clerk and representative of each year:

1724—John How, moderator; Elnathan AUon, trouurer; Jobo Uow,
clerk.

1724-25— Henry Mellon, modorutor ; John Junes, treuurer; Jowpb
Haven, clerk.

1725-20—John How, modorutor; John How, treaifuror; Joseph Uar*
en, clerk.

1720-27—John How, moderator ; John How, treasurer; Joseph llsv*

en, cltrk.

1727-28—Henry Wiilker, moderator; John How, tressurer; Uonry
Walker, clerk.

1728-2'J—Henry Walker, modorutor ; Daniel Claflin, troosurar ; Josopb

Haven, clerk.

1729-;i0—Henry Walker, moderator; Daniel Claflin, tfttsiurer;

Henry AValker, clerk.

17;i0-3l—John Jones, moderator; Daniel Clutlln, treasurer ; Joseph
Haven, clerk.

1731-32—John Jones, moderator; Daniel Claflin, tressurar ; Josspb

Haven, clerk.

1732-33—Paul Langdon, moderator ; Daniel Claflin, treasurer ; Joasph

Haven, clerk.

173^1-34—John Jones, moderator; Daniel Claflin, treasurer; Joseph
Haven, derk.

1734-35—John Jones, moderator; Daniel Claflin, treasurer; Josrpb

Haven, clerk ; John Jones, representative.

1735-36—Peter How, moderator; Daniel Claflin, treasurer; Daniel

Claflin, clerk ; Capt. John Jones, representative.

173(5-37—John Jones, moderator ; Thomas Walker, treasurer ; Peler

How, clerk.

July 26tb—John Jones, moderator ; ThoniaH M'alkcr, treasurtr

;

Ebenezer Kimbal, clerk.

1737-38—John Jones, moderator ; Thomas Walker, treasurer ; Peter

How, clerk.

1738-39—John Jones, moderator; Nathaniel Smith, treasurer; Peter

How, clerk.

1739-^0—John Jones, moderator; Joseph Haven, treasurer; Peter

How, clerk; John Jones, representative.

1740-41—John Jones, moderator ; Joseph Haven, treasurer ; Joseph

Haven, clerk ; Jdhn .Jones, representative.

1741-12—Capt. Gooch, moderator ; Thomas Walker, treasurer ; Joseph

Haven, clerk ; John Jones, ropreseutatlve.

1742-43^John Jones, moderator ; Thomas Wnlkcr, treasurer; Charles

Morris, clerk ; John Jones, reprcw-ntatlve.

1743—14—John Jones, moderator; Thomas Walker, treasurer ; Charles

Morris, clerk ; John Jones, representative.

1744-45—John Jones, moderator; Thomas Walker, treasurer; Charles

Morris, clerk ; John Jones, representutivo.

1745-40—John Jones, moderator; Thomas Wnlker, treasurer; Charles

Morris, clerk ; John Jones, reprcsirntativo.

1740-47—John Jones, moderator ; Thomas Walker, treasurer ; Jamen
Gooch, clerk ; John Jones, renresentativo.

1747-48—James Gooch, moderator ; Thomas Walker, treasurer ; James
Gooch, clerk.

1748-49—John Jones, moderator ; Thomas Walker, treuursr ; James
Gooch, clerk.

1749-50—John Jones, moderator; Thomas Walker, treuunr ; Thomas
Walker, clerk ; John Jones, representative.
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17«>-6l—John Jouwt, moderator ; TboniM Walker, trwwimT
;
Tliomaa

Wttlkor, <*l**rk.

175'J—JotK-pti lUvon, motlenitur ; Tboiuua Walker, Iroiiaurt'r ;
Thoniae

Walker, clerk.

1763—John Wn*ou, moth-rutur ; Timothy Townftepd, trwisuror ;TbomB«

Walker, clerk.

17M— Henry MWlon, motleralor; Jo*«.iih Haven, troaeuror; Thomafl

Wnlker, clerk.

I7,'.S—Henry Mellen, moilenilor ; Joseph Hnvoii, treaaiiror ; Thomas

Walker, clerk.

17:,0—John Jones, moderator; Timothy Townftoml, treaanror
;
Tim-

othy TownKeiiil, clerk.

1757—John Wiliton, modenilor; Thiu-thy Townsen.i, treasurer ;
Tim-

othy Townsenil, clerk.

1758—Henry Melluii. modonitor ; Timuthy TuwnBoiid, tieiufurtM
;

Timothy Townseiid, clerk.

17511— Henry Mellen. mmU'rutor ; Timothy Tuwnseiid, troiinnrer;

Timothy Townsend, clerk.

1760—ThomuH Mellen, modenitor ; Jacob Gibbe, trt*tt8urer ;
John

WiUoa, clerk ; John Joneji, rt'preseutative.

17CI—John .loned, modenitor; Jiu*tm Walker, treitHiirer; Julin Wil-

ton, clerk.

1762—John Jonoe, moderator; Jason Walker, Ireiianrer ;
John Wll-

on, clerk.

l"r.;i—Tbomiifl Mellen, moderator ; Jason Walker, treasurer ;
Jason

Walker, clerk ; John Jones, rwpreBentative.

1704—John Jones, moderator ; Jason Walker, treasurer ; Jason

Walker, clerk.

1705—Tboiniis Mellen, moderator; Jhsou Walker, treasurer; Jason

Walker, clerk ; John Jones, representative.

17t;(;_Thonias Mellen, moderator; Jason Waliter, treasurer; Jascu

Walker, clerk.

17t;7_jos(.ph Melluti, mudcrator ; Jason Walker, treasurer ; Jason

Walker," clerk ; .loMepli Mellen, ropresontativo.

17,;S—Joseph Mellen, moderator; Jason Walker, trensuror ; Jirnou

Walker, clerk ; Joseph Mellen, representative.

17C.U—John Wilson, moderator; John Abbe, treasurer; John Abbe,

clerk; Joseph Mellen, representative.

1770—John Wilson, moderator; John Abbe, treasurer; John Abbe,

clerk.

1771—John Wilson, moderator ; Josepb Mellen, treasurer ; Samuel

Barrett, Jr., clerk ; J*)seph Mellen, represeutative.

^772 Samuel ('hamberluin, moderator; Jacob Gibbs, treasurer; Sam.

uel Barrett, Jr., clerk ; John Wilson, representative.

1773—Tbonms Mellen, moderator; Jacob Gibbs, treasurer; Samuel

Barrett, clerk ; Jobu Wilson, representative.

1774 Capt. Mellen, moderator ; Jacob Gibbs, treasurer; Samuel Bar-

rett, clerk; ('apt. Mellen, reprcBentative.

1775—John Homes, moderator ; John Homes, treaaurer ; Samuel Bar-

rett, clerk.

I77ri—Col. Jones, moderator ; James Nutt, treasurer; Samuel Barrett,

clerk; John Homos, representative.

1777—Col. Jones, moderator; Jumea Nutt, treasurer; Samuel Bar-

rett, clerk.

1778—Capt. Dench, moderator; James Nutt, treasurer; Samuel Bar-

rett, clerk.

1779—Col. Jones, modenitor; James Nutt, treasurer; Samuel Bar-

rett, clerk.

17S0—Capt. Deucb, moderator ; David Cutter, treaaurer ; Samuel Bar-

rett, clerk ; Gilbert Pench, representative.

1781—Capt. Dench, moderator ; David Cutter, treasurer
;
Samuel Bar-

rett, clerk ; Gilbert Dench, representative.

1782—Col. J<»noB, mo<lorator ; Joaeph Walker, treasurer ; Samuel Bar-

rett, clerk ; Gilbert Dench, repreaentative.

17g3—Mathow Metcalf, moderator; Joseph Walker, treasurer

;

Samui'l Barrett, clerk.

17S4—Col. Jones, moderator ; Joseph M^alker, treasurer ; Samuel Bar-

rett, clerk.

1785—Matbew Metcalf, moderator ; Joseph Walker, treasurer

;

Samuel Barrett, clerk ; Gilbert Dench, representative.

1786—Col. Jones, moderator; James Nutt, treasurer; Samuel Barrett

clerk ;
Walter McFarlitnd, representative.

1787—Mathew Metcalf, moderator ; Matbew Metcalf, treasurer

;

Thomas Kreeland, clerk ; Gilbert Dench, representative.

1788^Gilbert Dench, moderator ; Matbew Metcalf, treaaurer

;

Thomafl Freeland, clerk ; Walter McFarland, representative.

178VI—Gilbert Dench, moderator ; Matbew Metcalf, treasurer, Thomas

Freeland, clerk.

1790—Gilbert Dench, moJerntwr ; Samuel Haven, treasurer ; Thomas

Freeland, Jr., clerk ; Eben Otallin, representative.

1791— Dr. Joremy Stimpsun, mod^Tutor ; Samuel Haven, treasurer
;

Thomas Freeland, Jr., clerk ; Kbon Cbitlin, repnment^itlvt).

17^2—Henry Mellen, moderator; Samuel Ilaveu, treasurer; Thomas

Freeland, clerk.

17U:j--Matb6W Metcalf, moderator ; Samuel Haven, tn-asurer ; Thomas

Freeland, clerk ; Mathow Metcalf, representative.

1791—Dr. John Nelaon, moderator; Timothy Townsond, treai-uror
;

Thomas Freelami, clerk ; Matbew Metcalf, represenljitive.

1795—Cilburt I)encb, modenitor ; Timothy Towusend, treasurer
;

Thomas Freelami, clerk ; Miitliew Metcalf, representative.

17',til—John G. Wilaou, moderator; Moses Chamberlain, treasure)*;

Thi>nias Freoland, clerk ; Gilbert Dench, repiesontatlvo.

1797—John (>. Wilson, moderator; Moses ('hamberlain, treasurer;

Thomas Freeland, dork ; Walter McFarland, representative.

1798— Walter McFarland, moderator ; Moses (^Imm borlatn, treasurer
;

TbnmaH Fieelatid, clerk; Walter McFarland, repretiontalive.

17119—Timothy Sbepard, moderator ; Moses <!hambcTlain, treasurer
;

Eplirtn. Bead, clerk ; Walter McFarland, representative.

18(»0—Doct. Sbepard, niuderalor ; Mohom I'humberlaiUf treasurer
;

Ephrm. Bead, clerk ;
Dr. .Sbepanl, representative.

18U1—Walter McFarland, moderator ; Joseph Walker, treasurer;

Ephr. Read, clerk ; Timothy Sbepard, representative.

1802—Asa Eames, moderator ; Joaoph Walker, treasurer ; Ephr. Bead,

clerk.

1803—Timothy Sbepard, moderator ; Joseph Walker, treasurer ; Ephr.

Read, clerk ; Dr. Sbepard, representative.

1804—Walter McFarland, moderator; Joseph Walker, treasurer

;

Ephr. Bead, clerk ; Walter McFarland, representative.

1805-—Moses Chamberlain, moderator; Joseph Walker, treasurer;

Ephr. Read, clerk ; Walter McFarland, representative.

1806— Mosea Chamberlain, moderator ; John Goulding, treasurer
;

Ephr. Read, clerk ; Walter McFarland, representative.

1807—Asa Eames, moderator ; John Goulding, treasurer ; Ephr. Read,

clerk ; Walter McFarland, representative.

1808--Asa Eames, moderator ; John Goulding, treasurer ; Ephr.

Kead, clerk ; Walter McFarland, representative.

1S09—Moses Chamberhiin, moderator ; John Gouliling, treasurer
;

Ephr. Bead, clerk ; Walter IMcFiirbind, representative.

1810—Moses Chamberlain, moderator ; John Goulding, treasurer
;

Ephr. Read, clerk ; Moses Chamberlain, representative.

1811—Moses Chamberlain, moderator ; John Goulding, treasurer
;

Ephr. Read, clerk ; Moses Chamberlain, representative.

1812—Joseph A'alentine, moderator; Thomas Bucklin, treaaurer;

Ephr. Read, clerk ; Joseph Valentine aud Moses Chamberlain, represen-

tatives.

1S13—Joseph Valentine, moderator; Thomas Bucklin, treasurer;

Ejilir. Read, clerk ; Joseph Valentine and Moses t 'hamberlain, represen-

tatives.

1814—Joseph Valentine, moderator; Thomas Bucklin, treasurer

;

Ephr. Read, clerk.

1815—Joseph Valentine, moderator ; Thomas Bucklin, treasurer
;

Ejibr. Read, clerk.

181fi—Nathan Phipps. moderator; Thomas Bucklin, treasurer; Ephr.

Bead, clerk ; Nathan Phipps and WiiUer McFarland, repreaeutatives.

1317—Nathan Phipps, moderator ; Thomas Bucklin, treasurer; Ephr.

Read, clerk.

1818—Nathan Phippe, moderator; Thomas Bucklin, treasurer ; Ephr.

Road, clerk.

1819—Nathan Phipps, moderator; Thomas Bucklin, treasurer; Ephr.

Read, clerk.

18'20—Joseph Valentine, moderator ; Moses Chamberlain, treasurer
;

Ephr. Read, clerk ; Nathan Phipps, representative.

1821—Nathan Phippa, moderator ; Moaes Ohamberlain, treasurer
;

Ephr. Read, clerk.

1822—Nathan Phipps, moderator; Mosea Chuinberlain, treasurer;

Ephr. Read, clerk ; Joseph Valentine, representative.

1823—.losepb Valentine, moderator; Mosea Chamberlain, treasurer;

Ephr. Read, clerk ; Joseph Valentine^representative.

1824—Joseph Valentine, moderator; Moses Chamberlain, treasurer
;

Ephr. Read, clerk ; Joseph Valentine, representative.

1825—Joseph Valentine, moderator; Moses Chamberlain, treaaurer

;

Ephr. Read, clerk ; Joseph Valentine, representative.
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Igof—Nathan Plitpps. modcrntor ; Moses rhamborlaln, treasaror

;

Ephr. Heail, clerk ; Nutlmii riiipps, ropryihmtativo.

lH2^—Natlmn IMiippt:*, inuiltTutor ; Miwoa ('liuiitlH>rtuin, trvnauror
;

It. Siugletary, clerk ; TIukiiuh Itucklfu, rfpresontutivi'.

I<426—A. Harrington, iiio<lcrator; Moseri Clmiiiborlain, truai^iiror; D.

Sirigletiry, clt^rk.

Ig2'.1—Natban I'blppM, mt«lorator; Moses ClmnilHTlulii, trfartiin-r ; I),

Singletary, rlurU ; Tlnmias lliicttlin, Matthow Motciilf, reprt'soiitntivtv.

ISW—Natliaii IMiipiw, ninilttratur ; Must's Chainliorlaiii. trmisiirur ; 1>.

Sitiglftary, dork ; !\Iutliew Molcalf, roprosoiitutivo.

lS:tl—Niitlmii Ailaiiis, luoiK-rator; P. Sliigletary, troiwuror ; D. Singlo-

tary, dork ; S. 11. Walcutt, roprusoiiUitivo.

is:ij—S. 11. Wulcutt, nuMlL'mtor ; D. Singletary, tretisiiror ; D. Single-

tary, derk.

1833—S. B. AValcutt, inoilenitur; Daniel Kuiiium, treasuror; D. Singlc-

tury, clerk ; S. H. Walcutt, rBpresontntive.

1834—S. R. Walroit, modeiutor ; D. Singletiiry, tre;iaurer ; D. Slngle-

tary, clerk ; S. B. Walcott, Niithan Pliipps, r«>prosentativo8.

\SH^t—Nathan riupt«, ninthinitor ; 1>. SiiigU'tury, treasurer
; J D.

Sioglelary, clork ; S. It. Wulcott, Natliau Phippw, rcpresoiitativos.

lS3t>— S. B. Walcott, iiiiKl.Tfttt'r ; 1>. SingletJiry, tn'asnrcr ; 1>. Siugle-

tary, clerk ; S. 1!. Walccit, Michael Houior, reproHentattvoH.

1837—Nathan I'hip[>s, moderator ; D. Singletiiry, treasurer ; D.

Singletary, clerk ; Jeffrees Hall, representatives.

1S38—Aman^ Kanies, nioiiorator ; Au^t. Phipps, treuaurer ; D. Single-

tary, clerk ; Moses Pliipps, Jeftersoii Pratt, reprosentativee.

1S3'.)—^lathew Metcalf. niutlerator ; Dauiet SingU'tary, treasurer ; D.

Singletary, clerk ; Jeflereou Pratt, Aniara Kauien, reprosuiitatives.

1840—Aniara Eauies, moderator ; Marshall Wliituoy, treasurer ; D.

Singletary, clerk ; Jefferaou Pmtt, representative.

1841—S. 11. Walcott, inodonitor ; Marshall Whitney, treasurer ; Augt,

Phipiis, clerk : Anianv Eames, representiitive.

1842—S. B. Walcott, moiK-nitor ; Marshall Whitney, trowsurer
; Augt.

Phipiw, clerk ; Marsliall Whitney, representative.

1843— Aniara Eiuiiefi, niodenitor ; Marslinll Whitney, treasurer;

Augt. Phipps, clerk ; Neh. Pierce, representative.

1841—Albert Wood, moderator; .1. Pratt, treasurer; Augt. Phipps,

clerk ; Josiah Buruani, representative.

1815—Amara Eanies, moderator ; Nathan A. Phipps, treasurer; Augt.

Phipps, clerk.

1840—Abijah Kllis, niodenitor ; A. C. Putnam, treJisuror
; Augt.

Phipps, clerk ; S. B. Walcott, representative.

1S47—Aniara Eames, moderator ; A. C. Putnam, treasurer ; A. H.

Keith, clerk ; Augt. Phipps, representative.

184S—S. B. Walcott, moderator ; A. C. I'utnam, treasurer; A. H.

Keith, clerk ; William Clallin, representative.

1840—Augt. Phipps, niodenitor; A. C. Putnaui, treasurer ; W. Wooil-

ard (id), clerk ; William Claflin, representative.

185l>—Albert Wood, moderator ; A. C. Putnam, treasurer ; W. Wood-

ard (id), clerk ; Williuui Olatlin, representative.

1851—Augt. Ptiipps, moderator ; A. 0. Putnam, treasurer ; L. i'. Co-

burn, clerk ; William Clatlin, representative.

1852—Augt. Phipps, niodenitor ; A. C. Putnam, treasurer ; L. P. Co-

burn, clerk ; Levi P. Coburn, representative.

1S">3—Augt. Phipps, moderator ; A. 0. Putnam, treasurer ; L. P. Co-

buru, clerk ; John A. Fitch, representative.

1854—Daniel Eames, moderator ; A-. C. Putnam, treasurer
; J, A.

Tillinghast, clerk ; John A. Fetch, representative.

1855—John Fetch, moderator; John S. Crook, treasurer; J. A. Till-

inghast, clerk ; Uriah Bowker, representative.

1S50—.\lbert Wood, moderator ; John S. Crook, treasurer; J. A. Till-

inghast, clerk ; Albert Wood, representative.

1857—Albert Wood, moderator ; J. Whittemore, treasurer ;"J. A. Till-

inghast, clerk ; Albert Wpofi, representative.

1858—Daniel Eames,"moderator ; J. Whittetnore.'treasurer ; .1. A. Till-

inghast, clerk ; W. F. Ellis, representative. "

185'J—Albert Wood, moderator ; J. Whittemore, treasurer ; J. A. Till-

inghast, clerk ; Wni. A. Pliipp. representative.

1860—Albert Wood, moderator ; J. Whittemore, treasurer ; J. A. Till-

inghast, clerk ; Hilton Ciallin, representative.

1861—Albert Wood, moderator ; .1. Whittemore, treasurer ; J. A. Till-

inghast, clerk ; Benj. Homer, representative,

18*12—Daniel Eanies, moderator ; J. Whittemore, treasurer ; J. Till-

inghast, clerk ; Erastus Thompson, representative.

1863—0. P. Morse, moderator; J. Whittemore, treasurer; J. Tilling-

hast, clerk ; N. P. Coburn.^repreeentativo.

1B04—N. P. robnm. moderatt>r ; J. Whtllamon^ txmmnr ; J. A.
Wooilhnry, rlerk ; John Clark, ntprvMtutntlTc.

l,srk%—<;. MiiwrTo, iiCKlonitor ; J. Whiiloiuum, irnMunir ; J. A. WotMl>
bury, clerk ; K. S. Thayer, reprMpntatlvo.

IHOti—C. M<«(>rvo, iiiiNlomtMr ; J . 8. Tllwtuu, lr««mrar ; J. A- WooJ.
bury, clerk ; L. II. Ik>wk»r, rrprraenUUWe.

1807—O. Munvrve, nuMleratur ; L. II. Maytwrry, trMuurvr ; J. A.

WoiNlbury, clerk ; J. N. Plkf, r<iprt«rnlatlvo.

I80S—C. Meaorvo, miMlumtor ; I», U. Maybry, irtMuinmr; J C. Palmer,

clerk; M. C. Phijiiis, rvpreM>iilatlvo.

isr.y—.1, Whittemore, nuMlernbir
; !•. II. M«ybry, treuurvr ; C. Mm-

ervo, clerk ; M A. Hatvm, reprtvt'Ututlvo.

1870—,1. A. Fitch, moderator; I,. D. Maybry, (rvMurvr ; O. McMarro,

clerk ; J. A. Pike, r«pnw(>ntJillro.

1871—J. A. Wootlbury, niudrtniiur ; I.. H. Maybry, irowurer ; C. Mm
erve, clerk ; A. C. Putnam, repnvM>niatlvo.

1872—.1. A. Woodbury, nio^litmtur ; I*. B. Maybry, IrMUurer ; B, F.

Coburn, clerk ; M. L, Buck, ivprtvM>iilHtiTe,

187;i—C. Me»H*rve, moderator; Ij. U. Maybry, Irtsuurttr ; D. K. Co-

burn, dork; Chas. Alden, r<>prusuntnllvo.

1871—C. Mesorve, moderator; I.. U. Maybry, troaNiinir ; B. V. Co-

burn, clerk ; O. Mesorve, repn*w>nlativu.

187^1—C. Mo«k*rvo, niutlenttor; L. B. Maybry, Irvtuurvr ; B, T. Oo-

tiurn, clerk ; K. .\. Uatos, repn>M<ulalive.

187C—J. A. Woodbury, moderator; L. IV Maybry, troojuror ; II. K.

Coburn, clerk ; Wni. F. KIUm, repretHMilativo.

I,s77—J. A. Woodbury, niu<leralor ; L. B. Maybry, tn'onuror ; J.

Whittemore, clerk; John Muhon, repn«entutlvo.

1.S7S—C. MeserTo, moilemtor; L. B. Maybry, lrtwflnrr>r , J. Whitt«-

more, clerk ; J. Whittemore, reprewnlativu.

187i)—C. Mesorve, niodenitor; h. 11. Maybry, Irooaurer ; J. Whilt«-

niore, clerk ; Silaa F. Thayer, representative.

isso—J. A. Woodbury, mo«lemtor ; L. B. Maybry, troaiuror; J. Wlill-

tenioro, clerk ; Owen Wood, representative.

1881—C. Meserve, niodenitor ; Owen Wood, treasurer; 0, P. Wondor-
ly, clerk ; Owen Wood, reprt'seiitatlvo.

1882—J. A. Woodbury, modenitor ; Owoii Wood, troonirer ; 0. P.

Wondorly, clerk ; Caleb llolbrook, reproMmtatlvo.

1883—J. A. Woodbury, nuMlenitor; Owen Wood, troasuror ; C, P.

Wondorly, clerk: Cromwell McFarhuid, representative.

1884^—11. M. Fahey, moderator; Owen WocmI, treasurer; C. P. Won-
derly, clerk ; Alonzo Coburn, repreHentativo.

I8s.'i—C. Meserve, modenitor ; Owen Wood, treasurer ; C. P. Wonder-

ly, clerk, Fred. N. Oxiey, representJitive.

1SS(J—It. M. Fahey, niodenitor ; K. D. Bliss, treasurer ; C. P. Won-
derly, clerk ; D. J. O'Brien, repros«^ntative.

1887—U. M. Kahey, modenitor ; K. L. Bridges, treasurer ; C. P. Won-
derly, clerk ; D. J. O'Brien, ropresentiitivo.

18S8—K. M. Fahey, moderator
; K. L. Briilgea, treasurer ; 0. P. Won-

derly, clerk ; Abner Greenwood, rt<prosen tat ire.

18SD—.1. A. Woodbury, moderator; K. I^. Bridges, treuaurer; C. P.

Wondorly. dork , Alonzo Coburn, representative.

18'J0—J. A. Woodbury, modenitor; D. J. t)'Brion, treasurer; John F.

Fitzgerald, clork.

Military.—It appeai-s that in the expedition

against the West Indies, in the Spanish War, in 1741,

the town furnished eleven men and a boy, who en-

listed under Captain Jonathan rrescotl.

These men were: Henry Walker, Henry Walker,

Jr., Edward Caryl, Gideon Gould, P>aneea i*arce,

Thomas Bellews, Eleazer Rider, Cornelius Clafton,

Samuel Frale, Samuel Clemons, Ebenezer Collar and

Samuel Rousseau. The alliilr wjis badly managed;

disease set in, and only CiiJeon (Jould and the boy,

Henry Walker, Jr., returned to llctpkinton.

The first record of money being granted for military

purposes was at the October meeting, 1743. when the

town voted £20, old tenor, with the addition of £2 al-

ready in the hands of Cajilain Jonea, to pntvidc a stock

of ammunition. This grant waa probably made in

anticipatioQ of war between France and England.
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This war was declared June 2, 1744, known in

America as " King George's War," and was well rep-

resented by Samuel Spccn, Edward liowkcr, Josiah

Bowker, John Kclley, .loliii Deviiic, (iideon Gould,

Samuel Walker, Sr., Timothy Tounling, Capt. Ciiarles

Morris, Ebcnezer Hall, Jr., Robert Bowker, IMicah

Bowker, Jonathan Fairbanks, John Galloway, Kben-

ezer Hall, Isaac Jones, Elisha Keuney, Isaac Morse,

Benjamin Stewart, Kdmutid Shays, Patrick Shaysi

Simpson Twaniuch, John Watkin, Joshua Whitney,

John Wilson, Sr., and John Wilson, Jr. Patrick

Shays was the father of Daniel Shays, who afterward

was at the head of the well-known "Shays' Rebel-

lion." Sergeant John Devine, Gideon Gould and

James Cloyes were at the capture of Louisbourg

under General Sir William Pepperill, 2d company.

First Massachusetts Regiment.

At the annual meeting in 1755 the town voted to

appropriate twenty pounds to furnish guns, powder

and bullets, which were stored in the meeting-house.

JIany from Hopkinton were engaged in the French

and Indian War, which lasted from 1754 to 1763.

Joseph Cody, Jr., George Ware, Daniel Gasset and

George Stimpson went to Crown Point. Daniel Gould,

.Jason Rice and Solomon Walker were wounded in

the service.

Pelatiah Bixby, John Evans, Cornelius Claflin,

Joseph Cody, James Pierce, Samuel Bowker, Benjamin

Watkins, Daniel Evans, were at Fort George in Cap-

tain Jones' company.

Thomas Webster, John Evans and John Walker

were at Fort William Henry in 1756.

The passage of the Stamp Act by the British Par-

liament appeared to arouse the indignation of the

citizens of Ho])kinton, as well as the citizens of neigh-

boring towns, for at a town meeting held November
27, 1767, thg following article was acted upon, "To
consider some measures lately projjosed by several

wise and publick-spirited gentlemen, adojjted by the

town of Boston, to use our utmost indeavors unitedly

to save this Province from Poverty and Ruin that

threaten us; By using and recommending the strictest

frugality and economy ; By encouraging to the utmost

of our Power our own manufactures, not only such as

we have been heretofore in the Possession of, but also

by introducing new ones ; By discouraging to the

utmost of our power the importation of European
Goods, particularly the Articles Enumerated in the

account published in the proceedings of the town of

Boston Relating thereto—Voted : That the town will

take all the produce and manufactures of this Prov-

ince ; and to Lessen the use of Superfluities and Par-

ticularly the following Enumerated Articles imported

from abroad, viz : Loaf Sugar, Cordage, Anchors,

Coaches, Chases and Carriages of all sorts, house fur-

niture. Men and Women's hatts. Men's and Women's
apparel, Ready-made household furniture. Gloves,

Men and Women's Shoes, Sole Leather, Sheating and
Deer-tails, Gold and Silver and Thread Lace of all

sorts, Gold and Silver Buttons, Wrought plate of all

sorts. Diamond, Stone and plate ware. Snuff, Mustard,

Clocks and Watches, Silversmith's and Jeweller's

Ware, Broadcloths that cost above 10«. per yard.

Muff's, furrs and Tippetts, and all sorts of Millinery

Ware, Starch, Women and children's Stays, fire

engines, china ware. Silk and Cotton Velvets, Gauzes
Peuterers' Hollow Ware, linseed oyl, Glue, lawns,

Cambrick, Silks of all kinds for garments. Malt
Liquers and Chea.s."

This action of the town tended to awaken the sjiirit

of industry and constituted every household a busy

workshop.

"At a meeting held Sept. ye 21, 1768, for the pur-

pose of seeing if the town would think proper to

make choice of one or more suitable persons to serve

them as a committee at a conveution proposed to be

held at Faneuil Hall in Boston, the 22nd day of

September, Instant, at ten of the clock, before noon,

the citizens of the town Voted—To send one man to

represent the town at the Convention at Boston."

They chose Capt. Ju.seph Mellen to represent them.

"Voted, to choose a committee to give advice to our

Representative."

They chose Dr. John Wilson, Samuel Chamberlain,

John Nutt, Jacob Gibbs, John Albe and James Wark.
At an adjourned meeting October 3d they voted

four dollars for the expenses of Capt. Mellen White.
at Boston, and thanks for his services.

As the feeling against England deepened, a resort

to arms became a certainty, and in consequence the

town commenced to make preparations for the inevi-

table crisis. It was voted September 5, 1774, to grant

£12 "to buy a stock of Powder, bullets and tents."

September 12th it was voted " to send Capt. Dench and
James Mellen as delegates to attend a Provincial

Congress at Concord." A committee was also chosen
" to draw up a bill of regulations in the time of con-

fusion and non-operation of the civil law." February

20, 1775 it was voted to have three companies in

town. " Roger Dench was chosen Captain for ye

East Company, John Homes for ye West Company
and John Jones for ye Alarm Company." The town

also voted " that any man train under that Captain

he liketh best, and that every man equips himself

with arms and ammunition according to Law."

On the 17th of April it was voted to have a com-

pany of Muster Men numbering forty, and that these

men have £1 each at their enlistment. It was also

voted to raise £50 to pay the Muster Men, and £6,

13s. 4d. for powder and other purposes.

April 19, 1775, when the news reached the town of

the advance of the British on Lexington, the citizens

of all classes became intensely excited, and no people

in the colonies caught the echo of the " shot heard

round the world,'' with a quicker or more responsive

ear, than the people of Hopkinton. For the Minute

Men mustered at once and went forward to aid in ar-

resting the progress of the enemy.
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The following persons were present April 19th, at

Roxbury:

Capt. John Homes, Lieut. Aaron Albc, Lieut. Dan-

iel Eme8, Pargt. Henry Millen, Sargt. EbenezerClaf-

lin, Jr., Sargt. John Frt'elaniI,Sargt. Samuel Bowker,

Corp. John Battle, John Pirmenter, Isaac Burnap,

Dr. Samuel Johnson, Wm. Freeland, F. Wm. Barnes,

Joseph Thomas, Elisha Hayden, Wm. Bread, Abel

Fiske, T. Walker, Joshua Andrews, Jacob Parker,

Thomas Mone, Nathan Perry, Nathan Loring, Alex.

Calby, Francis Homes, Caleb ClalUin, Jr., Arthur

Carey, Daniel Loring, John Wales, (irendley Jack-

son, David .Johnson, Thomas Fletcher, Joseph Jack-

son, Joseph Coddy, Atherton Clark, Joseph Barnes,

Benj. Adams, .Tohn Hers, Samuel Stimpson, Isaac

.lones, Samuel Valentine, Reuben Johnson, John

Commey, Jacob Chamberlain, F.lisha ^V'arren, Dr.

Sigisniund Bondley, .lohn Homes, Jr., Benjamin

Smith, Isaac Claflin, Ebene/.er Singletary, Jeremiah

Butler, Thomas Hayden, Daniel Singletary, Aniariah

Hayden, Ebenezer McFarlin, Ebenezer Smith, Na-

thaniel Smith, Jr., Joseph Loring, Thomas Low,

Amos Barrett, Wm. Haven, John Gibson, Samuel

Clark, John Ernes, Fred'k Haven, Jr., Ezekiel Adams,

Samuel Snell, William Prentice, Wm. White, Thomas
Fanning, Levi Dunton, Mosea Watkins, Anthony

Jones, Jr., Eli Claflin, William Pierce, Amos Stimp-

son, Alex. Stimpson, William Fanning, Joseph

Freeland, Samuel Claflin, Moses Rice, D.aniel Seaver,

James McFarland, John Claflin, Elisha Adams,

Aaron Emes, Henry Dunn, William Thomas, Simeon

Miller, Simeon Green.

Asa Bowker enlisted May 8, 1776, for three months

and Arthur Carey, July 23d, served nine days in

Samuel A. Warren's company. Col. Read's regiment

;

James White enlisted in Capt. Cramor's company.

Col. Arnold's regiment ; Aaron Eames, Joseph Neeld,

in Capt. Jacob Miller's company, Col. Doolittle's reg-

iment ; George Clark, Theo. Biss, in Col. Patterson's

regiment, Capt. Fay's company, in 1775. Capt. Jame.s

Miller, Lieut. Aaron Albee, Lieut. Samuel Claflin,

Sergt. James Freeland, Sergt. Joseph Freeland, Sergt.

Samuel Snell. John Snell, Samuel Hiscock, William

Prentis, John Clemens, Daniel Sever, Benj. Mastick,

Ebenezer Tombs, Nathan Evans, William White,

Thomas Fanning, David Dunston, Moses Watkins,

Anthony Jones, Thadeus Spring, Richard Hiscock,

Joseph Dickinson, Eli Claflin, Abel Ephraam, Seaver

Hammond. Joshua Burnam, James Gibson, William

Pierce, William Tombs, Edward Gould, Thomas Free-

land, Lovett Mellen, William Fanning, Thomas Mc-

Farland,Col. Ward's regiment.

An abstract of the mileage of men to and from

camp, at a penny a mile, reckoning twenty miles to

a day, 1776

:

Milt

Major John Haden fi4.1

S»rg. John Willson 04.1

John Whitney 64.1
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A Lut oj Mm EutuUil Aj/retaht« to th« lietotve of Decemlter, ITSO.

Age. lluight.

Simuu h^uuea 44 57
Johu IlB«Luck 18 6 9^
Aljiier (iiushet 19 5 8

Solli Miiree 17 6 11

Gtforgo Wi'uro 18 5

Duuiol liowker 20 6 7

Jo«<<ph Yoviiig 18 6

Riuibeu Albes 17 5 8J^

Bciy*. (intyn 18 5 3

Tboiiiiui Slorey 38 5 11

Iwiac Stivugo 40 5 7J^

Lift Serviii]/ in the Army in 1780.—Simeon Tage, Moges Omigie, Oliver

TlUd, .\sft KIiUt, Juliu IlarriB (Sergeant), William Harria, William

Toombs.

A Lift of the Men Euliaied in the Continetttal Army for Three Teare or

During the War.—Jotthxm Wlu-aton, William Fanning, William White,

lonn Toonilts, IflHar Hixliy, Kiimunil (iuuUi, Asa Rider, William Yonnf,',

lianiel North, KriLstiH Harris, Jr., Thomas Freelaud, .Ir., John Walker,

William Ttiomtw, James (lay, William Prentice, John Graves, George

KiHcher, John Wehlen, John tJonld, Thomas Busbell, John Haven,

Adam Hritaas, (Jeffree Graves, Barnliard Rodemaker, Grausbaw IVIe-

haran, William Itoseman, Franees Puplarey, Samuel GeffiiB, Moses

Gray.

At a meeting held June 17, 177(3, I find the follow-

ing record : "Put to vote to see weather the town will

Declare themselves Independent of the Kingdom of

Great liritton in case the Coatenautial Congre.s3

should Declare the same—Past in the Aflfemetive by

a very Uuanamose vote."

April 7, 1777, the town voted to give the men that

enlisted into the Continental service, eighteen pounds

as a bounty by the town each man.

The records of the town, in the War of the Revo-

lution, for patriotism and love of liberty, cannot

be surpa-ssed by any town in the State or country,

when taken in connection with the fact that it ap-

pears, by a report of a committee made to the town

December 28, 1789, that there was less than 200 fam-

ilies in town.

It appears that in the War of 1812, the town fur-

nished its full quota. Colonel Joseph Valentine was

in command at Boston.

When the War of the Eebellion broke out, the

first meeting to consider the matter relating to the

war, was held April 29, 1861, at which meeting

Nathan P. Coburn, Alonzo Coburn, William A.

Phipps, Clement Meserve and John A. Phipps were

appointed a committee to consider and report what

should be done by the town " to aid in the defence of

the nation." The committee reported " that the town

appropriate a sum not to exceed five thousand dol-

lars, to be expended for the purpose of organizing

and drilling military companies for the national de-

fence." The report was accepted and the money
appropriated. Lee Claflin, William A. Phipps, Al-

bert Wood, Charles P. Morse and Thomas Mead were

chosen a committee to superintend the expenditure of

the money.

1862, July 17, the town voted to pay a bounty of

fifty dollars to each volunteer for three years, or dur-

ing the war, to the number of forty-seven, to fill the

quota of the towii. On the 18th of August the town

voted to increase the bounty to one hundred dollars,

and on September 18th the same bounty was author-

ized to be paid to volunteers for nine months' service,

and to pay the men Government pay from the time

they enlist until they are mustered into the service.

No action appears to have been taken by the town

in its corporate capacity for the years of 1863 and

1864, although recruiting was continued as usual.

April 11, 1865, voted to pay a bounty of one hun-

dred and twenty-five dollars to each volunteer to the

credit of the town for three years' services, to con-

tinue until March 1, 1865. Also to pay the same
bounty to drafted men.

Hopkinton furnished four hundred and twenty-five

men for the war, which was a surplus of sixteen over

and above all demands ; three were commissioned offi-

cers. The total amount of money appropriated and

expended by the town on account of the war exclu-

sive of State aid was thirty thousand dollars ($30,-

000.00).

The amount of money raised and expended by the

town for State aid was as follows : In 1861, $1,499.-

03, in 1862, 16,572.11, in 1863, $8,178.71, in 1864,

$8,600.00, in 1865, $5,000.00. Total amount $29,849.85.

The selectmen in 1861 were N. P. Coburn, E. A,

Bates, David Eames, O. L. Woods; in 1862, 1863,

1864, N. P. Coburn, E. A. Bates, Gardner Parker, C.

P. Morse, Thomas Mead ; 1865, E. A. Bates, Erastus

Thompson, Thomas Mead, Charles Seaver, and M. C.

Phipps. The town clerk for 1861, 1862, 1863, was

Joseph A. Tilliughast ; I. Augustus Woodbury, for

1864 and 1865 ; the town treasurer during all the

years of the war was Jonathan Whittemore.

A list of persons serving in the Civil War as re-

corded in the records of the town :

Adams, Charles H.,enl., July 3, 1861, Co. D, 151b Reg. ; res., Hopkin-

ton; died, Feb. 27, 1862, at Washington, D. C, in hospital.

Adams, Wm. B., cnl., Aug. 6, 1862, Co. F, 14th Keg. ; res., Hopkin-

ton ; died at Washington, D. C, Sept. 29, 1863, of fever.

Adams, Henry, enl., Aug. 7, 1861, Co. B, 26tb Reg. ; res., Hopkinton
;

dis., Oct. 211, 18i;4.

Armstrong, Luke, enl., Sept. 24, 9 mos., 42d Reg., Co. H.

Aldricb, George A., enl., March 4, 1864, 3 yrs, 69th Reg., Co. H
;

res., Hopkinton ; dis., July 31, 1865.

Bicknall, Sam. B., enl., July 2, 1861, 3 yrs, 16th Reg., Co. B ; res.,

Hopkinton ; dis., Dec. 17, 1862.

Bryant, Stilmau, enl. July 12, 1861, 3«yrs, 13th Reg., Co. K; res.,

Hopkinton ; dis., Aug. 31, 1862.

Bradford, J. E,, enl,, July 17, 1861, 3 yrs, 13th Reg., Co. K; res.,

Hopkinton ; dis., March 2, 1863.

Brown, Geo. H., enl., 1861, 3 yrs, 13th Reg., Co. B ; res., Hopkin-

ton ; dis., Jan. 23, 1863.

Brenn, Jeremiah, 3 yrs, 9th Reg., Co. C ; res., Hopkinton.

Burke, Martin, 3 yrs, 9th Reg., Co. C ; res., Hopkinton; trans, to

Vet. Res. Corps, Sept. 30, 1863.

Baker, Henry E., enl,, Aug. 4, 1862, 3 yrs, 14th Reg., Co. F ; res.,

Hopkintou ; dis., Juls 8, 1864.

Barber, Charles H., enl., Aug. 1, 1862, 3 yrs, 14th Reg., Co. F ; res.,

Hopkinton ; dis., July 30, 1864.

Burke, John S., enl., Aug 5, 1862, 3 yrs, 14th Reg., Co. F ; res.,

Hopkinton ; died of wounds June 18, 1864, near Petersburg, Va.

Bodge, John M., enl., Aug. 5, 1862, 3 yrs, 14th Reg., Co. Fj died at

Hopkinton, Feb. 2, 1865, of chronic diarrbuea.

Barber, John, enl., Aug. 1, 1862, 3 yrs, 14th Reg., Co. F ; res., Hop-

kinton ; died at Fort Craig, Arlington Heights, March 9, 1863.
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Bttgley, Fred. C, enl., Aug. 4, 1862, 14th Rog., Co. F ; po8., llopkin-

ton ; di8., Oct. 10, 1803.

Boyle, Laurence, 3 yre, 19th Iteg., Co. F ; res., Hopkinton.

Bates, John F.. 3 yrs, 13th Reg., Co. K ; rtw., Hopkiutun ; dis., Aug.

1, 1864.

Bronnan, Jolin, 3 yre, 0th Rog., Co. A ; res., llopkhiton.

Brady, J. S , 3 yra, 0th Reg., Co. A ; rt'S., Hopkinton.

Burke, Alex., 3 yr*, Oth Reg., Co. A ; ros., Ilopkfnton.

Boydeu, Joshua N., enl., Sept. 24, 1802, nios, 42nd Reg., Co. II;

res., Hopkinton.

Bord, David H., enl., Aug., 1864, 1 yr ; res., Hopkinton.

Bemis, Hiram C. enl., May 13, 1864, 1 yr, Iflt Batt., Co. E ;
res.,

Hopkinton ; din., Juno 28, 1865.

Basford, Wni. H. H., enl., Aug. 9,1864, 1 yr, 4tli H. A. ; roa., Hoi>-

kinton; die., July 1\ lst!5.

Boynton, Henry A., Aug. 15, 1864, 1 yr, 22nd H. A. ; los., Hopkiu-

tun.

Brown, Dextur, enl., Aug. 12, 1864, 1 yr, 22ud H. A. ; fob., Hopkin-

ton ; dis., July 15,1865.

Burke. Michael, enl., Aug. 15, 1864, 1 yr, 22nd U. A. ; ros., Hopkin-

ton ; dis., June 17, I860.

Bales, Amos R., enl., Dec. 28, 1863, 3 yra, 16th Batt. ; res., Hopkin-

ton ; dia.. Aug. 15, 18G5.

Baker, B. Frank, enl., July 10, 1864, 3% uios, 5th Reg., Co. F; refl.,

Hopkinton ; dis., Nov. 16, 1864.

Clapp, Emery B., nius. in June 21, 1861, 3 yrs, 40th N. Y. Reg., Co.

G ; res., Hopkinton.

Cutter, S. C, enl., Aug. 23, 1862, 9 moe, 42nd Reg., Co. H; res.,

Hopkinton; dia., Aug. 20, 1863.

Conners, Peter D.

Cautillo, Jacob, enl.. Sept. 6, 1861, 3 yrs, 22nd Reg., Co. A. ; res.,

Hopkinton ; dis., Oct. 1, 1862.

Conroy, Richard, nuis. in Oct. 14, 18G1, 3 yrs, 30th Reg., Co. M ; re.s.,

Hopkinton; died, April 5,1863, In service.

Cary, John, Capt,, enl. May, 1861, 3 yra, 9th Reg., Co. G ; res., Hop-

kinton ; killed, June 27, 1862.

Ctaflin, F. G., mua. in Aug. 7, 1S62, 3 yrs, l4tU Reg., Co. F ; rt-s.,

Hopkinton ; died at AndeiminviUe, Aug. 1, 1S64.

Coburn, Chas. H., enl., Aug. 5., 1862, 3 yrs, 14th Reg., Co. F; ros..

Hopkinton ; died, Aug. 21, 1862, at Fort Ellsworth, Va.

C-omey, Manelus, eul., Aug. 7, 18()2, 3 yrs, let Reg., Co. F; res., Hopkin-

ton ; died, Dec. 17, 1864, at Hilton Head ; cause, starvation in Rebel,

prison.

Cudworth, James C, mus. in Aug. 7, 1862, 3 yrs, 14tli Reg., Co. F
;

res., Hopkinton; re-enlisted under gen. order.

Comey, Lawson, mus. iu Sept. 24, 18t'i2, 9 njos, 42nd Reg., Co. H
;

res., Hopkinton ; killed, June 23, 1863, at Brazier City, Louisiana,

Comey, Henry N., Capt., eul.. May 28, 1861, 3 yrs, 2ud Reg., Co. C
;

res., Hopkinton ; dis. at close of the war.

Comey, Alphoneo. enl., April 2, 1862, 3 yrs, 25tli Reg., Co. B ; res.,

Hopkinton ; killed at C^Ad Harbor.

Oomey, James, enl., June, 1864, 3 yrs, 25th Reg., Co. B. ; res., Hup-

kinton ; dis., Aug. 7, 1866.

Case, Harrison, 3 yrs, 19th Reg., Co. F ; res., Hopkinton ; killed,

June 30th, at Glendale.

Connor, William, 3 yrs, 20th Beg., Co. K ; res., Hopkiuton.

Cantillo, George E., Sept. 2, 1861, 3 yrs, 22d Reg., Co. A ; res. Hopkin-

ton; dis. Jan., 1864, tore-enlist.

Couchlin, Charles, 3 yrs, 25th Reg., Co. C ; res., Hopkinton ; died of

wounds received at Roanoke Island.

Connors, Michael, mus. In Aug. 21, 1861, 3 yrs, 20th Reg., Co. F ;

res., Hopkinton.

Chadwick, John, 3 yrs, 3d Reg., Co. A, R. I.; res., Hopkinton.

Chadwick, E., 3 yrs, ,3d Reg., Co. A,R. I.; res., Huj'kinton.

Claflin, Luther., mus. in Aug. 15, 1864, 1 yr, 42d Reg., Go. H ;
rorf.,

Hopkinton; dis. Aug 20, 1865.

Claflin, John H., mus. in Sept. 24, 1862, 9 mus, 42d Reg., Co. H ; ren.,

Hopkinton.

Crowley, Cornelius, enl., June 17, 1861, 3 yrs, 16th Reg., Co. C ; rt-s.,

Hopkinton ; N. Y. Vol.

Column, Reuben C, mus. in Jan. 6, 1864, 26th Reg.; res., Hopkinton ;

dis. June, 1864, for disability.

Cutler, Ainsworth, enl. Jan. 4, 1864, 3 yrs, 4th Reg., Co. D ; res , Hop-

kinton ; dis. at close of the war.

Cunningham, Charles 0., eul. Mar. 29, 1865, 1 yr, 62nd Reg., Co. A
;

res., Hopkinton ; dis. May 6, 1866.

anpp, William A., mua. In Dec. U, ISQS, lit R«r.; n*., lIupklDtoD.

auney.Geo. R., enl. Jan. 1, 1804, 3 yrt, h'tUi Bat.; rv«., H^Jiklolon ;

dis. Aug. 11, 18tt6.

Dove. Edward, mus. In Oct. 7, 1861, 3 yn, 2Ath Reg., Co. E ; fm., Ho|^

kintun.

Dunn, Patrick, onl. Doc. 3,lK6l, 3 yra, 30lli Hag., Co. E ; roa^ lloi>kln-

tou ; dis. Jan. 1, 18)'^ ; roH<n1iM(od.

Daily; Jamea, mua. Iu Aug. 23, 1801,3 yra, 19th Rvg., C«. E; na.,

Hopkinton.

Dignan, Patrick, mus. In Oct. 28, 1861, 3 ym, 20th fleg.. Cell; rea.,

Hopklntott ; ills, by reaiMiU of wonndH.

Deako, Albt-rt S., enl. July I, lH62,3yn<, Mlh Reg, Co. B; rt«., Iloft-

kinton ; dJH. Oct. 7, 1862, by rcaaun uf woundH.

Dwyor, Michael, mus. iu Aug. 11, 1802, 3yni, Uth Re^;.; rva., IIupklD-

ton.

Doamond, Timothy, mua. In Aug. 7, HitI2, 3yrn, luh It^'g.; n»., Mi»p-

kluti^)U ; dis. Juno 21, 18G4.

Doherty, Jame!!i, uiUH. in July 27, 1801, 3 ym, |9ih II«k.. Co. K; fm.,

Hopkinton.

Paily. James, 3 yrs, 9th Reg., Co. C ; rea., nopkiulon.

Eames, David W., mus. In Oct, 11, 1801, 3 yni, 2Atli Reg., Co. B ; rm.,

Hopkinton.

Kllery, James n., enl. Aug. 5, 1861, 3yni,l4t)i Iteg., Co. K ; ma.. IIo|h

kipton ; dis. Jnly8, 18IH.

Ellard, John, mus. in June 15, 1861, 3 yra, 9tb Reg., Go. 0; rt-a., Ilop-

kinton ; dis. Oct. 28, 1863.

Krwiu, George, enl. Aug. 4, 1862, 3 yra, 14tli Reg., Co. F ; rw»., Hop-

kinton ; dis. Oct. 28, 1863.

Eustis, Samuel W., enl. May 12, 1864, 1 yr, 2'2d Reg.; rra., Hopkinton
;

dis. June 17, 1865.

French, Henry 0., mun. in May 26, I8<"il,3 yra, 2nd Rog., Co. B; raa.,

Hopkinton.

Fairbaukfl, Wm. H., enl. Sept., 1861, 3 yra, 20lh R«g., Co. B; re*.,

Hopkinton.

Foster, Thomas, mus. In Aug. 20, 1861,3 yra, 10th Reg., Co. O ; Tf.

Hopkinton.

Fay, Siibinus, mus. in Aug. 7, 1862, 3 yra, 14th Reg„'Co. F ; nsa, Hop-

kiuton ; dis. July 9, 18M.

Ferhustun. Thomas, mus. in Juno 28, 1861, I yr, 11th Reg.. CV>. \) ;

retit., Hopkinton ; killed July 2iid, at Gettyslmrg.

Foley, Martin, 3 yrs, 2uth Reg., fV K ; ros., Hopkinton.

Foley, Micha»d, res., Hopkinton; U.S. Inf.

Flint, Maurice, res., Hupkinton ; Navy.

Flaherty, Patrick. 3 yrs.K.tli Reg., Co. F; rea., Hopkinton.

Foley, Thomas, 3 yrs, lOth I^g., Co. F; rea., Hupkinton ; died of

wounds, May 5, 1864.

Fitzgerald, Thomnjn, 3 yra, 9th Reg., Co. A ; res., Hopkinton.

Fitzpatrick, John, 3 yra, 9th Reg., Co. A ; tvn., Hopkinton ; din. Dec.

12, 1862.

Fitzgibbons, I'atrick, mus. in Sept. 24, 18f'.2, 9 mos. 42-1 Reg., Co. H ;

res., Hopkinton ; ilis. Aug. 20, 18C»3.

Fay, Charles A., onl. Doc. 10, 18C3, Syrs, 1st Keg., to. D, I'af.; rea.

Hopkinton.

Fay, AdoIphuBJ.,enl. June 4, 1864, 3yrH, 59th Reg., Co. D; rea, Hop-

kiutun; died Oct. 13, 1864.

Fitch, Calvin W., mua. in Sept. 26, 1862. 9 mo«, 46th Bog., Co. A ;

res., Hopkinton ; died July 7, 1863.

Fitzgerald, Morris, uuis. in Aug. 10, 1804, 1 yr, Nnvy ; res., Hopkin-

ton ; dis. June 6, 1865.

Flynn, Timothy, mus. in Aug. 15, 1864, 1 yr, 22d Rog., Go. A ; rot.,

Hopkinton,

Gassett, Thus. R., mus. in July 17, 1861, 3 yra, 13th Reg., Co. K ; nw.,

Hupkinton ; killed at Atitietum, S.^pt 17, 1S63.

Gaasett, Wm. H., num. in July 17, 18('l, 3 yra, 13th. Reg., Co. K ; rea.,

Hupkinton; w<mndedut Aiiti*-Uim,8upt. 17, 1863; dis. Mar. -2.1, IStVt.

Greany, Charles, 3 yrs, Wth Reg., Co. C; res., Hopkinton; klllifl at

Gaines' Mills, June 27, 1S62.

Grieves, Robert, mus. in June 21, 1801, 3 yra, 4otb Reg., N. V., t5o. G ;

res., Hopkinton.

Gibbons, William, 3 yra, lOih Beg., Co. F; res., Hopkinton.

Gibson, Charles W., enl. Oct. 17, 1861, Syrs, 25th Rog., *o. B ; re«.,

Hopkiuton.
.

Gamage, Then S, 3yra, 12tb Rog., Co. B ; rea. Hopkinton.

Gibson, George 8., mus. in Aug. 7, 1861, 3 yra, Uth Reg-. Co. V ; rea.,

Hopkinton ; dis. Feb. 28, 18»V4 ; re.enl. Feb. 2«, \hCA. In mnio rpgimeiil.

Genthner, Wm. J. mus. In, Aug. 7, 18tVj, 3yra., 14th Reg., Co. I ; ret.,

Hopkinton dis. Dec. 30, 1803; re-eullstud aauie Co.
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Graot, Thomaa ; fm., Uopkinton; navy.

Orent, Patrick, mm. in, Oct. 1, 1861. 3 yru, 4th Ueg., Co. II, R. I. Vol.;

res.^ Uopklutou.

Grocn, Ktiwanl, Syra, 9th Keg., Co. U ; res., Hopkluton.

Gorman. Morris, 3 yni, Ath Reg., R. I.; transferred to uuvy; ree. Hop-

kinton.

Gttlltiglier, , 3 yrw. 9th Beg., Co. A ; res., Hopkintou ; dis. June

21. 18G4.

Gruvea, George U., mu». In, Jan. 6, 1804, 3 yrs, 26lh Reg.; res., Hop-

klntoD.

Gay, Frank B., mus. In, Aug. 15, 1804, 1 year, 22d U. H. A.; res., Hop-

kintou.

Gamage, Henry B., diub. In Jun. 4, 1864, 3 yn, 2Gth Reg., Oo. £; res.,

Hopkinton ; killed in action near Wincliester, Va,, Sept. 19, 1864.

Gerry, Joseph H., mua. in Jan. 4, 1864, 3 yrs, 4th Reg., Co. D; dlH.

June 21, 186.x

Gerry, George W., nius. in Aug. 17, 18(".4, 1 yr, Ut Batt. H. A.

Hodge, E. 0., mu8. in July 10, 1861, 3 yra, 13th Reg , Co. B; ree.,

Hopkinton ; die. Aug. 1, 1864.

Uiiley, John, 3 yra, fltli Rog., Co. C; res., Hopkinton.

Hodge, Edflon F., mua. in Aug., 1862, 3 yrs, 14th Reg,, Co. F ; res.,

Hopkinton ; dis. Jan. 30, 1805.

Hager John, uius. in Dec. 13, 1861, 3 yr«., 16th Reg , Co. I ; res., Hop-

kinton ; di0. Dec. 13. 1804.

Hogan, Michael, nine, in Aug. 7, 1862, 3 yrs, 14th Reg., Co. F ;
res.,

Hopkinton.

Huglies, James, 3 yrs, 9th Reg., Co. C; rea., Hopkinton; killed at

Gaines' Mills, June 27, 1862.

Howard James, 3 yrs, 9th Reg., Co. C ; res., Hopkinton.

Hurley, Edward, 3 yrs, 9th Reg., Co. A ; res., Hopkinton ; dis. Oct.

19, 1862.

Hassiogton, Daniel,3 yrs, 16th Reg.; res,, Hopkinton.

Heuneasy, John, 3 yrs, 2ath New York Vol.; res., Hopkinton.

Heuley, James, mus. in Aug. 11, 18C2, 9 mos, 42d Reg., Co. C ; res.,

Hopkintou,

Howard, Edwin, mus. in Sept. 24, 1862, 9 moe, 42d Reg., Co. H ; res.,

Hopkinton ; dis. Aug. 20, 1863.

Hayden, Lovell B., mus. in Sept. 25, 1862, 9 mos, 42d Reg., Co. H
;

res., Hopkintou ; dis. Aug. 10, 1863.

Hager, Frank, mus. in Sept. 24, 1862, 9 mos, 42d Reg., Co. H ; res.,

Hopkinton ; dis. Aug. 10, 1803.

Hager, George F., mus. in Aug. 15, 1804, 1 yr, 4th 11. A., Co. F; res.,

Hopkinton ; dis. July 22, 1805.

Heggem, John, mus. in Sept. 24, 1862, 9 mos, 42d Reg,, Co. H ; res.,

opkinton.

Halpin, John, mus. in Aug. 9, 1864, 1 yr, navy ; res., Hopkinton ; dis.

Aug. 8, 1865.

Harriman, Moses, mus. in Aug. 12, 1864, Ist Batt. U. A.; res., Hop-

kinton ; dis. .'une 17, 1805.

Hickey, Thomas, mus. in March 18, 1864, 28th Reg., Co. H ; res. Hop-

Kinton ; dis, April 14, 1805.

Harkius, John F, mua. in Aug. 15, 1864, 1 yr, 22d Co. U. A.; res., Hop-

kinton.

How, Eliaa W., mus. in Aug. 10, 1864, Co. E, Ist Batt. H. A.; res.,

Hopkinton.

Jenkins, Robert C, mus. in Aug. 9, 1861, 4 yrs, 19th Reg., Co. F ; res.

Hopkinton ; dis. Feb. 12, 1863, for disability ; re-enlisted Jan. 1, 1864, 3

yrs, 20th Reg., Co. E; dis. Feb. 11, 1865.

Jagoe, Robert H., mus. in Aug. 9, 1864, 1 yr, navy ; res., Hopkinton.

Judd, Sheldon J., mus. in Aug. 17, 1862, 3 yrs, 14th Reg., Co. F; res.,

Hopkinton; die. June 3, 1805.

Johnson, Samui-l D., mus. in Aug. 12, 1804, 1 yr, Co. E, 1st Batt. U. A.,

res., Hopkinton ; dis. June 28, 1865.

Johnson, Edwin. L., mus. in Aug. 4, 1864, 3)^ mos, 19th Unattd. Co.,

res., Hopkinton ; dis. Nov. 16,1864.

Kennerson, Geo. B., mus in Aug. 7, 1862, 3 yrs., 14tb Reg., Co. F ;

rea. Hopkinton ; died in hospital, 0. C, June 29,1864, of small-pox.

Kemp, Ezekiel, Jr., mus. in May 11, 1861, 3 yrs., 2d Reg., Co. G ; res.

Hopkinton ; dis. May 29, 1804.

King, Jas., mua. in Aug. 19, 1861, 3 yrs, 2l8t Reg., Co. F ; res., Hop-

kinton ; dis. Dec. 31, 1803.

Keys, S. N., mus. in Sept. 18, 1861, 3 yrs, 25th Regt., Co. B ; res., Hop-

kinton ; dis. Oct. 20, 1861.

Kemp, Charles, 3 yrs, 62d Reg., Co. K, Penn. Vol.; res., Hopkinton.

Kelley, James, 3 yrs, 9th Reg., Co. C ; res., Hopkinton.

Enowlton, Wm. H., 3yr8, 16th Reg., Co. C ; res., Hopkinton.

Keaney, James, 13th Reg. Oliio Vol.; res,, Hopkinton.

Keltey, Patrick, 3 yrs, 16tli Reg., Co F ; res., Hopkinton.

Eempton, Samuel, mus. in Aug. 24, 1862, 9 mf>e, 42d Reg., Co. H ; res.,

Hopkintou ; dis. Aug. 20, 1863.

Kinnoy, John, mus. in March 31, 1864, 28th Reg.; res., Hopkinton.

Kempton, RussotI A., mua. in Aug. 15, 1804, 1 yr, 22d Co. U, A.; res.,

Hopkinton; dis. June 17, 1865.

Loe, Marshall, 3 yrs, 2r)th Regt., Co. C ; res , Hopkinton.

Learned, Calvin S., mus. in Oct. 7, 1801, 3 yrs, 2.5th Reg,, Co. E ; res.,

Hopkintou ; died of fever Feb. 9, 1862, at Roanoke.

Locke, Andrew J., mus. in Aug. 7, 1862, 3 yrs, 14th Reg., Co. H ; res.,

Hopkinton ; died of wound June 10, 1864, at Petersburg,

Lynch, Patrick, mua. in Aug. 19, 1804, 22d U. H. A.; res., Hopkinton.

Lackey, Simon, mus. in Sept. 24, 1862, 9 mos, 42d Regt.. Co. H ; res.,

Hopltintou.

Loring, Charles E., mus. in Sept. 24, 1862, 9 mos., 42d Reg., Co. H
;

res,, Hoi)kinton ; dis. Aug. 20, 1803.

Lovering, George A., mus. in July 2, 1861, 3 yrs., 16th Reg., Co. B;
res., Hopki[iton.

Learned, Samuel, mus. in Jan. 5, 1861, 26th Reg. ; res., Hopkinton.

McGuire, John D., mus, in July 15, 1861, 3 yra., 9th Reg., Co. C

;

res., Hopkinton.

Murphy, Cornelius, 3 yrs., 9th Reg., Co. C ; res. Hopkinton.

Mitten, Martin, mus. in Dec. 16, 1861, 3 yrs., 28th Reg., Co. K ; res.,

Hopkinton,

McCarty, John, 3 yrs , 9th Reg., Co. A ; res., Hopkinton.

Munroe, N. Bonaparte, 3 yre., 19th Reg. ; res., Hopkinton.

Mahoney, Frank, 3 yra., 9th Reg., Co. ; res , Hopkinton.

Murray, James, 3 yrs., 9th Reg., Co. C ; res., Hopkinton.

McMahon, Thomas, 3 yrs., 9th Reg,, Co. C; res., Hopkinton.

McTigh«, Anthony, 3 yrb., 9th Reg., Co. C; ree., Hopkinton; dis.

June 21, 1864.

Madden, Michael, mus. in Sept. 12, 1861, 50th Reg., Co. B, Ohio Vol.
;

res., Hopkinton.

Madden, John 0., 115th Reg., Co. A, Penn. Vol. ; res., Hopkinton.

Martin, \V. H., mua. in Aug. 7, 1862, 3 yra., 14th Reg., Co. F ; res.,

Hopkinton ; died of wounds June 22, 1864.

Morse, Augustus P., mus. in Aug. 7, 1862, 3 yrs., 14th Reg., Co. F
;

res., Hopkinton; dis. July 9, 1864.

Miller, W. H,, mus. in Aug. 7, 1802, 3 yrs., 14th Reg., Co. F; res,,

Hopkinton.

Millard, Charles H., mus. in Aug. 7, 1862, 3 yrs, 14th Reg., Co. F
;

rea., Hopkinton ; re-enl. Mar. 27, 1864 ; dis. Aug. 26, 1865.

Merrill, Daniel L., mua. in Aug. 7, 1862, 3 yrs., 14th Reg., Co. F; res.,

Hopkinton ; dis. July 9, 1804.

Murtaugh, Thomas, 3 yra., 9th Reg., Co. C ; res., Hopkinton ; killed

May 8, 1864, at Spottsylvanla, Va. •

McDermott, John, navy ; res., Hopkinton.

McCarty, Timothy, N. Y. Vol. ; res., Hopkinton.

McCarty, John, 3 yrs., 11th Reg., Co. D ; res., Hopkinton.

McAuliflfe, Michael, mus. in Aug. 11, 1862, 3 yrs., 11th Reg., Oo. H
;

res., Hopkinton ; died April 23, 1863.

Mathews, Peter, 3 yrs., N. Y. Vol. Heavy Art. ; res. Hopkinton ; dis.

June 7, 1805.

McGuire, Thomas, 3 yrs., 9th Reg., Co. G ; res., Hopkmton.

Murphy, Michael, 3 yrs., 9th Reg., Co. F ; res., Hopkiuton.

Miland, Michael, res. Hopkinton ; navy.

Manns, Lawrence, mus. in Sept. 24, 1862, 9 mos., 42d Reg., Co. I

res. Hopkinton.

McDonnough, Martin, mua, in Sept. 24, 1802, 9 moa., 42d Reg., Oo. H
rea. Hopkinton.

Mansfield, Jamea A., mua. in Sept. 24,1862, 9 moa., 42d Reg., Co. H
res, Hopkiuton.

Morse, Charles F., mua. in Sept. 12, 1862, 9 moa,, 44th Reg., Co. F
res. Hopkinton ; dis. Sept. 28, 1865.

Murphy, Patrick, mus. in Sept. 24, 1862 ; 9 mos., 42d Reg., Co. C
res. Hopkinton.

Moi-se, Elisha, mua. In Sept. 12, 9 moa., 44th Reg., €o. K ; res. Hop-

kinton.

Murray, Francis, mus. in Dec, 1863, 39th Reg. ; res. Hopkinton.

McMahou, Isaac, enl. Jan., 1864, 3 yrs. ; res. Hopkintou ; died June

1, 1864, of wounds.

McMahon, James, enl. Nov. 8, 1803, 3 yrs., 66th Reg., Co. D ; res.,

Hopkinton ; dis. July 16, 1865.

McBride, Edward, mus. in Aug. 9, 1804, 1 yr. ; navy ; res. Hop-

kinton.
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Mahony, Michael, mtu. in Aug. 15, ISG-t, 1 yr., 22d Co. U. II. A. ;

res. Hopkinton ; dts. .Tune 17, 18G5.

Matthewfl, John, iihib. in Aug, Kl, 186-1, 1 yr., 22d Co. U. 11. .\. ; re».,

Hopkintou.

Monahan, James, inus. in Aug. 15, 186-1, 1 yr., 22J U. H. A ; res.,

HopkiutoD.

Morey, Rupliael, rea. Wostboro*.

Meserve, Jared W., mun. iu Aug. 19, 18 04 ; rea. Hopkinton
; 4(h Rog.

H. A. ; dia. July 16, 1865.

McCarty, Owon, uiub. iu Jan. 2, 1864, 9tli Reg. ; rea. Hopkinton.

Mansfield, Frederick S., uiua. iu May 7, 18G4, 3 moa., 7th Batt. ; rea.,

Hopkintou ; dia. Aug. 2, 1804.

McDonald. Lawroiict', uiuh. in Aug. la, 1KG4, 1 yr., 22d U. U. A. ; roa.,

Hopkintou ; died Jan., 1»G;'», In rebel prison.

Newton, Iliirtwoll, uiua. in Aug. 12, 1861, 3 yr«., iGlh Rog., C«. B;

res. Hopkinton ; dia. Feb. G, 18G3.

Noonau, Jyreniiah, 3 yre., 28tb Reg., Co. C ; rea. Hopkinton,

Neugent, Thomas ; navy; res. Hopkintou.

Newton, Edwin A., mus. in Jan. 15, 18G4, 3 yr8.,2Gth Reg., Co. Ct

res. Hopkinton.

Notage, Ueorge H., nius. in Jan. .^, 18G4, 25th Reg., res. Hopkintou
;

dia. Aug. 26, 1S65.

Osborn, John, mus. iu May, 1861, 3 yrs., 2d Reg., Co. F ; res. Hoiikin-

ton ; dia. Jan., 18G3.

Osborn, Thomas, mus. in Aug. 3, 1SG2, 3 yra., 14th R«g., Co. F ; rcB.

Hopkinton ; dis. June 12, 1865.

O'Neil, Patrick, 3 yrs., Sith Keg., Co. C ; res. Hupkinton.

O'Douoell, Patrick, 3 yrs., yth Reg., Co. I ; res. Hopkinton.

O'Laughlin, Laurance, mus. in Sept. 24, 1862, 9 raoa, 42d Reg., Co. 11
;

res., Hopkinton.

O'Brien, R. D., mua. in Aug. 10, 1864, Navy, 1 yr ; res., Hopkinton.

O'Brien, D. J., mus. in Aug. 15, 1864, U. U. A.; res., Hopkinton ; dis.

June 17, 1865.

O'Hare, Peter, mus. in 16, 1863, 28th Reg.; rea., Hopkintou.

O'Conners, Jerry, mus. in Aug. 15, 1864, 1 yr, U. H. A.; res., Hopkin-

ton.

Palmer, Jamea H., mus. in July 9, ISGl, 3 yrs, 16th Reg., Co. B ; res.,

Hopkinton; dis. Aug, 23, 18G2.

Parkhurat, L. B., mus. in July 12, 1861, 3 yrs, 16th Reg., Co. D ; res.,

Hopkinton ; dis. July 28, 1864.

Perry, W., mua. in July 2, 1861, 3 yra, 16th Reg., Co. B ; res., Hopkin-

ton ; dia. Feb. 11, 1863.

Pierce, Lorenzo, mus. in Dec. 7, 18G3, 2d H. A., Co. H ; res., Hopkinton.

Pyne, Wm., 3 yrs, 9th Reg., Co. C ; res., Hopkinton.

Powers, John, 3 yrs, 9th Reg., Co. C; res., Hopkinton.

Phipps, Daniel, mua'. in Aug. 2, 1862, 3 yrs, 14th Reg., Co. B; res.,

Hopkinton ; dis. April 1, 1865.

Pengree, H. L., mns. in Aug. 7, 1862, 3 yrs. 14th Reg., Co. F; res.,

Hopkinton ; re-enlisted March 14, 18G4; dis. Aug. 16, 1885.

Pickering, Wm. R., mus. iu Aug. 2, 1862, 3 yrs, 14th Reg., Co. F ; rea.,

Hopkinton.

Pickering, A.H., mti' in Aug. 7, 1862, 3 yr«, 14th Reg., Co. F; res.,

Hopkinton.

Phipps, Horace, mus. in Dec. 31, 1863, 3 yrs, 14th Reg., Co. F; res.,

Hopkinton ; dis. July, 1865.

Phipps, F. S., mus. in Aug. 7, 18G2, 3 yrs, 14th Reg., Co. F ; res., Hop-

kinton ; dis. June 22, 1865.

Phillips, 0. C, 9 moB.; res., Hopkinton; mus. in Jan. 4, 18G4, 26th

Reg.

Phipps, D. N., mus. in Sept. 24, 1862, 42d Reg., Co. H ; rea., Hopkinton
;

dis. March 5, 1863.

Parker, James A., mua. in Jan. 4, 1864, 26th Reg.; rea., Hopkinton.

Pierce, John, Jr., mua. in March 11, 1864, 69th Reg., Co. H; rea.,

Hopkinton.

Pike, Edward A., mua. in May 4, 1864 ; res., Hopkinton; 3 moa, dia.

Aug. 4, 1864.

Pierce, U. H., mua. in Jan. 9, 1864, 3 yra, 4th Reg., Co. D ; res., Hop-

kinton ; dia. Nov. 26, 1865.

Pulman, D. F., drafted 3 yrs, mus. in July 13, 1863, 18th Keg., Co. I
;

res., Hopkinton ; dis. June 29, 1865.

Phipps, Lowell W. E., Aug. 6, 1864, 3'^ moa., 19th U. H.; res., Hop-

kinton ; dis. Nov. 21, 1864.

Pierce, John A., mus. iu Sept. 24, 18G2, 9 moa., 42d Reg., Co. H; res.,

Hopkinton ; dis. March 6, 1863.

Rockwood, J. A., mils, in July 2, 1861, 3 yrs, IGth Reg., Co. B; res.,

Hopkinton ; dis. Dec. 28, 1862, for disability ; rc-euliated Fob. 4, 18G4,

difl. July 28, IbGo.

RicharUaoD, E. A., miu. Id July 2, 1861, 3 yn, IGUi Rcj., Oo. D. : na,
Hopkinton ; dis. July 27, 1801.

liogore, F. 8., mua. In Aug. 2, 1801, 3 yra, 2lrt lUg.. Cu. C; ma..
Hopkinton

; re-enl. Jan. 1, 1804. MmoCo. ; dird of woundi, Juuo, tIM.
ItogerB, Alex., unl. April 14, 18G3, I yr, Ut IWt. H. A.; n^, Hopkin-

ton ; died Nov. 2tl, 18W.
Ryan, John, 33d lU'g., Co. ; «•., Hopkinton.
Regan, John, 3 yni., 9th lUg., Co. C ; rr«., UupklDtoQ ; muai out

June 21, 1864.

Kockwool, M. 8., mua. In Aug. 23, 18M, 3 yre, 3d lUj., Oo. E; rs«.,

Hopkinton ; dia. Nov. 20, 18G&.

Riley, Charlod F., mus. In Aug. 7. 1862, 3 yn, Hth lUg., Co. Y ; ««.,
Hopkinton

; died at Andentouvlllo.

RUe, Lnthyr, mua. In Aug. 7, 1802, 3 yin, Hlh lUg., Oo. K ; im,
Hopkiittou

; diudut Waiihington, June 24, UM.
Richardson, D. M., mun. in Aug. 7, 1804, 3yni, I4lh Ueg.,Co. V, nm.,

Hopkinton.

Richardson, J. H.,3yr>i, Uith Reg., Co. D; rcB., Hopkintou.
Rankhia, Jamea, 3 yra, Uth Reg., Co. C ; n»., Hopkluluu.
Ryan, John (Ist), mua. In June 16, 1861, Otb R«g., Co. ; raa., Hop-

kinton
; mus. out June 21, 1804.

Roach, Patrick, 3 yrs, 6th Reg., Co. H ; rea., Hopkinton.
Ragan, Richard, 3 yrs, 5th Reg., Co. H, N. II. VoU. ; rc«., Ilupklutuu.

Ring, John, mua. In June 11, 1861, Sym, 9th Uog., Cu. C ; r«s., Hop-
kinton

; dis. June 21, 1864.

Riley, John A., mus. in Dec. 29, 1863, 3 yni, 20th Reg., Co. ; r«a.,

Hopkinton ; dis. Aug. 26, 18G6.

Rockwood, Juan K., mua. In Aug. 16, 1804, 1 yr, 22d lU. IL A. ; rw.,

Hopkinton; dia. July 14, 1865.

Rockwood, George L., mus. In Dec. 31, 1803, 3 yrs, 16th Bsttery ; rt«.,

Hopkinton ; dis. Aug. 16, 18G.5.

Shellleld, Churlea M., mua. in Aug. 20, 1861, 3 ym, lOtb Reg., Co. H ;

res., Hopkintou.

Shehan, Cornelius, mus. in June 16, 1861, 3 yra, 9th Reg., Co. C ; rw.,

Hopkinton.

yhurtlilT, H. C, mua. in Aug. 7, 1862, 3 yra, 14th Beg., Co. F ; rw.,

Hopkinton ; dia. March 8, 18G4.

Stearns, Oherly, mus. in Aug. 7, 1862, 3 yrn, 14th Reg., Co. F ; roi.,

Hopkintou ; re-eul. Dec. 31, 1863 ; dis. Aug. 16, 1866.

Stearns, Austin C, mus. in July 17, 18C1, 3 yra, 13th R«g., Co. K ;

res., Hupkinlon ; dis. Aug. 1, 1864.

Steams, Jonathan J., mus. in July 17, 1861, 3 yrs, 13th Rog., Oo. K
;

res., Hopkinton ; dis. Aug. 1, 1864.

Sherman, James, 3 yrs, 16th Reg., Co. K ; rea., UopklutOQ.

Shehan, D. J., 3 yrs, 9th Reg., Co. C ; rea. Hopkinton ; transferred

June 9, 1864, 32d Mass.

Shehan, Jamea, 3 yrs, 9th Reg., Co. C ; rea., Hopkinton; kilted July

1, 1862, at Malvern Hill.

Slattory, Michael, 3 yra, 9th Reg., Co. C; nw., Hopkinton ; kJllod

June 27, 1862, Gaiuos' .Mills.

Shanahan, Robert, 3 yra, 9th Reg., Co. C ; rea., Hopkinton ; dU. June

21, 1864.

Sandow, Henry, 3 yrs, 9th Reg., Co. C; reii., Hopkinton ; dis. March
G, 1863, disability.

Sullivan, Patrick, 3 yr>i, Uth Reg., Co. I; ree., Hopkintou; uiua. out

June 21, 1864.

Sullivan, Michael, 3 yi-s, 9tb Reg., Co. C ; ree., Hopkintou; mua. out

June 21, 1864.

Smith, Reuben, mua. in Sept. 24, 1862, 9 uios, 42d Reg., Co. H ; rcNi.

Hopkinton ; dia. Aug. 26, 1863.

.Smith, JohnM., mus. in Aug. 15, 1804, 1 yr, 2.'d U. U. A.; re«.. Hop
kintou.

Smith, F. E., mus. in Feb. 22, 1804,3yr»,2d Reg., Co. F; reo., Hopkio

ton ; died Feb. 1, 1865, in Rebel prison.

Shivlin, John, mus. in Aug. 15, 1864, 1 yr. 22a U. H. A.; n«., Hop-

kinton.

Smith. Siimuul A., mus. iu Feb. 22, 1864, 3 yra, 2d R«g., Co. K; rea

Hopkinton ; dia. Aug. 3,1866.

Smith, Clement, m!fe. In Aug. 19, 1864, 1 yr, 22d U. H. A.; hm.

Hopkinton.

Slattery, John, mua. In Sept. 4, 18G4, 2d U. A.; nw., llopklntoD.

leaver, Attgustus, mus. \n June 4, 1864, 3 yra, 26th Reg., Co. E ; r«a.

Hopkinton; dis. Aug. 26, 1865.

Sanborn. Ceo. L., mus. in Jan. 4, 1864, 3 yra, 26th R«g., Co. E; r«a.,

Hopkintou.

Sullivan, John, mus. in Feb. 8, 1866, I yr, 61at Beg., Co. I; rea.

Hopkintou.



794 HISTORY OF MIDDLESEX COUNTY, MASSACHUSETTS.

Smith, H. D., mus. In Sept. 24, 18C2, luos, 42<1 Reg., Co. II ; res.,

Ilupkiutuu ; dl8. Aug. 2tl, lt>('>3.

Traluor, Tliuma^, inud. Id July 16, 1802, 3 yrs, lOtb Beg., Co. B ; res.,

Hupktutoii.

Templo, N. II., mus. in Sept 2, 18CI, 3 fn, 191b Beg., Co. II ; res.,

llopklutuu.

Temple, M. 1!., mus. in Aug. 24, 1801, 3 yrs, 19tb Reg., Co. U ; res.,

Hopkiuti>n.

Teuiple, Martin, 3 yra, I9tb Reg.; res., Ilopkiuton.

Temple, II. M., 3 jts, 19tli Beg.; reit., llupkinlon.

Thompson, A. O., mus. in Oct. 7, 1801, :i yre, 26tli Bog., Co. n ; res.,

Hopkililoli ; din. Nov. 19, 18U3.

Tower, JuhIiuu II., mus. iu Aug. 7, 1802, 3 yrs, 14(h Kog., Co. F ; res.,

llopkinUin ; (lied at Andorxuurille, Oct. 9, 1804.

Temple, (Jeo. 1... mus. in July id, 1801, 3 yrs, I9lh Itig., Co. II ; roa.,

Hupkiolori.

Temple, Oeo. W., mus. in Sept. 24, 18C2, 9 mos., 42d Beg., Co. II ;
res.,

Uopkiutou.

Temple, Welcome, mus. in Sept. 24, 1802, 9 mos., 42d Beg., Co. II
;

res., Uopkiutou ; died nt New Orleans.

Temple, Dalrtton, mus. in Aug. 1,1-, 18114, 1 yr, 22d U. H. A.; res., Uop-

kiutou; dis. June 17, 180.'>.

Temple, Everett E., mus. ill Aug. 16, 1804, 1 yr., 22(1 Co. U. H. A. ;

res. Ilupkinton; dis. June 17, IH04.

Temple, Andrew A., mus. iu .Sept. 24, 1802, 9 mos., 42d Beg., Co. H ;

res. Ilopkinlon ; di». Aug. 211, 1803; re-enl. Mar. 12, 1864, 3 yrs., 59th

Beg., Co. II ; (lis. July 2(1, 1805.

Thayer, B. 0., mus, in Sept. 24, 1802, 9 mos., 42d Beg., Co. H ; res.

Uopkiutou.

Thayer, Jona., mus. in Aug. 16, 1804, 1 yr., 22d Co. U. H. A. ;
res.

Hopkinton ; dis. July 1.3, 1805.

Temple, Arba T., mus. in Mar. 11, 1804, 59th Reg,, Co. H ; res Hop-

kinton.

Tllman, Henry, mus. iu Feb. 3, 1866, 1 yr., 60th Reg.

Toomey, Tinn'tliy, mus. in Jan. 5, 1804, 28th Reg. ; res. Hopkinton.

.Vaughn, Elislia, mus. in .\iig. 7, 1802, 3 yrs., 14th Beg., Co. F; res.

Hopkinton ; dis. July 8, 1864.

Walker, Geo., mos. in July 2, 1801, 3 yrs., 10th Reg., Co. B; res.

Hopkint(m ; re.entisted under general order.

Warren, Daniel S., mus. in July 17, 1801, 3 yrs., 13th Beg., Co. K
;

res. Hopkinton ; re-enl. same (.'o. Feb. 19, 1S64; dis. Aug. 29, 1805.

Whitney, J. J., mns. in St^l)t. 24. 1802, 9 mos., 42d Beg., Co. II ; res.

Hopkinton ; dis. Aug. 20, 1803 ; re-enl. Aug. 16, 1804, 1 yr., 22d I'o. II.

H. A.; dis. June 17, 18li5.

Warren, Geo. W , 3 mos., 1801 ; res. Hopkinton.

Wakefield, Wm. H., mus. in Aug. 12, 1801, 3 yrs., Igtli Beg., Co. F
;

res. Hopkinton.

Ward, .Samuel J., mus. in Aug. 9, 1801, 3 yrs., 19th Beg., Co. L ; res.

Hopkinton ; dis. Jan., 1802, disability.

Ward, George M., 3 yrs, 22d Beg., Co. K , res Hopkinton.

Warren, Aaron L.,mus. in Sept. 14, 1801, 3 yrs., 22d Beg., Co. A ; res

Hopkinton; dis. Aug., 1862, disability ; re-enl. Jan. 9, 1804, 3yrs., 4th

Cav., Co. D ; dis. Nov. 26, 1865.

Wood, Gus W., 3 yrs., 22d Beg., Co. K ; res. Hopkinton.

Weston, H. 0., mus. in Sept. 13, 1861, 3 yra., 1st Cav., Co. D ; res. Hop-

kinton.

Ward, Almond, mus. in Aug. 1, 1862, 3 yrs., 14th Beg., Co. F ; res.

Hopkinton ; dis. July 8, 1804.

Wciolson, Lem. C, mus. in Aug. 7, 1862, 3 yrs., 14th Beg., Co. F ; res.

Hopkinton ; died of wounds at City Point, June 20, 1804.

Wheeler, Albert B., mus. in Aug. 7, 1802, 3yi-s., 14th Reg., Co. F
;

res. Hopkinton ; dis. July 8, 1864.

Wheeler, Cephas E., mus. in Aug. 7, 1862, 3 yrs., 14th Beg., Co. F
;

res. Hopkinton ; dis. July 8, 1864.

Wheeler, Jarvis B., mus. in Aug. 7, 1862, 3 yrs., 14th Beg., Co. F
;

res. Hopkinton ; dis. July 8, 1804.

Wise, Harry P., mus. in Aug. 7, 1862, 3 yrs., 14tli Beg., Co. F ; res.

Hopkinton ; wounded June 22, 1864 ; supposed to be dead.

Wheeler, Willard, mus. in July 17, 1861, 3 yrs., 13th Reg., Co. K ; res.

Hopkinton ; killed at the battle of Gettysburg, July 1, 1863.

Wright, Wm. B., must, in Aug. 27, 1861, 3 yrs., 19th Beg., Co. K ; res.

Hopkinton ; killed at the battle of Antietam, Sept. 17, 1862.

Wright, Chas. H., must, in Aug. 28, 1861,3 yrs., 19th Beg., (!o. D; res.

Hopkinton ; dis. Feb., 1863, for disability.

Waters, John, unist. in Aug., 27, 1801, 3 yrs., 9th Beg., Co. C ; res

Hopkinton ; died of wounds, Nov. 5, 1802.

Ward, I'Mward, must, in Sept. 17, 1801, 3 yrs., 4lh Beg., Co. F, B. I.

VoL; res. Hopkinton
; dis. Dec. 29,1802, disability.

Ward, Willard L., must, in Sept. 21, 1801, 3 yrs., 4th Reg., Co. F, It. I.

Vol.; res. Hopkinton ; dis. Nov. 28, 1802, disability.

Ward, Michael, 3 yrs., 4uth N. Y. Vol.; res. Hopkinton.

Ward, Jitmes, 3 yrs, 28th Reg.; res. Ho))kintou.

Whipjiie, Willis, must, in Oct. 7, 1801,4 yrs., 25th Beg., Co. B ; res.

lloitkinton; missing at the battle of Cold Harbor, June 3,1864, sup-

posed to have been killed.

Watklns, n. A., must, in Sept. 24, 1802, 9 mos., 42d Beg., Co. II ; res.

Hopkinton ; dis. Aug. 20, 1863.

Woods, Calvin W., must, in Sept. 24, 1802, 9 mos., 42d Reg., Co. II
;

res. Hopkinton.

Ward, Abner, .Sept. 24, 1862, 9 mos., 42d Beg., Co. C ; res. Hopkinton
;

dis. Mar. 12, 1803.

Wayne, Silas, must, in Sept. 24, 1802, 9 mos., 42d Beg., Co. H ; res.

Hopkinton.

Ward, John W., must, in July 13, 1802, 3 yrs., 34tli Reg., Co. C ; res.

Hopkinton ; died in hospital, Jan 1, 1805, at Annajiolis, Md.
Wheeler, Wm. H., must. In Oct. 13, 1862, 3 yrs,, 2d Beg. Cavalry

;

res. Hopkinton.

Williams, Thomas, must, in Aug. 12, 1864, 1 year, 1st Beg., Co. E
;

res. Hopkinton ; discharged.

Wallace, James, must, in Aug. 15, 1864, 1 yr., 22d Co., U. H. A.; res.

Hopkinton.

Woods, Willard L., must, in Aug. 1.5, 1S62, 1 yr., 22d Co. U. H. A.;

res. Hopkinton ; dis. May 2, 1865.

Whittemore, Curtis H., must, in Sept. 12, 1862, 9 mos., 44th Reg., Co.

C ; res. Hopkinton ; dis. June 18, 1803.

Woods, Chas. A., must, in .Ian. 18, 1864, 26th Reg.; res. Hopkinton.

Webster, John C. Jr., May 10, 1804, Co. B, 1st Batt., H. A. ; res. Hop-

kinton.

Wheeler, Hiram E., must, in Aug. 15, 1804, 1 yr., 22d Co. V. H. A.

;

res. Hopkinton ; dis. June 7, 1806.

Wood, Marcus M., Jan. 4, 1864, 3 yrs., 26th Reg., Co. D ; res. Hopkin-

ton ; dis. May 13, 1805.

Ward, George, must, in Oct. 11, 1862, 9 mos., 42d Reg., Co. C; res.

Hopkinton ; dis. Aug. 2", 1863.

Ward, Simeon, must. in. Jan. 4, 1804, 3 yrs., 26th Reg., Co. F ; res.

Hopkinton ; di(^d Jan., 1806, in rebel prison.

(I find that by the record that the 14th Regiment is used instead of

the 1st Regiment of H. A., which is incorrect as there was no 14th Beg-

ment in the same from Mass.)

Meeting-House.—A town-meeting to see about

buildingaraeeting-bouse wasbeld January 5, 1724-25,

witbin one year after tbe organization of the town.

It was " voted to build a house forty-eight feet long,

thirty-eight feet wide and twenty feet between joynts

and that the house be stooded : that John Bovvker,

Samuel Comins, Samuel Watkin, be a Comety to

provide tbe timber and frame it. Improving tbe peo-

ple of the town to worke out their rates, that the

comety have 4s. a day til March, and after that 4s. M.
a day they finding themselves vital and drink ; that

the meeting-house be raised by ye 2d of May.

Some difference of opinion arose as to the proper

location of the meeting-house, three places being se-

lected : first, at a lopt chestnut-tree, second, where the

timber lieth, third, at a place south of burying-place

marked by a walnut-tree. As a compromise, all parties

agreed to leave it to be decided by /he lot. ; the lot was

cast and it fell upon the spot south of the burying-

place in what is the highway.

The raising of the meeting-house was a great affair

as appears by the record. At a meeting held November

29, 1725, It was "voted that the town appropriate ten

pounds for the purpose ; that the meeting-house be

raised with spike poles, that it be left with the select-
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men to appoint the time when to raise the meeting-

house, that Sart. Samuel Watkiiia, Sart. John Man-
ning and Thomas Walker, be a Uomitee to take care

and provide for raising ye publick meeting-house;

that all those that entertain those men witli a supper

the evening after the raising of our publick meeting-

house that have been to said raising shall have one
shilling 3 pence per head for each man allowed them
by the town of Hopkinston, they giving theire names
of each man to the town."

The house was raised in December, 172r>, and was

so far completed that the town held its first meeting

in it June 2(5, 172t). The trustees contributed £100
towards the meeting-house. The house stood on the

spot where its was built until 1821), when it was
moved and used as a barn by Col. Joseph Valentine,

afterwards by ex-Gov. Ciatlin & Co., as a boot fac-

tory.

Pew-ground was granted to the leading families

who were placed around next the walls; the size of

the pews was fixed by a vote of the town and varied

from six feet to seven feet long, and from five feet to

seven wide, according to the size of the family.

Where a pew came against a window the owner was

required to keep the glass in repair—an obligation

the owners appear to neglect, as the town at one of

its meetings chose a committee to board up the

windows.

The meeting-house was a plain structure without

a cupola or steeple, and was painted outside in 1773

for the first time.

A number of the original members of the church

were Scotch Presbyterians. April 9, 1731, the church

voted to comply with the Cambridge platform adopted

at Cambridge, 1G49, as the rule of their discipline.

This action of the church gave great ollisnce to the

Presbyterians who, in 173-1 organized a Presbyterian

Church and built a small meeting-house on what is

now called High Street, near the Ellery corner, but

they eventually removed to New Glasgow, now Blan-

ford, west of the Connecticut river. Robert McCook,
one of the number, said that he desired no letter of

dismission, but thought that the church should ask

a dismission from himself.

The pastor, Rev. Samuel Barrett, Jr., was born at

Boston 1700, graduated at Harvard 1721. It appears

that he came from Medway here, as the town at a

meeting July 24, 1725, allowed John How five shil-

lings for going to Midway to treat with Mr. Barrett.

In a notice published at the time of his death it is

said " He was a pious good Christian ; a man of

great candor and good nature." jHe died December

11, 1772.

The trustees gave one hundred acres of land to the

first minister that should be ordained and settled in

the town, to be for him and his heirs for the term of

ninety-nine years, free from paying any rent, and

thirty pounds toward building his house upon hia

own land. '

The town voted him £100 "in day labor, oxens
worke, boards, shingle, clapboards, slet-worWe or
other materials needful for the building an hounc for

him, and to pay it by the Isl of October next." The
house was built, in 172.'), on the present site of the
town hall, where it remained until 1830, when it wiut

taken down by Col. Josei)h Valentino.

Rev. Elijah Fitch was the second pastor ; he die<l

December 10, 1788. It is said of him that ho was im
eloquent preacher, a line scholar and pool. Ho wrote
and published a poem of several cantos, enlitl«-<l

" The Beauties of [leligion," also a |)ocm calle<l "The
Choir," in which he described his manner of life in

Hopkinton.

The following is an extract frotn a Century Sermon
preached in 1S15 by the Rev. Nathaniel Howe. It

shows the nature of some of the controversies which
take place between a pjistor iind his people :

" When the piiblice look aldea u|Hia pollUoi jrour nitohil«r wu >
fixleraliKt, though lie wiia soiiKibln, a very Rivat m^nrlty of the town
woreof ililToront Bentiiilent. Ho iHilievetl tlii-li lu* ho JiK'a iiuw tliRt tin

ought to Imvo more regnni for Ilia county limn to iiny (uirtlcnlar |airl of

it. AikI when ho hiut occasionally prcHclMnl polllIcAl aerinona Ihay have
repeatedly occaifinned unconifortablp feeliiiga.

" Ancjiher difficulty your Minaler hiu had to encounter nan the want
nf8iippt>rt. A va8t change liiu taken place in the pxpvUNO ofdreaaing

anil living since my ordination, and yet no addiUon has lieoo made to

my salary.

" When a canilidato I dotenninwl I would never nettle till I mw a

reasonahle prospect of a i-onifortalile silpixiri, and wlieu ai'llletl I

would never complain of my salary. I r lined of thia mind till 1 bad
been your miniHter for Hfteeu yoam.

" UortiR down with the fatigues of manual laltor, preaaed Into tha

woods in the winter, to the plough in llie spring, into the nieailows In

(he siilnuier, to support my family comfortiible and fulllll my proiiiiwia,

I felt the bualnesa of the ministry was greatly ueglecleil; (hat it waa

impoBsalile for me to do what ought lo be done in my profewion iinlcva

the people did more (owanl my support.

" I (Joniniitted my thoughts to paper then committed them to four

brethreu of the church, then to the church as a body and afterward to

the town."

At a meeting of the town held December 15, 180G, I

find the following record : Mr. Howe wils called upon to

read to the town the communication he had made to

the church, upon which the vote to ''see if the town

will (on account of the depreciation of money) add

§110.07, to the yearly salary of the Rev. Nathaniel

How till such times as labor and provisions fall in

their price as low as when he was ordained." This

passed in the negative by a large majority."

"Then Mr. How proposed to see if the town would aild Jllf'.fiT till

such times as (be members of our (•enenil Court receive lesa than two

dollars per day for their services. This wiia negatived liy a large ma-

jority.

'* Then Sir. How proposed to see if the town will add 81 lG,fi7 for aeTen

years from the lirst day of January rioxt. This passed in the negative

by a large miyority.

" Then Mr. Ilow proposed to see If the town will make up one-half

the depreciation on hht aalary from this lime while he contlnuea Uielr

minister. This passeit in the negative by a large mivjority.

"Then Mr. How proposed to see if the town will, In the future, piiy two

hundred dollars for bis anuual salary and average in on lalior, corn, rye,

cider, butter and cheese, lKH<f, porke, at the prices they bore on the day

of his ordination. Thle |>assed in the negative by a large miOorlty.

"Then Mr. lIow proposed (usee if the ttiwli will purchaso his buuaa

and land and keep it for the next minister. This |«Med in the negativa

by a large minority.
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"Tbeii Mr. How propowd to aea If the town will request the church,

by a vote, to grant him a diBnilsslun. This passed in the negative by a

large m^jurity.

"Then Mr. !Iow said be had but one proposition to make, which was

to see If the town wore willing he should publish the communication he

had umdo to the church iind read to the towu and all the doings of the

town therein. And this also passed In the negative by u largo mn

jority."

Near the conclusion of the sermon Mr. How says :

"My brethren, may 1 ask a question, a plain, simple question? How
I

shall I obtiiiu your consent ? Shall I tJiko silence for consent? Your

countenances discover a willingness? Thequestion is this. Do you know

by what uieaus I have become so rich as to have a great house fluished

and furuishecl ? ,\ farm, a herd of cattle, a tlock of sheep, horses and

money at interest? I say nothing of my debts to-day. Shall I answer

thequestion? The priliclpiil reiison is this, because I have been doing

your bufimM and neglecting my otm. What is your business? Your

business is to support your minister, and that what I have been doing

for more than twenty years, and what is my business? My business is

to study and preach ; and in this have never abounded. It is I have

been absent from public worship not more than four or five Sab-

baths for twenty five years ; but I have frequently been present and at-

tempt to preach when it has been mortifying to me and could not be

edifying to you. I have sometimes admonished reproof both to the

church and society In a manner that has been thought to discover some

degree of severity, but in these cases you have always had the good sense

enough to know you richly deserved it."

Ministers Phelps and Hall served as colleague pas-

tors with Mr. Howe.

Mr. Howe had one of the longest and most success-

ful pastorates. He succeded in doing much good for

the church in many ways, and his death, in 1837, was

an event which caused much sorrow. He was a man
who, strong in his own convictions, had no fear in

announcing them from his pulpit.

The first meeting-house was commenced in 1725,

and the tirst meeting held therein was on June 26,

1726. But the building, which was not finished for

many years, was removed in 1829, and another was

built, which was burned in the destructive fire in

April, 1882.

May 21, 1723, a bigger part of ye Inhabitants of the

town met, and " the following business was done :"

" Voted, The endeavoring for a minister to preach

with us constantly on Sabbath days.

2. " Voted, To levy a tax of an half-penny upon

the acre upon all the lots that are either taken up or

picked upon by gentlemen that they will take them
for the support of a minister.

3. "Voted, That they will every man bring in his

proportion to said tax to John How by the last day

of June next ensuing.

4. " Voted, To have a contribution every Sabbath,

and that every man paper bis money and write his

name upon the paper, and set the sum that he puts in.

5. " Voted, That Mr. Hustone and Mr. Wood shall

receive said contribution, and take an account what

it is, and deliver it to the aforesaid John How, and

take care of none of said papers that none of them
be lost.

6. " Voted, That Mr. John Wood and John How
take care that we are constantly provided with a min-

ister to preach with us on Sabbath days. 1

7. "Voted, To meet at John How's house on Sabbath
days at present."

This was the beginning of the movement which
established the church.

The pastors which have been in charge of the parish

are as follows

:

Rev. Samuel BaiTett 1724-1772.

Kev. Elyah Fitch 1772-1788.

Rev. Nathaniel Howe 1791-1837.

Rev. Amos A. Pheljis 1830-1832.

Rev. Jeffri.s Hall 1833-1838.

Rev. John 0. Webster 1838-1864.

Rev. Joseph Buardman 1865-1868.

Kev. George H. Ide 1869-1876.

Rev. Horatio 0. Ladd 1877-1880.

Rev. Mr. Fullertou olticiated until Rev. B. Story was inalalled In

1807.

English Church.—The Rev. Roger Price, rector

of Kings Chapel of Boston, came to Hopkinton in or

about 1745, and took up a tract of land containing

seven hundred and nine acres and one hundred and
forty-two acres of common land.

He built a small church edifice and endowed it

with a glebe of one hundred and eighty acres, the

deed being dated July 9, 1748. After officiating here

for three or four years, he returned to England and
was succeeded by Rev. John Troutbeck, who was ap-

pointed chaplain of" frigate " Rose in 1769. The fol-

lowing appear to be members of the church in 1752,

Sir Charles Henry Frankland, Thomas Higgins,

Julius Chase, William Wesson, Capt. David Ellis,

James Devine, Thomas Valentine, Patiick White,

John Mastick, Robert Barrett, James Fannys, Thomas
Chadock, William Brown, Patrick Shays (father of

the rebel Daniel Shays), Hugh Dempsey, Richard

Kelly, Rebecca Wilson, Peter Vialas, John Kelly and

Mrs. Dench.

The present members are James F. Braithwaite,

clerk; Jame.s Frith Braithwaite, Robert H. Braith-

waite, William Kennedy, Samuel A. Kennedy, Robert

H. Kennedy, James W. Kennedy, Dr. Walter A.

Phipps, George Davis, Harry Hemenway, David H.

Fisher.

The first building remained where it was built until

1818, when a committee made the following report to

the Board of Managers :
" That having viewed and

examined the church in Hopkinton, and they were

decidedly of the opinion that the same was so far

decayed that any expenses bestowed on repairing

it would be lost, and that they had made a contract

with Samuel Valentine to build a new church, which

was done at a cost of three thousand sixty-one dol-

lars and twenty-four cents ; the church was conse-

crated October 7, 1818, and destroyed by fire, July

18,
1865.'J

The first Methodist Church was built on Hayden

Row Street about eighty years ago, and had for its

pastor Elder Bonney.

The church building on Church Street was built in

1866, by Deacon Lee Claflin.
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Catholicity in Hopkinton.'—Time rolls his

restless course ; the changing years flit on, and, one

by one, unhidden to-morrows burst forth to-days only

to h)se themselves again in the yesterdays of the som-

bre, silent past. liife is one continual cliange, and

to none can this be more evident than to him who
will carefully pause and reflect on the wonderful

transformations that have been eflected during the

past forty years, since the inauguration of the Parish

of Hopkinton. Who, in those eariy days would have

presumed to predict so glorious a future for this

little hamlet ? Who then dared hope that the day

would ever come when the Catholics of Hopkinton

could claim the proud distinction of having erected

to the honor and glory of God the grandest edilice

within the confines of New England. Truly it seems

the finger of God had pointed out the way for His

devoted children, and strengthened their hearts in

the hour of darkness against the attacks of a bigoted

and unrelenting world. But few of the early settlers

survive to tell the story of the sufferings and privations

undergone in the cause of Christ when the faithful

were forced to travel many weary miles over almost

impassable roads to receive the consolations of our

holy religion. As early as 1846 the Parish of Mil-

ford was formed, which included the present parishes

of Hopkinton, MeJway, Holliston, Ashland, Upton,

Marlboro', Maynard, Rock Bottom, Westboro', Corda-

ville and Saxonville. Rev. Father Boyce of Worces-

ter was appointed first pastor, assisted by Rev. Father

Gibson, by whom regular monthly services were in-

stituted in the surrounding towns; the prie.st being

obliged to travel l>om place to place, oftentimes ex-

I)osed to the inclemency of the weather, to care for

the wants of his devoted flock. Previous to this time

the Catholics of Hopkinton attended Mass .at the

homes of Dominic McDevitt and Edward Mc-
Govern, both of Milford ; but upon the arrival of

Father Boyce as pastor of Milford, services were

held at the residence of John McDonough, who
.sympathized with and materially aided these early

pioneers in their unswerving fidelity to their holy

cause. Still they remained unsatisfied and longed

for a church wherein they might worship God
according to the dictates of conscience. The faith

of Saints Patrick and Columba glowed in their

hearts ; nor could they rest until they had a place

wherein a priest might dwell and preach the word of

God. With this object in view, a meeting was called

in November, 1849, by John Wilson, a Protestant, at

his home on Mt. Auburn Street, where were assem-

bled all the Catholic men, twenty-two in number,

from the outlying districts—very few then resided in

the town proper. What transpired at that meeting

is best told in the words of Michael Raferty, an eye-

witness, and the oldest Catholic resident living :
" I

have attended many meetings, both political and re-

By Thoa. H. Lenihan.

ligious, but never have I witnensed such enthusiMm
displayed as at that first meeting of tlie C^uiludics of
Hopkinton, and to John Wilson must he given the
honor of being the first to propose the eslablislimenl

of a Catholic Church in our town. His arlions on
that oeciision were something not soon to be forguttt-n,

and his generosity is worthy of record. Seven hun-
dred dollars were subscribed in u few nionienlj<, iind

we voted to build a House of Prayer."

The following day Dr. Pratt ollered an acre of land
(now a portion of the Catholic Cemetery | hh a oile

for the proposed church. Michael Raferty was ap-

pointed to confer with Father lioyce, who in the
meanwhile had received an offer from another source.

Tills was from E. A. Bates, Esq., a citizen who owned
considerable property on what is now known as

Cedar Street, and, wishing to etdiance the value of
the same, otl'ered Father Lioyce an acre of hmd and

$200, provided the building was erected within a cer-

tain time. The offer was accepted, Father Boyce
paying $100 ; but the building was not begun before

1851.

Toward the close of the year 1849, Father Boyce
was succeeded by Rev. Father Hamilton, assisted by
Father McGrath, who immeduitely undertook the

arduous work of erecting a church on the site pre-

viously selected. The l()llowing year Father Far-

rilly, of Saxonville, succeeded Father Hamilton,

coming here as often as necessity required, and
holding services at the home of Mr. John McDon-
ough, and laterin the old Town Hall.

The labors ami the sacrifices of the pioneer mis-

sionaries of the lOaat form the most important part of

our Catholic history. They are chronicled in the

traditions of the faithful, and need not be recited

here.

Despite his manifold duties and the countless sac-

rifices incident to ao great an undertaking. Father

Farrilly determined to build a Church, and early in

1851 the contract was awarded to Artemus Johnson,

of Holliston, for the erection of a wooden church,

sixty by forty feet, known as St. Malachi's. Two
years later an addition was made, and here the

Catholics of Hopkinton knelt 'neath the shadowing

protection of the cross of Christ and heard the Word
of God.

It was in the spring of 1854 that Father Farrilly van

transferred from Saxonville to Milford, where he waf

stationed as resident pastor, with charge of the original

parish heretofore mentioned, assisted by Father

O'Beirne and Father Welch, of Nalick, lately de-

cea.sed. Three weary years he labored assiduously

for the welfare of his people, when at length his

rugged frame, weakened, no doubt, by years of un-

ceasing toil, fell a prey to a disease which resulted

in his death in August, 1857. His remains were

interred in the church-yard, where they reposed

until August 15, 1883, at which time they were

transferred to the Catholic cemetery, where a menu-
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ment had been erected in his honor by his old

Hopkinton parishioners. September 15, 1857, Rev.

P. Cuddihy, present rector of St. Mary's Parish

at Milford, was appointed his successor, who divided

the old parish with Father Welch, who had pre-

viously acted as curate to Father Farrilly, receiving

tor himself the present towns of Milford, Hopkinton,

Medway, Hollistnn, Ashland, Marlboro' and Upton.

This sy.-<tera continued as late as 1806, at wliich time

Father Cuddihy gave up Hopkinton, Ashland, Marl-

boro', and coninieuced the building of a new church

in Milford. The history of Father Cuddihy's pastor-

ate during the nine years he remained with us, is but

the repetition of what every priest has been obliged

to undergo, whose mission was to sow the seed of

wisdom in a 8])arsely -.settled locality. Yet Father

Cuddihy merits more than a passing notice for his

indefatigable exertions, and the respect and esteem

in which he is held to day by his people is the best

criterion by which to judge of his ability as a man
and his zealous devotion as a jjriest in his sacred pro-

fession. Upon the retirement of Father Cuddihy,

July, 180(5, his curate, Father Barry, was appointed

first resident Catholic pastor of Hopkinton, with

charge of Westboro', Ashland and Cordaville. This

was the real beginning of the Hopkinton Parish, and

during its brief existence of twenty-four years what

has it not accomplished ?

The work done in the short time which has inter-

vened since the institution of this parish shows more

plainly than any words of mine the noble generosity

which has ever been characteristic of this people, and

the self-sacrificing, zealous spirit of the pastors, who,

from time to time, had charge of this devoted Hock.

Father Barry diligently followed in the footsteps of

his predecessors, and what he accomplished during

his mission of four short years here will not soon be

forgotten. April 1, 1870, he was transferred to Rock-

port, where he remained until his death, which oc-

curred Jan. 7, 1883. His remains lie at rest in our own
cemetery, as it had always been his desire to return

to his former parishioners. A few mouths ago the

St. John's C. T. and L. Society erected in his honor

a massive and costly monument as a memorial to

one whose services were as lasting as they were

exceptional.

Upon the removal of Father Barry, Father Minetti,

an Italian by birth, assumed charge April 23, 1870,

remaining in charge until Oct., 1872, at which time

he returned to Italy, giving place to Father Ryan,

formerly assistant rector of St. Joseph's, Boston. Soon
after the advent of Father Minetti the Boston diocese

was divided, Springfield being the new See, with

Right Rev. P. T. O'Reilly in charge. This left

Hopkinton and Ashland as one parish, Westboro'

and Cordaville having been included in the new
diocese. It was not until August, 1877, that Hopkin-
ton became a separate parish, at which time Rev. J.

S. Cullen, present rector of St. Stephen's, South Fram-

ingham, and formerly curate to Rev. Father Ryan,

was placed over a new parish, comprising the towns

of Ashland and Framingham. Meanwhile, Hopkin-
ton had thrived prosperously. Factories had been

built, and the Catholic population, which a few years

before numbered but a few hundred souls, steadily

increased, until at the time of Father Ryan's arrival

they numbered nearly two thousand souls. This,

together with the poor condition of St. Malachi's

Church, called for a larger and more substantial place

of worship. Accordingly, several meetings were held

relative to the proposed new church, until at a meet-

ing held in 1875, arrangements were completed for

the erection of a granite edifice, to be known as the

Church of St. John the Evangelist. The land on

Church Street was purchased from the late Dr. Pratt,

at a cost of $0000, and the laying of the foundation

commenced in May, 1876, the first sod being turned

by Father Ryan himself. Thence the work rapidly

progressed, and May 15, 1877, we had the pleasure of

seeing the corner-stone laid with imposing rites, by
the Most Rev. John J. Williams, Archbishop of

Boston. Rev. Fr. Marsden, of Lawrence, delivered

the oration. No delay was now permitted, as the
" Old Church " had become rather unsafe, and all

were desirous of entering St. John's. At length the

basement was completed, and Christmas morning,

1878, Mass was celebrated for the first time by Rev.

Father Ryan, which my friend. Rev. Father J. J.

O'Connor, now of Cleveland, Ohio, and myself

had the honor of serving. What a Mass was
that ! Never did the pealing anthems resound more
joyously than did our heartfelt Alleluias on that

happy morn. The very air of heaven seemed to

re-echo with the joyous " Gloria in Excelsis," and
the sublime strain of the " Credo." How happy was
our beloved pastor that morning ; how feelingly he

spoke of the kindness and generosity extended him in

the work he had undertaken, and the gratifying

results which had attended his every effort; closing

his admirable discourse by wishing us a merry Christ-

mas and a happy, prosperous future. And we ! Were
we silent? Never were more heartfelt prayers uttered

than were poured forth that morning for the health

and prosperity of our dear pastor, who had already

begun to show signs of weariness from the mighty

load with which he was over-burdened. Still he per-

severed in his endeavor, overseeing the whole work
himself, both at the church and at the quarry, until at

length, broken-down by his persistent labors, he was

forced to yield to the entreaties of his friends, and

January 11, 1881, started to make a tour of the south

for the purpose of recruiting his health, now very

much impaired. Meanwhile, the building had been

completed, except the interior upstairs, and the spire
;

St. Malachi's had been torn down, the lumber dis-

posed of, and the land sold.

The finances of the parish were in an excellent

condition, Father Ryan having paid, during 1880,
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$13,000 of the debt, which in all amounted to scarce-

ly $25,000.

On the eve of his departure all the parishioners

assembled at the church to bid him farewell, never

thinking for a moment it was the last time they

should ever see him, and presented him on that occa-

sion with a purso of $700 as a slifjht token of their

affection and regard for him. The next morniiif; he

departed, and during the following months of his ab-

sence frequent letters told of his speedy recovery till

we had been lured into the hope of seeing him return

in perfect health. Alas! how sad, on awaking Sat-

urday morning, March 2(1, 1S81, word was llxslied over

the wires announcing the death of our faithful [lastor

at St. Louis, of spinal meningitis, whicli he contract-

ed during his brief sojourn there on his way home,

lie had spent the intervening time traveling through

Florida, Nassau and Cuba, and was returning home
much improved in health when the fatal disease

seized him which terminated in his death. His body

arrived on the 29th ; escorted from the station by the

grandest funeral cortege ever witnessed in this vicin-

ity. Two days he laid in state in the biisement of the

church, which was crowded day and night by the

thousands who came to do honor to his memory.

The funeral took place Wednesday, preceded by a

Solemn High Mass of Requiem, in which Rev. J. S.

CuUen, a former curate, was celebrant; Rev. T. Ma-
ginnis, of Jamaica Plains, Deacon ; and Rev. P. A.

McKenna, Marlboro', Sub-deacon. An eloquent pan-

egyric was preached by Rev. Jno. M. Kremmer, of

Southbridge, a life-long friend of the deceased. Over

150 priests from all parts of the State were present

at the obsequies, the church was heavily draped, the

whole town in mourning and business generally sus-

pended.

In the words of Hamlet, of him we can say :
" He

was a man, taken for all in all, we shall not look upon

his like again." He had devoted his time, labor, ay

!

even his life to promote an enterprise which shall

ever stand a monument to his untiring energy. Fa-

ther Ryan was born in Boston, December 26, 1845.

The greater part of his youth was spent at Lawrence,

Mass., whither he went with his parents while yet a

mere boy. At an early age he entered Montreal Col-

lege, when having completed his collegiate course he

entered Troy Seminary, and was ordained to the holy

priesthood December 25, 1805. His tirst charge was

St. Joseph's Parish, Boston, where he remained until

transferred to Hopkinton, in November, 1872. Would

that it were permitted us to give in detail the edify-

ing history of his labors while in our midst; and yet!

where is the need? Though ten years have passed

since he was laid to rest his memory still lives in the

hearts of the people, who will ever hold him in lov-

ing remembrance.

After the demise of Rev. Father Ryan conjecture

was rife as to his probable successor. Rev. F. J.

Glynn, of Brockton, Mass., then curate here, retained

full charge until a paator Blmuld be appointod.
Nearly every priest in the diocese v/m mentioned u
the next rector ; nor was it a matter of slight import-
ance, as the condition of alliiirs needed an able admin-
istrator. Here was a costly church half lininhe^l,

with ipiite a debt when the .ni/.e of the parish—about
2000 souls— is taken into cotmideration. Some little

lime elap.sed, however, before the appointment wan
made, and it was not until the Sunday after l-juiter,

April 21th, that Father Mohan, who had been sclecteil

to till the vacancy, arrived. Up Ui this time he had
lieeu rector at Ayer, Mass., but, obedient to his Bish-

op, cheerfully resigned a llDurishing parii-ji to accept
one which required the work of years and care before

he could lio|)e to enjoy the fruits of his labors. Yet
Father Mohan was not a num likely to become alarmed
at the enormity of the work laid out fur him, nor dis-

heartened at the well-nigh hopeless task of complet-

ing the church.

Tiie financial .strain under which the people had
been laboring prior to his coming had necessitated a

cessation of the same at least for a brief period, and
accordingly Fr. Mohan contented himself by renewing

the Church Debt Society instituted some years pre-

viously by Fr. Ryan.

This was a society formed for the purpose of liijuida-

ting the debt on the church by e<iuali/,ing the bur-

den so that all should pay a monthly assessment

which, though small, amounted to quite an item in

the year's income. During the next few years it

thrived, but afterwards gradually fell away, until fin-

ally in 1888 it ceased to exist altogether. Having
permitted one year to pass without calling on the peo-

ple for any subscription :iside from the ordinary rev-

enues of the church, Fr. Blohan thought it time to

make some endeavor to remove altogether the debt

which he had been steadily diminishing. But ere he

began, a calamity as direful as it was unexpected be-

fell the town, which for the time being paralyzed the

business interests and delayed for a considerable time

all prospects ofcompleting the chcrch. The morning

of April 4, 1882, was a dark one indeed for Hopkinton.

About 2 o'clock A. M., we were awakened from our

beds to find the very heart of the town, where stood

our principal factory, enveloped inflames. ,\id was

quickly sent from the surrounding towns, but vain were

all endeavors to check the onward rush of the flames

which now presented one vast wall of fire extending

from the cemetery to Walcot Street. Dark, very dark

seemed the future of Ho[)kinton to thatgrief-.stricken

throng gazing upon the ruins on that fatal morning;

utterly hopeless seemed every prospect of ever again

attaining the prosperity which up to that time we had

enjoyed. Then spread forth the rumor, discouraging

indeed to those who had depended for their liveli-

hood upon that factory, that the company would not

rebuild. It was verified but too soon, as a few months

later the firm of Bridges & Co. commenced the erec-

tion of a new factory at South Framingham. That
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was a severe blow to Hopkinton, one from which the

town never fully recovered. .Ml thought of complet-

ing the churcli was now at an end, and it was deemed

impracticable to attempt to pay off the old debt. The
people generally were in poor circumstances with no

prosjiect of brighter days to which they might look

forward, and accordingly it was thought advisable to

let matters rest for a while at least and allow them

time to recover from the ellects of the sad calamity

which had befallen them. As in the previous year

Fr. Mohan contented himself with the proceeds of the

Church Debt Society calling for no subscriptions un-

til the following spring when a collection was taken

up which reduced the standing debt considerably.

Early in June, 1885, he was transferred to Everett, be-

ing succeeded by Rev. M. D. Slurphy, our present

pastor. During his ministration here he had endeared

himself to his people by his modest, kindly bearing

and exceptional piety. He was an earnest advocate

in the cause of temperance and was charitable beyond

measure. As a testimony of the appreciation with

which his many good qualities were received on the

eve of his departure he was presented with a large

purse by his parishionerSj who assembled in the base-

ment of the church to bid him farewell and wish him

a hearty God Speed. The altar boys at the same

time presented him with a beautiful gold pyx.

Time and space do not permit us to give the credit

due to each one of the different curates who so ably

seconded the efforts of their pastors in the interest of

God and religion. Would that it were permitted us

to dwell on the records of the past, giving to each his

full share of praise, so richly deserved, from the time

of the advent of Fr. Barry, first resident-pastor, to tlie

present time ; but we must be content to remember
them as we knew them.

Below are given the names in the order of their

succession : Rev. Fr. Le Bretin, August to October,

1869 ; Rev. Fr. O'Farrell, October, 1869, to Novem-
ber, 1870 ; Rev. Fr. McNamara, May, 1871, to Decem-
ber, 1871 ; Rev. Fr. Cullen, at present pastor at South

Framingham, December, 1871, to August, 1877 ; Rev.

Fr. Glynn, of Brockton, November, 1878, to Decem-
ber, 1881 ; Rev. Fr. Whalen, December, 1881, to Feb-

ruary, 1883; Rev. Fr. McManus, of Salem, April,

1883, to November, 1885; Rev. Fr. Fagan, December,

29, 1885, to the present time.

In the summer of 1885 the Rev. M. D. Murphy re-

ceived his appointment as pastor of this parish, which
was already encumbered by a heavy debt. This was
entirely liquidated in a short period of time, and the

church, which remained for years in an unfinished

condition, with no prospect of completion, dedicated

with the most gorgeous details of ceremonial ever

witnessed in New England. It is a noteworthy fact

that the two great ecclesiastical dignitaries on this

occasion were the same who were selected to act in a
similar capacity at Baltimore, on the occasion of the

one hundredth anniversary of the establishment of

the hierarchy of America. Mt. Rev. J. J. Williams,

D.D., Archbishop of Boston, celebrant, and the Mt.

Rev. P. J. Ryan, D.D., Archbishop of Philadelphia,

orator.

Our sketch ends here, as it is Father Murphy's
desire that this work, and not the pen of any indi-

vidual, bc<peak his praise.

Nun nobis Domine non nobis sed nomini (uo da
gloriam.

EARLY SETTLERS.

Hopkinton was first settled in 1710 or '12. There
were some peculiar facts in the settlement of the place,

which had an efiect on the character of the people.

The first settlers did not come in colonies, as in other

places, nor by the way of relationship or acquaint-

ance, but single and alone, seeking a home. They
came from almost as many different places as there

were individuals; the most of the first settlers came
from Sudbury. Framingham, Sherborn, Concord,

Needham and Marlborough. There was one element

that entered largely into the character of these set-

tlers. They must have had some knowledge of the

place where they were to make their homes ; there

were rocks, hills and an almost unknown and un-

broken forest. The soil was rich, but required the

hardest possible labor for its cultivation. To over-

come such obstacles one must have indomitable

courage and energy, a self-reliance and a will-

power that never tires, and only those who had
such qualities would seek here a home. Early

in 1719 the town received an important addi-

tion by the settlement of some Scotish families. A
century before their ancestors had emigrated from

Argyleshire, in the west of Scotland, to the counties of

Londonderry and Antrim, in the north of Ireland,

where they and their descendants shared largely in

the persecutions of the Protestants, in the reign of

Charles the First and James the Second. Burdened

with rents and tithes, and thirsting for the enjoy-

ments of civil and religious liberty, three Presby-

terian ministers., with many of their congregations re-

solved on removal to this country, of which they had

heard flattering reports. In the autumn of 1718, 120

families arrived, some in Boston and some in Port-

land. Some eighteen families of the 120 in the

spring of 1716 came to Hopkinton.

Among this number was Hugh Black, William

Montgomery, James Collier (one of the first select-

men elected in the town), Samuel and James Walk,

John, Robert and Patrick Hambleton, Robert McFar-
lane, Robert McCook, Robert Hustons, William Don-

aghy, Samuel Crooks and Joseph Young, the ancestor

of Brigham Young.

Among the first settlers were Joseph Bixby, the

father of Abner Bixby, born August 30, 1712, and is

the earliest recorded birth to be found on the records.

Captain John Wood, elected on the Board of Select-

men in 1724, and "died Aug'ye 21, 1725;" Henry Mel-
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In 1850 there was eleven boot and shoe factories in

Hopkiuton.

In 1855 the value of boots and shoes manufactured

in Hopkinton amounted to $1,058,820; males em-

ployed, 1233 ; females, 88 ; total, 1321.

In 1885: vi\hic, $1,5(12,837 ; male^ employed, 737;

females, 1(14; total, 901, showing an iucrea.'se in valu-

ation of over $500,000, and a decrease of over 400

hands, the eft'ect of machinery in thirty years.

.Tohn Young, a descendant of Joseph Young, who

came from LoniloiKlerry, Ireland, and settled in Hop-

kinton in ITli", washnrti in Hopkinton, March 7, 17(13.

He was the father of IJrighani Young, the Mormon.

He moved from Hopkinton to Whittingham, Vt., in

January, 1801, where Brigham was born, June 1st of

the same year. John returned to Hopkinton and

lived on Saddler Hill.

Walter McFarlaiid, son of Ebene/er McFarland

and descendant of Robert McFarland, born in 1740.

He representcil the town in the Legislature for twelve

years and .served in the Senate for the year 1787. He
held many important positions of public trust. By

occupation a farmer and civil engineer. Died in 1827.

Lee Claflin, son of Ebenezer and Sarah Claflin, was

born in Hopkinton, November 10, 1791, and died

February 23, 1871. Mr. Claflin was the architect of

bis own fortune. He had no ancestry to boast of and

no one to help him so much as he helped himself.

He was the first president of the Hopkinton Bank

and through his influence, with that of Colonel Val-

entine, D. Bucklin and others, the Hopkinton Academy

wa.s instituted. He was in his day and time prominent

in the boot and shoe business and a great friend of the

Methodist Society and served one term in the Senate.

John Barrett, grandson of Samuel Barrett, the first

settled minister in Hopkinton was born in Hopkinton

in 1769, and died April 4, 1821. He was the author of

an English Grammar, which was published in 1819.

He was remarkable as a teacher of the Classic Lan-

guage and was one of the teachers of Horace Mann.

Col. Joseph Valentine, son of Samuel Valentine,

born in Hopkinton, November, 1776, and died March

26, 1845. He possessed fine business capacity and

was for a long time one of the most prominent men,

of the town. He was a delegate in the convention

for the revision of the Constitution in 1820, and

represented the town in the General Court for six

years, and served as chief marshal at the consecra-

tion of Bunker Hill Monument.

Col. Albert Wood was born in Hopkinton, August

1, 1801, and died in 1887. Possessed of sterling

common sense, he for the long period of his life was

one of the most prominent men of the town. He
was previous to 1845 in the manufacture of cotton

cloths and twine. The statistics of the cotton industry

for 1845 show the following facts: Cotton consumed,

280,000 pounds ; manufactured, 612,000 yards ; value,

$80,500 ; twine manufactured, 20,000 pounds; value,

$2,800; batting manufactured, 30,000 pounds; value.

$1400; males employed, forty; females employed,

tifty. This industry was carried on in Massachusetts

by M. Wood, who was the father of Woodville.

The machinery was run by water-jiower supplied

by White Hall Pond.

He represented the town in the Legislature in 1856

and 1857, and held many other town ofhces, and was

a man of sterling integrity.

Capt. Daniel Shays, the leader of Shays' Rebell-

ion in 1786-87, son of Patrick Shays, was born in

Hopkinton, at the "Shays place" on Saiidle Hill

(where at the present time the old well and cellar can

be seen), in 1747, He left Hopkinton when about

twenty-one years old, and served in the Army of the

Revolution. He raised a company of which he was

appointed captain, and was wounded in the service.

After the war he settled in that part of Pelham now

Prescott. He finally settled in Sparta, where he died

poor September 29, 1825. He was of Scotch descent,

and the name on the early records is spelled Shea,

Sha, and sometimes Psha.

At a meeting of the trustees held in Boston, 1711,

it was, " voted, 1st, that the committee for signing

leases to the tenants of the lands in Hopkinton be

directed and empowered to allot and set out 12,500

acres of the best and most improvable of the land,

within said township. 2d, that they are directed to

lay out 100 acres of land for the ministry in such

convenient place and manner as they shall find most

suitable for that use ; that 100 acres of land shall be

laid out for the first minister that shall be ordaiutd

and settled in the town, to be for him and his heirs

for the term of ninety-nine years from the 25tli of

March last past, free from paying any rent, and

that 100 acres shall be laid out for the school a

training-field and burying-yard by said committee,

as they shall judge most accommodable, and that 200

more shall be reserved to be allotted for other public

uses, as the trustees from time to time shall see meet

to direct. 3d. That the residue and remainder of

the lands over and above the above 12,.500 acres with-

in said town.ship belonging to the trustees, either by

purchase or the General Court grant, (the cedar

swamp that pan of the town grant by the General

Court excepted), shall and remain a common to and

among the tenants that shall hold these lands by

lease under the said trustees for their use and benefit,

each tenant to have a right and privilege to .said

common, according to the quantity of land contained

and specified in their leases for and during their term."

** The within ia a true copy of Record Booli of Hopkinton Records No.

3, Page 37. perOALKB Havpen, Keg.

"This Indenture, made the twenty-fifth day of March in the twenty-

third year of the Reign of our Sovereign Lord George, by the Grace of

God, of Great Britain, France and Ireland, King Defenderof the Kaith,

kc, Annoque Domini, 1750. Between His E.vcellancy, William Shirley,

Kaq., The Honorable Jonathan Belcher, William Dnmer and Spencer

I'liil«, Esq., Paul Pudley, Edward Hutchinson, .losiah Willard, .lacob

Wendell, Esqs., The Rev. Dr. .Joseph Sewall, The Rev. Edward Holy-

oive, President of Harvard Clolle^e in Cambridge ; The Rev. Nelie-

miah Walter, minister of Roxbury ; The Rev. N.ithaniel Appleton, min-

ister ofCambridge ; Samuel Sewall, Andrew Oliver, Thomas H utcli in

-

sou, Esq., and M' Edward Brumfield, merchant, all inhabitants williiu

1
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his Majesty Province of tho Maflsachtisetra Bay, in Now Kngland, Triis-

teea appointed by a Decree in hin ^Iiijewtv" High (*<nir( of rimnrery,
Dated Hip iiiiu'leoiith iluy of Ulnrcli. ,\iirio. pom. I7IL', for the piirrbaH-

ing bouses and luiuls I'it tlie pet petiiutiug tlie i'Jmrity uf (he Iloiioraltle

Edward Hopkins, Bbi] , and improving of the satne, <>n tho One |>Hrt :

and includes John Jotu'g, Jutues Work, Henry Milieu, Benjiiniiri Wood
and John Rockwood, Seh'i-tnion of llopkinton, in the County of Middh'-

sex, and tlieir KUcc*v*ors within tlie I'roviiK-e aforesaid, of theotht-r Part ;

Vitnessoth, that the siiid William Shirley, Jonathan Heloher, Wui. I>um-

nier, Spencer riiijM, TjiuI Dudley, Kilward Hutchinson, Joniah Wilhird,

Jiu-oh Weuditll, Ksq., Joseph Sewall, Kdwanl Holyoke, Neli*" Waller,

Nathaniel Appleton, Samuel Sewall, Andrew Oliver, Thninaa Hulchin-

Bon and Kdward Hromlield, Trusteet; as aforewiid, ns well for and in cou-

sideratiou of the Kents and Services herein after reservi-d and of tho per

fornumce of the ("oveuaiitM iitul Agreements herein after exprensed and
mentioned to be k«tpt, dune and pfiT'lriued un tin- pjirt and behalf nf the

said John Jonea, James Walk, Henry MillenA' others; us also for t*ther

good and valiULlile causes and oonsiderationR them here unto eH|M«cially

moving. Have demised, gntnted, and to Farm, Letten, and by these pres-

ents do dt-mise, grunt and to fiirni left unto the said Selectmen and
their succes^om, three certain trai'l or parcl i.>f land writiuile, tying and
being in HopkiTiston, within thr County of Middlesex aforesaid, con-

taining one hundred acrep, as surveyed and laid out by John Jones, Sur-

Teyor, being under oath, for tho use and l^enof\t of a Si'ont ami training

JiM tiwl lienjiuij (dace fi>f $aid U'ipkitislo)t, and is Hounded viz.; South-

erly on Wilsen and (;!onlen, westerly on a High way, northerly on

Mr. Barrett and on highway, aiid Kasterly on a highway and on Stimp-

son land, the other tract of forty-five acres Layetb at White luill, and is

bounded southerly on Coniuion lanil, westerly on Common land, north-

erly on .lohn Kelly land, and Easterly on Common land, as may more
appear by the plaiift annext.

" To Have and To Hold the above-mentioned domised Premises with the

appurtenances, unto the said Selertmen, and their Snrei'ssors, for the

use aforesaid, for and during, and unto the full Era and TerniofNini'
bundrecl and ninety-nine yeare from the twentj'-lifth day of March as

above said, thence next ensuing and 'fully to be compleal andeiuled:
Yielding and paying therefor yearly anil every year during the said

Term hereby demised unto tho Trejisnrer of the said Tnistres for the

time being or bisassigns the Yearly Kent of one pepper corn if demanded,
next coming. And if it shall happen that the yearly Kent or Itentt^

herein before Keserved, or any of them or any jiart thereof, shall

bf Iiehind or unpaid, in part or in all, by the space of Thirty days next

after any of the said days or Times on which the said ought to be jjaid

as afores^iid, Tlial then and from thenceforth it shall and may he lawful

unto and for the Trustees or Treasurer there or his Smcehsors and As-

signs into tlie Peniised premises and every or any part thereof with tin-

appurtenances, to enter and diRtraiu for tho same: And tlie Distmas or

Distresses there found to take, lead, drive and carry away and tin- same
to detain, impound and keep until the said yearly Rent and Kents in

manner and form, JiS aforesaid Reserved, and the arrear;tgHs thereof, if

any such shall be, shall be unto the said Trustees or Treasurer, or

to their or his successors and assigns fully satistied, contt-ntcd and
paid: And if it shall happen, (hat the said yearly Rent or Kenis herein

before Reserved shall be behind and unpaid in part or in all, ami no dis-

tress made and taken jw aforesaid during the thirty tiays aViove-men-

tioned. by the space of thirty days next after the expiration of the thirty

days on whirb the same ought to have been paid, or a distrt^SR might
have been made ; That then and from thenceforth, It shall and may be

lawful to and for the said Trusteesor Treasurer, their ami bis successors

and assigns into and upon the said Demised Premises and every part

thereof with the appurtenances wholly, to re-enter aiul the same to

liavi- again, retain, repossess and enjoy in their former estate aTid title,

anything in these Presents contained to tho contrary in any wise not-

withstanding. And tho said Selectmen, for themselves and theirsuc-

cesfiora, and every of them, doth covenant, (Jraot and Agree to and
with the saiii William Shirley, Jonathan Belcher, Wni. Ihimiuor, Spen-

cer Pliips, Paul Dudley, Kdward llatchinsoii, Josiah Wilhird, Jacob
"Wendell, Esqr., Joseph Sewell, Edward Hulyoke, \p|ieniiah Walter,

Nathaniel Appleton, Samuel Sewell, Andrew Oliver, Thomas Hutchin-

son and Edward Bromfield, Trustees, as aforesaid, their succewors and
assigns, and every of them by these presents in numiu-r and form fol-

lowing, That is to say. That the said Selectmen, or some of them, shall

yearly and every year and from Time to Time iluring the «iid Term
hereby Itemised well and truly content, satisfy, pay or cause to be paid

unto the siiid Trustees or Tre.'isurer, and their or bis successors or assigns

tbesairl yearly Rent or Rents herein before Reserved, and on the several

Days i)r Times herein before appointed for the payment thereof, and in

the same manner and form as tho same shall grow due and piyablo, ac-

cording to the true Intent and meaning of these Presents. Anil at tho

Kxpirationof tho sitid Term or other Determination thereof, shall and
will surrender and deliver up unto the said Tiustees or Treasurer, their

and his Successors, the same promises in likr good and Tenantiibb- Repair

peaceably, quietly and willingly ; and that iie and they shall from time

to time and at all times during the said Term pay all Itates and Taxea

to Church and Common Wealth that shall be sot and im[io8ed, according

to Law, upon him and them and tho Premises. Anil the said Trnfiteos,

for themselves and successors, do Covenant, Promise and Agree to and

with thoBald Selectmen and Ihelr iin-T«wor», In manner ..,.,,„, {..i-

lowing. That i« h. wy. That thry rulihfulty |H.rf..rnnnK .ml (.dniMnx
all and singular the CovenanlK, Agn^'uirni'* and Pnrm-Mif t}^' » v-
proAM-d, may and Nball |N-no'»bly have, hoM, i»^
above D<>ndM'.M'r if»H, for. and during tlie T-

r

bet, Tnniblo, Kvtclion "r IMhlurlxiU' •• from ll

Iheir Succewors, or from any other IVmui or IVrmih-, (mm. by ur un
derthem, or by their nieniut or l'r<iurr<ment. And Ihry fiirlhrr r.>%f
nan) and Cromiiie, That the imhl Sidtn i n nnd Iheir Sn"<«^^»r». le.bl-
ingand continuing in lb- P.MMwvMl.m nnd Impn.v.'nu'ni ..f ih*< Pi.'rntM-,
under the raitbful |>«>rrorm.inec of the CoTonnnla, ARr^'iiii<nU mihI Vmy.
UH-nls hImivo exprerwed unto tlii< Complt^tmnnt nnd KndtOk* o( ibr ^ul
Tt-rm of Nine hundred and nin-iv ulm- yearw. wli)i>>ui .•\i.iion or . |f . i

mont for bn^acb of covenunt al tpint'tlon of (ho mmx- m»y kud •ball.
if bo or they see canw. Renew Iheir Leu^t for muU Term ofymrv, or (or
(ho Life or Lives lu Nhall then Ik* ugrwsl ii|M.n, by nnd Ulw^ftn the
LoKsor and LeWis that hhall then Ik'. \vl(li..at nny nllfmllonof Ihr mt
enanis and Agt nu-ni* before expreMMnl, Save only of the Kmn d. |.>

then Kescrvod which ye| the TriiMlfei* for theniMdvert nnd Surrr.*..i«
eovenanl. Promine and Agree to and with tho mid Si locUnen and Iholr
sue eaM.r.1, That it shall not be lawfid for them nor will ihoy Ih'mnn.i,
Let and Ibw^rve above Nino Penci* |M.r Acre fur the mid l^intiiand Vrrtti.

iHe8,rrorti and after the Kxpimllon of the Term, t\n abovo nnid. ninny
time or for any Term whuii^K'ver. And, finally, Ihi- wiid Tru-leo*, f..r

themselves, their Sncce»«oni and AKsigns, do Agn-e, Covennni nnd Pnun-
ise to Discharge nnd Save (he said S4 htt n and (heir »mrrawom from
[laying any Province r>and Tax for Tbree-gunMeni nf the al^ovf Dr.
mised Lands. In Witness WheriHif, (heaforeSfiid imrliets l4itbi-M> |>rm.>nt«
have interchangeably hereunto set their Hamls and Si-aln (he day and
year ttrst above writcon.

"Signed, sealed and delivered in profl- 1 KnwAun HcTniiNMOH.
enco of us, Samiki, BAi.T.ARn. I TiinM.*B IlrrnfiKKoin.

Thomas BnoHf-iKLii, I KnuAitn BaoMPiRLn."

(HKAL.)
" Memorandum

—

"W^berens the within named Trnslow nt tlioir Slm'tiiig Novomtter
ir., 1720, have agreed and voted that the Roftidne and rvmininderof the
Lands over and above Twelve Thousand hve hundnil Ai res ulthin Ihr
Township of Hopkinston Indonging to ihu said TruHtei-s either by pur-
chase or tho General Courts tinint (tho Cedar Swam[M in Ihe Pnrl of ihe
Township granted by the General Court oxrepled), shall Im- and n-mniu
a C«mnmn (o and among the Tenements, Ac., hj»di Tenement (o Intve

Higbt and Privilege in tho siiid Commons acconliug lu the i|uanilty id

Land spccilied in his I^ase and during Itis term ; That notwlihstanding
tho Exception and Reservation of tho Cifdar Swami«»i as afore^iid all nml
singular the Tenantj^ that shall tjike and sign LeiiM'ti within three yoarx,

from the '.»6th of March hist past, Ac., Mhall be atloweil the lU-nelit of eul-
tiiig both ( "edar and Pino in the said Swamps fur covering, KIo«iritig nnd
tinishing the Mouses and Barns which they shall erwt and nmlnlnin on-
the Premises ; but they are prohibited cutting and carrying od any
1'imber out of the said swamps for sale and if any presume hi lodo, Hurh
si-. all be impeachable of Wiiste, t<:c., ils in ami by the third, funrth and
liflh votes juist ^t thosjiid meeting, more amply and plaiidy nmy ap|<ojtr,

reference thereunto being had : Wherefon< now, pursuant t" (lie Ihrrc-
tion and Power given unto us the Committee Suliscribei-K unto this proN-

out Endoi-sement for ourselves and the within nametl I<t*n!ii<nt nnd on i

and tlnir Subscrihen*, Wo do Covenant and rirant to and with th»
within named Lessee, vi/.., His Kxecutoi-s, Admininlralorsatid vVwigns to

have ami to hold a right and privilege in the s^tid Common acropjinK to

the Quantity of land, spocilied in the within written I.enm- for and dur-
ing his Term. And further that tho said Left«oo and his Kxt-^utoni, Ad<
ministrators and Assigns, shall, and nuiy lawfully from time to tinio,

have the benefit of cutting both Cedar and Pine, in the Swam|M afore-

said, for tho covering, tlooring and finishing tho ]IoiiM->i and Burn" b(»

shall erect upon tho Premises within written. And the Kiid I^ti^i**' fur

himself, his Heirs, Kxecutorx. A<lmiTiistnitorBand AKsigns, tlolh Covonnnt
and agi*eo to and with tho Lessors and their Succesiioni not to cut or
carry ofl titubei of any^ind out of the said Swamps for sale or any n»or

than for the I'ses aforesaid on pain and ponaltyof Ireing Inipoachodau
Prosecuted for Wast^^

"In Witness Whereof the Parties have int<-rcliangahly mt their

hands and seals this Pay of Anno Domini 17

"Signed sealed and Deliv- -i Kowauo Hi tciunson [Skai.]

ercd i

"-1

igned sealed and Deliv- -i Kowauo Hi tciunson [Skai.]

red in presence of ua ( Tiiohan IIi'tchinso.s (Scai]

Sauuki. Bali.arp, r Edward Uhomkiki.ii [.'^kal]

Thomas Bromkiku*, '

"Skkvoi.k, SS., Boston, Oclo. 17, I7M.
" Edwai-d Hutchinson, Thomas HutchinsoD, Tjny*. and K<lwar^l Itrum

fleld acknowledged tho above IiiHt''ument by tbein rzocnie'l to l»o thi>r

free act and deed.

"Before me ,IonN FATFRWf.ATUVR, Jum. |'wic«."

In closing the history of Hopkinton, there is uiueh,

if space would allow, that could be added. The
schools of the town are in good condition and in tho
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Iianda of a competent superintendent, and a commit-

tee devoted to tlicir interest. The town report for

1890 Hhowa the followin^'s statistics: number of

schools of all grades, 23 ;
number of pupils enrolled,

789; support of schools and incidentals, ?=12,693.1G
;

Highways. $3000 ; street-lights, $250 ;
support of the

poor, $(iiiOO
; incidentals, $1200 ; town officers, $15()fi

;

interest on town dobt, $10,160; Memorial Day, $100.

The town hits water-works which furnishes a liberal

supply of good water.

BIOGRAPHICAL.

HON. LEE OLAFLIN.

Hon. Lee Claflin', (Ebenezer', Ebeuezer'), born in

Hopkinton, November 19, 1791, married Sarah

Adams, daughter of Elisha and Sarah (Watkins)

Adams, December 19, 1815, certificate of the Rev.

Isaac Bowney. Engaged in the tanning business in

Mil ford as early as 1813; added the boot and shoe

business about 1821. He rose from an humble be-

ginning and many judicious steps to wealth and

distinction. He represented the town in the Legis-

lature in 1834. In 1839 or '40 he returned to Hop-

kinton, where he attained many honorable positions;

having been a member of the State Senate in 1859,

while a resident of that town. He was very early a

prominent member of the Liberty Party, and was

always active in the anti-slavery cause. He was

instrumental in establishing three banks, of which

he was the first president, the Milford, the Hopkin-

ton, and the Hide and Leather, of Boston. He was

greatly interested in .all educational matters, being one

of the three designated founders of Boston Univer-

sity. After South Carolina surrendered to the Fed-

eral arms, he took an active part in the purchase of

the abandoned seminary at Orangeburg, which finally

became Claflin University, which was named for him.

While an apprentice to Mr. Warren in Framing-

ham he joined the Methodist Church of which he

was a devoted and steadfast supporter all his life.

He made many donations to the churches and liter-

ary institutions of that denomination, and frequent

benefactions of a more general nature to the commu-

nity. He was a niamof great mental vigor as well as

physical strength, which lasted to the end of his life.

He died from the eflects of an accident, Feb. 23, 1871.

By his first wife he had three sons, William, Charles

Lee, who died in infancy, and Wilbur Fisk, who

resided in Hopkinton until his death, August 31,

1885—she died April Gth, 1834. Mr. Claflin married

March 8th, 1830, Polly Jones Harding, who survived

him several years.

SAMUEL AND ABEAM CROOKS.

The ancestors of Samuel .and Abram Crooks were

Scotch Presbyterians who, as runs the record, were

originally dwellers in Argyleshire, in the west of

Scotland. They went from there to Antrim and Lon-

donderry, in the North of Ireland, as early as 1618.

.Tuslonc hundred years later than this date, a colony of

120 families, among whom were tbctJrooks, emigrated

to America, a portion of them landing in I'ortland,

Maine, while the remainder came to Boston. Quiti'

a large numberof these colonists went northward and

became the original settlers of Londonderry, Derry,

Derryfielil and other of the pioneer towns in Now
Mampshire, while another portion consisting of eigh-

teen families journeyed westward and settled ujxin the

high-lands of Hopkinton, in the winter of 171!i.

Among these sturdy settlers was Samuel Crooks, from

whom, in the fifth generation, the subjects of this

sketch are descended. First, Samuel ; second, John
;

third, Abraham: fourth Samuel, who was the father

of Samuel and Abraham, whose portraits accompany

this sketch.

Their father, Samuel, was born in Hopkinton,

August 22, 1792, and in March, 1818, married Eme-

line, daughter of Jonathan and Hannah (Thayer,

Stearns, to whom were born three sons, John, Samuel

and Abram. Their father was a farmer and became

one of the leading spirits in the town. For many

years he was superintendent of the Town Farm)

and was a useful and valued citizen, who died in

October, 1873, univer.sally respected. Coming now to

Ihe fifth generation, we find the eldest John born.

May 29, 1819; Samuel, the second, who was born in

Hopkinton, December 17, 1821, and Abram, the

youngest of the family, also born in Hopkinton,

March 29, 1826. Samuel and Abram having been so

intimately connected, and so closely identified with

each other in all business matters, it is thought bet-

ter to make the record of their lives a joint one,

rather than to give them in sej)arate sketches. The

childhood days of these boys were spent on the farm,

and their experiences doubtless were similar to those

of the average New Engl.Tnd farmer's boys. Their

educational advantages were such as were conimonly

aflorded by the District School, which was situated

about a half mile from their home. Leaving school

they were fully occupied with the ordinary farm

duties, until at about the age of fifteen, they com-

menced in what has since proved to be their life-

work, and which has, from very small beginnings, so

wonderfully developed, that at this writing Ihey stand

third only in the output of their manufacture of all the

boot and shoe manufactories of this Commonwealth.

They began by bottoming boots and shoes at the

village of Woodville, in the western part of the town

of Hopkinton. Here they gradually acquired a

knowledge of the full details of this business as then

prosecuted, and in 1849, commenced as boot .and shoe

manufacturers in the building then known as the

Joseph Walker shop, which they rented from a man

who had befriended them in the early part of their

career as manufacturers. Hon. Lee Claflin, the father

of Ex-Gov.—William Claflin, of Newtonville, Mass.

1
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Here they remained steadily increasingtheirbuaineas

uutil 1853, when they removed to Grove Street and

carried on a thriving business m"the old meeting-

house" which after disuse for purposes of religious

worship was fitted up for a manufactory. Here tliey

continued until 18()0, wlien for the purpose of secur-

ing more extensive and better facilities for conduct

ing their large business, they removed to the " Daven-

port Block" on Main Street, in Hopkinton, where

they have since remained. The premises now
occupied by them cover an area of about two acres,

and the main shop is an imposing building of five

stories, and is supplied witli the latest appliances and

niaehinery, all of which is driven by an engine of KHl

horse-power. In tliis shop are employed about oOO

operatives, who are furnished by this firm with steady

and remunerative employment, and the result of their

busy and skilled handiwork is shown in the daily

completion on an average of over three thousand

[lairs of boots and shoes which go into nearly all

parts of the world through the agency of the celebra-

ted house of William Claflin, Coburn & Co., of Bos-

ton, who handle all of this immense output. The

style of the firm as it has existed for nearly forty

years is S. & A. Crooks & Co. Samuel Crooks has

been ideiuified with the Orthodox Church since 1842,

and has taken an active part in its welfare, and

contributed largely to its support. While declining

to take any active part in the official line of political

affairs, the Messrs. Crooks have been Republicans ever

since the organization of that party. Samuel has

been quite prominent in the financial all'airs of the

town, and for several years the vice-president and a

director in the Hopkinton National Bank, and also

vice-president of the Hopkinton Savings Bank, both

of which are thriving institutions, and both Samuel

and Abram have contributed very largely to the

success and the importance of this beautiful town, and

the prosperity, wealth and happiness of her citizens.

November 13, 1844, Samuel Crooks married Sarah B.,

daughter of Ezekiel and Betsey (Johnson) Guy, and

there have been born to them seven children—Emeline

E., Charles H., Mary E., Alice M., Herman H., Jennie

L. and George H.,all of whom except Jennie L. are de-

ceased. Jennie L. was married December 13, 1883, to G.

A. Bridges, and resides in Hopkinton. Abram Crooks

was married November 27, 1849, to Annie M- Guy,

a sister of the wife of Samuel. From this union there

have been three children—Florence I., Mary A. and

Arthur R. Of these there are two living—Mary A.

and Arthur R. Florence I. died May 22, 1877, aged

twenty-one years. Mary A. was married in October,

1882, to Frank Thompson, and they resided in

Hopkinton. Arthur R. married October, 1889,

Lillian, daughter of Henry and Marietta A. (Fiske)

Adams, and they reside in Hopkinton.

The mother of the Messrs. Crooks died April, 1864.

LOWELL DOWKER MAYURY.
The unostentatious routincof private life, although

in the aggregate more important to the welfare of the
community, canuot from its nature figure in the pub-
lic annals. But the names of men who diHtingiilxh

themselves for the pos.se.-siou of those ipnilities of
character which so largely contrihuto to the suociwii

of private life and t<j the public stability, of men who
have been exemplary in their personal and social re-

lations, thus winning the afl'ection, renpect and confi-

dence of those around tliem, ought not to periHli.

Their example is more valuable to the majority of

local readers than that of illuslrous lieroeH.Htatejinieu

and writei-s, and all are benefited by the delineation

of those trails of character, which find scope and ex-

ercise in the common walks of life. Among the indi-

viduals of this class few are better entitled t<i be lieid

in respectful remembrance than the subject of this

sketch. His ancestors were among the early settlers

of Hopkinton. His father was Dexter L. Maybrj-

and was born April 22, 1799. Ho carried on at dif-

ferent times in his life both farming and the boot and
shoe business. He married Mary Gage Bowker, who
was born Nov. 30, 1801, and they had five children, —
Lowell B., Susan L., Sarah L., Samuel U.,and Eliza U.

Lowell li. was born Aug. 28, 1820, in Hopkinton,

which has been his permanent home since that dale.

His childhood and youth were as uneventful us were

those of the average New England boy. As the first

born there would naturally come to him a degree of

responsibility lor the care of a younger brother and

sisters, who a little later on became the sharers in

childhood sports and school-day duties. Lowell at-

tended the district school in tlie winter months and

received such education as could there be obtained.

Leaving school he went into the boot shop of his

Uncle Lovett H. Bowker in Hayden Row to learn

that business aud there he remained for a long period.

And becoming well versed in all detailsof this manu-

facture, he in 1854 took charge of Bowker iV I'hipps'

large boot factory in the centre of the town, also the

currying business which was connected with it, where

he remained eight years.

He became prominently associateil with the t<>wn

all'airs, being elected a director of the Jlopkinton Na-

tional Bank in 1854, where he served continuously

until 1876, when a further expression of confidence

was shown by his being elected to the presidency,

which position he still holds. Ue had but little taste

for polities and declined nominations to various posi-

tions of political trust. Being strongly opposed to

slavery he very naturally alliliated with the Republi-

cans, and has acted with them ever since their organ-

ization. Mr. JIaybry is a member of the Congrega-

tional Church and contributes toitssupport. He is a

lover of music and has for over fifty years occupied a

place in the choir of that church. He has also had a

hand in the organization of the various musical as-

sociations of tlie town.
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Mr. Maybry has been twice married,—first, Sep-

tember 22, 1847, to Sophia P. Walker, who died May

15, 18S4, and second, February 27, 1889, to Mrs.

Mary M. Glidden, of Claremont, N. H., who is now

living. Mr. Maybry was, for m.any years, treasurer

and collector of the town of Hopkinton, and has

served on the Board of Selectmen. Jlc ha.s also, for

mar.y years, had the management of the large real-

estate intere.st-x of Hon. William Claflin in this t«wn,

by whom be is highly esteemed a-s trustworthy and

reliable. He is also the manager of several other

large estates. In matters of public policy his views

are sought, and he has the confidence and esteem of

his fellow-citizens of all [larties. He has an intense

love of the beautiful in nature, and is a successful

farmer and an amateur florist.

CROMWELL Mi^PARLAND.

This family wiis one of the colony of Scotch and

Irish families that emigrated to America in 1718, and

many of whom settled in the vicinity of Hopkinton.

The name of the firet American ancestor was Robert,

and he had a son, Ebenezer, who was a soldier in the

War of the Revolution. Ebenezer had a son. Law-

son, who was the father of the subject of this biogra-

phical notice. It seems proper here to note the fact

that a brother of Ebenezer was born in Hopkinton,

who became a very prominent citizen. He was Wal-

ter McFarland, a farmer, and also a skillful surveyor,

in which latter capacity he laid out a large portion

of Hopkinton and adjoining towns. He represented

his native town in the lower branch of the Legisla-

ture for twelve years, and was for one term a member

of the upper branch.

Cromwell, son of Lawson and Deborah (Rockwood)

McFarlaud, was born in Hopkinton February 7,

1819, and his boyhood days were spent on his father's

farm, where he assisted his parents in the duties in-

cident to farm life in New England, and joined in

the sports peculiar to that locality. After a few years

of instruction in the Common School, where at least

the average of success was achieved, Cromwell worked

on the farm until, at the age of seventeen years, he

concluded to try his hand at the prevailing occupa-

tion of the town's-people, making boots and shoes.

He followed this business until about 1840, when an

opportunity ottered for him to join with William A.

Phipps, of Hopkinton (a brother-in-law), in the busi-

ness of supplying fresh meat to the families of Hop-
kintf)n and vicinity. This was long before the days of

refrigerator cars, Chicago Dressed Beef or Luncheon

Beef, and this firm did all their own butchering.

They at first bought fat cattle in the vicinity of

Hopkinton, but as the population increased rapidly

they soon were obliged to go to the Brighton Stock

Yards for the supply., Mr. McFarland has continued

uninterruptedly in this business from 1840 up to the

present time and has met with a good measure of suc-

cess. June 2, 1842, Mr. McFarland married Han-

nah, daughter of Moses and Hannah (Adams) Phipps,

and they had three children—-Curtis, born June 10,

1844 ; Anna, born .luly 3, 1850, and Henry, December

17, 1852. Curtis died Jauuary 15, 1804, and Anna
was married August 5, 18G9, to J. Sanfbrd Haven, of

Hopkinton and they have had two children, one of

whom only is living—Henry McFarland married

Katie B. Adams, April 1, 1880. Cromwell McFar-
land Ikis not been a man to court notoriety, or to seek

office, but was on the Board of Assessors of Hopkin-

ton and represe nted the town in the Legislature one

term, and also has been a director in Hopkinton

National Bank. Mr. McFarland has ever discharged

the duties of citizenship in a creditable manner. Mr
McFarland, while not a meudier of any church, is a

regular attendant of the Congregational Church, and

contributes to the support of public worshi]) there.

For almost fifty years Mr. McFarland and the wife of

his choice in his young manhood have journeyed on

together, mutually helpful, winning material success

beyond any personal need, as they stand facing the

approaching sunset of their well-spent lives.

WILLIAM ADAMS PHIPPS.

The Phipps family are of English ancestry. For

our present purpose it is not thought necessary to go

beyond the date of the early settlement of New Eng-

land. There were several of this name \\^o were of

the colony of 1718, some of whom landed at Port-

land, Maine, and settled that State. The name of the

first settler of whom William A. is a descendant, we
are unable to determine from any available records,

but it is definitely stated in an early history of

Maine " that several families of this name had reared

large numbers of children, one family having con- \'

sisted oi twenty-six children." With a few such sam-

ples at the present day, the census enumerator might

safely be charged with inaccuracy. During the early

days of the French and Indian War, William Phipp.s,

of Maine, a brave, fearless man, organized a body

of 2000 men and marched at their head to join in the

assault on Quebec, but losing his way he arrived too

late to be of any service, but was afterwards in several

engagements and was knighted for bravery, thus be-

coming Sir William Phipps.

In 1762 he was made Governor of the Province of

New Hampshire. Some of the Phipps family were

among the early settlers of HoUiston, Mass., and

Moses, the father of our subject, was born there and

moved to Hopkinton about 1800, where he became a

prominent citizen, representing the town of Hopkin •

ton in 1835, beside being for several years on the

Board of Selectmen, and in 1840-41 and '42 was

chairman of the Board. He carried on farming be-

sides keeping a store and he was also a skilled black-

smith. Moses married Hannah Adams and they had

seven children—William A., Benjamin, Alpalet, John,

James, Hannah and Elmira. Of these children

Benjamin, John and James are deceased. The last
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named became a noted phyaician of Boston. Wil-

liam Adams Phipps was born in Hopkinton, Septem-

ber 19, 1800. He spent his boyhood at home and at-

tended the district school as.sistiiig in the work out of

school honrs. He made <;ood progress in school and

on leaving it he attended tor some time a private

school in Holliston, also a term in Milford, Mass.,

and in Thompson, Connecticut. He became a

teacher and was efficient in that occupation, teaching

in his native town, also in Milford.

At the age of twcnty-lliree he left teaching and
became a butcher, taking with him liis brother-in-law

Cromwell McKarland, and they continued several

yesiTH. About 1847 he commenced the manufacture

of boots, in which he continued with auccc.is until

187(1 when he retired from active bnsines.s. Mr. IMiipps

was for many years on the Hoard of Selectmen, and

represented the town in the General Court. He hju*

been a director in the Milford National Bank. In

politics his atliliations have chiefly been with the

Republican party. He has been a contributor to the

support of the Congregational Church. Mr. Phipjis

has been twice married, first to Sarah Uowker, of

Hopkinton, and they had ten children—Wm. H.,

Marilla F., Waldo, Vernon H, Frederick S., Anna A.,

Isabel D., Joseph B., Norman B., and a .son who died

in infancy. Of these children four only are living.

The mother of these children died in October, 1870.

His second marriage was with Maria S., daughter of

Stephen D. and Hannah (Farrington) Willie, Decem-
ber 11, 1872. She is a superior woman and in a re-

fined and tender way ministera to the needs of Mr.

Phipps in his declining years with uncomplaining

tenderness.

CHAPTER LV.

MEDFOKD.

BY JAMES A. HERVEV.

Medford, one of the oldest towns in Middlesex

County, lies about five miles northwest from Boston,

and joins boundaries on its different sides with Som-

erville, Arlington, Winchester, Stoneham, Melrose,

Maiden and Everett. The town has borne its pres-

ent name from its first settlement, but all conjectures

which have been made as to its origin are unsatisfac-

tory. It is much to be regretted that the first twenty

or thirty pages in the manuscript which contain the

earliest town records are lost, the opening entry be-

ing dated " the first Monday in February, in the year

of our Lord, 1674." For all information touching the

history of the settlement of the town, we must have

recourse to contemporaneous records, to the writings

of Winthrop, Dudley, Wood, Hutchinson and others,

and to the registries of deeds and probate; and much
light is incidentally thrown upon the life and history

of the town by the Mns»achnHetU Colony Records and
the Historical Collections of the MassachuHetU Hi*-
torical Society. \\\ ihe sourcew of infornmllon have
been carefully gleaned by Charles llrookn, the liinlo.

rian of the town.

Medford has been eapecially fortunate in pomtuw-
iug such an annalist. A native of the town, with
which his family had a most respectable ancestral

connection, his history of the town wiw a hibor ..f

love, and he devoted many yearn of his life ii> tlici

work. It is well observed by his editor, Mr. Usher,
that "no eoniplelo history of iMedford can be written

which does not largely embody Ihe material collected

by him." We are indebted to Mr. Usher for the ad-
ditions he has made to Brooks' te.\t, and for his care-

ful narrative of the later history (d' the town, bringing
it up to a very recent date.

The settlement of Medford, contemporaneous with
that of Boston and the towns in it« immediate vi-

cinity, was made by a detachment from the large

body of immigrants who, under the auspices of the

Massachnsett-s Bay Company, came over from Kiig-

land in lli.SO, disembarking at Salem. The .Maiuui-

chusetts Bay Company, which wxs chartered in 1(128,

had for its first governor, Matthew Cradock, who, al-

though he never visited New England, took an impor-

tant part in the management of the affairs of the col-

ony, and especially, as will be seen, in the settlement

of Medford. Although Cradock seems to have re-nigned

the office of governor in 1029, with a view to the trans-

ferrence of the government to New England, he was
elected one of the " Assistants " of the Company, and
appears to have retained the home direction of itn

affairs. Winthrop, the first Colonial governor, did

not enter upon his office until 1(')31.

The initiatory movements in England for the e.slab-

lishment of the colony, as well as the manner in which

the immigrants distributed tliemselves in forming the

dift'erent settlements, have been carefully detailed by

Governor Dudley in his well-known letter U) the

Countess of Lincoln. We give these extracts from

the letter :

—

" 7\j the Right HonorabU, mf/ very good Lady^ ttu Lady BrUbjH^ ComuUMi of

Liticnln.

" Ik[Ai>AM,-~Tuucliiiig tliii pliititatiun wLicli wv liprv linvt* Iw^iii, It

fell >>iit tliuH: Al>uut the yvur 16:^7 some fritMuN, Iwinic UiRvllier in

I.inciiliiHliiro, fell Into discourse abuut Nuw KiiKlund niid tlit* pUnlliiK

of tbi- gospel tlieru ; and, nUvr Mine dellberHtiuii, wv linfmrled our

reaaons, by letlers^ and niotwaf^ea, to aoliiu in I.0111I011 ami tliv Wiwt

Country, wbero it was likewise deliberately tliuuf;ht ii|mn, and at

lengtb, with often negotiation, nu ripened, tliat in Uie year lt>'.:^ ho

procnied a patent from bis Majesty for onr plaittint( t*etwe,>n ihn

MaMtaclinsetta Bay and Cbarlea Kivor un tbe sunlli, and tbe Uivnr uf

Merrimack on tbe uortb, and tbrfle miles on eltber side uf tbuae rlr-

ers and bays, as also for tba governmoiit of tbose who did or ahonld

inbabit within tliul conipaai. And the same year we sent Mr. John

Kndicott. and some with bim, (u bPKin a planlntion, and to strengthen

such lis we sbonid llnd Ib'TO, which we sent thither from lKtrebe»ter

and some other phu-es adjoining; from wlioni, the same year, receiving

bopefnl news, the next year (I6'i9) we sent divers ships orer, with

abont three hundred people, and 80iua cows, goata and bonrw, nianj uf

which arrived saloly.

" These, by their too large commeudationa of the conntrj and the

coDimoditieii thereof, iDTilad ua so strongly to gu 00, that Mr. Win-
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tlirup, of Suffulk (who wtui welt kiiuwti iu hhi own country, and well

ttpproTed horo fur hia piety, liberuliiy, wisduni and gravity), cuutlug

Id tu us, wu came to tiucli rtvtolutluu, tbiit in April, 1U3U, wc> set nail

front Old England with fuur guud ships. And, in May followiug,

eight mure fullowt-d ; twu having gune hufuro iu February and March,

and twu niufu fulluwiitg in June and Augutit, beaidutt iinutbcr set out

by a private merchant. Theso Btivt-nteeii ships arrived all safu in

New Kngland fur the incn-ufk) uf thu pliintntiun here thiti year (iri;i<i),

but uiiidu a lung, u truubleaunio and cotitly vuyugt.', being ull wind

biiund loug in Kngland, and binderud with contrary winds uftur the,v

set tmll, and hu ttcattered with luistd and teoipeHls, that few uf them

arrived together. Our four shiiM which set out in April arrived bore

Iu June and July, whcro he fuuud the colony in a sad and unexpected

condiliuu ; above eighty uf tbeui being dead the winter befuro, and

many uf tbm^e alive weak aud tdck, all the curn and bread amung

them all hartlly HUttlcient t4> feed thoin u fortnight. Hut, bearing these

Ihiugu as We might, we begun to cunsult of our place uf sitting down -

fur Salem, where we lauded, pleased us nut.

" .\nd to that purpose somo wore sent to the Buy tu search up the

rivers for a convenient place, who, upon their return, reported to liave

found a gotnl place upon Mittick ; but some other of us, seconding

these, to approve or disliku of their judgment, wo fuuud a place

liked ue better, three leagues up Charles River, and thereupon un-

sbipi>cd our goods into uther vessels, and with nmch cost and labor

brought iheui in July tu Charlestown. But there receiving advertise-

menls (by sume uf the bite arrived ships), from London and Amster-

dam, uf ^suuie French preparutiuus against us (many of our people

brought with us being sick of fevei-s and the scurvy, and we thereby

unable to carry up our ordnance and baggage so far), we were forced

to change counsel, and for our preinent shelter to plant dispersedly,

—

some at Charlestuwn, which standeth on the north side uf the mouth

of Charles Kiver ; suaie on the south side thereof, which place we

named Bustott (as we intended to have done the place we first resolved

on); some of us upou Mistick, which we named Meadford ; some ol

ua westward ou Charles Kiver, four mile from Charlestown, which

place we named Waterlown ; others of us two miles from Boston, in

a place wo called liaxbui-y ; uthers upun the River Saugus, between

Salem and Charlestown ; aud the Western-men four miles south from

Bostou, iu a place we named Dorchtster. They who had health tu

labor fell tu building, wherein many were interrupted with sickness,

and many died weekly, yea, almost daily,

" After my brief manner I say this; that, if any come hither to plant

for worldly ends that can live well at home, he comuiits an error o(

which he will soon repent him ; but if for spiritual, aud that no par-

ticular obstacle liiuder his removal, he may find here what may well

content him, viz., materials to build, fuel tu burn, ground to plant, seas

and rivers tu fish iu, a pure air to breathe in, good water to drink till

wine or beer can be made ; which, together with the cows, hugs and

goats brought hither already, may suffice for food; as for fowl and

venison, they are dainties here, as well as in England. For clothes

and beddi.ng, they must bring them with them, till time and industry

produce them here. In a word, we yet enjoy little to be envied, but

endure much to be pitied in the sickness and mortality of our people.

If any godly man, out uf religious ends, will come over to help us in

the guod work we are about, I think they cannot dispose of themselvps,

nor of their estates, more tu God's glory and the furtherance of their

own reckoning ; but they must not be of the poorer sort yet, for divers

years. I am now, this 'iSth March, 1031, sealing my letters.

'* Your Honor's old thankful servant,

"Thomas Dudley."

In the Charlestown records, 1664, John Green, in

giving a history of the first-comers, says :

"Amongst uthers that arrived at Salem, at their own cost, were

Ralph Sprague, with his brethren, Richard aud William, who, witli

three or four more, by joint consent, aud approbation of Mr. John
Endicott, Governor, did, the same summer of anno (1628) (29), under-

take a journey from Salem, and traveled the woods above twelve miles

to the westward, and lighted of a place situate and lying on the north

side of Charles River, full of Indians, called Aberginians. Their old

Bachem being dead, his eldest son, by the English called John Saga-

more, was their chief, and a uian naturally of a gentle and good dispo-

sition. . . . They found it was a neck of land, generally full of stately

timber, aa was the main aud the land lying on the east side of the

river, called Mystick Biver, from the farm Mr. Cradock's servants

had planted, called Mystick, which this river led up unto
i

and, in-

deed, generally all the country round about wits an uncouth wilder-

ness, full of timber.**

These seem to have been the first Europeans who
visited the site of the present town ofMedibrd.

Of the 'Moiir ships'* mentioned by Dudley as sail-

ing from England in April, 1630, two belonged to

Cradock, and one of the others, the '* Arbella,"

brought over Winthrop. Cradock was a merchant
and a man of wealth, and the lading of his vessels

wiuj largely a private venture. The emigrants sent

over by him were men selected for their fitness to

engage in the business of the fisheries aud shipbuild-

ing, in which he proposed to embark, and among
them were "coopers and cleavers of timber.'' Al-

though the company declared in 1629 that " the pro-

pagation of the gospel is the thing we do profess

above all to be our aim in the settling of this planta-

tion," there can be no question that they expected to

make the enterprise self-supporting, and even profit-

able, and from the very start they took the proper

steps to attain that end.

Governor Winthrop in his journal says: "Thurs-

day, 17th of June, 16P>0 : We went to Massachusetts

to find out a place for our sitting down. We went up
'Mystic Kiver' about six miles." This, so far as we
know, was the first exploration of the river. Win-
throp at once established himself on a tract of land

on the south side of the Mystic, where he built a

house. To this estate he gave the name of the " Ten
Hills Farm," which it has ever since retained.

The name of "Mystic Fields," or "Mystic," was
applied to the lands on the south side of the river,

stretching from Charlestown Neck to the ponds at

the head of the stream, and including the Winthrop
-farm. The name " Mystic *' was sometimes extended

to Medford itself.

A grant of six hundred acres of land was made by

the " Court of Assistants " to Winthrop, in 1631, ** to

be set forth by metes and bounds, near his house in

Mistic, to enjoy to. him and his heirs forever." Mr.

Winthrop appears to have been much pleased with

his new i:»ossessions, for writing to his son he says :

"Here is as good land as I have ever seen there [in

England], though none so bad as there," and in a

letter to his wife, written November 29, 1630, we find

these words: "My dear wife, we are here in a para-

dise."

It was about the time when Winthrop established

himself at the Ten Hills Farm, in the summer of

1630, that Cradock's people made their settlement at

Medford. It was probably under Winthrop's direc-

tion that the agent of Cradock fixed his headquarters

on the north side of the Mystic, nearly opposite the

Ten Hills Farm, and here the settlers at once ad.

dressed themselves to the work which they had in

hand. The existence of the plantation was authori-

tatively recognized as early as September 28, 1630,

when a tax of £3 was imposed on Medford for the

support of military teachers; and, in November of
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the same year, another tax of £3 was laid on the

.settlement.

From the beginning, (nivernor C'nuloek liiid been

:ui earnenl and :u'tivi- frieml of the new [ilantiitionii,

and h;id held wise and I'ar-roaching views sis to the

means by which their prosperity could' be secured.

Some of his letters are extant, and furnish abundant
proof of his enthusiastic devotion to the enterprise,

at the same time giving us very favorable impressions

<il' the character of the man. Wilting to lOnilicott,

in Ffbiuiiry, 1()2S, he says :

" We nro very coillldont of yom- best vluk'UvorM fur tliy goiivml Ki'»'l

;

auii we tiuiiht liut but Qoti will in iiuTcy glvo u bli-wtiii^; upon our lutKirw;

tiiu] we trut^t yon will not be iinniiri'lful uf t)ie main enti of our pluula-

tion, by endeftvorinj; tt> biiliK tlio In(l[Hn.s to Ibe kno\vletlt;o of tbo j^os-

|iel, wbioli that it may be speedier and better olTected, the earnest dettlre

of our whole company is, that yon iuive diligent and watcliful eye over

.mrown people; that they live unbhuualdo and witliont reproof, and
demean tlieiuselvos justly and courteous towards the Imliitns, thereby

to draw tllvni to affect our peraon.s, and conseijuetitly our religion; as

also to endeavor to get some of their children to train up to reading, and
consequently to religion, while they are young

; herein, to young or old,

to omit no good opportunity that may tend to bring thoni out of that

woful state and condition thoy now are in ; in which case our pl-edeces-

sora in this our land sometimes were, au'l, Lut for the mercy and good-

ness of our good God, might have continued to this day ; but Cod, wlio

out of the bonndlees ocean of his mercy hath showed pity and compas-

sion to onr land, he is all sutficient and can bring this to pa^ which we
now desire in that country likewise. Only lot us not be wanting on our

parts, now we are called to this work of the Lord ; neither, having put

our hands to the plough, let us look hack, hut go on cheerfully, and de-

pend upon God for a blessing upon our labors, who, by weak instruments,

is able (if be see It good) to bring glorious things to pass.

"Be of good courage, go on, and do worthily, and the Lord prosper

your endeavor.

"* And now, minding to conclude this, I may not omit to put yon in

mind, however you seem to fear no enemies thei'e, yet that you have a
watchful eye for your own safety, and the safety of all those of our

nation with you, and not to be too contidentof the fidelity of the savages.

It is an old proverb, yet as true, tJie bitnit child tbemlit thejire. Our coun-

trytiieu have guttered by their too much confidence in ^'irginia. Let na

by their barms learn to beware ; and as we are commanded to be inno-

cent as doves, so withal we are enjoined to be wise us serpents. The (iod

of heaven and earth preserve and keep you from all foreign and inland

enemies, and bless and prosper this plantation to the enlargement of the

kingdom of Jesus Christ, to whose merciful protection I conmiend you

and all your associates there, known or unknown. And so, till my next,

which sliall be (God willing) by our ships, who I make account will be

ready to set sail from hence about the 20th of this next month of Ulai'ch,

I end, and rest."

Another of his letters, written in April, 1029, speaks

well for his notions of equity in dealing with the In-

dians:
'' Above all, we pray you be careful there be none

in our precincts permitted to do any injury (in the

least kind) to the heathen people; and if any oll'end

in that way, let them receive due correction. If any

of the savages pretend right of inheritance to all or

any p.art of the lands granted in our patent, we pray

you endeavor to purchase their title, that we may
avoid the lea.st scruple of intrusion."

The importance of the service which Governor

Cradock rendered to the infant plantations is recog-

nized in the " First Letter of the Governor and Deputy

of the New England Company for a Plantation in

Massachusetts Bay, to the Governor and Council for

Loudon's Plantation in the Massachusetts Bay, in

New England," written in April, liii!'.*. Kroiu lhi«
we nuote as follows :

" Wo pray you glvt. all couil •ocuniiuudallun lu uur proanl (unnior,
.Mr. Malhuw (^nidock, who, with xiiuii |«rUculw l.i. ii.i. .. ..i n.- . ...

|mny, have ilin.jdy eugaged IhenurltM In lh»lr |.

these ahli*, and IhoM Co como ; and u we hold I

>

deeply adventure in Iheir private, to be (under (io.1) .,„„i iiiiiiuuuuu
for the advancInK and •Irengthenlui; of ilm |.l.nl«ll.,u, ohbh I. dou. b)
them wllhuul any charge to the ™mi ,

i -i,«.k, »l,rn.|u, i»mI.

withslaiidlng, Ihey are us ilwp or ile.
|

,„ ,„y other
"\\'o have tent six shlpwrfKlilM, ..1 i....,.,! S|..i."

These men' terlulumnni hi very cimritmkle lu ua ; aod
It Is to be borne twulhlnls at the charxe of Iha (euriml
the other one. IhinI Is to bo borne lij Mr. Oradurk, our '

his associates iiiler«-«led In llio private iit.x-k. We Imp* y....

I'ul to see Ihem Mi eliiployi.<l as may ruiinlairvall tb> cliarxi', <l>«itiii|| you
to agree with Sir. Sharp that llioir labor uuy be eiiiploye.1 l»o llilidi fut
the general compiiny, and onelhlrd for Mr. fnulock aul hU uaelaii^,
praying you to areoninii»lale nalil Mr. Craduck'a pruplii In all Hiiliif
manner, aa he doth well deserve.

•' Our Uovernur, Jlr. t'nidock, halli eulerlaliuHl [|i«id llm ri|K.i»ra of)

two galdeuors, one uf which he Is content the ..jiupaiiy .ball bxe u>«
of, If need he."

It is probable that Mr. Cradock's pr.iplc ui oncp
engaged in the lisheries, building, farming, itiid in

such other cmpldyments ;is furtlnTi'tl the inlerojtlM for

which the settlement was establislied. Tlieir patron
kept a watchful eye over their welfare. In llie firht

year of their settlement he provideti n man. lUeharvl

Waterman, " whose chief employment," he wrilen,
" will be to get yon good venison." t^radock's opera-

tions were not confined to .Medford. He had uii

establishment also at Marblehead, wliere he employed
"Mr. Allerton and many lisherinen." As early as

1632, his agent, Mr. Davison, built a vessel of one
hundred tons on the Mystic ; and the next year, one
of two hundred tons. Davison, in 1C3.S, under the

authority of the General Court, bnili the first bridge

over the Mystic River, a short distance fnnii the site

of the present substantial stone structure known an

the Cradock Bridge.

The General Court, March 4, l(i34, made a grant

of land to Cradock as follows: "All the ground, an

well upland aa meadow, lying and being betwixt the

land of Mr. Nowell and .Mr. Wilson on the east, and
the partition betwixt Jlistick bounds on the west,

bounded with Mislick River on the south, and the

rocks on the north." In ItiSo the court ordered that
" the land formerly granted to Mr. Cradock, merchant,

shall extend one mile into the country from the

river-side in all places." These grants of land covered

almost the wlmle of the north side of the valley of

the Mystic within the present boundaries of Medford,

and comprised about two thousand acres.

This included all the territory of Medford in the

earliest stage of its history. Wood, in his description

of the Bay Settlements, written in li!34, thus speaks

of Medford

:

"Towards the northwest of this bay is a great

creek, upon whose shore is situated the village of

Medford, a very fertile and pleasant place, and fit for

more inhabitants than are yet in it."

And further oi:, he aiiys :
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" The next town \a Jlistick, which is three miles

from I'hiirlestown by land, ami a league and a half

by walcr. It is seuteil by the water's side very pleius-

antly ; there are not many houses jis yet. At the head

of this river are great and spacious ponds, whither the

alewives press to spawn. This being a noted place

for that kind of fish, the English resort hither to take

them. On the west side of this river the Governor

has a farm, where he keeps most of his cattle. On
tlie east side is Mr. (haddock's plantation, where he

has impale<l a ])ark where he keeps liis cattle till he

can store it with tlcer. Here, likewise, he is at

charges of building ships. The last year one was

upon the stocks of a hundred tons ; that being finished,

they are to build one twice her burden. Sliips, with-

out eitiier baUast or loiuling, may lloat down the river,

otherwise tlio oyster bank would hinder them wliich

crosseth the channel."

WliileMr. Oradock must in justice be considered as

the founder of the town of Medford, it is doubtful

whether liis connection with the settlement enured

to its nltimate advantage. His monopoly of the land

kept out small proprietors, thus restricting the settle-

ment of a perm.anent population, and after bis death,

which occured in 1644, the settlement lost whatever

benefit it had received from his patrona ge. Mr. Sav-

age, in his edition of Winthrop's Journal, says :

"of so flourialiing a town as Medford, the settlement of which had

beeii made iw early as that of any other, except C'harlestown, in the hay,

it is remarl^ahle that the early history is very meagre. From several

Btatement.s of its proportion of the jmhlic charges in the colony rates, it

must he concluiled that it was, within the firet eight yeare, superior in

wealth, at different times, to Newbury, Ipswich, Hiugham and Wey-

mouth, all ancient towns. . . . Yet the number of people was certainly

small ; and the weight of the tax was probably borne by the property

of Gov. Cradock, there invested for fishing and other purposes. When
that establishment was withdrawn, the tow[i languished many years,"

With our present scanty information, we can only

conjecture that the population of the infant settle-

ment consisted in a very large part of Mr. Cradock's

dependants and tenants, and so remained for some

years after his death. In 1652 the heirs of Cradock

quitclaimed to Edward Collins " all that messuage,

farm or plantation, called Medford, in New England,"

by them owned. In 1G5G, Collins sold 1600 acres of

the land, together with the mansion and buildings to

Richard Russell of Charlestown. Five years after,

Russell sold the " mansion-house " with 1200 acres of

land to Jonathan Wade. After the death of Russell,

his heirs sold 350 acres to Peter Tufts.

These successive sales ot large portions of the Cra-

dock estate indicate little more than a change of

proprietorship, and show that the taste for land

speculation is not a thing of rescent origin. It was

not till after the middle of the seventeenth century

that the lands of Medford were sold in smaller parcels

and the town began to enter upon a natural and

healthy growth.

According to Brooks, the following Medford names
are found in the list of freemen, between 1630 and

1646:

John Collins, Jonathan Porter, Richard Bishop,

Thomas Brooke, John Waite, William Manning, John
Hall, Richard Francis, William Blanchard, Henry
Simonds, Zacbery Fitch, Richard Wade, Richard

Bugbe, John Watson, Abraham Newell, Henry
Brooke, (iamaliel Wayte, Hezekiah Usher, Tlionias

Bradbury, Richard Swan, .(obn Howe, Edmund An-

gler, Thomas Oakes, Hugh Pritchard.

I u the county records we find the following names

of men represented as at Medford :

(icorge Felt 1033

James Noyes 1034

Kicharil Berry 1630

Thiinuut Maybew 1630

Ben,iamin Crisp 1636

James Garrett 103T

John Smith 1638

Richard Cooke 1040

Josiah Dawstin 1041

Dix 1041

Hi. Dexter 1644

William Sargent 1648

James Goodnow 1650

John Martin 1650

Edward Omvers 1650

Ooulden Moore 10.54

Robert Burden 1655

Richard Russell 1650

Thos. Shephard 1057

Thos. Danforth 1658

Thomas Greene 1659

James Pemberton 1059

Joseph Hills 1002

Jonathan Wade 1068

I'Mward Collins 1009

John Call 1669

Daniel Deane 1669

Samuel Hayward 1070

Caleb Brooks 1672

Ilaniel Markliam 1075

John Whitniore 1078

John Greenland 1678

Daniel Woodward 1679

Isaac Fox 1079

Stephen Willis 10811

Thomas Willis 1080

John Hall 1680

Gersbom Swan 1684

Joseph Angler 1084

John Bradshaw 1085

Stephen Francis 1085

Peter Tufts 1680

Jonathan Tufts 1690

John Tufts 1690

Simon Bradstreet 1095

The following persons owned land in Medford be-

fore 1680:

William Dady,

Rob. Broadick.

Mrs, Anne Higginson.

Caleb Hobart,

John Palmer.

Nicholas Davidson.

Increase Nowell,

Zachary Symmes.

John Betts,

Jotham Gibona,

Richard Stilman,

Mrs, Mai-y Eliot.

Tlie town had, in 1707, 46 ratable polls, indicating

a population of about 230.

The depressed condition of Medford in the first

half century of its existence is plainly enough shown

by the small proportion of the tax imposed upon the

town under the general levy. It should be remem-
bered, however, that the grants of land, some of them
lying in Medford, made by the General Court to Rev.

Mr. Wilson, Matthew Cradock, and Mr. J. Newell,

were exempted from taxation. In the records of the

General Court, April 4, 1641, we find the following

curious piece of legislation : "It is ordered that all

farms that are within the bounds of any town 'shall

be of the town in which they lye, except Meadford."

Of course the income of the town was reduced by

the amount ot such exemption. In a general levy of

£600, in 1634, Medford paid £26 ; Charlestown, £45. In

1635, Medford paid £10, and Charlestown, £16. Win-
throp tells us :

" Of a tax of £1,500, levied by the General Court

in 1637, the proportion paid by Medford was £52. 10s.

;

by Boston, 233.10s.; Ipswich, £180; Salem, £170.10s.;

Dorchester, £140 ; Charlestown, £138 ; Roxbury,
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Watertown, £110; Newton, £106; Lynn,

Johu Bradslior 8

Juuatliau Tufts 10

Daniel WuoJwnrd
Andrew Mitchell .

UoKel' Scutt , , ,

KiiWHnl \ViilIit3r

Jacob CbaniberlHiD

Joflepli Baiter

£115;
£105."

In 1045, the levy upon the towns of the Province

was £616. 15s. ; and Medford'a share was £7.

Following Brooks, we find that in 1057, ]Medford

was taxed as one of the towns of the county of Mid-

dlesex, in a county levy, £3. 0». Ih/. ; in 1058, .C3.

3.S. Id.; in 1663, £4. 4s. Od. ; in 1070, £4. 12s.; in

1074, £4. Ss. lOi/.; in 1670, £4. Is. Ut(/. During these

years Cambridge was paying £40; Woburn, £25;

Maiden, £10 ; and Charlestown, £00. A county-tax

of £1. 13». 9</., levied on Medford, .Tanuary 17, 1084,

was paid by the iuhabitant-s as follows :

£ «. a.

Capt. Jonutliun Waile ..064
Capt. Nathauiol Wado .043
•lulin Hall 3 3

Caleb Blo.Jlia 1 11

Tburaaa Willis 3 7

StopUeu Willis 1 lU

Peter Tult«, .Ir 3 4

Stephen Francis .... 1 10

.lubii Wbitmore .... 1 7

GerHhom Swau 1 6

Isaac Fox 11

The excess raised in this tax, over the sum re-

quired, was to pay the collector.

" The first session of the General Court, uuder the

second charter, began June 8, 1692 ; and they voted

thtit 10s. a poll, and one quarter part of the annual

income on all real and peisoutxl estate in the Prov-

ince, be assessed. These taxes, assessed upou the

Province by the House of Representatives from 1092

to 1702, averaged £11,000 per annum. Of this sum,

Medford paid, in 1092, £32. 18s. ; in 1096, £42; in

1098, £20; in 1702, £19. Is.; while Maiden paid, in

the same years, £121, £90, £45, and £48. Woburn
paid £181, £144, £75, and £85. Cambridge paid £214,

£189, £102, and £102.

" To show a town-tax at this period, and also the

names most frequently occurring in the town's records,

we here insert ' a rate made by the .selectmen, May 10,

1701, for defraying town-charges ; namely, for the

deputy, and the layiug-in of ammunition, and for

fetching and carrying Mr. Woodbridge, and the

entertaining of him.'
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sill dead. I will glTO him to Mr. Wilaoii : he is niucb good iimn, aud

uiucb love me.' So he seat for Mr. Wllaou to como to him, aud eoni-

iiiitted Ills only child to hlD care, and so died."

After the death of Nanepasheniit, hi.s wife, or Sijua-

Sacliem, as she was called, suiceeded to his authority.

Slie married Wclicowit, the niedicine-iiiaii of the

tribe, and, in Ui3'.), she deeded to Charlestowii a tract

of land bordering on Medford, in terms as follows :

" 'I'll© loth of the 2il mo., 1U59 ; Wee, Web-Cowet, and Sjqua .Sachem

do ijell imto the inliabitanta of the towue of Churlcstowne all the land

within the line granted them by the Court (excepting the farnies and

the gruuml on the west t)f tlie two great ponds, called Mi^tti-ke /^'»rfs),

from the south side of Mr. Nowoll's lott, lieero the upper end of the

ponds, unto the little rnnnet that comineth from t^'apt. Cook's mills,

which the Sijua reservetli to their use for her life, for the Indians to

plant and hunt upon ; anil the weary above tlte ponds they also reserve

for the ludiaus to fish at whiles the .Si^piu liveth : and, after the death of

Squa Sachem, she doth leave all her lands, from Mr. Mayliue's bouse

to neere Salem, to the present Governor, Mr. .lolin Winthrop. sen., Mr.

Increase Nowell, Mr, .lohn Willsoii, i\Ir. Kdwaid Gibbons, to dispose of,

and all Indians to depart. And, for satisfaction from Charlestowne,

wee acknowledge to have received, in full sattisfaction, twenty and one

coates, Dinten fathom of wampoin, aud three bushels of corn. In wit-

ness whereof, wee have here unto sett o'r hands the day and year above

named.
" The mark of Squa Sacueu, m'c.

" The mark of Web-Cowet, m."

The last remnant of the tribe which once held the

lands of the Mystic, is said by Brooks, to have taken

up its residence in " Turkey Swamp," in the northern

part of Medford. The skeletons of five Indians were

exhumed, from the grounds of the late Edward Brooks

in West Medford, iu 1862, and many evidences of

their former occupancy of the locality have been found

in tools and weapons of stone.

Medford had a very contracted territory up to the

middle of the last century, and embraced only the

grants made to Mr. Cradock, in 1634 and '3.3
; the

lands granted to Wilson and Newell, 400 acres in

extent, intervened between the eastern boundary of

the town aud Maiden River. On the north, its line

followed the range of hills then called the " Rocks,"

parallel to, and one mile from the river. The Mystic

Ponds formed the western boundary, and on the

south, the town rested on the Mystic. The area of

the town wa.s about 2000 acres. Until 1640, Med-

ford was surrounded by Charlestown, which then

embraced the present territory of Maiden, Stoneham,

Woburn, Burlington, Somerville and a part of the

three towns of Cambridge, Arlington and Medford.

The General Court ordered, Oct. 7, 1640, that

** Mr. Tynge, Mr. Samuel SbeephartI, and Goodman Edward Converse,

are to set out the bounds between Charlestown and Mr. Cradock's farm

on the north side of Mistick River."

In 1687, the town appointed three gentlemen, who,

in conjunction with three appointed by Charlestown,

were directed to fix the boundaries between the two

towns. The committee reported as follows :

"We have settled and marked both stakes and lots aa followelh:

From the creek in the salt-marsh by a ditch below Wilson's farm and
Medford farm to a stake ami heap of stones out of the swamp, then turn-

ing to a savin-tree and to three stakes more to heaps of stones within

George Blanchard's field with two stakes more and heaps of stones

standing all on the upland, and so round from stake to stake as the

swamp ruiiuetb, and then sttaight to astake on the south side of the

house of Joseph Blanchard's half, turning then to another oak, an old

marked tree, thence to a niaple-tree, old marks, thence unto two young

maples, new marked, and thence to three stakes to a creek-head, tbeuce

straight to the corner line on tile south side of the country road lea<llng

to(MaldenJ."

Chafing within their narrow limits, the inhabitants

of Medford made repeated ellbrts for the extension of

their boundaries. In 1714, a committee was chosen

to petition Charlestown on the subject of annexing

certain dL-itricts. The petitioners ask " for some part

of Charlestown adjoining to Medford, on the north

side of Mystic River.'' The same year, having receiv-

ed, as is supposed, an adverse reply to that petition,

they chose another committee to examine the Prov-

ince Records, and see if Medford has any right to

land lying in Charlestown, and, if so, to prosecute

the same at the town's expense.

Again, in 1726, the town presented a petition to

the inhabitants of Charlestown, praying that the lands

on the north side of the Mystic River might be set

off' to Medford. This request was emphatically re-

fused ; and, in 1738, another petition of the same im-

port met with a like fate.

In 1734, the town voted to " petition the Great and

General Court for a tract of the unappropriated lands

of this Province, to enable the said town of Medford

the better to support the ministry and the schools in

said town." The record of the action taken on this

petition is as follows

:

" At a Great and General Court or Assembly for his Majesty's Prov-

ince of Massachusetts Hay, in New England, begun and held at Boston,

upon Wednesday, the 28th of May. 1735, and continued by several ad-

journments to Wednesday, the 19th of November following,

—

"20 May, 1735; \ petition of the inhabitants of the town of Med-

ford, showing that the said town is of the smallest extent of any in the

Province, and yet their town-charges extremely high, so that the maiu-

tenance of ministry and school is very chargeable to them, and there-

fore praying for a grant of some of the waste lands of the Province to

be appropriated for the support of the ministry and schoolmaster in

said town.

" Iif the House of Representatives, read and ordered that the prayer

of the petition be so far granted as that the town of Medford is hereby

allowed and empowered, by a surveyor aud chairman on oath, to survey

and lay out one thouftand acres of the unappropriated lands of the Prov-

ince, and return a plat thereof to this Court, within twelve months, for

confirmation for the uses within mentioned.

" lu Council, read aud concurred. Dec. 29th : Consented to,

" J. Belches.
" A true copy, examined

:

" Thade. Mason,
" Deputy Secretary,^*

Under this grant the town selected 1000 acres of

land on the Piscataqua River. The tract was called

the " Town's Farm," and was sold after a few years'

possession. It was of small value.

The long-felt desire of the people of Medford for

an increase of territory was at length gratified. In

1753 they presented the following petition to the Pro-

vincial authorities

:

i^To }m Excellency, William Shirley, Esq., Captain- General and Governor-

in-Chitf in and over his Majesty's Province of the Massachusetts Bay, in

New England, to the Honorable his Majesty's Council, and to the Honor-

able House of Hepresentatives.

" The petition of the inhabitants of the town of Medford, in the

County of Middlesex, humbly showeth that there are certain tracts of
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land lying on the southerly and northerly sides of said Modford, whieb
are boimdod as follows ; viz., the southerly tract, lying in CluirlMituwn,

is boundeil northerly with Mistic or M-'dforil River, westerly with ih>'

westerly bounds of Mr. Smith's farni, southerly with the southerly

bouuiis of Mr. Smith's, Mr. James Tufts's, and Mr. Jonathan Tuft^'s

farms, and then running from tlie south-eacterly corner of said Jonathan
Tufts's farm eastward straight to the westerly side of Col. Kuyul's farm,

again westerly with the west^Tly bounds of Col. Royul's farm, again

southerly with its southerly bounds, and then running from the south-

easterly corner thereof, eastward, stniight to Modford Uiver.

*'The northerly tract, lying also in Charlestown, is bounded southerly

with Mii} MeilXord's northerly line and the southerly bounds of Mr.

Symmus's farm, westerly with the line that divides Mr. Symnu'H'a from

Mr. Gardner's farm, northerly with Wobiirn and Stoneham lineo, east-

erly un Maiden line.

*' Which lands, with their inhabitants, we pray may be added to the

contracted limit* of the said town of Medford, together with a propor-

tionable part of the said town of CharleutownV rights and privileges,

according to the quantity and circurnstauces of said lands : at least,

these pieces of land, and the privileges, which am within the lands

hereby petitioned for,

"And inasmuch as the said town of Charlestown has convoyed the

land called the gravel-pit, with the marsh adjoinipg, containing about

half an acre, that they used for getting gravel, laving timber, etc., for

the southerly half of the bridge commonly called Mitotic Bridge, and the

'Causey' thereto adjoining, to Capt. Aaron CIoav«land and Mr. Samuel

Kendal ; for which consideration they have covenanted and agreed

with the said town of Charlestown to keep the half of the bridge and

tlie 'Causey' aforesaid in good condition forever:

" We pray, that, in case the before-described lands are laid to said

Medford, it may not be subjected to any cost or charges on account of

the before-mentioned part of said bridge and the Causey adjoining.

** Which petition we humbly conceive will appear reasonable by what

follows:

—

" Firs(, The contents of the said town of Medford are exceedingly

small, amounting to but about two thousand acres, the iuhabilants very

feiv,and consequently its charges very great, compared with other

towns. Besides, us to brick-making, upon which our trading and a

great part of our other business depends, it very much fails.

^* Secondly t The said town of Charlestown almost encompaasea the

town of Medford, and therefore (notwithstanding the great necessity)

it cannot receive large addition from any other town.

"Thirdiy, Those that now dwell on the said tracts of land, and those

who heretofore dwell on them, have from time to time enjoyed the

libeity of attending the public worship in Medford without paying any

thing to the tj^xes there. Neither is there any probability that any of

the iuhabitauls of said lands, or any otiier persons that may settle on

them, can, with any convenioncy, attend the public worship in any

other town. Moreover, the inhabitants of the said southerly tract are

within about half a mile of said MedftU'd meeting house,—the greatest

part of them,—and the rest within a mile.

" Aud the inhabitants of the northerly tract before-mentioned are, the

farthest of them, but about two miles from said meeting house. And
great part of the lands in both the said tracts are now owned and pos-

sessed by those who are with us in this petition, and some of the inhab-

itants of said Medford.

*' Besides, we apprehend it to be a very great hardship for the inhab-

itants of said tracts of land to be obh'ged to go, almost all of them, more

than four miles, and others more than seven miles, to towu-mcetinga,

trainings, etc.

*' Furthermore, we would humbly move that some of the honorable

members of the General Assembly may be appointed to view the prem-

ises petitioned for, etc.

"lu ct)nsideration of what is before-mentioned, and other moving

arguments that might be used in thi^ affair, we lioi)e your Excellency

and Honors, in your great wisdom and goodness, will grant onr petition.

Although the inhabitants of said ('harlestown have not been pleased

In he BO free (when petitioned) as to let us know whether they would

gratify us herein or not.

" So shall your petitioners, as in duty bound, ever pray.

"Caleb Brooks. Jonathan Tuits.

"Benjamin Pabkeb. John Jbnks.

"Benjamin Tkal. Robert Cranr.

"James Tifts. John Dkorusiiy.
*' Ebenkzeb Marrow.

"Medford, Dec. 13,17.53.

" Wo, the subscribere, being ownora of a considerable part of the

sHid Unda. and having dw.Mii.shMUM^ thPtr^oa, do brreb, •icnify ih»i
we heiirtlly j.dn with ihr inlittblt«nU «f MtMjrunl to ih^ r-r^Mhic
iwiiti'.n.

"Samihl nuiMiKii,

" Kbknciiii Urimik*,

" z. I»oo^

" Jmii:rii Torra,

"STri'HKJt IIaI!.,

This petition wan granted April 17, 175 J, ami from
that date the town entered U|Hin a new and nitiri'

pro8peroU8 era of it8 hiHlory. TIiidiT tlio uri th«
boundaries of the town at iht- north were oinhidt-r-

ahly extended, and it-* arrevwionH on th** Houth inchidrd
all of it« present territory, which lien miuih of Oie
river. The area of Medford wan more than double*!.

and now embraced nearly nix IhoUHaml aeren. .<inre

that time it has lost portions of itj* territory, which
have at different times been set oil* to ncighhorinj;

towns—to some of them on their formation. The
present area of the town is about hve thouKand ucren,

or nearly eight stpiare miles.

The organization of the municipal government of
the Colonial towns in the early times wa** of the sim-
plest sort. The population waa small, nothing like

the present elaborate system of public Kt-rvlct' whb
known, and little was done at the public charge.

Medford was very peculiarly situated. Mr. Davison,
Governor Craddock's agent, was vested with full au-
thority to conduct the aHairs of the plantation, and,
owing to the loss of the earliest town rectirdu, we

I

cannot tell how soon the people look the management

I

of their concerns into their own hands. Probably it

wius not till after the death of Mr. (Jradock, in U'A\.

Among the earliest existing reconis of tiie town is the

following entry touching the proceedings of a town-

meeting :

*' The first Monday of February in the yearof our Lonl IfiTT, Goodni«n
John Hall was chosen constable by the inhahiUnIa of Meadforv) for th«
year ensuing. Joseph Wade, John Uall and Stephen Willis were chod-

en selectmen for onloring of the alTain of the plantation for Uia your
ensuing. Jcilin Whitinore, Daniel Woodward, Jnc4tb ChamlH<rlnin, John
Hall.jnu., Kdward Walker, Walter Cranston, Patrick Hay, Andrvw
Mitchell and Thomas Fillobrown, Jud., took the onlh of tididily.

" J08KPH Wadk, roiFw-c^ri-."

Mr. Brooks has preserved for us a copy of an old-

time warrant for a town-meeting:

"To Mr. Stephen Halt, jnn., (Vmstableof MedfonI, Oreeting : V<miir«»

hereby required, in his Majesty's name, to wnrn the fn<choIdeni and
other inhabitanta of Medford to meet at (heir moeting-houne, the flni

Monday of March next ensuing the date hrriKtf, by eight o'clock in thx

morning, then and there Io choose a constHble, potcctmon, Inwn-clirk

and other h)wn-ot1irers, as the law dirc^ctd. And all pornuiN lo whom
the said town is indebtoil lo bring in lh<>ir accounts, and lay ih«> immi*

l>efore the said town. And the iuwu-treasiir«>r for mid Mt-<lf<ip| U here-

by required to give said town at mid meeting a particular ncconnl ..f

the disposing of the saM town's money; and what»iM<rer oIm* nmy \>t>

needed, proper, an<l necessary to be dlscuunwd on and delcnnlnf<d of at

said meeting. Hereof you may not fail, as you will answer yimr di>-

faultat the peril of the law.

** Dated in said Medford, Kebnmry M, 1702, in the fourt<^Dlli y«^^ itf

his Mtijosty's reign.

By order of Iho selectmen offtald Mcdfonl.

"Jno. BitADSTKerr, 1\>im-€l/Tk,**

A few years later we find tliat the departmentti of
the public service had increased in number:
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"March 5, 1C94: Caleb Brooks was cboaeo coDstable for the year

ensuing. Miyor Nathaniel Wn.le, Lieut. Peter Tufto and Stephen Wil-

lis wer» chosen selectmen. John Bradshaw and .lohn Hall, jiin., were

choeen surveytirs of highways. Knsign Stephen Francis wa« choecn

t.vthing-man. .lohu Hall, sen., and Lieut. Peter Tufts, were chosen

viewers of fences ; and Stephen Willis, town-clerk."

Again, in 1710 :

" .\t a town-meeting, legally convened in MedfortJ, March 6, 1710,

Lieut. Stephen Willis, chosen moderator ; Peter Soccoinb, chosen con

stable ; Kbenczer Brooks, John Hall and Samuel Wade, selectmen

;

John WhitMiore.jun., and Thoniiu) Dill, surveyors of highways; Ben-

jamin Peirceand Isaac Fiirwell, viewers of fences ;
Iclmboil Peirce and

John Albree, wortlcorders ; Nath. Peirce, hog constable. At said meet

ing, Lieiil. Thomas Willis was chosen tything-man and sealer of

weights anil measures. Al said meeting, the selectmen were chosen

assessors for this year."

Coining down to a later date we tiiul that the de-

partnientji of public service take a more modern com-

plexion :

"At a town-meeting legally convened at Medford, March 7, 1748,

Mr. Andrew Hall was chosen Moderator.

Dea. Benj. Willis, I'apt. Samuel Brooks, Lieut. Stephen Hall, Select-

men.

Th.-tmas Seccorab, Town-clerk.

Benj. Parker, Town treasurer.

Joseph Tufts, Thos. Brooks, Edward Hall, Assessors.

Stephen Willis, chosen Constable, refused to serve, and paid £10, old

tenor.

Francis Whitmore, 2d Constable, but refused to serve, and paid £|p,

old tenor.

Samuel Reeves, 3d Constable. He refused to serve, and paid £10, old

tenor.

Samuel Page, hired to serve as Constable, for £25, old tenor.

Jonathan Hall, Henry Fowle, Tithing-men.

Stephen Bradshaw, Liejit. John Francis, Stephen Greenleaf, Survey-

ors of Highways.

Samuel Brooks, jnn., William Tufts, John Hall, Fence-viewers.

Stephen Creenleaf, John Bishop, Ebenezer Francis, Hog-reeves.

John Tufts, Jacob Polly, Thomas Brooks, Wood-corders.

Jonathan Watson, Capt. Sanil. Brooks, Surveyors of Boards and

Timber.

Sanujel Reeves, Pound-keeper.

.Santuel Francis, Benjamin Tufts, Haywards, or Field-drivers.

Simon Bradshaw, Joseph Tufts, Deer-reeves.

Dea. Thomas Hall, Sealer of Leather.

Benjamin Parker, Sealer of Weights and Measnres.

Stephen Bradshaw, Grand juror.

Andrew Hall, Esq., Capt. Samuel Brooks, Lieut. Stephen Hall, jun.,

Zechariah Poole, Ebenezer Brooke, a committee to manage the affair of

obtaining some part of the lands now belonging to Charlestown, with

the inhabitants thereon.

Joseph Tufts, Lieut. .Stephen Hall, jun., Thomas Brooks, a Comnn"ttee

to audit the Town-treasurer's accounts for the year past, 1747, and the

town's account likewise.

The inhabitants of Medford took a deep interest in

the rights secured by the charter. In 1732 the town

voted that "it was their desire that their representa-

tive should act with the greatest caution, and stand

for the defence of the privileges granted us by his

Majesty in the royal Charter."

The town maintained a thoroughly patriotic atti-

tude in the stirring events which immediately pre-

ceded the Revolution, and from time to time entered

vigorous protest against the oppressive acts of the

British Government. After the passage of the Stamp
Act (Oct. 21, 1765), the inhabitants of Medford held

a public meeting and gave open expression to their

sense of its unconstitutionality and injustice. A
remonstrance, addressed to their representative, was

adopted, in which they denounce the Stamp Act as

"this most grievous of all acts, wherein a complica-

tion of those burdens and restraints are unhappily

imposed which will undeniably deprive ua of those

invaluable liberties and priviliges which we, as free-

born Britons, have hitherto enjoyed. . . . Therefore

we seriously enjoin it upon you, its our repre.sentative,

that you be no ways aiding and assisting in the e.'ie-

cution of said act."

That the town was in full sympathy with the action

of Boston in resisting the importation of taxed tea is

proved by the following vote, pa.ssed December 31,

1772:

" Voted that the thanks of the town of Medford be given to the re-

spectable inhabitants of the town of Boston for their patriotic care and

vigilance (manifest on several occasions) in endeavoring to preserve our

civil constitution from innovation, and to maintain the same inviolate.

And we do assure them that onr assistance shall not be wanting in the

use of all such law fuL proper measures as shall be thought expedient to

be adopted for the preservation of our liberties, civil and religious."

A little later they expressed their sentiments upon

the same subject in a series of resolutions adopteil in

town-meeting. A single extract will show their spirit:

"That we will exert ourselves, and join with our American brethren,

in adopting and prosecuting all legal and proper measures to discour-

age and prevent the landing, storing and vending and using those teas

among us ; and that whosoever shall aid or assist said In<lia Company,

their factors or servants, in either landing, storing or selling the same,

does a manifest injury to his country, and deserves to be treated with

severity and contempt.

" That we are ready at all times, in conjunction with our .\merican

brethren, as loyal subjects, to risk our lives and fortunes in the service

and defense of His Majesty's person, crown and dignity ; and also, as a

free people, in asserting and maintainiug inviolate our civil and reli-

gious rights and privileges against all opposers whatever."

A company of Medford men, fifty-nine in number,

under the command of Capt. Isaac Hall, took part in

the engagements at Concord and Lexington, and one

of them, William Polly, was killed. The records of

the town show that throughout the Revolution, Med-

ford stood ready to make all sacrifices to bring the

war to a successful conclusion, and we find frequent

entries touching special taxation to meet the expenses

of the war, the raising of the town's quota of men,

and care for the families of the absent soldiers.

Besides furnishing its full quota of men to the Con-

tinental Army, Medford contributed three officers who

rendered distinguished service to the patriot cause.

Col. John Brooks (afterwards Goveinor of Massa-

chusetts) was born in Medford, May, 1752, where he

early engaged in the study of medicine under Dr.

Simon Tufts, and on acquiring his profession, settled

at Reading. He had a natural fondness for military

exercises, and held the position of major in the Col-

onial militia. He commanded a compstny of minute-

men on the 19th of April, and was active in his pur-

suit of the British troops. He received the commis-

sion of major in the Continental Army, and assisted

in fortifying the heights of Dorchester. He was pro-

moted to the rank of Lieutenant-Colonel of the

Eighth Massachusetts Regiment, the practical com-

mand devolving upon him, owing to the sickness of
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the Colonel. He distinguished himself by covering

the retreat of the army at White I'laiiis, and the value

of his service was arknowledgwl liy Washington,

whose esteem and confidence lie liekl unto the end.

He was a proficient in military tactics, to the study

of which he had closely applied himself, and the reg-

iment he commanded was distinguisbod for the

superiority of its discipline. Wlicii Haron Steuben

was appointed inspector-general of the army, Colonel

Brooks was, by the order of Gen. Washington, asso-

ciated with him in the duty of intrinlucing a uniform

system of tactics into the army. His gallant conduct

at Saratoga was especially marked. At the head of

his regiment, he stormed the entrenchments on the

right flank of the enemy, and maintained bis position

against all attempts to dislodge him. This action

compelled Burgoyne to change his position, and con-

tributed in no small degree to his final surrender. At

the close of the war he settled in Medford, and once

more engaged in the practice of his profession. He
was elected (governor of the Comnionwealtb in ISKi,

and held the office for seven successive terms. The
purity of his character, and the eminent service be

had rendered his country and State, as a soldier and

civilian, gained for him universal esteem. He died

in 1825.

Col. Ebenezer Francis, born in Medford, in 1748,

raised and commanded the Eleventh Massachusetts

Regiment. He fell mortally wounded while engaged

in a skirmish with British troops, at Hubbardton, near

Whitehall, N. Y. A contemporary record says of

him :
" No officer so distinguished for his military

accomplishuients and regular life its he. His conduct

in the field is spoken of in the highest terms of ap-

plause.''

John Francis, a brother of Col. Ebenezer Francis,

was adjutant in his brother's regiment, and dis-

tinguished himself by his bravery at Hubbardton.

He was wounded at Saratoga, and acquitted himsell

with honor through his six years' term of service Iti

the Revolutionary army.

Jledford has remained true to the patriotic tradi-

tions of the Revolution throughout its later history.

It furnished its full quota of soldiers to the national

armies in the War of 1812. Lieut. John Brooks, a

son of Governor Brooks, was killed in the battle on

Lake F>ie. .

In the Civil War, the town of Medford came uj) to

the full level of its duty. It furnished two full com-

panies to the Union army. At the outbreak of the

Rebellion the town made a quick response to the call

for troops for the defence of the capital. The Law-

rence Light Guard, Company E, Fifth Massachusetts

Regiment, under the command of Capt. .Idlin Ilutcliius,

rendered valuable service as three months' volunteers.

In August, 1862, the company enlisted for three years,

and as Company C, Thirty-ninth Regiment, Massachu-

setts Volunteers shared the varied fortunes of the

Army of the Potomac. The regiment served with

great credit until the close of the war. In September,
18()2, another town company, the Meilford Lij^lil In-

fantry, Capt. Charles Currier, urguni/.ed fur that pur-

pose, enlisted for nine monlliH, and lut Company K,

Fifth Regiment Massat^iUHctts Vcdunlcers, look hon-

orable part with the regiment in the military opera-

tions in North Carolina.

During the war, Medford furnished a large nuniber

of men to other organi/alions. According l« .Mr.

Usher, eleven calls for men were made upon llio

town, and the whole number brought by the t<iwn

into the field was 7(>it.

As with all the early New England neltlemenlH,

the narratives of the ecclesiastical and the civil his-

tory of Medford are closely interwoven. For many
years after ito getllement, the town had, except for

brief intervals, no settled ministry. Mr. JameM
Noyes, a graduate of Oxford, came to Boston in Ut'.U,

and "was immediately called to preach at Mystic,

which he did for nearly one year." After his de-

parture, the town appears to have depended upon llic

occasional ministrations of tin- clergymen <>f the

neighborhood, and, having contributed to tlie gencrnl

fund raised for the purpose, doubtless enjoyed its

share of the clerical service rendered to the infant

settlements by Rev. George I'hillips and Rev. John

Wilson. In 1()',I2, Jlr. John Hancock, grandfather of

the patriot, was engaged as a preaclii^r, but be re-

mained only a few months. It would appear from

the town records that, in 1G'.>4, a subscription Wiis

raised for the support of a minister. His board wa.s

fixed at five shillings a week. In 1698, the town

hired Mr. licnjamin Woodbridge, of Charle-stown, to

preach for six months, and the connection con-

tinued, in some sort, for a period of ten years. He
seems never to have been regularly "settled" over

the parish, and the record of his ministry ia one of

constant bickering and disagreement between pastor

and people. Their dilfereuces were referred t<j emi-

nent clergymen, anil were brought before ecclesiasti-

cal councils, fi)r arbitration and settlement ; but Mr.

Woodbridge held a most tenacious grasp upon his

position, and it was not till 171)8 that the connection

was dissolved. He died in Medford in 1710, and,

despite the long-standing contention, it is pleasant to

record that the town made liberal provision for bis

funeral, which was attended by the President of

Harvard College ami a good representation of the

neighboring dignitaries.

In 1696, the town built it« first meeting-house "on

the land of Mr. Thomas Willis, near the gale by

Marble Brook, on a rock on the north siile of llie

Wobuni road." It was a small and unpretending

structure, "seven and twenty feet long, four and

twenty feet wide, and fifteen feet between joints." A
second church building wiis erected in 1727, near the

site of the first, which bad become loo small for the

population.

In 1713, Medford entered upon a more prosperous
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period of its church history. Rev. Aarou Porter, a

graduate of Harvard College, was settled over the

parish, and he reiiiaitied until his death in 1722. He
married a niece of Chief .Tustice Sewall, and is hon-

orably mentioned in his " Oiaiy."

The successor of Mr. Porter was the Rev. Ebenezer

Turell, whose ministry lasted from 1724 to 1778, a

period of tifty-four years. Mr. Turell was a fine

type of the oM colonial clergyman, dignified, yet

social and kindly. It is recorded to his credit that

he preached a sermon in favor of inoculation, at a

time (1730) when there was a strong popular preju-

dice against the new practice. By his will he freed

his slave Worcester, and left fifty pounds for his

maintenance, in case he should need it.

After the death of Mr. Turell, in 1778, Rev. David

Osgood, who had, four years before, received settle-

ment as his colleague, assumed the sole charge of the

pastorship, which he held until his de?.th in 1822—

a ministry of forty-eight years. Dr. Osgood was a

divine of considerable local celebrity, and was a man

of strong character and convictions. He was an

ardent Federalist, and did not hesitate to give free

e.xpression to his political opinions in the pulpit.

Some of his utterances provoked sharp comment

from the contemporary partisan press. With his

pastorate, the history of the First Parish, as the only

church in ;\[edf(>rd, comes to a close. The religious

fermentation which prevailed in the first quarter of

the present century in the churches of New England,

extended itself to Medford. After the installation of

Rev. Andrew Bigelow, Mr. Osgood's successor, in

1823, a considerable number of the members of the

church, holding the old theological views, seceded,

and established the Second Congregational (Trinitar-

ian) Church. The First Parish has maintained its

connection with the Unitarian body ever since.

The Second Congregational Church, composed, as

already mentioned, of those who withdrew from the

First Parish, was established in 1824, and erected a

church edifice on High Street near the Public Square.

Rev. Aaron Warner was the first pastor. As an out-

growth from this society, the Third Congregational

Church was formed in 1847, and built a house of wor-

ship on Salem Street. The new society took the

name of the Mystic Church. In 1874, the Second

and Third Congregational Churches were consolidat-

ed, and the reunited bodies have continued to wor-

ship in the house on Salem Street.

The Universalist Society was organized in 1831,

and Rev. Wiuslow Wright was installed as its first

pastor.

The Methodist Episcopal Church of Medford was

incorporated in 1828, and built a chapel on Cross

Street. Since then the society has built two churches

on Salem Street, the second of which it now occupies.

The First Baptist Church was incorporated in 1842,

under the pastorship of Rev. George W. Bosworth,

and worshipped for thirty-one years in a chapel on

Salem Street. In 1873 the society erected a new
church edifice on Oakland Street.

The Grace (Episcopal) Church was organized in

1848, under the rectorship of Rev. David Greene

Haskins. Its elegant .stone church on High Street,

the gift of Mrs. Gorham Brooks, was erected in 1868.

In West Medford, the Congregational Church was

organized in 1872, and the Trinity Methodist Society

in the same year.

The first Catholic Church edifice in Medford was

built in 1885, on Salem Street, on land which is now
a part of Maiden, and was designed for the use of the

Catholics of both towns. In 187fi, the Catholics of

Medford purchased the church building of the

Second Congregational Society, on High Street,

ivhich is now the place of worship of a distinctively

Medford parish.

True to the teachings of the New England fathers,

Medford was from the first a liberal supporter of the

cause of popular education. In the earliest records

of the town we find that a town-meeting was called,

"to see if the town will have a school kept for three

months." The question was decided affirmatively,

and it was voted that " this school shall be free." In

1719, the town voted that the school continue during

four months, and later, in 1720, it was voted to build

a school-house ; up to that time it is probable that the

schools were kept iu private houses. The same year

two schools were organized in the town. " Mr. Caleb

Brooks was engaged to keep the West School for three

months, at two pounds per month ; Mr. Henry Davi-

son, the East, at the same price." In 1730, the town

voted to build a new school-house, and to set up a

reading and writing school for six months.

The following extracts from the town records, as

given by Mr. Brooks, will best show the progressive

measures adopted by the town for the advancement

of education :

March 11, 1771 :
" Vntod to buiM the Rchool-hoiise upon the land be-

hind the meeting-hoiiHe, on the north west corner of tlie land."

1770: " Voted that the niapter instruct girls two Iiours after the ho^'s

are dieniiseed."

April .^, 1790 : A committee was chosen to inquire " if it be e.xpedient

for girls to attend the master's school." The committee wisely recom-

mended the aflirmative ; whereupoc, at the next town-meeting, it was

" voted that girls have liberty to attend the master-school during three

eiumnier months."

June yn, 1794 :
" Voted that females attend the master-school sepa-

rately, from the 1st of May to the let of ()ctober, four ^liotn-s each day,

and that the boys attend four hours each day,—Thursday and Saturday

afternoons being vacations," Same date :
" Voted, that no children,

whether male or female, be admitted into the public school under the

ageof seven years, nor tlien unless they have been previously taught

to read tlie English language hy spelling the same ; and as this regula-

tion will probably exclude many who have heretofore attended, there-

fore it is

** Voted, th.at the selectmen are hereby empowered to pay echool-mis-

tresses for instructing those childieu who are excluded frour the piildic

town-school, and whose parents are unableto p.ay such extra expenBee.

"And lis the great end of the public school is to furnish the youth

with such a measure of Ijnowledge that tliey nuiy be able to read and

write with propriety, and understand so mucli aritlilnetic as may lit

them for the common transactions of life ; therefore, Voted, that the

selectmen and school-com mittee be desired from time to time to make

such regulations in the school as may test answer the above purposes."
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In 1818, when Medford had 202 ftimlliw, the ax|>«DiM of tbeaohooU
were aa follows;

Master for one year, at J20 per month S240
Boiinl for the eanio, at S3 per week . . ; 160

Master, four inoutliK, ut Slit* per niontb 80

Boaril for tliL'eiiuio, atS3 per week fi2

Three female teachers, twenty-tlve weeks each, at 84 . . . 3(Kt

Rent fur echool-houses for female schools 45

»873

Willi the advHiice of the jircsent leutury, broader

views began to prevail in Massachusetts as to tlietrue

scope of our system of popuhir education, and Med-
ford took an honorable place in the general niovenient

for improved methods in school nianagenienl, and a

more liberal expenditure of money in that behalf

At a town-meeting held in 1835, a special committee

was chosen " to inquire into the ditlerent and best

methods of conducting public-schools, and to report

what improvements, what number and kind of schools

are necessary in this town to i]ualify every scholar

who desires an education, for the active duties of

life.'' This committee made such recommendations

as led to the immediate grading of the schools, and

to the establishment of a high school. It is believed

that this high school was " the second or third organ-

ized in the State for the free co-education of the sexes

in the higher branches of learning." The equipment

of the school in the early period of its existence, was

on a humble scale, although classical study had from

the first a recognized place in the curriculum. Since

then, the standard of qualification for admission has

been gradually raised, and every opportunity afforded

to the youth of the town for thorough preparation for

college and the technological schools.

It is to the credit of Medford that, for a long term

of years, she has held a place in the van of the towns

of the Commonwealth as far as regards her expendi-

ture of money for the support of public schools.

During the early part of the present century, Med-

ford was the seat of several private schools, two of

which deserve especial notice. Dr. Luther Stearns

(H. C. 1791), for many years conducted a classical

boarding-school for boys and girls. His school was

attended by children from the first families of New
England, and enjoyed a deservedly high repute. Dr.

Stearns was the father of George L. Stearns, the dis-

tinguished philanthnipist. Mr. John Angler (H. C.

1821), opened a school of similar character in 1821,

and conducted it with great success until 1841, when

he retired. His school was frequented by pupils

from every part of the country and from the West

Indies, and many of them rose to distinction in after

life.

In connection with her educational establishment,

Medford may claim the honor of being one of the first

towns in the State to maintain a free public library.

As early as 1825, the "Medford Social Library" was

founded by a society whose purpose was " to form a

collection of books strictly useful, promotive of piety

and good morals, and for the diffusion of valuable in-

52-iii

formation." The library wan maiiiUiincd by annual
assessmenta on its slmrehoUlere. In 186C, the trua-

lees of the Social Library, in couforniily with
a vote of the stockholdem, traMsfcrred the collection,

numbering iri") volumes, to the town "an the foun-

dation of a permanent town library." tsince tljnl

time the town has made liberal uiinuul upprupriii-

tions for the support and increase of the library, now
known as the Medford I'ublic Library. In IHlt), Mr.
Thatcher Magoun presented to tlio town for llio uim«

of the library the mansion house on High Street, for-

merly occupied by his father, with luiid adjoin-

ing. He also gave five ihousund dollars for littinn

and furnishing the building for its uses. The .Ma-

goun mansion occupies a beautiful and slati-ly nile,

and is architecturally well suited l<) the purpoaca to

which it is devoted. Here the town has found con-

venient accommodations for its growing rollection of

books. The reading-room is supplieil with the be»it

reviews and periodicals of the day, ami contains a

valuable reference library, which is always accessible

to the public. The library now contains about 12,000

volumes, and the annual circulation of books ia over

27,000.

Tufts College occupies a site just within the south-

ern border of i^ledford, on a beautiful eminence, for-

merly called Walnut Hill, but now known as Odlege
Hill. The college grounds are a portion of a tract of

land one hundred acres in extent, the gift of Mr.
Charles Tufts, of Somerville, for whom the college

was named. The first foundation of Tufts C<jllegc

was the sum of $100,000, subscribed by I'niversal-

ists in various parts of the United States. Rev.

Hosea Ballou (2(1) was elected the first president of

the college in 18G1, and rendered invaluable service

to the infant institution until his death in 18G1.

During the oflicial term of his successor, Kev. Alonzo

A. Miner, D.D., great additions were made to the

funds of the college through gills and endowments of

friends. Sylvanus Packard pave generously to the

institution in his lifetime, and bojueathed to it a sum
amounting to about $300,000. Dr. William J.

Walker was also a munificent benefactor, giving to it

upwards of $200,000. Other liberal friends of the

college were Dr. Oliver Dean, who contributed $90,-

000 to its funds, and Thomas A. Goddard, its first

treasurer, who, in the infancy of the institution, when

its income was small, met all deficiencies out of his

own pocket.

The Divinity School of the college waa established

in 1869, and Rev. Thomas J. Sawyer, I'ackard Pro-

fessor of Theology, was placed at its head. A large

number of students have graduated from the school

since its formation, and are occupying some of the

most prominent and infiuential pulpits of their de-

nomination in the United States.

Dr. Miner resigned the presidency of the college in

1875 and Rev. Elmer H. Ohapin, a graduate of the

college, was elected to fill the vacancy. Under his direc-
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lion the aftaire of the institution have prospered, and

its curriuuhiin has been ^'really extended. Through

the generosity of friends of the college, several fine

buildings have been ereeted for its use during the

last few years. The Goddard Chapel, erected out of

funds provided by Mrs. Mary A. Goddard, is a stone

structure, and its graceful campanile is a pleasing

feature in a distant view of the college buildings.

The Harnuni Museum of Natural History, founded by

Mr. riiiueas T. liariinm, occupies the fine luiilding

given by him to the college. Its large exhibition

hall contains an excellent collection of mammals,

birds, fishes and reptiles, the gift of the founder.

With its growing endowments and the reputation

deservedly won for the institution by its able and

earnest-minded corps of instructors, Tufts College

has an assured field of usefulness open before it.

Previous to the present century, the occupations of

the people of Medford were chiefly agricultural, and

mechanical industries were confined to the supply of

local needs. Even up to the present time Medford

has been very little engaged in manufactures. A
very larire proportion of the population finds its occu-

pation in Boston, and Medford is rather a place of

residence than of trade.

Owing to the extensive deposits of clay in the town,

brick-making has been carried on from the time of

its settlement, and the work done in the past has left

permanent marks upon the fields in many parts of

the town. The business is still prosecuted in South

Medford.

A distillery was built in Medford as early as 1735_

and it was followed by the erection of others. From

its superior quality, perhaps due to the water used in

its manufacture, " Medtbrd rum " has acquired more

than a local celebrity. The business is still success-

fully carried on, on the site of the old distillery.

During the first three-quarters of the present cen-

tury, the great industry of Medford was ship-build-

ing, and Medford-built ships enjoyed a high reputa-

tion throughout the commercial world. The low

hanks of the Mystic afforded many favorable loca-

tions for ship-yards, and the ships once launched

found an easy passage down the deep tide-watera of

the river to the wharves of Boston, where they were

rigged and fitted out. As early as 1631, Governor

Winthrop built a vessel of thirty tons on the banks

of the Mystic, and the little craft received the name

of the " Blessin« of the Bay." This was probably

the first vessel built in New England, and perhaps, in

the United States. In 1632, Mr. Cradock built a ship

of one hundred tons register, and, a year later, one of

two hundred tons. Small vessels, of which we have

no record, doubtless continued to be built on the

Mystic, but it was not until the beginning of the pre-

sent century that the business assumed considerable

proportions.

In 1802, Mr. Thacher Magoun, who has been

styled " the pioneer of ship-building in Medford,"

established himself in a ship-yard on Riverside Ave-

nue, a little below Park Street. Ho at once com-

menced the construction of ships, many of them of

large re>;ister for those days, and soon gained a rep-

utation for the excellence of his models and his skill

as a shipwright. Others engaged in the business,

among them Mr. Calvin Turner, " esteemed one of

the most skilful draughtsmen, as well as one of the

most faithful builders in New England. In the

course of seventy years 567 vessels, averaging 490

tons register, were built in Medford—an aggregate of

272,124 tons. Many of these ships were of a capacity

of more than a thousand tons, and one measured

two thousand tons. Some of the finest clippers that

sailed the ocean were Medford-built ships.

After the opening of the Civil War the business

of ship-building rapidly declined in Medford, as it

did throughout the United States. The large share

of the carrying trade of the world which this country

had enjoyed passed into other hands, and iron had
superseded wood in the construction of ships. The
last ship built in Medford was launched from the

ship-yard of Mr. Joshua T. Foster, and the pleasant

sound of the shipwright's busy hammer is no longer

heard on the Mystic. The tine class of American
mechanics, that once formed a substantial part of the

population of Medford, has largely disappeared

;

only a few representatives of the dead industry re-

main, and they have had to seek other employments

for support. But the town still holds in grateful re-

membrance the names of Magoun, Turner, Sprague,

James, Curtis, Fuller, Lapham, Foster, Stetson,

Waterman, Evvell, Cudworth and Taylor, the old

Medford masters in the noblest of all arts—the build-

ing of ships.

The population of Medford has not increased as

fast as some of the suburban towns of Boston, but it

has had, nevertheless, a steady and wholesome

growth. The following table gives the population at

successive periods :

—

»

lu 1763, Medford had 741 inliahitants ; 1776, 967 ; 1784, 981 ; 1790,

1U20;1800, 1U4; 181(1, 1443; 1820,1474; 1830,1753; 184(1, 2478 ; 1860,

.1749; 1855, 4603 ; 1860, 4831 ; 1865, 4839 ; 1870, 6717 ; 1876, 6J67 ; 1880,

7573; 1885, 9041 ; 1890, 11,105.

The valuation of the town in 1889 w.as .1!9,270,715.

To the lover of antiquity and its associations, Med-
ford presents peculiar attractions. Few towns in the

United States have preserved so many features con-

nected with the past, and it is a matter of regret that

under the hands of what is styled " modern improve-

ment," many of these are destined soon to pass away.

The old High Street of the town, lined with ancient

and substantial buildings, one of them dating back

to 1689, is fragrant with the memory of the early

time. The river upon which John Winthrop dwelt

winds its way through the lovely valley, and, north

and south, are the forest-crowned heights of the Mid-

dlesex Fells and the graceful slopes of Winter Hill.

The old "garrison" houses of the town are still
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standing. The Cradock House, in the eastern sec-

tion of the town, erected in 1684, is probably the old-

est house in English Aniericji. It has lately been
carefully restored by pious hands, and will remain as

a monument to the fathers of the settlement on Mas-
sachusetts IJay. The old Royall mansion, the seat of

Col. Isaac Koyall, colonial magnate and loyalist, still

remains one of the finest examples of the domestic

architecture of the early part of the bust century.

Such was and is " Old Medford," the home of kind-

ness and hospitality, and a noble type of the ancient

New England town.

CHAPTER LVI.

MARLBOROUGH,

Original Grant— Tudiajt Grant—First Meeting of Pioprietor*— Owners of
Hoiue Lots in IGGU

—

First Setllert—King Philip'a War—French and Indian

War.

The territory embraced within the present town
of Marlborough originally comprised a portion of the

town of Sudbury, which was granted in 1638. In

1656 a number of the leading citizens of Sudbury
presented the following petition to the General Court:

"To the Hon. Goveruor, Dep. Governor, Magistrates, and Uoputiea of

tlie General Court now assembled in Boston.

"The Humble Petition of several of tlie inhabitants of Sudbury,

whose names are here underwritten, showeth : That whereas your Peti-

tioners have lived divers yviiis in Sudbury, and God hath been pleosed

to increase our children, which are now diverse of theiu grown to man's
estate ; and wee, many of us, grown into years, so that wee ahould bee

glad to see them settled before the Lord take us away from hence, as

also God having given us some considerable quantity of cattle, so that

wee are so streightened that we cannot bo comtortahly subsist us could

be desired ; and some of us having taken some pains to view the country »

wee have found a place which lyeth westward about eight miles from
Sudbury, which wee conceive might be comfortable for our subsistence.

"It is therefore the humble request of your Petitioners to this Hon'd
Court, that you would bee pleased to grant unto us eight mites square,

or so much land as may containe to eight miles square, for to make a

Plantation.

"If it shall please this Hon'd Conrt to grant our Petition, it is further

then the request of your Petitioners to this Hon'd Court, that you will

be pleased to appoint Mr. Thomas I>anforth, or Liesteu"' Fisher to lay

out the hounds of the Plantation ; and wee shall satisfy those whom this

Hon'd Court shall please to employ in it. So apprehending this weighty

occasion, wee shall no further trouble this Hon'd Court, but shall ever

pray for your happiness.

" Edmund Rice, John Howe,

William Ward, John Bent, Sen'r,

Thomas King, John Maynard,

John Woods, Richard Newton,

Thomas Goodnow, Peter Bent,

John Ruddocke, Edward Bice."

Henry Rice,

The General Court under date of May 14, 1656,

replied as follows :

" In answer to the Petition of the Rfores;ud inhabitants of Sudbury,

the Court judgeth it meete to grant them a jiroportion of bind six miles,

or otherwise in some convenient form equivalent iliereunto, at the dis-

cretion of the Committee, in the place desired : provided it hinder no

former grant ; that there be a town settled with twenty or more families

within three years, so as an able ministry may bee there maintained.

"Audit is ordered that Mr. Edward Jackson, Capt. Eloazer Lusher,

Ephraim Child, with Mr. Thomas Danforth or Leisteu"' Fisher, shall bee,

and hereby are appointed a Committee to lay out the bounds thereof,

and make return to thu nsxt Court of ElecUon. or •!*« Uje ctuii to bM
told."

This grant embraced 20,419 acrt»«.

A portion of th's territory, however, had alrendy
been granted to the IndiaiiH, May 3, 1(m4, hs followd :

" Upon the Petition of Mr. Kliot, in behalf of
the Indians, liberty is granted to the Indians of
Ockooeangansett, being eight niilw* we«t ..f Sudbury,
to make a town there, provided it do not prejudice
any former grant, nor that lliey shall dispone of it

without leave first had and obtained of this Court,"
This grant contained tiOOO acres.

At the tirst meeting of the proprietors held Sept.

25, 1656,

'•It Is concluded uod ordert'd, That nil y< dot* uko up lotu In y' PUn-
tation shall pay to all public cluirgew yi shiill »rl»« u|»on y« PUuuilon.
according to their Houm Lotts, and IhomBclveii to hr rMldt-nts Ui«ro
within two years, or set A man in, thut y Tuwii •hull uj.prov*. of. ur ©1b«
to Ioos« their lolls ; hut if G.hI shall (aku away any uiuu by dmUi, lucU
A one hath liberty lo glvo his lolt to whom ho will, tbU ordor to the
contntry notwithstuudlng."

The same year William Ward, Thomas King, John Kuddocko MOd
John Howe, " Were chosen to put the Airuin of tlm said now I'UdUUod
in an orderly Way,"

In September, 1657, the following names aUo ap-
pear on their list:

William Kerly, John Itediat, John Johnson, Thomas IUc«, Solomon
Johnson, Samuel Rico, Teter King, rhrlstupher Hanintor.

" It is oi-dered that all such as lay daymo to any tnlcreat Id the nvw
Plaution at Whipsuppeni6ke are to in-rfect their hoiwe loU by tho Zltth

of March next ensuing, or else loose all their Inlurtvt Id tho ftforvMld

Plantation.

*' It is ordered that every one y> hath A Lott In y« aforemid PlaoU-
tion, shall pay twenty shillings by the 2.*>tli of March etuuing, or •!•• to

loose all Ic^al interest in y" aforesaid Plantation."

" Ata meeting of y« iidiahitanta and proprietors of this Plantation y*

Gth of y« xi month, lfi:.9,

" It is ordered that A Ilatc bee made for difTraylng and MtisfylnR y«

charge for Laying out thfs plantation and other publlcke cbargea to be

collected of the inhabitants and proprieton.

" It is ordered, That every person y* claims any interest In the town
of Marlborough, shall pay to all publicko charge, liolh for the nilalsler

and for all other town charges that have arisen about the plantation lo

this day from the beginning thereof, arconling to their proportion lo y"

rate now presented with said proportion duo ; every pepMrn to jMiy ai or

before the Idth of November next onsuini;. or else loiwe all legal lotorett

in the aforesaid plantation ; that is to iwy, four pence an acrt) for each

acre of their House Lotts to the Minister, and three i>eace for all the

estate that hath been kept or brought to keep, being found In the town
or about the town ; and nine pence an acre for every acre of their Houae
Lotta to town charges, till all the debts that are due from the town to

them that have been employed by the town or the plantation thereof.

"Signed :

*' Edmund Rice, Thomas King, Solomon Johnrion, Richard Newton,

William >Vard, Thomas (ioodnow, William Kerly, Henry Kerly, John
Howe, Christopher Banister, John Johnwu, John Ruddocke."
" It is ordered that there hoe a rate uindu (Tor Mr. Willl&m Rrlmsmcvd,

Minister, to bee collected of the inhabitants and proprietors of the town

(for six months) at the rate of four pence per acre uptm Houro I<otta,

and thiee pence per Pound upon catde."

The following is a list of owners of house-lots, 16(50 :

Edmund Rico, William Ward, John Ruddocke, Thomas iloodnow,

Joseph Rice, Samuel Rice, Cliriatopber Ihitiif«ter. Thomas King, Williair

Kerly, Solomon Johut^n, John Johnson, Richard Nowion, John Howe,

Sr., John Howe, Jr., Henry Kerly, Richard Damea, TboniaA Ric<t, JuM>ph

Holmes, Samuel Uowe, Andrew Ilelchor, Obadiah Ward, Kdward Rice,

Richard Ward, John Woods, Sr., John Maynanl. IVler King, Henjandn

Rice, a minister, Peter Bent, John Bellows, Abraham Howe, Thomas
(loodnow, Jr., John Rutler, John Barrett, Johu ItMlat, a blacksmltli,

Henry Axtell, John Newton.
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The first white settler of Marlborough was John

Howe, in 1657 or '58. Other early settlers were Ed-

mund Rice, William Wiird, John Woods, Sr., John

Maynard, .lonatlian Johnson, .John Kuddocke, Chris-

topher r.anistcr, John Barrett, Abraham Howe, Ed-

ward Rice, Thomas Rice, William Kerly, Richard

Ward, Samuel Brigham, Thomas Hrigham, John

Bent, Richard Barnes, Abraham Williams, Thomas

Goodnow.

PlONEKKS.—Among the early founders of Marl-

borough were the following :

Adams, Alcocke, Ale.Kauder, Allen, Amsden, An-

gler, Arnold, Axtell, Badcock, Baker, Banister, Bar-

ber, Barker, Barnard, Barnes, Barston, Bartlett, Bar-

rett, Bayley, Braman, Bellows, Bent, Bender, Bigelow,

Bond, Bowker, Boyd, Breck, Brigham, Brown, Bruce,

Bush, fhurcli, Cogswell, tVitting, Cranston, Crosby,

Cunningham, (^urtis. Darling, Davis, Dawson, Dex-

ter, Eager, Eames, Edwards, Bay, Feiton, Forbush,

Foagate, Fosket, Foster, Franklin, Garfield, Gates,

Gibbs, (iibbon, Gleason, Goddard, Gold, Golding,

Goodale, Goodenow, Gott, Gore, Gould, Green, Ha-

ger, Haggitt, Hale, Hall, Hapgood, Harrington, Har-

thorn, Hayden, Hemenway, Hinds, Holden, Holland,

Holyoke, Horn, Hosmer, John Howe, Abraham Howe,

Hudson, Hunter, Hunting, Jewell, Johnson, Jones,

Joslin, Kerley, Keyes, Kidder, Knap, Knights, Lee,

Lennard, Loring, Lyscom, Mann, Mansou, Marble,

Martin, Mason, Matthews, Maynard, Mixer, Moore,

Morris, Morse, Moseman, Munroe, Newton, Oakes,

Packard, Parker, Parminter, Perry, Percival, Peters,

Phelps, Potter, Pratt, Prescott, Priest, Ray, Rediat,

Reed, Rice, Ripley, Robinson, Ruddock, Rugg, Rus-

sell, Sampson, Sawin, Sawyer, Seaver, Sbattuck,

Sherman, Smith, , Snow, Souther, Stanly, Stevens,

Stewart, Stone, Stow, Str.atton, Taylor, Tainter, Tem-
ple, Thaping, Thomas, Tomblin, Townsend, Trow-

bridge, Vockary, Wait, Walcutt, Walker, Walkup,
Ward, Warren, Weeks, Wells, Wheeler, Wheelock,

Whitcomb, Whitney, Wilder, Wilkins, Williams,

Wilson, Winchester, Wjtherbee, Witt, Wood, Woods,

Wyman.
The following were residents of the town in 1770:

Samuel Brigliam, Uriah Brigham, George Brigham, Ithamar Brigham,

Paul Brigham, Ephraiin Brigham, Joseph Brigham, Benjamin Brigham,

Asa Brigham, Solomon Brigham, Caleb Brigham, Peter Bender, Job

Oarley, Adonijah Church, Jonathan Clefard, EzeUiel Clisby, Jacob Fei-

ton, Silas Gates, William Goddard, John Gleason, Joseph Gleason, Eli/.ur

Holyoke, Joseph Howe, Joseph Howe, Jr., Samuel Sherman, David

Smith, Jolio Smith, Nathaniel Smith, Samuel Smith, Manning Sawin,

Jason Sherman, Joseph Townsend, Jr., Jonathan Temple, John War-
ren, John Weeks, Francis Weeks, Samuel Witt, Samuel Witt, Jr., Dan-

iel Ward, John Woods, Josiah WilUins, Joseph Wheeler, Alpheus

Woods, Joseph Williams, Jabez Walcutt, Thomas Walkup, Benjamin

Whitcomb, Josiah Witt, Solomon Bowker, Benjamin Wilder, Jonathan

W'eeks, Samuel Hunting, Josiah Howe, Wilherbee Whitney, John
Priest, Jr., Benjamin Sawin, Thomas Berry, Charles Whitcomb, John
Baker, John Whitney, Amos Edmands, Jacob Heminway, Aaron Eames,

.John Shattuck, William Speakman, G. William Speakman, Joseph Dar-

ling, John Huntford, John Bannester, Solomon Barnard, Daniel Barnes,

Daniel Barnes, Jr., Solomon Barnes, John Barnes, Moses Barnes, Aaron
Barnes, Henry Barnes, Jonathan Barnes, Jr., John Barnes, Jr., Edward
Barnes, Mary Seaman, Noah Boaman, Peter Bent, Jonas Bartlett, Wil-

liam Boyd, Abuah Berry, Ivory Bigelow, Jonatlian Bigelow, Joel Bige-

low, Noah Bigelow, William Bigelow, Thaddeus Howe, Phinehas Howe,

Artemas Howe, Elizabeth Howe, Abraham Howe, Asji Howe, Eleazer

Howe, Luther Howe, Luke Howe, Klisha Hudson, Simon Howe, Ktisha

Hedge, Moses Howe, Lucy Howe, Noali Howe, Edward Johnson, Heze-

kiah Maynard, Ichabod .Jones, /.accheus Maynard, Solomon Newton,

Kzekiel Newton, Joliu Parker, Josiah I'arker, Andrew Bice, Jabez-

Rice, Jonah Kice, Zerubbabel liice, Abraham Rice, Jesse Rice, Gershoni

Rico, Khenezer Richard, John Richard, Joseph StrattoD, Jonathan

Stratton, Samuel Stratton, Rediat Stewart, Josiah Stow, Samuel Stan-

hope, Robert Sinclair, Jonas Temple, Jonathan Tainter, Abraham Wil-

liams, Larkin Williams, George Williams, William Williams, James

Woods, Moses Woods, Peter Wood, Samuel Ward, Silas Wheeler, Caleb

Winchester, Reuben Ward, William Slack, Joshua Bayley, Joseph

Lamb, Jonathan Robinson, James Bowere, Samuel Curtis, Abraham
Amsden, Joseph Arnokl, Robert Baker, Winslow Brigham, Jonathan

Barnes, Fortunatus Barnes, Frederick Barnes, Thomas Bigelow, (Jershom

Bigelow, Timothy Bigelow, Jesse Bush, Itlicah Bush, .John Bruce, Wil-

liam Bruce, Samuel Bruce, Amasa Cranston, Abner Cranston, Thomas
Carr, Daniel Cook, Robert Cane, Timothy Cheney, John Demont, Ben-

jamin Dudley, Lucas Dunn, John Darling, Alexander Boyd, Hezekiah

Maynard, Stephen Hale, Samuel Phillips, Levi Fay, Ephraim Barber,

Francis Stevens, Samuel Havens, Jack Rice, Silas Carley, Moses Fay,

Samuel Ward, Silas Rice, John Dexter, Robert Eames, Robert Eames,

.Jr., Uriah Eager, Uriah Eager, Jr., Jonathan Eager, John Eager, Aaron

Eager, Nathaniel Faulkner, Archelaus Feiton, Nathan Goodale, Abel

Goulding, Phinehas Gates, John Gold, Nathaniel Gibbs, Abigail Hap-

good, Mary Hapgood, Peter Howe ,Seth Howe, Peter Howe, Jr., Thom-
as Howe, Jr., Ebenezer Hager, William Hager, Daniel Harrington,

James Harringtijn, Edward Hunter, Daniel Haydeu, Jacob Hale, Jacob

Harrington. John Maynard, Ebenezer fllaynard, Ebenezer Joslin, Na-

than Mann, Micali Newton, William Newton, Joshua Newton, Adonijah

.Newton, Benjamin Rice, John Randall, Jabez Rice, Jr., Nathan Reed,

Simon Stow, Samuel Stevens, Silas Jewell, Thomas Goodale, Jonathan

Loring, Josepli Lawes, Jonas Morse, William Morse, Jonas Morse, Jr.,

Stephen Blorse, Ephraiju Maynard, Ephraim Maynard, .Tr., John Priest,

Joseph Potter, Ephraim Potter, John Putnam, Abraham Randall, David

Rand, Thomas Stow, Samuel Stow, Josiah Stow, John Stow.

The largest tax-payers in Marlborough, 1770, were

Ephraim Brigham, Henry Barnes, Joseph Howe,
Peter Bent, Hezekiah Maynard and Zerubbabel Rice.

King Philip'sWar.—Marlborough,being a frontier

town, was exposed to the incursions ofthe Indians, and

prior to the breaking out of Philip's war a fort had

been erected at this point. A number of soldiers

were stationed here, and October 1, 1675, a meeting

of the following citizens was held to adopt measures of

defense

:

Rev. Mr. Brimsmead, Deacon Ward, Thomas King,

Solomon Johnson, Abraham Howe, John Howe, Sen.,

John Woods, Sen., Richard Newton, Abraham
Williams, Thomas Rice, John Johnson, Samuel

Rice, John Bellows, Nathaniel Johnson, John

Woods, Jr., Joseph Newton, Thomas Barnes, Josiah

Howe, John Maynard, John Rediat, John Fay,

Moses Newton, Richard Barnes, William Kerly and

James Taylor.

Garrisons were established at thehomes of William

Keely, John Johnson, Deacon Ward, Sergeant Wood,

Charles Williams, Joseph Rice, Simon Rice and

Peter Bent. Sunday, March 26, 1676, was a memora-

ble day for Marlborourgh. " No more alarm of raging

foes," says Mr. Hudson "disturbed the quiet ofthat Sab-

bath morning. The people assembled at the house

where prayer was wont to be made, and a fervent peti-

tion had been ofl'ered for their safety and protection. A
hymn of praise had been sung. Their spiritual leader.



MARLBOROUGH. 821

the Eev. Mr. Brimsmead, commenced his sermon, and
was dispensing to them the word of life, when he was

interrupted by the appalling cry
—

' The Indians are

upon us.' The confusion and dismay which ensued,

can be better imagined than described 1 The assem-

bly instantly broke up ; and the people made for the

neighboring garrison, where, with a single exception,

they all arrived in safety, just in season to elude the

savage foe. One of the worshipers (Moses Newton, a

son of Richard Newton, one of the thirteen original

proprietors of the town), to his honor be it recorded,

less moved by fear than by humanity, seeing an aged

and infirm female who could not move raindly from

the scene of danger, resolved to rescue her from im-

pending destruction, or perish in the attempt. In his

noble effort he succeeded, and brought her safely to

the garrison, though in so doing he received a ball in

his elbow, from the efi'ects of which he never fully

recovered.

" Being secured in the garrison, they were able to

defend themselves, but could art'ord no protection to

their property, much of which was destroyed, or

carried away. Thirteen of their dwellings, and eleven

barns, were laid in ashes ; their fences thrown down

;

their fruit-trees hacked and peeled ; their cattle killed

or maimed ; so that their ravages were visible for

many years. But what would be more distressing to

our pious ancestors, than any other loss of mere prop-

erty, was that of their meeting-house, and the house

they had erected for their faithful minioter—both of

which shared in the general conflagration. There is

a common tradition, that the Indians set fire to Mr.

Brimsmead's house, and that the flames communi-

cated with the meeting-house which stood near by,

and that that was the cause of its being burnt. This

might have been the case ; but the Indians, engaged

in a war of extermination, had no more regard for the

white man's religion than for the white man's life,

which they were taking every measure to destroy.

And it is possible, that the fact of this house being

located upon the Indian planting field, which gave

some ofl'ense to the Indiana, might have been one

cause of its destruction.

" Subsequent to this attack upon Marlborough, the

Indians, about three hundred strong, who undoubt-

edly felt that they were masters of this region of coun-

try, retired to the woods not far distant, and encamped

for the night. Lieut. Jacobs, of the garrison at Marl,

borough, conceived the bold design of surprising them

in their camp. Accordingly, on the night of the

27th, with a party of his men, and a portion of the

citizens of the town, he attacked them when they

were wrapped in profound slumber, and killed and.

wounded about forty, without sustaining any loss

himself."

French and Indian War.—During this war

Marlborough was in a constant state of alarm, and

twenty-six garrisons were organized as follows :

1. Ottpt. Bom't OarrUou: 8<unu>1 Siaveni, Juua Hows, Juuthui
Howo, Sanmul Stow, Jonatbiin Morso.

2. Mr. Ilrtek't Ourriton.

3. Oipl. Kerlji't Gurruun: Nattiiinl.>l Junlln, Jofcpli M».VD«nl, l>i>».

Woods, Niitlmniul Jobiuon, Tliuiuiui Aiiixluii, Simon Qaln, Jiwpb
.Johnson.

4. Capl. Briiiham'$ GatrUon: I'eler Plliii|ilun, Dsnjuuln MIi<t.
5. laniic AmsiUii't dirrium: Thoiiiu Newton, HiirgMUl Mayiuinl,

James Wooils, Ailum Martin, In. Tgnlpl^ Di'aoon NowUin, Julin

Amedon,

6. la. /foiro's Qarrimn: MuM4 Nowlon, Davlil Fay, John NawtuD,
Widow Johnson, Mo8t« Newton, Jr., Jiimts Caily.

7. Lirnl. ll'i'Ili'iiiu'ii GarriMn: Thoniu Ileaman, I'clor Bent, lUchanl
Barnof*, Kilwanl Bariiej.

8. Entign Jtom'i OarrUott : Ensign Bowkor, Jiwiiti Walt, David
Church, Bonjainln Iticv, I'etor Rice, Jomjih Uli'i'.

9. Sniuwl jlfom/rj Gtirruim ; Sergeant IJarnitt, John Itamn,, Ik-nja-

niln Bagli'j, Joseph War<l, Joshua llico, Thuinax Mnrllli, SjiMiiml lliiab.

10. TlioiMu Brigliiim't Oarruon : Jonathan llrlghani. Other Wan),
Increase Ward.

\\. John /foipfl's Ganisott: Zach. Eager, Ahrnbam Eafi;iir, l>ajile|

Johnson, S^imiiel Whuelock, OUadlnb Ward, Tbomaa .\xlell.

T2. S^irnuel Goodnoxv'a GarrUtm : Nathaniel Oakufl, Jonathan Korbiuh,

Gorshoni Fay.

13. LUut. Howc'a Garriaon : Thomas War^I, tMwanl Klce.

14. Niilhan Urtgham'a O*trrison : Jufl4<pti Stnitton, Henry llartlctt,

Alexander Stewart.

15. Samti«( Hani, Sr.'i, Garrumi : WllliaTu Ward, Wid. Hanaata

Ward, Jonathan Johnson, Sr., Caleb Rice.

10. John MnUhewa^ Ottrriaon : William Johnson, Samnol Ward.

17. Daniet Ricc'a Garriaim : Wid. Sarab Taylor, Supply W*eeks, Eloiuer

Taylor.

IS. Samnfl ForbuaVa Qairiaon : James Bnullsb, Thomaj Forbuib,

James (.Ileasou.

19. Eilimtml Rice^t Oarriaon: David Brigham, Isaac Tombliii, David

Maynard.

20. Thomas RiceU Oinrlaon : John Pratt, (Carles Rice.

21. 37('»m(W Ilapgoocfa Carriaon : John Forbuflh, John Wheder, Jualah

Ilowe, B Carly, Sr., James Carly.

22. Mill Garriatrn: Thoniiui Barrett, John Banister.

23. Siinoti M'tynanVa Onrria-in: .Vdarn Ilolloway, Benjamin Whitney,

.Toseph Newlon, John ICeyes, .\liiel Hush.

24. J<thn N' wt^'U, Jr.^a, Gurriafii . Kleazer Bellows, Janice Eager, JaluM

Newton, Beiijamiu Newton, Epbmlm Newton, John Woods, .\bniliafu

Newton.

25. Jmuithtn Neicton'a Oarriaon: Is. Woods, Thomas Wltherbee, Is.

Amsdon, Moses Lonard, Roger Bnu'e.

26. JoaL'ph .1/br.fe's Garriaoii : Thomas Blgelow, Samuel Bigolow, Sam-

uel Morse, Joliu Blgelow, John Sherman, Daniel Harrington.

The committee to assign these garrisoiis consisted

ftf Thomas Howe, Samuel Hrighaiii, Isaac .\msden,

Elcazcr Howe, Daniel Howe, .Inhn Bowkcr, .lonatlian

Johnson, Nathaniel Josliu, Peter Rice, John May-
nard and John Barrett.

CHAPTER LVIL

MARLBOROUOir—^Continued).

WAR OF THE KKVOLUTIOJf.

The Lexington Alarm—'J'fla Minute Mfti—List of SotJitra—Votm^ r/c—

Ilenrji Barnea Oie lioyalial.

As early as September 19, 1768, the people of Marl-

borough in town-meeting .i-ssemblcd, voted as follows

relative to the action of Boston in connection with

the odious Stamp Act, " that it is their opinion that

what the town of Boston hiuj done respecting the

present difiBculties, is proper, and have accordingly
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chosen Mr, Samuel Witt to meet the committee of

Boston, at the time and place named and proposed."

March 29, 1770, at a meeting of which John War-

ren waa moderator^ it was
" Vuted,7htii w© highly approve of tho noble and manly-eplrited con-

duct Id those Merchiiiits who have agreetl (iiiul firmly abide by tho aauie)

not to Import rooiIh from Great Britain, till the rovfiiue acts are re-

pealed, aachflciug their own private intert'st to the public good.

*' Voted^ Tbo thaiiUn of this town to tho towu of Boston, for the noble-

Bpirlted reoolutiunauud measures they have taken to promote the cauflo

of Liberty.

" Vot«d, That we will, ft« far as lies In our power, in and by every con-

etiiulional way, encourage, strengthen antl support those Merchants and

others, who have discovered such a patriotic spirit as by tlio Non-Impor-

cation Agreement, appears.

" Voted, That those who have not come into or do not abide by the

Non-Irajwrtation Agreement, and those that buy goods of the importers,

or purchase goods of those traders who have them of the present im-

porters, are enemies to their country and posterity, and that they ought

to be treate<I as such.

'• Voted, That we ourselves, or by any from or under us, will not di-

rectly or indirectly purchai*e any goods of John Bernard, James and

Patrick McMastt^is, \\"ni. Jackson, John Mein, Nathaniel Rogers, The-

ophllus Lillie, John Taylor, Anue and Elizabeth Cummings, all of Boston;

Israel Williams, Esq., and son, of Hatfield, and Henry Barnes, of Marl-

borough aforesaid, (being importers), until a general importation shall

take place, or they come into the Non-Importation Agreement of the

Merchants to their satisfaction.

** Raolved and VoUd, That the names of those who purchase goods of

the importers, or of those who buy of importers, shall be made public,

as far as we have the knowledge of them.'*

December 21, 1772, Hezekiah Maynard, Alpheus

Woods, Edward Barnes, Jonas Morse and Daniel

Harrington were chosen a committee to draft instruc-

tions to their Representative, and also to correspond

with the Committee of Correspondence of Boston.

At a meeting held January 1, 1773, the committee

submitted a report and resolutions, which were unan-

imously adopted. Among the resolutions were the fol-

lowing:

*' Resolved, As the opinion of this town, that the whole British Em-

pire is under very alarming circunistauces, in that the constitution of

the nation being in part broken over, the rights of the people invaded,

great inroads made upon their liberty in an arbitrary manner, their

freedom, property and privileges, civil and religious, being wholly

taken from them, notwithstanding all the constitutional remonstrances

and petitions that have been made use of.

*' Resolved, That the British Colonies in America, and this Province in

particular, have a right to all the immunities, privileges and liberties

granted to them by the royal charter and acts of Parliament.

" Resolved, That the people of this Province have ever been a loyal

people, and have never forfeited their charter rights by any disloyalty

whatever, and that they have good right to bold and enjoy their prop-

erty and privileges ; and no power on earth has any just right to alieniate

them from their just owners, without the consent of themselves or rep-

resentatives

'* Resolved, That the many acts of Parliament imposing in late years

duties on this as well as the other Colonies, and the tolerating a Roman
priest, and appointing papists to high places of trust in the British do-

minions, and also establishing the salaries of several of the first men of

this Province, and also of the Judges of the Superior Court, and mak-

ing them independent of the people, the great extension of admiralty

jurisdiction, the quartering soldiers upon us in time of peace, the arbi-

trary demanding and the treacherous giving up of Castle William, our

chief fortress, the shedding innocent blood, as in the horrid massacre in

Boston, March 5, 1770, all of which is unconstitutional, and carries a

bad aspect, &c."

At a meeting held in 1773 it was resolved:

"That although our land Is very fruitful, yet being taxed without our

consent, we may be brought to a morsel of bread, or but one meal of

meat in a week, which is the case with Ireland, a very fertile laud; and

as our great Lawgiver, and the law of nature, require sulf-presorvatiou,

we are determined by no means to submit to such arbitrary measures,

duties, tythes, taxes, &c., hut will unite with our brethren in this and

tho neighboring Provinces, and oppose them to tho last extremity.

"That peace and harmony will never he enjoyed between Great Brit-

ain and the Colonies, until the interests of both be inseparably connected
;

which will be accomplished by nothing short of a repeal of all uncon-

stitutional acts, and the removal of all sinecures, pensioners, pimps, in-

formers and bad goveruora.

"That we look upon every person who does not oppose the present

unconstitutional measures of administration, especially Edward Winslow

and others, of the ancient and memorable towu of Plymouth, who with-

out giving one reason, have protested against the proceedings of said

town, OS inimical to the interests of America, and ought to be despised

by all the human race."

September 29, 1774, Peter Bent was elected repre-

sentative, and the town instructed him as follows :

"We hereby instruct you that you adhere strictly to the Charter of

this Province, stipulated and agreed to between their Majesties, King

William and Queen Mary and this Province, and that you pay no

acknowledgment to any unconstitutional anrl new fangled Counsellors,

and that you do not give your consent to any act or thing that may be

construed a tacit acknowledgment to any of the late oppressive, wicked

and unjust Acts of the British Parliament, for altering the Government

of the Province of Massachusetts Bay."

In the mean time the town directed the selectmen

" to make an addition to the town's stock of ammuni-

tion—powder, bullets and flints." They also instruct-

ed their constables not to pay the Province tax over

to the Royal Treasurer, but to the Treasurer appoint-

ed by the Provincial Congress. In 1775 fifty-five ad-

ditional guns, with bayonets, were procured ; drums

were furnished to the companies, blankets were pro-

cured for the minute-men, etc.

This was the condition of the public mind of

Marlborough when, on the 19th of April, 1775, the in-

telligence reached the town that the British had left

Boston, and were marching on Concord. Within a

few hours four companies from Marlborough, consist-

ing of 190 men, were marching to the scene of action.

List op Soldiers.—The following is a list of sol-

diers who were in the service from this town :

Roll of Captain Howe's company, which marched

on the 19th of April, 1775, to Cambridge, and were

absent from home sixteen days :

Cyprian Howe, captain; Amasa Ci'anston, lieutenant; Uriah Eager,

ensign; Solomon Bowers, sergeant; Robert Hunter, sergeant; Ebenezer

Hager, sergeant •- William Hager, Matthias Moseman, Josiah Wilkins,

John Baker, Abner Goodale, Jabez Bueh, Asa Barnes, Hiram Stow, For-

tunatus Wheeler, Aaron Eager, Joel Brigham, William Speakman,

Francis James, Peter Howe, Ephraim Maynard, Silaa Barnes, David

Hunter, Joseph Miller, Simon Maynard, Luke Hager, Amos Wait, Adon-

ijah Newton, Jacob Priest, James Bruce, Joel Barnard, Timothy Bruce,

Nathaniel Bruce, Thomas Goodale, James Priest, Ebenezer Eames, Wil-

liam Brown, Alpheus Morse, Jabez Rice, Jonathan Temple, Jeduthun

Alexander, Joseph Baker, Nehemiah Howe, Abner Dunton, Xbaddeua

Shattuck, Frederick Walcutt, Timothy Darling, Abraham Whitney.

Roll ofCaptain Brigham's company, which marched

to Cambridge, April 19, 1775, and were in the service

from ten to thirty days

:

William Brigham, captain; Silas Gates, first lieutenant; Ithamar

Brigham, second lieutenant; Henry Brigham, sergeant; Noah Beaman,

sergeant ; Joseph Brigham, sergeant ; Ichabod Jones, sergeant ; Thomas

Rice, corporal ; Ephraim Waid, corporal ; Josiah Priest, corporal ; Lewis

Brigham, corporal ; Gershom Rice, Jr., Samuel Eames, Ephraim Wilder,

Oliver Hale, Simeon Howe, Ezekiel Clisby, William Loring, Rediat
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Stewart, Jabez Bent, Jonatban Barucs, Jr., Saiimol Howe, Silas Qirly,

Samuel Ward, Jr., Tsaiio Morse, Jamos Ball, Froilerick Roodnow, John
Bapley, Timothy Baker, Epliniim Howe, Abraham lieaman. Robert Florii,

Luke Howe, Lovewell Brijrliaiu, Ilpuben Howe, Reuben Wynian, Jonali

Newton, Thoniaa Juslin, l*hiui*hii8 IIowo, Alexander Church, Illiamur

Goodnow, George Brijiham, Moses Williams, Jr., WIlHard Rice, Samuel
Howe, Gerahom Brigbam, Jabez Rice, Abraham Brigham, Abljah Bi»rry.

Roll of Captain Barnes's company, wliirh marclicd

to Cambridge, April 19, 1775. A portion who went
on the 19th returned home after a few days, and were

succeeded by others—some of whom were in service

forty days :

Daniel Barnes, captain ; William Morae, fii-st Heutonaut; Paul Brig-

ham, second lieutenant; John Loriup, wLTj^eant; Kphraim Baker,

sergeant ; Antipas Brigham, corporal ; Jeikniiiih Tainter, corporal

;

Obadiah Barre, Levi Fay, William Rice, I'etur Bent, Jonathan Brig-

ham, James Bowers, John Baker, Joniw Darling, Robert Karnes, Abra-

ham Gould, Elizur Holyoke, Asa Witt, David Wynian, Moses Barnes,

Jonathan Weeks, Ivory Bigelow, Nathan Baker, Daniel Stovons, Isaac

Sherman, Benjamin Boyd, Benjamin Howe, llezekiah Maynard, EJihu

Maynard, Stephen Phelps, Daniel Rice, Daniel Rohbins, Moses Roberts,

Prentice Russell, Oliver Russell, John Rice, John Rice, Jr., Robert

Salntclair, Ephriiim Stow, John W. Woods, Francis Wulkup, Stephen

Felton, Tlmddens Howe, Dudley Hardy, John Lamb, Nahum Newton,

Jabez Rice, William Williams, Aaron Wheeler, John HarrlngtoD, Fran-

cie Morse, Heman Stow, Benjamin Stevens.

Marlborough men in Capt. Silas Gates' company,
called out on the Lexington alarm, April 19, 1775 :

Silaa Gates, Capt.. Henry Brigham, Francis Morse, Luke Ho\ve,

Thomas Williams, Asa Barnes, Benjamin Bartlett, Abraham Beaman,

George Brigham. Elisha Barnes, Uriah Brigham, Joel Brewer, Alex-

ander Church, John Dexter, Aaron Eames, Matthias Felton, Abner

Goodale, Aaron Howe, Robert Horn, Joel Hager, John Kelly, Joshua

Lamb, William Loring, Joseph Maynard, Asbbel Rice, William Good-

ale, Gersbom Rice, Samuel Gates, Quartus Stow, Abraham Howe, Sam-

uel Ward, Moses Williams, Joseph Williams, Jedutbiin Wymau, David

Hunter.

Eight months' men :

Lt. Col. Edward Barnes, Capt.; Paul Brigham, Capt. Daniel Barnes,

Capt. Amasa Cranston, Capt. Silas Gates, Lieut. Moses Barnes, Lieut.

William Morse, Lieut. Obadiah Bruce, Simon Adams. Jodutbun Alex-

ander,' Stephen Allen, William Boyd, James Ball, John Baker, James

Bowers, Elihu Maynard, HezeUiab Maynjird, William Rice, Joseph Mil

ler, Paul Newton, Daniel Rice, John Rice, John Rice, Jr., David Wy-
man, Peter Bent, Jonatban Brigham, Abrahiim Brighmn, George Bender,

Artemas Brigham, Ephraim Barber, Jonas Darling, Robert Eanies,

Abraham Gould, Fiederick Goodnow, Nehemiah Howe, Elizur Holyoke,

Obadiah Johnson, John Kidder, Ephraim Simonds, Daniel Robbins'

Oliver Russell, John Sawin, Francis Walkup, Asa Witt, John W. Woods,

Reuben Wyman, John Wright, Moses Bobbins.

The following Marlborough men were also in the

service

:

William Brigbam, John Barnes, Elisha Barnes, Uriah Brigham, Joel

Babbett, Silaa Baker, Richard Bradford, Henry Brigham, Asa Barnes,

Benjamin Bartlett, Abraham Beaman, George Brigham, David Hunter,

Joel Eager, Edward Knapp, William Loring, Francis Measurve, Joseph

Newton, Roger Phelps, Ashbel Rice, Joseph Robbins, John Stow, Qu;u-

tus Stow, Samuel Spofford, David Sale, William Shield, Robert Scott,

William Weeks, David Wait, Asa Witt, John Wiggins, Joseph Williams,

Joseph Waters,^ Joel Beaman, Alexander Church, John Dexter, Aaron

1 He was killed at Bunker Hill, where a portion of the Marlhorongb

men were engaged. They were under the command of Lt. Col. Jon-

athan Ward and Maj. Edward Barnes, of Marlboruugh,

2 Waters was a Scotch Highlander, in the English service, and was

sent over with others to reinforce General Howe at Boston. Thi;

transport arrived after the British left Boston, and waa captured.

Waters came to Marlborough and enlisted into the American service,

and served in almost every campaign during the war. He married

In Marlborough, and after the peace made It his place of abode. He

died at an advanced age, retaining, to the day of his de«tb, the air

of a soldier.

EamM, Junathao Cnwby, 7*rubti<ibcl E*t*r, Malit....* . l

Iludson, wnilum Gooilal*', Samuel Gntr«. Luko Huwr.
Robert Horn, SAniuvl Kelley, Junaihan l<anib, Fran. Ig M .

McNalr, Pomoroy Grove, Joe.'ph PuIIIiik, G.'r»iium \iict>, Abrmliuit
Howe, Peter Slovenion, Alexander Watson, Thoniaa WUIi«iu«, Forlu-
natus Whtttflor, Samuel Ward, Momm WllllBmi, JotuithaD Wyinnu. fiam*
uul Wyman, Samuel Wlllanl.

The following? men were drafted in 1777, for two
months: John iSawin. Jainen Hruce, St^-plien Haker,
James Hunter, Kltonezer Howe, Jacob I'ricwt, Zelo-

tus Whitcomb, Samuel Hunting, John narno«, AhH-
bel Rice, Matthias Felton, Reuben IViei^t. Lovewell
Brigham, Jonathan Wyman, Phinehiw llice, Jona.
Smith, Eli Gotxhinw, TheophihiH Hiir<ly, Kli/.ur

Holyoke, Jolin i-'ay. .lohn <Jotl liri^diiiin, Jiuntii

Harrington, Joseph Williams, Josiah Newton, JonaH
Darling, Robert Eames and Jolin Harrington.

In 1778, Lt. Jonathan WeekH, Abner Dunton,
David Hunter, Prentice Rutisell, Samuel Howe, Jr.,

John W. Woods, Aaron Eager and Aaron Rrigham,
were in service three months.

Capt. Amasa Cranston, Edward Wilkins, Abner
Goodale, James Gleason, Josiah Wilkins, IU>bert

Hunter, Sihia Barnes and Daniel Barnes, were at *

White Plains.

Among the nine months' men were Sila-* Baker,

Josiah Priest, Phiiiehas Moore, .\bner Ward, Reuben
Priest, Timothy Hand and Josc[)h Johnson.

Capt. Moses Barnes waa in the service two months,

from first of May to first of July. 1779, and bad under

hiin, of Marlborough men, Quartm Slow, David Brig-

ham, Phineas Brigham, Aaron Beaman, William

Gates and Nathan Rice.

Among the si.x months' men were :

Elihu Maynard, David Sale, Alexander Wntaon, Juhn Stow, William

Weeks, Joseph Johnson, Davltl Wail, Stephen IJulirr, Dtold llulloway,

Samuel Gates, Aaron Brigham, Joseph Robbins, .\Ra \N'itt, Oavbl BrlR-

tiam, Paul Brigbam, .\aron Beaman, Abraham Stow, Joitlnia Ballpy,

Joseph Waters, Joseph Newton, llogor I'bclps, ZerubbulMil EIu^it.

The following were in the service in Rhode Island:

Jacob Brown, William Dawson, Joseph Waten, Tbuni:is Williams,

Uriah Eager, Elihu Maynard, Abraham Stow. Alexnnder Waiaun, lt»n-

iel Brigbam, John Uates, Israel Brown, Israel Ureenleaf, Putnam I*b>-I|ii,

Jonas WjIkiiiH, Moses Kames, Pi«ul Brigham, I>avid Hollowuy, M^tw*

Williams, Winslow Stow, Morris Clary, .Siliis (ialen, Jr.. Williitni (Iiitf*,

Aiiron Eager, Stephen Eager, Samuel Gates, Aaron Beaman, Jwwph

Robbins, Jothara Bayley, David Wait, Sanniel Brighnm, Jonathan

Goodnow, Silas Wilson, William Rice, Lovewoll Brigbam, WilllRm

Weeks, Tolman Howe, Roger Plielpa, .Vsa Witt, Aaron Brlgbuiu,

Stephen Brigham, David Greeiileaf, .\bralian. I'riost-

At Claverack, in 1780, under Capl. Ama.sa Cran-

ston, were

Alexander Watson, Kphraim Jewell, Nathan Rtro, Nunnel l*unu>n.

Aaron Brigbam, Wllliiim Goodale, Silas Buker, N«>nb LWiiiuon, Jr.,

John Dunn.

The following is a Hat of three months' men in 1780.

William Cory, Gardner Howe. Stephen Smith, Solomon llowo, Elttr

Keyes, Caleb Parker, Daniel Harrington, Johy Dunn, Juwph 'IVmpU,

John Jennison, Adum Harrington, Samuel Dunlun, Aaron Brigbam,

Noah Bennian, Silas Stow.

Fruncis Jonea, Xiillmniil Brown, Kphmlm Wilder, IbuU*n Wlbb-r,

Samuel Gates, Wlllhiin H. Woods. Luke Uowe. Miwn WHlluu... Jiwi-ph

Weeks, Kllan Will, Daua Newton, luu%c Proclor, Duvld S«le. I»»%ld

Wynian, Jwdedlah Maynard, William Murcor, EUafl Murae, Joliii Uacc*-



824 HISTORY OP MIDDLESEX COUNTY, MASSACHUSETTS.

DeUa, Timothy JohniMD, EU Uowe, Stephen Hudeon, Charlaa Hudson,!

flamuel Ruw, JuinMWtiitDuy, Willluin Kice, Etittba Austin, Petor Little,

FAooIb Soutiies, Slf|ihi<n I'liulps, Jolin Itaker, Phinehus Blurse, Joseph

JohDlon, Jouttthtku Wiggins.

The followiug is a list of three yesxrs' men :

Joaeph Miller, David Harris, Josiuh Priest, Reuben Priest, James

Mahow, David Hill, John Dunn, Thomas Baiter, -Vlexandor Crawford,

\Villlam Fustllck, .Minor Sntith, John Cain, Jonathan Pollard, Enoch

Kldiler, Joseph Wiitei-s, Jacob (iroiin, Jonah Newton, Joseph Newton,

iiiiniuel Little, Stephen Ivi'ssell, /erubliabel Kager, John Dextor, Jona-

than Dexter, Nathan Pratt, John Kice, iii\m Sawin, Willlanx Wallier,

John Newton, Levi Fletcher, Job ^tpaulding, Samuel Ditsou, Thomas

Ditsou, Iteubou Wyman, Thomas C. Kid^eway, JoHiah Bailey, Thomas

Greenongh, James Kiiy, John Gilllard, Sihts llarthoru, William Meascr,

Thomas Rldgeway, Januts l*arlter. Dean Wyman, Andrew Kettle, Pat-

rick Maliony, Peter Willanl, Joseph Dawson, Robert Mansfield, Wil-

liam Rice, John Johnson, Samuel French, Charles Benjean, John Den-

mark, John .Vnsel, Jonathan Kewton, John B. Torrey, Samuel Fletcher,

Itel^amiu Roberts, Prentice itussell.

William Goo<lale, Ephraim Newton, Jonathan Crosby, William Bige-

low, Joseph Waters, Peter Stevenson, Samuel Spofford, Israel Greeuleaf,

John Barnt^s, Benjamin Gould, Richard Wyman, Abel Ray, Aaron

Brlgham, Job Spanldiug, John Rice, Joel Bartlett, Francis Menford,

John Gates, Samuel BIcNair, Silas Baker, Edward Knapp, Robert Scolt,

William Shield, Samuel Wyman, Samuel Willard, Thomas Joslin, John

JJewton, Stej*hon Phelps.

In March, 1776, the town chose a committee of

seven of their prominent men "to devise ways and

means for the manufacture of saltpetre in private

families," as preparatory to the manufacture of gun-

powder. At a meeting held May 28, 1776, the town

voted, " That if the Honorable Continental Congres.s

shall, for the safety of the United Colonies, declare

them independent of the Kingdom of Great Britain,

we, the inhabitants of Marlborough, will solemnly

engage, with our lives and fortunes, to support them

in the measure."

In 1776, the town voted "to give to every soldier

that enlists to goto Canada, seven pounds as a bounty,

or twelve pounds as a hire, exclusive of the Court's

bounty, as the person that shall enlist shall choose."

In ftlarch, 1777, the town voted " to give each soldier

that shall enlist to serve in the Continental army the

term ofthree year.s, or during the war, for this town, the

sum of forty pounds as soon as they shall pass muster."

They also empowered the Treasurer to borrow, in

behalf of the town, such a sum as should be neces-

sary to pay the soldiers thus enlisted.

At a meeting December 4, 1777, voted " to leave it

with the Selectmen to supply the families of such

non-commissioned officers and soldiers as have en-

gaged in the Continental army from this town."

In January, 1778, at a town-meeting, " Heard the

Articles of Confederation and Perpetual Union be-

tween the United States of America—empowered the

Eepresentatives to act and do as they shall judge

• Charles Hudson was killed by onr own men. He was out in a scout-

ing party near the enemy, when fears were entertained for their safety,

and another party was sent out for their protection. Night came on,

and the last party, hearing the approach of troops, and supposing them
to be the enemy, secreted themselves, and on their near approach fired

upon them, killing Charles Hudson and another of the first named
party, before they discovered their mistake.

most for the advantage of this and the United States,

relative to that matter."

At a meeting held March, 1778, " Voted to pro-

vide 32 pairs of stockings, 16 pairs of shoes, 16 pairs

of breeches, and 32 shirts for the soldiers ; and that

the Selectmen provide them, and send tliem as soon

as may be upon the town's cost."

At a meeting held May, 1778, to act upon the sub-

ject of a new Frame of Goveinment, the record reads

as follows: "Alter hearing the Constitution and

Form of Government read, and Debates upon it

—

seventy -six voters present at the meeting—thirty-four

were for approving and forty-two for disapproving of

the Form of Government." So the town, as far as

their vote was concerned, rejected the proposed Con-

stitution ; and in this respect their voice was in har-

mony with that of the State.

Additional troops having been called for, the town,

at a meeting held May, 1778,

"Fotfrf, To give to each soldier that shall enlist before the 1.5th instant,

to serve in the Continental army for the term of nine months, to do a

iuni for himsetf^ thirty pounds as a bountj', and eight pounds per month
wages for the time he shall serve in the army, over and and above what
the'.'ontinent gives.

"Foted, To give each soldier that shall enlist by the Ifith Instant, to

serve in the militia and do duty at Peekskill, to do a turn for him^elfj

twenty pounds as a bounty, and four pounds per month wages, over and

above what the Continent and State give."

The meeting was then adjourned to the 15th instant,

when it was found that the requisite number of men
had not been obtained for the nine months' service;

whereupon it was

'Totefl, To give to each of the above-named soldiers that shall enlist

before next Blonday, at five o'clock, p.m., one hundred and sixty pounds

to do a tuDi for the toipn, or. if either of them choose to do a turn for them-

seheSf then the town shall give them forty pounds as a bounty, and ten

pounds per mouth wages, if they shall enlist before five o'clock next

Monday afternoon, to serve in the Continental army nine months.

"Foterf, That the officers go to the Town Treasurer for the money to

pay the soldiers for their bounty and hire, and that the Town Treasurer

borrow the money upon the town's credit."

" In order to understand the expression of ' doing a

turn for themselves,' or for the town, it is necessary

to know that such was the difficulty in obtaining

soldiers that they resorted to drafts, and in some

towns a system of conscription was resorted to, as the

only means of sustaining the army. The citizens were

divided into classes, according to the valuation, and
amount of taxes paid by the individuals. Each class

was required to furnish a man, and provide for his

wages and support. Each member contributed accord-

ing to his property, and all delinquents were returned

to the Assessors, and the sum due was included in hia

next tax. When an individual did a turn of duty for

himself, he was excused from payment and exempt
from draft till all others had been called out. In

Marlborough, however, they had recourse only to

drafts, where the .same rotation existed." {Hudson.)

Numerous calls were made for troops, and it was found

almost impossible to obtain them. Not, however, for

the want of patriotism on the part of the men, so

much as the want of ability in the Government to
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subsist and pay them. The town made a great effort

to obtain her quota of men, by offering bounties

in addition to the goverraent pay ; but the deprecia-

tion of the currency rendered the large bounties of-

fered of but small value. Consequently, it was found

necessary to graduate the bounty upon something

more stable than a constantly depreciating paper cur-

rency. The following action of the town will show the

expedients to which the public were driven. At a

meeting held June 21, 1779, the record reads thus:

" Heard the Resolvefl of the Great and General Court of Uie 8t)i and

9th inetant, for raising a reinforcement to the army.

"t'ofcd, To give eacli man that sliall enlist, or lii8 legal representative,

if he should tiie in the service, forty shillings per month, to be paid in

produce of this country, in beef at twenty shillings per hundred, and

Indian corn at three shillings per bushel, or as much njoney as shall

purchase said produce, including their wages due f«om the Continent

and State. The above to be paid at the expinition of their service

—

they producing a certiticate from the commanding olllcer that they have

been regularly discharged. And if the men do not turn out for the

above encouragement in two days, then the ollicers draft according to

the orders of the General Conrt ; and if any man is dratted and will go,

he shall be entitled to the forty shillings per month, as set forth above.

Each man engaged for the above encouragement is considered as doing

his turn.

*^Vol«d, That sixty pounds be advanced by the Town Treasurer to

each man, before he marches, who engages in the Continental service

for nine mouths, which is to be deducted at the final settlement.

** Voted, That the Treasurer be empowered to borrow the money for

three months on the credit of the town."

"At a meeting held February 12, 1781, Voted, To give as a bounty to

each man that shall engage in the Continental army, during the war,

twenty steers, three years old, or, in lieu of each steer, fourteen hard

dollars, and to be paid to the men that shall engage, one-third part at

the time of their passing muster, and the other two-thirds, one-half in

one year from the time they shall engage, and the other half in two

years from the time they shall so engage.

"Also Voted, To give as a bounty to each man that shall engage in the

Continental army for three years, twenty steei-s three years old, and to

be paid to each man as follows; Four steers at the lime of his passing

muster, and sixteen steers at the expiration of three years, unless sooner

discharged ; and in that case to be paid in proportion. The above steers

to be estimated at fifteen dollars each."

The people of Marlborough, with, perhaps, one ex-

ception, were loyal to the colonial cau.se. Henry
Barnes, however, was a royalist, and remained true to

the King. He was a favorite of the Governor, who
appointed him one of His Majesty's .Justices of the

Peace for the county of Middlesex in 176(>. He is

denominated an " importer" in the Marlborough Res-

olutions. He kept a store in Marlborough and ap-

pears to have been a man of wealth and enterprise.

In 1753 he preferred a petition to Governor Shirley,

in which he sets forth, " That he has lately been at

considerable expense and trouble in erecting in

Marlborough a commodious house, works and uten-

sils for the distilling and manufacturing of cider

spirits, and the same has so far answered his expecta-

tions, as that besides what has been consumed in the

Province, he has distilled the same spirit and sent to

Boston for exportation between two and three thou-

sand gallons, and the same is esteemed by |)roper

judges to be as good and wholesome as any spirit now

used ; " and prays that he may be licensed to retail it

in small quantities. Whereupon the Court of Ses-

sions and the selectmen of the town wvw .iniM.wored
to grant such license.

Henry Barnes resided in tlie eimt vilUgi', and wiu
a man of considerable property, and une of the

largest tax-payers in the town. He was the owner of
several slaves, one of whom, " Duphine," he left in

Marlborough, and she was supported out of hiit

estate. He left Marlborough early in 1775, and re-

paired to Boston to lake shelter under protection of

the King's troops. An act was piuwed in \77», in

which .Mr. Harnes was mentioned, furliidding all per-

sons who had left the .State and gone over to the

enemy, returning to their former homes; and provid-

ing, that in case of their return, they shoultl be ar-

rested and sent out of the dominion of the Unite«l

States; and in case they should, after siieh transpor-

tation, return without the leave of the General Court,
" they shall sutler the pains of death without benefit

of clergy." His property wa.s confiscated and ho

finally returned to London, where he died in 1808,

aged 84.

CHAPTER LVni.

MARLBOROUQn—( Continued).

ECCLESIA-STICAL lilSTOItY.

Union Congregatiotiat Ctturch— The Sfcoitd ParUh, Vmilarian—MtlXodtM

Epitcopal— I'irsl Baptut^Church o/ the Uoty TritiUy—lnirertaUtl—/m-

itKtculate Coiiceptioit, Itotnan Cutholic—St. .ir.trr/'», /VrticA CalMoite—
fyench Evungetical Chureh, ProteMant Conyregatiotfil.

Union Congregational Church '—The history

of this church can be appropriately divided into tlie

three following periods: First, tlie period during

which the church was connected with Town Parish.

Second, the period during which the church was

connected with First Parish.

Third, the period during which the church lias been

connected with Union .Society.

First Period, from ICefi lo 1808.—The gospel of .le-

sos Christ was preached in Marlboro', about as soon as

the first settlers began to cultivate the virgin soil.

As early as KJliO the voters took action for paying

Rev. William Brimsniead, who was then their minis-

ter. Rev. Richard Mather, of Dorchester, preached

an ordination sermon in Marlboro', April 7,1659, and

as Mr. Brirasraead was born in Dorchester, and wiut

preaching in Marlboro', before KitiO, we conclude thai

he was ordained in Marlboro', April 7, 1(;59. [See

history of Dorchester.]

The evangelistic services of the young minister from

Dorchester prepared the way for a church, which was

organized October i'., ItifiO, when Rev. William Brims-

mead was installed over the clinrch, and as the min-

ister of the town with a salary of about X-K). In those

days the church was composed of those who made a

> By Rev. A. F. Nvwiou.
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public profession of repentance and faith in the Lord

Jesus Christ, but the miaister was an officer of the

town in its parochial capacity.

The town-meetings were held in the meeting-house,

and the minister's salary was annually provided for

by vote in town-meeting.

The first meeting-house stood on what is now the

High School Comiuon ; the dead were buried near the

meeting-hou.se, according to the English custom-

Mr. Stillinan B. Pratt, of 'Ihe American, says :
" It is

probable, however, that the earlier burials were all

made in the older graveyards at Wayland, Watertown

or Charlestown."

The oldest burial-.stnne in Marlboro' is that of Cai)t.

Edward Hutehiu.son in Spring Hill Cemetery, bearing

date August 12, 1675. He was killed by treacherous

Indians in the King Philip War, and the meeting-

house was burned by the Indians March 26, 1676.

Early the next year, another meeting house was

built by the Town Parish. In 1688 a larger house

took its place and this one stood for about 120 years.

After worshipping in meeting-houses on the Com-
mon for 145 years, a new meeting-house was needed,

and in 1805 the town voted in town-meeting—81 to 10

—to build their new meeting-house on Spring Hill,

where Union Church now stands.

The land was purchased and prepared by private

funds, and a meeting-house built under the supervi-

sion of a committee chosen by the town for that pur-

pose. The change of location created much opposition

among the citizens of the west part of the town, and

this resulted in the erection of a meeting-house on

Pleasant Street, at the expense of private individuals.

Both houses were opened for public services on April

27, 1806.

Second period, from 1808 to 1835.—At about this

time occurs an important transition in the history of

this church, which is inseparably connected with the

history of the parish and town.

The church property, including land and meeting-

houses, was held by the town parish. Arising out

of the difierences about the location of the new meet-

ing-house, came a separation of Church and State in

Marlborough, and thereby a division of the town
property.

Foreseeing the separation of municipal and paro-

chial interests of the towns of our Commonwealth,
the General Court passed a law regulating parishes

and precincts, and the officers thereof, June 28, 1786.

[See the laws of the Commonwealth of Massachu-
setts from November 28, 1708, to February 28, 1807,

Vol. I., p. 325.]

This law provided for the existence of more than
one parish in a town, and also gave to the officers of
the parish powers and privileges pertaining to the
parish similar to the powers and privileges of select-

men pertaining to the town. Under this law of 1786,
the fathers of the church in Marlborough acted.

The act of incorporation of the Second Parish in

Marlborough (now known as the Unitarian Church),

was passed by the General Court, February 23, 1808.

In the law of 1786, in section 5, occurs the follow-

ing language

:

"Section 5. And be it further enacted by the autho-

rity aforesaid, that in all such towns or districts

where one or more parishes or precincts shall be reg-

ularly set off" from such towns or districts, the re-

maining part of such town or district is hereby

deemed, declared and constituted an entire, perfect

and distinct parish or precinct, and shall be consid-

ered as the principal or first parish or precinct."

After the Second Parish bad become incorporated,

February 23, 1808, the First Parish sepijrate from the

town called their first parish meeting March 10, 1808.

Soon after this the church voted to be known as " The
Church in the First Pariah." With them remained

the archives of the church from its earliest history.

This separation of Church and State occurred dur-

ing the ministry of Rev. Asa Packard, whose resigna-

tion was duly accepted by the church and town in

1806, after which the town no longer provided for the

support of the ministry, or paid the expenses of the

meeting-house. Mr. Packard during his pastorate of

twenty-one years baptized 1003 per.sons. November 2,

1808, Rev. S. F. Bucklin was ordained pastor of the

church in the First Parish, and the parochial ex-

penses were provided by the First Parish and not by

the town.

Rev. Asa Packard was installed over the Second

Parish in 1808. The meeting-house and lands on

Spring Hill were now owned by the First Parish.

The law determining this ownership is clearly sta-

ted in the decision of the Supreme Court in the Octo-

ber term of 1851. [8 Cushing, 168. First Parish in

Sudbury vs. Samuel Jones and others.]

According to the general rule of this Common-
wealth, meeting-houses and grounds went with the

parisli. The church continued to worship under the

ministry of Rev. S. F. Bucklin until his dismission,

June 20, 1832. In March, 1833, the First Evangelical

Congregational Society was formed by persons who left

the First Parish. A large number of the church

members worshipped with the First Evangelical

Congregational Society under the ministry of Rev.

Charles Forbush, whose pastorate continued seven

months.

Third Period, from 1835 to 1890.—In 1835 arrange-

ments were made for uniting the First Parish and the

First Evangelical Congregational Society, and the

church members worshipping with them. To secure

this result a petition was sent to the General Court,

asking that the First Parish and the first Evangelical

Congregational Society be incorporated into one

parish or society, by the name of Union Society, with

all the property, rights and privileges belonging to

said parish and society.

The Legislature granted the petition, and Union

Society was incorporated March 6, 1835.
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Soon after this act of incorporation, the church

voted to be known as the " Union Congregational

Church in Marlboro' " thereby agreeing in name with

the society with which they worsliipped.

In 1836, the house built in 1806 was taken down,

and a smaller one built by Union Society.

This house was burned November 10, 1852.

In 1853, the house now occupied by the church

was built and dedicated, August 31, on which day

Rev. Levi A. Field was ordained pastor.

This meeting-house was repaired in 1868, at an ex-

pense of about f12,000, again repaired in 1886, at an

expense of about 13000.

In 1887, the question of ownership of the Common
in front of Union Congregational meeting-house,

was brought by an article in the warrant into town-

meeting in March.

At that time, Theodore Temple, Deacon John E.

Curtis and John Henry Maynard were chosen a

committee to investigate the facts and report what

claim if any the town had in the Common aforesaid.

One hundred dollars were appropriated for this pur-

pose.

In July following, at a special town-meeting, a

majority report, signed by Messrs. Temple and May-
nard, claiming that the town owned the Common,
and a minority report signed by Deacon John E.

Curtis, claiming that Union Society owned the Com-
mon, were rendered. Neither report was adopted.

On motion of Hon. S. N, Aldrich (moderator), a com-

mittee was chosen to submit the facts to the Professors

of Real Property in Harvard University, and in Bos-

ton University, and obtain their opinion respecting

the same.

The committee chosen were Theodore Temple,

John Henry Maynard and John Chipman. Two
hundred dollars were appropriated for this purpose.

Messrs. Maynard and Chipman submitted the

evidence to the gentlemen according to the instruc-

tions of the town.

A special town-meeting was held October 4, 1887,

at seven o'clock p.m., to hear the opinion of the

professors, which was " that as betweeu the town and

the Union Society in Marlborough the title to the

Common in front of the Union Church is now vested

in said society, and not in the town." Signed Ed-

mund H. Bennett, John C. Grey, Boston, September

21,1887. At that town-meeting it was voted to in-

definitely postpone the subject.

The following November, a special town-meeting

was called at 5 p.m., and the ownership of the Com-

mon aforesaid, considered.

John Reagan moved that the selectmen, together

with Theodore Temple and John Henry Maynard, be

a committee with full power to take possession of

Union Common, employ counsel, etc., and that $1000

be appropriated from the liquor license money for the

expenses incurred. The motion was carried.

A writ of entry was served upon the officers of the

Union Society, November 29, 1887, claiming the
common in front of Union Church.
The town employed as counsel, James W. McDonncl,

of Marlboro', and Frank Goulding, of Worcester.
Union Society employed as counsel, Judge E. F.

.Fohnson, of Marlboro', and Judge J. (i. Abbot, of
Boston.

The lawyers for the town rendered a long opiiiiou

on the case, in which they said, " As there is no evi-

dence that between 1805 and 1808, the town specially,

by vote or significant act, dedicated and devoted any
part of this lot to any other use, it would follow, upon
the separation into town and parish, the title vested

in the parish."

In the October term of the Superior Court, held in

Cambridge, the case was non-suited and the judge

decided the case in favor of Union Society.

The " Krimsmead Covenant " was adopted October

15, 1679, and was used till 1837, when Kev. S. F.

Bucklin prepared a revised church covenant and by-

laws, and also submitted articles of faith, all of which
were adopted.

The " Half-way Covenant " was in use from 1701 to

1836. By the conditions of the " Half-way Covenent,"

persons who were not church members could have

their children baptized. In May 31, 1818, a Sabbath-

school was established and continues to the present.

As early as 1810 this church contributed to benevo-

lent and missionary societies. Several missionaries

have gone to foreign lands from this church. Lucy

Goodale, wife of Rev. Asa. Thurston, went to the

Sandwich Islands in 18:iO. Grace Howe, wife of

Rev. James Roberts, went to Japan in 1878. Mr.

Arthur Brigham went to Japan as professor of agri-

culture, in the college at Saporo in 1888.

In May, 1818, the church voted to choose a com-

mittee of three to examine candidate.-* for admission

to the church. This action led to greater care in the

admission of church members.

In Jan., 1827, it was voted that those coming from

other churches should appear before the church com-

mittee. In 1S83 deaconesses were elected and made

members of the church committee. In 1884 a long

standing debt of about $6,000 wiw paid. The present

membership of the church is about 380. There have

been 32 deacons of this church. Below is a list of

pastors from 1666 to the present time:

Kev. William Briuwuieaii, installed Oct. 3, lOOil, ill»nilased ' .luly 3,

1701 ; Re?. Uobert Breck, iusUllcd Oct. 2!^, 1704, disiuiiMod' Jan. C, 1731
;

Rev. Benj. Keut, ilistallid Oct. 27, 17:;3, diBluiaxed Fob. 4, ITM ; Rov.

Aaron 8uiith, iustolled .lune 11, 17411, disnuiwed April 29, 1778; Rev.

Asa Packard, inBtalled March 23, 1785, dismlMcd April 10,1806; Rot.

S. F. Bucklin, luHtulled Nov. 2, 1808, diBniiamd June 20, 1832; Rov.

Chas. Forbush, installed Aug. 2', 1833, disuiiaied ^ Mar. 20,1834; Rev.

John N. Goodhue, iuBtalled May 4, 1x30, diDUiinDcd 'Sept. 13, 18;)U
;

Rev. Geo. B. Day, installed Dec. 2, 1840, dlBiulwed Dec. 23, 1847 ;
Rev.

David L. Ogdeu, installed April 26, 1818, dismissed July 23, 1850 ;
Rot.

George Denham, supply, installed July, 1860, di»iuij»e<l April 1, 18*3 ;

Rev. Levi A. Field, installed Aug. 31, 1853, dlsmtaaod ' Oct. 24, 1861);

1 Died in office.

a Pastor of " First Evangelical Congregattonal Church and Society.'
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R«T.Geo. N. Anthony, Initalled Not. 8, 1860, dismiswd Jan. 27, 1369;

Iter. Charlea R. Trvat, iuat»llii<l Mur. 80, 1870, dismiiiseil June 1, 1873 ;

Rev. John Wlllanl, ln»t«ll«l Doc. 30, IS73, di»misso(lJune 30, 1879

;

B»T. 8. E. Eaatinan, suppl)', Innlalled Sept. 1, ISSO, disniiaecd Oct. 1,

1881 ; Bey. Albert F. New/ou, iUBlallidSepl. li, 1882.

The Seconi> Parish ' (Unitarian).—On the 7th

of June, 1804, according to the records of the Unita-

rian Parisli of Marlborough, " Sundry inh.abitants of

the westerly jiart of Marlborough met at the house of

Capt. George Williams, and chose William Boyd,

Moderator, and Benjamin Rice, Jr., Clerk." At this

meeting, after "taking into consideration the difficul-

ties which existed in the Town as to building a nieet-

ing-hou.se," and for other reasons, which at this day

are not fully known, they chose a committee of ten

" to iiotify the Inhabitants of the West part of the

Town, to attend at the adjournment of this meeting,

that they might express their minds relative to the

becoming a separate Society."

The adjourned meeting took place June 11, 1804,

and it was " Voted unanimously that they would en-

deavor to be separated from the Easterly part of the

Town of Marlborough, either as a poll parish, a pre-

cinct, or a separate Town." A committee of eleven

was chosen whose duty it was " to take all the matters

of our meeting into consideration ; and also to select

a spot or spots to build a Meeting-House on."

This committee met June 16, and voted to recom-

mend "to the Inhabitants to build a Meeting-House

on the land of Josiah Fay and Capt. William Gates,

west of Wheeler's Lane, near what is now Broad

Street."

On the 12th of July, they met again, and agreed to

petition the Selectmen of the Town to insert an article

in the next Town Warrant, " To see if the Town will

give their consent that those Inhabitants residing in

the Westerly part of Marlborough, may be incorpor-

ated,—and a separate Town made of the Territory
;

and to do and act in the premises as to them may
seem proper."

At a meeting of the Inhabitants of the Town, July

16, it was voted not to grant the aforesaid petition.

Aug. 26, 1804, the Committee of Eleven met, and
appointed three of their number, a sub-committee
" to prepare a petition to the General Court, and .such

other papers as they may think necessary for the In-

habitants of the West End of the Town of Marlbo-

rough, who wish for a separation, to subscribe to at

their next meeting."

The petition to the General Court was drawn up
and signed by George Williams and seventy -five other

citizens of the West part of the Town. Messrs. Silas

Gates, Benjamin Rice, Jr., and Luke Drury, were
chosen as "Three agents to present the petition to

the General Court, and each was authorized to appear

in the name of the whole."

The petitioners immediately proceeded to organize

themselves as a society, to be known as "The Peti-

1 By J. v. Jackmau.

tioners for a Division of the Town of Marlborough."

Taking it as certain that their petition would be

granted, they proceeded to choose officers, to raise

money for various purposes, and to make preparations

for building a meeting-house on land purchased for

the purpose.

Before the meeting-house was erected, however,

the committee of both branches of the General Court

"heard the parties," and, after due consideration,

January 23, 1805, reported that " the petitioners have

leave to withdraw their petition." The General

Court accepted the report, and the effort to make a

new town was at an end.

The petitioners were, of course, much disappoint-

ed, and after paying all expenses incurred, voted to

distribute the remaining funds among the contribu-

tors according to the amount each hud paid, either

by taxation or voluntary contribution.

Things now took a different turn. The "Petition-

ers " met March 28, 180.5, and decided to make an

effort to secure land for a new road between the

houses of Samuel Gibbon and Jonah Rice, and also

for a " Meeting-House Spot." A committee was ap-

pointed to carry out this project, and at an adjourned

meeting, April 2, 1805, it was deemed advisable to go

ahead and purchase all necessary land, and erect a

meeting-house on the land of Benjamin Rice and

Windsor Ward. A subscription paper was circulated

at this meeting, and pledges amounting to five thou-

sand two hundred and twenty-one dollars were se-

cured.

At the next meeting, April 5, notice was given to

the "Town's Building Committee and the selectmen

of Marlborough that the inhabitants of the westerly

part" of the town " have determined to build a meet-

ing-house on lands of Benjamin Rice and Windsor

Ward," and that the said building committee had

better " lessen the dimension of their house, or pro-

ceed in any other way that they in their wisdom shall

think fit and proper."

The reason given in the notice for the step about

to be taken was that "it will be most for the peace

and happiness " of the parties concerned.

From this time on to April 4, 1806, various meet-

ings were held concerning the proposed meeting-

house, and it was then voted, (April 4,) to "take

measures to form ourselves into a Religious Society

as soon as possible." At the same meeting, a com-

mittee of fifteen chosen for the purpose reported that,

" We, the subscribers, wishing to form ourselves into

a regular Religious Society, have for many years past

been satisfied with the services of the Rev. Asa Pack-

ard as a minister of the Gospel, and are still wishing

him to be our minister, feeling ourselves able and

willing to make him a reasonable compensation for

his services in the ministry with us."

A committee was appointed " to wait upon the

Rev. Asa Packard and request him to supply the pul-

pit in the new Meeting-House."
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May 12, 1806, a petition was presented to the

selectmen asking tiiat tliey would call a town-meet-

ing " to see whether the town will consent that the

subscribers, together with sucli others as may join

them, shall be incorporated into a Religious Society,

by such name as the Legislature of the Common-
wealth may direct."

A petition to the General Court was also drawn up,

setting forth that the subscribers " had at great ex-

pense erected a convenient building for purposes of

Public Worship; that they liad emiiloyed a Public

Teacher, who constantly preaches in said building;

that they believed that the cause of religion and

good morals would be advanced by their incorpora-

tion into a religious society," and that therefore

"your petitioners pr.ay that they may be incorporated

as aforesaid, with such privileges and immunities as

appertain and belong to Parishes :—and as in duty

bound will ever pray."

This petition was signed by George Williams and

one hundred and ten others.

There were now two branches of the church in

Marlborough, and it seems that they were harmonious

in all their proceedings, for when a town-meeting was

called for the purpose of effecting a union of the two,

by paying all expenses incurred by the new society,

each branch voted that " we do not, either of us, mean

to oppose or interrupt the other branch of this

church, in the enjoyment of the special ordinances

of the Gospel, or the settlement of a Gospel Minis-

ter," and that they would oppose any such measure

as that proposed, on the ground that it would " neith-

er contribute to their honor, their peace, nor their

happiness, nor be consistent with either."

Various etibrts were made by the town to bring the

two sections together, but to no purpose. The " Pe-

titioners " considered that they were entitled to ex-

istence as a separate society, because they had been

recognized as such by "The unanimous voice of a

very respectable ecclesiastical council, mutually

chosen by the two branches of the Church of Christ

in Marlborough," and because they had "a teacher

of their own choice, and a meeting-house," which

they had "occupied more than one year."

The town threw every obstacle in the way, but

finally the " petitioners " were successful, for Febru-

ary 20, 1808, the " Act of Incorporation " passed the

Houseof Representatives, and February 22d, the Sen-

ate, and " The Second Parish of Marlborough," com-

monly known as the Unitarian Parish, had a legal

existence with "all the privileges and immunities

accorded to other parishes."

The first parish meeting under the "Act of Incor-

poration" was held March 8, 1808. At this meeting,

all necessary parish ofBcers were chosen and meas-

ures were taken to dedicate their meeting-house and

sell the pews therein.

The Rev. Asa Packard formally accepted the invi-

tation to become the pastor of the new society, and

the relation was sustained until he resigned the pas-
torate in 1819.

During his pastorate, the society received from .Mr.

JOphraim liriglmm the gift of a lot of land now known
as the " Brigham Cemetery,"—the donor giving lu n
reason for the gift, his "being moved thcreunlo by
respect for the remains of my honored and beloved
parents which were deposited there because infected
with small pox."

In 1810, the Rev. Mr. Packard was succeeded by
the Rev. Seth .\lden, wjio remained |)astor of the so-

ciety till 18.34, when the Rev. William Morse became
his successor.

In 1837, the ladies of the parish met and organized

a society for benevolent purposes, and mutual im-

provement. For many years, they met in jirivate

nouses, and accomplished much godd for the parish.

Finally, they gave up this plan, and held their meet-

ings in the vestry of the church, until, in 1880, they
were installed in sumptuous quarters c^ontained in an
addition to the church built for the purpose by the

wealthy, public-spirited men and women of the par-

ish. The society is to-day known as "The Ladii-s'

(leneral Charitable Society," and is a powerful factor

in the management of parish affairs.

The Rev. Mr. Morse was succeeded in 18-14 by the

Kev. Horatio Alger. Under his administration, the

parish received a gift of five hundred dollars ($.500),

from Mrs. Elizabeth Phelps, the same to be devoted

to the establishment of a library. The collection of

books thus formed was increased by a gift of 200 vol-

umes from Henry Rice, Esq., of Boston. Many ad-

ditions have been made since that time, until, at the

present day, it contains more than 3000 well-selected

volumes, illustrating nearly every department of

English literature.

In 185r), the society took a decided stand against

the " Institution of Slavery," and declared that they

would "decline all such connection with other.

churches calling themselves Christian, as shall impli-

cate us in any degree or in any way in the guilt of

npholding and perpetuating slavery."

The Rev. Mr. Alger resigned his pastorate in 1859,

and was succeeded in 1801 by the Rev. W. C. Tenney,

whose services as pastor ended in 1864.

In 1865, the Rev. Eugene De Normandie assumed

charge of the parish, and served as pastor till 1809.

During this time the church was thoroughly " remod-

elled and rebuilt."

The Rev. Calvin Stebbins followed Mr. De Nor-

mandie in 1809. A new parsonage was built for bis

use by voluntary contributions from several members

of the parish.

In 1872, the parish voted to admit women over

eighteen years of age as members, with all the pri-

vileges enjoyed by men.

The services of the Rev. Mr. Stebbins wore discon-

tinued in 1872. From that year to the present time

the parish has been under the charge of Rev. J. H.
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Wiggin, 1872-1875; Kev. R. A. Griffin, 1877-1888;

and Rev. Edward F. Hayward, the present pastor,

who began his term of service in 1889.

Such, ill brief, is the history of the Unitarian Par-

ish of Marlboro'. It is to-day a highly prosperous

society, holding in its possession a " Ministerial Fund "

amounting to six thousand six hundred dollars

($6600), given by many of the earlier members of

the parish ; a fund for the maintenance of the

Brigham cemetery, known as the Gibbon Fund; a

fine church and organ, and a spacious common. All

these, together with the parsonage before mentioned,

show the generosity of the noble men and women,

who have been enrolled in its membership.

Connected with the society is a flourishing Sunday-

school, consisting of nearly two hundred members,

under charge of S. H. Howe, Esq., who has been for

many years its efficient superintendent.

The expenses of the parish, with the single excep-

tion of a poll-tax, assessed on voting members, are

all met by voluntary contributions. Up to 1875,

parish expenses were met by taxation, but at that

time all pew-holders donated their pews to the society,

and from that date the seats in the church have all

been " free."

During the eighty-two years of its legal existence

the society has never seen a time when its men and

women were not ready and willing, each and all, to

maintain the honor and dignity of " The Second

Parish of Marlborough."

Methodist Episcopal Church.'—The history

of the Methodist Episcopal Church of Marlborough

is unique. The seed of Methodism in this vicinity

was sown by Rev. George Pickering in 1798. Under

his preaching one Phineas Sawyer was converted,

and he at once established meetings in his house and

factory, in the village of Feltonville, in the north

part of Marlborough (now Hudson).

The first Methodist Society in Marlborough was

organized under the name of "The First Methodist

Society in Marlborough," March 18, 1821, with Dan-

iel Stratton, president, Lewis Jewell, vice-president,

and Solomon Weeks, clerk. For a time the society

held its meetings in barns and groves. From 1821 to

1832 preachers from the Needham Circuit supplied,

and in 1832 the Marlborough Circuit was formed.

In 1827 a church edifice was built in a secluded spot

now known as " Gospel Hill," about equi-distant from

Marlborough Centre, Feltonville and Stow, and this

location was selected to accommodate the three vil-

lages. The building was dedicated March 5, 1828, by

the now famous Rev. E. K. Avery.

Amid great persecution the society prospered and

became noted. In 1851 a violent contention arose

over the question of removing the place of worship to

either Marlborough Centre, Feltonville or Rockbot-

tom, the latter being a village in Stow. The contest

1 By L. L. TarbelL

waxed hot, and after several teotative decisions the final

vote by agreement was taken December 27, 1852, and

resulted in deciding, by a bare majority, in remain-

ing on " Gospel Hill," and in " repairing the present

building." " From the heat of the debates," or from

other cause, the building took fire during that night

and was reduced to ashes. Thui the struggle ended, and

the several factions were freed, and separated in peace.

Steps were at once taken to erect a church edifice

in Marlborough Centre, and the present edifice was

dedicated with a sermon by Rev. .Joseph Cummings,
D.D., October 19, 1853. Favored with some of the

most popular preachers in the "connection " the so-

ciety has prospered.

In 1887, under the pastorate of Rev. P. C. Sloper,

the church edifice was remodeled. The church and
parsonage are valued at $16,000.

The present officiary of the church is as follows

;

Pastor, Rev. Ernest P. Herrick ; Sunday-school

superintendent, John Boggs ; organist, Harry Gib-

son ; chorister, James H. Warner.

Trustees, E. Stowe, C. B. Greenwood, W. W. Hol-

yoke, J. W. Baird, G. W. Holyoke, John Boggs, Luther

L. Tarbell.

President, C. B. Greenwood ; clerk, Luther L. Tar-

bell ; treasurer, E. Stowe.

Stewards, W. W. Holyoke, H. E. Rice, Thomas Robb,

C. L. Perry, E. B. Clark, Hiram Greenwood, G. W.
Holyoke, Mrs. W. S. Frost, Mrs. C. B. Greenwood,

H. O. Pendleton.

Treasurer, W. W. Holyoke.

The First Baptist Church was organized April

14, 1868, with the following constituent members :

Mr. and Mrs. C. M. Angier, Mr. and Mrs. H. Bel-

knap, Mr. and Mrs. W. D. Walker, Mr. and Mrs. H.

C. Gates, Miss Lizzie A. Crocker, Mrs. M. A. Dad-
mun. Miss Nancy A. Leger, Miss E. M. Gates, Frank
H. Lowell, Robert A. Marshall, Edward P. Richard-

son, Marshall G. Richards, Miss Lucy Trask, Mrs.

William Allen and Mrs. A. F. Brigham.

This meeting was held at the house of Mr. W. D.

Walker. Previous to this time, however, baptism

services had been held in the town by Father Fritz,

the Baptist State Missionary. The first prayer-meet-

ing was held at the house of Mr. W. D. Walker, in

July, 1866. July 15, 1867, an informal or temporary

organization was effected, with W. D. Walker a com-

mittee on pulpit su])ply and man-of-all-work; M. G.

Richards, solicitor of funds; F. H. Lowell, treasurer;

E. P. Richardson, clerk; and C. C. Curtis was au-

thorized to secure the use of Sons of Temperance Hall

as the temporary place of worship.

The first public services were held July 21, 1867,

and a sermon preached by Rev. D. F. Lamson, of

Northborough, Mass.

May 16, 1868, a call to the first pastorate of the

church was voted to M. R. Deming, who was then

acting as pulpit supply, and at a meeting held June
6th it was reported that the call was accepted. A
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council for ordination met in the Universal iet Church,

Marlboro', June 18th, and, after examiuatiuu, Mr.

Deming Wiis regularly ordained aud installed as pas-

tor. He remained until June 2, 1871. The lirst dea-

cons of the church were E. P. Richardson and Charles

Angier.

The pastors since Mr. Deming have been as fol-

lows: Rev. J. T. Burhoe, J. H. Barrows, L. W. Frick

and the present efficient pastor. Rev. Charles Ran-

som Powers.

Definite action relative to securing a house of wor-

ship wa-s taken in 18C0. It was then decided to pur-

chase the present site of Fulton Hall, for which the

sum of $1701 was paid. The old town hall, then

standing where the present one stands, was sold at

auction on March 9, 1869, and was struck olf to pas-

tor Deming for §1050. It was removed to its present

position, raised a story and fitted up with two stores

on the first floor, and the upper part was finished and

furnished nearly as it is now.

November 5, 1885, it was voted either to repair the

old and outgrown Fulton Hall or build anew. Land

was subsequently purchased on the corner of Wither-

bee and Mechanic Streets, and the present fine

church edifice erected. It was formally dedicated

December 4, 1889.

The Church of the Holy Trinity.'—The

rectors of St. Mark's Church, Southborough, were

called upon from time to time to perform relig-

ious offices for English Church families residing in

Marlborough. Occasional services were held. While

the Rev. F. L. Bush and the Rev. Pelhham Williams,

S. T. D. were residing temporarily in Southborough,

these services were quite regular. At one time an

upper room in the building known as Marlborough

Block was the gathering-place of the little band of

worshippers. Later, when the Rev. Waldo Burnett

became rector at Southborough, a store was rented

under the old Fulton Hall, nearly opposite the Old

Colony Depot, and church services were held there

every Sunday evening, excepting in mid-summer. This

" Mission Room " was often uncomfortably crowded.

Mr. and Mrs. J. M. Sears, of Southborough, offered

to build a church, if the people would jiurchase a

suitable lot.

Strenuous effisrts were made, and the ground at the

corner of Main Street and Cotton Avenue was secured.

On November 17, 1887, the present beautiful church

was opened and consecrated by the Right Rev. B. H.

Paddock, D.D., the Bishop of Massachusetts. The

Rev. Mr. Burnett then resigned the charge of the

parish, and February 1, 1888, the Rev. Geo. S. Pine

became the first resident rector. The parish had been

organized March 25, 1887, and was admitted into

union with the Diocesan Convention, May 22, 1889.

The present wardens are William M. Hamilton, and

John T. Stewart. The church, on a prominent corner

1 By Rev. George 8. Pine.

of the Main Street, built in the early English style,

from a design by Emerson, the wcll-koown B.j»t<ia

architect, is an ornament to the town, lla iutvriur

is simple in coloring, but artistic in form. It liaa a
rood screen of wrought-iron, a fine organ and beauti-

ful chancel appointments. The music, a prominent
feature of the services, is rendered by a well trHinc<<i

ihoir of men and boys under the direction of Sir. B.

B. Gillette. Since the opening of the church Ihi-re

has been a steady growth in I lie parish. The iivenigo

attendance at the services and in the SumUvHchool
has more than doubled, the number of commuuicantji

has increased seventy-five per cent, and the pariith in

expanding itself more and more in the field of good
works.

Universalist Church.'—Unfortunately the early

records of the First Universalist Church, of .Marlboro',

Mass., have been lost, so that much which would be
of great interest to the present generation has pait8e<l

into the sea of oblivion. A few scattered papers and

documents, some of which are dated back over sixty

years, give no glimpsesof the beginning of the church

history.

A society for worship was formed about the year

1825, and a church building was erected soon after.

Probably no settled pastor was called for the first few

years. The pulpit was supplied from Sunday to

Sunday with preaching from a large number of min-.

isters, among which were many of the most prominent*

clergymen of that early day. In the year 1829, Rev.

Thomas J. Greenwood received a call to become
pastor of the church, at a salary of .$500.

The call was accepted, and for fifteen years Mr.

Greenwood ministered to the society, loved by his

people, and respected by all. The pastorate wa.s verj-

successful, for the society grew constantly in numbers

and wealth.

Following this pastorate is a period of several

years, which, unfortunately is almost a blank from

ihe loss of the Church Record book, .\bout all that

is known is that there wa-s a decline in interest and

activity, which was followed by a period of dormancy.

In the year 1802 or '03, Rev. Sylvanus Cobb, D.D,,

was called to the pastorate, although he never became

a resident of Marlboro'. The scattered elements of

the parish were brought toge'her by him, and re-or-

ganized, and a new period of prosperity began.

Rev. W. A. Start, now the secretary of the Massachu-

setts State Convention of Universalist-t, was Dr.

t.^obb's successor. His pastorate began March 19,

1805, and continued three years. During this period,

the present church building was erected, the parish

greatly strengthened, the congregation increa.sed,and

the Sunday-school built up to a membership of over

three hundred. The Rev. S. T. Aldrich, followed Mr.

Start, in a pastorate which was unfortunate, through

the pastor's deflection from the faith, and attempt to

' By B«r. F. 3. Elce.
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form an Independent Society, This movement was

not a success, and iu 1870, Rev. J. H. Weelcs became

tlie pastor. He continued two years, being succeeded

by Rev. Ada C. Bowles, as non-resident pastor.

Tiiese pastorates were uneventful, as was also that of

Rev. Lorenzii Huynes, which followed. Adverse con-

ditions made the life of the society something of a

struggle. Hurilened with debt, and somewhat dis-

heartened by its vicissitudes, for a time it was doubt-

ful what would be the outcome. Patience and perse-

verance, however, conquered, and in 1880, we find

the church under the guidance of a former pastor,

Rev. \V. A. Start, State Missionary, renewed with

hope and courage. The debt is lightened by the gen-

erosity of friends, and particularly by the munificent

gift 6f Miss Harriet Fay, a member of the church,

since deceased. In 1881, Rev. James Taylor became

the pastor, holding that position for two years. Kev.

W. F. Du.sseault followed him in a pastorate of five

years, which was abundantly blesssed. The church

is at present (1890) in charge of Rev. F. S. Rice, and

is united and prosperous.

The Rojian Catholic Church of the Immac-

ulate Conception stands on Prospect Street. It is

a handsome brick structure, an ornament to the town

and creditable alike to the spirit of faith and gener-

osity which placed it there. It is the largest church

in Marlborough, its audience room seating some four-

teen hundred. Its choir, under the direction of John

Dalton (Prof. F. W. Riley, organist) is justly cele-

brated for the excellent rendition of its church music.

The pastor is Rev. P. A. McKenna. He came here

as curate in 1870, and after some years' service as

pastor in the adjoining town of Hudson, was trans-

ferred back to Marlborough. His curate is Rev. John

T. O'Brien, ordained June, 1889.

The Catholics of Marlborough were organized as a

separate parish in January, 1864, when Rev. John A.

Conlin was appointed resident pastor. Rev. Ed.

Farrelly, pastor of Milford, celebrated the Sacrifice

of the Mass, for the first time, in Marlborough, Saint

Patrick's Day, 1851. Marlborough was then a mis-

sion, and remained so under Father Farrelly's and

Father John Walsh's administration until 1864.

The corner-stone of the first Catholic Church in

Marlborough was laid August 1, 1854. Rev. Nicholas

J. 0' Brien preached the dedication sermon.

The contrast between the present numerous con-

gregation and the one of that day is a fitting accom-

paniment to the many other contrasts suggested by

the celebration in Baltimore, November 10, 1889, of

the Centenary of the appointment of Bishop Carroll,

and also by the opening of the first Catholic Uni-

versity at .Washington, November 13th.

St. Mary's Church {French Catholic).—Pastor

Rev. C. Caisse.

French Evangelical Church—The First French

Evangelical Church (Protestant) has a brief history

at this date ; it has a history to make in the future.

In 1888 there was no Protestant French missionary

located in Marlboro', and the Massachusets Home
Missionary Society sent Mr. A. P. Blouin here to sell

Bibles and Christian literature and converse with the

French people about the Gospel and the New Testa-

ment. He came in Augu.st, 1888, and remained until

March, 1889. Immediately following him came Mr.

W. H. Parent, a student from Hartford Theological

Seminary, a converted Roman Catholic lawyer. He
preached in Forest Hall from March to September.

On his return to the seminary. Rev. Edward Pelletier

took his place and continues to preach the Gospel in

the French language. The audiences grew so large

that a church building soon became a necessity.

In the autumn of 1889 a fine lot of land on Lin-

coln Street, costing $1000, was purchased by Mr.

Samuel Boyd, and given to trustees, on which was to

be built a French Church.

Money for the church building was solicited by

Rev. A. F. Newton, from the Middlesex South, Mid-

dlesex Union, and Worcester South Conferences.

The churches and Sunday-schools contributed gener-

ously, and the money was raised. In the summer of

1890 the foundation of rubble work was built, costing

1530.

In October the erection of a beautiful Gothic

Church, contracted for $3000, was commenced. The

building is 32.k49 feet, with an addition of a porch,

11 feet 9 inches by 27 feet 8 inches. Above this

porch is a tower and steeple 72 feet high, crowned

with a star, 18 inches in diameter. There is ample

room for a parsonage in the rear of the church. The

seating capacity is about 250. There are about 3000

French people within a mile of the church. Electric

cars pass the church door.

The trustees of the society are Samuel Boyd, Dea-

con J. E. Curtis, Deacon L. W. Baker, Theodore

Meaner, D. A. Walker, F. L. Claflin and Rev. Joshua

Coit, secretary of the Massachusetts Home Mission-

ary Society. Rev. Edward Pelletier is the pastor.

CHAPTER LIX.

MARLBORO UQH—{ Continued).

Edncationul—Thc PreM—First Nalicmal Bank—People's IfiUioiial Bank—

Fubtic Library—Waier IVorka—Fire Department—Sleam Railway.

Educational.—As early as 1696 the town em-

ployed a master " to read English once a day at

least, also to write and cast accounts." In 1698 it

was voted to build a school-house, and Jonathan

Johnson was employed as teacher. In 1770, a con-

tract was made for a second school-house, and in

1701, the town was fined for not keeping a school-

master. In December of that year the town voted,

" That Thomas Rice and Isaac Amsden doo go forth
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with all speed convenient, in the town's name and
behalf, to doo what they can to provide a school-mas-

ter, qualified aciording to law, and to treat hitn with

terms for the half year or a twelvemonth, as they

shall think fit." In 1702, £7 were paid to John
Holraan, of Milton, "for teaching our children and
youth in reading, writing, and casting accounts; and

also in Latin, a-s occasion is, and in doing the duty of

school-master, four months."

In 1715, it was voted to build a new .school-house,

24 feet by 18 feet. In 1718, £47 were appropriated

for schools. .\t that day, and for years after, the

schools were kept in different parts of the township,

aii<l frequently in private houses.

In 1745, it was " Voted, That the school shall be

kept at the several parts of the town as heretofore."

And Samuel Witt, Colonel Williams, Thomas Hap-
good, Thomas Brighara, and Jotham Urigham, were

chosen a committee " to order the schools as above."

In September, 1745, it was " Voted, That all those

families that live more than a mile and a half from

either of the two school-houses, where the school

has been kept the past year, shall draw their propor-

tion of money out of the school rate."

Samuel Brigham received £57 10«. old tenor, in

full for keeping school two quarters in 1747.

March 13, 1748, "On the petition of Samuel .tones

and others, at the north-westerly part of the town, it

was put to vote, agreeably to said petition, whether

the petitioners should have their proportional part of

the school according to their pay, and it passed in the

affirmative."

"Voted aud chose a committee of seven uien, to a])pi>rtion the school

in six societies or squadrons, and the scholars t<i meet at the same school-

liouses, where the school has been lately kept, and to be settled accord-

ing to the pay of each squadron, taking the north-westerly corner for

one sqnadron.

*' Agreeably to the vote of the town, the committee, namely, Dea. An-

drew Rice, Major John Bnice, John Warren, Daniel Ilnrrington, John

Banister, John Weeks, and Abraham Howe, have made the following

division; that is, the squadron west of the meeting-hout^e, the scholars

are to meet at the school-house near Noah Church's, or tlie old tavern

place, thirteen weeks, four days, and three-fourths of a day, yearly

And the scholars are to meet in the squadron, at the west end of the

town, at the school-house near Moses Howe's, six weeks, three days,

and two-thirds of one day, yearly. And the north-west squadron, the

scholars are to meet at such a place as the squadron shall think proper,

two weeks and four days, J'early ; and the squadron easterly of the meet-

iiig-bouse, the scholars are to come to the school-h<iu8o near Joseph

Johnson's, sixteen weeks, one day, and one-third of a day, yearly ; and

the squadron northerly of the meeting-house, at the school-house near

John Hapgnod's, seven weeks and two-thirds of a day, yearly ; ami the

squadron at the east end of the town, at the school-house near Joseph

Baker's, five weeks, four days, and two-thirds of a day, yearly.

" The one-third, two-thirds, and three-fourths mentioned above, are

added to the north-west squadron, to make that up three weeks."

In 1762, it was voted, " That the town will build

or repare the school-housen in the several .squadrants

in the town, Where they Now are." Si.\ new school-

houses were soon after erected.

The exigencies of the town were such that but little

attention was given to the schools during the Revolu-

tion.

53-iii

In 1790 there were seven school dislricia or aqukd-
rons as they were then called.

The act of 1834 establishing a school fund, and that
of 1837 creating the Board of I'Muciuion, iMfi.ri'cd new
life into the schools and from lliat time to the pre-
sent the citizens of Marlborough hiive ki'pl abrnuit
with the rapid strides in educational intercMts through-
out the Ooinmonwealth. The yearly appropriutioti

for schools was increased from 1900 in 1834,U>$;i.'i,000

in 1889.

There are now free schools in the town with 51

teachers and an average daily attendance oflG84.
Whole number of pupils ennillcd 2049.

Giftx.—The iimt benefaction to the town for edu-
cational purposes was that of Captain Kphraiui Brig-

ham of £111. 1771. The interest of this fund waa
used to establish the Brigham School. The fund wiw
finally merged in the general school fund.

In 1820 an academy was established, and in the fol-

lowing year a building was erected for its accommo-
dation. It was an individual enterprise.

In 1827 Silas Gates and his son Abraham gave $2000
towards its maintenance, and the name was changed
to Gates Academy. After a few years of prosperity

it declined, and in 18:!3 had nearly expired. In that

year Mr. O. W. Albce took charge. Jle infused new
life into the enterprise an<l his success in bringing the

academy up to a high standard was almost phenome-
nal.

Mr. Albee was a man peculiarly fitted for the

position which he filled. Besides being a proficient

teacher he w.-is a liberal-minded and public-spirited

citizen, lie remained in charge of the academy until

it was merged in the high school in 1849. The be-

quests of the Messrs. Gates were finally transferred to

the town, and the interest appropriated to the support

of the high school.

Generous appropriations have been made for the

schools, and they are in a promising condition.

The loUowing list shows the present attendance and
names of teachers

:

Bigdow.—1st grade, Miss Anna Withorbee, 63 pupils; 2(1, Ml« H«|.

tie Brigham, 47 ; :M, Miai Slary E. Donovan, 61 ; 4tb, Mhw EmniM K.

Baker, 47 ; .'ttli. Miss Mary E. tlartnctl, 61 ; 6th, 3lisB Jennie WnlrotI,

48: 7th, Miss Mar)- Kaler, 35 ; 8lh, Miss Angle Dudloy.S'J; 9lh, Mr. J.

V. Jackson and Miss .\lice Davis, !A. Total, 4'2S pupils.

HildreUi.— lat, Miss Harriet Alexander, 4fi pupils ; 'Jil, Mia Mary A.

Cotleary, 50 ; 3d, Misses Mary Curtis and Josephine Mor««, TO
; 4th, MIm

Kate Shaughnessy, 5'2
; 5th, Miss Anna Hyde, .%4 ; nth, MIm Maggie

McCarthy, 54 ; 7th, Miss Anna Wall. 48 ; lilh, MiM .^Ilnoie Wonlen, 47 ;

!lth. Misses Elleu A. O'Connoll and Mcllna WoslcotI, 03. Tobl, 40<

pupils.

Wfuhiiigltm.—1st, Misses Addie Alexander and Lillian Uolden, .^R pu-

pils ; '2d, Misses Anna Wilder and Klorence Morse, .'i5 ; 3d, MImi^ Mury
O'Callahan and Agnes McCarthv, 70 ; 4th, Miwea .Mary Fitlgemld and

Mary Moriarty, 63 ; 5(h, MiM Mary McDonald, 46 ; Gih, Mlsi Wliinia

O'Donnell, 40 ; 7th, Miss J. B. Colbert, 4<'i ; Sib, Miss Be»ie O. Frre.

man, 33. Total, 415 pupils

Pleasattt Street.—Ist, grade, .Misi Anna W. Packard. 40 pupils ; lit, 91 Im

Mary A. Murphy, 46 ; 'Jd, Jliss N. V. Wludan. 4'.'
; 'id, .lliu M E. Fay,

41 ; 3d, Miss Mar)' CnvunauKli,45 ; 4th, MIh Llllinn I'rall, IS ; 4Ui Mlu
Nellie Quirk, 51 ; 51b. MlwU. \V. Gleaaim, 61 ; (1th and 7lh, MIk P. A.

Gleason, — ; etb, BIlsMl E. A. Cook and Mary Collins, 48. ToUl, loi

pupils.
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Sifh Sckooi.—lit year or RXtile, 64 pupili ; 2(1 year or grade, 64 ;
3il

year or grade. 24 ; 4th or senior year, 27. Total, 16!i pupils. Teacliers,

G. H. RockwQod, MIoMK Florence Lock, Mary H. Morae, Lucy Pierce,

M. L. Wliilcher.

Farm School, mixed, Mlsn Emily Monie, 20 pn|iil».

Rice School, mixed. Ml™ Iterthii Stevcim, 'J2 pii|>ile.

Robin Hill School, miitd, Miwi Jl. I.. Frost, 24 pupils.

South Street School, l»t iind 2d grades. Miss Mary Fitjpatriek, 2S pu-

pils Total, '.II pupil.^.

The present School Committee is as follows : S. H.

Howe, chairman ; J. W. McDonald, secretary ;
Wil-

liam L. Morse, treasurer ; Daniel W. Cosgrove, Charles

Favreau, Ellen A. O'Connell, clerk. Superintendent,

H. R. Roth.

The Press.—The first weekly newspaper estab-

lished in Marlboro, was the "Mirror,"' in October,

1859, by Stilliiian B. Pratt, who learned the printer'.-

art in the office of the Middleboro' Oazette, having pur-

chased his little plant, wholly on credit, and com-

mencing his business life here with a capital of only

thirteen cents. This first office was in Union Block,

opposite the O. C. R. R., on Main Street, with only

one press—for hand use.

Mr. Pratt was a native of Orleans, Mass., born

November 24, 1836, the son of Rev. Slillman Pratt,

and came of a reformatory and protesting family.

John Pratt, his first American ancestor, was boy-

cotted out of England, by religious persecution, and

settled in Dorchester, Mass., in 1632. Other ancestors

took part in all the Indian and early wars of Massa-

chusetts, including King Philip's.

One ancestor was an officer in the French and In-

dian war. Both his grandfather and great-grandfather

were soldiers of the Revolution.

His father was early identified with the anti-slavery

and temperance reformations, and naturally enough

the Marlboro' Mirror, from the start, advocated these

causes, then so unpopular.

In May 1861, a syndicate having, previously capi

talised and established the Marlboro' Journal, the Mir-

ror was purchased by these gentlemen, and merged

with that paper.

Soon after this, Mr. Pratt became proprietor of the

Middleboro' Oazette, and later on established at Boston,

the American Workman, the official organ of Labor

Reform, and in .1869, he was run by that party as

their candidate for Secretary of State. Later on when

alien influence took possession of the leading labor

organization of America, the Workman was sold to

other parties.

During the ten years, from 1861 to 1871, local

journalism in Marlboro' had a varied history. George

Mills Joy, editor of the Journal, early enlisted in the

Union army, and shortly after the paper was discon-

tinued, and for a time Marlboro' had no paper printed

within its borders.

At the close of the war, \Vm. W. Wood re-estab-

lished the Marlboro' Mirror, and in May 1871, after

just ten years' absence, Mr. Pratt returned to Marlboro'

and purchased the same, and soon greatly extended

the business, consolidating the Mirror-Journal into a

" hyphenated " paper ; started the vpeekly Marlboro'

Advertiser and established a large group of local papers

throughout this whole section of the State, under the

firm-name of Pratt Brothers. He has owned more

local papers in Massachusetts than any other man.

In the fall of 1887, Pratt Brothers issued the Daily

Mirror, the first paper of its kind in these parts. This

daily was discontinued in 1889, A complete file is in

the State Library.

In 1888, Stilkuan B. Pratt established here a Relig-

ious Reformation paper, the Weekly American, as a

protest against the parochial school and other alien

aggressions, and in advocacy of " Free Public Schools,

Free Speech, Press and Worship, and Free Shops."

This paper soon achieved an international reputation,

and in 1889, its editorial office was removed to Boston,

where it has ever since been published. Mr. Pratt's

editorial experience has been enriched by three tours

in Europe in 1861, 1885 and 1889.

In 1889, the local business was sold to S. B. Pratt's

son, Wm. W. Pratt, who is still in charge of the job

and newspaper interests under the old firm name of

Pratt Brothers.

The Enterprise.—About two years ago the publish-

ers of The Enterprise in Hudson, Messrs. Wood
Brothers, conceived and carried to a successful issue,

the idea of starting a similar paper under the name
of The Mlarlboro' Enterprise, in this town. The first

number appeared September 8, 1888, and was received

at once with the most marked favor. In less than a

year it had demonstrated itself to be a success, and

since that time has grown steadily in scope and influ-

ence until already it takes a front place in the list of

Marlboro' papers. On September 3, 1889, the first

number of The Daily Enterprise was issued, and in a

short time its business had increased to such an extent

that it became necessary to put in a new plant in

Marlboro'. This was done, and for the first year the

business was carried on in the Hazelton block. About

the middle of November, 1890, the business outgrew

these quarters, and a new building was erected on the

corner of Hid and Devens Streets, with an office on

the Main Street. To this place the paper has been

removed, and it is expected will be able to do even

better work in the enlarged accommodations.

The Daily, is as yet a young paper, but it is alive

all over, and gives every evidence of having a strong

hold upon the people here.

Wliile always aiming to give the news in the fullest

and most complete manner, it has carefully refrained

from espousing the cause of any particular party, sect

or creed. It is run in the interests of good govern-

ment, pure morals, and honest citizenship, and is the

determined opponent of error, wrong and corruption

wherever found.

To these principles it attributes its success, and that

the public appreciate the eflbrts of the publisher to

issue a good clean family newspaper, is evidenced

by the increasing popularity of Tlie Enterprise.
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The Marlborough Star was established January 1,

1887 as a bi-weekly, tlir()iijj:li the desire of the Catho-
lic Lyceum, and at the suggestion of Fr. McKenna,
to have the Catholics who form a great part of Marl-
boro's people, to be represented by a weekly de-

voted to Irish American and Catholic interests, and
especially the advocacy of temperance. It was a six

column paper of twenty-four inches in length and
numbered four pages, ltd editorial work was done by
the members of the Lyceum, promiment among whom
were John T. Winner and John F. Plunkett.

The paper continued under this management for

that year and then passed into the control of a stock-

company composed of many of the Lyceum people,

whose interest in the paper had not cea.sed. It was

made a seven column paper, a little longer than the

old one, aud started oU' under the management of W.
D. Doyle. Mr. James L. Sullivan of Worcester as-

sumed its management August 9, 1800.

The Mtir/borough Times is edited and published by

Charles F. Morse.

Banks.— The First National Bank of Marlboro'.—
This was the one hundred and fif'y-eighth bank
organized under the National Bank Act. When that

act became a law, February 25, 1SG3, Mark Fay, who
had long had business dealings with Lancaster Bank,

of Lancaster, Mass., travelling to and fro, on the days

of the weekly meetings of the directors, gathered

around him some of Marlboro's most enterprising cit-

izens, and together they organized the First National

Bank of Marlboro,' with a capital of $50,000 and
authority to commence business October 1, 18(53.

The first directors were Mark Fay, Samuel Boyd,

Sidney G. Fay, William Woods (2d), William Gib-

bon, Joseph Boyd, John M. Whiton, Erastus S.

Woods and George E. Woods. From the start for-

tune smiled upon the bank, and on January 28, 1864,

the original capital was increased to $100,000, and on

November 7th, in the same year, to $150,000, at which

figure it remained, until May 5, 1865, when it was

once more increased to $200,000.

Mark Fay was unanimously chosen as its first pres-

ident, which office he held until his death, in 1876,

when William Gibbon was chosen as his successor.

In 1878 Sidney G. Fay became president, filling

that position until his death in 1882.

Edmund C. Whitney, formerly of the Lancaster

Bank, was elected as its first cashier, remaining in

that position until 1882y.when he resigned to become
cashier of one of the Boston banks.

F. L. Claflin succeeded him as cashier, having

previously been in the Newton National Bank. '

When the charter of the bank expired, in 1882, it

was wound up, its stockholders receiving, on August

30th, the sum of $150 for every share of stock they

held, and immediately organized another bank with

the same name to commence business September 1,

1882, it being the twenty-seven hundred and seven-

tieth bank organized under the National Bank Act. '

The capital was fixed at WOO.OOO, Ht which flffure it

stood until 1887, when it wa« reduced to ll.Vl.tKW.
The original directorn of this bank were Samuel Ikiyd,
\Vm. Morse. Sidney G. Kay, Win. II. lay, Charli-s l!
Fay, Edward F. Johnson, Es.i.,7\iid T. \. CiH,\u\g,«.

Sidney G. Fay was chosen the lir-t prt-Jiideni, but u
sickness had overtaken liiiu he was never able to
qualify, and the duties and rcsponsibililieii ro«t*d
upon the vice-president. Samuel Boyd, who, in Janu-
ary, 1883, wax made president, Sidney (!. Fay having
been removed by death. In January, 188.'), William
H. Fay succeedeil to the presidency, and occupies that
po.sition at the present time.

F. L. Clafiin Is the only cashier the bank has had.
This institution, situated away from the buHinecs

centre of the town, but in the very heart of itii popu-
lation, has, by its fair and honorable elforts to serve
the community, won for itaelf an enviable reputation,
and a degree of siieee.ss that justifies the wisdom of its

promoters in their e(f..rts to retain atideiirryon in their

midstan institution withsuchan honoi able past to H«rvo
the public in this rapidly-growing town in the future.

The Peoples' National lianL—MXev a few year* of
stagnation in the manufacturing buslne)*8 of the town
caused in part by " labor troubles," the year 1878
proved to be the beginning of a long seiuson of pros-

perity and growth, not only in the manufacture of
boots and shoes, but in the large and steady gain in

population. For years afterwards the first thing that

would attract the eye of strangers when coming into

town, would be the large number of buildings in all

parts of the town in process of construction.

There was at this lime one National Hank, also a

Savings Bank in the town ; but the growing business

interests demanded more banking facilities. Aboutlbe
first of September, 1878, a conference of a few public-

spirited gentlemen was held, and it was decided to see

what could be done towards getting subscription to

the capital stock of the proposed new bank. Jlr. D.
W. Hitchcock, a retired Boston merchjmt, who made
Marlborough his place of residence, in 1872, but who
was well and favorably known in the town, accepted
the important duty of soliciting subscriptions. In a
very short time the whole amount of $100,000 was sub-

scribed, and on Sept. 26, 1878, a meeting of the sub-

scribers was held in Central Hall, Corey Block, to

choose a committee to complete the organization, and
to decide such other matters as might be deemed
best. Mr. S. N. Aldrich presided, and John L. Stone,

was secretary. It was decided to have for a name
" The Peoples' National Bank," and the following

were chosen a committee to take all necessary mea-sures

to start the bank, viz., Elbridge Howe, ». .1. Shaw,
D. W. Hitchcotk, Samuel Boyd, S. H. Howe, Joseph
Boyd, John O'Connell, George N. Gate, S. N. Aldrich,

W. M. Warren, L. S. Brigham, Stephen A. Howe,
(2d,) Abel Howe and T. A. Coolidge, of Marlborough,

and J. S. Bradley, of Hudson, These same gentle-

men were afterward elected as the first Board of
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Directors, who organized with Elbridge Howe, as

president, S. J. Shaw, as vice-president, and Stephen

A. Howe (2d) secretary. With this Board of Direc-

tors, the success of tlie bank was a.ssured from thestart.

Immediate steps were talcen to obtain a charter

from the autliorities at Washington, and the organi-

zation was completed October 31st, and the bank

aiilhorizeii to commence business December 9. After

several attempts to select a cashier, on the 4th day of

December, John L.Stone, of Marlborough was elected

to that position, and on the evening of the same day

his bond was accepted. Although not an experienced

banker, the selection may be said to have been a for-

tunate one, as he was well-known throughout this

and the adjoining towns, and his mercantile experi-

ence had learned him not only how to secure custom-

ers, but also how to keep them.

The rooms that were selected in the Town Hall

Building for the banking-rooms, not being ready for

occupancy as soon as expected the receiving of de-

posits was somewhat delayed ; the first deposit being

received from the well-known Insurance Agent Mr.

Samuel B. Maynard, on January 13, 1879.

From that day a steady increase has been made

until at the present time the number of depositors is

considerably over two hundred, and the amount to

the credit of depositors nearly ifnot quite ^250,000.00.

In November 1882 the bank was moved into the

new building owned by Mr. Hiram Temple, and

known as Temple Block, thereby securing pleasanter

and better rooms for its increasing business. The

bank has recently purchased a location on Main

Street, and will build a substantial brick building,

having all the modern improvements for the transac-

tion of the banking business. On the death of Mr.

Elbridge Howe, who died in California April 5, 1886,

while travelling for the benefit of his health, Mr. D.

W. Hitchcock succeeded to the presidency of the bank.

It has been the policy of the managers of this in-

stitution to engage in all the legitimate branches ol

banking, not only making it profitable for the stock-

holders, but an accommodation to the different classes

of customers. With this idea in view, they sell for-

eign exchange, buy and sell gevernment bonds, and

have first-class bonds for sale for investments, and

they never offer anything for sale that they do not

own. Nothing of this kind is sold on commission.

In January 1888 the bank was designated a United

States Depositary. The following is the condition of

the bank at the last annual meeting:

BESOUaCES.
Loans and di8count« 8286,609. 6i

Overdrafts 28.85

CuiU?d States Bonds 4 per cent, par value 26,000.00

Stocks and securities 2,3;I0.0<)

Due from banks 63,7.52.07

Due from United States Treasury 10.00

Cash on hand 26,118..iO

Expenses and taxes paid 132.30

Premium on United States Bonds 2,000.00

Eedemption Fund 1,125.00

$407,106.38

LXABILITIES.

Cspltal stock tlOO.OOO.OO

Surplus 20,000.00

Unilivided Proflte 12,13l>.40

National Bank-notes Outstanding 22,.'>oo.00

Dividends unpiiid ; 905.50

Deposits 251,474.48

$407,106.38

The last dividend was a three per cent, semi-annual

dividend declared and payable January 1, 1890. The
present Board of Directors consists of: D. W. Hitch-

cock, S. H. Howe, John O'Connell, S. N. Aldrich,

W. M. Warren, L. S. Brigham, A. C. AVeeks, Abel

Howe, B. F. Greeley, L. P. Howe, C. B. Greenwood,

John L. Stone and Walter P. Frye.

Such is a brief history of the Peoples' National

Bank of Marlborough, which wise men prophesied

would be a failure.

Marlborouyh Savinr/s' Bank}—On the 10th day of

May, 1860, ilark Fay, Samuel Boyd, Thomas Corey,

William Morse (2d) and Levi Bigelow met at the

office of Boyd & Corey, to accept the charter of this

institution, which had been granted by the General

Court, and approved by Governor N. P. Banks, under

date of April 3, 1860. This was thirty-three days be-

fore the celebration of the two hundredth anniver-

sary of the settlement of Marlborough occurred. The
population of the town was 6900, and yet no bank

or institution for savings had been organized by its

citizens. Mark Fay, the first named in this charter,

had for a time previous transacted business for his

towns people in the Savings and State Banks lo-

cated at Lancaster, both in the way of savings for

people of moderate means, also in procuring loans

upon real estate for those who wished them, and dis-

counts for the traders and manufacturers, and know-

ing the benefits the town might derive from an insti-

tution of this kind, had been instrumental in securing

this charter for Marlborough. At the first election of

officers. May 21, 1860, Samuel Boyd was chosen

president ; Jabez S. Witherbee, vice-president ; John

M. Farwell, clerk ; Mark Fay, treasurer, with Thomas

Corey, William Morse (2d), Samuel A. Chipman,

Benjamin F. Underbill, Levi Bigelow, Francis Brig-

bam, A. C. Felton, Asa Lewis, William P. Brigham,

Peter P. Howe, C. S. Hastings.

The bank was opened for business June 22, 1860,

at the office of Boyd & Corey, one day of each week.

The deposits the first six months amounted to $2312,

when a dividend of 2j per cent, was declared. Wil-

liam Morse (2d) was chosen president. May 19, 1862,

and remained in this office three years, when Mark

Fay was elected president and Edmund C. Whitney

was chosen treasurer. Sidney G. Fay succeeded his

father as president. May 16, 1870, remaining in office

two years, when Elbridge Howe was elected presi-

dent. He remained in office ten years and was a great

help to the bank, as was Edmund C. Whitney, who

held the office of treasurer thirteen years. Edward

iBy Edward K. Alley.
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R. Alley, the present treasurer, was elected October,

1878. S. Herbert Howe was chosen president May
15, 1882, remaining to tliis ilatt-. The deposits now
amount to $l,421,r)70.l2.

Marlborough County Operatiae Bank.—President,

Cliarles F. Robinson.

I'UBLIC LmuARY.—The first jnibiic library was
established in 1792, and the present library in 1870.

A gift of several hundred volumes was made by the

Mechanics' Institute. The town also voted $1300 for

its establishment. The citizens have manifested a

lively interest in the library, and liberal appropria

tions have been made for its support. It contains

10,000 volumes.

The present trustees are as follows : E. L. Bigelow,

Miss H. E. Higelow, W. D. Doyle, Rev. F. S. Rice,

J. E. Savage, J. V. Jackman, VVilliam H. Loughlin,

George Mastel, Francis C. Curtis and Mrs. H. E.

Bigelow. The librarian is Sarah E. Cutting, assist-

ants, Lottie G. Moore and Mary S. Chamberlain.

Water-Works.—The water-works were construct-

ed in 1882, and completed at the close of l.S8;i, at a cost

of $165,174.48. The water supply is Lake Williams.

The capacity of lake and watershed is 175,000,000

gallons annually. Capacity of reservoir, 5,000,000 gal Is.

Present Board of Water Commissioners.—James T.

Murphy, term expires 1890 ; R. D. S. Mortimer, term

expires 1891 ; John A. Connell, term expires 1892.

Officers.—James T. Murphy, president of the

board ; R. D. S. Mortimer, clerk of the board ; James

T. Murphy, treasurer of sinking fund; George .\.

Stacy, superintendent of the works; William Mc-
Nally, water registrar.

The Fire Department, consists of one hook-aud-

ladder company and four hose companies. The chief

of the department is Mr. George H. Bigelow.

The Marlboro' Street Railway was chartered

by the General Court in chapter IGG of the acts for

the year 1888. The company was authorized to use

either animal or electric power in operating its cars.

It early became evident that the use of horses was

impracticable on account of heavy grades. The Presi-

dent, Samuel Boyd and the treasurer, Samuel C. Darl-

ing, visited Richmond, Virginia, Scranton, Pennsyl-

vania, and other places toexaraine the working of the

electric roads, which has recently been established at

those points, and the result was the equipment of the

Marlborough road for operation by electricity. The

road was completed and commenced operations on the

19th day of June, 1889. The first Board of Directors

consisted of Samuel Boyd, president; Samuel C. Darl-

ing, treasurer ; Stillman B. Pratt, Edward R. Alley,

Timothy A. Coolidge, Jas. T. Murphy, AlbaC. Weeks.

Since the opening thebusiness of the road has stead-

ily increased, giving a fair rate of profit, and fulfill-

ing the anticipation of the projectors.

The total length of road operated at the start, 2.514

miles, an extension of one half mile has just been

completed.

The plant and rolling stock consistM of iwn .Vruiing-

ton & Sims' sixty horsv-|H>wer unginiai, two Xn. Ki,

Edison Dymimos, three boxairx, three upcD-cnr<
; the

Sprague system is used.

CHAl*TER LX.

iIARLBOROU(JU-(ContinvrJ).

.MANUFACTURINO I.NTERIifl'B.

Uy EDWARD R. ALl.l'.Y.

Maiu.bououoh has long occupied u front rank
among the leading shoe manufuctiiring Iowhh of New
England. From small beginnings in IM.Ti, the hnni-

nesa increa-sed to an annual [iroduct of $1,2IK),(HMJ in

18G0. Sini'e that its increase has also been rapid

and at the present time the value of the annual pro-

duct amounts to the sura of :i>*(,855,(K)0.

The making of shoes began hero in l.s:i5, when
Joseph Boyd, then a young man, having learned l<i

make custom shoes of Col. K[ihraini Howe, began

manufacturing shoes in a small way in the addition

to his father's house, located at thejunetion of Maple
and Bridge Streets, now occupieil hy Josiah Itennetl.

He continued here about a year, when Samuel Boyd,

his younger brother, having served an apprenticeship

and learned the tanner's trade of Col. Davis in North-

boro', joined Joseph and together they ccmtinued man-
ufacturing. In 1837 they bought the Hall Shop, as it

wiis called, which stood on the site of the Marlboro'

Block, Main Street. In 1839 Joseph went U> St.

Louis, remaining there until 1845 when he returned

and again joined Samuel in 1846. In 1848 they

built the brick part of the Morse .Shop on Maple
Street, and it was used as a bottoming shop, the shoes

being cut in the shop in the rear of what is now the

Dart House ; he continued until ls.')l when he went

to Southboro'and remained there manulacturing until

1858, then returned and joined S. Boyd & Corey, re-

maining a year or more when he formed a partner-

ship with Eugene Brigham, making up the fiim of

J. Boyd & BrighamI; they commenced in the west

end of Corey Block ; here they made shoes for the

United States Army and were very successful, re-

maining there until 1864 when they built their new
shop on Main Street, at the corner of Newton Street.

Eugene Brigham retired in 1872, when the new lirm

of J. Boyd & Co. Wiis formed, consisting of ,1. Bnyd,

Wm. Woodwanlaml W. A. Alley. W. A. .Mley retired

in 1858, and they continued to manufacture until 1879.

April 1, 1836, Samuel Boyd having learned the

tanner's trade, at Northboro', returned to his home
and joined Joseph, his older brother, who had begun

to make shoes one year before in an addition to llicir

father's house at the junction of Maple and Bridge

Streets ; they continued together and bought the Hall

Shop, which stood on the site of the Marllioro' Block,

in 1837. Joseph retired in 1839 and went to St. I^ouis.
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Samuel took his brother John M. as partner in

1841, and needing more room than the Hall Shop

would give them, they built tlie Commons Shop in

1843, loiated nearly south of the Orthodox Church,

now made into a house and owned by John E. Cur-

tis ; in 1846 Joseph, having returned from St. Louis,

took John's place in the firm ; in 1848 they built the

brick part of the Morse Shop now located on Maple St.

In 1849, Samuel Boyd took Thomas Corey as his

partner and built the corner shop on Maple Street.

Joseph remained until 18.51, wlien he retired. In

1855, Boyd & Corey built the brick shop, now the

Central House ; here the busine.^s continued under

the firm names of Boyd Corey, S. Boyd, R. Boyd &
Witherbee, R. Boyd & Co., until 1870 when R. M.

Pomeroy & Co., entered the firm, making the house

of Boyd, Corey, Pomeroy & Co., and the mammoth
factory at the corner of Howe Street was built ; the

business was largely increased the Pomeroys retiring

in 1871, Thomas Corey and Daniel Ahl remaining

until 1872 when Ahl retired.

Mr. Corey died in 1874 and Samuel Boyd continued

until November 1, 1883, when he organized the Boyd

& Corey Boot and Shoe Manufacturing Company,

and continued to date, making fifty-five years con-

tinuous manufacturing.

L. & L. Bigelow & Co., started shoe business in

1836 in a small shop standing on Pleasant Street on

land where now is located the house of William

Morse, Esq. ; they manufactured here fur four years

and sold their machinery in 1840 to William Dad-

mun and retired from the shoe business. The building

used by them is now used for a dwelling and stands at

the junction of Beach Street and Clover Hill Road.

1838.—In 1838 or '39, John Winslow Stevens, manu-
factured shoes nearly opposite the Unitarian Church

on Pleasant Street. In 1849 he manufactured in what

was the Alley House on Lincoln Street. Later

in the Algernon Brigham House, on Pleasant Street.

Still later in a shop in the rear of his own house, on

Pleasant Street, situated next southerly the Unita-

rian parsonage. He retirad in 1858.

1840.—William Dadmua, at tbe closing up of the

hoe business of L. & L. Bigelow & Co. in 1840.

William Dadmun bought the machinery and begun
to manufacture shoes on Pleasant Street, opposite the

Unitarian Church ; the second shop was in old Mc-
Donougb House, on Lincoln Street. He continued

alone until 1861, when he formed a copartnership

with Ezra Cutting, styled Dadmun & Cutting, which

was successful, so that in 1863 they built the large

shoe factory corner of Lincoln and Chestnut Streets.

In 1873 Mr. Cutting retired, and Mr. Dadmun took

his son, William E., into the firm, making William
Dadmun & Co., and continued the business up to

1875, making thirty-five years active manufacturing.

1842.—Samuel Chipman, manufacturer on East Main
Street with his brother John, and so continued to

1845. In 1862 he was a member of the firm of Whit-

ney, Fulton & Chipman, in Middlesex Square, and

continued until 1864 or '65, when the property was
purchased by Rice & Hutchins.

184(1.— Freeman Morse started the manufacturing of

shoes on the "Farms," and so continued until 1856,

when he took his brother George H. as partner, and

formed the firm of F. W. & G. H. Morse. They
bought the old Boyd brick shop on Maple Street, and

have continued to manufacture boots and shoes to

this date.

1849.—In 1849 one Chapin Daniels made shoes

in a small shop, standing where the No. 1 En-

gine House is now located.

1849.—Sidney G. Fay began business in June,

1849, and continued with varying success. He sold,

in January, 1866, to Chase, Merritt & Co., who con-

tinued until 1869 in factory on Lincoln Street. In 1869

the firm became Chase, Merrit & Blanchard, which

continued until 1877, when it was changed to Chase,

Merritt & Co., and continues to date, the company
consisting of H. S. Chase, George W. Merritt, W. E.

Richardson, and H. G. Chase.

1851.—In 1851 Charles G. Whitney began the manu-
facture of shoes in the C. L. Bliss barn, on East Main
.Street, and continued until November 1, 1855, when
he took Charles Palmer in partnership, under the firm-

name of C. G. Whitney & Palmer. This firm con-

tinued one year, and in 1856 moved to a shop on Elm
Place, and continued until 1858, when the firm was

dissolved. In 1859 Mr. Whitney associated with him

Mr. C. M. Howe, and they manufactured in what is

the William Barnes house on Middlesex Square. In

1861 Howe retired and Palmer again became Whit-

ney's partner, and continued until 1862, when the

firm of Whitney, Felton & Chipman was formed, and

they built a large factory on Middlesex Square, and

continued until 1864 and '65, when Rice and Hutch-

ins purchased their business.

1836.—John Chipman began to manufacture .shoes

in the shop used by Emery Cutting for custom work.

The shop is now occupied by Mr. Hemenway on East

Maiu Street. He continued with some changes until

1842, when his brother Samuel joined him; they re-

mained together until about 1845.

1845.—In 1845 Josiah Howe began to manufacture

shoes in part of John Holyoke's house on Pleasant

Street; he afterwards removed his shop to Mechanic

Street near Lorren Arnold's house; here his health

failed; he went to Cuba, where he died.

1848.—Sidney Howe continued the business left by

Josiah, on Mechanic Street; removed to corner

Pleasant and Elm Streets ; continued about one year.

1842.—Charles Dana Bigelow learned his trade of

Thomas Holden, of Berlin ; in 1842 he commenced
work bottoming shoes, taking out work from Grafton

and Westboro': in 1844 he had four small shops occu-

pied this way, and so continued until 1845. In 1847

he built a new shop, which at that time was the

largest shop in town. He was the firot to employ
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Canadian French on shoes, in Marlborough. 1852

his shop was burned and he removed to New York.

1841.—John M. Boyd began to maniifacture shoes

in company with his brother Samuel, in 1841. They
built the Commons shop in 1843; they remained to-

gether until 184G; then John started alone, he owning

the Hall shop and the Commons shop; he continued

and in 1849 began to make boy's and youth's shoes.

All the shoes up to this day manufactured in Marlbo-

rough, had been child's shoes.

1842 he invented the shoe-die, having them made
at Lelacd and Thurston's, Kitville, Grafton, and the

die gave Marlborough great advantages over adjoin-

ing towns. 1853 he built the Marlborough Block and
manufactured in it until 1857, the business in three

years amounting to $500,000.

1851.—Thomas Jason Howe manufactured -shoes in

1851 in the George Davis house, 1 East Main Street,

and continued until 1857.

1853.—In 1853 Cliarles M. Howe w.as manufactur-

ing shoes in the Geo. Brigham shop, on Jlain Street,

on the present site of the Windsor House. He after-

wards manufactured with C. G. Whitney in the Wm.
Barnes house, and later in the Exchange Building.

Henry O. Russell commenced on the old homestead,

on Elm Street in 1853, built a shop on Franklin

Street 1855, formed copartnership with Thomas Hap-
good. This partnership continued until 1858, when
he formed copartnership with Abel Howe, under name
of Russell & Howe, and continued one year. In

1859 he bought the Forest Hall Block, and continued

alone to manufacture there until 1875. In 1876 he

formed a partnership with William A. Alley, which

was successful and continued until 1888, when Alley

retired and Russell formed the firm of H. O. Russell

& Co., and is manufacturing at this date.

1854.^-John O'Counell started the manufacture of

child's shoes in a shop on the easterly side of Howe
Street, and continued to increase his business until

1869 when he built bis new shop on the same street, on

the line of the Old Colony Railroad ; here he had suc-

cess, and in 1873 took in his son, John A., and, in 1880

Daniel, making the firm 6i John O'Connell & Sons.

They are doing a very successful business to-day.

1855.—S. Herbert Howe commenced making shoes

in the cooper shop on Pleasant Street. Here he

manufactured, with his brother Lewis A. Howe.
He subsequently purchased his brother's interest and

removed to the corner of Pleasant and Elm Streets,

the site of his present home factory. This shop

he has enlarged six times. March 12th, 1878, he pur-

chased the Diamond " F " shop of James Tucker, and

here began the manufacture of a finer grade of

goods. This shop he has enlarged three times.

June 4, 1889, he bought the Diamond " O " factory of

C. L. & L. T. Frye. He has united all of these fac-

tories under the corporate name of the S. H. Howe
Shoe Company, of which S. Herbert Howe is presi-

dent, and Louis P. Howi-, vurpniiiiliMU, Hiid the
capacity is seven thousand pairs of xhoiw pe.- <lny.

Lewis A. Howe began to manufacture nhofji with
his brother, S. Herbert Howe, in IS.'i'i, mid coniinuiul

a few years. In 1861 Mr. Howe luwociiited with him
in business Algernon S. Brigham, under the firm-

name of Brigham & Howe, and this firm con-

tinued in the factory corner of PleaHunt and Chestnut
Streets, until 1860, wiien they removed l<> the factory

on Lincoln Street, now occupied by Frank (larvin.

Hero they rcnuiined until 187(1, when the firm din-

solved, and Mr. Howe returned lo Warren, .Maine.

1858.—Timothy A. Cooledge removed here from

Natick in 1857, where he had worked with Henry
Wilson making shoes. He begnii in a Bmall simp on
Pleasant Street on the site of his present largr fac-

tory. The first four years he made men's lirogiins

and some boot^. He gradually raised the standard
of his goods until about 1876, when his factory wiw

totally destroyed by fire. In 1877 he rebuilt thin

factory on an improved plan, and has to-day one of

the best-equipped shops in the city. During all this

time .Mr. Cooledge has sold his entire production

through the house of Fogg, Houghton & Cooledge.

It may be remarked here that Mr. Cooledge's father

was a manufacturer of shoes in a small way in Naiick.

1858.—Frank A. Howe began to manufacture !>hoc«

in the John Allen House on Elm Street. Afterward

he moved up the street farther to the Proctor Place.

His business demanding more room, he built a Urge

factory at the corner of Ple.isant and Franklin SireelH

in 1862. He continued here until 1875. Afterwards

James Tucker & Co. manufactured in this shop sev-

eral years. This factory was afterward bought by

S. H. Howe, and enlarged and known as the Diamond
"F"Shop.
1863.—In 1863 Davis & Longley built the most

easterly of the two Billings' shops. In 1864 Clapp A
Billings began to manufacture in this shop. They

made a specialty of boys and youths' laced and

buckle Congress shoes. In 1869 they bought the

shops next to the Windsor Hotel, and continued in

both shops until 1879, when Mr. J. B. Billings pur-

chased his partner's intere-st, and has continued

alone up to the present time.

1863.—John A. Fry began business in the Wins-

low Stevens shop in February, 1863, where he con-

tiimed until January, 1864, when he removed lo the

Elm Street shop. In 1865 he piirchiused of Allen

Howe the new shop at corner of Pleiusant and Chest-

nut Streets, which he has enlarged four limes. He
commenced the manufacture of boots in 1883, and

continues to date.

1867.—In 1867 Rice & Hutchins began niaiuifnc-

ture of boots and shoes in Midiib'sex S<|uare in the

old shop of Fclton & Chipman. Their factory w«.-<

burned in 1878, and was rebuilt with all modern im-

provements. They have continued to the present

time. This firm built a large factory on Colling Ave-
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nue in 1889. This is one of the leading firms in the

city, the amount produced amounting to $1,000,000.

The superintendent and manager of these factories is

Mr. John E. Curtis.

1875.—James Tucker & Co. bought the Frank A.

Howe shop, and manufactured for several years.

In 1858 John E. Curtis began the manufacture of

shoes on High Street, continuing here until 1801,

when he removed to the Marlboro' Block, and in 1868

bought the old Boyd & Corey shop, at the corner of

Maple and JIain Streets. This he enlarged and man-

ufactured boots and shoes that had a wide reputation.

In 1872 Vaughn & Sanborn bought the business and

continued a short time ; afterward Mr. Curtis became

the superintendent of the Rice & Hutchins factories.

Hiram Temple removed to Marlborough and began

the manufacture of shoes before 1845.

Abel Howe began, in 1858, the manufacture of

shoes on Main Street, near Grant Street, with H. O.

Russell. He later removed to High St., near the Union

Church, and built a very large and convenient factory.

Hugh R. Bean manufactured shoes on Lougley St.

In 1871 Levi W. Baker manufactured boots and

shoes on High Street, and continued until 1877.

The Commonwealth Shoe Company built a model shoe

factory on Maple Street in 1888-89, and began to manu-

facture fine boots and shoes, Mr. M. Quirk, the superin-

tendent, having been previously connected with the

Boyd & Corey Boot and Shoe Manufacturing Company.

Charles L. and Lewis T. Frye manufactured shoes

in the Parsons shop, and later bought the William

Dadmun shop, cornerofHowland and Lincoln Streets,

closing in 1889, Jeremiah Desmond taking the Par-

sons shop when the Fryes removed.

In 1852 Stephen and William Eager manufactured

shoes at their shop on Hosmer Street.

In 1842 Elijah M. Dickinson made shoes on East

Main Street.

The manufacture of shoe dies was begun by S. K.

Taylor in the basement of the Brick shop in 1858 or

'59, and was afterwards removed to the Davy shop, on

Florence Street. He was succeeded by Taylor &
Blanchard, Samuel F. Draper, Hobbs & Mellen, and

T. Joseph Beaudry, who continues to this time.

James L. Belser and Henry Exley started a ma-

chine-shop in the basement of the J. B. Billings fac-

tory iu 1866, continuing but a short time, when they

removed to the Brick shop. Taking Mr. Hall as part-

ner, the firm became Hall, Belser & Exley. In 1867

Henry Parsons succeeded Hall, making the firm of

Belser, Exley & Parsons, and they removed to Forest

Hall. Belser retired in 1869, and the firm built their

Lincoln Street shop in '72. Exley retired in '78,

leaving Mr. Parsons the proprietor of the business.

He has continued with good success the manufacture

of steam-engines, elevators and sole-cutters.

Hall, Sandiford & Watson started a machine-shop

on Lincoln Street in 1868, and continued about seven

years manufacturing sole-cutters and small machinery

used in shoe factories, Bevan & Alden running the

business from 1875 to 1878, afterwards as Bevan &
Davey to 1830, and Davey & Exley until 1884; then

they separated, Davey taking the upperpart of Henry
Parsons' shop, while Henry Exley continued at the

old shop until 1887.

Julian P. Wood began the manufacture of punch-

machines in 1879, and later other shoe machinery.

Taking Herbert Willard as a partner in 1887, the busi-

ness increased very fast. They hold several valuable

patents.

CHAPTER LXI.

MARLBOROUGH—{,Conlimted).

MASONIC.

BY B. F. GREELEY.

United Brethren Lodge, A. F. and A. M.—The his-

tory of Free Masonry in Marlborough from the date

of its first introduction as an organized body until

the present time, covers a period of nearly seventy

years, and is marked by a most gratifying advance

in membership and efficiency.

Though a lengthy intermission separates the early

body from the present organization, the original

records now on file as well as oral traditions of a few

of the early brethren, have been handed down unim-

paired, and serve as a connecting link between these

two branches of the same family.

The desire of our grandfathers to organize a Ma-
sonic Lodge in this vicinity, culminated in the early

part of the year 1824, when application was made to

the Grand Lodge of Massachusetts for a charter, but

owing to opposition from the Fredonia Lodge, A. F.

and A. M. of Noithborough, an adverse report was

made and the desired charter withheld ; later a second

application was made, which was granted, bearing

date of September 8, 1824. The first meeting under

the charter was held September 23, 1824, in a building

owned by Bro. Sullivan Thayer, located near the

present Exchange Building, and adjoining the brick

dwelling, corner of Ex(?hange and Main Streets,

Wor. Bro. Abraham Gates was chosen Master ; Rev.

Seth Alden, Sen. Warden; Richard Farwell, Jun.

Warden ; John Maynard, Treas. ; Freeman Stow,

Sect'y ; John G. Barnard, Sen. Deacon ; John Lyscom,

Jr., Jun. Deacon ; Isaac T. Stevens, Sen. Steward,

and Caleb Witherbee, Marshal. The records of Ma-
sonic work show the lodge to have been both popular

and prosperous, as numerous accessions to its mem-
bership were made, embracing many of the leading

men of this and the surrounding towns. The names

of no less than five clergymen appear on the rolls

during the years 1824, 1825, and 1826.

On the 28th of April, 1825, the lodge apartments

were dedicated according to ancient Masonic cer-

emonies, the brethren marching to the Unitarian
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Church, where they were addressed by Rev. Seth

Aldeii, a brother Masou. In the afternoon they as-

sembled at the Spring Hill Church, where the lodpe

was instituted, and the tenets of Masonry and cardi-

nal virtues of the order were s(deninly em|)liu.sized to

the brethren. A banquet was sprciid in a larjje tent

adjoining the present Union Cliurch coinnioii tu which

the friends of the brethren were invited. The ollicers

were installed on the evening of the same date, and

an oration delivered in the meeting-house by liro.

Samuel Clark.

September 1, 1825, Brother Jacob Frieze was chosen

master, holding the office until the following spring,

when he resigned, and March 20, 1820, Brother Rich-

ard Farwell was elected to till the vacancy.

With increasing prosperity it was deemed advisable

to arrange for more commodious quarters for Lfidge

purposes, and at the annual town-meeting in 1825, an

article was inserted in the Warrant, asking permis-

sion to build a school-house, with a Masonic hall in

the upper story. This article was passed over, and

no further action taken until two years later, when a

similar request was made, and the necessary grant

obtained. Jan. 11, 1827, a committee was chosen to

consider the subject of building a Masonic hall, and

in concert with the Citizen's Association, arrange-

ments were perfected by which a building was to be

erected, the first floor of which was to be used as an

academy, and the upper room for a Masonic hall.

Quite a complete idea may be gained of the purposes

for which this building was intended, by referring to

a copy of the records taken July 4, 1860, from the

foundation stone of Gates Academy, formerly situat-

ed on " Old Meeting House Common," now known as

High School Common. This record was deposited by

the members of the Old United Brethren Lodge, Aug.

30, 1827, of which the following is an exact copy :

" On the 30th day of August, 1827, was laid the

foundation stone, on which is to be erected a build-

ing to be devoted to the promotion of Literature,

Science, Moral Virtue and the Ancient Order of Ma-

sonry. By the liberality of a number of individuals

of the Town of Marlborough, in which there are now

three churches, the ministers of which are Revs. Syl-

vester Bucklin, Seth Alden and Joseph E. Merrill,

ten School Districts and two thousand inhabitants."

In connection with this statement there was also

deposited a copy of the Articles of Agreement, speci-

fying that the building about to be erected was to be

used as follows: "The lower story of the building

shall be used for teaching children and youths, and

the second story shall be finished in such manner as

to accommodate the Free Masons."

On the above date the District Deputy Grand Mas-

ter was present with his suite, opening a Master

Mason's Lodge in Masonic Hall, and repaired to the

site of the new building, where the impressive cere-

monies attending the laying of the corner-stone were

solemnized. During the fall and winter mouths of

1827-28, the Academy Building, u it haa khhv bwii
known, was completed, and the new Miwunio Hpart-
ments in the upper story were appropriately dedicn-
ted Ajiril 24, 1S2S, Wor. Brother Ki. hard Farwell
being tin- presiding Master. Tliwe rooniH wi-ru com-
fortably, though not elaborately, furniKJicd, and mi-cl-

ings were continued in them during the remainilcr of
the existence of Old United Brethren l»dge, which
probably terminated its active work about IMI or

1832, though the name of Uiiite.l lirelhreii l^odgi- was
borne on the (Jrand Lodge recordu as late as IHIH.

On the 21st of January, Isyo, a committee wiu
chosen to take into consideration the " general state

of the lodge," and as this waa about the time the
anti-masonic craze began, embracing the Morgan ex-

citement, and more especially the poliliciil agitatiotn

of those days, many refraineil from active nieniber-

ship. With such an outspoken opposition, thuugb
founded entirely on prejudice, the society became un-

popular, and it is probable that our brethren deemed
it wise to discontinue lodge work until a more auH|ii-

cious season.

Of the disposition of the furniture, jewels and par-

aphernalia of the order, no account is given, but the

records of Old United Brethren Lodge, from Septem-
ber 8, 1824, to October 27, 1830, inclusive, were found

among the books and papers of the late brother

Nicholas B. Proctor, after his decease in 18G7. The
leaves were without binding, probably detached from

the secretary's book of records. Having had tliem

newly bound, they were returned, together with bro-

ther Proctor's Masonic diploma, to the possession and
care of the lodge, by his loyal sons, Jtmeph, Col.

Alfred N., and Albert E. Proctor, December 12, 1888.

The re-organization of United Brethren Lodge was

not effected until the fall of 1859. On December Ist

of this year, a meeting of the brethren was held

under Dispensation at the office of Messrs. Boyd &
Corey, corner of Main and Maple Streets. Several

representatives of the old lodge of thirty years pre-

vious were present, togettier with resident members
ot "Middlesex" of Framingham and other liMlges.

Preliminary arrangements were made for permanent-

ly organizing a Master Ma-son's Lodge, securing suit-

able apartments and furniture, and the election of

officers. After several preparatory meetings of the

brethren, a hall wsis secured over the Boyd & Corey

office, and Alexander C. Felton, Esq., was selected

to preside over the lodge as its first Ma-ster.

December 14, 1859, the brethren met in these apart-

ments for the first time, where they continued to

hold meetings and work under Dispensation, until a

charter was granted September 12, 18(J0, with the

following as charter members:—Sylvester Bucklin,

Samuel Chipman, Thomius Corey, Martin Dadmun,

Jr., J. M. Farwell, Alexander C. Felton, Jonah Howe,

Asa Lewis, Wm. H. Marston, liurleigh Mnrse, .S..muel

J. M. Weston, Charles F. Morse and .labez S. Wither-

bee. Of these brethren, three, Brothers Samuel Chip-
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man, Jonah Howe and Jabez S. Witherbee were mem-
bers of the old lodge, and formed a connecting link

between the old and new organization.

Numerous accessions to the lodge were made dur-

ing the year, adding many sturdy and influential

citizens to its membership, and quite outgrowing

their limited quarters. During the fall of 18G0, ar-

rangements were made and a lease obtained of a suit

of rooms at No. 136 Main Street, since known as

Corey's Block. These apartments were first occupied

October 16, 1860, when a special communication was

held for the purpose of receiving the officers of the

Grand Lodge of Massachusetts. Most Wor. Winslow

Lewis, Grand Master, who, together with his suite,

was present for the purpose of installing the officers

of the Lodge and dedicating the new apartments.

Wor. Bro. Alexander C. Felton was installed Mas-

ter, Bros. Burleigh Morse, Sen. Warden, J. S. With-

erbee, Jun. Warden, Sylvester Bucklin treasurer, and

J. M. Farwell secretary. From this time rapid strides

were made in additional membership and Masonic in-

terest ; the fathers of the lodge of to-day were then

taking their degrees, and their zeal and constancy is a

sufficient assurance of a thorough initiation.

At the date of the reorganization of United Breth-

ren Lodge, Feltonville (now known as Hudson), was

a part of Marlborough, and many of its best citizens

became members of the fraternity and affiliated with

the lodge here. This membership covered a period

of about five years. In the latter part of 1864 the

brethren from Hudson, tiring of their long journey

to attend lodge meetings, and having sufficient

strength to warrant independence, applied for and

obtained a charter for themselves. This signal-

ized the advent of Doric Lodge, A. F. and A. M., of

Hudson, which has since maintained a healthy

growth, and been ever active in promoting the tenets

of Masonry. An intimate fraternal feeling has al-

ways existed between United Brethren and Doric

Lodges, and frequent interchange of visits by the

brethren serves to strengthen the ties that bind them

as one band of friends and brothers.

The years of the Civil War found many brothers

espousing the Union cause, and taking active service

for the maintenance of the Government. The zeal

and loyalty of such as were spared to return have

never abated.

Thirteen Masters have presided over the lodge

since its organization in 1859, of whom all are living

at the date of this writing (1890) excepting Worship-

ful Brother, George H. Adams, who presided with great

acceptance during the years 1869 to 1872, inclusive, and
who deceased after a brief illness and was buried from

the Unitarian Church with Masonic honors.

The following are the names of the Past Masters in

the order of their election, and their years of service.

Worshipful Brothers, Alctander C. Felton, 1860-61 ; Burleigh Morse,
1862-63-64, '67 ; Samuel J. Sbaw, 18GJ ; W. E. C. Worcester. 1866;
George N. Cate, 18BS, '76

; George H. Adams, 1869-70-71-72
; William

8. FrOBt, 1873-74 ; Lewis I. Hapgood, 1876 ; George H. Whitney, 1877-

Vg-TB-SO ; Bei^amin F. Greeley, 1881-82-88, '88 ; Frederick J. Jewett,
1884-85 ; Edwin A. Evana, 1887-88-89 ; J. Frank Child, 1890, and is at
present presiding muster.

To these brothers much of the interest in lodge

membership and proficiency in works may be attribut-

ed. Worshipful Brother Burleigh Morse, whose
name appears near the head of this list, is a veteran

in Masonry; his attendance has been long and faith-

ful, and his familiar face may be seen at lodge meet-

ings as regularly to-day, after thirty years of service,

as that of the youngest member.

To Worshipful Brother George N. Cate, may be

traced a marked .advance in accuracy of lodge work
and attention to detail, the brother imparting to the

membership of his own dignity, which combined
with firmness of character, and a thorough knowledge
of the mysteries of freemasonry, raised the lodge to

a higher plane, with a corresponding increase of

interest by the brethren. This discipline has con-

tinued to exercise a most salutary effect, and is worthy
of emulation.

At a meeting of the lodge held October 4, 1882,

especially convened for considering the commutation
of the Grand Lodge Tax, Most Worshipful Samuel
C. Lawrence, Grand Master, was present, and urged

the importance of cancelling the remaining debt

from Masonic Temple. The meeting was very fully

attended, and it was decided to commute the tax by
one payment in full. Similar action became almost

unanimous throughout the lodges of the State, and
the administration of Wor.shipful Brother Lawrence,

saw the Grand Lodge indebtedness entirely ex-

tinguished.

The quarters secured by the brethren in October,

1860, were from time to time replenished with new
furniture, and uninterruptedly occupied by them
until the morning of December 7, 1883, when a

disastrous fire occurred, destroying both apartments

and furniture; unavailing efforts were made to save

the charter ; the books and records, however, were

secured, and, though somewhat stained by water and
smoke, were found to be entirely legible. The lodge

sustained a loss of about $1600, on which there was

an insurance of $1000. The brethren at once secured

the use of Pythian Hall as a place of meeting, until

such time as permanent apartments could be provided.

Arrangements were early made, and an agreement

signed, by which the lodge was to be granted a ten

years' lease of the entire upper floor of a contemplated

new brick block, since known as " Hazleton's Block "

No. 203 Main Street. Though long delayed, the

building was finally completed, and the upper-story

suitably divided, with a main hall and ante-rooms,

especially adapted for lodge purposes.

To a committee of the lodge was intrusted the

frescoing and furnishing of these rooms, which were

completed and occupied for the first time at a special

communication, August 5, 1885. At a public-meet-

ing of the lodge, October 14, 1885, Most Wor. Abra-
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ham H. Howland, Jr., Grand Master of the Grand
Lodge of Massachusetts, and his suite were present,

and according to ancient customs and usages, pro-

ceeded to dedicate the new apartments to Free

Masonry, to Virtue and Universal Benevolence.

Tliese impressive ceremonies were supplemented by

remarics at length by the (Jrand Master and members
of his suite, charging the brethren to a continuance

of those Masonic principles and virtues, which have

ever been, and should ever be, the beacon lights of

symbolic and practical Masonry. About two hundred

members, visitors and ladies were present, and were

welcomed to the banquet-room at the close of the for-

mal exercises. Regular communications are held dur-

ing the entire year, on the evening of Wednesday on,

or before the Full of the Moon, though the lodge may,

at its option, adjourn over the months of July and

August. Special communications are convened from

time to time, on such days and dates as the Master

may designate.

The social character found in Masonry is pre-emi-

nently democratic, laying aside for the time those

artificial distinctions of rank and wealth, which,

though they may be requisite in the world, yet among
Masons are unknown. Its members meet on one com-

mon level of brotherhood and equality, where virtue

and emulation in good works are preferments, and the

grand aim is to see "who best can work and best agree."

A series of public gatherings have been held at

Masonic Hall during the winter months for several

years past, to which the ladies are especially welcome.

Readings, music and social games add not a little to

the good feeling which characterizes these entertain-

ments. So far they have been successful, and have

seemingly become inseparable as a social phase of the

Masonic family.

In addition to that universal charity which per-

meates every Masonic body, there is connected with

United Brethren Lodge, a Mutual Benefit Associa-

tion, confined strictly to theafiiliated members of this

lodge, by which each brother, paying into a general

fund the sum of one dollar, becomes a member. No
further assessment is made until a brother dies, when

one dollar more is collected and held as a reserve

fund. This money is entirely distinct and separate

from the funds of the lodge treasury, and payable

immediately upon the decease of a brother, to his

surviving representative, having as a primary object,

the supplying of ready money to the widow or orphans

in the hour of their bereavement, when incidental

expenses and funeral charges are imperative. The

benefits of this arrangement have been most gratify-

ing to the members of the fraternity upon several

occasions during the few years it has been in opera-

tion, and has received the cordial support of a large

percentage of the membership. To a true brother

the pleasure of giving in the hour of need is ample

reward, and in harmony with Masonic obligations.

United Brethren Lodge has for many years been

especially zealous in iu care for ^kk ... m-ody
brethren. A Relief Commilt«v Ih annuully uppoiuted
by the Master, to visit the sick and extend pi-cuniary

aid wlien and where needed. A nunio or watcher ia

supplied when occasion reqnirt^, and the exprmtn
paid I'roin the Lodge Ireiwury.

These duties have been niont faithfully discharged.

It is claimed of our Institution, and is literally true,

that a Mason, destitute and worthy, "May find in

every clime a brother, and in every himl u home.''

Miwonry teaclies, however, that cliarily to the needy
should not partake of that exclu»iveness, which »c-

cords relief to members "of the household only,'' or

be alone confined to the granting of pecuniary aid, for,

Masonically speaking, charity also cmbracai a stiile

of mind, which renders a brother lull of lovo and
good- will towards others, to overlook misfortunes and
deal gently wiih the erring.

An Adoptive Rite in Masonry, known as "the Or-

der of the Eastern Star," has recently been instituted

under the guardianship of United Brethren Lodge,

and is now working under dispensation. Thin branch

is composed largely of ladies, drawing its membership
from the wives, widows, mothers, sisters and daugh-

ters of the Masonic fraternity. Anillate<l Master-

Masons are also eligible as members, and fill a few of

the subordinate otfices. Much interest has already

been manifested, and the work of organization and

initiation has advanced rapidly. From the numerous

applications for admission, there can be no doubt of

its popularity and success.

United Brethren Lodge is especially zealous in

transmitting the symbolisms of Masonry from the

older to the younger members of the Order, every in-

itiate being orally instructed in the lectures and work

of Ancient Craft Masonry, as handed down by the

fathers, without addition or innovation. The atten-

tive ear receives the .sound from the instructive

tongue, guarding with vigilance the unwritten legends

of this mysterious order, whose venerable years have

numbered in its membership the most illustrious men
of their day, whose quiet and unostentatious deeds of

kindness have lightened the burden of the unfortu-

nate in every land, and whose charity is especially

invoked towards a brother, his widow and orphans.

Long may it continue in every good word and work,

bearing its deeds of love and charity, wherever the

hand of distress may prefer its suit, or the burdened

heart pour out its sorrows.

Houghton lioyal Arch Chapter.—This organi/.ation

dates its beginning from ihe 14lh of May, 18G7, when

a number of Companions from Fruniinghain li. A.

Chapter, residents of Marlborough, met in Masonic

Hall for the purpose of consulting iu regard to the

fi)rmation of a chapter in this town.

Brother Burleigh Morse presided at this meeting,

with John F. C<itting as secretary. It was the unan-

imous sentimentof the Companions present that nuch

action should be taken, and it was voted to petition
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the Grand Chapter of Massachusetts for permission

to Dpen and hold a Chapter of the Royal Arch Ma-

sons in Miirlborough.

The Grand Chapter promptly considered the peti-

tion, and June 11, 18G7, the necessary dispensation

was granted by Ex. Comp., Richard Hriggs, Grand

High Priest of the Grand Chai>ter.

The name of Houghton R. A. Chapter was adopted,

complimentary to Brother George Houghton, of Hud-

son, whose generous contributions aided largely in

supplying the necessary paraphernalia for lodge pur-

poses. The following Companions composed the first

Council, and tilled the various subordinate offices:

Mi»t Ex. Barleigb Morec', High Priest; 1'. K. Itlilliiy, K.x. King; W.

E. C. Worcester, Kx. Scribe ; Murtiu Daiimiiu, Treiieurur ; .lohn F. Otit-

llng, Secretary; Kev. W. A. Stiirt, Chaplain ; M. P. Rogers, Capt. ol'

Hunt ; C. F. Mor»e, P. S. ; B. A. Bradley, K. A. Capt. ; George N. Cate,

Muster of .'id Veil ; C. D. Hunter, Master of 'id Veil ; George E. Sher-

wan Master of lat Veil ; K. F. Lougley aud L. Dadmuii, Stewards.

Work under dispensation was continued until the

following year, when application was made for a

charter, which was granted, and the Chapter duly

instituted September 25, 1868.

Accessions to membership from year to year have

been made from United Brethren Lodge, of Marlbor-

ough, Doric, of Hudson, Siloam, of Westboro', St.

Bernard, of Southboro', and various other lodges.

The following comp.anions have presided over the

chapter since its organization :—Most Ex. Burleigh

Morse from 18()7 to 1872 inclusive, also during the

year 1878. N. S. Chamberlain for the years 1878

and 1874. J. A. Cli.sbee 1875 to 1877 inclusive. T.

A. Coolidge 1879 to 1884 inclusive. George H. Whit-

ney 1885 and 1886. Lyman Morse 1887 to 1889.

Edward P. Miles 1890, and at present presiding, all

of whom are now active members, excepting Most

Ex. N. S. Chamberlain deceased.

The Corey Bloclf fire of December 7, 1883, was the

occasion of serious lo.ss to the Chapter, fire and

water destroying its Charter, Regalia, Furniture, &c.,

on which there was no insurance. The books and

records were fortunately saved uninjured. The coun-

cil at once secured temporary quarters in Pythian

Hall, and took immediate steps to replace their loss,

the brethren and their lady friends lending willing

hands in assistance.

On the completion of Hazelton Block in August,

1885, the chapter removed to Masonic Hall, where

they are now permanently located, with an active

membership of upwards of one hundred and sixty

companions.

Regular convocations are held monthly on the even-

ing of Friday on or after the full of the moon,
usually atljcjurning over the months of July and Au-
gust. The annual convocation for election of officers

occurs at the regular meeting in September. Great

harmony prevails in the chapter, inspiring the offi-

cers and brethren in good works, and a unity of feel-

ing which is not limited to lodge meetings.

An institution drawing together men of all shades

of opinion, and cementing them by such strong ties

of affection, can only be productive of good, making
better men and better citizens.

CHAPTER LXIL

MARLBOROUGH-( Continued).

CIVIL HISTORY.

hicorporatwn—Firtl SeUclmen—Selectmen fr&m 1G61 to 1890

—

Town Chrks

from 1660 to 1890

—

Treasurers— lieprtaenttitiveit—Stitte Senators—
County Commissioners— DelegateH to Provincial Congress—Delegates to

Constitntionat Conventi<'ns—Assistant Treasurer of United States—
Population— Valuation.

MaklboROUGH was incorporated June 12, 1660, the

order of the General Court was " that the name
of the said plantation (Whipsufferage) shall be called

Marlborow." The name was doubtless derived from

Marlborough, England. It was formerly written Marl-

berg or Marlbridge.

Marlborough when incorporated, in addition to its

present territory, included all that tract lying within

the limits of the present towns of Westborough and
Northborough, set off in 1717 (Northborough was
set off from Westborough in 1766), Southborough set

ofi' 1727, and Hudson in 1866.

Marlborough was incorporated as a city May 23,

1890, and accepted by the town July 1-1, 1890.

The first selectmen chosen were Edmund Rice,

William Ward, John Ruddocke, Jolin Howe, Thomas
King, Solomon Johnson and Thomas Goodman.
Selectmen.—The following is a list of the select-

men from the incorporation of the town to the present

time, except ihe period from 1665 to 1739, of which

there are no records extant

:

Edmund Rice, 1661-64.

William Ward, 1661-65, '71,

John Ruddocke, 1661-65, '71.

John Howe, Sen., 1661-64.

Thomas King, 1661-64.

Solomon Johnson, 1661-65, '71.

Thomas Goodnow, Sen., 1661-63,

'65.

John Woods, 1664, '65.

William Kerly, Sen., 166"., '71.

Thomas Howe, 1701.

Joseph Newton, 1701.

Nathaniel Joslin, 1701.

James Woods, 1701.

John Maynard, 1707, '10.

Samuel Brigham, 1707, '10.

Abraham Eager, 1707.

Joshua Rice, 1707, '10.

John Bowker, 1707, '10.

Zerubbabel Eager, 1739.

Edward Barnes, 1739.

Robert Barnard, 1739, '45, '47.

Joseph Baker, 1739, '41.

Thomas Brigham, 1740, '43.

Daniel Stewart, 1740, '41, '53.

Joseph Howe, 1740, '41, '44, '46,

'64.

Daniel Barnes, 1740, '41, '62, '60,

•61.

Samuel Stevens, 1741.

Joseph Morse, 1741, '46.

Uriah Eager, 1741, '62, '53, '56,

'50, '68, '60, '62, '68, '69.

Joseph TaiDter, 1741.

James Woods, 1741^9, '65-57.

Abraham Williams, 1741-43, '46-

49, '52, '54.

Samuel Witt, 1710, '42, '44, '45,

'47, '48, '50, '53, '54.

Samuel Brigham, 1741, '42, '44,

'46, '48, '49, '64.

Jedediah Brigham, 1741, '43, '47,

'52.

Andrew Rice, 1743, '50, '68, '63.

Jonathan Barnes, 1743, '67, '69

•62.

Jabez Ward, 1743.

Abraham Beaman, 1744.

John Warren, 1744, '46-50, '52-

61, '63-66, '67.

Jonas Morse, 1744, '49, '52, '65.

Abraham Howe, 1745, '63, '57, '61.

John Hapgood, 1745, '49, '63, '56,

'57, '59, '80.

John Sherman, 1745.

Thomas Howe, 1745, '46, '61, '63,

'71.

Samuel Jones, 174'7, '48.
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Ephraim Brigham, 1749, '60, '64,
|

'66-59, '61, '62, '05, '67, '69.

Joeoph Brigham, 1749, 'f.2, '64.

Hezekiah Maynard, 1750, '05, '71,

'7:!.

Peter Bent, 1750, '56, '69, '66, '67,

•70-V2, '74, '77.

Thomas Bigelow, 1750, '62, '66.

Jabez Rice, 1762, '66.

John Weeks, 1763, '64, '66, '58-«),

'i;2-e5, '70, '73.

Samuel Brigham, 1755.

.leesn Rice, 1756, '67, '66, '68, '70.

Abraham Rice, 1758, '60, '61, '63,

'64, '6fi, '69, '70, '73.

.Joseph Hapgood, 1758, '63, '64,

'CO, '67.

John Banister, 1769.

Daniel Ward, 1760, '61.

Daniel Harringtou, 1762, '66, '68,

'69, '71, '72.

.Inel Brigham, 1763, '72.

(iel-shom Bigelow, 176;i, '64.

John Barnes, 176!.

Iriah BrighaTo, 1765, '68, '69.

Gershom Rice, 1765-70, '72, '74,

'75.

Ebsneier Dexter, 1766, '68.

Nathan Goodale, 1767, '69.

Simon Stow, 1767, '71, '75, '76, '78,

'79, '82, '83, '85, 87.

Manning Sawin, 1768, '72, '79-83,

'87.

Winslow Brigham, 1770-80, '82,

'84, '86, '88, '89, '91.

Joseph Brigham, 1771.

Nathan Reed, 1772.

Robert Baker, 1773.

Kdward Barnes, 1773-75.

George Brigham, 1774-76.

Silas Jewell, 1771.

Cyprian Howe, 1774, '78.

Ithamar Brigham, 1775, '76, '78,

'79, '82.

.lonas Morse, Jr., 1775-77, '80-82,

'86, '87, '89.

Silas Gates, 1776, '79-81, '83, '86,

'87.

.\lpheus Woods, 1776, '87.

Edward Hunter, 1777, '79.

Paul Brigham, 1777.

Solomon Brigham, 1777.

.facob Felton, 1777.

Moses Woods, 1778, 'S3, '84, '8C.,

'88, '92, '93, '95-98.

William Brigham, 1778, '82, '86.

Samuel Stevens, 1778.

Joseph Howe, 1779.

William Boyd, 1780, '87.

Daniel Barnes, 1780, '81, '83.

Uriah Eager, Jr., 1780, '81, '83,

'84, 'se.

Amasa Cranston, 1781.

Samuel Curtis, 1781.

Silas Bayley, 1782.

Abel Holden, 17.S3.

(ieorge Williams, 1784, '89-91.

Benjamin Rice, 178-1.

Solomon Barnes, 1784, '86, '88.

Samuel Stow, 1785.

lonathan Weeks, 1786, '88-91, '93,

'91.

Joel Bice, 1785.

Peter Wood, 1785.

Jabez Bice, 1786, '88.

Thaddeus Howe, 1787.

John Stow, 1788, '90, •92-'J4.

Luther Howe, 1788.

William Hager, 1789.

Samuel Howe, 1789, 1800.

William Jlorse, 1790, '93, '04.

Noah Rice, 1790-1800.

Edward Barnes, 1790-96, '98, 1802,

'3.

Archelaus Felton, 1790.

Abner Goodale, 1791, 1800.

Joseph Williams, 1791.

William Loring, 1702.

Daniel Brigham, 1792-94, 1797

1813.

Samuel Gibbon, 1794-1800, '2, '9.

Robert Hunter, 1795, '97-99, ISOl.

'3, '6.

Aaron Brigham, 1795, '96, 1802-.'>.

Stephen Morse, 1795, 'i'6.

Jonathan Hapgood, 17'."'>-l80O

l,'!fl2-9, '11.

William Weeks, 1797.

Joseph Brigham, Jr., 1799, 1801

Paul Brigham, 1801.

John I.oring, 1801, '11.

Ithamar Brigham, 1801, '06, '09,

'11-13.

Stephen Eames, 1802-05, '08.

Samuel Witt, 1803.

Lovewell Barnes, 1803, '10-17.

Thomas Rice, 1804.

Silas Gates, 1S04, '05, '07, '08.

Benjamin Rice, Jr., 1804, '07, '10,

'16, '19, '20-22.

Micah Sherman, 1805-07, '09, 'Il-

ls.

Joel Cranston, 1800-09.

Joseph Howe, Jr., 18IIC-20.

William Weston, 180r., 'ii7.

Ephraim Brigham, 1808.

John Weeks, 1808-10.

William Barnes, 1810.

Jedediah Brigham, 1810, 'U-ir..

Eli Rice, 1810, '23, '28, '29.

William Gates, 1811-13, '16, '19-

21.

Abraham Stow, 1812, '13.

William Howe, 181'2, '13.

Jabez Greco, 1814.

Jabez Stow, 1814.

Sili« Temple, LSI 4-10.

Ephraim Blaynard, Jr., 1S14, 'l.'f.

•17-19.

Benjamin Clark, Jr., 1814.

Silas Felton, 1816-25.

Solomon Weeks, 1815, '32-38.

Ashbel S. Brigham, 1816.

John Howe, Jr., 1816, '21,.'22.

Joliu Stevens, 1817-19.

Aaron Stevens, 1820-31.

William Holyoke, 1822-27.

Silas Newton, 1823-27, '42.

Ephraim Brigham, 1824, '2^.

Isaac Hayden, 1826-40, '44,

'58-60.

Stephen Kice, 1826, '27.

Jedediah Wood, 1828-31.

Ephraim Howe, 1828-40.

Stephen B. Phelps, 1830-;i.'.

51.

Ezekiel Bruce, 1832-34.

George E. Manson, 1835-43, '68-

60.

Abel Bice, 18;!6-il.

William Barnes, 1839-42.

Winslow Barnes, 1841, '42, '44,

'46.

Lewis Bigelow,}1842.

•4.'.

49-

Stopheo Moiw, IMS, 'M-tO.

Jacob Holyoke, 1843.

Ephnilm Kairbnnks, Ul't.

Kmersou llowo, 1843.

Jalwz S. Wllhcrbeo, 1»44, '46, '47,

'48, '51-54. '57.

Silas II. Fairbanks 1844. '46, '64.

Samuel Cliipmau, 1844. '46.

David Goodale, 1846-18, '6U, '61,

'.•i7.

FninciH Brigham, 1846, '47.

Kber Howe, I84tv.^'i2.

.lacob Fairbanks, 1847, '48.

Williiim II. W.kkI, 1840, 60.

Hollis Lorlng, I84li-/>1.

Jacob Holyoke, 1862.

Israel Howe, 1852.

Elieneier Will, 1852, '63.

Dwight Witt, 1853.

John F. Colling, 1853. 'M.

I.ytnan Perry, 1853.

Samuel Cliipman, 1864, '66.

Klbridge Il.)we, 1854-57.

1). F. I'nderhill, l&i6, '.Ml, '58-flO.

George S. lUwson, 1865, '56.

Charles Howe, 1856.

George Hrigham, 1856.

Sanmel E. Warren, 1856.

Asa Lewis, 1867.

George E. Woods, 1857.

John Goodale, 18.58-60.

Isaac Hayden, 1800.

Beiij. F. Underbill, 1860.

Stephen Morse, 1860.

Geo. K. Manson, 1860.

Wm. H. Wood, 1862.

845

I John r. OttlUng, IMl, tt, m-
' n.

WtlllKln WlboD. llt04-6<

rrwirricl. I' ••

Cbarle. II

William !• l...„

a. II. Howe, lsi<l, TIT,, »!

Levi lllgolow, IKC7.

(Sdwarxl A. Gay, 11X17.

John O'lViiiDcll, IIU>7-<UI, U7i O
AaiSmllh, IimM.

F-lbridgn Hows, ISM, 7S-T*.

Samuel N. Aldrich, ll<n'>-71.

E<lwanl A.liay, ll.f.''-7l.

CliariM M. Sleveua, 11173-74

E. P. Hlchardajn, IH75.

Jamea T. Uurtihjr, 1176 to Ihe

pri^ftent time.

Samuel Iloyd, 1 878.

D S. Mo<jnny, 1878.

David W. illlrlinick, II70-KI.

Francis C. Curtis, IS7'J-*i.

' E. i;. Whitney, IKIil.

Timothy A. Uoulldge, |g«(i, 'hi-

! 83, '86.

i

Joaeph A. Treniblay, IMO.

Charles U. Stone, 1880-84.

I Williams. FruM,l880.

I Praacoll Weal, IH80.

{
Charles A. Will. 1883.

! George K. Sherman, 1886.

Oueslme Levaaseur, 18H6.

George A. Howe, 1887.

James t.'ampbell, I88H.

Michael Quirk, 1889.

Godlrold llruulllele, 1889.

Town CI.EBK6 FROM INConroitATIOK TO TUB I'RESINT TIMt

.Tolin Ruddocke was chi^son lOl'iO,

and continued porhape till

l'liilil)'s war, 1675. There

may have been another clerk

between him and Williams.

Abraham Williams, 1682-1700.

1702-12.

Lsaac Amsden, 1701, '12, '13.

Nathaniel Joslin, 1714-26.

Abraham Eager, 1726-30.

.loseph SIratton, 1731, '.38.

.lames Woods, 1732-37, '44-49.

Andrew Rice, 1739-13, '.'lO, '51.

John Warren, 1752, ',53, '56-61

'l>3-07.

Samuel Brigham, 1764, '55.

Jonathan Bjirnes, 1762.

TOWN TRKABUBKHa.

Thomas Howe, 1739, '40, '65, '67- Jedediah nrigham, 1814-18.

69.

George Brigham, 1741.

Ephraim Brigham, 1742, '4:1, '60,

'.52-64.

Kljenezer Dexter, 17»'8.

Trial) Brigham, 1709.

Winslow Brigham, 1770-80, '82.

."iamuel Curtis, 1781.

Mows Woods, 17*1-1803.

Benjamin Rice, 1804-Ofi.

Daniel Drlgbnm, 1807-13.

Jedediali llrigbara, |8I4.

Silas Felton, 181.V27.

Henian Seaver, I828-:11.

Ijtmberl lligelow. 18.32-63.

John Phelps, 1864-61.

KdwanI I.. Iligilow, 1882-70.

William A. Allen, 1871-76.

John M. Whiton, Jr., 187ft-«l.

Peter B. Blurphy, 1882 lo prreeni

time.

Jonathan Barnes, 1744-47.

Joseph Howe, 1748, '49.

John Warren, 1766, '70.

llezekiah Maynard, 1771.

Jonas Temple, 177'2-74.

Moses Woods, 1775-77, '79, '80.

Simon Howe, 1778, '82-89.

Beiuamin Bice, 1781, 181'.>-a>.

Soah Rice, 1790-1800.

Daniel Brigham, 1801-13.

EBPRESIWTATIVM TO Tlllt OINIRJII. eOUBT.

William Ward, 1006. Joseph Rice, 168:1.

Samuel Ward, 1079. Olaullsh Ward, 1680. '90.

Abraham William^ 1679-82. '91, Henry Kerley, 1689, '93, 17(0,

'93-96. ''"I'" Ollgliam, IC89, VL

Mark Fay, 1820-3-2, '38, '42, '43.

K. B. Wilherla^e, 1K13, '34.

I.Amb<'rt lligelow, I835-,T7, '44-

,'SP, '.52.

John Phelpa, 18.39, '40.

BoUis Loring, 1841, '51, '63, 'M,

'58.

George Brigham, IKV,.

Winslow M. Warren, 18C7-

Benjamin F. rnderhill.

Nahum Wlllierbe«..

Alb* C. Weeks.

Patrick J. Conwaj.
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John BaniM, 1692.

Samuel Brighom, 1697-99, 1705.

TUonias Howe, 1700, '01, '04, '06_

11, "13, '17-19.

Tboniiu Beainan, 1707, '08, '12.

Peter Rice, 1709-11, '14, '20, '21,

•28-30.

Tboniai Rice, 171.^, '10.

William Wiinl, 1722.

Coleli Kioe, I723-2.'i, '27.

NhIIiuu BrlKluini, 1726, '30.

Joiiu Shcriimu, 1731, '32.

Joseph Rice, 1733-3C, '39.

Ebeuezer Witt, 1737.

Saniiit'l Ilrigliam, 1741.

Samuel Witt, 1745-49, '51-60, '62-

70.

Jamed Woods, 17.'>0.

John Warren, 1701, '63.

Peter Bent, 1771-7,'i.

George BriKlmni, 1776, '77, '81.

EJwiinl Hunter, 1777.

Paul Briphain, 1777.

Simon Stow, 1778-82.

Winslow Briglmni, 1783, '84.

Eihvard Barnes, 1787, '92-98.

Jonas Morse, 1790.

William Morse, 1791.

Jonathan Weeks, 1800-02.

Daniel Brigham, lSO:i, '10, 'li-19.

Joliu I.oring, 1HU4-08, '1-2-14.

Ephraim Barber, 1810, '11.

Samuel Gilibon, 1817.

Joel Cranston, 1820, '21.

Silas Kelton, 1822, '24, '25.

Daniel Stevens, 1828-31, '33.

Eli Rice, 1830, '34-3(i.

Levi BIgelow, 1831, '32, '34, '39.

Sylvester F. Bucklin, 1835, '36.

laaac Hayden, 1837, '39-41.

Ezekiel Bruce, 1840, '42.

Abel Bice, 1843, '44.

liambert Bigelow, 1845.

David Goodale, 1847, '48.

Obadiah W. Albee, 1849, '51, '61.

Francis Brigham, 1850, '52.

Abraham W. Rice, 1854.

Lewis T. Frye, 18,')5.

Hollis I.oring, 1856, '67.

Leonard E. Wakefield, 18.58.

John Phelpe, 1859.

Horatio Alger, 1860.

0. W. Albee, 1861.

Francis Bri^bam, 1862.

Samuel Boyd, 1863.

Henry 0. Russell, 1864.

Nahum Witherbee, 1865-66.

Hugh R. Bean, 1867.

Frederick II. Moi^e, 1868.

Edward L. Bigelow, 1869, '71, '72.

Samuel Howe, 1S70.

Francis C. Curtis, 1873, '74, '88, '89.

Wm. A. Alley, 1875.

James T. Mnrphy, 1876.

S. Herbert Howe, 1877.

Daniel S. Mooney, 1878.

James W. StcDonald, 1879.

Timothy A. Coolidge, 1880-81.

Samuel N. Aldrich, 1882.

Michael J. Buckley, 1883.

William N. Davenport, 1884-85.

Timothy J. Harris, 1886.

Arthur A. Brigham, 1887.

1. I'orter Morse, 1888.

SUite Stiwtorg.—Joel Cranston, Eli Rice, .Stephen Pope, Obadiah W.

Albee, Charles M. Howe, Samuel N. Aldrich, William N. Davenport,

John W. McDonald.

DehgateB to Ihe Provincial Cotigress.—Peter Bent, Edward Barnes, George

Brigham.

Delegalt^s to the Coucntion for Framing the ConsliltUiony 1779-80.—Ed-

ward Barnes, Moses Woods, Winslow Brigham.

Delegates to the Convention to Ratify the ConUUututn of the UnU^d States.—
Jonas Blorse, Benjamin Sawin.

Delegate to the Convention in 1820 to Revise the Constitntion of Massachu-

tetlg.—Joel Cranston.

Delegate to the (invention in 1853, to Revise the (institution of Massachn-

setts.—Isaac Hayden.

Assistant Treasurer United States.—Samuel N. Aldrich.

County Commissioner.—William S. Frost.

POPULATIOS.

1600,65; 1670, 210; 1700, 530; 1760, 1000; 1800, 1635; 1840, 2135;

1850, 2941; 1860, 5910; 1S70, 7855; 1872, 8941; 1875, 8424; 1880, 10,-

127 ; 1885, 10,941 ; 1890, 13,788.

VALUATION.

Number of polls assessed 3,875

Personal Estate.

Valuation, excluding resident bank stock $850,170

Resident bank stock 165,348

Total 81,015,518

Real Estate.

Value of buildings, excluding land . $2,905,840

Value of land, excluding buildings 2,303,280

Total $5,269,120

Total valuation of assessed estate $6,284,638

Divided as follows :

Personal property owned by residents, exclusive of bank stoclt

and corporation property $697,470

Personal estate owned by non-residents 64 350

Real estate owned by residents 4,842,050

Keal estate owned by non-residenta 248,145

Resident bank stock

Corporation property taxable

Total

LeSH amount entitled to exemption

165,348

292,175

. $6,310,138

25,600

$0,284,638

Number of horses aesoased, 1122 ; gain 197.

Number of cows assessed, 1025 ; loss, 6.

Number of neat cattle assessed. 178 ; loss, 7.

Number of sheep assessed, 41 ; loss, 32.

Number of swine assessed, 128
;
gain, 23.

Number of dwelling-houses assessed, 2000
;
gain, 135,

Taxes apportioned as follows :

On personal property $10,451.39

On real estate 85,359.75

„ „ (Male 7,654.00
On polls, < „ ,

'

I Female 24.00

Rate of taxation per thousand , $16.20

CHAPTER LXIII.

MARLBOROUGH—{Continued).

Odd Fellowship— Celebration of Turn Hundredth .Anniversary nf Incorpora-

tion of Totni— War of the Rebellion— Societies, etc.

Odd Fellowship.'—Marlborough Lodge, No. 85,

Indepeiiilent Order of Odd Fellows, wa.s inslituted

November 28, 1845, iu the building now numbered
"242 Lincoln Street. Among the names of those who
instituted the lodge may be mentioned, Lewis T.

Frye, Edward A. Gay, John Chipman, David Brown,

Thomas Corey, Lambert Bigelow (2d), Joseph Boyd,

William Morse (2d), Samuel A. Chipman, Leander

Bigelow, Chas. Dana Bigelow and Sullivan D. Baker.

The first officers were; Noble-Grand, Edward A.

Gay ; Vice-Grand, Samuel A. Chipman ; Secretary,

Leander Bigelow.

Among those who soon after were admitted to

membership were, William Barnes (2d), Chas. L. Fay,

Lewis Felton, Elbridge Howe, David L. Brown,

Thomas E. Hapgood, Burleigh Morse, David Barnes,

Lorriman H. Russell and Frederick Jewett. Most of

these will be recognized as being among the most

prominent men in Marlborough, during the past

forty years.

The Lodge continued to hold its meetings in the

building where they organized, until October, 1846,

when they occupied a hall over Lambert Bigelow's

store, corner of Lincoln and Pleasant Streets. They
afterwards occupied a hall at the corner of Lincoln

and Mechanic Streets.

About 1856, the Lodge began to decline from vari-

ous causes, chiefly, the payment of too large sick bene-

fits in proportion to their income, and the financial

depression from which the town was then suffering.

No increase was made in their membership for some
time, and they finally surrendered their charter to the

Grand Lodge, on July 23, 1858.

1 By John S. Fay.
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About the year 1873, some interest being mani-
fested in tlie order, a petition signed by Hurleigli

Morse, Lyman \V. Howe, Tileston Brigham and
Frederick Jewett, former members of the old lodge,

and four other resident Odd Fellows, was presented

to the Grand Lodge, who restored the charter, and
the Lodge was re-instituted November 0, 1873.

William Barnes and Sullivan D. Baker, former mem-
bers of the old lodge, united with thom at this time,

making a total of ten members. Interest in the or-

der soon spread. The Lodge has prospered, until, at

the present time, it numbers 174 members. From
the date of its re- institution, November (!, 1873, the

Lodge occupied jointly with the Masonic Lodge, the

Masonic Hall situated on Main Street. This hall

was destroyed by fire, December 7, 1883. They then

held their meetings in the Pythian Hall, until the

completion of their present quarters, in Corey Block,

which were dedicated with appropriate ceremonies

October 1, 1888.

Here they occupy an elegant suite of rooms, fitted

specially for them, and furnished throughout in first-

class shape, at an expense of about three thousand

dollars. The present ofiicers, (October, 1890) are:

Noble-Grand, Arthur J. Cliflford: Vice-Grand, Charles

T. Berry ; Kecording-Secy., Percy F. Jlunsey ; Treas-

urer, Charles H. Marston ; Permanent Secy., Alexan-

der Berry.

On May 15, 1889, on a petition of members of Marl-

boro' Lodge, No. 85, and lodges in neighboring towns,

King Saul Encampment, No. 69, was instituted in

Odd Fellows' Hall. The present membership is

eighty-niue. The present oiBcers are : Chief Patri-

arch, Dr. C. S. Jackson ; Senior Warden, Herbert W.
Brigham; Scribe, Alexander Berry; Financial

Scribe, P. F. Munsey ; Treasurer, Charles F. Holyoke.

March 11, 1890, Star of Hope Degree Lodge, No. 86,

Daughters of Rebekah, was instituted in Marlboro'.

They now number one hundred and twenty-five mem-
bers. The present officers are : Noble Grand, Mrs.

Herbert W. Brigham ; Vice-Grand, Mrs. J. F. Tur-

ner ; Recording Secretary, Mrs. Austin B. Howe

;

Treasurer, Mrs. Joseph E. Warren ; Financial Secre-

tary, Mrs. John S. Fay.

In March, 1888, there was also instituted in con-

nection with Marlboro' Lodge, No. 85, The Odd Pel-

lotas Belief Association of Jifarlboro', Mass. The mem-
bership is confined to members of Marlboro' Lodge,

No. 85, and its object is to relieve sick and disabled

brothers by paying a weekly sick benefit of five dol-

lars per week ; this being in addition to any benefits

obtained from the lodge, the association being main-

tained by assessments from its members. The present

board of ofiicers is as follows : President, Oliver E.

Howe ; Vice-President, Herbert W. Bringham ; Sec-

retary and Treasurer, Charles H. Marston. Direct-

ors,—The president and vice-president, and secretary-

treasurer, and P. G. George A. Pratt, P. G. Horace

Hasting.", P. G. E. Irving Sawyer and Fred. L. Felton.

Celebration of Two Hdndredth Annitkrsahy
OF iNCOKi-oKATioN OK TowN.—The lown celebrMted
its two hundredth anniversary of incorporation June
13, 1869. The officers of the day were »h follow* :

President, Francis B. Fay.

Vice-Presidents, lUnry Rice, Jabe/ Rice, Stephen
R. Phelps, Dttigbl Win, Uaac liiiydcu, Lambert Big-
elow, Solouioii Weeks, William L. Howe, Htephen
Pope, John Goiidale, Kzekiel Bruce, Alden Brigbani.
Chaplain, Rev. Horatio .M;;er.

Treasurer, Samuel B. Muynard.
Chief Marshiil, William 11. Wood.
Assistant .Marshals. Sylvester Bucklin, Henry O.

Russell, Winsh.w .M. Warren, John Chipmau, Edward
A. Gay, Francis Brigham.

Toastmaster, Hollis Loring.

The services were held on Ockoocaiiganselt ITIIl,

and opened by an invocation by Rev. Joseph Allan, D.
D. of Northborough

; a poem written by Wm.C. Bry-
ant was then read, followed by prayer by Rev. Horatio
.Vlger. Hon. Framis B. Fay at the close of a few re-

marks introduced Hon. Charles Hudson, who deliver-

ed an historical address. Following the addretio

of Mr. Hudson an original ode by Horulio Alger, Jr.,

was sung. After lhe*e exercises dinner wan served,

plates having been laid for 1(!00 persons. ,\ ble<>Hing

was invoked by Rev. William Morse, of Tyngsborough.
.\t the close of the dinner an original ode by William
F. Allen was sung.

The toastmaster of the day was Hollis Loring, and
the toasts were as follows :

1. r/jM Centennitil Gathering o/ the Borough Familtf*.—An ocaulon
conaecniteJ to gratt-'ful rccolIecliuUB, (o cherished Bnticiptttiou, moA to

tiocial, fntternal and Chrintian grwtingB.

2. A cordiitl welcome home lo our tltteU Danfihlrr, Wttthorough.—»bo,
one hundred and forty-tUrwo years hro. rect-tTisI imr wwivrn Ixinlcr for

her inheritance ; whui^o lirocept« and oxanipled haTe t>e<>n a nuble Ri..

form School, even to thi< preHeut generation.

Hon. Edward Mellen responded.

3. Our Foir Daughter, Soulhborough.—.\lthough the reddee at the

South, yet »o are glad to know that she agivn in enllnirnt with hir

Mother ; tliat she goes for " free 8oii, free speech and frwe tnen."

Response by Rev. William .1. Breed.

4. Northborough, our only Grandehitd—Vt'oTihy, tin iiu< Ii, to be re-

^rded with egpocial favor I»y tier vencruhle Onindniother.

Response by George C. Davis.

5. The Early Clergy of MarWorongh and the .yfarlftormtgh .iteaeiatkm.

Response by Rev. Joseph .VUen, D.D., of North-

borough.

6. The Jj;gulature of Maeeaehuiettx —Ever mindful of our material

intot-estt), yet never forgetful of our neraonal riglitj and littertina.

7. The Ancieut Oriler of Free atvi Accepted Ma*one.

This sentiment was responded to by Francis C.

Whiston, who exhibited an ai)ron worn by Lafayette

at the laying of the corner-atone of Bunker Hill

monument, June 17, 1825.

8. The Fouuden of .Marlborough True (o the Old Soaia .W'Mo,—" Per-

gonal Liberty the antece<]ent. National Ulory the conKquent."

Response by O. W. Albee.

9. Our /*iI{/rimFatA«r«.—"They built inaUtutiona for men, not men
for intttitutlons."
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Kesponded to by Eev. Peter Parker, D.D.

10. Tht Orator of Ou Cay.—Marlborough may well b« proud of such

sous.

Response by Charles Hudson.

11. The PrrtCTil Clergi/ of 3/arftoroiii;)i.—Though their ninks are

now Badly lhiui.«il, y.t « remnant is left that will never be found want-

ing to the cause of sound learning, of unshackled freedom, of vital piety

aud pnictioal righteousness.

Responded to by L. E. Wakefield.

12. The Memory of tke Rece}il De<ul.—Gooiiale,FuldandBuc)slin.

'• Wo sympathize with those who vveop,

Whoui stern iillliclions bond,

DL-«pairing o'er the lowly sleep

Of kiudred or of friend
;

But they, who .Tordan's swelling breast

No more are called to stem,

Who in the eternal haven rest

—

We mourn no more for them.*'

Dirge by the band.

13. Oar SpirUuat Guides of Other Dmja.—V/e gladly welcome them

fiom their distant fields of labor, to our Festival of Commemoration.

Response by Rev. George E. Day, D.D.

14. The First Selllem of Ncie England.—It fell to their lot to estab

lish Civilization and Christianity in a savage land. They laid the founda-

tion of our prosperity ; let them be gratefully remembered by their chil-

dren.

William Brighara responded.

14. The Mrmnrfof Hon.John Dmiis.—The only Governor of the State

and United States Senator, the Borough towns ever produced.

Response by A. McF. Davis, Esq., of Worcester.

The followiuo sentiment was proposed by Colonel

Dexter Fay, of Southborougb, aud read by Dexter

Newton, Esq.

:

" lirai7i)or"U!/)i, a Wonderful iVnttcr.—With children more than a hun-

dred years old, and a Grandchild fourscore-years-and-ten, sitting on the

maternal lap, and not yet weaued."

Sentiment, by Edward Wilkins

:

**Our Fathers and Mothers of 16fi0.—Could they see and know what we

do to-dny they would be filled with admiration, like that of the Queen

of Sheba, when she beheld the splendor of Solomon."

Among other sentiments read, were the following :

"Tlie Venerable Men who are with us to-daij.—With age, the common

excitements and warm blood of youth pass away ; but the heart of the

wise man, the older it grows the warmer it feels."

"The S<^ns and Danfjhters of Temperance.—In the practice of their prin-

ciples, may the Daughters be .« pure as the crystal fount, and the Sons

as constant as the Waters of Niagara."

•* Our Firmnen : the Minute.Men of Modern rnnes.—Like the Minute-

Men of old, they subdue their enemy by the use of their arms
; but, like

them too, they often find one file which conquers them

—

the fire of a

lady's eye."

Among the letters of regret from gentlemen not

being able to be present at the celebration, were those*

from Hon. Henry Wilson, Hon. Josiah Quincy, Jr.,

R. W. Emerson, F. B. Sanborn, Frederick A. Pack-

ard, Hon. Charles Francis Adams, Hon. Charles R.

Train, Hon. John G. Palfrey, John Laughlin Sibley,

Hon. E. R. Hoar, Hon. Levi Lincoln, and Hon. Em-
ory Washburn.

War of the Rebellion.'—The part Marlbo-

rough took in the War of the Rebellion was fully

abreast other sister towns throughout the State. The

Board of Selectmen were thoroughly imbued with the

iBy J. W. Barnes.

spirit of loyalty that everywhere prevailed, and by

calling town-meetings from time to time, as occasion

seemed to demand, the will of the citizens found ex-

pression in raising money to defray the expenses of

enlisting men for service in tlie army, under the sev-

eral calls from President Lincoln. War meetings

followed each other, and the fires of patriotic ardor

burned brightly to the end.

In April, 1861, the town voted to raise and appro-

priate $10,000 for war purposes. This was followed

by other sums, until tlie town had expended, in all,

$51,584.11, of which $45,368.45 was repaid by the

State. Men enlisted and joined the first regiments

that left the State. Company G, of the Ninth Infan-

try, was mainly recruited from this town, and was

mustered in June 11, 1861. Companies I aud F, of

the Thirteenth Infantry, also recruited here, were the

next to leave, being mustered in July 16, 1861.

Other enlistments followed, and the town was repre-

sented in almost every regiment that left the State.

Company I, Fifth Infantry—nine months—was most-

ly from this town, as also Companies I and E, of the

same regiment, for one hundred days. Other regiments

that contained a nucleus of Marlborough men, were:

Company I, of the Thirty-sixth Infantry, had 23 men ;

Company K, Fifty-seventh Infantry, had 25. The
Ninth and Sixteenth Light Batteries contained many
Marlborough men, as also the Second and Fourth

Cavalry. In all, Marlborough had 869 men engaged

—574 for three years, 91 for one year, 108 for nine

months, and 96 for one hundred days.

John A. Rawlins Post 43, Grand Army of the

Republic, was organized and chartered, January 15,

1868. Its first commander was Charles F. Morse,

and its present (1890) commander, Francis C. Curtis.

The first public observance of Memorial Day was in

1869, in connection with the dedication of the Sol-

diers' Monument. The ceremony of decorating the

graves of deceased soldiers took place in the A. m.,

and the ceremonies attending the dedication of the

monument, which had been erected by vote of

the town, in the P. m., by a public parade of the civil

and military organizations of the town. The exerci-

ses took place on the High School Common. The

formal delivery of the monument to the town was by

William S. Frost, chairman of the Building Commit-

tee. Received ou the part of the town by Hon. S. N.

Aldrich, chairman of the Board of Selectmen, fol-

lowed by an oration by Hon. Henry Wilson. Since

1871—with the exception of one year—the town has

appropriated a sum of money to be expended under

the direction of Post 43, for the observance of Memo-
rial Day. After the first few years, the sum has been

fixed at $150.00. The Post is made up of good men,

to the number of one hundred and sixty, is well offi-

cered and stands well in the community.

A Ladles' Relief Society, in connection with the

Post, was organized December 6, 1870. It stands

among the first, if not the first, society of the kind
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ever organized in this department. It has been the

strong right arm of the Post, and its work is so blend-

ed with the Post that the history of tlie one is the

history of the other. It has been independent of

State Corps, and its members, made u|> of the wives,

mothers, sisters, and daugliters of the soldiers, liave

demonstrated by tlieir twi'Mly years of suceessl'iil ex-

istence, that judi(.:ioiis management and liarmonious

home rule is more essential to success than an expen-

sive membership in a State Corps.

Societies.—Marlborough has a large number of

societies and organizations. Among these may be

mentioned Knights of Labor ; Knights of Honor

;

Knights of Pythias; Alarlborongh Grange; Cold

Water Temple of Juvenile Templars; Spring Hill

Lodge, I. O. G. T. ; St. John's Total Abstinence

Society ; Young Men's Catholic Total Abstinence

Society ; Catholic Lyceum Association ; Clan-na-gael

Association; Enimett Association
; Grattan Associa-

tion; Houp-la Club; Lincoln Club; Royal Society

of Good Fellows, No. 84 ; St. Jein Baptist Society

;

Union Club; Union Dramatique; Marlborough

Lodge, No. 84, I. O. O. F. ; Star of Hope Degree

Lodge, No. 8(i ; Daughters of Rebekab, Independent

Order of Odd Fellows ; John A. Rawlins Post G. A.

R.; F. C. Curtis, Camp, No. 94; Hudson Relief

Society, connected with Post 43 ; Co. F, Sixth Regi-

ment, M. V.M. ; American Legion of Honor; Ancient

Order of Hibernians ; Ockoocangansett Tribe, No.

25, Improved Order of Red Men ; Court Marlboro'

7703, Independent Order of Foresters ; Daughters

ot Liberty; Ladies' Branch, O. U. A. M. ; Taconic

Lodge, No. 13, Order of the United Friends; Board

of Trade, E. R. Alley, president; Marlborough Gas

Light Company, S. H. Howe, president ; the

Marlborough Electric Campany, Lorren Arnold, presi-

dent.

BIOGRAPHICAL.

SAMUEL BOYD.'

The history of a New England town is often largely

made by some one man, who, burn and always living

within its limits, impresses himself upon its social and

industrial life, so that the life of the town is truly the

life of that man.

When Samuel Boyd, at the end of his seven years'

apprenticeship in the tanning establishment of Cido-

nel Joseph Davis, at Northboro', was urged by a son

of his master to remain in the place where he had

learned his trade,—a town which then had its two

cotton factories and its two tan-yards,—and when

warned that the farming town of JIarlboro' was no

place for him, his ambitious reply was, that other

men in other towns had stayed at home and helped

1 By Samuel C. Darling.

build up their native place and that that w,i- «liiii he
proposed to do.

When he came home from Nc.rlhburu', thrrc
was not a single manufacturer in what in now tlie

town of Marlboro', and with the exception of him«.-lf

and brothers, there was but one young niau between
the age of fourteen ami twenty-five yearn, who wan
not either at work upon a farm or absent from the
town, for the purpose of carrying on buiiineiui or
learning a trade elsewhere.

For more than half a century Samuel Uoyd hiu
stayed at home ami done his life-work, and liuilt up U'\»

native place, so that everybody who had known of
him and of his connection with the businewi and
development of the town, freely conceded the justice

of the compliment, when, in a leading article of one
of the Boston dailies, he was churacterizid as tho
"Father of the town."

He was one of a family of eleven children of .lolin

Boyd and Sophia Phelps. His paternal grandfather
served in the Revolutionary War. Born June 3,

ISlf), under the noble elms that now overlook the

estate of Mr. O. P. Walker, in the southern part of
the town, he was reared and educated in thextrict prin-

ci|)les and stern experiences of a hanly .New Hngiand
home. Alter scrviiigan apprenticeship at the tanner'n

trade, he directed his attention to the manufacture of

boots and shoes. The business was conducted on a
small scale in the L |)art of what is now known
as the Josiah Bennett house, and here was originated

the idea of subdivision of labor in the manut'aclure

of boots and jhoes. A little room, L'Ox.'ld, sullice<l for

the purposes of the business there, and the employ-

ment of four men, or a "team," as it was called, to do
the work, was the first step toward that multiplied de-

tail which now characterizes the business. Succe»i-

sive changes and increase in the volume of the business

brought -Mr. Boyd and his partners to the erection of

"the Big Shop" (so-called), in 1871, a mammoth fac-

tory, covering an area of more than one and one-half

acres, and believed to be the largest boot and shoe

manufactory under a continuous roof in the Uniteil

States.

The development of the business is simply wonder-

ful. In 184o the total value of the product for the

entire town of Marlborough wiis i'92,932 ; the usual

product of Mr. Boyd's factory alone is $1,500,000.

Mr. Boyd's relations with his workmen have always

been considerate and just. He has never forgotten

the days when he labored with his own hand".

In 1888 he conceived the idea of cutting up an estate

of sixty acres at Chestnut Hill into house lots for his

and other workmen, and of building an electric

street railway, that in addition to other advantage*,

should make it possible for them to take their niekls

at home. At his own cost, he embarked in these

enterprises and the result has not only been a bless-

ing to the workmen and in fact the whole town, but

has resulted in profit to himself. Long before this.
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Mr. Boyd had identified himself prominently with

the steam railroad interests of Marlborough. The

construction of the Agricultural Branch Jiailroail

was delayed for some years from lack of suflicicnt

capital. Framingham, Southborough and North'jor-

ough had each pledged $.50,000 to the enterprise.

The prcHident of the Boston .<i Worcester Railroad

felt the importance of having Marlborough upon the

line of the .\gricultural Branch, and his company

offered to guarantee six per cent, upon the sum of

$60,000 stock, if that sum could be raised for that

purpose, biit not a cent at the time of this offer had

been raised in Marlborough. It wa-s then that Mr.

Boyd, foreseeing the value of connecting the road with

.Marlborough, seconded the president's efforts by guar-

anteeing himself to raise $1.'),000 in Marlborough,

which he did, subscribing himself largely to the fund.

The result was the construction of the road to the

centre of Jfarlborough, and had Mr. Boyd's subse-

quent eflbrts for a trunk line for Marlborough been

fully crowned with success, the tracks which had thus

been constructed to the centre of the town, would

have been continued onward from that point to

Northborough and Clinton, and the town would have

been spared the inconveniences of the present branch

to the Y.

Mr. Boyd has never sought or cared for public

honors. In 1864 he was prevailed upon to allow

his name to be used as a candidate for the Gen-

eral Court and was elected and served. Once, with-

out nomination for the office or consultation with

bim, he was elected selectman, but he has always felt

that he could serve his town better in his business as

a manufacturer, than in political position. In more

instances than one has he shown a noble public spirit.

Fifteen years ago, he offered the town a tract of

forty acres for a public park. Ten years afterward

he procured, in the face of much opposition, what is

now conceded to be the handsomest and, in fact, the

only pleasure thoroughfare leading out of town, the

re-location andatrengthening by the County Commis-

sioners, of Maple Street. Forty years ago the estate of

Caleb Witherbee, south of Main Street, had only a

laborer's lodge upon it. To-day, through Mr. Boyd's

foresight and energy, it is the fairest and most con-

venient residential portion of the city, crowned upon

what was then its treeless and wind-swept heights

with the stately mansion of the successful manu-
facturer.

While eschewing political preferment, Mr. Boyd

has of course been compelled to hold office in var-

ious institutions and enterprises, which he has either

originated or promoted, and which have converted

the pastoral quiet of the village of 1836 into the

manufacturing stir of the Highland City of 1890.

He was director in the Marlborough Branch Rail-

road, now part of the Fitchburg Railroad System
;

Director in the Agricultural Branch Railroad: Di-

rector and at one time president of the First Nation-

al Bank of Marlborough ; Director of the People's

National Bank of Marlborough; President of the

Marlborough Savings Bank ; Director in the Hop-
kinfon Bank of Hopkinton, Massachusetts; and is

now [)resident of the Boyd & Corey Boot and Shoe

Manufacturing Company, the Chestnut Hill Real

Estate Association and the Marlborough Electric

Street Railway Company, of the property of which

three last named companies, he is substantially the

owner.

His latest gift is that of a sightly lot of land for

the French Evangelical Mission in Marlborough,

upon which a church is now in progress of erection.

At the time of this sketch, his vigor and enterprise

in every direction, which makes for the welfare of his

native town of Marlborough is unabated and stimu-

lating.

SIMON HERBERT HOWE.

The characters of good men belong to mankind and

there is no duty more pleasant or useful than that

which seeks the recognition of their virtues and stim-

ulates others to follow them. An example of philan-

thropic zeal steadily pursuing its benevolent dcjiigns

amidst the prevailing selfishness of business compe-

tition, will ever be of great benefit to the commun-
ity, and benedictions follow the steps of him who
proves himself to be a lover of his kind. With re-

spectable rank among such characters is found the

subject of this sketch. The sou of Samuel and Char-

lotte (Howe) Howe, of Marlborough, he was born

December 21, 1835. His father was a cooper and

carried on that business in Marlborough until 1842,

when he retired. Herbert spent his childhood and

youth at his home enjoying the sports and performing

the duties usual to boys in manufacturing villages in

New England and in due time entered upon school

day experiences. He first attended the common school

and at the proper time entered the High School, from

which he graduated, and at the age of twenty, with

but little more than his willing hands and active brain

as the foundations of a business, he, in connection

with his elder brother, Lewis, commenced in a small

way the manufacture of shoes in the old cooper shop.

During the odd hours of his school days Herbert had

learned many of the important parts of shoe manu-

facture. He made shoes for John W. Stevens, and

from the proceeds he paid his own board during his

school days.

By close attention to their business these young

men soon became known as factors of some conse-

quence in this industry, which has contributed so

much to the wealth and importance of their native

town. As their business increased there came the

need of more room, which was supplied by the addi-

tion of a story to the old cooper shop. Shortly after

Herbert bought out the interest of his brother Lewis,

thus assuming sole proprietorship of a business which

continued to increase in its volume, and for lack of
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room Mr. Howe bought a shop on the corner of Pleas-

ant and Elm Streets and moved the old cooper's shop

up beside it and here went on winning the re|intation

of an honest manufacturer and doing a fair amount of

business.

He remained here until 18G1, when he formed a

co-partnership with Allen D. Howe, which continued

with but indiflereut success up to 1865 when they dis-

solved partnership, and from this date ISIi."), practi-

cally commenced the business career of Mr. Herbert

Howe, which has been decidedly remarkable and re-

plete with numy interesting incidents. .\lways

prompt and exact in meeting his financial obligations

a single incident will serve to give a cue to his whole

life. In 1857, the time of "the great snow-storm,"

when all public conveyance was blocked for several

days, he had a note falling due in a Boston bank, and

two of the three days of grace had passed, when he

started to walk through the drifts to Cordaville, a

station on the Boston and Worcester Railroad, six miles

distant, which feat he accomplished, and found that

the road had just been opened through to Boston,

where he arrived just a trifle late, but through the

courtesy of the cashier, who admired the spirit which

could overcome such obstacles, he nbtained the paper

which for the first and only time in all his financial

career came so near to being dishonored.

He soon found need of more room and built on ad-

ditions from time to time until the present " Home"
shop standing on the spot where he commenced busi-

ness, is an ornament to the town, and with his other

two shops, the " Diamond F " and the " Diamond O,"

they form a monument to his successful management.

These three shops have been put into a stock com-

pany, with Mr. Howe as the principal stockholder

and president of the corporation, and his son Louis

P. Howe, as vice-president. The style of the corpor-

ation is the " S. H. Howe Shoe (Jo."

In these factories are made annually 2,151,474 pairs

of shoes. In the financial affairs of the town Mr.

Howe has taken great interest, and has been connec-

ted with several moneyed institutions.

In 1875 he was elected a trustee of the Marlborough

Savings Bank, and in 1882 its president, which office

he now holds. He was one of the original incorpor-

ators of the People's National Bank in 1879, and has

been on its board of directors uninterruptedly since

that date. Mr. Howe has acted with the Republican

party ever since its organization, has represented

Marlborough in the General Court, and in town

afl'airs has been for many years chairman of the

school-committee, a member of the board of select-

men, and some of the time its chairman.

Mr. Howe has been a constant attendant of the

Unitarian Church, also for some time the superinten-

dent of its Sunday-school and a liberal contributor to

the support of public worship, not only to his own

denomination but to every other in the town.

In private life Mr. Howe is known as a benevolent

and kind-hearted man, whu^c nnmy diarnuii have
been bestowed without osleMlalion or public an-
nouncement. Jan. 1, 1857, Mr. ll.me married Har-
riet .\., daughter of William I*., an<l Luvinia (Itiiker)

Brigliam, and fnun this union there have been four
children, Louis Porter, liorn May 2!l, IWiH; Alice
Baker, born Dec. 19, 1859; Charlotto Adelaide born
May 9,1861; Annie Brigham, born Juno 15, 1871. Of
these children Alice B.,c|icd Oct. 1«(>0, and Annie B.,

died Sept. 1887. L(mis P married India ll<iwe Ar-
nold, Jan. 1, 1887 ; (Muirlotto A., was married to Oncar
Herbert Stevens, May 6, 1883.

EDWAUI) F. B.VIINKS, M.IK

Edward Forbes Barnes, M.D., was born in Marl-
borough, March 21, 18(i;», and w.'is the oldest hod of
ICdward and Lucy (Brigliam) Barnes. Uiilil he wan
of age he worked on the farm, but after obtaining his

majority he commenced his preparation for college

and entered Harvard in 18.'H and graduated in 1838
in the class with Biifus Ellis, Judge (;ha«. Devcns,
.lames Russell Lowell, and .L F. W. Ware, attaining

a high rank as a scholar. After graduation he de-

voted some time to teaching school. Having decided

to devote himself to the medical profession he pur-

sued his medical studies in the Harvard Medical

School and completed them in Paris, receiving his

degree of M.D. in 1844. In 1846 he commented prac-

tice in Marlborough. During the thirty years that

(bllowed he was constantly busy in his jirofe-ssion,secur-

ing the confidence of his patients, lie was an able and
faithful ])liysician, and proved himself a skilful and

successful practitioner. For several years he served as

a member of theSchool Committee, jireparing some of

the annual reports of that body. Dr. Barnes was a

lover of good order and of all good institutions. Al-

though he nearly reached his three-score and ten

years, he retained to the last his faculties in an un-

usual degree. Dr. Barnes was an acute observer of

piissing events, and exercised a conscientious fidelity

in the discharge of his duty.

He was connected with the Mas-sacliusetls Medical

Society all through his professional life and was a

contributor to medical journals. Biography and his-

tory were favorite studies and his memory concern-

ing what he had read was remarkable. In local his-

torical matters he was well posted, and it is a source

of regret that what he had treasured up from bis

reading is not more available in printed shagie. He
was by common consent made president of the local

Historical and Genealogical Society when it was

organized. There was about him a peculiar attrac-

tiveness, a subtle fascination. He never obtrudeil

his own opinions upon any one, but was a model of

self-forgetfulness, self-depreciation and self-oblivion.

There was abont biin an air of repose, nieekneas

and charity. Though really a very gifted man, he

was content, like his Master, to be of no reputation.
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Ho wiiH, ill tli(! bcHl HciiKi' (i( (lie |iliriiHu, u (fiiDil mini.

Ill liix niituru riKlitooiiNMcHH 1111(1 vlmrity wcru lili-niled.

I)r IliiriK'M wiiM iiiiirricil In Miiriu K., iliiiiKliU'r of AhIi-

licl Hiiil l.yiliii (RilHHi'll) ItriKliaiii, Ail^iml 2li, IK2I,

ami liy IIiIh iiiiioii llicy liail (iiic cliilil, Li/./.ic K., wlio

wiiH iM.rii Oi'lolxr 7, IH|H, iinil lilnl .Inly 12, IKfl'.l.

AIho an a<|ii|>lt'il ilaii);lit<-r, .loHi'iiliiiK^ A., Iiurii .laii-

luiry IX, 1S70. I»r. ItanicH illoil NiivtMiiliirr 2, l«78,

anil liiH willow iHHiill living; al tin- old lioiiii-. iSlu; ia

a mi|n'riiir wnliiaii, n'Mpn-li'il ami bi'Invcil liy all with

wliiiiii hIii' aHNoriati'X.

.IIIHN AUIIIHON FKYK.

.loliTi A. Krye waa born in Marlboro', Miwh., Nov.

27, is:i!t. IMm father waa Lnwia T., ami hia mother

waa ht'vinaS. I.ewia T. waa a alovi- maniif'Hctiirer, and

a man of roiiHidprabb* |ir<iiiiiii<Mic(' in llic tiiwii, bav-

in); rr|ircHi'iili'd it ill III!' l/H)(iHlaliirc. 'rbiM'hildboiid

of .lobn A. WIIH paHHi'd thr(Mi);h wilbout iiiiiiHiial

iiicidoiil, and in dllc time be foiiimciieed bin mdiool

daya ill the ((raminar-Hchool, and liMiabcd IiIh eduea-

tiiiii ill due eoiirae in (be hiKh-acbool, under tlie

ellicicnl tiaiiiiii)!; of lloii.O. W. Albee, who, an prin-

lipal oC Ibi- Marlboro' lii(;li-Hi:bool, jrained a very

wide and jiHlly ciivialile notoriety an a eoinpetcnt

ediiealor. h'rom liia eareCiil and thoriMi^^b IniiniiiK

have (^oiie out many of the boya of Marlboro' and

vieinity to itareera of influcnue and buaineHM huccx'»h.

After leaving Hchool he entered the Hboe-factory of

MeM>irM. Ilapfiood <V RiiHnell, where he remained about

one year, when be iiiaile ii change to the factory of

H. Herbert Howe, Hpending alioiit one year ; he then

worked in tlie factory of S. O. Kay, remaining four

yeara, by which time be was a thorough master of

lliiw liUMiiieHH in all its de|iartmentB. Tie left the Kay

«liop to form a co-partnerHliip with .lobn W. Hlevena,

on I'leaHant Street, taking the managciiieiit of the

factory, and bringing it up to a high atate of pro-

iluetioii, while Mr. Btevena managed the financial

part of the buainoHH.

In ISd.'i be bought out Mr. Stevens and airigle-

lianded carried on the enterprise most sueccssfully.

He reniHined in the old shop aboiitone year when the

business bad bo grown tbiit the young manufacturer

found it neceBsary to procure hirger quarters, which

be found in a shop situated on Elm Street, Marl-

borough, to which he removed and where he remained

until ISOr), when hv. again found he had out-

grown his accommodations and as the opjiortunity

oll'cred be tra<lcd shops with L. A. Howe, at the cor-

ner of I'leasant and Chestnut Streets, where Mr. Frye

has since remained and where, by a steady growth in

the volume and quantity of his manufacture, he has

been obliged to make additions at four different times,

each acldiliou being made with reference to the

gradual improvement in the quality of the work

turned out as well as the quantity of it. In this fac-

tory, as it now stands, may be found all the latest and

best of the many labor-saving machines which from

time U) time the ingenuity of the skilled mechanic

haa provided. ThiH factory ranks third only in ihe

list of large manufactories in town in the

total of animal output. Up to I8S3 Mr. Frye had

condiieil biniHelf to the manufacture of sh'»rw of all

kinds, but at this date, for the first time, commenced
on boots cliiedy for cbildpen and youth. Like most

of the country manufacturers Mr. Krye had disposed

of his goods through the medium of a commission

house in I'oston, but in 187'> he changed this time-

liDiiored plan and undertook to market )iis product

himself, |iln(ing it directly in the jobber's hamls. This

plan worke'l so well and so materially to his benefit

that he has continued it to the present time. When
by active competition the manufacturers have been

forced into very narrow margins for profita, the saving

of commissions to middle men biis been a very im-

portant item. The goods from the manufactory of

Mr. Krye are first-cla^s and are known to the trade

far and wide. He has managed his business with

such sagacity and untiring industry for all these years

that a large material return has come t<j him, and with

unipiCMtioiied financial resources he is able to gratify

a taste for farming in a genteel way for the pleasure

there is in it for him, and in doing this he has re-

claimed over KW acres in the vicinity of his native

town, making that which was worthless to yield a

revenue and changing rocky waates to green pastures.

.Mr. Krye has been interested in the breeding of fancy

stock and has had a very superior herd of .lerseys,

among which were some justly celebrated animals.

In 18«ii, becoming convinced of the superiority of

the Holstein breed, he sold his Jerseys and imported

at great exiiense some of this breed, and now his herd

of Jlolsteins numbers 135 head of high grade cattle.

Mr. Krye has with reiiresentatives of this herd won
several jirizes in 1800, having taken the premiums at

the New England Kair, at Worcester, the Khode
Island State Kair, at Providence, also at Hratlle-

borough, Vt., and Danbury, Conn. September 20,

ISOl, Mr. Frye married Elvira F., daughter of Otis

and Levina (Rice) Kussell, and they have had five

children, two of whom died in infancy. The living

are Walter 1'., Carrie E., and Delia M. Mr. Krye is a

liberal supporter of the Unitarian Church—while Mr.

Krye has avoided political activity, declining town

offices, he is a decided Republican, having cast his

first vote for the martyred Lincoln. Mr. Frye was
the first one in town to introduce electricity into his

factory for lighting [)urpose8, owning his own ])lant

He is now enjoying the fruits of his successful activ-

ity in his handsome house, with fine grounds situated

on Pleasant Street, and has the respect and esteem of

all good citizens.

IMVII) WHITE HITCHCOCK.'

New Englanders are justly proud of their ancestry,

;ind while Massachusetts has a long list of honored

> By John L. Stons.
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names, she must not forget her sisier 5>:ales liave ii

first claim upon a large number. If the young men
of other States have flocked to Massachuselt.^, it was be-

cause larger opportunities were possible, and especial-

ly so to those who were inclined to mercantile pursuits.

So it has been in the town of Marlborough, as

many of her most respected and prosperous citizens

have come from without her borders.

Among this class none perhaps would claim the at-

tention of the historian more quicUly than David

White Hitchcock, sou of Lemuel and Sally White
Hitchcock, who was born June IDth, 1831, at Wood-
stock, Vt. His father was a merchant, both at

Weathersfield, Vt., andClaremont, N. H., noted for

his integrity and uprightness in business, and much
beloved by all who knew him for his kindly and genial

disposition. He died at the house of his eldest son,

John, in Newton, Mass., Nov. 9, 186(5, aged eighty-

seven years. His mother was of the White family, of

Watertown, Mass. She died in Woodstock, Vt. in ISSr).

David White Hitchcock was the seventh of nine

children, and the only living representative of the

family at this date, and received his education at the

common schools ofClarcmont, N. H. Owing to a

reverse of fortune and the dea'h of the mother, the

family was broken up and scattered, the subject of

this sketch bginning life on a farm in Claremont, at

the age of nine years.

At the age of fifteen he entered the store of Henry
Patten, a Claremont merchant. After spending nearly

three years in Clarem(mt, he went to Montpelier,

Vermont, as clerk in the employ of Harvey King,

then a prominent merchant of that place. At the age

of nineteen he went to Boston whither his two elder

brothers had preceded him (one being of the firm of

M. S. Lincoln & Co., and the other of the firm of Nash,

Callender & Co.), and entered the employ of Otis Nor-

cross & Co., wholesale dealers in crockery and glass

ware. Beginning as the humblest employee of this

firm, he soon made it apparent to the head of the

firm, a sharp, clear-headed man, that he had in this

young man oue who would prove a valuable acquisi-

tion to his busine.ss, and at the end of five years from

entering their employ, he was .admitted a partner of

the firm. Here was given him an opportunity to rise

by his unfailing attention to business, his honesty, his

energy as a salesman, his shrewdness and ]vrudence

as a business man to success and pros])erity. He re-

mained as a partner of this firm eleven years. At the

expiration of this co-partnership in 18()Ghe withdrew

and formed a co-partnership with his brother .John

under the firm name of John & David W. Hitch-

cock, for the purpose of doing a wholesale boot and

shoe business at 6(1 Pearl Street, Boston.

The foundation of his future secure, he rapidly in-

creased in wealth and prosperity, carrying always with

him his earlier reputation for shrewdness, honesty

and ability, commanding the respect of all who knew

him.

llie great nre in l!ost<in m .November, IsJi;, fouiil

the firm on the eve of retirement from bu.iiu-i.- nlto

gether. Aaer the lire it wait diw«ilve<l unit wa»
succeeded in tbe business by Lconnrd, Uedpatli &
Lamb, liio two former being saleiitncii and (he Utuir
book-keeper of llio old firm, J. and 1). W. Hit, I, ;

remaining iu» special jiartners. He wan iimtrun..

as was also his brother Joliii, lu building up the linn
of Wallace, Killiaiii & llray. nianufacturcrn of liooto

and shoes, at Beverly, .Mas.'i., the two l.rolliern being
the special partner.) of tbe tirm for eighteen yearn.

Mr. Hitchcock has always taken a warm iiilerrnt In

starting other young men whose lives began III asniiinl In

way as his own, and a'sisling tliem with advice and
money, most of llieiii becoming as hiiccensfnl ib> lieliiu

been. In 1873, after retiring from all active butiueiw,

although still interesteil in special co-parliicrnlilpH,

and the care ol several large estates, he purcha»ed u
farm in the easterly part of the beautiful village of

Marlborough, Mass., and settled down with his ramjly

to enjoy the balance of his days in abunclance of lei-

sure, anil with a reasonable endowmeiilof iImm world's

wealth, to purchase luxury and comfort, that Ik, lioine

life without cares ; but even here his sagacity in mnn-
aging business allairs and bis reputation for wise

counsel, were soon discovered by the people with

whom he was daily a.s.soeiated.

He was elected by his town's people to fill the ollice

of Selectman and served five years, three of them
being Chairman of the Board. He also was one of

the Board of construction of the waterworks in Marl-

borough ; after its completion was for one year Water
Commissioner.

It was by bis e.xerlions that the People's .National

Bank was established in Marlborougli of which .Mr.

Elbridge Howe, an old and luucli esteemed resicleiit,

was tbe first president, Mr. Hitchcm'k succeeding

him at his decease and still continuing in oUice. Me
is also one of tbe Trustees of the Marlborough Savings

Bank.

He is a Directf)r in the National Tube Works Com-
pany (a Massachusetts company having its works in

McKcesport, Pa.), the largest wrought iron pipe, tube

and rolling-mill in the world, giving employmeul to

5,500 men, having its ottices in Boston, New York,

Chiciigo, St. Louis, and Pittsburgh, Pa. He is Srrtc-

tary and Treasurer of the National Transport.alion

Company, and Vice-President of the .MonongiiliclH

Furnace Company of McKeesport, Pa., both being

ofl'shoots from the National Tube VN'orks Coiii|ianv.

He is also PresiiienI of the National Warehouse ("uiu-

pany of Chicago, and Chairman of the American
Water Works and Guarantee Company (Limite<l), of

Pittsburgh, Pa., which lays and op<Talcs water works

in cities and towns in the Pnited ."^tiitj-s.

Coming to Marlborough for retirement and leisure,

these several important ollices have been urged upon

him until he is again a thoroughly busy man. Lib-

eral in all ways, he requires tbe strictest uccuuntiiig
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in all monetary matters, and will not countenance

fraud or deception. Decided and tenacious in his

ideas, he respects one who freely and honestly speaks

his mind, even if it should not coincide with his.

Although coming to Marlborough an entire stranger,

no one has a livelier or deeper interest in the growth

and prosperity of the town.

Mr. Hitchcock married Anna Maria, the eldest

daughter (if William Hcrvey and Ann Maria (How-

ard) Conant, of HoHton, and by her had two children,

Lemuel and Alice Howard Hitchcock.

WINSLOW MOKSE WARREN.

Winslow M. Warren, son of Samuel and Rebecca

(Morse) Warren, was born in Marlborough August 20,

1828. He was born on "the old Warren Place,"

where his father, grandliUher and great-grandfather

had lived and toiled before him. They were farmers

and men of sterling worth in the community, and

each in his generation acquitted himself well, passing

down to the succeeding generation a good name for

honesty and probity of character. His childhood

and youth were much after the feshion of the aver-

age New England boy,—assisting in the lighter farm

duties, attending school and growing to vigorous

manhood.

He commenced his education in the Warren Dis-

trict School, on leaving which he entered the Acad-

emy, and here closed the educational portion of his

life. After a short period of business connected with

the farm, he, in 1850, formed a partnership in the

meat and provision business with George E. Woods,

which continued until 1864, when he entered the

firm of Dart & Co., in the express business between

Boston and Marlborough, in which business he has

continued up to the date of this issue, and of which

he has become the proprietor. He has also, for the

past twenty-five years, done an insurance business,

and has settled many estates. He has been a trustee

in the Marlborough Savings Bank, and also a mem-

ber of the Committee on Investments. He was one

of the original subscribers to the stock of the People's

National Bank and on the first Board of Direction.

Mr. Warren is a trustee of the Union Society, to

which was granted the land now and for many years

known as " the Common." Mr. Warren is a Repub-

lican, a contributor to the support of the Union Con-

gregational Church, a member of the " United Breth-

ren Lodge of Ancient Free and Accepted Masons,"

and was for several years treasurer of the town of

Marlborough.

July 2, 1879, Mr. Warren married Sarah, daughter

of William and Martha (Phelps) Wilson. Mr. War-

ren is a well-known citizen of Marlborough, long

identified with the business interests of his native

town, and is the representative of two well-known

families of Marlborough, who were highly esteemed

in the early days of the town—the Morses and the

Warrens.

The example of Mr. Warren in his daily walk and

conversation, is worthy of imitation by those who shall,

in succeeding generations, peruse this history of Mid-

dlesex County.

WILLIAM GIBBON.

William Gibbon, son of Samuel Gibbon and Abi-

gail Cogswell, was born in Marlborough .luly 25,1807.

His father came to Marlborough from l)('ilham,Mass.,

in 1784, and bought the farm where William was bnrn,

and which has been in the family since 1784. William

had but little opportunity for schooling, attending

the school kept by Aaron Brigli,lm twelve weeks a

year for several years. He worked on the farm, and,

by careful management and natural-born economy,

made his way up in the world. In 1863 Mr. Gibbon,

in connection with Mr. Mark Fay (one of the fore-

most men of Marlborough) organized the First Na-

tional Bank, and was on its Board of Directors of the

bank for twenty years. During this time he was

president, and also vice-president of this bank, and

vice-president and trustee of the Marlborough Sav-

ings Bank.

Mr. Gibbon has acted with the Republican party

ever since its organization. February 12, 1835, Mr.

Gibbon married Eunice Wilson, of Peterborough,

N. H., and they had five children : Abbie A., born

August 1, 1837 ; Elizabeth J., born July 7, 1839

;

Charlotte E., born September 1, 1844; Mary E., born

October 20, 1848; John, born April 24, 1851. Of
these children, Elizabeth J. and Charlotte E. are de-

ceased.

Mr. Gibbon has lived a long and useful life in this

community, and was respected and beloved by a

large circle of friends. He died November 11th,

1890.

TIMOTHY A. COOLIDGE.'

Timothy Augustus Coolidge, son of William and

Ann (Leighton) Coolidge, was born in Natick, Mid-

dlesex County, June 25, 1827.

The district school bestowed upon him an element-

ary education, and beyond this he has depended

entirely upon his perceptive faculties, studying from

the world about him.

His father was a shoemaker in a small way, and as

he was one of seven children, he was obliged very

early in life to provide for his own support. Until

he was twenty years old, he worked in the shop with

his father, with the exception of three months, when,

as a lad of thirteen years, he " pegged " for Henry

Wilson—afterwards United States Senator and Vice-

president. Ever since his twentieth year, Mr. Cool-

idge has been a growing shoe manufacturer, at first

doing most of the work himself, now giving employ-

ment to hundreds of people.

1 From " Que ia One Tbuusaud."
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From 1848 to '58 he manufactured shoes in Con-
cord, and from 1858 to the present time, has conducted

a manufactory in Marlborough.

Oil the 17th day of October, 1848, he was married,

in Concord, to Sarah B., daughter of Abel and Uebecca
(Lewis) Davis, their only child beiufj; Melissa A. Cool-

idge. In September, 1854, he married his second

wife, Maria H., daughter of Thomas Davis.

In financial affairs he has gained a substantial

reputation as self-reliant, cautious, firm and just.

Politically he has followed the lead of his early

employer, Henry Wilson. Socially be ha.s been found

enthusiastic in every department, and holds high

Masonic orders (32°). He has also been actively

identified with several philanthropic societies ; is an

active temperance man, and a valuable member of

the Farmers' and Mechanics' Club and the Board of

Trade. He is a trustee of the Marlborough Savings

Bank and was a director in, and is also vice-president

of the First National Bank of Marlborough. He is a

justice of the peace, and has been a member of the

Board of Selectmen, eight years ; chairman four years,

and in 1880 and '81 was elected to represent the 32d

Middlesex District in the Legislature.

WILI^IAM N. DAVENPORT.

William Nathaniel Davenport, son of William J.

and Louisa (Howard) Davenport, was born in Boyl-

ston, Mass., Nov. '.', 1856. He attended the district

school until he was eleven years of age; but about

this time he was thrown upon his own resources for

his support, and went to work in the Boylston Cotton-

Mills, and remained there until be was thirteen years

of age, when he went from there to Hudson, Mass.,

securing work in the shoe-factory of W. F. Trow-

bridge, where he remained one year. He came to

Marlborough January 1, 1872, and went to work in

the shoe-factory of Clapp & Billings, remaining nine

years. At this time he decided to commence the

study of the law, and read law for one year in the

office of James T. Jo.slin, of Hudson, and then entered

the Law School at Ann Arbor, Michigan, and wa.s

admitted to the bar of that State the same year. He
then came back to Massachusetts and entered the law

office of E. F. Johnson, Marlborough, remaining one

year, and was admitted to the bar of Middlesex

County, June 30, 1883. The first public office he

held was clerk of the Police Court of Marlborough^

which he resigned in June, 1884. This same year he

was nominated on the Republican ticket for Kepre-

sentative to the General Court of Massachusetts, and

was elected by a handsome plurality ; and he was

nominated and elected for the second term by a larger

majority, although the.districtwas very largely Demo-

cratic. Young Davenport had represented his con-

stituency so well in the House that he was elected to

the State Senate in 1888-89, where he discharged his

duties in a satisfactory and intelligent manner. Mr

Davenport in ;i tiK'iiiiirr III mri '•ii^.-ir^.-aMMiiai < nurcli.

and a member of several of thi- hivtcI bciicvulriil -«

cieties, l)eing a member i.f ilir Tniuil Bri''

Lodge of A. K. and A. M., llic Order of Ucl M
and hius served for two years iim ( irand ConiiuKudcr of

the A. L. of H., nnil one year nx (iruiid louder of the

Home Circle. Mr. Duvvnport married Liule M.,
daughter of Lyman V. and Kli/.ii L. (.Moon.) Km
dall, of iioylston, Mass.

JOll.N 8. |-AY.'

John S. Fay, son of S. (Miandier and Nancy (War-
ren) Fay, was born in Berlin, Wort-ester County,

January 15, 1840. He obtained liis e<hicalioh in the

public schools of Marlborough and at the Coinnicrriiil

College in Worcester. When Iweiily-one yearn old,

at the outbreak of the Civil War, lie enlintol an a

private in Company F, 'I'hirteenth MawuichuseilK In-

fantry. He was with his regiment in all itx mutche*

and engagements till April 30, 18C3, when lu action

near Fredericksburg, Va., he received a wound from

a shell which necessitated the amputation of bin riirhl

arm and right leg. Wliile in the field hoHpitnl he

was taken prisoner and confined in Libby Prison for

one month. He did not succeed in reaching hi*

home until October—the most mutilated and crip-

pled of all who survived of the eight liundre<l and

thirty-one who enlisted for the war fnun Marlbor-

ough.

In 1805 Mr. Fay was appointed postmaster of Marl-

borough by President .lolinson, anil by snccewivf ap-

pointments has held the position ever since. He hua

been an active (irand Army man and has held many
offices in Post 43, which he aided to organi/.i-. He is

also a prominent (did Fellow and a member of the

Grand Lodge of .Massachusetts. He is also proiiii-

neiitly identified with the Unitarian Society of .Marl-

borough. Mr. Fay has always been interested in llie

welfare of his adopted city, and has won the riwptct

and esteem of his fellow-citizens. November 20,

1860, Mr. Fay married Lizzie, daughter of James ^L

and Elizabeth (I'ratti Iiigalls. of Marlborough. Their

onlv child is Frederic H. Fay.

NAHU.M WlTllEKllKi:.'

Nahum Witherbee, son of Caleb Witherbee, was

born at Marlborough, Massachusetts, April 11, ISll.

At an early age he learned the tailor's trade at .Marl-

borough, and after working at ditferent places he

commenced business in Andover, MaxsacliusettH, with

a Mr. .Vbbolt lUi partner. Finding a change disira

ble, he went to Lynn and remained there for some

years. Having an on°er from Einersoii l.eland, of

Boston, they formed a partnership in which he con-

tinued till 1800, when he removed to Marlborough

and started the clothing business there.

> Fium "Ouu lu Oa> Tbuiuuiil.' ' U; Edaud f. Juhu
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Ue wns soon elected a member of the House of Rep-

resentatives, iu which he served two terms, and also

held the ofiBce of Town Treasurer and Tax Collector,

and was one of the committee appointed to build a

new town-hall. He wsis one of the trustees of the

savings-bank and one of the investing committee.

In 1871 he was appointed a Trial Justice for

Middlesex County at JIarlborough, and by his care-

ful study and his good judgment, he was regarded

one of the most accurate in the County. He held

that office till his death. He also did a great deal of

conveyancing and probate business and acted as ad-

ministrator, executor, trustee and guardian. His ser-

vices were much sought and he had the full conti-

dence of both the people of his town and of the

courts.

He was often selected as referee and acted in similar

positions and in a number of cases was appointed as

Auditor by the Superior Court, a position usually

filled by practicing lawyers.

He was' a prominent member of the Methodist

Episcopal Church and one of the ofllcers of that

body. He was a Master-Mason and Chaplain of the

Lodge for twenty years. No man in Marlborough

has been missed more, as he was affable, and at the

same time guided by his view of the right. While he

was conservative, he was a man of broad views and

unselfish and a steadfast friend. Many people are

indebted to his assistance freely given, and his name

is always spoken of with respect, and particularly by

the many who were the recipients of his kindness.

April 30, 1835, he married Miss Mary Smith, of

Chelmsford, who survives him. He died February

21, 1882. He left one son.

MOSES HOWE.

The first American ancestor of this name was John,

who first settled in Watertown, and went from there

to Sudbury. He was one of the petitioners, in 1657,

for the grant which constituted Marlborough, and

was the son of John, who came from Warwickshire,

England, who was a descendant of John Howe, him-

self the son of Hodinhull, and connected with the

family of Sir Charles Howe, of Lancaster.

The first-mentioned John was admitted a freeman

in lo40. He came to Marlborough about 1657, and

built a cabin a little to the east of the " Indian Plant-

ing Field," where his descendants lived for many
generations. This proximity to the " Indian Planta-

tion " brought him in contact with the natives, but

by his kindness he gained the confidence and good-

will of his savage neighbors, who not only respected

his rights, but in many cases made him the umpire in

cases of difficulties among themselves. John opened

the first public house in Marlborough prior to 1670.

He died here in 1687.

Moses, the subject of this sketch, was in direct

descent, by several generations, from John. His

father, Ephraim Howe, married Hannah Maynard, of

Frauiingham, November, 1782. Moses was born

October 6, 1783, and married Lucy Temple March 16,

1807. Their children were: Eveline, Ephraim, Lucy,

Betsy and Eli H. Moses was a farmer, and owned a

large farm on the north side of Lake Williams, now
occupied by John W. Brigham. He was a man of

retiring nature, never desiring any jiublic office, but

was a man of sterling integrity. He was born, lived

and died in the same house. He died October 4, 1863.

EPHR.i^IM HOWE.

The line of ancestry has been given in the preced-

ing sketch of his father, Moses. Ephraim was born

in Marlborough, June 10, 1810, and received his

education at the district school. When a young lad

he went to work for Ira Temple, on a farm in the

eastern part of the town, and remained there until

twenty-two years of age, when he went to Boston and

entered the employ of Eufus Felton, a native of

Marlborough. Here he remained until the spring of

1841, when he went to New York City, and entered

into mercantile pursuits, in which he has been success-

ful. He retains his interest in his old home, making

frequent visits to it and noting the growth and

prosperity of the thriving town, now grown to a

city.

An evidence of the fact that a love of early home
associations has not been lost amidst his active busi-

ness life and long residence in the metropolis, is this

record of the family and the engravings accompany

it placed in this history through his instrumentality.

He also has made a large contribution for the purpose

of keeping in good order the resting-places of his

immediate ancestors, a tender tribute to their memory

and his affection.

STEPHEN MOESE.'

Stephen Morse was born at Marlborough, Mass.,

January 16, 1797. At the age of fouiteen he went to

Sudbury to learn a trade. At the age of twenty-one

he went to Boston in the employ of Mr. Gaffield, then

the leading boot and shoe dealer of Boston. There

he became acquainted with the substantial men of

those days and through their influence gained a posi-

tion in the Suffolk Bank, where he remained till 1835.

A part of the time while in its employ, he traveled

over the New England States collecting specie for

the bills of the State banks taken by the Suffolk

bank and, during this time, was under a heavy re-

sponsibility, as the amount of money in his care was

very large and the means of transportation were then

by teams and coaches not bj' steam as now.

When he resigned he was presented with a hand-

some sum of money by the directors and received

from them a vote-of thanks for both his fidelity and

ability while in their employ.

I By Edward F. Jobofion.
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He removed to Marlborough iu 1836, and wiis aooii

employed by the town as its agent in a lawsuit

which was very important and which involved

the taking of a large number of depositions an<l

which, after a long contest, resulted in favor of the

town. He was also employed in many other town
cases and held many offices in the town where liis

good judgment and industry were of great advantage.

He, after he returned to Marlborough, settled a

great many estates and, although not a lawyer, gave

much advice that would have been to the credit of a

member of the bar. He was a prominent member of

the Union Society and was always |iublic-spirited ami

willing.

His honesty was never questioned and while he

was decided in his opini(Uis, he was always open to

conviction if he was shown the right.

He owned, at the time of his death, a beautiful

farm in East Marlborough which has been in the

Morse family for 200 years, and where he had lived

many years and which his family now occupy.

He married Elizabeth Thompson, of Sudbury, .luly

5, 182-t. She died October 30th, 18(!2
; he married

Martha A. Moore, also of Sudbury, who survives him.

He left three children, Stephen Morse, Jr., Emily T.

Morse and Mary H. Morse.

LEVI BIGELOW.

Levi Bigelow, son of Gershom and Mary (Howe)

Bigelow, was born in Marlborough October 28, 1790.

He married July 23, 1809, Nancy Ames, daughter of

Deacon Moses and Lydia (Brigham) Ames, born in

Marlborough March 1, 1792. At the age of nineteen

he commenced teaching school in the town of Holden,

Mass., and he followed that occupation winters for

about thirty years, the greater portion of the time in

his own district. The remaining months of the year

he devoted to farming. He was for some years, in

company with his brother Lambert, interested in a

country store in the west part of Marlborough, but

withdrew from the firm after a few years. In addi-

tion to his farming he did much in surveying, making

out deeds, settling estates, was a justice of the peace

for thirty years, and he was always active in the cause

of education and for several years was one of the

School Committee. He represented the town in the

General Court in 1831, '32, '34, '30, and was one of

the assessors for seventeen years. In all of these po-

sitions he was known for his sterling integrity, firm-

ness of mind and steadfast opposition to any thing

that savored of compromise or a vacillating disposi-

tion. As a teacher he was very successful, a thorough

disciplinarian and always had the welfare of his pupils

at heart, many of whom, who became prominent busi-

ness men, have said that they owed much of their suc-

cess in life to the wise counsel that they received at his

hands during their school-days. Firmness, persever-

ance and honesty were ever prominent traits in his

character. His wile dii-d iiuddeiily Jnuuar)- Ili, I860,
and ho died April 3, 1859.

Tile children were Lydia, U-andcr, Mary (Ainlclin,
Electa, Levi, Jr., Lambert, Edwin M., Ilurucv Holly,
Julian, William, Ann Therehii, Arllitir J. and Ada
Genevieve.

IIOKArK II. IIIOKI.OW.

Horace H. Bigelow wan born in M«rll)<.rouj{U

June 2, 1827, and waj< the son of Levi and Naiuy
(Am&s) Bigelow. lAke uumt New ICiiKlnnd b<iy»,

his education wa« received in the public KhoMU,
which he attended until the age of lifteen, wlini
he began the busine«.s of HliiM'inaklnK. The npiril

of the boy was nctt much dill'erent from that din-

played in the man, and e.irly in hix buiiineiui carrer

his natural mechanical and invoulive enduwnienU
began to develop, and finally won for him a hl)(h

place among his business associfttes.

Naturally his inventive genius devrloped in the
direction of the hoot and shoe mamifaetcre, and he
became the inventor of the heel-pressing and nniiing

machines, from the sale of which he haj< won a hirf[e

fortune. Shoe manufacturing was the early drcum of

the young inventor, and he soon found his way into

active work in this important industry. His buitincM

energies were not confined to .M:uo<achiitielt)( alone,

but were felt with beneficial rcnuli.s wherever im-

proved machinery was used in the varioUH depart-

ments of this business.

Mr. Bigelow achieved considerable notoriety through

his plan of organizing prison labor for the manufac-

ture of boots and shoes uniler contracts.

In 1871) he witlulrcw from active, jiersonal care of

manufacturing interests, and engHgcd in rither i>i|ually

absorbing cares with the energy that had hitherto

characterized his actions. Securing control of the

Worcester and Shrewsbury Railroad and a large i>or-

tion of the real estate on Lake t|uiiisiganiiind, ho

began at once the development of both, and has al-

ready accomplished much in tin- impnivenu'iit of the

grounds at the Lake, tlius making it one of the very

attractive sections of our State.

As President of the railroad he provided steel railii,

new and better engines and cars, buili a pretty station

at the lake, with car-houses, and o'her improveinenlji,

for the accomplishment of which he has e.xpeiidrd

thousand of dollars, resulting in positive good t<i the

city of Worcester. -\t the lake he 1i:ls built up the

charming village of " Lake View," and by a system of

easy payments has made it poasible for any young

man to own a house there. While busy with (hnte

important enterprise.^, he has also been iiistriiinenlal

in establishing other industries. The Hiillard Uillc

Company, of Springfield, .Milks., is indebted to him for

its establishment. The Electric J'ower i'oinpaiiy

was promoted by him. The list might he extvmled

greatly in the simple enumeration of the various in-

terests that claim his care and attention. As a buai-
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ness man, he has the record of achieving whatever

he has undertaken, and of never giving up until his

purpose is accomplished. Mr. Bigelow will ever be

credited with being helpful to his fellow-men.

The right of free speech is a sacred one to him, and

to maintain it in the person of one who was unjustly

oppressed, he did not hesitate to spend thousands of

dollars. Generous to a vanquished opponent, revenge

never enters into his battles against wrong.

Joining with Hon. Edward L. Davis, of Worcester,

they have given to the City of Worcester one hundred

and ten acres of land for a Lake Park. He consum-

mated the largest real-estate purchase ever made

withjn the city of Worcester proper.

The tract of land (formerly used for railroad pur-

pose.s) lying between Mechanic and Foster Streets,

covering 1 l.'ijOOO square feet, he bought, and is holding

for the purpose of erecting thereon the finest building

devoted to business purposes in New England. With

the purchase of this land there came into his hands

the large building known as the skating-rink, in which

band concerts and various other attractions were

offered from time to time ; he was thus able to furnish

pleasant amusements to thousands. His only pur-

pose in allowing the rink to be run was to give the

people amusement at alow cost.

Mr. Bigelow is a man of liberal and generous

views, a friend of all worthy enterprises, a defender of

the poor, and a clear-headed man of affairs. He mar-

ried, first, Jan. 22, 1852, Lucy Ann, daughter of

Thomas and Patty Howe. She died Sei^tember 25,

1857. He married, second, June 1, 1859, Adelaide E.

Buck, of Portland, Conn. His children are Adelaide

Frances, born December 24, 1860, married George A.

Stevens, of Worcester, June 23, 1886 ; Irving E., born

November 11, 1862, married Lillian A. Drennan,

November 17, 1887 ; Frank H. born Februarys, 1875.

GEOEGE N. GATE.

George Neal Cate, son of Moses and Abigail (Brews-

ter) Cate, was born December 11, 1824, at Wolfbor-

ough, N. H. His father died when George was but

four years of age. The facilities offered for an early

education were very slight, but at the age of eighteen

Mr. Cate had fitted himself to teach and secured a

position in Rochester, N. H., which he held for two

years. At the clo.se of the term in 1843, he went to

Boston, Seeking a fortune, and secured employment at

Ashland, (then Unionville), to learn the trade of a

builder. For five years after completing his service

he remained in Ashland, carrying on the lumber bus-

iness and house carpentering. At this period his

health was so seriously afl'ected that for three years

he was obliged to abandon all labors, but in 1856 had

so far recovered as to begin in Marlborough upon a

limited scale the lumber and contracting business in

which he is still engaged. Mr. Cate about this time

began the building and sale of dwellings on easy

terms, making it possible for the man with small

means to thereby secure a home for himself and fam-

ily.

Mr. Cate was a delegate to the first Free Soil con-

vention in Worcester in 1848, has been a director in

the People's National Bank of Marlborough and is

now a director in the First National Bank and trustee

of the Marlboro' Savings Bank. He has been a mem-
ber of the United Brethren Lodge of F. & A. M. for

thirty years.

Mr. Cate was instrumental in the advancement and

building up of the lodge as much or more than any

other one person, contributing his time and means to

that end, which was gratifying to the members of the

lodge. He is a charter member of the Houghton R.

A. Chapter of Marlborough, and other societies.

Augu.st 25, 1857, Mr. Cate married Charlotte A.,

daughter of Mark and Sophia (Brigham) Fay, of

Marlborough, who died in 1860, and their only child,

a son, died the following year. In August, 1869, Mr.

Cate married Adelle E. Glidden, of Lowell.

MARK FAY.

Mark Fay, son of Josiah and Hepsabeth (Collins)

Fay, was born in Southborough, Worcester County,

Massachusetts, January 29, 1793, and came to Marl-

borough about 1800. His opportunities for an edu-

cation were limited to the common schools of that

time. He learned the trade of a cabinet-maker and

worked at his trade near what is known now as Wil-

liams Pond. He kept a country store such as was to

be found in country towns in that period. In 1850 it

was through his influence that the Marlborough

Branch of the Fitchburg Railroad was built, and he

contributed very largely of his time and means to

carry on and complete this enterprise.

In 1860 the Marlborough Savings Bank was estab-

lished through his efforts and he was its first treas-

urer.

In 1863 he secured the charter for the First National

Bank of Marlborough, and was its first president and

held that ofiice until his death, which occurred June

29, 1876. Mr. Fay married Sophia Brigham in 1817,

and they had three sons and four daughters.

HON. SAMUEL N. ALDRICH. '

Hon. Samuel Nelson Aldrich, son of Sylvanus

Buckliu and Lucy Jane (Stoddard) Aldrich, was born

in Upton, Worcester County, February 3, 1838. His

education was acquired at the Worcester, Massachu-

setts, and Stonington, Connecticut, Academies, and at

Brown University, Providence, Rhode Island. Sub-

sequently he taught school in Upton, Holliston and

Worcester, IMassachusetts. He commenced the study

of law in the ofiice of Hon. Isaac Davis and E. B.

Stoddard, at Worcester, and finished at the Harvard

t From " One in Qne Thousand."
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Law School. In 1863 Mr. Aldrieh was admitted to

the bar and commenced practice at Marlborough.

Since 1874 he has kept an office in Boston, though re-

taining his residence at Marlborough, living in Bos-

ton during the winter. In the public affairs of Marl-

borough Mr. Aldrieh has been prominent, was for

nine years a member of the School Committee, also for

four years on the Board of Selectmen, oflicialiug as

chairman of both. He has been a director of the

People's National Bank at Marlborough, president of

the Marlborough Board of Trade, president of the

Framingham & Lowell Railroad, (now a portion of

the Old Colony system), and president of the Central

Massachusetts Railroad.

In 1879 Mr. Aldrieh was elected to the State Senate,

where he served as chairman of the committee on

bills in the third reading, and on the committee on
constitutional amendments. In 1880 he was again a

member of the State Senate. In 1883 he was a mem-
ber of the House and served on thejudiciary committee.

In 1880 he was the Democratic candidate for Con-

gress from the Seventh Massachusetts District.

In March, 1887, Mr. Aldrieh was appointed by

President Cleveland the assistant treasurer of the

United States at Boston, which position he resigned in

November, 1890, to accept the presidency of State

National Bank.

Besides this, he is a member of the Suffolk Bar, is

in the practice of his profession, and is still president

of the Central Massachusetts Railroad.

Mr. Aldrieh married in 1865, at Upton, Mary J.,

daughter ofJ. T. and Eliza A. (Colburn) Macfarland.

They have a son, Harry M. Aldrieh.

HON. OBADIAH W. ALBEE.

Hon. Obadiah W. Albee was the son of Moses

Albee, and was born in Milford, Massachusetts, March

24, 1808. His father was a farmer of limited means;

he had an excellent reputation and was an honest

man. Obadiah W. attended the district school and

made good progress, and at eighteen years of age en-

tered Milford Academy, and there fitted for college.

He entered Brown University in 1828 and graduated

in 1832. In college he was a member of the United

Brothers Society, and in 1846 was chosen a member
of the Phi Beta Kappa Society. He worked his

way through college, having only twenty-five dol-

lars to start with. His graduation theme was the

"Prospects of Liberty in Europe." He came to

Marlborough in the spring of 1833. In politics he

acted with the Whigs (thinking them the most anti-

slavery) till the Mexican War convinced him of their

pro-slavery proclivities. He then acted partially

with the old Liberty party, but used his best efforts,

both by pen and speech, to form the Free Soil party

which should unite the old Liberty men and the con-

scientious Whigs. In the session of 1849 he repre-

sented the town of Marlborough in the Legislature.

Early in 1850 he sailed for California, going by the

way of Cape Horn, wturnlnR by th« UUo.
October, I8r>0. On arriving homr he wm rrlurtisd
to the House of Repre«onUitiv<«, wh.i. , «|
through the nieniondile HeHnion in <v „«
Sumner was fimt elected to the Un m.
Mr. .\lbee was elected to the M;i- ,t,

for lnr,C) and 1.S.'.7 a.s a Kcpublican. In ISIU lir wu
member of the romniitte un elcctionii. In |IC>.'i h«
wiLs the chairman of Iho coinmitlec on fctienl reU
tionsand public lands, bUo one of the librmry roiu-

mittee. His nioNt extended leginlativr itl.,ru. in

speech-making, were the following: In ISItt, on ihv
anti-slavery re.solutions

; in which drb«te Mr. U|ih«ni,

the presiding otiioer of the Senate, boreii <lii>litiK'ui>hc<l

part, in 18^1, on the pro|>oHitlon for h linuor law;
and in 1855, on the Loring addrem and perwiniil lib-

erty bill. Mr. .\lbeo married Minn .MarKBret Chip-
man, and they had six chihircn. He ditsl in July.
1866.

DAVID UOUDAI.L.

David Goodall waa born April 1, I7yl, tniirried

Millicent, daughter of Thaddemi and Lucy Wmrrrn.
He was engaged in early life an a school teacher, lie

was a man of decided tulentM, entergelic in character

and promi[ient in both church ami town ntrair*. He
held the office of Deacon and filled from time tolim«
the principal offices in the town. Ho wu» a reprp-

sentative to the Ueueral Court and a juntice of the

peace. He died Oct. 17, 1858.

CHAPTER LXIV.

WILMINGTON.

BV WILLIAM I. OAVIS.

Soox after the settlenientofCharle!<towii the pe<ipU

feeling the need of more agricultural land applie<i lo

the General Court for the .mme and received a irranl

of territory four miles square which wiu» eallrd

Charlestown village. On the 17th of September, 1642,

it was ordered by the court that " CharleHtuwn village

be called Wooburne."

In September 1639 the iiiliabilaul.t of Lynn peti-

tioned the General Court " for a place for an inlaml

plantation at the head of thei'' bounds." Incompli-

ance with the petition a tract of land four miles

square was granted with the condition "that the po-

titioners shall within two years make .401111' gixMl pro-

ceeding in planting so as it may be a village fit to

contain a convenient number of inhaliitanlK wliicli may

in due time have a church tliere.^ This tincl of land

was called " Linn village," and on the \l'.H\\ of May,

1644, it was ordered by the court " that Linn village

at the request of the inhabitautii thereof »hall be call-

ed Redding."
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The territory ofthe town of Wilmington ia nearly-

all within the limits of the old Charlestown village,

only a narrow strip being a part of the old Lynn vil-

lage. In 1724, the people living in that partof the town

of Woburn which was called Goshen, asked the town

either to remove the meeting-house to a spot more

convenient to them or to allow them to be set off as a

new town. Their re<iuest having been refused they ap-

plied to the General Court in 1 72!» for the establishment

of a separate precinct and their application was re-

jected. In 1730 another application was made to be

incorporated as a distinct town, and a committee of

the General Court was appointed to meet the agents

of the town, and consider the matter. The result

was that on the 25th of September 1730, the General

Court passed the following act incorporating parts of

the territories of Woburn and Reading into a town

with the name of Wilmington.

"An act for erecting the north-easterly part part of Wohurn and west-

erly part of Reading into a towusliip hy the name of Wilmington.

" W^hereas the inliahitant.s of the north-easterly part of the town of

Woburn, and the westerly part of the town of Reading, in the county of

Middlesex are so situated as to be very remote from the place of the

publick worship of God, in either of the said towns, many of them living

near seven miles' distance therefrom, who also labour tinder other great

difficulties and inconveniences on several accounts and have thereupon

addressed this Court that they may be set off and erected into a separate

and distinct township,

—

"Be it therefore enacted by His Excellency the Governour, Council

and Representives in General Court assembled, and by the authority of

the same.
'' Sect. 1. That all the lands lying and being within the north-eaaterly

part of Woburn, and westerly part of Reading aforesaid be and hereby

are, set off and constituted a separate and distinct township by the name

of Wilmington, according to the metee and bounds following, viz.: be-

ginning at the South-easterly part of the Land of Nod, so called, so to

extend to Andover line ; thence to Billerica line, and so upon said line,

including Abraham Jaques his farm, and so to run from thence on Bil-

lerica line one hundred rods further ; and from thence to extend to the

Stone bridge, called the Cold Spring Bridge, near the tree called the

Figure of Four Tree ; theuce on a line to the South-easterly corner of

John Townsend's land, lately and now in the possession of Timothy

Townsend, about sixty-four rods easterly from Woburn line, including

said Townsend's land ; thence on a straight line to the south-east part of

the land of Joel Jenkins ; and from thence to extend to the iirst-men-

tioued bounds.

" And he it further enacted,

"Sect. 2. That the inhabitants of the said town of Wilmington shall

be liable nevertheless, and subject to pay their just proportion of their

past dues to all province, county and town rates, for this present year, in

the towns to wliich they respectively belonged, and shall be accordingly

assessed in such town in the same manner as they would have been if

this act had not been made.

"Sect. 3. And the inhabitants of the said town of Wilmington are

hereby required, within the space of three years from the publication of

this act, to procure and settle a learned orthodox minister of good conver-

sation, and make x)rovi8ion for his comfortable and honourable support

;

and also with all convenient speed erect and finish a suitable and con-

venient house for the publick worship of God in said town.

"Sect. 4. And the said town of Wilmington is hereby accordingly en-

dowed and vested with all powers, privileges, immunities and advantages,

which other towns in this province by law have and enjoy." (Passed

and published at Cambridge Sept. 25, ITiln).

The territory included within the limits of the new
town was small and its population was scattered.

The lands were good for agricultural purposes and
the people occupying them were almost exclusively

farmers. Like other scattered settlements, that in

the out-lyiug districts of Woburn had suffered from

Indian depredations, but at the time of the formation

of the new town, comparative peace prevailed, only

to be disturbed by the French and Indian Wars,

which, a few years later, again threatened it.

In obedience to the requirements of the act of in-

corporation, a meeting-house was erected in Wilming-
ton in 1732, and a church with seventeen male mem-
bers was organized October 24, 1733. Wilmington was

one of the few towns incorporated at an early period,

in which a separate precinct did not anticipate a new
municipal organization. It would, however, have

been no exception to the general rule had its repeated

requests to the town of Woburn and to the General

Court been listened to and granted. It was an out-

lying village of its mother-town, as its mother-town

had been an outlying village of Charlestown, and the

General Court believed that any substantial argu-

ments in favor of a new precinct were quite as strong

in favor of the incorporation of a new town.

On the day of the formation of the church Rev.

James Varney was ordained as its pa.stor. Mr. Var-

ney was a native of Boston, where he was born August

8, 1706, and graduated at Harvard in 1725 in the

class with Rev. Mather Byles and Rev. Benjamin

Bradstreet. In the Harvard catalogue of the period

when names were inserted in the order of their social

family rank, the name of Mr. Varney is the thirty-

third in a class of forty-live. Mr. Varney was dis-

missed April 5, 1739, on account of ill health and was

succeeded by Rev. Isaac Morrill, who was ordained

May 20, 1741. Mr. Morrill graduated at Harvard in

1737 in the class with Peter Oliver, Rev. Peter

Thacher, Rev. Andrew Eliot and Ebenezer Gay. In

the social order Peter Oliver stood at the head of the

class, with John Eliot second and Mr. Morrill the

twenty-fourth in a list of thirty-four. Mr. Morrill

continued in the pastorate until his death, which oc-

curred August 17, 1793, at the- age of seventy-six.

During his pastorate he served as chaplain in the

French Wars, in which also were a number of his

parishioners as soldiers, of whom Capt. Ebenezer

Jones and fourteen others are known to have been

killed.

Mr. Morrill was succeeded by Rev. Freegrace Rey-

nolds, who was ordained October 29, 1795, and re-

mained until June 9, 1830. He afterwards preached

in Leverett in Franklin County, Massachusetts, and

other places, and finally returned to Wilmington,

where he resided until his death, December 6, 1855,

at the age of eighty-eight years. During bis pastor-

ate in 1813 a new meeting-house was erected, to take

the place of the old one built in 1732. (

Rev. Francis Norwood, who followed Mr. Rey-

nolds, was installed May 18, 1831, and continued in

the pastorate until October 25, 1842.

Rev. Baruabas M. Fay succeeded Mr. Norwood and

was installed April 23, 1845. He remained until

July 30, 1850, and was followed by Rev. Joseph E.

Swallow on the 26th of March, 1851. Mr. Swallow
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was dismissed January 1, lS5fi, and was snci-cedcd by

Rev. Samuel H. Tolman, who was <irdained Aujiiisl

14, 1856, and was dismissed June 7, 1S70. During

the pastorate of Mr. Tolman, in February, 1804, the

meeting-house of the society was burned and the

present house of worship was erected.

Rev. Benjamin A. Robie was installed April 13,

1871, and dismissed April 9, 1874. Rev. S. fS. Math-

ews succeeded Mr. Robie October 23, 1874, and after

his dismissal, which occurred October 29, 1875, Rev.

Daniel P. Noyes was installed October 11, 1877.

Mr. Noyea was succeeded by Rev. Elijah Harmon, the

present pastor.

In 1882, a Methodist Society was organized, and a

church erected near the centre of the town. The
Rev. William. Thurston is its present pastor.

A Catholic Church was built at the Centre in 1887,

and is occupied by a society under the care of the

Andover pastorate.

In 1840, a Free Will 15aptist Society was organized,

and in 1841, a meeting-house was erected. The soci-

ety was, for a few years, under the care of KUier .lohn

M. Durgin, but was finally dissolved, and its meeticg-

house sold to the town for town purposes, to which it

is still devoted.

The early occupation of fanning has always been

continued U|) to the present time; according to the

census of 1885, its products annually were as follows:

Animal proilucte consisting of calf skinfi, hiilep, honey, nmnnru, polte

and wool, Hn'Al.

Clothing inohuiing shirts ami shoes, SGl:t.

Dairy products including butter, cream and milk, Sl'J.lH.

Food products including canned fruit, catsup, dried fruit, ice, pickk-o

and vinegar, 8828.

Tomato plants, 81V.

Liquors and beverages including cider and wine, 80.'''4.

Poultry products including eggs, feathers, manure and poultry,

84IV29.

Wood products including ashes, fence rails, fuel, hop polea, lumber

and posts, StiSKJ.

Axe handles, »7.

Hops,seed8 .and soft soap, 878.

Cereals including buckwheat, curn and rye, 8ir»09.

Fruits including apples, barberries, blackberries, blueberries, hntler-

nuts, cherries, cliestnuts, citron, crab-apples, cranberries, currants,

gooseberries, grapes, huckleberries, mangoes, melons, pears, plums,

(piinces, raspberries, shellbarks, strawberries an<l tliimbleberries, 88;W7.

Hay, straw, fodder, stock beets and turnips, S1G,4I1.

Jleats and game including beef, pork, mutton and veal, 8-1100.

Vegetables including asparagus, beans, beets, cabbages, carrots, cauli-

flower, celery, green corn, cucumbers, dandelions, lettuce, onions, oyster-

pl.int, parsnips, peas, peppers, potatoes, pumpkins, radishes, rhubarb,

squashes, tomatoes, turnips, etc., 87653.

The property of the town exclusive of money,

stocks and bondo was according to the census as fol-

lows :

Vnluo

Uay land, lllMJi acres * 44,369

Crop land, -102 acres 26,181

Orchard land, 62^ acres 3755

Pasture land, 1347 acres 2i),23»

Unimproved land, llioH acres 2.%!I68

Unimprovable land, 14 acres l'***

Mines, etc., ,52^^ acres ''"'''

Woodland, 490II4 acres 122,s;i7

nwellings, 151
Hl.nn-.

Barns, 120 ' **•*"*

Other tiulldloi;*, '/J.» , tl^lM
MAchlnra and lmploui«>lila 9t 4c7

iKuiiMlIc aaluiali >?

Krull trtH^and TliiM
. , n

3IftklU|; nn KserrKsIa ul |>i\n1u< t* ,, v, ,
-^ -••' , i ,! -|')1|r vi

|,V,>8,M0.

AinoUR the priidiu-tt, the- cliirf ilriim «•

*lli,5-40; egg-, *;{.VJ.S ; (uel, ».t,K,',;t
; a|.|...

cranberries, #.S5S7 ; l^iigliiili Imy, #".t«K>tl
,

*:t5U4; pork. fl'.HH; beef, |H;fJ; and iwUi . ^ .

The cultivation of crnnberriett hiu iiicrraacd aiDca the

above censUH whh tiikcn, and tli« p^>ballll< iinxturt nf

I hat article at the priitent time in hImiuI thrm ihnu-

sand barrels, valued in the ll<mt<>ii iimrkft at Inrrntt-

four thou^alld dollars. The town hiu i>|<|Mirluniliiii

for a still lurlher inereaxe of iIiIr product, nliieli can-

not fail to aid itK gniwth in populaliuii uiid wealth.

The demand fur crdnberriui in yei in iU Inraiicy, aiid

wherever they can be grown, ihero is no fear lliat tin-

^upply will exceed il. There in no imhi^try whieb

circulates money with a more rHr-reiichiiig band than

the cranberry iniliiHtry, or one Hhicli pronii«<i< belli-r

re-siilts in towns where it can be eoiid>ietrd. In (he

lirst place, at the very time when wotHllund ban aunk

in value to itB lowest |M)inl, the nwuni|M and ahalluw

ponds scattered through it, before vuluelem, are con-

verted into propertii^ worth a thoiiitund dollnre an

acre, and then in the annual niHiiugenieiit of (lii-^e

propertie.'*, there are to be paid for In caih, care, and

superintendence, barrels, and their cooperage; eurt-

iug, picking and packing, all ilistributing money lo

men, women and children in every needy family, and

actually furnishing means of belter living, which

could in no other way be sccuretl.

It is not many years HJnee coUHJclerablc attention

was paid to raising appliw, but with the exception,

perhaps, of Mr. Henry Sheldon, one of the prominent

men of Wilmington, none of the farmerh of the town

nave either planted new orchards of any importance,

or even done much to revive the old ones. It in well

known that the lialdwir apple originated in Wil-

mington, the tirst tree of that variety having grown

on the farm of .lames lUitters. which became known to

Loammi Haldwin, of Woburn, who cut scionit from it,

and gave it both its reputation and name.

Besides the farming interests, there is little to give

occupation to the people of the town. At the prenent

time the shoe business is not carrie<l on, though il i»

expected that an establishment will be soon located

there. The tannery of 1 erry. Converse i<: Co., nt

North Wilmington, the Merrimack Chemical Work*

and the ice business are the only industriex worthy

of mention. The time cannot be far distant, how-

ever, when activity and prosperity will prevail The

location of the toivn is about sixteen miles from Ito---

ton, and between that city and I/owell, alumt the

same distunce from Salem, and not far from Law-

rence, and with the Boston and I-owell. the Hos-

ton and Maine, the Salem and I^iwell, ami the

Lawrence Branch Railroads tnivemiDg its territory,
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it certainly seems favorably situated for business

and growtli. But wliether or not it shall ever have

any large increase of local industries, it is appar-

ent that the overflow of population from Boston

must, in time, reach and flow into it. Its popu-

lation which in 1880 had only increased to 933

from 879 in 1875, has increased to 1250 in 1890, as is

shown by the census of this year.

The schools of Wilmington reflect credit on a town

with so small a population and valuation. With a

population of ll.'50, and a valuation of $7(j1,762, and

186 children between the ages of five and fifteen,

one high-school, one grammar and six schools of a

lower grade are maintained at a cost in 1889, of

$3,225.94. That a town so far from the point in

population where the law requires the establishment

of a High School, should have voluntarily burdened

itself with the needed taxation for its maintenance,

shows the high character of the people and their

appreciation of the benefits to be derived from a more

thorough education than the common schools can

furnish. The course of study in the High School

embraces (ieometry, Khetoric, Civil Government,

Latin, French, Composition, Drawing, Algebra,

Physics, Physiology, United States History, English

History and Music. The School Committee for 1889

were, Charles W. Swain, Frank Carter and Richard

L. Folkins.

The expenditures of the town for the last year in

its various departments were as follows : for cemetery,

$312 ; town officers, including police and fire wardens,

$975.50 ; miscellaneous, 1469.80
;

poor, $1447.72

;

highways, $2291.84
;
public buildings, $336.31 ; schools

and supplies, $3572.69 ; library, $144.78
;
piano, $200

;

common, $40 ;
public well, $104.69 ; town debt,

$1941.56; State tax $429.77; county tax, $496.16;

State aid $192, making a total of $12,954.82.

The item of a public well in the above list indicates

that the town has no system of water-works. Its in-

habitants are supplied with water from wells. It

would be interesting if some comparison could be

made of the death-rates in those towns supplied with

water from wells with those in towns supplied from

ponds or streams, and an analysis of the prevailing

diseases in the two classes of towns. The writer has

no data at hand for such a comparison, except so far

as his own town (Plymouth) is concerned, which has

water-works, and where, in 1889, the number of deaths

was one and a half per cent, of the population against

one and eight-tenths in Wilmington. So far as the

causes of death are concerned, it is to be remarked

that while in the lists of deaths throughout the State,

about fourteen per cent, are caused by consumption,

in Wilmington, in 1889, only one in twenty-two died

of that disease. There may be a suggestion here

worth following up, in order to discover, if possible,

the remarkable exemption from a disease which com-

mits such terrible ravages in'the"' population of the

Northern States of our nation

In the War of the Rebellion the town of Wilming-

ton performed its full share in rescuing our Union
from dissolution. It is slated that the quota of the

town was ninety and that the number was filled. The
writer finds on the books of the adjutant-general the

names of fifty-six credited to the town, but to these

are to be added those who entered the naval service

and the share belonging to the town of that large

number of negroes and others who were credited to

the State and divided among the towns. The follow-

ing is a list of those whose names appear in the re-

port of the adjutant-genera! with their rank and

with the company and regiment to which they were

attached and the term for which they enlisted :

Enlisted for nine months in Company D, 50th Regiment of Mussachn-

setts Volunteers : Levi Swain, sgt. ; Eiiwai-d V. Piersou, sgt. ; .Tames P.

Morton, rorp. ; Privates, George Bancroft, Heury L. Bancroft, Jr., Ed-

win Blanchard, Daniel W. Case, Henry W. Eamee, Wm. Fortiss, Gayton

Gowing, Otis Harnden, John L. Howard, George Milltgan, Daniel N.

Pearson, George 0. Pearson, Ambrose Upton.

Fourleentli Light Artillery, for three years ; Privates, Charles A.

Nichols, Sydney White.

Fifteenth Liuht Artillery, for three yeai-s ; Simeon Jaqnith,sgt.

First Battalion of Ueavy Artillery, Company E, three years: Pri-

vates, Charles M. Buck, Horace Kames, Gilman Gowing, George E. Or-

cutt, George W. Sideliuker.

Third Cavalry, Company K, three years ; Privates, Frank F. Abbott,

B. F. Upton.

Fourth Cavalry, Company E, three years: Private, Marcus M. Ban-

croft.

Fourth Cavalry, Company F, three years: Corp., Henry F, Thomp-

son.

Fifth Battalion, Frontier Cavalry, Company D, three years: Andrew

B. Blunroe, sadiller.

Second Regiment of Massachusetts Volunteers, Company I, three

years: Theodore S. Batters, corp. ; John H. Whitehouse, mus. ; Pri-

vates, George M. Bailey, Thomas A. Bancroft, James 0. Carter, Thomas

B. Flagg.

Thirteenth Regiment of Massachusetts Vohinteers, Company G, three

years : Private, Marcus M. Bancroft.

Sixteenth Regiment of Massachusetts Volunteers, Company F. three

yeaiB : George N. Chase, mus.

Twenty-second Regiment of Massachusetts Volunteers, Company F,

three years : Private, James Hale.

Twenty-sixth Regiment of Massachusetts Volunteers, Company D,

three years : Privates, Peter Alexander, Alanson Bond, John Wilson.

Twenty-ninth Regiment of Massachusetts Volunteers, Company D,

three years : Private, Albert V. Lancaster.

Thirty-third Regimeut of Massachusetts Volunteers, Company D,

three years : Privates, Albert Brown, George F. Eames, Frederick

Lewis, David G. Pierce, James H. Swain.

Fifty-eighth Regiuient of Massachusetts Volunteers, Company K,

three years : Private, John Andrews.

Fifty-ninth Regiment of Massachusetts Volunteers, Company B,

three years : Privates, Robert G. Alludio, Peter Crook.

Fifty-ninth Regiment, Company C, three years: Private, ftlichael

Bracken.

Fifty-ninth Regiment, Company D, three years: Private, Ambrose

Upton.

Veteran Reserve Corps: Private, Wm. H. McKinney.

Regular Army : Private, John R. Nichols, Jr.

Among the eminent men born in Wilmington may
be mentioned Timothy Walker, and his brother Sears

Cook Walker. Timothy Walker was born December

1, 1802, and graduated at Harvard, in 1826. After

leaving college he taught three years in the Round
Hill School at Northampton, and in 1829 entered the

Dane Law School at Cambridge, where he remained

one year. In 1830, he continued his studies in Cin-
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cinnati, and was admitted to the bar in \S'M. In lS3;i,

in connection with .riulge John C. Wrij;ht, he estab-

lished a law-school in Cincinnati, which in ISSr) was

united with the college there. He continued a pro-

fessor in the college until 1844. He was at one time

Judge of the Hamilton County Court of Common
Pleas, and Editor of the Western I/aw Journal. He
was author of " Introduction to American Law," a

" Treatise on Geometry," and other works. He died

in Cincinnati, January 15, 1856.

Sears Cook Walker, was born March 28, ISO."), and

graduated at Harvard, in 1825. After graduating, he

taught school in Boston and Phihidel|>l>ia, to which

latter place he removed in 1827. In 1834, he prepared

parallactic tables for use in comi)Uling phases of an

occultation, and in 1837, drew up a plan for the or-

ganization of an observatory in connection with the

Philadelphia High School. From 1840 to 1852, he

published observations and investigations made by

himself, and in 1841, published a memoir of the

periodica! meteors of August and November. In 1845,

he was placed in the Washington observatory where

he made valuable observations and discoverie.s.

While Alexander Dallas Bache, had charge of the

coast survey, Mr. Walker in connection with him

carried out the method of telegraphic longitude de-

terminations, and introduced the chronographic

method of recording observations. He died in Cin-

cinnati, January 30, 1853.

Among the citizens of Wilmington during tlie [ires-

ent and last generation who have been prominent in

town affairs may be mentioned William Henry Car-

ter, W. J, S. Marsh, Otis Carter, Edward A. Carter

and Henry Sheldon among the living, and Dr. Henry

Hiller, Samuel Nichols, Cyrus L. Carter, Henry

Ames and Joseph Ames among the dead.

Twelve or fifteen years ago a Public Library was

established in the town which has well served to sup-

plement the public schools and to enable the gradu-

ates of those schools to keep alive their thirst for

knowledge, and constantly add to its store. According

to the report for 1889, the number of books in the

library at the end of the year was 1590, and the num-

ber taken out during the year, 2027. The payments

by the treasurer on account of the library during the

year were: for new books, $99.91; covering and re-

pairing books, $4.45; salary of librarian, $25; and

sundry items, 10.93.

The Board of Selectmen for the year 1890 consists

of Edward A. Carter, chairman ; Howard Eames and

James Kelley ; Henry Blanchard, Jr., is treasurer,

and Edward M. Nichols, town clerk.

The officers of the town for the last year were

:

J. Howard Eames, Henry Hiick, NatbaD B. Eamos, solectmen, over-

seers and assessors.

Edward M. Nichols, town clerk.

Ht'iiry illftnchard, tniwuinr

Kdwanl M. NtclioU, fwUerlor

Wni. II. Cartiir, Wurrrii lOiiiiiw, rml A KaiuM, •i>4ll<»»

I>aniol »'. NorrruM, r.iit*ul>le.

I'lurlwt J. Sari^iil, llmry I.
''.-* -.-».. ^

.1. HuMitril F./tU)e«, Hwtirv Itn .

E<lwnnl N Kjanir*, Warrvli t . i _ -.iri

inker, I'harlM E. I'Arler.AeM ilrt«»n

Henry H NIclioli, Kdwarl A. Carirr, Jantat K Naltojr. lUnry lili«t.

don, llowanl M. ilorltin, nif>«*iin'r«<if ar<Mvl aDd I«r1i

llerlwrt N. Hiirk, KilwanI M. Ni< li»U, Jiwati o. JaquvUi, imUU
weiitlieri.

Janiea A. Itaxler, ptiund ke«tMir

Janir« K. Kelley, meaaurer uf iMlllier

Ralwanl M. Mrliula, llenrjr lllllei, lUnty Mieldua, rrmfry mm.
tnlltix-.

aiarlea T. Ilu<l«in, Cliarlea M Oowlni, n<||i C. Duck, 0mmawa dim-

niltto«.

Itlchard L. Folklna, rharlM W. Hvaln, Frank Ckllar, •ckaat <>«.

inlttM,

Arlhnr O. Iliirk, Mtmrlan.

Jonallian Carter, |ir. I>. T HuikII, rharla* W. Haaln, Haary Aim^
• >tf« <^owlnK, K'lmir N. t^amea, ttu«l««« of I'ublle Library

KdwanI M NlrhoU, ii'>aler of MelgliU and niM>aur*<«.

Anliiir N. Kei4<Ue, aii|ier1nlendent of altna-boua*.

l-^lHanl M. NIcIiuIm, undortakar.

Ix'Ti Stvain, (ieorice K. Carter, Danlal C. Hoicroa, (Jaorfa T. baaa,
'iiarlea F. llarria, tin' and foreat wanlena.

Ariel r. Peanioii, DU. No. I, Win II. Oarlar, Dla. No. >, nua (Tasini,

nis. No. 3. J. Henry lluck, Ida Ne. 4, Henry Iliirk, l>U Ko. \ J.tlia

llailey, Via. No. ; Cliarli* llojikliu, l>i* Vo 7, Walter > IWilei, Uu
No. s, Arthnr N. I''e/4'lte, I>1>. No. ti, Wiu. II. Iloulvrll. Ilia. St. In, M-
ward Meana, nis. No. 1 1, (eorne Milllgan, Dla. Ma. It, tjhmtft Oflac

,

Pin. No, 13, surveyoni of hicliwayf.

Charles J. Sargent, Thoniaa Met, nan, Inapertora of liallola

Othniel Kiiniee, liennii Mrtiulre, deputy tnetvctora.

The town publishes once in ten ye4ini b lint in detail

of the real and persoiinl estiiteii taxed, with the >«-

sessed valuation. The following is a recApiliiliition

of the valuation for 1890

:

Viiltle of real efllnte ttnMi' to lit\rtlton |*.:.H,2a-. <rt

Valti>'uf|ierM>liHl estate jiitlih' to taVHilon »1i.K*<Xnil

Valiieof real and penwlml ealiit.. eifinftl froMi tnia-

tion :\fi».yto

Total valuation . i:rt|,7#J.nn

Number of acn-a awe*«Ml . '>,Vel4

Number of acres exem|>t . . Itn

Total uilrnlMT of acrea . .
|l',nTI*^

Total number of pulls «*"- ' 547

Ilwelling-houaea , . . XM
Barns 1*1

Saw>mills .
'

Stores ...
Blacksmitb-elio)^ .

.1

Ice-honaes t;

Slaughter-houses . .
T

Wind-mill. ...
Churches i

SLduwI-llousca .... 6

Other bilildingN .

."•!

Horsea .... .
'"

Oien ... 1-

Catlle . .
*«

Sheep ... '"

Swine ... 44

Slate ta.\ .
A«1.00

t^'Unty tax . .
*IA.*4

Town laj Hwl.ntl

B,.r....fU\.ili.oi. SHi^r IHXIO.



APPENDIX.

VOLUME I—CAMBRIDGE.

HARVARD DRIDGE.

BY JOHN LIVERMOBE.

The history and description of bridges connecting

Cambridge and Boston over the Charles River is not

complete with«>ut some notice of the Harvard Bridge

just finished, although not yet opened for public trav-

el, owing to an unfortunate disagreement between the

two cities as to the manner of crossing the track of

the Grand Junction Railroad, over which the bridge

must cross, either at grade, or by an overhead bridge,

and as the question is still undecided, and is a subject

of much bitter feeling, no opinion will be given on

the general merits of the question, but only the hope

that the controversy will be settled soon to the satis-

faction of all the parties concerned.

In order to a right understanding of the causes and

necessities that led to the building of this structure

at the present time, and the reasons for its location

where it is, we must go back for more than fifty years

and see how step by step the present result has been

reached.

In the year 1828 the Legislature of Massachusetts

considered the subject of purchasing all the bridges

over Charles River for the purpose of freeing them

before their charters would legally expire, which

led to a prolonged controversy in which the rela-

tions between the public and the rights of corpora-

tions received essential modifications ; but no action

was taken on the subject until 1836, when a charter

was granted to the " Hancock Free Bridge Coiyora-

tion " to enable them to build a bridge over

Charles River at some point between Cragies and

West Boston Bridge or to purchase one or both bridges

for the purpose of making them free, but owing to

the pecuniary distress which prevailed in 1836 and

1837, the money could not be raised to conclude the

purchase. The scheme failed for the time, but in 1846

they received a second charter enabling them to not

only purchase the two bridges, but to maintain them

as toll bridgesuutila fund of$150,000 should be raised

to keep them in repair and then they were to be free

forever, and so the question of a new bridge was post-

poned for the time.

For more than twenty-five years the necessity of a

new route from Cambridgeport to Boston had been

agitated and discussed, but from various causes noth-

8G4

ing was done until the year 1887, when the Legisla-

ture passed a compulsory act apportioning the cost

equally between the two cities. From the first Bos-

ton was reluctant to proceed with the work and did not

enter into the enterprise with either zeal or spirit, but

apparently with regret that they were legally bound

to do their part. The work, however, was commenced
and the mayors of the two cities and Leander Greely

(a practical artisan) were appointed commissioners to

superintend the building thereof, which they have
done.

The new avenue could be opened for travel as soon

as the question is definitely settled about the crossing

of the track of the Boston and Albany Railroad.

The question of the locality of the bridge was set-

tled without much difficulty and amicably at last.

When the question was before the public, when it was

first agitated, no one would have thought of locating

it so far south; but since that time the business and

population of Boston has been rapidly tending to-

wards the "South End,'' and that part of Cambridge-

port now known as Ward Four has been developed,

and is fast becoming the most populous portion of the

city, and there were not found wanting citizens who
advanced a still more southerly location.

As has been stated the bridge, was built by special

act of the Legislature, which was a comjjulsory act,

and apportioned the cost equally between the two

cities of Boston and Cambridge, and fi500,000 was set

apart for its construction. The bridge is 2157 feet in

length, 70 feet wide, and 14 feet above mean high

water; the draw is 135 feet long and 60 feet wide, and

is located in the centre of the structure. It is to be

operated by an electric motor. There are ten spans

to the bridge, on each side of the draw alternating

regularly between 105 and 75 feet in width. The
piers support girders 105 feet long, between every two

of which hangs a 75foot girder loosely linked to the

other one at each end, so as to provide for the natural

expansion. There are also two spans 90 feet in

length on either side adjoining the draw, and an extra

span at the Cambridge end. The iron girders were

constructed by the Boston Bridge Works, the different

sections being brought from the works on Sixth

Street, Cambridgeport, upon huge drays drawn by six

yokes of oxen to the water-side, and there put togeth-

er and towed to the bridge by lighters.
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The contract of the Boston Bridge Company was

$161,900, while the masonry piers built by Sblelds it

Carroll, of Toronto, Canada, wore contrartod for at

1122,820, the masonry abutments by \V. II. Ward
$15,900, the draw foundations and pier by 15<iynton

Brothers .'f2(i,87.'i, the spruce lunilier by \Vm. (i. Uark-

er, the wooden flooring by W. H. Keys & t^impany,

the spruce posts by Miller <& Shaw, the roadway

sheathing by Alexander Mclnnia and the iron railing

by the Manley Manufacturing Company, of Dalton,

Ga.
'

.

When this new avenue is once opened to (he pub-

lie and the several approaches to it improved, and put

in order, it will without doubt be the finest and most

attractive avenue from the city to the suburban towns

in the vicinity, the direct route to the University, Mount
Auburn, the Washington or Longfellow Mansion,

Elmwood, the home of I^owell, and other residences

of distinguished persons, and it is also the great liigh-

way to Lexington and Concord—places of great his-

toric interest, so much visited by strangers from all

parts of the world.

VOL. I. CAMnRIIMIK.

William I',. Kuncll wa4 elected Guvernoruf Mn
chusetta Novemtier 4, IH<H».

vol.. II. MNCX)L\.

William Francis Wliuel.T died o.t.l.rr 1". IR»t,

aged seventy-eight vciirH, seven moiitliit.

vol.. Ill, w \i.ni AM.

Sherman Hoar was elei ted member of Congrnw

November I, IS'.iO.

KKIIAIA.

P.iK» JO, Till. II., flnt riiliiinn, fli« lln<', " llarrel |i« \V«r " rfxxiM

roml " Miiry I»o Wnr."

PaK*»-l8l, vol. 111.. Mfoll'l rohiiiin, Iwfiily-Oilrti lift" fr»iiil l--<l'»ni.

".lohn Wttynl " Hhtiiiltl rr-aii "Jivlni Wnjrli»."

Pngo 4flS. Till. HI., Kwcimil (Mliimii, Iwonlj-lliini Hit*' (roiii li»|i, '• toisnl-

luoiw" tiliutiM rcnil "midIiiuu^"
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